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This Bay is publifhed,

The SEVENTH and EIGHTH VOLUMES in Folio (to complete the STATE-
TRIaLs in Six Volumes,) of

A COLLECTION OF ST A TE-TPvIALS,
And Proceedings upon High-Treafon, and other Crimes and Mifdemeanours, from the

Reign of King Edward VI.

Containing among many others (chiefly printed from Manufcripts) the following ones ;

19. The Trial cf the Lord Morley, for Murder, before

the Houfe of Lords, 18 Car. 2.

20. Proceedings in the Court of King's-Bench, Exche-
quer, and Houfe of Peers, in the great Cafe of Sir Samuel
Barnardiflon, Bart, againft Sir William Soame, Sheriff of

Suffolk, relating to a falfe Return of Members to Parlia-

ment, with the Argumentof the Judgesat large, 26 Car. 2.

21. Proceedings in the Houfe of Commons, on an Ap-
peal being brought in the Houfe of Lords by Dr. Shirley,

againft Sir John Fagg, and others, their Members, 27
Car. 2.

22. Proceedings againft Sir William Scroggs, and other

Judges, in Parliament, for their illegal and cpprelTive

Judgments, 32 Car. 2.

23. The Trial with Sir Edward Hales, Bart, for not

taking the Oaths of Supremacy ; with the Arguments of
Sir Edward Northey, and Sir Thomas Powys ; and the

Opinion of the Judges on giving Judgment ; with a De-
fence of that Judgment, by Sir Edward Herbert, Lord-
Chief- Juftic e of the Common-Pleas.

24. Proceedings in Parliament upon the Cafe of 'Jay

and Topham ; and the Defence made by Sir Francis Pem-
berton, and Sir Thomas Jones, for their Judgment given

therein, 1 Will. & Mar.
25. Proceedings before the Lords on the Bill to diffolve

the Marriage of the Duke and Dutchefs of Norfolk, 3 Will.

h Mar.
lb. The Trial between Henry Duke of Norfolk, Plain-

tiff, and JohnGermaine Efq; Defendant, at the King's-

Bench, WeJlm. 4 Will. & Mar. relating to the Divorce.

27. The Proceedings againft the Bifhop of Rochejler,

in relation to a Plot to reftore K. James, 4 Will. & Mar.
28. Proceedings againft Charles Kncwks, Efq; com-

monly called Earl of Banbury, for the Murder of Philip

Lawfon, Gent. 4 & 5 Will, k Mar.
29. The Trial of William Anderton, Printer, at the

Old-Bailey, for High-Treafon, 5 Will, h Mar.
30. The Proceedings in the Houfe of Commons upon

the Complaint of Sir 'John Packington, againft the Bifhop

of WorceJler, 2 Ann.

31. The Proceedings in the Houfe of Commons, Houfe
of Peers, and Court of Queen's-Bench, in the great Cafe

of Afoby and White ; containing all the Arguments and
Speeches at large.

N.B. Thefe Proceedings were never before collected tog

ther; theOclavo Volu7ne formerly printed, not contain-

ing Half ofthe Proceedings relating to thzAylcJbury Men.
32. The Trial of Daniel Denezv, 'John Merriam, and

Richard Britton, Gentleman, for an Afiault and Conspira-

cy with an Intent to wound, beat, &c. William Colepeper9
Efq; before Judge Holt, 2 & 3 Ann. R.

33. The Trial cf Daniel Dammaree, a Waterman,
for High-Treafon, in levying War againft the Queen,
under Pretence of pulling down Meeting-Houfes, 9 Ann.

34. The Trial of Francis Willis, a Footman, for

High-Treafon, in levying War, &c. 9 Ann.

35. The Trial of George Purchafe, for High-Treafon,

in levying War, 9 Ann.

Thefe three Trials were before the Lord-Chief-Juflice

Parker, and are the only Trials printed during the

Time his Lordfhip was Chief-Juftice. To which is

added the Special Verdict on Purchafe, as drawn up
for the Confideration of the Judges, and the Argu-
ments upc n it.

36. The Trial of Edward Arnold, for Felony, in ma-
licioufly and wilfullv (hooting at and wounoing the Lord
On/low, on the Black- Ait ; be'oie Judge Iracy.

With An APPENDIX, containing Records, Arguments in Law, Speeches, &c. relating to the
Trials and Proceedings in Six Volumes in Folio,

Printed for Thomas Wot ton, at the Queen's-Head and Three Daggers againft St.Dunftan's
Church in Fleet-Jtreet.

I.TTjRoceedings in Parliament againft Sir Thomas Sey-
'

J7 mour, Knt. Lord Sudley, for High-Treafon, 2 &

3 Ed. 6.

2. Proceedings in Parliament againft Edward Duke of

Somerfet, for Mifdemeanours and High-Treafon, 3 & 4

3. Proceedings againft Edward Duke of Somerfet, for

High-Treafon and Felony, 5 Ed. 6.

The three Trials above are moftly from MSS.

4. The Arraignment and Trial of Mr. Davifon, in

the Star-chamber, for Mifprifion and Contempt, in fend-

ing down the Warrant to behead the Queen or Scots, 30

Eliz. From a MS. in Caius College Cambridge.

5. The Arraignment and Judgment of Captain Tho-

mas'Lee, at the Old- Bailey, for High-Treafon, 43 Eliz.

From a MS. in the Temple Library.

6. The Trial of Sir Chrijlopher Blunt, Sir Charles

Davers, Sir John Davis, Sir Gilly Merrick, and Henry

Cuffe, at Wejlminfler, for High-Treafon, 43 Eliz.

From a MS. of Peter Le Neve, Efq; late Norroy King at

Arms.

7. The Cafe between Sir Francis Goodwin and Sir

John Fortefcue, in the Reign of King James 1. as it

ftands upon the Journal of the Houfe of Commons.

Firft Printed, 17C4, by Order of the Houfe of Commons.

8. The Arraignment and Confeffion of the Lord San-

quire, at the King's-Bench-Bar, for the Murder of John

Turner, a Fencing-Mafter ; with his Lordfhip's remark-

able Speech ; the Speeches of Sir Francis Bacon, and Mr.

Juftice Yelverton ; with Lord Chief- Juftice C<?i<f's O-

pinion upon it. From a MS. in the Temple Library.
'

9. Proceedings againft Mr. Wraynham, for flandering

the Lord-Chancellor Bacon of Injuftice, 16 Jac. 1.

10. Proceedings on the Habeas Corpus, brought by Sir

Thomas Darnel, Sir John Corbet, Sir Walter Earl, Sir

John Heveningham, and Sir Edmund Hampden, at the

King's Bench, WeflminJler ; with the Speeches of thofe

grea° Lawyers, Serjeant Brampflon, Attorney-General

Heath, Mr. Noye, Mr. Selden, Mr. Calthorpe, Sir Ed-

ward Coh, and others; with the Opinions of the Lord-

Chid-lu&iceHyde^udgeDodderidge^ones, and Whitlock.

Chiefly from a MS.

11. Proceedings againft William Stroud, Walter Long,

and John Selden, Efqrs; and others, on an Habeas Corpus ;

being committed for ftirring up Sedition, and Contempt

of the Government, 5 Car. 1. with the Arguments of

Council at large.

12. Proceedings againft Sir John Elliot, Denzill Holies,

and Benjamin Valentine, for Speeches ^n Parliament, 5

Car. 1. with the Judgment of the Court of King's-

Bench, and the Reverfal of that Judgment in Parliament,

Temp. Car. 2.

13. Two Judgments againft John Morris, Mary his

Wife, and others, for forging, framing, and publifhing

a pretended Acl of Parliament, 23 Car. 1.

14. The Trial of Colonel Morris, Governor of Ponte-

fracl-Caftle ; at York, for High-Treafon, 2 Car. 2.

15. The Trial of Colonel Eufebius Andrcwe (a Bar-

rifterof Grays-Inn) before the High Court of Juftice,

1650, for High-Treafon.

16. The Trial of Richard Faulconer, for Perjury, at

the King's-Bench, 5 Car. 2.

17. The Trial of Miles Sindercome, alias Fijh, at the

King's-Bench, WeflminJler, for High-Treafon, 8 Car. 2.

18. Proceedings againft Archibald Marquifs of Ar-

gyle, 13 Car. 2. for High-Treafon.
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CLXXXV.

Proceedings in Parliament again/1 James Karl of Der-

wentwater, William .L0/7/ Widdrington, William Earl of
Nithifdale, Robert Earl e>/~ Carnwath,, William Vifcount

Kenmure ?
and William Lord Nairn, upon an Impeachment

for High-Treafon, Febr. 9. 1715. 2, Geo. I.

H E above-named Lords hav-

ing excited a Rebellion, and

levied War againft his Ma-
^ja je%5 and being taken Pri-

foners, whilft in actual Hof-

tilities, the Parliament at that

time fitting, it was mov-
ed in the Houfe of Com-
mons, January 9. that they

fhould not be left to the ordinary method of Pro-

fecutions, but be proceeded againft by way of

Impeachment : Upon which Occafion Mr. Lech-

mere fpake as follows,

After the general Affurances this Houfe has

given to his Majefty, one Moment ought not to

be loft without taking fome effectual Step towards

making them good. The firft and great Concern

is to put an End to this Rebellion, not only to

quiet the prefent Commotions, but to extinguifh

the very pofTibslity of their being renewed: For
thefc Ends every Gentleman will agree to ftrengthen

the Hands of the King, in fuch manner as will

enable him fpeedily and effectually to complete

this Work : You will do this with abfolute Cheer-

fulncfs, from the certain Knowledge and Expe-
Vol. VI.

rience we have had of the Wifdom and Juftice of

his Majefty, who will make no other Ufe of any

Confidence his Parliament fhall repofe in him,

than to promote the common Welfare of his Peo-

ple ; and whatever extraordinary Affiftance the

prefent Juncture of Affairs fhall require, will be

continu'd no longer than the public Neceffity

calls for. The next ufeful and neceffary Step is

the National Juftice, which is incumbent on this

Houfe, in Duty to the King, as well as in Juftice

to the People -, and as ungrateful and difagreeable

a Part as this muft be, yet when the Defign of

the Enemy is become fo defperate and fo avowed,

as to ftrike at the Crown upon the King's Head,
and to involve the Nation in the Calamities of a

Civil War, the Houfe cannot exert themfelves too

early, nor with too much Vigour ; and as the

Houfe fhall acquit themfelves on this Occafion,

I dare promife myfelf the Effect will be anfwer-

able. The Spirit which fhall be fhewn in this

Inftance, will animate the Friends of the Govern-

ment both at Home and Abroad ; and the Ter-

ror it muft ftrike on our Enemies, will be equal

at leaft, and contribute as much to the Common
Safety, as any other Preparation that has or can

be made. I wifn I could fay or think that this

B Rebellion
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Rebellion is the Project of thofe only, who ap- gravated his Guilt and heighten 'd the Punifhment,
pear'd to head it; or that it is the Refult of the became his Indemnity againft the Reproach of it,

weak or rafh Conniels of thofe who publicly avow even by the Authority of the Government it felf.

it; I wifh I could lay, that it is the Work of I remember very well in what Manner every

Papifts only, or of thofe few Proteftants, who are Thing of that Nature was treated in Wefiminfter-
wicked or weak enough openly to join in it. I Hall; what Severities were exercifed againft thofe

wifh I could fay, that it was a Plot but of Yefter- Perfons who had Courage enough to afTert the
day, and that it has taken no deeper Root, than Intereft of their Country, and of the Proteftant
ordinary Appearance will lead to fufpect: But Succefiion, at the fame Time that the Patrons of
I think it plain, that it is ths Effect of many Hereditary PJgbt enjoy'd all Indulgences. I men-
Years Labour, of the joint and united Labour of tion thefe Things on no Uncertainties, having
great Numbers both Proteftants and Papifts, the been an Eye-witnefs of them my felf, and it

plain and neceflary Confequence of the Meafures having fallen to my Share to bear fome Part in
which have been carrying on for fome Years laft : them : This was one of the mod fuccefsful Parts
To frame a right Judgment of the Nature of this of the Scheme of thofe who had fix'd their Eyes
Rebellion, I think it neceflary for us to look on the Pretender : The Houfe need not be told
back and confider, the natural Tendency of the how far it has operated, to the Prejudice of the
Public Proceedings of late Years, and the Con- Proteftant Succefiion. I could give many other
nection they bear with the prefent unfortunate Inftanccs of this Kind, all which promoted the
State of Things ; when Men in facred Functions fame End: The grofs Diftinctions that were coin'd
fufFer'd themielves to become State Injlrume-nts, to elude the Oaths that had been made for the
and the great Merit of fuch Men was under the Security of the Government: The Endeavours
Pretence of Afferting the Doctrines of the Church that were ufed to poffeis the People with falfe
of England, to condemn the Revolution, I could Fears of the Danger of the Church ; and the little

never underfiand any other Defign or Tendency Care that was taken, to fay no worfe of it to in-
from thofe Practices, than to undermine theFoun- ftill into the Youth of the Kingdom, fuch Princi-
dation of the Proteftant Succefiion. I remember pies as were confiftent with the true Intereft either
'twas faid upon a very folemn Occafion, by a of Church or State. I look upon thefe Things to
very honourable Gentleman, That the condemning be the Foundation of the Scheme that is now bv
the late happy Revolution, could have no other Mean this Rebellion, carrying on into Execution- 'and
ing than to make way for another. However wick- I own that In this Reipect the Authors of it were
ed and dangerous thefe Practices were, they made wife in their Generation, for by thefe Arts the very
too great an Imprefiion, and contributed a great Principle on which the Proteftant Succefiion is
deal to the prefent Calamity; for as the Dcligns founded, was fhaken; and tho' the Methods of
of the Enemy grew more avow'd, State Princi- doing it were bafe and vile, yet the DiiTatisfaction
pies of another Kind were advane'd, which ftill and Uneafmefs that was created by them in the
conduced to the fame End. 'Tvvas well known Minds of the People, made Way for the Change
what Induftry was ufed to inculcate the Notions that was defired. I muft crave leave to put
of Hereditary Right to the Crown, in Oppofition you in Mind of other Parts of this Scheme that
to the Settlement which had been made of it in were carrying on at the fame Time. The Ene-
the Houfe of Hanover by the Authority of Par- mies to the prefent Government judging aright
liament, and with no other View than to weaken for their own Purpofe, by all Method's to attack
that Settlement ; Every one remembers what ex- the Confciences of the People, as to the Legality
traordinary Pains were taken to poifon the Peo- and Jufiice of the Settlement of the Crown in the
pie with this dangerous Notion ; and that thofe Houfe of Hanover, thought it neceflary at the
who made the beft Court to Men in Power, were lame Time to difable as lar as they could, thofe
fuch who efpoufed this Opinion in the molt noto- Perfons who had been moft remarkable for their
rious manner. I cannot forget with what Tender- Services in the Support of it : The areat Effort
nefs a certain Divine* of the Church of England was made at that great b Man, who is not only
was treated below Stairs, whilft under Proiecu- the Honour and Ornament of his Country, but
tion, for the moft impudent 3 Libel that ever

was publifhed againft any Government, that had
either Will or Power to maintain it felf. I think

the Punifhment that was inflicted on that Gentle-

man light enough, but I cannot avoid taking

Notice of a remarkable Paflage, which then

alarm'd every thinking Man, and will, one time

the Glory of the Age he lives in. I think I fhall

not be fufpected of Flattery at this Time, nor, I

believe, at any Time, with Refpect to that Great
Man. Many who now hear me, remember the
Part I took in Vindication of that Great Man,
whilft his Character was under Debate in this

Houfe. I cannot forget the Rage and Invete-
or other, deferve the Confideration of this Houfe, racy with which he was purfued ; nor how much
viz. The Order from the Government, counter- Strefs was laid upon obtaining the Cenfures of
fign'd by a Secretary of State, to the Judges of Parliament upon him : The Afperfions then
*-K« (~i) 1 1 n nisi* c i<oiArbt *-»T "£»*• *-V»o TnH/vman *• •\«-i ic *A 4-n ..1 _ l * 1 * 1 i i .—

.

^ _the green's-Bench, after the Judgment pais'd, to

fuperfede the ignominious Part of the Punifhment,

by Reafon of the Sacred Funblion of the Criminal

:

By which the moft unexampled and dangerous Di-

Jlinclion was introduced ; and which Proceeding

could bear no other Conftruction, than as a Li-

cenfe and Protection, even from the Government,
to Men in Holy Orders, to propogate that de-

Jlruclive Pcfition with Impunity ; and the Character

of the Perfon, which ought in Juftice to have ag-

thrown upon him, did not hurt that Great Man:
and whatever Endeavours may at any Time be
ufed to leflen him, will hurt none but thofe that

fhall promote them : But yet thofe vain Endea-
vours were a very ufeful Part of the Scheme then
carrying on. 'Twas a neceflary Step for thofe

Men to put him out of the Way, whole very
Name and Appearance, at that Time, would have
been fufheient to raife Armies in Favour of the

Proteftant Succefiion and the Liberties of his

Mr. Bedford. The Hereditary Right ajfrted, &c. b Tie Duke (/"Marlborough.

Country

:
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Country : Bat I cannot but obferve, That as fer-

viceable as it was for the Meafures of thofe Men

to wound his Character, it is now a Reproach to

the Kingdom, that thofe groundlefs Afperfions,

which have been caft upon him, mould remain

upon the Journals of Parliament. Another great

c Lord fell under the Violence of thofe Times,

(I mean the Lord who was Minifter in the Low-

Countries, and was chiefly inftrumental in pro-

curing the Treaty of Barrier and Succeffion) whofe

Profecution was attended with uncommon Fury.

My felf had fome Share in juftifying that Great

Man in this Houfe, when he was voted an Enemy

to his Country. Iobferved at that Time, and the

Event has made it evident, that the Barrier was

but the Pretence, and that the great Services he

had done to the Proteftant Succeffion was the true

Provocation, which drew that Rage upon him.

Two other honourable d Gentlemen, now fitting

near me, felt the Severity of thofe Times: They

had diftinguifhed themfelves by their Zeal and

Firmnefs to the true Intereft of their Country,

and were too confiderable to efcape the Malice of

thofe who had othe? Views. Thofe Proceedings,

how uncertain foever the Defign of them might

appear while they were tranfacting, have been

fufficiently explain'd by what has follow'd. The

Name of that General, e for whofe immediate Ser-

vice the Great Man firft mentioned was blemifh-

ed, and for whom there was Vanity enough to

make him his Rival, is now become the Reproach

of his Family and Country ; he avows the Service

of the Pretender, and e'er long we may hear of

him at the Head of an Expedition for eftablifhing

Popery and Arbitrary Power. The Secretary of

State f who diftinguifhed himfelf in the Purfuit of

the other great Lord, has fufficiently explain'd

his Defigns to the whole World ; and the next

Tidings that we may expect, from abroad is, that

he has taken upon him the Character of a Minifter

to the Pretender. I look upon this (namely the

difabling the great Affertors of the Proteftant In-

tereft,) to be a fecond, and no fmall Part of the

Scheme ; and while thefe Things were carrying

on, their little Engines and Tools were carrying

on their Work s below-ftairs. Every Man who
favour'd the Hawoerian Succeffion was to be wor-

ried, and all open and fcandalous Affertors of

contrary Principles were treated with all the Care

and Tendernefs of Friends. Charters of Corpo-

rations were attack'd in a more unprecedented and

dangerous manner than in any former Times,

when Practices of that kind were mod juftly

complain'd of; and no Stone was left unturn'd,

to ftrengthen themfelves in that Refpect. I will

not now trouble you any more upon that Head,

having fome Thoughts e'er long to prefent you

with a fmall Collection of Things of that kind

for your ferious Confideration. The Mafter Strokes

of this grand Scheme are yet behind : The fureft

Way to deftroy the Government has been always

thought to be by its own Hands; that is, by the

Authority anid Power of Parliament. For this

Purpofe, a Confederacy, by which the Liberties

of Europe had been fo long fuftained againft the

Power of France, was broke to Pieces, by Votes

that were obtained in this Houfe, in the moft ex-

traordinary Manner. The Honour of the Na-
tion, the Ballance of Power, and the Proteftant

Intereft in Europe, were effectually given up in

c The Lord Vifcount Townftend
f The late Lord Vifcount Bolingbroke.

Vol. VI.

d Mr. Stanhope and Mr. Walpole.

8 Weftminfter-Hall.

B 2

the Negotiations and Conclufion of the Peace,

by which France was reftored to its ancient and.

formidable State ; And every Body remembers
how near we were by the fame Influences, to have

given up the whole Trade of the Nation to the

Intereft of the French King, who after that had

no fuitable Return left for him to make for fiich

Services, but to beftow upon us a Pretender bred

up in his own Faith, and in his own Politics.

Nothing could have obftructed this, but the many
miraculous Providences that immediately follow-

ed, when his Power throughout Europe was un-

conteftable ; and, by the Meafures that had been

taken, the Proteftant Succeffion had fcarce a Friend

left in the World. The King's Acceffwn to the

Throne, accompanied by fo many providential

Circumftances, as it difappcinted the immediate

Execution of the Scheme, fo it quieted the Spirit,

of thofe Men for fome Time. If we could make
a right Judgment of the prefent Rebellion, we
muft compare the Steps that immediately pre-

ceded, with thofe which were taken in the laft

Reign, when the Hope was to have brought about
the fame End without a Stroke. The fame En-
deavours foon appear'd to propogate the fame
Principles both in Church and State : And thofe

Endeavours, tho' at firft not fo open, were yet-

as reftlefs to create DifTatisfaction againft his Ma-
jefty's Government, as they had been before to

prevent its taking Place. As the Encouragement
grew ftronger, Tumults and,Riots were univerfally

fomented ; and 'tis well known from what Quar-
ter they rofe, and againft whom they were level-

led : But yet no one Inftance has been affign'd

throughout his Adminiftration, that could offend

or provoke any but a Jacobite Spirit. His Ms-
jefly has done more for the Honour of the Church,

and the true Intereft of his Kingdom, than any
of his PredecefTors in three times the Number of
Years. His Perfonal Virtues, and the Wifdom and
Steddinefs of his Government, have retrieved the

Honour and Reputation of his Kingdoms, which
had been fo fhamefully loft : His Weight and In-

fluence abroad, and the Credit he has obtained in

all the known Parts of the World, has already

procured the Settlement of the Matters in Diffe-

rence between the two chief Powers of Europe,
from whom alone we can expect Affiftance in

Times of Danger. No fingle Inftance can be
affign'd of Hardfnip or Oppreffion to any one of
his Subjects, or that can give a juft Reafon of
DifTatisfaction; but on the contrary, thofe who
have fhewn the greateft Averfion to his Govern-
ment, have received the kindeft Invitations, and
enjoy'd the higheft Indigencies from him. If

any Errors may have been committed in any Parts

of the Adminiftration, during the prefent Di [or-

ders, every honeft Man ought to judge of them
by this one Rule, that is, the plain Defign for
•which all Meafures are calculated, which every

Body muft admit to be, the Prefervatioa of the

Proteftant Succeffion : All Incidents of fuch an Ad-
miniftration, ought to be covered or juftified by
the Intereft that fhall appear to be carrying on
throughout the whole ; by the fame Rule of

Juftice, when the Deftruclion of the Common In-

tereft was the plain Intention of the late Adminiftra-

tion, the greateft Weight ought to be laid on eve-

ry little Circumftance that attended, in order to

obtain a public Satisfatlion: By talcing in all thefe

e The late Duke of Ormond.

Confidera-
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Confederations, I think we fhall make a full and
right Judgment of the Nature of this Rebellion ;

from whence it took its Rife -, how deep it

has taken Root ; to what Influences it is owing,
and how far it extends. The Part the Lord
Derwentwater, and others, have taken in it, are

to' be confidered as the firft Symptoms of that

general Diforder, for which fo much Foundation
was laid •, for which Reafon I think, that we can-

not confider this otherwife than as the Caufe of
the Nation, in the ftrongeft manner. In Juftice

to the King, as well as to the People, we ought to

take this into our own Hands, and not to entruft

the Profecution of it with any Body but our felves.

Every Body knows to what Hazards Profecutions in

the ordinary Courfe of Juftice are liable, though they

are never fo well concerted by thofe, whole Bufi-

nefs it is to carry them on ; but how fure foever

the Succels may be, in a Cafe fo notorious as this,

yet it is obvious to every Body, of what different

Weight and Influence the Profecutions of Parlia-

ment are from thofe in the ordinary Forms. I own
I am furprized, that any Meafures have been

taken of that kind, againft the Peers who have

been taken in open Rebellion, during the fitting of

a Parliament which has fhewn ib much Zeal, and

has contributed fo much to the Prdervation of

the Government, efpecially at a time when the

Crown on the King's Head is fighting for. I very

well know, that tho' the Houfe of Commons Right

of Impeaching Criminals is unlimited, yet they will

exercife that Power by the Rules of Wifdom and
" D.fcretion, and not engage in trivial Matters, but

in fuch only where the Offenders are not within

the reach of the Ordinary Juftice ; or the Nature

of their Crimes fuch, as are not fit to be meddled
with by the Ordinary Jurifdiclions : The Cafe of

the Lords taken in Rebellion is indeed notorious,

and of which the Proof will be eafy, but tho'

not from the Difficulty of the Profecution, yet

from the Weight and Confluence of it, I think I

need fay little more to convince you, and make
it our Profecution, by which we engage every

Commoner in Great-Britain, as an immediate

Party, againft thofe who have carried a War into

the Bowels of the Kingdom. No Inftance ever

has rifen in the Englijh Hiftory, where our An-
ceftors have permitted a Profecution againft the

chief Actors, to be carried any where but in full

Parliament. The five Popifh Lords were purfued

by the loud Voice and Weight of the Commons
of England : And tho' at that time the Nation

was in Peace, they would not permit the Fate of

thofe Profecutions to depend on the Care or Skill

of thofe who are verled in the ordinary Forms of

Juftice, and their Succefs was anfwerable. I own
my Defirt upon all Occafions to raife the Honour
and Authority of Parliaments, which I think the

greateft Support of theJHonour and the Prerogatives

of the Crown. For which Reafon, I take this Oc-
cafion to fpeak more fully to the Nature of Im-
peachments, and the rather, becaufe I apprehend
fbme Gentlemen have miftaken Notions concern-

ing them. The Power of Impeachments is the moft

'valuable and ufeful Privilege that belongs to the Body

of the Commons, at leaft, equal to that of giving

Money, which belongs folely to them. Gentle-
men need not be apprehenfive of any Intricacies

in thofe Proceedings, efpecially at a Time and
upon an Occafion, when there is no Doubt of
the Concurrence of both Houfes. Impeachments
are in themfelves more plain, regular, and difm-

.tangled, than any other Forms of Juftice : They
are particularly excepted out of the late Statute of
I'reafons, which has very much fetter'd the ordi-

nary Courfe of Proceedings. Impeachments were ne-

ver made difficult, but when they were carried on

againft the Inclination of the Crown, or at a Time
when there was no good Underftanding between the

two Houfes ; when little Occafions might be fought

to raife Difputes, and interrupt them ; or elfe

when they are undertaken before they are well

confidered, which cannot be the prefent Cafe.

There is another Reafon, which upon this Oc-
cafion ftiould determine Gentlemen into this Me-
thod ; I mean the Confluences of the Judgment
that fhall be obtained againft thefe Lords : 'Tis

my clear Opinion, and what I think I can main-

tain, That no Pardon under the Great Seal can

difcharge a Judgment obtain'd upon the Impeachment

of the Commons : This Opinion has been ftre-

nuoufly aflerted in this Houfe in former Reigns ;

and I think it not weakened by the Declaration in

the Acl of Settlement of the Crown upon the Houfe
of Hanover. I have heard of a very low Diftinc-

tion that has been coin'd without Doors, to avoid

this Opinion, viz. That the Pardon is not plead-

able in bar of the Impeachment, to prevent the Com-
mons from examining into the Offence ; but that it is

pleadable after Judgment, and in bar of Execution.

Whenever that Queftion fhall come properly be-

fore you, I will undertake to fhew the Idlenefs

and Abfurdity of that Diftinclion : If that Di-

ftinction be framed to make Court to the Prero-

gative, I think it the moft falfe and deftruclive

Piece of Flattery of the kind that ever has been

raifed. It is the greateft Eafe, Security, and Sup-

port of the Crown, in my Opinion, inftead of any

Dimunition of it, that no fuch Power fhall be lodg'd

there, to be exercifed on any Occafion, to pre-

vent the Poffibility of the Crown's being wrought
upon by any Influences to defeat the Judgment
given in full Parliament, with the Concurrence of

both Houfes, againft the higheft Offenders, which

muft inevitably create the greateft Jealoufy, and

caufe the higheft Diffatisfatlicns between the Crown
and the People : For this Reafon, I take it to be

the greateft Advantage to the Crown, that the

Conftitution of the Kingdom has not, as I think,

inverted it with any fuch Power : And on t'other

fide, it will clearly appear, that fuch a Power is

utterly inconjiftent with the fundamental Rights of
Parliament. I own I am furprized to hear, that

any fuch Diftinclion fhould be ftarted at this time

:

But if che Law be, as I apprehend it is, it is the

ftrongeft Reafon for the Commons to interpofe in

this Profecution to defend the Crown from the many

Importunities to which it will be fubjecT, in the

ordinary Courfe of Juftice : The Weight of this

Profecution, and the Confluences of it, will be borne

by the Commons, as it ought to be in a Cafe fo

National as this. If Gentlemen want any other

Motives, to induce them to make this Profecu-

tion their own,. I have a Paper in my Fland which

will fire the Thoughts of every Gentleman here,

it is the Pretender's Declaration, which no Body can

read without the utmoft Indignation ; confidering

the perfonal Indignities which are therein caft upon

the beft of Princes, whofe Title to the Crown we
are bound by all the Ties of Duty, Affection, and

Intereft to maintain. We can do no lefs than

refent this fo far, as to make our felves the Pro-

fecutors of thofe who avow this Caufe of die Pre-

tender, and fet themfelves at the Head of Armies,

in
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in the Heart of the King's Dominions. In this

Paper we fhall lee how we are treated ourfelves

:

We are reprefented as the mofi illegal and, infamous

Affembly ofMen that ever met together. Thefe Con-

federations ought, in Juitice, to animate and invi-

gorate our Proceedings in every RefpecT, till the

inveteracy and Infolence of the Enemy are entirely

^

fubdued : I do not think that the Proceedings of

this Houfe ought in any Cafe to be governed by

Vindictive Considerations, but by fuch Circum-

ftances only as from their real Weight and Con-

fluence call for the Interpofition of the Com-

mons. I am fenfible that the Commons have a

creat Work upon their Hands, from other Im-

peachments, which they have thought fit to enter

upon, and which are ftill depending •, I know

alio what Situation thefe Impeachments are in ;

and hope they will be refumed and casried on, in

due Seafon, with the fame Vigour with which

they were undertaken. I likewile believe, that the

Nation expefts, that our Enquiries upon this Head

mall be extended and appear to be impartial, it

not being pofiible, that a greater Diihonour can

be brought, or an heavier Imputation call upon

our Proceedings, than that of Partiality, which

cannot fail to fink our Credit, and to prevent all

the o-ood Effects that are hoped and expected

from them : However, every Gentleman will

apree with me, that the prefent Situation and

Conjuncture of Affairs make it neceffary to give

the Preference to thofe Lords who have been

taken in open Rebellion. And therefore I now

Impeach fames Earl of Derwentwater of High-

Ireafon ; which Impeachment I undertake to make

good.

The Confequence of this Speech was, that the

Houfe came to a Refolution to impeach James

Earl of Derwentwater of High-Treafon. Upon
the like Motions they refolved the fame with re-

gard to William Lord Widdrington, William Earl

of Nithifdale, George Earl of Winioun, Robert

Earl of Camwatfc, William Vifcount Kenmure,

William Lord Nairn ; accordingly they were im-

peached at the Bar of the Houfe of Lords, and

the fame Night the Articles of Impeachment were

carried up to the Lords ; and the next Day the

impeached Lords were brought to the Bar of the

Houfe, and charged with the faid Articles, and

ordered to put in their Anfwer by the 16th, and

that not only Counfel, but any other Perfons,

whom they Iliould name, mould have Liberty to

afiift them. They had afterwards Leave till the

19th to put in their Anfwers, when they feverally

pleaded Guilty (except the Earl of Wintoun, who
had further Time allowed him,) and the 9th of

Feb. was appointed to pafs Sentence on them.

On Thurfday Feb. the 9th, about one of the

Clock, the Lords came from their own Houfe
into the Court erected in Wejlminfter-hall, to

pafs Sentence upon James Earl of Derwentwater,

William Lord Widdrington, William Earl of

Nithifdale, Robert Earl of Carnwath, William Tii-

count Kenmure, and William Lord Nairn, in the

Manner following.

The Lord High-Steward's Gentlemen Atten-
dants, two and two.

The Clerk's Afiiflant to the Houfe of Lords,
and the Clerk of the Parliament, with the Clerk
of the Crown in the Court of Chancery ; the

CLrk of the Parliament bearing the King's Com-
mifiion to the Lord High-Steward.

The Mailers in Chancery, two and two.

Then the Judges.

The Peers Eldeft Sons, and Peers Minors, two
and two.

Four Serjeants at Arms with their Maces, two

and two.

The Yeomen Ufhers of the Houfe.

Then the Peers, two and two, beginning with

the youngeft Barons.

Then four Serjeants at Arms with their Maces.

The Serjeant at Arms attending the Great-Seal,

and Purfe-Bearer.

Then Garter King at Arms ; and the Gentle-

man-Ufher of the Black Rod, carrying the White
Staff before the Lord High-Steward.

The Lord High-Steward „,.,,. T A /».,*,„
. . . . p Wilha?n Lord Lovjpsr.

alone, his Train borne.

When the Lords were placed in their proper

Seats, and the Lord High-Steward upon the

Wool-Pack.
The Clerk of the Crown, in the Court of

Chancery, Handing before the Clerk's Table,

with his Face towards the State, having his Ma-
jefty's Commiflion to the Lord High-Steward in

his Hand, made three Reverences towards the Lord
High-Steward ; and, on his Knee, prefented the

Commiflion to the Lord High-Steward •, after

which, and ufual Reverences, the fame was carried

down to the Table : And then Proclamation for

Silence was made in this manner.

O Yes, O Yes, O Yes ! Our Sovereign Lord
the King flrictly charges and commands all man-
ner of Perfons to keep Silence, upon Pain of Im-
prifonment.

Then the Lord High-Steward . flood up, and
fpoke to the Peers.

Lord High-Steward. HisMajefty's Commiflion
is going to be read ; your Lordfhips are defired

to attend.

All the Peers uncovered themfelves, and they

and all others flood up uncovered while the Com-
million was reading.

GEORGIUS R.

GEORGIUS, Dei Gratia, Magna Britan-

nia, Francia & Hibernia Rex, Fidei De-

fenfor, &c. Pradiletlo &f Fideli Confdiario noftro

Willielmo Domino Cowper, Cancellario noftro Magna
Britannia:, Saintem. Cum Jacobus Comes de. Der-

wentwater, Willielmus Dominus Widdrington, Wil-

lielmus Comes de Nithifdale, Georgius Comes de

Winton, Robertus Comes de Carnwath, Willielmus

Vicecomes Kenmure, ci? Willielmus Dominus Nairn^

coram Nobis in prafenti Parliament0, per Milites,

Cives & Burgenfes in Parliament noftro Affemblaf

de alta Proditione per ipfos Jacobem Comitem de

Derwentwater, Willielmum Dominum Widdrington,

Willielmum Comitem de Nithifdale, Georgium Co-

mitem de Winton, Robertum Comitem de Carnwath,

Willielmum Vicecomitem Kenmure, &? Willielmum

Dominum Nairn, commijf' £s? perpetrat' in nomine

ipforum Militum, Civium & Burgenfium, & no-

mine omnium Communium Regni nofiri Magna
Britannia impetiti & accufati exijlunt ; & ipfi pra-

dicl' Jacobus Comes de Derwentwater, Willielmus

Dominus Widdrington, Willielmus Comes de Nithif-

dale, Robertus Comes de Carnwath, Willielmus

Vicecomes Kenmure, & Willielmus Dominus Nairn,

coram Nobis in prafenti Parliamento de Proditione

pradibT fe effe culpabiles feparatim cognoverunt

:

Nos
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Nos confiderantes quod Juftitia eft Virtus excellens &
altiftimo complacens, Volentefque quod pradicT Jaco-

bus Comes de Deriventwatcr, Willielmits Dominus

Widdrington, Willielmus Comes de Nithifdale, Ro-

bertas Comes de Carnwath, Willielmus Vicecomes

Kenmure, & Willielmus Dominus Nairn, de & pro

Proditione unde ipji ut praferiur impetit' accufat' £s?

convitl' exiftunt coram Nobis in prafenli Parliament

o

noftro, Secundum Legem & Confuetudinem hujus Regni

noftri Magna Britannia, & fecundum Confuetudinem

Parliaments audidniur, fsntentientur & adjudicentur,

cxteraque omnia qua in hac parte pertinent debito mo-

do exerceantur 6? exequantur, ac pro eo quod Proceres

&. Magnates in praj'enti Parliamento noftro aftem-

Hat' Nobis humilime fupplicaverunt ut Senefcallum

Magna Britannia pro hac vice confvituere dignare-

mur. Nos de fidelitate, prudentia, provida circum-

fpetlione, & indufiria veftris plurimum confidentes,

Ordinavimus & Confituimus vox ex hac Caufa Sc-

nefcallum Magna Britannia ad Ofticium Mud, cum

omnibus eidem Officio in hac parte debit' & pertinen'

(hac vice) gerend' occupand' £5? exercend'. Et ideo

vobis Mandamus quod circa pramiffa diligenter in-

tendatis, C5
1

omnia qua in hac parte ad Ofticium

Senefcalli Magna Britannia pertin' & requiruntur

hac vice faciatis, exerceatis, & exequamini cum

effeclu. In cujus rei 1'eftimonium has Literas noftras

fieri fecimus Patentes, Tefte me ipfio apud Weftm'

Nono Die Februarii, Anno Regni noftri Secundo.

Per ipfium Regem propria Manu Signal

Wrighte.

Serjeant at Arms. God fave the King.

Then the Herald and Gentleman Ufher of the

Black Rod, after three Reverences, kneeling,

prefented the White Staff to his Grace ; and then

his Grace, attended by the Herald, Black Rod
and Seal-Bearer (making his proper Reverences

towards the ThroneJ removed from the Wool-
Pack to an armed Chair, which was placed on

the uppermoft Step but one of the Throne, as it

was prepared for that Purpofe, and then feated

himfelf in the Chair, and delivered the Staff to

the Gentleman Ufher of the Black Road on his

Right Hand, the Seal-Bearer holding the Purfe on

the Left.

Clerk of the Crown. Serjeant at Arms make
Proclamation.

Serjeant at Arms. O Yes, O Yes, O Yes !

Our Sovereign Lord the King ftricfly charges

and commands all manner of Perfbns to keep
Silence, upon Pain of Imprifonment.

Then another Proclamation was made, as

follows.

O Yes, O Yes, O Yes ! Lieutenant of the

Tower of London bring forth your Prifoners to

the Bar, according to the Order of the Houfe of

Lords to you directed.

Then James Earl of Derwentwater, William

Lord Widdrington, William Earl of Nithifdale,

Robert Earl of Carnwath, William Vifcount Ken-

mure, and William Lord Nairn, were all brought

to the Bar by the Deputy Governour of the

Tower, having the Ax carried before them by the

Gentleman Jaylor, who flood with it on the Left

Hand of the Prifoners, with the Edge turned from

him. The Prifoners when they approached the

Bar (after kneeling) bowed to his Grace the Lord
High-Steward, and to the Houfe of Peers ; which
Complement was returned them by his Grace, and

the Houfe of Peers.

Lord High-Steward.

peachment.
Read the Articles of Im-

Articles of Impeachment of High-Trea-
fen exhibited againfl James Earl of Der-
wentwater, William Lord Widdrington,
William Earl of Nithifdale, George Earl
of Wintoun, Robert Earl of Carnvvath,

William Vifcount Kenmure, and Willi-

am Lord Nairn.

H E R E A S for many Years lafl a moft
wicked Defign and Contrivance has been

formed and carried on, to fubvert the ancient and
eftablifhed Government, and the good Laws of
thefe Kingdoms, to extirpate the true Proteftant

Religion therein eftablifhed, and to deftroy its

Profeffors •, and inilead thereof, to introduce and
fettle Popery and Arbitrary Power ; in which
unnatural and horrid Confpiracy great Numbers
of Perfons of different Degrees and Qualities,

have concerned themfelves and acted ; and many
Proteftants, pretending an uncommon Zeal for

the Church of England, have joined themfelves

with profeffed Papifts, uniting their Endeavours
to accomplish and execute the aforefaid wicked
and traiterous Dcfigns

:

And whereas it pleafed Almighty God in his

good Providence, and in his great Mercy and
Goodnefs to thefe Nations, to crown the unwearied
Endeavours of his late Majefty King William the

Third of ever-glorious Memory, by making him
the Inftrument to procure the Settlement of the

Crown of thefe Realms in the illuftrious Houfe of
Hanover, as the only Means under God to pre-

ferve our Religion, Laws and Liberties, and to

fecure the Proteftant Intereft of Europe; fince

which happy Eftablifhment the faid Confpirators

have been indefatigable in their Endeavours to

deftroy the fame, and to make Way for the vain
and groundlefs Hopes of a fpurious Impoftor and
Popiih Pretender to the Imperial Crown of thefe

Realms.

And to accomplifh thefe Ends, the moft im-
moral, irreligious and unchriftian-like Methods
have been taken, but more particularly in the laft

Years of the Reign of the late Queen Anne, du-
ring which Time all imaginable Endeavours were
ufed by the laid Confpirators, to prejudice the

Minds of the Subjects of this Realm againft the

Legality and Juftice of the faid Settlement of the

Crown : And for that purpofe the Holy Scriptures

were wrefted, and the moft wholfome Doctrines

of the Church of England perverted and abufed

by Men in Holy Orders, in the moft public and
fcandalous Manner, in order to condemn the

Juftice of the late happy Revolution ; and there-

by to fap and undermine the Foundation of the

faid happy Eftablifhment ; and the moft noto-

rious Inftruments of thefe wicked Purpofes were
countenanced by particular Marks of public Fa-
vour and Diftinction ; falfe and dangerous No-
tions of a fole Hereditary Right to the Imperial

Crown of thefe Realms were propagated and en-

couraged by Perfbns in the higheft Truft and
Employments, contrary to the ancient, un-

doubted and eftablifhed Laws of thefe Kingdoms;
jefuitical and fcandalous Diftinctions were invented

and publickly inculcated, to enervate the Force
and Obligation of thofe Oaths which had been

con-
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contrived in the plaineft and ftrongeft Terms by

the Wifdom of Parliament for the Security of

the faid Eftablifhment ; and to conceal their De-

fio-ns, and thereby the better to enable them to

carry on the fame, great Numbers of the faid

Confpirators of all Ranks and Conditions, pre-

tending a Zeal for the Proteftant Succeflion,

openly and voluntarily took the faid Oaths;

groundleis Fears of the Danger of the Church of

England were fomented throughout thefe King-

doms, to diforder the Minds of wdl-difpofed

Proteftants.

By all which and many other fuch ungodly

Practices of the laid Confpirators, the molt

caufclcfs and dangerous Jcaloufies and Diffatif-

factions were created in the Minds of the good

People of this Kingdom, and great Numbers of

well-meaning, but deluded Proteftants were much

difquieted.

But neverthelefs thefe difhonefi Methods were

purfued by the faid Confpirators with indefati-

gable Induftry, as the only Means to weaken the

Foundations of the laid happy Eftablifhment.

And whereas the Difiblution of the late glo-

rious Confederacy againft France, and the Lofs

of the Ballance of Power in Europe, were further

Steps neceffary to complete the Defigns of the

faid Conipirators; and the fame being effected

by the late ignominious Peace with France, the

French King was render'd formidable, and the

Proteftant Succeflion was thereby brought into

the moft imminent Danger; and by thefe and

other pernicious Meafures, the Deftruction fo long

intended by the faid Confpirators, for thefe poor

Nations, feemed near at Hand.

At which Time, and under which moft de-

plorable Circumftances, it pleafed Almighty God

in his infinite Wifdom to call to himfelf the

late Queen Anne, and by a Concurrence of many

moft wonderful Providences to give a quiet and

peaceable Accefiion to his prefent moft Gracious

Majefty to the Throne of his Anceftors, to

which he was received with one full Voice and

Content of Tongue and Heart, and the united

Joy of every good Subject and good Proteftant,

as their only lawful and rightful Liege Lord

;

and altho' from the Moment his Majefty afcended

the Throne to this Day, his Reign has been one

Series of Wifdom, Juftice and Clemency; his

Labours conitant, unwearied and fuccefsful to re-

trieve the Honour and Reputation of thefe Na-
tions ; to re-eftablifti the Trade and recover the

Wealth of his Kingdoms ; and although all ima-

ginable Encouragement has been given to the

-Church of England, and all Tendernefs fhewn

even to his Popifh Subjects, and his conftant Care

has been to procure the univerfal Good of his

People; neverthelefs the faid Confpirators have,

by the moft vile and impious Methods, renewed

their Endeavours to throw thefe Kingdoms into

the utmoft Confufion, and to entail endlefs Mi-
series on us and our Pofterities : For thefe Ends
many of the above-mentioned moft wicked and

dangerous Practices have been repeated with the

utmoft Induftry and Inveteracy, to delude, dif-

order and corrupt the Minds of his Majefty's

good Subjects ; the moft groundlefs Jealoufies have

been fomented againft his wife and happy Admi-
niftration, and in many Parts of his Kingdoms
the moft unnatural, unexampled Riots and Tu-
mults, by the fecret and malicious Endeavours of

the faid Conipirators, have been procured, ftirred

up, and encouraged againft his peaceable Pro-
teftant Subjects, under falfe Pretences of Zeal for

the Church of England, and thereby more effects

ally to delude his good Subjects, and feduce them
from their Allegiance, and prepare them for an
open Rebellion.

And the faid Confpirators having at length re-

folved to deprive thele Nations of the invaluable

Bleflings which they now enjoy under the wife

and gentle Reign of his prefent moft gracious Ma-
jefty King George, and of the certain Profpect

of Happinefs which they have for their Pofterity,

in a Succeflion of Princes derived from himfelf;

did contrive, confederate, and refolve to put their

moft malicious, wicked, and traiterous Defigns

into immediate Execution ; for which purpofe,

James Earl of Derwentwater, William Lord Wid-
drington, William Earl of Niihifdale, George Earl

of Winton, Robert Earl of Camwath, William

Vifcount Kenmure, and William Lord Nairn, to-

gether with Thomas Forfier, Jun. the Lord Charles

Murray, Edward Howard, Thomas Errington,

John Clavering, William Shaftoe, Sir Francis An-
derton, Ralph Standi/h, Richard Townly, Thomas
Butler, Thomas Walton, Gabriel Hajkei, Richard

Gafcoigne, and divers ether Perfons, as falfe

Traitors to his prefent moft facred Majefty King
George, the only lawful and undoubted Sovereign

of thefe Kingdoms, having withdrawn their Al-
legiance, and cordial Love, and true and due
Obedience, which they as good and faithful Sub-

jects owed to his faid Majefty, did, in or about

the Months of September, Otlober, or November,

1 715. moft wickedly, malicioufly, falfcly and
traiteroufly imagine and compafs the Death of his

faid moft facred Majefty.

And for the accomplifhing and executing their

faid traiterous Purpofe, they the faid James Earl

of Derwentwater, William Lord Widdringion,

William Earl of Nithi/dale, George Earl of V'intcun,

Robert Earl of Camwath, William Vifcount Ken-

mure, and William Lord Nairn, did, in or about

the laid Months, or fome of them, and at di-

vers other Times, and in divers Places within

this Kingdom, wickedly and traiteroufly agree,

confederate, confpire, and refolve, together with

many other evil-difpofed Perfons, to raife, ex-

cite, and levy within the Counties of Tcvioidale,

Northumberland, Cumberland, and the County Pa-
latine of Lancafter, and elfewhere within this

Kingdom, a moft cruel, bloody, and deftructive

War, againft his Majefty, in order to depofe and
murther his facred Majefty, and to deprive him
of his Royal State, Crown and Dignity.

And the faid James Earl of Derwentwater,

William Lord Widdrington, William Earl cf

Nithifdale, George Earl of Wintoun, Robert Earl

of Camwath, William Viicount- Kenmure, William

Lord Nairn, their Accomplices and Confederates,

in or about the Months aforefaid, in the Counties

aforefaid, or fome of them, did gather together

great Numbers of his Majefty's Subjects, and

with them did affcmble in a warlike and traiterous

Manner, in order to raife Tumults and Rebellion

within this Kingdom, and having procured great

Quantities of Arms, Ammunition and warlike

Initruments, at the Times and Places aforefaid,

or fome of them, did form and compofe, or did

aflift in the forming and compofing an Army of

Men, confiding of his Majefty's Liege Subjects,

in order to wage War againft his faid Majefty,

for and in behalf and in favour of the faid Pre-

tender
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tender to the Crown of thefe Realms ; and the

laid laft mentioned Confpirators, their Accom-
plices and Confederates, at the Time and Times

and Places aforefaid, and at divers other Times
and Places within this Kingdom, did malicioufly

and traiteroufly make, levy, and raife War and

Rebellion againft his moft facred Majefty, and

in a warlike and hoftile Manner did march thro'

and invade feveral Parts of this Kingdom, and

did unlawfully take and feize the Horfes and

other the Goods and Chattels of many of the

peaceable and good Subjects of his Majefty, and

in other Places did take and feize, from his Ma-
jefty's faithful Subjects, Guns, and other war-

like Inftruments, for the carrying on their trai-

terous Purpofes.

And the laid laft mentioned Confpirators,

their Complices and Confederates, during their

March and Invafion aforefaid, in open Defiance

of his moft facred Majefty 's juft and undoubted

Title to the Imperial Crown of thefe Realms,

did wickedly and traiteroufly caufe and procure

the laid Pretender to be proclaimed, in the moft

public and folemn Manner, as King of thefe

Realms ; and in feveral Places in the Counties

aforefaid, or fome of them, did unlawfully take

and feize from his Majefty's Officers of the Re-
venue the public Money, for the Ufe and Ser-

vice of the faid Pretender ; and tho' many of

the Confpirators are avowed ProfefTors of the

PopiSi Religion, yet the more effectually to

cover and diiguife their moft wicked and traite-

rous Defigns, and to delude his Majefty's Sub-

jects, they did prevail on and procure feveral

Men in Holy Orders, Minifters of the Church of

England, and who had before that Time abjured

the faid Pretender, to accompany, countenance

and abet the faid moft traiterous Enterprize, and

in feveral Places in the Counties aforefaid, where

the faid Conipirators, their Complices and Con-

federates then were, to pray for the faid Pre-

tender in the public Churches, as King of thefe

Realms.

That the faid laft mentioned Confpirators, their

Accomplices and Confederates, did, on or about

the Ninth, Tenth, Eleventh, Twelfth or Thir-

teenth of November aforefaid, traiteroufly feize and
poffefs themfelves of the Town of Prefion in the

County Palatine of Lancajler againft his Majefty,

and did then and there in a warlike and hoftile

Manner levy War, oppofe, engage, and fight

againft his Majefty's Forces •, and did then and

there caufe and procure a miferable and horrid

Slaughter and Murther of many of his Majefty's

faithful Subjects.

All which Treafons and Crimes above-men-

tioned were contrived, committed, perpetrated,

acted and done, by the faid James Earl of Der-

wentwater, William Lord Widdrington, William

Earl of Nithifdale, George Earl of Wintoun, Ro-
bert Earl of Carnwath, William Vifcount Ken-

mure, William Lord Nairn, and other the Con-
fpirators aforefaid, againft our Sovereign Lorci

the King, his Crown and Dignity ; and contrary

to the Duty of their Allegiance, and againft the

Laws and Statutes of this Kingdom.
Of all which Treafons and Crimes, the Knights,

Citizens and Burgeffes in Parliament afTembled,

do, in the Name of themfelves and of all the

Commons of Great Britain, impeach the faid

James Earl of Derwentwater, William. Lord Wid-
igton, William Earl of Nithifdale, George Earl

of Winloun,
\
Robert Earl of Carnwath, William

Vifcount Kenmure, William Lord Nairn, and eve-

ry of them.

And the faid Commons by Proteftation faving

to themfelves the Liberty of exhibiting at any
time hereafter any other Accufations or Impeach-
ments againft the faid James Earl of Derwent-
water, William Lord Widdrington, William Earl
of Nithifdale, George Earl of Wintoan, Robert

Earl of Carnwath, William Vifcount Kenmure,
and William Lord Nairn, or any of them ; and
alfo of replying to the Anfwers which the faid

James Earl of Derwentwater, William Lord Wid-
drington, William Earl of Nithifdale, George Earl
of Wintoun, Robert Earl of Carnwath, William

Vifcount Kenmure, and William Lord Nairn, or
any of them, fhall make to the Premiffes, or any
of them, or to any Impeachment or Accufation

that fhall be by them exhibited according to the

Courfe and Proceedings of Parliament ; do
pray, that the faid James Earl of Derwentwater,
William Lord Widdrington, William Earl of
Nithifdale, George Earl of Wintoun, Robert Earl
of Carnwath, William Vifcount Kenmure, and
William Lord Nairn, be put to anfwer all and
every the PremifTes : And that fuch Proceedings,

Examinations, Trials and Judgments may be
upon them and every of them had and ufed as

fnall be agreeable to Law and Juftice.

Lord High-Steward. Clerk of the Parliament*

read the Record of the Anfwers and Pleas of the

Lords the Prifoners at the Bar to the Impeach-
ments.

Die Jovis 10 Jannarii, 17 15.

THE Order of the Day being read, for

bringing James Earl of Derwentwater,

William Lord Widdrington, William Earl of
Nithifdale, George Earl of Wintoun, Robert Earl
of Carnwath, William Vifcount Kenmure, and
William Lord Nairn, to this Houfe, in order to

their putting in their feveral Anfwers to the Arti-

cles of Impeachment of High-Treafon exhibited

againft them by the Houfe of Commons.
The faid Earl of Derwentwater was brought

to the Bar by the Gentlemen-Ufher of the Black-

Rod, where he kneeled until the Lord Chan-
cellor directed him to rife ; and his Lordfhip ac-

quainted him with the above-mentioned Order,

and demanded of him if he was ready to put in

his Anfwer, which he faid he was, and deliver'd

the fame at the Bar.

Which Anfwer of the faid Earl of Derwent-
water, was read, and is as follows. J

The Anfwer of James Earl of Derwent-
water, to the Articles of Impeachment

of High-Treafon exhibited againft him
by the Hon. the Knights, Citizens, and
Burgeffes of Great Britain in Tariia-
ment Affembled.

TO a Charge of fo high and heinous a Nature
the faid Earl cannot Anfwer without the

deepeft Concern and Affliction, which becomes
more weighty from the Share the Honourable
Houfe of Commons have been pleafed to take in

the Accufation : He affures himfelf however, that

Great AfTembly doth not engage in the Profecu-

tion of an Offence, fo open to Conviction in the

ordinary
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ordinary Courfe of Lav/, with defign to intercept

that Mercy which the Ear], from the Report of

his Majefty's natural Goodnefs, had reafon to ex-

pect. It would be a Thought unworthy any

Member of that Auguft Body, to imagine he

could have the lead defire of fpiiling the Blood of

any of his Fellow-Subjects, whom his Majefty's

great Wifdom fhould think a fit Object of his

Mercy, the laid Earl therefore hopes that his

Profecution is taken out of the common Courfe

pfjuftice, with Intention, that if in his particular

Caie there fhall appear any Circumftances in-

ducing Favour or Companion, both your Lord-

fhips and the Commons may be Interceffors with

his Majefty for Grace towards him •, whereby the

Exercife of the Royal Mercy, upon which the

Earl depended (which amongft all the Virtues of

the Crown moll endears a Monarch to the Love
and Affection of his People) may be extended in

fuch Manner as may demouitrate that Clemency

for which his Majefty is fo greatly renowned, and

not encourage any to offend upon the Preemp-
tion of it for the future. The faid Earl acknow-
leges, with a real Sorrow, that at the time in

the Articles mentioned he was in Arms, and with

ethers did march through and invade feveral Parts

of this Kingdom ; and confeffes he is thereby guilty

of the Offence wherewith he is charged in the faid

Articles. But if any Offence of that kind was

ever attended with Circumftances which might

move Companion, the faid Earl hopes he may be

intiticd to it: He begs Leave to inform your

Lordfnips, That his Temper and Inclination dif-

pofed him to live peaceably under his Majefty's

Government, and he never had the leaf!: Preju-

dice or Malice againft his Perfon, nor was he

ever heretofore concerned in or privy to any De;
fign or Contrivance to fubvert or difturb the

eftablifhed Government, the Laws or Religion

of this Kingdom •, and if any Methods were taken

by others to accomplish any of thofe Ends, he

was abfolutely a Stranger to them ; nor did he

now engage in this unhappy Undertaking upon
any previous Concert or Contrivance for any fuch

purpofe; but being young and unexperiene'd,

he rafhly, and without any Deliberation, engaged

himfelf to meet at Plchifield in Northumberland,

on Affurance that many of his Relations and Ac-
quaintance would appear there ; that his Under-
taking was fudden, appears in that he engaged

in it without any previous Preparation of Men,
Horfes, Arms, or other warlike Accoutrements

;

and as the faid Earl cannot be juftly reproached

with any cruel, fevere, or harfh Action during

the Continuance in Arms, fo he took the firft

Opportunity that offered of fubmitting to the

King's Mercy. After the fudden Skirmifhes at

Preflon, the faid Earl, with others, was follici-

tous to prevent any farther Deffcuction of the

Lives of his Majefty's Subjects, and inftrumental

to induce all in Arms to fubmit themfelves to the

King, provided they might be fecured of their

Lives. One of his Majefty's Officers, fent from

the Genera], gave them Encouragement to be-

lieve, that the Surrender of themfelves would be

the ready way to obtain the King's Mercy : In

Confidence Whereof, when a Cefiation was agreed

on, the (aid Earl offer'd himfelf to become one
of the Hoftages for them till the next Morning,
in which time he received further Affurances from
the Officers, that the King was a Prince of known
Clemency, that this was a diftinguifhine; part of
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his Character, and that the free Surrender to

Mercy would be the mod proper means to ob-
tain it. The faid Earl believes his Majefty's Of-
ficers were very fenfible, and will be ib juft as

to acknowledge, that it had not been impracti-
cable for many of thofe at Prefton to make their

way through his Majefty's Forces ; but this At-
tempt muft have occafioned the lofs of many
Lives, and might have been productive of ill

Confequences to the Government, which the faid

Earl wasdefirous to prevent; and when the time
agreed on for the Cefiation was near expired, and
General TVUls feemed uneafy in not having re-

ceived any Meffage from thofe in the Town, the
faid Earl writ a Letter to exhort them to fur-

render to the King's Mercy, and at the fame
time declared to the faid General, and other
Officers, that whatever happened, he was deter-

mined to continue with them, and rely entirely

On his Majefty's Clemency and Goodnefs, which
he had Encouragement to expect ; and in fuch
Circumftances the faid Earl cannot diftruft your
Lordfhips or die Commons readinefs, to ufe their

Mediation for Mercy on his Behalf, which will

lay him under the higheft Obligations of Duty
and Affection to his Majefty, and perpetual Gra-
titude to both Houfes of Parliament.

Derwentwater.

The material Words of which Anfwer appear-
ing not to be fufficiently exprefs and clear, the
Lord Chancellor afked the faid Earl if he meant
by the faid Anfwer to plead guilty to the Hi^h-
Treafon in the laid Articles of Impeachment con-
tain'd.

He faid he did, and fubmitted to the King's
Mercy, and humbly defir'd their Lordfliip's ln-
terceffion to his Majefty ; and his faid Anfwer
and Plea was recorded accordingly.

And he withdrew.

Then the Lord V/iddrington was brought to the
Bar, and having there alio kneeled, was acquaint-
ed by the Lord Chancellor with the aforenvn-
tioned Order, and afk'd the fame Queftrofi as the
Earl of Derwentwater; and he hkewife delivered
in his Anfwer, which was read as follows

:

The Anfwer of William Lord Widdrington
to the Articles of Impeachment of Bigh-
Treafott exhibited againft him by the lion-

the Knights, Citizens, and Burgees of
Great-Britain in ^Parliament affembled.

IT is with inexpreffible Concern and Affliction

the faid Lord appears before this Auguft Af-
fembly charged with Crimes of the molt heinous
Nature ; and though it is natural to Mankind to

endeavour to conceal their Guilt, and make ufe
of all manner of Defence, especially in the cafe

of Life, yet as he furrendred himfelf at Pre/Ion,

intircly relying on his Majefty's Mercy, fo he is

now refolved not to take anyMeaiiires which
may argue the leaft.Diffidence of that Mercy, or
of your Lordfhip's Goodnefs ; and therefore the
faid Lord confeffes he is guilty of the Treafon
wherewith he is charged in the faid Articles ; and
after having thus freely acknowledged his Offence,
he begs leave to lay his Cafe before your Lord-
fhips, and humbly hopes, when the particular Cir-

cumftances are confidered, it will not be thought
C to
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to merit the moft rigorous Punifhment, but that

both your Lordfhips, and the Honourable Houfe

of Commons, which look upon him as a proper

Objeft of his Majefty's Clemency ; and he hum-

bly hopes he may not be thought the lefs un-

worthy of Favour, in that he never before of-

fended, nor was at any time privy to, or ac-

quainted with any Defign or Contrivance to de-

ilroy or difturb the eftablifhed Government, the

Laws or Religion of this Kingdom, but came

unawares into this fudden and unpremeditated

Action •, for although he had met with public

Rumours and Reports of intended Invafions from

Abroad, and Infurrections at Home, yet he never

knew, or any other way heard of any formed De-

fign agaiod the Government, till he was told the

NightWore of a Meeting intended at Plainfield

in ^Northumberland on the fixth of Otlober lad ;

and being foon after informed, that almod all

his Neighbours and Acquaintance had there met

in Arms, he took a hafty and inconfiderate Re-

folutlon of joining them ; nor was he in any fort

prepared for fuch an Undertaking, having only

ibme of his own Family with him, no Arms but

his common Fowling-Pieces and wearing Swords,

and fewer Horfes than he had conftantly kept for

feveral Years before •, and nothing but the Report

of fo many of his Friends being engaged could

have hurried him on to an Entcrprize fo unac-

countably rafh and unjuftifiable ; and he is wil-

ling to hope your Lordfhips will efteem it fome

Alleviation of his Crime, that in a Commotion

cf that Nature there was fo little Violation of the

Rights and Properties of thofe who oppofed them;

for he believes few Inftances can be found, where

fuch a Multitude continued fo long in Arms with-

out doing greater Acts of Violence and Injuftice.

The faid Lord cannot charge himfelf with any

injurious Acts to the Property of his Fellow-

Subjects, and endeavoured to prevent them in

others ; and hopes it was thence owing in fome

Meafure, that there was (hewn all along greater

Marks of Moderation and Humanity, than is

common in fuch a warlike and hoftile Proceed-

ing. The Suddennefs of the Attack at Prejlon,

without any previous Summons, admitted no

time for mediating a Submifiion before the lofs

of that Blood which was there unfortunately fpilt ;

but after the Heat and Surprize of the firft

Action was over, a Ceftation of Arms was de-

fired, and upon the mutual Mefiages which then

pafied, the Officers fent from the General encou-

raged them to believe the furrendering themfelves

would be the ready way to obtain the King's

Mercy, and gave them repeated AfTuranccS, that

they iubmitted to a Prince of the greateft Cle-

mency in the World: Upon thcfe Hopes and

Affurances they made a general Surrender of them-

felves to the King; and the faid Lord may juft-

Jy take notice to your Lordfhips, that as he was

the laft who took up Arms, fo he was the fird who
procured a Meeting of the chief Perfons among
them, in order to lay them down •, and cannot

,bt but your Lordfhips, and the Honourable

Houfe of Commons, will think it equitable to

make fome Diflinction between an obdinate Re-
fiftance and an early and humble Submifiion,

whereby the Peace and Tranquillity of this part

ol his Majefty's Dominions was intirely redored.

Nature muft have darted at yielding themfelves

up to a certain and ignominious Death, when it

ift be acknowledged that it was not impracti-

cable for many of them to have efcaped •, and it

was pofii'ole fb great a Number grown defperate

might have obtained further Succefs, and thereby

prevented the fo fpeedy iupprefling that Insur-

rection ; but the faid Lord, and the red, having

with the utmod Confidence relied on the Afili-

fan'ces of his Majefty's great Clemency, and the

hopes of Mercy, which had been given them

from the Officers who commanded the Royal

Forces, he is encouraged with great Earneftncis

to implore the Interceffion of your Lordfhips,

and the Honourable Houfe of Commons, with his

Majefty, for that Mercy on which they whol-

ly depended ; and as he doth not know where

Mercy was refuied to thofe who fo early and

with fo much Resignation fubmitted to it, fo he

humbly hopes your Lordfhips may be induced

to think, that the Exercife of this Divine Virtue

by his Majedy towards thofe who cad themfelves

at his Royal Feet upon the fble Profpect and Ex-

pectation of it, will appear no lefs glorious to

his Majedy, and prove no lefs advantagious to

the future Quiet and Tranquillity of his Govern-

ment, than any Examples of Judice in fuch a

Cafe can be likely to do : And whatever Marks
of Goodnefs and Favour his Majedy (hall vouch-

safe to the faid Lord, will not fail to engage

him by the dronged Tyes of Gratitude, to de-

mondrate in the future Courfe of his Life the moft

conftant inviolable Duty to his Majefty, and the

mod real Edeem and Veneration for your Lord-
fliips and the Honourable Houfe of Commons.

Widdrington.

And the faid Lord Widdrington being afked if

he had any thing farther to fay, he begg'd to be

excuied all Imperfections in his faid Anfwer, faid

he had been indifpofed with the Gout in his Sto-

mach, and was not able to employ himfelf in

preparing his Anfwer till lad Night, and finifhed

it but this Morning, and humbly implored their

Lordfhips Interceffion to his Majedy for Favour

and Mercy ; and his Anfwer and Plea was record-

ed accordingly.

And he withdrew.

Then the Earl of Nithifdak was brought to

the Bar, and having there likewiie kneeled, was

acquainted with the forementioned Order, and
afked the fame Quedion as the Earl of Derwent-

water, and he alio delivered in his Anfwer, which

was read as follows.

The Anfwer of William Earl of Nithifdale,

to the Articles of Impeachment of High-

Treafon Exhibited againji him by the Ho-
nourable the Knights, Citizens, and Bur-
geffes of Great -Britain in 'Parliament

AffemUed.

IT is with the utmod Confufion the faid Earl

appears at your Lordfhip's Bar, under ths

Weight of an Impeachment by the Commons of

Great Britain for High-Treafon •, he humbly begs

Leave, in Extenuation of his Crime, to affure

your Lordfhips, that he was always a zealous

Afierter of the Liberties of his Country, and ne-

ver engaged in forming or carrying on any De-
fign to iubvert the antient edablifhed Govern-

ment, and the good Laws of this Kingdom ;

but being Summoned by thofe entruded with

the Adminidration of the Government in Scot-

land



1 7 1 5. H. L; and others for High-Treafon.:

land to appear at Edinburgh, and beino- af-

fured if he went thither he fhould be made
clofe Prifoner, he did not obey the Summons

;

but in all humble Manner, applied for their In-

dulgence in difpenfing with his being committed
to Goal, offering to give any Bail for his peace-

able and quiet Behaviour ; which being refuted,

and being at that time in fo ill a State of Health,
that a Confinement in Edinburgh Cattle would
have endangered his Life, he was forced to ab-
fcond and kept private till feveral of the Perfons
mentioned in the faid Impeachment, with many
other of his Neighbours, appeared in Arms very
near the Place where the laid Earl lay concealed ;

and then he inconfiderately and unfortunately

(with four of his Domeftics, and no other Per-

fon whatfoever) joined them, and proceeded in

their Company to the Places in the faid Articles

of Impeachment mentioned ; but he knew no-
thing of the intended Infurrection till they were
actually in Arms. The faid Earl is deeply fenfi-

ble of his great Offence, and not affecting De-
lay, nor being willing to give your Lordfhips,
or the Honourable Houfe of Commons, anr yn-
neceffary Trouble •, he does with a Sorrow, equal

to his Crime, confefs that he is guilty of the Trea-
fon in the faid Articles of Impeachment contain-

ed, and throws himfelf at his Maj city's Feet,

imploring his Royal Mercy ; and to incline his

Majefty thereto, and induce your Lordfhips to

recommend him as an Object thereof, he beo-s

Leave to inform your Lordfhips, that wfisn he,

and the reft that were with him at Pre/ion, had
engaged in a Battle, a Ceffation of Arms beino-

agreed to, they had Intimations from his Maje-
fty's Officers, that if they fubmitted, they might
expect the King's Mercy ; and Hiftory abound-
ing with In fiances of Conditions fiipuiated with
Generals, even with Rebels, and afterwards agreed
to, and confirmed by their Sovereigns, they were
prevailed on by fuch Encouragement together
with the Confideration of his Majefty's known Cle-
mency, to furrender themfelves Pnfoners, where-
by the Lives of great Numbers of his Majefty's
good Subjects were faved, which by an obftinate
Refiftance would inevitably have been deftroyed ;

and therefore he molt humbly begs your Lord-
Ihips would be pleafed to reprefent his Cafe to
his Majefty in the molt favourable Manner ; not
doubting but by your Lordfhips powerful Inter-
ceflion, he (hall find, that as he performed the
Duty of a good Chriftian, in concurring & pre-
vent the Effufion of Blood ; fo he acted the Part
of a wife Man in relying upon a Mercy fo ex-
tenfive as that of his Majefty : And he prefumes,
when the Honourable Houfe of Commons are
apprized of the Nature of his Cafe, they will not
interpofe to prevent him from having a Share in
the Benefit of that Mercy.

Nithifdale.

II
He faid he had no Anfwer in Writing, but

defired to throw himfelf on the Kino's Mercy
and humbly implored their Lordfhip°'s Intercf-
fion to his Majefty on his behalf ; and allured
the Houle,_ if the fame were granted, he fhould
think himfelf obliged to live under the ftr'icMt
Tyes of Loyalty to his Majefty \ and as to the
laid Articles, he faid he was guilty of the High-
Treafon contained in the laid Articles of Impeach-
ment againft him ; and the faid Plea was recorded
accordingly.

And he withdrew.

Then the Vifccunt Kenmure was brought to the
Bar, and having there kneeled alfo, was"acquaint-
ed by the Lord Chancellor with the forementioned
Order, and afked the fame Queftion as the Earl
of Derzventwater.

He faid he had no Anfwer in Writing, but
was guilty of the Charge of High-Treafon con-
tained in the Articles of Impeachment againft
him, and begged the Houfe would intercede with
his Majefty for Mercy % and his Plea was recorded
accordingly.

And he withdrew.

Then the Lord Nairn was brought to the Bar
and having there alfo kneeled, was acquainted by
the Lord Chancellor with the forementioned Or-
der, and afked the fame Queftion as the Earl of
Derwentwater.

He faid he threw himfelf upon the King's Mer-
cy, and begged the Interceffion of this Houfe to his
Majefty

; and as to the Articles of Impeachment
exhibited againft him, he faid he was guilty of the
High-Treafon contained in the faid Articles ; and
his Plea was recorded accordingly.
Then he delivered in a Petition at the Bar, and

the lame was read as follows.

To the Right Honourable the Lords
Spiritual and Temporal in Parlia-
ment Ajjcmbled.

"The humble Petition of William Lord Nairn,

And the faid Earl of Nithifdale being afked if
he had any thing further to fay, he aid he had
nothing but to implore the King's Mercy ; and
his Anfwer and Pica was recorded accordingly
And he withdrew.

to

Then the Earl of Carnivath was brought to the
Bar, and having there likewife kneeledf was ac-
quainted by the Lord Chancellor with the fore-
mentioned Order, and afked the fame Queftion as
tne fcarJ of Djrzventzvater.

Vol. VI.

Sheweth,

THAT your Petitioner was educated, and
hath always continued a Proteftant ac-

cording to the Difcipline of the Church of Ew-W;_ and though, by reafon of feme miftaken
Principles he unwarily imbib'd in his tender Yean
he did not in all refpecls conform to the late
Revolution, lying under the lefs Neceffity, for
that he had married an Heirefs, in whom all the
Right of your Petitioner's Eftate is inverted;
and tho' he never took the Oaths, yet he always
peaceably fubmitted to, and lived quietly under
the Government as by Law Eftabhfhed, until
the breaking out of this Rebellion, in which your
I etitioner was inadvertently involv'd, but not be-
fore the Lord Mar, and his Adherents, had for
a confidence time made themfelves Matters of
Perth and Dunkeld, and thereby furrounded your
Petitioner's whole Eftate, and came to your Peti-
tioner's Houfe, lying in the middle between thofe
places.

Your Petitioner heartily repents of this rafh
Undertaking, and fofemnly declares he knew

C 2 nothing
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nothing of any previous Confultations, or Con-

fpiracies in Favour of the Pretender, before he

actually appeared in Arms ; nor knew any thing

about croffing the Forth, untiil the Morning he

was fent over under Maeintoeh's Command •, and

then was fo far from approving of that Expedi-

tion, that tho' to avoid the Imputation of Cow-

ardice he would hazard his own Perfon therein,

your Petitioner ordered back all his Dependants,

and was only attended by his Son, and four Ser-

vants, who would not leave him in a Time of

Danger, tho' often defired ; nor was your Petitio-

ner privy to any Defigns of marching into England,

for having been bred a Seaman, he had no Preten-

fions to Knowledge in the Land Service.

Your Petitioner being now fenfible of his Er-

rors, hath pleaded guilty to the Articles of Im-

peachment of High-Treafon exhibited againft him,

by the Honourable Houfe of Commons, and

thrown himfelf at his Majeffy's Feet ;,
humbly

befeeching your Lordfhips, in Commiferation of.

the deplorable Circumltances of your Petitioner,

and his twelve Children, to recommend him to his

Majefty for that Mercy, which at the Time of his

Surrender he was made to believe he might rea-

fonably expect.

This will lay your Petitioner and his Pofterity

under the greater! Obligations of Duty and Grati-

tude to his Majefty, and bind them for ever to biefs

your Lordfhips as the merciful Inftruments of pro-

curing iiich a gracious Deliverance.

Andyour Petitioner /hall ever pray, &c.

NAIRN.
i

And being afked if he had any thing further to

fay, he faid he had not, and withdrew.

Lord High-Steward. My Lords that are the

Prifoners at the Bar, I am to acquaint your Lord-

fhips, that upon any Occafion which fhall be of-

fered you to fpeak for yourfelves, you are to direft

your Speech to the Lords in general •, and fo is

any other Perfon that fhall have Occafion to fpeak

to this Court.

Lord High Steward. James Earl of Derwent-

water, William Lord Widdrington, William Earl

of Nithifdale, Robert Earl of Carnwath, William

Vifcount Kcnmure, and William Lord Nairn,

You ftand impeached of High-Treafon by the

Commons of Great Britain in Parliament aiTem-

bled •, which Trealbn is contained in the Articles

that have been lately read ; to this you have fe-

verally pleaded guilty, and are thereby convicted.

What fay you, James Earl of Derwentwater, why

Judgment fhould not pafs upon you according to

Law ?

Earl of Derwentwater. T Only humbly beg leave

J- of my Noble Peers to

repeat a few Circumftances mentioned in my Anf-

wer to the Articles of Impeachment exhibited a-

gainft me by the Honourable Houfe of Commons.

Bat the Terrors of your Lordfhips jufl Sen-

tence, which at once deprive me of my Life and

Eftaie, and compleat the Misfortunes of my
Wife and innocent Children, are fb heavy upon

my Mind, together with my Unexperience, that

I am fcarce able to alledge what may extenuate

my Offence, if any thing can do it. I have con-

LiL-d myfelf guilty ; but, my Lords, that Guilt

was rafhly incurred without- any Premedijajtion,

as I hope your Lordfhips will be convinced by

one Particular : I beg leave to obferve, I was

wholly unprovided with Men, Hories, Arms,

and other Neceffaries, which in my Situation I

could not have wanted, had I been privy to any

formed Defign : As my Offence was hidden, fb

my Submiffion was early ; when his Majeffy's

Generals thought fit to demand Hoftages for fe-

curing the Terms of the Cefiation, I voluntarily

offered myfelf, without which the Cefiation

might poflibly have proved ineffectual : And
whilft I continued Hoftage, the great Character

of his Majcfly's Clemency, and the repeated En-
couragement I had to hope for Mercy, by fur-

rendering to it, foon determined me ; and I ac-

cordingly declared my Refolution to remain with

his Majefty's Forces, and from that Time fub-

mitted, myfelf to his Goodnefs, on which I full

entirely depend. I humbly hope to obtain the

Mediation of your Lordfhips, and of the Ho-
nourable Houfe of Commons, in my behalf; fb-

lemnly protefting my future Conduct fhall fhew

me not altogether unworthy your generous Com-
pafnon for my Life, which is all I can beg of his

Majefty.

Lord High-Steward. My Lord Derwentwater,

your Lordfhip's Voice hath not been perfectly

heard to this End of the Court, therefore I afk

you whether you have pleaded any thing in Arreft

of Judgment ?

Lord Derwentwater. No, my Lords.

Lord High-Steward. Lord Widdrington, what
have you to fay for yourfelf why Judgment fhould

not pafs upon you according to Law ?

Lord Widdrington.MY Lords I have aban-

doned all manner of
Defence ever fince I firft furrender'd myfelf to

his Majefty's Royal Clemency, and only now
beg leave to repeat to your Lordfhips fome Cir-

cumftances of my unhappy Cafe, which I have
already ki forth in my Anfwer.

Your Lordfhips fee before you an unfortunate

Man, who after leading a private and retired

Life for many Years, has by one rafh and incon-

fiderate Action, expofed himfelf and his Family

to the greateft Calamities and Mifery, and is now
upon the Point of receiving the ievereft Sentence

directed by any of our EngUJh Laws.

I do proteit to your Lordfhips, that I was
never privy to any concerted Meafures againft

his Majefty's Royal Perfon, or the eftablifhed

Government : As to the Infurrection in Northum-

berland, I only heard of it accidentally the Night
before it happen'd, and being fcon after informed

that all my Neighbours and Acquaintance had

met in Arms, a crowd of confufed and miftaken

Notions hurried me at once into a precipitate

Refolution of joining them ; a Refolution, which,

I muft own, I could never fince calmly reflect

upon without part of that Confufion I find my-
felf under in the public Acknowledgment of fb

much Rafhnefs and Folly. After thus plunging

out of my Depth, as unprepared for fuch an En-
terprize as the Action was unpremeditated, I

cannot, for my own Particular, upon the ftrictef1

Recollection charge myfelf with any Violation

of the Properties of my Fcllow-Subjecls : But

on the contrary, I always endeavoured to encou-

rage Humanity and Moderation during the whole

courfe
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courfe of our miferable Expedition > and in order that furrendring to his Majefty's Mercy, was the

to make the beft Atonement in my Power for ready Way to obtain it, with repeated Aflbrances

the crreat Fault I had been guilty of, I can juftly that his Majefty was a Prince of the greateft Cle-

fay, that I was in no fmall Degree inftrumental mency.

in procuring a general Submiflion to his Majefty. Upon thofe Hopes and Affurances I fubmitted

But, my Lards, however willing or defirous, myfelf, and full entirely depend on his Majefty's

either I or any others might be to put a fpeedy Goodnefs, earnefcly b'efeeching your Lordfhips

End to thofe unfortunate Troubles ; Self-prefer- and the Honourable Houfe of Commons, to in-

vation, the firft and moil powerful Law of Na- tercede with his Majefty on my behalf,

ture, would have render'd the Propofal vain and And I folemnly promile your Lordfhips I

fruitlefs, had not the Officers who commanded fhall, during the Remainder of my Life, pay

the Royal Forces given us Hopes of Mercy, and the utmoft Duty and Gratitude to his moft gra-

affured us we fubmitted to a Prince of the greateft cioiis Majefty, and the higheft Veneration and

Clemency in the World. Thefe Hopes, and Reipect to your Lordfhips and the Honourable

this Affurance, ahfwered the ftrongeft Objections, Houfe of Commons,

overcame all remaining Difficulties, and gave the

finishing Stroke to a general Surrender, whereby Lord High-Steward. I muft alfo afk your

the further Effufion of Briti/h Blood was pre- Lordfhip (your Lordfhip's Voice not reaching

vented, and a perfect Tranquillity reftored to thus far) whether you have pleaded any thing in

thefe Parts of his Majefty's Dominions. Arreft of Judgment.

My Lords, as this my firft Attempt was rafh Lord Nithi/dale. No, my Lords, I have

and unpremeditated, as I always ufcd and pro- not.

moted Moderation and Humanity towards my
Fellow-Subjects, and as I did not obftinately per- Lord High-Steward. Lord Carnwath, what

fill in my Fault, but was the firft who propoied have you to fay for yourfelf why Judgment

an early Submiflion to his Majefty, I humbly fhould not pafs upon you according to Law ?

hope my unhappy Cafe, and the deplorable Con-

dition of my unfortunate Children, already de- Lord Carnwath.

prived of their tender Mother, will raife a gene-

rous Compaffion in your Lordfhips, and the Ho- fembly with a Repetition of what I faid, when
nourable Houfe of Commons •, and I moft formerly before your Lordfhips and his Majefty's

earneftly entreat both your Lordfhips, and that Council.

Honourable Houfe, to become Interceffors with I hope thefe Noble Lords entertain that fa-

his Majefty in my behalf, for that Mercy which vourable Opinion of my fincere Dealing then, as

I was encouraged to hope for when I firft fur- to believe that want of Experience and Know-
rendered, and which I have ever fince with the ledge of the Laws was the great Inducement of

utmoft Confidence relied on. engaging me in this fatal and unhappy Underta-

I have only to add my moft folemn Affurance king,

before this Auguft Aflembly, that no future The only thing which I can hope or wifh for

Time fhall ever find me wanting in the moft in- is his Majefty's Mercy ; he has the Character of
violable Duty and Gratitude to that merciful a merciful Prince : Should it pleafe him to think

Prince who gives me my Life, and reftores a me a proper Object for it (tho' I muft confefs my-
Father to five miferable and diftrefled Orphans; felf a very unworthy one) all I can fay, my Lords,

and I fhall always retain the higheft Efteem and is, that the Remainder of my Life fhall convince

Veneration for your Lordfhips and the Honour- his Majefty, and all the World, of my true Pe-
able Houfe of Commons. nitence and Gratitude.

My Lords, I am yet an unworthy Member of

Lord High-Steward. Lord Widdrington, for this great Body, the Peerage, now expectino-

greater certainty I afk your Lordfhip whether your Lordfhips Judgment as to Life or Death

:

you have pleaded any thing in Arreft of Judg- Should it be for Life, my Demeanour and Gar-
ment, riage for the future will be fuch, as none of your

Lord IViddrington. No, my Lords, I have Lordfhips fhall be afham'd of having fhew'd me
not. Compaffion ; but fhould it be for Death, God's

Will be done ; to my laft Hour I fhall pray for

Lord High-Stcv:ard. William Earl of Nithif- the Nation's and your Lordfhips Profperity

;

dak, what hath your Lordfhip to lay for yourfelf having this Comfort in my prefent Diftrefs, that

why Judgment fhould not pais upon you accord- your Lordfhips are my Judges at this Tribunal:
ing to Law ? And yet a greater Comfort have I, that I am

foon to appear before a greater, where I can't

Lord Nithifduk. ~K /W Y Lords, I have con- defpair of finding Mercy and Forgivenefs for all

IVA felled myfelf guilty, re- my Sins,

lying on his Majefty's Mercy ; and I beg leave I beg God Almighty's Pardon for them : I

to allure your Lordfhips I was never privy to any have already afk'd his Majefty's, and I do it now

;

Plot or Defign againft his Majefty's Perfon or and I do humbly beg leave, once more, and per-

Government, and was unprovided with any Ne- haps the laft Occafion that ever I fhall havej to

ceflaries for fuch a Purpofe •, but rafhly and in- defire that your Grace, this noble Houfe, and
confidently, with only four of my Servants, the Honourable Houfe of Commons of Great
joined thofe who appeared in Arms in my Neigh- Britain, who are now here, would intercede with
bourhood, and was one of the laft who went un- his Majefty for me.
to them. I take my Leave of your Lordfhips, and wifh

At Prefion, my Lords, his Majefty's Generals you all Plappinefs.

gave great Hopes and Encouragement to believe ^

Lord
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Lord High-Steward. Does your Lordfhip offer

any thing in Arreft of Judgment.

Lord Carnwath. No, my Lords.

Lord High-Steward. Lord Kenmure, what have

you to fay for yourfelf why Judgment fhould not

pafs upon you according to Law ?

Lord Kenmure. "\ /TY Lords, I am truly fen-

j_VJ fible of my Crime, and

want Words to exprefs my Repentance. God
knows I never had any perlbnal Prejudice againft

his Majefty, nor was I ever acceffary to any pre-

vious Dcfign againft him. I humbly beg my
noble Peers and the Honourable Houfe of Com-
mons to intercede with the King for Mercy to

me, that I may live to mew myfclf the dutifulleft

of his Subjects, and to be the Means to keep my
Wife and four fmall Children from ftarving •, the

Thoughts of which, with my Crime, makes me
the moft unfortunate of all Gentlemen.

Lord High-Steward. My Lord, your Voice not

being heard to this End of the Court, I would know
whether in what you have faid you have offeted

any thing in Arreft of Judgment.

Lord Kenmure. No, my Lords.

Lord High-Steward. Lord Nairn, what have

you to fay for yourfelf why Judgment mould not

pais upon you according to Law ?

Lord Nairn. T Am very fenfible how unfit I am
JL to plead my own Caufe before

your Grace (my Lord *High-Steward) and this

auguft Affembly ; and therefore, though I could

fay much to extenuate the Crime for which I ftand

impeached, yet I chufe rather to lay my whole

Strefs upon the King's Mercy, for which he is fo

renowned, and which I was put in hopes of at the

Time of my Surrender. In Con fideration where-

of, and in Companion to an afflicted Wife and

twelve Children, I ftill hope, by the Mediation

of your Grace, my noble Lords, and the Ho-
nourable Houfe of Commons, I may obtain it

;

fclemnly protefting, that in Gratitude for fo fignal

a Deliverance, I will, to the End of my Life,

remain a dutiful and obedient Subject to his moft

gracious and facred Majefty King George.

Lord High-Steward. My Lord, for greater

certainty, I afk your Lordfhip whether you have
offered any thing in Arreft of Judgment ?

Lord Nairn. No, my Lords.

Serjeant at Arms. O Yes, O Yes, O Yes !

Our lbvereign Lord the King ftrictly charges and
commands all manner of Perfons to keep Silence

upon Pain of Imprifonment.

Lord High-Steward. TAmes Earl of Derwent-

.) water, William Lord
Widdrington, William Earl of Nithijdale, Robert

Earl of Carnwath, William Vifcount Kenmure,
William Lord Nairn ;

You ftand impeached, by the Commons of
Great Britain in Parliament affembled, of High
Treafon, in traiteroufly imagining, and compaf-
fing the Death of his moft facred Majefty, and
in confpiring for that end to levy a bloody and
deftructive War againft his' Majefty, in order to

depofe and murder him > and in levying War ac-

cordingly, and proclaiming a Pretender to his

Crown to be King of thefe Realms.

Which Impeachment, tho' one of your Lord-

fhips, in the Introduction to his Plea, fuppoics to

be out of the ordinary and common Courfe of the

Law and Juftice, is yet as much a Courfe of Pro-

ceeding according to the Common Law, as any

other whatfoever.

If you had been indicted, the Indictment muft
have been removed and brought before the Houfe
of Lords (the Parliament fitting.) In that cafe

you had ('tis true) been accufed only by the Grand

Jury of one County ; in the prefent, the whole

Body of the Commons of Great Britain, by their

Reprefentatives, are your Accufers.

And this Circumftance is very obfervable, (to

exclude all poffible Suppofition of Hardfhip as to

the Method of proceeding againft you) That how-
ever all great Affemblies amongft us are apt to

differ on other Points, You were impeached by
the unanimous Opinion of the Houfe of Commons
(not one contradicting.)

The found themfelves, it feems, fo much con-

cerned in the Prefervation of his moft truly facred

Majefty, and the Proteftant Succeffion (the very

Life and Soul of thefe Kingdoms) that they could

not omit the firft Opportunity of taking their

proper Part, in order to fo fignal and neceffary

an Act of his Majefty's Juftice.

And thus the whole Body Politic of this free

Kingdom has in a manner rofe up in its own De-
fence, for the Punifhment of thofe Crimes, which,

'twas rightly apprehended, had a direct Tendency
to the everlafting Diifolution of it.

To this Impeachment you have feverally plead-

ed, and acknowledged yourfelves guilty of the

High-Treafon therein contained.

Your Pleas are accompanied with fome Variety

of Matter, to mitigate your Offences, and to ob-

tain Mercy.

Part of which, as fome of the Circumftances

faid to have attended your Surrender (Teeming to

be offered rather as Arguments only for Mercy,

than any thing in Mitigation of your preceding

Guilt) is not proper for me to take Notice of.

But as to the other Part, which is meant to ex-

tenuate the Crimes of which you are convicted,

it is fit I fhould take this Occafion to make fome

Obfervations to your Lordfhips upon it ; to the

end that the Judgment to be given againft you

may clearly appear to be Juft and Righteous, as

well as Legal ; and that you may not remain

under any fatal Error in refpect of a greater Ju-
dicature, by reflecting with lefs Horror and Re-

morfe on the Guilt you have contracted than it

really deferves.

It is alledged by fome of your Lordfhips, that

you engaged in this Rebellion without previous

Concert or Deliberation, and without fuitable Pre-

parations of Men, Horfes and Arms.

If this fhould be fuppofed true, on fome of your

Lordfhips averring it, I defire you to confider,

that as it exempts you from the Circumftance of

contriving this Treafon, fo it very much aggravates

your Guilt in that Part you have undoubtedly

born in the Execution of it.

For it fhews, That your Inclinations to rebel

were fo well known (which could only be from a

continued Series of your Words and Actions)

that the Contrivers of that horrid Defign depended

upon you, and therein judg'd rightly : That your

Zeal to engage in this Treafon was fo ftrong, as

to
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to carry you into it on the leaft Warning, and the

very firft Invitation : That you would not excufe

vcurfclves by Want of Preparation, as you might

have done •, and that rather than not have a Share

in the Rebellion, you would plunge yourfelves

into it, almoft naked and unprovided for fuch an

Enterprize : In fhort, that your Men, Horfes, and

Arms were not fo well prepared, as they might,

and would have been on longer Warning ; but

your Minds were.

It is alledged alfo as an Extenuation of your

Crime, that no cruel or harfh Action (I luppofe

is meant no Rapine or Plunder, or worfej has

been committed by you.

This may, in Part only be true. But then

your Lordfhips will at the fame time confidcr,

diat the laying wafte a Tract of Land bears but a

litde Proportion in point of Guilt, compared with

that Crime of which you ftand convicted •, an

open Attempt to deftrcy the be ft of Kings, to

ruin the whole Fabric, and raze the very Foun-

dations of a Government, the beft fuited of any

in the World, to perfect the Happinefs, and fup-

port the Dignity of human Nature : The former

Offence cauies but a Mifchief that is ibon reco-

vered, and is ufualiy pretty much confined ; the

latter, had it fucceeded, mull: have brought a

lading and univerfal Deftruction on the whole

Kingdom.
Befides, much of this was owing to Accident ;

your March was fo hafty, partly to avoid the

King's Troops, and partly from a vain Hope to

ftir up Infurrections in all the Counties you paffed

through, that you had not time to fpread Devasta-

tion, without deviating from your main, and, as I

have obferved, much worfe Dcfign.

Farther, 'tis very furprizing, that any con-

cerned in this Rebellion fhould lay their ingaging

in it on the Government's doing a neceffary and

ufual Act in like cafes for its Prefcrvation •, the

giving Orders to confine fuch as were mod likely

to join in that Treafon : 'Tis hard to believe that

any one fhould rebel, merely to avoid being re-

ftrain'd from rebelling , or that a gentle Confine-

ment would not much better have fuited a crazy

State of ELditn, than the Fatigues and Inconve-

niencies of fuch long and hafty Marches in the

Depch of Winter.

You Lordfhips rifing in Arms therefore, has

much more juftiiled the Prudence and Fitnefs of

thofe Orders, than thofe Orders will in any wife

ferve to mitigate your Treafon. Alas ! happy had

it been for ail your Lordfhips had you fallen under

fo indulgent a Reftraint

!

When your Lordfhips fhall in good earneft

apply yourfelves to think impartially on your Cafe,

furely you will not yourfelves believe, that it is

pofhble, in the nature of the thing, to be enga-

ged, and continue fo long engaged, in fuch a diffi-

cult and laborious Enterprize, through Rafhnefs,

Surprize, or Inadvertency : Or that, had the At-

tack at Pr;Jlon been kfs Hidden, (and consequent-

ly the Rebels better prepared to receive it) your

Lordfhips had been reduced the fooner, and with

lefs, if not without any Bloodfhed.

No, my Lords •, thefe, and fuch like, are art-

ful Colourings proceeding from Minds filled with

Expectation of continuing in this World ; and not

from fuch as are preparing for their Defence before

a Tribunal, where the Thoughts of the Heart,
and the true Springs and Caufes of Actions, muft
be laid open.

And now, my Lords, having thus removed
fome falfe Colours you have ufed ; to affift you

yet farther in that neceffary Work of think-

ing on your great Offence as you ought, I

proceed to touch upon foveral Circumftances that

ieem greatly to aggravate your Crime, and

which will deferve your moft ferious Confidera-

tion.

The Divine Virtues ("tis one of your Lord-

fhips own Epithets) which all the World as well

as your Lordfhips acknowledge to be in his Ma-
jefty, and which you now lay claim to, ought

certainly to have with-held your Hands from en-

deavouring to depofe, to deftroy, to murder that

moft Excellent Prince ; fo the Impeachment
fpeaks, and fo the Law conftrues your Actions •,

and this is not only true in the Notion of Law,
but almoft always fo in Deed and Reality : 'Tis

a trite, but very true Remark, that there are but

few Hours between Kings being reduced under

the Power of Pretenders to their Crown, and
their Graves. Had you fucceeded, his Majefty's

Cafe would, I fear, have hardly been an Excep-
tion to that general Rule, fince 'tis highly im-
probable, that Flight fhould have faved any of

that Illuftrious and Valiant Family.

'Tis a farther Aggravation of your Crime, that

his Majefty, whom your Lordfhips would have;

dethroned, affected not the Crown by Force, or

by the Arts of Ambition, but fucceeded peace-

ably and legally to if, and on theDeceafe of her

late Majefty without Iffue, became undoubtedly
the next in courfe of Deicent capable of fucceed-

ing to the Crown, by the Law and Conftitution

of this Kingdom •, as it flood declared fome Years
before the Crown was exprefly limited to the

Houfe of Hanover. This Right was acknow-
leged, and the Deicent of the Crown limited or
confirmed accordingly, by the whole Legislature

in two fucceffive Reigns ; and more than once in

the later, which your Lordfhips Accomplices are

very far from allowing, would biafs the Nation to

that Side.

How could it then enter into the Heart of Men,
to think that private Perfons might with a good
Conicience endeavour to fubvert fuch a Settlement,

by running to tumultuary Arms; and by intoxi-

cating the dreggs of the People with contradictory
Opinions, and groundlefs Slanders ; or that God's
Providence would ever profper fuch wicked, fuch
ruinous Attempts ?

Efpecially if in the next place it be confidered,

that the moft fertile Inventions on the fide of the

Rebellion, have not been able to affign the leaft

fhadow of a Grievance as the Caufe of it : To
fuch poor Shifts have they been reduced on this

Head, that for want of better Colours, it has
been objected, in a iblemn manner, by your
Lordlhips Affociates, to his Majefty's Govern-
ment ; that his People do not enjoy the Fruits of
Peace as our Neighbours have done fince the laft

War : Thus they firft robbed us of our Peace, and
then upbraid us that we have it not. 'Tis a mon-
ftrous Rebellion that can find no fault with the

Government it invades, but what is the Effect of
the Rebellion it fclf.

Your Lordfhips will likewife do well to confi-

der what an additional Burthen your Treafon has

made neceffary oh the People of this Kingdom
;

who wanted, and were about to enjoy fome Re-
fpite : To this end, 'tis well known, that all new,

or encreafe of Taxes, were the laft Year carefully

avoided
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avoided, and his Majefty was contented to have

no more Forces than were juft Efficient to attend

his Pcrlbn, and fhut the Gates of a few Gar-

riibns.

But what his Majefty thus did for the Eafe and

Quiet of his People, you moft ungratefully turn'd

to his Difadvantage, by taking Encouragement

from thence, to endanger his and his Kingdom's

Safety, and to bring Oppreffion on your Fellow-

Subjects.

Your Lordfhips obferve I avoid expatiating on

the Miferies of a Civil War, a very large and

copious Subject •, I (hall but barely fuggeft to you

on that Head, that whatever thofe Calamities

may happen to be in the prefent Cafe, all who
are at any Time or in any Place Partakers in the

Rebellion (efpeciaily Perfons of Figure and Di-

ftincliori) are in fome degree reiponfible for 'em :

And therefore your Lordfhips muft not hold

your felves quite clear from the Guilt of thofe

Barbarities which have been lately committed, by

fuch as are engaged in the fame Treafon with

you, and not yet perfectly reduced, in burning

the Habitations of their Countrymen, and there-

by expofing many Thoufands to Cold and Hunger
in this rigorous Seafon.

I muft be lb juft to fuch of your Lordfhips,

as profefs the Religion of the Church of Rome,

that you ' had one Temptation, and that a great

one, to engage you in this Treafon, which the o-

thers had not ; in that 'twas evident, Succefs on
your Part muft for ever have eftablifned Popery in

this Kingdom, and that probably you could never

have again lb fair an Opportunity.

But then, good God! how muft thofe Pro-

teftants be covered with Ccnfuflon, who entered

into the fame Meafures, without fo much as capi-

tulating for their Religion (that ever I could find

from any Examination I have feen or heard) or

fo much as requiring, much lefs obtaining a frail

Promife, that it mould be preferved, or even tole-

rated.

It is my Duty to exhort your Lordfhips thus, to

think of the Aggravations as well as the Mitiga-

tions (if there be any) of your Offences ; and if I

could have the leaft Hopes, that the Prejudices of

Habit and Education would not be too ftrong for

the moft earneftand charitable Entreaties ; I would
beg you not to rely any longer on thofe Directors

of your Confciences, by whofe Conduct you have,

very probably, been led into this miferable Con-
dition •, but that your Lordfhips would be affifted

by fome of thofe pious and learned Divines of the

Church of England, who have conftanfly bore that

infallible Mark of hncere Chriftians, univerfal

Charity.

And now, my Lords, nothing remains, but that

I pronounce upon you, (and forry lam that it falls

to my Lot to do it) that terrible Sentence of the

Law, which muft be the fame that is ufually given
againft the meaneft Offender in the like Kind.
The moft ignominious and painful Parts of it

are ufually remitted by the Grace of the Crown to

Perfons of your Quality ; but the Law in this Cafe
being deaf to all Diftinctions of Perfons, requires

I fhould pronounce, and accordingly it is adjudged
by tins Court,

" That you, James Earl of Derwentwater,
" William Lord Widdrington, William Earl
1
of Nithifdale, Robert Earl of Carnwatb,

• The King being told of this the next Morning, merrily laid,

" William Vifcount Kenmure, and William
" Lord Nairn, and every of you, return td

" the Prifon of the 'Tower from whence you
" came •, from thence you muft be drawn
" to the Place of Execution ; when you
" come there, you muft be hang'd by the

" Neck, but not till you be Dead ; for you
" muft be cut down alive, then your Bowels
" muft be taken out, and burnt before your
" Faces ; then your Heads muft be iever'd

" from your Bodies, and your Bod ies di-

" vided each into four Quarters ; and thefe

" muft be at the King's difpofal.

And God Almighty be merciful to your

Souls

!

Serjeants at Arms. OYes! Our Sovereign Lord
the King ftrictly charges and commands all man-
ner of Perfons to keep Silence, upon Pain of Im-
prisonment.

Then the Lord High Steward flood up unco-

vered, and declaring there was nothing more to

be done by Vertue of the prefent Commiffion,

broke the Staff, and pronounced it difiblv'd : And
then leaving the Chair, came down to the Wool-
pack, and laid, Is it your Lordfhips Pleafure to

adjourn to the Houfe of Lords ?

Lords. Ay, ay.

And then the Houfe adjourned to the Houfe
above, and the Lords and others returned in the

fame Order they came down.

After Sentence paft great Intereft was made on
their Behalf for Mercy ; inlbmuch, that the Houfe
of Lords prefented an Addrefs to the King, To
Reprieve fuch cf them as Jhould deferve his Mercy %

to which the King only anfwered, That on this and

all other Occafions, he would do what he thought moft

conjiftent with the Dignity of his Crown, and the Safe-

ty of his People. However, Lord Widdrington, Lord
Carnwatb, and Lord Nairn were reprieved, and

afterwards pardoned -, but the other three, Lord
Derwentwater, Lord Nithifdale, and Lord Ken-

mure, were ordered for Execution on Febr. 24.

The Earl of Nithifdale efcap'd the Blow, having

found means of getting out of the Tower in Dit-

guile, the very Night before the Execution *.

Early the next Morning the Scaffold on Tower-

Hill was furrounded with the Guards, and a litde

before ten o'th' Clock the Earl of Derwentwater

and the Lord Vifcount Kenmure, were carried in

an Hackney Coach from the Tower, to the Tran-

fport-Office on Tower-Hill, where there was a Room
hung with Black for their Reception, and there

was a Paflage or Gallery rail'd in, which led from

thence to the Scaffold, which was alfo covered

with Black.

The Earl of Derwentwater was firft led to the

Scaffold, where having fpent fome time in pray-

ing with a Book, he then addrefs'd himfelf to the

Sheriff, and defired the Liberty to read a Paper,

which he had drawn up : This Requeft being

readily granted, he went to the Rails of the Scaf-

fold and read as follows :

EING in a few Minutes to appear before
1

the

Tribunal of God, where, though mcfi unworthy,

1 hope to find Mercy, which I have not found from
Men now in Power, I have endeavoured to make

my Peace with his Divine Majefty, by moft humbly

begging Pardon for all the Sins of my Life ; and T

It v.-as the Left thing a Man in his Condition wild hewn thtx.

doubt
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doubt not of a merciful Forgivenefs, thro'' the Merits

cf the Paffwn and Death of my Saviour Jci'us Chrift ;

for which End> Ieameftly defire the Prayers of all

good Chriftians.

After this, I am to ajk Tardon of thofe whom I

might, have fcandalized by pleading guilty at my 'Trial.

S:ich as werepermitted to come to me, told me, that

having been undeniably in Arms, pleading guilty was

lut the Confluence of having fubmitted to Mercy ;

and many Arguments were us d to prove there was

nGihh;g of moment in fo doing ; among others the

univcrfal Pratlice offigning Leafes, whereof the Pre-

ambles run in the Name of the Perfon in Poffeffion.

But I am fenfible that in this I have made bold

with my I oyalty, having never owned any other but

King James the Thirdfor my 7'ightful and lawful So-

vereign ; him I had an Inclination to ferve from my

Infancy, and was mov'd thereto by a natural Love

I had to his Perfon, knowing him to be capable of

making his People happy ; and though he had been of a

different Religion from mine, Ifhould have done for

him ell that lay in my Power, as my Ancejlors have

donefor his PredeceJJors, being thereto bound by the

Laws of God and Man.

V/hcrefore, if in this Affair I have atled ra/hly,

it ought not to affetl the Innocent ; I intended to

wrong no Body, but to ferve my King and Country <>

and that without Self-intereft ; hoping by the Ex-
ample Igave, to have indue*d others to their Duty

;

and God, who fees the Secrets of my Heart, knows

I fpeak Truth. Some Means have been propofed to

me for faving my Life, which I looked upon as in-

conjifient with Honour and Confcience, and there-

fore I rejetled them ; for, with God's AJJifiance,

Ifhall prefer any Death, to the doing a bafe unwor-

thy Atlion. I only wi/h now, that the laying down
my Life, might contribute to the Service of my King

and Country, and the Re -eftablifhment of the ancient

and fundamental Confiitution of thefe Kingdoms

;

without which, no lafting Peace, or true Happinefs,

can atterd them ; then I fhould, indeed, part with

Life even with Pleafure : As it is, I can only pray,

that thefe Blejfings may be bejlcw'd upon my dear

Country ; and fince I can do no more, I befeech God
to accept of my Life, as a fmall Sacrifice towards it.

I die a Roman Catholick ; I am in perfetl Cha^
rity with all the World, I thank God for it, even

tilth thofe of the prefent Government, who are moji

inftrumental in my Death. I freely forgive fuch as

ungeneroujly reported falfe Things of me ; and I hope

to beforgiven the Trefpaffes of my Youth, by the Fa-
ther of infinite Mercy ; into whofe Harnd I commend
my Soul.

Ja. DERWENTWATERi

P. S. If that Prince who now governs^ had given

me my Life, I phould have thought my felf obliged

never more to have taken up Arms againft him

After the reading this Paper he delivered it to

the Sheriff" to do with it as he pleas'd. Then turn-

ing to the Block he view'd it clofe, and finding

in it a rough Place, which might offend his Neck,
he bid the Executioner chip it off. Having pre-

paid himfelf for the Blow by pulling off his Coat
and Waiftcoat* he lay down to fit his Head to

the Block, telling the Executioner that the Sign

he fhould give him was> Lord Jefu receive my
Soul, and at the third time of repeating it he was
to do his Office 5 which accordingly he did at

one Blow.

Immediately after the Earl of Derwentwatet

was executed as above, the Lord Kenmure v/as

brought to the Scaffold, accompany'd by his Son
and lome Friends, and attended by two Clergy-

men of the Church of England, which was the

Religion he profefs'd. He made no formal Speech,

but teftify'd his Sorrow for having pleaded guilty.

Then laying down his Head on the Block, he
rais'd it up again, and frill continuing on his

Knees, gave the Executioner fome Money, and

told him, he would give him no Sign, but that

when he laid down his Head again, he might

perform his Office as he faw good. Then having

lifted up his Hands a fhort time in Prayer, he re-

fblutely laid down his Head, which at two Blows

was fever'd from his Body.

After his Execution a Letter was found which

he wrote to the Pretender fby the Style of King

James) in which he declared, That he diedfor his

faithful Services to his Majefiy, but hoped the Caufe

he diedfor wouldflourifh after his Death : And ai

he fuffered for his Service, he hop'd his Majefiy

wouldprovide for his Wife and Children.

CLXXXVI. The Trial of'George Earl ofWintoun, be-

fore the Houfe of Lords, upon an Impeachment for
High-Treafon, March 15, 1 6, 19. 171 5. 2 Geo. I.

Die Lim£ 9 Januarii) 171J.

^Hi^E Earl of Wintoun was irrtpeach'd

life!
°f High-Treafon ; and the Articles

jS were brought up againft him and

,r4^3 read the fame Day in the Houfe of
£&ml&§3 Lords : And it was order'd that the

faid Earl, with the other impeach'd Lords, fhould
be brought to the Bar of the Houfe of Lofds the
next Day, to hear the faid Articles read, and to
abide fuch further Order as the Houfe fhould
think fit to make concerning them.

Vol. VI.

Die Martis 10 jamtarii, 1715*

The Earl of Wintoun and the other impeach'd

Lords were brought to the Bar in the ufual

Form ; then the faid Articles of Impeachment

were read unto them ; after which the Lord
Chancellor afked them feverally what they had to

fay thereunto, and acquainted them, that if they

had any thing to requeft of the Houfe this was
their proper Time.

Thereupon the Earl of Wintoun acquainted the

'Houfe he was unprepared* and very ignorant of

D rhe
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the Form of their Lordfhips Judicature, and de-

fired he might have a Copy of the faid Articles,

and fuch Time to anfwer as the Houfe fhould

think fit, and that Council might be affign'd to

affift him. He was directed to withdraw; and

beinw accordingly withdrawn, the Houfe took

his Requefts into Confideration, and thereupon

Ordered, That his Lordfhip fhould be allowed

n Copy of the faid Articles of Impeachment, and

Time 'till Saturday next to put in his Anfwer

thereunto; and that Council mould be affign'd

him in order to aflift him in preparing his Anfwer,

and likewife in his Defence in Matters of Law.

Then his Lordfhip was called in again, and

the Lord Chancellor acquainted him with the faid

Order, and that the Houfe expected he fhould

name fuch Council as he defifed to have.

To which he anfwered, that no body was al

low'd to come to him, he was a Stranger and un-

prepared, and dented to be allowed Time to

name his Council.

Then his Lordfhip being again withdrawn,

After fome time he was again called in, and

the Lord Chancellor, by Order of the Houfe, ac-

quainted him, That the Houfe was pleafed, be-

fides Council, to allow him a Sollicitor, and to

give him leave to name whom he dented to come

to him this Evening, or to-morrow Morning, in

order to advife him in the naming of Council and

Sollicitor.

To which purpofe the Earl of Wintoun named

Mr. Hereof, a Clergyman, Mr. Menzies, Major

Sinclair, and Mr. George Lefsly, a Lawyer.

And then he again withdrew.

And the Names of the feveral Perfons men-

tioned by the Earl of Wintoun, being read to him,

Ordered, That they have leave to repair to the

faid Earl at any convenient Hour, any time be-

fore the fitting of the Houfe to-morrow, in order

to advife him in the naming of Council, and a

Sollicitor to aflift him in his Defence.

Ordered, That the feveral Lords impeached, or

any of them, have Liberty to caufc Search to be

made, and Copies of Records and Journals to be

taken out, in order to their Defence •, and that

the faid Lords fhall have Summons iffued for fuch

"Witneffes as they fhall reflectively fend in the

Names of, to be by them made ufe of at their

Trials -, which Witneffes fhall have the Protection

of this Houfe for their fafe coming and going,

during the Time of the faid Trials.

Die Jovis njanuarii, 1715-

A Petition of George Earl of Wintoun was pre-

fented to the Houfe and read, praying that he

may have fome further Time for nominating

Council, and a Sollicitor to act for him, and in

the mean time to allow his Friends formerly

named to have accefs to him •, he having caufed

Application to be made to Sir Thomas Powis, and

Mr. Mead, to have appeared for him, but they

both exoifed themfelyes.

Ordered, That the fame Perfons before allow'd

to go to rh: Petitioner, have leave to refort to

him at any feafonable Time, before Eleven of the

Clock to-' lorrow in the Forenoon, in order to

the advifing him in naming other Council, inftead

of thofe who have refufed.

Whereas by Order of this Houfe on Tuefday

laft, the Lords impeached were to put in their

refpective Anfwers to the Articles of Impeach-

ment of High-Treafon exhibited againft them
by the Houfe of Commons on Saturday laft: The
Houfe being this Day moved at the Requeft of

the Earl of Derwenttvater and Lord Widdrington
t

to grant them further Time to put in their An-
fwers to the faid Articles of Impeachment : It is

Ordered, that all the faid Lords have hereby

further Time allowed to put in their refpective

Anfwers to the laid Articles till Monday next at

one of the Clock.

Die Luna 16 Januariiy 1715.

Whereas by Order of this Houfe on Thurfday

laft, the Lords impeached were allowed Time to

put in their Anfwers till this Day to the Articles

of Impeachment exhibited againft them, the

Houfe being this Day, moved in regard the

Council affign'd fome of the faid Lords refufed

to be concerned for them, that Thurfday next

may be appointed peremptorily for them to put

in their feveral Anfwers to the faid Articles : It

is Ordered, That the feveral Lords do perempto-

rily put in their feveral Anfwers, to the faid Ar-
ticles on Thurfday next at One of the Clock ; and

that the Lieutenant of his Majefty's Tower of

London do bring to this Houfe, on that Day,

by that Time, the faid feveral Lords for the Pur-

pofes aforefaid ; and that Notice be forthwith

given them of this Order.

Die Jovis 19 Januariiy 17 15.

The Earl of Wintoun was brought to the Bar,

by the Gentleman-Ufher of the Black Rod, where

he kneeled until the Lord Chancellor directed

him to rife, and his Lordfhip acquainted him
with the above-mentioned Order, and demanded
of him if he was ready to put in his Anfwer.

He faid he had a Petition to prefent to the

Houfe : He was an entire Stranger to the Nature

of their Lordfhips Proceedings, and defired his

Petition might be read ; and the fame was read

as follows.

To the Right Honourable the Lordso
Spiritual and Temporal in Parlia-

ment Afjemblcd.

The Humble Petition of George Earl of

Wintoun,

Humbly Sheweth,

THAT on Thurfday laft I having applied to

your Lordfhips, reprefenting how I had
caus'd Application to be made to two Lawyers,

to act as Council for me, in the Impeachment ex-

hibited before your Lordfhips againft me by the

Honourable Houfe of Commons, and that they

both declin'd to meddle, for Reafons then given

;

your Lordfhips were pleafed to allow me fome

more Time for nominating of Council, and Sol-

licitors, and this Day for giving in my Anfwers

;

but by Reafon of my clofe Confinement, and that

your Lordfhips Order for allowing fome Perfons

to have accefs to me, expired on Friday laft at

Eleven Forenoon •, I have had no Opportunity of

naming other Council and Sollicitors ; nor can I

have the Affiftance of any, 'till they are appointed

by your Lordfhips and they allow'd accefs to me.

Thaj
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That your Petitioner has feveral Specialities

and Matters of great Moment, which he conceives

neceffary to be a Part of his Anfwers, and which

cannot be drawn into Form, without the Affiftance

of his Council and Solicitors.

Forafmuch therefore as this Affair is to me
of the greateft Importance ; may it pleafe

your Lordfhips to affign Sir Conftantine

Phipps, and Mr. Peer Williams, to be

Council, and Charles Menzies, and Mr.

James Lefslie, to be my Solicitors ; and

to order that they may have accefs to me
from Time to Time during my Trial ;

as alfo that your Lordfhips would be

pleafed to allow Mr. George Hereof, a Mi-

nifter of the Church of England, to have

accefs to me from Time to Time, feeing

I am confined in a Room alone.

Andyour Petitioner Jhall ever pray, &c.

WlNTOUN.

The faid Earl of Wintoun was directed to with-

draw ; and being withdrawn accordingly,

The Order made on Thurfday laft upon his Pe-

tition was read, as alfo the feveral Orders made

on Monday laft.

Ordered, That the Council mentioned in the

faid Petition be affigned him, and that either of

the faid Sollicitors be likewife affigned, and that

he have Time to put in his Anfwer to the faid

Articles till Monday next. And that the Clergy-

man mentioned in his Petition, being his Relation,

may have accefs to him, provided he will flay in

Cuftody with him during his Confinement.

Then the Earl of Wintoun was again called in,

and the Lord Chancellor acquainted him, that the

Houfe had confidered his Petition, and affign'd him
the Council he defir'd ; and would affign him
either of the two Sollicitors he (hould chule ; and
that the Clergyman above-mentioned might come
to him upon the Condition before expreffed.

Then the faid Earl of Wintoun naming Mr. Men-
zies, the Houfe accordingly affigned him for his

Sollicitor, and Ordered, that the faid Council and
Sollickor may have accefs to him from Time to

Time at all feafonable Hours ; and he withdrew.

Die Sabbati 21 Januarii^ 1715.

A Petition of George Earl of Wintoun was pre-

fented to the Houfe and read, praying that their

Lordfhips would allow him fuch further Time
for putting in his Anfwer, as their Lordfhips fhal]

think fit.

Ordered, That the faid Petition be rejected.

Die Luna 23 'Jamtarii, 17 15.

The Earl of Wintoun being brought to the

Houfe according to Order by the Lieutenant of*

the Tower, the Gentleman-Ufher was com-
manded to bring him to the Bar, where he kneel'd

until he was directed by the Lord Chancellor to

rife ; and his Lordfhip acquainted him that this

was the peremptory Day appointed by the Floufe

for his putting in his Anfwer to the Articles of
Impeachment exhibited againfthim by the Houfe
of Commons, and afked him if he was ready to

put in his Anfwer.

Vol. VI.

He thereupon made fome Excufes, and defired

further Time for that purpofe ;

And was directed to withdraw.

Ordered, That the Earl of Wintoun be called

in, and acquainted, that this Houfe, upon eon-
fidering his Petition on Saturday lait, for further

Time to put in his Anfwer to the Articles of Im-
peachment exhibited againft him, did reject his

laid Petition ; and having indulged him more
than any of the Lords impeached, are ftill of
Opinion (this being the peremptory Day for put-

ting in his Anfwer) to allow him no further Time,
and that the Confequence of his refufing to plead
which will enfue in Law is, that judgment will

be awarded againft him, as if he had pleaded
guilty. Then,

He was accordingly called in, and the Lord
Chancellor acquainted him with the faid Matter.

He thereupon delivered in at the Bar his An-
fwer fairly engroffed on Parchment, which was
read.

Die Sabbati 28 Jamtarii, 17 15.

The Commons replied to the Anfwer of the

Earl of Wintoun.

Die Mercurii 8 Febntarii^ 1715.

Ordered, By the Lords Spiritual and Temporal
in Parliament afiembled, that Thurfday the fix-

teen th Day .of this inftant February be, and is

hereby appointed for the Trial of George Earl of
Wintoun at the Bar of this Houfe in Weflminfler-

Hall, upon the Impeachment of High-Treafbn
exhibited againft him by the Houfe of Com-
mons.

Die Veneris 10 Februarii, 17 15.

Upon reading the Petition of George Earl of
Wintoun, letting forth, that he had a Petition in
the Houfe on Wednesday laft, when their Lord-
fhips appointed Thurfday next for the Petitioner's

Trial, defiring that Confidcration might be had
to the diftance of the Place, and the Seafbn of
the Year, for bringing up of his Witneflrs, both
Men and Women, from Scotland, and other
Parts ; but the Noble Peer who promifed, and
would have moved the faid Petition, not beino-

prefentat the Time of making the Motion for ap°
pointing a Day of Trial, the faid Petition was not
prefented in Form, which occafioned the Ap-
pointment of fo fhort a Time, wherein it is alto-

gether impoffible to prepare any thing in order

for the faid Trial : And praying that this Houfe
will grant an Order' to compel the feveral Wit-
neffes following (viz.) John Gordon, George Trotter,

George Hogg, John Stewart, all Servitors to the

Earl of Wintoun, Beatoun, Wife to Mr. Da-
vid Nicholfon in Tranent, Adam. Purvis, Clerk of

the Epifcopal.Meeting-Houfe in Tranent, Chrijlo-

pher Seton in Port-Seton, Lieutenant-General •

Wills, Forjler, Efq-, Miller, Efq;

Capt. Alexander Streton, • Mackintosh of

Bordlim, Acnflie, and Todd, Bailiffs of

Muffelbrough, and the School-mafter of Fifherau,

to appear before this Houfe at the Trial, to give

Evidence on behalf of the Petitioner; and to al-

low fuch Time for their coming hither, as, in

regard to the Diftance of the Place, and the

Seafon of the Year, and the Importance of the

D 2 Affair,
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Affair, their Lordfhips, in their great Wifdom

and Juftice (hall think reaibnable ; It is Ordered,

That the Time appointed for the Trial of the Pe-

titioner in Weftminfier-Hall be, and
Trial put off js hereby, enlarged to Thurfday the

MaTctTY
ei§hth Day of March next

:

And
that the feveral Perfons afore-named

be, and are hereby required to attend this Houfe

on Thurfddy the laid eighth Day of March, as

Witneffcs on behalf of the Petitioner, except fuch

of thefaid Perfons as are now Prifoners for High-

Treafon ; and that they fhall have the Protection

of this Houie for their fafe coming and going,

during the Time of the faid Trial.

Die Luna 5 Mart//, 1715.

Upon reading the Petition of George Earl of

Wintonn, letting forth, that his Agents have ufed

all Diligence poffible in ferving the Order of this

Houfe lor the Attendance of his Witneffcs ; and

now they are all on their Way hither, part by

Sea and part by Land : And that the Nature of

his Defence is fuch, that if the Witneffes were ar-

rived, as none of them are, the Time would be

too fhort to prepare his Briefs, and inftruct his

Council ; and praying that the Time appointed

for his faid Trial, may be enlarged for fuch Time
as their Lordfhips, in their great Juftice and

Wifdom, fhall think proper, in a Cafe of lb great

Confequence : It is ordered, that the Time ap-

pointed for the Petitioner's Trial be, and is here-

by enlarged till Thurfday the fifteenth Day of this

inftant March, at ten of the Clock in the Fore-

noon.

Die Luna 12 Martil, 17 15.

A Petition of George Earl of Wintoun was pre-

fented to the Houfe and read, fetting forth, that

his Agents have ufed all poflible Diligence in

getting his Witneffes hither, and feveral of them

are lately arrived, but four of the moft material

of them, though they all be on their Way hither,

are not yet come up, fome of them being lame

and others very infirm, fo that they are not able

to travel fo quickly ; and praying, that the Time
appointed for his Trial may be enlarged for fuch

Time as their Lordfhips, in their great Juftice

and Wifdom, fhall think proper, in a Cafe of fo

great Concern.

And after Debate thereupon, and reading the

Orders made in relation to the faid Trial, Charles

Menzies, the Petitioner's Solicitor, was called in

and examined upon Oath at the Bar, touching the

Allegations of the faid Petition ; and failing to

make good the fame •,

And being withdrawn,

It was moved to reject the Petition.

And the Queftion being put whether the faid

Petition fhall be rejected, it was refolved in the

Affirmative.

Die Martis 1 3 Marti/, 1 7 1 5.

Several Orders were made for preferving the

Peace, and touching the Courfe of Proceeding, to,

and at the enfuing Trial j and among them,
Ordered, That the Council afligned the faid Earl

of Wintoun may be prefent when he is at the Bar,
in order to be heard touching any Point or Matter
of Law, if any fuch fhall arife.

Die Mercurii 14 Martii, 1715.

Upon reading the Petition of George Earl of
Wintoun, praying that this Houfe will be pleafed

to aflign, and add Mr. Keltelby, and Dr. Strahan

to his Council formerly named, and that they
may have accefs to him during his Confinement

:

It is Ordered, that the Council above-mentioned
be afligned the Petitioner, to be heard to Matters
of Law, but not to Matters of Fact, fb as not to

put off the Petitioner's Trial, and that they, or
either of them have accefs to the Petitioner from
Time to Time, at all feaibnable Times.

A. Motion being made, that the following Per-
fons, whofe Names were contained in a Lift ex-
hibited at the fame Time, on behalf of the Earl
of Wintoun, might be fummoned as Witneffcs for

the faid Earl at his Trial t, being then, as alledg'd,
in or near the City of London.

Ordered, By the Lords Spiritual and Temporal
in Parliament affembled, that John Gordon of
Kirkhill, Alexander Nijlet Writer in Edinburgh

>

William Knox, Thomas Baine, John Wattefone, all

three of Seaton, Mrs. Magdalen Ccrfbie of Can-
nongate, Agnes Duncan of Seaton, Dr. Lidderdale
a Phyfician, Dr. Cockburne a Divine, Dr. John
Inglis, Major Sinclair, George Trotter, and George
Hogg of Seaton, be and are hereby required to at-
tend this Houfe in Weftminfier-Hall, to-morrow at
ten of the Clock in the Forenoon, in order to be
examined as Witneffes, on the behalf of George
Earl of Wintoun at his Trial.

The Houfe being informed; that the Earl of
Wintoun defired that General Carpenter might be
examined as a Witnefs at his Trial :

The faid General Carpenter being a Member of
the Houfe of Commons

;

A Meffage was fent to that Houfe by Mr. HoU
ford and Mr. Lovibond, to acquaint them, that
the Lords do defire that they will give leave to
the faid General Carpenter to be examined at the
faid Earl's Trial.

Ordered, That the Witneffes which fhall be
produced by the Earl of Wintoun to be examined
in his Defence, fhall be examined upon Oath,
which Oath to be adminifter'd to the Witneffes
on both Sides at the faid Trial fhall be this

:

The Evidence whichyou fhallgive in this Trial
concerning George Earl of Wintoun, Pri-
foner at the Bar, fhall be the Truth, the
whole Truth, and nothing but the Truth.

So help you God, and the Contents
of this Book.

Die Jovis 15 Martii, 1715.

The Meffengers fent Yefterday to the Houfe
of Commons return Anfwer, That the Commons
have given leave to General Carpenter to be ex-
amined as a Witnefs at the Trial of George Earl
of Wintoun.

The Houfe was then adjourned to Weftminfier-
Hall.

Begun in Weftminfter-Hali on Thurf-
day, March 15, 171 5-1 6.

The firfl Day.

ABOUT one of the Clock, the Lords
1

came
from their own Houfe into the Court

erected in Weftminfter-Hali, in the manner fol-
lowing.

The
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The Lord High-Steward's Gentlemen Atten-

dants, two and two.

The Clerks Affiftant to the Houfe or Lords,

and the Clerk of the Parliament, with the Clerk

of the Crown in the Court of Chancery ; the

Clerk of the Parliament bearing the King's Com-

miflion to the Lord High-Steward.

The Matter in Chancery, two and two.

Then the Judges.

The Peers Eldeft Sons, and Peers Minors^ two

and two.

Four Serjeants at Arms with their Maces> two

and two.

The Yeomen Ufhers of the Houfe.

Then the Peers, two and two, beginning with

the youngeft Barons.

Then four Serjeants at Arms with their Maces.

The Serjeant at Arms attending the Great-Seal, tes, Tefte meipjo apud Weftm' Decimo QuintoDie.

fententietur 6? adjudicetur, cateraque omnia qua in

hac parte pertinent debito modo exerceantur & exe-

quatur, ac pro eo quod Proceres cs
5

Magnates inpra-

fenti Parliamento nofiro affemblat' Nobis humilime

fupplicaverunt ut Senefcallum Magna Britannia pro

hac vice conftituere dignaremur. Nos de fidelitate^.

prudentia, provida circumffeclione, & induftria

veftris phtrimum confidentes, Orainavimus £sf Con-

ftituimus vox ex hac Caufa Senefcallum Magna Bri-

tannia: ad Officium illud, cum omnibus cidem Officio

in hacparte debit' & pertinetf (hac vice) gerend' oc-

cupand' Cf? exercend*. Et idea vobis Mandamus quod

circa pramiffa diligenter intendalis, & omnia qua

in hac parte ad Officium Senefcalli Magna Britman-

nia pertinent & requiruntur hac vice facialis, ex-

erceatis, & exequamini cum effeclu. In cujus rei
cTeflimonium has hiteras noftras fieri fecimus Paten-

and Purfe-Bearer.

Then Garter King at Arms ; and the Gentle-

man-Uiher of the Black Rod, carrying the White

Staff before the Lord High-Steward.

The Lord High-Steward
William Lord Loiter. ..__,. V

alone, his Train borne.

When rhe Lords were placed in their proper

Seats, and the Lord High-Steward upon the

Wool-Pack.

The Clerk of the Crown, in the Court of

Chancery, ftanding before the Clerk's Table,

with his Face towards the State, having his

Majefty's Commiflion to the Lord High-Steward

in his Hand, made three Reverences towards the

Lord High-Steward ; and, on his Knee, pre-

dated the Commiflion to the Lord High-Steward ;

after which, and ufual Reverences, the fame was

carried down to the Table : And then Proclama-

tion for Silence was made in this manner

:

O Yes, O Yes, O Yes ! Our Sovereign Lord

the King ftrictiy charges and commands all man-

.ner of Perions to keep Silence, upon Pain of Im-

prifonment.

Then the Lord High-Steward flood up, and

fpoke to the Peers.

Lord High-Steward. His Maj efty 's Comm i flion

is going to be read ; your Lordlhips are defired

to attend.

Per ipfmn Regem propria Manu Signal'"

Wrighte.

Serjeant at Arms. God fave the King.

Then the Herald and Gentleman Uiher of the

Black Rod, after three Reverences, kneeling,

prelented the White Staff to his Grace ; and then

his Grace, attended by the Herald, Black Rod
and Seal-Bearer (making his proper Reverences

towards the Throne) removed from the Wool-
Pack to an armed Chair, which was placed on
the uppermoft Step but one of the Throne* as it

was prepared for that purpofe, and then feated

himfelf in the Chair, and delivered the Staff to

the Gentleman Uiher of the Black Rod on his

Right Hand, the Seal-Bearer holding the Purf-j

on the Left.

Clerk of the Grown. Serjeant at Arms make
Proclamation.

Serjeant at Arms. O Yes, O Yes, O Yes

!

Our Sovereign Lord the King ftrictiy charges and
commands all manner of Perfons to keep Silence,

upon Pain of Impriibnment.

Then another Proclamation was made, as fol-

lows.

O Yes, O Yes, O Yes ! Lieutenant of the

Tower of London, bring forth your Prifoner to

the Bar, according to the Order of the Houfe of

All the Peers uncovered themfelves, and they Lords to you directed,

and all others flood up uncovered while the Com-
miflion was reading.

GEORGIUS R.

Then George Earl of JVintcun was brought to

the Bar by the Deputy Governour of the Tower,
having the Ax carried before him by the Gentle-

man Jaylor, who flood with it on the Left Hand
of the Prifoner, with the Edge turned from him.

GEORGIUS, Dei Gratia, Magna Britan- The Prifoner when he approached the Bar (after

nia, Francia & Hibemia Rex, Fidei De- kneeling) bowed to his Grace the Lord High-

fenfor, &c. Pradileclo cs
5

Fideli Confiliario nofiro Steward, and to rhe Houfe of Peers ; which

Willielmo Domino Cowper, Cancellario nofiro Magna Compliment was returned him by his Grace, and

Britannia, Salutem. Cum Georgius Comes de Win- the Houfe of Peers.

tin, cum aliis, coram Nobis in prafenti Parlia-

mento, per Milites, Cives C5
1

Burgenfes in Parlia-

mento nofiro Affemblat* de alta Proditione per ipfum

Georgium Comitem de Winton, & al' commiff Ci?

perpclrat' in nomine ipforum Militum, Civium £s?

Burgcnfium, £s? nomine omnium Communium Regni

And Proclamation being again made for keep-

ing Silence,

The Lord High-Steward fpake to the Prifoner

as follows.

George Earl of Wintbun, you are brought to the

nqfiri Magna Britannia impetit' & accufat' exijlit. Bar of this Auguft Judicature, in order to a fair

Nos confiderantes quod Juflitia eft Virtus excellens & and impartial Trial, on the Impeachment of High-
Altiffmo complacens, Volentefque quod pradicl' Geor- Treafon exhibited againft you by the Commons of
gius Comes de Winton, de & pro Proditione undeipfe Great-Britain in Parliament affembled ; to which
utprafertur impetif & accufa? exijlit coram Nobis you have anfwered, and pleaded Not Guilty :

in prafenti Parliamento nofiro, fecundum Leg' & Thereupon the Commons have replied, and under^
Conjvetudinem hujus Regni nojlri Magna Britannia, taken to prove you guilty of the High-Treafon
Cif fecwidam Confuetudinem Parliamenti audiatur, whereof you fland impeached.

Under
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Under this heavy Charge (of which your Lord-

fhip has long fince had a Copy, and which you

will now hear read again) nothing can be a greater

Support to your Mind (efpecially if not confcious

of Guilt) than to confider, that you are about to

be tried by your Peers ; not any felect Number
of them, but by their whole Body affembled in

Parliament, and indifferently fummoned to attend

this Trial.

Hence your Lordfhip may be allured, that

Juftice will be adminifter'd to you, attended not

only with that common Degree of Compaffion

which Humanity itfelf derives to Perfons in your

Condition, but alio with that extraordinary Con-
cern for you, which naturally flows from a Parity

of Circumftances common to yourfelf, and to

them who judge you, fthofe Bonds, the weighty

Accufation laid upon you, with its Confequences,

almoft only excepted.)

On the other hand, you muff, not hope, that

if you fhall be clearly prov'd guilty, their Lord-
fhips, being under the ftrongcft Obligation to do

Right that can be laid on noble Minds, I mean
that of their Honour, will not break through all

the Difficulties unmerited Pity may put in their

way, to do perfect Juftice upon you, however
miserable that mull render your Condition.

Your Lordfhip will not be interrupted while

you are making your Defence in a proper manner

;

and therefore you will alfo attend with Patience

to what fhall be faid by the Managers of the

Houfe of Commons, or given in Evidence againft

you.

When any of the Witneffes produced againft

you by the Gentlemen of the Houfe of Commons
are throughly examined by them, your Lord-
fhip will have Liberty to crofs-examine every

Witnefs before another is called.

But the Council affigned you are not to crofs-

examine any Witneffes, nor to give you any
Affiftance public or private, while Matter of
Fact only is in Queftion ; but if any Matter of
Law arife during the Courfe of your Trial, they

may fpeak to it in your Lordfhip's Behalf : And
to that End they are permitted to be within hear-

ing, that they may be the more ready and able to

ferve your Lordfhip on fuch Occafion.

Your Lordfhip is the firft that on an Impeach-
ment for High-Treafon will have had the^Bene-
fit of a good Law made in the firft Year of the
late Queen Cfince the Revolution^ whereby in

all Trials for High-Treafon, as well as other ca-

pital Offences mentioned in the Aft, the Witneffes
produced on the Part of the Prifoner are to be
examined on their Oaths : So that your Witneffes
will become entitled, in Refpect of the Obliga-
tion under which they give their Teftimony, to
the fame Degree of Credit as the Witneffes pro-
duced againft you will be.

I take it for granted, that if your Lordfhip de-
fires it, you will be allowed the Ufe of Pen, Ink,
and Paper, to take Notes in order to your De-
fence : And I doubt not but if during the Trial
you are obferved to omit any juft Advantage which
the Law allows you, I fhall not only be excufed,
but approved, if I put you in mind of it.

I am alfo commanded to acquaint your Lord-
fhip, that when you have Occafion to fpeak, you
are to addrefs yourfelf to the Lords in general, and
not to any Lord in particular ; as all others who
fhall have Occafion to fpeak in this Trial will

likewife take notice they are to do.

The Lord High-Steward having done, com-

manded the Articles of Impeachment, and the

Earl of Wintoun' s Anfwer thereunto, as alfo the

Replication of the Commons to the faid Anfwer,

to be read ; and the fame were read accordingly,

as follows.

Articles of Impeachment of High-Trea-

fon exhibited againft James Earl of Der-

wenrwater, William Lord Widdrington,

William Earl of Nithildale, George Earl

of Wintoun, Robert Earl of Camwath,
William Vifcount Kenmure, and William

Lord Nairn.

H E R E A S for many Years laft a moil

wicked Defign and Contrivance has been

formed and carried on, to fubvert the antienr.

and eftablifhed Government, and the good Laws
of thefe Kingdoms, to extirpate the true Pro-

teftant Religion therein eftablifhed, and to de-

ftroy its Profeffors ; and inftead thereof, to in-

troduce and fettle Popery and Arbitrary Power ;

in which unnatural and horrid Confpiracy great

Numbers of Perfons of different Degrees and

Qualities have concerned themfelves and acted •,

and many Proteftants, pretending an uncommon
Zeal for the Church of England, have joined

themfelves with profeffed Papifts, uniting their

Endeavours to accomplifh and execute the afbre-

faid wicked and traiterous Defigns.

And whereas it pleafed Almighty God in his

good Providence, and in his great Mercy and

Goodnefs to thefe Nations, to crown the un-

wearied Endeavours of his late Majefty King
William the Third of ever-glorious Memory, by
making him the Inftrument to procure the Settle-

ment of the Crown of thefe Realms in the Illuftri-

ous Houfe of Hanover, as the only Means under

God to preferve our Religion, Laws and Liber-

ties, and to fecure the Proteftant Intereft of

Europe; fince which happy Eftablifh'ment the

faid Confpirators have been indefatigable in their

Endeavours to deftroy the fame, and to make
Way for the vain and groundlefs Hopes of a

fpurious Impoftor and Popifli Pretender to the

Imperial Crown of thefe Realms.

And to accomplifh thefe Ends, the moft im-

moral, irreligious and unchriftian-like Methods
have been taken, but more particularly in the laft

Years of the Reign of the late Queen Anne, du-

ring which Time all imaginable Endeavours were

ufed by the faid Confpirators to prejudice the

Minds of the Subjects of this Realm againft the

Legality and Juftice of the faid Settlement of the

Crown : And for that purpofe the Holy Scriptures

were wrefted, and the moft wholefome Doctrines

of the Church of England perverted and abufed

by Men in Holy Orders, in the moft public and

fcandalous Manner, in order to condemn the

Juftice of the late happy Revolution ; and there-

by to fap and undermine the Foundation of the

faid happy Eftablifhment ; and the moft noto-

rious Inftruments of thefe wicked Purpofes were

countenanced by particular Marks of public Fa-

vour and Diftinction ; falfe and dangerous No-
tions of a fole Hereditary Right to the Imperial

Crown of thefe Realms were propagated and en-

couraged by Perfons in the highelt Tnift and

Employments, contrary to the ancient un-

doubted
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doubted and eftablifhed Laws of thefe Kingdoms ;

jefuitical and fcandaldus Diftinctions were invented

and publicly inculcated, to enervate the Force

and Obligation of thofe Oaths which had been

contrived in the plaineft and ftrongeft Terms by

the Wifdom of Parliament for the Security of

the faid Eftablifhment •, and to conceal their De-

fipns, and thereby the better to enable them to

tarry on the fame, great Numbers of the laid

Confpirators of all Ranks and Conditions, pre-

tending a Zeal for the Proteflant SuccefTion,

openly and voluntarily took the faid Oaths •,

grouhdlefs Fears of the Danger of the Church of

England were fomented throughout thefe King-

doms, to diforder the Minds of well-difpoled Pro-

teftants.

By all which and many other fuch ungodly

Practices of the faid Confpirators, the molt

caufelefs and dangerous Jealoufies and DifTatis-

factions were created in the Minds of the good

People of this Kingdom, and great Numbers of

well-meaning, but deluded Protcftants were much

difquieted.

But neverthelefs thefe difhoneft Methods were

purfued by the faid Confpirators with indefatigable

Induftrv, as the only Means to weaken the Foun-

dations of the laid happy Eftablifhment.

And whereas the Diffolution of the late glorious

Confederacy againft France, and die Lofs of the

Ballance of Power in Europe, were lurcher Steps

neceffafy to compleat the Deligns of the faid Con-

fpirators ; and the fame being effected by the

late ignominious Peace with France, the French

King was render'd formidable, and the Proteflant

SuccefTion was thereby brought into the moft im-

minent Danger ; and by thefe and other pernici-

ous Meafures, the Deftruction fo long intended

by the faid Confpirators, for thefe poor Nations,

fecmed near at Hand.

At which Time, and under which moft de-

plorable Circumftances, it plea.fed Almighty

God in his infinite Wifdom to call to himfelt the

late Queen Anne, and by a Concurrence of many
moft wonderful Providences to give a quiet and

peaceable Acceffion to his prefent moft Gracious

Majefty to the Throne of his Anceftors, to

which he was received with one full Voice and

Confent of Tongue and Heart, and the united

Joy of every good Subject and good Proteftant,

as their only lawful and rightful Liege Lord ;

and ahho' from the Moment his Majefty afcended

the Throne to this Day, his Reign has been one
Series of Wifdom, Juftice and Clemency ; his

Labours conllant, unwearied and fuccefsful to re-

trieve the Honour and Reputation of thefe Na-
tions •, to re-eftablifh the Trade and recover the

Wealth of his Kingdoms ; and although all ima-
ginable Encouragement has been given to the

Church of England, and all Tendernefs fhewn
even to his Popifh Subjects, and his conftant Care
has been to procure the univerfal Good of his

People •, neverthelefs the faid Confpirators have,

by the moft vile and impious Methods, renewed
their Endeavous to throw thefe Kingdoms into

the utmoft Confufion, and to entail endlefs Mi-
feries on us and our Pofterities : For thefe Ends
many of the abovementioned moft wicked and
dangerous Practices have been repeated with the

utmoft Iridufl.ry and Inveteracy, to delude, dif-

order and corrupt the Minds of his Majefty's good
S 'Djects •, the moft groundlefs Jealoufies have
been fomented againft his wife and happy Admi-

for High-Treafon.-_ 2?
niftration, and in many Parts of his Kingdoms
the moft unnatural, unexampled Riots and Tu-
mults, by the fecret and malicious Endeavours of

the faid Confpirators, have been procured, ftirred

up, and encouraged againft his peaceable Pro-

teftant Subjects, under talle Pretences of Zeal for

the Church of England, and thereby more effectu-

ally to delude his good Subjects, and feduce them
from their Allegiance, and prepare them for an

open Rebellion.

And the faid Confpirators having at length re-

folved to deprive thefe Nations of the invaluable

Bleffings which they ncv\r enjoy under the wife,

and gentle Reign of his prefent moft gracious Ma-
jefty King George, and of the certain Profpect

of Happinefs Which they have for their Profperity,

in a SuccefTion of Princes derived from himfclf

;

did contrive, confederate, and refolve to put their

molt malicicuSj wicked, and traiterous Defigns

into immediate Execution ; for which purpofe,

James Earl of Derwentzvater, William Lord Wid-
drington, William Earl of Niihifdale, George Earl

of Wintouv, Robert Ear! of Carnwaih, William

Vilcount Kenrtmre, and William Lord Nairn, to-

gether with Thomas Forficr, Jun. the Lord Charles

Murray, Edivard Howard, Thomas Ertington^

John Clayering, William Shafioe, Sir Francis An-
derton, Ralph Standijh, Richard Tozvnly, Thomas
Butler, Thomas Walton, Gabriel Hajket, Richard

Gafcoigne, and divers other Perfons, as falfe

Traitors to his prefent molt lacred Majefty King
George, the only lawful and undoubted Sovereign

of thefe Kingdoms, having withdrawn their Al-

legiance, and cordial Love, and true and due

Obedience, which they as good and faithful Sub-

jects owed to his la-id Majefty, did, in or about

the Months of September, Otlober, or November,

ij 1 5, moft wickedly, maiicioufly, fafely and

traiteroufly imagine and compass the Death of his

faid molt facred Majefty.

And for the accomolifhins; and executing; their

faid traiterous Pur pole, they the faid James Earl

of Derwentzvater, William Lord Wdclrhgicn,

William Earl of Niihifdale, George Earl of Wrntoun,

Robert Earl of Camwath, William Vifcourit Ken-

mure, and William Lord Nairn, did, in or about

the faid Months, or fome of them, and at di-

vers other Times, and in clivers Places within

this Kingdom, wickedly and traiteroufly agree,

confederate, confpfre, and refolve, together with

many other evil-difpofed Perlbns, to raife, excite,

and levy within the Counties of Tevioidale, Nor-

thumberland, Cumberland, and the County Palatine

of Laneafter, and elfewherc within this Kingdom,

a mofc cruel, bloody and deftru'etive War, againft

his Majefty, in order to depofe and murther his

facred Majefty, and to deprive him of his Royal

State, Crown and Dignity.

And the faid James Earl of Dcrwentwater,

William Lord Widdrington, William Earl of

Nithifdale, George Earl of Wintouu, Robert Earl

of Camwath, William Vifcount Kenmure, William

Lord Nairn, their Accomplices and Confederates,

in or about the Months aforefaid, in the Counties

aforefaid, or fome of thero, did gather together

great Numbers of his Majefty's Subjects, and

with them did afifemble in a warlike and traiterous

Manner, in order to raife Tumults and Rebellion

within this Kingdom, and having procured great

Quantities of Arms, Ammunition and warlike

Inftruments, at the Times and Places aforelaid,

or fome of them, did form and compofe, or did

affift
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affift in the farming and compofing an Army of

Men, confifting of his Majefty's Liege Subjects,

in order to wage War againft his faid Majefty,

for and in behalf and in favour of the faid Pre-

tender to the Crown of thefe Realms ; and the

faid laft mentioned Confpirators, their Accom-

plices and Confederates, at the Time and Times

and Places aforefaid •, and at divers ether Times

and Places within this Kingdom, did malicioufly

and traiteroufiy make, levy, and raife_War and

Rebellion againft his moft facred Majefty ; and

in a warlike and hoftile Manner did march thro'

and invade feveral Parts of this Kingdom ; and

did unlawfully take and feize the Horfes and

other the Goods and Chattels of many of the

peaceable and good Subjects of his Majefty,, and

in other Places did take and feize, from his Ma-

jefty's faithful Subjects, Guns, and other war-

like Inftruments, for their carrying on their trai-

terous Purpofes.

And the faid laft mentioned Confpirators,

their Complices and Confederates, during their

March and Invafion aforefaid, in open Defiance

of his moft facred Majefty's juft and undoubted

Title to the Imperial Crown of thefe Realms,

did wickedly and traiteroufiy caufe and procure

the faid Pretender to be proclaimed in the moft

public and folemn Manner, as King of thefe

Realms ; and in feveral Places in the Counties

aforefaid, or fome of them, did unlawfully take

and feize from his Majefty's Officers of the Re-

venue the public Money, for the Ufe and Ser-

vice of the faid Pretender ; and though many of

the Confpirators are avowed Profeffors of the

Popifh Religion, yet the more effectually to

cover and difguife their moft wicked and traite-

rous Defigns, and to delude his Majefty's Sub-

jects, they did prevail on and fecure feveral

Men in Holy Orders, Minifters of the Church of

England, and who had before that Time abjured

the faid Pretender, to accompany, countenance

and abet the faid moft traiterous Enterprize ; and

in feveral Places in the Counties aforefaid, where

the faid Confpirators, their Complices and Con-

federates then were, to pray for the faid Pre-

tender in the public Churches, as King of thefe

Realms.

That the faid laft mentioned Confpirators, their

Accomplices and Confederates, did, on or about

the Ninth, Tenth, Eleventh, Twelfth, or Thir-

teenth of November aforefaid, traiteroufiy feize and

poffefs themfelves of the Town of Prefton in the

County Palatine of Laneafter againft his Majefty,

and did then and there in a warlike and hoftile

Manner levy War, oppofe, engage, and fight

againft his Majefty's Forces ; and did then and

there caufe and procure a miferable and horrid

Slaughter and MuKther of many of his Majefty's

faithful Subjects.

All which Treafons and Crimes abovemen-

tioned were contrived, committed, perpetrated,

acted and done, by the faid James Earl of Der-

wentwater, William Lord Widdrington, William

Earl of Nithifdale, George Earl of Wintoun, Ro-

bert Earl of Carnwath, William Vifcount Ken-

mure^ William Lord Nairn, and other the Con-

fpirators aforefaid, againft our Sovereign Lord

the King, his Crown and Dignity ; and contrary

to the Duty of their Allegiance, and againft the

Laws and Statutes of this Kingdom.
Of all which Treafons and Crimes, the Knights,

Citizens and Burgeffes in Parliament affcmbledj.

do, in the Name of themfelves and of all the

Commons of Great Britain, impeach the faid

James Earl of Derwentwater, William Lord Wid-

drington, William Earl of Nithifdak, George Earl

of Wintoun, Robert Earl of Carnwath, William

Vifcount Kenmuret William Lord Nairn* and e~

very of them.

And the faid Commons by Proteftation laving

to themfelves the Liberty of exhibiting at any

time hereafter any other Accufations or Impeach-

ments againft the faid James Earl of Derwent-

water,. William Lord Widdrington? William Earl

of Nithifdale, George Earl of Wintoun, Robert

Earl of Carnwath, William Vifcount Kenmure*

and William Lord Nairn, or any of them •, and

alfo of replying to the Anfwers which the faid

James Earl of Derwentwater, William Lord Wid-

drington, William Earl of Nithifdale, George Eari

of Wintoun, Robert Earl of Carnwath, William

Vifcount Kenmure, and William Lord Nairn, or

any of them, fhall make to the Premiffes, or any

of them, or to any Impeachment or Accufation,

that fhall be by them exhibited according to the

Courfe and Proceedings of Parliament ; and d»
pray, that the faid James Earl of Derwentwater^

William Lord Widdrington, William Earl of

Nithifdale, George Earl of Wintoun, Robert Eari

of Carnwath, William Vifcount Kenmure, and

William Lord Nairn, be put to anfvver all and
every the Premiffes : And that fuch Proceedings^

Examinations, Trials, and Judgments may be up-

on them and every of them had and ufed as fhall be

agreeable to Law and Juftice.

The Anfwer of George Earl of Wintoun, t&

the Articles ofImpeachment exhibited a-

gainft him by the Honourable Hotife of
Commons, for High-Treafon and other

High Crimes and Mifdemeanours.

THE faid Earl faving to himfelf all Benefit

of Exception to the Incertainties and Infuf-

ficiencies in the faid Articles of Impeachment con-

tained, and alfo all Advantages and Privileges

belonging to him as a Peer of Great Britain, for

Anfvver to the faid Articles fays, That he cannot

but efteem it the greateft Addition to his Af-
flictions, to fall under the Difpleafure of the Ho-
nourable Houfe of Commons : Yet as his Inno-

cence under thefe Misfortunes is his Support, ib-

he hopes it will be his Security. Pie being taken

with Perfons that were in Arms againft the Go-
vernment, might reafonably be prefumed to be

equally guilty, and to be juftly joined with them
in the fame Impeachment; but when it fhall ap-

pear how much the Circumftances of his Cafe,

differ from others, he does not doubt but your

Lordfhips great Juftice will diftinguifh him in

Judgment •, and that it will be as pleafing to that

Elonourable Body, who are his Accukrs, to have

an innocent Man acquitted, as one that is guilty

condemned. He begs leave to take notice, that

he is defcended from a very ancient, noble Fa-

mily, in whofe Blood the Screams of Loyalty

were always pure, never corrupted or polluted

with Treafon or Sedition •> and he never degene-

rated fo much from his Loyal Anceftors, as to

form or carry on any Defign to fubvert or alter

the Conftitution of thefe Kingdoms, but for the

Prefervation of it was upon all Occafions ready

to fucrifice his Fortune, and even his Life : He
was
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was fo cautious to avoid giving occafion to be

fuipcfted by the Government, that about eight

Years ago, upon his Return from his Travels,

he withdrew from all Converfation, and confined

himfelf to his Houfe, never correfponded by Let-

ter with any Perfon whatsoever; yet to his great

Misfortune, he could not be quiet or fafe in his

cloieft Retirement ; for many Perfons, both Of-

ficers and others of the Militia of the Shire of

Lothian-, under the fpecious Pretence of ferving

the Government, but in reality actuated by pri-

vate Pique and Revenge, leveral times, contrary

to Law, forcibly entred by Night into his Dwel-

Iing-houfe, called Seaton Palace, rifled it, turned

his Seivants out of Doors, and carried away the

Provilions of his Family. The moft Sacred Places

did not cfcape their Fury and Refentment, they

broke into his Chapel, defaced the Monuments

of his Anceftors, took up the Scones of their

Sepulchres, thruft Irons through their Bodies, and

treated them in a moft barbarous, inhuman and

unchriftian-Iike manner; Cannon and Mortars

were btcught to demolish his Houfe, and feveral

Troops of Dragoons having gotten the PoffefTion

thereof, fome of them kept Guard there, and

when they left it, many of the Militia enter'd,

and kept Poiiefiion thereof till they were driven

from thence by the Highlanders, by whom he

was likewife very ill treated, he being the only

Perfon that was plunder'd by them. By thefe

and many other Severities, the faid Earl was

forced to leave his Houfe, and feek for Shelter

among his Ten:'; its and Neighbours, where he

was purfued from Houfe to Houfe, and at laft

very unfortunately driven into the Company of

fome of the Geademen named in the Impeach-

ment. He prefumes to affirm to your Lordfhips,

that he did not join them with a traiterous, or

itebelliMs Defign, but only with an Intention to

prekivc hAmfeli from being infulted and alTafli-

n^ted ; for he had been once before taken up
without any Warrant or Authority, and having

got from the Perlbns in whofe Cuflody he was,

they threatned, if they could retake him, to

murcicr him ; and had before imbrued their

Hands in the Blood of the Son of a neighbouring

Gentleman. He never intended to have left his

own Country ; and when fome Gentlemen men-
tioned coming into England, he oppos'd it ; he
was far from afiifting or encouraging them in

their Undertakings •, he was not admitted into

their Secrets, nor informed of their Defigns, and
was fo much a Stranger to their Proceedings,

that when they marched towards Northumberland,

he was told they were going along the Skirts of
the Hills in Scotland to avoid General Carpenter ;

but afterwards difcovered they were in England

when it was too late, and to return alone into

Scotland was too hazardous, which he did not at-

tempt, becaufehe hadrealbn to believe they would
foon go back to Scotland.

Although he was conftrain'd to keep the other

Lords and Gentlemen Company, yet he never

joined with them in any aft of Hoftility, nor

affifted in taking any of the public Money, or

in feizing any Guns or other warlike Inftruments,

or counccnanctd or abetted them therein. He
did not at Prefton or elfewhere fire a Piftol, offer

violence to any Peribn whatfoever, or in any
other manner fight againft, or refill his Majefly's

Forces, but with the refl furrendered himfelf to

General Wills. The Honour of a Peer is more
Vol. VI.
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valuable than Life it k\f, and therefore he ought
to be fo much the more cautious that it be not
ffained with the leaft Imputation of Guilt. The
faid Earl knows his Innocence, and hopes your
Lordfhips will excufe him, if in Juftice to him-
felf, and for the Prefervation of his Honour, he
does not take upon him the Guilt of Crimes, the
very Thoughts of which were always Strangers

to his Breail : And therefore, in Anfwer to the

Impeachment, he fays, that he is Not Guilty of
the Treafon and other the Crimes and Mifde-
meanors mentioned in the faid Articles, or any
of them, in Manner and Form as is therein al-

ledged ; and for his Trial puts himfelf on your
Lordfhips, who are his Peers, and begs your
Lordfhips to believe that his Anfwer proceeds

from the Senfe he has of the Truth of it, and
not from Obflinacy or any Inclination to give

your Lordfhips and the Honourable Houfe of
Commons any unneceffary Trouble, or from the

leaft Doubt or Miftrufl of his Majefly's Clemency.
But if upon his Trial it fhall appear, that he
hath committed any Aft which in the Rigour of
the Law may be conflrued to amount to the Crime
of High-Treafon, he hopes the Innocence of his

Heart, and his Ignorance in the Law will, by
the Power of your Lordfhips Interceffion, render

him an Objeft of his Majefly's Mercy, which he
and the reft at the Time of lurrendring themfelves

were encouraged by his Majefly's Officers to de-

pend upon. The faid Earl fubmits his Cafe thus

circumftanced to your Lordfhips great Wifdom
and Judgment, and humbly prays your Lord-

y

fhips favourable Interpretation thereof, not doubt-

ing but to make his Innocence appear to your

Lordfhips Satisfaction.

Wintoun.

The Reply of the Houfe of Commons to the

Anjwer of George Earl of Wintoun.

AMefTage was brought from the Houfe of

Commons by Mr. Hampden and others, to

acquaint this Houfe, that they have confidered the

Anfwer of George Earl of" Wintoun to the Impeach-

ment exhibited againft him by the Knights, Citi-

zens, and Burgeffcs affembled in Parliament, and

do aver their Charge againft the faid George Earl

of Wintoun for High-Treafon to be true, and that

the faid Earl of Wintoun is guilty of the High-

Treafon in fuch manner as he ftands impeached

;

and that the Commons will be ready to prove

their Charge againft him at fuch convenient time

as fhall be appointed for that purpofe.

Lord High-Steward. The Diftance of this Place

from the Bar is fo very great, that I am obliged

to afk your Lordfhips Leave that I come down to

the Table,

Lords. Ay, ay.

Which being done accordingly,

The Lord High-Steward faid, Gentlemen of the

Houfe of Commons, you will be pleafed now to

proceed.

Mr. Hampden. ~\ l\ Y Lords, we appear in this

iVl Place in behalf of all the

Commons of Great Britain, to make good the

Impiachment of High-Treafon againft the Pri-

foner at the Bar George Earl of JVintoun.

E The
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The Commons in Parliament affembled being

juftly alarmed with the Dangers to which this

Nation has been expoied by the late unnatural

Rebellion, have found it incumbent on them to

enquire into the Authors and Promoters of lb

fatal and pernicious an Attempt, which was no

lefs than to deprive thefe Nations of the invaluable

Bkffings which they enjoy under the wife and

gentle Reign of his moil facred Majefty King

George.

The indifpenfable Duty which the Commons
owe to his Majefty, and to thpfe they reprefent,

engage them to appear in the Caufe of their

Country, by examining into the Rife and Pro-

grefs of the faid late traiterous Enterprize, con-

trived and carried on with an Intent to depofe

and murder his faid Majefty, and to fet up a

Popifh Pretender to the Crown of thefe Realms,

and in confequence, to change the Conftitution

of this Nation, and to introduce a flavifh and ar-

bitrary Government.

The Earl of V/inioun appearing to the Com-
mons to have been deeply engaged in the late

Rebellion, their Zeal and Affection, and their

Concern for the Safety of the Nation, and the

Proteftant Succeftion, and the Liberties of the

People, have rendered it neceffary for them to

bring to yourLordfhips Bar this Offender, againft

whom they have, in the Name of themfelves, and

of all the Commons of Great-Britain, exhibited

Articles of Impeachment of High-Treafon, fet-

ting forth and charging,

That the Earl of Wintoun (with his AfTociates

named in the Articles a/id divers others) contra-

ry to his Allegiance, did traiteroufly confpire and

imagine the Death of his moft Sacred Majefty •,

and in Aid of fuch Treafon, did in the Months

of September, Otlober, or November 1 7 1 5, refolve

to levy in feveral Parts of Scotland and England a

moft deftruftive War againft his Majefty.

That his Lordfhip, with other his Confederates,

did affemble in a warlike manner, and procur'd

Arms, Ammunition, and warlike Inftruments,

and did compofe an Army to wage War againft

his Majefty, and did March thro' and invade fe-

veral Parts of this Kingdom, and unlawfully

feiz'd his Majefty's Trealiire for the Service of

the Pretender, and took away the Horfes and

other Goods of many of his Majefty 's peaceable

Subjects.

And that during the faid March and Invafion,

the Earl of Wintoun, with other Rebels, did, in

open Defiance of his Majefty's undoubted Title

to the Crown of thefe Realms, frequently caufe

the Pretender to be proclaimed in a public and

folemn manner as King of thefe Realms.

That the more effectually to difguife thefe

wicked Intentions, and to delude his Majefty's

Subjects, the laid Earl, with other Rebels, did

prevail on feveral Minifters of the Church of Eng-

land, and who had abjur'd the Pretender, to pray

for the Pretender in feveral public Churches as

King of thefe Realms.

And that the faid Earl, his AfTociates, and Ac-

complices, did in November laft, traiteroufly pol-

fefs themfelves of the Town of Prejlon in the

County-Palatine of Lancafter, and did levy War
and fight againft his Majefty's Forces, and pro-

cured a miferable Slaughter and Murrher of many
of his Majefty's good and faithful Subjects.

My Lords, the Earl of Wintoun has, in his Plea

to the laid Impeachment, thought fit to deny part

of this great and heavy Charge; and in Anfwer
to other Parts of it, he fuggefts to your Lord-
fhips to the Effect following •,

That being taken with Perfons that were in

Arms againft the Government, he might be pre-
fum'd to be equally guilty with them •> but that

when your Lordfhips fhall confider the Circum-
ftances of his Cafe, he doubts not of finding a
Diftinction from others in your Judgment.
He acquaints your Lordfhips with the Loyalty

of his Anceftors, from whofe Character, he fays,

he is not fo much degenerated, as to form or car-

ry on a Defign againft the Conftitution of thefe

Kingdoms.

That to avoid being fufpected by the Govern-
ment, he withdrew himfelffome Years ago from
all Converfation, and retir'd to his own Houfe ;

but that feveral of the Militia of the Shire of Lo-
thian, under pretence of ferving the Government,
did, contrary to Law, forcibly enter his Lord-
fhip's Houfe, which they rifled, and committed
feveral other Diforders there.

That afterwards Cannon and Mortars were
brought to demolifh his Houfe, and feveral Troops
of Dragoons took Poffefllon of it •, and upon their

leaving it, the Militia came and kept Poffefllon

of his Houfe till they were driven thence by
the Highlanders, by whom he was alfo very ill

treated.

That by thefe Severities, and afterwards not
being fuffered to live quietly among his Tenants,
where he had retir'd for Shelter, he was driven
into the Company of fome of the Gentlemen
named in the Impeachment ; but affirms to your
Lordfhips, that it was with an Intent to preferve

himfelf from being affaffinated.

That he oppos'd the Propofition of coming
into England, and was not acquainted with the
Defigns of the other Gentlemen with him ; and
was furpriz'd when he found himfelf in England*

but declin'd going back, becaufe he believ'd they
would foon return to Scotland.

That he did not aflift in taking any of the

public Money, or in feizing any warlike Inftru-

ments.

That he did not at Prejlon, or elfewhere, fire

a Piftol, offer Violence to any Perfon, or fight

againft his Majefty^s Forces, but furrender'd him-
felf to the King's General.

And as an Inducement for fuch Surrender, his

Lordfhip fays, that he, and the reft with him,
were at that time encouraged by his Majefty's

Officers to depend on his Majefty's Mercy.
My Lords, notwithftanding what is contain'd

in the Earl of Wintoun's Plea to the Impeachment
of the Commons, and the fpecious Explanation

which his Lordfhip has given to fuch Proceedings

of his, as were a Foundation to the Commons to

include his Lordfhip in the Articles againft the

other Lords mentioned therein ; we make no
queftion but we fhall fhew the Fallacy and In-

efficiency of the faid Plea to our Charge againft

him, and make it appear, that no lefs is contain'd

in our Accuiation againft his Lordfhip, than

what the Law in every Man's Breaft, the Light
of Nature, and the Rules of Society difapprove

of, and condemn.

We fhall in the Courfe of our Evidence prove

to your Lordfhips, that the Earl of Wintoun

joined early with the Rebels in Scotland in the

beginning of this Enterprize; and that the Dif-

orders mentioned in his Plea to have been com-
mitted
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mitted at his Houfe, and which he alledges as Service is not only lawful, but pious, and agree-

the Ground of his leaving it, and feeking Shelter able to God.

among- the Rebels, were not the true Gaufe of But how Proteftants could be poffefTed with

his joining them, fince his Lordfhip had left his fuch a Spirit of Infatuation, and tofuch a Degree

Houfe before the Highlanders came to it. be deluded, as to believe the mod fecure and

This Noble Peer was too great a Per fen to aft effectual Way to protect the Church, was to have

an ordinary Part in this Rebellion. He openly Recourfe to a Popifh Prince, to refcue it from

engag'd in it, and not only appeared in Perfon, the Danger they imagined it liable to, from th"

Proteftant Succeflion taking place : And how it

could enter into the Hearts of Proteftants to be

fir'd with fuch an ill-directed Zeal, as to act in

conjunction with avow'd Enemies of their Reli-

gion and Liberties, is not to be accounted for ;

but led on, and encouraged his Affociates in it

;

fome of which, through the Blefling of God on

his Majefty 's Arms, are now in the Hands of

Juftice, and ethers have fuffer'd for the fame

Treafon.

We fhall prove to your Lordfhips, that the unlels iuch unnatural and deftruftive Attempts

Earl oiWintom form'd a Troop of Horfe, which are fome of the neceffary Confequences of the lace

he maintain'd at his own Charge. Male-Adminiftration.

That he afterwards commanded a Squadron of No lefs was to be the Sacrifice, than of his Ma-

Horfe, and that he continued his Command jefty, and his Royal Family, (a Succeflion of

thereof in the feveral Marches to Pre/ton, and Princes appointed by Divine Providence to be the

until the Surrender of that Place to the King's

Forces.

That during the feveral Marches of the Rebels,

the Earl of Wintonn was with them on Horfe-

back, arm'd with a Sword and a Cafe of Piftois

;

and that he never fhew'd any Uneafinefs, but al-

ways appear'd as forward as any one •, and that

at the Action at Prejlon his Lordfhip was aiiifting,

and very active among the Rebels.

Guardians of the Proteftant Intereft in Europe)

and of our prefent happy Conftitution, to appeafe

the Fury of Papifts and Proteftants affociated in

this Rebellion, and who envied us the Bl.flings

we enjoy'd by the uninterrupted Exercife of our

Religious and civil Rights and Privileges.

Had this Rebellion taken place, this Nation,

the Glory of the Reformation, the moil fubftan-

tial Bulwark again ft Popery, and that had at the

That at feveral Places in Scotland and England, happy Revolution, under the Influences of King

his Lordfhip, and other Rebels, caus'd the Pre- William the Third, of immortal Memory, m-
render to be proclaimed King of thefe Realms, and umph'd over the arbitrary Defigns of our Ene-

that his Lordfhip was preient at fuch Proclaim- mies to fubvert our Conftitution, was to fall a

tions. Victim to Bigotry, Superftition and Slavery, the

That his Lordfhip, and other Rebels, did in pernicious and neceffary Confequences of intro-

feveral Places caufe his Ma jefty '3 Treafure to be ducing a Religion, void of natural Senfe and na-

feiz'd, for the Service of the Pretender ; and did tural Confidence.

in feveral Places prevail on Minifters of the Church If an Attempt to fubvert the Government, to

of England, and who had abjur'd the Pretender, deftroy the King, andfetup a Popifh Pretender:

to pray for him in the public Churches, as King if marching in an hoftile Manner : if carrying on

of thefe Realms. a deftruftive War in the Bowels of the Nation,

That when the Rebels furrender'd themfelves are only Acts of Surprize and Inadvertancy, any

at Prejlon to the King's Forces, they were far Rebellion may be palliated over and excus'd ;

from receiving any Affurances of Mercy from fince fcarce any Circumftances can be added in

his Majefty's Officers-, but were acquainted by Aggravation of that, which has lately been raii'd

the faid Officers, that his Lordfhip, and others and carried in this Kingdom,

taken with him, had no Reafon to expect Mercy, My Lords, I have acquainted your Lordfhips

fince they were taken in open Rebellion againft with the neceffary Oceafion of this Profecution :

his Majefty.

My Lords, the Commons, who are ever vigi-

lant for the Safety of his Majefty, and for the

Prefervation of the Liberties of the People, cannot

I have endeavour'd in the molt impartial Manner
to difcharge the Truft repos'd in me, by open-

ing the Nature of the Charge againft the Earl at

the Bar. I have likewife ftated to your Lord-

anfwer it to God or their Country, if they fhould fliips the Subftance of his Plea to the Impeach-

neglect to exert themfelves, in bringing to ex- ment of the Commons. I have given your Lord-

emplary Juftice the open and declared Inftruments fliips a general View of the Evidence which we
of this Rebellion; and it is a Satisfaction to the fhall produce, to make good our Charge, and to

Commons, that in the Courfe of their Interpofi- fhew the Invalidity of the faid Plea; and from

tion, to refcue the Nation from the fatal Confe- the Malignity of the late rebellious and traite-

quences of the late unprovok'd Rebellion, what- rous Enterprize, and its fatal Tendencyr
, I have

ever Mifreprefentations other Profecutions may reprefented the Neceflity the Commons were under

have been formerly liable to, the Notoriety ef of applying to your Lordfhips for National Juftice.

this Rebellion has been fo evident, that the moft I am not infenfible how deficient I have been, in

malicious of our Enemies want Confidence to not fetting a Matter of this Importance in the

deny it.

We are not furpriz'd, that Papifts fhould be

engag'd in this Rebellion, tho' the moft unnatu-

ral and unexampled in its Circumftances, by be-

ing void of the leaft Pretext of Provocation,

fince they maintain it lawful to kill a Heretic

moft advantageous Light; but I make no doubt,

but that what is wanting in me, will be fupplied

by the Abilities of others that follow, and that

your Lordfhips will find no Defect in their Dif-

charge of the Parts they have taken in this Pro-

fecution, whatever you may have found in the

King, and fuch they term his prefent Majefty, Opening of the Charge, and in that Part which
and 'tis declar'd by them, that fuch a Piece of has come to my Share.

Vol. VI. E Sir
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Sir Jofeph Jekyll. T Have the Command of the

i. Houfe of Commons upon

me, to bear a Part in the Profecution of their

Impeachment againft this Lord at the Bar.

And that which is affigned to me, is firft to

obferve to your Lordfhips the Nature of the

Charge ; and in the next Place, to take notice of

the Defence made to that Charge ; and laftly, to

give your Lordfhips a general View of the Evi-

dence which the Commons will produce to main-

tain their Accufation.

And this I fhall do with all the Plainnefs I am
capable of, without attempting lb vain and wicked

a Thing, as to impofe upon your Lordfhips, or

divert you from the true Merits of this Caufe.

My Lords, The Charge exhibited againft: this

Lord, is a Charge of High-Treafon ; High-

Treafbn at the Common Law, as declared by the

Statute of the 25th of King Edward III. And
there are two Species of High-Treafon mention'd

in that Statute, which the Commons have taken

notice of in their Articles of Impeachment. The
Firft is compaffing and imagining the Death of

the King ; the Second is levying War againft his

Majcfty.

My Lords, The Overt-Ads that are fet down
in the Articles, I think, may be reduced to thefe

Heads : Firft, a Confpiracy of the Earl of Win-

toun, with other Lords and Gentlemen his Ac-

complices, to levy War with an Intent to depofe

the King •, and a Confpiracy to levy fuch a War
hath been held a fufficient Overt-Aft of compaf-

fing and imagining the D^eath of the King.

My Lords, The next Overt-Aft is, his Lord-

fhip's joining with his Accomplices in proclaim-

ing the Pretender, which is endeavouring to fet

up another Prince in the Room of his Majefty ;

and I believe it will not be doubted, but that is

likewile an Overt-Aft of the fame Species of

Treafcn. And if there wanted another Overt-

Aft, the levying War againft the King with an
Intent to depofe him (which is likewife mention'd
in the Articles, as a diftinft Species of Treafon)

may ferve for an Overt-Aft of the other Species

of compaffing and imagining the King's Death

;

for tho' it is reckon'd in the Statute as a diftinft

Treafon ; yet it doth not thereby ceafe to be of
the Nature of an Overt-Aft of compaffing and
imagining the King's Death which it was antece-

dent to, its being declar'd a diftinft Species j and
this Point is likewife fupported by Authorities,

and many Attainders have been upon it.

My Lords, The fecond Species of High-Trea-
fon I charge upon this Lord, is that of levying

War againft the King; and the Overt-Afts men-
tioned are, the forming an Army, marching in

an hoftile Manner, feizing a Tov/n, the Town of

Preftou, engaging and fighting with the King's

Forces.

My Lords, Perhaps it was not neceflary to have

alledged any of thefe Overt-Afts of levying War
againft the King, becaufe levying War itielf be-

ing an Aft, it fuperfedes the Neceffity of inftan-

cing particular Afts of Hoftility. But to avoid

all Cavals, thefe particular Afts are likewife al-

ledged in the Commons Impeachment.

My Lords, I find another Crime charged upon

this Lord who ftands at the Bar, and that is Mur-
der, the Murder of many of the King's faithful

Subjects. And although this Crime is not men-

tioned in the Tide of the Articles, and there was

a good Reafon for not doing it, fince it is fwal-

low'd up in the High-Treafon, the greater Crime
in the Eye and Eftimationof the Law, yet it doth
not thereby lofe its moral Exiftence or real Guilt

;

but on the contrary, by accompanying the other

Crime of High-Treafon, is aggravated, and fhews

with what Mifchief his Heart may be filled, who
at the fame time he is murdering his Fcllow-Sub-
jefts, is meditating the Deftruftion of his Prince,

and the Overthrow of his Country's Liberty.

My Lords, this is the Nature of the Charge
againft my Lord. In the next Place I fhall take

notice of that which occurs to me to be material

in his Lordfhip's Defence, or the Anfwer he hath
put in to this Charge.

My Lords, he hath pleaded generally Not
Guilty ; but not wholly relying on that general
Plea, he hath in his Anfwer added a particular

Specification of his Cafe. He begins in his An-
fwer, by taking notice and admitting, That he
being taken with Perfons that were in Arms againft

the Government, might reafonably be prefumed to be

equally guilty, and to be juftly joined with them in

the fame Impeachment. He goes on to acquaint

your Lordfhips with what fevere and barbarous
Ufage he met with at his Dwelling-Houfe, which
he lays forced him from his Houfe. He tells your
Lordfhips at laft, he was very unfortunately driven

into the Company of fome of the Gentlemen named in

the Impeachment; but he prefumes to affirm to your
Lordfhips, that he did notjoin them with a traiterous

or rebellious Defign, but only with an Intention to

preferve himfelf from being infulted and affaffinated j

then he fays, Altho' he was conftrain'd to keep the

other Lords and Gentlemen Company, yet he never

joined them in any Atl of Hoftility. But yet he is

ftill under fome Diffidence of his Cafe, therefore

your Lordfhips will find at the Clofe of his An-
fwer he fays, But if upon his Trial it fhall appear
that he hath committed any Atl, which in the Ri-
gour of the Law may be conftrued to amount to the

Crime of High-Treafon, he hopes the Innocence of his

Heart, and his Ignorance in the Law, will', by

your Lord/hips Interceftion, render him an Objetl of
his Majefty's Mercy, which he and the reft, at the

Time of furrendering themfelves, were encouraged by

his Majefty"'s Officers to depend upon.

My Lords, this fpecial Cafe which my Lord
hath made in his Anfwer, is not at all like the

Cafe in my Lord Chief Juftice Coke's Third Infti-

tutes, Fol, 10. upon an Impeachment of High-
Treafon. Several Perfons were found to join with

Sir John Oldcaftle and others (who were in open
Rebellion) pro timore Mortis, & quam cito potue-

runtrecefferunt, and thereupon they were acquitted ;

but here my Lord doth not pretend that any

Force was upon him, when he went in and joined

the Rebels. I may therefore prefume to fay this

Lord's Defence is a weak and doubtful one, but

far be it from the Commons to defire to convift

his Lordfhip of the High-Treafon charged upon

him by an Infirmity in his Defence, or by any

Means whatever, but by the Strength and Clear-

nefs of the Evidence they fhall produce to your

Lordfhips, and for that I fhall trouble your Lord-

fhips but a very little with reprefenting to you

the general View of the Evidence that we fhall

produce, and it is this : This Lord thought fit to

go in and join the Rebels, not alone, but accom-

panied with fourteen of his own Servants ; when
he was there, he formed a Troop, confifting of

his own Servants, and others ; he paid the Troop,

com-
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Commanded a Squadron of the Rebels Horfe in

their March ; affifted at the feveral Proclama-

tions of the Pretender ; when there was an Alarm

given of the coming of the King's Forces, he got

on Horfe-back in order to oppoie and fight them ;

and he was in Arms and active with the Rebels

in the Action at Prefton ; and we fhall fhew your

Lordfhips that at the Surrender there no Promife

was made, no Expectation of Mercy was railed

by any of the King's Officers in the Mind of this

Lord, or of any of his Accomplices.

My Lords, though this be not material to the

Ifiue now joined before your Lordfhips* yet it be-

ing put into my Lord's Anfwer, and being necefia-

ry for the Vindication of public Juftice, we fhall

fhew plainly there was not the leatt Encouragement

or Intimation of that kind given.

My Lords, the Evidence will be more largely

and particularly taken notice of, by the Gentleman

who is to come after me ; and I am lure my De-

feds will be amply made up, by what he will of-

fer to your Lordfhips.

Bj: I can't fit down without taking notice)

that if this heavy Accufation be prov'd againfc the

Lord at the Bar, it is a ftrange Notion of Loyalty,

fo much boafted of in my Lord's Anfwer, which

he hath been pleated to entertain.

My Lords, there is not a nobler or more ufe-

ful Principle belonging to a Britifh Subject, than

true Loyalty : Loyalty is a faithful and dutiful

Obedience to the King, under the Sanction and

Direction of the Law. If therefore his Lordfhip

hath contracted the Guilt of this high Offence

againft the Law, which is charged upon him, he

hath offended againft this Principle : And this

I will fay in general, whoever they be who caft the

Law out of the Idea of Loyalty, they loofen the

Bands of Allegiance ; for it is the Law that binds

upon the Confcience of the Subject the Faith and

Allegiance he owes to his Sovereign, as it doth

upon the Confcience of the Sovereign, that Juftice

and Protection he affords to his Subjects.

MY Lords, the Charges

of High-Treafon

Mr. Attorney-General.

Sir Edward Northey.

mentioned in the Articles of Impeachment ex-

hibited by the Commons of Great- Britain againft

the Earl of Wintoun, the Prifoner at the Bar, and
the Nature of his Crimes, having been fully open'd

by Mr. Hampden and Sir Jofeph Jekyll ; what re-

mains for my Part is to give your Lordfhips an

Account of the Nature of the Evidence we fhall

produce to your Lordfhips againft the Prifoner,

to prove him guilty of the High-Treafon for

which he ftands impeached. He is charged with

two Species of Treafon, mentioned in the Statute

of the 25 Edw. III. viz. Firft, compaffing and

imagining the Death of our ibvereign Lord the

King, whom God long preferve. Secondly, levy-

ing War againft the King within this Realm.
The Evidence that will be a Proof of the latter

Treafon, will alfo prove the firft : For levying

War to depofc the King, is an Overt-Act of con-

fpiring the Death of the King, and hath always

been fo adjudged.

I fhall briefly, and with as much Clearnefs and
Truth as I can, ftate the Evidence againft the

Prifoner, as it will appear by the Witneffes we
fhall produce, without aggravating any thing

which I do not think proper or neceffary, your
Lordfhips being Judges of the Fact, and of the

Lav/ arifmg thereupon. I fhall only make this

2$
Obfervation on the Preamble to the Earl's Plea,

that it directly contradicts his Plea of Not Guilty ;

and that if what he alledges be taken as true, he
therein owns himfelf to be guilty, though from
thence he concludes, that he is not guilty.

In September laft, the late Earl of Mar in Berths

JJoire, and in the beginning of Oclober, Mr. Forfter

withfome of the attainted Lords in Northumber-
land, with a great Number of armed Men, raifed

a Rebellion in Favour of the Pretender, and pro-
claimed him King of thefe Realms, and fet up his

Standard.

About the feventh or eighth Day of Oclober
laft, the Earl of Wintoun left his Seat at Seaton in

the County of Lothian, armed with a broad Sword
and Piftols, and carry'd with him fourteen or fif-

teen of his Servants well mounted, and fo armed ;

about the tenth Day of Oblober joined the Earl of
Carnwath and the Lord Viicount Kenmure at

Moffett in the County of Annandale, and there
they formed a little Army, which was commanded
by Lord Kenmure till they joined Forfter.

The Lord Wintoun formed a Troop with his

own Servants and others, and it was called his

Troop, and he paid his own Servants eighteen
Pence or two Shillings a Day, and he commanded
from that Time a Squadron of Horfe, till he
and the others furrendered to the King's Forces at

Prefton.

About the fourteenth or fifteenth Day of Otlo-
ber, the Earl of Wintoun and the reft of the Re-
bels marched from Moffett, in a hoftile Manner,
with Trumpets and a Standard to Lochmaben.
There the Pretender was proclaimed King of
Scotland, England, &c. and the Earl of Wintoun
attended, and joined in the Proclamation, with
his Sword drawn. Thence the Rebels marched to

Auchtelfechen, Jedburg,

Langholm, Rodberry,

Hawick, Wooler,

where, about the twentieth Day of Oclober, Fcrfter
and his Rebels, being about five hundred, joined
the Lord Wintoun and the other Scots, being three

Troops of Horfe.

From Wooler they all marched to Kelfoe in Tz-

viotdale, where the Highland Foot, commanded
by Mackinto/h, joined them. There, at the Crofs,

the Pretender was again proclaimed King, with
Sound of Trumpet and Colours flying, the Lord
Wintoun and the reft affifting.

On the feventeenth Day of Oclober they march-
ed back to Jedburg, and there were alarmed with

an Account that the King's Forces were near ; on
which they mounted, and marched out of Town,
and drew up, the Earl of Wintoun being very
active ; but the Forces advancing being diicovered

to be part of the Rebels, they returned to Jedburg ;

and on the twenty-ninth Day of Oclober they

marched to Hawick.

Here Cockades were made of blue and white

Ribbons for the Scots Rebels, to diftinguifh them
from the Englijh, who had red and white, and the

Earl of Wintoun wore one, and gave others to his

Men.
On the thirtieth Day of Oclober, from Hawick

they marched to Langholm : Here, on the thirty-

firft Day of Oclober, about five or fix Hundred
of the Highland Foot left them, and went back j

and they would not fuffer any Perfon to come to

them, to perfuade them to return, but the Earl

of Wintoun ; and he went to perfuade them, but

could not prevail, and he returned, and declared

it
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it was not his Fault that they went away ; and

he after very much promoted the Rebels coming

into England.

H.re the Earl might have lafely left the Rebels,

if he had thought fit, without Hazard ; and

he had not gone alone, as in his Preamble he

alledges.

From Langholm the Rebels marched to Lang-^

town in Cumberland ; and on the firft Day of

November, to Brampton ; on the Second to Pen-

rith ; on the Third to Appleby ; on the Fifth to

Kendall; and on the Sixth to Kirby-Lonfdale.

At all thefe Places the Pretender was proclaim-

ed King, the Earl of Wintoun affifcing.

On the Seventh Day of November they marched

From Kirby-Lonfdale to Lancafter, into which the

Rebels marched with their Swords drawn, parti-

cularly the Earl of Wintoun •, and here they again

proclaimed the Pretender King, Lord Wintoun

affifting in the Circle.

Here the Rebels feized Arms, and fome pieces

of Cannon.

From Lancafier the Horfe of the Rebels march-

ed on the Ninth Day of November to Prefton, the

Foot halted at Garftang, and came to Prefton the

.Tenth.

In the Way to Prefton the Rebels were joined

with about Fifteen Hundred Men, molt part be-

ing of the County of Lancafter.

And at Prefton the Pretender was again pro-

claimed at the Crofs.

During this March, at feveral Places, particu-

larly at Duns, Brampton and Appleby, the public

Revenue of the King was collected by the Rebels,

and CcfTes railed on the King's Subjects.

They marched with Drums, Trumpets and

Colours ; and, where they could, took Pnfoners.

fuch as appeared for his Majefty.

They caufe'd the Pretender to be pray'd for,

as King, in the Churches in Lancafter, and other

places in their March.

Their conftant Health was the Pretender's, by

the Name of King James, and Succefs to their

Caufe.

During the whole March the Earl of Wintoun

never {hewed any Uneafinefs or Backwardnefs,

but always appeared as forward and active as any

of the Rebels.

Mr. Calderwood, their Quarter-Matter quar-

tered the Scots in all Places ; and the beft, next

to the Lord Kenmure's, he provided for the Earl

of Wintoun, who ufed to complain, if good Quar-

ters were not provided for him.

The next Part of our Evidence will be to fhew

what happened at Prefton, of which the Rebels

had taken Poffcffion the Tenth Day of November.

On Saturday the Twelfth Day of November,

about One in the Afternoon, General Wills with

the King's Forces inverted the Town, and at-

tacked it that Day and on Sunday, and the Re-

bels defended it, and had made a Barrier at the

entering of the Town, and planted the Foot in

feveral Lanes and Streets for their Defence, and

had the Cannon with them which they feized at.

Lancafter.

The Earl of Wintoun during the Attack was

with the other Lords, at the Head of two hun-

dred Men, drawn up in the Market-Place ; he

had his Sword, a Piftol in one Hand, and an-

other in his Breaft ; during that Attack, feveral

of his Majefty 's Officers and Soldiers were killed.

On Sunday, about Ten in the Morning, Ge-

neral Carpenter came alfo to Prefton, with the

King's Forces under his Command. Thereupon
the Rebels finding themfelves to be furrounded,

about Three in the Afternoon ftnt out Colonel
Oxborough to the Generals, to know what Terms
would be granted to them if they would furren-

der ; the Generals gave this Anfwer, That no
Terms would be granted to them, but that they

muft furrender at Difcretion.

Soon after the Rebels fent out Captain Dalziel,

to defire time till Seven a Clock on Monday
Morning, to confider whether they fhould fur-

render at Difcretion. Upon which General Car-
penter fent Colonel Churchill, and General Wills

Colonel Cotton, into the Town, to acquaint the

Rebels that the Time defired fhould be allowed
them, provided they fent out immediately an
Englijh Lord, and one of the Mackintojkes, as

Hoftages, that none within the Town fhould at-

tempt to Efcape, or make any Works for their

Defence.

Colonel Churchill and Colonel Cotton went into

the Town, and there met the Earl of Wintoun
and. the other Lords, and Mr. Forfter, and told

them their Mefiage : All the Lords treated with
them about the furrendering the Town, and feve-

rally gave their Words, that if Time might be

allowed them till next Morning to furrender,

they would ufe their Endeavours that none mould
make their Efcape, and that they would not throw

up any new Works for their Defence. Which
Terms were agreed to, and the Earl of Derwent-

water and Colonel Mackintojh were delivered to

them, and brought to the Generals as Hoitages,

and ftaid all Night -, and in the Morning early

the. Rebels agreed to furrender at Difcretion •, and

the Lord Forefter took Poffcffion of the Town,
where he found the Earl of Wintoun in Arms,
and he furrendered himfelf to the Lord Forefter,

and delivered to him two Cafes of Piftols ; and
being in Cuftody, complained of the little Regard
Mr. Forfter had fhewed to a Man of his Quality,

and faid all the Refpect that he had fhewed him,

was to give him the Poll of Honour when there

was any Danger.

The Generals Carpenter and Wills never offer-

ed any other Terms than that the Rebels fhould

furrender at Difcretion, never promifed them
Mercy, or that they would even intercede for

Mercy for them; nor gave the Colonels, fent in-

to the Town, any Orders to offer Mercy ; nor

did .they : All the Encouragement they gave

them to furrender at Difcretion, was, that if they

did fo, they fhould not be immediately put to

the Sword by the Soldiers -, and denied to pro-

mife, even to recommend them to the King's

Mercy.

This is the Subftance of the Evidence we fhall

lay before your Lordfhips, and the Order we
fhall give it in •, and if what I have opened be

proved, as I believe it will, or I would not have

mentioned it, I apprehend it will fully prove the

Charge againft the Noble Lord, and £hew how
vain the Allegations in the Preamble to his Plea

are.

I beg leave to fay one thing more. The Noble
Lord alledges, in the Preamble to his Plea, that

he never fhot off a Piflol : Certainly that is not

material ; for affembling and marching in a

Hoftile manner for a public Purpofe, and op-

poiing the King's Forces, is levying a War,
although the Lord accuse! never fhot off a Piftol.

We
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We will call our Wi merles, and begin with

William Calderwood, who was Quarter-Mafter the

whole time with Lord Wintoun.

Sir J.
Jekyll. My Lords, we defire that Wil-

liam Calderwood may be fworn.

L. H. Steward. Is it William Calderwood you

call?

Sir J. Jekyll. My Lords, we defire William

Calderwood may be fworn.

And he was fworn by the Clerk accordingly.

Sir J. Jekyll. Mr. Calderwood, pray acquaint my
Lords with what you know concerning this Re-

bellion, or any Part that the Noble Lord at the

Bar had in it •, tell the Story according to your

own Method.

L. H. Steward. Do you hear what Queftion is

afked ? You are upon your Oath •, give an Ac-

count of what you know of the late Rebellion,

and what Part the Noble Lord at the Bar had

in it.

Calderwood. Upon the Eleventh of Qclober I

went, with about Seventy Horfe, to join my Lord

Carnwath, my Lord Wintoun, and my Lord Ken-

mure at Moffett ; where the Pretender was pro-

claimed.

Attorney -General We defire that he may ac-

quaint your Lordfhips, what Number of Men
they had at Moffett.

Calderwood. One Hundred and Fifty.

Att. Gen. What Number of Men ?

Calderwood. One Hundred and Fifty.

Att. Gen. Was the Prifoner at the Bar amongft

them ? and did he bring in any with him ?

Calderwood. Yes.

Att. Gen. About what time did he come in ?

Calderwood. Towards the Evening of the Ele-

venth Day.

Att. Gen. What Day ?

Calderwood. The Eleventh.

Sir J . Jekyll. What Number did the Lord Win-

toun bring with him ?

Calderwood. About Fourteen.

L. H. Steward. You fpeak of the Prifoner at

the Bar •, he came in with Fourteen Men ?

Calderwood. Yes, my Lord.

Att. Gen. Were they all armed •, or how many
were armed ?

Calderwood. I don't know whether all were,

but the moft part of them were, with Sword and

Piftol.

L- H. Steward. You have faid at what Place

they were, but your Voice did not reach hither

;

at what Place ?

Calderwood. At Moffett.

Sir^. Jekyll. When my Lord at the Bar joined

the Rebels, what did they do ? Go on, and tell

your Story.

Calderwood. They went to Lochmaben.

Sir J. Jekyll. When did the Lord at the Bar
join them there ?

Calderwood. The next Day.

Att. Gen. What was done there ?

Calderwood. The Pretender was proclaimed

there next Day.

Att. Gen. Was the Noble Lord at the Bar affift-

ing at the proclaiming of him ?

Calderwood. Yes, he was.

Att. Gen. In what manner did he affift ?

Calderwood. With his Sword drawn on Horfe -

back.

L. H. Steward. Who did affift at the Proclama-
tion with a drawn Sword ?

Calderwood. The Earl of Wintoun.

Att. Gen. Whence did you march from thence ?

Calderwood. To Auchtelfechen.

Att. Gen. Whither did you march from thence ?

Calderwood. To Langholm.

Sir J. Jekyll. And whither then ?

Calderwood. To Hawick.

Ait. Gen. Go on.

Calderwood. The Pretender was proclaimed

there.

Sir J. Jekyll. Was the ~Lord Wintoun prefent at

the Proclamation ?

Calderwood. Yes.

Sir J. Jekyll. Whence did you go from thence ?

Calderwood. To Jedburg.

L. H. Steward. Was the Pretender proclaimed
there ?

Calderwood. Yes.

Sir J. Jekyll. Who were prefent ?

Calderwood. The Earl of Wintoun, Carnwath,
and all the Lords.

Att. Gen. Where did you march then ?

Calderwood. To Rodberry.

Att. Gen. What happened there ?

Calderwood. We were join'd by General Forjler.

Att. Gen. How long did you ftay there ?

Calderwood. Two Nights.

Att. Gen. Was the Pretender proclaimed at

Rodberry ?

Calderwood. No.
Att. Gen. What Place did you go next to ?

Calderwood. To Wooler.

Att. Gen. Whither from thence ?

Calderwood. To Kelfoe ; where we were join'd

by the Highland Foot.

Sir J. Jekyll. What Foot do you mean ?

Calderwood. The Highlanders.

Sir J. Jekyll. Who commanded them ?

Calderwood. Brigadier Mackintoflo.

Sir J. Jekyll. From Kelfoe whither did you go?
Calderwood. Back again to Jedburg.

Sir J. Jekyll. Whether from Jedburg ?

Calderwood. To Hawick.

Att. Gen. What happened at either of thefe

Places ?

Calderwood. Nothing.

Sir J. Jekyll. At Hawick ; did nothing happen

there ?

Calderwood. No.
Att. Gen. Was the Pretender proclaimed at

Hawick at either of the Times ?

Calderwood. Yes, the firft time, but not the

fecond.

Act. Gen. Who were prefent ?

Calderwood. All the Lords.

Att. Gen. Name them Was the Prifoner at

the Bar there ?

Calderwood. Yes.

Sir J. Jekyll. From Hawick, the fecond time,

to what Place did you go ?

Calderwood. To Langholm.

Att. Gen. What happened at Langholm ?

Calderwood. Five or Six Hundred of the High-

land Foot went from us.

Att. Gen. Was there any Endeavours ufed to

bring thofe Five Hundred Highlanders back

again ?

Cdderwood. I don't know of any.

Sir J. Jekyll. Who went to them ? Did any of

thofe that were in Arms go to them ?

Calderwood. I was not there when they went

off.

Att. Gen,
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Ait. Gen. Did the Noble Lord attempt to go

with them, the Prifoner at the Bar ?

Calderwood. No •, at Jedburgh the Earl of Win-

toun went up to them, to make them come back ;

where the Foot defigned to go, and the Horfe

were drawn up ; and they would have no Body-

come to them but the Prifoner.

L. H. Steward. I do not hear you , What do

you fay ?

Calderwood. At Jedburg the Earl of Wintoun

went to them.

Att. Gen. Did he declare any thing after his

Return, about their going off, or their not re-

turning ?

Calderwood. No, not at Jedburg.

Att. Gen. Any where elfe ?

Calderwood. I heard him at Langtown fay, it

was not his Fault they were gone off.

Att. Gen. Pray, might not my Lord Wintoun

have gone off with them, if he would ?

Calderwood. Yes, he might.

Att. Gen. From Langtown whither did you go ?

Calderwood. To Brampton.

Att. Gen. Whither next ?

Calderwood. To Penrith.

Att. Gen. Whither next ?

Calderwood. To Appleby.

Att. Gen. Whither next ?

Calderzvood. To Kendall.

Att. Gen. Whither next ?

Calderwood. To Kirby-Lonfdale.

Att. Gen. What happened there ?

Calderwood. The Pretender was proclaimed at

the two laft Places.

Sir J. Jekyll. Who was there ?

Calderwood. I faw him there ?

Sir J. Jekyll. Who ?

Calderwood. The Earl of Wintoun at Kirby-

Lonfdale.

Sir J. Jekyll. Whither did you go from thence ?

Calderwood. To Lancajier.

Sir J. Jekyll. Was the Pretender proclaimed

there ?

Calderwood. Yes.

Sir J. Jekyll. Who were prefent ?

Calderwood. Earl of Wintoun, Kenmure, Carn-

wath, Nithifdale.

Sir J. Jekyll. How did they enter the Town of

Lancajier ?

Calderwood. Sword in Hand.

Att. Gen. Was there any Arms or any Guns
feized ?

Calderwood. Yes, fix Cannon were feized ?

Att. Gen. From whence did they take them ?

Calderwood. From a Ship.

Ait. Gen. Speak up, and tell my Lords.

Calderwood. They feized fix Guns.

Att. Gen. Whence did they take them ?

Calderwood. From a Ship.

Att. Gen. What became of them ?

Calderwood. They carried them to Prejlon,

and mounted them there.

Att. Gen. What time came you to Prefion from

Lancajier ?

Calderwood. What time ? we ftaid two Nights

at Lancajier.

Mr. Cowper. Sir, I defire to afk you a Quefti-

on Whether you was at Church at Lancajier ?

Calderwood. Yes.

Mr. Cowper. Who was prayed for there ?

Calderwood. The Pretender as King of Eng-

land.

Sir J. Jekyll. Who was at Church ? Was it the

Pari 111 Church ?

Calderwood. Yes, the Parifh Church.

Sir J. Jekyll. Who was prefent at Church ?

Calderwood. I don't remember.

Mr. Cowper. From Lancajier whither did you
go then ?

Calderwood. We went to Prejlon.

Mr. Cowper. What Day did you arrive at

Prejlon ?

Calderwood. The Ninth or Tenth Day of No-
vember.

Mr. Cowper. Did the Horfe and Foot arrive

the fame Day ?

Calderwood. No, the Horfe came in one Day,
and the Foot another.

Mr. Cowper. How long after the Horfe did the
Foot come ?

Calderwood. The next Day ; then the Preten-
der was proclaimed. The Horfe came in on a
Wednejday, the Foot on Thurjday.

Att. Gen. Had you any Diftinclion between the
Scots and Englilh, by Cockades ?

Calderwood. Yes.

Att. Gen. What was the Diftinclion ?

Calderwood. The Scots had Blue and White,
and the Englijh had Red and White.

Att. Gen. Did the noble Lord meddle with any
Cockade ?

Calderwood. Yes, he had one at Hawick.
Att. Gen. Did he diftribute them ?

Calderwood, Yes, he delivered them from my
Hands.

L. H. Steward. Who do you fpeak of ? Raife

your Voice.

Calderwood. I fay, my Lord, the Earl of Win-
toun had a Cockade at Hawick, and took feveral

of them from my Hands, and gave them away as

he thought lit.

Sir. J. Jekyll. You faw the Earl of Wintoun at

Prejlon when the King's Forces came thither ; do
you remember what paffed afterwards ?

Calderwood. My Lord, I faw him, he had
Sword and Piftols ; he was a Foot by the Church-
yard.

Att. Gen. As you came along to Prejlon, ac-

quaint my Lords whether you know any think of
the public Revenues being collected ?

Sir J. Jekyll. Before that, when my Lord was
on Foot with Sword and Piftols going towards the

Church-yard, was there any Forces drawn up
there ?

Calderwood. Yes, both Horfe and Foot were

drawn up in the Church-yard.

Sir J. Jekyll. While my Lord was in Com-
pany, and in this March, was there any Troop
formed ?

Calderwood. Yes, there was a Troop.

Sir J. Jekyll. Who had any of thofe Troops ?

Calderwood. My Lord Wintoun had the Firit.

Sir J. Jekyll. Of whom did his Troop con-

fift?

Calderwood. It confifted partly of Gentlemen,

and partly of his own Servants.

Sir J. Jekyll. By whom were they paid ?

Calderwood. By my Lord Wintoun.

Sir J. Jekyll. How much a Day ?

Calderwood. Two Shillings a Day.

Sir J. Jekyll. In what manner was the Troop
accoutred ?

Calderwood. Very well, with Swords and

Piftols.

Att. Gen.
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Att. Gen. Did my Lord's Servants retain his L. Wintoun. My Lord, I hope you will allow

Livery in the Army ? my Council to fpeak for me.

Calderwood. He had five in Liveries. L. H. Steward. Have you any Queftion you

Att. Gen. What were the reft ? defire to be ask'd, and it mall be ask'd ?

Calderwood. Domeftic Gentlemen. L. Wintoun. I defire my Council may ask for

Att. Gen. Did my Lord command only that, me ; it is very hard to have none to fpeak for

or any other Body ? me, and there are twenty againft me.

Calderwood. He commanded a Squadron. Proclamation for Silence as ufual.

Sir J. Jekyll. In your Paffage, did my Lord L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, I hope

dilcovcr any Uneafincfs, or feek for any Oppor- now you will be better heard. If you have any

tunity of leaving them ? Queftion to ask this Witnefs, if your Lordfhip

Calderwood. He never did that I know of. propounds it, it fhall be ask'd him.

Sir J. Jekyll. I think you quarter'd him, did L. Wintoun. My Lord, allow my Council to

he complain of his Quarters at any time ? fpeak for me, I have but two.

Calderwood. He order'd me to give him good L. H. Steward. My Lord, I have acquainted

Quarters. Y011
' (

Dut: apprehend you did not hear me) that

Sir J. Jekyll. And accordingly you did for the Law of the Land doth not allow it.

him ? Sir J. Jekyll. My Lords, if my Lord at the

Calderwood. Yes. Bar doth not think fit to ask this Witnefs any

Att. Gen. We will goon. What happened at Queftions, nor your Lordfhips, we muft call -

Prefton ? What time did the King's Forces come another Witnefs.

there ? L. H. Steward to Calderwood the Witnefs. Di-

Calderwood. We came on Wednefday, they came reel: your Anfwer this way. You have mention'd

on Saturday. fcveral Proclamations of the Pretender, was there

Att. Gen. Tell my Lords what happen'd after any at which my Lord, the Priibner at the Bar,

the King's Troops came to Town. was not prefent ?

Calderwood. We defended the Town two Calderwood. I did not fee him at the Proclama-

Ni^hts. tion at Prefion.

Att. Gen. When did they furrender? L. H. Steward. At how many other Places did

Calderwood. They furrender'd on Monday. you fee him ?

Att. Gen. What paft before? Did the King's Calderwood. I faw him at Wooler, Jedburg,

Troops attack it, and demand a Surrender ? Kelfoe, and Kirby-Lonfdale, and Lancafier, where

Calderwood. Yes, and we defended it. the Pretender was proclaimed.

Sir J. Jekyll. Was there any Provifion made L. H. Steward. Did he join in caufing him to

to fecure the Town ? Acquaint my Lords how it be proclaim'd, or did he feerri to miflike "it ?

was defended. Calderwood. No, my Lord, he was always

Calderwood. We barricado'd it in every Street, among the reft.

Sir J. Jekyll. After what manner ? how ? Ait. G< zn. With your Lordfhip's Favour, the next

Calderwood. We had two Cannon in every Witnefs isjames Lindfey^,we defire he may be fworn.

Street. L. Wintoun. My Council are prcxtnr, pray

Att. Gen. During the Time the King's Troops allow my Council to fpeak for me, I am not ufed

were at the Town, what Share did my Lord to fpeak in fuch Aficmblies.

V/inioun bear in the Defence of it ? where was Lindfey was fworn accordingly.

he ? L. H. Steward. Who do you call next, Gen-

Calderwood. I faw him go towards the Church- tlemen ?

yard

;

• Att. Gen. James Lindfey is fworn, we defire he

Att. Gen. Was there a Body of Men with him may give your Lordfhip's an Account, whether he

in the Church-yard ? was at any time at Moffett, when the Pretender

Calderwood. Yes, there was. was proclaim'd, and what Share my Lord Win-

Sir J. Jekyll. When my Lord joined the Men, toun had in it ? ——— I believe it will be better

and in his March, was there any levying of to have fomething for the Witnefles to ftand

Money. upon ; ftay a little, till fomething is brought

Calderwood. They raifed Taxes as they called to ftand upon,

it, a Cefs.. A Chair was brought to ftand upon.

Sir J. Jekyll. We have done with this Witnefs ; Sir J. Jekyll. Was you at Moffett ?

if my Lord hath a Mind to ask him any Queftions, Lindfey. Yes.

he is at Liberty to do it. Sir J. Jekyll. What paft there, and who was

L. H. Steward. My Lord, if you have any at that Place ?

Queftion to ask, propofe it, and it fhall be L. H. Steward. Keep your Face, and direct

asked. your Anfwer this way ; tho' the Gentlemen on

L. Wintoun. I can't examine him, I defire my the left Hand ask you Queftions, keep your Face

Council may examine him. this way.

L. II. Steward. I told your Lordfhip your Lindfey. I faw feveral Gentlemen.

Council are not to affift your Lordfhip in crofs- Sir J. Jekyll. But did you fee my Lord Win-

examining the WitnefTes; you have a Liberty of toun there?
crofs- examining them yourfelf, by propofing Lindfey. Firft I faw him there •, the fecond

your Queftions, and they will be ask'd by the time at Jedburg, the third time at Kendall, and

Court. the laft at Prefion.

L. Wintoun. I never examined a Witnefs in my Sir J. Jekyll. You faw him at thefe Places you

Life, I defire my Council may do it for me. have mentioned, what happened at either of thefe

L. II. Steward. Have you any Queftions ? Places ?

Vol. VI. F Lindfey.
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Lindfey. The firft time I faw him, he was ri-

ding on a grey Horfe, mounted with Sword and

Piftob the fecond time, fitting with the Guard;

and at Kendall on Horfeback, when he came out

of Town, I faw him riding on Horfeback •, and

at Prefion, I faw him riding at the Market-Place,

with other Gentlemen along with him.

Sir J. Jekyll. Was there any Proclamation

made at any of thefe Places ?

Lindfey. Yes, there was a Proclamation at

Jedburg, they told me they proclaim'd the Pre-

tender.

Sir. J. Jekyll Did you hear the Proclamation ?

Lindfey. I heard the Voice, but not the Words

pronounced.

Sir J. Jekyll. Who affifted at it ?

Lindfey. A great many Gentlemen on Horfe-

back.

Sir J. Jekyll. Was the Prifoner at the Bar

there ?

Lindfey. I did not fee him.

Sir J. Jekyll. Was the Prifoner at the Bar at

Lancafter ?

Lindfey. I do not know, I was not there.

Sir J. Jekyll. Was he at Prefion?

Lindfey. Yes, he was there.

Sir J. Jekyll. Was you prefent when they pro-

claimed the Pretender there ?

Lindfey. I was {landing at a great diftance, but

did not hear it, but faw the Army.
Sir J. Jekyll. From thofe Places when you

marched, in what manner did you march? In

Squadrons ?

Lindfey. Yes, in Sqifadrons ?

Sir J. Jekyll. Did the noble Lord at the Bar

command a Squadron ?

Lindfey. I did not know what his Lordfhip's

Command was, he rode at the Head of the firft

Squadron.

Att. Gen, Did he march along with the Forces ?

Lindfey. I had very feldom Occafion to fee his

Lordfhip. I believe he did.

Sir J. Jekyll. Do you know any thing of rai-

fing Money.
Lindfey. I heard talk of it only.

Sir J. Jekyll. What Troops were with the

Rebels ?

Lindfey. I can't tell how many.
Sir J. Jekyll. Do you remember any one

Troop ?

Lindfey. Yes, there was Lockhart's.

Sir J. Jekyll. Any befide ?

Lindfey. There was one went by the Name of

my Lord Wintoun'%, but I knew it not.

Att. Gen. Who was there in that Troop of

Lockhart's ?

Lindfey. Several Gentlemen.-

Att. Gen. Was there any but Gentlemen ?

Lindfey. Some private Men and Servants.

Att. Gen. Whofe Servants ?

Lindfey. The Captain's, Mr. Lockhart had two

or three himfelf.

Att. Gen. Was there any other Servants?

Lindfey. No, I don't think there was any

other.

Att. Gen. Did you know the Troop called my
Lord Wintoun's ?

Lindfey. I did not know it, there was one call-

ed his.

Att. Gen. Was there any Servants in it ?

Lindfey. There were Servants in that Com-
pany,

Sir J. Jekyll. Were they armed with Sword
and Piftol ?

Lindfey. Yes.

Sir. J. Jekyll. Was you at Prefion when the
King's Forces inverted it ?

Lindfey. Yes.

Sir J. Jekyll. How did the Prifoner behave
himfelf?

Lindfey. I cannot tell.

Sir J. Jekyll. My Lords, we have done with
our Examination of this Witnefs.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, if you
would afk this Witnefs any Queftion, propofe it,

and it fhall be afked.

After a confiderable Paufe,

Att. Gen. Our next Witnefs is Elias Cammeron,
we defire he may be fworn.

He was fworn accordingly.

Mr. Cowper. My Lords, we defire he may be
afked whether he was in the Rebels Army.

L. H. Steward. You hear the Queftion j direct

your anfwer this way.

Cammeron. Yes, I was there.

Mr. Cowper. Under whofe Command ?

Cammeron, Under the Command of Captain
Mackcleane.

Mr. Cowper. And in whofe Regiment ?

L. H. Steward. Turn your Face this way, that

your Voice may be heard.

Cammeron. My Lord Charles Murray's Regi-
ment.

L. H. Steward. Whofe Command was you un-
der ?

Cammeron. Under Captain Mackcleane.

Sir J. Jekyll. In whofe Regiment ?

Cammeron. In my Lord Charles Murray's Re-
giment.

Sir J. Jekyll. Will you give a general Account
of what you know from the firft time you came
into the Army of the Rebels ?

Cammeron. I joined them at Moffett, and then
we proceeded to a Place called Lockmaben', and
then we march'd to Duns, from thence to Kelfoe ;

within two Miles of Kelfoe we met the Horfe.
Then we went from Kelfoe to Jedburg, I faw my
Lord Wintoun there ; the next Day we refted.

Then we marched, from Langtown to Brampton ;

from Brampton to Penrith ; from Penrith to Kirby-

Lonfdale ; and 'from Kirby-Lonfdale to Lancafter ;

where I faw my Lord Wintoun at the Head of his

Horfe with a Trumpet founding before him; I

faw them march; we ftaid a Day at Lancafter,

and the Horfe went into Prefton the next Day

;

either Wednefday or Thurfday I faw my Lord Win-,

toun, and after the King's Forces were come I faw
my Lord Wintoun with other Lords.

Mr. Cowper. You have mentioned proclaiming

the Pretender at one or two Towns, pray give

an Account at how many Places you obferved

that he was proclaimed ?

Cammeron. I heard him proclaimed at Duns,

at Kelfoe, and at Lancafter.

Mr. Cowper. I defire to know if at any of thefe

Places you obferved the Prifoner, my Lord Win-
toun ?

Cammeron. At Lancafter I did obferve him to

go into the Ring when they were going to pro-

claim him, but at the Time of the Proclamation

I did not fee him, being in the outward Part of

the Ring.

Att.
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Att. Gen. PJeafe to acquaint my Lords*, whe-

ther in your March you took any Prifoners.

Cammeron. When we were near Penrith, we

took a great many Prifoners. I did not fee them

#-0 |rpn *

An. Gen. Was the Prifoner at the Bar with you

in that March ?

Cammeron. I can't really determine. I few him

there.

Att. Gen. Where did you fee him firft-?
_

Cammeron. At Kelfoe, when the Foot join'd us;

Att. Gen. Where did you take the Prifoners ?

Cammeron. At Penrith.

Att. Gen. D;d the noble Lord at the Bar ever

leave you after he joined you ?

Cammeron. I heard he was not for coming into

England. I only heard this by Report.

Sir J. Jekyll. Was you at Seaton Houfe ?

Cammeron. Yes.

Sir J Jekyll. Was my Lord JVintoun there ?

Cammeron. No, only Brigadier Mackintojh and

the Foot.

Sir J. Jekyll. What Time did they come to

Seaion Houfe ?

Cammeron. On Saturday to my beft Remem-
brance, they were at Seaton Houfe ; then the

Duke of Argyle returned back, and that Night

about fix or feven o'Clock we retreated to Seaton

Houfe, and ftaid there Sunday, Monday, and

I'uefday.

Att. Gen. At the Time the Highlanders came

to Seaton Houfe, was this Lord there ?

Cammeron. No, I do not know that he was.

Att. Gen. Do you know any thing of the public

Revenues being gathered at Duns, Brampton, and

Appleby ?

Cammeron. Yes.

Att. Gen. Did they give any Receipts ?

Cammeron. Yes, they gave Receipts. I faw

one which was to this Effect : After the Year and

Date, then, Received fuch a Sum of Money as

Excife-Duty, due from fuch a Perfbn to fuch a

Perfon.

An. Gen. During the Time the King's Forces

attack'd Prejlon, what did you obferve my Lord
Wintoun do ?

Cammeron. What I obferved of my Lord Win-

toun, was this : I was there by the Church-yard,

there I faw my Lord Wintoun in the Church-

yard, with my Lord Kenmure and Derwentwater

at the Time of the Action^ but I did not fee

him in the Action, and whether he had Piftols or

not I can't be pofitive.

Att. Gen. Was there any Perfons at the Market-

place ?

Cammeron. I was not at the Market-Place;

Att. Gen. You was at the Church-yard ?

Cammeron. Yes.

Sir J. Jekyll. When you obferved my Lord
Wintoun, what did you fee him do ?

Cammeron. I obferved nothing, but he was like

the reft, riding to and fro with the reft.

Sir J. Jekyll. Did you fee him affifting at the

Proclamation of the Pretender at Prejlon ?

Cammeron. I faw him go into the Ring with the

reft, but I did not fee him at the time of the Pro-

clamation.

L. H. Steward. I believe in this Narration his

Voice did not reach this End of the Court ; there-

fore if he hath faid any thing proper to be taken

notice of, you will do well to have it over

again.
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Ath Gen. We afk him whether he knew the

noble Lord to be at any of thofe Places affifting

at proclaiming the Pretender ?

Cammeron. I did not obferve him but at harfr

cafter.

Att. Gen. What happened there ?

Cammeron. They proclaimed the Pretender
there, and I faw him go into the Ring.

Att. Gen. But did you not obferve him at the
time of proclaiming the Pretender ?

Cammeron. I faw him go into the Market-Place
with the reft;

L. H. Steward. You faw him go in when the

reft went in to proclaim the Pretender ?

Cammeron. Yes.

Att. Gen. Did he then fide at the Head of the
Scots Horfe ?

Cammeron. Yes, he rid at the Head of fome
Horfe, and a Trumpet founding before him.

Att. Gen. Was that the Time when the Pre-
tender was proclaimed at Lancajler ?

Cammeron. Yes.

Att. Gen. Whether had my Lord his Sword by
his Side, or had he it drawn ?

Cammeron. Really I cannot be pofitive to that.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, will you
afk this Witnefs any Qucftion ?

L. Wintoun. My Lords, I be not prepared, fo

I hope your Lordfhips will do me Juftice ; I was
not prepared for my Trial ; I did not think it

would come on fo foon, my material Witneffes

not being come up, and therefore I hope you will

do me Juftice, and not make ufe of Cowper-Law,
as we ufed to fay in our Country, hang a Man
firft, and then judge him.

L. H. Steward. Did you hear ? My Lord Win-
toun, pleafe to fpeak it again.

L. Wintoun. I faid that I was not prepared for

my Trial ; I did not think it would come on fo

foon. Some Gentlemen are juft come up ; pleafe

your Lordfhips to let me know what they fay,

that I may be the better able to make my De-
fence.

L. H. Steward. If your Lordfhip will afk this

Witnefs any Queftionj now is your Time ; but

if what you are faying is your Defence, you

fhould referve that till the Commons have done.

Robert Patten is called and fworn.

Proclamation made for Silence as ufual.

Sir W. Thomfoh. With your Lordfhips Per-

miffion I beg leave to afk this Witnefs, whether

at any time he was in Company with thefe Rebels,

and when he firft joined them ?

Patten. I join'd them on the 20th of Otloberi

at Wooler.

Sir W. 1?homfon. Pray Sir will you give an Ac-
count what paft from that Time you join'd them

till they were taken.

Patten. I remember from Wooler we march'd

to Kelfoe.

Sir W. Thomfon. Did you fee my Lofd Win'

ioun at Wooler ?

Patten. I can't fay I did.

Sir W. Sfhomfon. Did you fee Him at Kelfoe?

Patten. I faw him when the Proclamation was

there.

Sir W. tfhomfon. What Proclamation ?

Patten. To proclaim the Pretender.

Sir W. Thomfon. Was my Lord Wintoun pre-

fent ?

Patten. Yes.

Sir W. tfhomfon. In what Manner ?

F 2 Pattm.
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Patten. He appear'd among the reft of the

Gentlemen.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Was he armed ?

Patten. Only his Sword, that I faw.

Sir W. "Tbomfon. Pray what pafs'd afterwards ?

Patten. We came to Kelfoe, and from thence

we went to Jedburg.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Where did you go ?

Patten. To Jedburg.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What palled there ?

Patten. After they came to Jedburg they were

alarmed by a Party, they thought of the King's

Forces, but it happened to be ibme of their own

Party.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What happened on that Oc-

cafion ?

Patten. I faw the Lords, and among the reft

my Lord Wintoun, at the Head of fome Horfe-

men there drawn up.

Sir W. Tbomfon. In what Manner ?

Patten. The Earl of Wintoun was drawn up

with his Men, and the Scots Lords with their

Men.
Sir W. Tbomfon. With what Intent ?

Patten. They apprehended General Carpenter

with the King's Forces was coming to attack

them.

Sir W. Tbomfon. You fay my Lord Wintoun

marched out at the Head of fome Horfemen ?

Patten. I can't fay I faw him march out, but I

faw him at the Head of fome Horfe.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What happened afterwards ?

Patten. They returned to Jedburg and ftaid all

Day, and the next Day they marched to Ha-

wick.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What happen'd at Hawick ?

Patten. At Midnight we were again alarmed

with a Party.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What happen'd upon that ?

Patten. I faw my Lord Wintoun in the Street.

Sir. W. Tbomfon. Was there any Preparation

made for Defence.

Patten. Yes they were going out to defend

themfelves.

Sir W. Tbomfon. You faw my Lord Wintoun

there ?

Patten. Yes.

Sir W. Tbomfon. In what manner ?

Patten. He had his Sword by his Side.

Sir W. Tbomfon. When you went from that

Place, whither did you go then ?

Patten. We went to Langholm.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What palled there ?

Patten. We continued there till next Morning,

when we confuked whether to march for England

or for Scotland; a Party of Horfe went for Dun-

freife. The Highlanders, a great Part of them
went off there, and would not march for England.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Was my Lord Wintoun with

them at their going off ?

Patten. I faw my Lord Wintoun go off, and

come up again : I fpoke to my Lord upon that

account.

SirW. Tbomfon. What did his Lord (hip fay ?

Patten. Nothing material, but afked me if I

knew the Country.

Sir W. Tbomfon. When the Foot went off at

Langholm, did my Lord go to them ?

Patten. I faw him go up to them, and make a

Halt.

Sir W. Tbomfon. But he came back again ?

Patten. Yes.

Sir W. Tbomfon. At that time, if my Lord had
had any Inclination to it, whether might he not
have gone off ?

Patten. Yes : I can't tell my Lord's Inclination,

but any Body might have gone off, there was no
Reftraint upon him.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Whither did you march from
Langholm ?

Patten. To Langtown.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Did any thing happen at Lang-
town ?

Patten. We march'd through.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Whither did you go then ?

Patten. To Brampton.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Whither from thence ?

Patten. To Penrith.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What happened there ?

Patten. There was the Pojfe Comitates, whe-
ther that Pojfe Comitates were the Militia I can't

tell ; they were got together, and upon our ad-

vancing they difpers'd themfelves.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Where was my Lord Wintoun
then ?

Patten. I faw him among the Scots Lords there

after his ufual manner, on Horfeback, with Sword
and Piftols.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Was his Sword drawn ?

Patten. No.
Sir W. Tbomfon. Whither did they go then ?

Patten. They went to Appleby.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What palled at Appleby ?

Patten. They went from Appleby to Kendall.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What happened there ?

Patten. A Proclamation was read, as at moft

of the Towns.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Did you fee my Lord Wintoun

at any of thofe Proclamations ?

Patten. No, I did not.

Sir IV. Tbomfon. Where did you go then ?

Patten. To Kirby-Lonfdale.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Did any thing happen remark-

able there ?

Patten. I dined with the Scots Lords at Kirby.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What happen'd there ? and

what Healths were drank there ?

Patten. The Pretender's Health, and Succefs

to our Caufe, that was the ufual Health.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Was my Lord Wintoun there ?

Patten. Yes, there was my Lord Kenmure, Cam-
wath, and the other Lords.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Did he drink the Health among
the reft ?

Patten. All the Table did.

Sir W. Tbomfon. From thence whither did you

go?
Patten. To Lancafler.

Sir J. Jekyll. At the Place where you drank

Healths, was there any other remarkable Health ?

Patten. The ufual Health was good Succefs to

the Caufe in Hand.

L. H, Steward. Who drank that Health ?

Patten. All the Company.
L. H. Steward. Who was in Company ? was the

Prifoner at the Bar in Company ?

Patten. Yes, he was.

Sir W. Tbomfon When you came to Lancafler,,

in what manner d.d you enter that Town ?

Patten. We entered that Town more regularly

than any other we had marched through.

Sir W. Tbomfon. After what manner ?

Patten. They march'd into the Town with their

Swords drawn, and the Highlanders were drawn
round
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round the Crofs ; the Gentlemen marched into

the Town on Horfeback ; the Pretender was pro-

claimed there.

Sir W. Tbomfon. You was by when the Preten-

der was proclaimed ?

Patten. Yes.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Was my hovd Wintoun there ?

Patten. I can't fay I faw him there : I favv him

in the Town at the head of fome Horfe with his

Sword drawn.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Was there any Cannon feized

at Lancqfter ?

Patten. Some Pieces of Gannon were feized.

Sir W. Tbomfon. What did you do with
' the

Cannon ?

Patten. We carried them with us to Prefton.

Sir IV. Tbomfon. When there were Prayers in

the Pariih Church at Lancafter, who was prayed

for?

Patten. The Pretender.

Sir JV. Tbomfon. Do you know who were pre^-

fent ?

Patten. A great many.

Sir IV. Tbomfon. Was the Lord IVintoun there ?

Patten. I can't tell.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Did you obferve at any time

any Force or Compuliion ufed to detain my Lord

Wintoun ?

Patten. No, none at all.

Sir W. Tbomfon. Did he mew any Uneafinefsj

or any Backwardnefs to go with them ?

Patten. I can't be Judge of my Lord's Uneafi-

nefs, it did not appear fo.

Sir W. Tbomfon. By whofe Direction was the

Prayer for the Pretender ?

Patten. By Order of Mr. Forfter.

Sir W. Tbomfon. My Lords, we have done with

this Witnefs.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, will you

pleafe to afk this Witnefs any Queftion ?

L. Wintoun. No.

Att. Gen. My Lords, we defire to call my Lord
Forrefter.

Then a Chair was placed for Lord Forrefter

near the Clerks Table.

And the Oath was adminiftred to him by the

Lord High Steward.

Sir J. Jekyll. My Lords, we beg leave to afk

this Noble Lord a Queftion or two : Was your

Lordfhip at Prefton ?

L. Forrefter. Yes, my Lords.

L. H. Steward. Your Lordfhip will pleafe to

raife your Voice.

L. Forrefter. I was there with the King's Troops,

and had the Honour to command Brigadier Pre-

fton's Regiment. We came before Prefton on

Saturday the 12th of November.

Att. Gen. Will your Lordfhip acquaint my
Lords what pafs'd at Prefton when you was there ?

whether you was by at Prefton when the King's

Forces attacked it, and whether it was defended

by the Rebels, and what elfe paffed there ?

L. Forrefter. I was there, and commanded one

of the Attacks under Brigadier Honywood.

Att. Gen. Was the Town defended by the Re-
bels, and were any of the King's Officers and
Soldiers killed ?

L. Forrefter. Yes, a great many.
Att. Gen. Pleafe to give an Account what

Number.
L. Forrefter. We loft a great many.
Att. Gen. Can you guefs the Number ?
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L. Forrefter. No, I can't exactly tell : A good

many ; we had 'twixt fixty and feventy of the
Regiment I had the Honour to command killed

and wounded.

Att. Gen. How many were killed ?

L. Forrefter. About thirty were killed dead on
the Spot.

Att. Gen. How long did that Attack kft, be-

fore they defired to capitulate ?

L. Forrefter. From Saturday till Sunday Morn-
ing between one and two o'CJock.

Sir. J. Jekyll. I think your Lordfhip had a com-
mand to take Poffeffion of the Town ?

L. Forrefter. Yes •> I took Poffeffion of the

Church-yard Monday Morning about fix o'Clock.

Sir J. Jekyll. Will you pleafe to give an Ac-
count of what you know of the Noble Lord at

the Bar when the Town furrendered.

L. Forrefter. The Town furrendcr'd at fix a

Clock in the Morning •, I came into the Church-
yard and took Poffeffion of it ; then I went to the

Mitre Tavern, where that Lord and the reft of
the Lords were ; I difarm'd them.

Att. Gen. What Arms did my Lord Wintoun

deliver up at that time ?

L. Forrofter. Two Cafes of Piftols.

Sir J . Jekyll. If my Lord hath a mind to afk

any Queftion of the Noble Lord that hath been

examined^ we defire he may do it.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, will you be

pleafed to afk this Noble Lord any Queftion con-

cerning this matter at Prefton ?

L. Wintoun. I had no Arms : Pleafe to afk him
whether I had Sword or Piftol in my Hand ?

L. H. Steward, Take my Lord's Queftion in

Writing.

Then the Clerk went and took it.

Queftion. Whether the Arms your Lordfhip

mentioned to have been delivered to you, whe-

ther he had the Arms then about him, or his Lord-

fhip did not fay they were in the Stable ?

L. Forrefter. He brought the Arms so me him-

felf, and gave them me out of his own Hands.

L- H. Steward. My Lord fays you brought the

Arms to him your fclf, and gave them him out

of your own Hands.

L. Forrefter. I got fo many of them that I

Siould not have made any Diitinction of his from

the reft, but that I remember he gave me his Arms
out of his own Hands, and defired me to give

them to my Lord Kimmergem.

L. H. Steward. You defired my Lord Forrefter

to give them my Lord Kimmergem.

L. H. Steward. Another Queftion propofed is*

Whether my 'Lord Wintoun did not give Orders to

his Servant to bring the Arms out of the Stable,

and to give them my Lord Kimmergem ?

L. Forrefter. I believe he did bring them out of

the Stable.

L. H. Steward. My Lord believes you did bring

them out of the Stable*

L. Wintoun. I defire he may be afked whether*

I had a Sword about me ?

L. H. Steward. My Lord Forrefter, the Quefti-

on is, Whether your Lordfhip found a Sword a-

bout my Lord Wintoun ?

L. Forrefter. I did not fee any Sword that he

had ; he had a great Coat on, and might have

had a Sword under that, but I faw none.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Forrefter, did the

Prifoner at the Bar deliver himfelf and his Arms
to your Lordfhip as one of thofe in the Surrender ?

L. For.
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Sir J. Jekyll. We beg leave to call General

Carpenter, and defire he may be fworn in his

Place, and give your Lordfhips his Evidence.

General Carpenter was fworn in his Place.

Proclamation for Silence as ufual.

Sir J. Jekyll Mr. Carpenter, pleafe to give my
Lords an Account when you came to Prejlon,

and what happened there.

Gen. Carpenter. I came to Prejlon on Sunday

the 13 th of November laft : The Troops under

Mr. Wills had been there the Afternoon before.

I got there about Ten a Clock on Sunday Morn-
ing, with Three Regiments of Dragoons ; and

there had been no Intercourfe nor Mcffage paffed

before I came.

Ati. Gen. Pleafe to inform my Lords what

paffed thereafter you came to Prejlon.

Gen. Carpenter. After I came, the Rebels fent

out to know what Terms they might expect, and

were anfwered none but at Difcretion. They foon

after fent out one Captain Dalziel, to defire a Ceffa-

tion till next Morning; upon which I fent in Colo-

nel Churchill to tell them, I agreed to a Ceffation,

provided they lent out an Englijb Lord and a Scots

Lord as Hoftages : I nam'd my Lord Derwentwa-

ter and my Lord Kenmure. Captain Dalziel faid he

thought my Lord Kenmure would not come out.

I named then Brigadier Mackintq/h : He alfo

thought he would not come out. I was unwil-

ling to make great Difficulties, it growing to-

wards Night ; and faid either of the Mackinto/h's

and an Englijh Lord : And he brought out my
Lord Derwentwater and Colonel Mackintofh as

Hoftages, that they fhould make no Attempt to

efcape, nor any Works for Defence in the Town.
Att. Gen. Pray, Sir, acquaint my Lords who

you fent in with Colonel Churchill.

Gen. Carpenter. Colonel Cotton.

Att. Gen. When did they agree to the Surren-

der of the Place ?

Gen. Carpenter. Not till the next Morning.

The Hoftages were, that none fhould attempt to

efcape, nor any Defences fhould be made in the

Town till the next Morning, at which time they

would determine whether they would furrender or

not.

Att. Gen. I defire you to acquaint my Lords,

whether thefe were all the Terms offered, or whe-
ther there was any Hopes of Mercy given them ?

Gen. Carpenter. I gave them none at all my
felf, and it is very unlikely any Body elfe fhould :

I commanded in Chief his Majefty's Forces there :

No Body ought to have done it ; and if any Of-

ficer whatfoever took upon him fo to do without

my Order or Leave, it was very unanfwerable by

the Rules and Difcipline of War ; and what he

cannot anfwer : I hope no Body did : I am fure I

gave no fuch Directions : Colonel Churchill can

acquaint your Lordfhips whether I directed him
to mention any other Conditions to them than at

Difcretion.

Sir J. Jekyll. Did you hear any other Officer

give them any Hope or Expectation of Mercy ?

Gen. Carpenter. No, I did not.

Sir J. Jekyll. If my Lord Wintoun hath any
Queftions to afk this honourable Perfon, he may
do it.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, now is your

Time if you'll afk any Queftion of General Car-

penter.

L. Wintoun. Whether I was concern'd in making
any—.

I

was

don't hear the Queftion

—

fent down to take it in

L. H. Steward.

Then the Clerk

Writing.

And the Queftion being brought up to the
Lord High-Steward by the Clerk.

L. H. Steward. The Queftion my Lord afks
isj Whether he was concerned in making any Ca-
pitulation, or knew any thing about it ?

Gen. Carpenter. Not that I know of ; it is im-
poffible for me to know, except by Hearfay : He
was not the Perfon treated with, I treated with my
Lord Derwentwater and one of the Mackintofh's, fa

that I know nothing of his being concerned in any
manner of Treaty.

L. H. Steward. You hear the Anfwer.
Sir J. Jekyll. We beg leave to call General

Wills.

L. Wintoun. I defire to afk my Lord Forrefter

a Queftion.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun defires to

propoie a Queftion to my Lord Forrefter.

Sir J. Jekyit. Though that be out of Method,
yet don't oppofe it.

L. H. Steward. Bring up the Queftion. My
Lord, the Queftion my Lord Wintoun propofes

is, Whether he had any Sword or Arms when he
firft faw your Lordfhip at Prejlon ?

L. Forrefter. I don't remember I had a Sword
from him ; I can't tell whether he had a Sword
about him, for he had a great Coat on ; but I

remember I took none from him, I had only the

two Cafes of Piftols which he gave me.

L. H. Steward. He could not tell whether you
had a Sword about you, you had a great Coat
that he could not well lee •, but he remembers he
took none from you, only the two Cafes of Piftols

which you gave him.

L. II. Steward. Who do you call next ?

Sir J. Jekyll. My Lords, we defire that General
Wills may be fworn.

He was fworn accordingly.

Sir J. Jekyll. Mr. Wills, pray give my Lords
an Account when you came before the Town of
Prejlon, and what happened there.

Gen. Wills. My Lords, I had the Honour to

command the King's Troops that attack'd the

Rebels at Prejlon ; I came before that Town the

1 2th of November laft about One o'Clock, and
ordered two Attacks upon the Town •, that At-
tack which leads two Wigan was commanded by
Brigadier Honywood, who beat the Rebels from
their firft Barricade, and took Poffeffion of fome
of the Houfes in the Town ; the other Attack
which leads to Lancafter was commanded by Bri-

gadier Dormer, who lodg'd his Troops nigh the

Barricade of the Rebels. The next Day, about

Two o'Clock, Mr. Forfter fent out one Mr. Ox-
borough, an Irijldman, offering to lay down their

Arms and fubmit themfelves, and hoped that I

wou'd recommend them to the King for Mercy ;

which I refufed, and told them I would not treat

with Rebels, for that they had killed feveral of the

King's Subjects, and that they muft expect to un-

dergo the lame Fate ; upon which he faid, that

as I was an Officer, and a Man of Honour, he
hoped I wou'd fhew Mercy to People who were

willing to fubmit : Upon which I told them all

I would do for them was, that if they laid down
their Arms, and fubmitted Prifoners at Difcretion,

I would prevent the Soldiers from cutting them
to pieces till I had further Orders, and that I

would give them but one Hour to confider of it

;

and
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and fent him back again into the Town to ac-

quaint Forjler of it ; before the Hour was ex-

pired they fent out Mr. Dalziel, Brother to the

Earl of Carnwath, and he wanted Terms for the

Scots. My Anfwer was, that I would not treat

with Rebels, nor give them any other Terms

than what I had before offered them : Upon which

it was defired that I would grant further Time

till Seven o'Clock next Day, to confult the beft

Method of delivering themfelves up. I agreed

to grant them the Time defired, provided that

they threw up no new Intrenchments in the Streets,

nor fuffered any of their People toefcape, and that

they fent out the chief of the Englijh and Scots as

Hoftages for the Performance •, and I lent in

Colonel Cotton to bring them out, who brought

out the Earl of Derwentwater and Mr. Mackiniojh.

The next Day about Seven o'Clock Mr. Forjler

fent out to let me know, that they were willing

to give themfelves up Prifoners at Difcretion, as

I had demanded. Mr. Mackintojh being by when

the Meffage was brought, faid he could not an-

fwer that the Scots would furrender in that man-

ner ; for that the Scots were People of defperate

Fortunes, and that he had been a Soldier himfelf,

and knew what it was to be a Prifoner at Difcre-

tion ; upon which I faid, go back to your People

again, and I will attack the Town, and the Con-

fequence will be, I will not fpare one Man of you.

Mackintojh went back, but came running out

immediately again, and faid, that the Lord Ken-

mure, and the reft of the Noblemen, with his

Brother, would furrender in like manner with the

Englijh.

Sir J. Jekyll. When the Attack was made by

the King's Forces, whether any, and how many
were killed ?

Gen. Wills. I believe between fixty and feventy

but few of the Horle ; there were killed and

wounded about a hundred and thirty.

Att. Gen. If you pleafe to acquaint my Lords,

whether any of the Rebels came and treated with

you, or if you gave them any Encouragement to

hope for Mercy.

Gen. Wills. All the Terms I gave them was,

that I would fave their Lives from the Soldiers 'till

further Orders, if they furrender'd at Difcretion :

I defire to explain the Meaning of furrendering at

Difcretion, which is, then it is in our Power to cut

them all to pieces ; bur I would give them their

Lives till further Orders ; for I could have cut

them to pieces immediately after they are made
Prifoners at Difcretion, by the Rules of War ;

and if they did not comply I would renew the At-
tack, and not fpare a Man.

L. H. Steward. You told them that if they did

not comply, you would renew the Affault ?

Gen. Wills. Yes, and not fpare a Man of

them.

Sir J. Jekyll. Did you give your Officers any

Directions to give any other Terms?
Gen. Wills. No, I did not.

L. H. Steward. Then you gave no Directions

to any other Officer to give other Terms than you
yourfelf had offer'd ?

Gen. Wills. No, I did not.

Mr. Cowper. Was there any other but thefe

two, Colonel Churchill and Colonel Cotton fent in

by you, or by General Carpenter?

Gen. Wills. Yes, Colonel Najj'au, to bid our
own People forbear firing.

_

Mr. Cowper. Had Colonel Najfau any Autho-
rity to treat ?
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Gen. Wills. No, he went in only to bid our

Troops to forbear firing, and order Colonel Cotton

to come out with the Hoftages.

Sir J. Jekyll. You fay the Rebels defired you
to recommend them to the King's Mercy ? who
made that Proposition ?

Gen. Wills i One Oxborough.

Sir J. Jekyll. Had you any other Propofition

by any other ?

Gen. Wills. Mr. Dalziel, Brother to my Lord
Carnwath, for the Scots. I refufed him likewife,

and told him I wou'd treat with no Rebels, nor
give them any Quarter.

Sir J. Jekyll. If my Lord at the Bar will afk

this honourable Gentleman any Queftion, now is

the Time.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, the Clerk

is fent down to you again ; if you have any Que-
ftion he will take it.

The Clerk return'd with the Queftion to my
Lord High-Steward.

L. H. Steward. The Queftion my Lord pro-

pofes to General Wills is, whether you, General

Wills, gave any Summons to furrender before you
made the firft Attack •, or if you did not make
the Attack without any Summons at all ?

Gen. Wills. When I was viewing the Town
they fhot two of my Dragoons, and I did not

fummons them.

Another Queftion taken by the Clerk and
brought up.

L. H. Steward. Another Queftion my Lord
defires to be afk'd is, whether you offer'd to pre-

vent the Forces from falling upon the Gentlemen at

Prejlon, provided they furrender'd at Difcretion ?

Gen. Wills. Before ever I had drawn up the

Troop
L. H. Steward. The Queftion is, whether you

offer'd to prevent the Forces from falling upon the

Gentlemen at Prejlon^ provided they furrender'd

at Difcretion ?

Gen. Wills. Yes, my Lords, I did hinder the

Troops from falling upon them after they offered

to furrender.

Another Queftion brought up by the Clerk.

L. H. Steward. General Wills, my Lord de-

fires you may be afked what you know, or have

been informed of his Lordfhip's being againft

coming to England ; or of my Lord's being

againft fighting with any of yours, or General

Carpenter's Troops ?

Gen. Wills. I never knew my Lord Wintoun,

nor law him till four Days after he was taken at

Prejlon, fo that I can fay nothing to that I don't

know any thing of.

L. Wintoun. I defire General Carpenter may be

afk'd the fame Queftion.

L. H. Steward. Do you know any thing, or

have heard that my Lord Wintoun was againft

coming into England, or fighting the King's

Forces ?

Gen. Carpenter. My Lords, I heard that at

Jedburg they held a Council of War, the chief

Officers, &c. this is only HearfayrJ fpeak not

of my own Knowledge.

Sir J. Jekyll. For the fake of Evidence it is

incumbent on us to defire that my Lord confines

himfelf to afk the General what he knows, and

not to what he heard faid.

Att. Gen. We have two Witneffes more, the

Colonels that were fent into the Town by the two

Generals, Colonel Churchill and Colonel Cotton.

Colonel
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Colonel Churchill was fworn.

Mr. Cowper. The Queftion propofed is, whe-

ther you was fent into Prejlon, and by whom ?

Col. Churchill. I came up to Prejlon on Sunday

Morning, under General Carpenter's Command,

about Ten o'Clock ; about One they fent out to

capitulate ; about F'ive I was fent in by General

Carpenter, their Requefl being, that they might

have Time till next Day to confider- whether they

mould furrender or not. My Directions were,

they mould have that, upon Condition they fent

out Holt-ages that none of them mould attempt

to efcape, and that no Defence mould be made

in the Town. The People nam'd to me by Ge-

neral Carpenter were my Lord Derwentwater or

my Lord Widdrington, and my Lord Kenmure

or Mackintojh was mention'd for xht-Scots. I di-

rected them to fend the Hoftages to me They

could not find my Lord Derwentwater nor Wid-

drington, and Mackintojh was gone to Bed. A
little before eight I went with them, and told them

the Terms I was to deliver to them, that they

were to throw up no Works to fortify themfelves,

and mould anfwer for the People, that none of

them fhould efcape. My Lord Derwentwater and

Mackiniojlo went out with me : I carried them to

the two Generals there, and at Seven o*Clock next

Morning they furrender'd themfelves.

Mr. Cowper. Pleafe to give me leave to afk you,

whether you had any Commiffion from the General

that fent you into the Town, or whether you of

yourfelf, without fuch Commiffion, gave them any

Hopes of Mercy ?

Col. Churchill. I had. not any Power to do it,

and was fo far from doing it, that I don't remem-

ber a fingle Syllable was mention'd either on our

Side or theirs about it.

Mr. Cowper. Did you at any other Time hear

any other Officers give them fuch Affurance ?

Col. Churchill. I never heard a fingle Word
like it.

Att, Gen. Who did you treat with ?

Col. Churchill The Body I treated with car-

ried me to Mr. Forjler, and then to my Lord

Kenmure. I deliver'd my Mefiage to Mr. Forjler.

I did not know any Scots Lord but Kenmure.

Att. Gen. Who was prefent befides my Lord

Kenmure ?

Col. Churchill. I faw a great many, but I did

not know particularly any.

Att. Gen. The next is Colonel Cotton, who was

fent in by General Wills. We defire Colonel

Cotton may be fworn.

He was fworn accordingly.

Att. Gen. We defire to afk Colonel Cotton,

whether he was fent into Prejlon by General Wills,

and what Inflections were given him when he

went in ?

Col. Cotton. 1 was fent into the Town by Ge-

neral Wills at their Defire, they having Terms to

offer : I told them we could give them none ;

they urged they had Difputes amongft the Scots

and Englijh, and defired till the next Morning to

reconcile them. General Wills fent me again into

the Town, to allow them that time, provided that

the Lords would give their Words that they

would throw up no Works for their Defence from

that time, and do their utmoft that none of their

People fhou'd make their Efcape ; and the Lords

did give their Words ; and the Lord at the

Bar was prefent.

Att. Gen. I defire you would acquaint my Lords

upon what Terms they furrender'd.

Col. Cotton. I had no Power from Mr. Wills to
promifethem any Terms, nor I did not.

Sir J. Jekyll. Did you acquaint them you had
no Power to offer them any Terms ?

Col. Cotton. I did.

Att. Gen. Who did you acquaint ?

Col. Cotton. All the Lords, and the People
that had any Influence over the common Men.

Sir J. Jekyll. Was the Noble Lord at the Bar
amongft them ?

Col. Cotton. He was.

Sir f. Jekyll.
_
Was there any Overtures made of

obtaining the King's Mercy ?

Col. Cotton. I had no fuch Order from Mr, Wills,

and I did not offer it neither directly or indirectly.

Att. Gen. My Lords, I think it hath been de-
fired to call Brigadier Munden, who fpeaks only
as to the Attack ; and I think, my Lords, if this

Evidence need to be corroborated, we fhall defire

to call another Evidence who was with General
Wills all the Time the Overtures pafs'd ?

Sir J. Jekyll. My Lords, if the Lord at the

Bar hath any Queftion to afk Colonel Cotton, we
defire he may be indulged.

L. Wintoun. I would know whether they did
not take Prifoners and kill them, notwithflanding

the Capitulation ?

L. H. Steward. The Queftion my Lord defires

may be afked is, whether you did not take Pri-
foners and

^
kill them, notwithflanding the Capi-

tulation ?

Col. Cotton. My Lords, upon my coming out
of the Town, though the Lords had engaged to

prevent any of their People making their Efcape,

we were alarm'd with an Account that feveral

were attempting it, and about fix of thofe who
were endeavouring to efcape were cut to Pieces.

Upon this Breach of their Parole Colonel Churchill

and my felf were fent in to demand Hoftages,

and brought out Lord Derwentwater and Mr.
Mackintojh.

Att. Gen. We defire Brigadier Munden may be
Sworn.

He was accordingly call'd and Sworn.
Att. Gen. We defire Brigadier Munden may

be afked whether he was fent with thefe two Co-
lonels into the Town, and what Directions were
given them.

L. H. Steward. You hear the Queftion, pleafe

to give your Anfwer.

Brigadier Munden. I humbly apprehend I am
called to give fome Account of the Attack at

Prejlon, which I will do in as few Words as I can.

I am firft to tell your Lordfhips, after the Re-
bels demanded an Audience of General Wills, their

firft Demand was for Terms : The Anfwer they

received was, that General Wills would not treat

with Rebels, but if they furrendered as Prifoners

at Difcretion, they fhould have their Lives fpared

'till his Majefty's Pleafure was known. They
afked if thofe were the only Terms •, it was an-

fwered yes. Afterwards this Gentleman went in-

to the Town, who had an Hour's time allowed

him to confider of it. I remember his infilling

upon Terms, but all the Anfwer Mr. Wills gave

them was, if he had Inclination, he had no Power
to give them any, otherwife than faving their

Lives till his Majefty's Pkafuie was further

known. If they expected other Terms, they

might return into the Town immediately, and

he would attack them and cut them to Pieces.

After
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After this the Gentleman went into the Town,

my Lord Derwentwater and Mr. Mackintofo came

out to us. Mr. Mackintqfh and my Lord Derwent-

water and I heard them frequently repeat their

Requeft to the General for Terms, and I heard

Mackintqfh give a particular Account of the

Bravery and Hardineis of their Troops. Mr. Wills

told him he might have proved and tried them

if he had pleafed, and then it would have been

ieen whether the King's Troops, or a parcel of Re-

bels would have acted the braver Part. Mr. Wills

received them with the utmoft Deteflation and

Contempt, and gave them no hope of Mercy

cither directly or indirectly.

Att. Gen. Did you ever hear any other of the

Officers offer them any other Terms ?

Brig. Munaen. No, I did not hear any. I heard

the Inftructions that were given to Colonel Cotton

by General Wills, and when Mr. Cotton came out

of the Town the third time, which was when he

went to take their Parole of Honour.

Sir J. Jekyll. Did my Lord Wintoun come to

give his Parole ?

Brig. Munden. When Colonel Cotton came out,

I very well remember he faid he had received his

Parole of Honour among the reft.

Sir J. Jekyll. If my Lord at the Bar hath any

mind to afk this honourable Perfon, Brigadier

Munden, any further Queftions, we have done

with him.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, do you afk

this Witrefs any Queftion ?

L. Wiyuoun. No.
Sir J. Jekyll. We that are entrufted by the

Hcufe of Commons have no more Evidence to

offer to your Lordfnips.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, the Gen-

tlemen of the Houfe of Commons have done with

the Evidence they propofed to call againft you ;

therefore it is your Lordfhip's time to open what

Evidence you have, or if you have made any Ob-
fervations on the Evidence given againft you, to

deliver them, or to call your own Witneffes

—

Take your own Method.

Proclamation was made for Silence as ufual j

and after fome Paufe,

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, I acquainted

your Lordfhip that the Gentlemen of the Houfe
of Commons who manage the Evidence to fup-

port the Impeachment, have done with giving

their Evidence ; they defign to give no more
againft you ; therefore this is the time that is

proper for your Lordfhip to make your Defence •,

you are to do it in your own Method, either by
calling your Witneffes, or making fuch Obferva-

tions in your Defence as you think proper.

L. Wintoun. Pleafe to allow me fome time, for

my Witneffes are not yet come. I have ufed all

poffible Endeavours to get them, pleafe to allow

me till this Day Month 'till they conie up. It

will fignify nothing to examine any Witneffes af-

ter I am dead. I never faw my Council but once,

that they might inftruct me what I have to fay.

My Lords, I am informed they will be here fome
time next Week.

L. H. Steward. What your Lordfhip faid is

not heard.

L. Wintoun. I faid I never fpoke to any of my
Council, and that but once I have lent to my
Council -, I never faw them.

Proclamation for Silence was made as ufual.

L. H. Steward. My Lord offer what you have
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to fay noWj while the Court is in Silence.

L- Wintoun. My Lords, the moft material of
my Witneffes are not come up, they will be here

fome time next Week ; I have not talk*d to my
Council.

L. H. Steward. Your moft material Witneffes

are upon the Road, you defire fome time till they

come up ; the effect of your Petition to the Houic
of Lords, that is what you offer again ?

L. Wintoun. Yes, my Lords.

Att. Gen. We think it our Duty to acquaint

your Lordfhips, that what that noble Lord in-

ftfts upon now is out of Time. If he had any
Reafons to offer to defer the Trial, he knew the

proper Time and Place. Our Duty is to let your

Lordfhips know, that when the Evidence for the

Profecution is given, the Prifoner is not to have

time to delay the Proceedings, not any longer

time. He ought to have applied before. We
mufc fubmit it to your Lordfnips.

Mr. Cowper. This Requeft of his Lordfhip,'

the Prifoner at the Bar, ieems to concern the

Methods of Juftice, and is, we think, of great

Confequence with refpect to the Commons. My
Lords, we fhould have been very far from pref-

fing to bring on his Lordfhip's Trial fooner than

might have been thought confiftentwith the Rules

of Juftice : But when we confider the Time your

Lordfhips have allowed him upon feveral Appli-

cations he has made to your Lordfhips for that

purpofe i when we all know he has had Notice

ever fince he was feized and made Prifoner at

Prefion, that a Defence would be neceffary, and
that it concerned him to provide for it , when we
reflect how long it is fince the Commons exhibited

their Impeachment againft him, it's furprizing

after all to find his Lordfnip alledge, that he hath

not had Time to bring up his Witneffes. With
what View his Lordfhip is advifed to make this

Defence may beeafily explained : It is, my Lords,

to move the Companion of the People, and, I

fear, to traduce the Juftice of your Lordfhips

Proceedings. Surely it muft be confeffed, that

he hath had more than Time fuffkient, more
than any one in the like Circumftances hath been

allowed by your Lordfhips great Indulgence;

and yet at laft to have nothing to offer, but that

his Witneffes are not come, without attempting

to produce one fingle Witnefs to prove that he

has, or expects any one Witnefs to appear for

him.

My Lords, the ftated Rules of Proceeding in

Trials of this Nature ought to be ever facred ;

and I don't know that any one Prifoner hath a

Right to be indulged in Methods unknown to the

Conftitution.

My Lords, I believe when a Prifoner im-

peached by the Commons puts himfelf upon his

Defence, and is brought upon his Trial, there

ought to be no Interruption or Delay whatfoever.

Sure I am, it is inconfiftent with the Proceedings

of all other Courts of Juftice.

Your Lordfhips, as we are informed, lately

denied the Prifoner any further Time ; and if it

was then thought not proper to be granted, cer-

tainly now he hath put himfelf upon his Trial,

and ftands upon his Defence at your Lordfhips

Bar, he mall not be indulged to making the fame

Requeft.

My Lords, whatever Compaffion we may have

for this unhappy Lord, yet the Commons, when

they reflect that the Methods and Forms of Juftice

G are
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areeffential to Juftice it felf, they then think

themfelves obliged to oppofe a new Attempt,

and hope the Trial fhall proceed.

L. Wintoun. My Witneffes are not come up.

They will be up about Monday or Tuefday next.

I have had no longer time than fince the ioth of

February laft to bring up my Witneffes, when it

was very bad travelling.

A Motion was made to adjourn.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, your Lord-

fhip hath heard the Commons oppofe your Re-

queft : You have heard the Reafons given for

fuch Oppofition. Doth your Lordfhip, having

heard the Reafons, yet infift upon it, or do you

withdraw your Requeft?

L. Wintoun. I infift upon it, my Lords.

Then the Houfe was adjourned to the Cham-

ber of Parliament.

And being returned in about an Hour, and

the Houfe relumed, and Proclamation made for

Silence, as ufuaL

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, I am com-

manded by the Lords to let you know, that they

have confidered your Requeft, and that they are

of Opinion it is not now confiftent with the Rules

of Juftice to allow you further Time for fending

for your Witneffes ; therefore you are to pro-

ceed in your Defence. I am likewife to acquaint

you, that in refpecl: to the lownefs of your Voice,

the Lords have ordered a fit Perfon to ftand by

you (after he is fworn) to report truly to their

Lordfhips what you fay during your Trial.

Is it your Lordfhips Pleafure that one of your

Lordfhips Clerks be appointed to ftand by and

report to your Lordfhips ?

Lords. Yes, Yes,

A Clerk was fworn to make true Report -, but

my Lord Wintoun began to fpeak lb very low, as

icarce any could hear. Whereupon,

Sir J. Jekyll. My Lords, I perceive it is your

Lordfhips Pleafure to indulge the Lord at the

Bar, to have a Perfon fworn to report truly to

your Lordfhips what he fhall fay in his Defence ;

but it is not your Lordfhips Intention that the

Lord at the Bar fhould fpeak fo low, as it is

impoffible for us or any near him to hear what

he fays.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, Speak as

loud as you can, fo as the Managers may hear ;

he is only to help your Voice, fo as their Lord-

fhips may hear.

Clerk from L. Wintoun. I think it very hard,

and great Injuftice, that I fhould not be allowed

Time to make my own Defence ; and that my
Witneffes fhould not come up -, and that I fhould

be tyed down to a foolifh Form, which I am
not accuftom'd to, when I am in danger of jny

Life.

Then the Houfe was adjourned to the Cham-
ber of Parliament.

Friday, March 16. The Second Day.

L. H: Steward. *TpH E Houfe is refumed. Do
J. your Lordfhips give the

Judges leave to be cover'd ?

Lords. Ay, ay.

Proclamation made for Silence, and another to

bring forth the Prifoner, as ufual.

The Prifoner brought to the Bar, and kneels.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, you may

nife.- My Lord Wintoun, you may proceed
upon your Defence.

The Clerk ordered to report as before.

L. H. Steward. I again remind your Lordfhip,
you are to fpeak in your Defence as loud as you
can •, if your Voice is not heard, he is ready to
report to the Lords what you fay, but you mutt:

fpeak as loud as you can.

Clerkfrom Lord Wintoun. My Council is ready
here to fpeak for me.

L. H. Steward. My Lord, I would not prefume
to make an Anfwer, but that it is known Law ;

that undoubtedly your Lordfhip cannot have Coun-
cil, by the Law of the Land, to fpeak in your
Defence, unlefs it be to Matter of Law ; . for the

Law fuppofes every Man fufficient to anfwer for

himfelf as to Matter of Facl.

Clerk from Lord Wintoun. My Lords, I am not
accuftomed to fpeak on fuch Occafions ; there-

fore I hope your Lordfhips will allow my Coun-
cil to fpeak for me.

L. H. Steward. My Lord, I muft acquaint you,
that the Law in this Cafe admits of no Exception,
but holds to the general Rule.

Clerk from Lord Wintoun. My Lords, I don't
underftand the Law ; I am perfectly a Stranger to

the Cuftoms of the Houfe, therefore hope your
Lordfhips will allow my Council that know them
t6 fpeak for me.

L. H. Steward to the Clerk. You let your Voice
fall.

Clerkfrom LordWintaun. I am not accuftomed to

the Practice of this Houfe •, therefore I defire that

your Lordfhips would pleafe to allow other Peo-
ple to fpeak for me that underftand them.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, your Coun-
cil are not to be allowed to fpeak for you, as to

thofe Things that are Matter of Fad, in an Im-
peachment of High-Treafon,, but to what is

Matter of Law ; and I believe if you afk your
own Council they will tell you, as the Law ftands

they cannot be heard for you here as to Matter of
Faft.

Clerkfrom Lord Wintoun. The Council will in-

form your Lordfhips of the Matter of Facl, and
they know how better to exprefs it than I do.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, have you
any Witneffes to call in your Defence ?

Clerk from Lord Wintoun. I told your Lordfhips

Yefterday, my moft material Witneffes were not

yet come up.

L. H. Steward. My Lord, I acquainted your

Lordfhip Yefterday, and now would remind you

of your own Petition exhibited to the Houfe of

Lords, wherein you acknowledge that a great ma-

ny of your Witneffes were come up ; thofe Wit-
neffes were arrived, you only then pretended Four

were not yet come. Doth your Lordfhip defigrt

to make no manner of ufe of thofe great Num-
bers of Witneffes that you admitted were come ?

Clerk from Lord Wintoun. Without thofe they

would not be of fuch an Effect They would

ferve for nothing without thofe Witneffes coming.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, your Lord-

fhip will pleafe to obferve the Lords wait with

great Patience, to fee if your Lordfhip would be

better advifed, and go into your Defence.

Clerk from Lord Wintoun. I don't really know,

my Lords, what to fay for it, for I don't under-

ftand the Proceedings of this Houfe. It was al-

ways the Cuftom in any Court where I was, for

People to be allowed to fpeak, or the Council be

allowed-
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allowed to fpeak for me, for I am not accuftom-

ed to fpeak any manner of way in my own De-

fence, therefore I hope you will allow my Coun-

cil to fpeak for me. My Council have a Point

of Law to fpeak to ; they fay fo, but I know no-

thing of it.

L. II. Steward. My Lord IVintoun, your Coun-

cil have- had Accefs to you ; and tho' your Lord-

fhip can't fpeak and argue to the Point of Law,

can't your Lordfhip propofe what the Queftion

is?

Clerkfrem L. WintoUn. It is impofTible for me
to do a thing I don't understand ; I don't know
what the Point of Law is, no more than a Man
that knows nothing about it.

When fome laugh'd,

L. Wintoun. I am only fpeaking in my own
Defence ; I don't expect to be laugh'd at.

L. H. Steward. I think his Lordfhip does ob-

ferve well ; I hope every one will forbear that.

L. H. Steward. Won't your Lordfhip be pleafed

to name what Matter the Queftion concerns ?

Clerkfrom L. IVintoun. It will be fomething

about the Trial ; no doubt fomething of what

the common People have been fpeaking about

—

It is, no doubt, in Anfwer to the Managers of

the Houfe of Commons. I have not ken my
Council fince 1 was laft here in the Houfe •, I

have been -kept clofe Prifoner all the time, and

no Body come near me; nor had I any Time to

fpeak with any Body, particularly with my Coun-

cil; fo that I have not had Time to be exactly

informed of all the Points of Law they have to

plead. The Council will tell themfeives what

Point of Law they have to plead.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, regularly

you fhould propound your own Queftion before

your Council fpeak. Before it appears to be a

Point of Law, it is not fit for your Council to

be heard.

Clerk from L. Wintoun. It is impoffible I fhould

direct a Council, I, that don't underftand Law

:

I can't introduce a Point of Law; my Council

will fpeak to the Point of Law.
L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, did not

ycu fpeak to your Council laft Night ?

Clerk from L. Wintoun. I could not.

L. H. Steward. Why?
Clerk from L. IVintoun. Becaufe it was late when

I went from hence ; and your Lordfhips know I

am a clofe Prifoner in the 'Tower ; and was lock'd

up and could not fee them. I fee no Body but

the Guards.

L. II. Steward. Hath not your Lordfhip feve-

ral times feen your Council, as often as you required

an Order for fo doing ?

Clerk from L. Wintoun. I never faw my Council

but once, before I gave in my Anfwer.

L. II. Steward. Did you defire to fee them
oftner ?

Clerk from L. Wintoun. My Lords, my Solli-

citor fpoke to them ; and my Witneffes not being

come up, it was needlcfs for me to fpeak to my
Council, before that they might know what the

"Witneffes had to fay, and fo might draw up the

State of the Queftion. I did not doubt but the

Lords would have given me more Time ; and
therefore I was not fo defirous to fee my Council,
as I would have been, if I thought I mould have
been fo much crampt in Time.

Mr. Cowper. My Lords, I had the Honour to

receive the Commands of the Commons, to re-
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ply to his Lordfhip's Defence, and it was reafon-

able to expect that the Prifoner, having pleaded

Not Guilty to the Impeachment, would have at-

tempted to give 'fome Evidence in fupport of his

Plea ; but fince it feerhs to be his Lordfliip's Re-
folution not to enter into a Defence, I think it

my Duty to fay fomething to your Lordfhips up-;

on this unexpected Occafion. Such is the Treafon,

and fo full the Evidence to prove it, that I think

his Lordfhip's Behaviour, unaccountable as it is,

more to his Purpofe than any other could have

been. My Lords, I am very unwilling to fpeak

my own private Sentiment of his Lordfhip's pre-

fent Conduct, although the Obfervations I could

make arife out of his Lordfhip's Anfwer to the

Impeachment : Whoever fhall read and confider

it, will find my Lord Wintoun not denying, but

confeffing the feveral Overt-Acts of Treafon laid

to his Charge, and then drawing a falfe Conclu-

fion, that he is Not Guilty however of the Trea-

fon whereof he is accufed. He denies that what
he did was done with a traiterous Intention* and
fays very emphatically, that the pure Streams of

Loyalty, which have always run in the Blood of
his Anceftors, are derived to him uncorrupted

;

and thus, my Lords, a Popifh Pretender being

the Object of his Lordfhip's Loyalty, he thinks

he may be guilty of the whole Impeachment
without being a Traitor. This is the true ftate

of the Caie. It feems to me, his Lordfhip is de^

termined to maintain his Point; and how far he
may think it proper to acknowledge your Lord-
fhip's Jurifdiction I know not. My Lords, as

to the Impeachment which the Commons with
great Juftice have exhibited againft this Prifoner,

your Lord (hips have observed that the feveral

Treafons therein contained have been fully proved -,

I am unwilling, in a cafe fo plain, and where no
Defence has been, or can be made, to wafte your

Lordfhip's Time. l*our Lordfhips have heard,

in the courfe of the Evidence which we have pro-

duced, that this Lord departed from his Seat cf
Seaton Houfe with about fourteen of his own Ser-

vants free and unconftrained ; that he joined others

of the Rebels at Moffett, at which Place his Lord-
fhip was pleafed to form a Troop, which from
thenceforth was called the Earl of Wintcun's.

Troop. The Prifoner had the Command of it

and for fear his Zeal for the Pretender fhould

pafs unobferved, his own Servants rid in his own
Troop in his own Livery ; and I may add, that

it appears his Lordfhip's Troop was paid after

the rate of Two Shillings per diem each Man, by
his Lordfhip's Order, and with his own Money,
From the Town at Moffett, which I mentioned,

your Lordfhips had an account of many Marches
and Countermarches ; his Lordfhip and the Re*-

bels under him ever where increafing in their

Numbers ; every where declaring and proclaim-

ing the Pretender to his Majefty's Crown, as King
of thefe Realms. And, my Lords, I may ven-"

ture to fay it appears through the whole courfe of

the Evidence, that no one was more zealous and

active than the Prifoner. My Lords -—
L. Guilford. I am very lorry to interrupt that

Gentleman, but I think it proper, before the

Houfe of Commons fum up their Evidence, to

move your Lordfhips to adjourn to the Houfe of

Lords.

Then the Houfe was adjourned to the Chamber
of Parliament ; and after about half an Hour re-

turned, and the Houfe was refum'd,

G z And
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And Proclamation- for Silence being made

as ufual,

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, I am or-

der'd by their Lordfhips to acquaint you, that

they are yet ready to hear any thing, that you

have to fay in your Defence by way of Obfcrva-

tion upon what hath been prov'd againft you, or

alledgedagainft you^ or otherwife ; they are like-

wife ready to hear any WitnefTes you are pleafed

to call or produce •, but then I am. to acquaint your

Lord (hip, that if you negle6t this Opportunity

now given you, then it is their Lordfhips Plea-

fore that I mould fignify to the Managers of the

Houfe of Commons,, that they fhould go on to

their Reply •, and if fuch Reply be made, your

Lordfhip hath no further Opportunity to alledge

any thing, or to prove any thing. This Notice

is ordered by their Lordfhips to be given you. I

am likewife to acquaint you, that it is their Lord-

fhips Opinion, as I before told you, that if you

have any Queftion of Law to be fpoken by your

Council, their Lordfhips cannot admit any other

Form, but that you fhould propound it to their

Lordfhips yourfelf.

Clerk from L. Wintoun. I believe my Council,

my Lords, have fomething to fay in Anfwer to

what the Managers have laid, My Lords,, the

Gentleman who was prefent, knows they would

not let me know what they had to fay.

Clerk.. He fays I" was by when his Council

faid fo.

L. H. Steward. My Lord, if your Lordfhip

hath any Notes or Papers you may help your

Memory by them in your Defence. Read

or look upon them.

Clerk from L. Wintoun. I fhall read it as I can,

and you will excufe it if I don't do it right as I

fhould do.

Lord Wintoun reads, and the Clerk repeats.

The Council have a Point of Law arifingfrom

what hath been pafs'd in the Houfe, to fhew that

he is fuch a Perfon as is not capable of commit-

ting the Treafon laid in the Impeachment. I plead

Not Guilty, and this alledges the fame. I fay I

am Not Guilty, and the Paper fays it will demon-

ftrate I am not.

'The Paper read again and' repeated as before.

The Council have a Point of Law arifing from

what hath paffed in the Houfe, to fhew that he

is fuch a Perfon that is not capable of committing

the Treafon laid in the Impeachment.

Clerk from L. Wintoun. I don't underfland Law,
and how fhould I introduce a Point of Law ?'

L. II. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, if your

Lordfhip doth not proceed to make a Defence,

and to call your WitnefTes, I have already ac-

quainted you, and I believe I fhall be excufed for

doing it a fecond Time, that I fhall fignify to the

Managers of the Houfe of Commons to reply,

after which your Lordfhip can't have them ex-

amined.

Clerk from L. Wintoun. I heard your Lordfhip

what you faid, but I don't underftand what is

meant by it.

L. H. Steward. They may proceed to fay what

they think proper touching that Sort of Defence

your Lordfhip is making, to anfwer what they

have already laid and proved againft your Lord-

fhip •, after they have faid and done this, the Lords

won't allow you to fpeak afterwards.

Clerk from L. Wintoun. The Council defire to

be heard, fince they have written a Paper, to be

heard on that Paper.

L. H. Steward. The Paper is allowed to help

your own Memory, but you muft not give in

any Paper as written by your Council, nor men-
tion it as fuch.-

Clerk from L. Wintoun. I defire my Council

may be heard on the Point of Law contained in
what I call the Paper. I defire my Council may
be heard to the Point of Law, which I read out
of the Paper. I defire my Council may be heard
to the Point of Law, which they urge they have
to fay.

L. II. Steward. My Lord Wintoun,. you have
by the help of a Paper, propounded that which
you call a Point of Law. Their Lordfhips have
heard what you have propounded. I don't find

any Motion is made to adjourn, to confider whe-
ther fuch a Point is fit for your Council to be
heard to, that is, whether it is a Point of Law,
If there be any Doubt, you will prefently fee k
by the Effect, by fuch a Motion as I have men-
tioned.

After fome Paufe,

L. H, Steward. Ifyour Lordfhip doth not pro-

ceed, I muft intimate to the Managers of the

Houfe of Commons that they may reply.

Clerk from L. Wintoun. My Lords, if your
Lordfhips will allow my Council to be heard oa
the Point of Law I have given in,

JL H. Steward. My Lord, I think I may now
prefume to tell you, that I humbly apprehend it

is no Point of Law which you propofe.

Clerk from L. Wintoun. I am not a Judge of a^

Point of Law, for I don't underftand Law, nor
never did.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, the fame
Matter muft not be drawn over and over again^

If your Lordfhip doth not proceed to fomething

proper for your Defence, I muft fignify imme-
diately to the Managers that they may reply.

Clerk from L. Wintoun. If your Lordfhips pleafe

to hear the Council, they will tell you what k
means. The Council dare not fpeak till they be

defired.

L. H. Steward. Gentlemen of the Houfe of

Commons, you may reply.

Mr. Cowper. My Lords, I fhall avoid, as near

as I am able, repeating any Thing I have already

faid before your Lordfhips laft Adjournment, I

was obferving that the Behaviour of the Prifoner,.

my Lord Wintoun, throughout all his Conducl>
during the whole Progrefs of the Rebellion, ap-

peared in a quite different Light, to that in which

he would now willingly appear : Your Lordfhips,

find him, according to the Evidence, at every

falfe Alarm very inquifitive to know the Occa-

fion ;. having affumed the Command of a Squa-

dron, his Lordfhip was inftantly at his Poft,

ready to receive and encounter his Majefty's

Forces, and the Reverend Mr. Patten has done

Juftice to his Lordfhips Vigilance and Courage

upon this Occafion ; but it feems the Alarms

were both falfe r Hence we may obferve, that

Alarms may be falfe, and Dangers may be imagi-

nary; which Mr. Patten, and Men of his Prin-

ciples would do well toreflee"l on at leifure. My
Lords after great Numbers of Marches and
Counter-marches, during which his Majefty's

Subjects were plundered, the Public Money
feized, and Taxes exacted from the People by
Force and Violence. Your Lordfhips have heard

that the Town of Pre/ton was feiz'd by this Lord,

and.
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and the Traitors, his Accomplices. At this Place

enfued a terrible Slaughter of his Majefty's faith-

ful Soldiers, Men who deferved a better Fate than

to die by the Hands of fuch perfidious Rebels.

But when the ufual Bravery of the King's Troops

prevailed, and there was nothing left but the un-

deferved Hope of Mercy, you find the Prifoner

amongft the reft farrendering his Arms and his

Perfon to the Difcretion of his Majefty's Gene-

rals. The Commons cannot, my Lords, but

take a particular Satisfaction in one Incident, oc-

cafion'd by this Lord's putting himfelf upon his

Trial, which is, that it has adminifter'd to them

a Time and an Opportunity, in the moft public

Manner before this Auguft AfTembly, to vindi-

cate his Majefty's Generals from a malicious Ca-

lumny fuggefted even by this Lord, the Prifoner,

in his Anfwer to the Impeachment, and not only

by him, but by the reft of his Accomplices al-

ready attainted. It feems not to be accidental,

that all the Lords mentioned in the Impeachment

ihould every one of them (falfe as it appears to

be) alledge that they furrender'd, fome fay upon

Promifes, but all agree upon Hopes given of

Mercy, confidering how fully it now appears,_

that there is not the leaft Colour or Shadow of

Truth to fupport this Suggeftion ; it is no un*

charitable Reflection to fay, that their Lordfhips,

I doubt, to fupply the Mifchiefs their Arms could

not accomplifh, were willing to aflift their Party,

by furnifhing them with an Untruth to propa-

gate. With what Zeal and Induftry has it been

accordingly propagated ! I may take the Liberty,

I prefume, to fay, with the Confent of this whole

Affembly, that it appears on the Evidence to be

utterly falfe •, nay further, that the very Reverfe

is true, the Rebels would willingly have obtained

a Promife, or even a Hope of being recom-

mended, but the Generals rightly told them,

Rebels deferved no Mercy, nor would they treat

with Rebels of furrendering otherwife than at Dif-

cretion. I cannot conclude without touching

Ihortly upon a Queftion which I obferved his

Lordfhip to afk, during the Courfe of the Evi-

dence ; I think it was propofed to Colonel Cotton,

"Whether any of our Men, as his Lordfhip was

pleafed to exprefs it, were (lain during the Time
of the Ceffation of Arms at Pre/ion ? which, in

fact, was true j and if it had been anfwer'd in the

Affirmative without Explanation, I believe his

Lordfhip would have been gratified, by furnifh-

ing his Friends with another Story to propagate,

which, well improved, might have laffed a good
while •, but when the Witnefs (who, I prefume,

difcerned the Tendency and Malignancy of the

Qjeftion) gave his Anfwer, the Cafe appears this ;

Tiie Rebels ftipulate and agree (Hoftages being

delivered; that no Works fhall be erected in the

Town during the Sufpenfion ; that no Perfon then

in the Town fhall go out of it during the fame
time ; in Breach of which Stipulation and Agree-
ment about fix of the Rebels attempt, Sword in

Hand, to charge through the King's Troops, in

which Attempt they fell, and if the King's

Troops had done lefs they had not done their

Duty. My Lords, I thought it not improper to

make fome few Obfervations upon the Evidence

;

not that his Lordihip's Defence has made it re-

quifite, but to anfwer, according to my Power,
the End of that Truft which the Commons have
been pkaftd to repofe in me.

Sir William 'Thomfon. My Lords, 1 fhould think

myfelf unworthy the Honour of being allowed

any Share of your Lordfhips Time ; but as I was

entrufted by the Commons to aflift the learned

Gentleman who fpoke laft, in a Reply to fuch

Defence as fhould be made by the Noble Lord at

the Bar, although no Evidence has been produced

by him, yet I muft requeft your Lordfhips Pa-

tience to make a few Remarks upon the Nature

of this Caufe, as it ftands before your Lord-
fhips.

The Anfwer of the Noble Lord not being fup-

ported by Evidence, ought to go for nothing j

but fince feveral Matters are alledged in it to mi-

tigate, if not to juftify his Proceedings, which

are falfified by our Evidence, I beg leave to take

fome notice of it.

I muft agree with the Noble Lord, that " It

" will be very pleafing to that honourable Af-
" fembly who are his Accufers to have an inno-
" cent Man acquitted, as well as a guilty one
" condemned." Nor can I differ with him where

he afferts, " That to be taken with Perfons in

" Arms againft the Government, is a reafonable

" Preemption of his Guilt, and a very juft

" Foundation to accufe him with the reft fo

" taken -, but that the Circum fiances of his Cafe
" appear fo different from the others, as to re*

" quire your Lordfhips diftinguifhing him in

" Judgment." I cannot fay, that any thing has

been offered to your Lordfhips which makes room
for fuch a Diftinetion;

" This Noble Lord is pleafed to give an Ac-
" count of what happened to him about eight
tC Years ago, when he endeavour'd to avoid the

" Sufpicion of the Government; he mentions the
" ill Ufage of the Militia and the King's Troops^
«' and feveral Tranfactions, viz. rifling his Houfe,
'* and committing Diforders there, without tel-

'* ling when they happened, or from whom -, he
" is pleafed to fay that he was unfortunately
*' driven into the Company of fome of the Per-
" fons mentioned in the Impeachment ; that he
«' joined them without any Intention to aflift their

" Defigns •, that he never meant to leave his own
" Country ; that he was ignorant of the Purj

" pofes of his Companions ; that he was con-
" ftrained to keep them Company, but never
" join'd in any Act of Hoftility, or countenanced
** or abetted them therein.

My Lords, the Evidence againft this Noble
Lord Efficiently explains how far he abetted the

Undertakings of his Companions.

It was prov'd to your Lordfhips, that when
he firft came to join the Rebels at Moffett, he

brought fourteen of his Domeftics with him,

moft of them well armed and accoutred ; that he

came with them to a Place of Rendefvous, where

were affembled the Lord Kenmure, and about one

hundred and fifty Horfe ; that from the Time he

joined them till he was taken, he marched along

with them in a Hoftile Manner through all the

Towns at the Head of his Troop that he had

formed, and which he commanded upon all Oc-

cafions ; that he had alfo a Squadron under his

Command and Direction, to whom he gave Or-

ders, and was very ready to have difpoied them
to Action, particularly on two Alarms of the

King's Troops •, that he aflifted feveral Times
at the proclaiming the Pretender by the Rebels in

i the
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the Towns where they pafFed thro' with his Sword

in Hand ; that he was with them at thofe Towns
where they feized the public Money, the Cannon,

and other warlike Inftruments ; and when he

came to Prefton, that in the Preparations to refift

the King's Troops he was as active as any of the

reft ; and particularly in the Church-yard, where

the Rebels were drawn together in order to that

Refiftance, he had his Sword and Piftols with

him, and was affifting in making the Difpofitions

for Engagement.-

And for the Conftraint that is pretended, 'tis

plain, that as he came in to the Rebels in the

manner I have mentioned without any Force or

Compulfion whatever, fo he continued all along

with them, and gave them the beft Affiftance he

could, and was far from fhewing any Backward-

nefs or Uneafinefs at their Proceedings through

the whole Progrefs of this Affair. He drank the

Pretender's Health, and the other ufual Healths

among the Rebels, viz. Succefs- to their Caufe -

y

and if he had not wifh'd it, he might have left

them whenever he would, if he had an Inclination

fo to do •, he did not want an Opportunity, par-

ticularly at Langholm, when about five hundred

Highlanders went back to Scotland y before they

went they fuffered him to come to them (though

they would not any other) thathedifcourfed them,

and came back from them, and declared it was

not his Fault that they would not go along with

him into England. My Lords, whether the whole

Tenor of this Proceeding does not manifeft the

Intentions of this Noble Lord, and whether the

Evidence of thefe Facts' does not falfify every Al-

legation^ his Anfwer, by which he would juftify

himfelf, your Lordfhips will eafily determine.

The Noble Lord fays further in his Anfwer,
" That if he hath committed any A.c~t which by
" the Rigour of the Law may be conftrued High-
" Treafbn, he hopes the Innocence of his Heart,
" and his Ignorance of the Law, will, by your
" Lordfhips IntercefTion, render him an Object
" of his Majefty's Mercy -, which, he fays, at

" the Time of his Surrender, he was encouraged
" to depend upon by his Majefty's Officers."

As to any Afiurances or Encouragement to ex-

pect Mercy upon the Surrender, the direct con-

trary is fully made out, I dare fay, to your Lord-

fhips entire Satisfaction. And for your Lord-
fhips IntercefTion, that is not the Confideration

now before you : The Queftion is only, whether

the Witneffcs have proved him guilty of the High-
Treafon of which he is accufed ?

I find the noble Lord cannot condefcend to own
the Facts he is charged with to amount to this

Crime : He is pleafed to fay, " That he is de-
" fcended from a noble Family, in whofe Blood
" the Streams of Loyalty were always pure,
" never corrupted or polluted with Treafon or
" Sedition ; that he never degenerated from his

" loyal Anceftors, fo as to form or carry on any
" Defign to fubvert or alter the Conftitution of
" this Kingdom, but that he was always ready
" to facrifice his Fortune, and even his Life for

" its Prefervation.

My Lords, I could wifh, for the Sake of this

unhappy Lord, the Object of your prefent Con-
fideration, that it were not too evident what Con-
ftitution he meant to preferve, and for which he
lias ventured his Life and Fortune.

All Mankind, who will not fhut their Eyes,,

mutt fee that the Purpofe of this, Noble. Lord and

his Accomplices was to dethrone his rnoft facred

Majefty, our Proreftant King, whom God and
the Laws have fet over us, and in Ms Stead to fet

up a Popifh Pretender to hi r Crown, bred up in

Superftition, and under the Maxims of Tyranny
and Arbitrary Power : The Succefs of this De-
fign muft neceffarily have produced a rnoft dread-

ful Scene of Blood and Confufion ; the Life of
our rnoft gracious Sovereign, the Lives of all his

Royal Family, your Lordfhips, and thofe other

brave and honeft Britons who would have flood in.

the Defence of the Religion, the Laws and Li-
berties of their Country, muft have been facri-

ficed to the Rage and Fury of Popifh Bigotry,

and to the infatiable Cruelty of Jefuits and Priefts,

who, as we are Proteftants, are our rnoft impla-

cable Enemies.

Inftead of the Happinefs we now enjoy under
our rnoft excellent Form of Government, where
every thing that is dear and valuable to human
Nature is protected by the Laws from the leaft

Violence or Invafion whatever, what could this

Nation expect from Popery and Arbitrary Power,
but endleis Miferies and Calamities, and the rnoft

abject Slavery ?

My Lords, it is a melancholly Reflection, that

there fhould be any, who pretend to the Name of
Britons, who would engage in fo groundlefs, fo

unprovok'd, and, rnoft properly called,, fo" un-
natural a Rebellion ; or that others fhould be fo

deluded or corrupted, as by their falfe and ma-
licious Infinuations, and by their vile Calumnies

on the beft of Princes, or by their avowed In-

difference towards him, to encourage that traite-

rous Enterprize.

All fuch Enemies to the Welfare and Profperity

of their Country, ought to reflect, with the ut-

rnoft Shame and Confufion on the difmal Pro-

fpect they were preparing for us by the natural

Tendency of their Proceedings: And I cannot

but think, that it muft add to the Affliction of

this unfortunate Lord who ftands before this Au-
guft Judicature, while he reflects on the Affu-

rances given him of generous Companion as far

as is confiftent with the Rules of Juftice, while he
confiders of that Humanity and tender Regard ex-

preffed towards him by that great and noble

Mind, who fo juftly reprefented all your Lord-
fhips Sentiments, while he obferves that Care and
Concern fhewn to him, that Affiftance granted

him towards making his Defence, and that his

Judges are fo many noble Peers, who can never

be influenced to condemn the Innocent, and who
will be governed only by full Proof and clear

Conviction : Sure he muft now reproach himfelf,

when he thinks that he was about to fubvert thofe

very Laws by which even his Life, who has fo

tranfgreffed, is thus protected.

My Lords, I am here led to take notice alfc^

that his rnoft gracious Majefty (againft whom this

unfortunate Lord, with his Alfociates, have fb

fignally offended) hath been pleafed to exprefs his

mild and gentle Difpofition, even to them his

rnoft inveterate Enemies. It was an Uneafinefs to

him that he could not dijlmguiflj thefirjl Tears of his

Reign by the endearing Marks of Peace and Clemency ;

it afflitled him that the Calamities of his faithful

Subjects pould require indifpcnfable Returns of Se-

verity.

I may prefume your Lordfhips natural Com-
paffion would incline you to the fame merciful

Difpofitions , but the Commons are perfuaded that.

your
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your Lordfhips will have fome Regard to the Charles Lord Fitzwalter, Guilty upon my Ho-
Lives of thofe many brave and gallant Men, who nour.

by the bale Methods of the Rebels were murder'd, John Lord Belawar, Guilty upon my Honour*
and expir'd in their Country's Caufe ; that their Peregrine Lord Willoughby^ of Ere/by, Guilty

Blood demands the Juftice of that Country in upon my Honour.

whole Defence it was fpilt ; and the Commons Henry Lord Vifcount Tadcafter, Guilty upon
are allured that your Lordfhips muft think that my Honour.

the Public Safety alfo requires your exemplary Henry Lord Vifcount Lonfdale, Guilty upon my
Juftice, more efpecially on the principal Offenders

;

Honour.

and that 'tis the mod effectual Method to prevent Talbot Lord Vifcount Longueville, Guilty upori

any future Infurrections or Difturbance of the my Honour.

Public Repofe and Tranquillity of the King- Charles Lord Vifcount TownfJoend, Guilty upori

dom, and to render firm and lafting our prefent my Honour.

happy Eftablifhment. Lawrence Lord Vifcount Say and Seal, Guilty

Sir J. Jekyll. My Lords, the Gentlemen of the upon my Honour.

Houfe of Commons have nothing more to offer George Earl of Hallifax, Guilty upon my Ho-
to your Lordfhips, but defire your Lordfhips Opi- nour.

nion on this Evidence. John Earl of Briflol, Guilty upon my Honour,

Then the Houfe of Lords was adjourned to Heneage Earl of Aylesford, Guilty upon my Ho-
the Chamber of Parliament ; and being returned, nour.

the Houfe refumed, and Proclamation made for Charles Earl of Tankerville, Guilty upon my
Silence as ufual. Honour.

Then the Lord High-Steward being feated on Lewis Earl of Rockingham, Guilty upon my
the Chair, placed as before-mentioned, flood up Honour.

uncovered, and beginning with the youngeft Peer, James Earl of Carnarvon, Guilty upon my
faid, Honour.

Thomas Lord Parker, what fays your Lordfhip, Thomas Earl of Strafford, Guilty upon my Ho-
is George Earl of Wintoun Guilty of the High- nour.

Treafon whereof he Hands impeached, or not Archibald Earl of Hay, Guilty upon my Ho-
Guilty ? nour.

Then Thomas Lord Parker ftanding up in his Henry Earl of Deloraine, Guilty upon my Ho-
Place, and laying his Right Hand on his Breaft, nour.

faid, Guilty upon my Honour. Hugh Earl of Loudoun, Guilty upon my Ho-
In like manner, the feveral Lords after-men- nour.

tioned, being all that were prefent, anfwered as Thomas Earl of Hadington, Guilty upon my LIo-

followeth. nour.

Richard Lord Cobham, Guilty upon my Ho- John Earl of Rothes, Guilty upon my Honour,
nour. Hugh Earl of Qholmondeley, Guilty upon my

Henry Lord Carleton, Guilty upon my Honour. Honour.

Bennet Lord Harborough, Guilty upon my Ho- Francis Earl of Godolphin, Guilty upon my
nour. Honour.

James Lord Saunderfon, Guilty upon my Ho- John Earl Poulet, Guilty upon my Honour,
nour. John Earl of Greenwich, Guilty upon my Ho-

Robert Lord Bingley, Guilty upon my Honour, nour.

Allen Lord Bathurft, Guilty upon my Honour. Henry Earl of Grantham, Guilty upon my Ho-
Thomas Lord Manfell, Guilty upon my Honour, nour.

Charles Lord Boyle, Guilty upon my Honour. William Earl of Jerfey, Guilty upon my Ho-
Simon Lord Harcourt, Guilty upon my Honour, nour.

John Lord Belhaven, Guilty upon my Honour. Edward Earl of Orford, Guilty upon my Ho-
William Lord Rofs, Guilty upon my Honour. nour.

John Lord Gower, Guilty upon my Honour. George Earl of Warrington, Guilty upon my
Maurice Lord Haver/ham, Guilty upon my Honour.

Honour. Richard Earl of Scarborough, Guilty upon my
Henry Lord Herbert, Guilty upon my Honour. Honour.

John Lord AJhburnham, Guilty upon my Ho- Henry Earl of Portland, Guilty upon my Ho-
nour.

Francis Lord Guilford, Guilty upon my Ho-
nour.

Richard Lord Lumley, Guilty upon my Ho-
nour.

Peregrine Lord OJborn, Guilty upon my Ho-
nour.

Charles Lord Cornwallis, Guilty upon my Ho-
nour.

John Lord Colepepper, Guilty upon my Honour.
Charles Lord Bruce, Guilty upon my Honour.

< William Lord Brook, Guilty upon my Honour. Arthur Earl of Anglefey, Guilty upon my Ho-
James Lord Compton, Guilty upon my Honour, nour.

William Lord St. John, Guilty upon my Ho- Edward Earl of Clarendon, Guilty upon my
nour. Honour.

Thomas Lord Howard, of Effingham, Guilty Thomas Earl of Stamford, Guilty upon my Ho-
upon my Honour. nour.

Charles

nour.

Robert Earl of Holdemefs, Guilty upon my
Honour.

Henry Earl of Rochejler, Guilty upon my Ho-
nour.-

Daniel Earl of Nottingham, Guilty upon my
Honour.

Charles Earl of Radnor, Guilty upon my Ho-
nour.

Richard Earl of Burlington, Guilty upon. my
Honour.
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Charles Earl of Manchefier, Guiity upon my
Honour.

George Earl of Northampton, Guilty upon my
Honour.

John Earl of Leicefter, Guilty upon my Ho-

nour.

Scroop Ear] of Bridgwater, Guilty upon my
Honour.

Lionel Earl of Zty/& and Middle/ex, Guilty

upon my Honour.

Henry Earl of Lincoln, Guilty upon my Ho-

nour.

Thomas Earl of Pembroke, Guilty upon my
Honour.
y^ww Earl of Derby, Guilty upon my Honour.

William Marquifs of Annandale, Guilty upon

my Honour.

'Thomas Duke of Newcaflle, Guilty upon my
Honour.

Evelin Duke of Kingfton, Guilty upon my Ho-

nour.

Robert Duke of Ancafter and Kefteven, Lord

Great Chamberlain, Guilty upon my Honour.

/^«ry Duke of Kent, Guilty upon my Honour.

John Duke of Roxburgh, Guilty upon my Ho-

nour.

J^ww Duke of Montrofs, Guilty upon my Ho-

nour.

John Duke of Montagu, Guilty upon my Ho-

nour.

John Duke of Buckingham and Normanby, Guilty

upon my Honour.

John Duke of Marlborough, Guilty upon my
Honour.

Charles Duke of Shrewfbury, Guilty upon my
Honour.

C-W/w Duke of St. Albans, Guilty upon my
Honour.

Charles Duke of Richmond, Guilty upon my Ho-
nour.

Charles Duke of Somerfet, Guilty upon my Ho-
nour.

Charles Duke of Bolton, Lord Chamberlain of

his Majefty's Houfhold, Guilty upon my Ho-
nour.

William Duke of Devon/hire, Lord Steward of

his Majefty's Houftiold, Guilty upon my Honour.

Charles Earl of Sunderland, Lord Privy-Seal,

Guilty upon my Honour.

L. H Steward. My Lords,. I am of Opinion

that George Earl of Wintoun is Guilty of the High-
Treafon whereof he fbands Impeached, upon my
Honour.

Proclamation for Silence, and Proclamation to

bring forth the Prifoner, as ufual.

L. H. Steward. George Earl of Wintoun, the

Lords have confidered of the Charge, and the

Evidence given againft you ; and likewife of what

you have faid in your Defence, and of the whole

Matter as it hath been before them in this Trial,

and are of Opinion that your Lordfhip is Guilty,

and have found your Lordfhip guilty of the High-
Treafon whereof you fland impeached.

Is it your Lordfhips Pleafure to adjourn to the

Chamber of Parliament ?

Lords. Ay, ay.

L. H. Steward. This Houfe is adjourned to the

Chamber of Parliament.

Then all the Lords returned in the Order be-

fore-mentioned to the Chamber of Parliament.

Monday, March 10. The Third Day.

PRoclamation for Silence, and Proclamation

for the Prifoner to be brought to the Bar,

as ufual.

L. H. Steward. George Earl of Wintoun, when
you waslaft at this Bar, I let your Lordfhip know1^

that your Peers had found you guilty of the

High-Treafon whereof you fland impeached, that

is in the Terms of Law, convicted you of High-
Treafon. I am now to afk your Lordfhip if you
have any thing to offer why Judgment of Death
fhould not pafs upon you according to the Law.

Clerkfrom L. Wintoun. My Lord Wintoun faith

his Council have a Point of Law to offer to your
Lordfhips, to fhew that he is fuch a Perfon
againft whom, by Law, Judgment ought not to

be given.

L. H. Steward. My Lord, will your Lordfhip
flate the Point upon which your Lordfhip is ad-

vifed, that you are not fuch a Perfbn againft

whom Judgment ought to be given ?

Clerkfrom L. Wintoun. I don't know what your
Lordfhip means.

Sir C. Phipps. If your Lordfhips pleafe, we
have a Point of Law humbly to offer to your
Lordfhips, if

Alt. Gen. My Lords, I hear a Gentleman of
the long Robe offering to fpeak. I do humbly
infift on it that they are not to fpeak, unlefs there

be a Point of Law ftated by the Prifoner, and
which your Lordfhips fhall think to be a Point
of Law, we think it irregular.

Mr. Cowper. We apprehend the Objection to

that Gentleman's being heard is fo obvious, that

we are furprized to find he fhould prefume to

fpeak without your Lordfhip's Direction fo to do ;,

he cannot but know that the Prifoner is to pro-

pound the Queftion in Law ; and if your Lord-
fhip fhall conceive it to be a Point of Law pro-

per to be argued by Council, your Lordfhips will

direct him to fpeak ; but he ought not in any
cafe to propound a Queftion in Law, nor when
a Queftion is propounded by the Prifoner, to

fpeak to it without your Lordfhip's exprefs Di-

rection.

Lord High-Steward. Sir Conflantine Phipps, you

know the Practice to be fo, and the Point muft

be firft ftated by the Prifoner before you can fpeak

to it.

Sir C. Phipps. My Lords, if I had been heard

but ten Words more

Sir W. Thomfon. My Lords, we humbly infift

upon it that that Gentleman be not heard one

Word more

Lord Hay moved to adjourn.

L. H Steward. Is it your Lordfhip's pleafure

to adjourn ?

Lords. Ay, ay.

L. H. Steward. This Houfe is adjourned to the

Chamber of Parliament.

The Lords went in their Order to die Chamber
of Parliament.

And after about half an Hour being returned,

The Houfe was refumed, and Proclamation

made for Silence, as ufual.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, the Lords

have confider'd of the Matter which you have

moved in Arreft of Judgment, which was to this

effect,.
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effect, that you are not fuch a Perfon as againft

whom Judgment of Death for High -Treafon

cu°"ht to be pronounced. I am directed to ac-

quaint you that their Lordfhips are of Opinion

it is Matter of Fact, and not of Law ; and that

the Lords think you are fuch a Perfon as againft

whom Judgment ought to be given in this Cafe.

I am hkewife ordered by the Lords to reprimand

you Sir Confiantine Phipps, for having, in a Pro-

ceeding of this Nature, prefumed to be fb for-

ward as to fpeak for the Prifoner at the Bar be-

fore a Point of Law was firft flated, and you had

leave to fpeak to it; and your Fault is certainly

the greater, for having prefumed to do this to a

Matter which you cannot but know is Matter of

Fact, and that the Law is not doubtful one way

or other, the Fact being fuppoied. My Lord

Wintcira, I am allowed again to afk your Lord-

fnip, if you have any thing further to alledge or

move why Judgment of Death fhould not pafs

upon you according to the Law.

Clerk from L. Wintoim. My Council are ready

to offer, in Arreft of Judgment, that the Im-

peachment is inefficient, for the Time of com-

mittina the Treafon is not therein laid with fufE-

cient Certainty.

L. H. Steward. I think the Matter moved by

my Lord is, that his Council fhould be admitted

to fhew that the Impeachment is inefficient, in

refpecc that the Time therein is not laid with fuf-

iicient Certainty. This I think is the Matter

mov'd. Will your Lordfhips be pleafcd that the

Council have Leave to fpeak?

L. H. Steward. Is it your Lordfhips pleafure

that the Council for the Prifoner may be allowed

to fpeak to this Point ?

Lords. Ay, ay.

L H. Steward- I afk your Lordfhips leave to

go nearer to the Table.

Which being done,

Proclamation for Silence was made as ufual.

L. H. Steward. Gentlemen that are of Council

foi the Prifoner at the Bar, you have liberty to

fpeak to the Point propofed.

Sir Ccv.fianiine Phipps. 1 lAY it pJeafe your

_.VA Lordfhips, we that

have the Honour to be affigned by your Lordfhips

as Council in this Cafe, do humbly apprehend the

Impeachment againft the noble Lord at the Bar
to be infufficient ; it is fo uncertain, that we (with

the greateft Submiffion) take it no Judgment can

be given upon it. My Lords we beg leave to

take Notice to your Lordfhips, that in Indictments

i n the Courts below, even for Trefpaffes, the Law
requires the certain Day when the Offence is fup-

pofed to be committed to be alledged, and if

a particular Day be not laid, the Indictment is

inefficient. And if fuch Certainty is requifite in

Offepxes of the moft minute Nature, it is much
more fo in capital Crimes, and more ftill in Of-
fences of the bigheft Nature, fuch as Treafon,
with which this noble Lord is charged.

My Lords, there be two Reafons why, in In-

dictments for High-Treafon, a certain Day fhould
be affigned when the Treafon was committed.

One is for the Advantage of the Prifoner, that

being appriffd not or.ly for the Facts with which
he is charged, but alfo of the Time when thofe

Facts are luppofed to be committed, he may be
the better able to make his Defence : 'Tis poffible

he may have Witneffls to prove he was at ano-

Vol. VI.

ther Place, and in other Company, at the Time
when he is accufed to have committed the Trea-
fon, or may by other Circumftances make his

Innocence appear.

The fecond Reafon is for the Benefit of the

Crown, that it may be known to what Time the

Forfeiture fhall relate ; for in Treafon the For-

feiture relates to the Time laid in the Indictment

;

and if there be no precife Time alledged in the

Indictment, the Forfeiture can relate no farther

than to the Judgment.
My Lords, the Forfeitures in Cafes of Trea-

fon are very great, therefore we conceive, with
humble Submiffion, that the Accufation ought to

contain all the Certainty it is capable of, that the

Prifoner may not by general Allegations be ren-

dered incapable to defend himfelf in a Cafe which

may prove fo fatal to him.

Our Books, my Lords, furnifh us with many
Inftances where Indictments have been held to be

inefficient for lefs Faults than not fpeeifyin-g the

Day when the Offence was committed ; but in

Cafes fo plain, I will not trouble your Lordfhips

with citing Authorities-, for I believe there is not

one Gentleman of the long Robe but will agree

an Indictment for any capital Offence to be erro-

neous, if the Offence be not alledged to be com-
mitted upon a certain Day.
My Lords, an Attainder upon an Impeachment

fubjects the Offender to the fame Punifhment,

the fame Forfeitures, as van Attainder upon an

Indictment ; and therefore I am at a lofs to find

out a Reafon why there mould not be the fame
Certainty in the one as in the other ; if equal Cer-

tainty be required in both, then we humbly fub-

mit to your Lordfhips Judgment whether this

Impeachment be not erroneous and inefficient,

in that there is no particular certain Time al-

ledged when the Treafon or the Overt-Acts were
committed. The Treafon alledged is coivipiring

and imagining the Death of the King, and the

Impeachment fets forth, " That the Confplrators,

" (and names them) as falfe Traytors to his pre-
" fent moft facred Majefty King George, the only
" lawful and undoubted Sovereign of thefe King-
" doms, having withdrawn their Allegiance, and.

" cordial Love, and true and due Obedience,
" which they, as good -and faithful Subjects,

" owed to his faid Majefty, did, in or about
" the Months of September, October, or Novem-
" her 1 715, moft wickedly, mahcioufly, falfiy,

" and traiteroufly imagine and compafs the Death
" of his moft facred Majefty." My Lords, a

Profecution by Impeachment is a Proceeding at

the Common Law, for Lex Parliamentarla is a

Part of the Common Law -, and we humbly fub-

mit it to your Lordfhips Confideration, whether

there is not the fame Certainty
v
required in one

Method of Proceeding at the Common Law as in

another.

Your Lordfhips obferve with what Uncertain-

ty, as to the Time, the Treafon is alledged.

'Tis faid to be in or about the Months of Sep-

tember, Oilober, or November 1 7 1
5. Who is able

to fay to which of thefe Months, much lefs to

what Day of either of thefe Months, the For-

feiture fhall relate ? And how is it poffible for

the noble Lord, the Prifoner at the Bar, to make
a Defence to a Charge 10 general, unlefs he bring

for WitnefTes all thole Peribns with whom he has

had any Converfation during thofe three Months

at leaft ?

H My
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My Lords, the Overt-Acts are alledged with

the fame Infufficienty and Uncertainty as the Trea-

fon it felf is ; for in charging the firlt Overt-A 61,

which is confpiring to levy War and to depofe

the King, it is faid, " That for accomplifhing
" and executing their faid traiterous Purpofes,
* e they the laid James Earl of Derwentwater, &c.
*' did, in or about the faid Months, or fome of
" them, and at diverfe other Times, andatdi-
" verfe other Places within this Kingdom, wick-
" edly and traiteroufly agree, confederate, &c.
" to raife, excite, and levy, within the Counties

" of Teviotdale, Northumberland, Cumberland, and
*' the County-Palatine of Chefler, and elfewhere

" within this Kingdom, a moil cruel, bloody,

" and deftructive War againft his Majefty, in

" order to depofe and murther his facred Ma-
" jefty, and to deprive him of his royal State,

" Crown and Dignity." My Lords, can any thing

be more uncertainly alledged, than to fay that

the Confpirators did, in or about the faid Months,

or fome of them, and at diverfe other Times,

and at diverfe other Places within this Kingdom,

confederate, &c. to levy War within the Coun-

ties of Teviotdale, Northumberland, Cumberland,

and County-Palatine of Chejler, and elfewhere

within this Kingdom ?

The next Overt-Act, which is actually levying

War, is not laid with greater Certainty ; for the

Impeachment fets forth, " That the faid Earl of
*' Derwentwater, &c. their Accomplices and Con-
" federates, in or about the Months aforefaid, in

" the Counties aforefaid, er fome of them, did
" gather together great Numbers of his Maje-
" fty's Subjects, and with them did affemble in

" a warlike and traiterous manner, in order to

" raife Tumults and Rebellion within this King-
<c dom ; and having procured great Quantities

" of Arms, Ammunition, and warlike Inftru-

" ments, at the Times and Places aforefaid, or

*' fome of them, did form and compofe, or did

" affift in forming and compofing an Army of
" Men, confiding of his Majefty's liege Sub-
" jects, in order to wage War againft his faid

" Majefty, for, and in behalf, and in favour of

" the faid Pretender to the Crown of thefe

" Realms; and at the Time, and Times, and
" Places aforefaid, and at divers other Times and
" Places within this Kingdom, the faid Confpi-

" rators did levy and raife War and Rebellion

" againft his moft facred Majefty, &c.

The next Overt-Act is proclaiming the Pre-

tender, which is more uncertain than any of the

other; for the Impeachment fets forth, " That
" the aforefaid Confpirators, during their March
" and Invafion aforefaid, in open Defiance of his

" moft facred Majefty's juft and undoubted Ti-

" tie to the Imperial Crown of thefe Realms,
" did wickedly and traiteroufly caufe and pro-

" cure the faid Pretender to be proclaimed in the

" moft public and folemn manner as King of
" thefe Realms.

Here is no certain Time or Place alledged

when or where the Pretender was proclaim'd, but

only that it was during their March and Invafion.

The laft Overt-Act Teems to be laid with greater

Certainty than the reft; for 'tis faid, " That the

" Confpirators did, on or about the 9th, 10th,

" nth, 1 2th, or 1 3 tli of November aforefaid,

" traiteroufly feize and poffefs themfelves of the

" Town of Prejlon, in the County Palatine of

" Lancafier, againft his Majefty, and did then,

<,<.

and there, in a warlike and hoftile Manner,
levy War, oppofe, engage, and fight againft

his Majefty's Forces, and did then and there

caufe and procure a miferable and horrid
" Slaughter and Murther of many of his Ma-
" jelly's faithful Subjects." Here indeed are par-
ticular Days mention'd, but then the Words or
about leave it at large, for no Man can tell how
many Days may be included in thefe Words or
about. We humbly apprehend that a Charge
of this high Nature ought not to be alledged

with fuch uncertainty, and that the Impeachment
is as erroneous as an Indictment drawn in this

Manner would be •, this being a Proceeding of the
fame Nature, and according to the Courfe of the
Common Law.
My Lords, I do not pretend any great Skill

in Parliamentary Proceedings, but prefume to fay

that in my little Experience in Bufinefs in other
Courts, I never faw a Charge exhibited againft

any one that was laid in fo uncertain a manner,
unlefs in Libels in the Ecclefiaftical or Admiralty
Courts, which cannot in the leaft influence the
Cafe now before your Lordfhips ; this (as I have
obferved) being a Proceeding according to the
Courfe of the Common Law.
Upon the whole Matter I humbly fubmit to

your Lordfhips Judgment, whether for the Rea-
fons I have offer'd to your Lordfhips Confidera-
tion, the Impeachment is not erroneous, and
whether your Lordfhips will think fit to proceed
to Judgment againft the noble Lord the Prifoner
at the Bar upon an Impeachment fo uncertain and
infufficient as I humbly apprehend this to be.

Mr, Williams. TV /W Y Lords, I am alfo affign'd,

1V1 by your Lordfhips, of Coun-
cil for this unfortunate Lord, and humbly in-

fill in arreft of Judgment, that there is a De-
fect in this Impeachment, in regard no certain

Day is laid, when the Treafbn is charged to have
been committed.

In the Impeachment 'tis faid, that this noble
Lord did, in or about the Months of September,
OSiober or November, 1715, together with the others
in the Impeachment nam'd, traiteroufly compafs
the Death of his moft facred Majefty : That this

noble Lord did, in or about the faid Months, or

fome of them, together with the reft, agree and
confederate to levy War, againft his Majefty : That
in or about the faid Months, or fome of them, this no-
ble Lord with others did levy War, and did march
thro' feveral parts of the Kingdoms, and did pro-

claim the Pretender to be King: And that on or

about the Ninth, Tenth, Eleventh, Twelfth, or

Thirteenth of the faid November, the noble Lord
with others did feize and poffefs themfelves of die

Town of Prejlon, and fought againft his Majefty's

Forces.

This is die Effect of the Impeachment.

And with great Submifllon I take it, that in

Point of Law, the Impeachment is defective in

refpect of the Uncertainty of the Time when
this Treafon is faid to have been committed.

I humbly apprehend, that the Honourable the

Houfe of Commons is the Grand Inquefl of the

whole Nation ; and that their Impeachment is in

Nature of an Indictment, found by that Grand
Inquefl : Differing from an Indictment in thisRe-

fped, that an Indictment is found by the Inquefl:

of a County only ; but an Impeachment by the*

Grand Inquefl of the whole Kingdom.

And,-
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And taking it, that Impeachments are properly

to be refembled to Indictments.

Then as the omitting of the laying of a certain

Day when the Treafon was committed wou'd be

a material Fault in the Cafe of an Indictment ;

with great Submiffion, it is as material a Defect in

the Cafe of an Impeachment.

It feems plain, that in the Cafe of an Indict-

ment, a certain Day ought to be laid when the

Treafon was committed.

It will, I believe, hardly be denied, but that

in Cafe of an Indictment for Treafon, it wou'd be

ill, if 'twere laid, that the Party indicted com-

mitted the Treafon on or about the firft of Sep-

tember, 1715-

It wou'd be apparently worfe, if 'twere laid in

an Indictment, that the Party committed the

Treafon in or about the Month of September, 1 7 1 5,

It wou'd be ftill worfc (becaufe more uncertain)

if it were laid in an Indictment, that the Party

committed the Treafon in or about the Months of

September, October or November, 1 715.

And, with great Submiffion, this, as I humbly

take it, is the very Cafe before your Lordfhips •,

I mean, taking it, that Impeachments and In-

dictments, as to the material Paris of them, are

to be meafured by the fame Rules of Law, as I

humbly conceive they ought to be.

That the certain Day, for the committing the

Treafon, ought to be laid in Cafe of Indictments

for Treafon, feems to be proved, not only from

the conftant Practice of laying a Day certain in all

Indictments of Treafon ; but from the Reafon of

the Law, which fhews it to be a Subftantial and

Material Part of the Indictment.

That the conftant Practice, in Cafe of Indict-

ments for Treafon, is to lay the Day on which

the Treafon is fuppofed to be done, will, as I pre-

fume, be admitted.

And fuch conftant Practice is, of itfelf, a ftrong

Argument that the Law requires it.

But I humbly take it, that the Reafon of the

Thing argues ftill much ftronger for me, and

fhews it to be an effential Part of the Indict-

ment.

The Reafon of mentioning a Day certain in the

Indictment when the Treafon is fuppofed to have

been committed, is in fome Rtfpects even for the

Benefit of the Crown itfelf, and in fome Refpects

for the Advantage of the Party indicted.

It concerns the Crown, in refpect of the For-

feitures accruing to the King, of the Lands of

the Party indicted •, for where an Attainder en-

fues upon an Indictment for Treafon, the Lands
of the Party indicted are forfeited to the Crown,

not only from the Judgment, but from the Day
mentioned in the Indictment when the Treafon

is charged to have been committed.

This is exprefly faid, in the Lord Coke's 1 Infi,

13. a. b. 390. b. and the Difference there taken

is, between a Writ of Appeal and an Indictment.

'Tis there faid, That if a Man be indicted for a

capital Offence and out-law'd upon it, the Land of

the Party is forfeited from the Day laid in the In-

dictment, for the committing of the Treafon, or

other capital Crimes ; but in the Cafe of an Out-
lawry upon a Writ of Appeal, becaufe no Day is

mentioned in the Writ, the Forfeiture is only from
the Judgment.
And though in the Cafe of a Writ of Appeal,

which is called in Latin (Breve) from its Brevity,

no Day is mention'd, yet in the Declaration upon
Vox.. VI.

51
the Appeal (which refembles an Indictment) 'tis

neceffary not only to mention the Day, but even
the Hour when the Murder or Felony was com-
mitted.

In the Cafe of Wilfon againft Law, which was
adjudg'd in the Court of King* s-Bench, in the fixth

Year of Kng William and Queen Mary, in an
Appeal of Murder, an Exception was taken to

the Appeal that it was too uncertain, in regard the

Murder was laid to be done, circa horam primam

pofi meridiem, and this Incertainty even of the

Hour was much inliftcd upon : But this, 'tis true,

was at length over-rul'd, and held that circa ho-

ram primam, or inter horam primam & fecundam^

was well enough.

However no one, as I humbly apprehend, ever

doubted, but that laying of a cercain Bay when
the Fact was committed, is necei'lary both in the

Caie of an Indictment, and in a D^cl '.ration upon
an Appeal ; and that as to the Land of the Party

indicted, the: Forfeiture relates to the Day men-
tioned in the Indictment.

But, if tne Queftion were afk'd in the prefent

Cafe, from what Day the real Eftate of this un-

happy Lord fhould be forfeited, it wou'd, as I

humbly apprehend, be difficult to anfwer it.

And that Difficulty ariles from the Incertainty

of the Impeachment, as to the Time when the

Fact was committed.

If then the laying in an Indictment the certain

Day when the Treafon was committed concerns

the Benefit of the Crown, as it furely does

;

If it entitles the King to the Forfeiture of the

Lands from the Day laid in the Indictment, as

from the Authorities I have mentioned it appears

to do •,

If this Matter concerns that great Prerogative

and Flower of the Crown, and its Right to For-

feitures ;

Then furely this Omiffion can by no means
be called a flight Omiffion, or a Fault in Form
only.

It will alfo have its Weight with your Lord-
fhips, That the mentioning a Day certain in the

Indictment, when the Crime is laid to have been

done, is likewife for the Benefit of the Party in-

dicted. 'Tis for his Advantage to know the Time
when he is charg'd to have committed the Offence,

and by that he will be the better enabled to defend

himielf againft the Accufation.

It is a known Rule in Law, that in all Cafes of

Indictments, (though for Mifdemeanors only)

they ought to be ftrictly certain.

This Rule holds a fortiori in Cafes of Indict-

ments for capital Offences

;

And ftill, a fortiori, in Cafes of Indictments for

High-Treaibn, where for Example fake the Judg-
ment, though juft, is as terrible as can well be

thought of.

My Lords, I am fenfible I ought to have too

great a Value for your Lordfhip's Time, to cite

any of thofe numerous Cafes in the Law-Books,

which juftify that known Rule in the Law that re-

quires Certainty in Cafes of Indictments.

I fhall only beg leave to mention to your Lord-

fhips one Cafe, which is an Authority of your

Lordfhips, upon a Writ of Error bciore your

Lordfhips, which fhews how ftrict the Law is in

the penning of Indictments for Treaibn •, and that

it requires that even what feems to be Matter of

Form only in fuch Indictments muft be complied

with. It is the Cafe of the King againft Tucker,

H 2 which
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which was in the fixth Year of King William and

Queen Mary, and is reported in Serjeant Le-

<vinz, 3. Rep. 396. where 'Tucker was indicted for

Treafon, and in the Conclufion of the Indictment

it was not faid to be contra allegiantia fua debiturn;

and upon this Indictment Tucker was attainted,

and his Lands forfeited to the Crown, and after-

wards purchas'd under the Attainder ; but after-

wards this Attainder was revers'd in a Writ of

Error in the King's-Bench upon very great De-

bate, for want of thofe Words in the Indictment,

contra allegiantite fu<e debitum, and upon a Writ

of Error before your Lordfhips the Judgment of

Reverial was affirmed, by which means a Pur-

chafer under the Attainder loft the Eftate.

With Submiffion, this Cafe is much ftronger

than the principal Cafe now before your Lord-

fhips.

In that Cafe it might with feeming Reafon be

objected, that the Word (Proditiore) which is al-

ways in the Body of every Indictment, fhews and

neceffarily implies, that the Treafon committed

was againft the Party's Allegiance, for elfe how
cou'd it be Proditiore ?

Alfo in that Cafe the Treafon is fet forth at

large in the Indictment, together with the Over-

Act, which demonjlrates that the doing this muft

be againft the Party's Allegiance.

But all this would not maintain the Indictment,

in regard Indictments for Treafon were always

laid to be againft the Party's Allegiance.

And if the conftant Forms of Indictments be

an Argument,

'Tis as ftrong a one for us in the prefent Cafe

;

for I believe there never was an Indictment with-

out mentioning the Day when the Fact was com-
mitted.

Neither, with Submiffion, is this Matter of

Form only, but 'tis the fubftantial Part of the

Indictment, in regard in this Point the King is

interefted in refpect of the Forfeiture, and the

Party in refpect of his Defence.

It will, I humbly prefume, hardly be expected,

from us, that we fhould cite Precedents of Im-
peachments, efpecially if 'twere known what few

Hours Notice we had of attending your Lord-

fhips in arrefb of Judgment.

However, I will beg leave to mention one Cafe

of an Impeachment frefh in your Lordfhips Me-
mory, Dr. Sacbeverell's Cafe.

Dr. Sachevereil was impeach'd before your

Lordfhips by the Honourable Houfe of Com-
mons, for feditious Expreffions in two Sermons,

the one preach'd at Derby Affizes, and the other

at St. Paul's,, London ; and in that Impeachment
the precile Days are laid when the Doctor preach'd

each of thefe two Sermons.

And I humbly take it, that by a like Reafon

a certain Day ought to be laid in the Impeach-

ment, when this Treafon was committed ; and

that the Authority of Dr. Sacheverellh Cafe feems

fo much ftronger than the prefent Cafe in que-

ltion, as the Crime of Treafon is higher than

that of a Mifdemeanour.

My Lords, I have nothing elfe to fay on be-

half of this unhappy Lord ; unhappy, as being

in that doubtful State of Memory, not infance

enough to be within the Protection of the Law,
nor at the fame time fance enough to do himfelf

in any refpect the leaft Service whatever.

Here the Managers gave fome Interruption

to the Council.

Lord High-Steward. Mr. Williams, [ apprehend
the Reafon why the Managers of the Houfe of
Commons appear uneafy with you, is, that you
are going into a Matter of Fact, and which you
have not leave to fpeak to ; you muft therefore

confine yourfelf to the Point of Law that was
ftated.

Mr. Williams. My Lords, I fhall take up no
more of your Lordfhip's Time ; but humbly
hope that the Cafes of Indictments are parallel

with thofe of Impeachments;
That, as in an Indictment for Treafon, the

want of laying a Day when the Treafon is charg'd

to have been committed, is a manifeft Error

;

That as the conftant Forms of Indictments are

fo;

That as the Reafon of the Law requires they

mould be fo ;

So for want of this Certainty in this Impeach-
ment, we with great Submiffion infift that the

Impeachment is defective

:

And therefore pray that the Judgment againft

this unfortunate Lord may be arretted.

Mr. Walpole. TV /[Y Lords, the Commons have
_LVA attended to the Objection

made by the Council on the Part and Behalf of
the Noble Lord at the Bar, and they humbly con-
ceive thofe learned Gentlemen feem to forget in

what Court they are. They have taken up fo

much of your Lordfhips time in quoting of Au-
thorities and ufing Arguments to fhew your Lord-
fhips what would quafh an Indictment in the

Courts below, that they feem to forget they are

now in a Court of Parliament, and on an Im-
peachment of the Commons of Great-Britain.

For fhould the Commons admit all that they have
offered, it will not follow that the Impeachment
of the Commons is infufficient •, and I muft ob-
ferve to your Lordfhips, that neither of the

learned. Gentlemen have offered to produce one
Inftance relating to an Impeachment, I mean,
to fhew that ever the Sufficiency of an Impeach-
ment was called in queftion from the Generality

of the Charge, or that any Inftance of that Na-
ture was offered at before. The Commons don't
conceive, that if this Exception would quafh an
Indictment, it would therefore make this Im-
peachment infufficient ; nor do they think it ne-
ceffary, in Juftice to the Noble Lord at the Bar,
that a certain Day fhould be mentioned in the Im-
peachment. They don't think, from the Nature
of this Crime, and the Evidence that has been
given, that there can be any Hardfhip for want
of fixing a certain Day on which the Treafon was
committed. What he is charged with, is being
concerned in a moft notorious Rebellion. The
Time mentioned in the Impeachment is the
Months of September, Oclober, and Novetnber,
and particularly the Ninth, Tenth, Eleventh,
Twelfth, and Thirteenth Days of November. He
is charged with being concerned from the Time
that he left his own Houfe, to the Time he was
taken at Prefton ; and it hath been proved, I be-

lieve, in a more ample Manner than ever any
Crime of the like Nature hath been. And how
can this Noble Lord fuffer becaufe no particular

Day is mentioned, after he continu'd in Rebellion
for fo many Days and Months, and marched
through fo many Counties ? It is impoffible to

conceive he can fuffer from any Uncertainty in the

Charge, in not having a particular Day fixed.

But,
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But, my Lords, the Commons think themfelves

fufficiently juftified, and their Impeachment fup-

ported by a Precedent I have in my Hand, the

Trial of my Lord Stafford, who was tried for

High-Treafon, and was executed for the fame.

And I obferve that he had Council, and it appears

he ofFer'd fome Things in Arreft of Judgment

;

and altho' it will appear that the Time was more

uncertain in that Impeachment, yet that was ne-

ver attempted to be ofFer'd in Arreft of Judgment.

In his Cafe the Words of the Articles of Impeach-

ment are, that for divers Years laft paft a dam-

nable Contrivance and Confpiracy had been form'd

and carried on, that is juft as thefe Articles are

;

and when they come to the particular Charge, all

that is laid is, That within the Time aforefaid,

csV. that is, fome Time within diverfe Years laft

paft ; but this Impeachment is fo far from being

uncertain, that the Commons have named three

Months, in which the Treafon charged in the Im-

peachment was committed ; and in the Precedent

it is only laid, Within fome of the Years laft paft;

fo that here the Commons are fufficiently juftified

in the Articles exhibited by them, by the Prece-

dent I have mentioned ; and there Judgment

paffed, and nothing of this Nature was offered in

Arreft of Judgment. I hope this will fatisfy your

Lordfhips, that this Impeachment is fufficient,

notwithftanding this Objection ; and I hope it will

never be allowed here as a Reafon, that what

quafhes an Indictment in the Courts below, will

make inefficient an Impeachment brought by the

Commons of Great-Britain.

Mr. Attorney-General ~K
f%
Y Lords, the Coun-

VI cil for the Prifoner

have made two Objections, as I apprehend, in

Point of Law, which I would give a fhort An-

fwer to, without taking notice of the other Mat-

ter which was fpoke to by one of the Gentlemen,

contrary to the Orders of the Houfe.

The Firft Objection is, That there is no certain

Day charged in the Impeachment, when the Trea-

fon was committed.

The Second is, that as to feveral of the Overt-

Acts there is no Time mentioned at all.

I would follow the Steps of the learned Gentle-

man who fpoke before me, and I think has given

a good Aniwcr to thefe Objections : I would take

notice, that we are upon an Impeachment, and

not upon an Indictment. The Courts below have

fet Forms to themfelves, which have prevailed

for a long Courfe of Time, and thereby are be-

come the Forms by which thofe Courts are to go-

vern themfelves ; but it never was thought, that

the Forms of thofe Courts had any Influence on

the Proceedings of Parliament. In Richard the

Second's Time it is faid in the Records of Par-

liament, That Proceedings in Parliament are not

to be govern'd by the Form, of Weftminfter-Hall.

I beg leave to take notice, in Anfwer to this

Objection, that tho' it is the ufual Form in the

Courts below to alledge a certain Day on which

the Crime is charged to be committed, yet at the

fame time they add (and at divers other Days and

Times) and that Day which is laid, is only for

Form fake •, but that Day is not material, they

are not bound to prove the Crime committed on
that Day, but they may prove the Defendant
Guilty at any Time, either before or after the

Duty laid in the Indictment. There has been pro-

duced by the Honourable Gentleman who fpoke

5}
before, a Precedent in Parliament much ftronger

than this Cafe, it is the Cafe of the Lord Stafford;

there is not fo much Certainty as there is in this

Impeachment. Here it is faid, That on or about
the Months of September, OStober, or November,
or on or about one of them, the Crimes charged
in the Impeachment were committed ; but all that

is faid in my Lord Stafford's Cafe is, That there

had been for many Years then laft paft a dam-
nable Confpiracy carried on •, and when they came
to charge the noble Lord with particular Facts,

there is no Time mentioned at all.

One of the Gentlemen cited another Cafe in

Parliament, which was Dr. Sacheverell's Cafe:

There was in that Cafe an Exception taken to the

Impeachment for Uncertainty : and it was faid

and argued from the Forms of the Courts in

Weftminfter-Hall, that where Indictments were

for Words fpoke or writ, the Words muft be laid

as they were fpoke or wrote ; and the Opinion of

the Judges was, that it was neceffary according to

the Forms of the Courts below, but it was re-

folved to be otherways in the Court of Parlia-

ment, and they were not bound but by their own
Forms ; fo that upon this Head we apprehend we
are clear of the Forms of Law in the Courts be-

low, and that they are of no Ufe, fince if a cer-

tain Day is laid, they are not by Law bound to

prove the Crime committed on that Day, but

may prove it upon any other Day.

The Second Objection is, That there is no Time
laid for fome of the Overt-Acts.

I think there is a certain Day charged when one

of them was done, the feizing of Prefton ; and
in the inferiour Courts it has been held, that it is

not neceffary there mould be a Day and Place al-

ledged for every Overt-Act.

We think this Objection has no Weight in it,

and therefore would not fpend more of your Lord-
fhips Time in it •, we are in the Cafe of an Im-
peachment, and in the Court of Parliament. Your
Lordfhips have already given Judgment againft

Six upon this Impeachment, and it is warranted

by the Precedents in Parliament ; therefore we
infill that the Articles are good in Subftance, and

according to the Forms of Parliament.

Mr. Cotvper. *~r* H E Objection, as ftated by

JL the Prifoner, and upon which

his Council have argued, is this, That the Time
of the Treafon committed is not laid in the Im-

peachment with fufficient Certainty. The Coun-

cil have acquainted your Lordfhips with the Pra-

ctice of inferior Courts, and have infifted too

much upon the Precedents of Trefpaffes and other

Crimes fet forth in Indictments, confidering the

Queftion arifes upon the Ufage and Practice of

the High-Court of Parliament; and they cannot

but know that the Ufages of Parliaments are Part

of the Laws of the Land, altho' they differ in

many Inftances from the Common Law, as pra-

ctifed in the inferior Courts, in Point of Form.

My Lords, if the Commons, in preparing Ar-

ticles of Impeachment, fhould govern themfelves

by Precedents of Indictments, in my humble O-
pinion they would depart from the ancient, nay,

the conftant Ufage and Practice of Parliament.

It is well known that the Form of an Impeach-

ment has very little Refemblance to that of an

Indictment: and I believe the Commons will en-

deavour to preferve the Difference, by adhering

to their own Precedents.

One
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One of the learned Gentlemen has faid that he

had not time to fearch Parliamentary Precedents :

That Gentleman leldom wants time to make him-

felf ferviceabie to his Clients ; but when he has

more leifure, I believe he will not find one Pre-

cedent, where, in the cafe of an Impeachment of

High-Trtafon, there hath been a certain Day or

Time laid when the Treafon was committed.

The Precedent that hath been mentioned of my
Lord Stafford is directly otherwife : There your

Lordfhips will find it laid thus, that for many

Tears lafi pafi there has been contrived and car-

ried on by Papifts a traiterous and execrable Con-

fpiracy. And afterwards when it comes to charge

the Treafon and Overt-Acts, it alledges they were

done and committed within the time aforefaid. And
yet we don't find any Exception was taken for

want of Certainty, although not fo much as a Year

was laid with Certainty, within which the Trea-

fon was committed.

In the Cafe of my Lord Wintoun the Commons

have charged, that his Lordfhip, together with

James Earl of Derweniwater, and feveral others,

as falfc Traitors to his Majefty, did, in or about

the Months of September, Ofiober, or November,

171^, traitercufty imagine and compafs the. Death

of the King: Tnat his Lordlhip and the reft, to

accomphfh their faid traiterous Purpofe, did, in

or about the faid Months, or fome of them, con-

fpire and agree to levy War within this King-

dom, in order to depofe and murther his Ma-

jefty : That his Lordfhip did, within the time

aforeiaid, traiteroufly levy a War and Rebellion

in the Bowels of the Kiogdom ; and that he to-

gether with his Accomplices and Confederates,

did, on or about the Ninth, Tenth, Eleventh,

Twelfth, or Thirteenth of November aforefaid,

traiteroufly feize and poflefs themfelves of the

Town of Prefton; and did then and there caufe

and procure a miferable and horrid Slaughter and

Murther of many of his Majefty's faithful Sub-

jects. So that, my Lords, here is a Certainty

not only of the Year, but of the Months and

Days ; and the Treafons committed by the Pri-

ibner are, with Submiflion, not only charged

with Certainty as to the Point of Time, but are

charged with a great, deal more Certainty than

was neceffary, in a Cafe where his Lordfhip's

Treafon began at Seatcn Houfe, and continued

from thence till the Surrender at Prejlon.

Surely there is not the leaft Weight in the Pri-

foner's Objection ; for even in the Cafe of an In-

dictment, though it be neceff.try to lay a Day, yet

it is not neceffary to prove the Treafon to be

done upon that Day : So that even in inferior

Courts it is an immaterial Form. One would

think, if it be necefiary to aflign a Day certain,

it fhould be necefiary alio to prove the Treafon

to be done upon that Day ; but it is not requifite

to prove the Treafon upon the Day ; therefore in

inferior Jurifdictions it feems rather a Form than

Subftatice. The Courts below have, it's true,

their Forms, many Forms for which no Reafon

can be given ; but I believe in Parliamentary

Proccfs, nothing is necefiary that is not ma-
terial.

Sir W. Thomfon. "A /¥Y Lords we humbly ap-

-.VX prehend that the Excep-
tion taken in Arreft of Judgment has no Foun-
dation in Law or Reafon.

As to the Law, we muft refer to the Forms of

Proceedings in the Court of Parliament, which
is the Law of Parliament, and which muft be
owned to be Part of the Law of the Land. It

has been mentioned already to your Lordfhips,

that the Precedents in Impeachments are not fo

nice and precife in Form as in the inferior Courts ;

and we prefume your Lordfhips will be governed
by. the Forms ofyour own Court, (efpscially Forms
that are not eflential to Juftice) as the Courts be-

low are by theirs •, which Courts differ one from'

the other in many Refpects as to their Forms of
Proceedings, and the Practice of each Court is

efteemed as the Law of tnat Court.

As to the Reafons alledged to fupport the Ex-
ception, they will receive a plain Anfwer.

'Tis faid, that 'tis necefiary to alledge a cer-

tain Day in an Impeachment when the Fact was
committed, that the Defendant may be able to

make his Defence, that he may produce Wit-
nefies to give an Account where he was at the

time he is accufed to have been guilty. And one
of the learned Council was pieafed to fay, that

this is requifite in Indictments for the fmalleft

Offences, and ought to, be much more fo in ca-

pital Cafes, and in Impeachments for fo high a
Crime as Treafon. My Lords, that Gentleman
knows very well, that the Day which is mention'd
in an Indictment is not material to the Purpofe
of making a Defence as to that Time only, for

that the Defendant muft come prepared to give

an Account of his Innocence all the Time between
the Day alledged and the Indictment found. And
in this Cafe there is no Hardfhip on the Noble
Lord at the Bar. Here is one of the Treafons
alledged to be within the Compafs of Five Days
(viz. the feizing of Prefion, levying War there,

and enaging the King's Troops.) if he could

have given an Account of himfelf to have been

eHewhere at thofe times, it might have been of
Service to him : But that happened Very unfor-

tunately for him to be otherwife ; and your Lord-
fhips have found him guilty of thofc Facts on or
about thofe Five Days : Which nas created a fe-

cond Reafon to be offered to your Lordfhips,

that the Time alledged is not fufficiently certain

(viz.) To what Day fhall the Forfeiture of the

Defendant's Eftate relate ? If 'tis taken the moft
favourably for the Defendant, the Conviction

fhall operate fo as to make the Forfeiture only

from the laft of thefe Days, and I don't appre-

hend any other Inconvenience. But to infer that,

for that Reafon, no Judgment at all fhall be given

upon this Conviction, where the material, the

fubftantial Part of the Iffue is found, feems not

to be right Confequence.

My Lords, we conceive for thefe Reafons,

and what has been mention'd before, this Excep-
tion has no Weight in it, and hope your Lord^
fliips will over rule it.

L. H. Steward. Gentlemen of the Houfe of

Commons, I fuppofe you don't oppofe the Coun-
cil's replying to you ; afterwards, if you have

any thing to offer you may be heard to it.

Alt. Gen. My Lords, we don't object to it,

if the Commons have the Liberty of fpeaking

afterwards and clofing, which they infift upon
as their Right.

L. H. Steward. Gentlemen, you may reply.

Sir C. Phipps. Is it your Lordfhips Pleafure-

that we reply ?

L, H. Steward. You may reply.

Sir



1 7 1

5

1

* H*X- for High-Treafon,

Sir C.Phipp. ][ F your Lordfhips pleafe, we
JL do not, with great SubmifTi-

on, apprehend they have anfwer'd our Objection •,

but before I take notice of the Anfwers, I beg

leave to kt the learned Gentleman that fpoke laft

right in one thing, wherein he did mifapprehend

me : He was pleafed to fugged that I faid the

Day laid in an Indictment was material. I don't

remember I faid fo, for I never thought the Day
fo material, that there was a Neceflity to prove

the Treafon to be committed upon that very

Day ; I did fay there ought a certain Day to be

alledged in Indictments, and that there always

is; but how material that Day is, when alledged,

is another Confideration •, but I conceive the Day
laid in an Indictment, ought to be very near the

time, if not upon the very Day the Treafon is

fuppofed to be committed, for the Reafons I have

before offered j and I take conftant Practice to

be fo. I perceive all the Gentlemen who have

fpoke in Anfwer to me have been pleafed to ad-

mit, that in Indictments for Treafon and other

capital Offences, there is a certain Day always

alledged. The honourable Gentleman that fpoke

firft, was pleafed to make a Difference between

an Indictment and an Impeachment : That an

Impeachment is a Parliamentary Proceeding, and

that the Parliament in their Proceedings are not

tyed up to fuch ftrict Forms as the Courts below.

I have already fpoken fully to this Point, and

therefore fhall not trouble your Lordfhips with

any Repetition, but fubmit to your Lordfhips

Judgment, whether an Impeachment, by which

a Noble Peer is to be attainted, ought not to be

as certain as an Indictment, by which a Com-
moner is to be attainted, and whether by the Lex
Parlimentaria as much Certainty is not required

in one Cafe as in the other. The fame Gentleman
was pleafed to obferve, that the Impeachment in

my Lord Stafford's Cafe was more general than

this, for there it was charged, that for many
Years laft paft there had been a Confpiracy to

alter and fubvert the Government, &fa In anfwer

to which I beg leave to take Notice, that the Im-
peachment of that Lord begins with an Account
of the Plot in general, and in that Cafe there is

no doubt but fuch a general Allegation was fuffi-

cient. But whether the particular Part, which

my Lord Stafford had in that Plot, be not more
certainly alledged ; I muft beg leave to refer to

the Trial, for I cannot take it upon my Memo-
ry to fay one way or other. But whether it was

fo or no, I think is not material ? for that honou-

rable Perfon admits, that no Objection was made
to that Impeachment for the Uncertainty of the

Charge : If fuch Objection had been made and
over- ruled, it would have been a full Anfwer to

us ; but fince no Notice was taken of it, our Ob-
jection is as ftrong and of the fame Force as if that

Cafe had never happened.

A learned Gentleman of great Eminence in the

Law was pleafed to obferve, that frequently in

Indictments for Treafon, the Offence is laid to

be committed, diver/is aliis diebus & vicibus,

which is true ; but then in all fuch Cafes there is

a particular Day firft charged in the Indictment

;

and I believe that learned Gentleman, or any
other of the long Robe, will not fay that an In-

dictment conceived in fiich general Terms, with-
out alledging a particular Day, would be good.

' As to that Part of the Impeachment which re-
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lates to the taking of Prefton, tho' that feerns

more certain than any other Overt-Act
-, yet I have

fhewed that the Words or about, leave at large,

and render it uncertain.

My Lords, this is what we humbly offer by
way of Reply •, and humbly fubmit to your Lord-
fhips Judgment, whether our Objections are not

good, notwithftanding what has been faid in An-
fwer to them.

Mr. Williams. ~\ /T Y Lords, I muft fubmit it

TV J. to your Lordfhips, whe-
ther the learned Managers have anfwer'd the Ob-
jection which we have humbly laid before your
Lordfhips in Arreft of Judgment.
The Managers are pleafed to object, that we

are attempting to quafh an Impeachment of the

Honourable Houfe of Commons for High-Trea-
fon, and that this has not been known.

But, my Lords, with great Submiflion, we are not
endeavouring to quafh this Impeachment. We are

fbfar from it, that we muft admit that the Courts

of Kings-Bench will not quafh Indictments for Trea-
fon, nor Indictments for Felony, nor even Indict-

ments for any grofs Mifdemeanours, but will put

the Party to plead to fuch Indictments ; but in the

prefent Cafe, where the Matter in Iffue has been

try'd, and the unhappy Lord is convicted ; if this

Impeachment be defective, as I humbly hope and

infift it is, then what other Way, what other

Method has this unfortunate Lord at the Bar to

take Advantage of this Defect, but by offering

it to your Lordfhips in Arreft of Judgment,
which on my Lord's Behalf we now humbly do ?

It feems admitted, as I apprehend, that had
the prefent Queftion been upon an Indictment,

inftead of an Impeachment, that then the Ex-
ception might have prevailed : But the Managers
are pleafed to infift, that the Law and Courfe of

Parliaments juftify this Omiffion in Cafe of Im-
peachments ; and for this an Honourable Mana-
ger has been pleafed to cite the late Lord Stafford's

Cafe ; and that the Impeachment of that Lord
was more uncertain, as to the Time laid for the

committing the Treafon, than the Impeachment
now before your Lordfhips.

My Lords, I muft confefs I am very unfit to

anfwer an Objection of this Nature, and which
concerns the Courfe of Parliaments : But wou'd
beg leave, with the greateft Submiflion, to ob-

ferve, that only one Precedent (I beg Pardon if

I miftake, I mean that of the late Lord Stafford)

has been cited againft us : It muft be fubmitted

to your Lordfhips, how far that one fingle Pre-

cedent will of it felf be taken as a Proof, that this

is the Courfe and Cuftom of Parliamentary Im-
peachments, efpecially when it appears that the

Objection now made, was not made in that Cafe.

It muft be fubmitted to your Lordfhips, whe-

ther repeated and iterated Acts are not requifite

to prove this, as well as all other Cuftoms ; and

that if this were Lex C5* Confuetudo Parliament/,

whether it wou'd not be an eafy Matter to cite

many Inftances in that Behalf, and whether it is

not the more neceffary in this Cafe to cite farther

Precedents, in regard the fingle Cafe of the Lord

Stafford may feerri, as to this Point, to have loft

fome Part of its Force, by the later Precedent of

Doctor Sacbeverell's Cafe, when even in Cafe of a

Mifdemeanour, a certain Day is laid in the Im-

peachment when the Mifdemeanour is charged to

have been committed.

Ic
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It has been alfo objected by the learned Mana-

gers, that in Indictments of High-Treafon, it is

ufeally charg'd, that the Party committed the

Treafon divcrfis diebus & vicibus, which is as un-

certain as the prefent Impeachment.

My Lords, It is very true that theft: Words

(diverjis diebus & vicibus) are as uncertain as the

Words in the prefent Impeachment ; and that

thefe Words are ufually put into Indictments':

Bat with Submiffion, it is as true, that in all In-

djdtments for Treafon, over and befides thefe

Words, there is a certain Day laid when the

Treafon is laid to be committed •, and I v/ould

beo- leave to know, whether if in Cafe of an In-

dictment, the Treafon were laid to be commit-

ted diver/is diebus & vicibus, without any further

Certainty as to the Day, whether this wou'd not

be ill for the Uncertainty : And this Cafe, with

Submiffion, feems to come neareft to the prefent

Cafe ; and as to the Words diverfis diebus &? vi-

cibus, tho' they are frequently mentioned in an

Indictment, yet they are only Surplufage, and

the Indictment good, whether with 'em, or with-

out 'em.

It is likewife objected, that if a certain Day for

the committing this Treafon had been mentioned

in this Impeachment, or in an Indictment, yet it

had not been material •, becaufe if the Treafon

had been proved to have been committed on any

other Day, the Party mufthave been found guilty ;

and therefore, if the Day be immaterial, the

omitting of it muff be alfo immaterial.

My Lords, I mull admit that the Day, as to

the Party indicted, is not in this refped fo far

material, but that if it Ihou'd be prov'd that the

Party committed the Treafon on a different Day,

than that laid in the Indictment, yet the Party

muft be found guilty : And that it might put too

great a difficulty on fuch Profecution, to hold,

that if the Treafon be not proved to be commit-

ted on the precife Day laid in the Indictment,

that therefore the Party, who appears ftill' guilty

of the Treafon, fhou'd upon the nicety of the

time be found not guilty •, but what I humbly in-

fifc on is, that 'tis the conftant Courfe to men-

tion a Day certain in the. Indictment ; and that

the Day thus mention'd in the Indictment is, as

I believe, generally the very Day on which the

Treafon is infifted on to be committed ; and to

know this, is, with Submiffion, of great ufe to

the Party indicted or impeached, and may very

much affift him in his Defence. And I farther

humbly infift, that the mentioning of a Day cer-

tain in the Impeachment or Indictment for the

committing the Treafon, is manifeftly for the

Advantage, and the omitting it, is to the Preju-

dice, of the Crown ; in regard, as between the

Party impeached or indicted, and the Crown, the

Forfeiture of the Land to the King fhall relate to

that Day which is laid in the Impeachment or In-

dictment.

My Lords, from hence, with the greatefi De-

ference to your Lordfhips, I beg leave to infer •,

That the mentioning of a Day certain in the

Impeachment, is material :

That by Conlequence the Omiffion of it is alfo

material ;

That therefore in refpedt of this Omiffion, the

Impeachment is defective •,

And in regard of this Defect I humbly pray

that your Lordfhips wou'd be pleafed to arreit ths

Judgment.

Mr. Attorney General. ~\ /T Y Lords, for pre-

JLVJ ferving the Rights

of the Commons of Great-Britain, I fhall trouble

your Lordfhips with a Word or two.

I think the learned Gentlemen have left it now
where they left it on their firft Speech : They
now agree that the particular Day in an Indict-

ment is but Form, and that the Fact f may be

proved any Day before or after, and fo the Law
is in the inferior Courts.

I only add this, that the Prifoner lofes no Be-

nefit nor gets any, by having a Day charged or

omitted -, for fince it is of no ufe, he muft pro-

vide for his Defence as if no Day was laid ; and

fince it is immaterial in Indictments, it muft be

fb in Impeachments. We are juftified by the

Forms and Precedents of Parliament. As to the

Anfwer given to my Lord Stafford's Cafe, that

this Objection was not made there, but that it

part fub filentio : If that Impeachment had not

been thought good, we know he had the Affift-

ance of learned Council, who were well able to

advife him, and who certainly would have taken

the Exception. There is no uncertainty in it

that can be to the Prejudice of the Prifoner, we
infift it is according to the Forms of Parliament,

he has pleaded to it, and your Lordfhips have

found him guilty.

L. H. Steward. My Lord Wintoun, your Coun-
cil have been heard, hath your Lordfhip any

thing more to offer in Arreft of Judgment?
L. Wintoun. If your Lordfhip will be pleafed

to afk the Council, they will tell you what they

have to object.

L. H. Steward. My Lord, you have been told

again and again upon this Occafion, that the

Point you would have your Council fpeak to

muft be firft ftated and propofed by your felf

;

you have had a fufficient Opportunity to inform

your felf.

L. Wintoun. Since your Lordfhip won't allow

my Council, I don't know nothing.

Lord Stamford moved to adjourn.

L. H. Steward. I once more acquaint your Lord-

fhip, that as your Council have been allowed to

fpeak ; fo the Quefbion yet is, whether you have

any other Point or Matter for them to fpeak to ;

the Lords are ready to hear : Have you any thing

elfe to propofe ?

L, Wintoun. If you will allow my Council to

anfwer, he will anfwer.

L. H. Steward. My Lords ! Is it your Lord-

fhips Pleafure to adjourn to the Chamber of Par-

liament?

Lords. Ay, ay.

Then the Houfe was adjourned about three of

the Clock, and about five returned again, and

Proclamation was made for Silence as ulual.

f~>Eorge Earl of'Wintoun, I haveL. H. Steward.

already acquainted you, that

your Peers have found you Guilty, (i. e.) in the

Terms of the Law, convicted you of the High-

Treafon whereof you ftand impeached.

After, your Lordfhip has moved in Arreft of

Judgment, and the Lords have difallow'd that

Motion ; their next Step is to proceed to Judg^

ment.

The
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The melancholy Part I am to bear in pfonOun-

cbo- that Judgment upon you, fince it is his Ma-
i..iLy's Plcafure to appoint me to that Office, I

dutifully fubmit to it ; far, very far, from taking

any Satisfaction in it.

'Till Conviction, your Lordfhip has been fpoke

tp withput the leaft Prejudice, or Suppofition of

your Guilt ; but now it muft be taken for granted,

that your Lordfhip is guilty of the High-Treafon

whereof you ftand impeached.

My Lord, this your Crime is the greater!

known to the Law of this Kingdom, or of any

other Country whatsoever : And it is of the black-

eft and mpft odious Species of that Crime ; a

Confpiracy and Attempt manifefted by an open

Rebellion, to depofe and murder that facred Per-

fon, who fuftains and is the Majefty of the whole ;

and from whom, as from a Fountain of Warmth
and Glory, are difperfed all the Honours, all

the Dignities of the State, indeed the lafting and

operative Life and Vigour of the Laws, which

plainly fubfift by a due Adminiftration of the ex-

ecutive Power.

So that attempting this precious Life, is really

linking at the moft noble Part, the Seat of Life

and Spring of all Motion in this Government ;

and may therefore properly be called a Defign to

murder, not only the King, but alfo the Body-

Politic of the Kingdom.
And this is moft evidently true in your Lord-

fhip's Cafe ; confidering that Succefs in your

Treafon muft infallibly have eftablifh'd Popery ;

and that never fails tp bring with it a Civil, as

well as Ecclefiaftical Tyranny ; which is quite

another Sort of Conftitutipn than that of this King-
dom, and cannot take Place, 'till the prefent is

annihilated.

This your Crime (fo I muft now call it) is the

more aggravated, in that when it proceeds fo far,

as to take Arms openly, and to make an OfFen-

five War againft lawful Authority, 'tis generally

(as in your Cafe) complicated with the horrid and
crying Sin of murdering many, who are not only

innocent but meritorious.

And if Pity be due (as I admit it is, in fome
Degree) to fuch as fufter for their own Crimes -,

it muft be admitted, a much greater Share of Com-
panion is owing tp them, who have loft their

Lives merely by the Crimes of other Men.
As many as have fc done in the late Rebellion,

fo many Murders have they to anfwer for who pro-

moted it ; and your Lordfhip, in examining your
Confcience, will be under a great Delufion, if you
look on thofe who fell at Prejion, Dumblain, or

elfewhere, on the Side of the Laws, and in De-
fence of fettled Order and Government, as flain

in lawful War ; even judging of this Matter by
the Law of Nations.

Alas ! my Lord, your Crime of High-Trea-
fon is made yet redder, by fhedding a great deal

of the beft Blood in the Kingdom : I include in

this Expreffion the brave Common Soldiers, as

well as thole Gallant and Heroic Officers, who
continued faithful to Death, in Defence of the

Laws ; for fure but little Blood can be better

than that, which is fhed while it is warm in the

Caufe of the true Religion, and the Liberties of
its native Country.

Believe it, notwithstanding the unfair Arts and
Induftry ufed, to ftir up a pernicious Excefs of
Commiferation, towards fuch as have fallen by
the Sword of Juftjce, (&w, if compar'd with the

Vol. VI.

Numbers of good Subjects murdered from Doofs
and Windows at Prejion Pnlyj the Life of one
honeft loyal Subject is more precious, irt the Eye

:

of God, and allconftdering Men," than the Lives
of many Rebels and Parricides.

This puts me in mind to obferve to your Lord-
fhip, that

'

There is another Malignity in your Lordfhip's

Crime (open Rebellion) which confifts' in this j

that it is always fure of doing Hurt to a Govern-
ment in one RefpecY, though it be defeated \ (I

will not fay it does lb on the whole Matter.)

For the Offence is too notorious to be let pafs

unobferved, by any Connivance : Then is a Go-1

vernment reduced to this Dilemma ; if it" be not
punifhed, the State is endanger'd, by fuffcring

Examples to appear, that it may be attack'd

with Impunity ; if it be punifhed, they" who "are

publicly or privately Favourers of the Tfeafori

(and perhaps fome out of meer Folly) raife uri-

deferved Clamours of Cruelty againft thofe in

Power ; or the loweft their Malice flies, is, to

make unfeafonabfe, unlimited, and injudicious

Encomiums upon Mercy and Forgivenefs (Things

rightly ufed, certainly of the greateft Excel-

lence.)
'

And this Proceeding, it muft be admitted,

does fome Harm, with filly undiftingui'fhing

People.

So that Rebels have the Satisfaction of thinking

they hurt the Government a little, even by their

Fall.

The only, but true Confolation every wife

Government has in fuch a Cafe (after it has tem-

per'd Juftice with Mercy in fuch proportion as

found Difcretion directs, having always a Care of

the Public Safety above all Things) is this

;

That fuch like Seeds of unreafonable Difcon-

tents, take Root on very fhallow Soil only ; and

that therefore, after they have made a weak
Shoot, they foon wither and come to nothing.

It is well your Lordfhip has given an Opportu-

nity of doing the Government right, on the Sub-

ject of your Surrender at Prejion.

How confidently had it been given out by the

Faction, that the Surrender was made on AfTu-

rances, at leaft Hopes infinuated of Pardon :

Whereas the Truth appears to be, that Fear was

the only Motive to it 5 the evil Day was deferred ;

and the Rebels rightly depended, fewer would die

at laft by the Meafures they eltdted, than if they

had flood an Affault : They were aw'd by the ex-

perienced Courage, Difciphne, and Steadinefs of

the King's Troops ; and by the fuperior Genius

and Spirit of his Majefly's Commanders, - over

thofe ' of the Rebels ; fo that in truth they were

never flatter'd with any other Terms, than to fur-

render, as Rebels and as Traitors ; their Lives

only to be fpar'd till his Majefly's Pleafure fhould

be known.
It was indeed a Debt due to thofe brave Com-

manders and Soldiers (to whom their King and

Country owe more than cart be well expreiTed)

that their Victory fhould be vindicated to the

prefent and future Ages from untrue Detraction,

and kept from being fullied by the Tongues of

Rebels and their Accomplices, when their Arms
could no longer hinder it.

'Tis hard to leave this Subject without fhortly

obferving, that this Engine which fets the World
on fire, a lying Tongue, has been of prodigious.

ufe to the Party of the Rebels, not only fir.ee

'

I and
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and during the Rebellion, but before, while it

was forming, and the Rebels preparing for it.

Falfe Facts, falfe Hopes, and falfe Characters,

have been the greater half of the Scheme they fet

out with, and yet feem to depend upon.

It has been rightly obferved, your Lordfhip's

Anfwer does not lb much as infift, with- any Clear-

nefs, on that, which only could excufe your be-

ing taken in open Rebellion ; That you was forc'd

into it, remain'd fo under a Force, and would have

efcaped from it but could not.

If you had fo infilled, it has been clearly prov'd',

that had not been true ; for your Lordfhip was

active and forward in many Inftances, and lb con-

fiderable in a Military Capacity among your Fel-

low-Soldiers, as to command a Squadron.

Thefe and other Particulars have been obferved

by the Managers of the Houfe of Commons, and

therefore I fhall not purfue them farther ;

But conclude this Introduction to the Sentence,

by exhorting your Lordfhip, with perfect Cha-

rity, and much Earneftnefs, to confider, that now
the Time is come when the Veil of Partiality

fhould be taken from your Eyes (it muft be fo

when you come to die) and that your Lordfhip

ihouid henceforward think with Clearnefs and In-

difference (if poffible) which muft produce in you

a hearty Dcteftation of the High Crime you have

committed, and being, a Proteltant, be very likely

to make you a fincefe Penitent, for your having

engaged in a Defign, that muft have deftroyed

the Holy Religion vou profefs, had it taken

Effect.

Nothing now remayis % but that I pronounce

upon you that Sentence which the Law ordains,

and which fufficiently fhews, what Thoughts our

Anceftors had, of the Crime of which your Lord-

fhip is now convicted : viz.

sacitaKSi

it

<:<.

That you George Earl of Wintoun return to
" the Prifon of the Tower from whence you
" came •, from thence you muft be drawn
" to the Place of Execution; when you
" come there, you muft be hang'd by the

Neck, but not till you be Dead ; for you
muft be cut down alive, then your Bowels
muft be taken out, and burnt before your
Face ; then your Head muft be fever'd

from your Body, and your Body divided
into four Quarters ; and thefe muft be at
the King's difpofal.

And God Almighty be merciful to your
Soul

!

Serjeant at Arms, O Yes ! Our Sovereign Lord
the King ftrictly charges and commands all man-
ner of Perfons to keep Silence, upon Pain of Im-
pnfonment.

Then the Lord High Steward flood up unco-
ver'd, and declaring there was nothing more to
be done by vertue of the prefent Commiffion,
broke the Staff, and pronouncTd it diffolv'd : And
then leaving the Chair, came down to the Wool-
pack, and laid, Is it your Lordfhips Pleafure to
adjourn to the Houfe of Lords ?

Lords. Ay, ay.

And then the Houfe adjourned to the Cham-
ber of Parliament, and the Lords and others re-

turned in the fame Order they came down.

The Earl of Wintoun was carried back to the
'Tower, from whence he afterwards made his

Efcape.

CLXXXVIL The Trial of Francis Francia a Jew at the

Old-Bailey, for High-Treafon, Jan. 22. 1 7

1

6, 3 Geo. I.

RANC IS Francia having been for-

merly arraigned upon the Indictment

found againft him for High-Treafon,

and having pleaded Not Guilty, was

on Tuefday the 2 2d of January

brought to the Bar to receive his Trial.

Clerk of Arraignments. You the Prilbner at the

Bar, thefe Men that you fhall hear called, and

pcrfonally appear, are to pafs between our Sove-

reign Lord the King and you, upon Trial of

your Life and Death. If therefore you will chal-

lenge them, or any of them, your Time is to

challenge them as they come to the Book to be

fworn, and before they be fworn.

CI. of Arr. Sir Dennis Dutry, Bart.

Prifoner. Are you a Freeholder in this City ?

Sir Dennis Dutry. Yes.

Sir J. Jekyll. My Lord, we that are Council

For the King, defire, that thofe who are called may
be afked that Queftion ; Whether they have Free-

hold (or Copyhold) of Ten Pounds per Annum, or

not ; before they are fworn in Chief ?

Mr. Att. Gen. We fuppofe
Sir^WAW%;

tne Prifoner will afk that Que-
ftion ; and therefore we defire that it may be

afk'd of every one as they come to the Book.

Mr. Ward. It is a Challenge on both Sides.

L. C. Baron. They ou°;ht to be c . a, „
-

, ,
. •'. ^» _. bjr 'lbomas Bury.

Iworn whether they have a Free-

hold or not, if they would excufe themfelves.

Mr. Hungerford. I have nothing to offer againft

it. In cafe the King's Council think fit to pro-

ceed in that Method, we concur in it. I fhould

have mov'd it myfelf, if they had not.

Mr. Att. Gen, It was in the Trial of the Re-
bels.

Prifoner. He has had a Quarrel with me ; and

there was a Suit depending between us about fevers

Years ago : And I challenge him for Caufe.

Mr. Att. Gen. He may challenge him peremp-

torily, if he will. But if he challenges him for

Caufe he muft prove it.

Prifoner. Sir Dennis will not deny it.

L.C.
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L. C. Baron. If you challenge him, you muft

prove your Challenge. Do you challenge him

for Caufe, or peremptorily ?

Prifoner. For Caufe.

L. C. Baron. That which you afiign is no Caufe.

'Then Sir Dennis was [worn upon a Voir Dire,

with refpecl to his Freehold ; as all the others

were, before they were either challenged, or

fworn in Chief.

Sir J. Jekyll. Sir, have you a Freehold in this

City?
Sir D. Butry. Yes.

Sir J. Jekyll. To what Value ?

Sir D. Dutry. About Ten Pounds a Year.

Prifoner. My Lords, there has been a Suit de-

pending between us.

Mr. Alt. Gen. If they talk of a Suit, they muft

prove it by Record.

Prifoner. His Name is Dennis ; and they have

given me a Pannel with barbarous Latin. In my
Copy of the Pannel, he is return'd by the Name
of Dionyjius ; that is not the fame Name.

Mr. Ward. The Prifoner obferves, that in the

Pannel he is return'd by the Name of Dionyjius,

when his Name is Dennis.

Sir J. Jekyll. He is to have a Copy of the

Pannel ; but it is not to be put into Englijh for

him.

Mr. Ward. But we fay, that is not Latin for

Dennis.

Sir J. Jekyll. Sure no one will argue, but that

Dionyjius is the proper Latin Name for Dennis.

L. C Baron. You offer no Caufe of Challenge.

Prifoner. I hope I prove his Name is return'd

in the Pannel Dionyjius.

L. C. Baron. It is fo ; and that is Latin for

Dennis.

Prifoner. No, it is not. Dennis is a Saint in

France, and Dionyjius is a Saint in Italy, They
are two different Names, and of different Coun-

tries.

L. C. Baron. Dionyjius is Latin for Dennis. If

they don't challenge him peremptorily, he muft

be iworn.

Prifoner. I alledge, that we fell out about feven

Years ago : And that his Name is not Dionyjius,

as it is wrote in the Pannel. And in my former

Pannel he was put down Knight, and in this Baronet.

L. C. Baron. Thefe Things are nothing, ex-

cept the Suit ; and that you muft prove.

Mr. Hungerford. As to the Diftinction of the

two Saints, I do not meddle in it. But I fuppofe

Sir Dennis can tell whether he is a Knight or a

Baronet. But as to the Saints, whether the No-
minal ones Abroad, or the Pretended ones at

Home, I let them alone.

Prifoner. You allowed this Challenge the laft

Time.

Mr. Att. Gen. You challeng'd him perempto-

rily.

Mr. Ward. He was ftiled Knight in the laft

Pannel.

L. C. Baron. That don't appear to us. You
muft either challenge him peremptorily, or he

muft be fworn.

Prifoner. I muft do what you order ; but I

think it very hard. Then I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. Sir John Scott, Knt.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. Sir Daniel Wray, Knt.

Prifoner. I don't except againft him.
Then he was fworn.

Vol. VI.

CI. of Arr. Sir W. Chapman, Kt,

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Ci. of Arr. Jofeph Webb,

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Ci. of Arr. Robert Adams.

Prifoner. Was you upon the Grand Jury, that

found the Indictment againft me ?

Mr. Adams. No.
Prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. Robert Ajhurjl.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. Jofeph Bifhop.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. Thomas Boucher.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. Jofeph Brook/bank.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl.bf Arr. Nicholas Benoift.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. John Child.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. Jofeph Chamberlain.

He was fworn.

CL of Arr. John Cafebert.

Prifoner. He was upon the Grand Jury tha£

found the Bill againft me ; and I challenge him for

that Caufe.

Cl of Arr. Robert Wood.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. Ifaac Cailovell.

Prifoner. He don't write his Name as it is in

the Pannel. I could never find this Gentleman
out by all the Enquiry I could make.

L. C. Baron. What is the Miftake ?

Prifoner. It is wrote in the Pannel v Confonant,

and he fpells his Name with a w. And it is in the

Pannel a fingle /, and he writes it with double //.

Then Mr. Cailovel being ajk'd, faid he wrote

his Name with a v Confonant, as in the

Pannel ; but with a double 11.

L. C. Baron. Tnat don't alter the Pronuncia-

tion. It is the fame Name.
Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl- of Arr. Thomas Davis. He was fworn.

Cl. of Arr. John Dodfon, Elqj

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. William Dewick.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. William Dell.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. John Davis. He was fworn.

Cl. of Arr. Jofeph Emmes. He was fworn.

Cl. of Arr. John Farr. He was fworn.

Cl. of Arr. Thomas Gouge.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. Thomas Geering.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. Jofeph Goddard.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. Robert Gill.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of Arr. Henry Greenway.

Prifoner. I challenge him for Caufe. He is

returned upon the Pannel Greenway, and his

Name is Greenaway .• That is a different Name.
Sir

J.
Jekyll. How are you ufually called %

Greenway, or Greenaway ?

Mr. Greenaway. I am moft commonly called

Greenaway.

Then he was fet afide.

Cl. of Arr. John Glafbrook. He was fworn,,

Cl. of Arr. John Goodlad.

I 2 Prifoner^



187. The Trial of Francis Francia 3 G. I.60
Prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. John Gore.

Prifoner. I challenge him,

CL of Arr. Henry Ankey.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CL of Arr. Lawrence Hatfell.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. Robert Hackfhaw.

prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. Benjamin Hooper.

prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. Jonathan Hicks.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. Jeremiah Jennings.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. 'Thomas Jordan.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CL of Arr. William Kent. He was fvvorn.

CI. of Arr. Richard Levitt, Efqj

Prifoner. I don't except to him.

Sir J. Jekyll. I challenge him for the King.

CL of Arr. James Lamb.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of Arr. Thomas Lingard. He was (worn.

Cl.of Arr. Stephen Lee. He was fworn.

CL of Arr. John Lane, Efqj

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CL of Arr. John Lane.
_

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CL of Arr. Richard Lindfey.

Prifoner. I don't except to him.

Sir J. Jekyll. I challenge him for the King.

CL of Arr. John Mahew. He was fworn.

CL of Jr. Henry Mattett. He was fworn.

Then they were counted •, and the Twelve fworn

were Jurors.

Sir Daniel Wray, Kl

Jofeph Chamberlain,

Thomas Davis,

John Davis,

Jofeph Emmes,

John Farr.

John Glafbrooh

William Kent.

Thomas Lingard.

Stephen Lee.

John Mahew.
Henry Mallet.

Then Proclamation was made, as is ufual in

thofe cafes.

Prifoner. I pray that George Flint, a Prifoner in

Newgate, may be fent for ; and may be near me
during my Trial.

L. C. Baron. What is he in Newgate for ?

Prifoner. For a Fine.

L. C. Baron. Then he may be fent for.

Which was done accordingly.

CL of Arr. Francis Francia, hold up your Hand.

Which he did..

Gentlemen, you that are fworn, look upon the

Prifoner, and hearken to his "Caufe.

HE ftands indicled by the Name of Francis

Francia, of London, Merchant : For that

he bein% a Subjetl of our mojl Serene Lord George
King of Great Eritain, France and Ireland, De-

fender of the Faith, &c. not having the Fear of God

in his Heart, nor weighing the Duty of his Allegi-

ance ; but being moved and feduced by the Inftiga-

tion of the Devil, as a falfe Traitor againfi our faid

Lord the King, his fupreme, true, natural, law-

ful, and undoubted Lord ; withdrawing that cordial

Love, and true and due Obedience, Fidelity and

Allegiance, which every Subjetl of our faid Lord the

King towards him ought to bear ; and defigning and

traiteroujly intending, the Government of thefe King-

doms, under our faid Lord the King duly and hap-

pily efiablifhed, to change and fubveri ; and our

faid Lord the King from the Tide, Honour, Royal

Eftate, Empire and Government of thefe Kingdoms

to depofe ; and our faid Lora the King to Death

and final Deftruclion to bring ; and the Perfon in

the Life of King James the Second, pretended to be

Prince of Wales, and after the Death of the faid

late King pretending to be, and taking upon himfelf

the Stile and Tide of King of England, by the Name
of James the Third, to the Crown, Royal Eftate,

and Dignity of King, and to the Government of this

Kingdom to advance : The Firft Day of September

in the Second Tear of the Reign of our faid Lord the

King, and at ftveral Days and Times as well before

as after, falfly, malicioujly, devilifhly, and traite-

roujly did compafs, imagine and intend, our faid

Lord the King, now and then his fupreme, true,

natural, lawful and undoubted Lord, from the Ti-

tle, Honour, Royal Eftate, Empire and Govern-

ment of thefe Kingdoms, to depofe and to Death

and to final Deftruclion to put and bring ; and the

faid Perfon, in the Life of the faid King James the

Second, pretended to be Prince of Wales, and fince

the Death of the faid late King pretending to be, and

taking upon himfelf the Stile and Title of King of

England, by the Name of James the Third, to the

Crown, Royal Eftate and Dignity of King, and to

the Empire and Government of this Kingdom, to ex-

alt. And that he the faid Francia, to accomplifh

and bring about the faid Treafon, and traiterous and

devilifh Intention, did traiteroujly meet, propofe, con-

fult, confpire, and agree with divers other Traitors,

to the Jurors unknown, to raife Infurreclion, Rebel-

lion and War within this Kingdom, againjl cur faid

Lord the King, and in Favour of the faid Perjbn,

in the Life of the faid King James the Second, pre-

tended to be Prince of Wales, and fince the Death

of the faid late King taking upon himfelf the Stile and

Title of King of England, by the Name of James
the Third. And that he the faid Francis Francia,

for the more eff.clual compleating and perfecting the

faid Treafon and Traiterous Intention, did propofe,

confult, confpire and agree with divers other Trai-

tors, to the Jurors unknown, to require, follicit and

procure, from divers Foreigners, and others, in the

Kingdom of France, Arms, Ammunition and Money,

to ajjift and help in the faid War. And that he the

faid Francis Francia did traiteroujly compoje and

write, and caufed to be compofed and written, feveral

traiterous Letters, notifying the Intentions and Refolu-

tionsofhim thefaidErancis Francia, and thefaid other

Traitors, to move and levy thefaidWar ', and requiring

Aid in thefaid War, of thefaid Foreigners, and other

Perfons then in France. And the faid Lettersfo com-

pofed and written, and caufed to be compofed and writt-

en, did traiteroujly fend, and caufed to be fent to Parts

beyond the Seas, to be delivered to the faid Foreigners,

and other Perfons in France, and caufed andprocured

them to be delivered accordingly ; againft the Duty of
his Allegiance, againft the Peace of our faid Lord the

King, his Crown and Dignity, and againft the Form

of the Statute in that Cafe made andprovided.

Upon this Indictment he hath been Arraigned
and hath thereunto pleaded Not Guilty : And for

his Trial hath put himfelf upon God and his Coun-
try ; which Country you are. Your Charge is to

enquire, whether he be guilty of this High-Trea-
fon whereof he ftands indicled, or not guilty ? If
you find that he is guilty, you are to enquire what
Goods or Chattels, Lands or Tenements, he had

at
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at the Time of the High-Treafon committed, or

at any Time fince. If you find him Not Guilty^

you are to enquire whether he fled for it. If you

find that he fled for it, you are to enquire of his

Goods and Chattels, as if you had found him

cruiky : If you find him not guilty, nor that he

did fly for it, you are to fay fo, and no more;

and hear your Evidence.

Mr. Cowper, Jun. "\ yTAY it pleafe your Lord-

IV 1 fhip, and you Gentle-

men that are fworn: The Prifoner at the Bar,

Francis Francia, flands indicted of High-Treafon ;

in intending to alter and fubvert the Government

of thefe Realms, happily eftablifh'd under his Ma-
jefty King George ; to depofe his Majefty, to

bring him to Death, and to place the Pretender

upon his Throne.

The Indictment fets forth, that for this Pur-

pofe the Prifoner, the Firft of September, in the

Second Year of the Reign of his prefent Majefty,

and at feveral other Days and Times, at London

in your County, traiteroufly compaffcd and ima-

gined, to depoie and kill his moft Sacred Majefty,

and to place the Pretender on his Throne.

And that for the more effectual performing fuch

his Intentions, he did meet, propofe, confult and

agree with feveral other Traitors, to raife Rebel-

lion and War within this Kingdom, againft his

Majefty, and in favour of the Pretender. And
that he did follicit Men, Arms and Ammunition,

from certain Foreigners and others in France, to

aflift him in that Rebellion. And that he did

write and caufe to be written feveral Letters, in-

timating this Refolution, and requefting the Af-

fiftance of fuch Foreigners and others.

The Indictment charges further, that he wrote

and compofed fuch Letters, and caufed them to

be wrote and compofed ; and procured them to be

fent and deliver'd for that Purpofe. And this,

Gentlemen, is laid to have been by him done,

contrary to the duty of his Allegiance, againft the

Peace of our Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown

and Dignity, and againft the Form of the Statute

in that Cafe provided.

Gentlemen, to this Indictment the Defendant

has pleaded that he is Not Guilty. If upon calling

our Evidence for the King, we fhall prove this

Cafe upon him •, it will become your Duty to find

him guilty of the Charge.

Sir J. Jekyll. A T AY it pleafe your Lordfhip,

jLVl and you Gentlemen of the

Jury, I am of Council with his Majefty : And,
Gentlemen, it is my Part to open to you the Sub-

ftance of the Charge againft the Prifoner at the

Bar-, and the Nature of the Evidence we fhall

offer to prove that Charge.

The Prifoner ftands indicted of the firft Species

of High-Treafon, mentioned in that antient Sta-

tute 25 Edv\ III. that is, compaffing and ima-

gining the Death of the King.

The Overt-A6ls alledged in the Indictment, to

manifcft that traiterous Defign of the Prifoner,

are three

:

He is charged with confulting and confpiring,

with other Traitors, to levy War againft the

King, in favour of the Pretender to his Majefty's

Crown

:

With confpiring and agreeing to follicit and
procure Affiftance, from Foreigners and others

in France, to carry on that War

:
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And further* with writing traiterous Letter^

notifying his and his Accomplices Refolution to

Levy that War ; and requiring the before-men-
tioned Affiftance ; and fending thofe Letters into

foreign Parts for that Purpofe.

Thefe are undoubted Overt-Acts of the High-
Treafon charged upon him.

To make good this Charge, we fhall fhew,
that about three or four Years fince, there was a
Correfpondence begun between the Prifoner and
Abbot Butler, an Ecclefiaftic of Cambray, That
Correfpondence began on the Occafion of a Law-
Suit in England; wherein one Mrs. Butler, a Re-
lation of that Abbot, was concerned ; which was
recommended to the Prifoner's Care. But fome
Time after (a Gentleman, whofe Name it will be
neceffary to mention in the Profecution of this

Caufe) Mr. Harvey of Combe took upon him to

make ufe of that Correfpondence, in order to

tranfinit and receive Letters to and from that Ab-
bot; and alfo to the Duke PyAumont, by the

means of the Prifoner.

Mr. Harvey, for fome time, made ufe of the

Prifoner only to convey thofe Letters forward and
backward, under the Prifoner's Cover, directed

to one D'Aulmay, alias Payen ; who had married
a near Relation of the late Duke of Ormond; to

be communicated by D'Aulmay to the Abbot, or
the Duke D'Aumont. But it feems, the Prifoner

having gained a Knowledge of the Tendency of
Mr. Harvey*& Correfpondence, (which was a trea-

fonable one) he himfelf foon after came to partake
of the Guiit.

As it was at firft a Correfpondence between the
Prifoner and the Abbot, and afterwards between
Mr. Harvey and the Abbot, under Covers; fo

afterwards, Mr. Harvey made ufe of the Prifoner
himfelf, to correfpond with D'Aulmay. And in

thofe Letters you will find, that the Prifoner does
not enter into the Correfpondence as a Matter that

he was tranfacting as only for Mr. Harvey, but
fhews a great Concern in ic himfelf : He is im-
portunate for Affiftance to the late Rebellion from
France ; Impatient for its Coming, and Anxious
for the Succefs.

The Evidence we fhall offer to you, to fhew
that this Correfpondence was thus carried on, will

be this.

Informations being given to a Noble Lord,
(then Secretary of State) of a treafonabje Corre-
fpondence being carry 'd on by Mr Harvey, by
means of the Prifoner; there was a Warrant iffued

to take the Prifoner, and feize his Papers. And
upon the Execution of that Warrant, Letters di-

rected to the Prifoner, and his Copy-Book of the
Letters wrote by himfelf, and an Original Letter

of Mr. Harvey's, were found in the Prifoner's

Cuftody, and will be produe'd to you ; and thefe

were own'd and admitted by the Prifoner.

The Letters themfelves plainly fpeak the Na-
ture and traiterous Effect of this Correfpondence
begun by Mr. Harvey, and carried on with the

participation of the Prifoner. And Gentlemen,
my Lords the Judges will te{l you, that it is not

couching fuch a Correfpondence in the Cant of a
Law-Suit, (as in the prefent Cafe) or otherwife,

that will fcreen an Offender from Public Juftice,

in cafe a traiterous Correfpondence can be made
manifeft. If that would evade the Juftice of the

Law, it would be impoflible for Traitors to be

brought to Punifhment. But that which puts

this out of all doubt, is, that the Senfe which is

put
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put on thefe Letters by us, and by the Indict-

ment ; that very Senfe, or Conftruction, has been

put upon them by the Prifoner himfelf. For we
ihall lay before you the Examination of the Pri-

foner before the Secretary of State. In that he

admits, that the Subject-Matter of the Letters

wrote by D'Aulmay to him, to be communicated

to Mr. Harvey, was the Defign of the "Pretender's

Invading the Dominions of his Majefty. And
thofe Letters being one Side of the Correfpon-

dence, (I mean that which came from Abroad)

ferves to evince or demonftrate the other Part or

Side of the Correfpondence, which came from

hence.

I fhall not enter into the Particulars of the Let-

ters ; or ftate and reafon upon Matters in writing*

without having them firft read, whereby to lay a

Foundation for Obferving upon them. But the

Letters will be read to you: And we who are

the King's Council, don't defire you to put any

forc'd or ftrain'd Conftruction upon them. Nay,
we defire you to put no other Conftruction upon
them, than what the Prifoner himfelf has done

already.

I (hall fay nothing to you, Gentlemen, to ag-

gravate the Nature of the Offence. I rather chufe

to appeal to your Judgments, than to excite your

Paffions.

All that is defired of you, is, to give your

beft Attention to the Evidence ; and to do Juftice,

and difcharge your Confciences.

Mr. Jit. Gen. TV/TAY it pleafe your Lord-

IVJL fhips, and you the Gentle-

men of this Jury; I am alfo of Council againft

the Prifonei' at the Bar. The Indictment has been

at large opened and explained by Mr. Serjeant

Jekyll. The Prifoner is charged with High-
Treafon, in comparing and imagining the Death
of his Majefty, in order to fet the Pretender on
the Throne. The Overt-Acts laid, are confpiring

to levy that War and Rebellion that broke out

lately ; and in applying to Jliens, and others in

France, for Men and Money for carrying it on.

It is notorious, that Preparations were making
many Months for the Rebellion that broke out

in Scotland, September, 1J15. under the Earl of

Marr; and in Northumberland in Oilober after,

under Mr. Fcfttr ; and the like were defign'd at

Oxford, Bath, &c. mOclober, 17 15. And Men
were lifted and fent down for thofe Purpofes •, as

hath appear'd on the Trials of the Perlbns who
have fuffer'd for thofe Treafons.

The Conspiracy was carry'd on with great Se-

crecy : And tho' it had been long in agitation in

favour of the Pretender ; yet was not publicly

known, till his Majefty (upon the 20th of July
17 1 5) was pleafed to acquaint his Parliament,

that he had certain Notice of the Pretender's De-
fign to Invade this Kingdom ; and that at the

fame time there were great Preparations here to

affift that intended Invafion.

The Defendant lives in Plow-Yard in Fetter-

Lane, and goes for a 'Jew. When the Duke D'Ju-
mont, as Ambaffador from the French King, in

the Year 17 13. was here, the Prifoner came ac-

quainted with the Abbot Butler, called the Vidame
of Cambray , and from that time he correfponded

with him. The Abbot had a Relation of his

Name, Barbara Butler, who had a Suit at Law
depending here, which he recommended to the

Care of the Prifoner ; and that I believe might

be the beginning of the Correfpondence between

them. There is a Gentleman that has been named,

Mr. Harvey of Combe; he alfo then contracted

an Acquaintance and Familiarity with the Duke
D'Aumont, and Abbot Butler, and correfponded

with both. Thefe Correfpondencies firft began

in the Queen's Time, and appear to have been

carried on with great Secrecy and Caution, which

induce a Belief they were then Criminal ; but I

don't mention this, as if what was done in the

Queen's Time would affect the Prifoner upon this

Indictment, for it is laid only for Treafon com-
mitted againft the King. Thefe Correfponden-

cies were carried on, from the going away of the

Duke D'Aumont, till the Prifoner was feized,

which was occafioned in this Manner.

My Lord Townfhend, then Secretary of State,

was diligent in his Enquiries, and on the 1 6th of
September, 1*115. had a private Information given

him, that Letters conftantly came by the Port

from France, to Francia, and Mr. Harvey -, from

the Duke D'Aumont, and Abbot Butler, and one

Payen alias D'Aulmay de Coulange ; and that the

Subject of the Letters related to the Pretender,

and that intended Invafion.

His Lord was cautious, and did not imme-
diately feize the Prifoner, but ftaid the coming in

of two Pofts from France, and gave Orders for

flopping all Letters directed to the Prifoner, to

fee what further Difcovery they would make, and
having received further Information by thofe Let-

ters, on the 19th of September, 17 15. his Lordfhip

made his Warrant to Jofeph Smith, one of the

MefTengers, to apprehend Francia, and feize his

Papers. He having received the Warrant, went,

together with Wilcox another Meftenger, (who is

fince dead) to the Defendant's Houfe, and there

feized his Perfon, and at the fame time his Copy-
Book of Letters. And it is extraordinary to find

therein entred the Copies of any Letters relating

to a Matter of this Nature. When they feized

that Book, he told them there was nothing in it,

and that it was only his Copy-Book of his Letters

to his Correfpondents. They feized alfo fevcral

Original Letters, wrote from France to him by
D'Aulmay alias Payen, which will be read to you.

They then feized alfo in his Cuftody an Original

Letter of Mr. Harvey's to Abbot Butler, dated

January 9. 17 14. which was lent to Francia to

be tranfmitted beyond Sea ; but it feems Francia

opened it out of Curiofity, or by Accident, and

kept it. In it were Figures for Names and Things,

which he well underftood. The Prifoner was on
September, 22, 17 15. examined before both Secre-

taries of State, and the Copy-Book of Letters was

fhewn him, and he owned it to be his Book,
wherein he entred the Letters of his Correfpon-

dency, and that the Entries were made by himfelf

or his Son. D'Aulmay's Letters were alfo fhewed

to him, and he owned that they were thofe that

he received, and were found in his Cuftody.

He at firft feemed to be open and ingenuous,

and the Secretaries of State then thought him to

be fo. He told them in particular when the Cor-

refpondence began, how long carried on by cover-

ing Mr. Harvey's Letters ; and when altered, and
the Correfpondence carried on only by Francia;

and that the Subject of the Letters wrote to him
by Payen, was, the Defign of the Pretender to in-

vade his Majefty's Dominions; and he named
Perfons, who were intended in them by initial

Letters of their Names or Titles, That M. H.
was
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was Mr. Harvey. My D D the Duke of Os-

mond; M B. Lord Bolinbrooke \ Dd, the Duke
jyAumont. He alfo explained Mr. Harvey's Let-

ter, and the Figures therein. That 22 was the

Duke D'Aumont; 6 the late French King; 17 the

?0ra.s- ; S the Pretender ; and 9 his Majefty King

George ; and figned his Examination, and was

lent back in the MefTenger's Cuftody. But it ap-

pearing after, on further perufing of the Letters,

that he had not been ingenuous, but had con-

cealed a great Part of what he knew, he was fur-

ther examined, and then changed his Note, and

thereupon was committed to Newgate.

He was here twice before, in Order to be tried;

the firft Time he was advifed by his Council, (and

he was in the Right to follow it, and take all the

Advantages the Law allowed him) to infift, that

in the Copy of the Indictment delivered to hirr^

there was a Miftake of an I for an A, and there-

fore he had not had a true Copy of his Indict-

ment ; and thereupon the Trial was put off. The
next Time he came, he made ule of another Pri-

vilege the Law allows him, and challenged fo

many of the Jurors, that there did not appear

befides enough to make a Jury. There were Ac-
cidents afterwards, which occafioned the putting

off the Trial twice by the King's Council, fome

of the Witneffes being abroad on his Majefty's

Service.

The Indictment charges the Prifoner with corn-

palling and imagining the Death of the King.

And its plain, a Confpiracy to levy War, to de-

throne or to deprive the King of his Liberty, is

an Evidence of imagining his Death ; for the War
neceffarily tends to that End. That this Tranf-

aclion which he was concerned in, was a Defign

to have a Rebellion raifed here, and to bring in

the Pretender, we don't doubt but we fhall give

you Satisfaction of, when we produce the Letters,

and you will obferve that the Prifoner hath fo ex-

plained them : And if he had not, every Body
muft fo underftand them.

The Correfpondence began in the Year 171 3,

and continued to the Time he was taken, which
was on September 19, 1715. And fo far we may
read the Letters in the Queen's Time, to fhew

the Nature and Beginning of it. At firft he car-

ried on the Correfpondence, only as a Correfpon-

dence between Mr. Harvey and Butler, by cover-

ing Mr. Harvey's Letters, and having the Anlwers

fent under Cover to him ; what he wrote in the

Covers, he has enter'd in his Book •, for Mr. Har-

vey was cautious not to let his Letters go openly

to and from him. And fo for a good while

Mr. Harvey's Letters were brought to Francia,

which he covered and directed to Butler or to

D'' Aulmay, fometimes by that Name, and lbme-

times by the Name of Pawn, and fometimes by
the Name of Coulange, which is a way ufed by
many in France, to take the Name of the Place

v/here they live inftead of their Sirname. While
the Correfpondence was carried on by covering

Letters, Francia in his Covers wrote thofe Mat-
ters that demonftrate he was privy to the Cor-

refpondence, and you will underftand it by Mr.
Harvey's Original Letter.

Mr. Harvey is not before the Court, and there-

fore we fhall not meddle with him more than is

neceflary, to fhew that while the Correfpondence

was carried on under Francia's Covers, Francia

well knew the Subject: Matter of the Correfpon-

dence, and many Times gave Cautions to have

to do with difcreet Perfons, and to make ufe of
People that do not babble.

The Correfpondence was carried on thus till

about June, 1715. and then the way of Cor-
refponding was changed. For Mr. Harvey was
advifed to be more careful, and not to write him-
felf ; but whatever was wrote, it was agreed fhould

be wrote to and by Francia. And fo the Cor-
refpondence was carried on between T¥Aulmay and
him, to the Time of the Prifoner's be irg appre-

hended. We have Entries of Letters of his for

a confiderable Time in his Copy-Book ; and it is

furprifing to me, and will be fo to every Man*
that a Man fhould enter Copies of Letters that

carry fuch an Evidence of Crimes in the Writer.

In one of the Letters enter'd in the Copy-Book,
he writes to D'Aulmay, dated April 7, 1715.
" to be cautious, to avoid giving Umbrage to

" thofe in Power •, and fays, when I have any
" thing particular to write to you, I will do it

" by a ftrange Hand, and will fign Jacques Chre-
" tien. Take notice of this, and provided you
" let me know you received this Letter without
" its having been opened, I fhall be eafy.

From that Time there is no Entry of Francia's

Letters in the Book •, but we have a Chain, of
Letters from that Time wrote by jyAulmay to

Francia, in Anfwer to Letters written by Francia

to him, wherein D'Aulmay takes notice, " That
" Francia in his Letters had complained that the
" Invafion was delay'd ; and reproach'd thofe in

" France with Backwardnefs, Neglect: and Indo-
" lence ; and the Caufe he knew of, would be
" undone for want of Care.

In the reading the Letters, we fhall firft pro-

duce that of Mr. Harvey, dated January 9, 17-fi.

to Abbot Butler : which was found in Francia's

Cuftody, with his Explanation of it ; by which
it will appear, he was fully acquainted with the

Subject: of the Correfpondence, while he cover'ct

Mr. Harvey's Letters : And after that we fhall

produce the Letters from and to Francia, in the

Order of Time they were written.

It is remarkable, that the Correspondence was
fo clofe, that fcarce a Poft palled without Letters

from the one or the other.

The firft of Mr. Francia's Letters that 'we fhall

produce, is dated March 44, 1 ?4t- He writes

to D'Aulmay ; " and defires to know what was
" in the Story of the Marriage between the Pre-
" tender, and one of the Arch-Dutchejfes. For
" it is effential to the Intereft of your Wife,"
She was a Butler.

D'Aulmay anfwers that, March 20. 17 15. and

writes, " that no mention was made of late of
" the Marriage of the Pretender : And that he
" was of Opinion, that would not be a fure Way
" to bring his Affairs to a happy Ifilie. But that

" a Party-War (that is, among ourfelves) would
" be much more to his Advantage.

March 10. Francia writes, " That there was
" a Letter from the Duke D'Aumont, which 'tis

" wifhed may fucceed better than the former;
" which have not been anfwer'd, tho' entirely for

" the Affairs. Befides I am (by the way) to tell

" you, that Perfons of 50 or 60 Thoufand Crowns
" a Year, can't with Prudence run the Hazard
" of lofing fuch Eftates, unlefs more Encourage-
" ment be given them. And that the Mislor-

" tunes of a certain Perfon are more owing to

" their being neglected on your Side of theWater,
" than to the Party that is againft him ; So that

" if
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" if this continue, your Wife muft lofe all Hopes."

This demonftrates, that the Matter follicited for

was criminal, for which the Pcrfons concerned

might forfeit their Eftates ; and is plainly a folli-

citing for Succours.

April 2. 1 7 15. D'Aulmay, in Anfwer to this,

writes, " He had communicated the Complaints

" in Francia's laft Letter to the Duke D'Aumont

;

" and was aflbred all fhould be mended.

March 1 j. 17-J4. Francia writes to D'Aulmay,

" He fhould be glad if he could find means to fa-

" tisfy Mr. Harvey That to deal with him
" as has been done, is no good Policy.

•Aprils. 1 7 1 5. Francia writes, to D'Aulmay, m
Anfwer to his of the 20th ; and tells him, " He
" is fatisfied; and confequently we are now to

" expect every thing from your Side the Water.

April 18. He writes again to D'Aulmay,
" That Affairs are here in fuch a Situation, that

" great Precaution muft be ufed, to avoid giving

" Umbrage to thofe who are in Power. When
" I have any thing particular to write to you, I

" will do it by a ftrange Hand, and will fign

" Jaques Chretien. Take notice of this : And
" provided you let me know you received this

" Letter, without its having been open'd, I fhall

" be eafy.

April'24. 1 7 15. D'Aulmay writes to Francia,

" That his Letter came fafe to Hand •, and bids

" him be eafy. If Mr. Harvey, in thefe trouble-

" fome Times, mould think fit to make ufe of

" Mr. Chretien, he may.

Thefe Letters of Francia's are entered in his

Copy-Book : But from this Time there are no

Entries in the Copy-B<5ok : Which is not to be

wondered at ; but rather that they were entered

fo long. But we have many Original Letters

from D^Aulmay ('alias Payen) to Francia ; which

appear to be Anfwers to Letters written by him :

And by what of them is repeated in the Anfwers,

it appears in his Letters, great Sollicitations were

for the Pretender's Coming, and great Uneafi-

nefs exprefs'd at the Delay. And therefore, to

quiet the Confpirators in England, D'Aulmay gives

frequent Aflurances that all Things were pre-

paring.

Augujl 7. 1 7 15. Which was after his Majefty

had notice of the Invafion defigned, and had ac-

quainted the Parliament with it ; D'Aulmay writes

to Francia : " You are in the Right to inveigh

. againft the Indolence you reproach us with ;

" but be perfuaded, 'tis only fo in Appearance.
" I even hope, that by this time you have con-
" vincing Proofs of it ; and that fuitable Re-
" turns are made to the good Difpofitions on your
c ' Side : And that at laft God, blefling the Juft
" Caufe of our Friend, will let him gain his Suit

:

" At leaft, AfTiftance and powerful Sollicitations

" fhall not be wanting.

This needs no Explanation. The Suit of their

Friend, appears plainly to be the Invafion of the

Pretender.

Augujl 10. 17 15. D'Aulmay, under the Name
of Payen, acquaints Francia, that he received his

of the 5 th Inftant. Says he, " Pray be eafy ;

*' before it be long you will be contented. The
*' Chief of the Name of our Friend the Abbot
" arrived here on Tuefday-N'ight in good Health.
' He is very well pleafed •, and has Reaibn to be
' fo. He is preparing to return Home with all

" Expedition \ and to take his Friends with him*
" to pafs the Vacation there. I am this Moment
". going to wait on him ; and defign to make
" One in the Voyage with him, or to be with
" him foon after his Departure.

Augujl 21. D'Aulmay writes again to Francia^

in Anfwer to two of his, of the 12th and 15th
Inftant •,

" Our Friend's Caufe will foon be ready
" fGod willing) to be tried : All Preparations
" are making for it. The Friend who is related

" to my Wife has read your two Letters, and is

" mightily pleafed with them.

Augujl 24. He writes again, " preffing him
" not to let a Poll go, without letting him know
" all that pafles relating to the Caufe of our
" Common Friend. And he takes notice, that

" he had been fo bufy, that he had not had time
" to write to Treacher*, but would do it fuddenly.

This fhews the difference between D'Aulmay's,

own Suit againft Treacher, and the Pretender's

Defign, which he calls the Caufe of their Common
Friend.

Augujl 28. D'Aulmay, under the Name of
Payen, writes to Francia, acknowledging the Re-
ceipt of his of the 22d Inftant ; and faith, " If
" I could venture to acquaint you with the Par-
" ticulars of all that pafles on the Affair which
" you know of, you would be more quiet than
tc you appear to me to be, and would accufe us
*' of Negligence lefs than you do. I know there
" are favourable Moments, which 'tis dange-
" rous to let flip. But will you not grant too,

" that 'tis the Part of Prudence to forefee all In-

" conveniences ; and to take proper and fuffi-

" cient Meafures to enable us to furmount" them
" all ? This is what we are doing : Be fatisfied

" of it : and that your Friends are more earneft
*' and ardent than ever, to procure you all the
" Satisfaction you can wifh. Have Patience
" therefore yet awhile.

September 3. Payen to Francia. " I received
" this inftant yours of the 29th paft. We have
" at laft the Misfortune to lofe the greateft of
" Kings. The German Journey might be very
" proper; I wifh it may be perform'd ; the ra-

" ther, becaufe for the Reafons that you know
" of. Our Preparations have been a little fu-

" fpended, but not at all broken ; Things go-
" ing on always better and better. My (a) D D
** and (b) M D are in a Houfe within half a
" League of this Town, which a private Perfon
" has lent them ; where they receive all their

" Friends, with whom they go to dine and fup
" every Day. They are both in perfect Health ;

" and think quite differently from what they are

" reported to think: That is to fay, they are

" what they ought to be •, you may aflure your
" Friends of this.

Septemb. 6. D'Aulmay writes to Francia ;
" I

" have juft now received your Letter of the fe-

" cond Inftant. I defire you to continue to write

" to me directly, and if you had fome trufty

" Hand, other than your own, and that of your
" Son, you would do well to employ it. I be-

" heve alfo, that a Cypher for the principal

" Names, (which you might fend me, and a
" Copy whereof you might keep to make ufe of
" yourfelf ) would be very neceflary : For I'll

" avow to you frankly, that this Precaution
" feems to me to be very neceflary.

(a) Duke of Ormond. (b) Lord Bolingbroke.

Sept,
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Sept. 14. DlAuhtayi under the Name of Payen,

writes to Francia ;
" The Contents of your lad

•' without a Date were very agreeable to me, as

*' well as to all our Friends, who give you Thanks
" for it. We knew already Part of what you
" tell us about the Caufe of our Friend ; which
* will foon end (pleafe God) to his Satisfaction,

*' or all Appearances would deceive. As to my
* c own Caufe, I can't help telling you that my
M Fate is very unhappy, to have to do with fo

" difhoneft a Man.
Here again he diftinguifhes between his own

Caufe, and the Caufe of their Friend the Pretender.

There cannot be any Doubt of the Subject of

this Correfpondence : Every Body that hears or

reads thefe Letters, muft underftand them to re-

late to the intended Invafion ; and if there were

any Doubt, (as there is not) Mr. Francia's Con-

feffion fufficientiy explains them.

It cannot be expected we can produce Mr.
Francia's Letters, to which the laft are Anfwers,

they being fent away by him to France; but we
infill that the Anfwers to them take notice of his,

and of the Contents of them, with their being

taken in his Cuftody, and owned by him on his

Examination, to be thofe he received ; and that

he knew the Defign of them to be, the Defign of

the 'Pretender to invade his Majefty's Dominions;

is a full and fufficient Evidence to prove the trea-

fonable Correfpondence charged in the Indictment.

The Secretary of State did right, in flopping

the Letters at the Pojl-Office, which were directed

to the Prifoner ; but thole Letters having never

been in the Prifoner's Cuftody, we fhall not offer

them in Evidence.

In one of them D'Aulmay complains, that the

Correfpondence was interrupted 3 and afterwards

in another to Francia's Son, he bewails his Fa-
ther's Misfortunes.

It can't be pretended that Francia was only a

Hand to convey Letters from one to another

;

and that the Correfpondence was only Mr. Har-
vey's ; and that Francia is only guilty of Mifpri-

fion of Treafon, in concealing the other's Trea-
fon ; for while he covered Mr. Harvey's Letters,

he alfo wrote in the Cover thofe Things that de-

monftrate he was acquainted with the Subject of
the Correfpondence, and affented to, and affifted

in the Treafon : And the Law is plain in Cafe of
High-Treafon, that he that knoweth it before it

be done, and afTenteth to it, is Particeps Criminis,

and guilty of the Treafon.

What he did was not in the dark, but know-
ingly and openly, and he expreffes himfelf con-
cerned that the Bufinefs went on no better : That
is making himfelf a Party and a Principal.

The Method of our Evidence will be this.

Thefe Letters and Copy-Book were feized by the
Meffenger, who brought them to Mr. JValpole,

Under-Secretary to my Lord Townfhend: They
were laid before the Prifoner, in the Prefence of
both Secretaries of State : He owned the Book to

be his Copy-Book of his Letters to his Correfpon-
dents; and the Letters fhewn him, to be thofe
he- received, and that were taken in his Cuftody,
and that that Correfpondence continued till the
Time of his being taken into Cuftody ; and that
th _• Subject whereof was the Defign of the Pre-
tender to invade his Majefty's Dominions. We
fhall for the better underftanding of them, firft

read his ConfciTion, and then the. Letters •, and
when we have done this, we do not doubt but
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you will be fatisfied, we fhall have fully pro-
ved the Charge laid in die Indictment againft

him.

My Lord, we will call our Wit- yohn Fortefcue
neiics. Set up Mr. Smith. Aland, E/qi
Then Jofeph Smith was fworn.

Mr. Soil. Gen. You was fent, I think, as a

Meffenger to Francia's Houfe : Pray give an Ac-
count of every Thing that paffed there.

Mr. Smith. My Lord, I have the Honour to

ferve his Majefty as one of his Meffengers : I was
appointed to attend the Secretaries Office that

Day, being my Day of waiting, which was Sep-

tember 19, 1715. I had a Warrant delivered to

me againft Mr. Francia, but it being late I did

not go to execute it that Night. The next Day
I went to his Houfe, in Plow-Yard in Fetter-Lane;

Mr. Wilcox, another Meffenger, went with me,
and went into the Houfe firft 5 he went up one
Pair of Stairs, and I ftaid below, and after he had
been up a little Time, he called me up, and told

me there was the Prifoner : He was then in Bed,

and there was a Woman with him he called Wife:
We told him, we had a Warrant againft him for

High-Treafon, and bad him get up. I afked him
if he had any Clofet ? And looking about, I faw

one by the Fire-Place : I opened it, and the firft

Thing I obferved over-againft the Clofet-Door,

upon a Shelf, was a Parcel of Letters lying open

in Folio; I faw they were in French, and directed

to the Prifoner, and upon the Dcfk there lay a

Paper-Book.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Look upon this Book ; is this

the Book ?

Mr. Smith. This is the Book ; it lay upon the

Dcfk, and I looked into it, and obferved this

Writing at the one End of it: He faid it was his

Son's Writing, and then I fhut it again. I open'd

the Defk, and looked over the Papers ; I found

there feveral other Papers and Letters folded up :

I took them out, and laid them upon the D.fk
by the others. Then I fearch'd the other Parts of

the Clofet, and laid all the Papers by the other

Letters. I defired then to go up Stairs, and I

did fo: And a Perfon I faw juft now in Court,

his Son, went with me ; and I fearched the Rooms
and Boxes, and found feveral other Papers, and
brought them down into the Chamber where the

Prifoner was, with Mr. Wilcox ; I put up all the

Papers together, and faid I had taken all Things

that I thought neceffary, and defired to be going.

The Prifoner defired to ftay and drink fome

Coffee; we did fo, and then brought him down
to a Houfe at Wefiminfter. We carried the Papers

to the Office, and dcliver'd them to Mr. Horatio

Walpole. When I was in the Chamber with him,

he leemed to be under a Concern when I put up
the Book ; and I afked him what that Book was ?

He faid it was the Book of his Correfpondence

abroad.

Mr. Att. Gen. Is this the Book ?

Mr. Smith. Yes.

Mr. Att. Gen. You fay you faw feveral Letters

there, did you look into them ?

Mr. Smith. I faw they were directed to Francia

:

There was a Parcel lay open in Folio ; and others

that lay folded up in the D-fk.

Mr. Att. Gen. What became of the Book and

Papers after you had them ?

Mr. Smith. We went wirh them and the Pri-

foner, and deliver'd the Prifoner into a Houfe at

K W-
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Weftminflet", and then went to the Office, and

ftaid till Mr. Walpole came, and then delivered

the Book and Papers to him.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you deliver any Papers to

him but what were feized there ?

Mr. Smith. No.

Mr. Att. Gen. What is become of Mr. Wilcox?

Mr. Smith
i
He is dead.

Mr. Qowper. What was it that the Prifoner faid

about the Book ?

Mr. Smith. He faid, that is my Copy-Book

of my Correfpondence abroad, it fignifies no-

thing. I afterwards obferved ibme more Con-

cern than ordinary in him ; and he laid to me

again, the Copy-Book of my Letters fignifies no-

thing.

Mr. JVard. How long had you the Book and

Letters in your Cuftody ?

Mr. Smith. I received them about Six or Seven

o'Clock, and I deliver'd them the fame Day to

Mr. Horatio Walpole.

Mr. Hungerford. How can you be fure this is

the Book ?

Mr. Smith Becaufe I never parted with it.

Mr. Hungerford. Was it not out of your Pot

fcfiion when you delivered it into the Office ?

Mr. Smith. Yes, then it was.

Mr. Hungerford. Did you fet any Mark upon

the Book?
Mr. Smith. No.

Mr. Hungerford. Did he fay that which v/as

wrote in it, was wrote in it by him ?

Mr. Smith. He faid, this is my Copy-Book of

my Letters to my Correfpondents abroad.

Mr. Hungerford. But now can you be fure this

is the fame Book ?

Mr. Smith. I made a Remark of this * Writing

as he fat drefiing himfelf.

Prifoner. Who was it that carried the Book and

Papers to the Office, you or Wilcox?

Mr. Smith. I myielf.

Prifoner. I know that to be falfe. How foon

did you go out of Town after you bad lodged me ?

Mr. Smith. In a Day or two.

Prifoner. Did you not go that Moment ?

Mr. Smith. No , not that Day.

Prifoner. To whom did you deliver them ?

Mr. Smith. To Mr. Horatio Walpole.

Prifoner. Did you take no more Books ?

Mr. Smith. There were feveral Books in your

Houic, but I don't remember that I carried any

of them away but this.

Mr. Hungerford. Did the Prifoner own to you,

that the Letters wrote in that Book were wrote by

him ?

Mr. Smith. He faid, that is the Copy-Book of

my Letters to my Correfpondents abroad.

Then Mr. Horatio Walpole was fworn.

Sir y. yekyll. Pray Sir, will you give the Court

and the Jury an Account of this Book and thofe

Letters i and how, and when they were brought

to you ?

Mr. Walpole. I remember the Warrant for

feizing the Prifoner was dared the 19th of Septem-

ber, and that tin. Day after Mr. Smith and Mr. Wil-

cox came into my Room, and deliver'd to me a

Copy-Book and a Parcel of Letters, which they

faid they took at Francia'% Houfe. I took them
and kept them by themfelves, to be produced

when my Lord Townfhend mould call for them.

I remember that Night Mr. Buckley came into my
Room, and I dtfir'd him to fit down and iook

them over with me, and accordingly he and I

look'd into them. The next Diy my Lord
I'ownfhend fent for the Prifoner, and I carried in

the fame Book and Letters, and laid them upon
the Table, and particularly the Letters, they were

laid open, and my Lord examined the Prifoner

about them. They were wrote in French, and di-

rected to the Priioncr. My Lord afk' J him whe-
ther he knew the Hand of thofe Letters, and •

turn'd them all over, and ihew'd him the Di-

rections, faying, are thefe directed to you ? He 1

own'd it. He own'd that he received them. My
Lord afk'd'him again, is this your Book? He
anfwer'd, it is; fome of the Letters are enter'd

by me, and fome by my Son.

Sir y. Jekyll. Were they all the fame Letters

that were brought to you by Mr. Smith.

Mr. Walpole The fame.

Sir J. Jekyll. Pray look upon this, Book ; is

this the fame Book ?

Mr. Walpok. I am fure this is the Book : This
is the fame Book that Smith deliver'd to me, and
faid he took it at Francia's Houfe.

Then feveral Letters were fhewn to Mr.
Walpole.

Mr Walpole. I remember all thefe Letters to

be the iame that I received from Smith.

Mr. Att. Gen. After the Prifoner had been ex-

amin'd, what became of the Letters ?

Mr. Walpole. I took them back again. I kept

them under Lock and Key, till my Lord lown-
fhend had occafion to uie them, which was the

fame Night chat my Lord examin'd the Prifoner;

then I took them back, and I conftantly kept

them till I went to Holland for the Dutch Troops,

and then I deliver'd them to Mr. Buckley.

Priloner. And you can fwear thefe are the fame

Letters that were deliver'd to you. By what
Mark ? You fwear very home. What mark did

yon put upon thofe Letters, that you can fwear

to them ?

Mr. Ward. Pray Sir, when they were in your

Cuftody, are you fure they were never deliver'd out?

Mr. Walpole. I am fure.

Mr Ward. Do you remember one Jones the

Gun-maker on the other Side the Water, when he

was under Examinatior ? Are you fure they were

not deliver'd out by Miitake to him ?

Mr. Walpole. I don't know that they were.

Mr. Hungerford. Did you put any Mark on

thofe Letters ?

Mr. Walpole. No, I put no Mark on them.

Mr. Hungerford. Then how can you know them
to be the fame ?

Mr. Walpole. I perus'd them feveral times. I

remember the Hand, and Dates, and Directions.

Mr. Hungerford. Then probably you remem-
ber the Number too ?

Mr. Walpole. No, I don't remember the Num-
ber.

Mr. Ward. Are you fure thefe are all the Let-

ters that were brought to you ?

Mr. Walpole. No, there are not all the Letters.

Mr. Att. Gen. We fhall now call Mr. Buckley.

Then Mr. Buckley was fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray Mr. Buckley look upon this

Book and theie Letters, and acquaint the Court

what you know ol them.

* George Francia\ Name in large Church Text, at the End of the Back,

Mr. Huckley,
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was fei

Mr. Buckley. My Lord, the Day the Prifoner

d, I came into Mr. Walpole** Room. He
told me he had received that Book and thofe Let-

ters that were feiz'd at the Prifoner's Houfe, and

defired me to fit down and read them with him.

I did fo. Afterwards, when Mr. Walpole went to

fetch the Dutch Troops, he delivered this Book

and thefe Letters into my Hand. Afterwards my
Lord tfozvnfhend directed me to look into them,

and fee which contain'd Paffages moft Criminal,

and to extract fuch Paffages, which I did accord-

ingly out of feveral of them. I will look over

them again, and then I can tell you whether they

are the lame.

Prifoner. By what Mark ?

Mr. Buckley. I can tell you by that which is

fbrongcr than any Mark, I copy'd Paffages out

of feveral of them.

Then he looked over the Letters one by one.

I had every one of thefe Letters from Mr. Walpole,

and I know it certainly ; for that from every one

of thefe I extracted fome Paffages.

Mr. Cowper. Was you prefent at any time when
the Prifoner was examined ?

Mr. Buckley. I was.

Mr. Copper. Were this Book and thefe Letters

produced to him at the time of his Examination ?

Mr. Buckley. He was examined by my Lord
I'cwnjhend and Mr. Secretary Stanhope, and I was

cali'd in to take his Examination in Writing, ac-

cordingly I did.

Mr. Cowper. Were the Book and Letters at the

time of his Examination predue'd to him ?

Mr. Buckley. I can't fay that, for I was intent

on my Paper, writing the Examination, and look-

ing upon the Prifoner, and hearing what he faid.

When I had written down what is in my Hand,
[holding out the original Examination.] I read it

over to him diftinctly and audibly ; and he being

afk'd whether he was willing to fwear to it, and an-

fwenng, Yes, Ioffer'd him his Oath : And I offer'd

him a New tfcjlament to fwear on. He faid he

could not fwear on that Book. But he took ano-

ther Book out of his Pocket, and I fwore him on
that. I afked him whether this was true : He
faid it was. Then he fign'd it ; and afterwards

my Lord 'Townjhend fign'd it.

Mr. Cowper. Is the Subfcription of his Hand-
writing ?

Mr. Buckley. It is.

Prifoner. You fay I took an Oath ? on what
Book was it ?

Mr. Buckley. Indeed I don't know, I believe

it was an Hebrew Book ; Mr. Secretary Stanhope

look'd upon it.

Mr. Denton. Was he examin'd at any time after ?

Mr. Buckley. Yes.

Mr. Denton. Was you prefent then ?

Mr. Buckley. No.
Mr. Ward. How long were they in your

Cuftody ?

Mr. Buckley. From the time that Mr. Walpole
went abroad, till he came back again, and then
I delivered them back to him.

Mr. Ward. Were they in your Cuftody when
Mr. 'Jones was under Examination ?

Mr. Buckley. I can't tell; but I never did fhew
them to him.

Mr. Ward. Were they not delivered out on
that Occafion ?

Mr. Buckley. No, they were not delivered out
by me.
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Mr. Ward. You fay you read the Examination
to him. Did not he defire to read ithimfelf?

Mr. Buckley. I don't remember it.

Mr. Ward. Was he not refufed to read it ?

Mr. Buckley. No, upon my Soul.

Mr. Ward. Was you with the Prifoner in

Newgate ?

Mr. Buckley. I was with him at his own De-
fire ; otherwise I had not gone to him.

Mr. Ward. Do you remember the Days ?

Mr. Buckley. No.
Mr. Ward. How often was you with him there ?

Mr. Buckley. Twice.

Mr. Hungerford. Were there any Offers made by
you to him ?

Mr. Buckley. I defire you would explain yourfelf

Mr. Hungerford. Did you make him any Offers,

that upon his figning any Paper, he fhould have
his Liberty ?

Mr. Buckley. No.
Mr. Hungerford. Did you not mention to him

his giving Evidence againft any other Perfon ?

Mr. Buckley. No, upon my Soul.

Mr. Att. Gen. Thefe Queftions ought not to

be afked. It is an Iniquity to tamp.r with any
Man ; and therefore fuch Queftions ought not to

be put. If you have any Witneffes, you may
examine them.

Mr. Hungerford. Then we will examine to it.

Prifoner. Is that the Book I fwore upon ? [/hew-

ing a Book he had in his Hand.]

Mr. Buckley. I don't know indeed ; it was fuch

a fort of Book.

Mr. Att. Gen. I don't take that to be material,

if it were the Alchoran. He had it in his Pocket.

But it is not his Oath, but his Confcffion that is

material.

Mr. Hungerford. Taking the Book into his

Hands. I underftand a little Hebrew. This is

a Book to pray by, not fwear by. It is a Collec-

tion of fome Jewifh Prayers and Rituals ; I be-

lieve taken out of Maimonides. You had beft

fend it the learned Monfalcon in Paris, he is com-
piling fome critical Obfervations upon the Eajlern

Languages.

Mr. Ward. Did you put any Mark on any of

thofe Letters ?

Mr. Buckley. I did on fome of them.

Mr. Hungerford. Where are the Extracts you
made out of them ?

Mr. Buckley. I have fome of them here. [Hold-

ing out fome Papers.]

Mr. Hungerford. What did you do with the

Letters, after you had made thofe Extracts ?

Mr. Jufl. Pratt. He tells you that he kept

them till Mr. Walpole came back again, and then

delivered them to him.

Mr. Buckley. Here is my Name on fome of

them. The two initial Letters of my Name.
Prifoner. When was thatMark made upon them ?

Mr. Buckley. I don't juftly remember.

Prifoner. That might be done yefterday, or

fince they were delivered out of his Cuftody.

Mr. Buckley. I did it while they were in my
Poffeffion, and before I deliver'd them back again

to Mr. Walpole.

Then the Lord Townfaend was {worn.

Sir J. Jekyll. We muft defire your Lordfhip

to inform the Court, what your Lordfhip knows

in relation to the Prifoner at the Bar, as to the

iffuing out the Warrant againft him, and what

happened afterwards,
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Lord Townjhend. My Lord, having received

information that there was a treafonable Corre-

spondence carry'd on between the late Duke of

Ormond, Duke D'Aumont, Coulange and Mr. Har-

vey , in which the Prifoner was concerned, and

was the Channel in which the Correfpondence was

convey'd ; and that the Pretence of it was a Law-

Suit, but that the Defign of it was in Favour of

the Pretender •, and that when they talk'd of the

Party, the Pretender was meant ; and that they

expected him to be foon here. Having reafon to

rely on this Information, I drew a Warrant to

feize the Prifoner and his Papers. I had indeed

before fent.an Order to flop all Letters that came

from France, directed to Francia, by which I re-

ceiv'd a Confirmation of the Intelligence which

liad been before given me. Upon the iffuing out

the Warrant, the Prifoner was feiz'd, and his Let-

ters was brought to Mr. Walpole.

The next Day I lent for the Prifoner to be ex-

amin'd, and order'd Mr. Walpole to bring me the

Papers, and fent for the Prifoner in. The Letters

that Mr. Walpole brought in, were laid open upon

the Table, and the Book lay by them. I afk'd

him whether he knew the Hand, and whether

thofe Letters were not for him ? He own'd the

Letters, but faid he could not help what was in

thofe Letters, and that what others wrote to him

could not make him guilty. As for what I have

wrote (faid he) I appeal to my Book. That is

my Book, I appeal to that for my Innocency.

He did not appear obflinate, and I remanded him ;

and at Night I fent for him again, and Mr. Se-

cretary Stanhope was with me; I had in that time

look'd into more of the Letters, I faw feveral ini-

tial Letters of Peoples Names, I afk'd him the

meaning of them •, and he gave me the Account

contain'd in this * Examination. He feem'd in

a Difpafition to tell me all he knew ; he gave me
' an Account how this Correfpondence began, and

was carry'd on •, and then he came to explain the

initial Letters that were in thofe Letters that were

taken upon him, and in feveral other Letters that

I had intercepted. I remanded- him again that

Night, having taken his Examination in my
Hand.
A fecond Examination was taken upon Mr. Har-

vey's Letter ; (which Examination and the Letter

thereto annex''d wasjhewn to his Lord/hip.)

This is the very Letter on which I examin'd

him •, he own'd to me how he came to flop the

Letter, and not to forward it, and explain'd all

thofe Figures to me very diflinctly. He pro-

tefted that he knew no more, and made folemn

Proteftations that he had faid all he knew, and I

was almoft convine'd he had ; but in the Confe-

quence, I had reafon to think he had not. But
thefe two Examinations were taken before me,
one I fign'd alone, and the other Mr. Secretary

Stanhope fign'd with me. As to the Firfl, I be-

lieve Mr. Secretary Stanhope was gone out of the

Room before it was fign'd.

Sir J. Jekyll. I defire to afk your Lordfhip whe-
ther all the Letters that were brought by Mr. Wal-
pole were laid upon the Table at the time of the

Prifoner's Examination ?

Lord Townjhend. All that Mr. Walpole brought
me were laid there, and Haw him take them back
again.

Mr. Ward. I defire to afk your Lordfhip whe-

ther you heard that Declaration read over to him ?

Lord lownfoend. I dare fay I did.

Mr. Ward. Did he not endeavour to excui'e

himfelf from figning it, 'till he had read it himfelf?

Lord townjhend. I don't remember that, I

don't know that he made any Difficulty of figning

it; but I am fure it could not be becaufe he was
refus'd to read it.

Prifoner. Was not there any Reluctancy in me
to fign it ?

Lord lownfhend. What do you mean ? Have
not I anfwer'd that already ?

Prifoner. Did not you offer me fome Money
to fign it ?

Lord townjhend. I hope you can't fay a thing

of lb much Infamy. After he had been examin'd,

he complain'd to me of the Mifery he was redue'd

to, that his Wife and Family mufl flarve, and
reprefented himfelf as if he were at a lofs for a
Supper: I told him he had nothing to hope for,

or any room to expect any Favour, but by making
a clear Confeffion. He went on begging, and faid

that his Wife was ftarving; I do not certainly

know whether it was the very Night that he fign'd

his Confeffion or not; but I am fure it was not for

that, but in pure Alms, and becaufe he begg'd fo

hard, I put my Hand in my Pocket, and gave
him three, four, or five Guineas, I know not
which, in Charity ; and it was what I never could

refufe any Man that apply'd to me in that man-
ner, and begg'd fo hard. He faid his Brother

would not look upon him, becaufe he was taken

up for High-Treafon, and he defired me to give

himfomething in Charity, which I did.

Prifoner. I defire to afk you, whether you ever

beflow'd on any body elfe the like Charity ? Pray
my Lord, name the Man under your Examina-
tion, you ever gave five Guineas to before ? [At
which there being a Laugh round the Court. ]

Prifoner. I mufl not be laugh'd out of my Life

;

you did not anfwer me.

Lord Ch. Baron. Propofe your Queflion to the

Court ?

Prifoner. I defire to know who he ever gave

five Guineas to befides me ?

L. Ch. Baron. My Lord fays it was out of Cha«
rity.

Prifoner. And that he never refus'd any Body
under his Examination the Sum of five Guineas ?

L. Ch. Baron. He don't fay fo ; he fays, he
never could refufe his Charity to People that begg'd

as you did.

Prifoner. I had lefs need to beg than fome others.

Mr. Ward. I have but one Queflion more to

trouble your Lordfhip with, which my Inftructi-

ons lead me to; and that is, whether at the time

when this Examination was fign'd by the Prifoner,

he was not told of its being for fome particular

Purpofe, but that it fhould not be binding to him ?

Lord townjhend. He did defire that it might
not be made ufe of againfl him; I told him that

depended en his Behaviour, if he was ingenuous,

if he dealt frankly and fairly, and declar'd all the

Truth, I would do all in mv Power that he fhould

have Mercy ; I don't know whether it is proper

to give my Realbns why I am convine'd he did

not deal candidly ; but on the perufal of the Let-

ters, I found he was not a bare Conveyer of them,

or came by Chance to the Knowledge of what he

explain'd in them, but that he was wrote to, as

Refining to the Original Examination,

one
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one of the Managers : On that I fent to him again,

and told him plainly, he muft know more of it.

He flood it out that he did not, and then I fent

him to Newgate : Soon after he was committed,

his Wife came, as Mr. Buckley inform'd me, and

acquainted him that fhe was perfuaded, if fhe could

fee her Hufband, that fhe could prevail with him

to difcover the whole : On that I gave Directions

Co put him into the MeiTcnger's Hands again,

which was done •, about a Morning or two after,

one Curtis, who was in the fame Meffenger's Houfe,

brought a Letter to the Office, which he had found

drop'd by his Man's Bed-fide. It was directed to

his Wife, and the Subject was to bid her not afflict

herielf, for he found better Company in Newgate

than he expected, that the better half of them were

in upon the Government Account ', that he had

faid nothing of Mr. Harvey that could hurt him,

nor could he •, that the Government had nothing

againft Mr. Harvey, but a general Sufpicion that

he was againft the Government, which three Parts

in four of the Nation were •, and that he himfelf

laugh'd at any thing the Government could do

againft him the Pnfoner : When I found a Man
wrue in his Stile, I could not but think he had

net dealt ingenuoufly.

Mr. Hungerford. I would propofe to the Judg-

ment of the Court, whether it is proper to give

Evidence of the Subftance of a Letter without of-

fering the Letter itfclf.

Mr. fufi. Pratt. This comes in Anfwer to Mr.

fFard's Queftion. He afk'd my Lord Tcwnjhnd,

whether mere was not fome Promife that this Con-

feffioa fnould not be made ufe of againft the Pri-

foner ? His Lordlhip gives this Account, and

juftifies himfelf, how he came to make ufe of it,

and gives this as the Rcafon.

Mr. Hungerford. Bat to give an Account of the

Subftance of a Letter without producing it, I ap-

prehend, is not according to the Rules of Evidence.

S*r J. Jekyll. If the Council for the Prifbner de-

fire the Letter to be read, it fhall be read.

Mr. Att. Gen. Do you lnfiit upon the reading

of it ?

Mr. V/ard. If you will read it in the proper

time you may.

Mr. Hungerford. If in the Courfe of the Evidence

the Letter is not read, I don't prefs it.

Then Mr. Herat, Walpole was call'd again, and

the Letter was fhew'd to him.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray, Sir, will you give an Ac-
count what you know of this Letter, and how it

came to your Hands ?

Mr. Walpole. This Letter Curtis brought to me,

and I made this * Mark on it : He told me it was

found in Francia's Chamber near his Bed-fide, and

this is the Letter.

Mr. Ward. There is nothing prov'd yet of its

being the Prifoner's Hand, its being found by his

B-d-fide will not affect him.

Then Mr. Buckley was call'd again, and the

Letter was fhew'd to him.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Pray look upon this Paper, and
tell us whofe Hand-writing you take it to be ?

Mr. Buckley. I never did fee the Prifbner write

but once, and that was upon my being lent to

him totakeaConfcffion hefeem'd willing to make,
and then I fat by him while he was writing.

Mr. Soil. Gen. How Ions; did he write then ?

Mr. Buckley. About an Hour, and I read it over.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Do you believe this to be his

Hand-writing ?

Mr. Buckley. I not only faw him write then*

but I have read a great deal in this Book, which
Mr. Walpole told me was taken at the Prifoner's

Houfe ; therefore being ufed to the Writing in

this Book, and to what I faw him write, for thofe

Reafons, and no other, I believe this Paper to be
his Writing.

Mr. Denton. Are not the Letters of your Name
on this Letter ?

Mr. Buckley. Yes : When Mr. Walpole put into

my Hands all the Letters, my Lord bid me fingle

out thofe that were fit to be extracted, and I did

mark them that were extracted, and I always kept
them in my Hands till Mr. Walpole return'd, and
then I delivered them to him : Thofe Letters that

I extracted, I mark'd ; fome other Letters that

were intercepted by my Lord Townfloend, I did not
mark, becaufe they came to me at other times.

Mr. Denton. Did you mark that Letter ?

Mr. Buckley. Yes.

Mr. Ward. Can you be pofitive that it is the

Prifoner's Hand ?

Mr. Buckley. No.
Mr. Ward. Do you rely on the Writing in the

Book ?

Mr. Buckley. By that, and by what I did fee

him write, from thence it is that I conclude this

to be his Hand.
Mr. Hungerford. He attempts to prove his Hand

by two Inducements, one that he faw him write,

and the other is the Book ; therefore let him fix

on thofe Parts of the Book, that he takes to be
the Prifoner's Hand, .and to be like this Letter.

L. Ch. Baron. The Book is not material ; it is

enough for a Man to fay, that he faw another
write for an Hour together, and then that he be-

• lieves this to be his Hand.
Mr. Hungerford. If that was the fingle Founda-

tion, it was fomething ; but he makes another
Foundation alfo.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. We are going out of the way,
the Queftion is, Whether this fhall be read ? In
order to that, the Method is to prove, that the

Witnefs is acquainted with the Prifoner's Hand-
writing, and believes this to be his Writing. He
tells you he law him write for an Hour. He gives

you a further Reafon, that it is like fome Letters

in the Book. If that were laid out of the Cafe,

the other would be fufficient without it.

Mr. Hungerford. A Man makes two Things the

Foundation of his Judgment, his feeing him write,

and the Similitude of Hands in the Book , the

moft conclufive Evidence would be, the Simili-

tude of the Hand in the Book, which others may
judge of as well as himfelf.

L. C. Baron. That is no Evidence at all ; Simi-

litude of Hands is no Evidence.

Mr. Hungerford. I am far from thinking it is,

or that there is as yet any Evidence at all. Do
you believe this to be his Hand, only from your

having feen him write, or from what you have
obferv'd in the Book alfo ?

Mr. Buckley. I fay that from my having feen

him write, and my having feen the Encries in the

Book, I believe this to be his Hand.
Mr. Juft. Pratt. If you had never feen the Book,

but had feen him write for an Hour ; could you
collect from thence that this was his Hand ?

Shewing a Mark iipm the Letter*

Mr, Buckley.
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Mr. Buckley. No, I would not affirm it.

Mr. Hungerford. Then it is with us, and makes

it neceflary to look into the Book.

Mr. Att. Gen. How come you to apprehend any

one Part of the Book to be Francia's Writing more

than the other ?

Mr. Buckley. By my Eye-fight, and comparing

it with this Letter.

Mr. Att. Gen. Is it from your Knowledge of

feeing him write ?

Mr. Buckley. Yes, and this Writing being like

this Book.

Sir. J. Jekyll. I defire this Matter may be con-

fidered how it ftands, my Lord Townfhend is ex-

amin'd touching the Confcffion of the Prifoner,

and was afked, whether there was not Hopes of

Mercy given him ? My Lord faid there were, up-

on his making a frank Difcovcry •, but he tells

. you the Prifoner was not entitled to Mercy, be-

caufe he had not made fuch a Difcovery, and then

gives an Account of this Letter : I thought the

Council for the Prifoner appeal'd to that Letter,

and would have had it produe'd, to check the E-

vidence given by my Lord.

Mr. J. Pratt. Since it is gone thus far, I think

it would be proper to clear this matter.

Prifoner. I defire to know where Mr. Buckley

faw me write for an Flour together ?

Mr. Buckley. It was in the Meffenger's Houfe.

Mr. J. Tracy. My Lord Townfhend was giving

an Account in Anfwer to a Qucftion propos'd by

the Prifoner's Council, and gave his Reafon why
he did not think the Prifoner was frank. I did

not think fo (fays he).becaufe of a Letter which

was found by his Bed-fide. Says Mr. Hunger-

ford, then that Letter ought to be produced.

Mr. Hungerford. If the Account is no more

than that my Lord obferved fo upon that Letter,

there is no great Harm in reading it: But I am
ftill in yourjudgment, whether, when the Con-

tents of a Letter is infifted upon, and repeated,

and that upon Memory only, the Letter itfelf

ought not to be produced ?

Then Curtis was fworn.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Look upon that Letter, whofe

Hand-writing is it ?

Curtis. I believe it is Mr. Francia'sj

Mr. Soil. Gen. Have you feen him write ?

Curtis. Yes.

Mr. Soil. Gen. And do you believe it to be his

Writing ?

Curtis. Yes.

Mr. Ward. How long have you been acquainted

with the Prifoner ?

Curtis. While he was in the Meffenger's Hands.

Mr. Ward. How often did you fee him write ?

Curtis. Several times.

Mr. Ward. Was yoyi in Cuftody at the fame

time when he was ?

Curtis. Yes.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Where did you find this Letter ?

Curtis. In his Chamber by his Bed-fide.

Mr. Hungerford. I don't hear that he gives an

Account, whether he is fo well acquainted with

his Writing, that he can diftinguifh it from any

others ?

Curtis. He told me it was a Letter that he had

wrote to his Wife.

Mr. Ait. Gen. The Letter is in French ; we
have a Tranflation of it ; we muft defire that the

Interpreters who tranflated it may be fworn.

Then Mr. Bowyer and Mr, Ozell were both

fworn.

Mr. Cowper. Did you tranflate the Letter ?

Mr. Bowyer. I did, and afterwards I compared
it with Mr. Ozell.

Mr. Cowper. Is that a true Tranflation of the
Original Letter ?

Mr. Bowyer. I did make a true genuine Tran-
flation of it, allowing for the Difference of Lan-
guage and Stile.

Mr. Cowper. Was it the beft and moft exact

Tranflation you was able to make ?

Mr. Bowyer. Yes.

Mr. Cowper. Mr. Ozell, have you compared
this Tranflation with the Original ?

Mr. Ozell. Yes, and I believe it to be a true

Tranflation.

Note. That the Original Letter was deliver'd into

the Prifoner's Hand, during the Time that the

Tranflation was reading •, and Mr. Flint, who
was permitted to ftand in the Bar near the Pri-

foner, afllfted him in comparing the Original

with the Tranflation. The like Method was
obferved, when the Tranflations of the Letters

received by the Prifoner were read ; and when
the Letters wrote by him were read out of the

Copy-Book, the Copy-Book was fliewn to

him.

[Clerk reads.]

My Dear,

ALL I exhort you to, is, to make yourfelf as eafy

as you can. I do thefame, and am well, having
jlept welllafi Night ; and the Company here is much
better than I expecled; they are all Tories, and the ma-
jor Part for the Government, that isfent hitherfor be-,

% fi, according to their Informations. Although all

fhould fail, and my Lord Townfhend (hould do
nothing, the Bufinefs will be at an End in lefs than a
Fortnight. Tou know upon what Account I am here,

which cannot difgrace me. Be therefore comforted,

and do not grieve. God will affift us. I neither

know, nor have faid any thing againfi Mr. Harvey,
nor can they do any thing to him, unlefs he has other

Affairs which Iknow not of; thereforeyou may affure

that Frenchman, that's falfe, for I know nothing

againfi that Gentleman, which is not intirely regular.

He may only be fufpetled of being a Friend to the

Pretender ; but that was well known before % and

if all who are fo were to be puni/h'd, above three

fourths of the Nation would fuffer. Therefore I
laugh at any thing they can do to me, all my Sorrow

is not to be with you ; and I would not fee you in

this wretched Place, in which you can but grieve

both me andyourfelf. Adieu.

Mr. Hungerford. Pray let me have the Letter %

I have a little French, and I would willingly fee

how they render the Word Tories.

Mr. J. Pratt. When did you find this Let-

ter ?

Curtis. Upon the 27th Day of November.

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord Townfaend, pray be

pleafed to give an Account of the Occafion that

this Confeflion was not fign'd by both the Se-

cretaries ?

Lord Townfhend. I fuppofe Mr. Secretary Start'

hope might be gone out of the Room.
Mr. Hungerford. I would not willingly trouble

my Lord Townfhend at any other Time, and
therefore would take this Opportunity : I think

your Lordfhip faid, that the Letters that were

ftopp'd at the Poji-Ojfice were laid on the Table

with
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with the other Letters, when the Prifoner was

examined ?

Lord Townjhend. I did not fay that. The Let-

ters that were intercepted, I did firft. lay them be-

fore the King, and then put them into the lame

Hands with the other Letters.

Then Mr. Secretary Stanhope was fworn.

Mr. Ait. Gen. Mr. Secretary Stanhope, we mud
<lefire you to inform the Jury what you know
about the Examinations of the Prifoner, and the

Confeffion he made.

Mr. Sec. Stanhope. I have here two Exami-
nations, one fign'd by my Lord 'Town/bend, the

21ft of Sept. and the other dated the 2 2d of Sept.

fign'd by my Lord Townfhend and myfelf. I was

prefent at both the Examinations: There has

been an Account given of the firft, which is per-

fectly agreeable to what paf>'d there, and my
Name is to the fecond.

There is annex'd to this fecond a Letter, which
we take to be Mr. Harvey's : I remember the Let-

ter; the Hand is particular, and there are Figures

by way of Cyphers. I remember verv well this

Letter. It has been before the Cabinet Council.

It was fhewn to Mr. Harvey at the Council-Table

;

he did not deny it, but fhew'd the utmoft Con-
firmation when it was fhewn to him; and defir'd

that he might withdraw, and have the Liberty

to fpeak to one particular Lord. The manner
of his Behaviour was fuch, as to induce the Lords
of the Council to be of Opinion, that he was in-

clin'd to confefs what he knew ; therefore they
thought fit to let him withdraw, and go to the

Meflenger's Houfe; but his Agonies were fuch,

that he ftabb'd hi nafelf that Night, or the next
Morning.

• I believe at twice we fpent about two Hours in

the Examination of the Prifoner, and thefe Ex-
aminations were taken from his own Mouth ; and
I can be pofitive there is not a Pafiage in them,
that he did not repeat more than once or twice.

The Reafon why my Name is to one, and not to
the other, may be, becaufc the Room where he
was examined was next to the Room where the

Council ufed to meet ; and I believe I might be
going in and out between the two Rooms, and
might not be there when he fign'd it; and there-
fore I might not think it proper to fet my Name to
what I did not fee fign'd : But I faw him fign that
to which my Hand is fet ; and I don't remember
that he had any Reluclrancy to fign it. I read the
firft Examination more than once or twice to him,
and did myfelf examine him to all the Particulars
of it.

After the firft Night's Examination, it is cer-
tain he behaved himfelf like a Man not worth a
Groat, intimating as if he did not know how to
get a Supper: He reprefented himfelf in a pitiful

Condition, and it was at his going out of the
Room, that my Lord put his Hand in his Pocket,
and gave him fomething, what it was I don't
know, but it was after he had fign'd his Exami-
nation ; for, after it, there was a good deal of
Conversion pafs'd between him and me. I afk'd
him fcvcral Q-eftions, as to his being in France,
and about the Countries he came from ; and afk'd
him as to feveral Spanifh Letters that were in the
Book, and other Tilings of that Nature.

Mr. Ward. Did he not defire to read over the
Examinations before he fign'd them ?

Mr. Sec. Stanhope. I don't remember that he
did

; but they were read over to him, ' and he was

71
afk'd to every Particular by myfelf, fome one
Particular might flip ; but I did examine him, I

think, to every Particular, in Order to have ir al-

ter'd, if he objected to it, and he did not exprefs

the leaft Reludancy. I faw him let h;s Hand to

one of them ; as to the other, I can't fay, be-

caufe the Room was next to the Room where the

Council was fitting, and I don't know but that I

might be there.

Mr. Ward. Do you remember any thing par-

ticular that was faid to him, that thofe Examina-
tions fhould only be laid before his Majefty, and
no other Ufe made of them.

Mr. Sec. Stanhope. I don't remember any fuch

thing.

Sir J. Jekyll. If he had defired to have read

thefe Examinations, would you have refufed it ?

Mr. Sec. Stanhope. It never was denied to any
Man to read his Examination before he fign'd it,

where I was prefent.

Sir J. JekylL Nor you would not have refus'd

him, if he had defired it ?

Mr. Sec. Stanhope. No, God forbid.

Mr. Hungerford. I am informed that the Pri-

foner wrote fome Letters to my Lord Townjhend,

complaining of fome other Uf bung made of his

Examinations, than was defign'd ?

Mr. Sec. Stanhope. I received fome Letters from
the Prifoner, but none that I thought were of any
fort of avail.

Mr. Hungerford. Did he complain of his not

being fuffer'd to read them ?

Mr. Sec. Stanhope. I don't remember it; but I

am lure it was not lb. If he did complain, it was
without any Ground.

Prifoner. I defire a Sight of the „..,

.

.

Original Letter, which Curtis faidE^
I own'd. I never wrote one Word
of it; it is forged fince: Any Body will fay it;

it is not like my Hand.
Mr. Cowper. Before the Examinations are read,

I defire the Gentlemen of the Jury would take an

Account in Writing of the initial Letters and Fi-

gures they will hear read, and then will obferve

who are the Perfons meant and intended by them,

according to the Pnfoner's Explanation, when
he was cxamin'd. Gentlemen, it is neceffary you
fhould unoerftand, who are the Perfons that are

intended by the Letters and Numbers. If you
take them down, all the Letters will read to the

Purpofe.

L. C. Baron. Gentlemen, the defire you will

take Notice of the Letters and Nambcrs that are

explain'd in this Examination, becaufe you will

the better underftand the Letters that will be read

to you : That is ivhat they defire, and it will be

for your Satisfaction.

The Examination ufon Oath of Francis

trancia of London, Merchant.

Clerk reads. *T"*HIS Examinant faith, That

X about two Years ago he be-

came acquainted with the Abbot BuiUr, other-

wife call'd, the Vidame of Canibray, at the Time
when the Duke jyAumont was here ; and after-

wards, viz. foon after the Duke D'Aumcnr left

England, this Examinant receiv'd a Letter from

the faid Butler, then in France, recommending
to this Examinant's Care a Law-Suit, in which

one Barbara Butler, a Kinfwoman of the ftid

Abbot's,
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Abbot's, was concerned ; that this occafion'd a

Correfpondence between this Examinant and the

faid Abbot Butler, which from a little before the

late Queen's Death, hath lafted till within thefe

few Days paft ; during which Correfpondence

with the faid Abbot, this Examinant received

from the faid Abbot feveral Letters directed to

Mr. Edward Harvey of Combe, and convey 'd back

feveral Letters from the faid Mr. Edward Harvey

to the laid Abbot, which Letters to the laid

Abbot, from the laid Mr. Harvey, were fome-

times brought to this Examinant by the faid

Mr. Harvey himfelf, and at other Times fent by
Mr. Harvey to this Examinant.

This Examinant further faith, That at fuch

Times during the faid Correfpondence, as the

Abbot Buller was at Cambray, the faid Mr. Har-

vey ufually brought or fent to this Exarriinant

two Letters, one directed to the faid Abbot
at Cambray, and the other, either directed by

Mr. Harvey himfelf, to the Duke TfAumont at the

French Court; or the faid Mr. Harvey defired this

Examinant to direct the fame to the Duke jyAu-
7nont, the faid Mr. Harvey telling this Exami-
nant, that he did not fend the faid Letters him-

felf to France openly, becaufe he would not ex-

pofc himfelf to be reflected on for having Friends

in France, not that he car'd a Pin if it were known,

becaufe we were in Peace with France, or Words
to that Effect.

This Examinant further faith, that the Letters

fo delivered, or fent to him by the faid Harvey,

for the faid Abbot, or for the Duke D'Aumont,

were by this Examinant fent over to France under

a Cover directed to Ivlonfieur D'Aulmay, alias

Payen at Paris, but about two Months ago that

Method of Correfpondence was changed ; for the

faid Payen, inftead of inclofing his Anfwers to

the faid Mr. Harvey in Letters or Covers directed

to this Examinant, wrote only to this Examinant,

but order'd him to fhew to Mr. Harvey, or to de-

liver to him, what he fo wrote to this Examinant,

which this Examinant did accordingly.

This Examinant further faith, that whereas in

fome of the Letters lately written to him by
Monfieur Payen, to be communicated to the faid

Mr. Hartey, and which were communicated to

the faid Mr. Harvey accordingly, and which be-

ing taken in this Examinant's Cuftody, were

fhewn to him ; there are the Letters M, H and

my D. D. and M. B which feem to be the initial

Letters of Men's Names; he, this Examinant,

underftood that the faid Letters M. H fland for

the aforefaid Mr. Harvey, and my D D. for the

Duke of Ormond, and M. B. for the Lord Bolin-

broke; and this Examinant verily believes that

the Subject of the faid Letters written to him by

Payen to be communicated to Mr. Harvey afore-

faid, is the Defign of the Pretender to invade his

Majefty's Dominions.

Francis Francia.

Capt. Die 21.

Sept. 1715.

per Townshend.

The further Examination ofFrancis Francia

THIS Examinant being fworn, fays, That

a Letter fhewn to him, and mark'd by him,

which is hereto annexed, and is dated the 9th of

January, 1714. and writ by Mr. Edward Hir-
vey's own Hand, was fent to him, this Exami-
nant, by the faid Mr. Harvey, under a Cover, in

order to be forwarded to the Abbot Butler in

France: And that this Examinant in opening the

Cover, accidentally broke the Seal of the faid in-

clofcd Letter, which made him detain the faid

Letter, and not forward it, left it fhould be
imagined that he had opened the faid Letter, out

of a Curiofity to read it. And this Examinant
further faith, that he verily believes that by
N° (22J mentioned in the fecond Line in the faid

Letter, is underftood the Duke D'Aumont ; and
that N° (6) mentioned in the thirteenth Line in

the faid Letter, and where-ever the faid N° (6) is

mentioned in the faid Letter, he, this Examinant,
verily believes it fignifies and is meant to ftand

for the late French King: And that by N°(f/)
mentioned in the faid Letter, is to be underftood

the Word Tories ; and that where-ever (22) is men-
tioned in the faid Letter, the Duke D'Aumont is

meant. And this Examinant further faith, he
verily believes that by (8) is to be underftood the

Pretender ; and by (9) mentioned in the faid

Letter, is to be underftood his Majefty ; but

that this Examinant doth not well know what
24000, mentioned in the faid Letter, ftands for;

neither can he tell what (14) ftands for, men-
tioned in the faid Letter.

Francis Francia.
Jur. 22 Die Sept. I 71 5.

Coram nobis.

Townshend.
James Stanhope.

Sir J. Jekyll. Now we will read Mr. Harvey's

Letter.

Mr. Ward. You cannot read that Letter againft

the Prifoner.

S,r J. Jekyll. He hath made it Part of his Ex-
amination.

[Clerk reads.,] The 9th of January, 1 7 15.

Dear Sir,

WITH great Satisfaction I receiv'd yovrs

of the 1 2 yovr Stile, and the next time

I write vnto a 22 I will be fvre to write on yovr

behalf, juft as yov mention, and I with it may
have the Effect yov propofe ; but I remember
very well the Advice yov formerly have given

me, that your great ones are good at words and
fair promifes, but flow at performing, if Ever ;

therefore as I take yov to be my Friend, I fhall

lay out no more Money till I am repaid what
b 22 was pleafed to promife me long agoe fhould

be rymitted me if the Fau—en had not done it,

on notice I meane the 1 30 : 4—o fo long due, itt

being abovt halfe I have bin ovt of Pocket, and
for my good will am fufhciantly fcandalifed as a

friend to c 22, and Pentionar to d
(6) nay and

yov from tyme to tyme have aflvred me it fnovld

be done, and ftill itt is the fame, and fo is like

if you fee itt not done.

Now if you pleafe only to remind e 22 to fend

me a Bill if he pleafes for the 1 30 : 4—I fhall be

obleged very mveh to yov, or otherwife I fee it

is loft, and yov only doe give me faire words,

which realy is not like a trew Friend, for I am
fure I have not, or ever will omitt any one thing

1 Duke D'Aumont. » Duke D'Aumont. Duke D'Aumont. * The French King. * Duke D'Aumont.
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to ferve f (6)^22 nor yov pay'd or not, itt fhall

not trovble fo I have h 22 Efteem ; wee are now in

a hurrey on chofing of Parliament Men, and how

thole things will goe, God above beft dos knows

;

but this I will affirme ware thofe that are to chvfe

lefte to them felfes to chvfe no Money from Corte

threats, nor any other indirect means vfed, all

wovld be ovt of feght on the i

1 7 fide ; and as it

is, I hope all will doe well if
k
(6 and 1 22 flicks

to theire trew Friends, and on no accompt for-

gett them and all theire good intentions. I defire

you to lett
m 22 know, if my Life lay att flake,

I cannot get 30 fuch Hovnds as I dare fend to his

Friend the Co—t of To—ovs he defiers ; but by

March I hope I may, my good Friend Mr. B—ne
that yov mention in yovr Directions, has given

me two of his beft Bitches •, they are fovre Years

Hunting, and
t
they fhall be in Whelp a're I take

them : and one young one I daily will look ovt,

tho' it is a Thing quite ovt of my way, but to ferve

"6 or 22 I will do any thing tho' to the hazard of

my Life, and all I have.

I have got for p 22 two as fine and good Gray-

hovnd Bitches as can run, and as handfome ; the

red and white one is three years olde, the other

black and white, and but two ; and one Covple

of Stagg-hovnds, the Bitch is entired, the other

bvt 11 Months old, Lirge enough, and of the

Queen's Hovnds breed ; I have alfo a very fine

- Hovnd of Blood-kind, fit for a Harbering-Hovnd,

and would rvn vp to any Hovnds ; he is but 9
Months old, and ifi 22 fends anyone over with

yovr Ambafadore all fhall be given him, or by

any Token, I will fend them to Dover on notice:

As to Horfes, here is a Stone-horfe I think will

pleafe •, he is a Bay, with a Blace down his Face,

bvt by any till liked I dare not, fo that mvfl de-

pend on r 22 Pleafvre, and if any I have, or can

gett, or here of, I will, and I will alfo freely fend

in my own Charge, one to helpe by as many as
; 6-or l 22 fhall pleafe to command me; bvt this,

as things
to u .

bD > <n

~ o -

<u « 2

now Stands, muft be done with Cavtion ; why
would you mention byeing of Stvffs to w 22, he

will fancy I have fome felf Intereft in mind ; I

told 14 at dyner, that x 22 was his humble Ser-

vant; he affured me he was his real Friend, I

mean^22 and wovld write to him and wovld re-

mind him of you; I dyne with him to morrow;
prefs z 22 to think of his Friends, it will be of

Service I am fvre to a
(6) all looks well for b

(8)
and in my Heart I think better than ever c

(9)
every day lofes himfelfe, and for the 24,000 it

makes for d
(3( and e

6. I am.
Mr. Att. General. We will now fhow the Nature

of this Correfpondence, by their fending Letters to

and again, and fhew when he came into it himfelf.

Mr. Ward. Are you going to offer any Letters?

Mr. Att. Gen. Yes, out of his own Book.

Mr. Ward. We mufl humbly fubmit it to your

Lordfhip's Judgment, whether they can offer any
of thefe Letters in Evidence, the Charge of the

Overt-Act is general, that he wrote feveral trea-

fonable Letters: Now a Confeflion that there

were feveral treafonable Letters paft, might fup-

port that Allegation, or they may give Evidence

in general, that he did write fuch Letters. But

we muft be in your Lordfhip's Judgment, whe-
ther they can produce any particular Letters,

which are every one of them Overt-Acls them-

felves, and are not laid in the Indictment.

We think the Law has guarded the Life of a

Man by the Stat. 25 Edw. III. That tho' the In-

tention is the Crime, yet that mufl be declared by
Overt-Act or Deed, which muft be charged in

the Indictment. And the late Laws fince the Re-
volution fays nothing fhall be given in Evidence,

but what is exprefly laid in the Indictment. Now
if this be allowed of under fuch a general Charge,

to prove fuch a number of Fads, which are not

charged particularly in the Indictment, then all

the Security of that Law will be eluded, and a

Man will be no more able to make a Defence,

than if it had been laid in general, that he con-

fpired the Death of the King ; or it had been laid,

that in order thereto, he had been guilty of feve- /

ral treafonable Practices.

We infift that they can't under this Allegation

give any Evidence but what is correfpondent to it,

as any Confeflion or Proof in general ; but they

can't enter into any diftinct Overt-Act, which

ought to be laid, and can't be given in Evidence

unlefs exprefsly laid in the Indictment, If that

Act has any meaning, it is to avoid any fuch Ar-

tifice as this; and it obliges them that are con-

cerned for the King to fpecify in the Indictment

the Overt-Act they will go upon;

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I think we have an

Objection to the reading thefe Letters that cannot

be got over. The Law hath in all Ages guard-

ed the Life of the Subject againfl Profecutions for

High-Treafon, and with a great deal of Reafon :

The Offence is great; the Profecutions fupported

with great Power and Influence, and the Confe-

quence great to the Party concerned; for it is

not only the Lofs of his Life, but the Ruin of his

Family and Eflate ; his Family muft be infamous

and his Eflate forfeited ; therefore the Law hath

guarded the Life of the Subject in a more parti-

cular manner, againfl thefe Profecutions, than

againfl any other capital Offences.

Before that happy Law, 25 Edw. III. the Pro-

fecutions in Cafes of High-Treafon were fuch,

that no Man could be fafe againfl them. There

was fcarce any thing a Subject could do, even any

thing that did but give the Umbrage of Offence,

but might be drawn into the compafs of High-
Treafon. In Truth, the Definition or Defcription

of High-Treafon before this Act is fo loofe that

it gave a colour for this Proceeding. It was among
other things,, Si quis aliquid egerit vel agi procura-

verit ad feditionem domini Regis vel exercitusfui, &c.

And in purfuance of this Notion of High-Treafon,

imprifoning an Officer of Juflice, and Officers

cheating Soldiers of their Pay, killing a Perfon

going to Lift himfelf, &c. were before this Act

f The French King. t Duke D'Aumont. h Duke D'Aumont. * Tories.
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adjudged High-Treafon. And I can fhew that

fome of thofe hard Cafes happen'd the Circuit be-

fore the Act. And therefore the Legiflature

thought fit to afcertain what Offences fhould be

Treafon for the future. And our Hiftorians re-

mark, that from the Time of this Lav/, the Sword

that before hung by a {lender Thread over the

Heads of the Subjects, was then removed; and

for this Reafon likewife the Parliament is called

Benediclum.

It is true> that the bare Compaffing, or ima-

gining the Death of the King is Treaibn, and it

ought to be fo ; for in that precious Life the Com-
mon Weale, the Happinefs of all the Subjects, is

eminently concerned. But this Act of Parliament

hath provided, that fuch Compaffing, &c. fhall

be proved by Overt-Act, that is, not by Infe-

rences, {trained Conftructions, or rhetorical Ag-
gravations, and the like, but by plain Proof of

Matter of Fact. And I am bold to fay, the In-

tent of this Law was perverted for fome Ages, by

laying the Charges of High-Treafon, fo loofe, that

the Party could not tell how to apply his Defence :

And of this, and other Kinds, there had been fe-

veral irregular Profecutions ; fuch as thofe of Col.

Sidney, my Lord Ruffel, &c. And for thefe Rea-

fons the late Act for regulating Trials, &c. hath

provided, that no Evidence of an Overt-Act, mail

be given but what is fpecially laid in the Indict-

ment : And fuch a Certainty was intended, that

the Party might know certainly and exactly to

what Points to apply his Defence.

If it fhould be admitted that what is done in

this Indictment is fufficient to anfwer this Act, the

Intent of it will be eluded: For the Intent is,

that the Criminal fhall know how to apply his

Defence. The Offence in this Cafe is fuppofed to

be in the Letters ; muft not therefore the Letters,

or the Subftance be fet forth ? For my Part I think

they muff, or they cannot be given in Evidence.

I can produce very ancient Authorities to this pur-

pofe : And as to the Modern ones, befides that in

Dr. Sacbeverell'sCa.k, I have one in my Eye, which
is Mr. Attorney's own Authority (for which I fhall

always have a great Regard) in the Indictment

againft Gregg *, which was a Profecution of Mr. At-

torney's , there the Letter was fet out at length.

Mr. Att. Gen. That was not in my Time ; I

was not Attorney then.

Mr. Hungerford. I beg Mr. Attorney's Pardon ;

but he has been in and out fo often, that I may
have been eafily led into a Miftake.

I have another very great Authority, and that

was in the Cafe of Dr. Sacheverell: The Queftion

was put to all the Judges for their Solution, whe-
ther in all Informations and Indictments, for Of-
fences in Speaking and Writing, the Words ought
not to be particularly mentioned ? This was the

Queftion propofed, and it was anfwered, that it

ought fo to be: Your Lordfhip's Anfwer was,

That you was of the fame Opinion with your Bre-

thren. You, my Lord, Mr. Juftice Tracy, agreed

in the fame Opinion, and fo did the Eleven Judges
then prefent; which was, that the Words fuppofed

to be criminal, whether written or fpoken, muft
be exprefly fpecified in the Indictment or Informa-

tion. This I am fure is the greateft Authority
that can be in any Cafe : It is the Authority of all

the then Judges of England, who were but Eleven,

the Lord Chief Juftice Holt being then lately dead

;

fo, my Lords, to juftify this Objection, we have
the Precedents on our Side, particularly of Cole-

man, Fitzbarris, Gregg and Sidney ; in all which
Cafes the Papers fuppofed to be Criminal, or the

Subftance of them, are inferted in the Indictment.

We have the Authorities for us, Ancient and Mo-
dern, and we have the Reafon of the Thing for

us. It being the higheft Reafon and Juftice, that

as the Prifoner is now to have fome Days before

his Trial the Names of his Judges, viz. the Pan-
nel of the Jury, fo he fhould be apprized of his

Charge with fo much Certainty, as to know how
to apply his Defence-, and we don't doubt there-

fore but we fhall have your Lordfhip's Opinion
in favour of our Objection.

Sir J. Jekyll. We may offer this Book and thefe

Letters, notwithftanding this Objection. Mr. Ward
did not go fo far as Mr. Hungerford, that it is ne-
ceffary to fet them forth Verbatim. As to that, I
believe it was never done in any Cafe : And as to
Coleman's Cafe, thofe Letters are not fet forth

;

but it is alledged, that they were wrote to pro-
cure the Aid and Affiftance of the French King,
as it is here faid, that the Prifoner's Letters were'

to defire Affiftance from France to the Rebellion
here. If it be neceffary to fet forth the Words
in the Cafe of a Mifdemeanour for a Libel in the
ordinary Courts of Juftice, it is becaufe the Libel
is the Crime ; but in the Cafe of a treafonable

Correfpondence it is otherwife •, for there the Let-
ters are not the Crime, but the Overt-Aft of the

Treafon, which is the Manifeftation of the Crime.
Befides, let it be confider'd what Evidence are we
going to offer ; we offer the Letters fent to him
in anfwer to the Letters wrote by him, and to re-

quire us to fet them out in the Indictment is i.m-

poffible •, when we make it part of the Charge that

the Letters were fent to France, it is to mock us to

call upon us to produce thofe Letters themfelves.

Mr. Ward feemed to admit, that the Claufe

mentioned by him in the Statute 7 Will, was
grounded upon the 25 Edw. III. For that old

Statute doth require, that a Man be attainted by
Overt-Act ; and what doth 7 Will, do in that Cafe?

No more than to make plain what the Law was
before: For the Words are, that no Evidence

fhall be given of an Overt-Act that is not exprefly

laid in the Indictment ; and from thence the Pri-

foner's Council would infer, that no Letters ought

to be given in Evidence that is not laid in the In-

dictment: No, the Act requires only that theQvert-

Act be exprefly laid in the Indictment. Not that the

Evidence fhall be exprefly laid in the Indictment.

All that the Court is to confider as to this Matter

is, whether the Over-Act is not fufficiently laid

in the Indictment ; it will not be doubted, but

that writing Letters to excite Rebellion is an
Overt-Act. Then the Queftion is, whether this

Indictment doth not exprefly alledge this Overt-

Act. The Words in the Indictment are thefe;

ghtodquepradiEius Francifcus Francia, ad dicl' Prc-

dicon' & Diabolic' & Proditor' Intencon' £5? propo-

Jit* pred' ulterius perimplend' perficiend' df? ad effec-

tum redigend' pofteafcil' eodem primo Die Septembris,

Anno fupraditlo nee non diver/is al' diebus £s? vici-

bus tarn antea qiiam pojlea apud London' pred' in

parochia & Ward' pred' malitiofe, diabolice ti? prodi-

torie compofuit & fcripfit £5? componi £s? fcribi caufa-

vit feparales proditorias Epiflolas notifican' intentiotf

&? refaction' ipfius Francifci Francia £2? prad' al\

Jan. 19. I70t- at the Old Bailey, when Sir Simon H«rcourt was Attorney- General.
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proditor' Jur* prted' adhuc ignoC ad bellum pr<ed'

contra diSium Dominum Regem nunc movend, &c.

This is furely an exprefs laying the Overt-Ad of

which thefe Letters are the Evidence.

I have been looking upon the Cafe
fnaliifi.

of my Lord prepn . which though it

was before the Statute of 7 Will, yet my Lord

Prefton was not without the Afliftance of Council,

though he was not allowed them in Court. It

is there laid, that he wrote feveral Letters to in-

form the French King what the Forces of the

Kino-dom were ; and the Indictment goes on to

ftiew the Purport of thofe Letters. But in that

Cafe the Letters are not particularly fet forth :

And yet that was never made an Objection at his

Trial, or before Judgment. In that Indictment

is charged his writing Letters, and they arc de-

fcribed, and that we have done. This we think

is fufficient, that is, that we are bound to lay the

Overt-Acl exprcfly, but not the Evidence of that

Overt-Acl.

Mr. Attorney-General. This is a furprizing Ob-

jection ; we admit there muft be an Overt-Acl

kid in the Indiclment, and that is all that the

Law requires ; we muft fet it out fo that we may

apply our Evidence to it : And the Meaning of

the Statute is, that when you lay one Overt-Acl,

you muft not prove another.

The Inftance that is given by the Serjeants is

very ftrong, and every Body remembers Cole-

man's Cafe, the writing Letters is an Overt-Aft •,

but it is not neceffary to fet them out, that being

the Evidence of the Overt-Acl. In Gregg's Cafe

there was but one fingle Letter which was let out,

and that was ftopp'd at the Poft-Houfe.

In the Cafe of Libels they muft be fet out

;

and that was the Opinion of the Judges in Dr. Sa-

cheverell's Cafe in Proceedings at Law : But the

Courfe of Parliament was held by the Lords to be

otherwife. We have charged that he agreed to

write Letters ; that he did write them, and fend

them ; and now they would have us to fet out

thofe Letters that are fent beyond Sea : And if

that were Law, it would be impoflible to convicl

any Man of a Correfpondence Abroad, becaufe

the Letters are fent Abroad.

If it was charged in the Indiclment, that he

wrote to a great Numbers of Men, it would not

be neceffary to fet out the Names of thofe Men

;

this is a Matter we don't need to labour much ;

for this laft Statute has not alter'd the Law, as

to the laying the Overt-Acl, but only as to the

Proof: that when you lay one Overt-Acl, you

can't prove another. I don't know that it could

have been done before ; fo that that Acl, as to

this Matter, was only a Declaration of what the

Law was before.

Mr. Soil. Gen. We think none of the Cafes in-

ftanced prove what is infilled upon in this Cafe.

That Cafe of Coleman is miftaken, for the Letters

in that Cafe are not fet forth particularly, only

the Subjccl-Matter and Nature of them, as is here

done.

They can inftance no Cafe where the Indicl-

ment is for writing trealonable Letters, import-

ing a treafonable Correfpondence, that ever they

were fet out in the Indiclment ; and to what a

length would fuch an Indiclment be carried, if it

ihould be done in this Cafe.

Col. Sidney's Cale is againft them ; for there

was a whole Volume wrote by him, and there

was nothing put into the Indiclment but the Sub-
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fiance of a very little Part ; and that was Col.
Sidney's own Objeclion : Says he, Am 1 to be found
guilty for a little Part that is cull'd out of the rtft ;

when if the whole wasput in, by comparing the whole
together, it might not be pojjible to collet! any Treafon

from it ?

As to Dr. Sacheverell's Cafe, that is quite dif-

ferent from this ; for that was in the Cafe of a

Libel, where the Offence properly confifts in the

Expreffion. But even in the Cafe of Libels. I

muft beg leave to deny that the particular Words
muft be fet out in the Indiclment ; for a Libel

may be fo out in Latin, which is the better and
fafer way •, and then if you fet out the Subftance,

it is fufficient. And if you may fet it out in Latin,

it can't be true that you are bound down to the

particular Words, for Latin Words and the'Engli/h

"Words can't be the fame.

The Acl of Trealons fay, No Evidence is to

be given but of the Overt-Acl laid in the Indicl-

ment. Now what is that Overt-Acl here ? It is

writing Letters, which is fptcially exprefs'd, and

the Subftance of them fet out, which (hews them
to be trealonable. The Inconvenience objecltd is

nothing, unlels it fhail be fuppos'd, that the Pri-

fontr may have wrote fo many treafonable Letters

that he can't recollecl them all.

Befides, it is to be confidered, that all thefe

Letters import a Correfpendence, and fb are to

be confider'd as many, but as one Overt-Acl, it

is entire, and it is unrcafor.able as well as unne-

ceffary, that the whole Correfpondence fhould be

fet out. Therefore we think we have done what
is fufficient, and that they can't give one Inftance

of a Cafe where the Treaibn confifted in writing

many Letters of Correfpondence, that the Letters

themfelves were let out. For the Defign of the

Law before-mentioned was no more, than than it

fhould not be lawful to lay one Overt-Acl, and
give Evidence of another.

The Treafon is, the Prifoner has imagin'd the

Death of the King •, and the Overt-Acl is, he has

wrote feveral Letters, that is exprefly and fpeci-

ally laid ; and then to diftinguifh thefe Letters

from all others, the Subftance of thofe Letters

are fet out, notifying his Intentions to raife a Re-
bellion in this Kingdom, and inciting thofe in fo-

reign Parts, to aid, affift, and join with him.

But this Objeclion may receive another Anfwer,

and that is, that there are two other Overt-Acls,

befides his writing of treafonable Letters, which
are confpiring, conlulting, and agreeing to raife

a Rebellion and Infurrcclion in this Kingdom,
and folliciting Aid and Afliftance from France :

And thefe Letters are very good Evidence to

prove thofe Overt- Acls ; for I believe it will not

be denied, but that thefe Letters are Evidence of

a Confpiracy, and therefore if they could not be

read in Evidence to prove the writing Letters,

becaufe they are not fet out in the Indiclment,

yet they may be read as Evidence to prove a Con-

fpiracy.

Therefore we infift that we are right both in

Point of Reafon and of Precedent.

Mr. Ward. My Lord, I beg a Word or two

by way of Reply : They fay we have not men-

tioned one Cafe where the Treafon is grounded

upon Letters, where they have been fet out in

the Indiclment : I believe they can't fhewone Cafe

where it has been otherwife ; we infift upon the

Cafe of Colonel Sidney and of Fitzharris.

L 2 Colonel
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Colonel Sidney's Objection was, That they had

not fet forth the whole Book ; but they had fet

forth entire Paragraphs, and that is what I infift

they fhould have done in this Cafe.

They would have it believ'd, that the Act ofPar-

liament, 7 Will, is nothing, and that the Law

ftands as it was upon 25 Edw. III. It was taken

to be a great Point gained v/hen that latter Act

was pafs\h and I am lorry it is like to have fo little

Effect, But we infift that what is now offer'd

hath all the ill Effects that were before the making

of the Act. It is not that a Man muft be fup-

pofed to have wrote fo many trealbnable Letters,

that he can't remember them 5 but he don't know

which of his Letters may be called fo. And it

was open'd that thefe Letters were of fuch a Na-

ture, that they could not be underftood without

producing them. Therefore they ought to be fet

©ut, that fo a Man may know which of them to

defend himfelf againft.

There is one Cafe like this, which is the- Cafe

of the good Name of a Man : Every Witnefs that

is produced may be examin'd to his Credit j but

you will not fuffer particular Facts to he prov'd

upon him, becaufe he can't be prepar'd to main-

tain every Action cf his Life. And that was in-

tended in this Cafe •, that a Man might be certain

what he was to defend himfelf againft, efpecially

in the Profecutions from the Crown, which ufu-

ally come with a greater Weight than other Pro-

fecutions. Agreeable to this have all the Prece-

dents been when any thing have been founded

upon Letters.

Mr. Attorney fays, thpt the Letters are fent into

France : So that they can't be produced. I did

not object that they ought to be produced. But

they are going to produce a Copy-Book to prove,

that there were fuch Letters, and by that they had

the fame Opportunity to fet them out, as if they

had the Letters themfelves.

There is no Inconvenience to the Crown by this

Method, but the greateft Inconvenience to the

Subject by omitting it ; for he may have all the

Letters he ever wrote brought againft him, and

he muft off-hand give an Account of them.

[Mr. Ward, who had an Hcarfenefs upon him,

clos'd with faying, that his Voice fail'd him, and

that he couldgo no farther."]

Mr. Hungerford. The Gentleman who isjoin'd

with me in the Defence of the Prifoner complains

that his Voice fails him ; (God be thanked) I have

no Defect of that fort, for I can fpeak pretty

audibly, but I have a greater, for I had my In-

ftructions late laft Night.

Mr. Sollicitor obferves, that we are not entitled

to have thofe Letters fet out either by Reafon or

by Precedent •, as to the Reafon of the Thing, I

appeal to your Lordfhip, whether all the Laws

relating to Trials of Treafons, and fome others,

which are to take Effect three Years after his Ma-
jefty's AccefTion to the Throne, and the Death of

the Pretender, have not been grounded on this

oreat Reafon, to guard the Subject againft Pro-

fecutions that have been fometimes carried on with

too much Severity. And as to What relates to the

prefent Cafe, that the Overt-Act fhould be fo par-

ticularly laid, as to defcribe the Offence with fo

much Certainty as to enable the Prilbner to apply

his Defence.

What is the Intent of laying an Overt-Act at

alL but that the Defendant may fuit his Defence

to it. If it is intended only that you fhall not

give Evidence of. a different Overt-Act, as the

KingVCouncil would expound it, that will be of
little avail to the Prifoner. It is of late grown
to be the Practice to lay the Treafon, to be in

confpiring the King's Death, and the Overt-Aft,
to be confpiring to levy War, though by the

way, that is making one Article of the Statute of

25 Edw. III. redundant and ufelefs ; for if every

Intention of levying War doth imply an Inten-

tion to kill the King, there was no need of
making levying of War a diftinct Species of
Treafon at all, for at that rate it was compre-
hended in the former. And as to what is laid,

that laying the Overt-Act is a fufficient Certainty

of the Charge, I think not ; fuppofe the Overt-
Act laid, be levying of War, or an Intention fo

to do •, there are feveral Inftances of levying War,
one way mav be by muftering Men, another by
feizing fome of the King's Ships : Thefe are io

different, that upon a general Charge of levying

War, one perhaps may prepare to defend him-
felf at Sea, and may be attack'd at Land; and
fo vice verfa ; and by the general Charge he
don't know what to defend himfelf againft.

Therefore the Intent of that Act muft be to give

a Man liich a Notice of the Matter laid to his

Charge that he may know how to apply himfelf
to his Defence.

I did not infift that the Letters at large ought
to be fet out, but the Subftance of them, or the

Paragraphs in them, containing the Words fup-

pofed to be criminal, fo that a Man may know
how to apply to his Defence.

As to my Lord Pre/ton's Cafe, though he
might have Council to advife him, yet in his

Time he could not (as the Judges had determin'd

the Matter) have a Copy of his Indictment ; fo

that he was outed of any Obiervations that could

be made upon it. Therefore if that Indictment

is in the iame manner with this, it will be no
Authority, for it might be irregular, as we infift

this is, and yet there could be no Opportunity to

oblerve it fo to be.

As to what Mr. Sollicitor infift, that to infert

the Letters at large, would make the Indictment

long and tedious : For God's Sake, my Lord, is

there any Competition betwixt the Charge of two
or three Skins of Parchment, and a Man's Life ?

As for the Precedents, I have here Coleman's

Cafe, where the Date and Subftance of the Letter

is mentioned •, and in Colonel Sidney's Cafe, the

Title of the Book, and the Paragraphs infifted

on are fet out : In Fitzharris's Cafe, the Letter

is fet out Verbatim. As to what is faid of Dr.

Sacheverell's Cafe, that it was only for a Miide-

meanour, I am bold to fay, the Queftion was

afk'd in general, whether in all Indictments or In-

formations, the Words or Writing fuppos'd to be

criminal, fhould not be fet out. And furely if in

a Cafe of Mifdemeanour, where only Fine or Im-
prifonment is the Punifhment, fo much Certainty

is required, much more Certainty ought to be re-

quifite in a Charge of High-Treafon, where Lofs

of Life, Eftate, and Pofterity are the Confequence

of the Conviction. So that as I obferv'd before,

we have both Reafon and Precedent with us, and

they have neither of their Side, and thofe Pre-

cedents that are of their Side, were before the late

Act of Parliament.

L. C. Baron. The Objection made by the

Council for the Prifoner, is, that tho' here is an
Overt-Act laid, yet it is not laid fo exprefly as if

ought
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ought to be. The Overt-Aft is, That he wrote

feveral Letters to Foreigners, to move and excite

a War, and fent them to Foreigners beyond Sea

for that purpofe. I think this is a fufficient De-

fcription of the Overt- Aft, and that is as much

as is required by the Aft of Parliament. That

Aft fays, That no Evidence fhall be given of any

Overt-Aft, that is not exprefly laid in the Indift-

ment. None can fay that here is not an Overt-

Aft exprefly laid. If it is exprefly laid, and fuf-

ficiently defcribed, fure it is not neceffary to men-

tion all the Evidence that is to prove the Overt-

Aft, the Intent of the Law is no more, than that

the Overt-Aft fhould be fufficiently defcribed

and charged in the Indictment. It is here fo

charged and defcribed, the Dcfign and Intention

of the Letters is fet forth, and they go to prove

that fuch Letters, manifefting ilich Defign and

Intention, were written, and that they have laid

that he wrote feveral Letters to move this War,

then they go to produce the Letters. I am of

Opinion, that they need not be more particularly

defcribed, and it would be endlefs to fet out all

the Letters.

As to what Mr. Hungerford infilled on in Dr.

SachevereWs Cafe (which made a great Noife for-

merly, and has made fome Noife now) the Qae-

flion there put to the Judges, was concerning

Crimes and Mifdemeanours, by Writing or Speak-

ing. As the Crime of a Libel confifts only in

the Words, and therefore they muft be laid in the

Indictment, he might as well have mentioned an

Aftion upon the Cafe for Words. There the

Words muft be exprefly laid, and they muft be

prov'd as they are laid.

But here the Crime is compafling and imagin-

ing the Death of the King, and the writing and

fending of Letters to Foreigners to excite a War
is the Overt-Aft, and that Aft is exprefly laid in

this Indictment, which is fufficient, without fet"

ting forth the Words of the Letters.

If it be laid, that a Man did confult" and agree

to levy War, a Time and Place muft belaid, but

all the Times and Places when and where he met

and confukcd, and all the Perfons Names with

whom he met and confulted, need not be men-

tioned in the Indictment, neither need the very

Words of the Confukation be fet forth. There-

fore I think this Overt-Aft is fufficiently laid,

and, as Mr. Sollicitor obfcrves, if there was no

other Aft laid, but confenting and agreeing to

levy War, they might prove it by Letters, al-

though no Letters had been mentioned ; but here

the Overt-Aft is more particularly defcribed,

that he wrote Letters for that Purpofe. Thofe

Letters are new offer'd to be read, and I think

they ought to be read.

Mr. jujt. Tracy. I am of the fame Opinion

;

I think they have fufficiently fet out the Nature of

the Overt-Aft, writing Letters, praying Aid of

Foreigners to aflift in a Rebellion. Some of thofe

Letters are fent by the Prifoner beyond Sea, and
they can't be fet out; and whatever is alledged as

certainly as the Nature of the Thing will bear,

is certain enough.

But it is objected, you have the Copy-Book,
and you might fet them out by that. But they

don't go on that only, but alfo on feveral Letters

wrote to and receiv'd by the Prifoner ; and to fet

forth all thofe Letters in an Indictment, is againft

Reafon. But this is not the Matter now, for

Mr. Ward's Objeftion was againft reading the

Letters, which were offered to prove the writing

and fending the Letters as charg'd in the Indict-

ment ; but inftead of fhewing they are not Evi-
dence, you have run into Exceptions againft the

Indiftment itfelf •, for Uncertainty is not fetting

out the Letters particularly, which is not the

Queftion now.

Mr. Juft. Pratt, I am of the fame Opinion ;

many Things have been faid of the great Care of
the Laws to preferve the Life of the Subject. I

hope we fhall always take a due Care to put thofe

Liws in Execution; but we muft take Care of
that precious Life, as Mr. Hungerford calls it, not

to hazard it, by making it too difficult to convict

any Man of fuch a Correfpondence. And if we
fhould make fuch a Conitruftion of the Aft, as

they contend for, it would be impracticable to con-

vict any Man in any Cafe.

The Aft fays, the Overt-Act fnall be ex-

prefs'd, and is it not fo here ? It is writing Let-
ters, and with an Intent to levy War againft the

King ; fo that it is mentioned that there were
Letters, and the Purport of thofe Letters is fet

forth. And whatever has been faid of that Cafe
that was in the Houfe of Lords, none of you can
fay, but that it is fufficient in Informations for

Libels, if they are fet forth in Latin, to fet out

the Subftance of die Words. If a Man fets it out

Verbatim, he is tied up to the very Words, and
by a Letter or Syllable miftaken, he may be
gone : Therefore the beft way is to fet out the

Subftance only. Now what would you be the

better, if you had what you afk, if there are

feveral Letters to the fame purpofe ? It would
only be fetting out the fame thing over and over
again. This fatisfies the Meaning of the Aft as

fully as if they had been fet out at large. But to

fay that a Man fhall be bound to fet out the Let-

ter itfelf, when it is gone from him, when it is

gone beyond Seas, how can he come at it ? If

that were to be the Cafe, a Man might carry on
a Correfpondence, and you could never convict

him.

I think this is fufficient to anfwer the Intent of

the Aft. They offer you Letters that correfpond

with the Indiftment, and if they offer any that

do not, they will not be proper to be read.

Mr. Att. Gen. We will read our Letters as

they are in Time and fhew the Nature of the

Correfpondence.

Mr. Ward. I am informed there are different

Hands in that Book : Now whether your Lord-
fhip will admit them to read it under a general

Proof of his owning it to be his Copy-Book, or

whether you will not expeft that that which is

his Writing fhou'd be prov'd, and what is wrote

by any other, to be wrote by his Direction, or

Privity ; for a fmall Variance in the Expreffion

may turn a Man out of his Life.

Mr. Hungerford. All that the Witneffes faid

was, that the Prifoner faid it was his Copy-Book.
Now whether he is to be affected by every Word
in that Volume, is what we muft fubmit to your

Lordfhip ; and whether they ought not to Angle

out which were wrote by him, and which not

;

for his faying that is his Book, that is, the Vo-
lume is his, the Cover is his, and the Paper is his,

but it will not imply that he is the Author of all

thofe Letters.

SwJ.Jekyll. My Lord, when they objected

to our reading the Copy-Book, they ought to

have made all their Objections together ; but this

being
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being in the Cafe of Life, I won't ftand upon

that.

It is plain, it ought to be read ; for you ob-

fcrve the Letters, of which thefe are Copies, are

fuppos'd to be fent to France ; and it is impoffible

to have them -, then what Certainties have we

touching thefe Letters? W: have the taking the

Book, in the Cuftodyof the Prifoner, and if there

had been no more than its being found in his

Cuftody, I apprehend we might have been let in

to read them. But it goes a great way farther ;

for feveral of the- Witneffes fwear that he own'd

it was his Copy-Book of his Letters.

Let's confider how this Evidence would have

beer, if it had been given to every Letter in par-

ticular. If we had produ'd one fingle Copy of

a Letter, and he own'd that was a Copy of a Let-

ter wrote by him, will any one doubt but that it

might be read ? Now the Evidence fay that he

own'd this to be the Copy-Baok or his Letters.

Mr. J lift. Tracy. Where the Court is in no

doubt, we muft not fpend our Time in arguing

Points that have nothing in them.

L. C. Baron. It is no matter whether any of

them are of his Hand-writing or not, I think they

may be read.

Then the Original Letters and the Tranfla-

tions were ihewn to Mr. Bowyer, and to

Mr. Ozell, who prOv'd them to be true

Tranflations.

[Clerk read.] This is directed to Francis Francia,

and dated Paris Feb. 26, 17 15.

Sir J. Jekyll. This is dated at Paris, Feb. 1715,

but dm is in our Stile 17 14.

[Clerk reads.]

SIR,

TH E bafe Dealings of the Sieurs Treacher and

Robmfon with me, made me always believe

that you would not otherwife bring them to

Rcaion, than by preffing them without Mercy.

Since you have taken the Trouble to begin, be

pleaicd to continue to the laft the fame Attention

to my Concerns which you have had hitherto,

and never confent to any Accommodation till they

have remitted not only my Disburfements, as you

tell mc by your laft of the 18th Inftant, but alfo

the whole of what may come to my Share, either

in Money or Wine, fuppofing there remains any

unfold, which I cannot believe. As for the fourth

Share I have in the fifty odd Hampers, which I

bought for them ot my Friend, the Count de Sil-

lery, if, in order to enter upon an Accommoda-
tion, you fhould content yourfelf with their con-

figning into the Hands of Mr. Harvey the 2500
and odd Livres difburs'd, be perfuaded, Sir, that

to get the Remainder, you'll find yourfelf under

the NeccfTity to begin anew, to give yourfelf the

fame Trouble which you have taken hitherto.

Therefore while you hold them, I beg the Favour

of you to make an End of the Matter with them
at once, and in order thereto, not to give them
any Quarter. They have render'd themfelves un-

worchy of it upon all Accounts. If in this Matter

you think the Intereft of the Chevalier (Sir Thomas)

Hanmer, Speaker of the laft Parliament, may be

uieiul to you •, he does me the Honour to be one

of my Friends : Vifit him from me ; and I flatter

mylelf he will readily grant you his Afliftance,

when you have inform'dhim how the Cafe fhands,

and of the unfair Dealing of thofe Merchants to-

wards me. I am fo jcnfible of Mr. Harvey's Fa-
vours, that I would do any thing to fhew him
my Gratitude. Acquaint me therefore with the

true State of his Affair with the a D. D. and write

to me about it in fuch a manner that your Letter

may warrant my Sneaking ; .fter which I fhall do
my belt to procure him ihe Sacisfa^-ion he defires ;

be pleafed to affure him of it trom me. I hope

that e're it be long you will acquaint me with the

Conclufion of my Affair ; in the mean time, I (till

affure you that 'tis not poflible for any one to be

more perfectly than mylelf, Sir, your moil: humble

and obedient Servant,

jyAulmay.

Sir J. Jekyll. We read this only for the fake of
the Poitfcnpt, which we will read prefently.

Prifoner. This is not a true Tranflation.

L. C. Baron. What is your Objection to the

Tranflation ?

Prifoner. There is not one Word true in it.

L. C. Baron. Who do you depend on to tran-

flate it for you ?

Prifoner. Upon Mr. Flint.

L. C. Baron. Tells us your Objection to the

Tranflation ; tell us in any one material Part

wherein the Tranflation don't agree with the O-
riginal.

Mr. Flint. One can't carry it in one's Head.
Prifoner. I hope you will not take it for a true

Tranflation when it is falfe.

L C. Baron. We fhall if you don't fhew where-

in it is falie.

Sir J. Jekyll. We will read the Poftfcript, let

them fhew any Miftake in that.

[Clerk reads.}

As I have Reafons of private Concern to know
what faffes in the Country you live in, you will fen-

fibly oblige me in informing me of it now ana then.

Be perfuaded of my Difcretion, and thai the State is

no ways concerned in my Curiojity ; nothing raifed it

but the Concerns of my Wife and her Family, who is

Irifh.

Prifoner. That is wrong tranflated.

L. C Baron. How do you tranflate it ?

Flint. You will oblige me lenfibly to inform

me of the fame. B^ perfuaded of my Difcretion,

and that the State has nothing in my Curiofity :

The Intereft ofmy Wife, who is Irifh excites me.

Sir J. Jekyll. That is to the fame Effect as we
read it. We will now read a Letter from the Pri-

foner to D*Aulmay, out of his Copy-Book.

[Clerk leads.]

Paris. Mr. D'Aulmay de Coulange.

London, March W, 17 14.

I
Received the Honour of yours of the 26th

paft. I fhall no ways fpare the Sieur Treacher,

but profecute him to a final Judgment, which

cannot be 'till July. He makes an Apothecary's

Bill fets down the Wines that are fold, for the

moft part, at half a Crown per Bottle, but I fhall

prove him the contrary. I am very forry this

Bufinefs fhould go fo far, but it is according to

the Laws of this Country, where we have no need

of Sollicitations •, without which he will, within

that Time, be certainly adjudged to pay. You
muft in the mean time tranfmit hither the Ori-

Duke D'Aumont.

rinal
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ginal Paper you have of your Partnerfhrp in the

"Wine; and without flattering you, a Letter of

Attorney ; for a Letter of Order will not be fuf-

ficient. You may leave a Blank for the Name or

your Attorney, which Mr. Harvey fhall caufe to

be fill'd up as he fhall think fit : But if you come

to this Town before the Trial, as you told me,

you may avoid all this. I fhall take the Care I

have promifed you without any queftion. As for

the Bufinefs of Mr. Harvey<, with the a D. D. the

Matter is, that he has difburs'd about 200/. Ster-

ling : And that altho' the b D. D. had fent to pay

him what he had advanced, it happens that the

Perfbn whom he intrufted with it did not do it

:

Therefore, if there were Means to give the faid

c D. D. to underfland, without hinting that it

comes from hence, that 'tis not juft Mr. Harvey

mould be fo long out of Pocket, that would un-

doubtedly have the defired Effect •, for which I

would, in particular, be very much obliged to

you, csV. As for News from this Country, I

learn fometimes more in the Paris Gazette than

here, where the greateft Part of the Houfe mur-

murs to fee the Low-Church flourifh. The latter

are very eager for a War, but they want the Em-
peror and Money. 'Tis firongly reported, that a

Match is very forward between the Prince who is at

Lorrain, and one of the Arch-Dutcheffes : Let me

know whafs in it, Jince that's effential to your Wife's

Intereft. If, as I doubt not, an AmbafTador comes

hither, I defire you to fend me, by one of his

Dofnefticks, 20 Ells of fine Ras—de—St. Maur,

very black, and at the cheapeft Rate, and order

the Bearer to receive the Account, or acquaint

me with it, that I may remit it to you. Forgive,

I befeech you, this Trouble, and believe me with

a great deal of Devotion.

Prifoner. He that commits a Fault in any effen-

tial Matter, may do fo in the reft. They have

opmed all my Letters at the Poft, and they have

made this Book for me ; there is not one Word
of my writing.

[Clerk reads.] This is directed to Francis Francia.

and dated

SIR, Paris, March 20, 17 15.

I
Received yefterday the Honour of your Let-

ter, dated the 14th Inftant; I confefs to you

that it is a very melancholy thing for me to be

obliged to give you fo much Importunity upon
the account of a Knave, from what you wrote to

me in your former. I hoped a fpeedier Conclu-
fion of my Affair. Notwithftanding which, you
tell me we muft flill wait till the Month of July.

This is a very long Delay : But if there be an ab-

folute Neceffity for it, we muft e'en fubmit. Be
that as it will, I beg the Favour of you, Sir, not
to give any Quarter to fuch People who deferve

none, for their Difhonefty which they fhew in its

full Latitude. As for the Papers I have, I fhall

fend you fuch as will be neceffary for you, as foon
as you fhall write to me for them. But as for a
Letter of Attorney, I have figned a general and
very extenfive one, on the 7th of Auguft laft, which
is as particular and as ftrong as poffible ; there is

a blank for the Name, and it was fent to Mr. Ar-
thur at London, by Mr. the Chev Cantillon of Pa-
ris. The faid Mr. Arthur having made no ufe of

it, yOu may get it out of his Hands and ufe it in

your Name, or in the Name of fuch a Perfon
which you and Mr. Harvey fhall think fit to pitch

upon. I believe it may be fuffkient, and that the

faid Mr. Arthur will make no difficulty to deliver

it to you when you fhew him this Letter. How-
ever, I would caufe Mr. Cantillon to write to him
if it were neceffary.

You may allure Mr. Harvey, that I fhall do my
utmoft to procure him Satisfaction in the Matter
you write to me about, without expofing him to

any Inconveniencies. I have followed the Court
too long to be ignorant how to deal with our

Grandees.

Flint. It is how to deal with our Lords.

[Clerk reads.] I fhall endeavour to know precife-

ly the time of the Departure of the Marquis d'Al-

legre, who is to go AmbafTador to London ; and I

fhall charge fome Body in his Retinue with the

20 Ells of black Ras de St. Maur, which you afk

of me; if there be any ching elfe for your turn,

let me know it. As you tell me you learn the

News of England in the Paris Gazette ; i'o I
d

you that I learn from you the Marriage of
the Chevalier de St. George with the Arch-Dutchefs.

Prifoner. Is it Chevalier de St. George there ? It

is not fo in the Original.

CI. of Arr. It is Ch de St. G .

Mr. Att. Gen. That is Chevalier de St. George.

Mr. Ward. That is no part of the Key that was
given by the Prifoner.

Sir J. Jekyll. Read it as it is.

Mr. Hungerford. Let it be read then without a
Comment.

Mr. Ward. I wifh the Jury take fufficient No-
tice, that fome of thefe Letters are not wrote by
the Prifoner, but only directed to him.

[CI. reads.] / learn from you the Marriage of the

Ch de St. G with the Arch-Dutchefs. "Tis

true, there was fome talk of it when the Peace was
made with the Emperor, but finee that Time no men-
tion has been made of it. That in my Opinion would
be no proper way to bring his Affairs to a happy Iffue*

A Party War would befi fuit with his Affairs. God
is above all ; but I hope ftill, neither do I believe

my Hopes altogether ill grounded. I fhall be glad
in the mean time to fee what Turn Affairs will

take before I crofs the Sea. Wherefore I ftill de-

fire you to inform me. I affure you, Sir, that I

am more than any Body elfe in the World,

Tour mofl humble and

mofi obedient Servant^

D'AULMAY.

Sir J. Jekyll. The former Letter from Francia.

defires to know what there is in the report of the

Marriage of the Prince at Lorrain, with the Arch-

Dutchefs. This Letter in Anfwer fays, it is true*

there was fome mention of it about the time of

the Peace with the Emperor ; but he is of Opi-

nion, that a Party-War would be more advan-

tageous.

[Clerk reads.] Paris, Mr. D'Aulmay de Coulange.

SIR, London, March ^. 1J15.

BY my laft of the ^4 Inftant, I gave you an

Account of my Proceedings againft the Sieur

Treacher, which I again hereby confirm to you j

a Duke D'Aamont, b Ditto D'Aumont. c Duke D'Aumonfc i Tern in the Original.

and
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and that I fhall get you b between this

and July, or he fhall fly his Country. Here is a

Letter for Mr. le
c D. D. which, 'tis wijh'd, may

fucceed better than the former, which have not been

anfwered, though entirely for the Affairs : Bejides

which, I muft needs tell you by the Bye, that Perfons

of 50 or 60 Thoufand Crowns a Tear cannot with

Prudence run the hazard of lofing fuch Eftates, un-

lefs 'more Encouragement be given them. Tou will be

perfectly underftood if you fay this to fome Perfon fa-

miliar with that Lord, or to himfelf: And I add

from my felf, that the Misfortunes of a certain Per-

fon are more owing to Neglecl on your fide of the Wa-
ter, than to the Party that's againft him. So if this

continues, your Wife muft lofe all Hops.

Prifoner. If this had not been tranflated wrong
on purpofe, and with defign to take away my
Life, there could not have been fuch a Miftake

made. There is a fcratch at the bottom of the S

to make it an L. It was Ses Affaires, His Affairs,

and it is made, Les Affaires, The Affairs.

Whereupon the Original was fhewn to the In-

terpreter, and viewed by the Court, and ap-

pear'd to be a very plain L, and not alter-d

from an S.

[Clerk reads.] This is directed to Francis Francia,

and dated

SIR, Paris, April 2, 171 5.

Have deliver'.d .to M. le
d D. D. the loft Letter

you diretled to me for him ; and when 1 infi-

nuated that there was in it a Complaint for not having

receiv'd an Anfwer to t>he former, I was particularly

affured, that an Anfwer had been written, and even

in relation to what is due to Mr. e H That the

fame exprefs'd a Sorrow for not having clear'd

with him fooner; that fome Mifunderftandings

had been the Occafion of it: But that however he
was defired to mention the exact. Amount of his

Difburfements, as well for the private Account,
as for that of Count de Thouloufe, and that the whole
would be immediately put into the Hands of the

Chevalier Cantillon, to be paid in London to Mr. f H.
This, Sir, is what I was told Yefterday, and which
I delire you to repeat to Mr. s H. affuring him,
that if he thinks me proper to ferve him in fome-
thing elfe, he will do me a real Pleafure in em-
ploying me.

The Marquis d'Allegre does not feem yet very

forward to fet out for London ; therefore if you
are in hafte for the black Ras de St. Maur, which
you have wrote to me for, let me know which
way you defire I fhould fend it to you, and I fhall

do it immediately -, you may depend upon it.

I fhall add nothing to the laft Letter I writ to

you concerning the Rogues our Merchants; but

I fhall continue ftill to defire you to rid me of
that Affair as foon as you can.

We have nothing new here •, the Works of the

Canal of Mardyke are, by Orders from Court,

redoubled. I know not what Succefs Mr. Cado-

gan's Journey to Vienna has had ; but we feem not

to be very much uneafy at it : / have fpoken, as

you defired me, to the Perfon for whom you fent that

Letter which you diretled to me, and who has made
me the faireft Promifes in the World', pray acquaint

me with what paffes in relation to Mr. Prior, fince

his return to London ; and believe me ftill moft
perfectly,

SIR,
Tour moft humble,

and moft obliged Servant,

D'AULMAY.

Paris, Mr. LVAulmay de Coulanges.

London, March 44. 17 15.

I
Receiv'd the Honour of yours of the 20th In-
ftant : I can aflure you had the King himfelf

to do with the Sieur Treacher, it would not be in

his Power to get him adjudged to pay before the
Month of July, and even in cafe the faid (Treacher)

do not appeal to the Chancery, which 'tis not pro-
bable he will do, becaufe in fuch a Cafe a Mer-
chant entirely lofes his Credit, and befides he fhould
be obliged to depofit 300 Pounds, for which I

formerly arrefted him, which would not at all

fuit with him : Therefore, Sir, be affured that I
fhall do all that can be done, notwithstanding all

his Threats againft me, for having been, fays he,
fo bold as to fue him. I am only forry, not to
have begun fooner, and to have fhewn him any
Civility. Mr. Harvey and I fhall be very much
obliged to you, if you can find an opportunity to have
Jujlice done him. I am perfuaded, that to deal with
him in this manner is no good Policy, and if ever I
have the Honour to confer with you, Ifhall convince

you, how by negletls (which however are not ufual
with Men ofyour Nation) moft ferious Affairs have
miferably mifcarried. As for News, we hear no-
thing but an approaching War. 'Tis even pre-
tended that the Emperor is coming again into our
Meafures, but I do not believe it : Nor do I fee

any pofiibility of raifing Funds for a new War, at

a time when People are at their Wits ends to pay
the bare Interefts of the Debts contracted in the

laft. I am very much obliged to you for your
intention to fend me 20 Ells of Cloth of St. Maur,
by the opportunity of the Marquis d'Allegre, or
otherwife by any other that may offer : I hkewife
offer you whatever there is in this Country, and
if it were a thing of fmall bulk, we have often

opportunities of Friends who go over into France.

Our Parliament will begin their Seffion very foon,

they meet this Day to choofe a Speaker: We are

going to fee what will be the upfhot of all the

Threats. I kifs your Hands, and am
You may defire Mr. Cantillon to write to Mr.

Arthur, to deliver to Mr. George Francia the Let-

ter of Attorney he has in his Cuftody •, for I have

reafons not to demand it my fclf of the faid Arthur.

Paris, Mr. D'Aulmay de Coulanges.

_ , March 28th,
Lmdon

> April 8th,
r*x*

I
Have the Honour to tell you that yours of the

2d Inftant is come to my hands, and that I

have given a Mr. H, an account of the Subject Mat-
ter of your Negotiation. He is, as well as my
felf, the more obliged to you for it, in that we
believe we ftill have occafion for the Continuation

of your good Offices with the b D. D. What you

fay at the end of your Letter, of your having fpoken

conformably to what I had defired ofyou, is fufficient,

and therefore every thing ought now to be expelled

b Anvordis here 'wanting in the Original. • The Duke D'Aumont.
[ Mr. Harvey. & Mr. Harvey.

d The Duke D'Aumont. Mr. Harvey.

from
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from your Side of the Water, that is to fay Explana-

tions, &c. I was advifed in order to prevent the

Sieur Treacher's removing the Law-Suit to Chan-

cery himfelf, in which Cafe he would become

Plaintiff, to call him before that Court, that he

may anfwer the Interrogatives I fhall put to him ;

which I have done, and he muft anfwer the fame

within a Month at fartheft, and I fhall purfue him

clofe : 'Tis the moft able Lawyer in this Country,

who does me the Favour to give me this Advice,

which will hinder him from Appealing, in cafe

he fhould have a mind to it, which might have

kept you in Play feveral Years.

We fee by the King's Speech to his Parliament,

that there are yet no Alliances made ; and by the

Addreffes of the Lords and Commons, we perceive

plainly that they have an itching towards a War ;

but at the fame time they give to underftand, that

they know not which way to go about it : And
befides the Party of the Pacifick is far more nu-

merous than the others, altho' the others have at

prefent the majority of Votes in the Parliament

;

of which three Parts in four of the Houfe are

highly incenfed, and yet more to fee they pretend

to impeach certain Perfons of the laft Miniftry,

which will infallibly make a great Noife : And if

the Whigs would follow my Advice, and I were

willing to give them a good one, they fhould lie

ftill. Mr. Prior is one of thefe pretended Victims ;•

his Papers are looked over with malicious Eager-

nefs ; he is taxed with having received great Pre-

fents in France ; particularly a great fett of Silver-

gilt Plate ; I believe that if it be fo, he is fo much
the richer for it. This is all that occurs at pre-

fent, and that I am without referve.

Paris, Mr. D'Aulmay de Coulanges.

London, April ^ f 1 7 1 5.

TAm ordered to tell you from Mr. Harvey, that

you will oblige him in defiring Mr. Le a D. D.

from him, to fend hither fome Body to fetch the Horfes

and Dogs which he has had fo long, or elfe to give

order to fome Body to take them, things are here in

fuch a Pojlure, that great Caution ought to be ufed,

not to give Umbrage to thofe in Power, who may put

a wrong Conftrutlion upon the leaf 'Trifles, efpecial-

ly fince the departure of my Lord Bolingbroke,

who is looked upon here as innocent, and People

do not fee how he could be any ways hurt, not-

withftanding the Superiority of the Low Party in

Parliament, which however is divided into two,

who terribly crofs each other, one of which Par-

ties will at laft join with the Tories, if the latter

arc willing : We may draw Confequences : The
Dutchefs of Portfmouth, who is at prefent here,

gives a great deal of Offence, as I am informed,

by pretending to prove that the late King fames
had poifon'd his Brother Charles ; it was not ex-

pected, that after fo many Years Retirement into

France, fhe fhould come hither to revive that

vulgar Report, which at fo critical a Time can-

not be for any good Purpofe.

I have nothing to add to the Affair of your Mer-
chants, but what I have already acquainted you
with. On the other hand, I confirm to you all

that I have recommended to you to tell the Per-
fon I wrote to lafc. KifTing your Hands, I re-

main

We expect here fhortly the Marquifs d'Allegre,

for our Ambaffador at your Court has Orders to
take a Character upon him. I hope you will find

means to charge fome Body in the Retinue of the
former with the 20 Ells of Ras de St. Maur, and
20 Ells of Taffety, with blue and white Stripes,

for a Woman's Summer Suit ; lefs than 20 Ells

would do, if it be broader than half Ell, and if

it be poffible, to fend at the fame Time a Scarf

made of a good black Silk pinked, for a Woman
of a moderate Size, and (lender, you will oblige

me, and when you fhall acquaint me with the

Price of the whole, I fhall either pay it to the

Perfbn who fhall be charged with it, or fhall re-

mit it at your Choice, &c. As for the Scarves,

they are fold ready made at the Palace

Since what's above written, the Honour of yours

of the 1 2th Inftant is come to my Hands. I fhall

caufe your Letter of Attorney to be got out of
Mr. Arthur's Hands. There are at prefent great

Debates in the Parliament : There was a Mem-
ber of the High Party, who had the boldnefs to

fuggeft, that this prefent Parliament was illegal-

ly aficmbled, fince the King in his Proclama-
tion gave the People to underftand, that it would
be a great Satisfaction to him if they chofe Whigs,
which he faid is againft the Fundamental Laws of

the Kingdom ; whereupon there arofe high De-
bates, and by the Majority of Votes, to the great

Surprize of the Public, who expected that that

Member fhould be fent to the Tower, it was
carried by a hundred Voices, that the faid Pro-

clamation fhould be examined •, which 'tis thought

will caufe great Divifions. When I have any thing

particular to impart, Ifhall do it by a ftrange Handy
andfubfcribe James Chretien, which you muft take

notice of, andprovidedyou acquaint me that you have

received this prefent Letter, without being opened, 1

fhall be eafy.

Directed to Francis Francia, and dated

SIR, Paris, April 24, 1715.

I
Have received your two Letters of the 8 th and
1 8th Inftant. I am very much obliged to you

for having removed to the Chancery the Law-Suit

I have with Treacher, fince you think it the moft

expeditious way to make an end of it : I ftill beg

of you the continuation of your Care, in order to

compafs the fame ; as alfo to acquaint me how
that Affair ftands at prefent. I reckon that Mr. Ar-

thur has by this time delivered to you my general

Letter of Attorney, according to the Order he

has for it from the Chevalier Cantillon, of which

you will alfo be pleas'd to inform me.

The Time of the Marquifs d'Allegre's departure

for London is not yet known here. I fhall not

then fail to defire fome Body in his Retinue to

charge himfelf with the Ras de St. Maur, Lute-

firing and Scarf which you have dcfired of me.

Tour laft was delivered to me very fafe yefterday

in the Evening : Be eafy as to that Matter, as well

as to whatever Mr. James Chretien may write to

me ; pray defire him when he does me the pleafure to

write to me, to be very particular as to Fails, and

to be well informed before hand : In all which I rely

on your Prudence. If during thefe troublefome Times

Mr. b H. fhould think fit to make ufe of Mr. J. Chre-

tien, he may : But his Letters fhould be directed

to my felf, and I fhould afterwards make what

ufe of them he fhould think fit. Affure him ftill

» Duke D'Aumont.

Vol. VI.

b M. Harvey.

M of
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of my readinefs to ferve him, and that I mould

be very glad to give him Marks of my Grati-

tude, for the Trouble he takes, as well as your

felf, in my Affair v/ith Treacher.

When the Character of the Dutchefs, who is

lately gone to London, fhall be well known,

People will not be farprized at the Part fhe actu-

ally plays there ; but I hope it will produce a

different Effect from what fhe expects, and that

we fhall come at laft to a happy Unravelling.

a Mr. le D. D. was to fend about a Fortnight ago

one of his Men to London, to bring him his

Horfes and Dogs. If he is not yet gone, I fhall

not fail preffing for that Matter.

Pray let us hear from you as often as poflible,

and ftill believe me moft perfectly,

SIR,
Tour moft humble,

and moft obedient Servant,

D'AULMAY.

My Lord Stairs has not yet taken any Character.

This is directed to Francis Francia, and dated,

Thomas') Hanmer knows it perfectly well.

We have at prefent no important News in this

Country, unlefs it be confiderable Bankrupcies

among thofe called Agioteurs (or Stock-Jobbers}

of which there are daily a great Number, and
fuch a Scarcity of Money, as pafTes all that can
be exprefled. I am ftill,

S I R,

Tour moft humble,

And moft obedient Servant.

Letter from Francis Francia.

Paris, Mr. D'Aulmay de Coulanges.

T , May 20th,
London, & —°>~ 171c,

' tune 1 oth, ' *>

I

SIR, Paris, May 1, 17 15.

Have received yours of the 25th paft, with

that of Mr. b H. for the c D. D. which I have

fent to him into the Country, where he is at pre-

fent. At his return, I fhall not fail telling him

what you tell me about what is due to the faid

Mr. d H -, and in what manner he defires the

fame to be remitted to him. AfTure him that in

this, and every thing elfe, I fhall ever do my ut-

moft to do him Service.

By your Letter of the 8 th of April laft, you

acquainted me with the Care you had taken to

remove to the Chancery my Law-fuit with

Treacher, by which means he would be obliged

to anfwer within a Month, and therefore I hope

that in a fhort Time you will acquaint me with

the Conclufion of that Affair, for which I fhall

be very much obliged to you : I little know how

Juftice is adminifter'd in fuch a Cafe in England:

But this I know, that in France, that honeft Fel-

low would long before now have been brought to

Reafon-, however, we muff, wait with Patience

to the End.

Pray allure Mr. J. Ch. that I am, and fhall

be very much obliged to him for what he fhall

write to me : He may likewife depend upon it,

that I fhall make good ufe of it; therefore let

him continue to let me hear from him the ofteneft

he can ; but above all let his News be certain,

and very particular.

There's yet no Talk here of the Earl of Stairs

being near taking his Character. I muft alfo

add, that 'tis not yet known, when the Marquifs

d'AHegre will fet out, but what's believed as cer-

tain is, that they will out of hand work upon

the Fortification of Mardyke : Draw your Con-

jectures upon it.

/ am very impatient to know what paffes relating

to the Projecution of the late Miniftry, particularly

concerning the Duke of Ormond, whofe Name my

Wife bears, and is his near Relation, her Name is

Butler of Kilcom : That Family may not be un-

known to Mr. c H however the Ch. (Sir

J

"11Y laft to you was of the Inftant ; this

.-VI. is to tell you, that without lofs of Time
you muft fend another Letter of Attorney, with
a Blank for the Name ; for Mr. Arthur, after

having kept us long at a Bay, faying he would
look for it, now fays it is loft ; Be that as it will,

you muft revoke that Letter of Attorney, for

we are here in Danger, if Treacher fhould be-

think himfelf of afking by what Authority he is

Profecuted, left, not being able to produce any
Letter of Attorney, this Suit fhould be difmifs'd

with Coft ; you therefore fee the Confequence :

As for the reft, the Affair is on a good Foot,

and I believe he'll not ftay till he's caft. Yefter-

day in the Evening, being the Anniverfary ofthe

Reftauration of King Charles II. there were here

great Riots *, nothing was heard among the People

but Curfes againft the prefent Miniftry, and long

live "James the Third, and the Duke of Ormond.

This being fo public, that it cannot fail reaching

your Parts, I acquaint you with it, and affure

you that,

I am, &c.

Mr. Harvey falutes you, and bid me tell you, thai

when there is any thing New, if he cannot write

to you himfelf, he will caufe the Sieur J. C. to

do it for him.

This is directed to Francia, and dated,

SIR, Paris, Auguft 7. 17 15.

AT this very Inftant I receive your laft ofthe

firft Inftant. I will not ceafe returning

you Thanks for the Care you are willing to take

of my Affair, defiring you ftill to continue to the

End.

Tou have Rcafon to be angry at the Indolence (or

Supinenefs) you expoftulate about, but be perfuaded,
i
tis only fo in Appearance. I even hope thai by this

Time you have convincing Proofs of it, and that

fuitable Returns are. made to the good Difpo/iiions ;

fo that with God's Blefjing upon our Friend's good

Caufe, he will at laft cait his Adverlary, at leaft

no Succours, or powerful Sollicitations fhall be want-

ing. Let me hear, I befeech you, about it as

often as you cans and depend upon it, that by

fo doing you will oblige Perfbns, who in a proper

Time and Place will be thankful to you for it.

The Poft (going off) preffes me, therefore I con-

» The Duke D'Aumont. Mr. Harvey. f The Duke D'Aumont * Mr. Harvey. « Mr. Harvey.

elude,
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dude, attiring you ftill, that no Man can be

more truly than I am,

SIR,

Tour moft humble.

And moft obedient Servant,

D'Aulmay.

Prifoner. That is wrong tranflated. In the

French it is Gagner fa Caufe, which is gain his Suit-,

and they have tranflated it, caft his Adverfary.^
_

Mr. Cowper. He talks of powerful Sollicita-

tions on our Side, that is in France ; and what

could that be to a LawSuit here ?

[Clerk reads. ]

This is directed to Francis Francia, and dated,

SIR, Paris, Auguft 10. 1715.

T ASt Night I receivedyour loft of the fifth In-

| > fiant ; pray be eafy, and e're it be long you'll

be fatisfied.

The Chief of the Name of our Friend the Abbot,

arrived here on Tuefday Night in good Health. He

is very well pleafed, and has Reafon to be fo. He

prepares to return Home with all Speed, and will

carry thither his Friends to fpend the Vacation Time.

This very Moment I'm going to wait upon him ; I

reckon to attend him in his Journey, or to be with

him foon after his Departure. Pray continue in-

forming me the ofteneft you can, ofyour Health,

and of that of our Friends : You know how dear

they are to me, and what Concern I have in

them i therefore do not deny me that Favour, nor

that of believing me perfectly as I am,

SIR,

Tour moft humble,

And moft obedient Servant',

P A Y E N.

Mr. Cowper. Though this Letter is fign'd Payen,

yet it comes from D'Aulmay •, he fays the Chief

of the Family is arrived here ; that is, the Duke
of Ormond. And that he was to return from

thence, and keep his Vacation in England. Hi-

therto the Correfpondence was with the Duke
D'Aumont, but from this Time it is with the Duke
of Ormond.

[Clerk reads.]

This is directed to Francis Francia, and dated,

SIR, Paris, Auguft 21. 17 15.

THIS is in Anfwer to your two Letters of
the 12th and 15th Inftant. I fhould have

fooner anfwered the firft, had it not been deli-

vered to me after the Departure of the laft Poft.

Our Friend's Law-Suit will fhortly, God willing, be

readyfor Trial, every Thing is preparingfor it. The
Friend, my Wife's Relation, has read your two Let-

ters, with which he is very well fatisfied. He de-

fires you, as well as myfelf, to let us hear from you
as often as you can. Since his Arrival he has had
two Fits of a tertian Ague, of which the Bark
has rid him. He was purged Yefterday Morn-
ing, and in the Afternoon went to take the Air,

fo that he is now in perfect Health, and in a Con-
dition to attend his Affairs with full Liberty. I

have not heard from Mr. a H. and I do not be-

lieve he has chang'd his Habitation ; at leaft it is

not come to my Knowledge. The King has been

indifpofed for fome Days pad, but without Ap-
pearance of any ill Confcquence. Thanks be to

God, who will preferve him to us a long Time
in his Mercy.

Half a dozen Souls of Lower Normandy, and

as many of Mans, muft needs poffefs the Body of

Treacher, and inipire him with all the Chicanes

he plays me. I fhall write to him by the next

Poll, in the Stile you advife me, and agreeably

to my own Thoughts ; for I fwear to you, there's

nothing I fhall leave undone to get my Right of

fo great a Knave •, I hope you will fecond me,

and that you'll give him no Quarter. Pray ac-

quaint me with what you have done upon this

laft Incident.

Sir, I falute you, and am perfectly,

Tour moft humble,

And moft obedient Servant,

PAYEN.

Mr4 Cowper. This explains that there was ano-

ther Caufe depending, befides that of the Law-
Suit : For he fays, our Friend's Caufe will foon

be ready to be tried, all Preparations are making

for it. Now there was no Caufe depending in

France, for this a French Letter from D'Aulmay,

and it is not pretended that there was any Law-
Suit depending on that Side the Water.

{Clerk reads.]

This is directed to Francis Francia, and dated,

Auguft 24, 1715*

I Am very much furprized not to have heardfrom
you by the Poft that came in Tefterday. Our

Friend was at my Houfe expecling the fame. We
defire you both, Sir, not to let one Poft go of with-

out writing to us, and acquainting us with whatpaffes

with Relation to our common Friend's Law-Suit.

Whenyou fee Mr. b H. affure him that all our Friends

are perfectly well. The King's Health grows better

and better, Heaven be praifed.

/ have had fo much Bufinefs for fome Days paft,

that I could not write to Treacher : I would do it

fpeedily, but I ftill defire you not to give him

any Quarter, and to believe me perfectly,

SIR,

Tour moft humble,

And moft obedient Servant,

PAYEN.

Mr. Soil. Gen. This fhews a Diftinftion be-

tween the Caufe of their common Friend, and

the Caufe of Treacher.

[Clerk reads.]

This is directed to Francis Francia, and dated

SIR, Auguft 28, 1715.

I Receivedyour Letter of the 2zd Inftant. Were

Ipermitted to give you a Detail of all that paffe*

concerning the Affairyou know, you would be more eafy

Vol. VI.

* Mr. Harvey. b Mr, Harvey,

M 2 than
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thdn to me you appear to be, and charge us with lefs

Negligence than you do. I know there arefavourable

Moments, which 'tis dangerous to let flip ; but then

willyou not agree with me that 'tis Matter of Pru-

dence to forefee all lnconveniencies^ and in order to

that to take fitch right Meafures as to be able to fur-

mount them all ? 'This is now doing, be perfuaded of

it, and that your Friends are more "zealous than ever

to procure you all the Satisfaction you may dejire,

therefore be eajyfome time longer. You did me the

Pleafure to acquaint me, that on the 29th paft,

Treacher was adjudged to deliver to us his Ac-

count within a Fortnight, that he had fince made

a new Chicane, demanding Security for his

Charges, and with the Meafures you were pleas'd

to take upon this Demand. I therefore believed

that after this we might hope to fee an End of

this Affair, and that nothing now remained but

to perform the Judgment or Rule of the 29th of

July, nevertheleis we are (till put off to the Month

of Otlober. Pray acquaint me with the Caufe

of it.

We are here in a cruel Uncertainty about an

Affair of the lad Importance, God grant it may
have a happy I flue. Pray continue writing to

me every Port, and believe that I am ever with

all my Heart, Sir, your moft humble and molt

obedient Servant,

P A Y E N.

Mr. Denton. This appears to be a Letter in

Anfwer to Francia's, wherein he complains that

Things are not carried on with Vigour •, I know*

fays he, there are favourable Moments that are

not to be let flip •, and then at laft he concludes

with the private Affair of 'Treacher.

[Clerk reads.']

This is directed to Francis Francia, and dated,

SIR, September- 3 . 1 7 1
5

.

Received this very Inftant your laft of the 29th

paft, and as the Port is going off, I have only

Time to write an Anfwer. I did not write to

you by the laft Poft, neither did I receive any

of your Letters. I am extream forry for all the

Trouble I give you with refpect. to the Law-Suit

I have with that Rogue, I fhall ftill hope that

,thro' your Care we fhall both be fhortly rid of

him.

We have at laft had the Misfortune to lofe the great-

eft of Kings, who, as undoubtedlyyou know it already,

died on Sunday laft at a Quarter paft Eight in the

Morning, with all the Sentiments of Religion and

Greatnefs that were ever obferv'd in the greateft He-
roes ; and indeed 'tis generally acknowledged, that

he never was greater than in the laft Moments of
his Life. Monday Morning my Lord Duke of

Orleans, accompanied by the Princes of the

Blood, and the Dukes and Peers, repair'd to the

Parliament, where he was declared Regent of the

Kingdom with all the Authority due to that Dig-

nity and his illuftrious Birth. All France is over-

joy'd to be under his. Government, from which

they can certainly expect nothing but happy Days,

fince no Perfon in the World has more Grandeur,

Equity, Penetration, and Virtues in general,

than that Prince. The Journey to Germany would
be proper enough, and I wijh it may be performed,

the rather becaufe for the Reafons you know ; our
Meafures have beenfomewhat fufpended, . tho\ not in

the leaft broke, Things going on ftill better and better -

7

be perfuaded of it, as alfo that due Notice is taken of
your good Will. In particular a Mr. H muffc

undoubtedly be where you were told, for he has
not appeared here. *Ts true my b D. D. and
c M. B. are in a Houfe within a fmall half League
of this City, which a private Perfon has lent them,

but they receive there all their Friends, with whom
they go to dine and ftp every Day y they are both in

perfeci Health, and their Thoughts are very different

from thofe that are afcribed to them, I mean that

they arefuch as they ought to be; affure their Friends

of it. It is not poflible for me to fend to you
to Day what you defireof me, 'twill be for the
next Poft. Let no one flip without acquainting

me of your Health, for which you know I am
more concern'd than any Body elfe, and be per-
fuaded that I am, more than any Man, Sir, your
moft humble and moft obedient Servant,

P A Y E N.

Mr. Cowper, junior. This Letter gives an Ac-
count of the Death of the French King, and tho'

Things may be fufpended, ftill they will go on,

and it will be for the better.

Mr. Denton. The next Letter is not directed

to any Body, it came under a Cover, which is loft ;

it appears to come from D'Aulmay, but not to be

directed.

L. C. Baron. Is this one of them that was found

in his Houfe ?

Mr. Denton. This is one of them found there,

and owned by him.

[Clerk reads.']

SIR, September 6. 1715.

YOUR Letter of the fecond Inftant was juft

now deliver"'d to me. My laft inform'd you,

that 'twas only on the firft Inftant we had the

Misfortune to lofe the greateft of Kings, but that

for the Comfort of France, God had referv'd

M. the Duke of Orleans for our Regent. I can-

not write any thing that can be depended upon
in relation to what you defire of me by your two
laft, as foon as there is any thing I fhall inform

you of it. Since the Abbot B came into

this Kingdom, he has been very often in the

Country ; he is ftill actually there •, as foon as he

is return'd I fhall not fail fpeaking to him accord-

ing to what you write ; as I have no Intimacy

with any Merchant, and he muft be one that I

can depend upon to make ufe of his Direction, I

cannot give it you this Day, but I hope I may
by the next . Poft •, in the mean time pray continue

.writing diretlly to me, and if you have any trufty

Hand, other thanyour own and your Sons, it would

not be amifs to make ufe of it ; I even am of Opinion,

that a Key or Cypherfor the principal Names which

you may fend me, and of which you Jhould keep a
Copy for your own Ufe,. would be neceffary, for I
will ingenuoufty own to you that fuch a Precaution*

appears to me very neceffary. You'll find here en-

clos'd the Picture you have defired of me -, it be*

ing impoffible to lend it to you without folding,

when you have received it you muft wet a Cloth,

which you'll lay on a Table, and will lay alfo

Mr. Harvey. b Duke o/Ormond* Lord Bolingbroke.

the
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the Print upon it, which will take the Plaits away.

The Poft (going off) preffes me, and I have but

juft Time to tell you that I am your moft humble,

and moil obedient Servant,

PAYEN.

Prifoner. My Lord, this Letter is another

Hand, and there is no Direction on it.

L. C. Baron. It was found among your Papers,

and you own'd it ; that is prov'd by the Secre-

taries.

Prifoner. This was pretended to be ftopp'd at

the Poft-Office.

L. C. Baron. No, it was found among your

Letters.

Mr. Soil. Gen. The next Letter is very particu-

lar •, he fays the Caufe of the Common Friend will

be at an End in a little Time-, but as to his own

particular Caufe, he was unhappy to have to do

with fo troublefome a Man.

[Clerk reads.]

This is directed to Francis Francia, and dated,

SIR, Sept. 14, 1 7 15.

I
Did not write to you by the laft Poft, by

reafon I did not receive your laft Letter,

which by the by is without Date, till the Day

after its Departure. Nor did I receive any from

you by the Poft that came in Yefterday, fo that

you owe me Anfwers to my two laft, which I

expect with Impatience, particularly an Anfwer

to my laft, by which I lent you what you had

defir'd of me. The Contents of your laft without

Date has given me a great deal of Satisfaction, as

well as to all our Friends, who return you Thanks

for it, and have charged me to affure you of it, and

dejire you to continue. We knew already Part of

what you write about our Friend's Caufe, which with

God's Bleffing, willfoon End to his Satisfaction, other-

wife all Appearances would be very deceitful. As

for my ov.n Caufe, I cannot forbear telling you, that

I am very unfortunate in having to do with fo difho-

neft a Man, after having trufted my Goods with

him, and loaded his Partner with Services and

Civilities during his Stay here. But my Com-
fort is, that you will not give him a Moment's
Refpite, and that you will at laft rid me of his

unworthy Chicanes. I could have wifhed the

Abbot had not embark'd me with fuch People •,

although I am perfuaded he did not do it with

any ill Intention, yet I find myfelf embarrafs'd

with thofe Scoundrels, whom I trufted only at

his Defire.

The King went the Day before Yefterday to

the Parliament to hold his Bed of Juftice, where

the Regency was confirm'd to the Duke of Or-

leans, with all the Authority which fuch a Dig-
nity deferves. We have nothing elfe new at pre-

fcnt. If any thing happens I fhall not fail ac-

quainting you with it. I am moft perfectly, Sir,

your moft humble, and moft obedient Servant,

PAYEN.

As we go at this time pretty often into the

Country, be not uneafy if perchance I fhould fail

fome Poft or other, anfwering your Letters re-

gularly, which however will not be, except whea
I fhall be abfolutely obliged to it.

Here's a Direction which you may ufe for the

future if you think fit. But in cafe you do, you
muft conform yourfelf to this Model, and mark
two Strokes both before and after the Word
Paris.

To Madam, Madam the Widow de Beague,

Merchant, at the Fair Star, Rue Tirechape.

=Paris=-

Mr. Att. Gen. The Correfpondence now be-

gan to be dangerous, and therefore it was to be
directed to a Woman, that there might be the

lefs fufpicion.

[Clerk reads.]

This directed to Francis Francia, and dated,

SIR, September 17. 1715.

YOUR laft of the 9th Inftant, which I fhould

have had on Friday laft, was not deliver'd

to me till Sunday in the Evening. I afcribe this

Delay only to the Winds, which may have hin-

dered the Packet-Boat from having as quick a

Pafiage as ufual. I have caufed the three Letters

which you have directed to me, to be put into

the Polt-Houfe.

My a D. D. had already friew'd me the Epi-
taph you have fent me, which with Gentlemen
will ever pafs for the Spring of Cerberus. I hope
alio that infamous Author will fooner or later

be rewarded according to his Deferts. His Info-

lence may even be attended with fome unexpected

Confequences. We have, Thanks be to God,
a juft and equitable Regent, from whom we may
hope every thing, he has already given us Proof
of it, by the good Order he has fettled in all

Affairs, which indeed had a great Occafion for

it.

You muft undoubtedly have receiv'd by this

time the Picture you defired of me, and I hope
you will acquaint me with it by the next I fhall

receive from you.

All our Friends are, thank God, in perfect

Health, My b D. D. had fome Days ago a flight

Fit of an Ague, which had no Confequence.

We are here, as well as you, impatient to attain

the Endpropos'd. But we muft take Patience, and
be rul'd by thofe who are at the Helm. I ftill affure

you, Sir, that I am with Sincerity your moft

humble, and moft obedient Servant.

Mr. Soil. Gen. We fhall conclude the Letters

with a very particular one from D'Aulmay, which
taxes Francia with Impatience, and takes notice,

that Mr. Harvey was eager for going into France,

but it was the Duke of Ormond's particular Ad-
vice, that he fhould not go, becaufe probably

they might come over to him.

[Clerk reads.]

This is directed to Francis Francia, and datedt

SIR, September 23. 1715.

IN Anfwer to your laft of the 1 6th Inftant, I be-

gin with telling you, that our Friends are much

to blame to throw themfelves fo precipitately into Im-

Ditke of Ormond. *> Duke of Ormorrd.

patience.
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patience, efpecially
a M* H. to whom you jhall com-

municate this Letter as foon as you have received itt

and tell him he muji by no Means think of coming

hither, as by your loft you acquainted me he is pre-

paring to do. 'Tis my b D. D. who charges ine ex-

prefly with what I write to you, and who defires him

tojiay. He may eafily guefs at the Reafon, which

will giveyou all to underjland, that this is not a time

to be impatient, but to fhew more Refolution than

ever.

Perhaps fome Letters for me will be delivered

to yon •, as foon as you have received them, I de-

fire you to forward them to me, either with the

Directions I have fent you, or directly with my
own.

You know perhaps by this time, that 'tis pre-

tended that there are at Havre-de-Grace two Ships

on Board of which are Arms, which has alarm'd

fome People, but without ground. For if that

News be true, they muft be Arms that are fent as

a Prefent to the King of Per/la, as I am told ;

therefore this ought not to make any Body uneafy.

As for the reft, Sir, let all of us recommend our

felves to God, and hope we Ihall foon be quiet,

you at home after your wife Government, lhall

have diflipated all the Feuds that difturb the Tran-

quility, and we by the paternal and indefatigable

Care which my Lord Duke of Orleans takes upon

him to procure us, the Repofe which we have ib

great Occafion for, and of which we have fo long

been depriv'd.

You will judge of it by the Lift I fend you of

the Councils he has lately eftablifh'd, and which

are certainly made up'of the moft able, and moll

worthy Perfons in the Kingdom. I expect to

hear from you, and ever am, Sir, your moft

humble and moft obedient Servant,

PAYEN.
Whereabouts are we with our honeft Man ? I

hope you will acquaint me by your next.

Mr. Denton. My Lord, the time when the King
was pleas'd to acquaint the Parliament with the

Defign of the Invafion, was the 20th of July.

We have a Copy of the Speech examin'd.

Then Mr. Paxton was fworn.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Have you examin'd this, and is

it a true Copy.

Mr. Paxton^ Yes.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Where did you examine it ?

Mr. Paxton. At the Parliament Office.

Mr. Hungerford. What did you examine it by ?

Mr. Paxton. By the Journal of the Houfe of

Lords.

Clerk reads. Die Mercurii 20 Julii 17 15.

His Majefty after conferring with the Lord
Chancellor, fpake as follows.

My Lords and Gentlemen,

I
Have given Direction to my Lord Chancellor

to declare to you in my Name and Words, a

Matter I think of the greateft Importance.

'Then the Lord Chancellor fpake a follows %

I have receiv'd his Majefty's Commands, to

deliver to you in his Majefty's Name this his Ma-
jefty's Speech now put into my Hands by his Ma-
jefty from the Throne.

My Lords and Gentlemen,

THE Zeal you have (hewn for preferving the

Peace of my Kingdoms, and your Wiidom

in providing fo good a Law to prevent all riotous

and tumultuous Proceedings, give me great Sa-

tisfaction, but I am forry to find that fuch a Spi-

rit of Rebellion hasdifcover'd itfclf, as leaves no
Room to doubt, but thefe Diforders are fet on
Foot and encouraged by Perfons difaffected to my
Government, in Expectation of being fupported

from Abroad.

The Prefervation of our Excellent Conftitu^

tion, and the Security of our Holy Religion, has

been, and always lhall be my chief Care -, and I

cannot Queftion, but your Concern for thefe in-

valuable Bleffings is fo great, as not to let them
be expofed to fuch Attempts as I have certain Ad-
vices are preparing by the Pretender from Abroad,
and carrying on at Home by a reftlefs Party in

his Favour.

Gentlemen of the Houfe of Commons,

In thefe Circumftances I think it proper to afk

your Affiftance, and make no doubt but you will

£o far confult your own Security, as not to leave

the Nation under a Rebellion actually begun at

Home, and threatned with an Invafion from
Abroad in a defencelefs Condition ; and I fhall

look upon the Provifion you fhall make for the

Safety of my People, as the beft Mark of your
Affection to me.

Sir J. Jekyll. My Lord, We lhall not trouble

the Court nor the Jury, with reading any more
Letters ; I only take leave to obferve fhortly up-

on the Letters which have been read. The Cor-

refpondence began with a Defire from IfAulmay
to have fome Correfpondence about Affairs here,

becaufe his Wife was related to the Duke of Or-
mond. Francia tells him, there was a Difcourfe

about the Marriage of the Pretender with the

Arch-Dutchefs, which, fays he, is effential to the

Interefl ofyour Wife. D''Aulmay writes in Anfwer,
that there had been fome Talk of that Marriage but

he don't care to come into it : He thinks a Party War
would be much better. Francia writes again, that

it can't be expetledthat Perfons of Fifty or Sixty Thou-

fands Crowns aYear jhould run the hazard of lofing

fuch EJlates, unlefs more Encouragement were given

them. And that is followed by another Letter

from Francia, wherein he writes, that now we are

to expetl every thing from yourfide the Water, that

is Explications, &c. Then he defires him if he

thinks proper, that he would change his Name, and

write by afirange hand.

There is this obfervable in thefe Letters, that

the Prifoner plainly fhews his defire that there

fhould be an Affiftance for the Pretender from
France ; and fo all the Letters taken upon him
fall into that Defign ; nay, he was anxious and
impatient for the critical Minute. The Death of

the French King is taken notice of to be a great

Lofs, yet he is affured that things will revive

again ; for that Perfon that fucceeded in the Go-
vernment, had favourable Thoughts and Inten-

tions.

The Letters that are entered in his Copy-Book
fpeak very plainly ; and Gentlemen, what can be

the purport of thofe Letters of the Prifoner's that

are not entred, that can't be fought for any where

but in thofe Letters, which were fent hither in

Anfwer to them, and he is fo far from pretend-

ing that thefe were not Letters fent in Anfwer to

his Letters, that when he came to be examined,

» Mr. Harvey. * Duki of Ormond.

h&
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he told what the Defign of them was ; that it was

the Defign of the Pretender to invade his Majejly's

Dominions ; and therefore it now appears plainly

to you, that he did fbllicite Aid and Affiftance

in order to an Invafion from Abroad, and an In-

furrection at Home, in favour of the Pretender,

and in order to depofe his Majefty.

Mr. Att. Gen. We fhall leave it here, and fub-

mit it to your Lordfhip and the Jury, upon the

Evidence we have offer'd.

Mr. Ward. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and

you Gentlemen of the Jury, I am Council for the

Prifoner, and what I fhall humbly offer to your

Lordfhip before we go into our Evidence, is a

finale Point, we fhall lay before you and infift

upon •, a particular Circumftance in the Indict-

ment, which is fuch, that confidering the Circum-

ftance of my Client, it is impoiTible as the Law
Hands, that he fhould be guilty in fuch manner as

is charg'd in the Indictment.

The Prifoner happens to be an Alien born, he

was born at Bourdeaux in France ; he came from

thence into England, and never was Naturaliz'd.

He owes therefore no natural Allegiance, nor can

be guilty of any Treafon againft the King as his

natural Liege Lord, as it's laid in this Indictment.

There is a Diftinction of a double Allegiance,

one that is due from a natural born Subject, and

the other that is due from an Alien. The latter

owes only a local Obedience with refpect to his

Protection, whereas the former owes it in refpect

of his Birth. This is a Diftinction well known
in Calvin's Cafe. It appears, that if an Indictment

for Treafon be againft an Alien, it muft be charged

to be againft his Allegiance in general, but not

againft his natural Allegiance. This Is taken no-

tice of in a great many Cafes. In the Reports of

my Lord Hobart, Vaughan, and Keyling, there are

feveral Cafes which fhew this Diftinction.

In my Lord Chief Juftice Holt's time, in the

Trial of Cranborn and Lowick, April 22. 1696.

an Exception was taken to the Indictment •, that

it was not faid Contra naturalem ligeantiam ; and
in that Cafe, Calvin's Cafe was agreed to be Law.
It was held, that in cafe ofan Alien, he ow'd only

a general Allegiance ; and it was agreed, that in

cafe of an Alien, it muft not be Contra naturalem

ligeantiam; and my Lord Chief Juftice Holt fays,

if it were 10, it would be ill. And it may be

given in Evidence, that he is an Alien, in order

to acquit him of a Crime, charg'd to be againft

his natural Allegiance ; there is none fuch due.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, the Objection is

Founded on a Fact. If the Fact is admitted, we
will argue upon it ; if not, we will call fome Wit-
nefTes to prove it.

Then Simon Francia was fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Pray give an Account what
you know of the Prifoner, what Conntryman he
is, and where he was born ?

Simon Francia. He is my Brother, he was born
in France at Bourdeaux.

Mr. Att. Gen. Are you Elder or Younger than
he ?

Simon Francia. I am Four Years Elder.

Mr. Att. Gen. How then can you remember
what was done when you was Four Years old ?

Simon Francia. I can't remember the Day of his

Birth, but I was bred up with him at Bourdeaux,
we were all born in the fame Houfe.

Mr. Hungerford. What Age was you of when
you firft remember him ?

Simon Francia. I remember him when I was

about Six Years old.

Mr. Hungerford. And you don't remember that

your Father and Mother came to England in that

time ?

Simon Francia. No.
Mr. Hungerford. Did your Father and Mother

live at Bourdeaux when you was about Six Years

old?

Simon Francia. Yes.

Then Jaques Gonfales was fworn on the Books of

Moles. And an Fnterpreter was fworn, be-

caufe the Witnefs fpoke Englifh very imperfe£lly.

Mr. Hungerford. Pray give an Account what

Countryman the Prifoner is, and where he was

born ?

Gonfales. The Prifoner is the Son of George

Francia, and Mary Gonfales my Sifter. He wns

born at Bourdeaux the 26th of March, New Stile,

Sir J. Jekyll. How do you know he was born

there ?

Gonfales. Becaufe I was prefent when he was

born. My Houfe was over-againfc my Sifter's,

who was the Prifoner's Mother ; afterwards he

was baptized in the Church of St. Andrew.

Mr. Hungerford. We have two or three WT
it-

neffes more, his Godfather and Godmother ; but

I think it plainly prov'd by thefe Witneffes, fo

that we need not go any further. Mr. Attorney,

do you admit it, or fhall we examine more Wit-
neffes ?

Mr. Att. Gen. Prove what you can ?

Mr. Hungerford. Then Mr. Attorney, you admit

what we contend for. I am fure if he be a good
Englifoman, he cannot be a falfe Traitor.

Mr. Att. Gen. He fpeaks good Englifh.

Then Ernes Lamira was fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Give an Account whether you
know where the Prifoner was born ?

Lamira. He was born at Bourdeaux, I liv'd there

when he was born.

Then Jaques Gonfales was call'd again.

Mr. Att. Gen. How long hath the Prifoner liv'd

in England ?

Gonfales: I can't tell pofitively.

Mr. Att. Gen. As near as you can ?

Gonfales. I can't tell, for he has liv'd at one part

of the Town, and I at the other.

Then Simon Francia was call'd again.

L. C. Baron. How long ago did your Brother

come into England?

Simon Francia. He hath been here twice. He
was here about Twenty Years ago, and this laft

time, he hath been here about Six or Seven Years.

L. C. Baron. How long did he ftay when he

firft came ?

Simon Francia. About Eight or Nine Years.

Then Cecilia Ceres was fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. What do you know of the

Prifoner ? What Countryman is he ?

Ceres. I went to School with him at Bourdeaux.

Mr. Hungerford. Where was he reputed to be

born ?

Ceres. At Bourdeaux, in the fame Street where

I was.

Mr. Hungerford. How old was he when you

knew him firft ?

Ceres. We were both Children.

Mr. Hungerford. I think the Place of a Man's
Birth can't be better prov'd, it is prov'd by fome

that were in the Room at his Birth, fome that

went
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went to School with him, and fome that knew

him there a Child.

Mr. Att. Gen. If the Jury mould be fatisfied

with this Evidence, it will not acquit the Defen-

dant, the Opinion in Cranborn's Cafe being, that

the Word Naturalem was not neceffary to be in

the Indictment ; and adding an immaterial Word
will not therefore make the Indictment bad. If

this does not fatisfy the Defendant's Council, I

fhall infift that this Point be found fpecially.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. If you infift that you have

given a fufficient Evidence to fatisfy the Jury,

and indeed it is a ftrong Evidence, Mr. Attorney

fays, if the Evidence is to the Satisfaction of the

Jury, he is willing to find it fpecially. Therefore

are you willing to leave it to the Jury on that

fingle Iffue ?

Mr. Hungerfcrd. That is giving up all the

reft. I would a little enforce and apply this Evi-

dence.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. I believe, if Mr. Attorney-

General defires it to be found fpecially, it was ne-

ver known to be denied.

Sir J. Jekyll. I defire it may be found fpecially.

Mr. Hunger-ford. I will be bold to fay, this Ob-
jection is in all the Authorities which we have in

the Law touching this Matter, held good : A
Man who is not a natural born Subject cannot

owe a natural Allegiance : And it is very hard,

that without offering any Reafon, to raife a Doubt,

but upon bare afking to have a Matter found fpe-

cially, it muft be fo.

Mr, Att. Gen. If you have a mind to it we will

debate it with you now.

Mr. Hungerford. With all my Heart, I am
ready to fpeak to it now.

Sir y. Jekyll. If we were to expect the Judg-
ment of the Court upon it now, I would debate

this Matter now, and I fhould not doubt but to

be able to fatisfy the Court that the Indictment

is well fram'd againft the Prifoner, notwithftand-

ing he is an Alien born.

Mr. Hungerfcrd. I would be glad to hear one

Authority to fupport Sir Jcfepb's Opinion.

Mr. Ward. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, I

am Council for the Prifoner, who ftands indicted

of High-Treafon. The Charge in the Indict-

ment (befides the general Charge of imagining

the King's Death) are confpiring to levy War,
folliciting Aid from Abroad, and writing Letters

for that Purpofe into Foreign Parts.

What they have gone upon has been a long

Courfe of Letters between the Prifoner and D'Aul-

may, alias Payen, at Paris. They have produc'd a

Copy-book of Letters, which they fay he wrote,

and have read fome Letters out of it, which we
muft fubmit to you, whether there is any thing

contain'd in them that amounts to Treafon. They
have alfo produc'd Letters to him from D'Aulmay,

but we muft fubmit that likewife, whether they

can any ways affect him •, he can anfwer only for

what he wrote himfelf.

We did infift upon it, that they ought not to

produce any Letters that were not fpecify'd in the

Indictment, and though we are over-rul'd in that,

yet your Lordfhip will be pleas'd to confider the

Prifoner under this Difadvantage, that he ftands

indicted for writing treafonable Letters, without

one Letter fpecify'd, or the Date, and much lefs

the Subftance of it, fo that he can't be fuppos'd

to be ready to offer any Evidence, or to give any

Anfwer, to explain all the Letters that in the

Courfe of his Life he may have wrote, and per-

haps fome of them may be fo darkly penn'd, as

not to be capable of an Explanation on a fudden.

It may be neceffary alfo to fhew your Lord (hip

the Difficulties we have been under fince we were
taken up, and that will make it neceffary to fhew,
that when we were committed, it was to a ftrict

Confinement ; we were prohibited from any Body
coming to us, and from Pen, Ink, and Paper ;

no Body had Accefs to us, unlefs fome Perfons

from the Secretaries Office, to prefs us to fome
Difcoveries, which we declared we could not

make. We will fhew by them that were by at

thofe Times what we were prefs'd to, and that

will be an Evidence of our Innocence, when we
withftood fuch Importunities.

They have offered fome things, which will, I

hope, go a great way to fhew that he was not
guilty of Treafon. My Client was a Stranger,

born in France, came here to Trade, and his Bu-
finefs not being very fuccefsful, he was willing to

undertake fomething of lefs Value, and fo en-

gag'd in fending Letters from the Gentleman that

has been nam'd, for the Profit of double Poftage,

which is allow'd in thofe Cafes.

Itwasobferv'd by the King's Council as a very
ftrange thing, that a Man fhould enter in his

Book Letters of a treafonable Nature, we fay the

fame, and that is a Circumftance to fhew that

they were not of that nature ; befides, the Entry
of a Letter in a Copy-book is not like a Copy
that the Law allows to be given in Evidence, that

muft be carefully examin'd ; but in thofe Entries

of what a Man writes over to his Correfpondents,

there may be Miftakes in them, and fuch as a
Man's Life, in Cafe of High-Treafon, may be
loft upon ; therefore you can't found fo great a
Certainty upon this Book as upon the Letters

themfelves or Copies examin'd and legally prov'd.

Another Circumftance to fhew how unlikely it

was that this was a treafonable Correfpondence,

or any thing that the Prifoner was concern'd to

conceal, is, that he never took care of attending

at the Poft-Office, or engaging any one to attend

there, to difpatch or take care of his Letters, but

refted at Home till the Letter Carriers brought
them about, or elfe they were left at one Everald's

a Watchmaker in the Strand, where he had lodg'd,

and they have been obferved to lie there on a Ta-
ble in a common Room for a Week together be-

fore they have been call'd for, or they have been
fent to him.

It has been obferved by the King's Council,

that towards the latter End of the Correfpondence,

when he began to write more openly, that he neg-

lected to enter his Letters in the Book ; but there

is no reafon for that Surmife, for it appears upon
one of the Letters they have produc'd from D'Aul-
may, that he complains he had not heard from the

Prifoner in Three Months Time ; and to fuppofe

thofe Letters which do not appear, worfe than
thofe which do, is a Prefumption, we hope, will

never be admitted in a Cafe of Life.

As the Prifoner himfelf could not apply him-
felf to confider of any Account or Explanation of
thefe Letters, much lefs can it be expected that we
who are his Council can be of any Service to him
in that Point, becaufe we only hear thofe Letters

read that the King's Council think fit to produce

;

there were others before and after, and thofe we
are Strangers to ; whatever there may be in them
that may clear up the Expreffions in thofe that

are
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are produc'd by the King's Council, we are entire-

ly deprived of the Benefit of them ; for the Pri-

foner has not been admitted to perufe_ his own

Book, or to have recourfe to any of his Papers.

The Power of feizing Papers, that may be of ufe

to a Man in his Defence, feems to me fomething

dark ; but I fhall fay nothing to it in this place.

We fhall give your Lordfhip' an Account of the

Prifoner's Charader and Circumftances. He was

under low Circumftances, even to the pawning his

Cloaths and Goods. People that are concern'd in

Things of this Kind are dually better fupported

than he feems to have been. And we fhall fhew

that he has at all times given all Inftances and

Proofs of his being quiet under the Governments

and well affected to it.

Under thefe Circumftances, if there was ftronger

Evidence than is in the Copy-Book, it would not

be fumcient. I hope, Gentlemen, you have di-

ftinguifh'd between thofe Letters in the Copy-

book and thofe that were fent to him, which lat-

ter, how criminal foever they may be, can't be

made ufe of to his Prejudice.

If we prove thefe Circumftances, which is all

that can be expected from us, we hope you will

not think any thing in thefe Letters a lufficient

Evidence to find him guilty of this Crime. And,

Gentlemen, if any of thofe Letters can have fuch

a Conftruction, yet, confidering the nature of the

Copy-Book, and the Manner of keeping fuch

Books (which has fallen more under your Obfer-

vation than mine) and how void of Care he was

in managing thofe Letters that came to him, you

will not think it probable that he was engag'd in

a Correfpondence of fuch a Nature ; and if any

thing looks that way, it may either be a Miftake

in him that entered the Copies, or might be ex-

plain'd, if we were Mailers of the reft of the Let-

ters, and of the Book.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I fhall take up but

a very little of your Time till we have gone through

our Evidence, and then fhall apply myfelf to make

fofrie Remarks upon it. But in general, the Ac-

cufation contained in this Indictment is, that this

Man has confpired to take away the Life of the

King •, the Overt-Acts laid are, that he confpir'd

to levy War, and endeavoured to engage Af-

fiftance from abroad, and wrote Letters, and fent

them to divers Perfons beyond Seas for that Pur-

pofe.

Gentlemen of the Jury, I am fure you muft ob-

ferve, that as to a direct Proof of his intending to

take away the truly precious Life of the King,

there is none, but what is endeavoured to be in-

ferrYl from thefe Letters. If there were, I am fure

I fhould not, and, I believe, none of my Profef-

fion would have i'poke one Word for him. But

all that is faid arifes from himfelf. There is no

Confutation appears, but that this Man confulted

withhimfelfandhisCompting-Houfe to takeaway

the-Life of the King. As to any of thofe Letters,

there is nothing in them that looks that Way.
And as to what is contain'd in the Letters receiv'd

from France, they cannot affect him. All that

can be inferr'd from them is, that he was privy

to what was contained in thofe Letters : And if

that were High-Treafon, yet it can only amount
to Mifpriiion of Trealbn in the Prifoner. You
who live in this great Trading City, the moft

eminent for Trade and Commerce in the World,
in which, I believe, you are very much concern-

ed, know that a great Part of the Commerce is

Vol. VI.

carried on by Letters, and all or moft of them are

entered in Books ; you muft have a due Appre-
henfion of the Confequences of fuch a Tranfaction

as this is. To have a Man living in his Houfe in

Peace, under the Protection of the King's Laws,
to have his Books and Papers taken from him,
and thofe Books and Papers turn'd againft him,
to the Deftruction of him and his Family.

Mr. Att. Gen. I defire you would forbear in-

veighing in this Manner. This is not a proper

Manner of Proceeding.

Sir J. Jekyll. You have had an Account that an
Information was given to the Secretary of State,

of a treafonable Correfpondence carried on by this

Man, and here is an Harangue complaining that

his Perfon and Papers arefeized. You know if

there had been an Information given to the meaneft

Officer in the Kingdom, he could not have juftified

himfelf, without doing the fame Thing.

L. C. Baron. You are not to arraign thofe Pro-
ceedings.

Mr. Hungerford. I don't doubt but that noble

Lord had Grounds for what he did, but what
Grounds he had doth not appear : And furely I

have a Right to obferve, that all the Evidence
that appears againft the Prifoner, arifes from thofe

Letters and Books that were taken away from
him.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray Mr. Hungerford act within

the Bounds of your Profeffion.

Mr. Hungerford. Mr. Attorney, I am to be cor-

rected by the Court, and not by you. I owe Duty
to my Lords the Judges, and I fhall always pay it.

Mr. Jufi. Tracy. You ought not to reflect on
that Matter of feizing the Papers.

Mr. Hungerford. lam not underflood. I fay all

that is offer'd againft him is from the Papers found

in his Cuftody.

Mr. Jufi. Pratt. If that was all that you had
faid you ought not to have been interrupted ; but

I never knew in my Life, but what was done in

this Cafe was ordinarily done in the like Cafes,

and ought to be done, and you ought not to go
on with Invectives to the Jury, complaining that

his Papers are feiz'd, and then that thofe Papers

are turn'd againft him. When a Correfpondence

is carried on by Letters, ought they not to be

feiz'd ? and if they appear to be treafonable, ought

they not to be kept and made ufe of againft him ?

We muft not fit here to hear Invectives againft

Magiftrates of the higheft Quality, for doing that,

which if they had not done, they had failed in

their Duty.

Mr. Hungerford. I have not faid any thing to

impeach the Legality of what was done. All I

faid, and do fay, is, that the Evidence is from the

Papers found in his own Cuftody.

You have heard the Letters read, and you ob-

ferve, that great Part of them is about Dogs and

Horfes, and a Sum of 130 /. 4s. and about a Suit

that was carrying on in the Court of Chancery. As
to the Book, I fhall touch no more upon it now,

but I believe we fhall be able to offer Proof that

there is not any Part of it wrote by himfelf. How
that will agree with the Evidence already given,

we muft fubmit. We fhall likewife give fome

Account of fome Difcourfes that had been had

with the Man himfelf. And, I believe, I need

not obferve to Gentlemen of your Figure and Cir-

cumftances, that the Mr. Harvey', who <js repre-

fented by the King's Council, to be the firft Pro-

moter of, and carried on this treafonable Corre-

N fpondence,
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fpondence, is at Liberty, even without a Trial •,

and what the Law hath done for him without a

Trial, I hope (hall, by your Juftice, be done for

the Prifoner, now upon his Trial, that is, that he

fhall be acquitted.

Mr. Ward. Though it is difficult for us to be

put to explain any of thofe Letters, yet we will

call fome Witneffes to explain one, which men-

tions Perfons of 50 or 60 Thoufand Crowns a

Year, and (hew that it was meant of one that was

concerned in the Revenue in France, and fuffered

by it.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. If you are going to explain

that Letter, it will be neceffary to read it again to

the Jury.

Which was done accordingly.

Mr. Ward. We will (hew it was meant of one

George Francia, who had been concern'd in the

Revenue in France.

Simon Francia being fwom.

Mr. Hungerford. Did you know George Francia ?

S. Francia, Yes.

Mr. Hungerford. Was he concern'd in the Re-

venue in France, and had he any Lofs there ?

S. Francia. Yes, he loft all he had.

Mr. Hungerford. By what Occafion was it ?

S. Francia. I don't know.

Mr. Hungerford. Was it by his own Manage-

ment, or depending on others ?

S. Francia. I don't know, but I know he had

an Eftate and loft it all.

Mr. Ward. We offer this only as a Sample for

the reft.

Mr. Att. Gen. What was this Man worth ?

S. Francia. I computed him to be worth Eight

or Ten Thoufand Pounds.

Mr. Att. Gen. Doth he anfwer the Description

in the Letter of a Perfon of Fifty or Sixty Thou-

fand Crowns a Year ?

Sir J. Jekyll. Had he any Eftate in Land ?

S. Francia. No, only in Money.
Mr. Hungerford. Do you know of any Offers

that have been made, or Threats ufed to the Pri-

foner ?

S. Francia. I know of fome.

Mr. Hungerford. By whom ?

S. Francia. By Mr. Buckley. That if he would

fwear againft Mr. Harvey of Comb, he fhould have

a good Reward.

Mr. Hungerford. Do you know of any other ?

S. Francia. Yes, my Lord Townfhend told me
he had given my Brother five Guineas, and he

would give him more if he would fwear againft

Mr. Harvey.

Mr. Hungerford. Where did he tell you fo ?

S. Francia. In the Office at the Cockpit.

Mr. Hungerford. Do you know any thing of

two Warrants that Mr. Buckley brought, one for

his Releafement, and the other for his Confine-

ment.

& Francia. I don't know any thing of that.

Mr. Att. Gen. How came this Difcourfe be-

tween my Lord "Townfhend and you ?

S. Francia. I was feveral Times with him at the

Office about my Brother.

Mr. Att. Gen. I hope it will be proper at this

Time that my Lord Townfhend and Mr. Buckley

may be afked to this Matter.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. I fuppofe you was prefent

when this paft between Mr. Buckley and the Pri-

foner ?

S.. Francia. It was between my Lord Townfhend

and me, and Mr. Buckley and me.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. Who elfe was by, befides Mr.
Buckley and you ?

S. Francia. No Body elfe.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. Who was by when that which
you mentioned paft between my Lord Townfhend

and you ?

S. Francia. No Body elfe. The firft Time I

applied to my Lord Townfhend, I think there was

another Secretary there.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. But at that Time that you fay

this Offer was made, was any Body prefent ?

S. Francia. Indeed I don't remember that there

was.

Mr. Cowper. I think you fay, the firft Time
you was with my Lord Townfhend, there was the

other Secretary there ?

S. Francia. Yes, there was.

Mr. Cowper. Where was this, in what Room ?

S. Francia. In the Cockpit.

Mr. Cowper. What is your Relation to the

Prifoner ?

S. Francia. I am his Brother.

Mr. Hungerford. You fay there was another Se-

cretary by, was it the other Secretary of State ?

S. Francia. I know not who it was, there was
another Gentleman.

Mr. Att. Gen. He faid another Secretary of

State.

L. C. Baron. What did my Lord Townfhend&y
to you ?

S. Francia. He faid he had given my Brother

five Guineas, and he would give him more if he

would fwear againft Mr. Harvey.

L. C. Baron. You fay at that Time there was

another Secretary ?

S. Francia. No, no, not at the Time of that

Difcourfe.

L. C. Baron. Nor there was no Body with you

and Mr. Buckley?

S. Francia. No.
Then Lucy White was fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Was you by, or in hearing,

when any Offers were made to the Prifoner.

White. Upon the Seventh of September I went

to fee the Prifoner in Newgate. He told me
Mr. Buckley was to be there with him, and de-

fired me to conceal myfelf in the Room, that I

might hear what paft, and I did fo. When Mr.
Buckley came he fpoke about one Flint ; and af-

terwards Mr. Buckley afked him feveral Queftions

about Mr. Harvey. He faid he knew nothing

but that he was innocent. Mr. Buckley told him
he muft fwear right or wrong for the Govern-

ment ; if he would not, he himfelf would fwear

High-Treafon againft the Prifoner ; for he had

taken Money of my Lord Townfhend, and done

nothing for it.

Mr. Hungerford. Did you fee any thing of two

Warrants Mr. Buckley had at that Time ?

White. No.

Mr. Hungerford. Did Mr. Buckley fee you ?

White. No, I concealed myfelf under the Feet

of the Bed.

Mr. Att. Gen. You fay this was the Seventh

of September. What Year ?

White. In the Year 1716.
Mr. Att. Gen. Where was he then ?

White. In Newgate.

Then Mary Meggifon was fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Do you know of any Offers

that were made to the Prifoner, and by whom ?

Meggifon.
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Meggifon. Upon the Twenty Eighth of Sep-

tember laft I was in Mr. Francia*s Room, and

Mr. Buckley came in and told him he fhould be

tried fuddenly, and there were a great many Wit-
neffes againft him ; and he would fwear againft

him, bccaufe, fays he, you have cheated my
Mailer of five Guineas, and won't fwear againft

Mr. Harvey.

Mr. Ait. Gen. Was you in the Room then ?

Meggifon. I fat upon a little Box at the Bid's

Feet, and it was fo dark he could not fee me.

Mr. Att. Gen. How came you to Newgate ?

Meggifon. I have been a great many Times in

Newgate.

Mr. Att. Gen. You dwell there fometimes,

don't you ?

Meggifon. No, I never did.

Mr. Att. Gen. Are you a married Woman ?

Meggifon. Yes.

Mr. Att. Gen. What is your Hufband ?

Meggifon. A Dealer, but he is not in England.

now.

Prifoner. What Room was I in ?

Meggifon. A little dark Room.
Prifoner. What do they call it?

Meggifon. The Lion's Den.

Prifoner. Every Body knows that Room is a

dark Room, that People can't eafily be feen

in it.

Mr. Hungerford. Did you hear Mr. Buckley fay

any thing more ?

Meggifon. Nothing, but that he would bring

my Lord Townjhend into Court, on purpofe to in-

fluence the Jury by his Prefence.

Mr. Hungerford. As to thefe two Witneffes,

we have fevcral to fpeak to their Reputations •, but

I believe you have no doubt as to that.

S.r J. Jekyll. I dare fay no one Perfon in Court

believes a Word they fay.

Then Mr. Buckley was called again.

Prifoner. I defire to know whether you was not

with me in the Lion's Den.
Mr. Buckley. My Lord, the Prifoner fent to

me by Revell the Turnkey, and defired to fpeak

with me •, when I came to him, he fpoke to me
firft about Flint, and defired he mighi be releas'd

from his ftrait Confinement ; and then about his

own Affairs. He thank'd me for my Humanity
in coming to talk with him, fo we parted imme-
diately. I told my Lord Townjhend what had
pair ; Flint had the Benefit of it. He had been
confined clofe, but Francia fpeaking on his be-

half, he was releafed from that Confinement ; and
that was the Bufinefs I went about. The Room
is a little dark Room, but if any Body had been

at the Foot of the Bed, I believe I might have
feen them.

L. C. Baron. Did you fay thofe Words ?

Mr. Buckley. No, my Lord, it is impoffible I

fhould.

Mr. Hungerford. Not impoffible furely?

Mr. Buckley. Yes, impoffible, I appeal to my
Character : I entirely and utterly deny it. I de-
fire that Resell may be called.

Mr. Ward. We are now in our Evidence.
Mr. Ait. Gen. If the Prifoner calls a Witnefs

that has been called before, and he to make his

Evidence entire, appeals to Revell, we ought to

call him now, for it would have been improper
before.

Mr. Hungerford. If it be nothing but that he
was fent for Mr. Buckley, there is no great Harm
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in it. Otherwife we are in the Courfe of our
Evidence.

Then Revell was fworn.

Mr. Ait. Gen. Do you know the Occafion of
Mr. Buckley's coming to Francia in Newgate?
Give an Account of what you know of it.

Revell. My Lord, Mr. Francia called to me
one Day, and I think it was when I was in the

Chapel, and told me, I believe I can do a Piece

of Service to the Government : I believe I can

fupprefs the publifhing of the Shift-Shifted, I am
fure I can : Pray let me fpeak with Mr. Buckley,

Says I, if you would have me4 I will go to him«

and defire him to come. When would you fpeak

with him ? At any time, fays he ; then I believe

the Morning is the beft to meet with him ; and

the next Morning I went to him.

Sir J. Jekyll. Did you tell him the Occafion of

Francia's defiring to fpeak with him ?

Revell. Yes.

Sir y. Jekyll. Was you in the Room with them ?

Revell. No, but afterwards he faid to me, I

think I have done the Government fbme Service

you don't hear it come out as it us'd to do.

Prifoner. I defire to know whether Mr. Buckley

was not angry with you that you did not ftand at

the Door?
Revell. He order'd me to be about the Door4

but there came fome Workmen to furvey the

Chapel, I was obliged to go with them, and he

came out and was ar.gry that I was not there ?

and aftxr that I flood there till they had done*

but I did not hear what Difcourfe paft.

Then the Lord Town/hind flood up*

Lord Townjhend. My Lord, Mr. Buckley came
to me, and told me of the IVLffage he had re-

ceiv'd from the Prifoner about the Shift-Shifted,

a icandalous Paper that was fent about the King-
dom. He afk'd me if he fhould go: I told him
I thought it was right to go, but I told him he
muft be cautious, for I did not doubt but that
the Prifoner was capable of that Villany I now
find he is. He came back to me, and told me
what he has now faid ', and I believe it to be all

that paft between them, for I have always found
him faithful and honeft. I thought it was a Ser-
vice to put a Stop to that Paper ; and I did o-ive

fome Eafe to that Man that is named.
I am amazed how there can be fuch Villany as

is in the Brother. He came to the Office two or
three Times with Petitions. I never faid any
thing more, than that it was not in my Power to
do any thing ; that he muft deal ingenuoufly, tell

all that he knew, and fhew that he would fpeak
all the Truth ; that that was the Way to recom-
mend him to the King's Mercy ; that I could not
do any thing without it. And I believe the man-
ner I treated Mr. Harvey will juftify me, with all

that know any thing of it, from the Sufpicion of
fuch Intentions againft him. All that I did was
in regard to the Prifoner's wretched Circumftances*
and before Mr. Stanhope ; and I never defir'd any
thing of him, but to tell the Truth, and the

whole Truth.

Prifoner. You told me I fhould be hang'd,
drawn, and quarter'd ; and your Lordfhip told

me many a time, Damn you, you Dog, now I

have got Mr. Harvey in my Clutches, and you
will let him go from me. If there was no par-
ticular Animofity againft me, why fhould I be
diftinguifhed, for none were put in Irons for

treafonable Practices, but me.
N 2 Lord
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Lord Townfhend. I would not take up your

Lordfhip's Time, but only to fay, that the War-
rant for Irons, and to be kept without Pen* Ink,

and Paper, was after that Letter had been deli-

vered to me, the Contents of which will fuffici-

ently juftify the Precautions ufed in that Warrant.

I was forry to fee the ill Ufe he made of the Li-

berty that I had before given him, and I did ufe

that Warrant in that manner. Treafonable Prac-

tices were then no more bailable than Treafon ;

and it's no new Thing to fetter State-Prifoners un-

der fuch an Accufation.

Mr. Ward. I beg leave to afk your Lordfhip

one Queftion, Whether you apprehend that Curtis

deferved any Credit ?

Lord ctownfhend. I can fay no more, than that

he made fome Difcoveries, and there was no Pro-

fecution againft him. I knew nothing of the Man
before, and I know nothing more of him now.

Mr. Ward. Did thole Informations appear to

be true ?

Lord lownjhend. A great Part did, by the

Confcffion of one of the Perfons he accuied.

Mr. Hungerford. As to the two Women that

were examined juft now, there was a Remark
made, that their Teftimony was extraordinary ; I

have five or fix People to fpeak to their Reputation,

if it flicks with Mr. Attorney.

Mr. Att. Gen. Perhaps fuch as themfelves ; but

however call them.

Then Mr. Everall was called.

Mr. Hungerford. What do you know of Whits

or Meggifon ?

Everall. I know nothing of them.

Mr. Ward. Do you know where the Prifoner's

foreign Letters ufed to be left ?

Everall. His Letters always came to my
Houfe.

Mr. Ward. Was he ufually watchful for the

coming in of his Letters, as if there was any
Thing of Concern in them ?

Everall. No, they often ufed to lye fome time

before he called for them.

Mr. Ward. How long did they ufe to lye ?

Everall. Sometimes three or four Days.

Mr. Ward. Were they kept up clofe till he
called for them ?

Everall. No, they lay in a public Room, fo

that any one might fee them.

Then Mrs. Everall was fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. What do you know of any
Letters directed for Mr. Francia ; where were they

left ?

Mrs. Everall. They ufed to be brought to our
Houfe, and they have lain two or three Days to-

gether on a public Table before they have been
fetch'd away.

Mr. Cowper. How long ago was that ?

Mrs. Everall. About feven Years ago.

Mr. Cowper. Have any been directed to your
Houfe of late ?

Mrs. Everall. No.

Mr. Ward. We fhall now examine fome Wit-
neffes to the Copy-Book, to prove that it is not
of his Hand-writing •, and I don't doubt but
that will have its Weight.

L. C Baron. He own'd it to be his Copy-Book
of his Letters to his Correfpondents.

Mr. Cowper. We lay the Strefs upon this, that

he faid it was his Copy-Book of his Letters to his
Correfpondents Abroad.

Mr. Ward. But you know Mr. Buckley laid a

Strefs upon its being his Hand-Writing.
Then one Rafter was fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Shew him the Copy-Book*
look upon it, are you acquainted with the Pri-
foner's Hand-Writing ?

Rafter. Yes.

Mr. Hungerford. Is any Part of that Book his
Hand-Writing ?

Rafter. No, I take it to be his Son's, George
Franciah : The Prifoner writes a fmaller Hand.
I take no Part of it to be his Hand fo far as I have
gone.

Mr. Hungerford. I believe it may be of ufe fof
all the Witneifes to look it over ; we have four or
five to this Point ; and if I am rightly inftructed,
there is not one Word in that Book wrote by the
Prifoner.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. If it is not his Writing, whofe
do you take it to be ?

Rafter. I don't take it to be his.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. Whofe do you take it to be ?

Are you acquainted with his Son's Hand ?

Rafter. I dont know whether it his Son's or
not.

Mr. Juft. Pratt. Are there any other Perfons
that write for him ?

Rafter. He had fometimes.

Mr. Att. Gen. Here is a Letter of his own Wri-
ting ; pray let him look on that, and fee whether
that is his Hand ; do you believe that to be his
Writing ?

Rafter. No, I don't think it is.

Mr. Att. Gen. Curtis has prov'd that he own'd
that Letter.

Prifoner. What Letter did I own ?

Then Simon Francia was call'd again.
Mr. Hungerford. What do you fay to thaC

Book ?

S. Francia. There is not one Syllable of his
Writing in this Book ; I have known his Hand-
Writing about twenty Years.

Then Barwell was fworn.
Mr. Hungerford. Are you acquainted with the

Prifoner's Hand-Writing ? Is any of that Book of
his Writing ?

Barwell. None of it is his Writing.

_
Mr. Hungerford. Do you know what Condi-

tion of Health he was in about the latter End of
the Year 17 14, and 17 15 ?

Barwell. He was lick.

Mr. Hungerford. For a Year before he was ta-
ken, what Condition was he in ? Was he able ta
write Letters ?

Barwell. He was fick.

Mr. Hungerford. Did he ufe to write Letters ink

that Time ?

Barwell. I don't know.
Mr. Att. Gen. Whole Hand do you take it to

be ?

Barwell. How do I know that ?

Mr. Att. Gen. Are you acquainted with hisSon's
Hand ?

Barwell. No, not at all.

Then Simon Francia was call'd again.
Mr. Att. Gen. You have looked on the Book v

whofe Hand-Writing do you take it to be ?

S. Francia. I don't know.
Mr. Att. Gen. Do you know his Son's Hand-

Writing ?

S. Erancia. I never had any Correfpondence,
or great Acquaintance with him.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you ever fee him write ?

&. Francia.
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S. Francia. I don't remember that I did.

Mr. Ward. We will trouble you with but one

Piece of Evidence more ; we will call Dr. Cade,

who attended him in his Sicknefs. We have

offered Evidence, that no Part of that Book is his

Writino- ; we will now offer fome Proof that he

Was not capable of writing at that Time.

Then Dr. Cade was fworn.

Mr. Ward. Pray Doctor, did you attend the

Prifoner as his Phyfician at any Time ?

Dr. Cade. My Lord, I was lent for to him on

the fecond Day of November, 1J14. I attended

him till the 18th of the fame Month, and within

that Time I vifited him nine Times, I found him

in a great deal of Pain, and he was lame in his

Hand ; fome Time after my coming he grew

better.

Mr. Ward. Was he confin'd to his Bed ?

Dr. Cade. Sometimes he kept his Bed, and

fometimes he fat up.

Mr. Ward. You fay he was in Pain, and lame

in his Hand ; which Hand was it ?

Dr. Cade. I don't remember which ; nor do I

know any thing of him, only at that Time.

Sir J. Jekyll. Every one of the Letters were

wrote after that Time.

Prifoner. What Condition did you leave me
in?

Dr. Cade. In a very bad Condition.

Prifoner. Did you not hear of the Condition I

was in afterwards ?

Dr. Cade. I don't remember that I heard any

thing of you after that.

Mr. Ward. We will call a few Witneffes to

prove what Circumftances he was in, and that he

was well affected to the Government.

Mr. Hungerford. By my Inftructions he ap-

pears to be a Foreigner, and lb difinterefted in

thofe unfortunate Divifions that are amongft us

And accordingly there is nothing of Whig or Tory

in his Letters.

Mr. Alt. Gen. Don't you remember when he

came to Newgate he wrote he liked his Company,
for he found them all Tories.

Mr. Hungerford. We will fhew you that he was

zealous for the Good of the Kingdom, and was

againft all that was disadvantageous to Trade in

the late Treaty of Peace. That he never went

into any public Places, except to the Grecian

Coffee-Houfe, which is a Place fure not tainted

with Sedition.

Then Mr. Everall was call'd again.

Mr. Ward. How long have you known the

Prifoner ?

Everall. Several Years.

Mr. Ward. Has he been peaceable, and eafy

in his Converlation, with Refpect to the Govern-
ment ?

Everall. I remember at the proclaiming the

Peace he faid, he thought the Nation wasruin'd,

for he thought it a fcandalous Peace.

Mr. An. Gen. That is much 5 for you make
him a Frenchman, fure he might have approved
it.

Mr. Hungerford. This is not what I have in

my Brief, but perhaps he may recommend him-
fclf to your Efteem by it i He doth not to mine.
My Lord, I will take up your Time only with

this Remark : The great Foundation of this Evi-
dence is the Confcffion made by the Man him-
fdf. Without the Key made by him, this had
been applicable to no Body. I remember Sir

Jcfeph Jekyll was pleas'd to fay, he would not

excite the Paffions of the Jury, but rather appeal

to their Judgments, fo will I, Great Part of this

Correfpondence relates to Mr. Harvey, and one
would have thought they had fomething extraor-

dinary to have charged on him, confidering the

Length of his Reftraint ; but I need not obferve to

the Jury that he is at large. He was under Re-
ftraint, nothing could be imputed to him, and he
is difcharged.

L. C. Baron. Francia, have you any Thing
more to fay ?

Prifoner. As for my Nativity I have more
Witneffes. I have more Witneffes as to my Cha-
racter. I have more Witneffes to prove that I was
a quiet Man, and never difaffected to the Govern-
ment.

Then Mr. John Slater was fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. What do you know of the

Prifoner's Behaviour ?

Mr. Slater. I have known him about four or five

Years. There being a Commiffion of Bankrupcy
againft him, I was recommended to affift him in

that Commiffion. I did give him the beft Affif-

tance I could, and I feveral Times met him, fome-
times at the Grecian Coffee-Houfe, and fometimes
at my own Houfe. I took him for a Frenchman^

he ufed very much to efpoufe the Intereft of the

King of France, which I ufed to chide him for.

As for Parties here, I had fome Difcourfe with
him, and he ufed to think we were a ftrange People

to fall out among ourfelves.

Then Thomas Richardfon was fworn. ,

Mr. Hungerford. What do you know of the

Prifoner and his Behaviour ?

Richardfon. I have known him five or fix Yearsj

and I believe I have taken five or fix Pounds of
his Money. When he was fick he took a Liking
to me, and would not be quiet unlefs I came of-

ten to fee him, and I ufed often to fit with him
in an Evening and bear him Company, and it

was a great Surprize to me when I heard he was
taken up, for he ufed often to drink a Health to

King George, and hoped he fhould get up to fee

him, and hoped this would be a quiet Nation
again. He was then fo weak that he could not

ftir Hand or Foot. But he ufed to call me Vul-

can, and bid me drink King George's Health.

Mr. Hungerford. How long is it fince he was fo

weak that he could not ftir Hand or Foot ?

Richardfon. About a Year and five or fix

Months. And when he got abroad I then was
forced to follow him for what he owed me, and
I have gone after him feveral Times to the Grecian

Coffee-houfe.

L. G. Baron; Have you any thing more to

fay ?

Prifoner. No.
Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, I muft beg Leave

(by Way of Reply to what has been offered, on
Behalf of the Priloner) to fay, That this is a

Caufe of very great Concern to the King, to the

Royal Family, and to the whole Kingdom in ge-

neral ; and I may with Juftice affirm, that this

Day one of thefe two Points muft be determin'd;

either that the Prifoner at the Bar is guilty of

Fligh-Treafon, or that no Man can, as the Law
now ftands, be convicted of holding a foreign,

traiterous Correfpondence, if this Evidence be

not fufficient ; for here has been the ftrongeft

Evidence given of iuch a Correfpondence, as I

believe
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believe ever was, or perhaps ever can be given,

according to the Nature of the Thing.

The Gentlemen of the Jury will confider the

Nature of the Treafon, as it is laid in the Indict-

ment, it is for compaffing and imagining the

Death of the King ; now, that refts in the Ima-

gination* and is compleat in the Mind ; but there

mult be fome open or public Acl that rnuft ap-

pear to you in Proof, to convince you that the

Prilbner had that Imigination. There are three

Overt-Ads laid in this Indictment, and we have

produced Evidence fufEcient for the Proof of

two of them, though if any one of them be prov'd,

it is enough. The firft is, confpiring, confenting

and agreeing to raife an Infurrcclion and Rebellion

within this Kingdom, in Favour of the Pretender ;

and for confpiring, confenting, and agreeing to

follicit and procure from France, Arms, Ammu-
nition, Men and Money, to aid and affift in fuch

Rebellion ; and the laft is for compofing and

writing i'everal trealonable Letters, declaring his

Intention and Reiblution to levy that War, and

to raife that Rebellion.

The Evidence that has been given is of two

Sorts ; it confifts firft, of Letters wrote by the

Prifoner himfelf to his Correfpondents in France ;

and fecondly, of Letters wrote to him by fuch

Correfpondents, fignifying the Receipt of Let-

ters wrote by the Prifoner to him, touching

this traiterous Defign. For Proof of the Let-

ters wrote by the Prifoner, we have produced

his Copy-Book of Letters, wherein they are

entered, proved to be Part his own Hand-
writing, and the reft his Son's ; and indeed,

it it a furprizing Thing, that that Copy-Book
fbould remain, which indeed is fo rare a Way
to perpetuate the Teftimony of Treafon, as I

believe the like Evidence is never to be expected

again ; and it is abfurd to expect, when a Trai-

tor writes in a foreign Country, that he mould

be able to produce the Original Letters. The
Proof of this Copy-Book to be his is beyond

doubt ; it is prov'd by his own Confeffion, be-

fore three WitnefTcs, and in very ftrong Terms,

I'his, fays he, is my Copy-Book of my Letters to my

Correfpondents abroad. Is it poffible that ftronger

Evidence can be given ? Nay, he goes farther,

as a Noble Lord informed you ; for when he was

examining the Prifoner, and the Prifoner pre-

tended that he was only a Conveyer of Letters,

but did not write himfelf •, fays he, As to what I

have wrote, I appeal to my own Copy-Book of Let-

ters. They have brought indeed fome WitnefTes

to fay, That they believe that the Copy-Book is

not of his Hand-Writing, though they don't tell

you whole Hand it is. But that is not material,

nor of any Weight, for Copies of Letters are fome-

times enter'd by the Parties themfelves, and fome-

times by their Servants, or others whom they ap-

point, and that is the lame thing; but to anfwer

that fully, the Prilbner has confcfTed that Part of

this Copy-book was of his own Hand-writing, and

the reft of his Son's.

As to the other Letters from D'Aulmay, his

French Correfpondent to him, which are many in

Number, we have given the belt Proof the Thing
is capable of ; we have produe'd the very Origi-

nal Letters themfelves, directed to him, with the

Polt-Mark from France, found all in his Cufto-

dy, and confeikd to be his Letters which he re-

ceived from France, before three WitnefTes. This
fhews evidently that there was a traiterous Cor«

? CI.
refpondence, and is a plain Evidence* that the

Prifoner fent thofe Letters mentioned to be re-

ceived in D'Aulmay's Letters to him, to which
thefe were Anfwers, and the Letters exactly tally

as to Dates, Circumftances and Subject. If there

had been but one of thofe Letters fent to the Pri-

foner, containing treafonable Matter, it would
have been Mifpnfion of Treafon, if he had not

difcovered it ; but his going on with the fame
treafonable Correfpondence for Months together,

and in fo many Letters, in everyone of which he
charges the Prifoner with writing High-Treafon,

and he preferving all thofe Letters, concealing

and keeping them dole j this is a ftrong Evidence

of his Approbation and Affent to that Treafon

and traiterous Correfpondence. And fo it is in

the common Cafe, if a Man meet accidentally,

not knowing of the Defign, and light into the

Company or Traitors, and hear their Diicourfe

and lay nothing, if he don't difcover it, he is

guilty of Mifprifion of Treafon only, as a bare

Concealment ; but if he comes a fecond time into

their Company, and meet them again and hear

their Confultations, or the fame Treafon is pro-

pofed and talk'd of, and he conceals it, he is guilty

of High-Treafon ; becaufe it Ihews a Liking and
an Approbation of their Defign, and fo it v/as

refolved in Sir Everard Digly's Cafe. So here, all

thefe Letters that came from D'Aulmay, and were
kept up clofe by the Prifoner, cantaining treafon-

able Matter, fhew his Approbation of the Trea-

fon, and are a ftrong Evidence, that he fent thofe

Letters to his Correfpondent D'Aulmay, to which
thefe are Anfwers : It has been faid, that admit-

ting thefe Letters were fent by D'Aulmay to the

Prifoner, yet he is not anfwerable for what others

write : That, furely, is a great Miftake ; for if

what he writes be Treafon, it is his Duty to dif-

clofe it ; and if he do not, but continue to receive

fuch Letters, this is a clear Proof of his traiterous

Correfpondence, and by that he makes the Treafon

his own. They object farther, that the Prifoner

was only a Conveyer of Mr. Harvey's and the Duke
D'Aumont's Letters; but that this is otherwife, ap-

pears from the Letters themfelves, for mod of them
relate to himfelf, and are meant of himfelf, and of

a Correfpondence with him ; for it appears from
his own Confeffion in his Examination proved by
three WitnefTes, that this French Correfpondence

held from a little before the late Queen's Death,

•till a few Days before his Examination ; which
fhews that the Correfpondence was his own, and
carry'd on by himfelf.

In the next place we come to confider the Ex-
pofition and Meaning of thefe Letters, whether
the Subject Matter be Treafon or not ; one of the

Council for the Prifoner faid, there was nothing,

in them but about Dogs and Horfes -, but that is

a Miftake, for thofe were Mr. Harvey's Letters,

which talked fometimes of Dogs and Horfes ; but

give me leave to fay, there feems even in them to

be a good deal of Treafon, intermixt with the

Diicourfe of Dogs and Horfes. Let us examine
fome of his own Letters, and fee whether the

Subject Matter be not treafonable. It is not to

be expected that Men will in thefe Cafes fpeak

out plain ; no, the Treafon is always to be drefled

up in a Cant, and many of thefe Cafes have ap-

peared in this place. In my Lord Prejlon's Cafe,

the Overt-Act charged there, was fending trea-

fonable Letters to France, to give the Prince of

that Nation an Account of our Strength and Forces

here.
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here ; thofe Letters run all in a fort of Cant, and

it was in that Cafe pretended, that the Meaning

was uncertain, and that no Body knew what to

make of fome of the Exprefllons in them ; but

notwithftanding that, both Judges and Jury took

upon them to understand them, and he was found

Guilty of High-Treafon.

In the Letter of the 2 6th of February, D'Aul-

may writes to the Prifoner, and defires to know

fome News, becaufe the Intereft of his Wife and

Family, which, fays he, is Irifh, is concern'd in

it, his Wife being a Butler, and of Kin to the

Duke of Ormond. Francia, in Anfwer to that

Letter v/rites him word, as for News, that he

heard there was a Marriage in good forwardnefs

between the Prince in Lorrain and one of the Arch-

Dutcheffes. " Let me know, fays he, what there

" is in it, fince 'tis effential to the Intereft of your

" Wife, that is to fay, that Ireland as well as

" England was concern'd in the Pretender's Mar-
" riage ; for every one knows who is meant by
" the Prince in Lorrain. Nov/ fee what Anfwer

D'Aulmay fends back, he gives his Opinion freely,

and thinks that this intended Marriage of the Che-

valier de St. George (which by the way explains

who the Prince in Lorrain was) with the Arch-

Datchefs, would not be a fure way to bring his

Affairs to an happy Iffue. What was to be done

then ? Why, fays he, a ~Party-War would be much

more to his Advantage. Is not this eafily to be un-

derftood ? Is not this Party-War a Civil-War, an

Infurrection, a Rebellion ? D'Aulmay then giving

his Opinion, that a Rebellion was the moft eligi-

ble Way ; what is the Prifoner's Anfwer ? why
he clofes with the Advice, but fays, That Perfons

of Fifty or Sixty Thoufand Crowns a Year can't with

Prudence run the Hazard of lofingfuch EJlates, un-

lefs more Encouragement ke given them : What is

this but folliciting Aid and Encouragement from

France, for an Enterprize in which Men of Eftates

muft run the Rifque of lofing them ? It is faid

Perfons in the Plural Number, not one fingle Per-

fon, tho' the Prifoner's Council endeavour'd to

put fuch a Colour upon it ; but it is plain in a

Party-War many muft be concern'd.

In his Letter of the 28th of March, after he had

exprefs'd a great deal of Uneafinefs and Impatience,

the Negligence and Delay of this Affiftance from

France, not uiual in that Nation, after he had

wrote again and again, and wonder'd the Delays

were fo great ; at laft, fays he, We are now to ex-

pc£l every thing from your fide the Water. What
can be the meaning of this, but that the defign'd

Rebellion here was to be encourag'd from France.

And this furcly is as much as can be expected in

an Affair of Treafon, unlefs People were to write

out plain, which is never to be expected, unlefs

from Fools and Ideots who cannot commit Trea-

fon. All D'Aulmay'% Letters to the Prifoner tally

with thofe of the Prifoner's own, and purfue the

fame Defign, tho' under a Cant which runs thro'

moft of them, as was in the Lord Prefton's Cafe.

In that Cafe there was the Cant of a Law-Suit, as

in this •, but my Lord Chief Juftice Holt, and my
Lord Chief Justice Pollexfen faid, that would not

• acquit his Lordfhip of Treafon, if the Jury un-

derftood them in that Senfe as every Body elfe

would. And why Words and Letters are not to

be underftood in Court, as every Body understands

them out of Court, is a hard Matter to be ex-

plain'd.

It was indeed infifted by the Council for the

9?
Prifoner, that there really was a Caufe recommend"
ed to the Prifoner*s Care, that is very true -, but

then the Diftinction between this private Caufe,

and the public Caufe of the Pretender, appears

from many of D'Aulmay's Letters •, fbmetimes he
calls it our Caufe, fometimes the Caufe of our

Common Friend, and in a very remarkable Let-
ter of D'Aulmay's, dated from Pans, 7 Augufi

1 7 1
5. he fays, The Prifoner was in the right to in-

veigh againft that Indolence he reproached them with ;

but beperfuaded, fays he, 'tis only fo in Appearance.

I even hope, that by this time you have convincing

Proofs of it, and that we make fuitable Returns to

the good Difpofition on your Side, and that at lafi,

God bleffing the juft Caufe of our Friend, will let him
gain his Suit. To explain this Letter, the Time
is very material, for on the 20th of July before

his Majefty inform'd his Parliament, that he had
undoubted Intelligence of the Pretender's Defign
to invade thefe Kingdoms from Abroad. And in

other Letters he diftinguilhes between the private

Caufe, and the Caufe of the Pretender, and calls

it my Caufe. And in a Letter of the 14th of Sep-
tember 1*715. We know already, fays he, what you
tell us about the Caufe of our Friend, which willfoon

end to his Satisfaction, or all Appearances will de-

ceive us ; and then fays, as to my own Caufe, I
can't help tellingyou, that my Fate is very unhappy

to have to do withfo difhoneft a Man ; if Treafon
be not meant by thofe Letters, what is ; Let the

Prifoner tell us the Meaning of them. Neither
he, nor his Council, have offer'd at any other

Interpretation, nor have offer'd to explain but
one fingle Letter in the whole Packet ; and that

has been obferv'd was a poor Interpretation, and
contrary to the very Grammar and Senfe of the

Letter* But what puts this Matter beyond doubt,

if there could be any, about the Meaning of thefe

Letters, is, that he himfelf tell you in his Exami-
nation, in exprefs and pofitive Terms, that the

Subject Matter of the Letters that were to be com-
municated to Mr. Harvey, which are the Letters

now produc'd in Evidence, was the Intention of
the Pretender to invade his Majefty's Dominions ;

and when he himfelf has allow'd this, who is to

gainfay it ? Can you have a better Witnefs than

himfelf, to the Subject of his own Letters, and to

explain his own Meaning ?

There have been fome Reflections offer'd which
by no means ought to have been, and I think were
very improper on this Occafion ; and it is our
Duty to take notice of them when they are offer'd.

It was faid, by way of Reflection, that firft of
all, the Prifoner's Books and Papers were feized,

and then they were turn'd upon him, and made
ufe of againft him, as if this was illegal, unufual,

and new ; when every Body knows in thofe Cafes,

there can be no other Evidence ; and is the fame
that has been done in all Ages paft, and muft be

done in all Ages to come. I am fure they have

no reafon to charge the Government with Incle-

mency *, there has been fhewn, even in this very

Cafe, as much Clemency and Tendernefs as was

poflible. When the Noble Lord, my Lord
Town/hend, had the firft Information of treafonable

Practices againft the Prifoner, he had been jufti-

fied, if he had immediately lent his Warrant and

fent him to Newgate for High-Treaibn ; but in-

ftead of that, he was cautious, and was willing to

be further inform'd before he committed him ;

and therefore he fends to the Poft-OfKce and or-

ders his Letters to be ftop'd, in which he found

the
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the treafonable Correfpondence confirm'd ; and

then he was taken into the Cuftody of a MefTenger

only, in order to be examin'd. His Lordfhip

thereupon gave him all the Opportunities he could

defire, of throwing himfelf at his Majefty's Feet

;

but he grofly prevaricated with his Lordfhip,

as appears by that Letter wrote to his Wife ;

wherein he takes notice, that in Newgate they were

all Tories, and the Majority for the Government,

i. e. fent thither upon that Account :
" You know,

" fays he, why I am here, which can't be a Difho-

*' nour to me, be then at eafe ; I have not laid

" any thing againft Mr. Harvey, nor nothing can

" be done to him; he can only be fufpected to

" be the Pretender's Friend.

And now give me leave to take notice, that in

this Letter he gives a further Explanation of this

Bufinefs ; for he fays, According to their Informa-

tion, i. e. the Tories, though every thing Jhouldfail,

my Lord Townlhend could do nothing, for Affairs

will be at an end in lefs than a Fortnight. Now
the time is very material, every one knows that

the Rebellion was juft then breaking out ; it be-

gan in Scotland in September, and in England in

October following. They have call'd fome Wit-

neffes to the Prilbner's Reputation, but they have

not proved any thing material on that Head, nor

given a tolerable Account of him. But if they

had, it would in this Cafe be of little or no weight

;

when a thing is doubtful, Reputation may lway

a little, but in Cafes where the Evidence is ib full

and plain as in this Cafe, it can have no Significa-

tion or Weight. It was obferv'd by us, that when

the treafonable Correfpondence began to be more

plain and full, then fhe Prilbner defifted from en-

tering his Letters in his Copy-book •, in Anfwer

to which, it was urg'd by the Prifoner's Council,

that it was improbable it lhould be fo, for that

the Correfpondence was entirely interrupted for

feveral Months together, becaufe as they infilled

in one of D'Aulmay's Letters, dated 17 th Septem-

ber, he complains he had not heard from the Pri-

lbner in three Months ; but that is grounded on

a Miftake, for the Perfon that ufes that Expref-

fion, is not D'Aulmay, but another Perfon, and

it is wrote in French in a Poftfcript under D'Aul-

may's Letter ; for in the Beginning of the Letter

it felf, D'Aulmay exprefly lays, he had received

the Prifoner's Letter of the Ninth Inftant, which

fhews the Correfpondence continued, but was too

grofs to enter fuch Letters in his Copy-book, or

to write under the fame Name ; for now, he fays,

when he has any thing material, he would write

in a flrange Hand, and would fign it by the Name
of Jacques Chretien, and that Mr. Harvey might

write under the fame Name too •, but none of

thefe Letters appear.

Thus I hope I have anfwer'd every thing that

has been materially objected by the Prifoner's

Council, and if you, Gentlemen of the Jury, do
believe that the Prifoner at the Bar wrote thefe

Letters, the Copies whereof have been produced

to you, and that thofe Letters produced from his

Correfpondent D'Aulmay, were receiv'd by the Pri-

foner, and that he wrote the Letters therein men-
tioned, and that he has therein carried on a trai-

terous Correfpondence, you will acquit yourfelves

to your King and Country, and find him Guilty

of the High-Treafon charg'd upon him.

Mr. Cowper. My Lord, it may be proper on
this Occafion, Mr. Sollkitor having repeated the

particular Parts of the Evidence, to take notice

of fome Things, that have appeared in general in

the Courfe of this Trial : We think it of Impor-
tance to the Public, that this traiterous Corref-
pondence lhould appear in a proper Light, that

the deluded Populace may be no longer to feek,

who were the Perfons that incited, and fomented
the late unnatural Rebellion.

The Gentlemen of the Jury will obferve, that

our Evidence begins with a fecret Information
which was given to a Noble Lord who was then
Secretary of State, of a traiterous Correfpondence
carried on by the Prifoner, and his Accomplices :

That Information was not immediately or haftily

relied upon, but Orders were given that all Let-
ters, directed to Francia the Prifoner, lhould be
intercepted at the Poll-Office •, accordingly you
have heard, that feveral Foreign Letters from
France, directed to the Prifoner, were llopp'd,

and fent to the Secretary's Office ; thofe Letters

fully difclofing the Treafon, it was thought Time
to iffue a Warrant, and fend a MefTenger to feize

the Prifoner and his Papers ; and it is to us won-
derful, that one of the Council for the Prifoner

lhould undertake to cenfure that Proceeding, the

Neglect of which mult have been cenfured, if it

had not been < done : After an Information re-

ceiv'd, of fo vile and dangerous a Confpiracy,

confirmed and made evident by Letters inter-

cepted, was it poffible for one, entrulled in (6

high a Station, under his Majefty, to do lefs

than to caufe the Perfon and Papers of the Pri-

foner to be fecured ?

You have heard, Gentlemen of the Jury, that

from the Time of feizing the Letters, and Copy-
Book of Letters, in the Lodging and actual

Cuftody of the Prifoner, there is a regular and
certain Proof, as to the Identity of the Book,
and Papers produced at this Time, and given in

Evidence ; they were carried by the MeiTengers

jult as they were taken, to Mr. Walpole, who
deliver'd them to Mr. Buckley, and the Witnefies

all fpeak likewife, to the Book and Papers them-

felves, fo that there remains no Manner of Dif-

pute concerning them.

Amongft thefe Papers, Gentlemen, you will

obferve, there is one Letter that relates to Mr.
Harvey, which is now produced becaufe it is Evi-

dence againft the Prifoner Francia : He, it feems,

was to manage Mr. Harvey's Correfpondence,

and did fo for a confiderable Time, but at lalt

Curiofity prevail'd ; and it is very remarkable,

by what Accident that Original treafonable Let-

ter happens to appear now in this Place : It feems

the Prilbner, in Breach of the Trull and Confi-

dence which was repofed in him, and to gratify

his Curiofity, opened the Letter, and finding

he could not leal it up, and put it together again

in that manner, but that it might be fufpected

he had opened it; for that Reafon he himfelf kept

the very Original Letter under Mr. Harvey's

own Hand. When that Letter comes to be read,

it appears to be myfterious, as to the Figures

and Numbers made ufe of, inftead of the Names
of Perfons, but the Prifoner's Examination ex-

plains it, which Ihews he was Matter of the Key,

and of the Secret.

This Difcovery was attended with Ci.cum-

llances that will have their Weight, in a Caufe of

this Nature, when this Letter found upon the Pri-

foner, is produced to the Perfon that wrote it,

before a Committee of the Lords of the Council,

you have heard that he was in the utmoft Dif-

order,
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order, as indeed well he might, that he exprefVd

himfe'lf ready to difclofe all that he knew ; for

what Perfon being in his Condition, and feeing one

of his own Letters, which he believed fafe in the

Hands of his Correfpondents Abroad, would not

have believed the Government Mafters of the reft ;

I dare fay Francia's impertinent Curiofity was then

unthought of and unfufpected. I am forry, Gentle-

men, to mention a particular Accident, which,

however, ferves to fhew that the Correfpondence

was of a dangerous Nature, otherwife what Ac-

count can be given, that that Gentleman mould,

in about twelve Hours after, make a defperate At-

tempt upon himfclf ?

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I apprehend that

nothing of this Matter ought to be mentioned

here ; whatever Mr. Harvey was liable to, he is

now at Liberty.

Mr. Cotvper. I fay, my Lord, it had that Con-

fequence, and if it had not been a Difcovery of

the utmoft Importance, if it had not been thought

very dangerous in its Confequence to himfelf, that

Attempt upon himfelf had never been made : But

fo it was, and it is fo far material, as it was occa-

fioned by Part of that Correfpondence which the

Prifoner was employ'd to tranfmit to the Confpi-

rators in France.

You have heard, Gentlemen, that Francia,

when he was firft examined, capitulated for him-

felf •, that he promifed to make a full Confeffion,

and accordingly gave in a firft, and fecond Infor-

mation, which have been read to you ; and I dare

fay, when he figned thofe Examinations, he really

intended to fave himfelf by a Difcovery of his

Treafon ; but when he had taken Counfel with his

Party and Fellow-Prifoners in Newgate, you find

by his Letter to his Wife, he changed his Mind,

and the ExprefTion is to this Effect, He hops he had

[aid nothing that could hurt either himfelf or Mr.
Harvey, and that he laugh''d at any thing the Go-

vernment could do to himfelf.

Your Lordfhip has heard how artificially and

malicioufly it has been infinuated, that the Noble

Lord, the Secretary of State, gave fome Hopes

of IntercefTion to be made in Favour of the Pri-

foner ; I firmly believe, no Man living that

knows that Lord, but thinks he would have been

better than his Word, if the Prifoner had honeftly

deferv'd it. Whatever was faid upon that Oc-

cafion, proceeded from the Prifoner's Affurances,

that he would make a full Confeffion, that was

the Ground and Condition upon which the Pri-

foner was told he fhould be recommended to Mer-
cy. But let the World judge, whether that Noble

Lord could juftify it to the King, his Country, or

to himfelf, to interpofe in his Favour, when he

came to difcover by a Letter under the Prifoner's

own Hand, that he was refolved to conceal all

that he knew : Surely, the Condition being broke

by the Criminal himfelf, it became the Duty of

the Noble Lord not to intercede for an obftinate

Offender ; one, that was determined to abide e-

very Extremity, rather than do his Duty, bydif-

clofing thofe Trcafons that were latent in his

Breaft ; fo that we owe the Difcovery which is

made by the Examinations to the fame Providence

that has brought to Light the reft of the Evidence
in a ftrangeand wonderful Manner.

After lb much Time has been fpent, it would
be tedious to obferve the particular Paffages of
the Letters which have been given in Evidence,

only this I would obferve, that when the Rebel-
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lion was not fo near at hand, there ieems to be
fome little Caution ufed in penning the Letters
which have been read out of the Copy-book -, but
as the Time grew near, the Correfpondence alio

grew more warm and open, as may be perceived
by the Letters from Abroad ; which is the Reafon,
Gentlemen, you find him difcontinue entering his

own Letters in his Copy-book. It has been faid

by his Council, Can it be imagined that a Man
would copy and enter Letters of a criminal Na-
ture ? but Gentlemen, the Queftion is, Whether
he has done it ? And you hear it proved by three

Witneffes, that he owned it to be his own Copy-
book of Letters to his Correfpondents Abroad -,

fo that there can remain no doubt, but that every

Letter in that Book is a Copy of the Original

wrote by the Prifoner : Whoever will obferve the

Time when he difcontinues entering his Letters as

formerly, which was juft as the Rebellion was
breaking out, will think it a ftrong Evidence, if

Evidence were wanting, that the Letters enter'd,

contained a criminal and traiterous Correfpon-

dence.

Had the Correfpondence been innocent, the

fame Method would have been continued ; for

the Rebellion had nothing to do with the fham
Law-Suit. But as the Rebellion grew nigh, it

became neceffary to be more exprefs and plain, as

appears by all the Letters to Francia from abroad ;

which is the true Reafon he diicontinued entering

his own Letters. Can any Body than can hear

or read, doubt, but that the Prifoner continued

to write to his Friend Payen ? I think there is not

one Letter directed to the Prifoner that don't in

the firft Line of it acknowledge the Receipt of
the Prifoner's, Tours of fuch and fuch a Date I
have received ; and fome of them acknowledge
the Receipt of two Letters from the Prifoner at

the fame Time, which fhews his Diligence, and
proves, that he writ oftener to his Correfpondent
than his Correfpondent to him. You fee, Gen-
tlemen, the Letters from D'Julmay, alias Payen,

to the Prifoner, make it manifeft he went on to the

laft in the fame traiterous Correfpondence ; but
it can't be expected his Original Letters fhould

be produe'd. D'Aulmay's, Letters plainly inti-

mate the Tenour of the Prifoner's : I will trouble

you but with an Inftance or two amongft many
that might be obferved.

Of this kind are all thofe Letters which dif-

fuaded the Prifoner from being impatient ; that

give him Affurance they are not dilatory ; that

promife him every thing will anfwer his Expecta-
tion. All thefe, and many other Expreffions of
the like kind, manifefting that he was folliciting

Aid from France, and that he did what in him lay

to incite, promote, and encourage an Invafion

from Abroad, and the Rebellion at Home.
This Gentlemen, is the Nature of the Evi-

dence that has been laid before you : The Difco-

very was accidental, the tracing of it is ftrange

and wonderful. Deep and fecret are the Councils

of Traytors ; and yet we fee, let them be never

fo cautious, whatever Method they may take to

difguife their Treafon, whatever fubtile Inven-

tions may be ufed to carry on their Confpiracy,

yet the fame Providence that has placed his facred

Majefty upon the Throne of his Anceftors, will

continue to guard and protect him, and to baffle

the Devices of his Enemies. Upon the whole

Matter, we think we have fully prov'd the Trea-

fon and the Overt-Act laid in the Indictment.

O We
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We think it may reafonably be concluded from

the Evidence, that the Prifoner has confpired,

confuked, and agreed to raife and levy War within

this Kingdom, to depofe and murder the King ;

that he has written to and received from his Cor-

refpondents Abroad many Letters to procure fo-

reign Affiftance for that Purpofe ; and the Court

will inform you, Gentlemen, that this is Treafon

in the Prifoner at the Bar.

L. C. Baron. Gentlemen of the Jury, Francis

Francia Hands indicted of High-Treafon, for

compafTmg and imagining the King's Death ;

contriving to depofe him from the Throne, and

to advance the Pretender to the Crown. And
there are laid in the Indictment feveral Overt-

Acts ; one is, that he confuked and agreed to

raife an Infurrection and Rebellion againft the

King : And that for that Purpofe he wrote Let-

ters to divers Foreigners, to follicit and procure

Arms, Men and Money, and to caufe an Inva-

fion ; and caufed thofe Letters to be fent to di-

vers Foreigners in France.

This is the Subftance of the Indictment, and

to prove this, it has been fhewn you how he was

taken and feized. And Mr. Smith tells you, it

was upon the Nineteenth Day of September, 1715.

that he had a Warrant to feize him ; That he

went with another Meffenger, fince deceafed,

whole Name was Wilcox, and found him and a

Woman in Bed. The Prifoner in a little Time
got up. He tells you there was a Clofet in the

Room, the Door whereof he caufed to be open'd,

and in it, upon a Shelf, found a Parcel of Let-

ters lying open in Folio, wrote in French, and a

Book, that has been produced, lying upon the

Defk. He put up the Letters and the Book to-

gether ; when he had fo done, fays the Prifoner,

What do you take that Book for ? That is my Copy-

Book of my Letters to my Correfpondents, and there

is nothing material in that. The Meffenger took

notice of a fort of Writing at the End of it, that

he knew it by again, and the Prifoner 'laid, 'That

was his Son's Writing. It has been deduced to you,

that the Book and the Letters that have been pro-

duced to you, are the fame Book and Letters that

were feized in the Prifoner's Houfe, and carried to

my Lord Townjhend's Office.

Mr. Walpole tells you on what Day the War-
rant was granted, and that the next Day the Book
and Papers were delivered to him by the Meffen-

ger ; that he looked over them with Mr. Buckley,

and then he carried them to my Lord Townfhend

;

and that the Prifoner owned the Letters upon his

Examination before my Lord, and faid, This is

my Book of my Letters to my Correfpondents ; fome of
them were enter*d by me, and the reft of them by my
Son. This is prov'd to be the fame Book ; and
upon Perufal of the Letters, Mr. Walpole proves

them to be the fame that were brought to him by
the Meffenger.

Mr. Buckley fays, that when thefe Letters were
brought to the Office, he read feveral of them •,

and that when Mr. Walpole went to Holland, they

were left with him, and he copied feveral Paffages

out of them. Mr. Buckley was prefent at the Pri-

foner's Examination, but can't fay any thing as

to the Book's being fhewn to him, becaufe he was
bufy in taking the Examination ; but fays, that

Francia, upon his Examination, would not be
fworn upon a New Teftament ; but took a Book
out of his Pocket, and was fworn upon that, that

his Examinatton was true. He fubfcribed his

Name to it, and it was read over to him. It'was

objected, that he was refufed the Liberty of reading

it : But there was no fuch Thing •, he might have
read it, and it was read to him, and he was never
refufed to read it.

My Lord Townfhend informs you, that he
having received an Information, that a Corre-
fpondence was carried on between the Duke
lyAumont, the late Duke of Ormond, and Mr.
Harvey, and that Letters paff between them by
means of the Prifoner, there were Orders fent to

the Poll-Office, to ftop all Letters directed to
Francia ; that the Prifoner being examined be-
fore my Lord, own'd all thefe Letters. And fays

he, As to my own Letters, 1 appeal to my Book
which will fhew them, thefe are fo many Evi-
dences that he owned this Book to be the Book
of his Letters. What others write to me, fays he,

can't affetl me ; but as for my own Letters I appeal

to my Book. My Lord fays, there feemed to be
a Difpofition in him to tell all he knew, and he
offered to explain the Letters there produced ;

that at the next Time Mr. Harvey'?, Letter was
produced, and he explained the Figures in that

Letter ; and my Lord Townfhend then took him
to be fincere, but he found afterwards, that he
had not difcovered all he knew. Thefe Letters

were laid upon the Table during the Time of the

Examination, and were taken back again. The
Prifoner afked feveral Queftions about Money be-

ing given him, and more offered to him, by my
Lord Townfhend. My Lord gave an Account of
that, and fays, that the Prifoner pretended to be
in a miferable Condition, his Wife ftarving, and
he begg'd hard for fomething, pretending to be
miferably poor ; and as he was going away, as

meer Alms, my Lord gave him three, or four, or

five Guineas, not as any Encouragement to him
to fwear any Thing, but as meer Alms, becaufe

he begged fo hard, and pretended to be in fo mi-
ferable a Condition. Then he defired to know,
whether it was not promis'd him, that his Exami-
nation mould not be produced againft him. He
was told, that if he was candid there mould be
no Advantage taken againft him, and that my
Lord would intercede on his Behalf; and if he
had been fo, no doubt, my Lord would have
done what he could to incline the King to be fa-

vourable to him ; but after this my Lord found

he knew a great deal more than he would dif-

cover. His Wife came indeed to my Lord, and
pretended fhe could prevail upon him to difcover,

if fhe might be admitted to him ; but after this,

when he was in Newgate, a Letter was found di-

rected to his Wife, in which he faid, he met with

good Company in Newgate, and hoped he had

faid nothing againft Mr. Harvey which would

prejudice him ; and upon this, my Lord Town-

fhend did not think him fo fincere as he pretended

to be at firft. Mr. Buckley proves that Letter to

be of his Hand-Writing. In it he defires his

Wife to make herfelf eafy, They were all Tories

that were there ; he had good Company, and the

Bufinefs will be at an End in a Fortnight. What
Bufinefs could he mean ? Nothing but that about

which the Correfpondence was, and God will afjijl

us ; I know nothing againft Mr. Harvey, he is

only fufpecled to be for the Affair-, he was well known

to be fo before \ and if all were here that are fo, he

believed three Farts of the Nation would be there.

So that he had a good Opinion of the Caufe, and

that ic would be over in a Fortnight.

This
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This Examination wasalfoprov'd by Mr. Stan-

hope, who fays, that the Letter of Mr. Harvey an-

nexed to it, was produc'd at Council to Mr. Har-

vey ; that he was in the utmoft Confufion, chang'd

Countenance, defired to withdraw, and to have

liberty to fpeak to a certain Lord : My Lord

ftowfifhend, and Mr. Stanhope, both thought him

in a o-ood Diipofition to difcover, but that very

Night he ilabb'd himfelf. As to the Examina-

tion, he pretended he was not fuffer'd to read it

;

but Mr. Stanhope fays, that every thing of Confi-

deration was repeated more than once or twice ;

and after the firft Night's Examination, he re-

prefented himfelf to be in a miferable Condition,

and thereupon my Lord Townfhend did give him

fome Money, what it was he knows not •, and

this was after he had fign'd his Examination, and

fhew'd no Reluttancy to it •, and fays, that he

would not have been denied to have read it, if he

had defired it. This Examination being thus

proved, it appears to have been taken as fairly

and carefully in all refpects, and with as much

Kindnefs to the Prifoner as could be : Things

were gone over and over again. It has been read,

and there are fome things in that explain this

Correfpondence, and tell you how it was begun

and carried on.

It was begun by means of a Law-Suit that was

recommended to him to manage here, and that

brought on the Correfpondence between him and

the Abbot Butler : This begun a little before the

Queen's Death, and itcontinu'd till within a few

Days of the Prifoner's Examination. During that

Correfpondence he received feveral Letters from

the Abbot, directed to Mr. Harvey, and feveral

were conveyed to the Abbot from Mr. Harvey,

which were fometimes brought by Mr. Harvey

himfelf, and fometimes fent by other Hands.

The Prifoner alfo explains the initial Letters and

Numbers in Mr. Harvey's Letter, and then tells

you, that he believes the Subject Matter of the

Letters wrote to Mr. Harvey, by Payen alias

D'Aulmay, was the Defign of the Pretender to in-

vade theft Kingdoms ; this he could not know un-

lefs he had been privy to the Defign. If a Man
is privy to a treaibnable Defign, and contributes

to carrying it on, it is not then barely a Mifprifi-

on : If he comes to the Knowledge of Treafon,

without being otherwife concern'd in it, and does

not difcover it to a Magiftrate, this is Mifprifion

of Treafon ; but if he affents to the Treafon, or

afts in carrying it on, it is High-Treafon.

In the next Examination it is, that he fhews

what the Marks in Mr. Harvey's Letter fignify :

That 22 is the Duke D'Aumont, 6 the French

King, 17 is the Word Tory, and believes that

by 8 is to be underftood the Pretender, and by

9 is to be underftood his Majefty. There are fome
Marks that he don't know, but his knowing thus

far the Signification of thefe Marks, fhews that he
was privy to the Defign.

Mr. Harvey's Letter is annex'd to this Exami-
nation, and that has been read to you ; there are

fome Things remarkable in that Letter, though a
great part of it feems to be about fome Money
that he wanted to be paid him ; yet at the end he
fays, Prefs 22 to think of his Friends -, it will be

well for 6 ; all Things look well for 8, and in my
heart, I think better than ever; 9, fays he, Every
Day lofes himfelf, andfor the 24000 that makes for
8 and 6, that is, for the Pretender and the French
King. He fays, that opening the Cover the Let-
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ter ftuck to the Seal, and that was the reafon that

he kept it by him, and did not fend it forward.

If this Man had not been for carrying on the De-
fign, it had been his Duty to have carried this

Letter to the Secretary of State, he ought to have
difcover'd it to a Magiftrate •, but inftead of that,

he owns, that he has fince written other Letters

that have been read to you.

At the beginning of the Correfpondence D'Aul-
may defires to have fome News, and Francia tells

him, there was a Difcourfe of a Marriage in For-
wardnefs between the Prince at Lorrain and the

Arch-Dutchefs. " Let me know, fays he, what
" is in it, for it is for the Intereft of your Wife,
" for he had married a Wife whofe Name was
" Butler. D'Aulmay writes word again, As for

" the Marriage of the C r St. G e ; but
it is in Anfwer to the former Letter, and it is

known that he was called by the Name of the

Chevalier St. George ; fo that it muft be the fame
Perfon. He fays, there had been fome talk of
that Marriage, but no mention had been made of
it lately, I am of Opinion, fays he, that it will not

be a fure way to bring his Affairs to a happy Iffue \

a Party-War would be of more Advantage : Francia

writes again to D'Aulmay, and complains, that

fome Letters had not been anfwer'd, tho' entirely for
the Affair. And what that Affair is, muft be left

to you to judge. Be/ides, fays he, / muft tellyou,

that Perfons of Fifty or Sixty Thoufand Crowns
a Tear won't run the Hazard of lofing fuch Eftates

unlefs more Encouragement is given them ; you will

be underftood if you mention it to that Lord. And
I muft add, that the Misfortune of a certain Perfon

is more owing to your Delays on the other Side the

Water, than to the Party that is againft him. They
would have you think, that by Perfons of Fifty

or Sixty Thoufands Crowns a Year, was meant a

Perfon in France, that had fuffered by being con-

cerned in the Revenues •, but it is plain, it is

meant of Perfons here, that would not Hazard
their Eftates : And he adds, You will be under-

ftood ifyou mention this Jo Duke D'Aumont.
There are other Letters from the Prifoner ; in

one he tells D'Aulmay, He would advife them to

fatisfy Mr. Harvey, J am -perfuaded to deal with
him as has been done is no good Policy ; and if ever

I have the Honour to talk face to face with you, I
willfhew you clearly, how unhappily, through Negli-

gences, very important Affairs have mifcarried , this

muft be the Affair of the Pretender, and not of
the Law-Suit : The Affair that concerned Mr.
Harvey, for Mr. Harvey had nothing to do with
the Law-Suit, but by his Letter fhews himfelf to

be concerned for what makes for 8 and 6, that

is for the Pretender and French King.

There is another Letter from Francia, where-
in he writes, What you tell me at the End of your
Letter, ofyour havingfpoken in the manner I dejir'd

you, is fufficient, and confequently we are now to ex-

petl every Thing from your Side of the Water, that

is to fay, Explications, &c. I muft leave it to you
to confider what he meant by that.

In another Letter he fays, I am order'd to tell

you, on the part of Mr. Harvey, that you will do

him a Pleafure in defiring the Duke D'Aumont, in

his Name, to fend hither fome Perfons to fetch the

Horfes and Dogs he has had fo long, or elfe to fend
Orders to fome Body to take them : Affairs are here

in fuch a Situation, that great Precautions muft be

ufed to avoid giving Umbrage to thofe who are in

Power, When I have any thing particular to

O 2 write
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write to you, I will do it by a Jlrange Hand, and

will fign Jacques Chretien. Take Notice of this,

and provided you let me know you received this Let-

ter, without its having been opened, I pall be eafy.

There then began to be more Difficulty, and

therefore the Correfpondence muft be carried on

in that Name, and in a ftrange Hand.

In another Letter he writes, Mr. Harvey gives

his Service to you, and bid me tell you, when any

thing new offers, if he cannot write himfelf, he will

get J. C. to write for him. That muft be Jacques

Chretien.

Then there are other Letters from jyAulmay

to Francia, which were found in the Prifoner's

Cuftody ; and feveral of them import his having

received Letters from Francia. In one of them

D'Aulmay fays, You are in the right to inveigh

againft the Indolence you reproach us with ; but be

perfuaded, 'tis only fo in Appearance. I even hope,

that by this Time, you have convincing Proofs of it,

and that fuitable Returns are made to the good Difpo-

fitions of your fide. This grew near the Time of

the Rebellion- This Letter was dated the 7th of

Augufi, and the Rebellion broke out in Oclober.

He goes on, And that at laft, God Bleffmg the jufi

Caufe of our Friend, will let him gain his Suit ; at

leaf, Affifiance and powerful Solicitations fhall not

be wanting.

There are other Letters which fhew he knew
the Defign, and was privy to it-, Our Friend's

Caufe will foon be ready, God willing, to be tried.

That could not be the Law-Suit depending on

this fide the Water; for that Letter was wrote

from France; and he fays, All Preparations are

making for it. The Friend who is related to my Wife,

that is, the Duke of Ormond, has read your two

Letters, and is mightily pleas'd with them. Which
implies, that he had wrote Letters, tho' they are

not entered in the Copy-Book.

Then he writes upon the 24th of Augufi, under

the Name of Payen ; / am very much ajlonifh'd I
did not hear from you by the Poft which arriv'd

Yefterday. Oar Friend was at my Houfe expelling

it. We both of us defire you not to let one Posl go

without writing to us, and letting us know all that

paffes relating to the Caufe of our common Friend.

That can't be the Caufe of Butler's or D'Aulmay's

Friend that was depending here. There are fe-

veral other Letters which have been read to you,

which mention both thofe Caufes, and fhew that

he made a Diftinction between them.

On the 14th of September, fays D'Aulmay, The

Contents ofyour laft without a Date were very agree-

able to me, as well as to all our Friends, who give

you Thanks for it, and have order'd me to tellyou fo,

and to defire you to continue. We know already Part

of what you tell us about the Caufe of our Friend,

which will foon end (pleafe God) to his Satisfaction,

cr all Appearances would deceive us. As to my own
Caufe, I can't help telling you, that my Fate is very

unhappy to have to do with fo difhonefi a Man.
I think this is the Subftance of moft of the Let-

ters that have been read to you, which relate to

his Correfpondence, in endeavouring to procure

the Pretender to make an Invafion here.

Upon thefe Letters it has been obferv'd, that

the Caufe of the Pretender is one, and the Caufe

of the Law-Suit is another ; but in all thefe Let-
ters there is plain Mention made of the Preten-

der-, advifing how to bring it on, and giving
Intelligence about it. And thefe Letters being in

the Prifoner's Cuftody, and written to him, and

having fuch Treafon in them as is mentioned ; and
he keeping thefe Letters by him, is- a great Evi-
dence that he affented to the Tranfaction, and to

the endeavouring to bring the Pretender over,

and to contrive, as well as he could, to carry on
the Affair. If he had receiv'd but one Letter,

and did not defign to promote the Caufe, he
ihould have carried it to the Secretary of State,

and then he had done his Duty. But to receive fo

many Letters, and to keep them fo long, is an
Evidence that he affented to the Matter, and than

he did write fuch Letters as are mentioned to be

received from him.

On the Behalf of the Defendant, there was an
Objection made by his Counfel, that the Defen-

dant is an Alien born ; and that is an Objection

to the Indictment. He is indicted as a natural

born Subject, and they have examined feveral

Witneffes to prove him an Alien. The Proof is

ftrong, and you will find him an Alien, and fo that

matter muft be kit fpecially for the Judgment of
the Court, and you muft find the other Fact:

And if you believe that he did promote the Inva-

fion, or conceal and affent to that Defign, that

is, a confpiring the Death of the King, then he
will be guilty of the Treafon charg'd in the In-

dictment.

It has been objected, that in one of the Letters,

the Perfon who wrote thofe Letters complains,

that he had not heard of the Prifoner in three

Months ; but that is a Miftake, for that was in a

Poftfcript wrote by another Perfon, and in a dif-

ferent Hand ; for the very fame Letter fbews,

that there were Letters received from him within

that Time.
They fay, there is no direct Proof that he in-

tended the Life of the King -, but if he kept a

Correfpondence, and promoted the intended In-

vafion, that is in Law confpiring the Death of the

King.

They have produced fome People who have
given an extraordinary fort of Evidence, of what
Mr. Buckley and my Lord Townfhend fhould fay

about this Matter, as if they promifed him great

Things, if he would fwear againft Mr. Harvey.

Simon Francia faid, that Mr. Buckley told him,
if his Brother would fwear againft Mr. Har-
vey, he fhould have a good Reward ; and that

my Lord Townfhend faid, he had given him Five

Guineas, and he fhould have more.

Lucy White faid, that fhe was in Newgate, and
Francia defir'd her to conceal her felf when
Mr. Buckley came : That Mr. Buckley told him,

he muft fwear right or wrong for the Govern-

ment -, and if he did not fwear againft Mr. Har-

vey, Mr. Buckley would charge him with High-

Treafon, for he had cheated my Lord Townfhend

of his Money, and done nothing for it.

Mary Meggifon fwears, that Mr. Buckley fhould

fay, he would fwear againft him, becaufe he had

cheated my Lord Townfhend of Five Guineas, and

would not fwear againft Mr. Harvey.

Mr. Buckley was called again, and he denies

it : He fays there was no fuch Thing. And it

feems improbable that a Man of his Credit fhould

talk thus to the Prifoner-, therefore the Cre-

dit of Mr. Buckley muft be left to you, againft

the Credit of thofe two Women. He tells you

that Francia fent to him, to defire to fpeak

with him, not about Mr. Harvey, but on Behalf

of one Flint, who is a Prifoner in Newgate, and

was concern'd in writing the Shift Shifted; and

. Francia
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Francia fent a Meffage to Mr. Buckley, that he Eighteenth of the fame Month, he was in pain in

could do a Service in fuppreffing it. Mr. Buckley one of his Hands, but does not know which of

went to him, and he defired fome Favour on Be- them, nor whether he was able to write : Bit this

half of Flint, which was granted : And Mr. Buck- was before this Correfpondence by Letters that have

ley denies he had any Difcourfe with the Prifoner been read to you began,

about Mr. Harvey. Then they call lome WitnefTes to his Repu-

Revell was called, and he proves, that Francia tation : One tells you, that in Difcourfe with him.

fent him to Mr. Buckley, to defire he might ipeak about the late Peace, he faid, it would ruin the

to him. That he order'd Revell to ftand at the Nation ; that fort of Evidence is of no Significa-

Door, and he did fo, but did not hear what they tion. Mr. Slater has known . him four or five

laid. Years; there was a Commiffion of Bankruptcy

My Lord Townfhend tells you, that Mr. Buckley againft him, on which Occasion he became ac-

gave him an Account, that Francia had fent to him, quainted with him. He fays, he always feemed

for the Purpofe which he mentioned before : That to efpoufe the Intereft of the King of France,

my Lord ordered him to go : That he went ac- but he always laugh'd at our Parties among our

cordingly, and he gave my Lord an Account what felves. Thofe that were for the Intereit of

he had done about the Matter, and Flint had fome France, would of Confequence laugh at our Di-

Favour fhewn him. vifions.

As to Simon Francia, my Lord fays, he was Richardfon fays, that he ufed to go to the Pri-

feveral Times with him, but my Lord never pro- foner often in his Sicknefs, and knows no harm

pofed any Reward for Swearing againft Mr. Har- of him : That Francia liked him, and called him

vey ; but told him, his Brother muft deal openly, Vulcan, and bid him drink King George's Health,

and tell all he knew, and that was the way to re- and drank it himfelf.

commend himfelf to Favour.

As to the two Women, their Credit muft be left This is the Subftance of the Evidence that has

in Oppofition to my Lord Townjhend and Mr. been given on both Sides : Now, if you believe

Buckley, which of them you will believe, for they thefe Letters were wrote to him and by him, and

deny what the others have fworn. that they contain a Correfpondence of a treafon-

Then they call another Witnefs Everall, he tells able Nature, inciting or encouraging any Perlbns

you, that the Prifoner's Foreign Letters were to levy War againft the King, or any thing which

brought to his Houfe ; that they lay in an open fhews that he was privy and aflenting to it, then

Window, and foraetimes remained there lbme he is guilty of High-Treafon. If you don't be-

Days, and any Body might fee them ; and from lieve thofe Letters were his, or that they don't

thence they infer that they muft be of no great amount to fuch a Correfpondence, then you muft

Confequence? But how can you infer that? Who acquit him.

can tell by the Superfcription of a Letter who it If you find him Guilty, then you muft alfb

comes from, or what are the Contents of it ; but find that he was born in France, and is an Alien,

thefe People can't fay that thefe were all the Letters

that were fent to him. Then the Jury withdrew to confider of their Ver-

There is an Objection made to the Book ; a did ; and when they returned into Court, were

Witnefs fays, he has looked upon it, and that called over, and anfwered to their Names.

none of the Book feems to be of his Fland-writing

;

he fays, Francia writes a fuller Hand. Simon CI. of Arr. Gentlemen, are you all agreed on

Francia has look'd upon it, and lays, not a Syl- your Verdict. ?

lable is of his Writing ; and others tell you, they fury. Yes.

believe it is not his Hand, and that he was three CI. of Arr. Who fhall fay for you ?

Months lame of a Rheumatifm. As for that, it is Jury. Our Foreman.
not material whofe Writing it is, if it contains the CI. of Arr. Francis Francia^Holdup thy Hand.
Copies of his Letters, and he has own'd before Which he did.

three Witneffes, That it is the Copy-book of his Look upon the Prifoner, how fay you ? Is he

Letters. Guilty of the High-Treafon whereof he ftands

Dr. Cade tells you he was ill, and thence they Indicted, or Not Guilty ?

infer, that it is not probable that he fhould write Foreman. Not Guilty.

L-'tters ib confrantly as he did. He tells you,

that from the Second of November iyi^. to the Whereupon the Prifoner was difcharged;

CLXXXVIII. Pro-
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CLXXXVIII. Proceedings againjl Robert Earl of Ox-
ford, before the Houfe of Lords, upon an Impeach-

ment for High-Treafon, and other High-Crimes, and
Mifdemeanours, June 24, 171 7. 3 Geo. I.

[HE Earl of Oxford having been im-

peached by the Houfe of Commons,
and been confin'd near two Years in

the Tower, without being brought

to a Trial, prefented a Petition to

the Houfe of Lords, fetting forth his long Con-

finement, fubmitting his Cafe to their Lordfhips

Confideration, and praying that his Imprifonment

might not be indefinite.

Upon this Petition fome of the Lords urged,

That the Impeachment was ipfo fatlo deftroyed

and determin'd, fince he was not brought to

Trial the fame Seffion in which he was impeach'd,

and that the Prorogation was an actual Super-

fedeas to the whole Proceedings; however, the

Vote of the Houfe pafs'd to the contrary, and

the Earl of Nottingham, who had infifted ftrenu-

oufly upon it, enter'd his Proteftation againft it.

This being over-ruled the Duke of Buckingham

moved to appoint a fhort Day for the Earl's

Trial, which after fome Debates was fix'd for

the 13 th of June, and afterwards at the Defire of

the Houfe of Commons was deferr'd till Monday

the 24th, on which Day the Lords came from

their Houfe at twelve o' the Clock in their Robes

and went into the Court in Weftminfter-Hall, in

their ufual Order.

The Lords being feated in their Places, (and

the Commons in a Committee of the whole Houfe

being in their Seats, and the Managers for the

Houfe being alfo in Places appointed for them ;)

The Houfe was refumed.

Then Proclamation was made as follows, viz.

Serjeant at Arms. O Yes, O Yes, O Yes ! Our
Sovereign Lord the King doth ftridtly charge and

command all Manner of Perfons to keep Silence,

on Pain of Imprifonment.

Then the Commiffion for appointing a Lord
High-Steward was (after three Reverences made in

coming up from the Clerk's Table) prefented to

the Lord High-Steward fitting upon the Wool-
fack, by the Clerk of the Crown in Chancery on

his Knee; and the fame being brought to the

Table, Proclamation was again made for keeping

Silence.

L. H. Steward. My Lords,

his Majefty's Commiffion is

about to be read ; your Lordfhips are defired to

attend to it in the ufual Manner, and all others

are likevvife to ftand up uncovered while the Com-
miffion is reading.

Then the faid Commiffion was read (all the

Lords and others ftanding up uncovered) as fol-

lows.

William Lord Covjper.

GEORGIUS R.

GEorgius, Dei Gratia, Magna Britannia?,

Francia & Hibernian Rex, Pidei Defenfor,

&c. Pradiletlo cif Fideli Confiliario Nojlro Williel-

mo Domino Cowper, Cancellario nojlro Magna Bri-

tannia, Salutem. Cum Robertus Comes de Oxen'

cif Comes Mortimer, coram Nobis in Parliamento

per Muites, Cives cif Burgenfes in Parliamento

nojlro Ajjemblal' de alta Proditione cif aliis Atrocif

fimis Criminibus cif Offenjis per ipfum Robertum Co-

mitem Oxon' & Comitem Mortimer commifs' & per-

petrat' in nomine ipforum Militum Civium cif Bur-

genfium &f nomine omnium Communium Regni nojlri

Magna Britannia Impetif cif Accufaf exijlit. Nos
Conjiderantes quod Jujlitia eft Virtus Excellens &
Altijjimo Complacens, volentefq; quod praiiclus Ro-
bertus Comes de Oxon' & Comes Mortimer de & pro

proditione & aliis Criminibus cif Offenjis unde ipfe

ut prafertur Impetitus £ff Accufatus exijlit coram

Nobis in prafenti Parliamento nojlro, fecundum Le-

gem £ff Confuetudinem hujus Regni nojlri Magna
Britannia, cif fecundum Confuetud. Parliamenti

audiatur, examinetur, fententietur cif adjudicetur,

cateraq; omnia qua in hac parte pertinent debtto

modo exerceantur cif exequantur ; ac pro eo quod

Proceres cif Magnates in prafenti Parliamento nojlro

Ajfemblat' Nobis humilime fupplicaverunt ut Senef-

callum Magna Britannia pro hac Vice Conflituere

dignaremur : Nos de Fidelitate, Prudentid, providd

Circumfpeclione cif Indujlrid Veftris plurimum Con-

fidentes, Ordinavimus cif Conftituimus Vos ex hac

Cauja Senejcallum Magna Britannia ad Ojficium

illud, cum omnibus eidem Officio in hac parte debit''

cif pertinen' hac vice Gerend' Occupand' cif Exer-

cend' cif ideo vobis Mandamus quod circa pramiffa

diligenter Intendatis £f? omnia qua in hac parte ad

Offcium Senefcalli Magna Britannia pertinent cif

requiruntur hac vice faciatis, exerceatis cif exequa-

mini cum effetlu. In cujus rei Teftimonium has Li-

teras noftras fieri fecimus Patentes, Tefte meipfo apud

Weft' Vicefimo Quarto Die "Junii, Anno Regni nojlri

Tertio.

Per ipjum Regem propria Manu Signat*

Wrighte.

Then the Herald and Black-Rod, making
three Reverences as they came up, prefented,,

kneeling, the Staff to the Lord High-Steward •,

who thereupon ftanding up, made a Reverence to-

the Lords ; and then, being attended by the He-
rald, Black-Rod, and Purle-Bearer carrying the

Purfe,
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Purfe, proceeded to the Chair placed on the fe-

cond Step of the Throne.

Who having again made a Reverence to the

Lords, he feated himfdf in the faid Chair, and

gave the Staff to the Black-Rod on his Right-

Hand, the Purfe-Bearer ftanding on his Left.

Serj. at Arms. O Yes, &c. ("as before.)

Lord High-Steward. Make Proclamation for

the Lieutenant of the Tower of London to bring

the Prifoner to the Bar.

Serj. at Arms. O Yes, O Yes, O Yes! Lieu-

tenant of the Tower of London, bring forth your

Prifoner to the Bar, according to the Order of

the Houfe of Lords to you directed.

Then the Earl of Oxford came to the Bar, and

kneeled for fome time.

L. H. Steward. Your Lordfhip may rife.

Then the Earl of Oxford rofe up.

Serj. at Arms. O Yes, &£. (as before.)

L. H. Steward. Clerk read the Articles of Im-

peachment.

The Clerk read the Articles, as followeth.

Articles of Impeachment of High-Trea-

fon, and other High Crimes and Mifde-
meanours, againf Robert Earl of Oxford

and Earl Mortimer.

WHEREAS many folemn Treaties and

Alliances have been formerly entred into

between the Crown of England, and other Princes

and Potentates of Europe, for their mutual Safety,

and from the Confiderations of the common Dan-

ger, which threaten'd all Chrifiendom, from the

immoderate Growth of the Power of France. And
whereas the preventing the Monarchy of Spain

from coming into the Hands of the Houfe of

Bourbon, has for many Years been a fundamental

Principle and Maxim of Union among the Allies,

in order to preferve a juft Ballance of Power in

Europe: And to that end, as the Defigns of France

on the Monarchy of Spain have from time to time

appear'd, new Treaties and exprefs Stipulations

have been enter'd into amongtt the Allies, to

ftrengthen themfelves againft that approaching

Danger: And, on this Foundation, a Treaty for

an intended Partition, whereby a fmall Part only

of the Dominions of the Crown of Spain was al-

lotted to the Houfe of Bourbon, was condemned
by the Wifdom of Parliament, as being highly

prejudicial, and fatal in its Confequences to Eng-

land, and the Peace of Europe : And whereas the

Duke of Anjou, Grandfon to the King of France

on the Demife of Charles the Second, King of

Spain, took PoffcfTion of the entire Monarchy of

Spain, whereby the Ballance of Power, the Pro-

teftant Religion, and the Liberties of Europe were
threatened with immediate Danger; whereupon
Leopold, then Emperor of Germany, his late Ma-
jefty King William the Third, of ever-glorious

Memory, and the States-General of the United

Provinces, finding at that moft critical Juncture,

that a ftrict Conjunction and Alliance between
themfelves was become necefiary, for repelling

the Greatnefs of the Common Danger, frdm fo

great an Acceffion of Power to the then common
Enemy, did, in the Year of our Lord one Thou-
fand Seven Hundred an One, make, form, and
conclude a new Treaty and Alliance, whereby it

was agreed, That there fhall be and continue be-
tween the laid Confederates, his facred Imperial

Majefty, his facred Royal Majefty of Great Bri-

tain, and the Lords the States-General of the

United-Provinces, a conftant, perpetual, and in-

violable Friendfhip and Correfponder.ee, and that

each Party fhall be obliged to promote the Ad-
vantages of the ocher, and prevent all Inconve-

niencies and Dangers that might happen to them,

as far as lies in their Power : That the faid Allies,

defiring nothing more earneftly than the Peace

and general Quiet of all Europe, have adjudged

that nothing can be more effectual tor the Efta-

blifhment thereof, than the procuring an equi-

table and reafonable Satisfaction to his Imperial

Majefty for his Pretenfion to the Spanifh Succef-

fion, and that the King of Great Britain and the

States-General may obtain a particular and fuffi-

cient Security for their Kingdoms, Provinces and

Dominions, and for the Navigation and Com-
merce of their Subjects : That the faid Confede-

rates therefore fhall, in the firft Place, endeavour,

by amicable Means, to obtain the faid Satisfac-

tion ; but if, contrary to their Expectation and
Wifhes, the fame is not had, the faid Confede-

rates do engage and promife to one another, that

they will affift each other with all their Forces

according to a Specification to be agreed upon in

a peculiar Convention for that purpoie : That the

Confederates in order to the procuring the Satis-

faction and Security aforefaid, fhall, amongft
other Things, ufe their utmoft Endeavours to re-

cover the Provinces of the Spanifh Low-Countries,

that they may be a Fence and Rampart, com-
monly called a Barrier, feparating and dividing

France from the United Provinces, for the Secu^

rity of the States-General, as they have ferv'd in

all Times, 'till of late that the moft Chriftian

King has feiz'd them by his Forces; as likewife

the Dutchy of Milan, with its Dependencies, as

a Fief of the Empire, and contributing to the

Security of his Imperial Majefty's hereditary Do-
minions; befides the Kingdoms of Naples and
Sicily, and the Lands and Iflands upon the Coaft

of Tufcany in the Mediterranean, that belonged
to the Spanifh Dominions, and may ferve to the

fame Purpofe, and will alfo be of Advantage to

the Navigation and Commerce of the Subjects of
the King of Great Britain, and of the United-

Provinces : That in Cafe the Confederates fhall be
forced to enter into a War, for obtaining the Sa-

tisfaction aforefaid for his Imperial Majefty, and
the Security of his Majefty of Great Britain, and
the States-General, they fhall communicate their

Defigns to one another, as well in Relation to the

Actions of the War, as all other Things wherein

the common Caufe is concerned: That it fball

not be permitted to either Party, when the War
is once begun, to treat of Peace with the Enemy,
unlefs jointly, and by a Communication of

Counfels ; and no Peace fhall be made, unlefs an

equitable and reafonable Satisfaction for his Im-

perial Majefty and the particular Security of the

Kingdoms, Provinces, Dominions, Navigations

and Commerce for his Majefty of Great Britain,

and the States-General, be firft obtained ; and

unlefs Care be taken, by fitting Security, that

the Kingdoms of France and Spain fhall never

come and be united under the fame Government,

nor that one and the fame Perfon fhall be King of

both Kingdoms ; and particularly that the French

fhall never get into the PofTeffion of the Spanifh

Indies, neither fhall they be permitted to fail

thither on the Account of Traffick, directly or

indi-
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indirectly, or any Pretence whatfoever ; And laft- dred Seventy Seven-Eight, between England and

ly, unlefs full Liberty be granted unto the Subjects Holland, which is hereby renewed and confirmed ;

of the King of Great Britain, and the States-Gene- and no Peace, nor Truce, or Sufpenfion of Arms,

ral, to exercife and enjoy all the fame Privileges, mall be negotiated or made, but according to the

Rio-hts, Immunities, and Franchifes of Com- ninth and tenth Articles of that Treaty ; by

merce by Sea and Land in Spain, the Mediterra- which it was agreed, that when the two Allies

nean, and all Lands and Places which the King come once to an open War, it mall be lawful for

of Spain laft deceafed did poffefs at the Time of neither of them afterwards to come to any Ceffation

his Death, as well in Europe as elfewhere, which of Arms with him who fhall be declar'd and pro-

they ufed and enjoyed, or which the Subjects of claim'd an Enemy, without it be done conjointly,

both, or either of them, by any Right acquired and with common Confent : That no Negotiation

by Treaties Agreements, Cuftoms, or any other of Peace fhall be fet on Foot by one of the Allies,

"Way whatfoever, might have ufed and enjoyed without the Concurrence of the other: That each

before the Death of the late King of Spain: That Ally fhall continually, and from Time to Time,

at the faid Time that the faid Agreement or impart to the other every thing that paffes in the

Peace fhall be made, the "Confederates fhall agree faid Negotiation, and fhall ftipulate with the

amongft themfelves about all the Things that they common Enemy for the fame Rights, Immuni-

Ihall think neceffary for maintaining the Naviga- ties, Exemptions and Prerogatives for his Ally,

tion and Commerce of the Subjects of his Ma- as he does for himfelf, if fo be the faid Allies do

jefty of Great Britain, and the States-General, in not agree to the contrary. And whereas the

the Lands and Dominions they may acquire, and French King having got Poffeffion ofa great Part

that were poffeffed by the late deceafed King of of the Spanijh Dominions, exercifed an abfolute

Spain, and alio in what manner the States-General Authority over that Monarchy, having feized

may be fecured by the aforefaid Fence or Barrier. Milan and the Spanijh Low-Countries by his Ar-

And whereas his faid late Majefty King William, mies, and made himfelf Mafter of Cadiz, of the

and the States -General, ferioufly confidering, Entrance into the Mediterranean, and of the Ports

that France was then become fo formidable from of the Spanijh Wejl-Indies by his Fleets, every

the Acceffion of Spain to the Duke of Anjou, where defigning to invade the Liberties of Europe,

that, in the Opinion of all the World, Europe and to obitruct the Freedom of Navigation and

was in Danger of lofing her Liberty, and under- Commerce ; and inftead of giving the Satisfaction

woing the heavy Yoke of Univerfal Monarchy, that ought juftly to be expected, had proceeded

and that the fureft Means of effecting that Defign, to further Violences, and had taken on fiim to

were to divide the King of Great Britain from declare the pretended Prince of Wales King of

the States-General, for which Purpofe all ima- England, Scotland, and Ireland, and had alfo in-

clinable Efforts would be made; they therefore fiuenced Spain to concur in the fame Affront;

thought it neceffary to unite in the ftricteft Man- her late Majefty Queen Anne taking notice, that

ner that was poffible, and to that End a Defenfive fhe found herfelf obliged, for maintaining the

Treaty and Alliance was concluded and entered Public Faith, or vindicating the Honour of the

into between them, in or about the Month of Crown, and to prevent the Mifchiefs which all

November, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Europe was threaten'd with, to declare War againft:

One, wherein it was among other Things, agreed, France and Spain; did according, in the Month
That in cafe the faid High Allies fhould be of May, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and

jointly engaged in War, by Reafon of this De- Two, in the moft public and folemn Manner,

fenfive Alliance before-mentioned in the fifth Ar- declare War againft France and Spain -, and in

tide, or on any other Account, there fhall be an the faid Declaration, placing her entire Confi-

Offenfive, and Defenfive, and perpetual Alii- dence in the Help of Almighty God, in fo juft

ance between them, againft thofe with whom the and neceffary an Undertaking, declared, That

War fhall be, and all their Forces fhall be em- fhe would, m conjunction with her Allies, vigo-

ployed by Sea^and Land, and they fhall act in roufly profecute the fame both by Sea and Land,

conjunction or feparately, as it fhall be agreed being affured of the ready Concurrence of her

between them. That fince, in the Alliance with Subjects, in a Caufe they had fo openly and hear-

the Emperor made in September laft, particular tily efpoufed. And his Imperial Majefty and

Care was taken of the Recovery of the Spanijh their High Mightineffes, purfuant to the Treaties

Low-Countries, out of the Hands of the moft afore-mentioned reflectively, in or about the faid

Chriftian King, the faid Confederates exprefly Month of May, One Thoufand Seven Hundred

engage to aid one another with all their Forces and Two, did likewife declare War againft France

for the Recovery of the fame. And in regard and Spain. And whereas the Kings of Portugal

the principal Intereft of the faid Confederates and Prujfia, the Electors of Hanover, Saxony,

confifts in the Prefervation of the Liberties of Treves, Mentz, Palatine of the Rhine, the Duke
Europe, the before-mentioned Treaty with the of Savoy, the Prince of HeJJ'e, the Dukes of

Emperor fhall be faithfully and fincerely exe- Wolfembuttie, Mecklenburg, and Wirtemburg, the

cuted, and both Sides fhall guaranty the fame, Circles of Suabia and Franconia, and of the Upper

and ufe their Endeavours to confirm and render Rhine, the Bifhopsof Munjler and Conftance, and

it more ftrong from Time to Time : That in other Princes and Powers, being invited by the faid

making Peace, particular Care fhall be taken of Grand Alliance, and relying on the Faith thereof,

the Commerce and Traffick of both Nations, as did afterwards become Parties to the faid Confede-

alfo for their Security, as well in regard to the rate War againft France and Spain; and in the

Low-Countries, as the Countries adjacent: That Treaty entered into in or about the Month of May,

when the War is begun, the Confederates fhall One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Three, between

act in concert, according to the feventh and eighth his Imperial Majefty, the Queen of Great-Britain,

Articles of the Treaty of the Third of March, in the States-General, and the King of Portugal, ic

the Year of our Lord One Thoufand Six Hun- is amongft other things, exprefly ftipvilated, that

on
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no Peace nor Truce (hall be made, but by the

mutual Confent of all the Confederates ; nor fhall

any at any time be made, while the f'econd Grand-

fon of the mod Chnftian King by the Dauphin,

or anv other Prince of the Line of France conti-

nues in Spain, nor unlefs the Crown of Portugal (hall

folly pcflcfs and enjoy all the Lands, Kingdoms,

Ifles, Caftles, Cities, Towns, &c. with their Ter-

ritories and Dependencies in Spain, or elfewhere,

which it now poffeflcs. And in the Treaty of

Nordlingen, ratify'd by her late Majefty, it is,

amongft other things, exprefly agreed, that it

mall not be allow'd to make particular Treaties,

but the Peace fhall be jointly treated of, and fhall

not be included without obtaining, as far as is

poflible, the Re-union of the Lands belonging

to the Circles, and until at leafl the Security of

the afTociated Circles be abfolutely provided for,

in the beft manner that is poflible, and better

than it has formerly been. And whereas to give

the greatefl Strength that was poflible to the

Union, fo neceflaryj to both Nations, her late

Majefty and the States by a Treaty in the Month
of June, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and

Three, renewed and confirmed all Treaties and

Alliances then fubfifting between them ; and

therein it is, amongft other things, exprefly and

particularly ftipulated, that as the faid moft fe-

renc Queen, and the Lords the States-General are

now in War with France and Spain, and are re-

ciprocally bound to aflift each other, and mu-

tually to defend, maintain, and preferve their

Countries and Subjects in their Poflcflions, Im-

munities, and Liberties, as well of Navigation

and Commerce, as other Rights whatfocver by

Sea and Land, againft and in Oppofition to all

Kings, Princes, and States, and particularly

againft France and Spain, to the end a juft and

reafonable Peace may the better be obtained, that

may eftablilh the Repofe and Tranquillity of Eu-

rope, it is agreed between the moft Serene Queen
of Great Britain, and the faid Lords the States-

General, that neither of the faid Allies fhall make
a Sufpenfion of Arms, or a Peace with France or

Spain, or any other King, Prince, or State, who
fhall moleft or attac either of the faid Allies,

but in Conjunction and by common Confent.

And whereas the faid War was for feveral Years

carry'd on with Vigour and Unanimity by her

Majefty and her Allies, at a vaft Expence both

of Blood and Treafure •, for the Support of which,

on the Part of England, many Millions have been

granted by Parliament, who, on many Occafions

fince, continued not only to exprefs their Senfe

of the Juftice and Neceffity of the War, but did

frequently give their humble Advice to the Throne,

that no Peace could be Safe, Honourable, or

Lafting, fo long as the Kingdom of Spain and

the Weft-Pndies continued in the Pofleflion of any

Branch of the Houfe of Bourbon. And whereas it

pleafed Almighty God to grant to the Confede-

rate Arms, under the Command of their Great

and Victorious General the Duke of Marlbo-

rough, fuch unparallel'd SuccefTes as exceeded even

their own Hopes and the Fears of the Enemy

;

and by the many fignal Victories of Schellenberg,

Hochftet, Audenardex and Ramellies, as well as by
the Conquefts of the Electorates of Bavaria and
Cologn, and the Reduction of the Spanijh Nether-

lands, and many other great Advantages both by
Sea and Land ; and by the Wifdom and Unani-
mity of their Counfels, the Glory of the Confe-
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derate Arms, and the Reputation of Great Bri-

tain in particular, was rais'd to an higher Pitch

than in any former Age. And whereas her late

Majefty, in Conjunction with her Allies, wifely

forefeeing, that whenever the Enemy fhould be
brought to make Overtures -of Peace, the furefl

way to put an End to the War, and prevent

France from putting in Practice her uiual In-

trigues, was, by previoufly infilling on fuch Con-
ditions from France, that nothing might remain
to be done in a General Aflcmbly, but to give

them the Form of a Treaty, and for thefc Rca-
fons, a Preliminary Treaty was concluded on,

and was afterwards fign'd by the Plenipotentiaries

of his Imperial Majefty, of her late Majefty the

Queen of Great Britain, and of the Lords the

States-General of the United Provinces, and af-

terwards ratified by their Principals ; wherein the

Interefts of the feveral Allies were adjufted, in order

to a General Treaty of Peace with France: and

therein the Reftitution of the Spanijh Monarchy to

the Houfe of Auftria, being one of the chief Caufes

for carrying on the War, is laid down as an im-

mutable Foundation among the Allies. Ai.d

whereas in the Year of our Lord One Thoulat.d

Seven Hundred and Nine, the King of France

having firft fignify'd his Confent to the Reftitu-

tion of the Spanifh Monarchy to the Houie of Au-

ftria, fent his Miniftcrs to the Hague to treat with

the Miniftcrs of the Principal Allies on a General

Peace ; and in the Conferences held thereupon,

the Interefts of all the Allies, as adjuftcd in tne

faid Preliminaries, were pofitively and exprefly

agreed to by the Miniftcrs of France, and parti-

cularly that of the Reftitution of the entire Spanijh

Monarchy to the Houfe of Auftria ; and the la.d

Negotiation was afterwards broke, on no other

Diipute but on the thirty feventh Article of me
Preliminary Treaty, concerning the Time and

Manner of evacuating Spain. And whereas the

Conferences being refumed at Gertruydenbergj in

the Year of our Lord One Thoufand Seven Hun-
dred and Ten, the faid thirty feventh Article be-

came the only Subject of the Negotiation which
was there fet on foot, for the finding out fome
equivalent by which the fame Security might be
given to the Allies, as they had by the thirty fe-

venth Article of the faid Preliminaries ; and tho*

it was unqueftionable, that before any Negotia-
tion was begun, that while the Preliminaries were
treating, that by thofe Preliminaries thcmfclves,

that before the laft Negotiation was refumed, and
all the while it lafted, the Reftitution of Spain

and the Indies was laid down as a firm and im-
moveable Foundation of the Negotiation, and no
Queftion remain'd concerning it with the Mini-
ftcrs of the Allies or thofe of France, but touch-

ing the Security for its Execution : And tho* all

reafonable and prudent Overtures were made by
the Allies for fettling an Equivalent, yet the Con-
ferences were broke off by France without any Sa-

tisfaction therein. And whereas the fincere Inten-

tions of all the Allies to have fettled the Peace of
Europe on folid and equitable Foundations were
notorious and inconteftable, and the Rupture of
the faid Negotiations could only be imputed to

the Enemy; her facred Majefty, in Conjunction

with her Allies, renew'd their Refolutions to con-

tinue and pufh the War with Vigour, and to make
all poflible Efforts, as the only Means left to force

a good and general Peace. And her Majefty in

her Speech from the Throne on the Fifteenth of

P
. November^,
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November, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and

Nine, taking notice of the Endeavours of the Ene-

my during the faid Negotiations, to amufe and

create Jealoufies among the Allies, declared her

Refentment thereat, and earneftly recommended

the carrying on the War, and a vigorous Profe-

cution of the Advantages obtained, that fhe might

put the laft Hand to that great Work of reducing

the exorbitant and oppreffive Power which had fo

long threatned the Liberties of Europe. And it

having pleafed Almighty God, after the faid Pre-

liminary Treaty, to blefs the Confederate Army,
under the Command of their confummate General

the Duke of Marlborough, with new and fignal

Conquefts, the Reduction of Tournay, the Victory

of Tafnieres, the taking of Mons and Doway, Be-

thune, St. Venant and Aire, and the Penetrating the

Lines near the Scarpe. And whereas, from the

profperous Condition of the Affairs of the Allies,

and the Wifdom, Firmnefs, and Unanimity of

their Counfels, nothing remained, in all human
Appearance, but that they fhould reap the Fruits

of all their Victories in a fpeedy, juft, honoura-

ble and lading Peace -, and on the other hand, no-

thing was left to raife the Hopes of the Enemy,
whereby to defeat that happy Profpe6t, but the

Succefs of their fecret Endeavours to difunite the

Confederacy. And whereas Robert Earl of Ox-

ford and Earl Mortimer, with other evil-minded

Perfons, Enemies to the true Interefts of their own
Country, as well as to the common Liberties and

Welfare of Europe, having by many wicked Arts

and bafe Insinuations obtain'd Accefs to her late

Majefty Queen Anne, and in or about the Months
of July or Auguft One Thoufand Seven Hundred
and Ten, being admitted into her Councils, and

into Places of the higheft Truft, and to make way
for their wicked Enterprizes, did, by their evil

Council and Advice, prevail on her Majefty to

diffolve a Parliament which had given the moft
unqueftionable Proofs of their great Wifdom, and
of their true Zeal for the common Caufe-, for

which, as well as for the many Marks of Duty
and Affection given to her, her Majefty return'd

her hearty Thanks, and exprefs'd her great Satif-

faclion. And whereas the faid Robert Earl of Ox-

ford and Earl Mortimer, and others his Accom-
plices, had formed a treacherous Correfpondence

with the Emiflaries of France, by means whereof
certain Proportions were tranfmitted from France

to England, fign'd by Monfieur de Torcy, Secre-

tary of the King of France, in the Month of April

One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven, to be

the Bafis of a Treaty of a General Peace ; which
Proportions, tho' her Majefty was prevail'd on by
the falfe Counfels of the laid Robert Earl of Oxford
and Earl Mortimer, and others, to receive as a fuf-

ficient Foundation of a Treaty of a General Peace,

and as fuch to communicate them to the Grand Pen-
fionary and the Minifters of Holland, her Majefty

however was gracioufly pleafed at the fame time

to declare to them her Pleafure by her Secretary

of State, that being refolv'd, in making Peace as

in making War, to act in perfect Concert with

the States, fhe would not lofe a Moment in tranf-

mitting a Paper of that Importance -, and that tho'

the Propofitions were general, and contain'd an
Air of Complaifance to her Majefty, and the con-
trary towards the States ; yet that could have no
ill Confequences, as long as her Majefty and the

States underftood one another, and acted with as

little Referve as became two Powers fo nearly

ally'd in Intereft; and that the Penfionary fhould

be affured, that that Rule fhould be inviolably

kept on her Part. Which gracious Declaration

of her Majefty, as well as the faid Propofitions,

being maturely confider'd by the Grand Penfiona-

ry and the Minifters of Holland, an Anfwer was

return'd from them to her Majefty, full of Duty
and Thankfulnefs for the obliging manner in

which fhe was pleas'd to communicate the faid

Propofitions, and with the utmoft AfTurances

of mutual Confidence, fo necefiary to prevent the

Defigns of the Enemy ; but more particularly

that the States defired, equally with Great Britain,

to have a general, definitive, and lafting Peace,

and declar'd that they were ready to join in all the

moft proper Meafures to procure it; that the Pro-

pofitions were yet too general, and that the States

defire, as Great Britain did, that France would ex-

plain herfelf more particularly upon the Points

therein contain'd, and impart a Plan which fhe

thinks the moft proper to fecure the Intereft of

the Allies, and fettle the Repofe of Europe, after

which a more particular Negotiation might be

enter'd into. Notwithftanding all which Premifes,

ARTICLE I.

He the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl

Mortimer, having no Regard to the Honour or

Safety of her late Majefty or her Kingdoms, or

to the many folemn Engagements fhe was then

under to the old and faithful Allies of this Na-
tion, or to the common Liberties of Europe;

but, being devoted to the Intereft and Service of
the French King, the common Enemy ; and being

then Lord High-Treafurer of Great Britain, and
one of her Majefty's moft Honourable Privy

Council, contrary to his Oath, and in Violation

of his Duty and Truft, and in Defiance of the

Tenour of the feveral Treaties afore-mention'd,

or fome of them, as well as of the frequent Ad-
vices of Parliament, and the many Declarations

of her Majefty from the Throne ; but more par-

ticularly in Defiance of the folemn and mutual

AfTurances which had been fo lately renew'd be-

tween her Majefty and the States, to act in perfect

Concert with them in making Peace as in making
War, did on or about the Months of July or Auguft

in the Year of our Lord One Thoufand Seven

Hundred and Eleven, malicioufly and wickedly

form a moft treacherous and pernicious Contri-

vance and Confederacy with other evil-difpos'd

Perfons, then alfo of her Majefty's Privy-Council,

to fet on Foot a private, feparate, difhonourable,

and deftructive Negotiation of Peace between
Great Britain and France, without any Commu-
nication thereof to her Majefty's Allies, accord-

ing to their feveral Treaties; and was not only

wanting in his Duty and Truft to her Majefty,

by not oppofing, and, as far as was in his Power,

by not advifing her Majefty againft going into

any private feparate Negotiation with France;

but in Execution of his Purpofes aforefaid, he the

faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer did

advife her late Majefty to fend Matthew Prior, Efq;

directly to the Court of France, to make Propo-
fitions of Peace, without communicating the fame
to her Majefty's Allies. And accordingly the faid

Matthew Prior, by the Advice and with the Pri-

vity of him the faid Earl of Oxford and Earl Mor-
timer, and other falfe and evil Counfellors, in or

about the Months of July or Auguft, in the Year
of
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of our Lord One Thoufand Seven Hundred and

Eleven, was fent in a clandeftine manner from

England to France, and did communicate the laid

Propofitions of Peace to the Minifters of France,

in which the particular Interefts of Great Britain,

as well as the common Intereft of Europe, were

ihamefully betray'd : And in Manifeftation of his

faid Defign to exclude her Majefty's Allies from

their jufl: Share in the faid Negotiation, an exprefs

Article was inferted in the faid Propofitions, by

the Privity and Advice of him the faid Robert Earl

of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, that the Secret mould

be inviolably kept till allow'd to be divulged by

the mutual Confent of both Parties ; although the

French King had in the Propofitions figned by

Monfieur de Tcrcy, and tranfmitted in the Month
of April preceding, offer'd to treat with the Ple-

nipotentiaries of England and Holland alone, or

jointly with thofe of the Allies, at the Choice of

England. By which treacherous and dangerous

Advice he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl

Mortimer did not only contrive and fct on Foot a

Negotiation of Peace more advantageous to France

than even France it felf had afk'd ; but thereby

did put it into the Power of the common Enemy
to create incurable Jealoufies and Difcords be-

tween her Majefty and her faithful Allies, and to

deftroy that Confidence which had fo long and fo

fuccefsfully been cultivated between them, and

which was fo neceflary for their common Safety.

ARTICLE II.

That the French King laying hold of the faid

treacherous Overture, fet on foot in manner afore-

faid, did in or about the Months of Augufi or Sep-

tember, in the Year of our Lord One Thoufand
Seven Hundred and Eleven, fend over Monfieur

Mefnager into England to carry on a clandeftine

and feparate Negotiation of Peace •, which being

made known to him the faid Robert Earl of Oxford
and Earl Mortimer, he did afterwards in the faid

Month of September One Thoufand Seven Hundred
and Eleven, fecretly and unlawfully, without any
Colour of Authority, meet, confer, and treat with
the faid Sieur Mefnager on the Negotiations of
Peace between Great Britain and France ; and
therein he did advife and promote the making a

private and feparate Treaty or Agreement be-

tween the laid Crowns; which faid Treaty or

Agreement was afterwards, with the Privity, Con-
fent, and Advice of him the faid Robert Earl of
Oxford and Earl Mortimer, agreed, concluded on,

and fign'd by the faid Sieur Mefnager on the part

of France, and by the Earl of Dartmouth and
Henry St. John, Efq; two of her Majefty's princi-

pal Secretaries of State, in behalf of her late Ma-
jefty, by vertue only of her Majefty's Sign Ma-
nual under the Signet, and without the leaft Know-
ledge or Participation of the Allies. In which
Trcar/ the immediate Interefts even of Great Bri-
tain are given up to France, and the Duke of
Anjou is admitted to be King of Spain ; an exprefs

Stipulation being therein made with the Sieur

Mefnager in the Name, and (as is therein alledged)

purfuant to Powers from King Philip as King of
Spain : Whereby he the faid Robert Earl of Ox-
ford and Earl Mortimer did not only afiume to him-
fclf Regal Power, in taking upon him to meet
and treat with the Enemy without any Authority
or Powers from her Majefty, but did what in him
lay to fubvert the ancient and eftablifh'd Confti-
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tution of the Government of thefe Kingdoms, by
introducing illegal and dangerous Methods of
tranfacting the moft important Affairs of the State 5

and by which private and feparate Treaty, he the

faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer did,

what in him lay to diflblve and cancel the many
folemn Treaties her Majefty then ftood engaged
in to her good and ancient Allies, and whereby
her Majefty, even before any thing was finally fet-

tled for the Safety or Advantage of her King-

doms, was brought to this fatal Dilemma; either

to fubmit to the Dictates of France in the Progrefs

of the faid Negotiation, or, fo notorious a Breach

of National Faith being divulged by the Enemy,
from thence to lofe all future Confidence of her

good Allies,

ARTICLE III.

That the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and EarJ

Mortimer, the better to difguife and carry on the

aforefaid private, feparace, and dangerous Nego-
tiation, did, together with other evil-difpos'd Per-

fons, then in high Truft under her Majefty, con-

trive and advife the preparing and forming a Set

of General Preliminaries, intituled, Preliminary

Articles on the Fart of France, to come to a General

Peace -, and that the fame ftiould be fign'd by the

Sieur Mefnager only. And the fame being fo pre-

par'd and fign'd by the faid Sieur Mefnager, he the

faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer did,

contrary to his Duty and Truft, impioufly advife

her Sacred Majefty that the fame fhould be, and
accordingly they were receiv'd by her Majefty,

and communicated to the Minifters of the Allies

then refiding in England, as the Ground of a Ge-
neral Negotiation of Peace ; and as if the fame
were the only Tranfactions that had been on this

Subject: between Great Britain and France. And
to this end, the private Treaty, fign'd as afore-

faid by the Earl of Dartmouth and Mr. St. John on
the part of England, and by the faid Sieur Mefna-
ger on the part of France, was by the evil Advice
and Contrivance of him the faid Robert Earl of Ox-

ford and Earl Mortimer, and others, wilfully and
induftrioufly conceal'd not only from all the Al-

lies, but even from her Majefty's Council and her

Parliament. And he did further advife her Ma-
jefty not only to accept the faid General Prelimi-

naries, but in her Name and by her Authority to

communicate the fame to the States-General, as

a fufficient Foundation whereupon to open the

Conferences of Peace with France. And the more
effectually to cover from the States-General the

pernicious Steps which his evil Influence had en-

gag'd her Majefty in with the common Enemy 3

Certain Inftructions were prepar'd, and, by his

Counfel and Advice, were fign'd by her Majefty,

and delivered to the Earl of Strafford, her Am-
baffador to the States-General : wherein the faid

Earl of Strafford is directed to reprefent to the

Penfionary of Holland, and to fuch others as fhall

be appointed to confer with him, that when her

Majefty had receiv'd in May laft, by his Excel-

lency's Difpatches, an Account of the Senfe which

thofe among them, who were at that time in the

Secret, had of the Overtures made by France for*

fetting a general Negotiation of Peace again on

Foot, and of the Anfwer which it was defir'd

might be return'd to the Propofitions figned by

Monfieur de Torcy ; her Majefty did immediately

acquaint the Enemy, that their Offers were thought

P 2 by
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by her and by the States-General neither parti-

cular nor full enough ; and therefore that her

Majefty did infift, that they fhould form a diftinct

Project of fuch a Peace as they were willing to

conclude. Whereas no fuch Inftances had been

made to the Enemy on her Majefty 's Eehalf;

but on the contrary, notwithftanding her Ma-

jefty had declar'd that the Propofitions of Mon-

fieur de Torcy were thought by her and the States-

General neither particular nor full enough, yet

without any further Explication from the Enemy,

her Majefty was prevail'd on, in manner afore-

faid, to fend over Propofitions to France as ge-

neral and enfnaring, and in all refpects as de-

structive to the Interefts of Great Britain and her

Allies, as the Propofitions of Monfieur de 'Torcy.

And the faid General Preliminaries, communi-

cated to the States in manner aforefaid, were cal-

culated only to amufe and deceive them into a

General Negotiation with France. And in the

Particulars abovefaid, as well as in the feveral

others, the faid Inftructions contain'd Matters

either falle or grofly prevaricating and evafive.

By which mod wicked Counfels of him the faid

Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl of Mortimer, that

unqueftionable Truth and Sacrednefs which by

the Laws of Nations ought to accompany and

conftitute the Inftructions of Public Ambaffa-

dors to Princes in Friendfhip and Confederacy

againft the common Enemy, was moft vilely

proftituted to the moft dangerous Purpofes, to

deceive and miflead her Majefty's good Allies, in

Matters of the greateft Importance to their own
Interefts and the Interefts of thefe Kingdoms-,

the Honour of her Majefty's facred Perfon, and

of the Imperial Crown of thefe Realms, which

had been railed to the higheft Pitch of Glory

abroad, and had been juftiy held in Veneration

with her good Allies, was fcandaloufly debated

and betrayed ; and the Royal Hand, by the

wicked Arts of him the faid Robert Earl of Ox-

ford and Earl Mortimer, was made the Inftrument

to advance the Intereft of the common Enemy.

ARTICLE IV.

That whereas the Earl of Strafford, purfuant

to the faid Inftructions, had communicated the

Preliminaries figned by Monfieur Mefnager only

to the States-General, who being juftiy alarmed

at the preffing Inftances made on the part of her

Majefty, that Conferences fhould be opened on

Propofitions as general and uncertain as thofe fo

lately offer'd by France, and figned by Monfieur

de Torcy ; and their High Mightineftes having

been unfuccefsful in their Remonftrances to the

Earl of Strafford againft opening the Conferences

upon the faid Propofitions, did fend over Mon-
fieur Buys their Ambaffador to reprefent to her

Majefty, as well the Hazard of meeting the Mi-
nifters of France before the effential Articles were

firft fettled by fpecial Preliminaries, or at leaft

explained by France, and made fpecific ; as like-

wife the Advantages to the Enemy, who being

but one Body, were influenced by one Council,

and directed by one Power ; whereas the Confe-

derates confifted of feveral Powers, whofe Interefts

are not only diftinct, but in many Cafes contrary

to each other, whereby the French would have a

fair Opportunity to divide the Allies, when it

would be impoflible for them to break in upon
France ; and further to reprefent, that the Propo-

fitions themfclves were in fome Inftances very pre-

judicial, particularly in the Articles of Commerce,
Dunkirk, and the Union of the Crowns of France

and Spain. All which Reprefentations of the faid

Monfieur Buys, by the evil Influence of him the

faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer,

and others, were render'd ineffectual : but in order

to prevail upon the States-General to open the

Conferences upon the faid general Preliminaries,

by the Management and Contrivance of him the

faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer,

and others, an Occafion was taken to declare to

Monfieur Buys, at a Committee of Council in her

Majefty's Name, her conftant Affection and good
Difpofition to their State, and to the promoting

their Intereft, and to treat with their High-
Mightineffes with a perfect Confidence and Har-
mony : And at the fame time he the faid Robert

Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer did then falfiy

and malicioufly declare, or was privy to advifing

and confenting, that it fhould be, and fo it was

declared, in her Majefty's Name, that me had
made no feparate Treaty with France, nor would
ever make any before fhe had fully complied

with all Engagements to her Allies, and that

each of them fhould have Opportunity to make
good their Pretenfions.

By which falfe, fcandalous, and difhonourable

Affurances, he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford

and Earl Mortimer did not only highly difhonour

her Majefty, by whofe Privity the faid feparate

Treaty with France had been before that Time
concluded and figned; but their High Mighti-

neffes, the good Friends and ant'ient Allies of her

Majefty, were grofly abufed, and thereby induced

to enter into a Negotiation with France, fo dan-

gerous in itfelf, and fo fatal in its Confequences.

ARTICLE V.

That her facred Majefty Queen Anne having

in due Form of Law, and under her Great Seal,

conftituted the Right Reverend John Lord Bifhop

of Briftol, and the Earl of Strafford, her Pleni-

potentiaries, with full Powers to meet, treat, and
conclude with the Plenipotentiaries of the Confe-

derates, and thofe whom the French King fhall

on his part depute for that pnrpofe, the Condi-

tions of a good and general Peace, that fhall be

fafe, honourable, and as far as is poffible, agree-

able to the reaibnable Demands of all Parties;

he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mor-
timer not contenting himfelf to abufe the Royal

Authority, to the Delulion of the States-General,

the neareft Allies of the Queen, but intending

the Univerfal Prejudice of his Imperial Majefty,

and all the Allies of thefe Kingdoms ; and there-

by the more fuccefsfully to carry on the Mea-
fures of France, wherein he was then engaged,

contrived and prepared Inftructions, or was privy

to confenting and advifing the fame, for her Ma-
jefty's faid Plenipotentiaries, which fhe was pre-

vailed upon by the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and

Earl Mortimer''?, evil Counfel to fign, and the fame

were delivered to the faid Plenipotentiaries

;

wherein among other Things they are instructed

to the Effect following, viz. If it fhall be thought

proper to begin by the Difpofition of the Spanijh

Monarchy, you are to infift that the Security and

reafonable Satisfaction which the Allies expect,

and which his moft Chriftian Majefty has pro-

mifed, cannot be obtained, if Spain and the Wejl-

Indies be allotted to any Branch of the Houfe of

Bourbon ; Whereas the laid Robert Earl of Oxford

and
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and Earl Mortimer had at that Time privately

and treacherously negotiated and agreed with the

Minifters of France, that Spain and the Weft-

Indies fhould remain in a Branch of the Houfe of

Bourbon ; and had prevailed on her facred Majefty

to be Party to the faid private Treaty, wherein

the lame is neceffarily implied. And the faid

Plenipotentiaries are further inftructed, in cafe

the Enemy mould object, as the Imperial Mi-

nifters had done, that the fecond Article of the

feven figned by the Sieur Mefnager implies, that

the Duke of Anjou fhall continue on the Throne

of Spain •, you are to infift, that thofe Articles,

as far as they extend, are ifodeed binding K> France,

but that they lay neither us nor our Allies under

any pofitive Obligation ; whereby the faid Robert

Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer bafely entered

into a Confederacy and Collufion even with the

Minifters of the Enemy, and prevailed on her

Maiefty to give her Royal Confent thereto, the

more effectually to impofe on his Imperial Ma-

jefty and all the Allies, and to conceal the faid

iecret Negotiations, and the feparate Treaty that

had then been agreed on between Great Britain

and France. And the faid Robert Earl of Oxford

and Earl Mortimer, not only in the Particulars

before-mentioned, but in many others contained

in the faid Inftruclions, has brought a lafting Re-

proach on the Crown of thefe Realms, and grofly

violated the many Treaties wherein her facred Ma-

jefty was then engaged to her Allies, to act in

perfect Concert with them throughout the Nego-

tiations of Peace.

ARTICLE VI.

That the Conferences x)i Peace being opened

between the Plenipotentiaries of the Allies, and

thofe of the Enemy, for th j negotiating a general

Peace upon the mutual and molt folemn Engage-

ments amongft the Allies, not only to aft in per-

fect Confidence with each other, but to promote

their common Intercft, and to obtain from the

Enemy all juft and reafonable Satisfaction ; and

a fpecific Explanation of the General Prelimi-

naries having been given by the Enemy at Utrecht,

whereon the Allies delivered their refpeclive De-

mands •, by the Artifices of France, and the fecret

Encouragement and Concurrence of the Minifters

of Great Britain, the progrefs of the faid public

Negotiation was delayed and kept in fufpenfe,

under Pretence of the Enemy's refufing to give

their Anfwer in Writing: During which Time,
he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mor-
timer again affuming to himfelf Regal Power in

Derogation of the Royal Authority, to treat of

Peace with France, which was then delegated

under the Great Seal of Great Britain to her Ma-
jefty's Plenipotentiaries at Utrecht, and for the

promoting the Defigns of the Enemy to the ap-

parent Dcftruction of the common Caufe of her

Majefty and her Allies, contrary to the known
Laws and Conftitution of this Kingdom, in direct

Violation of the feveral Alliances her Majefty

then flood engaged in, and in Opposition to the

many Affurances given by her Majefly to act in

Concert with her Allies, and in Defiance of the

exprefs Instructions given to her faid Plenipoten-

tiaries, was not only wanting in his Duty to her
Majefty, as far as in him lay to have put an end
to, and prevented any further private and unlaw-
ful Negotiations with France, but did, with
others his Accomplices, advife, concur, con-

tinue, and promote a private, feparate, and un-

juftifiable Negotiation of Peace with France, di-

rectly from England to France, without any Com-
munication thereof to the Allies ; and in fuch

private Negotiations did concert with the Mini-
fters of the Enemy Terms of Peace highly preju-

dicial to the Interest of her Majefty and her King-
doms, and of all her Allies, and whereby the good
Effects of the faid General Negotiations were en-

tirely defeated.

ARTICLE VII.

That her facred Majefty Queen Anne having

been prevailed on by the falfe Counfels of him
the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer

to accept of a Treaty with France, on the Sup-

position that the Spanifh Monarchy fhould con-

tinue in the Poffesfion of a Branch of the Houfe
of Bourbon ; and it being acknowledged even by

the French King in the General Preliminaries

figned by Monfieur Mefnager, that the Excefs of

Power from the Re- union of the Crowns of Frayice

and Spain would be contrary to the good and

general R epofe of Europe : Lie the faid Robert

Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer having nothing

fo much in view as the aggrandizing the common
Enemy, yet always intending to cover the Iniquity

of his Heart under fpecious Pretences and falfe

Appearances, did wickedly and treacheroufly

advife and carry on a private and feparate Nego-
tiation with France, on the Subject of a Renun-
ciation of his Right to the Kingdom of France by

the Duke of Anjou, and that fuch Renunciation

fhould be the Security againft the Re-union of

the two Kingdoms. And by the Influence of his

evil Counfels her Majefty was prevailed on to ac-

cept and finally to conclude and ratify a Treaty

of Peace with France, wherein the faid Renun-
ciation is taken as a fufficient Expedient to pre-

vent the Mifchiefs that threaten'd all Europe, in

cafe the Crowns of France and Spain fhould be

united upon the Head of one and the fame Pcrfon ;

although he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford, and

Earl Mortimer well knew, that a Memorial had

been, during the faid feparate Negotiation, tranf-

mitted by Monfieur de Torcy, Secretary of State

and Minister to the French King, to one of her

Majefty's Principal Secretaries of State ; whereby

it was declared, that the faid Renunciation would
be null and invallid by the Fundamental Laws of

France, which Laws were looked upon as the

Work of him who had eftablifhed all Monarchies,

and which he only could abolifh •, and that no
Renunciation thereof could deftroy it: And if

the King of Spain fhould renounce, they would

deceive themfelves that fhould receive it as a fuf-

ficient Expedient to prevent the Mifchiefs pro-

pofed to be avoided. By which falfe and trea-

cherous Counfels, he the faid Robert Earl of Ox-

ford and Earl Mortimer did not only betray the

Interests of the common Caufe into the Hand of

the moft formidable Enemy, but wilfully and

maliciously abufed the Power and Influence which

he had obtained with her Majefty, fo far as to

engage her facred Majefty, and the Honour of

the Imperial Crown of thefe Kingdoms, to be-

come Party with France in fo fatal a Deceit.

ARTICLE VIII.

That her late Majefty Queen Anne having on

the Seventh Day of December, in the Year of our

Lord
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Lord One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven,

earneftly recommended it from the Throne, that

Provifion might be made for an early Campaign,

in order to carry on the War with Vigour, and

as the beft way to render the Treaty of Peace

effectual ; in order to which, vaft Supplies were

granted, and Magazines provided at a great Ex-

pence tor an early Campaign ; and in purfuance

thereof, her Majefty having fent her Generals,

Lumley and Cadogan, to give early Affurances to

her Allies of her fincere Intentions, and likewife

exprefly inftructed her General, the Duke of

Ormond, not only to renew the fame Affurances

and declare her Refolutions of pufhing on the

War with the utmoft Vigour, but to concert

with the Generals of the Allies the proper Mea-

fures for entering on Action ; and the Confederate

Army, which at that Time was the fineft and

ftrongeft that had been in the Service during the

whole Courfe of the War, and provided with all

Neceffaries to aft with Vigour, having march'd,

according to the Refolution taken in Concert with

her Majefty's General, almoft up to the Enemy,

with a great Superiority both as to the Number
and Goodnefs of Troops, and animated with a

noble Courage I and Zeal to acquit themfclvcs

bravely ; fo that in all human Appearance, and

with the divine Affiftance, which had appeared

fo vifibly for them on many other Occafions, they

would have been able, either by Battle or Siege,

to have gained great Advantages over the Enemy,

to have better'd the Affairs of the Allies, and

to have facilitated the Negotiations of Peace :

And the Minifters of France have frequently

and earneftly reprefented to the faid Robert Earl

of Oxford and Earl Mortimer; and others his Ac-

complices, during their fecret Negotiations, their

juft Apprehenfions from the Bravery and good

Difpofition of the Confederate Army ; he the

faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, be-

ing truly informed of the lure Profpecl, which,

by the BleiTing of God, the Army of the Con-

federates then had, of gaining new Conquefts

over the Army of France, and whereby they

would have been enabled to have forced Terms
of Peace, fafe, honourable, and lafting : In order

to difappoint thofe comfortable Expectations of

the Allies, and to give Succefs to his fecret Nego-
tiations with the Minifters of France, was privy

to, confenting and advifing, together with other

falfe and evil Counfellors, and together with them
did advife and confent, that an Order fhould be

fent in her Majefty's Name, to the Duke of

Ormond in Flanders, to avoid engaging in any

Siege, or hazarding a Battle, till further Orders

;

although nothing had then been fettled in the faid

private Negotiations for the Intereft and Security

of Great Britain ; and although Philip King of

Spain at that Time had not conlented to the Re-
nunciation of his Right to the Crown of France.

And not contenting himfelf with having obtained

that fatal Step, fo highly advantageous to the

Caufe of France, but being wickedly determined

to do all that in him lay to diffolve the whole

Confederacy, he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford

and Earl Mortimer, with others was privy to,

and did confent and advife, that Orders mould
be fent to the Bifhop of Briftol, one of her Ma-
jefty's Plenipotentiaries then at Utrecht, to take

the fii-ft folemn Opportunity to declare to the

Dutch Minifters, that her Majefty looked on her-

felf from their Conduct to be then under no Ob-

ligation whatfoever to them : Which two Decla-
rations giving juft Alarms to all the Allies, they
reprefented to the Bifhop of Briftol their general

Diffatisfaction, and the inexpreffible Confirma-
tion they were all in ; that thefe Proceedings were
the unavoidable Ruin of Europe: They urged
Religion, Liberty, and the Faith of Treaties, to

fhew the Enormity of this Ufage ; and the States

expreffed their Uneafinefs on no account fo much,
as that they could not come to the Knowledge of
their own Lot. Which Reprefentations the Bifhop
of Briftol did, at the Inftance of the Allies, fig-

nify to one of her Majefty's Principal Secretaries

of State ; but their High Mightineffcs finding

that all Applications to the Minifters of Great

Britain, and in particular to the faid Robert Earl
of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, were of no avail

againft France, and for the Intereft of the com-
mon Caufe, thought it neceflary, in a manner
the moft moving and refpectful, to addrefs di-

rectly to her Majefty by a Letter of the Fifth of

June, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Twelve

;

therein exprefting their great Surprize and Afflic-

tion at the two Declarations aforementioned ; and
finding it difficult to conceive how fuch Declara-

tions, lb prejudicial to the common Caufe, given

fo fuddenly without their Knowledge, and un-
doubtedly too without the Knowledge of the

other Allies, could agree and confift with the

Nature of an Alliance, and with thofe Affurances

and Engagements her Majefty had fo lately made ;

and not knowing how to reconcile it with the

great Goodnefs and Kindnefs which her Majefty

had always honoured them with, and not being

able to conceive how fuch a fudden Change could

happen with refpect to them, having carefully

examined their own Conduct, and finding nothing

therein that could have given Ground to her Ma-
jefty's Diffatisfaction ; and having reprefented the

vifible and immediate fatal Confequences of the

faid two Orders, not only to the common Intereft

of her Majefty and the States, but to the whole
Confederacy and to the Proteftant Religion; they

befeeched her Majefty, with all the Refpect, and

all the Earneftnefs they were capable of, that fhe

would not perfift in the Declarations made by the

Bifhop of Briftol, and would be pleafed to revoke

the Orders given to the Duke of Ormond ; and

would authorize him to act according- to Occur-

rences, and as the Exigency of the War, and the

Advancement of the common Caufe fhould re-

quire. Notwithftanding which, he the faid Ro-

bert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer being ac-

quainted with the faid Reprefentations of the

States, was not only wanting in his Duty to her

Majefty, and to his Oath, and the great Truft

repofed in him, in not advifing, as he ought to

have done, her facred Majefty to have hearkened

to the faid feveral Inftances made to her •, but

perfifting in his defperate and deftructive Mea-
iures for the Advancement of the Intereft of the

common Enemy, did afterwards advife her Ma-
jefty to difregard and reject the fame ; and did

countenance, encourage, advife, and promote

the faid private, feparate, and wicked Negotia-

tions with France, without any Participation of

the Allies, contrary to all her Majefty's Engage-

ments, and to the apparent Ruin of the common
Caufe. By which feveral wicked and perfidious

Counfels, the Progrefs of the victorious Arms of

the Confederates was flopped, and an Opportu-

nity loft for conquering the Enemy, the moft

favourable,
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favourable, in the Opinion of all the General Offi-

cers and the Quarter-Mafters of the Allies, who

were fent out to view the French Camp, and where-

by all Hopes of Confidence between her Majefty

and her Allies was entirely deftroyed, and the

French King made abfolute Mafter of the Negoti-

ations of Peace, and the Affairs of Europe given

into his Hands.

ARTICLE IX.

That to impofe upon the Allies the fatal Ne-

ceffity of fubmitting to the Terms of France, and

in order thereto to leave the whole Confederate

Army at the Mercy of the common Enemy, he

the faid Robert Earl ofoxford and Earl Mortimer,

was privy and confenting to a fecret and feparate

Concert with the Minifters of France, without

the Knowledge of the Allies, for the feparating

the Troops in her Majefty's Pay from the reft of

the Confederate Army : For the effecting where-

of, inftead of preventing as far as in him lay fo

fatal a Step, he was not only wanting to advife

againft fo unwarrantable a Proceeding, but did

confent to and advife her Majefty, that the Duke

of Ormond, and all the Troops then in her Ma-
jefty's Pay, or fuch of them as would obey his

Orders, fhould feparate themfelves from the

Army of the Confederates : And having notice

that the Generals of the Auxiliaries, paid by her

Majefty, whofe Honour and Confciences would

not permit them to abandon the Confederates,

and leave them as a Sacrifice to France, but for

the Sake of the common Intereft of Europe, and

according to the true End and Defign of their

Conventions, did refufe to withdraw with the

Duke of Ormond, without particular Orders from

their refpective Matters; he the faid Robert Earl

of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, being then Lord

High-Treafurer of Great-Britain, and one of her

Majefty's moft Honourable Privy Council, in

Violation of his Oath, and the Duty and Truft

repofed in him, did take upon himfelf an arbi-

trary and illegal Power, to refufe and put a Stop

to the Pay and Subfidies due on account of the

faid foreign Troops, although they were entitled

thereto by the Conventions entered into with her

facred Majefty, and by exprefs Provifion made

by Aft of Parliament for the Payment of the

fame. By which fatal Separation, which pur-

fuant to his evil Counfels was afterwards made,

great Numbers of the Confederate Troops, who
had before, on many Occafions, fignaliz'd them-

felves in the Defence of the Caufe of Europe, foon

afterwards, at the unfortunate Action of Denain,

fell as Sacrifices to the Fury and Revenge of

France % the Siege of Landrecy was raifed, the

important Towns and FortrefTes of Quefnoy,

Bouchain, and Doway were retaken by the French

Army ; and not only the Fortune of the War,
but the Fate of Europe decided in Favour of

France.

ARTICLE X.

That in further Execution of his pernicious

Dcfigns to compleat the Deftruction of the com'
mon Caufe of Europe, and to rendef it impracti-

cable for her Majefty to refume the; War againft

France, in Conjunction with her Allies, or to

recover the Union with her Majefty's old and
faithful Allies, fo neceffary to the Prefervation of

thefe Kingdoms ; he the faid Robert Earl of Ox-

ford and Earl Mortimer, then Lord High-Trea-
furer of Great Britain, did carry on and concert

with the Minifters of France, a private and fepa*

rate Negotiation for a general Sufpenfion by Sea

and Land, between Great Britain and France ;

and to that end among others, did advife her

Majefty to fend over Henry Vifcount Bolingbroke,

one of her principal Secretaries of State, to the

Court of France, with Powers to fettle the faid

Sufpenfion. In purfuance of which, a deftructive

Treaty of Sufpenfion was made in France, on the

Nineteenth of Auguft, N. S. One Thoufand Seven
Hundred and Twelve, by the faid Henry Vifcount

Bolingbroke, on the Part of her faid Majefty, for

four Months, without the Knowledge or any
Participation of the Allies ', and before any Terms
of Peace were fettled with the Enemy, either for

Great Britain or the Allies. By which evil

Counfels, the exprefs Terms of feveral of the

afore-mentioned Treaties were exprefly contra-

vened and broken, the good Friends and antient

Allies of her Majefty and thefe Kingdoms were

totally deprived of the juft Afiiftance to which
they were thereby entitled, and were left expofed

to the Infults of the common Enemy ; and the

facred Ties of Union and Friendlhip between her

Majefty and her Allies being cut afunder, her

Majefty's Perfon and Government, the Safety of

her Kingdoms, and of the Proteftant Succeffion

to the Crown of thefe Realms, were left expofed

to the Enterprizes of her moft formidable E-
nemy.

ARTICLE XL

That whereas the States-General of the United

Provinces were, in or about the Months of Sep-

tember or Oclober, in the Year of our Lord One
Thoufand Seven Hundred and Twelve, in Pof-

feffion of the ftrong and important Town and
Fortrefs of Tournay : And whereas the French

King had, during the Courfe of the faid private,

feparate, and traiterous Negotiation between him
the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer,
and others, and the Minifters of France, fignified

his Confent to the Minifters of Great Britain,

that the faid Town and Fortrefs of Tournay fhould

remain to the faid States-General as Part of their

Barrier : And whereas her Majefty, in her In-

flections of December the Twenty-third, One
Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven, to her
Plenipotentiaries at Utrecht, had exprefly directed

them to infift with the Plenipotentiaries of France,

in the General Congrefs, that towards forming a
fufficient Barrier for the States-General, Tournay,

fhould remain to their High Mightineffes ; and
did afterwards declare herfelf conformably there-

unto, in her Speech to both Houfes of Parlia-

ment, on the Sixth of June, One Thoufand Seven
Hundred and Twelve, in which fhe communi-
cated to them the Terms whereon a Peace might
be made. And whereas for feveral Years before,

and till the faid Months of September and Oclober,

in the Year of our Lord One Thoufand Ssven

Hundred and Eleven, there was open War be-

tween her late Majefty and the French King •, and

the faid War continuing for all the faid Time,
and afterwards, the faid French King and his Sub-

jects were Enemies to her Majefty : He the faid

Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, then

Lord High-Treafurer of Great Britain, and a

Subject
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Subject of her Majefty's, not confidering the Duty

of his Allegiance, but having altogether with-

drawn the cordial Love, and true and due Obe-

dience, which every true and faithful Subject owed

to her laid Majefty ; and defigning to give Aid

and Succour, and to adhere to the faid French

King, did in or about the Months of September

or Ofiober, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and

Twelve, during the laid War, falfly, malicioufly,

wickedly, and traiteroufly aid, help, and affift,

and adhere to the French King, then an Enemy to

her lace Majefty : And in Execution and Per-

formance of his aiding, affifting, and adhering,

malicioufly, falfly, and traiteroufly did counlel

and advife the faid Enemy, in what manner and

by what Methods the faid important Town and

Fortrcfs of Tcurnay, then in the Poffcffion of the

States-General, might be gained from them to the

French King, contrary to the Duty of his Alle-

giance, and the Laws and Statutes of this Realm.

ARTICLE XII.

That whereas her late Majefty Q^een Anne, not

only in purfuance of the Treaties fhe ftood en-

gaged in to her good Allies, and in particular to his

Imperial Majefty, for the Recovery of the Mo-
narchy of Spain to the Houfe of Auftria, thereby

to preferve a dueBallance of Power in Europe, but

alio from her juft Refentment againft the Duke
of Anjou, who then ftil'd himfelf King of Spain,

and who, in Defiance of her Majefty's Title to

the Crown, acknowledged the Pretender as King

of Great Britain ; and on thefe juft Foundations

her Majefty had, in, vindication of the Honour of

the Crown, and in juftice to her People, at a vaft

Expence of Blcod and Treafure, and on the ear-

neft and repeated Advices of her Parliament, pro-

jected a vigorous War againft the Duke of An-

jou : And whereas, in the Years of our Lord One
Thoufand Seven Hundred and Ten, One Thou-
fand Seven Hundred and Eleven, and One Thou-
fand Seven Hundred and Twelve, the laid open,

bloody,
. and expenfive War was carried on be-

tween her faid late Majefty Qjeen Anne, and the

faid Duke of Anjou, and during all the time afore-

laid, the faid War did continue, and for all that

time the faid Duke of Anjou, and the Subjects of

Spain adhering to him, were Enemies of her late

Majefty : He the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and

Earl Mortimer, then Lord High Treafurer of

Great Britain, and one of her Majefty's Privy-

Council, and a Subject of her faid Majefty, not

confidering the Duty of his Allegiance, but having

withdrawn his true Obedience from her faid late

Majefty, did at feveral times, in the faid Years of

our Lord, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and

Ten, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven,

and One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Twelve,

falfly, malicioufly, wickedly, and traiteroufly aid,

help, affift, and adhere to the faid Duke of Anjou,

then an Enemy to her find late Majefty •, and in

the Execution and Performance of his laid aiding,

helping, affifting and adhering, and in Confede-

racy and Combination with the then Enemies of

her late Majefty, and with divers other wicked and
evil difpofed Perfbns, did, at feveral times, in the

Years alorefaicl, advife and counfel the Enemies of
her late Majefty, and in luch counfelling and ad-

vifing, did concert with them, and did promote
the yielding and giving up Spain and the Weft-
indies, or tome part thereof, to the faid Duke of

Anjou, then in Enmity with her Majefty, againft

the Duty of his Allegiance, and the Laws and
Statutes of this Realm.

ARTICLE XIII.

That whereas the Riches, Power, and Strength

of thefe Kingdoms depend entirely on the flourifh-

ing Condition of Trade and Navigation, and her

late Majefty Queen Anne having due Regard there-

to, as well as to the juft Expectations of her Peo-
ple, after the vaft Expences they had fo cheer-

fully undergone in Support of the War, did, on
the firft Opening the Conferences for a General

Peace, declare from the Throne to both Houfes
of Parliament, on the Seventh of December One
Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven, that fhe

would endeavour, that after a War which had coff.

fo much Blood and Treafure, the Nation might
find their Intereft in Trade and Commerce im-
proved and enlarged by a Peace : And on the

Sixth of June One Thoufand Seven Hundred and
Twelve, when fhe was pleafed to communicate
the Terms on which a General Peace might be
made, did declare, that nothing had mov'd her

Majefty from fteddily purfuing the true Intereft of
her own Kingdoms, and that the Terms of Peace
obtained for her own Subjects were fuch, as fhe

had Reafon to expect would make her People
fome Amends for the great and unequal Burden
which they had laid under through the whole
Courfe of the War ; and hoped that none of the

Confederates would envy her Share in the Glory
and Advantage of the Peace ; and afterwards de-

clared to both Houfes of Parliament her Satis-

faction in the near View fhe had of a Peace > fince

it would, in fome meafure, rccompenfe her Sub-
jects for the vaft Expence : And after the Conclu-

fion of the Treaty of Peace and Commerce with

France, did declare from the Throne, on the Ninth
of April One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Thir-

teen, that the many Advantages fhe had obtained

for her Subjects, had occafioned much Oppofition

and long Delays to the Peace ; but it afforded her

great Satisfaction, that her People will have it in

their Power, by degrees, to repair what they had

fuffered during fo long and burthenfome a War.
Whereupon both Houfes of Parliament did from

time to time exprefs their grateful Acknowledg-
ments to her Majefty for her great Care and Con-

cern for the Welfare of her People. And whereas

at the fetting on Foot, and the Progrefs of the

faid private, feparate, and pernicious Negotiati-

ons between the Minifters of Great Britain and

France, it was laid down as a Principle, on the

part of Great Britain, never to be departed from,

that France fhould confent to adjuft the Interefts

of Great Britain in the firft Place, that the Mini-

fters of Great Britain might thereby be enabled

to engage the Queen to make the Conclufion of

the General Peace eafy to France ; and on this

plaufible Pretence it was infilled on by the Mini-

fters of Great Britain, to remit the Difcuffion of

the particular Interefts of the Allies to General

Conferences •, and throughout the whole Courfe

of the faid feparate Negotiation, all imaginable

Conceffions were not only made by the Minifters

of Great Britain for a real Advantage of the In-

terefts of France againft the Allies, but all Mea-
fures were entered into and concerted between

them, that even the Minifters of France could

dictate, in order to ftrengthen their Hands, and
to
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to enable them to impofe the Terms of a General whereof Cape Breton is part* to her Majefty. And

Peace : He the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer t

Mortimer, having nothing in view thro* the whole intending in all Events to i'ecure to France the Ad-

Courfe of the faid Negotiation, wherein he was vantages relating to the Fifhery of Newfoundland

wickedly and principally engaged in Concert with and to Cape Breton, did, in conjunction with the

France, but the final Deftruction of his Country % Miniflers of France, advife her Majefty to confent*

and to that end the facrificing the Commerce of that the fame fhould be made an Article in the

Great Britain to the Aggrandifement of France•, Treaty of Peace between Great Britain and Frances

was not only wanting in his Duty to her Majefty, whereas the only Advantages in Trade, pretended,

in not infilling on in all Events, and not procu- to be ftipulated for Great Britain, being inferted itl

rin», in the firft Place, the mofl certain and ftrict the Treaty of Commerce, were to depend on certain

Securities imaginable for the Safety and Advantage Conditions to be made good by Act of Parliament j

of the Commerce of thefe Kingdoms \ but did ad- and purfuant to, and by the Influence of the faid

vife her late Majefty, that in the Propofition fent evil Counfel of him the faid Robert Earl of Oxford

by his Privity and Advice, by Mr. Prior to France* and Earl Mortimer, her facred Majefty was adviied

and alio in the faid private and feparate Treaty, to ratify the faid Article in the faid Treaty of Peace

fio-ned on the Seven and Twentieth of September, and the faid Treaty of Commerce. By means of

One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven, where- which pernicious Counfcls, the good Intentions of

in the Preliminary Demands for Great Britain, her facred Majefty to have obtained for her Peo-

more particularly were intended to be adjufted pie advantageous Terms of Commerce were en-^

with France, the Demands for Great Britain* in tirely fruftrated, the Trade and Manufactures of

point of Commerce, fhould not only be made in Great Britain, as far as in him lay, rendered pre-

loofe, general, and inefficient Terms, but that carious, and at the Mercy of the Enemy, and that

the Liberty of Fifhing, and Drying of Fifh on beneficial Branch of Trade, always efteemed the

Newfoundland fhould be exprefly given up to great Support of the Naval Power, and the chief

France, tho* the Reffitution of that imall part of Nurfcry of the Seamen of Great Britain* yielded

the Ifland, which France had taken during the up to the Subjects of France : and the only Pre-

War, was therein referred to be difcufs'd to Ge- tence for the avowed and notorious Violation of

neral Conferences, And having, by his wicked Treaties, and the carrying on the Meafures of

Artifices, engaged her Majefty in the faid private France, viz. the adjufting firft the Interefts of

Treaty with France, without any Security for the Great Britain, thro' the whole Courfe of the faid

Commerce of Great Britain, he did artfully and private and feparate Negotiations, terminated at

cunningly contrive with the Miniflers of France to laft in the Sacrifice of the Commerce of Great Bri-

keep in Sufpence ail Matters that concerned the tain to France* without the leaft Shadow of Advan*
Commerce of Great Britain, until, by means of tage in Trade procured for thefe Kingdoms,

his wicked and pernicious Counfels aforemention'd, ARTICLE XIV.
France was become Matters of the Negotiations, That he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Eati

and the chief Advantages for the Commerce of Mortimer did, in concert with other evil and falfe

Great Britain by that means remaining unfettled ! Counfellors, even without any Application frorri

And the Miniflers of France afterwards difputing his Royal Highnefs the Duke of Savoy* and after

the moft effmtial Articles which had been in agi- the French King had, in the Courfe of the faid pri-

tation, and in particular that fundamental Prin- vate and feparate Negotiations, confented that the

ciple of treating and being treated as Gens Ami- Kingdom of Sicily fhould remain to the Houfe of

ciffima, and endeavouring to elude what had been Aujlria, form a Project and Defign to difpofe of

agreed on in the faid private and feparate Nego^ the Kingdom of Sicily to the Duke of Savoy from
tiation, for the fiippofed Advantage of Great Bri~ the Houfe of Aujlria : And to effect that his un-

tain ; he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl juft, difhonourable, and pernicious Project, he
Mortimer, under pretence of removing a Difficulty did advife her Majefty to give Inflections, among
then depending, by an Expedient advantageous other things, to Henry Vifcount Bolingbroke, then

to Great Britain, did treacheroufly advife the ninth appointed her Ambaflador to France* to demand
Article of the Treaty of Commerce with France, in her Majefty's Name, of the French King, the

a Bill for the rendering whereof effectual was af- Kingdom of Sicily for his faid Royal Highnefs*

terwards rejected by the Houfe of Commons, as And a Treaty of Peace being afterwards made be-

highly prejudicial and deftructive to the Com- tween the French King, his Royal Highnefs, and
merce of thefe Kingdoms : But yet for the fake of the Duke of Anjou, wherein a Ceffion is made
gaining that deftructive Article for Great Britain, to his Royal Highnefs of the Kingdom of Sicily*,

as if the fame had been advantageous, he the faid without any Concurrence or Participation of his

Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, in De- Imperial Majefty; he the faid Robert Earl of Ox~
fiance of the exprefs Provifion of an Act of Par- ford and Earl Mortimer did bafely and fcandaloufly

liament, as well as in Contempt of the frequent advifed her facred Majefty to confent to the fame,

and earneft Reprefentations of the Merchants of by an Article inferted in the Treaty of Peace be-

Great Britain, and of the Commifiioners for Trade tween her Majefty and the French King. And af-

and Plantations, did advife her Majefty finally to a- terwards, by his Privity and Advice, her Majefty
gree with France, that the Subjects of France fhould was prevailed on to affift his Royal Highnefs
have liberty of Fifhing and drying Fifh on New- againft the Emperor then in Alliance with her*

foundland; and did alfo advife her Majefty to make a Majefty, with a part of her Royal Fleet af her
Ceffion to France of the I fie of Cape Breton, with li- own Expence, in order to put him in PofTcffion of
berty to fortify the fame, altho' the Ifle of Cape Bre- the faid Kingdom of Sicily. Whereby the greateft

ton was part of the antient Territories ofthe Crown Injuftice was done to his Imperial Majefty, indi-
of Great Britain ; and her Majefty had declared rect Violation of the Grand Alliance, and contrary to
from the Throne, that France had confented to make herMajefty's frequent Declarations from theThrone,
an abfolute Ceffion of Nova Scotia, or Arcadia, and her plain and full Inflections to her Plenipo-*

Vol. VI. Q_ tentiaries
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tentiaries at Utrecht, for obtaining his juft and reafo- Majefty, and his exorbitant Influence in her

nable Satisfaction ; and whereby National Faith, Councils, did prepare, form, and concert, toge-

and the Honour of the Crown, was vilely betray'd, ther with other falfe and evil Counfellors, feveral

and the Naval Power of thefe Kingdoms, and the Speeches and Declarations to be made by her Ma-
Supplies granted by Parliament for reducing the jelly from the Throne to her Parliament, on the

common Enemy, were perfidioufly employ'dagainft Subject of the faid Negotiations of Peace, and did

the great and faithful Allies of this Kingdom. advife her Majefty to make the fame to her Par-

ARTICLE XV. liament: And particularly, by means of his falfe

That whereas the Dignity and Support of the and evil Counfels, her Majefty did, amongft other

Imperial Crown of thefe Realms has in all Ages things, on the feventh of December, One Thoufand
greatly depended on .the Wifdom and Truth of Seven Hundred and Eleven, declare from the

the Communications made from the Throne, efpe- Throne in the Words, or to the Effect following :

cially in Parliament, as the fure and only means That notwithftanding the Arts of thofe who delight in

whereby the Kings and Queens of this Realm can War, both Place and Time are appointedfor opening

receive the fincere and faithful Advice of their the Treaty of a General Peace. Our Allies, efpeci-

People in Matters of the higheft Importance, and ally the States-General, whofe Intereft I look upon as

which by the Fundamental Laws and Conftitution infeparable from my own, have by their ready Con-

of this Government ought to be inviolably obferv'd currence exprefs'd their Confidence in me. Whereas
as the facred Band of the Duty and Affection of it was then notorious to all Europe, and the faid

Subjects to their Sovereign. And whereas by the Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, and
moil antient and known Laws of this Kingdom it others his Accomplices, well knew, that the prin-

is indifpenfably incumbent on the great Officers cipal Allies of her Majefty, and particularly the

of State that furround the Throne, to maintain as States-General, then had in the ftrongeft and moft

far as in them lies the Sacrednefs of the Royal preffing manner reprefented not only to her Ma-
Word on all Occafions ; it being moft apparent jefty's Minifters in Holland, but afterwards by a

that the greateft Diftionour to the Throne, and Minifter of their own directly to her Majefty, the

the greateft Danger to thefe Kingdoms muft en- Infecurity and Danger to the Common Caule, by
evitably enlue, whenever that Fountain of Truth entering into general Negotiations with France on

by wicked Counfels fhall be in any degree cor- the Propofitions figned by Monfieur Mefnager ;

rupted, and thereby lofe its juft Influence and ne- and alfo their firm Opinion of the fatal Confe-

ceflary Authority. And whereas the Power of quences that might enfue thereon : And although

making Peace and War, one of the antient, un- they had ftill great Apprehenfions concerning the

doubted, and moft important Prerogatives of the Method of opening the Conferences, and the Con-
Crown, has been always exercis'd by the Sove- fequences that might happen thereupon •, yet be-

reigns of thefe Realms, with the ftricteft Regard ing wrought on by the Menaces and other extra-

to the Honour of the Crown and the Welfare of ordinary Methods ufed with them by her Majefty's

the People ; and for that end they have in great Minifter's, and relying on the folemn Affurances

Wifdom in all Ages taken the Advice of Parlia- and Declarations of her Majefty to fupport the

ment on fiich weighty Occafions. And whereas Intereft and Concern of their State, and to act in

her late Majefty Queen Anne declared from the perfect Confidence and Harmony with them ; they

Throne her gracious Intentions to communicate did at laft, with the greateft Reluctance, confent

the Terms of Peace to her Parliament, for their to enter upon a General Negotiation of Peace with

deliberate and ferious Advice therein, wifely fore- France. And in the fame Speech her Majefty was

feeing that the Safety of her Perfon and Govern - prevaiPd on by the evil Counfels of him the faid

ment, of the Proteflant Succeflion to the Crown, Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, and
which fhe had neareft her Heart, and of the Pro- others, to declare in the Words, or to the Effect

teftant Religion, and of the Liberties of Europe, following : That the Princes and States which have

did inevitably depend on the happy Conclufion of been engaged with us in this War, being by Treaties

the faid Negotiations : He the faid Robert Earl of entitled to have their feveral Interefls fecured at a

Oxfordand Earl Mortimer, then Lord High-Trea- Peace ; I will not only do my utmofl to procure every

furer of Great Britain, having taken on himfelf one of them all reafonable Satisfaction, but Ifhall alfo

throughout the faid Negotiations a moft arbitra- unite with them in the firiclefi Engagements for con-

ry and unwarrantable Authority, and the chief tinuing the Alliance, in order to render the General

Direction and Influence to her Majefty's Councils ;
Peace fecure and lofting. And in her Meffage of

and moft wickedly defigning to proftitute the Ho- the feventeenth of January following, her Majefty

nour of the Crown, and the Dignity of Parlia- again expreffes the Care fhe intended to take of all

ments, and not only totally to deprive her Ma- her Allies, and of the ftrict Union in which fhe

jefty of the wholefome and neceffary Advice of propofed to join with them. Whereas by the evil

her Parliament in fo great a Conjuncture, but by Influence ofhim the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and
miireprefenting the moft effential Parts of the Ne- Earl Mortimer, her Majefty was not only induced

gotiations of Peace, to obtain the Sanction of to enter into a private Negotiation with France,

Parliament to his traiterous Proceedings, and exclufive of her Allies ; but the fame was in like

thereby fatally to deceive her Majefty, her Allies, manner carried on by him the faid Robert Earl of

her Parliament, and her People •, he the faid Ro- Oxford and Earl Mortimer, and others. And the

bert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer was not feveral Interefls which the Allies were intitled to

only wanting in the Difcharge of that Duty to his by their Treaties, were not only not fecured to

Sovereign which became his High Station, by not them by the Peace, nor any reafonable Satisfac-

advifing againft, and as far as in him lay in all tion given to them, but the main Interefls of her

Events by not preventing even any Intimation from principal Allies, efpecially of his Imperial Ma-
the Throne to the Parliament, which was not con- jefty, were by the wicked Practices of him the

formable to the exacteft Truth and Impartiality ;
laid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer,

' but taking Advantage of his ready Acccfs to her and others, given up to France ; and no Engage-

ments
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ments were obtained for continuing the Alliance,

in order to render the general Peace fecure and

laftino-. And her Majefty having on many for-

mer Occafions exprefs'd her Refolutions never to

make Peace with France and Spain, fo long as

Spain and the Weft-Indies remain'd in the Houfe

of Bourbon; fhe was prevail'd upon by the Ad-

vice of him the laid Robert Earl of Oxford'and

Earl Mortimer, and others, to declare hcrfelf, in

Anfwer to an Addrefs of the Houfe of Peers,

the Eleventh of December, One Thoufand Seven

Hundred and Eleven, to the Effect following,

viz. / fhould be firry any one could think I would

not do my utmoft to recover Spain and the Indies

from the Houfe of Bourhon. Whereas it is moft

manifeft, that the leaving the Kingdom of Spain

and the Indies in the Houfe of 'Bourbon, was the

Foundation of the private and feparate Treaty

between Qreat Britain and France, which had

been before that Time figned even with her Ma-
jefty 's Confenf, and.the fame fundamental Refo-

lution was immutably obferved between them to

the Conclufion of the Peace. And her Majefty

having frequently declared from the Throne,

that her Rcfolutions in entering into the laid Ne-

gotiations were to obtain a general, good, and

lafting Peace, and the Plenipotentiaries at Utrecht

beino- inftructed to treat with France conform-

ably to that End, he the faid Robert Earl of Ox-

ford and Earl Mortimer, in order to remove the

juil Sufpicions which had been conceived of his

private and feparate Negotiations with France,

did advife her Majefty to make this further De-

claration in her faid Mefiage of the Seventeenth

Day of January, That the World will now fee

how groundlefs thofe Reports are which have

been fpread Abroad by Men of evil Intentions

to ferve the worft Dcfigns ; as if a feparate Peace

had been treated, for which there has not been

the leaft Colour given : Whereas a private and

feparate Negociation had been carried on for five

Months together between Great Britain and

France; and during that Time private Propofi-

tions had been fent from England, and a private

Treaty with a Minifter of France figned, even

by her Majefty's Privity, exclufive of all the

Allies, before the faid Declaration made by her

Majefty : And private and feparate Mcafures

were thenceforth carried on by the faid Robert

Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, and his Ac-
complices, on Behalf of her Majefty, with the

Mimfters of France, even to the Conclufion of

the Peace with France. Her Majefty was fur-

ther prevailed on by the wicked Advice of him
the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer,

in her Speech of June the Sixth, One Thoufand
Seven Hundred and Twelve, to declare, that to

prevent the Union of the two Crowns, fhe would
not be content with what was Speculative, but

infifted upon fomething Solid : And in the fame

Speech to the Effect following, videlicet, The
Nature of the Propofal for a Renunciation is

fuch, that it executes itfelf, and France and Spain

are thereby more effectually divided than ever:

Whereas the Miniftcrs of France had before that

Time allured the Minifters of her Majefty, that

to accept of the Expedient propofed on her Ma-
jefty's Behalf, would be to build on afappy Foun-
dation ; and that the Renunciation would be
null and void by the fundamental Laws of France ;

and that they would deceive themfelves who ac-

cepted it as an Expedient to prevent the Union
Vol. VI.

of the two Crowns. And not only in the Parti-

culars before-mentioned, but in many others con-

tained in the faid feveral Speeches and Meffages
made and fent to her Parliament, even while the

faid Negotiations of Peace with France were de-

pending, the moft effential Points relating to Peace

and Commerce, and which concerned the Intereft,

as well of the Allies as of Great Britain, were

grofiy mifreprefented. By all which wicked, trea-

cherous, and unexampled evil Counfels he the faid

Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer did moft

bafely, ungratefully, and fcandaloufly abufe the Fa-

vour of his Royal Miftrefs, and by means of her

Authority did miflcad her Parliament into ground-

lefs and fatal Rcfolutions ; and thereby not only pre-

vented the ju.ft Advice of the Parliament to her Ma-
jefty in that critical Juncture, but obtained the

Approbation of Parliament to his myfterious and
dangerous Practices ; and did not only deprive her

Majefty of the Confidence and Affection of her Al-
lies, but expofed her Majefty and her People to the

Contempt of the common Enemy.
ARTICLE XVI.

That whereas the faid Robert Earl of Oxford
and Earl Mortimer having on all Occafions ufed

his utmoft Endeavours to lubvert the antient efta-

blifhcd Conftitution of Parliaments, the great

and only Security of the Prerogative of the Crown,
and of the Rights, Liberties and Properties of

the People, and being moft wickedly determined

at one fatal Blow as far as in him lay to deftroy

the. Freedom and Independency of the Houfe of

Lords, the great Ornament and neareft Support

of the Imperial Crown of thefe Realms, and falfiy

intending to difguife his mifchievous Purpofes

under a pretended Zeal for the Prerogative of
the Crown ; he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and
Earl Mortimer, on or about the Months of De-
cember or January, One Thoufand Seven Hun-
dred and Eleven, whilft the Houfe of Lords were
under an Adjournment, and had Reafon to ex^

pect that on their next Meeting Matters of the

higheft Importance would be communicated to

them from the Throne, they having fome few

Days before given their humble Opinion, and Ad-
vice to her Majefty, that no Peace could be fafe

or honourable to Great Britain or Europe, if Spain

and the Weft Indies were to be allotted to any
Branch of the Houfe of Bourbon; being then

Lord High-Treafurer of Great Britain, and one

of her Majefty's Privy Council, and affuming to

himfelf an arbitrary Direction and Controul in

her Majefty's Councils, contrary to his Duty and
his Oath, and in Violation of the great Truft re-

pofed in him, and with an immediate Purpofe to

render ineffectual the many earneft Reprefenta-

tions of her Majefty's Allies againft the (aid Ne-
gotiations of Peace, as well as to prevent the

good Effects of the faid Advice of the Houfe of

Lords -, and in order to obtain fuch further Re-

folutions of that Houfe of Parliament on the im-

portant Subject of the Negociations of Peace, as

might fheker and promote his fecret and unwar-

rantable Proceedings, together with other falfe

and evil Counfellors, did advife her Majefty to

make and create twelve Peers of this Realm, and

Lords of Parliament; and purfuant to his de-

ftructive Counfels Letters Patents did forthwith

pafs, and Writs iffued, whereby twelve Peers

were made and created ; and did likewife advife

her Majefty immediately to call and fummon
them to Parliament ; which being done accord-

ed 2 ingly,
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ingly, they took their Seats in the Houfe of of Honour, Juftice and Equity, and is not to be byafs'd
Lords on or about the Second of January, One by a Spirit of Party.

Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven, to which My Lord. I couldfay a great deal to clear my [elf
Day the Houfe then flood adjourned. Whereby of the Charge which is brought againft me : But as I
the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer now labour under an Indifpojition of Body befides the
did moft highly abufe the Influence he then had Fatigue ofthis long Sitting, 1fhall contrail what 1 have
with her Majefty, and prevailed on her to exer- tofay within avery narrow Compafs. This wholeAccu[a-
cife in the moft unprecedented and dangerous tion may, it feems, be reduced to the Negociation and
Manner that valuable and undoubted Prerogative, Conclusion of thePeace. That theNation wanted aPeace
which the Wifdom of the Laws and Conftitution nobody will deny, and I hope it will be as eafilymade
of this Kingdom, hath entrufted with the Crown out, that the Conditions of this Peace are as rood as
for the rewarding fignal Virtue and diftinguifhM could be expetled, confidering the Orcumftances wherein
Merit. By which deiperate Advice he did not it was made, and the Backwardnefs and Reluclancy
only, as far as in him lay, deprive her Majefty of whichfome of'theAlliesJhew'd to come into the Queen's
the Continuance of thofe feafonable and whol- Meafures. This is certain, that this Peace as bad
fome Counfels in that critical Juncture, but wick- as it is now reprefented, was approved by two [uccef-
edly perverted the true and only End of that great five Parliaments. It is indeed fuggefted againft this
and ufeful Prerogative to the Difhonour of the Peace, that it was a feparate one; but I hope mv
Crown, and the irreparable Mifchief to the Con- Lord, it will be made appear, that it was general •

ftitution of Parliaments. All which Crimes and and that'twas France, and not Great Britain thai
Mifdemeanours were committed and done by made the firft Steps towards a Negociation. And my
him the faid Earl againft our late Sovereign Lady Lord, I will be bold tofay, that during my whole Admi-
the Queen, her Crown and Dignity, the Peace niftration, the Sovereign upon the Throne was loved at
and Intereft of this Kingdom, and in Breach Home, andfearedAbroad.
of the feveral Trufts repofed in him the faid As to the Bufinefs <?/Tournay, which is made a ca-
Earl, and he the faid Earl of Oxford and Earl pital Charge, I canfafely aver, that Ihad no manner
Mortimer was Lord High Treafurer of Great of Share in it ; and that the fame was wholly tranf-
Britain, and one of her Majefty 's Privy Council, atled by that unfortunate Nobleman who thomht fit'to
during the Time that all and every the Crimes be- ftep qfide : But I darefay in his Behalf, that if this
fore fet forth were done and committed. For Charge could'be proved, it would'not amount toTrea[on
which Matters and Things, the Knights, Citi- For my ownpart, as I always atled by the immediate
zens, and BurgerTes of the Houfe of Commons Direclicns and Commands of the late Queen and never
in Parliament aflembled, do, in the Name of offended againft any known Law, Iamjujlify'd in my
themfelves and of all- the Commons of Great Bri- own Confcience, and unconcerned [or the Life of an in-

tain, impeach the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Significant old Man. But I cannot, without the highefi
Earl Mortimer of High-Treafon, and other High Ingratitude, be unconcern'dfor the beft of Queens : A
Crimes and Mifdemeanors in the faid Articles Queen who heap'd upon me Honours and Preferments
contained. And the faid Commons by Prorefta- tho' I never ask'dfor them -, and therefore I think my
tion faving to themfelves the Liberty of exhibiting fetf under an Obligation to vindicate her Memory and
at any Time hereafter, any other Accufations or theMeafures fhe purfued, tomy dyingBreath. My Lord
Impeachment againft the faid Earl, and alfo of IfMinifters oj

c
State, ailing by the immediate Commands

replying to the Anfwers which the faid Robert of their Sovereign, are afterwards to be made account-
Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer fhall make to able for their Proceedings, it may one Bay or other be
the Premifes ; or any of them, or any Impeach- the Cafe of all the Members of this auguft Affembly : I
ment or Accufation that fhall be by them exhi- don't doubt, therefore, that out of Regardto yourfelves
bited, according to the Courfe and Proceedings your Lordfhips will giveme an equitable Hearing; and
of Parliament, do pray that the faid Robert Earl Ihope that, in the Profecution of this Enquiry, it will
of Oxford and Earl Mortimer'be put to anfwer all appear, that I have merited not only the Indulgence, but
and every the Premifes; and that fuch Proceed- likewife the Favour of'the Government. My Lord I
ings, Examinations, Trials and Judgments may am now to take my Leave ofyour Lordfhip, andof this
be upon them, and every of them had and ufed, honourable Houfe, perhapsfor ever! Ifhall lay down
as fhall be agreeable to Law and Juftice. And my Life with Pleafure, in a Caufefavour'd by my late
they do further pray and demand, that the faid dear Royal Miftrefs. And when I confiderthat I am to
Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer may be be judge by the Juftice, Honour and Virtue ofmy Peers,
fequeftred from Parliament, and forthwith com- 1 fhall acquiefce, and retire with great Content : And
mitted to fate Cuftody. my Lords, God's Will be done.

After thefe Articles were deliver'd and debated Further Articles of Impeachment of High Crimes
upon ;

a Motion was made, that the Earl of Ox- and Mifdemeanors, againft Robert Earl o[ Ox-
ford might be committed to iafe Cuftody, when his ford and Earl Mortimer.
Lordfhip fpoke to this Effect. ARTICLE I
My Lord, ^pHA T whereas in or about theMonth of 7a-f? is a very great Misfortune for any Man to fall 1 nuary, in the Year One Thoufand Seven

1 under the Difpleafure of fo great andfo powerful Hundred Ten-Eleven, a dangerous and deftruftive
a Body as the Commons of Great Britain ; and this Expedition had been projected and fet on Foot
Misfortune is the heavier upon me, becaufe I had the under Pretence of making a Conqueft on the Pof-
Honour to be placed at the Head of the late Miniftry, feffions of the French King in North America but
and muft now, it feems, be made accountable for all with a real Defign to promote his Interefts' by
the Meafures that where then purfued: But on the weakening the Confederate Army in Flanders 'and
other Hand, 'tis a very great Comfort to me under this difllpating the Naval Force of this Kingdom as
Misfortune, that I have the Honour to be a Member well as for the Sake of the private Interefts 'and
of this auguft Affembly : An Affembly which always corrupt Gain of the Promoters of the faid Expedi-
fquares their Proceedings and "judgments by the Rules tion, he the faid Robert Earl of Oxfordand Earl Mor-

timer,
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timer, being then one of her late Majefty's Privy-

Council, and one of the Commifiioners of her

Majefty's Treafury, was not only wanting in his

Duty to her late Majefty, by wilfully and induftri-

oufly abfenting from the Meetings of other Per-

fons, then in high Trull under her Majefty,

wherein the faid Expedition was concerted, and

by not advifing her Majefty againft, and_ doing

what in him lay to have prevented the putting the

fame in Execution, but did, contrary to his Oath,

and the high Truft then repofed in him, advife

her Majefty to confent to the making an Expedi-

tion for the conquering Canada and the City of

ghiebech on the River of St. Laurence in North

America ; and in Execution of his faid evil Coun-

fels, he did further advife her Majefty to give

Orders for detaching feveral Battalions of the

Forces then in the Service of her Majefty, in Con-

junction with her Allies in Flanders, and to fend

die fame with a large Squadron of Men of War

on the faid Enterprize •, although the faid Robert

Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer well knew, that

the faid Project or Expedition having been fre-

quently deliberated on and maturely confidered,

a fnort Time before, in a Committee of Council,

was then laid afide as dangerous and impracticable.

And a Demand being made at the Treafury on or

about the Months of May or June, One Thou-

fand Seven Hundred and Eleven, for the Sum of

Twenty-eight Thoufand Pounds or thereabouts,

on Pretence of Arms and Merchandize faid to be

fent on the faid Expedition to Canada, he the

faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer be-

ino- then Lord High Treafurer of Great Britain,

and one of her Majefty's Privy Council, tho' he

well knew, or had Reafon to fufpect, that the

fame was an unjuft and exorbitant Demand, and

a great Abufe on her Majefty and the Public,

and fuch as ought not to have been complied with,

was not only wanting in his Duty to her Majefty,

in not giving his humble Advice againft the faid

Demand, or at leaft in not reprefenting to her

Majefty the Grounds of fuch his Sufpicion, but did,

contrary to his Oath and his Duty, advife her Ma-
jefty, that the faid Sums fhould be iflued and paid ;

and did accordingly counterfign a Warrant to the

Paymafter of her Majefty's Forces for the Pay-

ment of the fame, puriuant to which the fame was

iffued and received. And in further Violation of

his Oath, his Duty, and Truft, and with the moft

corrupt Defign to prevent the Juftice due to her

Majefty and the Nation, he the faid Robert Earl

of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, being then Lord

High Treafurer of Great Britain, and exercifing a

moft unexampled arbitrary Power, not only in her

Majefty's private Councils, but extending his evil

Influences to the great Council of the Nation •, af-

ter the faid Expedition had proved unfuccefsful,

and it had been difcover'd to him the faid Robert

Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, that the Na-
tion had been cheated of above Twenty Thoufand

Pounds on that Account, did moft ungratefully

and corruptly employ his wicked Arts, and the

Credit which he had gained by his many falfe and

crafty Infinuations and Practices, to keep the

Houfe of Commons from examining that Affair.

And in or about the Month of Augufi, One Thou-
fand Seven Hundred and Fourteen, in a Letter or

Memorial under his Hand to her late Majefty, he

did prefume, not only to infinuate the ill Opinion

he therein pretended always to have had of the faid

Expedition, but did declare the Sufpicions he had

of the great Injury and Abufe done to her Majefty
and the Public, in the Demand of the faid Twen-
ty-eight Thoufand Pounds, even at the Time
when the fame was made, and that the Public had
been cheated of above Twenty Thoufand Pounds
on that Account ; and in the faid Memorial did
prefume further to declare to her Majefty, that he
was forced to ufe all his Skill and Credit to keep
the Houfe of Commons from examining that Af-
fair in the laft Parliament; thereby vainly, but
moft wickedly, recommending himfelf to the Con-
tinuance of her Majefty's Favour, by the Succefs of

his moft profligate Meafures. By all which un»
parallel'd Corruptions and moft dangerous Coun-
cils and Practices of him the faid Robert Earl of

Oxford and Earl Mortimer, the good and faithful

Allies of her Majefty were deprived of the Aid of
her Majefty's Troops to which they were entitled

by their Conventions, and the Confederate Army
in Flanders was greatly diminilhed, to the appa-

rent Advantage of the common Enemy : The
Public Money, granted by Parliament for reducing

the Power of France, and which was exprefly ap-

propriated for other fpecial Services, was abitrarily

and illegally mifapplied and embezzled, and an
heavy Debt incurr'd on the Nation, not only fit-

ting the Parliament, but even in Contempt and
Defiance of a Reprefentation made by the Houfe
of Commons to the Throne, even whilft the faid

Expedition was concerting ; and whereby the high-

eft Injuftice was done, in fupprefiing an Enquiry fo

juft to her Majefty and her People, and a lafting

Reproach and Scandal brought on that Houfe of
Commons, of which he boafts, as having been

wrought on by his corrupt Influence not to exa-

mine into fo high and fo fcandalous an Abufe.

ARTICLE II.

That the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl

Mortimer, not contented with the high Employ-
ments and Places of Honour and Profit beftowed

on him by her late Majefty, nor with the large

and exceffive Gains by him made by the Incomes

and Profits of the faid Employments, on or about

the Month of Oilober, One Thoufand Seven Hun-
dred and Eleven, whilft the Nation was engaged

in a moft expenfive War againft France and Spain*

for preferving the Liberties of Europe, and great-

ly exhaufted with the Supplies and Taxes for

carrying on the fame, and was under fuch heavy
Debts as were impoffible to be fatisfied, without

the utmoft Frugality or laying grievous Taxes
upon the Commons of Great Britain: Contrary

to his Oath and his high Truft, and making a

moft dilhonourable and ungrateful Ufe of the

ready Accefs he had to her late Majefty, did pre-

vail on and advife her Majefty to fign a Warrant
to himfelf, being then Lord High Treafurer of

Great Britain, for the ifluingand Payment of the

Sum ofThirteen Thoufand Pounds to John Drum-
mond, Efq-, or his Affigns, for fuch fpecial Services

relating to the War, as her Majefty had directed :

And the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mor-
timer, on or about the Twenty-fourth Day of No-
vember following, in purfuance of the faid Warrant

under her Majefty's Sign Manual, did fign a Warrant

for the Payment of the faid Thirteen Thoufand
Pounds for fuch fpecial Services of the War, as her

Majefty had directed ; although no fpecial Services

had been, or were at any Time afterwards directed

by her Majefty, to which the faid Monies were to be

applied. And the faid Robert Earl of Oxfordand Earl

Mortimer, having privately defired leave of the laid

Drummond
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Drummond to ftrike fome Tin-Tallies in his the faid ford and Earl Mortimer, even after his faid Cor-

Drummond's Name, he did, purfuant thereto, direct ruption had been difcovered in Parliament, didpre-

that Orders amounting to the Sum of Thirteen fume, without the Privity of the faid Drummond, to

Thoufand Pounds mould be charged in theRegifter fend the faid Warrant to the Commiffioners of his

of the Exchequer on the Monies arifing by Sale of Majefty's Treafury, defiring that the fame might

Tin, in the Name of the faid John Drummond ; and then have been entered in the Treafury; but the

tho' the fame were accordingly ftruck in the Name fame was with great Honour and Juftice refufed to

of the faid Drummond, in or about the Month of be fo entered. By which mod vile and fcandalous

November, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Ele- Corruption, he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and

ven, they were not deliver'd out to the faid Drum- Earl Mortimer was guilty of the moft notorious

mond, but were kept in the Treafury Chamber, or Breach of his Oath and Truft, as Lord High-Trea-

elfe were in the Power or Cuftody of the Earl, till furer of Great Britain, of the higheft Abufe of her

about the End of January following, when the faid Majefty's Goodnefs, and Embezzlement of her

Drummond having occafion, as the laid Robert Earl Treafure, and of the greateft Injuftice and Oppref-

of Oxford and Earl Mortimer well knew, to go into fion of other of her Majefty's Subjects.

Holland, at the Defire and Requeft of the faid Earl, A R T I C L E III.

he indorfed his Name on the faid Orders, and the That whereas by the eftablifhed and known
fame were left, by his Privity, Direction, or Confent, Laws of this Kingdom, the Allowances or Appoint-

in the Hands of Mr. John 'Taylor,, a Clerk of the ments for the Maintenance and Support of Ambaf-
Treafury •, and the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and fadors, Envoys, Plenipotentiaries, and other public

Earl Mortimer having afterwards got PoffefTion of Minifters of the Crown in foreign Courts, ought to

the faid Orders, did in or about the Month of June, be afcertained in due Form of Law, as well in Ho-
One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Twelve, fend nour as in Juftice to the Imperial Crown of thefe

an Order in Writing to the faid Mr. Taylor to deli- Realms : And whereas the faid Robert Earl of 0#-

ver the faid Tallies to a Servant of the faid Earl, ford and Earl Mortimer, in or about the Month of

which was done accordingly, the faid Jndorfements July oxAugufi, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and

not being at that Time fill'd up : And the faid Ro- Twelve, fent Matthew Trior, Efq; an Inftrument

bert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, having and Creature of his own, into France, for the ear-

by thefe corrupt and fcandalous Methods got the rying on his feparate and dangerous Negotiations ;

faid Tallies and Orders into his own Hands, did af- and did afterwards in the Month of November, One
terwards fill up Alignments of the laid Orders for Thoufand Seven Hundred and Twelve, by his evil

Twelve Thoufand Pounds, Part of the faid Thirteen Counfels prevail on her late Majefty, without the

Thoufand Pounds, to himfelf, and the remaining Privity of, or any Communication with her Allies,

Part to fuch other Peribns as he thought fit ; and to fend the faid Matther Prior as her Majefty's Pie-

did afterwards in or about the Months of Augufi, nipotentiary to the French King, with Inftructions

Oclober, and November, One Thoufand Seven Hun- to treat and conclude Matters of the higheft Impor-
dred and Thirteen, at feveral Times, difpofe of the tance, relating to the general Negotiations of Peace

:

faid Orders and Tallies to his own private Ufe and But the fame was a treacherous and wicked Contri-

• Advantage. And to cover the faid fcandalous Em- vance of him the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and
bezzlements, he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, for the more effectually carrying on
Earl Mortimer did afterwards, as he pretends, ad- and promoting his private, feparate, and dangerous

vife and prevail on her Majefty, on or about the Practices with the Minifters of'France, and the Ene-

Fourteenth of December, One Thoufand Seven Hun- mies of her Majefty and her Kingdoms ; he the faid

dred and Thirteen, to fign a Warrant prepared by Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer not re-

himfelf, wherein after the Recitals of his own good, garding his Oath, or his high Truft, or the Laws of

. faithful, and acceptable Services, which had tended the Kingdom, did moft corruptly and fcandaloufly

to the Quiet, Safety and Profperity of her Majefty combine with the faid Matthew Prior for the de-

and her Realms, though accompanied with great frauding her Majefty of very great Sums, under the

Difficulties on himfelf, and Hazards to him and his Colour of his faid Employments in France; and to

Family, and that her Majefty was refolved' to be- that End the faid Earl did contrive that the faid

ftow upon him a Sum of ready Money : But the faid Matthew Prior fhould be fent into France, with the

Earl reprefenting to her Majefty, that the Arrears Character aforefaid, but without any fettled Ap-
then due to her Servants and Tradefmen were ve- pointments or Allowances: But in the Stead and

ry great and prefftng, her Majefty did therefore a- Lieu thereof, he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and
gree and determine that he fhould have, to his own Earl Mortimer did give the faid Matthew Prior an
Ufe, the faid feveral Sums, amounting to Thirteen unlimited Credit, and did promife to anfwer and
Thoufand Pounds comprized in the Orders afore- pay fuch Bills as the faid Prior fhould draw on him
faid : It was directed that the faid John Drummond during his Refidence in France ; purfuant to which
fhould afhgn the faid Orders, and the whole Right Contrivance and corrupt Agreement he the faid

and Benefit thereof to the faid Earl and his Affigns

;

Matthew Prior did, between the Twenty-feventh
• although the faid Earl had privately and clandef- of Augufi, in the Year One Thoufand Seven Hun-
tinely procured from the faid Drummond an Afhgn- dred and Twelve, New Stile, and the Tenth ofla-

ment of the faid Orders near two Years before the ly, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Fourteen,

faid Warrant, and had fraudulently and corruptly or thereabouts, at feveral times draw Bills of Ex-
difpofed and converted them to his own Ufe, with- change, to the Amount of Twelve Thoufand Three
out her Majefty's Privity or Confent, fome time Hundred and Sixty Pounds, or thereabouts, on him
before her Majefty was prevailed on to fign the faid the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer,

Warrant. And though the laft mentioned Warrant, which he being then Lord High Treafurer of Great

if any fuch there be, was not communicated to the Britain, did advife and prevail upon her Majefty to

faid Drummondby the faid Earl during her Majefty's fign Warrants for the Payment of, and did counter-

Life, nor was the fame counterfigned nor entered fign the fame, although the faid Prior was no way
in the Treafury, yet he the faid Robert Earl of Ox- intitled to any fuch Allowances by Reafon of his

faid
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faid Employment, and the fame greatly exceeded the England, from and after the firft. Day of March,

Allowance even of an Ambaffador of the Crown of One Thoufand Seven hundred and One, fhould

Great Britain. And the faid Robert Earl of Oxford within this Realm, or without, hold, entertain, or

and Earl Mortimer did, in the Years One Thou- keep any Intelligence or Correfpondence in Perfon,

fand Seven Hundred and Twelve, One Thoufand or by Letters, Meffages, or otherwife, with the

Seven Hundred and Thirteen, and One Thoufand faid pretended Prince of Wales, or with any Per-

Seven Hundred and Fourteen, without any Colour fon or Perfons employed by him, knowing fuch

or Authority, but for the further promoting his cor- Perfons to be fo employed, or fhould by Bills of

ruptand wicked Purpofes, prevail on and advife her Exchange, or otherwife, remit or pay any Sum
Majefty tofign Warrants, which were counterfign'd or Sums of Money for the Ufe or Service of the

by himfelf, for the Payment of the Sum of Five faid pretended Prince of Wales, knowing fuch

Thoufand Five Hundred and Sixty Pounds, or Money to be tor fuch Ufe or Service, fuch Perfon

thereabouts, to the Ufe of Thomas Barley, Efq; a lb offending being lawfully convicted, mould be ta-

near Relation andEmiffary of him the faid Robert ken, deem'd, and adjudg'd to be guilty of High-

Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, out of the Treafon, and fhall fuffer and forfeit as in Cafes of

Monies appropriated to the Ufe of her Majefty's High-Treafon. He the faid Robert Earl of Oxford

Civil Lift : And did in like manner, at feveral an& Earl Mortimer having, by the means ofthe faid

Times in the Years aforefaid, moft illegally, frau- Matthew Prior, held a private and unlawful Corre-

dulently, and corruptly uTue, or direct, or advife fpondence with the faid Confort of the late King

the Direction and Payment of other large Sums of James the Second, then refiding in France, and be-

Money, to other Perfons out of her Majefty's ing determin'd fecretly to promote, as far as in him

Treafury : By which moft illegal and fcandalous lay, the Intereft of the Pretender, but yet contriving

Management, he the faid? Robert Earl of Oxford to avoid the faid Penalty of High-Treafon : And
and Earl Mortimer has introduced a Practice high- the laid Confort of his late Majefty King James the

]y prejudicial to, and utterly inconfiftent with the Second having empower'd Abbot Gaultier (a Popifh

Conftitution of this Kingdom, and of the moft per- Prieft, and bufy Emiffary between Great Britain

nicious Confequence, by opening a Way for the and France, during the faid private and feparate

moft dangerous Corruptioni ; and was not only guil- Negotiations of Peace, and who was particularly en-

ty ofa notorious Breach of his Oath, but enter'd in- truited as the common Agent between the Minifters

to the moft bafe and fcandalous Combination with of Great Britain and France, in tranfacting the moft

the Perfons above-mentioned, and others, under fecret Affairs relating to the Pretender) to concert

the Pretence and Colour of promoting her Ma- with the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Ma-
jefty's Service, to defraud her Majefty of the Pub- timer the fettling the Payment and Remittance of a

lie Money, which he was entrufted with the Ma- very great yearly Sum out ofher Majefty's Treafure

nagement of for the Support of the Honour and into France, under colour and pretence of the faid

Dignity of the Crown. Letters Patents ; and the faid Robert Earl of Oxford

ARTICLE IV. and Earl Mortimer having held frequent clandestine

That whereas the Revenues arifing to the Crown Conferences with the faid Abbot Gaultier, on the

From the hereditary Excife and Poft-Office, or fome Subject aforefaid, and having, by his evil Counfels,

Parts thereof, were, by vertue of Letters Patents of facrificed to France the common Interefts ofEurope j

the late King James the Second, charged with and and being refolv'd that the firft Fruits of the Peace

made liable to certain Annuities or yearly Sums, in with France fhould be an Offering made, by his im-

Truft for, or to the Ufe of Mary, the Confort of mediate Procurement, to the neareft and moft a-

the faid King James the Second, but the faid Re- vowed Adherent to the Pretender, tho' at the great

venues were afterwards, by feveral Acts of Parlia- Expence of the Honour and Safety of her Majefty

m.nt, granted and fettled for the Support of the and her People, did, foon after the Conclufion of

Royal Houfhold, and of the Honour and Dignity the Peace with France, agree and undertake to pro-

of the Crown ; or for other public Ufes, without cure the Payment of the yearly Sum of Forty feven

any faving or exception of the faid Letters Patents, thoufand Pounds and upwards, to or to the Ufe of

And whereas by an Act made in the Twelfth Year the faid Confort, during her Life •, and in execution

of her late Majefty's Reign, the Sum of Five hun- of his faid Purpofe did afterwards, on or about the

dred thoufand Pounds was granted to her late Ma- 2 3d of December, One Thoufand Seven Hundred
jefty for the Difcharge ofdivers Arrears of Salaries, and Thirteen, being then Lord High Treafurer of
Diet-Monies, and other Allowances, and fundry Great Britain, and of her Majefty's Privy Council,

Debts tor Pre-emptions, Provifions and other Cau- advife her late Majefty to fign a Warrant to him-
fes, which had been then incurr'd and grown due to felf, in the Words or to the Effect following, viz,

her late Majefty's Servant's, Tradefmen and others, Anne R. Whereas our late Royal Father King James
and were occafion'd by feveral extraordinary Ex- the Second, by Letters Patents under his Great Seal,

pences fince the Act for the better Support of her bearing date on or about the 28 th Day of Auguft, One
Majefty's Houfhold, and of the Honour and Digni- Thoufand Six Hundred and Eighty Five, did Grant

ty of the Crown. And the faid Sum of Five hun- unto Lawrence Earl of Rochefter, Henry Earl of
dred thoufand Pounds was exprefly appropriated Peterborough, Sidney Lord Godolphin, Robert

to the Uies afore-mentioned, in Aid of the faid Worden, Efq; and Sir Edward Herbert, Kt. (who
Revenues or Branches which were appointed for the are allfince deceased) divers Annuities, oryearly Sums,

Support ofher Majefty's Houfhold, and of the Ho- amounting to Thirty feven thoufand three hundredand
nour and Dignity of the Crown. And whereas by twenty eight Pounds, Thirteen Shillings and Seven

an Ad made in the Thirteenth and Fourteenth Pence to hold to them and their Heirs, during the Life

Years of his late Majefty King William the ofhis then Royal Confort Maxy, now Queen Dowager,
Third, it was Enacted, that for preventing traiter- in Truftfor her ; and by other Letters Patents, bear»

ous Correfpondence between his Majefty's Subjects ingdate on or about the 3d of December, One Thou-
and the pretended Prince of Wales, or his Adhe- fand Six Hundred Eighty Six, did alfo grant unto

rents, that if any of the Subjects of the Crown of the faid Queen a farther Venfion or yearly Sum of

Ten
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Ten Thoufand Pounds to hold during her natural Life, Crown of thefe Realms, in advifing her, under G>
all which were madepayable in fuch a manner as in the lour ofthe faid Letters Patents, and without the Ad-

faidfeveral Letters Patients is more fully exprejl. Our Vice of her Council or her Parliament, to direct the

Will andPleafure now is, andwedo hereby DireSt, Au- iffuing of the Revenue, provided by Parliament for

tborize and Command, that you caufe Payment to be the Support of the Honour and Dignity of the

made to the Heirs offuch of thefaid Truftees as was Crown, to the Ufe and Benefit of the open and a-

the longeft Liver offo much as fince the 24th Day of vowed Adherent of the Pretender ; and did not only

March lajl, 1 7 1 3, is incurred or grown due on the defraud her Majefty of the faid Sum of one thoufand

faid Annuities or yearly Sums, amounting to Thirty fe- Pounds, but did moft arbitrarily, illegally, andcor-

ven thoufand three hundred twenty eight Pounds, thir- ruptly advife the Embezzlement and Misapplication

teen Shillings and Seven Pence, and to the faid Queen of fo much of the faid Sum of five hundred thoufand

Dowager or her Affigns, offo much as fince the faid Pounds, in Contempt and Defiance of the exprefs

2 c.th Day of March laft, is incurred or grown due on Appropriation of an Act of Parliament.

the faid Annuity of ten thoufand Pounds, according to ARTICLE V.

the purport of the feveral Grants, or Letters Patents That whereas by the antient and undoubted

above recited, as alfo of whatfhall hereafter become due Laws of this Kingdom, no Perfon, being a natural

andpayable upon the faidfeveral Annuities Quarterly, born Subject of this Realm, or within any of the

during the Life of thefaid Queen Dowager ; and forfo Dominions thereunto belonging, and having com-

doing, thisfhall be your Warrant. Given at our Court mitted and being under the Guilt of High Treafon,

at Windfor-Caftle, the twenty third Day of Decern- ought to be received within this Kingdom, as a pub-

ber, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Thirteen, in lie Minifter, or with any Character from any Fo-

the Twelfth Tear of our Reign. And did afterwards, reign Prince, State, or Potentate. And whereas

on or about the twenty fourth of December follow- fome time in the Year One Thoufand Seven Hun-

ing, fio-n a Warrant to the Auditor of the Receipt dred and Thirteen, one Patrick Lilefh, ftilinghim-

of her Majefty's Exchequer, requiring him to felf, and commonly known by the Name of Sir Pa-

make and pafs Debentures for paying to fuch Per- trick Lawlefs, an Irifh Papift (who had ferved with

fon or Perfons as is, are, or fhall be authorized the late King James the Second in the War in Ire-

to receive the fame, the Sum of nine thoufand three land, againft his late Majefty King William the

hundred thirty two Pounds, three Shillings and Third of ever glorious Memory, had follow'd the

four Pence three Farthings, for one Quarter, in- faid King James into France, and continual in the

curred upon the laid feveral yearly Sums therein moft open and avowed manner in his Intereffs and

mentioned, from Lady-Day One Thoufand Seven Service, and in Rebellion againft his faid Majefty

Hundred and Thirteen, to Midfummer following, Kmg William, and had bore high Com miflion a-

and appointed the fame to be fatisfied out of the gainft, and had been in open Arms againft her late

Sum of five hundred thoufand Pounds, appro- MajeftyQueen ^ft? in the late War in Spain) did

priated by an Act paffed the then laft Seflion of come into this Kingdom, and pretended to have and

Parliament, for or towards Payment of fuch Debts did take on himfelf the Character of a Minifter fent

and Arrears as were therein mentioned. And ano- from King Philip of Spain, to her late Majefty, to

ther Warrant to the faid Auditor to make and pafs treat of Matters of the greateft Importance to the

Debentures for paying to the faid Queen, or to her Honour and Safety of her Majefty and her King-

Treafurer or Receiver, the Sum of two thoufand doms ; and having given notice of the fame to Ro-

five hundred Pounds for one Quarter, incurr'd on bert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, then Lord

the faid Penfion of ten thoufand Pounds per Ann. High Treafurer of Great Britain, and of her Ma-
from Lady-Day, One Thoufand Seven Hundred jefty's Privy Council, and who then affumed to him-

and Thirteen, to Midfummer then laft paft, and felf the fupreme Direction in her Majefty's Councils*

appointed the fame to be fatisfied out of the Sum he the faid Robert JLurl of Oxford and Earl Morti-

of five hundred thoufand Pounds, appropriated by mer was not only wanting in his Duty to her Ma-
an Act paffed the then laft Seflion of Parliament, jefty, in not advifing her Majefty againft receiving

for or towards Payment of fuch Debts and Arrears, and admitting the faid Lilefh alias Lawlefs in the

as were therein mentioned. And the faid Robert Quality aforeiaid, but did, together with other

Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, on or about the falle and evil Counfellors, advife her Majefty to

twentieth of July, One Thoufand Seven Hundred receive and admit him as a Minifter from his faid

and Fourteen, being then Lord High Treafurer of Catholic Majefty ; and the faid Earl did prefume

Great Britain, and of her Majefty's Privy Council, frequently too meet, confer and negotiate the

having corruptly and deceitfully, in further Viola-, moft important Affairs of the Nation-with the faid

tionofhis Oath, and; his high Truft, advifed her Lilefh alias Lawlefs in the Quality aforefaid. And
late Majefty to fign a Warrant, directing the Pay- the better to conceal his faid illegal and dangerous;

men of one thoufand Pound Sterling to Daniel Ar~ Meafures from her faid Majefty, he the faid Ro-

/&«r,.Efq; for Monies expended by him for her Ma- hert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer was privy

jefty's fpecial Service, and the fame being accord- to, confenting, and advifing that the faid Lilefh

ingly iffued and received by him the faid Arthur alias Lawlefs fhould be introduced to her faid Ma-
out of her Majefty's Treafure, he the faid Robert jefty, and fhould be received and treated by her

Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer being then Lord Minifter, under the falfe and difguifed Name of

High Treafurer of Great Britain, did give private Don Carlo Moro. And the Houfe of Lords, fome

Direction to the faid Arthur to pay the faid Sum of time in the Month of April, One Thoufand Seven

one thoufand Pounds to the faid Abbot Gualtier, or Hundred and Fourteen, having notice of the faid

to his Ufe, purfuant to which Direction the faid dangerous Attempt of the faid Lilefh alias Law
Arthur did pay or caufe to be paid the faid Sum of kfs, on or about the Ninth of the faid Month,

one thoufand Pounds to the faid Abbot Gualtier, or made an humble Addrefs to her Majefty, that fhe

to his Ufe ; whereby the faid Robert Earl of Oxford would be gracioufly pleafed to iffue her Royal Pro-

and Earl Mortimer did moft wickedly betray the clamation, commanding all proper Officers and

Honour of her late Majefty, and the Imperial Magiftrates to make diligent Search for, and to ap-

prehend
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prehend all Popifh Priefts, and to put the Laws in impos'd upon them by the French, and to return to

Execution againft them ; and likewife to enquire the Obedience of the Houfe of Auflria 5 and her

after and apprehend all fuch Perfons as haveferv'd Majefty being defirous to maintain and improve

in Arms againft her Majefty, or their late Majefties that good Difpofition in them, and to induce them

King William and QfaeenMary, and who were then to put the fame fpeedily in Execution, did fend

within the Kingdom, contrary to Law, to the End MilfordCrow, Efq; to them, with neceflary Powers

that they might be brought to Juftice. To which her and Inftruclions to carry, on fo great a Work, fop

Majefty was gracioully pleas'd to return an Anfwer the Advantage of her Service, and the Good of the

to the Effect following, viz. That fhe would give Or- Common Caufe *, and to that End to treat with the

ders purfuant thereto, and a Proclamation did ac- Catalans, or any other People of Spain, about their

cordingly iffue. And on the faid ninth Day of April, coming into the Intereft of King Charles the

the Houfe ofLords(having under theirConfideration Third, his prefent Imperial Majefty, and joining

whatfurtherSecuritycould.be provided for ftrength- with her Majefty and her Allies againft the Com-
enino- the Proteftant Succeflion in the Houfe of Ha- mon Enemy ; and her Majefty, after her gracious

nover) came to the following Refolution, viz. That AfTurances to aflift them with Men and Money,

no Per[on, being a Natural born Subject of Great Bri- was pleafed to authorize her faid Minifter to give

tain, or within any of the Dominions thereunto belong- them her utmoft AfTurances, to procure the Efta-

ing, and who having traiteroujly ferv'd againft her Ma- blifhment of all fuch Rights and Immunities as

jejly, ought to be received as a public Minifter, or with they had formerly enjoy'd under the Houfe of Au-

any Character within this Kingdom: Notwithftanding Jlria ; and that for their further Satisfaction, ftie had

which, he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl fentfor Powers from King Charles the Third, for

Mortimer, having no regard to the Safety of her confirming the lame, and was willing to become

Majefty's Perfon, or to the Security of the Prote- Guarantee that it fhould be done : Neverthelefs on

ftant Succeflion •, and fetting himfelf in utter De- thisexprefs Condition, that they fhould receive the

fiance not only of the faid Advice and Refolution of faid King Charles as lawful King of Spain, and ut-

the Houfeof Lords, but of her Majefty's AfTurances terly renounce the Houfe of Bourbon. And, toge-

to that Houfe of Parliament, and of her Royal Au- ther with the faid Inftructions, her Majefty was

thority and Command, by her Proclamation under pleafed to fign and caufe to be deliver'd to her faid

the Great Seal : Inftead of doing what in him lay to Minifter, Credential Letters to the Nobility, Ma-
have apprehended and brought, or caufing the faid giftrates, and all other Officers Civil and Military

IJlefh alias Lawlefs to be brought to Juftice, did after- of Catalonia, defiring them to depend on the Pro-

wards, on or about the Fifteenth Day of March, mifes he fhould make them in her Name. And
One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Fourteen, moft in her Majefty's Inftruclions to the Earl of Peter"

wickedly and traiterouflyadvife her Majefty to fign borow and Sir Cloudefly Shovel, in or about the

a Warrant, directing the Payment of one thoufand Month of May, One Thoufand Seven Hundred
Pounds Sterling to Daniel Arthur, Efq-, for fpecial and Five, they are ordered to ufe their utmoft En-

Services, which being accordingly iffuedand recei- deavours to induce the Catalans to join with them

ved by the faid Arthur, he the faid Earl did private- in their Undertaking, and to aflure thena of her late

ly and corruptly direct the faid Arthur to pay the Majefty's Support, and to promife them, in the

fame, and accordingly the faid one thoufand Pounds Queen's Name, that fhe would fecure them a Con-

was paid to the Ufe of the faid Lilefh alias Lawlefs

:

firmation of their Rights and Privileges from the

And the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mor- King of Spain, that they might be fettled on a laft-

timer did at other times, in a fictitious and fcanda- ing Foundation to them and their Pofterity. And
Jous manner, direct the Payment of other confider- in cafe Perfuafions fhould not prevail, and the en-

able Sums of Money, outof her Majefty's Treafure, talans fhould not make a fuitable Return to thofe

to the faid Lilefh alias Lawlefs, which were accord- kind Offers, they were ordered to annoy their

ingly paid to him ; altho' it was notorious, that the Towns on the Coafts of Spain, and to reduce them
faid Lilefh alias Lawlefs had not only traiteroufly by Force. And, in Conformity to thefe Inftructi-

ferv'd in Arms againft her Majefty, but had been ons, a Manifeflo, or Declaration was prepared, by

the Minifter or Agent of the Pretender at the Court the Privity and Advice of Robert Earl of Oxford

of Madrid; and was under ftrong Sufpicions of be- and Earl Mortimer, then one of her Majefty's prim-

ing fent into £«g/W, tho' under the Pretences a- cipal Secretaries of State, and deliver'd to the faid

forefaid, fecretly to promote the Intereft of the Pre- Earl of Peterborow, full, on the one Hand, of the

tender in thefe Kingdoms. By all which corrupt AfTurances aforementioned, and on the other hand,

and evil Counfels he the laid Robert Earl of Oxford of Menaces to them, in cafe they declined her Ma-
and Earl Mortimer did moftbafely and ungratefully jefty's Overtures, which Manifeflo was afterwards

expofe the Perfon of her Sacred Majefty, did what publifhed by him the faid Earl of Peterborow in

in him lay to enervate and render ineffectual the Catalonia : And whereas the Nobility, Clergy, and

Advice of Parliament, and her Majefty's moft fo- the whole Principality of Catalonia, and the Inha-

lemn Declarations, in a matter of the neareft Con- bitants of the Ifle of Majorca, relying on the Faith

cern to her Majefty and Kingdoms, and by coun- of thofe Royal AfTurances, did utterly abandon the

tenancing, in the moft corrupt and fcandalous Houfe of Bourbon, and acknowledged King Charles

manner, the fecret Emiffaries of the Pretender, the Third, his prefent Imperial Majefty, for their

did greatly encourage his open Adherents, to the lawful Sovereign, and did join their Arms with

apparent Danger of the Proteftant Succeflion to thofe of her Majefty and her Allies, againft the

the Imperial Crown of thefe Realms. Duke of Anjou; and it having pleafed Almighty

ARTICLE VI. God fo far to blefs her Majefty's pious and gene-

That v/hereas her late Majefty Queen Anne, after rous Undertaking, as by moft fignal SuccefTes, in

feveral unfuccefsful Attempts, in Conjunction with a fhort time, to deliver the Principality of Catalonia

her Allies, to eftablifh his prefent Imperial Majefty from the heavy Yoke of French Bondage ; and
on the Throne of Spain, being inform'd, that the great Supplies having been granted by Parliament,
People of Catalonia were inclin'd to caft off theYoke for the reducing the whole Kingdom of Spain to the

Voi, VI R Obedience
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Obedience of the Houfe of duftna'% the Arms of lay, as a faithful Minifter, to have prevented the

her Majefty and her Allies were attended with vaft Conclufion of the Treaty of Peace with Spain, till

Succeffes, having twice entered the Capital City of juft and honourable Conditions were fecured for the

that Kingdom, and obtained many other fignal Catalans, but did falfly, malicioufly, and treache-

Conquefts, to the great Advantage of the Common roufly advife her Majefty to conclude a Peace with

Caufe : And thro
3
the whole Progrefs thereof, the the King of Spain, without any Security for the an-

Bravery and Firmnefs of the Catalans being always cient and juft Rights, Liberties and Privileges of

remarkable, thereby, as well as from the repeated that brave, but unhappy Nation. And did further

Affurances given to them from time to time, in advife her Majefty to fend Sir James Wifloart, her

her Majefty's Name, by every General and Mini- Admiral, with a large Squadron of Men of War,
fter fent from Great Britain to Spain, the Hearts of at a great Expence, to favour the faid King atSpain

that brave People were united under the ftrongeft in the Siege of Barcelona, the Capital City of Cata-

Tyesof Affection and Gratitude to her Majefty ;
Ionia, and with exprefs Inftruclions, that in cafe the

and they werejuftly held in the ftricteft Dependance Inhabitants of Majorca mould refufe the Terms that

on the continuance ofher Royal Protection •, he the fhould be offcr'd them by the Duke of Anjou, to

faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, be- employ his Squadron, in countenancing and affift-

ing an Enemy to the Common Liberty of Europe, ing all Attempts that fhould be made, for reducing

and having traiteroufly enter'd into Confpiracies for them to a due Obedience. By which moft vile and

fubjecting the whole Spanifh Monarchy to the Houfe deteftable Cbunfels, her facred Majefty, contrary to

of Bourbon, and defigning moft malicioufly the ut- her moft pious Intentions, the Faith of Nations, and

ter Ruin and Deftruction of the antient Rights, the Duties of Religion, and Humanity it felf, and

Liberties and Privileges of the Catalans, who had contrary to her folemn and repeated Affurances,

made fo glorious a Stand for the Prefervation of was prevailed on to abandon a diftreffed People,

them, did, together with other falfe and evil Coun- drawn in, and engaged by her own Invitation, into

fellors, form a moft difhonourable, wicked, and an open War with the Duke of Anjou, forthePre-

cruel Contrivance, not only for abandoning the fervation of the Liberties of Europe, and the Com-
Catalans to the Fury and Revenge of the Duke of merce of Great Britain. And the Perfons, Eftates,

Anjou and his Adherents, but for the final Extirpa- Dignities, Rights, Liberties and Privileges of the

tion of all their Rights, Liberties, and Privileges. Catalans were given up as a Sacrifice to the im-

And in Execution of that his Intention, during the placable Refentment of their enraged and power-

private, feparate, and pernicious Negotiation of fhl Enemy ; and the Honour of the Britijh Nation,

Peace, which was carry'd on between him and the always renown'd for the Love of Liberty, and for

Minifters of France, and before any Negotiation of giving Protection to the AfTerters of it, was moft

Peace was fet on Foot, in due Form of Law, be- bafely proftituted ; and a free and generous People,

tween the Crowns of Great Britain and Spain, did the faithful and ufeful Allies of this Kingdom, were

advife her Majefty to give Directions to the Lord betray'd, in the moft unparallel'd manner, into ir-

Lexington, her Ambaffador to the Court of Spain, to revocable Slavery : And, in Confequence of which

acknowledge the Duke of Anjou King of Spain, but ™ ft difhonourable and perfidious Councils, the

was greatly wanting in his Duty to her Majefty, in moft execrable Hoftilities, Burnings and Plunder-

not advifing her to give Inftruclions to her faid Mi- ings were committed upon them, throughout their

nifter, at the fame time peremptorily and abfolutely whole Province, without fparing the Effufion of in-

to infifton the fecuring the Catalans Liberties at the nocent Blood, and without the Diftinction of Age
Conclufion of the Peace. And altho' the private, or Sex ; and that unfortunate People were after-

feparate and treacherous Practices of him the faid wards forc'd to undergo the utmoft Miferies of a

Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, and o- Siege in their Capital City of Barcelona ; during

thers, in Combination with the Minifters of France, which great Multitudes ofthem perifhed by Famine
did afterwards, on or about the Fourteenth ofMarch and the Sword, many of them have fince been exe-

One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Thirteen, ne- cuted : And great Numbers of the Nobility of Ca-

ceffitate his prefent Imperial Majefty to conclude a talonia, who were for their Conftancy and Bravery,

Treaty for the evacuating Catalonia, (whereof her ln Defence of their Liberties, and for their Services

Majefty was Guarantee) without any exprefs and *n Conjunction with her Majefty and ' her Allies,

pofitive Stipulation for the Catalans liberties, (his na°!> in all Honour, Juftice and Confcience, the

Imperial Majefty relying, in that refpect, on her higheft Claim to her Majefty's Protection, are now
Majefty's Declaration, to interpofe for them in the diiperfed in Dungeons, throughout the Spanifh Do-
moft effectual manner, and on the Promifes of the minions ; and not only the Catalan Liberties extir-

French King to join his Endeavours for the fame pated, but by thofe wicked Counfels of him the

Purpofe.) And altho' her facred Majefty did, both ^ Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, Ca~

before and after, frequently declare by her Minifters talonia it felf is almoft become defolate.

in Spain, that fhe thought herfelf under the ftrongeft All which Crimes and Mifdemeanours were com-
Tyes of Honour and Confcience, not to abandon a tnitted and done by him the faid Earl againft

People whom the Neceffities of the War had o- our late Sovereign Lady the Queen, her Crown
bliged her to draw into her Intereft. And tho' the and Dignity, the Peace and Intereft of this King-

Frcnch King did not join his Endeavours for the dom, and in Breach of the feveral Trufts repofed

Purpofcs aforefaid ; he the faid Robert Earl of Ox- in him the faid Earl.

ford and Earl Mortimer, together with other falfe And he the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl

and wicked Counfellors, having from time to time Mortimer was either Commiffioner of the Treafu-

amufed and deceived the diftrefs'd Catalans, with ry> or Lord High Treafurer of Great Britain,

groundlefs Hopes ofher Majefty's effectual Interpo- and one of her Majefty's Privy Council, during

fitions in their Favour, thereby engaging them in a the time that all and every the Crimes before fet

more obftinate Defence of their Territories againft forth were done and committed,

the Duke of Anjou, was not only highly wanting in For which Matters and Things, the Knights,

his Duty to her Majefty, by not doing what in him Citizens and BurgefTes of the Houfe of Commons
in
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in Parliament affembled, do, in the Name of them- he prefumes, it was not condemned, becaufe Part of

felves and of all the Commons of Great Britain, the Dominions of the Crown of Spain were thereby

further impeach the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and allotted to the Houfe of Bourbon ; but becaufe fuch

Earl Mortimer of other High Crimes and Mifde- confiderable Parts of thofe Dominions, as the King-

meanours in the faid Articles contained. And the doms of Naples and Sicily, the Province of Guipuf-

faid Commons by Proteftation, faving to them- coa and other Territories were allotted to that

felves the Liberty of exhibiting at any time here- Branch of the Houfe of Bourbon, to whom the

after any other Accufations or Impeachments a- Crown of France was to defcend, which might have

gainft the faid Earl, and alfo of replying to the been a great and dangerous Addition to the then

Anfwers which the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and formidable Strength of that Crown ; and becaufe it

Earl Mortimer fhall make to the Premifes, or any was made againft the repeated Remonftrances of

of them, or to any Impeachment or Accufation Charles the Second, then King of Spain, who de-

that mail be by them exhibited, according to the clared by his AmbafTador, That fuch Partition-

Courfe and Proceedings of Parliament, do pray, Treaty could hafue no other Effetl, than to force Spain

that the faid Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mor- to throw itfelf into the Arms of France, to prevent

timer be put to anfwer all and every the Premifes

;

the difmembring of the Spanifh Monarchy. And*

and that fuch Proceedings, Examinations, Trials that it had this Confequence, appear'd upon the

and Judgments may be upon them, and every of Death of that Prince, who feems to have been in-

them had and ufed, as fhall be agreeable to Law duced by that Confideration to bequeath the entire

and Juftice. Monarch of Spain to the Duke of Anjou, a younger

L. H. Steward. Read the Anfwer to the Im- Branch of the Houfe of Bourbon; who accordingly,

peachment. upon the Demife of the faid King Charles the Se-

The Clerk reads the Anfwer. cond, took PofTeffion of the Monarchy of Spain.

. _ . _-
, //Af , , , „ ,

But this AccefTion of the Duke of Anjou to the
The Answer of Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Crown of &

,

in d[d nQt duC£ fhe A ]liance> in
Mortimer, to the Articles exhibited by the Knights,

the Ardc]e mentioned) between Leop^ then Em_

Citizens and Burgejfes in Parliament affembled, tn
peror of Germmy^ his ]ate Majefty, King William

the Name of Themfelves, and of all the Commons
the Third of ever.glorious Memory, and the States-

of Great-Britain, in Maintenance of their Im- ^^ as immediately neceffary at that jun6lure
.

peachment againflhm for High-Treafon, and other
For Ki mtli as wel] as the States-General,

High-Crimes and Mifdemeanours, fuppofed to have
acknowl?ged_the Duke f Anjou as King of Spain %

been by him committed.
thereby allowing> tha£ the Duke of Anjou

>
% Enjoy,

TH E faid Earl, faving to himfelf all Advan- ment of the Monarchy of Spain, while he was but

tages of Exception to the faid Articles, and a younger Branch of the Houfe of Bourbon, was not

of not being prejudiced by any Words, or want of deftructive of the Liberties of Europe, or the Prefer-

Form in this his Anfwer ; and alfo faving to him- vation of a due Ballance of Power. And after-

felf all Rights and Privileges belonging to him as wards, when the French King had feiz'd the Spanifh

one of the Peers of this Realm, for Anfwer to the Netherlands, King William, by Advice of Parlia-

faid Articles faith : He admits many folemn Trea- ment, came into the Affiftance of the States, as an

ties and Alliances have been formerly entered into, be- Auxiliary only, by fending, upon their Requeft,

tween the Crown of England, and other Princes and Ten Thoufand Men, which England was obliged

Potentates of Europe, for their mutual Security, and by Treaties to furnifh, in Cafe the States were at-

to prevent the immoderate Growth of the Power of tacked ; after which, many Conferences paffed at

France, which might prove dangerous to the neigh- the Hague betwixt the Mi nifters of England and the

bouring Princes and States ; and that therefore it was States, and thofe of France, in order to find out

laid down as a fundamental Principle and Maxim fome Expedient, by which, upon a reafonable Di-

of Union amongft the Allies, 'That France and vifion of the Dominions of Spain, a new War
Spain fjould never come and be united under the fame might be prevented ; and the States, in the Courfe

Government, and that one and the fame Perfonjhould of thofe Conferences, often afTerted, That, though

not be King of both thofe Kingdoms ; and he appre- they had acknowleged Philip King of Spain, yet fuch

hends, that the principal View and Aim of the Al- an Acknowlegement was not contrary to the Demand of
lies was to fettle and maintain an equal Ballance of a reafonable Satisfaction to be given to the Emperor
Power in Europe; and, fince the Conjunction of for his Pretenfions to the Spanifh Succeffion; which
Spain to the Dominions of France might poffibly was, in Effect, to declare, that the Satisfaction de-

enfue from the Duke of Anjou's being poffeffed of manded for the Emperor was fuch, as would leave

that Crown, the difpofiefiing him was defir'd, as King Philip in Pojfeffwn of Spain. But thofe Con-
the moft likely Means to prevent that Conjunction; ferences broke off, about Augujl, One Thoufand
and for the fame Reafon the Union of Spain with Seven Hundred and One, without Effect ; and in

the Empire muft have been equally fatal, and the September following, King William entered into the

Prevention of it equally the Defign of the Alii- Grand Alliance with the Emperor, and the States-

ance ; nor could the Continuance of Spain in the General ; whereby it was agreed, That, in the firft

Houfe of Bourbon be in any Refpect prejudicial to Place, Endeavours fhould be ufed by amicable Means
the Allies, if the Union of that Crown with France to obtain the Satisfatlion defired for the Emperor,

could be prevented. As new Dangers of fuch Uni- who probably, at that Time, would have accepted

on have been apprehended, new Treaties and Sti- a very eafy Compofition for his Pretenfions : But
pulations have been entered into among the Allies, when the French King acknowleged the Pretender

to obviate fuch Dangers, and particularly the Trea- as King of England (which not long after happen-
ty for an intended Partition feems to have been ed) his Majefty King William, and the Parliament
concluded upon that View ; and though he acknow- of England, juftly provoked by this Affront, re-

leges the Wifdom of Parliament in condemning folv'd to enter into the War which had been begun
that Treaty, as prejudicial and fatal in its Confe- by the Emperor alone, in Italy, the Year before ;

quences to England, and the Peace of Europe, yet, and the late Queen mentions this Indignity, as the

R 2 chief
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chief Motive of her engaging in it, as appears by

her Declaration of War againft France and Spain in

May, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Two.
The faid Earl admits the feveral Treaties fet forth

in the Preamble to the faid Articles, and that fuch

Advice was given by Parliament, and fuch Spee-

ches were made from the Throne, as in the faid

Preamble are mentioned ; but,
;

for more Certainty,

begs leave to refer himfelf to the very Treaties,

Addreffes of Parliament, and Speeches, when they

fhall be produced : And he humbly hopes, your

Lordfhips will allow him to obferve, that thofe

Treaties manifeftly mew, that the Defign of the

Allies, in endeavouring the Recovery of Spain from

the Houfe of Bourbon, was to prevent the Union of

thofe two Potent Kingdoms in one and the fame

Perfon. In the Grand Alliance in One Thoufand

Seven Hundred and One, the avow'd Ends are,

the procuring an equitable and reafonable Satisfa-

ction to his Imperial Majefty for his Pretenfions to

the Spanijh Succeffion, the Security of the Domini-

ons of the King of Great Britain, and States-Ge-

neral,, with the Navigation and Commerce of their

Subjects, and the preventing the Union ofFrance and

Spain under the fame Government. .And the Terri-

tories and Provinces, pointed out in the Fifth Ar-

ticle, were the fartheft Views of that Alliance-,

whereby it was thought, his Imperial Majefty

would receive the utmoft Satisfaction, which he

could reafonably demand, for his Pretenfion to the

Spanijh Succeffion. No mention is made of the

Recovery of the whole Monarchy of Spain to the

Houfe of Auftria, either in the Grand Alliance, or

in the Defenfive one made the fame Year between

his Majefty King William and the States-General :

And when, in the Treaty between the Emperor,

the Queen of Great Britain, and the States-Gene-

ral, on the one Part, and the King of Portugal on

the other, about May, One Thoufand Seven Hun-
dred and Three, it was concerted to place Arch-
duke Charles the prefent Emperor, upon the

Throne of Spain, he was then but a younger Branch

of the Houfe of Auftria ; and there is great Reafon

to believe that the Queen, as well as other Princes

of Europe, and, in particular, the King of Portu-

gal, did not think a Treaty to procure the Crown
of Spain for the Arch-duke, when a younger Branch

of the Houfe of Auftria, did lay an Obligation of

procuring that Monarchy for him, when he be-

came firlt of that Houfe, and was elected Empe-
ror; fince the Imperial and Hereditary Dominions,

join'd to the whole Spanijh Monarchy, would have

given fuch an Excefs of Power to one Prince, as

would have been formidable to Europe, and a

Means to deftroy that Ballance of Power which her

Majefty in all her Treaties, had conftantly labour'd

to preferve : And it is a known and an allow'd

Rule by the Law of Nations, in Reference to

Leagues between Princes, that if there happens a

material Change in what was the principal Ground
and Caufe of the Treaty, the Obligation thereof

ceafes. If therefore, in the Preliminary Articles

in One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Nine, and

afterwards in the Conferences at Gertruydenberg, a

Ceffion of the Spanijh Monarchy to King Charles

the Third, who was then younger Brother to the

Emperor, was thought reafonable to be infilled on

;

yet the faid Earl humbly fubmits to your Lord-

fhips great Judgment, whether there was equal

Reafon for infifting on fuch Ceffion, when King
Charles the Third was become Head of that

Houfe, and had Pofleflion of the Empire and all

the hereditary Countries of Auftria, as a Condition,

without which no Peace fhould be made. The
States-General were fo far from admitting, cr yield-

ing that the Monarchy of Spain fhould in all Events
be given to the Houfe of Auftria, that he, the faid

Earl, hath heard, they refus'd to admit it to be
inferted as a Condition of their Barrier-Treaty,

when propofed by her Majefty's Ambaffador at the

Hague, and chofe rather to put a Stop to the Pro-
ceedings of that Treaty, and hazard the Advanta-
ges they thereby expected, than comply with that

Propofaf The Advice of Parliament is of great

Weight, to which her late Majefty always gave,

and he the faid Earl always paid, a juft Regard

;

and he doubts not but the Houfe of Peers had pro-

per Inducements when they gave their Advice to

the Throne, That no Peace could be Jaje, honourable,

or lofting, Jo long as the Kingdom of Spain and the

Weft-Indies continued in the PoJJeJJion of any Branch
oj the Houje oj Bourbon. But, if he may be per-

mitted to offer his humble Conjecture concerning

the Motives of that Advice, he conceiveth it might
proceed from an Apprehenfion of a future Union of

thofe two Crowns as likely to enfue, in Cafe Spain

fhould continue in the Poffeffion of any who might
become Heir to the Crown of France, and that even

the Conjunction of the Empire and Spain would be
lefs dangerous than fuch a Union. But when her

Majefty communicated to her Parliament, the Sixth

of June One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Twelve,
the Terms upon which a Peace might be made, and
thereby inform'd them, That France had been

brought to offer, that the Duke oj Anjou jhould, jor

himfelf and his Defendants, renounce for ever all

Claim to the Crown of France •, and at the fame time

the Succeffion of the Crown of France was to be decla~

red, after the Death of the then Dauphin and his Sons,

to be in the Duke of Berry and his Sons, in the Duke

of Orleans and his Sons, and fo on to the reft oj the

Houje oj Bourbon ; and that the Succeffion to Spain

and the Weft-Indies, after the Duke of Anjou and
his Children, was to defend to fuch a Prince as fhould

be agreed upon at a Treaty of Peace, for ever excluding

the reft of the Houfe of Bourbon ; both Houfes of

Parliament, by their refpective Addreffes to her

Majefty, in the fame Month, expreffed their en-

tire Satisfaction : And as the Houfe of Commons
defired her Majefty to proceed in the Negotiations

then depending for obtaining a fpeedy Peace ; fo that

the Houfe of Lords affured her Majefty, That they

entirely relied on her Majefty's Wifdom to finifh that-

great and good Work. And after her Majefty had
concluded a Peace on thofe Terms, both Houfes of

Parliament feverally congratulated her Majefty on
the Conclufion of the Peace; and alfo join'd in an

Addrefs of the Twenty-fecond of April, One Thou-
fand Seven Hundred and Fourteen, exprefTing their

juft Senfe of her Majefty's Goodncfs to her People in

delivering them by a fafe, honourable, and advantage-

ous Peace with France and Spain, from the heavy

Burthen of a confuming hand-War, unequally carried

on, and become at laft imprallicable. He the faid

Earl acknowleges, that her Majefty was pleafed a-

bout Auguft, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and
Ten, to re-admit him, among others, to a Place

in her Council, and to require his Service in Of-
fices of Truft ; to which he fubmitted purely in

Obedience to her Majefty's Commands, with great

Reluctance from the Profpect of the Difficulties

with which he was likely to ftruggle. But as he

never afk'd any Employment, nor us'd any wicked

Arts, or bafe Infinuations, to obtain the lame from

her
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her Majefty ; fo in all Employments, with which within the Compafe of it, and by that means avoid*

her Majefty was pleafed to honour him, he fincerely ed the fupplying any Quota, or Proportion, which

endeavoured to difcharge his Duty with the utmoft they thought improper tor them to furnifh.
;
In the

Integrity, having always, with the trueft Zeal, de- mean time the Charge of the War was greatly in-

fired° and endeavoured, as far as he could, to pro- creafed upon the Subjects of Great Britain : In the

mote the Honour and Service of her Majefty, whole Year One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Two, it

Aim he knew to be the Welfare of her Kingdoms, was under Four Millions •, from thence it gradually

in the firft Place, and as far as fhe judg'd it con- increafed till the Year One Thoufand Seven Hun-

fiftent with that, the common Good of her Allies, dred and Six, the Charge of which Year amounted

In or about the Month of September, One Thoufand to above Five Millions and an Half ; and ftill ad-

Scven Hundred and Ten, her Majefty (whofe un- vancing, till the Year One Thoufand Seven Hun-

doubted Prerogative it was) thought fit to diffolve dred and Eleven, it was then grown to near Seven

the Parliament then in being, and tocallanew One. Millions ; and, at the fame time, there was a Debt

In the Year One Thoufand Seven Hundred and E- contracted, not provided for by Parliament, amount-

leven, Propofitions were made by France to her Ma- ing to Seven or EightMillipns ; the very Intereft of

jefty for a Peace, without the Contrivance or previ- which, and other Debts, wherein the Nation was

ousKnowledge of the faid Earl : Her Majefty, out involved, amounted to Three Millions^ Annum \

of her Affection for her People, having it much at and the Revenues of Great Britain were under fuch

her Heart to eftablifh Peace in her own Days, ex- Anticipations, that it was found difficult to raife a-

preficd her Concern for the Difappointment of for- bove Two Millions and an Half for the growing

mer Negotiations, and her earneft Defire to put a Service, to be paid within the Compafs of the Year.

fpeedyEndto theWar, andtothe Effufion of'Chri- So that, when the Duties and Difficulties upon

itian Blood, and to eafe her Subjects from the heavy Trade, and the Continuance of the Taxes upon

Burthen of their Taxes. The laid Earl doth acknow- Land,which had lain fo heavy above Twenty Years,

kdo-e, that he thought a Peace was very much for are confider'd, the faid Earl believes it could not be

the Intereft and Advantage of Great Britain : And, thought for the public Intereft to prolong the War,

in his humble Opinion, the molt favourable June- without an abfolute Neceffity. During this Time

ture for obtaining advantageous Terms of Peace, the States had managed with fo good Oeconomy,

was immediately after the lignal Victories gained that the faid Earl hath not heard of any additional

by her Majefty's Arms, in the Year One Thoufand Duty laid by them upon Trade, from the Year One
Seven Hundred and Six. For, after the Reduc- Thoufand Seven Hundred and Two, to the Year

tion of the Dominions of the Electors of Bavaria One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven. And
and Cologne, with other important Conquefts in what Acquifitions were made upon the Continent,

Germany ; after the entire Definition of Three during the Continuance of the War ; tho' at the

oreat Armies of France, in Flanders, Spain, and Expence of Britijh Blood and Treafure, accrued to

Piedmont ; after the Allies had recovered the Spa- the Share of the Allies ; and the Dutch, being under

riijh Netherlands, Milan, and other Territories in no Prohibition of Commerce with France, had a

Italy ; it might have been hoped, from the great further Advantage of the Britijh Merchants, in re-

Diftrefs in which the Enemy then was, a juft and fpect to a free Trade. Altho' the Princes of the

reafonable Peace would have been obtained ; fince fo Empire were engag'd by previous Treaties to furnifh

much was at that Time gained from the Enemy, and their Quota's to the common Caufe, yet when they

fo much more in all Probability would have been were often preffed to do it, they alledg'd in Excufe4

yielded by them, as would have fully anfwered the That thofe Troops which they were obliged tofurnifh at

Ends of the Grand Alliance. Peace was at that time their own Expence, were in the Fay of the Crown of

fought by the Enemy ; and the faid Earl, who had Great Britain. The Emperor left it to her Majefty

the Honour to be one of the Principal Secretaries to provide for thofe Troops, which by the Portugal

of State, owns he then adviled the accepting of it. Treaty, in the Year One Thoufand Seven Hundred
And he humbly begs leave to obferve, that the War and Three, he was to furnifh. The King ofPortugal

had been continued upon fo unequal a Foot, that not only neglected the Proportion ofTwelve Thou-
the Burthen of it annually encreafed, and, at the fand Foot and Three Thoufand Horfe, which by the

Time when thefe Propofals were made by France, faid Treaty he was to provide at his own Expence,
was become almoft infupportable. It had indeed but even refufed to permit the Eleven Thoufand
been Populated by the Grand Alliance, that the Al- Foot and Two Thoufand Horfe, for which he
lies fhould infill one another with all their Forces, had a Subfidy from her Majefty, to be paid by
according to a Specification to be agreed on in a Mufters, according to an Article of that Treaty ;

particular Convention for that Purpofe: But it and, when preffed to furnifh his full Number of
doth not appear any fuch Convention was made, o- Troops, alledged his Inability, for want of that

therwife then as the Houfe of Commons were in- Part of the Subfidies which the States ought to

form'd by one of the Principal Secretaries of State have paid him : So that almoft the whole Charge
to his late Majefty KlngPFilliam, that by the Pro- of the War in Spain was left upon her Majefty ;

portions adjuftcd with the States, England was to the States having lent few or no Troops thither,

rurnifh two Parts of five by Land, and the States after the Battle of Almanza ; and all the other

the other three; and England was to furnifh five Allies being likewife defective in their Propor-

Parts or Eight by Sea, and the States the other tions. This was the Condition of Affairs, with

three : But the States not always allowing them- refpect to the Charge of the War; nor did there

lclv..:s to be under an Obligation to furnifh fuch appear, from the then Situation of Affairs, any
Proportions, gave Occafion to England's bearing an more promifing Profpect, with regard to the

unequal Part in the War, with reipect to the Allies. Event : For, although it had pleafed God to blefs

I lie States had that prudent Regard to the frugal her Majefty's Arms with wonderful Succefs, at

«rdi. ring of their Affairs, that th.y frequently infilled which the faid Earl, mofl finccTely rejoie'd, yet

thty ought not to be preffed b.yond their Ability, it did not appear, that after the Year One Thou-
ar.d made themfdves the fole Judges of what came land Seven Hundred and Six, our Succeffcs in

other



to.6 1 88. The Trial ofRobert Earl of Oxford 3 G.L
other Parts had countervailed our Loffes in Spain ; to acknowledge fome Facts alledged, without ac-

for after two great Battles, wherein we had been knowledging, or feeming at lead to acknowledge

there defeated, after our Forces had been twice thofe Circumftances or Inferences. And, as he is

obliged to retire from Madrid, and after the taking not confcious to himfelf of being guilty of any

the Britijh Troops at Brihuega, the Recovery of Crime he flands charged with, fo he takes it to be

Spain, (which was the main Article that retarded agreeable to the common Courfe of Proceedings

the Conclufion of the Peace at Gertruydenberg) of this Nature, and to your Lordfhips Juftice,

feemed almoft defperate, efpecially fince the French that he fhould not admit any Circumftances which

in the Year 1 7 1 1, by their plentiful Vintages and may tend to the Accufation of himfelf. He there-

Harveftsj had well nigh recovered the Effects of fore begs leave that he may be allowed to diftin-

the Famine -, and fince fome of the Allies at the guifh between the Acts themfelves, and the Infe-

fame time made prefiing Inftances for recalling rences drawn from them ; and that wherever he

part of their Troops, as they had done frequently acknowledges any Fact, he may not be under-

during the courfe of the War ; from whence it flood to acknowledge thofe Confequences which

appears how juft the Grounds were, upon which are in the Articles deduced from it, unlefs itihall

both Houfes of Parliament reprefented to her appear that that Confequence was the Aim and

Majefty, That the War had been unequally carried Defign of the faid Earl, or is the neceffary Refult

en, and was at lajl become impracticable. And the of any Act he hath done,

faid Earl humbly hopes, he /hall not be thought

to have defigned any Differvice to his Country, if, In anfwer to the Firft Article, the faid Earl

in fuch a Condition of Affairs, he did not diffuade faith, that he always had the greateft Regard to

her Majefty from hearkening to the Overtures of the Honour and Safety of her late Majefty and her

Peace made to her from France ; or if, during Kingdoms, to all the Engagements fhe was under

the Negotiations, he endeavoured, by Correfpond- to the Allies of this Nation, and to the common
ing, with her Majefty 's Knowledge and Appro- Liberties of Europe, that he never was devoted to

bation, in any Courts concern'd therein, to rectify the Intereft or Service of the French King ; that he

any Miftakes, or contribute in any Meafure to- is not confcious to himfelf of having acted, whilft

Wards the Conclufion of a general Peace. But the he had the Honour to be her late Majefty's High

faid Earl believes, that, in all the Negotiations Treafurer, or one of her moft Honourable Privy

towards fuch Peace, the Allies had fuch Know- Council, contrary to his Oath, or in Violation of

ledge and Communication of all Meafures therein his Duty, and Truft, or with Difregard to, much
taken by her Majefty, as the Treaties her Majefty lefs Defiance of any Treaties in the faid Article

was engaged in required : That the Propofitions mentioned, the Advices of Parliament, her Ma-
tranfmitted from France about April 171 1, were jefty's Declarations from the Throne, or any mu-
immediately communicated to the Penfionary and tual Aflurances which had been made or renewed

Minifters of Holland: That her Majefty did at the between her Majefty and the States to act in per-

fame time, afTure them of her Refolution to act in feet Concert with each other in making Peace as

Concert with them, in making Peace as in making in making War : And he utterly denies, that in

War. That when the States had expreffed their or about the Months of July or Auguft One Thou-
Defires to be equal with thofe of Great Britain for fand Seven Hundred and Eleven, or at any other

a general and lading Peace, and had declared, that Time, he did form any Contrivance or Confede-

they were ready to join in proper Meafures to pro- racy to fet on Foot a private, feparate, difhonour-

cure it, and defired France might explain itfelf more able or deftructive Negotiation of Peace between

particularly upon the Points contain'd in thofe Pro- Great Britain and France ; nor doth he know of

pofitions ; her Majefty endeavour'd to obtain fuch any fuch Contrivance or Confederacy formed by
Explanations, and afterwards communicated them any of her Majefty's Privy Council, or that fuch

to the States: And if her Majefty thought it not ex- Negotiation was at any time fet on Foot. But

pedient to proceed in the Method of a Preliminary the faid Earl faith, he doth believe, that about the

Treaty, which had prov'd fo ineffectual in the Year Month of April One Thoufand Seven Hundred

1709 and 1 7 10, but thought it might be fufEcient, and Eleven, her late Majefty did receive from

upon Articles fign'd by a Minifter of France, by his France fome Propofals, in order to fet on Foot a

Sovereign's Command, to open Conferences for a Treaty for a general Peace, figned by Monfieur

Peace •, the faid Earl humbly hopes, that this Pro- de Torcy, Secretary of State to the moft Chriftian

ceeding will appear to be fo far from being an King, which, as he believes, were immediately

unreafonable Deviation from the Methods offormer communicated by her Ambaffador in Holland to

Tranfactions in that kind, that it will be juftified the States-General : Whereupon, as he has been

by many Precedents of fuch Treaties. The faid Earl informed, they thanked her Majefty for her Con-

can affirm, that, during the whole Negotiation, fidence in them, declared themfelves to be weary

fo far as he was concerned, he acted with a fincere of the War, and ready to join in any Meafures

Intention to obtain a general Peace for the Wei- her Majefty fhould think proper for obtaining a

fare and Honour of her Majefty and her King- good Peace, and that they hoped her Majefty

doms, and fuch as might give reafonable Satif- would bring the French to explain more particu-

faction to her Allies, and anfwer all the Obliga- larly the feveral Points contained in the above-

tions her Majefty was under, by any Treaties with mentioned Propofals, or to that Effect ; and that

any of the Confederates •, and is not confcious to after fuch Requeft her Majefty fent Matthew Prior,

himfelf that he hath, in any refpect, tranfgreffed Efq; to the Court of France, in order to obtain

that Duty, which, as a Privy Counfellor, or Of- as full and ample an Explanation as he could of

ficer of State, he did owe to her Majefty, or to the firft general Offers : But the faid Earl denies

the Public. He is not infenfible that many of that he did advife her Majefty to fend the faid.

the Articles, wherewith he flands charged, are Mr. Prior to the Court of France, to make Pro-

complicated with fuch Circumftances, Aggravati- pofitions of Peace, without communicating the

tions and Inferences, as may render it difficult for him fame to her Allies ;, or that the faid Mr. Prior did,

by
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by his Advice or Privity, communicate any Pro-

pofitions to the Minifters of France, wherein the

Interefts of Great Britain, or the common Intereft

of Europe were betray'd •, nor doth the faid Earl

know, that the faid Mr. Prior had any Power to

communicate Propofitions to the Minifters of

France, which betray'd either the Interefts of Great

Britain, or the common Intereft of Europe. There-

fore the faid Earl infifts, that there is no Ground to

charge him with the treacherous or pernicious

Contrivances in this Article mentioned. And if

any Article was inferted in any Propofitions to be

communicated by the faid Mr. Prior, that the Se-

cret mould be inviolably kept till allowed to be

divulged by the mutual Confent of both Parties ;

yet the faid Earl denies that fuch Article was in-

serted by his Advice ; and if any fuch there was,

he cannot however believe it was defigned to ex-

clude her Majefty's Allies from their juft Share in

the faid Negotiations, and hopes he may be al-

lowed to obierve, that in cafe any Inftructions were

given for not divulging Propofitions which con-

cerned Great Britain in particular, the fame were

far from manifefting fuch Defign as is before-

mentioned, fince it is well known to be the un-

doubted Right of every Member of a Confederacy

to demand particular Advantages for themfelves,

not inconliftent with their Alliances, and which

are not to take place but on the Conclufion of a

General Peace : And it has been ufual for thofe

to whom the firft Overtures of Peace are made,

to make Demands for themfelves in the firft place

;

as the States particularly did in the Negotiations

at the Hague in the Year One Thoufand Seven

Hundred and Nine, and at Gertruydenberg in the

Year One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Ten.

And though he apprehends that an Agreement not

to divulge the Propofitions without the mutual

Confent of both Parties, could not be to the Pre-

judice of the Allies ; yet he believes, that in order

to prevent any unreafonable Jealoufies among
them, even thofe Propofitions which related to

Great Britain in particular, were communicated

to them ; and that it will likewife appear, that

the Propofitions figned by Monfieur de Torcy, and

tranfmitted in the Month of April One Thoufand
Seven Hundred and Eleven, in the faid Articles

mentioned, whereby it is faid, the French King
offered to treat with the Plenipotentiaries of Eng-

land or Holland alone, or jointly with thofe of the

Allies, at the Choice of England, were Propofals

relating only to the manner of Treating, when
the Conferences fhould be opened ; and that her

Majefty was fo far from taking upon her to treat

fingly for the Allies, that fhe chofe to have all the

Parties admitted to the Congrefs, where they might
have an Opportunity of treating and adjufting

their refpeclive Interefts ; that being, in her Opi-
nion, the faireft Method of proceeding, moft ad-

vantageous to the Confederates, and moft likely

to prevent Jealoufies and Difcords among them.
And the faid Earl faith, that he doth not know
that any Negotiation of Peace was contriv'd or fet

on Foot by any Perfons employ'd in her Majefty's

Service, which was in any refpect more advan-
tageous to France than France had afked, or which
had a Tendency to give the Enemy a Power to

create Mifunderftandings between her Majefty and
her Allies, or to deftroy the Confidence between
them.

In anfwer to the Second Article, the faid Earl

faith, that he believes Monfieur Mefnager, a Sub-

ject of the French King, did fome time in the Year
One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven,with her

Majefty's leave, come into the Kingdom of Great

Britain, and bring with him a Letter from the

faid French King to her late Majefty, acknowledg-

ing her Majefty Queen of Great Britain, and like-

wife expreffing a Defire to re-eftablifh Peace with

her, and that he was furnifhed with full Powers

from the faid French King for that Purpofe. The
faid Earl further laith^ that it hath been the ufual

and allowed Practice in moft Nations, efpeciaily

in England, for Privy Counfellors by verbal Or-

ders from the Sovereign to confer within the Realm
with Minifters of foreign Princes, and he conceives

fuch Practice to be agreeable to the Laws of this

Realm : And that full Powers are ufually granted

to Minifters who are fent abroad for the Jollifica-

tion of Perfons with whom they fhall treat, rather

than to juftify fuch Minifters themfelves. And
the faid Earl denies, that he did in the Month of

September One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Ele-

ven, or at any other time, fecretly and unlawful-

ly, or without Authority, confer or treat with

the faid Sieur Mefnager on the Negotiations of

Peace between Great Britain and France, or that

he did advife or promote the making a private

and feparate Treaty or Agreement between the

faid Crowns : But he hath been informed, and

doth believe, that there was a Paper ftiled, The

Anfwer of France to the Preliminary Demands of
Great Britain more particularly, figned by Mon-
fieur Mefnager only, to which was fubjoined a

Declaration of the Queen's Acceptance of thofe

Preliminary Articles, as Conditions his moft Chri-

ftian Majefty confented to grant, which were to

be reduced into the ufual Form of Treaties, and

explained after the moft clear and moft intelligi-

ble manner, to the common Satisfaction of Great

Britain and France, and this only in cafe of a ge-

neral Peace : And this Declaration, or fome other

Declaration to the like Effect, he believes might

be figned by the Lord Dartmouth and Mr. Secre-

tary St. John, as in the faid Article is fet forth.

But the faid Earl muft crave leave to fubmit it to

the Judgment of your Lordfhips, whether a Paper

of that fort (if any fuch there was) containing

Offers from Prance, which were not to take effect

but in cafe of a general Peace, can be called a fe-

parate Treaty. He believes the Allies had early

Knowledge and Participation of the faid Propo-

fals from the Minifters of Great Britain; but de-

nies that the Interefts of Great Britain were there-

by given up to France, or the Duke of Anjou ad-

mitted to be King of Spain ; fince in the Declara-

tion annexed to the faid Propofals he believes it is

expreffed, • that her Majefty might in Juftice ex-

pect the Securities and Advantages mentioned in

thofe Propofals, what Prince foever he fhould be

to whom the Monarchy of Spain fhould be allot-

ted ; and the faid Earl, recollecting as well as he

can what were her Majefty's Views at that time,

is perfuaded that her Majefty had then a Profpect,

that the Monarchy of Spain would fall to the

Share of another Prince. The faid Earl denies,

that by his Privity, Confent, or Advice, any pri-

vate or feparate Treaty or Agreement, whereby

the Interefts of Great Britain were given up to

France, or the Duke of Anjou was admitted to be

King of Spain, was agreed, concluded, and figned

by the Sieur Mefnager on the part of France, and

by the Lord Dartmouth and Henry St. John, or

either
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either of them, in Behalf of her late Majefty ;

much lefs did the faid Earl, at any Time, affume

to himfelf Regal Power, or take upon him to

meet and treat with the Enemy without Authority

from her Majefty, or do any thing to fubvert the

ancient and eftablifhed Conftitution of the Go-

vernment of thefe Kingdoms, or introduce any

illegal or dangerous Methods of traniacling the

Affairs of State. And the faid Earl further faith,

that he did never aim at, or endeavour by any

Separate Treaty to diffolve or cancel any of thofe

folemn Treaties, in which her Majefty flood en-

gaged to her Allies, nor was he privy to any

Treaty, whereby the Queen was brought under a

Dilemma, either to fubmit to the Dictates of

France in the Progrefs of this Negotiation, or to

lofe the Confidence of her Allies.

In anfwer to the Third Article, the faid Earl

denies, that to difguife, or carry an any private,

feparate, or dangerous Negotiations, he did con-

trive or advife the preparing and forming the Set

of General Preliminaries in the Article mentioned,

intitled, Preliminary Articles on the Part of

France^ to come to a general Peace ; or any other

Set of general Preliminaries of like Nature ; or

that the fame fhould be figned by the Sieur Mef-

nager ; or that he did advife her facred Majefty,

that the fame mould be received by her Majefty :

But the faid Earl hath been informed, that cer-

tain Articles, called Preliminary Articles on the

Part of France, to come to a general Peace,

figned by the Sieur Mefnager only, were received

by her Majefty, and believes the fame might be

communicated to the Minifters of the Allies then

refiding in England,' as a Ground whereon the

Confederates might treat or negotiate concerning

a general Peace ; but whether the fame were

communicated as the only Tranfactions that had

been on that Subject, between Great Britain and

France, the faid Earl knows not : But fince it is

termed impious Advice, and contrary to the

Duty and Truft of a Minifter of State of Great

Britain, to advife the receiving fuch Articles ;

the faid Earl, from his Concern for the Honour

of her late Majefty's Adminiftration, and the fu-

ture Welfare of thefe Kingdoms, doth fubmit,

Whether it is criminal for fuch Minifter to advife

the receiving Articles from a Minifter of a Prince

in War, containing Propofals for giving reafon-

able Satisfaction to Great Britain and all her

Allies, and which being figned by the Minifter

of that Prince only, were not intended to bind

any other. And fince Preliminary Articles are

no efTential Step towards a general Negotiation,

(there being, as he believes, but few Inftances

where any Matters of Importance have been fettled

before the opening of general Conferences) the

faid Earl doth not conceive, That if any Mi-
nifter of State had advifed her Majefty to accept

the Preliminaries or Offers from France, faid to

be figned by Monfieur Mefnager the Twenty Se-

venth Day of September, One Thoufand Seven

Hundred and Eleven, as the Foundation of a

Treaty, he had thereby offended againft any

known Law, fince the Proceedings upon fuch

Preliminaries could not be more uniafe than pro-

ceeding without any at all. The faid Earl de-

nies, that any Treaty, figned by the Earl of

Dartmouth or Mr. St. John, or either of them, on

the Part of England, and the Sieur Mefnager on

the Part of France (if any fuch there be) was in-

duftrioufly concealed from the Allies, her Ma*
jefty's Council, or Parliament, by his Advice or

Contrivance ; or that he difluaded her Majefty

from laying any fuch Treaty before her Allies,

her Council or Parliament ; or that he advifed

her Majefty to receive the faid general Prelimi-

naries, or to communicate the fame in her Name,
or by her Authority, to the States-General, as a

fufficient Foundation whereon to open the Con-
ferences of Peace with France. The faid Earl

hath been informed, and doth believe, that there

were certain Inftructions prepared and figned by

her Majefty, and delivered to the Earl of Strafford,

her Majefty's Ambaffador to the States-General,

wherein the faid Ambaffador might be directed

to reprefent to the Penfionary of Holland, and

fuch others as fhould be appointed to confer with

him, in fuch manner as is fet forth in this Article,

or to the like Effect ; but he denies, that the faid

Inftructions were prepared, figned, or delivered

by his Advice : Neverthelefs the faid Earl be-

lieves, the faid Inftructions were well warranted

by the Truth of fuch Facts, as in the faid Article

are fet forth to be contained in thofe Inftructions,

fince the faid Earl hath had credible Information,

that after her Majefty had received an Account of

the Senfe of fome Perfons in Holland, concerning

the Overtures made by France, for the fetting a

general Negotiation of Peace on foot, very pref-

fing Inftances were made on her Majefty's Behalf,

with the Enemy, to explain the firft Offers made
by Monfieur de Torcy more particularly, and to

form a diftinct Project of fuch a Peace as they

were willing to conclude ; and that fuch Inftances

had Effect, will appear from the Preliminaries

faid to be figned by Monfieur Mefnager, September

the Twenty-feventh One Thoufand Seven Hun-
dred and Eleven, wherein feveral Explications

are made, and many Particulars of Moment are

contained, which were not in the Propofitions of

Monfieur de Torcy : Wherefore the faid Earl ap-

prehends, that the Propofitions faid in this Ar-
ticle to be fent over to France, (if any fuch were
fent) were not fo general as the Propofitions of

Monfieur de Torcy, nor in any refpect enfnaring,

or deftructive to the Interefts of Great Britain or

the Allies : But yet the faid Earl believes that her

Majefty, at the fame Time fhe did communicate

the faid Preliminaries to the States-General, did

likewife order her Ambaffador to acquaint them,

that fhe judged thofe Articles did not contain

fuch particular Conceffions as France would pro-

bably be obliged to make in the Courfe of the

Negotiations, or to that Effect. If therefore her

Majefty did, for the Good and Eafe of her People,

endeavour to prevail with her Allies to enter into

a Negotiation of Peace, and did communicate the

faid Preliminaries to them, with that View, the

faid Earl cannot be induced to believe, that the faid

general Preliminaries, communicated to the States

by her Majefty in manner aforefaid, were calculated

to amufe and deceive them ; nor doth the faid Earl

know or believe, that her Majefty's Inftructions to

her faid Ambaffador, either in the Particulars a-

bovefaid, or in any other, contained Matters falfe,

prevaricating, or evafive. *

And the faid Earl muft take the Liberty to

affirm, that in the late Negotiations of Peace, as.

well as in all other public Tranfactions of State,

as far as he was concerned, he acted with the

higheft Regard to the Honour of her Majefty,

and with the utmoft Zeal for the Welfare both

of
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of her and her People, and is not confcious to

himfelf that he ever gave any Counfels, whereby

the Truth and Sacrednefs which ought to confti-

tute and accompany the Inftrucfions of public

Ambaffadors to Princes in Friendfhip and Confe-

deracy, againft the common Enemy, were in any

wife proftituted, or the Honour of her Majefty

and of the Imperial Crown of thefe Realms in

any fort debafed or betrayed : And he humbly

hopes no Inftance can be given, wherein the Royal

Hand of her late Majefty was made the Inftru-

ment to advance the Intereft of the common
Enemy.

In anfwer to the Fourth Article, the faid Earl

doth not remember what Reprefentations were

made by Monfieur Bays to her Majefty in rela-

tion to the Propolitions in the faid Article men-

tioned, but faith, that if any Reprefentations were

made, the fame were not rendered ineffectual by

any Influence of the faid Earl : And the faid Earl

doth admit, that at a Committee of Council there

might be made fome Declaration in her Majefty's

Name to Monfieur Buys to the Effect in the faid

Article mentioned ; but doth not, admit that any

fuch Declaration was made by him the faid Earl,

or by his Management or Contrivance. And the

faid Earl believes, that what was fo declared to

the faid Monfieur Buys, was agreeable to Truth,

and to the real Sentiments and Intentions of her

Majefty ; nor doth he know wherein the faid Ar-

ticles, figned by Monfieur Mefnager, and accepted

by the Lord Dartmouth and Mr. St. John, if any

fuch were then figned, were inconfiftent with

fuch Declaration, or how her Majefty was there-

by difhonoured, or her Allies abufed, or that

any Negotiation entered into with France was

either dangerous in itfelf, or fatal in its Confe-

quences.

In anfwer to the Fifth Article, the faid Earl

admits, that her facred Majefty Queen Anne did

in due Form of Law, and under her Great Seal,

conftitute the Right Reverend John Lord Biihop

of Briftol, and the Earl of Strafford her Plenipo-

tentiaries, with full Powers to meet, treat and
conclude with the Plenipotentiaries of the Confe-

derates, and thofe whom the French King fhould

on his part depute for that Purpofe, the Condi-

tions of a good and general Peace, that fhould

be fafe, honourable, and as far as was poffible,

agreeable to the reafonable Demands of all Par-

ties, and believes Inftructions were prepared and
delivered to them, wherein they were inftructed,

among other Things, to the Effect in the faid

Article fet forth; and is firmly perfuaded, that

when the faid Plenipotentiaries were fo inftructed

to infift, that Spain and the Weft-Indies fhould not
be allotted to the Houfe of Bourbon, no Treaty
had been negotiated and agreed, that Spain and
the Weft-Indies fhould remain in a Branch of that

Houfe: And he has Reafon to believe, that at

the Time when the faid Inftructions were given
to her Majefty's faid Plenipotentiaries, there was
juft Ground to believe, that King Philip would
be induced to abandon Spain and the Weft-Indies,
and content himfelf with the Dominions of Savoy
and the Kingdom of Sicily: And he believes he
may fo far depend on his Memory, as to fay,

that he heard the late Queen declare, fhe believ'd

the Profpect King Philip had of fucceeding to the

Crown of France, would be an Inducement to
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him to be eafy with that Allotment. And it

feemed probable, that the Addition of the Do-
minions of Savoy to the Crown of France, in Cafe

King Philip fhould fucceed to it, would be
efteemed by the French Court as a Thing more
to be defired by them, than that Spain and the

Indies fhould remain in the Poffeffion of a younger

Prince of the Houfe of Bourbon, under the Con-
dition of his renouncing the Right he would have

to the Crown of France, if the eldeft Branch fhould

fail. Thefe feem to him to have been her Ma-
jefty's Views at the Time when the faid Inftruc-

tions were given to the Bifhop of Briftol and the

Earl of Strafford; and he therefore believes, that

whoever contrived or prepared the fame, did pre-

pare them conformable to her Majefty's real Sen-

timents, and was far from any Thought or De-
fign to abufe the Royal Authority, delude the

States-General, prejudice his Imperial Majefty,

or any of the Allies, or to carry on the Meafures

of France: And if King Philip afterwards upon
Information, that the then Dauphin was likely to

live, or at the preffing Inftances of the Spaniards,

and Influence of Spanijh Counfels, or upon any

other Motives, refilled to accept of Savoy and
Sicily, and chofe rather to renounce the French

Monarchy ; he thinks no Perfon who acts in the

Service of the Crown can be fafe, if it may be

charged on him as a Crime, that he advifed In-

ftructions, which by intervening Circumftances

afterwards became improper. But he the faid

Earl doth not admit, that he contrived or pre-

pared the faid Inftructions, or was confenting or

advifing to the contriving or preparing of them,

or prevailed on her Majefty to fign them ; much
lefs that he abufed the Royal Authority, to the

Delufion of the States-General, or intended the

Prejudice of his Imperial Majefty or any of the

Allies, or was engaged to carry on the Meafures
of France, or had, when the faid Inftructions

were prepared, negotiated or agreed with the Mi-
tt ifters of France, that Spain and the Weft-Indies

fhould remain in a Branch of the Houfe of Bour-
bon, or had prevailed on her Majefty to be Party

to any private Treaty, wherein the fame is necef-

farily implied. If the Plenipotentiaries were in-

ftructed, in Cafe the Enemy fhould object, that

the Second Article of the Seven, figned by Mon-
fieur Mefnager, implied the Duke of Anjou fhould

continue on the Throne of Spain, to infift that

thofe Articles were binding to France, but laid

neither the Queen nor her Allies under any Obli-

gation, the laid Earl doth not apprehend how
an Inftruction to her Majefty's Plenipotentiaries,

to make a juft Anfwer to a falfe Inference, that

might happen to be drawn by the Enemy from
the Words of fuch an Article, can be interpreted

an entering into a Confederacy or Collufion with

the Minifters of the Enemy •, or that her Majefty's

Confent to fuch Inftructions could imply any De-

fign to impofe on his Imperial Majefty or the

Allies, or to conceal any Negotiations between

Great Britain and France. But the faid Earl is

confident it will not appear by any of his Actions

on the ftricteft Scrutiny, that he ever entered into

any Confederacy or Collufion with the Minifters

of the Enemy, or prevailed on the Queen to give

her Confent thereto, or had any Deiigns to im-

pofe upon his Imperial Majefty, or any of the

Allies, or ever was privy to any fecret Negotia-

tions or fcparate Treaty between Great Britain

and France, whereby either in the before-men-

§ tioned,
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tioned, or in any other Particulars, any Reproach

could be brought on the Crown of thefe Realms,

or any Treaties wherein her Majefty was engaged

to her Allies were violated.

In anfwer to the Sixth Article, the faid Earl

doth admit, that after the Conferences of Peace

between the Plenipotentiaries of the Allies, and

thofe of the Enemy,' for negotiating a general

Peace were opened, wherein he is perfuaded her

Majefty and her Minifters did aft in perfect Con-

fidence with the Allies, in order to promote their

common Intereft, and to obtain from the Enemy
all juft and reafonable Satisfaction ; the Progreis

of the faid Negotiation was delayed by Debates,

concerning the Enemy's Refufal to give their An-

fwer in Writing to the Demands of the Allies ; but

he doth not know that any of the Minifters of

Great Britain did, by any Encouragement or Con-

currence, contribute thereunto: And if, during

that time, her Majefty thought fit to authorize any

of her Minifters to write or negotiate upon any

particular Points relating to the Peace, directly

from England to France, in order to facilitate the

general Negotiations of Peace, which he the faid

Earl doth not admit to have been done by his

Privity ; yet he the faid Earl doth not apprehend,

that by the Conftitution of the Kingdom, or any

Law in being, the Queen was debarr'd from doing

fo; or that by conftituting the faid Plenipoten-

tiaries, fhe had fo far delegated to them her Royal

Authority, as to be difabled, without revoking

their Commiffion, to treat or negotiate any Mat-

ters conducing to that End, in fuch other manner

as fhe fhould think fit. The faid Earl faith, that

he did not advife, contrive, or promote any pri-

vate, feparate, or unjuftifiable Negotiation with

France, nor doth he know any Negotiation relating

to the Peace was carried on without Communica-
tion thereof to the Allies. And the faid Earl de-

nies that he ever aflumed Regal Authority, or

that he treated of Peace with France in any manner
that could be liable to fuch Imputation, or did

promote the Defign of the Enemy to the Deftruc-

tion of the Common Caufe of her Majefty, or of

her Allies, contrary to the Laws or Conftitution

of this Kingdom, or in Violation of any of the

Alliances her Majefty flood engaged in, or of the

Affurances given by her Majefty, or of her In-

ftructions to her Plenipotentiaries; or that any
Terms of Peace v/ere by him at any time concert-

ed, prejudicial to the Intereft of her Majefty, or

her Kingdoms, or Allies, or whereby the good
Effects of the general Negotiation were defeated.

In anfwer to the Seventh Article, the faid Earl
faith, that he never advifed her late Majefty to

accept ot a Treaty with France, on a Suppofition

that the Spanijh Monarchy fhould continue in the

Poffeffion of a Branch of the Houfe of Bourbon ;

nor did he advife, or carry on any private or fe-

parate Negotiation with France, on the Subject of

a Renunciation to be made by the Duke of Anjon,

of the Right he might have to the Kingdom of
France, and that fuch Renunciation fhould be the

Security againft the Re-union of the two King-
doms : Or that by his Counfels her Majefty was
prevailed on to accept, and finally to conclude

and ratify a Treaty of Peace with France, wherein
the faid Renunciation is taken as a fufficient Expe-
dient to prevent the Mifchiefs that threatned all

Europe^ in cafe the Crowns of France and Spain

fhould be United upon the Head of one and the
fame Perfbn : Nor doth he know, that during the

faid Negotiation, any fuch Memorial, as in the

faid Article is fet forth, was tranfmitted by the

faid Monfieur de Tony to any of her Majefty's

Principal Secretaries of State : But he the faid Earl
doth freely acknowlege, that if he had been called

upon to give his Opinion concerning the leaving

of Spain and the Weft-Indies in the Poffeffion of a

Branch of the Houfe of Bourbon, and accepting

the Renunciation of his Right to the Kingdom of
France by the Duke of Anjou, he doth not at pre-

fent fee any Reafon why he might not have been
of Opinion for leaving Spain and the Weft-Fndies

to the prelent PoffefTor, and accepting the Renun-
ciation, rather than have continued the War fo

burthenfome to the People, and fo impracticable

upon the Foot on which it then flood, efpeciaily

fince all Endeavours to remove him by Treaties

or Force had fo long proved ineffectual. And in

cafe any fuch Memorial as is fet forth in the faid

Article, was lent by any Minifter of France to the

Secretary of the late Queen, he fhould look upon
the fame as a Proof of the Earneftnefs of the Court
of France to avoid fuch Renunciation, which might
more effectually prevent all poffibility of annex-
ing the Crown of Spain to that of France. But
whatever Inducements might be for fuch a Me-
morial (if any fuch was tranfmitted) the faid Earl
doth affirm, that he never gave any Counfels by
which the Intereft of the Common Caufe could be
betray'd into the Hands of the Enemy ; nor doth
he think it was poffible by any Power and Influ-

ence, to engage her Majefty to become Party with

France in any Deceit ; but whatever Credit he at

any time had by her Favour, he always ufed it

with the utmoft Sincerity for her Service, and the

Good of her People.

In anfwer to the Eighth Article, the faid Earl

believes, that her late Majefty Queen Anne did,

on the Seventh Day of December, in the Year of
our Lord One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Ele-

ven, recommend it from the Throne, that Pro-
vifion might be made for an early Campaign, in

order to carry on the War with Vigour, and as

the beft way to render the Treaty of Peace effec-

tual ; and he doth believe, that in order thereto

Supplies were granted, and Magazines provided

at a great Expence for an early Campaign, and
that in purfuance thereof her Majefty might fend

fome General Officers to explain her Intentions to

her Allies; and likewife inftructed her General

the Duke of Ormond to declare her Refolutions

of carrying on the War, and to concert with the

Generals of the Allies the proper Meafures for

entering upon Action : And he doth believe, that

the Confederate Army was provided with all Ne-
ceffaries: But whether the faid Army had ap-

proached, or how near they had approached to

the Enemy ; whether they had any, or what Su-

periority, as to the number of Troops; or what

likelihood there was, that they would have been

able, either by Battle or Siege, to have better'd

the Affairs of the Allies, or to have facilitated the

Negotiations of Peace, the faid Earl is not able

to fay : But it muft be obvious to every one, that

any Mifcarriage or Difafter on the part of the Al-

lies, at fuch a Juncture, muft have been fatal to

them : And though the Divine Affiftance had been

very remarkable in the many Victories her Ma-
jefty's Forces had obtained, yet her Majefty's

Piety
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Piety was fo great, that it is not likely fhe fhould,

without the greateft neceflity, have been willing

to have tempted that Providence which had been

fo fignal in her Favour, by hazarding the Blood

of her Subjects' at a time when fhe had fo near a

Profpect of the Conclufion of a Peace : And the

faid Earl believes it might be owing to this Piety

of the Queen, and her Knowlege of fome im-

portant Matters then depending, that Directions

were fent to the Duke of Ormond (if any fuch were

fent) to avoid engaging in any Siege, or hazard-

ing any Battle till further Orders ; which he fup-

pofeth her Majefty might do upon any Caufes fhe

thought proper, as well as the Deputies of the

States, who, as the faid Earl hath been informed,

have often refufed to engage in Siege or Battle,

upon fuch Ground as they alone thought fit, when

their own Generals, and the Generals of the other

Allies, were of Opinion they had a vifible Ad-
vantage of the Enemy, and might engage in fuch

Siege or Battle with great Probability of Succefs.

Buc he doth affirm that the Minifters of France

never reprefented to him or to any others, as far

as he knows, during any Negotiation, any Appre-

henfions they had from the Bravery and good

Difpofition of the Confederate Army ; nor was he

ever informed of any fure Profpect which it is al-

ledged the Army of the Confederates then had of

gaining new Conquefts over the Army of France,

or whereby they would have been enabled to have

forced any better Terms of Peace than there was

at that time likelihood of: But on the contrary

he has been informed, that the Forces of France

were fuperior in Number to thofe of the Confede-

rates, efpecially in Horfe. However the faid Earl

doth not admit, that he did advife or confent that

any Order fhould be difpatched in her Majefty's

Name to the Duke of Ormond to the afore-menti-

oned Effect ; nor had he any View or Defign to

difappoint the Expectations of the Allies, or to

give Succefs to any fecret Negotiations with the Mi-

nifters of France. The faid Earl likewife denies,

that he did confent or advife that Orders fhould be

fent to the Bifhop of Brijiol, one of her Majefty's

Plenipotentiaries then at Utrecht, to declare to the

Butch Minifters, that her Majefty looked on her

felf, from their Conduct, to be then under no

Obligation whatfoever to them. He doth not

know what Alarm the Allies might take, or what

Reprefentations they made to the Bifhop of Briftol

of their DhTatisfaetion or Confternation, but doubts

not the faid Bifhop would readily reprefent what

they defired, tho' fuch Reprefentation made by his

Lordfhip, (if any fuch there was), fell not under

the Knowlege of the faid Earl, nor doth he ad-

mit that any Application of that kind was made
to him. And in cafe the States -General made fuch

Addrefs directly to her Majefty, by a Letter of

the Fifth Day of June, as in the laid Article is fet

forth, he the faid Earl not being acquainted there-

with, could neither advife her Majefty to hearken

to the Inftances therein made, nor to difregard or

reject the fame. He faith, he never entered into

Meafures for the Advancement of the Intereft of

the common Enemy, or countenanced, encou-

raged, advifed, or promoted any Negotiations

with France, without Participation of the Allies,

or contrary to her Majefty's Engagement, or to

the Ruin of the Common Caufe; nor is he con-

fcious to himfclf, that he ever gave any Counfels,

by which the Progrefs of the victorious Arms of
the Confederates was (topped, or any Opportuni-
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ty loft for conquering the Enemy, or which had
any Tendency to deftroy the Confidence between

her Majefty and her Allies, or make the French

King Matter of the Negotiations of Peace, or

which could put the Affairs of Europe into his

Hands.

In anfwer to the ninth Article, the faid Earl de-

nies he was privy or confenting to any Concert

with the Minifters of France for the feparating the

Troops in her Majefty's Pay from the reft of the

Confederate Army ; and not being privy to any
fuch Concert he hopes it will not be imputed to

him as any want of Duty, that he did not advife

againft fuch a Proceeding. He denies alfo, that

he ever entertained the leaft Defign of impofing

upon the Allies any Neceffity of fubmitting to the

Terms of France, or of leaving the Confederate

Army to the Mercy of the Enemy, or that he did

confent or advife her Majefty that the Duke of

Ormond and the Troops in her Majefty's Pay, or

fuch of them as would obey his Orders, fhould

feparate themfelves from the Army of the Con-
federates. The faid Earl hath been informed, and
believes it to be true, that the Imperial General,

and fome other Generals, did propofe to the Duke
of Ormond in June or July, in the Year one Thou-
fand Seven Hundred and Twelve, to decamp from
the Ground where they lay, and to proceed towards

Landrecy, in order to form the Siege of that Place,

and that the Duke of Ormond thought it not pro-

per to confent thereto, and gave notice to the faid

Generals, that if they decamped they muft not

expect him to follow them. And the faid Earl

believes, Inftances may be given where Generals

of other Potentates in the Alliance have refufed to

comply with what has been propofed to them by
her late Majefty's General. The faid Earl hath

likewife heard, that, notwithftanding fuch Notice

from the Duke of Ormond, the faid Generals fepa-

rated themfelves and their Forces from the faid

Duke, and marched towards Landrecy without

him, and that the faid Duke continued for fome
time in his former Camp after fuch Separation

:

And that the Generals of the Auxiliary Troops
paid by her Majefty, although required by the

faid Duke of Ormond, under whole Command they

then were, to continue with him, and to obey his

Orders, refufed fo to do. He the faid Earl fup-

pofes it might proceed from her Majefty's Refent-

ment of that Inftance of Difobedience in the Auxi-
liary Troops to the Commands of her General,

that fhe did not think fit immediately to pay the

Arrears of thofe Forces which had fo obftinately

withdrawn themfelves from her General, and
marched without him towards Landrecy, as not

apprehending herfelf obliged by any Conventions,

or the Provifion ofany Act of Parliament, fo to do.

But whatever might be the Caufes or Occafions

of her Majefty's Refentment, the faid Earl faith,

that he being in the Office of High Treafurer un-

der her Majefty, could not, by the Duty of his

Place, iffue out any Monies without a proper

Warrant or Authority from her Majefty ; and
denies that he ever received any Warrant or

Authority from her Majefty for iffuing any Sum
or Sums of Money for, or towards the Pay or

Subfidies on account of the faid Foreign Troops
who had fo feparated, without which the iffuing

or directing any Monies for the Payment of them
had been a Violation of his Duty. And the faid

Earl denies, that he did at any time refufe or put

S 2 a ttop
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a flop to any fuch Pay or Subsidies ; but on the

contrary, when the Minifters of the Princes to

whom thofe Forces belonged did apply for the

Payment ofxht (aid Troops, the faid Earl defired

them to make application to her Majefty for the

neceffary Warrants in order thereunto. And as the

faid Earl had no Notice of any Separation intend-

ed between her Majefty's Forces and thofe of the

Allies before the lame was made ; fo he abfolute-

ly denies, that by his Advice or Counfel, or with

his Privacy, any fuch Separation was made : And
humbly apprehends that he ought not in Juftice

to be charged with any Confequences of it. He
believes, that the Forces of fome of the Allies

were engaged in the unfortunate Action of Denain,

and that the Seige of Landrecy was raifed, and the

Towns of ^uefnoy, Bouchain, and Doway were fome

time after re-taken by the French Army : But whe-

ther thofe Difafters might not have been prevented

by a Compliance with the Meafures her Majefty had

taken for the common Good, the faid Earl fub-

riuts to your Lordfhips.

In anfwer to the Tenth Article, the faid Earl

denies that he did carry on, or concert with the

Minifters of France, a private or feparate Nego-

tiation for a general Sufpenfion by Sea and Land
between Great Britain and France ; or that he did

advife her Majefty to fend over Henry Vifcount

Bolingbroke to the Court of France ; with Powers

to fettle fuch Sufpenfion ; but hath been informed,

and believes it may be true, that about the Nine-

teenth of Auguft One Thoufand Seven Hundred

and Twelve, N. S. a Sufpenfion of Arms was

agreed on in France by the faid Vifcount Boling-

broke on her Majefty's part for four Months ; but

whether fuch Agreements was made without the

Knowledge or Participation of her Majefty's Al-

lies, or how far the Terms of Peace were then

fettled with France, either for Great Britain, or

the Allies, the faid Earl is not able to fet forth :

But from the Information he hath received of that

Affair, believes it will appear, that the faid Sufpen-

fion was a Continuation only of a former Agree-

ment for aCefTation of Arms, which had been not

only communicated to the Allies, but into which

they had been invited ; and believes her Majefty

might be induced to defire fuch CefTation, as was

ufual amongft Princes and States in War during

Negotiations of Peace, by which means the Bri-

tifh Merchants enjoy'd a free Trade, and had an

Opportunity of carrying the Merchandizes of

other Countries to feveral Parts of Europe, as the

Dutch had done during the War ; and therefore

the faid Earl doth not conceive that her Majefty,

by the faid Sufpenfion, did in the leaft intend the

Violation of any Treaties between her and her

Allies, or to deprive them of any Afllftance to

which they were entitled, or expofe them to the

Infults of the common Enemy : nor doth he dif-

cern how thefe Confequences could enfue, with-

out the Default of the Allies themfelves ; much
lefs how the Ties of Union and Friendfhip be-

tween her Majefty and them were cut afunder, or

her Majefty's Perfon or Government, or the Safety

of her Kingdoms, or the Proteftant Succeflion,

were expofed thereby. But the laid Earl affures

himfelf, that he lhall never ftand chargeable with

any Confequences of fuch Sufpenfion which he ne-

ver advifcd ; nor did he the laid Earl ever enter-

tain the leaft Thought or Defign of occafioning

the Deftruction of the Common Caufe of Europe,

or hindering her Majefty from refuming the War
againft France, in Conjunction with her Allies, if

it had been fo thought fit, or of weakening the

Union between her Majefty and them.

In anfwer to the Eleventh Article, the faid Earl

faith, he believes it to be true, that in or about

the Months of September or Otlober One Thoufand
Seven Hundred and Twelve, the States General

were in Pofleflion of the Town and Fortrefs of
Tournay ; and that her Majefty, in her Inftructi-

ons of December the Twenty Third, One Thou-
fand Seven Hundred and Eleven, to her Plenipo-

tentiaries at Utrecht, did direct 'em to infill with,

the Plenipotentiaries of France, in the general Con-
grefs, that towards forming a Barrier for the States-

General, Tournay lhall remain to the States ; and
doth believe the French King did at one time in-

cline thereto : But doth not know that her Majefty

in her Speech in the faid Article mentioned, did
declare herfelf as in the faid Article is fet forth.

The faid Earl admits, that until and after the

Months of September and Otlober One Thoufand
Seven Hundred and Eleven, there was open War
between her late Majefty and the French King

;

and that during fuch War, the French King and
his Subjects were Enemies to the late Queen : But
the faid Earl hath been informed, and believes,

that full Powers were given by her Majefty, and
the States-General of the United Provinces, to

their refpective Minifters, and by the French King
to his Minifters, to negotiate and treat of Peace
between her Majefty and the States-General, and
faid French King; upon which Negotiations a
Peace was afterwards concluded between them

;

during which Negotiations he hath heard, that

the French King did infill upon the yielding up
the Town and Fort of Tournay by the States to

him ; and the faid States-General defired her Ma-
jefty's Interpofition with the French King on their

behalf; and that at fuch Requeft her Majefty in-

terpofed her bell Offices on behalf of the States-

General, and did at laft prevail, that the faid Town
and Fortrefs of Tournay mould be, and he believes

the fame is continued to the States-General as part

of their Barrier. But the faid Earl abfolutely de-

nies that he did defign to give Aid, or Succour,

or to adhere to the French King; or that he did

in or about the Month of Otlober One Thoufand
Seven Hundred and Twelve, or at any other

time, during the faid War, aid, help or afiifl,

or adhere to the faid French King; or, that he did

ever counfel or advife the faid Enemy in what Man-
nea, or by what Methods the faid Town and For-

trefs of Tournay, or either of them, might be gain-

ed from the States-General to the French King, in

Manner and Form as in the faid Article is charged.

On the contrary, he the faid Earl did ufe his beft

Offices to preferve the faid Town and Fortrefs of
Tournay to the States-General. But the faid Earl

faith, that during the Negotiations of the late

Peace, he had the Honour to be one of her Ma-
jefty's Privy-Council ; and whatfoever Counfel or

Advice he gave, relating to any Terms of the faid

Peace, he acted therein as a Privy-Councellor and
Minifter of State, and no otherwife : And doth

infift, that for any Privy-Counfellor and Minifter

of State, during the Negotiations of Peace, to ad-

vife or negotiate, concerning the yielding or giving

up any Town, Province or Dominion, upon the

Conclufion of the Peace, as part of the Terms and

Conditions of fuch Peace, is not High Treafon by

any
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any Law of this Realm ; and that fuch Conflruc-

tion might hereafter deprive the Crown of the

Advice and Affiftance of feveral Members of the

Privy-Council, in Matters of the greateft Impor-

tance, by deterring them from give fuch Ad-

vice as, by their Oaths, and the Duty of their

Place, they are obliged to do ; would overthrow

all means of reftoring Amity between Princes, and

render the Law, in cafe of High Treafon, uncer-

tain, which by reafon of its being the moft penal,

ought to be moft plain ; and would be highly

dangerous and deftruflive to the Lives and Liber-

ties of the Subject:.

In anfwer to the Twelfth Article, the faid Earl

(not admitting that her late Majeffy Queen Anne

flood engaged by Treaties in manner as in the faid

Article is alledged, but referring himfelf to the

Treaties, when they fhall be produced) for anfwer,

denies, that he did in any of the Years One Thou-

fand Seven Hundred and Ten, One Thoufand Se-

ven Hundred and Eleven, One Thoufand Seven

Hundred and Twelve, or at any other time, aid,

help, aflift, or adhere to the Duke of Anjou, in

the faid Article named, or advife or counfel any

of the Enemies of her faid late Majefty, or concert

with any of them, or promote the yielding or

giving up of Spain and the Wefl-Indies, or any

Part thereof to the faid Duke of Anjou, in Man-

ner and Form as in the faid Article is alledged.

And the faid Earl faith, as in his Anfwer to the

Eleventh Article he hath already faid, that during

the Negotiations of the late Peace, he had the

Honour to be one of her faid late Majefty's Privy-

Council, and whatever Counfel or Advice he gave,

relating to any Terms of the faid Peace, he acted

therein as a Privy-Counfellor and Minifterof State,

and no otherwife ; and infifts as in his Anfwer to

the Eleventh Article he has infifted.

In anfwer to the Thirteenth Article the faid Earl

admits, that the flourifhing Condition of Trade

and Navigation contributes much to the Riches,

Power and Strength of thefe Kingdoms; and be-

lieves, that her late Majefty had a juft Regard

thereto, and a fincere Defire to obtain fome Ad-
vantages therein for her People ; and did make
the feveral Declarations from the Throne let forth

in this Article : And that both Houfes of Parlia-

ment did, from time time, exprefs their grate-

ful Acknowledgements to her Majefty, for her great

Care and Concern for the Welfare of her People

;

and believes her Majefty might think it reafon-

able, confidering the Share and Burthen fhe and

her People had fuftained in the War, that France

mould, in the firft Place, adjuft the Interefts of

Great Britain, which were to be fecured on the

Conclufion of a general Peace : But the faid Earl

doth not know or believe that at the fetting on
foot, or in the Progrefs of any Negotiation be-

tween the Minifters of Great Britain and France,

it was laid down as a Principle that France fhould

in the firft place, confent to adjuft the Interefts of
Great Britain, to the Intent that the Minifters of

Great Britain might thereby be enabled to engage

the Queen to make the Conclufion of the Peace

eafy to France ; nor doth he know that any Con-
ceflions were made by the Minifters of Great Bri-

tain, with intent to promote the Interefts of France

againft the Allies •, or that any Meafures were en-

tered into or concerted between them, in order to

ftrcngthen the Hands of the French, or to enable

them to impofe the Terms of a general Peace,
And the faid Earl doth abfolutely deny that he was
engaged, in Concert with France, in any Nego-
tiation deftructive to his Country, or that he ever
had the leaft Imagination or Thought tending
that way, or to the facrificing the Commerce of
Great Britain to the Aggrandifement of France:
But on the contrary, he hath always had the moft
real and fincere Defires to fecure and advance the

Commerce of Great Britain, and to preferve his

Country, in whole Service he hath been always
ready to facrifice himfelf, and every private In-

terefl whatsoever. And the faid Earl is not con-

fcious to himfelf of any want of Duty, either in

not infilling upon, or not procuring the moft cer-

tain Securities that could be obtained for the Safe-

ty and Advantage of the Commerce of thefe King-
doms. And the faid Earl doth not admit, that

he did advife her late Majefty, that any Proposi-

tion ftiould be fent by Mr. Prior to France ; or

that any private or feparate Treaty, or the Preli-

minary Articles, which are faid to be figned the

Twenty Seventh Day of September One Thoufand
Seven Hundred and Eleven, fhould be figned.

But the faid Earl hath been informed, and believes

that in a Paper intitled, The Anfwer of France to

the Demands of Great Britain more particularly, it

is faid, that the entire Rejlitution of Newfoundland,
and of the Bay and Sfreights of Hudfon, was de^

mandedfor the Englifh : And that the French King's
Anfwer was, That the Difcuffon of that Article

fhould be referred to the general Conferences of the

Peace, provided the Liberty of fifh'mg and drying of
Codfifh upon the Ifle of Newfoundland fhould be

referved to the French. And the faid Earl con-

ceives that Paper was not conclufive, but was to

be the Subject of future Conferences, wherein the

whole Matter might be entirely confidered •, and
confequently that the entring into Conferences on
that Paper, was not the yielding to the French

the Liberty of fifhing and drying Fifh on New-
foundland, wrhich they infilled on. And the faid

Earl denies, that he advifed the Demands for

Great Britain, in Point of Commerce, fhould be

made in loofe, general, or infufficient Terms •, or

that he advifed the Liberties infilled on by the

French fhould be given up to France, as in the

faid Article is alledged: And he believes that

when it is confidered what Advantages were likely

to enfue to the Commerce of Great Britain by the

Affiento Contract, and the Liberty of Trading to

the Spanifh Weft-Indies by the Ceffion of Arcadia,

the Bay and Streights of Hudfon, the Ifland of
St. Chriflopher, Newfoundland, the Ifland of St. Pe-

ter, with other adjacent Iflands by the Demoli-
tion of Dunkirk, and the Ceffion of Port-Mahon
and Gibraltar, it will not be thought the Com-
merce of Great Britain was neglected by her Ma-
jefty, in the late Treaties of Peace. And as the

faid Earl doth not know that France was at any
time Mailer of the Negotiations, fo he denies that

he did engage her Majefty in any private Treaties

with France, without Security for the Commerce
of Great Britain ; or that he did contrive, with

any of the Minifters of France, to keep in Sufpence

any Matter that concerned the faid Commerce^
or that he was any ways inftrumental to the pre-

venting any Advantages of the faid Commerce
from being fettled, or that he endeavoured to

elude any thing that had been agreed on in any"

Negotiations for the Benefit of Great Britain.

And although the faid Earl doth not admit, that

he
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he advifed the Ninth Article of the Treaty of

Commerce with France, yet he begs leave to ob-

ferve, that nothing is positively ftipulated in that

Article, but the whole is conditional, and left to

be determined by the Wifdom of Parliament ; and

hopes it will never be thought an Act of Treache-

ry, to refer any Article of any Treaty to the

Judgment and Confideration of Parliament,

whatever Judgment the Parliament mall think

fit to make thereon. And the faid Earl denies,

that he advifed her Majefty to agree with

France, that the Subjects of France mould

have Liberty of Fifhing, and Drying Fifh

on Newfoundland: But the faid Earl believes,

that what her late Majefty agreed with France,

relating thereto, will not feem unreafonable, if

it be confidered, that the French long ago claim'd

a Right to, and were in Poffeflion of great Part

on Newfoundland; and that they were allowed to

continue in Poffeflion thereof by the Crown of

England, in a Treaty made at Whitehall in the

Year One Thoufand Six Hundred and Eighty-

Six •, and in another Treaty made at Ryfwick, in

the Year One Thoufand Six Hundred and Ninety

Seven. And the faid Earl doth not know that

fuch Agreement of her Majefty is contrary to the

exprefs Provifion of any Act of Parliament, iince

he prefumes the Act made in the Tenth and Ele-

venth Years of the Reign of King William the

Third, intitled, An Acl to encourage the Irade to

Newfoundland, cannot reafonably be intended, or

conftrued to extend to any part of the Idand,

other than what was at the Time of making that

Act in the Poffefllon of the Englifh. And the

faid Earl is informed, that at that Time the Part

of Newfoundland, where the Subjects of France

are, by the Treaty of Utrecht, allowed the Li-

berty of Fifhing, and drying Filh, was not in the

Poffcflion of the Englifh. The faid Earl denies,

that he advifed her Majefty to make a Ceflion to

France of the Ifle of Cape Breton ; or that he ad-

vifed her Majefty to confent, that what is agreed

in the Treaty of Utrecht, concerning the Fifhery

of Newfoundland, or Cape Breton, fhould be made
an Article of that Treaty : However, the faid

Earl doth not know that Cape Breton was Part of

the Territories of the Crown of Great Britain

;

nor doth he apprehend, that her Majefty, who
in her Speech from the Throne declared, that

France had confented to make an abfolute Ceflion

of Annapolis, with the reft of Nova Scotia, or

Arcadia, fhould be underftood to fpeak of Cape

Breton, which is no Part of that Continent, but

an Illand diftinct from it. The faid Earl further

faith, he conceives, that the only Advantages in

Trade, ftipulated for Great Britain, did not de-

pend on Conditions to be made good by Act of

Parliament: On the contrary, he doubts not

to make it appear, that many Advantages in

Trade were ftipulated for Great Britain, in the late

Treaties of Peace and Commerce, which have

been enjoyed by the Subjects of Great Britain,

fince the Conclufion of the faid Treaties, notwith-

ftanding the Parliament hath not thought fit to

make any Act to enforce the Ninth Article of

the Treaty of Commerce with France. And the

faid Earl denies, that by his Counfels, the good

Intentions of her facred Majefty to have obtained

for her People advantageous Terms of Commerce
were fruftrated, or the Trade or Manufactures of

Great Britain render'd precarious, or at the Mercy
of the Enemy ; or any beneficial Branch of Trade

yielded up to the Subjects of France. And as the

faid Earl difowns the being concerned in any Vio-
lation of Treaties, or in carrying on the Meafures
of France, or in any Negociation which could
terminate in the Sacrifice of the Commerce of
Great Britain to France; fo he obferves, with
great Satisfaction, the flourifhing Condition of
the Trade and Navigation of thefe Kingdoms,
fince the Conclufion, and by Means of the late

Peace, in the great Encreafe of the Number and
Tonnage of Shipping, of the Exportation of the

Woollen Manufactures, the Fifh, and other Pro-
duce of this Kingdom ; in Confequence whereof,
the Cuftoms have been greatly advanced, near
three Millions of Gold and Silver hath been
coined, and the Exchange has been all along in

the Favour of England, to and from all Parts of
Europe.

In anfwer to the Fourteenth Article, the faid

Earl doth not admit that he formed any Project,

or Defign, for difpofing the Kingdom of Sicily

to the Duke of Savoy, from the Houfe of Auftria;
or that he did advife her Majefty to give any fuch

Inftructions to Henry Vifcount Bolingbroke, as in

the faid Article mentioned, or to confent to any
Treaty wherein a Ceflion is made of the faid King-
dom to his Royal Highnefs without any Concur-
rence or Participation of his Imperial Majefty

;

nor doth he admit that her Majefty was prevailed

on, by his Advice, to aflift his faid Royal High-
nefs with her Fleet, again ft the Emperor, in or-

der to obtain the Poffeflion of that Kingdom.
But in Juftification of her Majefty's Proceedings,

in relation to the faid Kingdom, the faid Earl doth
beg leave to obferve, that by the Grand Alliance,

it was agreed, among other Things, that the

Confederates fhould ufe their utmoft Endeavours
to recover the Kingdom of Sicily out of the Hands
of the Enemy; and that the principal Ends for

endeavouring the Recovery of Sicily were, that

his Imperial Majefty might have a reafonable Sa-

tisfaction for his Pretenfion to the Spanifh Mo-
narchy ; and that the Trade and Navigation of
the Subjects of Great Britain and Holland might
thereby be better fecured. Since therefore the

Empire, and Hereditary Countries of Auftria,

were now fallen to Charles the Third, who at the

Time of that Treaty was a younger Branch of
that Houfe : Since feveral Towns in the French
Flanders, which were not in the Poffeflion of
King Charles the Second, at the Time of his

Death, together with Spanifh Flanders, Milan
and Naples, might feem a reafonable Satisfaction

for his Imperial Majefty's Pretenfions to the

Spaniflj Succeflion : And fince the Trade and Na-
vigation of the Subjects of Great Britain and Hol-

land would be as effectually fecured, by the Dif-

pofition of the Kingdom of Sicily to the Duke
of Savoy, as if the faid Kingdom had fallen to

the Share of the Emperor : And greater Difficul-

ties would be likely to arife, in obtaining the

Difpofition thereof to the Houfe of Auftria, than

to that Duke, in as much as King Philip might

be more eafily induced to yield it to the Duke of

Savoy, than to fo potent a Prince as the Em-
peror ; and there were Grounds to believe that

all, or moft of the Princes and States of Italy,

were fo apprehenfive of the growing Power of

the Houfe of Auftria in Italy, that they would

fuffer any Extremities, rather than fubmit that

Sicily, together with Milan and Naples, fhould be

in
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in the Hands of the Emperor, the faid Earl doth

not difcern how any Project to difpofe the laid

Kingdom to that Duke could be thought unjuft,

difhonourable, or pernicious, or an Aft of In-

juftice to his Imperial Majefty, or Violation of

the Grand Alliance: Nor doth the faid Earl re-

member, in what refpeft it was contradictory to

r.ny Declaration of her Majefty, or the Inftruc-

tions fhe had given her Plenipotentiaries : And in

Cafe her Majefty thought fit, afterwards, to em-

ploy any Part of her Fleet to aflift that Duke,

her good and faithful Ally, to take Poffeffion of

that Kingdom from the Enemy, in Confideration

of the faid Duke's fteady Adherence to the Con-

federacy, and great Sufferings by fuch Adhe-

rence ; he the faid Earl is not able to difcover why

fuch Affiftance might not be given to the faid

Duke, as well as to any other of her Allies what-

foever. And fince it is allowed by this Article,

that the then Duke of Savoy never made any Ap-

plication, in order to obtain the laid Kingdom

for himfelf, it feems an Evidence at leaft, that

the Perfon or Perfons who advifed the late Queen

to agree to fuch Allotment, did not aft upon any

private Intereft, or had any other View than the

Prefervation of a Ballance of Power in Europe,

and the Security of the Trade and Navigation of

the Subjefts of Great Britain and Holland; and

cannot reafonably be thought, upon a fair and

candid Interpretation, to have been guilty of be-

traying the National Faith, or Honour of the

Crown, or employing the Naval Power of thefe

Kingdoms, or the Supplies granted by Parlia-

ment, againft an Ally of this Kingdom.

In anfwer to the Fifteenth Article, the faid

Earl faith, he is and always was of Opinion, that

the Word of the Sovereign is facred, and that all

Communications from the Throne to Parliament

ought to be true, and that it becomes all Mini-

fters of State, as far as in them lies, to maintain

the Honour of the Crown, in fuch Cafes, with

the utmoft Exaftnefs; nor doth the faid Earl

know that he hath, at any Time, been defeftive

in his Duty, in this Particular, or ever took upon

himfelf any arbitrary or unwarrantable Authority,

much lefs the chief Direftion and Influence in her

Majefty's Counfels : Nor did he ever proftitute

the Honour of the Crown or Dignity of Parlia-

ment, by mifreprefenting any Part of the late

Negotiations of Peace, to deceive either her Ma-
jefty, her Allies, her Parliament, or her People •,

nor did ever prepare, form, or concert, or advife

her Majefty to make any Speech or Declaration

from the Throne, to her Parliament, that was
not conformable to Truth. He believes her Ma-
jefty might make feveral Speeches from the

Throne to her Parliament, at the feveral Times
in the faid Article mentioned, to which the faid

Earl refers ; and particularly, that her Majefty

did on the Seventh of December, One Thoufand
Seven Hundred and Eleven, declare, that her

Allies, efpecially the States-General had, by their

ready Compliance for opening a Treaty of a ge-

neral Peace, expreffed their Confidence in her;
but the faid Earl not admitting there were fuch

Reprefentations as fuggefted in this Article, begs
leave, in Vindication of the Honour of his Royal
Miftrefs, who was a Princefs of ftrift Piety and
Truth, to obferve, that the States-General fent

over Monfieur Buys to her Majefty, with Letters
full of AfTurances of their Refpeft for her Perfon,

and their Refolutions not to feparate themfelves

from her ; and likewife fignified by him to her

Minifters, their Readinefs to concur with her

Majefty, And the faid Monfieur Buys, imme-
diately upon his Arrival at London, delivered

Paffports for the French Minifters to come to

Utrecht ; and at a Meeting of feveral Lords of

the Council, fhewed his Approbation of fending

circular Letters to invite the reft of the Allies to

the general Congrefs: And the faid Monfieur

Buys exhibited full Powers for preparing and fign-

ing a new Treaty, whereby her Majefty and the

States mould be mutually engaged to each other

in making War and Peace, to guarantee the Peace

when made, and to invite the reft of the Allies

into fuch Guarantee ; all which Matters and
Tranfaftions being previous to the Seventh of De-
cember, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven,

her Majefty might juftly regard the aforefaid

authentic Acts and Affurances, as greater Proofs

of the Confidence the States had in her, and of

their Readinefs to concur with her, than any Re-
prelentations or Reports before that Time ; and
that the faid Declaration of her Majefty from the

Throne was founded upon the ftrifteft Truth.

And the faid Earl believes, that every one who
impartially confiders the Steps taken in the late

Negotiations of Peace, the Length of the Treaty,

the feveral Letters from one of her Majefty's

Principal Secretaries cf State to her Plenipoten-

tiary at Utrecht, the Ratification of the Engage-
ment figned by her Minifters and Monfieur Buys,

the Eighteenth of December One Thoufand Seven
Hundred and Eleven, and her exhorting the

States to ratify the fame; her preffing Inltances

to the Princes and States of the Empire, and the

many other Afts which were done by her Ma-
jefty's Orders during that Tranfaftion for the

Service and Satisfaction of her Allies, will readily

acknowlege, that her Majefty did her utmoft to

procure for her Allies, and in particular for his

Imperial Majefty, all reafonable Satisfaction

;

and to unite with them in the ftrifteft Engage-
ments, to render the Peace fecure and latting,

agreeable to her Speech of the faid Seventh Day
ot December, and her Meffage of the Seventeenth

of January following, in this Article mention'd

:

And if by any extraordinary Demand or ground-
lefs Jealoufies of any of the Allies, or other Ac-
cidents, her Majefty was not able to obtain for

them all the Advantages fhe defired, this will not

derogate from the Truth and Sincerity cf her

Majefty's Expreflions. And it is evident her

Majefty did procure them fb great Satisfaction,

that the Allies did all fign the Peace at the lame
Time with her Majefty, excepting only the Em-
peror ; and even his Interefts were fo far adjufted,

that what remained in difpute was not thought

fufiicient to delay fo great and good a Work

:

And it is well known the Emperors of Germany

have frequently declined fignmg their Treaties

of Peace at the fame Time with their Allies. But

that her Majefty was induced by any Influence of

the faid Earl to enter into any Negotiation with

France, excluflve of her Allies ; or that the faid

Earl carried on any fuch Negotiation ; or that the

Intereft of the laid Allies, or in particular of the

Emperor, were, by any Practices of his, giving

up to France, he utterly denies. And when it is

confidered, that much Briiifh Blood and Treafure

had been fpent to recover Spain and the Weft-

Indies from the Houfe of Bourbon^ that an ex-

penfive
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penfive War had for many Years continued,

which her Majefty ttill fupplied with new Re-

cruits and redoubled Expence ; that her Armies,

and thofe of the Allies, had been beaten in Spain;

that Prince Eugene had declared, that Forty

Thoufand Men, and Four Millions of Crowns

per Annum would be necefiary for carrying on

that War, and that his Mafter could fupply no

more than a Fourth Part of that Charge ; that it

was found by long Experience, how averfe the

People of Spain in general were to fubmit them-

ielves to the Houfe of Auftria ; that her Majefty

difcerned the Charge of renewing the War in

Spain would be a Burthen too great for her Sub-

jects, and that there was little Probability of its

being fucceisful : that the hereditary Countries

were then, by the Death of the Emperor Jofeph,

fallen to King Charles, who was foon after chofen

Emperor (by which Event the Intereft of the

Princes and States of Europe were changed ;) it

cannot be doubted but that her late Majefty had,

at the Time when fhe made the aforefaid Declara-

tion, done her utmoft to recover Spain and the

Weft-Indies by Force of Arms : And the moft fhe

could do afterwards, was by way of Negotiation,

wherein fhe infilled with that Earneftnefs on King
Philip's, quitting Spain, that France complied with

her Majefty's Propofals : But when King Philip

could not be prevailed on to give up Spain, her

Majefty thought his Renunciation of the Crown
of France, as Circumftances then flood, the moft

practicable, if not the only Method left to pre-

vent the Union of thofe two Monarchies. But
the faid Earl doth not think it probable, that the

leaving Spain and the Weft-Iniies to the Houfe of

Bourbon, was the Foundation of the Preliminary

Articles figned by Monfieur Mefnager, and of

the Declaration annexed, which had been figned

by the Lord Dartmouth and Mr. St. John, with

her Majefty's Confent (and which the faid Earl

fuppofes is what is called the private Treaty in this

Article) fince he believes it was then thought
more likely that the Crown of Spain might fall

to fome other Prince. And the faid Earl doth

not obferve, how her Majefty can be charged

with uttering any Falfity in her MefTage of the

Seventeenth Day of January, wherein fhe takes

notice, how groundlefs the Reports were that

had been fpread of a feparate Peace being treated,

for which Report there was not then, nor at any
other Time, the leaft Foundation ; fince only

fome few Points were adjufled, relating to the

particular Interefts of her own Kingdoms, and
even thofe were to have no Effect but upon the

Conclufion of a general Peace, and were like-

wife, before fuch Conclufion, communicated to

the Allies. And the faid Earl denies, that thence-

forth, or at any Time, there were carried on,

by him, any feparate Meafures with the Mini-
fters of France ; nor doth he conceive, that the

Propofal about the Renunciation was merely fpe-

culative, but that it was of fuch a Nature as

would execute itfelf, and keep the Crowns of
France and Spain more effectually divided than

ever ; if it be confidered, that it did not confift

only in a Renunciation to be made by Philip,

then in Poffefiion of the Crown of Spain, of his

contingent Right to that of France; but that

there was a Title to the Crown of France thereby

given to the Duke of Orleans, and after him to

the reft of the Princes of the Houfe of Bourbon,

who could not be prefumed to want the Will

nor would be likely to want the Power, to take

Poflfeflion of the Crown of France, by Vertue of
fuch Title, in Oppofition to a Prince at fuch a

Diftance, and who had folemnly renounced all his

Pretenfions to it. Nor can the faid Earl think,

the Declaration of any Minifter of France, againft

fuch Expedient (if any fuch were made,) a fuffi-

cient Ground for her Majefty to decline it. The
faid Earl therefore muft beg leave to repeat, that

he is not able to difcover, from any Thing that

appears in thofe Speeches, that in the Particulars

afore-mentioned, or any other, the effential Points

relating to Peace and Commerce, or which con-

cerned the Interefts, as well of the Allies as

of Great Britain, were mifreprefented by her

Majefty ; nor doth he know or believe, that any
Inftance can be given wherein he abufed the Fa-
vour of his Royal Miftrefs, to whom he did al-

ways bear and pay the moft fincere Veneration

and Duty ; or wherein he did miflead her Par-

liament into any groundlefs or fatal Refolution,

or prevented their Advice to her Majefty, or ob-

tained their Approbation to any dangerous Pra-

ctices, or whereby her Majefty could be ever de-

prived of the Confidence of her Allies, or expo-

led to Contempt.

In anfwer to the Sixteenth Article the faid Earl

doth infill, that by the Laws and Conftitution of

this Realm, it is the undoubted Right and Prero-

gative of the Sovereign, who is the Fountain of
Honour, to create Peers of this Realm, as well in

time of Parliament, as when there is no Parliament

fitting or in being •, and that the Exercife of this

Branch of the Prerogative is declared in the Form
or Preamble of all Patents of Honour, to proceed

ex mero motu, as an Act of mere Grace and Favour;

and that fuch Acts are not done, as many other

Acts of a public Nature are, by and with the

Advice of the Privy-Council ; or as Acts of Par-

don ufually run, upon a favourable Reprefentation

of feveral Circumftances, or upon Reports from

the Attorney-General, or other Officers, that fuch

Acts are lawful or expedient, or for the Safety or

Advantage of the Crown ; but-flows entirely from
the beneficent and gracious Difpofition of the So-

vereign. He farther fays, that neither the War-
rants for Patents of Honour, the Bills or other

IngrofTments of fuch Patents are at any time com-
municated to the Council, or the Treafury, as fe-

veral other Patents are; and therefore the faid

Earl, either as High-Treafurer or Privy-Counfel-

lor, could not have any Knowlege of the fame

:

Neverthelefs, if her late Sacred Majefty had

thought fit to acquaint him with her moft gracious

Intentions of creating any Number of Peers of this

Realm, and had afked his Opinion whether the

Perfons whom fhe then intended to create, were

Perfons proper to have been promoted to that

Dignity ? He does believe he fhould have highly

approved her Majefty's Choice ; and doth not ap-

prehend that in fo doing he had been guilty of

any Breach of his Duty, or Violation of the Truft

in him repofed-, fince they were all Perfons of

Honour and diftinguifhed Merit, and the Peerage

thereby was not greatly encreafed, confidering

fome of thofe created would have been Peers by

Defcent, and that many Titles of Honour were

then lately extinct. And the faid Earl believes

many Inftances may be given, where this Prero-

gative hath been exercifed by former Princes of

this. Realm in as extenfive a manner ; and parr'-

cularly
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cularly in the Reigns of King Henry the Eighth,

King James the Firft, and his late Majefty King

WiUiam, The faid Earl begs leave to add, that

in the whole Courfe of his Life he hath always

lov'd the eftablifh'd Conftitution, and in his pri-

vate Capacity, as well as in all public Stations,

when he had the Honour to be employ'd, hath

done his utmoft to preferve it, and fhall always

continue fo to do.

In anfwer to the further Articles of Impeach-

ment exhibited againft the faid Earl : As to the

Firft of thefe Articles he faith, that he believes,

in or about the Month of January, One Thou-

fand Seven Hundred and Ten, an Expedition was

projected, for making a Conqueft of the City

Quebeck, on the River of St. Laurence, Canada,

or other Poffeffions of the French King in North

America •, but denies he advifed her Majefty either

to confent to the making fnch Expedition, or to

give Orders for detaching any Battalions of the

Forces in her Majefty's Service in Flanders^ or to

fend any fuch Battalions, or any Squadron of

Men of War on the faid Enterprize : But having

heard that the faid Projecl, or fome Expedition

of the like Nature, had been fome time before

confidered in a Committee of Council, and after-

wards laid afide for that Time, and not being

fully apprized of the whole Projecl:, nor fo well

vers'd in the Affairs of that Part of the World

as others, who had more Opportunity of know-

ing them *, and leaft the Expedition might not

at that Time prove fo feafible or advantageous

as others of better Knowlege in thofe Matters

than himfelf did expect, he did all that he ap-

prehends his Duty required to prevent the put-

ting the fame in Execution, and expreffed his

Concern at it to fome Perfons about the Queen.

And having fo far fhewn his Opinion of the faid

Defign at that Time, believes it would not have

been thought proper for him to have appeared at

the Meetings, where the Methods only of carry-

ing on the Expedition were to be adjufted ; of

which Meetings there had been but few, before

a Misfortune befel him, which confined him to

his Brd. But the faid Earl denies, that he knew
the faid Expedition was dangerous or deftructive,

nor did he hear that it was laid afide formerly by

a Committee of Council, as dangerous or im-

practicable, but only as improper in the Circum-

itances of Affairs at that Time : Nor doth the

faid Earl know or believe the faid Expedition was

fet on foot with any defign to promote the Intereft

of the French King, or to weaken the Confederate

Army in Flanders, or to diffipate the Naval Forces

of this Kingdom. And when others of her Ma-
jefty's Council, better acquainted with that Affair,

did judge it to be proper and practicable, he did

not think it became him, upon the Strength of

his own fingle Judgment, further to oppofe an

Expedition, which if it had fucceeded, moft cer-

tainly would have given a great and fenfible Blow
to the Settlements and Trade of France in that

part of the World. And the faid Earl, with good

Reafon, is perfuaded your Lordfhips will not think

it unfit that her Majefty fhould take the Opinion

of thofe who better underftood Affairs of that Na-
ture ; or that your Lordfhips can judge the faid

Earl in that refjxj£t to have been wanting in his

Duty to her Majefty ; but hopes it will be rather

an Evidence of his Fidelity to the Queen and his

Country, that he fo far difcouraged what in his

Vol. VI.

own Judgment he was difHdent of, However he
is fatisfied, that thofe of her Majefty's Council
who did approve the Expedition, acled therein

with a fincere Defire for the public Good, not-

withftanding the ill Succefs it was attended with

;

which might chiefly be owing to Delays by con-

trary Winds, and other unforefeen Accidents, And
he doth not believe, that her Majefty's Allies did

fuffer any Prejudice, or the common Enemy re-

ceive any Advantage by the detaching of Forces

from Flanders to ferve on this Enterprize *, and is

inform'd, that to prevent any fuch Danger, her
Majefty's General who commanded at that Time
in Flanders, had Orders for providing other Forces

in their Place, if he judg'd it neceffary. And the

faid Earl doth acknowlege, that the Sum of
twenty eight thoufand Pounds, or thereabouts,

was demanded at the Treafury about June One
Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven, on account

of Arms, Accoutrements, Goods, and Merchan-
dize, faid to be fent on the faid Expedition to

Canada ; but he faith, that he was fo far from ad-

vifing her late Majefty that the faid Sum fhould

be iflli'd and paid, that on the contrary he put
a Stop to the Payment of the fame, unril he had
done all he could at that time to examine into the

Expenditure of the faid Money: But being then

High Treafurer of Great Britain, and having re-

ceiv'd her Majefty's Orders to pay the faid Sum,
and not being able, with his utmoft Precaution

then, to difcover any juft Caufe why it fhould not

be paid ; he did afterwards, in Obedience to thofe

Orders, and according to the Duty of his Place,

counterfign a Warrant to the Paymafter of her

Majefty's Forces for the Payment of the fame,

purfuant to which, he believes the fame was iffued

and received. And as to that Part of the faid Ar-
ticle, which charges the laid Earl with employing
his Arts or Credit to keep the Houfe of Commons
from examining that Affair ; he begs leave to fay,

that whatever Sufpicions he might entertain in his

own Mind, he did not upon Examination find,

that there was fufHcient Proof to juftify the laying

them before either Houfe of Parliament. And
although he had been inform'd, that the Papers
relating to that Expedition, were laid before the

laft, and have been all along in the Power of the

prefent Houfe of Commons, yet he hath not heard
that any Fraud hath been made out in that Affair,

notwithftanding the Gentlemen who had them un-
der their Infpection neither wanted Abilities to

make the utmoft Difcoveries, nor could be fup-

pofed to be prevented therein by any Influence

of the faid Earl : And he hopes it will not be im-

puted to him as a Fault, if he had ufed any Skill

or Credit to keep the Houfe of Commons from
examining this Affair at that Juncture, when by
an unfeafonable Enquiry, before a proper Proof
could be had, the Fraud, if any fuch there were,

would be likely for ever to efcape unpunifhed.

But the faid Earl denies that he ever exercifed or

had any arbitrary Power or Influence, either in

her Majefty's private Council, or the great Coun-
cil of the Nation, or entertained any Defign to

prevent the Juftice due to the Queen or the Na-
tion, or that any Difcovery had been made to him,

further than what might give Sufpicion to one
who was always jealous (as became him) of any
Mifapplication of the public Treafure. And the

faid Earl faith, that he is not confeious, that by
any Letter or Memorial to her Majefty, he hath
acted contrary to his Duty ; but humbly hopes he

T may
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may be allowed to obferve. that it would be a

Matter of particular Hardfhip, and what feems

to him inconfiftent with the Rules of Government,

and without Precedent, if the moft fecret and in-

timate Papers and Letters, wrote to that moft re-

nowned and pious Princefs, her late Majefty, by

her own fpecial Command, and for her own pri-

vate Perufal, mould be imputed to any as a Crime -,

and if any Quotation from any fuch Letter or Pa-

per could be alledged againft the faid Earl, he

doubts not but there might appear from other of

her Majefty's private Papers what would juftify

him in many Particulars wherewith he is charged,

and would give farther Proof (if it were needful)

how tender and affectionate her Majefty was to all

her Subjects.

In anfwer to the fecond additional Article the

faid Earl doth admit, that about Oclober One
Thoufand Seven Hundred and Eleven, her late Ma-
jefty did fign a Warrant directed to him, then her

Treafurcr of Great Britain, for the ifiuing and Pay-

ment of the Sum of Thirteen Thoufand Pounds

to John Drummond, Efq; in the Article named ;

and that on or about the Twenty Fourth of No-

vember following, in purfuance of the faid War-
rant, under her Majefty's Sign Manual, he the

faid Earl did fign a Warrant for the Payment of

the faid Thirteen Thoufand Pounds, but for more

certainty, begs leave to refer to the faid feveral

Warrants when the fame fhall be produced : And
the faid Earl takes the Words [for fpecial Services

of the War] to have been inferted by Miftake of

the Clerks ; for he absolutely denies that he gave

any Direction for thofe Words, or any other of

like Import, to be inferted : And he believes all

the Clerks of the Treafury know, that the Mo-
nies which arofe from the Sale of Tin were the

Queen's proper Money for the Support of her

Houfhold, and fuch Occafions as fhe mould pleafe

to direct, and not appropriated to the Services of

the War ; altho' fometimes it hath been practifed

that Loans have been taken upon Tin Tallies for

the Service of the War, and other public Ser-

vices, and afterwards repaid to the Civil Lift,

which might poffibly give occafion for fuch Mi-
ftake. And the faid Earl faith, that having been

acquainted with the Services the faid Mr. Drum-
mond had performed, by Order of the late Earl of

Godolphin, in borrowing Money upon Tin at a

low Intereft, the faid Earl afked Mr. Drnmmond's

Confent that a Sum in Tin-Tallies might be ftruck

in his Name, and with fuch Confent did direct,

that Orders amounting to the Sum of Thirteeen

Thoufand Pounds mould be charged in the Regi-

fter of the Exchequer, on the Monies arifing by

the Sale of Tin, in the Name of the faid Mr. Drum-
mond, who afterwards, before his going to Hol-

land, endorfed the faid Orders at the faid Earl's

Requeft, and left them in the Treafury ; but how
long it was before the faid Orders were endorfed,

or how long they remained afterwards in the Trea-

fury, the faid Earl doth not particularly remem-
ber ; but doth not acknowlege that the faid Or-

ders and Tallies came afterwards to his own Hands,

and were difpofed for his own Ufe. But in order

to lay the true State of this Affair before your

Lordfhips, the faid Earl humbly repreients, that

upon his firft attending the late Queen, after his

being wounded, her Majefty had the Goodnefs to

tell him, that fhe defigned him a Sum of Money ;

Upon which he represented to her Majefty the bad

Condition of her Civil Lift : But feveral times af-

ter her Majefty afked him, why he did not find

a way for receiving the Money fhe intended him,
and bring the necefTary Warrant for that Purpofe P

He ftill urged the fame Reafon againft it, arid for

near Six Months made no Step in it, till at Lift

her Majefty was pleafed to fay, fhe was relblved

to have it done. And as her Majefty had, in

Matters of her Bounty, made ufe of Tin-Tallies

for other Perfons, fhe was pleafed to mention the

fame herfelf, and ordered proper Warrants to be

prepared for the Sum which her Majefty of her

Royal Bounty intended him : That after her Ma-
jefty had fo'pofuively fignified her Royal Plea-

fure, to beftow fuch Mark of her Favour upon
the faid Earl, the faid Tallies and Orders were
ftruck in Mr. Drummond's'Name, with her Ma-
jefty's Knowlege, and at the faid Earl's Nomi-
nation ; and from that time the fame were kept
under the faid Earl's Direction for his Ufe. And
the faid Earl was advifed, that nothing further was
requifite to be done, after the Affignment of the

faid Mr. Drummond, for fecuring the faid Earl's

Intereft in the faid Tallies, till an Accident hap-
pened which made it necefTary for further Securi-

ty, to have the faid Warrant as a Declaration of
Truft, which was accordingly figned by her Ma-
jefty, and is to the Effect following.

ANNE R.

WHereas in the Tear of our Lord One 'Thoufand

Seven Hundred and Eleven, in Ccnjideration

of the many good, faithful, and acceptable Services

which before that time had been performed unto us, by

our Right Trufty and Well-beloved Coujin and Coun-

fellor Robert Earl of Oxford (then and now our

High Treafurer of Great Britain) which Services
' have tended to the Quiet, Safety, and Profperity of
us and our Realms, th<P the fame were accompanied

with great Difficulties upon himfelf, and Hazards to

him and his Family. Andparticularly reflecting upon

the impious Attempt made upon his Life : We did then

fully refolve, as a particular Mark of our Favoury

and of our Gracious Acceptance of the faid Earl's Ser-

vices, to beftow upon him a Sum in ready Money.

"But the faid Earl reprefenting to us, that the Arrears

then due to our Servants and Tradefmen, chargeable

upon our Civil Lift, were very great and prefting,

we did therefore agree and determine, that the faid

Earl fhould have to his own Ufe the feveral Sums
amounting to Thirteen Thoufand Rounds, comprised

in certain Orders of Loans bearing date in or about

the Eleventh Day of December One Thoufand Seven

Hundred and Eleven, in your Name, and charged

upon the Regifter in our Exchequer on the Monies

arifing by Sale of our Tin, which Orders are not yet

in Courfe of Payment. Now we do hereby declare

and make known, that the faid feveral Sums amount-

ing to Thirteen Thoufand Ponnds, contained in the

faid Orders, and the Intereft thereof due and to be

due, are, andfhall be the proper Monies of the faid

Earl of Oxford. And wc do hereby dirctl and au-

thorife you to transfer and Affign the faid Orders,

and the whole Right and Benefit thereof, to the faid

Earl and his Affigns, or to fuch Perfon or Perfons as

hefhall appoint in that behalf. And in cafe any the

Monies due, or to be due, or payable upon the faid

Orders fhall come to your Hands ; in fuch Cafe our

Pleafure is, that you forthwith pay over the fame to

the faid Earl, his Executors, Adminiftrators, or

Affigns, to his and their own Ufe and Behoof, with-

out any Account to be therefore rendered to us, our

Heirs,
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Heirs, or Succejfors. And this our Warrant, or an

attejied Copy thereof, fitall be your fufficient Warrant

audDifcharge for fo doing.

Given at our Court at Windfor-Cafile the

Fourteenth Day ofDecember, in the Twelfth

Year of our Reign, Anno Dom, 17 1
3.

To our Trujly and Well-beloved

John Drummond, Efqy

And the faid Earl believes the faid Warrant was

drawn by Mr. Lowndes Secretary to the Treafury,

and by what Means the fame was omitted to be

enter'd in the Treafury he knows not : But upon

hearing there was aDifcourfe about the faid Thir-

teen Thoufand Pounds in Tin-Tallies, he fent a

Copy of the faid Warrant to the Officers of the

Treafury, without fignifying any Defire to have

the lame enter'd, well knowing it receiv'd its

Authority from the Sign Manual, which wanted

no additional Force from any Entry thereof in

the Treafury-Books. And the faid Earl faith,

that her Majefty was pleas'd, of her mere Good-

nefs and Bounty, and of her own free Will to

give him the faid Sum of Money in Reward of his

faithful Services, and for his Sufferings in her Ser-

vice. And the faid Earl faith, that the faid Grant,

according to the Difcount upon thofe Tallies at

that Time, amounted to the Sum of ten thoufand

Pounds, or thereabouts ; wherein he acknowleg-

eth the great Bounty of her Majefty, and takes

notice, that Grants much larger have been made
from the Crown to other Minifters of State, while

the Neceffities of the Crown have been equally

preffing. And the faid Earl doth not know that

in this or any other Part of his Admin iftration,

he ever was guilty of any Corruption, or any

Breach of his Oath or Tru'ft as High Treafurer of

Great Britain j or that he did in any Manner abufe

her Majefty's Goodnefs, or make an ill Ufe of

his Accefs to her Majefty, or embezzle the pub-
lic Treafure, or did at any time knowingly in-

jure or opprefs her Majefty's Subjects •, but on
the contrary, the faid Earl faidi, diat he managed
the public Money in the moil frugal Manner, in

order to leflen, as much as might be, the Charge
of the War ; and to eafe, if he could, the Com-
mons of Great Britain from all grievous Taxes.

And in further Vindication of himfelf againft all

the Imputations of Avarice or Corruption infi-

nuated in this Article, the faid Earl faith, that in

every Employment to which he was called by her

Majefty's Favour, he was always contended with
the accuftomed Incomes and Profits of the faid

Employments, without endeavouring to encreafe

his Gain by unwarrantable or extraordinary Per-

quisites •, that whilft he was in any Office of Trull
about her Majefty, he never abufed that Truft in

making any Manner of Profit or Advantage to

himfelf, either by the Difpofal of Places in his

own Gift, or by the Recommendation of Perfbns

to her Majefty for fuch as were granted imme-
diately by herjelf; that neither in nor out of
Place did he ever receive any Penfion from the

Crown ; that as he came with clean Hands into

her Majefty's Service, fo went not only with clean

but almoft with empty Hands out of it, having
fpent therein moft Part of the Profits which ac-
crued to him from the Places he enjoy'd ; fo that

at this Time, notwithstanding all the Advantages
he received from them, and the extraordinary
Bounty of the Queen to him, in this Article men-
tioned, he can with great Truth affirm, that his

Vol. VI.

private Fortune hath received very inconfiderable

Addition thereby.

In anfwer to the Third Additional Article the

faid Earl faith, that Matthew Prior, Efq; being

employed by her Majefty at the Court of France^

Warrants were figned in the ufual Form for Pay-

ment of feveral Sums of Money to the faid Mr,
Prior, which he believes from the Twenty Se-

venth of Auguft One Thoufand Seven Hundred
and Twelve, to the Tenth of July One Thoufand
Seven Hundred and Fourteen, might amount to

the Sum of Twelve Thoufand Three Hundred and
Sixty Pounds, as in the faid Article is fet forth ;

and he believes he did pay, or caufe to be paid

at feveral Times the faid Sums, purfuant to the

Authority he had from her late Majefty for that

purpofe, which he conceives was not only lawful,

but a Duty incumbent on him. Fie further faith,

that he doth not know that by any Law there ought

to be certain Appointments or Allowances for the

Maintenance and Support of Ambaffadors, En-
voys, Plenipotentiaries, and other public Mini-

fters of the Crown in foreign Courts ; but that her

Majefty was at Liberty to vary fuch Appoint-

ments, and the Manner of paying them, as fhe in

her Wifdom fhould think fit, out of any Funds

appropriated to the Civil Lift. He doth believe,

that there are feveral Inftances where Perfbns em-
ployed to negotiate Matters of Importance, as

Ambaffadors or Plenipotentiaries, have been al-

lowed one thoufand five hundred Pounds for their

Equipage ; one hundred Pounds a Week for dieir

ordinary Entertainment, and one thoufand fix

hundred Pounds for Extraordinaries, and likewife

further Sums for Services, performed by fpecial

Order : And if the faid Mr. Prior had been paid

upon that Foot, he would have been entitled to

a greater Sum from the Crown, for the Time
wherein he was employed by her Majefty as afore-

faid, over and above all Difburfements for fpecial

Services. And the faid Earl faith, that he takes

the faid Matthew Prior to have been fent by her

Majefty into France for her Majefty's Service, and

in order to carry on the Negotiations of a general

Peace ; but denies that he was any Creature of the

faid Earl, or fent by the faid Earl into France, or

that he carried on any Negotiations of the laid

Earl, or that her Majefty was prevailed on by his

Counfels to fend the faid Matthew Prior as her

Plenipotentiary to the French King, without the

Privity of or any Communication with the Allies,

or that the faid Earl ufed the leaft Contrivance for

carrying on, or did carry on or promote any dan-

gerous Practices with the Minifters of France, or

the Enemies of her Majefty or her Kingdoms, or

that he did at any Time combine with the faid

Matthew Prior to defraud her Majefty of any Sum
of Money whatfoever, under Colour of his Em-
ployment ; or that the faid Matthew Prior was

lent into France with the Character aforefaid i

without any fettled Appointment or Allowance for

any fuch End •, or that he the faid Earl did give

the faid Matthew Prior an unlimited Credit, or

promife to pay him any Bills whatfoever, other

than what he fhould be duly authorifed to pay ;

or that any Bills of Exchange, in the faid Article

mentioned, were drawn in purfuance of any fuch

Contrivance. The faid Earl faith, that Thomas

Harley, Efq; having been twice fent by her late

Majefty to the Court of Hanover, he the faid Earl

being then High Treafurer of Great Britain, paid

T 2 or
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or caufe to be paid to the faid Mr. Harley the

Sam of five thouland five hundred and fixty

Pounds, or thereabouts, by Authority from her

Majefty, and according to the Duty of his Office,

out of Monies appropriated to the Ufe of the Ci-

vil Lift. And he believes, that if Mr. Harley had

received an Allowance in Proportion to what hath

been paid to Ambaffadors, it would have amount-

ed to a greater Sum. But denies, that the faid

Sum of five thoafand five hundred and fixty

Pounds, or any Part of it, was paid without Au-

thority, or for promoting any wicked Purpofes of

the faid Earl, or that he did either illegally or

fraudulently iffue, direct, or advife the Direction

or Payment of any Sum or Sums of Money out of

her Majefty's Treafury, to any Perfon whatibever,

or that he ever entered into any Combination with

the Perfons abovementioned, or any other Perfon

whatfoever, to defraud her Majefty of any of the

public Money which he was entrufted with the

Management of.

In anfwer to the fourth additional Article, the

faid Earl denies, that he ever held any Correfpon-

dence with Mary the late Confort of the late King

James the Second, either by the Means ofMr. Prior,

or by any other Means whatfoever, or that he

ever intended, or had the leaft Defign any way to

promote the Intereft of the Pretender ; nor doth

the faid Earl know or believe that Monfieur Gaul-

tier, in the faid Article named, was entrufted or

employed as an Agent between any of the Mini-

fters of Great Britain and France, in tranfacting

any Affairs relating to the Pretender ; and denies

that he the faid Ea'rl had any Conferences with

him the faid Monfieur Gaultier on that Subject :

Nor doth the faid Earl know or believe that he the

faid Monfieur Gaultier was empowered to con-

cert with him the faid Earl, particularly the fet-

ling any Payment or Remittance of the Annuities

hereafter mentioned, or any other yearly Sum to

be paid or remitted out of her Majefty's Treafury

into France : Neither had the faid Earl the leaft

Defign, that any of the Fruits or Advantages of

the Peace ftiould be made an Offering to any Ad-
herent of the Pretender ; nor did he agree or un-

dertake to procure the Payment of the yearly Sum
of forty feven thoufand Pounds, or any other year-

ly Sum, to the Ufe of the faid late Confort, du-

ring her Life. But the faid Earl doth admit, that

the late King James the Second by Letters Patents

under the Great Seal of England, bearing Date on

or about the Twenty Eight Day of Auguft, in

the Year One Thoufand Six Hundred and Eighty

Five, granted unto Lawrence Earl of Rochefter,

Henry Earl of Peterborough, Sidney Lord Godol-

phin, Robert Worden, Efq-, and Sir Edward Her-

bert, Kt. (who are all fince deceafed) divers An-
nuities or yearly Sums of Money, amounting to

thirty feven thoufand three hundred twenty eight

Pounds thirteen Shillings and feven Pence, pay-

able out of the Hereditary Duty of Excife, and

the Poft-Office, and other Revenues in the faid

Letters Patents mentioned, to hold to them and

their Heirs, during the Life of the faid Confort, in

truft for her : And by other Letters Patents, bear-

ing date on or about the Third Day of December,

in the Year One Thoufand Six Hundred and Eighty

Six, alio granted unto the faid Confort a further

Penfion, or yearly Sum of ten thoufand Pounds,

to hold during her natural Life ; whereby the

faid Revenues ariiing from the Hereditary Excife

and Poll Office, and -other the- Revenues in the

faid Letters Patents mentioned, became charged

with, and were liable to the faid Annuities or year-

ly Sums, as in this Article is mentioned. And
the faid Earl doth admit, that the faid Revenues
were by fevtral Acts of Parliament granted and
fettled during the Life of his late Majefty King
William the Third, for the Ufe and Service of his

Houfbold and Family, and for other his neceflary

Expences and Occafions ; and after his Demife,
during the Life of her late Majefty Queen Anne,

were appointed to be for the Support of her

Houfbold, and of the Honour and Dignity of the

Crown •, but faith, that in the fame Act of Par-
liament whereby the faid Revenues are fo appoint-

ed, there is a general Saving to all and every Per-

fon or Perfons of all fuch Rights, Titles, Eftates,

Interefts, Claims, and Demands whatfoever, of,

in, or to, or out of the faid Revenues and Here-
ditaments, or any of them, as they, or any of
them had, or ought to have had before the ma-
king the faid Act, as fully, to all Intents and Pur-
pofes, as if the faid Act had never been made.
And the faid Earl doih admit, that an Act of
Parliament was made in the Twelfth Year of her

late Majefty's Reign, whereby the Sum of five

hundred thoufand Pounds, for the Caufes therein

mentioned, was to be applied in Aid of the Re-
venues or Branches which were appointed for the

Support of her Majefty's Houfhold, and of the

Honour and Dignity of the Crown, for, or towards

the paying and difcharging fuch Arrears of Sala-

ries, Wages, Diet-money, and other Allowances,

and fuch Debts for Emptions, Provifions, and
other Caufes, as fhould appear to be due and
owing to her Majefty's Servants, Tradefmen, and
others. But the faid Earl faith, he hath heard
that the faid late Confort of the late King James
the Second, efteeming herfelf to be entitled by the

Laws of England, by vertue of the faid Letters

Patents, to the feveral Sums of Money therein

mentioned, did, by Letter of Attorney, impower
and authorife the faid Monfieur Gaultier to de-

mand and receive for the only Ufe, Benefit, and
Behoof, all Sums of Money which from and after

the Feaft of the Annunciation of the BlefTed Virgin
Mary, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Thir-
teen, were become due and payable upon the fe-

veral Annuities, amounting to thirty feven thou-

fand three hundred and twenty eight Pounds thir-

teen Shillings and feven Pence, and the other An-
nuity or yearly Sum of ten thoufand Pounds, and
to give Acquittances and Difcharges for the Mo-
nies he mould fo receive to her only Ufe and Be-
hoof as aforefaid ; and that thereupon he the faid

Monfieur Gaultier applied himfelf to her Majefty

for the Payment of the Monies which were incur-

red or grown due on the faid feveral Annuities,

from the faid Twenty Fifth Day of March One
Thoufand Seven Hundred and Thirteen, and that

her Majefty was pleafed to fign a Warrant, di-

rected to him the faid Earl, being then her Ma-
jefty's High Treafurer, or the High Treafurer or

Commiffioners of the Treafury for the Time being,

in the Words or to the Effect in the faid Article

fet forth ; but for more certainty refers himfelf to

the faid Warrant, when the fame fhall be pro-

duced. And that in Obedience to her Majefty's

Commands fignified by the faid Warrant, he the

faid Earl did direct two feveral Warrants to the

Auditor of the Receipt of the Exchequer, to the

Effect in the faid Article fet forth; but for more
Certainty refers to the faid feveral Warrants when

the
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the fame fhall be produced. But he denies he ad-

Vifed her Majefty to fign the faid Warrant of the

twenty third ofDecember one thoufand feven hun-

dred and thirteen 5 but when fuch Warrant was

brought ro him, and he knew that the Jointure of

the faid Confort had been confirmed by Aft of

Parliament ; and had heard that by ibme private

Article of Agreement at the Treaty of Ryfwick,

Provifion had been made in relation to it ; and the

Legality of the Demand not being doubted by her

Majefty's Council learned in the Law, the faid

Earl thought it his Duty to pay Obedience to it.

And the Sum of five hundred thoufand Pounds in-

tended to be raifed by the faid Aft of the Twelfth

Year of her Majeity's Reign, together with a great

additional Sum in Tallies, being defign'd for dif-

chars;e of her Majefty's Debts, the faid Earl

thought himfelf fufficiently authorifed to direct

that the faid Sum of Money mentioned in the faid

Warrants, which he was advifed was a Debt from

her Majeity, mould be paid out of the faid five

hundred thoufand Pounds : Yet the Sum in the

faid Warrants mentioned or any part thereof,

was not paid out of the faid appropriated Sum of

five hundred thoufand Pounds, or otherwife ; but

the whole Sum of five hundred thoufand Pounds

was applied to other Ufes for which it was appro-

priated. And the faid Earl humbly hopes, that

he hath not hereby betrayed the Honour of her

late Majefty, or the Imperial Crown of thefe

Realms, or afted contrary to his Duty. And the

faid Earl doth acknowlege, that the faid Mon-

fieur Gaultier coming into England with Letters of

Credence from the French King to her late Majefty,

after having refided lbme time in England, her

Majefty was pleafed, before his Departure hence,

to direct a Prefent mould be made to the faid

Monfieur Gaultier., as hath been ufual in like Cafes

to public Minifters : And he believes her faid

Majefty was the rather inclined to make fuch Pre-

fent to the faid Monfieur Gaultier, becaufe the

faid Earl hath heard, and takes it to be true, that

the faid Gaultier had been inftrumental with the

French King to obtain the Delivery and Releafe

of thofe poor Proteftants who had fuffered aboard

the Gallies on account of their Religion, whofe

Refcue from Slavery her Majefty, out of her

known Zeal to the Proteftant Religion, and out

of her wonted Piety and Compaffion to the Con-

feffors in lb good a Caufe, had much at Heart,

and had prevailed therein beyond Expectation ; it

being what by his Majefty King William had been

attempted in vain, and was thought by many im-

poffible ever to be obtained : And the good Of-

fices of the faid Gaultier in that Affair having been

very acceptable to her Majefty, fhe was pleafed

to encreafe his Prefent in refpeft thereof, and
therefore ordered it to be paid in the lame manner
as had been done to others, whofe Prefent her

Majeity thought fit to augment. And for this

end her Majefty, about the time in this Article

mentioned, did fign a Warrant directing the Pay-

ment of one thouiand Pounds Sterling to Daniel

Arthur, Efq; in the fame Article mentioned, to

the Intent it might be paid to the faid Monfieur
Gaultier on the account aforefaid. And the faid

Earl believes the faid Monies were iffued and paid

accordingly, and doth not apprehend he hath

therein acted contrary to his Duty.

In anfwer to the Fifth additional Article, the

faid Earl doth admit the Sovereign of this Realm

may refufe to receive any natural born Subject:

who hath committed, and is under the Guilt of

High Treafon, as a public Minifter, or with

any Character from any Foreign Prince, State, or

Potentate : And that where fuch Perfon is known
to be guilty of fuch Crime, it may in molt Cafes

be fit lb to do *, But the faid Earl apprehends that

the Sovereign is the proper Judge whom to refufe

or receive with fuch Character. The faid Earl

believes that a Perfon ftiling himfelf, or common-
ly known by the Name of Lilejh or Lawlefs, did

about the Year one thoufand feven hundred and

twelve, or one thoufand feven hundred and thir-

teen, come into England with Letters of Credence

to her Majefty from the King and late Queen of

Spain, and Authority to treat about carrying Bri-

tijh Merchandizes to the Spanijh Weft- Indies; and

that her Majefty was pleafed to admit fuch Perfon

with fuch Letters of Credence ; and before his re-

turn to Spain was pleafed to order, for the Ufe of

fuch Perfon, the Sum of one thoufand Pounds,

to be paid out of the Monies appropriated to the

Civil Lift, ' which the faid Earl, in Obedience to

fuch Orders, caufed to be paid, and humbly ap-

prehends it was his Duty fo to do. But the faid

Earl believes, that when the faid Lilejh or Law-
lefs was fo admitted, he was generally thought to

be a natural Spaniard, and that from the Advan-
tages of thofe Licences which he brought for car-;

rying the Britijh Merchandizes to the Weft-Indies,

he expected much a larger Prefent : However,
the faid Earl denies that he knew, or was inform-

ed, before the Arrival of the faid Lawlefs in Eng-
land, any thing of his coming hither, nor after

his Arrival did he fee him, or know of his being

here before he had been introduced to her Majefty,

it being ufual for public Minifters to be introdu-

ced by thofe Servants of her Majefty to whofe
Office it belongs, as matter of Duty and common
Difpatch, without confulting therein ether Mini-
fters of State. And upon the Notice taken of
this Affair formerly in the Houfe of Peers, it ap-

peared that the noble Lord who introduced the

faid Lawlefs to the Queen, by vertue of his Office,

did it as of Courfe, and did not then know he
was other than a Native of Spain. And the faid

Earl faith, that of a long time after he had been
fo introduced, the faid Earl neither knew nor

heard that he was other than a natural Spaniard

i

But when the faid Perfon had continued in Eng-
land a considerable time, there was a Rumour,
and the faid Earl was afterwards informed that he

was a Native of Ireland, and departed out of that

Kingdom in his Youth, and had fince been in the

Spanijh Service ; but doth not know, nor was in^

formed, that he had committed or been guilty of

High Treafon, or that he had ferved the late King
James the Second in the War in Ireland againft

King William the Third, or had followed the faid

King James the Second into France, or been in

his Intereft or Service, or had been in Rebellion

againft King William, or in Arms againft the late

Queen. And the faid Earl having no notice of

the faid Perfon's Arival before his being admit-

ted to her Majefty, nor any Knowlege of any

Crime he was guilty of, fubmits whether it fhall

be computed to him as any want of Duty, that he

did not advife her Majefty againft admitting cr

receiving him in the Character aforefaid, or that

he did, by her Majefty's Authority, meet, con-

fer, or negociate with him concerning any Affairs

about which he was authorifed to treat (in cafe he

had
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had fo done, which however the faid Earl doth

not admit) or that by Authority from her Ma-
jefty he paid the faid Sum of One Thoufand

Pounds to the faid Daniel Arthur, which after

came to his Ufe. But the faid Earl doth

deny, that he advifed her Majefty to fign the

Warrant for Payment of the faid One Thoufand

Pounds, or gave any Directions for Payment
thereof contrary to what was intended by her

Majefty. And the faid Earl admits, that fome

other Sums of Money (which might amount in the

whole to Nine Hundred and Fifteen Pounds, or

thereabouts,) were paid in Satisfaction of Monies
advanced to the laid Lawkfs, as Part of the Mo-
nies agreed to be advanced to his Catholic Ma-
jefty by the AJfiento Contract: But denies that he

directed the Payment of any other Monies what-

foever out of her Majefty's Treafury to the faid

Lile/h alias Lawlefs, or knows that any other

Monies were paid to him, befide the aforemen-

tioned Sum of One Thoufand Pounds, and the

Monies paid in Satisfaction of what was advanced

to him towards the Part due to his Catholic

Majefty by the faid AJfiento Contract. And the

faid Earl never affumed the fupreme Direction in

her Majefty's Councils, neither was he advifing

that the faid Perfon fhould be introduced to her

Majefty, or fhould be received or treated by her

Minifters under the difguifed Name of Don Carlo

Moro, or mould at all be received as a public

Minifter here. And the faid Earl doth acknow-

lege, that the Houfe of Lords with commend-
able Zeal made fuch Addrefs, and came to fuch

Refolution, and that her Majefty made fuch An-
fwer, and iffued fuch Proclamation, as in the faid

Article is mentioned. And as the faid Earl had
always the higheft Regard to the Safety of her

Majefty's Perfon, the Security of the Proteftant

Succeffion, and Advice and Refolutions of the

Houfe of Peers •, fo he denieth, that he had the

leaft Knowlege, that the faid Lile/h alias Law-
lefs, had ever been Minifter Or Agent to the Pre-

tender at the Court of Madrid, or the leaft Suf-

picion that he was fent into England to promote
the Intereft of the Pretender in thefe Kingdoms,
nor is he confcious to himfelf, that he hath done
any thing to expofe the Perfon of her moft facred

Majefty ; to enervate or render ineffectual the

Advice of Parliament, or her Majefty's Declara-

tion ; to countenance any Emiffary of the Pre-

tender, or encourage his Adherents, to the Danger
of the Proteftant Succeffion as by Law eftablifh'd

in the ferene Houfe of Hanover : But on the con-

trary is perfuaded his Conduct in that Affair is

fo well known, as not to need any further Jufti-

fication ; but if it fhould at any Time be thought

neceffary, he is able to produce thofe Proofs of

it, which are the beft Authority in the World for

his Vindication.

In anfwer to the Sixth additional Article, the

faid Earl hath been informed, and doth believe

it may be true, that after feveral unfuccefsful At-

tempts by her late Majefty, in Conjunction with

her Allies, to eftablifh his prefent Imperial Ma-
jefty upon the Throne of Spain, Inftructions in

Writing were given to Mitford Crow, Efq-, about

the Seventh Day of March, One Thoufand Seven

Hundred and Five, taking notice her Majefty had

been informed, that the People of Catalonia were

gnclined to caft off the Yoke impofed on them by
the French, and to return the Obedience of the

Houfe of Auftria ; and that her Majefty, defiring

to maintain and improve that good Difpofition

in them, and to induce them to put the fame
fpeedily in Execution, had made choice of him
to carry on fo great a Work, for the Advantage
of her Service, and the Good of the common
Caufe, as was the making a Treaty with the Ca-
talans or any other People of Spain, for the Pur-

pole aforefaid : and that the faid Mitford Crow
was thereby impower'd to give the Catalans, or

other Spaniards, Affurances of her Majefty's ut-

moft Endeavours to procure the Eftablifhment.

of all fuch Rights and Immunities, as they had
formerly enjoyed under the Houfe of Auftria, and
the Confirmation of fuch Titles as had been con-

ferr'd on any of them by the Duke of Anjou : And
that for their further Satisfaction, her Majefty

had fent to King Charles the Third for Powers
for confirming the fame to them, and was willing,

if they infilled on it, to become Guarantee that

it fhould be done. And the faid Earl hath been
likewife informed that her Majefty, in a Com-
miffion granted to the faid Mitford Crow, ex-

preffed, that fhe thought fit to enter into a Treaty
with the Principality of Catalonia, or any other

Province of Spain, on Condition they would ac-

knowlege and receive Charles the Third as law-

ful King of Spain, and utterly abdicate the Houfe
of Bourbon, and join their Forces with her Ma-
jefty's •, and that her Majefty was pleafed alio to

fign and deliver to the faid Mitfod Crow, Creden-

tial Letters, directed to the Nobility, Magiftracy

and other Officers of Catalonia, or any other Pro-

vince of Spain, defiring them to give Faith to

every thing the faid Mitford Crow would tell

them in her Majefty's Name : And that Inftruc-

tions were likewife given to the Earl of Peter-

borough and Sir Cloudejly Shovel, about the Time
and to the Effect in the faid Article mentioned *

and that a Manifefto or Declaration was afterwards

publifh'd by the faid Earl of Peterborough, to the

Effect in the faid Article fet forth : But the faid

Earl denies, that fuch Manifefto or Declaration

was prepared by his Advice or Privity. And the

faid Earl believes it may be true, that fome Part of

the Nobility, Clergy, and Inhabitants of the

Principality of Catalonia, and alfo of the Inhabi-

tants of the Ifland of Majorca, did afterwards ac-

knowlege King Charles the Third (now Emperor)

for their lawful Sovereign, and did join their

Arms with thofe of her Majefty and her Allies

againft the prefent King of Spain ; but by what
Motives they were induced thereunto, the faid

Earl doth not know. And the faid Earl doth

acknowlege, that for fome Time the Arms of

her Majefty and her Allies in Spain were attended

with considerable Succeffes, in which the Bravery

of the Catalans appear'd, and the Forces of the

Confederates twice enter'd the capital City of

that Kingdom : by which fignal Conquefts, and

the great Supplies that have been granted by Par-

liament for their Affiftance, the faid People were

under the higheft Obligations of Gratitude to her

Majefty : But the Advantages thofe Succeffes had

given King Charles the Third being loft, her

Majefty found the Burthen of that War very

heavy to her Subjects, the Conqueft of Spain for

the prefent Emperor impracticable, and after the

Acceffion of the Empire and Defcent of the He-
reditary Countries to him, efteemed inconfiftent.

with the Intereft of many of her Allies, and there-

fore thought it neceffary for the Good of her

People,
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People, and the Tranquility of Europe, to enter

into Negotiations for a general Peace. Bat the

iaid Ear? denies that he entered into any Confpi-

racy for fubjecting the Spanijh Monarchy to the

Houfe of Bourbon, or ever had the leaft Defign

of the Ruin or Deftruction of any of the Rights,

Liberties, or Privileges of the Catalans, or that

he ever formed any Contrivance for abandoning^

them to the Fury or Revenge of the Duke of

Anjou, or his Adherent ; or for the Extirpation

of any of their Rights, Liberties, or Privileges ;

or that he advifcd her Majefty to give Directions

to the Lord Lexington to acknowledge the Duke

of Anjou King of Spain, before any Negotiation of

Peace was let on foot in form of Law, between the

Crowns of Great Britain and Spain. On the con-

trary the faid Earl faith, that by Letters and Papers

fent by one of her Majefty's Principal Secretaries

of State to the Lord Lexington, it will appear,

that after her Majefty had hearkened to the Pro-

pofals for a general Peace, for the Good of her

own People, and her Allies, fhe ufed her beft

Endeavours for obtaining the Liberties of the

Catalans, at the Conclufion of the Peace, and that

his Lordfhip was directed peremptorily and ab-

folutely to infift thereon : Nor doth the faid Earl

know or believe, that any Orders were ever fent

from or given by her Majefty, to any of her Mi-

nifters, to recede from that Demand ; or that the

faid Lord Lexington ever defifted from making

the utmoft Efforts he could for obtaining it. And
if from any Meafures of the Catalans, or of his

Imperial Majefty, or from any other Caufe, her

Majefty's Endeavours had not their full Effect ;

the faid Earl conceives it cannot be imputed to

any Neglect of her Majefty, or any Want of

Duty in him the faid Earl. He believes, that

about the Time in the faid Article mentioned,

his Imperial Majefty did enter into a Convention

or Agreement for evacuating Catalonia ; and that

her Majefty, out of Inclination to perform her

beft Offices to the Emperor, was prevailed on to

become one of the Guarantees thereof; but de-

nies, that his Imperial Majefty was neceffitated

by any Practices of the faid Earl to make any

fuch Convention, and is ignorant for what Caufes

his Imperial Majefty, whom it moft concerned,

omitted, in fuch Convention, to make exprefs

and pofitive Stipulations for the Liberties of the

Catalans. If it proceeded from any Dependence

upon the Declaration of her Majefty, to inter-

pofe her beft Offices on their Behalf, and the Pro-

mifes of the French King to join his Endeavour
therein ; he is confident it will appear, her Ma-
jefty's beft Offices were employed in that Affair,

when it is confidered what repeated Inftances fhe

made by her Minifters, and in the moft pathetic

Manner to obtain for them the Privileges they

defired. And that her Majefty, by her earneft

Interpofuion, did obtain a Grant and Confirma-

tion to all the Inhabitants of Catalonia, of a per-

petual Amnefty and Oblivion of all that was done
in the late War, the full PofTcffion of all their

Eftates and Honours, and a further Grant of all

their Privileges which the Inhabitants of both

Caftiles (who of all the Spaniards were moft dear

to the King of Spain) enjoy'd, or might at any
Time after have or enjoy •, whereby the Catalans,

if they obtained not all the antient Privileges they

pretended to, received however in Compenfation
thereof, the Advantage of trading directly to the

Weft-Indies, and other Privileges, to which they

were never before intitled. And the Houfe of

Peers, upon Confideration of feveral Papers laid

before them, relating to this Affair, in Purfuance

of their Addrefs to her Majefty in that Behalf*

expreffed their utmoft Thankfulnefs and Satis-

faction for her Majefty's repeated and earneft En-
deavours for preferving to the Catalans the full

Enjoyment of all their juft and antient Liberties.

And it is probable her Majefty had prevailed to

obtain for them the antient Privileges and Liber-

ties, in the largeft Extent, if they had waited the

Event of her gracious Interpofitions in their Fa-

vour, and not determined to carry on the War
by themfelves againft King Philip, after the Em-
peror had figned the Convention for evacuating

their Country, which incenfed the King of Spain

in the higheft Degree, and was look'd upon by
him as the moft obftinate Rebellion. However,
the faid Earl faith, he never amus'd the Catalans

with any Expectations whatfoever, nor in any de-

gree contributed to engage them in any obftinate

Defence againft the Duke of Anjou ; nor advifed

her Majefty to conclude a Peace with Spain with-

out Security for the antient Rights, Liberties and

Privileges of that People ; or to fend Sir "James

WiJJoart with a Squadron of Men of War, for

the Purpofes in the faid Article mentioned : But

believes her Majefty might think herfelf obliged,

by being Guarantee to the faid Convention, for

the evacuating Catalonia, to fend the faid Sir

James Wijhart into the Mediterranean with a

Squadron of Men of War, although he knows
not the Orders or Instructions given on that Oc-

cafion ; and humbly apprehends, that he cannot,

in Juftice, be charged with any Confequences

from that unhappy People's Refufal to comply in

their Submiffion to the King of Spain, upon the

Terms her Majefty had ftipulated for them.

Thus the faid Earl has laid his Cafe before your

Lordfhips, wherein he hopes he hath fully an-

fwered the feveral Articles exhibited againft him :

Yet, left there fhould be any Omifiion in his

Anfwer, which may be made ufe of to his Preju-

dice, he fays, he is not guilty of all, or any of

the Matters contained in the faid Articles, or any

of them, in Manner and Form as they are therein

charged againft him ; and humbly hopes that

your Lordfhips will excufe any Imperfections, or

Defects in the faid Anfwer, with Regard to Ex-
preffion or Form ; and impute whatever of that

Kind may appear, to the great Weaknefs of Body,
and ill State of Health which the faid Earl now
labours, and hath for fome Months paft laboured

under ; and that your Lordfhips will be induced

to make all farther due Allowances in his Favour,

from the following Confiderations, which relate

to the Nature of the Charge in general, and the

Difficulties with which his Defence of himfelf,

againft the Particulars contained in that Charge,

is, and muft be attended.

Moft of the Articles, with which he ftands

charged, relate entirely to the Negotiations of

Peace lately concluded at Utrecht ; he doubts not

but your Lordfhips will confider, that he muft

of neceffity be under great Difficulties, in giving

a full and particular Account of fuch a great Va-
riety of Facts as are contained in thefe Articles ;

that feveral of thefe Facts concern Tranfactions

with the Minifters of Foreign States, who can-

not be produced as Witnefies in his Defence, be

their Teftimony never lb material ; that many
Steps
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Steps and Proceedings in an Affair of this Nature,

where the Interefls of feveral Parties, not only

feparate from, but fome of them alfo contrary to

each other, are to be adjufted, do require great

Secrecy and Addrefs in the Management ; and

that in Treaties between Enemies, fuch Terms
are often propofed, and fuch Arguments ufed,

as carry a different Appearance from the real In-

tentions of thofe that treat : Upon which Ac-

counts, it muft be very difficult to fet every thing

that paft in the late Negotiations, with regard to

the Enemy, and to the Allies, in a clear Light,

and to juftify every Step that was taken towards

conducting them to the End propofed j efpecially

fince the Account of thofe Tranfactions, and of

the Reafons on which they were founded, cannot,

as he conceives, be duly cleared, but by infpect-

ing the entire Series of Letters and Papers, which

paffed, during the Continuance of thefe Tranf-

actions, and by comparing together fuch Paffages

in them, as might give Light to each other, and

to the Whole : All which Letters and Papers are

(as he is inform'd) now in the Poffefrion of the

Honourable Houfe of Commons •, nor was it

thought fit, upon his humble Application to your

Lordfhips, that he fhould be indulged with a

Copy of them.

He hopes it may not mifbecome him, on this

Occafion, to obferve to your Lordfhips, that the

Houfe of Commons, by being poffeffed of thofe

Papers, have a fuller View of the whole Progrefs,

and of all the fecret Steps of that Negotiation,

than perhaps was even in the like Cafe imparted

to any Houfe of Parliament -, and they have

therefore all the 'Advantage poffible towards

forming the Charge againfl him upon the Articles

of his Impeachment ; whereas he (the faid Earl)

being deflitute of all Affiftance from thofe Papers,

is under great and particular Difadvantages to-

wards making his Defence, in the Points whereof

he there ftands accufed ; and he is therefore humbly
affured, that, as your Lordfhips, on the one Side,

will not expect from him any fuch Proofs of his

Innocence as can only be drawn from a Perufal

of thofe Papers ; fo, on the other, you will not

admit of all, or any of thofe Articles, as made
good againfl him, unlefs the Accufations therein

contained, be fupported by the cleareft and molt

unqueflionable Evidence, of which the Nature of

the Facts is capable.

He fubmits it likewife to your Lordfhips Con-

fideration, whether in a Negotiation, drawn out

into a great Length, where the Advice of all

thofe in high Trufl about her Majefly was to be

taken, and where feveral Perfons were to be en-

trufted with the Management of what was agreed

upon, he can, with any Colour of Equity, be

made anfwerable for advifing and conducting the

Whole ?

He defires alfo farther to obferve, that every

Thing, with which he is charged, was done in

the Reign of a gracious Princefs, now deceafed,

who, by Reafon of the perfect Knowledge fhe

had of the ill State of Affairs at Home, of the

Advances made towards Peace from abroad,

and of the Commands, which fhe at feveral Times
laid on her Servants, had been the befl, and in-

deed could be the only competent Judge, whether

fhe was fraudulently dealt with, led by ill Advice

into Meafures which fhe did not direct, and ap-

prove, or made an Inftrument of facrificing the

Interefls of her Kingdoms to the Enemy. It is

with great Grief that he finds fuch Things fug-

gefled, as feem to lay a Stain upon the Character

of fo excellent a Queen, whofe Memory he is

confident will be for ever dear to this Country ;

And therefore he takes leave, in the mofl folemn
Manner, to affure your Lordfhips, that as far as

he knows, or can remember, every thing relating

to the Tranfactions of Peace was communicated
to her late Majefly, and maturely confidered by
her, before any Thing was determined thereupon ;

nor was any Step taken, but in Purfuance of fuch

Determination.

As to the Peace in general, he the faid Earl

thinks he has very good Reafon to fay, that the

Queen had nothing more at Heart, than to pro-

cure fo great a Bleffing for her People •, and that,

when it was obtained, fhe had this Satisfaction in

herfelf, that fhe had taken the mofl proper Mea-
fures to juftify her Conduct, both toward her

Allies and toward her own Subjects : For, upon
a Review of her Majefly whole Proceeding, in

relation to War and Peace, he believes it will ap-

pear, and hath in Part appeared by the Anfwer
of the faid Earl, to the faid Articles, that, as her

Majefly entered further into the War than fhe

was obliged by any Treaties fubfifting at the

Time of her Acceffion to the Throne, fo fhe con-

tributed more Men and Money towards the car-

rying it on aftej-wards, than fhe was engaged to

provide by any fubfequent Treaties : That her

earnefl Defires of Peace being twice fruftrated,

when fuch Conditions might have been obtained,

as would have fully anfwered all the Ends for

which War was at firfl declared ; that, all our

Succeffes and Victories ending in the annual In-

creafe of the Charge of England, without any fur-

ther Affiftance from our Allies, and her Kingdoms
being exhaufted to fuch a Degree (notwithftand-

ing the great Advantages obtained by her Arms)
that fhe was not able to continue the War, upon
the Foot it then flood, one Year longer •, whilft

her Allies refufed to continue it, upon thofe equal

Conditions, to which they were by Treaties

obliged : She was at lafl conftrained, in Compaf-
fion to her People, to hearken to the Overtures

of Peace then made her from France, without

relying further on the vain Hopes of gaining

more advantageous Terms, by protracting the

War a Year longer. She had carried it on, for

fome Time, under that Profpect, without reap-

ing the Benefits propofed, even at Junctures that

feemed mofl favourable to her Demands, and to

the Pretenfions of her Allies : She had indeed,

by that means, raifed the Glory of her Arms

;

but fhe could not think this a fufficient Recom-
pence for the encreafing Miferies of her People

;

and therefore refolved to lay hold of the Oppor-
tunity, then offered to her, of ending the War
by a Peace, if it might be obtained upon Terms
every way jufl, fafe and honourable : And thofe

who were then employ'd in her Majefty's Coun-
cils, thought themfelves obliged to fecond her
good Intentions in this Cafe, and to obey her
Commands with all readinefs.

The faid Earl prefumes, on this Occafion, to

mention to your Lordfhips the Saying of as wife

a Man, and as great a General as the lafl Age
produced, the Duke of Parma ; when France
was in a far lower Condition than now, being
almofl equally divided between two contending
Parties, and Spain was at the Height of its

Glory, and he himfdf at the Head of a Spanijh

Army,
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Army, fupporting one of thofe Parties, after

Paris itfelf had been befieged by the other ; it

was his Opinion (and the Advice he gave to his

Mafter the King of Spain, was grounded upon it)

That if France were to be got only by reducing

its Towns, the World would be fooner at an End
than fuch a War. The Queen feemed at this

Time, with better Reafon, to frame the like

Judgment •, and it was therefore her Pleafure,

and a great Inftance (as the laid Earl conceives) of

her Wifdom and Goodnefs, to think of fecuring

a Peace while fhe appeared able to carry on the

War (her Armies being full and numerous) and

before the exhaufted Condition of her Kingdoms,

and the Impombility, on her Side, of maintaining

ib difproportioned an Expence, was difcovered

by her Enemies. At this Juncture the Queen

entered upon a Negotiation of Peace, with Cir-

cumftances of great Honour to herfelf; France

applying to her firft, on this Account, previoufly

owning her Title, and acknowleging the Right

of the Protcftant Succeffion •, two chief Grounds,

upon which the Declaration of the laft War was

built. And to the Allies, it was conducted in

the fame manner as all Treaties of Peace in Con-

federacies have ever been, and according to the

known Laws of Nations in fuch Cafes ; the firft

Motion, and the feveral Steps of it, as faft as

they ripened into Propofals fit for Confederation,

being without delay communicated to the States-

General.

By the Terms of this Peace, as all reafonable

Satisfaction and Security due to any of the Allies,

by Treaty, were obtained for them by the Queen,

and their juft pretenfions effectually fupported

;

ib larger Advantages were actually procured for

Great Britain in particular, than ever had been

demanded before, in any Treaty, or Negotiation

between this and any other foreign State. The
faid Earl craves leave, on this Occafion, to ap-

peal to your Lordihips, whether all the Ends for

which the War was entered into have not, by this

Treaty, been fully attained? Whether it does not

appear, by the beft of Proofs, Experience, that

the Kingdoms of France and Spain are by the

Conventions of this Treaty moil effectually fepa-

rated ? And whether any other Expedient could

have been ib fuccefsful to this purpofe, as that

whereby it is now happily brought about? Whe-
ther the Ballance of Power in Europe be not now
upon a better Foot than it has been for a Hun-
dred Years paft ? Whether the Advantages- that

have accrued to Great Britain, by this Treaty, do
not appear, and have not appeared in the Secu-

rity of the Proteftant Succeffion, and in his Ma-
jetty's peaceable Acceffion to the Throne, with

the univerfal Applaufe of his Subjects, in the Ad-
ditions made to our Wealth by the great Quan-
tities of Bullion lately coined at the Mint, by

the vaft increafc of Shipping, employed fince the

Peace, in the Fifficry, and the Merchandize, and

by the remarkable Rife of the Cuftoms upon Im-
port, and of our Manufacture, and the Growth of

our Country, upon Export ? For the Proofof which

Particulars he refers himfelf to thole Offices and
Books, wherein an Authentic Account of them
is contained.

And as the Terms of the Peace were in thefe

and other Refpects manifcllly profitable to Great

Britain : fo the faid Earl begs leave humbly to

remind your Lordfliips, that they were commu-
nicated to the Parliament, and with their Con-
Vol. VI.

currence, agreed on ; that the Peace, thus con-
cluded, was afterwards highly approved by both
Houfes; that folemn Thanks were rendered to

God for it, in all our Churches, as well as in the
Churches of the United Provinces; and that her
Majefty received, on this Subject, the hearty and
unfeigned Congratulations of her People, from
all Parts of her Dominions.

Thefe being the real Effects, and this a true

Reprefentation of her Majefty's Conduct in the
Affairs both of War and Peace-, the faid Earl
fees not how he, or any others then in her Ma-
jefty's Service, can be juftly charged with be-
traying the Interefts of their own Country, and
of the Allies, by negotiating and promoting that

Peace, which then was, and (as he hath good
Grounds to believe) ftill continues to be very ac-

ceptable and advantageous to thefe Kingdoms.
And, if the Peace itfelf be not condemned, and
it be not even charged upon the faid Earl as a
Crime, that he advifed her Majefty to conclude
that Peace, (neither of which appear to him from
the Articles) he humbly conceives, it is a parti-

cular and extraordinary Hardfhip upon him, that

rough Draughts and Ellays towards a Peace, with
other Preliminary Steps in a Negotiation, all

leading to an End, which he looks upon to be
juft and profitable, and which is not in any of the
Articles alledged to be otherwife, ffiould be
brought into fo many diftinct Heads of Accufa-
tion againft him. For fuppofing that, in the

Procels of fo nice and difficult an Affair, fubject

to divers unforefeen Obftructions and Events, any
improper Steps had been taken, which the faid

Earl doth not admit, but altogether, on his Part,

denies ; yet, if Things were at laft conducted to

a right Iffue, and ended in an honourable and
advantageous Peace, there can be (as he conceives)

no juft Ground to find fault with the Meafures
made ufe of to compafs it, becaufe they feemed,

before the Accomplifhment, to have a different

Tendency; efpecially if it be confidered, that

icarce any Peace hath been made by a Confede-
racy, where lefs Occafion was adminifter'd for

Jfaloufy among the feveral Parties, and lefs

Reafon given to complain, that every Nicety,

required by the Letter of fuch an Alliance, was
not ftrictly obferved. And therefore he humbly
hopes, that no Steps taken for obtaining a Peace,

approved by the Wifdom of former Parliaments,

fhall by any fucceeding Parliament be accounted

criminal, unlefs it can be made appear, that thofe

Steps were taken contrary to the Queen's Orders,

or upon corrupt Views of private Advantage :

But that no Charge of this Nature can be made
good againft him, he prefumes to affirm, with
great Affurance ; nor does he know of any other

Perfons, juftly chargeable upon either of thefe

Accounts.

And as a further Proof, that diofe who had

the Honour to ferve her Majefty in the Negotia-

tions of Peace, acted with upright Views and In-

tentions, and without being confeious to them-

felves of any Failure in their Duty, either to

their Queen, or their Country ; the faid Earl

craves leave to obferve to your Lordfhips, that

they never attempted to cover their Actions from

public Cenfure by any Pardon, or Indemnity,

thought they have very good Reafon to believe,

that, had they judged or imagined themfclves to

have wanted fuch Security, it might (through the

Goodnefs of the Queen) have eafily been obtained.

U Nor
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Nor can he think it an Obfervation unfit to be

made, that, in few of the Articles which concern

the Negotiations of Peace, the Charge is founded

on any Breach of the Laws
r

of Great Britain ; but

it is in mod of them chiefly on the fuppofed In-

fraction of certain Treaties and Alliances with

foreign Princefs, or States ; and he conceives that

fuch Infractions of Public Treaties, where they

do not particularly affect the Interefts of Great

Britain; being cognizable by the Laws of Na-
tions only, and not by thofe of the Realm, are

not wont to be examined into here at home, and
profecuted as Criminal, but upon the Complaint

of fome Prince or State, pretending by that

means to be injured, and lodging fuch Complaint

in fome reafonable Time with the Prince, by die

Advice of whofe Minifters and Servants fuch In-

jury is fuppofed to have been done. But he

knows not, that any fuch Steps have been taken,

fince the Peace, by any of the Powers concerned

:

On the contrary, he believes, that all the Allies,

except the Emperor and Empire, made their

Peace with the Enemy at the fame Time the

Queen did ; and that none of them did afterwards

complain to her Majefty (who furvived the faid

Peace a Year and almoft four Months) of any
Hardfhips impofed upon them in it; that the

Princes of the Empire, who contributed very
little to the War, might have concluded their

Peace upon reafonable Terms, at the fame Time
the other Allies did •, and would probably have
done it, if the Emperor, on his Part, had been
willing to fign together with them, which, he is

informed, at the Conclufion of any general Peace,

has been feldom done ; and particularly at the

feveral Conclufions of the Peace of Munfter, that

of Nimguen, and that of Ryfwick was not prac-

tiied. And he fubmits it to your Lordfhips
Confideration, whether the Emperor, having
had all reafonable and equitable Satisfaction made
him for his Pretentions to the Succeflion of the
Spanijh Monarchy, according to the Terms of
the Grand Alliance, could have any juft Reafon
to complain of the Queen's Minifters, or thofe

of her Allies, for concluding a Peace, without
infilling (on his Account) upon impoflible Con-
ditions; efpecially, when no Provifion is made,
or offered to be made, to reimburfe her Majefty
any Part of thofe vaft Sums me had already ex-
pended, in Support of his Pretenfions : whilft he
failed of fupplying his Quota, almoft in every
Part of the War, notwithftanding his new and
great Acquifitions. But whether the Emperor,
or any other of the Allies, had any juft Ground
of Complaint, or not, ftill the faid Earl prefumes
to infift, that it ought to have been fignified to

the Queen ; who upon fuch Complaint, had fhe

found any of her Servants juftly blameable, as

difobeying her Orders, or mifleading her by their

Advice, into unjuftifiable and dishonourable

Meafures, might have punifhed them forthwith

as their Offences deferved: But nothing of this

kind having been done he humbly leaves it to

be confidered by your Lordfhips, Whether the

Silence of the Powers concerned doth not carry

in it a ftrong Preemption, either that they had
no real and juft Ground of Complaint, in relation

to the Terms of the Peace itfelf, or at leaft did
not look upon the Minifter of the Queen as any
ways liable to Blame on that Account ; and there-

fore he muft again beg leave to exprefs to your
Lordfhips his Concern, that he Should be charged

as a criminal by the Laws of this Land, for fup-

pofed Breaches of Treaties with foreign States,

which never were complained of, as fuch, by

thofe States themfelves, during the Life of her

Majefty.

He defires farther to obferve to your Lord-
fhips, that where-cver he is charged with carry-

ing on a private and feparate Negotiation, 'tis

all along underftood, with regard only to the

States of the United Provinceis ; no Step, that

was communicated to them, being cenfured, upon
this Account : Whereas all the other Allies (had,

by Virtue of their Treaties with the Queen, a

like Right to a Communication of Councils ;

and her Majefty was under no Stipulation to act

more in Concert with any one, than with all of

them.

He does indeed allow it to have been moft

agreeable to Reafon, and to the Interefts of State,

that the Queen fhould act in a clofer Conjunction

with Holland, than with any other of her Allies,

becaufe that, next to Great Britain, Holland bore

the greateft Share in the Charge of the War

:

But then, he hopes it will be allowed alio, that

the States being more interefted in the Succefs of

the War than England, and that England having

fubmitted to a greater Share of the Burthen, in

order to procure, not only a fitting Security for

the States, but fuch as brought great Advantages

to them, though no Benefit to England; it was

very reafonable for the Queen to take care of the

Intereft of her own Kingdoms fome other Way :

And, fince the Advantages fhe demanded from

the Enemy, were fuch as fhe might obtain with-

out any Prejudice to the States, it v/as as lawful

for her to negotiate this Matter without commu-
nicating it originally, and in the firft Rife of it,

to them, as it was for her, and the States, to con-

cert their mutual Interefts together, without the

immediate and exprefs Participation of the other

Allies ; which, being known to be done, with-

out a Defign to Defeat any of the main Ends of

the Alliance, was never complained of by any of

the Confederates.

And as for the Matters concerted previoufly

with France, for the particular Intereft of Eng-

land, without the original Invention of Holland,

the State were fo far from Protefting againft her

Majefty 's Meafures, and condemning her Con-

duct in this Refpect, that their Minifter proffer'd

feveral Times, in their Name, to have led the

Way, in the moft difficult Part of the whole

Negotiation, and to have done his utmoft to fa-

cilitate the Conclufion of it, provided his Matters

might have a Share in the Affiento Contract, and

Trade to the Spanifro Weft-Indies; one of thofe

Advantages, which France had difcovered its

Willingnefs fhould be allowed previoufly and en-

tirely to England.

Thefe few general Obfervations the faid Earl

has thought fit to add in the Clofe of his Anfwer

to the feveral Articles of his Impeachment; not

only in his own neceffary Vindication, but alio

in Defence of her late Majefty's Conduct in the

negotiating and concluding a Peace, the perfect-

ing of which fhe efteemed the greateft Happinefs

of the Reign. Upon Review of the Two and

Twenty Articles with which he is charged, as he

is not confeious of any Offence committed by him,

with refpect to any one of them, fo it is with a

particular Concern and Surprize that he reflects

on thefe two, wherein he is accufed of High-
Treaioru,
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Treafon, for endeavouring to procure foufnty to

France, and fo deprive the States of that intended

part of their Barrier -, and for procuring Spain and

the Weft-Indies to the Duke of Anjou, upon his

Renunciation of the Crown of France, referring

himfelf to what he has faid in his Anfwer to both

thefe Articles, he here further affures your Lord-

fhips (and thinks it is fufnciently known both at

home and abroad) that his Opinion and Endea-

vour, as Occafion offcr'd, always were for Tour-

nafs remaining, as it now does, to the States-Ge-

neral. And as to the latter, he doubts not but that

what has lately happen'd in France, is a convincing

Proof to your Lordfhips, and to all the World,

that the Renunciation was the beft Expedient that

could have been propofed towards hindering the

two Kingdoms from being united under one and

the fame Monarch ; that that Branch of the Treaty

which relates to this Expedient, has fully anfwer -

ed its End, and made good the Character given of

it by the Queen, "That it would execute it felf ; and

therefore, that whoever advifed this Method
_

of

Separating the two Crowns, was ib far from being

guilty of any traiterous Dcfign, that he eminently

promoted the Welfare of Great Britain and the

Good of Chriftendom.

The faid Earl, with all the AfTurances of an in-

nocent Man, begs leave to repeat, that as well in

this, as in all other Affairs of State, in which he

had the Honour to be employed by her late Ma-

jefty, he ever acted according to the beft of his

Skill and Judgment, with fincere Defires and In-

tentions to ferve the Public, and without any

View to his own private Advantage. As he was

in feveral great Stations under her Majefty, he

came into all of them by her own fpecial Com-

mand, without his feeking or defiring them, and

he ferv'd her in all with the utmoft Refpect, Zeal,

and Faithfulnefs. And while he continued in thofe

Stations for many Years, it was with great Won-
der and Pleafure that he obferv'd, how her Ma-
jefty's whole Thoughts, Endeavours, and Time
were divided between her Duty to God, and her

Love to her People ; whole Goqd and Security

fhe preferred always to her own Eafe, and often

hazarded her Health, and Life itfelf to procure it.

He knew that the moft effectual way for one to

recommend himfelf to her good Opinion, was to

act upon the fame Principles of Juftice, and Love
to his Country that fhe did : And as fhe abhorr'd

the Thoughts of any thing Burthenfome or Inju-

rious to her People ; fo fhe often expreffed herfelf

with the greateft Satisfaction and Delight, when
fhe reflected on the Advantages obtained by her

for her own Subjects, and the Quiet and Repofe
fhe had gained for Europe, by that juft and ho-

nourable Peace, for which, as the prefent Age
doth, fo Generations to come will, blefs the Me-
mory of that Excellent and Renowned Queen.

OXFORD.
L. H. Steward. Read the Replication of the

Iloufe of Commons.
The Clerk read the Replication as followeth.

The Commons Replication to the Anfwer
of Robert Earl ofOxford and Earl Mor-
mcr.

THE Commons have confidered the Anfwer
of Robert Earl of Oxford and E^arl Mortimer,

to the Articles of Impeachment exhibited againft

him, by the Knights, Citizens, and Burgcfies in Pa'r-

Vol, VI.

liarnent afTembled ; and do with Aftonilhment ob-

ferve, that the faid Earl, inftead of giving a reafon-

able and pertinent Anfwer to the juft and heavy

Charge brought againft him by the Commons of

Great Britain, has prefum'd not only to deny his

advifing and being concerned in any Matters of

State, in the Articles charged againft him -, tho*

confeffed to be done under an Adminiftration,

wherein he was notoriously the firft Minifter and

chief Director : But has alfo joined therewith a

falfe and malicious Libel •, laying upon his Royal

Miftrefs the Blame of every thing; which, by im-

pofing upon her, he had effected againft her Ho-
nour, and the Good of his Country ; thereby at-

tempting to reflect upon the Honour and Juftice

of the Houfe of Commons, and to caft an Odium
upon their Proceedings againft him, as tending to

aiperfe the Memory of the late Queen.

But the Commons are of Opinion, that if it

were poffible to add to the heavy Load of Guilt,

in which the Treafons and other moft flagitious

Crimes committed by the faid Earl, have already

involv'd him ; this bafe and ungrateful Attempt,

to impute them to his Royal Miftrefs, muft bring

fuch a new Weight of Infamy upon him, and fo

juftly provoke the Indignation of the Commons,
that they might think themfelves obliged to de-

mand your Lordfhips immediate Juftice, for this

unwarrantable Attempt upon the Honour of the

late Queen, and the Proceedings of Parliament.

But the Commons being fenfible that the Trea-

fons and other Crimes whereof the faid Earl ftands

impeached, and the NecefTity of bringing him to

fpeedy and exemplary Juftice, require that all Occa-

fions of Delay fhould be avoided ; and not doubt-

ing that your Lordfhips will in due time vindicate

the Honour of the late Queen, and of the Com-
mons of Great Britain, and the Juftice of their Pro-

ceedings : The Commons do aver their Charge a-

gainft the faid Earl of Oxfordand Earl Mortimer for

High Treafon, and other High Crimes and Mifde-

meanours, to be true ; and that the faid Earl is

guilty of all and Angular the Articles and Charges

therein reflectively contained, in fuch Manner as

he ftands impeached ; and that the Commons will

be ready to prove their Charge againft him, at

fuch convenient Time as fhall be appointed for

that Purpofe.

L. H. Steward. Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl

Mortimer, it has been ufual before the Commons
proceed, to fay fomething from this Place to Per-

sons in your Lordfhip's prefent Condition ; partly

by way of Exhortation to a reafonable Confidence

in the great Honour, Juftice, Wifdom, Integrity

and Candour of their Judges, their Peers, the

Houfe of Lords in Parliament afTembled ; and

party by way of Direction, to aflift them in their

Behaviour and Conduct during the courfe of their

Trial.

But confidering the many great Offices your

Lordfhip has borne in the State, your long Expe-

rience and known Learning in all Parliamentary

Proceedings, I cannot but think it would feem

improper for me to be fpeaking to your Lordfhip

in that Manner.

Wherefore I proceed barely to acquaint your

Lordfhip and others whom it may concern, with

fuch Orders as the Lords have made, which 'tis

fit fhould be taken Notice of thus Early in this

Trial.

U 2 f. Your
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I,, Your Lordfhip, and all other Perfons who
have Occafion to fpeak to this Court, muft ad-

drefs your Speech to the Lords in general, and

not to any Lord in particular.

2. Your Lordfhip's Council may be prefent at

the Bar, in order to be heard to any Point or

Matter of Law, if fuch fhall arife on either of the

Articles for High Treafon, and that you may

make your full Defence by Council, if you think

fit, on the Articles for High Crimes and Mifde-

meanors, as well on Matters of Fad as of Law.

3. That your Witneffes are to be examined on

Oath as well to the Articles for High Treafon,

as thofe for High Crimes and Mifdemeanors.

L. H. Steward. My Lords, the Diftance be-

tween this Place and the Bar is fo great, that I

hope your Lordfhips will excufe me, if I go to

the Table for the better hearing of what mail be

faid during this Trial.

Lords. Ay, ay.

Then the Lord High Steward went down, and

feated himfelf by the Table.

Serj. at Arms. O yes, &c. (as before.)

L. H. Steward. Gentlemen of the Houle ofCom-

mons, you will be pleafed now to proceed.

Mr. Stanhope. My Lords, the Diftance of the

Lord High Steward from this Place, may have

been the Occafion, that we have miftaken fome-

thing that fell from thence ; we do therefore defire

to avoid all Miftakes (and I believe we might be

miftaken) for we underftood my Lord High Stew-

ard, that Council mould be allowed the Prifoner

at the Bar, as well to the Defence of the High

Treafon, as to the High Crimes and Mifdemea-

nors ; it is poflible we mifapprehended his Lord-

ihip, but we hope his Lordfhip will be pleafed to

explain it to us.

L. H. Steward. To prevent Miftakes, I repeat

what I faid, and it is this. That Council for the

Lord (the Prifoner at the Bar) may be prefent at

the Bar, in order to be heard to any Matter or

Point of Law (if any fuch fhall arife) relating to

the High Treafon, and likewife to make that

Lord's full Defence on the Articles of Impeach-

ment of High Crimes and Mifdemeanors, as well

in Matters of Fac>, as Matters of Law.

Mr. Hampden. TV /TY Lords, the Commons of

_LVJ. Great Britain in Parliament

affembled, out of indifpenfable Duty to their

Country, and Zeal for the Prefervation of the

common Liberties of Europe, have brought to your

Lordfhips Bar Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl

Mortimer, late High Treafurer and a Privy Coun-

fellor of this Kingdom, charged with the higheft

Crimes and Mifdemeanors, by him committed

and done againft the Perfon, Crown and Dignity

of his Sovereign, the Peace and Intereft of this

Kingdom, and in Breach of the feveral Trufts re-

pofed in him.

The Commons in their Charge fet forth, the

many folemn Treaties and Alliances which had

been entered into between the Crown of England,

and other Princes and Potentates of Europe, for

their mutual Safety, from the Confiderations of

the common Danger which then threatened all

Chriftendom from the immoderate Growth of the

Power of France.

They likewife take Notice to your Lordfhips of

the profperous and flourifhing Condition which

the Liberties of Europe were in when, under thefe

Treaties and Alliances, it pleafed Almighty God

to blefs the Confederate Arms under the Co-n-

mand of their Great and Victorious General the

Duke of Marlborough, with fuch a Series of Suc-

cefles, as far exceeded their own Expectations,

and by the Wifdom and Unanimity of their Coun-
fels, the Glory of the Confederate Arms, and the

Reputation of Great Britain in particular, was
rais'd to a higher Pitch than in any former Age.

That in this profperous Condition of Affairs,

the Prifoner at the Bar, with other evil-minded

Perfons, Enemies to the true Intereft of their Coun-
try, as well as to the common Liberties and Wel-
fare of Europe, did by many wicked Arts an In-

finuations obtain Accefs to her late Majefty Queen
Anne, got into her Councils and into Places of the

higheft Truft, to make way for his and their per-

nicious En terprizes, form'd a treacherous Correspon-

dence with the Emiffaries of France, and givefalfe

and deflruclive Councils to her Majefty.

The particular Articles exhibited by the Com-
mons, to which proper Evidence will be apply'd,

contain a Charge.

That this Great Perfon at the Bar, having no
Regard to the Honour or Safety of his Sovereign

or thefe Kingdoms, wherewith he was entrufted,

or to the many folemn Engagements with the old

and faithful Allies of this Nation, but being de-

voted to the Intereft and Service of the common

Enemy, did, by private and fecret Negotiations

in Breach of all public Faith, malicioufly and

wickedly cultivate and improve the Demands of

the Enemies of his Country, more to their Ad-
vantage than they themfelves could have ever

hoped for.

That by clandeftine and fecret Negotiations with

the Enemies of England, he gave up the particular

Intereft of his own Country : That he afiumed to

himfelf Regal Power, and in a time of open War
took upon himfelf to meet and treat with the Ene-
my, without any Authority or Power from his

Sovereign, and did what in him lay to fubvert the

ancient and eftablijbed Conftitution of this King-
dom.

That he conceal'd the Advice and pernicious In-

fluence whereby he had engaged his Sovereign and
proftituted her Honour, which had been railed to

the higheft Pitch of Glory abroad, and been juft-

ly held in Veneration with her Allies ; and the

Royal Hand was by the wicked Arts of the Pri-

foner at the Bar, made the Inftrument to advance

the Intereft of the common Enemy.
That by deceitfully amufing the Allies of the

Crown of Great Britain, and by private, feparate

and unjuflifiable Negotiations, entered into, and
carry'd on by the Prifoner at the Bar, a lading

Reproach was brought upon this Nation, and the

public Faith of many Treaties, wherein England

was engaged in the moft facred and folemn Man-
ner, was notorioufly Violated, and the faithful

Allies of the Crown Amus'd and Deceiv'd.

That the Prifoner at the Bar did in the moft fa-

tal Manner Impofe upon and Delude his Sovereign

in accepting a pretended Expedient from the Ene-
my, which the Enemy at the fame time declar'd

to be Null and Void. That the moft unjuflifiable

and deflruclive Meafiires were taken by him to

difTolve the whole Confederacy, without any Re-
gard to Religion, Liberty, or the Faith of Treaties j

and in Confideration of his wicked Advice, great

Numbers of the Confederate Troops, who had on

many Occafions figniliz'd themfelves in the De-

fence of the Caufe of Europe, were given up as a

Sacrifice
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Sacrifice to the Fury and Revenge of the Enemy, with preventing any Parliamentary Enquiry into

My Lords, The Commons in their Charge fet the fame, to the Reproach and Scandal of Parlia-

forth the particular Meafures concerted and taken ments in Breach of his Trusl, the higheft Abufe

by the Prifoner at the Bar, to complete the De- of the Goodnefs of his Sovereign, and the greateft

ftruction of the Common Caufe of Europe, and the Injuftice and Oppreftion of her Subjects, and that

Proteftant Succejjion to the Crown of thefe Realms, he defrauded her late Majefty of the Public Money

And they Charge with which he was entrusted for the Support of

That the Prifoner now before your Lord/hips did the Honour and Dignity of the Crown,

traiieroujly Aid, Afftft, and Adhere to the Enemies That this Great Per/on did affiime to himfelf the

of his Queen and Country, and advis'd and promo- Supreme Direction in her late Majefty*s Councils,

ted the living up to thofe Enemies the important and did introduce to her Majefty for a pretended

Town and Fortrefs of Tournay, together with Spain public Minisler, a TRATTOR in Difguife named

and the Weft-Indies. m die Articles •, and gave fuch Traytor fevera!

That he Sacrificed the Trade and Commerce of confiderable Sums out of her Majefty's Treafure, in

Great Britain to its common Enemy without the a Fictitious and Scandalous manner-, fuch Perfon

leaft Shadow of Advantage procur'd to thefe King- being fent into this Kingdom under folfe Pretences,

doms, and Beirafd the National Faith and Ho- fecretly to promote the Intereft of the PRE-
nour of the Crown, employing againft his Imperial TENDER, whereby the Prifoner at the Bar

Majefty (the Great and Faithful Ally of this King- did ungratefully expofe the Perfon of her Majefty,

dom) the Naval Power of the Crown, and the and notorioufly encourage the Adherents of the

Supplies granted by Parliament, in direct Viola- Pretender, to the apparent Danger of the Prote-

tion of the Grand Alliance, and contrary to her ftant Succeffion to the Imperial Crown of thefe

Majefty's repeated Declarations from the Throne, Realms. And,

and her plain and full Inftrudtions to her Plenipo- Laftly, That this Great Perfon at the Bar did,

tentiaries at Utrecht. by the moft falfe and wicked Councils and Prac-

That he took upon himfelf to Exercife the mod tices, Betray and give up as a Sacrifice to the im-

arbitrary and unwarrantable Authority ; afluming placable Refentments of their enrag'd and power-

to himfelf the chief Direction and Influence in her fill Enemy, a Free and Generous People, the faith-

late Majefty's Councils, and moft wickedly profti- ful and ufeful Allies of this Kingdom, the brave CA-
tuted the Honour of the Crown, and the Dignity TALANS : who by the Evil Meafures concerted

of Parliaments, totally depriving her Majefty of and taken by the Prifoner at the Bar, were Be-

the wholfome and neceflary Advice of her Par- tray'd into irrecoverable Slavery, and the Honour

liament, and Mifreprefenting the moft Effential of the Britifh Nation, always Renowned for the

Parts of the Negotiations of Peace, to obtain the Love of Liberty, and for giving Protection to the

Sanction of Parliament to his wicked and pernici- Diftreffed Afferters of it, therein moft bafely prO«

ous Proceedings, thereby fatally Deceiving her ftituted by the pernioious and deteftable Council

Majefty, her Allies, her Parliament, and her Peo- of the Prifoner at the Bar.

pie, by feveral falfe Speeches and Declarations, Thus your Lordfhips have a View of the Guile

concerted and advis'd by him, to be made by her in which the Treafons and other Crimes commit-

Majefty from the Throne to her Parliament on the ted by the Prifoner at the Bar have involv'd him

:

Subject of the faid Negotiations of Peace; and by And it is with Aftonifhment the Commons obferve,

fuch wicked and unexampled evil Council, he did that his Defence is an Attempt to afperfe the Me-
moft ungratefully abufe the Favour of his Royal mory of his Royal Miftrefs with the Blame of what

Miftrefs, and by means of her Authority mifled was tranfacted during his Adminiftration, which

her Parliament into Groundlefs and Prejudicial by impofmg upon her he had effected againft her

Refclutions ; and thereby not only prevented the Honour, and the Good of his Country; thereby

juft Advice of the Parliament to her Majefty in that attempting to reflect upon the Juftice of the Houfe

CRITICAL JUNCTURE, but obtained of Commons, and to caft an Odium upon their

the Approbation of Parliament to his MTSTE- Proceedings againft him. But we doubt not your

R 10 US and DANGEROUS PRACTICE S

;

Lordfhips Vindication of the Honour of her late

and did not only Deprive her Majefty of the Con- Majefty, and the Proceedings of the Commons in

fidence and Affection of her Allies, but Expofe her this Profecution.

Majefty and her People to the Contempt of the The Commons think it their Duty to exprefs their

Enemy. utmoft Abhorrence of the traiterous and wicked

That he has us'd his utmoft Endeavours to Sub- Proceedings of the Prifoner at the Bar, and to

vert the Ancient Conftitution of Parliaments, the (hew their Refentment againft him, as the Author
Great and only Security of the Prerogative of the and Promoter of them.

Crown, and of the Rights, Liberties, and Proper- They have found him Abufing and Betraying the

ties of the People, and moft wickedly attempted Honour of his Royal Miftrefs, into whofe Favour

to deftroy the Freedom and Independency of this he had infinuated himielf for the moft deftructive

Noble FLmfe, the great Ornament and nearesl Support and wicked Purpofes. They have found him infi-

of the Crown; difguifing his mifchievous Intend- dioufly dividing and weakening Us and our Allies:

ons, under pretence of Superior Zeal for the Pre- Betraying our Councils ; traiteroufty giving up our

rogative of the Crown, but by his falfe Advice her ftrong Holds, Fortreffes and Defences of Europe, and

Majefty was depriv'd of the feafonable and wholfome her moft Wealthy and Flourifhing Countries to

Councils of her Parliament, and the Prerogative the Common Enemy in time of OPEN WAR:
perverted to the Difhonour of the Crown, and the And contriving and effecting the Diflblution of
irreparable Mifchief to the Conftitution of Parlia- the greateft and moft noble Confederacy that ever

mentu formed and united in Defence of the Proteftant ln-

My Lords, The Commons have further charg'd tereft, and the glorious Liberties of Europe.

the Noble Lord with Corruptions, in illegally mif- They have found him attempting to deprive thefe

applying Monies appropriated by Parliament, and Kingdoms of the only Blefling left to their Hopes,
and
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and which, by the Providence of God only, they

now enjoy the moft aufpicious Government of his

prefent Majefty, the Greatejl and Beft of Princes,

whole Magnanimity, Wifdom, Piety, and other

princely Virtues have filj'd the Imperial Throne of

Great Britain with a Luftre unknown in any former

Age. In this Attempt the Noble Lord at the Bar

wickedly endeavour'd to Defeat us of our happy

Profpect of lading Felicities, in a long Succeflion

Of Proteftant Princes in the Royal Line of his moft

Excellent Majefty, the moft Illuftrious Prince and

Princefs of Wales, and their IJfue, eminently en-

dow'd with all Graces and Accompliftiments for

making a generous and free People happy : On
the Continuance of which Succeflion, next under

God, all that is Dear and Valuable to us entirely

depends.

My Lords, The Commons juftly Refent and De-

left the Reproach brought upon the Faith and

Honour of their Country, by the great Evil Mi-

nifter at the Bar: But they promife themfelves

your Lordfhips will ever be a Terror to all Evil

Minifters, how Great foever ; and that your Lord-

Jhips can never fail to do Juftice to your injur'd

Country, upon all Perfidious Counfellors, who lie

in wait to deftroy our Religion, Laws and Liber-

ties.

Sir Jofeph Jekyll. My Lords, by the Commands
of the Houfe of Commons, I appear to make good

that Part of the Charge againft the Noble Lord at

the Bar, which is contain'd in the firft Article.

Here the Lord Harcourt moved to adjourn to

the Houfe of Lords..

L. H. Steward. Is it your Lordfhips Pleafure to

adjourn to the Chamber of Parliament ?

Lords. Ay, ay.

L. H. Steward. This Houfe is adjourn'd to the

Chamber of Parliament,

And being adjourned accordingly, the Lords

and others return'd in the fame Order they went

down.
And the Houfe being Refum'd, this Queftion

was moved and ftated,

That the Commons be not admitted to proceed

in order to make good the Articles againft Robert

Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer for High Crimes

and Mifdemeanors, till Judgment be firft given on

the Articles for High-Trealbn

:

And a Debate enfuing thereupon,

. The previous Queftion was put, whether that

•Queftion fhall be now put ?

It was Refolved in the Affirmative.

. And the main Queftion being accordingly put,

•viz.

That the Commons be not admitted to pro-

ceed, in order to make good the Articles againft

Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer for High
Crimes and Mifdemeanors, till Judgment

k
be firft

given on the Articles for High-Treafon ?

It was Refolved in the Affirmative.

Ordered, That the faid Refolution be commu-
nicated to the Commons by the Lord High
Steward.

A Meffage was fent to the Houfe of Commons
by Mr. Browning and Mr. Orlebar, two Mafters

of the Court of Chancery, to acquaint them, that

the Lords are now about going down into Weft-
minfler-Hall.

The MefTengers return'd, and acquainted the

.Houfe, that they had delivered their Mefiage,

and that the Commons were preparing to go im-
mediately into Weftminfter-Hall.

Then the Houfe was again adjourn'd into Weft-
minfter-Hall; and the Lords being there feated,

and the Houfe refumed, the Lord High Steward
acquainted the Managers for the Commons, that

their Lordfhips had come to a Refolution, that

the Commons be not admitted to proceed in order

to make good the Articles againft Robert Earl of

Oxford and Earl Mortimer for High Crimes and
Mifdemeanors, 'till Judgment be firft given on
the Articles for High-Treafon.

Sir William Thomfon. My Lords, the Managers
for the Commons conceive it to be the undoubted
Right of the Commons to proceed in their own
Method in Maintenance of the Articles exhibited

by them ; and do apprehend that this Refolution
of your Lordfhips may be of fuch fatal Confe-
quence to the Rights and Privileges of all the
Commons of Great Britain, that they cannot take
upon them to proceed any further, without re-

ferring to the Houfe of Commons for their Di-
rection herein.-

L. H. Steward. Is it your Lordfhips pleafure to

Adjourn to the Chamber of Parliament"?

Lords. Ay, ay.

Then the Houfe adjourned to the Chamber of
Parliament. And being Refumed,
The Earl of Oxford was Order'd to be Remand-

ed to the Tower, and to be brought again to the

Bar in Weftminfter-Hall to-Morrow at Eleven o'

Clock in the Forenoon, in order to proceed fur-

ther on the Trial of the faid Earl.

Die Martis 25 Juniiy
lyiy.

t
AH E Houfe of Lords being met as ufual in

the Chamber of Parliament, it was there

Ordered, that a Meffage be fent to the Houfe of
Commons to acquaint them that the Lords have
Ordered Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer
to be brought to the Bar of their Houfe in Weft-
minfter-Hall this Day at Eleven o'Clock in the

Forenoon, in order to proceed further on the Trial

of the faid Earl.

And a Meffage was fent accordingly by Mr.
Holford and Mr. Lovibond, two of the Mafters of
the Court of Chancery.

A Meffage was fent from the Houfe of Com-
mons by Mr. Carter and others, that the Com-
mons having taken into their Consideration their

Lordfhips Refolution communicated to their Ma-
nagers relating to the Proceedings on the Trial of
Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, and be-

ing defirous to preferve a good Correfpondence be-

tween the two Houfes, have appointed a Com-
mittee to fearch Precedents upon a matter of this

great Importance, and defire that their Lordfhips

will not proceed at the time appointed.

Ordered, That the MefTengers of the Houfe of

Commons be called in and acquainted, that the

Lords having taken the Meffage of the Commons
into their Confideration, their Lordfhips will not

proceed on the Trial of the Earl of Oxford and
Earl Mortimer at the time appointed, but will pro-

ceed further on the faid Trial on Tburfday next at

Eleven o'Clock in the Forenoon.

Accordingly the MefTengers were called in and

acquainted therewith.

Ordered, That the Lieutenant of the Tower do

take back the Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer

to the Tower, and do bring the faid Earl to the

Bar of this Houfe in Weftminfter-Hall on Tburf-

day next at Eleven o'Clock in the Forenoon, in'

order
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T Mefiagi

Houfe of Lords being met as ufual,

is fen c from the Houfe of Com-

mons by the Lord Morpeth and others, to defire

a Conference with the Houfe of Lords, in rela-

tion to Proceedings in the Profecutions of Im-

peachments. To which the Houfe agreed.

And the Commons were called in and told,

that the Lords do agree to a Conference as is de-

fired, and appoint it prefently in the Painted

Chamber.

Then feveral Lords were named Managers of

the Conference.

The Houfe being informed, that the Com-
mons were ready for the Conference, in the Painted

Chamber.

The Houfe was adjourned during Pleafure, and

the Lords named as Managers went to the Con-

ference : Which being ended,

The Houfe was relumed.

And the Lord Privy Seal reported, that they

had been at the Conference, and met Mr. Carter

and other Managers, for the Commons, who de-

livered to their Lordfhips a Paper as follows.

The Commons having taken into their Con-

fideration your Lordfhips Refolution, communi-
cated to their Managers, relating to the Proceed-

ings on the Trial of Robert Earl of Oxford and

Earl Mortimer, and being defirous as far as in

them lies to maintain a good Correfpondence with

your Lordfhips ; have defired this Conference,

and have commanded us to acquaint your Lord-

fhips, that they conceive it to be the undoubted

Right of the Commons to impeach a Peer, either

for High-Treafon, or for High-Crimes and Mif-

demeanours, or, if they fee Occafion, to mix
both the one and the other in the fame Accufa-

tion.

The Impeachment preferr'd againfl Robert Earl

of Oxford and Earl Mortimer is one continued

Accufation, confifling of High-Crimes and Mif-

demeanours and alio of Charges of High-Treafon.

The Pacts on which the Articles preceding thofe

of High-Treafon are grounded are laid together

in Order of Time, and follow one another fuc-

ceffively, in the manner they were committed.

As the Commons thought this the moft natural

Method for exhibiting the feveral Articles againfl
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order to proceed further on the Trial of the faid only are Mailers of the Evidence, and as upon

Earl, that Account they are beft able to determine, in

what Method to proceed for the Advantage of

the Profecution, in the Event of which all the

Commons of Great Britain are fb highly con-

cerned.

To which they further add, that they fee no

Reafon, but that your Lordfhips may as well in-

vert the whole Order of the Articles, as prefcribe

to the Commons thofe particular Articles on

which they are firft to proceed •, which will ne-

ceflarily produce fuch a Confufion, both in the

Facts, and Evidence, as is by no means con-

fiflent with that Clearnefs

which the Commons think

and Perfpicuity

this Affair

in

ought to

appear.

The Commons upon examining Precedents,

do find divers Precedents of Impeachments for

High-Treafon and other High-Crimes and Mif-

demeanours, in the fame Accufation ; and do not

find that the Lords ever objected to fuch Pro-

ceeding, or ever gave Judgment upon any par-

ticular Article of an Impeachment before the

Commons had gone through, and concluded

their Evidence upon all the Articles, or fo many
of them as they thought fit ; and the Commons
are at a Lois to conceive what Arguments or Pre-

cedents can be brought to fupport the Refolution

of your Lordfhips, to give Judgment upon one

Part of the fame Accufation, referving the other

Part for a fublequent Trial, as they are to know
what your Lordfhips mean by admitting the

Commons to proceed upon the Articles for High-
Crimes and Mifdemeanours, after the Judgment
is given upon the Articles for High-Treafon,

fuppofing the Judgment proper for High-Treafon

fhould be given againlt the faid Earl.

For thefe Reafons the Commons affert it as

their undoubted Right to proceed on the Trial

of Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, after

the Method in which their Managers were pro-

ceeding, when interrupted by your Lordfhips Re-
folution.

The Reafons delivered by the Commons at the

Conference were read by the Clerk.

And after Debate, and Reading the Refolution

of this Houfe communicated to the Commons on
Monday laft, viz.

That the Commons be not admitted to pro-

ceed in Order to make good the Articles againfl

Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer, for

High-Crimes and Mifdemeanours, 'till Judgment
the faid EarJ, they were all of Opinion that they be firft given on the Articles for High-Treafon
fhould proceed in the Proof of thefe feveral Facts

after the fame Method, fince it is manifefl, that

in laying open the Courfe of fuch a wicked Ad-
miniftration, the preceding Parts of it give Light
to thofe which follow ; and that the Proof of

Feveral Articles of the High-Crimes and Mifde-
meanours would naturally lead to the Proof of
thofe of High-Treafon.

Your Lordfhips received thefe feveral Articles

The Queflion was put, Whether to infill on
the faid Refolution ?

It was refolv'd in the Affirmative.

Then it being propofed that a Committee be

appointed to prepare what is to be offered to the

Commons at a Conference in communicating to

them the Refolution for infifling

:

And a Queflion being ftated thereupon,

It was moved to add thefe Words to the faid

of Impeachment without making any Exception Queflion, viz. [And alfo to prepare fuch Reafons
againfl the Form in which they were exhibited, as fhall be thought proper to be then ufed in

The faid Earl made his Anfwer to them in the Maintenance thereof.]

fame Order, and has no where infifted to be tried And after Debate, the Queflion was pur,

in any other Method ; fo that the Commons are Whether thofe Words fhall be added to the faid

iurprized to find a Stop put to their Profecution, Queflion ?

by an Objection which has never been fcarted by It was refolv'd in the Affirmative.
the faid Earl, and which your Lordfhips had Refolv'd upon the Queflion, and ordered, that a
given them fo little Reafon to expect. Committee be appointed to prepare what is to be

I this mull be added, that as the Commons offered to the Commons at a Conference in com-
municating
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them the Refolution of this Houfe the Houfe of Commons were beginning to pro-

for infilling on their Lordfhips Refolution above- ceed upon the Trial to make good the firft Article

municating to

mentioned" and alfo to prepare fuch Reafons as thereof, which is a Charge for High-Crimes and

fhall be thought proper to be then ufed in Main-

tenance thereof.

Ordered, That all the Lords prefent be the faid

Committee.

Then it being propofed, that the Committee

Mifdemeanours only ; and alfo confidering the

very different Methods of Proceedings on an Im-
peachment of a Peer for High-Treafon, as well

before, as upon the Trial thereof, and the Cir-

cumftances attending fuch a Trial, from the Pro-

meet immediately. And the fame being objected ceedings on an Impeachment of a Peer for High-
Crimes and Mifdemeanours, and the known Cir-

cumftances attending fuch a Trial, thought thcm-

felves obliged to come to the Refolution commu-
nicated to the Commons on the Twenty-fourth

In flan t, as well for the doing Juftice in the Cafe

depending before them, as for the preventing a

new Precedent to be made on this Trial, in Con-

to ;

The Queftion was put, Whether the Com-
mittee fhall withdraw and fit immediately ?

It was refolv'd in the Negative.

Ordered, That the faid Committee, or

Seven of them, meet to-morrow at Ten o

Clock in the Forenoon in the Prince's Lodp-

any

the

ings

near the Houfe of Peers, and to adjourn as they fequence whereof a new and unjuftifiable Form of

pleafe

Ordered, That the Lieutenant of the Tower do

take back the Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer,

and bring the faid Earl to the Bar of this Houfe

mWeftminfter-Hall, on Saturday next at Eleven

o' the Clock, in order to proceed further on the

Trial of the faid Earl.

Die Veneris 2.8 Junll, 17 17.

THE Lords being afTembled in their Houfe

as ufual, a Meflage was fent to the Houfe

of Commons by Mr. Fellows and Mr. Meller, two

of the Mafters of the Court of Chancery, to ac-

quaint them that the Lords do defire they will

continue fitting for fome Time.

The Lord Trevor reported from the Committee nor fequefter'd from Parliament, and is entitled

appointed to prepare what is to be offer'd to the to the Privilege of fitting within the Bar during

Commons at a Conference in communicating to the whole Time of his Trial : In all which Par-

them the Refolution of this Ploufe, for infilling ticulars the known Rule of Proceedings in fuch

on their Lordfhips Refolution communicated to Cafes may be evaded, fhould a Peer be brought

the Commons on Monday lafl, and alfo to pre- to his Trial on feveral Articles exhibited againft

pare fuch Reafons as fhall be thought proper to him on High-Crimes and Mifdemeanours and for

be then ufed in Maintenance thereof, that the High-Treafon mixed together, and the Corn-

Committee have prepared Reafons acordingly, as mons be admitted to proceed in order to make
follow, viz. good the Articles for High-Crimes and Mifde-

Their Lordfhips, in order to preferve a good meanours before Judgment be given upon the

Correfpondence with the Houfe of Commons Articles for Pligh-Treafon. Their Lordfhips

(which they fhall always endeavour to do as far have fully confidered the Matters offered to them

as lies in their PowerJ have defired this Conference by the Houfe of Commons at the laft Conference

upon the Subj eft-Matter of the laft Conference, relating to the Proceedings againft Robert Earl

Proceeding againft a Peer upon an Impeachment

for High-Treafon and High-Crimes, might be

introduced at his Trial upon thofe Articles in

which he is charged for High-Crimes and Mifde-

meanours only, to the Prejudice of the Peerage

of Great Britain in all Time to come, viz. the

Trying a Peer on Articles for High-Crimes and

Mifdemeanours without the Bar, the detaining in

Cuftody a Peer fo accufed, and repeated Com-
mitments of him to the Tower, during the Time
of fuch Trial, and fubjecting a Peer to as igno-

minious Circumftances on his Trial, on Articles

for Mifdemeanours, as if he were then on his

Trial on Articles for High-Treafon : Whereas a

Peer on his Trial on Articles for Mifdemeanours

only, ought not to be deprived of his Liberty,

and have directed us to acquaint you, that their

Lordfhips judge it a Right inherent in every

Court of Juftice, to order and direct fuch Me-
thods of Proceedings as fuch Courts fhall think fit

to be obferved in all Caufes depending before

them, which can have no Influence to the Pre-

judice of Juftice ; and where fuch Methods of

of Oxford and Earl Mortimer ; and their Lord-

fhips are fully fatisfied, that the Refolution they

have taken and communicated to the Commons
on the Twenty-fourth Inflant is juft and reafon-

able -, and that the Houfe of Commons are not

put under any real Inconvenience thereby in car-

rying on their prefent Profecution. Their Lord-

Proceedings are not otherwife fettled by any po- fhips have commanded us to let you know that

fitiveRule. The Power of Judicature on all Im- they do infift on their faid Refolution, viz. That
peachments being a Right unqueftionably inhe- the Commons be not admitted to proceed in order

rent in their Lordfhips, and it not being deter- to make good the Articles againft Robert Earl of

mined by any pofitive Rule, whether the Houfe Oxford and Earl Mortimer for High-Crimes and

of Commons may proceed to make good the fe- Mifdemeanours 'till Judgment be firft given upon

veral Articles exhibited for Mifdemeanors, in the Articles

fuch Order as they fhall think fit, before they Which Report

proceed to make good the Articles exhibited for

High-Treafon ; and there being no Precedent

where the Commons upon Trial of any fuch Im-

peachments attempted to proceed in the firft Place

to make good any of the Articles contained in

fuch Impeachment for High-Crimes and Mifde-

meanours ; their Lordfhips confidering the Na-
ture of the Impeachment now depending before

them, and the Method wherein the Managers for

for High-Treafon.

being read by the Clerk was

agreed to by the Houfe.

Then a MefTage was fent to the Houfe of

Commons by Mr. Fellows and Mr. Meller, to

acquaint them, that the Lords do defire a pre-

fent Conference in the Painted Chamber, upon the

Subjeft-Matter of the laft Conference.

Ordered, That the Managers of the laft Con-

ference be the Managers of this Conference.

The
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The Meffengers feat to the Houfe of Commons

return Anfwer, That the Commons will give a

prefent Conference as defired.

The Houfe being inform'd, that the Com-

mons were ready in the Painted Chamber for the

Conference the Names of the Managers were read :

And,
The Houfe was adjourned during Pleafure,

and the Lords named as Managers went to the

Conference •, which being ended, the Houfe was

refumed : And
The Lord Chamberlain reported, that the Ma-

nagers had been at the Conference, and delivered

to the Commons what they were directed.

A Meffage was fent to the Houfe of Com-

mons by Mr. Fellows and Mr. Meller, to acquaint

them, That the Lords have ordered the Earl of

Oxford to be brought to the Bar of this Houfe in

Weftminfter-Hall to-morrow at Eleven o'Clock

in the Forenoon, in order to proceed further on

the Trial of the faid Earl.

A Meffage was brought from the Houfe of

Commons by Mr. Tonge and others, to defire that

this Houfe will continue fitting for fome Time ;

to which the Houfe agreed.

And the Commons were called in and told,

That the Lords will continue fitting for fome

Time, as is defired.

Ordered, That the Lieutenant of the 'Tciver do

bring the Earl of Oxford to the Bar of this Houfe

in Weftminfter-Hall, on Monday next at Eleven

o' Clock, in order to proceed further on the Trial

of the faid Earl.

Die Sahbati ly Junii, iyij.

THE Houfe ^>f Lords being affernbled as

ufual in the Chamber of Parliament, a

Meffage was brought from the Houfe of Com-
mons by Mr. Pelham and others, to defire a free

Conference with this Houfe upon the Subject-

Matter of the laft Conference.

Ordered, That this Houfe will fend an Anfwer

by Meffengers of their own. And
The Meffengers were called in, and acquainted

therewith.

The Houfe proceeded to take the faid Meffage

into Confideration. And after Debate, and read-

ing out of the Journal the Proceedings at the fe-

veral Conferences in the Cafe of the Lord Vifcount

Mordaunt upon his Impeachment in the Year One
Thoufand Six Hundred and Sixty-fix.

The Queftion was put, Whether to give a free

Conference with the Houfe of Commons, as is

defired, upon the Subject-Matter of the laft Con-
ference ?

It was refolv'd in the Negative.

Ordered, That a Meffage be fent to the Houfe
of Commons, to acquaint them, that the Subject-

Matter of the laft Conference concerning a Point

of Judicature determined by this Houfe after the

Trial began, their Lordfhips do not think fit to

give a free Conference on the Subject-Matter of
the laft Conference, as is defired by the Houfe of
Commons.
And alfo, that another Meffage be fent to the

Houfe of Commons, to acquaint diem, That
their Lordfhips have ordered Robert Earl of Ox-
ford and Earl Mortimer to be brought to the Bar
of this Houfe in Weftminfter-Hall on Monday next
at Eleven o' Clock in the Forenoon, in order to

proceed further on the Trial of the faid Earl

>
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and Mr. Holford and Mr. Dormer, two of the

Mailers of the Court of Chancery, were fent ac-

cordingly with the faid Meffages.

Die Luna i Julii, 17 17.

TH E Lords being affernbled in their Houfe
as ufual, and this Day being appointed to

proceed further on the Trial of Robert Earl ofQv~
ford and Earl Mortimer in Weftmirtftcr-Hall, the

Houfe (according to Order) was called over by the

Clerk ; and the Names of the abfent Lords being

{et down (purfuant to the fame Order) they were
again called over, and excufed.

A Meffage was brought from the Houfe ofCom-
mons by Mr. Gibbon and others, to defire their

Lordfhips to defer going down into Weftminfter-

Hall for fome Time.

Ordered, That the Meffengers of the Houfe of
Commons be called in and told, That the Lords
have confidered their Meffage, and that their

Lordfhips will defer going down into Weftminfter*

Hall for fome Time, as is defired.

And the Meffengers were called and acquainted

accordingly.

A Meffage was brought from the Houfe of
Commons by Mr. Craggs and others, to defire a

Conference with this Houfe upon the Subject-

Matter of their Lordfhips Meffage relating to the

free Conference defired by the Commons.
To which the Houfe agreed.

And the Meffengers of the Houfe of Commons
were called in and told, That the Lords do agree

to a Conference as defired, and appoint it prefently

in the Painted Chamber.

Ordered, That the Managers of the laft Con-
ference be the Managers of this Conference.

The Houfe being informed, That the Com-
mons were ready in the Painted Chamber.

The Managers Names were read, and the

Houfe was adjourned during Pleafure, and the

Lords named as Managers went to the Confe-
rence ; which being ended, the Houfe was re-

fumed, and the Lord Privy-Seal reported the

Effect of the Conference, which was, that the

Managers for the Commons had delivered to their

Lordfhips a Paper, containing as follows, viz.

The Commons having taken into Confideration

your Lordfhips Meffage, •viz.

That your Lordfhips did not think fit to give

a free Conference on the Subject-Matter of the

laft Conference, as was defired by the Commons,
and they being ftill defirous, to the utmoft of
their Power, to preferve a good Correfpondence

with your Lordfhips, have afk'd this Conference *

and have commanded us to acquaint your Lord-
fhips, that they are very much furprized to find

your Lordfhips deny a free Conference, after

your Lordfhips had already agreed to a Confe-
rence defir'd by the Commons on the faid Subject-

Matter, and after your Lordfhips have on your

Parts alfo defired a Conference upon the lame
Subject.

That free Conferences are the moft antient and

eftablifh'd Methods for adjufting the Differences

that have at any Time arifen between the Two
Houfes, and*, as the Commons conceive, is the

only Method to preferve a good Correfpondence

between them on fuch Occafions, which at this

Time is of the higheft Importance, becaufeaMifun-

derftanding on this Account would tend to defeat

the Trial of the Impeachment of the Commons.
X That
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That the Commons conceive clearly, that the

Subject-Matter of the laft Conference is not a

Point of Judicature, but a Point relating only to

the Profecution of the Commons, it having arifen

before any Matter of Judgment had come before

your Lordfhips upon the Trial.

For which Reafons ihe Commons conceive^

that your Lordfhips ought not to have denied

them a free Conference upon the Subject-Matter

of the laft Conference.

Which being read by the Clerk •,

A Meflage was fent to the Houfe of Commons
by Mr. Orlebar and Mr. Browning, two of the

Mafters of Chancery, to defire they would con-

tinue fitting for fome time.

Then the Houfe proceeded to take into Confi-

deration the Matter delivered by the Commons
at the laft Conference.

And it being propofed to infift on denying a

free Conference with the Commons

;

And Debate thereupon

;

The Queftion was put, Whether to infift on

denying a free Conference upon the Subject-Matter

concerning which a free Conference was defir'd by

the Commons ?

It was refolv'd in the Affirmative.

Ordered, That a prefent Conference be defir'd

with the Commons in the Painted Chamber on

the Subject-Matter of the laft Conference, and
that the Commons be there acquainted, that the

Lords having taken into Confideration the Sub-

ject-Matter of the laft Conference, their Lord-
fhips do infift on denying a free Conference upon
the Subj eel-Matter concerning which a free Con-
ference was defir'd by the Houfe of Commons.

Accordingly a Meflage was fent to the Houfe
of Commons by Mr. Orlebar and Mr. Browning,

to defire a prefent Conference in the Painted

Chamber on the Subject Matter of the laft Con-
ference.

The Meflengers returned, and acquainted the

Houfe, that the Commons do agree to a Confe-

rence, as defir'd.

Ordered, That the Managers of the laft Con-
ference be the Managers of this Conference.

Then the Houfe being informed, that the

Commons were ready in the Painted Chamber,

the Managers Names were read. And
The Houfe was adjourn'd during Pleafure, and

the Lords appointed Managers went to the Con-
ference •, which being ended, the Houfe was re-

fum'd, and the Lord Privy-Seal reported, that

they had been at the Conference, and acquainted

the Commons as above directed.

A Meflage was fent to the Houfe of Commons
by the former Meflengers, to defire they will con-

tinue fitting for fome time.

The Meflengers being return'd, acquainted the

Houfe, that the Commons will continue fitting for

fome time, as defir'd.

Then it being mov'd, that a Meflage be fent

to the Houfe of Commons, that this Houfe in-

tends prefently to proceed further on the Trial of

the Earl of Oxford in Weftminfter-Hall.

And it being alfo mov'd, that the Houfe do
now adjourn during Pleafure ; •

The Queftion was put, Whether now to ad-

journ during Pleafure ?

It was refolv'd in the Affirmative.

The Houfe was accordingly adjourned during
Pleafure.

The Houfe was refum'd.

A Meflage was fent to the Houfe of Commons
by Mr. Orlebar and Mr. Browning, to acquaint

them, that this Houfe intends prefently to pro-

ceed further on the Trial of Robert Earl of Ox-

ford and Earl Mortimer in Wejlminfter-llall.

Then it being propofed provisionally to con-

fider the Form of a Proclamation proper to be

made in Weftminfter-Hall for the Appearance of
the Profecutors, if they fhould not be there pre-

fent to proceed, in order to make good their

Impeachment againft the faid Earl of Oxford and
Earl Mortimer ;

And thereupon the Proclamation made the

Seventeenth of June, One Thoufand Seven Hun-
dred and One, at the Trial of the Lord Somen
being read ;

It was agreed by the Houfe* that when the"

Lords are gone down into Weftminfter-Hall, im-

mediately after the Lords Houfe fhall be refumed
in Weftminfter-Hall, and Proclamation for Silence

made, and Proclamation for bringing the Prifo-

ner to the Bar, if the Managers of the Houfe of
Commons fhall not be there, Proclamation be like-

wife made in thefe Words, viz.

Whereas Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl
Mortimer ftands impeached of High-Treafon, and
other High-Crimes and Mifdemeanours, by the Houfe

of Commons, in the Names of Themfelves and of all

the Commons of Great Britain, all Perfons concerned

are to take notice, that he now ftands on his Trial,

and they may now come forth in order to make good

their faid Charge.

Then the Houfe was adjourned into Weftminfter-

Hall, and the Lords being come down into Weft-

minfter-Hall, and feated in the ufual Manner about

Five in the Evening

;

L. H Steward. My Lords, the Houfe is re-

fumed Make Proclamation for Silence.

Serj. at Arms. O Yes, £sJV. (as before.)

L. H. Steward. Make Proclamation for the

Lieutenant of the Tower of London to bring the

Prifoner to the Bar.

Serj. at Arms. O Yes, &c. Lieutenant of the

Tower, of London bring forth your Prifoner to

the Bar, according to the Order of the Houfe of

Lords to you directed.

The Earl of Oxford and Earl Mortimer being

brought to the Bar accordingly, and the Com-
mons not being prefent.

L. H. Steward. Make Proclamation according

to the Order of the Houfe of Lords.

Then the Serjeant at Arms made the following

Proclamation according to the faid Order of the

Houfe of Lords, the Clerk of the Houfe of

Lords reading it to him as followeth :

Serj. at Arms. Whereas Robert Earl of Oxford

and Earl Mortimer ftands impeached of HigL-

Treafon, and other High-Crimes and Mifde-

meanours, by the Houfe of Commons, in the

Name of Themfelves and all the Commons of

Great Britain, all Perfons concern'd are to take

Notice, that he now ftands upon his Trial, and

they may now come forth in order to make good

their faid Charge.

After about twenty Minutes Silence, the Lord

Guilford mov'd for an Adjournment to the Houfe

above.

L. H. Steward. Do your Lordfhips hear what

is mov'd, is that your Lordfhip's Pleafure ?

Lords. Ay, ay.

L. H. Steward. This Houfe is adjourn'd to the

Chamber of Parliament.

And
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And being returned in the fame order they

went down,

The Houfe was refumed.

Then it was propofed, that Robert Earl of Ox-

ford and Earl Mortimer be acquitted of the Arti-

cles of Impeachment exhibited againft him by the

Houfe of Commons for High-Treafon, and other

Hio-h Crimes and Mildemeanors, and of all things

therein contained, and that the 'faid Impeachment

be diliniffed.

And a Queftion being ftated thereupon, it was

moved to leave out thefe Words (viz. and other

High Crimes and Mifdemeanors;) and thereupon

the Queftion being put,

Wnethcr thofe Words mall Hand part of the

Queftion

;

It was Refolved in the Affirmative.

Then the laft Queftion being again ftated,

Ordered, That the Qiieftion now ftated be the

Queftion to be put in Westminster-Hall.

Then the Lord High Steward defiring that fur-

ther Directions might be given concerning the fur-

ther Proceedings in the Trial of the faid Earl in

Westminster-Hall, it was agreed by the Houfe and

Ordered, that in Westminster-Hall the Lord High
Steward fhall read the Queftion as already ftated

•,

and then call to the loweft Baron firft, and to

every other Lord then prefent, and afk him his

Opinion whether Content or not Content ; and

that every Lord fhall ftand up when called to, and

give his Vote Content or not Content ; and that

the Lord High Steward having taken the Votes,

Ihall declare the Majority ; and if the Majority

anfwer in the Affirmative, the Lord High Stew-

ard is to declare the fame, and particularly to the

Earl o£ Oxford as foon as he lhall be brought to

the Bar, and ihall immediately pronounce the

Judgment of this Houfe in the Form following,

(viz.) It is confidered, ordered and adjudged by
the Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament

affemblcd, that Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl

Mortimer mall be, and is hereby acquitted of the

Articles of Impeachment exhibited againft him
by the Houfe of Commons for High-Treafon,
and other High Crimes and Mifdemeanors, and
of all things therein contained ; and that the faid

Impeachment fhall be, and is hereby difmiffed.

And fhall immediately direct the Lieutenant of
the Tower then to Difcharge his Prifoner.

And after that to Diffolve the Commiffion.
The Houfe was then again adjourned into West-

minster-Hall, and being there refumed.

L. H. Steward. Make Proclamation for Silence.

Serj. at Arms. O yes, &c. (as before.)

O yes, &c . Lieutenant of the Tower of London,
bring forth your Prifoner to the Bar.

L. H. Steward. My Lords, the Clerk acquaints

me, that for want of Light in the Paffage he could
not take an exact Lifbof your Lordfhips, I there-

fore defire that he may now take a Lift of the

Lords prefent.

Then the Clerk took a Lift of the Lords pre-
fent.

L. H. Steward. If your Lordfhips think fit,

your Lordfhips Names fhall now be called over.

Lords. Ay, ay.

Then their Names were called over.
Lords. The Earl of Oxford is not yet gone from

the Queftion, upon which your Lordfhips are to
give your Votes % it is this, That Robert Earl of
Oxford and Earl Mortimer be acquitted of the Ar-
ticles of Impeachment exhibited againft him by
the Houfe of Commons for High-Treafon, and
other High Crimes and Mifdemeanors, and of all

things therein contained, and that the faid Im-
peachment be difmiffed.

L. H. Steward. The Clerk fhould attend near

the Lords with Candles, as they give their Votes.

Then the Lord High Steward put the Queftion
to their Lordfhips, beginning at the youngeft

Baron, in manner following.

L. H. Steward. My Lord, your Lordfhip has

heard the Queftion ftated, what fays your Lord-
fhip, is your Lordfhip Content, or not Content?

The Names of the Lords prefent, who were all

Content, are as follows.

the Bar.

Then
the Bar.

L. H.

the Earl was ordered to withdraw from
And being withdrawn,
Steward. My Lords, I fhall now ftate

Vol. VI.

Landaff

BARONS. Bath and Wells

Carlifle

Newburgh Litchfield and Coventry

Parker Winchester

Cobham London.

Carleton

Bingley VISCOUNTS.
Bathurst

Foley Caflleton

Ma/ham Tadcaster

Lanfdowne Londfdale

Trevor Longueville

Middleton

,

Townfhend

Manfel Say and Seal

Montjoy Hereford.

Hay
Boyle EARLS.
Harcourl

Belhaven Halifax

Gower Brislol

Haverfham Carnarvon

Herbert Uxbridge

Afhburnhan\ Dartmouth

Guilford Stafford

Stawell Ferrars'

Carteret Hay

Lumley Delorain -

OJborne Orkney

Comwallis Loudoun

Berkeley of Stratton- Buchan

Leigh Cholmondeley

Bruce. Poulet

Teynham Greenwich

Compton Rochford .

St. John Plimoutb .

Hundfdon Abingdon

North and Grey Rochester .

Willoughby of' Brooke Litchfield

FitzwaUer . .

Delawar

. Burlington

'Carlifle

Willoughby of Erjby. Ahglefea

Abergavenny. Cardigan

Clarendon

BISHOPS. Scarfdale

Manchester

NorthamptonSf. Afaph

Chefler Salifbury

Bristol

Rochester Pembroke

St. Davids Derby.'

Hereford

X 2 DUKES,
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DUKES, Cleveland and Southamp-

ton

Sotnerfet

Kent

Kingston.

ARCHBISHOPS.

York

Canterbury.

Portland

Ancaffer

Rutland

Buckingham

Devon/hire

Shrewfbury

St. Albans

Grafton

L. H. Steward. My Lords, upon the Queftion

Stated, I am Content.

L. H. Steward. My Lords, Robert Earl of Ox-

ford and Earl Mortimer is acquitted of the High-

Treafon and other High Crimes and Mifdemea-

nors wherewith he ftands charged, by the Unani-

mous Vote of all your Lordfhips here prefent.

L. H. Steward. Call the Earl to the Bar.

Serj. at Arms. O yes, &V. Lieutenant of the

Tower of London, bring the Earl of Oxford and

Earl Mortimer to the Bar of this Houfe.

L. H. Steward. Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl

Mortimer, I am to acquaint your Lordmip, that

your Lordfhip is acquitted of the Articles of Im-

peachment Exhibited againft you for High-Trea-

fon, and other High Crimes and Mifdemeanors,

by the Houfe of Commons, and all things there-

in contained ; and thereupon I am to pronounce

this Judgment, which I pronounce accordingly

:

It is confidered, ordered and adjudged by the

Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament af-

fembled, that Robert Earl of Oxford and Earl

Mortimer (hall be, and is hereby acquitted of the

Articles of Impeachment exhibited againft him
by the Houfe of Commons for High-Treafon
and other High Crimes and Mifdemeanors, and
of all things therein contain'd, and that the faid

Impeachment ihall be and is hereby difmifTed.

L. H. Steward. Lieutenant of the Tower of Lon-
don, you are now to difcharge your Prifoner.

L. H. Steward. My Lords, this is all that re-

mains to be done by Vertue of his Majefty's

CommilTion, I do therefore declare the fame to

be diflblved.

Then the Lord High Steward broke his Staff.

L. Chancellor. Is it your Lordfhips Pleafure to

adjourn to the Chamber of Parliament ?

Lords. Ay, ay.

L. Chancellor. This Houfe is adjourn'd to the

Chamber of Parliament.

The Earl was immediately difcharg'd at the

Bar, and paying his Refpects to the Lords, and
having receiv'd the Compliments of his Friends,

went away directly to his own Houfe.

But the Houfe of Commons relented this Pro-

ceeding fo far as to Addrefs the King, that the

Earl of Oxford might be excepted out of the then

intended Aft of Grace, which was done accord-

ingly.

CLXXXIX. The Trials of Major Stede Bonnet and
Thirty Three others, at the Court of Vice-Admiralty
at Charles-Town in South-Carolina, for Piracy, Oft.

30, &c. 1 71 8. 5 Geo. I.

Tuefday, Oclober the 28th, 171 8. the Court met according to Appointment.

PRESENT
Nicholas Trott, Efq; Judge of the Vice-Admiralty, and Chief-Juftice of the

faid Province of South-Carolina.

George Logan, Efq;
Alexander Parris, Efq;
Philip Dawes, Efq;

George Chicken, Efq;

Benjamin de la Confeillere, Efq;

|HE King's CommilTion to Nicholas
' Trott, Efq; Judge of the Court of
Vice-Admiralty, and the Commifiion
in the name of the Lord Palatine,
and the reft of the Lords Proprietors,

and Teftified by the Honourable Robert John-
fon, Efq; Governor, and the reft of the Lords De-
puties, for holding the Court of Admiralty Seffwns
was openly read.

Then the Grand-Jury was called, and twenty
three of them were fworn ; the Names of which
are as followeth

:

Afllftant Judges,

Samuel Dean, Efq;

Edward Brailsford, Gent.

John Croft, Gent.

Capt. Arthur Loan.

Capt. John Watkinfon,

Michael Brewton, Fore-

man.
Robert Tradd.

Andrew Allen.

Peter Manigault.

John Beauchamp.

John Bullock.

Thomas Barton.

Anthony Matthews.
Alexander Kinlock.

Henry Perrineau

Paul Douxfaint.

John Breton.

John Bee.

Daniel Gale.

Thomas Loyde,

Laurence Dennis.

Elias Foifin.

John Shepherd.

John Simmons,

George Peterfon.

Solomon Legare.

Abraham Lefuir.

John Cayvoood.

Theft
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Then the Judge of the Vice-Admiralty pro-

ceeded to give his Charge to the Grand Jury, as

followeth.

Gentlemen,WE are here aflembled to hold this Court of

Admiralty.Seffions \ and the Duty of my
Office requires me to give in Charge to you the

things that you are to Enquire of and to Prefent.

In a former Admiralty-Charge, by way of Pre*

face or Introduclion to the particular Crime of Pi-

racy, which will again now be brought before

youi
I then fhewed you, Firfl, That the Sea was given

by Godfor the ufe of Men, and is fubjeil to Domi-

nion and Property, as well as the Land.

And then I particularly remarked to you, the

Sovereignty of the Kings of England over the Britifh

Seas.

1 then proceeded, Secondly, to mew you, That

as Commerce and Navigation could not be managed

without Laws; fo there have been always particular

Laws for the better ordering and regulating Marine

Affairs ; with an Hijiorical Account of thofe Laws,

and their Origin.

Of all thofe Matters I then fpake largely and

fully} and fhall not now trouble you with any

farther Repetition of them.

But I fhall now proceed, in the Third place,

to fhew you, That there have been particular Courts

and Judges appointed, to whofe Jurifditlion Mari-

time Caufes do belong ; and that in Matters both Ci-

vil and Criminal.

And then I fhall in particular fhew you the Con-

Jiitution and Jurifditlion of this Court of Admiralty

Sefftons.

And fhall, mention the Crimes cognizable there-

in ; and fhall particularly inlarge upon the Crime
of Piracy, that will now be brought before you.

Time will not permit me to fpeak of the feve-

ral forts of Magiftrates, to whofe Jurifdiclion Ma-
ritime Affairs do belong, in the Tranfmarine or

Foreign Parts of the World : Therefore I fhall

confine my felf under this Head, only to fpeak

of the Laws of England; by which the general

Jurifdiclion in Marine Affairs, is by the King as

Supreme, as well by Sea as Land, Committed to

the Lord High Admiral ; who, befides his Power
over the Navy, and the Government over the

Seamen, hath a Jurifdiclion
a Civil and Criminal

in Marine Affairs, which are decided by his Ma-
ritime Judges in the Court of Admiralty, the chief

of which is known by the Stile of Supreme Curia
Admiralitatis Anglia Judex: within thofe Cogni-
zance, in Right of the Jurifdiclion of the Admi-
ralty by the Sea Laws, and the Laws and Cuftoms
of the Admiralty of England, are comprized all

Matters properly Maritime, and pertaining to

Navigation.

As to the Antiquity of the Office of Lord Admi-
ral, and the Court of the b Admiralty, it is fuffi-

cient to remark, that the thing itfelf that figni-

fied that Office, now known to us by the Stile of
Lord High Admiral, and the Jurifdiclion thereof,

hath been in the Kingdom of England time out of
mind.

The learned Antiquary Sir Henry Spelman, in

his c Glojfarium, and out of him d Dr. Godolphin

gives us the Catalogues of the Admirals from the

Reign of King Henry lit Not but that the Of-
fice of Admiral is far more ancient : For the fame
learned Antiquary faith, that he hath not in that

Catalogue inferted Marthufius, that Princeps Nau-
tarum, in King Edgar's Time j nor thofe Tetrarchs

of his Navy ; nor of thofe other Commanders in

Chief in Sea Affairs, conftituted by his Succeflbrs

Kings of England; but of fuch only as in the or-*

dinary way have been dignified with the faid

Office.

The Lord e Coke in the firfl part of his Infli-

tntes, in honour of the Admiralty of England, faith,

'* That the Jurifdiclion of the Lord Admiral is

** very ancient, and long before the Reign of Ed-
" ward III. as fome have fuppofed, as may ap-
" pear by the Laws of Oleron, (fo called, for that
" they were made by King Richard I. when he
" was there) that there had been an Admiral
" time out of mind, and by many other ancient
" Records in the Reigns of Henry III, Edward I.

" and Edward II. is moft manifeft."

But the learned Selden f in his Notes upon For*

tefcue, tells us, That in an ancient Manufcript De
l'Office de l'Admiralty, tranflated into Latin by

one Tho. Rowghton, calling it De Officio Admi-
ralitatis, there are Conftitutions often mentioned

touching the Admiralty of Henry I. Richard I. King

John, and Edward I. which fhews the great An-
tiquity of that Court.

And as to the Jurifdiclion of the Court of Ad*
miralty, not to enter upon the Difputes between
the Civilians and the common Lawyers concerning
the fame ; I fhall now only obferve to you, that

it is allowed even by thofe Statutes that were made
purpofely to reftrain the Jurifdiclion of the Court
of Admiralty, that that Court ought to have Cog-
nizance of all things done upon the main Sea g

, or

Coafls of the Sea. And of the Death h
of a Man,

and of Maihem done in great Ships, being and ho-

vering in the main Stream of great Rivers, only be"

neath the Bridge of the fame Rivers nigh the Sea.

And by the Preamble to the Statute of the

28 H. VIII. it is declared, » that Traitors, Pirates,

Thieves, Robbers, Murderers, and Confederates up*

on the Sea, were tried before the Admiral, or his

Lieutenant or Commiffary, after the Courfe of the

Civil Law. *

But as appears further by the faid Preamble

that it was found inconvenient to try thofe Offen-

ders before the Admiral-,

Therefore by the faid Statute this Court of Ad-
miralty Sejfions was appointed, whereby fuch Of-
fenders were to be tried according to the Courfe of
the Common Law, as if their Offences were com=
mitted on Land.

And now I fhall proceed to fpeak of the Crimes

cognizable in this Court. And particularly I fhall

enlarge upon the Crime of Piracy that will come
before you.

The Crimes cognizable in this Court, and with"

in the Jurifdiclion of the fame, by the exprefs

Words of the Statute k are all Treafons, Felonies,

Robberies, Murders, and Confederacies, committed

in or upon the Sea, or in any other Haven, River,

Creek, or Place where the Admiral or Admirals

a See Godolpb. Admir. Jurifd. c. 4. p. 41. *> Godolpb. p. 24. « Spelmanni Glofarium in voce Admiral p. 14
ufyueadp. 17. dp, 2 j S> tB p . 23^ And 7«/?/« his Laws of the Sea, p. 284. top.^zSg.
c. 7. Seft. 439. f. 260. b. ! Seldtiii Notes on Forte/cue, p. 35, 36. 813 R. 2. c. c. p. 173.15S.zf.37 180. 2/7.4. c.i 1. f. 193. zH. 5. c. 6. Seft. z/>. 214. And fee 13 Car, 2. <•. 9,

1 28 H. 8. c. i$.p. 4s6- k N° 3.

* Coke on lift). 1. 3.
h See the Stat.

Art, 36. /. 1174.

have
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have «r fftftttf /* 4» P™' -#*** °r **$ ?
AS £° thC

A
Hein0fefs °rfcked

'f.
of the ?/'

*OTf ur *'
fence, it needs no Aggravation, it being eviaenc

There being only one of thofe Crimes, t&j to the Reafonof all Men. Therefore foim»U

Robbery or Piracy that will come before you, I caled'tf^ Humam Generis, with whom neither

M omit the reft and only fpeak to that : where- Ruth nor Oath is to be kept. Andm our Law

if Si lliew you the Nature of the Offence, and they are termed 'Brutes, and' Beafts of Prey :

h H noufnefs thereof.
and that lt 1S Iawful for mY one that takes rhem '

Now as this is an Offence that is deftruclive of if they cannot with Safety to, themfelves bring

all Trade and Commerce between Nation and Na- them under fome Government to be tried, to put

doni fo it is the Intereft of all Sovereign Princes them to Death

to punifh and fupprefs the fame. And by the Civil Law any_one may take from

And the Kin* of England 1 hath not only an them their Ships or Veffels: fo that excellent Ci-

Enpire and Sovereignty over the Britijh Sea, but vilian
u Dr. Zoucb, in his Book De Jure Nautico,

affo an' undoubted Jurifdiclion and Power, in faith, In Deteftation of Piracy, befides other Pu-

concurrency with other Princes and States, for the nijhments, it is enatted, that it may be lawful for

Punifhment of all Piracies and Robberies at Sea, any one to take their Ships.
.

in the moft remote Parts of the World. And yet by the fame Civil Laws, Goods taken

Now as to the Nature of the Offence : Piracy \s by Piracy gain not any Property againft the

a Robbery committed upon the Sea, and a Pirate Owners. Thus in the Roman Digefis or Pandecls

is a Sea Thief. of Juflinian^, it is faid, Perfons taken by Pirates

Indeed, the Word Pirata as it derived from or Thieves, are neverthelefs to be efteemedas free.

<zhiIv, tranfire, a tranfeundo mare, was anciently And then it follows, * He that is taken by Thieves,

taken in a o-ood and honourable ™ Senfe, and fig- is not therefore a Servant of the thieves,, neither is

nified a Maritime Knight, and an Admiral or Com- Pqftliminy neceffary for him.

mander at Sea ; as appears by the feveral Tefti- And the learned Grotius, in his Book Be Jure

monies and Records cited to that purpofe, by that Belli ac Pads, % faith, Thofe things which Pirates

learned Antiquary Sir Henry Spelman in his Gloffa- and Thieves have taken from us, have no need of

riimi. And out of him the fame Senfe of the Poflliminy, becaufe the Law of Nations never grant-

Word is remarked by Dr. Cowel, in his
n Inter- ed to them a Power to change the Right of Property

:

preter ; and by Blount in his ° Law Ditlionary. therefore things taken by them, wherefoevev they are

Bat afterwards the Word was taken in an ill found, may be claimed.
5

Senfe, and fignified a Sea-Rover or Robber ; either And agreeable to the Civil Law are the Laws

from the? Greek Word v^a., Deceptio, Dolus, of z England, which will not allow that a- taking

Deceipt; or from the Word <mn&v, tranfire, of Goods, by Piracy :doth diveft. the Owners of their

their wandering up and down, and refting in no Property.^
; tho' fold at Lana\ unlefs fold in -Market

place, but coafting hjther and thither to do Mif-
;
overt.

chief: And from this Senfe, o±yJm$£kalwm cffc Before the Statute of the * 25 E. HI. Piracy

kI^oi, Sea-Malefactors were called khp &ja,}, Pi- was holden to be Petit Treafon, and the Offence

rates.
;

. faid to be done contra Ligeantiee fue debitum, for

Therefore a Pirate is thus defined by my Lord , which the Offenders were to be drawn andhanged

:

Coke*; This Word Pirate, faith he, in Latin- Pi-
a

but fince that Statute the Offenders received Judg-
rata, is derived from the Greek Word -arft?/w, ment as Felons.

which again is fetched from irw>h, a tranfeundo • And by the, faid Statute of 28 H. VIII. b the

Mare, of Roving upon the Sea: and therefore in Offenders are ouftedof the Clergy.

Engliih a Pirate is called, a Rover and Robber upon . But ftill. it remains z'Felony by the c Civil Law

;

the Sea. •

[ and therefore, tho' the aforefaid Statute of 28 H
Thus the Nature of the Offence is fufficiently VIII. givesaSfnW by the Courfe of the Common

fet forth in the Definition of it. • ^" Law, yet it alters not the Nature of the Offence

;

1 See Sir Charles Hedges his Charge at the Trial of Daiv/on, &c.
n Pirata, pro milite marilimo drrl rou rrit^V, i- e. tranfire -vet pervagari. A/fer.- Menevenf. Epift. in <vit. JElfredi— Rex

JFAfrcdus jujfu cymbas & galeas, i. e. hngas naves, fabricari per Regnuhi; ut navali prrelio hoftibus^ adventantibus obviarft.
Impif.iifiue Piratistn illis, vias maris cuflodiendas commif.t. HocfenfoJfchipfratam did cenfeo pro nautarum prafeSo, vel
quern bodie Admirallum nuncupamus. In quadam enim Charta Regis Edgari Ccenohio Glaftonienfi confecJu, Jn. Dom. 971.
tejhumunus, Martufin Archipiratam fe nominat. Annal. Gis'bumenfes, in Wjil..Rufo, cap. 1. Robertas, vera Comes (Normani*)
attcmptavil -venire in Angham cum magna exercitu; fedaPiratis Regis, qui curdm Maris a Rege.lWillielmo) fufceperat, repul-
fuscji Spelman Glofar. in -voce Pirata, P. 4^0. Vid. etiatnvSelden. Mare clauf. E 2. c. 10. p 20.' Engl. &T Godolpb'. Ad-
mtr. Jurifd. c 3. p. 25, .

,

*j ><
•

*

' In the word Pirata. « In the Word P,V^. p See Ridleyh yiew qf, the Civil Law, *. z.c.i. Sett. 3. p. 127.
m

3 I„fl. c. 49. * , ,3. And on Littleton,: f 39,. a. And fee Bridal his Jus Criminis, p. 70,71. F, Coke, 3 Inft,
C

Pn ft,
'

' \-S * &% Marit
\
K

' •
c: 4- Sedl. i.p- 5,. H See Laws of Oleron, c. 47. in Godolpb. in p. 2 1 1

.

1 Molhy, ib. Scift. 12. p. 57. ,

> f/ r
.

'

Zouch de Jure Na'utico,

:

P . \ .ta To.TiT
1

- In allas p*!
'a! ' Jlatutum

%
ut corum navî (utp" *»» ikeat -

'

A Piratis aut Latronibus capti liberi permanent. D. 1. 49. t. Vc 19 Seft " 2 p 7-7
" |i"' « lT"H ff'M 'A' fim h^nem nonejl, necfoflliminium illi-neMium eft. Ib N» 2 L.

. p, .12. )l,k, p. 77 .

P
&U/, P. lt . MM.,, B. 1. c 4 . Sal. is, 26: p. 6z.

and
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and the Indictment mull mention the fame to be

done fuper altum mare, upon the High Sea d
, and

muft have both the Words Felonice and Piratice ',

and therefore a Pardon of all Felonies doth not

extend to this Offence, but the fame ought to be

fpecially named.

Thus having explained to you the Nature of the

Offence, and the Wickcdnefs thereof, as being def-

tructive of Trade and Commerce ; I fuppofe I need

not ule any Arguments to you, to perfuade you to

a faithful Difcharge of your Duty, in the bringing

fuch Offenders to Punifhment.

And indeed, the Inhabitants of this Province

have of late to their great Coft and Damages, felt

the Evil of Piracy, and the Milchiefs and Infults

done by Pyrates; when lately an infamous Pyrate

had lb much Affurance as to lie at our Bar, in

fight of our 'Town, and to feize and rifle feveral of

our Ships bound inward and outward.

And then had the Confidence to fend in his in^

folent Demands for what he wanted, with Threats

of murdering our People he had on board him, if

they were not complied with. Which was putting

the Province under Contribution.

And the Succefs he had in going off from our

Coaft with Impunity, encouraged e another of

thole Beafts of Prey to come upon our Coaft, and

take our Veffels.

And this very Company, which will now be

charged before you with the Crime of Piracy,

their Ringleader, with many, if not all of the

Company, were belonging to that Crew, which

firft infulted us. And prefuming upon their for-

mer Succefs and Impunity, had the Confidence to

lie upon our Coaft to fit their Veffel, and to go on

Shore at their Will and Pleafure ; defigning, as

we had had juft Reafon to fuppofe, that when all

Things were fitted for their mifchievous Defigns,

to come again to cruize before our Bar, and take

our Veffels.

And therefore upon the receiving thefe Ac-
counts, it was high Time for the Government to

fit out a Force againft the Pirates ; and to endea-

vour to fupprefs them, in order to fupport our

Trade and Commerce, which otherwife muft have

been inevitably ruin'd.

And being under fuch a NecefTity of having

Forces raifed for that purpofe, we cannot fuffi-

ciently commend and honour the Zeal and Bra-

very of thole Perfons, who fo willingly and readily

undertook that Expedition againft the Pirates ;

and fo gallantly acled their Parts when they en-

gaged them.

But it will not be fit for me to fay any more
upon that Subjecl, by reafon of the near Relation

I ftand in to the Commander in Chief in that Ex-
pedition ; and who is known to you all to have

fo well acted his Part therein, that as it is not pro-

per, fo he needs not my Commendations.

But then I muft not omit mentioning to you,

that in this Attack mafe upon thofe Enemies of
Mankind, many of our People loft their Lives

in the Difcharge of their Duty to their King and

Country, and who fell by the Hands of thofe

inhuman and murdering Criminals which will now
be brought before you. And the Blood of thofe

murdered Perfons, will cry for Vengeance and
Juftice againft thefe Offenders.

And therefore I hope the Confideration of do-
ing Juftice to thofe Perfons who were kill'd in

the Service of their Country* will make you to

ufe your Diligence in bringing the Criminals to

Punifhment, without which the Blood of thofe

Perfons will in a great meafure be required at

our Hands.

I need not expatiate to you upon the Heinouf-

nefs of the Sin of Murder ; a Crime which carries

its own natural Horror and Guilt along with it ;

fo that it is altogether needlefs for me to aggra-

vate it ; and the manifeft Injuftice and Evil of

which is evident to all Perfons, even by the Light

of Nature : So that there is no Nation fo barba-

rous, but by their univerfal Practice do confent

to the Equity and Juftice of that antient Law of

God, that, Whofo fheddeth Man's Blood, by Man
jhall his Blood be fhed, Gen. ix. 6.

Indeed, I freely grant, that the Greatnefs of

the Crimes the Perfons are charged with, fhould

make you the more careful in your Enquiry, and

to avoid any Error or Miftake on both Extremes ;

that as you would not condemn the Innocent, fo like-

wife that you do not acquit the Guilty, always re*

membring what the Wife Man faith, that//*? that

juftifyeth the Wicked, as well as he that condemneth

the fuft, even both are an Abomination to the Lord,

Prov. xvii. 15. See Ch. xxiv. v. 24.

I have only this to add, that you being a Grand

Jury, your Bufinefs is not to try the Prifoners,

but to confider whether or no by the Evidence,

there is that probable Proof of the Perfons being

guilty of the Fact charged upon them, as that

they ought to be put upon their Trial for the

fame.

An Indictment found by you being vertually

but a legal Accufation, there being another Jury to

pafs upon them.

But on the other Side, tho' your finding the

Bill of Indictment is not conclufive to the Pri-

foners, but that they will have a Trial, and be

heard in their own Defence before another Jury,

which properly are faid to try the Prifoners, and
pafs between the King and them upon their Lives

or Deaths j neverthelefs, you ought to be cautious

and diligent in your Enquiry, and not rafhly and
carelefly find a Bill of Indictment againft Perfons,

and put them upon the Hazard of a Trial for a

capital Crime.

But as to thofe Indiclments that will now be

brought before you, I am very well affured the

Proofs will be fo clear and full, that you'll have

no Reafon to doubt the Truth of the Facts charged

therein ; and then I fhall not queftion your faith-

ful Difcharge of that great Duty and Truft the Law
hath repofed in you, in bringing fuch Criminals to

Juftice.

Thus having fufficiently explained to you what
is likely to come before you, I fhall now difmifs

you to your Bufinefs.

Then the Court adjourned till the After-

noon.

The Court met according to Adjournment.

And the Grand Jury being called over, a Bill

of Indictment was given to them againft Stede

Bonnet, Robert Tucker, Edward Kobinfon, Neal

Paterfon, William Scot, and Job Bayley, for felo-

nioufly and piratically taking the Sloop Francis

with her Goods, Capt. Peter Manwareing, Com-
mander.

•

* Hawkins, lb; Seft; 10. p. 100. " Vant,

Then
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Then the Court adjourn'd

Morning.

Wednesday, October the o.$tB, 17 1 %-

The Court met according to Adjournment

till IVednefday William Morrifon, William Livers alias Evis, Sa-

muel Booth, William Hewet, and John Levit, for

felonioufly and piratically taking the Sloop

Francis, with her Goods, Capt. Peter Manwareing,

Commander.
Who all pleaded Not Guilty.

Then the Court adjourned till Tlmrfduy-

TH E Grand Jury being called over, a Bill

of Indictment was delivered to them againft

Dazid Harlot, John William Smith, Thomas Car-

man, John Thomas, William Morrifon, William

Livers alias Evis, Samuel Booth, William Hewet,

and John Levit, for felonioufly and piratically

taking the laid Sloop Francis, with her Goods,

Capt. Peter Manwareing, Commander.
~
And another Bill of Indictment againft William

Eddy alias Wedy, Alexander Annand, George Rofs,

George Dunkin, Thomas Nichols, John Ridge,

Matthew King, Daniel Perry, and Henry Virgin,

for the fame Fact, in taking Capt. Manwareing.

Morning.

Tburfday, October the $cth, 1718.

The Court met according to Adjournment.

THEN the Grand Jury returned, finding

Billa Vera on the Bill of Indictment againlt

Stede Bonnet alias Edwards alias Thomas, David

Hariot, Edward Robinfon, Robert Tucker, WHliam

Scot, Job Bayley, Neal Patter/on, John William

Smith, Thomas Carman, and John tfhomas, for

taking the faid Sloop Fortune, with her Goods,

And another againft James Robbins alias Rattle, Capt. Thomas Read Commander

James Mullet alias Millet, Thomas Price, John

Lopez, Zachariah Long, and James Wilfon, for the

fame Fad.
Then the Grand Jury returned, finding Billa

vera on the Bill of Indictment againft Stede Bonnet

alias Edwards, alias Thomas, Robert Tucker, Ed-

ward Robinfon, Neal Paterfon, William Scot, and

On the Bill of Indictment againft John Ridge,

Matthew King, Daniel Perry, Henry Virgin, James
Robbins alias Rattle, James Mullet alias Millet,

Thomas Price, James Wilfon, John Lopez, and
Zachariah Long, for the fame Fact, in taking Capt.

Read.

And on the Bill of Indictment againft William

Job Bayley, for felonioufly and piratically taking Morrifon, William Livers alias Evis, Samuel Booth,

the faid Sloop Francis, with her Goods, Peter

Manwareing Commander.

On the Bill of Indictment againft David Ha-

riot, John William Smith, Thomas Carman, John

tfhomas, William Morrifon, William Livers alias

Evis, Samuel Booth, William Hewet, and John

Levit, for the fame Fact, in taking Capt. Man-

wareing.

On the Bill of Indictment againft William Eddy

alias Wedy, Alexander Annand, George Rofs, George

Dunkin, Thomas Nichols, John Ridge, Matthew

King, Daniel Perry and Henry Virgin.

William Hewet, John Levit, William Eddy alias

Wedy, Alexander Annand, George Rofs, George

Dunkin, and Thomas Nichols, for the fame Fact.

Then the Court proceeded to the Trial of Robert

Tucker, Edward Robinfon, Neal Paterfon, William

Scot, and Job Bayley.

Clerk. Set Robert Tucker, Edward Robinfon,

Neal Paterfon, William Scot, and Job Bayley to

the Bar.

Then the Petit Jury were called over.

Clerk. You the Prifonersat the Bar: Thefe

good Men that were called laft, and have here

As alfo a Bill of Indictment againft James Rob- appeared, are thofe that fliall pafs between our

bins alias Rattle, James Mullet alias Miilet, Thomas

Price, John Lopez, Zachariah Long, and James

Wilfon, both for the fame Fact.

Then the Court proceeded to arraign Robert

fucker, Edward Robinfon, Neal Paterfon, William

Scot, and Job Bayley, upon the Indictment, for

felonioufly and piratically taking the Sloop Francis,

Peter Manwareing, Commander.
Who all pleaded Not Guilty.

The Court then delivered another Bill of Indict-

ment to the Grand Jury againft Stede Bonnet alias

Edwards alias Thomas, David Hariot, Edward Ro-
binfon, Robert Tucker, William Scot, Job Bayley,

Neal Paterfon, John William Smith, Thomas Car-
man, and John Ihomas, for felonioufly and pirati-

cally taking the Sloop Fortune, with her Goods,
Capt. Thomas Read Commander.

Another Bill of Indictment againft John Ridge,
Matthew King, Daniel Perry, Henry Virgin, James
Robbins alias Rattle, James Mullet alias Millet,

Thomas Price, James Wilfon, John Lopez, and
Zachariah Long, for the fame Fact

Capt. Read.

And another againft William Morrifon, William
Livers alia* Evis, Samuel Booth, William Hewet,
John Levil, William Eddy alias Wedy, Alexander
Amw.nd, George Rofs, George Dunkin, and Thomas
Nichols, for the fame Fact.

Then the Court proceeded to arraign John

Sovereign Lord the King and you, upon your

Lives and your Deaths •, therefore if you or any of

you will challenge them or any of them as they

come to the Book to be fworn, and before they be

fworn, you may, and you fliall be heard.

Then the Petit Jury were fworn, whofe Names
were as followeth.

Timothy Bellamy, Foreman.

George Ducket.

"John Rivers.

William Sheriffe.

Benjamin Dennis.

Hugh Durfey.

Thomas Chambers.

Daniel Townfend.

John Lee.

Thomas Bee.

John Barton.

Richard Fairchild.

Cryer. O Yes, If any Man can inform the

Judge of this Vice-Admiralty for the Vice Ad-
miralty Jurifdiction of this Province, and the reft

of the Commiffioners of this Admiralty-Seffions,

or the Attorney -General of this Inqueft to be
in taking taken between our Sovereign Lord the King, and

the Prifoners at the Bar, or any of them, of any
Treafon, Piracy, Murder, or other Felony com-
mitted or done by the Prifoners at the Bar, or

any of them, let them come forth, and they fhall

be heard ; the Prifoners now ftand at the Bar upor*

their Deliverance.

Then the Prifoners were feverally bid to hold up
William Smith, Thomas Carman, John Thomas, their Hands (which they did.)

Then
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Then the Clerk charged the Jury with them

thus:

Clerk. You Gentlemen of the Jury that are

fworn, look upon the Prifoners, and hearken to

their Charge.

Then the Indictment was read, as followeth.

THE Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the

King do upon their Oath prefent, That

Stede Bonnet alias Edwards, alias Ihomas, late

of Barbadoes, Mariner; Robert Tucker, late

of the IOand of Jamaica, Mariner; Edward

Robinfon, late of New-Caftle upon Tine, Ma-
riner; Neal Paterfon, late of Aberdeen, Ma-
riner; Job Bailey alias Beely, late of London,

Mariner ; William Scot, late of Aberdeen, Ma-
riner ; the Second Day of Auguft in the Fifth

Year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord

George, by the Grace of God of Great Britain,

France, and Ireland, King, Defender of the

Faith, &c. by Force, &c. upon the High

Sea, in a certain Place called Cape James alias

Cape Inlopen, about two Miles diftant from

the Shore, in the Latitude of Thirty-nine, or

thereabouts, and within the Jurifdiction of the

Court of Vice-Admiralty of South Carolina, did

piratically and felonioufly fet upon, break,

board, and enter a certain Merchant-Sloop,

called the Francis, Peter Manwareing, Com-
mander, then being a Sloop of certain Per-

fons (to the Jurors aforefaid unknown) and

then and there piratically and felonioufly did

make an AfTault, in and upon the faid Peter

Manwareing, and other his Mariners, fwhofe

Names to the Jurors aforefaid are unknown.)

In the fame Sloop, againft the Peace of God,
and of our faid now Sovereign Lord the King,

then and there being, piratically and felonioufly

did put the aforefaid Peter Manwareing, and

others his Mariners of the fame Sloop, in the

Sloop aforefaid, then being in corporal Fear

of their Lives, then and there in the Sloop

aforefaid, upon the High Sea, in the Place

aforefaid, called Cape James alias Cape Inlopen,

about two Miles diftant from the Shore, in

the Latitude of Thirty-nine, or thereabouts,

as aforefaid ; and within the Jurifdiction afore-

faid, piratically and felonioufly did fteal, take

and carry away the faid Merchant - Sloop,

called the Francis, and alfo twenty-fix Hog-
fheads, three Tierces, and three Barrels of

Rum, of the Value of two hundred and fixty

three Pounds fix Shillings and eight Pence,

current Money of the Ifland of Barbadoes;

twenty five Hogfbeads of MolofTes, of the

Value of one hundred thirty eight Pounds
thirteen Shillings and eight Pence, current

Money of the Ifland of Antegoa ; three Barrels

and three Tierces of Sugar, of the Value of
thirty three Pounds, like current Money of

Antegoa ; two Pockets of Cotten, of the Va-
lue of fifty Shillings, like current Money of
Antegoa; and about fixty Weight of Indigo,

of the Value of nine Pounds, like current

Money of Antegoa aforefaid ; one new Cable,

of the Value of fifty Pounds, Sterling Money
of Great Britain; nineteen French or Spaniflo

Piftoles; two half Moidores of Gold; four-

teen French Crowns; one Pair of Silver Buckles,

value ten Shillings, Sterling Money of Great
Britain ; and one Silver Watch, of the Value
of feven Pounds, Sterling Money of Great
Vol. VI.
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Britain aforefaid ; the Goods and Chattels of

certain Perfons, (to the Jurors aforefaid un-

known) then and there, upon the High Sea

aforefaid, in the aforefaid Place, called Cape

James alias Cape Inlopen, about two Miles di-

ftant from the Shore, in the Latitude of thirty-

nine, or thereabouts, as aforefaid, and within

the Jurifdiction aforefaid ; being found in the

aforefaid Sloop, in the Cuftody and Pofleffion

of the faid Peter Manwareing, and others his

Mariners of the faid Sloop, and from their

Cuftody and Pofleffion then and there, upon
the High Sea aforefaid, in the Place aforefaid,

called Cape James alias Cape Inlopen, as afore-

faid, and within the Jurifdiction aforefaid,

againft the Peace of our now Sovereign Lord
the King, his Crown, and Dignity.

Clerk. Upon this Indictment they have been

arraign'd : Upon their Arraignment they have

pleaded Not Guilty ; and for their Trial have put

themfelves upon God and their Country, which
Country you are. Your Charge is to enquire

whether they, or any of them, are guilty of the

Felony and Piracy of which they ftand indicted,

in Manner and Form as they ftand indicted, or

not guilty. If you find them, or any of them,

guilty, you fhall then enquire what Goods or

Chattels, Lands or Tenements, they, or any of
them, had at the Time of the Felony of Piracy

committed, or at any time fince. But if you
find them not guilty, &c. And hear your Evi-

dence.

Then Richard Allen, Efq; Attorney-General,

fpake as followeth :

May it p/ea/e your Honours, and you Gentlemen of the Jury.

THE Nature of the Crime, Piracy, for which
the Prifoners at the Bar are now to be tried,

and the Statute of the Twenty-eight of Henry

the Eighth, intitled, For Pirates, has been fully

and learnedly laid open and explain'd by the

Judge in his Charge to the Grand Jury, (at which

I am fenfible moft, if not all of you, were pre-

fent.) Therefore I fhall fay but little more on
that Head, and only remark, that it is a Crime
fo odious and horrid in all its Circumftances, that

thofe who have treated on that Subject have been

at a lofs for Words and Terms to ftamp a fuffi-

cient Ignominy upon it: Some calling them Sea-

Wolves; others Beafts of Prey, and Enemies of

Mankind, with whom neither Faith nor Treaty

is to be kept. And all this is but a faint Defcrip-

tion of thefe Mifcreants: For Beafts of Prey,

tho' fierce and cruel in their Natures, yet, as has

been obferv'd of them, they only do it to fatisfy

their Hunger, and are never found to prey upon
Creatures of the fame Species with themfelves.

Add hereto, that thofe wild Beafts have neither

rational Souls, Understanding, nor Reafon to

guide their Actions, or to diftinguifh between,

Good or Evil. But Pirates prey upon all Man-
kind, their own Species and Fellow-Creatures,

without Diftinction of Nations or Religions;

EngliJJj, French, Spaniards and Portuguefe, and

Moors and Turks are all alike to them : For Pi-

rates are not content with taking from the Mer-
chants what Things they ftand in need of, but

throw their Goods over-board, burn their Ships,

and fometimes bereave them of their Lives for

Paftime and Diverfion, as we have had frequent

Inftances of late, and prove deftructive to all

Y Trade
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Trade and Commerce in general. And if a Stop

be not put to thofe Depredations, and our Trade

no better protected, not only Carolina, but all

the Englijh Plantations in America will be totally

ruin'd in a very fhort Time.

The Pirates are become very numerous and

formidable in thefe Parts: The Trade of America

is no imall Advantage to the Crown of Great

Britain. Jamaica, by relation, is ruin'd by thofe

Pirates already ; and other Parts of America have

fuffered moft grievoufly, and are like to mare in

the fame Fate. I know not what is done at

home, therefore I can't fay no Care at all has

been taken of us : But this I do fay, no effectual

Care has been taken to fupprefs thofe Pirates.

And if a true Reprefentation of thefe Matters

were laid before his Majefty, we could not but

hope for fome Redrefs.

'Tis not my Bufinefs to call in queftion the

Conduct of the Spaniards, in breaking up the

Bay of Campeachy. They could not but think the

turning away fuch a Number of profligate

Wretches, as were got together, muff, put them

on a worfe Courfe of Life : They have done them

more Harm fince than cutting their Log-Wood

;

for nine Parts in ten of them turned Pirates, and

have lived upon robbing and plundering them

and us ever fince that Time. That and the great

Expectations which fo many had from the Ba-

hama Wrecks, where not one in ten proved fuc-

cefsful, gave Birth and Increafe to all the Pirates

in thofe Parts, Englijh, French, and Spaniards.

I juft now inftanced Jamaica as a Place that

is almoft ruin'd by the Pirates : But what Occa-

fion have we to look abroad ? What a grievous

Dilemma were we.ourfelves reduced to in the

Month of May laft ? When Thatch the Pirate

came and lay off this Harbour with a Ship of

forty Guns mounted, and one hundred and forty

Men, and as well fitted with warlike Stores of

all Sorts, as any Fifth-Rate Ship in the Navy,
with three or four Pirate-Sloops under his Com-
mand. And after having taken Mr. Samuel

Wragg, one of the Council of this Province,

bound out from this Place to London, as alfo one
Mr. Marks, and feveral other Veffels going out
and coming into this Harbour, they plundered
thofe VelTels going home to England from hence
of about fifteen hundred Pounds Sterling, in Gold
and Pieces of Eight. And after that, they had
the moft unheard of Impudence to fend up one
Richards, and two or three more of the Pirates

with the faid Mr. Marks, with a Mcffage to the
Government, to demand a Cheft of Medicines
of the Value of three or four hundred Pounds,
and to fend them back with the Medicines, with-
out offering any Violence to them, or otherwife
they would fend in the Heads of Mr. Wragg and all

thole Prifoners they had on board ; and Richards,
and two or three more of the Pirates, walked up-
on the B.iy, and in our public Streets, to and
fro in the Face of all the People, waiting for the
Governor's Anfwer. And the Government, for
the Prefervation of the Lives of the Gentlemen
they had taken, were forced to yield to their De-
mands. And fome of thofe very Prifoners now
at the Bar were Part of that Thatch's and Bonnet's
Crew. Afterwards one Vaughan, another noted
Pirate, came and lay off our Bar, and lent in
another infolent Mcffage. Thisroufcd our Spirits ;

and tho' reduced to a very low Ebb by Reafbn of
the Calamities of the Indian War, and long and

heavy Taxes, we could not bear thofe Infults,

but fent out a Force to fupprefs them. How-
ever, we muft own, that that honourable Gen-

tleman, Colonel William Rhett, was the chief, if

not the firft Promoter of fitting out two Sloops

to take fome of thofe Pirates. The Government

readily fell in with the Meafures propofed

:

Colonel Rhett went in Perfon, accompanied by

many Gentlemen of the Town, animated with

the fame Principle of Zeal and Honour for our

public Safety, and the Prefervation of our

Trade.

'Tis probable Vaughan the Pirate, before

Things could be got in readinefs, might have

fome Intimation of our Defign, and made his

way off the Coafts, though all poffible Care was

taken to prevent it. However, Col. William

Rhett and the reft of the Gentlemen were refolv'd

not to return without doing fome Service to their

Country, and therefore went in queft of a Pirate

they had heard lay at Cape Fear. About the

latter End of September they came up with, and
engaged them : The Fight lafted zbovejix Hours,

and the Pirates were forced to furrender, tho' the

Colonel's VefTel running a-ground, lay under all

the Difadvantages in the World, as you are all

fenfible.

The Piratical Crew at the Bar, and now to be

tried, in the Engagement, killed ten or eleven of

our Men on the Spot, and wounded about eighteen^

feveral of which died fince they came on afhore

here.

This Pirate-Sloop was commanded by that

noted Pirate Major Stede Bonnet, and formerly

called the Revenge, now the Royal James, and
was one of thofe very Sloops that lay off the Har-
bour of Charles-Town about May laft, when they

took Mr. Wragg Prifoner, and fent up their in-

folent Demands to the Governour, as I have men-
tioned before.

We muft all own, that the Undertaking and
Defign of fitting out thofe Sloops after thefe Pi-

rates, was bold and noble, and carried on with.

Prudence and Courage, and crown'd with Victory

and Succefs •, and I hope Col. Rhett, and the reft

of the Gentlemen that were with him, will meet
with both Thanks and Rewards fuitable to their

great Merit, and the Credit and Reputation they

have brought to this Province by this gallant

Action.

But fee how Juftice follows thofe wicked Of-

fenders ! They are now brought to fuffer in that

Country which they fo lately infulted. 'Tis

true, Bonnet had not the fole Command of his

Sloop when he lay off the Bar, but was turned

out fome time before by Thatch, but that was not

Bonnet's Fault.

Bonnet's Efcape out of Prifon is no fmall Mif-

fortune to us: Firft, becaufe fome will be re-

proached with conniving at his Efcape that had
no hand in it, and though they be never fo inno-

cent: Secondly, by reafon of the ill Confequence
that may happen to many Merchants in Cafe

Bonnet makes a Head again, and particularly to

the Merchants of this Province.

I hope the great Reward of feven hundred Pounds
offer'd by the Government for taking Bonnet and
his Mqfter, will make the People vigilant in ap-

prehending them. I'm fure the Government gave
frequent and ftrict Charges to the Marfhal for

fecuring him, and ordering Centinels to be placed

early in the Evening ; and immediately on his

Efcape,
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Efcape, fet up all Night fending Hue and Cries

and Exprejes by Land and by Water throughout

the whole Province ; fo that it is to be hop'd he

will be retaken before this Service be over. I am
fenfible Bonnet has had fome Afliftance in making

his Efcape ; and if we candifcover the Offenders,

we fhall not fail to bring them to exemplary Pu-

nifhment.

And now, Gentlemen of the Jury, I muft re-

mind you of your Duty on. this Occafion. You

are bound by your Oaths, and are oblig'd to acl

according to the Dictates of your Confciences, to

«o according to the Evidence that fhall be pro-

duced ao-ainft the Prifoners, without Favour or Af-

fection, Pity or Partiality to any one of them, if

they appear to be guilty of thole Crimes they are

char^'d with. And you are not allow 'd a Latitude

of giving in your Verdict according to Will and

Humour.
I am forry to hear fome Exprefiions drop from

private Perfons, (I hope there is none of them up-

on the Jury) in favour of the Pirates, and parti-

cularly of Bonnet ; that he is a Gentleman, a Man
of Honour, a Man, of Fortune, and one that has

had a liberal Education. Alas, Gentlemen, all

thefe Qualifications are bu.t feverai Aggravations

of his Crimes. How can a Man be faid to be a

Man of Honour, that has loft all Senfe of Honour

and Humanity, that is become an Enemy of Man-
kind, and given himfelf up to plunder and deftroy

his Fellow-Creatures, a common Robber, and a

Pirate ?

Nay, he was the Archipirata, as it is now taken

in the worft Senfe, or the chief Pirate, and one of

the firft of thofe that began to commit thofe De-
predations upon the Seas fince the laft Peace:

I have an Account in my Hand of above twenty

eight VefTels taken by him, in Company with

Thatch, in the Weft-Indies, fince the fifth Day of

April laft ; and how many before, no Body can

tell.

His Eftate is frill a greater Aggravation of his

Offence, becaufe he was under no Temptation of

taking up that wicked Courfe of Life.

His Learning and Education is frill a far greater

;

becaufe that generally foftens Mens Manners, and

keeps them from becoming favage and brutiffi •,

but when thefe Qualifications are perverted to

wicked Purpofes, and contrary to thofe Ends for

which God beftows them upon Mankind, they be-

come the worft of Men, as we fee the prefent In-

ftance, and more dangerous to the Common-
wealth.

Gentlemen, moft of the faid Bonnet's Crew, and
particularly the Prifoners at the Bar, to wit, Ed-
ward Robinfon, Robert fucker, William Scot, fob
Bayley, and Neal Pater/on, are old Offenders, and
were with Thatch and Bonnet at the taking of all,

or moft of thefe VefTels I have mentioned, and
were either with Bonnet or tfhatch when they lay off

our Bar in May laft, and fent up that infulting Mef-
fage, and were in the Engagement againft Col.

Rhett, fo that there is hardly any room left for

the leaft Pity or Companion : Who can think of
it, when you fee your Fellow-Townfmen, fome
dead, and others daily bleeding and dying before

your Eyes ?

But the particular Fact or Act of Piracy for

which the Prifoners at the Bar are now to be tried,

is fet forth in the Indiftment, for that they the
faid Edward Robinfon, Robert Tucker, William Scot,

Job Bayley, and Neal Paterfon, the fecond Day of
Vol. VI.

IO3

Auguft, in the fifth Year of his Majefty's Reign*

by Force and Arms, upon the high Sea, in a cer-

tain Place called Cape James alias Cape Inlopen^ in

the Latitude of thirty nine, did piratically and/ftk-

niovfly fet upon, board, break and enter a certain

Merchant Sloop called the Francis, Peter Man-
wareing Commander, putting the faid Manware-
ing and others in corporal Fear of their Lives ; and
then and there piratically and felonioufly did take

and carry from the faid Manwareing out of the faid

Sloop, twenty fix Hogfheads and three Tierces,

and three Barrels of Rum of the Value of two hun-
dred fixty three Pounds fix Shillings and eight

Pence, and other the Goods mentioned in the In-

dictment, of the Value of Five hundred Pounds^

We fhall call the Evidence, and prove the Fact

fully and clearly upon them:

Take Notice, Gentlemen, that the boarding,

breaking, and entry of one, if the reft were pre-

fent and confenting, is the boarding, breaking,

and entry of all the reft.

We fhall prove, that all the Prifoners at the

Bar were at the taking of Manwareing's Sloop,

that they all bore Arms, and that they all fhared

a few Days before they came to Cape Fear : and if

fo, we doubt not but you'll find them Guilty, and
difcharge that Duty the Country expects from you.

Mr. Thomas Hepworth. May it pleafe your Ho*
hours, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, the Crime
the Prifoners now ftand charged with, is Piracy^

which is the worft fort of Robbery, both in its

Nature and its Effects, fince it difturbs the Com-
merce and Friendfhip betwixt different Nations,

and if left unpunifhed, involves them in War and
Blood. What Calamities and Ruin they carry

along with them, no Perfon can be a Stranger to -,

fo that thofe that bring not fuch Criminals to

Judgment, when it lies in their Power, and is their

Duty to do fo, are anfwerable in a great Meafure,
before God and Man, for all the fatal Confequences

of fuch Acquittals, which bring a Scandal on the

public Juftice, and are often attended with public

Calamities.

It is not therefore, Gentlemen, to be fup-

pofed that wife or honeft Men, (and there is none
who would willingly be thought otherwife) who
love their Country, and wifh its Peace and Pro-
fperity, would be guilty in that kind;

What has been faid by the King's Attorney, or

my felf upon this unexpected Occafion, I hope
will not be looked upon as intended to influence

any of the Jury. I am fure it is far from being

fo defigned ; Religion, Confidence, Honour, com-
mon Honefty, Humanity, and all Laws forbid

fuch Methods. There is no doubt but the Judges

as well as the Jurymen beft difcharge their Duty
when they proceed without Favour or Affection,

Hatred or Ill-will, or any partial Refpect what-

foever : Malice and Favour (too great Enemies to

Juftice) are to be excluded all Courts of Judica-

ture, as too partial.

Every Man ought to be extremely tender of

fuch a Perfon as he has Reafon to believe is inno-

cent ; but it fhould be confider'd likewife, on the

other fide, that he who brings a notorious Pirate

or common Malefactor to Juftice, contributes to

the Safety and Prefervation of the Lives of many,

both bad and good ; of the good, by means of the

AfTurance of Protection ; and of the bad too, by

the Terror of Juftice. It was upon this Con fide-

ration that the Roman Emperors, in their Edicts,

Y 2 made
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made this piece of Service for the public Good

as meritorious as any Act of Piety or religious

Worfhip.

Our own Laws demonftrate how much our Ee»

giflators, and particularly how highly that great

Prince King Henry V. and his Parliament, thought

England concerned in providing for the Security

of Traders, and fcouring the Seas of Rovers and

Free-booters. Certainly, there never was any Age

wherein or Anceftors were not extraordinary zea-

lous in that Affair ; looking upon it, as it is and

ever will be, the chief Support of Navigation,

Trade, Wealth, Strength, Reputation and Glory

of the Englijh Nation.

Gentlemen, our Concern, as our Trade is, ought

in reaibn to be rather greater than that of our

Fore- fathers : We want no manner of Inducements,

no Motives to ftir us up, whether we confiderour

Interefl or Honour. We have not only the fa-

cred Word, but alfothe glorious Acts of the bell

of Kings, which fuffkiently manifeft to us, that

the Good and Safety of the Englijh Nation is the

greateft Care of his Life. Let every Man there-

tore who pretends to any thing of a true Englijh

Spirit, readily and chearfully follow fo good, fo

great, fo excellent an Example, by aflifting and

contributing to the utmoft of his Power and Capa-

city at all times towards the carrying on his noble

and generous Defigns for the common Good -, and

particularly at this Time, by doing all he can, to

the end that by the Adrniniftration of equal Juftice,

the Difcipline of the Seas, on which the Good and

Safety of the Englijh Nation, and thefe Parts of

America more efpecially, entirely depends, may

be fupported and maintained.

The Civil Law tej-ms the Pirates Beqfts oj Prey,

with whom no Communication ought to be kept

;

neither are Oaths or Promifes made to them bind-

ing. And by the Law-Marine the Captors may
execute fuch Beafts of Prey immediately, without

any Solemnity of Condemnation, they notdeferving

any Benefit of the Law.

I believe, Gentlemen, that no greater Motives

can be urged to fpur you on in your Duty, than

to defire you to reflect and confider how long our

Coafts have been infefled with Pirates (for the

Name of Men they do not deferve) and how many
Veffels they have taken and pillag'd belonging to

this Place, as well as Multitudes of others belong-

ing to divers Parts of his Majefty's Dominions ;

and how many poor Men in whofe Blood they

have itnbru'd their Hands with the greateft Inhu-
manity imaginable, and how many poor Widows
and Orphans they have made, and how many Fa-
milies they have ruin'd, and how long they have
gone on in their abominable Wickednefs : Nay,
do but confider how thofe very Pirates lately in-

fultcd this Government, when theyfent for Me-
dicines, threatning to deftroy our Veffels and Men
in cafe of refufal ; nay, fince thefe have accepted

of Certificates from the Government of North Ca-
rolina, like Dogs to their Vomits they have re-

turned to their old deteftable way of living, and
fince taken off thefe Coafts thirteen Veffels belong-

ing to Brililh Subjects.

I believe you can't forget how long this Town
has laboured under the Fatigue of watching them,
and what Difturbances were lately made with a
defign to releafe them, and what Arts and Practices
luvc been lately made ule of and effected for the
1' (i ape of Bonnet their Ringleader ; the Confidera-
on oJ which mews how neceffary it is that the

Law be fpeedily executed on them to the Terror

of others, and for the Security of our own Lives,

which we were apparently in danger of lofing in

the late Difturbance, when under a Notion of the

Honour of Carolina, they threaten'd to fet the

Town on fire about our Ears.

We fhall now call our Witneffes, who will

relate to you what enormous and horrid Crimes the

Prifoners at the Bar have committed in the Pro-

fecution of the Fact laid in the Indictment.

Clerk. Call Ignatius Pell the Boatfwain, who
appeared and wasfworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Do you know the Prifoners at

the Bar ?

Ign. Pell. I know them all very well.

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give the Court an Ac-
count what Veffels were taken after you came from

North Carolina:

Ig. Pell. I fhall begin before that Time. We
came from the Bay of Honduras, and from thence

to Providence, after which we took feveral Veffels,

and then we came and lay off this Bar, where we
took five Veffels.

Judge Trott. Did all the Prifoners come from

the Bay of Honduras ?

Ig. Pell. All except Robert Tucker, he came out

of a Sloop belonging to Bermuda; after that we
took a Brigantine, but of which we took fourteen

Negroes. After we had difcharged the Brigan-

tine, we fet fail and went to fopjail-Inlet at North

Carolina, where the Ship was run afhore and loft,

which Thatch caufed to be done. After we had

been there fome time, Capt. Thatch came aboard,

and demanded all our Arms, and took our belt

Hands and all our Provifion, and all that we had,

and left us.

Alt. Gen. Were all thefe Men fent aboard of

Major Bonnet immediately, or no ?

Ig. Pell. No, Sir, they were put afhore upon
an Ifland.

J.
Trott. How came they on board the Revenge?

Ig. Pell. The Boat was fent off to fetch them
aboard.

Prij. Major Bonnet came with the Boat, and
told us, as we were on a Marroon Ifland, that he

was going to St. Thomas's to get a Commiffion

from the Emperor to go againft the Spaniards a

Privateering, and we might go with him or con-

tinue there : fo we having nothing left, was willing

to go with him.

Att. Gen. You fay all were on more, and all

might have gone up into the Country ; pray what

Conftraints were any of you under ?

Ig. Pell. Sir, none ; when we left Topjail- Inlety
it was with a Defign to go St. tfbomas's for the

Emperor's Commiffion to go againft the Spani-

ards ; but the firft Veffel we faw we gave Chace

to, and came up with her.

Mr. Hepworth. What did you take out of that

Veffel ?

Ig. Pell. We took fome Provifions out of her.

After we had difcharged her, we faw another,

which we chaced and took.

Att. Gen. Were all thefe Men aboard and in

Arms at the fame time ?

Ig. Pell. Yes, Sir, all were in Arms : So after

we had taken fome Provifions out of her, then
we difcharged her. Next Day we faw two Sloops

bound to Bermuda which we took. The next Day
we gave Chace to another, and about Seven or

Eight of the Clock we came up with them.

J.
Trott.
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J. Trott. I fuppofe you were always ready for

an Engagement; fo that they had their Arms al-

ways in Order.

Jg. Pell. I know nothing to the contrary.

T. Trott. Was 'Tucker there in particular.

Jg. Pell. He was, to be fure.

J. Trott. Goon.

Jg. Pell. Then we gave Chace to a Ship bound

and we came up with her, in which

were fome Negroes. We left three Negroes on

board, and two White Men, and fent three Hands

from the Revenge : But we feeing two Sloops more

we flood after them, and the other turn'd Tail

and we never faw them more : So we came up with

the Sloop, out of which we took thirty Barrels of

Beef, fome Butter, and other Provifion.

Mr. Hepwortb. What did you return in the

room of theft Goods ?

Jg. Pell. Some Molojfes that we had on board

Major Bonnet's Sloop, after we had difcharged thefe

Sloops. Next Day we took a Ship and a Scooner,

which Major Bonnet took with him.

Mr. Hepwortb. Did you take no plunder out

of thofe ?

Jg. Pell. The chief was Provifions. Then we
failed in company •, and the next Day we came to

the Capes of Virginia, where we met with two

Veffels bound for Glafcow m Scotland, out ofwhich

we took Provifions and fome Tobacco. And after

we had dilcharged them we failed for Cape James ;

and after we had been at Anchor fome time, we
faw a Sloop which was Capt. Manwareing : We
letdown our Dory and fent lbme Hands on board

;

and in a little time after they came on board the

Revenge with Captain Manwareing.

Attorn. Gen. Were all the Prifoners on board

Manwareing's Sloop ; or had they all their Arms
ready when Manwareing was taken ?

Jg. Pell. I cannot fay that they were all on board

;

but they had all their Arms ready.

J. Trott. Did they all appear forward and active ?

Did none of them fhow themfelves diffatisfied or

unwilling to aft at that time ?

Jg. Pell. No, I don't know but one was as for-

ward and as willing to act as the other ; all of

them had their Arms ready.

J. tfrott. Well, how did you proceed after

Captain Manwareing was taken ?

Jg. Pell. Next Day we haled the Scooner a long-

fide of Captain Manwareing's Sloop, and hoifted

out feveral Hogfheads of Moloffes, and put on
board the Scooner.

Mr. Hepwortb. What became of the Scooner

afterwards ?

Jg. Pell. After we put Reeves's Wife on board,

and Captain Read's Son, we fent them on
fhore.

Attorn. Gen. How long was Captain Manware-
ing a Prifoner ?

Jg. Pell. About ten Weeks.
Attorn. Gen. Was not there more Goods taken

out of Manwareing's Sloop ? What became of
them ? Did you not fhare them ?

Jg. Pell. Yes, we fhared a little before we came
to Cape hear.

Attorn. Gen. Did all the Prifoners at the Bar
receive their Shares ?

Jg. Pell. Yes, Sir; I know nothing to the con-

trary.

J.
Trott. They did not refufe their Shares none

of chem did they ?

Jg. Pell. No.

Clerk. Have any of you any Queftions to afk
the King's Evidence ? Robert Tucker have you
any?

Prifoner. No, Sir.

Clerk. Edward Robinfon, have you ?

Prifoner. Noy Sir.

Mr. Hepwortb. May it pleafe your Honours,
we will proceed to call another Evidence.

Clerk. Call Capt. Thomas Read ; who appeared
and was fworn. fi

Mr. Hepwortb. Capt. Read, pleafe to look upon
the Prifoners at the Bar, if you know them.

Capt. Read. I know them all very well.

Mr. Hepwortb. Pleafe to give an Account to

the Court how you was taken, and alio of the
taking of Capt. Manwareing.

Capt. Read. The Sloop Revenge was at an An-
chor, and the Scooner lay a long-fide of her. I
was then a Prifoner on board the Sloop Revenge.
In the Evening we faw a Sloop coming into the Bay,
and Major Bonnet fent off five Hands with the
Dory ; and about an Hour after they came on
board the Revenge and brought Capt. Manware-
ing. After they brought him on board, Major
Bonnet demanded his Papers, and he gave them
to him. He afked him from whence he came ?

He anfwered from Antegoa, and bound for Bojlon.

He afk'd him what he had on board ? He told

him : But it being Night, he faid but little more
to him : Next Morning they brought the Sloop
and haled along-fide the Scooner ; and I faw them
hoift out feveral Hogfheads out of the Sloop and
put on board the Scooner. And I heard Major
Bonnet fay the next Day, that there were twenty

one Hogfheads; and that he had ordered Pitch and.

Tar to be put on board the Sloop, and in the

Evening they took the Forefail and Mainfail ofthe

Scooner, and Sailed for Cape Fear.

J. 2rott. You look upon all thofe Men as be-

longing to Major Bonnet, and they were all active

in the taking of Manwareing ?

Capt. Read. I did not fee but one acted as the

other did.

J. *£rott. You did not look upon them to be

Prifoners, like you and your Men ?

Capt. Read. No, Sir.

J. Trott. Do you know any thing of thelvJhar-

ing ? Did they all take their Shares ?

Capt. Read. I know nothing of that? for we
were all in the Round-Houfe, and were not ad-

mitted among them at that time.

Mr. Dean. Did you fee them have their Shares

each of them ?

Capt. Read. I will not fay I faw them have eve-

ry Man his particular Share ; but they were all

together when they did fhare.

Clerk. Would any of you afk the King's Evi-

dence any Queftion ?

Prifoners. We defire nothing but that he would

fpeak the Truth.

Mr. Hepwortb. May it pleafe your Honours,

we fhall proceed to call another Evidence, which

is Capt. Peter Manwareing.

Clerk. Call Capt. Peter Manwareing. Who ap-

peared and was fworn.

Mr. Hepwortb. Captain Manwareing, do you

know the Prifoners at the Bar ?

Capt. Manwareing. I know them very well.

Mr. Hepwortb. Pleafe to give the Court an Ac-

count of your being taken by them.

Capt. Manwareing. When they came on board

us we were at an Anchor. About Eight or Nine
of
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of the Clock in the Evening we faw the Canoo

coming: I ordered my Man to hale them He

afked from whence they came, and what Sloops

?hey were ? They anfwered, Capt. Thomas Richards

foist. Thomls's, and Capt. ^ad^ Phda-

MpUa. So we were glad to hear if, Mg»*£
well. But as foon as they came up the Shrowds

Cutlafhes. Thenwas

Gentlemen, I
they clapp'd all Hands to their

I faw we were taken : And I faid,

hope as you are Englifhmen, you'll be merciful, for

you fee we have nodiing to defend our felves.

fhevtoldus they would if we were Civil. So I

was ordered on board the Revenge with two of

their Men So when I came on board, Major

BonnetMm* me to come under the Aumng./ -

demanded my Papers. I save

he told me I muft lie as

£3

well;

them to him. So

as I could. Next

Diy Morning Robert tucker came to me, and afk-

ed me what I had on board ? and told me if I did

not tell the Truth, it fhould be the worfe for me.

I told him I had ibme Moioffes, Sugar, and Rum.

Then he afked me concerning my Paffengers, what

Money they had. I told him I never examined
. c_ *.u Q~ jvla-

They afk'd me if I would not come and eat along

with them ? I told them I had but little Stomach

to eat. They afk'd me why I looked fo melan-

choly? I told them I looked as well as I could.

They afked me what Liquor I had on board ? I

told them fome Rum and Sugar. So they made

Bowls of Punch, and went to drinking of the Pre*

tender's Health, and hoped to fee him King of the

Englijh Nation
f
Then fung a Song or two. Next

Morning they ordered more Hands on board the

Sloop, and fo came and lay long-fide the Scooner

;

after that they hoifted out feveral Hogfheads ofMo-
ioffes, and feveral Hogfheads of Rum, and put

on board the Scooner, and took feveral Barrels of

Pitch and Tar and put on board the Sloop ; and I

happened to go down into the Cabin, and Robert

Tucker came to me, and told me I had no bufi-

nefs there, but was better go forward and work
among the reft of the Men. So I went forward,

and afked who that was ? They told me that was

their Father. In the after-part of the Day two of

Bonner's, Men were order'd to the Maft to be whipr,

and I was threaten'd if I did not confefs all I knew.

Then Robert Tucker came to me and told me I

I told him I was not
Paffengers what Money they had. So then

ior Bonnet ordered them to come and he along- muft go along with them 1 toia mm 1 was
_

'^de the Scooner but what was done till then on fit for their Turn, neither were my Inclinations

board my Sloop I cannot tell. But then they took that way. After that Major Bonnet himfelf came

^ 4.. VM«ffi* and rhe Rum and put on board to me, and told me I muft either go on a Mar-
roon Shore, or go along with them, for he de-

out the Moioffes and the Rum and put

the Scooner.

Attorn. Gen. How did they behave themlelves

with refpeft to your felf afterwards?

Capt. Manwareing. They were civil to me, ve-

ry civil : But they were all very brifk and merry,

fign'd to take the Sloop along with him. That
Evening between Eight and Nine we were ordered

to fet fail, but whither I knew not. So we failed

out that Night, and I being weary with the Fa-

and had' all Things plentiful, and were a making tigue,, went to fleep ; and whether it was with a
Defign or not I cannot tell, but we fell to Lee-
ward of the Revtnge ; and in the Morning Major
Bonnet took the Speaking Trumpet, and told us

if we did not keep clofer he would fire in upon
us and fink us. So then we proceeded on our

Voyage till we came to Cape Fear.

j. Trott. Have you done with your Evidence ?

J. Killing. Yes.

Clerk. Would any of you Prifoners afk the

King's Evidence any Queftions ?

No Queftions afked by the Prifoners.

J. Trott. You the Prifoners at the Bar Hand
charged with Felony and Piracy committed on a
certain Sloop belonging to Capt. Peter Manware-
ing. The Evidences have proved it home upon
you ; the Boatfwain tells what old Offenders you
were, and that you were with Thatch off this Bar,

and that you were at the taking feveral Veffels

after you left Topfail-Inlet ; and all the Evidences

prove the fame; fo that it appears all of you

Punch and drinking.

Clerk. Would any of you the Prifoners afk the

King's Evidence any Queftions ?

They afk no Queftions. j'&

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe your Honours, we will

proceed to call another Evidence.

Clerk. Call James Killing, Capt. Manwareing's

Mate. Who appeared, and was fwown.

Mr. Hepworth. Do you know the Prifoners at

die Bar?
'

James Killing. Yes, Sir, I know them all very

well.

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give the Court an Ac-

count of the taking Captain Manwareing's Sloop.

James Killing. The thirty firft of July be-

tween Nine and Ten of the Clock, there running

a ftrong Tide at Ebb, we came to an Anchor

about fourteen fathom of Water near Cape James.

In about half an Hour's time I perceived fume-

thing like a Canoo : So they came nearer. I faid

here's a Canoo a coming ; I wifh they be Friends, took up with this wicked Courle of Life out of

I haled them •, and afk'd from whence they came ? Choice : Now what Evidences have you to come
They faid Capt. Thomas Richards from St. Thomas's, in on your behalf? or what have you to fay in

and Capt. Thomas Read from Penfylvania. They your Defence ? Now is your time to fpeak whac
afk'd me from whence we came ? I told them you have to fay.

from Antegoa. They faid we were welcome. I Clerk. Robert Tucker, what have you to fay ?

faid they were welcome, as far as I new. So I

ordered the Men to hand down a Rope to them.

So foon as they came on board they clapp'd their

Hands to their Cutlafhes ; and I faid we are taken.

So they curs'd and fwore for a Light. I ordered

our People to ge L a Light as foon as pofiible. So
they ordered our Captain immediately to go on
board the Revenge \ and accordingly was lent with
two of their own Hands ; and I faw him no more
that Night. So when they came into the Cabin,
the firll thing they begun with was the Pine-Ap-
ples, winch they cut down with their Cutlafhes.

Robert <£ucker. After Capt. tfhatch had taken

what we had and left us, Major Bonnet came and
told us that he was going to St. Thomas's for the

Emperor's Commiffion, if there was any to be

had.

J. Trott. Pray, if you were bound to St. Tho-

mas's, what did you do at the Cape of Virginia?

What bufinefs had you there ?

Robert Tucker. We had but little Provifionon

board.

J. Trott. So you went and met with fome by

the way.

Clerk.



1 7i 8. Carolina, and others for Piracy* i6j

Clerk. Edward Robinfon, what have you to fay ?

Edward Robinfon. When Capt. thatch left us

it was on a Marroon Ifland, and Major Bonnet

came and told me he was going to St. Thomas's,

and we might go with him.

J.
Trott. Was not you one of them that was off

this Bar with Thatch ?

Edw. Robinfon. Yes.

J.
Tfott. Why did you not come on more

then ?

Edw. Robinfon. I would have come on more but

Capt. Thatch would not give me leave. I was with

Mr. Wragg, and told him I would go on more if

I had Liberty.

J. Trott. Was you one of the five that came up

to Town ?

Edw. Robinfon. No.

Clerk. Neal Patrefon, what have you to fay in

Defence of yourfelf ?

N. Paterfon. Thatch came on board and carried

away fourteen of our beft Hands, and marrooned

twenty five of us on an Ifland ; and Major Bonnet

came and told us he was minded to go to St. Tho-

mas's, and if there were any Commiflions from

the Emperor, to get one, and go a privateering

againft the Spaniards ; fo I was willing to go with

him, and when I was on board, he forced me to

do what he pleas'd, for it was againft my Will.

J. Trott. Did not Thatch carry away your Mo-
ney and what you had befides of Goods ?

N. Paterfon. Yes.

Att. Gen. Was you not all aftiore when you

receiv'd the Act of Grace ?

N. Paterfon. Yes, Sir.

Attorn. Gen. Why had you not continued a*

fhore ? Why did you join with Bonnet ? Or who
forc'd you to it ?

N. Paterfon. But, Sir^ it was in a ftfange Land,

and I had no Money, nor nothing left, and I was

willing to do fomething to uve ; but it was againft

my Will to go a pirating.

Judge Trott. If you were forc'd and took only

Provifions, pray how did you come to {hare fo

much Money and Goods afterwards ? You fay

Thatch carried away what you had before.

N. Paterfon. I could not hinder the reft from
doing what they pleafed ; but it was contrary to

my Inclination. •

CI. William Scot, what have you to fay ?

W. Scot. When we left Topfail-lnlet, it was to

go to St. Thomas's ; and I afked whether there

was Provifions on board ? They told me there

was enough, which was not above ten or eleven

Barrels.

Judge Trott. So you took it where you could

find it, becaufe you had it not of your own : But
pray what did you with fo much Molofles, which
was neither fit to eat or drink ?

W. Scot. What I did, was to keep me from
perifhing •, but it was not in my Power to hinder

the reft.

CI. Job Barley, what have you to fay ?

Job Bayley. When Capt. Thomas or Major
Bonnet was ready to fail, I went aboard, and I

afked whether they had Provifions on board ?

They told me they had : But in a few Days it

was all fpent, and then I was forc'd to do as the

reft did.

Judge Trott. But why did you not do as Capt.
Manwareing and his Men did ? You fee they did
not act as you did.

Job Bayley. Capt. Manwareing was not taken
then.

Judge Trott. But how came you to join with

them afterwards ? And pray what made you fight

againft Col. Rhett, when he came out with lawful

Authority to you ?

Job Bayley. We thought it had been a Pirate.

Judge Trott. And ib one Pirate might fight with

another. But how could you think it was a Pirate,

when he had King George's Colours ?

Att. Gen. May it pleafe your Honours, and you

Gentlemen of the Jury, the Evidences have plainly

prov'd, that all the Prifoners at the Bar were ac

the taking of Capt. Manwareing's Sloop, that they

all confented to, and all were active in it, and all

receiv'd their Shares ; fo that I think it hath been

plainly prov'd home upon them

.

Judge Trott. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Pri*-

foners at the Bar all ftand indicted for Felony and

Piracy committed on a Sloop belonging to Capt.

Peter Manwareing, as it is expreffed in the In-

diclment. The Boatfwain tells us what old Offen-

ders they were before they went to Topfail-lnlet $

that they were at the taking of no lefs than thir-

teen Veflels ; and that in particular they were at

the taking of Capt. Manwareing. Then comes

Capt. Read, and he was taken before Capt. Man-
zvareing, and was then a Prifoner on board the

Pirate Sloop, and he tells you, they all appear'd

in Arms, and that he did not look upon them as

Prifoners, or under Conftraint, but of the fame

Company ; and he tells you he law them take

Capt. Manwareing, and that he law them take

out the Goods, as is mentioned in the Indictment,

out of Manwareing's Sloop. Then comes Capt.

Manwareing himfelf, and he fays all the Goods
mention'd in the Indictment were taken out, and
that they fhar'd thefe Goods among themfclves.

Then comes Killing the Mate, and he proves the

fame, and particularly Tucker, he was fo forward,

that he told them, if they did not tell the Truth,

it fhould be the worfe for them : And Paterfon

was fo active, that he was for having them brought

to the Gun to make them confefs •, and that all

the reft had their Arms ready, and all had their

Shares : So that I think the Evidences have fully

prov'd the Indictment upon them, and that it is

very plain and home againft them. They plead

indeed, that they were forc'd and conftrain'd to

go, but give no Proof of it -, and therefore what
Conftraint any of them appears to be under, I

fhall leave to your Confiderations : Tho' I think

the Evidence is very plain and clear, yet I fhall

not pretend to direct your Judgments. I fhall

only remark to you what the Wife Man faith,

that he that juftifieth the Wicked, as well as he that

condemneth the Jujl, even both are an Abomination

to the Lord.

Then an Officer was fworn to keep the Jury.

And about two Hours after the Jury return'd,

and gave in their Verdibl,

Cl. Gentlemen, anfwer to your Names Timothy

Bellamy.

Timothy Bellamy. Here, &c.

Cl. A re you all agreed of your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

Cl. Who fhall fay for you ?

Jury. The Foreman.

Cl. Robert Tucker, hold up thy Hand (which

he did.) How fay you ? Is he guilty of the Pi-

racy whereof he ftands indicted, or not guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

Cl. What Goods and Chattels, &c.

Foreman. None that we know of.

CL
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CI Then hearken to your Verdict, as the

Court hath recorded it. You fay that Robert

Tucker is guilty of the Piracy whereof he ftands

indicted, and that he had no Goods or Chattels,

&c.

J*!- Yes.

And the Jury alfo found £<fowri &^»M
jV«z/ P*/«->0, ^a»W» &'*» and Job Bayley,

guilty.

£/. Marfhal, look to your Pnfoners.

1^ H E N the Court proceeded to the Trial of

John William Smith, Thomas Carman, John

gliomas, William Morrifon, William Livers alias

Evis, Samuel Booth, William Hewet, and John

Levit, for the aforefaid Fad, in piratically taking

the faid Sloop Francis, Capt. Peter Manwareing,

Commander.

CI Set John William Smith, Thomas Carman,

&c. to the Bar.

Then the Petit Jury were called over.

Clerk. You the Prifoners at the Bar : Thefe

good Men that were called laft, and have here

appeared, are thofe that fhall pafs between our

Sovereign Lord the King and you, upon your

Lives and your Deaths •, therefore if you or any

of you will challenge them or any of them as

they come to the Book to be fworn, and before

they be fworn, you may, and you fhall be heard.

Then the Jury were fworn, whofe Names are

as followeth.

Samuel Prioleau, Foreman.

John Hodgson.

Garrard Vanvilfen.

Robert Harvey.

Jqfhua Marriner.

Thomas Fairchild.

Henry Gennelack.

John Jeffers.

Charles Marche.

John Grimbal.

Benjamin Griffin.

Jofeph Maffey.

Then the ufual Proclamation for Information

was made. And the Prifoners being bid to hold

up their Hands, the Clerk charged the Jury with

them thus.

CI. You Gentlemen of the Jury that are fworn,

look upon the Prifoners, and hearken to their

Charge.

Then the Indiclment was read as followeth.

THE Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King,

do upon their Oaths prefent, That Daniel

Harriot, late of Jamaica, Mariner ; John William
Smith, late of Charles-Town, Mariner ; Thomas
Carman, late of Maidftone in Kent, Mariner -,

John Thomas, late of Jamaica, Mariner ; Wil-
liam Morrifon, late of Jamaica, Mariner ; Wil-
liam Livers alias Evis, late of Dublin, Mariner •,

Samuel Booth, late of Charles-Town, Mariner ;

John Levit, late of North Carolina, Mariner ;

and William Hewet, late of Jamaica, Mariner ;

the Second Day of Auguft, &c. as before.

CI. Upon this Indictment they have been ar-

raigned, &c. as before.

The Witneffes againft the Prifoners were Ig-

itius Pell, the Boatfwain, Capt. Thomas Read,

Judge Trott. You the Prifoners at the Bar,

you have heard how fully the Witneffcs have

charged the Facts upon you : Nov/ what you

have to fay in your Defence, I fhall be ready to

hear you.

CI. John William Smith, if you have any thing

to fay, you have Liberty to fpeak.

John William Smith. When we left Topfail-

Inlet, I knew nothing but that we were going to

St. Thomas's ; but after we were out, they hoifted

the bloody Flag : But I did before believe we were

going to St. Thomas's.

Att. Gen. Did you bear Arms on board of

Major Bonnet ?

Smith. Yes, Sir.

Att. Gen. Was you at the taking all thofe

Veffels ?

Smith. Yes, Sir •, but it was againft my Will.

CI. John Carman, what have you to fay ?

Carman. As for what I did on board Captain

Thatch, I was forced ; but when I came to North

Carolina, I would not have went on board, but

Major Bonnet fhew'd me the Act of Grace ; and

when I enter'd myfelf on board, it was to get my
Bread, in hopes to have went where I might have

had Bufinefs ; for when we left Topfail-Inlet, I had

not fign'd the Articles.

Ign. Pell. But you gave the Captain your Word
that you would.

Carman. When I was left in the Sloop, I en-

deavour'd to make my Efcape with the Sloop.

Judge Trott. So, I find you wanted a Veffel

of your own.

Carman. No, but to have got one from them :

But I could not.

Att. Gen. This confirms what the King's Evi-

dence proves againft them.

CI. John Thomas, what have you to fay ?

Thomas. We had nothing left us, and we were

on a Marroon Ifland, and Major Bonnet he came

and told me I might go with him ; but it was

againft my Will to bear Arms.

J.
Trott. Was not you off this Bar ?

Thomas. Yes, but I was forced to it.

Mr. Hepivorth. And was you not at the taking

of Capt. Manwareing's Sloop ?

Thomas. Yes.

Mr. Hepworth. And had you not your Share ?

Thomas. Yes, Sir.

J.
Trott. And yet you fay you was not willing

to go a pirating.

Clerk. William Morrifon, what have you to fay ?

Morrifon. Capt. Thatch had run the Sloop afhore,

and Major Bonnet went up to the Governor for the

Act of Grace •, and when he returned he told me
I might go to St. Thomas's ; and after that he faid

Provifions would fall fhort, and he fhould go on

the Coaft of Virginia to fee for fome.

J. Trott. But was that your Manner of going

for a Commiflion, to take thirteen Veffels by the

way ? But was you not at the taking Manwareing's

Sloop ? And had you not your Share ?

CI. William Livers alias Evis, what have you to

fay ?

Evis. After we came to North Carolina, and

Capt. Thatch had loft the Ship, Major Bonnet told

Capt. Peter Manwareing, and Mr. James Killing me he would give me my Paffage to St. Thomas's,

hi Mate, who all gave the fame Evidence againft

as againft the others that were tried before.

CI. Will any of you Prifoners afk the King's
Evidence any Queflions ?

No Queflions afked by the Prifoners.

and he would endeavour to get a Ship there, and

I might go with him a privateering : But when
we came to Sea, I found how it was, and I would

not confent for a long time ; but at laft they forced

me to it.

J.
Trott,
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J. Trott. Bat you had your Share -as well as the

reft.

Evis. They forced me to do what I did.

Clerk. Samuel Booth, what have you to fay ?

Booth. As we came from Topfail-Inlet we met

with the Sloop Revenge ; they boarded us and took

us, ar-d I was a Prilbner three Weeks before I

contented;; and then they order'd me to the Gun

before I would confent.

J.
Trott. But you had your Share of Capt. Man-

wareing' s Sloop.

Booth. But my Inclinations was not that way.

Clerk. William Hewet, what have you to fay ?

He-wet. I defign'd to go to St. Thomas's with

Major Bonnet, for he told me he was bound thi-

ther ; fo I was willing to go with him.

Clerk. John LeviL what have you to fay ?

He makes no Defence.

Attorn. Gen. May pleafe your Honours, the

Boatfwain and all the Evidences prove the Indict-

ment upon each of the Prifoners, that they were

all at the taking of Capt. Manwareing's Sloop,

and all had their Shares.

J.
Trott. Gentlemen of the Jury, I think I need

fay but little on this matter : they all confefs the

Fact of which they ftand indicted. Some of them

were old Offenders, and all of them were proved

to be at the taking of Capt. Manwareing's Sloop,

and all took their Shares: fo that I think the Fact

is very fully and clearly proved upon them. But

I fhall leave that to your Confiderations, and I

pray God direct you to give a true Verdict.

Then an Officer, v/as fworn to keep the fury.

"Who after they had confider'd of their Verdicl,

return'd and found John William Smith, rfhomas

Carman, John Thomas, William Morrifon, William

Livers alias Evis, Samuel Booth, William Hewet,

and John Levit, guilty.

Then the Court adjourn'd to Friday Morning.

Friday , October the 31ft, 171 8.

THE Court proceeded to arraign William

Eddy alias Nedy, Alexander Annand, George

Rofs, George Dunkin, Thomas Nichols, John Ridge,

Matthew King, Daniel Perry, and Henry Virgin,

upon the following Inditlment, for piratically ta-

king Capt. Manwareing.

The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King do up-

en their Oaths prefent that William Eddy alias

Nedy, late of Aberdeen, Mariner; Alexander

Annand, late of Jamaica, Mariner ; George Rofs,

late of Glaicow, Mariner; George Dunkin, late

of Glafcow, Mariner ; Thomas Nichols, late of
London, Mariner ; John Ridge, late of London,
Mariner; Matthew King, late of Jamaica. Ma-
riner ; Daniel Perry, late of Guernfey, Mariner

;

and Henry Virgin, Mariner, late of Briftol ; the

fecond Day of Auguft, in thefifth Tear of the Reign

of our Sovereign Lord King George, by the Grace of
God of Great Britain, France, and Ireland, King,

Defender of the Faith, &c. as before.

Who all pleaded Not Guilty.

Then the Courc proceeded on their Trial.

And the Jury were fworn, whofe Names are as

followeth.

Timothy Bellamy, Foreman, &c. as before.

The fame Witneffes againft thefe, viz.

Ignatius Pell, the Boatfwain.

Capt. Thomas Read.

Capt. Peter Manwareing.
Vol. VI.

And Mr. James Killing, his Mate.

Who all gave the fame Evidence againft thefe

Prifoners as againft the others, excepting Thomas
Nichols.

Capt. John Stevenfon, one of the Captors, being

fworn, declared, that George Rofs, the Gunner of

the Pirate's Sloop, was for blowing up the laid

Sloop, and that he acknowleg'd he was to have

fet fire to the Train, and that he would have done
it.

As to Thomas Nichols:

Ignatius Pell declared, that Nichols, after he
came to Sea, was very much difcontented 5 but

Major Bonnet faid he would force him to go*

However, he would not join with the reft of the

Men, but always feparated himfelf from the

Company.
Capt. Read faid, that Nichols behaved himfeif

different from the reft, and did not join with them*

Capt. Manwareing faid, that Nichols when he
was aboard his Sloop faid, he did hope it would be

over with him in a little time, for he hoped to get

clear of them, and looked very melancholy, and
never joined with the reft in their Cabals when
they were drinking : and when Major Bonnet fent

for him he refuted to go, and laid, he would die

before he would fight.

Clerk. Will any of you ask the King's Evidence
any Queftions?

Nichols. Mr. Killing, did you never hear me fay

I would leave that Courfe of Life ?

J. Trott. Did you hear him fay fo ?

Killing. When he came on board he told me,
he would give the whole World, if he had it, to le

free from them : and when he was on board and
Major Bonnet fent for him, he refufed to go on
board the Revenge, till he fent to fetch him by
force, and then he told me he would not fight if he
did lofe his Life for it .- and he was not with them
when they fhared ; and he told them he hoped he
fhould not be long with them; and he never was at

their Cabals as the reft were.

J. Trott. He feems to be under a Conftraint in-

deed, and therefore muft be taken into Confide-

ration.

Clerk. Will any of you Prifoners afk any more
Queftions ?

None afked.

J. Trott. If any of them have any thing to fay,

they now have their liberty to fpeak.

Clerk. William Eddy alias Nedy, what have you
to fay ?

Nedy. I never was on board Capt. Manwareing's

Sloop nor had no hand in it.

J. Trott. You was one of Bonnet's Crew.

Nedy. I never acted in it.

J. Trott. That is no Excufe ; it is not fuch or

fuch a one that goes on board only, but thofe that

ftand ready to affift them, have as great a hand
in the Fact as the other ; for Men would not be

taken by two or three, if they had no more help

;

fo that the whole Crew are equally concern'd at

fuch a time.

Clerk. Alexander Annandy what have you to

fay?

Annand. When we were at Topfail-Inlet, Major

Bonnet told me he would go and get a Clearance

for the Sloop, for he defign'd to go to St. Thomas's

for a Commiffion, and I might go with him : fo

I fufpected nothing till we were out at Sea, and

then I could not help it.

Z J. Trots.
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J.
Srott. But why did you not declare againft

it then, and fo not join with them ?

Annand. I was but one Man, and a Stranger,

and I was afraid I mould have loft my Life.

Clerk. George Rofs, what have you to fay?

I.

Rofs. I belonged to Sloop, and we

• with Major Bonnet and was taken by him

.

next Diy two of the Men told me I muft go with

them. I anfwer'd them, No ; I did not defign to

leave the Sloop: but they told me I muft
;
and

thev told me if I would but confent I mould have they would, tho' I did not.

anv thine And a little after Capt. Manwareing J.
trott But had you no Opportunity t

was taken.

J.
Trott. And you had your Share of Man-

wareing's Goods ?

Rofs. Yes.

J.
Trott. So, tho' you were unwilling at firlt,

you was willing afterward, and alfo fought Col.

'Rhett when he came out againft you.

Rofs. They told me it was Capt. Thatch ;
for

my part I did not know who Thatch was.

J. Trott. But pray what Authority had you to

fight any body ?

J.
<Irott. Is that all you have to fay ? You knew

lhatch and Bonnet were both Pirates, and why '

would you with go them again ?

Clerk. Henry Virgin, what have you to fay ?

Virgin. Major Bonnet ordered about thirty

Hands to be ready, and in a little time we were

ordered on board ; and when we were about an

hundred Leagues from Land, he asked if there

were any that would go a Marrooning ; and I be-

lieve there were two or three that promifed him
I did not

d Opportunity t

from them ?

Virgin. If we had known any thing of the Act

of Grace when we were off this Bar, we had come

afhore. I went to make my Efcape, and leapt into

the Water, and had like to have been drown'd.

J.
Trott. How many Veffels have you been at

the taking and burning of do you think ?

Virgin. I believe about three.

Mr. Hepworth. He was with them at the Bay

of Honduras, and all along.

Virgin. But I never gave my Confent, for Capt.

Ckrk. cTorge Dunkin, you may fpeak what you ^/f£ never aiked any of us

J.
Trott. Would any or the Prfoners lay any

more ? if they will I am ready to hear them.

Attor. Gen. May it pleafe your Honours, and

you Gentlemen of the Jury, thefe three, Nichols,

Dunkin, and Ridge, feem to make fome Defence.

As for Nichols, he was with them when Manware*

have to fay.

Dunkin. After we were taken at the Capes of

Major Bonnet came to me and told me

I muft go along with them. But I told him I

could not leave the Veffel. He told me I muft.

J.
Trott. But why did you join with them af-

terwards in taking your Share of Manwareing's ing was taken ; and the Mate tells us, that he fe-

Goods? and why did you fight Col. Rhett and his perated himfelf from the reft of the Cabal; and

Men ? If you had not fought, you might have when they fhared, he told them they might do as

faved the Lives of 12 or 14 Men
Dunkin. Major Bonnet declared, if any one re-

fufed to fight he would blow his Brains out.

Thomas Nichols made his Defence before.

Clerk. John Ridge, what have you to fay ?

Ridge. After we came to Topfail- Inlet, and the

Ship was loft, Major Bonnet came and told me
that he would go and accept the Act of Grace,

they pleafed with his Share, for he hoped he mould

not be with them long ; fo that it appears that he

feparated himfelf from the reft of the Company
from the very firft: thefe things therefore ought

to be confider'd. And as for Dunkin, he looked

upon himfelf as a Prifoner at firft; but the Boat-

fwain indeed fays he had his Shares. And as for

Ridge he faid,that he refolved to make his efcape.

and get a Clearing for the Sloop, and go to St. Tho- For all the reft they feem to be equally guilty.

mash for a Commiffion, and he expected we would J.
Trott. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Pnfoners

go with him ; fo when he was gone up to the at the Bar ftand indicted for Felony and Piracy

Country we rigged the Sloop ; fo the Quarter- committed on a Sloop belonging to Capt. Peter

Mailer, the Boatfwain, and he agreed together ; Manwareing Commander, and not only did they

but for my part I knew nothing what their Defign break and board the faid Manwareing's Sloop,

was ; and fo the firft Veffel we faw they took : which was an Act of Piracy, but it hath been

but it was my Refolution to go away by the firft proved upon them, that they were at the taking

Opportunity. of thirteen Veffels after they left Topfail-Inlet

.

Clerk. Matthew King, what have you to fay ? Indeed there are three that have fomething to fay

King. When we were at lopfail-Inlet, Captain in their Defence, Nichols, Ridge, and Dunkin. As
Thatch marrooned us on an Ifland, and left us ; for Dunkin, Pell fays he had his Share, as the reft

and Major Bonnet told us he would go to St. Tho- had : Capt. Read looked upon him as a Prifoner,

mas's ; but the firft Prize we met with we took,

having but little Provifions on board.

J.
Trott. How could you think of going to

St. Thomas's without Provifions ?

Attor. Gen. But the Boatfwain fays there were
Provifions on board ; feveral Barrels of Flower,

and feveral Barrels of Beef and Pork.

J. Trott. What need had you then to go a pi-

rating.

King. I did not know it 'till we were out.

J. Trott. Bonnet had not above five Hands, and
there were of you twenty-five ; why would you
be all commanded by them ? You had no need to

yield to them.

Clerk. Daniel Perry, what have you to fay ?

Perry. When Capt. Thatch left us it was on a
Marroon Ifland, and Major Bonnet came and told

us he had the Act of Grace, and fo we might go
with him.

but Capt. Manwareing did not. As for Ridge, he

was at North Carolina, and took up with Bonnet to

go to St. Thomas's, and it is poffible for a Man to

be deceived, for Pell declares that they were bound
to St. Thomas's, at firft ; and Killing the Mate de-

clared, that he told him he would free himfelffrom

that Courfe of Life the firft Opportunity: fo I

fhall leave this to your Confederation. But for

Nichols, I think its plain he was under Con-
ftraint and Force; for Pell himfelf declares that

he would have nothing to do with their Shares,

and he did hope that he mould not be long with

them. Capt. Manwareing, and Mr. Killing his

Mate, all confirm the fame. And when he was
fent for to come on board Bonnet, to go out to

fight Colonel Rhett, he refilled to go ; and when
he was forced to go on board, he faid he would

die before he would fight and accordingly went

into
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into the Hole, and did not fight Col. Rhctt. So

that by the whole Courfe of the Evidence, I think

it is very clear that he was under Conftraint and

Fear. As to the reft, I think the Proof is full

acrainft them -, but I fhall leave them to your Con-

fideration. You know that as the Innocent muft

not be condemned, fo the Guilty ought not to be

acquitted. Remember you have the Lives of thefe

Perfbns in your Hands •, and I pray God direct

you to give a true Verdict.

Then an Officer was fworn to keep the Jury.

Who after they had confidered of their Verdiel,

returned, and found William Eddy alias Nedy,

Alexander Annand, George Rofs, George Dunkin, John

Ridge, Matthew King, Daniel Perry, and Henry

Virgin, Guilty ; and Thomas Nichols, Not Guilty.

THEN the Court proceeded to arraign James

Robbins alias Rattle, James Mullet alias Mil-

lett, Thomas Price, James Wilfon, John Lopez, and

Zachariah Long, upon the following Indictment,

for piratically taking Capt. Manwareing.

" The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King
" do upon their Oath prefent, that James Rob-
" bins alias Rattle, late of London, Mariner •,

*' James Mullet alias Millet, late of London ; Ma-
*' riner ; Thomas Price, late of Briflol, Mariner ;

" James Wilfon, late of Dublin, Mariner •, John
*' Lopez, late of Oporto, Mariner ; and Zacha-
*' riah Long, late of the Province of Holland,

" Mariner •, the Second Day of Aaguft, in the
*' Fifth Year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord
" George, by the Grace of God, of Great Britain,

" France, and Ireland, King, Defender of the
" Faith, 6ff. ; 2

To which Indictment James Robbins alias Rat-

tle, James Mullet alias Millet, Thomas Price, John
Lopez, and Zachariah Long, pleaded Not Guilty.

James Wilfon pleaded Guilty.

Then the Court proceeded upon the Trial of
thofe that pleaded Not Guilty.

The Jurors were fworn, whofe Names are as

fblloweth :

Samuel Proileau, Foreman.

~John Hodgfon.

Garrat Vanvelfin.

Lucas Stoutenbcrough.

Jofhua Mariner.

Thomas Fairchild.

Henry Genelac.

John Jeffers.

Charles Marche.

John Grimball.

Benjamin Griffin.

Jofeph Majfcy.

The Witnejfcs againft the Prifoners were the

above-named.

Ignatius Pell, the Boatfwain.

Capt. 'Thomas Read.

Capt. Peter Manwareing.
And Mr. James Killing his Mate.
Who all gave the fame Evidence againft thefe

Prifoners, as againft the others that were tried

before.

CLrk. You, the Prifoners at the Bar, have
heard what the King's Evidence have fworn againft
you. Now is your time to make your Defence.

Clerk. James Robbins, what have you to fay ?

Robbins. I was on board the Revenge, and then
I was fent on board of Capt. Read's Sloop, and
was there four Days ; and then was fent on board
the Revenge again : for I was about to run away,
if I had an Opportunity.
Vol. VI.

Clerk. James Mullet, what have you to fay ?

Mullet. When we left Topfail-Inlet, it was to go
to St. Thomas's, -, fo Major Bonnet told me : And I

being on a Marroon Shore, I was willing to go
with him.

Clerk. Thomas Price, what have you to fay ?

Price. Capt. Thatch left us on a Marroon Shore,

and had nothing left •, and Major Bonnet told me
I might go with him to St. Thomas's ; but I de-

figned not to go a pirating.

J.
Trott. Had you not your Share ?

Price. I was fore'd to do as I did when I was
on board.

Clerk. John Lopez, what have you to fay ?

Lopez. I was at the Bay of Honduras, and was
taken by Thatch and carried to Topfail-Inlet,
and there he marrooned me on an Ifland, and
came with five Hands and carried all away
that we had and left us. And Major Bonnet

told me he would go to St. Thomas's, and I

might go along with him. I told Capt. Man-
wareing, I would not go a pirating, for I dad noi:

like it.

J. Trott. Did you not fhare a little before you
came to Cape Fear.

Lopez. Yes ; but it was againft my Will.

J.
Trott. Capt. Manwareing, do you know any

thing of this Man ?

Capt. Manwareing. All as I know, he told me
he had a Wife and Children ; and that he did not

like that Courfe of Life. This is all I can fay of

him.

Clerk. Zechariah Long, what have you to fay ?

Long. When we failed, I knew nothing but that

it was to go to St. Thomas's, till afterwards ; and

then I muft do as the reft did.

Then the Judge fumm'd up the Evidence.

And an Officer was fworn to keep the Jury.

Who after they had confidered of their Verdiel

returned, and found the abovefaid James Mullet

alias Millet, Thomas Price, John Lopez, and Za-

chariah Long, Guilty j and James Robbins alias

Rattle, Not Guilty.

Then the Court adjourn'd till Saturday Morn-
ing.

Saturday-, November the Firft, 171 8. the

Court met according to Adjournment.

THEN the Court proceeded to arraign Ed-

ward Robinfon, Robert Tucker, William Scot,

Job Bayley, Neal Paterfon, John William Smith,

Thomas Carman, and John Thomas, upon the fol-

lowing Indictment.

" The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King
do upon their Oath prefent, that Stede Bonnet

alias Edwards, alias Thomas, late of the Ifland

of Barbadoes, Mariner •, David Heriot, late of

the Ifland of Jamaica, Mariner ; William Scot,

late of Aberdeen, Mariner ; Job Bayley, late

of London, Mariner; Edward Robinfon, late of

New-Caflle upon Tyne, Mariner : Robert Tucker,

late of the Ifland of Jamaica^ Mariner ; Neal

Paterfon, late of Aberdeen, Mariner ; John Wil-

liam Smith, late of Charles-town, Mariner \

Thomas Carman, late of Maidfione in Kent,

Mariner •, and John Thomas, late of the Ifland

of Jamaica, Mariner •, the thirty firft Day of

Auguft, in the fifth Year of the Reign of our

Sovereign Lord George, by the Grace of God
Z 2 "of
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of God of Great Britain, France, and Ireland,

Kincr, Defender of the Faith, &ff .
by Force,

and Arms, &c upon the High Sea, in a cer-

tain Place called Cape Fear, in the Latitude or

Thirty-four, or thereabouts, and within the

Turifdiclion of the Court of Vice-Admiralty or

the Province of South Carolina, did piratically

and felonioufly kt upon, board, break and

enter a certain Merchant-Sloop, called the

Fortune, "Thomas Read, Commander, then be-

incr a Sloop of certain Perfons (to the Jurors

aforefaid unknown) and then and there pira-

tically and felonioufly did make an Affault in

and upon the faid Thomas Read, and other

his Mariners, (whofe Names to the Jurors

aforefaid are unknown.) In the fame Sloop,

timothy Bellamy, Foreman.

Georve Bucket.

John Rivers.

William Sheriff.

Benjamin Dennis.

Hugh Durfey.

Thomas Chambers.

Daniel Townfhend,

John Lee.

Thomas Bee.

John Barton.

Richard Fairchild.

Then the ufual Proclamation for Information

was made. And the Prifoners being bid to hold

up their Hands, the Clerk charged the Jury with

them thus.

Clerk. You the Gentlemen of the Jury that are

fworn, look upon the Prifoners, and hearken to

their Charge.

Then the Indictment was read, as before.

Clerk. Upon this Indictment they have been

arraigned, &c. as before.

Then the Witneffes againfl the Prifoners were

called.

Clerk. Call Ignatius Pell, the Boatfwain.

Who appeared, and was fworn.

Mr. Hepworih. Do you know the Prifoners at

the Bar ?

Ign. Pell. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Hepworth. Give the Court an Account of

and within the Jurifdi'clion aforefaid, piratically the taking Capt. Thomas Read, and plundering

and felonioufly did ileal, take, and carry away of his Sloop.

Ign. Pell. Capt. Read was in Company with

two VefTcls more, which we took, but did not

fhare, till we came to Cape Fear.

Mr. Hepworth. Were the Goods mentioned in

the Indictment taken out ?

Ign. Pell. Yes, Sir.

Judge Troit. Did all the Prifoners at the Bar

receive their Shares ?

Ign. Pell. Yes.

Clerk. Will any of you afk the King's Evi-

dence any Queftions ? Edward Robinfon, will

you afk any Queftions ?

Edw. Robinfon. Boatfwain, do you not remem-
ber when we left Topfail-Inlet, it was with a Defign

to go to St. Thomas's ?

Ign. Pell. I do believe you might think we
the laid Pump, with Boxes and Breaks, of the were going to 6"/. Thomas's ; but the firft Vefiel

Value of twenty Shillings, like current Money we faw, we confented to take, and you had your

of Penfilvania ; the Goods and Chattels of Share as well as the reft.

Clerk. Robert Tucker, will you afk any Que-
ftions ?

Tucker. No.
Mr. Hepworth. May it pleafe your Honours,

we will proceed to call another Evidence.

Capt. Peter Manwareing called and fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Do you know the Prifoners at

the Bar ?

Capt. Manwareing. I know them all;

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give the Court an
faid Sloop, and from their Cuftody and Pof- Account of the fharing of Capt. Read's Goods at
feflion, then and jhere, upon the High Sea Cape Fear.

Capt. Manwareing. As for taking of Captain
Read, I can fay nothing, becaufe he was taken

by them before I was taken ; but when we came
to Cape Fear, they fhared what they had.

Judge Trott. And had all the Prifoners at the

Bar their Shares ?

againft the Peace of God, and of our now

Sovereign Lord the King, then and there be-

ing, piratically and felonioufly, did put the

aforefaid Thomas Read, and others his Mari-

ners of the fame Sloop, in the Sloop aforefaid,

then being in corporal Fear of their Lives,

then and there in the Sloop aforefaid, upon

the High Sea, in the Place aforefaid, called

Cape Fear, in the Latitude of Thirty-four, or

thereabouts, aforefaid, in the Sloop aforefaid,

fix Tierces of Bread, of the Value of thirteen

Pounds, current Money of Penfilvania ; four

Barrels of Bread, of the Value of four Pounds,

like current Money of Penfilvania ; one Barrel

of Linfeed Oil, of the Value of feven Pounds,

like current Money of Penfilvania ; two Tierces

of Hams, of the Value of twenty Pounds, like

current Money of* Penfilvania; and twenty Bar-

rels of Flower, of the Value of twenty Pounds,

like current Money of Penfilvania ; fix China-

Plates, of the Value of three Pounds, like

current Money of Penfilvania ; feven Iron-

bound Blocks, of the Value of forty Shillings,

like current Money of Penfilvania ; ninety

Fathom of Rigging, of the Value of three

Pounds, like Current Money of Penfilvania;

certain Perfons, (to the Jurors aforefaid un-
known) then and there upon the High Sea

aforefaid, in the aforefaid Place, called Cape
Fear, in the Latitude of thirty-four, or there-

abouts, aforefaid, in the Sloop aforefaid, and
within the Jurifdiction aforefaid ; being found
in the aforefaid Sloop, in the Cuftody and
PofTefTion of the faid Thomas Read, and others

his Mariners in the lame Sloop, from the faid

Thomas Read, and others his Mariners of the

aforefaid, in the Place aforefaid, called Cape
Fear, in the Latitude of thirty-four, or there-

abouts, as aforefaid, in the Sloop aforefaid,

and within the Jurifdi&ion aforefaid, and
againft the Peace of our faid now Sovereign
Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity, &c.

Who all pleaded Not Guilty.

Then the Court proceeded upon their l\ial.

The Petit-Jury were fworn, whofe Names
as follotteth.

are

Capt. Manwareing. \ did not fee any of them
refufe ; and they were amongft the reft when
they did fhare.

Clerk. Will any of you afk the Evidence any
Queftions ?

The Prifoners afk no Queftions.

Mr. Hep-
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Mr. Hepworth. We will proceed to call ano-

ther Evidence. Capt. Thomas Read, do you know

the Prifoners at the Bar ?

Capt. Read. I know them all.

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give the Court an

Account of your being taken and plundered by

them.

Capt. Read. After we were taken, Robert

Tucker with fome others came on board ; and

then we failed to Cape Inlopen, where Capt. Man-

wareing was taken, and after that to Cape Fear.

Mr. Hep-worth. Were thofe Goods taken out as

are mentioned in the Indictment ?

Capt. Read. Yes, Sir.

Judge Trott. Did all the Prifoners receive their

Shares ?

Capt. Read. Yes, I did not fee but what they

did : They were all together when they fhared.

Clerk. Will any of you afk the Evidence any

Queftions ?

Edward Robinfon. Capt. Read, when did you

fee me on board your Sloop ?

Capt. Read. I cannot fay I faw you on board

;

but you were with them when they fhared.

Judge Trott. If you were not on board the

Sloop, you was one of the Crew ; and, as I told

you before, it's not they only are Pirates that go

on board of a Veffrl, but they that ftand ready

to aflift are as much Pirates as the other, and are

as much concerned in the Fact.

Clerk. Will any of you afk any Queftions ?

'Prifoners. No.

Mr. Hepworth. We will proceed to call ano-

ther Evidence. James Killing, do you know the

Prifoners at the Bar ?

Killing. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Hepworth. Give the Court an Account of

what you know of the taking of Capt. Read.

Killing. I can fay but little to the Matter till

we came to Cape Fear, and there they fhared the

Goods.

Judge Trott. Did you fee the Goods taken out?

Killing. I cannot fay I faw them all taken out

;

but I faw them a fharing of them together.

Mr. Hepworth. We will call another Evi-

dence.

Francis Griffin, Capt. Read's Mate; who
was fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Do you know the Prifoners at

the Bar ?

Griffin. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give an Account of

the taking the Sloop you bdong'd to.

Griffin. After we were taken, Tucker and

fome more came on board, and Tucker fell to

beating and cutting the People with his Cutlafh,

and cut one Man's Arm. So then we went to

Cape James alias Cape Inlopen, where Captain

Manwareing was taken, and thence we failed for

Cape Fear.

Mr. Hepworth. Were all thefe Goods men-
tioned in the Indictment taken out? (That Part

of the Indictment read.)

Griffin. Yes, Sir.

Judge Trott. Did all the Prifoners take their

Shares ?

Griffin. .1 know nothing to the contrary.

Clerk. Will any of you afk the King's Evi-
dence any Queftions ?

No Quejtions ajked.

Judge Trott. You the Prifoners at the Bar,
what have you to fay in your Defences? I am

now ready to hear you.

Clerk. Edward Robinfon, what have you to

Robinfon. I have nothing to fay, more than

what I have faid.

Clerk. Robert Tucker, what have you to fay ?

Tucker. I knew nothing but we were going to

St. Thomas's, when I engaged with Major Bonnet.

Judge Trott. You was his Quarter-Mafter ; and

you was the Perfon that cut the Man with the

Cutlafb, and abufed the People.

Clerk. William Scot, what have you to fay ?

Scot. I was never on board Capt. Read.

Judge Trott. You was never on board ! What
of that ? You was one of the Crew, and confented

to it, and had your Share.

Clerk. Job Bayley and Neal Paterfan, what have

you to fay ?
,

Prifoners. We have nothing more to fay.

Clerk. John William Smith, what have you to

fay?

Smith. It was never my Defign to go a pirating;

and when I was at Ssa, I could not help what

others did.

Judge Trott. If it was not your Defign at firft,

you afterwards confented to it.

Clerk. Thomas Carman and John Thomas, what

have either of you to fay ?

Prifoners. We have no more to fay, than what

we have faid.

Att. Gen. May it pleafe your Honours, I think

the Evidence have plainly proved the Prifoners at

the Bar guilty of the Fact charged upon them in

the Indictment; fo that they were all equally

guilty.

Judge Trott. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Pri-

foners at the Bar ftand indicted for Felony and Pi-

racy, committed on a Sloop belonging to Capt.

Thomas Read: All the Evidences fully prove the

Fact upon them, that they were all equally guilty,

and all fhared in the Goods and Plunder; but

Tucker abufed the People, and cut one Man with

his Cutlafh, fo that he added Barbarity to his

other Crimes. They all pretend they were under

Force and Conftraint ; but it is but a Suggeftion

of their own, without the leaft Proof: But there

is full Proof of their confenting. But I fhall

leave them to your Confederation. But the Cafe

is fo clear, that I believe you will not be long be-

fore you return with your Verdict.

Then an Officer was fworn to keep the Jury.

Who after they had confidered of their Verdict,

return'd, and found the abovefaid Edward Ro-

binfon, Robert Tucker, William Scott, Job Bayley,

Neal Paterfon, John William Smith, Thomas Gar-

man, and John Thomas, Guilty.

THEN the Court proceeded to arraign

William Morrifon, William Livers alias

Fvis, Samuel Booth, William Hewet, John Levit,

William Eddy alias Nedy, Alexander Annand,

George Rofs, George Dunkin, and Thomas Nichols,

upon the following Indictment, for taking Capt.

Read.

" The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the

" King do upon their Oath prefent, That William
it Morrifon, late ©f Jamaica, Mariner, £s?t. (as

" before.)

Who all pleaded Not -Guilty, -excepting John
Levit, who pleaded -Guilty.

Then
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Then the Court proceeded upon the trial

thofe that had pleaded Not Guilty.

And the Jury were fworn, whofe Names

;

as followeth

:

Timothy Bellmay, Foreman, &V. (as before.)

of

:re

Igii. Pell, one of the Witnefles againft the Pri-

foner, was called and fworn. He, and .die reft of

the Witnefles in general, gave the fame Evidence

againft thefe Prifoners, as againft the former,

only they were more particularly examined as to

Thomas Nichols, and George Dunkin.

Mr. Hepworth. Ign. Pell, do you know the

Prifoners at the Bar ?

Ign. Pell. Yes, Sir, I know them all very

well.

Alt. Gen. Pleafe to give the Court an Account

of the taking and plundering Capt. Read; and

bpgin with Nichols.

Ign. Pell. Thomas Nichols was very much dif-

fatisfted on board, and did not join with the reft but that they were a

of the Company, and would not take the Share, Shares,

and faid he hoped he fhould not continue long with

them.

Foreman. Do you know any thing of Dunkin ?

How did he behave himfelf ?

frn. Pell. I did not fee but he was as active as

any of the reft, and took his Share as the reft did

at Cape Fear.

Judge Trott. And had all the Prifoners their

Shares ?

Ign. Pell. Yes, excepting Nichols.

Judge Trott. Were the Goods mentioned in the

Indictment taken out of Read's Sloop?

Ign. Pell. Yes.

Clerk. Will any of you afk the King's Evi-

dence any Queftions ?

No Queftions ajked by the Prifoners.

Mr. Hepworth. We will proceed to call ano-

ther Evidence. Capt. Manwareing, do you know
the Prifoners at the Bar ?

Capt. Manwareing. I know them all very well.

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give the Court an Ac-
count of their fharing Capt. Read's Goods at Cape

James Killing fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Do you know the Prifoners at

the Bar?
Killing. I know them all very well.

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give the Court an Ac-

count of what you know of their taking and

plundering Capt. Read; and firft begin with

Nichols.

Killing. I remember when he was on board our

Sloop, and Major Bonnet fent for him, when he

went off, he faid, he hoped to get clear of them, and

he wou'd die before he wou'd fight.

Judge Trott. Pell, do you know whether he

did fight Col. Rhett, or not ?

Ign. Pell. He did not fight ; and if one that

Major Bonnet loved very well had not been fhot-

down by his Side, he had blowed his Brains out

;

for he had his Piftol ready.

Mr. Hepworth. How did Dunkin behave him-

felf?

Ign. Pell. I can fay nothing for any of the reft,

as one, and had all their

Clerk. Would any of you afk the King's Evi-

dence any Queftions ?

No Queftions ajked by the Prifoners.

Mr. Hepworth. We will proceed to call another

Evidence. Capt. Thomas Read, do you know
the Prifoners at the Bar ?

Capt. Read. I know them all very well.-

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give the Court an
Account of what Goods were taken from you, and
how the Prifoners behaved themfelves ; and firft

of Nichols.

Capt. Read. The moft of the Time he was on
board Capt. Manwareing Sloop, I heard him
fay, he did not like that Courfe of Life ; and the

laft Words I heard Major Bonnet fay to him,

was, that he would force no Man to go againft his

Will.

Judge Trott. Can you fay any thing of'Dunkin?

Capt. Read. As for Dunkin, I did not fee but

he acted as the reft did.

Dunkin. Capt. Read, It was againft my Will.

Mr. Hepworth. Capt. Read, were thefe Goods
Fear ; and particularly how Nichols behaved him- taken out of you, as are mentioned in the Indict

felf. ment? (that Part of the Inditlment read.) Were
Capt. Manwareing. When Nichols was on board all thefe Goods taken out ?

my Sloop, he laid feveral Times, he would get Capt. Read. Yes.
clear of them the firft Opportunity, and he hoped it Clerk. Will any of you afk any Queftions?
would not be long firft ; and when Major Bonnet George Dunkin, will you afk any Queftions ?

fent for all Hands on board the Revenge, he re- George Dunkin, Capt. Read, when did you fee

I to go, till he fent word, if he would not me as active as any of the reft ?

come, he wou'd make him ; and when he went, he
faid, before he wou'd fight, he wou'd die : And he
always kept himfelf from the Company, and
from their Cabals.

Judge Trott. Do you know any thing of
Dunkin ?

Capt. Manwareing. What I can fay is, There
was fbme brown Bread upon Deck, and he faid,

it was fit for 710thing but Negroes to eat ; and I told
him, / wifhed he might never want it. So they
went, and brought fome whiter out of the Hole.

Mr. Hepworth. How did he behave himfelf?
Capt. Manwareing. I law nothing but he was

as the reft were.

Mr. Hepworth.
_
Would any of you alk the

King' I .idence any Queftions?
No Queftions ajked by the Prifoners.

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe your Honours, wc pro-
I focal] anotlier Evidence,

Read.

thought

Before Capt. Manwareing was

you had been a Prifoner; but

Capt.

taken, I

afterwards I faw no difference

Judge Trott. You was one of Bonnet's Crew,

one of chat Company.
Mr. Hepworth. We proceed to call another

Evidence.

Francis Griffin. Capt. Read'j Mate fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Do you know the Prifoners at

the Bar ?

Griffin. I know them all.

Mr. Hepworth. Give an Account of what you
know of Nichols, and the reft of the Prifoners.

Griffin. As for Nichols, he was a Man ' I know
nothing of, he being on board of Manwareing'^

Sloop.

Mr. Hepworth. What do you know of Dun-
kin ?

Griffin.
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Griffin. I knew nothing of him till we were come

to Cape Fear ',
and I few no difference, but he

fhared among the reft.

Mr. Hepworth. Were thofe Goods taken out of

the Sloop, the Goods mentioned in the Indict-

ment ?

Griffin. Yes, Sir.

T. Troti. Now you the Prifoners, what you have

to lay in your Defence I fhall be ready to hear.

Clerk. William Morrifon, what have you to fay ?

Morrifon. I have no more to fay than I have faid

already.

Clerk. William Livers alias Evis, what have you

to lay ?

Evis. Nothing more.

Clerk. Samuel Booth.

Booth. When I went on board Major Bonnet,

it was to go to St. Thomas's with him.

J.
<Trott. Why had you not continued at North

Carolina, fince you could not continue here ?

Booth. I thought to have had better Bufinefs

there.

Clerk. John Levit, William Eddy alias Nedy,

Alexander Annand.

Prifoners, We were forced to go, and did not

know what they would do.

Attor. Gen. But did you not know what you did

when you fhared ? You knew that did not belong

to you, did you not ?

Clerk. George Rofs, George Dunkin, 'Thomas Ni-

chols, alked no Queftions ; only Bunkin deliver'd

in a Paper, which was read in Court, and con-

tained a Teftimony of his former Behaviour when

in Scotland.

Attor. Gen. Pleafe your Honours and you Gen-

demen of the Jury, I think it appears from the E-

vidence, that Nichols was under Conftraint, and

forced. As for Bunkin, and the reft, they all took

their Shares at Cape Fear.

J. Trott. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Prifoners

at the Bar ftand indicted for Felony and Piracy

committed on a Sloop belonging to Capt. Thomas

Read. As for Nichols, Pell fays that he was not

joined to the Company, and faid, as for his Share

they might do what they pleafed^ for he hoped hefhould

not be with them long: And when Major Bonnet

fent for him on board, he refufed to fight Col.

Rhett , and if another had not been kill'd, Major
Bonnet had blown his Brains out. Capt. Man-
wareing fays, he refufed his Share, and kept him-

felf from the Company and from their Cabals ; and

he faid when fent for on board, that he would die

before he would fight. And Capt. Read fays, that

Major Bonnet laid, that he would put him afhore,

for he would force no Man againft his Will. And
Killing fays that he told him, that he would
not fight Col. Rhett, when Major Bonnet fent for

him on board the Revenge. So that I think it

plainly appears he was under Conftraint. But for

Dunkin, he fays of himfelf indeed that he was a

Pnfoner, and under Conftraint ; but Pell fays he
was nor, and that he took his Share, and was as

the reft were. And Capt. Manwareing fays, that

he complained of the Bread, that it was fit for

none but Negroes : io I fhall leave you to confider

that. As for the reft, they have but little to fay

in their Defence, and I think the Evidence have
proved the Fact fully upon them. But I fhall leave

this to your Consideration •, and remember you have
the Lives of thefe Perfons in your hands.

Then the Officer was fworn to keep the Jury:
Who after they had confider'd of their VerdiR,

returned and found the abovefaid William Morrifon*,

William Livers alias Evis, Samuel Booth, William

Hewit, William Eddy alias Nedy, Alexander Annand^

George Rofs, and George Bunkin, Guilty; and Tho-

mas Nichols, Not Guilty.

Then the Court adjourn'd till Monday Morn-
ing.

Monday, November the 3d, 171 8. the Court

met according to Adjournment.

I^HEN the Court proceeded to arraign John
Ridge, Matthew King, Baniel Perry, Henry

Virgin, James Robbins alias Rattle, James Mullet

alias Millet, Thomas Price, James Wilfon, John

Lopex, and Zachariah Long, upon the following

Indictment for taking Capt. Read.

The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King do,

upon their Oaths, prefent, that John Ridge, late of

London, Mariner, &c. as before.

To which Indictment John Ridge, Matthew King,

Llenry Virgin, James Robbins alias Rattle, James

Mullet alias Millet, Thomas Price, John Lopez, and

Zachariah Long, pleaded not Guilty : and Baniel

Perry and James Wilfon pleaded Guilty.

Then the Court proceeded upon the Trial of

thofe that had pleaded Not Guilty.

And the Jury were fworn, whofe Names are as

followeth

:

Samuel Prioleau, Foreman.

John Hodgfon.

Garrat Vanvelfin.

Lucas Stoutenburgh.

Jofhua Mariner.

Thomas Fairchild.

Henry Genelac.

Benjamin Griffin.

Charles Marche.

John Grimball.

Nicholas Stephens.

William Harvey.

The WitnefTes againft the Prifoners were the

above-named.

Lgnatius Pell.

Capt. Peter Manwareing*

Capt. Thomas Read.

James Killing. And
Francis Griffin,

Who gave the fame Evidence againft thefe Pri-

foners as thofe tried before.

And fully prov'd upon them all the Fact of pi-

ratically taking Capt. Read.

Only the WitnefTes were more particularly exa-

min'd as to James Robbins alias Rattle, who upon

a former Indictment for taking Capt. Manwareing

was acquitted.

Attor. Gen. Ignatius Pell, give an Account of

James Robbins.

Ign. Pell. He was as the reft were when we
fhared at Cape Fear.

J Trott. How long was he with you before he

joined himfelf to the Company, after he came on

board ?

Ig. Pell. As foon as we came to Cape Fear.

Attor. Gen. Did you fee Robbins have his Share ?

Ig, Pell. Yes, Sir, they had all their Shares.

Attor. Gen. Was Robbins, on board Read's Sloop?

Ign. Pell. I cannot tell whether he was on board

or not.

J. <Irott. You looked upon him as one of the

Company ?

Ig. Pell. Yes.

Capt. Manwareing fworn.

Mr. Hep.
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Mr. Hep-worth. Pleafe to begin with Robbins,

how he behaved himfelf.

Capt. Manwareing. He was as the reft of the

Men were: He was on board the Revenge, and

I think they called him- James Rattle fome-

times.

J. Zrott. Did he receive his Share?

Manwareing. He was among the Company

\vh£P. th;y did fbarc.

James Killing, called and fworn.
"

Mr. Hepworth. Give an Account of Rcbbins.

Killing. All I can fay, he was as the reft were

in fharing Capt. Read's Goods, and was amongft

them when they did (hare.

Capt-. Read fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Give an Account of Robbins.

Capt. Read. I did not know him before we came

to Cape Fear; but I did not fee but he was as

active there in taking out the Goods as any of the

reft.

J. Trott. Did he fhare among the reft ?

Capt. Read. Yes, I believe he did, for he was

among them when they fhared.

Robbins. I was forced to do what I did.

J. 3V0/A Did they force you to take your

Share?

Francis Griffin called andfivorn.

Mr. Hepworth. Give an Account of Robbins.

Griffin. I did not know him till we came to Cape

Fear, and there I faw him on board the Revenge

;

and I did not fee but that he did as the reft of the

Company ; and when they were fharing he was

with them and received his Share.

Clerk. What have you to fay, Robbins ?

Robbins. I never was on board Capt. Read.

J.
Trott. But you was one of the Company.

Robbins. I never confented to take out the

Goods.

J. Trott. But you confented to take part of

them ; and they that fhared the Goods were as

much Pirates as thofe that took them out of the

Veffel.

Then the Judge fumm'd up the Evidence.
And an Officer was fworn to keep the Jury.
Who after they had confidered of their Verdict,

returned and found the faid John Ridge, Matthew
King, Thomas Price, Henry Virgin, James Robbins,

alias Rattle, James Mullet alias Millet, John Lopez,
and Zachariah Long, Guilty.

THE Court then delivered a Bill of Indict-
JL ment to the GrandJury, againft John Brierly,

alias timber-head, Robert Boyd, Rowland Sharp,
Jonathan Clarke, and Thomas Gerrard, for feloni-
oufly and piratically entring the Sloop Francis, be-
longing to Capt. Peter Manwareing the Comman-
der, and taking certain Goods out of the fame at
Cape Fear.

And another Bill of Inditlment againft the fame
Perions for felonioujly and piratically entering the
Sloop Fortune belonging to Capt. Thomas Read
Commander, and taking certain Goods out of the
fame at Cape Fear.

The Grand Jury returned upon the faid Bills of
Indictment Billa vera.

Then the Court proceeded to arraign the faid
John BricrfyzYm Timber-head, Robert Boyd, Row-
land Sharp, Jonathan Clarke, and Thomas Gerrard,
upon the following Indictment.

f lie Jurors for our Sovereign Lord theKirg
lo, upon their Oath, prefent, that John Brier-

ly alias Timber-head, late of Bath-Town in North

Carolina, Mariner ; Robert Boyd, late of Bath-

Town aforefaid, Mariner ; Rowland Sharp, late

of Bath-Town, Mariner-, Jonathan Clarke, late

of Charles-Tozvn, in the Province of South-Ca-

rolina ; and Thomas Gerrard, late of Antegoa,

Mariner; the 27th Day of September, in the

fifth Year of the Reign of our Sovereign Lord
George, by the Grace of God, of Great-Britain,

France, and Ireland, King Defender of the

Faith, &c. by Force and Arms, upon the High
Sea, in a certain Place call'd Cape Fear, about

half a Mile diftant from the Shore, in the La-
titude of thirty four, or thereabouts, and with-

in the Jurifdiclion of the Court of Vice-Admi-
ralty of this Province of South-Carolina, did pi-

ratically and felonioufly fet upon, board, break,

and enter a certain Merchant Sloop call'd the

Francis, ' Capt. Peter Manwareing Commander,
then being a Sloop of certain Perfons, (to the

Jurors aforfaid are unknown) and then and there

piratically and felonioufly did make an Affauk

in and upon the faid Peter Manwareing., and
other his Mariners (whofe Names to the Jurors

aforefaid are unknown) in the fame Sloop, in

the Peace of God, and our Sovereign Lord the

King, then and there being, particularly and fe-

lonioufly did put the aforefaid Peter Manware-
ing, and others his Mariners of the fame Sloop,

in the Sloop aforefaid then being, in corporal

fear of their Lives ; then and there in the Sloop

aforefaid, upon the high Sea, in the place afore-

faid, call'd Cape Fear, about half a Mile diftant

from the Shore, in the Latitude of thirty-four,

and within the Jurifdiclion aforefaid, piratically

and felonioufly did fteal, take and carry away
the. faid Sloop Francis, and alfo fix Hogfheads
of Rum of the Value of Eight Pounds current

Money of the Ifland of Barbadoes, and one
Tierce of Sugar of the Value of Seven Pounds
current Money of the Ifland of Antegoa, the

Goods and Chattels of certain Perfons (to the

Jurors aforefaid unknown) then and there

upon the high Sea aforefaid, in the Place afore-

faid call'd Cape Fear, about half a Mile di-

ftant from the Shore, in the Latitude of thirty

four, or thereabouts, as aforefaid, and within

the Jurifdiclion aforefaid, being found in the

aforefaid Sloop in the Cuftody and Poffcffion

of the faid Peter Manwareing, and others his

Mariners of the Sloop aforefaid ; and from
their Cuftody and Poffeffion, then and there

upon the high Sea aforefaid, and in the Place

aforefaid, called Cape Fear, about half a Mile
diftant from the Shore, in the Latitude of
thirty four, or thereabouts, as aforefaid, and
within the Jurifdiclion aforefaid, againft the

Peace of our laid now Sovereign Lord the Kins;,

his Crown and Dignity. &c,
a'

To which Indictment they all pleaded Not
Guilty.

Then the Court proceeded upon their Trial.

The Jurors were fworn, whole Names were as

followeth.

Timothy Bellamy, Foreman.
George Ducket.

John Rivers.

William Sheriffe.

Benjamin Dennis.

Hugh Durfey.

Thomas Chambers.

Da?!iel Townffiend.

John Lee.

Thomas Bee.

John Barton.

Richard Fairchild.

Then
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Then the Witneffes were ordered to be called.

Clerk. Call Ignatius Pell, who was [worn.

Mr. Hepworth. Pell, do you know the Prifo-

ners at the Bar ?

Ig. Pell. I know them all very well.

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give an Account of

what you know of them, and of their Behaviour

at Cape Fear.

Ig. Pell. John Brierly and Robert Boyd came on

board three or four Days after we came to Cape

Fear.

J.
Trott. You took them firft, did you not ?

Ig. Pell. Yes, we fent off our Dory, and took

them.

J. Trott. From whence did they come ?

Ig. Pell. From North Carolina.

Attorn. Gen. How long after they came on

board did they join themfelves to the Company ?

Ig. Pell. Brierly did very foon, but Boyd did

not lb foon, tho' he did afterwards •, and for Sharp,

I do not know that ever he was joined to the

Company.

J. Trott. And how did Clarke behave himfelf ?

Ig. Pell. Jonathan Clarke and one

came in from South Carolina : they went away

from the Sloop ; and then after fome Days Clarke

returned again, but it was with Hunger, tho' he

laid then it was not.

Attorn. Gen. Were there any Goods taken out

of Capt. Read's Sloop after he had joined himfelf

a fecond time ?

Ig. Pell. I cannot fay that certainly.

J. Trott. Nor you cannot fay pofitively there

were?

Ig. Pell. No.
Mr. Hepworth. What do you know of Ger-

rard?

Ig. Pell. I can fay nothing to him.

Clerk. Will any of you afk the Evidence any

Queftions ? John Brierly, will you afk any Que-
ftions ?

Brierly. Pell, you know I often faid I would

not bear Arms, and that I defired no Share.

Ig. Pell. But John, you know you had your

Arms ready as well as the reft, and that you had

your Share.

Clerk. Robert Boyd, will you afk any Queftions ?

Boyd. No, Sir.

Clerk. Rowland Sharp, will you ?

Sharp. No, Sir.

Clerk. Jonathan Clarke, will you afk any Que-
ftions ?

Clarke. Pell, don't you. remember that I was
abaft, and one of the Negroes came and damned
me, and afked me what I did there ? why I did

not go and work amongft the reft ? and told me
I fhould be ufed as a Negroe.

Ig. Pell I do remember it was fo.

Mr. Hepworth. We proceed to call another Evi-

dence.

Capt. Thomas Read called and [worn.

Attorn. Gen. Capt. Read, pleafe to begin with
Brierly.

Capt. Read. Brierly came on board one Morn-
ing very early, and helped to take out feveral

Goods.

Mr. Hepworth. Do you know what Goods ?

Capt. Read. Some Rum and Sugar.

J. Trott. Do you know thofe Goods to be taken
out?

Capt. Read. Yes,

J.
Trott. How did he behave himfelf when Ma-
Vol. VI.

jor Bonnet fent for him on board to fight Colonel
Rhett?

Capt. Read. I cannot tell.

Mr. Hepworth. Plow did Boyd behave himfelf?

Capt. Read. I took him to be a Pftfoner like

myfelf at firft, till he was fent for on board the

Revenge by Major Bonnet to fight Colonel Rhett.

Attorn. Gen. What made you think he was a

Prifoner ?

Capt. Read. Becaufe he was not employ'd in

any Bufinefs, as the reft were.

J. Trott. That Day they engaged Colonel Rhett,

was he on board your Sloop ?

Capt. Read. Yes, and Major Bonnet fent for all

Hands on board the Revenge.

Attorn. Gen. What do you fay of Sharp ?

Capt. Read. I can fay nothing of him.

Attorn. Gen. What have you to fay of Clarke ?

Capt. Read. He run away for a time, and then

he return'd again after fome Days.

Attorn. Gen. Was there any Goods taken out

after he return'd ?

Capt. Read. Yes, S'r.

J. Trott. Did Clarke himfelf take out thofe

Goods ?

Capt. Read. That I cannot tell ; and as for

Gerrard, he belong'd to Capt. Manwareing : and
as the Captain and I was together, he came and

told us how they us'd him ; but he was Jerry for

what he had done, and was refolved to make his

Efcape the fiirft Opportunity he had to get away.

Clerk. Have any of you any Queftions to afk

the King's Evidence ?

The Prifoners ajk no Queftions.

Mr. Hepworth. We proceed to call another

Evidence.

Francis Griffin fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Look upon the Prifoners ; do
you know them ?

Griffin. I know them all.

Mr. Hepworth. Begin with John Brierly.

Griffin. He was on board of us fome time when
we were at Cape Fear, and he was as the reft of
the Company was ; and he faid he hoped when Ma-
jor Bonnet floouldgo to the Northward, to be revenged

on fome at the Hore-kills, for fome Offence they

had given him there.

J. Trott. You looked upon him as one of the

Crew?
Griffin. Yes.

J. Trott. What do you know of Boyd?

Griffin. He was on board of us fome time ; and
when Major Bonnet fent for all Hands on board

the Revenge, he went with them : but as for Sharp,

I can fay nothing of him, nor of Clarke, only he

run away, and in fome Days he return'd again.

Mr. Hepworth. We fhall call another Evidence.

Capt. Peter Manwareing fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Captain Manwareing, do you
know the Prifoners at the Bar ?

Capt. Manwareing. I know them all very well.

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give the Court an Ac-
count of what you know of them ; and begin with

Brierly.

Manwareing. Brierly, the 12 th Day of Auguft

he came on board ; and a little after he was on

board, I did not fee but he acted as the reft did,

and he hoped to come up with fome at the Hore-

kills : but as for Boyd, he was on board Capt. Read's

Sloop.

J. Trott. What have you to fay of Sharp?

A a Manware-
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Manwareing. Some time after he came to Cape

tear, and Major Bonnet fent for him on board

the Revenge, he faid he would go on more if he

had an Opportunity, and I never faw him among

the reft of the Company.

Judge Trott. What have you to fay of Jonathan

Clarke ?

Manwareing. After we had been at Cape Fear

fome Days, Jonathan Clarke, and one Dolton,

came in, and Major Bonnet fent the Dory, and

brought them on board; and after fome Days,

Clarke and went away, and was gone

fome Days, and then returned again, and then

he was ordered to work among the Negroes. As

for my Man Garrard, he came and told me, he

was not able to bear any longer, but was forced to

comply with them, for they told him they would have

no regardfor the Colour, but wou'd make a Slave of

him; but he did not receive any of their Goods;

and when he was at home, he had the Character

of an honeft Man, and fought for his King and

Country.

Mr. Hepworth. We will call another Evi-

dence.

James Killing called and fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Do you know the Prifoncrs at

the B-ir ?

Killing. I know them all very well.

Mr. Hepworth. Give the Court an Account of

what you know of their fharing at Cape Fear.

Killing. Brierly was put on board our Sloop

there to work at his Trade, and would often fay,

he had a Quarrel againft fome at the Hore-Kills,

he hoped to revenge himfelf upon them.

Judge T'rott. Why what had they done to him ?

Killing. He was in debt, and therefore he owed

them a Grudge ; but for the reft, I can fay no-

thing.

Judge Trott. You the Prifoners, what you have

to fay in your Defence, I fhall now be ready to

hear.

CI. John Brierly, what have you to fay ?

Brierly. Mr. Boyd and I was in a leaky Canoo,

and we were afraid fhe would fink, and fo we
were obliged to keep along fhore ; and I flood

up, and thought I faw a Veffel or two, and he
bid me look again, and then I faw it was a Veffel.

They fent off their Dory, and afked if we would
confent to go with them? And we faid, No:
But they faid they would break the Canoo, and
we might go where we pleafed. So they made
me confent to go on board the Revenge, but I

never joined myfelf while I was on board : And
then I was order'd on board Captain Manwareing,
and there I worked ; but I never bore Arms, nor
did fight Colonel Rhett.

0. Rowland Sharp, what have you to fay ?

Sharp. After I was taken, I went on fliore,

and travelled four Days in the Woods without
eating or drinking, and could find the way to no
Plantation, and fo was forced to return again,
and I refufed to fign the Articles; and one of the
Men came and told me I was to be fhot, and I
had the Liberty to chufe the four Men that
ihould do it, and the Boatfwain went about to
get Hands to beg me off; but I was refolvcd to
make my Efcape the firft Opportunity.

CI. Jonathan Clarke, what have you to fay ?

Clarke. The 12th of Auguft coming into Cape
Fear with Mr. Bolton, lit thought he faw the

Maft of a Veffel; 'and I defired him to take the

Helm that I might fee, for if there was any Veffel

it was Pirates; but Dolton faid it v/as nothing but

an old Tree : But when we came farther in, we
faw three Sloops, and they fent off their Dory
and took us, and carried us aboard the Revenge

;

and Major Bonnet afked from whence v/e came ?

and I told him. He afked me where we were a

going? we told him. The next Day he afked

if I did not defign to do as they did ? I told him
no. Then I went away with a Defign to get

clear of them, but with Hunger was forced to

return again : And they afked me if I would fign

the Articles then ? and I refufed ; and one of the

Negroes came and damned me, and afked me
why I did not go to the Pump, and told me that

was my Bufinefs : And Major Bonnet told me if

I did not, he would make me Governor of the

firft Ifland he came to ; for he would put me
afhore, and leave me there.

CI. T'homas Gerrard, what have you to fay ?

Gerrard. Some time after we were taken, one
of the Men came and asked if I would join with

them ? I told him, No. He faid, I was but * like

a Negro, and they made Slaves of us all of that

Colour, if they did not join. So I did it with a
Defign to get clear of them the firft Opportunity

;

and I never fhared any of the Goods.

Judge Sfrott. Pell, did he never fhare ?

Pell. He never did fhare.

Judge irott. And did they threaten to make a

Slave of him, if he did not join ?

Pell. Yes.

Att. Gen. May it pleafe your Honours, and
you the Gentlemen of the Jury, as for Brierly

and Boyd, it appears from the Evidence that they

came to Cape Fear three or four Days after Bon-
net : Brierly he took up very foon, and Boyd
fome time after ; and that there were feveral Goods
taken out of Capt. Afanwareing's Sloop, and par-

ticularly Rum and Sugar. And as for Sharp,

there is no Evidence proves any thing fully on
him ; and therefore I think he may be looked

upon as under Conftraint and Force. As for

Gerrard, I think the fame ; for though he figned

the Articles, yet no Evidence proves that he did

fhare any of the Goods : Nay, the Boatfwain

fays he did not fhare ; and if they did not comply

with them, they would make a Slave of him all

the Days of his Life. And Capt. Manwareing
fays he had the Character of an honeft Man at

home ; and that' he fought for his King and

Country.

Judge Trott. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Pri-

foners at the Bar ftand charged with Piracy, com-
mitted on a Sloop belonging to Capt. Manware-
ing ; and the Evidence have proved it fully upon
Brierly and Boyd; and particularly, that there

was Rum and Sugar taken out. Brierly took up
very foon with them, and had his Share ; and

that he hoped to revenge himielf on fome at the

Hore-Kills. Boyd did not take up fo foon ; but

he did afterward. As for Sharp, he would have

made his Efcape, but could not ; and Major
Bonnet told him he fhould die, and bid him chufe

four Men to fhoot him ; and tho' he figned the

Articles, he never fhared, as Pell proves. As
for Clarke, he fays he was forced to it; that he

went away, and Hunger forced him to return

again, and the Negroes inful ted over him ; and

lie ivas a Mullato.

Major
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Major Bonnet told him, he would make him

Governor of an Ifland, and leave him there 5
and

none of the Evidence proves that he (hared any

of the Goods. And as for Gerrard, he was

threaten**! to be made a Slave of; tho' indeed he

had been better made a Slave than go a pirating :

But Capt. Manwamng&p he had the Report of

an honeft Man in his Country 5 and that he was

faithful to his King and Country : So I (hall

leave thofe to your Confederation. And if you

think they were under Force and Conftraint, as

indeed it appears to me,, by the whole Courfe of

the Evidence, that they were, then you ought to

acquit them.

Then an Officer was (worn to keep the Jury.

Who after they had confidered of their Verdict,

returned, and found John Briefly alias Timber-

head, and Robert Boyd, Guilty -, Rowland Sharp,

Jonathan Clarke, and Thomas Gerrard, Not

Guilty.

Then the Court adjourned till Tuefday Morn-

ing-

Tuefday, November the Fourth, 171 8. the

Court met according to Adjournment.

THEN the Court proceeded to arraign

the faid John Brierly alias Timberhead, Ro-

bert Boyd, Rowland Sharp, Jonathan Clarke, and

Thomas Gerrard, upon the following indictment.

*' The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the

" King do upon their Oath prefent, That John
" Brierly alias Timberhead, late of Bath-Town in

" North Carolina, Mariner ; Robert Boyd, late

" of Bath-Town aforefaid, Mariner, Rowland
" Sharp, late of Bath-Town aforefaid, Mariner

;

" Jonathan Clarke, late of Charles-Town, in the

" Province of South Carolina, Mariner •, and
" Thomas Gerrard, late of Antegoa, Mariner ;

" the twenty fevsnth Day of September^ in the

" Fifth Year of the R.eign of our Sovereign Lord
" George, by the Grace ofGod, of Great Britain,

" France, and Ireland, King, Defender of the

' Faith, &c. by Force and Arms, &c. upon
" the High Sea, in a certain Place called Cape
" Fear, about half a Mile diftant from the Shore,

" in the Latitude of Thirty-four, or thereabouts,

" and within the Jurifdiction of the Court of
" Vice-Admiralty of South Carolina, did piratically

" and felonioufly let upon, board, break, and
** enter a certain Merchant-Sloop, called the

' Fortune, Thomas Read, Commander, then be-
" ing a Sloop of certain Perfons (to the Jurors
' aforefaid unknown) and then and there pira-

" tically and felonioufly did make an AfTault in

" and upon the faid Thomas Read, and other
" his Mariners, (whofe Names to the Jurors
' aforefaid are unknown.) In the fame Sloop,

" again ft the Peace of God, and of our now
" Sovereign Lord the King, then and there be-
" ing, piratically and felonioufly, did put the

" aforefaid Thomas Read, and others his Mari-
" ners of the fame Sloop, in the Sloop aforefaid,

" then being in corporal Fear of their Lives,
' then and there in the Sloop aforefaid, upon
'• the High Sea, in the Place aforefaid, called

" Cape Fear, about half a Mile diftant from
" the Shore, in the Latitude of Thirty-four, or
" thereabouts, and within the Jurifdiction afore-

" faid, piratically and felonioujly did (leal, take,
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and carry away the faid Sloop Foftune^ and

alfo ten Barrels of Pork, of the Value of

twenty Pounds, current Money of Penfuvania \

two Firkins of Butter, of the Value of fifty

Shillings, like current Money of Pevfilvania -.

and three Tierces of Bread, of the Value of

fix Pounds ten Shillings, like current Money
of Penfihania ; the Goods and Chattels of

certain Perfons, (to the Jurors aforefaid un-

known) then and there, upon the High Sea

aforefaid, in the aforefaid Place, called Cape

Fear, about half a Mile diftant from the

Shore, in the Latitude of thirty-four, or there-

abouts, as aforeiaid, and within the Juris-

diction aforefaid ; being found in the aforeiaid

Sloop, in the Cuftody and PoffcfTion of the

faid Thomas Read, and others his Mariners/of

the Sloop aforefaid, and from their Cuftody

and PofTeffion, then and there, upon the High
Sea aforefaid, in the Place aforefaid, called

Cape Fear, about half a Mile diftant from

the Shore, in the Latitude of thirty-four, or

thereabouts, as aforefaid, and within the Ju-

rifdiction aforefaid, againft the Peace of our

faid now Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown,

and Dignity, &c.

Who all pleaded Not Gv.iUy.

Then the Court proceeded upon their Trial.

The Jurors were (worn, whofe Names are as

followeth :

Samuel proileau, Foreman.

John Hodgfon.

Garrat Vanvelfin.

Lucas Stoutcnburgh,

Jojhua Mariner.

Thomas Fairchild.

Henry Gcnelac.

John Ballentine,

Charles Marche.

John Grimball.

Nicholas Stephens,,

William Harvey.

Then the Witneffes were ordered to be called.

Clerk. Call Ignatius Pell: Who was fwern.

Mr. Hepworth. Pell, give an Account firft of

Brierly and Boyd.

Ig. Pell. As for Brierly, he foon united him*

felf tO the Company ; and when we engaged

Colonel Rhett, he was as active as any of the reft.

But for Boyd, he was fent on board Capt. Read's

Sloop, and was there till Major Bonnet fent for

him on board the Revenge, to fight Colonel

Rhett.

judge Trott. And did he fight ?

Ig. Pell. He was wounded with one of the

firft Shot, and fo was carried down into the Hole s

fo that he never did fight.

Mr. Dean. Why was he put on board the

Sloop ?

Ig. Pell. To look after the Sloop, I fup-

pofe.

Att. Gen. Had he his Arms ready when you

engaged Col. Rhett ?

Ig. Pell. Yes, Sir : So we had all in general ;

But I did not fee him ufe them.

As for the other three, he thought them to be

under Conftraint, and they did not fight Colonel

Rhett.

Clerk. Will any of you afk the King's Evi-

dence any Queftions ?

No Queftions ajVd by the Prifoners.

Mr. Hepworth. We proceed to call another

Evidence.

Capt. Peter Manwareing fworn.

A a % Mr. Hep-
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Mr. Hepworth. Capt. Manwareing give an Ac-

count of the Prifoners of their fighting Colonel

Rbett, and begin with Brierly and Boyd.

Capt. Manwareing. They came on board, and

Brierly foon became one of the Company, and

hoped to revenge himfelf on them at the Hore-

Kills, and acted as the reft did when they engaged

Col. Rbett. But as for Boyd, I took him to be a

Prifoner for fome Time.

Captain Manwareing's Evidence concerning

Sharp, Clarke, and Gerrard, the fame as in the

former Trial.

Mr. Hepworth. Will any of you afk the King's

Evidence any Queftions ?

No Queftions afk'd by the Prifoners.

Mr. Hepworth. We will call another Evi-

dence.

James Killing call'd andfworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Give an Account of the Pri-

foners at the Bar ; and firft of Brierly and Boyd.
_

Killing. As for Boyd, he was on board Captain

Read after we came to Cape Fear, till they were

fent for to fight Colonel Rhett ; and I thought he

had been a Prifoner till then, and I talked very

1'ree to him. And as for Brierly, he was as the

reft of the Company.

Att. Gen. Were there any Goods taken out

after Brierly came on board ?

Killing. Yes.

Mr. Hepworth. Do you know what Goods ?

Killing. I cannot remember every particular

Sort.

His Evidence againfi the other three the fame as

in the former Trial.

Clerk. Will any of you afk the King's Evi-
dence any Queftions i

No Queftions afk'd by the Prifoners.

Mr. Hepworth. We call another Evidence.
Capt. Thomas Read call'd andfworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Capt. Read, pleafe to give an
Account of the Prifoners at the Bar; and firft of
Brierly and Boyd.

Capt. Read. As for Brierly, I did not fee but
he acled as all the reft of the Company did.

Judge Trott. What have you to fay of Boyd?
Capt. Read. I thought him to be a Prifoner,

and difcours'd freely with him, which if ha had
diicovered, it had done me an Injury ; for I heard
him wifh we might meet with a Thirty-Gun
Ship, and I told him I fhould be glad of it as
well as he.

Foreman. What did he wifh to meet with a
Thirty-Gun Ship for ?

Capt. Read. To free us from the Pirates.
His Evidence againfi the other three the fame

as before.

Clerk. Will any of you afk the King's Evi-
dence any Queftions ?

None of the Prifoners aflc'd any Queftions.
Judge Trott. You the Prifoners may now fpeak

what you have to Jay.

Clerk. What have you to fay John Brierly ?

Brierly. When Mr. Boyd and I came in at Cape
Fear, we faw three Sloops ; and then came off
a Dory with fome Hands, and haled us, and then
carried us on board; but we did not know that
they were Marrooners. But Mr. Boyd trembled,
and fhook like a Leaf; and I told him not to be
afraid. So they carried us on board.

Judge trott. And fo you united yourfelf with
them to make up the Company ?

Brierly. I was forced to do what I did.

Clerk. Robert Boyd, what have you to fay ?

Boyd. After we came to Cape Fear, and was

taken by Bonnet's Men, I was on board the Re-

venge for fome Time, and they afked me to fign

the Articles, the which I refufed ; and Major

Bonnet told me, if I did not, he would marroon

me on an Ifland, and leave me. And after I was

fent on board Capt. Read's Sloop, I had nothing

but the Provifions I lived on ; I never had any

thing more. And when Major Bonnet fent for all

on board to fight Colonel Rhett, it would have

been prefent Death for any to refufe, and I was

wounded with one of the firft Shot.

The other three made it appear they were inno-

cent, as in the other Indiclment,

Att. Gen. May it pleafe your Honours, and

you the Gentlemen of the Jury, the Evidence

proves the Fact fully on Brierly ; that he foon

engaged with Bonnet after he was taken, and that

he acted as the reft of the Company did ; and
that he hoped to be revenged on ibme at the Hore->

Kills. As for Boyd, though he was on board the

Pirate-Sloop, he never took Part with them ;

and he wifhed for a Thirty-Gun Ship, that they

might be ftt at Liberty. And Capt. Read, took

him for a Prifoner till he was fent for on board

the Revenge ; and then the Boatfwain fays he did

not fight. As for the other three, I think it ap-

pears they were under Conftraint and Force.

Judge Trott. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Pri-

foners at the Bar ftand indicted for piratically

taking Capt. Read, in the Sloop Fortune. As
for Brierly, the Evidence proves it very plain,

and fully upon him, that he took up very foon

with them, and did hope to revenge himfelf upon
fome of the Hore-Kills, and that he engaged a-

gainft Col. Rhett. As for Boyd, Capt. Read looked

upon him as a Prifoner ; and that he had fuch.

Difcourfe with him, that if he had difclos'd it to

Bonnet's Crew, it had done him much hurt ; and
the Boatfwain fays, de did not fight Col. Rhett,

And as for the other three, I think it hath been
fully proved they were under Conftraint. But I

fhall leave it to your Confideration.

Then an Officer was fworn to keep the Jury.
Who after they had confidcr'd of their Verdicly

returned, and found John Brierly alias Timber-
head, Guilty ; Robert Boyd, Rowland Sharpy

Jonathan Clarke, and Thomas Gerrard, Not
Guilty.

Then the Court adjourned til} Wcdr.efday

Morning.

Wednesday, November the Fifth, 171 8. the
Court met according to Adjournment.

THEN Robert Tucker, Edward Robinfon*

Neal Paterfon, IVilliam Scot, Job Bayley,

John William Smith, Thomas Carman, John 'Thomas,

IVilliam Morrifon, William Livers alias Evis, Sa-

muel Booth, William Hewet, John Levit, William
Eddy alias Nedy, Alexander Annand, George Rofsr
George Dunkin, John Ridge, Matthew King, Daniel
Perry, Henry Virgin, James Robbins, James Mullet
alias Millet, Thomas Price, John Lopez, Zacha->

riah Long, James Wilfon, John Brierly alias Ttm-
berhead, and Robert Boyd, who flood convicted
of Piracies, as appears by the above Records,
were brought to the Bar, and were feverally afked

what
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what they could fay why Judgment of Death

fliould not pafs upon them.

And they having nothing to alledge in arreft of

Judgment

;

Then Proclamation for Silence was made, while

the Judge of the Court of Vice-Admiralty pro-

nounced Sentence of Death upon the Prifoners.

J. Srott. You the Prifoners at the Bar, Robert

Tucker, Edward Robinfon, Neal Pater/on, William

Scot, Job Bayley, John-William Smith, Thomas Car-

man, John Thomas, William Morrifon, William Li-

vers alias Evis, Samuel Booth, William Hewet, John

Levit, William Eddy alias Nedy, Alexander An-

nand, George Rofs, George Dunkin, John Ridge,

Matthew King, Daniel Perry, Henry Virgin, James

Robbins, James Mullet alias Millet, Thomas Price,

John Lopez, Zachariah Long, James Wilfon, John
Brierly, and Robert Boyd, ftand here convicted of

Piracy.

You have been inditled but for two Acts of Pi-

racy ; but you know upon the Trials it was fully

proved againfc moft of you, that you piratically

took thirteen Veffds fince you joined Major Bon-

net, and failed from Topfail Inlet in North Ca-

rolina.

So that many of you might have been convicted

on eleven more Indictments of Piracy.

B^fides, feveral of you were proved to be Pi-

rates before that time, as belonging to Thatch's

Crew ; and fo were guilty of the feveral Piracies

committed while you belong'd to him.

You cannot but acknowlege that you have all

of yoa had a fair and indifferent Trial.

You were fully heard, not only as to all you

could pretend to fay in your own Defences, but

alfo as to what you alledge in Mitigation of your

Crimes.

And indeed, when you faw that the Fails laid

in the Indiclment were lb fully proved againft you,

tho' moft of you pleaded Not Guilty for Form-
fake, yet in the open Court, upon your Trials,

moft of you acknowleged the Facts charged up-

on you. Therefore no one can think but that

you were all of you juftly found Guilty; and your
own Confidences will oblige you to acknowlege

the fame. So that there is not any of you who
can complain of any Hardships at your Trials.

As to the Crime that you are convicted of,

which is Piracy, the Evil and Wickednefs of it is

evident to the Reafon of all Men : So that it needs

no Words to aggravate the fame ; it is fo deftruc-

tive of all Trade and Commerce between Nation
and Nation, that Pirates are called Enemies to

Mankind, with whom no Faith nor Oath ought to be

kept ; and they are term'd in our Law Brutes and

Beafts of Prey, and therefore it is the Intereft, as

well as Duty, of all Governments to bring fuch

Offenders to Punifhment.

Tho' the Greatnefs of your Crime is fuch, that

no one can think but that the Sentence of Death
which will now be patted upon you is juftly due
to you for the fame ; yet as Pity and CompafTion,
even to the worft of Criminals, when brought to

Punifhment, are natural to all Men who have not
flung off all Sjnfe of Humanity, but much more
firmly ingrafted in the Hearts of Chriftians; there-

fore furcly it cannot but be a very melancholy
Spectacle to fee fo many Perfons in the Prime of
their Years, in perfect Health and Strength, drop-
ping into the Grave : And which is a more for-

rowful Confideration, that they are in the height

of their Sins ; and therefore, without the infinite

Mercies of God, through the Satisfaction of Chriftj

muft neceffarily fink into the Dwellings of ever-

lafting Mifery.

And indeed, moft fad and deplorable is the

Condition you have brought your felves to : To
be adjudg'd by the Laws of your Country unwor^
thy any longer to live, and to tread the Earth,

or breathe the Air ; and that no further Good or

Benefit can be expected from you but by the Ex-
ample of your Deaths ; and to ftand like Marks
or fatal Rocks and Sands, to warn others from
the fame Shipwrack and Ruin for the future.

As moft of you have been Mariners by Pro-

feffion, and every one of you have feveral times

been at Sew, fo I cannot but wonder, that being fo

often at Sea, you fhould not confider the great

Power of God in creating the fame, and his Pro-

vidence in preferving thofe who pafs upon it ; and
confequently, that fuch Thoughts fhould not caufe

in you a Dread of his Power, and a Love of his

Goodnefs.

The Confideration of God's Power in making
the Sea, and fetting Bounds to the raging Waters
thereof, is ufed as an Argument by God himfelf,

why Men fhould fear him ; for thus God expreffeth

it by the Prophet Jeremiah : Fear ye not me? faith

the Lord: willye not tremble at my Prefence, which

have placed the Sand for the bound of the Sea by a
perpetual Decree, that it cannot pafs it; and tho*

the Waves thereof tofs themfelves, yet can they not

prevail: tho' they fear, yet can they not pafs ever it ;

Jer. 5. v. 22. Or as it is expreffed in the Book
of Job: Hitherto fhalt thou come, but no farther ; and
herefhall thy proud Waves beflayed: Job 38. v. 11.

The Pfalmift faith, that they that go down to the

Sea in Ships, that do Bufinefs in great Waters ; thefe

fee the Works of the Lord, and his Wonders in the

Deep. For he commandeth and raifeth the ftormy
Wind, which lifteth up the Waves thereof. They

mount up to the Heaven, they go down again to the

Depths, their Soul is melted becaufe of Trouble. 2°hey

reel to and fro, and ftagger like a drunken Man,
and are at their Wits end. Then they cry unto the

Lord in their Trouble, and he bringeth them out of
their Diftreffes. He maketh a Storm a Calm, fo that

the Waves thereof are ftill. Sthen they are glad be-

caufe they be quiet ; fo he bringeth them unto their de-

fired Haven. But the practical Inference that he

draws from thefe is, That Men fhould praife the

Lord for his Goodnefs, and for his wonderful Works
to the Children of Men: Pfal. 107. v. 23, 24, 25,

26, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31.

But inftead of having a Senfe of God's Power
and Goodnefs, in preferving you and others upon
the Sea, your frequent Prefervations harden'd you
into a Contempt of the Danger you were in j and

you thereby flighted your Deliverance. And tho*

you couid not but fee the many natural Dangers

that attend the Seas, and thofe who had occafion

to go upon the fame, yet you were refolved that

you would contribute what in you lay to the Ha-
zards thereof, by the frequent Rapines and Mur*
ders which you committed. So that what the Pro-

phet faith of the Pride of the Tyrians, may be ap»

ply'd to you, that you caufed your £errcr to be on

all that haunt the Sea: Ezek. 26. ver. 17.

Altho' it may be, while you were in your feem-

ing Profperity, and went on in your committing

Spoils and Robberies without controul, you might

make a mock at your Sins, Prov. 14. v. 9. and

ch. 10. v. 23. and fay in your Hearts, God hath

forgotten,
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forgotten, he hidetb his Face, be will never fee it,

Tfai. 10. v. 11. 94. v, 7. 64. w.,5. and Job 22

v. 1 3. yet now that you fee that God's Hand hath

reached you, and his Power hath brought you to

Public Juftice ; I hope your prefent unhappy

Condition hath had a good erred upon you, that

it hath raifed in you more ferious Thoughts ;
and

that you are now fenfible of the Greatneis of your

Sins, and that you will fmcerely repent ycu of

the lame.

As to the great Evil and Sinfulnefs of the Fails

you have committed, furely you cannot but know,

that it is one of the exprefs Commandments or

God, Thou fialt notfteal, Exod. 20. V. 15. and the

Apofrle St. Paul exprefly affirms, that Thieves Jhall

not inherit the Kingdom of God, 1 Cor. 6. v. 10.

Bat then remember that to Theft you have add-

ed the Sin of Murder, in deftroying thofe Perfons

who were lent by lawful Authority to fupprefs

you, and to put a flop to your wicked Actions.

For you being no way authorifed to ufe the Sword,

or to fight any one, every one of thofe Perfons

who fell by your Hands, were murdered ; and

their Blood' now cries for Vengeance againft you :

For it is the Voice of Nature, as well as the re-

vealed Law of God, that Whofo fheddeth Man's

Blood, by Man fhall his Blood befhed, Gen. 9. v. 6.

It is the Commandment of God, Thou fialt do

no Murder, Exod. 20. v. 13. and the Apoftle

enumerating feveral of the Works of the Flefh,

amongft the reft reckons Murders ; and then con-

cludes with thefe remarkable Words : Of which I

tell you before, as 1 have toldyou in time paft, that

they which do fuch things, fhall not inherit the King-

dom of God, Gal. 5. v. 21.

And Murderers are threaten'd to have their part

in the Lake which burnetb with Fire and Brimjtone,

which is the fecond Death, Rev. 21. v, 8. See ch.

22. v. 15. Words which carry that Terror with

them, that confidering your Circumftances, and

your Guilt, furely the Sound of them muft make
you tremble •, Fyr who can dwell with cverlafling

Burnings? Ifa. 33. v. 14.

I fuppofe you all know that you muft appear

before the Tribunal of Chrift ; from whofe infi-

nite Knowledge none of your Actions can be hid,

and from whofe infinite Power no one Can refcue

you or protect you ; and from whom, without a

true and unfeigned Repentance for all your Sins

paft, you can expect no other than that dreadful

Sentence of Condemnation, Depart from me, ye

curfed, into everlafting Fire, prepared for the Devil

and his Angels, Matth. 25. v. 41.

I do not fpeak this to overwhelm you with Sor-

row, much lefs to drive you into Defpair of God's
Mercy, which is one of the worft of Sins, and
which I hope you will not add to your other Of-
fences againft God. But I mention this to you,
to make you fenfible of the great Danger of your
Condition, without true and unfeigned Repen-
tance. For feeing I can give you no hopes of
Pardon from Man, I hope you will improve the
fhort time you have now left you, to make your
Peace with God, and to obtain Pardon from him.
And I wifh that what I now fay to you in this

your deplorable Conditions, may make you all

fenfible of the Greatnefiof your Offences, that fo
you may become truly penitent ; which if you are,
you may yet hope lor Mercy from God : For tho'
your Sins be as Scarlet, [even dyed in Blood] yet be
can make them white as Snow, Ifa. \.v.\ 8.

Therefore if you will now turn unto God by a

true and unfeigned Repentance, he will not rcfyfe

you nor reject you, even now in your great Diftreis;

For the Threatnings declared by God in the

Scripture againft Sinners, muft always be uikLt-

ftood againft impenitent Sinners •, for God hath

declared himfelf to be Merciful and Gracious^

Exod. 34. v. 6. And that be hath no pleafure at

the death of the Wicked, but that the Wicked turn

from his way and live, Ezek. 33. v. n. ch. 18.

v. 23. And hath promifed that when he doth fo,

he fhall fave his Soul alive, ver. 27.

But be lure remember that you muft go to God,

in and thro' the alone Merits and Interceffion of

his Son Jefus Chrift, who hath made Satisfaction

to the Juftice of God for us : For he is our Advo-

cate with the Father ; And he is the Propitiation for

our Sins, John 2 v. I, 2. For his Blood cleanfeth

us from all Sin, ch. 1. v. 7. Know therefore, that

there is none other Name under Heaven given among

Men, whereby we muft be faved, but only by the

Name of the Lord Jefus, Acts 4. v. 12.

But then confider how he invites all them that

labour and are heavy laden with their Sins to come

unto him, and he will give them reft, Matth. xi.

i>. 28. He will not break the bruifed Reed, nor

quench the fmoaking Flax, Ifa. 42. v. 3. compared

with Matth. 12. v. 20. The Apoftle tells us,

that Chrift Jefus came into the World to fave Sinners^

1 Tim. i.v. 15, And he himfelf allures us, that

be came to feek and fave that which was loft, Luke

19. v. 10. Matth. 18. v. 11. And hath promi-

fed, that he that cometh unto him, he will in no wife

caft out, John 6. 37.

Doubt not therefore, but that if you will now
fmcerely turn to God, he will accept you, and

pardon and forgive you your Sins.

But know that the Condition of thefe and other

the Promifes of God made to Sinners, is Faith and

Repentance. And great Sins (fuch as yours are)

muft have great Repentance. You muft earneft-

ly cry unto God for Pardon and Remiffion of your

Sins, and particularly, that he would deliver you

from Blood-guiltinefs, Pfal. 51. v. 14,

And do not miftake the Nature of Repentance,

to be only barely a Sorrow for your Sins, by rea-

fon of the Evil and Punijhment which they have

now brought upon you : but your Sorrow for your

Sins muft arife from the Consideration of your ha-

ving offended a gracious and merciful God. To
which mould be added, a fincere Reiblution and

an actual Amendment for the future. Indeed, fuch

is your unhappy Circumftances, that you cannot

give any actual Proof of the Amendment of your

Lives: but remember that God knows the Heart.

Time will not permit me to enlarge upon the

Nature of Repentance, and of the many Miftakea

that Men make in that great Duty : Neither in-

deed will I fo far prefume to meddle out of my
own Profefiion. You may have thofe Matters

better explained to you by fome of the Minifters

of this Province, whom you may defire to at-

tend you, and fit you for Death ; and from them
you may expect more full and particular Directi-

ons: For the Prieft's Lips fhall keep Knowlege,

and you fhall feek the Law at their Mouths : for
they are the Meffengers of the Lord, Mai. 2. v. 7.

And the Ambafjadors of Chrift ; and to them is com-,

milted the Word [or Doctrine] of Reconciliation,

2 Cor. 5. v. 19, 20.

Thus having difcharged my Duty to you as a

Chriftian, by exhorting you to an unfeigned Re-
pentance for your Crimes, and Faith in Chrift,

by
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by whofe Merits alone you mud: hope for Pardon

and Salvation ; I muft now do my Office as a

Judge.

The Sentence that the Law hath appointed to

pafs upon yon for your Offences, and which this

Court doth therefore award, is,

'That you the [aid Robert Tucker, Edward Ro-

binfon, Neal Paterfon, William Scot, Job Bayley,

John William Smith, Thomas Carman, John
Thomas, William Morrifon, William Livers

alias Evis, Samuel Booth, William Hewet, John
Levit, William Eddy alias Nedy, Alexander

Annand, George Rofs, George Dunkin, John
Ridge, Matthew King, Daniel Perry, Henry
Virgin, James Robbins, James Mullet alias

Millet, Thomas Price, John Lopez, Zachariah

Long, James Wilfon, John Brierly, and Robert

Boyd, fhallgo from hence to the Place from whence

you came, andfrom thence to the Place of Execution,

•where you fhall be feverally hanged by the Neck, till

you are feverally dead.

And the God of infinite Mercy be merciful to

every one of your Souls.

After the Condemnation of the above-mention'd

Perfons, 'Thomas Nichols, Rowland Sharp, Jona-
than Clarke, and Thomas Gerrard, who were found

Not Guilty, were difcharged.

And then the Court adjourn'd to Monday
the 10th Inftant.

On Saturday, November the 8th, 171 8, Ro-

bert Tucker, Edward Robinfon, Neal Paterfon,

William Scot, Job Bayley, John William Smith,

John Thomas, William Morrifon, Samuel Booth,

William Hewet, William Eddy alias Nedy, Alex-

ander Annand, George Rofs, George Dunkin, Mat-
thew King, Daniel Perry, Henry Virgin, James
Robbins, James Mullet alias Millet, Thomas Price,

John Lopez, and Zachariah Long, were executed

at the White Point near Charles-Town, according

to the above Sentence.

Monday; November the 10th, 17 18. the

Court met according to Adjournment.

THEN the Court proceeded to arraign Stede

Bonnet alias Edwards alias Thomas, [who
had efcaped, but was retaken. Nov. 6.] for feloni-

oufly and piratically taking the Sloop Francis,

with her Goods, Capt. Peter Manwareing, Com-
mander ; and the Sloop Fortune, with her Goods,

Capt. Thomas Read, Commander ; upon the two
following Indictments.

The Jurors for cur Sovereign Lord the King, do

on their Oath prefenty That Stede Bonnet alias

Edwards alias Thomas, late of Barbadoes, Ma-
riner; Robert Tucker, late of the Ifland of Ja-
maica, Mariner, &.$. as before.

•

The Jurors for our Sovereign Lord the King, do

on their Oath prefent, That Stede Bonnet alias

Edwards alias Thomas, late of the Ifland of Bar-
badoes, Mariner ; David Heriot, late of the Ifland

of Jamaica, Mariner ; Edward Robinfon, late of
Newcaftle upon Tine, Mariner, &c. as before.

To both which Indictments he pleaded Not Guilty.

Judge Trott. You are to come upon your Trial

this Day, upon the firft Inditlment, and you have

pleaded Not Guilty : fo that what Evidence you
have muft be ready.

Bonnet. My pleading Not Guilty is becaufe I

may have fomething to offer in my Defence *, and
therefore I hope none of the Bench will take it

amifs.

The Court proceeded upon his Trial on the

firft Indictment, for piratically taking the Sloop

Francis, Capt. Peter Manwareing, Commander.
Then the Jurors were fworn, whofe Names are

as followeth.

Timothy Bellamy,

George Ducket.

William Sheriff.

Benjamin Dennis.

Jonathan Main.

John Lee.

Foreman. Thomas Bee.

James Mazyck.

Thomas LambolL

Henry Beaton.

Mofes Wilfon.

Claas Joor.

Mr. Hepworth. May it pleafe your Honours,

and you Gentlemen of the Jury; The Prifonet

who now ftands arraigned at the Bar, has been

guilty of many Piracies, committed many Rob-

beries, ruined many Families, and been the Occa-

fion of many moft cruel and inhuman Murders,

and all that within a Very fhort Time paft. Should
I here defcend into all the Particulars, I (hall

take up too much of your Time. You know
(all of ye) I believe, after what manner he lately

fled from Juftice. Nay, he was not fatisfied with
his own Efcape, but he muft tamper with the

King's Evidence, to avoid others being profe-

cuted ; and prevailed with the Mafter Herriot to

run away with him, who has been fince killed.

And I believe the Prifoner at the Bar cannot,

upon Reflection, but think himielf anfwerable fof

that Man's Death. Nay, fome People took par-

ticular notice of the Prifoner's Behaviour' at the

Time when Thatch having got the Command
from him, he began to reflect upon his paft

Courfe of Life, and was then filled with fuch

Horror, that he was perfectly confounded with
Shame at the many deteftable Crimes he had been
guilty of, and faid, he would gladly leave off

that way of living, being fully tired, and having
got considerably by it ; but he {hould be afhamed
ever to fee the Face of an Englifhman : Therefore
if he could not get to Spain or Portugal, where
he might be undifcovered, he would live and die

in the fame Courfe of Life, viz. in Piracy and
Robbery:

The Trial of this Man ought to be the more
confiderable, as he was the great Ringleader of
them ; who has feduced many poor Ignorant

Men to follow his Courfe of Living, and ruined

many poor Wretches ; fome of whom lately fuf-
fered, who with their laft Breath expreffed a great

Satisfaction at the Prifonerh being apprehended,

and charged the Ruin of themfelves and Lofs of

their Lives intirely upon him.

We fhall now proceed to call our Evidences.

Ign. Pell, called and fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Pell, begin with the firft In-

dictment, and when you was firft acquainted with

Major Bonnet.

Ing. Pell. It was at the Bay of Honduras; but

Capt. Thatch was Commander in Chief.

Att. Gen. This I obferve was before they went
to Topfail-Inlet at North-Carolina.

Ing. Pell. Yes, Sir, for when we came to Top-

fail-Inlet, Robert Tucker was chofe Quartcr-Mafter

;

and
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and we went out to go to St. Thomas's for a Com-

miffion to go a privateering againft the Spaniards 5

but the firft Veffcl we faw we took.

Mr. Hepworth. What did you take out of her ?

Ign. PelL We took fome Provifions.

Att. Gen. Had you no Provifions on board the

Revenge? ,

lent Pell. Yes, Sir, fome Beef, Pork, and

Flower.
, r/r i

Mr. Hepworth. What was the next Veffel you

took ? -

,

Ign Pell. A Sloop belonging to Bermudas.

After' we had difcharged her, we took another

in which were eight Negroes. We took out two,

and left three Men and two Women, and fent

three Hands more which made eight ; and the

next Day we gave Chace to two Ships belonging

to Glafiow in Scotland, and in the Evening we

came up with them, and the other turned Tail,

and we never faw them more after that. And

after we had taken fome Tobacco and other

Goods we difcharged them. We took, as I re-

member, two Veffcls belonging to Brifiol, when

Capt. Read was taken.

Att. Gen. What do you know of Capt.

moaning

Trott. Then who had

5G.I.
the greateit

Man-

Judge

Power ?

Att. Gen. Do you know if he received his

Share of Capt. Manwareing's Goods ? Or did any

receive it for him ?

Ign. Pell. Sir, it was the Quarter-Mafter took

care of that.

Judge Trott. He was Commander in Chief, and

therefore I fuppofe he had a double Share ?

Ign. Pell. I did never enquire whether he had

or not.

Judge Trott. Boatfwain, tell the Truth ; had

he his Share, or had he not ?

Ign. Pell. He had it.

Bonnet. Boatfwain, did you ever hear me force

any Man to go ?

Ign. Pell. No, Major, I cannot fay I did.

Bonnet. Do you not remember, that when we
left Top/ail- Inlet, and they began to quarrel about

Provifion, that I faid I would leave the Sloop ?

Ign. Pell. I do remember you faid fo.

Judge Trott. But if you did take fome for Pro-

vifion, would no lefs than thirteen Veffels fatisfy

you ?

Bonnet. It was contrary to my Inclination.

Mr. Hepworth. We proceed to call another

Evidence.

Capt. Peter Manwareing caWd and [worn.

Mr. Hepworth. Capt. Manwareing, look upon

the Prifoner at the Bar, do you know him ?

. Manwareing. I know him very well.

Mr. Hepworth. Give the Court an Account of

your being taken by him.

Manwareing. I arrived at Cape "James alias

Cape Inlopen, the thirty-firft of July ; and after

being at an Anchor fome time, we faw a Dory
coming, as I faid before. So I was ordered on

was you

Ign.' Pell. We were at an Anchor near Cape

James alias Cape Inlopen, and a little before Night

we faw a Sloop come to an Anchor at the Mouth

of the River, and we fent off the Dory with

five Hands, and in a little Time they returned

with Capt. Manwareing ; and the next Day we

haled the Sloop long-fide the Scooner which we

had taken before, and hoifted out feveral Hog-

fheads of Mobiles and Rum, and put them on

board the Canoo, and put fome Pitch and Tar on

board the Sloop.

Att. Gen. Who gave you Orders for the doing board the Revenge.

of that ? Judge Trott. And
Ign. Pell. I cannot tell, Sir.

Att. Gen. Did you fee Major Bonnet on board

Manwareing' s Sloop ?

Ign. Pell. I cannot fay he was, neither do I

know certainly that he was not.

Judge Trott. Was he not your Commander? haled the Sloop long- fide the Scooner, and hoifted

Ign. Pell. He was called our Captain to be fure. out the Rum and Moloffes out of the Sloop, and

CI. Have you any Queftions to afk the King's put on board the Scooner •, and the Firft of

Evidence ? Augujl we failed in Company to Cape Fear. But

Bonnet. Don't you believe in your Confcience, indeed the Gentleman was very civil to me.

that when we left Toffail- Inlet, it was to go to Att. Gen. Did you ever hear him give Orders

St. 'Thomas's ? And there were near forty Hands, to take out any Goods ?

and the concluded to a marrooning. Manwareing. He was on board the Sloop him-

Ign. Pell. I did believe it was fo till after we felf when it was done,

were out. Mr. Hepworth. Do you remember any parti-

Judge Trott. That was what they accufed you cular Goods taken out.

before whom
brought ?

Manwareing. Before the Man at the Bar,

Thomas he was called then ; and fo

Papers ; and it being Night, hemy
little more that Night. Next Morning

Capt.

him
faid but

they

I gav

for on their Trials ; that you deceived them, un-

der a Pretence of going to St. Thomas's.

Bonnet. I am forry that they fhould take the

Opportunity of my Abfence to accufe me of that

which I was free from.

Mr. Dean. If there were forty Hands on board,

it cannot be thought that he had Power to com-
mand them.

Judge Trott. But he was Commander in Chief
among them, and that after they went a pirating ;

was it not fo, Boatfwain ?

Ign. Pell. He went by that Name •, but the

Quarter-Mafter had more Power than he.

Judge Troll. What do you mean by your
Fvafions ? Was he Commander in Chief, or was
he not ?

Ign. Pell. He was.

Yes, Sir.

you afk the King's Evidence any

Manwareing.

Clerk. Will
Queftions ?

Bonnet. I beg leave to afk whether you ever

faw me fhare among the reft ?

Manwareing. You was in the Round-Houfe,
and a Bundle and fome Pieces was brought ; and

I faw you take it, and give it the Negroe-Boy,
to put into the Cheft.

Bonnet. There were feveral that I kept their

Shares for ; but it was not mine.

Manwareing. It was put away by your Order.

Bonnet. Did you ever hear me order any thing

out of the Sloop ?

Manwareing. Major Bonnet, I am forry you
fhould afk me that Queftion •, for you know you
did : Which was my All, that I had in the World.

So
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So that I do not know but my Wife and Children

are now perifhing for want of Bread in New-

England. Had it been only myfelf, I had not

matter'd it fo much : but my poor Family grieves

me.
Clerk. Will youafkany more Queftions ?

Bonnet. No, Sir.

Mr. Hepworth. We will call another Evidence.

James Killing called and fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Give the Court an Account of

your being taken, and what Goods were taken out

of you.

The Evidence gave in the fame Relation as in

the former Trials ; and then added, That Major

Bonnet ordered him to go and fhew which was

the Rum, and which was the Moloffes.

Mr. Hepworth. Do you remember in particular

what Goods were taken out ?

Killing. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Hepworth. Were the twenty one Hogfheads

of Moloffes, and the Rum taken out ?

Killing. Yes, Sir.

Att. Gen. And all by Major Bonnet's Order ?

Killing. Major Bonnet gave Orders for it to be

done.

Judge Trott. What need had you of fo much

Moloffes ?

Bonnet. I did not carry it away, and it was

contrary to my Inclination.

Judge Trott. You gave Orders for it to be

done, and yet it was contrary to your Inclina-

tions.

Clerk. Will you afk the King's Evidence any

Queftions ?

Bonnet. No, Sir.

Mr. Hepworth. We will call another Evidence.

Capt. Thomas Read called and fworn.

Mr. Hepworth. Pleafe to give the Court an

Account of Capt. Manwareing's being taken.

Capt. Read. After we came to Cape James,

we faw a Sloop come to an Anchor, and Major

Bonnet ordered the Dory, with five Hands to go

off ; and in about half an Hour they came on

board with Capt. Manwareing.

Att. Gen. Was you on board the Revenge when
the Dory was fent off ?

Capt. Read. Yes, Sir.

Ati. Gen. And Major Bonnet gave Orders to

take out thofe Goods ?

Capt. Read. Yes, Sir.

Judge Trott. Was he on board himfelf ?

Capt. Read. Yes ; and ordered the feveral

Goods to be taken out.

Alt. Gen. Do you know if the Major received

his Share ?

Capt. Read. The Captain was in the Round-
Houfe when they fhared, and they brought in feve-

ral Pieces of Cloth, and a Bag of Money.
Mr. Hepworth. Who brought that to him ?

Capt. Read. I do not know which of the Men.
Att. Gen. And did the Captain receive his

Share ?

Capt. Read. He ordered it to be put in the

Cheft by the Boy.
Clerk. Will you afk any Queftions ?

Bonnet. No, Sir.

Judge Trott. You now ftand on your Defence :

What have you to fay, I (hall be ready to hear.

Bonnet. May it pleafe your Honours, there is

a young Man come from North Carolina, that

will fay ibmething in my Defence.

James Kin% call'd and fworn.
Vol. VI.

Judge Trott. What do you know of the Pri-

foner at the Bar ?

King. When Major Bonnet took out his Clear-

ance at North Carolina, the Sloop was cleared for

St. Thomas's, for a Commiffion to go againft the

Spaniards a privateering.

Mr. Dean. Do you certainly know it was fo ?

King. It was reported to be fo by the Gover-

nour.

Att. Gen. Did you hear the Governour declare

this ?

King. No ; but Colonel Brice's Son told me
fo?

Judge Trott. Colonel Brice lives fifty Miles in

the Country, how did he come to inform you of
this ?

King. He came down out of the Country.

Judge Trott. If this be all the Evidence you
have, I do not fee this will be of much ufe to

you ; but if you have any thing further to fay, I

fhall be ready to hear you.

Bonnet. I mould be glad to go through both
Indictments at once.

Judge Trott. We fhall go through but one
Indictment now ; therefore you muft prepare to

fpeak to thatfingly.

Bonnet. May it pleafe your Honours, and the

reft of the Gentlemen, though I muft confefs my
felf a Sinner, and the greater! of Sinners, yet I

am not guilty of what I am charged with. As
for what the Boatfwain fays, relating to feveral

Veffels, I am altogether free ; for I never crave

my Confent to any fuch Actions : For I often
told them, if they did not leave off committing
fuch Robberies, I would leave the Sloop ; and
defired them to put me on fhore. And as for

taking Capt. Manwareing, I affure your Ho-
nours it was contrary to my Inclination. And
when I cleared my Veffel at North Carolina, it

was for St. Thomas's ; and I had no other End or
Defign in view but to go there for a Commiffion.
But when we came to Sea, and faw a Veffel, the
Quarter -Mafter, and fome of the reft, held a
Confultation to take it : But I oppofed it, and
told them again I would leave the Sloop, and let

them go where they pleafed. For as the youno-

Man faid, Col. Brice's Son can teftify that I had
Clearance for St, Thomas's.

Judge Trott. Was Col. Brice's Son there when
you cleared for St. Thomas's.

Bonnet. Yes ; and Col. Brice's Son knew I

was defign'd for St. Thomas's.

Judge Trott. But pray what Bufinefs had you
at St. Thomas's ? Surely after you had contracted

fo much Guilt upon your Confcience by your
former Piracies and Robberies, you mioht have
been contented to have lived a retired Life in

North Carolina, reflected on your former wicked
Courfe of Living, and repented of the fame, and
not engaged in new Actions.

Bonnet. I never took a Veffel but with Capt.

Thatch.

Judge Trott. Did you not take Capt. Man-
wareing's Sloop ?

Bonnet. It was contrary to my Inclinations ;

and I told them feveral Times if they would not

leave off that Courfe of Life, I would leave the

Sloop : And when Capt. Manwareing was taken,

I was afleep.

Judge Trott. How came you to order the Dory
to be lent off with five Hands to take him ? And
Capt. Read fwears it was by your Order.

B b Att.
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Alt. Gen. May it pieafe your Honours, and

the Gentlemen of the Jury, the Prifoner at the

Bar hath pleaded Not Guilty to the Indittment ;
but

the Boatfwain, tho' he feems to bear a very great

Affection to him, yet tells you that he was

Commander in Chief among them at the Time

when Capt. Manwareing was taken. Capt. Man-

wareing tells you, when he was brought on board

the Revenge, he was brought before him, and no

other, and that he delivered his Papers to him ;

and he faw his Share brought to him in the

Round-Houfe, and put into the Cheft.

Then Capt. Manwareing's Mate fays, Major

Bonnet was on board the Sloop, and ordered him

to mew which was the Moloffes, and which was

the Rum. And then Capt. Read fays, Major

Bonnet was Commander in Chief, and that he

ordered the Dory to be fent off with five Hands

to take Capt. Manwarelng. Indeed the Prifoner

pleads he was under Conftraint from his Men,

and that it was contrary to his Inclinations ; but

I think it not common for one that is forced to

have fuch Command. And as for what James

King lays in behalf of the Prifoner, that he had

his Clearance for St. 'Thomas's, in what he was ac-

cufed of before, that he deceived his Men with

a Notion of his going there for a Commiflion.

Judge tfrott. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Pri-

foner at the Bar Hands indicted for Felony and Pi-

racy, committed on a Sloop belonging to Capt.

Peter Manwareing, for breaking and boarding

the faid Sloop. The firft Evidence, Ignatius

Pell, through the great Affection he feemed to

have for him, was unwilling to fpeak the Truth

;

yet he cannot deny but he was at the taking of

thirteen Veffcls, and particularly Capt. Man-
wareing's, and that he had his Share. Then comes

Capt. Manwareing, and he fays Major Bonnet

was Commander in Chief; and that he was
brought before him, and he gave his Papers to

him, and by his Order it was that the Goods
were taken out. And then Killing the Mate, he
fays Bonnet was on board when the Goods were
taken out. Then comes Capt. Read, and he fays

the Dory was fent off by Major Bonnet's, Order ;

and that his Share was brought into the Round-
Houfe to him. As for his Pretence, that his

Men forced him againft his Will, it appears by
the Evidence he did not act like a Perfon under
Conftraint. And in the former Trials, feveral

of you remember, that his Men generally faid,

that he deceived them under Pretence of his go-
ing to 67. Thomas's ; and that he forced them.
So that I think the Evidence have proved the
Fact upon him : But I fhall leave this to your
Confideration.

Then an Officer was fwom to keep the Jury.
Who after they had confidered of their Verdiil,

returned, and found the abovefaid Stede Bonnet
alias Edwards alias Thomas, Guilty.

Then the Court adjourned till tfuefday Morn-
ing.

7ncf(lay, November the nth, 171 8. the
Court met according to Adjournment.

THEN the Court proceeded on the Trial
of Siale Bonnet alias Edwards alias Thomas,

upon thefecond Indictment for fclonioujly and pi-

ty taking the Sloop Fortune, with her Goods,

ior Steele Bonnet 5 G. I.

Capt. Thomas Read, Commander.

To which Inditlment upon his Arraignment

he pleaded Not Guilty -, but now defired leave to

withdraw his Plea, and pleaded Guilty.

Then the Court adjourned till Wednefday

Morning.

Wednefday i November the 12th, 171 8, the

Court met according to Adjournment,

HEN Stede Bonnet alias Edwards alias

Thomas, who ftood convicted of Piracies,

as appears by the above Record, being brought

to the Bar •, and being afked what he had to fay

why Judgment of Death fhould not pafs upon

him :

And he having nothing to alledge in Arrefr, of

Judgment ;

Then Proclamation for Silence was made, while

the Judge of the Court of Vice-Admiralty pro-

nounced Sentence of Death upon the Prifoner.

Judge Trott. Major Stede Bonnet, you ftand

here convicted upon two Indictments of Piracy :

One by the Verditl of the Jury, and the other by
your own Confeffion.

Although you were indicted but for two Facts,

yet you know that at your Trial it was fully

proved, even by an unwilling Witnefs, that

you piratically took and rifled no lefs than

thirteen Veffels, fince you failed from North Ca-

rolina.

So that you might have been indicted and con-

victed of eleven more Acts of Piracy, fince you
took the Benefit of the King's AM of Grace, and
pretended to leave off that wicked Courfe of
Life.

Not to mention the many Ails of Piracy you
committed before ; for which, if your Pardon
from Man was never fo authentic, yet you muft
expect to anfwer for them before God.
You know that the Crimes you have com-

mitted are evil in themfelves, and contrary to the

Light and Law of Nature, as well as the Law of

God, by which you are commanded that youfloould

not fteal, Exod. xx. 15. And the Apoftle St.

Paul exprefly affirms, that Thieves fhall not in-

herit the Kingdom of God, 1 Cor. vi. 10.

But to Theft you have added a greater Sin,

which is Murder. How many you may have
killed of thofe that refifted you in the committing
your former Piracies, I know not : But this we
all know, that befides the wounded, you killed

no lefs than eighteen Perfons out of thofe that

were fent by lawful Authority to fupprefs you,

and to put a Stop to thofe Rapines that you daily

acted.

And however you may fancy that that was
killing Men fairly in open Fight, yet this know,
that the Power of the Sword net being committed
into your' Hands by any lawful Authority, you
were not impower'd to ufe any Force, or to fight

any one ; and therefore thofe Perfons that fell in

that Action, in doing their Duty to their King
and Country, were murdered, and their Blood
now cries out for Vengeance and Juflice againft

you : For it is the Voice of Nature, confirmed by
the Law of God, that whofofheddeth Man's Blood,

by Man fljall his Blood be fijcd, Gen. ix. 6.

And
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And confider that Death is not the only Punifh-

ment due to Murderers ; for they are threaten'd to

have their Part in the Lake which burneth with Fire

and Brimftone, which is thefecond Death, Rev. 21.8.

See Chap. 22. 15. Words which carry that Ter-

ror with them, that confidering your Circum-

ftances and your Guilt, furely the Sound of them

muft make you tremble ; For who can dwell with

everlafling Burnings ? Chap. 33. 14.

As the Testimony of your Confcience muft con*

vince you of the great and many Evils you have

committed, by which you have highly offended

God, and provoked moft juftly his Wrath and

Indignation againft you, fo I fuppofe I need not

tell you that the only way of obtaining Pardon

and Remiffion of your Sins from God, is by a

true and unfeigned Repentance, and Faith in Chrift,

by whofe meritorious Death and PaHioa you can'

only hope for Salvation.

You being a Gentleman that have had the Ad-
vantage of a liberal Education, and being general-

ly efteemed a Man of Letters, I believe it will be

needlefs for me to explain to you the Nature of

Repentance and Faith in Chrift, they being fo fully

and fo often mentioned in the Scriptures, that you

cannot but know them. And therefore, perhaps,

for that Reafon it might be thought by fome im-

proper for me to have faid fo much to you, as I

have already upon this occafion -, neither mould

I have done it, but that confidering the Courfe of

your Life and Actions, I have juft reafon to fear

that the Principles of Religion that had been

inftill'd into you by your Education, have been

at leaft corrupted, if not entirely defac'd, by

the Scepticism and Infidelity of this wicked Age

;

and that what time you allowed for Study was ra-

ther applied to the Polite Literature, and the vain

Philofophy of the Times, than a ferious Search af-

ter the Law and Will of God, as revealed to us

in the Holy Scriptures : For had your Delight been

in the Law of the Lord, and that you had meditated

therein Day and Night, Pfal. 1. 2. you would then

have found that God's Word was a Lamp unto your
Feet, and a Light to your Path, Pfal. 119. 105.
and that you would account all other Knowlege
but Lofs, in comparifon of the Excellency of the

Knowlege of Chris! Jefus, Phil. 3. 8. who to them

that are called is the Power of God, and the Wif-
dom of God, 1 Cor. 1. 24. even the hidden Wifdom
which God ordained before the World, Chap. 2. 7.

You would then have efteemed the Scriptures as

the Great Charter of Heaven, and which delivered

to us not only the moft perfect Laws and Rules of
Life, but alfo difcover'd to us thofe Acts of Par-
don from God, wherein we have offended thofe

righteous Laws : For in them only is to be found
the great Mystery of fallen Man's Redemption,

which the Angels defire to look into, 1 Pet. 1. 12.

And they would have taught you that Sin is

the debafing of Human Nature, as being a Devia-
tion from that Purity, Reblitude, and Holinefs, in

which God created us •, and that Virtue and Reli-

gion, and walking by the Laws of God, were al-

together preferable to the Ways of Sin and Sa-
tan ; for that the Ways of Virtue are Ways of Plea-

fantnefs, and all her Paths are Peace, Prov. 3. 17.
But what you could not learn from God's Word,

by reafon of your carelejly, or but fuperficially con-
fidering the lame, I hope the Courfe of his Pro-
vidence, and the prefent Affitlions that he hath
laid upon you, hath now convinced you of the

Vol. VI.

fame: For however in your feeming Profperity

you might make a Mock at your Sins, Prov. 3.17.
yet now that you fee that God's Hand hath reach-

ed you> and brought you to public Juftice, I

hope your prefent unhappy Circumftances hath
made you ferioufly reflect upon your paft Actions
and Courfe of Life ; and that you are now fenfible

of the Greatnefs of your Sins, and that you find

the Burden of them is intolerable.

And that therefore being thus labouring, and
heavy laden with Sin, Matth. n. 28. you will

efteem that as the moft valuable Knowlege, which
can fhew you how you can be reconciled to that

fupreme God, whom you have fo highly offended ;

and which can reveal to you him who is not only

the powerful Advocate with the Father for- you,

I John 2. 1. but alfo who hath paid that Debt
that is due for your Sins by his own Death upon
the Crofs for you, and thereby made full Satisfac-

tion to the Juftice of God. And this is to be

found no where but in God's Word, which dis-

covers to us that Lamb of God which takcth away
the Sins of the World, John r. 29. which is Chrift

the Son of God : For this know, and be affured,

that there is none other Name under Heaven given

among Men, whereby we must be faved, Acts 4. 12.

but only by the Name of the Lord Jefus.

But then confider how he invites all Sinners to

come unto him, and that he will give them rest,

Matt. 11. 28. for he aflure's us that he came tofeek

and to fave that which was left; Luke 19. 10.

Matt. 18. 11. and hath promifed that he that

cometh unto him, he will in no wife cast out, John
6

- 37-
So that if now you will fmcerely turn to him,

tho' late, even at the eleventh Hour, Matt 20. 6, 9,

he will receive you.

But furely I need not tell you that the Terms of

his Mercy is Faith and Repentance.

And do not miftake the Nature of Repentance

to be only a bare Sorrow for your Sins, arifing

from the Confideration of the Evil and Punifh-

ment they have now brought upon you ; but your

Sorrow muft arife from the Confideration of your

having offended a gracious and merciful God.

But I fhall not pretend to give you any parti-

cular Directions as to the Nature of Repentance :

1 confider that I fpeak to a Perfon whofe Offences

have proceeded not fo much from his not knowing,

as his flighting and neglecting his Duty : Neither is

it proper for me to give Advice out of the way
of my own Profeffion.

You may have that better delivered to you by
thofe who have made Divinity their particular

Study; and who by their Knowlege, as well as

their Office, as being the Ambaffadors of Christ,

2 Cor. 5. 20. are beft qualified to give you In-

ftructions therein.

I only heartily wifh that what, in companion

to your Soul, I have now faid to you upon this

fad and folemn Occafion, by exhorting you in ge-

neral to Faith and Repentance, may have that due

Effect upon you, that thereby you may become a

true Penitent.

And therefore having now difcharged my Duty
to you as a Christian, by giving you the beft

Counfel I can with refpect to the Salvation of

your Soul, I muft now do my Office as a Judge.

The Sentence that the Law hath appointed to

pafs upon you for your Offences, and which this

Court doth therefore award, is,

B b 2 That
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that you the faid Stede Bonnet Jhall go from

hence to the Place from whence you came, and from

thence to the Place of Execution, where you pall be

hanged by the Neck till you are Bead. And the

God of infinite Mercy be merciful to your Soul.

On Wednefday December the ioth, 171 8. the

faid Major Stede Bonnet was executed at the White-

Point near Charles-lfown, according to the above

Sentence.

CXC. Proceedings of the Houfe of Lords in Ireland a-

gainft Jeffery Gilbert, Efq; Lord Chief Baron, John

Pocklington, Efq; and Sir John St. Leger, Kt Ba-

rons of the Exchequer there, for iffuing Procefs in the

Caufe 0/Annefley and Sherlock, in oppofition to an Or-

der of that Houfe, July 28. 1719. 5 Geo. L

Alexander Burrowes, High -Sheriff of the

County of Kildare, having been feveral

times fined by the Court of Exchequer,

for not obeying an Order of that Court,

which he apprehended to be a Breach of

a former Order of the Houfe of Lords,

prefented the following Petition.

To the Right Honourable the Lords Spiri-

tual and Temporal in Parliament AfTem-

bled, the Humble Petition of Alexander

Burrowes, Efq; late Sheriff of the Coun-

ty of Kildare,

Mcft humbly Sheweth,

\
HAT on the 3d Day of Otlob. 1717.

your Lordfhips were pleafed to Or-

der, that the High Sheriff of the

County of Kildare fhould forthwith

put Hesler Sherlock into the PofTeffi-

on of the Lands of Little-Rath, and other Lands

in the laid Order mentioned, which were to be

held by her till fhe fhould receive thereout the

Sum of 1507/. 14 j. 8^. Farthing, chargeable

upon the faid Lands.

That Charles Nuttal, Efq; then High-Sheriff

of the County of Kildare, in Obedience to, and
by Vertue of your Lordfhips laid Order, on the

fixth Day of Otlober aforefaid, put the faid Hejler

Sherlock into the Poffeffion of the PremifTes •, and
fhe was in the actual PofTefTion thereof, when your

Petitioner was appointed and fworn Sheriff of the

faid County of Kildare for the Year, ending at

Michaelmas 1718.

That on the 15th 'Day of March, 171 7. an In-

junction iflued out of the Court of Exchequer,

Sign'd by the flight Honourable Jeffery Gilbert,

l'lq-, Lord Chief Baron of the faid Court; and
under the Seal thereof, directed to your Petitio-

ner, being then Sheriff of the faid County; where-
by your Petitioner was required immediately after

R ( ipt thereof, purfuant to an Order of the faid

Court of Exchequer bearing Date the 19th Day
I'druary preceding, (although the Barons of the

faid Court had due Notice of your Lordfhips faid

Order of the 3d of Otlober aforefaid) to reftore

Maurice Annefley, Efq; to the PofTefTion of thofe

Lands, whereof the faid Hefter Sherlock was then

actually pofTefTed by Vertue of, and under your

Lordfhips faid Order. And your Petitioner was

alfo required by the faid Injunction to fupport

and keep the faid Maurice Annefley in fuch Pof-

feffion of the PremifTes till the further Order of

the faid Court, or till the faid Maurice Annefley

fhou'd be thereout Evicted by due Courfe of Law,
which Injunction was delivered to your Petitioner

by John Annefley (the faid Maurice's, Brother) who
required your Petitioner to give him the PofTefTi-

on of the faid Lands, having a Letter of Attor-

ney from his faid Brother for that Purpofe, (as he

informed your Petitioner) but your Petitioner re-

fufed to execute the faid Injunction, conceiving it

to be a Breach of your Lordfhip's faid Order of

the 3d of Otlober 1 7 17. and of the Rights and

Privileges of this Honourable Houfe.

Whereupon the faid John Annefley in his pro-

per Perfon, on the 13th Day of May, 17 18.

moved the faid Court of Exchequer on his Affida-

vit, fetting forth, that your Petitioner refufed to

execute the faid Injunction, and pray'd that the

faid Affidavit might be read, which was order'd,

and accordingly read by John Beauman, Gent,

one of the Attornies of the faid Court and the

faid Lord Chief Baron, and the Honourable John
Pocklington, Efq; and Sir John St. Leger, Kt. two
other of the Barons of the faid Court, then fitting

in the faid Court of Exchequer, Ordered, that your

Petitioner fhou'd be fined 40 j. if he did not return

the faid Injunction in four Days ; and on feveral

Motions afterwards made by the faid John Beau-

man, the faid Barons impofed feveral Fines on

your Petitioner, which amount to 77/. Sterl. and

upon faid Beauman's Motion on the 30th Day of

June, 1 7 18. ordered an Attachment to the Pur-

iuivant againft your Petitioner, for the Matters

aforefaid, which accordingly iffued.

That on the 7th Day of July, 17 18. your Pe-

titioner returned the faid Writ of Injunction, anct

thereon returned in hac Verba, your Lordfhips

faid Order of the 3^ Day of Offober ijij. and
the Refblutions of this Honourable Houfe, bear-

ing
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ingDate the nth Day of February, 1703. on the

Petition of Edward Earl of Meath, and Cecilia

Countefs of Meath his Wife ; of which the faid

Barons had likewife due Notice. And that your

Petitioner by reafon of your Lordfhips faid Order

and Refolutions, and of the Rights and Privileges

of this Honourable Houfe, durft not reftore the

faid Maurice Annejley to the Pofleflion of the Pre-

miums, as by the faid Writ of Injunction was re-

quired.

That all the faid Fines being impofed on your

Petitioner for not Returning faid Writ, and your

Petitioner having complied with the faid Orders

by Returning the fame ; the faid Barons Pock-

lingion and St. Leger, on the 1 6th Day of July,

17 1 8. fitting publicly upon the Reducing of Fines

in the Exchequer Chamber, and having heard the

faid feveral Fines impofed upon your Petitioner

read unto them by the proper Officer, and being

by him informed, that your Petitioner had Re-

turned faid Injunction, were pleafed to reduce,

and accordingly took off the faid Fines, upon

paying 6 d. in the Pound, (as by a Rule made by

the Barons has been practis'd in fuch Cafes, tho'

the fame was never taken before, as your Peti-

tioner is informed ;) but in the Afternoon of the

faid Day, John Draycot, one of the Attorneys of

the faid Court, (who paid the Box for your Pe-

titioner on taking off the faid Fines) was fent for

by the faid Lord Chief Baron to his Lordfhip's

Houfe, where the faid other two Barons then were

;

and after the faid Barons had heard the faid Writ
of Injunction and Return read, and what was of-

fered in behalf of your Petitioner in Juftification

of the faid Return, the faid Barons were pleafed

at his Lordfhips faid Houfe, to oblige the faid

Draycot to take back the Money he fo paid for

taking off faid Fines ; and eftreated the fame,

which have fmce iffued in Procefs againft your

Petitioner ; although the faid Return was never

complained off by the faid Maurice Annejley, or

his Council, nor had your Petitioner an Oppor-
tunity or Day given him to juftify the Legality

of the laid Return, though the fame was prayed by
the faid Draycot in behalf of your Petitioner.

That the faid Barons, without having any re-

gard to the faid Return, on the 7th Day of No-
vember laft, upon faid Beaumaris Motion, order-

ed the faid Attachment to the Purfuivant to be re-

newed againft your Petitioner ; which having

iffued, your Petitioner was obliged to abfcond,

and keep as private as poffible, fo that he could

not attend his Affairs, whereby your Petitioner

has fuffered very much in his Fortune.

That by Reafon of the laid Attachment to the

Purfuivant, fo from time to time iffued againft

your Petitioner, he could not come upon his Ac-
counts before the faid Barons in the faid Court of

Exchequer : your Petitioner being advifed and well

affured, that if he fhould appear in the faid Court,

the faid Barons would commit your Petitioner in'

to clofe Cuftody, for not obeying their faid In-

junction : and the faid Barons taking Advantage
of your Petitioner's faid Circumftances, ordered

your Petitioner to be Fined 1200 /. and upwards,

for not coming upon his Accounts; tho' your Pe-

titioner always was, and ftill is ready to give his

Majefty a juft and true Account of his faid Office

of Sheriff-wick, while he was concerned therein.

May it therefore pleafe your Lordfiips to take the

Premises into Conjideration, and make fuch

Order therein for your Petitioner''s Relief, as

to your Lordfloips in your great Wifdom fhall

feem meet.

And your Petitioner v/ill ever Pray,

Alex. Burrowes.

Upon reading this Petition, the Houfe of Lords

referred it to the Committee for Courts of Juftice,

who after an Examination into the Affair, made
the following Report by the Lord Bifhop of Clogher

their Chairman.

My Lords,

TH E Lords Committees for Courts of Juftice,

to whom the Petition of Alexander Bur-

rowes, Efq; late Sheriff of the County of Kildare

was referred, do find,

That by the Order of this Houfe of the 3d
of Oclober, 1717.- Hefter Sherlock^ Widow, was up-

on the 6th of the fame Month put into the actual

Poffeffion of the Lands of Little Rath, Boding-

flown, Darr and Mullenafooky in the County of

Kildare, by Edward Conyers Under Sheriff to

Charles Nuttall, Efq; then High Sheriff of the

faid County ; to continue therein till fhe fhould

receive thereout the Sum of 1507 /. 14 j-. 8 d. Far-

thing, chargeable on the faid Lands •, and the faid

Hefter continued fo poffeffed by Vertue of the faid

Order for near two Years.

That by the Minutes of the Chancery fide of the

Exchequer it appears, that the Lord Chief Baron

of the Exchequer, on the 19th February, ijij.

produced a Letter a dated London the 8th Februa-

ry, 1 717. fign'd Cowper, C. in which two Pa-

pers b were inclofed, dated the 6th February,

a London, the 8th February, 1 717. My Lord Chief Baron, By Order of the Houfe of Lords (a Copy whereof I herewith

fend you) I Tranfmit to your Lordfliip, and the reft of the Barons of his Majefty's Court of Exchequer in Ireland, the Order
of the laid Houfe ; whereby the Barons of that Court are commanded to Reftore Mr. Anne/ley to the Pofleflion of his Eftate.

Your Lordfliip will immediately communicate this to the reft of the Barons, and let me know, as foon as can be, what is

done by your felf, and the reft of the Barons, in purfuance to their Lordfhips Order, as you fee by the above-mentioned Copy
I am ordered to require of you. I am your Lordfhip's moft faithful Servant, Cowper, C.

To the Lord Chief Baron of the Exchequer in Ireland, and the reft of the Barons of the faid Court.
b Die Jovis, 6° Februarii, 1717. Ordered, By the Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament AfTembled, That the Lord

Chancellor do Tranfmit the Order of this Houfe to the Barons of the Exchequer in Ireland, which requires them to caufe

Pofleflion to be forthwith delivered to Maurice Annejley, Efq; of the Lands of which he was difpcflefled, pending his Appeal
in this Houfe, commanding the Barons of the Exchequer at the fame time to return to this Houfe, as foon as they can, an
Account of what fhall be done therein.

William Cowper, Cler'. Parliamentor'.

Die Jo-vis 6 Die Februarii, 1 71 7. Upon Report from the Committee of the whole Houfe, to whom it was Referr'd, to

confider by what Methods the Order of this Houfe, for the Reftoring Pofleflion to Maurice Anneftey, Efq; of the Eftate in

Ireland, whereof he was Difpoflifs'd, pending his Appeal in this Houfe, may be moft properly enforced and Executed : It is

Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Temporal ia Parliament Affembled, that tie Barons of the Court of Exchequer in Ireland,

do c:.ufe the faid Maurice Anneftey, Efq; to be forthwith Reftored to the Pofieffions of the Lands of which he was DifpoffefVd,

pencing his Appeal, which was received by this Houfe the 8th Day of June laft.

William Cowper, Cler\ Parliamentor'.
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1 71 7 fign'd William Cooper, Cler' Parliamen-

ts directed to the Lord Chief Baron of the

Exchequer in Ireland, and the reft of the Barons

of the faid Court; alledged by the Lord Chief

Baron to be Orders from the Lords in Great Bri-

tain, requiring them to reftore Maurice Annejley,

Efq- to the Poffeffion of the Lands he was dif-

poffeiTed of; pending his Appeal in the Houfe of

Lords of Great Britain.

That on the faid 19th Day of February, 171 7.

in purfuance of the faid alledged Orders and Let-

ter (inferred at the end of this Report) tho' no

Affidavit had been made, that the faid Orders or

Wilfon of the fecond Part, and Maurice Annejley,

Efq; on the third Part, whereby the fcveral Lands

of Little Rath, Darr, and Bodingflcwn in the Ba-

rony of Naas, and County of Kildare, were for

the Confederations therein mentioned, conveyed

to the faid Andrew Wilfon and his Heirs for ever :

And the Right Honourable the Lord Altham up-

on his Honour declared, that he knew that John
Annejley of Ballifax, Efq; had paid Rent to the

faid Andrew Wilfon by Vertue of, and under the

faid Purchafe ; but believed that the Lord Chief

Baron or the other Barons knew nothing thereof.

It alfo appears, that by Deeds of Leafe and Releafe,

Letter were regularly Compared and figned, the bearing Date refpeftively the 2d and 3d Days of

faid Lord ChiefBaron, and the other Barons, with- April 1715. made between Maurice Annejley, Efq;

out any Motion by Council or Attorney, ordered of the one Part, and Frances Harman of the City

of Dublin, Widow, of the other Part : By which

faid Releafe the faid Maurice Annejley for the Con-
federations therein mentioned, conveyed to the

faid Frances Harman, and her Heirs for ever, the

Lands of Mullenafooky in the faid County of Kil-

dare. That notwithftanding there was no County
mentioned in the faid Affidavit, and faid Notice

given of faid Sale to the faid Officer as aforefaid

;

neither did it appear by the faid Affidavit, that

the faid Maurice Annejley was difpoffeffed of the faid

Lands therein mentioned, pending his Appeal

;

the faid Injunction iffued directly to the Sheriff of

the County of Kildare, bearing Date the 2zd Fe-

an Injunction for the reftoring the faid Maurice

Annejley to PoiTeffion of the Lands he was dif-

poffefs'd of; pending his faid Appeal, in theName

of the Chancellor, Treafurer, and Barons of the faid

Court of Exchequer, whereby the Sheriff or She-

riffs of the County or Counties where the faid

Lands lay, was forthwith to put the faid Maurice

into the PoiTeffion of the faid Lands.

That in order to make out the faid Injunction,

the faid Court ordered the faid Maurice Anne-

jley, his Attorney, Agent, Sollicitor or Council,

fhou'd forthwith attend the Chief Remembrancer,

or his Deputy, with the Names of the Lands of

which the faid Maurice Annejley was fo difpoffeffed bruary, in the Fourth Year of his Majefty's Reign,

of, and alfo the County or Counties where the faid fign'd Galfridus Gilbert, and returnable into the

Lands lay. faid Court in Quindec. Pafch. then next enfuing.

That upon the 14th of March, 1717. Affidavit That by an Affidavit fworn by John Annejley on

was made before the Lord Chief Baron by John the 7th of May, 1718. before Mr, Baron St. Le*

Annejley of Ballifax in* the County of Kildare, Efq; ger, and filed in the Chief Remembrancer's Office

wherein Hejler Sherlock, was made Plaintiff, and the 9th of the fame Month ; wherein he made
Maurice Annejley, Efq; Defendant •, that he the Maurice Annejley, Efq; Plaintiff, and Hejler Sher-

faid John was difpoffefs'd of the Lands of Little lock, Widow, Defendant; in which the faid John

Keith, Darr, Bodingjlown, and Mullenafooky, which Annejley depofed, that on or about the t$th of

he the laid John held by Vertue of a Leafe from March preceding, he delivered the before-menti-

the faid Maurice Annejley, pending his faid Ap- Oned Injunction to Alexander Burrowes, Efq; then

peal; and that the faid John's Leafe was then in High Sheriff of the faid County of Kildare; and
being and undetermined.

That upon the 14th of March, 1717. the faid

Affidavit of the faid John Annejley was filed in the

Chief Remembrancer's Office, in order to have

the faid Injunction made out ; but before the faid

Injunction iffued, it appears by the Examination,

fhewed the faid Sheriff a Letter of Attorney from

the Plaintiff, impowering the faid John Annejley to

receive the Poffeffion of the Lands in the faid In-

junction mentioned; but the faid Sheriff refufed to

execute the faid Injunction.

That the faid John Annejley in his proper Per-
of Mr. John Draycott, Attorney for Mrs. Sherlock fon, on the 13th of the faid Month, moved the

in the Exchequer (after having been fworn at the faid Court upon an attefted Copy of the faid Affi-

Bar of this Houfe) that he the faid Draycott at- davit; but the faid Draycott infifting, that there

tended Mr. John Becher, then Deputy Chief Re- was no fuch Caufe in Court, the faid Annejley was
membrancer, at his Office, and in the Prefence of directed by the faid Court to amend his Affidavit
the faid John Annejley informed the faid Becher and move it again.

that the laid Affidavit was inefficient, and that

the faid Draycott was ready to prove, that the faid

Maurice Annejley was not at the time of his faid

Appeal, nor at any time fince, in PoiTeffion of
the faid Lands mentioned in the faid Affidavit;

having fold the faid Lands fome Years before to

Andrew Wilfon, Efq; and Mrs. Frances Harman.
That by two Copies of Memorials out of the

Regifter's Office (for Regiftring Deeds, cfJV. pur-
fuant to Act of Parliament) proved by the faid

Draycott to be true Copies of" the Memorials re-
maining in the faid Office, it appears, that by

That the faid Annejley thereupon erafed and al-

tered the faid Copy, and made Hejler Sherlock,

Widow, Defendant ; and fwore the fame before

Mr. Baron St. Leger, and filed the faid Affidavit fo

amended in the Chief Remembrancer's Office,

without any Alteration made in the Body of the

faid Affidavit; which was proved by the Deposi-

tion of Daniel Reading, Efq; Deputy Chief Re-
membrancer ; who was fworn at the Bar of this

Houfe, and examined before the faid Lords Com-
mittees.

That the fame Day (viz.) 1 3 th May, upon read-
teds of Leafe and Releafe bearing Date refpec- ing the faid Affidavit, the faid Court was inform-

e y the
, ft and 2d Days of March, 1714. the ed by Counfellor Dixon, that what was fworn in

xing m;lde between Jeffery Paul, Efq; on the faid Affidavit could not be true- For that the
the one Part, and Andrew Wilfon, Efq; of the faid Annejley fwc
Other i art

;
and the Releafe made between the from the Plaintif

faid Jeffrey Paul f the fir n- partj faid jndrew

fwore he had a Letter of Attorney
tiff (who was Mrs. Sherlock to re-

ceive Poffeffion of the Lands therein mentioned

;

when
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when, to truth, Mrs. Sherlock was then in actual Chancellor, Treafurer, and Barons, of the faid

Po'LiTion of the laid Lands. Court, in Craft. Animar. then next.

That the Lord Chief Baron faid it was only a That upon the 7th July 1718. the faid Bur*

Mi (take- and without rectifying the fame, on rowes return'd the faid Injunction, and the faid

Motion of Mr. John Beauman an Attorney, the Beauman was acquainted therewith by the faid

Court ordered the faid Sheriff to be fin'd forty Draycott; who told the faid Beauman, that he was

Shillings, if he did not return the faid Injunction ready to pay him the Coft of impofing the faid

in four Days ; and on faid Beaumaris, feveral Mo- Fines and Purfuivant, which the faid Beauman re-

tions there were Fines at feveral Times laid up- fufed, and told the faid Draycott, that he muff

on the laid Sheriff for not returning the faid In- firsi have the faid Sheriff in Cuftody : That the faid

junction, which amounted to 77/. which was Draycott applied again to the faid Beauman ; and

proved by the Minutes of the faid Court, and the the faid Beauman faid, he musl firsl lay the faid

Testimony of the faid Draycott. Sheriff by the Heels.

That the faid Draycott likewife proved, that That by the Teftimony of the faid Mr. Read-

the faid Lord Chief Baron, and the other Barons, ing and Mr. Draycott, Barons Pocklington and

had due notice of the faid Order of this Houfe; St. Leger, upon 16th July 17 18. fat in the Ex*

and the Refolutions thereof made the nth Fe~ chequer-Chamber on the reducing of Fines : That

bruory, 1703. before any Proceedings were had the Fines impofed upon the faid Sheriff were

in the faid Caufe, fubfequent to the faid Order of then read by Mr. Becher the Officer, who in-

this Houfe of the 3d of Offober, ijiy. and that form'd the faid Barons, that the faid Injunction

the faid Annefley and Beauman were ferved with was return'd ; that a Piftole and feven Half-

Co oies of the faid Order and Refolutions, before Crowns were paid to the Box, and the faid Fines

any Motions were made by them in the faid Caufe. were then taken off by the faid Barons.

That by the Minutes of the 13th June, 1718. That upon the fame Day in the Afternoon,"

taken in the faid Court, it appears, that Mr. the faid Becher, Reading, and Draycott were fent

Chancellor of the Exchequer declared, That the for to the Lord Chief Baron's Houfe, where the

Orders of the Houfe of Lords of England being two other Barons were with his Lordfhip •, that

only directed to the Barons ox that Court ; and the faid Injunction was fent for, and faid Injun-

that he found, that the Order of that Court, ction and Return thereon was read, and the Ba-

which was made thereon, was made, as if done rons declared that it was no Return ; that the

by him, and the Treafurer, as well as by the faid Draycott told his Lordfhip, that he hoped he

Barons ; that he apprehended, that in regard the would at leaft refpite the faid Fines till the then

faid Orders were not directed to him, or he pre- next Term, or give the faid Sheriff an Oppor-

fent when the faid Order of the Court of Exche- tunity to juftify his faid Return, which was re-

quer was made, That he had nothing to do there- fufed : That the Lift of Fines, which was that

with, and did not confent thereto. Day read in the .Exr^a^-Chamber, was then

That it appeared by the Teftimony of the faid call'd for, and the Fines impofed upon the faid

Mr. Reading, that the faid Caufe between Sher- Burrowes were then read : That the faid Draycott

lock and Anncfley was of the Chancery Side of the was obliged to take back the faid Money, which

Exchequer; and that al! Bills in the Chancery Side he had paid to the Box for taking off the faid

of the faid Court were directed to the Chancellor, Fines, and the fame were then eftreated:

^treafurer and Barons, and believed, that if a Bill That the Return made by the Sheriff upon the

was directed otherwife, it would be Error. faid Injunction, was to this Purpofe, (viz.) That
That upon the 30th of June, 17 18. on Mo- before the faid Writ came to him, the Order of

tion of the faid Beauman, an Attachment to the this Houfe of the 3d of Otlober, 17 17. and the

Purfuivant was awarded againft the faid Burrowes Refolutions of this Houfe of the 1 ith of Februaryr

,

for not returning the faid Injunction, bearing 1703. were delivered to him, which he recites in

Tefl the 1 ft Day of July, in the Fourth Year of hare verba. Which Return c the Lords Com-
his Majefty's Reign, and returnable before the mittees have thought fit to annex to their Re-

c The R.eturn upon the Injunction. Cancellar. Thefaurar. & Baronibus Infrafcript. humilime Certifico quod ante adventum hu-

jus Brans mihi direS quesdam Refchuiones Prabonorabil. Dom. Procerum hujus Regni Hibernias facl. in Parliament, apud Dublin.

in h'jc Regno Congregat. undecimo die Febr. Anno Dom. millefemo Septingentefemo Tertio mihi deliberat. fuer. quce fequuntur in hac
verba. Jcilicct. Resolutions of the Right Honourable the Houfe of Peers, the Eleventh of February, 1703.

Ordered or. Motion, That the Petition of Edward Earl of Meath, and Cecilia Counters of Meath, his Wife, be read ; read

accordingly.

Ordered on Motion, That the Clerk of the Rolls do bring into this Houfe the Roll of the Acts of Parliament of the 38th
of Hemy the Sixth.

Rcfhcd en the Queftion, Nemine Contradicente, That by the antient and known Laws and Statutes of this Kingdom, her
Majefty hath an undoubted Jurifdiction and Prerogative of Judging in this her High Court of Parliament, in all Appeals and
Caules within her Majefty's Realm of Ireland.

Refolved on the Queftion, Nemine Contradicente, That the Determinations and Judgments of this High Court of Parliament,
are final and conduiive, and cannot be revers'd or fet ali.de by any other Court whatfoever.

Reflved on the Queftion, Nemine Contradicente, That if any Subject or Refiant within this Kingdom, fhall hereafter prefume
to remove any Caufe determined in this High Court of Parliament, to any other Court, fuch Perfon or Perfons (hall be deemed
Betrayers cf her Majefty's Prerogative and Jurifdiction, and the undoubted, antient Rights and Privileges of this Honourable
Houic, and of the Rights and Liberties of the Subjects of this Kingdom.

Rejoh-.d on the Queftion, Nemine Contradicente, That if any Subject or Refiant within this Kingdom, (hall prefume to put in

Execution any Order from any other Court, contrary to the final Judgment and Determination of this High Court of Parlia-

ment, fuch Perfon or Perfons fhall be deemed Betrayers of her Majefty's Prerogative and Jurifdiction, and the undoubted, antient

Rights and Privileges of this Houfe, and of the Rights and Liberties of the Subj cts of this Kingdom.
En Sterne, Clerc

1 Parliament'.

Et ulterius Certifico, quid ante Adventum iflius Brews mihi direcl. quidam Ordo faft. per Prahonorabil. Domin. Spiritual-

C5 Temporal, in Parliament, in hoc Regno Congregat. geren, dat. Tertio die O&obris, Anno Dom. Millefemo Septingentefemo de-
cimo Septimo etiam mihi dAibcrat. fit, qui fequitur in hac verba, fcilicet. Die Jovis Tertio die Octobris, 1 71 7. Whereas by
the !v part made from the Lords Committees appointed to confider the propereit Method for the relieving of Hejler Sherlock,

Widow, c'f. purfuant to what was Ordered and Adjudged by this Houfe, on the 19th Day of June, 1716. in a Caufe

wherein
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port. That Charles Nuttal, Efq; late Sheriff of Lords of Great Britain dated the a: 3d January,

the County of Mdare, by Vertue of the faid 171 8. fign'd William Cowper, Cler Parliamentor'.

Ord^r of the 3d of October, put i/^r ^^^ In a Letter produced by the faid Barons from

into "the PoffeiTion of the Premiffes, and that fhe the Lord Chancellor, dated London, the 27th

was at the Time of the Pveturn in Poffeffion there- January, 17 18. fign'd Parker C. which came by

of- that by reafon of their Order and Refolutions, the Poll-, directed to the Lord Chief Baron of

he durft not reftore Maurice Annejley to the Poffef- the Exchequer in Ireland, and the reft of the Ba-

fion of the Lands'in the faid Injunction mentioned, rons of that Court; whereby it was Ordered,

in Prejudice and Violation of the Right and Privi- That the Barons of the faid Court of Exchequer,

leo-s of this Houfe. fhould caufe Hejler Sherlock to account before them

^That upon the 7th of November, 171 8. upon upon Oath, for the Rents and Profits of the Eftate

Motion of the faid Beauman, the faid Attachment in Queftion, which fhe had made or received

to the Puriuivant againft the faid Burrowes was fince her gaining the Poflcffion thereof by the

renewed, bearing Teft the 6th of November laft, Order of the Houfe of Lords in Ireland; and to

and returnable before the faid Chancellor, tfreafurer anfwer and pay the fame to Maurice Annejley,

and Barons in Oilabis Sanil. Hillarii then next Efq; but without Prejudice in Cafe of an Appeal

:

enfuing ; and on the 30th January following, the Alio, that the Barons of the faid Court were di-

faid Attachment was again ordered to be re- reded to proceed by the moft fpeedy and effectual

newed : That the faid Sheriff, by Reafon of their Methods, to caufe Poffeffion of the Eftate of the

laid Attachments, was obliged to abfcond, and faid Maurice Annejley, as required by their Order

thereby prevented from comingupon his Accounts, of the 6th February, to be reftored to him; and

and was upon that Account fined by the faid Court alfo that the Chancellor of Great-Britain-, fhould-

1200/. and upwards. tranfmit to the faid Barons the faid Orders, and

That upon the 4th February, 17 18. the Lord that they fhould give an Account of what fhould

Chief Baron, and Mr. Baron Pocklington, upon be done therein.

the Receipt of Three Papers, d which the faid That without any Proof by Affidavit, (as ufual

Barons alledged to be Orders from the Houfe of in Courts of Equity) the faid Alledged Orders were

wherein the faid Hejler Sherlock, Widow was Appellant, and Maurice and John Annejley, Efqrs; were Refpondents : As alfo

upon the Refolutions agreed to this Day by this Houfe, it appears, That the Sum of One Thoufand Five Hundred and Seven

Pounds, Fourteen Shillings and Eight Pence Farthing was due to Hejler Sherlock, the Appellant, upon the 19th Day of
February, 1716. on Account of the Principal and Interefc of the Portion of Edward Sherlock, decreed unto the faid Appellant

as Administratrix to the faid Edward, by this Houfe on the 19th Day of June, ij\6 ; and that the Lands of Little Rath
Bodingjiown, Darr, and Mullenafooky in the Barony of Naas and County of Kildare are chargeable with, and liable to the

Payment of the faid Sum. It is thereupon Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament aflembled, That the

High Sheriff of the County of Kildare do forthwith put the faid Hejler Sherlock into the Poffeffion of the faid Lands of
Little Rath, Boding/town^ Darr, and Mullenajooky, fubjeft to the faid Sum of One Thoufand Five Hundred and Seven Pounds,
Fourreen Shillings, and Eight Pence Farthing, to be held by her the faid Hejler, until fuch Time, as fhe fiiall receive the faid*

Sum chargeable upon the faid Lands as aforefaid, and this fhall be a fufRcient Warrant in that behalf.

To Charles Nuttal, Efq; High Sheriff of the County of Kildare.

En. Stern. Cler' Parliamentor'. Virtut. cujus Ordin. pradicl. Carolus Nuttal pojuit pradiil. Hefter Sherlock in plen. quiet. &
pacific. Pofljejfton. Omn. Fill. & Terr, pradicl. & pradicl. Hefter Sherlock jam ujq; Continuavit in ead Poffiejjion. Pr<emi/T.

prteditl. Jecund. tenor. & effecl. Ordinis pradiB. Ratione quorum Rejolution. & Ordin. in PrejudiB. tif SeJJion. Pri-vile<r. Parli-
ament, per Leges & Staiut. hujus Regni Hibernias provij. infra Nominat. Mauric. Annefley, At. ad PoJfeJJion. Seporal. Fill. &
Terr, de Little Rath, Bodingftown, Darr, & Mullenafooky infra Menconant. reftituer. non audeq. Sic Rejpond.

Alex. Burrowes, Ar. vie.

A Anne/ley verf. Sherlock. Die Veneris 23 J'anuarii, 171 8. Ordered, By the Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament af-
fembled, That the Lord High Chancellor of Great Britain do tranfmit the two Orders made this Day on the Behalf of Maurice
Annefley, Efq; to the Barons of the Court of Exchequer in Ireland, commanding them at the fame time to return, as foon as they
can, an Account of what fhall be done therein. William Cowper, Cler\ Parliamentor '.

My Lord Chief Baron, London the ZJth January, 1 7 1 S?

.

By Order of the Houfe of Lords (a Copy whereof I herewith fend you) I tranfmit to your Lordfhip and the reft of the Barons
of his Majefty's Court of Exchequer in Ireland, two Orders of the faid Houfe, made in the Caufe of Annejley againft Sherlock ; by
one of which the Barons of that Court are commanded to proceed by the moft fpeedy and effe&ual Methods, to caufe Poffeffion of
the Eflate of the Appellant Maurice Annefley, Efq; to be reftor'd to him, as was required by Order of the faid Houfe of the 6th
February laft : and by the other, the faid Barons are commanded to caufe Hefter Sherlock to account before them upon
Oath for the Rents and Profits of the Eftate in Queftion, which fhe has made or received fince her gaining Poffeffion thereof by
Oi cr of the Houfe of Lords in Ireland; and anfwer and pay the fame to the faid Appellant, Maurice Annefey, Efq; but without
Prejudice to the Right, in Cafe of an Appeal to be brought by either Party from the Decree of the Court of Exchequer in
L 1 land.

"

Your Lordfhip will immediately communicate this to the reft of the Barons, and return as foon as you can, an Account of what
fhall he done by yourlelf, and the reft of the Barons, in Purfuance of your Lordfhip's faid Orders, as you fee by the abovementioned
>, } 1 am order'd tu require of you.

I am, Your Lordfhip's moft faithful Servant. Parker C
To the Lord Chief Baron of the Exchequer in Ireland, and the reft ofthe Barons.

'

>-verf. Sherlock. Die Veneris 23 Januarii i ?I 8. Upon Report from the Lords Committees, appointed to enquire
I leafon of the Delay m not obeying the Orders of this Houfe, relating to the Appeal of Maurice Annefley, Efq; and how

lame .nay more properly be enforced : It IS ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament aflembled, That the
DS of the Court of.Exchequer in 7,r/Wbe, and are hereby direfted to proceed by the moft fpeedy and effeftual Methods, to

- 1
.on of the Eftate of the fa.d Maurice Annefley, as required by Order of this Houfe of the 6th of February laft, to be

rcllorcd to him. ivtr r * n 1 o / „ »rritliam Coivper, Cler Parliamentor• .

Die V.nms zijanuarv, 1718. Ordered, By the Lords [Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament af-
Barons of the Cou, t of Exchequer m Ireland do caufe the Refpondent, Hefter Sherlock, to account before them

o, th. Rents and Profits of the Mate in Queftion, which fhe has made or received fince her gaining the Poffeffion
y the

<

oj the Houfe of Lords in Ireland; and to anfwer and pay the fame to the Appellant, Maurice Annefley,
it without Prejudice to the R.ght, in Cafe of an Appeal to be brought by either Party from the Decree of the Court of

:
"
!
"a '" ™""\ William Copper, Cler' Parliament.

regularly
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regularly figned and compared ? and without of any Per/on the which is made to you, nor

Motion of Council or Attorney, it was ordered by Craft nor by Engine, ye fhall Lett the King's

in the Name of the Chancellor and Treafurer, Lord Right, nor none other Perfons Right ye fhall Difi

Chief Baron, and the reft of the Barons of his turb, Lett nor Refpitt againft the Laws of the

Majefty's Court of Exchequer in Ireland, that the Land, nor the King's Debts ye fhall put in Refpitt

Injunction of that Court fhould forthwith iffue, where that they may goodly be Levied, and that the

directed to the faid Hejler Sherlock, and to the King's Needs ye Jhall Jpeed before all other, and that

feveral and refpedtive Tenants of the Lands in for Gift, Wages, no good Deed ye fhall Layne,

Queftion ; requiring them, and every of them, Difturb nor Lett the Profit and Reafonable Advan-

quiedy to reftore to the faid Maurice Annejley, the tage of the King, in the Advantage of any other

PofTeffion of the Town and Lands of Little Rath, Perfon nor of yourfelf : And that nothing ye fhall

Bodingslown, Darr, and Mullenafooky, lying and take of any Perfon for to do Wrong or Right or De-
being in the County of Kildare ; the faid Lands lay, orfor to Deliver or to Delay the People which

by the faid Barons iuppofed to be comprehended that have to do afore you ; but as haftily as ye may

in the faid Order. them goodly to Deliver without Hurt of the King, and
That the faid Injunction was ordered to be ferved having no regard to any Profit, that might thereof

upon the faid Perfons by the Purfuivant attend- to you be therein, you fhall make to be delivered:

ing the faid Court, or by any other Perfon or And whereas ye may know any Wrong or Prejudice

Perfons whom the faid Maurice Annejley, or his to be done to the King, ye Jhall put and do all your

Agent fhould appoint : And the faid Maurice An- Power and Diligence that to Redrefs, and if ye may
nefley, or his Agent, was thereby required to leave not do it, ye fhall tell it to the King, or to them of
the Names of the feveral and refpective Tenants his Council, which may make Relation to the King,

of the faid Lands at the proper Office, in order if ye may not come to him, to the King's Majefty's

to be inlerted in the faid Injunction : And alio Lieutenant, or other Chief Governour or Governours

ordered, that the Rents of the faid Lands remain- of this Realm for the time being, and the King's

ing in the feveral Tenants Hands from the Time Council ye fhall keep and Layne in all things, as

the fa:d Hejler Sherlock was put in PofTeffion, Godyou help, and by the Contents of this Book.

ffiou'd be forthwith by them paid over to the faid

Maurice Annejley ; and that a Copy of the faid The Committee humbly take leave to obferve

Order fhould be ferved upon the faid feveral Te- to your Lordfhips, That there is no Name of
nants of the faid Land^, together with the faid any Attorney to the firft Injunction.

Injunction : Tho' by the Order of the Houfe of
Lords of Great Britain, the Barons were only di- T,,. ,*«.,,; t . , , TT r
rectcd to oblige Hejler Sherlock to account before

l* hlch faid Report being read, the Houfe

them upon Oath, for the Rents of the faidLar; s, agreed to the fame, and came to the fol-

reccived by her fince her gaining the PofTeffion lowing Refolutions

:

thereof; which fhe was to pay to Maurice An-
nejley, without Prejudice in Cafe of an Appeal. T) FSOLVED on the Queftion, that Alex*

That purfuant co die faid Order of the 4th of JLv ander Burro-wes, Efq; late High-Sheriff of

February, a I junction ifTued out of the faid the County of Kildare, has fully proved the Al-

Court, fign'd Geff, Gilbert; bearing Teft the legations of his Petition, to the Satisfaction of this

1 2th February kit, directed to Hejler Sherlock, Houfe.

and T./c ;ty-one Perfons as Tenants to the faid Rejolved on the Queftion, That the faid Alex-

Lands. That the faid Hejler Sherlock was never ander Burrowes, Eiq-, late High-Sheriff of the

ferved with tiie faid Injunction or Order : not- County of Kildare, in not obeying the Injunction

withftandirg which, fhe was thereby difpofTefTed iffued forth out of his Majefty's Court of Ex'
of the faid Lands about the 20th February laft, by chequer, dated the 22d February, 171 7. in the

the Attornments of the Tenants ; except a fmall Caufe between Sherlock and Annejley, has behaved

Part ther.of in the PofTeffion of Dennis Galvin. himfelf with Integrity and Courage, and with due

That upon an Affidavit made by Richard Ly- Refpect to the Orders and Refolutions of this

ens, in a Caufe of Annejley verf. Sherlock, fworn Houfe.

before Mr. Baron 5/. Leger, the 23d of February Refolved on the Queftion, That the Fines im-

laft ; and upon Motion of faid Beauman, an At- pofed upon Alexander Burrowes, Efq; by the

tachment to the Purfuivant was the fame Day or- Court of Exchequer, amounting to 77/. for not

dered by the faid Court, againft faid Dennis Gal- returning the Writ of Injunction in the Caufe

vin, for not obeying the faid Injunction, though between Sherlock and Annejley, be taken off with-

no fuch Perfon was named in the faid Writ of out Fees.

Injunction. Refolved on the Queftions, That the Fines impo-
The faid Lords Committees had alfo the Oath fed upon Alexander Burrowes, Efq; by the Court

adminiftred to the Barons of the Exchequer, laid of Exchequer, for not Entering on his Accounts,

before them by Mr. Hartley Hutchinfon, Deputy amounting to 1200/. and upwards, be taken off,

Clerk of the Crown in the High Court of Chan- when he fhall have made a juft Account, with-

cery, and is as follows, viz. out other Fees than fuch as are ufual on paffing

Sheriffs Accounts.

YE Jhall fwear, Zhat well and truly ye fhall Refolved, on the Queftion, That the Lord Chief

ferve the King in the Office of Baron of his Baron, and the other Barons of the Court of Ex-
Exchequer •, and that truly ye fhall Charge and chequer, had due Notice of the Refolutions of this

Difcharge all manner of People; as well the Poor as Houfe, made the nth February 1703. in the

Rich, and that for Highnefs nor for Riches, nor for Caufe of the Earl of Meath, and Lord Ward,
Hatred, nor for the Eftate of no manner of Perfon before they made an Order for an Injunction to

or Perfons, nor for any good Deed, Gift nor Promife put Maurice Annejley into PofTeffion.

Vol. VI. Cc Refolved
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rogative,

dom.

and the Intereft of the whole King-

Diffentient.

Donerayle.

Midleton, Cane.

Wm. Deny.

Refolved on the Queftion, That the Lord Chief

Baron, and the other Barons of the Court of Ex-

chequer, had due Notice of the Order of this

Houfe of the 3d of October, ipj: m the Cauie

of Sherlock and Anne/ley.

Refolved on the Queftion, That Jeffery Gilbert,

Efq; Lord Chief Baron of his Majefty's Court of

Exchequer, in the Proceedings in the Cauie be-

tween Sherlock and Annejley, as alfo againft Alex-

ander Burroives, Efq; late High Sheriff of the

County of Kildare, has acted in direct Violation

of the Orders and Refolutions of this Houfe.

Refolved on the Queftion, That Jeffery Gilbert,

Eib- Lord Chief Ba"ron of his Majefty's Court the Caufe between Sherlock and Annejley and a-

of Exchequer, in the Proceedings in the Caufe be- gainft Alexander Burrowes, Efq; late Sheriff of

Jo. Meath,

Welbore Kildare,

Henry Killalla and Achonry.

Timo. Kilmore and Ardagh

Refolved on the Queftion, That Jeffery Gilbert,

Efq-, Lord Chief Baron of the Court of Exchequer,

John Pocklington, Efq; and Sir John St. Leger,

Kt. Barons of the fame, in their Proceedings in

the County of Kildare, have acted contrary to

Law, and to the eftablifhed Practice of the King's

Courts.

Diffentient.

Donerayle.

tween Sherlock and Annejley, as alfo againft Alexan-

der Burrowes, Efq; late High Sheriff of the County

of Kildare, has aded in manifeft Derogation to,

and Diminution of the King's Prerogative of fi-

nally Judging in his High Court of Parliament

in Ireland, as alfo of the Rights and Privileges of Jo. Meath,

this Kingdom, and the Parliament thereof. Welbore Kildare,

Refolved on the Queftion, That John Pockling- Henry Killalla and Achonry,

ton, Efq; one of the Barons of his Majefty's Court Tmo. Kilmore and Ardagh.

of Exchequer, in the Proceedings in the Caufe be-

tween Sherlock and Annefley, as alfo againft Alex-

ander Burrowes, Efq; late High Sheriff of the

County of Kildare, has acted in direct Violation

of the Orders and Refolutions of this Houfe

Midleton, Cane.

Wm. Deny.

Refolved on the Queftion, That Jeffery Gilbert,

Efq; Lord Chief Baron of the Court of Exche-

quer, having taken upon him to put in Execution

a pretended Order from Another£ourt, contrary

Refolved on the Queftion, That John Pockling- to the final Judgment of this High Court of Par-

ton, Efq; one of the Barons of his Majefty's Court liament, in the Caufe between Sherlock and An-

of Exchequer, in the Proceedings in the Caufe be- nefley is a Betrayer of his Majefty's Prerogative,

tween Sherlock and Annejley, as alfo againft Alex- and the undoubted, antient Rights and Privileges

ander Burrowes, Efq; late High Sheriff of the of this Houfe, and of the Rights and Liberties

County of Kildare, has acted in manifeft Deroga- of the Subjects of this Kingdom.

Jo. Meath,

Welbore Kildare,

Diffentient.

Donerayle.

tion to, and Diminution of the King's Preroga-

tive of finally Judging in his High Court of Par-

liament in Ireland, as alfo of the Rights and Pri-

vileges of this Kingdom, and the Parliament

thereof.

Refolved on the Queftion, That Sir John St. Henry Killalla and Achonry,

Leger, Knt. one of the Barons of his Majefty's Timo. Kilmore and Ardagh.

Court of Exchequer, in the Proceedings in the

Caufe between Sherlock and Annefley, as alfo againft

Alexander Burrowes, Efq; late High Sheriff of the

County of Kildare, has acted in direct Violation of

the Orders and Refolutions of this Houfe.

Refolved on the Queftion, That Sir John St.

Leger, Knt. one of the Barons of his Majefty's

Midleton, Cane.

Wm. Deny.

Refolved on the Queftion, That John Pockling-

ton, Efq; Second Baron of the Court of Exche-

quer, having taken upon him to put in Execution

a pretended Order from Another Court, contrary

to the final Judgment of this High Court of

Parliament, in the Caufe between Sherlock and

Court of Exchequer, in the Proceedings in the Annejley, is a Betrayer of his Majefty's Preroga-

Caufc between Sherlock and Annejley, as alfo againft tive, and the undoubted antient Rights and Pri-

the faid Alexander Burrowes, Efq; late High vileges of this Houfe1

, and of the Rights and Li-

Sheriff of the County of Kildare, has acted in

manifeft Derogation to, and Diminution of the

King's Prerogative of finally Judging in his High
Court of Parliament in Ireland, as alfo of the

Rights and Privileges of this Kingdom, and the

Parliament thereof.

berties of the Subjects of this Kingdom.

Diffentient.

Donerayle.

Midleton, Cane.

Wm. Deny.

Jo. Meath,

Welbore Kildare,

Refolved on the Queftion, Nem. Con. That it is Henry Killalla and Achonryt

the Duty of the Barons of the Exchequer, where Timo. Kilmore and Ardagh.
there is any Wrong or Prejudice done to the King,
in Matters lying before them, to inform the King, Refolved on the Queftion, That Sir John St.

or the chief Governour, or Governours of this Leger, Third Baron of the Court of Exchequer,
Kingdom, or the Council. having taken upon him to put in Execution a

Refolved on the Queftion, That the Cafe of pretended Order from Another Court, contrary
Sherlock and Annejley, as it lately lay before the to the final Judgment of this High Court of Par-
Barons of the Exchequer, being Matter not only liament, in the Caufe between Sherlock and An-
o! Law, but of State, ought to have been laid nejley, is a Betrayer of his Majefty's Prerogative,
before the King, the chief Governour or Gover- and the undoubted, antient Rights and Privileges
nours of this Kingdom, or the Council of the of this Houfe, and of the Rights and Liberties
lame

: It fo nearly concerning his Majefty's Pre- of the Subjects of this Kingdom.

Dffen-
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Diffentient.

Donerayle*Jo. Meath,

Welfare Kildare,

Henry Killalla and Achonry,

Timo. Kilmore and Ardagh

Midleton, Cane.

Wm. Derry.

lington, Efq; Second Baron of the Court of Ex-
chequer, mail* for the faid Offences, be taken

into the Cuftody of the Gentleman-Ufher of the

Black-Rod^ attending this Houfe.

It is ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, That the Right

Honourable Jeffery Gilbert, Efqj Lord Chief

Baron of the Court of Exchequer, fhall, for the

faid Offences, be taken into the Cuftody of the

Gentleman-Ufher of the Black-Rod attending this

Houfe.

Diffentient.

Jo. Meath, Fitz-Williams*

Welbore Kildare,

Henry Killalla and Achonry,

Timo. Kilmore and Ardagh.

Midleton, Cane
Donerayle.

Wm. Derry.

Diffentient.

Jo. Meath, Fitz-Williams.

Welbore Kildare,

Henry Killalla and Achonry,

Timo. Kilmore and Ardagh.

Midleton, Cane.

Donerayle.

Wm. Derry.

It is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, That Sir John
St. Leger, Knt. Third Baron of the Court of Ex-

chequer, fhallj for the faid Offences, be taken

into the Cuftody of the Gentleman-Ufher of the

Black-Rod attending this Houfe;

It is Ordered by the Lords Spiritual and Tem-
poral in Parliament affembled, That John Pock-

Diffentient.

Jo. Meath, Fitz-Williams.

Welbore Kildare,

Henry Killalla and Achonry^

Timo. Kilmore and Ardagh.

Midleton, Cane.

Donerayle.

Wm. Derry.

CXCI. The Trial of'Hugh Reafon and Robert Tranter,

at the Kings-Bench, for the Murder 0/Edward Lut-

terell, Efq; Feb. 3. 1721. Hil. 8 Geo. I.

In Banco Regis,,
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The Indictment was as follows t

Dominus Rex verf. Hugonem Reafon 6? Roberturn Tranter*

H E jury prefent, That Hugh
" Reafon and Robert Tranter, not
" having the Fear of God before

" their Eyes, but being moved and
" feduced by the Inftigation of the

Devil, the 17th Day of Otlober laft, about the

Hour of Ten of the Clock in the Forenoon

of the faid Day, by Force and Arms, at the

Parifh of St. Clement Danes in the County of

Middlefex, in and upon one Edward Lutterell,

Eiq; in the Peace of God and of our Sovereign

Lord the King, then and there being, feloni-

oufly, voluntarily, and of their Malice afore-

thought, did make an Affault ; and that the

faid Hugh Reafon, with a Piftol of the Value of

five Shillings, then and there charged with

Gun-Powder and leaden Bullets t, which faid

Piftol the faid Hugh Reafon in his Right Hand
then and there had and held into and againft

the aforefaid Edward Lutterell, then and there

felonioufly and of his Malice afore-thought

did fhoot off and difcharge : And that the

faid Hugh Reafon with leaden Bullets aforefaid

iffuing and fhot off out of the Piftol afore-

faid, then and there by the Force of the faid

Powder, the faid Edward Lutterell in and
upon the Right Part of the Body of the faid

Edward Lutterell, under the Right Pap of the

Vol. VI.

faid Edward Lutterell, then and there felonioufly

voluntarily, and of his Malice afore-thought

ftruck : And that the faid Hugh Reafon then and
there felonioufly, voluntarily, and of his Malice

aforefaid, gave to the faid Edward Lutterell^

with the leaden Bullets aforefaidj out of the

faid Piftol then and there by Force of the faid

Powder fhot off and difcharged in and againft

the Right Part of the Body of the faid Edward
Lutterell, under the Right Pap of the faid

Edward Lutterell, one mortal Wound of the

Breadth of one Inch) and the Depth of nine

Inches, of which faid mortal Wound the faid

Edward Lutterell, from the faid tenth Hour of

the faid 17th Day of Otlober, until the tenth

Hour in the Afternoon of the faid Day he

languifhed, and languishing lived, at which

faid Hour the faid Edward Lutterell, at the

Parifh aforefaid, of the Wound aforefaid, died :

And that the faid Robert Tranter at the Time
of the Felony and Murder aforefaid, by the

faid Hugh Reafon in Manner and Form afore-

faid, felonioufly, Voluntarily, and of his Malice

aforefaid, committed and perpetrated, feloni-

oufly, voluntarily, and of his Malice aforefaid

there was prefent, aiding, abetting, aflifting,

comforting and maintaining the faid Hugh
Reafon to commit the aforefaid Felony and

Cc 2 " Murder
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" Murder in manner and form aforefaid. And

« the Jury fay, that the faid Hugh Reafon and

" Robert "Tranter the faid Edward Lutterell in man-

's ner and form aforefaid, at the Parifh and County

« aforefaid, felonioufly, volantarily, and of their

« Malice afore-thought, did kill and murder a-

" gainft his Majefty's Peace, &c.

To this Indiclment they feverally pleaded, Not

Guilty, and on Febr. 3. were brought to the

King's-bench Bar to receive their Trial, which

proceeded in the following manner.

Clerk of the Crown. You the Prifoners at the

Bar, thefe Men which you fhall hear called and

personally appear, are to pafs between our Sove-

reign Lord the King and you upon the Trial of

your feveral Lives and Deaths, if you will Chal-

lenge them or any of them, you muft do it as

they come to the Book to be fworn, before they

are fworn.

Robert Dennes, Efq; challeng'd.

Francis Lee, Efq; challeng'd.

James Haley, Efq; challeng'd.

Robert Sutton, challeng'd.

Benjamin Drake, challeng'd.

Edward Grofne, challeng'd.

Richard Newton, challeng'd.

Giles Riddle, Jur.

William Panneit, Jur.

John Mills, challeng'd.

Thomas Beckington, Jur.

Abraham Harrifon, Jur.

Charles Maddock, Jur.

Edward Bofvile, Jur.

John Parfons, Jur.

Thomas Cuthbert, Jur.

Thomas Cliff, Jur.

Miles Harper, Jur.

Robert Kent, Jur. And
John Salt, Jur.

1.

2.

3-

4-

5-

6.

1-

8.

9-

10

11

12

Clerk of the Crown. Cryer Make Proclama-

Hand then and there had and held into and againft

the aforefaid Edward Lutterell, then and there fe-

lonioufly and of his Malice afore-thought did

fhoot off and difcharge : And that the faid Hugh

Reafon with the leaden Bullets aforefaid, iffuing

and fhot off out of the Piftol aforefaid, then

and there by the Force of the faid Powder, the

faid Edward Lutterell in and upon the right

Part of the Body of the faid Edward Lutterell,

under the right Pap of the faid Edward Lutterell,

then and there felonioufly, voluntarily, and of his

Malice afore-thought ftruck : And that the faid

Hugh Reafon then and there felonioufly, volunta-

rily, and of his Malice aforefaid, gave to the faid

Edward Lutterell, with the leaden Bullets afore-

faid, out of the faid Piftol then and there by Force

of the faid Powder fhot off and difcharged in and

againft the right part of the Body of the faid Ed-

ward Lutterell, one mortal Wound of the breadth

of one Inch, and the depth of nine Inches, of

which faid mortal Wound the faid Edward Lutte-

rell, from the faid tenth Hour of the faid 17th

Day of October, untill the tenth Hour in the Af-

ternoon of the faid Day he languifhed, and lan-

guishing lived, at which faid Hour the faid Ed-
ward Lutterell, at the Parifh aforefaid, ofthe Wound
aforefaid, died : And that the faid Robert Tranter

at the time of the Felony and Murder aforefaid,

by the faid Hugh Reafon in manner and form afore-

faid, felonioufly, voluntarily, and of his Malice

aforefaid, committed and perpetrated, felonioufly,

voluntarily, and of his Malice aforefaid there was
prefent, aiding, abetting, affifting, comforting

and maintaining the faid Hugh Reafon to commit
the aforefaid Felony and Murder in manner and
form aforefaid. And the Jury fay, that the faid

Hugh Reafon and Robert Tranter the faid Edward
Lutterell in manner and form aforefaid, at the Pa-
rifh and County aforefaid, felonioufly, voluntari-

ly, and of their Malice afore-thought, did kill

and murder againft his Majefty's Peace, ti?<r.

They likewife ftand charged on the Coroner's
Inqueft for the faid Murder.

Upon this Indiclment they have been arraign-

ed, . and thereto have pleaded Not Guilty -, and for

their Trial have put themfelves upon God and
their Country, which Country you are : Your

tion.

Cryer. O yes, 13c. If any one can inform our

Sovereign Lord the King's Juftices, the King's

Serjeants, or the King's Attorney, of the Felony Charge is to inquire whether they be guilty of this

and Murder whereof the Prifoners ftand indifted Felony and Murder in Manner and Form as they

before this Inqueft be taken between our Sove- ftand mdicled, or not guilty ; if you find them

reign Lord the King, and the Prifoners at the §ullty> You A*11 inquire what Goods or Chattels,

Bar, let them come forth and they fhall be heard, Lands or Tenements they had at the time of. the

for the Prifoners now ftand at the Bar upon their
faid Felony and Murrder committed, or at any

Deliverance. Pme înce : « You find them not guilty, you fhall

Clerk of the Crown. Hugh Reafon hold up your inquire whether they fled for it : If you find that

Hand, Robert Tranter hold up your Hand. they dld % for it, you fhall inquire of their Goods

Gentlemen of the Jury look upon the Prifoners and Chattels as if you found them guilty ; if you

and hearken to their Caufe •, they ftand indicled, find them not guilty, and that they did not fly for

for that they not having the Fear of God before ir
> % *"° and no more> and hear your Evidence.

their Eyes, but being moved and fcduced by the

Inftigation of the Devil, the 17th Day of OElober

laft, about the Hour of Ten of the Clock in the

Forenoon of the faid Day, by Force and Arms,
at the Parifh of St. Clement Danes in the County

of Middlefex, in and upon one Edward Lutterell,

Efq; in the Peace ofGod and ofour Sovereign Lord
the King, then and there being felonioufly, vo-

luntarily, and of their Malice aforc-thought, did

make an Affault ; and that the faid Hugh Reafon,

with a Piftol of the Value of 5 s. then and there

charged with Gunpowder and leaden Bullets ;

which faid Piftol the faid Hugh Reafon in his Right

Mr. Strange. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,
and you Gentlemen of the Jury, I am Counfel in

this Cafe for the King. This is an Indiclment
againft the Defendants Hugh Reafon and Robert
Tranter for the Murder of Mr. Lutterell. The In-
diclment fets forth, that the Defendants not having
the Fear of God before their Eyes, but being
moved and feduced by the Inftigation of the De-
vi], on the 1 7th of Oclober laft at Ten of the Clock
in the Morning, in the Parifh of St. Clement Danes
in the County of Middlefex, did make an Affault

on Edward Lutterell, Efq; that the Defendant

Hugh
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Hu°b Reafon with a Piftol charged with Gun- chamber on the fame Floor up one Pair of Stairs,

powder and Bullets, which he then and there held to go and fetch the Money, by which it may be

in his Ri^ht Hand, into and againft the faid Ed- fuppoled that it was in order to pay the Debt,

ward Lutterell then and there felonioufly, and of but the Witnefs did not hear the Sum, but it is

his Malice afore-thought, did moot off and dif- reafonable to prefume, he had told her what it

charge, and that the Prifoner Hugh Reafon, with did come to. The Defendant Reafon faid, You

the leaden Bullets aforefaid, iffuing and fhot off muft order more than that, I mufi have three Gui-

out of the Piftol aforefaid, then and there by the neas for my Civility : No, fays the Deceafed, you

Force of the faid Powder the faid Edward Lutte- have not ufed me Jo as to deferve three Guineas or

Tell, in and upon the right part of the Body of the any other Sum for Civility, without making any De-

faid Edward Lutterell, under the right Pap of the mand you arrefted me publicly in the Street. My
laid Edward Lutterell, then and there felonioufly, Lord, according to my Inftru6lions, the Deceafed

voluntarily, and of his Malice afore-thought ftruck, went up one pair of Stairs and he retrrned down

and that the faid Hugh Reafon then and there felo- with a Cafe of Piftols •, the Maid Servant, Hefter

nioufly, wilfully, and of his Malice afore-thought, Gerrard, feeing him with thofe Piftols, faid to

did o-ive to the faid Edward Lutterell, with the him, For God fake what bufinefs haveyou with thofe

leaden Bullets aforefaid, out of the faid Piftol, Piftols ? Pray lay the Piftols away, Mifchief may

then and there by Force of the Powder fhot off happen : Says he, / defign to do them no harm,

and difcharged in and againft the right Part of they have ufed me ill, called ?ne Rogue, Rafcal, and

the Body of the faid Edward Lutterell, under the Minter, I do not defign to hurt them, but will not

ri^ht Pap of the faid Edward Lutterell, one mor- be ill ufed by them. The Maid prefs'd him, for

tal Wound of the Breadth of one Inch, and the God fake lay them down, your Lady will be frighted.

Depth of nine Inches, of which mortal Wound He went to the far end of the Room, laid down

the faid EdwardLutterell, from the faid 10th Hour the Piftols, and retreated to the Fire-place. By
of the faid 17th of Otlober, to the 10th Hour in this time there was a knocking at the Door, and

the Afternoon of the faid Day languifhed, and the Boy 'Thomas Hvgrave went to let in the Per-

lano-uiihing lived, at which time the faid Edward fon that knock'd, and it proved the Defendant

Lutterell at the Parilh aforefaid, of the Wound Tranter: Tranter run haftily up Stairs, and the

aforefaid, died : And that the other Defendant Ro- Boy was following him, and hearing a Noife in

bert Tranter, was aiding and affifting the faid Hugh the Dining Room, as my Instructions are, he

Reafon to commit the laid Felony and Murder in haftened the earlier to fee what the matter was

;

manner and form aforefaid, and that they the faid as foon as he came into the Dining Room, the

Hugh Reafon and Robert Tranter, the faid Edward firfb thing he faw was, 'Tranter holding the De-

Lutterell in manner and form aforefaid, at the Pa- ceafed's Arm in his, and the other Defendant Rea-

rifh and County aforefaid, felonioufly, wilfully, fon ftabbing him, and he faw the Stab: He was

and of their Malice afore-thought did kill and going to give the fecond Stab, but the Boy took

murder, which is laid to be againft the Peace of hold of the fword Arm ; Reafon takes the Sword

his Majefty, his Crown and Dignity, to which the with his other Hand, and fays to the Boy, Damn
Defendants have feverally pleaded Not Guilty : you, ifyou don't get out of the Room, you /ball die

they are likewife charged on the Coroner's Inqueft before your Mafter : Upon this he faw a fecond

for the faid Murder. We mail call our Witneffes, Pafs at the Gentleman, and he cryed Murder \

and if vre prove them guilty you will find them Upon his crying Murder, the Maid Servant Sarah

fo. came, and fhe fays fhe faw her Mafter upon his

Back on the Floor with his Hands up begging for

Mr. Serf Che/hire. May it pleafe your Lord- Mercy, and faw the Men ftab him feveral times

:

ihip, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, I am Coun- fhe likwife cries out Murder, and as fhe went

fel in this Cafe for the King, the two Prifoners at down the Stairs, and not till then, Ihe heard a

the Bar, Hugh Reafon and Robert Tranter, ftand Piftol go off, which muft be after the poor wound-
indicted before you, and are charged before you ed mangled Man lay upon the Floor. Some time

on the Coroner's Inqueft, for the murder ofEdward after, not two Minutes, fhe heard another Piftol

Lutterell, Efq-, and according to my Instructions, go off, by this time the Noife was fo great that

which I will keep exactly to, he came by his the Neighbourhood came in, particularly one Wa-
Death in this manner : On the 1 7th of Otlober laft ters a Waterman ; Waters runs up Stairs, and he
this Gentleman coming out of his Lodgings in Sur- finds the Deceafed at the further end of the Room,
rey-Street, going towards the Water-fide to take lying there in a ftrange mangled Condition ; one
Water at the Stairs there, the two Prifoners came of the Prifoners endeavour'd to make his Efcape,

to him and did arreft him, and told him, they but he was feized, and fo was the other,

arrefted him at the Suit of one Mr. Rous, for 10 /. It was thought proper in this dying Condition,

He fubmitted to their Arreft, defired them to re- as it was apprehended the poor Gentleman was in,

turn with him to his Lodging and he would pay that they fhould fend for the Curate of the Parifh,

the Money : They confented, and both returned Mr. Peters ; Mr. Peters did come, and according

to the Door with him, but Reafon was the only to my Instructions, as they apprehended him to

Perfon that went up with him : Tranter faid he be dying, fays a Friend of the Defendants, Pray
would go and fetch the Attorney or Solicitor's inquire of the Gentleman how this Accident happened.

Bill : The Deceafed went up one Pair of Stairs, He did fo, and he will give you an Account of
Reafon went with him, they were together in the what pafs'd between him and the Deceafed before

Dining-Room, Words happened between them, as the Juftices of the Peace came. But Mr. Vernon

will come from the Evidence •, they called him and Mr. Haynes, the two Juftices of the Peace,

Rogue, Rafcal, and Minter, charged him as a foon after came in, and at their Requeft they

Perfon thatrefufed to pay honeft Debts, and fhel- having no Clerk with them, Mr. Peters was. pleafed

tered himfelf under reputed Places of Security, to fit down and take the Examination in writing ;

He directed his Lady, who was then in her Bed- having given him his Oath, Mr. Peters was pleafed

to
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to fet it down ; the Subftance of what he did fay they do but in cafe they exceed that Authority, and

was this, The Bailiffs took the Piftols from my Ta-^

He and Jhot me tzvice, the fat Man run me thro'

and then drew my Sword, which I broke my felf in
his Hand, and beg''d for my Life: I never fired a

Piftol, nor made one Pujh, they both run me thro*,

I offered to fay them the Money, The Condition the

Gentleman was in at that time was fuch, as it was

not thought reafonable that he fhould fign it, but

they will give you an account that he was per-

fectly fenfible. My Lord, in the Afternoon fome-

body fent for Mr. Peters the Clergyman again,

and it was with an Intent that the Deceafed might

receive the Holy Sacrament ; and Mr. Peters, like

a prudent Man, fays, According to the Accountyou

have given you have been hardly ufed ; however it

ufe Barbarity to their Pnibners, where there is no

occafion for it, they exceed the Bounds of their

Authority, and what happens afterwards by a need-

lefs Quarrel, they themielves are the occafion of,

and if a Perfon is killed, I fubmit it to yourLord-

fhip if they are not guilty of Murder.

We agree, my Lord, if Refinance is made by

a Perfon arrefted, and it is neceffary for the Pre-

fervation of the Prifoner, or for the Life of the

Officer, if his Life is attempted by the Prifoner,

and in doing what is neceffary for their Defence,

and for the keeping of their Prifoner, there hap-

pens a Quarrel commenced by the Fault of the

Prifoner, we agree the Officers are not to be

blamed : But if a Quarrel is commenced by the

becomes me to hope and deftre, and you to exprefs, Officers againft a Pnioner fubmitting to the Law,

thatyour are in Charity, before I Adminifter the Holy and to their Authority and willing to do that

Sacrament. Says he, As I Jhall appear before the which the Laws requires, namely, to pay the Debt,

great God of Heaven, what I toldyou is true , Iwas

barbaroufly murder*d ; however 1 am in Perfeel Chas-

tity with them, Iforgive them, and Ipray Almighty

God to forgive them their Indifcretion. My Lord,

he did continue for fome time in a languifhing

Way, tho' all Care was taken to fave his Life.

On Examination after his Death, (which is a fad

Circumftance in the Cafe) there are found no lefs

than ten Wounds on him, many of them mortal

then only for Civility Money they ufe Durance,

and they ufed him ill, and they begin the Quarrel

and fight with the Man on that account, we muft

fubmit it, whether it is not Murder. We muft

agree in our Evidence, that there was not any
Perfon prefent at the time of the beginning of

the Quarrel, nor who continued there during the

Quarrel: But from the Circumftances, and tbi

Evidence we have to lay before the Jury, it will

he did continue till the 17th about Ten at Night amount to a Proof, that this Quarrel was begun

and then he died. My Lord, here is a Cafe of by the Officer. It is true, there were Piftols

great Confideration ; and as on the one Hand the fetch'd by the Deceafed, but thefe Piftols, if we
Defendants are Officers and Minifters of Juftice, fhew they were not defigned to be made ufe of to

and muft be protected in ferving of their Procefs, injure the Bailiffs, but were only for his own Pre*

and as long as they do their Duty muft not be fervation, if he fhould be ill ufed by them ; if

abufed ; yet when People fubmit to their Autho- after he had taken thefe Piftols he difmifs'd him-

rity, they too muft,be protected, and the Law, felf from the Cuftody of thefe Piftols, as we ap-

that requires the one to fubmit, requires the other prehend will appear from the Evidence, and they

to protect and preferve their Lives ; and if any take up thefe Piftols, and with one of thefe Piftols

Officer gives unreafonable Correction, where they fhoot their Prifoner, we apprehend that will take

make no Refiftance in Cafes of Durance only, off the Circumftances, that would feem in favour

where Hardfhips and Difficulties are put upon
them, fo as to fhorten their Lives. I fubmit it

to my Lord's Direction, whether they are not

guilty ofthe Murder. To fhew how careful the Law
is of the Life of Man, my Lord Coke * fays, If
any Man who is in Cuftody of a Goaler dies, the

Coroner's Inqueft muft fit upon him ; and it is for

this Reafon, that the King may be apprized that

the Subject had no foul Play, but came to a na-
tural Death ; this Policy of Law is a good one.

of them. My Lord, we will call our Witneffes,

and prove all our Facts, and then we muft fubmit

it to your Lordfhip's Direction to the Jury, whether

on thofe Facts it doth not appear that the Offence

committed is Murder.

L. C. J. Call your Witneffes. Sir John Pratt:

Thomas Hargrave fworn.

Mr; Hungerford. My Lord, Thomas Hargrove

was the Deceafed's Servant, and he faw more than
Thefe, Gentlemen, are the Bounds which will be any Body ; he will give your Lordfhip an account
taken into Confideration, and when we have called of the Matter.
our Witneffes, it muft be left to my Lord's Di- Serf. Chefhire. Thomas Hargrave, do you tell

re&ion and your Confideration, whether the De- my Lord and the Jury, what you know in rela-

fendants Cafe is a Cafe to be juftified, or whether tion to your late Mafter Mr. Lutterell, what paft
or no they won't deferve the Punifhment due to between him and the Defendants, and either of
Ruffians and Affaffins.

Mr. Reeve. I am Counfel likewife in this Cafe
for the King: The Fads have been fully open'd
in every particular Circumftance, and I appre-
hend this is not a Matter proper for us to fhew
with its ufual Aggravations ; for confidering the
Prifoners are not allowed Counfel, we are only
to lay the Matter fairly before the Jury and the
Court, both in relation to Matters of Fact and of
Law.

True, the Defendants are Officers of Juftice,
and as fuch are entitled to the Protection of the
Law, fo far as the Law audiorizes them in what

them, tell from the beginning, and be fure you

tell the Truth.

At the Prifoners Defire the other Witneffes were

ordered out of Court.

Hargrave. The firft beginning, my Lord, was

my Mafter fent me out of the Houfe to call a Pair

of Oars to go up to Weftminfter on Tuefday between

Nine and Ten a Clock.

L. C. Juli. What Day of the Month ?

Hargrave. I don't know ; with that I went and
call'd a Pair of Oars, and came back and told him
I had called them ; fays he, Ihomas get your

Hat and go along with me; when we had got two
or three Doors from our Lodging, a little Man,

3. lift. 52. 91,

whofe
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whofe Name is Tranter, clapt him on the Shoul-

der, and prefently after came another Man Rea-

fon, and faid they arrefted him, with that my
Mafters fays, Gentlemen, ifyou will go with me,

you /hall have your Money, my Wife is with Child,

and I am afraidfhe will be frightened.

No, Damn you, we will go with no fuch Minter,

with that with great Perfuafion my Mafter got

them to go to his Lodging ; my Mafter faid, fetch

the Attorney and I will pay the Money : Reafon fent

Tranter for the Attorney, and Reafon went up
with my Mafter, who faid to my Miftrefs, My
Dear, don't be frighten' d, here are two Rafcals who
have ahufed me in the Street ; and my Miftrefs faid

to me, Go to my Nephew, I went, but he did not

immediately come •, when I returned I went into

the Room, and there was no harm then, my Ma-
fter was walking about the Room, and Reafon

ftood with his Back to the Ceiling with his Face

to the Piftols. My Mafter faid, Let me fee your

Warrant : Reafon fliow'd it him, and he faid, wipe

your Arfe with it, and throw'd it down upon the

Ground. Reafon afk'd for Civility Money ; my
Mafter faid, No, he would give him none, for he

had not ufed him well. At laft Tranter came ; I

opened the Door to him, he run up Stairs, I ftaid

to fhut the Door, and I heard a Ruftling, or Noife ;

upon which I ran up Stairs after Tranter, and I

faw Tranter cloie with my Mafter and throw him
againft the Clofet Door, and Reafon took his

Sword and run my Mafter through ; I took Reafon

hold of the Sword Arm, and he faid, Damn me,

if you don't go out of the Room you /hall die before

your Mafter -, I heard no Piftol all that time.

Serf. Chefhire. Did you go in after the Piftol was

fhot off to fee your Mafter ?

Hargrave. No, I did not fee him till after he

was carried into t'other Room.
Serj. Chefhire. Do you know of any Direction

given by your Mafter about fetching the Money ?

Hargrave. Yes, I heard my Mafter fay to my
Miftrefs, Fetch the Money and I will pay thefe

Rafcals.

Mr. Reeve. I think you fay upon hearing of a

Scuffle you ran up Stairs, and you faw Tranter

run your Mafter againft the Clofet Door.
Hargrave. Yes, Sir,

Mr. Reeve. Had your Mafter any Weapon ?

Hargrave. No.
Mr. Reeve. Where were the Piftols ?

Hargrave. One was on the Table, and the other

in the Window.
Mr. Hungerford. How far were the Piftols from

your Mafter, were they within his Reach ?

Hargrave. No, Sir.

Mr. Reeve. You fay you faw him ftab your
Mafter.

Hargrave. Yes.

Mr. Reeve. Was there any Attempt to give

another Stab ?

Hargrave. Yes, he went to give another Stab,

I took him by the Sword Arm, and he faid, Damn
you, youfhall die before your Mafter ; upon that I

went and cried out Murder.
L. C. Juft. You fay that before that he demand-

ed Civility Money.
Hargrave. Yes.

L. C. Juft. What faid your Mafter ?

Hargrave. He faid, / will give no Rafcals as

you are Civility Money, for you have fhow d me no

Civility,

L. C. Juft. Then you went down by your Mi-

ftrefs's Direction to call her Nephew ; when you
return'd, before you came up, what did you hear ?

Did you hear any Noife, or Buftle, or Blow ?

Hargrave. No.
L. C. Juft. None at all ?

Hargrave. No, it v?as after tfranter came that

I went up Stairs again.

L. C. Juft. When Tranter came you opened

the Door to him^ and followed him up Stairs.

Hargrave. Yes.

L. C. Juft. Did you hear before Tranter enter'd

the Room any Noife, or Stroke ?

Hargrave. Only two or three Words.
L. C. Juft. What were thole Words ?

Hargrave. I don't know.
Mr. Hungerford. What faid Reafon, when your

Mafter told him he didnotufe him well ?

Hargrave. Then he was mad, he fwore and

called him a great many Names, call'd him a Min-
ter, and I don't know what.

Reafon. Did not your Mafter requeft us to go

to the Tilt-yard Coffee-houfe ?

Hargrave. No, he faid, if you'll go with me

I will pay the Money ; you faid, I will go with no

fuch Minter.

L. C. Juft. Did your Mafter defire them to go

to any particular Place ?

Hargrave. He faid, If they would go with him to

Weftminfter, he would pay them the Money ; but

they refufed and faid, they would go with no fuch

Minter.

L. C. Juft. Did your Mafter propofe to go to

his own Lodgings?

Hargrave. Yes, when they would not let him
go there.

L. C. Juft. Why would he had them have gone

to Weftminfter ?

Hargrave. Becaufe for fear of frightning his

Wife, fhe was great with Child ; with great Per-

fuafion he got them to go to his Lodging.

Reafon. Did he not afk us to go to his Lodg-

ing ?

Hargrave. I don't know, I did not hear him.

L. C. Juft. You faid juft now with much ado

your Mafter perfuaded them to go to his Lodg-
ing, now you fay you did not hear him afk them
to go ; I only admonifh you not to be too hafty

in your Anfwers, but to confider. Who propofed

going to your Matter's Lodging ?

Hargrave. Why my Mafter, when they would

not go there.

Reafon. Did not I afk him to go to the Crown-
Tavern ?

Hargrave. Not that I heard •, I heard Reafon

bid Tranter go for the Attorney.

L. C. Juft. Did you hear Tranter afk Mr. Lut-

terell to go to the Crown-Tavern ?

Hargrave. No, Sir.

Tranter. At whofe Defire did I go to the At-

torney ?

Hargrave. Why my Mafter faid, fetchyour At-

torney, and I will pay youyour Money.

tfranter. Did not I defire your Mafter to fend

you, and he faid, Damn you, youfhall go?
Hargrave. No, I heard no fuch thing.

Hefter Gerrard fworn.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Do you tell my Lord and

the Jury what you know when the Defendants, or

either of them were at Mr. Lutterell's Lodgings,

and what pafs'd there ; begin at the beginning,

tell all you know.

Hefter.
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Hefier. I happened to be in the Kitchen when

my Mafter came in.

Serj. Chejhire. Tell us the Time and the Day of

the Month.

Hefier. I don't know indeed, it was of a 2^/-

£ay.

Serj. Che/hire. Do you know what Month ?

Hefier. I don't know. Being in the Kitchen

I heard my Mafter return again, when he was

but juft gone out before ; hearing his Tongue I

ftep'd to the Stairs, and wondered he fhould come

in again fo foon ; I faw him come in with another

Man, I heard him go up Stairs, I liftened, and I

heard him fpeak loud ; I underftood he was ar-

retted, I was furpriz'd at it; I ftaid a. little while

till he went up, then I went up to my Miftrefs,

becaufe ihe was with Child ; I was afraid flie would

be frighted •, when I came up fhe was in theDining-

Room with my Mafter and Mr. Reafon, and in a

little time fhe went out of the Dining-Room into

the Bed-Chamber, and fhe was heaving, and in

fome time my Mafter and Mr. Reafon was in the

Room together, my Mafter talk'd and walk'd

about the Room ; I ftaid with my Miftrefs fome

time, and at Jaft I heard my Mafter go up Stairs,

and he came down immediately again ; upon this

I went into the Room, my Mafter had two Piftols,

and he put them on each fide of his Coat ; I afk'd

him, What do you do with thofe Piftols? if my Mi-

firefi comes fhe will be frighted : Says he, / do not

defign to do any hurt. Then he told me how they

had abufed him in the Street, and called him Min-

ter ; this Man (pointing to Reafon) was in the

Room all the time. Sir, fays I, pray lay down the

Piftols, and he came and lay down both the Piftols

on the Table at my Requeft, and he had only his

Cane in his Hand, I went into the Room again

to my Miftrefs, and when I came there fhe was

in her Clofet taking out fome Money : She got

up, locked the Clofet Door, and fat down on the

Bed-fide, and was frighted. I perfuaded her not

to be frighted : Afterwards I heard fomebody

knock at the Door, and I ftep'd out to the top

of the Stairs to fee who came in, and I faw I fup-

pofe that Man : (pointing to Tranter) the Boy let

him in, I faw him come along the Entry and the

Boy follow him : Upon that I went into my Mi-
ftrefs, and laid there was a fecond Perfon come,

I don't like him, fhall I flop him on the Stairs
;

he went into the Room, and I faw the Boy fol-

low him ; I went into my Miftrefs again for fear

fhe fhould be frightened; I heardaNoife, but did
not know what it was ; I heard the Noife o-r0w
greater-, I ftep'd foftly through the Paffage, threw
open the Dining-Room Door, and I faw this Gen-
tleman (pointing to Reafon) ftabbing my Mafter
with all his Might and Main, and he on his Back
on the Floor, lifting up his Hands as if he beg'd
for Mercy. The other Bailiff had his Back to-

wards mc, Handing by the fide of myRafter ; I

ran ro the Door and cried out Murder ; then off

went the Piftol : I was frightened, for I thought
they had fhot after me ; and in about two Minutes
there went off another.

Mr. Hungerford. In that Place where your Ma-
fter was, could he come at the Piftols?

Heftef. No, my Mafter had his two Hands
lifted up thus.

Mr. Hungerford. Had your Mafter any thing
in his Hand ?

Hefier. No.

; Cbejhire. What Condition did you leave

your Mafter in when you went out of the Room ?

Hefier. He was upon the Ground on his Back,

and his two Hands lifted up thus, and Mr. Rea-

fon ftabbing him when upon the Ground ; he ftab'd

him upon the left fide.

Serj. Cbejhire. I afk you, confider, by the Oath

you have taken, whether the Piftol did go off till

after you had left your Mafter, and he was ftab-

bing of him ?

Hefier. It was after that I faw him, within two

Minutes after ; upon my crying out Murder the

People came up Stairs.

Reafon. How long was this after Tranter came ?

Hefier. Immediately.

Reafon. How long was it after Tranter came in

before you faw this ?

Hefier. Not long, all the Action was not long.

Mr. Strange. You did not obferve where the

Piftols lay ?

Hefier. No.

Mr. Strange. Did you obferve your Mafter had

any thing in his Hand?
Hefier. No, I did not.

L. C. Juft. Did you fee your Mafter when he

went out in the Morning ?

Hefier. No, I heard him.

L. C. Juft. You faw him when he returned ?

Hefier. Not till he was up in the Dining-Room.-

L. C Juft. Had your Mafter any Sword on ?

Hefter. I believe he had, I did not mind.

L. C. Juft. "When your Mafter came in and
Reafon after him, you heard your Mafter talk of

an Arreft, and that you had the Curiofity of hear-

ing what paft between them ; did you hear any
Words of Heat or Paflion ?

Hefier. No, my Lord, I heard my Mafter

talk fomething, by which I underftood my Ma-
fter was arrefted.

L. C. Juft. Did your Mafter feem angry ?

Hefter. Yes, becaufe they feemed fo uncivil that

they did not come and give him Notice of it.

Mr. Hungerford. You fay you faw your Miftrefs

telling Money, can you guefs at the Quantity

of it ?

Hefter. No.
Mr. Hungerford. Can you tell for what Purpofe

fhe was telling the Money ?

Serj. Chejhire. Did you hear Mr. Lutterell fpeak

to his Lady to fetch any Money ?

Hefter. I was not in the Room.
Reafon. Did I ftay in the Room by my felf

when your Mafter went up Stairs ?

Hefter. Yes, you did.

L. C. Juft. And when he came down he had a

Cafe of Piftols ?

Hefter. When I faw him he had them in his

Hand, and when I infifted upon his laying them
down, he came and laid them down on the Table
by me.

Hungerford. When did your Mafter die ?

Hefter. He died the Night following, I was
with him all the time.

Thomas Waters the Waterman fworn.

Serj. Chejhire. Thomas Waters, will you tell my
Lord and the Jury what you know on the Occafi-

on of a Noife and crying out Murder at Mr. Lut-

terell's Lodging.

Waters. My Lord, I was at the Water-fide

when Capt. Lutterell came down to go by Water,
I went down to carry him, there two Men croffed

over the Way to him ; I was gone down to my
Boat to wait for him, but he not coming down,

I came
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I came back again, and feeing them go into the

Houfe, I went to the Water-fide, and ftaid there

ibme time, and the Lad running out of the Houfe,

and crying Fire, Murder, I run up, and run into

the Door, and when I was about half way up

Scairs, Lord, fays the Boy, they are murdering

my Mnjier ; I run to the Stair-head and heard the

Piftol go off, and then faid to the Boy, is there

any more Piftols ? Then I opened the Door, and

went in, and met Reafon with his Sword drawn

in his Hand, and as he was putting it in it ftuck.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Where was Captain Lut-

terell?

Waters. Laid down on the Floor, all in his

Gore ; when I came into the Room the young

Man followed me in ; I law one Piftol lay upon

the Table ; T'ranter was behind Reafon, Reafon

was putting his Sword into his Scabbard, and it

ftuck, and as I came in Tranter fhew'd me his

Hand, and faid, fee how I am ufed, Reafon was

opening the Door, I took hold of him and faid,

you muft go no further, here is Murder done;

then the Conftable came in, and I charged the

Conftable with them. The Captain's Sword was

in the middle of the Room broke, he lay on his

Right Side with his Arm on the Chair.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. How far was the Table

off?

Waters. The whole Breadth of the Room •, he

lay juft before the Fire-Place; I faw but one

Tiftol ; I came in when the laft Piftol went off,

and I met Mr. Reafon, and put him by with my
Hand, to come into the Room.

'Tranter. What Wound did you fee me have ?

Waters. No more than in your Hand, he fhew'd

me his Hand.

L C. Juft. Did it appear to you upon looking

on his Hand, that he had received a Wound in

his Hand ?

Waters. Yes, my Lord, I believe he was
wounded, becaufe he fhew'd me his Hand, and
it was bloody.

Tranter. Was my Head broke ?

Waters. I did not fee that.

L. C. Juft. When you came into the Room,
you faw but one Piftol ?

Waters. I faw but one, and that upon the Ta-
ble, juft as I came into the Room.

L. C Juft. How far from Mr. Lutterell was it?

Waters. I believe three Yards.

L. C. Juft. How far from the Prifoner, or ei-

ther of them ?

Waters. The Prifoner flood by the Table, as I

came into the Room.
L. C. Juft. Was the Sword in the Scabbard,

that was broke.

Waters. It was out, and pleafe you my Lord.

L. C. Juft. Whofe Sword was it ?

Waters. It muft be the Decealed's, becaufe

the other had his Sword with him in his Hand
drawn. I faw the Blood : I defired the Conftable

to draw the Sword, and I faw it bloody a good
way.

Mr. Peters fworn.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Mr. Peters will you tell my
Lord and the Jury, whether on the 17th of Octo-

ber laft you was fent for, and by whom ?

Mr. Peters. On the 1 7th of October laft, I think
it was in the Forenoon, about 12 o'Clock, I was
fent for to vifit Mr. Lutterell; the Meffenger told

me he lay expiring: I came into his Room,
where I found him on his Bed, in a wounded Con-

Vol. VI.

dition, and languifhing of his Wounds ; he feem'd

defirous, that I would pray to Almighty God
for his Soul, for he believed he had but a little

time to continue in this World, and therefore he
defired to make the beft Ufe of it ; I was ready

to affift him ; and defired him to confider how far

he might be inftrumental in bringing this Mif-

fortune on himfelf. I defired him to confider,

that as a dying Man great Weight would be laid

on his Words, therefore if he faid any thing not

ftrictly true, he might involve innocent People in

the Guilt, and the Punifhment : Therefore I de-

fired him to lay his Hand upon his Heart and

confider.

He told me, As a dying Man, as he expelled to

be tried for this very Fail at the Bar of Heaven, as

well as the Perfans, who had injur'd him, he ajhr'd

me he was murdered in a barbarous manner. Af-
terwards came in one Church, a Bailiff in the fame

Street, and defired me to put it home to him : I

did ; upon which he made me the fame Anfwer,

That he was barbaroufty murder'd ; he wanted

Spirits, or would have exprefs'd himfelf more
fully : On this I pray'd by him, and when I had

done, I took my leave of him. In about an Hour
afterwards I was fent for again ; when I came
there, I met Mr. Vernon and Mr. Haines, Juftices

of the Peace ; one of the Juftices gave Mr. Lut-

terell his Oath, and there being no Clerk there,

defired me to take his Words in Writing, which

I did ; the Words were thefe ; The Bailiffs took the

Piftols Jrom my Table ; they fired them twice ; the

fat Man drew his Sword, and run me into the Body

with his Sword ; and then drew my Sword, which I
broke in his Hand, and begg'd for Life ; / neither

fired a Piftol nor made one Pufh ; they both run me

through ; / offefd to pay them the Money. I think

thefe are the very Words he faid. After this I

pray'd by him again, and ftill defired, that he

would not lay any thing to the Charge of People

that were not guilty : I left him then, and came
again a third Time, and as I was praying by him,

he interrupted me, and afk'd me, If it was not

proper to receive the Holy Sacrament, which he

was defirous to do : I afk'd him, if ever he had
received the Sacrament ; he told me he had 5 I de-

fired him to confider; and to affift him, I put

him into a Method ; I told him one Thing which

was neceffary, which perhaps he might come in-

to with Reluctance, and that was Charity and

forgiving his Enemies. I told him he had been

hardly dealt with I believed, yet it did behove

him, as he died a Chriftian, to forgive them ; he

told me he did forgive them, and he hoped Al-

mighty God at the laft Day would forgive their

Indifcretion ; he died fome time afterwards, but

then in fo dofeing a Condition, that I could not

attend him to any purpofe.

Mr. Hungerford. Did he fay any thing about

who fired the Piftol ?

Mr. Peters. I mentioned it to him; when I

afk'd him, if he had fired either of the Piftols, I

told him one of the Bailiffs was wounded, and

that there were two Balls taken out of his Hand

;

he affured me, as he was a dying Man, he fired

neither of the Piftols.

Reafon. Did not he confefs, that he had broke

one of their Heads ?

Mr. Peters. No, he did not fay, he broke one

of their Heads, nor any thing like it ; fo far from

that, that he laid he did not defign to hurt a Hair

of their Heads.

D d L.C,
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L. C. Juft.
I think Mr. Peters you fay, when

you came there you met with two Juftices of the

Peace, Mr. Vernon and Mr. Haines, and becauie

they had no Clerk there, they defired you to take

the Examination.

Mr. Peters. Yes, my Lord, I did take it.

Mr. Serj. Chejbire. My Lord, I apprehended

we had it ready to produce, or elie I had not

opened it; but upon my calling for it, I am told,

to my Surprize, that Mr. Vernon hath it, and he

gone into the Country.

Mr. Peters. I have a Copy of it.

L. C. Juft. We mull have the Original.
^ _

Mr. Peters. My Lord, there is a Copy of it

my Depofition before the Coroner.

L. C. Juft. Is Mr. Haynes here ?

Mr. Haynes called.

L. C. Juft. You have given an Account of the

Examination of this Gentleman, firft before the

Clergyman, afterwards before two Juftices of the

his Examination is taken and reduced into

is

in

Mr. Reeve. Whether that, which is mention'd

in your Affidavit before the Coroner, was a Copy
from the Original Paper ?

Mr. Peters. Yes.

Mr. Reeve, And did you examine it?

Mr. Peters. Yes.

L. C. J. We muft have the Original.

Mr. Hungerford. We hope we may have Li-

berty to read the Depofition taken before the

Coroner, if what the Gentleman fays be fo •, he

faw the Examination taken in the Prefence of

the Juftices of the Peace, and the very Paper, the

Words of the Paper, are contained in the Depo-
fition taken before the Coroner.

L. C. J. That won*t do, you have not the

Examination of the Deceafed. This is ill done

of Mr. Vernon, he ought to have taken Care,

and attended here, and had the Examination be-

fore the Court, and without that we can't arrive

at the Truth of this Cafe •, I doubt you muft lay

afide all the Evidence of this Gentleman for want
Peace, his Examination is _.

Writing, and if it was reduced into Writing, by of the original Examination.

the Rule of Law, unlefs you mew you are

abled to do it by fome Accident or other,

muft produce that Writing.

Mr. Reeve. I am very much furprized, I

prehended they had the Writing ready in Court

to produce. My Lord, Mr. Haynes will inform

you.

Mr. Haynes {worn.

L, C. Juft. Mr. Haynes we have been inform'd

dif-

you

ap-

by that Gentleman that ftands before you, the

Minifter, that upon hearing of this unhappy Ac-

cident, you and one of your Brethren, Mr. Ver-

non, came there in order to inquire into the Mat-

ter, and take the Examination of the Prifoners ;

did you do it ?

Mr. Haynes. My Lord, on the 17 th of Octo-

ber laft, the Prifoners at the Bar were brought

before me, and charged with the Murder of

Mr. Lutterell ; I underftood Mr. Lutterell was not

actually dead, (0 Mr. Vernon, another Juftice of

the Peace, went with me to Mr. Lutterell's Lodg-

Mr. Reeve. We muft fubmit it to your Lord-

Ihip, as to the Confeflion, that Part of it that

is not contained in the Examination, which was
not propofed to him at the Time of his Examina-
tion, whether that is not Evidence -, there are two
or three Things he gives an Account of, that he

faid before it was reduced into Writing. But
fuppofe we can't have the Benefit of the Exami-
nation, yet the Difcourfe that was had with the

Deceafed at another Time, whether we may not

be admitted to give that in Evidence, we muft

fubmit it to your Lordfhip. But fuppofe no Ex-
amination had been taken, we humbly apprehend

what he faid would be proper to lay before the

Jury. Therefore when he gives an Account of

what he faid at another Time than that of his

Examination, though we can't produce what he

faid at the Time of his Examination, yet we
may give in Evidence what he faid at other

Times. There were two other Times which he

gives an Account of •, the firft was, when he was

can give no

ing, and there we found him in a very weak Con- lent for to pray by him, and one Chureh came in ;

dition, but fenfible ; we adminifter'd the Oath, in

order to take the Information in Form ; Mr. Ver-

non and the Minifter were there •, my Hearing not

being good, Mr. Vernon examined him, but be-

fore they could perfect his Examination in form

he fainted away, and could not go on : then we
went to my Houfe, where the Prifoners were,

and examined them, and afterwards committed
them. What the Deceafed faid to Mr. Vernon

and the Minifter I did not hear, fo

Account of it.

Mr. Reeve. Had you a Paper taken ?

Mr. Haynes. There was a Paper taken, but it

was imperfect.

Mr. Reeve. And I think that is not in your
Cuftody, had you the Paper ?

Mr. Haynes. No, I had it not.

Mr. Reeve. Do you know where it is ?

Mr. Haynes. No, I do not.

Mr. Peters. I gave it to Mr. Vernon, and ob-
tained it of him to fhew the Coroner, and after-

wards I gave it him again •, I took a Copy of it.

L. C. Juft. The Copy you took is from the
Paper produced to the Coroner.

Mr. Reeve. You was examined before the
Coroner.

Mr. Peters. I

the Coroner.
brought the Original Paper to

he then declared on the Words of a dying Man,
He was barbaroujly murdered.

L. C. Juft. You know in the Court of Chan-

cery, when the Party is examined on his Oath,

he gives in a firft Anfwer ; and on Examinations

taken to it, he gives in a fecond, and fo a third ;

all thefe are taken but as one Anfwer and entire

Confeflion of the Party.

Mr. Reeve. Here is not an Examination before

a proper Officer.

L. C. Juft. You are to be heard no more to it

becaufe you ought to produce it.

Mr. Reeve. I am fure it is a Surprize on all

of us.

Mr. Hungerford. As to us, we have the very

Confeflion in our Brief, and I believe, if we had

thought it could not have been produced, we
fhould not have opened it.

L. C. Juft. And there is too an Examination

in Print •, that ought not to be, and the Perfon

that did it ought to be cenfured ; are Juries to be

prepoffefled ; here is a printed Pamphlet, where-

of the Title is, Mr. Lutterell's Cry for Juftice.

Mr. Hungerford. I never faw it, but am told

it is moft in Favour of the Prifoners at the

Bar.

L. C. J. If the Examination is true, it

ought to be produced, and the Prifoners ought

to
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come fairly to their Trial, and, if guilty, God

forbid but they fhould fuffer, but not by paffio-

nate Infinuations in Print ; and it is an unprece-

dented Thing, and if it comes out who did it, I

fhall take a Courfe with them : It is a way ofpre-

venting all Manner of Juftice.

Mr. Hungerford. No doubt it is a very unjuft

Thing, and unwarrantable^, no more to be jufti-

fied, than Officers are, when under the Colour

of Juftice, they fhall murder a Gentleman at his

own Lodging ; but as to the Cafe in Chancery,

firft, fecond, and third Anfwers are but one

Aniwer. I fpeak it with all Deference, whether

that be the fame Cafe, the Words that he did

deliver at other Times, when the Juftices were

not prcfent, when he was a dying Perfon on the

Brink of Eternity, and then faid the fame Words,

and now this Paper can't be produced, whether

the Words of the Paper may not be admitted as

Evidence, we humbly fubmit it to your Lord-

fhip •, and we believe the Witneffes will give you

an Account of what he faid at other Periods of

Time, when there was no Examination in Wri-

ting, which was only when the Juftices at-

tended.

L. C. J. Give an Account how it comes to

pafs, chat you have not this Examination to pro-

duce, that was in Writing.

Mr. Mitchell fworn.

Mr. Reeve. Will you give an Account of this

Paper, and whether there hath been any Appli-

cation made to get it, and why it is not here ?

Mr. Mitchell. I called at Mr. Vernon's, but

they told me he was gone into the Country, and

he had not fixed any one Place, which he not

doing, they did not know where to fend to

him.

L. C. Jusl. Here is a printed Narrative goes

about the Town. Do you know who was the

Author of that ?

Mr. Mitchell. No, my Lord, we have been

enquiring in order to prokcute the Perfon ; I have

afked the Widow, and Mr. Keat her Nephew,
and they fay they know nothing of it.

Mr. Hungerford. It fets out with this Fact,

tint the Deceafed ftruck firft; andiflo, it is very

reaibnable to iuppofe, that this Paper was done

rather in Favour of the Prifoners at the Bar, than

of the Profecutors.

L. C. Jusl. The Juftice of Peace that had not

the Examination doth appear, but he that hath it

is out of the way. Mr. Peters, how many Times
was you with the Deceafed ?

Mr. Peters. Three Times ; at 1 2 o'Clock,

about an Hour after, and about an Hour after

that, the third Time.
L. C. Jusl. When was it you reduced what he

faid into Writing ?

Mr. Peters. The fecond Time ; the third Time
I adminifter'd the Sacrament.

L. C. Jusl. And when you examined him the

firft Time, and afterwards a iccond and third

Time, the Defign of that was to perfect the Ex-
amination which you took the firft Time, and
then it is all of a piece.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, the third Exami-
nation was after the taking any thing in Writing ;

when he took the Sacrament on the folemn Oc-
cafion, he declared, &c.

Mr. J. Powis. T,he laft Examination therefore
was an Advice to a forgiving Temper.

Vol. VI.

Mr. j. Eyre. Mr. Peters mould declare what
he faid the firft and the third Time.

Mr. Peters. I prefs'd him to confidef and re-

collect whether what he had faid was true, he faid

it was.

Mr. J. Eyre. What did he fay the firft time ?

Mr. Peters. The firft time he told me, he was
barbaroufly murdered : As I told you before there

came in one Church a Bailiff, and then I put him
to confider, whether he was not AccefTary to his

own Misfortune ; to which he returned the fame
Anfwer, that he was barbarovjly murdered, that

he did not draw his Sword, norfire his Pifiol.

L. C. Jusl. Did you afk him about any Blow,
or Provocation given ?

Mr. Peters. I afk'd him, to which he faid, he

did not defign to hurt a Hair of their Heads.

L. C. Jusl:. I muft confefs for my part I am not
entirely latisfied '. Mr. Peters at his firft coming
examines him, and after that he comes to him
a fecond time, and then he is examined in the

Prefence of two Juftices of the Peace, and by
their Authority ; and he fays the Intent of that

was to perfect the firft Examination ; and being
fo examined a fecond time, his Examination is

taken in Writing ; whether or no the firft and
fecond do not make an entire Examination, and
fo that you can't produce the firft without the

fecond ; I make no doubt it might be produced,
if there had not been a fecond ; but he that

examines him firft, examines him afterwards a
fecond time, in order to perfect that Examina-
tion, and when he doth it, it is reduced into

Writing ; to me it feems a Matter of great Con-
fluence, if the firft is allowed without producing
the fecond.

Mr. Jufl. Eyre. It can't properly be called an
Examination.

Mr. Hungerford. The firft time he examined
him as a Chnftian, as a Mimftcr; as to the fe-

cond Examination, Mr. Peiers had no more to do
in it than as a Juftice's Clerk.

L. C. Jusl. The Examination taken before the

Juitice, was to conarm the former Examination,
and upon that Examination ail was reduced into

Writing.

Mr. J. Eyre. That which is fet down in Writing,
if it be an Examination taken in Writing of a Pri-

foner before a Juftice of the Peace, you can't give

Evidence of that Examination viva voce, unlefs

the Examination be loft; but what Declaration or

Confeflion was made at any other time, may be
given in Evidence; the particular Examination of
what he faid before the Juftices, and was reduced

into Writing, cannot be proved but by that Wri-
ting ; but as to what he faid at any other Time,
the firft and third Time, and not before the Ma-
giftrates, that may be given in Evidence.

Mr. J. Povjis. The great Matter I obferve is,

that Mr. Peters did fay, he did look upon the fe-

cond Examination to perfect the firft, the firft

was not fo perfect, and then it was to be afcer-

tained by a fecond, and which they not caring to

truft to their Memory put into Writing ; that

Writing indeed the Juftice of Peace hath ; it is

not produced, but if it be agreed that it was put

into Writing, and after it was reduced into Wri-
ting, it feemed to be all of a piece, fo as plainly

to relate to what was done the Time before, how
will they afcertain the whole, but by producing

the writing ? Then this writing can't be feen, the

Dd 2 Juftice
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hath it, and doth not come here
Juftice of Peac

to produce it.
1

.

Mr. J. Eyre. I don't know how to call this

perfecting the former Examination, you can't

call the Difcourfe between him and Mr. Peters

an Examination, when there was no Juftice of

Peace prefent ; it is not an Examination what

pafs'd between Mr. Peters and this Gentleman.

It is always taken fo at the Old-Bayky, where

Evidence is allowed to be given viva voce of what

was (aid by People at other times befides the time

of Examination.

Mr. J.
Pozvis. What doth Mr. Peters mean by

perfecting the Examination ?

Mr. Peters. I beg your Pardon, it was not my

Word.
, , ,

L.C.Juft- Not to differ about Words, whether

this is an Examination before the Minifter, when

the Juftices of Peace was not there ; it is very

likely this Minifter came to inquire of this Gen-

tleman about the Circumftances of his Death : af-

ter that the fame Gentleman is prefent when the

what Mr. Pe-

paffed between

that to be Evidence which he faid at other times,

becaufe he had an Examination taken in Writing?

Therefore we fhall hear no other Evidence, the

firft was no Examination, only

ters will take upon him to fay

them.

L. C. Juft. Go on with your Evidence.

Mr. Hungerford. There can be no doubt of

the third Declaration ; my Lord, the third Ex-

amination was certainly the mod honed Exami-

nation ; as to the fecond Examination, it had the

Solemnity of two Juftices of the Peace, one happens

to be deaf, the other to be abfent ; whether what

a Man fays juft as he is going to die, and on

his receiving the Holy Sacrament, is not to be

regarded ?

Mr. J. Eyre. He fhould diftinguifh between

what palled in the firft Difcourfe, without any

regard to what is contained in the fecond Exami-
nation.

Mr. Reeve. Mr. Peters, you hear the Opinion

of the Court, that what patted at the writing of

Juftices of Peace come ; thereupon the Juftices this Paper you muft not take any Notice of, but

Account of what parted at any otherof Peace defire him to take it in Writing ; he alks

the fame Queftion as he did before, and they are

taken in Writing ; he takes it, defigning to make

the firft Examination more authentic to charge

the Perfon that gives the Examination. Now
really when all this is done, the Examination of

him before the Juftice, taken in Writing by the

fame Perfon that inquired of him before, and all

this done in order to perfect and confummate the

Examination, whether you will not take them

both together as one entire Account given by the Bay,

Deceafed ? He gives the Account, he gives it as

true in the Prefence of the Juftice ; they were not

prefent the firft time, but the fame Perfon that

alked him the firft time, he afks him when the

Juftices were there, if what he faid before was

true, and on that an Account is taken in Writing :

Now upon this, when there is an Examination in

Writing in the Prefence of the fame Perfon, and

give an

Time.

Mr. Peters. I told your Lordfhip before I was
fent for to vifit him the firft time, when I found

him dangeroufly ill ; after I had talked to him
fome time to put him in mind of Death, I de-

fired to know of him, how far he had been any
way inftrumental or acceffary to bring this Mil-

fortune upon himfelf ; he faid, As he was a dy-

ing Man, and expetled to be judged at the loft

murdered him barbaroujly. I repeated

again at the Requeft of Mr. Church

when

when they give you no reafonable Excuie why they them any Provocation.

they

it to him again at

a Bailiff, and the laft time I came to him,

he received the Sacrament.

L. C. Juft. Mr. Peters, I defire you to confi

der with your felf, did you not afk him whe^

ther he had ftruck any of the Bailiffs ?

Mr. Peters. I did not.

L. C. Juft. Did you afk him if he had given

given

don't produce it, there ought to be the lefs Credit

to them.

Mr. J, Eyre. I think there is the lefs Credit to

be given, becaufe the Examination is not pro-

duced •, however it is Evidence.

Mr. J. Powis. If they were both of equal Va-
lidity you fay fomething, but it is confefled on
all Hands, that the fecond Examination was more
fokmn and valid, becaufe two Juftices of the Peace

were prefent, and there was the Awe of Magiftracy

over the Perfon, and the fecond Examination re-

lates to the firft.

Mr. J. Fortefcue. It is a hard Cafe on the Pri-

fonersat the Bar ; it is the Confeflion of Mr. Lut-

He

No, I did not.

Did you fee the Wound , did he

Evidence, they

but they not

of Law, they

a great Hard-

terell, and if they had that in

might be compared together ;

having that, I own, as to point

cannot give it in Evidence : It is

fhip, but where it lies I cannot tell ; I think n

ought to be cenfured in a proper Time. The
molt material of what is faid by word of Mouth
is detained from us, and not produced ; but I
think we mould allow what was faid at other
times to be given in Evidence, becaufe the firft

is no Examination, becaufe no Juftice of Peace
then prefent i fo that the Examination Hands di-
linctly by it felf, and that Evidence is to be laid

and not produced : but fhall we not allow
alidc

Mr. Peters. I did, to which he anfwered,

had given them no Provocation.

L. C. Juft. Did you afk who gave the firft

Blow ?

Mr. Peters.

L. C. Juft.

fay he gave that ?

Mr. Peters. I told him, it appears one of the

Bailiffs is wounded in the Hand, and it is pro-

bable he was the Perfon that difcharged that

Piftol ; upon which he afTured me, He fired nei-

ther of the Piftols \ he neither drew his Sword, nor

fired either of the Piftols.

L. C. Juft. When you had this Difcourfe with

him, did you reduce it into Writing ?

Mr. Peters. What I reduced into Writing,

was only my Depofition, which I writ with

my own Hand, and which Mr. Juftice Harper

fwore me to, and I believe he hath it in his

Cuftody.

L. C. Jujl. Here this Gentleman is allowed to

give an Account of what Difcourfe paffed be-

tween him and Mr. Lutterell the firft time ; the

Juftice of Peace can't be allowed to give an Ac-
count of what is faid at his other Examination,
becaufe it was redue'd into Writing, and that Wri-
ting can't be produced,

Mr. Reeve,
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Mr. Reeve. I beg you would give an Account

of what he faid at any other Time, when this

PaDer was not written : When you talk'd with

him about this Matter, you fay he faid, The Bailiffs

did barbaroufiy murder him without any Provocation ;

that he laid, He gave them no Provocation : And
when you afk'd him about the Wound that one of

the Bailiffs had, he faid, He fired 'neither of the

Piftols, nor drew his Sword ; I defire to know at any

other time, whether there was any thing material

paffed between you at any other time than at

that time when the Paper was wrote : Can you

recollect ?

L. C. Jufi. You difcourfed him three times,

the firft you have given an Account of, the fe-

cond time it was reduced into Writing, that Wri-

ting doth not appear ; what pafs'd the third time,

pray repeat it again ?

Mr. Peters. As he was going to receive the

Holy Sacrament, I beg'd of him to con lider whe-

ther what he had laid was true : He faid, Every

Article he had faid, as he was a dying Man, and

as he hoped 10 receive Benefit by the Sacrament, every

thin? he Jr.id faid wasftricily true.

Mr. Reeve. We mall trouble your Lordfhip

with one Evidence more, that is, the Surgeon,

who will give you an Account of his Wounds.
Mr. Sparham fworn.

Mr. Reeve* I think you was fent for as a Sur-

geon, give an Account in what Condition you

found the Deceafed, how many Wounds, and of

what Nature.

Mr. Sparham. I found him labouring with a

Wound under the Right Pap with a Shot •, upon

this I examined him, and putting him into a pro-

per Pofture, found feveral other Wounds ; one

near the Liver, the lower part of the eighth Rib,

near the Back-bone •, feveral other Wounds with

a Sword, three or four on his Belly. Upon
opening of his Body I found that the Wound
with the Bullet had penetrated about nine Inches

towards the Back, which Wound was mortal,

the firft to be of the Lungs, having a Hole thro',

and the fecond to be torn, and the Diapkragma

wounded : I found one other Wound with a

Sword near the eighth Rid, three Inches and a

half broad, penetrating the Thorax, and wound-
ing the Diaphragma, which was alfo mortal ; I

found eight other Wounds with a Sword about a

Quarter of an Inch wide each, and a Quarter of

an Inch deep, one near the left Pap, four others

on the right fide of the Belly, two more on each

fide the Back Bone.

Mr. Reeve. So you look'd upon two of the

Wounds to be mortal, one whereof was with the

Piftol-fhot.

Mr. Sparham. Yes, I faw two leaden Pieces

taken out of his Body.

Mr. Strange. Who attended at the fame time ?

Mr. Sparham. Mr. Gifford.

Strange. Did he or you take out thofe Bul-

lets ?

Mr. Sparham. We both took them out, I

think.

Mr. Reeve. My Lord we have done.

L. C. Jujl. What fay the Prifoners ? The
Counfel for tne King have called what WitnefTes
they think proper, it is now your time to anfwer
for your felves.

Reafon. If your Lordfhip pleafe, we arrefted

the Gentleman in Surrey-ftreet, and he defired me
to go to his Lodging ; when we came there, he

faid he would pay the Money, fays he, Go and
fee for the Attorney, and I will pay the Money J

upon that Tranter went to the Attorney for his

Bill, I went up Stairs with the Gentleman into the
Dining-Room ; when he came up, fays he, My
Dear, I am arrefted, it is for Mr. Rous'j Bill.

He began to look a little angry, with that he
went to his Scrutore and took fomething out of
it, a Key, and he went up Stairs and fetched

his Piftols, and when he came down again, he
clap'd one to my Bread:, and threatened to fhocS
me ; I was furprifed, his Lady runs out of the

Room, with that I gave him good words j fays he,

Sirrah I will let you live a little till your Partner
comes back, and then I willfend all your Souls to

Hell together : Then the Foot-boy came back and
faid, the Gentleman was coming ; he ordered the

Boy out of the Room, and one knocked at the

Door ; when the Boy was gone, he clap'd his

Piftols one on one fide of his Bofom, and the

other on t'other, and my Partner came, and
when he came into the Room he gave him a Blow
over the Head ; with that he clos'd in with him,
and then one of the Piftols went off and wounded
him ; then he drew his Sword, and I drew mine,

and then the other Piftol went off, which v/as the

Occafion of his Death.

L. C. Jujl. Have you any WitnefTes ?

Mr. Twine fworn.

Mr. Twine. My Lord, I was employ'd by the

Plaintiff Mr. Carr, to take out a Writ againft

Mr. LuHerell, on an Indors'd Note ; I did take

out a Writ and gave it to Mr. Reafon, and he
got the Warrant upon it, and afterwards came
to me, and defired to know where Mr. Lutterell

was to be found, and that I would defcribe him
to him, whether young or old, &c. I told him
where to go, and defcribed him to them ; then

they went and arrefted him, and after he was ar-

refted Tranter came to me and told me the next

Morning, they had taken the Captain : they faid

they took him at the lower End of Surrey-ftreet,

and that he was very angry, and faid they had

not ufed him civilly.

L. C. Jufi. What Tranter faid is not Evidence.

Mr. Twine. I know no more, my Lord ; Tran-

ter came to me for the Bill, and I gave him a Bill

of the Debt and Charges.

L. C. Jufi. Did you give the Bill of the Debt
and Charges to Tranter ?

Mr. Twine. I did ; he told me they had juft

taken the Captain, and then I gave it him ; the

Bill of Charges was one Pound thirteen Shillings.

Mr. Tims fworn. The Warrant fioew'd to him.

Mr. Ttms. This is the Warrant made out up-

on the Bill of Middlefex, at the Suit of Mr. Carr,

to arreft the deceafed •, The Warrant read, and

alfo the Bill of Middlefex produced and read.

Mr. Hickman fworn, and the Warrant fhew'd

to him.

Mr. Hickman. This I know to be my Hand,

I made out this Warrant all of it.

Mr. Hungerford. I would humbly offer it to

your Lordfhip's Obfervation, here is a Fad! we
have omitted to prove, here is a Witnefs in Court, .

one Lucas, can prove that Reafon fhot off the

Piftol.

L. C. Juft. It is irregular ; but altho' you have

omitted it, and come out of time, I would have

the whole Fad!, and if my Brothers pleafe we will

hear it,

Confiance



-206 1 9 1 . The Trial of Reafon and Tranter Hil. 8 G. I.

^ n t - rmnm they immediately feiz'd him, the lufty Man feiz'd him
'

i-^ — W drew his Sword, he tumbled down, and he

ftab'd him ; he often beg'd them to fpare his Life ;

the other faid, Damn him, draw his own Sword

andflab him. Mr. Lutterell's Finger and Thumb
were cut, as if it was with grafping of a Sword.

what do you
Mr. Hungerford. Mrs. Lucas,

know of fhooting off the Piftol ?

Conft. Lucas. I was oppofite to the Captain s

Lodging in Surrey-fireet, in a Room up two Fair

of Stair!, and I heard a Piftol go off, upon that

I went to the Window, and I few a lufty fo

Man take a Piftol out of the Window in the

Captain's Lodging up one Pair of Stairs, and let

it off towards the Fire-fide.

Mr. Strange. Do you know Mr. Lutterell'

Conft. Lucas. Yes.

Mr. S/rtf0£*. Can you take upon you to iay it

was not Mr. Lutterell?

Conft. Lucas. Yes, I am fure it was not he.

L C Juft. When you few a lufty tat Man

take' a Piftol off from the Window and difcharge

it, was any Body by him at that time ?

'

Conft. Lucas. No Body that I few.

L. C. Juft. What fort of Man was Mr. Lutte-

rell ?

Conft. Lucas. He was a little Man,
_

One of the Jury. Was there any Light in that

Room to diftinguifh one Man from another ?

L. C Juft. What me faid was, fhe few a lufty

fat Man come to the Window, and take up

Then he faid, the

Clafd it clofe to hi.

Body, and the lufty

his Head andfhot it

lejjer Man took a Piftol and

Breaft, and fhot him in the

Man held the other Pislol to

off-, which I the rather be-

a

lieve,becaulehe had ibme Powder Spots or Marks

on his Face.

Reafon. He owned to you that he ftruck one

of us.

Mr. Gifford. Yes, but it was upon your giving

fewcy Language.

L. C. Jusl. When you afk'd him about bring-

ing down the Piftols, and upon what Account,

what laid he ?

Mr. Gifford. He acknowledged he brought

down the Piftols, but with no evil Intent ; but as

he was willing to pay his Debts, he was not wil-

ling to be forc'd out of his Lodging and be ex-

poled.

Mr. Bonner fworn.

Mr. Bonner. My Lord, juft as Mr. Lutterell

Piftol and difcharge it, and that fhe few no Body was got to Bed I came up Stairs, and afked him

if he had fired the Piftol •, he dilown d it, and
elfe at the Window.

Mr. Hungerford. The Coroner's Inqueft came

into this Room, and was fetisfied, that from

thence fhe might fee into this Window.

Mr. Gifford the Surgeon fworn.

Mr. Gifford. On Tuefday the 17th of Otlober

laft, about ten or eleven o'Clock in the Morning,

I was lent for to a Gentleman, Mr. Lutterell

;

when I came to him, I found him fitting on a

Chair, and he leaned back with his Shirt and

Cloches very bloody •, Mr. Sparham was with him

in order to look to his Wound ; we put him to

Bed, we found a Wound about an Inch below

the right Pap, by Gun or Piftol fhot, and we

drafted it and all the other Wounds we could

find ; I went into the Parlour, and there were

the two Prifoners at the Bar-, I was told one of

them was wounded ; upon that I went to examine

into it : Upon coming into the Parlour I examin-

ed tranter, and there I found two pieces of Balls

which were lodged in his Hand ; we extracted

the Balls ; I found a fmall Wound in his Wrift,

and a R azure on his Head ; that was a fmall

Wound which was on the Wrift, it feemed to be

from a Prick, fomething that had entered the

Skin. Then I went to Mr. Lutterell again, as he

was in a good State of Senfe ; I afk'd Mr. Lutte-

rell, Whether he had fired a Piftol ? I afked him

feveral Times, he denied it a firft, fecond, and

third Time, and he ui'ed this Expreffion, / call

God to Wilnefs, I neither fired a Piftol, nor drew

'my Sword, but was barbaroufly murdered. I was

there again when Mr. Peters gave him the Sacra-

ment, when he was afked the feme Queftion ; he

then anfwered, Lie neither did the one or the other.

In the Afternoon Mr. Keat and I went together,

he was then in a calm State, feemed reafonable,

and we afked him, Sir, you can give fome Account

cf this Matter, your Reafon and Judgment are

firon'g ; I have heard that you fetched down the

Piftols : He told me, lie had, but with no mali-

cious Defign, only he would not be forced out of his

Lodgings. I afk'd him, Ifthere was any Blow given :

He laid, they had given him abufive Language,

! ich induced him to ftrike one cf them ; upon that

faid, He had no Defign to do them any Harm, or

make any Rejiftance, but (faid ht) they kill'd me

cowardly and cruelly.

Reafon. After that he had declared to you that

he had no Defign to make any Refiftance, what

followed ?

Bonner. When I came out of the Room, fays

Mr. Gifford to me, Mr. Bonner, Mr. 'Tranter is

fhot in the Hand ; it is certain Mr. Lutterell fhot

him in the Hand ; therefore let us go back and

afk him •, we went and afk'd him both of us,

and he faid, No, as Godfhould judge him he did

not, nor had he any Defign of doing them any Harm,
but he did threaten them feveral times. He fpoke

inwardly and feem'd to be faint, and defired we
would leave him.

Reafon. Pleafe to take notice, that my Partner

is fhot in the Right Hand.
tranter. My Lord, I have loft the Ufe of my

Thumb.
Blake the Surgeon fworn.

Blake. My Lord, Mr. tranter was wounded in

the Thumb of the Right Hand, and in his Left

he had a Wound here in his Wrift, I did not

take the Ball out of his Hand, but I dreffed it.

L. C. Jusl. What was that Blow on his Head ?

what do you think it was done with ?

Mr. Blake. It feemed to be done with a Cane.

L. C Jusl. Was it a Wound or a Bruife ?

Mr. Blake. A Wound, the Skin was broke.

Mr. Reafon had a little Wound in one of his

Fingers, which feemed to be done with the Point

of a Sword.

Thomas Hargrove called again.

L. C. Jusl. Heark you, young Man, hear the

Queftion and confider well ; upon your former

Examination you fay, when Tranter knocked at

the Door you went down to let him in ; that

Tranter made up to the Dining-Room, and you

follow'd him -, you heard a little Buftle before you
came in, but the firft thing you few, when you
came, was Tranter running your Mafter againft

the Clofet Door, and Reafon pricking him with

a Sword : I afk you this Queftion, whether or

jno
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no, when you was going up Stairs after "Tranter,

before you enter'd the Room, you did not hear a

Blow ?

Tho. Hargrove. I heard a Blow, but did not

know who ftruck it.

Mr. J. Eyre. Did you fee to whom the Blow

was given ?

Hargrave. No, I faw nothing at all of it.

L. C. Jujt. The Reafon of my calling him
again, was to be fatisfied as to this Particular;

for the Coroner informs me, that before him, he

had fwore to the fame Effect ; he anfwered haftily

before, but I believe not with any Defign; he

faid he did not hear any Blow, his Meaning then

might be, tho' he did hear a Blow, yet not feeing

who gave it, therefore he thought it not material

;

I did not believe he did it with any Defign.

L. C. Jufl. Have you any other Witneffes ?

Reafon. My Lord, we had none but ourfelves,

we are Officers of the Court ; he affaulted us and

brought down his Piftols and ftuck them in his

Bofom.

L. C. Jujl. Did he not afterwards take them

out and lay them on the Table ?

Reafon. No, my Lord.

Tranter. While I was gone, I did not know
what happen'd, but when I came back, the Mi-
nute I enter'd the Room he ftruck me over the

Head with his Cane, and the Piftol went off,

and fhot me in the Hand.

The Clothes 'were produced, and by the Hole in

the Waiftcoat is appeared, that the Wound
given by the Piftol under the Right Pap could

710 way happen by any Po/ition of the Piftols in

the Bofom of the Deceafedy by the Piftol going

off °f itfelf.

Reafon. My Lord, we are Officers of the

Court, and what we did was for our own Se-

curity.

L. C. Juft. What fays Tranter ?

Tranter. My Lord, we have no more to fay ?

Mr. Reeve. My Lord, I beg leave to obferve

a Few Things by way of Reply. They have en-

deavour'd to differ the Cafe with refpect to three

Particulars ; the firft Particular is with relation

to the Blow given by Mr. Lutterell; they fay

Mr. Lutterell himfelf being prefs'd very much,
did own that he had given one of the Bailiffs a
Blow on the Head; there appears Reafon to think

that to be true, becaufe the Surgeon fays he drefs'd

him of a Wound received by a Blow with a Cane

;

we fubmit it, whether that is a fufficient Juftifi-

cation of the Officers for what followed, to kill

Mr. Lutterell in this manner, fuppofing it to be
true. What the Boy fays, he faw afterwards,

immediately upon his coming into the Room, in

an inftant, as foon as he heard the Blow, he
found Mr. Tranter running him up againft the

Wainfcot, and the other Bailiff ftabbing him,
hefwears Mr. Lutterell had then no Sword or

Stick in his Hand, fo that whether or no after

the Bailiff had received a BJow on his Head,
it will be a"Juftification fufficient for the Bailiffs

to murder him ? Another Part of the Evidence is

in relation to the bringing down of the Piftols

;

I beg leave to obferve, my Lord, he did confefs

that the Piftols were brought down, but not with
an Intention to do them any Prejudice i that he

laid them on the Table ; they don't pretend

Mr. Lutterell fired either of them^ but in the

Struggle, the Piftols were in his Breaft, and there

they went off of themfelves. One Wounded the

Prifoner, the other went into his own Bread. As
to what is faid with relation to the Intention of
Mr. Lutterell he did own he did threaten them :

If he did, yet he had not Power over the Piftols,

one was on the Table, and the other was in the

Window, and they fay the Piftols were not fired

by any of them: OurWitnefs the Maid-Servant,

juft a little before the Piftols were fired off, faw
Mr. Lutterell on the Ground upon his Back, and
his Hands lifted up, and them ftabbing him, and
this before any one of the Piftols went off; there

is another Witnefs fwears exprefsly, fhe faw a

fat Man take a Piftol out of the Window, and
fire it towards the Chimney : Mr. Lutterell was
not a fat Man, fo it muft be fomebody elfe that

fired the Piftol, and not Mr. Lutterell, in all pro-

bability. It was Mr. Reafon, as to the Evidence
given in relation to the Cloaths, becaufe here is a
Hole in the Waiftcoat, the Piftol that was in his

Breaft muft go off of itfelf, and make that Hole.
It can be no fuch Thing, the Jury have feen the

Cloaths, and where the Wound is given, and in

what Pofition Mr. Reafon himfelf hath attempted

to place the Piftols, and it is impoffible the Piftols

fhould go off, and give that mortal Wound.
We fubmit it to your Lordfhip's Difcretion upon
the whole, whether it is a fufficient Juftification,

though they are Officers of Juftice, and ought
to be protected, yet fuppofe fuch a Misbehaviour,

where there is no Neceffity for it, they are not to

be juftified.

L. C. Juft. There will be two Points in Law,
the one is whether the Officers are to be juftified

in what they have done ; if they have done no-

thing, but what was proper to fecure their Pri-

foner, and their own Lives when they were af-

faulted, they are not guilty of Felony ; and if

they are guilty of Felony, then of what Degree,

whether of Murder or Manjlaughter.

Mr. Reeve. My Lord, we muft fubmit it

whether a Man ftriking another over the Head be

a Juftification for him immediately to kill him,

and take it with this Circumftance, that they had
given him ill Language.

L. C. Juft. Is ill Language a Juftification for

Blows ? Befides you will confider, whether there

was not ill Language on the other Side.

Mr. Hungerford.. My Lord, I won't take up
much of your Lordfhip's Time, if your Lord-
fhip will fpare me a Word or two. Here is a

Man's Life taken away by two Perfons, that had

a Precept from a Court of Juftice to arreft, the

only thing they had to do, was to fecure the

Perfon, to make him anfwerable to Juftice, whe-
ther that could not be done without this Outrage ?

Whether Officers of Juftice may execute their

Procefs with fb much Cruelty ? It amounts to as

great premeditated Malice as can be conceived.

There is a Malice contained in Cruelty, I need

not mention the Matter ; it hath been fully laid

before you ; I fhall only mention a Precedent or

two; one is that of* Hollo-way's Cafe : There was

fomething of a Provocation, but the Judge there

in that Cafe did enter into the Fact, whether the

Provocation was fufficient to juftify the killing of

the Boy. ~ The Boy was ftealing Wood in his

* Crokt Charles, 1 31.
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Park, and had a Rope about his Middle, and as

he was up in a Tree, he bid him come down out

of the Tree, and he took hold of the Rope and

dra^'d him fo, that he was killed, and this was

notl Efficient Provocation. Another Cafe is

that of Mawgridge b
, it is reported by my Lord

Chief Juftice Holt, there was a Provocation ; Cope

had defired Mawgridge to go out of the Room,

and then turned him out of the Room ; and there

the turning him out of the Room was not a fuffi-

cient Provocation, and it is a very juft Obferva-

tion of my Lord Chief Juftice Holt; when Cales

are attended with fo much Cruelty and Barbarity

(as appears to be here, here are nine Wounds,

eight befides that with the Piftol on the fame

Perlbn, and certainly two lufty Men as the Pri-

lbners at the Bar are, might have made him an-

fwerable to Juftice, without any fuch barbarous

Treatment.) The Obfervation my Lord Chief

Juftice Holt made is, that the Law fhould be fo

conftrued. As to the Bufinefs of the Cloaths, it

ieems to be abfurd, that the Piftol went off, and

made that Wound on the Right Side ; by no Po-

fition he could put the Piftols in, could their go-

ing off make that Wound.

Mr. Strange. My Lord, I would only obferve

two or three Things. If Mr. Lutterell at the time

they afiauked him with a Sword, had held his

Piftols in his Hand, and their own Lives had

been in danger, the Cafe had been different : but

when he had put the Piftols out of his Hand, and

they were between him and the Piftols, fo that it

was impoffible for him to do them any fuch Harm
(for I do admit if it was in Mr. Lutterell's Power

at that Time, and he had Ihew'd an Intention,

that if they did not fall him, he would kill them,

that might be lomething of a Juftification) they

are the lefs excufable in doing what they did. As
to the Circumftance of the Piftols firing of them-

felves, as they were in Mr. Lutterell's Bofom,

and fo giving this Wound, it feems to be impof-

fible it fhould be fo, and that this muft be a

Wound given by a Piftol levelled directly at him.

L. C. Juft. I think you mentioned the Cafe

that is in Keilyng, and if you have read that Cafe

lately, you will remember, there a Blow is a

Provocation, and if a Blow be firft given, it will

not be Murder, tho' Death do enfue upon it.

L. C. Juft. Gentlemen of the Jury, the Pri-

foners at the Bar, Hugh Reafon and Robert Tranter,

are charged by the Coroner's Inqueft, and by an
Indictment, with the Murder of Mr. Lutterell;

they fay they are not guilty of this Murder, and
whether they are guilty or not is your Bufinefs to

enquire, and receive Satisfaction in. In order to

prove them guilty, they have called feveral Wit-
neffes for the King. The firft is Thomas Hargrave
who it feems was a Servant to Mr. Lutterell; he
tells you, that upon Tuefday, but he doth not re-

member the Month, or the Day of the Month,
but it comes out from the other Witneffes, that

it was the 17th Day of Oclober, he fays his Mafter
was going down to the Water-fide in order to
take Boat, for it feems he lodged in Surry-Street,

and he fays a little Man ran after him, and clapp'd
him on the Back. He did not then know him,
but now fays his Name is Tranter; on that his
Mafter told him, he would pay the Money. He
did differ in the Evidence he gave, at firft he did
not remember, that he defired them to go to his

Lodging, but he defired them to go with him

to Weftminfter. But the Officers thought, that

was not reafonable ; then afterwards he lays, that

with much Perfuafion he prevailed with them

to carry him back to his Lodging : and that his

Officers did carry him back to his own Lodging;

he fays his Mafter went up Stairs, he followed

after; when he came up Stairs his Mafter de-

manded of the Officer, that was with him, the

fat Man, which is Reafon (for Tranter was gone

to get a Bill of Cofts from the Attorney) he de-

manded of the Officer his Warrant ; the Officer

did fhew him his Warrant ; he laid, he took the

Warrant in his Hand, and afterwards threw it on

the Ground, ufing a very indecent Expreffion, he

jhould take it and wipe his Back-fide with it. He
tells you while he was there fomebody knock'd

at the Door, with that he went down to open the

Door, and he fays he let in tfranter, and he ran

up to the Dining-Room, and he followed him.

Now he fays on his fecond Examination, before

he came into the Dining-Room, he did hear the

Noife of a Blow given •, formerly the Lad giving

his Evidence haftily, and not fo well confidering,

he faid he did not hear any Blow given, but on

his fecond Examination, he doth lay he heard a

Blow given before he came into the Dining-Room.

He fays when he came into the Dining-Room
Tranter had got hold of Mr. Lutterell, and was

running of him againft the Wainfcot, and that

Keafon had his Sword drawn and was ftriking at

him with his Sword ; and he fays, as he was pre-

paring himlelf to make another Thruft, he took

hold of his Sword-Arm, and prevented that, and

Reafon with fome Paffion faid, Damn you, get you

out of the Room, or elfe you fhall die before your

Mafter. With that the Boy went out of the

Room, and went down Stairs and cried out Fire

and Murder, in order to alarm the Neighbour-

hood, he tells you while he was there he heard a

Piftol go off, and before he could get up Stairs

he heard another Piftol go off, this is the Evi-

dence given by Hargrave. They have called an-

other Witnefs, Hefter Gerrard; fhe fays fhe heard

her Mafter go out in the Morning, and in a little

time after fhe heard him return again, and there

came with him Reafon, one of the Prifoners at

the Bar. Obferving this, that her Mafter came
in fo fliort a Time after he went out, fhe had the

Curiofity to hearken what the Meaning or Occa-
fion of her Mailer's returning fo foon was ; fhe

fays, fhe heard her Mafter talking of an Arreft,

and he feem'd to be in a Paffion with the Bailiff,

that was with him, and faid he had not ufed him
well, but fhould have given him notice befqre he
arretted him in the Street ; fhe fays fhe withdrew
afterwards into her Miftrefs's Bed-Chamber, which
was near the Room where they were, and in a

little time fhe heard her Mafter go up Stairs,

and in a fhort time after return again ; with that

fhe had the Curiofity to go in, and fee what was
the Matter •, her Miftrefs being big with Child
fhe was therefore more curious than ordinary to

prevent the Misfortune falling on her Miftrefs

;

fhe found her Mafter with two Piftols in his

Hand, he fluck one of the Piftols on one Side,

and the other on the other Side in his Coat ; fhe

fays fhe admonifh'd her Mafter, and defired

him to confider the Condition of her Miftrefs,

and not to do any thing to fright her ; upon that

Keilyngs Reports, 1 19.
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he faid the Bailiffs had affronted him, and abufed

him, and called him Minter, however he did not

defign to do them any harm with the Piftols,

and her Mafter at her Defire laid down the Piftols

on the Table; with that fhe went out of the

Room ; but foon after hearing a great Noife fhe

came into the Room again, and found her Mafter

on his Back on the Floor, and the Bailiffs (tabbing

him : She fays fhe went out with an Intent to give

notice of it to the Neighbourhood, and that fhe

cried out Murder ; that while fhe was doing this,

fhe heard one Piftol go off, and prefently after

another ; but before either went off, fhe faw her

Mafter lying upon his Back, and the Prifoner at

the Bar (pointing at him) ftabbing him. Then

they call Thomas Waters, a Waterman, he was

ftanding by the Water-fide, and feeing Mr. Lut-

ttrell coming down, who was one that ufually

employ'd him, he expected a Fare from him,

and that he fhould carry him, as he ufually did ;

he faw Mr. Lutterell make back again and go

into his own Lodging; but ftill he faid he expecled

his Mafter to come down, and go by Water;

but he not coming in fo fhort time as he ex-

pecled, he made towards his Lodging, and as he

came near he heard the Boy cry, Fire and Murder:

He went up into the Room, where he found

Mr. Lutterell lying in the Room wounded all in

Blood. The next Witnefs is Mr. Peters, who is

a Reverend Divine, and came to do his Office

and Duty on this melancholly occafion ; he hear-

ing Mr. Lutterell was wounded, and in danger of

dying, came to him to perform his Office on that

Occafion : He fays, that he requefted and admo-

nifhed him to tell him, if he was not acceflary

to his own Misfortune, and that it may be, if it

was not difcovered whilft he was living, it might

be the Occafion of an innocent Perfon's Suffering.

When he admonifhed him to tell the Truth, he

did with the mod folemn Affeveration, as he was

to anfwer at the dreadful Day of Judgment, fay,

That he was barbaroujly murder'd; but did not you

give any Provocation or Occafion for it ? No, I
gave none. With that, fays he, I told him I un-

derftood one of the Bailiffs was wounded with a

Piftol ; did not youdifcharge either of the Piftols?

No, upon the Word of a dying Man, and as he was

to anfwer it to Almighty God, he never difcharged

tither of the Piftols, nor did he run his Sword at

them, drew his Sword at them, or give them any

Provocation, The Minifter fays, he advifed him
to be very ferious and examined him as to the

Fact, and faid it would be of very dangerous

Confequence, if he fhould die with any Faliity in

a Cafe of this Nature, and it would draw prcfent

Ruin on innocent Perfons ; he faid, He never drew
his Sword, nor difcharged either of the Piftols, but

was barbaroujly murder'd. Mr. Peters then went
away, and a little time after came again, when
Mr. Vernon and Mr. Haynes, two Juitices of the

Peace, came to take an Examination from Mr.
Lutterell himlelf ; he fays he was prefent at that

Time, that becaufe they had no Clerk with them,
he was defired to take an Account in Writing of
what was faid ; he prefs'd him as formerly, and
having taken an Account in Writing, that ought
to be produced, but it is not produced, and
therefore no regard is to be had to it, for a Per-

fon is to give the beft Evidence the Thing is ca-

pable of, efpecially where a Perfon's Life is con-

cerned, and he of his own fhewing, fays it was
Vol. VI.

taken in Writing, and that Writing is not pro-

duced, and no Account is given that they are

difabled to produce it, but the Juftice of che

Peace that hath it is out of the Way, and it doth

not appear, that proper Endeavours have been

taken to have him here, that this Examination

might appear more perfect than the former.

He tells you afterwards he came to him a third

Time, and the End of his coming a third Time
was to admonifh him with refpecl to his Fate in

the other World, and at that Time he defired to

take the Sacrament ; he told him what was ne--

ceffary, that he might take the Sacrament wor-

thily, and that it was proper above all Things

that he fhould difchame himfelf and his Cor^

fcience, and give a true Account of what hap-

pen'd on this melancholly Occafion, that fo no

innocent Perfon might fuffer. He ftill infilled,

That he was barbaroujly murdefd, and faid, that

every Article of what he had faid was true. Fie

faid to him further, before you receive the Holy
Sacrament, and as you are going before God,
and there hope to have Rcmiflion of your Sins,

it is neceffary for you to forgive even your Ene-

mies ; and with that fays he, he told me, He did

heartily forgive all the World, and did forgive the

Perfons that had been guilty of this Indifcretion, and

hoped God Almighty vjouldforgive them : He gives

it a foft Term there, their Indifcretion. Indeed

I fhould have been very glad if the Examination

that was reduced into Writing was here, "that it

might be laid before you. Mr. Peters is a very

worthy Perfon, there is no Reafon to doubt, but

he fwears upon his Memory ; and when a Man
fwears upon his Memory, he may miftake," and

the Miftake of a few Words may alter the Senfe ;

therefore it was very proper • to have had the Ex-

amination here ; that might poffibly have cor-

rected his Memory ; and tho' he hath fhew'd him-

felf a Man of great Probity and Worth, yet he

might be miftaken in fbme Particular ; and it

feems ftrange, that of two Juftices of Peace the

one appears, and the other, Mr. Vernon, with

whom the Examination is left, doth not appear,

nor any Endeavours ufed to have him here ; and

therefore it muft be taken as an Objection, not

as to his veracity, but that the Profecutor hath

not produced the Evidence that is proper, and

only relies on the Memory of the WitnefTes, and

this feems to affect the Evidence that is given

by Mr. Peters. They have called another Wit-

nefs, whom they called at laft after they had

clofed their Evidence ; fhe lived in an Houie- over

againft Mr. Lutterell'*, Lodgings ; fhe was in a

Chamber two Pair of Stairs, and fhe faw a lufty

fat Man come to the Window, take up a Piftol,

and as fhe thought difcharged the Piftol ; and fhe

law no other Perfon but this Man, and therefore

concluded the fat Man fired the Piftol : This is

the Evidence given for the King. The Prifoners

are afked what they have to fay for themfelves,

in anfwer to this Charge, which feems to be a

weighty one given againft them : They tell you

they are Minifters of Juftice, and they give you

an Account not only by their own opening, but

by the Evidence they have produced, in what

manner they behaved themfelves ; that upon the

firft Arreft, at the Requeft of the Prifoner that

then was, they fubmitted to carry him back to

his own Lodging : I muft confefs this doth feem

to make fbme lmpreflion, it is what Bailiffs are

E e not



2io 191. The Trial of Reafon and Tranter Hil. 8 G. I.

not bound to do, they are ufually rough, and not

eafy to be intreated, unlets well paid for it; this

fhews, that thefe Men went beyond the Bounds

of their own Duty, for when they had arrefted

him, they ought to have fecured him by carrying

him to Jail, or fome Place of Safety ; it was in-

cumbent on them to give him an Opportunity of

paying the Money, or fending for Bail, in Cafe

he defired to be difcharged that Way ; but when

a Bailiff hath arrefted a Man, to carry him back

to his own Lodging, is an unufual way of treat-

ing Prifoners and ought not to have been; but

ftill it is not to be imputed to the Bailiffs, as an

Aggravation in the Charge, they were too fa-

vourable in trufting him in his own Lodging.

What is next ? When they had him there, Tranter

is fent for the Attorney's Bill, this is pretty ex-

traordinary when they had taken him, not only

to give him Leave to go to his own Lodgings,

but one of them goes upon an Errand, which Mr.

Lutterell might have fent his own Servant upon,

and leaves none but Reafon ; this was extreme ci-

vil Ufage, and not often done by Men of their

Character ; what then ? Lutterell goes up Stairs,

what did Reafon then do ? When he had carried

him to his own Lodging and fent his Partner

away, he gives him leave to go into another

Chamber ; this doth not feem to be ill Treatment

of the Deceafed, but fhews exceffive Favour to

their Prifoner, which they could not in Striftnefs

juftify : He went up Stairs and returned again,

and the Maid Servant of Mr. Lutterell tells you,

flie faw him with a Cafe of Piftols, one ftuck on

one Side of his Coat, and the other on t'other;

if their Treatment was fo extraordinary and civil,

this feems to be an -untoward return of Mr. Lut-

tereWs, when he was trufted to go out of the

Room, for to Return with a Cafe of Piftols; but

the Maid-Servant fays, he faid, He had no Malice

towards them, and would not hurt a Hair of their

Heads, he only brought down the Piftols that he

might not be impofed upon. I don't know what he

meant, when he was in Cuftody of the Officers,

and had been fo civilly ufed, to bring down a

Cafe of Piftols to prevent his being ill ufed, feems

an untoward Return, and to affright the Officers,

that they might not carry him away. This is

not all, Mr. Gifford fays, that he being a Sur-

geon was call'd to give his Affiftance on this

very unhappy Accident ; he gives an Account of

the Wounds, and the Difcourfe that pafs'd on that

Occafion, and uppn what he had done, and how
•the Bailiffs had treated him. Says he, I confefs,

although he fays he had examined, and afked him
feveral Times before, and that he refuted to give

any Account then, but did perfifl in it, that he
did not give any Provocation, but at laft. when
Mr. Gifford repeated it with fbme Earneftnefs,

out it comes at laft, That he did give one of the

Bailiffs a Stroke on his Head with a Stick. He goes

on, and afk*d him the Intent of bringing down
the Piftols ; he fays, 1 did not dejign any Harm ; I
have no Malice, but brought them down, that 1
might not be ill ufed: This was ill Behaviour,

where he had been treated civilly, to declare

that he brought down his Piftols, that he
might not be ill ufed: It was the Duty of the

Bailiffs to carry him off, and he brought down
his Piftols to prevent that ; as to the Blow, fay

the Bailiffs, the Affault begun on his Side; the

young Man hath told you he heard a Blow given :

Mr. Lutterell declared, he brought down the
Piftols to prevent their carrying him off, and that

he did give one of the Bailiffs a Blow with a Cane -,

it is furprizing, that immediately when Tranter
came back he fhould run him againft the

Wainfcot, and the other affault him with a Sword;
this Behaviour is not of a Piece with the other,

that Tranter fhould come back, and without any
Provocation run him againft the Wall, and
Reafon fhould take his Sword and ftab him :

There muft be a Provocation ; the Boy fays there
was a Blow given, but he can't tell who gave it.

Mr. Lutterell declares he gave a Blow, and ano-
ther Surgeon confirms it ; lb that it appears be-
yond Contradiction, by the Evidence, that the
Piftols were brought down with a Defign to pre-
vent his being carried off, and that he did give
one of the Bailiffs a Blow with a Stick : Then
Mr. Bonner hath given you an Account of fe-

veral Matters, but that which is material is, that
he did not diicharge any of his Piftols, or draw
his Sword ; that he did not intend it, but did
threaten it feveral Times. One Blake, who v/as

another Witnefs, fays, that upon Examination
afterwards there appeared, that there had been a
Blow on the Head of Tranter. This is the Na-
ture of the Evidence given on the Side of the Pri-

foners. Upon the whole Matter, I think it is

plain beyond Contradiction, that the Prifoners at

the Bar did kill Mr. Lutterell. It is plain that

firft of all, when Tranter had him againft the

Wall, that Reafon ftabb'd him, and when lying
upon the Floor, that Reafon ftabb'd him; and
it appears afterwards by the Evidence of the Wit-
nefs, who fays fhe faw the fat Man take up the
Piftol and difcharge it, that Reafon fhot off the
Piftol ; fo that I think there can be no doubt at

all, but the Prifoners at the Bar did give thefe.

Wounds, of which he died. The Surgeons give
an Account, and I think there are fome eight or
nine Wounds with a Sword, one of them only
mortal ; a Wound with a Bullet that is mortal

;

feveral other Wounds he fpeaks of, that are but
flight. Then the Queftion will be, whether upon
this Evidence the Defendants are guilty of Felony,
and if guilty, then in what Degree, whether of
Murder or Man/laughter. Gentlemen, it hath
been opened truly, that the Bailiffs are Minifters

of Juftice ; they are arm'd with the Authority
of Law, and thofe, who refift a Bailiff in the

Execution of his Office, refift the Law. They
are not bound to give way and let their Prifoner

Efcape, but they being to execute their Warrant,
if in doing what is neceffary for this purpofe, for

obtaining their Prifoner, and the Security of their

own Perlons, Death doth enfue, the Bailiffs having
the Authority of the Law on their fide, it is not
fo much as Felony ; and it is very neceffary it

Ihould be fo, for without it all our Properties

would be precarious. When any Man offers an
Injury to another, there is no Remedy but by
bringing an Aft ion at Law, and in order to bring

the Peribn to do Juftice a proper Officer mult
be imployed; and therefore it is highly reafon-

able that Bailiffs fhould have an Authority to

carry off the Perfons they have arrefted, and if

in doing of it Death enfues, the Party muft thank

himfelf. That being the Queftion, I would re-

commend to your Confideration thefe Circum-
ftances ; it appears in the beginning, that the

Bailiffs treated Mr. Lutterell with all Civility,

gave
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gave him leave to go to his Lodging; one of to apprehend the Prifoner's being, refcued ; if you

them fends his Companion away, and gives him believe that, then the Prifoners will be guilty of

leave to go up Stairs; butaltho' they did do that, Felony : But if you believe there was juft ccca-

that will not juftify them for being guilty of any fion for the Prifoners to be. apprehenfive they

Barbarity, without any juft: occafion offer'd ;
were in danger of their Lives, and of lofing their

therefore you are to confider what happen'd after- Prifoner, then whatever is done in their own De-
wards: It appears Mr. Lutterell brought down fence to fecure their Prifoner, and their own
the Piftols, he did do this to prevent his being Lives, it will not be Felony. I muft confefs it

carried off; that is, to prevent the Bailiffs from looks barbarous to think, that when a Man was

carrying him from his Lodgings, which was their in his Blood on the Ground, they fhould follow

Duty to do in cafe the Money was not paid, or their Blows, giving him more Wounds ; this is

Bail given in; and if fo, this is good introducto- carrying the thing a great- way, and it looks like

ry Evidence to that, which they offer to prove, fome Barbarity. But if Mr. Lutterell gave the

namely, that he endeavour'd to refcue himfelf

:

firft occafion, whatever happened after,_ if done

He fays, he did not difcharge either of the Piftols, for the Security of their own Lives, and- of their

or draw his Sword upon them ; that he did not Prifoner, won't make them guilty of Felony ;

intend to do any Mifchief, but he threaten'd them; but fuppofe you fhould be of Opinion that the

then fee how this is when taken together : Here Bailiffs have done more than they fhould, then

is Mr. Lutterell under an Arreft, fetches down the next thing to confider is, in what degree they

his Piftols with an Intent to prevent his being are guilty : It appears a Blow was given, and 'that

carried off; I doubt his threatening muft have re- by the Boy before he came <upt Stairs; it appears

ference, that he threaten'd to difcharge his Piftols, by Mr. Lutterell that he gave the Blow ; Gentle--

or draw his Sword upon them; then when his men, I don't know, Men of Honour are not to

Piftols are brought down with that intent, when juftify themfclves by faying,: faucy, Language is

he threatens what Ufe he would make of his Piftols given them, and therefore I am, to be my .own

or Sword, what is done afterwards ? Mr. Lutterell Avenger ; Mr. Lutterell gave one of them a Blow
gives one of the Bailiffs a Blow with his Cane ; it is over the Head, afterwards the reft fell out as you

proved undeniably that there was a Blow given, have heard.

that is proved by the Boy, that the Blow was given The Queftion is, whether it be Murder; it

by Mr . Lutterell ; that appears by what he own'd muft be done malicioufly, and without Provoca-

himfelf. Then confider, here are Piftols brought tion, or elfe it is not Murder : Blows have al-

down with a Defign to make Oppofition ; that he ways been allow'd to be Provocations, and here

threatened them, and not only ib, but gave one of this is accompanied with fetching down the Piftols,

them a Blow with his Cane ; what is the Confe- threatening the Bailiffs what he would do, and
quence; Tranter runs him againft the Wall, and afterwards giving one of them a Blow ; and if

Reafon ftabs him : If this were all that was in the fo, the Defendants will not be, guilty of Murder,

cafe, when Piftols are brought down, and Threat- but only of Manjlaughter : Firft, you are to affert

enings ufed, and a Blow given, thr Officers are not a juft and true Authority of the. Baihfis ; on the

to ftand ftill till they are murdered, nor could they other fide you muft not encourage the -Bailiffs on
tell what Mr Lutterell's Intention was: As he had a few angry Words immediately to fall into a

made an Appearance of Refiftance, and had made Paffion, and take away the Life of a Man. Here
an AfTault, you are to confider whether this was not it appears, that a Blow was given under unto-

a neceffary Defence of the Officers to fecure their ward Circumftances, after the Bailiffs had been

Prifoner. It is of no weight what Mr. Lutterell threatned with a Defign to prevent his being car-

faid, that he intended to do them no harm ; if he ried off by them ; and if it be fo, the moft you
made an appearance of Refiftance, and actually make of it will be Manjlaughter.

aflaulted them, the Queftion is, whether the They did behave themfelves civilly at firft,

Bailiffs, in this cafe, are not juftified in what they fhew'd him their Warrant, which he threw down
have done ; you will confider their Circumftances. and bid them wipe their back-fide with it ; that is

The Maid tells you, when the Piftols were brought a Matter which if this Gentleman had not fuffer-

down, at her Perfuafion her Matter laid them on ed in the manner he hath done, muft have been
the Table ; fo one would think that was an Indi- refented in its place ; then two or three times they

cation that no ill ufe was intended to be made of are called Rogues and Rafcals, and that might
them : It doth not appear whether one or both provoke the Bailiffs : I think this unhappy Bufi-

were in the reach of Mr. Lutterell. Then it ap- nets was occafioned by too great a Lenity of the

pears, that notwithftanding the running him againft Bailiffs in carrying back their Prifoner to his own
the Wall, he had in fome meafure refcued him- Lodging ; that was not well done of them. How-
felf from that Force, and there was a ftruggling, ever I muft leave it to your Confideration,- whe-
and throwing down, which fhews this Man was ther or no they are guilty of Felony ; and if they
not fo in the power of the Bailiffs, fo as they be guilty of Felony, then in what degree, whe-
could be fecure of preferving their Prifoner, or ther of Murder or Manjlaughter. I forgot one
their own Lives. It muft be left to your Confi- thing, the Surgeon did fwear that one of the

deration, whether there was any Defign of Mr. Bailiffs had a Wound in his Hand by a Bullet,

Lutterell to refcue himfelf ; but if you think they each of them had a Wound, tho' it doth not ap-
had a juft Provocation, and they had Reafon to pear how ; all this is likewife to be confider 'd :

be apprehenfive of lofing their Prifoner, the Law you will confider the whole, and give your Ver-
does allow them to do what is neceffary for their diet accordingly.
own Security, and the Security of their Prifoner. Reafon, as hath been proved, faid, he hoped
This is what I recommend to your Consideration, he would give him Civility Money ; he faid he
whether or no it appears to you that this was would give nothing to fuch Rogues as they were,
done out of Heat, and out of a Paffion by the for they had given him no Notice, but had ar-

Bailiffs, when there was no juft Caufe for them refted him in the Street; that is the great Ground
E e 2 of
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of Complaint* and at that the Offence is taken

;

Upon this the Jury withdrew, and after ftay-

they did not give him due Notice, therefore it ing out about an Hour, brought them both in

was not civilly done, which if they had done, Guilty of Man/laughter : Upon which they prayed

and it had come before us, we mould have punifh- the Benefit of the Clergy, and were immediately

ed with great Severity. burnt in the Hand.

: .

CXCII. The Trial of John Woodburne and Arundel

Coke, Efq; at Suffolk Affixes for Felony, in wilfully

flitting the Nofe of Edward Crifpe, Gent. March 1 3,

1721, 8 Geo, L

IN Tuefday the 13th of March 1721,

at the Affizes held at Bury St. Ed-

monds in the County of Suffolk, John

Woodburne and Arundel Coke were ar-

raigned upon an Indictment found

by the Grand-Jury : And the Court proceeded

thus.

Clerk of the Arraignments, John Woodburne, hold

up thy Hand; Arundel Coke alias Cooke, hold

up thy Hand ; which they feverally did.

You Hand indicted by the Names of John Wood-

burne, late of the Borough of Bury St. Edmonds

in the County of Suffolk, Labourer ; and Arundel

Coke alias Cooke, of the Borough aforefaid, Efq;

for that you, after the twenty fourth Day of June,

in the Year of Our Lord one thoufand fix hun-

dred and feventy one, viz. the firft Day of Ja-

nuary in the Eigth Year of our Sovereign Lord

George, of Great Britain, &c. intending one Ed-

ward Crifpe, Gent, then and yet being a Subject

of our faid Sovereign Lord the King, to maim
and disfigure at the Borough aforefaid, in the

County aforefaid, by Force and Arms, &c. in

and upon the faid Edward Crifpe, in the Peace of

God, and of our faid Sovereign Lord the King,

then and there being, on purpofe, and or Malice

fore-thought, and by lying in wait, did unlaw-

fully and felonioufly make an AfTault. And that

you the faid John Woodburne with a certain Bill

value a Penny, which you the faid John then had

and held in your right Hand, the Nofe of the

faid Edward Crifpe, on Purpofe, and of your Ma-
lice fore-thought, and by lying in wait, did then

and there unlawfully and felonioufly flit, with an

Intent by fo doing, the faid Edward Crifpe to

maim and disfigure. And that you the faid Arun-
del Coke, at the time of the Felony aforefaid, by
the faid John Woodburne in manner aforefaid, un-

lawfully and felonioufly done and committed, to

wit, the faid firft Day of January, in the eighth

Year aforefaid, at the Borough aforefaid, in the

County aforefaid, on Purpofe, and of your Ma-
lice fore-thought, and by lying in wait, unlaw-

fully and felonioufly was prefent, aiding and abet-

ing the faid John Woodburne the Felony aforefaid,

in manner aforefaid, felonioufly to commit and
do. And fo the Jury aforefaid, upon their Oaths
fay, that you the faid John Woodburne and Arun-
del Coke, the faid firft Day of January, in the

eighth Year aforefaid, at the Borough aforefaid^

in the County aforefaid, by Force and Arms, &c.
on Purpofe, and of your Malice fore-thought,

and by lying in wait, the Felony aforefaid, in

manner aforefaid, did, and each of you did, Com-
mit, and do againft the Peace of our Sovereign

Lord the King, his Crown and Dignities, and

alfo againft the Form of the Statute in that Cafe

made and provided. [Vid. A true Copy of the In-

diclment itfelf in Latin, at the end of this Volume
^\

Clerk of the Arraigns. How fay'ft thou, John
Woodburne ; art thou guilty of the Felony where-

of thou ftand'ft Indicted, or not Guilty?

Prifoner. Not Guilty.

CI. Arr. Culprit. How wilt thou be tried ?

Prifoner. By God and my Country.

CI. Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

How fay'ft thou Arundel Coke alias Cooke, art thou

guilty of the Felony whereof thou ftand'ft In-

dicted, or not Guilty ?

Prifoner. Not Guilty.

CI. Arr. Culprit. How wilt thou be try'd

;

Prifoner. By God and my Country.

CI. Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance;

You John Woodburne, and Arundel Coke alias Cooke

the Prifoners at the Bar, hearken to what is faid

to you. Thofe good Men that are now called

and do here appear, are thofe that are to pafs be-

tween our Sovereign Lord the King and you,

upon your feveral Lives or Deaths ; if therefore

you or either of you will challenge them or any

of them, you muft challenge them as they come
to the Bcok to be fworn, before they are fworn,

and you fhall be heard.

Cl. Arr. Cryer, give the

'Thomas Buckingham,

Nicholas Alger,

Ambrofe Gallant,

George Goddard,

Robert Gall,

William Scott,

Book to

George Crofs,

Samuel Bridge,

Jonathan Clements,

Thomas Taylor,

Simon Reeve,

William May,

Cl. Arr. Count thefe.

Cryer. Are you all fworn Gentlemen ?

Jury Yes.

Cl. Arr. Make a Proclamation.

Cryer. O Yes, If any of you can inform my
Lord the King's Juftice, the King's Attorney of

Sollicitor General, of any Treafon, Murder, Fe-

lony, or other M'ifdemeanour committed by the

Prifoners at the Bar, or either of them, come
forth, and you fhall be heard , for the Prifoners

at the Bar now Hand upon their Deliverance : And
all Peribns bound by Recognizance to profecute

them, or either of them, come forth and pro-

fecute, or you'll forfeit your Recognizances.

Cl. Arr.
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CI. Arr. John Woodburne, and Arundel Coke

alias Cooke, hold up your Hands. Gentlemen of

the Jury, look upon the Prifoners, and hearken

to their Charge : They Hand indicted by the

Names of John Woodburne, late of the Borough

of Bury St. Edmonds, in the County of Suffolk;

Labourer, and Arundel Coke alias Cooke, of the

Borough aforefaid, Efq-, for that they (as in the

Indictment before-mentioned) upon which Indict-

ment they have been arraigned, and pleaded fe-

derally Not Guilty : Your Charge is to enquire

whether they, or either of them, are Guilty of

the Felony whereof they ftand indicted, or Not
Guilty.

Mr. Lee. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and

you Gentlemen of the Jury, I am of Council

for the King againft the Prifoners at the Bar, who
are indicted for Felony on the 2 z° and 23° Car. II.

en titled j An Aft to prevent malicious Maiming and

Wounding. And the Indictment fets forth, that

the Prifoners, the firft Day of January, in the

eighth Year of his prefent Majefty, at Bury St:

Edmonds in this County, did on Purpofe, and of

Malice fore-thought, and by lying in wait, make

an Aflault. unlawfully and felonioufly upon Ed-

ward Crifpe, Gent, and that the Prifoher John

Woodburne with a Bill which he then had in his

Right Hand, did on Purpofe, of Malice fore-

thought, and by lying in wait, flit the Nofe of

the laid Edward Crifpe, with an Intent in fo do-

ing to disfigure the faid Edward Crifpe ; and that

the Prifoner Arundel Coke at the Time of com-

mitting the faid Felony, on Purpofe, and of his

Malice fore-thought* and by lying in wait, was

unlawfully and felonioufly prefent, aiding and

abetting the faid John Woodburne to commit the

faid Felony : All which is laid to be done con-

trary to the Form of the Statute. If we who are

Counfel for the King prove this Matter, you will

find them Guilty.

Serj. Selby. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and

you Gentlemen of the Jury, I am Counlel } pro

hac Vice, for the King againft the Prifoners at the

Bar, who ftand indicted upon the Statute of the

22 of King Charles II. the one for malicioufly

maiming and disOguring of Edward Crifpe, the

other for abetting that Fact, which by that Act
is made one and the fame Offence % I faid, Gen-
tlemen, I was Counfel for the King, for that his

Majefty, as the Father of his People, and for

their Safety, out of his natural Goodnefs, hath

been gracioufly pleafed particularly to regard this

Profecution for fo horrid and bloody an Affaffina-

tion. And though, Gentlemen, 'tis difficult to

ftand in this Place without the greateft Tender-
nefs to our Fellow-Creatures, yet thefe, who
have diverted themfelves of all Humanity, now
ceafe to be fuch •, 'tis even Cruelty to the King's

People not to ftand up againft them fo far as is

confiftent with Law and Juftice. Their Profe-

cution is become the common Concern of Man-
kind j for fo long as thefe Prifoners have a Being
here, the Life of every Man is precarious, and
but at the Will of fo infernal a Contriver as the

one, and fo hellifh an Executioner as the other.

We fhall firft, Gentlemen, prove the Fact com-
mitted, and that by Mr. Crifpe himfelf, who by
a particular Providence hath furvived this horrid

Attempt, and is here to give Evidence of it, and
that he was invited with his Wife by Mr. Coke
(who married Mr. Crifpe's Sifter, and who was to

have Mr, Crifpe's. Eftate by his Deceale) to fup

13
at his Houfe ; that Mr. Coke propofed to him id

go after Supper to make a Vifit to Mrs. Monke
(whofe Name we mention without any the leaft

Imputation) to which Mr. Crifpe confented ; that

Mrs. Monke's Houfe opens into the Church-yard^

which is but crofs the Way from Mr. Coke's,

Houfe ; that Mr. Coke took Mr. Crifpe along with

him about ten or eleven at Night, it being dark
3

into the Church-yard, and walked him about

near Mrs. Monke's Door without going in, and
then making fome Noife or Whittling, a Perfon

came up to him and knocked him down, after

which he was not fenfible ; that being left for

dead* after fome Time he got up, and returned^

he did not know how, to Mr. Coke's Houfe,

where the Company received him with great Con-
fternation, as did Mr. Coke himlelf, who foon re-

turned after walking out with Mr. Crifpe, out of
Breath, and called for a Glafs of Wine ; and be-

ing afked what was become of Mr. Crijpej faid

he was {tumbling home in the dark. This we
fhall prove by Mr. Brown, another Relation.

We fhall prove by Mr. Sturgeon, who was called

as his Surgeon, the Condition of his Wounds %

and by Carter, aBlackfmith, that Mr. Coke about

the Friday before the Fact was committed, fent

for him, and afked fatter a previous Difcourfe of

Carter's Poverty, and how he might live well

in the World) if he would cut Off ten Men's
Heads without Remorfe ; which when Carter faid

he could not, If he would cut off one Man's
Head, and lay it before Coke ; which Carter re-

fufing, Mr. Coke bid him confider on't, and come
again •, then gave him a Glafs of Brandy, and
difmiffed him, bidding him fend Woodburne to

him. We fhall prove by one Moone, a Taylor^

that Mr. Coke about three Years flnce follicited

him to the like Effect. We fhall prove by Willet

the Conftable, that after Woodburne was taken up,

he confeffed the Fact, faid he did it with a Hedg-
ing-Bill, and gave him Directions where to find

it, and he found it accordingly ; which Woodburne•,

when fhewed him, acknowleged to be the fame,;

and which we have here to produce. We fhall

prove by Mr. Wetherell the Goaler, that Mr.
Coke, fince he was in his Cuftody, confeffed the

whole Fact, and that Woodburne was placed in a

Porch of an empty Houfe near Mr. Coke's
t td

come out on a Whittle to do the Fact ; and that

he delivered Mr. Crifpe to Woodburne, and was
prefent when the Fact was committed. And
after this Evidence, there can be no doubt* Gen-
tlemen, but you will find the Prifoners at the Bar

guilty of this Indictment.

Serj. Branthw. My Lord, the Defendants

are indicted of Felony, upon an Act of Parlia-

ment made 22 & 23 Car. II. by which Act,

if any Perfon or Perfons, on Purpofe, and of

Malice fore-thought, and by lying in wait, fhall

unlawfully cut out or difable the Tongue, put

out the Eye, flit the Nofe, &c. with an Inten-

tion in fo doing to maim or disfigure; the Perfon

or Perfons fo offending, their Counfellors, Aiders,

and Abettors, knowing thereof, are Felons with-

out Benefit of Clergy. The Indictment charges

the Defendants with felonioufly making an Afi

fault on Mr. Crifpe ; that Woodburne flit his Nofe

with a Bill or Hook 5 that Coke was aiding and

affifting therein. We fhall be able by undoubted

Evidence to prove and make clear the Charge of

the Indictment, and every Particular thereof,- as

has been opened to you* and that the manner

of
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of doing it was attended with fuch Circumftances

of Inhumanity, Bafenefs, and Villany, as no In-

ftance can parallel. Mr. Crifpe is Brother-in-Law

to Mr, Coke, who on the firft Day of January

Jaft, under the Colour of Friendship and Affec-

tion, invites Mr. Crifpe and Family to Supper at

Coke's Houfe. Before this Invitation he had

agreed with Woodburne for Hire, to he in wait on

Purpofe to effect the defigned Mifchief. When
Woodburne was lying in wait, Coke came feveral

times to him to encourage him in his vile Pur-

pofe. After Supper, Mr. Coke, unmindful of all

the Obligations of brotherly Love, of Hofpita-

lity, and of the Protection due to Mr. Crifpe, by

falfe and vile Arts and Perfuafions entices him into

the Church-yard, the Place defigned and agreed

upon for the Execution of their wicked Purpofes.

When he had got Mr. Crifpe into this Place, by

Sign he gave notice of it to Woodburne, who had

follow'd at fome diftance ; and then delivered him

into the Poffeffion of Woodburne, and was prefent

at the finking feveral Blows with the Hook. By
the Nature of the Inftrument every Blow muft

maim and disfigure •, and the Blows being given

by the Order and Direction of Mr. Coke by
Woodburne, Mr. Crifpe's Nofe was (lit on purpofe

to maim and disfigure by one lying in wait:

Which are all the Circumftances required by the

Act of Parliament to make them guilty of the

Felony with which they are charged. Which
feveral Facts we fhall call our Witneffes to make
out, and doubt not but the Jury will find them

guilty.

Serj. Selby. We defire in the firft Place, Mr.
Edward Crifpe himfelf may be fworn, (which was
done accordingly.) Mr.* Crifpe, give an Account to

my Lord and the Jury of the whole Matter.

Crifpe. On New-Year's-Day laft I was invited

to fup at Mr. Coke's, and being there, he propofed

to me to go to Mrs. Fanny Monke's.

Sir Peter King.
L

'
C

" Jufi' WaS this before 0r

after Supper ?

Crifpe. This was before Supper : We fupped

about feven, and after Supper about ten o' Clock

he called me out of his Parlour, I follow'd him j

we went into the Church-yard : It was then very

dark, the Moon did not mine. He took three

or four Turns before the Houfe where Mrs. Monke
dwelt, then he flood ftill and made a Noife.

L. C. Juft. What kind of Noife did he make ?

Crifpe. It was like a Hollowing.

L. C. Juft. Were you under any Fear or Appre-
henfion from that Noife ?

Crifpe. Yes, my Lord, I was afraid, and made
up towards the Wall ; but in a Quarter of a Mi-
nute fomebody came behind me, and knocked
me down.

L. C. Juft. Did you then know who that Man
was ?

Crifpe. I did not.

L. C. Juft. Can you tell what was done to you
afterwards ?

Crifpe. My Lord, I cannot, for on that Blow
I loft my Senfes for fome time.

L. C. Juft. How long was it before your Senfes

returned ?

Crifp. My Lord, I cannot tell, but in fome
time I got up, and returned to Mr. Coke's.

Serj. Selby. In what Condition did you find vour-
felf ?

Crifpe. I was ready to die and faint, and I was
found very much wounded.

Serj. Branthw. Did any Surgeon come to you

at Mr. Coke's ?

Crifpe. Yes, Sir, Mr. Sturgeon.

L. C. Juft. After the Perfon came up who
knocked you down, did you hear Mr. Coke fay

any thing ?

Crifpe. No, my Lord.

L. C. Just. Can you tell whether he flaid any

time, or what became of him ?

Crifpe. No, I cannot.

L. C. Juft. Was he there when the firft Blow
was given ?

Crifpe. Yes, he was.

L. C. Juft. Will the Prifoners afk Mr. Crifpe

any Queftions ?

Coke. Mr. Crifpe, was I prefent when you were
knocked down ?

Crifpe. Yes, Sir.

Coke. Do you remember that you faw me ?

Crifpe. Yes.

Coke. How near was I to you ?

Crifpe, You were clofe by me when I was
knocked down.

Serj. Selby. Call Mr. Brown and fwear him,

(which was accordingly done.) I think you are a

Relation of Mr. Coke's ?

Brown. Yes, Sir, I married his own Sifter, and
he married Mr. Crifpe's Sifter.

Serj. Selby. Was you at Mr. Coke's Houfe laft

New-Year's-Day at Night ?

Brown. A Day or two before laft New-Year's-

Day, I and my Wife and Daughter were invited

to fup with him, and accordingly we went. I

came about fix o'Clock, and found Mr. Coke

and Mr. Crifpe drinking a Glafs of Wine in the

Parlour before Supper.

Serj. Selby. Was there any other Company
with them ?

Brown. No, the Women were above Stairs.

I fat down with them, and we three ftaid in the

Parlour till Supper-time. When Supper was

ready, we went up Stairs. Then after Supper,

between eight and nine, we three came down in-

to the Parlour again. Some time after, Coke

went out of the Room, and then came back again

and gave a Call, or beckoned to Mr. Crifpe, who
follow'd him out of the Room.

Serj. Selby. At what Time of Night was this ?

Brown. After nine o' Clock at Night.

Serj. Branthw. How long was it before Mr.
Coke returned ?

Brown. He was gone about ten Minutes and

then returned.

Serj. Branthw. Was he in any Diforder when
he returned ?

Brown. He feemed to be out of Breath, as if

he had been walking fafter than ordinary.

Serj. Branthw. How far diftant is the Church-

yard, where this Gentlewoman dwelt, from Mr.
Coke's Houfe ?

Brown. The Church -yard is about twice the

Length of this Shire-Houfe from Mr. Coke's,

Houle.

Serj. Branthw. What did Coke do when he

came in ?

Brown. Immediately he drank a Glafs of Wine
to me, and after he had fat fome time, he went
out of the Room. I heard a Noife up Stairs, and
being told my Daughter was ill, I went up, and
in a little time came down again into the Parlour,

where I found Mr. Coke.

Serj.
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Sen. Branthw. Did you afk him what was be-

come of Mr. Crifpe ?

Brown. I did then afk him what was become

of Mr. Crifpe, and he told me that he believed he

was ^one home in the dark. In about two or

three Minutes after, Mr. Crifpe came in. He was

very much wounded and bloody. I was fo fur-

prized that I could not take particular notice of

him.

Mr. Raby. How long was it from Crifpe's go-

ing out to his coming in again ?

Brown. It was near half an Hour.

L. C. Juft.
So then Coke returned in about ten

Minutes, and Crifpe in near half an Hour.

Brown. Yes, my Lord.

Serj. Selby. Did Mr. Coke fee Mr. Crifpe when

he came back to his Houfe ?

Brown. Yes.

Serj. Selby. What did he fay?

Brown. He feemed to be in a great Confirma-

tion.

Mr. Raby. Do you know Of any Eftate that

would have come to Mr. Coke after Mr. Crifpe's

Death ?

Brown. I cannot pofitively fay it of my own
Knowledge.

Mr. Raby. We will afk Mr. Crifpe that Que-

ftion. Pray Mr. Crifpe, would any Eftate have

come by your Death to Mr. Coke ?

Crifpe. In cafe I had died, one hundred Pounds

per Annum would have come to his Wife, as one

of my Sifters.

L. C. Juft. Have you then no Children, nor

Brothers ?

Crifpe. No, my Lord ; my next of Kin are

three Sifters, one of which is Mr. Coke's Wife,

Ihe would have been one of my Heirs.

Serj. Selby. Call Mr. Sturgeon ; (who appeared,

and was fworn.) What do you know concerning

this wounding of Mr. Crifpe ?

Sturg. I am a Surgeon by PrOfefTiOn •, and the

firft Day of January laft at Night, about eleven

o' Clock, I was fent for to Mr. Crifpe at Mr.
Coke's Houfe : When I came, I found him very

much wounded and cut, and in a very weak Con-
dition, and that he had loft a great deal of Blood.

I examined his Wounds : One Wound began at

his Right Ear, divided the flefhy Part of his

Cheek, and ended on his upper Lip juft under

his Right Noftril ; the Flefh was all divided, and
the Jaw left naked. Another Wound divided the

Right Side of the Noftril, and made an oblique

Crofs over the Wound, and ended near the Right
under Jaw.

Serj. Selby. Was his Nofe flit ?

Sturg. Yes, Sir, the Nofe was cut from with-

out into the Noftril ; the Edge of the Nofe was
not cut through, but there was a Cut or Slit in

the Nofe that went through : I fow'd it up : It

was indeed but with one Stitch ; it is yet vifible,

and the Nofe was cut through.

Serj. Selby. Were there any other Wounds ?

Sturg. There was another deep Wound under
his Chin, that reached from one Jaw to the other.

There was another Wound, which began at his

Chin, croffed the Left under Jaw, and tended
towards his Ear. There was alfo a fmall Wound
on his Left Cheek, another on his upper Lip,
and another on his Left Temple.

Serj. Selby. How many Wounds had he in all ?

Sturg. Seven.

Serj. Selby. Do you think there were feven

difbincTt Wounds, that had feven diftinct Blows?
Sturg. I take it, that every one of the feven

"Wounds had a diftinct Blow.

Serj. Selby. With what Inftruirient did ycu ap-

prehend thofe Blows were given ?

Sturg. It was cut fo clean, that I thought it

was done either by a Knife or Razor.

L. C. Juft. Let the Jury fee Mr. Crime's

Wounds.
[Then his Face and Wounds were fhewn to the

Jury for their Obfervation.]

Serj. Branthw. Swear Charles II 'ilkt ; (which

was done accordingly.) I think you are a Conftable

in Bury St. Edmonds ?

Willet. lam.
Serj . Branthw. Had you any Occafion to fpeak

to Woodburne concerning this Matter, and what
did he fay ?

Will. I had a Warrant from Alderman Wright

and Mr. Serjeant Reynolds to apprehend Coke upon
Woodburne''s Examination.

Serj. Branthw. The Queftion afked you is,

What you know of Woodbume's Confeffion, and

what he hadi faid to you about this Matter ?

Will. After Woodburne was committed, I was

with him, and afked him, Whether he was con-

cerned in the wounding of Mr. Crifpe ? He told

me, Yes, he was. I afked him how long Coke

ftaid with him : He laid that he had ftruck

Crifpe three or four Blows before Coke k(t him.

Serj. Branthw. What elfe did you afk him,

or did he fay to you ?

Will. He told me, that he was walking up
and down in the Church-yard when Coke whittled

to him, and that on that Signal he went up and
affaulted Mr. Crifpe.

Serj. Branthw. Did he give you any Account
how long and where he waited before the Fact

was done ?

Will. He told me, that he was de fired by Mr.
Coke to be up and down in the Church-yard about

nine o' Clock that Night ; and that being a cold

Night, Coke gave him a Bottle of Brandy, and
told him he could not tell what time Crifpe would
come home, but defired him to be ready and to

ftay let it be never fo long.

Serj. Branthw. Did he tell you with what In-

ftrument he did it ?

Will. He told me, he did it with an Hook or

Bill, that was new ground for the Purpofe, and
that it was in his Houfe at the Right Hand of his

Door. I went according to his Direction, and
found it, and brought it to him ; and he faid,

that was the Hook. The Hook I have
brought with me, and this is the Hook that I

have now in my Hand.
Mr. Raby. Call William Wetherel; (who was

fworn.) Give my Lord and the Jury an Account
what you know of this Matter.

Weth. I am the Goaler ; and the Day after

Mr. Coke was committed to me, about five Mi-
nutes after One, he fent for me up into his Cham-
ber, where his Wife was crying and in great Dis-

order, as he feemed to be hkewife. She was de-

firing her Hufband to difcover. When he came
to himfelf, he told me, that he and Woodburne

had had a Defign to murder Mr. Crifpe, and had
attempted it feveral Times ; and defired me to

go and fecure Woodburne. I went to the Alder-

man, and told him of it, and he gave me the like

Orders. Coming from the Alderman I met
Mr. Coke's Man, who afked me, whether I had

found
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found him -, on which I afked him, who and what

he meant, thinking him to be ignorant of his

Maftei-'s Confeffion : Bat he told me, that his

Mailer had difcovered it to him, and had fent

him to take up Woodburne. Whilft we were

talking, we faw IVoodburne coming up, and we

defired one John Carter, a Smith, who was fhoe-

ing a Horfe, to aflift us ; which he did, and we

fecured Woodburne.

L. C. JuSt. Did Mr. Coke confefs any thing to

you concerning this Facl* and the manner of doing

it?

Weth. Yes, my Lord* he did. He told me
feveral Times, that he had a Defign to murder

Crifpe, and that he employed Woodburne, and de-

liver'd Crifpe into his Hands.

L. C. Juft. Did he tell you that ?

Weth. He did tell me lb : He told me alio,

that it was done with an Hook ; and that he bid

Woodburne to cut his Weafand or Wind-pipe ;

and that if Woodburne had not been a cow-hearted

Dog, he would have fo done, and fecured Crifpe

from telling Tales.

Mr. Raby. Did Coke tell you what Means he

ufed to do this to Mr. Crifpe ?

Weth. He faid, that he called him out of his

Houfe, went into the Church-yard with him,

and there he delivered him into Woodburne^

Hands.

Mr. Raby. Did he fay what Signal was given ?

Weth. Not that I remember ; but he faid,

that Woodburne was placed there by his Appoint-

ment.

Mr. Raby. For what Defign ?

Weth. With an Intent to murder him. When
Woodburne flruck him, Coke faid, he went away
immediately.

Mr. Raby. What have you heard Woodburne fay

concerning this Fact ?

Weth. I have heard Woodburne fay, that he and

Coke had lain in wait feveral Times, and at feveral

Places to murder Mr. Crifpe.

Mr. Raby. Did Woodburne give you any Account

what he did at this Time to Mr. Crifpe ?

Weth. Yes he did •, he faid that he ftruck

him a Blow with his Hook, and that not quite

ftriking him down, he gave him a fecond Blow
which did -, and that Crifpe, as he was falling,

(who was never ufed to lwear) cried out, God
damn him ; and that then it went to his very

Heart to think that he fhould kill a Man with an

Oath in his Mouth.

Mr. Raby. Did he fay he gave him feveral

Blows ?

Weth. He faid he gave him feveral Blows,

and that he thought he was dead.

Mr. Lee. Call Robert Moon ; (who appeared,

and was fworn.) What did you know of this

Matter ?

Moon. When I heard what happened to Crifpe,

I faid, I knew the Perfon who did it, or the Per-

fon who employed him to do it; and the Reafon

was, becaule three Years, or three Years and a

half ago, Mr. Coke fent for me, and (aid to me,
at firft I thought it to be in a jefting Way, that

he wifh'd Mr. Crifpe out of the World, he was a

good for nothing Fellow •, his Wife had a Trick
of playing away his Eftate, and he wifh'd fbme-
body would knock him on the Head. Sir, faid

I to him, what Advantage would that be to you ?

He fliook his Head, and faid, a very good Eftate.

Said I, I thought Crifpe had but a lmall Eftate.

Yes, faid he, a very good one. Then I began
to think there was fomething in it. After iome
little time, faid he, I do not value ten or twenty

Guineas to knock him on the Head. Then I be-

gan a little to reflect that he fhould have fuch art

Opinion of me, that I fhould be fuch a Sort of a
Perfon.

Mr. Lee. "What then did you fay to him ?

Moon. I told him, that I would not kill the

greateft Villain in the World for ten fuch Towns
as Bury.

Mr. Lee . What did he fay afterwards ?

Moon. I do not remember, I have forgot if

there was any thing elfe.

Mr. Lee. How came you to remember this ? ^

Moon. When I heard of this Fact committed
on Mr. Crifpe, then it came frefh into my Me-
mory.

Serj. Selby. Call John Carter ; (who appeared,

and was fworn.) What Trade are you of ?

Carter. A Blackfmith.

Serj. Selby. Did Coke at any time fend Wood*
burne for you, and what pad thereon ?

Carter. On the Friday before New-Year's-Day
laft, which was on a Monday, Mr. Coke fent

Woodburne to me, who told me his Mafter Coke

wanted to fpeak with me.
Serj. Selby. Did you go ?

Carter. Yes, I went to his Houfe, and he or-

dered me to come up to him in his Chamber.
When I came up, he told me that he wanted a
good ftrong Horfe to carry his Weight. I told

him I did not know of any one then ; but
;when

I did, I would let him know. Upon that he faid,

by God, how do you go on, Boy ? I hear you
have loft moft of your Bufinefs, you have got
no Iron nor Coals, and you are afraid of a Goal 5

I have a Thing now in Agitation that will make
a Man of you as long as you live. I faid I fhould

be very glad of that. Said he, can you keep a
Secret ? Yes, faid I, as well as any one to ferve

myfelf and my Friend. Said he can you keep
one of the biggeft Secrets in the World ? I told

him, as well as any body. Said he, you are

pretty much in Debt, and if you will ferve me
in this, I can make a Man of you as long as you
live : Do you think you could cut five or fix

Men's Head's off without Scruple of Confcience ?

I told him, No ; it was too much for a Man's
Confcience to bear. Said he, what, a Scruple off

Confcience to do fuch a Thing as that ? There-

are thofe above who have done ten times worfe.

I fuppofe, Sir, faid I, you mean the South-Sea

Gentlemen. Yes, faid he, fo I do ; they have

ruined Families, and beggar'd Gentlemen : To
cut Men's Heads off is but a Trifle to them. Said

I, Mr. Coke, I believe you fpeak only in Joke,

by way of Merriment. Said he, what do you

think I fent for you by way of Joke ? I told him
I could not do any fuch Thing. Then, faid he,

do you think you can cut off one Man's Head
without Scruple of Confcience ? I told him, No.
Then, faid he, if you can't cut off a Man's
Head, and lay it down upon the Table before

me, you are not for my Turn : On that he

fetched a Bottle of Brandy, and gave me a Glafs

or two, and then faid to me, Carter, I would
have you go home, and confider of it for two or

three Days, and if you can cut off a Man's Head
without Scruple of Confcience, you fhall have

Plenty of Gold and Silver, and any thing elfe you
ajk. I told him, I needed no Confideration, for I

could
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could not do it. Then, laid he, fend Woodburne

to me. And as I went out, I faw Woodburne at

the Door, and fent him in to Mr. Coke.

Serj. Selby. Did he fay any thing elfe to you,

or any thing about Mr. Crifpe?

Carter. I live in a Houfe of Mr. Crijpe's, and

Mr. Coke had been formerly his Steward, and

Woodburne acted under him. And Mr. Coke faid,

that he heard my Houfe was out of Repair, that

it would be his after Mr. Crifpe, and whether I

mould not like it better for him to keep it in Re-

pair, as he had done before.

Serj. Selby. I think, my Lord, we have done

with our Evidence, and have fufficiently proved

Mr. Coke and Woodburne to be guilty not only

within the Intention, but the Letter of the Statute

of the 2 2d of Car. II. upon which they Hand in-

dicted. We have proved the Malice premedi-

tated and fore-thought, the Intention to maim
and disfigure, by flitting the Nofe (for Mens In-

tentions muft be conftrued by their Actions) and

the maiming and disfiguring accordingly ; and

that Mr. Coke was privy to, and the Aider and

Abetter of the Offence : And therefore, Gentle-

men of the Jury, we can't doubt but that you

will find them both guilty * and that your Ver-

dict and their Conviction will be with the Suffrage

of all Mankind.
Mr. Rafyi My Lord, having gone through

our Evidence, you will now permit me to make
fome few Obfervations upon what has been offer'd,

and from which we humbly apprehend it will moft

clearly appear, that we have fully prov'd and
made out every thing necefTary to maintain this

Indictment*

My Lord, it muft be agreed* that this is an

Offence created by a particular Act of Parliament,

ufually call'd Sir John Coventry's Act, made on
the Occafion of the like barbarous Ufage he met
with, to punifh that Offence, and to prevent the

like for the future : And I alfo agree, that the

Prifoners muft appear to be guilty of thofe very
Facts, which by that Act are made Felony, or other-

wife they cannot be punifhed by that Law. But
we humbly apprehend, that when that Law, and
the Evidence which has been given againft the

Prifoners are confidered, they will appear to be
guilty within the exprefs Words of that Law i

for which End I beg leave to mention that Act,
which is the 22 and 23 Car. II. cap. 1. The
Words are thefe. " That if any Perfon or Per-

' fons, on Purpofe, and of Malice fore-thought,
' and by lying in wait, lhall unlawfully cut or
' difable the T02 gue, put out an Eye, flit the
: Nofe, &c. wit. an Intention in fo doing to
' maim or disfigure, in any the Manners before-
' mentioned, the Prrfon or Perfons fo offending,
' their Counfellors, A.iers, and Abettors (know-
' ing of and privy to the Offence aforefaid) fhall
" be Felons, &c."
From this Claufe it appears the Offence muft

be done ;

1. Of Malice fore-thou jit.

2. By lying in wait.

3. By flitting the Nok
,
'iY.

4: With an Intention CO maim or disfigure.

And we humbly fbbmi it, that from the Evi-
dence which has been given againft the Prifoners,
it moft plainly appears, that the Defendants are
guilty of this Offence in every Circumftance de-
lcribed by this Aft of Parliament.

1. For certainly there cannot be the leaft due*
Vol. VI.

^

ftion, but that this was done of Malice fore-
thought, when it appears from the Evidence to
have been under Confideration and premeditated
for three Years and an half: And Mr. Coke had
tried feveral Perfons, before he could find any
fo hardy as to execute his bafe. Purpofe, or com-
ply with fo inhuman an Attempt: And there-

fore we apprehend there cannot be any Colour to

fay, this was not of Malice fore-thougat.

2. And that this Offence was alfo done with
lying in wait is as clear: For does it not fully

appear upon the Evidence of Mr. Crifpe^ that

when he came out of Mr. Coke's Houfe* Mr. Coke
gave a Whiffle or Signal ? In vain had Mr. Coke
given that Signal, if no Perfon had been in wait-

ing to have heard it : To what end had that Sig-

nal been given, if Mr. Coke had not known there

was fome Perfon to have heard it? It appears
plainly Woodburne came upon the Signal given 5

and what enfued you have heard, I need not re-

peat.

3. The third Thing made material by this Ad*
is, That the Nofe Jhould be flit ; and that the Nofe
was flit appears from the Surgeon's Evidence*

who has given a very particular Account of the

feven Wounds Mr. Crifpe received in his Face
and Head : And he fays, the Nofe (the Noftril)

was cut through.

4. Whether the other Circumftance* that this

was done With an Intent to maim and disfigure*

does fufficiently appear* or not, is the only Que-
ftion that remains : And we fubmit it to your
Confideration, as that which is very clear from
this Evidence.

Mens Acts are the beft Interpreters of their In-

tents : If a Man kills another without Provoca-
tion, tho' no exprefs Malice or malicious Intent

appears, yet the very Act of the Party has al-

ways been taken to be a fufficient Proof of his

Intent and Malice fore-thought. The Intent is

latent in the Mind, and can feldom be known
othefwife than by the Act which is done li And
as there the malicious Intent is collected from the

Act of the Party, fo here ^tis as reafonable to

collect his Intent to disfigure from the Aft which
is done, the maiming and disfiguring Mr. Crifpe %

and the very Manner of doing it fpeaks it.

Whoever looks upon this Gentleman (Mr.

Crifpe) fees too plainly how much he is disfigur'd %

And could a Man cut another feven Times on
the Head and Face with this Iron Bill* with this

Weapon, without disfiguring him? Is it to be

imagined ? And when he has done the very Act;

when he has disfigured him, lhall he fay, he had
no fuch Intent ? The Act done, and the Manner
of doing it, fpeak it too plainly.

JTis confefs'd

the Intent was to murder ; this is what both the

Prifoners admit to be the End defign'd * but did

they not alfo intend the Means ? It would be in

vain to intend the End, and reject the Means tc»

effect it : The Means chofen to effect it have ap-

pear'd to be to cut him to death, by ftriking him
with a Bill on the Head and Face : Is it poflible

to expect to cut him to Death on the Face with

the Weapon produced, and not to disfigure him ?

This is the Act Woodburne has done,, and Coke

was prefent when Wooddurne ftruck, even when

he did this Fact, and Coke was a Counfellor,

Aider and Abettor ; he was prefent, and, in the

Words of the Act of Parliament, knowing of

the Offence. And therefore upon this Evidence

we fubmit it, whether we have not given Sati£

F f fa&isans
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faction to the Court and Jury, that the Prifoners

are guilty.

This is not a Profecution of the Party injured,

arifing from Revenge or Refentment, but is car-

ried on by the Public, by the Crown, for the

fake only of Public Juftice, that by the Punifh-

ment of this Offence, the Subjects may have that

Protection they ought to have by a due Execu-

tion of the Laws : And all we pray is, that the

Jury will give fuch a Verdict as is agreeable to

Juftice.

L. C. Jusl. Woodburne, what have you to fay

for yourfelf ?

Woodburne. May it pleafe your Honour, my
Lord, the firft Time that Coke began with me
about this Matter was on a Wednefday in laft Bar-

ley-Harveft. He fent for me to mend his Copper,

and after I had done it, he bid me go to the further

End of the Mill-Lane, and there he muft fpeak

with me, and which came firft mould ftay for the

other. I was there before him; when he came

he was on Horfe-back, and his Horfe kick'd about

in a furious Manner, that the People took notice

of it. When they were gone, he told me, that

he had a Thing for me to do, but not to be done

prefently, and that if I did it I fhould want for

nothing. I afk'd him what it was. He faid

about Mr. Crifpe, to fet him afide, that is, to

kill him : But he faid, it was not to be done pre-

fently: So he put his Hand in his Pocket and

gave me Eighteen Pence. I told him, I never

did fuch a Thing in my Life ; I could not do it.

Said he, it is not to be done prefently, we have

Time to confider. A while after he fent for me
again, and afk'd me, whether I had confider'd of it.

I told him, I could not do it. Said he, we muft

fet Crifpe afide •, for Mrs. Crifpe hath got a Trick

to play •, ftie will make away what there is from

me and my Child. I faid, I never did any fuch

Thing •, I could not do it, and defired him to for-

bear. I went away and left him in his Chamber.

Within a while after he came to my Houfe ; faid

he, John, what is the Reafon you can't do this

for me ? Said I, I cannot do it. Said he, what

fignifies it, I would do it for you. I faid, I could

not do it. Then he went away very uneafy, and

in a Week or Fortnight fent for me again to his

Chamber, and there was at me again. I told him
I could do no fuch Work. Said he, why can't

you do this Work ? I have been a good Mafter

to you, I made myfelf look little to bail you when
you were in Goal. I turned about and cried.

Said he, what makes you cry ? Your crying fig-

nifies nothing ? the Money that I fhall give you
will do you and your Family a Kindnels. Said

I, I can do no fuch thing. Said he, it fignifies

no more the killing of him, than to kill a Dog,
for they do no good with what they have. Yes,

faid I, Mr. Crifpe is a very good Mafter; I

work'd for him and his Father before him : And
fo I went away. Afterwards my Wife died three

Days before Gunpowder-Treafon laft : She was bu-

ried on that Day, and being very poor, I fent

my Daughter to defire a little Money of him to

have the Bell toll'd for my Wife ; but he fent me
none. My Wife was buried on a Sunday, then

on the Monday he fent his Boy for me ; I went
down to him, and when I came, I fell a weep-
ing for the Lofs of my Wife, and having ten

Children. Said he, what makes you cry? You
muft pull up a good Heart; tho' your Wife be
dead, you may have Friends ; here is that which

will do you a Kindnefs hereafter. Said I, I am
very forry for the Lofs of my Wife. 8akl he,

what fignifies that ? She was carried well into the

Church, and is, no doubt, happy ; fhe is gone
before you ; we muft all go in our Time : I was
a Friend to you in her Illnefs ; I fent her a good
Doctor at my own Charge : This twenty Pounds
that I will give you will be a brave Eftate for

you.

L. C. Jutt. What were you to have this twenty
Pounds for ?

Woodburne. It was to kill Mr. Crifpe-, he told

me that I muft fet afide Mr. Crifpe; he offer'd

me twenty Pounds to do it ; but I then refus'd it.

On Monday, New-year's-day in the Morning,
Coke fent his Boy for me to come to him ; and
between eight and nine in the Morning I went to

him. He was in his green Room. Now, faid he,

John, we fhall have the faireft Opportunity to

kill Mr. Crifpe. I told him, I was loth to do it 5

it was very cold, and I had an Ague. Said he,

I will give you that which fhall warm you. He
went to his Clofet, and gave me out of the Bottle

that he ufed to carry in his Pocket, half a Pint of
Brandy, and told me, that happen how it will I

muft not come near his Houfe any more that

Day, left afterwards there fhould be fome Sufpi-

cion; but faid he, whether Ague or not, you
muft be at Mr. Msrrice's Porch, which is in the

Church-yard, about eight o'Clock in the Even-
ing. I went there between eight and nine ; about
nine Coke came out, and gave me a Whittle : On
that I went up to him ; he told me, Mr. Crifpe

was very jolly, and he believed it would be late

before he came out. I told him, I did not care

to ftay. Said he, you muft ftay now ; this is the

Time that will do it. I ftaid till ten o'Clock

;

then he came to me again in Mr. Morrice's Porch,

and told me, that he believed Crifpe would not

go till eleven o'Clock; but the later the better.

Then he went from me again, and a little Time
after ten Coke and Crifpe came out together, and
on Coke's Whiffling I came up to them ; Crifpe

was then before, and coming to get againft the

Wall. I came up to Coke; he bid me have a

care not to hit him inftead of Crifpe, being very

dark ; fo he took me by the Sleeve to lead me up
to Crifpe ; and faid to Crifpe, Brother, ftand ftill

;

on that I hit him two Strokes with my Hook;
tho' I never heard him fwear before, yet he now
fwore, God damn him : On that Coke faid, what I

doth he fwear? Secure him, down with him.

He flood by him till I gave him feveral Blows,

and then he went away. Coke defired me to take

away his Watch ; for, faith he, as to his Money,
he don't carry above half a Crown or three Shil-

lings in his Pocket ; and when I go to London, I

will fell the Watch for you.

L. C. Jusl. What Woodburne faith againft Coke,

is no Evidence againft Coke, and fhould not have

been mentioned by him ; but what he faith re-

lating to himfelf before the Fact, is fo twilled

with Coke, that without the Whole it is not fo in-

telligible as to himfelf. However, the Jury are

to take notice, that what Woodburne faith, is only

Evidence againft himfelf, and not againft Mr.
Coke.

L. C. Jusl. After you had given him thofe

feveral Blows with your Hook, what did you

next ?

Woodburne. I began immediately to reflect on

what I had done, and went away forthwith to my
own
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own Houfe* where I was about td take a Line

to hang my felf

L. C. Juft. Have you any Witneffes, or any

body to ipeak for you ?

Woodburne. My Lord, here are my two Daugh-

ters in the Court ; I defire your Lordfhip would

be pleafed to hear them, Ann Woodburne and

Sarah Woodburne ; who being called, appeared,

and were fworn.

L. C. Juft. What fay you, Ann Woodburne ?

- Ann Woodburne. On the Wednsfday before Ne-w-

Tear's-Day Coke fent for my Father by his Boy ;

I told the Boy my Father was in Bed, and lick

of an Ague, and could not come. The Boy

came again, and faid, my Father muft by all

Means come ; but he would not then go, but he

went to him on New-Tear's-Day in the Morning,

and came Home again. About five or fix a-

Clock in the Evening, my Father went out with

a Kook in his Hand ; and he faid, he ihould not

be at home till eleven or twelve at Night ; and

if any body came for him, he bid us not take

any Notice but that he was at home. We
thought he took the Hook to cut fome Wood
with.

L. C. Juft. Have you any thing more to fay ?

Ann Woodburne. When my Mother died, I

went to Mr. Coke's to borrow five Shillings of

him, to have the great Bell toll for my Mo-
ther, and told him, that my Father would pay

him again. He faid, What fignified the ring-

ing out of the great Bell ? her Soul would be

never the better for it -, but if he will fatisfy me
in my Requeft, he fhall have five times five Shil-

lings:

L. C. Juft. What fay you, Sarah Woodburne?

Sarah Woodburne. Coke did frequently fend for

my Father at all times, both of Day and Night ;

and he would often come to my Father, and

when he came, they would go out, and walk

down the Back-fide, and talk together. After

this Fact was done, Coke fent his Boy for my
Father, and the Boy faid, they muft not go to-

gether ; for if they did, People would take No-
tice of them.

L. C. Juft. Woodburne, have you any thing

more to fay ?

Woodburne. This Day nine Weeks, which was

a Week after the Fact committed, Coke fent

for me, and faid, John, I wifh you would have

done the thing I ordered you ; but you have been

before Alderman Wright and the Recorder, and
have told your Story well •, but hold you fail,

they will examine you again ; I fhall-'

L. C. Juft. This is fubfequent to the Fact, and
is not Evidence againft Coke. If you Woodburne

have done, then Mr. Coke what have you to fay

for your felf ?

Coke. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, I am much
afham'd, and very unable to defend myfelf ; I

am afham'd to think I fhould be concerned in fo

heinous a Crime againft Mr. Crifpe's Life i I am
even confounded at it ; it is indeed a very great

Crime, and I know not what to fay for myfelf
As for Woodburne, he hath afferted againft me
feveral things that are falfe.

L. C. Juif. I have told the Jury, that what
he hath faid is no Evidence againft you.

Coke. When I firft fpoke of this Matter to

Woodburne, he faid, he fhould value it no more
than the cutting off the Head of a Dog. I did,

indeed, go out with Mr. Crifpe that Night, but

I was not near him when Woodburne ftruck him,
but retreated to my own Houfe in a Moment.
My Lord, I am very fenfible that a Point of

Law may arife on the Statute whereon I am in-

dicted.

L. C. Juft, Whereon ?

Coke. With refpect to my Intention.

L. C. Juft. Your Intention is Matter of Fact,

and muft be tried by the Jury, whether your

Intent was to maim and disfigure -, this doth not

ieem to me to be a Point of Law •, if there be
any Point of Law that fhall arife, you fhall have
Counfel to fpeak to it •, but whether you flit Mr.
Crifpe's Nofe with an Intention to disfigure him,
is a Matter of Fact.

Coke. My Intent was to kill Mr. Crifpe, and
not to maim or disfigure him.

L. C. Juft. But that is the Queftion the Jury
are to try, whether you did not of Malice flit his

Nofe, with an Intent to disfigure him. If the

Jury do not find that you fo did, you muft be

acquitted on this Indictment. Suppofing your

Defign was to kill, yet your Defign might be

likewife to maim ; and this the Jury muft try ;

this is Matter of Fact for their Confideration.

Coke. This is a very penal Statute, and I am
unable to plead my own Caufe ; I beg your

Lordfhip to afilgn me Counfel.

L. C. Juft. If any Point of Law doth arife

upon the Statute, you fhall have Counfel ; but as

yet there is nothing but Matter of Fact •, whe-

ther the Fact proved doth fupport the Charge in

the Indictment ; or in other Words, whether the

Evidence be fufficient to make good the Charge ;

this muft be left to the Jury ; I will ftate the

Fact to them, and they are on their Oaths to give

in their Verdict.

Coke. This is a very penal Statute, and I can-

not argue it for myfelf; I hope your Lordfhip

will affign me Counfel ; this is the firft Indictment

that ever was upon this Statute.

L. C. Juft. What do the King's Counfel fay

to it ?

Serj. Selby. After fo full an Anfwer as your

Lordfhip has given, I think it but vain to fay

any thing ; I always thought that no Matter of

Law could arife upon this Fact and Indictment ;

for Woodburne did the Fact of Malice fore-

thought, by lying in wait, and with an Intenti-

on to maim ; Mr. Coke was aiding, abetting, and

privy to the Fact : Therefore, though it was an

Intent to kill, it muft be to maim alio \ he could

not intend to kill him with fuch an Inftrument,

without intending to maim him firft ; and there-

fore, if there were two Intentions and but one

executed, there is no Pretence to fay, that what

was executed was not intended. Mr. Coke fays,

that never was any Indictment before upon this

Statute ; if not, it muft be becaufe no Man be-

fore ever thought of being guilty of fo horrid an

Action.

L. C. Juft. If any Point in Law doth arife you

fhall have Counfel j but the Fact muft be agreed

and ftated, before the Law can come in debate.

You fay, your Intent was only to murder ; but

that is not yet agreed or found to be the Fact :

It is the Point now in Trial, whether you did it

not with an Intention to maim or disfigure •, and

according as that Intention fhall appear to the

Jury, fo will they either acquit or convict you ;

therefore if you have any thing mors to fay, I

defire you to go on,

F f 2 Coke.
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Coke. I fubmit to your Lordfhip's Judge- fix a-clock, and found Mr. Coke and Mr. Crifpe

men t.
drinking a Glafs of Wine in the Parlour before

L. C. Juf: Gentlemen of the Jury, this is an Supper ; that he fat down and drank with them

Indictment of the Prisoners at the' Bar, John till Supper ; that after Supper they three came

Woodburne and Arundel Coke, for Felony, by ly- into the Parlour again, and ibme time after Coke

went out of the

gain, and called

Room, and then came back a-

. ,, . Mr. Crifpe out of the Room,
who followed him ; that Coke returned again in

about ten Minutes, and feemed to be out of

Breath, as if he had been walking fafter than

indicted for being prefent, ordinary •, that Coke s Hbufe is diftant from the

This Indictment is founded Church-yard about twice the length of the Shire-

houfe ;' that Coke, after he came in, drank a

Glafs of Wine; and that Brown zfked Coke what
was become of Mr. Crifpe ; and that Coke faid,

he believed he was gone home in the Dark •, and
that in about two or three Minutes after Mr.

ing in wait, and purpofely and malicioufly flit-

ting the Nofe of Edward Crifpe, with Intention,

in io doing, to maim or disfigure the faid Ed-

ward Crifpe. John Woodburne is indicted for the

principal Actor, or the Perfon who did the Fact ;

and Arundel Coke is

aiding and abetting.

on a Statute made in the two and twentieth Year

of King Charles the Second, intitled, An Aft to

prevent malicious maiming and wounding \ whereby

it is enacted, That if any Perfon or Pcrfons,

from and after the twenty fourth Day of June,

in the Year of our Lord 1671, on Purpofe, and Crifpe came in much wounded and bloody

of Malice fore-thought, and by lying in wait,

ihould unlawfully cut out, or difable the Tongue,

put out an Eye, flit the Nofe, cut off a Nofe or

Lip, or difable any Limb or Member of any

Subject of his Majetty, with Intention in fo do-

ing; to maim or disfigure, in any the Manners

that it was about half an Hour between

Time of Mr. Crijpe's going out and

and

the

returning

again.

Mr. Sturgeon the Surgeon {wears, that being

fent for, he came to Mr. Crifpe about eleven

a-Clock that Night ; that he had loft a great deal

before-mentioned, fuch hisMajefty's Subject, that of Blood, and was very much wounded ; and that

then, and in every fuch Cafe, the Perfon or Per-

fons fo offending, their Counfellors, Aiders and

Abettors (knowing of, and privy to the Offence,

as afcrefaid) fhall be, and are thereby declared

to be Felons, and fhall fufier as in Cafes of

Felony, without Benefit of the Clergy. Now
the Queftion on this Indictment is, whether John

Woodburne did on Purpofe, and of Malice fore-

in the whole he had received feven diftinct Wounds,
which he apprehends were by fo many feveral

Blows. He hath given you a particular Defcrip-

tion of the feveral Wounds ; the fecond Wound
is that which is alledged to be within this Statute.

He tells you, That this Wound divided the

right fide of the Noftril ; and that though the

Edge of the Nofe v/as not cut through, yet it

thought, and by lying in wait, unlawfully flit was cut through in another Place •, the Nofe was

the Nofe of Edward Crifpe, r with an Intention to flit; there was a Cut from without into the No-
maim or disfigure him therein ? And, whether ftril ; indeed the Slit was not very great, for he

Arundel Coke was felonioufiy prefent at the Fact, fewed it up with one Stitch ; but he is fure that a

aiding and abetting Woodburne in the Commiffion Slit there was, and you have feen Mr. Crijpe's,

Nofe. Now the flitting of the Nofe is one of.

the particular Facts mentioned in the Statute.

Mr. Willet the Conftable fwears, That he was
with Woodburne after his Commitment, and that

he told him, he was concerned in the wounding
Mr. Crifpe ; that he had been there waiting for

that Purpofe •, and that when Coke whiffled to

him, he went up and made the Afiault upon
Mr. Crifpe with an Hook or Bill, that was new-
ground for that purpofe, and directed him where

and that when they had walked three to find it at his Houfe, which he accordingly did,

and perpetration of it ? To make out this Mat-

ter feveral Witnefics have been called •, the firft

Witnefs was Edward Crifpe himfelf, who informs

you, that Arundel Coke married his Sifter, and

Mr. Brovcn, Coke's Sifter-, and that laft New-
year's-day they were invited to fup at Mr. Coke's-;

and that before Supper Mr. Coke propofed to go

to Mrs. Monke's ; and that after Supper, about

ten a-clock at Night, Mr. Coke called Mr.
Crifpe out of the Parlour to go to this Mrs.

Monkeh
or four Turns before the Houfe where Mrs.

Monke dwelt, Coke ftood ftill, and made a Noife

like a hollowing, which made Mr. Crifpe afraid,

being dark, fo he made toward the Wall ; but

in a quarter of a Minute's time a Man came and

knocked him down : Who that Man v/as, nor

what was then further done to him, he could not

then tell, becaufe by the Blow he loft his Senfes

for fome time , but afterwards he got up again,

and returned to Mr. Coke's Houfe, from whence
he came, but in a fad Condition, much wounded
and bloody, where Mr. Sturgeon the Surgeon

came to him, from whom you have the Particu-

lars of his Cafe. He lays, that Coke was clofe

by him when he was knocked down ; but did

not hear Coke fay any thing. He alfo fays, that

and brought it to Woodburne, who faid that was
the Hook ; and the Hook hath been now pro-

duced before you, and you have feen it.

The next Witnefs is Mr. Wetherell the Goaler,

who fwears, That the Day after Coke was com-
mitted to his Cuftody, Coke fent for him up into

his Chamber, and told him, That he and Wood-

burne had had a Defign to murder Mr. Crifpe*

and had attempted it feveral times, and defired

him to go and fecure Woodburne, which he ac-

cordingly did. He hath given you an Account

how and in what manner he fecured him ; and he

fwears moreover, that Coke told him feveral times

that he had a Defign to murder Crifpe, and that

he employed Woodburne, and delivered Crifpe into

his Hands •, that Woodburne did it with an Hook,
upon his Death one hundred Pounds per Annum and that he bad Woodburne to cut his Windpipe ;

would have gone to Coke's Wife, as one of his and that if Woodburne had not been a Cow-
ift rs and Co-heir.

The next Witnefs is Mr. Brown, who married
Coke's Sifter ; and he fays, that he, his Wife and
Daughter were invited to fup at Mr. Coke's the

hearted Dog, he would have fo done, and fecured

Evening pi New-year's-day ; that he came about

Crifpe from telling Tales. Wetherell likewife

fwears, that Coke told him, that he called Crifpe

out of his Houfe, went into the Church-yard

with him, and there delivered him into Wood-

burne's,
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burners Hands; arid he farther fwears, as to

Woodburne. That Woodburne own'd that he and

Coke had lain in wait feveral Times, and at feve-

ral Places, to murder Mr. Crifpe; and as to this

particular Facf; he gave him this Account, That

he ftruck him a Blow with a Hook, and that

not quite ftriking him down, he gave him a fe-

cond Blow; and that as Crifpe was falling, he

cried out, God damn him ; and that then it

griev'd him to kill a Man with an Oath in his

Mouth.

Robert Moon fwears, That when he heard what

was befallen Mr. Crifpe, he faid, that he knew
the Perfon that did the Fact, or him who em-
ployed the Perfon ; and the Reafon was, becaufe

about three Years and a half before Mr. Coke

fent for him, and told hirn^ That he wifh'd Mr.
Crifpe out of the World, and that fome body

would knock him on the Head 5 and that when
he ask'd him what Advantage that would be to

him ? He replied, A very good Eftate ; and af-

terwards told him, he did not value ten or twenty

Guineas to knock him in the Head : This made
Moon reflect upon himfeli", and was concerned

that he ihould have fuch an Opinion of him, and

thereon told him, that he would not kill the

greateft Villain in the World for ten fuch Towns
as Bury.

John Carter fwears, That on Friday before

New-year's-day laft, Coke fent Woodburne to him,

to tell him that his Mafter Coke wanted to fpeak

with him ; that thereon he went to his Houfe,

and was ordered to come up to him in his Cham-
ber, which he did ; and there Coke firft enquired*

whether he could help him to a good ftrong

Horfe ? And then told him, that he heard he had

loft much of his Bufinefs ; he had no Iron, nor

Coal ; and that he had a thing in Agitation that

would make a Man of him as long as he lived

;

and thereon afk'd him, whether he could keep a

Secret, and of one of the biggeft Secrets in the

World ? And upon his telling him that he could;,

he afk'd him whether he could cut five or fix

Mens Heads off without Scruple of Confcience ?

And when he told him that that was too much
for a Man's Confcience to bear* he told him*
there were thofc above meaning the South-Sea

Gentlemen, who had done ten times worfe, ruin'd

Families, and beggar'd Gentlemen ; and that to

cut Mens Heads off was but a Trifle to them.

That hereon Carter told him, he believed he
fpoke only in Joke* and byway of Merriment;
but Coke afk'd him* Whether he thought he fent

for him only by way of Joke ? And then afk'd

him, whether he could cut off one's Man's Head
without Scruple of Confcience ? And when Car-
ter told him, No: Then Coke told him, if he
could not cut off a Man's Head, and lay it

down on a Table before him, he was not for

his Turn ; and then gave him a Glafs of Brandy,
and bid him confider of it for a Day or two, and
if he could cut off a Man's Head without Scru-
ple of Confcience, he mould have plenty of Gold
and Silver, and any thing elfe he fhould afk :

Whereto Carter replying, that he needed no Con-
fideration, he could not do it; then he bid him
fend Woodburne to him, which he did:

In all this difcourfe between Carter and Coh
I do not find that Crifpe was the Perfon named
on whom this Outrage fhould be committed ; but
Carter who is a Tenant of a Houfe ofMr. Crifpe's,
fay-, That Coke told him he heard the Houfe

was out of repair ; that it would be his after

Mr. Crifpe ; and afk'd him, Whether he would
not like it better for Coke to keep it in repair,

as he had done before, whilft he was Crifpe's

Steward ?

This is the Subftance of the Evidence o-jven

againft the Prifoners at the Bar, to prove that

they malicioufiy, and by lying in wait, have flit

Mr. Crijpe's Noie, with an Intent to disfigure him
therein.

Woodburne doth not deny the general FactB

that is, the defigned lying in wait to afiault Mr,
Crifpe, nor the cutting or knocking him down
with his Hook ; his Confeffion is not Evidence
againft Coke, but it is againft himfelf; and you
hear what he hath own'd ; that laft Barley-Har-
veft Coke fent for him to mend his Copper, and
then ordered him to meet him at another Place*

which was accordingly done ; where Coke told

him, That he had a thing for him to do, but it

was not to be done preiently ; and if he would
do it, he fhould want for nothing. And when
he afk'd him what it was? He faid, To kz
Crifpe afide, that is, to kill him ; and Coke gave
him eighteen Pence. That then he told him, he
could not doit; that Coke folicited him feveral

times afterwards to murder Crifpe ; the Particu-

lars whereof- 1 do not enumerate, becaufe they
principally relate to Coke^ againft whom it is not
Evidence ; but yet they fo far relate to Wood-
burne, as to fhew his Knowledge and Deliberation
in this Matter; therefore to come to the Day
whereon this Fact was done, Woodburne faith,

That about eight or nine in the Morning Coke
fent for him, and told him, that that Day they
fhould have the faireft Opportunity to kill Mn
Crifpe ; and it was agreed between them ; that

Woodburne fhould be in the Church-yard, at Mr.
Morrice's Porch; about eight a-clock in the Even-
ing. He accordingly went with his Hedge-
Hook or Bill, which hath been here produced.
Coke came out to him twice by himfelf, and the
third time a little after ten a-clock, Coke and
Crifpe came out together ; and then Coke whift-

led, which" was the Signal between them ; and
thereon Woodburne came up, and owns, that with
his Hook he cut and knock'd down Crifpe, and
that tho' he never heard Crifpe fwear before,

yet that now, as Crifpe was falling, he fwore
God damn him ; wheron he gave him thofe fe-

veral other Wounds and Blows that Crifpe re-

ceived ; and then reflecting on what he had done,
immediately went to his own Houfe, where he
was about to take a Rope to hang himielf.

By this Defence of Woodburne, you fee that

he doth not deny the affauking and woundino- of
Mr. Crifpe; but that that he chiefly infifts on is,

that what he did was by the Solicitation and Pro-
curement of Mr. Coke i which is no Juftificatiort

or Excufe. However, he hath cali'd two Wit-
neflfes, Ann and Sarah Woodburne^ his two Daugh-
ters, to prove that Coke did frequently fend for

their Father, and often came to him at his own
Houfe, and would be in private Conference to-

gether, which probably was about this Matter ;

but if it werej this only confirms what Wood-
burne infifts on, that he was follicited and hired

by Coke to do this Fact ; which, as I faid, will

neither juftify nor excufe him ; for no Man is

to obey the unlawful Commands, or hearken to

the illegal Advices of any other Perfon whatfo-

ever.

As
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As for Mr. Coke, that which he principally

puts his Defence upon is, that his Intent was to

kill and murther Mr. Crifpe, but not to maim
him, or to flit his Nofe, or to disfigure him in

fo doing-, and therefore, tho' in Purfuance and

Execution of the Attempt to murther Mr. Crifpe-,

they flit his Nofe, or might thereby disfigure

him, yet that not being their Intention, and De-

fign, he is to be acquitted on this Indictment,

wherein the Intent of the Party is one of the prin-

cipal Ingredients to make him guilty. This fame

Defence will ferve alfo for Woodburne, that they

intended to murther, but not to maim ; and if

they did maim, it was with an Intention to kill,

and not to disfigure. Now this Indictment is, as

I told you, founded on the 2 2d and 23d Car. II.

c. 1. for that on Purpofe, of Malice fore-thought,

and by lying in wait, the Prifoners did unlawfully

and felonioufly flit the Nofe of Edward Crifpe,

with Intention in fo doing to maim or disfigure

him. Woodburne is charged as the Actor or

principal Agent, Coke as being prefent, aiding,

and abetting-, which> in Point of Law, is the

fame, as to the Guilt and Conference, both being

in Law Principals.

That this Attempt on Mr. Crifpe was defigned,

malicious, and by lying in wait, the Evidence is

very ilrong; there hath been alfo very ftrong

Evidence given, that the Nofe of Mr. Crifpe was
flit by Woodburne, and that Coke was prefent on
the fame Defign with Woodburne.

But the Thing chiefly infifted on is5 that the

flitting of Mr. Crifpe's Nofe was not with an In-

tention in fo doing to maim or disfigure him *, and
if it were not with that Intent, then the Prifoners

will not be guilty upoo this Indictment.

Now Gentlemen, what the Intent of thefe Per-

fons was in flitting Mr. Crifpe's Nofe, you are to

try ; this is a Matter of Fad for your Confide--

ration and Determination : It is the fame in other

Felonies, where the Intent of the Party makes
the Crime. Burglary is breaking open an Houfe
in the Night-time, with an Intent to commit a

Felony, tho' no Felony be committed, yet if

there was an Intent to do it, it is Burglary j which
Intent is to be tried by the Jury, Larceny, or

Theft, is taking away another Man's Goods,,

with an Intent to ileal ; if it were without fuch an
Intent, it would only be a Trefpais, and no Lar-
ceny •, but whether it were or were not with fuch
an Intent, is a Matter of Fact to be inquired into
and determined by the Jury. Nay, the Intent
is fo neceflary in all Felonies, that a Perfon who
hath no Intent or Defign, as a Madman, Luna-
tick, Infant, &c. cannot commit Felony for
that very Reafon ; becaufe he cannot have any
Intent or Defign in his Actions. So that in this

Cafe you are to try no other Matter than what
is tried in other Felonies, viz. The Intent of the
Party.

Now how is the Intent of the Party difcovered
in other Cafes ? By the Facts themfelves, by the
precedent, concomitant, and fubfequent Circum-
ilances of the Facts, by the Manner of doing, and
the like.

There are fome Cafes where an unlawful or fe-

lonious Intent to do one Act, may be carried
over to another Act, done in Profecution thereof;
and fuch other Aft will be Felony, becaufe done
in Profecution of an unlawful or felonious Intent:
As, if a Man fhoots at a wild Fowl, wherein no
Man hath any Property, and by fuch fhooting

happens unawares to kill a Man •, this Homicide
is not Felony, but only a Mifadventure or Chance-

Medley, becaufe it was an Accident that hap-

pened in the doing of a lawful Act : But if this

Man had fhot at a tame Fowl, wherein another

had Property, but not with Intention to ileal it,

and by fuch fhooting had accidentally kill'd a

Man, he would then have been guilty of Man-
flaughter, becaufe done in Profecution of an un-

lawful Action, viz. committing a Trefpafs on
another's Property : But if he had had an Inten-

tion of ilealing this tame Fowl, then fuch acci-

dental killing of a Man would have been Murder,

becaufe done in Profecution of a felonious Intent,

viz. an Intent to ileal. So a Man of Malice in-

tends to burn one Houfe, in Execution thereof

he happens to burn another Houie ; this is a ma-
licious and felonious burning of this other Houfe,

becaufe fprung out of a malicious and felonious

Intent. The like may be inflanced where Poyfon

is intended to be given to one Perfon, and another

takes and eats it, and thereby dies. And other

Cafes there are of the like Nature, where Acts

done in Profecution of felonious Intents, partici-

pate of the Nature of their Original from whence

they fpring.

But now the Indictment on this Statute is for

a certain particular Intent ; for purpofcly, ma-

licioufly, and by lying in wait, flitting Mr. Crifpe's

Nofe, with an Intention in fo doing to maim or

disfigure : And you are to confider, whether the

Ingredients neceflary to make this a Felony with-

in the Statute, have been proved to your Satis-

faction. The Facts neceflary to be proved on

this Indictment are, that on Purpofe, and of Ma-
lice fore-thought, and by lying in wait, then un-

lawfully flit the Nofe of Mr. Crifpe, with Inten-

tion in fo doing to maim or disfigure. As to

the Fact of flitting the Nofe, that is directly and

pofitively fworn: There can be no doubt but

that it was an unlawful flitting. Then the next

Thing for your Confideration will be, whether

this unlawful flitting was on Purpofe, of Malice

fore-thought, and by lying in wait. As to this,

a great deal of Evidence hath been given ; and

what pafs'd before, and at the Time of the Fact,

will guide you herein. And if on a Review of

the Evidence, you fhall be of Opinion, that this

unlawful flitting of the Nofe was on Purpofe, of

Malice fore-thought, and by lying in wait ; then

the next Queflion will be, whether this was an

Intention to disfigure? Facts do in fome meafure

explain themfelves ; and the Circumflances pre-

ceding and accompanying thofe Facts, and the

Manner of doing them, do many times more fully

explain and declare the Intent of the Party. The
Prifoner Mr. Coke, (which Defence goes both to

him and Woodburne) infifls, that their Intention

v/as to murder, and not to maim; and that if

they did maim or flit the Nofe, it was with an

Intention to kill, and not with an Intention to

maim or disfigure. On the other Side, it is in-

filled on by the King's Counfel, that tho' the ul-

timate Intention might be to murder, yet there

might be alfo an Intention to maim and disfigure $

and tho' the one did not take effect, yet the other

might: An Intention to kill, doth not exclude

an Intention to maim and disfigure. The Inflru-

ment made ufe of in this Attempt was a Bill or

Hedging-hook, which in its own Nature is proper

for cutting and maiming ; and where it doth cut

or maim, doth neceflarily, and by confequence

dis-
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disfigure. The Attempt intended on Mr. Crifpe

was Immediately to his Perfon, to do him a per-

fonal Injury. Befides, the Manner of doing and

perpetrating this Fact is proper to be confidered

;

That it was done by Violence, and in the dark,

where the AfTailant could not well make any Di-

ftinction of Blows ; but kncck'd and cut on any

Part of Mr. Crifpe's Body, where he could, till he

had funk him down, and done to him whatever

elfe he pleas'd. And if the Intention was to

murder, your are to confider, whether the Means

made ufe of, in order to effect and accomplifh

that Murder, and the Confequences of thofe

Means, were not in the Intention and Defign of

the Party ; and whether every Blow and Cut,

and the Confequences thereof, were not intended,

as well as the End for which it is alledg'd thofe

Blows and Cuts were given.

All thefe feveral Things, which I have men-

tioned, are proper for your Confideration : You

will add to them your own Obfervations ; and if,

upon the whole, you are fatisfied from the Evi-

dence, that Woodburne did on Purpofe, and of

Malice fore-thought, and by lying in wait, un-

lawfully flit the Nofe of Edward Crifpe, with In-

tention, in fo doing, to maim or disfigure ; and

that Arundel Coke was felon ioufly prefent at the

Commiffion of this Fact, and aiding and abetting

therein; then you will find them Guilty: But if

this hath not been prov'd to your Satisfaction,

then you are to acquit them, and find them Not
Guilty.

'Then the Jury withdrew to confider of their

Verdicl, and in about half an Hour returned

again.

CI. of the Arr. Gentlemen* anfwer to, your

Names.

Here, and fo the reft.

CI. of the Arr. Gendemen, are you all agreed

on your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

CI. of the Arr. Who fhall fay for you \

Jury. Our Foreman.
CI. of the Arr. John Woodbourne, hold up thy

Hand ; (which he did.) Look upon the Prifoner.

How fay you, is John Woodburne Guilty of the

Felony whereof he ftands indicted, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

CI. of the Arr. What Goods or Chattels, Lands
or Tenements ?

Foreman. None to our Knowlege.
CI. of the Arr. Arundel Coke alias Cooke, hold

up thy Hand ; (which, he did.) How fay you ?

Is Arundel Coke alias Cooke, Guilty of the Felony
whereof he ftands indicted, or Not Guilty ?

Foreman. Guilty.

CI. of the Arr. What Goods or Chattels, Lands
or Tenements ?

Foreman. None to our Knowlege ?

CI. of the Arr. Then hearken to your Verdict,
as the Court hath recorded it. You fay, that

John Woodburne is Guilty of the Felony whereof
he ftands indicted: You fay, that Arundel Coke
alias Cooke, is Guilty of the Felony whereof he
ftands indicted ; and that neither they, nor either
or them, had any Goods or Chattels, Lands or
Tenements at the Time of the Felony committedj
or at any Time fince, to your Knowlege. And
fo you fay all.

Jury. Yes.

Mr. Coke. I defire to know of your Lordfhip,

whether the Nofe can be faid to be flit within the

Meaning of this Statute, when the Edge of it was
not cut through ?

L. C. Jufl. It is true, the Edge of the Nofe
was not flit, but the Cut was athwart the Nofe

j

which Cut feparated the Fkfh of the Nofe, and
cut it quite through into the Noftril : This I take

to be a Slittina of the Nofe ; and the Surgeon
fwore the Nofe was flit.

On Wednefday the 14th of March, John
Woodburne, Arundel Coke alids Cooke,
and one Edward Shorter, who was con-

victed of Burglary, were brought to the

Bar, in order to receive their Sentence,

and the Court proceeded thus.

CLerk of the Arr. John Woodburne, hold up
thy Hand ; which he did.

Thou haft been indicted of Felony, on the

Statute; for purpofely, malicioufly, and by ly-

ing in wait, flitting the Nofe of Edward Crifpe,

Gent, with Intention in fb doing, to maim or

disfigure him. Thou haft been thereupon ar-

raigned, thou haft pleaded thereunto Not Guilty,

and for thy Trial, thou haft put thyfelf upon
God and thy Country, which Country hath

found thee Guilty ; what haft thou to fay for thy

felf, why the Court fhould not proceed to give

Judgment of Death upon thee, and award Exe-
cution according to the Law ?

To which Woodburne faid nothing.

CI. of Arr. Arundel Coke alias Cooke, hold up
thy Hand ; (which he did.)

Thou haft been indicted of Felony, on the Sta-

tute^ for being felonioufly prefent, aiding and
abetting John Woodburne, in purpofely, malici-

oufly, and by lying in wait, flitting the Nofe of
Edward Crifpe, Gent, with Intention in fo doing,

to maim or disfigure him. Thou haft been there-

upon arraigned, thou haft pleaded thereunto Not
Guilty, and for thy Trial thou haft put thyfelf

upon God and thy Country •, which Country hath

found thee Guilty ; what haft thou to fay for thy

felf, why the Court fhould not proceed to give

Judgment of Death upon thee, and award Exe-
cution according to the Law ?

Mr. Coke. Tho' your Lordfhip did not think

it proper Yefterday to affign me Counfel, yet I

hope : your Lordfhip will now give me leave to

fpeak for myfelf; efpecially fince T am the firft

unhappy Inftance of an Indictment on this Statute

»

no Indictment, as far as it appears by the Law-
Books, was ever yet founded on this Statute, and

therefore ought to be very well weighed.

L. C. Juff. Call the King's Counfel, that they

may hear what is faid. (<£hen the King*s Counfel

were fent for, and being come :)

L. C. Just. Mr. Coke, you may now go on

v/ith what you have to offer.

Mr. Coke. My Lord, I was faying, that I am
the firft unhappy Inftance of an Indictment on

this Statute ; no Indictment, as far as appeals by

the Law-Books, was ever yet founded on this

Statute; and therefore it ought to be very well

weigh'd, efpecially in the firft Inftance to which

it appears to have been ever applied. It is a very

penal Statute, and confequently by the known Rule

of Law not to be carried beyond the exprefs Letter

of
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of it ; confequently no Crime, of what Nature Statute, or an old one made more penal, the ut-

or Magnitude foever, can fall within the Pur- mod Stri&nefs has always been us'd to comply

view of it, but fuch as is identically the fame in with the Letter of the Statute, whatever Incon-

every Circumflance with that defcribed by the veniencies might refult from fuch a Reftraint.

Words of the Statute itfelf. As for Example :

The Crime defcrib'd by the Statute is the By the Statute of the 39 Eliz. cap. 14. Clergy

unlawful cutting out, or difabling the Tougue, is taken away from any Perfon or Perfons who

putting out an Eye, flitting the Nofe, cutting off fhall be convicted of taking any Money, Goods

a Nofe or Lip, or difabling any Limb or Mem- or Chattels out of any Dwelling-houfe, &V. in

ber, attended with thefe particular Circum- the Day time, to the Value of five Shillings,

fiances

:

One Evans and one Winch were indicted on this

Firft, On Purpofe and of Malice fore-thought. Statute, 1 Croke 473. Evans and Finch's Cafe:

Secondly, By lyino- in wait. The Cafe was thus upon the Evidence, That

Thirdly, With Intention in fo doing to maim Evans by a Ladder climbed to the upper Win-

or disfigure in any of the Manners beforementi- dow of one Dudley's Houfe, and took out thereof

oned in the Statute. f°rty Pounds ; and that Finch flood upon the

Thefe Circumftances muft all concur to con- Ladder in view of Evans> and faw Evans in the

flitute that particular Crime defcribed by the Chamber, and was aflifting and helping to the

Statute ; and where any of them are wanting, of committing of the Robbery, and took part of

what Magnitude foever the Offence may be, it the Money: Upon a fpecial Verdict it was ad-

is not the Offence which the Statute has fpe- judged, that becaufe Finch did not actually enter

cified. the Chamber, and take the Money, though what

If the firft Circumflance be wanting, no Man he did amounted to a taking by Conflruction of

can fay that any Offence, though attended with Law, and was fuch a taking as made him a

the two other, can fall within the Statute ; this is Felon ; yet the very Letter of all penal Statutes

fufficiently plain of itfelf. muft be purfued, and therefore 155, id eft, Finch^

As to the fecond ; A and B, of Malice fore- had his Clergy, and Evans was hanged,

thought, appoint and meet to fight a Duel; A Numerous Cafes might be put of this kind of

in the Rencounter runs B into the Eye, and puts Nicety in the Conflruction of penal Statutes.

it out ; no Body has ever imagined this to be To mention but one more : By the Statute of

within the Statute, becaufe the Circumflance of 1 Edw. 6 cap. 12. Clergy is taken away from

lying in wait is here wanting. fuch Perfons as fhall be convicted for the feloni-

As to the third ; fuppofe A lies in wait to rob ous ftealing of Horfes, Geldings or Mares.

B, B refills, and in the Scuffle is wounded, as So fcrupuloufly did the Judges adhere to the

the Statutes defcribes, but gets off". This is a Letter of this Law, that there was forced to be

Cafe which very frequently happens, yet no one another Statute made, viz. 2 £5? 3 Edw. VI. cap.

ever thought it to be within the Statute, nor was 33. to enact, That a Perfon convicted for felo-

any one ever indicted for this upon it : The only nioufly ftealing one Horfe, fhould be oufled of

Reafon of which muft be, becaufe the Intention his Clergy in the fame manner as if he had flole

was to rob, and not to maim and disfigure the two.

Perfon. Nor is it in this Cafe enough to fay, the Jury

In my Cafe, if it be taken upon the Evidence are Judges of all this : For as the Evidence now
of Mr. Crijpe, nothing more appears than the appears, and is admitted, it is Matter of Law,

how far this Evidence thus admitted on all Hands
is fufficient to fupport this Indictment. If it

were in a civil Cafe, the Party might demur to

the Evidence. But if he is not allowed that Li-

AfTault itfelf: If my Confeflion be read, the ly-

ing in wait, and the Malice fore-thought will be

proved ; but then it will be likewife proved, that

I had no other Intention but to kill, and had no

other part, but by giving Orders to Woodburne berty in criminal Cafes, it is upon the common
for that Purpofe ; and my Confeflion muft be Notion, that the Judges are the Prifoner's Coun-
taken together. fel ; and are obliged to determine all the Matters

Nor is it an Objection to fay, that the Crime in Law arifing upon the Evidence, as much as if

which is proved by the Evidence is much worfe the Perfons had demurred to that Evidence,

than that which is defcribed by the Statute ; for And, as in this Cafe, the Pnfoner admits the

if it is worfe, then it cannot be the fame. Even Evidence given to be true, and infifls upon it,

in Cafes of Crimes by the common Law, if up- that it doth not fupport the Indictment ; and

on an Indictment for a Crime of an inferior Na- therefore has a Right to have the Opinion of the

ture, the Evidence proves the Fact attended with Judges thereupon, as much as if the Evidence

Circumftances which brings it within the Defcrip- were flated at length upon the Record (as it muft

tion of a Crime of a fuperior Nature, the Per- be in the Cafe of a Demurrer to Evidence) and

fon indicted muft be acquitted. At Summer nothing ought to be left to the Jury, but under

Aflizes at Dorchejler, Anno 17 12, a Woman was the Judges Directions as to Point of Law.
indicted before Mr. Juftice Eyre, for the Mur- In all thefe Cafes therefore, my Lord, it has

der of another Woman ; upon this Evidence it been ufual to allow the Fact to be fpecially found;

appeared, that the Perfon murdered was her which gives the Prifoner the Advantage he might
Miftrefs, which made the Crime Petty-Treaibn. have had by the Demurrer to the Evidence.

The Judge directed this Matter to be fpecially Serj. Selby. My Lord, I do agree with the

found, and upon Conference with all the Judges Prifoner at the Bar, that this is a very penal

it was held, fhe ought to be acquitted upon this Statute, and that thefe Facts muft be made out

Indictment, as fhe accordingly was ; and was af- to bring his Cafe within the Letter of the Act,

viz. An Intention or Purpofe, of Malice, fore-

thought, to maim or disfigure in fuch a Man-
ner as the Statute defcribes ; a lying in wait for

that

terwards indicted for Petty-Treafon, and con-
victed and executed thereupon.

Where a new Offence has been created by
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that Purpofe ; a maiming, or disfiguring ac-

cordingly ; and an abetting and being privy to

thefe Facts : Thefe are all Facts which the Jury

only could determine, either by pofitive, pre-

fumptive, or circumftantial Evidence for no

Man's Thoughts or Intentions can be otherwife

proved than by his Actions. My Lord Chief

Juftice hath left the whole Evidence @f thefe

Facts to the Jury, who by their Verdict have

found all thefe Facts as laid in the Indictment^

againft which nobody can now open his Mouth :

We apprehend therefore that no Matter of Law
hath anfen, and that what hath been infilled on

by the Prifoner, is befide his Cafe, and needs no

An'fwer.

Serj. Branthwait. My Lord, the Jury have

found him Guilty. I apprehend nothing can

properly be alledged now by Mr. Coke, that is

contrary to the Verdict : If there is any Fault in

the Indictment, we are ready to anfwer any Ob-

jections he (hall make againft it... That he does

not pretend to. What is now offered by him is

againft the Verdict, and contrary to what is

found by the Jury. I beg your Lordfhip's Leave

to give an Anfwer to the Objections he is pleafed

to make againft the Verdict, however improperly

and out of Time made, for the Satisfaction of

himfelf, and of the Perfons here prefent. I a-

gree a penal Act fhall not be conftrued by

Equity, or carried further than the Words or

Letter of the Act* as the Cafes mentioned by

him to prove •, but affirm, that this prefent Cafe

is within the Words and Meaning of the Act :

For though the ultimate Intent of Mr. Coke might

be to murder Mr. Crifpe (as by him is alledged

in Excufe of himfelf) all the Means made ufe of

to effect that Intent were alfo on Purpofe, and

fuch Blows could not be given by an Inftrument,

without an Intent to maim and disfigure; They
were given by one lying in wait on Purpofe ; and

the Fact and Manner of doing the fame fufficient-

ly prove, and are a certain and neceffary Indica-

tion of the Intent. The Defendants might have

an Intent to cut off, or flit the Nofe ; put out an

Eye, or difmember •, and an Intent alfo to kill

and deftroy •, one Intent did take effect, the other

not. The Defendants ought not to anfwer for

what was not done, but ought to anfwer for

what was done which was the flitting of Mr. Crijpe's

Nofe, on Purpofe to maim and disfigure him, by

one lying in wait ; which is all that is required by

the Act.

As to the Objection •, that if A and B go to-

gether to fight a Duel, if A flit the Nofe of B,

this is not within the Act s the Reafon is, becaufe

there is no lying in wait.

As to the Cafe of A lying in wait to rob B, I

with great Submifllon do fay, that if A lie in

wait to rob B, and to effect that Purpofe with

the greater Eafe, A on purpofe difmembers B, or

puts out his Eyes, or does any other Fact prohi-

bited by the Act ; though A be hindered from
robbing B, he is within the Act of Parliament

;

for the Intent and Purpofe to rob, will be no Ex-
cufe to one that fhall commit the Facts prohibited

by the Act.

As to the Cafe of Evans and Finch, Cr. Car.

473. on 39 El. which takes away the Clergy
from him that enters and fteals : Finch was not

within the Statute, and had his Clergy ; for the

exprefs Words of the Statute take away the

Clergy from him that enters the Houfe, which
Vol. VI.

Finch did not. As to the Indictment of a Ser-

vant for Murder, in killing her Miftrefs ; it is

plain, that it is a Crime of a higher Degree than
Murder, it is an Offence of another Species, ic

is Petty-Treafon and not Murder.

The fame Anfwer may be given to the other

Cafes mentioned, where the Words of an Act of
Parliament are exprefs. No Cafe fhall be con-
ftrued within a penal Act, but what is within the

Words : But as to the prefent Cafe, the Jury
have found every Fact that the Act of Parlia-

ment requires, that an unlawful Affault was made
on Mr. Crifpe by the Prifoners ; that his Nofe
was flit on Purpofe to maim and disfigure him,
by lying in wait. And all thefe Facts were prov-
ed by plain, clear, and I believe convincing Evi-
dence, to every Perfon that heard the Trial. I

am fure the Prifoners can't complain of any Hard-
fhip done them ; the Profecution was carried on
for the Sake of Juftice, for the Safety of his Ma-
jefty's Subjects. This being the firft Inftance of
a Crime fo heinous, cruel, barbarous and inhuman,
that has been committed fince the making the

Act of Parliament, it is hoped by this Profecution

a fecond will never be committed ; for which Rea-
fon, I pray your Lordfhip's Judgment for the King
againft the Prifoners.

Mr. Raby. My Lord, I did expect at this time
I fhould have heard, from this unhappy Gentle-
man, fomething in Arreft of Judgment ; fome-
thing to fhew that this Indictment and Record,
now before your Lordfhip in Judgment, had
been inefficient, and fuch as your Lordmip could
not have proceeded upon to give Judgment againft

the Prifoners : But I don't perceive any thing
has been objected to this Indictment or Record ;

and therefore fince nothing appears, or is object-

ed they muft be taken to be fufficient, and
fuch as your Lordfhip ought by Law to give

Judgment upon againft the Prifoners now at the

Bar.

But this Gentleman has been pleafed to take
Notice of the Act of Parliament on which this

Profecution is founded : He has alfo made fome
mention of the Facts which have been given in

Evidence againft him ; and cited fome Cafes (as

I apprehend) to fhew, that penal Statutes, and
criminal Acts of Parliament, ought not in Con-
ftruction to be carried beyond the Letter and
Words of the Act. This which he has offered

(as I take it) is now meant to fhew (or at leaft

that he apprehends) that from the Evidence given,

it has not fully appeared he is guilty of the Offence

with which he ftands charged^ within the ftrict

Words and Meaning of this Act of Parliament :

And for this End he has been pleafed to make fome
Obfervations from the Words of the Statute, what
Things he apprehends to be neceffary to bring him
within the Compafs of this Act, viz. That fuch

Wound or Maiming, as is defcribed by the Sta-

tute, ought to be,

i. On Purpofe,- and of Malice fore-thought.

2. By lying in wait.

3. With an Intention to disfigure.

All thefe have been already admitted to him ;

and he will fee every one of thefe Circumflances

not only taken Notice of by us in our Obferva-

tions upon the Evidence, but alfo more fully by
your Lordfhip, before the Jury gave their Ver-

dict.

But with what Intent this Fact was done, whe-

ther of Malice fcre-thought, by lying in wait,

G g and
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and with Intent to disfigure, are Circumftances

only to be collected from the Evidence and the

Facts themfelves •, of which neither we nor the

Court can determine, but can only be enquired

of, and determined by the Jury ; and therefore,

though it would be a full Anfwer to what is now

objected, to fay, that the Jury have confidered

of the Evidence, have determined upon it, and

found you guilty of the Indictment, with all

thofe Circumftances which the Prifoner objects

are neceffary to bring the Offence within the

Statute ; though this, I fay, might be Anfwer

;

yet for the Juftice of this Proceeding, and to

fatisfy the Prifoner in his own Objections, and

that they fhould not pafs unanfwered, your

Lordfhip will permit me to take Notice of the

Cafes cited, and alfo to recollect the Evidence,

fo far as the Prifoner hath made it neceffary to

repeat it.

I confefs, it is with Concern I mention it again ;

for I would not do any thing which might add

to the Weight of thofe Afflictions which this un-

happy Gentleman is under, had not he him-

felf made it neceffary to take farther Notice

of it.

As to the Cafes cited, only two of them which

he mentions are cited to be adjudged ; that at

Dorchefter by Mr. Juftice Eyre, that a Woman
was indicted for Murder, and upon Evidence it

appeared to a different Offence, viz. Petit-Trea-

fon, for fhe had killed her Miftrefs ; and that

thereupon Mr. Juftice Eyre caufed her to be in-

dicted for Petit-Treafon, and fhe was convicted.

Certainly, my Lord, that Judgment was right,

and very juft •, for when it appeared upon Evi-

dence that fhe was guilty of a diftinct and dif-

ferent Offence than -that of which fhe flood in-

dicted, could any Thing be more juft, than to

caufe her to be indicted for that Offence, of

which, upon the Nature of the Evidence, fhe

appeared to be guilty ? The fecond Cafe cited of

Evans and Finch (which is reported in Cro. Car.)

is no more than this : Evans went up a Ladder,

opened a Chamber Window in the 'Temple, went

in and robbed the Chamber in the Day-time ;

Finch held the Ladder, and flood at the Foot of

it when Evans entered : Evans was hang'd, Finch

had his Clergy, and was only burnt in the Hand ;

and with great Reafon : For the Statute, 39 Eliz.

which takes away Clergy, takes the Clergy

only from him that enters •, and therefore to have

taken the Clergy from Finch who did not enter,

had been unjuft and reafonable. And as to what

is mentioned of the Statute 2 ci? 3 Ed. VI. cap. 33.
made in Explanation of the Statute which took

Clergy from him who ftole Horfes, and to take

Clergy from him who ftole only one Horfe, there

is fuch an Act of Parliament ; but this Act and
the Cafes cited, only fhew that Regard has al-

ways been had, not to extend penal Statutes be-

yond the Words of them. But before thefe

Cafes were mentioned fand indeed had they ne-

ver been citedJ this Rule of Conftruction had
been allowed to the Prifoner ; for all the Parti-

culars now infifted on by the Prifoner were be-

fore taken Notice of by the Court, as Circum-

ftances neceffary to make out the Offence againfl

the Prifoner : Nor has one of thofe Circumftan-

ces paffed without Obfervation ; but the Court
did with great Juftice before declare thofe Cir-

cumftances to be neceffary Ingredients to prove

this Offence. And as to the other Cafes, they

are to the fame Purpofe, and not cited as Cafes
adjudged •, and therefore I need not take further

Notice of them. But certainly no Inferences can
be drawn from the Cafes cited, or any the leaft

Colour to fay,- thofe Cafes prove that the Prifo-

ner is not guilty of the Offence he ftands charged
with, and of which he is convicted.

I am forry he has given this Occafion to men-
tion again the Fact which has been proved, from
whence it appears that the Jury have given an im-
partial and juft Verdict.

It cannot be forgot;, that this was confulted

and premeditated for three Years and more be-

fore it was put in execution , and therefore it was
certainly purpofed and of Malice fore-thought j

alfo that it was by lying in wait. Certainly this

unhappy Gentleman cannot have forgot the Sig-

nal he gave : And to what Purpofe was that

Signal, if none was in waiting to hear it ? And
that this was with an Intent to disfigure, muft
be fubmitted upon the Fact and the Evidence.

A Man ufes a Weapon fit to maim and to dif-

figure, he cuts another on the Face and does dif-

figure him, fhall he afterwards be at Liberty to

fay, it was not his Intent fo to do ? How dan-
gerous that would be, is obvious to every one ;

this Act would then be eafily eluded, if it frtould

be fufficient, if it fhould avail an Offender, who
has maim'd and disfigur'd another, to fay, Prove
that I intended it : It would be eafy then to be
out of the Reach of this Act of Parliament •, in-

deed if that prevailed, none would be within it,

it would be an eafy Repeal of this Law. 'Tis

objected, his Intent was to kill : He that intends

the End, certainly intends the Means, efpecially

thofe Means which he ufes ; and the Means ufed

were cutting Mr. Crifpe on the Face, and dif-

figuring him ; and the Weapon is fuch, that by

cutting him on the Face with that Weapon, could

lefs be intended or expected ? And if the Intent

does not appear from this Fact, fure it never can

from any : The Intent of a Man's Mind cannot

appear but from the Act which proceeds from his

Mind.

It is faid, this is the firft Indictment on this

Statute : I believe there hath not been many 3

for this is an Offence fo barbarous, that I muft:

agree it is fuch as feldom happens, and that by

the general Laws of our Country, there was not

a Punifhment provided equal to this Offence

:

For our Laws, (as the Laws of moft Nations alfo

do,) provide againfl Offences which moft fre-

quently happen : But this is an Attempt fo bar-

barous, that it was fcarce imagined any Man
could be fo bafe and wicked as to attempt any

thing like it, until it happened in the Cafe of

Sir John Coventry ; and then fuch an Abhorrence

was fhewn by the Parliament, that this Law
was made to punifh it, and to prevent the like

for the future : And as this is the like Offence,

it ought in Juftice to have the like Punifh-

ment.

I fhall add no more, but pray your Lordfhip's

Judgment.
Mr. Lee. My Lord, the Obfervations made at

the Bar being after a Verdict, and therefore out

of Time, I fhall not trouble your Lordfhip with

a Repetition of the Facts that have been proved,

further than the Prifoner has made it neceffary tor

me to mention fome Particulars, in order to make
the Anfwers to what he hath infifted on the more

clear and plain.

I believe
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I believe it has been truly faid by the Prifoner,

that the prefent Profecution is the firft Inftance

of any Proceedings on this Statute, and I hope

it will be the laft ; becaufe it is to be hoped there

never will be found any other Perfon fo wicked,

as to give Occafion for a Profecution on this

Statute.

I believe likewife, that the true Defign of ma-

king this Statute was to fubject Perfons to Death,

who intended to maim only, where the maiming
Was in fuch manner as is mentioned in the Sta-

tute; but I can't think that it does from thence

Follow, that a Perfon who intends to murder,

and only maims, is not within this Statute ; for

though it fhould be taken that there was an In-

tention to murder, yet from the Fact done, from

the manner of doing it, and from the Weapon
made ufe of, it feems apparent that the Prifoner

intended to maim ; and the jury have now found

that he did fo intend.

, As to the Cafes which the Prifoner has cited;

I beg leave to confider each of them, and offer

fuch Anfwers to them as now occur.

The firft Cafe he has been pleas'd tb
:

cite; is

thus put : ..

A and B, of Malice fore-thought; appoint to

meet and fight a Duel, A in the Rencounter runs

B into the Eye, and puts it out: The Prifoner

fays; fuch a Cafe would not be within this Sta-

tute.

I agree it would not, becaufe this Cafe has

not the Circumftances which the Statute requires j

for in the Cafe thus put there is no lying in

wait, which is a Circumftance required by the

Statute. ,

It is faid; that if A lies in wait to rob 5, J3

refifts, and in the Scuffle is maim'd in the Man-
ner defcrib'd by the Statute, that fuch maiming
woujd not be punifhable by this Statute; but I

don't obferve any Cafe is cited to prove this Af-
fertion : And I am; with Submifiion to your
Lordfhip, inclin'd to think, that if there are a

lying in wait; with Malice fore-thought, with
Intent to rob; and in profecuting this Intent the

Robbers fhould aflault and maim in the Manner
deicribed by the Statute, that fuch maiming would
be within this Statute.

It is faid, that though the Intent to murder
makes the Offence worfe than if the Intent had
been only to maim, yet fuch Intent proves it not
to be the fame Offence which is mentioned in the

Statute : And if a Man be indicted of an Of-
fence of an inferior Nature, and upon the Evi-
dence it appears that he is guilty of an Offence
of a fuperior Nature, the Perfon indicted mufl
be acquitted ; and to prove this* a Gafe is cited,

which is faid to have been before Mr. Juftice
Eyre at Borchejler Affizes. The Cafe, as put, is

this: A Woman is indicted for the Murder of
another Woman, on the Evidence it appeared,
that the Perfon murdered was her Miftrefs, which
made the Crime Petty-Treafon : This was found
fpecially, and upon Conference with the judges;
they were of Opinion, that the Woman ought
to be acquitted upon this Indictment.

Admitting this Cafe to have been adjudg-
ed, I apprehend it does not affect the prefent
Cafe.

The Law has diftinguifhed Crimes under dif-

ferent Denominations •, and as Offences are rank'd
under different Species, fo the Indictment muft
be fuited to that fort of Crime whereof the Party

Vol. VI.
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is guilty •, and therefore proving a Perfon guilty

of a Fact, known in the Law by the Name of
Petty-Treafon, does not prove him guilty of an
Indictment for Murder; Murder being an Of-

fence which the Law has diftinguifhed from Petty-

Treafon, and to which it has affigned a different

Punifhment.

But in the prefent Cafe, that Offence which
is charged in the Indictment, is proved in every

Circumftance, and the Facts proved do confti-

tute that Crime which is made Felony without

Clergy by the Statute. The Statute requires ly-

ing in wait, it requires Malice fore-thought* it

requires flitting the Nofe, &c. with intent to

maim, csV. The Indictment charges thefe Facts 5

the Witneffes have proved thefe Facts to the

Satisfaction of a Jury, which have found the De-
fendant guilty of the Charge as laid.

The Prifoner fays farther, that this is a very

penal Statute, and that penal Statutes are al-

ways taken with the utmoft Striclnefs; and to

prove this, cites a Cafe adjudged on the Statute

39 Eliz. by which Statute Clergy is taken away
from any Perfon or Perfons, who fhall be con-

victed of taking away Money, C5V. in any Dwel-
Jing-houfe, &c. in the Day-time, to the Value

of five Shillings : And to prove the fame Mat-
ter, an Inftance is likewife put of the Conftruc-

tion on the Statute, i Eliz. cap. 12. which takes

away Clergy from fuch Perfons as fhall be con-

vict of felonioufly ftealing Horfes, &c. The
Cafe in the Statute %g Eliz. is the Cafe of Evans
and Finchi Cro. Car. 473. in which Cafe Finch

had his Clergyj becaufe he did not actually enter

the Chamber and take the Money. The Con-
ftruction on Ed. VI. was, that Clergy was not

taken away from a Perfon who felonioufly ftole

one Horfe.

But I apprehend neither of thefe Cafes come
up to the Cafe now before your Lordfhip. As
to the Cafe of Evans and Finch, waich was a

Cafe upon the Statute 39 Eliz. By that Statute

a Perfon is , oufted of Clergy who takes away

Money to the Value of five Shillings in any

Dwelling-houfe, &Vi Finch did not enter into

the Houfe, for he only ftood On the Ladder i

and therefore he was not within the Words of

that Statute, which fpoke only of Perfons who
took away Goods in an Houfe, &c.

As to the Conftruction upon the Statute

1 Ed. VI. it is plain that the felonious ftealing

one Horfe could not be within an Act of Parlia-

ment which took away Clergy only from fuch

Perfons as felonioufly ftole Horfes. The Reafon

therefore of thefe Cafes was, that the Facts proved

did not bring the Perfons accufed within the

Words of the Statute.

But it is not fo in the Cafe ho# before ydur

Lordfhip ; for the Prifoner is found guilty of a

Fact, which is within the Words of the Statute

upon which he is indicted ; and every Circum=

ftance required to make him guilty of the Felony

mentioned in the, Statute has been very fully

proved.

My Lord; I am very fenfible that the Ob-
jections taken at the Bar being after Verdict,

did not require thefe particular Anfwers ; but

this being a Cafe wherein Life is concerned, I hope

the Impropriety will be excus'd.

L. C. Jusl. I do agree with the Prifoner, that

this is a penal Law^ and hot to be extended by

Equity: That he that is guilty within this Sta-

G g a ftitej
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tute, muft be guilty of all the Circumftances

within if, and if any one of the Circumftances

prefcribed by the Statute be wanting, he is

not guilty. And therefore in all thofe Cafes

put by you, if any one of the Circumftances

prefcribed by the Statute be wanting in any one

of them, fuch Cafe is out of the Statute. But

whether all the Circumftances required by the

Statute did not concur in your Cafei was a Matter

of Fad, which the Jury^ who are the proper

Judges, have tried ; and on fuch Trial they have

found them all to concur. .You feem fo argue

upon a Suppofition of this Fact to be otherwife

than the Jury have found it. The Jury have

found you guilty of all the Circumftances within

the Statute. There was no Matter of Law in this

Cafe, but Matter of Fact; whether on Purpofe,

and of Malice fore-thought, and by lying in

wait, the Nofe of Mr. Crifpe was not flit, with

Intention, in fo doing, to maim or disfigure;

and whether you were not felonioufly prefent*

aiding and abetting. The Jury had the whole

Evidence before them; they confidered of the

whole Matter, of the Preparation and lying in

wait to do the Fact, of the Fact itfelfj of the

Means and Inftrument made ufe of to do it, of

the Manner of doing it, and of all the other Cir-

cumftances and Particulars relating to the FacT:

:

And on the whole, after they had withdrawn,

and confider'd amongft themfelves for fome time,

they have found you guilty within the Terms
and Circumftances of the Statute; fo that tho*

all the Cafes put by you fhou'd be very good

Law, yet they do not any wife affect yours, be-

caufe you are actually found guilty of the Crime
itfelf : Have you therefore any thing to fay againft

the Indictment itfelf?

Mr. Coke. No, my Lord ; 1 hope I have one

Glimpfe more from the King's moft gracious Par-

don, that was publifhed in the Gazette.

X. C. Juft. If you offer any Pardon by Act of
Parliament, or under the Great Seal, I muft take

notice of it, and allow it to you ; but if you mean
only a Promife of a Pardon in the Gazette, or

other public Advertifement, you muft apply
for that in another place; this doth not belong
to me.

Mr. Coke. I hope that I fhall have the Benefit

of the Pardon that was promifed, and that his

Majefty, will be gracioufly pleafed to grant it

me.

X. C. Juft. If you have a Right to it, you
need not doubt but you will have it : His Majefty
is fo juft, that he will make good whatfoever he
hath promifed; but for this, your Application
muft be immediately to his Majefty.

Mr. Coke. I beg of your Lordfhip that you
will give me Time, that I may not be hurried
out of the World prefently.

L. C. Juft. I fhall confider of itj and give you
a convenient Time.

CI. of Arr. Cryer, make an O Tes.

Cryer. Our Sovereign Lord the King doth
ftraitly charge and command all manner of Per-
fons to keep Silence, whilft Judgment is giving
upon the Prifoners convicted, upon Pain of Im-
prifonment.

X. C. Juft. You that are the Prifoners at the

Bar, you have been indidted and convi&ed of
very great and heinous Offences ; I am very forry

that you have been the Occafion of bringing your

felves to unfortunate Ends, and that there is this

melancholy Neceflity on me to pronounce the

Sentence of Death upon you : But on fair Trials

the Jury have found you guilty, and by the Law
you have forfeited your Lives.

Mr. Coke. My Lord.) I am afhamed of my
felf; I did not expect to appear at this Time in

this Place, where I have appear'd in another

manner.

X. C. Juft. I am fufe; Mr. Coke, you ought

ferioufly to reflect on your paft Life : You can-

not but own that you have been a great Sinner;

you have had Malice in your Heart againft this

Gentleman above three Years.

Mr. Coke. Indeed^ my Lord, I know nothing

of it.

X. C Juft. Moon hath fworn, that three Years,

br three Years and a half ago, you fent to him,

and propos'd to ^hirrs the knocking Mr. Crifpe on
the Head.

Mr. Coke. I do declare it, my Lord, as I fhall

anfwer it at the Great Day, I never fpoke to

Moon about any fuch Thing.

L. C. Juft. Suppoftng what Moon hath faid

to be too much, yet the Grimes you own and
cannot deny are exceeding heinous. You own
that you invited your Brother to fup at your

Houfe, on purpofe that you might have an Op-
portunity of murdering him. This is fuch a
Crime as fhocks human Nature : The bare men-
tioning of it is frightful and terrible. The deeper

therefore your Crime is, the deeper your Repen-
tance ought to be. You have need to humble
yourfelves before Almighty God. Befides the

Judgment of the Law, there is alfo his Judg-
ment-Seat, before which you muft likewife ap-

pear : There all Things are naked and bare, with-

out Colour or Difguife; every Man muft there

appear, and receive according to the Truth of

his Actions, as they were good or bad. How far

it may pleafe God to extend his Mercy to you, I

know not ; he is infinite in Mercy as well as in

every other Perfection : And this we are fure,

that he never denies it to any who are prepared to

receive it. Endeavour therefore to reconcile your-

felves to him ; improve with Diligence the little

Time that may be allotted you : Send for proper

Perfons who may advife and aflift you : For as

to the Judgment of the Law which is to be now
pronounced upon you all, it is this

;

That you, and each of you, go from hence

to the Place from whence you came, and
from thence to the Place of Execution,

where you fhall be feverally hanged by
the Neck till you be feverally and reflec-

tively dead; and the Lord have Mercy
upon your Souls.

Then the Keeper carried away the Prifoners to

the Goal to be referved till their Execution. And
on Saturday the 31ft of March, 1722. they were

executed at Bury St. Edmond's*

cxciii. m
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CXCIII. The Trial of Chriftopher Layer, Efq; at the

Kings-Bench for High-Treafon^ Novemb, ai* 1722.

Mich. 9 Geo. I.

Die Mercurii 31 Die OBobris^ 1722.

[N Wednefday the 31ft of October,

Chriftopher Layer, Efqj was brought

to the Bar of the Court of King's-

Bench at Weftminfter, upon a Habeas

Corpus direfted to the Lieutenant of

the fower of London, in order to be arraigned on

an Indictment for High-Treafon in compafiing and

imagining the Death of the King, found by the

Grand Jury for the County of Effex before fpecial

Commiflioners of Oyer and Terminer.

Mr. Serj.Pengelly. My Lord, we pray the Re-

turn of the Habeas Corpus may be read.

Mr. Harcourt Clerk of the Crown reads the

Return of the Habeas Corpus, by which

it appear
1

'd that the Prifoner was committed

to the Tower for High-Treafon.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly* We pray that the Return

may be filed. , . ;

Sir John Frith - L. C. Juli. Let it be filed.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, there is an In-

dictment of High Treafon found in the County

of EJfex againft Mr. Chriftopher Layer, which hath

been removed into this Court by Certiorari ; the

Certiorari, and Return thereof hath been filed,

and the Prifoner is now brought into Court in or-

der to be arraigned.

L. C. Just. Read the Indictment

CI. of the Cr. Chriftopher Layer, hold up ybiir

Hand.

Tou ftand indicted by the Name of Chriftopher

Layer, late of the Parifh of St. Andrew's Hol-

bourn, in the County of Middlefex, Efq; For

that you being a Subject of our moft ferene Lord

GEORGE, now King of Great Britain,

France and Ireland, Defender of the Faith, &c.

not having the Fear of God in your Heart, nor

weighing the Duty of your Allegiance ; but being

moved and feduced by the Inftigation of the Devil,

as afalfe Traytor againft our faid Lord the King,

your Supreme, True, Lawful, and Undoubted

Lord; withdrawing that cordial Love^ arid true

and due Obedience, Fidelity, and Allegiance,

which every Subject of our faid Lord the King

towards Him jhould and of Right ought to bear %

and defigning, and with all your Might traiteroufly

intending the Government of this Kingdom, under

our faid Lord the King duly and happily eftabli/h'd,

to change^ alter, and fubvert ; and our faid Lord
the King of and from the Title, Honour, Royal

Eftate, Empire and Government of this Kingdom
to depofe and deprive ; and our faid Lord the

King to Death and final Deftruttion to bring and

draw ; and the Perfan during the Life of the late

King James the Second, pretended to be Prince of
Wales ; and after the Deceafe of the faid late

King, pretending to be, and taking upon himfelf

the Stile and Title Of King of England, by the

Name of James the Third, to the Crown, Royal

State and Dignity of King of this Kingdom, and to

the Empire, Government, and Poffeffion of the

fame, to exalt arid bring, the twenty-fifth Day

of Auguft, in the ninth Tear of the Reign of
our faid Sovereign LoYd the King that now is

;

and at divers other Days and Times, as well be-

fore as after, at Laytonftone in the faid County

of Eflex, falfely, inalicioufly, devilifhly, and

traiteroufly did compafs, imagine, and intend,

our faid Lord the King, your fuprCme; true, law-

ful, and undoubted Lord, of and from the Title,

Honour-, Royal Eftate, Empire and Government

of this Kingdom to depofe and deprive \
' and our

faid Lord the King to Death andfinal Deftruction

to put and bring. ' And thatyou the ^^Chrifto-
pher Layer, to nccomplijh and bring about your

faid Treafon, and devilifh and traitercus Intents

and Purpofes, did, with divers other falfe Tray-

tors to the Jurors unknown, on the faid twenty-

fifth Day of Auguft, in the faid Ninth Tear of
the Reign of our faid Lord the King; and at di-

vers other Days and T'imes, as well before as af-

ter, at Laytonftone aforefaid, in the faid County

of EfTex, by Force and Arms, &c. falfely, ma-

licioujly; devilifhly, and traiteroufly meet, propofe,

confult; confpire, confent and agree, to move,

raife, and levy Infurrettion, Rebellion, and War,
within this Kingdom againft our faid Lord the

King, for the traiterous Purpofes aforefaid. And
that you the faid Chriftopher Layer, for the

more effectual compIeating and perfecting thefaid

Treafon and traitorous Intentions and Purpofes,

on the faid twenty-fifth Day of Auguft, in the

Ninth Tear aforefaid, ^/Laytonftone aforefaid,

in the faid County of EfTex, by Force and Arms,

&c. malicioujly and traiteroufly did publifh a cer-

tain malicious; fediticus; and traiterous Writing,

containing and purporting (amongst other Things)

an Exhortation; Incitement; and prcmifes of

Rewards; the faithful Subjects of our faid Lord

the King, to perfuade move and excite, to take

up Arms, and to levy and make War within this

Realm, againft our faid Sovereign Lord the King,

for the traiterous Purpofes and Intentions afore-

faid. And thatyou the faid Chriftopher Layer
?

for the more effectual compleating and perfecting

the faid Treafon and traiterous Intentions and

Purpofes, with other falfe Traytors, to the Jurors

unknown, on the faid twenty-fifth Day of Auguft,'

in the ninth Tear aforefaid, and at divers other

Days'
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Days and tfimes* as well before as after, at Chains taken off, that I may have the free Ufe
Laytonftone aforefaid* in the faid County of of that Reafon and Underftanding which God
Effex, by Force and Arms* &c. Falfely, Mali- hath given me. They have given me the Stran-

cioufly* Devilifhly, and tfraiteroufly did meet* guary to that Degree that is very painful, and I

propofe* confute confpire, confent, and agree, by am told your Lordfhip is afflicted with that Dif-

un armed Force, and by Soldiers to be raifed and temper.

got ready for the traiterous Purpofes aforefaid*- I hope thefe Chains (hall be taken off in the

the faid Perfon* during the Life of the faid late firft Place, and then I hope I fhall have a fair and

King James the Second* pretended to be Prince a tender Trial.

of Wales, and fince the Deceafe of the faid late L.C. Juft. There have been a great many
King, pretending to be, and taking upon himfelf Things faid by which we cannot examine into.

the Stile and Title of King of England, by the You have given a general Charge of fome People

Name of James the Third, to the Crown, Royal ufing you ill, your Expreffions are not juft and

Eftate, and Dignity of King of this Kingdom, right ; you charge no particular Perfon , we can

and to the Empire, Government, and Poffeffion take no Notice of them.

of the fame to exalt and bring ; and that you the As to the Chains you complain of, it mull be

faid Chriftopher Layer* for the more effeclual left to thofe to whom the Cuftody of you is

compleating and perfecling the faid Treafon, and committed by Law, to take Care that you may
traiterous Intentions and Purpofes aforefaid* on not make your Efcape •, when you come to your

the faid twenty fifth Day of Auguft, in the ninth Trial then your Chains may be taken off. Con-

Tear aforefaid*- and at diverfe other Days ^and fider the Matter of this Day ; if you have any

Times, as well before as after, at Laytonftone Objections to the Indictment the Court will hear

aforefaid, in the faid County of Effex, by Force them ; if not, you muft plead.

and Armsi &c. Malicioufly and Traiteroujly did Mr. Alt. Gen. I am fure no-

get ready± raife* and retain feveral Men, to the thing is intended but that he Sir Rofort Raymond.

Jurors unknown, to take up Arms, and to levy fhould have a fair Trial ; but

and wage War within this Kingdom, againfi our to complain here of hard Ufage, of Chains and

faid Sovereign Lord the King, for the traiterous Imprilbnment, carries with it a Reflection of Cru-

Purpofes aforefaid -, and that you the faid Chri- eltyj and we know what Effect thefe Things may
ftopher Layer, for the more effeclual compleating have Abroad.

and perfeffing the faid Treafon^ and traiterous My Lord, I don't believe there is any Occa-

Jntentions and Purpofes aforefaid^ on the faid fion tor faying any thing mOre in anfwer to this,

twenty fifth Day of Auguft,- in the ninth Tear than that the Prifoner hath been kept,- as all Per-

aforefaid, and at divers other Days and Times^ fons in his Circumftances are, when they have

as well before as after, at Laytonftone aforefaid, been attempting to make an Efcape ; thefe was

in the faid County of Effex, with other falfe an Attempt of that Nature made by him, and

^traitors, to the Jurors unknown* by Force and I believe no Body will fay; but on fuch an Oc-

Arms, &c< MaUcioufty, Devilifhly^ and Trai- cafion, thefe is Reafon to take particular Care

teroujly did meet* propofe, confult, conjpirej con- that he may not efcape. My Lord, as to any

fent and agree, the facred Perfon of our now So- other Matters of Hardfhip, I hope what he fays

vereign Lord King GEORGE, for the traiterous is not fo ; I very believe it is not, but that he

Purpofes aforefaid, mofl wickedly to take, feize, hath as much Freedom and Liberty as is proper

imprifon, and detain in Cuftody, againsl the Duty and ufual. And as to what is faid in refpect to

of your Allegiance, againft the Peace of our faid the Man that infulted him in the Hall, I know
Sovereign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity* nothing of it* nor heard of it before ; but can't

and againfi the Form of the Statute in that Cafe but oblerve that it is any eafy Matter for People

made and provided. to contrive fuch a Thing in concert together,

with fome particular Views ; and I don't know
Frifoner. If your Lordfhip will pleafe to in- but if the Fact was fo, it might be fome body

dulge me 5 fet on by himfelf that did it.

My Lord, I am brought here in Chains, in L. C Juft. Alas! If there hath been an At-

Fetters and in Chains. My Lord, I have been tempt to efcape, there can be no Pretenfion to

ufed more like an Algerine Captive than a Free- complain of Hardfhip : He that hath attempted

born Englifhman : I have been dragged through an Efcape once, if true, ought to be fecured in

the Streets by the Hands of Goalers, and have fuch Manner as to prevent his efcaping a fecond

been made a Shew and a Spectacle of. time. The Gentleman Goaler, what doth he

I am now in a Court of Juftice before your fay ?

Lordfhip, and I hope the Time will come when Gentleman Goaler. My Lord, He never at=

I fhall have a candid and fair Trial, and not be tempted to efcape fince he was in my Cuftody.

made a Sacrifice to the Rage and Fury of any Mr. Att. Gen. No, it was before.

Party, or the Neceffity of the Times. My Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, This
Lord, I had not faid this, but I have been in- Complaint is made for no other Sir Philip York*

fulted fince I came into the Hall : A Gentleman Purpofe but to captivate the Minds
came and told me, Either you muft die, or the of the By-ftanders, without any juft Grounds in

Plot muft die. My Lord, this is Ufage infuffer- the World ; for if the whole of the Complaint

able in a Chriftian Nation j and I think I can lay made and aggravated in this folemn Manner be

my Hand upon my Heart and fay, I have done confidered, it amounts only to this, That a Pri-

nothing againft my Confcience. foner who ftands charged with fo great an Of-

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. If Mr. Layer hath any Ob- fence as High-Treafbn (who I admit, notwith-

jedlions to the Indictment he may make them, but ftanding the Weight of that Charge, ought to

fhould not go on in this Manner. have all the Juftice and ail the Opportunity of

Prifoner. My Lord, I hope I fhall have thefe defending himfelf which the Law allows^ I fay

it
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it amounts to no more than this, that a Prifoner

in thefe Circumftances is brought up hither under

a Guard, and in Fetters, as Perfons in that Con-

dition ufually are. It is very well known that

when this Gentleman was in the Cuftody of a

Mcffenger, he not only made an Attempt to efcape,

but actually efcaped, got out of a Window two

Pair of Stairs high, and from thence over the

Water into Southwark ; and fince that is fo, can

there be any Colour to fay that what was done

afterwards was unwarrantable ? I cannot help fay-

ing on this Occafion, that it does not become

the Candor a Perfon in the Prifoner's Circum-

ftances ought to fhew, to aggravate and make

fuch a Mifreprefentation of the Ufage he has

received. As to what has happened in the Hall

we know nothing of it, nor can pofiibly tell how

true it is. If any fuch thing was faid, it is

not impoffible to have been by fome body that

was fet there on Purpofe by the Friends of this

Gentleman. I fay thus much, my Lord, not

becaufe I think it material to the Bufinefs of this

Day, but becaufe I would not have it gone away

with that there has been any Hardfhip put upon

the Prifoner contrary to Law. No, his Majefty,

who makes the Laws of the Land the Rule and

Meafure of all his Actions, though he will have

Juftice done to himfelf and his Government a-

gainft any Perfon that' fhall confpire to over-

throw it, yet he will fuffer no Hardfhips to be

done even to fuch Perfons, contrary to Law,

and nothing has been done in this Cafe but what

was legal and abfolutely neceffary.

Mr. Hwtgtrford. My Lord, I beg to be in-

dulged a few Words ; That he is in Chains now

is demonftrable ; and he hath told me, when in

the 'Tower with him, that they are fo grievous to

him that he cannot fleep but in one Pofture, viz.

upon his Back, and that he hath not attempt-

ed to efcape out of the Tower is given in Evi-

dence by the Gentleman Goaler, who hath, and

will, I verily believe, execute his Authority with

all Humanity, for he now helps to hold up his

Chains, otherwife the Prifoner could not ftand.

My Lord, it is faid it is nothing but what is

ufual in Cafes of this Nature. My Lord, I be-

lieve I might challenge them to give an Inftance

where any Prifoner was fhackled with Irons in the

Tower before Mr. Layer; his Majefty's Prifon-

ers of the Tower are fuch Strangers to this Ufage,

that they had not the very Materials there, they

were fent for from Newgate, and I hope they will

be carried back again thither. Your Lordfhip

hath hinted it as an Indulgence intended to him
when he comes to his Trial, that his Irons fhall

be taken off: But I humbly infift upon it that

by Law he ought not to be called upon, even to

plead, till his Fetters are off: My
*3 lnfi. 35. Lord Coke * is clearly of that Opi-

nion in his Pleas of the Crown

;

and it is admitted on all Hands, that when he

comes to be tried his Shackles muft be off, and

upon a Debate it was fo determined

-f-
'Trial 1 54. in Cranburne's + Cafe. The only

Reafon afligned for putting off Irons

at all upon a Prifoner is to keep him in fafe

Cuftody (for the Laws of England allow of no

for High-Treafon,B.R. for High-Treaion. 231
Tortures) and the Reafon why they are taken off

in the Courfe of Proceeding againft him in a

Court of Juftice, it feems to be that his Mind
mould not be difturbed by any Uneafinefs his

Body or Limbs mould be under , and as to the

Diftinction that his Chains fhould be on when he

Pleads, becaufe but for a Moment, or a fhort

Time, and off when he is Tried, becaufe that

will be of longer Duration ; it is poffible that

what we have now to fay may be as long as

fbme Trials. I fhould (with Submifiion) think

that fomething of the Dignity of the Court might
be confidered in this Matter, for a Court of

Juftice, the higheft in the Kingdom for crimi-

nal Matters, where the King himfelf is fup-

pofed to be perfonally prefent, to have a Man
plead for his Life before them in Chains, feems

to be very unfuitable. He is now before the

fame awful and juft Tribunal which he will be be-

fore when he is tried, and why not therefore with-

out Chains as well now as then •, and as to the

fafe Cuftody intended by the Irons, is the Man
like to run away here ? Is he not here too well

guarded to efcape ?

Mr. Ketelby, If your Lordfhip pleafe to fa-

vour me a few Words. My Lord, What hath

been his Ufage in bringing him up hither I can-

not tell ; what the Ufage of the Tower is with

refpect to the putting Chains upon Prilbners, I

am ignorant of; but this I muft beg Leave to

fay, that he is entitled to have his Chains off be-

fore he pleads * in point of Law : The Autho-
rities for it are my Lord Coke in his third Injiit.

Fol. 34. who fays, that when Prifoners come
in Judgment to anfwer, they Jhall be out of Irons,

and all manner of Bonds, that their Pain may not

take away their Keafon, nor conjlrain them to

anfwer, but at their Free-

Will *
; and in Fol. 35. he cites * Brie. c. 5 . fol 14.

the Words out of the Mirrour,

Chap. V. Seel. 1 . // is an Abufe that Prifoners be

charged with Irons, or put to any Pain before they

be Attainted. At the Trial of Cranburne, when
he was brought up here before my Lord Chief

Juftice Holt, he infilled that his Chains fhould

be taken off before he pleaded, and it was or-

dered. This was likewife mentioned in the Tri-

als of Dorrel, Gorden, and Kerr ; when they

came up in their Irons to plead, it was moved at

firft that thofe Irons ought to be taken off. The
Court declared, that if the Prifoners infifted on

it, it ought to be done : But they did not infift on
it, they rather chofe to wave that Privilege than

undergo the Trouble of having them knock'd
off in Court. There is a Refolution in this Cafe.

In the 10th Fol. of Kelyng, it is exprefly declared

on a Confultation of all the Judges in England,

That a Prifoner ought to have his Irons taken off be-

fore hepleads.

L. C. J, The Cafe of Cranburne, you will

find that Authority is when the Party was cal-

led upon to plead, and was tried at the fame
Time.

No doubt when he comes upon his Trial, the

Authority is that he is not to be in Vinculis dur-

ing his Trial, but fhould be fo far free, that he

fhould have the Ufe of his Reafon, and all Ad-

* Cum autem capti in judicio product debeant, non producantur armati, fed utjudicium recepSuri, nee ligati, nt videantur refpon-

dere coacli, Fleet. Lib. I. cap. 1.

The Prifoner at the time of his Arraignment ought not to be in Irons, Hales, P. C. p. 212,
Tit. Arraignment. See H. P. C. in folio, fecond part. cap. 28.

See Hawkins's Pleas of the Crown. Part 2. p. 308.

vantages
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vantages to clear his Innocence. Here he is only

called upon to plead by Advice of his Counfel-,

he is not to be tried now, when he comes to be

tried, if he makes that Complaint, the Court

will take Care he fhall be in a Condition proper

to make his Defence •, but when he is only called

upon to plead, and his Counfel by hirn to advife

him what to plead, why are his- Chains to be

taken off this Minute, and to be put on again

the next ? It hath been faid (I cannot underftand

the Meaning of it) he is too well guarded, I

don't think a Man charged with High-Treafon

of this Nature, can be faid juftly to be too well

guarded, efpecially if it be true what hath been

fuggefted, that he hath endeavour'd to make his

Efcape; that will juftify more than what the Law
allows in other Cafes.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I beg leave to ex-

plain myfelf, what I mean by faying too well

guarded, I mean fufficiently guarded.

L. C. Juji. Have you any thing more to of-

fer? This is nothing but to captivate the People,

and to make Impreffions upon them that are not

juft, or elfe what fignifies his Chains being taken

off this Minute, and afterwards put on again the

next ? This is nothing but to bring the People to

have an unjuft Senfe of the Crime with which he

is charged.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, we might hum-

bly apprehend and hope that the better to pre-

pare himfelf for his Trial, he might continue with-

out his Chains 'till after that Time.

L. C. Juft. I am of another Opinion, and if

we mould order his Chains to be taken off, and

he efcape, I don't know but we are guilty of his

Efcape. As your Client hath faid, he fhall have

a fair and a juft Trial •, but to make Objections

in Matters of this Nature, is to caft a Reflection

on the Court, for not doing that which is not in

their Power to do.

Mr. Hungerford, I am, my Lord, of Counfel

with the Prifoner, I have been fo appointed by

your Lordfhip, and I affure your Lordfhip that

I, and I dare anfwer for the other Gentleman

that is concerned in the fame Service with me,

fhall make ufe of that Power and Privilege you are

pleafed to give us, as we ought.

My Lord, I have read over the Record and

the Indictment, we have a Copy of both, ac-

cording to the Direction of the Act of Parlia-

ment : I know we have at prefent a Right to ob-

ject to. four forts of Things, viz. mifwriting,

mifpelling, falfe or improper Latin: We are

confined to make whatever Objections occur to

us on thefe Heads at this Time, and have not

the Liberty to make it afterwards ; but there are

likewife fome Objections of another Nature,

which we may have Liberty to make at another

Time.
I have here in my Hand the whole Record

delivered to the Prifoner, in which, not only the

Indictment is fet forth, but the Commiffion of

Oyer and terminer. After the Commiffion hath

enumerated the Names of the Commiffioners, it

goes on, and fays, what are the Offences that

they are authorized to enquire of, as High-

Treafon, Mifprifions of Treafon, and other Of-

fences of a leffcr Degree ; then it goes on and

fays what the Perfons fhall be, concerning whom
this Enquiry fhall be made, Et per quos vel per

quern, cui vel quibus, quando, qualiter, fe? quomodo,

& de aliis Articulis & Qrcumflantiis, pramijfa &

eorum quodlibet feu eorum aliquod vel aliqua, quali-

tercunq; concerned, plenius veritat*. My Lordy

I have look'd into this Form, and confidered

the Words with all the Accuracy I can, and
have endeavour'd to render them into Englifh,

but cannot •, I muft fay I look upon thofe two
Words plenius veritat\ as placed in this Record,

to be Nonfenfe, and not capable of being ren-

dered into Englifh, for they import no meaning
at all. It is a Blemifh in the Commiffion itfelf,

and if fo, the Enquiry, taken by Vertue of that

Commiffion muft fall to nothing, and confe-

quently this Indictment muft be naught. I have

been fo exact I have looked into the Forms of
thefe Indictments, taken by Vertue of Commif-
fions of Oyer and terminer. My Lord Chief

Juftice Coke hath, for the fake of Pofterity, I

fuppofe, given us the Form of the Commiffion
of Oyer and 'Terminer in his Time ; in that Form
of his thefe Words are entirely left out ; they feem

to me to be Words of no Signification, therefore

we hope there fhall be no further Proceedings till

this is fet right, and that the Indictment fhall be

quafh'd.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, there are other Ob-
jections, whether is it your Lordfhip's Pleafure

that we fhould go on this firft, or that we fhould

mention the others, and fo go upon them all to-

gether ?

L. C. Juft. Make all your Objections together.

Mr. Hungerford. Then, my Lord, in the Clole

of this Commiffion it is faid the Jury were
charged to enquire, but doth not fay for what;
but that Objection may be made another Time,,

and therefore I will not trouble your Lordfhip

with it now. My Lord, the firft Thing that

occurs to me in the Indictment itfelf, and which
certainly, if we prevail in, the whole Proceed-

ings are wrong ; this Gentleman's Name is; not

writ nor fpelt right, furator* pro Dno' Rege, &c.

fuper Sac?-amentum, &c. quod Chriftopherus Layery
Chriftopherus is there writ with an E, whereas it

fhould be Chriftophorus with an O; and if the Dic-

tionaries and Lexicons are any Authority we are

right.

Thefe are the Objections which have occurred

to me, the Gentleman joined with me in this Ser-

vice, hath fome Remarks to make.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, As it is your Lord-
fhip's Pleafure to appoint us to be Counfel for

this Gentleman, I fhall not make any Apology
for our appearing on his Behalf, left I receive the

fame Reproof from the Court, which a Gen-
tleman in my Station once received upon a like

Occafion.

My Lord, we are at this Time proper to lay

thefe four Points under your Lordfhip's Confi-

deration, which if we had ftaid till after Plea

pleaded by the Prifoner, would have been too

late; that Matter hath been often fettled and

determined by your Lordfhip, and I fhall fay no
more to that, I believe they don't object to it;

now therefore is the only Time to make thefe

Objections.

My Lord, The firft that hath been mentioned

'

by Mr. Hungerford is in the Caption of the In-

dictment as to thefe Words plenius Veritatem ; in

our Copy, it is plenius Veritaf with a Dafh, that

it may be taken in any ^Cafe, but I fubmit it to

your Lordfhip whether it can be made Senfe, or

is proper Latin in any of the Cafes either of the

Angular or plural Number, that there can be

made
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made any Grammar of it, or that there is any

regular or proceeding Verb that can govern it in

any Cafe whatfoever; they might have put in

any Words entirely inconfiftant with refpect to

the Part preceding or fubfequent; leave out thefe

Words and the other Part of the Sentence is plain

and intelligible, but, put in the Words and it is

othervvife.

And eipecially fince we have the Authority

of my Lord Coke where thefe Words are not in j

how they came to be put in, or of what Ufe they

are, your Lordfnip will obferve on reading the

Caption of the Indictment, Ad Inquirend', 13c.

plenius Verttat'.

Taking Exceptions to the Caption of the In-

dictment hath formerly been objected to, but I

believe that Right cannot be difputed at this

Time.
As to the fecond Exception, that in relation

to Crijiopherus, we fubmit it to your Lordlhip

if that be not exprefsly within the Defects mentioned

in the Act of Parliament Mifwnting, Mifpelling,

.falfe and improper Latin; nay, whether it is

not fubject to cenfure under each of thefe four

Heads.

My Lord, it was impoffible to bring all my
Authorities, upon this Point, along with me;

b.it I have here in Court feveral of the belt Dicti-

onaries and Lexicons which fhew the true Word
to be Cbrijiophorus ; and I believe the Gentlemen

of the other Side can't produce one Inftance in

any authentic Book either Greek or Latin, but

it is always fpelt with an O and not with an E,

it is Cbrijiophorus from Ti<po@., the Prateritum

Medium of the Greek Verb <pj°» ; and the Rules

of Etymology and Formation of Greek Verbals

evince that it muft be fo and cannot be otherwife ;

and by all the Latin Dictionaries, the Latin Word
for Chrijiopher is Cbrijiophorus.

L. C. Juji. How do we know what his Name
is ? You muft plead it in Abatement ; we don't

know his Name ; he might be chriftened Cbrijio-

phems for ought we know.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, for falfe Spelling

L. C. Juji. How doth that appear to us ? You
are wrong in making your Objection at this Time,
we can't take notice what his Name is ; in the

Record of the Indictment he is called Chrijiophe-

rtts. Can we enquire what his true Name is,

whether in Englijh it is Chriftopher or Chrijiophe-

rus ? We can't tell what his Name is, perchance

his Name may be Chrijiopberus, and tne Name
by which he might be chnften'd ; I defire I may
not be undcrftood as if I would prevent you from

offering any thing that is material for your Client,

but if I can fatisfy you that you are improper in

Form, it may fave the Time of the Court ; but

it you can offer any thing material, we are ready

to hear it.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, I hope your Lord-
fhip v/ill pardon me, here is the Life of a Man
concem'd, and as I would not willingly offer any

thing to your Lordlhip that in the like Cafes hath

been over-ruled, fo neither would I omit any
thing that may be material for the Prifoner, whoie

Defence the Court has intruited us with ; there-

fore I v/ill go on to the other Objections that we
think to be improper Latin ; compajfavit, imagi-

natus fuit, & intendebat. Thefe are the Words,
I don't know whether this Latin will go down in

Weftminjier-Hall, but I am iatisfied it would not
in PVefiminficr-School.

Vol. VI.

Ill
Here is the Et Intendebat, Et a Conjunction

Copulative between Verbs in feveral Tenfes •, here
is Compajfavit the Preterperfect Tenfe, Imaginatus

fuit the Preterperfect: Tenfe, and Intendebat the
Preterimperfect Tenfe : Why mould not the laft

Verb have been put into the Preterimperfect: Tenfe,
according to the Rules of Clafiical Latin, as well
as the two former ? Therefore we fubmit it how
far it will go as to violating the Indictment in Point
of falfe Latin.

My Lord, there is one Word more, [Seifiend')

the Overt-Act, as laid in the Indictment, is, that

the Prilbner Confpiravit at facram Perfonam Do-
mini Regis capiend', feifend', & imprifonand' ; by
the Words that are coupled with it, I fuppofe
Seifiend' is intended to mean, the taking or lay-

ing vioJent Hands upon his Majefty's Perfon ;

but fure there was never fuch a Word in any In-

'

dictment before, nor to be found in any Author
whatfoever ; 'tis neither Clafiical Latin, Law
Latin, nor to be met with among Littleton's Bar-
barifms, never naturalized nor inoculated into

antient or modern Ufe; 'tis a mere fictitious

Word Coin'd for this very Purpofe without any
Precedent, any one Inftance to warrant it.

My Lord Coke, in his ift Injiit. Fol. 17. fays,

That the Word Sefitus cometh of the French
Word Seifin, and that in the Common Law 'tis

properly applied to Freehold, in Contradiftin-

dion to Poffejfwnatus, which relates to Chattels :

For Seifitus and Poffejfwnatus are mentioned as

Terms of Art, Technical Words in the Law,
that by long Ufe have acquired to themfelves one
peculiar and determined Signification ; for that

Reafon I don't object: againft the Word Compajfa-
.vit in this Indictment, it having been always ufed

in Indictments of High-Treafon to expreis com-
pafling the Death of the King, ever fince the Sta-

tute of Edward the Third ; fo Murdrare, Felonia,

and feveral others, are known Terms of Art in

the Lav/. Bat, where did they meet with the

Word Seifend' ? And if they would fancy it to be
a Gerund of fome unknown Active Verb, how
came they to give it this Senfe, to make it iignify

the fame as Capiendum ?

My Lord, I muft beg leave to fay, that I ap-

prehend the very Gift of this Indictment, (at leaft

lo much of it as relates to this Overt- Act) en-

tirely depends upon this Word Seifiend' ; and if

it does appear to your Lordfhip to be lnfignifi-

cant, barbarous^ falfe or improper Latin, I nope
we are proper under the Authority of the late

Act of Parliament, humbly to infift upon this

Objection, and that it is fufficient to overthrow
the whole Indictment.

My Lord Coke, in Calvin's Cafe, fays, that

Indictments for High-Treafon ought to be drawn
with the greateft Accuracy and Nicety; but if

Mr. Attorney will pleafe to fhew me, that this

Word was ever once ufed to this Purpofe, I will

wave my Objection, and admit it to be as elegant

a Word as any in the whole Indictment.

L. C. Juji. I think before the King's Counfel

make any Anfwer to that, we had belt have that

Part of the Indictment read, that we may the

better judge of it.

CI. of the Cr. reads, Quod tu Chriftopherus

Layer, &c. ad Capiend' Seifiend' ci? Im-

prifonand', &c.

L. C. Juji. Ad Capiend' & Imprifonand'. Won't
thele Words do, fuppofe the other Word ad Seifi-

end' infignificant ?

H h Mr.
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Mr Seri Pengelly. My Lord theft Objections thofe that go before the Copulative (Et) : Sure,

have been made with fo much Ceremony, and tho' Compajfavit and Imaginatus fuit be in the

ufher'd in with fuch Pomp, as if fomething die Preterperfeft Tenfe, yet Intendebat may be well

was meant than the quafhing this Indictment, added in the Pretenmperfeft Tenfe, and that will

We apprehend fome of them are improper, and make no Difference, they being all three alledged

others which may be proper at this Time, are of and found in the Time pail, before the Indictment

o Force
exhibited.

The Objections to the Commiffion, we appre- My Lord, the next Objection which they feem

hend are improper ; it is not in the Power of the to rely upon, is at the Conclufion of the Indift-

Court to quafh the Commiffion, and therefore ment, and that is to the Word (Seifiend', 6?r.)

to make mention of Mif-fpelling, and of falfe They fay, the Precedents have been look'd into,

and improper Latin therein, fignifies nothing, and there is no fuch Word to be found in any

As to the Indictment itfelf, the Court hath a Indictment of High-Treafon ; I beg leave to fay

Power and if they think proper, if there be fuf- in Anfwer, that fince the Affaflination-Plot a-

ficient'Caufe may quafh it ; but the Commiffion gainft King William, there hath been no fuch

iffues under the Great Seal, and that Part of it villanous Attempt of this Nature ; therefore no

returned here, is not under the Power of this Wonder if it cannot be found in other Indict-

Court to deftroy •, but upon reading it, we think ments where there has been no Occafion for the

this Objection will quite vanifh •, thefe Words are Word. This is an Overt-Act of confpiring and

ufed in all Commiffions of the like Nature, and agreeing to take, feize, and imprifon, the very

are inferted in the very Form of the Commiffion, Perfon of the King ; and it muft be laid accord-

and the Caption of the Indictment publifhed in ing to the Fact itfelf; but if this be not a proper

the Treatife, allowed by all the Judges of Eng- Word, tho' I think the Word is proper and fig-

land call'd, A Collection of Statutes relating to nifkant, yet becaufe this is not made ufe of in al-

liigh - Treafon, compos'd for the AJJjftance of the ledging the Treafon itfelf, but the Overt-Act or

Juftices in Scotland ; and becaufe of the fuppofed Evidence of the Treafon, it will not vitiate that

Difficulty of underftanding thefe Words, I will, Part of the Indictment : For if any one of thefe

for the Sake of the Gentlemen of the other Side, Words alledged is proved upon the Trial, the

read them in the Order they are to be conftrued, Prifoner ought to be found Guilty, whether he

thus, Ad Inquirend' plenius Veritatem per facrum compaffed to take the Perfon of the King, or to

probor' £5? legal' Horn', &c. de quibufcunq-, Prodi- feize his Majefty, or to imprifon and detain him ;

tionibus Mifpriffionib', csV. per quofcunq; & quali- any one of thefe Attempts is fufficient, if proved,

tercunq; Hit' Fab?, &c. ac de aliis Articulis, &c. and the Prifoner ought to be convicted. There

fc? ad eafdem Prodition' & al' Premifs' audiend' & was an Objection of this Nature taken upon one

terminand' ; here they are to enquire more fully of the Trials for High-Treafon, before my Lord

the Truth, of and concerning all Treafons, Mif- Chief Juftice Holt, but he was pleafed to fay,

prifions of Treafon by any Perfon whomfoever that in alledging the Overt-Acts, where feveral

committed, &c. And if the Words (plenius Ve- Overt-Acts are alledged, or feveral Words are

ritai') had immediately followed the Word (In- ufed to exprefs the fame Overt-Act, if they

quirend') every Body at firft reading muft be fa- were miftaken in one of the Words, yet if there

tisfied that no Objection could be made thereto ; where other Words fufficient in the Indictment to

and the Objection now is only made on Account exprefs the Overt-Act ; or although one entire

of the placing thefe Words ar the End of the Overt-Act was inefficiently alledged, yet if there

Sentence. But it makes no Difference in the was another Overt-Act well laid, the Court would

Conftruction or Senfe ; how otherwife can it be not quafh the Indictment, becaufe this would be

conftrued or underftood ? But to enquire more to deprive the Crown of the Right of giving Evi-

flilly the Truth of thofe Offences, there enume- dence to prove any other Part of the fame Overt-

rated, and what Perfons are guilty, &V. And Act, or any ether Overt-Act alledged in the In-

therefore I take it, that the Form of the Com- dictment, lb that we hope this is not a proper

million is proper, and will be juftified, not only Objection, becaufe the Court cannot quafh the

by the Senfe of it, but by the ufual and com- whole Indictment if any other Overt-Act is fuffi-

mon Courfe of Proceedings. As to the ciently expreffed, but the Indictment muft ftand.

next Objection, we apprehend that hath been al- > But the Word is proper, becaufe the Words
ready over-ruled ; the Word (Chrijlopherus) with Seifire ad Siejiend

1
are Terms known in the Law,

an E, and not with an O : And if there be any and it is frequently ufed in Actions of Trefpafs,

Difference in the Name, that it muft be pleaded ghtod cepit, feifivit, ci? abduxit, or nfportavit.

in Abatement, becaufe if they would take Advan- My Lord, we think the Word ad feijiend' is a

tage of it, they muft plead that his Name is other- proper Expreffion in this Cafe, to fignify the

wife than is expreffed in the Indictment. This Attempt or Defign to feize and apprehend the

Man's Name Chrijlopherus may be with an E as Perfon of his Majefty ; and we hope there is no-

well as an O for ought appears : But we appre- thing in thefe Objections.

hend, that the Name Chrtftopher is feldom writ in Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, we are not againft

Latin with an O, but ufually with an E ; if they the Gentlemen of the other Side's infilling upon

think there is any thing material in the Objection, every thing that may be for their Client's Ser-

let them plead it in Abatement, and we are ready vice. But fure thefe Objections have nothing in

to anfwer them. them ; there is no Colour of Reafon to fupport

My Lord, as to the next Objection, that the them. My Lord, as to the Exception taken to

three Verbs which charge the High-Treafon, the Commiffion, let us confider, if there was any

viz. Compaffavit, Imaginatus fuit, & Intendebat, Weight in it, how it can poffibly be taken at

that they are not in the fame Tenfes ; we fubmit this Time By Vertue of the Act of Par-

rlut in the ftrictefl Latin, there is no Neceffity liament paffed in the 7th Year of the Reign of

the lad Verb fhould bo of the fame Tenfe with his late Majefty King William,, it is provided,

Thar
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That no Indictment for any of the Offences afore-

mentioned in that Act, which are Treafons, &c.

nor any Procefs or Return thereupon, fhall be

quafhed on the Motion of the Prifoner or his

Counfel for Mil-writing, Mifpelling, or falfe or

improper Latin (under which lad Words, the

Counfel for the Prifoner would entitle themfelves

to take this Objection) unlefs fuch Exception (hall

be taken and made in the refpective Court, where

fi:ch Trial dial I be, by the Prifoner or his Counfel

afiign'd, before any Evidence given in open

Court upon fuch Indictment. But the Com-
miffion is a Thing diftindt, and neither Indict-

ment, Procefs, or Return thereupon. And by

Confequence no Objection can be made to the

Commiffion at this Time by Vertue of that Act

:

But however, becaufe they may not trouble us

with thefe Objections at another Time, we beg

leave to anfwer them now.

My Lord, thefe Words (plenius Veritatem) are

the very Point of the Enquiry of the Commiffi-

oners of Oyer and terminer, for they are to en-

quire, by the Oaths of lawful Men of the Country,

fully of the Truth of all Treafons, Mifprifions

of Treafons, &c. committed in that County,

and that is the Tenour of the Commiffion. In

the Book printed by the Approbation of all the

Judges of England, foon after the Union of the

two Kingdoms, all the Rules and Methods of

Trial in Cafes of High-Treafon are laid down,

there is the Commiffion of Oyer and terminer

printed at large ; and it is exactly in the fame

Words with this ', and your Lordfhip may pleafe

to obferve, that immediately after thofe Words
plenius Veritatem there is a Comma, and none be-

fore-; the whole Sentence before is entirej and

therefore in Conftruction thefe Words-, plenius

Veritatem, refer to the Words ad inquirendum, at

the Beginning of the Sentence ; and the Senfe is

plain, that the Commiffioners are to enquire by
the Oa- hs ofgood and lawful Men of the Country,

and by other Ways and Means, &V. plenius Veri-

tatem, de quibufcunque Proditionibus, Mifprifioni-

lus, &c. and then the Commiffion goes on, and
there comes after the Comma, cs

5

&d eafdem Pro-

ditiores cs? alia Pramiffa hac vice mtdiend* & ter-

minand' fecund' leges, &c. In our legal Proceed-

ings in Latin, we are not fo nice as to confine

ourfelves to the Latin of the Clafficks; but this

is very proper Latin, and the disjoining of the

Words pknius Veritatem, from the Words ad in-

quirendum, by which they are govern'd by the

Interpofition of fo many Words, is no Objection ;

for nothing is more commmon in the beft Authors,

than placing the moft material Words at the

Clole of a very long Sentence, which in Point of
Conftruction muft refer to others at the Begin-

ning. And therefore I hope we fhall hear no more
of this Objection.

As to the Cbrijiopherus being with an E inftead

of an O, that is not a proper Objection at this

Time. No Man will pretend to fay, he may
not be chriften'd by that Nam*, as Henry is the

ufual Name, Harry is the common Nick-name
for Henry, yet a Perfon may be chriften'd Harry,
and fo have many Perfons been.

Bat, my Lord, we fay this is a Word ufed in

all the Law Proceedings for CbrisJopber, and fpelt

in this very manner with an E.
As to the other Objection •, as to the Alteration

of the Tenfe in the Words compajfavit, imaginatus

fuit & intendebat: The Objection is made as if

Vol. VI.
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we were tied down to thofe exact Forms of Gram-
mar ; if the Senfe is plain, if the Facts are ex-

pjained by proper Latin Words, it is enough for

us, whether they are carried on fometimes in one

Tenfe, and fometimes in another, provided they

fufficiently charged the Fact to be done.

The laft Objection is the Word feifiend', that

it is not a Word known in the Law; if that

would hold, it would not quafh the Indictment,

becaufe there are feveral other Words to the

fame Effect, which fufficiently exprefs this vil-

lainous Overt-Act, without this Word feifiend?

;

for it is laid, that the Prifoner did propofe, con-

fult, and agree, ad facram Perfonam diffii Domini

Georgii nunc Regis, &c. capiend', fei/iend', impri-

fonand', & in Cujlod' detinend'. But we infift,

that this is a very proper Word. In the Court of

Exchequer the Words ufed in Cafes of Seizures is

feifivit. Writs iffue commanding the Sheriff feifire

fuch Lands, &c. into the King's Hands, and
the Sheriff returns feifire feci ; fo that if this Word
was look'd upon as an unknown and unintelligible

Word, what muft become of many Judgments
and Proceedings in that Court? It is a Law
Word that is here applied to the Perfon of our

Sovereign, and as it is in the Proceedings before-

mentioned applied to feizing Lands, csV. Why
may it not be applied to the Seizing of a Perfon ?

And then if feifire be proper, the Gerund from

that muft be feifiendum. And therefore we ap-

prehend, my Lord, that it is a plain Anfwer,

and that there is no Colour of Reafon for this Ob-
jection.

Mr. Sail. Gen. My Lord, as I apprehend thefe

Exceptions have no real Foundation, nor fcarce

any Colour in themfelves, fo I don't know whe-
ther it would not be giving too much Credit to

them, for fo many of the King's Counfel as attend

your Lordfhip on this Occafion, to fpend the

Time of the Court in gi ving Anfwers to them.

The true Anfwers, and all the Anfwers which

can be given, have been already offer'd and very

fully enforced ; and therefore I fhall not trouble

your Lordfhip with any thing further.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I beg a few Words
by way of Reply. As to the firft Objection,

we hope it is not anfv/er'd : We object againft

the Words plenius veritaf as Words of no Senfe

or Meaning, as ranged or placed in this Indict-

ment. Mr. Attorney hath endeavoured to make
them Senfe by tranfpofing them, and inferting

plenius veritaf ten Lines before what the Indict-

ment hath. We muft take the Words as they are

in the Indictment : And if they are not Grammar
or intelligible there, the Objection ftill holds. I

know not what Liberty the King's Counfel hath

to tranfpofe the Words. I know School - Boys

fometimes pick up Words without Regard to

Grammar, to make what they call Nonfenfe

Verfes : But I never knew an Attempt before by

tranfpofing of Words, to make Nonlence Gram-

mar, Prole, or Poetry. There is one Thing

that hath been mentioned, that the Judges have

fettled the Forms of Proceedings in Cafes of High-

Treafon by Direction of the Houfe of Lords,

and this plenius veritaf is got into the Form in-

ferred in that Treatife: That Book, my Lord,

notwithftanding the folemn Allowance of it by

the Judges, is not, with Submifficn, a conclu-

five Authority : It was denied to be fo in the

Cafe of Matthews ; which Cafe I can the better

fpeak to, becauie I was of Counfel in it. The
H h 2 Ob-
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Objection taken in the Cafe of Matthews was to

the Pannel of the Jury, for that the Addition and

Places of Abode of the Jurymen were not inferted

in the Pannel, according to the Directions of that

Book, the better to guide the Prifoner in his

Challenges. My Lord Chief Juftice King, wno

prefided at that Trial, affifted by all the then

Judges of England, (except your Lordfhip who

was abfent) over-ruled that Exception; and I

think the reft of my Lords the Judges, now pre-

fent, concurred in that Refolution. Wherefore,

if we have no Authority to combat with, but the

Authority of that Book, which hath been folemnly

denied to be a good Authority, we hope this Ob-

jection fhall ftand.

My Lord, as to the Word Chriftophorus, with-

out doubt the Etymology of the Word is as

Mr. Ketelbey hath opened •, and there is this fur-

ther to juftify that way of Spelling which we

contend for, even the two firft Syllables of the

Word in the Indictment are Chrijlo, as the Greek

with an O, and not Chriftu ; and in Conformity

with the Greek Spelling in the two firft Syllables

of the Word, we hope the next Syllable muft

be fpelt fo too : But fince it is contended, that

the Subftance of this Objection muft be put into

a Plea in Abatement, we mail wait the Direction

of the Court as to that Matter. As to the Words

compajfavit, imaginatus fuit & intendebat, there

is fomething in that Objection too, they all re-

late to a Time paft, but they are in different

Tenfes or Time ; there is the Preterperfect and

Preterimperfect Tenfe, and there is the Conjun-

ction Copulative between them, as if both Tenfes

implied the fame Times, which it is certain they

do not, and therefore they Charge nought ; for a

Thing cannot be done lately and formerly, and

both at the fame Time.

As to the other Words ad capiend', fet/ind' cs*

imprifonand' , we are upon the Forms of an In-

dictment, and muft he govern'd by the ufual

Forms : I believe there is no Inftance on Record,

where thefe Words are made ufe of in any Accu-

fation of this Kind ; for which Reafons we hum-

bly hope this Indictment fhall be quafh'd.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, I beg leave to offer

a Word or two by way of Reply : Mr. Serjeant

Pengelly is pleafed to fay, that Senfe may be made
of thefe Words, and that plenius veritatem as it is,

is good Latin, by lifting thefe Words from the

Bottom of the Sentence to the Top, and making
them follow ad inquirendum. I believe four Parts

in five of the Caption interfere between the in-

quirendum and the plenius veritatem, a whole Ca-

talogue of Offences, feveral independent Sen-

tences, different Times, Perfons, Places, Things
all ftationed between, and yet thefe Words are

to be united : I would be glad to know by what
Rule of Grammar this can be done.

As to the Word Chriftepherus, I fhall not fur-

ther inlift upon that as a proper Objection under

this Head, becaufe your Lordfhip feems to be of
an Opinion that we ought to have pleaded it in

Abatement.

As to the Word feifiend', it hath been find it is

a Word well known in the Exchequer, but they

don't fhew one Inftance where-ever it was ufed :

Indeed they mention a Precept to the Sheriff

feifire facias, and the Return feijire feci^ but what
is that to feifiendum ; the one is juftified by Ufage,
r lie feifitus as feifiri; befides feifiri is there ufed

in the very fame Senfe which the Law hath im-

pofed upon it ; is to be put into PoffefTion, the

Lands are fo delivered by the Sheriff into the

Hands of the King, that he becomes feized there-

of, ut de feodo ci? in jure Corona, till an Amoveas

manus be obtained : But if ever that Word was

put into any Indictment to fignify to feize and

imprifon the King, 'tis entirely unknown to me.

Indeed here is one Piece of Doctrine offered,

that if it holds good puts an End to all our Ob-
jections, and even to the Act of Parliament on
which they are founded ; but I muft own it is en-

tirely new to me : We are told there are other

Words in the Indictment, and other Overt-Acts,

and if one Act is fufficiently expreffed by any one
Word, though there be Words that are impro-

per and falfe Latin, yet it fhall not vitiate the In-

dictment; what avails then this Act that em-
powers us to make Objections to Mif-writing*

Mif-fpelling, falfe and improper Latin ? 'Tis im-
poffible to fuppofe, that whoever hath the draw-
ing of an Indictment fhould make Faults and
blunder on from firft to laft : No, in an Indict-

ment for High-Treafon the greateft Care is, or

ought to be taken in the Drawing of it; and
where the Life of a Perfon, and all that is va-

luable is at Stake, the Law will not fubject any
one to fuch dreadful Penalties and Forfeiture for

an Offence expreffed only by Words of an un-
known or dubious Signification; and therefore,

we hope that this goes to the whole, and that the
Indictment fhall be quafh'd, or elfe it would be
nugatory for us to be allowed to take Exceptions
to one Part of the Indictment if the other were
good.

I believe Mr. Attorney won't fhew any Inftance,

(1 fubmit it to his greater Experience,) where he
ever knew one Overt-Act in an Indictment fet

afide, and the reft of the Indi&ment held good

:

Exceptions have ever fince the making this Act
been taken and argued by Counfel, and de-
termined ; but if this be a fufficient Anfwer,
furely they fpent the Time of the Court to very
little Purpofe, in debating whether there were
any Faults in the Indictment, when it was fo eafy

to fhew it was not faulty throughout. Mr. Ser-

jeant Pengelly has been pleafed to mention the

Opinion of my Lord Chief Juftice Holt, upon
one of the Trials before him, that although one
entire Overt-Act was inefficiently alledged, yet

if there was any other well laid, the Court would

not quafh the Indictment ; I wifh he had told us

in what Trial, or where it is to be found, for I

don't remember it in any of the printed Trials

:

As to what was mentioned, with regard to the

Authority of that Book, for the Words plenius

veritatem, Mr. Hungerford rightly obferved, that

the Authority of that Book was utterly denied at

the Trial of Matthews ; your Lordfhip was not

there, my Lord Chief Juftice King prefided then

upon the Bench, that Book particularly directed,

that not only the Names of the Jurors fhould be

inferted in the Pannel, but alfb their Additions,

and the Places where they lived ; inftead of that,

the Copy of the Pannel delivered confifted only

of a long Lift of bare Names, no Additions, nor

where they lived ; whereupon we made our Ob-
jection, and infifted on the Authority of that

Book. Notwithftanding which, the Objection

was then over-ruled, and confequently we hope

we fhall not be pinn'd down to the Authority of

this Book any more in this Cafe, than the other

;

for thefe Reafons we hope your Lordfhip will be

of
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of Opinion that the King's Counfel have not <nven

a full Anfwer to our Objections, and chat the In-

dictment fhall be quafhed.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I beg leave to

hand up this Precedent of my Lord Coke's, where
thefe Words are entirely left out.

I. C, Juft. What is the ufe you would make
of fetting up an extrajudicial Opinion of my Lord
Coke's, as you call it, again ft the Opinion of all

the Judges ? Becaufe it is not in my Lord Coke's,

Form, therefore it is not neceffary or right ; but
at the fame time you would have us governed by
my Lord Coke's Opinion, you would have us re-

ject the Opinion of all the Judges. My Lord
Coke may be wrong ; the Opinion of all the Judges
in an extrajudicial Cafe may be wrong; but it

would be very ftrange to give a greater Weight
to the extrajudicial Opinion of my Lord Coke,

becaufe he hath left the Words out, than to the

Opinion of all the Judges that have put the Words
in ; neither is conclufive, but certainly the Opi-
nion of all the Judges of later Times, muft have
more Weight, than the extrajudicial Opinion of a

fingle Judge at any former Time.
As to the Matter of this Objection, you fay

that in the Recital of the Comirnffion of Oyer and
Terminer, in the Caption of the Indictment, it is

faid the Commiffioners had Authority to inquire

de quibufcunq; Proditionibus, &c. plenius veritatem ;

plenius veritatem comes in afterwards: We have
been told of Clajfical and Ciceronian Latin, and if

there be any Regard to be had to that, is any
thing more common in every Part of Cicero, that

to put Words laft, that in Conftruction muft
come firft ? I don't know any Rule that is laid

down when the Words coming laft, are in Con-
ftruction to be taken firft, but only this, that the

Conftruction is to be according to the natural

Seni'e and Import of the Words ; and if fo, then
in the Authority of thefe Commiffioners, where
it is faid they were to inquire de quibufcunq; Pro-
ditionihus, &c. plenius veritatem, in Conftruction
the laft Words muft be taken firft. You fay as

they ftand it is Nonfenfe and fignifies nothing,
and the Words are nugatory ; 'tis not material
where they ftand, they muft be taken in that
manner of Conftruction as would make them fig-

nificant, that is, by taking the laft Words, ple-
nius veritatem, to go firft in Conftruction ; then
it is very proper and juft and all will be well.
As to the Matter of the Mifnomer that you

have given up, and very juftly, for you are pro-
per to plead that in Abatement.
The next Objection is, you fay here is impro-

per Latin, Compajfavit, in the Preterperfecl Tenfe,
Imaginatus fuit in the fame Tenfe, and Intendebat
in the Preterimperfe£l Tenfe; take thefe Words
by themfelves, fuppofe it had been Compajfavit
only, Imaginatus fuit only, or Intendebat only,
would not either of thefe Words, whether in the
Preterperfecl: or Preterimperfect Tenfe, have
been fufficient to have charged Mr. Layer with
having fome time before compafs'd and imagin'd
the Death of the King ? Every one of thefe Words
charge him with the Intent of Compaffing and
Imagining, and that relates to a Time that is paft,
whether Preterperfecl Tenfe, or Preterimperfecl,
that is not material : Then as to one of the Overt-
Acts, as here be a great many to which no Ob-
jection is made, the High-Treafon is compaffing
and imagining the Death of the King ; the Overt-
Acts are fcveral, either is fufficient to maintain

m
the Treafon of compaffing and imagining the
Death of the King. One of the Overt-Acts is,

that he did defign, confult, and agree ad Capil
end', Seifiend', & Imprifonand', the Perfon of
the King. Suppofe it had been ad Capiend', fc?
Imprifonand', then you fay it had been well enough
but the putting in this Word Seifiend\ will vitiate
the whole, becaufe it is an improper and vicious
Word. I don't know that, nor dare not fay in
a Court of Law that it is an improper and vicious
Word

: You are told of a Court of Law where
the Word is ufed, and hath the fame Significa-
tion as in the Indictment; as to feize Lands into
the Hands of the King, to feize Lands, or to
feize the King's Perfon, the Word is the fame,
and if Seiftre is good, and enough to fignify to
feize Lands, Seifire is enough to fignify to feize
the King's Perfon ; therefore I think it is a proper
Word, but whether it is or not, there is fuffici-
ent in the Indictment to maintain the Charge a-
gainft Mr. Layer; for he is charged with a Con-
futation and Agreement to take the King, with
a Confutation and Agreement to imprifon and
detain the King in Prifon : Thefe are fufficient

without the Word Seifiend', but the Word Seifi-

end' hath been a Law Word, and ufed in our
Proceedings at Law, never objected to ; but if
we fay it would not fignify a Seizing, we muft
fet afide half the Proceedings in the Court of Ex-
chequer. Thefe are all the Objections you have
made, and in my Apprehenfion they can be of
no Ufe or Service to your Client ; they fignify no-
thing.

Mr. Juft. Powys. I am of the fame Opinion,
Not the leaft Doubt remains with me.

_
Mr. Juft. Eyre. I think the Caption of the In-

dictment is in common Form, and the Excep-
tions to the Indictment itfelf are fully anfwer'd.

Mr. Juft. Fortefcue Aland. I am of the fame
Opinion, and think the Objections to be of no
Weight.

L. C. Jujl. The Objections being all over-
ruled : Demand of him what he hath to plead.

CI. of the Cr. Chrijlopher Layer, hold up your
Hand. How fay you, Chrijlopher Layer, are
you Guilty of the High-Treafon whereof you
ftand indicted, or Not Guilty ?

Prifoner. I defire my Plea of Mifnomer may
be received. And I plead Not Guilty as to the
Fact.

CI. of the Cr. Reads the Plea.

Et Chrifiophorus Layer ad Barram hie duel, in
propria perfona fua venit, & habito auditu Indie-
tament. pradicl. dicit quod ipfe eft perfona in Indic-
tament. pradill. mentionat. & intenf per nomen
Chriftopheri Layer, nuper de paroch. Sti. Andr<e
Holborne in Com. Mid. Ar. & verfus quern Indicla-
ment. pr^edicl. prolat. exiftit pro alt. Proditione prce-
diH. dicit quod ipfe ad Indiclament. illud refpon-
dere compelli non debet, quia die. quod ipfe diu ante
tempus caption. Indiclament. pradicl. necnon ante
tempus offenfi in Indiclament. ill. fpecificat. & fieri

fuppofit. Baptizatus fuit per nomen Chriflophori, &
per id nomen Chriflophori femper a tempore Bapti-
zation. fuo hucufque vocat. nuncupat. & cognit. fuit,& hoc parat. eft verificare ; unde ex quo ipfe non no-
minatur in Indiclament. pradicl. per nomen Chri-
flophori, petit judicium de Indiclament. ilk, &f fi
ipfe ad Indiclament. praditl. ulterius refpondere
compelli debeat, &c, & quod prodition. in Indicla-

ment.
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mmt pradift. mentionat. ipfe pradicl. Chrifto- impoffible for us to take the Sub-fiance of this

pbor'us Layer dial quod ipfe in nullo eft inde cul- Demurrer. We therefore hope we ftiall be al-

pabilis, & inde de bono fc? malo ponit fe fuper Pa- lowed a few Days to confider of this Matter of

triam &c * joining in Demurrer. We (hall not afk many.

T. Hungerford. The Precedents are fo, the Prifoner was always

Abel Ketelbey. indulged with fome time in a Cafe of this Na-
ture. Before the Aft of Parliament for regu-

L C Jufi. Your Plea is received. He hath lating of Trials, where Matters of Law were

pleaded in Abatement firft, and then pleads over darted, or any fpecial Pleading did arife, the

to the Treafon. What fay you to it? Prifoner was indulged with a great Number of

Mr. Sen. Pengelly. It can't be expefted that Counfel. Fitzharris had five, a greater Num-

we mould have a Replication ready to their Plea ber than I ever knew engaged on one Side in De-

in Abatement: We were not aware of this; liberations of this kind, unlefs it were that Num-

therefore we oucrht to have Time to draw up a Re- ber of learned Counfel which met to advife upon

plication. anc* adjuft this Demurrer. But I think in the

L. C. Juft, What fay you to it ? ordinary Courfe of the Court we are proper to

Mr. Hungerford and Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, defire two or three Days. Two or three Days is

we have no Objeftion to it. bat a little time, efpecially when the Life of a

L. C. Juft. Well, the Plea is recorded. Con- Man is concerned. Mr. Attorney took from

fider now the Queftion on this Plea is, whether Wednefday to Saturday to confider of our Plea,

he was baptized by the Name of Chriftophorus we hope at leaft the fame time mould be allowed to

or Chriflopherus. us t0 confider of this Demurrer. I have in my
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, to morrow and Hand the Arraignment of and Proceedings a-

next Day being Holidays (elfe we fhould have gainft Fitzharris, he was indulged feveral Days.

been ready by to morrow) we therefore pray, Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, I have brought the

that he may be brought up again on Saturday by Book along with me relating to Fitzharris: As
Rule of this Court. to the Matter of having time to join in Demur-

Mr. Hungerford. I have fome doubt whether it rer, whether we are not entituled to it by the

can be by Rule, or by Habeas Corpus. Rules of the Court, I muft fubmit to your

L. C. Juft. When once a Habeas Corpus hath Lordfhip. It is a Cafe of great Confequence;

been granted, and he is brought before us, we and, as I take it, the conftant Practice is, that

can order him to be brought again by Rule. He a four Days Rule is always given to join in De-

muft be taken back again, and brought up here on murrer. This is always done, as I am inform-

Saturday next. . ed, on the Crown-fide as well as ' the Plea-fide.

The Tenour of the Rule is either to join in De-

Die Sabbati of die Novembris 1722. murrer within four Days, or to wave the Plea;

but Mr. Attorney requires us to do it immedi-

Ihe Prifoner was this Day brought to the King's- ately. In Fitzharris'-'s Cafe the Attorney Gene-

Bench-Bar by the Lieutenant of the Tower, in ral demurred in Court, and the Counfel on the

Obedience to the Rule of Court made the 31ft of other Side refufed to join in Demurrer immedi-

Oftober. ately, and they had from Wednefday to Saturday.

We hope therefore there ihall be a four Days Rule

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, I have demurred to for us to join in Demurrer as in all other Cafes.

the Prifoner's Plea in Abatement, and pray the If we are not regular in infifting upon four Days,

Demurrer may be read. we hope at leaft your Lordfhip will indulge us

with fome time ; or if we do immediately join

CI. of the Cr. reads the Demurrer. in Demurrer, that we lhall have fome time to

Et Robertus Raymond Mil. Attorn. Dom. Regis prepare ourfelves to argue to it.

Generalis qui pro eodem Dom. Rege in hac parte fe- L. C- Juft. How fay you, Mr. Harcourt?

quitur habito audit, placiti pra:d. in ceffation. In- How is the Courfe of the Court ?

diclament. prad. fuperius placitat. pro eodem Dom. Mr. Harcourt. My Lord, in criminal Profe-

Rege dicit quod idem placit. materiaque in eodem cutions for Mifdemeanours, two four Day Rules

content, minus fuffcien. in lege exifl. ad ipfum Chri- to plead are given, and a peremptory Rule mov-

flopherum a refpondend. ad Inditlament. ill. excu- ed for; and then if there be a Demurrer, one

fand. ad quod quidem placit. idem Attorn. General, four Days Rule to join in Demurrer is given, and

necejfe non habet nee per legem terra tenetur aliquo a peremptory Rule moved for : But in capital

modo refpondere. Et hoc idem Attorn. General, pro Cafes there is no Rule given, either to plead or

eodem Dom. Rege parat. eft verificare prout Cur' join in Demurrer ; all Proceedings in fuch Cafes

&c. Unde pro infufficient. placit. ill. idem. Attorn, being at Bar, the Prifoner is oblig'd on all Oc-

Dom. Regis General, pro eodem Dom. Rege petit ju- cafions to anfwer immediately, nor can there be

die. £s? quod Inditlament. praditl. bon. & fufftciens any Inftance (hewn to the contrary.

adjudicetur, &V. L. C. Juft. The Courfe of the Court is againft

Rob. Raymond, you.

Mr. Hungerford. As to the Courfe of the Court,

Mr. Alt. Gen. We pray they may join in De- I know no better Defcription of it, than that it

murrer immediately. is the uninterrupted Ufage of the Court war-

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, it is altogether a ranted by Reafon, or at leaft not contradicted by

Surprize to us, and as the Clerk hath read it, it is it. The Officer tells you that in criminal Cafes

The right Way feems to be, that ph fliould be followed with an 0, and /with an e, the firft being derived from the Greek,

and the other from the Latin. See LoivicPs Indictment, Trial 155. where it is Cbrijtopborus Knigbtley. Se; alfo Co. E/ttr.

t;i . a. 55 b. 215. c. 309. c. d. 310. a. b. 319. a. 321. b.

which
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which are not capital there are Rules For four

Days, and four Days to plead, and likewife a

four Days Rule to join in Demurrer ; and furely,

if in a criminal Cafe, which is not capital, a Man
is indulged four Days ; furely in a criminal Cafe

as this is, which is capital, and doth touch aMan's

Life, his Pofterity, and his Eftate, by Parity of

Reafon, the Indulgence ought to be more than

four Days. I beg leave to obferve one thing in

the Cafe of Fitzharris now in my Hand. My
Lord Chief Juftice there afks the Prifoner, will

you plead over ? If you will, you may have

any Time in Reafon. Now, my Lord, we have

pleaded over, we have pleaded Not Guilty as

to the Offence ; fo that for that Reafon we might

have till Biliary Term next, becaufe we have for-

warded them in their Journey already by pleading

Not Guilty as to the High-Treafon. And we

hope therefore the Gentlemen of the other Side

won't contend with us for two or three Days in a

Cafe of this Nature.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, I only beg leave to

mention this fingle Word, that we don't infift

upon this for Delay, or to put off the Trial ;

we have pleaded over to the Treafon, and in

cafe we mould join in Demurrer, whatever Time
is taken up in arguing it, cannot obftruct the

Proceedings in order to the Trial : Nay the Trial

may be had before the Matter of the Demurrer be

determined.

L. C. JusJ. In cafe you mould join in Demur-
rer, what can you do elfe ?

Mr. Ketelbey. I believe we fhall. If we had not

thought our Plea would have flood a Demurrer, we
had not made ufe of it. ,

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, what he prays

is againft the Rules of the Court ; in all capital

Cafes there are no Rules given to plead or join

in Demurrer, but the Proceedings are all In-

ftanter, the Prifoner being prefent in Perfon, and

therefore, my Lord, there is nothing in what

they afk. When they put in a Plea in Abate-

ment here at the Bar, which cannot be expected or

thought of, it is reafonable that there fhould be

fome time to confider of that, to fee the Nature

of it, and confider what to anfwer to it. We
have demurred to their Plea ; no doubt they had

confidered of their Plea whether it was a good

Plea in Law or not ; if it be not good, can they

amend their Plea in Abatement ? It was never

allowed : If they can make no Alteration in that,

what can they do ? They can do nothing elfe but

join in Demurrer •, it is all they can do •, and
when they have joined in Demurrer, we fhall fee

if they have any Reafon for farther Time, But
as to what they fay, that as to the Sufficiency of
the Plea, it may be argued another time ; and as

they have pleaded over to the Treafon, there

needs be no Delay as to the Trial ; I would be

glad to fee whether by this they do not deprive

the Crown of the Election to proceed in fuch

Manner as fhall be thought molt advantageous

for the carrying on the Profecution : But is it

advifeable to leave a Plea in Abatement to the

whole undetermined, and to try the Iffue firfb ?

1 believe they can fhew no fuch Inftance, and
therefore in all capital Cafes, as well as in cri-

minal, the Plea in Abatement goes to the whole,
to dcftroy the whole Indictment, and indeed
ought to be determined before the Court goes on
with the Trial. My Lord, we are furprized at

what they mean by this, when they can do no-
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thing elfe but join in Demurrer, and therefore we
hope they fhall join immediately.

Mr. Alt. Gen. My Lord, what we infift upon
is not a new thing •, the conftant Practice in Ca-
fes of this Nature has been, that if a Demurrer
is put into the Prifoner's Plea, he muft join in

Demurrer inftanter. I believe the Gentlemen of
the other Side can't fhew one Inftance to the

contrary. The Prifoner can do nothing but join

in Demurrer. As to what has been faid about

our having time from Wednefday to Saturday

\

the Reafon was becaufe Thurfday and Friday

were no Wejlminjler-Hall Days, for which Rea-
fon we could not have the Prifoner brought up
before this Day. The putting in a Demurrer to

this Plea can be no Surprize to the Counfel for

the Prifoner j for Yefterday we fent Copies of

our Demurrer to them. Mr. pember, the Pri-

foner's Clerk in Court, had a Copy of it by two
of the Clock in the Afternoon •, and the Prifoner

himfelf had one about four o'Clock. As to the

Cafe of Fitzharris which has been cited, it was
a Plea looked upon to contain Things of very

great Difficulty ; the Time afked for there was

not to join in Demurrer, but the time applied

for was for fettling the Plea ; but as foon as Mr.
Fitzharris had pleaded, and the Attorney-Gene-

neral had demurred to it, the Court ordered the

Prifoner to join in Demurrer inftanter. As to

what has been faid, that we may proceed to

Trial on the Plea of Not Guilty before the De-
murrer to the Plea in Abatement is determined,

that is by no Means advifeable ; the Confequence

of that may be very mifchievous ; for if the

Court fhould be of Opinion that the Plea in

Abatement is good, after we have difclofed the

whole Evidence againft the Prifoner upon the

Trial, though we obtained a Verdict for his

Majefty, the whole rouft be fet afide ; and there-

fore we hope your Lordfhip will not break into

the common Method of Proceedings, but make
the fame Rule for the Prifoner as always has been

made in Cafes of the like Nature •, which is, that

he fhall join in Demurrer immediately.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lord, I agree with the

Counfel for the Prifoner that we are in a Cafe of
Life, and that is the Reafon why their Client

fhould have all the Indulgence the Law will al-

low him. But I beg leave to obferve, that we
are not now on a Queftion that directly concerns

the Merits of the Cafe, nor whether a Prifoner

who is to anfwer for his Life at this Bar, fhould

have time to fend for his WitnefTes, or prepare

for his Defence. That indeed might be of a

different Confideration. But we are now barely

upon a frivolous dilatory Plea, as frivolous a

Plea as ever was offered in any Cafe whatfoever ;

and the Queftion is, whether they, who have

prepared and put in this dilatory Plea, fhall

have time given them to confider whether they

will join in Demurrer upon it or not. As to

the Cafe of Fitzharris, whatever they have in-

ferred from it, I think it rather turns againft

them. Was that a Plea of Mifnomer ? A Let-

ter pretended to be miftaken in a Name, which

I beg leave to fay, when confidered, will appear

to have been always fo written in legal Proceed-

ings ? No, it was a Plea of the Pendency of an
Impeachment for the fame Offence, fent up by
the Houfe of Commons to the Houfe of Lords, and
by Confequence, in that Cafe, the Prerogative

of the Crown, the Jurifdiction of the Lords,

and
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and the Privileges of the Commons were highly

concerned. This was a Queftion of as great

"Weight, and perhaps of as great Difficulty, as

could come before the Court, and therefore the

Prifoner had time given him to plead that Mat-

ter ; but when the Attorney General demurred

to it, the Prifoner joined in Demurrer inftantly :

And as Mr. Harcourt acquaints your Lordfhip,

the Practice is, that there is no fuch Rule for

proceeding upon Demurrers in capital Profecu-

tions as in other Cafes ; and this appears by their

never being fet down in the Paper to be argued,

as Demurrers always are in other Caufes. So it

was in the Cafe of Fitzharris. That was argued

by four or five Councel of a Side, without being

fet down in the Paper. In the Cafe of the Pri-

foner, which is your prefent Confideration, more

hath been done for him than was done for Fitz-

harris. Here is not only a Demurrer given m
by Mr. Attorney at the Bar, but the Prifoner's

Attorney had a Copy of the Demurrer at Noon

the Day before, and confequently they could

not want Notice that we intended to demur,

Dor be under any Surprize from it. What then

would they take time for ? Can they do any

thing but join in Demurrer ? Can they amend

in capital Cafes ? Or could they amend a Plea

in Abatement in any Cafe ? They know very

well that they cannot. Can they withdraw their

Plea ? I believe they cannot do that neither

without the Confent of Mr. Attorney General.

If this be fo, would they take time to confider

whether they Ihall join in Demurrer, when they

have no Choice, when it is impoflible for them

to do any thing elfe" ? But, my Lord, the Me-

thod of proceeding we are now infilling upon,

hath been always taken in capital Cafes. I agree

when the Queftion has concerned the Merits of

the Prifoner's Cafe, or when he has been to pre-

pare and confider of fome Matter which has

been, ftridlly fpeaking, his Defence, time hath

been allowed, but not in other Inftances. Where
the Exception taken hath been to the Jurifdicti-

on of the Court, and time has been defired to

make it good, it hath been denied ; as in the

Cafe of my Lord Prefton, who was tried before

my Lord Chief Juftice Holt, and other Judges

at the Old-Baily. My Lord Prefton infilled,

that he was a Peer created by Letters Patent of

King James the Second, and confequently that

the Court at the Old-Baily had no Jurifdiction to

try him, and he prayed time to produce his

Letters Patent in order to prepare and make
good his Plea -, but the Court refufed to give

him time for that Purpofe. And I believe it will

be found, that in all Inftances where Pleas have

appeared on the firft View of them to be merely

dilatory, and offered for no other Reafon but

to delay that Juftice which ought to be done to

the Crown, the Judges have refufed to aflift the

Prifoner with any time beyond the ordinary Rules

of the Court.

Mr. Reeve. I lhall not take up your Lord-
fhip's time much in this Cafe. My Lord, we
think in Civil Actions the Court on Motion
would fet this Plea afide, but in a Cafe of Life

it is received, and Mr. Attorney has thought fit

to demurr to it. Is any Advantage loft, for the

Prifoner to join in Demurrer inftantly ? I appre-

hend what they move for is to have time to

join in Demurrer. Are they not as ready to do
that now, as if they had a Week or ten Days

time given them ? Is them anything elfe can be

done ? And is there any Occafion for time to do
that which rnuft be done ? And cannot they as

well join in Demurrer now, as if they had more
time to do it ? Certainly they may, my Lord,
fince by the Rules of the Court (as Mr. Harcourt
informs your Lordfhip) there is no Rule given,

but they are to join inftantly. There is no Reafon
to allow them Time* fince they can lofe no Be-
nefit or Advantage by joining inftantly. So then,

as we apprehend, we are in the Courfe of the

Court, and there is no Reafon why the Courfe of
the Court fhould be altered in this Cafe, we there-

fore hope that they ihall join in Demurrer im-
mediately.

MuWeft, My Lord, I think there is no-
thing in the Exception of his Counfel not being

ready to argue his Plea : No doubt they confi-

dered of it before they brought it in ; and when
they had produced their Plea, Mr. Attorney de-

murred to it. I can't fee why they fhould infift

fo much for time,, when they can do no-

thing elfe but join in Demurrer •, therefore

we hope that they fhall inftantly join in De-
murrer.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I beg leave to fet

a Matter of Fact right, that is as to the Cafe of
Fitzharris, which was mentioned as an Authority

againft us by Mr. Attorney, but in truth \is not

fb ; for though Fitzharris's Counfel dicLjoin

in Demurrer immediately (or inftanter, as 'tis

called) yet that was not by the Coercion of the

Court, but they voluntarily offered to join in

Demurrer, upon an Opinion (as I prefume) of
their own great Abilities and Self-fufficiency in

the Matter. But we have not that Opinion of
our extempore Performances, but defire time to

confider of this Matter. As to my Lord Prejlon's

Cafe, quoted by Mr. Sollicitor, it is true the

Court did not give him leave to fend for his

Letters Patent, becaufe, as my Lord himfelf had
opened them, and the Truth was, his Letters Pa-
tent were dated at St. Qermains, and granted by K.
James there, after his Abdication ; and it would
have been the higheft Indignity both to the

Court and the Government, to have fuch Letters

Patent pleaded, or infilled on ; and I believe

no Gentlemen at the Bar then, or now, would
have figned fuch a Plea, which if allowed would
have implied that the Government was not well

fettled in their Majefties King William and Queen
Mary, and that King James (though at St. Ger-

mains) had a Right to create Peers, and confe-

quently was really King. But if my Lord
Prefton had had Letters Patent regularly granted

by King James or King William, in his Cham-
bers, can any one fay they would not have given

him leave to fend for them ? Moft certainly they

would ; but it appeared they were dated at St.

Germains, and granted to him there ; that, with

humble Submiffion, was the Reafon why they

would not indulge him with Time, and that

Precedent therefore, I hope, is of no Weight in

this Cafe. It is faid we are tied down by our

Plea ; we knew our own Strength when we plead-

ed it, and therefore ought to be ready to argue

it : But if my Memory doth not fail me ('and

therefore I fpeak it with fome Doubt) I believe

there are Inftances where even in a criminal Cafe

a Plea hath been amended. I believe it was fb

done in the Cafe of my Lord Banbury, which

was a Plea to the jurildiftion of the Court.

My
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My Lord, we fhall defire but a very little Time* You have pleaded in Abatement i you were

which I hope will be granted us. enabled fo to do by having a Copy of the In-

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, as to Fitzharris*^ dictment; you brought your Plea ready engrofs'd,

Cafe the Plea was amended there : The firft time and put it in. Mr. Attorney not being aware of

it was brought in by Mr. Fitzharris himfelf to the any fuch Plea* it could not be expected he fhould

Bar the Plea was brought in and read in Court j be ready with a Demurrer in his Hand to this

after the Plea was read the Court afiign'd him Plea, and therefore he defired time to confider of

Counfel and gave him from Saturday to Wednef it. The next Day it could not be, nor the next

day to put the Plea in a regular and legal Method, after that* they being Holy-Days ; but then the

and it was altered and brought in again on Wed- very firft time that he had an Opportunity to

nefday. As to what the Attorney lays, that the eome* he comes and demurrs to your Plea : But

Court compelled him to join in Demurrer inftant- you defire time* and why fhould you not have

ly the Words of the Book which I have in my time, when they had time, to confider whether

Hand are ;
" We that are aflign'd Counfel for you fliall join in Demurrer.

" the Gentleman at the Bar* we don't defign to Do you want time to confider whether you fhall

" delay the Proceedings* but to declare that we join in Demurrer, after you have had time to plead

*' will join in Demurrer with them immediately." and to draw up your Plea* and have brought it

Thefe are the Words of the Book ; fo that it was in to Court ? Why fhould you have time ? Can

the voluntary Act of the Counfel, and they were you do any thing elfe but join in Demurrer? You

not at all compelled to it by the Court. As to can do nothing elfe \ And unlefs you can fhew any

what Mr. Harcourt obferves to be the Courfe of Reafon why the Court fhould indulge you, if

the Court, and that we can't fhew one Inftance you don't think fit to join, we muft give Judg-

to the contrary ; I don*t know whether they can ment againft your Plea. You tell us of the Cafe

fhew one Inftance for it, except in the Cafe of of Fitzharris ; that is as widely different from

Fitzharris ; if they can fhew in any capital Cafe this Cafe as any thing can be. It was a Cafe of

one Inftance, we fhall fubmifc great Difficulty, that required great Confiderati-

It is called a frivolous Plea, the Variation of on, when a Party comes and informs this Court,

one Letter, and never writ otherwife: Whether and infifts he is not within the Jurifdiction of the

it is frivolous or not will appear when it comes Court. When a Matter is urged to us as a Quef-

before your Lordfhip in Judgment : As to its tion of Law, if we were not bound as we are by

never being wrote otherwife than with an Et I Act of Parliament* we would certainly aflign

don't believe they can find it in any Book either Counfel to the Prifoner to plead a Matter of that

great or fmall fpelt fo, unlefs they have met with Nature ; and when the Court in Fitzharris' =, Cafe

it in Injiruftor Clericalis : All the Books of Au* had afligned him Counfel, were thofe Counfel

thority are otherwife ; I believe that one carries to argue immediately ? It was nothing but Juftice

with it but little Weight. As to my Lord to give them time after they were afligned, to ar-

Prefton's Cafe, which Mr. Sollicitor is pleafed to gue a Plea of that Nature j a Plea in which the

cite aoainft us, that the Court would not allow Prerogative of the Crown, the Jurifdiction of the

him t?me to make out his Plea, Mn Hungerford Houfe of Lords, and the Rights of the Commons

hath criven an ample Anfwer to that, and a true were concerned. The Court would not run

one as to the Circumftances; but if the Cafe of haftilyinto the determining of that Matter, with-

that Lord had been fuch as the Gentlemen of the out hearing it debated by Counfel, and therefore

other fide are pleafed to ftate it, What doth it they gave the Counfel time, upon which they

prove, but the contrary to what the Court did in might be able to give a juft Judgment. Is there

Fitzharris's Cafe, and therefore the moft that can anything in this Cafe like it? You have pleaded

be made of it is one Authority againft another? in Abatement. Mr. Attorney hath demurred to

and where Authorities are equal, we hope the In* your Plea* and you defire we would give you time

dulgcnce of the Court will interpofe in favour of to do that which you muft do, or do nothing at

Life, and grant us fuch reafonable time as the all. Is there any Pretence ? Could you in this

Nature of the Thing requires, and not compel Cafe come with any Colour or Pretence of Juf-

us inftantly to join in Demurrer. tice, and defire of us to amend your Plea ? Is

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, I beg leave to ftate there any thing elfe you can do ? This is nothing

one Fact right, and that is as to Fitzharris's Cafe

:

but a pure dilatory Plea, and he puts in this Plea.

They fay the Plea was put in, and afterwards The Queftion is, whether it fhould be an O inftead

amended; that is a Miftake ; the Fact was that of an E. You are not entided to any thing of

his Wife brought a Plea into Court, and offer'd this Nature •, it is nothing but an affected Delay 5

it to the Court, and prefs'd it might be received

;

and it cannot be thought to be for any other Rea-
but-Mr. Fitzharris was advis'd to confider what fon; therefore you muft join in Demurrer im-
he did, and thereupon he took it back, and after- mediately : If not, we muft give Judgment a-

wards brought a Plea in, which was receiv'd, and gainft your Plea,

after that it was never alter'd. Mr. Juft. Powys. My Lord Chief Juftice hath

L. C. Juft. I dare fay it is the firft time that given fo full and clear an Account of the Matter,

ever in a capital Cafe, when a Plea in Abatement that I am fatisfied, and do think you muft in-

was pleaded, and the Attorney-General thought ftantlyjoin in Demurrer.
fit to demurr to it, that the Party defir'd time " Mr. Juft. Eyrei I am of the fame Opinion.'

to join in Demurrer. You are not entitled to In capital Cafes the Party is obliged to plead in-

any time by the Courfe of the Court, you can't sJantur-, for the Proceedings are carried on at the

fhew any Inftance to prove it : The Queftion then Bar without giving Rules : This is the conftant
is, Whether you have given any Reafon for us to Courfe; and the Courfe and Practice muft be the

indulge you with time, that never was granted in fame, in regard to the time for joining in De-
a Cafe of this Nature. murrer : But the Court is ftill at liberty to allow
Vol. VI. I i further
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further time, if it be neceflary to the Juftice of

the Caufe ; and if it could be of any Ufe to the

Prifoner in the next Step he is to make, I mould

not be againft it : But as the Cafe now ftands,

that he has nothing to deliberate upon, that he

can lay no new Matter before the Court, but is

obliged to abide by his Plea* and can neither

withdraw nor amend it without Confent, but

muft neceffarily join in Demurrer, and has no

other Choice ; I think it would be a manifeft De-

lay of Juftice to allow further time ; and am there-

fore of Opinion, that he ought to join in Demur-

rer immediately.

Mr. Juft. Fortefcue Aland. I am of the fame

Opinion. The Prifoner can have no Benefit by

our giving him time to join in Demurrer, except

it be to put off the Trial: The Court makes a

Difference in all Cafes, both Civil and Criminal,

between dilatory Pleas and other Pleas. An af-

fected Delay is never to be fuffered, more efpe-

cially in a capital Cafe ; and here it is plain, that

when the Counfel for the Prifoner brought in

this Plea, that they had confider'd it before, and

thought it of Service to the Prifoner, and nothing

more remains now than to join in Demurrer.

The Attorney-General, by his Demurrer, fays it

is not a good Plea •, and the Prifoner has nothing

further to fay, but that it is a good Plea; and

if he does not think fit to fay that, we muft give

Judgment againft him. I remember in the Cafe

of the King and Gordon, when the Prifoner came

to the Bar, having lapfed the time of taking Ex-

ceptions, in order to quafh the Indictment, he

moved the Court for time to plead in Abatement

;

but the Court refufed it, alledging they would

give no Opportunity for a dilatory Plea: and I

think there is the fame Reafon, if not ftronger,

in this Cafe, where the Prifoner has nothing to do

but to join in Demurrer; that is to fay, to fub-

mit to the Judgment of the Court, whether this

be a good Plea or not ; and that may be done im-

mediately, as well as if the Prifoner had never fb

much time for it.

Prifoner. My Lord, I know not how confiftent

this Rule of Court may be, that in a capital Cafe

of the higheft Nature whatfoever that I fhould

not be allowed time to join in Demurrer, when
in criminal Cafes of an inferior Nature there is

a Four-days Rule given. The Counfel for the

King were indulged from Wednefday to Saturday

;

I hope I fhall have the fame Indulgence on my
Part, to confider whether I fhall join in Demur-
rer or not.

I am fo far from defiring to^give any Delay,
tho' I am fatisfied how malicioufly this Profecu-

tion is^carried on, and am pretty well acquainted

with every Step taken in the Management in Ef-
fex ; and I am willing, rather than to continue to

be thus hunted up and down the World, to re-

tract my Plea, and plead generally Not Guilty.

L. C. Juft. If Mr. Attorney confents to it.

Prifoner. I am obliged to my Counfel for the

Care they have taken of me, and have here in my
Hand a Joinder in Demurrer engroffed and figned

by them, and ready to deliver in •, but I won't of-

fer it, becaufe I won't give any Delay to the Juf-
tice of the Court.

Mr. Hungerford. ' He Hands upon his Plea of
Not guilty to the Indictment.

L. C. Juft. You have pleaded Not guilty

;

you have likewife pleaded a Mifnomer, which hath

been demurred to: Your Plea therefore now muft
be as pleaded in chief, and as put in at the time
when it was firft pleaded ; you don't defire you
may plead the lame Matter again this Day ?

Mr* Hungerford and Mr. Ketelbey. We do not.

Mr. Att. Gen. If I underftand the Prifoner

tight, he pretends to be defirous that his Trial
may come on* and therefore he is willing to with-
draw his Plea in Abatement, and abide by his Plea
of Not guilty: *Tis what we defire likewife; and
I wifh we could go on in this Cafe as we ought, in

in a decerit Manner, without having groundlefs
Reflections continually made* Something hath
been faid of the Malicioufnefs of this Profecution,

and indirect Management, by fome Body, 'tis not
faid whom, in the County of Effex. My Lord,
I defy any Man to fhew any fingle Step taken in

carrying on this Caufe, but what is perfectly right
and juftifiable*

I wifh, out of Charity, that the Prifoner would
confider the Circumftances he is in 5 if he did,

he would not fay this Profecution is carried on by
Malice ; for if I know any thing of Evidence, I

have no Reafon to doubt but at the proper time
there will enough appear againft him to convict
him.

Mr. Hungerford. I dare fay the Prifoner did not
entertain a Thought of reflecting upon any of the
Profeflion concern'd in carrying on this Profecu-
tion. But pray, my Lord, give me leave hum-
bly to reprefent, that the Man's Cafe is hard ; he
tells you he is in Chains, and I fee he is in great
Pain even now ; and I earneftly wifh that he were
eafed in that Matter. I do not pronounce thefe

Words out of any Affectation of Popularity, or
to captivate the Auditory, as was infinuated in

the Beginning of this Proceeding, but in mere
Compaflion I have to the Prifoner, and to all

Mankind, which Temper I have fhewn thro' all

the Stages of my Life.

L. C. Juft. ^
You have been told by the Court

already our Opinion, that it is not in our Power.
We were told, and I perceive it is not denied,

that he did once efcape after he was taken ; and
if fo, for the better fecuring him he was put in

Chains: Do you ask us to take thofe Chains off?

Can we do it ? Or fhould we do it ? If he fhould

efcape out of the Tower, fhall not we be guilty of

that Efcape? The Circumftances of the Cafe

ought and muft govern. He fays he is Innocent,

and I hope he is ; and if he be, he takes the pro-

pereft Meafures to knock his Chains off, let him
make his Innocence appear ; and it will appear

whether he is Innocent or not, when we come to

try the Caufe.

Prifoner. If I thought it was contrary to Law
to take off thefe Chains I fhould not mention it.

I defire to obferve, that thefe Chains were not put

on till after a fourth or fifth Examination.

As to the Efcape out of the Meffenger's Hands,

he never fhew'd me his Warrant, and I did not

know any Authority he had to keep me. As to

efcaping out of the Tower, it is not in my Power,

neither is it my Inclination. I defire therefore to

be eafed of thefe Chains.

And another thing I defire is, that I might have

an Opportunity to fee my Relations, my Wife,

that fhe might come to me.

Mr. Ketelbey, That was granted in Fitzharris's

Cafe.

L.C.
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L. C. Jitft. As to the taking off the Chains you

have had the Opinion of the Court, we cannot,

we ought not to do it, it is a Breach of our Duty •,

as to the other Matter, he deftres to fee his Rela-

tions, what do you fay to it ?

Mr. Alt. Gen. My Lord, as to Filzharris's Cafe,

there was a great Deal of Caution ufed as to the

Peribns permitted to fee the Prifoner; before they

went in they were to be fearched, and they were

to be with him only in the Prefence of the Keeper.

Mr. Ketelbey. It is mentioned there, that the

Wife had mifbehaved herlelf, and that a particular

Caution ought to be taken with refpect to her;

but the Accefs of a Wife to her Hufband under

fuch unfortunate Circumftances was never denied,

I believe, in any Cafe whatfoever.

L. C. Juft. Upon a proper Application to the

Court, the Court hath fometimes ordered that Per-

fons named in their Rule may have Accefs to the

Prifoner in the Prefence of the Jaylor, and not

otherwife, and that they fhould be fearched be-

fore they come in. If you think fit to defire it

on thofe Terms, the Court will confider of it.

Prifoner. My Lord, I muft defire upon thofe

Terms as the Court thinks fit, and that my Sif-

ter may have Liberty to come with my Wife.

L. C. Juft. Your Wife and Sifter: It may be

reafonable for them to have Accefs to you, but

they are not to be with you but in the Prefence of

the Jaylor*.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, I beg leave to

obferve whether it is ufual for the Court to make
fuch Rule : On the Trial of Sir John Friend, there

it was only intimated by my Lord Chief Juftice

Holt, but the Court did not order it by making
any Rule ; they know they may apply properly,

and there may be Directions given to the Lieute-

nant of the Tower: As to the Council that is al-

lowed in the Act of Parliament ; and as the Court

hath a Power to affign Counfel, it is proper for

the Court to give Directions for them to be ad-

mitted at all Seafons, and at all times.

L. C. Juft. Why the Wife and the Sifter ?

Prifoner. Yes, my Lord, my Wife and Sifter.

I don't put in a Number of Relations.

L. C. Juft. I do think, Brother Pengelly, that

the Court are trufted in a Matter of this Nature;

and may regularly give Directions with what pro-

per Cautions they think fie. Why, he fays, he
is denied the Comfort of his Wife-, he defiresthat

his Wife and Sifter may be admitted to come to

him. You lay it hath been fometimes intimated,

but not- ordered ; if it was intimated by us, and
not complied with, I believe I fhould make no
Difficulty to order it, provided it be with a rea-

fonable Caution, and no Inconvenience in it.

Whether is it the Wife or Sifter you defire ? I

think one is enough, and me muft fubmit to be
fearched f.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Before your Lordfhip makes
any Rule in this Cafe for the Prifoner, I beg that

he may be obliged to amend his Plea of Not
guilty, and that he may plead by the Name of
Chriftopherus, by which he is indicted. You have
been brought to the Bar, and have put in a Plea
by the Name of Cbriftophorus ; if you are in Ear-
neft that you defire to wave your Plea in Abate-
ment and have it withdrawn, you muft change
the Name wrote in the Commencement of the

Plea; and make it as it is in the Indictment, that

there may be no EmbarafTment in the Proceedings
at the End.

L. C. JusJ. You confent to have it amended ?

Mr. Hungerford. The Prifoner at the Bar hath
confented to withdraw his Plea in Abatement ;

and though the Plea were fuch that he might
have prevailed upon it, yet after his pleading

Not Guilty in general, there is not in the Courle
of this Proceeding any Period of time wherein he
can avail himfelf with the Matter of this Plea in

Abatement; and therefore we fubmit it to the

Court, and to the King's Counfel themfelves, to

put this Matter into fuch a Form; that the Pri-

foner may come to a fair Trial upon the Iffue of
Guilty or Not Guilty.

Mr. Ketelbey. I believe the Prifoner is willing

to come into the Method offered ; and though this

Plea hath been called a frivolous Plea, yet the

Precaution taken by the Gentlemen of the other
Side feems to give a Sanction to it, and makes it

not fo frivolous as hath been reprefented.

L. C. Juft. What do you mean, Mr. Ketelbey?

Here is nothing afked of you : You do defire to

wave and withdraw your Plea ; we defire to know,
if you do, whether you will plead by the Name
as it is in the Indictment,

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, we do.

Mr. Att. Gen. We defire the Plea of Not guilty

may be amended, upon the Confent of the Pri-

foner;

Mr. Hungerford. We offer now, let the Piece
of Parchment be entirely abolifhed, take it en-
tirely out of the way, and we plead Not guilty:

L. C. Juft. Your Plea muft be now &? pradifi*

Chriftopherus duclus hie ad barram; &c.
Mr. Ketelbey. We fubmit it;

Prifoner. I defire to withdraw and retract the

other Plea, and do plead Not guilty.

L. C. Juft. No, it muft be mended ; you will

hear how it is when it is ftruck out and amended,
and then you will tell us whether it is mended ac-

cording to your Intent or no.

CI. of the Cr. Et pr<ediclus Chriftopherus Layer
aliocutus exiftens per Cur* hie de aW prodition' pr<e-

diffia per Indiclameni' pradicl' ei fuperius impofif

qualiter fe velit inde acquietari, Idem Chriftopherus

Layer dicit quod ipfe in nullo eft inde culpabilis cif

inde de bono & malo ponit fe fuper Patriam.

L. C. Juft. Is this according to your Inten-

tion ?

Prifoner. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, I believe it is

ufual in thefe Cales for the Court to appoint a
Time for the Trial; the laft Return but one in

this Term is the 19th of November, fo if you
pleafe it may be the quarto die poft, which I think

is Wednefday^ if that be fuitable and convenient

to the Court.

L. C. Juft. What fay you to it ?

Prifoner. I defire your Lordfhip would give

me a longer Day to prepare for my Trial. I

have a great Number of Witneffes, twenty or

more, moft of them People of the firft Quality.

I hope I fhall have the common proceffes of the

Court to bring them here ; and, my Lord,, an-

other thing I defire is, that I may have a Habeas

Corpus ad teftificand\ to bring my Lord North

and Grey and my Lord Orre.y at my Trial. That,

*See Hambden\ Trial, N». 136. and Roohwotd's Trial, N°. 153.
barris, N°. ioz. •
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my Lord, you would pleafe to give me as long

a Day as you can to prepare for my Trial ; if your

Lordfhip pleafe it may be Monday the 26th, and

then your Lordfhip will have a Day of Refl be-

tween.

L. C. Juft. That will be out of the Return.

Mr. Hungerford. They mutt appear,' and then

may be adjourned.

L. C. juft. It cannot be adjourned over beyond

the Return.

Mr, Ketelbey. My Lord, the Prifoner hath fhewn

that he hath in no Refpecl affected Delay.

L. C. Juft. It cannot be.——God forbid that

we fhould deny the Prifoner to have a reafonable

time to prepare for his Defence ; it is three Weeks
from hence ; you have been aware of it long be-

fore ; you have known the Indictment was found ;

you have had a Copy of it ; you have known your

Charge ; and is not all this Time enough ? Con-

fider, the Term draws toward an End, and it

interferes with the common Bufinefs of the Term
if we carry it to a further Day : we do agree the

Venire to be returned Oftab. Martini, and the

Trial then muft be the quartodie poft, which will

be Wednesday the 21ft. And it is proper for us

to give you an intimation now, not to expect any

further time, or the Jury to be adjourned ; do

but confider what a Multitude muft be brought

up, eighty at leaft : The Prifoner hath a Privi-

lege to challenge thirty five peremptorily, and

after, for Caufe, as many as he pleafes ; fo that

a great Number muft be brought up ; and for

them to be forced to attend here the 21ft, and

ftill the Trial to be put off, it will be a great In-

convenience and a great Charge, therefore that

muft be the Day, we mail not confider to put it

off till any farther Time.

Prifoner. I beg leave for one Word more ; I

have a Witnefs that is to come from Edinburgh,

and I can hardly have him here by the 21. If

I could but be indulged a few Days longer

L. C. Juft. We cannot do it without making
an Error in the Proceedings.

Prifoner. Is there no other Return for a Venire

to be returnable ?

L. C. Juft. No, there is none but that, and
the laft Return of the Term ; and it is impofli-

ble to try him that Day, without doing a mani-
feft Wrong and Injuftice to the People of Eng-
land.

Prifoner. My Lord, where a Man's Life is at

Stake, if I fhould not be indulged over till the

laft Day of the Term, for want of a Witnefs I

may be in danger of my Life : I hope therefore

your Lordfhip will pleafe to indulge me.
L. C. Juft. You have had a great deal of

Time already, Time fufficient to bring your Wit-
nefs from Edinburgh, or any other Place, and
we cannot do it. To put you off to the laft Day
of the Term, is to do a manifeft Wrong to the

People of England.

Prifoner. The Reafon why I mention it over
and over again, is becaufe I would not give your
J /jrdfhip the Trouble to be turned over to an-
other Day, on troubling your Lordfhip with Af-
fidavits.

L. C. Juft. In what you lay before us as Mat-
ter proper for Confideration, we fhall do what is

juft. It is not proper for you to tell us what
wc have to do, and to make Bargains with us*

That is the Day of Trial ; it muft be on TVednef
day the 2 1 ft: Your Counfel will tell you it is im-

pofTible to comply with your Requeft, without

doing the manifefteft Injuftice in the World. Or
elfe, whether to try you upon the 21ft, or in two,

or three, or four Days after, I don't think the

Confequence worth diiputing, but we can't do ic

without doing Wrong and Injuftice to the People

of England.

Prifoner. I hope I fhall be indulged two or

three Days.

L. C. Juft. We can fo no more. The Time
you have had for Preparation for your Trial we
think abundantly fufficient to prepare your felf,

therefore we are of Opinion that the Trial go on
at that Day ; and we order it accordingly.

Mr. Ketelbey. Your Lordfhip will pleafe tp

order a Rule for his Wife and Sifter to come to

him.

L. C. Juft. No, not for his Wife and Sifter.

Prifoner. My Lord for a fingle Woman to come
thro' the Courts and the Guards, to be examin'd

by her felf, it's not fo proper, my Lord.

L. C. Juft. You fhall have a Rule from the

Court for your Wife to come ; as for your Sifter,

we muft leave that to the Direction from another

Place. We muft not be too forward in granting

Women to come, we remember an Efcape occa^

fion'd by a Woman coming thither.

Mr. Att. Gen. There muft be a Rule to bring
him up at the Day of his Trial.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, as to having his Ha-
beas Corpus ad Teftificand' for my Lord North and
Grey, and my Lord Orrery.

L. C. Juft. You muft give Notice, and then

move what you pleafe.

Mr. Hungerford. By what was faid, I did un-
derftand, I muft confefs, that though the Rule
was made for the Wife only, yet that it might
be in the Power of the Gentleman Jaylor to per-

mit her Sifter to come with her.

L. C. Juft. We give no Direction concerning

it. He will have a Rule from the Court that will

be his Direction, unlefs he receives any additional

Direction from another Place, but the Court names
his Wife only.

Mr. Ketelbey. There was another thing men-
tioned, that he may have Copies of his Papers that

were feized.

L. C. Juft. Give Notice for what you think fir,

and move it.

Die Mercurii i\ die Novembris 172a.

THIS Day Chriftopher Layer, Efq; was
brought to the Bar, in Cuftody of the Lieu-

tenant of the Tower, in purfuance of the Rule of

Court made for that Purpofe, in order to his

Trial.

CI. of the Cr. You Chriftopher Layer, now Pri-

foner at the Bar, thefe Men which you fhall hear

called, and perfonally appear, are to pals between

our Sovereign Lord the King and you, upon Tri-

al of your Life and Death : If you will challenge

them, or any of them, your time is to challenge

them as they come to the Book to be fworn, and
before they be fworn.

Heneage Norton, Efq;

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, we deftre that his

Irons may be taken off.

L. C. Juft. The Irons muft be taken off j we
will not ftir till the Irons are taken off.

Prifoner. I hope, my Lord, that the Irons fhall

be now taken off.

L. C. Jut.

•
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L. C. Juft. They fliall be taken off;

Mr. Hungerford. The poor Man hath been fo

opprefs'd by thefe Chains, that he was not able to

prepare his Brief. I had it not till late laft Night

;

and it is ten Sheets of Paper.

Mr. Att. Gen. Whofe Fault is that ? You have

had Time enough.

Mr. Hungerford. It is the Fault of the Irons,

Mr. Attorney, the Brief was not brought to me
till Eleven of the Clock laft Night.

L. C. Juff. It was an Omifllon ; they fhould

have been taken off before he came to the Bar.

Mr. Att. Gen. There was Direction given for

their being taken off before ; how they came not

to be taken off, I can't tell.

L. C. Juji. Are the Irons taken off ?

Gent. Jaylor. Yes.

X. C. Juft. Go on.

CI. of the Cr. Heneage Norton, Efq;

L. C. Juft. You muft call over all the Jury.

Mr. Hungerford. I thought they would be all

called over once, before any one is endeavoured to

be fworn.

CI. of the Cr. They have been called over al-

ready.

Mr. Hungerford. When ? Not fince the Court

fate, I am lure. I would know whether the in-

tention is, that all the Pannel be called over before

any one of them is fworn, or that the Pannel is

to be called over but once, and the Jury-men fworn

as they chL-i'i appear. What I have obferved is;

the Clerk palls c r th o\c Pannel firft, to fee

how many appear ; &tie} then calls it over again,

and fwears them as they anfwer to their Names if

not challenged.

L. C. Juft. What you obferve is what hath

been done at the Old-Bailey ; there they call them
over firft ; and then they call them over again,

and a 3 they appear they are fworn prefently. But

by the Courle of the Court here they are called

over before the Court is fitting, and they mark
thofe that appear. That is not fufficient ; but

they are called over again in Court, and then their

Appearance and Non-appearance being marked,
they do call thofe over again that did appear ; and
as one appears, if there is no Objection to him, he
muft be fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. I have obferved them to be

called over when no body is by, in civil Cafes;

but in fuch a Cafe as this, a Cafe of High-Trea-
fOn, where peremptory Challenges is allowed, it is

fome Guide to the Prifbner in making his Chal-

lenges, to know before-hand who do and who do
not appear.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord^ with Submiffion, in

all criminal Cafes there is no other Method than
calling over the Pannel according as it is tranf-

mitted into Court. BTis probable feveral of
the Jurors who did not appear at their being
called over before the fitting of the Court will

now appear ; and therefore what we pray is that

the whole Pannel may be now called over in the

Order as it ftands, not only thofe who anfwered
to the firft Call, but thofe alfo who then made
Default.

Mr. Att. Gen. I can't imagine what they mean.
L. C. Juft. This Debate arifes from not under-

ftanding one another : You have the Direction of
the Court ; the Pannel is to be called over, if any
Man doth not appear, his Default is marked and
recorded. When any one doth appear, and he
is not challenged, he is to be fworn.
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Mr. Ketelbey. I came thro' the Hall juft now, and

there is fuch a Crowd that it is almoft impoflible
for any one to hear when they are called.

Prifoner. My Lord; I hope they fliall be once
called over before they come to be fworn ; for as
to their being called before, that was before I came

:

it will fpend but a little time to read over forty or
fifty Names.

L. C. Juft. Call them over. I would not deny
any thing that is defired in Reafon by or on the
Prifoner's Behalf; confider what you are doing ;

the Prifoner hath had a Copy of the Pannel, he
hath examined it; and confidered who are proper
for him to challenge peremptorily; and he hath
confidered who they are that he may challenge with
Caufe.

I can't imagine ; it was never done in this

World : We have afked our Officer : They ought
to call over all the Pannel ; but if they do not
appear, their Default is marked ; if they do
appear, the Prifoner knows whether he likes them
or not.

Therefore when they come to the Bar, if not
challenged they muft be fworn.

Confider what this Demand is ; we fliall be an
Hour calling them over the firft time, that it may
appear to the Prifoner whether they appear or not

;

then afterwards you are to call them over again, and
to have them brought up again when they come
to be fworn. But if it ever hath been done, it is

fit it fliould be done now ; but our Officer tells us
it never was done* and why fhould you infift upon
it now ? you have had all the Indulgence the Law
allows you,

Prifoner. I have not had a Copy of the Pannel
above two Days before. Here hath been in this

Caufe all the vile Practices

L. C. Juft. You muft keep within due and pro-
per Bounds. You are come now to be tried for

an Offence you are charged withal ; but you are

not to arraign and challenge every body elfe ; you

have no Right to do it. If in proper time it ap-

pears you have been ill ufed, the Court will do you

Juftice, and punifli thofe that have been guilty of

any Mifbehaviour.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, if they have any

Objection to the Jury, they are to challenge them
peremptorily, when the Jury come to be fworn.

Then is their time ; they are not to entertain the

Court with Speeches before.

L. C. Juji. No it is not proper.

Confider how unreafonable it is for the Prifo-

ner to arraign fomebody's Mifbehaviour without

naming him. But in this Method he is insinuat-

ing Objections* which we can't examine whether

they are true or falfe, on purpofe to captivate Peo-

ple ; and it may be, miflead them in the Trial of

the Caufe.

Mr. Ketelbey. As I came in, I obferved that all

the Avenues to the Court are barricadoed up, and

only a narrow Place left on the Stone Steps, and

a Guard kept there to keep out whom thry don't

think fit to let in*

Mr. Att. Gen. I know nothing of it ; and I

dare fay nobody will give any Countenance to

hindering either Jury-men or Witnefles coming

into Court, when their Attendance is required

here.

Mr. Ketelbey. I had much ado to get in myfelf.

L. C. Juft. There fliall be due Care taken, that

any of the Jury that appear, we will order Way
to be made for them.

Mr. Hungerford.
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Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I will take up but

very little of your Time in this Matter •, I find

I was not underftood before •, that which I con-

tend for is, that the Panne? be read thro' once in

the Priibner's Prefence, to fee what Jury-men ap-

pear, before any Jury-man is fworn. The Pri-

foner hath a Right to challenge thirty five pe-

remptorily, or without afligning any Caufe at all.

Now, my Lord, this is a Favour, an Indulgence

granted to him by Law, and he is therefore ent.it-

fed to it in Juftice. It is of great Uie to the Pri-

foner, in order to enjoy the true Benefit of this

Indulgence that the Law gives him, that he knows

who doth and who doth not appear, for this Rea-

fon perhaps, if he did know that fuch an one ap-

pears he will take him, and if he knows that fuch

an one appears he will challenge him. And if

he know that fuch an one, who perhaps ftands

low in the Pannel, and of whom he has a good

Opinion for being an honeft Man, will appear,

he will challenge as many as he can of the pre-

ceeding Perfons, in order to have him, that ho-

neft Man, of his Jury. And as to the Time the

reading of the Pannel will take us, (though by the

way it might have been over by this time) I am
fore your Lordfhip and the Court will not regard

what Proportion of Time you fpare us, to let the

Prifoner enjoy the Benefit of the Law in this Cafe,

and to have a full Enjoyment of the Indulgence

of the Aft of Parliament in its full Latitude, that

he may know and judge (as far as the Law hath

enabled him) who is to pafs upon him as to his

Life and Death. I beg therefore, my Lord, that

the whole Pannel may be called over once before

the Prifoner is put So challenge.

Prifoner. My Lord, What we humbly move
for is what is every Day done at the Old Bailey,

that they may be once called over.

All I defire is what is done there, and by the

fame Reafon ought to be done here in the fame

Cafe where a Man's Life is concerned. I humbly
move it that they may be called over.

L. C. Juft. We fhall grudge no Time to do

the King and you Juftice. It is dangerous to

make a Precedent, an Innovation : But if you

defire it, I don't find the King's Counfel object

to it.

Call over the Pannel.

You don't expeft all mould be brought into

Court, but only to know if they do appear ?

Mr. Hungerford and Mr. Ketelbey. No, no.

L. C. Juft. The Prifoner hath a Sollicitor ; let

fome Body go down upon the Steps, the Sollicitor

be preient, and then he will hear who do and who
do not appear.

Mr. Hungerford. We humbly thank your Lord-
fhip ; this is a real Indulgence, and we humbly
thank your Lordfhip for it.

CI. of the Cr. Calls over the whole Pannel.

You the Prifoner at the Bar, thefe Men
which, &V.

Mr. Ketelbey. If your Lordfhip pleafes to ftay

till the Sollicitor comes in, becaufe he went out

to obferve who did appear, and who did not

appear.

CI. of the Cr. Ueneage Norton-. Have you ten

Pounds a Year Freehold and Copyhold in the

County of EJfex ?

Norton. I have 'no Freehold, only Copyhold.

[Then he was fet afide.]

John JVilks. [Ask'd die lame Queftion, as were
all the others who appeared;, before they were either

challenged or fworn.}

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Mark Frofl.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

'Thomas Clarke.

Prifoner. I don't challenge him.

Crier. 'Thomas Clarke. Sworn.

Henry Longbotham.

Prifoner. I lay, I think his Name is wrong
fpelt.

Mr. Soil. Gen. We are not now upon Excepti-

ons for Mif-pelling. If his Name is written as

he is ufually called, it is right.

Prifoner. He fays his Name is with an 0, and
it is written here with an a.

L. C. Juft. Doth the Copy delivered to you
agree with the Pannel ? if it doth, as long as it

hath the fame Sound it will do.

Prifoner. With humble Submiffion in the Cafe

of Francia there it was allowed.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, it is not the fame
Sound Longbotham and Longbothom, and in Fran-

da's Cafe the Difference of a Letter was allowed

to be a good Exception.

L. C. Juft. You are by Law to have a Copy of
the Pannel delivered to you ; if that Pannel varies

from the other, it is a juft Exception ; but if you
objeft againft a Jury-man becaufe his Name is not

right fpelt, and that hath the fame Pronunciation,

and he may be called fometimes one and fometimes
another it is well enough.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, as to this Objection,-

whether the Longbotham is right, or the Longbo-

tham, whether it is with an A or an 0.

CI. of the Cr. You miftake, it is Longbotham,

and not Longbothom.

Prifoner. The laft mould be an inftead of

an A, Longbothom.

L. C. Juft. Therefore we will afk the Gentle-

man how his Name is ufually pronounced, whe-
ther it is not pronounced fometimes Longbothom

as well as Longbotham.

Mr. Longbothom. Yes, my Lord, it is. .

Prifoner. He fays he fpells his Name with an O,
and here it is with an A.

Longbothom. I always fpell my Name with an

0, but my Letters are generally directed to me
with an A.

Mr. Hungerford. He hath a Copy of the Pannel
delivered him by vertue of the Act of Parliament 5

if the Copy be not a true Copy, it is not right ac-

cording to the Direction of the Aft.

L. C. Juft. Right.

Mr. Hungerford. Now the Pannel which the

Prifoner hath is fpelt with an A, and the Pannel of

which this is a pretended Copy, is, I take it, fpelt

with an O.

Cl. of the Cr. No, they are both fpelt alike.

L. C. Juft. You know it, Gentlemen, as well

as can be. Don't let us fpend Time where there

is nothing in it ; we will hear what is proper for

our Confideration.

Suppofe a Man is called and writ fometimes

Longbothom, and fometimes Longbotham -, and fup-

pofe he was called by either of thefe Names, may
he not therefore be called by one as well as the

other ? Is that an Objection to fay he writ with

an O, but People write to him with an A? there

is nothing at all in it.

Prifoner. Then I challenge him,

Cl. of the C. Ifaac Buxton.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Cl. of the Cr. Richard Scot,

Prifoner.
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Prifoner. I challenge him.'

CL of the Cr. John Wormlayton,

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CL of the Cr. John Andrews.

Prifoner. I don't challenge him.

Mr. Att. Gen. I challenge him for the King.

CI. of the Cr. tfhomas Waterhoufe.

Stephen Huff.

John Thorowgood^

Chritfo-pher Baily.

Challenged by the Prifoner<,

Ifaac Potter. Sworn.

CI. of the Cr. William Lord.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of the Cr. Hezekiah Haynes. Sworn,

'Thomas Heckford, jun.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CI. of the Cr. Richard Waglett.

Prifoner. I don't challenge him.

Mr. Att. Gen. I challenge him for the King.

Mr. Ketelbey. Mr. Attorney is pleafed to chal-

lenge him for the King ; we humbly infift on it,

that Mr. Attorney is to fhew his Caufe of Chal-

lenge immediately. I own it has been otherwife

in one or two late Inftances -, but I fubmit it, if

that Practice mould prevail, whether the A<5t of

Parliament made on that Occafion would not be

in Effect thereby abrogated. The Act is the 33
Edward I. and the Words of it are :

" If they
" that fue for the King will challenge any Ju-
•' ror, they mall affign of their Challenge a Caufe
" certain, and the Truth of the fame fhall be in-

" quired of according to the Cuftom of the

" Court." Now, my Lord, I beg leave to ob-

ferve upon this Pannel there are a hundred and

odd Perfons, if Mr. Attorney is not obliged to

fhew his Caufe of Challenge, when he challenges

for the King, till all the Pannel is gone through,

this Act of Parliament will be of no Validity

whatsoever. If there had been but a few return*

ed (twenty four, or fuch a Number) then there

might have been fome Colour for going through

the Pannel before there was any Caule afligned for

the Challenge \ but fince this modern Practice has

obtained to make fo numerous a Pannel, if they

are not obliged to fhew Caufe till the Pannel is

gone through, that Law is inrirely a dead Letter,

and of no Significancy.

L. C. Juft. You know your' Objection is of no
Validity •, you cite an Act of Parliament, and you
know the conftant Practice is againft you.

Mr. Jlift. Eyre. Though the Counfel for the

King muft affign their Caufe of Challenge, yet

they are not obliged to do it till the Pannel is

gone thro', and the Jury-men returned, who are

not challenged, are all fworn : This is a Rule
laid down in Hale's Pleas of the Crown, and has

been always the conftant Practice in Cafes of this

kind.

Mr. Hungerford. What your Lordfhip direct-

ed in the iaft Cafe is certainly precedented ; but
I would propofe it as a Convenience that the At-
torney fhould, as he is every ways entitled, have
the Precedence, and might challenge firft, and
then we will determine after him.

L. C. Juii. No, we muft not do that.

CI. of the C. John Lowry. Sworn.
CL of the Cr. John How. Setafide for want of

Freehold.

CI. of the Cr. Thomas Pratt. Sworn,
CI. of the Cr. Richard Rogers.

Prifoner. I do.i't challenge him.

Mr. Att. Gen. I challenge him for the King.
CL of the Cr. Edward Pierfon.

Thomas Bland.

William Spilltimber.

Alexander Weller*

Thomas Rand.

John Englifh.

Jofeph Unwin.

George Frye.

Challenged by the Prifoner^

CI. of the Cr. Wefton Stileman.

Prifoner. I don*t challenge him.

Mr. Att. Gen. I challenge him for the King.

CL of the Cr. John Crujh.

Prifoner. I don't challenge him.

Mr. Att. Gen. I challenge him for the King.
CL of the Cr. Thomas Howlett.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I don't know this Method
of proceeding : If the Prifoner makes any
Challenge, it muft be before he comes to the

Book to be fworn -, but when he comes to lay his

Hand upon the Book, he is too late to challenge

then.

Prifoner. Whenever I make a full Stop and don't

fay I challenge, you do.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, the Prifoner is to

declare whether he challenges or not ; afterwards

the King's Counfel are to declare whether they

challenge for the King, and the Jury-man is not

to put his Hand on the Book till then.

L. C. JuiJ. He ought not to put his Hand on
the Book till he is allowed a Jury-man ; that if

the King or the Prifoner challenge him, they may
do it before he lay his Hand on the Book.

CL of the Cr. Jofeph Capon.

Prifoner. I don't challenge him.

Mr. Att. Gen. I challenge him for the King:
Mr. Hungerford. More have been challenged for

the King, than hath been known in any public

Trial in my Remembrance.
Mr. Att. Gen. I am furprized at this Obferva^

tion, when the King has an undoubted Right of

challenging whom he pleafes, without mewing
Caufe till the Pannel is gone through,

L. C. JuiJ. It is always done.

CL of the Cr. John Clarke.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

CL of the Cr. William Chandler. Set afide for

want of Freehold.

CL of the Cr. William Burrowts.

Prifoner. I challenge him*
CI. of the Cr. Francis Aylett> Sen. Sworn.

CL of the Cr. George Bailey.

John Weekes.

Zhomas Ruggle*

Challenged by the Prifoner.

The Prifoner fpoke to the Jury-man.
Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lord, it hath been intima-

ted to the Prifoner once already, that he ought to

propofe his Queftions to the Court.

L. C. Jujl. You are to afk no Queftions your

felf, if you will tell us the Queftion, we will pro-

pofe it.

Prifoner. Only to know how he fpells his

Name.
CL of the Cr. William May.

Abraham hake.

Challenged by the Prifoner:

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, it will be of fome

little Ufe to know for certainty how many he hath

challenged \ they differ here in the Computation,

CI of the Cr,
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Cl. of the Cr. He hath challenged twenty eighE

peremptorily.

CI. of the Cr. Nathaniel Wefsley.

Prifoner. I don*t challenge him.

Mr. Ait. Gen. I challenge him for the King,

CI. of the Cr. Benjamin Rutland.

Prifoner. My Lord, I defire he may be afked

whether he doth not farm fomething under the

King or on the Foreft.

L. C. JusJ. If it was of any Service to you it

fhould be done j but if it is fo, it is no Objec-

tion.

Mr. Ketelbey. The Objection was once made

in the Cafe of Sir William Perkins. It was recom-

mended to the King's Counfel.

L. C. Juff. I deny it. It was not recom-

mended to the King's Counfel, but the King's

Counfel did not infill upon it.

Mr. JusJ. Fortefcue Aland. The Court in that

Cafe gave their Opinion, that to be a Servant to

the King was no good Caufe of Challenge, and

my Lord Chief Juftice Holt and Treby were

prefent, and Mr. Attorney General did not infift

on the Jury-man fo challenged, but waved the

Matter without any Recommendation of the

Court.

Mr. Ketelbey. I know no other ways, than if

Mr. Attorney will do it, as it was done in that

Cafei

Mr. Mi. Gen. I know nothing of the Fact,

X. C. Jujl. What do you do, do you challenge

him or no ?

Prifoner. I challenge him,

CI. of the Cr. Alexander Marjhall,

Thomas Selby.

Challenged by the Prifoner.

0. of the Cr. John Milligande.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, he is fearcning for

a Paper ; he challenges him for Caufe.

Prifoner. My Lord, what I have to offer is,

that this Mr. Milligande hath been heard to fay,

before he came here, that I ought to be hanged ;

and I apprehend that is good Caufe for challeng-

ing him, if I make it out.

David Martin called;

Cryer. You fhall true Anfwer make, &c.
Mr. Hungerford. Do you know Mr. Milk*

gande I

Martin. Yes,

Mr. Hungerford. What have you heard him de-

dare concerning the Prifoner at the Bar ?

Martin. I heard him in Converfation fay, that

he hoped he fhould be hanged, for he believed he
was Guilty.

Mr. Hungerford. This Objection fure is right.

[Mr. Milligande was not fworn.}

CI. of the Cr. Robert Walker.

Prifoner T challenge him. '

CI. of the Cr. William Nicholfon. Sworn, i

1

Prifoner. My Lord, I have very near all my
Challenges* I think they may go on as they are

called, if Mr. Attorney will challenge no more.
Mr. Att. Gen. You may go on your own way,

I fhall make no Bargains with you.

Mr. Ketelbey. We don't offer any Bargain,
but only an Expedient to fave the Time of the
Court.

CI. of the Cr. Nicholas Freeman,
Prifoner. I challenge him.
CI. of the Cr. Chriftopher Hill. Sworn.
CI. of the Cr. Stephen Wood.
Prifoner. I think I have done all my Challenges.

Cl. of the Cr. You have two more:

Prifoner. Let them take them then as they

come.

Mr. Att. Gen. I challenge him for the King.

Cl. of the Cr. Richard Bridge.

Prifoner. I challenge him.

John Baines,fet afide by Content, by Rea-
fon of Infirmity.

Cl. of the Cr. Robert Barnard. Sworn.

Cl. of the Cr. Leonard Bennett.

Prifoner. I don't challenge him.

Mr. Att. Gen. I challenge him for the King.

Cl. of the Cr. William Sandford.

Prifoner. My Lord, I have the fame Objecti-

on to this Gentleman as to the other, he hath de-

clared his Opinion before-hand, and that he mufl
make a Sacrifice of me.

L. C. Jutt. Call your Witnefs.

Mr. Martin fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Mr. Martin, do you know Wih
Ham Sandford of Rumford ?

Martin. Yes.

Mr. Ketelbey. Have you had any Difcourfe with

him about the Prifoner at the Bar ?

Martin. He faid, before he was fummoned on
the Jury, that if he was one of the Jury, he would

be for hanging of him. Set afide.

Cl. of the Cr. Thomas Waters.

Prifoner. Sir, I apprehend I have challenged

thirty five.

Cl. of the Cr. You have one more.

Prifoner. I will challenge no more, let them

go on,

Cl. of the Cr. Thomas Waters. Sworn.

Richard Gray, Sworn.

William Wheatly.

Mr. Hungerford. I hope that what I am going

to offer is proper. There is fome little doubt

how far he is gone in his Challenges, it is faid he

hath one more, if the Court would indulge us

fo far as to let the Perfons challenged be called

over.

Cl. of the Cr. It is impoffible that we mould
miftake.

Mr. Hungerford. You fay he hath one more.

C. of the Cr. Yes.

William Wheatly. Sworn.

Then the twelve Jurors who were fworn were

counted, and their Names were as follow, viz.

Thomas Clarke, Gent.

Ifaac Potter, Gent.

Hezekiah Haynes, Gent.

John Lowry, Gent.

Thomas Prat, Gent.

Francis Aylett, Gent.

William Nicholfon, Efq;

Chriftopher Hill, Gent.

Robert Barnard, Gent.

Thomas Waters, Gent.

Richard Gray, Gent.

William Wheatly, Gent.

Cl. of the Cr. Cryer, make Proclamation.

Cryer. O yes, If any one can inform, fcfr.

Cl. of the Cr. Chriftopher Layer, Hold up your

Hand. Gentlemen of the Jury, look upon the

Prifoner, and hearken to his Caufe.

He flands indicted by the Name of Chriftopher

Layer, late of the Parifh of St. Andrew's Holborn,

in the County of Middlefex, Efq; For that he,

££c. ' Upon this Indictment he hath been

lately arraigned, and thereunto hath pleaded Not
Guilty, and for his Trial hath put himfelf upon

God and the Country, which Country you are.

Your Charge is to enquire whether he be guilty

of this High Treafon, in Manner and Form as

he ftands indicted, or Not Guilty. If you find

him
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him Guilty, you fhall enquire what Goods or Chat-

tels, Lands or Tenements he had, at the Time

of the faid High Treafon committed, or at any

Time fince; If you find him not Guilty, you

fhall enquire whether he fled for it. If you find

that he did fly for it, you fhall enquire of his

Goods and Chattels, as if you had found him

Guilty. If you find him not Guilty, and that

he did not fly for it, fay fo, and no more, and hear

your Evidence.

Mr. Wearg. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, and

you Gentlemen of the Jury, this is an Indictment

againft the Prifoner for High Treafon. The In-

dictment fets forth, That he being a Subject of

his prefent Majefty King George, but not having

the Fear of God in his Heart, nor confidering

the Duty of his Allegiance, as a.falfe Traitor a-

gainft his fupreme, true, lawful, and undoubted

Lord, contriving and to the utmoft of his Power

intending to change, alter and fubvert the Go-

vernment of this Kingdom, lawfully and happily

eftablifhed under his prefent Majefty, and to de-

pofe and deprive his faid Majefty of h :

s Title,

Honour, Royal Eftate and Government of this

Kingdom ; and to advance to the Crown and Go-

vernment of this Realm, the Perfon in the Life

of the late King James II. pretended to be Prince

of Wales, and after the Deceafe of the faid King

James pretending to be and taking upon himfelf

the Stile and Title of King of England, by the

Name of James III. did upon the twenty fifth

Day of Auguft, in the ninth Year of his prefent

Majefty's Reign, and at feveral other Days and

Times, at Layton-Stone, in the County of EJfex,

falfely, malicioufly, and traiteroufly, compafs,

imagine, and intend to depofe our faid Sovereign

Lord King George, from his Title, regal State

and Government, and the faid King to kill and

bring to utter Deftruclion.

The Indiclment further fets forth, That he the

faid Christopher Layer, to perfect and bring to

Effect his Treafon and traiterous Purpofes, oft

the faid twenty fifth Day of Auguft, and at feve-

ral other Days and Times, at Layton-Stone afore-

faid, together with divers other falfe Traitors,

to the Jury unknown, did falfely, malicioufly,

and traiteroufly meet, confult, confpire and agree,

to move and ftir up an Infiirrection artd Rebellion

in this Kingdom, againft our faid Sovereign Lord
the King.

The Indictment further fets forth, That he the

faid Christopher Layer, to perfect and compleat

his Treafon and traiterous Purpofes, on the faid

twenty fifth of Auguft, at Layton-Stone aforefaid,

with Force and Arms, did falfely, malicioufly,

and traiteroufly publifh a certain malicious, fedi-

tious, and traiterous Writing, containing in it felf,

and purporting to be, an Exhortation and Pro-

mife of Rewards to the Subjects of his faid Ma-
jefty, to perfuade and excite them to take up
Arms and levy War againft our faid Sovereign

King George.

The Indictment further fets forth, That the

faid Chriftopher Layer, together with other falfe

'I raitors to the Jury unknown, to compleat and
bring to Effect his traiterous Purpofes, on the
faid twenty fifth Day of Auguft, at Layton-Stone
aforefaid, with Force and Arms, did falfely,

malicioufly, and traiteroufly meet, confult, con-
fpire and agree, to exalt to the Crown and Royal
Dignity of this Realm the Perfon in the Life of
the late King James II. pretended to be Prince

Vol. VI.

of Wales, by means of an armed Force and Troops
of Soldiers, for that Purpofe to be raifed and
levied.

The Indictment further fets forth, That the faid

Chriftopher Layer, to perfect his laid Treafon, on
the faid twenty fifth Day of August, at Layton^

Stone aforefaid, malicioufly and traiteroufly did
rafe, levy, and retain feveral Men, to the Jury
unknown, to take up Arms and levy War with-

in this Kingdom, againft our faid Sovereign Lord
the King.

That the faid Chriftopher Layer, Xo perfect his

treafonable Purpofes on the faid twenty fifth Day
of Auguft, at Layton-Stone aforefaid, together with
divers other falfe Traitors, to the Jury unknown,
did falfely, malicioufly, and traiteroufly meet, con-
fpire and agree, to take, feize, imprifon and de-
tain in Cuftody the Sacred Perfon of our faid So-
vereign Lord the King, againft the Duty of his

Allegiance, againft the Peace of the King, his

Crown and Dignity, and againft the Form of the

Statute in that Cafe made and provided. To
this Indictment the Prifoner hath pleaded, Not
Guilty.

Mr. Serj, Pengelly. May it pleafe your Lord-
fhip, and Gentlemen of the jury ; the Prifoner

at the Bar, Mr. Layer, comes noW to be tried be-

fore you, for a wicked and deteftable Confpiracy

againft the Perfon of his Majefty, and againft his

Government •, and this in favour of an attainted

and abjured Pretender *, a Pretender whom the

Prifoner himfelf has abjured in Words, and ought

to have renounced in his Heart,

The Indictment contains a Charge of High-
Treafon againft the Prifoner at the Bar, for com-
parting and intending the depofing the King, and
alfo his Death and Deftruction.

The particular Facts laid to prove this traite-

rous imagination and Intent, and which the Pri-

foner put in Execution, in order to bring to Effect

his treafonable Purpofes, are five.

The firft is ; That the Prifoner, with other Trai-

tors, did confult, confpire, and agree to raife a ge-

neral Infurrection and Rebellion in this Nation a~

gainft his Majefty.

The next ; That he did publifh a feditious and

treafonable Declaration, containing Incitements,

and Promifes of Reward, whereby to excite and

ftir up his Majefty's Subjects to take up Arms*
and to levy War againft his Majefty within this

Realm.

And farther ; That he, with other Traitors,

confpired, confulted and agreed, by an armed

Force, to exalt, and bring the Pretender to his

Majefty's Crown, to the Throne of thefe King-

doms, and put him into the Pofleffion of the Go-
vernment thereof.

That hath provided, levied, and retained fe-

veral Perfons, to take up Arms, and to levy War
againft his Majefty within this Kingdom, for the

executing thefe traiterous Purpofes.

The laft Overt-Act alledged, and to finifh this

Confpiracy, is, That he, with the other Traitors,

confulted, confpired, and agreed to feize upon,

and to imprifon the facred Perfon of his Ma-
jefty.

Gentlemen, it is unneceffary, when thefe Facts

are opened to you, to acquaint you, that an At-?

tempt of this Natute, if it had fucceeded, would

have been the Subverfion of the prefent happy

Eftablifhment, and the Proteftant Succefllon, ib

often confirmed by the Confent of the whole Na-

K k „
tion,



250 1 93- The Trial of C. Layer, Efq; Mich. 9 G. I.

tion, and the only Security of your religious and

civil Rights and Liberties ; they would all have

been expofed to the Arbitrary Power of a Popifh

Faction, under the Tyranny of the Pretender.

Gentlemen, having faid this to Ihew the Na-

ture of the Offence $ we (who are Counfel for

his Majefty) mall proceed to lay before you the

particular Evidence againll the Prifoner at the

Bar : Gentlemen, we have been fo fortunate as

to difcover, and mail produce before you
?

the

very Plan itfelf, upon which thefe Confpirators

proceeded, and which was to be put in Execu-

tion.

We mall produce the Plan under the Prifoner s

own Hand-writing, and mew his acting corre-

fpondent to that Plan, and in the Execution there-

of; this Plan is a compleat Scheme of a treafon-

able Infurrection, if that may be called compleat

which tends to utter Deftruction ; for if the fe-

veral Parts therein contained had been executed, it

would have been a total Overturning of the Go-

vernment and Conftitution.

But you may obferve a Regularity going thro'

the whole Scheme.

The Place of Action, and the Scene where this

Confpiracy was firft to be put in Execution, was

in the City of London, and tho
5
in the Plan it felf

she Day is not mentioned, yet we mall Ihew to

you, by the Prifoner's own Declaration and Dif-

covery, the Time when it was to be executed; it

was at the breaking up of the Camp of his Ma-
jefty's Forces in Hyde-Park.

Gentlemen, the Plan contains a Difpofition of

feveral Officers, who were appointed to their par-

ticular Stations, and were to be fupplyed with

Men defigned to be procured for the Execution

©f this Plan ;. and, as the Confpirators hoped to

debauch part of the Army, thefe Officers were to

be difpoied at feveral Places, to receive the pri-

vate Men, who, to the Number of about two
Hundred (towards the Evening of the Day agreed

upon for Execution) were to go fingly out of the

Camp, without their Arms, that they might more
eafily pafs without Obfervation, and were to be

collected together at a Place of Rendezvous ap-

pointed them.

Gentlemen, from the Management of the Con-
fpiracy, and the Method they had taken to carry

it on, and the Hopes they had entertained, the

Confpirators concluded, they mould have that

Number of two hundred Men ready in one Body,

to be commanded by proper Officers, to make
the firft Attempt, and the firft Stand.

At the Place of Rendezvous they were to be

fupplyed with Mufkets ready loaded, and to re-

ceive their Arms, which were to be diftributed

to them a little before the Hour of Nine ; at

which Hour exactly, they were to march directly

to the Tower of London, (as the Plan propofes,

and as the Prifoner agreed and declared) where

they might expect to be admitted, by the Help
and Afliitance of their Friend, the Officer upon
the Guard ; and as foon as they had entered,

they were to fhut up the Sower Gates, and feize

the Arms.

Their General was to make his Stand in Perfon

at the Royal Exchange , at the fame time, it is di-

rected by the Plan, and was conlulted upon, and

agreed by the Prifoner himfelf, they were to at-

tempt to arreft the Perfons of feveral great Men ;

and although the Plan doth not name the Perfons,

yet the Prifoner hath explain'd it fully, and from

his own Mouth we fhall prove, who the particular

Perfons are, thus intended to be feized.

A Declaration Was to be difperfed to excite

People to come in to the Rebels •, the Gates of
the City of London were to be fhut up, and
Cannon brought down againft them : They were
then to fet a Guard over the Bank -, but in the

firft Place, they were to take out Money fuffici-

ent to pay their Men, fuch as they hoped would
appear in their Intereft : Their feveral other Par-

ties were to fecure the Artillery in the Camp, the

Guns in the Privy-Garden, the Cannon and Am-
munition near the Horfe-Guards in St. James's,

Park.

Thefe were the firft Operations : But to finifh

this villanous and execrable Defign, at the Time
the Tower was feized, and the City in Arms,
they were to fend a Detatchment to feize the Per-

fon of his Majefty ; and this they expreffed in

their Plan to be, for the fecuring his Perfon from
the Mob. But our King was to be delivered to

their General at the Tower, and to be put under
his Cuftody. Thus the Life of his Majefty was
to be in their Power.

After this, there are feveral other Difpofitions

of Officers, and other Perfons, in order to ex-

cite and carry on the Rebellion : Some were to

appear in Tothil-Fields, fbme in Southwark, who
were to give Arms to the Minters ; ibme at Green-

wich, to engage the Watermen, and feize the

Magazine and Powder there, and others at other

Places.

Gentlemen, you will find in this Plan a Pre-

paration to make an entire Conqueft of the Ci-

ties of London and Wefiminjler ; upon which the

Confpirators hoped the reft of the Kingdom would
declare for the Pretender : And there is one par-

ticular Provifion in the Plan, that as they pro-

ceeded here, and found Succefs, the General

mould immediately difpatch Meffengers into the

feveral Counties of England, to give Intelligence

of their Progrefs, and to perfuade thofe, who
they looked upon to be in their Intereft, to de-

clare for the Pretender, and to rife in their refpec-

tive Counties with their Adherents.

This is the Plan upon which the Confpiracy is

carried on ; and as we mall produce this Plan,

which the Prifoner hath fupplied himfelf with, and

written with his own Hand, we beg leave to

infill upon that, as ftrong Evidence againft the

Prifoner, upon the Overt-Acts alledged in the In-

dictment, of his confulting and confpiring to raife

a Rebellion and Infurrection in the Nation, and

to feize the King's Perfon.

Gentlemen, upon this Plan, which the Prifon-

er at the Bar had thus furnifhed himfelf with, you

will find, on the Examination of our Witneffes,

that he conftantly acted ; he declared for, and

promoted the Execution of the principal Parts

of it.

Gentlemen, the Witneffes we mall call who
were engaged with the Prifoner at the Bar, in this

Defign, are Stephen Lynch and Matthew Plunkett \

(which laft had been a Serjeant in the Army) with

whom the Prifoner confulted, and whom he en-

gaged in this defperate Attempt ; and we fhall

call fome other Witneffes to confirm feveral Cir-

cumftances in their Evidence.

Mr. Lynch is a Perfon the Prifoner might have

reafonable Hopes of engaging in this Service : He
had been formerly acquainted with one Dr. Mnr-

phey, who (I am inftructed) was in the Rebellion

that
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that broke out in the Beginning of his Majefty's

Reio-n : Mr. Lynch having been abroad, and ab-

fentfor fome time, returned into England in April

laft: Upon his Return, Dr. Murphey, his old Ac-

quaintance, meets with him;, bids him welcome

to England, and tells him that an Affair was go-

incr on by which he might make his Fortune,

and advifcs him not to go out of England : That

there was an Intention to rife in Favour of the

Pretender, whom he called his King, and he

would take care to recommend Mr. Lynch to a

Perfon who had a great Part in that Affair.

Mr. Lynch having fuffered before, and run a

great Hazard, was unwilling immediately to en-

ter into any Engagement* but propofed, that if

he could have fuffkient Encouragement, and what

he expected as a Reward, he fhould be willing

to flay. Some time after Dr. Murphey introduces

Lynch to the Prifoner at the Bar : The firft time

they met, I think it was the Beginning of June

laft, they went to the Prifoner's Lodgings, which

where then at the upper End of Chancery-Lane ;

and he being about to remove his Goods, defired

them to go to a Tavern hard by, the Griffin Ta-

vern in Holbourne. To this Place the Prifoner at

the Bar came, where Dr. Murphey prefented Lynch

to Mr. Layer, as the Gentleman Dr. Murphey had

before recommended to him •, Mr. Layer receiv-

ed Mr. Lynch at that time with great Civility,

and tells him, that the Recommendation he had

received of Lynch from Dr. Murphey, made him

not to doubt of his Integrity and Ability. Then
they entered upon a Confukation as to the carry-

ing on of this Defign •, Mr. Layer introduced it

with reprefenting an Uneafinefs in the Nation in

general, and how fair an Opportunity there was

to bring about a Revolution : But Mr. Layer tells

him, that one of the firft and principal Steps

was to feize upon a General, or other great Man,
(which you will obferve is one part of the Scheme)

and upon Dr. Murphey's Recommendation of

him as a fit Man for that Service, Layer propofes

to Lynch to undertake it. At this time Lynch

acquainted Layer with the Difficulties he had been

in, and that an Affair of this Nature would take

up fome time before it could be put in Execution,

and he could not well engage in it without fome

farther Encouragement, and a Reward in Money,
in order that he might live eafy and well while

he ftaid here. Upon that, the Prifoner at the

Bar promifed him Supplies of Money for his

Subfiflence and Expences, what mould be necef-

fary, befides future Rewards ; and in purfuance

of that Promife, Layer hath feveral times fupplied

Lynch with Money, to engage him more effectu-

ally in this Defign, and to fupport him in it. By
thefe AfTurances Lynch was prevailed upon, and
then agreed to enter into this Confpiracy, and to

take upon him the Part therein that fhould be fig-

nified to him.

Gentlemen, the Prifoner did not then make a

Full Difcovery of the Perfon that was to be feized ;

but they were to meet again, as they did, about
the latter end of June, at the fame Tavern : There
the Prifoner difclofed to the Witnefs the particular

Perfon who was defigned to be firft feized. He
acquaints the Witnefs, that the Perfon he (the

Prifoner) intended at their former Meeting, and
whom he defigned the Witnefs fhould feize, is

the General of the Army, the Earl Cadogan , and
Lynch was to find out fuch other Perfons as he
could rely upon, for the affifting in, and effefting
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that Enterprize , whereunto Lynch agreed. Layer
then acquainted him what Steps were already made
in the Confpiracy, and that they were to be head-
ed and commanded by a General, who had Wft
and Courage and Refolution, and who were fup-

ported by a great many Friends, who had full

Power and Authority from the Pretender (whom
he called King) to acl:, and who was Intruded with
a Commiflion as his General, and whole Orders
Lynch was to obey.

The Prifoner and Lynch' had feveral other
Meetings, fome at the Griffin Tavern, and others

at the Prifoner's own Houfe in Old Southampton

Buildings, where the Prifoner always encouraged
Lynch to perfift in the Undertaking, by alluring

him that all Things went on well, and that i?he

Defign was fo well laid, that it could not. pro-

bably mifcarry : That they fhould be afiiiled by
a great many Officers, as foon as any Motion
was made, and that the common Soldiers Would
declare upon the firft Opportunity : and beiho-

afked by Lynch, whether they had no Foreion

Affiftance to depend on ; the Prifoner anfwered,

when we begin the Bufinefs, we fhall not want
Relief, if requifite. At one of thefe Meetings
the Prifoner revealed to the Witnefs, that, upon
the Rifing, the Tower would be delivered up to

them, "; by means of an Officer, who was to be
upon the Guard there on the Day of Execution -,

and that the People in the Mint in Southward
would come into them; who, and all others that

fhould repair to their Party, fhould have Arms
delivered to them ; and that the whole Defi<m
fhould be put in Execution at the Breaking up
of the Camp, which would be the moft proper
Time for the fpeaking with the Soldiers in the

Army.
But at a Meeting they had, fome time in An-

guft, at the Queen's Head Tavern in Great Queen-

Street near Lincoln's Inn Fields, Lynch complain-
ing of the Delay in putting their Defign in Exe-
cution, and reprefenting the. Danger of ir, and
withal preffing to know his intended General and
Commander, the Prifoner gave him great En-
couragement, from the good Profpect of their

Affairs, and the Vigilence of the Noble:Man at

the Helm, who would lofe no Opportunity, when
a convenient Time fhould offer; "and promifed
the Witnefs, that he fhould be prefented to this

noble Perfon in due time, from whom Lynch
fhould receive his Orders, or Commifiion for

executing his Part, and entering upon his Enter-
prize.

And accordingly, upon the twenty fourth Day
of Auguft, Mr. Layer invites Lynch to ride out of
Town with him the next Day to take the Air,
which Lynch comply'd with; and on the twenty
fifth of Auguft in the Morning, Lynch went to the

Prifoner's Houfe* who appointed Lynch to go be-

fore, and to flay without Aldgate,

At that Time the Prifoner afked the Witnefs,

whether he mounted with Furniture or Piftols

;

who anfwering that he did not, but that he had
a Double-Barrel Fowling- Piece, which the Prifon-

er's Servant might carry, the Prifoner directed

him to get his Piece ready loaden, becaufe he

(Layer) fhould carry fomething with him, which

he would not lofe for all the World. Lynch and

the Prifoner met without Aldgate at eleven before

Noon, and the Prifoner's Servant carried the Gun,

and they rode together toward's Epping in Eftcx,

which was the Place they were going to.

K k ?. Up in
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Upon the way as they proceeded, Mr. Layer

told the Witnefs, that they were going to the

Houfe of the Lord North and Grey, where he

would prefent Lynch to his Lordfhip, as a par-

ticular Friend of his (the Prifoner's.) When they

came to the Green Man at Layton-Stone, at the

Entrance upon Effing-Forejl, the Prifoner faid,

it might be beft to eat fomething there, becaufe

they mould be too late for the Lord North and

Grey's Dinner •, and accordingly they ftopt at this

Houfe to Dine.

Gentlemen, You will hear from the Witnefs

that at this Place, the Prifoner and Lynch had an-

other Confutation, wherein there was a Repiti-

on and Confirmation of the whole Defign and

Confpiracy. At this Green Man, in your Coun-

ty, Gentlemen, you will find every principal

Part of the Confpiracy, which was to be execut-

ed, confulted upon, and agreed unto by them

both : The Time and Manner of the Infurrecti-

on, the Preparations making for it, the Affiftance

to be provided and expected from the Army, from

many in the City of London, and from the Gene-

rality of the Nation, as was then fuggefted ; the

Seizing the Earl of Cadogan as the firft Step, and

the Surprizing the Tower in the Manner mentioned

in the Plan, by the Help of the Officer upon the

Guard ; and then they proceeded to confider and

approve the moft daring and execrable Part of the

Plan, which was then exprefly repeated by the

Prifoner, the making a ftrong Detachment to Sieze

On his Majefty's Perfon.

The Prifoner then declared his great Satisfacti-

on, in having engaged a Perfon of fuch Courage

and Conduct as Mr. Lynch, in the Attempt of

Seizing the Earl Cadogan; and likewife named
the ieveral other great Men, hinted at in the

Scheme, whofe Perfons were to be feizecl, and of

whom he had made up his Collection in purfuance

of the Plan •, and then exprefs'd his Wifhes fo to

bring Matters to bear, that Mr. Lynch might like-

wife have the fole Direction apprehending the Per-

fons of fome of his Majefty's Minifters, the Lords

'Townfiend and Carteret, his Majefty's principal Se-

cretaries of State, and Mr. Walpole, firft Lord
Commiffioner of the Treafury.

Thefe Perfons, moft immediately intrufted in

his Majefty's Service, were in the firft Place to be

feized, in order to facilitate the Defign, and to

make it fuccefsful. By this means the Confpira-

tors were to weaken his Majefty's Power of De-
fending himfelf, when they had deprived him of

his Genera], who was to command and conduct

his Army ; of his two Secretaries, who were to

maintain and carry on his Intelligence; and of the

firft Commiffioner of his Treafury, who was to

take Care for his Supply.

At this Place thefe things were debated and
confidered between them : Mr. Lynch then again

complained of the long Delay, and wifhed that

the Affair might be carried on with more Expe-
dition : The Prifoner thought no time fo proper

as the Breaking up of the Camp, when they

might be fupplied with Soldiers ; yet he was wil-

ling to hear any Propofal from Mr. Lynch, and
tlefired Mr. Lynch, that if he could think of any
fpeedier Method, or better Scheme, to let him
know it: But the Witnefs was not capable to

propofe any way more proper, than what had
been agreed upon the Foot of the Plan, as it had
been explained by the Prifoner himfelf, and there-

lore Mr. Lynch acquiefced therein.

Gentlemen, at that time, and at the fame Place,

the Overt-Act laid in the Indidtment, of publifh-

ing the treafonable Writing, was committed;
which was a Declaration framed in the Hand-
writing of the Prifoner, to be publifhed immedi-
ately on the firft Breaking out of the Confpiracy,

to excite the King's Subjects to take up Arms,
and to enter into a Rebellion againft him-, and
that it might have an Influence on the Army,
where their Hopes were placed, it took Notice,

that the King's General was feized, and in their

Cuftody.

In this Declaration particular Rewards are pro-
mifed to the Horfe and Foot in the Army ; dif-

ferent Allowances are made, to every Horfe-man
and Serjeant three Guineas ; two Guineas to every
Corporal, and one Guinea to every common Sol-

dier: All had Promifes of Encouragement, Fa-
vour, and future Reward.

Gentlemen, after this was read, the Prifoner

put this Declaration up into his Pocket again

;

and afterwards (as he acquainted the Witnefs) he
himfelf made an Alteration therein; it containing

at firft a general Invitation to a Revolt, but was
not directed in the Name of any particular Per-
fon, therefore the Prifoner thought fit afterwards

to alter it, fas he informed Lynch) and to make it

in the Name of the Pretender, as King.

Gentlemen, though their Hopes and Expecta-
tions were founded on corrupting and Debauch-
ing the Army ; I mention it only, as it was their

Expectation and Defign, without any Imputati-

on on the Honour or Fidelity of the Gentlemen
of the Army: But Perfons who undertake an Af-
fair of this Nature, are always forward to expect

that their Defigns will be fuccefsful.

This, Gentlemen, which I have mentioned to

you, which will be more fully and particularly

given in Evidence to you, againft the Prifoner at

the Bar, was tranfacted and committed in the

County of EJJex.

My Lord, this will be Evidence of moft of

the Overt-Acts alledged in the Indictment in the

County of EJJex ; but we fhall confirm this Evi-

dence by the Confeffion of the Prifoner, proved

by two Witneffes, in whofe Prefence he acknow-

ledged the feveral Facts, which will be charged

upon him in the County of EJJex, by the Tefti-

mony of Mr. Lynch ; and fhall make Proof of

other Overt-Acts in the County of Middkfex; for

it was impoflible a Defign fo extenfive fhould be

confined to one or two particular Places within the

fame County : Their Confutations muft be tranf-

ferred from Place to Place, as Opportunity offered,

and as they thought moft conducive to the Purpofe

they were engaged in.

But the Facts I have mentioned, were tranfact-

ed, Gentlemen, in your County. After the^ Pri-

foner and Mr. Lynch had fettled thefe Affairs at

the Green Man, they went to the Houfe of my
Lord North and Grey sxEpping: They ftaid there

all Night, and dined there the next Day; the

Witnefs was introduced and prefented to his Lord-

fhip by Layer, and was civilly received and en-

tertained; and the Prifoner at the Bar, as he

and Lynch returned home, afked the Witnefs

how he liked his Lordfhip, and affured Mr.

Lynch for his Encouragement, that he had great-

ly recommended him (the Witnefs,) to his Lord-

fhip.

The Prifoner and Lynch met a fecond time at

the Lord North and Grey's Houfe, where Lynch

declared
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declared he would withdraw himfelf, if things

were not put in Execution ; to which Layer re-

plied, they would be fooner put in Execution than

Lynch imagined.

Gentlemen, you may perceive, by this Evi-

dence, the Prifoner's Explanation of the whole

Scheme, and his Execution of it, fo far as was

in his Power ; tho% bleffed be God, thefe, or

any farther Attempts of this kind, have not hi-

therto prevailed.

The Prifoner proceeds farther; and the next

Witnefs who will be produc'd againft him, is one

who had been a Servant in the Army, Matthew

Plunkeit. Plunkett had been formerly acquainted

with the Prifoner, and done him a piece of Ser-

vice •, he was made ufe of to refcue ibme Goods,

when they were taken in Execution at the Houfe

where Layer lodged, which was the beginning of

their Acquaintance : This, with fome other Re-
commendations from Perfons engaged in this De-
fign, induced the Prifoner at the Bar to make
Offers to him, as you will hear from the Wit-
nefs.

In June 1722, another Perfon of the fame

Name, one James Plunkett was directed by Mr.
Layer to go to this Serjeant Plunkett, and defire

him to meet Layer at the Italian Coffee-houfe in

Rujfel-Court. The Witnefs could not at that time,

at leaft did not think it proper to go to the Place

appointed ; but a Day or two after, Mr. Layer

meets him in Lincoln's-Inn^Fields, and takes him
afide under a Gate-way near Turn-Stile: Layer
then told Plunkett, he would inform him of a

Matter that would be of great Advantage and
Benefit to him ; there Layer let him into this Con-
spiracy, and engaged the Witnefs in it, not only

by affurance and promife of Reward, but by ac-

tual Reward and Money given him ; and to in-

duce and to encourage Plunkett the more, Layer
acquainted him, that there were feveral Perfons
of great Eftates, who were refolved to refcue

themfelves, and the Nation from the Calamities

and Slavery, that they then endured •, and that

they intended to bring about a Revolution, and
reftore their King the Pretender ; Plunkett object-

ed, that the Pretender was a Papift ; but the Pri-
foner reply'd, there was no difference between a
Papift and a Lutheran King, and therefore, that

ought to make no Impreffion upon Plunkett, to

hinder him in joining to bring in a Papift.

The Prifoner enquired of Plunkett, whether he
had not an Acquaintance in the Army with fome
Officers, and with the common Soldiers ; and then
engaged Plunkett to levy what Perfons he could
into their Service ; and when the Witnefs told Layer,
he knew twenty or thirty Serjeans in the Arm}'-,
proper Perfons to be applied to, the Prifoner gave
Plunkett Directions to make Application to them,
and to have them enroll'd ; and at that Meetino-
the Prifoner gave the Witnefs Money for his En-
couragement ; and as they had feveral other Meet-
ings after this, to provide and levy Men, the
Direction and Employment given by Layer to the
Witnefs, was, to take care to find out their Lodg-
ings, and to make Lifts ofthe Men, of their Names,
and Places of Abode, that they might be ready
upon Notice.

The Prifoner not only employed Plunkett to
procure, and inroll as many as he could get; but
gave him Money for one particular Perfon, one
Child, who had ferved in the Army, and who
was recommend to Layer by Plunkett, as a Per-
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fon that had been difoblig'd by having been turn-
ed out of the Service ; Layer himfelf gave Plun-
kett half a Guinea, for to give to this Perfon, to
engage him in this Confpiracy, which Phmkett
accordingly paid Child: Layer likewife ordered
Money at other times to be given to Plunkett,
and at one time particularly acquainted him, that
the Prifoner had left a Guinea with one Jefferies
a Non-juring Parfon, to give to him, who had
given Plunkett but half a Guinea.

The Prifoner at the Bar, to encourage Plun-
kett, acquainted him with the Perfons, whom
Layer expected to join in this Confpiracy ; and
afked the Witnefs his Opinion of feveral, the Wit-
nefs will tell you the Names of the Perfons, and
what Anfwers he gave ; particularly that Layer
afked him what he thought of the Lord North and
Grey, for an Officer to be at their Head? The
Witnefs anfwer'd, though he had never ferv'd
under him, he look'd upon his Lordfhip as a great
Man.

5

They had Meetings at feveral times, when Layer
informed him, that things were in a great For-
wardnefs, tho' it was not yet a time to put their

Defign in Execution; but it went on fo well,
that it could not mifcarry ; that the Duke of Or-
mond was to Come with a fingle Ship, with fome
Offices; and that the Defign had been difcover'd
to the French Embaffador, who had given Intelli-

gence thereof to his Majefty, or elie the Affair
had been done before that time.

This Plunkett was employed, from time to time*
to prepare Lifts of, and to collect and inroll fit

Perfons to go on with this Defign ; and particu-

larly a Number of Serjeants, about twenty five,

being difmifs*d from the Army, the Prifoner en^

gaged Plunkett to go immediately to thofe Perfons,

and take care to fecurethem.

Gentlemen, thefe traiterous Confults and Tranf-
actions were in July and Auguft ; and the Witnefs
will acquaint you more fully with the feveral Par-
ticulars. There was one Encouragement which
the Prifoner gave to this Witnefs, which he did
not mention to the other ; he told Plunkett there

would be an Army of Dutch to come over in Aid
of his Majefty, but the Witnefs fhould fee a Num-
ber of half-pay Officers, efpecially thofe of the

Name of Fitzgerald, on the Side of his King
(the Pretender) that they could not doubt of
Succefs.

Gentlemen, Under thefe Encouragements and
Promifes, and with thefe Rewards, both thefe

Perfons, the two Witneffes, were engaged by
the Prifoner to enter into, and go on with this

Confpiracy: The Prifoner met them apart from
time to time ; they concerted and carried on fuch.

Meafures as they thought proper to execute this

Defign, upon the Foot of the Plan, which hath

been mentioned, and will be produced to you.

After we have produced the Scheme, and
likewife examined thefe two Witneffes, who will

give you an Account of the Progrefs which the

Prifoner made in this Treafon ; we fhall give you

,

other plain and evident Proof, which will demon-
ftrate the treafonable Intent of the Prifoner at the

Bar, and his hopes of Succefs.

We fhall prove that the Prifoner had been at

Rome, and by his own Confeffion, that he had
feen the Pretender, and had Conferences with

him.

We fhall prove that the Prifoner had blank

promiffory Notes, or Receipts for Money, figned

with
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with the Pretenders own Hand, by the affumed

Title of James Rex, found amongft Layer's Pa-

pers, which were remitted to him from Rome, and

which he has acknowledge were fent over to him,

for Fairing of Money to carry on the Caufe of

the Pretender. This is a ftrong Evidence of the

Trull and Credit repofed in him to execute this

Confpiracy •, that the Prifoner is a Perfon fully

intrufted ; the Receipts are in Blank, and the Pri-

foner had Power to raife Money on them, and

to fill them up with fuch Sums, as he thought pro-

per and neceffary.

Gentlemen, on the Examination of our W ltnef-

fes it will appear that Mr. Layer declared he had

expended great Sums of Money in this Affair,

and that he has made it an Excufe, why he had

not Money to fupply fome Demands, becaufe he

had difburs'd fo much.

This therefore was to be his full Power to raife

Money towards bringing the Pretender to the

Throne, ..«:,»
Befides thefe Receipts, he had furmfhed him-

felf with Lifts of the Officers of the Army, in or-

der to know the Situation and Condition of the

Army, and to confider what Advantage he could

make by any of thofe in the Lifts : He had pro-

vided himlelf with Lifts of the Officers of the

Tower, which we apprehend, was to render the

Defign of fiezing the Tower, when their Friend

the Officer was on the Guard, more probable and

hopeful.

Befides this, we have Letters which will be

in whofe Houfe thefe Arms were likewife feized.

Mr. Layer was fo confcious of his own Guilt,

that after he was apprehended, he made his Efcape

out of the Cuftody of the Meffenger, in whofe

Houfe he was placed ; he offered a great Reward
to Watermen to carry him off: This is a Demon-4

ftrationof his Guilt, from the Conviction of his own
Confcience.

Gentlemen, there are fome other Matters and
Papers which it will be proper to offer to your

Confideration •, and moft of thefe particular Fads,,

which I have mentioned, or the moft material of

them have been confirmed by Mr. Layer's own
Confeffion which he made upon his Examination,

before the Lords of the Privy Council. And
when we have laid before you this Evidence, as

according to my Inftructions we ihall very fully,

I don't doubt but that you will do your Duty as

honeft Men.
We don't apply to your Zeal, as you are Pro-

teftants and Enghlhmen ; but upon the Weight
of the Evidence, we ihall appeal to your Juftice,

to your Oaths and to your Conferences ; whether

upon the whole Proof to be laid before you, you

will not remain fully fatisfied, that the Prifoner

at the Bar is guilty of the High-Treafon whereof

he ftands indicted, and then that you do find him
fo,

Mr. Att. Gen. May it pleafe your Lordlhip and

you Gentlemen of the Jury, I am Counlcl on the

fame Side for his Majefty againft the Prifoner at

the Bar, who ftands indicted for High-Treafon,

produced, that paffed between Sir William Ellis, in comparing and imagining the Death of the

an Adherent of the Pretender's at Rome, and Mr. King. The Prefervation of the Life of the King

Layer, by the Name of Fountain, (a Name he is of that great Importance to the Safety and Pro-

went by) encouraging him to go on with this De- fperity of his Subjects, that even Imaginations and

fio-n : We have the Cypher, and the Explanation Intentions (which are but Acts of the Heart) to-

of the Cant Words ufed in thofe Letters. In one take it away, manifefted by Overt-Ads are an

Letter Ellis fays, the beft Method of carrying on Offence of the higheft Nature which the Law
the Manufactory, (which is the Infurrection) is to takes notice of; but as Imaginations and Intenti-

get good Workmen, (by which is meant Soldiers) ons of Men are fecret, and can't be difcovered

and particularly to gain fome of the ableft of Mrs. but by their Actions, there muft be Proof of fome

Barbara Smith's, (by Mrs. Barbara Smith is figni- Faft done in order to carry fuch Intentions into

fied the Army) and this would be very agreea-

ble to all concerned, particularly to Mr. Atkins

(which by their Cypher or Key is a Name for the

Pretender.)

And in another Letter there is particular Men-
tion of Mr. Layer's Intended General ; you will

Execution, to make the Offenders guilty of Trea-

fon : Therefore in this Indictment five feveral O-
vert-Acts are laid; the firft.is, that the Prifoner

at the Bar propofed, confuked and agreed with

divers Perfons unknown to the Grand Jury, to

raife an Infurrection and Rebellion within this

find in the Letter an Explanation of him, thus ; Kingdom againft his Majefty ; the fecond, that

he publifhed a traiterous Writing, purporting an

Exhortation, Encouragement and Promife of

Rewards, to perfuade his Majefty's faithful Sub-

jects to take up Arms againft him ; the third,

that he propofed, confuked and agreed to fet the

Pretender on the Throne by arm'd Force ; the

that he, who the Prifoner in his Letter called Si-

mons, and defcribed as a Tenant, tho' his Name
was not then found in the Rentall, this Writer be-

lieved he fhould be called Simmes, and fays he is

of the North, a grey hair'd antient Man, for whom
his Friend has a particular Efteem and Value, as

a very good Tenant. This is the Defcription, and fourth, that he lifted Men to levy War againft the

this is the Cant that paffed between them ; the

Explanation you will apprehend, by the Cyphers

that were found amongft the Prifoners Papers.

Mr. Layer was not wanting in other Prepara-

tions for this Attempt ; for he had provided Arms
in his own Houfe, more than he could have Oc-
cafion for, as a private Subject ; he had feveral

Mufquets and other Fire-Arms ; he had forty or fatal Conferences that muft have inevitably at-

fifty Cartridges loaded with Bullets, ready made
up for fo many Difcharges, which might be deli-

vered out to the People who fhould come in to

them : If he had any ufe for fuch a Quantity he
will fhew upon what Occafion

King; and the fifth, that he propofed, confuked

and agreed to feize and imprifon his Majefty's

facred Perfon.

Gentlemen of the Jury, you will readily agree

with me that nothing can be more dreadful to a

true Briton who hath any Regard to himfelf or

his Pofterity, or Love to his Country, than the

tended fuch wicked Defigns, had they been car-

ried into Execution with Succefs : Suppofe a Re-
bellion had been only railed, what could any
Man have expected from a Rebellion in the

Heart of the Kingdom, but Plunder and Rapine,
The Difcovery of the Facts made be the Wit- and Murder, a total Sufpenfion of all Civil' Right,

neffes, occafioned the apprehending Mr. Layer, and as long as the Storm' had continued, a juft

but/
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but terrible Apprehenfions of fomething yet worfe

to come : This would certainly have been the Gale,

though the Attempt mould have been difap-

poinred at laft. But had it been attended with

Succefs, had his Majefty's facred Perfon been

feized and imprifoned, and had the Pretender

been placed on the Throne, what a Scene of Mi-

fery hadopen'd! A mild Adminiftration, govern'd

by the Law of the Land under an excellent Prince;,

and asjuftand merciful as ever wore the Crown,

rr.uft have given way to Arbitrary Power-, all your

Eftates and Properties muft have been at the Will

of a provok'd and exafperated Ufurper •, Liberty

muft have given Way to Slavery, and the beft of

Religions to Popifh Idolatry and Superftion ; and

this humanly fpeaking, without any Profpect or

Hopes of Relief: Nor would thefe dreadful Cala-

mities have been confin'd within the Bounds of

the Kind's Dominions, for mould the preient hap-

py Eftablifhment in his Majefty and his Royal

Family (the chief Bulwark and Support of the

Proteftant Intereft) be deftroyed, the Proteftant

Relio-ion in general muft be reduced to the loweft

Ebb, if not totally extinguifhed.

This is the Nature of the Crime, and thefe fome

of the fatal Confequences that muft have enfued,

if the Defigns charged upon the Prifoner by the

Indictment had took Effect. But whether he is

guilty of this great Offence, is what you Gentle-

men of the Jury are now to try.

My Lord, 'tis my part to open the Nature of

the Evidence that we mall produce to prove the

feveral Overt- Acts laid in the Indictment-, and

in ftating it to your Lordfhip and the Jury, I

fhall follow the Courfe of Time in which the Facts

were done, that the Cafe may be more eafily ap-

prehended, and fhall open nothing but what I be-

lieve will be clearly verified by Proof.

This Prifoner at the Bar, tho' brought up to

the Profeffion of the Law, and a Practiier in it

went beyond Sea in the Year 1720, and at the

Clofe of that Year, according to our Stile, or the

Beginning of the Year 1721, arrived at Rome,

where the Pretender then was; while the Pri-

fbntr was there, he procured himfelf to be intro-

duced to the Pretender, and had two private Con-

ferences with him, in which (but by what Methods

or Reprefentation is beft known to himfelf) 'tis

plain he obtained the Pretender's good Opinion fo

far, that he thought him a fit Perfon in whom a

Confidence for carrying on any Defigns againft

his Majefty, and for letting himfelf on the Throne,

might be fafely repos'd : For this Purpofe a Cor-

refpondence was then fettled between the Prifoner

and fome Perfons of Diftinction about the Pre-

tender, and a Cypher of Names of Perfons and

Things was agreed on, in order to carry this Cor-

refpondence on. The Prifoner returned to Eng-

land about July 1J21, after which he writ Let-

ters to his Correfpondent at Rome, and Anfwers

to them came from thence, whereby it will ap-

pear, that the Prifoner had undertook a confide-

rable Part in the Defign then carrying on to bring

the Pretender in •, and altho' thefe Letters are in

obfeure and cant Terms, and fictitious Names, yet

by the Help of the Cypher and from the Nature
of the Letters themlelves, it will eafily appear to

a common Underftanding for what Purpofe they

were writ : This Cypher and Letters we fhall prove

to have been found among the Prifoner's Papers,

which were feized foon after his Commitment,
dnd your Lordfhip and the Jury will fee, when they
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corne to be read, that notwithftanding the obfeure

Terms, and the myfterious Expreffions inferted

to dazzle the Eye of the Reader, when compar'd
with the Cypher they will be fo intelligible, that

they will be a plain Evidence that a Defign was
carrying on of raifing a general Rebellion in fa-

vour of the Pretender ; for which Purpofe a Scheme
in Writing was prepared, which we fhall lay be-

fore your Lordfhip and the Gentlemen of the

Jury, that was likewife found among the Prifon-

ner's Papers j we fhall prove it to be writ with his

own Hand.
Mr. Serjeant Pengctly opened the Nature of this

Scheme very fully, I fhall not trouble your Lord-
fhips with a Repetition of what he faid ; when it

comes to be read it will appear to be calculated

for a general Rifing, it will prove a form'd De-
fign to feize the Tower, to feize Perfons in great:

Stations, to feize the Bank, and then at laft to

feize the Perfon of the King himfelf, and to feize

his Royal Highnefs the Prince of Wales. This
we apprehend will be a ftrong Evidence of the

Overt-Acts laid in the Indictment, and will con-

firm the Teftimonies of the WitnefTes which we
fhall produce.

There are two WitnefTes we fhall call to prove

the Overt-Acts laid in the Indictment, they have
already been mentioned to your Lordfhip, Mr.
Stephen Lynch, and Serjeant Matthew Plunkett.

Mr. Lynch will prove the feveral Overt-Acts laid

in the Indictment to have been committed by the

Prifoner in the County of EJj'ex, where this In-

dictment was found ; as alfo Overt-Acts of the

fame Nature committed by him in the County of

Middle/ex. But as 'tis improper to fall directly

upon the Proof of thofe Facts^ without firft prov-

ing fome other Facts by way of Introduction, as

how the Acquaintance between Mr. Lynch and the

Prifoner at the Bar began, and how they came
to be fo intimate as to enter into a Defign of this

Nature, Mr. Lynch will give your Lordfhips and
the Jury an Account ; that there had been an Ac-
quaintance between this Mr. Lynch and one Dr.
Murphey eight or nine Years ago, that they had
agreed to join in the Rebellion which was in the

beginning of his Majefty's Reign ; after that was
over Mr. Lynch went beyond Sea, and continued

there fome time,' and arrived in England in April

laft ; that their Acquaintance continued, and their

Principles were not altered ; Mr. Lynch meeting
Dr. Murphey,, Dr. Murphey (who hath been men-
tioned to your Lordfhips on a late Occafion in

this Court and is not now to be found, but had

a great Acquaintance with the Prifoner at the

Bar) told him he had fomething advantageous to

communicate to him, and appointed a Meeting

next Morning at a Coffee-Houfe in Comhil, where

they accordingly met, and Murphey then advifed

him not to go out of England, becaufe he had an

Opportunity of making his Fortune, telling him
there would be a general Rifing in Favour of the

Pretender (whom he called King) and that it was

carry'd on by Gentlemen of Note and Credit ; and

if he would accept of the Service, he would re-

commend him to One greatly concerned in that

Affair ; Mr. Lynch after Confideration agreed to

flay After feveral other Meetings between

this Dr. Murphey and Mr. Lynch, at which their

Difcourfe general turned upon this intended Ri-

fing-, about the Beginning of June. Dr. Mur-
phey introduced Mr. Lynch to the Prifoner, as a

Perfon fit to be entrufted in the intended En-
terprize •,
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terpriz'e ; they went to the Griffin Tavern in Hel-

bourn ; Mr. Layer there expreffed the good Opi-

nion he had of Mr. Lynch upon the Character he

had received of him from fo good a Friend as

this Dr. Murphey. They foon enter'd upon Bu-

finefs, and the Prifoner after having made a Re-

prefentation of the Uneafinefs of the Nation in-

general, and of the fair Opportunity there was

to bring, about a Revolution, proposed to Mr:

Lynch to feize feme General, to which the Witnefs

agreed. After this they had feveral other Meet-

ings, at which their Difcourfe turn'd upon the fame

Subject of a general Rifing in order to fet the Pre-

tender on the Throne, and at one of them the

Prifoner declared he intended Lynch mould feize

the Earl of Cadogan, and that the Scheme was

laid on a found Foundation, having a great Man
at the Head of Affairs^ who wanted neither Wit,

Courage nor Refolution, and he would be back-

ed by his Friends. Several other Proportions

were made by the Prifoner tending, to the fame

End ; to all which Mr. Lynch agreed, and they

confulted how they might put thole things in Ex-

ecution. In July laft, Mr. Layer went into the

Country for fourteen or fifteen Days, and after

his Return in the beginning of Auguft, in Purfu-

ance of what they had concerted, Mr. Lynch and

he went to view the Earl of Cadogan''?, Houfe, to

fee how practicable that Defign of feizing him

at his Houfe was. Mr. Lynch thought it feafi-

ble, but he grew uneafy at Delays, and fre-

quently told the Prifoner that his Circumftances

would not permit him to continue here at his

own Expence-, therefore to encourage him to flay,

and perfevere in the Defign, Mr. Layer gave him

feveral Sums of Money.

My Lord, upon the twenty fourth of Augufi

laft, the Prifoner and Mr. Lynch agreed to ride

out the next day to take the Air : on the twenty

fifth, according to Appointment, (which brings

us now to the Overt-Acts in the County of Effex)

they rid out together; the Prifoner thought it

proper to ride with Arms, alledging that he had

things about him he would not lofe for any thing

in the World. Upon the Road he told Mr. Lynch

they would go to Lord North and Gray's, with

whom the Prifoner had the Honour to be well

acquainted, and he would prefent Mr. Lynch to

my Lord as his particular Acquaintance. It hap-

pened to be too late to get to Lord North and

Grey's by Dinner, whereupon they put in at the

Green-Man near Epping-Foreft, which^ Gentle-

men, is at Layton-Stone in your County. Din-

ner not being ready at their coming thither

they enter'd into Converfation on the former To-
picks, and Mr. Lynch defiring to give him fome

mfight into the Scheme that was formed, the

whole fubject matter of their former Confulta-

tions and Difcourfes were repeated about feizing

Lord Cadogan, feizing the Ministers of State, of

getting Part of the Army to declare for them
and for feizing the King's Perfon; and thefe

things were then agreed to by them. At this

Place it was, that the Prifoner pulled out of his

Pocket and ffiew'd to Mr. Lynch the traiterous

Writing laid in the Indictment, which was a De-
claration to encourage a general Rifing, writ, as

the Witnefs believes, in the Prifoner's own Hand

;

and that Part which contained the Promifes of
Rewards to be given to the Soldiers and other

Perfons to encourage them to come into their

Defigns; was read by the Witnefs, after which Mr.

Layer took his Paper away, and put it it up in his

Pocket again. My Lord, when they had dined,

they went on to Lord North and Grey's Floufe

(whom your Lordfhip will hear mentioned by the

Evidence as the Perfon thought on to be General

in this Undertaking) they ftaid here that Night,

and dined there next Day, and afterwards they

had a fecond Meeting at Lord North and Grey's,

Your Lordfhip and the Jury will be pleafed to

obferve that this Evidence will be a full and pofi-

tive Proof by this Witnefs,. that the Overt-Acts

of publifhing this traiterous Writing, encourag-

ing Perfons to take up Arms againft his Majefty,

of the Confultations and Agreement to levy War,
to fet the Pretender on the Throne, and to feize

his Majefty's Perfon, were done at the Green-Man,

in the County of Effex : And this will likewife be

an Evidence,, that all the Overt-Acts laid in the

Indictment (except publifhing the traiterous Writ-
ing) were done in the County of Middle/ex'.

My Lord, the next Witnefs we fhall produce

is Matthew Plunkett, formerly a Serjeant in fome
Regiment ; he had been formerly acquainted with,

and had been ferviceable to the Prifoner, and
was very well acquainted with one James Plun-

kett, which James Plunkett was a great Acquain-

tance of the Prifoner's. This James Plunkett de-

fired the Witnefs Matthew Plunkett to meet the

Prifoner in July laft, at the Italian Coffee-Houfe

in Kuffel-Court, which the Witnefs could not com-
ply with ; but the Witnefs met the Prifoner the

Sunday following in Lincoln's - Inn Fields, they

were together near an Hour, the Prifoner gave

him an Account of the intended general Rifing,

and ask'd the Witnefs if he knew any old Serjeants

or Soldiers who could difcipline a Mob, agreed

with him to procure fuch, mentioned to him fe-

veral Perfons fit to be at the head of this Enter-

prize; and in order to make him diligent, he gave

him at that time half a Crown : And Money was
not only given him at that time, but a Promife

was made to him of further Rewards. The Pri-

foner having Occafion to go in the Country,

one Jeffreys, a Nonjuring Clergyman, was fent to

Matthew Plunkett by Layer (and this Fact that I

am going to open muft not be barely confidered

as an Act between Jeffreys and Plunkett, but it

will be brought directly home to the Act of Lay-'

er himfelf.) Jeffreys told Plunkett he came from
the Prifoner, and that he was employ'd by him
to go to fuch as the Witnefs was, who were old

Serjeants, to get a Number of them together to

difcipline the Mob, in order to the general

Rifing : The next Day they met again, and had
the like Difcourfe, and Jeffreys gave Matthew
Plunkett half a Guinea ; and what brings this home
to the Prifoner, is, that he told Plunkett he had

left a Guinea with the Nonjuring Parfon to give

him, and talked with him on the fame Subject

that Jeffreys had difcourfed the Witnefs before.

But in fact Jeffreys did not give Plunkett the Gui-

nea, he gave him but half a Guinea.

My Lord, after Mr. Layer went out of Town
Plunkett gave him an Account what Progrefs he

had made in the Affair. Plunkett told him that

he had got feveral old Soldiers that would bear a

Part in this Bufinefs: The Prifoner faid he muft

take care to keep a Lift of their Names, and

the Places where they lived, that they might be

in a Readinefs when they fhould have Occafion

for them. And on Sunday before the Prifoner

was taken up, he told tins Plunkett that a great

many
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many of his Countrymen were turned out of the

Guards, and afk'd him if he knew where they

lodg'd, and upon the Witnefs's Anfwer that he did

not, the Prifoner directed him to take a Lift of

their Names and Places where they lodg'd, that he

might have them when Oecafion required. So that

here is Mr. Lynch a pofitive Witnefs as to the

Overt-Acts in Effete ; Mr. Lynch and Mr. Plunkett

pofitive as to the Overt-Acts in Middlefer, and

their Teftimony confirmed by the Scheme under

the Prifoner's own Hand, and other Papers, which

we fhall produce, found among his Papers which

will leave no room to doubt of the Truth of their

Evidence. Bcfides, my Lord, the Prifoner being

feized in September laft, we fhall give an Account

when he was in Cuftody of a Meffenger leck'd up

in a Room two pair of Stairs high, he made a fhilt

to make his Eicape, got to the Water-fide, and

got a Sculler to carry him over the River ; he ac-

tually got over the River, but he was retaken again

in St. George's-Fields, and brought back to the

Meffenger, and offerM very conliderable Sums to

the Perlbns who retook him to let him go. I be-

lieve it is hardly to be imagiu'd, a Perfon perfectly

innocent would venture to get out of a Room two

Story high, and in the manner he did, and offer

to give fuch a Reward to the Perlbns who retook

him to let him get off ; he muft be confeious to

himfclf that he was in very great Danger. There

were likewife found in his Houfe Arms more than

neceffary for his Ute^ and which he has confeffed

were to be ufed if there had been a Rifing.

My Lord, to corroborate the Teftimony of

the Witneffes, we fhall lay before your Lordfhip

and the Gentlemen of the Jury, the feveral Pa-

pers which were found, I may fay, in Mr. Layer's

Cuftody ; I don't fay they were actually taken in

his Cuitody, but it will come to the fame thing ;

for he had delivered them in two Parcels to Mrs,

Mafon the Witnefs, whom we fhall produce, with

Directions that fhe mould take particular Care of

them ; and they were feized in her Cuftody not

long after the Prifoner was committed to the Cuf-

tody of a Meffenger ; fhe faw every one of them
mark'd by the Perlbns who feized them, and
marked them her felf: There are not only the

Scheme and the Cyphers and Letters mentioned
before, but alio ten promiffory Notes fubferibed

by the Pretender : Thefe promiffory Notes run,

T Acknowledge to have receivedfrom
the Sum of which Sum

I promife to repay with an Intereft for it at the Rate

of per Ann. James R.

Can any Man imagine, if there was nothing elfe

to explain them, that thefe Notes were there for

nothing? Every Body muft believe that they were
intended to be made ufe of to carry on the Con-
fpiracy •, But we fhall fhew by the Prifoner's own
Confeffion, that they were fent over to him by
Sir William Ellis, in order to be made ufe of as

Oecafion fhould l'erve, to promote thefe Defigns
in favour of the Pretender. Among thefe Pa-
pers feveral Lifts were found which will be pro-
duced, fome of which contain the Number of
the Officers and of the Soldiers in the Guards,
fome the Names of other Officers and Soldiers,

and fome the Number of the Officers belonging
to the Tower. It muft be owned, that in fome
of thofe Lifts, there are the Names of feveral
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Perfons of as great Honour, Loyalty, and Fidelity
to his Majefty, as any Subjects his Majefty hath ;

yet the procuring thefe Lifts could be for nothing
but to get an Information of the Number and
Character of the Perfons in his Majefty's Service,

to know the Strength of his Majefty's Forces, that

Intelligence might be given and Schemes framed
accordingly, and that there might be tampering
with fuch as there could be any Hopes of bringing
over into the Pretender's Intereft : If the Prifoner
can put any other Conftruction upon his having
thefe Lifts in his Cuftody, he will have an Oppor-
tunity to do it. Thefe Things being proved, I ap-

prehend there remains no doubt but that thePriib-
ner will appear to be guilty of the Crime charged
on him in this Indictment : But befides all this we
fhall prove his Confeffion, by two Witneffes, where-
by he has confeffed every Overt-Act laid in this In-

dictment, the feveral Tranfactions that Mr. Lynch
and Plunkett will give account of, and almoft all the

Facts that I have mention'd before. I fhall conclude
with this, Gentlemen of the Jury, that if we make
out thefe Facts as they have been opened, and accord-

ing to my Inftructions I have no Reafon to make
the leaft Queftion of itj it muft be left to your
Confideration whether the Prifoner at the Bar is

guilty of the Offence for which he ftands indicted

or not : If you fhall be fatisfied by the Evidence
that he is, I do not doubt but you will do Juftice

(which is all that is defired of you) and find a
Verdict for the King.

Mr. Soil. Gen. If your Lordfhip pleafes, we
will now proceed to examine Witneffes ; and we
defire that room may be made for the Witneffes

to come into Court. Call Mr. Stephen Lynch.

L. C. Juft. You muft make way there.

Prifoner. My Lord, I humbly defire before

this Witnefs be fworn, that he may be examin'd

upon a Foyer dire, whether he hath not a Promife

of Pardon* or fome Other Reward, for fwearing

againft me.

L. C. Juft. Sir, you can't afk him that Queftion.

Mr. Hungerford. I hope we fhall be at Liberty,

and have a Right to enter into an Examination of

this Matter. If a Man is reprefented to be in the

fame Circumftances with the Prifoner, and the Pri-

foner led into the fame Circumftances by the Perfon

propofed as a Witnefs, and afterwards by him
involved in the fame Offence ; if the Perfon there-

fore propofed as a Witnefs, hath a Promife of Par-

don or fome Reward, upon Condition that he would

fwear againft the Prifoner, he cannot by Law be a

good Witnefs ; the Perfon propos'd as a Witnefs

muft be a credible Witnefs, muft be a legal Wit-
nefs, muft not be convicted of Perjury or any other

notorious Offence, a free Witnefs that is not under

Reftraint for the Offence he accufes another of; and

therefore we hope we have a Right of afking whe-

ther he acts under the Influence of any Promife of

Reward or the Promife of a Pardon : And the

Right we have of examining him to the Promife

of a Reward or Pardon, is fupported by the Au-

thority of my Lord Chief juftice Hale, * as re-

ported by Kelynge.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, I would not take up

your Lordfhip's time, and fubmit the Weight of

what Mr. Hungerford has offered to your Confide-

ration, but we found our Right of afking this

Queftion upon my Lord Chief Juftice Hale's ex-

prefs Declaration, fet forth at large in Kelynge's

Reports, fol. 18. which I have here in my Hand.

L

1

I muft

Hale's Hi/I. P. C. B. 2. cap. 37,
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I mull likewife beg Leave to obferve to your

Lordfhip, that this Queftion was formerly afked

in the Trial of Gordon and Dorrell to one Adams

that had been in the fame Confpiracy with thofe

that were brought to Trial for High-Treafon,

and was then produced as a Witnefs againft them •,

the Book was then brought into Court, and the

Quotation read before your Lordfhip, and accord-

ing to my Notes of that Trial, which I have here

brought with me for my Juftification, (Ifubmit to

your Lordfhip's Correction if I don't ftate it right,)

Adams was afk'd that Queftion, though it was

long objected to by the King's Counfel. The Dif-

tinction my Lord Chief Juftice Hale made was this.

Mr. Jufi. Eyre. Read the whole Paragraph.

Mr. Ketelbey. I will, my Lord. The Words
are thefe :

" It was refolved that fome of thofe

" Perfons equally culpable with the reft, may
*' be made ufe of as Witnefles againft their Fel-

" lows, and they are lawful Accufers or Witnefles
" within the Statute 1 Ed. VI. 12. $ &6 Ed. VI.
il

c. 11. & 1 Mar. I. and accordingly at the Tri-
** al of thefe Men, fome of them who were Par-
" ties in the Treafon were made ufe of againft

" the reft : For lawful Witnefles within thofe

" Statutes are fuch as the Law alloweth j and
" the Law alloweth every one to be a Witnefs,
e ' who is not convicted or made infamous for

" fome Crime ; and if it were not fo all Trea-
" fons would be. fafe, and it would be impofli-

" ble for one who confpires with never fo many
" Perfons to make a Difcovery to any Purpofe.

I was aware of what was here laid down, and
therefore did fubmit-Mr. Hmgerford's Reafon to

your Lordfhip's Confideration, and did not infift

farther upon it •, the fubfequent Words are thefe,

" But the Lord Chief Baron Hale faid, That if

" one of thefe culpable Perfons be promifed his
" Pardon on Condition to give Evidence againft
" the reft, that difableth him to be a Witnefs
" againft the others, becaufe he is bribed by fav-
" ing his Life to be a Witnefs: So that he makes
" a Difference where the Promife of Pardon is

" to him for difclofing the Treafon, and where
" it is for giving of Evidence. But fome of the
" other Judges did not think the Promife of
" Pardon, if he gave Evidence, did difable him.
" But they all advifcd that no fuch Promife fhould
" be made, or any Threatnings ufed to them in
" cafe they did not give full Evidence.

So that, my Lord, we have not only the Au-
thority of that Book with us, but a folemn Pre-
cedent in this Court in point eftablifhed upon a
long Debate, and grounded on that very Autho-
rity. And when I moved this Matter at the
Trial of Dorrell, Gordon and Ker, I then cited
another Inftance where it had been allowed by
the Court, and that was before Mr. Juftice
Powell at Wore efter Aflizes, upon the Trial of
Palmer and Symonds for the Murder of Mrs. Pal-
mer : There a third Perfon concerned in the Fact
came in as a Witnefs againft the other two, and
after it had been argued by Counfel, and that
learned Judge had read upon the Bench, and con-
fidered this Authority, the Witnefs was atlaft afk-
'd this Queftion upon a Foyer dire: And for the
Truth of this Cafe as I reported it, I appealed to
my Lord Lechmere, then Attorney-General, and
who had been one of the Counfel at Palmer's Trial.

Mr. Setj. Pcngelly. My Lord, we hope if there
js any room for this Pretence which is infmuated,
it only goes as to his Credit, and does not dif-

able him from being a Witnefs ; the Authorities

produced are no more : The Judges directed that

no fuch Promife fhould be made but if fuch a Pro-

mife was made, they agreed it doth not difable

him from being a Witnefs, as was mentioned by
my Lord Chief Baron Hale; it is not like Money
given, which is an actual Corruption ; the Pro-

mife of Pardon is a thing voluntary in it felf

:

Who is the Promife to be made by ? Is it in the

Power of any Perfon but his Majefty to perform
it ? If there is any Thing in the Suppofuion, it is

not proper to afk in relation to it upon a Voyer

dire to prevent the Witnefs from being fworn to

give Evidence ; but when he hath been fworn, if

they think fit to afk the Queftion, they may.
Mr. Ati. Gen. The afking the Witnefs this

Queftion, as 'tis irregular, fo if it was anfwered
in the affirmative, wou'd be of no Service to the

Prifoner ; for with Submiffion, it will not difa-

ble Mr. Lynch from being a Witnefs. Every Man
is bound in Juftice to give Evidence if required,

and a Promife to have a Pardon if he gives Evi-
dence againft the Prifoner, can be looked on only

to induce him to do that which by Law he ought
to do according to the Truth : It does not im-
port that he was to give a wrong or a falfe Evi-
dence ; fuch a Queftion he cannot be obliged to

anfwer. And the greateft Ufe the Prifoner could

make of this, if fuch a Promife was made to the

Witnefs (which is not admitted) wou'd be only

againft the Credit of the Witnefs, but not en-

tirely take off hisTeftimony ; his Credit, as well

as the Credit of all Witnefles, muft be left to the

Confideration of the Jury. As to the Opinion
of my Lord Chief Baron Hale cited out of' Kelynge,

the other Judges differ'd with him, and therefore

we hope Mr. Lynch fhall be fworn.

Mr. Soil. Gen. We who are Council for the Kins:

don't oppofe the afking this Queftion, out of any
apprehenfion that the' Anfwer would come out a-

gainft us, but for fear of overturning a Point

that hath been long fettled. As to the Book,
which thefe Gentlemen cite to fupport their Ob-
jection, with Submiffion, it is rather an Authori-

ty to over-rule it. The Opinion they found them-

felves upon is, that of my Lord Chief Baron Hale,

but the reft of the Judges were of Opinion againft

him ; fo that we apprehend the Authority is with

us, and likewife the Reafon of the thing. I take

it that no Queftion is to be afked a Man upon a

Voyer dire, but to a Fact that would take off his

Tcftimony. Suppofe then, for Argument fake,

that there was a Promife of Pardon made to a

Man upon Condition that he fhould give Evi-

dence ; I apprehend that would not difable him
from being a Witnefs, any more than if the Con-

dition had been that he fhould declare the Truth,

which it was his Duty to have done, although

no fuch Promife had been made : And furely the

Promife of a Pardon upon a Condition to do that

which was his Duty before, won't take off his

Teftimony. If they would afk the Witnefs whether

he has accepted a Promife of a Pardon upon Con-

dition to give falfe Teftimony, that is a Queftion,

to which, with great Submiffion, he is not bound

to anfwer ; becaufe that would be to examine him

to accufe himfelf of a thing which is unlawful. For

thefe Reafons, as well as upon account of the Au-

thority they produce, we apprehend there is no

Force in the Objection.

Mr. Serj. Cbcfiirc.\ My Lord, I know not

whether it would not be laying too great a

weight



1722. B.R; for High-Treafon. 259
Weight upon the Objection, for fo many of the

King's Counfel to anfwer it j for my part I think

it would.

Mr. Hungerfori. I urge it thus far : Whatfo-

ever Perfon is produced in a Court of Juftice for

a Witnefs, he mufl appear to be utterly uncon-

cerned in point of Intereft in the Confequence of

the Trial. If a Man produced as an Evidence

to prove the Debt, upon the Defendant, fhall,

upon being examined upon a Voyer dire, dif-

clofe that he is to have a part of the Money
recovered, is not fuch a Perfon difabled from be-

ing a Witnefs at all ? And is not a Promife of

Pardon to the Witnefs, in Cafe he convicts the

Criminal, a greater Byafs than the Witnefs's

having part of the Money recovered ? In a Civil

Caufe the Queftion is not whether the Witnefs be

tempted to {wear a Truth or Fallhood, but whe-

ther the Witnefs doth not appear to be fo far

concerened in Intereft, that he ought not to be ex-

amined at all? And therefore I humbly infift

that we ought to have an Account whether the

Witnefs Lynch hath the Promife of a Pardon, or

any Reward for that which he is to do here, viz.

for the Evidence he is to give againft the Prifoner.

As to the Confequence of fuch an Enquiry, it is in

different to me whether it will difable him from be-

ing a Witnefs abfolutely, or go to his Credit only

:

For if it fhould come out that he hath fuch a Pro-

mife, we fuppofe no Jury or Man living will believe

him, and that is much the fame as if he were not

produced ; tho' it feems more agreeable to the

Practice in Civil Cafes, that he fhould not be ad-

mitted as a Witnefs at all.

Mr. Ketelbey. Mr. Sollicitor miftakes the Words
of the Book as I read them ; he is pleafed to un-

derftand them as if all the reft of the Judges dif-

fered in Opinion from my Lord Chief Baron Hale;

but the Book does not fay fo, 'tis only that

fome of the other Judges were of Opinion that it

did not difable him, but all agreed that it went
to his Credit, and that was all I read in the Book

;

and I would not have offered it otherwife than as

it was truly there, upon any Confideration what-

foever •, but whether this Queftion be afked at firft

or lnft, fo as we have _an Anfwer to it, I am con-

tented.

L. C. Juft. You fee the moft you can make of

it is, that it is an Objection to his Credit ; and
if it goes to his Credit, muft he not be fworn

and his Credit left to the Jury ? He muft be ex-

amin'd as a legal Witnefs-, but if this Man, un-

der Expectation and Promife of a Pardon, comes
here to fwear that which is not true, and you
would ask him to that, he is not obliged to an-

fwer it. No body is to difcredit himfclf, but al-

ways to be taken to be innocent till it appears o-

therwife. It is expreffed that he has a Promife
of Pardon : What to do ? To give Evidence.

Give Evidence ! Why fhould he not ? Is he not

obliged to't? Suppofe he gives Evidence accord-

ing to the Truth, he would be entitled as much
to his Pardon, as if he gave Evidence of that

which is not true. The moft you can fay is, he
has a Promife of Pardon if he gives Evidence

•,

and can you conclude from thence that he can
give no Evidence except a falfe Evidence? If
they who afk the Queftion infinuate any thing like

that, it ought not to have an Anfwer : But if he
hath a Promife of Pardon if he gives a true Evi-
dence, it is no Objection to his being a Witnefs,
or to his Credit.
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Prifoner. My Lord, I humbly hope our Ob-
jections will thus far prevail, and that we fhall

come at the Fact.

L. C. Juft. When he is fworn you fhall ask
him what Queftions you pleafe.

Mr. Juft. Eyre. The Objection which gives Oc-
cafion to infift upon this Queftion, arifes from the

Influence which the Hopes of Pardon may pofli-

bly have upon the Witnefs -, and if this be a Rea-
fon for fetting afide a Witnefs as incapable, no
Accomplice who difcovers a Confpiracy can ever
be allowed to prove it upon Oath ; for I believe,

no Man ever yet made a Difcovery but with the
Hopes of Pardon ; and a Government is obliged in

Honour to grant it, where the Confeflion appears
to be ingenuous and fincere : And therefore if the

Hope or Profpect of Pardon, which is all that

can be inferr'd from a Promife, fhould be an Ob-
jection to the Competency of a Witnefs, no Go-
vernment would be fafe ; for treafonable Confpi-
racies might be form'd and carried on with Impu-
nity, when the Perfons concerned, from whom a-

lone a full Difcovery can be had, are utterly in-

capable of proving the Fact, though they give all

pofllble Marks of their Sincerity and Truth.
They have therefore been always allowed to be
Witneffes •, and I don't remember that ever any
Objection was made to their Competency, 'till

the Cafe of the King and Gordon, when the Coun-
cil for the Prifoner would have asked the fame
Queftion which is now propofed, but the Court
did not think it proper before the Witnefs was
fworn ; for no Perfon produced as a Witnefs can
be examin'd to any Matter which only affects his

Credit, and is no Objection to his Competency,
till after he is fworn to give Evidence, and has

been examin'd.

Mr. Juft. Powys. Mr. Hungerford would do well

to remember the feveral Acts of Parliament made
to give Encouragement, by a Reward of forty

Pounds, for the apprehending and convicting of
every falfe Coiner, Highwayman, and Houfe-
breaker •, and if a Criminal in thole Offences fhall

come in, and difcover and convict two of his Ac-
complices, he fhall be entitled to a Pardon ; and
by the exprefs Words of the 5th of Queen Anney

fhall have the Reward of forty Pounds for each

Houfe-breaker, and fhall alfo himfelf be entitled

to a Pardon ; fo that the Parliament thought it

proper to give even Money as well as a Par-

don to fuch Difcoverer. Yet ever fince the mak-
ing of thofe Acts, the Perfons fo promifed and
encouraged, have upon thofe Trials been admit-

ted as good Witneffes even before a Pardon. And
indeed there cannot be too great Encouragement
given to Criminals to become honeft, and to come
in and impeach their Accomplices, it being often

impoflibly fully to difcover thofe fecret Confedera-

cies, but by fome of the Accomplices and Actors

therein.

The Law thinks thefe are fit Witneffes, and
you will find it in the Book that Mr. Ketelbey

hath mention'd that they were thought fit to make
Difcoveries of thofe fecret Combinations ; I don'c

fay to come in and give falfe Evidence, but to

make a fair Difcovery.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, we fubmit ; we fhall

ask the Queftion whether he hath any fuch Promife

made ; let the Truth come out, and we fhall be fa-

tisfied.

Mr. Juft. Fortefcue Aland. I was Council in

the Cafe of the King and Gordon -

3 and I very well

L 1 z remember
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remember the Council of the other Side infifted

the WitnefFes produced mould be afked this Que-

ftion on a Foyer dire, his Name was Mayer. The

Reafon the Court gave that it was improper to

afk this Queftion on a Foyer dire, was, that

if he had this Promife, fuch Promife was made

either to fpeak the Truth, or to fpeak a Falf-

hood ; if it were to give a juft and true Evi-

dence, there was no Harm in it; and if it was

a Promife of Pardon for fpeaking that which was

not true, the Witnefs was not bound to anfwer

that Queftion, and confequently it can be of no

Ufe whatfoever, therefore the Witnefs muft be

fworn.

Mr. Stephen Lynch was fworn.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Do you know the Prifoner at

the Bar ?

Lynch. Yes.

Mr. Soil. Gen. How long have you known

him ?

Lynch. I firft knew him about the Month of

June laft.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Pray give an Account to the

Court and the Jury by what Means you firft be-

came acquainted with him.

Lynch. I became acquainted with him by Dr.

Murphey : About the Month of April laft I came

into England from Flanders ; at my Arrival in

England I met with Dr. Murphey, that was my
Acquaintance feveral Years before, who met me

and told me he had fome particular Bufinefs to

tell me, and defired me to meet him at Cooper"?,

Coffee-houfe in Comhill, where I met him ; and

he told me that material Things were acting in

the Kingdom in order to a Rifing, and if Iwould

be of the Party, he would recommend me to a

Gentleman that had the Management of it : I

afked Time to confider it, and in two or three

Days time I told him that I was refolved to be of

the Party. I frequently told him I was impatient

to know who the Gentleman was that I was to be

recommended to ; about the Month of June he

told me I fhould go with him to his Lodgings,

which were at the upper End of Chancery-lane,

right over-againft the White-Hart

Mr. Soil. Gen. Whofe Lodgings did you go

to?

Lynch. The Lodgings of Mr. Layer: Mr. Lay-

er was at home, and defired us to go to the Griffin

Tavern in Holborn and he would meet us there ;

we went, and in a little while Mr. Layer came to

us ; and then Dr. Murphey told him that I was

the Gentleman he had fpoke to him of. Mr. Layer

was glad of my Acquaintance, and told me that

he had had fuch a ftrong Recommendation of

me, that he was fully fatisfied in me 5 and then

he held a Difcourfe about a Rifing that was to

be in the Kingdom in Favour of the Pretender,

and that it would be back'd by a great many of

the Army and the Guards, and feveral other

Gentlemen.

Mr. Hungerford. The Overt-Act is laid in Ef-

fcx, and here is an Evidence given of an Overt-

Act in Middle/ex; with Submifllon, they can give

no Evidence of an Overt-Act in another County,

till they give Evidence of an Overt-A6t in EJfex,

where the Indictment is laid.

L. C. Jufl. All they fay of Matters in the

County of Middle/ex, unlefs they give Evidence
1,1 an Overt-Act in- the County of EJfex, it fig-

nifie's hoiking],

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, with Submifllon,

they ought not to be fuffered to give Evidence

of an Overt-Act in Middlefex, before they give

Evidence of fome Overt-Act in EJfex ; for the

proving fome Overt-Act in EJfex is the only thing

which can entitle them to prove any Overt-Act

ellewhere. For by the Method they would go
on in, the Jury may be captivated with a Story

of the Griffin Tavern, and of Mr. Layer's/ other

Affignations and Actions in Middlefex, which can-

not be imputed to him upon this Indictment until

fome Treafon be proved in EJfex: I hope therefore

the King's Council fhall receive your Lordfhip's

Directions to go on regularly, to begin to give an

Account of the Overt-Acts in EJfex, before they

go into another County.

L. C. JusJ. Mr. Hungerford, you muft give them
leave to go on in their own Method, of that that

firft happened in Middlefex, and afterwards ofwhat
happened in EJfex ; and if you dare not truft them
and us, but will have your own Method, it would
be to put us into Confufion.

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, we infift upon it in

point of Law, that we are in titled to give Evi-

dence of Overt-Acts of the fame Species of Treafon

laid in the Indictment, though done in any County
in England, provided we alfo prove an Overt-Act
in the County of EJfex ; which we muft do, ether-

wife this will pafs for nothing. Mr. Lynch, go on,

and give my Lord and the Jury an Account of
what Mr. Layer laid, when you were together at

the Griffin Tavern.

Lynch. The firft thing he told me was, That he
was very glad to meet me, that he had had a

good Recommendation of me from Dr. Murphey?

as being a Man he could confide in •, and begin-

ning his Difcourfe of an Infurrection in the King-
dom, he told me, that they were back'd with

a great many of the Army and the Guards; that

there was a great many of the Nobility and Gen-
try of the Country that would come in to them :

He told me then, that he wanted a Man of Re-
folution that would take upon him the feizing of

fome Perfbn of Note, as a General, or fome other

great Man; The Difcourfe run all upon the fame
thing.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Recollect as well as you can,

. the Particulars Mr. Layer told you relating to this

Defign.

Lynch. He told me the general Defign of a

Revolution in the Kingdom, in favour of the

Pretender, and that they were back'd by a great

many of the Army, and a great many of the No-
bility and Gentry ; and then he told me he wanted

a Man of Refolution, to undertake with fome c-

thers, to feize a great Man, as a General or fome

other great Man : At that Time I took upon my-
felf to do it, fo that Time we difcourfed no

more.

Mr. Soil. Gen. How long were you together ?

Lynch. About half an Hour.
Mr. Soil. Gen. When had you the next Meet-

ing ?

Lynch. A Day or two afterwards.

Mr. Soil. Gen. At what Place ?

Lynch. At the fame Tavern, the Griffin Ta-
vern ; when I came there, I lent a Boy for Mr.

Layer, as he had ordered me to do when I wanted

to fee him.

L. C. JusJ. When was your firft Meeting ?

.

Lynch. About the Month of June.

L. C. J-uft. And the fecond Meeting was two

or three Days after the firft ?

Lynch,
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Lynch. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. At your parting after the

firft Meeting, what did Mr. Layer fay to you ?

Lynch. Mr. Layer told me, if I had Occafion to

fpeak to him that I mould not come to his Lodg-

ings, but to go to a Tavern and fend for him,

which I did ; I fent a Boy for him, and he came

to me. Then talking over a Glafs cf Wine, he

told me that he had pitched upon me to feize the

Earl of Cadogan, and that I fhould chufe as many

Perfons as I thought fit who would anfwer the fame

Defign ; and he being the principal Man in the

Army, it would difcourage the King's Party, and

animate the Pretender's Party ; which, as. I faid

before, I agreed to undertake, and to do the utmoft

of my Endeavours to do it.

Mr. Serj. Pcngelly. Was you to do it alone, or

was you to have any Affiftance ?

Lynch. Yes, I was to have Affiftance.,

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Affiftance ?

Lynch. Such that I mould chufe \ fuch. People

that I could confide in.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Did you undertake it?

Lynch. Yes I did undertake it, and to pitch

upon fuch Perfons as fhould be proper to affift me
in it.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Was any thing faid at that time

relating to any Perfon, who was to have the Con-

duct of the Defign ?

Lynch. He told me that there was fome great

Man that did not want Wit, Courage or Refoiution,

and was at the Head of this Affair, who would at

a proper time give me an Order to effect ibmething

further about it.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Had you any more Difcourfe with

the Prifoner about this Affair ?

Lynch. Yes, we had feveral Difcourfes about

it.

Mr. Att. Gen. Tell my Lord and the Jury what

more Difcourfe you had, if you can remember.

Lynch. The chief Part I was to act was to feize

the Earl of Cadogan, with fuch Gentlemen as I

fhould think proper to anfwer the end of feizing

him.

Mr. Serj. Che/hire. Was there any other Meet-

ing, and when, and how long after ?

Lynch. After that I came to a Tavern in Hol-

lorn.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. How long after ?

Lynch. Some few Days ; it was at the Cajlle

Tavern in Holborn.

Mr. Att. Gen. Who was with you at the Ta-
vern ?

Lynch. I came to the Tavern and font for Mr.
Layer.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did he come to you ?

Lynch. Yes, he came to me.

Mr. Att. Gen. What Difcourfe had you with

him at that time ?

Lynch. We had no particular Difcourfe, but

in general we talked about the Uneafinefs of
the Nation, and the fair Opportunity there was

to rife.

Mr. Att. Gen. Pray give an Account of what
elfe paired.

Lynch. I fay, the Difcourfe that we had at

two Meetings before, he repeated, and faid, Now
is a fair Opportunity, the Uneafinefs of the Peo-
ple being fuch, to bring about a Revolution,

fince they would be back'd by the Army and the

Guards, and feveral other People. Soon after that

we parted.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. When had you any other
Meeting ?

Lynch. Some Meetings we had at Mr. Layer\
Houfe in Southampton-Buildings.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. How long after ?

Lynch. A few Days only.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. At the feveral Meetings at

his Houfe, what was the Subject of your Dif-
courfe ?

Lynch. It was upon the fame, about the Rifing
and Uneafinefs of the People, and the fair Oppor-
tunity of bringing about a Refolution ; of the Dif-
pofition of the Army and the Guards.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Did he give you any En-
couragement ?

Lynch. After I met him at his Houfe in South-

ampton-Buildings, I told him of my Uneafinefs13

becaufe he had told me at the beginning, that

thele things would be foon put in Execution : I

told him, if they were delayed, I was afraid they
would not fucceed. He then animated. me, by
telling me that there was no fear of its fucceeding;

and that I fhould not be difcou'raged, for there

was a great Man, a Man of Wit and Conduct,
that was at the Helm, and that had the Manage-
ment of the Scheme : That I fhould always keep
a good Heart •, and that Things went on very

well.

Mr. Weft. Did he tell you in whofe Favour
this was to be ?.

Lynch. Yes, in Favour of the Pretender. He
mentioned him by the Name of King.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Do you know any thing

about his going into the Country ?

! Lynch. After I met him at his Houfe, he went
into the Country and ftaid fixteen or feventeen

Days at his Return I went to fee him, expreffing

how uneafy I was about the Delay.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. About what Time was
this ?

Lynch. I believe it was in July. And then I

told him him again how uneafy I was at the Delay.

To which he anfwered, keep a good Heart, all

Things go on very well.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Had you any Apprehenfi-

ons that all was to be done at home, or that you
was to have any foreign Affiftance ?

Lynch. In my Dilcourfe to him of the Uneafi-
nefs I was under at the Delay, I afked him if he

had any Promife of any Succour from any Power
Abroad ? He told me, if we once made a Begin-

ning, we fhould not want them: But did infinu-

ate, that we fhould not want Encouragement from
the Court of France.

Mr. Att. Gen. When you exprefTed your Un-
eafinefs at the Dclayj what did he fay to encourage

you ?

Lynch. The Reafon he told me was, that things

went on very well, and would very loon be put m
Execution.

Mr. Att. Gen. In what Manner did you exprefs

your Uneafinefs ?

Lynch. Nothing but that I was uneafy, and I

was afraid that things did go wrong.

Mr. Soil. Gen. What did you fay, did you fay

any thing relating to your own Ciraimiiances ?

Lynch. In the Beginning I told Dr. M/:rp!:-y,

becaufe it would be a long while, fome five or fix

Weeks, before I was to be introduced to Mr.
Layer's Company, that I came on my own par-

ticular Bufinefs, and my Circumftances would not

permit me to be long here at my own Expenrr.

At
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ves, the laft time I was with him I had

At the Meeting with Mr. Layer, when I firft made

this Complaint to him, Mr. Layer told me I mould

not want for a fmall Matter, to maintain me in

England. Accordingly Mr. Layer gave me fome

Money.
Mr. Att. Gen. Do you remember how much

that was ?

Lynch. I cannot remember,

Mr. Att. Gen. Did he give you Money at any

other Time ?

Lynch. Mr. Layer gzvt me fome Money the firft

Time, and afterwards he fent me fome Money by

Dr. Murphey.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did he give you any Money
at any other Time ?

Lynch.

more.

Mr. Att. Gen. How many times had you Money
of him ?

Lynch. Five or fix times.

Mr. Att. Gen. Do you know what the Sums did

amount to together ?

Lynch. I can't recollect ; but I believe about

eight or ten Guineas.

Mr. Att. Gen. "What was it given you for ?

Lynch. To keep me in England, and to aflifl in

the intended Defignof a Revolution.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. After you went to him,

upon his Return out of the Country, do you re-

member the Difcourfe that paffed between you
then ?

Lynch. Yes : After I came to his Houfe, I ex-

preffed my Uneafinefs at the Delay •, Upon which
he encouraged me, giving me to hope that Things
went on very well, and our Defign would effectually

take Place.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did you afk him any thing

about the Army r

Lynch. I afked him if he had any Encourage-
ment from the Guards and the Army ? He told

me, Yes, he had -, that a great many of the Of-
ficers would not engage themfelves now, being well

paid } but he faid he had fpoke with feveral Officers

of the Guards, who had affured him, that moft of
the common Soldiers would come in, as loon as we
had made a Beginning.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did he mention any thing of
the Time ?

L. C. Jusl. When you afked him if he had
any Encouragement from the Army, what did he
fay ?

Lynch. He told me, that he had Encouragement
from many of the Officers of the Army : That he
had difcourfed with feveral Serjeants of the Guards,
who told him that the common Soldiers would be
glad, after they had made a Beginning, to come in

to them.

L. C. JusJ. Did he give you any Reafon for
this ?

Lynch. Mr. Layer told me, the Serjeants told
him fo before they were encamped, and complain-
ed of their ill Ufage, and hard Ufage from the
fubaltern Officers.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was you acquainted with any
Time or Day that was fixed ?

Lynch. There was no fixed Time : Mr. Layer
told me, it was to be on the Rifing of the Camp ;

becaufe they could not talk with the Soldiers fo
well, while they were encamped, as they could af-
terwards, when they were in their Quarters.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Was there any Confutation
of viewing any one's Houfe ?

Lynch. Afterwards in Difcourfe he told me, that

it was fit to go and view the Earl of Cadogan'%

Houfe, in cafe it was neceffary to feize the faid

Lord in his Houfe.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Where is his Houfe ?

Lynch. In Piccadilly. Accordingly we appoint-

ed a Day to go ; and I came to his Lodgings,

and we took Coach, and away we went ; and
talking to him about it, he told me, he was very

well acquainted with my Lord Gadogan, and had
fome Bufinefs with him, about an Eftate which
his Lordfhip was about buying : We went to his

Houfe, but my Lord was not to be fpoke with,

or was not within, I don't remember which, but

we were conducted into his Houfe : We viewed
the inner Part of the Houfe, afterwards we went
into the Garden, we view'd the lower Part of the

Garden, then we went out in the Yard, and took

a View of the Avenues round about the Houfe.

I don't remember exactly the Time, but it was
that Day that a Soldier fhould have been (hot in

Hyde-Park.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Had you any Difcourfe a-

bout the Feafiblenefs of it ?

Lynch. Yes, that it was eafy to be done ; if we
had but fome refolute Gentlemen to ftand by us,

that it was very feafible to be done.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Had you any Talk at that

time relating to the tfbwer ?

Lynch. He told me, the tfower would be imme-
diately furrendered to the Party ; on the Day
the Plot was to be put in Execution, a certain Of-

ficer of the Guards would take upon him to mount
the Guards there, who would facilitate the Deli-

very of the Tower to them.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Was there any talk of the

Mint ?

Lynch. Yes, afterwards : He faid there would

be no doubt of the Mint ; they would be glad

to take the Opportunity to Ihake off their Con-

finement : And that they would put Arms into

their Hands, according as they repaired to their

Party.

Mr. Att. Gen. When did you fee the Prifoner

next after the time that you fpeak of viewing my
Lord Cadogan's Houfe ?

Lynch. I faw him at his own Houfe, and at fe-

veral Taverns in the City •, and once he wrote to

me, defiring me to come to his Lodging ; accord-

ingly I went, and when I came to his Houfe, I

met with a little Paper that was left for me, di-

recting me to go to the Queen's-Head Tavern in

Great Queen-Street near Lincoln's-Inn- Fields, and

to enquire there for one Mr. Wiljon v which I did,

and I was conducted into a Room where the faid

Mr. Wiljon was, with Mr. Layer and another Man,
who feemed, by his Clothes, to be a Serjeant of the

Guards. I do not know the Man.
Mr. Att. Gen. What paffed then ?

Lynch. We ftaid a little while there, we talked

over the Bufinefs, and drank good Succefs to the

Enterprize.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Your Lordfhip will pleafe

to take Notice, that when he went to Mr. Layer's

Lodging, he found a Letter there, directing him
to go to the Queen's-Head Tavern, and enquire for

one Wiljon ; that when he came there, Wiljon was

there, and Mr. Layer, and another Man.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What paffed at that time ?

Lynch. Nothing material.

Mr. Att. Gen. You talked about drinking good

Succefs to the Enterprize : Who drank that ?

Lynch
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Lynch. We all drank that.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did the Prifoner at the Bar

drink it ?

L>w£. Yes, he did. I told the Pnioner, when

he went out, that I was mighty uneafy at the

Delay of this Affair. He told me, I need not be

uneafy, for every Thing went on well ; and they

had a Nobleman at the Helm, who had Authority

from the Pretender, and would lofe no Opportu-

nity when a fit Time offered.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What did he call the Pre-

tender ?

Lynch. He called him the King. I was uneafy

at the Delay, for fear of being difcover'd.

L. C. Juft. What Reafon did he give you4

why you fhould not be uneafy ?

Lynch. Becaufe their Defigns were quickly

to be put in Execution ; and there was a No-

bleman at the Helm who would put the Defign

in Execution, as having full Power and Au-

thority from the King to act as he thought

proper.

L. C. Juft. Did you ask who that Noble-

man was ?

Lynch. Yes -, but he never told me his Name,

but laid, that I mould, in a proper Time, be

prefented to him, and receive my Commifllon

and Orders from him to feize my Lord Ca-

dogan.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly, My Lord, we fhall now

gratify the Prifoner's Counfcl, with an Account

of what happened in EJfex ; I hope they- will not

be impatient to hear that: Therefore, pray ac-

quaint my Lord, and the Jury, when you went

out of Town with Mr. Layer.

Lynch. My Lord, I was at Mr. Layer's Houfe

the Day when the Bifhop of Rochefter was fent to

the Tower ; he afk'd me, if I would ride abroad

with him the next Day to take the Air ; I con-

fented to it, and came the next Morning to his

Houfe ; and Mr. Layer afked me if I mounted

with Furniture : I told him no; but that I had

a double Barrel Fowling-piece, which if his Ser-

vant would carry, would do as well. He then

defired me to go and flay for him without Aid-

gate, and get my Gun ready loaden, for he had

that about him which he would not lofe for any

thing in the World. I went and (laid till about

ten or eleven o' Clock, when Mr. Layer met me,

and gave the Gun to his Servant to carry. On
the Road he told me, we were going to my Lord

North and Gray's, whom he was very well ac-

quainted with, and that he would recommend me
to him as a Friend of his. When we got to the

Green Man, he told me, we had better go in and

dine there, becaufe Dinner-time would be over

before we could get to my Lord North and Gray's.

Whilfl Dinner was getting ready, we had feveral

Difcourfes on the fame Subject, Of the Uneafinefs

of the Nation, and its Inclination to a Revolu-

tion, and how to bring it about ; upon which he

pulled a Paper out oi his Pocket, and gave it me
to read the latter Part of it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Can you remember what
it contained ?

lynch. I remember feme Lines of it ; which
was, in general, to invite the Nation to an In-

furrection, and to fhake off the Calamities and
Miferies they endured under the prefent Miniftry.

And it was mentioned in the laid Paper, that

the P.arl of Cadogan was actually in their Cuf-

tody ; thereby encouraging the Army to revolt,

with an Offer of three Guineas to every Horfe-
man and Serjeant, and two Guineas to every
Corporal, and one Guinea to every common
Soldier, to be paid immediately on their join-

ing the Party, and a Promife of farther Prefer-

ment.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you read this ?

Lynch. I did, out of the Paper in Mr. Layer's

Hand.
Mr, Att. Gen. Do you know whofe Hand-

writing it was ?

Lynch. According to our Difcourfe, I thought

it might be his writing. «

L. C. Juft. But he produced it ?

Lynch. Yes, my Lord, he produced it.

L. C. Juft. You fay you imagine, from fome
Difcourfe between you, that it was his Hand-
writing •, what Reafon was there in all his Dif-

courfe, that induced you to think ib ?

Lynch. He talk'd of it as being of his ov/n mak-
ing •, befides, there were feveral Interlineations,

Dafhings-out, and Interlineations afterwards. He
was very well fatisfied and eafy as to me, and faid,

he could wifh that he could bring Matters about

fo, as that I could have the fole Direction of
feizing fome of the Miniftry, and namely, my
Lord Townjhend, my Lord Carteret, and Mr.
Walpole.

Mr. Att. Gen. Was there any Difcourfe about

feizing the King ?

Lynch. He laid, when the Defign was put in

Execution, the Army would declare in their Fa-
vour, and they would fend a ftrong Guard to take

care of the King's Perfon.

Mr. Att. Gen. How to take care of the King's

Perfon ? What was you to do ?

Lynch. Nothing but to fecure the King's Per-

fon •, by what he told me, it was for the Public

Good of the Kingdom ; that they did not mean,
nor had they any Defign on the King's Per-

fon, but only to keep him in Security from any
Infult.

Mr. Att. Gen. What more paffed at that

Time?
Lynch. Nothing more in particular.

Mr. Att. Gen. Had you any talk relating to

the Army ?

Lynch. I faid before what related to the

Army.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was there any Difcourfe

about a Scheme or Plan ?

Lynch. He told me there was a Scheme laid

on that Foot, of which I told you the firft Step

was to feize the Earl of Cadogan, and then, ac-

cording as the Army came over, to take care

and feize the King's Perfon •, and he thought

the proper Time to put this in Execution,

would be at the Rifing of the Camp in Hyde-

Park.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was there any Objection

made to this ?

Lynch. No ; I made no Objection, only fhew'd

my Uneafinefs at the long Delay.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When you fo expreffed

your Uneafinefs, what did he fay ?

Lynch. He told me, if I could think or pro-

pole any Thing more proper, that I fhould do it.

After that we rode toward Epping, and went to

my Lord North and Gray's ; and there Mr. Layer

introduced me as his Friend. We ftaid there all

Night, and dined there the next Day. In the

Evening we came away, in company with ano-

ther
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ther Gentleman that I did not know •, but we

talk'd en the Road about the Situation of my
Lord's Houfe •, and Mr. Layer told me he had

recommended me to his Lordfhip as his particular

Friend, and afked me how I liked him.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did he afk you any Que-

ftions ? Do you remember what he called his

Lordfhip ?

Lynch. I don't remember any other Name but

My 'Lord.

'Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When he afked your Opi-

nion of him, and how you liked him, did he de-

fcribe him in any other manner, or only called him

My Lord?
Lynch. He only called him my Lord North

and Grey; he only asked me how I liked my
Lord North and Grey.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Liked his Lordfhip, for

what ?

Lynch. That was all.

Mr. Reeve. Had you any Talk with him a-

bout the Perfon that was to have the chief Com-
mand ?

Lynch. Yes ; but he never named the Perfon.

Mr. Weft. Had you never any Difcourfe who

was to command the Party that was to feize my
Lord Cadogan ?

Lynch. I was to command that Party.

Mr. Weft. Was you any other Time at my
Lord North and Grey's ?

Lynch. Yes ; another time Iwent to my Lord

North and Grey's, where I found Mr. Layer, and

expreffed to Mr. Layer the Uneafmefs I was in at

the long Delay, and that I was afraid our Hopes

would vanifh ; and told him, if things were not

foon put in Execution, I would withdraw my
fclf. Mr. Layer bid me not be uneafy, Things

might perhaps be fooner put in Execution than I

imagined.

Mr. Weft. Where was this ?

Lynch. At Epping, at my Lord North and

Grey's.

Mr. Weft. Did you come home together ?'

Lynch. No ; I came home that Night : Mr.
Layer remained there.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did you fee him fome time

afterwards ?

Lynch. I met him at his own Houfe, where I

cxpreffing my Uneafmefs as formerly, he faid, I

ihould not be uneafy, for Things would foon

take Effect •, and bid me get myfelf ready to ex-

ecute my Defign ; becaufe they had Notice the

Camp would foon break up, which was the Time
defigned to put Things in Execution. And at ano-

ther time he told me, that the Declaration which
he had fhewn me at the Green Man, had menti-

oned no particular Perfons, but in general the

Safety and Public Good of the Kingdom : There
was nothing mentioned of the Pretender in it,

but that he had thought fit to put it now in the

Pretender's Name.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Who was you to receive

your particular Orders from, for the executing

your Defign ?

Lynch. From that Nobleman, who was to act

as General in this Affair.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did you never hear from
Mr. Layer who that was ?

Lynch. No •, I don't recollect he was ever nam-
ed by Mr. Layer; he told me, that the Decla-
ration was afterwards put in the Name of the
1'; ''tender.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What was it he recom-
mended you to my Lord North and Grey for ?

Lynch. He recommended me to him as one of
his particular Friends.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Difcourfe had you
at that Time ?

Lynch. We talk'd indifferently ; we difcours'd

nothing of the Revolution at that Time : He
told me he had given the Declaration to a Non-
juring-Minifter to get printed, and had given-
twenty Guineas for that Purpofe.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Was you acquainted before with
my Lord North and Grey.

Lynch. No ; he introduced me as one of his

Friends.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Did you ' know when Mr.
Layer was firft taken up ?

Lynch. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. How long before that had
you been with him ?

Lynch. I can't recollect the Time. I firft be-
came acquainted with Mr. Layer about June.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. What paffed the laft time
you was with him, before he was taken up ?

Was there any particular Conference between
you ?

Lynch. I told you about the Declaration, and
about my Uneafmefs, and that he told me
Things would fucceed fooner than I thought
for.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. When you exprefs'd your
Uneafmefs, did he ufe any Vehemence of Expref-
fion, as to what Part he would act ?

Lynch. He told me feveral times, when I was
fo irrefolute and uneafy, faith he, don't you be
uneafy ; rather than all fhould fail, J will ftir up
and be a lecond MaJJmello.

Mr. Weft. Had you any Converfation about
the taking up of any Perfon ?

Lynch. He only told me at that Time, that

if the Nobleman at the Head of Affairs fhould

be taken up, every thing would be quafh'd.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. That Nobleman was not

taken up at that Time then ?

Lynch. No.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Recommendation

had you to my Lord North and Grey ?

Lynch. Only as a Friend of Mr. Layer s, to

pafs away the Time in Summer.
Mr. HungerJord. I prefume they have done

with giving the Evidence, which they intend,

of any Overt-Act in the County of Ejftex ; if

they have, I would crave the Liberty to ob-

ferve.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We have not done ; if you

have any thing to obferve, it muft be when we
have gone through our Evidence.

L. C. Juft. When they have given all their

Evidence, then will be your proper time to ob-

ject to the Evidence, and to fhew whether 'tis

competent or no.

Mr. HungerJord. I do not prefs to make any

Remarks upon their whole Evidence ; but if they

have given all the Evidence they intend to give

of any Overt-Act. in EJfex, for on that depends

the Fate of this Gentleman at the Bar, I hope

we are now (before they fhall be permitted to

give Evidence of any farther Overt-Act of Trea-

ibn in another County) at Liberty to object,

that the Tranfaction in EJfex is not an Overt-

A£r. at all of the High-Treafon laid in this In-

dictment.

Mr. Soil. Gen,
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Mr. Soil. Gen. We have not done : When

we have <nven our Evidence, then it will be

proper for them to make their Objections to the

Whole.
Mr. Hungerford. I humbly offer it to your

Lordfhip's Confideration, whether it is right and

proper to go on in fuch a Method, and to take

up the Time of the Court, when the Gentlemen

on the other Side fay, they have done with giving

Evidence as to any Overt-Aft in the County of

Effex.

Mr. Soil. Gen. No ; we have not done with that

Evidence.

Mr. Ketelbey. I don't know whether your Lord-

Ihip will indulge us to afk the Witnefs a Queftion

or two now.

L. C. Juft. Propofe your Queftions, and we

will tell you.

Mr. Ketelbey. Whether he hath any Offer of

Pardon propofed to him to induce him to give

Evidence againft the Prifoner at the Bar ; which

if he hath, we apprehend will invalidate his E-

vidence.

Lynch. No, Sir •, I have no Promife of Pardon

at all : I only do this out of Juftice, to make what

Reparation I can, and to fave the Blood of many
People.

Mr. Ketelbey. I beg leave to afk him a few

more Queftions. I think you fay the firft time

you were introduced into this Gentleman's Com-
pany, the Prifoner at the Bar, was at the Griffin-

Tavern in Holborn, and that he then told you he

had great Defigns in hand ; and that there was

an Infurreftion defigned, and they wanted a Per-

fon of Refolution to feize a General : This, you

fay, was the firft Time that ever you faw the

Prifoner at the Bar. How came you to have

that Share of Confidence in a Man that you never

faw before ?

Lynch. I told you I was in Difcourfe with

Dr. Murphey a great many Days and Weeks be^-

fore I faw Mr. Layer ; I told you how every

Day I faw him, and always difcourfed about the

Infurreftion, and how he told me then that he

would recommend me to a Man that had the Ma-
nagement of the greateft Part in this Affair ; and
I afked every Day when I fhould be introduced

to him : He told me, the Time was not come
yet ; but when it was a proper Time, he would
introduce me.

Mr. Ketelbey. I think you give that for a Rea-
fon, why you had that Confidence in him, becaufe

you had been recommended by one Dr. Murphey.
How came you to have that mighty Dependance on
Dr. Murphey ?

Lynch. Becaufe Dr. Murphey and I had been
acquainted feveral Years ago.

Mr. Ketelbey. I hope you was not in any
wicked Defign with Dr. Murphey, and fo much
acquainted, as to recommend you in a Cafe of
Treafon. .

Lynch. There was a common Friendfhip be-

tween us.

Mr. Ketelbey. How came he to truft you ?

Would you have trufted him in a Bufinefs of
Treafon ?

Lynch. We have been concerned in Affairs to-

gether.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long was you at the Green
Man with Mr. Layer ?

Lynch. I can't fay exaftly the time.

Mr. Ketelbey. I don't afk you exaftly to a
Vol. VI.

Minute or two % but was you there an Hour, or

two, or three Hours ?

Lynch. I can't fay whether we were there an
Hour or two ; but we had fomething dreffed for

Dinner, and the Matters was difcourfed of by us

before Dinner.

Mr. Ketelbey. When you firft alighted from
your Horfes, what Room was you (hewn into ?

Lynch. We were fhewn into a Room up
one Pair of Stairs on the Right Hand, the firft

Room.
Mr. Ketelbey. Was it towards the Street, or

backwards ?

Lynch. It looked into the common Road.
Mr. Ketelbey. Did you look out of the Window

and fee a Perion of your Acquaintance ?

Lynch. I faw two Gentlemen, but did not know
them.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did you not look out of the Win-
dow, and fay, you law a Gentleman of your Ac-
quaintance ?

Lynch. I faid I faw two Gentlemen that I

thought I had feen before.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did not you go down to thofe

Gentlemen ?

Lynch. No, I did not go down to them.
Mr. Ketelbey. Did not you go down to them ?

Lynch. No.
Mr. Ketelbey. Did not you fay fo to Mr. Layer,

in the Drawer's Prefence ?

Lynch. No.
Prifoner. Did not you tell me that thofe Gentle-

men were your Acquaintance ?

Lynch. I told you, thofe two Gentlemen I had
feen before.

Prifoner. How long were we together at the

Green Man ? Were the Horfes put up or not ?

Lynch. I can't tell.

Prifoner. Was there any thing dreffed for our

Dinner but a Beef-Stake ?

Lynch. No, nothing elfe.

Prifoner. Did not you go down Stairs, pretend-

ing you went to thofe Gentlemen ?

Lynch. No, I did not tell you I went to thofe

Gentlemen.

Prifoner. Did you not go down Stairs ?

Lynch. Yes, I did, and came up again imme-
diately.

Prifoner. Was not Dinner on Table when you

came up again ?

Lynch. I went down twice before Dinner.

Prifoner. Then you muft confequently leave me
in the Room.

Lynch. I went down to make Water*

Prifoner. What did you go down the fecond

time for ?

Lynch. Out of Curiofity.

Prifoner. How long did you ftay ?

Lynch. Not both times above two Minutes.

Prifoner. I was then alone, when you wen£

down.

Lynch. Yes.

Prifoner. Was this Difcourfe before of after

Dinner ?

Lynch. It was before Dinner.

Prifoner. When you came up the fecond time,

was not Dinner on the Table ?

Lynch. It was come up.

Prifoner. And yet the Difcourfe We had was be-

fore Dinner ?

Lynch. Yes, it was before Dinner*

M m Prifoner,
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Prifoner. How much Time might we fpend

before Dinner, half an Hour or an Hour ?

Lynch. I don't remember, but it was a good

while.

Prifoner. Was not the double Barrel Gun in

the Room ?

Lynch. I don't know whether it was there, or

whether your Servant had it.

Prifoner. At the Time of Dinner was my Ser-

vant, or Drawer, in the Room ?

Lynch. Neither of them was in the Room.

Prifoner. You fay we were a good while, you"

and I, alone ; pray, how long ?

Lynch. I cannot fay pofitively how long.

Mr. Hungerford. Have you any Copy of that

Part of the Paper he gave you to read, and which

you read ?

Lynch. No.

Mr. Hungerford. Was the Whole of it of any

Length ?

Lynch. To the beft of my Remembrance it was

a common Sheet of Paper.

Mr. Hungerford. Did you read the Whole ?

Lynch. No ; he doubled it down, and gave me
the latter Part of it to read.

Mr. Ketelbey. Some Things you feem to remem-

ber, and fome Things you don't remember : Was
it printed, or written ?

• Lynch. It was written.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did he not mention it to be the

Prince of Orange's Declaration ?

Lynch. No, he did not.

Prifoner. Was not the Paper blotted ?

Lynch. In that I faw there were two or three

Places interlined. .

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I think the Gen-
tlemen did fay they had not done with their Evi-

dence, with relation to an Overt-Act in Effex ; if

they have not, they will do well to go on now

:

But we hope they mail not go into Overt-Acts

committed in any other County, till they make
the Whole of their Proofs. of an Overt-Act in

Effex.

L. C. -JusJ. You have been told, they mould
proceed in their own Method, and when they have

done, you may make What Obfervations may be of
Service to your Client.

Mr. Hungerford. Relations of Fact arifing in

another County, which have no Relation to the

Fact arifing in Effex, we hope they mail not go
into, to amufe or captivate the Jury, the Court,

and the Auditory.

L. C. JusJ. Sure never any Thing was 'like

this ! It is our Province to give Directions, and
we think it not proper to interrupt the King's
Counfel, but that they mould proceed in their

own Method : You fhall be heard as long as

you pleafe, when you come to make your Obfer-
vations.

Mr. Soil. Gen. The Prifoner hath a Right to
fay any thing that is proper to the Court and the

Jury, in his Defence, but he muft fay it openly ;

he is not to talk privately with the Jury, tho'J
am lure they are Gentlemen of fo great Worth
and Honour, as not to be influenced.

Mr. Att. Gen. I dare fay the Jury won't be in-

fluenced ; but he talks to his Counfel fo loud,

that the Jury may eafily hear every Wor"d he
fays.

L. C. JuSl. He muft not fpeak fo loud.

Mr. Att. Gen. I juft now heard him fay, It

was ftrange to go on with Evidence that would

not be to the Purpofe. I heard him, as I fat here ;

let him deny it if he can.

i. C. JusJ. I hope you will not offer any thing

of that Kind, Mr. Layer : You have a Right to

difcourfe with your Counfel, but you muft do it

in fuch a Manner as the Jury may not hear.

Mr. Hungerford. Indeed, my Lord, he fhall

have no Encouragement from us for any fuch

Conduct.

Matthew Plunkett fworn.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Tell my Lord and the

Jury, whether you know the Prifoner at the

Bar.

Plunkett. Yes, I do know him.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Will you tell my Lord and

the Jury, upon what Account, and by whole

Means, you firft became acquainted ?

Plunkett. One Major Barnewtll. brought me
firft acquainted with Mr. Layer ; he had an Exe-

cution in hisHoufe in Great ^ueen-Jlreet, and this

Major Barnewell came to me, and defired me to

get a Couple of Grenadiers. I brought him two %

we went to Mr. Layer's Houfe, and his Clerk let

us in at the Back-door, and the Grenadiers turned

the Officers out, and Mr. Layer gave them a

Crown, and a Glafs of Brandy.

Mr. Serj. Che/hire. When was this ?

Plunkett. As near as I can guefs, it is going on
of five Years.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Tell my Lord and the Jury
what Month in this laft Year you renewed

the Acquaintance, and who brought you to

him ?

Plunkett. The next Acquaintance I had after-

wards, was by Major Barnewell, who was arrefted,

and he fent me with a Letter to liis Houle, to de-

fire him to relieve him.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Do you know any thing of

one James Plunkett ? . .

Plunkett. Yes •, he came to me from Mr. Layer,

in Jfuly laft, to defire me to meet him ; but how
this Counfellor Layer and this James Plunkett came
acquainted I don't know.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. What was he?

Plunkett. I don't know what he is ; he is ac-

quainted with Mr. Layer.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. What Profeffion is he

of?

Plunkett. I don't know ; nor how he lives, or

gets his Bread.

L. C. JusJ. Go on.

Plunkett. Mr. Layer paid the Charges for Ma-
jor Barnewell, and brought him out of the Mar-

fhalfea.

Mr. Reeve. How long was this ago ?

Plunkett. To the beft of rny Knowledge, four

Years ago.

Mr. Reeve. He is giving an Account how he

came to be acquainted with Mr. Layer ; the firft

time wasuponthe Account of refcuing Mr. Layer's

Goods ; the other time was by Mr. Layer's re-

deeming Major Barnewell out of the Marfhalfea,

and paying his Debt : Give an Account how you

came laft acquainted with him:

Plunkett.- I being-at home, in my own Room.
Mr. Reeve. How long ago ?

Plunkett. I believe, as near as I can .guefs, it

was laft July.

Mr. Reeve. Give an Account of what hap-

pened then.

Plunkett. Now this James PJunkelt came into

my Roonij fat down, -and -he afked me how I

didfr
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did, and faid, he was glad to Tee me ; and he

afked me, Are you not well acquainted in the

Army? Yes, faith I, I know a great many in

the Army, both Officers and common Soldiers.

Do you know, faith he, any of the Serjeants of

the Guards ? I know fome of 'em, laid I. He
brought me out of the Room, becaufe my Wife

was mere, and then he opened his Mind to me :

Saith he, Do you know one Mr. Layer ? (I had

forgot the Gentleman, being fo flightly acquaint-

ed with him -,) No, faith T, I don'c know him.

No matter, faith he, I have appointed a Place

for you to meet him at, at the Italian Coffee-

Houfe in Ruffel-Gourt -> and at the End of this,

Mr. Plunked afked me to keep Correfpondence

with them for the Pretender's Service. I did not

go to the Italian Coffee-Houfe, not being in a

proper Station, nor having Money for that Pur.

poie : So I did not think proper to go to the Itfrl

lian Coffee-Houfe ; but the Sunday following I went

to St. Jndrew's Church, and meeting with fome

Friends, they told me Dr. Sacheverel preach'd there;

and fo they decoy'd me to go and hear him preach

there. When Service was over, to the beft of my
Knowledge, as I was going Home, between twelve

and one a-Clock, I met Mr. Layer accidentally in

Lincoln-'s-Inn-Fields ; Mr. Layer he look'd at me,

he was really a perfect: Stranger to me, for I did

not know him again ; faith he, Is not your Name
Plunkett ? Yes, laith I. Was there not one with

you t'other Night, one James Plunkett? Yes,

Sir, fays I. Where did he defire you to go ? faid

he. I anfwer'd, He defired me to go to the Ita-

lian Coffee-Houfe in Rujfel-Court. Saith he, 'Tis

well enough : Do you not know me ? No, faith

I, you have the Advantage of me ; I afk your

Pardon, for I don't remember you. Don't you

remember one Layer ? faid he. Then I call'd to

Mind that I knew the Gentleman. Saith he, Will

you walk on this Side ? I walked back again towards

Little Turn-Stile, and we ftruck up the Wall-Side,

and juft as we came under a great Coach-Houfe

Gate-Way, we went in, and in the Gate-Way he

talk'd to me •, faith he, I am told that you are a

very honeft Man, and well-affected fo and fo.

Mr. Reeve. Well-affedted, to whom ?

Plunkett. Well-affected as to the Bufmefs of the

Pretender. At the fame Time we had this Talk,

he bid me not mention it to James Plunkett, that

I had feen him : Then he asked me if I knew

any Serjeants in the Guards ; for faith he, I

want fuch old Soldiers as you are yourfelf, that

could difcipline a Mob, for we have other, Men
enough amongft us ; but if we could get fome old

Soldiers, if that could be managed, they would

be finely rewarded. But Sir, faith I, the Pretender

is a Papift. Saith he, what Difference is there be-

tween a Papift King, and a Lutheran King ?

Mr. Reeve. He faid he wanted fuch old Sol-

diers as you ; for what ?

Plunkett. He wanted them to difcipline a Mob,
and to put them in Order. Then we began

to reafon about the Pretender ; Why, faith he,

we had as good have a Papift for our King as a
Lutheran,

Mr. Serj. Che/hire. What did you object ?

Plunkett. I faid he was a Papift. Says he,

We had as good have a Papift for our King, as

to have a Lutheran, I don't know what Diffe-

rence there is •, but as it was, the Nation was en-

fiaved, and the People were obliged to be Slaves.

I asked him, Sir, who is the Promoter of this,

Yol. VI.

that may JGin us ? You fee, fays he, what In-

juftice is done to you, you have ferved Abroad,

and others are put over your Head ; you have

had and found great Hardfhips. I asked him
who promoted this ? He faid, the Lord North

and Grey. Says I, He is a Peer of the Realm,

Saith he, He is a fine General. And the Earl of

Strafford he mentioned.

Mr. Reeve, Who did he fay was a fine Ge-

neral ?

Plunkett. He faid my Lord North and Grey

was a fine General ; and ask'd me what 1 thought

of him ? I faid I had never been under his Com-
mand, but I look'd upon him to be a great Man,
and one of the Peers of the Land. And then

he mentioned my Lord Strafford, What do yOU

think of him ? To which I made the like An-
fwer. And what do you think of General Prim-

rofe ? I faid, I had lately feen him at Cheljea, paf-

fing by in his Coach, but that he was an old

Man ; however, Mr. Layer faid he was a brave

General. Then he ask'd me what I thought of
General Webb ? I faid, I had heard of his Fame.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When he had faid my Lord
North and Grey was a fine General, and when
you ask'd who promoted it, whether did Mr.
Layer tell you what their Defign was to do ?

When Mr. Layer ask'd you what do you think of

this Perfon, and the other Perfon, what were they

to do ?

Plunkett, To raife a Rebellion.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly, Was that talk'd of at that

Time ?

Plunkett, Not at that Time;
L. C. Juft. You fay he wanted fuch old Sol-

diers as you ; for what Purpofe ? You fay he want-
ed them to difcipline a Mob, and put it in Order.

Plunkett. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. Juft. Did he tell you how many he
wanted ?

Plunkett-, No ; he did not fay how many:
Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Was there any thing faid

about their Names at that Time ?

Plunkett. Mr. Layer would have me take a

Lift of their Names, and to enroll them, that

they might know where they lodg'd, and where
they quartered ; that fo when he wanted them,
he might fend for them to be in Readinefs.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Was there any Number
he ask'd you the Names of?

Plunkett. I faid I knew a great many, and
that I could get twenty five. Saith he, you ought
to have a Lift of their Names, where they lodge,

that they may be in Readinefs for a Call : And
faith he, This would have gone on fome Time
ago, only Somebody made Difcovery of it to the

French Ambaffador, and he wrote to the Regent,
and fo it was difcovered to the King : And faith

he, The Duke of Ormond was to come in one
Ship, and General Dillon in another, and they

would bring their Numbers with them •, and then

I fhould fee that the Army would not oppofe

them. And when I parted from him, he gave

me half a Crown to drink.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. What was that to do ?

Plunkett. It was to encourage me. And he

laid he would fend a Meffenger to me ; and in a

Day or two afterwards there came a Mefienger

from him : I was not at home, but he fpoke with

my Wife.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Who was that ?

Plunkett. The Un-juring Miniiter,

M m 2 Mr,
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Mr. ^//. G«*. What was his Name ?

Plunkett. His Name was Jeffreys.

Mr. Att. Gen. You fay you was not at home

the firft Time •, did he come again ?

Pltmkett. Yes.

Mr. Att. Gen. How long after?

Plunkett. A matter of five or fix days after.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you fee him ?

Plunkett. Yes, I faw him.

Mr. Att. Gen. What patted between you ?

Plunkett. He afk'd me if I knew Mr. Layer?

I told him I did. He then carried me to the

Caftle Tavern in Drury-Lane, where we drank

two Pints of Wine, which he paid for •, after the

Nonjuring Parfon told me he came from Layer,

who gave his Service, and told me that he was

employed by Mr. Layer to go to fuch as I was,

who were old Serjeants, to get a Parcel together

to difcipline Citizens, and other Mob in the

Country.

Mr. Att. Gen. What further pafs'd between

you and Mr. Jeffreys ?

Mr. Ketelbey. I beg leave to object to that

Queftion.

Mr. Att. Gen. If I don't brim 1

; it home to Mr.

Layer, it will fignify nothing..

. L. C. JusJ. Mr. Ketelbey, you know that many
times in Difcourfe it is neceffary to mention In-

troductions, to let in what is material : Whatever

pafs'd between him and Jeffreys, don't affect

your Client.

Mr. Hungerford. It is a conftant Rule, if a

Man fpeaks of a third Perfon's Tranfactions, it

is declared as nothing, and commonly ftop'd from

being given in Evidence.

L. C. Juft. If they begin right, they will give

Evidence in fuch a Method as to be underftood :

By declaring what patted between him and Plun-

kett, the Evidence may be the better under-

ftood.

Mr. Ketelbey. I don't doubt your Lordfhip's

giving Direction right ; but I obferve this, left

fome of the Jury fhould not take it right.

L. C. Juft. Let the Evidence be given in fuch

a manner as may be underftood j what is intro-

ductory goes for nothing, but it is in order to ex-

plain the Evidence.

Mr. Att. Gen. What pafs'd between you and
the Nonjuring Parfon, at the Caftle TaVern ?

Plunkett. He talk'd to me of the fame Sub-
ject:, defiring me to get Men in Readinefs ; he
told me, he had a great many Places to go to

befides me with this Errand, and then we parted.

Another time he came to me, we went to an Ale-
Houfe, to the Cock and Bottle in the Strand, where
he gave me half a Guinea, and faid, there is a
Token, Mr. Layer had fent it me to give me En-
couragement.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. At that Time that Mr.
Layer faid he would fend a MefTenger to you, did
he mention any thing of Money ?

Plunkett. Mr. Layer faid he would fend Money
by the MefTenger to me.

L. C. Juft. You fay he told you, that he would
fend you Money by the MefTenger.

Plunkett. He told me fo.

L. C. Juft. Afterwards you fay, one came to

you as from him, and encouraged you, and gave
you half a Guinea.

Plunkett. He did : I am upon my Oath be*
fore God and Man, I will fay nothing but the
Truth.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Did you receive fcny Mef-
fage from Jeffreys to appoint a Meeting with Mr.
Layer ?

Plunkett. Some Time afterwards I met Mr.
Layer, at eight a-'Clock, at the Caftle Tavern in

Drury-Lane ; there was the Landlord, and Mr.
Layer, who had two Bottles of Wine, and fome
Bread and Cheefe : He would have had me eat,

but I told him I could not eat •, but I drank of
the Winei When he had dilcours'd with me a-

bout the Affair, to encourage me he gave me a
Crown ; I went crofs Lincoln's- Inn-Fields, fo went
home.

Mr. Weft. What did he give you the Crown
for?

Plunkett. To encourage me to lift Men for

the Pretender.

Mr. Att. Gen. Had you any Letter by the

Penny-Poft ?

Plunkett. That Morning Mr. Layer was going
to Norfolk, Plunkett told me Mr. Layer was going
out of Town, and would be glad to fee me. I

went to Mr. Layer, and his Horfes were at the

Door ; he defired me to walk up two Pair of
Stairs forwards, and by the fame Token order'd
his Servant to charge his Blunderbufs in the Room.
Saith Mr. Layer, I have given a Guinea to the
Nonjuring Minifter to give you, to do what Ser-
vice you can ; and when I am abroad^ you may
be fure I fhall not be idle.

Mr. Reeve. Was any Propofal made to an^
other Perfon ?

Plunkett. I brought an old Soldier who had
been in the Service many Years.

Mr. Reeve. What was his Name ?

Plunkett. John Child; I brought him as think-
ing he might have been of Service to them.

L. C. Juft. What was it Mr. Layer faid when
he was going into the Country ?

Plunkett. He told me he would not be idle

there.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What did he defire of you ?

Plunkett. He defired me to fee and get what
Soldiers I could for him : I came to the Nonjuring
Minifter, and told him I had got twenty five.

Then Mr. Layer afk'd me, why I did not bring
a Lift of them, that he might know where their

Habitations were, and that they might be in

Readinefs at the Time. I difputed with Mr.
Layer what they would do for Arms ? No fear

of Arms, faith he ; Arms will be provided for

them. After he returned from the Country to

the Town, this Mr. Plunkett was the firft MefTen-
ger that was fent to me ; he came and told me
Mr. Layer was come to Town ; and this Nonjur-
ing Parfon fent me a Letter by the Penny-Poft ;

Mr. Child was in my Room and read it; the

Contents were, Mr. Layer is come to Town, and
w.ould be very glad to fee you : No more, but your

humble Servant, William Jeffreys. By this I knew
his Name.

Mr. Att. Gen. By this Letter he told you

Mr. Layer would be glad to fee you ; did you go
to him ?

Plunkett. Yes, I went to him.

Mr. Att. Gen. Where ? To his own Houfe ?

Plunkett. Yes, to his own Houfe.

Mr. Att. Gen. What patted between you and

Mr. Layer at that Time ?

Plunkett. I remember at that Time, when I

came to him, he gave me a Guinea with his own

Hand.
Mr.
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Mr. Att. Gen. Who gave it you ?

P/<w»fe«. Mr. Layer, after he came from the

Country, gave it me, and I recommended Mr.

Child to him.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When you recommended

Mr. Child, what did Layer fay ? •

Plunkett. He faid he had no Bufinefs for him.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. For what Purpofe was Child

recommended to Mr. Layer 1
_

Plunkett. I recommended him as an honeit

Man, as one that was well-affected, as he defired

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Upon what Account did

you recommend him ?

Plunkett. Upon the Account to be a Pretender s

Man.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did you ever receive any

Money to give to Child ?

Plunkett. I received half a Guinea from Mr.

Layer to give to Mr. Child.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. For what Purpofe was it ?

Plunkett. For to encourage him in the Service,

to be trufty to him, and to be a Pretender's Man.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. By what Name did he call

the Pretender?

Plunkett. He called him the King.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Had you any Talk with him

any other time ?

Plunkett. The Sunday before he was taken up I

was with him, and he was talking and faying the

King Was as fine a Shooter as any in Europe.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whom did he mean by the

King ?

Plunkett. The Pretender, that he was as fine a

Shooter as any in Europe -, he fhot nineteen out of

twenty : I faid, that was fine (hooting.

Mr. Att. Gen. Where was this Difcourfe ?

Plunkett. In his own Parlour.

Mr. Att. Gen. Can you recollect any other

Difcourfe there was at that Time, befides that of

Shooting ?

Plunkett. Yes, there was ; We talked of thole

Men that Would do Service. I afked him what

Rewards thofe Men, that would do Service for

their King and Country, fhould have -, he told me,

that they, and their Families> were to be for ever

taken Care of.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was there any other Promife

made to you ?

Plunkett. There was no Promife •, only he was

the Man who faid, if I would follow his Direc-

tions, he would promote me ; that he would en-

gage to do great Matters for me ; and what I fuf-

fered in the Army, he would make me Amends
for.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Had you any Difcourfe a-

bout the Difpofition of the Nation ?

Plunkett. He faid',- that moft of the Nation

was tired with the prefent Government •, and he

faid that King George was for ruining of the

Nation.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Had you arty Talk of any

Perfons at Court ?

Plunkett. Yes ; he faid, what fignified the Go-
vernment ; there were but only eight or nine Up-
ftarts that belonged to King George's Court ; that

the ancient Peers of the Realm would not be run

down ; for they fhould be made Slaves, if they

did not prevent it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Had you any Difcourfe any
other Time about the Dutch or the French ?

Plunkett, Yes j I do remember that he faid 3

here is a Dutch Army come in upon this Nation,
and then the French Army will come in, and take
our Rights and Liberties from us : You will keep
a Dutch Army, and it will be to make a War a-

mong our felves.

.
Mr. Serj. Chejhire. What would he have to cure

all this ?

Plunkett. He told me^ that when the Infnr-

rection was, there would be a great many Half-
Pay-Officers as I knew that would be on the Pre-

tender's Side, and efpecially thofe of the Names
of Fitzgerald ; but I never knew any Fitzgerald

Abroad.

Mr. Att. Gen. We have done examining this

Witnefs.

Prifoner. You fay your firft Acquaintance with
me was in Queen-Street, and that Major Barnewell

defired you to affift me, there being an Execution

in my Houfe : Was it not fo ?

Plunkett. Yes.

Prifoner. At the fame time you called me Coun-
fellor Layer ?

Plunkett. Yes ; I came to your Houfe.

Prifoner. Did I employ you ?

Plunkett. Major Barnewell fent me to get a

Couple of Grenadiers, and you ordered your Clerk

to let them in at the Back-door -, and the two Gre-

nadiers, which were confined in the Savoy afterwards

for it* drove the Officers out.

Prifoner: Was it the Landlord of the Houfe's

Goods, or my Goods ?

Plunkett. I cannot tell ; how fhould I know
whether they were yours, or his ? they were in

your Houfe.

Prifoner. You faid it was about five Years before

I faw you in Lincoln's-Inn-Fields.

Plunkett. It was when the Army was broke j

and I came over from Ireland.

Prifoner. Well, you fay, five Years afterwards

I met you in Lincoln's-Inn-Fields, and gave you
half a Crown to drink, I told you my Lord North
and Grey was to be General : That my Lord Straf*

ford was concerned in it.

Plunkett. No, you told me they were Promoters

of it.

Prifoner. Promoters of what ?

Plunkett. Of this Confpiracy.

Prifoner. So you did not know me ? nor I did

not know you.

Plunkett. Yes, you knew me ; therefore, Sir,

faid I, you have an Advantage againft me ; for I

don't know you. Afterwards we met one another

by Accident : Says you, don't tell Plunkett you
met me.

Prifoner. What Plunkett ?

Plunkett. James Plunkett.

Prifoner. Where lives James Plunkett ?

Plunkett. I don't know : However that's not

material.

Prifoner. Did not you come to my Houfe Tome
time after this, and defire me to lend you thirteen

Shillings, upon Account of being Bail in an Action

in the Marfhal's Court ?

Plunkett. That was two Months after : There

was a Soldier which was arretted by a Marfhal's

Court Writ.

Prifoner. And 1 lent you thirteen Shillings in

order to difcharge him ?

Plunkett. Yes, you did.

Prifoner. Did not you afterwards aflc me for

fome Money on Account of Sir Daniel Carrol ?

Plunketf. No,
Prifoner,



270 193* The Trial of C. Layer, Efq; Mich. 9 G.I.

Prifoner. Did not you make a Demand on Sir

Daniel ?

Plunkett. No : I told you my Affairs with Sir

Daniel. You faid you would not meddle yourfelf,

but you would write to him.

Prifoner. Did you not bring a Paper, and fay,

Sir Daniel had agreed to pay you twenty Pounds

when he received his Pay ?

Plunkett. No : I brought no Papers to you.

Prifoner. Did not you tell me, it would be the

greateft Kindnefs in the World to you to advance

twenty Shillings for you ?

Plunkett. I never afked you in the Courfe of my
Life.

Prifoner. Did you never borrow any Money of

me ?

Plunkett. No •, I never borrowed any Money
of you, otherwife than to get Men lifted for the

Pretender.

Prifoner. I (hall fhew that you are a little mif-

taken by and by.

Mr. Hungerford. You faid you was decoyed to

Church ?

Plunkett. Decoyed I I faid it was out of my
Way, when my own Parifh Church was nearer.

Mr. Hungerford. What do you ufe to go to

Church ?

Plunkett. Yes.

Mr. Ketelbey. You fay, the firft time you faw

this James Plunkett, he came to you when your

Wife was in the Room ?

Plunkett. The firft time I faw him, was, when

Mr. Layer releafed Major Barnewell out of the

Marfhalfea.

Mr. Ketelbey. When James Plunkett came to

your Houfe, he took you by the Arm, and told

you, he came from Mr. Layer ; did he tell you

that firft time, he came from Mr. Layer ?

Plunkett. Upon my Oath he did.

Mr. Ketelbey. What Difcourfe had you the firft

Time ? Did he only afk you to go and meet Mr.
Layer ?

Plunkett. He came to me, and defired me to

meet Mr. Layer at the Italian Coffee-Houfe in

Ruffel-Court

.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did James Plunkett talk to you

about lifting Men for the Pretender the firft time

he faw you ?

Plunkett. No -, he only was fent on an Errand

From Mr. Layer.

Mr. Ketelbey. And then you came to the Non-
juring Parfon : The UnjuringParfon, as you call

him : What Difcourfe had you with him ?

Plunkett. The fame Difcourfe paffed between us

about lifting Men.
Mr. Ketelbey. What, the firft time you faw

James Plunkett, and the firft time you faw the

Nonjuring Parfon ?

Plunkett. Becaufe he came From Mr. Layer.

Mr. Ketelbey. So you trufted both of them at

firft Sight, and talked to them about lifting Men
for the Pretender ?

Plunkett. Yes, both talk'd to me.

Mr. Ketelbey. How many times had this Un-
juring Parfon been with you, before you knew his

Name ?

Plunkett. He had been with me two or three

times •, he told me his Name was Jeffreys^ but did

not tell me his Chriftian Name.
L. C. Jusl. Did he tell you his Name was

Jeffreys the firft time ?

Plunked. He told me his Name was Jeffreys,

L. C. Jusl. How long after was it that this

Letter was fent to you by Mr. Jeffreys ?

Plunkett. It was the time when Mr. Layer came
from the Country.

L. C. Just. How long ago was that ?

Plunkett. I believe about ten Months ago: I

mean ten Weeks ago.

Mr. Ketelbey. I would not furprize you ; I

would have you confider you are upon your Oath :

Is it ten Months, or ten Weeks ?

Plunkett. Ten Weeks.
Mr. Ketelbey. How came you to remember the

Contents of the Letter fo exactly ?

Plunkett. I heard it repeated over.

Mr. Ketelbey. Pray repeat it over again.

Plunkett. Mr. Plunkett, Mr. Layer is come to

Town ; Ifhould be very glad to fee you : So I resl

your humble Servant, William Jeffreys.

Mr. Ketelbey. Where is that Letter ?

Plunkett. I don't know ; the Letter is loft.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you remember how long 'tis

fince this Letter was loft ?

Plunkett. Why, I miffed it about two Months
ago, or more.

Mr. Ketelbey. Two Months ago, or more.
How long was it after you received it that you
miffed it ?

Plunkett. I kept the Letter in my Pocket fome
time.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long ?

Plunkett. I believe I had it three Weeks.
Mr. Ketelbey. So that 'tis ten Weeks fince you

received this Letter, two Months fince you loft it

;

you kept it in your Pocket three Weeks : You can

read Writing ?

Plunkett. No, I cannot.

Mr. Ketelbey. What not read Writing ?

Plunkett. No, Sir.

Mr. Ketelbey. How can you be fo patticular as

to the Writing ?

Plunkett. I have heard it read often enough.

Mr. Ketelbey. Who read it to you ?

Plunkett. John Child read it over to me two or

three times.

Mr. Ketelbey. Why, this is mere Romance,
that at twice hearing it read, you can remember
it, the very Words.

Plunkett. I can remember thofe Words to the

beft of my Knowledge.

Mr. Hungerford. How can he tell, when he

cannot read at all ? There is nothing in it : If

one was to all? him, whether you can recite the

Articles of the Creed, I believe he could not do it

;

and yet is fo exact in repeating the Words of this

Letter.

Prifoner. What Countryman are you ?

Plunkett. An Irifhman : You knew that long ago j

you need not afk me that Queftion now.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, we fhall now
proceed, and produce the Plan of this Confpiracy,

which was found among the Papers taken in Mrs.

Mafon's Poffefiion •, and fhall fhew how they

came to be in Mrs. Mafon's Poffefiion j and we
fhall prove this Plan to be Mr. JL^r'sown Hand-
Writing.

John Turner, one of the Meffengers, fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. Look upon thefe Papers.

[Turner looks upon the papers.

Mr. Att. Gen. Do you know any thing of thofe

Papers, and where they were found ?

Turner. My Lord, by Warrant from my Lord

Carteret* Principal Secretary of State, dated the

29 th
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29 th of September laft, I was di retted to fearch

for one Mrs. Mafon and Mrs. Cook, and the very-

fame Day I executed that Warrant. I found out

Mrs. Cook's Houfe in Stone-Cutter's Yard in Little

ghieen-ftreet near Lincoln's-lnn-Fields, and in fearch-

ing the Houfe

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Who lodged there ?

garner. One Mrs. j|&z/2w lodged there : I found

her in the Houfe ; and in her Lodging there was

a Trunk, and being demanded to open the

Trunk
L. C. Jtiff. Was your Warrant to fearch for

both Mrs. Mafon and Mrs. Cook ?

Turner. For both -, and in Mrs. Mafon*s Lodg-

ings there was a Trunk which the other Meffeh-

ger and I demanded to be opened : She opened the

Trunk, and in the Trunk there were two Bundles

of Papers fealed up; which Papers being opened,

this Paper was found amongft them, (meaning the

Plan or Scheme.)

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Look upon it : How do you

know that to be the fame ?

Turner. I know it to be the fame, becaufe I

writ upon*t, I fet my Mark upon it.

Mr. Att. Gen. You fay that thefe Papers were

found in the Trunk, in two Bundles fealed up ?

Turner. Yes.

Mr. Att. Gen, (Shewing the Witnefs another

Paper) Look upon that ; fee if that was in the

fame Bundle with that you laft gave an Account

of?

Turner. Yes, that was in the fame Bundle.

And fo he was examined as to feveral particu-

lar Papers, which he fwore to have been all

found in the two Bundles taken out of Mrs.

Mafon'j Trunk, and that he had fet his

Mark upon them.

Mr. Ketelbey. I beg leave to afk Mr. Turner

a Queftion or two. Mr. Turner, I think you

give a pofitive Account of feveral Papers, what

they are I know not ; of feveral Papers handed

to you from Mr. Paxton. You had a Warrant

to fearch for Mrs. Cook and Mrs. Mafon, and in a

Trunk you found thefe Papers fealed up in a

Bundle.

L. C.JusJ. He faid he' had Directions from

my Lord Carteret, to fearch for Mrs. Cook and

Mrs. Mafon. That he.fearchedMrs. Cook's Houfe,

and found Mrs. Mafon there •, he fees a Trunk in

the Houfe^ in Mrs. Mafon's Lodgings, and he de-

manded the Trunk to 'be opened,' and in the

Trunk is found two Bundles of Papers •, in thefe

Bundles are thefe Papers which have been Ihewn

to the Witnefs. When he is afked how he knew
them to be the fame that were in the Bundle, he

fays, he knows them to be the fame, becaufe he

fet his Mark upon them.

Mr-. Jusl. Fortefcue Aland. Were the Bundles

fealed up?

Turner. Yes, my Lord, they were fealed up
when we took them out of the Trunk.

Mr. Att. Gen. In whofe Lodgings were they

found ? •

Turner. At Mrs. Mafon*s Lodgings, in her Bed-

Chamber.

Mr. Ketelbey. You fay thefe Papers handed to

you, you found in the Trunk in Mrs. Mafon's

Lodgings. Where have they been ever fince ?

How come you to be fo pofitive that thefe Indivi-

dual Papers are the fame Papers that you found in

Mrs. Mafon's Room ?

Turner. I put my Name upon them,

Mr. Ketelbey. Is your Name put upon thofe ?

Turner. Yes, upon each of them at that time.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long were they in you?
Cuftody ?

Turner. About an Hour.

Mr. Ketelbey. Who did you deliver them tOj

when you parted with them ?

Turner. I think, to Mr. Stanyan.

Mr. Ketelbey. 1 afk you, when you put your

Name on each of them, was it before you firft

parted with them ?

Turner. After the Trunk was open, and the

Bundles were opened ; in the Bundles finding

Papers of Confequence, I was directed to go and
fetch Mr. Stanyan as being a Magiftrate, to give

that Perfon her Oath. While I was gone, I de-

livered the Papers into my Brother Meffenger's

Hand, and he figned them. •
,

Mr. Ketelbey, So you only fwear for your Bro-

ther Meffenger. How long after your firft feizing

the Papers was it before you put your Name upon
them ?

Turner. I believe three Quarters of an Hour.

Mr. Ketelbey. Who had you left them with ?

Turner. I left them with this Man, my Brother

Meffenger.

Mr. Ketelbey. You left them with your Brother

Meffenger before you fet your Mark upon them ;

how comes it that you are fure they are the fame ?

How can you fwear they are the fame, when you

went away and left them in your Brother Meffen-

ger's Hands, and did not fet your Name upon

them, till you returned ?

Mr. Soil. Gen. You fay thefe Papers were feized

in Mrs. Mafon's Lodgings, and that fhe. was by 9

and unlocked the Trunk, and you took out the

two Bundles.

Turner. Yes.

Mr. Att. Gen. You fay you delivered the fame

Papers to this Perfon here ?

Turner. Yes, Sir.

Prifoner. Mr. Turner, in Mrs. Mafon's Lodgings

you fay you feized two Bundles of Papers fealed

up ?

burner. Yes. '

Prifoner. When Mrs. Mafon had them locked

up, were they then fealed up ?

Turner. They were then fealed up.

Prifoner. Did not the Seals appear to have

been broke open ?

Turner. No.
Prifoner. You faw two Bundles ?

Turner. Yes.

Prifoner. You faw this Paper, and that} and

all the Papers taken out of the Bundles. What
Bundle was this Paper in ? (Meaning the Plan or

Scheme.)

Turner. This was in the fame Bundle.

Prifoner. Was there a fmall Bundle, and a great

Bundle ?

burner. Yes.; there were two Bundles.

Prifoner. And this was out of one of the

Bundles ?

Turner. Out of the fmall Bundle.

Prifoner. Did you fee them taken out of the

Bundle ?

Turner. I can't fay that.

Mr. Hungerford. If I obferve that Paper or

Bundle right, it is one that confifts of feveral

Sheets of Paper ; I defire he may hold it in hi*

Hand, till we have done examining of him.

Mr. KetelUy. Mr. Turner^ that confifts of

more
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more Sheets than one •, did you fign your Name
to each Leaf, or only to the firft and the laft Leaf

of the Book ?

Turner. I fign'd my Name to each Sheet,

Edward Speare, fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Speare, Did you go with

Mr. Turner to feize any Papers at Mrs. Cook's

Houfe ?

Speare. Yes j I did.

Mr. Att. Gen. Give an Account of what you

know of feizing any Papers there.

Speare. My Lord, by a Warrant directed to

us from my Lord Carteret, Mr. burner and I

were to feize Mrs. Cook and Mrs. Ma/on ; and

fearching Mrs. Cook's Houfe, I found Mrs. Ma/on

there. At Mrs. Cook's I found no Papers in the

firft Room ; I proceeded irrto a fecond Room,

where there was a Trunk, which I ordered to be

opened, and I took two Parcels out of it ; one of

'em was feal'd with three Seals, which I looked at •,

they did not appear to have been open'd and feal'd

up again. I open'd them, and mark'd them.

Mr. Att. Gen. Who was by ?

Speare. Mrs. Mafon was.

Mr. Att. Gen. Was fhe there when you open'd

them ?

Speare. She was by when they were open'd.

Mr. Att. Gen. Look upon them, are they

the fame Papers ?

Speare. I have Jook'd upon them, and know
them to be the fame.

Mr. Att. Gen. Are thofe the Papers that were

taken out of the Trunk ?

Speare. The very Papers.

Mr. Att. Gen. In whofe Room were they taken ?

Speare. In Mrs* Majon's Room.
Mr. Serj. Che/hire. Where they ever out of

your Cuftody, till you mark'd them ?

Speare. No, Sir.

Mr. Soil. Gen. During the Time that Turner,

your Brother Meffenger, was gone for Mr. Sta-

nyan, who had the Cuftody of the Papers ?

Speare. I had the Cuftody of them.

Mr. SoU. Gen. Were any of them taken away,

or was there any Alteration in, or Addition to

them, during that Time ?

Speare. No, Sir.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Do you remember that

Mr. Turner fet his Name upon them ?

Speare. Yes, he did.

L. C. Jujl. How long after your Brother Mef-

fenger returned back to you, was-k before you

kt your Name upon them ?

Speare. Immediately, my Lord.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long did you ftay in the

Place after the Return of Turner ?

Speare. I believe I might ftay there an Hour,

or an Hour and an half.

Mr. Ketelbey. When did you firft part with

the Papers out of your Cuftody ?

Speare. I gave them to Mr. Stanyan.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long after you firft feized

thofe two Bundles was it before Mr. Stanyan came

to you ?

Speare. I believe about half an Hour, or three

Quarters of an Hour.

Mr. Ketelbey. What, did you deliver them to

Mr. Stanyan then ?

Speare. After Mr. Turner and I had fign'd

them, I deliverd them to Mr. Stanyan.

Mr. Ketelbey. Was it not before you fign'd them ?

Speare. No, upon my Oath.

Mrs. Elizabeth Mafon fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mrs. Mafon, Give an Account
of what you know of thefe Papers ?

Mrs. Mafon. Mr. Layer left two Parcels of
Papers with rne : He told me they were of the

Value of 500 /. He afterwards took them away
from me ; and afterwards brought them to me
again.

Mr. Serj. ChefJjire. You fay, he dcliver'd two
Bundles hrft ?

Mrs. Mafon. No ; he delivei'd only one, and
that was the largeft Bundle : He told me it was
of the Value of 500 /. and defired me to take
care of it, and lock it up.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. When was the leffer Bundle
deliver 'd to you ?

Mrs. Mafon. Some time after ; and after that,

he took them away from me ; and in four or five

Days time he brought them to me again: He
took them away, and brought them to me again,

and told me they were a few Love-Letters ; and
begg'd of me not to let Mrs. Cook know it, for

fhe would make aDifturbance, and. tell his Wife.
Mr. Serj. Chejhire. When had you the leffer

Bundle ?

Mrs. Mafon. I had that fome time after.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. What Directions had you
with the little Bundle ?

Mrs. Mafon. He defired me to take the fame
Care of that, as of the other.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Was that feal'd up ?

Mrs. Mafon. They were both feal'd.

Mr. Serj. Cheffnre. Where did you put them?
Mrs. Mafon. I put them into my Trunk.
Mr. Serj. Chefhire. After this ; you know when

the Meffengers came?
Mrs. Mafon. Before that, he came one Day

in the Afternoon to our Houfe, and ask'd where
I was. It was the Beginning of Bartholomew-tide.

I was not at home : He left a Meffage for me,
that I fhould bring thofe Writings home. I car-

ried them home.
Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Home ! What do you

mean by Home ?

Mrs. Mafon. Mr. Layer's own Houfe : He
left word, that he wou'd be at home by eight a-

Clock that Night. I was there about eight a-

Clock : I asked the Maid where he was ? She faid

he was in the Back-Parlour. I asked her if any
body was with him ? She faid, there were two
Gentlemen. Said I, tell your Mafter that I am
here.

L. C. Jujl. You fay the great Bundle was taken

from you again, and afterwards he brought the

leffer Bundle ; and after this you received a Mef-
fage, or Intimation, that you fhou'd bring home
that Bundle.

Mrs. Mafon. My Lord, I had two Bundles.

He left Word, that I fhould bring his Papers

Home ; for he ftaid at Home 'till eight a-Clock

that Night. I went to his Houfe : And when I

knock'd at the Door, the Maid came to the Door.
I asked her, if her Mafter was within ? fhe told

me, yes ; he was in the Back-Parlour ; and that

there was a Gentleman or two with him. I de-

fir'd her to go and tell her Mafter that I was
there. And he came out to me; and I gave him
the Writings ; and he defir'd me to come again

the next Morning ; which was on a Saturday, a-

bout eleven a-Clock, for he was going out of
Town : And that I would come and take thofe

Writings again. Which accordingly I did. It

was
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was in the Morning, at the Time that the Bell

was ringing at Lincoln*s-Inn Chapel, when I

went to him, and he delivered me the Papers

again.

It was the Beginning of Bartho-

Mr. Soil. Gen. Can you recollect the Day that

he left Word for you to come to him ?

Mrs. Ma/on.

lomew-tide.

Mr. Soil. Gen. What Day of the Week was it ?

Mrs. Mafon. It was on a Friday Night that I

went and carried them to his Houie.

Mr. Soil. Gen. And when was it that he

defired you would come and call for them a-

gain ?

Mrs. Mafon. It was the next Morning at eleven

a-Clock, or near the matter, that I went to his

Houfe ; and he gave me the Writings again, and

charged me to take Care of them.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. What was you to do with

them ?

Mrs. Mafon. To take Care of them.

Mr. Serj. Cbejhire. Did you meddle with them,

or open them ?

Mrs. Mafon. No, Sir ; I put them in my
Trunk : They lay there all the time.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Were they there when the

Officers came ?

Mrs. Mafon. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Serj. Cbejhire. Was you there when the

Bundles were opened ?

Mrs. Mafon. I was there.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Did you mark the Papers

yourfelf ?

Mrs. Mafon. I did.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Look upon the Papers, and

fee if you find your Mark on thofe Papers ?

Mrs. Mafon. Yes, this is my Mark.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Mr. Speare, you was prefent

at the opening of them ?

Mr. Speare. I was : They were fealed up when
I opened them.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Did you put your Name on

them ?

Mr. Speare. I did put my Name on them.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Were they out of your Cufto-

dy before you put your Name on them ?

Mr. Speare. No, they were not.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. Did Mr. Turner put his

Name to them ?

Mr. Speare. He put his Name to them, before

ever they were out of my Cuftody.

Mr. Att. Gen. You have marked all thofe Pa-

pers. You are fure thofe are the Papers you took

out of the Trunk in Mrs. Mafcn's Lodgings ?

Mr. Speare. I am fure they are.

Mr. Att. Gen. Shew them to Mrs. Mafon. Mrs.

Mafon, were thofe Papers in the Bundles that were
delivered to you by Mr. Layer ?

Mrs. Mafon. Yes, Sir ; they were.

Mr. Att. Gen. You have marked thofe Papers,

have you not ?

Mrs. Mafon. Yes, I have.

Mr. Soil. Gen. You faid, you gave the Bundles
back to Mr. Layer on a Friday, about the Begin-
ning of Bartholomew-tide : Do you remember
whether it was upon Bartholomew Day or not ?

Mrs. Mafon. Indeed I don't know.
Mr. Soil. Gen. What did Mr. Layer fay when

you brought them to him again ?

Mrs. Mafon. He only thanked me •, and de-

fired me to come the next Day and take them from
him again : Which I did,
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Mr. Soil. Gen. Did he mention then, that he was

going out of Town ?

Mrs. Mafon. Yes : And it was about eleven

a-Clock on a Saturday Morning that I went to him>
and he delivered the Papers to me again.

Mr. Hungerford. Can you write ?

Mrs. Mafon. No.
Mr. Hungerford. Have you made the fame Mark

on all thofe Papers ?

Mrs. Mafon. I was fo frightned at that Time,
that I hardly knew what Mark I made.

Mr. Hungerford. If you was frightned at that

time, and did not know what Mark you made,
how can you be fure you know your Mark again ?

Mrs. Mafon. Yes, I can tell it very well.

Mr. Hungerford. When you fay you was fo

frighted you did not know what Mark you made ?

Mrs. Mafon. Yes, fure I do.

Mr. Hungerford. Upon the Oath you have taken^

hath any Body feen thofe Papers before they were
taken by the Meffengers ; whether Sir John Meres,

or his Man Thomas hath feen them ?

Mrs. Mafon. No.
Mr. Ketclbey. Nor his Man Thomas ?

Mrs. Mafon. No, nor his Man Thomas.

Mr. Ketelbey. I afk you, can you write or can

you read Writing ?

Mrs. Mafon. I told you I can't.

Mr. Ketelbey. You only can make your mark ?

Mrs. Mafon. No.
Mr. Ketelbey. Do you only make but one

mark, or ufe feveral marks ?

Mrs. Mafon. I make but one mark.
Mr. Ketelbey. Pray make the mark you gene-

rally ufe ? With Submiffion, my Lord, I defire fhe

may have a Pen and Ink to fee if fhe can make
the fame mark again.

Mr. Hungerford. Surely we are regular in de-

firing that ?

L. C. Jusl. What you defire is proper. She

fays fhe knows them to be the fame Papers, be-

caufe fhe hath fet her Mark upon them ; they

doubt whether fhe may miftake in her Mark,

and defire fhe may make her Mark again.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, we defire fhe may
make her mark again.

Mr. Soil. Gen. We defire fhe may have a con-

venient Place to do it inland that fhe may fit down
while fhe writes ?

Mrs. Mafon. No, I can doit without. (A Pen

and Ink and Paper is given to her, and fhe fets her

Mark an E and an M.)

Mr. Soil. Gen. Here are the Letters E and M
fet to the Papers produced ; and tho' in this Con-

fufion fhe fhould not make her Letters exactly

like thofe, yet I apprehend that would weigh very

little.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, I can't tell what they

mean ? this doth not depend

Mr. Ketelbey, My Lord, I defire to go on with

our Queftions. I afk you

L. C. Jusl. (Having compared the Letters made

by Mrs. Mafon in Court, with thofe on the Papers)

The Character which fhe now writes is like what

fhe writ on thofe Papers, and fo confirms her E-

vidence.

Mr. Ketelbey. After the delivery of thofe two

Bundles to you by Mr. Layer, I afk you whether

Sir John Meeres's Man Thomas ever faw thofe

Bundles opened ?

Mrs. Mafon. No, he never was up in my Room ;

there was no fuch Familiarity between us.

N n Mr. Ketelbey.
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Mr. Ketelbey. Did bntWilfon ever fee them ?

Mrs. Ma/on. No.
Mr. Ketelbey. Did ever you produce them to

one Binks ?

Mrs. Mafon. No.
Prifoner. No : Nor did Sir J^» Meeres's Man

'Thomas never fee them ?

Mrs. Mafon. No, never upon my Oath.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did you ever produce them feal-

ed up ? Did you ever let Thomas or William, or Sir

7^« Meeres himielf fee either of thofe Bundles as

they were fealed up ?

Mrs. Mafon. No, they were in my Trunk : I

always kept them in my Trunk 5 perhaps as I

opened my Trunk, they might fee them lie in my
Trunk.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you know one Mrs. Buda?
Mrs. Mafon. No : I don't know the Name. I

don't know one Mrs. Buda.

Prifoner. Did you ever know one Mrs. Herbert ?

Mrs. Mafon. I know many of that Name.

Prifoner. Did you ever go by that Name ?

Mrs. Mafon. No.
Prifoner. Did you ever go by the Name of

Corbet ?

Mrs. Mafon. No.
Prifoner. Did you ever go by the Name of

Sevan ?

Mrs. Mafon. No
$

I never did go by the Name
of Bevan.

L. C. Just. Mr. Ketelbey, I don't know what
the Meaning of this Examination is ; when it ap-

pears beyond Contradiction, that this Woman was

-an Acquaintance of your Client's.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, if we prove her to be

an ill Woman, I hope it will take off her Credit

fo that her Evidence will not weigh with your

Lordfhip, or the Jury.

L. C. Juft. At the Time when thefe Bundles

were feized, had they Mr. Layer's Seal upon them ?

Mrs. Mafon. Yes, the Seal of Mr. Lawyer was

upon them.

L.C. JusJ. What fays the Meffenger? At the

Time that you feized thefe two Bundles of Papers,

was there any Seal upon them ?

Meffenger. There were three Seals upon one,

and ibme Seals upon the other; the Seal was fome-
thing of a fmall Head.

L. C. Juft. What is Mr. Layer's Seal ?

Mrs. Mafon. Something of a Head, but I can't

tell what Head.
Mr. Ketelbey. Do you know Mr. Layer's Seal ?

Mrs. Mafon. It is fomething of a Head.
Mr. Ketelbey. Was it the Reprefentation of a

Man's Head, or the Head of a Bead ?

Mrs. Mafon. It is a Head, with fomething of a
Ruff about it.

L. C. Juft. Mrs. Mafon, look upon the Head

:

Is that Head the Seal of Mr. Layer ?

Mrs. Mafon. Yes : Upon my Oath it is.

L. C. Juft. What fays the Meffenger : Was
that Seal of a Head upon them, when you feized

them ?

Meffenger. Yes, it was.

Mr. Ketelbey. Before that Time that the two
MefTengcrs came, Mr. Turner and Mr. Speare,

and feized the Papers, and afterwards one of them
went for Mr. Stanyan ; I afk you, whether you had
fhewn thofe Bundles to any Body before that

Time ?

Mrs. Mafon. No ; I had fhewn them to no Body.
Mr. Att. Gen. She hath faid fo two or three

Times before.

L. C. Juft. Indeed, Mr. Ketelbey, we muft di-

rect you not to fpend the Time of the Court fb.

You have afked her that Queftion two or three

Times over.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, I would very fain have
the Truth come out.

Mr. Hungerford. I will afk you a Queftion or
two. What Trade or Bufinefs do you follow ?

What is your Trade or Occupation ?

Mrs. Mafon. What is that to you ? I have no
Trade.

Mr. Hungerford. I fhould have afk'd you another
Queftion before-, have you not a Promife of Re-
ward for the Service you do here, in giving this

Evidence ?

Mrs. Mafon. No, I have not.

Prifoner. Nor you have received none ?

Mrs. Mafon. No: You are anunjuftMan.
L. C. Juft. Are you promifed any Reward !

Why don't you afk her whether fhe is to fwear
for Hire ? Is that a proper Queftion to afk a
Witnefs ?

Mr. Ketelbey. I fubmit it to your Lordfhip,
whether it is not proper to afk her this Queftion ;

Whether fhe hath not told any Perfon, and whom,
that fhe was to have a Reward for coming hither ?

Prifoner. The Queftion is, Whether fhe hath
never owned and confeffed to any Body, that thefe

Papers were opened before a Friend of hers, be-
fore the Meffenger feized them ?

Mrs. Mafon. No, my Lord, I never did. I

never opened them before any body.

Mr. Att. Gen. They have afked you what
Names you went by ; do you know what Names
the Prifoner at the Bar has gone by ?

Mrs. Mafon. He had once given me Orders,
that if any Letter came directed in the Name of
Fountaine, that I fhould take it in ; accordingly

in two or three Days Time, there came a Letter,

directed to Mr. Fountaine, and I took it in ; and
when he came, I gave it to him, and he opened
it, and read it.

Prifoner. Where is your Houfe ?

Mrs. Mafon. Where ! Where you left the

Writings.

Prifoner. How can you tell how that Letter

was directed, which you took in, fince you fay

you cannot Read ?

Mrs. Mafon. It was directed to Mr. Fountaine:

Prifoner. Did you read the Superfcription ?

Mrs. Mafon. No ; Mrs. Cook did.

L. C. Juft. You fay you was defired by Mr.
Layer, when any Letter came directed to Mr.
Fountaine, to take it in ; and that a Letter came
directed to Mr. Fountaine;, and you took it in,

The Queftion is afked you, fince you cannot read,

how could you tell it was directed to Mr. Foun-

taine .?

Mrs. Mafon. My Landlady told me it was for

Mr. Fountaine, and fhe knew he went by the

Name of Fountaine fometimes.

Prifoner. She faid fhe read it.

Mrs. Mafon. No •, I faid I gave it to you, and
you opened it, and you read it.

L. C. Juft. The Occafion of this Queftion is^

that this Mifnomer was approved of by you. She
fays that you order'd her, that if any Letter came
directed to Mr. Fountaine, fhe fhould take it in -

%

a Letter did come directed fo, fhe took it in*

and then delivered it to you ; and you receiv'd it

from her, and opened and read it ; but how, fay

they, could you know this Letter was directed

to
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o Mr. Fountaine, when you can neither write nor

r
ead ? She having received fuch an Order, when

*here was a Letter come, it was natural enough,

rhat fhe that could not read, mould afk her Land-

lady the Directions of the Letter, and it was di-

rected for Fountaine ; it was natural enough for her

to take it in, and give it to you.

Who brought the Letter ?

Mrs. Mafon. A Porter.

L. C. Juft. Did he fay from whence he came ?

Mrs. Mafon. He told me he came from the

Bitch-Side, and alk'd me if Mr. Fountaine lodg'd

there.

Mr. Hungerford. This Trunk that the Papers

were in, did it ule to be kept open, or was it

lock'd up ?

Mrs. Mafon, It was always lock'd up.

Mr: Doyley fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Doyley, do you know Mr.

Layer ; and how long have you known him ?

Doyley. I have known him about feventeen

or eighteen Years ; he was my Clerk ; 'tis there-

abouts, I believe.

Mr. Att. Gen. Do you know his Writing ?

Mr. Doyley. I believe I do.

Mr. Att. Gen. Look upon that Paper. (He is

(hruun the Scheme.)

Mr. Att. Gen. Do you take that to be his

Hand?
Doyley. If you afk me as to my Belief, I be-

lieve it is.

Mr. Att. Gen. Have you often feen him write ?

Doyley, Yes, Sir.

Mr. Att. Gen. Have you feen him write fince

he left your Service ?

Doyley. I have had feveral Letters from him,

fince he was my Clerk.

Mr. Att. Gen. Look upon that Paper; can

you fwear that you believe that is his Hand-
Writing ?

Doyley. I have feen the Paper before, and I

do believe it to be his Hand-Writing.

Prifoner. Have you feen me write any thing

but my Name thefe fourteen Years ?

Doyley. I can't particularly recollect whether I

have or no.

Prifoner. How long is it fince I was your Clerk ?

Doyley. About fourteen or fifteen Years.

Prifoner. Have you feen me write fince ?

Doyley. I can't fay I have, or I have not.

L. C. Juft. How long is it fince you received

any Letters from him ?

Doyley. About five Years ago.

L. C. Juft. How do you know thofe Letters

came from him ?

Doyley. Becaufe he was my Client, and writ to

me about Bufinefs ; and I anfwered thofe Letters,

^nd did the Bufinefs that he defired me to do by

thofe Le;:?r?f

L. C. Juft. Did he pay you for that Bufinefs

done?

Doyley- Yes, very honourably.

Prifoner. You fay you don't remember you

have feen me write fince I came from you ; as to

that Paper which you fay you believe to be my
Hand, have you compar'd it with thofe Letters ?

Doyley, I have.

Prifoner. Is that what you found your Belief

upon ?

Doyley. That is what I chiefly found my Belief

upon

.

Prifoner. Confider, Mr. Doyley, my Life is

Vol. VI.
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at Stake, and you fay you have not feeii me write

thefe fourteen Years ?

Doyley. I don't know that I have.

Prifoner. Have you any of my Letters in Court?
Doyley. I have not your Letters in Court.

Prifoner. You fay, you found your Belief only
by Comparifon of thofe Letters. Now I wifh you
had brought thofe Letters here.

Mr. Att. Gen. He doth not fay fo.

Doyley. If you had defir'd it, I cou'd have
have brought 'em.

Prifoner. I defir'd it! I little thought to have
feen you here on fuch an Occafion.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Doyley, I afk you, if you
had no Dealings with him fince he was out of his

Clerkfhip ?

Doyley. Yes, I was his Agent.

L. C. Juft. Whofe Name is fubferibed to thofe

Letters ?

Doyley. Chriftopher Layer's.

L C. Juft. You did the Bufinefs mentioned in

thofe Letters ; and he honourably paid you for it?

Doyley. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. Juft. I fuppofe, in your time, that you

will fhew that other People writ Letters in your

Name ?

Mr. Ketelbey. You fay, you believe that Paper

to be Mr. Layer's Hand-writing. And if I did

not mifunderftand^-you, I took it down in Writ-

ing, you founded your Belief on the comparing

that Writing with the Letters which you receiv'd ?

Doyley. I faid, I chiefly founded my Belief

upon fuch Comparifon of Hands.

Mr. Ketelbey. That you chiefly did fo ; and you

have not thofe Letters here in Court, on which

you chiefly founded this Belief.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Mr. Doyley, I think you fay

you have feen him write feveral Times ?

Doyley. I don't remember that I have feen him
write thefe fourteen Years.

Mr. Soil. Gen. During the Time he was your

Clerk, you have feen him write?

Doyley. Yes ; he was but two Years with me

:

He had been Clerk with Mr. before.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Then he had been us'd to Bufi-

nefs before he came to you ; and had form'd his

Hand.
Mr. Hungerford. How old was he when he was

your Clerk?

Doyley. Indeed I don't know.
Mr. Hungerford. You form your Belief upon

the Remembrance you have of what was his Hand-

writing fourteen or fifteen Years ago?

L. C. Juft. You fay, you have received Letters

fubferibed by his Name five Years ago ?

Doyley. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. Juft. Was the Character of thofe Letters

that you receiv'd five Years ago, agreeable to the

Characters that he writ when he was your Clerk ?

Doyley. Yes, my Lord.

L. C. Juft. Then I afk you upon the whole, whe-

ther you believe it to be his Hand-writing, or not ?

Doyley. Yes, I do believe it to be his Hand.

Prifoner. Since my unhappy Circumftances,

have you had no Promife of being reftoredto your

Place again, or the Promife of fome other Office

or Place ?

Doyley. No ; I never, to my Knowledge, have

feen one Man that had the Power to put me

in my Place again; nor ever converfed with

any one Great Man upon that or any fuch

Affair. m .

N n 2 Mr. Serj,
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Mr. Serj. Pcngelly. We think we are entitled

to read it: However, that there may be no Dif-

pute, we dcfire to call Mr. Delafaye and Mr.

Stanyan, in whofe Prefence the Prilbner at the Bar,

confefs'd it to be his Hand-Writing.

Mr. Delefaye was fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengetty. Sir, was that Paper fliewn

to the Prifonerat the Bar?

Mr. Delafaye. I was not near enough when

he was before the Lords of the Council, to fee

what was on the Table ; neither did I look upon

the Table, to fee whether this Paper was on it or

not. But upon a Queftion that was ask'd him

relating to fome Arms, if he knew where any

were lodg'd in fuch a Place, he faid no : Upon
which, one of the Lords of the Council held up

a Paper ; it might be this, for I ought I know ;

and faid, here is your own Paper, your own
Hand-writing •, which fays, Arms that are there

lodged; fays he, I mould have writ Arms that

fhould be there lodged.

L. C. JiiSf. Whether is that the Paper or no,

and did he own that Paper that was then fhewn

to be his ?

Mr. Delafaye. The Queftion was not ask'd, is

this your Paper and your Hand-Writing? But it

was fhewn to him as fuch ; and he faid, I fhouid

have wrote Arms that fhould be there lodg'd.

Mr. Stanyan, fworn.

Mr. Att, Gen Mr. Stanyan, do you remem-

ber whether this Paper was fhewn to the Prifoner

at the Bar, or any Queftions ask'd him about it,

when he was before the Lords of the Council ?

Mr. Stanyan. Upon the Queftion that was

afk'd him about the Arms, this Paper was fhewn

him •, I think this is the Paper : I was nearer to

the Table than Mr. Delafaye, and did obferve

this Paper to lie upon the Table before the Lords,

and do take this to be the individual Paper that

was fhewn him then.

Mr. Att. Gen. What was faid to him at that

time ?

Mr. Stanyan. The Queftion was ask'd him,

what he knew of any Arms that were lodg'd in

Wettminfier? He faid, he knew of none. Then
this Paper was fhewn to him, and a Queftion was

afk'd him ; here the Arms are faid to be lodg'd

in this Scheme of your own Hand-writing: how
came you to write fo, if there be no Arms lodg'd ?

Mr. L«yer faid, it was a miftake : It was not in^

tended Arms that are there lodg'd, but Arms
that fhould be there lodg'd. He faid, I fhou'd

have writ Arms that fhou'd be lodg'd, inftead of

Arms that are lodg'd.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. The Queftion was concern-

ing a Paper of his own Hand- Writing ?

Mr. Stanyan. Yes, it was concluded, that the

Paper was of his own Hand-Writing, and he did

not deny it.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did he fay it was not his own
Hand-Writing?

Mr. Stanyan. No, he did not.

Mr. Ketelbey. Was the Queftion ask'd, whether

that Paper was his Hand-writing or no ?

Mr. Stanyan. No, I believe not.

Mr. Ketelbey. Then if there was no Queftion

afk'd, whether did he own it to be his Hand-
Writing, or no ?

Mr. Stanyan. He did not exprefly own it to be

his Hand-Writing.
Mr. Att. Gen. He was not afk'd that Queftion,

whether it was his Hand-Writing, or no?

Mr. Stanyan. No, Sir.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. He did not deny it to be his

own Hand-Writing?
Mr. Stanyan. No, Sir.

Mr. Wtft. Whether the Lords in their Queftion
did ftate it fo, as taking it for his own Hand-
Writing ?

Mr. Stanyan. It was taken for granted that it

was fo, and he made no Offer to deny it.

Prifoner. Pray, Sir, let me afk you one Que-
ftion about the Arms? When I was asfk'd, if

there were any Arms lodg'd, did I not anfwer in

the Negative, and faid, No ?

Stanyan. Yes.

Prifoner. In relation to the Arms, you fay,

that I faid Arms that fhould have been lodg'd ?

Stanyan. That was upon the Lords afking

you, to explain that part of the Scheme relating

to Arms; and when you faid you knew of no
Arms that were lodg'd, then faid they, how
come you to mention in this Scheme of your
own Hand-Writing, Arms that are lodg'd ? To
which you anfwer'd, I fhould have writ Arms that

fhou'd be lodg'd.

Prifoner. When I was afk'd, why I did fay

Arms that are lodg'd ? Why, faith I, my Lords,
I know of no Arms. If that was my Paper, and
I had writ it, I fhould have writ Arms that fhou'd

be lodg'd.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, we pray that the Pa-
pers may be read.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, we hope that thefe

Papers, (tho' for my Part I know not what they
are ; for there is no Hint of them in my Brief)

fhall not be read, for this Reafon ; the Evidence
which hath been given for the King, hath not
brought them home to the Prifoner. There is

no legal Proof that the Papers are of his Hand-
writing ; and confequently he cannot be affected

by any thing that is in them. As to what is faid

of the Likenefs of Hands, that we humbly hope
is no Evidence at all. The firfb Witnefs, Mr.
Doyley, he hath faid it is like his Hand; but he
gives that Opinion of his, on the Knowledge he
had of the Prifoner's Hand fourteen Years ago

;

and by fbme Letters he received from him about

five Years fince. Men's Hands may differ and
vary even in five, much more in fourteen Years.

What follows is the Evidence that hath been
given by the Gentlemen belonging to the Secreta-

taries Office.

I perfonally know them to be Gentlemen of
good Senfe, Integrity and Honour, and for my
part I believe every Word they fay ; which is more
than I can fay of the other Witneffes hitherto

produced. But what thefe fay, doth not, with

Submiffion affect the Prifoner : They were pre-

fent when the Prifoner was examin'd before the

Lords of the Council ; none of them heard the

Prifoner acknowledge that the Papers were writ

by him, or that he did own them as his ; neither

was he asked any Queftion to that Purpofe ; nei-

ther did the nature of the Examination my Lords

of the Council were then upon, lead them to fuch

a Queftion : The Lords were not afking Mr. Layer

Queftions to fix an Evidence upon himfelf. But

the Lords having fome Papers before them, and,

according to the Duty of their high Stations,

being intent upon difcovering what might be of

Danger to his Majefty and the Public; they

afk'd Mr. Layer, where the Arms were depofited

at Weflminfier ? He anfwers, that he knew of none

there,,
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there, or to that Purpofe. It cannot in Law or

Reafon be from hence inferr'd, that he did own

the Papers to be of his own Hand-Writing. The

only Evidence therefore which can be lnfifted on

to entitle thefe Papers to be read, is the Evidence

of Likenefs of Hand, which is no Evidence

at all in a criminal Cafe.

In my Lady Can's Cafe, it was not alWd
to be Evidence ; and yet that was not a Capital

Cafe, but a Cafe of Mifdemeanor only, it was

Perjury. But there is an Authority beyond all

that ; we have the Act of Parliament for the

Reve'rfal of the Attainder of Colonel Sidney,

who had been convicted upon Evidence given of

the Similitude of Hands, and that a much ftrong-

er Proof than what appears here ; for Cook^ and

Cary, two famous Goldi'miths, fwore they believ'd

the treafonable Libel laid to Colonel Sidney to be

writ by him ; and afligned that for a Reafon of

their Belief, for that they had received feveral

Bills from him of the like Hand-Writing, which

they conftantly paid. Nay, one of the Goldfmiths

fwore, ("as I remember the TryalJ that he faw

the Colonel write a Receipt. Some other Cafes

of this Nature might be quoted, but we depend

upon the Authority of my Lady Carr's Cafe,

and the Act for reverfing the Attainder of Co-

lonel Sidney, which is inftar omnium ; for in that

Aft the Reafon affign'd for reverfing the At-

tainder, is, for that the Conviction and At-

tainder was found upon a Similitude of Hands.

We have an attefted Copy of the Act here ready

to be read. In Confequence of this Act, my
Lord, Similitude of Hands is never to be given

as Evidence in a criminal Cafe: And therefore

we humbly hope, that this Paper is not fo prov'd,

as to be read in any Court, but muft be reject-

ed: It is not proved to be his Hand by any that

ever faw him write •, neither hath any body heard

him own it to be his.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, I beg Leave to fay

a few Words in Support of this Objection. We
don't know what is the Purport of this Paper. I

dare fay, Mr. Hungerford, as well as my felf,

hath not feen one Tittle relating to it whatfoever ;

but I hope, for the Sake of Evidence, the fa-

cred and eternal Rule of Evidence, that fimili-

tude of Hands fhall not go for Proof, where a

Perfon is charged with a Capital Offence. We
fhall in due time endeavour to lay before the

Court feveral material Objections to the Credit

offome of the Witneffes; but at prefent we muft

fuppofe them unexceptionable, and confider, with

refpect to this fingle Point, whether this Paper

is fufficiently proved to be his Hand- Writing,
fo as to be read. Mrs. Mafon and the MefTengers

have endeavour'd, by a jumbling Evidence, to

prove the Identity of the Papers, and to hand

them down from one to another : But how do

they appear to be of the Prifoner's Hand-Writ-
ing ? Mr. Doyley fays, fourteen or fifteen Years

ago he was his Clerk ; that five Years ago he

receiv'd Letters from him; and that he chiefly

founded his Opinion that it was the Prifoner's

Hand-Writing, becaufe he had compared it with

thofe Letters, and that the Hands were alike :

And yet thofe Letters with which he compar'd

this Paper, he hath not in Court to produce.

This is the Subftance of Doyley's Evidence.

My Lord, I humbly infift, that this is not

fufficient ; and if comparifon of Hands was to

be Evidence, furely this would not do, unlefs he
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produced thofe Papers, on which he owns he
founded his Opinion. I refer it to the Jury, whe-
ther he may not poflibly, nay probably make an
erroneous Judgment. Shall a Man be believ'd

out of his Life, becaufe the Witnefs faw him
write fifteen Years ago, and received Letters from
him five Years ago ? Is any thing more change-

able than a Man's Hand-Writing ? Can either of
you Gendemen, take upon you to fay what is or

is not your Writing after fo great a Length of
Time ? Would not the different Subjects, the one
a common Letter of Bufinefs, the other a trea-

fonable Scheme, make a fenfible Variation even in

a Man's ufual Character ?

The Cafe of my Lady Carr is reported in Si-

derfin, fo. 419. and was upon an Indictment of

Perjury, an Offence of a much lower Nature

that what this Gentleman is now tried for : There
a Witnefs fwore he believed the Paper produced

in Court to be her Hand-Writing, yet it did not

amount to fuch a Proof as to make her guilty

:

Nay, the Court faid exprefly, that it was not

Evidence, and fhould not be admitted ; and ac-

cordingly fhe was acquitted. But the higheft Au-
thority is what Mr. Hungerford hath named, the

Act of Parliament for the Reverfal of the At-

tainder of Col. Sidney ; and we have a Witnefs

here ready, that examined it with the Record,

that proves it to be a true Copy. Algernoon Sid1

ney, was attainted of High-Treafon by fimilitude

of Hands; and that was the Reafon of the Reverfal*

The two next WitnefTes are Mr. Delefaye and

Mr. Stanyan, Gentlemen of Honour, and that

would not ftrain a Point upon any Account what-

foever. Mr. Delafaye doth not know whether

this Paper was on the Table^ when Mr. Layer

was examined before the Lords of the Council,

or no : Mr. Stanyan fays, he was fomewhat near-

er the Table, and he takes the Paper that is now
produced to be the fame Paper that was upon the

Table in the Room before the Lords of the

Council, when Mr. Layer was there ; becaufe

when it was produced there^ and lhewn to him,

he faid, fhou'd have I wrote Arms that fhou'd be

lodg'd.

Mr. Stanyan owns, that he never was afk'd

the Queftion, whether it was his Hand-Writing
or no? How then fhould he deny it, if it was
never put to him ? And therefore to fay, becaufe

he did not deny a Queftion that was never afked

him, that that fhall import, as to this particular

Matter, a Confefiion, is to me ftrange and un-

accountable ! The natural Senfe of the Prifoner's

Words, as proved^ is no more than this : No, if

I had writ it, I fhou'd have rather wrote Arms
that fhou'd be lodg'd, than Arms that were lodg'd.

Therefore, my Lord, we humbly apprehend they

have not given Evidence in this Cafe, fufficient

Evidence to fupport the Reading of thofe Papers.

Your Lordfhips are now to lay down a perpe-

tual Rule of Evidence: For lateft Pofterity will

pay a juft Regard to the prefent Determinations

;

and if Comparifon of Hands in this Cafe be al-

lowed as Evidence, the fame Rule muft for ever

hold in all parallel Cafes •, and God knows what

may be the Confequence of iuch a Revolution, or

who may be affected by it.

Mr. Serj. Pengetty. My Lord, we hope, that

notwithftanding what hath been objected to the

Reading of this Paper, that we are proper to have

it read: Tho' they have mentioned lomc Cafes

for to maintain their Objection, yet the latter

Authorities,
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Authorities, and the conftant Courfe of Evidence

fince, as we think, are directly with us: As the

Cafe of my Lord Prefton, where eight or nine of

the Judges were prefent.

In the Cafe of the Lady Carr, there is that O-

pinion infilled on given at the End of the Cafe in a

ihort unintelligible Manner.

[Here Mr. Hungerford interrupted.]

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I don't know whe-

ther we (hall be at Liberty, when the King's Coun-

fel have done, to read the Act ; and therefore I

offer it to your Lordfhip's Confideration, whether

we fhould not read it now.

L. C. Juft. Read the Act of Parliament,

Mr. Keteibey. Call Mr. iheedam.

Mr. Att. Gen. We are apprized of that Act

of Parliament ; I have an examined Copy of that

Act ; but we apprehend it will not come up to

what they cite it for.

Mr. Keteibey. We have five Acts of Parliament

that we have examined with the Records; we did

not know where they would fhoot at us, and there-

fore were refolved to be armed Cap-a-pee.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. As to my Lady Carr's Cafe,

it will be hard to maintain that Opinion, becaule

the Letters they produced were not in the direct

Inftance of the Perjury.

Even the Act of Parliament, which they pro-

duce, it takes Notice, that a Paper was found in

the Clolet of Mr. Sidney, and was read, without

proving it to be his own Hand-Writing: Is this

Paper found without any Owning and Acknow-

ledging it by the Prifoner ? Is not this Paper deli-

vered by Mr. Layer himfelf to Mrs. Mafon? Had
not he this Paper in his Cuftody, and it proceeded

from him?
Jn the Cafe of my Lord Prefton, there were a

great Number of Judges, My Lord Chief Juftice

Holt, Lord Chief Jultice Pollexfen, and others

;

there the Indictment of my Lord Preflon was his

adhering to the King's Enemies, and amongft

other Overt-Acts alledged his carrying feveral Pa-

pers of Inftructions to inform the French King

how to attack the Kingdom : Mr. Warer, who
had been an under Secretary to my Lord Prefion,

Iwore that he believed fome of thofe Papers to

be like the Lord Prefton's Hand, and they were
all read in that Cafe by the Opinion of the whole
Court, though they were the very exprefs Overt-
Acts alledged in the Indictment it felf: How
doth this (land herV, fuppofing no Ufe is made of
the Evidence of Mr. Doyley ? When this Paper is

fhewn to Mr. Layer himfelf, before the Lords of
the Council, and was mentioned as a Paper of his

own Writing, and he is afked how he came to
write Arms that are faid there to be lodged, his
Anfwer is, I fhould have wrote, Arms thatfhou'd
be there lodg'd ; Is not this fufficient Evidence to
prove a Confefiion ? Doth not this amount to an
Evidence of his confeffing it to be his own Writing ?

So here is, as we apprehend, the Evidence not
only of the Thing it felf, but likewife the Prifo-
ner's own Declaration, that he was the Perfon who
wrote it. In Sir Henry Vane's Cafe, the Warrant
given in Evidence againft him was proved only
by WitnefTes who believed it to be his Hand; but
here is a particular Fact which (we apprehend)
amounts to a Confefiion, and is a proper Evidence
for the Jury to confider of, whether this be not a
Confefiion.

Mr. Alt. Gen, My Lord, I apprehend that

we have given very proper Evidence to intitle us

to read this Paper: My Lord, I beg leave to ob-

ferve firff, that it hath been proved that this Paper

was found among the Papers, which the Prifoner

delivered to Mrs. Mafon, to be kept for him,

which were feized in her Lodgings, as the Wit-
nefTes have before acquainted your Lordfhip, and

if that were all, this Paper muft be read. As to

that, the Lord Prefton's Cafe is direct in Point, and
fo determined by fix or feven Judges, viz. that

Papers found in the Poffefiion of the Prifoner may
be read without further Proof. But we infifl that

this Paper is legally and regularly proved to be his

Writing by the Evidence of Mr. Doyley, and the

Prifoner's own Confefiion : The Council for the

Prifoner have mentioned Lady Can's Cafe, and the

Act for the Reverfal of the Attainder of Col. Sidney,

and fay they have a great many other Cafes to the

fame Purpofe.

I defy them to fhew any one fingle Cafe,

wherein it has been determined, that Proof of a

Perfon's Hand by a Witnefs, who fwears he has

feen him write, and knows his Hand, and believes

the Paper produced to be of his Hand-Writing,
is not a fufficient Proof in a criminal Profecu-

tion, that that Paper is fuch a Perfon's Hand,
before my Lady Carr's Cafe; if that Cafe does

fupport the Opinion they have laid down : In

all Actions fuch Evidence hath been conftantly

allowed; then I fhould be glad to know what
Law or what Reafon has made a Difference as to

fuch Evidence, between civil Actions and crimi-

nal or capital Profecutions. As to my Lady
Carr's Cale, the Book is very dark and obfeure

;

I believe the Prifoner's Counfel cannot make it

fupport what they now contend for.

Lady Carr was indicted for Perjury, fup-

pofed to be committed in an Anfwer fworn by
her before a Mafter in Chancery : What is there

faid about a Letter does not appear at all to re-

late to the Cafe there ; and if any Judge did lay

down fuch a Pofition, as has been mentioned by

the other Side, the meaning muft be, that an

Anfwer on Oath fhall not be falfified by a Let-

ter only under the Party's Hand ; and that fuch

a Letter fhould not be a fufficient Evidence to con-

vict him of Perjury.

As to the Cafe of Col. Sidney, 'tis very well

known that he was a Gentleman of Quality, and

in his Study a Writing was found, viz. A Gene-

ral Treatife of DotJrines and Pofitions, which

were very diflaftefu] to the then Government,"

writ in anfwer to a. Book formerly publifhed. It

was not a Scheme for raifing a Rebellion, nor

was it defign'd, for any thing that appeared,

that it fhould go out of his own Clofet, but his

Papers being feized, this Paper was found there

among them ; and for this he was indicted of
High-Treafon. It was generally thought ex-

tremely hard to make his having by him fuch a
General Tract, writ in anfwer to a particular

Book, and kept private in his Clofet, an Overt-
Act of Treafon. However, he was found guilty,

and attainted. No wonder then, when this

came into Parliament, that they refented this

Proceeding, and revers'd his Attainder. And
the Reafons recited in this Act, as Inducements
for this Reverfal, are accumulative; every Step
taken in that Proceeding is complained of, and
there is not Strefs laid only upon the Proof of this

Paper, but

The
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The Aft recites, that Col. Sydney, by Means

cf an illegal Return of the Jury, by denying him

bis lawful Challenges to the Jurymen, for want of

Freehold, and without fufficient legal Evidence of

am <freafons committed by him, there being produced

a "Paperfound in his Clofet, fuppofed to be his Rand-

Writing, which was not proved by any one Witnefs

to be written by him ; but the Jury was directed to

believe it by comparing it with other Writings cf his

:

And befides that Paper fo produced, there was but

one Witnefs Po prove any Matter againfl him, and

by a partial and unjufi Conflrublion of the Sta-

tutes of I'reafons was moft unjuftly attainted. And

then the Acl reverfes the Attainder. Surely, if

the Nature of the Evidence we have given, to

prove this Paper to be the Priibner's Hand is

confider'd, it Hands clear of any material Objec-

tion that can be raifed from that Aft. This is

not barely proved by a comparifon of Hands

;

here is a Witnefs, that often law him write, fwears

it to be his Hand-Writing: There was a Multi-

tude of Papers, fome ottered to be proved by

fimilitude of Hands, and every one of them was

read in my Lord Preflon's Cafe.

Befides, here is that, which I beg Leave to

infill upon, as a Confeffion by Mr. Layer, that

this Paper was his Writing -, if the Queftion pro-

pofcd to the Prifoner by the Lords of the Coun-

cil and his Anfwer are confider'd, it amounts to

a plain Confeffion of it •, therefore we muft in-

filt on it, that we have given a fufficient Evi-

dence for the Reading of this Paper ; and I hope

we fhall have your Lordfhip's Direftion that it

fhall be read.

[Here fome other of the King's Counfel

offered to fpeak.]

L. C. Jusl. If there was any Occafion, you

jQiould be heard •, but there is no Occafion.

It is proved by the Witneffes that thefe Pa-

pers were in Mr. Layer's Poffeffion, that he de-

livered them to Mrs. Mafon, that fhe lock'd them

up in her Trunk, fealed as they were delivered

to her by Mr. Layer, and afterward taken out of

her Trunk by the Meffengers, fo that if they

reft it here, and no other Evidence had been given,

the Papers ought to be read, as being his Papers,

which he once had in his Poffeffion, if nothing

elfe had been the Cafe.

Can any thing in the World be an Authority

more exprefs than that of my Lord Prefion,

where all the Papers which were in his Cuftody,

and taken out of his Cuftody, were read with-

out any Offer of Proof that they were his

Hand.

And then confider, this goes further ; it Is pot

only a Paper found in his Cuftody, but it is a

Paper written with his own Hand ! How do you

prove that ?

The Mafter of this Gentleman tells you he

was his Clerk, lived with him two Years ; after-

wards he received Letters from him about Bufi-

nefs, which Bufinefs he did according to the Di-

reftion of thofe Letters, and was paid honour-

ably by him for it, and that he believes it to

be his Hand. If they had gone no further, no-

body could have doubted, but that according to

the ufual Courfe and Rule of Evidence it ought

to be read. Then they make an Objeftion, and

afk how long it is fince he was his Clerk ? Why
about fourteen or fifteen Years ago : His Hand
may be altered in that Time very much : there-

fore how can you fwear it, when it is fo long
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fince, that it is his Hand ? Why, fays he, be-

caufe I have received Letters from him five

Years ago ; I dealt for him as his Agent ; this

Gentleman, Mr. Layer, was my Client, he fent

Letters to me, and the Characters cf the Let-
ters I have compared with this Paper, and from
hence it is I believe that his Charafter is not

changed. How do you know he write thofe Let-

ters ? I anfwered thofe Letters, and they were
about Bufinefs which I did for him, and after-

wards he paid me very honourably for it ; and
therefore I believe they were his Writing, and
therefore I believe he hath not changed his Cha-
rafter ; and upon the whole Matter, fays he, I

veriiy believe it to be his own Hand-Writing.
Confider, this is confirmed by his own Confef-

fion ; but if it had been an independent Evidence,

it is an Evidence fufficient for to have had this

Paper read ; becaufe if a Man fays he verily be-

lieves it to be his Hand-writing, it is always

allowed to be read. You did afk him, but upon
what Grounds do you believe his Charafter is

not changed ? Why, fays he, I do principally

believe it from the Letters I received from himi
which I fhould have doubted on the Hand, which
he writ fourteen Years ago, whether it was chang-

ed or not ; and I believe it is not changed, be-

caufe it is agreeable with the Characters he writ,

when he was my Clerk ; and upon the whole, I

believe it to be his Hand-Writing.
Then they tell you of an Examination of this

Gentleman before the Lords of the Council,

when they asked him about Arms, he knew no-

thing of them ; then they fhew him this Paper,

and ask him, how came you in a Scheme, all

of your own Hand-Writing, to fay, Arms that

are provided ? What was more natural than for

him to fay, here is a Paper that doth mention it,

I deny it to be my Hand-Writing ? But he was

fo far from denying it, that as the plain Senfe

and import of the Words fpoken muft be under-

ftood, he owns it to be his Hand.
It is a Miftake, fays he, I fhould have writ

which fhould have been provided.

How fhould he have writ that, if he had not

writ the other?

So confidering the Whole Contexture of the

Bufinefs, and Courfe of Proceeding, it is, and I

believe none can doubt it, as plainly proved to

be his own Hand-Writing, as if he had faid in

fo many Word?, it is my Hand-Writing. It

muft have been read as a Paper found in his Cuf-

tody. The other Evidence, that is given to the

Jury, will be a Matter proper for their Confide-

ration •> but if that Evidence had not been, they

muft have been read ; they offer that as of greater

import, becaufe it is of the Prifoner's own Hand-
Writing.

You tell us of the Lady Carrh Cafe, which

was an extraordinary Cafe, when fhe in her An-
fwer in Chancery fwore that it was not her Hand,

they come to convift her of Perjury, by proving

it to be her Hand by a Letter they produced.

Gentlemen, there is no Pretence to make this

a Queftion. Do you think that the Paper, which

you offci-j fhall convift this Woman of Perjury ?

No, when fhe had fworn it was not her Hand,

they come to prove it by a Witnefs, that fays

he believes it to be her Hand, becaufe they pro-

duce a Letter, which they fay is her Hand.

Upon this the Court determines that this Evi-

dence fhould not be allowed, that is, that it

could
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could be of no Confequence to falfify any Matter,

which (he had declared upon Oath.

But as this Cafe is, fure there is not the lead

Doubt but if the Proof of his Hand had been

out of the Cafe, it muft be read as a Paper that

was in his Cuftody, and taken out of the Cu(-

tody of one, with whom he had deposited it,

which is proved beyond all Contradiction.

And in Cafe of my Lord prefton, and in a

thoufand Cafes, it hath been fo, and never was

denied.

True, if they come and fay, is this his Hand?

and the Witnefs fays 1 don't know whether it is

his Hand or no ; I have feen fomcthing of his

Hand, and I don't know but it may be his

Hand j it is not right ; but the Witnefs muft

ground his Belief ftronger •, I have feen him

write, and I know his Writing, therefore I be-

lieve it to be his Hand. If they had refted it on

that, that the firft Evidence knew his Hand four-

teen Years ago, that muft be left to the jury,

whether they believe Mr. Doyley's Evidence ; be-

caufe, fays he, I faw him write fourteen Years

ago. The PoMibility of that, if there was no-

thing elfe in the Cafe, might be left to the Jury,

whether that Evidence was fufficient to fatisfy

them, that it was his Hand. Upon the Whole,

never was any thing clearer than that this muft

be read as a Paper found in his Cuftody, that hath

fa the ufual Manner and Method the Proof of be-

ing his Hand-writing.

Prifoner. If I am out of Time I beg your

Lordfhip's Pardon-, I will not take up your

Lordfhip's Time ; I only beg a Word or two

;

whether there is any legal Evidence as to the

Publiihing-, the Indictment fays, pitblicavit quod-

dam malitiofum feditiofum & preditiorum fcriptum,

and that is not that, that is the Declaration.

L. C. Juji. Whatever you fay or offer, al-

though it happen to be out of Time, we will

difpenfe with you, when out of Time ; but what

you offer now is upon a Miftake, we are not

upon the Paper you mould apply it to, that is,

the Matter of your Declaration, but we are upon

the Scheme Paper, not whether you publifhed it,

but whether you writ it.

Prifoner. I am charged in the Indictment

as publiihing a malicious, feditious and traiterous

Writing.

L. C. Juft. You are charged with that as an

Overt- A ft of the Treafon, of Compafiing and
imagining the Death of the King •, that you
did publifh a malicious, feditious, and traiterous

Paper, that is the matter of the Declaration.

The Matter now is, not for Publifhing, but

whether there is a reafonable Proof given that it

is your Hand-Writing.
Mr. Juft. Powys. This is only a Circumftance,

not an Overt-Aft fufficient to convict you.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lord, we offer this Paper
as a ftrong Evidence corroborating and confirm-

ing every Thing which hath been fworn by the

Witneffes, and we pray it may be read.

Mr. Hungerford. I was reading the Act of
Parliament when they

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, we muft beg leave

to infift upon the Courle of Proceeding, that the

Counfel mall not go on to argue a Point, after

the Opinion of the Court has been given.

L. C. Juft. Now you have heard the Opini-
on or the Court, you muft not go on.

Mr. Hungerford. I was looking upon the Act
of Parliament

L. C. Juft. You remember Francia's Cafe,!

there was a Letter taken up at his Bedfide, it

was difputed whether that fhould be read, at laft

a Witnefs came and faid, I have feen him write

feveral Times, and I believe it to be his Hand 5

and it was read.

Mr. Hungerford. Ay, haftily read.

Clerk of the Crown reads the Scheme*

The SCHEME.

Au defitut de la force, il faut employer

la rufe.

1. T E T the General j and Only one Officer of

J_' Note in the Camp, agree upon a Day for

Execution.

2. Let the Officer that Day put himfelf on the

Tower-Guard.

3. And as there is eight Serjeants (viz.) three

of the firft Regiment of Foot-Guards, three of

the Second, and two of the Third, all ready at

an Hour's warning to obey Orders •, early that

Morne, let the Officer fee a fingle Perfon name-
ly George Wilfon, who manages thefe Serje-

ants, and give him Directions to bring them
all to fome convenient Place at four that After-

noon.

4. Then the Officer muft give each Serjeant

Money fufficient for the Purpofe, and direct

'em, that each Serjeant order twenty five Men
(making together two hundred, which they have

ready) to go fingly out of the Camp, and meet
together an Church-Yard, exactly half

an Hour paft eight in the Evening, when and

where another Officer that they know, muft meet

'em, and take the Command, give 'em Muskets
ready loaded, and march with them in a Body to

the Tower-Gate, at nine that Night exactly.

5. Our Friend, the Officer within, muft pre-

cisely at that Hour of nine be on the Guard at

the Tower-Gate, and feeing this Body of Men ap-

pear, order the Garrifon to let 'em in, as a Re-
cruit fent to the Tower-Guard.

6. As foon as ever they have entered to feize

the Arms at the Tower-Gate, fhut the Gate up,

and fecure every one in the Tower, that the Of-

ficer on Guard gives them Orders to fecure, but

not to fried any Blood.

7. The Tower being thus feized, to leave on-

ly a fmall Guard there under that Officer who
lets 'em in, and then, with all thofe that join you,

march directly to the Exchange, where the great

Doors muft be ready opened, and the General there

in Perfon.

8. At the exact Hour of nine, that the Tower

fhall be thus feized, the Perfons of fbme great

Men to be arrefted at their Houfes, brought di-

rectly into the City, and delivered to the Ge-

neral.

9. That upon our Meeting at the Exchange,

the annexed Proclamation to be fpread about ,

the Gates of the City to be fhut up, and Pie-

ces of Canon brought down againft 'em, but

every Man that delires to enter the Gates, be-

fore any regular Force appear, to be admitted

to come in, and after the General has appointed

a Guard at each Gate, and Inlets of the City,

with proper Officers to command there ; let

him march back to Tower-Hill, for a Place of

General
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General Rendezvous under the Cannon of the work, and let the Meffenger you lend, conduct;

fewer, and order the Lord Mayor a good Guard him and his Men to you it St. James's-Park.

to watch over the Bank, but firft take Money from 16. Third Captain, at the faid Hour of nlne^

thence to the lower, in order to pay the Men. to go into 5/. James's Park, with the Key that is

io. That on the Morne of this fame Day, given you of the Private-Door out of Arlington"

our General to have an Interview with fbme other Street, and appoint only fome few Gentlemen

p-inctyal Officer of the Camp, and order him to to meet you there exactly at the Hour and ready,

engage all Friends to attend at their refpective one to have the Watch-Word you give 'enij

Pofts° and expect a a Token to be fent to each which muft be This Morning. Let your firft

of them as that very Night, on receipt of which Rendezvous be at the little Grove under the

Token they are to draw their Men out, and march Wall near the Gate leading to Hyde-Park \ and

.directly to the Artillery in the Camp, as a Place there you'll meet Fire - Arms ready charged,

of General Rendezvous ; and that the Captain Then march down to the Parade next the Horfe-

of the Artillery may not be alarm'd, let this Guard, and feize upon the Cannon there, and

Principal Officer previoufly fend a Meffage to Ammunition in the Store-Houfe, and the bet-

him, that Orders are come from the General ter to fecure St. James's Park for a Place of ge^

(Cadogan) to double the Guard of the Artillery, neral Rendezvous, you fhall have an Officer out

on a Rumour that is fpread of the Mob being of the Camp exactly at the Hour of nine come to

up in the City. y°ur Affiftance with fome Men, as he and you

ii. The Party being come to the Artillery fhall agree in the Morne of this Day, and as foon

•with the faid Principal Officers at the Head of 'em, as you have feized the Cannon here, and Ammu-
let 'em immediately draw the Guns round 'em, nition aforefaid, you are to put your felves in a

and ftand upon their Defence, without making any Pofture of Defence, and publifh the Declaration,

Declaration, until the faid principal Officer, who and fend forthwith to the General at the Tower

commands in chief there, receive certain b
Intelli- to let him know of your Situation, and alfo fend

aence from our General that the Tower is feized to the Captains in Palace-Tard, Southwark, and

upon, and the City all in Arms, and then under Tattle-Fields, that they immediately come and join

a Pretence of fecuring the King's Perfon from the you.

Infultsofthe Mob, let this Officer make a De- 17. Fourth Captain, exactly at the Hour of

tachment to take him into Cuftody, and fend him nine, the Evening of the fame Day to be in Tut-

into the City to the General at the Tower. tie-Fields ; faife the Weftminfter Mob there, and

12. To facilitate thefe Proceedings, let the with the Arms that are there lodg'd, equip them

General the fame Day fpeak to the Horfe-Officers as you can ; publifh the Declarations, and march

in the Camp, who he knows to be our Friends, directly to St. James's Park and join with them

and upon the very firft Alarm of the City's hav- there, who, on your giving them the Watch-Word,
ing revolted, let 'em march their Men to either are to admit you into the Park.

Jjudgate or Newgate, on pretence to fupprefs the 18. So here being two Bodies of Men thus got-

Mob •, and when they are at the Gate, as a To- ten together the firft Night, viz. One on Tower-

ken of their being Friends, let the Watch-Word Hill, and the other in St. James's-Park, (befides our

be This Morning, and upon giving us the Word Friends at the Artillery in Hyde-Park.) The next

there, to open the Gates and let 'em in, and as Mornings if not fooner, let our General order a

loon as they are entered, to march directly to Detachment to Lincoln's-Inn-Fields, and fome
Tower-Hill and join themfelves with the General Cannon to be placed on the Terras of the Garden

there. there, left the Enemy come in there between St.

13. Let the General alfo the fame Day order James's Park and the City.

Four of the Half-pay Captains to take upon 'em the 19. A proper Captain muft be appointed to

following Commands, (viz.) head the Watermen belonging to the Thames,

14. Firft Captain to go into Southwark, and and previous to the Day of Execution, he muft

exactly at the Hour of nine, to make a Bonfire agreed with the Duke's Bargemen, that upon the

in the Fields there, and give fome Money among leaft Notice to be given them, that they alarm all

the Mob, and when you have got a Number toge- the Watermen, and bring them to a Rendezvous

ther, fend an Account to the General, take the the fame Hour of nine that Night of Execution,

Arms that muft be lodged there, and diftribute out and this Captain's Rendezvous muft be at Green-

amongft 'em to your Acquaintance in the firft wich, where he muft feize the Magazine of Pow-
Place, and to thofe which they recommend, and der, and take out fuch part of it as each Man will

then iffue out the Declarations ; and after the Re- carry, then blow up the reft, march from thence

ceipt of a Token from the Captain next mentioned, to the Tower, and join his Men with the General

who is to command in Palace-Tard, to ferry over there, to whom he muft firft fend a Meffenger

thither in Lighters, with the Watch-Word This with the Watch-Word, and an Account of his

Morning, and join the Captain in Palace-Tard. Numbers:

15. Second Captain exactly at the Hour of 20. Some Time before Execution, the General

nine, to be in Privy-Garden, adjoining to White- to fend a Meffenger to particular Men in the Coun-
Hall, with a few Gentlemen armed, and feize try, that they rife in their refpective Counties

upon the great Guns there, and then fpread the upon the firft News of what is done here.

—

Declarations, and ftay there under the Cannon till 2 1 . An Officer, &c. to go to Richmond, and
a greater Body join you from Southwark -, or o- at the exact Hour of nine to feize upon Prince

therwife nail up the Cannon, and march directly Pritty Man, and bring him away to Southwark to

to the next Captain in St. James's Park with the fome particular Place appointed, where an Agent
Watch-Word tfhis Morning, and then fend the from the General rrtuft meet them with his further

Token, as above, to the firft Captain in South- Orders.

* Ic may be a Note in Writing thus, Sir, I'll meet you at nine to Night, don't fail me. J. S.

<> A verbal Meffage by a third Ptrfon that muft be by, when the General and this Chief Officer confult togetfer till Morne.

Vol. VI. Oq Mr. Serj,
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We read this as an Evi-

dence that cannot be miftaken, which is all of his

own Hand-Writing.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, we apprehend that

this confirms what both the Witneffes have

fworn.

Mr. Serj . Pengelly. We {hall now produce fome

Receipts fubfcribed by the Name of James R. and

pray that they may be read, the fe were likewife

among thofe Papers, as hath been proved in the

Manner you have heard already.

Clerk of the Crown "reads one of them.

/Acknowledge to have received from

the Sum of
•which Sum

I promife to repay with an Intereft for it at the Rate

f per Annum
fames R.

L. C. Juft. They are not read as if proved,

the Hand is not proved, but as Papers found on

him.

Mr. Soil. Gen. In my Lord Prefton's Cafe,

his Lordfhip was taken in the Hold of a Ship

lying upon the Ballad, *nd Afhton there near

him, and between his Lordfhip and Afhton was

found lying alfo upon the Ballaft, a Pacquet of

Papers, which Afhton fnatch'd up, and put into

his Bofom, from whence they were prefently taken

;

two Seals, which appeared to be my Lord Pref-

ton's when he was Secretary of State, were found

lying near to the Papers. Upon this Proof thofe

Papers were read as Evidence againft my Lord

Prefton, without any Proof made of their being

his Hand-Writing, in order to the Reading of

them.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord Prefton was taken

on board a Ship going to France, then in War
with England, thefe Papers were found in the

Bofom of Mr. Afhton, who was going with him •,

my Lord endeavoured, fo far as he could, to

throw them over-board : The Offence did not

turn upon the Papers being writ by my Lord

Prefton, or not •, in my Lord Prefton's Cafe the

Papers contained a Difcovery of the Condition

of the Fleet and Garrifons of England and France,

in order to enable France to invade us; it figni-

fy'd nothing who writ the Papers, the Crime

was the having them, knowing the Contents of

them, and endeavouring to carry them to France,

fo the Circumftances of my Lord Prefton widely

differ from this.

Mr. Ketelbey, I beg leave to mention another

Thing, there the Papers were found in the Cuftody

of my Lord Prefton, here they were found in the

Cuftody of a third Perfon whofe Evidence we
fhall controvert by a Number of Witneffes, when

it comes to our turn. I believe it will appear that

fome of the Papers were found on the Table in

my Lord Prefton's Cafe, and others taken out of

his Pocket.

Mr. Soil. Gen. No, they were firft found lying

on the Ballaft.

Mr. Ketelbey. What were found on Afhton,

and taken out of his Bofom, were feen lying on
the Ballaft, but there were other Papers feized at

that Time.
Mr. Soil. Gen. They were the fame Papers

that were afterwards taken out of Afhton's Bofom,
which were read as Evidence againft my Lord
Prefton upon the Circumftances I have mentioned.

Mr. Ketelbey. As I remember, fome of them
were found on the Table in the Cabin.

Mr. Juft. Eyre. No, they were found on the

Ballaft in the Hold of the Ship.

L. C. Juft. You fay
|
that they were found

in my Lord Prefton's Poffeffion, and not in the

Poffeflion of Afhton ; you fay my Lord Prefton

had no Counfel, but you know it is the Duty of
the Court not to fuffer any thing to be read in

Evidence that ought not. You fay you fhall

controvert this Matter, and give an anfwer to it,

and that it appears they were not in his Cuftody,

they were taken out of this Witnefs's Cuftody,

and under his Seal, and therefore the Difference

it makes is nothing at all: Befides, the Proof
in my Lord Prefton's Cafe is not fo ftrong as

the Proof of the Scheme againft the Prifoner,

becaufe the Scheme is proved to be his own
Hand-Writing, which was not in the Cafe of my
Lord Prefton.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, will not your Lord-
fhip think it neceffary that they give further Evi-
dence that they are his Papers before they are

read.

L. C. Juft. Read them.

CI. of the Cr. I acknowledge to have received,

&c. here are ten of them, that are the fame.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Mr. Stanyan, do you re-

member whether any Queftions were afk'd him
with relation to thofe Receipts ?

Mr. Stanyan. What I recollect is this : Upon
the Lords aiking Mr. Layer the meaning of thofe

Receipts figned by the Pretender, and what Ufe
he made of them, he faid that during the Time
he was at Rome, he had fettled a Correfpondence
with Sir William Ellis, and fome time afterwards

he writ to Sir William Ellis according to the Di-
rections he gave him, and he told him, if he
could fend any Receipts figned by his Majefty,
or the King, as he called him, he thought Mo-
ney might be rais'd upon them for carrying on
the Caufe, thefe were the Words, as near as I can
remember.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Delafaye, was you by ?

Mr. Ketelbey. It was for raifing Money to

carry on his Caufe, you mean Sir William Ellis's

Caufe ?

Mr. Stanyan. No, Sir.

Mr. Hungerford. He acknowledged to have re-*-

ceived them from Sir William Ellis ?

Mr. Stanyan. Yes.

Mr. Ketelbey. You faid he own'd he had them
from Sir William Ellis, having fettled a Corre-

fpondence with him, that Money might be raif-

ed by thefe to carry on his Caufe ; he told you he

had Bufinefs to do for Sir William Ellis.

Mr. Stanyan. No. I know nothing of Sir

William Ellis's Bufinefs, but that he had appoint-

ed to correfpond with Sir William Ellis, and Sir

William Ellis gave him his Addrefs how to direct

to him, and he acknowledged to have received

a Letter or Letters from Sir William Ellis, in the

Name of Jones, and that he writ to him in Anfwer
to 'em.

Mr. Ketelbey. Are you fure as to thofe Words,
or only to the Purport of 'em ?

Mr. Stanyan. I think they are near the Words,
but I am fure they are the Purport of them ?

Mr. Ketelbey. Was it reduced into Writing?
Mr. Stanyan. It was reduced into Writing in

this Manner. It was a very Jong Examination,

about four or five Hours.

Mr. Ketelbey.
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Mr. Ketelbey. I afk you, whether it was reduced

into "Writing ?

Mr. Stanyan. Yes, it was •, the Lords fent to

me, to aflift Mr. Delafaye, upon Mr. Layer's be-

ino-' examined : Mr. Delafaye took the Heads of

the Queftions propounded ; and I fate near the

Table, looked over. Mr. Delafaye ; attended to

the Queftions and Anfwers •, fo that we could fet

one another right when we came to confider

them.

Mr. Ketelbey: This you Wrote, was it read

over to the Prifoner ?

Mr. Stanyan. No.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you believe the Prifoner at

the Bar faw you write f

Mr. Stanyan. Yes, I believe he faw us write.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you believe he thought any

Perfon was taking his Confeflion in Writing ?

Mr. Stanyan. I think it cannot be dtherwife.

Mr. Ketelbey. I afk you, do you believe that Mr.

Layer knew that you was taking his Confeflion at

that Time ?

Mr. Stanyan. The Lords fpoke thus ; Pray take

Notice, and then take down fuch a Thing, and

fuch a Thing -, and I believe Mr. Layer heard them

fay, I'ake down that, and take down that.

Mr. Ketelbey. Was it ever known for one to

take down the Queftions, and the other the An-

fwers ; and then to compare them together, in Or-

der to make a Confeflion ?

Mr. Stanyan. No •, Mr. Delafaye wrote down the

Queftions and Anfwers.

Mr. Hunger-ford. How was the Pofnion of Mr.

Layer, with refpect to you \ was your Back or

Face towards him ?

Mr. Stanyan. It was on one Side.

Mr. Hungerford. Was you in the Room when

Mr. Layer came in firft ?

Mr. Stanyan. I wasj I called in Mr. Layer by

the Lords Order.

Mr. Hungerford. Was it ever read to him ?

Mr. Stanyan. No.

Mr. Hungerford. Was it drawn up in Form, fo

that you might call it an Examination ?

Mr. Stanyan. I will tell you what we under-

ftood by it ; it was the Minutes of an Examina-

tion to be drawn out in Form : But the Lords find-

ing Mr. Layer not fo candid and ingenuous as they

thought he would have been, did not afk him to

fign it ; and we only make ufe of it to refrefh our

Memories.

Mr. Ketelbey. He calls it an Examination, and

it appears by what Mr. Stanyan faith, that he and

Mr. Delafaye took it ; one takes one Part, and the

other takes another Part.

Mr. Soil. Gen. He did not fay any^ fuch

Thing.

Mr. Ketelbey. His Confeflion was never read

over to him.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Mr. Stanyan, when the Lords di-

rected Mr. Delafaye and you to write this or that

particular Thing, was the Prifoner fo near, that

in your Apprehenfion he might hear their Lord-
Ihips give fuch Directions ?

Mr. Stanyan. Yes, he was.

Mr. Hungerford. Sure they are not contend-

ing, that any Confeflion fhall affect a Man, unlefs

it was read to him, and it ought to be fign-

ed by him •, my Lord, the Man is no Way an-
fwerable for any Thing taken in Writing, with-
out his Confent or Privity, in a Criminal Cafe

:

It is called Minutes or an Examination, which
Vol. VI.

they might enlarge as they pleafe % therefore we
humbly fubmit it to your Lordfhip, Whether
it ought to be offered in Evidence at all as a Con-
feflion.

Mr. Ketelbey. What will be the Confluence,
if this be allowed here ? Is a Perfon to be con-
victed of Treafon upon a Confeflion taken,' with-
out its being read to him, and without his fign-

ing it ? A Confeflion to a Juftice of Peace, in

Cafes of Felony, unlefs read to the Party, and
figned by him, muft not be given in Evi-
dence.

L. C. JusJ. Mr. Ketelbey, you feem to mif-

take what it is that is contended for by the King's
Council : They are not going to offer any thing
to be read in Evidence ; your Objection would
prevail, if they were going to read a Confeflion

as Evidence, which was neither read to him, nor
figned by him ; but if there is no Examination
reduced into Writing, and figned by the Party,

the Confequence of that is, that the Witnefs is

at Liberty to give an Account of what was faid ;

and he may look to his Notes to refrefh his Me-
mory : If you will fay, it is not fo great an Evi-
dence, of fo great Weight, as an Examination
taken, and figned by the Party, there is fome
Room left, fome Foundation to fuppofe the Evi-
dence may be miftaken.

He fays, he was examined before the Lords
of the Council •, and he took Minutes of his Ex-
amination i And afterwards to refrefh himfelf, he
looks upon them, and fays, he believes that is

the Subftance of what he confefled at that Time.
You fay, there is no Precedent for it ; for God's

Sake ! Recollect your felf, it is every Day done
at the Old-Bailey : If a Perfon confeffcth, and it

be not in Writing, they do prove his Confeflion,

Viva Voce.

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, Coleman's Cafe,

which was during the Time that Sir William Jones

was Attorney General, went further than this

:

There his Letters were laid in the Indictment, as

the very Overt-Act of the High-Treafon charged

againft him \ and yet one of thofe Letters was

proved by his Confeflion, upon an Examination

before a Committee of the Houfe of Lords ; and

that Confeflion was prov'd, Viva Voce, by Sir

Philip Lloyd.

Mr. Ketelbey. Whether that Cafe will be a

Precedent ? I never heard it fo reckoned.

Mr. Hungerford. And I hope it will never be

one.

. Mr. Delafaye, fworn.

Mr. Scrj. Chefhire. Mr. Delafaye, pray give an

Account what Mr. Layer declared before the Lords

of the Council concerning thefe Receipts.

Mr. Delafaye. The Account he gave

L C. Juft. Mr. Delafaye, you was prefent at

the Time of taking this Examination ; you fay,

you took Minutes in Writing •, you have told us

the Reafon why it was not in Form, and read to

Mr. Layer : If you have not already done it,

you may look to your Minutes, and refrefn

your Memory : That which the Court demands

of you is, what Mr. Layer did confefs at the

Time of his Examination before the Lords of the

Council.

Mr. Delafaye. He told the Lords, that he did

write to Sir JVtlliam Ellis, that he would fend

over fome blank Receipts under the King's own
Hand, that might be made ufe of, for the

carrying on his Caufe : That he did receive fuch

O 2 Receipts,
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Receipts, and his Intention was to have tried his

Friends 5 and to have raifed Money on thofe Re-

ceipts.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Did he give any Reafon

why he went into that Method ?

Mr. Delafaye. For a Precedent, he faid, a little

before the Reiteration of King Charles IL a Me-

thod of this Kind had been uled.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, we fhall now proceed

to read the Letters that were fent and patted be-

tween them, Sir William Ellis and Mr. Layer: But

it will be proper firft to lay before you the Cyphers

which they made ufe of to explain feveral cant

Words and Expreflions, which they ufed in their

Letters.

L. C. Juft. Were the Cyphers found among Mr.

Layer's Papers ?

Mr. Att. Gen. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Pray read No. 38.

Mr. Att. Gen. I don't know whether we (hall

trouble your Lordfhip to read the whole Cypher ;

it is very long, but when we meet with a Word
in the Letters which wants Explanation, we may
have Recourfe to the Cypher.——Read the Letter

No. 38.

CI. of the Cr. reads. This Letter is figned Eu-

Jlace Jones, &c.

Dear SIR,

I
Received with a great deal of Pleafure and Sa-

tisfaction, a Letter of the 24-th of November,

from my worthy Friend, with an Account of his fafe

Arrival ; of which I was in fome Doubt before,

and in no fmail Rain on that Account : I eqfily con-

ceive he mujl needs h'ave had a great deal of Bufinefs.

en his Return, as well of his Unkle's as of his own 3

end therefore, I don't think much that I heard no

fooner from him, believing he was much better im-

floyed, and that Bufinefs is to be preferred before

Compliment.

1 was entirely of his Opinion as to the Method

of carrying on the Manufactory ; the procuring of

good Workmen, is the firjl Step to be made, and if

he can get fuch, the refl will be eafy ; andparticular-

ly, if he could gain fome of the ableft of Mrs. Bar-

bara Smith's, I know it would be very agreeable to

all concerned, and particularly to Mr. Atkins, to

whom he fpoke of Writing • and which, I am fa-

tisfied, will be very acceptable : And if he thinksfit to

inclofe it to me, Ifhall convey it fafely to his Hands,

who, Ifind, was very glad to hear of him, counts

very much upon his Friendjhip, and hopes for the Con'

tinuance of it.

I made his Compliments to Mr. Timothy Wat-
fon's Wife, who took them very kindly, and returns

hers, with her mofi humble Service. She and her

Charge are very well, God be praifed, as are alfo

all Friends here.

He having read over feveral times the Paper I
Jhew'd him, and having a good Memory, I don't

think it neceffary to fend a Copy of it.

I am, with great EJteem and Refpesl, ever mofi

entirely,

Dear SIR,
30th January.

^LfefSS',^- Your moft annate,
fee-Houfe, in Great Wild-
Street, London, moft humble and moft

obedient Servant,

Mr, Att. Gen. Your Lordfhip is pleafed to

remember, Mr. Stanyan faid that Sir William Ellis

was to write by the Name of Jones.

Mr. Stanyan. My Lord, he did fay, that he
had received a Letter fince he had fettled a Corre-

fpondence with Sir William Ellis fubferibed by the

Name of Jones.

Mr. Att. Gen. In the Cypher Sir William Ellis

is called Jones.

CI. of the Cr. reads. This Letter is figned Eu-
ftace Jones, dated 30th January, no Year, Dear
Sir, I received, &c.

Mr. Att. Gen, Your Lordfhip will be pleafed

to obferve the Expreflions in this Letter, the

procuring good Workmen : Now look in the Cy-

pher, and Soldiers are meant by Workmen ; Manu-
factory is not in the Cyphers, but I don't know
for what Manufactory they wanted Soldiers, un*

lefs to raife a Rebellion. The Ableft of Mrs.
Barbara Smith's ; look for Army in the Cyphers,

and you will find, that is fignified by Barbara :

It will be very acceptable to all concerned, and
particularly to Mr. Atkins • in the Cypher that is

the Pretender. Compliments to Mr. tfimothy Wat*

fon's Wife • look in the Cyphers, and Timothy ftands

for Hughes, whofe Wife is Nurfe to the Pretender's

Child. This Letter is directed for James Foun*

taine, Efq; to be left at Howell's Coffee-Houfe in

Great Wild-ftreet, and I obferve, Mrs. Mafon faid

the Prifoner went by the Name of Fountaine.—
No. 10. are fix fictitious Names, and the Key to

them : Read it.

CI. of the Cr. Reads No. 10.

Digby Dillon.

1 Orrery Burford*

Kegent- Steel.

Tories banners.

Wiggs Waggs.

Rogers Plunkett.

Mr. Att. Gen. Read the Letter No. 40.

CI. of the Cr. Reads, figned N. C. Dated the

nth of July, 1722.

Dear SIR, The nth of July, 1722.

I
Received with all poffible Satisfaction your mofi

affectionate Letter of 8th May with its in*

clofed, which was prefently delivered to Mr. St:

John, who took it extream kindly ; but could not

well underftand what relates to Mr. Burford • he

hopes, your Anfwer to what I writ, in the begin-

ning of laft Month, may foon clear that : You will-

have feen, by what I then told you, that the former

came fafe to his Hands, and the Reafon of your not

having had a difiintt Anfwer to it : He had the

Stockings you fent for him, and returns you many

Thanksfor them ; as alfo for all other Marks ofyour

Affection and Concern for him and his, and will be

ready tofihew his Senfe thereof on all Occafions. I
am in earnefi Expectation of hearing foon again

from you, and am, with all poffible Affection and,

Efieem,

Dear SIR,

For James Fountaine, Efq; Your moft faithful and
to be left at Howell's Coffee-

Houfe in Great Wild-Street, „ , , . _
London. moft humble Servant,

N. C.

Eufiace Jones. L. C. Jufi.
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L. C. Jujl. Who is that TV. C ?

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, we do not know,

jt is directed to James Fountaine, Efq; Mr. St.

John in the Cypher fignifies the Pretender.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Mr. Burford appears to ftand

for my Lord Orrery in the little Cypher.

Mr. Httngerford. Look into the Paper, pray

what do Stockings ftand for ?

Mr. Soil. Gen. Read the Letter No. 41.

Clerk of the Cr. This is dated the 27 May, it

is fign'd by no Body, nor directed to any Body j

the Cover is off : / received with a greats &c.

Dear SIR* 27 May.

J Received with a great deal of Pleafure, the Fa-

vour of your moft obliging Letter of 2 id March,

•with an inclofed for our Friend, who was very glad

to hear from you ; and is very fenfible of, and takes

very kindly, the Care you take of his little Concern

there ; but fays, he doth not fufficiently underjland

the State you fent> fo as to be able to make a par-

ticular Anfwer, till you fhall further explain it ;

there being forne Tenants, mention'd by you, whofe

Names he does not find in the Rental, as Burford,

Steel, Digby, the little Soldier, and Simmonds ;

the latter, he believes fhould be Simmes, he is of

the North, a grey hair'd antient Man, whom he

very well remembers, and has a particular EJleem

and Value for, as a very good Tenant, and a very

honejl Man.
All Friends here are in perfebl good Health, God

be thanked, and remember themfelves kindly to you,

and 1 am mqfi entirely,

Yours, &c.

Mr. Soil. Gen, If you look into the Cypher^

you will find Rental ftands as the fictitious Name
for the Cypher itfelf 5 Burford ftands for the Lord
Orrery, Steel for the Regent, and Digby for Ge-
neral Dillon.

Simmons, he believes fhould be Simmes, but

Simmonds in the large Cypher is put for Lord North

and Grey, and who is meant, appears pretty plain

from the Cant which follows. He is of the North
a grey hair'd antient Man, whom he well remem-

bers, and hath a particular EJleem and Value for,

as a very good Tenant, and a very honejl Man.
Mr. Att. Gen. Look for Simmons in the Cypher.

Mr. Httngerford. I can make one Obfervation,

that Mr. Harcourt is very ready at.

Ck of the Cr. It is alphabeted, fo that it is

eafy to look for it.

L. C. Jufl. What Ufe do you make of thefe

Letters ?

Mr. Soil. Gen. The Ufe we make of them is

to fhew that Mr. Layer who took on him the

Sham-Name of Fountaine, by which Name fome
of thefe Letters are addrefTed, had a Correfpon-

dence with the Friends of the PRETENDER
at Rome. That this Correfpondence related to a

Confpiracy, which was formed and carrying on
here •, and it appears, they took upon them to

mention feveral Perfons of Diftinction under a
kind of largon.

Mr. Att. Gen. The firft Letter, wherein is

mentioned the carrying on the Manufactory, the

procuring good Workmen, and particularly, if

he could gain fome of the ableft of Mrs. Bar-
bara Smith's, and that it would be very agree-

able to all concern'd, and particularly to Mr.
Atkins, which is the Name for the Pretender j

fhews, that the Agents of the Pretender at Rome*
had laid Defigns to procure Soldiers, and thofe*

if pofilble, out of his Majefty's Troops ; which
falls in with the Evidence we have given of the

Prifoner's Endeavours to get Soldiers and Serje-

ants out of the Army.
Mr. Serj. Che/hire. It may not be improper,

fince we have explain'd it, to lay before you the

Lifts of feveral Perfons Names that are in the

Army.
Pray read No. 7. out of the large Bundle.

CI. of the Cr. Reads a Lift of Officers Names
with Marks and Numbers to fome of them.

Mr. Att. Gen. We did mention before, that

there were the Names of feveral Perfons of very

great Honour and Loyalty to his Majefty in fome
of the Lifts ; but this is to fhew, that the Pri-

foner was confulting how he might get an Ac-
count of the Number of the Forces ; as how
many Colonels, how many Captains, and how
many Soldiers there were in the Guards and other

Troops of his Majefty.

Read No. 5. in the large Bundle.

CI. of the Cr. Reads No. 5. A Lift of Offi-

cers of the Second, or Coldftream Regiment of

Guards.

Mr. Att. Gen. We make the fame Ufe of this

to fhew, that he was fearching and examining to

get an Account of the Guards.

L. C. Julf. I fuppofe he is taking a Survey of

the Perfons that were of the Guards, that he might

be capable of making a Judgment.
Mr. Att. Gen. Yes, my Lord ; and to know

their Strength : Look out No. 6. in the large

Bundle.

CI. of the Cr. Reads No. 6. A Lift of Offi-

cers in the firft Troop of Horfe-Grenadiers, the

Names being diftinguifhed by different Letters..

No. 7. out of the fmall Bundle. A Lift, &c.

here are eleven of them put down.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Read No. 8. in the large

Bundle.

CI. of the Cr. Reads No. 8. A Lift, fcfr.

Mr. Att. Gen. Your Lordfhip will obferve,

that this is a Lift of fome Perfons Names, and

the Numbers of Horfes and Men they were to

provide.

L. C. Jufl. You'll have this to import an Ac-
count of what Quota's feveral Perfons were to

find.

Mr. Att. Gen. The laft was read for that

Purpofe : Read No. 15. in the large Bundle.

CI. of the Cr. Reads No. 15. Containing di-

vers Names, with Numbers fet againft fome of

them.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Read No. 20, 21, 22 4 23,
and 24, in the large Bundle.

CI. of the Cr. Reads No. 20. Containing a Lift

of the Great-Officers of the Tower. No. 21. Con-
taining Names of Officers of the Second Troop
of Horfe-Guards, Second Troop of Horfe-Gre-

nadiers, and Fourth Troop of Horfe-Guards.

No. 22. Containing a Lift of Names. No. 23.

Containing Names of Officers of the Firft, Se-

cond, Third and Fourth Troops of Guards.

No. 24. Containing the Names of two Officers

of the Horfe-Guards.

Mr. Att. Gen. Look upon that Lift, No. 21.

whether there are not fome private Marks upon

it.

CI. of the Cr. Yes, here is upon one of them

a Dott, and on the other Side there is a Dott

;

and
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and in two or three Places fome Men mark'd and

crofs
5
d.

Mr. Serj. Che/hire Read No. 25.

,

CI. of the Cr. Reads No. 25. Containing a Lift

of Officers, five of them marked to be not bad.

Mr. Reeve. Are the Words not bad of the

fame Hand- Writing ?

CI. of the Cr. Yes;- it doth appear to rne to

be fo.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Read the Title of No. 22.

Conferences with the Pretender, will be very
proper to corroborate, and explain the Evidence
that hath been given by the Witneffes, and the
Pretender's Notes, and Sir William Ellis's Letters
to the Prilbner ; and for thofe Purpofes we would
make Ufe of it.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Though we apprehend we have
made our Cafe extremely ftrong already, yet
this which has been opened may be offered by
Way of further Confirmation : Notwithstanding

CL of the Cr. Here are a great many Peoples the Objection which is made, that we are at-

Names, with Marks upon fome, and none upon tempting to give Evidence of another Kind of
others

:

' Upon one of them is Writ William John- Treaibn not alledged in the Indictment, yet we
fon, to be gained. infift upon it, that it is proper here, as circum-

Mr. Serj, Pengelly. Read No. 27. ftantial Evidence of the Treaibn which is alledged.

CI. of the Cr. Reads, A Lift of the Third Re- We have proved a Confptracy entered into be-

giment of Guards; againft feveral of which Names tween this Gentleman and others, to bring in the

are Dotts and Marks. Pretender, and levy War for that Purpofe ; and
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Read No. 28. alfo, Notes fign'd JAMES R. which he re-

Cl. of the Cr. Reads, A Lift of the Officers of ceived from Sir William Ellis, a Perfon at the

the Coldftream Regiment of Guards •, and a Lift

of the Officers of the Scotch Guards.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Read No. 35.
CI. of the Cr. Reads No. 35. A Paper, con-

taining an Account of the Numbers of the Offi-

cers and Soldiers in the Firft, Second, and Third
Regiment of Foot Guards.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, we beg leave

to ask Mr. Delafaye and Mr. Stanyan two or

three Queftions, to fupport the Evidence of Mr.
Lynch and Mr. Plunkett, in relation to fome
particular Facts •, whether at the time of the Ex

Pretenders Court. Now,- if we follow this by
fhewingy that the Prifoner was actually ai Rome,
and had Perfonal Conferences with the Pretender

himfelf; that, furely,- muft be admitted to be
a material Circumftance to fupport the Proof of
thofe other Facts. I beg Leave to fay, that it

has been held, even fince the Stat. 7 Will. Tertij^

That Acts of High-Treafon not laid in the In-
dictment, may be given in Evidence, if they con-
duce to the Proof of fome Overt-Act which is

there laid.

Mr. Serj. Che/hire. We apprehend your Lord-
amination of Mr. Layer before the Lords of the m'P will receive Evidence of the fame Kind of-

Council, any thing was faid of Mr. Layer's being Treafon in a lower Degree, in order to prove the
at Rome ?

Mr. Hungerford. With humble Submiffion,

Mr. Layer's being at Rome, and correfponding

with the Pretender, (if he did fo) is made Trea-
fon by another Act of Parliament, not by this

Act of Parliament upon which he is indicted :

Overt-Act, whereby he confulted and confpired to

bring in the Pretender, and place him upon the
Throne.

As the Prifoner did correfpond with his Mi-
nifters, ib he had Accefs to the Pretender himfelf;
and he did own it. That we apprehend is go-

Therefore, whether he was himfelf at Rome, or lng a. Step higher, fomething further than already

correfponded with the Pretender, cannot be offer- is admitted ; and if it is proper Evidence, there is

ed as an Evidence of High-Treafon upon this In- no reafon why it (hould be rejected.

dietmen t. Mr. Reeve. It is true, we have not Indicted

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. It is only to (hew the Pro- him for a treafonable Correfpondence with the

bability of his receiving thofe Receipts. Pretender, therefore they object, we cannot give

Mr. Ketdbey. Since we did not know any Evidence of any fuch Correfpondence upon this

thing of thofe Papers, we could not properly

make our Exceptions againft them, till we heard

them read ; and now, if they prove any thing,

'tis the holding Correfpondence with the Preten-

der ; but that relates to another late Act of Par-

liament •, 'tis another Species of Treafon ; and

Indictment.

My Lord, we humbly apprehend, every thing

that is a Circumftance that will gain Credit to

the WitnefTes examined is proper Evidence. It

looks indeed improbable, that a Gentleman of
the Profeffion of fhe Law fhould enter into this

the Evidence which they would give of his Con- treafonable Defign, which is exprefsly fworn up
feffion, Viva Voce ; they fay, it is only to fup- on him by two Witnefies, whole Credit they de
port thefe Papers that are read ; Who can make
any Objection to a Paper which we did know
nothing of? I believe few in the Court know
what the Meaning of thefe Papers are now they

are read ; for my Part, I know very little of
them •, we apprehend that inftead of being al-

lowed to 'fupport this Evidence, by proving a

foreign Correfpondence between Mr. Layer and

fign to impeach ; therefore we humbly offer this

as a circumftantial Evidence. This Gentleman
having gone from his Profeffion, hath been at

Rome, was kindly receiv'd and entertain'd by
the Pretender ; thereupon he hath entered into

an Intercourfe with his Minifters : And, if we
prove this, it is to induce Credit to the Evidence
we have given by pofitive Witneffes. We there-

fhe Pretender, by the Name of King JAMES, fore think it proper, and fubmit it to your Lord
which is made Treafon by a particular Act of ffiip.

Parliament ; they ought rather to have Indicted

him upon that, than endeavour to fupport their

defective Proof by giving Evidence of an Offence,

which may be matter of another Enquiry.

Mv., Att. Gen. My Lord, we apprehend a

Proof, that the Prifoner was at Rome, and had
i

L. C. Jusl. They muft go on, they are not
going upon an Evidence of a new Overt-Act of

Treaibn ; the Overt-Acts are confulting, advifing,

and agreeing to raife a Rebellion.

Mr. Hungerford. I humbly beg your Lordlhip's

Pardon.

L. C. Jusl.
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L. C. Jufi. If you will not hear me, you will

teach me not to hear you.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I hope we have a

Ricrht to reply.

Mr. Weft. Upon the firft Letter of Sir William

Ellis's he congratulates him, as his Friend on his

fafe Arrival.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I beg^ your Lord-

Ihip's Pardon ; I am in the Service of my Client,

and in endeavouring to do him Service, I am ve-

rily perfuaded, I mall not offend your Lordfhip:

Really for my part, I cannot fatisfy my felf, that

the Evidence which they tender to the Court is a

proper Evidence.

This Gentleman is indicted upon the Statute

de Proditionibus, 25 Ed. 3. The Overt-Acts laid

in the Indictment are, his confulting, confpiring

and agreeing to raife a Rebellion, and to levy

War againft the King, &c.

There is an Aft of Parliament in the laft Year

of King William-, whereby the Pretender is at-

tainted, which makes correfponding with the

Pretender, or any of his Adherents High-Trea-

fon •, and when any Man commits that particu-

lar Treafon, he is liable to be taken up and pro-

fecuted for it. Now my Lord, fhall they be ad-

mitted to give an Evidence of a Treafon com-

mitted in breach of one Act of Parliament,

when they are profecuting him upon another,

they may as well offer Evidence againft him for

counterfeiting the Great Seal, or clipping and

coining for the Sake of Evidence : We hope this

Practice fhall not be allowed ; if they are fo full

of Proof (as by their opening they feem'd to

be) which by the Rules of Law can reach this

Man's Life, which I cannot yet fee, let Juftice

take its Courfe : But we humbly hope they fhall

not be permitted to give Evidence of Facts which

are entirely foreign to the prefent Accufation, and

can be calculated for nothing but to captivate

the Jury, by acquainting them that the Prifoner

hath been at Rome. But if the King's Counfel

will have it effectually publifh'd, that the Pri-

foner hath been at Rome, let them confent to have

him found not guilty upon this Indictment, and

let him then be profecuted upon the Act, for cor-

refponding with the Pretender, and fee what will

come of it.

Mr. Ketelhey. The Act of Parliament that

makes this new Treafon is the 13 and 14 of

King William ; which not only makes that Trea-

fon which was not Treafon before, but puts it

pn a new Method of Trial in any County of Eng-

land, where it is laid. Now they would give in

Evidence a Fact, which Mr. Serj. Chejhire fays

is Evidence of the fame Kind of Treafon, tho'

in a lower Degree, and ought to be received to

prove the Overt-Acts of confulting and confpir-

ing to reftore, and bring the Pretender to the

Throne : As to the Evidence that hath been read

we could not have objected to the Papers, be-

caufe we did not know what they were, nor

whether they related to a Foreign or Domeftick

Correfpondence. Now becaufe they are read as

being found on a Perfon to whom he gave them

;

fhall they, to fupport a Treafon, of comparting

and imagining the Death of the King •, give Evi-

dence of correfponding with the Pretender.

My Lc-d, I don't apprehend the King's Coun-
fel have given us any manner of Anfwer, and
therefore fhall not take up any more of your

Lordfhip's Time, by repeating in a Reply, what

I offered before by way of Objection : I fubmit it

to your Lordfhip.

L. C. Jusl. Sure as this Evidence is offer'd it

is very proper ; confider, in the Indictment the
Overt-Acts are, meeting, confulting, advifing,
and agreeing to raife a Rebellion. The next is,

publifhing a Traiterous Libel, in which Rewards
are promifed to thofe that would affift in this

Rebellion -, a third Overt-Act is, the engaging
and lifting Men for the Service of the Pretender -,

a fourth is, a defigning to depofe the King ; and
another is, to fet up the Pretender on the Throne

;

Now, confider, if they have not given an Evi-
dence of thefe Overt-Acts, whether fufficient or
not, that rauft be left to the Jury ; if they have
given Evidence of thefe Acts, a Defign to kx.

up the Pretender, and to depofe the King, &c.
If they are not proper to fhew for this Purpofe
this Gentleman correfponded with Rome, was
with the Pretender, thefe Letters fent from Sir

William Ellis to him : Letters ^according to his

Defire) purporting Receipts for Sums of Money
to be figned by the Pretender, as a Foundation to

oblige him to make Repayment : After this and
thefe Things have been offer'd, is it not proper to

go as far as they can on this Head, and fhew how
far he hath been engaged with the Pretender and
his Accomplices ? Sure it is proper, as a further

Evidence of thefe Overt-Acts.

Don't trouble yourfelf as to that, no Ufe
fhall be made of that, to charge you with the

Treafon made fo by another Act of Parliament,

about correfponding with the Pretender, for Evi-
dence it is proper here; and it neither can, nor
fhall be made Ufe of to any other Purpofe.

Mr. Reeve. Mr. Stanyan, pray go on and
give an Account of what he confefs'd, when ex-

amined before the Lords of the Council about his

being at Rome.

Mr. Stanyan. Mr. Layer did acknowledge he
had been at Rome, and returned from thence in

July 1 72 1, he faid he had had two Conferences

with the Pretender.

Mr. Ketelhey. I think Mr. Stanyan faid, he
had taken Minutes of his Examination •, I had
rather fee the Minutes than truft to his Memory.
My Lord, in the Trial of the two Bailiffs' in

this Court, the Subftance of what the Deceafed

faid was reduced into Writing -, and therefore

the Parole-Evidence, that was offered to be given

was rejected. I fubmit it to your Lordfhip,

whether the Rule is not the fame in greater

Cafes, and much ftronger in this Point before

your Lordfhip. I have not the leaft Difrefpect

for Mr. Stanyan, and could take his Word for any
thing, but my Client's Life ; therefore, we hope

he fhall produce thofe Notes, which he hath re-

ferr'd to once or twice, now he is going to give a

further Account of his Examination.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I was Counfel

In that Cafe ; the Juftice of Peace who had taken

Mr. Lutterell's Examination did not appear, and

that Examination could not be had •, there was a

Copy of it taken and produced, a*id proved in

Court to be a true Copy, but your Lordfhip

would not let that Copy be read, or the fubject

Matter of it to be given in Evidence, unlefs the

original Examination it felf were produced.

L. C. Juft. Mr. Attorney, you hear how the

Matter is, Mr. Delafaye and Mr. Stanyan give

an Account that they were commanded by the

Lords of the Council to attend and take Minutes

of
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6f Mr. Layer's Examination before them ; that

they have thofe Minutes, 'and have look'd into

thofe Minutes to refrefh their Memories : If they

defire they may be produced, do you oppofe it?

Have you the Minutes here ?

Mr. Stanyan. Yes, my Lord.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. There may be a great

many Things that are not material to the pre-

fent Cafe of Mr. Layer ; why mould they have all

thefe Minutes read ? It is not for the Sake of the

Prifoner at the Bar, but for the Sake of fome

other People, who may be liftening here.

In the Cafe of Lutterel, there was a compleat

Examination taken by a Juftice of the Peace:

In this Cafe there is no Examination compleated

and drawn up*, it is nothing but an oral Confef-

fion, and amounts to no more. The Minutes

the Witneffes may take in their Hands, as proper

to refrefh their Memories.

Mr. Att. Gen. Their defiring to have thefe

Minutes read, is not fo much for the Sake of

their own Client as for the Sake of other

People.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. How the Matter in that Cafe

was

L. C. Juft. It is enough, I only afk'd Mr.
Attorney-General, whether he thought fit to con-

fent to it, and without his Confent, we are of

Opinion, that they cannot be read.

I afk'd Mr. Attorney the Queflion, and was not

aware of any ill Confequence.

Mr. Attorney fays, the Minutes refer to the

whole Examination* and to a great many other

People, and it would be for the DifTervice of the

King, to have thefe Things difclos'd. Mr. At-

torney might have" refufed to confent without

giving a Reafon, but he hath given a good Rea-
fon, and therefore will not confent that they be
read.

Mr. Ketelbey, We do not confent to wave them,
but infill upon their being read.

Mr. Att. Gen. We don't afk your Confent.

Mr. Ketelbey. If you don't afk it, nor give it,

we are fo far even, but I afTure you, Sir, we are

retained only for one Gentleman , the Prifoner at

the Bar, and we have as little Reafon to be folli-

citous for the Innocence of others, as fome have
for their Guilt ?

L. C. Jusl. You cannot read the Minutes
taken againft the Kingj becaufe thefe Matters
are not ripe yet, nor to be difcover'd to the

World.
Mr. Hungerford. Something drop'd, as if we

did infift upon the Matter for the Sake of Others

;

they are miftaken, we contemn fuch an Infinuation.

We are of Counfel for this Man, and for this

Man fingly.

L. C. Juft. You are affigned Counfel for him,
and unlefs you had, I believe you would not
have ventured to have faid fo much.

Mr. Hungerford. No indeed.

L. C. Juft. Go on.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Mr. Stanyan, pleafe to re-

collect, whether when Mr. Layer was examined
before the Lords of the Council, (it is to confirm
the Evidence of Mr. Lynch) any thing pafs'd a-
bout the Declaration.

L. C. Jusl. But before you was intending to
afk him about his going to Rome, and having
Conference with the Pretender.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, that he hath
faid already, therefore I afk you what was faid

by Mr. Layer, relating to the Declaration ?

Mr. Stanyan. The Lords afk'd Mr. Layer,
if he had feen any Declaration ; he faid no, he
had only the Heads of one which he drew him-
felf : The Lords ask'd him where that Declara-
tion was, he faid, he believ'd one Wilfon had it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was any Queftions afked re-

lating to the Perfons that had feen it ?

Mr. Stanyan. Yes, he faid the only Perfons
that had feen it was, that Wilfon, one William

Jeffries, a Nonjuring Parfon, and one Lynch.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Where did he mention to
have fhew'd it to Lynch ?

Mr. Stanyan. On his Way to my Lord North
and Grey's, at the Green Man at Epping.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was there any thing more
faid by Layer, relating to that Journey to Epping,
and what ?

Mr. Stanyan. He faid that he went to my Lord
North and Grey's, and dined at the Green-Man as

he went, then he carried Mr. Lynch to my Lord
North and Grey's, and recommended him to my
Lord North and Grey, as a proper Perfon to be
employed. I think it was employed in an Infur-

rection, or in any thing elfe, that his Lordfhip
fhould command him.

Mr. Ketelbey. If he is not certain, I defire he
may produce his Minutes, as he gives his Evi-
dence viva voce, to refrefh his Memory.

Mr. Att. Gen. We fubmit to it.

L. C. JusJ. It is always fo.

Mr. Stanyan. He recommended him, as a
proper Perfon to be employed in an Infurrection,

and that Lynch having told Layer before that he
would feize the Earl of Cadogan, that Layer did
mention him to my Lord North and Grey, as a
proper Perfon for fuch an Attempt.

Mr. Ketelbey. The firft time you faid, in an
Infurrection, as you remembred or thought , how
come you now to be more certain on the fecond

Repetition of your Evidence than at the firft ?

On the firft Account you gave you fay, it was
employed in an Infurrection, as you thought i

now upon the fecond Repetition you give a po-
fitive Evidence, that this was confeft by Mr*
Layer.

Mr. Stanyan. I have recollected the Words,
and Mr. Layer ufed thofe Words.

Mr. Ketelbey. From whence is it that you are

now fo pofitive, and were not fo at firft ?

Mr. Stanyan. I did fay the Words at firft.

Mr. Ketelbey. But you faid it with an Allevi-

ation ; I defire to know, if you are pofitive thofe

were the Words;
Mv. Stanyan. I am very pofitive;

Mr. Ketelbey. And yet you were not pofitive

before.

Mr. Stanyan. I did not fay I was not pofi-

tive.

Mr. Hungerford. Did you give your Evidence,

that you was certain he faid that he had recom-
mended Lynch, as a proper Perfon to be con-

cerned in an Infurrection in General, or only as a
proper Perfon to feize my Lord Cadogan, or both ?

how did he exprefs himielf ?

Mr. Stanyan. I will tell you how the Words
were : Lynch having told him he would feize my
Lord Cadogan, Layer recommends Lynch to my
Lord North and Grey as a proper Perfon for fuch

an Attempt.

Mr. Hungerford. Then the Infurrection was

out of the Cafe , he was only recommended to

my
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my Lord North and Grey, as a proper Perfon to

feize my Lord Cadogan.

Mr. Ketelky. I think you have repeated it three

times, and different at each time ; now pleafe to

reclify your Memory, and let us have it fo as it

may be underftood.

I muft defire it in this Cafe, my Client is upon

his Life, and he fhould have right, I am fure he

will have it from the Court and the Jury.

We defire to know whether you give fuch an

Evidence of this Part of his Confeffion, with re-

fpecl to his recommending Mr. Lynch to my Lord

North and Grey, as you will ftand by ?

Mr. Hungerford. Mr. Stanyan, pray give an

Account once for all how that Matter was.

Mr. Stanyan. I can give no other Account.

Mr. Ketelky. He hath vary'd every Time ;

I appeal to Mr. Attorney, I appeal to your Lord-

fhip.

L. C. Jujl. Wherein is the Variation ?

Mr. Ketelbey. Firft he acquaints you, that he con-

ferred, that he recommended Lynch to my Lord

North and Grey, as a fit Perfon to be employed, he

thinks, or believes, it was in an Infurreclion ; and

then he fays, he is pofitive that he recommended

him to my Lord North and Grey, as one that was

fit to be employed in an Infurreclion, and at laft he

fays he was recommended by Mr. Layer to my
Lord North and Grey, as the fit Perfon to feize

my Lord Cadogan. I appeal to your Lord-

fhip's Memory, and his own Oath, whether

this was not fo, and yet he is pofitive of it, he

is fure of it.

L. C. Juft. Is there any Difference in all

this ?

Mr. Ketelbey: As much as between being cer-

tain, and being uncertain.

L. C. Juft. For what ? You talk of the Varia-

tion between an Infurreclion and feizing my Lord
Cadogan. The Infurreclion was partly to be

made on the feizing my Lord Cadogan, at the

fame Time, as to facilitate the Infurreclion ; both

were to go together ; if he was a proper Perfon

to feize my Lord Cadogan, he was a proper Perfon

tobeemployed in an Infurreclion.

Mr. Ketelbey. He is charging the Prifoner with

his Confeffion, and therefore I fay, he hath men-
tioned it with two or three Variations : Firft, that

he was fit to be employed in an Infurreclion, and

he explains that by feizing my Lord Cadogan.

L. C. Juft. That is Part of the Infurreclion.

Mr. Ketelbey. Surely, my Lord, this ferves to

make our Objection fo much the ftronger againft

allowing parol Evidence of a Confeffion, which
was put in Writing.

Mr. Alt. Gen. I can't imagine what they mean

;

here is a Gentleman, that gives an Account, that

the Prifoner confeffed that he recommended Lynch
to my Lord North and Grey, as a proper Perfon

to be employed in the Infurreclion, and to feize

my Lord Cadogan ; where is the Variation in

this?

Mr. Soil. Gen. Mr. Stanyan, you was giving an
Account of Mr. Layer's recommending Lynch to

my Lord North and Grey ; did Mr. Layer declare

any thing further relating to that Matter ?

Mr. Stanyan. He faid my Lord North and Grey
received him civilly ; he fupp'd there and lay there

that Night, and they din'd there the next Day.
Mr. Soil. Gen. Did he give any Account of what

paffed at Dinner ?

Mr. Stanyan. I don't know whether it was
Vol. VI.

juft at Dinner, or afterwards : But he faid that

feveral Healths were drunk, which were begun by
my Lord North and Grey -, and after Dinner there

came in a Man they called a Citizen, the drank
the Pretender's Health, his Wife and the youn°r

Prince.

Mr. Soli. Gen. Did the Prifoner fay any thing

about the Chriflning of his Child ?

Mr. Stanyan. That was when he confeffed be->

fore the Lords, that he was at Rome, in the Con-
ference he had with the Pretender, he took Oc-
cafion to fpeak of the Difcontents of the Nation,

which had been occafioned by the Loffes fuftainV

ed in the South-Sia. The Pretender afked him
if he knew any Perfons of Diflinclion in thai:

Cafe ? He faid, that he knew a great many, that

were well-affecled to his Intereft ; that he was not

acquainted with People of Quality : But that he
knew feveral of good Eflates, that were very

well affecled to his Intereft. Upon this the Pre-

tender afked him feveral Queftions, fays he, it

muft be very expenfive to you to come hither to

Rome, it muft coft you 500 /. No, faith he, not

above half fo much. Then the Pretender praifed his

Zeal, and commended him ; after that Mr. Layer

afked the Pretender to give him fome Tokens or

Credentials, that he might have fomething from

his Majefty ; that would be a Means of his

gaining Credit among his Friends here. He fays

the Pretender fcrupled that : Then Mr. Layer

propofed afterwards that the Pretender's Wife
fhould ftand as Godmother to his Daughter, to

Mr. Layer's Daughter ; that afterwards Col. Hay9

to whom he was introduced at the Pretender's

Court, brought him Word, that the Pretender's

Wife would ftand as Godmother to his Child :

But then the Queftion was, who mould repre-

fent her ? And after fome time it was propofed

to Mr. Layer to find out a fit Perfon to repre-

fent her. Mr. Layer propofed the Dutchefs of

Ormond, which was agreed to-, after that the

Pretender agreed to ftand Godfather with his Wife,

and then the Point was, who fhould reprefent

him ? And Col. Hay told him that he muft take

care of that, to find a proper Perfon to reprefent

his Majefty.

Mr. Soil. Gen. What Account did he give of

what was done in Purfuance of this, when he came
into England ?

Mr. Stanyan. When he came into England,

he faid, he applied himfelf to one Mr. Tho?npfon,

to fpeak to my Lord Orrery to ftand to repre-

fent the Pretender, with the Dutchefs of Ormond:

But he faid my Lord Orrery declined it ; and

afterwards he got my Lord North and Grey to

ftand. That Mr. Sfhompfon did Chriften his Child,

my Lord North and Grey and the Dutchefs of Or-

mond ftanding as Proxies for the Pretender and his

Wife ; my Lord North and Grey did ftand to re-

prefent the Pretender, and the Dutchefs of Ormond

to reprefent the Pretender's Wife, knowing they

did fo.

And he was afked by the Lords, who were in

Company at the Chriflning ? He faid, only the

Dutchefs of Ormond, my Lord North and Grey,

Mr. Thompfon the Minifter, himfelf, and his

Wife, and another Woman, at whofe Houfe the

Chriflning was performed : But he faid, fhe was

not prefent in the Room, tho' fhe affifted at the

Chrillning.

Mr. Weft. Did he mention any Time when this

Chrillning was ?

P p Mr. Stanyan.
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Mr. Stanyan. About the Spring : I can't fay

that Queftion was afked him by the Lords, and

I can't afcertain the Time.

Mr. Weft. Did he fay any thing relating to my
Lord North and Grey ?

Mr. Stanyan. He told them of my Lord North

and Grey's being at the Head of thefe De-

figns.

Prifoner. What doth he concern himfelf with

the Lord North and Grey for ?

Mr. Weft. Pray Sir be quiet.

Mr. Stanyan. He faid he told my Lord North

and Grey that he had acquainted Lynch with his

Lordfhip's being at the Head of this Defign,

therefore Mr. Lynch had expreffed a great De-

iire to wait upon his Lordfhip.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Delafaye, pray give an Ac-

count what Mr. Layer faid, when he was examin-

ed before the Lords of the Council, relating to his

being at Rome.

Mr. Dela/aye. Mr. Layer declared to the Lords

of the Council that he had been at Rome, that

he had had two Conferences with the Pretender,

that he had acquainted the Pretender with the

DifaffedHon of the Nation, with refpecl to the

Loflls that had been fuftained by the South-Sea.

He faid, in general, the Nation was well-affecled,

and that he knew Perfons of State, not Qua-

lity, that were in his Intereft : Then he propoled

to have Credentials or Tokens of the Pretender's

Regard to him, which was not granted him :

Then he defired the Pretender's Spoufe fhould

ftand Godmother to his Child ; the Pretender

faid he would confider of it ; Col. Hay after-

wards brought him Word, that fhe confented ;

then there were fom£ Conferences who fhould re-

prefent her.

Mr. Att. Gen. Give the fame Account that he

gave before the Lords of the Council.

Mr. Delafaye. Col. Hay brought Word to

Mr. Layer, that the Pretender's Spoufe con-

fented to ftand Godmother to his Child ; and it

was agreed the Dutchefs of Ormond fhould repre-

fent her ; he defired a Credential or Token to

the Dutchefs of Ormond. Hay told him, with-

out that fhe would ftand, only, faith he, carry

a Meffage, that the Duke is well, and gone to

Madrid, that fhe would do it ; and Layer defired

to know who fhould ftand as Godfather, why the

King himfelf, that is, the Pretender ; and Layer
defired to know who was to reprefenthim •, he de-
fired to be excufed, but Layer would find out one
upon his Return into England, that was proper for

that Purpofe ; when he came into England, he was
at a Lofs for a Perfon to reprefent the Pretender ;

he went to Mr. Thompfon to advife with him
about it, who went to my Lord Orrery, to de-
fire him to ftand as Proxy for the Pretender, my
Lord Orrery declined it, then he went tomy Lord
North and Grey, who accepted it ; the Child was
chriftned -, it was at Chelfea, I take it, at a Houfe,
where there was a China Shop. It was in the
Spring, what Day I can't tell. That he faid

there was his Wife, my Lord North and Grey,
who ftood for the Pretender, and Dutchefs of
Ormond, who ftood for the Pretender's Wife, the
Woman of the Houfe, but fhe was not within the
Room at the Chnftning.
_Mr. Att. Gen. Do you remember any thing

faid by Layer about any Declaration, that was
drawn ?

Mr. Delafaye. Mr. Layer owned that he had

drawn Heads of a Declaration ; and that, when
he was going to my Lord North and Grey's, he
did fhew it to Mr. Lynch at the Green Man, as

he was on his Way thither.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What faid he of his recom-
mending Mr. Lynch in his Examination ?

Mr. Delafaye. He fpoke of his recommend-
ing Lynch twice ; that Mr. Lynch having told him
he would feize my Lord Cadogan, he did recom-
mend him to my Lord North and Grey, as a
proper Peribn for that Attempt. The fecond
time that he recommended him, he had propofed
carrying Lynch to my Lord North and Grey's,

he having told him that he was a very honeft

Man, fit to be concerned in an Infurrection ; that

Layer having told Finch his Lordfhip was to be
at the Head of the Defign, Lynch was impatient

to wait upon him.

Mr. Att. Gen. We fhall now prove there were
Arms at the Pnfbner's Houfe when he was feiz'd.

Mr. Stanyan, were you at Mr. Layer's Houfe,
when he was feized ?

Mr. Stanyan. Yes.

Mr. Att. Gen. Do you know of any Arms
there ?

Mr. Stanyan. Yes.

Mr. Alt. Gen. Give my Lord and the Jury an
Account what Arms ?

Mr. Stanyan. Juft after Mr. Layer was feized

I came in, he was juft got out of his Bed. I ob-
ferved in the Room, where he lay, there were a
Pair of Piftols hung by his Bed-fide, and be-

tween them a Horfe-man's Sword, a riding Sword,
and a pretty large Sword ; on th' other Side of the

Bed next the Chimney a little Cafe of Piftols,

and another Sword hung in another Part of the

Room. In the Clofet of the fame Room we
look'd, and I faw two Carbines or Guns, and
two Mufquetoons or BlunderbufTes ; feeing fo

many Arms, I went to handle fome of them,

upon which he laid, have a Care, they are load-

ed, don't meddle with them ; upon that I afked

him what he had to do with fo many Arms ? He
anfwered, you muft know my Clerk and I are

great Shooters, when we are in the Country. In

another Room, looking further, we obferved fe-

veral Moulds for the making of Bullets. There
was alfo a Cartridge-box, and a Number of Car-

tridges ready made up, as near as I can guefs (I did

not count them) there were about forty or fifty of

them. There was a Gentleman of the Army, and

he faid they were fuch Cartridges as were ufed in

the Army.
Mr. Att. Gen. Was there any thing relating to

thefe Arms confefTed by Mr. Layer before the Lords

of the Council ?

Mr. Stanyan. He did not deny it I believe.

Mr. Att. Gen. I would afk you whether there

was any thing faid before the Lords relating to

thefe Arms ?

Mr. Stanyan. The Lords did afk Mr. Layer,

what he did with forty or fifty Cartridges ready

made up ? He faid they were made up by Bowers

the Gunfmith, and that, if there was any Diftur-

bance in the Nation, he fhould have Occafion for

them.

Mr. Att. Gen. Mr. Delafaye, was you by, when
he was afked the Queftion about thefe Arms ?

Mr. Delafaye. Yes ; he was afked what he did

with fo many Cartridges and Arms, and he faid

they were proper for his Ufe, if there mould be

any Difturbance in the Nation.

Col.
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Col. Hujke fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. Was you by, when thefe Arms

were feized in Mr. Layer's Houfe ?

Col. Hujke. Yes; there were two Cafes of

Piftols, two Fuzees, and fome other Arms, and

a Blunderbufs, and two or three Swords ; there

were about 40 Cartridges ready made up in the

ufual Manner, as they are made up, when our

Soldiers are to charge their Pieces for Expedition

in Cafe of Action.

Mr. Alt. Gen. How many were there ?

Col. Hujke. About forty.

Mr. Alt. Gen. Did you fee any Moulds for

Bullets ?

Col. Hujke. There was a Mould for Mufket-

balls.

Prifoner. You fay I had two Fuzees, will a

Mufket-ball go into a Fuzee ?

Col. Hujke. I can't tell but it may.

Prifoner. There were 40 Cartridges, which

were ready made up, will thofe Cartridges go in-

to a Fuzee ?

Col. Hvjke. Thefe very Cartridges were only

fit for the Army.

Mr. Ketelbey. Thefe Cartridges were not fit for

the Mufket ?

Col. Hujke. I did not try them.

Mr. Ketelbey. Would they go into a Fuzee ?

Col. Hujke. I don't know.

Mr. Ketelbey. According to my Notions, thefe

is a Difference in Bignefs betweeen a Fuzee and a

Mufket, and a Cartridge fit for a Mufket will not

go into a Fuzee.

Col. Hush. A Cartridge, that is fit for a Fuzee^

will go into a Mufket.

Mr. Ketelbey. I believe that, and fo it will into

a Cannon ; therefore I afk whether a Cartridge,

that is fitted to a Mufket, and proper for the Ufe

of a Soldier going to Battle* whether that Car*

tridge will fit a Fuzee ?

Col. Hujke. The Bore of a Fuzee may be made
as large as that of a Mufket.

L. C. Jujl. Thofe Cartridges, that were there,

would they have ferved for the Fuzee ?

Col. Hujke. I am fatisfied that they would
fcrve for the Fuzee, and the fmalleft Arms there,

except the Piftols.

Mr. Ketelbey. You fay there were two Swords ?

Col. Hvjke. Yes, I faw two Swords.

Mr. Ketelbey. I believe you never are without

two Swords.

Col. Hujke. I believe I have a dozen, but they

belong to my Company.
Prijoner. Were they Horfe Swords, or Swords

fit to walk with ?

Col. Hufke. I can't tell that.

Mr. Hungerford. I think you fay, that thofe

Bullets, made into Cartridges were, by the Size

of them, intended for the fmall Arms.
Col. Hujke. I do believe they would fit the two

Fuzees that I faw.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did you open any of the Car-
tridges ?

Col. Huske. I did, and there was a Ball made
up at the End of each Cartridge.

Mr. Smeybert fworn.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Do you know the Prifoner at

the Bar ?

Mr. Smeybert. Yes, I do.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Recollect whether you have feen
him at Rome ?

Mr. Smeybert. Yes, I have.

Vol. VI.

Mr. Soil. Gen. When ?

Mr. Smeybert. About a Year and half ago.

Mr. Soil. Gen. For how long Time was he
there ?

Mr. Smeybert. I think about a Week or a Fort-

night.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Did you or the Prifoner leave

Rome firft ?

Mr. Smeybert. I left Rome firft.

Mrs. Hay fworn.

Mr. Seij. Chejhire. Did you ever fee the Pri-

foner ?

Mrs. Hay. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Where did you fee him ?

Mrs. Hay. I faw him at Rome.
Mr. Serj. Chejhire. When ?

Mrs. Hay. Laft Summer was Twelve-month.
Mr. Serj. Chejhire. What Time of the Year was

it, as near as you can remember ?

Mrs. Hay. I can't tell exactly what Time, but

it was laft Summer was Twelve-month.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. You are fure you faw him
there ?

Mrs. Hay. Yes.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, we fhall now prove

the Prifoner's Efcape out of the Meffenger's Cuf-

tody as was open'd before. Call Mr. Squire.

Mr. Squire fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. Look upon the Prifoner at the

Bar, do you know him ?

Mr. Squire. Yes, I do know him ?

Mr. Att. Gen. Do you know any thing of his be-

ing taken up ? Give an Account when it was that

he was taken.

Mr. Squire. He was taken the Eighteenth Day
of September laft.

Mr. Att. Gen. Whofe Cuftody was he in after

he was taken ?

Mr. Squire. He was in my Cuftody^

Mr. Att. Gen. What became of him afterwards?

Did he continue in your Cuftody ?

Mr. Squire. No, he made his Efcape.

Mr. Att. Gen. How long after he had been

taken was it that he made his Efcape ?

Mr. Squire. It was the next Day he got out of

the Window.
Mr. Att. Gen. How high was the Room he got

out of?

Mr. Squire. It was two Story high, he lifted up
the Safh and fo got out of the Window.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you purfue him ?

Mr. Squire. Yes.

Mr. Att. Gen. What Account can you give of

his being taken again ?

Mr. Squire. He had not been gone long before

I found he had made his Efcape, and underftand-

ing which Way he went, I immediately purfued

him, and I took him in a Lane going towards St.

George's Fields.

Mr. Att. Gen. What did he fay ?

Mr. Squire. He faid he was very forry to fee me;
I afk'd him how he could offer to go away from

me ; and he faid, every body elfe would have done

the fame in his Condition, and that nobody could

blame him for it ; and that he believed my Lord
Carteret would not blame him.

Mr. Att. Gen. But why ?

Mr. Squire. Becaufe he look'd upon himfelf in

fuch a bad Condition, and fo much Danger, he,

faid, nobody could blame him becaufe he was in

that Condition.

P2 Prijoner.
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Prifoner. What Condition ? I defire to afk you

one Queftion ; Did not I afk you to mew me your

Warrant ?

Mr. Squire. No, you never afk'd me.

Prifoner. Did not I afk you at my own

Houfe ?

Mr. Squire. No, you did not.

Prifoner. Did you fhew me your Warrant ?

Mr. Squire. You did not afk me for it.

Prifoner. Did not I tell you the Reafon that I

efcaped was, becaufe I did not know what Autho-

rity you had to detain me ?

Mr. Squire. No, you did not.

James Veterfon fworn.

Mr; Att. Gen. Mr. Peterfon, do you know any

thing of the Prifoner's Efcape ?

Peterfon. Mr. Layer was in Cuflody at my
Father's Houfe, in Mr. Squire's Houfe, in a Room
up two Pair of Stairs backwards.

Mr. Att. Gen. Do you know any thing of his

getting away ?

Peterfon. No, I was abroad then.

John Sweete fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. Look upon the Prifoner at the

Bar •, do you remember you ever faw him be-

fore ?

Sweete. Yes, I faw him juft going into St.

George's Fields.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did any body take him there ?

Sweete. I was the firft that took him.

Mr. Att. Gen. What did he fay to you when

you took him ?

Sweete. He faid, for God's Sake let me go ;

and faid 'twas an Arreft : Why then, and pleafe

you, my Lord, my Partner came up, and afk'd

him whether it was-an Arreft, and he faid it was

;

and then looking about me, I faw another Per-

fon coming after us, who was the Meffenger : It

feems he had broke out of the Meffenger's Houfe.

And then he clapt his Hand into his Pocket, and

pull'd out I believe about forty Guineas, and faid,

we fhould take what we would if we would let him

go, but we would not.

Anthony Stephens fworn.

Mr. Att. Gen. "What did Layer fay when he

was firft taken ?

Stephens. We asked him, is it for an Arreft?

Yes, fays he, it is an Arreft ; and when he faw

Mr. Squire's Son coming after us, he would give

us whatever we pleafed to let him go •, and more

than that, he faid they had no Warrant, and he

did not know that they could keep him without a

Warrant.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, we have gone

through our Evidence, and fhall reft it here.

Mr. Hungerford. May it pleafe your Lord-

fhip, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, I am of

Counfel for the Prifoner at the Bar ; and after

fo long an Evidence as hath been given in this

Caufe, it will beft become me to draw the Matter

in debate to a fingle Point, if I can, and thereby

to give Eafe to your Lordfhip, the jury, and the

Counfel on both fides. My Lord, the Prifoner

is indicted upon the Statute of the 25th of Ed-

ward the Third, commonly called the Statute De
Proditionib\ the Things made, or rather, de-

clared Treafon by that Aft, are, Firft, The
compafiing or imagining the Death of the King,

or of the Prince of Wales. Then the Statute
goes on to declare other Things Treafon which
relate only to the Perfons of fome of the Royal
Family y and then it declares likewife, That it

is Treafon to levy War againft the King, csV.

It is not faid, That to Defign or Contrive to
levy War, but actually to levy War only fhall

be Treafon.

This is the Text, this the Law upon which
the Gentleman at the Bar muft be either faved
or condemned. The Treafon laid to his Charge
is compafiing and imagining the Death of the
King ; The Overt-Acts laid to his Charge are,

That he did confult and confpire to levy War:
That he did publifh a certain Treafonable Li-

bel, purporting among other Things, a Promife
of Reward to his Majefty's faithful Subjects, to

rife in Arms and levy War againft the King.

That he confulted to put the Pretender upon
the Throne.

That he lifted Soldiers for him.

And the laft Overt-Act is, That he confulted

to feize and imprifon the King.

My Lord, and you Gentlemen of the Jury*

there is no Evidence of any of thefe Overt-Acts

attempted to be given in Evidence againft him
in EJJex, fave only that of Publifhing a Treafon-

able Libel, which the King's Counfel, in their

Evidence, would infinuate to be the Pretender's

Declaration. The Evidence of the other Overt-

Acts are attempted to be proved in Middlefex.

And in truth, the greateft Part of the whole

Tranfaction was by the King's own Evidence,

proved to be in that County, and I wonder the

Indictment was not laid there ; but, Gentlemen,

the Indictment being laid in EJfex, if an Act of

High Treafon is not proved to have been com-
mitted by the Prifoner in that County, he muft

be acquitted.

I might here, my Lord, infift, that an actual

levying of War and not defign to levy a War,
being made Treafon by the Statute of Treafons,

the publifhing a Paper which purports at the ut-

moft but an Intention only to levy War or raife

a Rebellion is not Treafon, and confequently not

a legal Overt-Act within that Statute. This

Opinion is warranted by the exprefs Words of

the Act of Parliament itfelf, which is a better

Authority than all the Commentators upon it

;

and it is likewife the Opinion of a my Lord Chief

Juftice Coke, and my Lord Chief Juftice Hales ;

and in Truth, if this be not the true meaning of

the Act, one Paragraph, viz. That which de-

clares actual levying of War Treafon is fuper-

fluous and redundant ; for what is the Ufe of

making actual levying of War, or a Rebellion a

diftinct Species of Treafon, when the Intention of

doing it, according to fome modern Doctrines,

was High Treafon within the firft Claufe of the

Act, viz. Imagining the Death of the King.

This Opinion likewife feems to be confirmed by

two Acts of Parliament, one in b Queen Eliza-

beth's Time, and one inKingCharles the Second's,

where confulting or intending to levy a War or

raife a Rebellion, is made High Treafon during

the Lives of them two refpective Princes, for

which Temporary Provifion there would be no

Reafon if the Law were fo before. I know what

» Cafc's Inftit. Ch. 1. p. 9, and to. Halt's Pleas of the Crown, p. 13,

\iEliz. Ch. 1. 13Ctfr.II. Ch.

hath
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hath been faid to fome Part of this Matter, that

the levying of War meant in the Statute of 25 of

Edward the fhird* was not meant of fuch a

Rebellion as was levell'd againft the King's Per-

fon, Grown, Title, or Government j but of fuch

public Commotions as difturbed the Peace of

the Kingdom, as the pulling down of Inclofure*,

which was the Cafe in Queen Elizabeth's Time,

or of pulling down Bawdy-Houfes, which was

the Cafe in Charles the Second's Time : But to

lhew how unnatural a Conftruction of the Words

Lever le Guerre, it is to fay, that it relates only

to fuch riotous Commotions as I have mention'd.

Give me leave, my Lord, to make but one Ob-

fervation. The Statute of Treafons is penned in

the French of that Age, and the Words of the

Statute Lever le Guerre againft the King, I have

here within the Reach, in Court, a Book of very

great Note and good Authority, it is the Hiftory

of Froifart, who writes the Hiftory of England,

France, and Spain, from the Year 1326, to the

Year 1340, and dedicates his Book to that very

King, viz, Edward the Third, in whofe Reign

the Statute of Treafons was made, and in this

whole Book, Lever le Guerre, is conftantly men-

tioned to denote a public ftated War ; and in

this Senfe, it is likewife taken by Du Frefne in

his Glojfary, Vol. II. pag. 255. 1 only hint -

this Matter to your Lordfhip, for I well know

what Determinations, my Lords, the Judges have

of late Years given upon this Objection ; but I

humbly hope that there will be no Occafion for

an intire Dependence upon this Objection, in this

Cafe, for that I hope it will appear both to your

Lordfhip, and the Jury, that no fuch Overt-Act,

as is faid in the Indictment, that is, publishing

the Pretender's Declaration at the Green Man, is

at all proved.

The Evidence given touching that Matter is

only by Mr. Lynch, and he gives an Account

that the Prifoner and he met at Aldgate, in order

to go to the Houfe of my Lord North and Grey

at or near Epping : In the Courfe of their Journey

thither finding themfelves too late to be at my
Lord North's by Dinner ; they called in at the

Green Man, and there got a Beef-Stake : And
before it was brought up the Prifoner gave Mr.
Lynch a Paper, which Mr. Lynch, and not the

Prifoner, calls the Pretender's Declaration ; Mr.
Lynch reads only one Paragraph in it, whereby,

as he fays, the Soldier's were tempted to be al-

lured from his Majefty's Service ; this is the

whole Evidence given touching any Offence com-

mitted in the County of EJfex : For as to any

treafonable Difcourfe between Aldgate, and the

Green Man ; they cannot in Juftice, and without

a particular Proof to that Purpofe, be charged

upon the Prifoner to be done in EJfex, a great Part

of the Way, viz. from Aldgate to Bow-Bridge, be-

ing in Middle/ex, and not in the County of'EJfex.

In the firft Place therefore, Gentlemen of the

Jury, we hope there is no Evidence to convince

you that any fuch Declaration was publifhed at

all ; and yet, Secondly, If there was a Paper read

there, the Paper read was not an Act of High
Treafon. The Time that the Prifoner and Mr.
Lynch ftaid at the Green Man, feems to be very

fhort, their Stay was fo fhort that there was no Evi-
dence that their Horfes were put up '. The Beef-

Stake was befpoke before they went into a Room.
Mr. Lynch came down twice out of the Room ;

he himfclf admits once, b;fides his gaping at

29J
fome Perfons in the Yard whom he knew, before

the Beef-Stake was brought up ; and yet, before

the Beef-Stake was brought up, this Declara-

tion is pretended to be publifhed : For my part,

confidering how little Time there was for fuch a

Tranfaction as this is, I cannot think, there

could be any fuch Thing as that tranfacted at

that Time, the Compafs of Time would hardly

allow it ; whatever was done, is admitted on all

Hands, to be done before the Beef-Stake was
brought up, and the other Incidents may very

well be fuppofed to take up all the Time betwixt

the befpeaking and difhing up the Beef-Stake,

fo there could be no Time for fo iblemn an A£t
as publifhing a Declaration to overturn Three
Kingdoms. But in thcfecond Place, if the Pri-

foner, which I don't admit, did give Mr. Lynch
any Paper to read, a Paragraph whereof was to

the Purpofe Mr. Lynch relates ; yet fuch Paper
cannot be imputed to the Prifoner as an Act of
High Treafon, there was but a few Lines of the

Paper read, and the reft were not read at all,

either by Mr. Lynch, or the Prifoner ; and I

never knew that Part of a Deed or Writing was
ever allowed to be given in Evidence, without

producing or reading the whole. In the Cafe of

my Lord RuJJel, where the Declaration for

'Rebellion was affigned as an Act of High-Trea-
fon, the whole Declaration was proved to be
read, and not a Part only ; and yet even that

Evidence was upon the Revolution in the firft

Year of King William and Queen Mary, look'dj

upon fo imperfect an Evidence of High Treafon,

that for that, and other Reafons, my Lord Ruf-
fel's Attainder was revers'd ; we have a Copy of
the Act of Parliament for the Reverfal here at-

tefted, and we are ready to produce it if your
Lordfhip thinks fit. — Can it be faid that the

Prifoner giving Mr. Lynch a Paper, of which he
reads only a few Lines, and then the Prifoner

takes it up again, is a publifhing of a Treafon-

able Paper, or in Truth, a publifhing of any
Paper at all ? Declarations for Rebellions are

commonly publifhed in public Places, to capti-

vate Multitudes, and not handed from one Man
to another when they are expecting a Beef-Stake ;

there was no appointed or folemn Meeting at

the Green Man ; no Concourfe of People there,

neither in truth, by Mr. Lynctis own Evidence

can it be taken to be a real Declaration ; for he

fays, as I remember, in that Paper it was men--

tioned that the Lord Cadogan was in Cuftody ;

that Fact is utterly falfe, his Lordfhip neither was,

nor is fo.

I rnuft fubmit to the Confideration of my
Lords the Judges, and the Jury, of how dan-

gerous a Confequence, Constructions of this Na-
ture may prove to be. Before the Statute of

Treafons, the People of England labour'd under

vaft Mifchiefs by the great Incertainty there was
of what was High Treafon, and what was not

;

the Parliament thereupon, to eafe the People of

that Perplexity, in the 25th of Edward the Third,

paffed the Law of Treafons, for which the

People then paid a great Sum of Money ; and

for which that Parliament was called Bleffed

(Parliamentum beatum) and now if every Act a

Man doth, though perhaps tending to Sedition,

(hall be interpreted to be an Overt-Act of High
Treafon, the Subject will labour under the fame

Inconvenience, and under the fame Perplexities,

as they were before the Statutes of Treafons 5

this
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this Practice may be fo far improved, that if a

Man delivers a Seditious Ballad to another to be

read, that fhall be interpreted an Overt-Act of

High Treafon, much more if People in their

Cups mould drink fuch Healths, as were faid to

be drunk at my Lord North and Grey's Houfe ;-

for no Man can deny but that Bibere eft agere,

whatever Scribere is : This, my Lord, is all that

occurs to me at prefent concerning the Charge of

High Treafon upon the Prifoner within the Coun-

ty of EJJex ; and if there be no Charge mide out

againfthim there, the Evidence given againft him,

of what he did or faid elfewhere muft go for no-

thing.

Mr. Ketelbey. May it pleafe your Lordfhip,

and you Gentlemen of the Jury, I likewife ap-

pear here as Counfel for the Prifoner, who ha-

ving pleaded Not Guilty to this Indictment, I

muft fuppofe him fo 'till he be found otherwife

;

and 'tis my Duty (being affigned for him by the

Court) to lay the Circumftances of his Cafe be-

fore you in as true and clear a Light as I can, and

to offer to your Confederation what may occur

proper for his Defence, and legally conduce to the

clearing his Innocence.

The Charge laid to him is of the higheft Na-
ture that the Laws of England know ; Crimen

Icefee Majeftatis ; no lefs than the confpiring and

compaffing the Death of the King ; and as it is

an Offence, not capable of any Aggravation, not

to be alleviated by any thing that we can offer, we
humbly hope your Lordfhip, and the Gentlemen

of the Jury, will expect the ftrongeft Evidence

the Nature of the Cafe admits, fuch as the Law
requires, and is in fome Meafure proportionable

to the Greatnefs of the Offence.

The A6t of Parliament upon which the Pri-

foner (lands indicted, is the 25th of Edward III.

It is there faid, to make him attainted there muft

be an Overt-Act, and that Overt-Act muft be

fully and clearly proved : Et de ceo frovablement

foil attaint de Overt Fait.

My Lord Coke, in his third Inftitutes, Fol. i2»

in his Comment upon that Act, explains the

"Word (Provablement) by faying it muft be upon

direct and manifeft Proof, not upon conjectural

Preemption, or Inference, or Strains of Wit

;

It muft not be commune Argumentum.

Since that Time, feveral other Statutes have

been made in Favour of the Subject, and for re-

gulating Trials in Cafes of High-Treafon : Par-

ticularly the late Statute ymo Gulielmi pii,, which

enacts, that there muft be -two lawful WitnefTes

to the fame Overt-Act ; or one of them to one,

and the other of them to another Overt-Act of

the fame Species of Treafon : And that no Evi-

dence fhall be admitted or given of any Overt-

Ac! that is not exprefly laid in the Indictment.

I think we need not, at prefent, enter into the

whole of the Cafe, or trouble the Court with a

long Detail of Circumftances and many WitnefTes

;

but rather chufe to leave that on the Foot Mr.
Hungerford hath put it for your Lordfhip's Con-
federation.

It muft be admitted to us, that if the Prifoner

is not Guilty of an Overt-Act, legally proved to

be committed in the County of EJJex, where the

Species of Treafon and all the Overt-Acts in the

Indictment are laid ; though all the other Facts

in Middle/ex, or at Kome, or any where elie, fhould

be never lb clearly made out, yet they do fail up-

on this Indictment, and the Prifoner muft be ac-

quitted.

What have they to charge him with fuch an
Overt-Act ? Nothing, but the fingle Evidence
of Lynch ! He is the only Perfon that fpeaks to
this Point. He fays, that they fetout from
AHgate in Order to ride to my Lord North and
Grey's, and alighted at the Green Man-, that
what Difcourfe paffed between them there was be-
fore Dinner: He owns he went down Stairs twice
before Dinner, and fpent fome time in lookino-

out of the Window, to fee fome Perfons with
whom he was acquainted, and when the Dinner
(which was foon got ready) was brought up,,

Mr. Layer's Servant came and waited, and no
Difcourfe pafs'd there during that time ; he tells

you, that Mr. Layer pull'd a Paper out of his
Pocket, and fhew'd it to the Witnefs, who read
Part of it, and that it contained treafonable Mat-
ter, as laid in the Indictment : This is the Sub-
ftance of what Lynch fwears, I took it, as well as

I could, in Writing from his Mouth.
Now my Lord, Is this fufficient t6 convict

this Gentleman of committing an Overt-Act of
High-Treafon in EJfex ? A bare pulling a Paper
out of his Pocket, and giving it him to read,

where fuch and fuch a thing is fet forth, as by
him is call'd a treafonable Declaration !

My Lord, if he had pull'd out of his Pocket
the moft treafonable Paper that ever was invented,
is it any more than publifhing a Libel ? Is that

an Overt-Act of Treafon ? I will fuppofe it a
Copy of the Pretender's Declaration, or an Ori-
ginal, fuch a one as was burnt by the Sheriffs of
London two Days ago : If a Man had that, and
puird it out of his Pocket, and gave it to ano-

ther to read, is this High Treafon ? I dare fay,

if any fuch Perfon falls into Mr. Attorney's Hands,
he, that always does his Duty to the Crown as

he ought, will go no higher than an Information

for publifhing a Libel ; and all this, my Lord,
is upon a Suppofition that the Facts are true

which have been fworn by Lynch : But on the

other Hand, there are fo many unaccountable

Circumftances in the Relation, that an Affair of
that Confequence fhould be tranfacted in fuch a
Place y in fo fhort a time -, upon fuch an acci-

dental Bait; when one of the Confpirators was
either gazing at the Window, or running up or
down Stairs the greateft Part of the while, and
other Perfons were continually going backwards
and forwards into the Room, or within hearing

of every Word that pafs'd there, we think it car-

ries with it fuch an Air of Improbability, that no
reafonable Man can give Credit to it, much lefs,

convict a Perfon of To great a Crime, upon fuch

Evidence.

But fuppofe what pafs'd at the Green Man
(which I am very far from admitting) fhou'd be
adjudged an Overt-Act of High Treafon : How
is it prov'd ? Only by one Witnefs j one fingle

Witnefs to the Fact in this County f The Law
requires two WitnefTes to convict a Man of High
Treafon, and that the Jury fhou'd be return'd

out of that County where the Facts are laid ;

De Vicineto •, Becaufes the Law fuppofes them
more connufant of the Circumftances of a Cafe

which arifes in their Neighbourhood : But if the

Proof of one Overt-Act in the County where

*tis laid, by one Witnefs, fhould be fufficient to

let them in to prove other Overt-Acts, in diftant

Countries, or in foreign Kingdoms, thefe funda-

mental Rules of Law would be totally fubverted :

How is it pofllble for a Man to provide or defend

himfelf
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himfelf againft fuch an Attack ? 'Tis fpringing a

Mine upon him ! Sudden and unexpected Ruin !

Mr. Attorney won't mew any Precedent, where

it ever was allowed to be good, that one Wit-

nefs might prove the Overt-Act in the County

where it is laid, and that then they might give

Evidence of Overt-Acts committed in any other

County : If your Lordfhip is of Opinion againft

us in this Particular, then we muft beg leave to

go farther, and obferve upon the reft of the Wit-

nefles they have called ; not only to take off their

Credit, but to contradict them in a great mea-

fure.

There hath been a great deal of other Evi-

dence given by them, but we muft fubmit it to

your Lordfhip, whether it is material his efcaping

from the Meffenger's Houfe, and his being taken

in St. George's Fields ; and the Evidence begins to

run thin, or elfe, I believe they would not have

troubled the Court to call thofe Perfons to that

which is no ways conducive to the Point now in

Judgment ; if your Lordfhip is of Opinion with

us, that this is not an Overt-Act in Effex, and le-1

gaily proved, being there is but one Witnefs, and

attended with fuch Circumftances, then the Matter

is at an End ; but if your Lordlhip is of another

Opinion, then we muft beg leave to go on, and

likewife to offer what we have from the Mouth of

our Witneffcs.

L. C. Jusl. You muft go on, you have mixed

your Difcourfe fo that no body knows what to

make of it ; fometimes though the Facts are clear

as to the Overt-Act, you have faid as much againft,

as for, the Improbability and Nature of the thing,

in Point of Law, as for the ocher. I don't fee

how we fhall come at it, unlefs you go through the

Caufe.

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, in the Obfervations

they have hitherto made, they have mixed Ob-

jections as to the Fact, together with fome Mat-

ters of Law, that feemed to be aimed at, and fix-

ed upon no Point; to which we cannot give any

particular Anfwer ; therefore we defire they may
go thro' their whole Cafe, before we reply to any

Part of it.

Mr. Hungerford. Since it is your Lordfhip*s

Pleafure thac we fhould now go on, I fhall pro-

ceed to make fome Obfervations upon the reft of
'

the Evidence given againft the Prifoner at the

Bar out of the County of EJfex. The Obfervations

which I fhall make will be in the general only,

for I cannot defcend to all the particular Tnftances

of the Evidence given, having not taken proper

Notes for that Furpofe ; for I depended upon the

Inefficiency of the Evidence given touching any

Act of High-Treafon, being committed in EJfex ;

and I hoped that from that very Circumftance the

Prilbner would have been acquitted ; but however

I know the learned Gentleman who is joined with

me, hath taken very exact Notes of the whole E-
vidence, and therefore what I omit, I am affurcd

he will abundantly fupply.

The fecond Witnefs produced againft the Pri-

foner, is Mr. Plunkett, whole Evidence I chink

ought to weight but very little with any Judica-

ture whatlbever ; the Pnfoner's meeting with this

Man was very accidental in Lincoln''s-Inn-Fields,

when they did not know each other, and yet they

immediately entered into a Difcourle of raifing a

Rebellion, and overturning two Kingdoms, and
that great Secret of knowing who was to be the

General ; though Mr. 'Lynch, after long Acquain-
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tance with the Prifoner, could not get it out of
him ; yet it was communicated to the eminent
Witnefs Mr. Plunkett at the firft Interview, with
an Addition of mentioning the Names of two
very great Men more, the Earl of Strafford, and
General Webb, as well-affected to the Undertak-
ing : But that noble Earl's and Great General's

Services to their Country are too well known to

be blemifhed by fuch an incredible Evidence. Af-
ter fome Difcourfe betwixt the Prifoner and Plun-
kett about the Undertaking, in which there was
an Incident of a Difcourfe of another Nature, whe-
ther the Lutheran Religion were not preferable to

the Popijh ; and after (as Plunkett faysJ the Prifo-

ner had communicated to him an Intention of in-

vading the Kingdom by fome Perfons from abroad,
the Prifoner, in a very great Fit of Bounty,
prefents Mr. Plunkett with the Sum of half a
Crown. This R elation feems to be fo improbable,

and in Truth, is delivered (or rather ftammered
out) in fo wretched and incoherent a Manner,
that I believe that no one that heard it, believes

a Word of it.

The Truth is, the Scheme itfelf feems rather to

be a chimerical Plan of fome crazy-pated Politi-

cians, than a folid Project of any Men of Senfe, or
in their Wits. What Undertaking can there be fo

improbable, as that laid down by this Scheme,
viz. Seizing the General of the Army, feizing

the Tower, feizing the Exchange, and feizing the

Bank of England ; and all this with a Force
which do not appear to confift of above three or
four Men ? And for Money, the Sinews of War,
there feems to be no great Stock of that ; Plunkett

hath about half a Crown at one Time, and half

a Guinea at another ; for as to the Guinea Jeffreys

gave him, it doth not affect the Prifoner. Mr.
Lynch indeed, who feems to be a Man of greater

Weight, upon his frequent repeating himfelf to

be very uneafy, got about feven or eight Guineas.

I mention thefe Things, Gentlemen of the Jury,
to fhew how improbable this Part of the Evi-
dence is of it felf, and we hope to make it ap-

pear to you to be the more fo, by the Evidence
we fhall produce to the Reputation of the Wit-
neffes.

As to the Papers of all Kinds produced as Evi-
dence againft the Prifoner, we hope he cannot

be affected by them, none of them being proved
to be of his Hand-Writing ; as to the Arms found
in the Prifoner's Houfe, they are no more than

what Gentlemen dually have for the Defence of
their Family, or their Recreations ; and as for

his being at Rome, it is admitted that the Evi-
dence is not given as a Fact of High-Treafon ;

fo ought not to be confidered as any Ingredient

in the Prifoner's Guilt : As to the Prifoner's en-

deavouring to efcape, it is no Evidence of the

Prifoner's Guilt ; I do not enter into the Conside-

ration, whether the Cuftody of a Meffenger is a
legal Prifon, or no j but there is hardly a Man
that is under any Confinement at all, but would
willingly efcape into Liberty : Befides, the Pri-

foner hath fuffered already for that Offence, if

it be one ; he hath been put into Irons, and his

attempting to efcape is the only Realon that is

affigned for it.

There was fomething fpoke in the Introduction

to this Accufation which was very remarkable,

viz. That it was a Defign, if it had took Effect,

that would have engaged the whole Nation in

Blood, and would have deftroyed our civil and

religious
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religious Rights : We who are of Counfel for

the Prifoner, have as great an Abhorrence of a

thing of that Nature as any Men can have : But

yet we hope, that Mankind is not to be led a-

way with Shew and Colour, but to be guided by

Re'afon and Matters of Fact. Is it poflible that

People could have been raifed into a Rebellion

by a Proclamation which was never publifhed,

but by Mr. Lynch's reading two or three Lines

of it ? And which, by Mr. Lyncb's own Evi-

dence (which I forgot to remark beforej was im-

perfect •, for he fays, that the Prifoner told him,

he intended to put it in the Pretender's Name,

which it feems was not then done ; and therefore

what was produced, was at the utmoft an im-

perfect Piece only Or that the Prifoner

at the Bar, a Man of a Gentleman-like Family

indeed, but of no great Figure or Eftate in the

"World, and having no Dependants or numerous

Acquaintance, having no Provifion of Men, Arms,

or Ammunition, mould, with the Affiftance only

of a Bundle of Papers, and of Mr. Lynch and

Plunkett, overturn and enflave this whole King-

dom. God be thanked, the Proteftant Britijh

Government is not fo eafily to be brought to

DeftructiOn : They might much fooner (and yet

I think that very difficult too) have borrowed

100,000/. of the Bank of England, upon the

blind Notes which they have produced, fent by Sir

William Ellis, than have brought about a Revolu-

tion, in this Kingdom, with fuch Materials as

they feemed to be poffeffed of.

Thefe things therefore, my Lord, I urge are

Circumftances which render all, or the greateft

Part of the Evidence given, very improbable.

I fhall clofe the'Whole with two Paragraphs

of a Speech made by one of your Lordfhip's Pre-

deceffors, my Lord Chief Juftice Scroggs, fitting

in the fame facred Seat of Juftice, where your

Lordfhi.p now fits ; the Words are thefe :

If once our Courts of Juftice come to be aw'd

or fway'd by vulgar Noife, and if Judges and

Juries fhould manage themfelves fo as would beft

comply with the Humour of the Times, 'tis falfly

faid that Men are tried for their Lives or For-

tunes ; they live by Chance, and enjoy what

they have as the Wind blows, and with the fame

Certainty.

Let us purfue the Plot a God's Name, and not

baulk any thing where there is Danger or Sufpicion

upon reafonable Grounds -, but not io over-do it, as

to (hew our Zeal, we will pretend to find what is

not •, nor ftretch one thing beyond what it will

bear, to reach another.

Mr. Ketelbey. I muft beg leave to go on where

I left off" with Lyncb's Evidence.

All Plunkett faith was in Middle/ex, but whe-
ther he is a credible Witnefs, you will hear by

and by. I cannot but take Notice of one thing

which is unaccountable in his Evidence, and ren-

ders it impoflible to be true : He gives you an

Account of a Letter which he receiv'd about

ten Weeks ago ; he's very pofitive as to the

Words of the Letter, I afked him over and over

again to it, he repeats it as fuch •, when we ex-

amined him farther, it appears that he could nei-

ther write nor read ; and how he came to re-

member fo perfectly, when he could not write

nor read himfelf, is very ftrange. Why, faith

he, it was read over to me twice, and we have

heard him repeat it three Times ; and I appeal to

the Jury, if any one of them can take upon him
to repeat it again with that Exaclnefs the Witnefs
pretends to do.

Is it not equally ftrange, my Lord, that Jef-
freys^ a Man of Letters, the firft Time he law
him, an ignorant common Serjeant in the Army,
fhould immediately fall into a Difcourfe with
him about a Plot, and raifing a Rebellion, as

if he had before been intimate with him ? So
likewife he faith of James Plunkett, the fame
Day, the firft Day he came to him, he came to

his own Houfe, and there talked to him about

this Affair ; as if they had nothing elfe to talk of
but Rebellion againft the Government. And I

fubmit it to your Lordfhip and the Jury, whe-
ther it is likely or poffiblei that any Man of
common Senfe fhould fubject himfelf in fo dan-
gerous an Affair to another that was an utter

Stranger to him : But here he gives you an Ac-
count of two feveral Perfons under the fame Im-
prudence, the fame Infatuation, James Plunkett,

and the Nonjuring Parfon. Befides, there is a

manifeft Contradiction in his Evidence ; for, at

firft he faid, that the Nonjuring Parfon told him
his Name was Jeffreys the firft Time he faw him ;

and afterwards being crofs examined, he faid, the

firft time he knew his Name to be fo was upon the

Receipt of his Letter, and finding the Name fb

fubfcribed.

The next Witneffes gave an Account of the

feizing the Papers, and then Mrs. Mafon. We afk-

ed her if thofe Papers had been feen by any body
fince fhe had them, and whether fhe had fhewn
them, or any other Papers, to Sir John Meeres,

or any of his Servants ? She pofitively denies it

and faith they were not.

I don't know whether thefe Papers were feen

by any body, for we have not one Word of them
in our Briefs, and the very producing them is a
Surprize to us ; but we fhall prove, that this

Woman fhew'd fome Papers to Sir John Meeres,

or his Man, and that thereupon Notice was given,

and the Papers foon after feized. But whether
thefe are they or not, I cannot tell. I obferved

before upon the Evidence of Mr. Delafaye, Mr,
Stanyan and Mr. Doyley -, and tho' your Lord-

fhip was of Opinion, that itwasfufficient to have

the Paper called the Scheme read, yet we hope

'tis far from being a conclufive Evidence againft

the Prifoner, it not being found in his Cuftody ;

and we fhall produce feveral who now are, and

for many Years have been well acquainted with

his Hand-Writing, who will give your Lord-

fhip their Thoughts of it. I believe Mr. Attorney

would not have endeavoured to call Witneffes

that it was fign'd by him, and was his own Hand-
Writing, if he had not thought it material ; yet

we hope that when our Witneffes are heard, no

Credit will be given by the Jury to it, as a Fact

to charge the Prifoner. We fhall give you an

Account, if my Inftruelions are true, that Plun-

kett, Lynch, and Mrs. Mafon, who are the Per-

fons chiefly concerned in the Courfe of this Evi-

dence, are of lb fcandalous and vile a Character,

that no Regard at all is to be had to their Tefti-

mony. The moft honeft Men may miftake in

their Evidence, as Mr. Stanyan is pleafed to fay ;

if he made any Miftakes, I am fatisfied they

proceeded from a Defect of Memory, and no'

a Lord Chief Juftice Scruggs his Speech the firfl Day of Michaelmas Term, 1679. Printed that Year.

Defign
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DefiVn, and he is certainly excufable j but as for

the 'other three, Lynch, Plunkett, and Mafon,

when you ffaall have heard half what we have a-

gainft them, I dare fay they will not have the

kaft Credit, though they had given a much more

probable Evidence than they have done. But

iurely as it is, their Evidence cannot have fuffici-

ent Weight with you, to prevail againft the Life,

Eftate, and Family of the Gentleman here before

you, and to fix a perpetual Stain upon him and his

Pofterity.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, we mail call our

WitnefTes, and begin with my Lord North and

Grey.

Mr. Att. Gen. We defire to know what it is

you call my Lord North and Grey to prove.

Mr. Hungerford. He is to give an Account of

what patTed at his Houfe, what Mr. Lynch faid

when he was there.

L. C. Jutt. Then you do admit that he was at

the Green Man, and he went to my Lord North

and Grey's afterwards.

Mr. Ketelbey. There is their Sheet-Anchor.

Mr. Hungerford. We admit we were at the

Green Man, but committed no High-Treaibn

there ; your Lordfhip hath fet us right in the.

Point of timing our Evidence in the Nature of

this Tranfaftion ; it is proper to begin with the

Matter of the Green Man.
Mr. Mackreth, fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Mr. Mackreth, pray give my
Lord and the Jury an Account, whether Mr. Layer

or Mr. Lynch were at your Houfe laft bummer, or

how long they were there.

Mr. Ketelbey. I think you are Matter of the

Green Man.
Mackreth. Yes, Sir, upon the Oath I have

taken, I don't know that Mr. Layer was ever at

my Houfe.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you remember any thing of

the Saturday the 25th of Auguft ?

Mackreth. No, I can't.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you remember whether you

were at Home that Day ?

Mackreth. I can't tell : If it was on a Satur-

day ; on Saturday I often attend the Juftices at

Ilford.

Mr. Ketelbey, Do you know whether you was

at Home that Day ?

Mackreth. I cannot tell.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you know Mr. Layer ?

Mackreth. I never law him before in my Life,

as I know of.

Mr. Ketelbey. Was there never any Enquiry

after him at your Houfe ?

Mackreth. No : There was the Duke of Graf-

ton and my Lord Hallifax came to my Houfe

fome time iince. The Duke of Grafton intimated

fomething of this Affair ; the Duke of Grafton

faid to me, you are to be hang'd : Hang'd for

what, faid I. You and your Friend Layer are to

be hang'd. Said I, I never faw him in my Life.

They walked to and fro in the Hall. What, faid

they, do you know nothing of this Layer ? No,
I don't, as I hope to be faved, directly nor in-

directly.

Mrs. Mackreth, fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Pray do you remember any
Travellers at your Houfe upon the 25th of Au-
gust laft ?

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you remember when Mr:
Layer was at your Houfe ?

Vol. VI.

Mrs. Mackreth. I never faw the Gentleman in.

my Life, as I know oft

Mr. Ketelbey. Are you €,onftanriy at Home ?

Mrs. Mackreth. Yes, I have hardly time to go
to Church.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did you ever hear any thing of
a Declaration read ?

Mrs. Mackreth. I never heard any thing of it

in my Days, my Lord.
Mr. Hungerford. Pray do you know the Room

one Pair of Stairs forward in your Houfe ?

Mrs. Mackreth. They ate all forward, my
Lord.

;

.

Mr. Hungerford. How far is the Bar from the
Room ?

Mrs. Mrckreth. My Bar is below Stairs even
with the Stair-Cafe.

Mr. Hungerford. Ifany thing is read there aloud,

in any of thofe Rooms one Pair of Stairs, could

you have heard it ?

Mrs. Mackreth. To be fure, my Lord.

John Paulfreeman, fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Do you remember any thing

of this Gentleman being at your Mailer's Houfe
on the 25 th of

' Auguff laft ?

Paulfreeman. I remember nothing at all Of it ?

Mr. Hungerford. You remember nothing of it ?

Paulfreeman. No ; to my Knowledge I never

fee him before in my Life.

Mr. Hungerford. Do you remember any thing

of fome People dining there on a Beef-Stake ?

Paulfreeman. No -, l don't remember any thing

of it.

Mr. Hungerford. Do you remember this Gen-
tleman's Face again ?

Paulfreeman. No , I don't remember that ever

I faw him before.

Mr. Hungerford. Is my Lord North and Grey

there ?

Mr. Hungerford. We fhall examine my Lord.

North and Grey only as to fome Paffages at his

Lordfhip*s Houfe, and chiefly as to the Character

of this Lynch, and what a Character he gave of

himfelf; generally, aMan will give a good Charac-

ter of himfelf, but he did otherwife.

Lord North and Grey, fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. If your Lordfhip pleafes to

give my Lord and the Jury what Account you

have of one Lynch.

Lord North and Grey. My Lord, that Gen-

tleman that goes by the Name of Lynch, I faw

twice ; he came twice to my Houie in Effex: I

little thought that my having feen him twice at

my Houfe, fhould be the Occafion of my com-

ing here in fuch a manner. The Gentleman

was wholly a Stranger to me, and I have never

feen him fince. As to my felf, I cannot fay I

know any thing of him perfonally. The only

thing I can fay, is what he faid of himfelf. It

is a little hard for a Man of Honour to betray

Converfation, what patted over a Bottle of Wine
in Difcourfe •, but fince your Lordfhip requires it,

I muft fubmit.

The chief of our Difcourfe was He was re-

prefented to me as a Stranger newly come to

England, and had a Mind to fee my Houfe and

Gardens. He was introduced, and brought

there accordingly by Mr. Layer, and I received

him civilly. In procefs of Time he told me the

Hiftory of his Life thus ; that he was not a

Spanifh, but an Irifhman, and, my Lord, I think,

educated in the Camp under an Uncle of his.

Q_q He
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He told, that when he was a young Man, he

had taken a great many Liberties.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, we humbly ap-

prehend, this Evidence is not proper to be given

:

If they have any particular Queftions to afk ofmy
Lord, let the Counfel propofe them, or afk my
Lord North and Grey to the Character of Mr. Lynch'

in general : But thus to give an Account (by way.

of.Repetition of .a Difcourfe between Lord North-

and Grey and Mr. Lynch) where he was born, and

where he was bred up, and to give a Hiftoryofpar-

ticular Facts, is what they ought not to do.

Lord North and . Grey. I am glad to be in-

terrupted by that worthy Gentleman, T only de-

fire to know, to whatPoints you would be pleafed

to afk me.-

L. C. Jujl. Mr, Hungerford, you know what

the Rule of Practice and Evidence is, when ob-

jections are made to the Credit and Reputation

of the Witnefs ; you can't charge him with par-

ticular Offences : For if that were to be allowed,

it would be impoffible for a Mart to defend him-

felf. You are not to examine to the particular

Facts to charge the Reputation of any Witnefs;

but only in general you are to afk what his Cha-

racter and Reputation is.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord North and Grey is

an entire Stranger to- him ; but he was only go-

ing to tell you what Account Lynch gave of him-

felf.

L. C. Jujl. That is very well. Confider, if

that is not the fame as if you were to charge him

with particular Fads. You fay, he himfelf, when

he was with that noble Lord at his Houfe, gave a

Character of himfelf much to his Difadvantage.

It is impoffible for Kim in fuch a Cafe to give an
Anfwer to it 5 therefore by the Rule of Evidence

you cannot do it.

Mr. Ketelbey. If that noble Lord was going

to give any Character of him which he heard from

other Perfons it might alter the Cafe. But furely

when the Character he gives of him is grounded

upon what he faid of himfelf, is not that much
ftronger than the Hearfay of others, the Talk of

Strangers ? The Character he had of this Perlbn

is from himfelf; therefore we hope he fhall give it

in Evidence.

Mr. Hungerford. If they won't let this noble

Lord enter into a Relation of what Character this

Lynch gave of himfelf, we cannot help it.

L. G. Jujl. You know, if there be any Objecti-

ons to him, to his general Character, he can anf-

wer them : But if Objections are grounded on
particular Charges of his beingabafe, an infamous

and an ill Man, not having any Notice of this, it

is impoffible for him to defend himfelf.

If you will afk my Lord North and Grey what
general Character he gave of himfelf, you may.

Mr. Hungerford. If my Brief be true, the whole
ten Commandments have been broken by him.

L. C. Jujl. Very well ; and fo you charge him
with the Breach of the ten Commandments, and
he mult let it go for Fact, becaufe he cannot have

an Opportunity of defending himfelf,

Mr. Ketelbey. What Character in general did

he give of himfelf to your Lordfhip ?

Lord North and Grey. I don't know how to

anfwer it, as to his giving a general Character of
himfelf. Thus much I muft fay, I faw him twice.

The firfl time he was brought down by the Gentle-

man at the Bar ; the fecond time he came, he was ill

received ; and I ordered it mould be told him, that

in cafe he defigned to fray there, that I had no
Room or any Lodging for him. As to particu-

lar Things, I don't care to fpeak of them. I fliould

be very forry to fay it when it was faid in my
Company, and under my Roof.

Mr. Hungerford, We will not prefs it any
farther.

Lord North and GYey. I muft beg your Lord-
Imp's leave, if the Gentlemen have no farther to

fay to me, and your Lordfhip have no fardier

Commands, that I may return to my Prifon.

Mr. Hungerford. I hope they will make way
for my Lord North and Grey through the Crowd :

And, if your Lordfhip pleafes, we will go on with
our Evidence.

George Talbot, fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Pray give my Lord and the

Jury an Account of what you know of Mr.
Lynch. Mr. Stephen Lynch, what Character

hath he ?

Talbot. Why Sir, the Character I know of
him is this, that he is a Man that hath been fo ex-

travagant, that he hath brought himfelf to Neceffity

by it ; kept very infamous Company.
Mr. Hungerford. What Character hath he ?

Hath he the Character of an honefl Man ?

Talbot. He hath a very indifferent Sort of a
Character.

Mr. Hungerford. Hath he got a good or a bad
Character ?

Talbot. The Character I can hear of him is a
very bad Character.

Mr. Ketelbey. We don't afk you as to the

Particulars of his Life and Converfation, but
only the General Character he hath, and the O.
pinion the World hath of him ; whether he hath
the Character of an honefl Man, and is a Perfon
fit to be believed ?

Stalbot. The Character I have had of him, is,

That he is not to be believed.

Mr. Att. Gen. How long have you known
him ?

Talbot. I have not feen him thefe fix Years.

Mr. Att. Gen. What is your Employment ?

Talbot. I am not able to follow any thing

now.

Mr. Att. Gen. He fays he hath not feen him
thefe fix Years : How long ago was your Ac-
quaintance with him ?

Talbot. I met him at the Canaries, when I was
coming from thence, which is about fix Years
ago ; I know nothing of him fince, but what I

have heard of him.

Mr. Att. Gen. Have you ever had any Dealings

with him ?

Talbot. I never had much Dealings with him,
what I have had have been very little to my
Advantage.

Mr. Ketelbey. If Mr. Attorney defires the Par-

ticulars

Mr. Hungerford. We conform ourfelves to your

Lordfhip's Rule, to afk only to the general Cha-
racter of the Man : But if Mr. Attorney will enter

into Particulars, we will join Iffue with him, and
go into that Method too.

Mr. Att. Gen. I afked him how long he had
known him, he fays he had not feen him thefe

fix Years.

Mr. Ketelbey. Have you had a Character ofhim ?

tfalbot. The worft I could ever hear of any

Perfon ; I know nothing of my felf, but what I

have heard from others,

Mr. Winchman,
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Mr. Wincbman fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Pray give my Lord and the

Jury an Account of what you know of this

Stephen Lynch ?

Winchman. I knew this Gentleman fourteen

Years ago, in the Ifland of the Canaries, there he

kept an Irijh Gentleman Company, one Wilfon -,

he was then well-belov'd by every Body : The
Gentleman took him into his Company, and af-

terwards he grew extravagant, and the Gentleman

turn'd him out of his Company.

Mr. Hungerford. Is he accounted an honeft Man
or a Knave ?

Winchman. I will not truft him for any

Thing.

Mr. Hungerford. You fay you won't truft him

For any Thing ?

. Winchman. No.

Mr. Hungerford. The wifer you.

Mr. Ketelbey. Is he a Man to be credited ? can

yoa believe what he fays ?

Winchman. I think I would not believe him,

Mr. Ketelbey. You are right.

fames Darcy fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long have you known Mr.

Stephen Lynch ?

Darcy. About a Twelve-month.

Mr. Ketelbey. I dont afk you as to his parti-

cular Life and Converfation, but in general what

is his Character, is he a Man to be believed or

credited ?

Darcy. I don't take it that he is.

Mr. Atl. Gen. Where did you know him ?

Darcy. I firft knew him laft Winter in Lon-

don ?

Mr. Hungerford. Is Mr. George Fitzgerald there ?

My Lord, here is a Complaint made that the

WitnefTes can't be let in.

L. C. Juft. They muft be let in.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Who made the Complaint ?

Mr. Hungerford. A Gentleman here in Court.

Mr. Soil. Gen. It is the Bufinefs of your Sol-

icitors to take care that way be made for your
WitnefTes.

Mr. Hungerford. It is not the Bufinefs of your
WitnefTes to flop the Paflage.

Mr. Soil. Gen. They don't flop the PafTage.

Mr. Hungerford. No ; what is your bufy Co-
lonel there [pointing to Col. Huske] a doing ?

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. We muft flay here half an
Hour for every Witnefs.

Mr. Fitzgerald did not appear, then Mr.
John Blake was fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Mr. Blake, do you know
Stephen Lvnch ?

Blake.''Yes, Sir.

Mr. Hungerford. Pray give my Lord and the

Jury an Account of him, whether he is a Perfon to

be believ'd or not.

Blake. I heard a very ill Character of him a-
bout fix Years ago. I have heard that he married
two Wives.

Mr. Hungerford. Is he to be believed or no ?

Blake. I know nothing but by hearfay, I believe
he is not to be believed, becaufe I have heard fuch
a bafe Character of him.

Collins fworn.
Mr. Hungerford. Will you give my Lord and

the Jury an Account of what you know of Stephen
Lynch.

Collins. Sir I never exchanged a Word with
him.

• -Vol. VI,

Mr. Hungerford. What Character hath he ?

Collins. A very infamous Character. I know
him by Eye-fight only, I have feen him upon the
Exchange of London.

Prifoner. Is he a Perfon to be credited or not ?

Collins. No, I believe not,

Mr. French fworn.
Mr. Hungerford. Do you know Stephen Lynch?
French. I know him by Eye-fight.
Mr. Hungerford. What Chara&er hath he ? is

he a Perfon to be believ'd upon his Oath ?

French. I don't think he is.

Mr. Hungerford. How long have you known
him ?

French. Six or eight Months.
Mr. Kelly and Mr. Blake fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Mr. Kelley, how long have you
known Stephen Lynch ?

Kelley. I believe I have known him fince the
beginning or middle of April laft.

Mr. Ketelbey. What is his Character, is it an
honourable Character ?

Kelley. I never heard any give him a Character
that was not very vile.

Mr. Ketelbey. Mr. Blake, how long have you
known Stephen Lynch ?

Blake. Sir, I nev<er had any Acquaintance
with him, but I have heard he hath a vile Cha*
racier.

Mr. Hungerford. Have you had any Difcourfe
about this Trial, have you heard any thing faid

by Lynch himfelf, about the Matter that is now
in Judgment before this Court ?

Blake. There was one Mr. French, a parti-

cular Acquaintance with Lynch ; I met Mr. French,

hearing he was of the fame Inn with me, (I be-

long to the Middle Temple) and N he told me he
wanted Money.

Mr. Soil. Gen. You know what he told you is

not Evidence.

Blake. Saith he, there is one Mr. Lynch owes
me a good deal of Money, and I want to go
and fee him, and I have no mind to go there by

myfelf. Next Day I confented to go along with

him, as thinking there could be no Danger in

that : When we came to him, I fufpect, fays Mr.
Lynch, that you come for fome Money that I

owe you. Upon that, he defired him to fit down,

and told the Gentleman he was forry he had dif-

appointed him. Then he begun to talk of my
Lord North and Grey, and my Lord Orrery,

and Mr, Layer I believe I fhall hang him ; but

as to my Lord North and Grey, and my Lord
Orrery, I know nothing of them : I know no-

thing more of Mr. Layer, but what I had from

him himfelf. Some Words pafs'd between him
and me, and talking of my Lord Townfhend, he

faid my Lord Townfhend was . of a mojofe Tem-
per, but my Lord Carteret was of a better

Temper.
Mr. Ketelbey. Speak to the Purpofe; I defire

to know what you can fay of Mr. Lynch's Cha-

racter ?

Blake. I don't know any thing of Lynch, but

that he is of an infamous Character.

Mr. Ketelbey. What did he fay of Mr. Layer?

Blake. He faid he would hang him.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did he fay any thing about the

vilenefs of the Plot, or why or how far he thought

it his Duty to difcover fuch Villany ?

Blake. No, I don't know of any fuch thing.

I heard him fay, my Circumftances are very

Q^q 2 poor J
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poor •, and the Motive that induc'd him to do this,

was to fave the Lives of a thoufand People.

Mr. Hungerford. Did he fpeakany thing of

getting Money ?

Blake. No, I can't fay any fuch thing.

L. C. Juft.
That is not a fair Queftion.

Blake. I can inform your Lordfhip more : Saith

he, I was forced to do this ; but if I had got off

from this Affair ; I would fight any dozen People

in London to come off from it.

Mr. Soil. Gen. Where do you live, Sir? Do
you live in the Middle Temple ?

Blake. No ; I live at Mrs. Ireland's in Portu-

gal-Street.

Mr. Hungerford. In the Convention you had

with Lynch, was there talk of any Money he was

to have ?

Mr. Soil. Gen. You afk'd him that Queftion

before, and was told it was not a fair Queftion.

Mr. Hungerford. I think I did not. Mr. Darcy,

what do you know more of Mr. Lynch ?

Darcy. Sir, I went to fee Mr. Lynch on Ac-

count of fome Money which I lent him, and

when he was taken up in Manchqfter-Court I went

to fee him ; there he received me civilly, I took

him afide and afk'd him for my Money. I told

him fo freely, and afked him how he got Money
and feveral fine Clothes which he had ; he told

me a Lady us'd to come twice or thrice a Week
to vifit him, and this Lady was the Miftrefs or

Daughter of one of the Chief Minifters of Eng-

land ; he faid this Woman
L. C. Juft. You muft not put him in this

way.

Mr. Ketelbey. Mr. Blake, have you given an

Account of the Character of this Lynch ? I only

aik you the general Character.

Blake. I have told you already.

Prifoner. I have two or three more to the fame

Purpofe.

'Terry fworn.

Prifoner. How long have you known Lynch ?

Terry. Seven Years.

Prifoner. Hath he the Character of an honeft

Man?
Terry. He hath the Character of being a loofe

young Fellow ; that is all I know of him.

Prifoner. Is his Character good or bad ?

Terry. His Character is loofe.

Mr. Hamilton fworn.

Prifoner. Do you know this Stephen Lynch ?

Hamilton. Yes.

Prifoner. What Character is he of; is he to be

believed ?

Hamilton. No, I believe not ; I was cautious of
keeping him Company ; I believe him to be of a
vile infamous Character, that will do or fwear any
thing.

Mr. Hungerford. We leave the Character of
this Lynch here, with the Weight of the Blemifhes

charg'd upon him by our WitnefTes, to the Con-
fideration of the Jury.

There is another of the WitnefTes, Mr. Plunkett,

to whole Character we fhall likewife examine.

We fhall call a Witnefs or two to that matter,

and then we fhall clofe.

Mr. 'Thomas Brozvn fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you know Plunkett ?

Brown. Yes, I have known him thefe ten

Years.

Mr. Ketelbey. What is his general Character?

.Brown. He hath but an indifferent Character.

Mr. Ketelbey. Is he a Man to be believ'd ?

Brown. No, my Lord, I don't believe he is.

Mr. Keating fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Have you known Mr. Plunkett,

and how long?

Keating. I never had any Knowledge of him
before the beginning of July laft.

Mr. Ketelbey. What Character and Reputa-
tion hath he ? Hath he a good or an ill Cha-
racter ?

Keating. I will tell you : About the Begin-
ning of July laft a Man that owed me fome Mo-
ney on a Note of his Hand

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, we muft oppofe
the going into Particulars ; they know they are
confined to examine as to his general Character
only.

Mr. Hungerford. But if the Gentleman will fol-

low fome of your Examples, and introduce him-
fclf by Prefaces, we can't help it.

L. C. Jusl. To a general Queftion you muft
give a general Anfwer.

Keating. The Knowledge I have had of him,
I never knew any thing tolerable in his favour

;

I never heard a good Character of him.
Mr. Ketelbey. Did you ever hear a bad one ?

Keating. Yes, a very bad one, that he was a
drunken idle Fellow, always kept Company with
other Women.

Mr. Ketelbey. And from the Character you have
had of him, do you think there is any credit to

be given to him ?

Keating. No, I don't think there is:

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, here we produce a
Man of Quality, Sir Daniel O Carroll.

Sir Daniel O Carroll fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. Do you know Plunkett ?

Sir Daniel. Yes, Sir, I do.

Mr. Hungerford. Pray what is his general Cha-
racter ?

Sir Daniel. I can give no good one of him ;

for it is a mighty bad Character he hath; he caus'd
his Colonel to be brought to Town to be ex-

amin'd

Mr. Ketelbey. I only aik you in general ; don't

enter into the Particulars : I only aik in general,

from the Character he hath in the World, do you
look upon him as a competent Witnefs to be be-

liev'd againft another Man.
Sir Daniel. I would not take his Evidence to

hang a Dog.
Mr. Hungerford. And here he attempts to hang

a Proteftant

!

Mr. Thomas Spelman.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you know this Plunkett, and
how long have you known him ?

Spelman. I have known him feven or eight

Years.

Mr. Ketelbey. What is his general Character in

his Life and Converfation. ?

Spelman. I never knew any ill done by him.^

Mr. Ketelbey. What is his Character ?

Spelman. I can't give any Character of a Man
I don't know. All I know of him, is about a

Difpute between him and Sir Daniel Carroll about

a Horfe, and his defiring the Lawyer to fue Sir

Daniel.

Mr. Hungerford. Did he not fay fomething

before that ?

Spelman. He faid, the Lawyer he employ'd

would do him Juftice.

Mr. Atf.
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Mr. Att. Gen. You fay you don't know any ill

Character of him.

Spelman. No, I don't.

Edward Barnwell {worn.

Mr. Hungerford. Do you know this Plunkett,

what is his Character ?

Barnwell; Pray let me tell you, I have been

examin'd twice upon this Account. The firft

time that I brought Plunkett to be acquainted

with Mr. Layer, Mr. Layer's Man brought me
word and faid, Mr. Layer had his Goods feized

wrongfully ; upon that I fent Plunkett to the

Savoy, to have two Soldiers from thence ; and I

faid, cro to Mr. Layer's Houfe, there are fome

Bailiffs that have wrongfully feized his Goods,

you muft go and turn them out. He did go

with the Soldiers, and turned the Bailiffs out of

the Houfe ; upon which Mr. Layer gave him half

a Crown : After this Mr. Plunkett had no Friend

but me ; and he came and prefs'd me, and de-

lired me to apply to Sir Daniel Caroll, for fome

Money he faid he owed him for a Horfe. I told

him I thought it was wrong to prefs Sir Daniel

upon that Account.

Then about eight Months ago he came to me,

and faid he had met Mr. Layer in Lincoln's-Inn-

Fields, and that Mr. Layer did not know him ;

I told him, fays he, I am one of thofe that

ferv'd him at fuch a time, and that he had given

me half a Crown, and that then Mr. Layer re-

member'd him. This is all I know j I'm fworn,

and will tell the Truth.

Mr. Hungerford. Is he a Man as may be be-

liev'd, even upon his Oath, or not ?

Barnwell. I muft tell you, that I found him
in fo many Miftakes about his own Wife, that,

by God, I would not take his Word for a Half-

penny.

Mr. Hungerford. This contradicts what Mr.
Plunkett fays pafs'd between him and Mr. Layer

in Lincoln's-Inn-Fields, with refpect to the giving

him Half a Crown, it feems to be for former

Service.

L. C. Just. How doth it ? I'm to learn again.

Plunkett l'wore, that he came with him under a
Gate-way, and there, after he had talk'd with

him, he gave him Haifa Crown. This Gentle-

man owns he gave it to him for the Service he

had done at fome diftance of Time before.

Mr. Hungerford. Go on, but don't fwear by
God any more.

Barnwell. I am a Soldier, a Man of Honour,
of eighty Years of Age, and would not do an ill

thing for the World.

Gentlemen, as I have been fent for by the

Miniftry, and examin'd in the Council, it hath

been faid, Mr. Plunkett hath made me write a

Letter to his own Captain ; and thefe Men were
obliged to give in Bail, and he would pay for the

Charges.

Mr. Ketelbey. What did Mr. Plunkett fay to you,

in relation to what pafs'd between you and Mr.
Layer ?

Barnwell. He told me Mr. Layer gave him
Half a Crown, in kindnefs for the Service he had
formerly done him, in turning the Officers out of
his Houfe.

Mr. Matthew Pbylips fworn,

Prifoner. Do you know Plunkett ?

Pbylips. Yes.

Prifoner. What Character hath he ?

Pbylips. I think, by what I have known by him,
he is not to be believ'd.

Prifoner. Is that his general Character ?

Pbylips. It is, that every body gives him that

knows him.

Alexander Pbylips fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you know Plunkett ?

Al. Pbylips. Yes.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long have you known him ?

Al. Pbylips. I have known him about eleven

Weeks.
Mr. Ketelbey. What Character hath he ?

L. C. Juft. I never heard the like ; when you
give the Character of a Man, you give that Cha-
racter by Men that have not known him above
eleven or twelve Weeks.

Mr. Hungerford. Have you ever had any Deal-
ings with him ?

Pbylips. No, not I, but my Uncle hath.

L. C. Juft. Moft ofyour Witneffes have known
him but a little time, feven Weeks, eight Weeks,
eleven Weeks, fcft . It would almoft make a Man
fufpect, that fome People have been fet up on
purpofe to give an ill Character of thefe People
on this Occafion. To talk of feven or eight Weeks
Acquaintance ?

Mr. Hungerford. That Man is crouded in I

don't know how, but Sir Daniel Caroll is tumbled
about and cannot get out ; Sir Daniel is a Gentle-

man of Merit, and as fuch hath been diftinguifh'd

by the Government, and ought 10 be treated a
little better.

Patrick Mabone fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. What Character hath Mr.
Plunkett?

Mabone. I have known Mr. Plunkett feveral

Years, and that he was an idle broken Man, and
a great Liar, and not to be believ'd.

Mr. Hungerford. He would lye before and be-

hind, I think you fay ?

Mabone. Yes, he did.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you think he is to be ere-*

dited, if he comes to give Teftimony againft a

Perfon ?

Mabone. Upon my Word I think he is not, by
what he told me ; becaufe I have found him to

lye backwards and forwards.

Mrs. Child fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Mrs. Child, pray have you had

any Difcourfe lately with Mr. Plunkett the Ser-

jeant ?

Mrs. Child. I never had any Difcourfe with

him but that Day my Hufband was confin'd,

when I run to look for Mr. Plunkett's Wife,

and Plunkett's Wife was not at home, but was

gone to fee her Hufband at the Meffenger's ; I

went thither ; Mr. Plunkett hearing I was at the

Door, he defired that I fhould come in. Saith

he, Mrs. Child, how comes it that your Huf-
band doth not come to fee me ? You know, fays

I, upon what Account my Hufband abfents

himfelf. Why, he is not taken up yet ? Yes,

fays I, he is, and confin'd upon your Account.

He takes me by the Hand, he takes me into

the Coal-Hole, and take notice what I fay to

you, and get to your Hufband and tell him
quickly. And he told me, that he took my
Hufband to a Lawyer that was going to pay off

the 18 /. that Sir Daniel Caroll owed him, and the

Lawyer would not fee him, and fo they came

away together.

Mr. Att,
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Mr. Att. Gen. She fpeaks much to the Pur-

pofe : For fhe confirms what Mr. Plunkett fwore.

Mr. Ketelbey. What did Plunkett fay ?

Mrs. Child. He faid, he was going to get a

Settlement for Life.

Mr. Ketelbey. What was he to get a Settlement

for?

Mrs. Child. For what he faid of Mr. Layer ',

a Story he had told me of my Hufband.

L. C. Juft. You have called a great many

Witneffes to the Difreputation of Lynch and

Plunkett, to fay they have generally ill Cha-

racters, and are vile infamous Fellows, and not

to be believ'd ; and there is the Subftance of all

your Evidence if you ftay here till to-morrow

morning.

Alice "Dunn fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you know what Character

Plunkett hath ?

Alice Dunn. His Character I had from himfelf,

that he liv'd with another Man's Wife.

Mr. Ketelbey. Hath he a good or bad Cha-

racter ?

Alice Dunn. He hath a bad Character.

Mr. Ketelbey. Is he to be believ'd ?

Alice Dunn. No, he is not to be believ'd.

John Richmond fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Here, Richmond, have you feen

Plunkett lately ?

Richmond. No.
Mr. Ketelbey. How long is it ago fince you faw

him ?

Richmond. About three Weeks ago and

more.

Mr. Ketelbey. What Difcourfe had you with

Plunkett at that time when you faw him ?

Richmond. Plunkett afk'd me if I was a Ser-

vant of Mr. Layer's ? I faid, I was ; and in dif-

courfe I afk'd him if he had ever receiv'd any

Money of Mr. Layer for the Ufe of the Pretender ?

He kneeled down upon his Knees, and ftruck him-

ielf upon his Breaft, and faid, he never had re-

ceiv'd any Money of Mr. Layer for the Ufe of the

Pretender in his Life-time.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long is this ? Is it three

Weeks ?

Richmond. I believe 'tis about fix Weeks
ago.

Mr. Ketelbey. Who was prefent befides you ?

Richmond. There was no body elfe in the

Room.
L. C. Juft. I would be glad to know, that he

never receiv'd any Money for the Ufe of the

Pretender, What do you mean by that ?

Richmond. He kneeled down upon his Knees,

and faid, he wifh'd he might be damn'd if ever

he received any Money for the Ufe of the Pre-

tender.

Mr. Hungerford. Your Lordfhip may remember
Plunkett fwore, that Layer gave him Half a
Crown at one time, and other Money at feveral

other times ; and now he folemnly fwears upon
his bended Knees that he never received any Mo-
ney for the Ufe of the Pretender, that is, upon
his Account.

L. C. Juft. When you are drawing Confequen-
ces from the Expreffions, confider what thofe Ex-
preffions are : He folemnly protefted that he never
received any Money for the Ufe of the Pretender.
It doth not appear that he did j nor did he fay

that he did. Well, go on.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, v/e will leave it here

as to Plunkett : We will beg leave to call fome
Witneffes as to Mrs. Mafonh Character.

Mrs. Clayton fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you know Mrs. Mafon, or

Mrs. Buda9 or Mrs. Herbert, or what do you call

her?

Mrs. Clayton. I know her by all thofe Names

:

Buda is the Name fhe always ufed to go by ;

fhe hath gone by the Name of Mafon, and Bevan,

and Herbert.

Mr. Ketelbey. What is her Character and Re^
putation ?

Mrs. Clayton. Very indifferent.

Mr. Ketelbey. Is it bad or good ?

Mrs. Clayton. Very bad.

Mr. Ketelbey. Have you had any talk with her
at any time about Sir John Meers and his Man
Sthomas ?

Mrs. Clayton. I have heard her fay that ". '...

Mr. Soil. Gen. They are afking what the

Witnefs hath heard Mrs. Mafon fay at any time

about Sir John Meers and his Man, which being

to a particular Facte, furely is not a proper Que-
ftion.

Mr. Hungerford. What have you heard her fay

about any Papers ?

Mrs. Clayton. I fee her have a printed Book ;

I ufed to go often where Mrs. Mafon lodged

;

and going one Day there, I faw a Gentleman
fitting, which was Mr. Layer: He had fent a
Porter for Mrs. Mafon. When fhe came, fays he,

the Parliament Man I was fpeakingof is not pro-

vided of the 300/. I have a good Mind to lend it

him.

Mr. Hungerford. Pray how does Mrs. Mafon
get her living ?

Mrs. Clayton. By deluding young Women,
and carrying them about for Money.

Mr. Hungerford. That is to fay a Bawd ; is it

not ?

Mrs. Clayton. Yes.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did you hear of any Rewards fhe

was to have by coming here ?

Mrs. Clayton. She faid fhe was to be paid, or

elfe fhe would not do it.

L. C. Juft. What do you mean ? You have

been fo often admonifh'd by the Court ; but it

fignifies nothing. You are charging Mrs. Mafon
with being a Bawd, when you ought only to en-

quire as to her general Character.

Mr. Ketelbey. I afk'd you generally the Que-

ftion, whether jhe had a good or a bad Cha-

racter ?

Mrs. Clayton. I did anfwer that Queftion. -

L. C. Juft. At this rare the moft innocent

Perfons may be branded as the moft infamous

Villains •, and it is impoffible for them to defend

themfelves.

Mrs. Peine fworn.

Mr. Hungerford. What do you know of this

Mrs. Mafon?
Mrs. Peine. I know I lodg'd in the Houfe

where fhe did lodge.

Mr. Hungerford. What Character hath fhe ?

a good one or a bad one ?

Mrs. Peine. A very indifferent one.

Prifoner. Is fhe to be believ'd or credited ?

Mrs. Peine. No, fhe is not to be credited.

Mr. Hungerford. Had fhe a good Reputation or

an infamous one ?

Mrs.



1 722* loBi for High-Treafoa

Mrs Peine. She hath a bad Reputation:

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. You have feen Mr. Layer

there ?

Mrs. P«fc& Yes.

Mrs. Wilkinfon fworn..

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you know this Mrs. ik&-

fbn ?

Mrs. Wilkinfon^ I don't know Mrs. ilf«/fa 5

but I know Mrs. Bevan.

Mr. Ketelbey. What Character hath flie ?

Mrs. Wilkinfon. I know her to be a vile Wo-

man, a'nd doth not care what fhe fays, or whatfhe

doth. .

Mr. Ketelbey. Is that her general Character ?

Mrs. Wilkinfon. Always fince I have knowA

her.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long is that ?

Mrs. Wilkinfon, About two Years.

Mr. Dyer fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Mr, Dyer, do you know Mrs.

Mafon ?

Dyer. I know one Bevan.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long have you known

her ?
'

.

Dyer. She lived with me thirteen or fourteen

Years ago.

Mr. Ketelbey. What was her Character then ?

Dyer. She robbed my Shop, and I fent her to

Bridewell.

Mr, Ketelbey. What is her Character and Repu-

tation now ?

L. C. Juji. I defire you to forbear this irregu-

lar Practice.

Mr. Hungerford. Is this Woman to be credited

or not ?

Dyer. I know nothing of that.

Mrs. Bajkett fworn.'

Prifoner. Had you any Difcourfe with Mrs.

Mafon ?

Mrs. Bajkett. No, Sir, I don't know her.

Prifoner. Had you any Difcourfe with her ?

Mrs. Bajkett. I don't know her.

Prifoner. Nor Mrs. Buda ?

Mrs. Bajkett. No, I don't know her.

Prifoner. Nor Mrs. Bevan ?

Mrs. Bajkett. I don't know her at all.

Prifoner. Do you know Mr. Lynch? Have

you feen him lately ?

Mrs. Bajkett. I faw him laft Night.

Prifoner. Did you hear him fay what Reward

he was to have for fwearing againft me ?

L. C. Just. That muft not be.

Prifoner. Did you not hear him fay he was to

have 500/. for fwearing againft me ?

L. C. Juft. We have a Compaflion for you, and

therefore bear this from you, which we would not

from any body elfe.

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, this is not to be

endured. The Prifoner turns about to the Jury,

and tells them that Lynch faid he was to have

500 /. a Year.

Mr. Hungerford. I believe the Gentleman that

fat next to him did not hear him.

Mr. Wearg. My Lord, \ did hear him fay

to the Jury that Lynch faid he was to have 500 /.

a Year.

L. C. Juft. I muft tell you, if you did but

confider of what little Confequence it would be

5 • 3°J
to you, you would not do it : When you thought fit

to make him your Confident, carry him to the
Green Man with you, and to my Lord North and
Grey's -, and there he was entertained courteoufly

by him ; and do you come now to brand him with
being an ill Man ?

Prifoner. Lynch fays himfelf that he did not
know me till June laft ; and how could I have
fo much Friendfhip for him on fo fhort an Ac-
quaintance ?

L. C. Juft. Then for this Woman, if you
would do Service to yourfelf, prove the Packets
are not under your Seal, and that you did not
deliver them to her with your own Hand ; prove
fomething of that, and thefe Proofs will be of
more Service to you than ten thouland of thefe

Witneffes.

Prifoner. My Lord, if I was admitted to

prove, I can make it appear it is all a Sham and
a Forgery.

Mr. Hungerford. It was never proved to be his

Seal.

L. C. Juft. You are miftaken : The Woman
fwore it was his Seal, and the Officers fwore they

were under the Seals when they feized them •„

and it is proved now to be his Seal, for the Seal is

vifible.

Prifoner. How do they prove it to be my
Seal ? My Lord, it is not my Seal. I defire

Major Barnwell may be afked as to this Woman's
Character.

Maj. Barnwell. I know her : She is a vile

Woman , fhe had like to have cheated me of

1500 /.

Prifoner. You are only afked as to her Cha-
racter in general. Is fhe a Woman to be ere*

dited, or not ?

Maj. Barnwell. No, fhe is not.

Mr. Ketelbey. I hope you are fatisfied with this

general Anfwer.

Mr. Hungerford. They won't let us go into

Particulars ; that the Courfe of Practice won't

allow.

Mr. Ketelbey. It is impoffible for us to direct

the Anfwers to the Queftions.

Mr. Lebatt fworn.

Prifoner. Mr. Lebatt, pray give my Lord and
the Jury a general Account of this Mrs. Buda, or

Mrs. Mafon, whether fhe ought to be credited or

not, or gain Credit.

Lebatt. No : She would take any body's Life a-

way for the Value of a Farthing*

Mr. Hungerford. Now, my Lord, we will clofe

our Evidence as to the Character of thefe Witneffes

againft the Prifoner at the . Bar : We hope we
have proved their Characters to be fo infamous, as

no Jury upon Earth will believe them. Here is

this to be obferved

Prifoner. I beg Pardon ; here is a mighty Talk
of my Arms : I am fo fortunate as to have. a Per-i

fon here that will give you an Account of them3

and how they came to be brought thither.

Mr- Bowers fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. What Trade are you off
Bowers. A Gunfmith.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did you make any Fuzees ?

Prifoner. No j pray let me afk him : Pray

give my Lord and the Jury an Account of a

Blunderbufs, a Fuzee, a Carbine, and Piftols 5

what
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what you know of them. Did not you owe me

fix Pound on a Note under your Hand ?

Bowers. My Lord, about five or fix Months

ago, Mr. Layer had a Law Suit for me : I fold

him a Pair of Piftols, and a little after I fold

him another Pair. Mr. Layer had them for a

Debt : He had in his Houfe two Guns. I pro-

mifed Mr. Bennet a Gun when the Caufe was

over, inftead of Money. I gave him one of thofe

Guns : There is another Gun, and a Mufket which

Mr. Layer had of me.

Mr. Layer had a Note of mine for fix Pound,

which I owed him : I importuned him to take a

Carbine for a Man to ride with, and a Blunder-

buis for his Houfe, in order to let off this Debt ;

and I brought him them when he was going into

the Country : I brought him fome Powder, and

I brought him three Dozen and a half of Car-

tridges.

Prifoner. Did I order you to bring them, or did

you bring them of your own Head ?

Bozvers. You bid me bring a dozen and a half,

or two dozen j and I brought three dozen and a

half : The Reafon was, that I might fhorten my
own Debt.

Mr. Raynbam, fworn.

Prifoner. Pray will you give my Lord and the

Jury an Account of the Piece of Arms I had of

you, and for what Reafon ?

Raynbam. I went with him to one Mr.
Pritchard's in Friday-Street, there was a Mufket
in his Compting-Houfe ; he faid he would difpofe

of it : Mr. Layer afked him his Price ; he faid he

would have fifty Shillings for it. Mr. Layer

faid that was too much ; fays he, you fhall have

a Trial of it, and if your Sifter carries her Caufe

. againft Mr. Watfon, you fhall give me fifty Shil-

lings for it.

Prifoner. Did he put it on me, or did I de-

fire it ?

Raynbam. You afked him what it was worth,

and whether he would difpofe of it ?

Prifoner. Did not he fay feveral times that he
wanted to difpofe of it, and defired me to take it

on thofe Terms ?

Raynbam. Yes : He faid on that Condition that

your Sifter got her Caufe you fhould have it, and
gave him fifty Shillings for it.

Mr. Samuel Steward, fworn.

Prifoner. Mr. Steward, only give my Lord
and the Jury an Account whether or no I was
not intrulted with Things of great Value, and
what Occafion I might have for a few Arms ;

whether you don't know of Money put out on
Mortgages ?

Steward. Yes, to the Value of thirty or forty

thoufand Pounds within thefe two Years.

Prifoner. Don't you think it reafonable as to

thefe Arms, that I fhould have them in my
Houfe to guard my Houfe ?

Steward. I thought it very reafonable.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, we have done
with examining of WitnefTes, to the Credit of
the WitnefTes produced againft the Prifoner ;

and leave that Matter to the Confideration of the

Jury.

Mr. Ketelbey. Pray Mr. Steward, do you look
upon that Paper they call a Scheme, with a French
Motto upon it. Before you look upon that Paper,

I alk you if you are acquainted with the Hand-
writing of Mr. Layer ?

Steward. Yes, very well

Mr. Ketelbey. How long have yoti been ac-

quainted with his Hand-writing ?

Steward. Two Years and an half.

Mr. Ketelbey. Have you at any time feen hirn

write ?

Steward. Yes, a thoufand times.

Mr. Ketelbey. Do you believe that to be his

Hand ?

Steward. I do not believe it to be his

Hand.
Prifoner. Is it like the Chara£ter I write ?

Steward. Not at all : You write a fhorter

Character ; this is a long one.

Mr. Bennet, fworn.

Mr. Ketelbey. Have you been acquainted with
the Hand-writing of Mr. Layer ?

Bennet. I have been very well acquainted with

the Hand-writing of Mr. Layer.

Mr. Ketelbey. You have feen him write ?

Bennet. Very often, a thoufand and a thoufand

times.

Mr. Ketelbey. Look upon that Paper : See if

you believe that to be his Hand-writing ?

Bennet. No, my Lord, I do not believe that

to be his Hand-writing : I never faw him write

a Hand like it in my Life. I don't think it to

be his own Hand-writing at all ; I never faw

him write fuch a Hand as this.

Mr. Att. Gen. Shew him that Paper : [which

was a Paper feized among the Prifoner''s Papers in

the great Bundle.] Look on that Paper, and give

my Lord and the Jury an Account if you know
whofe Hand-writing it is.

Bennet. I believe it is my own Hand-writ-

ing.

Mr. Att. Gen. By whofe Direction did you

write it ?

Bennet. By Mr. Layer*5 Direction.

Mr. Att. Gen. For what Purpofe was it

writ ?

Bennet. I can't remember.

Mr. Att. Gen. Did you write this for Mr.
Layer ?

Bennet. I believe I did ; but I can't tell what

particular Reafon I writ it for.

Mr. Att. Gen. Now, my Lord, here is one

of the Papers that were found in the Bundle, in

which the Lifts were found, proved to be writ by

Mr. Layer's Clerk by his Direction.

Mr. Serj. Chefhire. He is pofitive as to its not

being his Mailer's Hand-writing j yet as to his

own, he owns it.

CI. of the Cr. It is a Lift of Names.
Mr. Ketelbey. Before you read it, what did he

fay?

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, he faid it was his

Hand.
CI. of tbe Cr. It is part of a Jury between Layer

and one Watfon.

Mr. Att. Gen. This was found amongft his

Papers that were fealed up. It was taken in that

Bundle where the Lifts were.

Mr. Ketelbey. We fubmit ic to your Lord-
fhip and the Jury : We apprehend we have
proved this Scheme not to belong to Mr. Layer ;

We have called two WitnefTes that have known
him many Years, and have feen him write a

great
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oreat many times, and that they verily believe k

Sot to be his Hand-writing. We don't know

how it is pofiible to leave it on a better Foot.

Therefore, my Lord, we fhall leave it to your

Lordfhip's Direction, and the Confideration of

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, all that I would

now obferve is, that this Gentleman is indicted for

High-Treafon. The main of the Charge againft

hirnis, that he was concerned in defigning to

raife an Infurreclion. How that appears to be

proved, I have fpoke to already ; bun this muft

be allowed, that whatfoever Defolation and ill

Confequences might now have enfu'd, there hath

been no Blood fned, no Armies railed, or Inva-

fions attempted : And I think upon fuch an

Evidence that comes not up to the Charge in the

Indictment, the Blood of this Gentleman ought

not to be reached : At leafl we humbly hope it

fhall not.

Prifoner. My Lord, as to Lynch, it appears

our going down into EJfex was merely acciden-

tal : When we came to the Green Man, we did

not ftay there three Quarters of an Hour -, and

he fays we went down twice in the Time. All

this mighty Bufinefs, this publifhing a Declara-

tion, talking of an Infurreclion, which is the

Treafon, and laid as an Overt-Act in EJfex ; all

this was done before Dinner by his own owning.

It was not three Quarters of an Hour from

the Time we went in, till the Time we came

out. We went on to my Lord North and Grey's

;

and when he was there, he is afked, if there

was any Difcourfe there about any fuch De-

fign ? He fays there was nothing faid of it there.

Is it poflible when fuch a Defign was on foot, he

and I alone mould go together to the Green Man,

and thoroughly recapitulate the Affair ; which

when we came to my Lord North and Grey's no-

thing fhould be faid of it ?

When we come to Plunkett, he faith that he

became acquainted with me firfl of all, by rea-

fon of fome Goods that were feized in a Houfe

in ^ueen-fireet ; that he never faw me till five

Years after this in Lincoln' s-Inn-Fields. Plun-

kett did not at firfl know me : We looking upon

one another, then he renewed his Acquaintance

with me, and told me of the former Service he

had done me j and thereupon I gave him half

a Crown, which he faid was given him by me
to lift Men into the Pretender's Service. He
confefTed, as I proved by Major Bamewell, that

I gave it him for former Service. As to the

thirteen Shillings, he was afked whether he did

not come to borrow fuch a Sum of Money of

me ; he faid he did ; it was in order to releafe

Major Barnewell out of the Marjhalfea. Being

afked whether he was not acquainted with Sir

Daniel Carroll, and whether there was not fome

Difference about a Horfe in Spain between them,

he faid there was, and that he came to advife

with me whether he could recover the Money
of Daniel Carroll. Is it not natural that the

Guinea he talks of might be another Man's
Money, that was told him by one Jefferys was
fent to him by me : He talks to him as to that

Guinea, when he comes to be afked whether it

was not purely out of Kindnefs and Charity

that I did lend him that Guinea, he doth not

deny it, and now would infinuate that it was
given him to lift Men for the Pretender. From

Vol, VI.
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the Improbability of the Thing, from his own
owning, no Perfon could believe him. I believe
there are ninety-nine out of a hundred that can-
not believe one Word that either Lynch or Plun-
kett fwore.

Then the next Matter they talk of, the pro-
duce a Scheme : How hard and difficult was
it to give any Evidence that fo it fhould be read -,

and I humbly apprehend it did not ftrictly a-

mount to legal Evidence. Mr. Doyley he faid
he knew my Hand fourteen or fifteen Years ago,
and that he hath received Letters from me about
five Years ago, and hath compared this Scheme
with thofe Letters ; and therefore he believes it to
be my Hand. When he comes to be afked whe-
ther he hath thofe Letters here with which he
compared this Scheme ? No, I have them not
here : Yet chiefly his Belief was that it was my
Hand-writing, by comparing thefe Letters and
this Scheme together. This amounts to nothing
more, when it comes ftrictly to be confider^d, than
only a Similitude of Hands, and furely Similitude

of Hand with Submiflion, is not Proof in crimi-

nal Cafes: And when it amounts to no more, it

ought not to be receiv'd.

Here is,sfay they, a Circumftance that what
Lynch and Plunkett fwore muft be true, becaufe

here was a Scheme for an Infurrectiop. In this

very Scheme or Paper, as I took Notice of, not
one Man is mentioned by Name in it -, only Sol-

diers to be had here, the Tower to be feized, the

Bank and the Exchange to be feized, and the

World to be turned upfide down •, but by whom ?

There is no Time mentioned, there is no Date
to it. This Thing if it be fuch a Scheme, if it

had been written by me, which I absolutely de-

ny that it was writ by me, it doth not appear

but that it was written feveral Years ago. When
they come to afk thofe Gentlemen the Under-
Secretaries, if this be fo remarkable that they

lay the whole ftrefs upon this Paper, whether I

acknowledged it to be mine, they could not fay

I owned it to be mine. One of the Lords lays

his Finger on a Paper, and faith, Don't you fay

this about Arms ? Which I deny to be fo. How
comes it that none of thofe Lords directly offered

the Paper to me, and afked me, Is this your Hand-
writing ? There was my Lord Chancellor, my
Lord Harcourt> and feveral other Lords prefent,

that very likely would have afked that Queftion ;

but either they did not think it material, or they

had not the Paper there, or they did not think

it of that Confequence, or they knew I would

deny it.

When we come to call WitnefTes to this Wo-
man, this vile, this infamous Woman, I could

fhew you fhe hath been privy to Forgeries. If

it was not to take up your Lordfhip's Time, I

could fhew that this is a Contrivance between a

Gentleman and her ; I am very loth to name him,

to carry on fuch a Paper as this to get Money of

the Government.

Here have been five or fix Witneffes, whofe

Credit ftands unimpeached, who tell you her

Word is not to be taken for a Groat. Another

fays, he would not hang a Dog on her Evidence.

This Scheme muft come from her : She fays,

fhe had two Bundles of Papers that were deli-

vered by me to her fealed up ; and fhe fays this

Scheme was amongft them ; and fhe can the

better fwear it, becaufe fhe hath fet her Mark
R r up°n
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upon it. One of the Meffengers doth not know

whether flie was in the Room or no. If this

Woman is not to be believed, then all the other

Evidence relating to this Paper falls to the

Ground. It is a Maxim in Reafon as well as

Law 5 take away the Foundation, and the "Work

muft fall.

Gentlemen of the Jury, I would have you to

take Notice of this Evidence, and not go away

with a miftakcn Notion, becaufe here is a vaft

deal of Talk about the Pretender, going to

Rome, lifting of Soldiers for the Pretender's Ser-

vice, &c. Your Lordfhip will tell them all

that' is nothing, unlefs they believe an Overt-

Act to be done in EJfex : That is the true State

of the Cafe with humble Submiffion. There-

Fore I hope fuch Evidence as this Evidence of

Lynch and Plunkett (but only to confine it to

that of Mr. Lynch) hath proved nothing at all

again ft me ; and if what he hath fworn doth

not affect me, then all the other ftands for no-

thing -, that's the true State of the Cafe. I

would not have the Jury think a Man is to be

hunted out of his Life by fine Speeches, far-

fetched Innuendoes, and the like. You will con-

fider the Character of this Man, that he is not

to be believed. I'll leave it to you, and I hope

God Almighty will direct you : I afk you no

more than Juftice. If a Man's Life is to be

taken away by fuch fcandalous Evidence as hath

appeared againft me, there is an End of all your

Liberties, your Wives may be taken from you,

your Children made Slaves, and all that is valu-

able to you, your Lives and Eftates will be but

very precarious. ,

Mr. Soil. Gen. May it pleafe your Lordfhip

and you Gentlemen of the Jury, you have heard

a very long Evidence, and it is my Part, as ex-

actly and faithfully as I can, to fum up to you

the Subftance of it, and to reply to the Objec-

tions which have been made on the Behalf of

the Prifoner ; as well to fuch Objections as have

been made by the Prifoner himfelf, and by his

Counfel for him, as to thofe which arife from

the Evidence that has come out of the Mouths

of his Witneffes : And after I have done this, I

doubt not but it will appear to your Satisfacti-

on, that the Evidence which has been given for

the King ftands unanfwered, and is a ftrong

Proof of High-Treafon againft the Prifoner at

the Bar.

Gentlemen, the Treafon with which the Pri-

foner ftands charged is comparing and imagin-

ing the Death of the King. This high Crime
confifts in the Imagination of the Heart ; but it

muft be proved and made out againft the Of-

fender by Acts which he hath done. The Overt-

Acts of this Treafon alledged to be done by the

Prifoner, are, in the firft place, confulting and

confpiring to levy War againft his Majefty : In

the next place, publilhing a treafonable Decla-

ration, containing Exhortations, Encourage-

ments, and Promiles of Rewards, to ftir up the

King's Subjects to take Arms, and rife in Re-
bellion againft his Majefty ; confulting and con-

fpiring to exalt the Pretender to the Crown of

this Realm, and put him in Poffeflion of the

Government by armed Force, and Troops to

be levied for that Purpofe •, the actual inlifting

and retaining of Men to ferve in this Rebellion ;

and, finally, a Confpiracy to feize and imprifon

the facred Perfon of the King himfelf.

Gentlemen, the heinous Nature and deftructive
Tendency of thefe Facts were fully explained
to you in the Opening of the Caufe. If they
had met with Succefs, the Event could undoubt-
edly have been no lefs than the entire Subverfion
of our prefent happy Eftablifhment •, and, in

confequence of that, the lofs of every thing that

is dear and valuable to us. For this Reafon it

was rightly admitted by one of the Counfel for

the Prifoner, that the Crime, if proved, is in-

capable of Aggravation ; and being fo, although
it is impoflible to fay too much concerning it,

yet to fay a great deal to you muft be unneceffary,

becaufe it is equally impoflible for the Hearts of
Englijhmen and Proteftants to fuggeft too little

to themfelves on fo important, fo moving an Oc-
cafion.

The Evidence which has been given confifts

of feveral Parts and different Kinds, every one
of which conduces to fupport and corroborate

the other, and taken together, they make up
the fulleft and moft convincing Teftimony that

can be expected in any Cafe. In the firft Place,

living Witneffes were produced to you who were
privy to the treafonable Acts and Confutations ;

in the next Place, feveral Papers have been read

to you, fome of them written with the Prifon-

er's own Hand, but all of them belonging to

him ; and laft of all, you have the Confeffion

of the Prifoner himfelf proved by two Wit-
neffes.

The firft Witnefs was Mr. Stephen Lynch,

who gives you an Account in what manner
he was firft introduced to the Prifoner at the

Bar. He tells you he came into England about

April laft, and had feveral Meetings with one

Dr. Murphey, who was his old Acquaintance.

At thefe Meetings they had a Difcourfe relating

to the Pretender, and an Attempt to be made
for a general Rifing in his Favour ; and Dr. Mur-
phey having thus difclofed the Secret, told Lynch

that if he would be of the Party, he would re-

commend him to a Gentleman who had a confi-

derable Share in the Management of the Affair.

Lynch took Time to deliberate upon it, and in two

or three Days after told Murphey he was refolved to

be of the Party.

Afterwards in June laft, Dr. Murphey carries

Lynch to the Prifoner's Houfe, who propofed to

them to go to the Griffin-Tavern in Holborne.

Thither they went, and the Prifoner foon came

to them ; and you have heard in what manner

Murphey prefented Lynch to the Prifoner, as be-

ing the Gentleman he had before fpoke to him of,

and what Propofals were made at that Meeting by

the Prifoner to Lynch. That there was to be an

Infurrection in the Kingdom in Favour of the Pre-

tender, in which they fhould be fupported by a

great many of the Army and the Guards, as well

as by feveral of the Nobility and Gentry ; and that

he wanted a fit Perfon to take one of the firft Steps

in it by feizing the Perfon of fome General, or o-

ther great Man.
It may be proper here to take Notice of an

Objection which was made to this, which is the

very beginning of our Evidence : That Lynch

being an abfolute Stranger to the Prifoner, it is

very extraordinary that the Prifoner fhould make
a Propofal of fo dangerous a Nature to him at

firft Sight. But this is plainly accounted for

by



1722. B. R. for High-Treafon;

by the Witnefs who, tells you he was intimately

acquainted with Dr. Murphey, and Murphey was

very intimate with and introduced him to the

Priibner, as a Friend, who might be confided in.

Agreeably to this you obferve that the firft thing

the Prifoner accofted Lynch with, was that he had

had fuch ftrong Recommendations of Lynch, that

he was fully fatisfied in him.

This Witnefs goes on to give you an Account

that in a Day or two after, in Purfuance of the

Directions he had received from the Prifoner, he

went to the fame Tavern, and fent for the Pri-

foner. They had fome further Converfation about

a Rifing, and the Inclination which appear'd

in the Nation for a Revolution. And now it

was that the Prifoner inform'd Lynch that there

was a great Man at the Head of this Affair, who
neither wanted Wit, Courage, or Refolution,

and would at a proper time give Lynch Orders

to effect fomething considerable. At this Meet-

ing the Prifoner particularly engaged Lynch to

feize the Earl of Cadogan. The Reafon of

this Attempt the Witnefs gives you, that it

was in order to difcourage the King's Party, and

animate the Pretender's. And, Gentlemen, the

meaning of this is plain and obvious ; for if

an Infurrection was begun, what could be more

likely to create a Confufion in the Army, and

difpofe the Soldiers to revolt, which appears to

have been a main Part of this Defign, than the

feizing of their General ?

There were feveral other Meetings both before

and after the Prifoner's going into the Country,

where the Witnefs told you he had ftaid fixteen

or feventeen Days. At thofe Meetings they dif-

cours'd concerning the Confpiracy ; and at one

of them it is remarkable the Prifoner told Lynch,

that if they once made a Beginning here, they

fhou'd want no Affiftance from Abroad. And
at laft Lynch tells you, that he being under

Neceffities, expreffing great Uneafinefs at the

Delay of the Project, and, as I remember, talk-

ing of going beyond Sea, the Prifoner actually

advanc'd to him a Sum of Money, no lefs than

eight or ten Guineas at different Times, in order

to engage him to flay in England, and to affift in

the intended Defign of a Revolution. This is one

Proof of the Overt-Act laid in the Indictment of

lifting Men.
As they had confider'd how to difpofe of the

General, fo it appears they did not neglect the

Army •, for Lynch acquaints you, that upon Dif-

courfe about that, he afk'd what Encouragement
they had from the Army; upon which the Pri-

foner anfwer'd, that they had great Encourage-

ment from thence, and feveral Serjeants and

common Soldiers had given them Reafon to be-

lieve they would join them. Lynch being afk'd

as to the Time when this Defign was to be put

in Execution, he told you there was no certain

Time fix'd, but the Prifoner inform'd him it

was to be at the breaking up of the Camp ; and

at the fame time gave a Reafon for it, which
is by no Means to be pafs'd over, That they

could not have fo good Opportunities to talk with

the Soldiers (that is, to feduce them from their

Duty and Allegiance) whilfl they were encamped,

as in their Quarters. Purfuant to thefe Conful-

taions, Mr. Layer afterwards told him 'twould

be necefiary to take a proper time to view my
Lord Cadogan'% Houfe. The Pretence for go-
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ing thither was that Layer had a Particular of an
Eftate which was to be fold to lay before his
Lordfhip. He tells you that in Fact they went
to the Houfe, furvey'd it, talk'd of the Feafible-

nefs of the Attempt, and at that time they alfo

difcours'd of feizing the Tower ; and the Pri-
ibner told the Witnefs that the Tower would be
immediately furrender'd to the Party on the Day
the Plot fhould be put in Execution ; for a cer-

tain Officer would take upon him to mount the
Guard there that Day, who would facilitate the
Delivery of it to them. And the People of the
Mint were at the fame time to have Arms put in-

to their Hands.
This is a very remarkable Paffage, and falls in.

with the Scheme which was afterwards produced
to you in the Prifoner's Hand-Writing.
The next Meeting where any thing pafs'd

worth repeating to you, was at the Queen's-

Head-Tavern in Great Queen-sireet ; and when
the Witnefs came to the Prifoner there, he found
one Wilfon in Company with him, and another
Man, who feem'd by his Cloaths to be a Serje-

ant of the Guards. The Uie to be made of
that Fact is, that it is a Circumftance which falls

in with the written Scheme ; for you obferv'd

that one George Wilfon is there mention'd as the

Perfon who was to manage the Serjeants, and re-

ceive Orders from the principal Officer.

At this Meeting Lynch tells you they talk'd

over the Bufinefs, and drank good Succels to the
Enterprize. When they parted, he compJain'd
to the Prifoner of the long Delay. Upon which
Mr. Layer told him there was a Nobleman at

the Head of the Defign, who had full Power
and Authority from the Pretender (whom he
called King,) who would lofe no fit Opportunity
to put it in Execution. He did not name this

Nobleman, but told Lynch that he fhould

be prefented to him in due time, and alfo re-

ceive Orders from him to feize my Lord Ca-
dogan.

Gentlemen, it will be very material for you
to fix this Circumftance in your Memories, and
to connect it with the Evidence which comes af-

terwards, and what was done in confequence of
this Meeting.

For after Layer had thus declared that there

was a Nobleman at the Head of the Confpiracy,

and Lynch fhould be prefented to him in cue
Time, then it follows that upon the twenty-

fourth of Augujl, the Day the Bifhop of Rochefter

was committed to the Tower, which appears by
the Evidence to be the Time of their next Meet-
ing, Mr. Layer propofed to Lynch to ride out

to take the Air, which was agreed upon for the

next Day.

In that Journey the Prifoner perfuaded Lynch

to carry Arms, becaufe as he then declared he

had that about him which he ivou'd not lofe for all

the World. Upon the Road Layer told Lynch

they were to go to my Lord North and Grey's,

and when they were got pretty near the Green

Man at Layton-Stone in Effex, it was thought to

be too late to go on to dine at Lord North and

Grey's ; and therefore the Prifoner propofed to

flop at the Green Man to take a Dinner.

At this Place the Overt-Acts of High Treafon

committed in EfJ'ex, which we were fo much call'd

upon to make, out do arife. During their (lay here

the Witnefs gives you an Account that they dif—

R r 2 courLd
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courfed of the whole Project of the Infurrection,

the Means of effecting it,- the Uneafinefs that was

in the Nation, and in General all the feveral mat-

ters they had confulted of before , and after they

had done this he tells you Mr. Layer the Pri-

ibner propofed to him that deteftable and mock-

ing Defign of feizing the facred Perfon of the

King, which he fometimes call'd fending a ftrong

Guard to take Care of- at other times to fecure

the King's Perfon.

He tells you farther, that Mr. Layer pull'd

out of his Pocket a Manufcript Paper, and de-

liver'd it to the Witnefs in part folded down,

and he read that Part of it which was left open.

That this Paper contained a Declaration, with a

Recital, that my Lord Cadogan was then actually

in their Cuftody : That there were in it Invita-

tions to the People to Rife in Arms and repair

to their Party : Encouragements to the Soldiers

to Revolt, with an Offer of 'Three Guineas to

every Horfeman and Serjeant, 'Two Guineas to

every Corporal, and One Guinea to every Com-

mon Soldier, to be paid immediately on their

joining the Party •, and a Promife of further

Rewards. Lynch acquaints you that the Prifoner

talk'd of this Declaration being of his own Com-

pofing, and that from the Difcourfe which pafs'd

between them, and the Appearance of the Paper,

he apprehended it to be of the Prifoner's Hand-

Writing.

My Lord, after this Declaration had been

thus produced, the Prifoner took it back again,

put it into his Pocket, and kept it ; and there-

fore the Paper itfeJf being in his Cuftody, we
were properly admitted to prove the Contents of

it by Parol Evidence •, and I apprehend if we had

no further Proof of thefe Overt-Ads which were

done in Ejfex^ this alone is fully fufficient to

maintain the Indictment to be regularly and pro-

perly found in that County.

From the Green Man they went on to Epping,

to my Lord North and Grey's, with whom it is

admitted the Witnefs was not at all acquainted,

and confequently could not of himfelf have any

particular Reafon for going thither, but it ap-

pears to have been upon the Motion of the Pri-

foner. When they came to the Lord North and

Grey's Houfe, Lynch tells you that the Prifoner

introduced him to his Lordfhip j and this brings

back to one's Memory, and makes it impofilble

not to recollect what the Prifoner had told Lynch

at their laft Meeting, in time next preceding this

Journey, that there was a great Man at the Head
of this Defign, to whom he fhould be prefented

in due time.

Gentlemen, after this Lynch went a fecond

time to my Lord North and Grey's at Epping,

and there he found the Prifoner at the Bar ; in-

deed he does not own to you that any thing

pafs'd between them relating to this Confpiracy

in the Prefence of my Lord North ; but at that

Place Lynch) in Converfation with Mr. Layer,

exprefs'd an Uneafinefs that the Affair was de-

layed, but Layer bid him be eafy, for it might be

done fooner than he expected. .

Gentlemen, this is the Subftance of the Evi-
dence of what pafs'd in Efjex. But the Witnefs
tells you he had afterwards feveral Converfations
with Mr. Layer, and when he exprefs'd his Con-
cernment at the Delay of putting the Defign in

Execution, Layer told him he was fo bent upon

the Succefs of it, that rather than it mould fail,

he would be a fecond Maffinello : This was re-

prefented as a ridiculous Exprefilon by one of
the Council for the Prifoner : But we have all

heard what Confufions were rais'd by that pro-

fligate Fellow in the Kingdom of Naples ; and it

is plain, that was the Example the Prifoner referr'd

to by this Exprefilon.

Mr. Lynch was crofs-examin'd by the Counfel

for the Priibner, with as much liberty as they

thought fit to ufe ; but I did not obferve that his

Evidence was at all weaken'd, I think I may lay,

it was rather confirm'd by it, fince it was upon
their own Queftions he gave his Reafons how
Layer came to deal fo Openly and unguardedly

with him at firft Sight. And thofe Reafons were

ftrongi for it is not improbable, if Murphey and
Layer were engag'd in a Treafonable Defign,

that one of them fhould have confidence in a

third Perfon on fo ftrong a Recommendation from
the other.

The next Witnefs is Matthew Plunkett, and I

apprehend, notwithftanding every Thing that

hath been faid againft his Teftimony, that it is

rather ftrengthened, as to the Facts fworn by him,

than weakened by the Evidence for the Prifoner.

He tells you, his firft Acquaintance with Mr.
Layer was about five Years fince, and had its

Rife upon this Occafion : The Goods in the

Houfe where the Prifoner then lodg'd, being

taken in Execution, (whether his own Goods or
not, is not at all material) one Major Barnwell,.

who has been examined for the Prifoner, was
employed to procure Perfons to refcue thofe

Goods ; Barnwell applied to this Witnefs, who
got two Grenadiers, that were let in at a private

Door by Mr. Layer's Clerk. They did their

Work, drove out the Officers, and refcued the

Goods ; and for this Service Mr. Layer rewards

them with a Crown and fome Brandy. Stace

that, it appears he has been employed on other

Meflages between Major Barnwell and the Pri-

foner ; and in what manner Plunkett is fupported

in thefe Circumftances, and by Confequence in the

reft of his Teftmony, by Major Barnwell himfelf,

who has been produced to difcredit him, I ihall ob-

ferve when I come to confider the Evidence for the

Prifoner.

But the Witnefs having given you this Ac-
count of the Introduction to the Correfpondence,

tells you, that in July laft, James Plunkett came
to him from the Prifoner, enquir'd privately

what Acquaintance he had amongft the Soldiers,

and defired him to meet the Priibner at the

Italian Coffee-houfe in Kuffel-Qourt ; but he did

not meet him there, not having Money nor Incli-

nation to go to a Coffee-houfe. He gives you>

an Account, that on the Sunday following, re-

turning from St. Andrew's Church, as he was go-

ing over Lincoln's-Inn-Fields, Mr. Layer met him,

Plunkett had forgotten Layer's Face, by Layer re-

membred him, and afk'd him if he knew him ;

to which Plunkett anfwering that he did not, the

Prifoner told him his Name, which made him
recollect. Layer then enquired if James Plun-

kett had not been with the Witnefs, to defire him
to come to the Italian Coffee-Houfe, a few Nights

before ; and having made himfelf known by thefe

Circumftances, took Plunkett into a private Place.

There they had a long Conversion, in which
Layer began with declaring how well affur'd he

was
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was of Plunkett's good Affections to the Preten-

der, and faid, he wanted fome old Soldiers, fuch

as Plunkett was, that would head and difcipline

a Mob, for they had other Men enough. Plun-

kett faid he did know feveral old Soldiers, but he

hefitated a little about the Pretender's being a

Papift. The Prifoner to take off the Force of

that Scruple, anfwered, We had as good have a

Papift for our King as a Lutheran, / don't know

what Difference there is between them (that isJ be-

tween a popifh King and a Proteftant one

An important Difference ! Which I wifti with all

my Soul, irere not too much forgotten, or per-

haps, too little valued, by many amongft us, who
are not fo frank in declaring as the Prifoner.

Mr. Layer proceeded to excite the Witnefs to

join in his Ttefifon, by a falfe Reprefentation of

the State of the Nation, and particularly of the

Injoftice, as he call'd it, which was done to old

Soldiers who had ferved abroad ; a Topic moft

likely to captivate an old Serjeant. After this

Preface, he inform'd the Witnefs there was to

be an Infurrection, and Plunkett afking who was

the Promoter of the Defign, told him it was

my Lord North and Grey, whom he commended
as a fine General ; and then he went through a

Sort of Lift of feveral other Perfons of Confi-

deration. The Witnefs have declared that he

knew feveral Soldiers, faid, he could procure

five and twenty, whereupon Mr. Layer defired

he would make a Lift of their Names, and the

Places of their Lodgings, that they might be in

Readinefs upon Gall j and at parting, gave him
half a Crown.

After they had thus talk'd of the Confpiracy,

there followed a very obfervable Paflage ; for

the Prifoner declared that the Defign had been

put in Execution fome time ago, if fome Perfon

had not difcovered it to the French Ambaflador,
who writ of it to the Regent, and fo it was no-

tified to the King. However, even this Appre-
henfion of a Difcovery did not terrify them;

for the Project was to go om The late Duke of
Ormond was to come in a fingle Ship, and Ge-
neral Dillon in another, and they were to bring

others with them j which you take Notice falls in

with the Evidence of Lynch, that Layer declared

to him that they mould not want Encouragement
or Afiiftance from abroad, when once they had

made a Beginning here.

The next Intercourfe between the Prifoner and
Plunkett was not perfonal, but by the means of one

Jeffreys, a Nonjuring Clergyman.

Gentlemen, you obferved that the Prifoner

told Plunkett at parting, that he would fend a

Meflenger to him with Money ; and afterwards,

at his own Houfe, on the Morning he went out

of Town for Norfolk, that he had left a Guinea
with a Nonjuring Clergyman to give him to

do Service with ; And fays Layer, whilft

I am abroad, you may be fure I fhall not be

idle. Accordingly Mr. Jeffreys came within a

few Days after, and appears to be that Cler-

gyman, for he faid, he came from Mr, Layer.

He tells you, they difcourfed on the old Sub-
ject, and Jeffreys defired he would get Men
in readinefs, and faid he had feveral other Pla-

ces to go to on the fame Errand. Jeffreys

gave the Witnefs no Money at that Time, but

came a fecond Time, and gave him only half a

Guinea, which he faid Layer had fent him for
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his Encouragement. Befides this, he tells you
Layer gave him a Crown at the Cafik-Tavern in
Drury-Lane, exprefsly to encourage him to lift

Men for the Pretender. Upon the Prifoner's Re-
turn to Town, a Letter was fent by Jeffreys to

the Witnefs, to defire him to go to the Prifon-
er's Houfe •, and when he came there, the Pri-
foner gave him a Guinea with his own Hand,
There were feveral other Conventions, feveral

things faid to keep Plunkett firm to the Defign,
and many groundlefs and malicious Slanders
caft by the Prifoner upon his Majefty's Govern^
ment ; and in all thofe Conventions Plunkett

tells you, the Prifoner always ftiPd the Pretender

King. 'Twould be tedious particularly to re-

peat all thefe things to you; but there is one
thing I can't help obferving before I go off

from this Part of our Evidence, I mean, that

Plunkett told you more than once, that he was
to procure five and twenty old Soldiers for the

Service. Now that happens to be exaclly the

Number, which is afilgn'd to each of the eight

Serjeants in the Prifoner's own Scheme, which
was produe'd to you, and is a ftrong Cir-

cumftance in fupport of this Witnefs's Tefti-

mony.
Gentlemen, I have gone through the Evi-

dence of thefe Witnefies, and I beg leave to

fay they are, within the Meaning and Intention

of the Law, two Witnefies to prove the High-
Treafon charg'd upon the Prifoner ; and it hap-

pens in this Cafe, that they make out all the

particular Overt-Ads alledg'd in the Indict-

ment. Both Lynch and Plunkett prove repeated

Confultations to levy War, to bring in the

Pretender, and the actual liking of Men ; and
Lynch alone proves the publifliing the treafon-

able Declaration, and that Part of the Defign,

which no Body can hear without the utmoft

Indignation, the feizing his Majefty's Perfon.

From henceforth I apprehend I may take it,

that the Charge is proved ; though in Truth
we have gone a great deal farther in order to

put the Teftimony of thefe "Witnefies beyond

all doubt, to deliver them from all pbffible

Objections, and to demonftrate to you the Na-
ture and Extenfivenefs of this black Confpi-

racy.

The next Head of Evidence, is that of the

Papers ; and notwithftanding the little Cavils,

which have been urged againft them, thofe Pa-

pers are fully proved to be the Prifoner's, and

by him deliver'd to Mrs. Mafon. It ftands thus ;

Mrs. Mafon fwears, that the Prifoner deliver'd

thefe Papers to her in two Pacquets, as things

of great Confequence, feal'd up with his own
Seal, which Seal is now remaining, and appears

on the Covers. That fhe lock'd them up fafe

in her Trunk till they were feiz'd by the Mef-

fengers, and out of that Trunk the Mefiengers

took them. That fhe fet her Mark upon each

particular Paper, which appears to be the fame

Mark which by way of Experiment they would

have her to make in Court ; and fhe fwears, that

thefe are the very fame Papers which the Pri-

foner deliver'd to her with his own Hands.

The two Mefiengers give you an Account, That

they feized thefe Papers at Mrs. Mafon's Lodg-

ings, on the twenty ninth Day of September kft ;

that they took the two Pacquets out of the

Trunk, the fame Seal being then upon the Covers,

and
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and that Mrs. Majbn was by, and mark'd them

in their Prefence •, that they likewife put their

Marks upon, and never deliver'd them out of

their Cuftody till they had fo done. Indeed,

Turner fays he left them in the Hands of his Fel-

low Meffenger, Spear, during the little, Time he

went for Mr. Stanyan, but Spear fwears they re-

ceived no Manner of Alteration during that

Space, and upon the whole, they fwear them to

be the fame Papers which they took out of the

Trunk.
Upon this Evidence, we apprehend we were

intitled to have read the Papers, without giving

any farther Account of them.

I did mention to your Lordfhip the Cafe of

my Lord Prefton, which was not fo ftrong ; for

he lying together with Ajhton in the Hold of

the Ship, upon the Ballaft, a Bundle of Papers

lay between them ; Ajhton took them up, and

put them in his Bofom, and there they were

ieiz'd ; but being found together with my Lord

Prefton, thofe Papers, though the very Overt-

Acts of the Treafon laid in the Indictment, were

read againft him upon that Proof only. Indeed,

after they had been read, the King's Counfel,

in order to give a farther Strength to one or

two particular Papers, entered into a Proof

of their being my Lord Prejlon's own Hand-

Writing.

The firft Paper we call'd for was the Scheme,

a regular Plan of this Confpiracy ; and, Gen-

tlemen, in order to prevent any Pretence of

Hardfhip, before we read it, we call'd a Wit-

nefs to prove this Scheme to be the Prifoner's

Hand-Writing : It«was Mr. Doyley, who fwears

he verily believes it to be his Hand. He gives

you the Reafons of his Belief: That the Pri-

foner liv'd with him as a Clerk two or three

Years, not whilft he was a Boy, but after he

had fcrv'd fome Time with another Matter, had

been us'd to Bufinefs, and gain'd a fettl'd Hand

;

and during that Time he frequently faw him

write. To .fupport this farther, he tells you,

that he had tranfacted Bufinefs for Mr. Layer,

as his Agent, until about four or five Years

ago, and had received feveral Letters from him,

which he was fure were his, becaufe he (Mr.

Doyky) had done the Bufinefs requir'd to be done

by th'ofe Letters, and Mr. Layer had paid him

for it ; that he had compar'd his Paper call'd

Ihe Scheme, with thofe Letters ; that the Cha-

racter of the Letters agreed with what the Pri-

foner wrote when he was Clerk to him ; and

the Character of the Scheme with that of the

Letters.

But, Gentlemen, this Scheme is an Evidence

fo confiderable in it fclf, and of that general

Confequence to this whole Caufe, that we went

farther yet, and, not out of any Neceflity, but

in order to give you abundant Satisfaction, we
proved it to be written by the Prifoner from his

own Confefllon. Mr. Slanyan told you, That

the Prifoner upon his Examination before the

Lords of the Committee of Council, where he

was prefent, and took Notes, confefs'd this

Scheme to be of his Hand-Writing. The Coun-

sel for the- Prifoner objected, This Queftion was

not directly afk'd him (Is this your Hand?) and

conllquently he did not fay, It is my Hand. 'Tis

true, that docs not appear •, can there be no o-

ther Evidence of a Confcffion, but fuch direct

Queftions and Anfwers. Upon the Examina-
tion, the Prifoner was afk'd whether he knew of

any Arms lodg'd in tVeslmintter ? He told the

Lords he knew of no Arms being lodg'd.

Thereupon this Paper was fhew'd him, and he

was afk'd, How came you to write in this Scheme

of your own Hand-Writing, that there were Arms
lodg'd ? To this he made Anfwer it was a Mis-

take, I fhould have writ Arms that mould be

lodg'd. Can any Thing be more plain than this ?

It was fo evident that the Paper was written by
him, that it was taken for granted, and call'd his

Hand-Writing in the very Terms of the Queftion

;

probably he had confefs'd it before the Clerks

were call'd in. If it had not been his Hand,
would not the natural Anfwer have been, why-

do you afk me about what is written in that

Paper? I know nothing of it, it is not my
Hand,Writing •, but inftead of that he admits

it without the leaft Difficulty, and takes upon
him to tell the Lords what he intended to have
written.

The Gentlemen on the other Side, endea-

vour'd to avoid the Force of this Evidence,

by this ingenious Turn IJhould have written

Arms that Jhould be lodg'd (that is) If I had
writ it, IJhould have written Awns thatJhould be

lodg'd. But I defire to be inform'd, if he did
not write it, how came he to know any
thing about it? How could he take upon him
to fay it was a Miftake ? Whofe Miftake ? He
admits it to be his own. So that this Obfer-

vation comes to nothing, and this Scheme, af-

ter all their Objections ftands confefs'd, as

well as prov'd, to be Mr. Layer's Hand-Writ-
ing.

Upon the Foundation of all this Proof, which
I beg leave to obferve does fupport all the other

Papers found in the two Pacquets, the Scheme
was read, and when it was read, it required

your ftricteft Attention ; for in that Paper ap-

pears a regular Defign, form'd for the total

Deftruction of this Government, to be execut-

ed in the City of London, the Capital of the

Kingdom. This, if there was no more, fhews
a juft Foundation for what was lately declared

to us in a folemn Manner, That if this Con-
fpiracy had not been happily detected, we ihould

before now have feen that City involv'd in Blood
and Confufion, fuch appears to be the plain

Intent of it. The molt profligate of the Peo-
ple were to have Arms put into their Hands,
in order to fubdue and pillage the better

Sort.

In the firft Place, the Tower was to be feiz'd,

and a certain Officer expected to be upon the

Guard that Day, who fhould be their Friend,

and let in the Party who were to make them-

felves of that Garrifon. The Royal-Exchange,

being in the Heart of the City, was to be the

Head - Quarters of the General ; and another

Party was to plunder the Bank. So that to

give us a Tafte of the Views of thefe Confpi-

rators, Spoil and Rapine were not, in the Exe-

cution of their Defign, to have been accidental,

proceeding from the Fury of Action, the com-
mon Excufe for fuch Outrages, . but a premedita-

ted avowed Part of the Mealures concerted before-

hand.

The Artillery was next to have been feiz'd,

and a Stratagem is contrived to effect it : And
to
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And to crown all, his Majefty himfelf was to Mr. Hungerford offers to fpeak.

be made their Prifoner : Horrid Refolution ! L. C. Jufl. I tell you, Mr. Hungerford, it is

Colour'd indeed with the Name of Securing not right •, Mr. Layer hath made his Observations

his Royal Perfon from the Infults of the Mob ;

but how thin a Pretence this is, I need not

fpend Time to explain to you, fince the Wri-

ter of the Scheme himfelf has called it but a

Pretence.

The Scheme goes on, and the Confpirators

being fenfible how much our future Hopes, as

well as our prefent Happinefs depend on the Pro-

teftant Succefiion in his Majefty's Family, the next

Step to be taken, is to get his Royal Highnefs

the Prince into their Power A Prince at

to the Jury, and made his Nods, and fometimes I

have feen his Lips move.

Prifoner. You can't tell what I faid.

Mr. Soil. Gen. I faw you turn about to the

Jury, and faw your Lips move at the fame
Time.
My Lord, I defire he may ftand up, and

look towards the Court, which is his proper
Pofture.

Gentlemen, I was faying, that after this Scheme
had been produced, one would have thought the

Richmond, defcribed under a Cant Name, but the King's Counfel might fafely have relied it here.

meaning of it is plain. When all this appears,

how can the Counfel for the Prifoner object, that

there is not fufficient Foundation to accufe their

Client directly of compaffing the Death of

the King ? Could this have ended in any

Can any body doubt of this Treafon, and of
the Priibner's Part in it, when he himfelf hath
thought fit to record the Confpiracy with his

own Hand. However, we did not leave it here:
But in order to give you entire Satisfaction how

thing elfe ? Or can any one dream, that either deeply this Gentleman was engaged, what a large

of thofe precious Lives, I have now mentioned,

could have been preferved in the Hands of fuch

Mifcreants ?

Gentlemen, having obferved thus much, in

fhort, upon the Nature of the Scheme, it will be

proper to take Notice to you, that as this Paper,

thus fully proved, is of it felf a ftrong Evidence,

fo it greatly corroborates and fupports the Tefti-

mony of the two Witneffes, as to every one of the plain

Overt-Acts charged in the Indictment, and tallies

with it throughout.

This is true, as to the general Defign, but

appears moil remarkably in fome of the parti-

cular Facts. The Project laid down in the

Scheme for feizing the tfoisoer is exactly the fame

with what Lynch told you the Prifoner commu-
nicated to him whilft they were viewing my Lord

Share he had taken upon him, and how dangerous
and extenfive this Confpiracy was, we read feveral

other Papers. They confift of Lifts of the Names
of feveral Perfons, many of them Officers of the

Guards, and of the Army ; fome of them ge-
neral Lifts, others particular : For what Purpofe
thefe muft have been made up or procured, by
a Perfon engaged in fuch a Defign, is extremely

My Lord, it hath been faid with great Juf-
tice, That this is not to be fo underftood, as

to bring any Imputation on the Gentlemen
named in thefe Lifts. I dare fay, that by far

the greater Number, if not all of them, are

Perfons of the utmoft Fidelity to his Majefty,
and Zeal for his Service. But Men engaged in

fuch Defigns, who are plotting to overturn a

Cadogan's Houfe : tfhat the Officer who fhould be Government, muft weigh and calculate the

upon Duty there that Day might be their Friend, Strength of that Government, as well as their

and favour the Defign. In like manner, the own. They muft know who is to be relied

Circumftance of eight Serjeants being to have in upon, on one Side as well as the other, and con-

Readinefs twenty five Men a-piece, falls in with fider who are fit to be applied to, and who not ;

what Plunkett the Serjeant fwore, that he was to therefore they muft take an Account of Perfons,

procure that Number of old Soldiers to engage in concerning whom they have no Hopes, as well

the Enterprize. as thofe of whom they have Hopes. Thus it

But there is one Obfervation arifing from a was in my Lord Prejlon's Cafe ; he had got

Circumftance of time, which is extremely ftrong, Lifts of Ships, and of the King's Officers and
in Confirmation of the Teftimony of the Wit- Troops : The meaning of it was well underftood

neffes, and fhews manifeftly, that the Account upon his Trial ; the Court underftood it, and

they give, muft arife only from their Know- the Jury underftood it, that he had procured

ledge of the Truth of the Fact, and could not them, in order to the better Information of him-

poffibly be fram'd and modell'd to anfwer thefe felf and his Accomplices in the Conduct of that

Papers ; it is this, that Mr. Layer, who was Plot.

taken up on the Information of Lynch and Plun- Gentlemen, in the next Place, feveral Let-
kett, was actually in the Cuftody of a MefTenger, ters were read to you, which were alfo found
and made his Efcape on the 19th Day of Sep- amongft the Papers depofited by the Prifoner

tember lafi ; but thefe Papers, which thus fall in with Mrs. Mafon. You will remember on this

with and fupport the Facts they fwear, were not Occafion, what Mrs. Mafon fwore, that the Pri-

feized, as the two MefTengers acquaint you, till foner hath fome time gone by the Name of
the 29th of that Month ; which is near ten Days
after.

Gentlemen, one would have thought there had
been no Occafion to go any farther-

My Lord, I defire that the Prifoner may not
talk to the Jury, whilft I am obferving upon the

Evidence.

L. C. Juft. Sir, you muft not do it.

Prifoner, My Lord, I did not fpeak to the now produced are directed by the Name of Foun

Jury. taine.

gone

Fountaine, and gave Directions to her, that if

any Letters came directed to Mr. Fountaine,

fhe mould take them in, and deliver them to

him. She tells you, a Letter did come directed

to Mr. Fountaine ; that fhe delivered it to the

Prifoner, who opened it, read it, and kept it

as a Letter for him j which was an exprefs own-

ing of that Name, and feveral of the Letters

There
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There was found together with the Letters,

a Cypher, that is, a Lift of feigned Names for

Perfons and Things, which has been in Part

read ; and in this Cypher the Cant Expreffions

made ufe of in the Letters are contained, and

the Perfons and Things fignified by them de-

cyphered in plain Words. Sir William Ellis (a

Follower of the Pretender, with whom it appears

the Prifoner had fettled a Correfpondence) is

there defcribed by the Name of Euftace, and

the firft Letter that was read, is fubfcribed with

that Name and directed to James Fountaine,

Efqj In that Letter Sir William Ellis tells him

he is entirely of his Opinion as to the Method of car-

rying on the Manufactory*, and the procuring of

good Workmen is the firft Step to be made. Ma-
nufactory wanted fome Explanation, but it is fully

cleared up by the Word— Workmen, which

follows. For took into the Cypher, and Work-

men ftands for Soldiers ; fo that the Manufactory

muft be fuch as it was fit for Soldiers to work in.

He goes on and advifes him particularly to get

fome of the ahleft of Mrs. Barbara Smiths. Bar-

bara in the Cypher means the Army ; fo the Advice

amounts to this, That in order to raife a Rebellion,

he fhould feduce fome of the ableft Soldiers of

the King's Army. A Counfel, which is now
made very plain, the Prifoner has endeavoured

punctually to follow. To encourage him in this,

lie tells him, that it will be very agreeable to all

concerned- particularly to Mr. Atkins. Now
according to the Prifoners own Explanation in

this Cypher, Atkins is one of the feigned Names
for the Pretender.

The next Letter is dated the nth of July la.ft,

fubfcribed N. C. and acknowledges the Receipt

of a Letter dated the 8th of May, with another

Letter inclofed, which the Writer fays was pre-

fently delivered to Mr. St. John, who took it ex-

treme kindly : Look into the Cypher, and it ap-

pears that Mr. St. John is one of the fictitious

Names for the Pretender ; fo that this Letter

fhews, that the Perfon to whom it was written,

correfpond immediately with the Pretender him-

felf. But it feems Mr. St. John did not well un-

derfland what related to Mr. Burford, which the

Letter-Writer hopes may be foon cleared by an An-

Jwer, What this was which wanted Explanation,

is in the Dark ; but fo much we know, that in

the Prifoner's Cypher, Burford ftands for the Earl

of Orrery.

There is another Letter dated the 27th of

May, in which the Writer tells Mr. Layer, that

their Friend had his Letter of the 22J of March,
and took very kindly the Care he had taken of his

little Concerns. Who is meant by that Friend,

whofe Concerns were the Prifoner's Care, does

not certainly appear ; but it is very natural to

think, it is the fame Perfon before called Atkins

and St. John. However, it feems their Friend

at a Lofs about certain Names
Burford,

was again

Steel, Digby, the

little Soldier, and Simons, which were not in his

Rental.

The Word Rental in Mr. Layer's Cypher, is

the Cant Term for a Cypher j and in that like-

wife are to be found the other Words, which his

Friend did not then underftand 5 particularly

Simons, which is put there for the Lord North
and Grey. But if that did not appear by the

Cypher, yet the Defcription which followss would

be enough to convince every Man in his private

Judgment who was meant by it He is of
the North, a Grey hair'd ancient Man, Cant Ex-
preffions plainly, which take in both the Titles

of that Noble Lord. The Letter-Writer addsj

that their Friend (the fame whofe Concerns were
taken Care of) very well remembers this Perfon,

and hath a very particular EJleem and Value for
him, and thai he is (in their PhrafeJ a very good
"Tenant, and a very honeft Man.

Gentlemen, Some of the Papers were read to

you of a more extraordinary Nature than even
thefe Letters •, I mean the Notes figned James R.
with the Pretender's own Hand. Thefe are not
only one Evidence of the Plot, but a Part of
the means by which it was to be effected *, for

they appear to be Receipts framed with Blanks,

to be filled up with Sums of Money as O.ccafion

offered, with a Promife of Repayment with In-

tereft. Thefe were fome of the Ways and Means
for raifing Supplies out of the Pockets of fuch

People, as fhould be found weak and filly, as

well as wicked enough, to advance Money on
fuch a Shadow of a Security, for fo flagitious

a Purpofe, But they afk us who proves the Sub-
fcription to be the Pretender's Hand ? I An-
fwer, It is certain that is not material j but if

it were, we have it fufficiently from the Prifoner

himfelf. The Account he hath thought fit to

give of them, you have heard from Mr. Dela-

faye ; that he had written to his Correfpondent

Sir William Ellis, that if Sir William could fend

him over fome blank Receipts under the King's
own Hand (fo he called the Pretender) he be-

lieved they might be made ufe of for the car-

rying on his Caufe : That his Intention was to

•have tried his Friends, and to have raifed Mo-
ney on thefe Receipts. This fhews the Prifoner

received them as being figned with the Pretender's

own Hand ; and fhews likewife the Ufe intended

to be made of them ; and it appears he had
the Confidence tojuftify himfelf in this Practice,

by the like Method having been taken by King
Charles the Second, juft before his Reitera-

tion.

My Lord, this is the Subftance of our Proof
as to the Papers and the Obfervations which
have occurred to me upon them ; and I will pre-

fume to fay, with great Submiffion to your Lord-
fhip's better Judgment and Obfervation, that

upon this Evidence, taken together with the

Teftimony of the two Witneffes, we might fafeJy

have trufted our Caufe to your Lordfhip's Di-

rection, and the Confciences of the Jury. But
we went farther ftill, not becaufe we wanted it

to convict the Prifoner, for we had already

done fufficient for that Purpofe, but in order

to give abundant Satisfaction, not only to the

Gentlemen of the Jury, but to the whole World,
of the Reality of this Confpiracy in general, as

well as of this Man's Part in it ; that they may
fee and be convinced of the juft Grounds there

were for this Profecution, and for the Treat-

ment the Prifoner has met with. For this Rea-
fon it was, we call'd Mr. Stanyan, and Mr. De-
lafaye to give an Account of his Confefiion,

upon his Examination before the Lords of the

Committee of Council ; and I apprehend, we
were properly and agreeably to the Rules of Law,
let into that Evidence. We have had the Judg-

ment of the Court upon that Point, therefore I

won't
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won't trouble your Lordfhip with any Authorities

for it, but rely upon that as the beft Authority.

Gentlemen, the Relation Mr. Delafaye and

Mr. Stanyan gave, was, that the Prifoner declar-

ed to the' Lords of the Council, that he had been

at Rome in the Year 172 1, and ftay'd there fome

Time, and had feveral Conferences with the Pre-

tender in Perfon : That in one of thofe Confe-

rences, he asked for fome Token or Credential,

in order to give him a Credit with the Party

when he returned to England ; that it was not at

firft granted, but afterwards he put his Requeft

into this Shape, that the Pretender's Wife (the

Queen he called her) would be pleafed to ftand

Godmother to the Prifbner's Child. Some Time

was taken to confider of this Propofition, and

then Word was brought by Colonel Hay to the

Prifoner, that fhe would ftand Godmother to the

Child ; and it was agreed, that the late Dutchefs of

Ormond fhould reprefent her. Afterwards the Pre-

tender confented to be the Godfather, but Layer

was to procure fome Perfon to be his Proxy.

What was then agreed upon, was followed by

the Fact. When the Prifoner returned Home,
and the Child was to be Chriften'd, he applied

to my Lord Orrery to reprefent the Pretender,

and to the late Dutchefs of Ormond, to repre-

fent the Princefs Sobiejki. The latter complied,

but my Lord Orrery declined the Service ; and

thereupon the Prifoner made Application to my
Lord North and Gray, who was pleafed to ac-

cept it. The Child was chriften'd at Chelfea,

and my Lord North and Grey flood as Proxy

for the Pretender, and the late Dutchefs of Or-

mond for the Princefs Sobiejki ; and the Prifoner

laid, they both were privy that they reprefented

thofe Perfons.

The Prifbner's Confeflion likewife verifies every

material Circumftance of Lynch's Evidence, as

to what paffed in the County of EJJex. That
he was at the Green Man with one Lynch, and

there fhewed him the Heads of a Declaration

which he had drawn : That they went from thence

to my Lord North and Grey's, and there the Pri-

foner prefented the Witnefs to his Lordfhip as a

very honeft Man, and a Perfon fit to be em-
ployed in feizing my Lord Cadogan ; and after-

wards he faid, as a Perfon fit to be employed in

an Infurre&ion. That the Prifoner and Lynch

lay at my Lord's Houfe that Night, dined with

him at his own Table the next Day ; and that

the Healths of the Pretender, his Wife, and
Child, were drank by them after Dinner, and
the fame Healths were drank, and (if I under-
ftood it right) begun by that noble Lord him-
felf.

There was a farther Circumftance fworn by
Mr. Stanyan, in which he is confirmed by Colo-
nel Hujke, that at the Time Mr. Layer was ap-
prehended, a confiderable Quantity of Arms, and
about fifty Cartridges, made up with Ball, and
fitted for the Ufe of Soldiers, were found in his

Houfe : And the Prifoner being afked, upon his

Examination, what he did with them ? He faid,

they were for his Ufe, in cafe there mould happen

'

any Difturbance in the Nation.
The Prifoner entered into an Examination of

the Gunfmith, how he came by thefe Arms ; but
that is not at all material : In his Houfe they were
found, and he has confefied they were intended
for his Ufe in Cafe of a Difturbance in the Nation.
What Difturbance was there likely to happen, but
from himfelf and his Accomplices ?

Gentlemen, The Prifbner's Efcape out of the
MefTenger's Cuftody, is another ftrong Circum-
ftance. In order to fly from Juftice, he ventured
to get out of a Window two Stories high, and
had the Fortune to meet with a Sculler, which
carried him crofs the Water into Soutbwark. When
the Witnefs firft endeavoured to flop him, it ap-
pears he was in the utmoft Concern ; beo-o-ed of
him for God's Sake to let him go, pretending it

was an Arreft ; and then he pulled out of his

Pocket a great many Guineas, and bid the Wit-
nefs take what he pleafed, fo he would but let him
go ; but the Meflenger purfued him pretty dole,
and he was retaken.

Gentlemen, this is a very material piece of E-
vidence to fhew the Guilt of the Prifoner. The
Law of England fuppofeth Guilt from Flight, and
though it was faid, that any Man in Mr. Layer's

Condition would have done the fame thing, if he
could ; that can be true only in this Senfe, that any
Man in his Condition, as to the Confcioufhefs of
his own Guilt, would have done it ; but ^an inno-

cent Perfon would never have brought that Impu-
tation upon himfelf, by endeavouring to efcape.

This is the Subftance of the whole Evidence
which has been given for the King againft the

Prifoner at the Bar, as well as I can recollect it

;

and, Gentlemen, I perfuade my felf, when you
have confidered it ferioufly, you will be fatisfied

that it makes good every part of the Indictment.

But be that never fo ftrong, the Prifoner ought to

be heard againft it, and have a full Opportunity of

making his Defence : For if he hath a good De-
fence, either in point of Law or Fact, to take off

the Force of this Evidence, God forbid that he

fhould fuffer by it.

The Prifoner entered upon his Defence, and his

Counfel were pleafed to fet out with making
fome Obfervations upon the Cafe, as we had

left it.

My Lord, they firft made an Objection in

Point of Law, that the Treafon, for which the

Prifoner is indicted, is compafling the Death of

the King, and one of the Overt-Acts laid is only

a Confultation to levy War, which they infill is

not an Overt-Act of that Species of Treafon, nor

indeed any Treafon at all, becaufe the Words of

the Statute, 2 5 Edw. III. import a War actually

levy'd ; and for the Senfe of thofe Words, which

no body ever doubted of, fome ancient French

Writers were quoted.

My Lord, I apprehend this Objection, if it

be one, is rather to the Indictment than to the

Evidence, of which they know they may pro-

perly take Advantange in Arreft of Judgment.

But with great Submifiion to your Lordfhip,

there is no Weight in it either way. One can't

help being a" little furprized to hear it mentioned,

after that Point has been eftablifhed by fo many
Refolutions, which at the fame time they tell us

they are aware of; and in the very laft Cafe of

High-Treafon, which was in this Court, I mean

that of Ker, Dorrel, and Gordon, it was folemnly

determined by the unanimous Opinion of all the

Judges, that a Confultation to levy War, in or-

der to deftroy or depofe the King, is an Overt-

Act of High-Treafon, in compafling his Death.

This was the receiv'd Doctrine before the Revo-

lution, and it has been adhered to ever fince ;

and though the Act of Reverfal of my Lord Ruf-

fel's Attainder has been mentioned, yet if that

were looked into, I dare fay, no Declaration will

S f be
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be found in itj contrary to this Determination. But

they go farther and object, that here is no Overt-

Act at all proved to be done in the County of Ef-

fex ; and if fo, then whatfoever Proof there may
be of Facts done in Middle/ex, that will go for no-

thing, and the Prifoner muft be acquitted upon this

Indictment. And, my Lord, fo far I agree with

them, that unlefs we have proved one Overt-Act

at leaft to be done in Effex, we cannot maintain

this Indictment.

In fupport of this Objection they would have

it, that the only Tranfaction in Effex^ is what

parTed at the Green Man, and the Whole of that

is reduced fingly to the Publifhing the Declara-

tion ; and that, fay they, is not legally proved,

and if well proved, yet it is no Overt-Act of

Treafon. As to the Proof, they object that the

Paper itfelf is not produced, and Parole Evidence

of the Contents of a Writing is not to be ad-

mitted.

Buty my Lord, I have given this an Anfwer
already, by obferving that the Prifoner took

back the Paper, and kept it ; fo that the Writ-

ing itfelf being proved to be in the Cuftody

of the Party, we were entitled within the ordi-

nary Rule, to give Parole Evidence of the Con-
tents. But, my Lord, this Declaration was a

Part of the treafonable Confukation then had ;

and fure I am, it would be the fineft Invention

to fecure certain Impunity to Plotters that ever

was thought of, if, inftead of difcourfing, the

Confukation ftiall be carried on by Papers hand-

ed from one to another, and no body can be

convicted, becaufe the Paper is not to be found.

As to that Part of their Objection, that it is no
Overt-Act of Treafon, one of the Gentlemen
thought fit to treat it in a ludicrous Manner.
'Twas only reading a Piece of Paper, fuppofe they

had fung a Ballad. That Gentleman will par-

don me, if I fay, thofe ExprefTions did not be-

come this Occafion. An Accufatiorr of High-
Treafon, which highly concerns the King and his

Government, is an Affair of a ferious Nature ; and
if he does but reflect upon the Contents of that De-
claration, which the Witnefs related, he cannot

think it a Matter to be fported with.

Mr. Ketelbey was pleated to fay, that this could

be no Overt-Act of Treafon, becaufe it was but
publifhing a Libel. But fu rely, that is very ex-

traordinary. Publifhing of a Paper may amount
to one Crime or another, according to the Sub-
ject-Matter of that Paper ; and can it be a Que-
flion at this Time of Day, whether the publifh-

ing a Declaration or a Book containing Arguments,
or offering Rewards directly to ftir up the King's
Subjects to rife in Rebellion againfl him, be High-
Treafon ? The treafonable Intent in this Cafe can-

not be doubted, and 'tis as certain that the Publi-

cation is an Act ; what is there then wanting
to make it Treafon ? But, my Lord, this has

alfo been adjudged, and therefore I won't argue it.

My Lord, I have faid thus much about the

Declaration for the fake of following the Gen-
tlemen, who are Counfel for the Prifoner, in their

Arguments ; but after all, their Foundation, which
is a Suppofition that there are no other Overt-Acts
proved in EJfex, befides this of the Declaration, en-

tirely fails them •, for your Lordfhip will inform
the Jury* that Lynch depofed that whilft they flaid

at the Green Man they did more than talk a little

Politics, they confuked about the Project of an
Infurrection, and the Prifoner there actually pro-

pofed to him (befides what was contained "in the
Paper) the Defign of feizing the King's Perfon,

which are two other Overt-Acts laid in the In-
dictment.

Upon this, another Objection was raifed by
Mr. Ketelbey, which, if it holds, will go to the
Whole , and that is, that we have but one
Witnefs, Lynch alone, to the Facts in EJfex ;

and this Indictment muft fail, unlefs there

are two Witneffes to fome or other of the O-
vert-Acts in the County where the Indictment is

laid.

But, my Lord, that is not now to be difput-

ed. The Law is clearly fettled, that on an In-
dictment for High-Treafon, in compaffing the
King's Death, if feveral Overt-Acts are laid,

and fome of thofe Overt-Acts are proved by one
Witnefs to be done in the County where the

Party is indicted, and others of them are

proved by another Witnefs to have been com-
mitted in a different County, that Evidence is

fufficient to maintain the Indictment ; they are

two Witneffes of the fame Species of Treafon
within the Meaning of the Law. So it was ex-

prefly refolved by all the Judges of the King's-

Bench, in the Cafe of Sir Henry Vane, which is

reported in Kelyng 15, and that has been fince

followed by a Current of Authorities -, the Cafe

of the five Jefuits, the Opinion of the Judges de-

livered to the Lords, upon the Trial of my Lord
Stafford, 32 Car. II. and other Cafes.

My Lord, as this is eftablifhed by Authori-

ties, fb the Reafon and Neceflity of the Thing
is ftrongi becaufe otherwife treafonable Confu-
tations might eafily be carried on in fuch a Man-
ner, that no body could be convicted of them.

It would be but to lay the Scene upon the Con-
fines of feveral Counties, and take Care not to

confuk with any twoPerfons in the fame County;

then there could not be two Witneffes, and all

would be fafe.

I have done with their Objections in Point of

Law, and fhall now endeavour to give fome
Anfwer to their Obfervations upon the Fact.

And, Gentlemen, I think the Whole of thofe

Obfervations may be reduced to one Head, which
is, that it is highly improbable, that what the Wit-
neffes have fworn fhould be true. But upon that,

before I give particular Anfwers to what they have

offered, I beg leave to fay in general, that though
in a doubtful Cafe, where there is any Balancing

in the Proof, the Improbability of the Thing is a
Confederation of great Weight, yet where there is

plain and pofitive Evidence on one Side, not

weakened by any Counter-Evidence on the other

Side, the Objection of Improbability can be oflittle

Force.

But to confider this Improbability. They fay

'tis very ftrange, that Mr. Layer fhould be en-

gaged in fo dangerous an Undertaking, with

fuch Perfons as have fworn themfelves to be his

Accomplices. To this, I fay, 'tis always ftrange,

that Men fhould venture to truft one another

with fuch dangerous Secrets ; but certain it is,

they often do ; and as to the Witneffes in this

Cafe, they are proved by the Prifoner's own Evi-

dence, to be Perfons with whom he thought fit

to hold a Correfpondence. How this great Con-
fidence was at laft created between them, has been

accounted for by the Witneffes themfelves, in a

very natural and probable Way, of which I have

already taken Notice.

Mr.
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Mr. Ketelbey infilled much upon the Impro-

bability of Plunkett's Evidence, in thofe Parts of

it which concern James Plunkett and Jefferys the

Nonjuring-Parfon. That it is not credible, that

thofe two Men, whom Plunkett admits to be^ab-

folute Strangers to him, fhould at firft Sight open

themfelves with fo great Freedom, to a Fellow of

his Degree on a Subject of Treafon. But that

will receive this Anfwer. James Plunkett and

Jeffreys were, as appears clearly from the Circum-

ftances, in the Confidence of Layer. Layer had a

Confidence in Matthew Plunkett the Witnefs, on

the Recommendation of Major Barnwell, and

by Means of Layer, both James Plunkett and

Jefferys might be induced to truft him. And
thus the Chain of the Correfpondence is made

compleat.

Another Objection was made to Plunkett, that

he had been guilty of a flat Contradiction in his

Evidence. That he firft fwOre, Jefferys told

him his Name upon his firft coming to him,

and afterwards that he did not know his Name
till he received the Letter from him about the

Prifoner's being come to Town. But that Ob-

fervation was grounded upon a Miftake ; for what

Plunkett faid, was, that Jefferys did tell him his

Surname at firft, but that he did not know his

Chriftian Name till he received the Letter, which

is very confiftent.

But the Counfel for the Prifoner were well a-

ware, that their Obfervations upon the Witnefles

could be of little Effect, if the Paper called the

Scheme found Credit •, and therefore in the next

Place they attacked that as being incredible ; they

reprefent it as ridiculous and foolijh — 'The

Scheme of a Madman, which could never have taken

Place. - ..

Gentlemen, as to this Obfervation, the Scheme

is indeed fuch an one, as I hope in God could

never take Place any where, but in the Heads of

thofe that framed it. But with great Submiflion,

that is no Objection to the Credibility of it* pro-

vided it be proved. For the Confideration is not,

how it now appears to you or to me, who look

upon it in a different Light, and on contrary

Principles from theirs ; but the proper Confide-

ration is, what the Confpirators themfelves* with

regard to the Views and Principles they went

upon, might think of it. And, Gentlemen, in

that Light examine it, go through the feveral

Articles of it, compare them together, and you

will find them confiftent and coincident ; all the

Parts anfwering to one another. Every Quar-

ter of the Town is provided for Difpofitions

made of certain Numbers of Men* and Care

taken to preferve the Communication between

them by Watch-Words agreed upon for that

Purpofe. Thefe Things make it plain, that it

was fully confidered by thofe who drew it* and
framed not at random, but upon Computation

of a Force of which they thought themfelves

allured. And what, though it fhould be admitted

to be extravagant, and not likely to fucceed ? If

that fhould be given way to, as a certain Ob-
jection againft a Plot's finding Credit after it is

detected, I am afraid it would be a fure Method
to make fuch Plots fucceed, or at leaft to fecure

the Authors of them from Punifhment. Do but

intermix fome abfurd extravagant Parts in the Plan
of the Confpiracy, and then according to this

Reafoning it is below Notice, and muft be fuf-

fered to go on, or if a Stop be put to its Progrefs,

Vol. VI.

yet it is incredible, and no body muft be believ

to be guilty of it.

But, Gentlemen, whatever Difficulties may be
raifed againft particular Parts of the written
Scheme, yet upon the Grounds and Suppofitions
which the Prifoner and his Accomplices proceeded
on, their general Defign might appear very fea-

fible to themfelves. For it is plain they had a
Dependence, however ill-founded, upon Difcon-
tents raifed in the Minds of the People, and on
corrupting great Numbers of the Army, which
would have diminifhed the Strength of the Govern-
ment, and added to their~own * and after they had
made a Beginning here, it is proved that they ex-

pected Affiftance from Abroad.
The next Thing to be confidered, is the Te-

ftimony of the Prifoner's Witnefles : And, Gen-
tlemen, you obferve that they have fcarce called

any Witnefles to contradict the Facts contained in

our Evidence, for the People of the Houfe at the

Green Man fay nothing to the Purpofe •, but all

their Evidence is applied to the Character and
Credit of the Witnefles produced for the

King.

As to that, I muft obferve to you, that it is not

to be expected that Confpiracies and traiterous

Machinations of this Kind fhould be proved by
Perfons of the beft Characters. 'Tis neceflary

from the Nature of the Thing, that they fhould

be proved by thofe who have been privy to them,
and fuch Perfons cannot poflibly be of Characters

abfolutely unblemifhed. Therefore, to fay that

fuch Witnefles are not to be believed, is in effect

to fay that no Evidence of a Plot is ever to be
believed, which furely is an Argument that proves

too much.

The firft Witnefs they called on this Head,
was my Lord North and Grey. I am heartily

forry to fee his Lordfhip here in his prefent Con-
dition upon this Occafion j the rather* becaufe

it obliges me to obferve, that here are Circum-

ftances proved, which affect him ; I will carry

it no farther* but fome. Circumftances are proved

in this Caufe which do affect him. But what

is his Evidence ? His Lordfhip was called to

impeach the Character of Lynch * and however

he may impeach his Character, I am fure he

fupports his Credit as to the Facts fworn by

him. The Account his Lordfhip gave, was,

that the Prifoner brought Lynch to his Houfe

at Epping, introduced Lynch to him, that he

was never acquainted with him before ; but

upon Mr. Layer's Introduction, received him
civilly •, and that Lynch came thither a fecond

Time.
Now, thefe are the very Facts Lynch fwore

to, and confequently fo far my Lord fupports

him. But then* as to his Character, his Lord-

fhip is pleafed to fay* that the firft Time Lynch

was there* he gave him a Hiftory of his Life ;

and in that gave fo vile an Account of him-

felf, that when he came a fecond Time, his

Lordfhip would not give him a Lodging in his

Houfe. This, I think, was the Whole of my
Lord's Teftimony * and I can't help remarking

upon it, that his Lordfhip gave no Account at all

of any Bufinefs, which either the Prifoner or

Lynch had with him, nor of any particular Occa-

fion upon which the former introduced the latter

to him. That was a Matter within his Lord-

fhip's own Knowledge,

Sf 2 There
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There is a another Thing which is little fur-

prizing ; and that is, that Mr. Lynch being an

abfolute Stranger, as is eonfeffed, to this noble

Lord, having the Honour to be introduced by

a Friend to a Perlbn of his great Quality, fhould

have fo little Regard to his Friend, or to the O-

pinion that Noble Lord was to conceive of him,,

as at the firft Interview to take fo odd a Way of

being recommended, and give a moft vile, infa-

mous Character of himfelf. This is fomewhat

out of the ordinary Courfe •, but you are told,, that

fo it was.

As to the other WitnefTes to Lynch's Credit?

notwithstanding their Number, I apprehend

their Evidence, when duly confidered, will have

little Weight. They were moft of them going

to enter into particular Facts ; but the Court

agreeably to the conftant Courfe of Evidence,,

over-ruled them in it y and that you, Gentlemen

of the Jury, may be fatisfied no Hardfhip was

done by this to the Prifoner, I will mention the

Reai'on of it. The Reafon why particular Facts

are not to be given in Evidence to impeach the

Character of a Witnefs, is, that if it were per-

mitted, it would be impoffible for that Witnefs,

having no Notice of what will be fworn againft

him, to come prepared to give an Anfwer to it 5

and thus the Characters of WitnefTes might be

vilified, without having any Opportunity of being

vindicated.

As to the Witness themfelves, fbme of them
fay, they know no 111 of Lynch ; many of them
have known him but a little while 5 forne of them
give an Account of Declarations made fince this

Profecution began, and how fairly they were
drawn from him don*t appear ; and for fome o-

thers of them* I fubmit it to the View and Con-
federation of the Jury, from their Habit, and the

Appearance they made, whether they ought not
thcrnfelves to have brought Witnefles to fupport

their own Credit.,

One appears plainly to be miftaken, and that

is, Darcy -

r he was afked how long he had
known Lynch .? and, I think, he laid he knew
him in London laft Winter j, now it appears

that Lynch came into England but in April
laft.

Gentlemen, in the next Place they called Wit-
nefTes to Plunketl's Credit, and there the fame
Thing befell them as in the Cafe of Lynch ; for

Major Barnwell their firft Witnefs on that Head,
though he is willing enough to give him an
ill Character, yet he confirms feveral of the
Facts which the other fwore, and gives ex-
actly the fame Account of the Refcuing the
Goods, and the Circumftances of Plunketl's be-
coming acquainted with Layer, which he gave.

Mrs. Child likewife fupports Plunkett as to the
Circumftance of his carrying her Hufband to the
Prifoner's Houfe, and the Prifoner's refufing to
fee him.

As to Mrs. Mafon, they have taken a great
deal of Pains to prove her a very ill Woman.
What fhe is, or what thole Perfons are, whom
they have called to her Credit, we can't tell ;

but fo much appears even from their own Wit-
nefTes, that flie is one with whom Mr. Layer
thought fit to converfe, and therefore 'tis not
improbable that fhe might be entrufted by him ;

and it is from fuch only as he thought fit to con-
verfe with andentruft, that we can have any Dif-
covery. The Prifoner has, indeed brought two

or three Women, who talk very faft, and feem
very angry with her ; and one of them tells the

Jury in a Scolding Way, that Jhe don't care what
fhe fays or does -, another, that fhe would take <z-

way any Man's Life for the Value of a Farthing 5

and fuch Kind of vehement Exprefiions. It is

Efficient to fay this, that People who talk thus
loofely and paflionately upon their Oaths, rather

bring a Sufpicion upon their own Credit, than
upon the Credit of thofe againft whom they fwear.

But Gentlemen, if they had brought a much
ftronger Evidence againft the Characters of the

King's WitnefTes than they have done, what
would it have availed them I Does this Cafe
depend upon the Characters of thefe three

WitnefTes ? It cannot be pretended that it does.

Let their Characters be what they will, their

Credit in this Caufe is undeniably fupported j

fupported as to feveral material Facts, by the E-
vidence for the Prifoner,, but moft ftrongly by
the Papers \ againft which, I apprehend nothing
has been faid to take off their Force. If thofe

Papers are not genuine, how mould the Notes
figned with the Pretender's Hand, which the
Prifoner received from Sir William Ellis, come
to be amongft them ? How fhould this Scheme,
proved to be of Mr. Layer's own Hand-Writing,
have been there I The Prifoner, I muft own, did
call one Witnefs, Bennet, who was his Clerk, and
is now his Sollicitor, to fwear he believed the

Scheme not to be the Prifoner*s Hand. But it

happened with Mennet, as it did with feveral others

of their WitnefTes, that though he is willing to

carry his Belief as far as he can, that this is not

his Mailer's Hand ; yet he is forced to acknow-
ledge another Matter, which ftill verifies the Pa-
pers contained in thefe Pacquets to be his Matter's

Papers : For being afked of whofe Hand-Writing
one of them was, he fwears it was written by him-

felf for the Prifoner, and by his Direction. This

comes out of the Mouth of his own Witnefs, and

confirms Mrs. Mafon's Teftirnony, that thefe Pa-

pers came from Mr. Layer.

But over and above all this, you have the Pri-

foner's own Confeffion, proved by two Gentlemen

whofe Credit is beyond all Difpute ; and certainly

the Prifoner muft be allowed to be a good Wit-
nefs againft himfelf.

However, we fhal-I not leave the Credit of our

WitnefTes fingly upon thefe Obfervations, though

I think we might fafely do it ; but fhall endea-

vour to take off any ill Impreflions their Evi-

dence may have left upon you, and vindicate their

Characters ; and that, not by fuch WitnefTes as

fome of thofe produced for the Prifoner were,

who, I obferved before, might ftand in need of

Witnefles to fupport their own Credit, but by Per-

lons of undoubted Reputation, who will fatisfy you

that their general Character is fuch, that they very

well deferve to be believed by you.

I have now done with repeating and obferving

upon the Evidence on both Sides j and I beg

leave to infift upon it, that we have fully made
good what was opened to you in the Beginning of

this Caufe, that in general there has been a horrid

Confpiracy carried on, in order to over-throw our

happy Conftitution, and to deprive us of all the

Bleflings we enjoy, and promife ourfelves, under

Eftablifhment, in his Majefty and his Protcftant

Royal Family. The Part the Priibner hath acted

in this fully appears to you, and it appears to be a

very confiderable one.

It
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It lias been faid, indeed, that he is but an in-

considerable Man;, of no Rank or Fortune fit to

fuftain fuch an Undertaking. That Obfervation

may be true -, but fince it's plain he did undertake

it, that, joined with the other Circumftances

proved in this Caufe, ferves only to demonftrate,

rhat he was fet on work, and fupported, by Per-

fons of greater Abilities for fuch an Enterprize.

And, Gentlemen, this is the molt affecting Confi-

deration of all. But I would not, even in this

Caufe of your King and of your Country, fay any

thing to excite your Paflions ; I choofe rather to ap-

peal to your Judgments ; and to thofe I fubmit

the Strength and Confequence of the Evidence you

have heard.

My Lord, I beg Pardon for having taken up

fo much of your Time •, I have but one Thing

to add, and that is, humbly to beg of your

Lordfhip, for the Sake of the King, for the

Sake of Myfelf, and for the Sake of the Pri-

foner at the Bar, that if I, through Miftake

or Inadvertency, have omitted or mifrepeated

any thing, or laid a greater Weight upon any

Part of the Evidence, than it will properly

bear, your Lordfhip will be pleafed to take No-
tice of it, and fet it right, that this whole Cafe

may come before the Jury in its true and juft

Light.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. It is fo late, that it will

be inexcufable in me to trouble your Lordfhip

with any thing by "Way of Reply, efpecially

fince Mr. Sollicitor General hath done it fo fully.

We fhall only beg leave to call a few Witneffes to

the Credit of the King's Witneffes.

Mr. Ketelbey. I fhall not take up much of

your Lordfhip's Time, efpecially fince your Lord-

fhip and the Court have been entertained fo well

and fo long by Mr. Sollicitor General, at leaft

two Hours, as I have obferved by my Watch ;

but 'twas impoffible for me to think him te-

dious, though fo late at Night, and efpecially

lince his Conclufion is exactly agreeable to the

Conclufion of a late celebrated Sollicitor General *

on a like Occafion.

Mr. Att. Gen. We muft beg leave to call fbme
Witneffes we have, who will fupport the Credit

of Mr. Lynch and Matthew Plunkett.

Mr. Vernon fworn.

Mr. Serj. Che/hire. Do you know Mr. Lynch .
?

Vernon. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Che/hire. What Account do you give

of him ?

Vernon. I keep a Tavern at the Swan and Rum-
mer in Finch-lane, this Gentleman hath frequented

my Houfe thefe four Months every Day, till he

was in Cuflody ; he hath been a very good Cuf-

tomer, and paid me honeftly.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Do you know the Prifoner

at the Bar ? Have you feen Mr. Lynch and him in

Company together at your Houfe ?

Vernon. Yes ; I have feen them twice in Com-
pany together at my Houfe.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long hath he been your
Cuftomer ?

Vernon. From the Beginning, about four

Months.

Mr. Ketelbey. About four Months •, Did he
fpend his Money plentifully and freely ?

Vernon. Yes j fome Part of it I have had fince

he hath been in Cuftody.

3i7
Mr. Ketelbey. How much was he in your Debt'

before he was in Cuftody ?

Vernon. Ten or eleven Shillings.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long had he been in Cuftody
before he paid you ?

Vernon. Not long.

Mr. Hungerford. He had the Firft-Fruits of his
being in Cuftody ; he had fome Money, and fo

he paid you your Reckoning.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We take it, that Mr. Vernon

proves, that. Layer and Lynch were converfant
together.

Capt. Malthus fworn.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire; Do you know Stephen
Lynch ?

Malthus. Yes.

_
Mr. Serj, Chejhire. How long have you known

him ?

Malthus. About Nine Years. I knew him
firft, when he was a Merchant at the Canaries.

I traded with him feveral Times, feveral Times
I was configned to him, and I have feen him at

Home.
Mr. Serj. Chejhire. What Account can you give

of his Behaviour ?

Malthus. He always behav'd himfelf very well,

I think.

Mr. Atl. Gen. Do you think he would fwear
falfly to take away a Man's Life ?

Malthus. No, I don't think he would.
Mr. Ketelbey. How long is it fince you have

been acquainted with him ?

Malthus. Nine or ten Years.

Mr. Ketelbey. How long is it fince your laft:

Acquaintance ?

Malthus. About four Months.
Mr. Ketelbey. WhatDiftance ofTime did there

ufe to be between your feeing of him ?

Malthus. Two or three Years, every Time I

came home.

Mr. Ketelbey. Doth he owe you any Mo-
ney ?

Malthus. No.
Mr. Ketelbey. Would you truft him with

Money ?

Malthus. He never afkt me.

Mr. Ketelbey. Your Witnefs we may afk as to

Particulars, Did you know his Aunt there, at that

Time ?

Malthus. No.
Mr. Ketelbey. Did you know any thing of his

Behaviour ?

Malthus. I never knew an ill Character of him
in my Life.

Capt. Arnold fworn.

Mr. Serj, Chejhire. Do you know Stephen

Lynch ?

Arnold. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. How long have you known
him ?

Arnold. 'Tis fourteen Years ago.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. You have been acquainted

with him fince. What Account do you give of

his Character ? Do you think he would forfwear

himfelf?

Arnold. No.
Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Do you take him to be a

Man of Credit ?

Arnold. I never had any Dealings with

him.

Mr. Finch, at Col. Sidney's Trial.

Mr.
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Mr. Serj. Che/hire. Would you have trufted him

with five hundred Pounds ?

Mr. Ketclbey. Would you trull him with five

Shillings ?

Arnold. Five Shillings is a fmall Sum.

Col. Manning fworn.

Chefhire. Do you know MatthewMr, Serj

^Plunkett ?

Col. Manning. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. How long have you known

him ?

Col. Manning. Upwards of ten Years.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. What Credit hath he ? Do

you take him to be an honeft Man ?

Col. Manning. He behaved himfelf well, and

like an honeft Man.
/ .

..'

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Do you think he would for-

fwear himfelf ?

Col. Manning. No, I believe not.

Prifoner; Have you and I had any Difcourfe

about this very Plunkett ? And did not you tell me

he was a Scoundrel ?

Col. Manning. No, I did not.

Mr. Hungerjord. Did not you give him a bad

Character to Mr. Layer ?

Col. Manning. No, I did not.

Prijoner. Do you mean thus, that he behaved

himfelf very well, as a Soldier ? What is that as

to his Character in general ?

Col. Manning. I know no ill Character of him

while he was with me.

Mr. Ketelbey. Did you never hear any thing in

relation to Sir Daniel Caroll, that he made a wrong

Demand upon him ?

L. C. Juji. If he made an unjuft Demand, will

he therefore be perjur'd ?

Mr. Ketelbey. What have you heard about that

Affair between Mr. Plunkett and Sir Daniel Car-

Manning. I have heard Mr. Layer fay

Ketelbey. Did .you never hear any Body get away, and was endeavouring to go to France,

roll ?

Col.

Mr.
elfe fpeak of him ? I afk you about making this

Demand upon Sir Daniel Carroll, what you know

of it ?

L. C. Juji. I never heard any thing like it.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, we apprehend we

may crofs examine, as to Particulars, a Perfon

whom the other Side produces as a Witnefs to

Character.

Prijoner. Did not you afterwards, in Difcourfe

with Mr. White, mention it again with relation to

this of Sir Daniel Carroll ?

Col. Manning. I deny it.

Prijoner. Did you defire me not to examine

you ?

Col. Manning. No,. I told you I had nothing

to fay in relation to Plunkett's Character.

Mr. Hungerjord. Let him alone, I would not

afk him any more Queftions.

Col. Manning. Why, let him alone ?

Mr. Hungerjord. I would not have him examine publifh a

Maj. Hamel. He was then a Drummer
the Regiment, and always did his Duty well ;

I never heard him complained of; he always

had a good Character ; he went from Ireland to

Spain-.

Mr. Hungerjord. You fpeak to his military

Conduct.

Maj. Hamel. I know of no other.

Mr., Serj. Chejhire. You fay he always had a

good Character,

Maj. Hamel. Yes, he always had.

Captain Crojly fworn.

Mr^ Serj. Chejhire. Do you know Serjeant

Plunkett ?

Cap. Crojby. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. How long have you known
him ?

Cap. Crojby. Three Years.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. What Character had he for

that Time ?

Cap. Crojby. Whilft I knew him* he bore a
good Character.

Mr. Serj. Chefmre. Did you hear any 111 of
him ?

Cap. Crojby. Not during the Time that I knew
him.

Mr. Ketelbey. Where was the Regiment at that

Time ?

Cap. Crojby. It was in Town, about half a

Year ago.

Mr. Ketelbey. Were you not of the fame Regi-

ment ?

Cap. Crojly. We were.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. We won't give your Lord-
(hip any further Trouble.

Mr. Ketelbey. And we apprehend we have no
Occafion to give your Lordfhip any further

Trouble, by way of Reply.

Mr. Att. Gen. My Lord, as to my Lord
North and Grey, we can prove he attempted to

you any further.

Col. Manning. You are very civil.

Mr. Hungerjord. So I am, to give you no fur-

ther Trouble.

Major Hamel fworn.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. Do you know Matthew

Plunkett ?

Ma]. Hamel. I have known him thefe feventeen

Years.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. What Character hath

he ?

and was taken in the Ifle of Wight ; and that when
the Prifoner was feized, he fent a MefTenger to

give my Lord North Notice of it. This laft was
confeffed on his Examination, and we can prove

it.

Mr. Ketelbey. I muft fubmit it to your

Lordfhip, whether his Examination can be

admitted as Teftimony, fo as to affect a Third

Perfon.

L. C. Juff. It is not worth difputing.

Gentlemen of the Jury, This is an Indictment

againft Mr. Layer, the Prifoner at the Bar, for

High-Treafon. The Treafon with which he
Hands charged, is the compaffing and imagining

the Death of the King : The Overt-Acts that

are laid in this Indictment, as Evidence of this

Treafon, are feveral •, firft^of all, that he did

meet and confult, advife and agree, to levy War
againft the King ; the fecond is, that he did

feditious and traiterous Writing, ex-

citing and encouraging the People to an Infur-

rection, and offering Rewards for that Purpofe ;

the third is, that he did engage in a Defign to

fet the Pretender on the Throne ; the fourth,

that he lifted Soldiers againft the King ; and the

laft, that he did confult and agree, to take, feize

imprifon the King : Thefe are the feveral Overt-

Acts that are laid in the Indictment of the Trea-

fon, that is, the compaffing and imagining the

Death of the King. Gentlemen, I muft tell you,

before I go on to lay before you, and obferve on

the
v
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the Evidence, what the Law is ; and I muft tell

you, that the Law is undoubtedly fo, if a Man is

charged with Treafon, in compafllng and imagin-

ing the Death of the King, there muft be an O-

vert-Aft of that Treafon proved in the County

where he is indicted ; and in the next Place, if

there be fuch Overt-Aft in that County, he may

be charged with any Overt-Aft of the fame Species

of Treafon in any other County whatfoever. This

hath been frequently refolved and agreed, and was

hardly ever made a Queftion. I obferved in the

Hands of one of the Counfel, and he took Notice

of it, that he had the Trial of Sir William Perkins

;

he could not but obferve there laid down by my
Lord Chief Juftice Holt, if Evidence be given of

Treafon in one County where the Indiftment is

laid, he may be charged with any Overt- Acts of

the fame Species of Treafon in any other County

whatfoever. The Law being fo, I will, in the

beft manner I can, fet out the Matters that have

been given in Evidence, on this long Evidence,

in the cleareft Light that I can flate the Exami-

nation* the Objeftions that have been made,

and the Obfervations that are proper to be made

upon it.

To maintain this Indiftment, the King's Coun-

fel have produced feveral WitnefTes. The firft

Witnefs is Mr. Lynch ; the fecond Witnefs is

Mr. Plunked ; all the other Evidence hath been

offered to confirm the Evidence given by thefe

two WitnefTes. As to Mr. Lynch, he tells you

how he came to the Acquaintance of Mr. Layer •,

that he was an intimate Acquaintance of Dr.

Murphey, and Dr. Murphey recommended him

to Mr. Layer ; being fo recommended, he had

feveral Meetings with Mr. Layer in Middlefex,

at the Griffin-Tavern, and in Holbourn, at the

CaJlle-Tavern, and I think, at Southampton-Build-

ings.

He tells you, at thefe feveral Meetings it was

declared, that there was to be a Rifing, and

it was thought necefTary, to make this Rifing

the more effectual, that my Lord Cadogan, the

Commander in chief of the King's Forces fhould

be feized.

Mr. Layer faid to Mr. Lynch, he was looked

upon as a Perfon proper for the Undertaking, and
he declared that he was willing, and faid, if that

was the Opinion of thofe concerned in the Affair,

he would undertake to do it : After this, they

went to my Lord Cadogan's Houfe, to view the

Houfe, and the feveral Avenues about the Houfe

;

and after they had taken this View, Lynch declares

his Opinion, that it was feafible, and he would
undertake to do it.

After he had given you an Account of what
happened at the feveral Meetings in Middle/ex,

then he comes to what was done in the County
of EJfex : He tells you Mr. Layer came to him,
and afked him whether he would ride out with
him to take the Air j he agreed to it ; they both
went out of Town together •, he faid, that as they

were going along, Mr. Layer told him his In-

tention was to go to my Lord North and Grey's

;

he fays, they went forward with that Intention,

but before they came to the Green-Man at Lay-
ton-Stone, they thought it would be too late be-

fore they got to my Lord North and Grey's for

Dinner, therefore they thought proper to halt

at the Green-Man, and take a Refrefhment there.

He tells you, they did flop there at the Green-
Man, and at that Time Mr. Layer did repeat
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the Difcourfe of the Rifing that was intended to
be ; he faid, my Lord Townjhend, and my Lord
Carteret and Mr. Walpole were to be feized, a
Party were to be fent to feize the King -, and that

a Scheme was laid for feizing my Lord Cadogan,
and that it was propofed as a proper Time to put
this in Execution at the Breaking up of the Camp.
He faidj when he was mentioned, at firfthemade
fome little doubt, whether that was a proper Op-
portunity ; with that Mr. Layer told him, pray
confider with your felf, if you do not think this

practicable, will you propole fomething elfe, and
we will alter our Scheme ?

He faith, at this fame Time Mr. Layer pulled

out of his Pocket a Declaration, purporting an
Exhortation and Excitation for People to rife, and
take up Arms againft the King, and Rewards of-

fered for that Purpofe.

Afterwards they went to my Lord North and
Grey's, and that Mr. Layer introduced him to his

Lordfhip, as his Friend ; that they were civilly

and kindly received, fupped there, lay there that

Night, and dined there the Day after. This is the

Evidence given with relation to what was done in

the County of EJfex ; and if this Relation be true,

no doubt there is a good Overt-Aft proved upon
him in the County of EJfex, and confequently the

Indiftment is well laid in EJfex, and then the E-
vidence in the County of Middlefex will be a pro-

per Evidence againft the Prifoner. But as to this

Evidence of Mr. Lynch, they fay for the Prifoner,

Mr. Lynch is not to be believed, that he is a vile

profligate Wretch, and no Credit is to be given

to him, though upon his Oath ; and it muft be

admitted the Evidence that hath been given for

that Purpofe, by a great Number of WitnefTes,

will be proper for your Confideration : But you
will confider, in a Cafe of this Nature, if you

are to expeft WitnefTes without Exception, it is

impoflible to have any Evidence to convift a Man
of High-Treafon ; no body will engage in fuch

an Affair, that is of a nice Credit and Reputation,

and therefore it is not to be expected ; for if it

be, it is and will be impoflible to convift any Per-

fon of Treafon.

But then you will confider, although Credit is

not entirely to be given to a Man of ill Repute,

yet if he is fupported in his Evidence that he gives

by other Evidences, you will confider whether that

will not remove all Sort of Objeftions as to his

Character.

As to the Overt-Aft of publifhing the Decla-

ration, that is fupported beyond Contradiction ;

for it appears in his Examination before the

Lords of the Council, when he is afked, whe-

ther he ever faw the Declaration ? He fays, he

never faw any but one, and that was drawn by

himfelf.

Prifoner. My Lord, what Mr. Stanyan fays, I

believe, he did not fay that I confeffed that it was

drawn by me.

L. C. JusJ. You muft not interrupt me while

I am direfting the Jury. You have behaved your

felf intemperately hitherto, but you muft not in-

terrupt me, I can't bear it. The Subftance of

what Mr. Stanyan faid is, that when it was de-

manded of you, whether you had feen the Decla-

ration, you laid, you had feen none but a rough

Draught that was drawn by your felf.

Prifoner. I beg your Lordfhip's Pardon, Mr.

Stanyan is here in Court.

L. C. Jtffi.
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L. C. Jufi. Is he in Court ? Let him be afked

the Queftion again.

Mr. Stanyan. My Lord, I believe I did fay,

that Mr. Layer did confefs, that it was the Heads

of a Declaration which he had drawn himfelf.

L. C. Jufi. Now, Sir, after this, I expect not

to be interrupted by you any more.

This being the Matter, he doth at the fame

Time confefs, that That was the Declaration which

he had fhewn to Mr. Lynch at the Green Man, on

the Way as they were going to my Lord North

and Grey's. So that Part of this Evidence is fop-

ported by Mr. Layer's own Confefiion. As to the

other Part, that he did confult and agree to levy

War, confider, that he confeffed before the Coun-

cil, that he did go to the Green Man, and there

fhewed the Declaration to Mr. Lynch ; whether

that doth not give Credit to what the other faith,

That he went to the Green Man, and that there

they talked of the Infurrection, and the levying

of War ; and then went to my Lord North and

Grey's, with this, that he recommended Mr. Lynch

to my Lord North and Grey, as a fit Perfon to feize

my Lord Cadogan, and to be concerned in the In-

furrection.

Gentlemen, This is not the only Matter by

which he is fopported in this Evidence, that the

Prifoner defigned an Infurrection, and to levy

War againft the King ; but he confeffed before

the Council, that he went to Rome, had two fe-

veral Conferences with the Pretender, and was

very kindly received by him : He faid he afked

the Pretender, if he would give him any Creden-

tials that might recommend him to his Friends

in England ; that was objected to, and not com-
plied with ; but then he afked a particular Fa-

vour, that the Pretender's Spoufe would ftand

Godmother to his Child ; that is granted ; and

the Pretender himfelf is willing to ftand God-
father.

Afterwards, when he returns into England, he

confidered of proper Proxies to reprefent the Pre-

tender and his Spoufe ; and afking my Lord Or-

rery, he refufed him ; then he afked my Lord
North and Grey, who confented : My Lord North
and Grey ftood as Proxy for the Pretender, and the

Dutchefs of Ormond as Proxy for the Pretender's

Wife.

He tells you, at this Time when he was at

Rome, he had told Sir William Ellis, it would
be of great Service if he could have a Fund of
Credit to raife Money with. How muft that be ?

Why, faith he, let me have blank Receipts fign-

ed by the Pretender himfelf ; and accordingly he
had.

This, he tells you, is what happened at that Time.
Now the Evidence given by Mr. Lynch, being of
an Infurrection in Favour, and for the Service of
the Pretender, when Mr. Layer owns he had two
Conferences with the Pretender, and was receiv'd

fo kindly by him, and had foch particular Marks
of his Favour ; confider whether this doth not
fopport the Evidence which is given by Mr.
Lynch.

The next Evidence is Mr. Plunkett ; he tells

you how he came recommended to Mr. Layer
by one Major Barnwell, on this Occafion. He
tells you, Mr. Layer's Goods were in Execution,
and he was employed by Major Barnwell to ref-

cue them ; accordingly he went and fetched a
Couple of Soldiers, got into the Houfe, drove
out the Officers, and refcued the Goods. By

this it appears, that Mr. Plunkett was a bold
daring Man, fit to be employed on fuch an Oc-
cafion, and they affign that as a Reafon, which
anfwers the Objection made. Saith Mr. Layer,

how came it to pafs, that when I had never feen

this Man, that I of a fudden fhould have foch

a Confidence as to truft him in an Affair of this

Nature ? In anfwer to that, it is faid, he had
done him a fingular Service before, he had done
a bold Act, he had got fome Grenadiers and
refcued his Goods when they were taken in Exe-
cution ; and likewife James Plunkett had given a
Character of him, that he looked upon him as an
honeft Man, and therefore recommended him to

Mr. Layer;

Then he tells you, that Mr. Layer faid they
wanted a Man to ferve on this Occafion ; that

James Plunkett talked of Officers, but we don't

want Officers fo much as we do brave Serjeants, old

Soldiers, foch as will be ready and qualified to fop-

port the Mob, and to difcipline and head them ;

thefe are the Men we want, can you get foch as

theie? Such as you are, that will be able to difci-

pline the Mob and put them in Order. I told him
(fays the Witnefs Plunkett) I would do my Endea-
vours, and accordingly I advifed him ; that I had
procured twenty five ready for the Service ; he
defired to have Lifts of their Names, and the Pla-

ces of their Abode, that fo he might know where
to fend to them upon Occafion.

Now the Objection to this Evidence being only,

how comes it to pafs that a Man fhould be

trufted with foch a Secret, and this on the firft

Sight or Acquaintance ? Why,- faith he, I had
been employed before, and had fhewn myfelf

faithful on another Occafion, and did ferve him
in refcuing his Goods, when they were feized

upon in Execution, and James Plunkett recom-

mended me. This is the Evidence of Matthew
Plunkett, and if Plunkett fwears true, if he was
defired by Mr. Layer to procure and lift Men for

the Service of the Pretender, and he fays and de-

clares he did do it, then, if this Evidence is to be

credited, the Prifoner at the Bar is guilty of the

Treafon wherewith he ftands charged : But ftill

they rely upon it, and hope you will not give Cre-

dit to the Witneffes. You hear what hath been

anfwered by the Counfel for the King, and Iobferve

to you now, that though here was foch a Charge
againft the Witneffes, the King's Counfel have

produced ieveral Perfons that had good Afpects,

and feemed to be Men of Reputation, who fay,

they know them, and believe them to be Men
of Reputation.

Then, Gentlemen, the next Thing infifted on

is, that the Evidence given by Lynch and Plun-

kett is fopported by the Papers that were feized

in Mrs. Mafon's Cuftody. Confider how that

Matter ftands ; Mrs. Ma/on tells you, that Mr.
Layer brought two Pacquets of Papers fealed up
to her, and told her, they were Love-Letters ;

fhe fays, fhe was defired to keep them by the

Prifoner ; and accordingly fhe did keep them

for him ; and you have it afterwards from the

Witneffes, who have been produced, and againft

whofe Credit there is no Exception, that having

a Warrant againft Mrs. Cook and Mrs. Mafon,

they came to Mrs. Cook's Houfe to fearch for

Papers, and in Mrs. Mafon's Room there was a

Trunk which was locked ; they ordered it to be

opened, which Mrs. Mafon did, and they took

out of the Trunk two Bundles of Papers fealed

up
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up as you have heard ; they tell you the Bundles

of Papers were opened, that they fet their Marks

upon each Paper ; and one of them did not im-

mediately fet his Mark, but afterwards 'tis proved

that he kept them from the Time they were de-

livered to him till the other came back again, and

then upon his Return he delivered them back a-

gain to him •, then he fet his Mark upon them,

both fet their Marks upon them, and therefore

they can fwear that they are the fame Papers that

were taken out of Mrs. Mafon's Trunk : Then,

if Mrs. Ma/on fwears true, they are the Papers of

Mr. Layer, which were delivered to her by him ;

and fo tracing it from Hand to Hand, thefe are

the fame Papers that were found in Mrs. Mafon's

Cuftody. Mrs. Mafon fwears the fame, and fhe

alio fet her Mark upon them.

But, faith Mr. Layer, there is no Credit to be

given to Mrs. Mafon, fhe is an ill Woman, an

infamous Woman, therefore her Evidence is not

to be regarded.

Gentlemen, confider how this Matter {lands;

in one of thefe Pacquets of Papers were found

the Pretender's Receipts, which Mr. Layer be-

fore the Council laid, he had defired Sir William

Ellis to procure for him from the Pretender, and

which he had accordingly procured, and that he

had received them -, and thefe Receipts being in

the Pacquet found upon Mrs. Mafon, how came

they there, if they had not been delivered to her

by Mr. Layer? Therefore thefe Receipts being

in this Pacquet, plainly demonftrate that thefe

Papers are the Papers of Mr. Layer, and were

by him delivered to Mrs. Mafon : And if they

were his Papers, thefe Papers, and what is con-

tained in them, will be a ftrong Evidence againft

Mr. Layer. Notwithstanding all this, fays Mr.

Layer, thefe were never my Papers ; it is For-

gery or Perjury. Whether or no you will be-

lieve thefe Papers to be Mr. Layer's, when it ap-

pears thofe Receipts were found amongft them ;

•bdules that, here is a Paper amongft them, that

the Witnefs that is produced by Mr. Layer, one

that was his Clerk, fwears that it is his own Hand-
Writing ; how came that there, if this be not

the Bundle and Pacquet of Mr. Layer ? And on

this they turn the Strength of their Cafe.

If this be fo, confider, firft here is a Scheme •,

whofe Hand-Writing it is, here hath been Va-
riety of Evidence as to that. It is infilled on by
the King's Counfel, that the Scheme is of Mr.
Layer's Hand-Writing ; and if fo, this is a ftronger

Evidence againft Mr. Layer, than if the Papers,

had been only found in his Cuftody. How ftands

that ? Here is one that was Mr. Layer's Mafter

formerly, who faith, he verily believes this to be

the Hand-Writing of Mr. Layer ; if that be fo,

then all is well, and it ought to be read, not only

as a Paper that was in his Poffcflion, but as a Pa-

per that was writ by him : But they difpute, and

fay, 'tis not his Hand-writing ; they afk this

Witnefs how long it is fince the Prifoner lived

with him as his Clerk ? about fourteen or fifteen

Years ago, fays the Witnefs: A Man's Hand, fay

they, may be changed in that Time : But, faith

the Witnefs, I verily believe it to be his Hand-
Writing, for I have within thefe five Years re-

ceived feveral Letters from him about Bufinefs,

there being a Correspondence between him and
me, I being his Agent in Town, and thefe Letters

are of the fame Character he ufed fourteen or fifteen
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Years ago, therefore I believe it to be his Hand-
Writing.

But, fay the Counfel for the King, we won't
only prove this by thefe Gentlemen, but the Pri-
foner himfelf hath confeft it. Well, how ftands
that : He confeft, when he was afkt at the Coun-
cil-Table, what he knew of Arms that were pro-
vided ; he faid, he knew of none. To which
when it was faid, how came you to mention it

in this Scheme of your own Hand-Writing, there

you take Notice of Arms that were provided ?

Doth Mr. Layer difown it ? No, faith he, 'tis a
Miftake, I mould have writ, which (hould be

provided.

Gentlemen, take this together, confider with
your felves, what the Import of it is. He faith,

when he is afked about thefe Arms, I fhould

have writ, which fhould be provided. Whether
this doth not amount to a Confefllon of this Mat-
ter, muft be left to your Consideration, as a con-

firming Evidence of what the other Witneffes

fwear. But, faith Mr. Layer, let me call a Wit-
nefs to prove that it is not my Hand-Writing

:

He calls a Gentleman, and he fays it is not his

Hand-Writing •, he calls his Clerk, and his Clerk
faith it is not his Matter's Hand. Here are two
Witneffes : Then there is an additional Witnefs
on the other Side, and that is, his own Confefllon.

Whether it amounts to a Confefllon muft be left

to your Confideration •, but if this Scheme be not

of his own Hand-Writing, it was a Scheme which
he had in his Cuftody, and that alone had been a
confiderable Evidence againft him. How came
he by this Scheme ? What had he to do with it ?

The Scheme hath been read to you, which tells

you the feveral Methods to be proceeded in. In

the firft Place, the T'o'wer is to be feized, an Offi-

cer is to mount the Guard that would be in their

Intereft, and at nine a-Clock at Night they are to

feize the Tower : Then they are to go to the

Bank, and fet a Guard there, after they have taken

out Money from thence : After this he tells you
of feveral other Guards that are to be fet in other

Places, and then a Party is to be fent to feize the

King ; then he tells you, another Party is to be

fent over the Water to feize his Royal Highnefs

the Prince ; he calls him by a Cant Name, but 'tis

plain he is meant.

If this be all his own Hand-Writing, it is a

ftrong Evidence that he was in this Confpiracy

;

but if he had only a Scheme of this Nature in his

Cuftody, that will be an Evidence againft him,

though he did not write it.

Now whether every Body is not fatisfied that

thefe Bundles were his, when in thefe Bundles

thefe Receipts figned by the Pretender himfelf, and

the Paper that was of his Clerk's own Hand-
Writing, were found •, it goes a great Way to con-

firm the Evidence of Mrs. Mafon, who fwears

the Bundles to be his Papers.

Thefe are Matters of Evidence, and muft be

left to your Confideration.

Then they go on and examine the treafonable

Papers, the Notes, the Lifts, &c.

To raife an Infurrection Money would be want-

ing ; faith Mr. Layer, I told Sir William Ellis

this. Upon .that there are Receipts figned by

the Pretender, by which the Prifoner fatd they

might take up Money on that Occafion. Sir

William Ellis agrees with me, faith Mr. Layer,

and accordingly fends me Receipts, and I had

T t them
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them, and they were found in this Bundle of Pa-

pers ; and how came they there, if they were not

Mr. Layer's Papers ?

Confider the other Papers ; the Defign being

for an Infurrection, they are to engage the Guards

in their Service ; you fee that feveral Papers are

found in thefe Bundles that contain an Account of

the Number of Men that were in fuch a Troop

of Guards, the Number in fuch a Troop of Gre-

nadiers, and tells you what the Numbers were

;

what was the meaning of all this ? How came

this Gentleman to be lb follicitous in examining

into the Number of Guards and Officers, but

only to get a true State of this Matter, that he

might know who were the Perfons that were

mod likely to be corrupted, and what a Num-
ber of Enemies he might meet with on this Oc-

cafion.

Thefe are very ftrong Circumftances againft Mr.

Layer, unlefs Mr. Layer can give any Account

why he kept thefe Papers lb carefully.

To go a little back, as to the Bufinefs of Mr.

Lynch ; it appears he did not know Mr. Lynch

before this Affair was fet on Foot •, he rode out

with him, goes to the Green Man with him, there

they talked over this Affair, there he publifhes

that traiterous Declaration, and afterwards pre-

iented Lynch to my Lord North and Grey. How
came they fo intimately acquainted unlefs on this

Occafion ?

Then, Gentlemen, they go on and tell you,

when this Gentleman was committed into the

Cuftody of a Meffenger he made his Efcape, and
this we look upon as an Evidence of Guilt, not

a conclufive Evidence $ a Man may efcape tho'

he is innocent, yer'tis an Evidence that is mate-

rial to be left to the Jury, and is proper for their

Confideration •, he is purfued and retaken ; when
he is retaken he is under great Confternation -, he

begs for the Lord's Sake they would let him go,

and faid it was an Arreft § he took out of his

Pocket a great Number of Guineas, and faid,

they fhould have what Number they pleafed,

if they would let him go •, this is a material

Circurnftance, and doth lhew that this Gentle-

man was more than ordinary concerned in this

Affair.

You will lay thefe Things together, and con-

fider how far they fatisfy you, that this Gentleman
is guilty of the Treafon.

Then they give you an Account how he did

confefs before the Lords of the Council every

Thing that hath been fworn by the WitnefTes :

That he went to the Green Man in your County,
and there confulted and agreed to carry on this

Affair •, that he did take out and read the De-
claration •, this is a ftrong Evidence, efpecially if

compared with what he confeffed, that he had
Two Conferences with the Pretender at Rome,
was kindly received by him, and had particular

Marks of his Favour : He is defired to ftand

Godfather, and his Wife to ftand Godmother to

his Child ; and accordingly they flood ; he de-

fires my Lord North and Grey to ftand as Proxy
for the Pretender, and the Dutchefs of Ormond
to be Proxy for the Pretender's Spoufe •, and they

were Proxies at the Chriftening of his Child.

Thefe are the Circumftances that have been laid

before you on Behalf of the King againft the

Prifoner at the Bar. But 'tis faid on the Behalf
of the Prifoner, that he ftands at the Bar upon

his Life and Death, which will depend upon your
Verdict.

I think you ought to confider of that, and
that I hope will induce you to confider and
weigh well the Evidence, and not to find the
Prifoner Guilty, unlefs you are fatisned he is fb.

It is true, here is the Life of a Man in the
Cafe, but then you muft confider likewife the Mi-
fery and Defolation, the Blood and Confufion, that

muft have happened if this had taken Effect, and
put one againft the other ; and I believe that Con-
fideration, which is on the Behalf of the Kino-,

will be much the ftrongeft.

Thefe Things are proper to be confidered, in

Order to prepare you to be careful in examining
and weighing the Evidence well ; but in givino-

your Verdict I hope you will lay them all afide -,

you will confider the Weight of the Evidence
on either Side, and the Credit of the two Wit-
nefTes, and how far they are fupported by a Writ-
ing under his own Hand, a Confefiion at the

Council-Table ; confider how far that willTupport

their Evidence, though not Men of the cleareft

Reputation.

A Cypher hath been taken Notice of, by which
were explained feveral Names that fuch and fuch

Perfons and Things were to be called by ; there

was the Name of Atkins, which was to fignify

the Pretender ; there was another Name for the

Pretender, and that was St. John ; and conform-

able to thefe Names they have read feveral Letters,

by which it appears that a treafonable Correfpon-

dence was carried on by Mr. Layer. This is the

Circurnftance of the Evidence that hath been laid

before you. Confider this Evidence, and the

Objections that have been made to it, and how
far thofe Objections have been anfwered.

Difcharge the Part of Honeft Men, confider

and weigh well the Evidence.

Upon the whole Matter, if you do believe that

there was an Overt-Act of Treafon in the County
of EJfex, and that it was proved by Mr. Lynch,

and confirmed by the Confefiion of Mr. Layer ;

and if there be any Overt-Act in another County,

as his lifting or employing any to lift or engage

Men in the Service of the Pretender, then you

will find the Prifoner guilty.

If you are not fatisfied thefe Things are true,

then you'll acquit him.

The Jury withdrew for about half an Hour,
to confider of their Verdict, and when
they returned into Court, were called over

by the Clerk of the Crown and anfwered

to their Names.
CI. of the Cr. Gentlemen of the Jury, are you

agreed on your Verdict?

Jury. Yes.

CI. of the Cr. Who fhall fay for you ?

Jury. Our Foreman.

CI. of the Cr. Chrijiopher Layer, hold up your

Hand. (Which he did.)

You of the Jury look upon the Prifoner.

How fay you? Is Chriffopher Layer guilty of

the High-Treafon whereof he ftands indicted, or

not guilty ;

Jury. Guilty.

CI. of the Cr. What Goods and Chattels, Lands

and Tenements had he at the Time of the faid

High-Treafon committed, or at any Time fince,

to your Knowledge ?

Jury. None.

CI. of the Cr,
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CL of the Cr. Hearken to your Verdict as the

Court has recorded it. You fay that Chriftopher

Layer is guilty of the High-Treafon whereof he

Hands indicted ; and you fay he had no Goods

nor Chattels, Lands nor Tenements at the Time
of the faid High-Treafon committed, or at any

Time fince, to your Knowledge, and fo you fay

all.

Mr. Att. Gen. We pray a Rule may be made to

bring up the Prifoner to receive Sentence.

Mr. Juft. Eyre. He muft have four Days to

move in Arreft of Judgment. Let there be a

Rule to bring him again upon Thurfday next.

Then the Prifoner was remanded back to the

Tower.

Die Martis 27 die Novembris, 1722.

Chriftopher Layer, Efq; was brought to the Bar

of the Court of King's Bench, in order to receive

Sentence.

Mr. Att. Gen. "K TY Lord, the Prifoner at

XVA the Bar (lands convicted

of High-Treafon •, I pray your Lordfhip's Judg-

ment againft him for the King.

Cl. of the Cr. Chriftopher Layer, hold up thy

Hand, (which he did) Thou haft been indicted

for High Treafon, for compaffing and imagining

the Death of the King, and thereupon been ar-

raigned ; and thereunto haft pleaded not Guilty,

and for thy Trial put thy felf upon God and thy

Country, which Country hath found thee Guilty ;

what can'ft thou now fay for thy felf why the

Court fhould not give Judgment of Death againft

thee according to Law ?

Mr. Hungerford. Is it your Lordfhip's Pleafure

to give any Directions touching the Matter of the

Prifoner's being in Irons ? I hope your Lordfhip

will order them to be taken off, at leaft during

his Attendance here.

L. C. Juft. I don't know, there is none of
the Cafes that have been, which go further than

during the Time of his Trial ; his Trial is over,

if he hath any thing to offer to the Court, and
thinks he may not be able to do it fo well while

he is under thefe Irons, I would recommend it to

Mr. Attorney, not to make a Precedent of it, that

his Irons may be taken off.

Prifoner. Yes my Lord, I have a great deal

to fay, which I fhall offer in Arreft of Judgment. •

Mr. Hungerford. He hath complain'd fince he
hath been here, that he is in great Pain, in the

Pofition he ftands with his Irons.

L. C. Juft. Come, Brother Pengelly, have you
any thing to object againft his Irons being taken

off, or do you confent to it ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, we don't oppofe
it.

Then the Irons were taken off.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, the Prifoner at

the Bar, Mr. Layer, after a long and a fair Trial,

hath been found guilty of High-Treafon ; and on
Behalf of the King, we pray the Judgment of
the Court againft the Prifoner.

Mr. Hungerford. By your Lordfhip's Indul-
gence, I am Counfel for the Prifoner at the Bar,
I have, and I hope fhall continue to do him what
Service I can : The Prifoner's Life is at Stake, and
I hope, I fhall not be fuppofed to be troublefome,
if I defire a Record to be read, which hath not
been yet read in Court ; it is the Venire, and that

Vol. VI.

being part of the Record, we think we are proper
to have it read.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We apprehend it is fuch a
Requeft as has never been made : If they have
any Objections to any Part of the Proceedings,
or any Exceptions to take, they are at Liberty
to take them, and to ftate their Objections, that
the Court, if neceffary, may refer to the Record
to fee whether they are juft or no ; but to come
and defire the Procefs to be laid before the Court
for the Information of the Prifoner and his Coun-
fel, it never hath been done : They are entitled

now to offer any Thing, if they can, in Arreft
of Judgment.

Mr. Att. Gen. If what they defire fhould be
granted, it would be a Precedent which might
be of very ill Confequence, and I apprehend what
they defire, is directly contrary to Law ; there
are no Authorities that the Prifoner fhould either

have Copies of the Procefs, or that the Procefs

fhould be read to him, only to enable him to find

a Fault. I believe no Inftance can be given what-
foever, that it was ever allowed in a Cafe of this

Nature, if it be done now, it will be a Precedent
for the future.

The Act of Parliament went as far as was
thought proper, Copies of the Indictment and
Copies of the Names of the Jury, are directed

to be delivered to the Prifoner ; but as to any
of the Procefs, the Act gives no Direction, and
therefore as what they defire is neither founded
on Law, nor Precedent, we hope it fhall not be
granted.

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lord, Mr. Hungerford has
been pleafed, in the Courfe of this Cafe, frequent-

ly to put us in mind, as he does now, that what
he has infifted on, was in favour of Life. That is

a moving Argument, but it proves nothing, fave

that the Prifoner ought to have all the Indulgence

which the Law and the fettled Forms of Proceed-

ing do allow ; but I apprehend it is a Reafon for

no more. What is afked, is of more Confequence

than appears in this particular Cafe ; and whatfo-

ever your Lordfhip doth now, will be made a
Precedent for the future.

My Lord, before the Act of Parliament, which
allows the Prifoner to have a Copy of his Indict-

ment, and of the Pannel of the Jury, it is moft
certain, he was not entitled to have fuch Copies.

Before that Law was made, he was informed of
nothing but by having the Indictment read to him
in Court upon his Arraignment, and that not bare-

ly to give him an Opportunity of taking Excep-

tions to it, but from the Neceffity of the Thing,
becaufe it was the Charge to which he was to anf-

wer. Then comes the Act of Parliament, the

7th Year of King William, and allows the Prifon-

er a Copy of his Indictment, and of the Pannel

of his Jury. But the Legiflature, when they had
thefe Matters under their Confideration, and feem,

to have intended to give at leaft all the Indulgence,

confident with Reafon, to Prifoners in Cafes of

High-Treafon, even at that Time they went no

further, and did not think fit to direct that to be

done, which is now defired on the Behalf of this

Gentleman. Therefore this Motion of Mr. Hunger-

ford's muft be underftood to be made at Common
Law ; but I muft beg leave to rely upon it, until

fome Precedent is produced on the other Side,

that there is no Inftance whatfoever, either before

or fince the Act of Parliament, wherein any Re-

T t 2 cord
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cord of the Proceedings hath been read to the

Prifoner befides the Indictment. This is a Con-

sideration merely of Practice and Regularity ; and

in a Point of that kind, where there is no Prece-

dent, I hope your Lordfhip will not make one.

Mr. Serj. Chejhire. My Lord, the Carriage

and Behaviour of the King's Council towards the

Prifoner, hath been fo fair and candid, that it de-

fences Thanks from him, rather than Complaint;

and I believe this Temper will hold on to the

laft : But my Lord, wc have no Authority to

give up the Right of the Crown, or to fix that on

the Crown to grant, which the Prifoner hath no

Right to demand.

My Lord, it muft be admitted, that this is a

Demand made at Common Law, and if it be a

Demand of Right, I don't know but it may go

to every Thing in an equal Degree ; that he hath

the fame Right to demand a fight of the Com-
mifiion ; Certiorari, &c. I don't know but he

hath the fame Right to enquire into every Step

that is upon Record in this Cafe. The Officers

concerned, I dare fay, have done their Duty.

There is nothing of Law, but what comes in up-

on the Statute of King William ; that he hath had

the Benefit of to the full extent of it ; he Jiath

had a Copy of the Pannel of the Jury •, he hath

had a Copy of the Indictment, and in fuch Time
as was proper for him to make due ufe of it ;

and this they afk now, we apprehend is only to

lengthen out Time, and to introduce that which

may be greatly inconvenient. We have very little

Reafon of apprehending that it can be of any

Profit to him ; but for Example fake, and as he

hath no Right to it, we cannot come into a Con-

fent to it.

Therefore we fubmit it to your Lord (hip's Con-

fideration, from the Inconvenience that may enfue

from the Precedent, whether the Prifoner hath

any Right to make this Demand.

Mr. Hungerford. I acknowledge that before the

7th of King William, the Prifoner was not en-

titled to have a Copy of his Indictment, and

therefore I fo far concur with the Gentlemen of

the other Side, that we are not entitled to a Copy
of the Record of the Venire Facias. But what I

humbly pray now, is, what I apprehend we were

entitled to before the Act of Parliament for re-

gulating Trials in Cafes of High Treafon. The
Inftances are feveral, where in the Courfe of a

Trial for High Treafon, before that Act which

gave the Prilbner feveral new Advantages, the

Prifoner hath defired his Indictment to be read,

and the Court never denied it ; to have any other

Part of the Record to be read, feems to be as

reafonable as the Indictment. The Objection had

been ftronger, if we had defired for the Prifoner

at the Bar, the Copy of the Venire ; there we
fhould have been juftly told that we had been en-

titled to nothing but what the Act of Parliament

had directed, viz. the Copy of the Indictment.

We pray a Copy of nothing, but only pray that

a fmall Part of the Record that makes up the

whole Record of this Gentleman's Conviction,

may be read. And this, with Submifiion, we
hope we are entitled to have for the fame Reafon

as the Indictment was read before the Act. Coll.

Sidney defired, that his Indictment mould be read,

and it was fo. And can any Reafon be affigned,

why the Venire, which is but a Part of the Record,

mould not be read as well as the Indictment ? no

one Part of the Record of Conviction is more fa-
cred than the other ; and why therefore fhould not
one Part be read as well as the other ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly; Can you fhew any Cafe
where the Indictment was read, upon the Prayer
of the Prifoner, after Conviction, and before fome
Exception taken ?

L. C. JuSt. We would be far from refufing any
Indulgence to the Prifoner that by Law we are
warranted to grant him ; what you afk now, you
muft own is without any Precedent whatfoever.
You know, that before the Aft of Parliament
you were not entitled to, nor could demand a
Copy of the Indictment : It is very true what you
fay before the Act of Parliament ; when it hath
been defired by the Prifoner the Indictment hath
been read, and that Method of proceeding hav-
ing been allowed, gave him a Right to demand
it ; but you cannot produce any one Inftance that

ever he demanded this that now you offer ; that

ever he demanded the Venire fhould be produced
and read to him.

Confider how ftrict the Law was in Cafes of
High-Treafon -, fee the Aft of Rights : The
Courfe of the Court is the Law ; this which you
now defire was never fo much as afk'd for, nor
did this Court ever grant it; and if fo, how can
the Court be warranted to grant that which was
never granted, nor was ever defired to be granted ?

The Reafon of it is, that every Body was fatisfy'd

by Law it could not be granted.

You have inftanced in Cafes of great Perfons,

Colonel Sidney, Lord Rujfel, and others that have
been attainted of High-Treafon, who could not
want Advice to defire any Thing that was proper,
or that they had a Right to demand. Neither
they nor any of the greateft Quality that have had
the Misfortune of being try'd for an Offence of this

Nature, ever demanded it ; which is an Admifiion
that they were not entitled to it ; and if the
Courfe of the Court be fo, we muft not eftablifh

a new Courfe ; we can't fee what the Confluen-
ces may be.

Mr. Jujt. Eyre. The Cafe of reading the In-
dictment to a Prifoner is certainly very different,

and can be no Authority to warrant the reading
of the Venire ; for the Indictment is the Charge
to which the Prifoner is obliged to plead, and
he muft know his Charge before he can give it

an Anfwer : Befides, the Merit and Juftice of the
Cafe depend entirely upon the Indictment, which
muft be read, in order to underftand the true

State of the Queftion, and to fee the Fact to

which the Witneffes are to be examin'd. 'Tis
therefore abfolutely neceffary, that the Indictment
fhould be read ; but none of thefe Reafons will

ferve for reading" the Venire, which is only to

fummon the Jury, and bring them to the Bar ;

and therefore as it was never done, nor ever afked
before, I can by no means think it fit for us to

allow it now.

Mr. Juff. Powys. I think it is a perfect No-
velty what you demand, and not only fo, but in

its Confequences very dangerous : For, properly

fpeaking, the common Ufage to move in Arreft

of Judgment, hath been out of the Indictment

;

but to run back to thofe Things, which if you

had a Right to demand, it had been proper to

have done it before ; and fince you have many
Times known that nothing but the Indictment

hath been read, fince the Judges were never

mov'd,
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mov'd, nor any Thing of this kind done, and

nothing in the World hath been demanded like

it ; if it fhould be granted at this Time, when

Men are to receive Judgment, and Exceptions are

to be taken to the Indictment, if they mould run

back to all the Proceedings, it would be a thing

of flrange Confequence. But befides that, it is a

Thin^ you have no Example for, it hath been

never done ; and it hath been obferved, that no-

thing but the Copy of the Indictment hath been

read before this Act of Parliament of King

William. Now there are two Things given by

this Act of Parliament of King William ; the

Prifoner is to have the Copy of his Indictment

five Days, the Copy of the Pannel of the Jury

two Days before his Trial, and thefe were pro-

pofed as Advantages which the Common Law
did not admit: Shall we come to unravel all

the Matters preceding ? it would be a Matter

of flrange Confequence, and what we can't do

or warrant by Law : If you have any Thing to

move out of the Indictment, we are ready to

hear it.

Mr. JusJ. Forte/cue Aland. This is perfectly

new, or elfe in Fayour of Life I fhould be ready

to grant it : The true Reafon of having the In-

dictment read is, that the Prifoner may know
what his Charge is, in order to make his Defence

at his Trial ; but that Reafon holds not in this

Cafe, which is after Conviction, and what is afk'd

now is not relative to his Charge, but concerns

the Acts of the Court only. The Court will af-

fift in Matters of Law, when they appear, but

will never afTift the Prifoner with Facts, in order

to make Points of Law ; and therefore it has

been denied the Prifoner to take Minutes even

of the Indictment, and for the fame Reafon Coun-

fel has ever been denied, in all capita] Cafes, be-

fore the late Act of Parliament, unlefs a difput-

able Point of Law did arife and appear.

You move this Matter as a Motion purely at

Common Law ; and as fuch it will extend to all

Indictments of Murder, and other capital Cafes,

which may be of very evil Confequence. It would

be very flrange to have all the Proceedings upon
Indictments read to the Prifoner ; and there is as

much Reafon to call for all as for the Venire fa-
cias : I take it clearly there never was a Cafe,

where the Acts and Proceedings of the Court

have been called for to be read to the Prifoner,

and for no other Purpofe but to make an Error

:

It is a Thing that is entirely new, the Confequen-

ces may be very fatal, and therefore I think it

is an unreafonable Motion, and ought not to be

granted.

Mr. Hungerford. I affure your Lordfhip I did

not do it out of an Affectation of Novelty, nei-

ther fhall I perfift in urging it further, fince the

Court hath given their Opinion •, but I thought

the Reafon of the Thing, in reading the Indict-

ment, before the Act of Parliament was with me ;

but fince it is your Lordfhip's Opinion that it is

otherwife, I defire your Lordfhip to give me leave

to go on.

Prifoner. I beg leave to fay but a fhort Word
in refpect to this Objection that hath been made
by Mr. Hungerford. If I take the Thing right,

it is, that the Venire may be read, to fee if it is

properly ilTuecl, and I hope thus far it fhall be

granted, to fhcw a Reafon why this Venire is re-

turned on one Day, and the Jury appear on an-

other ; and if it doth appear that there is an Er-

325
ror in the Proceedings on the Foot of the Venire
I humbly hope I fhall have the Benefit of it. The
Objection, I take it, mufl be this ; the Venire, I
take it, is returnable the 19th of the Month of
November, I was not try'd till the 21ft ; therefore,
what I humbly offer is, whether or no, after the
Return of the Writ, this is a good convenino- of
the Jury together to try me on a Writ when there
was no fuch Writ in being, more efpecially when
the Proceedings againd me are by Original, where,
the Returns in this Court are the fame as in the
Common Pleas ; fo I fhall leave it to my Coun-
fej to fay the reft, and humbly hope, that I fhall

have leave to look into the Venire, and if it come
outfo, I hope it is erroneous, and that Judgment
fhall be arretted.

Mr. Hungerford. The Gentleman hath given
Utterance to fome of my Thoughts ; and not by
comparing of Notes, for I have not feen his Face,
nor heard from him fince I faw him here at the
Bar at his Trial.

That which occurs to me on this Occafion, but
I can butguefs at fome Part of the Fact, is, I take
it, that the Venire bears Tefte the laft Day of
October, and is returned the 19th of November ;

there are dated Return Days of the Law, and,
my Lord, if a Man appears in a Court of Judice
one Day, and he is not by the Courfe of proceed-
ing indulged with a further Day of appearing,
there is a Difcontinuance of the Procefs, and the
Man is out of Court. The different Days the
Law takes notice of for this Purpofe are, the Ef-
foign Day, the Day of Exceptions, the Day of
Appearance, the quarto die pofl ; I take the
quarto die posl to be an Indulgence which a
Court of Judice gives to a Suitor to appear at

a further Day, when he ought to have appear-
ed at a former Day; and this is the Practice

in real Actions in the Court of Common Pleas.-

As to the Exception Day, the Ufe of that is,

that a Man that is fummon'd may object to the

Summons, as not being a fit and regular Sum-
mons to draw him in Contempt.

But, my Lord, in Cafes of Juries, who are

not Suitors in Court, I take the Law and the Prac-

tice to be, that they are oblig'd to attend upon
the Procefs of the Court •, I take it, they mud
do Duty on the Return of the Venire, which, in

this Cafe, is on Monday the 19 th of November,

and did not appear till Wednefday the 2 id; fo that

if they were to appear on Monday the 19 th of No-
vember, and did not appear then, there mud ap-

pear fome Act of the Court, by which they are

indulg'd to a further Day: And I put it upon Mr.
Harcourt to fhew, whether there is any Indulgence

of the Court entered upon Record for the continu-

ing of the Jury till Wednefday following ; and if

there is not, there is then a Difcontinuance of

their being in this Court, and confequently the

Proceedings are irregular, and the Trial a Mif-

trial : I fhall quote fome Authorities which judify

this Obfervation ; when a Man by a Procefs of

Court appears on the Day of the Return of that

Procefs, unlefs there be a Continuance of that Pro-

cefs, that ulterior dies datus eft to the Party, or a

fubfequent Procefs iffues that Day, the Law deems

that Chafm in the Procedings to be a Dilcontinu-

ance, and that the Party is out of Court. It was

fo refolved in Telvcrton, 204 ; and ad Coke, 284.

It is the Cafe of Bradley and Banks ; and reported

in both Books, but molt fully in Telverton. There

is an Authority which weighs with me fomething

more,
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more, and feems to be a Cafe in Point ; it is the

Cafe of Peplow and Rowley, 2d of Croke, 357. and

and there the Cafe is on a Writ of Error brought

upon Proceedings in the Court of Shrew/bury,

where the Ufage was, to hold Plea in fome real

Actions, and there was an Entry that the Parties

did not appear on a preceeding Day, but made

Default: And the Entry was habuit diem per de-

fault' given to the Party by the Court, Jecundum

confuetudinem villa pr#dift<e. This came before

this Court by a Writ of Error, and it was ad-

judg'd, that both the Entry and the Cuftom were

naught. The Reafon affigned why the Entry was

fo, is, for that the Party having made Default,

was out of Court, and the Court could upon that

Procefs give him no new Day to appear. And
the Reafon why the Cuftom itfelf is naught, is,

for that there can be no Cuftom to help that (which

the Book calls) a Difcontinuance at Common Law

;

for if the Man be out of Court, he can't be brought

in there again by the fame Writ.

My Lord, if that be the Cafe then, that the

Jury were to appear on the 19th, and there is

no Entry to continue them till Wednefday the 2 iff,

then by the Authority of thefe Cafes they had no

Call nor Right to appear, but were out of Court,

the Trial was no legal Trial, and confequently no

Trial at all.

I am told, that the Practice of all Trials at

Bar is, that the Jury do appear here on the Re-

turn of the Venire, and immediately proceed to

• do Bufmefs ; why mould it not be fo too in a

criminal Cafe, as this is ? I think the Reafon in

both Cafes is the fame : I humbly hope therefore,

my Lord, that if the Fact be as I have reprefent-

ed, that there is no Entry to continue over the

Attendanc of the Jury from Monday to Wednef-

day, there is a Blemifh in this Proceeding ; and

you can't proceed to Judgment againft the Pri-

soner at the Bar.

Mr. Ketelbey. If your Lordfhip will favour

me
L. C. Jujl. You mall be fully heard; but be-

caufe Mr. Hungerford hath appeal'd to Mr. Har-

court, I fhall afk Mr. Harcourt this Queftion about

the Matter of the Venire.

Mr. Harcourt. I Ihall be very tender in this

Matter, where the Life of the Prifoner is at Stake,

as Mr. Hungerford has obferv'd, and will not fay

any thing but what I am fure is the Courfe of the

Court. If a Venire be returnable the firft general

Return of the Term, the Appearance- Day of

the Jury is the quarto die pojl, which is the firft

Day of the Term. If the Court be not pleafed

to try the Prifoner then, they may adjourn the

Jury over to any Day before the next Return in

the Term •, but no Entry is ever made on Record
of fuch Adjournment, and the Proceedings are al-

ways enter'd on Record to be at the Return of the

Writ. In all other Returns in the Term, there is

the fame Courfe obferv'd : The Jury is never ob-

lig'd to appear before the quarto die pojl ; nor can

the Prifoner be try'd fooner. What makes this clear

is, to confider the Proceedings on Dijiringas, where

the Prifoner is not try'd on the Venire : In fuch

Cafes the Dijiringas is never tefted on the Return-

Day, but the quarto die pojl ; which, if what is

innfted on by the Prifoner's Counfel is Law, would
make a Difcontinuance, and that has always been

held otherwife ; for till there has been a Default
' of the Jury's appearing on the Venire, no Dijiringas

can iffue, and no Default can be objected to the

Jury for not appearing till the quarto die pojl ; nor

are they amerciable fooner for not appearing. This

Matter was fettled on great Deliberation, by my
Lord Chief Juftice Holt ; and I am confident, has

been ever fince fo practis'd.

Mr. Ketelbey. My Lord, it was my Misfor-

tune not to get into Court fooner ; fo that I did

not hear the firft Application Mr. Hungerford

made to your Lordfhip on Behalf of the Prifo-

ner, nor fhall I prefume to break in upon what

your Lordfhip has already determin'd ; but whe-

ther or not we are entitl'd to fee the Venire, or

hear that Part of the Record read. I hope we
fhall be able to make out, that there has been

a Mif-trial in this Cafe. The Venire, it is agreed

on all Hands, was returnable oclabis Martini,

which was Monday the 19th of November. That

the Prifoner was not tried till the 2 1 ft, is moft

certain. The general Return was ofiabis Martini,

and he was not tried till two Days after ; and not-

withstanding what Mr. Harcourt hath faid, I muft

beg Leave humbly to infift, that there hath been

a Mif-trial, and Judgment ought to be arretted ;

and for that I have as ftrong an Authority as any

that can be cited in this Court, 'tis the Trial of

Rookwood ; and for the greater certainty, I have

brought the Book along with me, and have it in

my Hand ; where it is agreed, by the Court, and

all the King's Counfel, that the Trial muft be on

the Day of the Return of the Venire, or elfe that

it would be Error : And my Lord Chief Juftice

Holt declared, the Iffue could not be tried after

the Day of the Return : This Matter came before

the Court upon an Exception taken by Sir Bar-

tholomew Shower.

Mr. Jujl. Eyre. That was on a Commiffion of

Oyer and terminer, which was quite different; there

is no quarto die pojl there, no Day of Appearance,

but the Day of the Return of the Writ.

L. C. Jujl. It muft be fo, becaufe there is no
fuch Thing as a quarto die pojl in CommifTions of
Oyer and Terminer.

Mr. Ketelbey. I fubmit it to your Lordfhip,

whether there is any quarto die pojl in a Venire ?

L. C. Jujl. It is always fo.

Mr. Jujl. Eyre. You know we had the Con-
fideration of this when we appointed the Trial.

Mr. Ketelbey. I beg leave to offer one Word,
that in cafe of a Venire, there is no quarto die pojl,

becaufe there is no Effoign, no Exception-Day for

the Jury. The Authority in firft Roll's Abridg-

ment, 822. Placit. 4. & 6. is exprefs, that in a

Venire facias or a Scire facias, there is no Ejfoign:

And where there is no Effoign, there can be no

Day of Exception, becaufe the Exception depends

on the EJfoign-Day, and confequently the Day of

the Return, and of the Appearance muft be the

fame, The Cafe of Effoign, Exception, Return,

and Appearance - Days, concerns only original

Writs, and the Plaintiffs and Defendants therein ;

there if the Defendant appears the quarto die pojl,

his Appearance fhall be accepted as good, and no
further Procefs made againft him. But who ever

heard that a Jury were Effoigned ? There are

feveral other Authorities for this. Dalton, 415.

id. Injlit. 125 & 33 H. VI. 5. b. that no Ef-

foign lies upon a Venire facias ; and the Ejfoign was

qu allied.

L. C. Jujl. This you now offer will fet afide

all the Proceedings either on the Plea Side, or

the Crown Side.

Mr.
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Mr. Ketelbey. There is a Cafe reported in the there was a confuking and agreeing in order to

Year-Book, Michs. 33 Henry VI. fol. 35. 36. and levy War, yet it doth not appear that War to

abridged in Brook, Title Nifi pins, PI. 32. It be levyed was fuch a War as in the Law is ad-

was difputed by the Judges of the Bench, and at judged to be Treafon. My Lord, this differs

firit there was a Difference of Opinion among from the levying War it felf. An Intention and
them ; but at lad it was unanimoufly refolved, Confutation, or a Confpiracy barely to levy War
That the Nifi prius was not well taken. I will unlefs War be levy'd, it is no Treafon. If it be

ftate the Cafe as it appears in the Year-Book and a Confultation to levy War againft the Kino-'s

the Abridgment. There was a Writ of Nifi prius Perfon, to imprifon the King, to dethrone and
made with a certain Return, and the Juftices murder him, it ever hath been adjudg'd to be

tried the Iffue upon a Day mefne during the In- Treafon. If it be only a Confuking to levy War,
terval between the quarto die poft, and the Return as if to agree to break open Meeting-Houfes, to

of the Writ. This was objected to, and faid to throw down Houfes, was the fame as doing of it.

be a Mif-trial ; and afterwards the Judges agreed There muft be a War that is levy'd, or ell'e it

in their Opinion, that it was a Mif-trial, becaufe is no Treafon. Not only that, but I beg leave

it was not upon the Return-Day of the Writ of to fay one Word more. In my Cafe, all the Evi-

Nifi prius; and if not upon that Day, the Trial dence given in refpect of this Overt-Act in EJfex,

ought not to have been at all. And I don't ap- there is no Foundation for it ; and if there is no
prehend any Difference between that Cafe and Overt-Act in EJfex, no Overt-Act elfewhere can

this, but only that was at Nifi prius, and this a affect me. It ftands on the Evidence only of

Trial in Bank. There is no Continuance lies on a Mr. Lynch: He talks of a Declaration. Who
Venire facias ; and if fo, I fhall fubmit it, whether read it ? The only two Things are a Difcourfe be-

there is any Day of Appearance. tween us, and a Declaration which I gave him to

Mr. Jusl. Eyre. Sure there is a Day of Ap- read. If that, as I humbly fubmit it, be an Act
pearance on the Venire facias ; the Proceedings of Treafon, it is carrying the Matter further than

in this Cafe are like thofe upon an Original. The it hath been in thofe few Cafes I beg leave to men-
fame Day which is the Day of Appearance for the tion that juft occur to my Memory. If I ftate

Party upon an Original, is the Day of Appearance them wrong, I fhall be forry. The Cafe of College,

for the Jury upon a Venire. the Oxford Joiner. It was afked the Court, Do
Mr. Ketelbey. I believe it will be hard for Mr. you take my Words diftinct from my Actions ?

Harcourt to fhew where there is an EJfoign on a No, fays the Court, we do not do fo. You de-

Venirefacias. clared you would go down to Oxford, and affaffinare

L. C. Jusl. We have heard already what Mr. the King's Perfon. In order to that, you went
Harcourt hath faid. I defire Mr. Simmonds may down with Piflols before you. That at that Time
inform you how it is on the Civil Side. was declared to be an Overt-Act ; the going down

Mr. Simmonds. Our Procefs where the Suit is to Oxford in that Manner •, and the Court ieemed
commenced by Bill, is return'd on a Day certain to rely upon it, as the Overt-Act of the Treafon,

in Court ; that doth not refpect this Cafe. and not the talking here, or confpiring that he
L. C. Juft. How is it when it is by Original ? would affaflinate the King, but the going down
Mr. Simmonds. Where it is by Original, it is in a hoflile Manner. So likewife in the Cafe of

always returnable as the Procefs is in the Common my Lord Preflon ; there the Qaeftion was, whe-
Pleas ; and the Day of the Appearance of the ther thofe Letters that were found with him in

Jury, I take to be the quarto die poft. the Ship ; whether that was an Overt-Act of
Mr. Harcourt. If this was to be a Difconti- Treafon. The Judges feemed to be of Opinion,

nuance, what will become of all the Records that the taking thofe Letters with him as he was
where the Proceedings are at general Returns, going to France, and there to confult the ftirring

and which are tried on the Diftringas, which al- up an Infurrection here, and to invite the French

ways bears tefte the quarto die poft after the Re- King to invade us, was an Overt- Act of Treafon.

turn of the Venire ? Every one of thefe Records, But there is a ftronger Cafe, the Cafe of my Lord
which are many every Term, would be difcon- Rujfel. He was indicted, as I am, for compafTing

tinued. and imagining the Death of the King. The
L. C. Jusl. You can't but be fenfible that Overt-Act laid in the Indictment to manifeft that

there is nothing in this Exception. Intention, was, that he, with the reft of the Con-
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. There is no Foundation for fpirators, confulted to feize upon the King's Guards

:

it in Practice. In purfuance to that Difcourfe and Confpiracy

h. C. Juft. You need not labour it. which they had had, it appeared that Sir Thomas
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. The Sheriff, or the Jury, Armftrong was fent to take a View of the Guards

are not amerciable, tho' they did not appear on in order to carry on the Defign. Notwithftand-

the Day of the Return, if the Jury do appear up- ing there was a purfuing of their Defign of feiz-

on the quarto die poft ; that fhews it ing the King's Guards, in fending Sir Thomas
Mr. Att. Gen. If this Objection prevails, it Armstrong to view them, yet the Cafe was thought

will overturn all the fettled Courfe of Trials at fo very hard in refpect to my Lord Ruffell, that

Bar. his Attainder was reverfed by an Act of Par-

Prifoner. One Thing I would humbly offer to liament. Therefore I only argue, with great

your Lordfhip. I have not had my Books by SubmifTion, that in my Cafe, where nothing is

me, but only what occurs to my Memory, I can- done but accidentally calling in at the Green Man,
not be fo exact as I ought to be. This Overt- flaying a little while there, and, as hath been

Act in EJfex of Treafon found by the Jury to be fworn, here was nothing but a mere Difcourfe,

fo, I humbly apprehend, and I offer it to your and then I gave him a Declaration to read. If \

Lordfhip's Judgment, in Law is no Overt-Act did fo, it was only Words. As to the fecond,

at all. All the Realbn I fhall humbly offer to it was nothing but publilhing a Libel. And fhall

your Lordfhip, that tho' it hath been faid, that this be a Foundation to deprive me of my Life

and
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and Eftate, to the utter Ruin of myfelf and Fa-

mily ? It is an unprecedented Thing, hath it ever

been ? Therefore I hope your Lordfhip, before

you give any Judgment in this Matter, will take it

into your Confideration, whether any Thing done

in EJfex doth amount to an Overt-Act of Treafon.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I humbly hope,

as it is my Duty to do what Service I can to

my Client, and as it is in Cafe of Life, that I

fhall have your Lordfhip's Indulgence for a few

"Words. My Lord, he hath juftly obferved

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, I would not

interrupt Mr. Layer, becaufe it may be fuppofed

he is not fo well acquainted with the Method of

Proceeding. But 1 hope I may take the Liberty

to interrupt his Counfel, who know by very

great Experience the Method of Proceedings,

that they are not now to infift on the Nature of

the Evidence, whether the Evidence that hath been

• given is fufficient to maintain the Indictment ; that

is not the Bufinefs of this Day. If they have any

thing to offer,' any Objections to make in arreft of

Judgment, that is the Bufinefs of the Day : But to

arraign the Proceedings upon the Trial, as it is faid

that the Evidence given did not amount to a Con-

futation, or to prove any Overt-Act of the Treafon

alledg'd, I don't apprehend it to be proper at this

Time : I did not interrupt the Prifoner himfelf

;

but I hope his Counfel, who know the Method
of Proceeding better, in Cafes of High-Treafon,

fhall not be permitted to go on in that Manner.

Mr. Att. Gen. The Gentlemen that are Counfel

for the Prifoner know very well, that the Evidence

given on the Trial is not now before your Lord-

fhip ; the fingle Qoeflion that can now be made is,

whether the Indictment is good, and the Facts

charged and found by the Jury, are well laid, and

do amount to fufficient Overt-Acts of the High-
Treafon, of which the Prifoner Hands indicted.

Mr. Layer hath been giving an Account of the

WitnefTes, and making Obfervations on the things

which they fwore ; he was borne with : But the

Gentlemen that are his Counfel, feem to be open-

ing in the fame Manner, but as to them, we mud
infift upon it, that they fhould be confin'd to what
is proper, and apply themfelves to move in Arreft

of Judgment, if they can find any thing upon
the Face of the Record of which they can take

Advantage. But I think they are not entitled to

go on with Obfervations upon the Evidence in the

Manner they were beginning.

Mr. Hungerford. I affure your Lordfhip I did not

defign it, I did not intend to recapitulate any part

of the Evidence, or to obferve upon it. And there-

fore there was no Occafion for the Caution. I thank
your Lordfhip for the Indulgence you give me, and

I will conform myfelf to the Rules the King's Coun-

felprefcribe, to obferve upon nothing but the Record.
My Lord, the Indictment is in this Manner ;

the Species of the Treafon laid to the Charge of
the Prifoner, is the compaffing and imagining the

Death of the King. The firft Overt-Aft of that

Treafon, is, that he did meet, confult, confpire

and agree to raife a Rebellion, and a Guerram in
• the Kingdom, which is no Overt-Aft of compaf-

fing and imagining the Death of the King.
I know how the Authorities have been ; but in

the Cafe of Life, your Lordfhip will give me leave

to obferve, that by the Statute of 25 Edw. III.

compaffing and imagining the Death of the King

—

L. C. J'usl. Mr. Hungerford, we would hear you
in any thing that is proper, butconfider if you are

in Arreft of Judgment thatnot offering a matter

hath been determined againft you a hundred times.

Hath it not been conftantly allowed as an Overt-

Act of Treafon in compaffing and imagining the

Death of the King, if the Parties did meet, con-

fult, and agree to levy "War ? Hath it not been

conftantly agreed, and doth it not ftand allowed to

be fo ? Now to perfuade us at this Time to over-

throw thofe Refolutions taken by our Predeceffors,

is fuch a thing as is not right. Do you think we
will give a Judgment contrary to what our learned

Predeceffors have given in Cafes of the greateft

Moment ? If I thought it wasof any Effect, I fhould

not grudge fpending time to hear you, but you

muft agree, it hath been over-ruled a hundred times.

Mr. Juji. Eyre. It hath been fettled a great many
times, particularly in the Cafe of Dorrel, Gordon and

Kerr, in which it was argued over and over again,

and the Court was of Opinion that the confulting

and agreeing to levy War, was an Overt-Act of

Treafon in compaffing and imagining the Death

of the King, and gave Judgment accordingly.

Mr. Juji. Fortefcue Aland. Mr. Kettelbey was

Counfel for the Prifbners in that Cafe, which was

in this Court in the ift Year of this King, when
this Objection was made ; and very well knows,

that the Court, upon that Occafion, faid, that they

ought not to have fuffered this matter to be made
a Queftion, for that it was arraigning the Judg-
ments of very many learned Judges.

Mr. Juji. Powys. No one thing relating to

Treafon is more fettled ; and in that Cafe as hath

been mentioned, it was agreed, and it was the

Judgment of all the Judges that tried that Caufe.

Mr. Hungerford. My Lord, I humbly hope —
Mr. Juji. Eyre. It muft not be admitted, we

muft not fuffer fo plain a Point to be difputed ; it

is not only mifpending of time, but fhakingwhat
has been eftablifhed by every Trial in which any

thing of this kind has been mentioned, from the

Cafe of the Regicides to this Day.

Mr. Juji. Powys. In the Cafes of the Regicides,

thefe Matters are printed in Keyling.

L. C. Juji. And in all the Trials everfince, there

is fcarce one Cafe hath happened, where the Cafe

hath been for compaffing and imagining the Death
of the King, but that it hath been laid for an Overt-

Act, that the Party charged, did confult and agree

to levy War to bring his wicked Intentions to Effect.

Mr. Hungerford. There is no Doubt, but that

the Regicides were the worft and moft notorious

Criminals that were ever brought before a Court of

Juftice ; and yet there is one Circumftance of thofe

Trials, quoted in the very Book which Mr. Juftice

Powys mentions, which was never practifed before,

and I am fure never was fince ; that is, the Judges
who were to try the Criminals, and the King's

Counfel who were to profecute them, met and con-

fulted together to form and fix the Accufation.

But if it is your Lordfhip's Pleafure, I fhall

fpeak no further to that Matter.

L. C. Jusl. You have the Opinion of the

Court, and I dare fay it is your own Opinion

;

and as the Refolutions are fo pofitive, it is not for

us to make Indictments at this Day.

Mr. Hungerford. I fhall not prels it any further.

There is another thing arifes upon another Overt-

Act laid in the Indictment, that is, Publicavit

quoddam Scriptum, &c. I apprehend the Subftance

of the quoddam Scripum ought to be mentioned

in the Indictment.

L. C. Juji. It is mentioned in Effect, that it

was to excite People to a Rebellion and an Infur-

rection.

Mr.
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Mr. Hungerford. Your Lordfhip will obfervethat

the criminal Words in the Scriptum, are not men-

tioned in the Indictment ; and by the Rule given

by all the Judges of England in Dr. Sacheverell's

Cafe, in all Accufations, whether by Information or

Indictment, the Words fuppofed to be criminal

ought to be inferted ; and fince that is not done in

this Cafe, the Overt-Act is not well laid, and the

Judgment ought to be arretted.

L. C. Juf. You know, Mr. Hungerford, if but one

Overt-Act is well-laid and prov'd, it is fufficient.

I don't know, I was forry you forc'd me to re-

member what I would willingly have forgot. I re-

member, on that Occafion, you was pleafed to

compare it to a Ballad, which is an Expreffion that

ought not to be us'd. Is that a Thing, when a Prifo-

ner is on Trial for his Life, and a Matter of Infur-

rection is intended againfl the King, to be treated in

fo ludicrous a manner? It is laid as an Overt-Act of

Treafon, and what is an Overt-Act of Treafon, if a

Man's publifhing a traiterous Libel, and exciting

Perfons to a Rebellion and Infurrection againfl the

King is not ? This is undoubtedly fo : And when we
are upon this Confideration, to compare it to a

Ballad, and fay he might as well publifh a Ballad,

and lay it as an Overt-Act of Treafon in the In-

dictment ; it is an Expreffion that ought not to be

us'd, and I was very forry you did ufe it.

Mr. Hungerford. I am fure I did not fay he

might as well publifh a Ballad and make it Trea-

fon -, I have a greater Duty, and a more tender

Regard to his facred Majeftyj and the Quiet of

his Kingdom and People, than to exprefs myfelf

fo. What I then obferved, as near as I can recol-

lect, was, that there were but few Minutes to

tranfact the Bufinefs at the Green Man ; that what

was done, could not amount to the publifhing of

a Declaration, when there was nothing done but

a Man's reading to himfelf : I knew the whole

Accufation did turn upon that Tranfaction at the

Green Man ; and in Service to my Client, I

thought it my Bufinefs to make it appear as incon-

fiderable as I could ; and if in this I have offended

your Lordfhip, or the Court, I am heartily forry

for it, and beg their Pardon.

Mr. Ketelbey. If your Lordfhip pleafe to fa-

vour me with a few Words.

I fhall be very tender of offering to your Lord-

fhip any Thing on this Indictment, which hath

been over-ruled in any of the Cafes where I

have been before concerned ; whether confpi-

ring to levy War, unlefs War be actually levy'd

is an Overt-Act of High-Treafon, was menti-

oned on the Trial of Dorrel, Gordon, and Kerr,

and I then took that among other Exceptions in

Arreft of Judgment, which were not allowed ;

but the Statute of 13 Eliz. cap. 1. was not at that

Time mentioned ; and I have fome other Mat-
ters to offer on that Head, if it is now open to

me.

L. C. Jul. Confider a little how you treat

the Court ; the Objection hath been folemnly ta-

ken in this Court, argued and adjudged by this

Court, and now you come to arraign that Judg-
ment that was then given.

Mr. Ketelbey. I fhall go off from that, and fay

no more upon it, fince your Lordfhip is of Opi-
nion that it is a Point fettled. But, my Lord,
I muft beg Leave to take Notice of what Mr.
Attorney has obferved relating to the five Overr.-

Vot. VI.
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Acts laid in the Indictment, and fubmit to your
Lordfhip ; for I don't know that it was ever de-
termined otherwife, but that if one of the Overt-
Acts appears to be bad, Judgment muft be ar-
refted.

L.C.JusJ. Alas! quite the contrary : I believe
you will find in Rookwood's Trial, which you have
in your Hand : There it is faid, if one Overt-Act
held, the Indictment is good.

Mr. Ketelbey. If I am not miftaken, in Sir John
Friend's, Cafe it was not fo : We can't take upon
us to fay, That all the Overt-Acts are wrong.
Is it not like an Action in a Civil Cafe, where
there are feveral Counts in the Declaration ? If
there be one wrong, that will ftay Judgment for

the whole.

L. C. Juft. Becaufe it is an entire Declaration ;

and the Jury inftead of giving Damages on one
Count, may have given it on the Count they ought
not;

Mr. Jusl. Eyre. But if one Count be fufficient^

the Plaintiff fhall certainly have Judgment upon
Demurrer.

Mr. Ketelbey. What I had to offer was, that if

one Overt-Aft is bad, the Indictment is bad ; but
if it be otherways, and if there be any one Overt-

Act well laid, that that fhall make the Indictment

good ; and your Lordfhip will maintain that In-

dictment : I have nothing elfe to offer.

Mr. Att. Gen. Say what you have a Mind
to fay.

Mr. Ketelbey. I did not know but I was right

in what I was going to fay ; and I think it a Point

too material to be eafily given up.

L. C. Juft. You allow one of the Overt-Acts

is well laid j confider if there is no Overt-Act but

that one ; muft there not be Judgment againft

the Prifoner ? Suppofe one Overt-Act that is not

good, muft that take off the Force of that which
is good ?

Mr. Ketelbey. I fubmit it, whether this is a Pa-
rallel Cafe in a Declaration for Work and La-
bour done, if there be but one Count, and that

well laid, the Plaintiff fhall recover : But if in

a fecond Count, he comes and fays in Court, that

he had done fuch Work and Labour ; that the

Defendant promifed to pay him fuch a Sum, if

either thefe Counts are naught, it may be moved
in Arreft of Judgment.

Mr. Juft. Eyre. If the Damages are taken ge-

nerally, otherwife not.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. You find in Rookwood's Cafe,

it is there held, if the Jury found him guilty of

any one Overt-Act, that it would maintain the

Indictment : But what is your Objection ?

L. C. Juft. We will hear any Thing that you
think material to offer.

Mr. Ketelbey. I would not have offered it, if I

did not think it material ; and for my part, I can-

not find any fuch thing in Rookwood's Trial, or any

where elfe, (I beg Pardon if 1 have overlooked

it) that one good Overt-Act fhould maintain the

whole Indictment ; I. admit three or four of them

to be good, as they are laid in this Indictment i

the only Objection I have, is, to the Uncertainty

of that which relates to the publifhing of a ma-
licious, fcandalous, feditious, and traiterous

Writing, centenen' cs? purportan' exhortation' inci-

tament' id preemiorum promiffwn' ad fuadendum &
excitand' fubditcs Domini Regis ad arma & guerram

U u contra
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contraDominum Regem, &c. My Lord, the Rule

that my Lord Chief Juftice Cofo lays down in his

finff Inftitutes, f.
303.- a. is, That in Indictments,

a Certainty to a common Intent is not fufficient,

no more than in Counts, Replications, or other

Pleadings of the Plaintiff. Now whether this,

as itistaid, hath the Certainty which that Rule

requires, your Lordfhip will determine. In all

capital Cafes, efpecially in High-Treafon, the

Indictments muft be drawn with the utmoft Ac-

curacy and Certainty. The Words here are,

that he publicavit quoddam malitiofum, feditiofum,

&? proditorium fcriptum : And then lets forth only

the Subftance of the Libel in general. Is there

not the fame Reafon that the Words mould have

been let forth in this Indi6lment, as in an Indicl-

ment for a Libel, that fo the Court might judge,

upon the Face of the Indictment, whether they

did import Excitement and Exhortation, levare

Guerram. I muft own, in two or three late Cafes,

the Words have not been fet forth.

L. C. Jt0- Remember Jfyanqa's Cafe.

Mr. Keielbey. I am going to mention Francia's,

and hope I mall be able to account for that, as

well as the others : In Francia's Cafe the Indict-

ment was, that he wrote feveral Letters, noti-

fying his Intention to levy War, and requiring

Aid from Abroad, without particularizing the

Words of thofe. Letters, or the Subftance of them.

The Queftion was not upon an Arreft of Judg-

ment ; but it came on in the Courfe of the Trial,

whether fuch Evidence fhould be allowed. It

was infilled upon, that there was a Letter men-

tioned, and the Subftance of that Letter ought to

have been fet forth in the Indictment ; or elfe the

Letter itfelf ought not to be read, much lefs a

Copy of it entered in the Prifoner's Copy-book,

as Evidence againfl him : And I muft beg Leave

to rely on the folemn Refolution of all your Lord-

fhips in Dr. Sacbeverell's Cafe, that the very

Words fhould be exprefly fet forth in all Indict-

ment whatfoever. In Francia's Cafe, there was

no Motion in Arreft of Judgment ; for there was

no Verdict againft him : Therefore, whether that

Precedent will ftand in our Way, fo as to ftop us

in our prefent Objection, your Lordfhip will de-

termine : And in the Cafe of Colonel Sidney, the

very Words are fet forth, the Title of the

Book, and the Part charged to be

. Trial 64. Treafon. In Keylinge 22. in 'Twine's

Cafe, he was indicted for com-

paffing the Death of the King ; and his Overt-

Act was, the publifhing a Book call'd, A Treatife

of the Execution of Jujiice ; and the Title of that

Book, and the very treafonable Part objected a-

gainft the Prifoner were fet forth at large. In

Coleman's Indictment, two Letters were menti-

oned, which were declared to be his Hand : There

was no Counfel, nor Motion made in Arreft of

Judgment. I don't remember any Cafe where

they are laid fo general, as in this Indictment, ex-

cept Francia's and Coleman's. I fhall only beg

Leave to add, that where there is a Libel, a Book,

or Letters, charged as the Overt-Act of that

which is fuppofed to be Treafon, and upon which

the Offence is grounded, they ought to be fo far

let forth, that a Perfon may have an Opportunity

to clear himfelf of the Accufation : I don't know
any Precedent to the contrary, but that of Fran-

cia's Cafe, where there was not any Opportunity

of debating it, he being acquitted on his Trial;
and the Cafe of Coleman, which was before any
Counfel was allowed.

L. C. JuSt. The Objection was taken then in
Francia's Cafe as properly, as if it had been taken
in Arreft of Judgment ; for the Ad of Parliament
fays, that no Evidence fhall be admitted or given
of any Overt-Act, that is not exprefly laid in the
Indictment, againft any Perfon or Perfons whatfo-
ever. You took the Obje6tion, and laid, that
this Overt-Act of Treafon is not exprefly kid in
the Indictment ; and therefore it ought not to be
given in Evidence : You know, that that was
over-rul'd at the Time of making the Objection,
and that the Opinion of the Court was againft
you. As to what you fay, that the Words muft
be fet forth, it is perfectly wrong ; a Man may fet

forth the Subftance of the Words, without fhew-
ing the Words themfelves : That is the Way that

is proper to be taken, and when it is otherwife, it

is not fo as it ought to be done.

Mr. Juf. Eyre. It was indeed the Opinion of the
Judges who were prefent at Dr. Sa-
cbeverell's Trial, that the particular Trial 181.

Words fuppofed to be criminal ought
to be exprefly fpecified in every Indictment or In-
formation for any Mifdemeanour by writing or
fpeaking •, and fince it is urged as an Authority to

conclude our Judgments, I can't forbear faying,

that it was a great Surprize to WeftminJler-HaUy
and particularly to thofe who attended this Court,
to hear that any fuch Opinion had been given ;

for it had never been laid down in any of our
Books as the Rule of Law or Practice, that the

particular Words fuppofed to be criminal, ought
to be fpecify'd in the Indictment or Information $

and we had learned from my Lord Chief Juftice

Holt, that a Libel might be defcribed either by
the Senfe and Subftance, or by the particular

Words, and that an Indictment or Information in

either of thefe Forms would be good. If you
look into the Books of Entries you will find feveral

Inftances where Slanders and Perjuries are charg-

ed in Latin, as falfe and fcandalous Affertions,

and not in the Words as fpoken. And in Staley's

* Cafe who was indicted for treafonable Words
upon the Stat. 1 3 Car. II. it was charged in the

Indictment, that he fpeaking of the King, had
traiteroufly declared, quod ipfe prteditlus Staley

ipfum Dominum Regem interficeret ; and the Fact

was, that Staley in Converfation had fpoke Words
to this effect in French, which were proved by two
Witneffes; and this Evidence was thought fuffici-

ent to convict him of High-Treafon ; and yet the

particular Words fuppofed and adjudged to be

criminal, were not fpecified in the Indictment ;

and there was an Information for Perjury -f, in

which all the great Counfel of England were con-

cerned on one Side or other, which was tried at

Bar in my Lord Chief Juftice Holt's Time, and
the Offence was charged in the lame Manner ; for

the Subftance of what the Defendant had fwom
was fet forth in Latin, and the Evidence which
he gave in Englijh being prov'd to be falfe, he was
convicted of the Perjury without any Objection ;

and yet the particular Englijh Words in which he

gave his Evidence were not exprefly fpecified in

the Information •, and I dont find that the fpecify-

ing of the particular Words was ever faid or fug-

gefted to be neceffary, till this fudden Opinion

•Mich. 30 Car. II. B. R. Trial 74. -} Dom. Rex; v, Griepe, Trin. 8 Will.
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was given ; and therefore as I never thought it

right, I can't hear it urged as an Authority with-

out offering my Reafons to the contrary, and ac-

knowledging that I have been long in a great Mif-

take, if there beany one Refolution in the Books

to fupport it.

Mr. Juft.
Powis. In the Cafe of Francia it was

infilled on in order to flop the Trial ; the main of

the Objection was, that they ought not to pro-

duce Evidence of the Letters, becaufe thofe Let-

ters were not exprefly fet forth in the Indictment,

and that very Objection was made in order to flop

the Trial. What was faid there in Cafes of Li-

bels is intended when fet forth in h<ec verba, and

not in Latin, the more common Way : But it is

another Thing where it is an Overt-Act of the I-

magination of a Man's Heart in Treafon, it is

fufficient to fet forth the Subflance of them ;

therefore it was fo fully fettled in Fnmcia's Cafe,

that I thought it would be never mentioned a-

gain ; the Point was argued, the Objections were

made and over rul'd, and it was the very Point on

which the Trial proceeded.

Mr. Att. Gen. In my Lord Prefton's Cafe there

were feveral Notes, Memorandums and Writings,

that were the very Overt-Acls of the Treafon,

yet they were not particularly fet forth in the In-

dictment.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. There it was alledged, that

the Lord Prefton prepared and compofed feveral

Writings, feveral traiterous Notes and Memoran^

dums, for the giving Inftruction and Information

for the French King how to invade England. I

defire to put Mr. Ketelbey this Cafe : Suppofe any

one had proclaimed the Pretender at Charing-Crofs,

or elfewhere, and had read his Declaration, ex-

citing the People to revolt and to come in to him,

and promifing them Rewards ; and then the De-

claration had been carried off, or fo difpofed of

that it could not be recovered and produced in

Evidence ; I would be glad to know, whether that

Perfon might not be indicted for Treafon, without

fetting forth the particular Words which he read

out of fuch Declaration ; or whether he mould

efcape Punifhment for want of being able to fet

out the particular Words ?

Mr. Ketelbey. The reading of the Paper in that

Cafe would be fufficient.

L. C. Juft. Have you done, or have you any

thing further to offer for the Prifoner ?

CI. of the Cr. Chriftopher Layer, hold up your

Hand. You have been indicted of High-Trea-

fon, &c.

Prif. I have nothing more to fay now, becaufe

my Counfel have given it up. But after your

Lordfhip hath parted Sentence upon me, I hope

and defire, for the Sake of other People more than

myfelf, thofe that I have had very great Dealings

and Correfpondence with, particularly my Lord
Londonderry, and feveral others, that I would do

Juftice to ; that your Lordfhip would give me a

reafonable Time to make up their Accounts •, and
when that is done, I hope your Lordfhip will give

me flill a further Time to make up that great Ac-
count which I have in another Place : When this

is done, if his Majefly doth not think fit gracioufiy

to continue me in this World, I will dare to die

like a Gendeman and a Chriflian, not doubting
but that I fhall meet with a double Portion of
M.rcy and Juftice in the next World, tho' 'tis

denied me in this.

L. C. Juji. Chriftoyher Layer, You have been
iniicted, and after a long Examination and fair
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Trial, have been convicted of High-Treafon in
compaffing and imagining the Death of the King.
You have had all the Indulgence and Advan-

tage that the Law would allow you. You have
had Counfel affigned you of your own chufing, to
advife you preparatory to your Trial, and to
affiflyou in making your Defence at your Trial.

Thefe Counfel have been permitted to fay

whatever they thought proper for your Service ;

and I heartily wifh that I could fay that they had
not exceeded, that they had not taken a greater
Liberty than they ought to have done : But how-
ever that was, the Court thought fit to permit it

in them, that they might not be difcouraged in

offering any thing that was proper for your De-
fence ; we did not cenfure it then, on this Con-
fideration.

The Jury that have found you guilty, are fuch,

as may be juflly faid, you you rfelf approved of;
for, tho' the Law gives you a Liberty of challeng-

ing five and thirty, you challenged but four and
thirty ; fo you allowed the reft to be an indiffe-

rent Jury, to pafs between the King and you as

to your Life and Death.

The Evidence on which you have been convict-

ed, is the cleareft and plaineft that ever I heard.

Your perfonal Conferences with the Pretender at

Rome j your conftant Correfpondence with him
and his Agents afterwards ; the Scheme ycu had
formed for the Executing this Treafon ; your
Confeffion of the greateft Part of it before the

Lords of the Council ; and at laft your Flight

when in the Hands of Juftice, out of Window
two Pair of Stairs, and the Endeavours you ufed
when retaken to corrupt and prevail with thofe

that took you, by Rewards, to let you go off

;

thefe are Matters fo very clear and plain, and did
concur fo exactly with the Evidence of the Wit-
neffes, that it did not reft on their Credit ; the
only Queftion was, whether the Jury did believe

what you yourfclf had declared on your Exami-
nation before the Lords of the Council, and by
the Scheme that was found in your Cuftodr.

This being the Nature of the Evidence, I muft,
according to what is ufual, put you in mind of
the horrid Wickednefs you have been found guilty

of.

The firft Matter projected to be done, was to

feize the Tower of London, to fet a Guard at the
Exchange and other Places ; to feize the Bank, and
take from thence what Money you had Occafion
for; by which the whole City of London, and in

confequence the whole Nation, would inevitably

have been involved in Blood and Confufion ;

This was to have been the firft Fruits of this pro*
jecled Scheme.

The next Step to be taken by this execrable
Scheme, was to feize the facred Perfon of the
King: a King, who during the whole Courfe of
his Reign hath been the moft religious Obferver
of our Laws, the moft careful Preferver and Pro-
tector of all our Civil and Religious Rights, and
the moft merciful Prince that ever fat on the

Throne of thefe Kingdoms ; yet this, this moft
excellent Prince, was to be feized and made a

Sacrifice to Popery and arbitrary Power.
The next Step to be taken, was to feize the

Prince ; and when that was done, no body can
doubt but the young Prince and Princeff-s muft
and fhould have followed the Fate of their Fa-
ther : So that the Project muft and would have
ended in the Deftruclion of all the Royal Family

y on
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on tills Side the Water ; and when that was done,

'twas thought 'twould be an eafy Matter to fee

the Pretender on the Throne.

This being done, the King and the Royal Fa-

mily deftroyed, and the Pretender advanced to

the Throne, what the Confequence of that muft

and would have been, is obvious to every body ;

it muft have ended in the entire Deftruction and

Diffolution of our moft happy Eftablifhment and

Conftitution ; the happieft, I think, that ever

any People enjoyed •, it muft have ended in the

Deftruction of our Laws, our Liberties, our Re-

ligion, and the Church of England as by Law efta-

blifhed ; and we muft have become from the moft

happy, the moft miferable People on Earth.

Thefe horrid and execrable Defigns are fo very

heinous in themfelves, that they hardly will ad-

mit of any Circumftance of Aggravation : But I

muft fay, I can't avoid faying, that there are

Circumftances with refpect to you, that make
them more heinous, if poffible. You were bred

up to the Law, and you muft be fuppofed to

know the Excellency of our happy Conftitution

and Government, and the Laws which you pro-

feffed ; which makes your Crime much the

greater.

Another Matter, which is a great Aggrava-

tion of your Offence, is, that you were, or at leaft

profeffed yourfelf, a Proteftant, and a Member of

the Church of England, whilft you engaged your-

felf in Meafures which muft inevitably have de-

ftroyed that Church which you profefs yourfelf a

Member of.

Thefe are the Treafons which you are convicted

of; and being fo, the Law adjudges you not fit to

live ; and the Judgment of the Law is, and it is

confidered by the Court, that

Tou, Chriftopher Layer, be led to the Placefrom
whence yoU came, andfrom thence you are to be

drawn to the Place of Execution, and thereyou

are to be hanged by the Neck, but not tillyou are

dead, butyou are to be cut down alive\ andyour

Bowels to be taken out, and burnt before your

Face ; your Head is to be fever*dfromyour Body,

andyour Body to be divided intofour Quarters ;

and that your Head and'Quarters be difpofed of

where his Majejly Jhall think fit.

f Then the Prifoner was carried back to the

Tower of London ; but on JVednefday November

28. the Attorney and Sollicicor General moved
for a Rule for his Execution, and that the Court

would appoint a Time and Place for that Pur-

pofe ; and faid, that the chief Delign of execu-

ting fuch Criminals was to be an Example to o-

thers not to offend in the like Manner, and to

deter them from committing Treafon, and there-

fore they moved that the Execution might be in

Middlefex, though the Fact was done in Efi'ex, and

faid, that there were many Precedents for execu-

ting Criminals in fuch Places as this Court mould

think proper.

Thereupon the Court afked the Clerk of the

Crown if he knew any fuch Precedents, who re-

plied, that one Fitzpatrick *, who was an Affociate

with the Lord Audley, was executed in Middlefex

for a Fact committed in Willfhire, and two other

late Precedents of the fame Nature.

So a Rule was made to the Lieutenant of the

Tower, to deliver the Prifoner to the Sheriffs of

London and Middlefex ; and another Rule to the

faid Sheriffs to execute him on Monday December

rhe 1 2th, at Tyburn.

* See Trials Vol. I. N". $:iji 3 7.;
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Then the King's Council moved the Court to
alter the Rule made the Day before, for Mr. Mor-
gan, the Clergyman, to attend the Prifoner, for

that he was taken into Cuftody upon Sufpicioa
of Treafon,! and had given Bond to appear in
Court this Day.

The Court anfwered, That any Clergyman
fhould be admitted to the Prifoner, who was a
Perfon of known Honefty, Integrity, and Learn-
ing, but not fuch who might harden him in his

Iniquity in his laft Moments ; fo two more Cler-

gymen were joined in the Rule, and the other

two (truck out.

Afterwards, and on that very Day before he
was to be executed, he had a Reprieve, and there

being fome Opinions, that he could not be execu-

ted by Virtue of any Warrant figned by the King •,

but that a new Rule muft be made in the Court of
King's-Bench for his Execution, he was according-

ly brought to the Bar in Hilary-Term following,

and a Rule was made for his Execution on the

27 th of March; but before that Time he procured
another Reprieve, and afterwards another Rule
was made to execute him on the 17th Day of May
following, which was done accordingly. He made
a fhort Speech to the Afliftants, wherein he avow'd
the Principles for which he fuffered, recommend-
ing the Intereft of the Pretender ; and delivered

a Paper to the Under-Sheriff, and alio another to

a Friend of his. His Head was afterwards carried

to Newgate, and was the next Day, fixt upon
Temple-Bar ; but his Quarters were delivered to

his Friends ; who took care to get them decently

interr'd. The Paper abovementioned was in-

clofed in a Cover, faperfcribed,

To Mr. Walter Price, Under-Sheriff, at his

Houfe in Caftle-Yard, in Holbourn ; And
was as followeth, viz.

Mr. SHERIFF,

I
Having previoufly refolved to imploy all the

Time allowed me at the Place of Execution,

in Devotion, and making my Peace with God,
thro' the Ail-Sufficient Merits and Mediation of
my Gracious Saviour, I have, inftead of any
Speech I could make to the Spectators, on this

unfortunate Occafion, committed my laft Thoughts
of all Worldly Affairs to Writing *, while I had
fome Intervals of Time for fo doing ; and have fent

two Authentic Duplicates thereof, with my Hand
fubferibed to the Bottom of each Sheet, to two
trufty Friends, to teitify thereby to the World, in

due Time, and as Occafion offers, the True Prin-

ciples of both my Religion and Royalty, as well as

the unparallell'd Hardjhips and Injuftice I have lately

met with ; for which I pray God forgive the Au-
thors thereof.

And to the End, that none of my Friends, who
had Accefs to me fince I was fentenced to die, may
be liable to come into any Trouble upon the Score

of publifhingmy faid Writings, I fent the Draughts
thereof fealcd up, together with Draughts of two
feveral Letters directed to certain Perfons in the Ad-
miniftration, to One of my Friends abovemention'd,

definng him to copy them all over fair, and return

them to me : And then I fubferibed them, and re-

turned them to my Friends, without letting the

Bearers, Firft or Laft, know any thing of the

Contents.

So, taking Leave of this vain World, God in

Mercy, Receive my Soul ! Amen.

Cbriftop. Layers
ritinr never appear d in Pulh'c-

CXCIV. The
;
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CXCIV. Proceedings in Parliament againfl John Plunket,

George Kelly alias Johnfon, and Dr. Francis Atterbury,

Bijhop of Rochefter, upon Bills of Pains and Penalties for

a Treasonable Confpiracy, May 1723. 9 Geo. I.

HE abovenamed Perfons having

been taken into Cuftody by Order

of the Government, for a treafonable

Confpiracy, it was thought proper

to lay the Letter's, Papers, and Exa-

minations relating thereto,, before the Parliament

;

whereupon the Houfe of Commons appointed a

Committee, Jan. 15. confiding of the following

Perfons

:

The Right Honourable Spencer Compton Efq;

Speaker.

Robert Walpole Efq; Chancellor of the Exche-

quer.

Sir Jofeph Jekyll, Matter of the Rolls.

Paul Melhuen Efq-, Comptroller of his Majefty's

Houflbold.

William Poulteney Efq-,

John Smith Efq;

'

Richard Hampden Efq;

Lieutenant General Wills.

Sir Robert Sutton.

' The -Committee chofe William Pultney Efq;

their Chairman, and made their Report to the

Houfe, March 1. which was as follows:

THE Committee appointed to examine Chrif-

topher Layer and others, in relation to the.

Confpiracy mentioned in His Majefty's Speech,

to be carrying_on againft his Perfon and Govern-
ment, having perufed the feveral Papers and Ex-
aminations referred to them, and having gone
through the Examination of thofe Perfons, have
agreed on the following Report.

Jn fuch various and fo long Examinations, and
in fo extenfive an Inquiry, your Committee are in

Hopes that they need not be ftrictly ty'd to the

Method and Order in which they were appointed,
but may for the Eafe of the Houfe range the fe-

veral Matters occurring to them, as near as they

can, in the Order of Time in which they were
rranfacted, or as they beft ferve by their mutual
Connection to illuftrate each other, without add-
ing any obfervations of their own, but fuch as na-
turally arife from comparing the feveral Papers
and Examinations together, and fuch as are necef-

fary to help the Houfe the more eafily to per-
ceive the Contradictions and Inconfiftencies of the
Confeffions made by the Prifoners, as well as the
Confirmations and Coincidence of the Fads in-

quir'd into.

The Committee ob ferve in general, that a De-
fign has long been carrying on by Perfons of Fi-
gure and Diftin&ion at home, in Conjunction
with Traitors abroad, for placing the Pretender

VOL. VI.

on the Throne of thefe Kingdoms. That various

Methods have been attempted, and various Times
fixed for putting this Defign in execution. That
the firft Intention was to have procured a regular

Body of foreign Forces to invade thefe Kingdoms
at the Time of the late Elections ; but that the

Confpirators being difappointed in this Expecta-

tion, next refolved to make an Attempt at the

Time that it was generally believed His Majefty

intended to go to Hanover, by the Help of fuch

Officers and Soldiers as could pafs into England

unobferved from abroad, under the Command of

the late Duke of Ormond, who was to have landed

in the River with a great Quantity of Arms, pro-

vided in Spain for that Purpofe; at which Time
the Tower was likewife to have been feized, and

the. City of London to have been made a Place of

Arms: But this Dtfign being alfo difappointed,

by the Difcoveries made in England, and his Ma-
jefty's putting off his Journey ; by the Incamp-

ment of his Forces at home, as well as the fending

for thofe from Ireland ; and by the readinefs of his

Majefty's good Allies the States General to aflift

him in cafe of Need ; by the Orders given in Spain,

that the late Duke of Ormond fhould not be luf-

fered to embark, and the like Orders iffu'd in

France, that he fhould not be fuffered to pafs

through that Kingdom ; the Confpirators found

themfelves under a Neceffity of deferring their

Enterprize till the breaking up of the Camp: dur-

ing which Interval, they were labouring by their

Agents and Emiftaries to corrupt and feduce the

Officers and Soldiers of His Majefty's Army, and

depended fo much on this Defection, as to enter-

tain hopes of placing the Pretender on the Throne,

though they fhould obtain no Affiftance from
abroad, which neverthelefs they ftill continu'd to

follicit for.

The Truth and Reality of thefe wicked Defigns,

your Committee are of Opinion will appear con-

firmed to the Houfe by concurrent and unquef-

tionable Advices from almoft all Parts of Europe,

fent by Perfons who appear to have had no Com-
munication with each other; which Advices have

again been verify'd and fupported by feveral Dif-

coveries made at home, by the Informations and

Confeffions of fome of the Perfons concerned, as

well as by a long and regular Series of Correfpon-

dence, which the Confpirators have furnifhed the

Government with againft themfelves, and the fe-

veral Branches of which appear to the Committee

connected with one another, and all concurring

in one continued Defign of fubverting our prefent

happy Eftablifhment, and involving thefe King-

doms in Blood and Confufion,

X x The

;
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The feveral Examinations, Letters, and other

Papers, are all contained in an a Appendix to this

Report ; and as they are all feverally numbred, fo

the feveral Paragraphs which are quoted from

them have References to thofe Numbers, that

they may the eafier be turned to upon occafion,

and be fupported by the Authorities from whence
they are taken.

That the firft Defign was to have been executed

during the Elections, and to have been fupport-

ed by foreign Forces, is collected from the fol-

lowing Circumftances :

Philip Neynoe Clerk (who was drowned in at-

tempting to make his Efcape from the Meffengers)

declared upon his
b Examination before fome of

the Lords of the Council, ' That he had been
4 imployed by George Kelly, and one Watfony

* whom he took to be the late Earl Marfhal, and
4 who was in England laft Spring, to draw up
* three feveral Memorials to the Regent of France,
4 to follicit him to fend Forces to the Affiftance

* of the Confpirators. That the laft of thefe Me-
* morials was drawn up in December ijii, and
4 contained a Demand of Five thoufand Men, to

* be fent over by the Regent to invade thefe

* Kingdoms.'

This is confirmed by unqueftionable
c Advices

from France, the 19th of April laft, in which it

is exprefly affirmed, « That repeated Application
* had been made to the Regent for fome Time
* paft, to furnifh only a Body of Three thoufand
» Men, by the help of which the Confpirators
4 made no doubt but to be able to place the Pre-
* tender on the Throne.'

Layer, at his
d
Examination before a Committee

oF Lords of the Council, confefs'd, ' That being
* in Difcourfe with Lord Orrery, foon after his

* firft acquaintance with him, (which was before
• * the Incampment) Lord Orrery faid, Nothing
4 could relieve the Nation, but a Reftoration •,

4 and that he would be glad if he could contri-

* bute to bring it about : That it muft be done by
* foreign Forces, and could be done no other
* way. That he often afked Lord Orrery what
* Methods they had taken to procure them ?

« That Lord Orrery faid, they had Friends abroad
* that had made Application to the Regent for Afif-
4 tance to bring about a Revolution \ but he does
' not know whom his Lordfhip meant; General
* Dillon might be his Correfpondent for ought he
4 knew: That Lord Orrery likewife told him, the
' Regent might be brought to wink at any thing,
* but was fo perfidious that he was not to be
4 trufted •, and that the French had made a Tool
4 of the Pretender.'

Layer repeated the fame in part, at two other
c Examinations before his Trial, and has fince

confirmed to your Committee, upon his
f Exami-

nation at the Tower, 4 That Lord Orrery de-
* clared himfelf conftantly of Opinion, that no-
4 thing could be done to any purpofe in the Pre-
4 tender's Favour, without foreign Forces.'

About the latter end of April, a E Letter was
intercepted here, coming from Spain, inclofing the
h Copy of one from O toZ,—«— , which will

be fhewn in the Sequel of this Report, to have
been from the late Duke of Ormond; in which
Ormond fays, 4 Pray tell Mrs. Chaumont, that
4 fince the Parliament is dead and gone, I think

4
it is a good Time to make an Effort, when the

4 Elector is gone to HanoverJ It will appear
from the Sequel of this Report, that by Mrs.
Chamount is probably meant the Pietender.

On the 23d of April another ' Letter was inter-

cepted, fign'd 1387, and directed to Mr. Jack/on,

which your Committee have good Reafon to be-

lieve was from the Bifhop of Rochefter to the Pre-

tender, as will be fhewn in the following Part of
this Report. In this Letter he fays, 4 Notwith-
4 ftanding this Opportunity is elapfed, I agree with
4 you another may offer before the End of the
4 Year, though not perhaps every way fo favour-
4 able.' This Letter was writ on the 20th of
April, when moft of the Elections v/ere over, and
confequently that Opportunity was elapfed.

Thatan Infurrection was thought of at the Time
of the Elections, is farther confirmed from the fol-

lowing Particulars ; Layer k
confeffed before the

Lords, that Green the Gunfmith being in com-
4 pany with Lord North after Dinner, and talking
4 of Five thoufand Arms, and Seven thoufand
4 Arms that were ready, faid, When the Weft-
4 minfter Mob were up, if they had had Arms!
4 Upon which Lord North interrupted him, and
4 faid, Don't talk, you are a Citizen, you know
4 there are no Arms ; but that the Man infifted
4 there were Five thoufand Arms ready in the
4 City.

Neynoe ' declared, 4 that Tho. Carte, Clerk,
4 made two Expeditions in the Spring (during the
4 Elections) one into Cornwall, and another into
4 the Counties of Warwick, Nottingham, Derby
4 and Stafford; and that upon Neynoe* s blaming
4 the riotous Conduct at the Coventry Election,
4 Carte replied, Hang the Election, you never
4 faw Fellows of fuch Mettle, fo well trained, fo
4

fit for bufinefs.'

Among Mr. Dennys Kelly*s Papers was feized

an exact m Lift of the Quarters of all hisMajefty's

Forces in Great Britain, about the Time that they

were drawn out of moft of the great Towns and

Boroughs, on account of the Elections.

From all thefe Circumftances the Committee fee

reafon to conclude, that the firft Defign was to

have been executed with the Affiftance of foreign

Forces, at the Time of the Elections ; that the

Pretender, the late Duke of Ormond, Lord Orrery,

and the Bifhop of Rochefier were of this Opinion

;

that Memorials were drawn up here, to be pre-

fented to the Regent for this Purpofe-, and that

thofe Memorials were actually prefented, or at

leaft Application made to the Regent in confe-

quence of them, by Directions from Perfons in

England ; and that fuch Difpofitions had been

made for this Enterprife at that Time, as broke

out into Riots at fome of the Elections: which

muft be allowed to have been no unfavourable

Juncture for fuch an Attempt, confidering the Dis-

contents occafioned by the late South- Sea Scheme,

which the Confpirators have all along flattered

themfelves they fhould be able to improve into a

Spirit'of Rebellion ; and the Liberties ufually ta-

ken at fuch a Seafon, when all the Freeholders of

England are neceffarily and legally affembled to-

gether, and when the whole Nation is too apt to

be in a ferment, even in the quieteft Times.

This Defign failing, on account (as tis reafon-

able to believe) of the Confpirators not being able

» The Appendix confifts of twelve Sections, marked A. AA. B. BB. C. D. E. F. G. H. I. K.
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to obtain the Forces they follicited from abroad,

and of their being themfelves divided in Opinion

as to the Time and Manner of Execution, their

next Endeavour was to attempt an Infurrection at

the Time when they fuppofedHis Majefty would

be going to Hanover.

Of the Reality of this Defign your Commit-

tee have found fuch evident and concurrent Tefti-

monies, that they think ftronger could not rea-

fonably be expecled, in an Affair where it was fo

much the Intereft of the Confpirators to act with,

the utmoft Caution and Secrecy.

It has already beenobferved, that the late Duke

of Ormond * thought the Time of the King's

going for Germany, a favourable Opportunity tor

making an Effort, and that the Perfon who figns

1378,
b

fays, ' Notwithstanding this Oppor-
1 tunity is elapfed, I agree with you another

* may offer before the End of the Year, tho'

* not perhaps every way fo favourable.'

Layer confefs'd to the Lords at
c two feveral

Examinations previous to his Trial, and has fince
d

confirmed to your Committee, ' That he made
* Application to Lord Orrery to ftand Godfather
* to his Child for the Pretender, intending that

8 this Mark of Kindnefs from the Pretender

* fhould ferve as a Credential to Lord Orrery to

* induce him to converfe freely with him, in re-

* lation to the Pretender's Affairs : that their Ac-
« quaintance having begun in this Manner, c

« Lord Orrery fent to him to inquire into the

1 Pretender's Character and Qualifications, and
« asked him feveral Times whether he had any Re-
* commendation from the Pretender to any Per-

« fon ; that upon his anfwering No, his Lord-
« fhip told him, that he feemed to be an honeft

« Man, and People of his Integrity fhould be
* always welcome to him, whether they had any
' Credentials or no ; that he, Layer, then gave
* his Lordfhip an Account of what had paffed

' between the Pretender and him during his Stay

* at Rome, and asked his Lordfhip what Hopes
* there were? To which his Lordfhip anfwered,
« that there were Hopes, for all the Nation were
* generally for the Pretender, except fuch as

' had Places, or Money due to them from the
1 Government. That Lord Orrery farther told

« him, that Lord North, Sir Harry Goring, Lord
* Strafford and others were going to do a rafh

* Thing in Favour of the Pretender, which he,

* Lord Orrery, was forry for, becaufe it would
' prove abortive, and hinder its fucceeding an-

* other Time : That Layer afked him, who was
* to have the Command, and Lord Orrery told

' him, he believed Lord North and Grey was to

' have the Command, and that the faid Lord had
* a Commifiion from the Pretender; that the
' Lord Orrery called this Defign rafh, becaufe
* not duly concerted, nor fupported by foreign
1 Forces, without which, he faid, he thought
1 they muft be more than Madmen to hope to

' do any Thing to Effect, for the Pretender's Ser-
1 vice. That he, Layer, the next Time he faw
* Lord North and Grey, which was before the
* Encampment of the Troops, acquainted him
'with what Lord Orrery had faid about the
' Rafhnefs of the Dtfign ; that Lord North and
* Grey replied, Lord Orrery was a timorous Fel-
« low, and was always making Difficulties, and
* Schemes out of his own Brain ; that he knew

' AA. 5.
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1 nothing, nor fhould know ; but that it was his,

' [Lord North's] Opinion, the Pretender might be
« reftored by the People of England, without the
' Affiftance of any foreign Force. That he,
' Layer, talked to Lord North and Grey of his

' Lordfhip's being General; but Lord North
' faid, he was not popular enough, that the Duke
' of Ormond would be fit for it, and if they had
' him here, his Lordfhip believed moft of the
' Soldiers would join him : That he, Layer, con-
' tinuing to prefs Lord North and Grey on this

' head, by telling him that he was fitter for a
' Genera], and was popular, the faid Lord an-
' fwered No, the Duke of Ormond was the Man,
' he was the Soldiers Darling. That he, Layer,
' often talked of this Affair to the Lord North,
' being induced fo to do, by the Impatience he
' obferved in him, and in Lord Orrery, that
: fomething fhould be done.

Matthew Plunket, Serjeant of Invalids, has
f

depofed upon Oath, ' that Layer told him (in

' July laft) that the late Duke of Ormond would
' come in a Tingle Ship with fome Officers, and
' that it had been done long ago, if the French
' Ambaffador had not been told of it, who told

' it again to the King.'
g It appears to your Committee from feveral

Depofitions on Oath, as well as from Informa-

tions and written Intelligence, that in confe-

quence of this Defign of bringing over the late

Duke of Ormond, Captain Charles Halftead, a Lan~
cafhire Man (who was concerned in the Infurrec-

tion intended at Oxford in the Year 1715) fet fail

from the River for Bilboa, about the 12th Day of

March ] y\\, on board the Ship Phineas of Brijlol^

William Arnold Mafter, with a Provifion of Arms
and Powder on board, which one of the Sailors on

his
h Examination declared, ' He apprehends to

have been greater than was neceffary for an or-

dinary trading Voyage. '' That the faid Ship

was hired at one Hundred Pounds Freight per

Month, two Hundred being paid in Advance
(as Halftead himfelf owned) and had no Goods
nor any Paffenger on board, except the faid

Halftead, who went by the Name of Nowell,

and was known to the Mafter and Sailors by

that Name only, during the Voyage to Spain.
k That the faid Ship was cleared at the Cuftom-

houfe in Ballaft for Lisbon -, but that when they

came into the Bay of Bifcay, the Mafter, who
had Orders to follow Nowel's Directions, ' gave

private Inftrudlions to the Pilot to fteer to

Bilboa; that they arrived there on the 25th of

March, O. S. and that Halftead went on Shore,

and lay that Night at Mr. Brown's an Irijh

Merchant, and the next Day went forward to-

wards Madrid, being furnifhed with Horfes by

the faid Brown, on which Journey he wasabfent

about a Fortnight; that during his Abfence, a
m Report was current all over the Town of

Bilboa, and particularly among the Convents,

that the faid Ship was come to fetch over the

Duke of Ormond' And Thomas Carter, one of

the Sailors of the faid Ship, who was employ'd

by Halslead to v/ait on him as a Servant, has
n depofed upon Oath, ' That three Days after

' the faid Nowell's Return, the Deponent heard

' him propofe to the above-named Captain Ar-
4 nold, to carry the late Duke of Ormond and
' Four other Paffengers to England ; which the

' B. u.
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faid Captain Arnold refufing to do, the faid

Nowett infifted, faying, the Ship was his fo long

as he paid the Hire of her, and the Wages and

Victualling, and they had high Words upon it.

Carter farther depofed, that Halftead received a

Letter directed to Colonel Nowell Butler, which

was the Name the faid Newell went by, when

he was in Spain. That, when the Ship was re-

leafed, they plied off and on about four Hours

off St. Andero, expecting fome Body to come

off in a Boat •, but no Body coming, and Night

drawing on, they made the beft of their way

to England, and arrived in the Downs the Be-

ginning of July kit.' Allijon, who' came over

to England a Paffenger in the faid Ship, has
a de-

pofed upon Oath, ' that he left Madrid on the

4th of June, N. S. and that fome Time before

he came away, the late Duke of Ormond, who
had refided a confiderable Time at Madrid, had

fent away his Horfes and Equipage from thence,

and put his Servants on Board-wages, and that

it was reported he was to go to Ventofilla. That

he, Allifon, upon his coming to Bilboa, found

the Ship Pbineas bound for England, but ftopt •,

that he agreed to take his Paffage on board her,

and going to the Corregidor of Bilboa for a Pafs,

he found there Mr. Brown a Merchant, and one

who went by the Name of Nowell ; that Brown

afking the Corregidor why the Ship was ftopt,

he faid, it was not the Ship, but Nowell's Per-

fon, that was detained, by Orders from Madrid;

that he, Allifon, heard a Report at Bilboa,

that the late Duke of Ormond was on the Coaft

in Difguife, and that Nowellhad been at Madrid,

and come back again in Fifteen Days •, the

Expedition of which Journey, and the Ship's

coming in Ballaft, had railed a Sufpicion in

Bilboa, that Nowell came over to the late Duke
of Ormond, on Account of the Confpiracy. The
Sailors

b obferved, that during Nowell's Stay at

Bilboa, Brigadier Campbell (a Perfon concerned

in the Prefton Rebellion) v/as frequently on

board with him, but did not care to own his

Name.' The fame Particulars are confirmed

by c Letters from Sir Anthony Wefcomb, who was

fent to Spain to gain Intelligence, with feveral

other d Circumftances relating to Ships, Arms
and Recruits, provided for the Pretender's Service

in Spain.

During thefe Tran factions,
e Colonel Stanhope,

his Majefty's Ambaffador at Madrid, who does

not appear to have known any thing of this Ship's

being come to Bilboa, having received Intelligence

from other Hands, that the Duke of Ormond was

preparing to fet out for England with fome Irijh

Officers, in order to put himfelf at the Head of

the Rebels, obtain'd Orders from the Court of

Madrid, to hinder the late Duke of Ormond's

Embarkation, as will appear more fully in the re-

maining part of this Report.

In confequence of thefe Orders, the King of
Spain's Officers

f came on board the Ship, and

laid an Embargo upon her for about a Fortnight,

till Halftead, finding himfelf difappointed of his

Defign, agreed that Part of a Cargo of Wooll
and Iron mould be put on board the faid Ship by

Brown mudslinger; and then returned to E England

with one Maxwell, whom the Sailors understood

to be a Relation of the late Lord Marr's, and

two other Paffengers, and arriv'd in the River a-

bout the 7th or 8th of July.

About the Beginning of May a
h Letter was inter-

cepted here coming from Spain, directed to Monf.
Dumville Procureur, and enclofed under Cover to

one Wilmore at Mr. Stokoe's Bookfeller near

Charing-Cbrofs. Who is meant by the Name
Dumville, the Committee have not been able to

difcover.

In this Letter was enclofed the ' Copy of a Let-

ter, which the Committee have Reafon to believe

was from the late Duke of Ormond to fome Per-

fons abroad, the initial Letter of whofe Name is

difcovered by the Decypherers to be L.

The Letter to Dumville, as well as the Copy
of the late Duke of Ormond's Letter, was writ

partly in Cypher ; and among the Words out

of Cypher feveral fictitious Names were made
Ufeof, which the Committee obferve is the Cafe

alfo in feveral others of the intercepted Letters

referred to them.

It was reafonable to expect, that in managing
Correfpondences of fo hazardous a Nature, all

fort of Art and Induftry mould be ufed, and all

the Help of Cyphers and Jargon called in, to

difguife the real Defigns, and to conceal the

true Names of the Perlons concerned, in order

to their avoiding the Danger of legal Conviction

:

but your Committee likewife obferve, that feve-

ral of thefe Difguifes are fo grofs and obvious,

that they only ferve to betray themfelves ; others

ol them are explained by the Skill of different

Decypherers, agreeing in the fame Explication;

which Explication is again confirmed by Facts

unknown to thofe Perfons at the Time of the

Decyphering. Others are explained by Cyphers

and Lifts of fictitious Names, feized on the Con-
fpirators themfelves, as well as by comparing the

feveral Parts of their Correfpondence together;

and others again by direct Informations upon
Oath. And, as the Degrees of Evidence, in a

Search of this Nature, muft be various, the Com-
mittee have taken all the Care they can, to di-

ftinguifh what appears to them fully proved, from

what is fupported by ftrong and probable Con-
jectures only.

In this
k Letter to Dumville, dated the 27th of

April 1722, (N. S.) mention is made of its be-

ing publickly known in Spain, by Letters from
Bilboa and other Parts, * that a Ship came to

' Bilboa, with an exprefs to Ormond, in order to
4 bring Ormond to England ; that the faid Ex-
* prefs went to the Place where Ormond was

;

4 that this had made fo much Noife, that it

4 was neceffary to .fend to England with all pof-

' fible Difpatch •, that a Ship's coming with Bal-
4

loft only gave Occalion to thofe Reports', and
* that in order to ftifle them it was neceffary to

* put in the Ship Goods for England ; that this

4 would be a confiderable Expence to Tom, who
4 hopes that Friends will confider it, and fend
4 him if poffible a greater Supply than the five

* Thoufand Pounds that he wrote for in his of the
4 6th and 20th of April; that the Bills muft be
4 fent directly to B , and may be bought at

' the Exchange of London.'

The Committee are of Opinion, that by B.

is meant Brown the Irijh Merchant at Bilboa, be-

caufe the ' Cargoe was put on Board by the faid
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Brown and Slinger ; and it appears by fubfequent bably) but that he could have had more Arms,
a Letters that this Brown had twelve Thoufand if he had had more Money.

Arms in his Cuftody, for the Service of the late

Duke of Ormond. It is alfo proved b by the

Sailors, that Halftead was frequently in Company
with this Brown and his Nephews, and lay fome-

times at his Houfe.

Who is meant by Tom in the faid Letter, the

Committee will not take upon them to determine;

but they believe it will appear probable to the

Houfe, from the Connexion and other Circum-

ftances, that it muft mean the late Duke of

Ormond.

The Perfon that writes this Letter to Dum-
ville, adds, ' That fince Mrs. Chaumont cannot

The Committee obferve, That this Account
of ten Thouland Arms procured by i) , and
of two Thoufand by M , agrees exactly

with an m Account fent foon after from Mr. Stan-

hope at Madrid, and R confirmed by Sir Anthony
Weflcomb, that twelve Thoufand Arms were lodged
in the Hands of Brown at Bilboa, for the Pre-
tender's Service; and that Morgan was ordered

to the Bay of Bifcay, in order to tranfport the

faid Arms to England.

The Committee take Notice likewife, that the

very fame Number of Arms is mentioned in a

Letter, writ, as they have good Reafori to be

-

meet Ormond at any Place on the Road, it is lieve, by George Kelly, to General Dillon's Secre-

abfolutely necefTary that Ormond mould have as tary ; and the Arms are there fpoken of, as pro
« good a Preparation of Arms as can be had

* there, and in order to make it, he will want
« more Money from Friends.'

The fame Perfon fays, that he had that Day
received a Letter, importing, ' That M

vided by Mansfield's Relations, which Name
George Kelly p explained to Neynoe to mean the

late Duke of Ormond.

The Circumftance of Kelly's mentioning thefe

Arms to Dillon's Secretary, makes it probable
* could get more Arms if he had more Money.' that by D. in Ormond's Letter, is meant the faid

The Committee are of Opinion, that by M Dillon, who, as your Committee are informed,

is meant Morgan, who is mentioned in feveral is an Irijh Roman Catholick, and quitted Ireland
d Letters from Spain, as Intendant of the Pre- on the Capitulation of Limerick, and is at pre-

tender's Ships at Cadiz, and active in procuring fent a Lieutenant- General in the French Service,

Officers and Arms ; which Letters are confirmed and has the Command of one of the IriJJo Regi-

by the Seizure of the Ship Revolution at Genoa, of ments in France ; and he appears to your Com-
which it appears by Captain Scot's

e Letter from mittee, from feveral Parts of the intercepted

Genoa, that Morgan had the chief Care, going Correfpondence, to have the chief Management
by the Name of Walton ; which is again confirmed of the Pretender's Affairs, and to be the prin-

by a
f Letter from Sir Anthony Weflcomb at cipal Agent and Director of carrying on this

Bilboa. Confpiracy.

The Perfon that s writes to Dumville, farther Ormond in his q Letter to L——- afterwards

adds, ' That Ormond hopes Onflow and Hawley fays, ' That fince the Parliament is dead and
* will fend a Part of the Money they have raifed ' gone, he thinks it will be a good Time to

make an Effort when the Elector is gone to

Hanover ; and adds, I hope you have agreed

with D the Time of going for England, and
when that is fixed between Mrs. Chaumont and

D , you will let Ormond know the Place

of landing in England. I defire an Exprefs

may be fent to me, with particular Accounts

of what is agreed on.' This, the Committee
take Notice, agrees with Mr. Stanhope's

r
Intelli-

directly to Ormond; for Ormond, upon the Hopes
« of it, has fent Credit to M ; he defires

4 Dumville to mind this, and not to lofe a Mo-
* ment.'

Who are meant by Onflow and Hawley, the

Committee cannot determine ; but they are incli-

ned to believe, that they are the fame Perfons,

who in another h
Letter, enclofed to Wilmore

foon after, and writ in the fame Cypher, are

found by the Decypherers to have the initial Let- gence, that Ormond was going for England, and

ters of their Names G - and N ; in which likewife with r
Intelligence fent from Rome, that

Conjecture they are the more confirmed, by ''

a the Pretender was to embark, as foon as two
Cypher feized on John Plunket, in which the real Officers, Relations of the late Duke of Ormond,

Names beginning with G. are conflantly defigned fhould arrive at Porto Longone ; which Circum-

by fictitious ones beginning with H. the Letter fiance makes it not improbable, that by Mrs.

immediately following in the Alphabet, and the Chaumont may be meant the Pretender,

real Names of the Letter N. by others begin- In the fame ' Letter to L , Ormond fays,

ning with O.

In the fc Letter to Dumville above-mentioned,

v/as enclofed the ' Copy of a Letter from the late

Duke of Ormond to L. which was fent to Dum-
ville as being in part an Anfwer to one received

from him ; who is meant by L, the Committee
cannot determine.

In this Letter, the late Duke of Ormond men-
tions his having received an Account from D

* I have ordered H- — 'sShip, that I depended
« on, to return to England ; it was not proper to

* make ufe of it, for Reafons not necefTary to

' trouble you with. There was no MefTage fent

* by him, becaufe of the Uncertainty of the

' Time of his getting to England.'

This Pafiage, the Committee are of Opinion,

evidently relates to Halftead's Ship. Upon men-

tioning his fending back this Ship, he immedi-
(General Dillon probably) that he had procured ately adds, ' I have ordered M 's Ship to

ten Thoufand Arms, and advifes the joyning ' come to A ;' which agrees exactly with

Stocks with D—— , fince they cannot have too Mr. Stanhope's
u Account, that Morgan's Ships

many Arms ; and fays he can only depend on were ordered to the Bay of Bifcay, to tranfport

two Thoufand Arms from M (Morgan pro- to England the Arms above-mentioned, together
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with Ormond, and what Officers could be got ;

and it appears by fubfequent a Letters from Sir

Anthony Wefcomb at Bilboa, that the faid Ships,

under the Command of Morgan, did put in at

Sabito Andero, which the Committee underftand

to be the Place meant by A , to which Or-

mond fays he had ordered M 's Ship to

come. The faid Ships having put in at Andero,

and (laid there fifteen Days, is again confirmed

by a
b Letter from Genoa, writ by Captain Gar-

diner, who commanded the Ship Revolution lately

taken.

Soon after this Letter to Dumville, c another

was intercepted here coming from Spain, directed

A Monfieur Dodfiuorth, not figned, enclofed un-

der Cover to Wilmore as the former, and writ in

the fame Cypher ; the moft material Paragraph

of which is thus explained by the Decypherers.

' I muft again entreat you to ufe your utmoft

Endeavours, to get the five Thoufand Pounds

from Friends returned to O directly •, the

Hopes given by G to expect a great Sum,

and by N , that he had raifed twentyThou-

fand Pounds, induced O to fupply M ,

and to make other necefTary Provifions. If

that Money be not returned, it will fall heavy

upon O — , and he will be difabled from

anfwering the Expectation of Friends, therefore

ought to be your firft and greateft Concern.

All other Actions are Trifles in Comparifon of

it ; for the Hopes of Succefs depend princi-

pally on O »-—-. I mentioned this in former

Letters, and Friends are defired to return

more than five Thoufand Pounds, if poffible.

If they do, more Arms and Ammunition, and

Officers can be had here ; and the End of rai-

fing Money by Friends, is to procure Arms,
Ammunition and Officers.

To whom thefe Letters were writ does not ap-

pear ; but the Committee obferve that they are

writ in the fame Cypher with three d
Letters,

which they have Grounds to believe were from

the Bifhop of Rochefter. They obferve likewife

that the fame Cypher is fometimes made ufe of

by c George Kelly.

Mr. Stokoe the Bookfeller being examined about

IVihnore, under whofe Cover thefe Letters to

Dumville and Dodfwortb came enclofed, could give

no other
f Account of him, but that he was one

who once writ a Letter in his Shop, and defired

him by a Letter, dated Epfom the firft of March,

1722, to take in fuch French Letters as fhould

come directed to him •, and by another Letter,

dated Harwich the 14th of May, defired him to

take in no more ; that he, Stokoe, did receive two
Letters from abroad fo directed, which were
fetched away, and paid for by Perfons to him
unknown.
That the late Duke of Ormond was expected

to head an Infurrection in England, is farther con-

firmed by the following Particulars.

Neynoe upon his Examination before a Com-
mittee of Lords of the Council, e declared,
' That the firft Defign in the Spring was to have
4 been executed in London, by feizing the Tower,
' and that the late Duke of Ormond was then to
* have landed in the River ; but upon Difcovery
' of the Plot, and the King's not going beyond
e Sea, it was put off for fome Time ; that the

' Bifhop of Rochefter, Lord Orrery, Lord North,
' and Sir Harry Goring, were the principal Lead-
' ers and Directors of the whole Defign ; and
1 that Watfon (whom he took to be the late Earl
' Marifhalj had told him, Lord North and Grey
' was thought of for the Command. 5

On the 29th of April, O. S.
b
Intelligence came

from France, ' That the Week before the late
' Duke of Ormond had made Application to the
' Regent by a Perfon of great Diftinction, for
* Leave to pafs through France, under a Pretence
1 of going into Italy, but that the Regent had
* abfolutely refufed him, and at the fame Time
' had difpatch'd the necefTary Orders to the Fron-
* tiers of Spain, to hinder him from paffing either
* openly or in Difguife.'

On the 2d of May, O. S. Sir Luke Schaub fent
' Advice, ' That one Leftey had been looking
' out for Lodgings at Paris for the late Duke of
' Ormond ; and k on the 9th, that Alderman
' Barber carried with him Bills of Exchange for
* fifty Thoufand Pounds Sterling for the Pre-
' tender •, and that the fame Sum was fent to
1 Ormond by another Hand, to enable him to
{ make the necefTary Preparations in Spain and
' Italy.'' The Committee obferve, that this agrees,

as to the Divifion of the Money, with a PafTao-e

in another ' Letter from Dillon's Secretary to

Gorge Kelly, dated the fecond of May, N. S.

which will be farther explained in its proper
Place.

On the 23d of May, O.S. Sir Luke Schaub fent
m Advice, 4 That the late Duke of Ormond was to
' fet out from Madrid about the 20th of that
' Month, with his Family, without its being
' known whither he was going ; that it was be-
* lieved he would give out that he was going to

* fettle at a certain Diftance from Madrid, from
1 whence he might Ileal away afterwards unob-
' ferved.'

On the 28th of May, 0. S. Mr. Stanhope n
writes

Word from Madrid, ' That having had Intelli-

gence to be rely'd. on, that the late Duke of

Ormond intended fpeedily to pafs into England,

with a great Number of Irijh Officers at that

time in the Service of his Catholick Majefty, in

order to put himfelf at the Head of the Rebels

there, and for that purpofe was to fet out from
Madrid the next Day, under Pretence of going

for the reft of the Summer to Ventofdla, a

Houfe of the Duke of Medina Celi, half-way

between Madrid and Bilboa, but in reality to

be thereby readier to pafs to that Port, and

with lefs Sufpicion to embark from thence for

England, whenever Matters fhould be ripe for

his fo doing •, he made Application to his Ca-

tholick Majefty by the Marquifs de Grimaldo,

for Orders to be fent to all the Ports of Spain,

to prevent the faid late Duke's embarking with

the Officers above-mentioned, and received a

Letter from the Marquifs de Grimaldo, (a

Copy ° of which is annexed to this Report) ac-

quainting him, that the King of Spain had di-

rected fuch Orders to be iffued, and was ready

on all Occafions, more particularly on this

which regarded the Quiet and Tranquillity of

his Britannick Majefty 's Kingdoms, to contri-

bute all in his Power towards his Majefty's Sa-

tisfaction.'

a A. 36. fc A, 45. = AA 6
k A.4. ; A. 5. kA.4.

•* D. 10. n. iz. e E. 35.
f AA.i.

! E. 30. m A. u. n A. 15. o A. 17.

£E. 10.

Andrew



1723. and others
) for a Treafonable Confpiracy. 341

Andrew Pander, formerly Captain-Lieutenant

of Lord Cobbanis Dragoons, has
a depofed upon

Oath, ' That being grown intimately acquainted

with Skeene (now in Cuftody) a Perlbn related

to Marr, and engaged in the Rebellions of Pref-

ton and Glcnjheild, Skeene began to acquaint him,

about June laft, that there was a Delign carry-

ing on in England for placing the Pretender on

the Throne, of which he at different times told

him the following Particulars : That fix or eight

Battalions of Irijh Foot, double Officer'd, were

to have come over from Spain, which were

quarter'd upon the Coaft of Gallicia for that pur-

pofe ; that the mne Spani/h Men of War which

have joined the Dutch, and four more to have

been fitted out at Barcelona, and three at Ali-

cani, (as he belt remembered) being in all fix-

teen Spani/Jj Men of War, were to have been

imployed in this Service. That thefe Troops

were to have landed either in Cornwal, or' near

Brijlol : That there were forty Thoufand Stand

of Arms in Great Britain, part in Scotland, other

part in London, other part in Brijlol, and other

part in Cornwal. That there were feven or

eight hundred Men, with Officers among them,

in London, fubfifted, and in readinefs for fuch an

Occafion. That a Sum of two hundred thou-

fand Pounds had been raifed by Contribution

for carrying on this Defign, and put into the

Management of the Bifhop of Rochejler, who
with the Lord North and Grey were the leading

Men among them -, and that the Lord Strafford

and Lord Kinoule knew the Thing. That the

Managers of this Affair in Spain, were the late

Duke of Ormond and the late Earl Marifhal •,

and thofe in France the late Lord Marr, and

Lieutenant General Dillon. That the Court of

Spain was in their Intereft, but as to the Re-

gent and Cardinal Du Bois, they could not tell

what to make of them : That this Dcfign was

to have been executed fome time ago, but was

then difappointed by the Regent : That the late

Duke of Ormond, and the late Earl Marifhal,

were to have come with the Troops before men-

tioned from Spain, and the Pretender about the

fame time was to have \ehRome privately, and

to have lain conceal'd fomewhere near, from

whence he would have come over when there

had been a fair Profpect of Succefs. That as to

any Oppofition they could expect, we had but

fourteen Thoufand Men in all, of which three

Thoufand were necefiary to guard London, three

Thoufand more for Scotland, and two Thoufand

for the Garifons ; fo that the Remainder would

never dare to attack thofe who came from Spain

:

and in the Confufion, their (meaning the Preten-

der's) Friends would have been able to have got

together, and made a Head. That in the Conduct

of this Affair there paffed little in writing, and on-

ly the four Lords before mentioned,^. theBifhop

ofRochejler and Lord North andGrey principally,

and Lord Strafford and Lord Kinoule, were con-

cerned in the Management of it here. That the

Bufinefs was to have been done before the Dutch
Troops could come to our Affiftance.'

The Committee have laid thefe feveral Particu-

lars together, though of different Dates, that the

Houfe may fee at one view, the Reafon there is

to believe, that the late Duke of Ormond was to

have landed in England
i

with Officers and Arms,
about the Time that it jvas generally fuppofed his

Majefty intended to go vto Hanover. The reafon

of Ormond's not coming, is fufficiently explained

by the Orders iffued at Madrid and in France, by
the King's not going abroad, and by the Difcove-

ries,and Difpofition of the Forces made in England,

And notice is taken, in
b
Letters to one of his

Majefty's Secretaries of State from Rome, that a

Perfon of great Diftinction at that Place, had de-

clared it as his Opinion, that the grand Project

formed in the Conclave for placing the Pretender

on the Throne of Britain, was going to be put in

execution •, but that the fame Perfon afterwards

affigned four Reafons for its having mifcarried ;

which were, the Want of Money, the fufpected

Faith of the Regent, the Want of Skill in thofe

who were to conduct it, and the Pufiilanimity of

the Pretender, who, to avoid hazarding his own
Perfon, propofed to fend his Child : which laft

Particular is again mentioned in another c
Letter

from Rome.

The Committee now return to fhew what other

Evidences they have before them, of a Defign.

laid for beginning an Infurreclion in London, at

the Time when it was fuppofed the King intended

to go to Hanover.

About the latter end of April, his Majefty re-

ceived d
Intelligence from abroad, upon which he

can intirely depend, * That a Defign was laid for
4 bringing in the Pretender, which was thought
4 to be fo well concerted, and conducted by Per-
' fons of fuch Experience, that, if the Secret was
' but kept, as was propos'd, the Succefs was look-
' ed upon as infallible ; and that it was to be put
' in Execution about the end of April, or begin-
' ning of Mtf>>.' The original Letter containing

this Intelligence, has been communicated to your
Committee, and an e Extract of it is annexed to

this Report.

On the 29th of April, the fame f
Intelligence

was repeated, with thefe farther Particulars, ' That
* the Confpirators did no longer think it necefiary
* to infill on foreign Affiftance, flattering them-
' felves that great part of the King's own Forces
' would declare in their favour. That they now
' contented themfelves with defiring the Regent
6 fhould obferve a Neutrality between his Majefty
' and the Pretender •, and that Lord Lanfdowne
' was to prefent, or caufe to be prefented, a Me-
' morial to the Regent to this effect, that Day or
' the next. That the Defign was probably to be
1 executed in London ; that the beginning of May
' was the Time fixed on ; and that the Pretender
' was fpeedily to fet out for England'

Your Committee do not find that the above-

mentioned Memorial was prefented to the Regent-,

but in £ Letters from Plunkst to Dillon they find

the fame repeated in thefe Words ; ' If the Re-
1 gent ftands neuter, we will foon bring the Law-
1 Suit to bear :' which Layer h explained to be the

' Pretender's Caufe.

On the 24th of April 0. S, Mr. Davenant, His
Majefty's Minifter in Italy, fentan Exprefs from

Rome, with i Advice, ' ,that the Pretender's Ad-
' herenrs were making Preparations in Cadiz, and
* other Ports of Spain, for an Attempt on Eng-
c land; that the Pretender was fpeedily to embark
6 at Porto Longone, and was retired from Rome for
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' that Purpofe :' And * it appears, that the fame

Advice was foon after confirmed to his Majefty,

by a foreign Miniftcr refiding in England, who re-

ceived the Intelligence from a Perfon of great Dif-

tinclion abroad, and communicated it to his Ma-
jefty.

On the 9th of May, Mr. Craufurd, His Ma-
jefty's Refident at Paris,

b
writes word, ' that the

4 Jacobites in France expelled foon an Infurreftion

* in England, which was to be begun by the

* Heads of their Party here foon after His Ma-
4 jefty's fetting out for Hanover, and was to be

' fupported by Itijh Officers and Soldiers, who
4 lay ready at Cadiz, befides fuch as fhould be
4 able to pafs over into England from France by
4 Health:' and in his

c Letter of the 26th of

May O. S. he adds, ' that the Grounds of this Ex-
4 peclaticn were, AfTurances given from England,
4 that the Confpirators would immediately make
4 themfelves Matters of the Tower, and City of
4 London.

7

This Intelligence agrees with a d Paper deliver-

ed to the Secretaries of State in July laft, by one

of the Lords of his Majefty 's Council, who, as

they have e
certified, aflured them that a Perfon,

whom he had good reafon to believe to be deeply

concerned in the Confpiracy, came to him in the

Month of July, and brought him a Paper, which

he affirmed he had copied by ftealth out of the

Scrutore of a noble Lord, whom he refufed to

name ; and that the faid Perfon writ out a fair

Copy of the Paper in his prefence, which contains

Minutes of Refolutions taken at a Confultation,

and is in the following Words.

4 R. That the Arms be dug up immediately,

and difperfed in fmall Parcels. Begin in South-

wark, Whitechapel, Wapping, Holborn and Smith-

field. March into City. Poflefs the Gates.

Againft the Horfe, Barricades in. the narrow

Streets, efpecially at both Ends of Fleet-bridge,

Shoe-lane, Fetter-lane and Chancery-lane. Poflefs

St. Clement's Churchyard by a Party from Hol-

born. A ftrong Barricade in the narrow Part of

that Street. Line the two firft Stories. Bricks,

Stones, &c . may be ufeful in the upper Rooms,
and may be thrown by Women and others un-

fit to bear Arms. Lighters with Ammunition
under Coals, lie at Blackfryars and Milford-lane.

No Dependance or Afliftance from Weftminjler

and thofe Parts, except fome few by Water, the

Communication being cut off. MefTage to the

Lord Mayor by three Lords. Proclamation

made to oblige all who fhall not come in, to

bring in their Mufkets, and Militia Arms. De-
claration ready printed, to be difperfed among
the People. Twenty three Officers of the

Guards to be depended on : a great many
others well affected, efpecially the common
Centinels. Day refolv'd on April the 30th.

R. That forty determin'd Perfons be immedi-
ately pitch'd upon, armed with Swords and
Piftols, to execute all Orders •, and that for the

Subfiftence of the faid forty Gentlemen, Money
be advanced out of the Fund, at the Rate of fe-

ven Shillings per Diem for Man and Horfe.

Commander in Chief Lord N. Time feven in

the Morning.'
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The Committee make no doubt but the Houfe
will readily obferve, that this Scheme, drawn up
in April, and delivered as aforefaid to one of the
Lords of the Council in July laft, has a near Affi-

nity with ' that of Layer, and appears to be the

Groundwork of it, tho' Layer g denies his having
ever feen any fuch Paper of Refolutions, or hav-
ing received any Inftrudtions relating to his

Scheme, except fronv Wilfon a Surgeon, Murphey
a Phyfician, and White a Serjeant.

The Committee likewife obferve from this and
Layer's Scheme, as well as from a

h Letter of
Sample's (of which notice will be taken in its

Place) that the involving the City of London in

Blood and Confufion, appears to have been uni-

verfally underftood and agreed on among all the
Confpirators, as the firft Step to be taken, and the

Eoundation of their future Hopes.
By another j Paper delivered in July laft by the

fame Perfon, it appears, that when the Stroke
was ftruck in London, there were to be Infurrec-

tions in feveral Counties of England-, and that the

Numbers of Gentlemen and private Men, to be
depended on both in London and the Country,
were computed and fet down : and the Commit-
tee obferve, that the extending the Infurreftion

to the Country, after London was feized, makes
likewife a Part of

k
Layer's Scheme, and ' Sam-

ple's Letter.

The Committee farther take notice that in thefe

Schemes, as well as in
m
Pander's Depofition, men-

tion is made of great quantities of Arms conceal'd

for the Ufe of the Confpirators > and Layer hav-

ing confefs'd at his
n Examination before the

Lords, that he fuppofed there were Arms provi-

ded, and that Green the Gunfmith being in com-
pany with Lord North, had mentioned five

Thoufand Arms, and feven Thoufand Arms, and

infifted, in contradiction to Lord North who bid

him hold his Tongue, that there were five Thou-
fand Arms ready in the City •, the Committee ex-

amined him particularly on this Head, but could

draw nothing more from him, than ° that Green

had told Captain Bonyn at Lord North's, that he

could help him to five or feven Thoufand Arms
at an Hour's warning. And tho' your Committee

is fully fatisfied that no Care has been wanting

elfewhere to difcover thefe Arms, and to defeat the

Confpiracy in fo efTential a Circumftance •, yet they

cannot but think it a melancholy Consideration,

that through the determined Obftinacy of the Con-

fpirators, thefe Endeavours have hitherto proved

unfuccefsful.

The Committee obferve farther, that in the
p Paper of Refolutions, Mention is made of a

Fund of Money provided, and of a great Num-
ber of determined Perfons fubfifted in London for

the Purpofes of the Confpiracy, for the Execution

of which a Day was likewife fixed on and appoint-

ed, and the Commander in chief known. All

which feveral Particulars correfpond exactly with

the q Intelligence received at the fame Time from

abroad, with r Pander's Depofition, with what

Layer s own'd Lord Orrery had told him, that he

believed Lord North and Grey had a Commiffion

for commanding in chief ; and with what Neynoe
' was told by Watfon, that Lord North and Grey

was thought of for the Command ; as likewife

with what u was told Matthew Plunket by Layer

f B.X.i. 6B. 38.
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and John Plunket, that Lord North and Grey with

others were ready to head an Infurrection.

Your Committee having thus laid before you

the general Evidence, which convinces them that

a Defign was formed by Perfons of Diftinction, to

in_„„vade thefe Kingdoms with a foreign Force;

that being difappointed in this Expectation, they

ftill perfifted to make an Attempt, with fuch

Officers and Soldiers as could be procured private-

ly from Abroad ; that the late Duke of Onnond

was to have landed for this Purpofe, and to have

been followed by the Pretender •, that Arms and

Money were provided, and Men fubfifted for this

Service ; that the Infurrection was to have been

beo-un in London, and thence to have been extend-

ed over the whole Kingdom. They will now

proceed more particularly to explain the feveral

Parts, which the Leaders and inferior Agents ap-

pear to have taken in conducting this Defign, as far

as the fame can be collected from the intercepted

Correfpondence, and other Papers referred to

them, and from the Examinations of the Perfons

concerned •, by which it will farther appear to the

Houfe, that the Defigh was conltantly profecuted

in all Parts, without any other Relaxation or In-

termiiTion, than what the Neceflity of their Affairs,

and the Difcoveries made, obliged them to, in or-

der to lay their Meafures deeper, and to make the

Succefs of them more certain : And that the En-

terprize, which was firft calculated fot the Spring,

was to have been afterwards put in Execution at

the breaking up of the Camp, with the Help of

Officers and Soldiers from Abroad, if they could

be obtained ; if not, on the Strength of fuch as

they hoped to be able to corrupt and feduce,

among his Majefty's own Forces.

The Leaders, in order (as 'tis natural to believe)

to fave themfelves from the Danger of legal Con-

viction, chofe to manage their Correfpondences

by the Intervention of Perfons of a meaner Rank
and Figure, and of defperate Fortunes; who, they

hoped, might efcape the Obfervation of the Go-
vernment, being no otherwife considerable, than

as the Trufb repofed in them made them fo.

The Committee think proper to take notice,

that of thefe inferior Agents, Layer appears to

have been principally intruded by Lord North
a r.d Grey, and Lord Orrery ; and that Plunket,

who travelled with Layer to Rome, and whofe trea-

fonable Practices and Correfpondences are clofely

connected with thofe of Layer, writes of himfelf

as tranfacting Part of his Treafons with Lord Or-

rery's Clerk, and fending frequent Accounts to the

Pretender's Agents abroad, of Matters relating

to the faid Lord.

George Kelly, a Nonjuring Clergyman at prefent

(tho' in the late Queen's Time, the Committee is

informed, he took the Oaths to the Government,
and likewife the Abjuration) appears to have been

the Perfon principally entrusted by the Bifhop of

Rochefter, and to have been im ployed in writing

for him, and conveying Letters to him, until the

Time that he, Kelly, was firft taken into Cuftody ;

after which it appears to the Committee, that Tho-

mas Carte, another Nonjuring Clergyman, was
entrufted and employed by the Bifhop in the fame
Manner. And the Committee obferve, that George

Kelly's Correfpondence has a clofe Connexion with
that of Dennis Kelly; and likewife that he appears

to have been privy to Plunket's and Neynoe's

Tran factions.

The Perfon imployed by the Duke of Norfolk,

in conveying Letters between him and George

Jernegan, an Agent of the Pretender's in Flanders,

they find to be Mrs. Spelman, alias Tallop ; who
has likewife owned her conveying Letters in the

fame Manner between Mr. Harvey of Comb, and
one Moor of Brownlowe-ftreet, and the faid Jerne-

gan. The Committee obferve, that jfohn Sample
acted under the Direction of Mr. Se?npill (common-
ly called Lord Sempill) and his Son at Paris, and
that he wrote Letters to the late Duke ofOrmond
and the Pretender ; but whom he tranfacted Mat-
ters with in England, your Committee do not find,

by his Examination, he would declare.

The Committee farther obferve, that this trea-

fonable Correfpondence extended itfelf into Scot-

land; that William Erjkine remitted Money to

France for the Service of the Pretender's Friends,

and had a Letter under the late Lord Marr's
Hand found upon him, when he was taken into

Cuftody. That Mr. Cockran, now in Cuftody,
and others of that Country yet unknown, were
concerned in the fame treafonable Correfpondence,

carried on under the fame fictitious Names and
Expreflions that are made ufe of by feveral of
the Correfpondents in England; and that the fame
Cant was likewife made ufe of, for the fame Pur-
pofes, by Perfons in Ireland, That all thefe feve-

ral Negotiations and Correfpondences concurred
in one common Defign, of ftirring up an Infur-

rection in thefe Kingdoms, and placing the Pre-
tender on the Throne.

The Committee have thought it proper to lay

before the Houfe fuch Particulars as occur to

them relating to each of thefe Negotiations, and
to begin with thofe of Layer and Plunket, as be-

ing clofely connected with one another, and fet

on foot earlier than it yet appears the others were

;

and as being likewife what the Houfe thought fie

firft to refer to the Examination of the Commit-
tee : And by comparing the Subftance of the Pa-
pers, and Examinations of thefe two Perfons to-

gether, the Houfe will be enabled, at one View,
to form a true Judgment of the Sincerity of their

Confeffions.

Before the Committee examin'd Mr. Layer,

they acquainted him that the feveral Queftions

they intended to propound to him were reduced

into Writing, and that to avoid all Miftakes, his

Anfwers fhould be fo likewife, and before they

were reported to the Houfe he mould have the

Perufal of them. Accordingly he did review his

firft Confefilon to the Committee, and made feve-

ral Additions and Alterations, which will be ta-

ken Notice of in their proper Places.

Mr. Layer has own'd partly to a Committee of

Lords of the Council before his Trial, and partly

to your Committee (as will appear by reference

had to his * feveral Examinations annex'd to this

Report) ' That being bred up under an Uncle
* who was a Nonjuror in Norfolk, he early im-
' bib'd thofe Principles ; that having a private Af-
4 fair to tranfact at Venice, this and a natural In-

' clination and Curiofity, which he had always had
' to fee the Pretender, carried him on to Rome ;

* that he kt out from England on the firft of April

'
1 72 1, in company with John Plunket, now in

Vol. VI.
B. 8, 9, io, 11, 38.
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4 Cuftody, who went fometimes by the Name of

' Rogers, whofe Expences he bore on Account of

4 his being ufeful to him, as fpeaking feveral Lan-

4 guages. That he believes from the Time of his

* firft acquainting Plunket with his intended Jour-

* ney (which was fome Months before their fetting

4 out) the faid Plunket, in order to magnify his Ser-

4 vices to the Pretender and his Adherents, might

4 write to General Billon, and others of them, that

' he was going to Rome with a Friend, and that

4 his and his Friend's Journey would be of great

4 Confequence to the Pretender's Affairs/ But

this Particular he did not own till the Review of

his Examination, when he found the Committee

were apprifed that Notice had been fent to Rome

of his Journey ; for he infilled at firft that his

Journey to Rome was purely accidental, and not

concerted with the Pretender or any of his Agents.

He farther owned, « That in their Way to Italy 9

4 they parTed through Antwerp, and that Plunket

4 there received a Letter from General Dillon,

4 which he fhewed to Layer, directing them whom
4 to apply to on their Arrival at Rome, to intro-

4 duce them to the Pretender.' And on his re-

viewing his Examination, when he found your

Committee were in Pofleffion of that Letter, he

own'd, ' That Francis Kennedy was the Perfon
4 they were directed by Dillon to apply to.' A
Letter a

to that Effect being found among Plunket''?,

Papers, figned Dixwell, and the fame being fhewn

by your Committee to Layer, he declared, ' That
4 to the bell of his Memory and Belief, it was the

4 very Letter which was fhewn to him by Plunket
4 at Antwerp, and affirmed by Plunket to be from
4 General Dillon : That he, Layer, believes Dillon

* goes by the Names both of Dixwell and Digby

;

4 and that by the Name of Jofeph, in the faid

4 Letter, is to be underftood the Pretender.
4 That he and Plunket arrived at Rome the lat-

4 ter End of May 1721 ; and that after he had
4 been a Day at Rome, he fent to Francis Kennedy,
4 Secretary to the Pretender, to let him know he

' fhould be glad to fee him, and to renew Ac-
* quaintance with him.'

Being afked when and where he firft became
acquainted with Francis Kennedy, he faid, 4 That
4 Kennedy has a Brother, Secretary to the late
e Duke of Ormond, with which Brother he had
4 fome Acquaintance-, and he thinks he has former-
' ly been in Francis Kennedy's Company at Lon-
4 don along with the other Brother: But as to
4 this Particular he cannot be pofitive.' This is

what he faid relating to Kennedy at his firft Exa-
mination •, and your Committee obferved by his

Behaviour, that he was under Difficulties how to

account for his applying to Kennedy, not having

owned at that Time he had any Directions fo to do,

and being willing to have your Committee be-

lieve, that his Journey was not known of at Rome

:

But after Plunket's Examination, being uncertain

what Plunket might have confefs'd, he thought it

proper to be more open upon this Head, though
contradicting in fome Meafure his own former

Confefiion. He farther faid, ' That upon his fend- Degree of Trull and Confidence Plunket was ad-

4 ing to Francis Kennedy, as above, the faid Ken- mitted to (notwithftanding he would endeavour
* nedy came to his Lodgings, which at the fame by his prefent Appearance to make it feem incredi-

4 Time he faid he was furprized at, it being in the ble) and perceive likewife by this Letter, that his

4 Face of all trie Englijb Gentlemen ; but that and Layer's Journey to Rome had been reprefented

\ Kennedy told him, he needed not be uneafy at his to the Pretender as an Affair of fome Importance.

coming to his Lodings openly, fince he frequent-
4 ed the Company of all the Englijb Gentlemen that
4 came to Rome, without Diftinction. That at the
4 firft Vifit he defired Kennedy to introduce him to
4 the Pretender, which he promifed to do. That
4 Kennedy came to him again the next Night, and
4 promifed to introduce him to the Pretender pri-
4 vately in an Evening, fo that no Body fhouki
4 be able to prove his having been there.'

And when he reviewed his Examination, being

afked by your Committee, whether he knew of

any Letter to Plunket, on their firft coming to

Rome ; and being afked it in fuch a Manner as let

him underftand that they knew from whom it

came, and by whom it was writ •, then, and not

till then, he owned, * That he believed Kennedy

delivered to Plunket a Letter under the Preten-

der's own Hand, when Kennedy and Plunket were
alone together ; for the next Morning, as he,

Layer, was in Bed, in a Room next adjoining to

that where Plunket lodged, Plunket came to his

Bedfide, and told him with feeming Satisfaction,

that he had got a Letter under the King's

(meaning the Pretender's) own Hand ; but that

Kennedy never faid one Word of this Letter to

him, Layer. That Plunket fhewed him, Layer,

the faid Letter, the whole of which he believes

to have been writ in the fame Hand in which
the blank Receipts taken amongft his Papers at

Mrs. Majon's are figned, which he believes to

be the Pretender's own Hand. That the Sub-

fiance of the Letter was, that the Bearer, Fran-

cis Kennedy, would introduce Plunket to the Pre-

tender. He faid he could not be pofitive whe-
ther it was faid in that Letter, that Kennedy

would introduce Plunket only, or whether he

himfelf was mentioned likewife to be introduced

by Kennedy. That Plunket told him he faw the

Pretender the Night before Layer was introdu-

ced to him.'

This Original Letter has fince been deliver'd

to your Committee, with the
b
Depositions relat-

ing to it ; by which it appears, that Plunket de-

livered it with other Papers to one Mary Faghan,

about Michaelmas laft, which was near the Time
of Layer's being taken up ; it is dated Thurfday

Morn, figned James R. and directed to Mr. Plun-

ket, and is in the following Words :

* This is only to direct you not to mention any
4 Thing of Bufinefs to any Body, till I have feen
4 you. I have not much Leifure to-night, expect-
4 ing Vifits •, but however I fhall be glad to fee

4 you alone, and agree with you the moft private
4 Way and Manner for your Companion and me
4 to meet. The Bearer Fr. Kennedy will bring

you very privately to my Houfe to-night about

eight a-Clock.

James R.

For Mr. Plunket.

Your Committee obferve from this Letter, as

well as from other Papers before them, what a

B. 24,. |*C. 70, 71.
Layer
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Layer farther faid, ' That Kennedy, inhisfecond

* Vifit, appointed him to meet him and Colonel

* Haye in the Square before the Pretender's Houfe
« at Ten the next Night •, that he met them there,

* and that they conducted him up a Pair of Back-
* Stairs to the Pretender.'

Before the Committee proceed to give an Ac-

count of the Converfation which Mr. Layer fays

he had with the Pretender, they think it proper

to obferve, that among Plunket's Papers were

found two foul Draughts of Letters, which are

fworn to be Plunket's Hand-writing, which give

fome Light to the Occafion of his and Layer's

Journey to Rome. The firft is without Date or Di-

rection, but appears evidently by the Matter to

have been writ to the fame Pcrfon, and about the

fame Time as the fecond, which is dated the 2?d

of March, 1721. (about ten Days before his and

Layer's fetting out) and directed To Mr. Jack/on,

which Name is found in a
a Cypher taken among

Plunket's Papers, and fworn likewife to be his

Handwriting, to denote the Pretender.

In the
b

firft of thefe foul Draughts are thefe

Words: ' There is one that fets out from Norfolk

' in a few Days to let you know they' (that is the

Tanners, which he
c explained to Layer to mean

the Tories) ' will ftand by you on Occafion: He
1 only frays for me, and offers to bear my Ex-
* pences, fo that I (hall wait on you, and have the

' Satisfaction to tell you by Word of Mouth what
* will be acceptable. He carries The Lift with
* him, no doubt on't you may have many fuch
1 now.'

In the
d Letter to Jack/on of the 22d ofMarch

are thefe Words :
' The Gentleman I mentioned

' to you formerly, is come out of the Country,
4 with Instructions to wait on you, and tender
' you his Service. He offers to bear my Ex-
* pences.'

From thefe PafTages compared with the e Letter

received by Plunket from Dillon at Antwerp, in

which Dillon fays, ' I have fent Jofeph Advice of
' your Journey, in which I wilh you and your
* Companion, tho' unknown, all Happinefs:' And
then directs him to apply to Kennedy at Jofeph's

Houfe for Introduction ; and compared likewife

with the Pretender's f Letter to Plunket, in which
he directs him not to mention any thing of Bufinefs

to any Body, till he had feen him alone, in order

to agree with. him the moil private Way and
Manner for meeting his Companion. It appears
to your Committee to be moft evident, that Layer
did not undertake fo long and expenfive a Jour-
ney on uncertain Profpects of private Bufinefs, or
out of mere Curiofity, but that his Journey was
concerted with the Pretender's Friends at Home,
and notified to the Pretender and his Agents
Abroad ; and that he carried over with him Ten-
ders of Service to the Pretender from Perfons in

England, as likewife a Lift of Names, which was
of fuch Importance* and fo well underftood and
expected at Rome, as to be mentioned by Plunket
in one of his Letters to the Pretender, without
any other Defcription than barely that of The Lift.

The Committee thought this Obfervation the
more neceffary to be premifed, becaufe Layer did
of himfclf own to them his giving to the Preten-
der a Lift of Names, and the Pretender's afking
him at a fecond Interview, what he had to fay in

relation to his Lift ; but yet endeavoured to ex-

plain that Affair in fuch a Manner, as your Com-
mittee apprehend to be no Ways confiftent with
Plunket's foul Draughts abovementioned ; nor
with the Expectations that feem to have been raif-

ed in the Pretender and his Agents, from Layer's

and Plunket's Journey.

Layer told your Committee, ' That on his be-

ing introduced to the Pretender by Kennedy and
Haye, as abovementioned, the Pretender afked

him the Occafion of his coming, and whether
he had any Credentials from People in England?
that he anfwered, Nothing but Curiofity and a

Defire of paying my Duty to your Majefty has

brought me hither. That the Pretender afked

him, what Lords he was acquainted with ? To
which he anfwered, None but fuch as he was
concerned with in the Way of his Profeffion.

That the Pretender again expreffed himfelf fur-

prized at his having no Credentials nor Recom-
mendations from any Perfon in England ; and
faid, This Journey muff have been very expen-

five to you, I believe it cannot coft you lefs

than five hundred Pounds. To which he an-

fwered, That a private Affair, which brought

him to Venice, would have defrayed the Expence,

if it had fucceeded ; but that being difappointed

in-that, his Inclination drew him on to Rome, to

pay his Duty to the Pretender, which he had
long had in his Thought, fo took this Oppor-
tunity of doing it. That one Plunket, who was
now mRome with him, had often told him that

he need not fear being introduced, or to that Ef-

fect. That the Pretender faid, He believed that

Plunket was a very honeft Man, and as proper a

Perfon as Layer could have had for a Com-
panion.

The Committee obferve, that what is here faid

concerning the Pretender's good Opinion of Plun-

ket, and Plunket's having given Affurances to Layer

of his being introduced, was not mentioned by
Layer, till after Plunket had been examined.

Layer farther faid, that the Pretender again re-

peated his Surprize at his having no Recommen-
dation from any Perfon in England; but faid, I

am informed by Francis Kennedy, who knows you,

that you have a good Character, and for that Rea-

fon you are welcome without any Credentials.

Yet your Committee obferve, that Dr. Blackerby

Fairfax (an intimate Acquaintance of Layer's) has
g depofed upon Oath, ' That Layer, fince his Re-

turn from Rome, told him, that while he was in

private Audience with the Pretender, a Scotch

Colonel broke in upon them, upon which the

Pretender took him into another Room ; and

that he, Layer, did there deliver his Credentials

to the Pretender.'

Layer told the Committee, ' That the Preten-

der, after the Difcourfe abovementioned, afked

him what County he was of, and what Gentle-

men he knew : That he anfwer'd he was of Nor-

folk, and knew all the Tory Gentlemen of that

County. That the Pretender afked him if he

could recollect their Names, and put them

down in Writing : To which he anfwer'd, He
could eafily do that, having brought with him

Memorandums of their Names. That accord-

ingly he drew up a fair Lilt of the Tory Gen-

tlemen of Norfolk, and gave the faid Lift to the

Pretender at a fecond Interview, thinking it

would be agreeable to him. That the Pretender

S'- B 23. B 38. C 41. e B 24, fC69 .
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then afked him, whether he would fee the

Queen (meaning his Spoufe) and promifed ihe

fhould admit him to kifs her Hand.
4 That about three Weeks or a Month after,

Francis Kennedy and Colonel Haye appointed

him to meet them at the fame Place and Time
as before, and introduced him to the Pretender

and his Spoufe. That the Pretender then called

him to him, and aflced him, Whether he had

any thing to fay in Relation to his Lift ? that he

anfwer'd, He forgot fomething which he had to

communicate to his Majefty ; that the Preten-

der faid, His Wife would go out of the Room
prefently, and foon after fpoke to her in Italian,

to withdraw, as he believes. That the Preten-

der then afked him, What he had to fay ? to

which he replied, I have nothing fo material to

offer as ought to have procured me this great

Honour and Indulgence •, but if there be any

Service on Earth I can do, I am moft ready.

That the Pretender faid, Whatcanyoudo? have

you any Acquaintance ? To which he replied,

that all the Perfons mentioned in his Lift were

entirely devoted to the Pretender's Intereft, and

all the Gentlemen in England the fame, except

thofe in Places of Profit and Truft, and that all

Parties were united in his Intereft. That the

Pretender then afked him, What the Gentlemen
were whofe Names were on his Lift ? to which

he anfwer'd, They were all Tories, and that he

had not put down any of thz Roman C&thoMcks

of Norfolk, of whom there were feveral, Men
of Eftates. That the Pretender faid, he belie-

ved the People of England were generally well

inclined to hisCaufe, and pretty well convinced

of their Error ; and then fpoke of the Difcon-
« tents occafion'd by the South-Sea Scheme.'

The Committee obferve that in the Cypher
which Layer received from Sir William Ellis, the

Names of feveral Norfolk Gentlemen are inferted;

who, they think it probable, made a Part of the

Lift delivered by Layer to the Pretender •, but at

the fame Time they think it a Juftice due to thofe

Gentlemen, to obferve, that Layer has owned to

the Committee, that, in order to magnify the

Number of the Pretender's Friends, he did, in

feveral of the Lifts found among his Papers, infert

the Names of Perfons, as well affected to the

Pretender's Service, without having the leaft Au-
thority from them for fo doing : And his falfe Af-

fertion to the Pretender, that all the Gentlemen in

England, except thofe in Places of Profit and
Truft., were entirely devoted to his Intereft, fhews,

that he made no Diftinction between the Innocent

and the Guilty.

He next acquainted the Committee, e That
* after the Difcourfe before-mentioned with the
* Pretender in relation to the Lift, the Pretender
' commended his Zeal, and told him, he might
* depend on any Service he could do him. That
4 he, Layer, then defired fome Token, by which
* he might obtain Credit among the Pretender's

' Friends of the Nobility in England, and ob-
' tained that of the Pretender and his Spoufe's

* anfwering for his Child •,' which the Committee
avoid repeating, the Account he gave them a-

greeing with that printed in his Trial. He faid,

* That upon his defiring a Letter to the Dutchefs
* of Ormond, for her reprefenting the Pretender's

' Spoufe, Colonel Haye told him, no Letter
4 could be lent by him, but that Care would be
c taken the Dutchefs fhould ftand. That he like-

wife gave him a Meffage to the Dutchefs, to

this Effect, that the Duke of Ormond was well,

and gone to Madrid, by which, he told him, fhe

would underftand the Bufinefs he came about.
4 That he returned to England about the End
of dugufl or Beginning of September jyzi, and
waited on the Dutchefs with his Requeft, add-
ing, that he hoped fhe was not altogether a
Stranger to that Affair; to which fhe returned
him no particular Anfwer, but promifed to ftand

Godmother, as he defir'd.

' That he then made Application to Lord Or-
rery to ftand with her, by Thompfon, whom he
took to be her Chaplain, and by Swortfegger,
Lord Orrery's Secretary, who underftood that

Lord Orrery was defired to reprefent the Pre-
tender. That the faid Lord fent to the Dutchefs
to know whether fhe ftood, who anfwered that

fhe did ; yet Lord Orrery refufed •, but upon
farther Acquaintance, and hearing that Lord
North and Grey had confented to ftand, he fent

for Layer, and made Excufes to him for his

Refufal. That he made ufe of this Credential
to Lord Orrery, to induce him to converfe free-

ly with him in relation to the Pretender's Af-
fairs, having heard that the faid Lord was in the

Pretender's Intereft.
4 That upon his being refufed by Lord Orrery,

he made his Application to Lord North and
Grey, as mention'd in his Trial, who ftood ;

knowing, as he believes, that he ftood for the

Pretender. That this Tranfaclion was the Begin-
ning of his Intimacy with Lord North and Grey.
4 That the firft Converfation he had with Lord
North, relating to the Pretender's Affairs, was
foon after the Chriftening ; that he then afked

Lord North, whether nothing could be under-

taken in the Pretender's Favour, his Lordfhip
being a military Man. That his Lordfhip re-

plied, he believed the Pretender had Friends

enow, if they did but underftand one another;

that the Army in general, and moft of the

Half- pay Officers were well inclined to the Pre-

tender.
4 That in July laft he, Layer, going down to

Norfolk on the Circuit, called on Lord North At

Epping, and again at his Return ; that he then

afked the faid Lord again, whether nothing
could be done in Favour of the Pretender ?

That Lord North faid, How can any Thing be

done, while fo great a Body of Forces is en-

camped under the very Walls of London, be-

fides the Encampments in other Parts of the

Kingdom ? That Layer told him, he found

moft of the Gentlemen in Norfolk that were

Tories before, Jacobites now ; that Lord North

and Grey faid, it was the fame in other Coun-
ties, but that nothing could be done till the

Camp fhould break up. That upon Layers
prefling him to know whether any Scheme was

formed, Lord North faid, What does your

Friend Lord Orrery think of Things? that he

anfwered, Lord Orrery was of Opinion, no-

thing could be done without a Foreign Force;

that Lord North and Grey reply'd, I cannot be

of his Opinion, I believe the People of England

may do it of themfelves.
4 That Layer vifiting him during the Vacation,

and flaying two or three Days at his Houfe,

continued to prefs him about forming a Scheme

;

that Lord North reply'd, We Soldiers do not

trouble ourfelves much about Schemes : Be you

,
quiet
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* quiet fomething will be done*. And at his * Ex-

amination before the Lords, he owned, « Lord'

< North and Grey faid, If there be a Riflng, you
« fhall not want Men, or Money, or Arms.'.

Layer farther gave your Committee an Account

of his becoming acquainted with Lynch, and of his

carrying him to Lord North and Grey, upon Lynch's

telling him that he had fomething to propofe to

that Lord, that might be of great Service to the

Pretender's Caufe. But in giving an Account of

what patted between Lynch and him at the Green-

man, your Committee obferved, that Layer took

great Pains to fhew, that he did not communicate

any Papers to Lynch till after Dinner, and that he

then only fhewed him Memorandums, tfanfcribed

out of the Prince of Orange's Declaration, tho'

Lynch has
b depofed upon Oath, that mention was

made in that Paper of Lord Cadogan's being

feized, and remaining in the Cuftody of the Con-

fpirators.

He owned to your Committee his having car-

ried Lynch to Lord Cadogan's, but faid, ' He
' went thither only in relation to the Purchafe of

1 an Eftate , that while they were waiting there in

4 a Room next the Garden, Lynch viewed the

* Garden and Houfe, and faid, I can eafilyfeize

* you this General : but he deny'd their having
* had any previous Difcourfe to this Purpofe, and
* faid the Propofal arofe from Lynch, and that

* he, Layer, was mad enough to make it part of
* his Scheme.'

He faid, ' That when Lynch and he came to

* Lord North and Grey's, his Lordfhip asked him
* who Lynch was , that he faid, he was an honeft

* Gentleman, recommended by a particular

* Friend. That his Lordfhip faid, I wonder you
* would bring him, you know I am not eafy nor

« free before Strangers. That however, Lord
* North and Grey entertained Lynch civilly, and
1 after Supper inquired of him, whether he was
' in the Army, to which Lynch anfwered, that

* he was bred up to Merchandize, but had been
* with the Pretender in Scotland, and had the

* Command of a Ship under the King of Spain
1 in the Defcent on Scotland, and enlarged much
* on his Loyalty and Zeal for the Pretenders but
' that Lord North waved the Difcourfe.

* That not long after, Lynch came down again
* to Lord North and Grey's to Epping , while
* Layer was there a mooting, and was civilly re-

' ceiv'd by his Lordfhip ; and that after he was
* gone, Layer making Apologies for Lynch's in-

' truding, Lord North and Grey faid, Lynch was
* a good honeft Fellow, and had entertain'd them
* with feveral merry Stories.'

The Committee obferved, That Layer m rela-

ting what paffed while Lynch was at Lord North's,

took fo much pains to fhew that Lord North and
Grey could have no private Difcourfe -with Lynch,
that he left no room for the faid Lord North's ha-

ving had any private Difcourfe with him, Layer ;

which yet is inconfiftent with his
c Examination

taken before the Lords, as well as with his Con-
feffion to your Committee , in another Part of
which he owns, that while Lynch was at Lord
North's, he, Layer, fhewed Lord North fome
part of his Scheme or Heads relating to a De-
claration, as he was walking with him in the
Garden, and that they had fome Difcourfe upon
it.

They obferve likewife, That what he owned to
the Committee in relation to his introducing Lynch
to Lord North and Grey, falls very fhort of what
ht confefTed to the Lords of the Council on the
fame Subject, previoufly to his Trial; For he
d then faid, ' That Lynch having told him he
* would feize Lord Cadogan, he carried Lynch to
' Lord North and Grey's, and recommended him
' as a proper Perfon for fuch an Attempt. That
' he had before- hand propofed to Lord North
' and Grey the carrying Lynch to him, that his

« Lordfhip made a Difrkulry'of feeing him, buf:

* that he, Layer, in fitted on Lynch' s being an
* honeft Man, fit to be employed in an Infurrec-
' tion for the Pretender, faying Lynch would do
' any thing his Lordfhip would have, him, if

' there fhould be a Rifing : That he was fit to be
' fentwith a Party to feize any particular Perfon,
' and that Lynch was impatient to fee his Lord-
* fhip, Layer having told him, that his Lordfhip
' was at the Head of thofe Defigns.'

Layer farther acquainted your Committee*
* That during his Stay at Lord North and Greg's
' at Epping, in the Vacation, he again prefTed his

' Lordfhip to bring Matters to fome Iflue in fa-

* vourofthe Pretender, faying, if fomething be
' not done fpeedily, we fhall all be taken up ;

' that his Lordfhip reply'd, Is not the Camp
' there ffill ? if you can find fome Expedient it

* would be well, it is more than I can do. That
4 Layer faid it was his Opinion fomething might
' be done even during the Encampment •, and in

* order to difcover whether Lord North and Grey
* and Lord Orrery had any Scheme of their own,
' he drew up a Scheme himfelf, and having fo

' done, lodged it with Mrs. Mafon, the Day be-
' fore he was taken up. That he intended to
' have communicated this Scheme to Lord North
* and Grey and Lord Orrery ; that he had fome
' Difcourfe with George Wilfon, Dr. Murphey and
' others on the Subject of it, before it was
' drawn up.' Being asked, who thofe others
were, he faid, ' He could recollect no one elfe

' but one who called himfelf Serjeant White,
c whom he faw in Company with Dr. Murphey at

« a Tavern, and inquired of him how far fome
1 Parts of his Scheme were practicable.'

Being asked whether he had fhewn this Scheme

to any Body ? he faid, ' He did fhew the Heads of
* it to Lord North and Grey, as he was walking
' with him in the Garden, and that his Lordfhip
6 faid, all was impracticable during the Encamp-
' ment: but that he never fhewed his Scheme to

' any Body, after it was drawn up in the Form in

' which it was left with Mrs. Mafon.' Which laft

part of his Anfwer, the Committee obferve may
be evafive-, fince by his own Account, as foon as

he had drawn it up in that Form, he lodged it

with Mrs. Mafon, and the Day after was taken

into Cuftody.

The Committee farther take Notice, That the

Accounts he gave when he was queftioned before

the Lords, whether he had fhewn this Scheme to

any Body, are inconfiftent and contradictory.

For in fome Parts of that
c Examination, he

fays, ' Lord North and Grey would not hear of

' any thing till the Camp was broke up; That
' the faid Lord would not fee his Scheme; That
' the faid Lord faid, he might keep his Heads

' and his Schemes to himfelf, for there was no-

a B.n,

Vol. VI.

B. 1,
C B. 11. A B.n. B. 11.

A a a « thin



348 194* Proceedings againft Bijhop Atterbury, 9 G. I,

* thing to be done •, That the faid Lord faid

4 there was Time enough for forming a Scheme

;

and yet in another Part of the fame Examination,

he fays, ' Lord North did not diflike a Scheme in

* general, but difapproved his Scheme.'

Your Committee beg leave to make the fol-

lowing Obfervations on thefe PaiTages, with a

Defign to fhevv the Infincerity and Inconfiflency

of Layer's Confeffions, and without prefuming to

draw from them any other Conclufions.

Firft, That if what Layer faid, was true, Lord
North muft have perufed and examined Layer's

Scheme, fince a Man that did not diflike a Scheme

in general, could not be faid to difapprove any

particular Scheme, unlefs he had firft confidered

and examined it.

The Committee obferve farther, that the Scheme

itfelf does not appear drawn up by a Man of

Layer's Profeffion, affifted only, as he would in-

finuate, by Murphey a Doctor of Phyfick, Wilfon

a Surgeon, and White a Serjeant ; and they can-

not but think it very extraordinary, that his

Scheme drawn up in Augufi or September, fhould

have fo great an Affinity with the
a Paper of

Refolutions, fjr the digging up the Arms, &c.

mentioned above, which was drawn up the. April

before ; and yet that Layer fhould have had no

fight of that Paper, nor have received any In-

ftructions or Affiftance from any Perfons, who
were privy to thcfe Refolutions which he has de-

clared to the Committee he had not. And the

Committee are farther confirmed, that the Scheme
was not drawn up by himfelf, from a Particula-

rity contained in a
b Depofition of Dr. Blackerby

Fairfax, who has fworn, that being for four or

five Years paft employed in reading Civil Law
and French to the faid Layer, he recollects that

Layer once afked him the meaning of the French

Motto, fince prefixed to his Scheme in thefe

"Words, Au defaut de la Force ilfaut employer la

Rufe ; and that upon Fairfax's explaining it to

him, Layer faid, it had been explained to him in

the fame manner by others. Neither does the

Scheme appear drawn up at a Venture, or merely

with a View of engaging the Pretender's Friends

in the Execution of this, or fome other Scheme of

their own, as Layer would infinuate, but feveral

PaiTages in it, compared with his other Papers,

make it probable, that the Officers, Serjeants,

Soldiers and Arms mentioned in the Scheme, were

firft engaged and prepared, and then the faid

Scheme drawn up, for employing in the beft man-
ner poffible fuch a Force as had been fo prepared.

This appears by comparing thefe Words in the

third Paragraph of his
c Scheme (' And as there

' is eight Serjeants, viz. Three of the firft Re-
* giment of Foot- Guards, Three of the fecond,
* and Two of the third, all ready at an Hour's
' warning to obey Orders)' with two of his Papers

taken with his Scheme atMrs.M«/o#'s, viz. d That
which contains a Lift of Thirteen Serjeants of the

Guards, and another ° Paper of Layer's Hand-
writing, which contains Eleven of thefe Thirteen

Serjeants Names, and Eight of thofe Eleven Ser-

jeants have Marks fet againft their Names: fo

that it may be concluded from thence, that Layer

had been able to engage but eight of the faid

Thirteen Serjeants, and therefore in his Scheme
he mentions no more than Eight Serjeants.

The Truth of this Obfervation farther appears,

by comparing Layer's faid
f Examination of the

1 ft of Otlober, with the fourth Paragraph of his

Scheme ; for in that Examination he fays that

George Wilfon had afTured him, that two hundred
of the Soilders in the Camp had been fpoken to

and were ready : and therefore Layer, in the faid

Fourth Paragraph of his Scheme, mentions only
two hundred Soilders to be ready, and gives every
one of his eight Serjeants the Command of Five
and Twenty of the faid Two Hundred Men,
From whence it may be concluded, that the Offi-

cer that was to feize the Tower, and the Arms for

executing the Scheme, were alfo in a Readinefs.

It is farther remarkable, that Layer intended,

as he owned to your Committee, to communicate
this Scheme in its prefent Form, to Lord North
and Grey and Lord Orrery ; and yet feveral prin-

cipal Parts of it are not explained as things new,
but referred to as Matters already known and un-
derftood by the perfons that were to fee it, which
could only be by previous Confultations on that
Subject ; for Inftance,

In the Firft Paragraph it is faid, ' Let the Ge-
1 neral and only one Officer of note in the Camp agree
' upon a Day for Execution ;' which muft have ap-
peared a moft abfurd Beginning to any Body that

had not had fome previous Difcourfe or Notice,
of feveral Officers in the Camp engaged in the

Defign. And the fame Obfervation will hold, with
refpect to the Paragraphs where Arms are men-
tioned as provided ; which fhews, at leaft, that

Layer believed thofe Perfons that were to fee his

Scheme, had heard of Arms that were provided.

In the Third Paragraph, George Wilfon is na-

med in fuch a manner, as makes it probable he
was already known to thofe who were to have a

Sight of this Scheme •, and the Committee obferve

that Layer g confefTed to the Lords that he had
told Lord North and Grey, that Wilfon was a

Fellow who had ferved in the Army, had a gene-

ral Acquaintance, and was fit to be employed if

his Lordfhip would make ufe of him ; to which
the faid Lord replied, that when he had Occafion

he would employ him.

In the Tirteenth Paragraph of the Scheme it

is faid, ' Let the General order four of the Half-

pay Captains' without any farther Defcription

;

which fhews that Layer thought thofe to whom
his Scheme wastobecommunicated, knewalready

of Half-pay Officers that were engaged, agree-

ably to what Lord North and Grey had h
told

him, that moft of the Half-pay Officers were well

inclined.

In the Nineteenth Paragraph, he allots part of

the Execution of the Defign to the Duke's Barge-

men, without any ether Addition : which is a

manner of Expreffion no one would have ufed in

a Paper to be fhewn to Perfons, who were entire

Strangers to the Affair.

Layer being in the Courfe of his Examination

defired by the Committee, to explain by what
Services or Merit on his Part, theShynefs, which,

he would have it believed, the Pretender expref-

fed towards him at his firft coming to Rome, and

the little Acquaintance he then had with Perfons

of Diftinction at home in the Pretender's Intereft,

came foon after to be changed into fo great a

degree of Confidence both at Rome and here, that

he fhould be trufted with negotiating Blank

Receipts, under the Pretender's own Hand, for

unlimited Sums ; he told the Committee, that

during his Stay at Rome, he contracted a Friend-
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fhip with Sir William Ellis, who is a Servant

of the Pretender's, and that at his leaving Rome

he fettled a Correfpondence by Cypher with

the faid Ellis, and acquainted him from time

to time how the Pretender's Affairs went on

here: but the Committee obferve, that this ge-

neral Anfwer does by no means account for the

Terms of Thankfulnefsand RefpecT, with which
a
Ellis writes to him from the Pretender, nor

lay a fufficient Foundation for his being admitted

to fo particular a Truft. He faid that in the

Courfe of his Correfpondence, he writ to Ellis

that he had got acquainted with Burford and

Symms (by the firft of which Names he meant

Lord Orrery, and by the latter Lord North and

Grey) and that if he had but Blank Receipts,

under the King's (meaning the Pretender's) own
Hand, he believed he could raife a confiderable

Sum of Money upon them, and put the Preten-

der's Affairs in a great Forwardnefs, by engaging

a confiderable Part of the King's Army in the

Pretender's Intereft, with the Money fo raifed.

That he did not name any particular Sum to

Ellis, but hoped himfelf to have raifed twenty

Thoufand Pounds by this Method. He faid he

received from Ellis only the ten Receipts taken

among his Papers at Mrs. Mafon's, that he re-

ceived them at different times by the Pod, and

that the firft of them came to his Hands the lat-

ter End ofJuly laft. He faid farther, he intended

to have tried to put off thefe Receipts among the

Norfolk Gentlemen named in the Lift which he

gave to the Pretender, but that he never had
fpoke to any of them on this Subject, nor re-

ceived any Afiurance from them.

Being afked by the Committee whether he
had fhewn thefe Receipts to any other Per-
fons, or had any Difcourfe with any Body a-

bout raifing Money this way ? he faid, he be-

lieved he had mentioned to Lord North and
Grey and Lord Orrery, his having fuch Receipts
in his Poffeffion ; and that the faid Lords told him,
they believed they would be of little Ufe, for that

People would fcarce venture to keep fuch Receipts
by them, or to have them in their Cuftody, or
Words to that EfFecf.

The Committee take Notice, That when he was
examined before the Lords, he prevaricated in

relation to the Cypher received from Sir William
Ellis, which he faid was an old Cypher, in ufe

before the Prefton Rebellion. But being fhewn
the Names of feveral Perfons in that

b Cypher,
with the addition of their Employments, which
they did not enjoy at the time of that Rebel-
lion, nor fome of them till very lately, he faid

that he applied to Plunket for fuch Names as were
not in the old Cypher ; tho' the Committee ob-
ferve, that the whole Cypher is in the fame Hand
with the Letters he owned he received from
Ellis, and that the Perfons defigned by late Em-
ployments are not added or interlined, but placed
in their Alphabetical Order in the Body of the
Cypher. Being asked by the Committee, whe-
ther he had feen or knew of any other Cyphers,
he anfwered in the Negative ; yet they obferve
that in the

c
Letter from Sir William Ellis dated

the 1 ft of Oclober, he defired to make ufe of
a Pattern of Lace of Mrs. Kinders, (which Name
he owned to the Lords to mean Mrs. Hughes,
Nurfe to the Pretender's Child) Sir William Ellis

having loft or miflaid his own. Now the Word
Pattern in Ellis's Cypher denotes Cut- Pa per, which
fhews that Layer was privy to another Cypher of
that Kind, in ufe among the Pretender's Agents.

He likewife denied his knowing any factitious

Names made ufe of by the Pretender or his Agents
for carrying on their Correfpondences, except
thofe mentioned in his Examinations before the

Lords; yet afterwards, upon being asked by the

Committee, who was meant by Jofepk in Dillon's
d Letter to Plunket, he confefled that he knew
Jofeph was one of the Names made ufe of to

denote the Pretender.

The Committee farther obferve, that the Ac-
counts he has given, do by no means clear up
feveral Paffages in Sir William Ellis's, Letters, par-

ticularly one in the
e Letter of the 30th of Jan,

in which Ellis fays, ' That Layer having read over
* feveral times the Paper he ftiewed him, and
' having a good Memory, Ellis does not think it

' neceffary to fend a Copy of it.'

Layer being queftioned by the Committee about
the Lifts of Names taken at Mrs. Mafon's, fays

he employed George Wilfon and Dr. Murphey to

enquire into the Characters of Officers and Sol-

diers, and that he received moft of the Lifts from
Wilfon, who told him, he believed if the late Duke
of Ormond were to come over, and Lord Cadogan
were fhot, the Soldiers mentioned in thefe Lifts,

would readily joyn Ormond in favour of the

Pretender.

That Wilfon made moft of the Marks againft

the Names, to explain what Men might or might
not be confided in ; from which Circumftance

your Committee obferve, that there were Perfons

in thofe Lifts whom the Pretender's Friends could

not confide in. He told the Committee, that

Roath or Roach in the
f

Lift N° 15, againft

whofe Name is fet 1000, is one whom he does

not know ; but that Murphey told him the faid

Roath or Roach, was a Perfon of great Intereft m
Staffordshire, and able to raife a thoufand Men.
That the s Paper N° n, at the Bottom of

which is writ Enquire of North and Grey, was a

Memorandum for enquiring of the faid Lord whe^

ther he knew Cornet Redding in the Service a-

broad.

Being fhewn the two Lifts endorfed h Briauett's

Lift, and * Lord Yarmouth's Lift, he fays BrU
quett is an eminent Tobaconift in the City •, that

the faid two Lifts only contain Names of a Jury
for a Relation's Caufe, but that he intended to

fhew thofe two Lifts to Lord Orrery and Lord
North and Grey, as containing an account ofMen
to be raifed for the Pretender's Service, in order

to magnify to thofe Lords the Number cf the

Pretender's Friends.

Being afked by the Committee what was the

Occafion of his taking away his Papers from Mrs.,

Mafon's, when he went down to Eppivg, and

what Papers he at that time took out? lie faid,

he only took out a Paper containing a Tranfcript

of the Prince of Orange's Declaration, and fome

other Memorandum Papers. He farther added,

that he was to have gone to Lord North and

Grey's to Dinner the Day that he was taken up,

and that he fent his Servant to the faid Lord's,

to let him know he was arrefted for High-Trea-

fon, that his Lordfhip might not be furprif d at

his not coming, and likewife that his Lordfhip
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might provide for his own Security: and before others, of which Club Lord Orrery was Chair-

the a Lords he laid, That he thought it reafonable man. That Plunket had named to him feverai

to fend this Notice to Lord North and Grey, ap- Perfons of Diftinction, as Members of that Club,

prehending that the Government would feize the whofe Names Layer repeated to the Committee,

laid Lord immediately, on Account of what had as contained in his
f Examination, annexed to

paffed between his Lordfhip and him. this Report. But the Committee think it a

It appears to your Committee, that Lord North Juftice due to feverai of the Perfons named by
and Grey did, in purfuance of this MefTage from Layer, to obferve, that the Matters afTerted of
Layer, endeavour to provide for his own Secu- Burford's Club in Plunket's Letters, feem utterly

rity, by making his Efcape. Layer fent that inconfiftent with the known Characters of fome
MefTage to Lord North and Grey on Tuefday the of thofe Perfons.

1 8th of September, the Day that he was taken Layer being asked by the Committee, whether

into Cuftody ; and Hugh Floyd, his Lordlhip's he ever was employed by Plunket to tranfact Bu-

Servant who attended him to Port/mouth, b has finefs with this or any other Club, in Plunket's

declared, that Lord North and Grey came to Town Abfence (which appears to the Committee to be

from Epping on Wednefday the 19th of September afTerted in g one of Plunket's Letters) he abfo-

(which was the Day after his receiving this Mef- lutely deny'd it; but admitted that he went often

fage from Layer.) That his Lordfhip did not go to vifit Lord Orrery, and had frequent Conver-

to his own Houfe, but to the King's Arms Tavern fations with him relating to the Pretender's Af-

in Paul's Church-yard, and there difmifTed him, fairs, and the neceflity of foreign Affiftance. And
Floyd, with Orders to meet him at four in the that Mr. Swortfegger, Lord Orrery's Secretary,

Morning on the Friday following, over-againft

St. James's Church in Picadilly. That his Lord-

fhip came at the Time and Place appointed, in

a hired Coach and Six, without Servants, and or-

dered the Coachman to drive on to Kenfington,

and then to Brentford, and fo on from Town to

came to him once and told him, that hordOrrery
had left a Note in Writing, that if Layer came to

Town, he fhould come down to Lord Orrery's in

the Country, which Invitation he underftood to

be with an Intention of their difcourfing more at

leifure about the Pretender's Affairs, having never

Town, and bid him, Hugh Floyd, have nothing had any Bufinefs with Lord Orrery in the way of

to fay to any Body, nor take any Notice that he

was travelling with his Lordfhip ; fo that in the

whole Journey to Port/mouth, he remembred no
Town but Kenfington, Brentford and Egham. That
the fecond Morning his Lordfhip proceeded on
his Journey, with hired Saddle-Horfes, without

Boots, with a Guide and feverai other minute
Circumftances, whiph may be feen in the

c Exa-
mination of Hugh Floyd, and d

others, in rela-

tion to his Lordfhip's Journey to the I/le of
Wight, and to the manner of his endeavouring to

efcape from thence ; which ferve to fhew the

Precipitancy of his Lordfhip's Flight, and of what
Importance he thought it to take Advantage as

foon as pcfiible of the Notice given him by
Layer.

I..ayer being asked by the Committee from
whom he received the

e Names found in his

own Hand-writing among his Papers, viz.

his Profeffion, nor any other private Bufinefs,

that could give Occafion to fuch a MefTage ; but

that he did not go down at that Time.
The Committee obferve, that a " Paper of

Memorandums was taken in the Book-Cafe of

Swortfegger, Secretary to Lord Orrery, which he

declared to the Lords on his Examination, to be

Lord Orrery's own writing, in which the Mef-
fage to Layer is contained, and Swortfegger

''

owned, that he delivered this Meffage to Layer,

and that he had fometimes feen Layer at his

Lordfhip's Houfe.
Layer being fhewn by the Commitee a

k Let-

ter taken among his Papers, figned J. Plunket

and dated the 8 th of November, 1720, owned
that he received that Letter in Norfolk from

Plunket now in Cuftody •, that it relates to the

Pretender's Affairs ; that by Plunket's Friend in

the faid Letter is meant, as he believes, Dillon,

and by his Lawfuit, the Pretender's Caufe •, in

which Senfe the Committee find the Word Law-
fuit frequently made ufe of in others of the in-

tercepted Letters. Layer farther owned that

Plunket gave his Wife a Letter of Recommenda-
tion to General Dillon, when fhe went to Paris,

which Letter was figned Rogers.

Being asked by the Committee, whether Plunket

faid, the Names of fome Perfons whom he had had any Conferences with the Pretender or his

Occafion to mention in his Letters to Sir William Agents, during their Stay at Rome, or had owned
Ellis, not being inferted in the Cypher he had to him his being employed by the Pretender in

from Ellis, he applied to Plunket now in Cuftody, England, he faid that Plunket had two private Con-

to know by what Names he fhould denote thofe ferences with the Pretender, and converfed often

Perfons, and that Plunket gave him the fix fictiti- with Francis Kennedy, Secretary to the Pretender,

ous Names above-mentioned; which Names the and with others of his Agents at Rome. That
Committee find frequently repeated in Plunket's Plunket has frequently owned to him, that he was

Letters and Papers. Being asked if Plunket ever employed in the Pretender's Affairs, but never

explained to him who were meant by Burford's explained to him by which of the Pretender's

Club (an Expreffion which is often ufed by Plunket Agents particularly ; and that he, Layer, never

in his Letters to Dillon, as will be obferved in its opened himfelf to Plunket in relation to the Pre-

tender's Affairs, after their Return from Rome.

Yet the Committee obferve, that Plunket in

Digby. -

Orrery

-

Regent.-

Tories. -

Whigs.

Rogers.-

Dillon.

Burford.

Steele.

Tanners.

- Waggs.

-Plunket.

Place,) he faid, that Plunket had told him, it was

an Appellation made ufe of by the Pretender and

his Agents, to denote a Club of Tory Lords and
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himfelf as privy to Layer's treafonable Tranf-

aftions, and grounds his
a Recommendation of

Mrs. Layer, on his Knowledge of her Hufband's

Merit and Induftry in the Service of the Pre-

tender.

They likewife obferve, that Layer owns he re-

ceived the Names of Bigby, Burford, &c. from

Plunket fince his Return from Rome, which they

think plainly implies, that Plunket and he were

privy to each other's treafonable Correfpondence.

The feveral Particulars above-mentioned con-

tain the Subttance of what Layer confeffed on his

Examinations before the Lords, and before your

Committee. And after this long Account given

by him, in which there appear fo many and fuch

convincing Proofs of the Confpiracy in general,

your Committee think it proper to obferve, that

though he affected a great Opennefs and Frank-

nefs, when fuch Questions were put to him as

tended only to a general Difcovery, to accufe

himfelf, or fuch as he knew were efcaped and fled

out of the Kingdom, yet when fuch Queftions

were put to him, as he apprehended might affect

or difcover any others of the Confpirators, he

always gave Anfwers with great Shynefs and Re-

lerve : and this Care to fiy as little as pofiible

that might affect others in a criminal Way, joined

with a Defire tofeem candid and ingenuous, often

produced the Inconfiftencies and Contradictions,

upon which the Committee have thought it their

Duty. to make the foregoing Obfervations.

Your Committee will now proceed to lay be-

fore you what they have been able to collect

from the Papers and Examinations ofJohn Plunket,

whofe treafonable Practices and Correfpondences,

as has been obferved before, appear to be fo clofely

connected with thofe oi Layer, that they give

great Light and Confirmation to each other.

The Committee obferve, from a careful Perufal

of the Letters and Cyphers feized at Plunket's

Lodgings, that he not only of late, but for many
Years paft, has been employed in carrying on
feveral treafonable Correfpondences with Perfons

of high Rank and Diftinction abroad ; that a very

great Share of Confidence has been placed in him
by the Pretender, and feveral of the moft confi-

derable Agents for him, and that he has been a

principal Actor in the late horrid Confpiracy,

and too much, as they have Reafon to believe,

concerned in the blackeft Part of it. And tho'

the Evidence againft him, in feveral Particulars,

is mod full and undeniable, yet his Behaviour

on his Examination was fo hardened and obfti-

nate, and attended with fuch bare-faced Preva-

rications and Falfhoods, that the Committee are

very much confirmed in the Opinion of his

Guilt, from the Pains he took to deny with fo-

lemri Imprecations the moft evident Truths.

Layer b
confefied to the Lords, that Plunket

recommended Wilfon to him as a Man of Inte-

grity, that Plunket went by the Name of Rogers

in Italy and fince ; and c figned the Letter which

he gave Mrs. Layer for General Dillon, by the

Name of Rogers. But the Committee obferve,

that Layer let them remain in the Error of be-

lieving that Plunket's Chriftian Name was James,
till the Queftion was put to him, on his fecond

Examination, in fuch a Manner, that he found

the Committee was already apprized of his true

Name, which he then owned to be John. He

farther owned* as has been obferved above, that
Plunket received a Letter under the Pretender's
own Hand at Rome, was twice in private Confe-
rence with the Pretender, converfed with Kennedy
and other Agents of the Pretender, had allured
him, Layer, of a good Reception at Rome, was
kindly fpoken of by the Pretender, had owned
to Layer his being employed in the Pretender's
Service, and his correfponding with Billon, writ
to Layer in Norfolk, in relation to the Pretender's
Affairs, and gave Layer fictitious Names for Bil-
lon, Lord Orrery, the Regent, &c. and among
the reft, the Name of Rogers, to denote him,
Plunket -, which fictitious Names the Committee
find all of them frequently ufed in Plunket's
Papers.

It appears farther to the Committee from d De-
pofitions upon Oath of Matthew Plunket, that
John Plunket came to him in July laft from Layer,
to defire him to meet Layer at the Ltalian Coffee-
houfe in Rujftl-Court, and named to him the fame
Perfons, as ready to head an Infurrection, who
were at fome other time named to the faid Mat-
thew Plunket by Layer on the fame Occafion.

That he e
farther afk'd Matthew Plunket, whe-

ther he was well acquainted in the Army among
the Soldiers? to which he replied he knew many
of them that had been with him in Spain and an

Prefton. That John Plunket then told him, he
came from Mr. Layer, and under the Arch goino-

into Brury Lane, defired him to pick out as
many Serjeants as he knew in the Guards to re-

commend them to Mr. Layer. That the next
time he faw Matthew Plunket, which was in two
or three Days, he invited him to his Chambers,
and there told him Mr. Layer was a very good
Man, and the only one he could depend on to do
him Service : That the Defign on which he,
Matthew Plunket, was to introduce the Soldiers
to Layer's Acquaintance, was to ferve the Preten-
der by difciplining the Mob, who were to rife in
his Favour. And that all the Tranfactions of John
Plunket, with him, Matthew Plunket, were, to
engage him in Perfon, and by his Acquaintance
among the Soldiers, to ferve the Pretender: That
John Plunket meeting him afterwards in Covent+
Garden, afked him what he had done, to which
he replied, he went on very well, and John Plunket
bid him go and tell Mr. Layer,

Matthew Plunket farther depofes that John
Plunket told him, the Bufinefs (meaning the In-
vafion and Rebellion) had been done before, but
that the French Ambafiador wrote to the Regent,
and the Regent wrote it to King George (or words
to that effect) and it was upon that account the
Army was fent to Camp.

Dr. Blackerby Fairfax has f
depofed upon Oath,

that being in Company with Plunket and one Jef-
Jereys, Jeffereys among other Difcourfe faid, Plun-
ket, give the Botlor a Cojnmifjwn, adding, Plunket
has Commiffwns, which Fairfax underftood to mean
CommiJIions from the Pretender; but that Plun-
ket anfwered, the Bettor does not wear a S-wcrd.

The Committee obferve, that among Plunket's

Papers was found a large g Cypher of Names with
fictitious Names over-againft them, " fworn to be
all in Plunket's own Hand-writing, which Cypher
tallies with, and explains an original

i Letter of
the 23d of July 1722, directed to Mr. Digby at

Paris, and figned J. Rogers, which was flop t at
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the Poft-Office, and is likewife
a fworn to be

Plunket' s Hand-writing. And feveral other Let-

ters directed to Digby, and figned J. Rogers, hav-

ing likewife been opened and copied at the Poft-

Office, and then fent forwards,* the Clerks who
were employed in copying them have fworn,

that, to the beft of their Memory and Belief, the

Originals of the faid Letters were all writ in the

fame Hand with that of the 23d of July, which

was flopped, and is fworn to be Plunket's Hand-

writing-, and the faid Copies of Letters, treat of

the fame Matters as the other, and contain the

fame fictitious Names which are found in the Cy-

pher fworn to be in Phuket's Hand- writing.

The Committee are informed, that it was

thought proper to flop but one of the original

Letters from Plunket, and to fuffer the others to

go on, becaufe it was judged that one was fuffi-

cient to difcover the Writer, and that the Per-

mitting the Correfpondence to be continued,

might help the Government to farther Lights in

this Affair.

The Committee likewife obferve, that there

was found among his Papers an
b
original Letter

figned Digby, dated the 20th of May 1722, which

is fworn by the Clerks of the Poft-Office to be

the fame which they opened and took a Copy
of, and which was directed to Mr. James Rogers,

at Mr. Arthur's Banker in London, tho' the Direc-

tion is fince torn off. From this Direction your

Committee obferve, that his Chriftian Name was

difguifed as well as his Surname. The Receipt of

this Letter is acknowledged in the
c Copy of one

to Digby figned J. Rogers, and dated the 21ft of

May O.S. 1722.

The Committee <5bferve, that the original Letter

figned Digby, is in the fame Hand with d another

figned Dixwell, found alfo among Plunket' s Papers,

and owned by Layer to be the very Letter fhewn

him by Plunket at Antwerp, as from General Dillon;

that the Letter figned Digby is alfo in the fame

Hand with * another Letter figned A. D. and di-

rected to Robert Dillon Efq; which, as your

Committee are informed, was taken on one Blunt

a Popifh Prieft coming over from France, and
owned by Blunt to be from General Dillon to his

Nephew. And the Committee farther obferve,

that thefe three Letters figned Digby, Dixwell and
A. D. are in the fame Hand with f another figned

C. Howell, found alfo among Plunket's Papers,

which Name of Howell is explained in Plunket's
z Cypher to mean Glafgow, whom the Committee
fee Reafon to believe to be Chriftopber Glafcock,

an Irijh Officer in Dillon's Regiment, who appears

to beemploy'd by Dillon in writing the treafonable

Letters figned by Dillon himfelf, as well as in

writing others of the fame Kind, figned by ficliti-

ous Names belonging to him Glafcock,

The Committee obferve, that in the h Copy of
the Letter, figned J. .R^n directed to Digby, and
dated the 5th of July 1722, the Perfon who writ

that Letter, fays, that his Fellow-Traveller's Wife
parted hence the Day before for Paris, and that

he gave her a Letter to him, Digby: which agrees

"v/ith'Layer's ' Confeffion that Plunket did give

Mrs. Layer a Letter of Recommendation to Dillon,

figned Rogers, and that he received from Plunket

the Name . of Digby to denote General Dillon,

which Name was alfo
k confirmed to Layer by

Lord Orrery to mean Dillon. But that Dillon went
by the Name of Digby is put paft all doubt, by
a Difcovery made by Mr. Craufurd, hisMajefty's
Refident at Paris, who being ordered to difcover

the Perfon meant by that Name, made ufe of the

following Contrivance, mentioned thus in his own
1 Letter.

' I have juft now found out, who Mr. Digby is.
4

I folded up a Paper in the Form ofa Letter, and
fealed it, and directed it to Mr. Digby at Paris,

then wrapt it up in a Piece of wafte Paper
with a Memorandum in it, to be informed at

Mr. Waters'?? Banker in Cbriftine Street, in what
Part of Paris Mr. Digby lived ; I gave it thus
made up to a fharp young Fellow who fpeaks
both French and EngUJb, and ordered him to go
booted and a little dirtied to Mr. Wdters's, to

open before him the fham Letter and read his

Memorandum, and to fhew him the Direction
of the Letter, and to defire him at the fame time
to fend fomebody with him, to conduct him to

the Place where it was to be delivered ; that as

foon as he fhould come to the Door, where he
was to deliver it, he fhould pretend to have
left a Packet at Home, and making as if he
would go back to fetch that Packet, he fhould
flip away from the Perfon who fhewed him thi-

ther. The thing fucceeded better than I expected,

fox Waters was not at home, and my Man acted

his part fo well, that Waters's chief Book keeper,

without giving himfelf the trouble of going,

wrote the Direction for him upon my Sham
Letter, in the manner your Excellency will fee

in the enclofed. The Book-keeper was very de-

firous to have the Letter in order to deliver it

himfelf, but my Man infilled to deliver it with

his own Hand, and anfwered boldly to fome
Queftions which the Book-keeper afked him,
pretending he was to return the next Day for

England.' The Direction writ by Mr. Waters's

Book-keeper under the Name of Digby was, A
Monfieur Dillon, Rue Colombier a. I' Hotel d*

Hollande; which, as yourCommitteeare informed,

is the ordinary Refidence of Lieutenant-General

Dillon.

Upon this Difcovery m Notice was fent from

France, by Dillon and his Agents, to his Corre-

fpondents in England, to forbid them making ufe

any more of that fictitious Name, as fhall be more
fully taken Notice of hereafter in this Report.

Notwithftanding all this Evidence of Plunket's

correfponding with Dillon, when he was exami-

ned, n he denied his knowing General Dillon*

or his having ever exchanged a Letter with

Dillon, or his Secretary in his Life ; he denied

the Letter to Digby of the 23d of July, flop-

ped at the Poft-Office, and the Cypher found at

his Lodgings to be his own Hand-writing; he

denied the Receipt of the Letters from Howell,

Dixwell and Digby, found among his Papers •, but

owned he had once received a Letter from one

Farelly a Popifh Prieft, formerly Governor to

the Duke of Berwick's Children, figned by the

Name of Digby, and relating to Stocks of Ni-

cholas Wogan's and others. The Committee ob-

ferve that in this prevaricating Anfwer he was

labouring to account for the Meaning of the
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WordS/or/b, which is mention'd in the Letter from

Dioby, but will be fhewn in the Sequel of this

Report, to be meant in a very different Senfe

from its natural Import, and to mean the Con-

spiracy only, and in Plunket's own * Cypher the

fictitious Word Brokers, is explained Agents. Up-

on preffing him farther to fee if he would own the

Correfpondence with Dillon, and acknowledge the

Letters the Committee had fuch full Evidence

were his, they found that, in order to avoid the

owning it, he run himfelf into fuch an evident

Abfuruity and Inconfiftency, as appears to them

a ftrong Argument of his Guilt.

b He afffrm*& the Cypher (which is fworn to be

his own Hand-writing) to belong to one Hugh

Thomas, formerly of the Herald's-Office, who had

lodged in the fame Houfe with himfelf; that he

had heard this Hugh Thomas own in Company with

Neynoe, that he correfponded with Dillon ; that

Hu<rh Thomas went by the Name of Rogers, and

that he, Plunket, found this Cypher and feveral

Letters directed to Rogers, among Hugh Thomas's

old Books and Papers. Being afked whether Hugh

Thomas- ever figned Plunket, he faid, not to his

Knowledge -

y and then he endeavoured to impofe

on the Committee, by telling them his own true

Name was Plucknett. Being afked what was be-

come of this Thomas, he faid, he had been dead

a Year and a Half, and that he, Plunket, could not

keep him alive. But the Committee obferve,

that the original Letter to Digby, figned J. Rogers,

is dated the 23d of July laft, and yet is in the fame

Hand with that Cypher, which he pretends to be

the Writing of a Man, who has been dead a Year

and a Half. They obferve likewife, that the

Letter from Digby directed to Rogers is dated the

20th of May 1722, and that moft of the Letters

direfted to Rogers (which Plunket pretends were

writ to Hugh Thomas) had the Name of Rogers

blotted out, and that of John Plunket writ over

it ; and yet he owns, he never knew, that Tho-

mas went by the Name of Plunket : Befides which

it is notorious, that Plunket himfelf went by the

Name of Rogers in Italy, and Layer has c owned

not only that Plunket went by that Name, but

that he figned Mrs. Layer's Letter of Recommen-

dation to Dillon, by the Name of Rogers, and

alfo gave him, Layer, the Name of Rogers to de-

note himfelf, at the fame Time that he gave him

the Name of Digby for General Dillon.

Your Committee are of Opinion, that thefe Cir-

cumftances laid together leave no room to doubt

but that Plunket writ and received the Letter a-

bovementioned ; the Contents of which will be

explained in their Place.

Plunket being fhewn a
d Letter without Di-

rection, figned N. Wogan, enclofing a e Cypher,

which is called in the Letter the Duke of'Berwick's

Key, he faid, this Letter and Cypher likewife be-

long'd to Hugh Thomas, who, he faid, correfponded

with the Duke of Berwick about getting Sub-

fcriptions to a Book ; which Matter, the Com-
mittee obferve, neither needed any Cypher, nor

could well be treated of by the Help of that.

They likewife take Notice, that Plunket owned
the receiving a Letter from Digby in relation to

the Aid Wogan's Stocks, and that Wogan'vs inferted

in Plunket's own f Cypher by the Name of

Xoland, which Circumftances make it probable hg
did correfpond with Wogan.

There is one farther Particular relating to this

Cypher, which the Committee think it proper to
remark to the Houfe, which is, that Plunket while
he was in Cuftody, dcfired a certain Book mi^ht
be brought to him from his Lodgings, but the
Meffenger's Wife, fearching the Book before fhe
deliver'd it, has % depofed upon Oath, that fhe
found in it this Letter from N. Wogan. And as
the Committee are informed, that moll of his ci-

ther Cyphers and Papers were found hid in the
Leaves of his Books, they think it probable, that
he fingled out this Book in hopes of recovering
and deflroying the Cypher that ferves to explain
his Letters •, the Contents of which the Committee
will now proceed to lay before the Houfe, and
to avoid Repetition of Names, where-ever they
can, will make ufe of the real. Names found in his

Cypher, inftead of the fictitious ones, by which
they are exprefTed in his Letters annexed to this

Report.

Among his Papers was fouud the h foul

Draught of a Letter, dated March the 22c], 1721,
and directed to Mr. Jack/on, which in his own '

Cypher is explained the Pretender. In this foul

Draught (which is fworn to be his Hand-writing)
are the following PafTages.

' I look, Sir, on your Law-Suit to be in fuch
f a Forwardnefs, that a fpeedy and happy Replica-
1 tion mufl inevitably enfue ; the Waggs, as well
« as the Tanners (which Names he explained to
4 Layer to denote the Whigs and Tories) feem
* convinc'd that nothing lefs can redrefs their Ru-
' in : Nay the latter is apprehenfive the former
4 will compliment you with it on your own.
* Terms, in order to engrofs your Favour for the
* future. The Precepts my Friend and I gave in
4 lately, have contributed much to this Emula-
t tion: We have more to give in ; and if they im-
* prove them as they have the former, you will
s have a good Game on't.' The Words Replica-

tion and Precepts are not found in his Cypher, but
the Senfe of the former may eafily be guefTed at.

He aferwards adds ;
4 The Gentleman I men-

* tioned to you formerly, is come out of the
( Country, with Inflections to wait on you, and
4 tender you his Service ; he offers to bear my
' Expences if I go with him: As I take it that my
4 going will be of more ufe than my flaying now,
' I believe I fhall accept of his Offer.' In k

ano-
ther foul Draught of the fame Letter, he fays (as

has been before obferved) ' There is one fets out
* from Norfolk in a few Days, to let you know
' the Tanners will ftand by you on Occafion, and
* offers to bear my Expences ; fo that I fhall wait
4 on you, and have the Satisfaction to tell you by
' word of Mouth what will be acceptable. He
' carries the Lift with him.' And in ' Heads or

Minutes of the fame Letter, he fays, ' Wag and
' Tanner will equally concur.— My Friend will
4 wait on you to tender their Service— Our Mef-
4 fage will pin the Bafket— You may have daily
4 Meflages of this Kind ; you will be courted, 'tis

« the Engli/h Way

—

*

The Committee think it unnecefiary to repeat

here, how inconfiflent thefe Accounts of Layer's

Journey, are with m
thofe given by Layer himfelf;
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and how ftrongly they contradict Plunkel's bold his Majefty's Sacred Perfon, of which mention is

Affeveration, that he knew nothing of Layer's exprefly made in
f two fubfequent Letters of Pic-

ket's, is left to the Consideration of the Houfe.
But the Committee, from comparing the Me-

morandum at the End of the z Paper of Refolu-

tions, in the following Characters Dif C. W. M,
with the two or three that are mentioned in this

Letter to be taken off, and likewife with JVilfon's

writ the Beginning of* the laft Year, and in it are Intimation to Layer, that if Lord Cadogan were

intending to go to Rome, before they fet out
b Another foul Draught of a Letter was found

among Plunked Papers, and is fworn to be his

Hand-writing ; the Matter of which appears to

your Committee very remarkable. It is not dated

directed, but appears plainly to have beennor

I had four of Count

my laft to you ; Mr.
the following Paffages

* Botbmar's Letters fince

* Burford had them all ; his Clerk gave me to un-

derftand they were fent to Mr. Jof— This

but (hot, the Soldiers v/ould declare for Ormond ;

and alfo with Layer's Negotiation about feizino-

Lord Cadogan, and with the Paragraph in his

Scheme for feizing fome great Perfons at their

made me not to trouble you. This only to wifh Houfes, fee Reafon to believe, that by the firftof

you a happy new Year. I hope it will bring the thofe Characters is meant Difpatch Lord Cadogan;

Law-Suit to bear, afore 'twill end; if they and by theothers, two other Officers of Diftinction,

would have Courage and Integrity, they may In the fame h Letter of the 21ft of May,

walk K. George out afore Lady-day next
—

' (and Plunket takes Notice, ' That John/on, an Acquain-

in another Part he fays, afore May come) ' He is

* weary of them, and thinks no more of (laying

* among them.' It appears from this Paper, that

Plunket had conveyed Copies of fome Letters of

Count Botbmar's to Lord Orrery ; that Lord Or-

rery's Clerk had given him to underftand, thofe

tance, was taken up the Day before, but had
4 burnt his Papers, and feemed to be eafy in the
' Matter ; and adds, I believe they will get no-
' thing by him/

Plunket being afked by the Committee, whe-
ther he was acquainted with George Kelly, alias

Letters were fent to the Pretender (from whence John/on, fa id he knew him by Sight and Coffee-

it may be concluded, that either Lord Orrery or houfe Acquaintance only •, that he did not remem-

his Clerk had a direct Correfpondence with the ber his having ever received a Letter from him ;

Pretender) and that Plunket was privy to fome and Kelly gave the fame ' Account in relation to

Defign for walking K. George out (as he calls it) Plunket 1 Yet a
k
Letter from Kelly was found

which Defign required Courage and Integrity, among Plunket's Papers ; and John Malone, who
and was to have been executed either before Lady- waited on Kelly at his Lodgings, has named Plun-

day, which was during the Elections, or by the ket in his ' Depofition, as one who often vifited

Beginning of May, which was the fecond Period Kelly there. And the Committee are fatisfied,

fixed (as has been obferved) for beginning the In- that they were privy to each other's treafonable

furrection. Simon Swortfegger, Secretary to Lord Correfpondence, by fome Paffages in the
m
Letters

Orrery, owned upon his
c Examination before the to and from Kelly, in which mention is made of

Lords, that he was acquainted with Plunket, and Plunket by the Name of Rogers, as will be fhewrv

had been in company with him and Layer at Mr.
Aaron Thovipfon's Chambers. And Plunket d own-
ed to the Committee his being acquainted with

Swortfegger, and his having been in company with

him and Layer, at Layer's Houfe; but denied his

knowing any thing of the foul Draughts of the

Letters abovementioned.

Plunket in his
e Letter to Digby of the 21ft of

in its proper Place. Plunket concludes his Letter

of the 2 1 ft of May with thefe Words: « The
4 Motive of my Journey is over at prefent, my
' Pocket feels it, the Man mull be fed with Mo-
* ney now and then ; the labouring Oar will, I
' believe, be laid on me.'

As he denied the writing thefe Letters, the

Committee could not draw from him any Expli-

May, fays, * I hope in a little Time Mr. Jofeph cation of this Paragraph ; but comparing it with
4 (which Layer owned to be the Pretender) will the other Part of his Letter, where it is faid, than

' be the Miniftry's only Refuge. Burford (whom a little Time will fhew whether Burford (Lord
* Layer declared likewife to be Orrery) and his Orrery) and the Club, would give fitting Encou-
4 Club feem to think fo : They will have a Finger ragement for undertaking the Job ; they think it

' in the Pye if they can •, I know they can come appears probable, that fome part in this Job is the

f in for a good Share in it, if they can have a lit- labouring Oar referred to, for which he expected
* tie Concert and Regulation •, there are thofe to be fed with Money.
* that will undertake to do the Job in twelve
* Hours Time. A little Time will fhew whether
4 they will give fitting Encouragement ; if two
4 or three are taken off, no matter how, King
4 George will go off by hook or by crook, and of
4 courfe the Lowty will be for Jofeph: This has
4 been communicated to your Friends.'

What is meant by the Lowty, does not appear

by his Cypher ; but by the Senfe, and the alpha-

betical Order of the Cypher, it is not improbable

but it may mean the Miniftry.

Whether the Job that was ready to be under-

taken on fitting Encouragement, and to be per-

formed in twelve Hours Time, relates to the rafh

Enterprize for furprifing the City of London, which

His next n Letter to Dighy is of the 31ft of

May, in which he fays, 4 He finds the Regent
4 had a Hand in keeping K. George from going
4 Abroad, fo that the Miniftry will carry on their
4 Game fifely and leifurely without any Oppofi-
4 tion whatever from the Club, or any of the
4 Pretender's Friends.' He adds, 4 Let them be
4 ever fo fanguine, they can do nothing as long as
4 the Regent ftands by the Miniftry : But fhould
4 Ormond come, with half a dozen Regiments on-
4 ly he would carry his Point, and make K.
4 George run for it.' This Paffage confirms what
hath been fet forth above, that the late Duke of

Ormond's coming over made a Part of the Origi-

nal Scheme, and agrees with the ° Accounts re-

has been already taken Notice of, or to the wicked ceived from Spain, of Irifh Soldiers provided there

and execrable Defign for feizing and deftroying for the Pretender's Service.
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Plunketjhen adds, ' If Burford (Lord Orrery)

4 and the Club have a mind to have K. George

* delivered up to them he /hall; there are thofe

4 that will undertake it, and offer to do whatever

« required: And in his
a Letter of the 4th of

July he fays, '——I can aflure you, Defpair has

< made fome to take a Refolution to lay violent Hands Carte Blanche from the King and Miniftry,

4 on K. George ; but there is a Stop put to them peated feveral Times in Plunket\ Letters ; and

4 at prefent: It is not the Pretender's Intereft, but however extravagant and ill-founded fuch Suggef-

4 you can't do fo always ; an ill Precedent is dan- tions were, yet the Commitee cannot but obferve,

c gerous.' tnat ms Reprefentations appear to have met with

The black and villainous Defign exprefTed by fuch a Spirit of Credulity and Delufion in the

to Hanover, the Pretender will have a Carte

Blanche from the Miniftry and King George, as

alfo from all the reft of his Friends and Foes

:

This I take to be the beft and fafeft Way, both
for the Pretender and his Wellwifhers.'

This Expreffion of the Pretender's getting a

is re-

thefe two Paragraphs, needs no Explication from

your Committee, who are fenfible the Houfe can-

not have heard them read, without the utmoft

Horror and Indignation.

He fpeaks of himfelf in thefe Letters as know-

ing the Men, who had taken a Refolution to lay

violent Hands on the facred Perfon of his Majefty ;

and was himfeJf fo far engaged in this execrable

Defign, as to fay in one of his Letters, If the

Club defire it, His Majefty /hall be delivered up

into their Hands : And in another Letter diffuades

it, not out of any Confcience or Remorfe for the

Crime, but merely for fear the fame Barbarity

fhould be retaliated on the Pretender : Yet this

Man ftill continues fo hardned and obftinate, as

to renew his Guilt by refufing to make the lead

Difcovery of his Accomplices, or to give this only

Reparation and Atonement he is capable of, to a

Pretender and his Agents, that not long after he
was vain enough to entertain Hopes of capitulat-

ing with his Majefty for the Crown, by that trai-

torous and infolent Declaration, againft which
both Houfes have fo lately exprefTed their juft Re-
fentment and Abhorrence.

Plunket's next
e
Letters are of the 4th and 5th

of July, 1 722 ; in which he has the Vanity to tell

Dillon, ' That he had been defired, by fomelead-
4 ing Members of the then Parliament, to ac-
4 quaint the Regent's Agent here, that it was
* now in the Power of the Regent and Spain, to
* fend away King George, and to fend home M,\
c

Jof. with a bonne grace, and much to their Ad-
' vantage ; that it was only to infift on the Stipu-
4 lation King George had made with them, and
4 they would have a fair Pretence to do it.'

It appears by other PafTages, that this fuppofed

Country which he has been labouring to involve Stipulation relates to the Ceffion of Gibraltar,

in the greateft Calamities.

He afterwards
b
fays, ' That tho' there fhould

« be a Rifing in mod Parts, if the Mob is beat

4 in one Place, the reft will go home and be

* quiet for feven Years more.'

His next c Letter is of the 21ft of June: In

this he fays, ' That Burford and the Club think

* themfelves flighted by the Regent and Miniftry
* of France ; and conceive, that the Regent joins

* with King George to be revenged on them. That
* he may have room to repent it early or late ;

* for fhould the Parliament be broke, and a new
* one called, he might find himfelf more emba-
* rafted than he is aware of.' He adds, ' If the

* Regent ftands neuter, they will foon bring
* the Law-Suit to bear ; fo far I am fatisfied of
' it, that four or five hundred Men, and as many
* Arms, with 1500/. will complete the Matters
* in a little Time, and give a good Account of
' King George and the Miniftry. The Army want
* only an Opportunity to do their Duty. This
* Scheme, if duly and difcreetly managed, will
1 give them an Opportunity to do it. Were we
1 fure the Regent would not interpofe, we would
* take it in hand forthwith.'

The Committee make no doubt but the Houfe
has prevented them, in obferving how exactly this

Letter agrees with the
d Accounts fent fome Time

before' from France ; that the Confpirators rec-

koned on great Part of the King's own Forces •,

and only defired the Regent that he would keep
himfelf neuter between the Pretender and his Ma-
jefty. And this Letter appears to have been writ
at the Time when Layer, Wil/on, Murphey and
Plunket were labouring to corrupt the Officers and
Soldiers of the Army.

Plunket adds in the fame Letter, « If the Re-

He afterwards gives an Account, ' That he
: did, both on the 4th and 5th of July, wait on
6 the Regent's Agent with this Meffage ; and
c fays, That as that Agent was acquainted with
4 fome of the Members of Parliament who im-
' ployed him, he gave fome Attention to him:
' But the Objections which the Regent's Agent
* made, appear to have been, That the Pretender
4 had not the Name of a Man of great Parts or
' Refolution : That he had hitherto no great Opi-
* nion of Burford and the Club •, and that fuch a
4 Procedure on the Part of the Regent, would
4 be a Violation of the bonne Foy. To which laft

4 Plunket replied, That it would be no Breach
4 of their bonne Foy to be grateful to thofe who
4 were their Deliverers formerly: However, Plun-

ket fays, 4 He convinced the Agent, that it was
4 now in the Regent's Power to make the Mi-
4 niftry and King George give the Pretender a
4 Carte Blanche ; and by fo doing, to make the
4 Emperor vomit up what he has now mFlan-
4 ders, without ftriking a Stroke. That the Com-
4 mon People, the Country Party, and all the
4 Engli/h Gentlemen might be brought to join
4 with the Regent in proper Meafures to do it •, or,
4 that if the Regent would but ftand neuter, they
4 would foon bring the Pretender's Law-Suit to
4 bear independent on any whatever.' Fie adds,
4 That he is fatisfied the Agent would write thefe

4 Sentiments to his Court; and that it isZW/oTz's

4 Bufinefs to let the Regent fee he has the fame
4 Sentiments from other People here/

Plunket being examined by the Committee, in

relation to this Letter,
f owned, he had frequent

Accefs to one of the French Minifters on private

Affairs : And that Layer knowing him to be ac-

quainted with him, alked him, Whether he could

gent and Court of Spain v/ill but ply K. George not find out, by the help of that Minifter, whe-
with large Demands, and bring the Czar down ther the Regent might not be brought into Tory

Vol. VI.
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Meafures ? and Stephen Lynch has
a depofed,

That Layer told him, Application had been made,

either by himfelf, or fome other Perfon, to one

of the French Agents here, to the Effect mention-

ed in Plunket's Letter. However, Plunket deni-

ed his having ever fpoke to that Minifter in rela-

tion to State-Affairs, or his having writ any fuch

Account to France.

The Committee, from comparing this Relation

of thefe two Converfations v/ith what he fays in

other Letters, of bringing the Czar down to Han-

over, in order to oblige his Majefty to withdraw

from England; obferve, that the Confpirators

were fo intent on compaffing their wicked Defigns

by any Means, that having failed in their Appli-

cations for foreign Affiftance, they were now la-

bouring to make France and Spain infift on the

Reftitution of Gibraltar, to throw Flanders into

the Hands of France, and to bring the Czar into

Germany, in hopes to involve all Europe in Con-

fufion, and thereby to pave the Way for bringing

in the Pretender.

In the fame b Letters he tells Dillon, ' Now is

* the Time for the Regent and Miniftry of France
4 to ferve you : If they do not, I can a flu re them,

* they may have room to repent it : For the Pre-

* tender's Friends will find Means to get into the

« Saddle, in fpite of the Miniftry and K. George*

He adds, ' That the Army, will not ftand by
* the King and Miniftry, againft the great Bent of
4 the Englijh Gentlemen, the common People, and
4 the Country Party ; who are fo incens'd againft

* the Court, that the leaft Accident would furely

* overturn what they have been doing thefe feven
4 Years paft.'

He then fays, 4 That his Fellow-Traveller is,

4 and has been very active fince his coming from
4 his Travels, and is more ferviceable than thofe
4 who move in a higher Sphere : That he is fpur-
4 ring on the Club daily, and has made many of
4 them more active in the Law-Suit, than they
4 otherwife would have been. That his Wife
* parted the Day before for Paris ; and that he
4 gave her a Letter for Dillon ; his Fellow-Tra-
4 veller thinking himfelf intitled to it, or any
4 other Civilities Dillon could fhew her, during
4 her ftay there.' He adds, 4 Your Friends con-
4 tinue their Preparation, and refolve to hold
4 themfelves in readinefs on Occafion.'

The Committee take Notice, that thefe Letters

were writ juft about theTime that Layer went down
to Norfolk. And they think the fanguine Manner
in which Plunket writes, is in part accounted for

by what Lord North and Grey c
told Layer, That

the Encampment had fpoiled the Project: But we
fhall have them again. And by his Lordfhip's

faying,
d Be you quiet, fomething will be done :

If
c
there be a Rifing, you fhall not want Men,

or Money, or Arms. And that thefe Letters and
Paffages make it highly probable, that the Sub-

ftance of Layer's Scheme had not been only feen,

but approved of.

Notwithftanding the Account which Plunket

gives in this and other Letters, of Layer's Pro-

ceedings, yet Layer denied that he had ever open-

ed himfelf to Plunket, in relation to the Pretender's

Affairs, after their return from Rome; and Plun-

ket affirmed, that he only knew Layer by Coffee-

houfe Acquaintance, and never converted with

him but in the Streets publickly.

Plunket's next ' Letter is of the 23d of July,

the Original of which being flopped, and beino-

fworn to be his own Hand-writing, the Committee
think it proper to lay the whole before theHoufe,
with the Explanation of the fictitious Names taken
out of the Cypher, which is fworn to be his own
Hand alfo.

A Monjkur Digby a Paris.

Under a Blank Cover to Waters.

July 23d, 1722,

* TK
Y the T 'me this comes t0 hand

' King
' D George's Agent will arrive there : I'm glad

on't, becaufe I hope all the Negotiations and
Proceedings of the Miniftry and King George,
will be laid before the Parliament, which will be
a Means to fend him to Hanover. Though he
thinks to bring the Country Party to approve of
whatever he will propofe to the Parliament •, he
will hardly even bring the Court Party to do it.

He thinks to difculpe himfelf at theExpenceof
the Dead. This I told fome of the Parliament-
Men ; they fay 'twont do for Love or Money.
Certain Perfons are forming Projects that will

diftrefs the Court of Spain, in cafe of War be-
tween Spain and the Emperor. Count Bolhmar
comes into it by King George's Connivance ; 'tis

now in Embrio : When it comes to Perfection,

I fhall be Mafter on't. I gave a Hint on'c
to the Regent's Agent ; he was not a little fur-

prized at it. They muft not linger much lon-
ger ; if they do, the Emperor and King George
will find Means to diftrefs the Court of Spain
and the Miniftry in France ; they muft haften
the Peace to prevent it.

4 My Companion, who has been in the Coun-
try this three Weeks paft, came to Town Yefter-

day : He feems to be fure of his Game, viz.

that Mr. Jofeph's Friends will run down the

Miniftry and King George, in a little Time, and
bring the Law-Suit to bear on their own Bot-

tom, and independent of the Regent, or any Bo-
dy elfe. I am refolved to know nothing of their

Proceedings j lam for having every Thing laid

before the Parliament firft, and then every Body
will fee we want the Pretender more than he
wants us. Both Friend and Foe will join in

any Enterprize that will be made in his Favour:
Neither will they ever dare upbraid him, if, on
any Occafion, he fhould look afquint on 'em
hereafter. I hinted often, the only Waytofpirit
'em up, was to convince 'em the Law-fuit

would be brought to bear without them; and

that by the Regent, and King George. The Con-

ftruction they put upon this was, that the former

was fubtle enough to make ufe of the Folly of

the latter, to play the Game to his own Advan-
tage at our Coft, and that he will govern Mr,

Jofeph, when here, as he does now King George.

This, or fome fuch Imagination, gave them an

uncommon Refolution ; and I believe they will

ftruggle hard for a Start in the Race of Flonour.

'Tis in the Regent's Power to make King George,

the Miniftry and the Club, to give Mr. Jofeph

a Carle Blanche : 'Tis incumbent on you to con-

vince him of it. I am fure his Agent here is

already ; for I gave him this Morning demon-

ftrative Proof, that King George defigns to fup-

port the Emperor againft the French King and

his Coff. and that without being feen in it.

3 B2. b C6o. 61. B 8. B38. B ii» C65.
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I ' would be glad to know how the Duke of

* Berwick does, and if he continues there this

< Summer. I have little to do in Town, fo I de-

« fian to go to the Country for three Weeks.
* The Town is dull and empty.

' We hear the Czar is in Motion, I wifh it

' may be towards Hanover, for King George

< would foon move from his Country Seat here.

' I believe Mr. Jofeph will laugh, when he'll

* hear of the Stratagem I made ufe of to bring

« his Friends to fo good Temper of Duty. I

* hope they will keep to it, which is the Willi of,

SIR,
Tour humble, obedient Servant,

JO. ROGERS.

In his
a Letter of the 16th of Augufi, he fays,

« The Pretender's Law-Bufinefs continues in the
' fame Plight. My Companion goes on, as he
» thinks, very fuccefsfully, and is confident he
« will bring the Bufmefs to bear in a little Time.

This Letter was writ nine Days before Layer
went down to Lord North and Grey's with Lynch.

Plunket fays in the fame Letter, c That the
* Pretender muft promife the Regent and Mini-
4 dry of France fair, and that he will be a faft

* Friend, when in his Power, and muft feem to

i rely more on them, than any here; that this is

4 the only Game he has to play at this Time.'
In his next b Letter of the 23d of Auguft, he

fays, « That his Friend came out of the Country
* a few Days ago, and told him that his Clients
* feem now to defpair of bringing the Law-Bufi-
* nefs to bear this next Term, except the Recent
« were made a Party, that he, Plunket, told him,
* in cafe the Regent were applied to in a proper
c Manner, he might be prevailed upon to come
* into proper Meafures, at leaft indirectly, and
< that without Breach of the bonne Foy he owes
* King- George or trie Miriiftry.' He adds, ' that
1 they (his Friend's Clients) are for any thing but
' under their Hands; and that if they mould ap-
' ply to Dillon, or the Regent (as his Companion
* had told him they foon would) they might fafe-
' ly offer at leaft to come into their Meafures, to
* flop their Mouths hereafter ; And he thinks,
1 with Submiffion, 'tis pity to hinder them from
1 plunging themfelves, as they did before.' He
adds, ' That it is in the Power of the Regent
* and Miniftry of France, to make the enfuing
; Parliament give the Pretender his own Terms
* and that as the French King is foon to be of
1 Age, he may do every thing with a good Grace
' and bonne Foy ; and fettle the Pretender fo,
' that it will always be in his Power to ferve
* him, and the Court of Spain.'

Plunket, who affumes to himfelffo confiderable
a Part in thefe Tranfactions, being afked by the
Committee, to give fome Account of his Life and
Education, c

faid, that he was born at Dublin,
and bred up when a Boy, at the Jefuits Col-
lege at Vienna

; that he is a Roman Catholick, but
not in any Orders. And tho' he endeavoured (as
has been obferved above) by his Drefs, Appear-
ance, and Behaviour, to reprefent himfelf to the
Committee as very inconfiderable, and no ways
equal to the Part he was taxed with, yet a arcat
Number of

- Letters from Perfons of the°firft

Quality abroad, were found among his Papers 9

in which the Committee obferve he is treated with
great Intimacy and Confidence. And in a e Let-
ter from the Lady Middleton, of an old Date,
Mention is made of her being to introduce him
to the late King James's Queen in France ; to

whom, as he owned to the Committee, he had
been introduced. And that the Truft and Con-
fidence repofed in him, ftill fubfifts undiminifhed.,

appears to the Committee, not only by his own
f confefling, that he did walk and converfe with
the Pretender publickly in his Garden at Rome,
but from Layer's Account, that he had two pri-

vate Conferences with the Pretender; and above
all, from the E Letter under the Pretender's own
Hand, which he fhewed to Layer at Rome, and
which has been communicated to the Committee,
as before- mentioned, in which the Pretender treats

him with fuch Diftinction, as to charge him not

to mention any Thing of Bufmefs to any Body,
till he himfelf had feen him alone; than which,

the Committee think a ftronger and more con-

vincing Proof of Truft could not well have been

given. It appears alfo by h
foul Draughts of

Letters taken among his Papers, that he writ

directly to the Pretender himfelf.

Mention being made in Plunket's Letters of

John/on, alias George Kelly, and fome Extracts of

Letters to and from the faid Kelly having been

referred to the Committee among Layer's and
Plunket's Papers, by which it appeared to them,

that Kelly's treafonable Correspondence had a

Connexion with the others, and particularly, that

he was privy to fome of Plunket's Tranfaclions

;

your Committee thought that their having a

general View of all the Papers relating to the

Confpiracy, might help to illuftrate and explain

the feveral Parts of it, in the fame manner as

Layer's and Plunket's Papers mutually confirm

and give Light to each other.

For this Reafon they moved the Houfe to have

thofe Papers laid before them, and to empower
them to take fuch farther Examinations, as might

be neceffary to lead them on in tracing out the

Source of the Treafons enquired into.

Having accordingly perufed thofe Papers, and

examined fome of the Perfons principally con-

cerned in them, they now proceed to lay before

you the Refult of that Enquiry.

It appears to them, that George Kelly, Clerk,

has been of late Years conftantly employed in

carrying on feveral treafonable Correfpondences and

Negotiations between the Pretender's Agents a-

broad, and Perfons of great Diftinction at home,

tending to the bringing in the Pretender with an

armed Force, and to the overturning the prefent

happy Eftablifhment in Church and State.

And here your Committee find themfelves

obliged to mention the Lord Bifhop of Rochefter,

as principally aiding, directing and employing the

faid Kelly, in the Profecution of his treafonable

Defigns.

As Kelly's Correfpondences feem to derive

their Weight and Significancy chiefly from his

being employed by the Bifhop of Rochefter, your

Committee will firft lay before you the feveral

Reafons that induce them to believe he was fo

employed, and the Part which it appears to them

the Bifhop has had in this Confpiracy.

»C 64.
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It appears to your Committee, from feveral
a Informations of Philip Neynoe, Clerk, formerly

mentioned, ' That George Kelly, alias John/on,
4 frequently told him, that the Bifhop of Ro-

* chefter held Correfpondences with the Pre-

4 tender and his Agents : That he, Kelly, was

« employed by the Bifhop, in writing for him,
4 and carrying on the faid Correfpondences •, that

* Kelly told him, the Pretender relied more on
« Advices from the Bifhop, than from any other

« Perfon ; that he had feveral times left Kelly at

« the Bifhop's Door, when Kelly went into the

« Bifhop's Houfe, and ftaid there an Hour or

* two, and upon coming back to him, Kelly made
« Apologies for flaying fo long, and told him,
4 he had been writing the Bifhop's Letters, which

* he always apprehended to be the Foreign Cor-

« refpondence of the Bifhop with the Pretender's

« Agents •, and that Kelly told him, the Bifhop
4 never fuffered him to take a Bit of Paper of the

* Bifhop's Hand-writing out of the Room.
' That he knows Letters were directed to Kelly, -

* by the Name of Mofes Hancock and Hatfield ;

« and that he has feen at Burton's Coffee-houfe a

4 Letter to Kelly from Howell, (whom he takes

* to be Agent or Secretary to Dillon, and em-
4 ployed by Dillon in the fame manner as Kelly

* was by the Bifhop of Rochefter) in which Letter

« there were Compliments to the Bifhop, by the

* Name of Naunton, which Name Kelly explained

' to him to mean the Bifhop. That Kelly has

* told him, the Bifhop of Rochefter went fome-
* times by the Name of Jones, that he had like-

* wife heard the Bifhop went fometimes by the

* Name of Illingion, which laft he was told by
' Mr. Carle, to the beft of his Memory. That
4 in the Letter which Kelly fhewed him at Bur-
4 ton's Coffee-houfe, mention was made of Manf-
4

field, which Kelly explained to him, to mean the

' late Duke of Ormond. That he has feen feveral

« Cyphers in Kelly's Hands, one in Figures, ano-
* ther of fictitious Names, in which laft, Carpen-
4 ten flood for Scotch Soldiers ; Sadlers and Sophi-

' filers, for Irifih Soldiers, and the like ; that he
* has feen Kelly make ufe of thefe Cyphers, and
4 that Kelly with great Freedom owned, that

* thefe Cyphers were for carrying on the Corre-
4 fpondence with the Pretender's Agents. That
« he had likewife feen Cyphers in Carte's Hands,
« who was alfo employed in writing Difpatches

* to the Pretender's Agents abroad. That he,
4 Neynoe, had been employed to draw up three
c feveral Memorials to the Regent of France, to
4 follicit him to fend Forces to the Affiftance of

«, the Confpirators, the laft of which was in De-
4 ccmber, 1721, and contained a Demand of five

* Thoufand Men to be fent to invade thefe King-
* doms; that the Heads of thefe Memorials were
4 given him by Kelly, and one who went by the

* Name of Walfion, whom he took to be the late
4 Earl Marifihal.

4 That in March laft, Kelly brought him the
4 Heads of a Letter, to be drawn up with a De-
4 fign of its being intercepted by the Government,
4 in order to amufe them into a falfe Security.
4 That he drew up the faid Letter in a Paper
4 writ Column-ways-, that this Paper was brought
4 back to him, corrected by the Bifhop of Ro-
4 chefier, as he believed.'

Your Committee are informed this Letter was

not intercepted, but that a Copy of it was fent,

about that Time, to one of the Secretaries of
State, from an unknown Hand.

Neynoe farther declared, ' That the Bifhop of
1 Rochefter, Lord Orrery, Lord North, and Sir
4 Harry Goring, were the principal Leaders and
4 Directors of the Confpiracy, which was firft to

* have been executed in the Spring of the Year
4 1722, by fcizing the Tower,' upon which the
' late Duke of Ormond was to have landed in the
' River; that upon the Difcovery of the Plot,
4 and the King's not going abroad, it was put
' off for fome Time, but that it was afterwards
4 refumed to be attempted in the tVefit.' Neynoe

farther added, 4 That Kelly affured him, the Bifhop
' got Notice of his being to be taken up, fome
4 Days before it happened •, and that this No-
4 tice was given the Bifhop by one of the Lords
' of the Council.' But he afterwards confeffed,

(as your Committee are informed) that in this,

and other Examinations, he had endeavoured all

he could, to create Diffidence and Suspicions a-

mong his Majefty's Servants.

Thefe Informations of Neynoe are contained,

great Part of them, in a Paper b
writ with I113

own Hand, and deliver'd by him to a Com-
mittee of Lords of the Council. The other Part

is extracted out of c Papers which he dictated

at his feveral Examinations; which Papers were
read to him Paragraph by Paragraph, and agreed

to by him before the Lords.

That Neynoe was intimately acquainted with
Kelly, vifited him often, and fometimes lay at his

Lodgings, and thereby had a better Opportunity
of being informed by him, appears from the
dDepofitions of Stevenfion and his Wife, Mar-
garet e Kilburn, Landlady to Kelly, and John
f Malone, Servant to Mrs. Barnes, who waited

on Kelly at his Lodgings.

That the Bifhop of Rochefter was acquainted

with Kelly, invited him to dine with him, fent his

Servants to enquire after his Health, and wrote to

him, appears from g Stevenfion's and Kilburn's De-
pofitions, as alfo in Part from h Mrs. Levett's.

But what gives the greateft Weight to the fe-

veral Particulars contained in Neynoe's Informa-

tions, is, that they are corroborated and fupported

in every material Circumftance, by feveral con-

current Proofs, as will appear from the Sequel of

this Report.

Pander has ' depofed upon Oath, that Skeene,

among other Particulars of the Confpiracy, told

him, that the Bifhop of Rochefter, in Conjunction

with the Lord North and Grey, had the principal

Direction of the Confpiracy ;
(
and that two Hun-

dred Thoufand Pounds had been raifed, and put

into the Management of the Bifhop of Rochefter,

which was called the military Cheft, and was to

be kept together till the Project was put in Ex-
ecution.

Your Committee are informed, that when the

Bifhop was taken into Cuflody, vaft Numbers of

Letters and Papers were found in his Houfe,
bearing Date before the Year 17 12; but from

that Time downwards, few of any Confequence,

except thefe which follow.
k One was from the Dutchefs of Ormond, da-

ted January 14, 172 1. in which are thefe Words:
' I refolved to fend what I received: For tho'

4
it had not happened to belong to the Perfon I

4 add refled it to, I was fure it could not be put
4 into better Hands.'
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This Paffa»e makes it highly probable, that your Committee will now lay before the Houie

h Bifhop ufed to receive Letters from Abroad, the Evidence they have found of the Bifhop's be-

dircfted by fictitious Names. Which is ftill fur- ing defigned by thofe two Names, collected from

ther confirmed by the following Circumftances :_

In the
3 Cypher which Layer owned he recei-

ved from Sir William Ellis, the Bifliop of Ro-

cbefter is defigned by the Name of Juftus.
_

Neynoe
b declared, that in the Letter which

Kelly fliewed him from Dillon's Secretary," there

were Compliments to the Bifhop of Rochefter, by

the Name of Naunton.

Amono- the Bifhop's Letters was found one di- tee of Lords of the Council, obltinately refufed

retted toMr. Dubois, not figned with any Name, to make the leaft Difcovery relating to George

nor dated from any Place,

ing Words :

Circumftances, which being in themfelves feem-

ingly minute, and of little Confequence, were

for this Reafon more frankly confefied by thofe,

who were obflinate in concealing ftronger Proofs

;

and yet at the fame Time lead directly to the

Difcovery of the Perfon meant by thofe Names.

Mrs. Barnes being examined before a Commit-

It was in the follow Kelly ; but when fhe came to be afked what fhe

knew about a Dog, fent over to Kelly from France %

not fufpecling this could lead to any Difcovery, fhe

readily
k owned, That a fpotted little Dog, call'd

Harlequin, which was brought from France, and
had a Leg broken, was left with her by Mr.

SIR,
* -p;Orgive my Silence. You eafily conceive

r * The Difficulties I am under in that Regard.

« I write this only to allure you of my fincereft &fr to be cured: That the faid Dog was not

i and unalterable Refpeft; and refer you to the ^ her, but for the Bifhop of Rochefter; and that

< worthy Bearer for News, and for every Thing, My promifed to get the Dog of the Bifhop of

which otherwife I mould have found fomeWay Rochefter for hzr, m cafe it did not recover of its

th f itinz to vou mvfelf I have heard Lamenefs. This Declaration fhe made and figned

« nothing°fro

W
m you fince the Letter I had about » the Prefence of the Committee of Council

:

< wo Months ago by Mr. John/on, to which I
And Kelly himfelf made no Difficulty to own

immediately in his Hand returned my Anfwer. the receiving fuch a Dog from France.

A Rumour has reached me of your having writ-

ten hither fince; but I can find no Body that

owns he has feen your Letters.

J am always, SIR,

Tour truly Obedient, and

moji Humble Servant.

Dec. 16.

But it appears to your Committee, by Letters

intercepted between Kelly and his Correspondents

in France (the Proofs of which will be fet forth

in the Sequel of this Report) That a Dog fo

named and hurt, was fent over to Kelly'from France,

to be delivered as a Prefent to the Perfon denoted

by the Names of Jones and Illington.

For in his m Letter to Howell (who is explained

in Plunket's Cypher to mean Glafgow, and has been

Your Committee obferve, That John/on is the obferved above to be Dillon's Secretary) he men-

Name by which Kelly conftantly went, as appears tions his having received the Prefent, and the Ac-

to them from feveral Affidavits: And that he was cident of a Leg being broken in the Voyage;

at Paris the 1 6th of December, ij 21. N.S. and fet and adds, i" will inform Mr. Jones foon of it, to

out in two or three Days after for England, as ap- whom I know any Thing from that Quarter will be

pears from the
d Pocket-Book taken upon him : very acceptable. In the fame Paragraph he fays,

And the Letter to Dubois feems to intimate fuch Mrs. Jones died laft Week ; and when the Days of

a Correfpondence as made it unfafe to write open- Mourning are over, he will, I hope, be fit for Bufi-

ly, and without Difguife. nefs. This Letter was writ on Monday the 30th of

Among the Bifhop's Papers was found another April-, and the Bifhop's Lady n died the Week
e
Letter, dated "Rouen, Jan. 15th, 1722. without before, on Thurfday the 26th of April.

any Name ; and the Superfcription torn off, Kelly in his ° Letter to Mufgrave, (which

Which Letter is mentioned to be fent by an ho- Name will be hereafter fhewn to fignify the late

neft Gentleman ; and the Writer of it defires to Lord Marr) dated the 7th of May, fays, « Mrs,

know how he may direct ; and defires to be di-

rected to by the Name of Wifhart, at Mr. Ar-

buthnot's at Rouen, which is probably a fictitious

Direction, no Name being fubfcribed to the Let-

ter. He likewife mentions a former Letter fent

under Cover to their common Friend Sir Red.

Who Sir Red. is, does not appear to your Com-
mittee ; but they find one Sir Red. Everard in-

Illington is in great Tribulation for poor Harle-

quin, who is in a bad Way, having flipp'd his

Leg again, before it was thoroughly well:

However, his Obligations to the Lady are as

great as if he had come fafe, which he defires

you to let her know.'

The Words He and His being relative to Mrs„

Illington, fhew it is a Man that is fpoken of:

ferted in Plunket's
{ Cypher, and defigned by The Bifhop's Lady was dead at the Time this

the fictitious Name of F/y. Letter was writ. And this Difguife of putting

Among the Bifhop's Papers were likewife found Mrs. for Mr. is frequently made ufe of in the in-

two 5 Letters from Captain Charles Halftead of tercepted Letters, and is confirmed by a parallel

Greenwich; the Perfon who, as has been men- Inftance immediatly following.

tioned above, was fent to Bilboa, to tranfporc the

late Duke of Ormond to England.

Some Letters having been intercepted, which
there is good Reafon to believe were from the

Bifliop of Rochefter; and " one of thefe Letters

being figned T. Jones, and another
[
T. Illington,

May the 9th, Dillon's Secretary p writes to

Kelly, and fays, ' Mrs. Chivers, (which will be

« fhewn to be General Dillon) prays you will

« condole in his Name on the Death of Mrs,

« Illington*

*B. Y.
h D. 10.
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It appears by thefe Paffages, that the Dog was lowing. It appears by g Mrs. Levett's and h
John

for Mr. Jones, alias Illington: And upon Kelly's Malone'sDepofnlon, that he came toMrs. Barnes's

writing word that Mrs. Jones was dead, the Cor- on Wednefday the nth of April, at eight in the

refpondents condole on the Death of Mrs. Ming- Morning, extremely fatigued, and went imme-
ton ; which fhews Jones and Mingion to be the diately to bed. Mrs. Levctt has depofed upon
fame, and both to be made ufe of to denote the Oath, * That Mrs. Barnes told her he was then

Bifhop. * juft arrrived from France, and brought over

On the nth of May, Motfield (who is the fame * Letters with him : That feveral of the Difaf-

with Mufgrave, that is, the late Lord Marr) * fected had been at her Houfe to inquire after

fends a
a Letter to Mr. Mington, enclofed under * him before his Arrival, and exprefs'd the utmoft

Cover to Kelly ; in which, after acknowledging ' Concern for fear he fhould be taken.' And
the Receipt of Illington's Letter of the 20th of '' Neynoe declar'd, ' That he faw a great Bundle
April, he adds, ' I did not expect fo foon after to * of Letters, which Kelly brought over from
1 have heard of a Lofs you have had fince •, for 4 France? Mrs. Barnes farther told Mrs. Levett,

« which I condole with you, and nothing which * That the Day after, (viz. Thurfday the 12th of
4 concerns you fo near can fail touching me, as c April) the Bifhop of Rochejler fent his own Coach
* in Friendfhip it ought. It is tho, becoming us, « to fetch him, and that Kelly was abfent in the

« as it is our Duty, to fubmit with Resignation, 4 Country till Saturdiy the 14th.' Two k Depo-
« to what the Juft and Great God thinks fit to fitions, annexed to this Report, fhew, that the
* order for us in this vain and tranfuory World

;

Bifhop of Rochejler came to Town on Wednefday
« but you know fuch Things fo much better than the nth, and went to Bromley on Thurfday the
* I, that will not trouble you with faying any 12th of April.

4 more upon it.' It appears by a ' Letter writ to Kelly from
This laft Paragraph feems to point out the France by the late Lord Marr, and intercepted,

Character and Function of the Perfon to whom that on Monday the 16th of April (which was the

the Letter was writ. firft Poft-day to France, after the Bifhop had fent

Motfield adds, ' I would fain hope that your for Kelly) Kelly had writ to Marr an Account of
4 own Diflemper will foon give you eafe •,' which his Negociations with Illington, and of Illington's

agrees with the Circumftance of the Bifhop's be- Willingnefs to be reconciled to one, defigned by
ing ill of the Gout, at the Time of his Wife's the Name of Hacket. Who Hacket is, does not

Death. appear to your Committee, but he is defcrib'd in

This Particularity, as alfo feveral others, which feveral of the Letters as a Perfon in ill Health,

will be taken Notice of, as to the Bifhop's being retired in the Country, and one in whom the Pre-

in Town or in the Country, at the refpective tender's Agents at Paris place their greateft Hopes
Times mentioned in the intercepted Letters, have and Confidence next to Mington. This Re-
been carefully inquired into ; and it appears by a conciliation with Hacket, Illington was defirous
h Paper annexed to the Report, that thefe feveral might be kept fecret for fome Time, that it might
Circumftances do exactly agree with what is men- not be known they acted in concert,

tioned in the Letters. It appears by another ra Letter to Kelly from
Kelly

c
writing to Mufgrave (the late Lord Dillon's Secretary at Paris, that Illington had writ

Marr) the 7th of .My> fays, Mrs. Jones is come a myfterious Letter thither, and that Kelly had
to Town : The fame Day writing to Cbivers (Dillon) writ a fubfequent one in Explanation of it, which
he fays Mr. Illington is now in Town ; which a- had been fhewn to Dillon.

gain confirms Jones and Illington to be the fame, The firft
n Letter that was intercepted from KeU

and agrees with the Inquiry made at that Time. ly himfelf, was dated the 22dof April, figned James
On the 10th of May, Kelly

d
writes to Dillon's Johnfon (the Name he always went by, and often

Secretary, Illington is gone into the Country, and figned by) and directed to Gordon junior, Banker
fent me word he would be in Town on Tuefday at Boulogne, at whofe Houfe it is probable he had
Night, when he has defired to fee me at a parti- been entertained in his laft Return from Paris ;

cular Hour, by which I conclude it may be about which Gordon is mentioned in a ° Letter from Mr.
Bufinefs. And on Monday the 14th of May, (the Craufurd, as being formerly the Pretender's

Day before, it is faid, Illington wascome to Town) Banker, and as one employed in hiring a VefTel
c writing to the fame Perfon, he fays, Jones is ftill to tranfport fome of the Chiefs of the Confpiracy

in the Country, but has fent me word he will be to England. In this Letter to Gordon, Kelly re-

in Town to-morrow. commends to his Care a Packet enclofed.

Thefe feveral Circumftances, join*d to Neynoe's This Packet was directed to Mr. Chivers (which
Declaration, that Kelly had told him, the Bifhop will be proved to be Dillon) and confifted of three

went fometimes by the Name of Jones, and that Letters, one to Chivers himfelf, figned 'it. Jones,

Carte had told him, the Bifhop went by the Name another to Mufgrave (which will be prov'd to be

of Illington, fhew, that wherever Jones and Filing- Marr) fign'd T. Illington, a third to Mr. Jackfon
ton are named in Kelly's Correfpondence, the Bi- (which will be proved to be the Pretender) fignM
lhop of Rochejler is to be underftood by thofe 1378, which Number is foiihd by the Decypherers,

Names. to denote the proper Name of a Perfon begin-

Your Committee therefore will next proceed to ning with the Letter R, in the Cypher made ufe

Jay before you the Part which Jones or Illington of in thefe three Letters, the Order of which,

appear to have borne in the treafonable Corre-- as your Committee is inforfn'd, is -alphabetical,

fpondence. All the three Letters were dated the 20th of

Ir appears by Kelly's
f Pocket-Book, that Kelly April, and appear by '-the Matter to-be from the

fet out for Paris on the 22d of February 1721-2, fame Perfon, which prove 1378 to be the fame

and return'd to London about the 8th of April fo\- with Jones and Illington, The Letters to Muf-

'D.24. b D47. «E.4Z, *-E. 44.
e E 45; 'E 17. EE6. f>E. 15.

J E. 9. k 0.47.48. l Di$. ,n D. 14. n E. 26, • A. 9.
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grave and Jack/on were enclofed in that to

Chivers.

The Perfon who dictated thefe Letters fpeaks

ofhimfelf as being in ill Health, in great Pain,

under fome fad and melancholy Circumftances,

which made him uncapable of doing any thing

regularly at that time, but which he expected

would foon blow over; which agrees with the

Bifhop's
a Circumftances at that time, whofe Wife

was extremely ill, and died fix days after, and

he himfelf, as has been obferved before, was at

that time afflicted with the Gout.

The Letter to Chivers is a great part of it out of

Cypher, and with the Decyphering is in the fol-

lowing Words.

SIR, 20th of April 1 y it.

J
Ought to acknowledge in form the feveral

Papers I have fucceffively receiv'd from you,

if I were capable at prefent of doing any thing

regularly •, but indeed I am not, as Hatfield

well knows, and why I am not. Some time

muft pafs before I am any way capable of Bu-

finefs ; in the mean time you are in the right to

prefs the Gentlemen concerned by all manner
of ways you can think of, to furnifh, what by
being hitherto not fupply'd, has render'd the

thing impracticable. They were defirous of
having that Matter intirely in their own Ma-
nagement, and I not unwilling that they fhould

have it, being always diffident of Succefs on
my part upon Interpofitions of that kind; and
therefore it gave me no concern to be fo freely

excufed from any Share (as I was for a great

while) in that trouble. At laft indeed, when
the point was found upon trial to be more dif-

ficult than they expected, I was prefs'd to under-

take the Matter ; but fo late that I did not

think it reafonable for me then to interpofe,

nor can I yet undertake any thing of that kind,

it being what (fince fome former Mifmanage-
ment wherein I was deeply concerned) I have
conftantly declined, hoping that I might not be
altogether unufeful to the Service, if I went on
to promote it in my own, that is, in another
way. I ftill hope fo, and that a little time
(which muft be employed in doing nothing but
folliciting Supplies) will give me room for en-

tring into Meafures that may be fomewhat more
fignificant than thofe formerly taken ; this I

fhall endeavour, being at prefent perfectly tired

by the diffracting Meafures which have been
taken from feveral Quarters, by Perfons no
ways equal to the Work, and at the fame time
not agreeing among themfelves. This is all I

can fay at prefent, but that I am, with the fame
entire Refpect and Fidelity I ever was,

S I R, lour mojl, &c.

T. Jones.

* I have communicated the Copies ofMr. Mans-
field's and Jacob's Letters, which befides the
' G : , ( whereof they had a
Copy) were the only ones of thofe tranfmitted,

that I was directed, or indeed thought proper fo

to do. Tho' I have for fome time thought,
that nothing of Importance fhould be trufted to

the Poft, and am refolved myfelf not to fend

that way ; yet the Death of Lord Sunderland

' makes fuch a Caution more indifpenfibly necef-
« fary •, for you may depend upon't, that thofe
* in Power here will now enter into Meafures cf
* more Severity and Strictnefs, and employ all

* their Diligence, as well as Power, on fuch Oc-
1 cafions.'

That Chivers, to whom this Letter was di-

rected, means General Dillon, is evident from the
following Circumftances.

On the 13th of May, Cane c writing to Kelly,

owns the Receipt of thefe Letters from the Bifhop,
but over-againft the Name of Cane in Plunket's
d Cypher, is writ Dillon and Kelly

e anfwering
this very Letter of Cane's, directs to Chivers.

Befides which, it appears from innumerable Paf-
fages that Cane and Chivers mean the fame with
Digby and Dixwell, which have been fhewn at
large to denote General Dillon.

The Bifhop's Letter to Mufgrave (who will be
prov'd to be the late Lord Marr) is as follows:

To Mr. Mufgrave.

SIR, April the 20th 1722,

I
Received from Mr. Hatfield (after a long In-

termiffion of fuch Favours) a Letter which
was very welcome to me : I havealfo confider'd

carefully what he had to offer to me in particu-

lar, and intirely agree with what is propofed

;

but my prefent fad Circumftances (of which
he has already inform'd you) will not fuffer me to

be active foon, or even fet forward the Affairs

entrufted with me in fo fpeedy a manner as I

could wifh. The beft is, that as I cannot act

openly, fo neither is there, I think, any imme-
diate Need of it, fome time being requifite to-

wards ripening Matters, in order to fix the
f C : >d, which, if haftily be-

gun, may be attended with Sufpicions and o-

ther Inconveniencys j but you may depend up-
on it that the

f
: : s committed

to my care, fhall be forwarded in due time to

the Perfons concerned, as alfo all fuch other
f

: s as I judge, and at the time I judge,

they will beft promote the Service. What is

to be wifh'd for, is, that the Perfon whom I

am to act with, would come to Town, and his

doing fo may be facilitated better from your

fide, than by any thing that can be done here

;

by that time he comes, I hope I fhall be able

to take my part with him. I add no more now,
being very unfit to fay even thus much, but

that I am with entire Refpect and Confidence,

SIR, &c.

T. Illington.

That Mufgrave (to whom this Letter was di-

rected) means Marr, is thus proved.

Dillon's Secretary e writes to Kelly that Mr.
Lane (over-againft which Name in

h
Plunket's Cy-

pher is writ Lord Marr) was much pleafed with

his firft Letter, which, as has been obferved be-

fore, was writ on the 1 6th of April.

Soon after a Perfon s writes to Kelly, acknow-

ledging the Receipt of this Letter of the 16th of

April, and expreffing his Satisfaction at Illington'

s

Willingnefs to be reconciled with Hacket ; his

Letter is fign'd 918, which Number is found by

t

a
0.47.48. b Not decyphered.

! E. 32.

E. 38. ^C.51. fE.41.2. f Not decyphered. 6E.30.

the



362 194* Proceedings againft Bijhop Atterbury, 9 G. I.

the Decypherers to denote the proper Name of a

Perfon beginning with the Letter M, and Kelly
a anfwering this Letter directs to Mufgrave.

Befides which, Mufgrave is found to be a Per-

fon, whofe Penfion is faid to be ftopt in England,

at the very time that a b Penfion granted to the

late Lord Marr was ftopt, and is fpoken of in

other c
Letters as one fufpected of betraying

them, with fuch Circumftances as fix the Perfon

meant to be the late Lord Marr.
The Bifhop's Letter to Jackfon (who will be

proved to mean the Pretender) is as follows

:
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To Mr. Jackfon, under the Cover of
M. Gordon le fils, Banquier a

Boulogne fur Mer„

SIR, April the 20th, 1722.

I
AM forry to find by yours, which Hatfield

brought, that you know our Circumftances

on this fide fo well, becaufeThat Knowledge
does not, I apprehend, give you any advantage-

ous Opinion of us ; however let that be as it

will, 'tis not fit you mould be deceiv'd, and re-

ly on more than will be made good to you :

ifyou guefs'd at my right Mind, I dare fay, it

was agreeable to your own, and that you could

not but fee thro' the forwardnefs of all thofe un-

fupported pretending People. Notwithftanding
this Opportunity is elapfed, I agree with you
another may offer before the end of the Year,

tho' not perhaps every way fo favourable : how-
ever it became me to fpeak ftrongly on that

head, cfpecially at the time when the d :.....

.

was drawn, which was long before it was tranf-

mitted, for it was kept back a great while, in

hopes that Deeds might have accompany'd
Words, and fent at laft rather to juftify the

Writer in refpect to that part he had under-

taken, than to pufh on any Defign in fo un-
provided a Condition. I find I was not miftaken
and am glad I was not fo, tho' every Word of
that d

: ...... paffcd the View and Appro-
bation of the Perfons concerned, but they were
to be and fhall always be by me treated ten-

derly ; tho' nothing fhall engage me to enter

deep with them for the future. I had taken this

Resolution before Hatfield's Return, and am plea-

fed to find that you concur with me in Opinion.
As foon as God reftores me to my Health, and
fome other melancholy Circumftances are blown
over, which will be as foon as there is any oc-

cafion for me, I will not be idle : in the mean
time give me leave to withdraw myfelf feem-
ingly from any Engagement of this kind ; I

fhall return to it, I doubt not, with more Abi-
lity to promote the Work: not that I will

decline any proper Occafions that may offer

themfelves to converfe freely with the Men and
in the manner I have been ufed to do, for it is

fit upon all Accounts I fhould do fo ; but by
little and little that Confidence will cool, and
make room, I hope, for fomewhat of a more
folid and important Nature. I dictate this in

great Pain, and for that Reafon, and becaufe I

am not at prefent in any readinefs to go fur-

ther, fhall. add only my faithful Affurances of
an entire .and unalterable Refpect for you.

That Jackfon (to whom this Letter is directed)
means the Pretender, appears from e

Plunkefs
Cypher, in which, over-againft the Name ofJack-
fon, is writ, the King ; tho' two Names had gone
before in that Cypher, over-againft which is writ,
King George.

_
Befides which, f Plunked Letter mentioning

his and Layer's Journey to Rome, is directed to
Mr. Jackfon; and Jackfon appears from other
Letters to be the fame with Malcom, to whom
Application is made in a g Letter from Edinburgh,
for a Patent for Knight Baronet, and for Orders
to raife one or two Battalions.

The Cypher made ufe of in thefe three Let-
ters is the very fame that is made ufe of in two
Letters intercepted from the late Duke of Ormonde
Agents in Spain, of which Notice has been al-
ready taken. And the fame Cypher is alfo ufed
in Letters from George Kelly, and to Dennis Kelly.

And among the Papers of the latter was found a
h

Piece of a Cypher in George Kelly's Hand-
writing, which your Committee are inform'd is a
Supplement to the Cypher made ufe of in Jones
and Illington's Letters.

The Clerks of the Port-Office, who opened and
copied thefe Letters, having been fhewn feveral
Papers fworn to be George Kelly's Hand-writing,
have i depofed upon Oath, that the Letter to
Gordon junior, figned James Johnfon, as well as
the three Letters enclos'd in it, directed to Chivers,
Mufgrave and Jackfon, were all, to the beft of
their Knowledge and Belief, writ in the fame
Hand with thofe Papers; which join'd to

k
Ney-

noe's Information, that Kelly had told him, he
was employ'd in writing Letters for the Bifhop
to the Pretender's Agents abroad ; that the Bifhop
never let him carry a Bit of his Hand-writing out
of the Room ; and that Kelly made ufe both of a
numerical Cypher, and a Cypher of fictitious
Names, for managing this treafonable Corre-
fpondence ; appears to be a ftrong Confirmation
that thefe three Letters were dictated to Kelly by
the Bifhop, and that the Bifhop is the Perfon de-
noted by the Names of Jones and Illington, and
by the Cypher 1378.

In what manner thefe Letters were convey'd to
Paris, will be obferv'd in that part of the Re-
port which relates to Kelly. The Correfpondents
at Paris ' own the Receipt of the Packet from
their Coufin Jones; and on the 7th ofMay, Kelly
™ writes Dillon word, that Illington is glad to hear
his Letters came fafe, and wifhes his next be more
to Dillon's Satisfaction.

Your Committee having thus laid before you
the Grounds they have to be convinced, that thefe
three Letters were fent from the Bifhop of Ro-
chejler to General Dillon, the late Lord Marr, and
the Pretender ; they think it their Duty to make
fome Obfervations on the Contents of them.
They obferve from his Letter to Dillon,' that

he has contracted a great Intimacy and Familiarity
with a profefs'd Roman Catholick, who appear'd
openly in Arms againft the late King William in
Ireland, and being obliged to leave that Country
fo long ago as the Capitulation of Limerick, has
ever fince adher'd to the fame Caufe in foreign
Parts, and is at prefent more active and induftri-
ous than any other of the Pretender's Agents in
exciting a Rebellion in thefe Kingdoms. lie is at
this time a Lieutenant- General, and has the Com-

* E.42.
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mand of one of the Irijh Regiments in the French

Service.

Your Committee obferve, That as the different

Profeffions of thefe two Perfons could lay no fort

of Foundation for any Intimacy or Intercourfe be-

tween them, fo the long Abfence of General Dillon

makes it highly probable, that their Acquaintance

could not be commenced before his leaving thefe

Kingdoms ; and that it can only have proceeded

from their being long united and confederated in

the common Support of the fame wicked Caufe.

Yet their Intimacy is fuch, that the Bifhop ac-

knowledges the Receipt of feveral Papers from

Dillon, together with Directions of communicating

them, which the Bifhop owns he obey'd as far as

he judg'd it proper for the Service. Some of thefe

Papers appear to have been from the late Duke of

Ormond, who is attainted •, and others probably

from the Pretender, whom he has fo often ab-

jured.

He advifes Dillon to prefs the folliciting Sup-

. plies ; and owns he has been defired to undertake

that Province himfelf, but that he had hitherto

declin'd if, not from fuch Reftraints as mould

naturally have arifen in the Mind of one of his

Character and Function, but merely on account of

fome former ill Succefs and Mifmanagement, in

which he owns he had been deeply concern'd.

He afterwards advifes Dillon to ufe the fame

Caution which he himfelf intended, of not truft-

ing any thing of Importance to the Poft, endea-

vouring to act within the Shelter and Safeguard

of the Laws for fubverting our happy Conftitu-

tion.

This great Caution, which (as Neynoe faid Kelly

told him) the Bifhop ufed, made him fo extreme-

ly careful, as not to let even the Man he trufted

moft, have one Line of his own Hand-writing

;

and fhews that he was wonderfully follicitous, not

to avoid che Guilt of Treafon, but only to efcape

the Punifhment due to it, by faving himfelf from

the Danger of legal Conviction.

Another of his Letters is to the late Lord
Marr, who fo lately appear'd in Arms againft his

Majefty, and has fince had a Poft of the greateft

Confidence and Truft near the Pretender.

In this Letter he owns the Receipt of one from
Marr by Kelly, together with verbal Inftructions ;

which, to cut off all Excufe of SuiDrize or Inad-

vertency, he fays he carefully confider'd, and yet

entirely agreed to.

He then mentions his prefent fad Circumftan-

ces, but comforts himfelf, that as they will not

permit him foon to act openly •, fo neither is

there, he thinks, any immediate Occafion for it,

fome Time being neceffary towards ripening Mat-
ters. So that when a proper Opportunity fhould

have offer'd, the Mafk was to have been thrown
off, and then he was openly to have avowed the

Caufe, which he has hitherto fupported only in

Difguife.

The other Letter of the Bi (hop's is to the Pre-
tender himfelf, in defiance of that Law which
makes the holding any Correfpondence with him,
or his Agents, High-Treafom In this Letter he
owns the Receipt of one from the Pretender ;

and to fhew how well he deferved that Confi-
dence, he himfelf, who beft knows the Thoughts
of his own Heart, declares, that if the Pretender

guefs'd at his right Mind, he dares fay it js a.

greeable to the Pretender's own.
He then "encourages the Pretender to hope for

a fecond Opportunity, tho' not every Way fo fa-

vourable as the firft, which was eiapfed.

This favourable Opportunity appears to have
been that of the Elections ; and your Committee
cannot but obferve, that the two mcft riotous

Elections of any throughout the Kingdom, were
that of Wejlminfter, a Place under the immediate
Influence of the Bifhop of Rochefter ; and that of
Coventry, which appears by this Report to have
been animated by Carte, an Agent of the Bi-

fhop's, and one employ'd by him in managing his

treafonable Correfpondence.

He afterv/ards takes to himfelf the Merit of
fome Writing, which he had drawn up and trans-

mitted to the Pretender, after it had firft paffed

the View and Approbation of the Perfons con-

cern'd : Tho' he fays it had been kept back a great

while, in hopes that Deeds might have accom-
panied Words. Which again fhews his treafona-

ble Intentions to have been the Refult of mature
Deliberation ; and that tho' he had hitherto dealt

in Words, yet other Acts of Treafon were what he
hoped for, and was aiming at.

As foon as God fhould reftore him to his Health,
he promifes to abufe it tov/ards the Profecution of
his Treafons, and in the mean Time defires leave

to withdraw himfelf feemingly from any Engage-
ments of that Kind, that he might return with
greater Zeal and Activity to deftroy this Church
and State, by placing a Popifh Pretender on the

Throne, in violation of the moft facred Oaths fo

frequently taken by him.

Your Committee will now proceed to fhew what
farther Part the Bifhop appears to have had in the'

treafonable Correfpondence and Negotiations car-

ried on with the Pretender's Agents in France.

On the 1 ith of May, Motfield anfwers Illington
1

s,

a Letter fent to Mu/grave (Marr) the 20th of

April. This was inclos'd in a Letter to Kelly.

The Subftance of the Anfwer is to condole with

Illington on his Lofs, and to exprefs great Satisfac-

tion on finding him in the fame Sentiments with

Marr, in Relation to their old Friend and Acquain-

tance (Hacket) and in another d
Letter, to Kellyi

he lets Illington know how agreeable this Recon-

ciliation would be to Farmer, and how much to

Farmer's Intereft.

Your Committee fee Reafon to believe from

Paffages in feveral of the Letters, that Farmer'

means the Pretender.

It has been obferved above, one of the Periods

of Time, fixed by the Confpirators for putting

their Defign in execution, was the Beginning of

May 1722.

On the 1 ft of May, Dillon's Secretary e writes

to Kelly, ' that Mr. Jones cannot take a better

' Time to have himfelf fitted with an eafy Saddle,

* there being a Number of Saddlers idle in France
' at prefent, who in cafe of Wars would be fo

' very bufy there would be no coming at them.*

This is explain'd by what d Neynoe faid, that in

Kelly's Cypher Sadlers ftood for Irijh Soldiers, tho'

he did not know any Letters had been intercepted

where that Term was made ufe of, and in " Plun-

kel's Cypher Saddles ftands for Regiments, and Girt

for one hundred Men.
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On the 2d of May, Dillon himfelf a acknow-

ledges the Receipt of his Coufin Jones's Letters of

the 20th of April, and ' expreffes much Concern
* for that Lady's ill State of Health, being much
* afraid his own fmall Concerns can hardly be fet-

4 tied to Satisfaction, till £he is able to follicit in

4 his Favour.'

On the 7th of May, Kelly
b
writes to Mufgrave

(Marr) 4 that he had communicated his Letter to

'Mr. Jones ; and that Mr. Jones defir'd a Letter
' from Mufgrave or Farmer (the Pretender) to

* Racket, to bring him to Town, without which
4 it would be impracticable for them to do Bufi-

' nefs together. That Jones finds Armftrong and
4 Company very loth to be any way concerned,
' having no Opinion of the prefent Hands •, how-
' ever that it is dill neceffary to make the moft of
* them.'

Who is meant by Armftrong and Company does

not appear to the Committee.

On the 9th of May, Dillon's Secretrary c
writes

to Kelly, ' That if this Poft had not brought an
* Addition of three to the fix formerly come from
4 Repncy, it is eafy for Mrs. Jones to fee what is

4 Mill wanting for the Purchafe fhe intends to
4 make.' Who is meant by Repney is not certain,

but in the following Part of this Report there

will appear Grounds of a probable Conjecture.

This Paflage relates to a Bill of Exchange (of

fix thoufand Pounds probably) fent over to Calais,

and thence to Waters the Pretender's Banker at

Paris, on the 16th of April; the Receipt of which

is acknowledged in feveral Letters both to d

George Kelly and e Dennis Kelly. This Paragraph,

which fays, ' That if three more are not come,
' befides the fix from Repney, it is eafy for Mrs.
' Jones to fee what is ftill wanting for the Pur-
« chafe Jhe intends to make •„* fhews plainly, that

Jones was at leaft privy to that Remittance : which

agrees with what Pander f
has depofed upon

Oath, that he was told by Skeene, among other

Particulars relating to the Confpiracy, that a large

Contribution had been raifed and put under the

Management of the Bifhop of Rochefter, which

was called their military Cheft.

On the 10th of May (three Days after the En-
campment) g Kelly writes to Dillon's Secretary,
4 That it was reported the King had abfolutely
4 refufed to put off his Journey, and intended to

* fet out early next Month ; and that if they could
' then compafs Barrels enough, the fooner the

' Wine comes, he believes, the better. He adds,

' that Jones promifes to be a good Cuftomer,
* and that he hopes Racket and Jones will give

* them the finifhing Stroke.' The Time of Year

in which this Letter was writ, and the abfurd Sup-

pofition of its being more difficult to find Bar-

rels than Wine, fhew furficiently that thefe Words
are not to be taken in their literal Senfe.

Your Committee are inform'd, that Wine was

explain'd by Neynoe to mean Invafion, tho' he had

never been told that any fuch Word had been

made ufe of in thefe Letters, nor had been afked

any Queftion about it; and in
h
Plunkett's Cy-

pher, Barrels is explain'd Army, and Vines, one

thouftnd Men.

On the 19th of May, Dillon's Secretary

writes to Kelly, ' That he is afTured by good
* Hands, Racket and Jones are the beft able to

* adjuft his particular Concerns; that he does not
4 queftion their good Difpofitions, and that doing
4

it timely will be a double Merit.'

On the 1 9th ofMay, Kelly was taken into Cuftody,

about the 7th of June he was admitted to Bail,

and on the nth he k
writes an Account of his

Examination to one Gerrard, whom your Com-
mittee believe to be Sir John D'Obryan, whom
Kelly ' owned to be employ'd by Dillon in wri-

ting for him; In this Letter Kelly fays, ' He
* was chiefly queftiohed about a little Dog he got
* from France, and about five or fix cant Names,
' which were Illington, Jones, Cane, Howell,
4 ghatwell and Racket , and that whoever Illing-

4 ton is, he was the Perfon chiefly ftruck at.'

On the 1 8th of June m he writes to Dillon,
4 That it is abfolutely neceffary to make no more
4 ufe of their prefent Account-Book, fince thofe
* that have got part, may by the fame Method
' have got the whole; and that it will be highly
4 improper for him to meddle with Bufinefs, at

* leaft for fome Time.'

From this Time forward your Committee ob-
ferve, that the Names of Jones and Illington are

no more heard of in the intercepted Correfpon-

dence; neither does Kelly fo frequently write Let-
ters of great Bufinefs, but in his ftead Thomas
Carte, Clerk, takes up the Management of the

Bifhop's Correfpondence.

The Letters from Carte are figned, and thofe

to him directed by the Name of George Williams ;

and Mrs. Harbin, to whofe Houfe they were direc-

ted, having been examined before fome Lords of

the Council, n has depofed on Oath, that Carte

defired her to take in Letters fo directed, and

that fhe delivered one fo directed into his own
Hands.

And in the ° Cypher taken among Dennis Kelly'%

Papers in George Kelly's Hand-writing, Mr. Carte

is defigned by the fictitious Names of Thomas and
Trotter, who appear, by comparing feveral Paffa-

ges in the Letters, to mean the fame Perfon with

George Williams.

From t he Time of George Kelly's being firft taken

up, the Bifhop of Rochefter is denoted by the

Names of Rig and Wefton, as will appear from the

following Circumftances.

On the 30th of Auguft, Kelly p writes to Dillon

a long Letter, which contains the Particulars of

the Bifhop's being taken into Cuftody, examined
and committed. On the 1 4th of September Dillon's

Secretary q writes to Kelly, ' That his Letter on
* the 30th of Auguft came fafe, and that the Par-
* ticulars he gave of Mr. Rig's Cafe were very ac-
4 ceptable to Dillon, whofe Concern for a true and
* worthy Friend and Relation cannot be doubted
* and a longing Defire to know her entirely clear
4 of her Diftemper.' In the fame Letter he de-

fires to know what is become of Carte.

That Rig denotes theBifhop, is farther confirmed

by thefe Particulars : Kelly in his firft
r Letter

after his Enlargement, writes word to Gerrard j

* All I can do now, will be only to deliver to

* your Coufin Rig any Goods that you can fend by
* private Elands: He is determined not to receive
4 them any other Way, and indeed I cannot fay
4 he is in the wrong. How far this late Affair

* may affect him, I cannot tell.'
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Now fince it appears that Kelly was formerly

im ployed in conveying Letters to and from the

Bilhop (which -are often called Goods in the inter-

cepted Correfpondence) fince the Bifhop himfelf

had defired in his Letter to Dillon, that no more

Letters of Confequence might be trufted to the

Pod •, and fince Kelly's Examination about the

Dog could affect no one but the Bifhop, it may

joftly be concluded that Rig and the Bifhop are

the fame.

That Wefton is the Bifhop, will appear from

the following Circumftances.

On the 7th of June, Dillon's Secretary a
writes

to Carte, and acknowledges the Receipt of a

Letter from him of the 28th of May (which was

foon after Kelly's being taken up) and after expref-

fing great Satisfaction, ' That the late Rumours
* of a Plot had not occafioned a total Interruption

1 ofCommerce, nor obliged any oftheir Correfpon-

* dents to go afide ;' he adds, ' That Dillon de-

* fires to be moft kindly remember'd to-his good
* Friend Mr. Wejton, for whom he was in the

* greateft Concern, on account of a Story that

« his Clerk had been laid up for Debt ; but that he

« hopes Carte's next Letter will put him at full

* Eafe in this Matter.'

This plainly has reference to Kelly's being ta-

ken up ; and his relation of ClerkJJrip to the Bifhop,

has been fully explain'd by what goes before.

On the 14th of June, Carte
b
writes to Dillon's

Secretary, and endeavours to put him at full Eafe

in relation to Mr. Wefton, by telling him, ' That
' Mr. Wefton is in the Country, that he faw him
* two Days ago-, that he is perfectly well, and as

* eafy in all his Affairs as any Man alive, and very

* much Dillon's humble Servant.' It appears by

Depofuions c annexed to this Report, that the

Bifhop was in the Country at that Time.

On the 14th of July, Dillon
d
writes to Wefton,

under Cover to Carte ; and defires he will admit

one Skinner (fent over from France exprefs) to re-

ceive his Commands.
On the 2 6th of July, Kelly e

writes word that

Rig and Skin had been lately together; and that

before they met, Rig fent to him to know how
Skin flood with Dillon and his Partners.

On the fame Day, Stanley (who appears by the

Matter of his Letter to be the fame with Skin-

ner) writes
f
to Dillon, ' That he had been with

* the Correfpondent, to whom the Letter of Cre-

' dit was fent, and had partly engaged him in his

* Arrack Affair.' On the 30th of July, Carte

writes s word, he had the Honour of introducing

Stanley to Mr. Wefton, and mentions the Arrack
Affair, of which notice will be taken in its Place.

From thefePaffages it appears, that Wefton (the

Name made ufe of by Carte) means the fame

with Rig (made ufe of by Kelly) which laft was
fliewn before to mean the Bifhop of Rochefter.

Rig therefore, and Wefton being made ufe of

to denote the Bifhop; it remains to beconfidered

what Part Rig or Wefton appear to bear in the

Sequel of the intercepted Correfpondence.

It appears by the h Letter from Dillon's Secre-

tary of the 7th of June, that they apprehended in

general, on Kelly's being taken up, that fome of
their Correfpondents would be obliged to go afide

;

but that their greateft Pain was for Mr. Wefton,

whofe Intimacy with Kelly was fuch, that Kelly is

ftyled his Clerk, which is no improper Name for one
that kept the Cyphers, which are ftyled through-
out the intercepted Letters, Books of Accompts;
and in Layer's Cypher are call'd Rental's. If Kelly

had had no Secrets to reveal, the Pain for Mr.
Wefton, and the Fear ofother Correfpondents going
afide, would not have been fo confiderable.

On the 14th of June,
s

Carte fets them at eafe

in relation to Wefton, who was, he fays, as eafy
in his Affairs as any Man alive: Which might be
the Cafe, Kelly having burnt his Papers; beino-

bailed out, and at Liberty to affure his Friends
that the Lords could get nothing out of him at

his Examination, where he ftrenuoufly denied his

having ever heard of the Names of Jones or II-

lington.

On the 1 ith of June, Kelly
k

fends his Friends
at Paris an Account of his late Misfortune ; and
after complaining of their Neglect, in not bailing
him out fooner, and intimating that fuch Ufao-e
might have provoked a paffionate Man to betray
their Secrets ; he fays, your old Friend Rig, in-

deed, offered all that could be expected from the
poor Man. This Paffage proves pretty plainly,

that Rig was one of thofe whofe Secrets it was in

Kelly's power to have betrayed ; and who there-
fore thought himfelf principally concerned to keep
Kelly in good Temper, by all poffible offers of
Affiftance.

Kelly in his next ' Letter of the 18th of June,
fays, ' The Occafionof my Misfortune I will lay
' at no body's Door in particular ; tho' your old
' Friend Rig feems to believe, it has rather pro-
' ceeded from fome pretended Friend than any
1 real Enemy : And as his Conjecture lies on this
' fide, you may eafily guefs the Point it tends to.'

This Paffage fhews that the Difcoveries made,
were known by Rig to be well founded ; fince no
one could be led to fufpect, that an Information
entirely falfe fhould proceed from fome Friend
entirely in the Secret: befides, it fhews Rig had
Friends, in whofe Power it was to betray him ; and
that thofe Friends were known to the Correfpon-
dents in France, fince Kelly fays, they are able to

guefs who it is that Rig fufpects on thisfide. This
is a farther Intimation, that Rig had Friends on,

the other fide of the Water, in whofe power it was
equally to have betrayed the Secret.

Kelly then tells Dillon, l That it is abfolutely
* neceffary to make no more ufe of their prefent
* Accompt-Book ; fince they that have gotparty

' may by the fame Method have got the whole.'

This is a direct Confeflion, that the Names of
Jones and Illington, and others on which Kelly was
queftioned, were really a Part of the Cypher in

ufe between him and his Correfpondents in France

:

And as Kelly writ Word that Illington was the Per-

fon principally ftruck at, and knew very well by
Mrs. Barnes's Confeflion about the Dog, who II-

ligton was underftood to be ; it amounts to a Con-
feflion, that that Expofition of the Name of Il-

lington was true.

He then adds, c All that lies in my Power
* now, will be to deliver to your Coufin Rig any
1 Goods you can fend by private Hands ; he be»

' ing determined not to receive them any other
4 way.' So that by private hands Rig was ftill

willing to receive them.
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However Kelly fays, ' If your Bufinefs can be
6 conveyed any other way to him, you cannot do
4 me a greater Favour : For to tell you the Truth,
4

it is againft my Opinion and Inclination to have

* any farther Dealing that way.' This fhews what

Dealing Kelly had hitherto had -, and at the fame

time explains how Carte comes to be employed in

managing the Bifhop's Correfpondence for the

future.

Kelly adds, 4 That he does not know how far

4 this late Affair may affect Rig* This fhews that

he knew Rig was engaged in fome criminal Cor-

refpondence ; fince the receiving a Dog from

France, or being called by a fictitious Name, could

not otherwife have affected him.

On the 1 6th of July, Carte writes a long a Let-

ter about fome MSS. and Weftorfs Opinion of

them, as alfo that of Finch. What is meant by

Manufcripts, does not appear •, neither is it certain

who Finch is, but he is
b fpoke of as being in

high Repute with Wefton.

On the 1 ft of Auguft, Dillon
c writes to Carte,

4 That he cannot apply to a more fufficient Judge
4 than Wefton about his Concern with Nix. Finch?

And he often repeats, ' That he makes a moft
4 particular Cafe of Mr. Wefton'% Judgment-, and
1 that he relies entirely on Wefton"s Friend fhip and

* Advice;' and other Expreffions ofthe like nature.

On the 14th of July, Dillon writes a
d Letter to

Wefton (theBifhop) enclofed to Carte, in the fol-

lowing Words.

To Mrs. Wefton, inclofed to Mr. George

Williams, at Mrs. Harbin'* over-

againft Somerfet-Houfe.

Dear Madam, Saturday 25 July 1722.

6 T Cannot on any reafonable Grounds complain
6 1 of your Silence, tho' long it appears, becaufe

' I am informed of the Situation of your Health,

' and the Concerns your Family are in, by
* Bankrupts and Law-Suits. Permit me, however,

' to fulfil a part ofmy Duty inprefentingyoumy
* beft Refpects, and unalterable Attachment to

s you and yours. I wifh this may find you fofar
4 recovered from paft Mifchances, as that you
4 may be once more in a Humour of affording
4 me a comfortable Line. I have all the Stock I

4 bought lying by, and I intend it fhall remain fo,

4 until you advife me of the proper Time to dif-

6 pofe of it: being fully convinced, that in the

4 flippery Age we live in, I cannot confide to any
4 better than you. I hear many fay, that our
4 Stocks wil infallibly rife again to a good height,

4 by Mr. Walpole's wife and able Management;
« from whence I fhould hope not to be fo much
« a Lofer in referving mine. Still my Lights at

« this diftance can be but very imperfect : there-

« fore, Dear Madam, I will earneftly pray your

« Direction, when you find leifure to grant me
« this Favour, as alfo of forgiving this Trouble,

« for which I offer amends in any manner I can be

6 offervice to you. The few Acquaintances of

' yours I converfe with in thefe Parts, are well

;

« and rely, as I do, on your friendly Advice in a

« moft particular manner, about their Concerns in

6 the Funds. They defire you will be pkafed to

« admit Mr. Skinner to receive your Commands,
c who is directed to call upon you, and explain

« fome Particulars too tedious for a Letter. He
6 feems to be very ready at Bufinefs, and will

4 obey your Orders punctually. I am, with the
4 greateft Efteem and Sincericy,

Dear Madam,

Tour mosJ humble, and moft

Obedient Servant,

Digby.

On the 1 6th of July, Dennis Kelly c
writes

word to France, that Skinner arrived in Town the

Night before; that he had been to wait on him,
longing much to know how the Fall of Stocks af-

fected his Friends.

On the 26th of July, Kelly
r
writes to Dillon's

Secretary, 4 That Rig and Skin had been lately
4 together ; and that before they met, Rig had
4 fent to him, to know if Skin flood well with
4 Dillon and Partners.' He adds, ' that Rig (till

4 feems to promife his Affiftance, if he can get
4 the better of his Sufpicions : and that Rig went
4 into the Country, the day after Skin and he had
4 been together.' It appears by g a Depofition

annexed to this Report, that the Bifhop came to

Town on the 19th, and return'd to Bromley on the

2 1 ft of July.

On the fame Day that Kelly writ, Stanley (who
is the fame with Skinner) writes h to Dillon, ' I
4 have been with your Correfpondent to whom the
4 Letter of Credit was fent, who has partly an-
4 fwered my Demands, and promifes to comply in
4 all Points with your Directions.' He then adds,
4 I muft now give you an Account ofwhat Pro-
4 duct may be hoped for from the Publick Funds.*

Then follows a Paragraph, fome few Letters of
which are in Cypher, but as your Committee is

informed, in fuch an eafy and obvious one, that

any one that reads it, may with the leaft Atten-

tion decypher it. In this Paragraph, inftead of
faying a word about the Funds, he acquaints Dil-

lon, ' That they are certainly betrayed by fome
one entirely in the Secret, who has given fuch.

Light into all their Affairs, that the moft mi-

nute Circumftances are perfectly found out ; that

therefore he muft caution him, as he is requeft-

ed, to be very careful who he converfes with,

even at Paris, without eccepting any one.'

This Paragraph explains fufficientiy what is

meant by Stocks and Funds; and it is remarkable,

that in Plunket's Cypher, Brokers is explained A-

gents. The owning themfelves difcovered by fome
one entirely in the Secret, proves there was a Secret,

and that the Difcoveries of the Government were

well founded.

He then adds, 4 I have partly prevailed with
4 the Correfpondent (Wefton) to undertake what
4 he had firmly refolved againft, which is the pro-
4 curing Arrack, which cannotfailfucceedingby that
4 Channel.' And on the 30th ofJuly, Carte writes

to Dillon in the following Words :

4
I had the Flonour of introducing Mr. Stanley

to Mr. Weft, who received him in the beft man-
ner, and affured him of his Readinefs to ferve

him in what he could. Mr. St. was much plea-

fed with him, but did not engage him to follicit

in his Arrack Affair, which ye: is of the greac-

eft confequence to him, and Mr. W. is moft

capable of ferving him in, becaufe in the Efteem
of all the Commiflioners in whofe Power it is

to relieve him in the Cafe. And as Mr. W.
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» would do it effectually, if engaged in it, fo Mr.

« Stanley defires me to beg the Favour of you, to

» requeft the Favour of Mr. W. in a Letter from

* you to Mr. Stanley, which he is fure would for-

' tify the good Inclinations Mr. W. has already

' to ferve him, and effectually engage him in

' the Thing.'

The Original of this
a Letter being flopped,

is, as your Committee are informed, in Carte's

own Hand-writing.

What is meant by thefe myfterious Faffages

about Arrack, mud: be left to the Conjecture of

the Houfe.

If this be compared with the Bifhop's b Letter

to Dillon, and with
c Pander's Depofition, it is

not improbable that by Arrack may be meant

Contributions of Money.

But whatever is meant by it, the Committee

obfcrve, that it was a Point of the greateft Im-

portance to the Confpirators, fince it was thought

neceffary to be laboured by a Perfon fent from

France on purpofe ; and the Bifhop's Reluclancy

to come into it argues it to have been fomething

very dangerous, and beyond the ordinary Lengths

of his Compliance.

And they obferve that the principal Direction

of the Confpiracy under all the Difguifes of Stocks,

Manufcripts and Arrack., is fubmitted to the Bi-

fhop's Judgment, on which, it is often faid, they

do entirely rely.

Your Committee having thus laid before you

the principal Matters in the intercepted Corre-

fpondence, that relate to the Bifhop of Rochefter

more immediately, will now proceed to ftate to

you what they find in the fame Correfpondence,

relating to George Kelly ; who, as has been fhewn

before, acted fo much under the Direction and

Influence of the Bifhop, that it cannot be fuppo-

fed he would take any Step of Confequence in an

Affair of this Nature, without the Bifhop's being

at leaft made privy to it.

The Committee forbear repeating what was

mentioned before, about the Heads of Memorials

to the Regent, brought by Kelly to Neynoe ; but

they 6nd fome farther Particulars
d

in Neynoe's

Papers, relating to Kelly alone.

' That Kelly had owned to him his having been
1 formerly at Avignon while the Pretender was
* there; that at his Return from France lafl

* Winter, he brought over feveral Papers and
' Letters, and among the reft, one in French,

* in the Hand-writing of Dillon's Secretary, inti-

* tuled, Reafons humbly offered tG Cardinal Du
* Bois, proving that the eftabliflring the Houfe of
' Stuart on the Throne of England, preferably to

* that of Hanover, is the real Interefl of the

* Crown of France, or to that Effect. That this

* Piece was brought to Neynoe to be tranflated,
1 which being written by a Papift, and turning
* much on the Advantage that would accrue to

" Popery, Neynoe advifed againft publifhing it.

' That Kelly told him at other Times, that one
* Hundred Thoufand Pounds, nay, fifty Thou-

fand Pounds would be fufficient for bringing in

' the Pretender ; and that he would warrant that
4 Sum would be found.

' That whenever there happen'd to be a Stand
* made for the Pretender, great Numbers of Vo-
' luntiers from France would appear for him :'

Which agrees with the Accounts fent from

thence, and with the
e
Letter from Dillon's Se-

cretary about fecuring Sadlers, which Kelly ex-
plained to Neynoe to mean, Irijh Soldiers.

Neynoe farther faid, ' That Kelly propofed to
e him to go over to France, and to fettle in Lord
i Landfdown's Family, where he faid he might be
* of Service, and promifed to make his Recep-
' tion eafy.' And your Committee obferve, that

the very Time when Neynoe was taken going to

to France, Kelly
f

writ to Dillon's Secretary,
' That he would foon fee a young Fellow, whom
* he had mentioned to him fome Time before,
' and that he might rely on his Honefty.'

Neynoe farther declared, ' That Bingley hisFel-
c low-Traveller (now in Cuftody) lodging in the
' fame Houfe with Kelly, when Kelly was firft
1 taken up, burnt a Bundle of Writings he had
' that Day received from Kelly*

John Malone (formerly Servant to Mrs. Barnes)
who waited on Kelly at his Lodgings, g has de-
pofed, that this Neynoe, John Plunket (now in

Cuftody,) Carte and Dennis Kelly, often vifited

George Kelly.

As George Kelly is frequently defigned by a
greatVariety of fictitious Names, in the intercepted

Correfpondence, the Committee think it proper
firft to apprize the Houfe what Reafon there is

to affert that thofe Names do really belong to
Kelly, and then to fhew the Nature and Import
of the Correfpondence carried on under thofe

Names.
It appears to your Committee, that fince the

Beginning of April 1722. (the Time of Kelly's

laft Return from France) a great Number of Let-
ters going to France were by Order of the Go-
vernment opened, and Copies of them taken

;

and that feveral of thofe Letters, tho' fign'd by
different Names, were h obferved by the Clerks
who copied them, to be all in the fame Hand-
writing ; and ' one of the Originals having been
flopped for a Specimen of the Hand, and having
been fhewn to John Malone, he has k depofed
upon Oath, that he had often feen George Kelly

write, and that he believes it to be his Hand.
1 Three other Papers, feized at Mrs. Barnes's,

having been fhewn to Malone, he has fworn them
feverally to be Kelly's Writing; and the fame
three Papers having been fhewn to the Clerks
of the Pofl-Office, they have fworn, That to

the beft of their Knowledge and Belief, as well

the original Letters flopped, as the others fent

forwards, which were figned, fome of them John-
fon, others Hatfield, J. J. G. H, and Wilkins,

were all in the fame Hand with thofe three Pa-
pers fo attefted.

This general Proof fixes feveral of the Names
to belong to Kelly ; and it is remarkable that if

any one of the Names above-mentioned be allow-

ed to belong to Kelly, all the reft by which he
figns, or is directed to, may, by the Series of

his Correfpondence, be fhewn to belong to the

fame Perfon.

But your Committee farther obferve that al-

moft every individual Name he makes ufe of

is attended with fome particular Proof, which

determines it to belong to him ; of which Notice

will be taken as the Names are mentioned.

It has been obferv'd already, that he came
from France about the Nineteenth of December,

N S. 1 72 1. and that a
m Letter was found a-
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mong the Bifhop's Papers, dated the 16th of was Nurfe to the Pretender's Child, and was on
December, in which mention is made of a Letter her Return to England about this Time,
received by John/on, and an Anfwer returned From this Letter your Committee obferve, that

fome Time before in Johnfon's Hand. Kelly was employed by Marr and Dillon, in fol-

Neynoe a declared, that the laft Memorial to licking Supplies for the Service of the Confpira-

the Regent, which Kelly employed him to draw tors ; and that he had acquainted them of a Sum
up, was in December 1721, and that it contained of Money lodged in the Hands of one, whom
a Demand of five Thoufand Men for the Affift- they call Clynton, which they advifed fhould be
ance of the Confpirators. In February following equally divided between the Pretender and Or-
b

Kelly went again to France, and towards the tnond. Whether Kelly was confiderable enough
"End of April, the Government received unquefti- to have this Advice fent him for his own Go-
onable c Accounts, that repeated Application vernment and Direction, or was only to be the

had been made to the Regent for fuch a Body Channel for conveying it to fome other Perfon
of Forces. of greater Diftinction, is left to the Confidera-

The Bifhop in his
d Letters (writ foon after tion of the Houfe.

Kelly's Return from France) acknowledges the On the twenty third of April (as has been ob-

Receipt of a Letter, and verbal Inftrudtions from ferved above) Kelly fent the Bifhop's Pacquet of
Marr, by Hatfield, and of a Letter from the Pre- Letters under Cover to Gordon at Boulogne, with
tender by the fame Hand, and mentions Hat- 'Orders to him to deliver it to a tall black Man,
field as knowing his prefent Unfitnefs for Bufi- who would foon call on him for it.

nefs. This Perfon is in other Letters called Crow,
But the Letters figned Hatfield, which were and appears to your Committee by feveral con-

copied at the Poft-OfRce, are
e fworn to have current Proofs, to be James Talbot, an lriJhVa.-

been in the fame Hand with other Papers which pift, concerned in the Prejlon Rebellion, and now
are fworn to be Kelly's Hand-writing. And it ap- in the Spanijh Service.

pears by a
f Letter from Marr to Hatfield, that Kelly, in his m Examination before the Com-

he was the Perfon to whom the Dog was fent for mittee, owned his being intimately acquainted
Illington; which fhews Hatfield to be Kelly, and with this Talbot, and his having feen him the

confirms Neynoe's Information, that Kelly received Morning he left England; and a "Letter figned

Letters directed by the Name of Hatfield : And J. Talbot, was fiezed among Mrs. Barnes's Pa-
it appears that he not only brought over Letters pers, in the fame Hand with a ° Letter fent from
from France, agreeably to what was told g Mrs. France to Kelly, figned J. T. which is an Anfwer
Levett by Mrs. Barnes, and confirmed by Neynoe; to p one writ by Kelly to Crow.

but that he was trufted with a Letter to the Bi- On the twenty ninth of April* Gordon acknow-
fhop from Jack/on, the Name made ufe of for ledges the Receipt of a Pacquet (already proved
the Pretender in

h Plunket's Cypher •, which to be the Bifhop's) and fays he delivered it to the

Cypher it is evident Kelly was no Stranger to, Gentleman as he was directed, who fet out for

fince he makes ufe of feveral other i Names Paris on the thirtieth of April. On the firft of
found in that Cypher, to denote the very fame May, Dillon's Secretary r

writes to Kelly, « Your
Perfons that are there expreffed and defined by ' Friend Crow is arrived fafe, and delivered the

thofe Names. * three Boohyou gave him, as directed.'

On the twenty firft of April, Dillon's* Secretary On the fecond of May, Dillon himfelf 3
writes

writes to Jojhua Vernon (which will be fhewn to to James Baker (which will be fhewn to be ano-

be another of Kelly's NamesJ congratulating his ther of Kelly's Names) and fays, ' I faw your
fafe Return, and tells him, ' That his firft Letter ' Acquaintance Crow two Days ago, who deli-

« was very pleafing to Mr. Lane (which is ex- * ver'd me a Prefent from my Coufin Jones'
' plained Lord Marr in Plunket's Cypher) who And on the fame Day James Talbot l writes to
* waited with much Impatience for thofe ofMon- Kelly, « That Mr. Gordon gave him the Pacquet at

* day, hoping to receive a more particular Ac- ' Boulogne, which he delivered fafe on Monday
« count of his Bills, which he daily becomes more ' laft, as directed. He adds, the Perfon received

* prefTed for ; the Profpect of a good Vintage * me very obligingly, and was much more open
* increafing by late Showers which had dropped * to me than 1 expe&ed. Then, and fince, he
* there, and raifed the Spirit of the Labourers. * let me know he does not defpair of doing his Bu-
* He adds, that it feems more plain, that on Ad- * finefs'

* vances of ready Money, good Bargains may be On the feventh of May, Kelly
v
writes to Dillon,

* propofed.' * That Illington was glad to hear he had received

He afterwards tells him, c That Dillon advifes, * his Letters by Crow, and wifhed his next might
* the Money which Kelly mentioned in Clynton's * be more to Dillon's Satisfaction.'
1 Hands, fhould be equally divided between From thefe Paflages it appears at one View,
* Medley and the Pretender.' Who Clynton is that the Bifhop's Letters were fent by Kelly to

does not appear to the Committee ; but they fee Boulogne, by the Poft ; and thence conveyed

Reafon to believe, from Paflages in other Let- to Dillon at Paris, by Talbot, Kelly's intimate

ters, that Medley means the late Duke of Or- Friend.

mond. On the twenty fourth of April, Dillon's Secre-

He then tells Kelly, « That Farmer and Family tary
u writes to Kelly a long Account of one

' are well, and that Mrs. Hughes became fo very Xoland {Nicholas Wogan) who was to command
* uneafy fhe was difmifTed, and is on return.' one of the Ships that was to be hired of fome

This Paflage fhews that Farmer means the Swedijh Merchants at Cadiz.

Pretender, it being well known that Mrs. Hughes
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This agrees with Mr. Craufurd's

a Letter of

the twenty fifth of July, N. S. 1J22. in which he

fays that Nicholas Wogan was to have the Com-
mand of one of the Ships under Morgan, one of

which having been lately taken at Genoa, the Com-
mander (as your Committee are informed) has

writ b over hither, that fhe was hired of fome

Swedifh Merchants at Cadiz, with feveral other

Circumftances, which agree entirely with this Let-

ter to Kelly, and fhew for what Ufe thofe Swe-

dijh Ships were hired.

In the fame Letter Dillon's Secretary takes no-

tice ' How kindly Freeman (the Pretender) had
4 fpoken of Kelly in his laftV

On the 30th of April, Kelly
c anfwers this Let-

ter, but calls Nicholas Wogan by the Name of

Moore, and fays, 4 / wijh his Chief mayfucceed in

* his Journey.' Which being compared with the

Accounts
d
fent about that Time from Mr. Dave-

nant at Rome, that the Pretender was preparing to

embark, makes it more than probable that he is

the Chief, to whom Kelly willies Succefs.

Kellv then gives an Account of a very impor-

tant Converfation he had with one Hore : Who is

meant by Hore, your Committee will not take up-

on them pofitively to determine, but by com-
paring feveral Paffages of the Letters together, it

appears to them highly probable, that it is Sir

Harry Goring ; in which Opinion they are the

more confirmed by Hore's being mentioned as ill

of the Gout in France, on the 14th of September:

And Kelly takes notice in his
e Pocket-Book, that

Sir H. G. went to F. the 23d of Anguft, which

was the Day before the Bifhop was taken up.

In this Letter Kelly fays, « Hore is moft impa-
c tient to have a more fatisfactory Account from
* your Side ; and hopes there may be room now
* to expect it, fince there was nine remitted by
c Repney : he will foon, as he tells me, fend you
* two more, which with the Twelve thoufand
' Arms provided by Mansfield's (Ormond's) Rela-
c tions, and which are now ready to be fent where-
* ever defign'd, and paid for too, will, he hopes,
* bring Matters to fome Profpect of bearing.'

Your Committee obferve, that this Impatience

of Hore falls in, in point of Time, with the Ac-
count f Lord Orrery gave Layer, that Lord
North and Grey, Sir Harry Goring, Lord Strafford

and others, were going to do a rafh thing in fa-

vour of the Pretender. That it likewife agrees

v/ith the g Letter to Dodfworth, mention'd in the

former Part of the Report ; where it isfaid, ' That
* the Hopes given by G. to expect a great Sum,
* and by N. that he had raifed Twenty thoufand
* Pounds, induced Ormond to fupply Morgan, atid
4 to make other neceffary Provifions ;' part of
which Provifions appear to have been the Twelve
thoufand Arms mentioned in

h Ormond's Letter

of the 27th of April, in
; Mr. Stanhope's the 8th

of June, and again in this Letter of Kelly's.

Kelly adds, 4 That he hears Ormond continues
* ftill upon the old String, that he can get no Of-
* ficers, and fays, I wifh the fending over Hore's

* &c. Commiffions may not do more hurt than
' good •, for that Affair is already become no Se-
4 cret, and may pique fome Friends, as well as

* put Ill-wifhers on their guard.'

This Paffage fhews that the Scheme for an In-

furrection was at that time in fuch Forwardnefs,

? A. 3 z.

A. ic.

that Commiffions were actually fent over ; and
confirms the Account of the late Duke of Ormond's
being expecled with Oificers and Arms to fupport
it.

On the 1 ft of May O. S. Dillon's Secretary
writes

k
to Kelly, 4 That he believes they have a

' fufficient quantity of Barrels befpoke, for the
4 Wine they intend to buy ; and that he hopes
4 Clynton and Company have fent Malcom half
4 Money, which Hore faid he had, to pay for
4 the Barrels which Jacobs has at his difpofal.'

It has already been fhewn that Malcom means
the Pretender, and as Clynton's Money, which was
before to be divided between Ormond and Jack-
Jon, is now to be fent half of it to Malcom: This
is a farther Confirmation that Jackfon means the
Pretender; and agrees with the ' Intelligence
from France, of Sums fent about this time to Or-
mond and the Pretender.

In a Letter to Kelly of the 2d of May, was in-

clofed one ra from Dillon to Jemifon, who appears
to be fome intimate Friend of John Plunket's,

and n was prefent in France, when the Cyphers
were fettled between Dillon and Kelly ; but his

real Name isundifcover'd.

In this Letter Dillon acquaints Jemifon, 4 That
4 Mrs. Freeman intends to bring her Caufe to a
4 Trial as foon as poffible; and that he believes
4 Mr. Abel's Departure will be no Detriment to
* her Pretenfions.' This Paffage, compared with
other Letters, fhews that by Freeman is meant the
Pretender, and by Abel his Majefty ; and con-
firms the Defign of an Infurrection at the begin-
ning of May.

Dillon then defires7>fl«7<j/7, 4 Toaffurehis Cou-
* fin Rogers (John Plunket) of his belt Refpects,
* and how much he depends on her friendly and
* kind Offices in his Family-Concerns, which have
4 great need of fo good Affiftance.'

Plunket being ° examined by the Committee
in relation to this Letter, denied his knowing any
fuch Perfon.

On the 7th of May, Kelly p writes to Dillon,

acknowledging the Receipt of the Letter for Je-
mifon, mentions a long Difcourfe he had with one
whom he calls Mr. Fox, who refented his being

put out of the Pretender's Service by Dillon ; but
Kelly endeavour'd to convince him that Dillon had
no hand in it, and laboured to regain him. Who
Fox is, does not appear to your Committee.

Kelly then takes notice, 4 That the Pretender's
4 Favours to Hore, &c. had given great Offence ;
4 and that Rogers (Plunket) hearing of the Free-
4 dom which Hore and fome of his Partners took
4 with him, is much difobliged at it, and order'd
4 Jemifon to tell Dillon fo.'

Your Committee obferve from this Paffage,

that Plunket is treated as one whom it was thought

of confequence not to difoblige ; and that Kelly

was apprifed of his Intimacy with Dillon.

Kelly then gives an Account of his having called

on Mrs. Medley's (the Dutchefs of Ormond's)

Chaplain. The Letter which defired him fo to

do, was directed to James Baker ; and this, in which

he fays he has called upon the Chaplain, is figned

J. J. which fhews that James Baker is the fame with

J. J. which are the initial Letters ofJamesjohnfon*

On the 10th of May, Kelly q writes to Dillon's.

Secretary an Account of the Difcoveries made by
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the Government, and the Encampment of the

King's Forces ; but your Committee obferve his

Affurances of Succefs were fo ftrong, that in the

fame Letter he fays, ' The King will go abroad
* next Month, and ifyou can then compafs Bar-

* rels enough, the fooner the Wine comes, I be-

' lieve the better.'

On the 19th of May he was taken into Cufto-

dy ; and it appears to your Committee by the

Depofition a of one of the Meffengers who feized

him, that when he was feized he offered to draw

his Sword, but was prevented. That the other

Meffenger being called out of the Room to refcue

one of their Companions, who was in danger of

being murdered in the Street, Kelly called to the

People of the Houfe to lock the Door ; and feiz-

ing his Sword, which had been laid by in the

Window, drew it, and made a Pafs at the Mef-

fenger, who verily believes he did it with an Inten-

tion to murder him : That he afterwards made a

fecond Pafs, and fwore if he came in again he

would (tab him ; and faid, that if the Secretary

of State who figned the Warrant had been there,

he would have done the fame. That the Meffen-

ger going out to call for help, and returning

within a Minute, was told, that Kelly had in the

mean time burnt one of the Papers feized upon him.

Another of the Meffengers b
has depofed, that

before Kelly offered this Violence, he had been

fhewn by the Meffengers the Scutcheons or Badges

of their Office, and likewife had been fhewn their

Warrant figned by one of the Secretaries of

State: That the Warrant was alfo fhewn to a Per-

fon prefent in the Room, whoperufed it, and de-

clar'd to Kelly, that it was a fufficient Authority

for apprehending him.

Your Committee think it unneceffary to make
any Obfervation on a Behaviour, which implies

his having fo ftrong a Senfe of his own Guilt, that

he rather chofe to ftand all the Confequences of

fefifting and affaulting his Majefty's Meffenger in

the Execution of his Office, than to let his Papers

fall into the Hands of the Government ; fearing

(as may juftly be concluded) that fuch a Difcovery

might prove fatal to himfelf as well as others.

But your Committee find, that however careful

he was to deftroy all his Papers, yet one was

feized upon him and preferved, which is of itfelf

fufficient to prove him concerned in the treafona-

ble Correfpondence above fet forth.

It was a Lift of Directions, in the following

Words

:

To Anthony Saunders Efq; or Mr. Jofhua
Vernon at Will'j Coffeehoufe Covent-
Garden, London.

To Mr. James Baker, or Arthur Stephens

Efq; at Burton',? Coffeehoufe in King'j

ftreet, near St. James'j London.

By the three firft of thefe Names, moftof the

Letters to him above mentioned came directed
;

and your Committee find, that a Perfon having
been employed to watch at Burton

1

?, Coffeehoufe,

who fhould take up Letters directed to Mr. James
Baker at that Houfe, has c depofed upon Oath,
That on the 14th ofMay, a Letter fo directed be-

ing left there by the Poftman, George Kelly came
in and took the fame, opened and read it, and
went out of the Houfe with a Letter in his Pocket

to Mrs, Barnes's.

It appears to your Committee, that when he
was d examined before the Lords, the 21ft of
May, 1722. he endeavoured to account for his re-

ceiving Letters by various Names, by faying, That
one Mr. Talbot, who was under a Cloud, and who
went for France or Spain about a IVeek before, had
defired him to call at Coffeehoufes for Letters di-

rected to the faid Talbot by feveral Names; and
particularly that the Letter directed to Baker,
which he own'd he took up, was for the faid Tal-
bot. Yet your Committee obferve, that the faid
Talbot

e
arrived at Boulogne on the 25th of April,

and did himfelf fend a
f
Letter from Paris ro

Kelly, on the 2d of May, figned J. T. directed To
Mr. James Bakers Burton'j Coffeehoufe aiorefald;
and Letters g continued to be fent by that Direc-
tion from Paris, till the time that Kelly was taken
into Cuftody, tho

5
Talbot was all that time in France.

Kelly being h examin'd by your Committee in
relation to thefe Letters, perfifted in the fame Ac-
count, that they were for Talbot, and that the Oc-
cafion of Talbot's going abroad was, that Talbot
had received an Account of General Crcfton's being
dead, and of his having left him what he had.
Which Particular, yourCommitteeobferve, agrees
in part with Neynoe's 1 Account, that Kelly had fhewn
him a Letter at Burton's Coffeehoufe from Bil-
lon's Agent or Secretary, in which it was faid, that

the Death of General Crofton would be a great
Lofs to Mansfield, which Name Kelly explain'd
to him to mean the late Duke of Ormond.

Kelly farther
k owned to your Committee,

« That he went to France the beginning of the
« Winter 1721. and again the Spring following,
' on account of Tranfadions he had in the Stocks
' there. That he was defired by a Brother ofthe
' Lord Dillon's to carry over to General Dillon an
' Act of Parliament relating to the Eftate of that
* Family, but that this was the only Paper he
' carried' That he faw Chriftopher Glafcock, who
4

is a Captain in Dillon's Regiment, and knew Sir
' John D'Obryan, who is Dillon's Secretary, and
* had likewife feen Colin Campbell of Glenderoule at
' Coffeehoufes, but had never fpoke to the latter.'

Yet your Committee obferve, that as in his

Letters he often fends Services to Sir John and
Chrifly, he does alfo to Glen and Collins, which
laft Name is explain'd Glenderoule in his own Cy-
pher ' taken among Dennis Kelly's Papers. And
when he was examined before the m

Lords, he
own'd his having receiv'd Letters from one Glaf-

gowzx. Paris, which Name in Plunket's Cypher is

expreffed by the fictitious Name of Howell, and
has been fhewn above to mean the fame with §>uit-

well, Querry, Bonnaville, and other Names which
belong to Dillon's Secretary, and are fubferibed to

feveral treafonable Letters from France.

Kelly denied to your Committee his being at all

known to the late Lord Marr, or Alexa?jder Gor-

don of Boulogne; tho' he own'd his going by the

Name of Johnfon, by which Name the n
Letter

to Gordon was figned, and the ° Anfwer from
Gordon directed: And the p Letter from Marr
was directed to Hatfield, which Name has been

fhewn to mean the fame Perfon as James Johnfony

and has been proved by other Circumftances to

belong to Kelly.

He own'd his writing to a broken Banker at

Paris by a fictitious Name in relation to Stocks,

but faid he had forgot the Name, and that
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he never received a Letter in his Life figned by '

a fictitious Name. '

But your Committee had reafon to believe from *

the whole Tenour of his Behaviour at his.
3 Ex- '

amination, that he grofly prevaricated with them ;
*

for at his firft coming in, before he would make '

any Anfwer, he very formally infilled that no- '

thing he fhould then fay fhould be made ufeofa- '

gainft his own Life, nor as Evidence againft any (

other Perfon: And upon thefe Conditions he pro- '

mifed to anfwer directly to all Queftions that '

mould be afk'd him.

Your Committee feeing fome Reafon from the

manner of his infifting upon thefe Conditions, to

believe that he was difpos'd to aft ingenuoufly

with them, order'd him to withdraw, that they

might confider amongft themfelves, how far it

was in their Power, or proper for them to agree

to Conditions, which would have made his Ex-

amination of noEffeft; and upon his being called

in again, and receiving fuch Anfwer as the Com-
mittee thought it in their Power to give, he deny'd

his knowing any thing at all of the Confpiracy.

This your Committee apprehend to be altogether

inconfiftent with the Conditions he infilled on,

which manifeftly imply'd that a Confefiion of all he

knew, might endanger his own Life, as well as

affect other Perfons. But in the Courfe of his

Examination he owned to them, that thePromife

they had given him, was not fatisfaftory, tho', as

he pretended, he could not have anfwer'd their

Queftions in any other Manner, if their Promife

had come up to the Conditions he infilled

on.

Your Committee obferve, that Kelly was ad-

mitted to Bail from his firft Confinement about

the feventh of June lalt, and they conceive it to

be a great Aggravation of his Guilt, that he im-

mediately took advantage of this Enlargement to

refume the fame treafonable Correfpondences, and
to fend triumphant Accounts to France, of his

having baffled the Government by the harden'd

Obltinacy of his Behaviour-, thereby improving,

as far as in him lay, the Liberty granted him by
the Favour and Indulgence of the Laws, to the

Subverfion of our happy Conftitution. For on
the 1 ith of June, but a very few Days after his

being out on Bail, he fent a long b
Letter to Ger-

rard, (whom your Committee believe to be Sir

John D'Obryan, as has been already obferv'd) in

which, the better to difguife the Matter, he gives

an Account of his Coufin's late Misfortune, as

from a third Perfon ; but in a
c fubfequent Let-

ter to Dillon the 18 th of June, he owns the wri-

ting this Letter himfelf.

In this Letter to Gerrard he fays, c That he
* was bailed the Thurfday before, and that the
* Judges were never known fo fevere in any Cafe
* of the like Kind : That moft of the Queftions
1 afk'd him at his Examination were about a lie—

* tie Dog which he got from a Surgeon when he
1 was lad in France ; that they mention'd no Per-

! fons to him but General Dillon, and one Mr.
' Morgan : That to the firft he owns he is a little
6 known, having carry'd over an Aft of Parlia-
' ment to him that concerned his Family, but
1 that the latter he never faw : That Lord Car-
' teret had a Lift of five or fix Cant Names, as he
* call'd them, which were, Illington, Jones, Howel,
* Quit-well and Racket, and what he never heard

of before ; that however they would perfuade
him he knew fome Perfons that were meant by
thofe Names, which he vows he never did, and
whofoever Illington is, he was the Perfon princi-

pally ftruck at. That he is not at all fatisfy'd

with the Behaviour of his Friends: that Gerrard's

old Friend Rig indeed offered all that could be
expected of the poor Man ; but others in whofe
Power it was to do more, fhew'd no Concern at

all for his Misfortune. That he lay ten Days in

the clofeft Confinement, without fo much as a
Meffage from any of thofe he depended

; moft upon ; that it is well he had no Secrets to
; reveal, fince fuch Ufage might provoke a paf-
1 fionate Man, and that the World is pretty well
' convine'd that he had not, fince no Perfons
' feem'd to be the lead apprehenfive that he could
' do them any Mifchief.

4 That this Ihews what the Friendfhip of fome
6 People is ; but whilft there is one righteous Per-
' fon, we muft, for his fake, overlook greater
' Misfortunes.

* That he is very well, and under no great
' Concern for any thing as to himfelf but the Ex-
' pence, having more than his own to anfwer.

* He concludes, with defining Gerrard to di-

< reft under Cover to Mr. Andrews at the Dog and
' Duck in St. James's-ftreet.'.

Your Committee find, that after this Time fe-

veral Letters did come from France, direfted to

Mr. Andrews at the Dog and Duck, and that the

Mafter of that Houfe having been examined,
« has depofed on Oath, ' That one Andrews or-
' der'd him to take in Letters that fhould come
c by the foreign Poll fo direfted, and that three
' of thofe Letters were direfted to the Dog and
* Duck in King-ftreet, by Miftake ; but were
* afterward brought to his Houfe in St. James's-
* Jlreet, and taken up by Andrews, who happen'd
* to be there when they came in.'

It appears farther to your Committee, that the

faid A?idrews having been examined, e has de-

pofed on Oath, ' That Mr. John/on alias Kelly,

defired him to take in fome Letters direfted to'

him, Andrews, at the Dog and Duck Ale-houfe

in St. James's-ftreet ; that he received in the

whole four or five, in the Months of July, Au-

guft and September laft, to the beft of his Re-
membrance ; that they appeared by the Charge
of Poftage to be foreign Letters, and that he

delivered them unopened to the faid John/on

alias Kelly, who paid him the Poftage ; that he,

Andrews, knew nothing of the Contents, nor

ever returned any Anfwer to them.'

On the 1 8 th of June,
{
Kelly writes to Crow

(James Talbot) giving him an Account of his late

Misfortune, and the Reafons of his Silence, and
mentioning hisDefignof going over into France, as

foon as his Appearance in Wejlminfter-Hall fhould

be over.

' He then fends his Service to all Friends, par-

' ticularly to Sir John and Chrifty (Sir John

D'Obryan and Chriftopher Glafcock,) and defires

Talbot to tell the latter he muft find out fome

other Addrefs for him to write by, fince he has

good Reafons for not ufing the former, which

have prevented him from writing to him thefe

ten Days pad, and that if it were to a French

Perfon, it would be fo much the better.'

E. 81.
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Your Committee obferve, that foon after, a

French Direction to Monfieur Maifonneuve a was

fent over to Kelly by Chriftopher Glafcock, which

Kelly made ufe of for fome Time, and the
b
ori-

ginal Letter in Kelly's Hand flopt at the Poft-

Office, is fo directed. They likewife obferve the

Reafons which Kelly fays he had, not to make ufe

of the old Directions, appear evidently to have

been, that he was queftioned before the Lords on

the Names of Howell and Quitwell, which Were

the Names made ufe of for Glafcock.

He concludes his Letter to Crow, with defiring

him to direct to him by the Name of Wilkins at

Will's Coffee-houfe ; and your Committee obferve,

that not long after
c

a Letter came figned J. T.

and fo directed ; which was ftopt, and is in the

-fame Hand with the
d Letter figned J. Talbot,

feized at Mrs. Barnes's ; which confirms Talbot to
-

be Crow.

In this Letter to Crow was enclofed one from

Kelly to Dillon by the Name of Dixwell; the Sub-

fiance of which has been partly fet forth in that

Part of the Report, which relates to the Bifhop of

Rochejier. In this Letter ' he defires to be ex-

* cufed from meddling inBufinefs for fome Time ;

* but fays, it does not proceed from any Change
* of Opinion, or Refentment of the little Con-
' cern that has been fhewn him ; but from a Con-
* viction, that without changing both their Me-
* thod and their People it will be impoffible to

* make any Thing of it.'

Kelly adds in this Letter : * Your Correfpon-
« dents at Will's and Burton's are gone, and defire

* you may write no more that Way ; and when
' you do me that Favour, pleafe to addrefs under
* Cover to Mr. David Wilkins at Will's Coffee-

' houfe, Covent-Garden, and not to Andrews, as

* I defired.'

This Pafiage confirms the Lift of Directions to

Will's and Burton's, found in Kelly's Pocket ; and

fhews that the Letters to Wilkins, as well as An-
drews, were for Kelly, tho', as is before obferved,

« he denied the having ever received any Letter
' under a fictitious Name.'
On the twenty-eighth of June, "James Talbot e

writes to Kelly, congratulating him on his En-
* largement and Behaviour, and expreffing his
4 Surprize, that he fhould at fuch a Juncture have
4 Reafon to complain of want of Friends.'

On the fame Day Glafcock
f writes to Ireton

under Cover to Andrews ; and as Andrews deli-

vered thefe Letters unopened to Kelly, this fhews

that Ireton is another Name for Kelly, of which
the Matter of the Letters furnifhes abundant
Proof.

In this Letter Glafcock takes notice, that Kelly's

Letter to Chitwood came fafe. This refers to

Kelly's Letter of the eighteenth to Dixwell, and
fhews Chitwood to be another Name for Dillon.

' That what he had recommended in relation

* to the New Book of Accounts would be ob-
* ferved, and that Forrefier had the fame Advice
* given to him and Ormond.' Who Forrefier is

does not appear to the Committee, but, as he is

mention'd here with the late Duke of Ormond,

he is probably the Perfon who wrote the Letters

to Dumville and Dodfworlh above-mentioned.

Glafcock then tells him, * That Ormond had
* exprefied much Concern for what had befallen

* Kelly. He afterwards defires the Particulars of

' his Cafe, and to know what is wanting for pay-
4 ing off the Doctor's and Apothecary's Bills, ac-
4 knowledges the Receipt of a Letter from Rogers,
4 and inquires after Jemifon.'

On the twenty-eighth of June, Kelly g writes

to Talbot ' of the Neglect that had been fhewn
4 him, and the Reafons that he had to decline
4 any farther Trajfick with the Merchants here; he
4 fays, if Talbot perceives no likelihood of a fud-
4 den Change for the better, he muft retire to fome
4 cheap part of the Country, if Dillon allows of
' it ; expreffes his great Obligations to Dillon ,
4 and his Readinefs to execute any private Com-
' mands of his ' and adds, (what appears to your
Committee very remarkable) ' If I were in a
4 Condition to bear the Weight of publick Bufinefsy
4 Dillon fhould never be at the Trouble to employ
4 another, but that he is heartily forry Dil-
4 Ion himfelf has done it fo long, for ungrateful
4 People on this Side-, fays, he never intended to
4 trouble his Friends on this Side on his own pri-
4 vate Account, but publick ones of this Nature are
4 what he thinks they ought to take care of, fince
4 they are beft able to do it, and expect the heft
4 Returns for it.'

Your Committee obferve from Paffages, that

tho' Kelly would have it believed he oniy corre-

fponded with Perfons in France on piiviue Affairs,

relating to the Stocks, yet he here owns in F.riect,

that he had been trufted with \ffairs of a publick

Nature, and that thofeTran factions hi ving brought
on him the Difpleafure of the Government, it

was reafonable for him to hope for Support fom
thofe in England, who expected the beft Returns

from his and Dillon's joint Labours.

Your Committee farther obferve, that this Let-

ter was directed to Crow, and yet in it was in-

clofed one from Ireland, relating to Family
Affairs, directed to James Talbot. Eiq;

On the fourth of July, Glajcock
h

writes to

Kelly, 4 That Dillon intended to have fent him a
4 Letter of Credit by the Poft, drawn on Mr.
4 Harrold, but kept it back till he heard from him,
4 for fear, by removal into the Country, or by any
4 other Accident, it fhould be loft.

On the eleventh of July, Glafcock
''

repeats the

fame, and hisSufpicion that the Letters to Andrews

had mifcarried. Then acquaints .&//)> with kind Ex-
preffions that he had feen from Dr. Freeman and

Mrs. Malcom (the Pretender and his Spoufe) in

relation to Hawksby's firft Operation in his late

violent Diftemper.

Your Committee obferve from what follows in

this Letter, that, tho' in Plunket's Cypher Hawkf-
by ftands for King George, yet in the Pretender's

Cypher it ftands for George without any Addition,

and appears for that Reafon to be made ufe of

to denote George Kelly in this Place. Be that as

it will, it is evident from what follows, that Kelly

is the Perfon here meant.

The Pretender's Words mention'd in this Let-

ter are as follows

:

Hawkfby's fteddy and refolute Behaviour in the

firft Operation, anfwers the good Opinion I have

long had of him ; I am fully perfuaded that all

the Surgeons will do hereafter fhall not be able

to alter his Temper, and I hope he will come
off with Patience and a fhort Confinement, by

which his Flealth will become more perfect and

fatisfactory to his Friends.'
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Glafcock then adds, ' Mrs. Malcum (the Pre-

« tender's Spoufe) in her fhort way of Expreffion,

* fays, I am truly glad that honeft Hawkfby is re-

« cover'd, for I take him to be a very valuable

« Man.''

Then he fays, ' I know thefe Compliments will

« be comfortable to a fick Perfon from his Friends,

< for which reafon I trouble you with them, as a

' Proof of my Attention towards one I wiih fo

4 well.'

Thefe la ft words fhew, that thisComfort was

intended for Kelly, to fupport him under his Trou-

ble, which is difguis'd under the Notion of Sick-

nefs •, and your Committee think it unneceffary for

them to make any Obfervation on a Paffage,

which fhews fo plainly for wbofe fake it was un-

derftood he had brought this Trouble on him-

felf.

Glafcock next tells him, ' That as he is upon re-

* orulating his new Book of Accounts, he fhould

' be glad to know whether 7&//y and Jemifon had

thofe by them, they and Glafcock reclify'd to-

' getner.

This fhews that Kelly's Journeys into France

were not wholly on private Affairs, and confirms
a Neynoe's Account of his having feen Cyphers in

Kelly's Hands, and is' again confirm'd by the b

Cypher found among Dennis Kelly's Papers, which

is in George Kelly's Hand- writing.

Glafcock then fends him the French Direction he

had defired.

On the feventeenth of.July, Glafcock
c

writes

again to Kelly, to let him know why the Bill was

not fent, and to defire a fure Addrefs. He like-

wife cautions Kelly not to draw any more on

Digby, but on Meffieurs Chit-wood and Duplejfis,

at Mr. Hues Banker rue de la Monnoye. Your
Committee obferve, that this was about the time

that Mr. Crawford d made the Difcovery above

related about the Name of Digby ; and that for

fome time after, Kelly directs his Letters for Dillon

to DupLflis, till a new Cypher, which he, Kelly,

fent over afterwards came to be made ufe of.

On the 19th of July, Kelly
e writes to Glafcock,

that Mr. Andrews received thefeveral Letters from

Glafcock all together ; which was occafioned by a

Miftake in directing them to King-Street, inftead

of St. James's; which agrees with Andrews's
[

Depofition above- mention'd.

He then ' returns Thanks for the Letter of
' Credit intended him, and fays it will come fafe

* either to Mr. Wilkins at Will's Coffee-houfe, or
1 to Mr. Andrews at the Dog and Duck.' This,
compared with Andrews's Depofition, fhews that

the Bill was for Kelly himfelf : which Obfervation
the Committee think it proper to make, becaufe,

when he was examined before them in relation to

the Letters directed to Andrews, tho' nothingwas
faid to him about the faid Bill, he immediately
endeavour'd to explain away that Matter by the

following 5 Prevarication.

He faid, s He had been defir'd by one Mrs.
' Oxburgh in the City, Daughter to him who was
* executed, to receive fome Letters for her from
* abroad, and that he did not know but he might
4 employ one Andrews, or fome other Friend to
1 take up fuch Letters. That he had likewife re-
4 reived fome Money on a Bill for the faid Mrs.
* Oxburgh, of a little Man, a Banker in Lothbury,

« or fomewhere behind the Exchange, and that he
4 had endorfed the Bill with his own Hand. 5

Your Committee obferve that this laft Circum-
ftance makes it probable the Bill was for himfelf,
fincehis Endorfement on a Foreign Bill (which is

not ufually made payable to the Bearer) would
not have entitled him to have received the Money,
nor have been a fuffkient Difcharge except the
Bill had been made payable to him.

They likewife obferve, that Mr. Martin Harold,
on whom the Bill was drawn, whom Kelly avoided
to name, does live behind the Exchange, tho* not
in Lothbury; and in Glafcock's

h
Letter of the

Twenty-fourth of July, Kelly is particularly direc-

ted to indorfe the Bill on Harold with his own
Name. Your Committee fubmit it to the Con-
federation of the Houfe, whether it is not evident,

from thefe Circumftances, that Kelly received the
faid Money for his own ufe, as a Reward for his

Sufferings, and an Encouragement to perfift in his

Obftinacy.

On the 23d of July Kelly
''

writes to. Talbot^
4 That this Bill and the hopes of Succefs in ano-
4 ther Particular, when the Term is over, makes
* him a little eafy.

4 That as to what they had fo often talk'd a-
* bout, he did not know what to fay- to it, and
4 that Nicholas Wogan's Return gave him the lefs
4 hopes of it ; but that he heard the Beautiful Squire
4 was certainly determin'd on fomething, but
4 when, and in what manner, is what he knows
4 nothing of.' Who is meant by the Beautiful

Squire, the Committee cannot take upon them to
determine; but they obferve this Letter was writ

the Day after Layer's return by Epping from Nor-
folk, at which time he told

k
Plunket, ' That the

4 Pretender's Friends would run down the Mim'ftry
* and King George in a little time, and bring the
* Law- Suit to bear on their own bottom, in-
4 dependent of the Regent, or any Body elfe ;

s

as is related in Plunket' & Letter of the fame Date
with this of Kelly's.

On the 2d of Augiift, Kelly
1

writes to Glaf-

cock, 4 That he had received the Bill. That his
4 Letter of Licence is not out till the end of
4 Otlober, and that his Creditors threaten then to
4 fhew him no mercy : In the mean time he muft
1 hope the beft, and wiih that fome good Turn
4 of Fortune may enable him to do them juf-
4 tice.'

He adds, 4 That he expected to have fent the
4 State of their Accounts before now, but that
4 the Gentleman who was to carry them, met
4 with an Accident the other Night, which pre-
4 vented him ; therefore he cannot do it till he
* recovers, or fome other Opportunity offers:*

Then fends a long Account of Dennis Kelly's being

taken up.

On the 6th of Augttft
m he fends the fame Ac-

count to Dillon, and mentions the great Terror

the Guards are under from Informers ; which In-

telligence your Committee obferve, was thought

confiderable enough to make an Article in the

Pretender's late Declaration.

On the fame day he fends
n
Glafcock an ac-

count of Sample's, Cotton's, and one Campbell's

being taken up •,
4 That there were Reports

4 of one Sir Harry Goring''s being taken, and of

4 Forces being fent for the Lord North and Grey,
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* but that he finds there is no Truth in them,
* and is told that the two laft are come to Town.
4 He then defires to know Dillon's private
4 Thoughts from whence the ill Report of his

' Coufin's Circumftances comes, which has occa-

' fion'd this Severity from his Creditors, and fays,

* he hopes foon to fend the State of their Ac-
4 counts, which has hitherto been delay'd for

* want of a proper Hand.'

On the 9 th of Auguft, Kelly
3

- writes to Glaf-

cock, ' That Den is come to Town, and behaves
' like a Friend ; but that Rep is ftill in the Coun-
4 try, and fo is Ho ; and that the latter had ear-

* neftly defired Kelly to go to him for a few Days,
* which he had hopes of doing, but intended to

* make but a fhort ftay.'

Your Committee fee reafon to believe, that

by Ho is meant Hore ; and they find an Entry

in Kelly's Pocket-Book of his having been at

Mrs. H.'s, and another Entry in thefe Words ;

To enquire for Mr. • at Mr. William Bayfing'j

at Horn-Dean, which is a Houfe much frequen-

ted by Sir Harry Goring, as appears by a
b De-

po'fition annexed to this Report.

Who are meant by Den and Rep your Com-
mittee will not take upon them to determine,

tho
9

they think this Letter compared with that

writ three Days before, may lead to a Difcovery

of the Perfons meant.

On the i$th. of Auguft, Kelly
c writes again to

Glafcock, ' That he intends to vifit H. who being
' ata pretty good Diftance in the Country, he
' cannot return under four or five Days. Which
agrees with the Circumftance of his going down
as far as Horn-Dean near Petersfield.

He afterwards adds a very remarkable Para-

graph in thefe Words :
' what would you advife

* poor Trotter to do, he is ready to take a Voyage
' any where, and is, you know, an honeft and fit

* Perfon for that Bufinefs ; he has wrote very
* earneftly to me for my Advice, which I told
4 him I could not give till I heard from you.'

Your Committee think it their Duty to ob-

ferve to the Houfe, that in the
d Cypher found

among Dennis Kelly's Papers, in George Kelly's own
Hand-writing, Trotter is one ofthe fictitious Names
fet over againft the Name of Carte, and that on
the Day this Letter was writ, His Majefty had
iffued his Royal Proclamation for apprehending
the faid Carte, againft whom it is there fet forth

a Warrant had been iffued by one of the Secreta-

ries of State for Treafonable Practices, and that

he had abfconded and fled from Juftice.

Yet it appears from this Letter, that George Kelly,

Far from discovering where the faid Carte was con-

ceal'd, was defirous to promote his Efcape, by
getting him invited to undertake a Voyage into

foreign Parts ; and that notwithstanding the trea-

fonable Practices alledged againft him, he here

gives him the Teftimonial of an honeffMan, owns
his having had Communication with him by Let-

ter, after the Time of his Efcape, foil ici ted Glaf-

cock in his Favour, and undertakes to aid and
affift the faid Carte with his Advice, as foon as he

fhould have an Anfwer from Glafcock.

On the 13th of Auguft,
c
Glafcock writes again

to Kelly, in relation to the Bill on Harold, and

mentions his expecting the Gentleman foon that

was to clear Accounts.

He afterwards tells Kelly, 4 That Mrs. Muf-
4 grave had received Advice from her Father*
* that fhe is not to expect a Farthing of the Al-
* lowance due to her for the Time part, or to
* come, which Allen had procured a feizure of,
4 on account of her Hufband's Debts and Mif-
* management.'

Your Committee, from comparing this Letter
with others, where Mufgrave is mentioned, and
from obferving the Date, fee reafon to believe,

that this Paffage relates to the (topping a Penfion,
which the Committee are informed by his Ma-
jefty's Angular Bounty and Indulgence, and upon
Application from the late Lord Marr, and Pro-
mife of Services, was allowed to him; and they
cannot reflect, without Indignation and Aftonifh-
ment, on the black Ingratitude of Perfons, who,
while they were in a great meafure fubfifted by
his Majefty's unexampled Liberality, were labour-

ing by the moft wicked and unjuftifiable Practices

to difpoffefs him of his Crown, and to deftroy his

facred Life.

On the 17th of Auguft, Glafcock
f
writes again

to Kelly, and among other things fays, ' He is

' contriving to get at Barker for a Relief in favour
* of Farmer's (the Pretender's) Children, in cafe
4 their Step-Father fhould pretend to deprive
4 them of their Due.' It appears by another s

Letter, Barker means fome confiderable Perfon
in France; but what this Paffage particularly re-

lates to, your Committee cannot with certainty

determine. However they have thought it their

Duty to lay this and other obfcure Pailages before

the Houfe, that it may be feen how much it

is in the power of Perfons now in cuftody to dif-

cover ; and of what Importance it is to the Safe-

ty of his Majefty's Government, that fuch Dif-

covery fhould be required ar their Hands.
On the 20th of Auguft, three Days before the

Bifhop of Roc-heft'er was taken into cuftody, Kelly h

writes to Glafcock (the Original of which Letter

is ftopp'd, and fworn to be his Hand-writing;)
and fays, ' Your Coufins Ireton and Wilkins are
4 both gone into the Country, and earneftly beg
4 the Favour of you not to write to them any
4 more for which you willfoon know the Reafons'

On the 30th of Auguft he ''

writes to Dillon ;

and after giving a very long and particular Ac-
count of all the Circumftances of the Bifhop's be-

ing taken up, examined, and committed to the

Tower, he fays, ' You are by this fatisfy'd of
4 the Reafons of my late Silence.' Your Committee
obferve, That thefe Paffages fhew the Connection

which Kelly thought there was between the Bifhop

and himfelf.

In the fame Letter of the 20th of Auguft your
Committee obferve another very remarkable Cir-

cumftance ; Kelly fays, that he is going to the

Country that Day, and he had faid
k
before that

he was going to Mr. Hore's.

In his ' Pocket-Book notice is taken, that Sir

H. G. went to F. on the 23d.

On the 14th of September, Glafcock
m
writes him

word, 4 That Mrs. Hore was under a Fit of her

' old Sicknefs at Rouen ; but that it was not fafe,

4 for many good Reafons, to have her tranfported
4 to Paris, there being abundance of Quacks go-
4 ing about, which caufe much Mifchiei?

a E.69. <>E.8o. 4 E.70. <>F.ii.a. «E.7i. f E. jz,
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From this Time forwards Kelly makes ufe of a

new Cypher of Names, and new Directions to his

Letters.

On the 27th Kelly,
a writes again and fays,

« That fince Mr. G. Sampfon went, he has not

« heard a Syllable from his Correfpondents in

« France, which has been a great Detriment to

« feveral of their Friends.'

On the 9th of October,
b

Glafcock fends him

word, ' That all the Letters he wrote by the Poft,

* came fafe ; but that he had not yet feen the

* Perfon who was to deliver him the particular In-

* ftructions and Addrefs he was to make ufe of,

' that Perfon being ftill detained in the Country ;

1 but that he had taken Meafures to get from him
* the Memorandum Kelly had given him.'

On the 17th of October, Glafcock
c fends Kelly

word, That the Book of Accounts fent by G.

* Saunders is at laft come to hand, tho' the Perfon

' that brought it is ftill in the Country, fo that

' they are now in a Condition to fettle Accounts
* with Kelly.' And from this Time forward the

Correfpondents in France make ufe of a new Cy-

pher of Names, and new Directions to their Let-

ters.

From all thefe Circumftances, your Committee

fee reafon to believe, that Kelly fent over a new
Cypher, and a new Lift of Directions to France by

Sir Harry Goring -, in which they are the more con-

firm'd, by obferving that this new Cypher ap-

pears fram'd in fuch a Manner, that the initial

Letters of the real Names are always prefixed to

the fictitious ones, which laft are frequently vari-

ed, but the initial Letter never. This will be

more clearly underftood by inftancing in one of

the Names.
The Perfon who carried over the Cypher and

Lift of Directions from Kelly, is in fome Letters

call'd G. Sampfon ; in others G. Stephenfon, G.

Saunders, and G. Sandford -, and appears to be the

fame with Mrs. Hore, who was obferved before

to be probably Sir Harry Goring.

Your Committee farther obferve, That all the

Names made ufe of in the new Direclions, were
enter'd by Kelly in the

d Pocket-Book that was
taken upon him when he was laft feiz'd, with fuch

Marks and Obfervations before them, as need no
great Explanation. Over-againft the Names of
Bonnaville and Difode, is writ the Abbreviation

Glaf. and a
c Letter figned Difode, having been

ftopped at the Poft Office, appears to be in the

fame hand as thole figned Howell, Quit-well, Querry,

&c. which were fhewn above to have been wric

by Glafcock. Over-againft Brifac and Du Puy,
is writ Slur -, and your Committee find that Letters

came for Kelly, directed by thefe Names to Stur-

gis's Coffee- houfe. Over-againft Contade and Lunel-
le, is writ Slau ; and your Committee find, that

Letters thus directed were left for him at Slaugh-

ter's Coffee-houfe.

The Committee are fenfible, that their enter-

ing into fo minute a Detail, muft be tedious to the

Houfe ; but as the Confpirators have been no lefs

induftrious than they are obftinate in concealing
their Teafon, your Committee have thought it

their Duty to trace it thro' every Difguife, as near
as they could, and to lay before the Houfe every
Circumftance which may any way tend to a Dil-
covery fo neceffary for the Safety and Quiet of
thefe Kingdoms, and yet fo little to be hoped for

from the prefent Temper aricT Difpofition of the
Confpirators themfelves.

The firft
f
of Kelly's Letters, writ in this new

Cypher, is of the ioth of September, directed to
Bonnaville (Glafcock) under Cover to Hues, Banker
at Paris.

In this he fays, < I hope you have feen G. Ste-
1 phenfon before now,' and mentions a Trunk that
he is foon to fend to him ; which Circumftance
fhews he is the fame Perfon meant by G. Sandford
in other Letters.

He then takes notice of a young Fellow that he
had recommended, (which was obferved before to
be probably Neynoe) ' and earneftly begs the
* Goods he carries with him may be difpofed of
1 at any Rate; and, if pothole, without Mr. L,
1 Crawford's or his Partners being concerned in
' the Bargain.' Your Committee obferve from
Neynoe's Informations, that he was to be recom-
mended by Kelly to Lord Lanfdown's Family.
They likewife obferve from feveral other Letters,
that Dillon, upon the Caution given him by Skin-
ner from the Bifhop of' Rochefter, was grown very
jealous of his former Friends at Paris ; from which
Circumftances, they think it probable, that by L.
Crawford, is meant Lord Lanfdown.
He then adds, ' Your Coufin C. Saunders is

1 well, and with a Friend in the Country, who
' will take particular Care of her, till a better
' Service can be got for her.'

This compared with what he fays in his Letter
of the 13 th of Auguft, of Trotter's having writ to

"

him for Advice, and wanting to be employ'd in a
Voyage or other Bufinefs, makes it probable, that
by C. Saunders is meant Carte.

He then adds, « Your Relations, N. Crone and
* S. Farrel, have made feveral Bargains for ready
' Money in the third Subfcription ; and as the
' Time allow'd by Parliament for Non-profecution
* will be out as foon as it fits, their Creditors
' will then fall upon them and all their Friends,
* and put them in Jail, except you can fend them
£ fome Relief: And tho' your Actions are at a
' very low Price, however, I believe, they would
* be extremely pleafed to have them fold at any
' rate, to enable them to pacify their Creditors
' on this Side, and to put them in a ftate of
' Safety.

It has been obferv'd that the Confpiracy is of-

ten treated of under the Cant of Stocks ; and whe-
ther this third Subfcription may not mean the

third Period of Time fix'd by the Confpirators,

and the Relief defired be not fome Affiftance

from Abroad, is fubmitted to the Confideration of

the Houfe.

That this Paffage cannot be underftood in the-

literal Senfe, is evident from its being faid, that

the Time of Non-profecution expires at the Sit-

ting of the Parliament •, but your Committee ap-

prehend, that the Meaning of this Paragraph is

fully explain'd by another in the fame Lecter, in

which Kelly fays, ' There is no Profpect of the

' State Prifoners getting out till next Term, and
' if the Habeas Corpus Act be fufpended at the

' Meeting of the Parliament, they will remain

* during the Government's Pleafure, and per-

' haps have Company enough.' Who are meant by

N. Crone and S. Farrel, is fubmitted to the Con-

jecture of the Houfe.

Vol. VI.
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His next a

Letter to Glafcock is of the 27th

Sept. in which he complains, * That he has not
* heard a Syllable from D. Gainer {Dillon proba-

* bly or G. Roberts (Glafcock probably) fince Mr.
c G. Sampfon (Goring) went ; which has been no
' fmall Detriment to fome of their Friends.' He
adds, ' The Term being foon at hand, we fhall

' be much at a Lofs how to manage without their

1 Advice ; which G. Sampfon pofitively promis'd
4 to fend a fpeedy Account of.

' The Situation of your Friends (lands much
« as it did, and nothing has happened of late

4 in your Family to eafe their Loffes, or mend
4 their Condition.'

He then gives a long Account of the Lord
North and Grey's being feiz'd at Portfmouth, and of

his being to be brought to Town that Night ; and

concludes thus:
' I muft now plainly tell you, that I am afraid

* your Coufin N. Clifton is in a very bad Way,
4 and a Perfon (whom he lately employed to ma-
4 nage fome Things for him, particularly to com-
4 pound fome S. Sea Bargains) has not been true

* to him : For his Creditors have actually put him
' in Jail, and except you can contrive to fend him
* fome Relief from what Ejfecls he put into your
4 MifTifippi (for I don't find he has any other Prof-
4 ped) his Confinement will prove fatal to him.
c You know his Worth, and for Heaven's fake
4 don't forfake him.'

This Letter being mentioned to be writ on the

Day Lord North and Grey was brought up in

Cuftody, your Committee cannot but be led to

conjecture, that by N. Clifton is meant the faid

Lord, and that the Perfon faid to be employ'd by
him, and fufpected of being falfe to him, is either

Lynch or Layer ; and if this Conjecture be admit-

ted, it is not improbable that by N Crone, in the

former Letter, may be meant the faid Lord
North.

On the 20th Offober, Glafcock
b
writes to Kelly,

* That D. Gamer (who in another Part of the
4 Letter is call'd D. Gregory, and is probably Dil-

* Ion) thinks very ferioufly of theCom millions with
* which Kelly had charg'd him for his Friends, and
4 does not refufe to employ his whole Credit in

* that Affair ; but that one fingle Article had con-
* fum'd the Bill of Exchange, which N. Cleaton
4 fent, and that there is not any other come that

* Dillon knows of.'

Here N. Cleaton means evidently the fame as

N. Clifton in Kelly's Letter; and it appears he had

fent a Bill of Exchange to France, which was all

confum'd in one fingle Article ofExpence. In

former Letters notice was taken of a Bill of Ex-
change fent over by Repney, and of 20000 /. raifed

by N.
In the fame Letter, Glafcock takes notice of fome

Goods fent by Contade and Lunelle for Kelly's Ufe,
which he defires Kelly to fend for, and to acknow-
ledge the Receipt of them carefully.

It appears to your Committee, that thefe Goods

were the Pretender's Declarations, which c came
inclofed that Poft, or the next, under blank Co-
vers to Contade and Lunelle at Slaughter's Coffee-

houfe, agreeable to the Memorandum in Kelly's

Pocket-Book.

In another Part of the foregoing Letter, it is

E. 7;.
b E. 7 5- fE, 33,34..

faid, that Mr. G. Sampfon has fent over his Project

ofAccommodation, and waits the Event of it, which
it is probable relates to the fame Declaration.

Kelly being examin'd by the Committee in rela-

tion to the Names in his
d Pocket-Book, faid,

* They were Names of Perfons, with whom he
* had tranfacted Stock-Affairs in France feveral
* Years ago. He own'd he had feen Letters at
f Slaughter's and Sturgh's Coffee-houfe, directed
4 by fome of thofe Names, but that it might
1 eafily happen, that there might be Perfons
* in England of the fame Names with others
' in France; and that it was his Misfortune
' Letters fhould come directed by thofe Names.
4 He infilled, that his Pocket-Book, tho' ta-

* ken upon him, was an old one, that had lain
4 by neglected thefe three Years:' Yet your
Committee obferve, the Memorandums in it

were of a late Date, and contain'd a particular

Account of the Time of his Journeys to and from
France, and of the Days on which he and Dennis
Kelly, and the Bifhop of Rochefler, were taken in-

to Cuftody.

The Houfe will obferve, that this long and
particular Account of George Kelly is extracted out
of fuch Papers and Informations, as ,^ere in the

Hands ofthe Government, relating to him, fup-

ported by fuch Explications as feem to the Com-
mittee naturally to arife from comparing the fede-

ral Parts of them together •, but that he himfelf up-

on his Examination refufed to make the leaft Dif-

covery that might give light to any part of this

treafonable Correfpondence, tho' he plainly inti-

mated he had it in his Power to do it. And if in

fome Particulars, the Committee fhould have fal-

len fhort of the true and genuine Explanation of

the Names, or other Facts, which may eafily have

happen'd in unfolding fuch Variety of Matter,

fo induftrioufly wrapt up in the utmoft Obfcurity

;

yet they conceive it will not leffen the Credit of

thofe Facts in general relating to him, which are

fupported by unqueftionable Evidence, notwith-

flanding his denying of them, and his prevaricat-

ing fo grofly with the Committee.

Your Committee will now proceed to lay before

you fuch Particulars, as they have collected from

the Papers referred to them, relating to Dennis

Kelly Efq; who appears to them, from feveral

Paffages in the intercepted Letters, to have acled

in Concert with the other Kelly, and behaved

himfelf with the fame Obflinacy on his
e Exami-

nation before them.

Your Committee fee Reafon to believe, that

the feveral fictitious Names of Kirton, Killegrew,

Sandford, St. George, and Hubberts, are made ufe of

in the intercepted Letters to exprefs one and the

fame Perfon: And as this Perfon is frequently

fpoken of as living at the Cockpit, as being himfelf

ill of a Fever and Ague part of lafl Summer, a»

having a Daughter who was troubled with Re-

turns of fpitting Blood at particular Times there

mention'd, and as being to fet out with his Family

for France by Diepe, the latter end ofJuly ; thefe-

feveral Circumflances being confirmed to your

Committee by the written ' Examinations of Mr.

Dennis Kelly's Servants to have been true of him,

and being in the Opinion of the Committee ap-

plicable to no one elfe, they fee Reafon to con-

clude, that what is affirmed in the intercepted

d E. 17. «F. 33.
f F. 2. 8.
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dence, which is confirmed by q Mr. Crawford's
Letter from Paris,

-ff. of May, in which he fays
s

* There is one Captain Kelly, who frequents the
' Cocoa-Tree and /Fz//'sCoffee-houfe, who is much
' in the confidence of Dillon and Lord Lanfdown,
1 he was here fome Months ago, and is at pre-
' fent very active in England."

Your Committee find, that he was abroad for
feveral Months the latter end of the Year 1721,
and that fome of the Letters fent to him byficti-

Dennis Kelly's tious Names from France, were directed to Will's

appears by Coffee-houfe and the Cocoa-Tree.

The Matters which they find him principally
concerned in by the intercepted Letters, are the
Remittance of the Bill of Exchange fent over

*723
Correfpondence, of the Perfon defigned by the

Names above-mentioned, is affirmed of him.

Your Committee have likewife been a inform-

ed, that Enquiry having been made at the Britifh

Coffee-Houfe, who took up Letters directed thi-

ther by the Name of Sandford, it was found that

one Mr. Kelly, who frequented that Houfe, took

them up. And a Letter from France fo directed,

having been copied at the Poft-Office, and then

delivered out, the
b Original of the faid Letter,

finned M. Digby, was found in

Pocket, when he was taken up, as

the
c Affidavit of the Meffenger who feiz'd him.

In this Letter Digby fends his Service to his

Coufin Ireton, which has been fhewn above to be

one of the Names belonging to George Kelly ; and from thePerfon called Repney, the Receipt ofwhich
alfo mentions Hore, who has been already explain- is acknowledged in feveral Letters to him, his

ed to be probably Sir Harry Goring

Your Committee obferve, that the faid Letter

was writ in the fame Hand with another d fign-

ed J. Gerrard, which was likewife found among
Dennis Kelly's Papers, and has been obferv'd a-

bove to be probably the Name made ufe of by Sir

JohnD'Obryan, whom George Kelly declared to be

Secretary to Dillon,

being prefent at a
r Confutation with the Perfons

called Rep. Ho. and Den. and his being to carry
over to France their final Anfwer, together with
a new l Cypher, Lift of Directions, and other
verbal Inftructions, from George Kelly, for Dillon,

Glafcock and Talbot.

As George Kelly's Correfpondence was clofely

connected with that of the Bifhop of Rochefter,

They farther obferve, that both thefe Letters, Thomas Carte, and Dennis Kelly, and as he appears

figned Gerrard and Digby, were in the fame Hand to have been privy to Plunket's ; fo your Com-
with c others found in his Cuftody relating to mittee fee reafbn to believe, that he was not a
Dillon's private Affairs ; which confirms Digby to Stranger to that of Sample, who appears to be
be Dillon, and Gerrard to be one whofe Hand mentioned in a

v Letter from Gerrard to Kelly.

Dillon makes ufe of for his Difpatches.

Another f Fragment of a Letter was found a-

mong his Papers, mentioning the Names of Ireton

and Hore; which is in the fame Hand with the Let-

beingYour Committee find, that John Sample.

examined before the Secretaries of State, and
two of your Committee w

, owned, that Francis
Son of the Lord Sempill, commonly fo called had

ters to Plunkett, figned Dixwell and Howell, and is been in England that Summer, and returned to
therefore probably the writing of Chriftopher Glaf-

cock, George Kelly's Correfpondent.

Some other E Papers were alfo found in his Cuf-

tody, mentioning others of the fictitious Names
ufed in George Kelly's Letters, as alfo a long h Lift

of Names, with fictitious Names over-againft

them, and a ' Cypher of Figures, which appear

to be George Kelly's Hand-writing, and are fworn,

by the Clerks of the Poft-Office, to be the fame
Hand in which the Letters figned John/on, Hat-

field, &c. were writ. It has already been obferv-

ed, that this Cypher of Figures is found to be a

Supplement to the Cypher in which the Letters

of the late Duke of Ormond, and the Bifhop of

Rochejler were writ ; and that the faid Cypher
laft mentioned is made ufe of in

k one of the inter-

cepted Letters from Dillon to Dennis Kelly.

There was alfo found among his Papers, an
exact ' Lift of the quartering of his Majefty's

Forces a little before the time of the Elections,

France about three Weeks before his Examina-
tion, which was taken on the 4th of Auguft laft.

That during his Stay in England, he (John Sam-
ple-) was twice in company with him, and that

two Letters found in his Trunk were received by
him from the faid Francis Sempill before his com-
ing to England.

In the
x

firft of thefe Letters, dated June\r
1J22. Fr. Sempill tells him, ' That they are daily

' confirmed Mrs. Hews's Diftemper is but imagi-
' nary or counterfeit.' By Mrs. Hews, he faid,

was meant the King, and by his Diftemper the

late Difturbances.

Fr. Sempill then tells him, ' That this has put a
' Stop to Mr. Standwell's Proceedings (Standwell
1 he owned to mean the Pretender) but that this

* cannot difconcert Standwell's Meafures, nor e-

' ven delay any thing above a few Weeks.
' That perhaps he may foon produce himfelf,

* to their Coft, but it is not yet full time to give

him (Sample) hopes of that kind. He adds, that

they have not yet heard from Mr. Houlder' whom
Duke o{ Ormond.

agrees

and a
m Scheme for erecting By- Boats between

London and Boulogne, which feems referred to in

the n Letters between George Kelly and Gordon of Sample explained to be the Jate

Boulogne. Your Committee obferve, That this

There was alfo taken among his Papers a ° with the Accounts given in the former Parts of
Fragment of a very treafonable Letter, figned their Report, of the Attempts that were to have
F. M. which your Committee conjecture was from been made in Eiigland about the beginning ofMay,
one Francis Macnamarra, a Perfon concerned in which were prevented, tho' not entirely difconti-

the former Rebellion, there being p another Let- nued, by the Difcoveries made here, and by the

ter among his Papers, with the Name at length, Encampment.
in the fame Hand. Sample being fhewn the Copies of feveral Let-

Your Committee have laid together thefe feve- ters, taken at the Poft-Office, directed to Mr.
ral Circumftances, that it may appear Dennis Kel-

ly was concerned in the treafonable Correfpon-

Sempill at Paris, and encjofing others, owned,

appears by his y Examination, the writing

as

of
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them all, and gave Explications of the Names was mark'd, A Key and Cypher, with Mr. Farmer
made ufeof in them. a One of thefe Letters is to and Jerry ; and f

another, D, O, and J ; the firft.

Stand-well, whom he owned to mean the Pretender, of which is probably a Cypher between the Pre-
and b another is mentioned to be for Glafcow

i

% tender and Jernegan, and the latter between him
Mafter which is probably General Dillon. He and the late Duke of Ormond,

likewife owned his having writ to the late Duke It farther appears to your Committee, that
of Ormond, and to Kennedy his Secretary ; and Edward Jernegan being examin'd in relation to
while he was in Cuftody of the MefTenger, he the Meffage from the Duke of AV/i/i abovemen-
begun to put down in writing a Confeffion of his tion'd, has g depofed upon Oath, « That about

' a Fortnight before the Duke went to the Bath
' being inform'd that his Grace had enquired for
* fome of their Family, he, Jernegan, went to
* wait on him, and his Grace told him, that he
* had received a Letter from George Jernegan, -who
' was then abroad, but that he could not an-
* fwer it, Becaufe his Grace's Brother had the
* Key of the Cypher, in which it was written

;
4 and that he, Jernegan, delivered this Meflage
' to Mrs. Spelman.

The firft Letter directed to Mrs. Jones, (th
Duke of Norfolk) of which a Copy was taken'
dated, Cambray, nthjuly, 1722. and is partly
in Cypher, but has been decypher'd m the man-
ner following

:

SIR,
1 \7 Arious Confederations, which obliged me
1 V to fubmit, deprived me till now the Ho-
* nour of Writing to you ; therefore I flatter my-
* felf, you incline to favour me with opinion,
4 that my Zealand Attention are above falling into
' any Negligence, where your Sollicitude or pri-
' yate Satisfaction is concern'd. You have been
* in fome manner a Witnefs of the late turn m
' Affairs, and undoubtedly know fo much of them
' that I fear it will prove fuperfiuous to trouble
' you with the Particulars which I have : after
1 feveral Meetings with fome of our Friends at
' Paris* was of opinion, that the
1 whole fhould be communicated to the Reo-ent;
; which being agreed to, that Lord was deputed
; to wait on him : they met, and parted in ap-
pearance the beft Friends in the World, not-
withftanding immediately by the Regent's Or-
ders the Secret was difcovered to King George.
How is it pofiible to arm one's felf with fuffici-
ent Prudence againfl fuch a Conduct? Thefe
being our private Concerns, I leave 'em, to
divert you with the publick News: the Over-
ture of the Congrefs feems now in the way to-
be deferred to the K. of Fr. Majority, who,
fince his Removal to Verfailles, is in a manner
folely in the Hands of the Regent. His Co-
ronation remains ftillfix'd to the 15th of Octo-
ber; fo, in all appearance, this Year produces
no Difturbance to the prefent Peace of Europe.

Emperor grows daily more powerful

Crimes, c which was found in his Room after his

Efcape. But tho' fome of his Letters appeared

dictated by him toother Perfons, your Committee
do not find he would difcover who thofe Perfons

were.

Your Committee will next proceed to lay be-

fore you the Subftance of the feveral Papers and

Examinations refer'd to them, relating to Mrs.

Spelman, alias Tallop ; in doing which, they find

themfelves indifpenfably obliged to mention a

Perfon of high Rank and Diftinction, Thomas

Duke of Norfolk, among others concern'd in the

treafonable Correfpondence convey'd thro' the

Hands of the faid Mrs. Spehnan.

It appears to your Committee, that Mrs. Spel-

man being examined on the 19th of QElober, con-

cerning feveral Letters from abroad, directed to

her by the Name of Mr. or Mrs. Burton, has'
1

de-

clared upon Oath, ' That Mr. George Jernegan,

(who as your Committee are inform'd, is a Ro-
man Catholick, and appears to have been long em-
ploy 'd by the Pretender) « being in England a-

' bout fix Months before her Examination, did,

* upon his going for France, leave Orders with
' the faid Mrs. Spelman to fend to- the Duke of
4 Norfolk fuch Letters as fhe fhould receive from
* him, Jernegan, directed to Mrs. Jones;a.na\ to Mr.
4 Harvey of Combe, fuch as fhe fhould receive from
4 him, directed to Mrs.Wllliams, in Newgate-ftreet,
4 Norwich ; and to Mr. William Moor (who lives,
4 or did live in Brownlow-Jlreet) fuch as fhe fhould
« receive from him, directed to Mr. Frampton:
' and that it was agreed between her and Jerne-
1 gan, that he fhould direct to her by the Name
4 of Burton, when he did not do it by her own
' Name.

That fhe did accordingly fend (as had been

between them) the Letters that came
4 to her with the Directions abovemention'd,
* having firft enclofed them under new Covers,
' which fhe herfelf directed ; that fhe fent them
4 by common Porters, who always brought her
* back an Account of their having delivered them, '

' or of the Perfon's not being at home ; that
'

4 particularly one to the Duke of Norfolk was '

* brought back again by the Porter, his Grace '

4 not being in Town, which Letter fhe kept till
'

* he came to Town, and then fent it to him. '

4 That fhe once received a Meffage from the '

4 Duke of Norfolk by Mr. Edward Jernegan, that *

* his Grace could not anfwer a Letter fhe had '

* convey'd to him from George Jernegan, becaufe '

8 he, the Duke of Norfolk, had not the Key of *

* the Cypher, it being in his Brother's hands ;
'

4 flie likewife own'd her receiving feveral Cy- '

4 phers and Keys of Cyphers from George Jerne- '

4 gan, which fhe burnt between the time of '

* her firft and fecond Examination.' *

Copies of thefe Cyphers having been taken at *

the Poft-office,
k
it appears that e one of them '

agreed

1 he ^w,^^ lwl giuws uniiy mure powenuJ in
Italy, by the Pope's falling into that Intereft;
he has lately feiz'd the Fortrefs cf Majfa in Flo-
rence, and promifes the Inveftiture thereof,
with that of Parma, to the Prince of Baviere,
upon his Marriage with the Princefs Jofephina.-
Spain will be under great Difficulties to find
means to fupport their claim to thefe Provinces,
efpecially at a time that France feems negligent
of every thing that concerns them. There is

no Appearance likewife that the Affairs in the
North produce any thing material this Seafon :

the pacif/ck Temper of the K. of Pruffta fe-

on that fide, and has probablycures every thing

G6. G.g. C3. a H 3 . H37- f H. 35- H. 7 .

prevented
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« prevented the Difturbance threaten'd in thofe

' Parts. Thus at prefent are the Affairs of
« Europe.

« I did not fail to repeat my ufual Solicitations

« in favour of your Brother, and to add what in

« Juftice I thought you merited : This I did upon
« the firft Occafion, after my coming over

;

« to which, from the King, I have this Anfwer

:

June the 15th.

" No body has a better Opinion than I have

of the great Perfon you mention, nor does his

Character more Juftice : I mail be always de-

firous to do what is in my Power to convince

him of my Regard for his Brother, who now

is in the Country with me ; but I fear it will not

be time to move in the Particular you mention

of fome Years yet, which will be the Cafe of all

others who pretend to the fame Right as I

do.

« Thus far was his. There is a Pleafure to fee

with what generous Virtue he repays all who
confider his Misfortunes.

I prefume to mention one Thing more, being

moved to it out of a pure Confideration to the

Credit it will give to your Name. Dr. Witham

finds himfelf under the Neceffity of building the

old Houfe, being ready to fall •, and next Spring

they begin, but upon fo fmall a Fund as will

never finifh the Work, as it ought to be ; the

Confequence of which muft neceffarily oblige

them to beg the Affiftance of their Friends. I

fhould be lorry upon this Occafion, that any

other Perfon fhould diftinguifh himfelf fo, by a

Donation, as to merit his Arms to be placed in

the Front, where I could wifh to fee your own.

I have not fpoke one word of this to any Per-

fon in the Houfe, thinking it would look more

generous in you, if difpofed to take the Credit

of laying the firft Stone, to move and offer it

yourfelf. As to other Matters, if I can be

ferviceable in thefe Parts, either in your parti-

cular, or to the Intereft of the Party, you know
me faithfully devoted to both. I haveobtain'd

leave to return by the end of the Summer, finding

it inconvenient to my private Situation to re-

main longer Abroad: I hope then to prefent

you with frefn Proofs with what Zeal and Re-

ipedl Pve the Honour to be,

Sir, your mosl Obedient and

mofi humble, Servant.

* Be pleafed to addrefs to me,
' a Monfieur Hooker under Cover a Monfieur

* Pigault Banquier a Calais.

Your Committee obferve from this Letter, that
Jernegan fuppofes the Duke of Norfolk already ac-

quainted with a Defign, on which Application
had been made to the Regent, and with the Cau-
fes of its Mifcarriage ; that however, in order to
ihew his Zeal and Attention in any Thing, where
he thought the Duke's Solicitude concern'd, he
fends him an Account of what had happen'd to
their common Friends at Paris, and of the Secret's
being communicated to King George by the Re-
gent's Order; and then laments the impofiibility
of arming themfelves with fufficient Prudence a-
gainft fuch a Conduct, which, fuppofing it to
have been fuch as they reprefent, yet could not
poflibly have appear'd blameable to any but the
Enemies of our prefent happy Eftablifhment.

Vol. VI.

He then fhews from the Situation of Affairs in

Europe, there is but little Profpect of any Rup-
ture, which may be favourable or advantageous
to their Defigns.

He afterwards acquaints the Duke, that he had
repeated his Solicitations to the Pretender in favour
of his Grace's Brother, and had alfo added what
in Juftice he thought His Grace himfelf merited ; to

which he received an Anfwer from the Pretender

(whom he ftyles the King) acknowledging his

great Opinion of the Duke, and the Juftice he does

his Charailer, and his Readinefs to convince his

Grace of his Regard, by any Kindnefs he can fhew
his Brother.

And the Inference, which Jernegan makes from
the Regard exprefs'd towards the Duke in this

Letter of the Pretender's, is, That there is a
Pleafure to fee with what generous Virtue he
(the Pretender) repays all thofe, who confider his

Misfortunes.

He concludes with telling the Duke, that if he
can be ferviceable in thofe Parts, either in his

Grace's own Particular, or to the Intereft of the

Party, his Grace knows him faithfully devoted to

both.

On the Tf of Auguft, Jernegan writes a fe-

cond Letter to the Duke, as follows.

SIR,

THE Viciffitude in our Affairs being i

perpetual ebbing and flowing, 'tis ex-

tremely difficult to affure any thing with cer-

tainty : In my laft of the 12th I mention'd how"

Things had happened ; and altho' the Fact was
true, yet the Confequence did not anfwer what
we apprehended : It was a politick Necefiityj

which urged and demanded that Conduct, and
it appears now to have fucceeded fo well, that

every Hand is at work, as before, to draw
Things to a right Conclufion ; brief's, we are

flatter'd that the Regent is cordially in our

Intereft, and difpofes every Thing to undertake

the Work, which according to fome Accounts
will be put in execution within two Months,

thofe, who are ferious and make due Reflec-

tion on thefe Matters, know how far they may
be ufeful to the Caufe, and with timely and
prudent Precautions may difpofe their Friends to

act a lively Part ; whilft they themfelves keep
retired, till the Succefs one Way or the other

determines what is neceffary to be done.

• I have Opportunity, by being in thefe Parts,

of picking up feveral good Officers, and with

a little Trouble as many as would compleat an

entire Regiment, into which any Gentleman

might enter himfelf, and do his Duty with Ho-
nour. This is what I thought fit to propofeon

this Occafion, and fhould be glad to know, if

folely upon your own Bottom this may be

thought on. I fhall take all neceffary Precau-

tion, and fhall firft know certainly what there

is to depend upon. Your Opinion on thefe

Matters, with the Afiiftance of your Advice,

will lay a moft fenfible Obligation on him, who
entirely devotes himfelf,

Sir, your moft Obedient and

moft Humble Servant.

« Let the Conveyer of thefe furnifh you with

« my immediate Addrefs.'

Ii Your
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Your Committee obferve, that in this letter,

Jernegan does, with an Air of great Satisfaction,

try to leffen the Apprehenfions and Difcourage-

ments, which he fuppofed his former Account of

the Regent's having betray'd the Secret might

have rais'd in his Grace, and fays that every

Hand is now at work as before to draw Things to

a right Conclufwn, without explaining what that

former Work, or the right Conclufton hoped for is

;

which Particulars, it appears, he thought &> well

known to the Duke, as not to need the leaft Ex-
planation.

Then after telling his Grace, We are flatter'd

the Regent is cordially in our Intereft, and is dif-

pofing every Thing to undertake the Work within

two Months Time, he intimates, that from this

Hint, one of his Grace's Serioufnefs and Reflection

might be ufefial to the Caufe, by difpofing his

Friends (who may juftly be underftood to be the

Roman Catholicks) to acl a lively Part, while he

himfelf lies retired, waiting till the Event fhould

determine what part it was proper for him to take.

He then makes the Offer to his Grace of raifing

an entire Regiment of Officers in Flanders, into

which any Gentleman might enter himfelf, and do

his Duty with Honour; and defires to know,
whether on his Grace's own Bottom fuch a Thing
might be thought of.

This treafonable Offer, from an humble Ser-

vant of his Grace's, fhews that Jernegan was at

leaft perfuaded it would not be ill received ; which

could only proceed from a thorow Aflurance of the

Duke's Inclinations to the Pretender's Caufe, and

of his Intentions to fupport it with Men and Mo-
ney, whenever a. Probability of Succefs fhould

make it fafe and proper for him to efpoufe it

openly.

Your Committee farther obferve, that this let-

ter was writ about the fame Time, that Plunket

was fo bufy in preffing Dillon to folicit the Re-

gent's AfTiftance-, and that the Term for putting

the Defign in execution, which is mention'd in

Jernegan'?, letter to be within two Months from

the Beginning of Auguft, has an evident relation

to the third Period pitch'd upon by the Con fp tu-

tors, which, as has been obferved before, was the

breaking up of the Camp. And it appears to

your Committee, by feveral concurrent a Ad-
vices from France, Spain, and Italy, during the

Months of Jtdy and Auguft, that the Defign,

which had been fufpended upon the firft Difcovery

of the Plot, was again refumed, and Prepara-

tions made for the Pretender's leaving Italy about

the Beginning of September ; for which purpofe

the Ship Revolution (fince taken) fet fail for Italy

the latter End of Auguft, having on board near

two hundred Men and a great Number of Officers.

Mention is made, in Jernegan's letters to Mrs.

Spelman, of a great Number of letters written to

and received Irom Mr. Harvey of Combe, by the

Name of Mrs. Williams ; and in
b one of his let-

ters to Mr. Harvey he fays, * The Regent plays

« a Game a-part, and confides in none but Bri-

* tain, and has facrificed Us to make a firm Friend
' of King George. The late Difappointment in

* our Affairs has given a furprizing Power to the

' Court of France: They filence all other Princes

' in regard to Us; none now dare look that way, or
' undertake the leaft trifling Service in our favour.'

On the 20th of July, Mr. Harvey fent an An-
fwer to this letter, the Original of which is

ftopp'd, and is
c fworn by Mrs. Spelman to be

his Hand-writing ; but it contains fuch an odd
Heap of low and virulent Scandal, that the Com-
mittee do not think proper to trouble the Houfe
with any Extract of it, but have d annexed it

entire to their Report.

Your Committee have already taken Notice,

that the treafonable Correfpondence, above fet

forth, was not confined to England only, but was
carried on in Scotland, under the fame Cant Ex-
preflions of Wine, "Trade, Goods, &c. And it ap-

pears that the Pretender's Agents were equally

bufy in difpofing Matters for an Infurrection in

that part of the Kingdom, at the fame Periods of

Time as were fix'd on in England.

They find that the Government has receiv'd
e Information upon Oath from one Lodowick An-
derfon, ' That on the 28th of January 1721, Bri-
1 gadier Mackintofh was feen by him (Anderfm)
* at the Houfe of Sir John Mackenzie of Coul, and
' told Anderfon that the Pretender defign'd to have
* on the Crown of Scotland before Midfummer,
* and that he was to be affifted from France, Spain,
1 and Mufcovy; that General Gordon and Captain
' Tullock were to land at the Loach Elch with
* Arms for this Purpofe.'

That Mackintofh was then in Britain, agrees

with f
Fancier's Depofition.

' Anderfon farther depofed, that on the 15th
« of February he met the Lord George Murray at a

' place not far from the Earl of Kintore's, who con-

' firm'd to him what Mackintofh had faid, with
' feveral other Particulars ; that two Days after,

4 he met Mr. James Keith, Brother to the Earl
' Marifhall, who after having told him that there

* would be a Defcent in favour of the Pretender,

' named to him feveral Perfons (fpecified in his

* Depofition) that were come over to get Mat-
' ters in a readinefs.'

This, your Committee obferves, anfwers to the

firft Period of Time for beginning an Infurrection

with the help of foreign Forces during the Time
of the Elections.

About the Beginning of May a s letter was

intercepted, directed to Mr. Peter Smytha.t Boulogne,

and inclofing
h another to De Martin : Which let-

ters, as your Committee are informed, are in the

Hand-writing of Mr. Cochran. Who is meant by

De Martin, does not appear.

In this letter Cochran fays, ' Our Cuftomers, on

« this Side the Water, are as fond of taking our

* Goods, as you are offending them •, but I am a-

« fraid if they are not fent foon, the Market will

* be foreftall'd, for our Enemies begin to be upon
' their Guard. He adds, that their Friends in

' England are willing no fend Money to pay for

* them per Advance, and that they in Scotland art

' not backward, but hope, in a few Days to re-

' mitas much Money as will be fufficient for their

* Country. He then defires to know how foon

* they may expect their Wines on this Side the

« Water, that they may put themfelves in a fuf-

' fcient Pofture for receiving them.'

Your Committee likewife find that Chriftopher

Glafcock, Dillon's Agent, carried on ' Correfpon-

dences to the fame Effect, with one who went by

the Name of James Johnfton at Edinburgh ; and

» A. 24, 25.29. 31. 33.41.4.2.43.
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that
a George Kelly correfponded with the fame

James Johnfton, and owned to the Lords at his

b Examination, his having fent the faid Johnfton

a Paper from Glafcock, which he pretended related

only to the Miffiftppi.

Letters were Jikewife intercepted going from

Edinburgh, directed toCollins ztMv.Waters's, Bank-

er at Paris ; which Collins appears, by Kelly's
c

Cypher, to be Colin Campbell of Glenderoule.

In " one of thefe Letters to Collins, mention is

made of a Perfon of great Confequence and Dif-

tinction, lately regained to the Pretender's Party,

who infilled on a Sight of the Contract of Copartnery,

which Collins is defired to fend over by the firft

fure Hand •, and Collins, in his
c Anfwer, figned

R. Broun, promifes it fhall be fent over.

Your Committee obferve, that this Particular

agrees with f Fairfax's Depofition upon Oath,

That Layer told him, The People of England were

backward, but that thofe of Scotland had already

entered into an Affociation.

In the fame g Letter to Collins it is faid, That

the Perfon of Confequence, who had infifted on

a Sight of the Contrail of Copartnery, defired an

Order from Mr. Malcom for raifing one or two

Battalions, but was told thofe Orders might come

time enough by the hands of thofe who happened

to come firft to open the Commerce; which fhews

of what nature that Commerce was.

In the fame Letter Application is made to Mr.
Malcom for a Patent for Knight Baronet ; both

which Circumftances confirm Malcom to be the

Pretender.

Your Committee obferve, that thefe Letters,

and h fome others, which appear to have been

intercepted about the Month of May, and are

annexed to this Report, fall in with the fecond

Period of Time fixed by the Confpirators in Eng-

land.

And on the 18th of Anguft, O. S. Mr. Stanhope
1

writes word from Madrid, that he had re-

ceived Intelligence, that the Scotch had engaged

to bring 22000 Men into the Field in ten days

time, in cafe the late Duke of Ormond would
come over with Armsto head them, and that they

daily fent moft preffing Meffages to Ormond on that

Subject. ; which fhews that the Defign was re-

afiumed a third time in Scotland, as it was in Eng-
land.

Your Committee farther obferve, that agreeably

to what was promifed in Mr. Cochran's Letter of
the 28th of April,

k Mr. William Erskine did on
the 3d of May, remit Two Thoufand Pounds
Sterling to Mr. Gerrard, Dillon's Secretary at

Paris, and owned his fo doing on his ' Examina-
tion before the Lord Juftice Clerk, butrefufed to

difcover who Gerrard was, or from whom and
torwhofe Ufe the faid Sum was remitted.

When he was taken into Cuftody, a Letter was
feized in his Pocket, which, as your Committee
is

n
informed, is all in the late Lord Marr's own

Hand-writing, dated Paris, February the 9th,

1722. in the following words.

Paris, February 9. 1722.

IHave, William, yours of the 7th, for which
I am obliged to you, and take all you fay,

as I ought, from the good Heart from whence
I know it comes, tho' at the fame time you put

1 a greater Value on your Friend than he deferves:
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But be that as it will, I am fully perfuaded, as
you may be, that he will never fail an Occafi-
on for what you mean, nor neglect endeavour-
ing to bring it about, where he fees it can be of
Advantage to his Country ; and his Friends and
Countrymen may depend on it, when they fee

him engaged again, that the retrieving of it from
the low Condition it is now in, and otherways
ever like to be, is the chief Motive that induces
him, and he hopes in that way he will not be
without the Afiiftance of all who wifh the fame
thing ; and the more, that he will take all the
care he can not to expofe them for ferving that
of others, if at the fame time he be not pretty
fure of its doing effectual Service to their own,
and putting it on a better foot than it has been
thefe hundred years paft. If he looked but to
his own private Intereft, he could perhaps find

a way, which could conduce more to it : but
he hopes, by his former Actions, it appears
that he never put that in competition, with what
he thought was the Intereft of his Country, tho*

in which he owns he was once miftaken, as ma-
ny others may have been ; but as he never fcru-

pled owning his Fault, fince he found it by Ex-
perience to be one, fo he has ever fince endea-
voured to make amends, and will as long as he
lives.

* Things are in fuch a Situation at prefentover
all Europe, that there appears little if any Op-
portunity of doing what is to be wifh'd upon
that Account ; but things of this kind are very
uncertain, and an Opportunity may come, or be
brought about, when leaft expected ; and you
may believe it will not be neglected when it

does: nor will any Endeavours be wanting to

bring it to that pafs. Hufh ! tho' muft be the
word, and Friends muft not take amifs their nor.

being acquainted previoufly to the Execution, in

which it is to be hoped they will not fail.

'You fee I make no fcruple in writing freely to

you, but you know the Confequence of this com-
ing into wrong hands, and thofe it is fit and of
ufe to be told to, you know too : So I leave it

to your own Difcretion, of which you have
given me many Proofs. I have been much out of
ufe of writing to H. S. for fome Years paft, and
I have not yet got a return of one I wrote him
laft Summer ; but I fhall write to him of what
you mention in yours.

' As to M- y, I care not to fay more about

him, and were it not that I think it for the

good of a certain Perfon and Caufe, I fhould not

even wifh to have all the truth told of him,
fince his being abroad. I cannot anfwer for

what handles may be given him for his Juftifi-

cation ; but let honeft Men, who wifh right,

tell the Truth, where they know it and that

it is neceffary, and fhame the Devil.
' I wifh you a good Journey and good Luck with

all my heart, and that we may foon have an

Opportunity to meet merrily, and be of ufe

to our Country. My Compliments to my
Friends, and I hope we fhall never have caufe

to be afhamed of other.

' I fhall long impatiently to hear from you after

your getting to London and Edinburgh ; and pray

do not fail writing after your coming to both

Places, and have feen People.

I. 1.

M.7.8.
E. 1.

'1. 10.

11. a.
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V Send me your Addrefs, and you may be lure * ble Confpiracy, and has carried on feveral
* of hearing from me, when it can be of any * Treafonable Correfpondences, to raife Infurrec-
4 ufe. Pleafure it would be always to me, but * tions and a Rebellion at Home, and to pro-
* that muft yield fometimesto Circumftances. * cure a foreign Force to invade thefe King-

4 My Family falute you, and wifh you all Hap- * doms from Abroad.
* pinefs, as I do, who am fincerely and affectio- « That it appears to this Houfe that Francis
4 nately yours, &c. Adieu. 4 Lord Bifhop of Rochefier was principally con-

4
I wifh you may have fomething agreeable to * cern'd in forming, directing and carrying on the

4 tell me of your Brother and Uncle, when you 4 faid wicked and deteftable Confpiracy
,°

for in-
4 have feen them, and remember me kindly to 4 vading thefe Kingdoms with a foreign Force
4 your Father-in-law. Sure we muft all wifh 4 and for raifing Infurrections and a Rebellion at
4 the fame way to our Country. 4 Home in order to fubvert our prefent happy

4 What is become of our Coufin Will, who I 4 Eftablifhment in Church and State, by placing
4 hear is ftill where you have been for fome 4 a Popijh Pretender upon the Throne.'
' time? In Purfuance of thefe Refolutions, it was or-

Your Committee likewife find evident Footfteps der'd by the Houfe, that Bills of Pains and Pe-
of this treafonable Correfpondence a from Ire- nalties mould be feverally brought in againft the
land; but having already fhewn fufficiently the faid John Plunket, George Kelly, and Francis Lord
Extenfivenefs of the Confpiracy, they forbear to Bifhop of Rochejler.

tire the Houfe with any further Particulars. March 14. The Houfe came to a Refolution
Your Committee have now gone thro' the fe- to communicate their Report to the Lords at a

veral Matters, that appear'd to them from the Conference, and alfo (having obtained the King's
Examinations of the Perfons or Papers refer'd leave) the Letters and Papers relating to the Con-
to them •, and they are in hopes, that in report- fpiracy.

ing every Circumftance, that feem'd material, March 16. The Houfe of Lords chofe the fol-

they have ftrictly comply'd with the Intentions of lowing Peers to be a Committee to enquire
the Houfe in appointing them. into the faid Confpiracy.

If the frequent Repetitions of the fame Matter „. ^ , ^ , fr, .
, c ,,, ,

n
, o •

. 1 .l His prace the Duke of Dorfet.
have fwell d the Report into too great a length,

Hj G , D ,

fM J
r

they are perluaded the Houfe will excufe it, lince ^, t? 1 f o ; /
- '

• 11 1 m L 1.1 j • I he Earl or Scarborough.
it was, in all the .Places where they have done it, ^, r> 1 r T • 1

„• _ , • , n rr i j \r * he Earl of Lincoln.
neceliary to explain the Paffages related, or elie rp, -p , r j,

to fhew the Connection of the Treafons, as well ~-,, T
'J

, 7 r
/'

7

, ^ . r , r, r ., I he Lord Lon dale.
as the Co-operation of the Conlpirators in their a^, t i ,

'„* J
-
.-.

. , <

•
1 ji'r\ r fju • u- n. c ji\/t A he Eord Torrmgton.

wicked Delign of aethronina; his molt lacred Ma- q,, r..^ r T ? ,

- „ , ° &
r , ,^n 1 he Bifhop or Lincoln.

jefty, and overturning our prefent happy Efta-
The Bj

^
of Salifb

blifhment in Church and State. r J '

This Committee made their Report on April

ON March 8. The Houfe proceeded to take 23d, which was as follows,

the faid Report into confideration. Where-
upon the Houfe came to the following Refoluti- '"TpHE Committee to whom the Report and
ons, viz. A Original Papers relating to the Confpiracy,

4 That upon Confideration of the Report, and delivered by the Houfe of Commons at feveral
4 the feveral Papers and Examinations relating to Conferences, were referred ; and who were im-
4 the Confpiracy, it appears to this Houfe, That powered by your Lordfbips to examine Chrijlopher
4 a deteftable and horrid Confpiracy has been Layer, and fuch other Perfons as they from time
' formed and carried on by Perfons of Figure to time fhould think proper; having carefully
4 and Diftinction, and their Agents and Inftru- compared the faid Report with the Original Pa-
4 ments, in conjunction with Traitors abroad, pers referred to them, and having examined fe-

4 for invading thefe Kingdoms with foreign For- veral Perfons in relation to the Treafonable Prac-
4 ces, for raifing Infurrections and a Rebellion at tices and Correfpondences therein fet forth, are

' Home, for feizing the Tower and City of Lon- fully fatisfied and convinced, That a deteftable
4 don, for laying violent Hands upon the Perfon and wicked Confpiracy has been formed and car-
4 of his moft facred Majefty and the Prince of ried on for foliciting a Foreign Force to invade
4 Wales, in order to fubvert our prefent happy thefe Kingdoms, for raifing a Rebellion and in-
4 Eftablifhment in Church and State, by placing citing Infurrections in London, and divers other
4 a Popijh Pretender upon the Throne. Parts of Great Britain, and even for laying vio-

4 That it appears to this Houfe, that John lent Hands on the facred Perfon of His Ma-
4 Plunket has been a principal Agent and Inftru- jefty, and on His Royal Highnefs the Prince of
4 ment in the laid horrid and deteftable Confpi- Wales, in order to deftroy our Religion and Con-
4 racy, and has carried on feveral treafonable ftitution by placing a Popifh Pretender on the
4 Correfpondences, to procure a foreign Force to Throne.
* invade thefe Kingdoms, and to raife Infurrec- And the Lords Committees think themfelves
4 tions and a Rebellion at Home, and was en- obliged in juftice to obferve, that the extraor-
4 gaged with others in the villainous and exe- dinary Vigilance and Application which has been
4 crable Defign of laying violent Hands upon Flis fhewn by the Houfe of Commons in detecting-

4 Majefty's moft facred Perfon. this Scene of Iniquity, and laying its moft hidden
4 That it appears to this Houfe, that George Springs in fo full and clear a Light, as it has

4 Kelly, alias John/on, has been a principal Agent greatly contributed to the Publick Safety, by
6a nd Inftrument in the faid horrid and detefta- opening the Eyes, and awakening the juft Re-

* It. , 3.
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*entment of an injur'd Nation; fo it cannot fail

to excite a proportionable Zeal and Emulation

in your Lordfhips, for concurring with that Houfe

in the no lefs neceffary Work of bringing the Au-

thors of thefe wicked Defigns to fuch exemplary

Punifhment as may be a lading Admonition to

Pofterity, that Artifice and Difguife can no more

leffen the Danger, than mitigate the Guilt of

Treafon ; and that they act under a fatal Delu-

fion, who hope to abufe the lenity of our Laws
to the Ruin of our Conftitution.

The Lords Committees think it a ftrong Con-

firmation of the Truth and Exactnefs of the faid

Report, that feveral material Obfervations which

are there advanced as grounded on probable Con-

jectures only, have fince been amply verified and

iupported by frefh Difcoveries arifing from the

Papers lately refer'd to them by your Lordfhips;

which Papers are contain'd in an * Appendix an-

nex'd to this Report.

The Intelligence fent by Colonel Stanhope, and

Sir Anthony Weftcombe, in relation to the Preten-

der's Ships under Morgan, as well as the Expli-

cation given by the Committee of the Houfe of

Commons to feveral of the fictitious Names in

the intercepted Correfpondence, is very much il-

luftrated and confirmed by papers feized on board

the Revolution, and by the Examinations of fome

of the Piifoners belonging to that Ship.

It appears by b
thofe papers and Examina-

tions, that Morgan, who went by the Name of

Walton, and Gallwey (an Irijh Roman Catholick)

who went by the Name of Gardiner, with others

acting under their Direction, have for feveral

Years paft been employ'd in fitting out Ships un-

der Englijh Colours, which were ready on all Oc-

cafions to attend the Motions of the Pretender,

who in
c
feveral of the letters is ftyled their

King, and their Royal Mafter. That the Money
for thefe Ships was fupply'd d partly by Perfons

in England, e
partly by Waters the Banker at Pa-

ris, and f
partly the late Duke of Ormond. That

one of thefe Ships, in the Year 17 19,
E was fent

by Morgan to the Groyne, with an Exprefs to fetch

the late Duke of Ormond to England; at which
time it appears, h

that Morgan and Gallwey were
promis'd a Supply of fifty thoufand pounds from
Friends in England ; that others of thefe Ships

lay hovering about the Coaft of Britanny, from
the Year 1718, to 1721,

; expecting to be em-
ployed either by Cane and Chivers (General Dillon)

or
k by Hore, (Sir Harry Goring) in what they

call their Home Trade. That in the Year 1721,
defpairing of any Employment of this kind, on
account, as is exprefs'd in ' one of their letters,

of Hore and his Partners being Cowards in Trade,

they engaged themfelves in the Service to of the

Su;edijh Madagafcar Company, and in December

1 72 1, rendezvouz'd in the Bay of Cadiz for this

purpofe; but this Project likewife failing, on ac-

count of fome Deficiency on the part of the

Svjedes, Morgan waited on the late Duke of
O.mond at Madrid, and was by him fupplied with
twelve thoufand Pieces of Eight, for fitting out
the Ships Lady Mary and Revolution n

for the
Pretender's Service ; ° foon after Morgan's Re-
turn to Cadiz, the Arms and Ammunition which
had been prepared for the Madagafcar Voyage,
confifting of two thoufand Mufkets, two thou-

fand Bayonets, one thoufand Carbines, four
hundred Barrels of Powder, and a proportionable
Quantity of Match, Flints, &V. were configned
to Morgan, and by him .put on board the Preten-
der's Ship called the Lady Mary, and Morgan hav-
ing embarked on board the faid Ship with fe-

veral Irijh Officers, fet fail from the Bay of Cadiz.
the latter End of April 1722, and went firft p

to Sanclo Antonio, and then to Santlo Andero in the
Bay of Bifcay.

The Committee having fent for Mr. Guftavus
Bdhr, formerly a Captain in the Swedifh Service,
who being at Cadiz on account of the Madagafcar
Expedition, had occafion to tranfact feveral Af-
fairs with Morgan, and the other Officers of the
Pretender's Ships, they were informed by him,
that the Arms above-mentioned were brought,
part of them from Gottenburg, and part from
Hamburg, by one of the Pretender's Ships, named
the Fortune, commanded by one Butler. That two
thoufand of the faid Arms belonged to the Swedijh
Madagafcar Company , and were delivered by him,
Bdhr, to Morgan.

That the Remainder, which belonged to Count
Rhenftierna, a. Swede, were alfo purchafed by Mor-
gan, but not till fome Weeks after the firft two
thoufand. That Morgan went to Madrid, and
returned with twelve thoufand Pieces of Eight
in Bills and Money, which Sum he, Bdhr, faw
in Morgan's Hands. That Baron Seebach, and one
Ofthoff (who are frequently mention'd in Morgan's
letters) as alfo Count Rhenftierna's Agent, who
delivered the Arms to Morgan, declar'd to him*
Bdhr, fince his Return to Gottenburg, That Mor-
gan was fupplied with thefe twelve thoufand Pieces
of Eight from the late Duke of Ormond, and
that the Arms were paid for out of the faid Mo-
ney. And Morgan's Son being examined by the
Committee, owned that his Father went at that
time to Madrid, that the late Duke of Ormond was
then there, and that his Father did there receive
Bills for fitting out the Ships, but from whom he
cannot tell.

Bdhr farther declared, That all the Swedijh Of-
ficers at Cadiz looked on Morgan's Ships as be-

longing to the Pretender, and fpoke of them in

all Converfations as fuch, which was confirmed
to him exprefly by Baron Seebach and Oslhoff. And
one of the Sailors of the faid Ships owned to the

Committee, That they went from port to port
without taking in any Cargo; That they had
fometimes but fixty, and fometimes one hundred
and thirty Men on board the Revolution, and often

received Orders for failing with all poffible Ex-
pedition, which Orders were afterwards coun-
termanded, without any apparent Reafon for one
or the other ; and that this unaccountable Pro-
ceeding fatisfied him the faid Ships were en-

gaged in fome unwarrantable Defign. Bdhr far-

ther declared, That Oslhoff told him, the Ship
Revolution was at firft purchafed in England, for

tranfporting the late King of Sweden in Perfon, in

his projected Defcent on Scotland; and that he,

Bdhr, faw the Name Carolus ftill ftanding in the

Cabin of the faid Ship, when he was laft on board

her. And Morgan's Son owned, That he hadob-

ferved the Arms of the Crown of Sweden in the

faid Cabin, which he fuppofed were placed there

as a Token that the faid Ship was engaged in the
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"^
r ^ +Ur.> t4>e Rav of Cadiz That the Sailors knowing the

Service of the Swedijh Madagafcar Company ;tho %%yotUdK.
to be dropped, refufed To do

he owned that the other-Ships engaged m the ™"W*\^f were fatis^d as to the Place

fame Service had no fuch 1 oken.
,

J

defl„ned for. That hereupon Gallwey

Some of the Particulars above related do^ ve y theywe^
_ g^ ^^^ . . J^ ^^

much«&m^™&™0—^s > thofe to the Ship-, but having got them under fail, and

L T }£ Vr 1 in whirh it is faid That fatisfied them about their Wages, they proceeded
Bumville and Dodfwortb, in which it is laid, 1 nat

^
the Hopes of Remittance^ fromJ^inj£- ^ t/takeM^, on board! and then joined

the Lady Mary at Santlo Andero. That upon their

Arrival at this Place, the common Report on

Shore was, That the late Duke of Ormond, and

four Companies of Soldiers, were to be taken on

board the Revolution : That Corn and Cattle were

land had induced

appears to be Morgan)

to fupply M-
That O-

(which

could de

penTon twoVhoufand Arms fromM— (which

appear to be the two thoufand Arms delivered to

Morgan by Bdhr c before the Date ofO——
j>

Letter ) That M-—-had writ from
^

™
êd fo7the faid Soldiers > and that the late

(which appears to be Ca '*) that hemcouW
Jg

P
of Qm^ was wkhin a ^^ Day >

s Jour.

more Arms if he had^ T^}^Su^y of ney of Santlo Andero : That hereupon the firft and
ingly the Committee find that a iecond supply 01 y

fufpefting Gallwey
A?iiwaspurchaWbyi^^^nt^ [^™ in fome un^ntab-f Dcfigi

fiif^gent 0_-m s

ĉ

r w ^ to ferv£ , ^ G „

dated the 27th of April lays, yw o ^ them a Note under hjs Hand tha£
< M ' S Ship to <=?m«o

f
—

- i and ^ *£ °
forced into the Servicej and wouId a]ro

pears that Morgan did at that v^ |rne emba* Y
,

were ^^ and gjve them
°n
^"ed^nd^ef&To^££^d Security that they mould not be employed in any

mentioned, and went nru. iu u* ^^ Voyage than fuch as he fhould declare to

foon after to SanEio Andero. ... fh . wnIreupon one of them was confined,

The Sailors on their^^f^f^^ £d t}i 0* discountenanced by G*W
tioned one Hilton, as commanding a Sh pander = ^ E ^adons

'

were tQ

Afej»g and the Commitge findg^ Lett But^ ^ ^ ^^ rf (W .

from M>r^«, directed to Don
.

m
^l

a
\^lten appears to the Committee moil evident from the

afhbfequent^L^r.^rmon^t^haveto ^ of a Letter of his , datec1 the , 6th of

June, the Day before he fet fail from Cadiz, m
which are thefe Words, < I hope the will

' fet fail to-morrow ; your not repeating Or-

* ders and Advice concerning the Bufinefs in

< hand, gives me a thoufand Apprehenfions ;

' God fend our Bankers and the reft of our

« Friends are fafe, and ftand their Ground. I

' intend to embark myfelf on board the for

« fear my dear Aunt fhould have any Occafion

' for Afliftance, of whom I am fo tender that I

' would not if poffible have the Care of her put

' into any other hands.'

The Committee obferve that the fame Fxpref-

fion of My Aunt is ufed in the Letter to Dodfi
• > '

----- -"-- ~-1~ I. U^Jy
of

Gallwey's, it denotes the late Duke of Ormond.

They likewife obferve, that the Names of Mans-

field and Medley are ufed in Morgan's and Gallwey's

Letters, in fuch a manner as confirms thofe

Names to mean the late Duke of Ormond, agreea-

bly to the Explication given them in the Report

of the Committee of the Houfe of Commons.

Gallwey in his q Letter of the 3d of November

1722, fays, He hasacouple of fine Grey-hounds,

a Dog and a Bitch, for Mr. Freeman ; the fame

Dogs°are mentioned in
r another Letter, and in

the
&r Depofitions of two of the Sailors, to have

writ to the laid Hilton, they thought it probable

Hilton might be a fictitious Name for Nicholas

Wogan, in the fame manner as Walton was for

Morgan, and Gardiner for Gallwey. Having accord-

ingly examined the Sailors as to this Particular,

one of them faid, he believed Hilton was a ficti-

tious Name ; and Morgan's Son owned that Hilton s

true Name was Nicholas Wogan, and that he had

been confined in England on account of the Prefton

Rebellion, as he was told by Nicholas Wogan Jun

who went by the Name oiPaterJon: and one of

the Sailors declared, that the faid Wogan Sen. ob-

tained the Command of one of the Ships under

Morgan, after their Arrival in the Bay of Cadiz.

Thefe Particulars agree J^lajcock » Let = ^v ,~~
circumftances as make k h ; hf

ter to George Kelly of the 24^ o^'^^ proba
'

b]ej that in that » Letter, as well as this of

which he mentions Nicholas^an
^2doTl G,Uwev'l it denotes the late Duke of Ormond.

of Xoland, as being to have the Command or a

Veffel at Cadiz, to cruize againfl the Turks, or

for other Views, on which he will not pretend to

decide •, and Kelly * anfwering this Letter, wifhes

Wogan'* Chief-^may fucceed in his Journey. The

fame Particulars confirm Mr.Crawford s Let-

ters of the iSthand 25th of July, by which it

appears, that the two Nicholas Wogans were at

that time come to Morlaix, expecting Morgan s

Ships to follow them to that Port, in order to

their fetting fail for England ; that the eldeft of

them was to have been Captain, and the other
them was to have been_ Captain and« tf^^ ^ ^ Dufee of Q ^
Lieutenant of one of thofe Ships, and nat tney

h^^^ ^ .^ ofj^ieuieiiaiiu ui u.iv. ^. -~-
L . j

owned the Project in Spain, by what they had

learnt of it, was for the late Duke of Or^J to

have landed in the fTeit with Jnjh Officers and

Ar
On the 8th of June, N. S. Colonel Stanhope

-

writ Word that the late Duke of Ormond was

preparing to embark with Arms and Officers for

England. And your Committee find, that a-

bout that time the Ship Revolution fet fail from

the Pretender : which confirms the Explication of

the Name of Freeman, mentioned in the faid Re-

port, to be true.

There was likewife feized on board the Revo-

lution, a E Letter to Gallwey, figned John Obrien ;

which appears to be in the fame Hand-writing

with the
u Letters figned Gerrard and M. Digby,

taken among Mr. Dennis Kelly's Papers, and con-

firms Gerrard to mean Sir John Obrien, one ofDil-

» A A. s.

« E. 31.

1 42.

t> A A 4, 6.

^ k E. 35.
' A - 3°»

19.
f
47» 4 8 -

17-

3<-

26.

<i A A.
™ A. 15.

u F. 14, 28.

«7-
n
47» 48 -

47> 4 8 -

39-

G 27.
h 28.

? A A. 6.

Ion's



1 723. and othersj for a Treafonable Conlpiracy. 38 $

Ion's Secretaries, agreeable to the Conjecture in

the faid Report.

Gallwey, in a
3

letter dated from Alicant Bay,

the 13th of September laft, expreffes his Concern

for Kelly's Confinement, but hopes that is the worft

that can befall him ; and a
b

letter in Kelly's

Hand-writing figned Ja. John/on, directed for

Gardiner, but enclofing a Note for twenty Gui-

neas payable to Gallwey, was found on board the

Revolution, as alfo a Direction entered with Kelly's

own Hand in a
c Pocket-Book, fuppofed to belong

to Morgan. Kelly in his letters acknowledges the

Receipt of one from Sir John (which is probably

their common Correfpondent, Sir John Obrien)

and fays their Friends in Spain are well, as one of

the Family writes him word : which fhews how
extenfive Kelly's Correfpondences were.

Gallwey in a
d

letter from Genoa of the third

of November, 1722, (which appears to have been

writ to one of the Pretender's FamilyJ fays, he

has acted for many Months paft under the Di-

rection of Medley {Ormond) who, he makes no

doubt, has mentioned him to Mr. Freeman (the

Pretender •, )
yet in his

e
letter to Lord Carteret,

after his fhip was taken, he has the Affurance

to affirm, that he never faw the late Duke of Or-

mond fince he left England, nor ever correfponded

directly or indirectly with him or the Pretender,

or any of their Adherents at home or abroad,

but was always zealoufly well affected to his pre-

fers Majefty and our happy Eftablifhment.

Gujlavus Bdhr above-mentioned f
depofes a-

mong other Particulars, that he has been in-

formed the Pretender's Agents had Arms for

three thoufand Men, lodged at a Houfe belong-

ing to the late Duke of Ormond, near Morlaix in

Britanny ; which port the committee obferve was

one of the ufual Stations of the Pretender's Ships

under Morgan. And it appears probable, that thefe

three thoufand Arms made part of the ten thou-

fand mentioned in 's S letter to L as

provided by D , who is fuppofed to be

Dillon.

Robert Franklyn, fecond Mate of the Ship Revo-

lution,
h depofes, that letters directed to John

or James Jacobs at Genoa, were taken up at the

Poft-houfe by Gallwey. The Committee obferve,

that Jones in his ' letter to Chivers, mentions

his having communicated the Copies of Mans-
Jield'% and Jacobs's letters ; and Glafcock in his

k

letter to George Kelly of the firft of May, fays,

' He hopes Money is fent to pay for the Barrels
4 which Jacobs has at his Difpofal.' In both

which places it is probable, that Jacobs means
Gallwey ; and that Barrels mean Stands of Arms,
is confirmed by a ' letter of Morgan's, in which
fpeaking of that very Ship that brought the

Arms above-mention'd from Gottenburg and Ham-
burg to Cadiz, he fays, ' She had received Orders
* for taking in nineteen Barrels, with every thing
' neceffary to make ufe of them:' Which laft

"Words feem to refer to the Bayonets, Flints, and
powder. re The Intelligence lent by Mr. Craw-
ford, on the 27th of May, That Gordon of Boulogne

was to have a Ship ready to tranfport fome of
the Chiefs of the Confpiracy to England ; is con-

firmed by the Depofition of Roger Garth (already

publifhed) who declares, ' That the faid Gordon
* (whom he had good Reafon to believe to be an
* Agent of the Pretender's) did fome time laft

Summer endeavour to engage him to ply off of
• that Station with his Sloop, in order to carry
« over fuch Perfons as he, the faid Gordon, fhould
' recommend to him, promifing him that he
' fhould have Employment enough.'

The Lords Committees conceive, that the fe-
veral particulars above related, will appear to
the Houfe very much to corroborate the Accounts
received from abroad, of Ships provided for tranf-
porting the late Duke oWrmond to England, with
Arms and Officers, the beginning of laft Sum-
mer ; and that they alfo confirm theDecyphering
of the letters, and Explication of the Names,
contained in the Report of the Committee of the
Houfe of Commons.
The Lords Committees obferving that fome pa-

ragraphs of the letters refer'd to them were writ
originally in Cypher, thought it proper to call the
Decypherers before them, in order to their being
fatisfied of the Truth of the Decypherin°\ The
Account they received from thofe perfons, was,
that they have long been verfed in this Science,
and are ready to produce Witneffes of undoubted
Reputation, who have framed letters in Cypher,
on purpofe to put them to a Trial, and have con-
ftantly found their decyphering to agree with
the Original Keys which had been concealed
from them. It was likewife confirmed to the Com-
mittee, that letters decyphered by one or other
of them in England, had exactly agreed with the
decyphering of the fame letters performed by
perfons in foreign parts, with whom they could
have no Communication ; and that in fome In-
ftances after they had decyphered letters for the
Government, the Keys of thofe Cyphers had been
feized, and upon comparing them, had agreed
exactly with their decyphering.

With refpect to the intercepted letters in quef-

tion, they alledged that in the Cypher ufed by
George Kelly, they find the Words ranged in an
alphabetical Order, anfwering the progreffive Or-
der of the Figures by which they are exprefled,

fo that the farther the initial letter of any Word
is removed from the letter A, the higher the

Number is, by which fuch Word is denoted : that

the fame Word will be found to be conftantly de-

noted by one and the fame Figure, except in the

Cafe of Particles or Words of very frequent Ufe,
which have two or three Figures afligned to them,
but thofe always following one the other in a

progreffive Order. They likewife fet forth, that

in the Cypher above-mentioned, a certain Order
is conftantly obferved as to the placing of the

Words made ufe of, that under each letter of the

Alphabet the firft Cyphers are allotted to the pro-

per Names of places, the next to the proper Names
or Titles of Perfons, the next to whole Words in

common Ufe, and the laft to denote fingle let-

ters.

As to the Truth of the Decyphering, they al-

ledged that feveral letters written in this Cy-

pher had been decyphered by them feparately,

one being many Miles diftant.in the Country,

and the other in Town, and yet their Decy-

phering agreed ; that Facts unknown to them
and the Government at the time of their Decy-

phering had been verified in every Circumftance

by fubfequent Difcoveries, as particularly that

ofH 's Ship coming in Ballaft to fetch

0——— to England, which had been fo decyphered
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D. 10.

"46.
«• E. 37-

4
?

42.

27- A. 9.

A. 45.
f

'7- UA, 5, *> 48.

by



94> Proceedings againfl Bijhop Atterbury. 9 G. I.386
by them two Months before the Government had

the leaft notice of Halslead's having left England :

That a Supplement to this Cypher having been

found among Dennis Kelly's papers the latter end

of July, agreed with the Key they had formed of

that Cypher the April before : That the decy-

phering of the letters figned Jones, Illington, and

1378, being afterwards applied by them to others

written in the fame Cypher, did immediately

make pertinent Senfe, and fuch as had an evident

Connexion and Coherence with the parts of thofe

letters that were out of Cypher, tho' the Words
in Cypher were repeated in different Paragraphs

and differently combined. And they infift that

thefe ieveral Particulars duly weighed, amount to

a Demonftration of the Truth of their decy-

phering.

As to the other Cyphers made ufe of by Jerne-

gan, Stanley, and Walter Grahame, they confift

only of twenty four Figures, for the twenty four

letters of the Alphabet, and fome other Figures

for proper Names or whole Words, in the placing

of which Names a certain Order is alfo ob-

ferved.

Thefe feveral Particulars they declared them-

felves ready to atteft upon Oath, and to produce

fufficient Witneffes to their Character and Inte-

grity as well as their Skill.

The Committee being empowered by your

Lordfhips to examine Chriftopher Layer, did ac-

cordingly fpend fome time in the faid Examina-

tion, which produced a tedious Repetition of the

particulars contained in his Examination before

the Committee of the Houfe of Commons, and

fome few Circumftances which they found he had

recollected by rea'ding the printed Report and

Appendix.
All that he confeffed to them which is new,

was, that he did before his fetting out for Rome
acquaint Plunket with his Intentions of carrying

over a Note of the Names of the Tory Gentle-

men of Norfolk, if Plunket thought it would be ac-

ceptable ; that during his ftay at Rome, Sir Wil-

liam Ellis told him, that he had formerly corre-

fponded with Plunket at the Requeft of the Lady
Middleton, but that he had not, for fome time paft,

correfponded with Plunket, or any one elfe, in

relation to the Pretender's Affairs: for that from

the time of the Action at Dumblain fo many Scot-

tijb Noblemen and Gentlemen had come over to

the Pretender, that he and all the reft of the old

Servants had been forbid all Correfpondence in

England, or elfewhere. Upon Layer's defiring

leave to correfpond with him if it were practi-

cable, he told Layer, that on Condition he would
promife to write nothing but what might be

fhewn to the Pretender himfelf, he would fettle

a Correfpondence with him ; for that tho' he had
followed the Fortunes of the late King James and
his Family, ever fince the Revolution •, and had

always been faithful to the Pretender, and for

many Years his Cafhier, yet if any of the Scottifh

Gentlemen that were about the Pretender, mould
know he received a letter without communicat-

ing it to him, it would coft him his place, and he

fhould be in utter Difgrace: That Layer promi-

fing to write nothing but what might be fhewn, El-

lis gave him a Cypher of his own Hand-writing,

as alfo another Cypher of cut paper for carrying

on the correfpondence i that he, Layer, likewife fet-

tled a Cypher of fictitious Names with Mrs.
Hughes, Nurfe to the Pretender's Child, and re-

ceived a letter from her in relation to the Chri-
ftening of his Daughter. He would not own that
he knew of any other Cypher, and perfifted that
Mrs. Kinder meant the faid Mrs. Hughes, tho' in

Ellis's Cypher it ftands for Mrs. Fox. He faid

that the paper which he defired a Copy of from
Sir William Ellis, and which is referred to in

*

Ellis's letter of the 30th of January, was a fhort
Scheme relating to the Prefton Affair, fhewn him by
Ellis while he was at Rome, of which he remem-
bers no other particulars, but that Infurreclions

were to be begun in feveral Counties in a dark
Night. That when he made Application to
Plunket for the fictitious Names of Burford, Steele,

&c. he was forced to acquaint Plunket with his

having fettled a Correfpondence with Ellis, which
Plunket refented, and faid he thought Ellis had
been forbid all Correfpondence with Perfons here.

That the Reafon of his afking Plunket for a fic-

titious Name for Lord Orrery, was, that he had
occafion to mention to Ellis a Club which Plunket
had often told him of; that Plunket once fhewed
him a Lift of thisClub, of his own Hand-writing,
which he read over two or three times, but that
Plunket talked fo inconfiftently of them, that he,

Layer, verily believes it was a mere Fiction of his

own, and that there never was any fuch Club.
That he, Layer, thinks Lord Orrery mentioned to

him Lord Strafford, as one of thofe, who, with
Lord North, Sir Harry Goring, and others, were
(as Lord Orrery was informed) going to do a
rafh thing in favour of the Pretender : but that

he cannot be pofitive as to Lord Strafford.

That he, Layer, wrote himfelf to the Pretender,

concerning the Difference of Opinion which he
obferved in Lord North and Lord Orrery about the

Means of reltoring him, and the Neceffity there

was that the Regent fhould permit General Bil-

lon to come over here with fome foreign Forces.

That he alfo drew up a Scheme of a Lottery to

have been opened here in favour of the Pretender,

and enclofed the faid Scheme in a parcel with
fome filk Stockings, which he fent as a prefent to

the Pretender and his Spoufe by Andrew Haye,

who travelled to Italy with Alderman Barber.

That he delivered this parcel to Haye with his

own Hands, who promifed to convey it to Ellis,

and faid he could do it with Safety. That Haye,

as he believes, underftood the Stockings to be for

the Pretender and his Spoufe: That he likewife

had fome Difcourfe with Haye about getting Cop-
per- plates engraved at Rome in Englijh and Italian

for the Tickets of the faid Lottery, and defired

him to receive Sir William Ellis's Directions about

it, which Haye promifed to do. That while he,

Layer, was at Rome, Haye afked him whether he

would not fee the King, meaning the Pretender;

and that the faid Haye went frequently to the Pre-

tender's Family in the way of his Bufinefs, and

was, as he believes, prefent while the Preten-

der's and his Spoufe's Pictures were drawn.
Haye being examined by the Committee, own-

ed the Receipt of the Stockings, but denied their

being delivered to him by Layer, or that he knew
who they were for. He likewife owned the carry-

ing a Packet to Belloni, the Banker at Rome,

which was brought to him by a Porter from Layer
f

as he ftippofed.

a BY 38.
Layer



1723. and others, for a Treafonable Confpiracy. 387
Layer owns, that Haye told him Belloni was the

Pretender's Banker, but denies his fending

any fuch Packet by Haye : And in feveral other

Particulars of their Examinations they contra-

dicted each other.

* A Scheme of the Lottery above-mentioned

(for raifing 225,000 Pounds Sterling) having been

found among the Papers of Walter Jefferey's, now

in Cuftody, the Lords Committees thought pro-

per to examine him how he came by it. He owned

his being acquainted with Layer and Plunket, that

he faw Layer about the Time of his going abroad,

and helped him to a Bill on a Banker at Antwerp :

But he denied his knowing from whom he receiv-

ed the faid Scheme, or his having had any Con-

verfation with any one about it ; and faid it might

be put into his Hands by Plunket, for ought he

knew, but that he was not fure he had ever read

it ; and if he had known fuch a paper had been in

his Cuftody, he mould havedeftroyed it.

The Lords Committees being informed that

Layer, between the Time of his delivering the

larger and leffer Bundle of Papers to Mrs. Mafon,

had deliver'd to her a large Parcel covered with

blue paper and fealed in feveral Places, and that

he did within a few Days after take it back a-

gain, telling her he wanted to carry it to Lord

North and Grey's : They examined Layer particu-

larly on this head, but he denied that he ever de-

livered her any fuch Bundle.

The Lords Committees next proceeded to the

Examination of "John Plunket, who began with

large Proteftations of his Innocence, and offered

of himfelf to account for three Facts charged

upon him in the Report, and to ihew they were

great Miftakes. The firft was, his receiving a

letter from George Kelly ; the fecond, his receiv-

ing the letter at Antwerp, figned Dixwell

-

t and

the third, his receiving the letter from the

Pretender, taken at Mrs. Creagh's. And as in his

Examination before the Committee of the Houfe
of Commons he had fallen on the Expedient of

fubftituting Hugh Thomas to perfonate Rogers, fo

now they found he had furnifhed himfelf with

three different Perfons, at different Places, all of

the Name of Plunket, to whom he would have it

believed thefe letters were written •, without

offering any the leaft Proof or Circumftance of

Probability to fhew that fuch Perfons were at all

concerned in thofe letters, or that there ever

were any fuch Perfons in being.

The letter from George Kelly, he faid was
not writ to him, but to one Harry Plunket, who
delivered it to him at Will's Coffee-Houfe, Co-

vent-Garden, and that it related to fome Money
that was to be raifed on a Security of Mrs.
Barnes's.

As to the Letter figned Dixwell, he faid, there

were two Clergymen of the Church of Rome, one
or both of which travelled with him and Layer
from Dover to Antwerp ; that one of them went
by the Name of Lloyd, but his real Name was
Plunket. That this Man dropped the letter

figned Dixwell at a Coffee-Houfe ; and he, John
Plunket, taking it up with a Defign of reftoring it

to him in Lorrain, (to which place fometimes one,
and fometimes both of thefe Clergymen were
gone) fliewed it to Layer, who took it into his

Head that this letter had been writ to him, John
Plunket.

Vol. VI.

The letter from the Pretender, he faid, fell

into his Hands much in the fame manner : That
there is one Father Plunket at Rome to whom the
Pretender always writes when any Body is to be
introduced to him. Being afked whether Father
Plunket travelled with Layer to Rome, (becaufe

mention is made in the Pretender's letter of a

Companion of Plunket' s) he faid the Pretender
always called the perfon that was to be introdu-

ced by Father Plunket, his Companion. That this

Father Plunket happening to fhew him this let-

ter, and commending the Hand, he, John Plunket,

faid he had a Friend at Rome, that would be glad
to fee the Pretender's Hand-writing. And Fa-
ther Plunket having accordingly left the letter

with him, he fhewed it to Layer, and forgot to

return it to Father Plunket, who never called for

it, having fifty more letters of the fame kind by
him.

Upon the Lords Committees afking him whe-
ther he went by the Name of Rogers, he faid he
went by feveral Names in his Travels, that he,

might not be impofed upon in his Reckonings
as the Englijh generally are. Being afked whe-
ther he took the Name of Rogers to prevent his

being thought an Engli/hman, he faid that in Italy

he was called Rogieri.

They farther afked him, whether he had dic-

tated any fictitious Names to Layer, or had men-
tioned any Thing to him of a Club ? To which he

anfwered, That he had given Layer the fictitious

Name of Bedford, or Burford, for Lord Orrery,

which Name he had from Neynoe. That one
Night being in company with Layer, and fome
Clergymen whofe Names he has forgot, the Dif-

courfe turning on the Protefts of the Lords, and

the Names that were fubfcribed to them, one of

the Company faid, Thefe are a Loyal Club; an-

other faid, They are Jacobites ; and that he,

Plunket, faid, There was a Loyal Club of eighty or

ninety Lords who would ftand in Defence of their

Country.

He farther obferved to the Committee, that in

the Bill now depending before your Lordfhips, he

is not mentioned by the Name by which he was

baptized and confirmed : He faid, his Surname was

Plucknet, but his Chriflian Name he declined tel-

ling ; and feemed to place fome Hopes and Con-

fidence in this Subterfuge.

The Committee finding him trifle with them in

this egregious manner, afked him in general,

whether he had ever been in Conference with the

Pretender, or had correfponded with him, or any

of his Agents : To which he anfwered in the Ne-

gative

The Committee next fent for George Kelly, who
told them that the Affair being foon to be brought

before your Lordfhips, he defired to be excuied

from anfwering any Queftions; fo that they had

no Opportunity of examining him as to the new

Matters alledged againft him in the Depofitions

of Mr. Philip Caryll and others.

However they thought it proper to fend for

the faid Mr. Caryll, and to afk him whether he

had any thing to add to or retract from his former

Accounts. His Depofitions being read over to

him, he expreffed himfelf very angry and uneafy

at their being made Publick •, and told the Com-
mittee he was not difpofed to anfwer any farther

Queftions, being forry for what he had faid al-

L 1 1 ready ;
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ready •, he likewife infinuated, that what he had
faid had not been taken down exactly as he dicta-

ted it, and feemed apprehenfive that he was called

upon to accufe himfelf of Matters that might be

prejudicial to him. But upon the Committee's

telling him that the moft effectual Way he could

take to do himfelf Service, was to make a candid

and ingenuous Difcovery of the whole Truth,

he faid he had already given a candid Account,

and hoped he mould not have been a Sufferer for

his Candour. Being afked whether his Depofi-

tions had not been read over to him before he

figned them, he faid they were ; but that he was

in a great Confufion at the Time they were taken.

Being then required by the Committee to read

them over himfelf, and to fhew in what Particulars

they vary from his Senfe and Meaning, he grew
more compofed ; and having read over the firft,

dated the 27th of March, faid, he believed it was
right enough. In reading over the fecond (dated

the 29th of March) he faid it was not ftrictly true

that Sir Harry Goring had told him what is there re-

lated, concerning an Invafion, Commiffion, §jfc,

but that it was true, he had heard Sir- Harry Go-

ring fay fo ; that as to Lord Lanfdown's being to

land in the Weft, he could not be pofitive, but
he thinks Sir Harry Goring faid fo. He faid, it was
but a Suppofition of his own, that the Difcourfe

which occafioned the Bifhop of Rochefter's taking

Sir Harry Goring by the Collar, related to the Pre-

tender's Affairs : But that he remembers very well,

Sir Harry Goring did affirm, that on his faying the

Words there recited, {this is Rocking the Cradle

indeed) the Bifhop did take him by the Collar,

and that he, Caryll, did apprehend the faid Dif-

courfe to have Relation to the Pretender's Affairs.

He faid it was about two Years ago that being at

Sir Harry Goring's he faw a letter lie on hisScru-

tore, directed to Mr. Hore, and upon his afking

Sir Harry who the faid letter was for, Sir Harry
told him it was writ to himfelf. He faid that the

Words in his Depofition which import, that he,

Caryll, had Reafon to believe Kelly and Sir Harry Go-
ring were fettling together a Key at his Houfe at

North, by which they might correfpond, are too

ffrong; for that he, Caryll, did not fee any fuch

Key, only it was his Sufpicion and Thought at

that Time that they were framing fuch a Key.

He likewife faid, that what relates to Boyce in

the faid Depofition is rather ftronger than he
meant it ; for that Boyce only told him he was a-

fraid the Servant, he, Caryll, had fent to him to help

off, was Sample; alledging this Reafon, that he had
obferved he was difguifed, and that he was afraid

he was fomewhat like the Defcription given of
Sample in the Proclamation. All the other Particu-

lars of his Depofitions he averred to be true, but
faid, he had nothing farther to add, and that he
would rather a thoufand Times die in Newgate
than be an Evidence.

Boyce, being examined by the Committee, own-
ed that Sir Harry Goring went to France in his

Yacht, and that a Servant v/ent over with him in

a Black Wig, whom he had never feen with Sir

Harry Goring before •, but he utterly denied his ha-

ving conveyed over any Perfon fent to him by
Mr. Caryll, or his having had any Difcourfe with

Caryll about any Perfon's anfwering the Defcrip-

tion of Sample.

The Committee having fummoned before them

William Beafing, of Hern Dean, and having read
to him his former Depofitions, find that he re-

tracts what he had there depofed on Oath, of
Caryll and Sir Harry Goring's being in Company at
his Houfe with the Perfon who had but one Hand

:

he fays, fuch a Perfon was at his Houfe with two
other Gentlemen, but that he now recollects Ca-
ryll and Sir Harry Goring were not there at that
Time. Being afked whether he had received any
Letter or Meffage, fince his being in Cuftody,
which had helped to fet him right: in this Particu-
lar, he anfwered in the Negative.

The Committee obferve from the Parts of Mr.
Caryll's Depofitions which he affirmed, that the
Explication given to the Name of Hore, in the Re-
port of the Committee of the Houfe of Commons,
as alfo the Decyphering of that part of Kelly's *

letter which mentions Hore's Commiffion, and
the Conjecture of Goring's having carried over a
new Cypher from Kelly to France, are very much
confirmed. They likewife obferve that what is

faid in Glafcock's
fa

letter to Kelly of the j-i of Oc-
tober, concerning the Arrival of the little French
Merchant, mentioned by Kelly, and the Precau-
tion they intend to ufe in relation to him till forne

other appears with whom they may talk of Bufinefs

more to the Purpofe, has probably relation to

Sample's being got fafe to France. And the let-

ters figned Fra. Phillips, which Caryll owns he
received from Kelly, not only confirms Kelly's wri-

ting by fictitious Names, but is a ftrong Argu-
ment of his being the Perfon that writ the c

let-

ter to Bonnaville of the 27th of September, and con-

fequently the other letters charged upon him
in the Report. For as in his letter to Caryll, he
fays : < / have never heard a Syllable from your o-
* ther Lawyer, (Sir Harry Goring) fince you and I
c were with him, which you'll fay is pretty furpriz-
' ing, and am afraid very detrimental.' ——{o in

that to Bonnaville (writ within five Days of the

other) he fays, c I have not heard a Syllable from
* D. Gainer, or G. Roberts, fince Mr. G. Samp/on
1 went, which has been a great Surprize, and I

' may fay no fmall Detriment, to fome of their

* Friends.'

This Identity of Expreffion, in two letters

writ fo near the fame Time, appears to be a far-

ther Confirmation that the fame Perfon writ them
both, and confirms G. Sampfon to be the fame
with the other Lawyer, which Caryll has explained

to mean Sir Harry Goring.

The Lords Committees alfo find in the Papers

referred to them new Evidence of Kelly's vifiting,

writing to, and receiving letters from the Bifhop

of Rochefter, as appears by d
Affidavits from the

Perfons who carry'd Kelly to the Bifhop's Houfe,

and who alfo delivered letters from him to the

Bifhop, and brought back the Bifhop's Anfwers

;

and Mrs. Levett e
depofes on Oath, that Mrs.

Barnes has told her, Kelly received in one Day as

many letters from abroad as came to fourteen or

fifteen Shillings, the Directions of which fhe,

Barnes, faw, but they were in fuch odd fictitious

Names, as no one could find out but Kelly, who
had the Key ; that among thefe letters there

was one for the Bifhop of Rochefter, (as Kelly told

her) which he was at that Time gone to deliver

to the Bifhop. And John Malone f
depofes, that

among the letters which he carried from Kelly to

the Poft, there were fome directed to Waters the

"E.35- b E- 79- « E. 75- 13. M- j 1. f 1?12.
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Banker at Paris, under whofe cover it appears

that moil of the Treafonable letters were lent

;

and the original * letter in 'Kelly's own Hand ftopt

at the Poft-Office was enclofcd in a cover fo di-

rected. Mrs. Levett farther
b
depofes that Mrs.

Barnes told her, under Secrecy, that the Dog
fent from France was a Prefent/h>7« the late Lord

Marr, to the Bifhop of Rochefter's Lady ; which

is in fome meafure confirmed by the Draught of

the Affidavit prepared for Birmingham at Paris, in

which he is defired to fwear that Lord Marr knew

nothing ofany fuch Dog. And tho' this Affidavit

does not appear to have been fent over by Kelly

directly, yet exprefs mention is made in the let-

ter to Gordon, that the faid Affidavit is the Copy
of a Note from the Perfon concerned with the

Subftance of what he thinks reauifite. This Cir-

cumftance of the Dog's having been fent by the

Jate Lord Marr, which is not exprefsly alledged

in any part of the Report of the Committee of

the Houfe of Commons, is a new Confirmation

that the
c
letter fignd 918, which mentions the

fending the Dog, is from Marr ; and that Muf-
grave, to whom the Receipt of the Dog is acknow-

ledged in
d two feveral Letters, islikewifeaName

denoting Marr, agreeably to what is afTerted in

the faid Report.

The Committee find by e two Affidavits referr-

ed to them, that George Kelly, the laft time he was

taken into Cuftody, offered the Woman of the

Houfe a Gold Watch, forty Guineas in Money,
and a Note for forty Pounds more, to let him efcape.

The Committee have laid the Subftance of

thefe feveral Examinations together, as having

fome Reference to George Kelly.

They likewife examined Mr. Dennis Kelly, who
utterly denied his being advifed with, or know-
ing any thing relating to any Confpiracy. Seve-

ral Papers found in his Cuftody being fhewn to

him, he denied his having ever feen them before,

except when fome of them were fhewn to him,

at former Examinations.

They next fent for Captain Pancier, and ha-

ving ordered his
f former Depofitions to be read

to him, afk'd him whether he had any thing

to add or retract ; he affirmed every part thereof

to be true, and faid he had only this farther Parti-

cular to add, That having lately feen George Kelly,

as he was brought down to the Houfe of Com-
mons ; he recollects that he has often feen him at

the Gaming-Tables with Skeene, and that Skeene

and the faid Kelly were intimately acquainted, as

he is able to prove by feveral Witneffes of Cre-

dit. Skeene being call'd in, and having heard Pan-
der's Depofitions read over to him, own'd that

he was acquainted with Pander, and had been
in Company with him at feveral of the Times
and Places mention'd in the faid Depofitions

;

That he was taken Prifoner in the Prefton Re-
bellion, but is not related to Marr, nor has

ever feen Mackintojlo fince he parted from him
at High-gate. He own'd he had had general Dif-

courfe with Pander relating to a Plot, and that

Pander had afk'd him feveral Queftions about it,

to fome of which he (Skeene) affented and to

others not ; but he denied his having told Pander
any farther Particulars than were in the News-
Papers, or in the current Report of the Town.
As for inftance, when Pancier afked him where
the late Duke of Ormond was, he told him the

News-Papers faid he was at Corimna ; but he po-
fitively denied his having ever mentioned to Pan-
der any Particular Perfons as concerned in the Con-
fpiracy, or any of the Particular Falls fpecified
in his Depofitions.

He farther faid, he had reafon to believe
that Pancier had fent to him fince his beino- in
Cuftody, to advife him to make his Efcape ; for
that one Gerard Fitzgerald having been walking
with Pancier in the Park, came directly from
thence to him, Skeene, at the Meffenger's Houfe,
and advifed him to make his Efcape •, tho' he own'd
that Fitzgerald made no mention ofPander's ha-
ving fent him any fuch Advice.

Fitzgerald being fent for by the Committee,
owned he had been to fee Skeene, and findino- no
body at that time in the Houfe but a Woman,
told Skeene, it would be an eafy Matter for him
to efcape ; but he cleared Pander from having fent
any fuch Intimation or Advice. He farther faid,

that Skeene told him he did not know but he might
have talk'd foolilhly to Pancier, but that if he
had, Pancier was but a lingle Evidence, or to

that effect.

The Committee find, among the Papers referr-

ed to them, a g Copy of the Orders which Arnold
received from the Owners ofthe Ship Phineas, re-

quiring him to follow the Directions of Roger
Nowell (Hal/lead) during the Voyage ; as alfo an
h
Affidavit, by which it appears, that the faid

Halftead was to vifit the Bifhop of Rochefter and
ftaid an Hour at his Houfe, a few Days before his

fetting out for Bilboa.

They alfo find a very remakable ;

letter fent

to one of the Secretaries of State, by an unknown
Hand, dated the 12th of February, 1721-22, and
inclofed in

k
one, dated the 31ft of March; which

firft appears to be the Letter referred to in ' one
of Neynoe's Examinations, as drawn up by Kelly

and himfelf, and brought back to him corrected,

as he believ'd, by the Bifhop of Rochefter.

They likewife find a
m Paper taken in Lord

North and Grey's Study at Catlige, which contains

feveral very extraordinary Reafonings on the Na-
ture of Oaths ; tending to prove, That the Oaths

to the prefent Government are not Obligatory -,

and that tho' the taking fuch Oaths is in itfelf

unlawful, and a grievous Sin, as being incon-

fiftent with prior Oaths, or Obligations, yet

neither the taking nor breaking them can in ftnet-

nefs fall under the Denomination of Perjury.

This is the Subftance of what the Committee

have been able to collect from a careful Perufal

of the Papers referred to them, and a long Exami-

nation of feveral of the Perfons concerned ; in fome

of whofe Power they have Reafon to believe it

was to have made ample Difcoveries, if they had

been difpofed to fpeak the Truth.

And tho' the Lords Committees cannot reflect,

without Pity and Companion, on the mifguided

Zeal, and wretched Infatuation of thofe Men,
who rather chufe to expofe themfelves to the

greateft Dangers, than to difcover the Authors or

Accomplices of their Treafons ; thereby declar-

ing to the World, that the Leagues and Confede-

racies of private Villany are dearer and more

facred to them than the ftrongeft Tyes and Obli-

gations of Society, yet the Committee make no

doubt but the Matters contained in the Repojt re-

ferred to them, and corroborated by theRefultot
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their prefent Enquiry, will appear to your Lord-

fhips fo clearly made out, that the Confpirators,

fooner or later, will have leifure to repent of the

rafh and impious Choice they have made, of be-

ing rather true to one another, than to God, their

Confciences, and their Country,

ON April 24 the Houfe (according to Order)

took into Confideration the Report from

the Lords Committees, to whom the Report and

Original Papers delivered by the Houfe of Com-
mons at feveral Conferences, were referred •, and

who were empowered by this Houfe to examine

Chrijlopber Layer and fuch other Perfons as they

from time to time ihould think proper : And the

faid Report being read, It is refolved by the

Lords Spiritual and Temporal in Parliament Af-

fembled, That this Houfe is fully fatisfied and

convinced, That a deteftable and wicked Con-

fpiracy has been formed and carried on, for foli-

citing a foreign Force to invade thefe Kingdoms,

for raifing a Rebellion, and inciting In furrections

in London, and divers other Parts of Great Britain,

and even for laying violent Hands on the facred

Perfon of His Majefty, and on His Royal High-

nefs the Prince of Wales, in Order to deftroy

our Religion and happy Conftitution, by placing

a Popifli Pretender on the Throne.

Ordered, By the Lords Spiritual and Temporal
in Parliament AfTembled, That the Thanks of

this Houfe be given, by the Lord Chancellor, to

the faid Lords Committees, for their having dis-

charged the Truft in them repofed, with great

Exaftnefs, Care, Fidelity, and Candour. There-
upon,

The Lord Chancellor addrefllng himfelf to the

Lords of the faid Committee, (viz. Dukeof Mon-
trofe, Dukeof Dorfet, Earl of Scarborough, Earl of

I/lay, Lord Vifcount Lonfdale, Lord Vifcount

T'orringlon, Lord Bifhop ofSarum, Lord Bifhop
of Lincoln) gave them the Thanks of the Houfe
in the following Words

:

My Lords who were of the Committee,

IAm commanded by the Houfe to give your
Lordfhips the Thanks of this Houfe, for your

having difcharged the Truft repofed in you, with
great Exactnefs, Care, Fidelity and Candour.
My Lords,

The Truft was as great as ever was repofed by
this Houfe in any of its Members. The Subject
Matter of your Enquiry, a Confpiracy the moft
dangerous as well as deteftable, big with Mif-
chiefs of all kinds, and deftructive of every thing
that is valuable amongft us ; carried on and ma-
naged in a new devifed Method with the utmoft
Cunning as well as Wickednefs, and covered with
all the Difguifes the moft artful Dexterity could
contrive : and which therefore required the great-
eft Penetration and Skill to lay open. And the
Papers, fome of them of fuch a Nature* that it

was thought fit to refer them to your Lordfhips,
lock'd up as they were, without reading them in

the Houfe.

My Lords,

Your Lordfhips have fully anfwer'd theExpecta-
tions the Houfe entertained, when they pitched
upon you for this Truft.

Your Application in going thro' fomany Papers
of affected and ftudied Obfcurity, your Candour
and Exa&nefs in Examining the Perfons concern'd,
orany way capable of giving any Satisfaction, and

in reprefenting what they faid , the Accuracy and
Judgment of your Remarks ; the Light you have
fo happily given to feveral Paffages in the Report
of the Committee of the Commons, which, tho*

in themfelves juft, were yet liable to Cavils, by
fuch as were loth to have the Truth found out,
give, I dare fay, a fenfible Pleafure to every Lord
here, that has heard your Report read, and finds

himfelf thereby enabled to form a Judgment with
fo entire Satisfaction to himfelf, concerning this

abominable Work of Darknefs, which the Actors
have endeavoured to furround with impenetrable
Obfcurity.

This noble Pleafure of feeing the Truth, not-

withstanding fo many Contrivances to hide it,

and of being thereby enabled to come to right

Refolutions in a Matter of fuch Importance, has

very naturally and aggreeably broke out into fo

unanimous a Refolution of returning the Thanks
of this Houfe to your Lordfhips, to whom they fo

much owe it. And in Obedience to their Com-
mands, I do, with particular Pleafure, give your
Lordfhips the Thanks of this Houfe, for your
having difcharged the Truft in your Lordfhips
repofed, with great Exactnefs, Care, Fidelity,

and Candour.

March 19. The Bill to inflict Pains and Penal-

ties on John Plunket was brought into the Houfe
ofCommons, to which Plunket making no Defence,

it pafs'd that Houfe on April 5. and was fent up
to the Lords, who after hearing Counfel for the

Bill, and Plunket himfelf againft it, pafs'd the Bill

;

which afterwards obtained the Royal Afient, and
was as follows.

An A5i to infliEl Tains and Penalties on

John Plunket.

WHEREAS in the Years One thoufand

feven hundred and twenty one, and One
thoufand feven hundred and twenty two, a de-

teftable and horrid Confpiracy was formed and
carried on by divers Traitors for invading your

Majefty's Kingdoms with foreign Forces, for

raifing an Infurrection and Rebellion againft

your Majefty, for feizing the Tower and City

of London, and for laying violent Hands upon
your Majefty's moft facred Perfon, and upon
his Royal Highnefs the Prince of Wales, in or-

der to fubvert our prefent happy Eftablifhment

in Church and State, and to place a Popifh Pre-

tender on your Throne : And whereas for the

better concealing and effecting the faid Confpi-

racy, divers treafonable Correfpondences were,

within the time aforefaid, carried on by Letters

written in Cyphers, cant Words and fictitious

Names; which Confpiracy, had not Almighty
God in his great Mercy difappointed the fame,

would have deprived your Majefty's Kingdoms
of the Enjoyment of their Religion, Laws and

Liberties, involved them in Blood and Ruin,

and fubjected your People to the Bondage and

Opprefiion of Romijh Superftition and Arbi-

trary Power: for which execrable Treafon

Chrijlopber Layer hath been indited, tried, con-

victed and attainted. And whereas John Plun-

ket hath been a principal Actor in the faid hor-

rid and deteftable Confpiracy, by traitoroufly

confulting and correfponding with divers Per-

fons, to raife an Infurrection and Rebellion a-

gainft your Majefty within this Kingdom, and
« to
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to procure a foreign Force to invade the fame,

with a Defign to depofe your Majefty, and to

place the Pretender on your Throne, by traito-

roufly correfponding with the faid Pretender,

and by engaging in a mod execrable and vil-

lainous Defign of laying violent Hands upon the

Sacred Perfon of your Majefty (whom God
long preferve.) Therefore to manifeft our juft

Abhorrence of fo wicked a Confpiracy, and our

Zeal and tender Regard for the Prefervation of

your Majefty's Perfon and Government, and

for the Proteftant Succeffion in your Majefty's

Royal Family, the folid Foundation of our pre-

fent Happinefs and future Hopes -, and to the

End that no Confpirator may, by any Contri-

vance or Practice whatfoever, efcape Punifh-

ment, and that all Perfons may be by the Juftice

of Parliament for ever hereafter deterred from
engaging in any traitorous Confpiracys or At-
tempts, We your Majefty's moft dutiful and
loyal Subjects, the Lords Spiritual and Tempo-
ral, and Commons in Parliament affembled, do
humbly befeech your Majefty, that it may be
enacted ; and be it enacted by the King's moft
excellent Majefty, by and with the Advice and
Conlent of the Lords Spiritual and Temporal,
and Commons in Parliament affembled, and by
the Authority of the fame, That the faid John
Plunket fhali be detained and kept in clofe and
fafe Cuftody, without Bail or Mainprize, du-
ring the Pleafure of his Majefty, his Heirs and
Succefibrs, in any Goal or Prifon within the
Kingdom of Great Britain, to the Cuftody of
the Goaler or Keeper whereof the faid John
Plunket fhall from time to time be committed,
in purfuance of this Act, by Warrant under the
Hand and Seal of any Secretary of State of his

Majefty, his Heirs or Succeffors : Which War-
rant or Warrants any Secretary of State for the
Time being is hereby authorized and impow-
ered to make ; and that the faid John Plunket
fhall forfeit to his Majefty all his Lands, Tene-
ments, Hereditaments, Goods and Chatties
whatfoever.
4 And for more fure detaining the faid John
Plunket in fafe Cuftody, be it further enacted by
the Authority aforefaid, That if the faid John
Plunket fhall break fuch Goal or Prifon to which
he fhall be fo committed, or fhall efcape out
of the Cuftody of the Perfon in whofe Cuftody
he fhall be, by virtue of fuch Commitment, That
then the faid John Plunket, and all and every
Perfon and Perfons whatfoever, who fhall be
aiding or affifting the faid John Plunket in break-
ing fuch Goal or Prifon, or in making fuch
Efcape, as aforefaid, or who fhall by Force
take or refcue the faid John Plunket out of fuch
Cuftody, Goal, or Prifon, during the Conti-
nuance of his Imprifonment by virtue of this
Act, being thereof lawfully convicted, fhall be
adjudged Guilty of Felony, and fhall fuffer

Death as in Cafe of Felony, without Benefit of
Clergy.'

In purfuance of this Act, John Plunket was con-
tinued Prifoner in the Tower of London.

The fame Day the Bill to inflict pains and
penalties on George Kelly alias John/on was brought
into the Houfe of Commons, who after hearing
Counfel for the Bill, and Kelly and his Counfel
againft it, pafs'd it on April 6. and fent it up to

Vol. VI.

the Lords, who heard Counfel for and againft the
Bill, when Kelly made the following Speech.

My LORD S^

SINCE my Counfel have fo fully anfwerec!
every Article alledged againft me, it may

feem unneceffary to take up your Lordfhips
Time, by faying any thing for myfelf. And,
indeed, it would be fo, if my Charge were Or-
dinary or Particular. But, my Lords, I have
been reprefented as a Perfon doubly guilty-
Firft, In tranfacting Treafon for myfelff And,
Secondly, In doing it for other People. Thefe
are Crimes, of the moft heinous Nature ; and
if they were as clearly proved, as they have
been ftrongly afierted, I fhould juftly merit
your Lordfhips higheft Difpleafure, and all the
Pains and Penalties you could pofiibly inflict

upon me.
* And fince my Charge is fo very extraordi-
nary ; fince thefe Proceedings feem to be with-
out any Precedent ; and, that the Innocence
of other Perfons calls upon me for publick
Juftice ; I believe your Lordftiips will eafily al-
low, That to be filent in fuch a Cafe would be
truly criminal, and too juftly cenfured.
' To enter into all the Particulars of my Ac-
cufation, would take up more Time than isrea-
fonable for me to afk, or for your Lordfhips to
allow : And tho' the many Inconfiftencies, Con-
tradictions, and falfe Conclufions which appear
in almoft every Page of the printed Reports,
plainly fhew the Weaknefs, Abfurdity and
Sophiftry of them; however, I fhall only beg
Leave to touch upon thofe material Parts
which relate to myfelf, and my Defence to
them.
1 The firft Article which I find myfelf charged
with, is, The employing of one Neynoe to
draw up three Memorials to the Regent of
France, to folicit Foreign Forces to invade
this Kingdom. And for Proof of this, the Ex-
aminations of the fame Perfon, which are nei-
ther upon Oath, nor fo much as figned by him,
(and whom the Committee of the Honourable
Houfe of Commons have reprefented as a very
infamous Fellow) are the only Evidence affigned

againft me.
« This, my Lords, is the Crime ! and This the
Proof!
' And tho' the bare mentioning of it might be
fufficient to convince your Lordfhips of its

Weaknefs , however, fince fo great a Weight
has been laid upon this Kind of Evidence in

another Place, it will be necefiary to be a little

more particular about it.

* The two firft of thefe Memorials (viz.

thofe before and after the South-Sea Scheme) are
but flightly mentioned : But the One pretended
to be drawn up in December 1721, (and con-
taining a Demand of 5000 Men) and a letter

faid to be written the March after (to amufe the
Government into a falfe Security) are the chief
Things upon which any Strefs is laid. And
how falfe both thefe Allegations are, has evi-

dently appeared to your Lordftiips. For, had
my Accufer been really employed to draw up
any fuch Memorials, it is reafonable to believe,

that he would have Copies of fome, and efpeci-

ally of the laft of them ; fince a Perfon who
turned Informer fo fuddenly after, may very
well be prefumed to have had Thoughts of it

M m m for
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« for fome Time before ; and fuch papers would,
« no doubt, give great Weight to his Information.

« But the Miniftry have produced no fuch Copies

;

« neither do they pretend to have them : "Which
« is a very great Indication, that there never were

* any fuch Memorials at all.

* Befides, There are no two of his Examina-
« tions of a piece. Nay ! he contradicts himfelf in

c almoft every one of them. For in his fecond

' Examination he fays, That thefe Memorials
* were all drawn up by the Order of one Henry
* Wat/on (whom he really did not know, but took

* to be the late Earl Marijhall) without making
* the leaft mention of me. In his third Exami-
' nation he fays, They were delivered to me and
* Watfon ; and in his fourth he fays again,

« They were all drawn up by the Order of Henry
« Watfon only. And in a few Lines after contra-

« difts himfelf, and fays, that the Heads of them
* were given to him by me and Watfon : Which
« are fuch Inconfiftencies, as (your Lordfliips will

' eafily grant) are not to be reconciled : And if

* his Memorials were no better drawn than his

* Examinations, I believe they were not likely

' to meet with any great Succefs.

' As to the Earl Marijhall, how reafonable it is

* to believe, that a perfon in his Circumftances

* fhould venture to come into England, and live

' fo openly here, as to intruft himfelf, and a Se-

* cret of this Nature, to a Fellow, who (by his
4 own Confeflion) did not know him, is humbly
* fubmitted to your Lordfhips. And as for my
' part, it is very plain that I could have no Hand
* in them, fince the Minutes in my Pocket-book
* (in which I could have ufed no Difguife) agree-

* ing with the concurrent Teftimony of feveral

« Witnejfes, plainly mew, That I was not in the

' Kingdom at the Times in which my Accufer
* pretends to have been fo employed. For, by
* thofe Minutes, and their Teftimony, it appears,
£ That I went to France the 23d of November
* 1 72 1, and did not return till the latter End of
* the next Month : And my Accufer himfelf
' owns in his firft Examination, That he did not
' fee me after my Return, till the January follow-
; ing-, which makes it impoffible that he could
: have been fo employed by me in December, fince '

' I was moft part of that Month out of the King-
; dom ; and the few Days of it that I was here, '

; he owns he did not fee me. '

' Nor has the other part of his Information, re-
'

lating to the letter (which he pretends to have '

drawn up in March) better Grounds ——. For, '

by the fame Minutes, and by the fame Evi- (

dence, it likewife appears, That I went to
'

France the 2 2d of February after, and did not '

return till the middle of April ; which makes it
*

as impoffible that he could have been employed
by me in March, fince I was then likewife out '

of the Kingdom. Had this Examination been '

at any Diftance of Time, it is poffible he might '

be miftaken in it : But his firft Information muft '

have been about the middle of April, foon after '

my Return from France; for he confefTed to the '

perfon taken up with him at Deal, That he was '

the firft who fet the Miniftry upon intercepting '

letters. And the firft letters fo intercepted '

are owned, in the 42c! page of the Report '

made to the Lower houfe, to have been the

22d of April, 1722. And, furely, he can- *

not be fuppofed to have forgot fo foon what •

happened the very Month before ; efpecially '

' fince he has been fo particular, as to name the
' very Day {Saturday) upon which he fays this

' letter was fo drawn up. By all which it plain-
' ly appears, That this Article is not only
' groundlefs, but evidently falfe; and likewife,
* that he had no fuch Intimacy with me (as the
' Report pretends) fince he has declared, That I

* never fpoke to him of the Confpiracy
; and

' that I could be a Month at one Time, and Two
' Months at another, out of the Town, without
' his knowing any Thing of it. As to what is faid

' of his coming fometimes to my Lodgings, I
« believe it may be true ; but it has been Vully
' proved, That his Vifits were never to me, but
* always to another Perfon who lodged in the
* fame Houfe. And I do folemnly affirm to
' your Lordfhips, that I never was acquainted
' with the late Earl Marifloall, or with any fuch
* Perfon who went by the Name of Watfon:
' That I knew very little of my Accufer; fo lit-

' tie, that I am confident, I never fpoke to him
4 Ten times in my Life; nor ever employed him
* in this or any other Affair whatfoever.

' Thefecond Article charged upon me, is, the car

-

' rying on a Treafonable Correfpondence for the Bifhop
' 0/" Rochefter. And for Proof of this, the Exa-
' mination of the fame Perfon is the only Evi-
<• dence produced againft me, wherein he fays,

' That I frequently told him, the Bifhop was con-
' cerned in fuch a Correfpondence ; and that I
' managed it for him •, with other Particulars nor
' worth mentioning. How reafonable it is, that
' I fhould tell fuch a ftrange Untruth to a Perfon
' that I knew fo very little of, and what Credit
' ought to be given to his bare Affertion, who
' has affirmed fuch grofs and notorious Falfe-
' hoods in the former Article, muft be fubmitted
' to your Lordfhips. And, in my prefent unhap-
: py Situation, I cannot but think it a very great
; and fingular Happinefs, to have fo publick and
; honourable an Occafion of purging myfelf from
; fo vile a Calumny, and of doing Juftice to that
1 moft worthy and learned Prelate.

* And I do folemnly declare to your Lordfhips

upon the Faith of a Chriftian, That 1 never

wrote or received a letter of any Kind for the

Bifhop of Rochefter, or was privy to any Corre-

fpondence of his at Home or Abroad : That I

never fhewed him any letter that ever I wrote

to France, or ever fent one there by his Privity

or Direction : That I am very little known to

his Lordfhip* went very rarely to wait upon
him; fo rarely, that I am confident few of his

Servants know either my Name or Face ; and

I have not ken him above three or four Times
thefe two Years paft, and not above eight or

ten Times in my whole Life.

' I do farther declare, That my Vifits to his

Lordfhip were always publick ; that I never

went privately in a Chair to his Houfe ; always

found other Company with him, who were ge-

nerally Strangers to me ; and never once menti-

oned his Name, upon this or any other Account,

to the Perfon who thus accufed me. Which,
with the Evidence that has been produced of his

own Confeffions to that Purpofe, is, I hope,

fufficicnt to convince your Lordfhips of the

Truth of it.

' And as for the Dog, which has been brought

as a Circumftance to prove this Matter, I do

in the fime folemn Manner declare, That he

was given to me by a Surgeon at Paris, (wbofe

' Affidavit
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* Affidavit has been offered to be produced) and who,
4 at that Time, I do verily believe, never heard

* of his Lordfhip's Name; and that he never was

« defign'd for any body but the Perfon I gave

4 him°to. And I appeal to the very Minifters

« themfelves, if the Britijh Refident at Paris (who
* is conftantly attended by that very Surgeon,

' and examined him about it) has not confirmed

« the Truth of this Account to them. I dofar-

' ther affirm, That the Bifhop of Rocbejler never

* faw him ; never received any letter or Mef-
* fage by me, nor (do I believe) by any other

4 Perfon, about him: Neither did I ever know or

4 hear, That his Lordihip had any Intercourfe or

* Correfpondence with the late Earl of Marr, or

4 any other difaffecled Perfon abroad.

' My LORDS,
4 Ic cannot be imagined, that I have any par-

4 ticular Intereft or Concern in this Matter ; for

* I never received any Favours from his Lordihip ;

4 neither do I owe him any Obligations, but thofe

4 of common J u ft ice : And thofe I fhould per-

4 form, where I have fo much Truth ofmy Side,

4 to the greateft Enemy I have upon Earth. As for

4 the other Circumftances, which are brought to

4 ftrengthen my Accufer's Examinations, and are

4 fet forth in one Fancier's Depofition, They will

4 appear, I don't doubt, as groundlefs and in-

4 confident as the Examinations themfelves. For
4 this Perfon fwears, That another told him of

* this Confpiracy ; that fix or eight Battalions of

« Irijh Forces were to come from Spain to affift

« the Confpirators ; that 200000/. were raifed,

« and 800 Men regularly fubfifted for this Pur-

* pofe in London. Thefe, My Lords, are called,

' in the 38th Page of the Report of the Lower
4 Houfe, The concurrent and Corroborating Proofs

4 of my Accufer's Examinations : And I humbly
4 appeal to your Lordfhips, if any one of them
4 carries the leaft Colour of Reafon or Probabi-
4 lity with it. For can it be imagined, That fuch
4 a Force fhould come from Spain, when there

4 appears to be fo ftrict a Friendfhip between
4 the two Kingdoms ? Or that 200000 /. could
4 poffibly be raifed among all the difaffecled

4 in England, in cafe there was a Licence for
4 ic? Or 800 Men regularly fubfifted in this

4 City, without a Difcovery? Thefe are fuch
' idle inconfiftent Tales, as (I am perfuaded)
4 can never have any Weight with your Lord-
4 fhips. Befides, my Lords, this is only bare
' Hear-fay ; and if the Hear-fay of fuch infamous
' Perfons (or, indeed, of any Perfons) be look'd
* upon as fufficient Evidence, I believe no Man
' in England can be fure of his Life or Liberty
4 an Hour, fince any two People may talk him
' into High-Treafon whenever they pleafe; and
* the greater the Perfon is, the greater his Dan-
' ger always will be.

4 The 'Third Crime which I ftand charged with,
1

is, the Writing of three treafonable Letters
' for the Bifhop of Rochejler, fuppofed to be to

' the Pretender, the late Earl of Marr, and Ge-
* neral Dillon, which Letters are faid to have
' been knt by me to Mr. Gordon at Boulogne, with
1 Directions to be delivered to one Mr. Talbot:

' And for Proof of this, the Clerks of the Poft-
4 Office crt produced, who fwear, That thofe
4 Letters were (to the heft of their Knowledge)
' written in the fame Hand wich an Original
4 which was ftopt as a Specimen of it : Which
1 Original has been fworn by two Perfons to be

my Writing, and confequently thofe letters

muft be fo too.
4 My L O R D S,
4 Thefe letters are dated the 20th of April,

and the Specimen fo ftopt the 20th of Auguft,
juft four Months after. And how ic ispoffible

for People (who receive fuch a Number of
letters) to fwear to a Likenefs of Hands, at

fuch a Diftance of Time ; and what Weight
ought to be laid upon this kind of Evidence ;

or upon that modern and myfterious one given
by the Decypherers, in which they don't pre-
tend to a Certainty themfelves, muft be fub-
mitted to your Lordfhips. And as to the Per-
fons who have fworn to my Hand, I hope it

will be confidered, That one of them is aMef-
fenger, who never faw any of my Writing, but
the Superfcriptions of a few letters, which
(your Lordfhips may eafily fee) do not bear the
leaft Likenefs with what he has fworn to. Be-
fides, this very Perfon was turn'd out of his

Employment upon my Account •, and a few Days
after he gave this Evidence in the Houfe of
Commons, I faw a Paragraph in the News- Pa-
pers that he was reftored to it again. And as

to the other, it is to be hoped, That it will be
likewife confidered, that he is a Servant who
attended me only about three Weeks, and was
turned off for an infamous Action, which he has
acknowledged himfelf to have been guilty of:

Befides he has confefied, That he never faw
me write, but as he went backwards and for-

wards in the Room ; and at fuch a Diftance
as not to be able to diftinguifh one Character
from another: And it has been proved by two
Witnefles, (one of which was a particular Friend
of his own) That he declared he never knew
any thing of my Hand; but was threatned by
the Secretary, into the Affidavit which has been
printed in the Appendix. And if that Paper had
been my Writing, it is impoffible they could be
reduced to a Neceffity of making ufe of fuch
improper Evidence, fince no Pains have been
fpared to procure better ; fince Numbers of
People have been taken up, confined and exa-

mined to this very Point ; and Newgale fent to,

more than once, for Witnefles to it. And tho*

it might be proved by the very Report of the

Lower Houfe, that thofe letters could not
have come from the Bifhop of Rochejler; how-
ever, my Bufinefs is only to convince your Lord-
fhips, That I was not the Writer of them, and
of this, I believe it is impoffible to give clearer

Proofs than I have done : For if thofe letters

had been dictated to me the twentieth of
April (as the Report pretends) it muft have
been at his Lordfhip's Houfe in the Coun-
try ; fince it appears by the Depofition of
his Coachman, that he went there the 12th
of that Month, and did not leave it till the

5th of May.
4 But it has been proved, that I was in London

all that time ; and if it had been permitted,

there is not a Perfon in the Bifhop's Family
but would teftify, That I was not then at his

Houfe in the Country ; and confequently could

not have written any fuch Letters for him.

Befides, I have brought feveral Perfons of Cre-

dit and undoubted Characters, who have all

teftified, that the Fland in which thofe letters

are faid to be written, is not mine, nor any thing

like it.

* An
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* An Affidavit has been produced from Mr.
Gordon, That he never received any fuch Let-

ters from me, nor ever had any Correfpondence,

or even an Acquaintance with me.
* And it has been likewife proved, That Mr.

Talbot, to whom thofe Letters are faid to be

delivered by Mr. Gordon, was in this Town the

very Day upon which they are faid to have been

delivered to him at Boulogne: And if I had any

fuch letters to tranfmit, can it be imagined

that I would truft them to the common Poft,

when I had fo good an Opportunity to fend

them by, or direct them to Boulogne, when

the fame Poft might as well have carried

them to Paris? Thefe are fuch full, fuch evi-

dent Proofs, as, I hope, cannot fail of giving

your Lordfhips the utmoft Conviction in this

Matter-, and, confequently, that this Article

is, like the reft, both groundlefs and manifeftly

falfe.

* But if any Credit is to be given to the

Confeflions which my Accufer made to the Per-

fon taken up with him, it is very plain that

thofe letters muft have come from another Quar-

ter ; and, to fay no worfe, were at leaft cal-

culated to carry on his own bafe and villanous

Defigns.

' For it has been proved to your Lordfhips,

that he confefTed to have been employed by one

of theMinifters; received 300/. from him, and

was to have 2000/. more. That this Minifter

declared a perfonal Prejudice, upon fome pri-

vate Account, to the Bijhop of Rochefter •, was

refolved to pull down the Pride of that Haughty

Prelate, andtofqueeze me (as I think the Expref-

fions were) to thaj Purpofe.

* My LORDS,
* I fay, if any Credit is to be given to this

Confeffion, there can be no great Difficulty in

tracing out the Source of this Part of the Con-

fpiracy ; and I am heartily forry to fay, That
there are fome Circumftances which feem to give

but too great a Countenance to the Truth of it.

For, my Lords, He made this Confeffion at a

Juncture, when he may very well be fuppofed

to have fpoken in the Sincerity of his Heart

;

when he faw his Villany detected ; believed him-

felf to be in the greateft Danger, and depend-

ed upon the Perfon's Affiftance (to whom he

made it) to help him out of his Misfortunes.

——And how particular this Profecution is,

and how fufficiently I have been fqueezed, are

Things but too vifible, and too well known to

the World.
» Befides, the very Cypher by which thofe let-

ters were written, (and which he owned to have
received from that Minifter) was actually caught
upon the Perfon to whom he gave it ; and he
confefTed, That he put a Paper of Directions in-

to one of my Drawers, by which (the Report
fays) moil of the treafonable letters were ad-

drefTed. And it has been proved to your Lord-
fhips, that thofe Drawers were conftantly open,

and that he made fome Pretext for being alone

in my Lodgings, the very Night before I was
firft taken up. And fince he was the firft that

fet the Miniftry upon intercepting letters, which

he faid were mine ; it is very extraordinary,

that fuch a material Part of his Evidence fhould

be omitted in his Examination ; or that the very

firft letters fo intercepted, fhould be thofe al-

ledged againft the Bifhop of Rochejler: And if

the Originals of thofe Three Letters were
ftop't, I don't at all doubt, but they might
be proved to be my Jccufer's own Hand writing.

And how ftrong a Senfe he had of his Guilt,

by attempting an Efcape which proved fatal

to him ; and how vifibly the Hand of God has

interpofed in that eminent Prelate's Favour,
by taking one of the Perfons (defigned for his

Deftruftion) out of the World, and giving the

other Grace and Virtue enough to wkhftand all

Temptations to his Prejudice, are Things high-

ly worthy of your Lordfhips juft and moft fe-

rious Consideration, and no fmall Indication of

his Innocence. And as to the Money which my
Accufer owned to have received, That there

was a very fudden and extraordinary Change
in his Condition-, that from the loweft State of

Poverty and Want, he foon arrived to that

of a vicious and moft profligate Affluence, is

a Truth fufficiently known to all thofe who were
acquainted with him. But from whence this

Change proceeded, or what real Grounds he
had for afperfing that Honourable Perfon, I

will not pretend to fay : But if thofe Afper-
fions be falfe (as I wifh they may) it may be

juftly inferred, That a Fellow who was capa-

ble of vilifying one Perfon, may very well be

judged as capable ofdoing fo to another: And
if his Veracity is not to hold good in one Cafe,

there can be no Reafon for allowing it in the

other.

' The fourth Crime alledged againft me, is, a
Number of intercepted letters, fuppofed to be

written to, and received from the late Earl of

Marr, General Dillon, and other difaftected Per-

fons abroad. And for Proof of this a French-

man has been produced, who fwears, That he

once faw me take up a letter at Burton's Coffee-

houfe, by the Name of Baker, which Name (it

is faid) fome of the treafonable letters were

addreffed by ; and was, in a Paper of Direc-

tions, found in my Lodgings. How that Pa-

per came there, has been already proved ; and
as to the Perfon who has fvvorn to this Parti-

cular, I muft obferve, that when he gave this

Evidence to the Houfe of Commons, he did not

know me, tho' he fpoke to me, and look'd fe-

veral times earneftly at me: and for the Truth
of this, I can appeal to moft of the Members of

that honourable Houfe, who were WitnefTes

of it : And he would ftill have probably conti-

nued in his Ignorance, if fome private Hints

(as I have been told) were not given him, or

the fame Method taken which has been done

with a Number of other Arrange Fellows, who
were frequently fent to the Tower, and had no
other Bufinefs but to take a View of me. Be-

fides the People of the Coffee-houfe have tefti-

fy'd the contrary, and that no fuch letter ever

came to their Houfe. And tho' it be fet down
in my Examination before the Council, That I

confefTed to have taken up fuch a letter, I

humbly appeal to my Lord Chancellor (if it

can be worth his Lordfhip's while to recoiled:

it) if he did not afk me that very Queftion

two or three times ? and if I did not as often

deny it? Neither is this the only Particular

that is falfely fet down in that Examination.

And I do folemnly affirm to your Lordfhips,

That I never did receive any fuch letter, nor

ever faw that Paper of Directions, till it was

printed in the Report. And there is one Cir-

* cumftance
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'

cunlftanee pretty remarkable in this Correfpon-

4 dence, That as it began with my Accufer's

' Information, fo it ended with his being taken

1 up. For immediately, after a new Correfpon-

4 dence is pretended to be difcovered ; and to fix

4 this likewife upon me, it has been fuggefted,

* that I fent Cyphers by Sir Harry Goring to

' France, and had letters directed by them to

« Sturges-s and Slaughter's Coffee-houfe.

' But, my Lords, no fuch Cyphers were found

4 in my Cuftody, nor any Papers relating to fuch

* a Correfpondence : and the People of thofe

« Coffee houfes have all fworn, That I never or-

* dered any letters of that kind to be taken in, or

* received one, either by my own or any other

4 Name from them. Nay ! one of them has

' fworn, That no fuch letters ever came to his

1 Houfe at all; and the other fays, That a Mef-
* fenger from the Secretary's Office, was the only

1 Perfon that ever called at his Houfe for thofe

4 directed to it.

' As to the printed Examination of one Mr-.

1 Carryl to this purpofe, it were to be wifhed,

* That this Gentleman's Reafons had been pub-
' limed, as well as his Accufation. For I am
' confident, he will not pretend to fay, that ever

« he faw me write a line in his life, or give a
1 piece of paper of any kind to Sir Harry Goring ;

* and what Reafon he could have for believing
4 that we fettled a Key for fuch a Correfpondence,
4

is very extraordinary : Nor have the other par-

* ticulars which he has affirmed, the leaft Founda-
* tion of Truth -, for I do folemnly aver, That I

4 never faw Sample in my life, or gave Cap-
* tain Bonin any fuch letter of Recommendation •,

1 neither had I ever the Honour of fpeaking to

4 my Lord North and Grey, or of being any ways
4 known to his Lordfhip : And that I fhould men-
* tion him fo familiarly by the fictitious Name of
4 Johnfon, (and which, of all Names, I fhould
4 never make ufe of in that manner) will, I hope,
* appear very incredible to your Lordfhips ; efpe-
1 daily fince Mr. Carryl himfelf has furnifhed fo

* good a Reafon for the Difbelief of it.

4 For he has likewife affirmed, That my Exa-
c mination before the Council was read at Doctor
4 Talden's Houfe : The Doctor has, indeed, al-

' ready done me Juftice in that Point ; and Mr.
4 Tucker (who was all the while in company) will,

' I am very fure, do the fame. And fince Mr.
4 Carryl appears to be fo plainly miftaken in this
4 particular, furely he may very well be fuppofed
4 to be fo in all the reft ; efpecially fince he has
4 not affigned the leaft Reafon for any of them.

4 As to the reft of the intercepted letters, the
4 people of the feveral Coffee-houfes have likewife
4 cleared me from them •, and all teftify, That
4 they never delivered me any fuch letters, or
4 received any Directions from me about them ;

1 which I hope will be fufficient to convince
' your Lordfhips, that I was not concerned in

* any fuch Correfpondence ; efpecially fince no
c

letters of this kind were found in my poffef-

* fion, nor any other papers relating to the Con-
4

fpiracy.
4 There are two other Crimes, in which I moft
humbly crave your Lordfhips patience to be

1 heard, becaufe they are the blackeft that can be
1 imagined, and feem to be perfonal. The Firft
* is a letter directed to Mr. Gordon at Boulogne,

with two Affidavits, which have been printed,
* and are fuggefted to be fent by my Directions,

Vol. VI.

' in order to have him and one Birmingham per-
' jure themfelves upon my Account:—For in this
4 letter it is faid, That the Inclofed is a Copy of a
4 Note from the perfon concerned, with what he
4 thinks reqiiifite.

4 My LORDS,
4 This letter is dated the 20th of March, at

4 which Time, and for five Months before, I

4 never was allowed the Ufe of Pen, Ink, or Pa-
4 per, or the liberty of feeing any perfon that
4 could poffibly have conveyed fuch a Note for
4 me •, for I have been guarded in a different man-
4 ner from other people in the Tower : My War-
4 ders were put into the very Room with me, and
4 ordered never to ftir a Moment, Night or
4 Day, out of it ; which Orders they punctually
4 obeyed, and wereconftant Witneffes to all my
4 Actions.

4 And thofe Warders will depofe, that they be-
4 lieve it was impoffible for me to have written
4 or fent out any fuch Directions ; the Officers,

4 I don't doubt, will do me the fame Juftice.
4 And when my Sollicitor was admitted, finding
4 that Mr. Gordon's Affidavit might be of ufe, if

4 allowed as Evidence, a perfon was immediately
4 difpatched, and who brought it in a different
4 Form from thofe which have been printed.
4 And my Sollicitor can teftify, That no Draughts
4 were fent by him ; which, with the grofs Ma-
4 nagement of the perfons concerned in this Af-
4 fair, is, I hope, fufficient to give your Lord-
4 fhips the cleareft Conviction of my Innocence
4 in it. And I do folemnly affirm, That I never
4 knew any thing of them , never heard of the
4 Name of Aikenhead before ; nor can I find out
4 any perfon (befides the Mafter of that Veffel)

' that ever did.
4 The other Crime is fet forth in one Levett's

4 Depofition, in the Report made to this moft Ho-
4 nourable Houfe : wherein (among a great many
4 other moft notorious Falfhoods) fhe fwears
4 That one Mrs. Barnes told her, that I was in-

4 ftrumental in, or privy to, the fhutting up of a
4 perfon in a Dungeon, for fear of his turning In-

4 former ; and not only of him, but of 200 more
4 upon the fame Account. Which, I believe, is"

4 the moft furprizing Crime that ever yet was
4 alledged againft any Chriftian. Mrs. Barnes
4 denies every Syllable of this Converfation ; and
4 if the perfon that fwears this againft her had
4 been produced, fhe would be proved to your
4 Lordfhips to have been a vile infamous Creature
4 all her life. And if fhe is to be believed, or
4 that your Lordfhips can think it poffible there
4 can be the leaft Truth in her Depofition, it will

4 be a Sin to let me live, and impoffible to find
4 out a punifhment too cruel for me.

4 Thefe, my Lords, are the chief Crimes which
4 I am charged with ; and very great ones they
4 are, had they been in any degree made out a-
4 gainft me. I am a Stranger to the Methods of
4 legal proof, but have been told by Counfel,
4 That the greater a perfon's Crime is, the clear-

4 er the Evidence ought to be againft him •, and
4 how weak and infufficient the proofs produced
4 for this purpofe are, and how clear and con-
4 vincing thofe which have been offered in my
4 Juftification, has, I hope, evidently appeared to

4 your Lordfhips, and given you entire Convic-

* tion of my Innocence ; and that all the Crimes
4 alledged againft me, are without the leaft Co-
* lour or Foundation of Truth. But how much

N n n I
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I have fuffcred for thefe fuppofed Crimes ; and
what extraordinary Means have been made ufe

of againft me, are things much worthier of your

Lordfhips judicial Confideration. To be taken

up, and held to exorbitant Bail, without ever

affigning any particular Crime againft me •, to

fuffer a long and clofe Confinement, where the

Expence bears no proportion to my Circum-

ftances : To have Numbers of people, and
fomeofthem Creatures of the meaneft Rank
and Condition, taken up, examined, and tam-

pered with, upon my Account ; and Newgate
fent to for Witneffes : To have a Servant (who
was turned off for his ill Behaviour) brought as

an Evidence, and my moft intimate Friends im-

prifoned for not fwearing againft me -, are

Hardfhips and Proceedings, I believe, hitherto

unheard of in England •, and fuch as, I hope,

your Lordfhips will, in your great Wifdom
and Juftice, think fit to redrefs. All which is

of a piece with an infamous offer made to my-
felf by one of the Under-Secretaries of State,

who, the Morning after I was firft examined,

came to. me with a Meffage (as he faid) from

one of his Superiors, to let me know, That I
bad now a verygood Opportunity offerving my/elf;

and that he was fent to offer me my own Conditions.

And when I declared myfelf an entire Stranger

to the Confpiracy, and was forry to find that

Noble Lord have fo bafe an Opinion of me, he

feemed to wonder that I would neglect fo

good an Occafion of ferving myfelf, efpecialiy

when I might have any thing I pleafed to ajk for.

What Authority that perfon had for this Mef-
fage, or the reft of his After-proceedings, I

will not pretend to fay : But as I have been

ruined and utterly undone by them, I hope
your Lordfhips will take my Sufferings, as well

as Circumftances, into your Confideration

;

and, inftead of inflicting any farther Pains

and penalties, look upon me (as I really am), a

perfon highly injured, and not a Criminal con-

cerned in any Tranfactions againft the Govern-
ment.
* As for my Circumftances, they are but too

well known in the World.
*> And here I cannot omit my Gratitude to the

latet and prefent Conftables of the Tower : for

the late Conftable (tho' I never had the Ho-
nour to fee his Lordihip) was, upon a Repre-
fentation of my Circumftances, fo very good,
as to procure me the promife of an Allowance
from the Government : And his Lordihip, the

prefent, has been fo kind as to get it paid.

But the Officers of the place can teftify, That
this Allowance has not' been converted to any
private Ufe of mine, but conftantly given to-

the perfons appointed to attend me. And I

muft take leave to allure your Lordfhips, That
it has coft me more fince I was fent there, than

the Government has now left me really worth
in the World ; and I muft fuddenly become a

Sacrifice to my Necefiities, if not fet at Li-
berty by your Lordfhips great Clemency and
Compaffidn.
* If I have dropped any Expreffion which may
not be fo agreeable to fome particular perfons

in power, I could wifh that my Defence had not

laid rae under that Neceflity : And I do fo-

lemnly proteft, that they have not proceeded

from any Refentment for my Sufferings ; but

from a fincere Endeavour to give your Lord-

fhips the cleareft Conviction of my Innocence.

And fince I could not merit their Favour, I

fhall always endeavour to preferve their good
Opinion.
' As to the Legality of thefe proceedings, and
the Danger of making precedents of this Kind,
thofe are things which have been already fully

fet forth by my Counfel, and muft be fubmie-

ted to the great Wifdom and Jurifdiction of this

moft illuftrious AfTembly : An AfTembly ! which
is not only the Higheft and moft Honourable,

but the Upiighteft and moft Impartial, I be-

lieve, upon Earth ; and whofe Juftice has ever

appeared as extenfive as their power. The
great, and the only Argument, which I have
heard offered for the paffing of this Bill, is

That the Occafion is extraordinary ; that your
Lordfhips are in your legifiative Capacity ;

and tho' the proofs may not be fo legal, how-
ever in Terrorem, it is neceffary to pals it. But
I humbly befeech your Lordfhips to confider

where the Extraordinarinefs of this Occafion

lies :— Has there been the Jeaft Commotion in

any part of the Three Kingdoms ? Or any
perfon injured in his Liberty or Fortune, be-

fides thofe who have been fo unhappy as to fall

under this Sufpicion ? Or, is this Occafion

more extraordinary than when there was a

publick Infurrecfion in the Kingdom ? And
when the perfons concerned in it, were tried

by the common and ordinary Courts of Juf-

tice? And becaufe your Lordfhips are vefted

with a Supreme Authority, and not tied up
to the common Forms of law, can that be a

Reafon for your acting directly contrary to it ?

And to fuppofe your Lordfhips capable of do-

ing fo, was not, I muft fay, fo becoming an

Argument to have been offered upon this Oc-
cafion. And to have a Seflion, which opened

with fo mild, fo gracious a Speech from the

Throne, end in fuch an extraordinary Manner,

muft furely be very contrary to the Defign and

Intention of the Throne at that time •, and is, I

hope, fo ftill ; efpecialiy fince no intervening

Accidents have happened to ruffle the Quiet and

Tranquillity of the Kingdom.

'Mj LORDS,
* The firft extraordinary Bill, that, I believe

ever paffed in England, was that of the Earl of

Strafford; and how much perianal prejudice

was in his profecution, and how fatal that

Bill proved in its Confequences, I need not

mention, fince the Royal Martyr himfelf has,

in his dying Words, called it, An unjuft Sen-

tence, and imputed all his Misfortunes to it.

And pray, my Lords, why was that Sentence

unjuft, but becaufe it was not fupported by

law? And, to the eternal Honour of

this Houfe be it faid, That when the proofs

upon his Trial were not found legal, the/

refufed to find him Guilty. But when this ex-

traordinary Method was taken, and the Tor-

rent of the Times bore down their ufual Juftice,

then the Flood-gates of all thofe Miferies were

opened, which overwhelmed and funk the Con-

ftitution : And of which, fome of your Noble

Predecefibrs had fo ftrong and lively a Senfe, as

to declare in this very Houfe, That they

would be fooner torn in pieces, than come into

fuch illegal proceedings ; and fo fell a Sacrifice

to the love and laws of their Country.

« To
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* To which I fhall only beg leave to add

one Observation, that, I am line, is but too

well known to that Right Reverend Bench :

„_ . That of all the Prelates who advifed hk

Majefty to the Poffing of that Fatal Bill, not one

of them efcaped the Violence of thofe very Perfons

whom they endeavour'd to oblige by that Advice.

Thefe, my Lords, were the unhappy Effects

and fatal Confequences of one extraordinary

Bill : And what thofe of another may prove,

the great Director of all Things only can fore-

fee !

« Many are the Arguments wich might be

brought to fhew the great Injuftice, as well

as Inconveniencies, of thefe Laws in particu-

lar: But as my Liberty can be of no great

Moment to the World, I mail only befeech

your Lordfhips, not thro' me to give a Wound
to the Conftitution, which, perhaps, may not

fo eafily be cured. The great Characteriftick

which diftinguifhes England from the reft of

the neighbouring Nations, is, the Excellency

of our Laws, of which your Lordfhips are the

great Guardians: And if you fuffer thofe

Laws to be broke in upon, and render Life or

Liberty fo precarious, as to be affected or taken

away, by every idle Hearfay, that Excellency

muft foon difappear, and the beft form of Go-
vernment now upon Earth, confequently fink

into Anarchy and Confufion.

« MyLO R DS,
* The Words of my Bill are very fevere, and

« do not bear the leaft Proportion to the Proofs

« which have been produced againft me : And
« I humbly hope, That my paft Sufferings will be
* looked upon as a fufficient Punifhment ; efpe-

« daily (inceit is not pretended, that I have tranf-

« greffed any Law yet in being. I propofe no
* great Happinefs in this Life, and would wil-
1 lingly avoid as much Mifery as I could : And
* muft therefore humbly befeech your Lordfhips,
« to look upon me as a Stranger in your King-
* dom, and a Perfon (as I really am) inconfider-

* able in myfelf ; and, confequently, incapable
I of doing the leaft Prejudice to any Govern-
* ment. For my Behaviour, I am willing to
« give the beft Sureties that I am able: But if

1 that be not approved of, I hope your Lord-
* fhips will give me leave to retire to fome other
* Part of the World, where I may enjoy my
' Poverty with Freedom. But, let my Fate be
* what it will, I fhall ever pray for your Lord-
' (hips particular Welfare, as well as the general
* Profperity of the Kingdom.

* And fo- refign myfelf, with the utmoft Hu-
' mility, to your Lordfhips great Clemency,
* Juftice, and Companion/

After which the Houfe pafs'd the Bill, which
obtain'd the Royal Affent, and was as follows

:

An Act to inflict: Pains and Penalties on
George Kelly alias JohnJb~n.

\ \\7
Hereas in the Years One thoufand feven

' VV hundred and twenty one, and One thou-
* land feven hundredand twenty two, a deteftable

I

and horrid Confpiracy was formed and carried
* on by divers Traitors for invading your Ma-
jetty's Kingdoms with foreign Forces, for raifing

6 an Infurrection and Rebellion againft your Ma-

jefty, for feizing the Tower and City of Lon-

don, and for laying violent Hands upon your

Majefty's moft facred Perfon, and upon his

Royal Highnefs the Prince of Wales, in order

to fubvert our prefent happy Eftablifhment in

Church and State, and to place a Popifh Pre-

tender on your Throne: And whereas for the

better concealing and effecting the faid Con-
fpiracy, divers treafonable Correfpondences

were, within the time aforefaid, carried on by
Letters written in Cyphers, cant Words, and
fictitious Names j which Confpiracy, had not

Almighty God in his great Mercy difappointed

the fame, would have deprived your Majefty's

Kingdoms of the Enjoyment of their Religion,

Laws and Liberties, involved them in Blood
and Ruin, and ftibjected your people to the

Bondage and Oppreffion of Romiffo Superftition

and Arbitary Power : For which execrable

Treafon Chriflopher Layer hath been indicted,

tried, convicted, and attainted. And whereas

George Kelly alias Johnfon hath been a principal

Actor in the faid horrid and deteftable Confpi-

racy, by traitoroufly confulting and correfpond-

ing with divers Perfons to procure a foreign.

Force to invade this Kingdom, and to raife an

Infurrection and Rebellion againft your Majefty

within the fame, with defign to depofe your

Majefty, and place the Pretender on your
Throne j for treafonable Practices in which
Confpiracy the faid George Kelly alias Johnfon

being arretted, and divers papers then found

about him feized, in purfuance of a Warrant
under the Hand and Seal of one of your Ma-
jefty's principal Secretaries of State, forfeiting

and apprehending him the faid George Kelly alias

Johnfon, together with his papers, and th£

faid George Kelly alias Johnfon being in Cuf-

tody of a Mefienger by virtue of the faid

Warrant, did, by Force and Violence, with

a drawn Sword, make an Affault upon, arid re-

fift the faid Mefienger, with intent to deftroy

the faid papers, and did burn the fame : There-

fore to manifeft our juft Abhorrence of fo wick-

ed and abominable Confpiracy^ and our Zeal

and tender Regard §09 the prefervation of your

Majefty's perfon and Government, and of the

proteftant Succeffion in your Majefty's Royal
Family, the folid Foundation of pui* prefent

Happinefs and future Hopes •, and to the end

that no Confpirator may, by any Contrivance

or practice whatfoever, efcape puniftimeht, and

that all perfons may by the Juftice of Parlia-

ment be for ever hereafter deterred frbfri en>-

gaging in any traitorous Confpiracies or Ac-

tempts, We your Majefty's rnbft dutiful and

loyal Subjects, the Lords Spiritual arid Tem-
poral, and Commons in Parliament affembled,

do humbly befeech your Majefty, that it may
be enacted ; and be it enacted by the King's

moft excellent Majefty, by and with the Ad-
vice and Confent of the Lords Spiritual and

Temporal, and Commons in Parliament affem-

bled, and by the Authority of the fame, That
the faid George Kelly alias Johnfon fhall be de-

tained and kept indole and fafe Cuftody, with-

out Bail or Mainprize, during the Pleafure of

his Majefty, his Heirs and Succeffors, in any

Goal or Prifon within the Kingdom of Great

Britain; to the Cuftody of the Goaler or

Keeper whereof the faid George Kelly alias

Johnfon
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* Jobnfon fhall from time to time be committed, entire as they have been continued down to your

in purfuance of this A<5t, by Warrant under the Lordfhips.

Hand and Seal of any Secretary of State of his The Law is the Rule of Mens Actions ; and
Majefty, his Heirs or Succeflbrs : Which War- Perfons accufed as Criminals for Facts com.
rant or Warrants any Secretary of State for the mitted by them, ought to be tried by the laws
time being, is hereby authorized and impow- that were in Force at the Time of the Facts
ered to make ; and that the faid George Kelly committed, fecundum Allegata tf? Probata. But
alias Jobnfon fhall forfeit to his Majefty, all laws made ex pofi Faclo, to punifh Men for

his Lands, Tenements, Hereditaments, Goods Fads which were not Offences when they were
and Chattels whatfoever. committed, render all things that are dear to
' And for the more fure detaining the faid Englijhmen precarious ; and for that Reafon
George Kelly alias Jobnfon in fafe Cuftody, be it have been as often condemned, as they have been
further enacted by the Authority aforefaid, That made.

if the faid George Kelly alias Jobnfon fhall break The Charge againft the Bifhop and Mr. Kelly

the Goalor Prifon to which he fhall be fo are fo interwoven, that I beg you will excufe me,
committed, or fhall efcape out of the Cuftody if, in my Vindication of him, I urge any thino-,

of the Perfon in whofe Cuftody he fhall be by which I ofTer'd in behalf of Mr, Kelly, when I had
virtue of fuch Commitment, that then the faid the Honour to attend your Lordfhips as his

George Kelly alias Jobnfon, and all and every, per- Counfel: But I fhall take care to repeat no more
fon and perfons whatfoever, who fhall be aiding than is neceflary.

or afljfting the faid George Kelly alias Jobnfon in My Lords,

breaking fuch Goal, or Prifon, or in making I am very fir from denying, or contefting, the

fuch Efcape, as aforefaid, or who fhall by Force Power of Parliaments as to Bills of Attainder ;

take or refcue the faid George Kelly alias John- but I hope I may have leave to obferve, that

fon out of fuch Cuftody, Goal, or Prifon, du- fuch a Power hath been very rarely exerted, un-
ring the Continuance of his Imprifonment by lefs upon extraordinary Occasions, and in Cafes of
virtue of this Act, being thereof lawfully con- Neceffity. I hope too I may be permitted to fhew,

victed, fhall be judged guilty of Felony, and that the Cafe of my Lord Bifhop is not within ei*

fhall fuffer Death as in Cafe of Felony, without ther of thofe Reafons.

Benefit of Clergy.' He never withdrew himfelf out of the King-
dom ; never fled from Juftice, but was always

In purfuance of this Act, George Kelly was con- amenable and forth-coming, ready to be try'd

tinued prifoner in the Tower of London. according to the ufual and ordinary Methods of
Juftice. And thef Attainders of Mortimer, and

Mgrch 22. The Bill to inflict Pains and Penal- the Earl of Arundel, in Edward Ill's Time, of

ties on Francis Lord Bifhop of Rochefter was Sir Thomas Haxey in Richard lis Time, and otherg

brought into the-Houfe of Commons, to which afterwards, were revers'd, becaufe the Perfons ac
the Bifhop making no Defence, it pafs'd that cufed were forth-coming, and might have been

Houfe April the 9th, andwasfentupto the Lords, brought to a Trial according to the ufual Courfe

where the Bifhop made his Defence by Counfel, of Juftice. Wherefore I hope the fame Reafons

-who were Sir Conftantine Phipps, and Mr. Wynne', which prevail'd with thofe Parliaments to reverfe

Sir Conftantine Phipps fpake as follows

:

thofe Attainders, will have Weight enough with
' your Lordfhips to prevent this Bill's palling into

My Lords, a Law.

BY the Appointment of this Honourable Houfe The Parliament, at the Reftoration, did no£

I have the Honour to attend your Lordfhips, think fit to interpofe their legiflative Authority

as Counfel for the Reverend Prelate, the unfor- even in the Cafe of the Regicides ; but left fuch,

tunate Prifoner at the Bar : And perfuade myfelf of them, as were alive, and forth-coming, to the

it will not be difficult to defend his Lordfhip from ordinary Methods of Juftice, and gave them a

the heavy Pains and Penalties of this Bill ; fince fMt *f*$ f°r their Lives and Eftates. The only

the Counfel for it confefs that it is fupported only remakable Bill of Attainder, which hath been

by circumfiantial Evidence. in fome Ages (except of fuch as were matlual

Bills pafling into Laws for taking away Mens Rebellion, or fled from Juftice) was that of Sir

Liberties and Eftates by Circumftances only, are John Fenwick. I own, I mention'd this Cafe on

new. Convictions by Circumftances were never behalfof Mr. Kdly ; and it being a Cafe fo ma-
heard of in Ages paft ; and I hope will never be terial for my LordBifhop's Defence, I cannot in

known in this, or any which is to come : And Juftice to his Lordfhip omit making fome Ob-
tho' one of the Gentlemen faid, that Circumftan- fervations upon it: From which it will appear,

tial Evidence is fufficient at This Time of Day, I that the Reafons given for pafftng that Bill are

hope, the Law is the fame at This Time of I)ay,
the ftrongeft Arguments in the World againft

as ever •, and that the Lives and Fortunes of this.

Englifh Subjects will be as well protected and de- The Preamble of Sir John Fenwick's Attainder

fended by your Lordfhips, as they were by your fhew'd the Neceffity of it: For the Preamble

Predecefjors. fets forth, That Sir John Fenwick was, upon
The Securities which the Laws have provided the Oaths of George Porter, and Cardel Goodman,

for our Liberties and Eftates, and the Happinefs indicted of High-Treafon : That he obtain'd his

that we cannot be depriv'd of them but by full Majefty's Favour to have his Trial delay'd from

and legal Proof, are Advantages which were ob- time to time, upon his repeated promifes of

tain'd at great Expence of Blood and Treafure, by making an ingenuous and full Confeffion: That

your Lordfhips Noble Anceftors: And we doubt feveral times were appointed for his Trial ; at

not but You will tranfmit them to Pofterity, as one of which he had been actually try'd, had it

not
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London: and for Jaying violent Hands upon his
Majefty's molt facred Pcrfon, and upon his
Royal Highnefs.'

As to the feizirg the Tower, and-the City, and'lJ,

;i72 3-

not been for the Expectation of the Difcoveries fo

often promifed: That fince the times appointed

for his Trial, Cardel Goodman, one ofthe'Wit-

nefles, was withdrawn, fo jthat he could not be

had to give Evidence. And it appeared upon laying violent Hands on the King and Prince; nei-

the Trial, that Porter had been tampered with, ther of thefe Crimes is charged upon my Lord
and had 300 /. paid him, and 200/. more pro- Bifhop. But the Charge again ft his Lordfhip is,

mifed him, to go beyond Sea. This made the that he hath been deeply concerned informing, direc-

prefumption very ftrong, that Goodman was fent ting, and carrying on, the wicked and deteftable Con-

away by fome of Sir John's Friends. So that /piracy, by trailoroujly confuting and corns/ponding

there was an Indiclment againft him •, two Wit- with divers Perfons to raife an Infurreclion within

nelfes were /worn upon it^ and proved the Trea- this Realm, and to procure foreign Forces to invade

fin ; and he promifed from time to time to make this Kingdom; and intending to raife a Rebellion, at

Difcoveries.
the time °f the Elections ; and when the King went to

Hath my Lord Bifiop been indicted ? Hath there Hanover ; and at the breaking up of the Camp.

been any Oath made againft him ? Did he ever As tothefirft, viz. Thefendingforforeign Forces ;

impofe upon his Majefty or the Miniftry, by pro- the Bifhop is not charged with being privy to any

mifing to make any Difcovery ? Hath hefent away one of the three Memorials : For Neynoe fays, he

any one that was Witnefs againft him ? Since thefe wrote them, and they were dictated to him by
Circumftances were thought neceffary by the parlia- Kelly and Watfon, whom he fuppofed to be the

ment at that Time to induce them to pafs that Act

;

Earl Marifhal.

and the prefent Cafe is not attended with anyone
_

As to the Charge of raifing a Rebellion at the

of thefe Circumftances ; this, we humbly con- time of the Elections, 'tis founded on a letter,

ceive, is a Reafon, why your Lordfaipsfhculd not figned 1378, and directed to Mr. Jackfon; which',

pafs this Bill. the Report fays, the Committee have good Reafon
Thegreater the Offence is of which any perfon is to believe was from the Bifhop of Rcchejier to the

accufed, the plainer and clearer the Proof ought Pretender.

The letter fays, < Notwithftanding this Op-
' portunity is elapfed, I agree with you, another
' may offer before the end of the Year.' And
the Obfervation made upon it is, that it was
wrote the 20th of April, when moft of the Elec-
tions were over : So confequently the Opportunity

to be: And my Lord Coke in his 4th Inftitute,

page 37. (which I mentioned the other Day)

fpeaking of the Attainder of Cromwell Earl of

EJfex by Parliament, fays ; ' The more high and
« abfolute the Jurifditlion of the Court is, the

c more juiJ and honourable it ought to be in its

* proceedings, to give Example of Juftice to inferior was elapfed.

* Courts.' The letter of the 20th of April is fupoofed to
TheOjfm-d-charg'donmyLordBifhopisofthe be wrote to the Pretender at Rome, h fuppo-

higheft Nature •, and this Jurifditlion the moft high feth a letter to the Pretender had been wrote
and abfolute: Therefore the proceedings, without taking notice that an Opportunity was elapfed
doubt, ought to be the moft Juft and Honourable, at the Elections ; and that an Anfwer had been
The Punifhment inflicted by this Bill, is the

greatesl that can be, next to Death itfelf : For what

can be worfe, than for a Reverend Prelate of fuch

advanced Tears, and of fo infirm a Body, to be

banifjed into another Country, and be forced to begun

feck bis Bread in defolate Places ? As for raifing a Rebellion, when th
The punifhment is ftill much feverer to his to Hanover ; it is infer'd from dark Paffaves 1

Lordfhip, who hath faved nothing to fupport him- letters of the 20th of May 1722, N. S. nth of
felf: For his eminent Hofpitality, and his exten- May 0. S. and 10th of May 0. S. which are fa id
five Charity, tho' they have fitted and prepared to have pafTcd between Dillon, or his Secretary

- World, yet have difabled and Kelly. And by comparing thofe PafTao-es'

at the Elections

made to that letter by the Pretender, that ano-
ther may offer before the end of the Year : which
muft be at leaft two Months before the Date of the
letter ; and that was before the Elections were

c King went

him to live in another

him from fubfifting in another Country : There he

will himfelf want that Charity, which he fo li-

berally beftowed upon others ; and muft beg up-

on his Crutches, or ftarve.

As to the Evidence offered againft his Lord-

fhip, I humbly apprehend the Proof would not

be fufficient at Law to fupport an Indiclment for

the iovjeft Mifdemeanor. And will your Lord-
fhips, in your great Wifdom and Juslice, convict

i of Parliament, a Member ofyour own Body,

you will obferve what Foundation there is for iu
a Charge.

en

In the letter of the 9th of May 0. S. 20th N. S.
Quitwell, fuppofed to be Dillon's Secretary writes
to Baker, fuppofed to be Kelly, ' That if this
< Poll hath not brought an Addition of Three to
« the Six, formerly come from Repney, it is eafy
< for Mrs. Jones to fee, what is ftill wanting for
« the purchafe fhe intends to make.'

In the letter of the iothof May 0. S. Hatfield,
and fubject him to fuch fevere Punifhment, upon who is fuppofed to be Kelly, writes to Howell who

is fuppofed to be Dillon's Secretary, ' That the
' King intends to fet out early next Month •, if

« they could then compafs Barrels enough, the
' fooner the Wine comes, the better ; Jones pro-
' mifes to be a good Cuftomer.'

From hence, and from what Pander fa id Skcen
told him, 'twas infinuated, that gteat foreign
Forces were to be brought in for the Pretender -

Evidence that at law would not. be fufficient

to convict the meaneft Subjetl of the moft minute

Trefpafs ?

This, I humbly~apprehend, will appear to be

the Cafe, when the Charge againft my Lord Bi-

fhop, and the Evidence to fupport it, have been

confidered.

The Bill recites, ' That there was a deteftable

and horrid Confpiracy for invading his Majefty's that great Sums of Money were contributed for
Kingdoms with foreign Forces; for raifing a that purpofe ; and that thole Sums were under the
Rebellion •, for feizing the Tower and City of Management of the Bifhop of Rochefter , and all

Vol. VI. O o th IS,
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this, becaufe Sfuilwell tells Baker, if the laft Poll

did not bring an Addition of three to fix, Mrs.

Jones may fee what is ftill wanting for the pur-

chafe fhe intends to make.

Now fuppofe, by Quilwell and Howell, are

meant Dillon's Secretary ; and by Baker and Hat-

field, Kelly is intended-, and fuppofe, that by

the Addition of three to fix, is meant a Remittance

of Money; by Wine are meant Soldiers ; and by

Mrs. Jones is meant my Lord Bifhop of Rochefter

:

Yet can what Dillon's Secretary writes to Kelly,

or what Kelly writes to Dillon's Secretary, affect

the Bifhop of Rocheftcr ? If it can, it is in the

power of any two Men, one refiding here, and the

other beyond Sea, to take away the life of any

Man breathing. But fuppofe we can make it ap-

pear, as moll: certinly we mall, that by Mrs.

Jones, cannot be meant the Bifhop ; then what be-

comes of this part of the Charge ?

The next thing to fbpport this Charge, is, a

paffage in an Extract of a letter dated the firfh

of May, written from guitwell to James Baker; in

which 'tis faid, that ' Mrs. Jones cannot take a

« better Time to have himfelf fitted with an eafy

* Saddle, &c.' If an Extract of a letter can be of

any Weight, and the Construction put upon it is

to be allow'd ; then the Bifhop is turn'd General,

or at leaft a Colonel. For by Neynoe's Information

and Plunket's Cypher, Saddlers, and Saddles, are

Irifh Soldiers, and Regiments : fo the Bifhop is re-

prefented as undertaking to raife a Regiment of

Irijh Soldiers, and to mount on Horfeback him-

felf to command them.

As to the third thing charged, which was to

raife a Rebellion at the Breaking up of the Camp;
there is no Pretence of Evidence. So that, upon
the whole, there^ does not appear to be any

pretence for that part of the Preamble to the

Bill, which chargeth the Bifhop with having been

deeply concern'd in forming, diretling, and carrying

en the Confpiracy.

The next thing charged againfl: his Lordfhip,

is, that he was concern'd in a Correfpondence Abroad,

and feme Tranfatlions at Home for bringing in the

Pretender.

Now as to this, I would obferve, that there

is not one Witnefs againfl his Lordfhip of any

criminal Act •, that tho' all his Papers have been

feiz'd, yet there appears not any Letter, or Paper,

under his Hand, of a criminal Nature; nor any
letter prov'd to be written or receiv'd by him,

which is criminal : Neither is there any Charge
of any Meeting or Confultation with any Perfons

for carrying on this Confpiracy. Indeed he is

mention'd as a Member of a Club, call'd the

Burford-Club, of which the Earl of Orrery was faid

to be Chairman ; which Club fas I apprehend)

was never heard of 'till Layer's Trial. This
Accufation 1 know to be falfe ; and never met
with any one that believed it: Therefore fhall not

trouble your Lordfhips with any farther Obferva-

tions upon it, than jufl to take notice, that tho'

he who made the lift hath joined me with per-

fons of great Quality and Honour ; yet I prefume

to fay, that my Profeffion in the Law, as well

as my Religion, has given me fuch a Senfe of

my Duty, that no perfons whatfoever are great

enough to draw me into a plot againft his Ma-
jefty and the Government.

I beg leave to obferve that this Charge is found-

ed, partly upon the Hearfay of Pander and. A^j-

noe, and partly upon the three letters dated the
20th of April 1722.
As to the Hearfay-Evidence ; Pander depofeth

that Skeen told him, that the Bifhop of Rochefter
and Lord North and Grey had the principal Di-
rection of the Confpiracy ; that 2000C0I. had
been raifed by Contribution, and was put into
the Management of the Bifhop; and that it was
call'd the Military Ghesl. Now can this be Evi-
dence in an Indictment, or Atlion, for the moft mi-
nute Trefpafs, or in any Cafe? Can it be imagin'd,
that fo much money could be raifed among the Ja-
cobites? or that fuch a Sum could be raifed, and
not one Contributor difcovered? Can it be irnaoin'd
that fuch a Sum fhould be entrujled with one Man?
Or that my Lord Bifhop would be that Man, who
would have the Care and Trouble, and run the
Hazard, of fuch a Sum? To which it may be
added, that Skeen, the only Perfon living, who by
any Perfon living is faid to have faid this, is now
inCuftody, ready to be examin'd uponO^, and
denies every Word of it.

As to Neynoe's Examinations, he fpeaks only
what Kelly told him ; and can what Kelly told

him affect: the Bifhop? Befides, none of his Exa-
minations are upon Oath, or fo much as fign'd by
him; (whereas the Examination of Goodman,
that was given in Evidence againft Sir John Fen-
wick, was upon Oath:) all of them appear to be
taken after he was in Cuflody, under great Appre-
henfwns and Terrors ; nay, it appears that one of
them was taken the Day before he drown'd himfelf:

And moreover, that only one of them was read,

which was exracted out of three Examinations,
mark'd A, B, C, and faid to contain the Sub-
ftance. We defire all the Three Examinations
may be produced, and read ; and then it will ap-

pear, whether that one contains the whole Sub-
ftance ; or whether there be not fome Things very
material omitted: And it will likewife appear, that

there are fuch Inconfiflencies in them, as will take
off their Credit. For in one place he fays, he
faw Kelly make ufe of the Cyphers ; and that Kelly

own'd with great Freedo?n they were for carrying on
a Correfpondence with the Pretender and his A-
gents : and yet in another place he fays, That
Kelly never open'd himfelf as to the plot now on
foot; that indeed he had feen feveral letters

from Paris and other places, but they contain'd

nothing material. So that it muft be fuppofed,

either that there was no Treafonable Correfpon-

dence carry'd on by Kelly; or that Neynoe was not

fo great a Confident of Kelly's as he pretended.

Neynoe fays, he drew three Memorials; and
the laft was in December 1721, to the Regent for

five thoufand Men ; that all the Memorials were

drawn by the Order of, and dictated by, one

Henry Watfon, whom he did not know, but took

to be the late Earl Marifhal ; that Henry Watfon,

whom he took to be Earl Marifhal, was. in Eng-

land all laft Spring, and that he lay with him
feveral Nights.

'Tis very extraordinary, that the Earl Mari-

fhal fhould truft a mere Stranger to draw three

Memorials, and one of them for five thoufard'

Men to invade the Kingdo?n ; and that afterwards

he fhould lie with him feveral Nights, and not'

know who he was.

In one of his Examinations he fays, the Heads

of the Memorials were given him by Kelly and

Watfon ; in another he fiys, they were all drawn
by
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by Watjbn: And 'tis obfervable, that the rough

Draught, or a Copy of any one of them, is not

produced ; which certainly, he that intended to

turn Evidence, and fo foon after became an In-

former, would have done, if there had been any

fuch.

The Committee are pleafed in their Report,

Tag, 38. to take Notice, that Neynoe faid, Kelly

told him, that a Lord of the Council gave the Bi-

fh op Notice of his being to be taken up, fome Days

before it happen'd •, and are pleafed like wife to

fay, that he afterwards confeffed, (as they were

informed^ that in that, and other his Examina-

tions, he endeavoured all he could to create Dif-

fidence and Sufpicions among his Majeflf s Servants.

And what Credit can be given, after this, to

one, who had fo little Regard to Truth, as to fay

any Thing, tho' never fofalfe ; to fo wicked a Pur-

pofe, as to create a Mifunderftanding among his

Majefty's Servants ? efpecially if one confiders

how probable it is, that the Remorfe he had upon

his Confcience, occafion'd by the Evidence he had

given, and his Dread of the Shame of being

forc'd, when he came upon his Oath, to deny what
he had faid when he was not upon his Oath, v/ere

the Reafons of his making away with himfelf.

And we mail call fome Witneffes, who will give

a full Account of him.

We fhall call one, who but lately depos'd be-

fore your Lordfhips, that Neynoe told him, he had

faid feveral Things to a great Man, which he nei-

ther would nor could fwear without being per-

jur'd.

I moft humbly beg your Lordfhips Pardon, for

being fo particular in a Matter which I had
fo lately an Occafion to mention : But this is

the Hinge upon which the Weight of the whole
Charge againffc the Bifhop turns, and therefore

I doubt not but your Lordfhips will excufe me.
The next Charge againft my Lord Bifhop ari-

feth from three Letters, dated the 20th of April,

1722. One figned J. Jones, innuendo the Bifhop ;

to Chivers, innuendo Dillon : The fecond figned

Illington^ innuendo the Bifhop ; to Mufgrave, in-

nuendo Lord. Marr : The third to Jack/on, innu-

endo the Pretender; and figned 1378, innuendo

the Bifhop. Thefe letters are faid to be wrote
by Kelly, and dictated by the Bifhop.

Now as to thefe letters, I beg leave to ob-

ferve there is nothing Criminal appears to be in

any of one them. But then 'tis objected, that two
of the Perfons are attainted of Treafon, and are

Agents of the Pretender ; and 'tis High- Treafon
to write to them : And the third is the Pretender

himfelf.

Suppofing Chivers were Dillon, and Mufgrave
were Marr ; yet writing to them in private Mat-
ters, not criminal in themfelves, nor relating to

the Pretender, is not Treafon.

But how comes the Lord Marr to be an Agent
for the Pretender? He quitted the Pretender's

Service many Years before ; and from the Time
of quitting his Service, till after the Date of
thofe letters, had a Penfion from his prefent

Majefty. I believe the Counfel for the Bill, and
all Mankind, will be at a Lofs to tell by what
Law writing to one, who hath quitted the Pre-

tender's Service fo many Years, and who hath
fubfifted ever fince by a Penfion from his Majefty,
can be an Offence.

Indeed, if it be proved that Jackfon is the Pre-

tender, I admit Writing to him is Treafon :

But if it be proved (as it will beyond all DifputeJ
that by Jackfon neither is nor can be meant the
Pretender -, and that my Lord Bifhop neither did

nor could write or dictate any one of thefe let-

ters ; then the whole Charge againft my Lord
Bifhop, founded upon thofe letters, falls to the
Ground.

The next Thing I would obferve, as to thofe

letters, is from the Report, Page 42. where the

Committee are pleas'd to obferve, that the let-

ter to Chivers is, great Part of it, out of Cypher 5

which feems to allow that the other Part was in

Cypher. Therefore it was very neceffary, I think,

to have printed the letters in the Cyphers and
Characters, in which they were written ; and alfo

as they are decypher'd : Then the Perfons aceus'd

would have had an Opportunity ofemploying Men
fkill'd that way, to fee if they were rightly decy-
pher'd. This was done done in Colman's Cafe.

The French Papers, in the Appendix, are print-

ed firft in that language, and then as they are

tranflated ; which was not fo neceffary as Print-

ing the letters in Cypher in this Cafe : Becaufe
almoft every one unclerftands French enough to
tell, at firft Sight, whether a French letter be
rightly tranflated ; but 'tis impofllble for a Man
of the greft Skill in the Art of decyphering,
to tell, upon a fudden at the Bar, whether a let-

ter be rightly decypher'd : So that all a Man
hath in the World, is to depend upon the Skill and
Integrity of the Decypherers. Nor are they in-

fallible; for the Witneffes who decypher'd the
letters, admit, that there are fome Words in

them which they could not decypher ; and thofe

Words may give a Turn to the whole Senfe of
the letters. Nay, Mr. Willes faid, that one of
the Numbers he could not decypher flood for

two Words: He was likewife pleas'd to fay, it

was impoffible that the Number he could not decy-
pher could make an Alteration in the Senfe

;

which is very extraordinary for a Man to fwear :

But if one Word could not make an Alteration in

the Senfe, furely two might.

The writing thefe letters is charged upon
Kelly; which cannot a ffect my Lord Bifhop, un-
lefs they were dictated by him, or written by his

Direction, or Privity ; of which there is no Pre-
tence of Proof. And therefore I fhall next offer-

to your Lordfhips fome Obfervations upon the

Arguments and Circumftances alleged to fupport
this Charge.

It is obferved in the Report, that the Perfon
who wrote thefe letters, fpeaks of himfelf as

being in ill Health, in great Pain, under fome fad

and melancholy Circumftances, which he expects
will foon blow over; and from thence 'tis in-

fer'd it muft be the Bifhop, becaufe his Wife was
then ill, and died in fix Days after ; and that he
himfelf was at that Time afflicted with the Gout.

One of the Gentlemen, who was Counfel for the

the Bill, faid, Thefe were Circumftances, that

did not happen to any two Men in the World at

that Time : And give me leave to inftance one

other Circumftance, which, I believe, did not

happen to any one Man in the World ; which is,

writing a Letter of Politicks, when his Wife lay a

Dying.

Why thefe Circumftances muft neceffarily in-

tend the Bifhop, more than any other Perfon that

was fick, and under Misfortunes, I cannot appre-

hend. That ill Health muft neceffarily imply the

Gout ; and that it muft be intended, that no Man
had
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had the Gout the 20th of Aprils but the Bijhop ; was not defign'd for her, but for the Bifhop of
that melancholy Circumflances necefiarily imply a Rochefler : That Kelly told her, the Dog was for

Man's Wife being fick or dying; and that no Man the Bifhop ; and that Kelly promifed to get the

had a Wife fick or dying, but the Bijhop ; is, in

my humble Apprehenfion, a new way of arguing.

Another way of proving thefe letters to be

wrote by the Bifhop, is by the Names and Fi-

gures fubferibed. For one letter is fubferibed,

T. Jones, and another letter is fubferibed, T.

Dog for her from the Bifhop, in cafe it did not
recover its lamenefs.

It is admitted, that Mr. Kelly brought fuch a
Dog from France; that Mrs. Barnes had it; and
that its leg was broken : But that it was de-
fign'd for the Bifhop, or that the Bifhop ever had,

lllington: And the Report obferves, that where- or faw it, there is no Pretence of Proof ; and my
ever Jones and lllington are named, the Bifhop is lord Bifhop utterly denies it ; and Mr. Kelly hath
to be underftood. But why the Bifhop is to be folemnly deny'd it to your lordfhips: And in-

underftood by thofe Names, non conftat ; nor is ftead of its being a Prefent from a young lady
there any Pretence of Evidence. And if we fhew to the Bifhop, Mr. Kelly fays he bought it of a
(as we infallibly fhall) that by thofe Names the Surgeon at Paris, to give it to Mrs. Barnes.

Bifhop could not he meant, and that he could not There is one Expreffion in the letter of the

write, or dictate thofe Letters ; then the Inferences 7th of May, which is remarkable ; and, in my
againft the Bifhop/hwz thofe Letters, and from the

fubfequent Correfpondence under thofe Names, be-

come of no Force or Weight.
A Third letter is fubferib'd, 1378; which

the Decypherers- fay denotes a Perfon, whofe pro-

per Name begins with an R. And the Report

humbie Opinion, enervates and deftroys the

Force of all thofe letters relating to the Dog

:

For it was written four or five Days after the Bi-

fhop's Lady was bury'd ; and it fays, ' Mrs. Illing-

' ton is in great Tribulation for poor Harlequin.'

Mr. Kelly was fuppofed to write that letter,

is pleas'd to infer, that it mujl be the Bifhop of and was fuppofed to be a Friend of the Bifhop's ;

Rochefler. Now why 1378 denotes a Perfon, and could a Friend, could any Man of Co?nmon
whofe Name begins with an R, the Decypherers Senfe, be guilty of fuch a foolifh and ridioulous

only know: And we are as much at a Lofs to Expreffion? Could any Man fay of one of my
know, why by a Name beginning with R, muft lord Bifhop's Charatler, who was in the utmost

be intended the Bifhop of Rochefler. If that Affliction for his Lady, that he was in great Tribu-

Number appear'd to denote a Name beginning lation for the breaking of a Dog's Leg ? 'Tis evi-

with R, and if no Name began with that letter dent, he who wrote that letter, did not know the

but the Bifhop of Rochefler's ; there would then, Bifhop's melancholy Circumftances: 'Tis likewife

I confefs, be fome Weight in the Obfervation.

That Jones and lllington are not the fame Per-

fon, appears from the letter of the 10th of May,
from Hatfield to Howel ; where, within the Com-
pafs of two Lines,' they are diftinguijhed. For in

one Line he faith, Jones promifeth to be a good
Cuftomer ; and in the next Line but one he faith,

lllington is gone in the Country ; which plainly

fhews them to be diftinct Perfons. Eefides, in

the Papers mention'd concerning the Duke of
Norfolk, his Grace is feveral times denoted by the

Name of Jones : In Layer's lift, Sir William Ellis

is defcribed by that Name ; and in Plunket'% lift

Jones ftands for the Germans.

The Evidence to prove Jones and lllington to

well known, that the Bifhop never loved a Dogy

nor ever had one.

The next Method of proving Letters upon the

Bifhop, is by Similitude and Comparifon of Hands ;

not by comparing any Paper written by him with
any other Writing ; but by producing a letter fup-
pos'd to be written by Mr. Kelly in Auguft, and by
proving that the three Letters written in April,

were open'

d

and copy'd, and fent forward; and that

thofe Letters were of the fame Hand with that pro-

duced.

It was to be hoped, that, fince Mr. Sidney's

Cafe, the Evidence by Similitude of Hands in cri-

minal Profecutions would never have been offer'd :

He was convicted upon fuch Evidence, and for

denote the Bifhop, and the Intimacy between the that Reafon his Attainder was revers'd in Parlia-

Bifhop and Kelly, is the Prefent of a Dog called rnent. And therefore, I humbly hope your lord-

Harlequin. fhips will not in your Legiflative Capacity admit
The Evidence ftands thus. Rep. 40. E. 35. that to be Evidence in this Cafe, which in the

' Hatfield, who is fuppofed to be Kelly, in his fame Capacity you were pleas'd to condemn in Mr.
' letter of the 30th of April to Howel, who is Sidney's.

fuppofed to be Dillon's Secretary, writes thus.

Mrs. Jones died laft Week; pray prefent my
Refpecfs to Mr. Mufgrave (meaning Marr)

In 1695, Crofby was indicted for writing trea-

fonable letters ; and the Evidence was Simili-

tude of Hands: Which Evidence was difallowed

and let him know, I received the Prefent fent by the Chief Juftice Holt, and Crofhy was ac-

hy the young lady ; that he had a leg broken quitted.^

in the Journey : Flowever I will take all the

Care imaginable of him ; and inform Mr. Jones
of it, to whom I know any thing from that

Quarter will be very acceptable.'

In Francia's Cafe, my lord Chief Baron Bury

declared Similitude of Hands to be no Evidence:

And if it was not admitted in thofe Cafes, where

Papers, were produced, and proved to be oftheir own

Hatfield, in his letter to Mufgrave of the 7th Hand-writing, and the Papers with which they were

of May 1722, fays; ' Mrs. lllington is in great
' Tribulation for poor Harlequin : However his

' Obligations to the lady are as great, as if he
' had come fafe.'

From thefe letters 'tis inferr'd, that by Jones

and lllington the Bifhop is meant ; and that a young

.lady fent the Dog to Kelly as a Prefent for the

charged were produced, and compared with thofe

other Papers •, we prefume, your lordfhips will

not allow it in this Cafe, where it is carry'd far-
ther than ever it was attempted before.

The Proof, as to this Point, ftands thus.

—™—T h ree Clerks of the P oft- Office fwea r, t h a 1 1 h e

20th of April 1720. thefe three letters were

Bifhop: And 'tis,urged, that Mrs. Barnes in her open'd ; that they took Copies of them, and

Examination of the 23d of May, fays, The Dog feal'd them up again, and fent them forward
-,

that
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that/oar Months after, another Letter

;

came to the

Office, which was ftopp'd : TZrcf is produc'd ;

and they all fwear, they believe the three Letters

were the fame Handwriting with the Letter pro-

duc'd. Now that Men, who never faw a Hand

but once, and thro' whofe Hands fo many letters

pafs in a Month, mould be able to fwear, that

three letters, which were fent in April, 1720,

were of the fame Hand-writing with a letter

which was ftopp'd four Months after, is ftrange

and incredible.

I beg leave farther to obferve, that the Clerks

cf the Poft-Office own they did not compare the
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" on the nth of June, Kelly fends his Friends at
< Paris an Account of his late Misfortunes j

" and after complaining of the Neglect in not
" bailing him out fooner, fays, your Oid
" Friend Rig, indeed, offer'd all that could be
" expected from the poor Man ;" and infer,

" That by Rig is meant the bifhop of Ro-
" chefter.

Can it be imagined, that Kelly would call the

bifhop Gerrard's old Friend ; who, 'tis not pre-

tended, ever knew him, or faw him ? and if poor

Man be taken by way of Contempt; can it be
imagined that Mr. Kelly, a Gentleman of that

Copies of the three letters with the Originals, good Senfe and Breeding, would ufe fuch an Ex-

And was ever a Copy allowed to be read, un-

lefs the Perfon who produc'd it fwore that he

compared it with the Original, and that 'twas a

true Copy ?

It is remarkable, that Clark, one of the Poft-

Office, laid, It was impoffible to write a Hand,

that had any Refemblance to thofe letters; but

yet, he faid, the Figures bore a Similitude to the

Hand-writing : So that one Hand cannot be like

another ; but Figures may be J ike a Hand-writing

preffion of my lord bifhop ? If thcfe Words are

taken in the literal Senfe, 'tis as improbable ; for

the bifhop was not taken for a poor Man : Be-
fides, how could he, who had 200,000/. Con-
tribution-Money, and had the Command of the

Military Chesl, be faid to be poor ? And I dare

fay, there is nobody but believes, that if my
lord bifhop would have intermeddled on Mr.
Kelly's behalf, he had Intereft enough to procure
whatever bail Kelly wanted : And therefore I

It is alfo obfervable, that the letter produc'd apprehend, that Rig cannot be intended to be the

is proved to be Kelly's Hand-writing, only by bifhop.

Indeed, no Credit can be given to Cant-Names

;

for the fame Names are us'd for feveral Perfons

:

As Laws in Plunket's Cypher ftands for Marr

;

and in the Cypher found on Dennis Kelly, it fig-

nifies Mr. Cafar. Hawkfby in Plunket's Cypher,
ftands for King George: And in the Report 62,
there are Compliments from the Pretender and

Hutchins the Meffenger •, who fays he had him in

his Cuftody a Week, and faw him write feveral

letters ; and by Malone, who proves Mr. Kelly's

Hand by a Superfcription in French, and yet

owns he cannot read French : Whereas, we fhall

prove by three pofitive Witnejfes, that this is not

Hand. Befides, they might have produced

the letter which he wrote to my Lord Townfhend, his Spoufe to Hawk/by ; which, I prefume, they
did not mean for his Majefty. Jones is ufed ma-
ny times for the Duke of Norfolk. It is ufed for

Sir William Ellis ; and it is alfo ufed for the
Germans ; as I before obferv'd.

That Jackfon cannot mean the Pretender, is

plain. App. -£.30. A Poftfcript in the letter

from Quitwell to Vernon fays, " Mr. Chivers ad-
" vifes, that the Money you mention, in Clinton's

" Hands, fhould be equally divided between
" Medley ("meaning the late Duke of Ormond) and
" Jackfon, meaning the Pretender." Now would
any one devoted to the Pretender's Intereft, put

Ormond before the Pretender? Jackfon is put for

the Pretender only in Plunket's Lift; and yet

'tis obfervable, that Plunket in all his Correfpon-

dence never calls him Jackfon, but Jofeph, or

Jephfon: And in the voluminous Correfpondence

charged on Kelly, he is not once called Jack-
the ufual Names are Jephfon and

which is admitted to be his Hand.
We fhall likewife prove by feveral WitnefTes,

That at the Time when the three letters are faid

to be written, the Bifhop was at Bromley, and fo

lame with the Gout, that he could not ftir Hand
or Foot ; that his Lady was dying; that no Perfon

was admitted to him, but two or three Servants ;

and that Mr. Kelly was not at Bromley at that

time, nor for three or four Months before, or after.

And therefore 'tis impoffible thofe letters fhould

be written, or dictated, by the Bifhop.

The Evidence of Wood the Coachman, confirms

this. For he fwore, that he never faw Mr. Kelly,

till he was carry'd to fee him in the Tower ; and
that Kelly was not at Bromley ; that no Stranger

was at Bromley from the 12 th of April til I the

26th, when theBifhop's Lady died ; and that he

muft have known it, if there had ; that the Bifhop
never fent the Coach for Kelly, or any other Perfon fon ; but

in Berry-Jlreet, or any Place near Pall-Mali. So Jofeph

that by this, the Examinations of Elizabeth Levet

and Neynoe are quite deftroyed.

But 'tis objected, that a Man might put his

Horfe at an Inn, and come to fee the Bifhop,
and Wood not know it. Can it be imagined, that

Kelly, who is fuppofed to be fo particular a

Friend of the Bifhop's, would leave his Horfe at

an Inn? But we fhall examine other WitnefTes to

this.

It was objected, that on the 10th of June the

Bells rang, and the Servants had Rofes. But it

appears, moll of them were red Rofes : And if

it fhould be criminal to ring the Bells on the

10th of June, we fhall fhew that the Bi/hop

knew nothing of the Ringing of the Bells, or of
the Rofes.

In the Report, Page 50. the Committee of the

Commons are pleafed to take Notice; " That
Vol. VI. P

As for the letter to Dubois, it feemed at firft

to be a letter written from France TO the bi-

fhop, by the Name of Dubois ; and after a

MoQth's time they find it to be a letter written

BY the bifhop. If fo ; Writing a letter, and
not fending it, can be no Offence. But how comes
the bifhop to keep that letter feal'd, which he

had written feven Months before? The Writer of

that letter owns, he had receiv'd one from Du-
bois two Months before, by Mr. Johnfon ; which

was the Name Kelly went by: And 'tis very

ftrange, that the bifhop fhould be fo weak, as

to mention the Name of the very Perfon, who,

'tis faid, ufed to write his letters, and by whom
he was fuppos'd to carry on his Correfpondence.

If it be prefum'd that He wrote this letter ; it

muft alfo be prefum'd, he was out of his Scnfcs

when he did it.'

PP Thar
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That letter was not figned, and was dated

the 1 6th of Dec. but no Year •, tho' they have

put the Year 1721 to it. For a Month together

they never thought the letter to Dubois to be

the bifhop's Hand •, tho' they had feveral of his

letters. As to the Obfervation made by one of

the Gentlemen, that the letter to Dubois was feal-

ed by a particular Seal, and not the Seal with which

he feal'd fuch letters, as He intended all the

World Jhould fee ; that Gentleman would do well

to let us know, what letters were written by

the bifhop, which he intended all the World
fhould fee.

That_/o many letters were written before 17 12,

and fo few fince, was occafioned by his lord-

fhip's great Gorrefpondence about Matters of
Learning at that Time, and his being from that

Time often afflicted with the Gout, fo that he

could not write many letters, and confequently

receiv'd but few. Befides, He was made bifhop in

1713, and Dean of Weflminfler ; fo had not Time
to write much himfelf, but kept a Secretary.

As the Matters before mention'd to be charg'd

againft my lord bifhop, arofe from letters fup-

pofed to be written by him ; I fhall next confider

the Charge againft Him, which arifes from let-

ters fuppofed to be written to Him.
There are Two Letters mention'd in the Report

as written to Him ; one of the nth by Motfeld,

interpreted to be lord Marr, wrote to Illington-,

the other of the 25th of July from Digby, inter-

preted Dillon, to Mrs. Weflon.

Now I would obferve, That it is not pretend-

ed, that either of thofe letters was ever receiv'd

by the bifhop; fo confequently muft be inter-

cepted: Therefore it would have been proper,

to have produced the Letters, and to have proved

the Hands.

As to the letter from Motfeld, 'tis only a

Compliment of Condolence: And 'tis inferr'd that

it musl be the Bijhop, becaufe his Lady died a lit-

tle before. The letter fays, " We muft fubmit
" with Resignation, to what the juft and great
" God thinks fit to order; but you know fuch
" Things fo much better than I do, that I will

" not troubleyou with faying any more upon it."

From thefe laft Words it is infer'd, That this

letter was written to a Clergyman, and confequent-

ly the Bifhop.

What Weight this way of Reafoning will have
with your lordfhips in criminal Profecutions, is

humbly fubmitted : But it muft be obferv'd, That
this letter is faid to be an Anfwer to the let-

ter, faid to be written the 20th of April to Mufl
grave. And as we have fhew'd, that it was
impoffible the bifhop fhould write or dictate

either of the letters of the 20th of April, the

Anfwer muft fall with the letter. But from
hence the Obfervation is natural, and undenia-

bly true ; that if Jones, who wrote the letter

to Mufgrave of the 20th of April, could not be

the Bijhop ; and Illington, to whom Motfeld wrote,

be the fame as Jones ; then neither Jones nor

Illington can denote the Bifhop.

As to the letter from Digby to Mrs. Weflon,

who is interpreted the bifhop; it was written

the 25th of July, N. S. wherein Digby fays,

" I cannot on any reafonable Grounds complain
" of your Silence, becaufe I am inform'd of the
*' Situation of your Flealth, and the Concern
" your Family are in, by Bankrupts, and Law-
" Suits."

It muft be obferv'd, that on the 7th of Jul)
G. S. G. W. in his letter to Digby fays, " I
" faw Mrs. Wefton yefterday ; fhe never was
*•' better in her Life than now." It is ftranp?,

that Digby the Week following mould take No-

given

Health.'

be Genuine,

to fuch a

tice of the ill Situation of Mrs. Weflon'

s

'Tis plain both thefe letters can'

and therefore no Credit can be

Correfpondence.

One Way of fixing the intercepted Corre-
fpondence, and the Cant-Names mentioned there-

in, upon the bifhop, is, by the Coincidence of'Times,
and other Circumftances; as of his lordfhip be-

ing in Town, and out of Town: And there are

feveral Miftakes in them. For in Halfeld's let-

ter to Mufgrave of the 7 th of May, he fays, Mr.
Jones is come to Town only for a Day: If that be
to be underftood of the bifhop, it is not true

;

for he came to Town the 5th of May, and did

not go out of Town till the 10th.

In the letter from /. H. to Dixwell, of the

1 8th of June, 'tis faid, < Mr. H. Rig, and Rep.
1 are I hear in the Country.' And 'tis faid, by
Rig is meant the bifhop : Which cannot be, for

the bifhop was then in Town. So in a letter to

Maifonneuve, of the 19th of July, 'tis faid, '-Rig

' is in the Country." Whereas the bifhop was
then in Town. This is the more obfervable ;

becaufe the Report, taking Notice of the bifhop's

being ill of the Gout, fays, Rage 41. ' This Par-

S ticularity, as alfo feveral others, which will be
S taken notice of as to the bifhop's being in Town,
\ or in the Country, at the refpective Times men-
* tion'd in the intercepted letters, have been care-

' fully inquir'd into.' And in the next Paragraph,

the Report, taking notice of the letter to Muf-
grave of the 7th of May, which fays Mrs. Jones is

come to Town, fays, ' This agrees with the In-

\ quiry.' And yet it will plainly appear, thatthere

are fuch Miftakes, as to thofe Times, as I have

before mention'd.

I hope I may have leave to obferve, that thefe

Miftakes efcaped the Obfervation of the Honou-
rable Committee of theHoufe of Commons; and

that tho' the letter of the 7th of May, in the

Appendix, fays, ' Mrs. Jones is come to Town
* only for a Day ;' yet in the Report, the Words
only for a Day are left out.

All the Circumftances before mention'd are

made ufe of to fix the Names of Jones and Illing-

ton upon my lord bifhop ; and therefore the

next Paragraph but one in the Report is very ob-

fervable : Which is this.

* Thefe feveral Circumftances, joined to Ney-

' twe'% Declaration, that Kelly had told him, the

' bifhop went fometimes by the Name of Jones,

1 and that Carte had told him, the bifhop went
1 by the Name of Illington, fhew, that where-
c ever Jones and Illington are named in Kelly's

' Correfpondence, the bifhop of Rochefer is to

' be underftood by thofe Names.'

So that the whole Proof of the Correfpondence*

charged to be carry'd on by'my lord bifhop un^-

der the Names of Jones and Illington, is refolv'd

into this; that Neynoe Declared that Kelly

and Carte Told Him the bifhop went by thofe

Names.
I befeech your lordfhips, Is this Proof? Is

this Evidence fufficient to deprive a Reverend

Prelate of all his Ecclefiaftical Preferments?

And to fend him into perpetual Banimnicnt? Do
the
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the Lives and Liberties of EngUfJmen ftand upon

fo weak a Foundation ? If they do, I prefume

to fay they are very precarious, and the moil inno-

cent Man alive cannot fay he is fafe.

I beo- your Lordfliips Indulgence to obferve

farther, that this heavy Charge againft my Lord

Bifliop is fupported only by Innuendos: And with

what an Eye Innuendos have been always look'd

upon in criminal Cafes, many Instances may be

given.

I fh.aH trouble your Lordfliips but with one ;

which is full to this Purpofe, and ofthe greatefl

Authority : I mean the Refolution of your Lord-

fliips in the Cafe of Sir Samuel Barnardifton in

1683. He was profecuted for writing letters,

alledged to be feditious, and highly reflecting on

the Government, and the publick Juftice of the

Nation; and was found guilty, and fined ioooo/.

He brought a writ of Error in this mod: Honour-

able Houfe, and your Lordfliips were pleas'd to

reverfe that Judgment ; for that the Information

being grounded on Letters, which in them/elves

were not criminal, but made fo by Innuendos, your

Lordfliips were pleafed to declare, that Innuendos

and forced Conjirutlions ought not to be allow'd;

for all Accufations fliould be plain, and the Crimes

afcertain'd.

Now if it can be fuppos'd, without any Evi-

dence, that my Lord Bifliop wrote the letters

charged to be written by him ; even then this

Cafe is the fame with Sir Samuel Barnardifton"s.

For the letters are not criminal in themfehes ; nor

can be made fo but by Innuendos, and ftrain'd,

forced Conjirutlions. Nay, I prefume to fay, there

is not one Part of the Charge but fubfifls purely by

Innuendos, and Jlrain'd Conjirutlions.

I will trouble your Lordfliips with inftancing

only one letter; which is that of the 20th of

April, written to Mr. Jackfon, and fubferibed 1378.
With the Innuendos it is thus. 1378, Innuendo

a perfon whofe proper Name begins with an R,
Innuendo the Bifliop of'

Rochefter, did write to Mr.
Jackfon, Innuendo the Pretender', that, notwith-

ftanding this Opportunity, Innuendo an Opportu-
nity of raifing a Rebellion in England at the 'Time

of Eletlions of Members of Parliament, had elapf-

ed ; I, Innuendo the Bijhop, agree with you, In-

nuendo the Pretender, that another, Innuendo ano-

ther Opportunity of raifing a Rebellion in England,

may offer before the end of the Year, Innuendo

at the breaking up of the Camp. Your Lordfliips

will pleafe to obferve what a Superfetation of Innu-

endos (if I may fo fay) there muft be to fupport

this Charge ; and without Innuendos no Part of
the Charge againft: the Bifliop can be maintain'd:

And therefore I humbly hope that the fame Rea-
fons which induced your Lordfliips to reverfe the

Judgment againft Sir Samuel Barnardifton, will

prevail upon you to reject this Bill.

To what I have objected, I imagine it will be

anfwered, That your Lordfliips are now acting

in your Legiflative Capacity ; and that in your
legiflative Capacity you are not bound by the

Forms of Law : But I humbly fubmit it, whether
you will not think fit to proceed according to

the Rules of law, tho' not according to the Forms
of it.

Mens Lives, and Properties, are to be try'd and
determin'd fecundum Allegata fcf Probata ; and the

Proof in fuch Cafes muft be legal Proof. And I

apprehend with great Deference, that when your
Lordfliips proceed in your Legiflative Capacity in

other Inftances, you proceed according to the

Rules of Law: As in Bills for enabling perfons to

fell, <w fettle Eftates ; or for making Rivers navi-

gable. If the Title or Property of any Perfon
come in queftion, your Lordfliips are pleafed to

hold the parties to ftricl legal Proof: And why
not in Bills of Attainder ? Are Bills of Attainder

(whereby Mens Lives are forfeited, their Eftates

connfeated, their Blood corrupted, and their Fa-
milies undone) of lefs moment than Bills to ena-

ble Perfons to fettle their Eftates for the benefit

of their Families? I humbly apprehend that your
Legiflative and Judicial Capacities are here fo uni-

ted, that they cannot befeparated. For a Bill of
Attainder is a Condemnation by Parliament ; and
your Lordfliips always hear and judge whether a

Party be Guilty, before you condemn him. Will
you then be pleafed to judge, and determine up-

on lefs Proof in one Cafe than in another? Can it

be conceived that your Lordfliips will not act by
the fame Rule in both your Capacities? or that

you will not have an equal Tendernefs and Regard
for the Lives,, Liberties, and Eftates of the Subject

in one Capacity, as in the other ?

When a Man fliesfrom Juftice, he gives Judg-
ment againft himfelf; and when a Perfon accufed

doth by corrupt or indirect Means conceal or con-

vey away the Witnejfcs againft him , then he is

the Caufe, why ftricl and legal Proof cannot be

had: And that may be a Reafon, why lefs

Prooffiould be admitted. But in Cafes not attend-

ed with either of thefe Circumftanccs, to fay that

lefs than legal Proof isfufficient for a Bill of Attain-

der, is to affirm that Private Opinion'
alone, without Proof, is a fufficient Foundation to

pafs a Bill of Attainder. And how harfhly that

would found in the Ears of' Englifhmen, is humbly
fubmitted to your Lordfliips.

My Lords, By our Law a Judge cannot go
according to his own private Opinion ; but muft

be govern'd by the Evidence given before him in

Court. For the Rule is, Nil refert, quod notum fit

Judici; fi non notum fit in Forma Judicii. And if

Mens Rights and Liberties were to be deter-

min'd by private Opinion; how precarious would

the Lives and Eftates of Engliflomen be? The moft

innocent Man could not be fafe; the wifeft Man
could not forefee, where it would end; and Eng-

land muft no longer boaft of the Excellency of

her Conftitution.

It is a Rule, both in Law and Reafon, that

Nemo bis puniri debet pro eodem Delitlo: And yet

that may happen to be the Bi (hop's Cafe. For

the Charge in the Bill is general ; intending to raife

a Rebellion, and holding treafonable Correfpondence

in order to bring in foreign Forces : But there is

no particular Fatl charged upon him. Now if he

fliould be inditled for either of thofe Species of

Treafon ; and particular Overt- ASis of fuch Trea-

fon fliould be alledg'd, as buying Arms, and

lifting Men for the Pretender, and the Overt- Acts

fhould be proved by two Witnejfes ; he might be

condemned and executed for it. For he could not

plead this Bill in Bar to fuch Inditlment ; becaufe

the Indictment would not be for the fame Fatls,

there being no particular ones charged in the Bill.

And yet it may happen (as I faid) that my Lord

Bifliop may be inditled and try'd for the Treafon

mention'd in this Bill: As in the Cafe of Hamp-

den and Fdzharris, which I lately mention'd.

For Mr. Hampden was try'd for meeting and

confulting to raife a Rebellion , was fined

40000 /.
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40000/. and was afterwards tried for High-
Treafon for the fame Fact: And tho' he infilled

on his having been try'd for the fame Fact, and

defired to plead it ; yet the Court would not al-

low it. And in Fitzharris's Cafe, he was indict -

ed for High- Treafon, and pleaded an Impeach-

ment •, and averr'd, it was for the fame Fact.

But the Plea was overruled : For there being no

particular Article, the Averment could not be

fupported ; becaufe he could not aver any thing

that was out of Record.

I humbly hope your Lordfhips will excufe me
for taking up fo much of your Time. But the

Multifarioufnefs of the Matters of which the Accu-

fation confifts, and the Weight of the Subject,

drew me into it. I humbly thank your Lordfhips

for your great Indulgence and Patience in hear-

ing me : And if, as a Lawyer, thro' my Zeal for

my Client's Service, or, as an Engtijhman, affert-

ing thofe Laws which I apprehend are the Security

of BritiJ/j Liberties, I have let drop any Expreffion,

which may be thought improper ; I moft humbly
beg your Lordfhips Pardon. And if there be a

difference between your Legiflative and Judicial

Capacity; I fubmit it, whether your Lordfhips

will be pleafed to give that Judgment in your Le-
giflative Capacity, which the Counfel for the Bill

do, in my Apprehenfion, admit you could not

give in your Judicial. And therefore, I hope
your Lordfhips will be pleafed to reject this Bill.

Mr. Wynne (his Lordfhip's other Counfel) fpake
next.

May it pleafe your Lordfhips,

I
AM of Counfel for this Reverend Prelate

:

and however unneceffary I know Apologies
to be before your Lordfhips, who are always
ready to hear what the youngefl and moft unex-

perienc'd Perfon has to offer ; yet it becomes me
to fay fomething for my firft Appearance at your
Lordfhips Bar, in a Matter of the lafl Confe-
quence •, and it was the Defire of this Reverend
Prelate, rather to make his Defence by fuch

weak Hands as mine, as if he was perfuaded,

that his Caufe needed not the Afhftance of Art
or Experience, in order to move the Paffions,

or to impofe upon the Reafon of his Hearers;
which he knows to be but an impotent Help to

Perfuafion, in comparifon of Truth and Innocen-

cy. He appears before thofe, who (he hopes)
will regard plain Facts and pofitive Law ; and
Truth, notwithflanding all the Difadvantages
of an unfkilful Pleader, will, he hopes, at lafl

prevail.

For my own part, fince your Lordfhips have
aflign'd me for his Counfel, I fhall be under no
Apprehenfions of Danger or Difpleafure in per-

forming my Duty to him, in humbly offering

every thing I think neceffary for his jufl Defence:
and I will not doubt, but I fhall be fully and
favourably heard. And tho' it is his Lordfhip's

Misfortune to be already pre-judg'd in another
Place, and to be condemn'd without Doors, by
fome few vulgar mifled Apprehenfions; yet he
hopes better Things of you, my Lords : He does

not doubt, but that your Lordfhips, who in Mat-
ters of lefs Importance proceed with Calmnefs,

Juftice and Prudence, will be careful not to de-

viate from thofe Meafures in a Matter which
demands the greatefl Caution and Deliberation:

For it is the Cafe, the Reputation, the Liberty,
the Fortune, and (I was going to fay) the Life
of a moft learned Prelate ; becaufe fome Cir-
cumflances of this Bill are fo cruel and extreme,
that it is little better than if it had affected Life
itfeJf.

Every one that is a Friend to this Bill, mufl
avow, that it is not to be offer'd without an evi-

dent and cogent Necefhty. But, I hope, my
Lords, tho' the Grounds and Suggefcions of it

were true, and duly proved, yet that there is no
fuch Necefhty.

In order to difcover whether there be any fuch
Necefhty or not, I fhall confider the End propo-
fed by this Bill, and then weigh the Means where-
by 'tis hoped to attain that End, and whether
this Bill be a Means neceffary or convenient to

attain it.

The End, I hope, is the Security of the Govern-
ment, and the Execution of Juftice, and it ou»ht
to be purfued by all regular and lawful Means;
and therefore, before I fpeak particularly to the
Crimes fuppofed in this Bill, or the Proofs which
have been offer'd to make them out, I fhall beg
leave to fay fomething as to the Manner and Me-
thod of this Proceeding. Not that I fhall prefume
to queflion your Lordfhips Power in fuch Cafes:

But, as on the one hand we mufl admit your
Lordfhips may, and have in fome Cafes exerted

your legiflative Capacity, in declaring That a

Crime which was not fo before, or by inflicting

particular or extraordinary Punifhment on com-
mon and ordinary Crimes ; yet, on the other

hand, till that is done, I hope I am at Liberty

freely to reprefent the Inconveniency, the In-

juflice, and the Imprudence of making fuch a

Declaration, or of pafling fuch a Law, in the

Cafe now before you. If it fhould become a

Law, his Lordfhip mufl difpute it no longer, but

fubmit to it as jufl, whatever Hardfhips he may,
in the Retirement of his own Heart, conceive

introduced upon him by it. But, thanks be to

God, this is yet no Law, and that I am at fuil

Liberty to reprefent the lnjuftice and the Unre;-

fonablenefs of this Bill ; and to fay, this is not a

proper Occafion that needs or calls upon your

Lordfhips to exert ycur legiflative Power.

I might here enlarge upon the lnjuftice of all

Laws made ex pojl fatlo, and for one particular

Cafe or Perfon, and no other; that they are

againft the Common Law, and the Common
Right which every one is entitled to, in the

Place or Community where he lives ; becaufe

Laws, in their Nature, ought to be Rules for the

general Order, and Good of Society ; and Na-

tural Juftice would furely in all fuch Cafes flop

the Precipitancy of your Lordfhips Refolution,

by this Queflion ; Againft what Law hath he

tranfgrefs'd ? If he hath tranfgrefs'd any publick

known Law, he is undoubtedly fubject to under-

go the Pains or Penalties enacted by it, whtn

the Proof is duly and fully made which that Law
requires. But if there is no fuch Law yet in

being, or if there is no fuch Proof as that Law
requires to fuppofe him guilty, will your Lord-

fhips introduce a new Law, or a new Sort of

Proof to make him fo? Ifthefe Methods are to

be taken, the moft innocent Man is not fai'e, and

the wifeft Man cannot judge what is an Offence,

or in what Degree ; what Proof is neceffary for

his Defence, or how he is to be rrv'd. And in

vain does the Legislature every Sdiion provide

Laws,
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Laws, if a particular Law or a particular Proof

is Hill to be made for every particular Purpofe,

not only contrary to the Tenor of all the former ;

but fuch as is not to be a Rule or Law in any

other future Cafe whatfoever.

Thus much I am fure may be juftly urged in

any Place of Judicature in the World, againft all

fuch Laws in general ; but much more as we are

Engti/hmen, as we have Laws, which my Lord

Bacon calls wife and juft, that give to God, that

give to Cafar, that give the Subject, that which

belongeth to them. Not like thofe of other

Countries, impofed upon the Subject at the Will

of the Prince, before Probation or Trial, whe-

ther they are fit and convenient for the Genius of

the People; nor the Production of one Man, or

of one Parliament in any one Age, but the Wif-

dom and Experience of many Generations.,

And I am fure one of the greateft Excellencies

of this Law, beyond that of other Nations, has

been always efteemed the common and ordinary

Method of Trial. It has been always accounted

the Birth- right of an Englijh Subject to be try'd

per Pares, according to the known Courfe of the

Law.
And therefore, the better to fhew the, Diffe-

rence, and to evince the Hardfhip ol this extraor-

dinary Proceeding, I fhall a little confider the

Nature of the ordinary Trial •, and tho' I might

do this in the Language of Magna Charta, and of

many eminent antient Writers of the Law, I ra-

ther chufe my Lord Chief Juftice Hales, that

great and good Man, whole happy Moderation

between the Prerogatives of the Crown, and the

jutt Liberties of the Subject, can never be remem-
bsr'd by Pofterity, without the deepeft Honour.
He fays

a
it is the beft Trial in the World, and

one of the firft Principals upon which our ConftL

tution is erected. Here a Man has a legal Ex-
ception to any one of his Triers, if they have any
Dependance upon either of the Parties, are pre-

poflefs'd or prejudiced before they hear the Evi-

dence. Ail the Evidence is given openly, in the

Prefence of the Judge, Jury, Counfel, and Par-

ties •, not in private, before a CommifTioner or a

Clerk, (as in Chancery, or by the Civil Law)
where oftentimes a Witnefs delivers that, which
he will beafhamed to teftify ere tenus, and where-

in a crafty Clerk will oftentimes make a Witnefs

fpeak what he really never meant, by dreffing up
his Evidence in his own Terms, Phrafes, and

Expreffions. Or a Man may depofe in Writing,
what the Fear of being falfified, or perhaps a bet-

ter Recollection would not let him adhere to in

open Court, where he has an Opportunity to cor-

rect, amend, or explain his Teftimony.

Befides thi3, (fays that learned Judge) a Jury
muft all agree in their Verdict, and are not to be

concluded by a Majority; and therefore, tho' in

fome Cafes, the Law don't pofuiveiy require two,

nor one Witnefs, viva voce; yet the Credit of a

Verdict is great, where twelve Men on their Oaths
unanimoufly agree.

The Counfel on the other Side may be apt to

reply upon me, with the frequent Abufes and
Corruptions of Juries. My Lords, I do agree,

that may happen to be the Cafe ; or it may hap-

pen that one more knowing or over-bearing Man
among them, may fometimes govern all the reft.

But, if the fame may happen, and often does in

every Society or Number of Men, and the beft

1
Hi/}, of the Law, cap. \z.

Vol. VI.

regulated Bodies in the World, furely that can
never be a Reafon to deprive a Man of his com-
mon Right, and to Jay afide a raoft valuable In-

ftitution.

I am afraid, my Lords, this little has been too

much upon a Point that fo little needs it: but
the Love of one's Country, and its antient legal

Conftitution, is an honeft Prejudice, which every
one is apt to indulge ; and the Advantage of this

Privilege, every one that hears me, (I doubt not)

is in the Heart fufficiently convinced of, and
would boldly infift on it as his Birth-right in any
Cafe of his own, where his own Property, his

Reputation, his Life, or his own Liberty was in

the leaft concerned.

It is urged by the Counfel for the Bill, and in-

deed by the Bill itfelf, that this is an extraordi-

nary Cafe, and requires an extraordinary Reme-
dy, where the Offender has taken Care, by fub-

tle Contrivances, to keep out of the Verge of the

Law, and the Reach of all ordinary Proceedings.

But if fuch a cruel artificial Suggeftion be al-

low'd to be a good Reafon to deprive a Man of

the Benefit of the Law, no Man's Life or Li-

berty is fafe. The fame may be fuggefted of
every Offender, and in every Offence: That a

Man endeavours to evade the Punifhment of the

Law. The fame may be faid with more Juftice

of every one that pleads Not Guilty, and infifts

on his Trial, that he endeavours to evade the

Law, becaufe fuch an Accufation or fuch an In-

dictment is found againft him. And yet the moft
rigid Cafuift never yet maintained, but that any
Man (tho' he knew himfelf to be a moft guilty

Criminal) might plead Not Guilty, and infill on
his Trial.

But if this cruel Artifice is to prevail, and this

fhould be a Reafon to exert fuch an extraordinary

Proceeding: Wo! be to all Men of Senfe and
Ingenuity. Nay, my Lords, if fuch a Notion
is to take Place, the Bifhop is in a much worfe

Condition, than if Neynoe were alive, or any other

Witnefs would have depofed, viva voce againft

him, all they would have had them. For even

then, his Accufation or Indictment muft have
been found upon the Oaths of Twelve Men at

leaft, he would have had his legal Trial, and his

Challenges. This I fay upon a Suppofition that

the Gentlemen of the other Side may not allow

his Lordfhip to be a Peer of the Realm ; but if

they do allow his Right of Peerage before your
Lordfhips Bar, and confequently that he is inti-

tled to a Trial by his Peers, yet ftill he would
have had his legal Exceptions to the Teftimony
of the Witnefies; there muft have been two po~
fitive Witnefies to the fame Overt-Act ; and his

Accufation muft have been found by twelve Men
at leaft upon their Oaths; and, after all, if his

Lordfhip fhould have been found Guilty, he
might move in Arreft of Judgment. All which
Benefits he is now utterly deprived of, by this

Method of Proceeding.

We fhall be told (I doubt not) by the Counfel

for the Bill, that your Lordfhips fit now in a Ju-
dicial Capacity ; that you are Judges of the Fact,

as well as of the Law. No Man will doubt, but

your Lordfhips have a Judicial Capacity, and

have at all Times moft worthily exercifed it ; but

yet I muft beg leave to doubt, whether your

Lorfhips are now properly acting in that Capa-

cityornot? You have a Power, 'tis true, in this

Q.qq Method
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Method of Proceeding to condemn this Reverend But in all fober regular Times, a free Trial in

Prelate, if Guilty ; but not to fave and acquit, the ordinary Courfe of Law has feldom been de-

if you are ever fo well fatisfy'd of his Innocency : nied, even where the Facts have been fo notorious

and whether it be your Lordfhips Pleafure to pafs as (one would think) almoft to need no Trial, and
or reject this Bill, I defire to know of the learn- fo evident as to need no Proof; as the Regicides,

ed Counfel, whether it may be pleaded in Bar except fuch as fled from Juftice were admitted
of a Profecution in the Courts below, that he to Trial, no lefs than Twenty Nine before one
was auterfoits acquit, or auterfoits convicl before Commiffion of Oyer, and every one heard with
your Lordfhips •, or whether this Proceeding by Patience in the ordinary Courfe. Even Felton,

Bill might be pleaded in Bar, even of an Im- that ftabb'd a Prime Minifter in the Execution
peachment for the very fame Treafons •, or whe- of a High Commiffion, tho' he confefs'd the Fact,

ther your Lordfhips Refolution on this Bill (what- both before the Council and Court of Kings-Bench*

ever it be) would be any legal Eftopel to any other and justify'd it as a publick Service to the Nation,

Bill in a future Seffion. No, my Lords, I hum- in the mod daring and impious Manner, was
bly apprehend, it would not be a good Bar or a brought to Trial, without fuperfeding any of the

legal Plea, either at Common Law, or according ordinary Methods and Circumftances of Juflice.

to any Ruleor Ufage, of Parliaments ; and there- Indeed where fome flagrant Crimes have been le-

fore we hope your Lordfhips will not do that, gaily prov'd and determin'd in the Courts below,

which after all cannot be a complete or a final Parliaments have fometimes thought fit to add to,

Judgment, and by that means draw this Reve- or heighten the Degrees of Punifhrnents. It was
rend Prelate into the Danger of a double Trial, fo refolved in the Cafe of the Gun-powder Plot-

Which, I am fure, is not only contrary to the ters 5 November, that they were atfirft to be try'd

Rules of Law, but alfo of Natural Juftice. I at Law, and then the Parliament (if need be) to

have the more Countenance in faying this, not add a Confirmation to it. Nay, that Refolution

only from Hampden's Cafe, but from the known went farther ; it fays they were not competent
Cafe of Fife- Harris, who pleaded this very Mat- Judges of it, before it was found in the Courts

ter to the Jurifdiction of the Court of King's below.

Bench, that he was impeached for the fame Crime I might mention the Opinion of Judge Dodde-

by the Commons of England : but it was the Opi- ridge, the Mirror of Juftice, Lord Chief Baron At-

nion of that Court, with the Advice of all the kins,&cc. who fay the Parliament is a fupreme Court

Judges, that he might, notwithftanding, be of Oyer, and that the proper Subject of their Oyer

try'd there: and in fact, was try'd and con- is fuch Offences for which Right cannot otherwife

demn'd by the Court of King's-Bench, though the be had, and to deal with Delinquents too high
Impeachment was ftill depending before your for the ordinary Courts. And, as I am before

Lordfhips Houfe. your Lordfhips Bar, I am very proper to mention

But if your Lordfhips are refolved to proceed the Refolution of your Lordfhips Predeceflbrs, in

in your LegiJlative'Cupachy, and my Lord Bifhop the Cafe of Fitz- Harris, who (as I before men -

mud, after all, be in Danger of the ordinary Me- tioned) was impeach'd by the Commons of High-
thod of Trial ; yet fuffer me to fay what has been Treafon ; they refufed to take him out of the

done, in former Times, by former Parliaments, on Hands of ordinary Juftice, and directed him to

the like Rills : and how light foever other Autho- be proceeded againft according to the Courfe of

rities may feem, we hope your Lordfhips will have the Common Law.
fome Regard to your own Ufage and Refolutions. And what Opinion fubfequent Parliaments

There have been too many Inftances, I confefs, have had of my Lord Strafford's Bill of Attainder,

my Lords; but thofe, that can be in any Degree beft appears from the Words of the Act of Reverfal,

juftify'd, may be reduced to thefe few. They are by ordering all the Records and Proceedings re-

fuch as pafs'd againft Perfons dead, or who fled lacing to it to be cancell'd and deftroy'd, that no

from Juftice, and did not render themfelvesby the Remains of fo evil and unjuft a Precedent might
Time appointed •, or they have pafled againft fuch be vifible in after Ages, or brought into Example
as were in actual Rebellion, in direct Oppofition to any one's Prejudice. But even in that detefta-

to all Methods of Trial, and in Defiance to all ble Inftance, fuch Informations and Evidence

Courts of Juftice; or againft fuch whofe Trea- were not admitted, the Witnefles were all exa-

fons were flagrant and undeniable, but their Per- min'd, viva voce, upon Oath, and he was firft

fons above the reach of inferior Courts and Com- adjudged Guilty, by v/ay of Impeachment at the

miffions. Thofe few Sacrifices to the Heat and Bar of the Lords, before therewns any Order for

NecefTity of the Times have been moft of them a Bill. The very fame Method was obferv'd in

revers'd with Infamy and Deteftation, when Men the Caufe of Archbifhop Laud, and Articles fully

were cool, and at Liberty to hearken to the Voice proved againft him, as they thought. If it had

of Law and Reafon, and began to confider they not been fo, even that Houfe of Commons, as

had only prepared Shackles for themfelves. Thofe bad as they were, and as thirfty as they were after

few melancholy Inftances, procured without due the Blood of thofe Noble Perfons, probably would

Trial by an Excefs of Prerogative, of Perfons that not have ordered thofe Bills. But yet this latter

have been forth-coming, principally becaufe it Inftance of Archbifhop Laud, never had the Royal

was the Will of a Prince ; are not to be mentioned Affent: and 'tis well known in Hiftory, what

without Horror and Deteftation. Such as thofe, defperate Meafures were made ufe of to induce

fays my Lord Cokp*-, auferat oblivio fipoteft,fi non, the Lords to pafs it ; and at laft I think there

utcunque tegat filentium. Let fuch grofs Breaches were but feven of your Lordfhips whole Floufe,

and Violations of the facred and unalterable Rules that were prefent when it was pafled. But if this

of Juftice be forgot, if it be poffible ; or at leaft Bill fhould pafs, we muft no longer blame and

draw a Veil over them, and let them be buried in condemn thofe Inftances ; for this will, in effect,

perpetual Silence. re-enact them, and many others, which the Wif-

a 4 Inftitut. 37
dom
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dom of former Parliaments have revers'd with

Marks of Infamy and Deteftation.
_

How much more is there to be faid of Sir John

FenwicFs Cafe? he had been indicted upon the

Evidence of two poficive Witneffes : There had

been feverai preceding Trials, at Law, by which

it manifeftly appeared that he was equally con-

cerned with thole that were found Guilty. Sir

John Fenwick had likewife withdrawn himfelf from

Juftice, and was retaken ; (a Circumftance always

urged as a ftrong Prefumption of Guilt.) He had

protracted his Trial by Offers of Difcovery, the

Reafon of which afterwards appeared to be, that

one of the King's Witneffes might withdraw

himfelf beyond Sea; and altho' that Witnefs was

oone, yet his Evidence not only remained in

Writing fign'd, and upon Oath, but was attefted

and confirmed by fome of the Grand-Jury them-

felves that found the Bill, and by others of the

Petty-Jury, before whom that Witnefs had given

the very fame Evidence. There was a Proof

likewife that he had attempted to corrupt the

remaining Witnefs, as well as fome of the Jury.

Thefe were Circumftances upon which that Cafe

was founded •, no Man can fay, but there was a

reafonable Evidence, tho' not ftrictly legal-, one

full and pofitive Witnefs, and many ftrong un-

deniable Circumftances ; and yet the Oppofition,

which that had in both Houfes, was very great.

Whether the Reafons that prevail'd for the palling

of it were fufficient, becomes me not to enquire :

Since" it is ftill a Law, I muft prefume them juft.

But is there any thing, my Lords, like that,

in the Cafe now before your Lordfhips ? Has
there been any Attempt to withdraw from Juf-

tice ; and yet that Honourable Committee have

been pleafed to obferve, his Lordfhip had Notice

that he was to be apprehended fome considerable

Time before. Has there been any preceding

Trial, in which my Lord Bifhop's name was

mentioned as an Agent, much lefs (as this Bill

fuggefts) a principal Manager and Director in

the Confpiracy ? Or, in that one Trial which

hath been, has any thing appeared to derive the

kaft Sufpicion of Guilt upon him ? Can any one

fay he has ufed any Methods or Artifices to a-

void or protract his Trial in the ordinary Courfe

of Law? Has he not on the contrary (and as one

cf the ftrongeft Proofs and Convictions of Inno-

cency) fought and petitioned to be tried ? Yes,

my Lords, he has applied in all Courts, and in all

Places, in the moft earneft and legal manner,

to be brought to Trial. Has this Reverend Pre-

late ufed any indirect Meafures to corrupt or

withdraw a Witnefs? and yet Mr. Kelly, (who is

the only Perfon fuppofed capable of teftifying

againft him) 'tis well known, had his full Liberty,

even after his Lordfhip's Apprehenfion, but would
not hazard his Recognizance by one Day's Non-
appearance. No, my Lords, nothing of that

kind has been attempted to be prov'd, nor fo

much as infinuated in this Cafe ; nor is there here

before your Lordfhips any one pofitive Witnefs
of any kind : Nor is there the Sanction of any

one Oath here, or any where elfe, in any one

material Point againft his Lordfhip. What need

therefore, or what Reafon can there be for this

Bill ? Surely your Lordfhips will never pronounce

a Judgment that fhall affect any Man's Life, Li-

berty, or Fortune, without fome Oath, and on

Circumftances fo widely different in every refpect

from thofe of Sir John Fenwick.

And if this Cafe bears no Proportion nor Si-
militude with that of Sir John Fenwick; I am
fure it has much lefs, or rather none at all, with
any of thofe before mentioned. For we hope, after
fo long and full a Difcovery of the Confpiracy,
and thofe many juft Methods of Preparation a-
againft it, the Danger cannot now be fo creat or
cogent, as to require fo precipitate a Refolution.
His Perfon, your Lordfhips fee, is fafe and forth-
coming, and the Courts of Law in their ufual and
open Courfe; and at this Time filled with fuch.

learned and refolute Judges find Minifters of Juf-
tice, that they are equal and able to deal with the
moft bold and daring Offender.

There can be lefs Reafon therefore, none at all

we hope, for your Lordfhips at this Time to
exert fuch an extraordinary Method of proceed-
ing.

But there is this further Objection againft pro-
ceeding by Bill, that it makes not only your
Lordfhips pronounce Judgment againft one of
your own Members, and a very terrible one too ;

but it makes the King himfelf, without hearing
one Word of the Defence, in Perfon, pronounce
a Judgment upon his Subject, which his own
gracious Temper muft be averfe to; which the
Common Law therefore has wifely left to be pro-
nounced by his Juftices, even in thofe Courts
where he is always fuppofed to be prefent. But
in this Inftance, there is fomething which muft be
ftill more ungrateful to him ; in that it is to ex-
clude a Branch of prerogative which his Majefty
moft delights in, and it muft be fome Surprize
to every good Subject to find his Royal Judgment
fo highly miftrufted.

There is another Thing, which, I perfuade my-
felf, your Lordfhips will fully confider ; that if

this Method of Proceeding by Bill be encourag'd
and grow familiar, it will put an End to one
confiderable Branch of Judicature, which your
Lordfhips were heretofore fo juftly jealous of, as
not to admit at any time the kaft Competition.
The Lower Houfe will hardly care to appear
any more before your Lordfhips as Accufers or
Profecutors, when they can fo eafily partake in

your Judicial Capacity. And every fuch Bill

(efpecially againft a Member of this Houfe) is

a direct Infringement and Diminution of that
high and valuable Privilege, and will open a Door
to fome other Mifchiefs to the Peerage : which
I had much rather your Lordfhips would fuggeft
to yourfelves, than I exprefs. It has been always
doubted without Doors, whether your Lordfhips
could begin fuch a Bill againft a Commoner; but
I think it may be more juftly doubted, whether
the Lower Houfe can begin fuch a Bill againft any
one of your Lordfhips: and, if this Bill fhould
have no other Confequence, it will eftablifh this

fo far, as to bear no Queftion hereafter. My
Lords, I need not fay, how much more proper
it would have been, for the Lower Houfe to have
left this Matter intire to your Lordfhips ; be-

caufe it has been fo often refolv'd by your Lord-
fhips Predeceffors, that the Houfe of Commons have
no Power of Judicature or Coercion againft any
one, but in Matters concerning that Houfe.
Whereas this is a Cafe of Peerage, the Punifli-

ment, and the Exclufion of a Member of this

Houfe. There is an Inftance on your Lordfhips

Journals, where the Lord Purheck voluntarily

furrendred his Title and Dignity of Vifcount to

the King by Fine, and yet your Lordfhips una-

nimoufly
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nimoufly revers'd that Judgment, and declared,

that no Place could judge of, or intermeddle with

Dignities or Rights of Peerage, but your Lord-

fhips own Houfe.

And thofe my Lords of that Reverend Bench,

will furely confider what a fatal Blow this Bill

will give to the Difcipline and Polity of the

Church of England. They have more than ordi-

nary Reafon to be jealous of increafing fuch Pre-

cedents, and of introducing Methods of depriv-

ing Bifhops and Deans, hardly known to former

Ages. The antient Canons have already pre-

fcribed Methods of judging, cenfuring, and de-

pofing Bifhops, and the Cafes when and where

thofe Methods are fit to be exercis'd. 1 don't

fay the Parliament cannot do this, or any thing

elfe which they think proper •, but the Metropo-

litan, their Lordfhips know, is intrufted with

this Power over his Suffragans, or a Provincial

Synod. And 'tis plain, the Law of England takes

Notice of no other Power, that can regularly

deprive. For to mention but this Inftance, if

an Iffue mould be joined, whether a Bifhop

be deprived or not, the Court where fuch

Iffue fnould arife, could only write to the Arch-

biihop to certify. And to prove this Affertion,

I will not name Bifhop Stillingfleet t
or any of thofe

great Ecclefiaftical Authorities, (fince poffibly

they may be excepted againft, as Perfons who
have too much Intereft in the Cafe to be impar-

tial) but it is fo laid down by my a Lord Chief

Baron Atkins, in his great Argument of Ecclefi-

aftical Commifilons, and by my Lord Chief Juftice

Holt, and the Court of King's- Bench, in the Cafe

of Dr. Watfon, Bifhop of St. Davids.

All Precedents, my Lords, will increafe ; and

the Scorn and Contempt of Libertines againft

your Lordfhips facred Order is too great, to

drop or to forget a Precedent fo grateful and

plealing to them as this will be. Every one

knows the Deftruction of the fmaller religious

Houfes, only made way for that of the greater.

A Time has been when their Lordfhips Prede-

cefibrs were all excluded and fequeftred •, and it

has been attempted, even fince the Reftoration,

to take away Deans and Chapters. I am far from

apprehendingany fuch thing at prefent, and I hope

it will never enter into the Heart of any Man.

But, my Lords, I confefs I thought as little at

this Time of fuch a Bill as is now before you,

to deprive a Bifhop and Dean at once, not only

of all his Dignities and Benefices, but from the

Exercife of any Part of his holy Office and

Function : And I will fay, that if this Bill

fhould pafs, and by any of their Lordfhips Af-

fent, fuch a Defign will be rendred more eafy

and familiar, and much more unpitied, by all

Mankind.
Give me leave, my Lords, next to obferve,

with what Caution and Moderation other Parlia-

ments have proceeded, even in thofe Cafes

where they have thought proper to exercife their

legiflative Capacity. I pafs over the Statute 7 TV.

c. 19. for Imprifonment of Sir Thomas Coke, &c.

and many other fuch Cafes, which were too great

and intricate for the ordinary Courfe of Law,

but yet too low and inconfiderable to enter into

this Comparifon. But the Statute 8 TV. c. 5. may

be named, I am fure, with that now before you,

for the Imprifonment of Counter^ &c. concern'd

in the Afiaffination Plot, againft all whom there

was fome pofitive Evidence upon Oath. Tho*
the Zeal of that Parliament can never be queftion'd

from an Act fo full of Gratitude, and in fuch
ftrong Terms and Accents of Loyalty to the

King, yet they did not at once, and at one fingle

Stroke, cut them off from the Land of the Liv-
ing, and utterly deprive them of all the Neceffa-

ries of Life. The firft Step that Parliament took
was to pafs an Act for the Detainment of them
for the Space of one Year only, not to the For-
feiture and Deprivation of all they were worth,

or to the Exclufion of his Majefly's Mercy, but
even to leave a difcretionary Power of Bailing

within that Time, to any fix of the Privy-Council,

if they judged proper. Their further Obftinacy
and Impenitency occafioning another Act, 9 TV.

c. 4. to detain them a Year longer, it was ftill un-
der the fame Exception. At the End of that

Term another Act was made, impowering the

King to detain them during his Pleafure, 10 TV.

c. 1 1. After thefe, two other Actspafled, impow-
ering the late Queen and his prefent Majefty to

detain them. What the particular Reafon of
thefe Alterations were, I cannot take upon me to

determine, becaufe the Acts themfelves are wholly

filent ; but, my Lords, fuch were the prudent and
moderate Steps taken by former Parliaments, even

in that bold and wicked Confpiracy.

I may alfo juftly take Notice of the Prudence
and Clemency of the laft Parliament, when there

was fo loud and fo general a Cry for Juftice,

and when the Neceffity of the Time feemed to

require a more fpeedy and extraordinary Degree
of Punifhment than the Common Law was ac-

quainted with: but with what Difficulty, with

what flow Paces, and with how many tender

Circumftances did that Bill pafs? Your Lordfhips

will eafily imagine, that the Perfons I here fpeak

of are the late Directors of the South-Sea Com-
pany.

It would ill become me, my Lords, if I had In-

clination, to infult the Diitreffes, or to aggravate

any of thofe Gentlemen's Misfortunes •, but the

Service of the Reverend Prelate now under Con-

federation, requires me juft to mention what a

State of Confufion they had reduced the King-

dom to: Flow many Thoufands have felt, and

ftill feel the pernicious Effects of that Scheme?
Tho' their Crimes had no particular Appellation,

or determinate Punifhment in our Law, yet the
b
Civil, and the Laws of other Countries could

have told us, that Crimen Peculates, the Robbe-
ry of the publick Money, was fuch an infamous

Tranfgreffion, that the Punifhment of it was

Death, both in the Principal and Acceffaries.

How different and how mild was the Punifhment

inflicted by the late Parliament, in comparifon of

that, I need not mention •, and every one knows,

how tenderly and fparingly that Law has fince

been executed upon them, and how much they

ftill enjoy of the Spoils and Plunders of the Na-
tion.

Let us not then follow every Precedent that

has been, but the juft and Prudent Precedents of

moderate Times, and of good and peaceable

Reigns. Let us not be ambitious to furpafs the

Proceedings of violent and arbitrary Men, which

we cr our Pofterity may have Caufe to repent

of hereafter ; but let us imitate fuch only as are

a Sal. Rep. 135.
b Dig. 48. 1. 6. &c.

agreeable
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agreeable to the Law and Conftitution, fach as

are Grounded upon true Reafon, and the Princi-

ples of exact Juftice.

Having chus fpoken as to the Method of thefe

Proceedings in general, and fhown (in fome mea-

fure, I hope) that they are contrary to the pub-

lick Wifdom, contrary to the known Rules of

Law, and the common Right of the Subject, I

fhall, with your Lordfhips Favour, next examine

the Foundations and Suggeftions of this particular

Bill. As for thofe general Matters and Allega-

tions with which it is introduced, and upon

which the Counfel for the Bill have fpent fo much

Time, there is no Neceflity, as we conceive, to

anfwer to. We are here before your Lordfhips

only as Counfel for this Reverend Prelate, one

finale fuppofed Confpirator ; and it would ill be-

come us in the leaft to controvert, that there has

been a Confpiracy formed and carried on by fome

Perfons abroad and by others at home, after

it has been fo folemnly refolved by both Houfes

of Parliament. Nor can we deny, but that Mr.

Layer has been, Tried, Convicted, and Attainted

of it : But we are yet to feek, how thefe Things

have any Relation to the Cafe now before your

Lordfhips ; or how that unhappy Gentleman's

Cafe comes to be connected and made part of my
Lord Bifhop's, as it is by this Bill. Wemayjuft-

]y appeal to every one that heard or read that

Trial, whether this Reverend Prelate's Name is

fo much as mention'd in any one Line of it ; whe-

ther there are any Grounds to think, from any of

that Gentleman's Papers or Examinations, that

his Lordfhip was privy to, or in the leaft con-

cerned or acquainted with his Perfon, or his In-

tentions : And I dare fay, his Lordfhip is as

much amazed at the Rafhnefs and Folly of his

Schemes, as he detefts the Wickednefs of them.

Notwithftanding which, it is his Misfortune to

be charged in this Bill as a principal Actor and

Director in the framing and carrying on of thofe

very Schemes and Defigns for which that Gentle-

man has been convicted. And as to the Cyphers

and Papers ofPlunket, I am as much at a lofs to

imagine, upon what Grounds they fhould be

given in Evidence againft the Bifhop, fince 'tis

not fo much as fuggefted in the Bill ; nor is there

anything throughout the Report or Appendix, that

in the leaft charges his Lordfhip with any Inter-

courfe or Correfpondence with him.

It is ftrange, my Lords, that Perfons Thoughts
and Intentions, fo widely diftant in all other

Refpects, fhould yet center in fuch unnatural

Projects, and wild Undertakings, without fome
previous Difcourfe, fome Confutations, or Ac-
quaintance one with the other -, and yet as

Itrange and unaccountable as it is, this Reverend
Prelate is charged. in the very fame manner by
this Bill, with confulting.and endeavouring to

raife an Infurreftion* to procure a Foreign Force
to invade the Kingdom, and Correfponding with
the Pretender, and Perfons employ'd by him,

knowing them to be fo employ'd. And if thefe

Facts, my Lords, had been duly and legally

proved, I fhould have very jlittle to fay in his

Defence, but humbly intreat the Mercy and Com-
panion of this Honourable Houfe ; for they are

Offences in themfclves fo great, that on the one
hand they are not capable of Aggravation, nor
on the other of Excufe or Diminution, by any
thing I can fay. But if the Facts have not been
proved in the Whole nor in Part, the bare Affir-

mation or Allegation of them is only Brutum
Vol. VI.

fulmen, and does his Lordfhip no more Harm,
than any other innocent Man, whofe Misfortune

it is to fall under an unjuft Accufation. Or if

thofe Circumftances which have been proved, are

not Criminal in themfelves, they fhall not, we
hope, by Inferences and Deductions, be height-

ned into Crimes ; and the Number or Complica-
tion of them, fhall never make them exceed their

Nature. And, my Lords, we hope, that not-

withftanding all that has been affirmed, alledged,

or proved, this Reverend Prelate can ftill fay*

not only in the Form of Law, but boldly and
with a fafe Confcience, and upon an impartial

and ferious Recollection, That he is Not
Guilty of any one of the Charges contained in

the Bill : That he is not confeious to himfelf

of any one treafonable or irreverent Expreffion

4

or of any one Degree of Offence committed by
him, with refpect to any of thofe Charges. He
can ftill fay, that he has not acted in direct Vio-

lation of his Oaths and Obligations, nor to the

Scandal of Religion or his Holy Function. I am
fure, my Lords, I fhould not take upon me to

fay this for his Lordfhip, or any Man alive, un-
lefs I thought we had a full and pofitive Anfwer
to every thing that has been faid, unlefs I was
verily perfuaded we had a fufficient and a legal

Proof to encounter all that has been offered on
the other Side ; or unlefs my Inftructions told

me* that many Things in the Courfe of their

Evidence are utterly falfe and groundlefs ; falfe,

I fay, as we fhall prove (if my Inftructions are

true) by the fulleft Proof, and the moft fatisfac-

tory Evidence that is poffible in the Cafe ; by
fuch Arguments and Reafonings, as we think are

clear and undeniable ; by fome WitnefTes we ne-

ver faw nor heard of before, confequently the

more credible and impartial •, by others, whom
I am fure we had no Opportunity ;to lead or irr-

ftrudt; and all (as I am informed) glad, that ic

is cohfiftent with the Rules of your Lordfhips

Houfe, to receive their Teftimony upon Oath.

In fhort, every Circumftance, every Part of the

Evidence produced againft us, your Lordfhips,

in the End, we hope, will find, turn ftrongly

for us.

There is one thing which I take for granted,

from the Nature of the Evidence that has been

offer'd, That it is admitted as fully by the Coun-

fel for the Bill (as if they had faid fo in exprefs

Terms) that there is no legal Evidence againft

his Lordfhip in all they have offer'd-, or elfe this

extraordinary Method of Proceeding, and this

new fort of Evidence had never been fet up.

Nay,. I am fure, it is a fort of Force upon thofe

Learned Gentlemen, fo well verfed in Methods
• and Notionsi'OrV'Law,. to maintain fo many grofs

Parad6xe5,'AvMch have not the leaft Colour of a

legal, or eVeiCa-reafonable Evidence, and would

never be- allowed, they well know, in any Court

of Law or Equity. And tho' your Lordfhips

have been pleafed to permit thofe Papers and

I Letters to be read, your Lordfhips did not (as I

apprehend) finally declare or determine them to

-be Evidence ; but were willing to hear all Things,

-and afterwards judge how far it was reafonable

or fitting to admit them as Ingredients in your

Lordfhips Judgments. And whatever Opinion

your Lordfhips might be of on the two former

Bills, as we are Strangers to them, fo we hope

we are not precluded from offering any thing far-

ther, why they ought not to be allowed in this

Cafe. If it be your Lordfhips Pleafure at laft to

R r r adhere
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adhere to that Opinion, or to refolve the like in If the Whimfies and Conjectures of Decypherers,
this Cafe, we muft fubmit. the Hearfays and Reports of third, fourth, and

If there is any thing certain in Law, or agree- fifth Perfons are to take place in your judicial

able to Reafon, it is this, That in all Criminal Proceedings, inftead of that plain, honeft, and
Charges, the Evidence ought to be clear and po- pofitive Proof, which the Law requires-, or if the

fitive •, and that the higher and more heinous the Number of Facts and the Variety of Circumftan-
Nature of the Charge is, the more clear and un- ces could make them alter or exceed their Na-
deniable the Evidence ought to be by which a ture, I muft confefs, they have offered fome
Man is convicted. Now, I befeech your Lord- Things worthy of your Lordfhips Confidera-

fhips to confider at one View (as far as it is tion.

poffible in fuch various and perplexed Facts) the But if it were your Lordfhips Pleafure to con-
Methods made ufe of to prove his Lordfhip ftrue Things according to the moft natural plain

Guilty, and what they have offer'd to your Lord- Senfe and Import of the Words, as others would
fhips under the Name of Evidence. Where have underftood them, and in fuch a Senfe as

Words have been capable, and fometimes where the Writer probably meant them, or in that juft

they have not been capable, of two Senfes, an manner which your Lordfhips have hitherto done
arbitrary and invidious Interpretation has been on criminal Profecutions, no one can fay they have
put upon them. Where Words have been plain fhewn one Degree of legal or reafonable Evidence,

and proper for the Occafion, and which confi- to prove any one Suggeftion in the Bill. This I

dered feparately by themfelves, it was impoflible moft humbly affert, and, I think, no one can dif-

to put a criminal Glofs upon, the Writer is fup- prove my Affertion.

pofed to have fome myfterious Meaning or dou- Thus far in general of the Proofs that have
ble Entendre •, or elfe they are complicated and been offered •, but I fhall, under your Lordfhips

thrown together with thofe which will infer fome Favour, fpeak now more particularly to them,
criminal Meaning. In, other Letters the Names and fhall be fo far from abridging or Aiding over

and Words relative to Men, are fuppofed to be any thing that has been faid, that I am willing

ufed for thofe of Women, and the proper and every thing thofe learned Gentlemen for the Bill

ufual Appellation of Women, for thofe of Men ; have been pleafed to offer, or that Honourable
and becaufe one fictitious Name will not anfwer Committee have obferved in their Report, ftiould

all they would have it, the Names are often fhift- have its full weight, and be put in the ftrongeft

ed, one and the fame Perfon is fuppofed to pafs Light againft us.

under feven or eight different Denominations : It has been obferved, that there were three fe-

and often two or three Names in the fame Letter, veral Methods and Times fixed for the Execution

within the Compafsoftwo Lines one to the o- of this intended Confpiracy.

ther, are urged to (land for the fame Perfon. The firft was to have procured a regular Body
Some Letters which are writ of another, and of foreign Forces to invade the Kingdom, at the

fpeak in direct Terms of a third Perfon, they time of the late Elections, which was from the

would have to mean the Writer himfelf, tho' as middle of March to the middle of April 1722.
often without any Name, Date, Subfcription or But have they fhew'd your Lordfhips any Evi-
Superfcriptionatall. Books of Accompt, Manu- dence, or even one Paffage in the Report of that

fcripts, and common Mercantile Terms, which Honourable Committee, that particularly char-

feem proper for the Perfon and the Occafion of ges his Lordfhip with being privy to any one of

the Correfpondence ; and the Name of Stocks, thefe three Defigns thus generally and roundly

which every one knows the true Meaning of, affirmed ? He is not charg'd with being privy to

and carries all the Appearance of Reality, are either of the three Memorials to the Regent for

very particular and exact in the current Prices Forces. The only Paffage that can be pretended

at that time, by a new kind of Metaphor are to to contain any Imputation of that kind, is in the

be taken in an ill Senfe. Others which are only Letter fign'd 1387 to Jack/on, which, they fay,

to be informed of the Diftemper of a Friend, the there is reafon to believe was from my Lord Bi-

Variations which happen in it, and the Opinion fhop to the Pretender : but this we hope in the

of, Doctors upon it, by a ftrange and arbitrary Courfe of our Evidence effectually to difprove.

Conftruction are applied to explain very different The fecond Defign was to have made an At-
Purpofes : and, as if they were fufpicious even of tempt at the time it was believed his Majefty

their own Sufpicions, and diftruftful of thefe Ex- would go abroad •, but all that is infinuated in re-

planations, they call in for Aid.feveral disjointed lation to his Lordfhip, is contairied in two or

Fragments, Extracts, and Scraps of Papers, which three obfcure Pafiages relating to one Jones, in

no Man but themfelves can tell what to make of

;

Letters faid to have paifed between Dillon, or

and when there happen to be fome Worlds which his Secretary, and Mr. Kelly : which Pafiages be-

cannot be reconciled with fuch a.Conftructioh, or ing fomething ambiguous, are interpreted in an ill

the Ufes which they would makeof them * they Meaning, by Hearfays from Neynoe and Pander,

are totally omitted, and we are told they are not and Plunkei's Cypher-, but cannot, without the

material, or not yet decypher'd, or not legible in greateft Abfurdity, be thought to relate to his

the Original, but your Lordfhips and the World Lordfhip.

muft intend them to mean fomething criminal. Two of thefe Pafiages * relate to Remittances
My Lords, if fuch foreign Suppofitions, Glof- ofMoney, which they infinuate the Bifhop was to

fes, and Intendments, fuch unnatural Conftruc- furnifh •, but it amounts in the whole to no more
tions, falfe Inferences and Innuendos, are to be than the bare Hearfay of one Man, and an arbi-

admitted as Evidence, and deferve the Name of trary Interpretation of fome Expreflions in the

Proof, I muft confefs, they have given you fome. Letters of two others, (to either of which his

a Rep. p. 47, 8. App. E.43,4. C. 51.

Lordfhip
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Lordfhip has not in the leaft been prov'd privy,) But it is very remarkable, that in all the in-

and the Whole depends upon a Supposition, that tercepted Correfpondence to and fro, there are no

Jones here and elfcwhere in the Correfpondence Footfteps or Deicriptions which any ways point

means him ; which depends again upon another out to, or of whom they are written, but thofe

Suppofuion, that the Bifhop dictated thofe three alone which are fuppofed to relate to his Lord-

Letters of the zoth of^pril, one of which is figned fhip ; and in them, as the Counfel obferve, things

Jones ; a Suppofuion which we hope likewife to are faid and done in fuch a manner, and with

prove abfolutely falfe, and by that means fhake fuch particular Circumftances, as lead directly to

the Foundation of the whole Charge. him, and him only. And this being fo contrary

The other Paffage
a

is in a Letter from Dillon's to the Caution and Referve practifed in all other

Secretary to Kelly, about Jones's fitting and pro- Inftances, carries in it fome manifeft Marks of

vidino- himfelf with Saddles ; which by the fame Fraud and Contrivance.

Methods is explained to mean Soldiers and Regi- This Remark I humbly apprehend to be the

ments, which his Lordfhip is fuppofed to have ftronger, becaufe there has been no Proof of any

undertaken to procure: and if the Words are to particular Meetings or Confultations with other

betaken in that Senfe, and applied to him, he Perfons, towards carrying on thefe Defigns. And
muft likewife be fuppofed to have undertaken to how a Man can confpire with himfelf, I know
be at the Head of them ; which, confidering his not, except that it is barely alledg'd he was a

Lordfhip's Function, Age, and Infirmities, is fo Member of the BurfordClub ; the Falfity ofwhich

abfurd and ridiculous, that, inftead of fpending Affertion that Honourable Committee themfelves

more of your Lordfhips time in anfwering of it, feem fo fenfible of, and by that Indulgence and
I mail only make ufe of it hereafter, as one In- Enlargement which one of thofe Noble Perfons

fiance (among many others) to fhew, how much (tho' faid to be the chief of them) has fince met
they are miftaken in affirming, that, wherever with, is now fo well underftood, as to need no
Jones is named, his Lordfhip is to be under- manner of Refutation,

ftood. I may alfo as juftly obferve, that there is no
The third and laft Defign, tho* I muft confefs one Witnefs againft this Reverend Prelate of any

the mod enormous, if it were true, becaufe Part one criminal Actor Exprefiion, from the Time of
of it was the Seizure of his Majefty's Perfon, was his Majefty's Acceflion to the Throne ; tho' one of
to have been put in Execution at the breaking the Counfel (as your Lordfhips may remember)
up of the Camp. But, I am fure, there is not was very particular about the Manner of his

one the l*aft Hint throughout all this voluminous paffing of the ioth of June, which the Coachman
Affair, that his Lordfhip was concern'd or privy gave them an Account of for four Years together;

to that. and tho' all his Papers were feiz'd, not one Let-
And therefore 'tis furprizing to think upon ter, or Paper, under his own Hand, produced

what Grounds his Lordfhip can be (as he is in of a criminal Nature, or pretended to have been
the Preamble of the Bill) charg'd with having feen or intercepted. Not any one Letter inter-

been deeply concern'd in forming and directing cepted that is pretended to have been written to

this Confpiracy •, which, as your Lordfhips have him, much lefs any prov'd to have been receiv'd

heard, confided of thofe three feveral Defigns. by him, the Matter of which appears to be Trea-
The Counfel, indeed, for the Bill have endea- fonable, or any ways Criminal. My Lords, I

vour'd by divers Methods and Reafonings, by muft own a great Confequence is drawn by that

fome little Circumftances, and feeming Probabi- Honourable Committee, becaufe a great Quantity
lities, to charge upon his Lordfhip in general fuch of Letters and Papers were found dated before

a Correfpondence : And they may all be redue'd the Year 17 12. This very Objection was made
to thefe four Heads

:

in the Accufation of his Lordfhip's worthy Pre-

1. Hearfays. deceffor, and a flight Anfwer fatisfy'd his Exa-
2. The three Letters faid to be dictated by his minants; and the plain Reafon is, that hisLord-

Lordfhip, and wrote by Kelly to Lord Marr, Dil- fhip at that Time had a fettled Correfpondence

Ion, and the Pretender. with many eminent Men on Matters ofLearning,

3. Two Letters faid to be wrote to the Bi- which he efteemed fo valuable as to preferve;

fhop. but fince the finifhing of thofe Controve rfies, he

4. The Co-incidences of Circumftances, Times, had lefs occafion to write, and his Lordfhip's

and Names, in the intercepted Correfpondence, Merits having call'd him up to a more high and
to induce a Belief of the before-mention'd Hear- bufy Station, he had lefs Opportunity to write

;

fays, and fuppofed Facts. and he that writes little will receive but little.

To all which I fhall endeavour to give fome From that Year therefore (they juftly obferve)

Anfwers. few of any Confequence were found, and even

But before I enter upon thefe Particulars, I thofe few, (if no other than what are printed,

fhall beg leave to obferve to your Lordfhips, and as yet produe'd) we beg leave to fay, are

That if fuch Evidence is to be countenanced, it of no Confequence at all, to fupport the Inference

will be in the Power of any two Men, the one drawn from them.

in England, the other beyond Sea, getting an The firft, I think, is from a great Lady ; but

Account of the Circumftances and Motions of a fo general and uncertain, that it does by no means

third Perfon, by an artificial intercepted Corre- warrant the Conclufion drawn from it ; for it

fpondence, to raife what Sufpicions of him they does not fo much as appear to have been a Let-

pleafe •, and yet he be all the while innocent and ter, or what it was that was enclos'd. And I

ignorant of what is doing. Whether that is the befeech your Lordfhips, what more can be inferr'd

Cafe here, I fhall afterwards fubmit to your from Captain Haljlead's Letter,
b

the Contents

Lordfhips Judgments. of which are no more, than that a Neighbour, as

1 Rep. p. 47. App. D. 17.
w D, 9.

Captain
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Captain Halftead was to the Bifbop, defires leave of fuch a Nature as to affect, the Credit of all he
to dine with his Lordfhip on a Thurfday, which laid, and (if produced) would, we doubt not, in
was his publick Day, in Company of 20 other other Refpects entirely blaft the Credit of his
People? I muff, confefs they have laid a Strefs Teftimony. And, my Lords, if the Examination
upon the Character of the Man in their Open- of a Man is thus taken to pieces, the Antece-
ing ; but nothing more has been prov'd, than that dents and the Confequents left out, Treafon (arid

he was in a Ship by fome Name different from what not) may be made and inferred from the
his own. Another Letter that was faid to be moft innocent Things and Expreffions.

found among his Lordfhip's Papers, was that di- But his Examinations, even as they lie in the
reeled to Dubois. But this (my Lords) I fhall Appendix, are full of Inconfiftencies and Abfur-
beg leave to referve for a more proper Occafion. dities : Inconfiftencies, I mean, not only with

I fhall now confider the four feveral Charges Pander's and the Depofitions of other Perfons,
againft the Bifbop : And the Firft arifes from but even with themfelves. For Pander fays, 1 in—

Neynoe and Pander's Informations, all mere Hear- tie pafs'd in Writing in the Conduct of the whole
fays; fome from living, and fome from a dead Affair: Neynoe fays, there were many Bundles of
Perfon •, but pohtively and exprefly denied by the Letters that Mr. Kelly brought with him from
living Perfons, from whom fuch Informations are France, and which he had feen him write at feve-

fuppofed to have come. ral Times. But yet they are much more incon-
All that Pander's Informations a

fay, relating fiftent with themfelves ; for inftance, Neynoe fays,

to this Reverend Prelate, is, That one Sheen told in his Examination, mark'd E. 7. that he had feen

him, that the Bifhop of Rochejier had the Princi- feveral Letters written by Kelly, and fent to hini

pal Direction ofthe Confpiracy, and that 200000/. from Paris, and other Parts, but they never con-
had been rais'd and put into his Management, tain'd any thing material : And yet in E. 8. he
This Skeen, it feems, is ftill in Cuftody, andyour fays, that he had feen feveral Cyphers of Kelly's

y

Lordfhips will hear how far he will fupport this and feen him make ufe of them ; and that Kelly

Charge. with great Freedom acknowledged they were for

Tho' the very Accufation itfelF we beg leave carrying on the Correfpondence with the Preten-

to call abfurd and incredible •, that fuch a Sum of der's Agents. Whereas it is utterly incredible

Money as 200000/. could be rais'd and depofited that a Man, who had really been fo communica-
in one Man's Hands, and not yet traced up to tive in his Difcourfe, and of his Cyphers, fhould

fome of the Contributors, or to the Hand where yet be fo referv'd as to hide from him any thing

it was depofited, efpecially when it is charged up- material in his Letters. In the very fame Exami-
on a Perfon not ufed to deal in Merchandizes, or nation (he fays) he was well acquainted with one
Remittances. Tho' the Counfel for the Bill have Watfon, i.e. the late Earl Marijhall, and lay fe-

flid over this, yet being often repeated in the veral Nights with him ; but after all his Intima-

Report, as if there had been fome Weight in it, cy, at laft it comes out, that he did not know
I thought myfelf bblig'd to take Notice of it, really who he was. There are fome other Incon-

tho' it is fo incredible, I confefs, that itisfcarce fiftencies, which have been already taken notice

worth removing. ''

of by Sir Conflantine, which I fhall not repeat.

Of Neynoe's Informations, your Lordfhips may But, ! my Lords, if the Perfons and Credit of

obferve there are Four, but none of them fworn Neynoe and Pander were unexceptionable, yet

to nor figned ; and it was exprefly refolved, in what they fay is only Hearfay, or mere AfHrma-
Lord Audley's Cafe, b by all the Judges ofEngland, tion : And was ever that allow'd as Evidence in

that no Examination without Oath ought to be any material Point by any Law, or in any Court
read except of the Party himfelf that is tried, in the World? 'Tis exprefly refolv'd in the Trials

They are all either of a Date fubfequent to his of Langhorn and Lord Rujfel to be no Evidence ;

Lordfhip's Commitment, (and therefore till then and it is the firft Time it ever receiv'd fo much
thought c

inconfiderable, and hot worth redu- Countenance as to be read in judicial Proceed-

cing into Writing,) or elfe they are of no Date at ings ; and I dare fay, there is no fuch Practice in

all.. One of the Two without a Date appears the Courts of Inquijition abroad. Even common
manifeftly to have been taken after he was feiz'd, Fame and Reputation is but of little Weight in

;
and brought up from Deal in September, which any Cafe that I know of. It may, my Lords, be

fufficiently fhews what juft Diftruft there was at a fufficient Ground for an Officer of the Peace,

that Time of his Credit ; that on the 27th of in fome few Cafes, to arreft a Perfon, or for a

September, was on the Day before he drowned vigilant Miniftry to make Enquiries, i. e. to ac-

hirhfelf ; and both, when he is known to have been cufe or apprehend •, but was never yet allow'd to

under the greateft Terrors and Apprehenfions, be a Guide in judicial Proceedings, or to con-

in that he was not able to make good what ap- demn any Man in any Criminal Cafe, whatever,

pears by the Paper (rhark'd E. 1 is and found But even when the Commons (in the C?fe of the

afterwards in his Pocket) to have been undertaken Duke of Buckingham, iCar.\.) haddeclar'd, that

by him, or required of him. It is not faid, as common Fame was a good Ground or Enquiry,

to one of his Examinations, d before whom it it was complain'd of, and the|Commons after-

was
1 taken : Another of them, and the only one wards receded from it, and proceeded upon the

they now think fit to make Ufe of, is an Extract Examination of Witneffes, and other Evidences,

only from three other Papers, and faid to contain and in every Article of their Accufation the par-

the Subftance of them ; but the Papers them-
'

ticular Facts are exprefs'd. Much lefs will your

felves, out of which it was extracted, do ho Lordfhips allow the Hearfay of one fingle Man,
where appear. And there are fome Particulars and only Extracts of that Hearfiy, to be of any

in the Report c of that Honourable Committee, Weight, nay, to be of more Weight and Autho-

which he is faid to have confefs'd, which do not rity now he is dead, than if he were living ; for

appear in any one of thefe Examinations, and are if he were living, and could only depofe by Hear-

' Report 10. 3 j. Append. D. 1.
b State Trials. £ E 7. d E. 9. E. 10. e Page 38.

fay,
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fay, no one furely can fay it would be admitted

as Evidence ; but fince he is dead, and we have

no Opportunity of crofs-examining of him, why

ought not his Lordlhip to have the Advantage of

it, as was refolv'd in the Cafe of the a King a-

<xainft Vain ? Or like the known Cafe of a Man

dying in Execution, the Law is fatisfied, and his

Remedy ? And it cannot be

of our Witneffes had died,

taken Minutes of what he

fay, we fhould not have had the Benefit of

his Teftimony ; and where there is the fame Rea-

fon, there ought in Juftice to be the fame Law

and' Conftruction. And yet this is the Founda-

tion and Support of the whole Charge againft his

Lordfnip. It is upon this Man's Examination

fino-ly that it is affirm'd, among other notorious

Untruths, that the Pretender rely'd more upon

Advices from the Bifhbp, than from any other

Perfons. But this, and whatever elfe is in them,

Creditor is without

deny'd, but if one

and a Perfon had

veyance : They are fa id to be enclofed in a Packet
to one Gordon of Boulogne, in a Letter from Kelly

himfelf, fent by the ordinary Poll, and fign'd

with a Name, which they fay he moft ufually

figned and went by. This is fo improbable, that

out of eight or ten Names they are pleafed

to give him, he could bethink himfelf at that

Time of no other Name to fign a Letter enclo-

fing three of the utmoft Confequence •, and is fo

inconfiftent with that Caution and Subtlety all a-

long infinuated in this Correfpondence, that it

almoft needs no Confutation. But yet (\f my In-

ftructions are true) Mr. Gordon, to whom they
are faid to have been directed, and the only in-

different Perfon in the Cafe, and can be under
no fort of Influence from hence, has attefted upon
his Oath, that there was no fuch Letter, or

Packet, ever came to his Hands.
And fuppofing thefe Letters were fent, as they

fuppofe, to the Perfons they fuppofe, and dicta-

with Submiffion to your Lordfhips, amounts to ted by the Perfons they fuppofe •, is there one Paf-

no more than this, that Neynoe was heard to fay, fage in them of fuch a criminal Import, as would

what he heard Kelly fay, what Kelly muft have

heard fome other Perfons fay, what they had

heard the Pretender fay, what neither they, nor

any one elfe, ever had Reafon to fay.

But, my Lords, there is ftill fomething more

{trance in what is now attempted •, for the Per

be fufEcient to found an Indictment at Law ? If

there is not, they are not to be made criminal

by Arguments, Innuendos, and Implications.

The Cafe of Sir Samuel Barnadiflon, already men-
tion'd by Sir Conslantine, is exprefly in Print; and
the Reafon given for the Reverfal of that Judg-

fons of whom 'tis pretended they heard all this, ment (as appears by your own Journals) is, be-

and into whofe Teftimony it muft all be refolv'd, caufe the Information was grounded upon Letters,

are now both living, and are fo far from fupport- -which in themfelves were not criminal, but made

ing what 'tis pretended they have heard from fo by Innuendos, and forced Conftructions.

them, that they abfolutely deny and contradict There is Crosby's Cafe to the fame Purpofe, be-

every Word of it. One of them has already done fore the Court of King's-Bench, in the Year 1 695,

it (if my Inftructions are true) in the moft fo- who was indicted of Treafon ; and the Overt-

Jemn Manner, at your Lordfhips Bar, and the Acts laid in the Indictment, were for inviting

other is now ready to do the fame. And Neynoe the French King to invade the Kingdom, and by
was fo confcious to himfelf of the Falfity of what fending Letters and Inftructions, how and where

he had faid, that he loft his Life to avoid the to make the Defcent. Tho' the Court thought his

Punifhment that might otherwife have fallen on Hand-writing was prov'd, and the Matter of the

him, (for his Flight, my Lords, can admit of no Papers of a very odd and fufpicious Nature, and

other Senfe or Conftruction.) He could not ap- the French King frequently mention'd in them,

prehend himfelf in Danger, if what he had faid

was true •, but on the contrary, had reafon to ex-

pert Rewards, if he could make out the Truth of

his Information. Charity forbids me now, my
Lords, to fay any more of him, unlefs it be

and the Indictment fuppofed them to be contriv'd

for to invite him over ; yet they held it not

Treafon.

And the chief Thing that gives any Ground
of Sufpicion, in this Cafe, is, the Perfon to

thought requifite to prove the Falfity of his In- whom they are fuppofed to be directed : but I

formation by his own free and voluntary Confef- muft fubmit to your Lordfhips, that there has

fion, often repeated and confirm'd to Strangers been no Proof that either Chivers and Mufgrave,

and indifferent Perfons. And (if my Inftructions or Jack/on, are the very Perfons fuppofed, or

are true) we have thofe that will fpeak moft fully that his Lordfnip was privy to the Writing of

one, or the other of them ; nor are they capable

of Proof, as we hope immediately to make ap-

pear.

However, for the prefent, fuppofing as they

have fuppofed, that Chivers and Mufgrave mean
Dillon and Mar, and that fuch Letters were

wrote to them by his Lordlhip without any Dif-

guife, (unlefs the Matter of them, as I before

The fecond Head of Accufation againft his faid, were plainly criminal) or unlefs your

Lordlhip, is, from three Letters, fuppofed to be Lordfhips will fuppofe (as they fuppofe) fome.-

diclated by him, of the 20th of April. The firft thing criminal contained in the Words not decy-

toChivers, interpreted Dillon, figned by the Name pher'd-, and unlefs it could have been prov'd that

to it.

This is the firft and the principal Part of their

Proof-, and if we take away this Foundation,

all the mighty Superftructure raifed upon it muft

fall to the Ground, and all their corroborative

Proofs and concurrent Circumftances muft come
to nothing.

of Jones ; the fecond to Mufgrave, interpreted

Marr, fign'd lllington ; a third tojackfon, explain'd

to mean the Pretender, fign'd 1378, and fome-

times 'tis printed 1387; and therefore which of

thefe two is right I cannot tell.

Before I fpeak of the Letters themfelves, I fhall

mention one Word as to the Manner of their Con-
a

5 Mod. Rep. 1C1.

Vol. VI.

the Perfons writing or dictating thefe Letters,

knew them to be the Pretender's Agents, and as

fuch addrefs'd to them ; I dont know (my Lords)

how it could be conftrued a treafonable or cri-

minal Correfpondence, either within the Letter

or Intention of Stat, 14 W. III. c. 3. or any other

Law whatfoever.

S f f For
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For tho' the late Lord Marr is an attainted

Perfon, it can't be denied but he is ttill in many
Senfes a Subject of England, and is no more di-

verted of his natural Allegiance, than a banifh'd,

or an out-lawed Man : and tho' he appeared in

open Arms and Rebellion againft his Majefty, he

was not thought fo dreadful a Man, as to have a

Correfpondence with him made Treafon or Fe-

lony ; but that was a peculiar Favour, referved

for this Reverend Prelate and his Friends. My
Lords, I would not be underftood to mean, as if

the moft innocent Correfpondence with a Perfon

under fuch Circumftances, was prudent or con-

venient-, but I think I may affirm (even from the

Claufe of this Bill) it would not of itfelf have

been criminal. But (according to my Inftruc-

tions) this Reverend Prelate was little known to

that Lord, and never had any Friendfhip or Ac-
quaintance with him while in England, and can-

not be fuppofed to have contracted fuch a

Friendfhip fmce he was abroad.

That Dillon was an Agent of the Pretender's,

nothing appears antecedent to thefe Letters

:

Nor did Marr at that Time appear to be one of

his Agents, when it was fo well known (as that

Honourble Committee obferve) that he was at

that Time fublifted by a Penfion from the Court

of England. This Penfion indeed, is faid to be

fio.pt laft 'AuguR ; but the Letter to him of the

20th of April (by whomfoever wrote) was fome
Months before.

Indeed, if Jack/on had been proved to mean
the Pretender, the Writing to him would be

High-Treafon plainly within the Statute : but

that the Pretender is not, and cannot be under-

ftood by that Name, we hope to make appear ful-

ly, before we have done, even from the Lights

that Honourable Committee have afforded us.

I fhall next confider the Nature of the Proofs

to induce your Lordfhips Belief, that thefe Letters

were dictated by my Lord Bifhop: And the firft

they offer, is, Becaufe the Matter of them agrees

with his Lordfhip's Circumftances at that Time ;

ii. e. his being ill of the Gout, and the approach-

ing Death of his Lady •, which (they fay) is mo-
rally impoffible fhould fuit fo exactly to any one

Man elfe. Thefe two Circumftances muft be al-

low'd to be agreeable to thofe which his Lord-
fhip was then under : But one would think (my
Lords) they are Circumftances fo melancholy in

ihemfelves, that they might have been fpared,

efpecially confidering the little Ufe or Advantage
that can really be made of them. But thefe Cir-

cumftances were no Secrets : every one that

knew his Lordfhip, muft likewife know them ;

and whoever wrote thefe Letters with a Defign
to have them intercepted, and imputed to him,
(as we hope to fhew the Cafe really was) would
certainly mention fuch Matters or Circumftan-

ces in them, as might be naturally thought to

defcribe him. Or if they were written without

his Knowledge, (as they will be clearly proved
to have been) it is no wonder, if the Writer, who
perfonated his Lordfhip, fhould infert all that

was proper to fallen the Sufpicion he intended on
him.

Another Proof that they were dictated by his

Lordfhip, they fay, is, from the Subfcription of

the Names of Jones, Illington, and the N° 1378,
which are all affirmed to denote his Lordfhip:

And the Reafon why that Number belongs to

him, is, becaufe the Decypherer has found that
Number to denote the proper Name or Title of
a Perfon beginning with the Letter R. If this is

his real Opinion, muft that needs be the Bilhop ?

Is there no body elfe, whofe Name or Title be-
gins with the fame Letter?

But, with Submiffion to your Lordfhips, it

feems impoffible to affirm even thus much with
any Degree of Certainty, and it muft be only
Matter of mere Conjeclure. Dr. Wallis, who is

allowed to be the Father of the Science, (fuch as it

is) and was the Wonder and Envy of all Foreign-
ers, directly owns, that the Whole was built

upon Conjectures ; and he that had the beft

Guefs, was the beft Artift. Such, my Lords, is

the Science of Decyphering. And from fuch un-
certain and conjectural Premiffes, what certain

Conclufion can poffibly be drawn? And 'tis

plain, Mr. Willes is not fo infallible as he pre-

tends to be, by that Number of Paffages not yet

decypher'd.

When we took our Objection firft againft the
Nature of this new fort of Evidence, the Coun-
fel for the Bill were pleafed to cite a Statute in Q.
Eliz. Time, wherein they faid the Word Cypher
is mention'd. I have fince looked for that Sta-

tute, but could find nothing about it •, and, per-

haps, may be miftaken in the Statute which they
mean. But, my Lords, I am fure they did not

mention any particular Trial, where it was ever

heard of, or allowed as Evidence. I rather be-

lieve, that, according to the Notions of thofe

Times, (for foon after the Statute was made a-

gainft Witches) if any Decypherers had appear'd
then as Evidence, they might have been in more
Danger than the Criminal.

But if there are any certain Rules, or any reafon-

able Methods in Decyphering, I am fure 'tis

highly improbable, that Perfons fo cunning and
wary, as thefe are all along reprefented to be,

fhould be guilty of fuch a fatal Overfight, as

juft to fign with fuch Numbers, that all, it feems,

who underftand Cyphers, muft neceffarily know
to be intended for the Initial Letter of their

Names. It would, my Lords, in my humble Opi-
nion have been moreconfiftent with that Care and

Caution, to have made thofe Numbers ftand for

quite contrary Letters, and thofe Letters to

have been exprefs'd by quite contrary Numbers

;

and there is no Doubt, but they might have made
any others fignify the fame Thing. However,
fince the Decypherer has not fhew'd us by what
Methods he has arrived at this Conclufion, 'tis

impoffible for us, by any pofitive or direct Evi-

dence to confute it: But 'tis fufficient for us, to

deny on the one hand, what he has on the other

hand affirm'd, without telling us the Reafons

of it.

That the Names of Jones and Illington belong

to his Lordfhip, is endeavoured to be proved by

fome Paffages in fubfequent Letters, and by re-

fining on the Matter of them, which they think

is applicable to his Lordfhip only.

I have already mentioned two of thofe Inftan-

ces, viz. his Lordfhip's own Indifpofition, and

the Death of his Lady, which are likewife men-

tioned in the fubfequent Letters, in order to faf-

ten the Imputation intended, yet deeper on him.

There is a Third, which relates to the Prefent of

a Dog.

That
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That fuch a Dog was fent does indeed appear

;

not to tranfgrefs your Lordftiips late Refolution
:

but that his Lordfhip had received it, or law it, And when I mention any Words of that Act of Par-

or had any Letter or Meffage about it, has not liament, it is only to (hew the cautious Meafures

been proved, and he positively denies it ; and to the Legiflature took even in imparting this Power
whom, or from whom it was really fent, Mr. to them, and the juft Apprehenfions°they had of

Kelly can beft determine, and his Lordfhip mult the Abufes and ill Confequences that might at-

refer himfelf to what he has always affirmed in his tend it. My Lords, I am fo far from °ndea-
Examination ; and (if I am rightly inform'd) fince vouring to bring them in danger of a Penalty, as

re-affirm'd at your Lordfhip's Bar, that he gave the Counfel were pleafed to object, that I am
it to Mrs. Barnes, and defigned it for her from willing to fuppofe thofe Glerks had proper War-
the firft, and for her only. rants at that Time, and for that particular Open-
My Lords, I fhould apologize for taking No- ing and Detaining. But that is all which the Ad

tice of fuch minute and low Circumftances ; but gives, and the Words of it are fully farisfied by
ic is the Evidence and Nature of the Proof made fuch a Conftruction, without goino- farther, and
ufe of againft us. I fhould rather have expect- extending the Words of the Aft to that which was
ed, that ingenious Gentleman (the Decipherer) not in the lea ft within the Intention or Purview
would have fhewn, by fome Rules of his Art, of it. It don't appear to me, my Lords, I con-

that the whole Story of the Dog had been a Fable fefs, how they are impower'd to take Copies (for

or Fiction, and explain'd it to fomething that was all fuch Acls which are in Reftraint of Trade and
reafonable and probable, which I am fure this is Commerce, are to be ftrictly and literally con-

not, to fuppofe (as the Letters read to your Lord- ftrued :) But I am utterly at a Lofs to know,
fhips do fuppofe) Mujgrave, i. e. Marr, in one from what Words of the Act it can be inferr'd,

Part of the World, General Dillon in another % that fuch Copies fhall be received as Evidence in

widely diftant one from the other, and a learned Courts of Judicature ; and not only againft the

Prelate, to be in fuch Tribulation and Concern Writer himfelf, but againft other Perfons too.

for a little Dog ; which no way fuits the Charac- A private Act of Parliament (tho printed in

tersof any one of the Perfons to whom it isap- Raftal and other authentick Collections of Sta-

plied ; much lefs the Circumftances of this learned tutes) has been difallow'd, when it has not been

Prelate, who had at that time a much nearer examined with the Record. But, my Lords, I

Concern upon him, from the Death of his Wife, don't know that a Copy of any Thing was ever

and was himfelf in fuch great Diforder and Weak- allow'd as Evidence, but what was made by a

nefs of Body. The fpeaking therefore of this proper Sworn Officer, known in Law, and where

Prefent, backwards and forwards, with fuch par- every one may have Accefs to it •, and there-

ticular Circumftances, and the Report of it fo fore, if falfe, may be difproved by the other Side,

induftrioufly fpread many Months before my Lord But is there the fame Reafon here? My Lords,

Bifhop's Apprehenfion, (as fome of your Lord- can the Party ever have an Opportunity to dif-

fliips cannot but remember) is abfurd and ridicu- prove it, if falfly copied, when the Original is

lous upon all other Suppofitions, but upon the fent forward ? Or, if it were ftill in their Pof-

Defign of faftning fomething on his Lordfhip, feffion, have we any Power to procure a Sight of

the Point all along in their View. the Original ? or to have a Copy of that Copy ?

If the Writer of thefe Letters had been really And therefore, we hope your Lordfhips will not

and truly informed of his Lordfhip's Circum- regard that Part of the Evidence, if it were ma-
ftances, he might, perhaps more properly, have ferial. But to confider alfo, my Lords, what it

affirm'd it of his Lady, which 'tis plain, theWri- is they have depofed of thefe Copies ; That the

ter was not, becaufe he fpeaks of her as Living Originals were written in the fame Hand with

1 1 Days after fhe was Dead. And how ignorant fome Papers fhewed them; and which, they

of them the Writer really was, appears by ano- were told, were Mr. Kelly's Hand-writing. Your
ther Paffage in that very Letter ; where he fays, Lordfhips, I doubt not, obferve the Time when
b

' Mr. Jones is come to Town for a Day only, they depofed this firft, viz. the 24th of Auguft*
' May jih.' Whereas his Lordfhip had been in and afterwards the firft of January 1 aft; i.e. The
Town Two Days, and ftaid Three more, as ap- firft of thefe Depofitions four Months, the other

pears even by their own Evidence, Law/on and eight Months, after they had feen the Originals

Wood. of the 20th of April: For, they were forwarded

By thefe your Lordfhips may fee, how many by the Poft, and the Clerks only took Copies of

forced Inferences and Conftructions, and what a them, and did not detain any one Original for a

Train of Abfurdities and Suppofitions are necef- Specimen till their firft Depofition ; and furely

fary to fupport one poor, and (if true) yet incon- that was a little of the lateft: So that it refts fin-

fiderable Affertion, when once we depart from gly upon the Memory of the Clerks for four or

the fure and known Rules of Law ! eight Months. I think St. James fays, That a

A Third Way of proving thefe Letters to be Man may even behold his own Face in a Glafs, but he

the Bifhop's, is from the Hand-writing, which is is no fooner gone, but he Jlraitway forgctteth what

fuppofed to be Kelly's, and he is fuppofed to have manner ofMan he was : And it is much more im-

been his Lordfhip's Secretary in thefe Matters

:

poffible for any one fo exactly and nicely to re-

Both which Suppofitions are deftitute of any pro- member all the little Strokes and Da flies of the

per or fatisfactory Proof. Pen, by which the Samenefs or Diverfity of

The firft is attempted to be fupported by the Hands can only be made out.

Teftimony of the Clerks of the Poft-Office. But And all Malone fwears, is, That he believes it

before I fpeak to the Teftimony which they have to be Kelly's Hand-writing; and 'tis remarkable,

given, I muft beg leave to offer one Word as to that his Depofition is but \n January laft, and he

their manner of obtaining it; and fhall endeavour left Mrs. Barnes's Service in May, fo that he

a Rep. 40. App. E. 42,
b App. D. 47, 8.

could
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could not have feen him write fince that Time.
He don't fay, he ever read any of his Writing, or

at mod the Superfcription of a Letter : He might,

perhaps, fee him write at fome Diftance, as he

came in and out of the Room •, but furely, that

cannot be fufficient to form a Judgment of a

Man's Hand-writing ; and I am fure the Impro-

bability is much greater after nine Month's Time.

And Hutchins the Meffenger, from feeing the Su-

perfcription of a Letter to the Secretary of State,

has likewife, I think, taken upon him to fwear

the fame thing.

But fuppofing thefe Perfons had feen Mr, Kelly

write frequently, and had, within a more reafo-

nable Diftance, fwore it to be like his Hand,
will any one fay, That it is a fufficient, or even

a reafonable Proof, in any criminal Cafe ? But be-

caufe Mr. Kelly is all along affirmed to have acted

jn thefe Matters as his Lordfhip's Secretary, I

muft beg your Lordfhips Patience to confider,

How far that Doctrine of Similitude of Hands has

prevailed.

Colonel Sidney's Cafe was the firft wherein it

was ever admitted as a Proof in a Criminal Cafe ;

but that Judgment was afterwards reverfed by
Parliament, as manifeftly unjuft. In Lady Car's

Cafe, Sid. Rep. 419. which was only an Infor-

mation of Perjury, yet a Letter under her own
Hand was pofitively denied to be Evidence ;

tho' a Witnefs fwore he believed it to be hers,

I muft own, my Lords, this Cafe at the late Trial

of Mr. Layer, was not only denied to be Law,
but all Men defy'd to make common Senfe of it

:

But, with the utmoft Deference to that learned

Gentleman that faid fo, I beg leave to mention

the Words of Sir J. Hawks upon that Cafe, who
was of a different 'Opinion. ' At that Time,
* fays he, when the Cafe of Lady Car was ad <

'* judged, befides Tivifden and Keyling, two very
* eminent Judges, there fat in that Court Sir

* Wad. Windham, whom all will own to have
' been the fecond beft Judge who fat in Wejl-

* minJler-Hall fince the Reftoration ; and if it is

* not Evidence in Mifdemeanour, much lefs, fays
4 he, in Treafon.* Which Inference, befides the

Reafon of the Thing itfelf, is fupported by the

Authority of Lord Coke.

In my Lord Prejlon's Cafe, his Hand-writing
was proved by three Witnefies, that had belong-

ed to him while in the Secretary's Office, and
muft neceffarily have feen him write a thoufand

Times : But that was not all ; for thofe Papers

were feized on him, fealed with his own Seal, as

he was going to France in the Heat of War, con-

trary to an Aft of Parliament, which at that

Time made it Treafon.

In the Trial of the Seven Bifliops, the fame
Queftion arofe, Whether Similitude of Hands
was a Proof in a Criminal Matter ? and it was
not admitted.

In Francia's Trial, before all the Judges at the

Old-Baily, it is pofitively laid down by the Chief

Baron, and not contradicted by any others, That
it was no Proof or Evidence of itfelf; and the

Letter in that Cafe would not have been admit-

ted, but that it was found by his Bedfide, and a

Copy of the very fame Letter enter'd in his Pocket-

Book, which he had owned and explained to fome
Lords of the Council.

In Crosby's Cafe, the Hand-writing was fworn

to by three pofitive Witnefies, and owned in

one of the Papers by the Prifoner himfelf •, yet
Lord Chief Juftice Holt and the Court held it no
Evidence, Becaufe one Hand, fays he, ?nay be like

another, and Prefumptions Jhall never take Place in

Treafons.

In the late Cafe of Mr. Layer, 'tis well known,
that befides the Proof of his own Hand- writing
the Treafonable Papers were delivered by his

own Hand to the Witnefs •, and 'twas upon that

Ground only, they were permitted to be read
againft him. Befides this, he had faid that before

the Lords of the Council, which the Court thouo-hr.

amounted to a full Acknowledgment that it was
his Writing. But even all this, my Lords, was
made ufe of againft him but as concurrent Evi-
dence, becaufe there were two pofitive Witnef-
fes, viva voce, againft him, as to the other Overt-
A<5ts.

I will mention to your Lordfhips fome Foreign
concurrent Authorities upon this Point, to fhew,
that the Reafon and Equity of this Doctrine has

been uniform and univerfal, That Similitude or
Comparifon ofHands is not a fufficient Proofof it.

There is a famous Cafe of Jean Millard, in a Book
called, Le Journal du Palais. He had lived 40
Years from his Wife, and then returned and re-

claimed her, after fhe was marry'd to another.

One of his Methods made ufe of to prove him to

be the fame Perfon, was, the Hand-writing of
Letters that had formerly pafTed between them

:

Which occafion'd this Queftion before all the fa-

mous Judicatures of France, 4 Whether the Tef-
* timony of skilful Notaries, who fully depofed
* of the Similitude of the Hands, was a fufficient
4 Proof in this Cafe?' and it was univerfally de-

nied. And yet this, my Lords, was a Cafe high-

ly favour'd in all Laws ; but more highly in thofe

Places, where Marriage is reputed as a Sacra-

ment, and in favour of which they will often

admit even the Party's own Oath.

Codex Fabrianus Lib. 4. Tit. 14. Def. 71. fays,
4 A Proof by Comparifon of Hands, is a very
' dangerous Proof: Jdque in caufis civilibus duntax-
4 at ; fed in criminalibus, in quibus periculum majus
4 verfatur, aut capitis, ant exijlimalionis, nori item*

Voet, an eminent Modern Civilian, Lib. 22.

Tom. 4. Seel. 11. to the very fame Purpofe. And
fo does Cnjacius in his Commentary on the Novels

73.
4 The Romans, fays he, never allow'd it, but

4 when no other Proof could be had. And in
4 latter Times, when Forgeries became more fre-

4 quent, they would not allow of it at all, unlefs
4 the Writing had been acknowledged by the Par-
4 ty, or proved by two Witnefies who faw him
4 write it.'

And then it was neceffary to bring both into

Court, that the Judges themfelves might make
the Comparifon, and not leave the Witnefies to

be the only Judges of it.

But it was never known, and I may defy all

the Writers of Law to fhew me one Inftance,

that any Evidence of the Similitude of Hands
(which can only be made out by Comparifon)

was admitted, but where the Papers pretended

to be written in the fame Hand, were produ-

ced and compared : Which is fo far from being

the prefent Cafe, that even the attefting Clerks,

who are the only Witnefies in the Cafe, never

had an Opportunity of comparing the Original

Letter ftopp'd in Augujl laft, with any one of the

three original Letters dated April 20. or with

any
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any of the intermediate Letters, which they af- fame Seal as that feized on his Servant at the

firm to have been writren in the fame Hand. Tower. But confider, my Lords, how many
And if it beconfider'd, how much more difficult Similitudes we are at laft come to in this one At-

it is to diftinguifh the Hand of one writing in tempt, Similitude of Hands, Similitude of Figures,

Figures (which Hand fmgle one from another) Similitude of Characters, and Similitude of Seals.

from the Hand of one writing in Words at length That Similitude of Hand-writing is no Proof,

(which are varioufly connected and combined) I have fhewn by a Variety of the belt Authori*

your Lordlhips will never give them the leaftDe- ties: much lefs, the Similitude of one Letter in

gree of Credit. the Alphabet; that is, I dare fay, a Conceit per*

But at once to put an End to this Evidence fectly new. And 'tis well known, Artifts are

(if my Inftructions are true) it has already ap- capable of counterfeiting any Man's Hand or

pear'd to your Lord (hips, upon Mr. Kelly's Bill, Seal in fuch a Manner, that even the Perfon whofe

That the only Original Letter of the twentieth Hand or Seal it is, fliall not be able to diftinguifh

of Augufi, ftopt as a Sample at the Poft-Office, it from his own : And your Lordlhips yefterday

and the only Ground of affirming thefe Three to faw an ample Specimen of it.

have been his, was not his Hand-writing; and, It is upon thefe Grounds, my Lords, that

if need be, we have the fame and ftronger Evi- Kelly hath been affirmed to have been his Lord-

dence to produce. Upon the whole therefore, I fhip's Secretary in thefe Matters ; but there-

think I may affirm, That there is no legal or rea- is not the leaft Charge or Pretence of his having

fonable Ground to infer thofe Letters to have writ any other Letters of any kind for the Bi-

been wrote by Kelly. fhop, but thefe Three only, and not one through-

And furely, my Lords, it was incumbent on out the whole Correfpondence charg'd to have

them to prove, as well as to affirm, that they been written by Carte, (tho' he is in general

were wrote by his Lordfhjp's Direction, before charged as another Manager of this Correfpon-

they can affect him ; even tho' the Writer (who- dence.) This, my Lords, we mult infift, oughc

ever he was) had prefumed to have figned them to have had the fulleft Proof, and the molt un-

with his Lordlhip's own Name and proper Ap- deniable Evidence : For it is the Gift of the

pellation. I befeech your Lordlhips, how does Offence, 'tis the Foundation of the Statute 14
it in the leaftappear, that Mr. Kelly, or Mr. Carte, W. III. c. 3. and 'tis the particular Suggeftion of
(as is afterwards upon no better Grounds fug- this Bill. 'Tis poffible fome fuch Letter might be
gefted) was employ'd by his Lordfhip to carry wrote by Kelly ok Carte to the Perfons they are ad-

on that Correfpondence ? It has, I confefs, been drefs'd to, without the Bilhop's Privity or Di--

frequently faid at your Lordlhips Bar, as well as rection ; 'tis not fo uncommon a thing to pre-

by that Honourable Committee, but like other tend Acquaintance with Perfons of Diftinction,

Charges, without any Shadow of Proof; unlefs or to make ufe of their Name and Authority, to

it be an obfcure Pafiage in a Letter of Chitwell give themfelves a greater Degree of Credit with
from abroad, to one Williams here, D. 27. which their Correfpondents.

fays, They had a Story in France o/Wefton'i Clerk If this may be fo, and ought now to be pre-

being laid up for Debt : Which, as I fhall after- fumed fo, fince no Man has proved it otherwife j

wards fhew, could not poffibly mean his Lord- then no Man furely ought to fuffer by the Act
ihip. There is another Paflage alfo in the Let- of another, or to be punifhed for another Man's
ter to Dubois, from whence the fame Inference Fault,

is made. What unknown Perfon that Dubois is I believe no One will think it any Reflection to

don't appear, or whether it is a real or fictitious hear many of your Lordlhips Names in thefe Cy-
Name; for all their Lifts and Cyphers afford no- phers, and afterwards to find a frequent Mention
thing like it. The Committee are pleafed to fup- of them in the Correfpondence ; or to find his

pofe it a Letter to the Bifhop, and received by Majefty's own Name in Plunket's Cypher, under
him from Abroad ; and from thence infer, he the Difguife of Hawkesby, and Page 62 of the

ufed to receive Letters directed to him by ficti- Report, Compliments from the Pretender and his

tious Names. The Counfel for the Bill fuppofe Wife to one Hawkesby. No Man, I fay, will ap-
it a Letter from himfelf to himjelf, becaufe the ply thefe, or many other Names of Perfons of
Hand-writing, they fay, (or rather the Letter e) Honour mentioned in them* to the Perfons them-
is fomething like his Lordlhip's. It is not fign- felves, or imagine thofe Letters were really wrote
ed by any one, and dated only the fixteenth of by their Privity or Confent. By the fame Rule
December without any Year ; and tho' that Ho- of Juftice, and by a Parity of Reafon, my Lord
nourable Committee are pleafed to affix, in their Bilhop's Name may be prefum'd to have been
Obfervations on it, 1721. becaufe Johnfon, they made ufe of, without his Privity or Confent; and if

fay, was about that Time at Paris, yet for what there is any certain Rule or Polition in Law, it is

appears from the Letter itfelf, it might be writ- this, That all Preemption ought to be in favour

ten before his Majefty's Acceffion, or before the of Innocency.
feveral Acts of Grace that have been ; and if it And [to lhew the little Intimacy there was
had any Criminal Meaning, 'tis improbable his between his Lordfhip and Mr. Kelly, (if Rig
Lordfhip would have mentioned the Hand of means his Lordfhip, as they fuppofe, or that

Conveyance at length ; and much more impro- Letter E. 64. was from Kelly, as they alfo fup-

bable, that he lhould have deftroyed all his o- pofe) it will be fufficient to remind your Lord-
ther Letters (as the Committee are pleafed to fhips of one Part of it, where the Writer fays,—
infinuate) and to preferve this only, which is of * That Rig and one Skin had been together ;

no Confequence, but to furnifh Evidence againft « but the Refult of their Meeting he knew no-

himfelf, and to explain the Thing molt wanted. * thing of. Rig had fixed his Sufpicion fome-

Another Proof that it is his Letter, is from a « where, tho' I cannot find out the Place ; but

broken Seal, which, they fay, is made by the * you will hear it from Skin, to whom, it's pro-

Vol. VI. T 1
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' bable,
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* bable, he may have communicated his Senti- able, without their Help, to ftir, or even to lift

« ments that way.' That is, my Lords, if I up what he eat or drank to his Mouth. Befides

underftand the Meaning of thofe Words, that thefe, there were Two Women-Servants, which
Kelly, the fuppofed Secretary on all thefe Occa- conftantly attended his Lady in her Room, which
fions, knew nothing of the Matters, or at leaft is next adjoining, and came frequently to him
much lefs than Skin, whom Kelly had but juft be- (once or twice an Hour) every Day with Accounts

fore introduc'd into Rig's Acquaintance. how fhe did, the Bifhop himfelf being difabled

There is another Letter which has likewife (for feveral Days before her Death) to go out of
been read, E. 47. (if it is to be underftood to be his Room.
Mr. Kelly's, as they fuppofe, and Rig is to mean And all thefe five Servants will depofe, That
his Lordfhip ; tho' we are far from admitting the for 14 or 15 Days before his Lady's Death, no
one or the other) which we defire to make ufe Stranger whatever vifited his Lordfhip, much lefs

of, and amounts to a full and direct Confef- ftayed there any Time with him. This (my
fion, that the Writer (whoever he is) had Lords) the Women-Servants will affirm, as far

nothing in his Power or Knowledge to charge as their frequent feeing of him gave them Oppor-
him with. I have the more Countenance, my tunity to make thefe Obfervations. His Coach-

Lords, to repeat the Words of this Letter, be- man ( tho' now Witnefs againft him) has con-

caufe that Honourable Committee have let it pafs flantly affirmed the fame thing, both below as

without Exception, Fol. 59. of the Report

:

well as before your Lordfhips. But the three

Wherein the Writer vows, ' He never heard of Men (one of which was always in the Room, Day
* the Cant Names of Jones and Illington, or who and Night, as I before obferved) can be moft full

* was meant by them: That fome Perfons in and peremptory in their Teftimony. So that the

* whofe Power it was to do for him, had fhewed Bifhop could not poffibly dictate thefe Letters,

* no Concern at all for his Misfortunes ; that it either to Mr. Kelly, or to any Body elfe, without
« was well he had no Secrets to reveal, fince the Privity and Obfervation of fome of them.
* fuch Ufage might provoke a paffionate Man.' This being a Negative, it is impoffible to be

And all the World is fince convinced he had not, more fully proved in any Cafe -, and nothing but

fince no Perfon feemed to be apprehenfive that the remarkable Circumftances which happened at

he could do them any Mifchief. My Lords, I fay, that time, to which the Writer of thofe Letters

if this Letter is to be underftood as from that unluckily pinned them down, could have help'd

Gentleman, we think we are intitled to have the us to fo ftrong and undeniable a Proof of it.

Benefit of his open and candid Declaration. Whether Mr. Kelly was ever acquainted or vi-

But however, my Lords, if we fhould not be fited his Lordfhip, indeed I am not inftructed ;

allowed to make this Ufe of it, yet (if my In- their Evidence, a
I am fure, has proved nothing

ftructions are true) Mr. Kelly fully afferted this like it, nor is it material, much lefs criminal,

himfelf at your Lordfhip's Bar-, and even without But as to the particular time (12 April) when
it, we fhall be able to make appear moft plainly, Mr. Kelly is fuppofed to have told Mrs. Barnes,

in the Courfe of our Evidence, that Kelly did and fhe is fuppofed to have told Mrs. Levett, that

not, and could not write thofe Three Letters his Lordfhip fent his Coach for Kelly, we fhall

from his Lordfhip's Mouth, or by his Lordfhip's exprefly prove the contrary : and befides that it

Direction. is only Hearfay of Mrs. Levett from Mrs. Barnes

The Date of all Three is 20 April; when this who denies it, and his Lordfhip's Difability at

Reverend Prelate (as has been already mentioned that time to receive Company •, I fay (my Lords)

to your Lordfhips) was deprived of the Ufe of befides thefe Circumftances, it is remarkable that

both Hand and Foot : had for a great while been the Coachman, and the Baker (who it feems were
confined to his Room, under the greateft Weak- directed to keep a Diary of every Body that came,

nefs and Diforder, when his Lady lay in the next and of all that happened in his Lordfhip's Fa-

Room, on her Death-bed. mily) fay not one Word of this remarkable Inci-

Thefe, my Lords, and other remarkable Cir- dent, in either of their Depofitions. The Coach-

cumftances in his Family, which diftinguifh this man has denied that he ever fetch'd Mr. Kelly

particular Period of Time, as on the one hand, in his Lordfhip's Coach fince he lived with his

they have given the Writer of thefe fictitious Lordfhip, or ever was at Kelly's Lodgings, or

Letters fome Advantage towards fixing them on that he ever faw him or Mr. Carte in his Life-

the Bifhop-, fo, on the other hand, they afford his time; and furely their Silence (if there were no-

Lordfhip a like Advantage (in the moft provi- thing elfe in the Cafe) is fufficient to infer, that

dential Manner, I may fay) towards clearing he was not there at that time: And all Mrs.
himfelf from the Imputation of them. Becaufe Kay and Malone fwear is no more, than that they

his Servants then attending him, are able to re- don't remember Kelly lay at Mrs. Barnes's that

collect what paffed on that Occafion, and to be T'burfday or Friday ( the firft only fpeaks in her

very pofitive and particular in their Evidence con- printed Depofition of a Thurfday or Friday a-

cerning it. bout the middle of April.) And how is it pof-

His Lordfhip happened then to have Three fible they fhould remember the Time fo exactly,

Men-Servants actually attending on him, and for neither of them belonged immediately to

fome one of thefe always, both Day and Night, Kelly, but were only Servants to Mrs. Barnes,

either prefent with him in the Room, or wait- who had other Lodgers in her Houfe ? They
ing in the Paffage at his Chamber-Door ; and the did not even make thefe Affidavits till the 6th

Weather being warm, and the Room clofe, the of February laft ; and 'tis no eafy Matter to

Door was generally wide open : It was then this remember fuch an inconfiderable Circumftance

Reverend Prelate's Misfortune, that he was not of a Lodger (ten Months together) unlefs they

3 D. 47.8.9. E. 6. b.c.
,

likewife
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likewife had been inftructed before-hand to keep Hon. Committee have juftly obferved, in the ve-

Diaries of Mr. Kelly's Motions. ry fame Leaf, that the Profeffions of thefe two
Correfpondents were fo foreign and different, as

The Third General Charge againft. my Lord to lay no fort of Foundation for Intimacy or

Bifhop, is
a the receiving of Letters from Abroad Intercourfe between them : and the natural and

relating to this Confpiracy. only Conclufion (we think) from hence, is,

Two Infhnces only of this Kind have been b that the Letters on this Head, either from this

produced. The firft from Motfield (interpreted or the other fide of the Water, cannot be

Marr) nth of May, addrefled to lllmgtm. genuine-, and that no fair or regular Corre-

The other from Digby (fuppofed to be Dillon) fpondent could be guilty of fuch grofs Mif-

14th of July, addrefled to Mrs Wefton. Nei- takes.

ther of which (do they pretend to fay) came to And of both thefe Letters from Motfield and

his Lordfhip's Hands, or if they had, that there Digby, your Lordfhips have (I doubt not) ob-

is one criminal Word contained in them, and ferved, that there is no Pretence of Proof con-

confequently could not be (as I before proved) cerning the Hands in which they are written

;

a treafonable Correfpondence, within the Letter which furely would have been more requifite,

or Intent of any Law. than the Application of feigned Names, to af-

That of Motfield's is a mere Letter of Friend- certain them. Qtherwife any one who was ac-

fhip, and (if from Lord Marr, as they fuppofe) quainted with fuch Names might write Letters

is to a Perfon with whom he never had either from the other Side, as coming from the Perfons

Friendfhip or Acquaintance ; but really feems defigned by thofe Names, which they themfelves

defigned for no other Purpofe but to fix upon were ignorant of.

his Lordfhip the Letter directed to Mufgrave of And as the Receipt of thefe Letters by his

the 20th of April, (for the fame reafon interpre- Lordfhip has not been proved, fo there is not any

ted Marr) the Receipt of which is there acknow- Infinuation or Pretence that he ever anfwered

ledged ; and in his Words of Condolence there is them, tho' they both bear Date long before his

fomething, which, 'tis faid, points out his Lord- Lordfhip's Commitment.
fhip's Character and Function, tho' in my humble This part of the Scheme therefore for charg-

Apprehenfion, no more applicable to his Lord- ing his Lordfhip with a foreign Correfpondence

fhip, either as a Bifhop or a Clergyman, than to under fictitious Names, was not fo artfully con-

any other Perfon •, efpecially if it be confidered trived as the former •, and feems, by fo many
(as it really is) the Style of a Letter of Compli- groffer Miftakes, to have proceeded from Some-
ment. But if the Letter itfelf, to which this is body that had a much worfe Intelligence concern-

pretended to be an Anfwer, fhould prove to be ing his Lordfhip's Affairs.

a mere fiction, the Anfwer to it (tho' it were I fhall here beg leave to take Notice of the

Criminal) muft fall with it, as a part of the fame Letter taken from one of his Lordfhip's Servants

Contrivance. in the Tower, on which the learned Counfel have
And as to the Letter from Digby to Wefton, laid fuch great Strefs, becaufe there were no

tho' that Hon. Committee feem to lay fomeStrefs Profeffions of his Innocency in it. If there had
upon it, by printing it at length in their Re- been, I fuppofe they would not have been much
port, yet there is nothing in it that can affect regarded. Why therefore fhould it be any Ar-
any Man criminally, but his Lordfhip not at all

;

gument againft him, becaufe there is no fuch

becaufe the paffage in it relating to his Health, thing ? Matters are at a very low Ebb, when
and the Concerns of his Family, cannot poflibly fuch Trifles are relied on. But there is another

be applied to him. It implies, that he was then Reafon. The Letter I fuppofe to have been in-

in a very ill State of Health (July 25.) and his tended for fome near or intimate Friends, and to

Family in great Diforder ; whereas his Lordfhip fuch Perfons there was no need of making fuch a

(I can fpeak it, my Lords, upon my own Know- Profeffion. They knew (whoever they were)

ledge, as well as the Teftimony of feveral Clergy and were before fufficiently perfuaded of his

of his Diocefe, and others) was then perfectly Lordfhip's Innocency, and that it was impoflible

well, and able to tranfact all the ordinary Bufi- he fhould be guilty ofwhat is laid to his Charge,

nefs of his Diocefe and Deanery, and had been And by what has already appeared to your
fo for above two Months, having myfelf the Ho- Lordfhips, I may fay, this Reverend Prelate

nour at that time to be concerned with his Lord- had no need of making fuch an Apology, and
fhip in a very tedious and intricate Enquiry

;

that the Perfuafions of his Friends were not 111—

and the Diforder in his Family (if it means the grounded.
Death of his Lady, for that or nothing is meant
by it) had been over a much longer fpace of The Fourth Head, to which the Charge a-

Time. gainft his Lordfhip may be reduced, is the Coin-

Nor is it probable that fuch a Miftake fhould cidence of Cireumfiances, Times, and feigned

be made by the Perfon (whom the Name of Digby Names in the intercepted Correfpondence, to

is fuppofed to denote) if what the Report p. 2,9- induce your Lordfhips Belief of the before men-
and the Appendix D. 32 and 29. informs us, be tioned Hearfays and fuppofed Facts, that his

true, that two Letters had fome time before been Lordfhip, and he only, is meant by that Corre-

written to Digby, or his Secretary j the one fpondence.

(July 4) affuring, Wefton was never better in And the chief Obfervation about the Coinci-

his Life, the other (14 July) affirming he was dence of Times and Circumftances relates to the

then perfectly well. But it is flill more improba- three Letters of April 20. his Lordfhip's Illnefs,

ble, if your Lordfhips will confider what that and the Death of his Lady, and the Prefent of

* Rep. 41. Append. D. 24; *> Rep. 51. Append, D. 35.'
•' the
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the Dog, about the fame Time. All which have
already been accounted for, either as Truths
publickly known, turned by ignorant or malici-

ous Correfpondents to ill Purpofes, or as abfolute

Falfities, as will appear to your Lordfhips by our

Evidence.

1. As to the Article of Times, of his Lord-

fhip's coming and going, it mull be own'd, the

Penmen of thefe Letters are fometimes right , but

they are as often wrong, and the Miftakes are of

more Confequence to deftroy what is inferred

from them, than the real Agreements, in point

of Time, are or can be, to eftablifh it. There
is no doubt, but the Correfpondents on this Side

(whoever they were, and whether out of Malice

or Vanity) apprized themfelves as well as they

could of his Lordfhip's Motions, in order to give

a colour of Probability to what they faid of him ;

and yet it happens, that out of feven Inftances

occurring in thefe Letters, and referred to in the

Report, three of them (if not four) are plain and
grofs Miftakes : two only are true in all their

Circumftances •, and of the other two, it may be

doubted whether they anfwer the Truth in every

refpecl, or not.

Firft, As to the two doubtful Inftances, one is

49 pag. Rep. D. 29. where June 14. G. W. writes

to Quitwell, Mr. Weflon is in the County, I faw
him two Days ago. If thefe Words mean, that

he faw him two Days ago in the Country, (which
is the molt obvious Senfe of them) then the AfTer-

tion is falfe; for his Lordfhip came to Town
June 12. as appeared yefterday by the Coach-
man's Book: but if they mean, I faw him two
Days ago in Town, then the Affertion may be
true.

The other Inftance is Report 51, 52. D. 14.

fomebody writes July 26. to Maifonneuve, that Rig
and Skin had been lately together, and that Rig
went into the Country the Day after. Now by
Depofitions D. 48. it appears, the Bifhop went
out of Town July 21. they muft have met there-

fore on the 20th, which don't well anfwer the

"Word lately, which one would think imported 6
or 7 Days more. And therefore thefe two In-

ftances we fet afide, as neither plainly true nor

plainly falfe. The three next are manifeft Mif-
takes.

In Hatfield's Letter to Mufgrave May 7. it's

faid,
a Mr. Jones is come to Town only for a

Day, and yet (if Jones means the Bifhop) he had
been in Town two Days, and ftay'd in Town
three Days longer ; for he came 5th May, and re-

turned 10th May, as appears by Law/on and Wood's
Examination.

So in a Letter of J. H. to Bixwell, June 12. it's

faid, Rig. (fuppofed to mean the Bifhop) is, I hear,
in the Country; whereas his Lordfhip was at

Weftminjler June 18 and 19, as appears by the
Coachman's Books.

In a Letter to Maifonneuve, July 19. F. 59. Rig
is again faid to be in the Country, whereas his

Lordfhip was at Weftminsler that very Day, and
continued there till the 21ft, as appears by the
fame printed Depofitions.

And the Miftakes in thefe three Inftances are
the more remarkable, becaufe they all affirm his

Lorfhip to be in the Country, when he pofitive-
ly was not; whereas it was ten to one, but that
even mere GuefTes had been true, at a Time

?. D. 47, 8. E. 49.

of Year that every one almoft is in the Country,
and his Lordfhip was really ten Days in the Coun-
try, to one that he was in Town during the

whole Summer.
But, My Lords, I muft with fome Regret take

notice, that none of thefe Miftakes are acknow-
ledged in the Report of that Honourable Com-
mittee, tho' all the Letters and Paffages are tran-

fcribed in it, particularly that of the 7th of May,
E. 42. Thefe Words are inferted in the Report,

page 41. [Mr. Jones is come to Town] but the fol-

lowing Words [only for a Day] are omitted; and
yet the Section concludes, that it agrees with the

Enquiry made at that 'Time ; which indeed it does

(as far as it is there quoted) tho' not with the Ap-
pend. E. 42.

What Enquiry of this kind was then made, and
with what Views, we cannot fay, unlefs we may
fuppofe it to be made by his Neighbour Lawfon.

If it was, 'tis ftrange that he could not depofe

from his own Knowledge and Obfervations in

May, but only as to what he had heard and was
told by Wood, his Lordfhip's Coachman, fo lately

as the 19th of February laft. I would reconcile

this if it be poffible: and the moft natural Infe-

rence I can draw from it is, that Lawfon (or who-
ever that Inquirer was) had pretended to take

fome Account of his own at the Time mentioned

by the Committee, which, upon Comparifon

with that of the Coachman's, he found to be

manifeftly falfe and erroneous, and therefore

would not produce or depend upon that : But we
hope his Teftimony can receive no Advantage

from fuch a Conduct. And upon the whole it

appears, that tho' more Induftry has been employ-

ed on the Article of Enquiry, yet as many Mif-

takes, have been made in it, as in any other.

And as for the Coachman's Book, after all it

cannot be entirely relied on ; becaufe the Entries

made in his Book can only relate (as we appre-

hend) to the Charges of Turnpikes and Ferry-

ings, or fuch other Matters for which he was ac-

countable. He had no Reafon to take Notice in

fuch an Account, when his Lordfhip was in the

Coach, when Not; and your Lordfhips have

heard, cannot be pofitive on that Head. And
therefore how exact foever his Accounts may be,

in refpedt to thofe little Disburfments, they can

add no Weight to the Obfervation drawn from

them by that Honourable Committee ; and tho'

great Strefs has been laid on them, (with Sub-

miflion to your Lordfhips) they amount to no

more, than thatfome Perjons on this fide theWater,

writing to fome on the other fide, arefuppofed to men-

tion his Lordfhip, fometimes as in Town, or in the

Country: and from thence 'tis inferr'd, that they

had frequent Accefs to him, and confequently the

Matter of their Correfpondence is imputed to

him.

Had thefe Correfpondents been exatt, my Lords,

in all their Accounts of his Motions, furely no

fuch Conclufions could have been reafonably

made : but as they are oftner wrong than right,

it follows, they were not fo well acquainted

with his Lordfhip or his Circumftances, as (to

ferve their evil Purpofes) they have pretended

to be.

Having thus fpoken as to the Circumftances of

Times, (which are thrown in to induce a Belief,

that his Lordfhip was meant by that Correfpon-

dence)
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dence) I fhall next offer fomething as to the Cant

Names: And tho' it has been already obferved to

your Lordlhips in various Inftances, that the

Names of Jones, Illington, and Wefton, could not

poffibly belong to him; yet give me leave (my

Lords) to fay further, that Jones is not only a

very common Name (for in one Society, I think,

I remember no lefs than fixteen of the Name at

once) but that Name is manifeftly applied to

very different Perfons, even in the Papers con-

tained in the Appendix. In Phuket's Cypher

Jones denotes the Germans: Twelve or fourteen

times it is fuppofed to denote the Duke of Nor-

folk, in three other Places to denote Sir PF. Ellis j

and even in the Letters imputed to Kelly, there

are
a Paffages (befides thofe already mentioned

to your Lordlhips) which cannot with any Rea-

fon or Probability be applied to hisLordfhip : For

inftance, D. 23. Jones and Illington are within

the Compafs of two Lines plainly diftinguifhed,

as two different Perfons, and therefore both can-

not be apply'd to his Lordfhip. And in the fame

Letter as well as a preceding Letter, D. 13.

Jones is mentioned as having undertaken to do

fomething for a Boy at Eaton ; where it is well

known his Lordfhip has no Influence or Ac-
quaintance, and if he had interefted himfelf there

on any fuch Account, it would eafily have been

difcovered. And this, my Lords, is one ftrong

Inftance, to fhew the Ignorance of the Writer,

even in fome of his Lordfhip's moft notorious Cir-

cumftances.

A great deal of Pains has likewife been taken,

by the help of divers Suppofitions and Reafonings,

to prove that Rig denotes his Lordfhip. How-
ever, I fhall take Notice but of one, in the Letter

to Gerrard, which is faid to be Sir J. D'Obrian,

Report 49 E. 47. where fomething is faid of

Rig, highly improper, and abfolutely falfe, if

to be underftood of the Bifhop. An Account is

faid to be given of the Difficulty Kelly had to get

Bail, and it is added-

—

Tour old Friend Rig indeed

offered all that could be expelled of the -poor Man.
(If my Inftructions are true) D'Obryan is a Name
his Lordfhip never heard of before, nor had the

leaft Concern in procuring Kelly's Bail, nor knows
to this Day who they are •, the only Words appli-

cable to him in this Paffage, are thofe of Poor

Man ; and his Lordfhip permits me to fay, that

he is really fuch, poor both in Body and Purfe,

and as poor as his Enemies almofl can make him :

and tho' he may have Reafon (if your Lordfhips

fhould pafs this Bill with all the Severities intend-

ed by it) to be heartily lorry he is fo, and that

he has neglected thofe Opportunities of enriching

himfelf, which others would have laid hold of;

yet he gives me leave, my Lords, to fay, he is not

afhamed of that Poverty, becaufe free from all

unjuft Acquifitions, and unworthy Compliances.
But that he was a poor Man at that Time, i. e.

unable to procure Bail, (which is the Senfe that

Writer means it \n) cannot with any Decency or

Juftice be applied to one of his Lordfhip's In-

tereft and Station, if he had concerned himfelf

in it.

Give me leave, my Lords, to take Notice of an-
other Miftake of that Honourable Committee
in the very fame Letter-, I mean, a Paffage cited

from it which is not in it, to prove that Rig and
his Lordfhip are the fame Perfons ; which I fhould

1 Rep. 48, 9. 59. 68.

Vol. VI.

have omitted, but that it breaks at once the
Chain of Reafoning there made ufe of. The
Words are, how far this late Affair may affetl him
(Rig) 1 cannot tell, and E. 47. is cited for them.
Now E. 47. gives an Account of Kelly's Exami-
nation promifcuoufly with other Matters, and was
written June nth; but the Letter where the

Words really are, is E. 49. of the 18th bf June
(near a Month after Kelly's Examination.) Nor is

there a Word in that about the Dog ; but it

might be proper to confound thefe two Letters,

and connect thefe two Particulars, in order

to make out, that Rig and his Lordfhip are the

fame, tho' they have really no Relation one to

the other.

We might add, my Lords, many grofs Errors in

the Application of Names: but if your Lordlhips
are fatisfied with the Juftice of thofe already

mentioned, (as I hope your Lordfhips are) there

will be no need to regard the reft ; for tho' they

have fome little Coincidences of Time, yet they

are darned with fo many Inconfiftencies, and fo

many Falfities, that no fair Correfpondent could

be guilty of. But there is one which of all others

bears hardeft upon this Reverend Prelate, the

moft criminal in the Matter of it, and from

which he is moft deeply concerned to clear him-
felf; i. e. the Letter of April 20th, which has

been over and over affirmed by that Honourable
Committee, as well aS by the Counfel for the

Bill, to be a Letter to the Pretender. If that be

fo, and had been proved by any Degree of Evi-

dence, to have been dictated by his Lordfhip,

we fhould have been utterly at a Lofs what to

have faid, in a Cafe that would have been fo fully

within the Letter of the Law. Part of it, my
Lords, we have already fhewn to have been charg-

ed on his Lordfhip without the leaft Proof or

fhadow of Evidence ; the other Part of the Charge

we hope now to prove equally groundlefs and
falfe.

That the Letter addreffed to Jackfon was not

to the Pretender (whomever elfe it may mean)

we think, appears clearly from the Words of it,

our Circumslance on this Side ; a Phrafe not only

ufed by all Writers, but is the conftant ufual Style

throughout all the Papers in the Appendix, in con-

tradiftinftion to France, which is the other Side,

but never to Italy, as the Cafe muft be here, if

Jackfon means the Pretender. The Inftances in

the Appendix are almoft infinite.

Another Reafon, why we think the Name of

Jackfon cannot reafonably be fuppofed to de-

note the Pretender, is from E. 30. where there

is mention of dividing Clinton's Money be-

tween Medley and Jackfon, i. e. fays the Rep. p. 54.
between Ormond and the Pretender. But it is not

to be imagined that a Letter written from one

devoted to the Pretender's Intereft, fhould place

Ormond before him ; this is fo unlikely, that even

the Committee, fpeaking irrtheir own Perfons at

the bottom of this very Page, flide naturally

into the other Way of placing the Words, the

Pretender and Ormond. Befides this, my Lords,

there are fo many Familiarities [to mention but

one, all fuch pretending People'] in the Letter itfelf

that it could never come from any one (as I before

faid) devoted to that Intereft, at leaft not to the

Pretender himfelf, but to fome Equal or rather to

fome Inferior. Jackfon therefore muft mean fome-

Uuu body
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body elfe, fomebody in France, and not the Preten-

der in Italy ; and on this Suppofition, every Word,

and Phrafe of that Letter is better accounted for

than on any other.

The Committee of that Honourable Houfe be-

low, have been pleafed alfo to obferve, p. 45, 46.

that Jack/on appears from other Letters to be the

fame as Malcolm, (which they fay means the Pre-

tender) and for this Reafon, becaufe [p. 54. E. 30.]

Clinton's Money is to be divided between Medley

and Jackfon. And pag. 56. fomebody hopes Clin-

ton has fent Malcohn half Money •, which proves

indeed, that either Medley ox Jack/on means Mal-

colm, but which, may be ftill aQueftion, as much

as it was before.

That Malcolm means the Pretender, 'tis proved,

becaufe application is made to Malcolm, in a Let-

ter from Scotland, for a Patent, and for Power to

raife a Regiment, Rep. pag. 45, 75. But with Sub-

miffion to that Honourable Committee, neither

of thefe Inftances prove that Afiertion •, fince the

moft natural Way of applying in fuch Cafes, is to

Perfons employed under the Principal, and not

immediately to the Fountain Plead itfelf : and if

the late Duke of Ormond was to have come over

laft Summer to head the Scots, and they daily fent

preffing MefTages to that Effect, (as Mr. Stanhope

writes from Madrid, Rep. p. 75.) who more pro-

per to be applied to by a Scots Man on both thefe

Occafions ? Malcolm therefore (with Submiffion

to the Committee) more naturally means the late

Duke of Ormond.

I may add to this, my Lords, that in the Cy-

pher inferted among the Scotch Papers, I. 14. Da-

ms and Lloyd (not Malcolm) is faid to be the Name
and Defignation of the Pretender.

I hope we may be allowed to argue in this

Manner, from one Cypher to another, becaufe

the fame Method has been made ufe of againft

us, upon this very Article, both by that Honour-

able Committee, and the Counfel for the Bill :

for the only Colour there is for interpreting Jack-

fon to be the Pretender, is taken from Plunket's

Cypher, in which (as it is printed) Jack/on is fet

over againft the Name of the Pretender, and

from the Titling to the Draught of a Letter of

Plunket's to Jack/on, C. 41. and admitting this

Letter to have been fo entitled by himfelf, (which

has not yet been proved) yet it does not follow,

(as I obferved) that becaufe a Letter addrefs'd

to one at Rome by Plunket under the Name of

Jack/on fignified the Pretender, that another Let-

ter directed to one of that Name in France, by a

quite different Perfon, fhould likewife neceflarily

fignify the Pretender. This, my Lords, I beg

leave to fay, is no certain or natural Confequence:

but it is molt certain, that that Draught (whom-
foever it was intended to) was not written upon
that Cypher which the Committee refer'd to, in

order to have it thought to have been v/ritten for

the Pretender •, for there is but one only of the

many Cant Names in the whole Letter, which

is to be found in that Cypher. But if your Lord-

fhips will be pleafed to confider that Cypher a lit-

tle farther, it will appear, that the very Perfons

fuppofed to be concerned in dictating this Letter

to Jackfon, were utterly ftrangers to the Cor-

refpondence ; for it confifts of a hundred and fifty

Names, and no Man can find above four that are

in this Cypher, or in all that voluminous Corre-

fpondence attributed to Kelly ; nor any of thofe

four ever ufed in the Letters fuppofed to be writ

by Kelly ; but in thofe only fuppofed to be written

to him from abroad.

The Name of Jack/on is not once in all that

Correfpondence applied to the Pretender: and
tho' there be a hundred proper Occafions of men-
tioning him, it is always under fome other Ap-
pellation. And Plunket himfelf, in his Examina-
tion C. 73, Sect. 14. (when he could not poffibly

know the Tendency of the Queftion) not only

fays pofitively, that he never writ to any Perfon

by the Name of Jack/on, and does not know who
is meant by it, but it is alfo remarkable (my
Lords) that in all the Letters faid to be written

by him upon that Cypher (after it was formed) he
never once ftyles the Pretender Jack/on, but either

Jofeph or Jephfon.

The firft of thefe Letters is in May 1721, and
therefore that Honourable Committee have with
great Exactnefs placed this Cypher immediately
before it, as fuppofing it about that Time fra-

med ; for all the preceding Letters are manifeftly

written upon another Cypher. Now this Letter

of the 20th of April, fuppofed to be dictated by
his Lordfhip, was written before that Cypher of
Plunket's was framed, and confequently could

not take a Name from a Cypher which then had
no Exiftence.

There is another Obfervation of that Honour-
able Committee, which I beg leave to take No-
tice of. They fay, that the Cypher made ufe of
in this Letter to Jack/on, is the fame made ufe of
in the Letters from the late Duke of Ormond's A-
gents, and in Letters to Dennis Kelly ; and yet

the Pretender has fome other Names in fuch Let-

ters, but in none of them ever once ftyled Jack/on.

How comes it then, my Lords, that he mould be

ftyled fo once, in this one Letter,, and never be-

fore, nor after, by that Writer or by any other?

We have been the longer, my Lords, in re-

moving this Imputation, becaufe of all others it

is the hardeft and moft unjuft upon this Reverend
Prelate ; and upon the whole, we hope it is ful-

ly and effectually done, ( notwithftanding the

Difficulties we had of proving a Negative) and
even from thofe Lights and Materials the Com-
mittee themfelves have afforded us : and if we had
had an Opportunity of infpecting the Originals,

we doubt not we mould have been able to have

proved much better, that Jack/on (to whom this

Letter of the 20th of April was directed) could not

poffibly mean the Pretender.

And if that be the Cafe, as it certainly is, and

it appears farther by the Evidence which we fhall

produce, that thefe three Letters of April 20. were

not, and could not poffibly be dictated by the Bi-

ftiop, the Foundation of the whole Charge is de-

ftroyed, and confequently, all the Superstructure

muft fall to the Ground. Nay, I will venture to

affirm, that it is impoffible for them to form any

Scheme to prove the Bifhop wrote thefe Letters

but what is, and will be actually difproved and

falfified, by fome Part of their own Evidence.

Having thus, my Lords, gone thro' every

Part of the Charge, I muft crave your Lordfhips

Patience, yet to fpeak to two Things, which
have been much infifted on by the Counfel for the

Bill. That when your Lordfhips proceed in a

Legifative Capacity, you are not to be guided by the

Rules and Niceties of Law, and therefore that we
are not in this Cafe to expect an Evidence ftrictly

legal. The other Thing was, that at this tune of

Day, circumflanlial Evidence is fufficient in a

Charge
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Charge of Hgh-Treafon, as the Cafe now before

you is. This (my Lords) we have heard fully

and often repeated, as it were to anticipate us in

this Objection, which they themfelves know to

be fo juftfy founded.

I have fo far acted in Complaifance to them,

as to argue chiefly on the Facts and Circum-

ftances themfelves, and under the very fame

Li°hts they have prefented them to us, and hope

(my Lords) our Inferences from them have been

more juft, our Construction more natural, and

our Probabilities much greater than theirs; and

even in that View (confidered abstractly from

•what the Common Law, and the Common Juf-

tice of the Realm requires) I hope we have

fully fhewn to your Lordfhips Satisfaction, and

to the Conviction of every reafonable or impar-

tial Perfon, that there are no Grounds for what

is fuo-gefted in the Bill ; and that all who hear

ine may juftly wonder, how this Reverend Pre-

late comes to be charged (as he is in the Preamble

of the Bill) with being deeply concerned in form-

ing, directing, and carrying on a Confpiracy ;

when it has not been proved, that he entred into

any one Confultation concerning any one Meafure,

gave any one Direction, that he has done any

one criminal Act, written, dictated, or received

any any one criminal Letter : and if we fhould

wave infifting on an Evidence ftrictly legal, or

a Proof according to the known Rules of Law ;

give me leave to fay, my Lords, becaufe it is

true, there has not been a reafonable Evidence.

But yet, my Lords, I (hall always infift, both

as an Englijhman^ and as Counfel to this Reve-

rend Prelate, that there ought to be a legal Evi-

dence in thefe, as well as in any other Criminal

Proceedings. If there is any Difference, it is in

this only, that as there are certainly many greater

Inconveniences to the Subject in this Method of

Proceeding, there ought to be a ftronger Proof,

and a Conviction more ftrictly legal. I will always

hope, your Lordfhips will expect a Proof in fuch

heavy Charges, agreeable to the Laws of the Land,
and the Rules and Refolutions of other Judica-

tures. I am far from thinking your Lordfhips are

circumfcribed by the Forms of inferior Courts,

becaufe they are in their own Nature difcretio-

nary, and the Courts themfelves often vary and
depart from them. But the fundamental Maxims
of Law, the unalterable Meafures of Juftice, and

the pofitive Directions of an Act of Parliament,

are of another Nature ; they are binding every

where, to all Perfons and Authorities, (as long as

they continue Laws) the King himfelf not ex-

cepted. I fhould beg Pardon, for carrying my
Affertion fo far, but that I am taught by the Bill

of Rights that the King himfelf is bound by the

Law, that it is not in his Power to alter, fufpend,

or difpenfe with Laws. But if the Doctrine of
the Counfel for the Bill is true, and every one at

Liberty to follow the Dictates of his own Judg-
ment, and what Rules he pleafes ; what Con-
fufions, Uncertainties, and Arbitrarinefs muft
that introduce in all Proceedings! Private Opinion
will too often be a Pretence to exercife private

Malice, Revenge, or Ambition.

I might appeal to every one that hears me,
whether he has not at fome Time or other, be-

lieved fome things, as ftrongly as he did at firft

this Reverend Prelate to be guilty of what was
fuggefted againft him, and has afterwards found

himfelf miftaken ? What is more common than for

Men that agree in the fame Notions of Morality,
to deduce different Conclufions and Applications
from them ? (even where Intereft or Partiality

do not intervene •,) and therefore the Wifdom of
the Law ofEngland hds been, to determine general

Notions of Juftice and Right by particular Rules
and Applications, in order to fettle that Variety

and Inconftancy, which without fome eftablifhed

Rule muft neceffarily follow. Where then fhall we
go for true and proper Notions of Law or Equi-
ty, but to thofe great Oracles and Fountains, my
Lords the Judges ? What better Guide or more
certain Rule, can any one of your Lordfhips pro-

pofe to himfelf, than the conftant and uniform

Judgment of thofe, whom the Conftitution of
this Kingdom have made the proper Difpenfers of

Juftice, and the Interpreters of Law?
'Tis your Lordfhips peculiar Advantage, to be

continually afftfted by fome of my Lords the

Judges ; and we hope in this Inftance (if any

Doubt can at laft remain) your Lordfhips will

hear their Opinion, with the fame Deference and
Candor as in former Cafes. Let it never be faid,

my Lords, that you, who are the fupreme Oyer
of the Kingdom, whofe Judgments and Refolu-

tions are Laws to other Courts, and ought to be

an Example to all others, in the Juftice and Equity

of your Proceedings, that your Lordfhips will

not regard the folemn Judgment of the Judges,

or the Ufages offormer Parliaments : and let it not

be faid, that becaufe other Courts are bound by a

Law, to require fuch and fuch Circumftances to

infer an Offence, or fuch a Proof before they con-

demn a Man, that you (my Lords) will follow

your own private Opinion, make what you pleafe

to be an Offence, without any Evidence at all,

but upon mere Hearfays, Conjectures, and Sup-
pofitions. Who can read that melancholy Cafe

without Concern, which my Lord Coke has in his

3d hftit. of an Uncle that was condemned and
executed for the fuppofed Death of his Niece,

merely upon a Train of Prefumptions and circum-

ftantial Evidence ; or Harrifon's Cafe within

Memory, where the Father and Mother both

fuflered upon Prefumption for a fuppofed Mur-
der ? And with what Shame and Remorfe did

that hafty Judge fee himfelf convicted by the

Perfons returning from beyond Sea? And every

one almoft remembers the Charge of Treafon a-

gainft this Reverend Prelate's Predeceffor. If fuch

a Bill had been thought on, or much ftronger

Evidence had been received, it might have pafs'd

before the Truth could have appeared. But hap-

py was it for that innocent Prelate, that a quite

contrary Method was taken, and his Accufers

brought Face to Face to him, by which he quick-

ly discovered the Villany of thofe Mifcreants.

Private Opinion or Perfuafion therefore is fuch a

Pofition, that every honeft Man ought to dif»

claim in thefe Cafes ; and the greater the Crime

is, in which he is to judge, the ftronger Proof he

ought to require : and when one adheres ftrictly

to Juftice, and goes according to the Allegata C5*

Probata, by the beft Rules and Reafons of Law ;

whatever Miftakes, Misinformations, or falfe E-

vidence may happen in the Cafe, he can never

have Caufe to repent, and neither the prefent

Age nor Posterity can blame him.

It was formerly a Queftion, whether the Star-

Chamber was bound by the Rules and Refolutions

of
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of other Courts : and the many Exceffes, and
extravagant Opinions in this Refpect was the

Reafon that ancient Court was laid afide. And
it has been as great a Queftion, whether the

Court of Chancery was to be guided by Rules and

Precedents. But the better Opinion has always

been, that a Judge in Equity ought to regard the

Rules and Refolutions that have been in like Ca-

fes ; unlefs he is refolved to make Decrees totally

arbitrary.

For tho' Equity and Reafon, in itfelf, is the

fame all the World over, and nothing can alter the

proper and intrinfick Notions of it ; yet, as the

Matters about which it is converfant, are re-

prefented in different Circumftances, and, like

Streams of Water, will receive fome little Tinc-

ture from the Soil thro' which it runs, and there

is fomething in every Man's Temper that will

Aide into his beft formed Notions -, it fhews the

Neceffity of fome fix'd and eftablifh'd Rules, at

all Times, and in all Places of Judicature. And
therefore, in that high Court or Equity, tho' the

Rigor of the Common Law is in fome Refpects

foftned, yet there is nothing more known, than

that it is not to be impeach'd in any of its effential

and fundamental Points.

I hope your Lordfhips will pardon me, if I

mention an Authority or two of great Name, that

exprefly fay, the High Court of Parliament is

likewife bound by the Rules of Law. Lord
Chief Juftice Holt fays, The Authority of Parlia-

ment, is from the
a Law ; and as it is circum-

fcribed by Law, fo it may be exceeded ; and if

they do exceed their legal Bounds and Authority,

their Acts are wrongful, and cannot be juftified

any more than the Acts of private Men. I might
add to this, the 'Opinions of Vaughan, Hale,

and Hobarti to the fame purpofe ; that the Rules

of Law ought to guide in paffing of Acts of Par-

liament, as well as in the ordinary Courfe of Ju-
dicature. But when I mention the Senfe of a

living Authority, that has filled the higheft Sta-

tions in the Law, and fo great an Ornament to

your Lordfhips Houfe, and whofe Merits have
been fo lately diftinguifhed by new Honours, 1"

need cite no more. It was in a Cafe, where the

fame Doctrine was advanced (that the Parlia-

ment was not bound to conform to the Rules and
Proceedings of other Courts:) In anfwer to

which, that noble Lord with great Truth ob-

ferved, that thofe Rules were not to be Patterns

to them, only becaufe they were Rules of thofe

Courts, but becaufe they were Reafon, and Rea-
fon approved of by long Experience, and they ob-
tain there as Rules for that Caufe •, and I hope
(fays he) that is a Caufe why the Houfe fhould

imitate them, as much as Weftminfter-Hall ; or

elfe how can they be faid to go according to

Reafon, or Juftice, when they go befide, or tranf-

grefs thofe Rules ?

Befides thefe great Authorities, there have
been Times, when Parliaments have thought
themfelves bound by the common Rules and Pro-
ceedings of Law, and Parliaments that were ve-

ry tender and fenfible of their own Power, in o-

ther Refpects. Not to mention feveral antient

Acts of Reverfal, becaufe Judgments given in

Parliament were not pronounced according to the

known Laws •, there is the Act for the Attainder

of the Earl of March, becaufe he had been inftru-

mental in procuring the Attainder of another
Lord, under pretence of a Letter, which (the

Record exprefly fays) was no Evidence. And the

Record for reverfing the Attainder of Roger Mor-
timer, 28 E. 3. Sir "Thomas Iiaxley, &c. is ex-

prefly declared to be, becaufe they were attainted

contrary to the good Laws and Cufloms of the

Realm. And not only the Lawyers and the Hif-
tories of thofe Times condemn them as grofly

contrary to Law and Juftice, but the Stat. 1 E. 6.

cap. 12. is directly levelled at them. For it re-

cites that thofe Proceedings were terrible and
extreme, introduced for particular Policies and
Purpofes, repeals feveral Statutes that had been
enacted in the preceding Reigns ; and, that there

might be no more fuch for the future, reduces all

Treafons to the antient Standard of the 25 E. 3.

and goes on and enacts, That no Perfon or Per-

fons (z. e. my Lords, as I humbly apprehend, no
manner of Perfons, in no manner of Place, Court,
or Method) fhall be convicted for any Offence of
Treafons, Petit Treafons, Mifprifions, for which
the Offender fhall in any wife fuffer any Pains of
Death, Imprifonement, Lofsof Goods, or the like,

unlefs accufed by the Teftimony of two lawful and
fufficient Witneffes. The Stat. 5 E. 6. cap. 11.

goes further, and fays, There fhall not only be

two Witneffes, but thofe two Witneffes fhall be
produced in Perfon before the Party, and fhall be-

fore his Face maintain and avow what they

have to fay. The Words of this Statute, as well

as the former, are as general as they can be, with-

out any Exception of Place or Proceeding.

But notwithftanding thefe two Statutes, there

was ftill Occafion for the Stat. 7 W. 3. to afcer-

tain Treafons, and to regulate the Method of Tri-

als. For there had been feveral tender complai-

fant Laws introduced by the pretended Zeal of
Minifters, with a peculiar Eye to the Prince on
the Throne ; which tho' others could not appre-

hend the Juftice or Neceffity of, yet on thefe

Laws there had been many unreafonable Penal-

ties, undue and irregular Profecutions, in the

preceding Reigns, and which Sir Jo. Hawles re-

marks as one of the great and immediate Caufes

of the Revolution. And tofhew the Refentmenc
of the Nation on thefe Proceedings, they were

all reverfed by particular Acts of Parliament

;

and to prevent the fame for the future, that

glorious Statute was made of the 7 W. 3. cap. 3.

That Perfons accufed as Offenders fhould be

juftly and equally try'd, and not debar'd of all

juft and equal Means for the Defence of their In-

nocency. And whoever cafls his Eye over the

preceding Trials, will find every Claufe of that

Statute as it were a particular Provifion againft the

Mifchiefs that had been, and to prevent the like

for the Time to come.

I do admit (my Lords) there is a Provifo in the

End of that Statute, that it fhall not extend to

any Impeachments or Proceedings in Parliament,

and therefore I don't mention it as a Rule to Par-

liamentary Proceedings in all Refpects, as it is to

inferior Courts. But furely the Reafon and

Juftice of that Act ought to be a Guide, as far as

it is confiftent with the Nature of your Lordfhips

Proceedings. And inafmuch as it was the Senfe

of the wole Legiflature, and the united Voice of

the Nation at that Time, and on a dear-bought

Experience, it is furely fo far worthy of your

Satp. Rep. 505.

Lordfhips
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Lordfhips Imitation. It can never be confident The Number of Witneffes by that

a Law, ought

with publick Wifdom, to run again into the fame to be two at leaft, to make a full Proof, and free

Mifchief from which we are fo happily refcued, or from all Exceptions, both as to their Perfons and

to fplit on the very fame Rocks, on which many to their Depofition. The Teftimony of a fingle

of your Lordfhips noble Anceftors have perifh'd. Witnefs is of no Validity, unlefs where other

And it can never be (with Submiffion to your Circumftances concur ; and it was not the Man-
Lordfhips better Judgments) a natural or a rea- ner of the Romans to condemn any Man, before

fonable Conftruction of that Provifo to enlarge that he, which is accufed, have his Accufers

the Proceedings of Parliament, or to give a grea- Face to Face. And this (my Lords) is not only

ter Latitude than ever they had before. And to the dead Letter of the Cede and the Dig. but the

remind your Lordfhips how the Ufage of Parlia- learned Groenw. in his Notes upon thefe Laws,

ment was, preceding this Statute, I need mention fays, It is the general Policy, and obtains at this

but two or three Inftances out of many. Lord Day in moft Parts of the World. I do own that

Delamere's Cafe in King James's Time, 1685, there are many Cafes that happen with us in the

where there was one pofitive Witnefs and a ftrong Courts below, where the Teftimony of two Wit-

circumftantial Evidence •, and yet your Lordfhips neffes is not required ; but then, my Lords, it is,

Predeceffors thought that not fufficient to find when the Trial is by Jury, that is, when twelve

him guilty. The Lord Stamford's Cafe in the ve- Men, coming from the Party's own Neighbour-

ry fame Year, where there was alfo one Witnefs, hood, and confequently muft be fuppofed to know
and ftrong Circumftances, and he was in the like fomething of the Fact upon their own Knowledge,

manner acquitted. In the Cafe of the Earl of find a Verdict upon their Oaths. But I need not

Pembroke, 1677, for Blafphemy and Abufe of the fay, that even in a Trial by Jury, if it is a Cafe

Sacrament, your Lordfhips Predeceffors declared, of High-Treafon, like this now before your Lord-

That the fingle Teftimony of a Commoner, tho' fhips, there muft be two Witneffes, and nothing

on Oath, was no fufficient Evidence againft a lefs can warrant the Verdict. And furely, my
Peer denying the Fact upon his Honour •, and Lords, it is a Practice founded on Reafon ; not

upon that addrefs'd his Majefty that he might be becaufe this or that Law, or this or that Court

releafed from his Imprifonment. requires it, but becaufe it is abfolutely neceifary

And, as I humbly apprehend, your Lordfhips for the Difcovery of Truth, and for the forming

have thought fit to admit fome of the Regulations of a right Judgment, whether what is fwore be

of that Act into your Proceedings, fuch of them true or falfe. One Witnefs may miftake, or be

(as I before faid) as are agreeable and confiftent perjured, and yet happen to be confident with

with the Nature ofyour Proceedings. Your Lord- himfelf; but when there are two feparately exa-

fhips have been pleafed to allow Counfel to a Pri- mined, the Truth is much more eafily found out:

foner in Treafon, to fpeak to Matters of Fact as And tho' a Criminal may now and then efcape for

well as Law : You allow a Copy of the Charge want of fuch a Proof, yet that would be a far

againft him ; you require the Witnefs for him to lefs Evil, than to truft fo much, in Cafes fo Pe-

be upon Oath, as well as againft him ; neither nal, to Circumftances and Prefumption, and to

will your Lordfhips admit Evidence of a Fact not the Malice and Miftakes of one Perfon.

in the Charge. And furely (my Lords) there is But if, notwithflanding the Opinion of the

as much Reafon, and as much Equity to require greateft Lawyers both Englijh and Foreign, your

(as that Statute requires in the Courts below) the own uniform Ufage and Refolution, and the Rea-

Teftimony of two lawful and fufficient Wit- fon of the Thing itfelf, your Lordfhips are re-

neffes. Nay, my Lords, I hope the Reafon is folved, in this one Inftance, to follow every one

much ftronger, becaufe (altho' your Lordfhips his own private and particular Confcience •, let

fhould confider your felves as unreftrained by the every one hearken to that ftill Voice within him
Stat. 7 Will. )

yet it is pofitively requir'd by both with an honeft Attention, unto thofe fecret Whif-
the Statutes of Ed. 6. which are general and with- perings, with Temper and Moderation. Let no
out Exception, (as I before obferv'd) and becaufe Man be fway'd by Hopes, over-rul'd by Fears,

it is agreeable to the Ufage of Parliament (as I or tranfported by Zeal beyond the Bounds of

have likewife fhewn) from that Time even down Juftice, and through this Reverend Prelate's Side

to the Stat. 7 Will. And if your Lordfhips are not give a Wound to himfelf or Pofterity, which

enlarged by the Statute of King William, and the may never be cured. Confider, my Lords, if

Statutes ofEdw. 6, are ftill Laws, give me leave not for his, yet for your own Sakes, the Circum-

(my Lords) to fay, it can never be juft or lawful fiances, the Probabilities, and Evidence on both

to take away any Man's Life or Liberty on lefs Sides, with an tinbiafs'd Confcience, and by the

Evidence than what thofe Statutes require, in any Meafuresof Lav/ and Juftice. For tho' fome Pro-

Place, or by any Method whatfoever. Becaufe I ceedings may feem convenient to certain Times
am taught by Cafuifts, that every juft Law is a and Occafions, yet unlefs they agree with the

Rule of Confcience, whether divine or human ; Law, with Reafon, and with Juftice, no Man
and no Man can fay, his Confcience is void of ought to think he has any Power to confent.

Offence towards God or Man, unlefs he acts ac- There is a noble Inftance on Record of the

cording to the Laws of the one Sort, as well as Lord Digby, and worthy of every one's Imitation,

of the other. He had been, my Lords, one of the moft violent

And if your Lordfhips will give me leave to Managers in the Impeachment of the Lord Straf-

ftep once more out of the Verge of my own Pro- ford ; and yet when that Proceeding was waved,

feffion, I will mention a Word out of the Civil and a Bill of Attainder brought in, he fpoke as

Law conformable to this: That is a Law (my violently againft it : Tho' he was ftill ofOpi-
Lords) in fome Degree receiv'd by all Nations, nion (he faid) that that Lord was the fame dange-

as a Scheme of the greateft Equity and Juftice. rous Minifter, and great Apoltate to the Com-

a Dig. 22. 5, 12. Cod. 4- 20 9.

Vol. VI. X x x monweakh,
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monwealth, who muft not expect to be pardoned

in this World till he was difpatched to another;

yet he had rather lofe his Hand than put it to

that Difpatch. He put them in mind of the Dif-

ference between Profecutors and Judges, and how
unbecoming that Fervor was in them, now they

were Judges, which perhaps might be commen-
dable in them as Profecutors: That when he gave

his Confent to the Accufation, he was afiured, his

Crimes would have been fully and legally proved,

which if they had, he cou'd have condemn'd him

with Innocency, as he had profecuted him with

Earneftnefs ; but as the Cafe then appear'd, no

Man could fattsfy his Confcience in the doing of

it. The Parliament, 'tis true, had a Judicial and

a Legiflative Capacity ; the Meafure of the one

ought to be legally juft, the other political and

prudential : but thefe two Capacities were not to

be confounded in Judgment ; they were not to

piece up (fays he) the Want of Legality by Mat-

ters of Convenience, to the Ruin of a Man, by a

Law made ex pofteriori.

What can I fay more ? For it muft appear to

your Lordfhips by this Time, that this Proceed-

in 0- is contrary to the fundamental Laws of the

Kingdom, contrary to Publick Wifdom, and un-

juft in itfelf : That the Reafons and Suggeftions

upon which it is grounded have not been proved

with any Colour of legal Evidence, or with any

Degree of Proof or Probability, which ought to

fatisfy the Confcience of an honeft, reafonable

Man. But if the Matters, which T have humbly

laid before your Lordfhips, have not all the

Weight, which I hope they have; or if I have

omitted any thing that is material or neceffary for

this Reverend Prelate's Defence, Your Lordfhips,

I hope, as Judge*, and (confequently in fome

meafure of Counfel for the Prifoner) will, from

your own Obfervation, fupply it. Or if I have

laid them before your Lordfhips in an improper

Light, oralefs effectual manner than others might

have done ; yet the Cafe itfelf will fpeak better

and more ftrongly than any Words or Expreffions

of mine can do. It is the Caufe, the Fortune,

'and the Liberty of a moft Reverend and Learned

Prelate, who is to be ftrip'd and torn from thofe

Dignities and Preferments which his own high

Merits juftly call'd him to, and which he has ever

fince adorned with the greateft Luftre. Upon
what (lender and inefficient Grounds, Your Lord-

fhips have already heard , and I was going to fay,

without Precedent : but I muft own there have

been Inftances of Deprivation, fome in the Begin-

ning of Queen Elizabeth's Reign, and fome others

fince the Revolution. But yet they were upon a

general Law, then in being, and an Incapacity

voluntarily incurr'd by thofe Prelates, after the full

Knowledge and Publication of thofe Laws, by

refufing to give that Security to the Government,
which at thofe Times was abfolutely necefiary.

And tho' they were peremptory in the laft

Degree, and their Example might have produced

worfe Confequences than it did -, yet their Pu-

nishment went no further. But this is a particu-

lar Law, to be introduced for this particu-

lar Prelate, fubfequent to the fuppofed Offence,

and which is not thought fit to be enacted as a

Law for any other Perfon hereafter ; and I wifh,

my Lords, I could fay, this Act went no further.

But this Reverend Prelate is likewife to be de-

prived, not of his Life indeed, but of all the

Conveniences and Comforts of it, of the Com-
merce of his Friends and Relations, and of all

that is valuable to an Englijhman. He is to be
doom'd to the Curfe of Cain, and to be turn'd out
of his native Country, full of Age and Infirmities,

to the Cruelty of Strangers and Foreigners, and
even beyond the reach of his Majerty's moft ex-

tenfive Goodnefs.

But if your Lordfhips mould pafs this Bill, he
will ftill have, I doubt not, the Peace of his own
Mind, and this comfortable Reflection, which no
Man can take from him ; That he fhares the Fate

of the greateft and moft honeft Statefman of the laft

Century : tho' in this Inftance alfo 'tis his Lord-
fhip's Misfortune to be very much diftinguifh'd.

For he, tho' innocent, was afraid of the Violence

of the Times, and withdrew from Profecution.

But thisReverend Prelate has been all along forth-

coming, and, as it were, fearful of nothing, and
confcious of nothing but his own Innocence, has

fought in all Places to be brought to Trial. That
noble Lord's Crimes (or at leaft his Accufation)

were going to be proved in a proper Parliamentary

Manner by Numbers of Perfons : But this Reve-
rend Prelate is to be involved by Implications,

Inferences, Conftructions, and the Conjectures

of Decypherers, in Crimes, which he is here

ready to deny, and of which no Man accufes

him.

I would not be underftood, my Lords, by any
Thing I have offered in relation to the particular

Penalties, as if I thought any one Suggeftion of

the Bill had been duly proved, fo as to deferve

this or that Part of the Penalties ; tho* I muft fay,

they are all fo extraordinary in their Nature, as

to deferve your Lordfhips Attention. And I

doubt not, but your Lordfhips in your Goodnefs

will confider what is already pafFed, the Length
and Clofenefs of the Imprifonment, which this

Reverend Prelate has already fuffer'd as a fuppofed

Criminal. Prifons before Conviction are only for

the fife Cuftody of a Man, and not for Punifh-

ment ; but his Imprifonment has not been fo :

which (ifmy Inftructions are true) has been attend-

ed with fuch unheard of Barbarities, and fuch dif-

tinguifhing Severities, as are a Shame and Re-

proach to every civiliz'd Nation. The Cafe of

Colledge every one has thought hard and barbarous

;

but 'tis this Reverend Prelate's Misfortune to be

diftinguifh'd in this alfo, as well as in every thing

elfe : For that Cafe was before the Law allowed

Counfel orSollicitors to affifta Prifoner in his De-

fence, but now they are allowed by Law, and

were actually and duly afligned to my Lord Bi-

fhop ; and yet part of his Defence, and part of

his Evidence torn and taken from him. So

that, all thefe Things confidered, his Lordfhip

cannot efcape without being a very great Suf-

ferer, tho' your Lordfhips ihould utterly reject

this Bill.

Your Lordfhips will alfo confider the Infirmi-

ties of Body, under which that great and noble

Mind even now labours before you ; which have

render'd him almoft uncapable of attending his

Defence. Your Lordfhips will alfo confider the

Grief and Vexation it muft be to appear as a Cri-

minal before this Honourable Houfe, where he

has fo long fat as a Judge, and under the Sufpi-

cion of thofe Crimes which are laid to his Charge ;

and how grievous it is for one of his Lordfhip's

Character and Function, to be tax'd with Breaches

of
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of his Duty to God and Man, of Scandal to

Religion, of Defigns of overthrowing Church and

State° in favour of Popery ; who happens to be

the only Clergyman in England, that ever thought

it worth his while to draw his Pen in Defence of

Martin Luther, the great Inftrument of our Refor-

mation from Popery ; and who has, upon all other

Occafions, appear'd the moft ftrenuous Affertor of

it. I mi^ht add much more of his Lordfhip's

perfonal Merits, and of thofe high Abilities fo

eminently confpicuous in him ; but that I know
it is fome kind of Violence to his Lordfhip to hear

even thus much mention'd.

Yet fuffer me to fay, That if thefe Suggeftions

fhould be carried into a Law, without any De-

gree of Evidence or Probability, but rather (as

your Lordfhips will immediately hear) againft the

ftrongeft Evidence and Probabilities that are poffi-

ble of the contrary : I fay, if this Bill fhould pafs

on fuch Circumftances, whatever the prefent Age
may think, his Cafe will be a {landing Mark of

Reproach to it, and he will be the Wonder and

the Pity of all fucceeding Generations.

I mall add to your Lordihips Trouble but one

Word more, in Behalf of myfelf : That your

Lordihips will pardon any Warmth of Temper,

any unguarded Word or Expreffion that I may
have been guilty of in the Courfe of this long

Defence, in a Cafe, which every Englifhman natu-

rally confiders as his own, and therefore will, in

fome meafure, warm the moft even Temper. And
that this Learned (and whom I will now call Inno-

cent) Prelate, will accept thofe little Services I

have been able to perform, and will pardon the

many Failings, which I may already have been

guilty of, in his necefiary and moft juft Defence.

After the Bifhop's Counfel had done fpeaking,

the Bifhop produc'd feveral Witneffes to be exa-

min'd, and on Saturday, May n. Sir Conjlantine

Phipps made a fhort Recapitulation of the Evi-

dence, as follows.

My Lords,

WE have done with our Evidence •, and hope

we have fully anfwer'd every Part of the

Charge contain'd in the Bill, and apprehend there

is no one Circumftance left unanfwer'd. Parti-

cularly, that we have totally deftroy'd the Credit

of Neynoe's Hearfay Evidence : For when the Im-

probabilities, Inconfiflencies, and Contradictions of

his Examinations are confider'd, and the Tefii-

mony of the Witneffes is duly weighed; no Perfon

can give the leaft Credit to what He hath faid,

without offering the greateft Violence imaginable

to his Reafon.

And it is wonderful, that the Counfel for the

Bill fhould infift he fhould be credited in any

Thing : When we have proved, he had the Con-
fidence to declare, that a Right Honourable Perfon

had endeavour'd to perfuade Him to accufe Perfons

of Quality of Things Pie knew nothing of.

Hath he not faid that, when he was to be exa-

min'd, That Right Honourable Perfon had him firft

in private, and told W\vn, what Shieftions would be

afk'd Him, and what Anfwers He fhould give ?

Did he not fay, that the very fame Gentleman
gave Him five Queflions or Enquiries, and told

Him what he fhould reply to each of them ? Hath
He not faid, that refufing to give Evidence, He
was ihreatned v/ith Newgate ; and that thereupon

He gave Them Informations againft my Lord Bifhop

and Others? Nay, had He not the Impudence to

fay, that the fame Right Honourable Perfon offer'd

Him 2000 /. 500 /. per annum, and a Place, to ac-

cufe the protejling Lords, the Earl of Orrery, and
this Reverend Prelate ? And that being afk'd whe-
ther He knew any Thing of the Plot, He fwore No,
nor Any body elie : But that he knew of two other

Plots, viz. One of Mr. Walpole againft the Protefi-

ing Lords, the Other of Hmfelfu^on Mr. Walpole,

to get 2000/. of Him. Nay, it is provedHe de-

clared that the fame Gentleman prefs'd Mim/o hard
to accufe fome Perfons, that He had it once in his

Mind to take up That Right Honourable Perfo?i's

Sword, and run him thro' with it ; and fo make an
End of the Plot.

Thefe are things which have been proved upon
Neynoe : And all thefe Things being confider'd, I

believe the Counfel for the Bill will readily agree

with me, that no Credit ought to be given to one
Word He has faid: And if His Evidence be laid

afide, the greateft Part of the Charge againft my
Lord Bifhop falls to the Ground.

My Lords, The Evidence Mr. Lewis gave was
very material. For he fhew'd your Lordihips,

that Brockett, who was of the Poll- Office, was fa

fkilful in counterfeiting Hands and Seals, that he
wrote the Superfcription of a Letter, and took the

Impreffion of a Seal, and feal'd it again ; and did

it fo well, and gave it fuch a Luftre, that Mr.
Lewis could not diftinguifh it from the Original.

The Engravers likewife faid, they could take

off the Impreffions of Seals fo well, that they

could not be diftinguifh'd: Nay, tho' the Wax
were broken, yet if no Part of the Wax were loft,

it might be done.

Your Lordihips obferve how the Engravers
themfelves were miftaken in relation to fome Im-
preffions, which were produced to them : And
You farther obferve, that the Seal in queftion

was a Cicero's Head, which all the Engravers

agree to be a very common one ; and they had ma-
ny of them : So that no Objection can be made
againft my Lord on account of That Seal. Nay,
one of the Engravers faid, it appear'd to him
that the Seals of the two Letters were not thefame.

As to the Dog, there is Mr. Crawford's Certifi-

cate, and Birmingham's Affidavit.

As to Mrs. Barnes's Evidence, fhe hath found

out now, That there were Two Dogs, tho* nobody

elfe ever heard of Tv/o. She faid, the firft was

for the Bifhop of Rochefter. Now it is plain, the

Firft was fent in March ; and it was His Leg that

was broken : And Birmingham fwears, and Mr.
Kelly folemnly affirms, that it was for Mrs. Barnes,

and not for the Bifhop.

As to the Three Letters of the 20th of April,

we have proved it impoffible that the Bifhop

fhould write, or dictate, thofe Letters to Mr.

Kelly. And your Lordihips take Notice, how
the Butler came to obferve thefe Letters could

not be written by the Bifhop •, and the Servants,

tho' under Confinement, and not permitted to

fee any Body, agree in their Evidence. There is

Gordon's Affidavit that he never had fuch a Pac-

quet : And James Talbot was here in Town the

29th of April.

Thus, your Lordihips obferve that a Bill of

the moft extraordinary Nature that ever was/w/,

hath been fupported by the moft extraordinary E-

vidence, that ever was heard : And we hope, we

have fet the dark Pajfages, of which the Charge is

compounded, in fuch a Light, that every One
may
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may plainly fee the Right Reverend Prelate is

not guilty of any One Offence charged againft him.

Mr. Wynne fpoke next.

My Lords',

I
Shall beg your Patience to clofe our Defence

with an Obfervation or two on the Evidence

that has been given by my Lord Bifhop : and I

need take up the lefs of your Lordfhips Time, be-

caufe our WitnefTes have fully anfwered all I open-

ed, and in many Things have exceeded my In-

ftructions.

And for your Lordfhips clearer Apprehenfion

of fo many various and perplex'd Facts, I fhall

juft recapitulate what I humbly conceive to have

been theSubftance of the Charge againft my Lord

Bifhop, and, as briefly as I can, ftate the Evi-

dence, which we have produced in order to falfify

and difprove it.

The firft and chief Accufation againft his Lord-

fhip, was founded on the Informations of Philip

Neynoe, and therefore the firft Part of our Proof

was as to his Credit. Your Lordfhips, I doubt

not, remember the Purport of his Information

read againft us, and the many grofs Abfurdities

and Inconfiftencies in his other Information read

by us ; and likewife how fully they have been

all difproved, and the Credit of them entirely

blafted, even from Neynoe's own Confeffion, feve-

ral Times repeated, and confirmed by three unex-
ceptionable Witneffes.

Your Lordlhips have fully heard of the Ter-
rors and Apprehenfions he was continually un-
der; becaufe (as he himfelf exprefs'd it) he had
given falfe Informations againft this Reverend
Prelate, and fo many other innocent Perfons.

Your Lordfhips have heard the Inducements he
had to give thofe Informations, and how often

he had declared his Intentions to efcape, in order
to avoid the Punifhment which he apprehended
moft juftly due to him, becaufe he could not make
out the Truth of them.

Two of thofe Witneffes (Bingley and Skeen)a.re

ftill in Cuftody, and deftitute almoft of all the

Neceffaries of Life : I fay, my Lords, they are

ftill in clofe and ftrict Cuftody, and confequently
there could have been no Opportunity to lead or
inftruct them in what they fhould fay, orfo much
as to be apprized before-hand (which furely would
have been a reafonable Liberty) whether they
could fay any thing material or not ; and we
are only beholden to thofe lights, which the Re-
port of that Honourable Committee has afforded
us

: And all three of thefe Witneffes utterly un-
known to my Lord Bifhop, both in Perfon and
Reputation, as well as hisLordfhip is unknown to
them. They have notconverfed together for feve-
ral Months, but yet are perfectly confiftent with
themfelves, and entirely fupported and confirmed
by each other. And all three declare, they had
very early told, and frequently repeated this Ac-
count of Neynoe to their Fellow-Prifoners and Ac-
quaintance, as long as they were permitted to
have Accefs to them. Mr. Skeene being afk'd in

relation to the Difcourfe between him and Cap-
tain Pander, as in the printed Depofition of Pan-
der, /1pp. D. 1. has denied on his Oath every
Word of it. He fays indeed, that Captain Pan-
der us'd all his E'-ndeavours by Treats and Enter-
tainments to induce him to fupport this Informa-

tions •, but that he never gave him, nor could give

him Grounds to fay any fuch Thing of him.

We have fhewn your Lordfhips, that Mr. Stew-

art in particular was fo far from patching up, or

contriving Evidence (as was objected to him by
the Counfel for the Bill) after he had feen the

Report and Appendix, that he had given this

whole Account to feveral Perfons long before.

For he fays, the Things which Neynoe told him
were fo furprizing, that he could not ftifle them,

in his own Breaft. Tho' your Lordfhips, I doubt

not, obferved with what Difficulty and Modefty
he was brought to fpeak out in this publick Man-
ner, where his Evidence feem'd to reflect on a

great and Honourable Perfon.

Two of thefe Perfons have likewife been pro-

duced to your Lordfhips. To one of whom (Mr.
Gordon) he told thefe Matters fome Days even

before Nynoe's Death ; and to Mr. Kynajlon fome
considerable Time before the Meeting of the

Parliament: and we could have called others to

the fame purpofe, but that we were unwilling to

give your Lordfhips further Trouble in a Matter
which already had, as we thought, the fulleft,

the moft fatisfactory, and confiftent Evidence

that could be.

The fecond Head of Accufation againft this

Reverend Prelate, was upon Account of the three

Letters of the 20th of April. The two firft wc
before obferved to your Lordfhips not to be cri-

minal, if really defigned for and addreffed to the

Perfons fuppofed. The third we have likewife

fhewn by various Circumftances and Reafonings,

could not poffibly be addreffed to the Pretender,

whoever wrote it, or whomfoever elfe it might be

wrote to.

And the Evidence offer'd to prove them to have

been dictated or wrote by my Lord Bifhop, was
firft by the Subfcription of the common Name of

Jones, which they would have to denote his Lord-
fhip. As to this, I doubt nor, your Lordfhips

remember, that even in the Cyphers and Letters

that have been read, the Name of Jones is mani-

feftly applied (as the Committee themfelves have

obferv'dj to many different Perfons ; fometimes to

one, and fometimes to another, as the Circum-

ftances there mentioned feem'd to give Occafion j

but cannot once in any Place, with Reafon or Juf-

tice be applied to my Lord Bifhop.

The next Proof that has been offer'd to your

Lordfhips, to prove thefe Letters to have Been

dictated or wrote by the Bifhop's Privity, is,

from the ill State of Health, the Death of his La-
dy, and the Prefent of a Dog; Circumftances,

which they fay, are applicable to the Bifhop, and

to him only.

That his Lordfhip did not, nor could poffibly

write or dictate thefe three Letters, we have laid

before your Lordfhips fuch a Proof, as the like

hardly ever was before : and 'tis impoffible, in

my humble Apprehenfion, for a Negative to be

more fully proved in any Cafe. Your Lordfhips

have heard the great Weaknefs and Inability of

this Reverend Prelate at that very Time for all

manner of Bufinefs and Converfation. No lefs

than fix, if not feven of his Servants, have fpoken

fully and pofitively to it, That his Lordfhip was

not able, without their Help, to ftir, turn in his

Bed, or even to perform the common and ordina-

ry Offices of Lite. Onewould think, my Lords,

fuch melancholy Circumftances, in themfelves,

fufficient to guard any Man from Sufpicion.

But
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But the Witneffes have gone much further; for

they have told your Lordfhips, that no Stranger

approached the Bifhop's Room all that Time ;

nor had any one been for a confiderale Time
before and after the 20th of April under his Roof.

Even fome of thofe Perfons that ufually were

with my Lord Bifhop at other times (as his

Son, his Chaplain, and his Son's Tutor) hap-

pened then all to be abfent at the Election of

Weftminfter School.

One of thofe Servants, who happens to be a

Prifoner with his Lordfhip in the Tower, being

afked, whether my Lord Bilhop had not put him

in mind of thefe Circumftances, told your Lord-

fhips, that it was entirely his own Recollection,

by cafually taking up the Report, after my Lord

Biihop was gone to Bed, and dipping on that

Part of it, in which his Lordfhip is charged with

having writ thefe three Letters. Upon which,

the next Day (he faid) talking to his Fellow- Ser-

vant, and he agreeing to the very fame Circum-

ftances, they acquainted the Bilhop with what

they had read, and how they could, from their

own Knowledge and Remembrance, falfify and

difprove that Circumftance.

I muft likewife crave leave to obferve to your

Lordlhips, that four or five of thefe Servants, that

have fpoke to thefe particular Facts and Times,

are ftill in Cuftody, under feparate Mefiengers,

without any Opportunity to converfe together,

and were hardly to be found by my Lord Bilhop,

when he had need of their Evidence ; and yet

every one of them have been perfectly confident

with themfelves, and one with the other, and all

equally pofitive.

The Bifhop's Coachman, your Lordlhips, I

doubt not, remember, tho' now under another

Influence, and called as Witnefs againft his Maf-

ter, confirmed what they faid, and was as pofi-

tive and peremptory in his Teftimony concerning

this Matter, as far as the Nature of his Employ-

ment gave him an Opportunity to make fuch Ob-
servations. And upon the whole, I may now,

with more Reafon, and with greater Confidence,

repeat my former AfTertion, that it is impofiible

for them even to devife or frame any Scheme to

prove his Lordfhip to have wrote, or dictated thefe

three Letters, but what will be actually difproved

and falfified by fome Part of the Evidence.

Another Reafon, by which 'tis proved that his

Lordfhip wrote thefe three Letters, was, from

the Subfcription of the Number 1378, to the Let-

ter addreflfed to Jackfon. Which Number Mr.
Willes (a Decypherer) fays, denotes the proper

Name or Title of a Perfon beginning with the

Letter R. The little Time we have had to en-

quire into this AfTertion, and your Lordfhips not

permitting fome Queftions, put by us to the De-

cypherer, to be anfwered, won't enable us flatly

to difprove it. But with SubmifTion to your

Lordlhips, it feems impofiible to affirm even"

thus much, with any degree of Certainty, and

it muft be (as I before obferved to your Lord-
fhips) Matter of Conjecture only ; and it appears

manifeftly to your Lordfhips, by feveral PafTages

occurring up and down in this Correfpondence,

not yet decyphered, that either the Art is not fo

infallible, or that Mr. Willes is not fo great an

Artift as he pretends to be.

But, my Lords, admitting fuch a Number in

this Cypher does really denote a Perfon's Name,
or Title, beginning with the Letter R. what a
ftrange and uncertain Proof is that, to fix a
Charge of High-T reafon on the Bifhop, when
there are other Perfons Names, and Titles, found
like his, and many others which begin with the
very fame Letter ; and this not to be admitted
as Evidence in a minute or inconfiderable Cir-
cumftance, but in the very Gift of the fuppofed
Offence, in the principal Foundation of the
Charge, in the only Letter that is criminal, and
which is to magnify and improve the reft into
High-Treafon ?

Another way of proving thefe Letters to have
been dictated by the Bifhop, was, becaufe ano-
ther, fuppofed to be an Anfwer to this, mentions
the Prefent of a Dog. I need not here repeat what
Mr. Kelly himfelf has conftantly faid in his Exami-
nation, becaufe your Lordfhips, I doubt not, re-

member what Mrs. Barnes faid ; that Mr. Kelly

indeed fometimes told her of another Dog that

was for the Bifhop, but that Hie always appre-
hended that Dog, which fhe had in her Pofleflion,.

was defigned for her, and never heard of any
other Dog that did come from France : She owns,
that fhe never received any one MefTage from the

Bifhop about it, but ftill kept it, when it was
recovered, as her own, as long as it lived ; and
tho' his Lordfhip never had, nor loved a Dog in

his Life, yet it would have been natural, and good
Manners to the Perfon that fent it, especially if

fo confiderable a Perfon as is fuppofed, to have
made now and then fome little Enquiry about it,

if my Lord Bifhop had really known any thing

of the Dog.
But we have fhewn your Lordfhips by the fo-

lemn Atteftation of Mr. Birmingham, the French

Surgeon, that he was the Perfon who gave this

Dog (in March 22.) to Mr. Kelly, for Madam
Barnes, of whom he had received Civilities in,

London, and for no other Perfon, nor with any
other Intent. He likewife fays, that he never re-

ceived any fuch thing as a Dog, or MefTage from
Lord Marr, (as alledged in the Report) never had

any the leaft Thought of the Bifhop of Rocbejler*

or his Lady, much lefs of making either the one

or the other (to both of which he was utterly un-

known) any fuch Prefent.

Your Lordfhips obferve this to have been a

folemn notarial Act upon Oath, of a Perfon not

only reputed, but attefted likewife by the Lord
of the Seigneury, to have been a legal Notary,

and to have exercis'd his Office as fuch for fome
time. That the Teftimony of fuch a Perfon be-

yond Sea is a good and unexceptionable Proof in.

every Cafe, I need not fay -, or that it has beea

often allow'd here, where no other is to be had,

nor any other * Method to have the Benefit of

a Man's Teftimony that is beyond Sea. And
our: Witnefs has told your Lordfhips that he has

frequently tranflated fuch Inftruments: That he

believes it to be the Notary's Hand-Writing, and

the publick Seal of his Office. I need not, my
Lords, have faid thus much ; for in all Events it

muft furely have been of more Weight in your

Lordfhips Judgments, than the Extract of ant

Information given by a Perfon, infamous in his

Character, abfurd and inconfiftent in all he faid,

and without being figned or fworn to* even, by

that Perfon.

*2

Vol. VI.

Rolls R«/>. 346. Lnw tf EviJ. 3.

Yyy But
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But yet this Affidavit of Mr. Birmingham has Gordon Junior, the Son, Banker at Boulogne, that

the more Credit, becaufe his Majefty's own Re- no fuch Packet of Letters ever came to his Hands,

fident at Paris (Mr. Crawford) has been pleas'd as mentioned by the Counfel for the Bill ; and

to examine him about this Matter, (being em- confequently he could not deliver any fuch to

ploy'd by him in his Profeffion as a Surgeon) and Talbot, (who, they fay, called for them at Boulogne.)

he has confirm'd the fame Account to him, which He farther depofcs, That he never had any Bufi-

has been likewife tranfmitted, and read to your nefs or Intercourfe with Kelly, orjohnfon, nor ever

Lordfhips. nad acquaintance with any Perfon fo called, in his

Another way of proving my Lord Bifhop to whole Life,

have been concerned in thefe Letters, was from And we have proved to your Lordfhips, that

the Hand-writing, which is fuppos'd to have been James Talbot, the tall black Man, b defcribed in

Kelly's, and he is fuppofed to have been his Lord- the Letter printed in the Appendix, and who is

fhip's Secretary in thefe Matters. But both thefe fuppofed to have been the Perfon that called upon

Allegations, we think, with Submiffion to your Alexander Gordon at Boulogne for this Packet, was

Lordfhips, are ftill utterly deftitute of any proper fo far from doing it, at the Time fuppofed, that

or fatisfactory Proof. he was at London that very Day, as appears by

I before obferv*d to your Lordfhips, that the the unexceptionable Teftimony of Edward Crcf-

firfl time the Clerks of the Poft-Office have made ton, his Shoemaker, and by the Entries of his

any Depofition about the Similitude of the Hand- Shop-book, to whom he accidentally paid a Bill

writing, was four and eight Months after they upon that very Day, at his Houfe in London.

had feen the Original Letters; which is a litt/e We have likewife fhewn your Lordfhips by two

of the lateft fo exactly to remember all the little WitnefTes, Mrs. Kilborn, and her Maid Anne Ellis ,

Strokes and Turnings of a Pen, by which the that Mr. Kelly was at her Houfe in London, on the

Identy or Diverfityof a Hand can only be made 20th of April, (the very Day upon which my
out. That Malone, the Footman of Mrs. Barnes, Lord Bifhop is fuppofed to have dictated thefe

was never called upon for his Teftimony till Letters to him) and by a great Variety of Evi-

January laft, that is, nine Months after he had dence, impofllble to efcape any one's Memory,
feen any of Kelly's Writing, and confequently not that my Lord Bifhop was ill in Bed, at Bromley in

then very able (if ever he was) to form a Judg- Kent: and Quod non datur attio in diftans, is an

ment of it. Axiom of Reafon as well as of Phiiofophy.

I have already obferved to your Lordfhips, And I muft humbly fubmit it to your Lord-
that this was the firft, and the only Inftance, fhips, that it has not yet, in the leaft, appeared

that any Evidence of the Similitude of Hands by any Shadow of Evidence, that Mr. Kelly ever

was ever admitted, but where the Papers pretend- was employed by my Lord Bifhop to carry on a
ed to be in the fame Hand were produced and Correfpondence >, that he wrote any one Letter

compared in Court -, which h fo far from being for the Bifhop, upon that, or upon any other Oc-
the prefent Cafe,. that the Clerks of the Poft- cafion whatfoever.

Office never had any Opportunity of comparing That Pafiage in the Letter to Wejlon, that

the Original of the 20th of Auguft, with any one feems to give countenance to fuch a Suppofition,

of the three Originals of the 20th of April, or the learned Counfel for the Bill told us yefterday

with any one of the intermediate Letters which they had waved, and were angry that we fhould

they affirm to have been in the fame Hand : fo offer to difprove that which they had not proved,

that they are made the abfolute and ultimate But, with Submiffion to your Lordfhips, tho' they

Judges of this Matter, without any Poffibility have been pleafed to wave that Part of the Charge
on our Side of detecting any cafual or wilful againft my Lord Bifhop, yet, as it makes no fmall

Miftake. or inconfiderable Appearance in the Report of
And I would not again repeat an Obfervation that Honourable Houfe, and will be fo hand-

I have before made to your Lordfhips, that a ed down to Pofterity ; we thought it proper to

great part of thefe Letters are in Figures, and give an Anfwer to it ; and, we hope, it has been

how much more difficult it is to diftinguifh the to your Lordfhips Satisfaction and ftill in your
Hand of one writing in Figures, from Words and Memory.
Syllables in length -, becaufe we have fhewn your The next thing was the Letter to Dubois ; and
Lordfhips, by three pofitive WitnefTes (well ac- I confefs myfelf at fome lofs to know for what
quainted with Mr. Kelly's Writing, one of them purpofe that was read in Evidence to your Lord-
above 20 Years, and his School-fellow) that the fhips ; for the Counfel for the Bill have not, as

only original Letter of the 20th of Auguft, ftop'd yet, made any particular and direct Ufe or Appli-
at the Poft-Office, as a Sample to the reft, (and cation of that piece of Evidence, and therefore I

which is the only Foundation upon which thofe ffiall fubmit it to your Lordfhips upon the Obfer-
Clerks have affirmed thefe three Letters to have vations I before made on it.

been Kelly's Writing) really and in fact, was not There was indeed fome ofyour Lordfhips Time
his, nor like it. This, my Lords, we have fully fpent in comparing the Seal of that Letter, with
proved by three WitnefTes ; and as a Demonftra- that which happen'd to be taken on my Lord Bi-

tion of what they faid, they fhew'd your'Lord- fhop's Servant at the Tower : if it was intended as

fhips, among a Variety of Papers produced to any Proof, I cannot at prefent judge ; however,
them at your Bar, that they could at once dif- we thought it proper to follow them in theCourfe
tinguifh which was Kelly's Hand, which was any and Manner of their Proof, and your Lordfhips

thing like it, and which was not. yefterday have fully heard the Danger and Un-
We have likewife produced to your Lordfhips, certainty of admitting fuch a Proof. Firft, you

the folemn Atteftation, on Oath, of a
Alexander have had fome Account from Mr. Erafmus Lewis

» Hep. tag. 42. 45. Append* E. 26. b Append. E. 26.

Of



1723. and others
$ for a Treafonable Confpiracy. 43

of the known Practice of one Brockett, who was

able to counterfeit any Man's Hand or Seal, in

fuch a manner that even the Perfon (whofe

Hand or Seal it was) fhould not be able to

diftinguifh it from his own.

Then we produced to your Lordfhips two Seal-

gravers, who fully attefted the fame thing. Mr.

Atkins faid, That he himfelf could make fuch an

Imprefilon, fo as not to bediftinguifh'd by an Ar-

tift, and give it the very fame Luftre. That he

could even take an Impreflion from a broken

Seal, and tho' there would at firft neceffarily be

fome little Flaw in it, yet he faid he could mend

it, and then make fuch an Imprefilon from it,

that even an Artift could not difcover it from the

Original.

Mr. John/on, another eminent Seal-graver,

likewife told your Lordfhips, that he could do

the fame thing : In particular, That he had once

fuch an Impreflion taken in Pafte by one Mr. Wi-

fembergh, and from that he made another Impref-

fion, To perfect and exact, that Mr. Wifembergh

himfelf could not diftinguifh one from the other

:

But as to the Seals of thefe two Letters, he doubt-

ed very much whether they were made by the

fame Seal or not ; and from fome little Strokes in

the Head, that were very vifible to any one, tho'

not fo eafy to be expreffed, he rather inclin'd to

believe, that they could not be made from one
and the fame Seal.

And when your Lordfhips were pleafed to en-

quire of them, How fuch a thing was practicable ?

They did not cover themfelves (as their Decyphe-
rer did) by faying, It would difcover the Secrets

of their Art, but frankly told your Lordfhips the

very Manner and Method of doing it.

Their own Seal-graver, Mr. Chriftian, owned,
That this might be done, altho' he had never done
it: And in the Experiment made on Mr. Raulus,

their other Seal-graver, he was once plainly in the

wrong, as well as once in the right. And it ma-
nifeftly appears from every one of their Teftimo-
nies, that this Pra&ice of taking Impreflions is ve-

ry eafy. And, as one of my Noble Lords in-

formed the Houfe, his Footman could do it as

well as any of them ; and, as your Lordfhips yes-

terday obferved, even to deceive Mr. Raulus
himfelf, who, they fay, is fo great an Artift.

And therefore, my Lords, it is a moft dangerous
fort of Proof, and too uncertain at the beft, to

receive any judicial Countenance in a criminal

Matter.

So that I muft humbly infift, that this Part of
the Charge againft my Lord Bifhop has not been
proved any better than the former; and that when
your Lordfhips do confider the Evidence that has
been given on the one Side as well as on the other,

as to this particular Charge, we hope you will be
ol Opinion, that there is no juft or reafonable

Ground to prefume, that thefe three Letters
were wrote by Mr. Kelly, and much lefs that they
were dictated by my Lord Bifhop.

The next general Charge againft this Reverend
Prelate, was, the receiving of two Letters from
abroad, in relation to this Confpiracy. The
Counfel indeed for the Bill have waved the Letter
figned'D/^)\ addrefs'd to Wefton, and (as I ap-
prehended from them laft Night) did not now
pretend to prove any Thing concerning the Bi-
fhop, under the Name of Weflon.

Neither have they as yet pretended to prove,
that the other Letter from Motfield to lllington

ever came to his Lordfhips Hands, or in whofe
Hand-writing it Was wrote ; tho' if it were the
Lord Marr's (as it is fuppofed) many of your
Lordfhips muft have been well acquainted with it.

Nor has it been yet faid, that my Lord Bifhop
ever returned any Anfwer to it.

And as we have now proved (and fully too, we
apprehend) the Letters of the 20th of April, to
which this is fuppofed to have been an Anfwer, to
be a mere Fiction, or Impofition upon the Bifhop •,

this, which is defigned as an Anfwer to it, muft
likewife fall to the Ground, as Part of the fame
Contrivance.

The next and Jaft general Charge arifes from
the Coincidencies of Times and Names in the in-

tercepted Correfpondence, the more readily to in-
duce your Lordfhips Belief, that my Lord Bifhop
was really meant by that Correfpondence.
Some of them I accounted for before, as Truths

publickly known, but turned by ignorant and ma-
licious Correfpondents to ill Purpofes, or elfe as
abfolute Falfuies, and manifeft Miftakes.

We have fhown your Lordfhips by various Rea-
fons, that the fictitious Names fuppofed to denote
my Lord Bifhop, cannot be applicable to him,
with any Colour, Truth, or Decency ; that there
is a great doubt to be made, whether many others
of thofe fictitious Names were really intended for

the Perfons fuppofed to be denoted by them : and
efpecially, that Jack/on, to whom the Letter of
the 20th of April is addreffed, we have proved by
various Arguments, and even from thofe Lights
the Committee have afforded us, could not pofii-

bly mean the Pretender, whomibever elfe it may
mean ; and confequently that that Letter (if ic

were wrote by Kelly, and dictated by the Bifhop)
cannot be High-Treafon.

And as to the Articles of Times, and the Ac-
counts of my Lord Bifhops coming and going, it

muft be owned, they are fometimes right, but as

often wrong.

There is no doubt, but the Correfpondents on
this Side the Water, whoever they were, whe-
ther out of Malice or Vanity, or out of any
other Inducement, appriz'd themfelves as well as

they could, of the Bifhop's Motions to and fro,

in order to give the better Colour or Probability

to what they faid of him. But yet it has happen'd,

unluckily to them, as your Lordfhips have heard,

that out of fix or feven Inftances occurring in

thefe Letters, two only are true ; two of them
may be doubted whether true or falfe, becaufe

ambiguoufiy expreffed ; but three of them are

grofs Miftakes, as appears even by the Accounts
of their own WitnefTes.

And the Miftakes are the more remarkable,

becaufe they all affirm the Bifhop to have been in

the Country, when he pofitively was not : whereas

it was ten to one, but that the mere Gueffes of a
Stranger, at that time of the Year, had been

true ; and the rather, becaufe his Lordfhip was
really in the Country ten Days to one that he was

in Town, all laft Summer.
There is another Thing remains for me yet

to fpeak to, and that is the Intimacy of my
Lord Bifhop with Mr. Kelly ; which was like-

wife thrown in to fwell the Number of Cir-

cumftances, and as another weighty Argument

to induce your Lordfhips belief of the foregoing

Matters.

Bur.
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But has any thing appeared to your Lordfhips that he was as often in the Houfe, us'd to wait at

like it, even upon their own Evidence ? Firft, a Table when Company was there •, and that let

Chairman is brought to tell your Lordfhips that him come which way he would, he fhould have

he carry'd Mr. Kelly to the Deanery three or feen him coming or going, or have heard of him
four Times about four Years ago, but the Bi- in the Family, if he was a Perfon that had fre-

fhop was not once at home. And a Porter fays, quented his Mailer's Houfe.

he carry'd two Letters from Kelly to the Bifhop ; Some of the other Servants likewife fpoke as

one of them about Chriftmas laft was Twelve- fully to thefe Circumftances.

month, and the other Letter fome time before We have likewife fhewn your Lordfhips by
that ; but received no Anfwer in Writing, nor Mr. Pope, who has been for thefe two or three laft

Meffage, but only his Service to Mr. Kelly. But Years, the moft conftant Companion of his Lord-

there is one extraordinary Circumftance, which fhip's Hours ; two or three Days, he fays, al-

fhews him, I confefs, to be a very willing Evi- mod in every Week, and an Hour or two almoft

dence, tho' not fo very likely and credible ; that in every of thofe Days: That his Lordfhip gene-

is, that this Porter, dirty as he muff, be in the rally fat in one Room, which I think was hi*

midft of Winter, deliver'd his Meffage to the Bed-Chamber; that he was admitted to him at

Bifhop in his Bed-Chamber. all Hours, and into all Companies, and never

And Malone, the Perfon that ufually attended found the Difcourfe change at his coming in:

Mr. Kelly, and went on his Errands, wasafked to That his Lordfhip never in the leaft difcover'd

the fame Purpofe •, and one might have expected anyThoughtsor Intentions like thofe now charged

that he fhould have given fome Account of it, upon him ; but had heard occafionally many
and had been often employed on Errands to and Things drop from the Bifhop, of a Tendency di-

from the Deanery : But I fubmit it to your Lord- redtly contrary. And to this we might have

fhips Memory whether he did not fay, that he called many others, if it were neceffary.

never was at the Deanery in his Life-time, nor We were likewife ready to lay before your

did know to this Day where it ftood. Lordfhips, feveral laborious and intricate Search'

Mrs. Kilhorn, with whom Mr. Kelly had lodged es, feveral Publick Buildings, and Controverfies

a confiderable Time, fays, fhe remembers a in Matters of Literature with different Perfons,

Meffage once came to Kelly from the Bifhop ; which my Lord Bifhop was engaged in laft Sum-
but pofitively denies that my Lord Bifhop's Coach mer; and would have been a full Employment
ever came to fetch Mr. Kelly at her Houfe, as that for fome Mens whole Lives: But your Lordfhips

Honourable Committee have been pleafed to af- did not think it neceffary ; being (as we hope)

firm in their Report. And I appeal to your fully fatisfied and convinced of my Lord Bifhop's

Lordfhips Memory, whether Mrs. Barnes, whom Innocency, by that Variety of Proof which we
the Counfel for the Bill think fo credible a Wit- had before made.

nefs in fome other refpe&s, and with whom it muff. There are, my Lords, fome other Obfervations

be confefs'd Kelly frequently lodged, was not equal- that might be made : but have been, I doubt not,

ly pofitive in this Matter, and that fhe did not already much better taken notice of by the

believe there could be any Friendfhip or Inter- learned Gentleman that fpoke before me : And
courfe between the Bifhop and Mr. Kelly without I think this is the Subftance and Purport of the

her knowing of it. Evidence that has been hitherto offer'd on both

Thus the fuppofed Intimacy and great Acquain- Sides,

tance between my Lord Bifhop and Mr. Kelly What the Iffue or Succefs of this long Hearing
ftand upon their own Evidence. And I befeech may be, I know not ; That is in your Lordfhips
your Lordfhips to confider, what fort or degree Pleafure only to determine ; to Acquit, or to

of Proof all this can poffibly amount to. But Condemn : But I hope you will fay, We find in

we have fhown your Lordfhips the direcl; con- him no Fault at all.

trary, by no lefs than ten Witneffes, Servants to The Proof which has been againft the Bifhop,

my Lord Bifhop, fome or other of which were (if it can deferve that Name) has neither been
always with him, whether he was in Town or fuch as is reafonable in itfelf, nor agreeable to

in the Country, and every one of them has lived the known Rules and Proceedings of Law ; but

with his Lordfhip above two Years ; and they chiefly by Probabilities, Circumftances, Conjec-

fay, as it were with one Voice, that they don't tures and Suppofkions: Whereas we have en-

remember any fuch Perfon or Name as Kelly or counter'd and difprov'd even them, by far greater

John/on coming to the Houfe ; as they muft have Probabilities, much ftronger Circumftances, and
remember'd him, they fay, if he had been fre- alfo by fuch Evidence, as would be convincing

quent in his Vifits or Meffages : and fome of and fufficient in any Court of Law or Equity
them fay, they ufually wrote down the Names of within the Kingdom.
thofe that did come -, and the Coachman in par- And, upon the whole, I hope I may venture
ticular, who has liv'd four Years with his Lord- to affirm, That there does not now remain the

fhip, and appears now as Evidence againft the leaft Sufpicion of the Charge brought againft the

Bifhop, and therefore cannot be fuppos'd partial Bifhop •, not even a Sufpicion of a Sufpicion of
to him in his Teftimony, is yet as pofitive and High-Treafon ; not one probable Probability,

peremptory, that he never faw Mr. Kelly, or or one prefumptive Preemption : I mean, That
Johnfon, at his Matter's Houfe, in all his Time, there is not now remaining before your Lord-
And being carry'd to the Tower by a Meffenger, fhips, the leaft Degree of Probability, or the
to fee if he could recollect his Face, then frankly very loweft fort of Prefumption that is known in

own'd, he had never feen his Face before. And Law : And therefore, fhall humbly conclude
being ask'd how he could pretend to know all with the fame Prayer Sir Conftantine Phipps has
Perfons that came to the Houfe, whofe Bufinefs made before me,That your Lordfhips will reject

was at the Stables ? He told your Lordfhips, this Bill.

Th«
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The Bifhop then fpoke in his own Defence, as

follows

:

My Lords,

IHave been under a very long and clofe Con-

finement, and have been treated with fuch

Severity, and fo great Indignity, as I believe no

Prifoner in the Tower, of my Age and Function,

and Rank, ever was. By which Means, what

Strength and Ufe of my Limbs I had, when I was

firft committed in Augufi Iaft, is now fo far de-

clined, that I am very unfit to make my Defence

againft a Bill of fuch an extraordinary Nature.

The great Weaknefs of Body and Mind under

which I labour, fuch Ufage, fuch Hardfhips, fuch

Infults, as I have undergone, might have broken

a more refolute Spirit and much ftronger Confti-

tution than falls to my Share.

Your Lordfhips were pleafed to permit me to

appear before the Houfe of Commons, if I

thought fit, left my Silence fhould be turned to

my Difadvantage ; as, in diet, the Counfel for the

Bill have done their utmoft towards it.

I fhould not have thought to decline any Occa-
fion of juftifying myfelf •, but I crave leave to

tell your Lordfhips fome Reafons why I did not

appear there, and make ufe of the Leave your
Lordfhips gave me.

After feven Months of clofe Imprifonment, I

was not a little furprized when I heard, that on
the nth of March, by the Lloufe of Commons,
it was thus refolved, ' That it appears to this

* Houfe, that Francis Lord Bifhop of Rochejler,

* was principally concerned in Forming, Di-
* reeling, and carrying on a deteftable Confpira-
* racy, &C.'

Upon duly weighing which Refolution, and
the Copy of the Bill, I found not any thing

charged in the Bill, but what was fully contain'd

and previoufly refolved in this Vote •, and there-

fore whatfoever fhould have been offered on my
behalf to that Houfe, would have been an exprefs

Contradiction to it. And what Hopes I could

have of Succefs in fuch an Attempt, I need not
fay : What they lent me was the Preamble of the

Bill only, which they could not alter, confident

with what they had refolved.

The Bill itfelf was to inflict Pains and Penal-

ties, which followed ; but there was no room to

object againft any cf thofe which they had not
then declared -, they have fince been added, and
fentuptoyour Lordfhips, in like manner, with-

out any Oath made, or any criminal Act proved
againft me by any living Witnefs. And is a Per-

fon thus fentenced below, to be deprived of all

his Preferments, and his very Function, and to be
a perpetual Exile, and to be render'd incapable of

any Office and Employment? To be one whom
no Man mult correfpond with by Letters, Mef-
fages, or otherwife? And, my Lords, one who
is a Bifhop of the Church of England, and a Lord
of Parliament ?

It is the firft Inftance wherein a Member of this

Houfe hath been fo treated and prejudged, and
(as I have once before faid to your Lordfhips) I

pray God it may be the laft, and that fuch Pre-

cedents in this Kingdom may not be multiplied in

After-Times.

My Counfel have amply done their Part, by
arguing the Points of Law, by explaining and
enforcing the Evidence, and fhewing the little

Colour, Appearance and Shadow ofProofs againft

Vol. VI.

me, (permit me to call them fo) by anfwering
what hath been offer'd againft me, 'and by fet-

tingout the Confequence which fuch a Bill, found-
ed and carry'd on in fuch a manner, and which
enacts fuch fevere Penalties, muft and will be at-

tended with.

Yet it becomes me to fay fomething for my
felf, left my Silence be conftrued Confcioufnels
of Guilt, or at leaft, an Unwillingnefs to enter
into Matters of fo dark and perplex'd, fo nice and
tender a Nature ; as if I was not able, or did not
care to clear and explain myfelf, and rather chofe
to leave it to the Management of others : I thank
God, lam under no fuch Reftraint, and can fpeak
to your Lordfhips on this Subject with great free-

dom and plainnefs.

But before I proceed, I beg leave that I may re-

prefent to your Lordfhips fome particular Hard-
fhips under which I have laboured. •

The firft is, reading Extracts of anonymous
Letters, without differing any other Parts of the

fame Letters, tho' relating to the fame Subject,

to be read. Another is, Excufing the

Decypherers from anfwering Queftions afl<ed by
me, and which I thought neceffary for my Defence,
left they fhould reveal their Art. • The next
is, not differing me to be anfwered by the Clerks
of the Pod-Office, led the Secrets of that Office

fhould be difcovered.—. Another was, not differing

a Perfon, who had been at leaft ten Years out or*

the Secretary's Office, to anfwer any Queftions,

which came to his Knowledge by being fome
Years in that Office.

Another is, reading Examinations neither da-

ted, figned, nor fworn to.

Another is, reading Letters fuppofed to be
Criminal, writ in another Man's Hand, and fup-

pofed to be dictated by me, without offering any
Proof that I either dictated them, or was privy to

them.

Another is, not allowing me Copies of the

Decypher'd Letters, tho' petition'd for, till the

Trial was fo far advanced, and I fo employed
and weakned by it, that I had not fufficient

time to confider them—Another is, not allowing

me to read out of the Collection of Papers be-

fore the Houfe any part of them, in order to

difcharge myfelf, but what hath been read by
Clerks.—— And all this in a Proceeding where

the Counfel for the Bill profefs they have no

legal Evidence, and that they are not to be con-

fined to the Rules of any Court of Law or

Equity ; tho' as often as it is for their Service,

they condantly fhelter themfelves under it.

My Lords, thefe are the Hardfhips which I

previoufly mention, and humbly lay before your

Lordfhips.

By your Lordfhips Leave, I proceed now to

make that Defence, as well as I am able to make it,

in the Condition of Health I am now in ; humbly

praying your Lordfhips, if I find myfelf in any

degree finking under it, that you will indulge me,

and allow me a little Time to go on.

The general Charge of the Bill is, That I have

been deeply concerned in forming, directing, and

carrying on a wicked and deteftable Confpiracy,

and was a principal Aftor therein.

The Charge is divided into two Heads

:

Firft,' That I traitoroufly confulted and corre-

fponded with divers Perfons to raife an Infurrec-

tion, &c. in this Kingdom, to procure foreign
^

Forces to invade it, &c,

Zzz Secondly,
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Secondly,ThatItraitorouflycorrefponded,with °/ Chivers, Mufgrave, and Jack/on •, to which

the fame Intent, with Perfons employed, &c Letters the Names of Jones* Illington, and 1378,

But neither part of this Charge hath been made were, by my Direction, fubfcribcd.

o-ood by theCounfel for the Bill, nor have they Secondly, That afterwards two Letters, in an-

proved, nor attempted to prove me at one Con- fwer to thefe two fent to Man and Dillon, one

fultation •, nor is there any thing tends towards dated May the nth, and the other July the 25th,

fuch a Proof, except the exploded Story of the under the feigned Names of Molfield and Digby,

Burford Club,'
a and two or three Hearfay Infor- were intercepted.

mations which were mentioned of my Lord Straf- Thirdly, That there is certain intercepted Cor-

ford, Lord North and Grey, Lord Orrery, and Sir refpondence between the Pretender's Agents a-

Henry Goring, faid to be concerned in the Ma- broad and Kelly here, carry 'd on by him -, and

nagement of this Affair. I have met all thefe

Lords, I own it, but at different Times ; and up-

on the' bed Recollection I can make, I never was

in all my Life with any three of them at once,

unlefs perhaps about fome general Matters de-

pending in Parliament. The Earl of Strafford

hath vifited me, and I have, when in Health,

dined with him once at his Houfe. At my Lord

North's Table I have not eat: Tho' I have great

that I was at the Head of it, and am anfwerable

for what it contains.

This is the Subftance of my Charge •, all other

particular Circumftances are made uie of, as they

thought would give Light and Strength to one or

other of thofe Articles.

As to the firft of thefe Points, that I did die-.

tate thefe Letters.

That it could not be poffible that I dictated

Honour for him, yet I never had any Intimacy thefe Letters, hath been made out to your Lord-

with him, efpecially fince the Affair of the Dor- fhips by fuch a Concurrence of Evidence, fo

mitory, wherein he appeared fo againft me, that clear, fo full and legal, as I perfuade myfelf can

I certainly had loft the Caufe, had not his Affairs have left no Doubt remaining upon any candid

call'd him to Holland. and indifferent Perfon : A plain Matter of Fact,

Lawfon had fworn, that this Lord did often fupported by fuch Teftimony, cannot be over-

vifit me at Bromley , but in truth he never was thrown by little Gueffes and confequential Sur-

there above twice or thrice in all his life-time.

I have not been once thefe two Years with Lord

Orrery on any Bufinefs whatfoever ; we twice

dined together at the Houfe of a Perfon, whofe

mifes.

My Lords, I was under the known Difficulty

of proving a Negative, which in many Cafts is

not to be done •, but it fo happens in this Cafe,

Name if I mould mention, your Lordfhips would that peculiar Circumftances attend it as to the

not think there was any Harm at all in dining point of Time. My being difabled in my Cham-

there. Sir Henry Goring I never faw in all my ber, and attended before and after that Time by

Life, till he faw me at St. James's, and he was but fome of my Servants, and receiving frequent Mef-

once at Bromley ; and the Occafion of his coming fages from others: The agreeing Teftimony of

to me, was his placing four Sons at Wejlminfter- my Servants, that no Stranger came near me a-

School, and intending to breed up fome of them bout that Time, and for fome Time before and af-

to the Gofpel : The laft Time I faw Sir Harry

Goring, was about twelve Months ago, when I

promifed to bring down one of his Sons to be up-

on the Foundation •, and I fhall be forry if I can't

be as good as my Word.

ter ; and the full Evidence of the School at Wejl-

minfter, hath enabled my feveral Servants to re-

collect the Time, and to furnifh fuch a Proof of

my Innocence in this Matter, as is not to be

miftaken, and fhews the Clearnefs of the Impoffi-

Your Lordfhips will excufe me for being fo par- bility of it.

ticular, when you confider how dangerous the The Clerks of the Poft- Office fw ear, they be-

Charge is, and how fit it is to clear the Perfons lieve thefe three Letters to have been in the

charged, from fuch mifchievous Correfpondence ,
Hand-writing of Mr. Kelly, my fuppofed Ama-

efpecially fince it is with thefe, and thefe only, nuenfis. Your Lordfhips will remember, that

that I have been fpeaking of, and it is infinuated

that I have held Confultations with, to forward

the Confpiracy.

their Oaths were at four Months diftance from
the Time of feeing thofe Letters ; during the

whole Series of which Time, it never hath ap-

The firft is an Intent, and indeed a Confpiracy, peared that they have compared one Original

without a Confultation. But how hath that too

been made good ? Your Lordfhips will obferve,

that there is not one Overt-Act, or Circumftance

of Time or Place mentioned, proved, or al-

Jedged. I have not therefore confulted of cbn-

fpired at Home.
The next, and the only material Part of the

Charge is, correfponding abroad with the Pre-

tender, &e.

A high and heinous Accufation, ftrongly af-

with another, and the only Original, as a Spe-

cimen, hath been proved at your Lordfhips Bar,

not to be the Hand-writing of Mr. Kelly: And
be pleafed to remember, the very Suppofition

of Mr. Kelly's being my Secretary, or any ways
intimate with me, hath been fully fworn to be

falfe.

If it be faid, Who then writ thofe Letters, and
with what View were they writ ? The Anfwer
to this is obvious : my being here at your Lord-

ferted, much infifted upon j but how maintained, fhips Bar fufficiently explains it. It is enough to

is the Queftion. prove-that I did not write or dictate them, and I

The true State of this part of my Charge, as have proved it abundantly. Let but any-momen-
wcll and as fully as I can recollect, is this, (I will

not in any degree diffemble before you:) ift,

That I did the 20th 6f April, 1722. dictate three

Letters to Mr. Dillon, the late Lord Marr, and

to the Pretender himfelf, under the feigned Names

tous part of the Charge againft me be made out

with half the Evidence, and I will fubmit with-

out any Difpute. Eight or nine fuch Witneffes

would have borne down the Evidence of one or

two that had fworn : But where there is none on

a See State Trials Vol 8. 570, 571.

the
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the one Side, but all on the other Side who ap-

pear, and that give direft pofitive Evidence, can

your Lordfhips deliberate a Moment for the Rea-

fon of giving your Judgment, which in doubtful

Cafes ought always to lean to the doubtful Side?

And fo taking this Point as it Hands, there is an

End of the whole matter; for all other Infinua-

tions, feigned Names, and obfcure PafTages in

Letters, depending upon this, mull fall toge-

ther.

As to the other Part of the Accufation, where it

is faid the Letter to Jack/on was a Letter to the

Pretender, I have nothing to do with it ; he that

writ the Letter, when known, will beft be able,

and mod concerned, to difprove it.

Since this Objection carries a very odd Sound,

I fhall briefly fhew your Lordfhips how that

ftands. Jack/on, in a Cypher of Plunket's, is faid

to denote the Pretender : That Cypher con fills of

one hundred and fifty Names, of which not one

is ufed in any of the Letters attributed to Mr.
Kelly ; three or four of thefe Names are ufed by
Perfons fuppofed to have writ to Mr. Kelly from
abroad, but not one of them is ufed by him ;

nor doth Jack/on ever, in his part of the Corre-

fpondence, Hand for the Pretender, but he is al-

ways under other Appellations: Nay, Plunket

himfelf, in all his Letters writ in decyphered

Names, never ftyles the Pretender Jack/on, but

eitherJofeph or Jephfon. Why fhould a Name,
ufed in Kelly's Correfpondence, be explained by
Plunket's Cypher, when Kelly appears to be no
ways acquainted with him, and Plunket himfelf

did never dictate to him? I forbear Repetition
j

I only add, that at this Rate, there is nothing
that may not be proved.

The Letter to Dubois there is little faid of, be-

caufe there is no ufe made of it ; it is charged in

the Report as a Letter which I had received from
abroad. The Tables are now turned, and I my-
felf defigned to have fent this Letter to a feigned

Correfpondent, but kept it among my Papers un-

der my Seal : For what End? the Letter itfelf

is an errant Delufion : Why, to furnifh Proof,
which is much wanted, of my receiving Letters

that were directed Jones and Illington •, and it is

very ftrange, that I, who am reprefented as being
fo very cautious, fhould be fo negligent in this,

and preferve fomething that is of no ufe, and yet
might hurt me fo much, when difcover'd.

It is abfurd to think, that I fhould by that

means mention the Name of my Correfpondent,
and mention the Name of John/on, which the

Committee of the Lower Houfe obferve was con-
ftantly with me.

I know not what farther can be faid for this

Matter, till the Counfel have further explain'd it,

and fhevv'd what Ufe they make of this Letter,
which hath given your Lordfhips fo much Trou-
ble, and which I own I do not comprehend.
Here is (till a fifth Letter, which I have ac-

knowledge to be my Hand ; that which was
taken on my Servant. Mr. Reeves hath made
fome uncharitable Obfervations upon it, which,
for ought I know, may be allow'd as the Form of
Law in the Ordinary Courts ; but, I am fure, in

a Court of Equity, the moft favourable Con-
ftruction ought to take Place. I have taken Mi-
nutes of his Obfervations, and I think they are
thefe: He obferves that the Bifhop doth not in

his Letter infift on his Innocence in general, but
confiders only what Evidence doth affect him.

It comes out, at laft, for whom my Letter was
defigned, and I think that an Anfwer to Mr.
Reeves's firft Obfervation, and I fhall explain it

no further. He obferves next, tho' I clear myfelf

from the Knowledge of Layer , Neynoe, &c. there

I fay nothing of Kelly.

The Gentleman I defigned the Letter for*

knows it was in anfwer to one wrote to me about
Layer, and will fwear it himfelf, if there was
room for it.

The third Obfervation is, where fpeaking of
myfelf, I fay, « If I cannot ward the Blew, I

' muft be a Prifoner fome Years without Remedy :*

from which he is pleas'd to infer, not in that good-
natur'd way he generally did, my Meaning muft
be, that I was confeious of Guilt.

I apprehended an Impeachment would have been

lodged and never profecuted, as in the Cafe of my
Lord Danhy and the Earl of Oxford ; and then

I fhould have lain without Trial, and without

Bread.

The fecond Article of my Charge, is the two
Letters from Marr and Dillon, under the feigned

Names of Motfield and Digby, which were inter-

cepted.

One of thefe they have dropt.

That I received them, is not pretended ; both
Letters, tho' without a criminal Expreffion or

Word of Bufinefs in either of them, would yet

have affected me in fome Degree, if received by
me, and I was the Perfon as is fuppofed who
writ the Letters to which they are Anfvvers. That
I ufed to have any Correfpondence, is that proved ?

Is not one and the fame neceffary in order to as-

certain the Charge?

Any Man that pleafes may write to me, and
take thofe Names upon him ; I am not to an-"

fwer for that, unlefs I have appeared to receive

them, and kept up the Correfpondence.

The Letter from Motfield, dated the nth of
May, cannot be reafonably thought to have been

wrote with any other View than that of being in-

tercepted, and of fixing upon me the Letter of

April 20th.

This Letter is committed to the common Poft-

Office, and fent upon this Errand ; one may
doubt who writ it, but one cannot doubt with

what Defign it was writ : your Lordfhips Wifdom
will fee thro' thofe malicious Dilguifes, and not

make me account for Letters which have been

banded to and fro, between unknown Correfpon-

dents, on a Defign to raife a Sufpicion of a third

Perfon, altogether a Stranger to what is writ.

And here I defire that the Obfervation made by

one of my Counfel may not be forgot •, that is,

All :he intercepted Letters from abroad, mention

Perfons that lay hid under fecret Names, and are

difcover'd by doing of fuch Deeds, and by fuch

Circumftances as will faften thofe Names upon

them: Tho' the Committee were not at a Guefs,

yet they were often at a Lafs.

In my Cafe the fictitious Names applied to mi
are often attended with fuch Defcriptionsand Cir-

cumftances, as very naturally lead thofe that offer

thefe Letters to fix them on me. The Writers of

them ufe all their Artnottodifguife, but to open

the thing, and feem to be in pain left they fhould

not be well enough underftood.

This being contrary to the Method of Refervcs

in all other Cafes, ftnells ftrong of a malicious

Defign.

The
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The Letter oijuly 25th, from Digby tolVefton,

is not fo well contrived as it fhouldhave been ; yet

I am to be underilood by it, bccaufe of the Cir-

cumftances I was then under, which the Writer

was apprifed of.

Thefe are the only two Inftances of Letters

iuppofed to be writ from abroad : They are not

confident : Shall they affect me in fo high a man-
ner ?

It remains to be confidered in the third place,

Whether there was a fupporred Correfpondence

between the Pretender and his Agents, and Mr.
Kelly here ? Whether I was at the Head of it,

and am juftly to anfwer for it? Mr. Kelly, I hear,

hath owned at your Bar, and declared, which I

alfo declare, I never knew a Line of any Letter

he writ to foreign Parts.

I meddle not with what concerns him any fur-

ther than when it may affect me.

The chief Part isthePrefent of the Dog; the

Account of that is in a Letter to Hatfield, dated

May 5. not figned ; in which are thefe Words
'The little Dog was fent ten Days ago, and ordered to

be delivered to you : but there is no Intimation in

this, or any other Letter from abroad, that this

Prefent was intended for me.

In two Letters from hence, by whom writ it

doth not appear, fomebody is meant under the

different Names of Mr. Jones and Mr. lllington, in

fuch Manner asdefigned for the fame Perfon ; but

the Circumitances are neither applicable to my
felf nor my Wife, particularly. The Letter

dated May 7th, from Hatfield to Mujgrave, be-

ing five Days after the Burial of my Wife, cannot

mean her; and being but five Days after, it can

as little mean me : So that the Writer of this Let-

ter muft either have* known nothing of my Fami-
ly-Affairs, or, if he did, muft diffemble his Know-
ledge of them to raife a Sufpicion ; and in either

Cafe what he fays is not to be regarded. The
Surgeon and Mr. Kelly only knew any thing of
this matter, and they can beft clear it.

Mrs. Barnes, fhe varies, and fometimes the

Dog is for me, and fometimes for her.

As for myfelf, I never afked for, received, or
law this Prefent,

. nor know any thing of it, but
from common Fame; nor have I, to this Day,
had any Meffage or Letter whatfoever concerning
it. The End of this Defign feems to be, to

point me out by the Name of Jones, and llling-

ton, fubfcribed to the Letters of April 20th, by
ufing them again in relation to this Prefent.

And perhaps they are not much in the wrong
to think, that one intercepted Dog fhould be of as

much ufe as Ten intercepted Letters. Both Contri-
vances then muft have fucceeded, had I not been
able to prove that thofe Letters were not writ
with my Order or Knowledge •, and therefore the
Ufe of thofe Names, in fubfequent Letters, is a
Continuance of the Fraud, and this obvioufly
runs thro' the whole of the Correfpondence : For
wherever the Names of Jones and lllington are,

they are ufed in applying them to me, becaufe
they are the fame.

Thefe Points have not only been deny'd, but
difprov'd with all Manner of Credence and Clear-
ness.

My Counfel have fhew'd, that all thefe fufpici-

ous Cdrrefpondcncies are to the laft Degree ab-
furd to apply to me, and no one would apply
them : That I could not order the Letters of the

20th of April, to which the Names of Jones, &c,
are fubfcrib'd, I think is plain, and then the E-
vidence falls which depends upon it.

As to the Journeys to and from Bromley, where
the Prifoner Kelly had frequent Accefs to me, and
therefore I might probably dictate thofe Letters,

the Counfel for the Bill have notopen'd themfelves

on that Head ; but your Lordfhips have heard
it made out, and becaufe it is material I mail re-

peat it.

(Here Wood's Examination was read.)

By all thefe Accounts, nothing could have been
eafier for the Perfons themfelves to manage here,

than getting an Account of my Neighbours, in or-

der to render the Contrivance more plaufible.

That Mr. Kelly is no Stranger to me I own :

but that he is in any Degree intimate with me,
or frequently faw me, I deny. And what Evi-
dence is there from them to the contrary •, or
how is this folemn denial at your Bar contra-

dicted?

The Chairman fays, he carry'd him twice or

thrice to the Deanery, three or four Years ago ;

and this Brown, the Chairman, he fwears, he
carry'd me once in three or four Years Time. I

believe he may. The Porter he fays, that he

brought a Letter and fome Stockings from Kelly to

me. The Foundation of this Story is true, for

Mr. Kelly ufed to furnifh ine with Beaver Stock-

ings and Gloves: not but that the Circumftance

of the Porter coming up to my Bed-Chamber at

that dirty Time of the Year, is very extraordi-

nary -, and even this Evidence owns, he was ne-

ver fent by me to him.

Now on the other Side, there is the Evidence
of almofi: all my Servants, who have, upon Oath,
attefted, that they do not know either the Name
or the Face of Mr. Kelly, which could not poffibly

be, did he ufe frequently to refort to me. Such a

flight Acquaintance as I had with him, could not

be any Temptation to enter into Secrets with him,
of fuch a dangerous Confequence as thefe are,

which the Report infinuates to have pafs'd be-

tween us: However, Sufpicion is not now the

Bufinefs. They that prove fome Things may
be allow'd to fuppofe more ; they that prove
nothing have no Right to indulge their Sufpi-

cions and Conjectures to the Ruin of any Man :

Twenty Probabilities, allow'd to be fuch, are not

equal to any one Matter of Fact, well attefted ;

it may ftrengthen the Fact, but cannot fupport

it. They cannot be Evidence themfelves, becaufe

one Probability may be fet againft another.

I ufe this Diftinction between Evidence in

Law, and reafonable Evidence, becaufe the

Counfel for the Bill have afferted fomething like

it.

I own I always thoilght the Publick Law of

the State, the Publick Reafon of the State ; and
whatever it is in another Country, yer, in this

Country, no Evidence can be reafonable that is

not legal. But I afk, What fort of Evidence, ei-

ther in Reafon or Law, is brought againft me ?

How am I prov'd to confult and correfpond, to

raife an Infurrection againft his Majefty and his

Kingdom, and to procure a foreign Force to in-

vade the fame in Favour of the Pretender ?

Flow ami prov'd in the fecond Place, to have

correfponded with the fame Pretender, and with

Perfons employ'd by him ? Is one Article of

thefe Charges made out againft me with any

Colour
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Colour of Reafon ? Suppofuions without Proof,

Suppofnions difprov'd, and ihewn to be vain,

and unjuft.

If the Proof in thefe Cafes wants Strength, can

the Hearfay of Neynoe fupply the want of Proof,

and render it valid, fince Neynoe pretends, for

ought that appears, not to have known any thing

of me ? He only heard Kelly fay fo, and Mr. Kelly

denies it ; and there is, I think, no Reafon why

foch a dead Evidence fhould aft'eft me, or Kelly

himfelf, much lefs me thro' him. "Was Neynoe

alive, and Kelly dead, and incapable ofcontradict-

ing what Neynoe faid, I believe what Neynoe laid

would not be of any Weight ; befides, what

Neynoe dead fays, and Kelly now alive denies,

ought not to have any Force.

Concerning Hearfay Evidence in general, and

concerning the due Regard to it, I humbly defire

your Lordfhips, that a Paflage may be read out

of Sir John Fenwick's Bill of Attainder. [The

whole Preamble read.]

My Lords, I humbly defir'd to have this read,

becaufe I thought it would take away a Diftinc-

tion between Legal and Parliamentary Evidence ;

that what was not Legal might be Parliamentary.

I believe here is a Condemnation of him by Par-

liament ; therefore, Ia think, the Condemnation

of him mud be by Parliamentary Evidence. It is

recited in this Aft, as one of the Inducements that

mov'd the King, Lords, and Commons to pafs

that Aft, that Sir John Fenwick had contriv'd and

fram'd feveral Papers, &c. only by Hearfay.

Shall that be accepted in this Parliament for

Evidence, which is declar'd the only Motive of

attainting a Man in another? If it was judg'd

hard in Sir John Fenwick's Cafe to charge a Man
by Hearfay, can the being thus charg'd be any

Proof againft me ? Sure the Houfe of Commons
in 96, that brought that in, v/ould have fo

thought, nor would thofe of your Lordfhips con -

fented here, or elfewhere, to have pafs'd it.

As for thofe that did not confent, I will ven-

ture to fay, I am exceedingly puzzled to know
why they did not oppofe Sir John Fenwick, but

favour'd his Cafe, and are yet againft me. Is

the Guilt objected to me, if prov'd, in any Mea-
fure like his ? Or is there any Comparison be-

tween the Proof againft him and me ?

As to the Paper and Information given in by
Neynoe, and printed in the Appendix, it is plain

he was drawn in to have fworn backward or for-

ward, to have affirm'd or deny'd any thing. He
knew a certain Lord of the Council, that gave

me Notice of my being taken up fome Days be-

fore it happen'd. He knew what Ufe and Pur-

pofe the Protefts of your Lordfhips were chiefly

defign'd for and calculated ; and it appears by
his Paper that was taken in his Pocket after his

Death, that he had undertaken to give a pofi-

tive Account, and defign'd either to afk or re-

ceive fuch a Sum of Money.
'Tis faid he was the late Earl MariJhaWs Bed-

fellow for feveral Months, and had drawn up
Heads for Memorials to be delivered to the Re-
gent ; but he had kept no Copy of thefe Heads,
or foul Draughts which would have fhewn whe-
ther they were given in to promote it, or difco-

ver it ; in either Cafe the Evidence of being then
employ'd, would have been of Service : but they
have not been able to produce a Line of fuch

Heads or Memorials, yet the Report of the

Vol. VI.

Houfe of Commons, upon the Bafis of thefe Me-
morials, builds the whole Fabrick. He knew
that I went under the Names of Jones and Illing-

ton, and undoubtedly he knew Mr. Dubois : If

the Scheme of writing that Letter myfelf had
been feen, he would have found out a Reafon for
the Correfpondence ; and 500/. would have made
him affirm, That he carry'd the Letter himfelf.

He knew the Pretender's particular Opinion of
me, or of any Body elfe, and that he rely'd on
Advices from me: How did he know that? He
told him fo. Who told him ? It is not fuppos'd
Mr. Kelly had it from himfelf, but from Per-
fons of high Eftate, and that were near the Pre-
tender.

Let me fpeak, my Lords, as always I hope I
mail, with that Modefty as becomes Juftice, buc
yet with Freedom, to you.

Hath nothing been open'd to you concerning
this Man's Character, and his fecret Tranfac-
tions ? Is it poffible to believe this Pretender to
Secrecy could have had, or fhall he ftill have
any Degree of Weight, that threw away his Life,
rather than venture toftand to the Truth of what
he faid before his Death, and then he could have
been contradicted, or Pangs of Confcience might
have made him unfay what he had faid? But a
dead Man can retract nothing ; what he hath
writ, he hath writ : The Acculation muft ftand
juft as it did, fo far as it concerns him •, and we
are depriv'd of the Advantage, which Truth and
Remorfe once extorted, and would have again
extorted from him. However, I would have
been glad to have had all that ever this Wretch
faid ; and would hope that by comparing of the
feveral Stories, which he feveral Times told,

fome Light might have been gain'd, which is

now wanted : Particularly by the Know-
ledge of what he faid freely and voluntarily,

when he was in good humour, and before his

rough Ufage, on his Return from Rome, had
frighted him ; but I think we have the Evidence
only of a few of the laft Days of his Life, all the

preceding Time is blank. He underwent fre-

quent Examinations, but they were not, it feems

fo maturely weighed and digefted as to be thought
worth the committing to writing : but he is gone
to his Place, and hath anfwer'd for what he hath
faid at another Tribunal. I defire not to difturb

his Afhes, farther than what is neceffary for my
Defence.

Your Lordfhips will obferve firft, the Incon-

fiftency of fome Part of the Charge. Secondly,

the Improbability of it. The Report takes No-
tice of three feveral Periods, or Stages of Time,
when, by Confequence of fome Informations from
the Regent, the Defign did not take Place : The
firft was, during the Election ; the fecond was, the

King's going to Hanover ; and the third was, the

breaking up of the Camp. There is not the lead

Hint as to the kit of thefe three Defigns, in any
of the Papers; tho' in the Recital of the Bill it is

mention'd as the third Part of the Plot, and the

moft deteftable Part of the Defign, to lay violent

Hands on his Majefty and his Royal Highnefs.

There is not the leaft Colour of Proof, as to

the firft Part of the Confpiracy, which was to

take place at the Eleftion ; their only Reafon

for that, is from a Paflage, where it is faid, that

the prefent Opportunity is elaps'd, that is the

Opportunity of the Eleftion.

4 A I fhall
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1 fhall recite the Pafiage, ask lies in the inter-

cepted Letter, and make fome Reflections on it

:

Notwithftanding the Opportunity is elaps'd, (fays the

Writer to Jack/on) I agree with you , another may

offer before the End of tbe~ Tear, tho' not perhaps

every Way fo favourable.

The Committee fuppofe this Letter to be from

Kelly, and dictated by me ; and they fuppofe the

Words to refer to the time of the Election, and

from thofe Snppofitions infer that I knew fome-

thing of it. On the contrary, I fhall, on the

two firft Suppofitions fhew the Impoffibility of it

;

if this was a Letter from me, or from any other

Perfon, dictated by me to the Pretender, I muft

write as in Anfwer to fome Letter fent from

them to me, in repeating the Expreffion ; and his

Opinion in the Letter muft have been founded on

Intelligence before receiv'd : This Intelligence,

confidering the Diftance between London and

Rome, muft have been communicated two Months,

if not longer, before the Date of this Letter , if

we go back two Months, and talk of the Election

being elaps'd, it was not begun ; confequently that

Opportunity in the Letter could not pofiibly

mean the Time of the Election ; and if fo, it is im-

poflible that it fhould be a Letter to the Preten-

der, that can confift with the Charge of the Per-

fon's writing in April 1720.

If it be a Letter writ in good Earneft, it ap-

pears they had given over all Thoughts at that

Time: 1 agree withyou, fays he, another may offer

before the End of the Tear : and yet he finds fome

Words in a Letter writ ten Days after, wherein,

under the Name of Jones, I am made to be deep-

ly concern'd in a Confpiracy.

How can this be confident, if I writ and di-

rected that Letter,* and was engag'd in the fecond

Part of the Confpiracy.

Both cannot be true, both may be falfe ? and I

hope I have fatisfy'd your Lordfhips, that as I did

not dictate the one, fo I was no ways concern'd

in the other.

Can any one believe, that under the fad Cir-

cumftance of being afflicted by the Death of my
Wife, I fliould be concern'd in an Affair of this

dangerous Nature? Was that a Time to provide

for a Stranger ? And for a Man, unlefs under the

Power of Prejudice, to believe fuch an Improba-

bility, or that I had fuch a Conjecture ? I forbear

former Inftances.

I fhall now confider the Improbability, as well

as Inconiiitency of the Charge brought againft me
without pofitive Proof. You will allow me to

anfwer the Indictment in the fame Manner as it is

laid.

Is it probable that if I were engag'd in any fuch

Defign, no Footfteps fliould be feen of any Cor-

refpondence I had with the late Duke of Ormond,

to whom, ofall Perfons abroad, I was beft known,
and to whom I had the greateft Regard, and ftill

have all the Regard that is confiftent with my
Duty to my King and Country?

Iq it probable that I would choofe rather to en-

gage in fuch a Defign with Mr. Dillon, a Military

Man I never faw, and with the Earl of Marr,

whom I never convers'd with except when he was

Secretary of State?

Did I not know, what all the World thinks,

that he had left the Pretender feveral Years, and

had a Penfion abroad ? Is this a Seafon for me to

enter into Conferences with him about reftoring

the Pretender ; and do this not by Meffages but by
Letters, not fent by Meffengers but by the com-
mon Poft ? That by thus writing to him by the

Poft, I fliould advife him after the fame manner
to write to me, and by thefe Means furnifh Op-
portunities towards detecting the Perfons, and
bringing myfelf into Danger ? How doth that

confift with the Caution and Secrecy which are

faid to belong to me ? Muft not I have been rafti

to have laid myfelf open in fuch a Manner ?

This is an inconfiftent Scheme, the other a bold
Affertion. Is it probable, when attending the
fick Bed of my Wife, and expecting her Death,
not daily but hourly, that I fliould enter into Ne-
gotiations of this kind?

There was no need of difpatching any of thofe

three Letters, merely to excufe my not writino- •

The Circumftances of my Family had been a fuf-

ficient Apology, and more effectual.

Is it probable, that when I was carrying on
publick Buildings of various kinds at Weslminfter,

and Bromley, confulting all the Books from the

Weftminfter Foundation, engaging in a Corref-

pondence with learned Men, about fettling an Im-
portant Point ofDivinity ; that at that very Time,
I fhould be carrying on a Confpiracy ? Thofe that

entertain fuch Thoughts without Reafon, mayalfo
condemn me without Argument.

Is it probable that I fhould meet, and confult,

in order to carry on and forward this Correfpon-
dence with no Body, and no where?

That I, who always Jiv'd at home, and except
at Dinner- Time, never ftir'd out of my Cham-
ber ; receiv'd all Perfons that vifited me, and was
deny'd to none, fhould have an Opportunity to

be fo engag'd? And if I had, that none of my
Domefticks and Friends fhould ever obferve any
Appearance of any fuch Thing ? No Evidence a-

mong my Papers, tho' they were all feiz'd at both

my Houfes, and confining all my Servants, but

one now, for about 10 or 11 Weeks, fearching

him twice in the Tower, and fearching myfelf,

nothing of Confequence appears, nor is there any
one living Witnefs that charges me with any thing

that is really true.

Is it probable, that I fhould form and direct a

Confpiracy, and carry it on with any Succefs, that

am not us'd to Arms, which I am no more ac-

quainted with, than with the Perfons employ'd on
thofe Occafions? My way of Life hath not led

me to converfe with fuch Men and fuch Matters,

except on the Occafion of meeting in Parliament;

but in a Council of War I never was. Have I

yet in any Inftance of my Life meddled remark-

ably out ofmy own Sphere, in Affairs foreign to

my Bufinefs or Character ? I might have been

thought to have been too active in my proper Sta-

tion and Bufinefs ; but I was never charg'd with

War, nor any ways inform'd in the Art of it.

Is it juft, that Perfons concern'd in the Mi-
litary Way, fhould be punifh'd without any

Proof?

And muft I, whofe Way of Life is fet at the

greateft Diftance from fuch Perfons, and from the

very Sufpicion of being concern'd with them, fuf-

fer all the Pains and Penalties, fhort of Death,

which the Parliament can inflict, for afuppos'd I

know not what, and what I don't to this Day ap-

prehend ?

Here
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Here is a Plot of a Year or two (landing, to'fub-

vert the Government with an armed Force, an In-

vafion from Abroad, an Indirection at Home

;

jufl when ripe for Execution it is difcover'd : and

12 Months after the Contrivance of this Scheme,

no Confultation appears, no Men correfponding

together, no Provifion of Money, Arms, or Of-

ficers not a Man in Arms. And yet the

poor Bifhop has done all this.

Layer and Plun'ket carry on a Treafonable Cor-

refpondence : They go to Rome and receive Direc-

tions from the Pretender himfelf, to promote his

Caufe It does no where appear that the Bifhop

has the lead Share in, or is any way privy to

their Practices—And yet the Bifhop has done all,

He is principally concern''d infanning, diretling, and

carrying on this Detejlable Con/piracy.

What could tempt me to flep thus out of my
"Way? Was it Ambition, and a Defire of climbing

into a higher Station in the Church? There is not

a Man in my Office farther remov'd from this than

I am ; I have a hundred Times faid, and fincere-

]y refolv'd, I would have been nothing more than

I was at a Time when I little thought of being

any thing before •, and I could give an Inflance of

this Kind if I thought proper.

Was Money my Aim ? I always defpis'd it, too

much perhaps, confidering what occafion I am
now like to have for it: for out of a poor Bifhop-

rick of 500 /. per Annum, I have laid out no lefs

than Two Thoufand Pounds, towards Repairs of

the Church and Epifcopal Palace; nor did I take

one Shilling for Dilapidations. The reft of my
little Income has been fpent as is neceffary, as I

am a Bifhop. Nor do I repent of thofe Expences
now, (tho' fince my long Confinement I have not

receiv'd the lead Part of the Income in my Dean-
ery) not doubting in the lead, but that God who
hath liberally provided for me hitherto, will (till

do it, and on his good Providence I fecurely

rely.

Was I influenc'd by any Diflike of the Efta-

blifh'd Religion, and fecretly inclin'd towards a

Church of greater Pomp and Power? I have, my
Lords, ever fince I knew what Popery was, op-
pos'd it ; and the better I knew it, the more I

diflik'd it.

I begun my Study in Divinity, when thePopifh
Controverfy grew hot about that immortal Book
of Tillotfon's, when he undertook the Defence of
the Proteftant Caufe in general ; and as fuch I

efteem'd him above alL

You will pardon me, my Lords, if I mention
one thing.

Thirty Years ago, I writ in Defence of Martin
Luther, and have preach'd, and writ to that Pur-
pofe from my Infancy •, and whatever happens to

me, I will fufFer any thing, and will, by God's
Grace, burn at the Stake, rather than depart from
any material Point of the Proteftant Religion, as

profefs'd in the Church of England.

Once more: Can I be fuppos'd to favour Arbi-
trary Power ? The whole Tenor of my Life hath
been otherwife : I was always a Friend of the li-

berty of the Subject, and to the bed of my Power
condantly maintain'd it : I may have been
thought midaken in the Meafures I took to fup-

port it.

It matters not by what Party I was called, fo

my Actions are uniform.

To return to the Point: The Charge brought
againd me in the Manner it is brought, is impro-

bable : if I could be guil ty of it, I mud have acted
under a Spirit of Infatuation

; yet I have never
been thought an Idiot or a Madman.
My Lords, as to the Pains and Penalties con-

tained in this Bill, they are great and grievous,
beyond Example in their Nature and Direction.

I am here, my Lords, and have been expecting
an immediate Trial. I have, my Lords, declin'd
no Impeachment. The Correfpondence with
the Earl of Clarendon was made Treafon, but with
me it is only Felony. He was allow'd the Con-
vention of his Children, by the exprefs Words
of the Act : Mine are not fo much as to write, fo

as to be fent tome.
What is mod particular in my Cafe I will repeat

didinctly, that my Reverend Brethren may hear
it. I am render'd incapable of uling or exercifing
any Office, Function, Authority, or Power Ec-
clefiadical, not only in his Majefty's Dominions,
but any where elfe. Very hard ! That fuch Spi-
ritual Power as is not deriv'd from Men, but God
himfelf, fhould be taken from me !

And I am not only deprived of all Offices, Digni-

ties, and Benefices EcclefiasTical, and for ever bamfh'd
the Realm, but likewife precluded from the Benefit

of Royal Clemency, and made utterly incapable of any
Pardon by his Majefty, his Heirs and Succeffors.

My Lords, I infid on my Innocence, that I am
not guilty •, and if I am not prov'd fo, your Lord-
fhips will thus judge; if otherwife, I perfuade
myfelf I fhall find fome Degree of Mercy.
You will not drip a Man of hisSubdance, and

then fend him where he cannot fubfid ; you will

not fend him among Strangers, and then hinder
others from performing Humanity to him ; you
will not give him lefs time to order his Affairs and
depart the Kingdom, than the Bill hath taken in

paffing thro' both Floufes.

The Great Man, I lad mention'd, carry'd a
great Fortune with him into foreign Parts, and
had the languages ; was well acquainted abroad :

The Reverfe of all this is my Cafe ; I indeed am
like him in nothing but his Innocency, and his

Punifhment. It is in no Man's Power to make us

differ in the one, but it is in your Lordfhips Pow-
er to make us differ widely in the other, and I

hope your Lordfhips will do it.

But to fum up the Arguments: It hath been fre-

quently obferv'd, that the higher the Crimes are,

the fuller the Proofs ought to be. Here is a

Charge of High-Treafon brought againd me,
with no Evidence at all.

My Lords, pardon me, what is not Evidence
at Law, can never be made fo by any Power on
Earth : for the Law that requir'd the Evidence*

is as much the Law of the Land, as that which
declares the Crime.

It is equally unjud to declare any Proof legal*

becaufe of my Profecution : As extraordinary

would it be, to declare the Acts themfelves, ex

poft fatlo.

Never was there a Charge of fo high a Nature,

and fo weakly prov'd.

A Perfon dead, fo that there is not an Oppor-
tunity to falfify him by contradicting him, a

Charge not fupported by any one Evidence, nor

by any one Proof of any Thing that hath been

writ or receiv'd by me, nor even by any one cri-

minal Word prov'd to have been fpoken by me

:

but by intercepted Letters and Correfpondence,

in which appears not the lead Certainty.

Some
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Some of thofe letters, mown to Perfons, with a

Defign to faften fomething on them •, others writ

in Cyphers, and fictitious Names, throwing out

dark and abftrufe Hints of what Perfons went by

thofe Names, fometimes true and fometimes

doubtful, and often falfe, who continue all the

while ftrangers to the whole TranfacYion, and

never make the Difcovery, till they feel and find

it advancing itfelf towards them : My Lords,

this is my Cafe, in fhort.

I have a hard Tafk to prove my Innocency

:

Shall I ftand convicted before your Lordfhips on

fuch an Evidence as this? The Hearfay of an

Hearfay ; a Party dead, and that deny'd what he

faid ; by ftrange and obfcure PafTages, and fictiti-

ous Names in letters, by the Conjecture of Decy-

pherers, without any Opportunity given me of

examining and looking into the Decyphering ; by

the Depofitions of Pod-Office Clerks about the

Similitude of Hands •, their Depofitions made at

diftant Times, and without comparing any one

of the Originals, by a ftrange Interpretation of

them: for nothing more, I am perfuaded, can

be made of the Arguments, than what is call'd

the intercepted Correfpondence.

Shall I, my Lords, be depriv'd of all that is

dear to me, and in the Circumftances I am in,

fcarce able to bear up, and by fuch an Evidence

as would not be admitted in any other Caufe or

any other Court ; and would hardly affect a Jew
in the Inquifition of Spain?

And fhall it be received againft a Bifhop of this

Church, and a Member of thisHoufe? God for-

bid. Give me leave to make mention of a Text

in Holy Writ : Againft an Elder receive not an Accu-

fation, but before two or three Witneffes. It is not

faid, Condemn him not upon an Accufation, &c.

but receive it not: I am fomething more than an

Elder ; and fhall an Accufation againft me be

countenanced, without any one Inftance of Proof

to fupport it?

This is not directly Matter of Ecclefiaftical

Conftitution : There you read, oneWitnefs fhould

not rife up againft an Elder-, but here, at the

Mouth of two Witneffes, or three Witneffes,

fhall the Matter be eftablifh'd : And as this Rule

was tranflated into the State of the Church, Peo-

ple always thought fit to allow it.

Shall I be the firft Biftiop in this Church, con-

demn'd upon Conjecture, on fictitious Names and

obfcure Paffages in letters, inftead of two or three

Witneffes?

Will not others endeavour to make the fame

Precedent, and defire the fame Influence of it to

fucceeding Ages ; and even concur in fuch an Act,

in order to render me incapable of ufing or ex-

ercifing any Power or Authority, &c. Is this

good Divinity, or good Policy?

As to the Juftice of the Legiflature, in fome

Refpects it hath a greater Power than the Sove-

reign Legiflator of the Univerfe : For he can

do nothing unjuft. But tho' there are no Limits

to be fet to a Parliament, yet they are generally

thought to reltrain themfelves, to guide their

Proceedings in Criminal Cafes, according to the

known Law.
The Parliament may order a Criminal to be tor-

tur'd : Who can fay they cannot? But they never

did, nor never will, I hope ; becaufe Torture, tho'

ufed in other Countries, is not known here.

Is it not torturing, to inflict Pains and Penalties

on Perfons only fufpected of Guilt, not plainly

prov'd guilty ? It is not much unlike it. The Par-
liament may, if they pleafe, as well upon Bills of
perpetual Imprifonment, as upon Bills of perpe-
tual Exile, referve to the Crown a Power to deter-
mine the one as well as the other. They have
referv'd it in the former Cafe, but have not re-

ferv'd it here in the other. The Law knows no-
thing of fuch abfolute perpetual Imprifonments.
The Parlia'ment may, in like manner condemn

a Man on a Charge of Accumulated and Conffruc-
tive Treafon. They did fo in the Cafe of the
great Lord Strafford, and that by Accumulated
and Conftructive Proof of fuch Treafon •, that is

by Proofs fo interpreted, as plainly to commu-
nicate Light and Strength to each other, and
fo to have all the Force without the Formality
of Evidence. Was fuch proof ever admitted
by any one to deprive his Fellow-Subject of his

Fortune, of his Eftate, his Friends, and Country,
and fend him in his old Age, without Language
or Hope, without Employment to get the Necef-
faries of Life, to ftarve ? I fay again, God for-

bid.

My Ruin is not of that Moment to any Num-
ber of Men, to make it worth their while to vio-

late, or even to feem to violate the Conftitution

in any Degree, which they ought to preferve a-

gainft any Attempts whatsoever.

But where once fuch extraordinary Steps as thefe

are taken, and we depart from the fixed Rules and
Forms of Juftice, to try untrodden paths, no
Man knows where this fhall flop.

Tho' I am worthy of no regard, tho' whatsoe-

ver is done to me may, for that Reafon, be look'd

upon to be juft ; yet your Lordfhips will have

fome regard to your own lafting Intereft, and that

of Pofterity.

This is a proceeding with which the Confti-

tution is not acquainted ; which, under the pre-

tence of fupporting it, will at iaft effectually de-

ftroy it.

For God's fake lay afide thefe extraordinary

proceedings •, fet not up thefe new and dangerous

precedents ; I, for my part, will voluntarily and
chearfuliy go into perpetual Banifhment, and
pleafe myfelf that I am, in fome meafure, the

Occafion of putting a Stop to fuch precedents,

and doing fome Good to my Country, and will

live, where-ever I am, praying for its profperity

;

and do, with the Word of Father Paul to the

State of Venice, fay Eflo perpetuo : It is not my
departing from it I am concern'd for ; let me de-

part, and let my Country be fix'd upon the im-

movable Foundation of Law and Juftice, and
ftand for ever.

I have, my Lords, taken up much of your Lord-
fhips Time, yet I mull beg your Attention a lit-

tle longer.

Some part of my Charge hath been difproved

by direct and full Evidence, particularly that of

writing the letters of the 20th of April, or that

I knew who wrote them ; which I utterly deny
that I ever did, or as yet do know. Other parts

of the Charge there are, which are not capable of
fuch Difproof, nor indeed require it ; there I reft.

But my Lords, there is a Way allow'd of vindi-

cating myfelf, it is generally Negative; that

is, by protefting and declaring my Innocence to

your Lordfhips, in the mod deliberate, ferious,

and folemn Manner ; and appealing to God, the

Searcher of Hearts, as to the Truth of what I

fay, as I do it in what follows. I am charg'd in

the
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the Report with directing a Correfpondence to

Mr. Kelly ; but I folemnly deny that I ever, di-

rectly or indirectly, faw a fingle Line of any of

their Letters, till I met with them in Print.

Nor was the Contents of any of them communi-

cated to me.
'

I do in the next place deny, that I

was ever privy to any Memorial to be drawn up

to be deliverd to the Regent. Nor was I ever

acquainted with any Attempt to be made on the

King's going to Hanover, or at the Time of the

Election. Nor did I hear the leaft Rumour of a

Plot to take place after the breaking up of the

Camp, till fome Time after Mr. Layer's Commit-

ment. I do with the fame Solemnity declare,

that I never collected, remitted, receiv'd, or

afk'd any Money of any Man, to facilitate thefe

Defigns ; nor was I ever acquainted with, or had

any Remittances whatfoever, from any of thofe

Perfons. I never drew any Declaration, Minutes,

or Paper in the Name of the Pretender, as is

exprefly charg'd upon me. And I never knew
of any Commiffion ifiu'd, Preparation of Arms,

Officers, or Soldiers, or the Methods taken to

procure any, in order to raife an Infurrection in

thefe Kingdoms. All this I declare to be true,

and will fo declare to the laft Gafp ofmy Breath.

And I am fure, the further your Lordfhips

examine into this Affair, the more you will be

convinc'd of my Innocency. Thefe contain all

the Capital Articles of which I am accufed, in the

Report of the Houfe of Commons.
Had the Charge been as fully prov'd as afcer-

tain'd, it had been vain to make Proteftations of

my Innocency, tho' never fo folemn.

But as the Charge is only fupported by the

flighteft Probabilities, and which cannot be dif-

prov'd in any Inftance, without proving a Nega-
tive , allow the folemn Affeverations of a Man
in behalf of his own Innocence to have their due

Weight, and I afk no more, than that they may
have as much Influence with your Lordfhips as

they have Truth.

If on any Account there fhall ftill be thought

by your Lordfhips to be any feeming Strength in

the Proofs againft me : Ifby your Lordfhips Judg-
ments, fpringing from unknown Motives, I fhall

be thought to be guilty ; if for any Reafons, or

Neceffity of State, of theWifdom and Juftice of

which I am no competent Judge •, if your Lord-

fhips fhall proceed to pafs this Bill againft me,

God's Will be done : Naked came I out ofmy Mo-
ther's Womb, and Nakedftall I return ; and whether

he gives or takes away, bleffed be the Name ofthe Lord.

May 13. was appointed for the Reply of the

Counfel for the Bill, who were Mr. Reeve, and
Mr. Wearg, Mr. Reeve fpake as follows.

May it pleafe your Lordfhips,

T^O permit me to offer fomething, by way of

Reply to the Arguments that have been
made ufe of, and the Evidence that hath been
given, in Behalf of the Bifhop of Rochefter.

My Lords, I fhall not trouble your Lordfhips
with entring far into the Arguments fo much
infifted on by the other Side, concerning the

Power of the Parliament to pafs Bills of At-
tainder.

They have been fpoken of by the Counfel of
the other Side, as inconfiftent with our Confti-

tution ; Bills of Pains and Penalties, and Bills of
Attainder, have been treated by them as un-VTTT '

O L. V i.

known to our Conftitution, unlefs in a few In-

ftances, which afterwards have been condemned.
And yet they have mentioned the Cafe of Sir

John Fenwick, which is a Precedent of a Perfon
attainted without legal Evidence, tho' he were
forth-coming and amefnable to Juftice, and his

Attainder remains ftill unreverfed. And as to

Bills of Pains and Penalties, they fhould, before

they inveigh'd fo much againft them, have confi-

der'd, that two fuch Bills have now already paf-

fed your Lordfhips Houfe , and tht Bills againft

Counter, Bernardi, and others, and againft the late

South-Sea Directors, are Precedents of Bills of
this Kind.

They have mention'd many Inftances, where
Perfons have been profecuted according to the

known Rules of Law, and the Parliament did not

think fit to interpofe. And doubtlefs, my Lords,

generally fpeaking, where Evidence is to be had
and to be produced, and the Perfons are forth- .

coming, it is right to proceed according to the

known Rules of Law, in the ordinary Courts of

Juftice.

But where Confpirators are carrying on their

Defigns with Art, and contriving to fhelter them-
felves from thofe known Rules of Law ; we ap-

prehend, my Lords, the ordinary Profecutions at

Law will be no Argument againft the Legifla-

ture's making ufe of their Authority, when the

Circumftances of the Cafe, the Prefervation of the

publick Peace, and the Safety of the Conftitution

require it.

But I beg leave to mention one Inftance, in

which they are miftaken : They have faid, that

in the Cafe of the Regicides (that horrid and de-

teftable Treafon !) they were all profecuted ac-

cording to the ordinary Courfe of Law ! but if

they had look'd into the Acts of Parliament, they

would have found, that fome of them were pu-

nifh'd by Bills of Pains and Penalties. The Lord
Monfon and others, who fat as Judges in the pre-

tended High Court of Juftice, were referv'd by

two Acts of Parliament that pafs'd, to have Pains

and Penalties inflicted upon them , and tho' there

was Evidence in that Cafe to have attainted them
according to the ordinary Courfe of Law, the

Parliament did proceed to punifh them by Pains

and Penalties, and they were not try'd according

to the ordinary Courfe of Law.
This I beg leave to obferve to your Lordfhips,

ihyrelation to the Power and Ufage of Parliaments,

in palling Bills of this Kind.

My Lords, in the next place I beg leave to

take Notice, that the Observations that have

been made, and the Evidence that hath been

given by them, as to Facts mention'd in the Re-

port and Appendix, concerning which we have

given no Evidence at all, ought to be laid out of

this Cafe, as foreign to the Matter before your

Lordfhips. The Matters we have given in Evi-

dence, it was proper for them to anfwer-, but

they have gone into the Report and Appendix, in

order to difprove Facts mention'd there ; tho' we
gave no Evidence concerning them ; and we hum-

bly apprehend, it is not necefiary for us to follow

them as to thofe Facts •, for if we maintain the

Charge we have given, it doth not concern us to

make good every Article in the Report and Ap-

pendix, relating to this Reverend Prelate now be-

fore your Lordfhips.

My Lords, we muft admit the Evidence pro-

duced to charge the Reverend Prelate at your

4 B Lordfhips
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Lordfhips Bar, is not all of it Evidence ftnctly

leo-al againft him, if he was to be try'd according

to° the ordinary Courfe of Juftice in Weftminfter-

Hall. But, my Lords, we humbly apprehend

you are not tied to the Rules of iVeftminfter-Hall

;

tor if your Lordfhips are fatisfied that the Facts

proved, laying them all together, do conclude

the Reverend Prelate at the Bar guilty, notwith-

ftanding they do not amount to Evidence accord-

ing to^the ordinary Rules of Wefminfer-Hall,

your Lordfhips will be of Opinion, that it is fit

he fhould be punifh'd.

My Lords, the Evidence that hath been given

by us, as to Fads committed by the Bifhop of

Rochejler, hath been chiefly from three Letters,

dated the 20th of April* 1722 ; each of thefe was

written in the Hand of Mr. Kelly, and dictated by

my Lord Bifhop of Rochejler.

My Lords, thefe Letters are writ, fome Part

in Cyphers, and fome Part not •, they are fign'd

by the Names of ST. Jones, T. lllington, and the Fi-

gures 1378. My Lords, if thefe three Letters

are proved, to your Lordfhips Satisfaction, to be

the Letters of my Lord Bifhop of Rochejler, we

humbiy apprehend they do prove all the Allega-

tions in the Bill, which my Lord Bifhop of Ro-

chejler hath been pleafed to call upon us to fhew

that he hath been guilty of. They do contain,

as we fay, and as plainly appears from the Let-

ters themfelves, Matters relating to confuting

and confpiring to invite a foreign Force into

this Kingdom for an Invafion, and to promote an

Infurreftion. And if the Name ofJackfin is the

Name by which the Pretender is fignified, that

Letter will prove the other Part of the Bill, that

the Bifhop of Rochejler hath held Correfpondence

with the Pretender iiimfelf.

My Lords, I beg leave to obferve upon the

Word Jack/on : It hath been infifted upon, that

tho' it is contain'd in Plunket's Cypher, yet Jack-

fin may fignify in Mr. Plunket's Cypher one thing,

and in thefe Letters another *, and thefe Letters

are contrived in Figures, and not thofe Cant

Words and Names, as in Mr. Plunked , but fo

far they go, to admit that in Plunked Cypher

the Name of Jackfon ftands for the Pretender.

My Lord Bifhop of Rochejler was pleafed to

obferve, that in all the Correfpondence between

Mr. Kelly and the Perfons with whom he corre-

fponded abroad, there is no Name contain'd in

Mr. Phuket's Cypher, which Kelly hath made ufe

of in any of his Letters, but this.

My Lords, it appears to your Lordfhips, that

in the Correfpondence between Mr. Kelly and the

Perfons abroad, feveral other Names, mention'd

in Plunket's Cypher, have been ufed : and it is

not material, whether thefe Names are contain'd

in the Letters writ by Kelly himfelf, or in thofe

of his Correfpondents writing to him. When
his Correfpondents write to him, in anfwer to his

Letters, they ufe feveral other of the Names
which are contain'd in Phuket's Cypher ; which,

my Lords, we humbly apprehend is the fame

Thing as to this Purpole, as if they were ufed in

Mr. Kelly's Letters ; for he muft be prefumed to

know the Meaning of thofe fictitious Names,
when they are contain'd in Letters that come in

anfwer to Letters from him, in the Correfpon-

dence which he carries on •, and we humbly ap-

prehend, my Lords, that is as ftrong an Evi-

dence, as if they had been contain'd in the Let-

ters writ by Kelly himfelf. Therefore, my Lords,

I beg leave to take Notice of feveral Names that

are in Mr. Plunked Cypher, and ufed by Mr.
Kelly's Correfpondents, in their Letters to him.

There is the Name of Xoland, which ftands for

Wogan ; the Name of Lane, which ftands for

Lord Marr-y the Name of Cane, which ftands for

Billon ; and the Name of Howell, for Glafcock.

My Lords, all thefe Names are in Mr. Plunket's

Cypher, and made ufe of in the Letters that

pafs'd between Mr. Kelly and his Correfpon-

dents.

My Lords, I fhall beg leave to fubmit it to

your Lordfhips, when, among Perfons concerned

in carrying on the fame Confpiracy, Cyphers are

made ufe of, and in the Cyphers of fome of the

Confpirators, the Names comprized in Letters

writ by others of the Confpirators are contain'd,

whether it is not a reafonable Evidence, that

thofe fictitious Names contain'd in the Cyphers of
one of the Confpirators, and made ufe of in the

Letters of the other, fignify the fame Perfons ;

unlefs there is fomething to diftinguifh the Cafe,

and fhew that the fame Names are made ufe of to

denote feveral Perfons.

My Lords, we humbly fubmit it to your Lord-
fhips, that it is plain from the Evidence we have

given, that thefe three Letters are writ by the

fame Hand ; and by the Circumftances in the

Letters, they appear to be dictated by one and

the very fame Perfon. Therefore, my Lords,

the Enquiry will be, who is the Perfon defcribed

by the Names of T. Jones, 1". lllington, and the

Figures 1378 : for if we have proved the Bifhop

of Rochejler to be denoted in this Correfpondence

by the Names ofJones and lllington, and that thefe

Letters were written by Kelly, and dictated by

Jones and lllington, then the Bifhop of Rochejler

is the Perfon by whom thefe Letters were dic-

tated.

This will appear to your Lordfhips from other

Facts contained in Letters intercepted in this

Correfpondence -, Facts that, all of them toge-

ther, can relate to no Perfon but the Bifhop of

Rochejler.

The Circumftances of the Bifhop and his

Family, are exactly defcribed in the three Let-

ters of the 20th of April ; and thofe Circum-

ftances plainly fhew, that all the three Letters

were dictated by the fame Perfon, and that the

Figures 1378 denote the fame Perfon that Jones

and lllington do.

My Lords, there are feveral other Facts con-

tain'd in the intercepted Letters, that denote

Jones and lllington to be the Bifhop of Rochejler.

One of them is, the Fact relating to a Dog fent

over to Mr. Kelly, which appears, by the Evi-

dence given, to have been defign'd for the Bifhop

ofRochejler: Therefore in the Letter mark'd£. 32.

(that is, a Letter to Mr. Kelly by the Name ofHat-

field, and directed to Mr. Hatfield, under Mr.
Anthony Saunders's Cover, which is one of the

Perfons defcrib'd in the Lift of Directions taken

in Kelly's Pocket-Book) the Letter mentions the

little Dog was fent ten Days ago, and order'd to be

deliver'd to you, &c—My Lords, afterwards Mr.
Kelly by a Letter dated the 30th of April, 1722,
E. 35. (it is a Letter from J. H. one of Mr. Kelly's

Names to Howell, and which have been proved

to be Mr. Kelly's Hand-writing) fays, I received

the Prefint fent by theyoung Lady, but in fuch a bad

Condition, that I am afraid he never will do well

;

for he had a Leg broken in his Journey, winch is fill

very
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very had with hbn ; however, I will take all the Your Lordfhips, we hope, will be of Opinion,

Care imaginable of him, and inform Mr. Jones foon in a Correfpondence of this Nature, (unlefs they

of it, to whom, I know, any thing from that guar- fhew fomething to induce your Lordfhips to be-

ter will he very acceptable. lieve, that there hath been a malicious Defign in

My Lords, it appears by this Letter of Mr. the Parties between whom thefe letters pafs'd,

Kelly's, that this Dog, that is there mention'd, to denote the Bifhop of Rochefter, in order to

was not a Dog for Mr. Kelly himfelf, but for Mr. charge him) that thefe are Facts, which amount to

Jones ; a Dog for a Perfon denoted and under- a certain Proof who the Perfon is, that ufed to

itood by the fictitious Name of Jones : So that if go by the Names of Jones and Illington.

the Evidence that hath been given of this Dog Your Lordfhips obferve how the Matter ftands:

being defign'd for the Bifhop of Rochefter, is true

;

Mr. Jones and Illington is a Perfon defcribed, by the

then it follows that Mr. Jones, mention'd in this Letters of the 20th of April, to be in great Pain

Letter of Kelly's, denotes the Bifhop of Rochefter. himfelf, to be in melancholy Circumftances in o-

There is another Letter relating to this Dog, ther Refpects : He appears by the Evidence at that

E. 42 : there is mention'd the Concern Mrs. Illing- Time to have been ill of the Gout, his lady ap-

ton was in for poor Harlequin ; Mrs. Illington is pears to have been ill, and dying •, Mrs. Jones and

in great 'Tribulation for poor Harlequin, who is in a Mr. Illington is a Perfon to whom a Dog was fent,

had Way, having flipped his Leg again before it was and it appears by the Evidence, that this Dog was

thoroughly well, however his Obligations to the Lady defign'd for the Bifhop of Rochefter. Mrs. Jones,

are as great as if he had come fafe, which he defires in one letter 'tis faid, died laft Week ; and in

you to let her know. another letter they condole the Death of Mrs.

My Lords, this fhews that Jones and Illington Illington: and it appears the Bifhop's Lady died

are the fame Perfons. It appears by the former the Week before the 30th of April.

letter, that the Prefent was for Mr. Jones, and My Lords, there are other Circumftances,

he fhould foon know of it ; this letter fays, that which I fhould mention, in relation to the Times
Mrs. Illington is in great Tribulation, &c. However when the Bifhop was in London, and when in the

his Obligations io the lady are as great, &c. Tho' in Country ; which, we apprehend, is an additional

the firft Part of the letter it is Mrs. Illington, in Proof who was meant by the Names of Jones

the latter Part it is HIS Obligations to the Lady are and Illington. Therefore in Letter £.41. a.

as great as if he had come fafe, which HE defiresyou Kelly fays, Mr. Illington is now in Town, and pre-

to let her know. That fhews, that the Perfon in the fents his kind Service to you ; he is glad to hear you

former letter, defcribed by the Name of Jones, received his Letters hy Crow, and wifhes his next

is in this letter defcribed by Illington, and confe- may be more to your Satisfatlicn.

quently Jones and Illington are the fame Perfon. This letter is dated the 7th of May ; there it

My Lords, the next Circumftance obfervable is faid, Mr. Jones is now in Town : It appears,

in thefe letters, the intercepted Correfpondence by the Examination of Wood the Coachman, that

between Mr. Kelly and his Friends abroad, is the on the 7th of May my Lord Bifhop of Rochefter

letter dated the 30th of April 1722, E. 35. which was in Town.
fays, Mrs. Jones died laft Week, and when the Days There is another letter dated the 7th of May
of Mourning are over, he will, I hope, be fit for 1722, directed to Mufgrave, E. 42. which I beg

Bufmefs. leave to make fome Obfervations on. There k
My Lords, it hath been given in Evidence, is faid, I had the Favour ofyours, which I commu-

that the Bifhop's Lady, his own WitnefTes as well nicated to Mr. Jones, who is come to Town only for

as ours, have given an Account, that the Bifhop's a Day.

Lady died the 26th of April : This letter is da- My Lords, this letter fhews, that the Perfon

ted the 30th of the fame April, confequently this denoted by the Name of Jones was come to

fuits exactly with the Bifhop's Circumftances as to Town. But they object, that this letter cannot

his Lady being dead. be apply'd to denote the Bifhop of Rochefter, be-

My Lords, that Jones and Illington are the fame, caufe it appears by the Depofition of Wood, that

appears likewife by the Anfwer given to this let- the Bifhop of Rochefter ftaid in Town till the 10th

ter, dated the 20th of May, 1722, £.43. which of May ; fo confequently he did not come to

fays, Mrs. Chivers gives you her kind Service, and Town only for a Day, and confequently can't be

prays you will condole in his Name on the Death of the Perfon meant in that letter.

Mrs. Illington. My Lords, this letter is in an- My Lords, as to that it appears, that the Fact

fwer to that of the 30th of April, for it begins, concerning Mr. Jones, applying it to the Bifhop of

Yours of the %olh of April, which fhould have come Rochefter, of his being come to Town, is true ;

by laft Poft, is come to hand ; and this letter con- as to the Bifhop's being come to Town only for a

doles on the Death of Mrs. Illington, whereas the Day, that is not Matter of Fact, but of the Appre-

letter of the 30th of April gave an Account that henfion of the Writer : He apprehended he was

Mrs. Jones was dead. So that Jones and Illing- only come to Town for a Day, but he might be

ton appear by thefe letters to denote the fame miftaken in that •, but the Fact of his being come

Perfon. to Town is true, the Apprehenfion of the Writer

My Lords, thefe are letters writ by Corre- that he came only for a Day, is falfe. But we

fpondents, concern'd, one with another, in car- mufl fubmit it to your Lordfhips ; the Apprehen-

rying on this Confpiracy. It hath been object- fion of the Writer is not fufficient to avoid the

ed, on the behalf of my Lord Bifhop of Rochef- Truth of the Fact contain'd in that letter, when
ter, that he is not concern'd in writing of thefe we have proved that my Lord Bifhop of Rochefter

letters, nor did any of them come to his Hands, was in Town on the Day when Mr. Jones is men-

nor were they writ by his Directions, but that tion'd to have been in Town in that letter,

they paffed between Mr. Kelly and his. Correfpon- Another letter dated ThitrftLy the 10th of

dents abroad. May 1722, £.44. fays, Illington is gone to
,

Country ;
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Country, r'attd fent me Word he would he in Town on

Tuefday Night, when he hath defired to fee me at

a -particular Hour, by which I conclude it may be

about Buftnefi ; and the Tuefday following that

Thurfday happen'd to be the 15th of May. An-

other letter E. 45. dated the 14th of May,

17 22, fays, Mr. Jones isJIM in the Country, but he

hath fent me Word he will be in Town to-morrow.

My Lords, upon the Examination of the Coach-

man Wood, it doth appear, thacthe' Bifhop of Ro-

chefter was out of Town the 10th of May, out of

Town the 14th of May, but that he came toTown

the 15th of May, which is the Day mention'd in

thofe letters that he had prom i fed to come to

Town : So that here are additional Circumftances,

ail agreeing to prove that the Bifhop of Rochejler

was denoted by the Names of Jones and Illing-

ton. My Lords, we mud fubmit it, that this is

not probable conjectural Evidence only, as has

been objected.

Thefe letters contain Facts, and the Confe-

quence from them is, that Jones and Illington is

the Bifhop of Rochejler, in whom all thefe Facts

agree. It is almoft morally impoffible, that all

thefe Facts mould agree in the Cafe of any other

Perfon, as they do in the Cafe of the Bifhop of

Rochejler.

It has been argued, as to the letters of the

20th of April -, Was he the only Perfon that was

in Pain and melancholy Circumftances at that

Time? A great many might be fo. They go
thro' the Particulars of his being in Town and in

the Country ; a great many Perfons might be in

Town and in the Country on thofe Days befides

him. It is true, it might be fo. Was there no
body whofe lady died the Week before the 30th

of April, but the Bifhop of Rochejler ? Certain-

Jy, there are a great many to whom that Circum-
ftance may be applied. But, my Lords, taking

the Circumftances together, they cannot all of
them concur in the Cafe of any other Perfon, as

they do in the Cafe of my Lord Bifhop of Ro-
chesler.

It may not be improper here to take Notice of
lbme other of the intercepted letters, that have
been given in Evidence to your Lordfhips, which
mention the Names of Jones and Illington.

In Mr. Kelly's letters, giving an Account of
his being taken up, and his Examination before

the Council, he takes Notice of his being exa-

mined concerning the Perfons that were meant by
feveral fictitious Names, and, among the reft,

Jones and Illington, who, he fays, are chiefly ftruck
at. This is to give an Intimation to his Corre-
fpondents abroad, that there had been a Difcovery,
that the fictitious Names, concerning which he
had been examined, were made ufe of in their

Correfpondence.

My Lords, he comes afterwards and writes a
letter, after fuch Time as he was bail'd (he was
taken the 19th of May, and bail'd the 7th of
June) wherein he fays, it is abfolutely necejfary now,
that there Jhould be a new Book of Accounts ; fays
he, they musl ufe no more their prefent Book of Ac-
counts, fince thofe, who have got Part, may have
got the Whole.

My Lords, we humbly fubmit it, that he ha-
ving given an Account of his being examined
concerning thofe feveral fictitious Names, after
when he comes and fays it is abfolutely neceffary
to have a new Book of Accounts, it is a plain

owning of Kelly by this letter, that the Names
enquired after were the Names made ufe of in the

Correfpondence, and therefore he fays, it is ne-

ceffary to have a new Book of Accounts ; that is,

other Cyphers and fictitious Names, by which to

carry on their Correfpondence : He owns they

have got Part, and fears they may have got the

Whole.
From that Time the Names of Jones and Illing-

ton are no more met with in the Correfpondence

that follows. We have gone no farther in our

Evidehce to fix any other Names to mean the Bi-

fhop of Rochester, but only the Names of Jones

and Illington. But there are other Names, which,

in the Letters that follow, probably are defign'd

to mean the Bifhop of Rochefter; but they will

be out of the Cafe, becaufe we have given no
Evidence concerning them : and the plain Rea-
fon why Jones and Illington are not made ufe of
any longer, is, becaufe it appears on the Exami-
nation of Mr. Kelly, that thofe Names were men-
tioned : therefore they were afraid, by making ufe

of thofe Names, the Correfpondence might be

difcover'd, and it might prejudice the Perfons who
went by thofe fictitious Names.
My Lords, this is the Subftance of the letters,

writ to and from Mr. Kelly and his Correfpondents,

concerning the Perfon that goes by the Names of

Jones and Illington.

Tho* my Lord Bifhop of Rochester infifts, that

he is not proved to be the Perfon concern'd in

writing thefe letters, and that he had no Notice

of them, and therefore they ought not to be

Jook'd upon as Evidence againft him ; my Lords,

we fubmit it to your Lordfhips, in a Correfpon-

dence of this Nature, when we purfue Facts and
Circumftances that are ftated and arife from the

intercepted letters, which when they come to be

apply'd together, are a plain Indication of the

Perfon that is meant by them ; when thefe Cir-

cumftances and Facts can fit none - but the Bifhop

of Rochefter ; we hope, tho' it is not legal Evi-

dence in Weflmmfter-Hall, yet it is fatisfactory

Evidence to induce your Lordfhips to believe and

be convinced, that no Perfon can be denoted by

thefe Names but the Bifhop of Rochesler.

My Lords, this is a Matter that the Bifhop of

Rochesler could not, with all his Care, be aware

of; he takes Care that the letters of the 20th of

April are in Cyphers, and not writ with his own
Hand ; fictitious Names are made ufe of, and he

thinks he fhall be fheltered by this Means from

being found out to be the Perfon. The other

Facts could not be fuppofed would come out to

explain the Perfon.

But, my Lords, very often there is a Provi-

dence in detecting Things of this Nature ; and

where the greateft Caution and Care is ufed, Cir-

cumftances (that human Prudence could not guard

againft) are fo ftrong and convincing, that they

difcover fuch fecret Correfpondence, and plainly

prove who is the Perfon carrying it on.

Some Texts of Scripture have been cited on

the other Side, my Lords, I beg leave to ufe one

on this Occafion ; and that is, Curje not the King,

no not in thy Thought, for a Bird of the Air Jhall

carry the Voice, and that which hath Wings Jhall tell

the Matter.

In thefe treafonable Confpiracies and Corre-

fpondences againft the King and Government,

(notwithftanding they are carried on fo fecretly,

that
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that the Confpirators think nothing can difcover

them) there happen fometimes, thro' Providence,

i'uch Circumftances which the Perfons cannot be

aware of, that bring thofe things of Darknefs to

Lio-ht : and we hope this may be an Example,

that may deter any Perfon from going in the molt

fecret and concealed Way to engage in any thing

of this Nature.

My Lords, there is a Matter I mail beg leave

to mention to your Lordfhips, becaufe my Lord

Bilhop hath infinuated as if I made hard and harfh

Application of the letter taken upon his Servant.

My Lords, he fays that the Conftruction I put up-

on that letter was not a natural but an ill-natur'd

Explication. The letter mentions an Impeach-

ment, and fays the Bilhop in the letter, if the Im-

peachment cannot be ftopt, I am Prifoner for fome

Tears "without Remedy.

My Lords, I did obferve to your Lordfhips on

that Expreflion in the letter, that it feem'd to

import a Senfe of my Lord Bifhop's Guilt, be-

caufe he faid he was unavoidably a Prifoner for

fome Years. My Lord Bifhop fays, this is by no

means a natural, but a forc'd and ill-natur'd Expli-

cation ; for in that place he meant no more than, if

an Impeachment were lodged, it would not be

profecuted, but made ufe of only that he might
be detained a Prifoner for fome Years.

My Lords, I muft fubmit to your Lordfhips,

which is the molt genuine and natural Interpreta-

tion, that which I put upon the Words, or that

which my Lord Bifhop of Rochester doth ; which
fo highly reflects on the Honour and Juftice of

your Lordfhips and the Houfe of Commons.
My Lords, I fhall beg leave in the next place

to take notice of the Evidence that hath been

given on the behalf of my Lord Bifhop of Ro-
chester, and to confider, whether that is fufficient

Evidence to fatisfy your Lordfhips of his Inno-

cence.

My Lords, we did read the Examination of

Mr. Neynoe, one of his Examinations, and the

laft that was taken ; they on the other Side called

for three other Examinations, of which the laft

Examination, which we read, was an Abftraft

;

they read them all, and, my Lords, the Exami-
nation which we read, was confiftent with three

other Examinations, with relation to my Lord
Bifhop of Rochester : and I muft own that the

Charge, in the Examination of Neynoe, upon my
Lord Bifhop of Rochester, is only Hearfay from
Kelly ; that Mr. Kelly did tell Neynoe, that the

Bifhop of Rochefter held Correfpondence with the

Pretender and his Agents ; and that he was employed
by the Bifhop in writing for him, and carrying on the

faid Correspondences : So far, my Lords, it is

Hearfay, what Mr. Kelly told Neynoe. Now, as

to Mr. Kelly himfelf, it did affect him, by charg-
ing that he had confefs'd to Neynoe, that he did
carry on fuch a Correfpondence : but as to my
Lord Bilhop, it cannot affect him but as Hear-
fay ; and we muft agree that if there was no-
thing elfe in the Cafe but this, all the Arguments
made ufe of againft fuch Evidence would be of
great Weight.
My Lords, I can't fay that this Charge from

Neynoe's Examination is of Weight to charge the
Bilhop of Rochester, fo as to condemn him. My
Lords, they have urged that if this Charge is not
to be believed, all comes to nothing: This, fay
they, is the Foundation, and if Neynoe's Exami-
Vol. VI.

nation is not fufficient to affect the Bifhop of Ro-
chester, then all the fubfequent Evidence falls to
the Ground.

My Lords, I beg leave to obferve firft, that
if we had not Neynoe's Examination, the Proof
againft my Lord Bifhop of Rochester is as ftrong
without it as with it ; it is certainly Evidence of
the Confpiracy in general, but as to the Bifhop it

is only a Circumftance, to fhew that another
Man had faid of the Bifhop of Rochester, that he
was carrying on a Correfpondence with the Pre-
tender, &c.

But, my Lords, taking the Examination of
Neynoe out of the Cafe, and confidering the other
Fads mention'd and prov'd to your Lordfhips,
there is no Occafion of Neynoe's Examination •,

whether Neynoe's Examination be falfe or true,

is not material : There is fufficient to prove the
Bifhop of Rochester guilty, for they can't deftroy
the other Facts and Circumftances ; and as lon°-

as they fubfift, they prove the Bifhop of Rochester
to be the Perfon concerned in carrying on this

Correfpondence.

: My Lords, I beg leave to obferve in Neynoe's
Examination, there is fomething more than Hear-
fay, there is a Fact in it, and we are able to fup-
port that Fact by other Evidence. Neynoe fays,

that he hath gone feveral Times with Kelly to the
Bifhop of Rochester's, and hath ftaid a considerable
Time for him. My Lords, we fhall prove by
another Witnefs, that Neynoe about that Time
came feveral Times to a Houfe, where he faid he
waited for a Friend of his that was gone to the
Bifhop of Rochester's, and he ftaid and waited for

him three or four Times, for an Hour, and an
Hour and an half together. This will confirm
what Neynoe faid in that refpect to be true.

.
They fay there are feveral Improbabilities con-

tained in Neynoe's Examination, and Inconfiften-

cies ; as to the Improbabilities, fome of them are

mentioned as if there was great Weight in them,
That fo much infilled on by my Lord Bilhop him-
felf, is, that Neynoe fays, he was employed to

write Memorials, and the laft he wrote was in

December, and that was to defire the Regent of
France to furnifh a Body of 5000 Men, to come
and invade thefe Kingdoms : The Obfervation

made by the Bifhop of Rochester is. Where are

thefe Memorials? Why did he not keep Copies of
them? For he was at that Time concerned in a

Defign to ferve himfelf one way or other ; if he
defigned to betray thofe Perfons he correfponded

with, it would have been of Service to have kept
thofe Memorials, to have delivered them to the

Government : If, on the other fide, he had kept
to his Friends, it would have been proper to have

kept them, in order to create a Confidence in him,

and to fhew the Part he had in the Confpiracy.

Thefe Obfervations can have no Weight, when
your Lordfhips come to confider this was in De-

cember, and there was never any Application by
him to make any Difcovery of this Confpiracy

till July following. As to the Service it might

be to keep them with refpefl to his Party, my
Lords, we humbly apprehend that, confidering

him as a Man engaged in a Correfpondence of this

kind, a Memorial of this Nature drawn up by

him can be of no Ufe, but to detect himfelf and

injure his Party, if he happens to be taken up, and

fuch a Memorial found upon him ; therefore it was

neceffary to deftroy it.

4 C My
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My Lords, there is another thing mentioned

with relation to IVatfon, and the Improbability of

his being the Earl Marefchal ; but Neynoe does not

fay that he was the Earl Marefchal, but fays, there

was one Henry Watfon, which he took to be a

fictitious Name, and does not know who he really

was, but he took him to be the Earl Marefchal,

and he gave him the Heads to draw up thefe

Memorials.

My Lords, we apprehend it is not material,

who IVatfon was •, he is a Perfon that employed

Neynoe to write thefe Memorials, and he might

be the Earl Marefchal: Neynoe fays he took him

to be fo. Say they, if it was the Earl Marefchal,

why fhould he lie feveral Nights with Neynoe ?

this, fiy they, is very improbable. If it was

him, he was to conceal himfelf, and take the fit-

tell Place for that Purpofe ; therefore converfing

with Neynoe, and not owning himfelf who he was,

is not improbable. It is probable he would not

difcover himfelf to every Perfon ; and tho' Neynoe

was a Perfon engaged in the Confpiracy, if Ney-

noe did not know him to be the Earl Marefchal,

it might not be proper for him to difcover him-

felf to Neynoe.

My Lords, I think thefe are the principal

Things objected ; there are fome other little Mat-

ters, but 1 think dwelling on fuch Objections as

thefe, is but mifpending your LordfhipsTime.

My Lords, that which we humbly infift upon

is, Whether Neynoe^ Examination is an Examina-

tion to be credited or not credited ? We agree it

is only Hearfay, as to the Bifhop of Rochester,

and if we had not other Matter, it would not be

fufficient •, fo that we humbly apprehend it's be-

ing true or falfe won't affect this Cafe. If your

Lordfhips are of Opinion 'tis falfe, there is fuffi-

cient Evidence againft the Bifhop of Rochester

without it.

My Lords, in the next Place they have pro-

duced in Evidence feveral Perfons that come and

give your Lordfhips an Account of Neynoe's Con-

feffions to them. There is one Mr. Bingley, Mr.
Steward and Mr. Skeene, and two other Perfons,

that give an Account of what Mr. Skeene and

Steward had told them Neynoe had faid.

Bingley by his Evidence would have it believed,

that Neynoe had told' him, he was employed by

forne Perfon in Power, to fix feveral things upon
feveral Perfons that they were innocent of; that

he had faid feveral things that were falfe, and had

impofed upon a great Man he had made Appli-

cation to, and had got great Sums of Money
out of him.

My Lords, I don't know how far they would
carry this-, for by what hath been infifted upon by
my Lord Bifhop of Rochefter, and his Counfel, it

fhould feem as if they were labouring to fhew

from thefe Perfons, that they have call'd to be
examined, that all the letters relating to this Cor-

refpondence, the letters of the 20th of April, and
fubfequent letters, that relate to the particular

Facts, that denote Jones and Illington to be my
Lord Bifhop of Rochester, were contrived between

Neynoe and fome other Perfons, in order to charge

my Lord Bifhop of Rochefter with being concern'd

in this Confpiracy. This feems to be what they

are labouring at by this Evidence.

My Lords, as to Neynoe's being a Perfon em-

ploy'd in writing thefe letters of the 20th of

Anil, or any fubfequent letters, in manner as

is fuggefted, we fhall fhew your Lordfhips that
it's impofTible to be true ; we fhall fhew that the
letters of the 20th of April, and all the other
letters that mention the Facts which denote the
Bifhop of Rochefter, were all intercepted and in

the Hands of the Government, before fuch Time
as it was known among the Miniftry that there

was fuch a Perfon as Neynoe: for Neynoe made
Application to the honourable Perfon mentioned
by their Witneffes, fubfequent to all this Corre-
fpondence, when thefe letters were in the Hands
of the Government, as a Perfon that could
make Difcoveries to the Government. There-
fore that Infinuation muft vanifb, that Neynoe
was employ'd to forge letters, which contain
Facts under the Names of Jones and Illington, to

charge the Bifhop of Rochefter •, and that even
thofe letters of the 20th of April were forged by
him.

My Lords, we fhall go into the Character of
Mr. Bingley, who hath, at your Lordfhips Bar,
owned, that he hath been whipt, pilloried, and
imprifoned : and as he hath taken his Degrees, as
he owned at your Lordfhips Bar, confequently
he hath taken the Oaths.

As to the Character of Mr. Skeene, he hath
likewife been produced as a Witnefs, and he car-

ries his Evidence farther than the Evidence of Mr.
Bingley ; for whereas Mr. Bingley fays, that Neynoe
confeffed he had impofed upon that Honourable
Perfon, and had mentioned things that were falfe,

yet he could not fay that after the Time of his

Examinations, after Neynoe was brought from Do-
ver to Town, he had confefs'd to him that what
he had faid on thofe Examinations was falfe: But
Skeene fays, that after his Examinations he own'd
that they were falfe. The laft Examination was
the 27th of September, and he was drown'd that

Night ; but as to the Examinations before the

27th of September, and out of which that is col-

lected, Mr. Skeene fays, Neynoe faid to him, that

they were falfe.

My Lords, as to Mr. Skeene, we fhall fhew what
fort of a Man he is, a Man attainted of High-
Treafon ; and tho' he is pardoned, as to his

having his life and liberty given him, he is in

all refpeds an attainted Perfon : He was tried

and condemned in the County of Surry, for being

concerned in the Prefon Rebellion, and confe-

quently a Man of no Credit. And as to what he

and Steward fwear, relating to a Converfation

with Neynoe, when in Cuftody, we fhall fhew

they never were together after the firft Night,

when they fupp'd together. He was afked, whe-

ther it was the firft Night that he had this Con-
verfation with Neynoe, and he did not pretend he

had any Converfation of this Nature with Neynoe

the firft Night ; and if it was not the firft Night,

we fhall fhew it could not be afterwards, for hley»-

noe was kept in a Room by himfelf, Skeene and

Steward by themfelves in a Room underneath ;

and therefore this feems to be a Story contrived

between Skeene and Steward.

We fhall fhew it could not be pofllble for them

to converfe together, for Skeene and Steward were

locked up in their Room ; Neynoe was lock'd up

in his Room feparate and apart from theirs ; io

that they could never have Correfpondence with

him, nor come near him.

Another thing is fworn by one of them, about

a Melfage fent to him by Neynoe, and a Paper,

while
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while they were in Cuftody of the Meffenger

;

ry, that they are much better Judges of the Hand
and he fays, this Paper was brought to him by the than if they had two of thefe letters to have on-

Meffenger's Maid from Neynoe, and that this Pa- ly compared them together: And the Hand-
per contain'd a Juftification of my Lord Orrery, writing was fo well known to them, that they

expreffing that he knew nothing of my Lord Orre- could, as they have informed your Lordfhips,

ry, but what he had faid of him was utterly falfe

;

when any of thefe letters came, diftinguifh them
that the Meffenger finding he had fome Paper, he, by the Hand-writing of the Superfcriptions, be

to conceal this Paper, burnt it. But that the

Maid came to him with fuch a Meffage or Paper

is falfe ; the Maid never did, nor did the Meffen-

ger know of the Paper, as we fhall prove to your

Lordfhips

fore they had open'd them, and they never were
miftaken. And this, we humbly apprehend, is as

fatisfaftory an Evidence as can be given, that

thefe letters were the Hand-writing of Mr. Kelly,

provided the letter of the 20th of Auguft, which

My Lords, when we have proved this, we I fhall take Notice of by and by, is fufficiently

humbly apprehend we have taken off any Credit proved to be of his Hand-writing,

that could be given to what thefe People have Taking it then, my Lords, that thefe letters

laid, if they have faid any thing material. My are the Hand-writing of Mr. Kelly, and of his

Lords, before I leave this Head, I beg leave to Correfpondents in anfwer to them, I don't find

obferve another thing zs> to Skeene. He, upon his that my Lord Bifhop of Rochefter hath charged

Examination concerning aDifcourfe with Fancier, Mr. Kelly with having any Malice to him. And
denies it intirely ; but fays, that what Fancier if he had no Malice to the Bifhop of Rochester,

hath inform'd in relation to him, is falfe. We what mould induce him to write thofe letters, on

fhall call Pander, who will inform your Lord-

fhips, that Skeene hath own'd that he was privy

to this Confpiracy, and knew who were concern'd

in it.

I own there are feveral noble Perfons named to

purpofe to charge the Bifhop of Rochester with
being concerned in this Confpiracy ?

My Lords, we humbly apprehend the Pretence

of thefe letters being forg'd, muff, infinuate, that

Kelly, a vile Fellow, intending to charge the Bi-

be concern'd; that there is no Reafon to fay, fhop of Rochester with being concern'd in this Con-

front what Skeene may have faid of them, that they fpiracy, and make him liable to forfeit every thing

are guilty : But fuch as he may have ufed the that was dear to him, hath contrived letters

Names of great Perfons defignedly, to keep up the containing Circumftances, in order to fix him to

Spirit of their Party, by telling them fuch and be the Perfon denoted by the Names of Jones and

fuch Perfons were concerned : and if there is no lllington ; he hath written Letters, and by Corn-

other Evidence but what fuch a Perfon hath faid,

the noble Perfons mentioned will not be affected

by it.

My Lords, there is another Head I fhall beg

leave to mention, and what they have infifted

upon under this Supposition ; that they would

have it taken that there was a Defign to forge

bination received others in anfwer to them, for

this Purpofe; and by thefe wicked and malicious

Practices, hath furnifhed this Evidence againft the

Bifhop, who is an innocent Man.
My Lords, this is the Subftance of the De-

fence on this Head ; and whether your Lordfhips
will believe this, we muft fubmit to your Lord-

Letters, in order to charge my Lord Bifhop of mips. Your Lordfhips have had Kelly before you,

Rochefier, and feveral other Perfons. Say they;, and by his Behaviour have had no Reafon co think

it was eafy to get Information of fuch Circum- that he had any Malice againft my Lord Bifhop

ftances relating to the Bifhop and his Family, as of Rochester, or any Defign or Intention to pre-

are mentioned in the intercepted Letters, and then judice him.

to write fuch Letters, with a Defign falfly to charge My Lords, the next Part of the Evidence I

the Bifhop with having been concerned in carrying fhall beg leave to obferve, is a Part very confi-

on a treafonable Correfpondence. Your Lordfhips derable, and is fo fir from being a Defence, that

will pleafe to confider who this Charge muft fall the Defence attempted, hath confirm'd and

upon, of forging the Letters of the 20th of April, ftrengthen'd the Evidence againft my Lord Bifhop

or the Letters that fhew Jones and lllington to be of Rochester; that is, with relation to the letter

the Bifhop of Rochefier. taken among my Lord Bifhop's Papers, directed

My Lords, we have proved them all to be Mr. to Dubois; a letter, which, they obferve, don't

Kelly's own Hand-writing, or Letters that have contain any Treafon, or is of any treafonable Itn-

come in Anfwer to chem. They have objected we port ; but it feems to be a letter of Indifference,

have not given fufficient Proof of Kelly's, Hand : and, I believe, as fuch, it was not taken care to

Say they, it is proved by Clerks of the Poft- be deftroy'd, as it would have been, had there

Office, who never had compared one original been any Apprehenfion that Ufe would have

Letter with another, but at laft they ftop an ori- been made of it, as now, againft the Bifhop of

ginal Letter, dated the 20th of Auguft, after the Rochefter.

Correfpondence had been carried on feveral My Lords, the Ufe we make of it is, to fhew

Months ; and then come and fvvear that the origi- that Mr. John/on, or Mr. Kelly, was a Perfon em-
nal Letters, that were forwarded, were of the

fame Hand-v/riting with that of the 20th of Au-

guft. Can this be looked upon as fufficient Proof?

But we fubmit it, their Evidence is much stronger

ployed by my Lord Bifhop of Rochester in writing

Letters for him. My Lords, your Lordfnips

will obferve by the Letter, he fays, 1 have heard

nothing from you fince the Letter I had about tzvo

than if they had only compared one Letter with Months ago by Mr. Johnfon, to which I immediately

another, for they not only had thefe Letters in his Hand returned my Anfwer.

come every Week, but they were employ'd eve- My Lords, if this is the Bifhop of Rochester \s

ry time thefe Letters came, to copy them ; fo letter, either in his own Hand, or his letter

that the Hand-writing of thefe Letters muft, by writ by another Perfon, it plainly proves what

the conftant flopping of thefe Letters, and their we infer from it, that Johnfon, i. e. Kelly, writ ! in-

copying of them, be fo imprinted on their Memo- the Bifhop. Your Lordfhips will obferve, it is

a
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a letter writ in a Hand which no man writes, a

ftiff Hand almoft like Print; and it is plain that it

is writ to difguife the Hand of the Writer, who-
ever he was. At the latter End or" the letter,

when the Perfon that writ it comes to be tired and

off of his Guard, there are feveral Letters which

compared with the Writing of my Lord Bifhop

of Rochefter, and what is own'd to be his, appear

to be his writing. In the Date of the Letter,

which is December, the D you frequently find in

the Bifhop's Hand-writing ; your Lordlhips ob-

ferve the Letter E that frequently occurs in the

Bifhop's writing •, and your Lordfhips by compar-

ing that with the Letter produced, will find that

they exactly agree.

Whether or no your Lordfhips won't think it,

on thofe Circumftances, to be the writing of my
Lord Bifhop of Rochefter \n a difguifed Hand, we
muft fubmit to your Lordlhips. But, my Lords,

fuppofe it was not his Hand-writing, here is Evi-

dence that it was his Letter •, and that is evident,

becaufe it is under his Seal, it is fealed with his

own Seal, a Seal that he had in his Cuftody, and
made Ufe of no longer ago than the 26th of Fe-

bruary laft : I think that is the Day a Letter was
taken from his Servant. That we humbly appre-
hend, my Lords, will plainly mew it is the Bi-

fhop's Letter, becaufe it was fealed with his Seal,

and the fame Seal is made Ufe of by the Bifhop,

on the letter that was taken upon his Servant in

February laft.

My Lords, this Matter hath been controvert-

ed by my Lord Bifhop. He hath call'd Engra-
vers, who believe Seals may be counterfeited,

and Impreffions may be taken off the Wax, and
another Impreffion made, fo as to make it difficult

to know which is which. They were a little

Joofe in anfwering the Queftion, Whether or no,

if the Seal, from whence the Impreffion was to be
taken, was broken in the Middle, it could be
done. But one faid, the Seal might be mended,
and it might pafs unobferved, but I find it is ex-

tremely difficult. But they did fay, Seals may be
fo counterfeited, that it may be difficult to difco-

ver one from the other. My Lords, this is to in-

finuate, that after fuch Time as the letter was
taken upon my Lord Bifhop's Servant, the Perfon
in whole Cuftody this other Letter of Dubois was
(which is proved to have been taken the 24th of
Aug. amongft the Bifhop's Papers) hath caufed an
Impreffion to be taken off the Seal with which
the letter to Dubois was fealed, (the Wax broken
in two as it was) in order to fix it upon the let-

ter that was taken upon my Lord Bifhop's Servant,
fo as to prove the letter to Dubois to be the Bi-
fhop's Letter. Who is this to be fixed upon ?

Neynoe was gone ; I don't know, unlefs upon
the Committee of the Houfe of Commons : for

the Bifnop's Letter was taken on his Servant
the 26th of February, the Committee of the
Houfe of Commons made their Report on the
iff. of March, and the letter to Dubois had
long before the 26th of February been in Cuftody
of that Committee. And yet while this letter

is in Cuftody of a Committee of the Houfe of
Commons, they will have it, here, is an Im-
preffion taken off a broken Seal, and put on this

other Letter, in order to fhew that thefe are Let-
ters of the fam£ Perfon. Who can believe this to

be the Cafe ?

An Obfervation hath been made, that truly the
Committee of the Houfe of Commons have not
made any Obfervation of this Kind, with relation

to this letter to Dubois, that it is the Bifhop's
letter : which is true ; for they had not this

Matter relating to the Identity of the Seals, un-
der their Confideration •, but this is a new Difco-
very made fince: And therefore, my Lords, they
apprehended that this was a letter directed to

the Bifhop by the Name of Dubois, it being found
amongft his Papers, and nothing to the contra-

ry did appear, till after they had made their

Report.

My Lords, there are other Things your Lord-
fhips would have expected to have had an Ac-
count of, in anfwer to this Evidence. Here is a
letter found among my Lord Bifhop's Papers

;

confequently fo far we apprehend that this Evi-
dence is a legal Evidence againft the Bifhop, as

being a letter found in his Cuftody ; this letter

is directed to Dubois, and mentions the Hand of
John/on. Doth my Lord Bifhop of Rochefter give
any Account who Dubois is ? who this Johnfon is ?

how this letter came there? No, my Lords,
none at all. Doth his Lordfhip give you any Ac-
count of the Seal ? and hath his Lordfhip faid that

the Seal, that fealed the letter taken on his Ser-

vant, he hath not? or that the Letter was not
fealed with his Seal, or that he did not feal it

himfelf ? His Lordfhip did not fay one Word to

that Purpofe, or make any Denial of the Matter,
nor give your Lordfhips any Account who Dubois
and Johnfon were ; nothing at all, but hath left

it to your Lordfhips on that Foot : That the let-

ter to Dubois had an Impreffion taken off, after

it was in the Cuftody of the Committee of the

Houfe of Commons, and that Impreffion made
ufe of on the other Letter: and that this is ano-

ther Part of the Contrivance, in order to charge
my Lord Bifhop of Rochester with being concern'd
in this Confpiracy.

My Lords, as to the Seal's being the fame on
the two letters, we humbly apprehend, the Evi-
dence given on the other Side hath ftrengthened

ours. We have produced two Engravers, one
of them they own to be the top Engraver of Eng-
gland, Mr. Chrijiian ; he gave your Lordfhips an
Account, that he verily believed thefe two Im-
preffions to be taken off from the fame Seal. Mr.
Rollus faid the fame thing, and that he had ufed

the Art long, and could judge. They made no
Endeavours on the other Side to try the Skill of
Mr. Chrijiian : but as to Mr. Rollus, they hoped
they fhould be able to puzzle him •, and therefore

have produced fix feveral Impreffions made on
Wax by Seals to try his Art •, and after he had
look'd upon them, he gives you fuch an Account,

that, I believe, your Lordfhips are fatisfied that he

is a Man of Skill and Art, and that if thefe Im-
preffions had been taken off, as they would infinu-

ate they were, he muft have difcover'd it.

My Lords, here is an Artift brought to make
this Experiment on Rollus, to try his Skill ; yet,

notwithftandingall the Art hath been made ufe of

in the Cafe, that could be, the Man was able not

only to diftinguifh how many Seals the Impref-

fions were made with, but alfo to give an Account

that they were caft Seals, and not grav'd Seals,

that made thofe Impreffions.

This,
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This, my Lords, will have fuch a Weight

with your Lordfhips, that we hope your Lord-

Ihips will believe his Evidence is true •, and if it is

true, what Anfwer hath been given it, your Lord-

fhips have heard. Whether therefore any fatif-

factory Anfwer hath been given, to an Evidence

fo ftrong and convincing of Jobnfo?i's being em-

ploy'd in writing Letters for the Bifhop of Ro~

cbcjier, we muft fubmit to your Lordfhips.

My Lords, the next Evidence they went upon

was in relation to the Dog. Say they, we will

fhew that this Dog was not for the Bifhop of Ro-

chefier, or any other Perfon but Mrs. Barnes.

As to that, my Lords, I beg leave to remind your

Lordfhips of the Evidence given by Mrs. Barnes,

that Mr. Kelly told her it was for the Bifhop of

Rochefier. It is a little improbable, if the Dog
had been for Mrs. Barnes, that he fhould come

and deliver it to her, and tell her 'tis for the Bi-

fhop ot Rochefier. But it appears by Mrs. Barnes,

that another Dog was defigned for her, and that

this Dog was for the Bifhop of Rochefier. They
have read in Evidence a Certificate, fign'd by Mr.
Birmingham, and likewife an Affidavit, that there

was, in the Month of March, a Dog deliver'd to

Kelly in France for Mrs. Barnes. That, my Lords,

muft be another Dog, and not this, which we fay

was for the Bifhop of Rochefier ; for this was not

deliver'd to Mr. Kelly in France, but was fent over

to him after he was in England, as appears by the

letters ; and after he had receiv'd it, he writes,

that he would inform Mr. Jonesfoon of it, to whom
any thingfrom that Quarter would be very acceptable.

So that, my Lords, if there was another Dog,
and by Mr. Kelly defign'd for Mrs. Barnes, we
humbly apprehend it cannot be applied to this

;

for this Dog was defign'd for Mr. Jones, and Mrs.

Barnes fays, that is the Bifhop of Rochefier.

My Lords, the next Evidence given by them
is in relation to the letters of the 20th of April.

They have endeavour'd to prove that, as to my
Lord Bifhop of Rochefier, it is impoffible that

thefe letters could be written cr dictated by him.

He came to Town the nth, and went to Bromley

again the 12th of April ; he had a Fit of the Gout
foon after •, had Servants that conftantly attended

him, more than one •, and thefe Servants give an

Account, that no Perfon whatfoever came near

him, or could be employ'd by him to write thofe

letters.

My Lords, I beg leave to obferve, j?r/?, That
as to the applying their Evidence to the Writing
of thofe letters on the 20th of April, it is very

poffible that the letters were writ on another

Day than when they bear Date : Therefore if they

prove, that it was impoffible that thefe letters

fhould be writ or dictated by the Bifhop of Ro-
chefier on the Day they bear Date, yet they might
be writ on another Day, and it is very probable
they were.

Your Lordfhips will obferve, that thefe let-

ters are in Cyphers ; and, I believe, where a Per-
fon dictates a letter to another, he doth not re-

duce the letter into Cyphers as it is dictated, but
he firft writes it out in Words at length, and af-

terwards puts it into Cyphers, and when it is

proper to fend it, then is the Time to date it ; and
if it be left with the perfon that puts it into Cy-
phers to fend, as probably it was in this Cafe, it

is left to him to date it when he pleafeth : So that
if they fhould have fhewn, that upon the 20th of

Vol. VI.

April the Bifhop was incapable of dictating or
writing, it is no conclufive Anfwer to the Charge
againft the Bifhop as to thefe letters.

Your Lordfhips will pleafe to obferve, that up-
on the 1 ith of April the Bifhop of Rochefier came
to Town, on the 12th he went into the Country ;

notwithftanding what they have attempted to
prove as to the Times that Kelly was in Town,
and the Bifhop was in the Country, yet upon the
nth and 12th they were both in Town •, for

Kelly came to Town from France the nth, and
the Bifhop came to Town the nth from Bromley.

When the Servants came to beexamin'd, what
time of the Day the Bifhop came to Town on
the nth, they could not give any Account of
that : When they were afked, what time of Day
it was when he went out of Town on the 12th,
they could give no Account of that.

There hath been no Account given to your
Lordfhips who was with the Bifhop of Rochefier

the nth and 12th when he was in Town, or
where my Lord Bifhop was at that Time: So
that, my Lords, it is poffible, from thefe Circum-
ftances, that thefe letters might be writ when
the Bifhop was in Town, and Kelly was in Town.

But fuppofe it fhould not be fo ; the Queftion
is, whether they could not be writ at Bromley.

Gn the 12 th of April Mr. Kelly was at Mrs,
Barnes 's, he did not lie at home that Night ; on
the 13th he did not lie at home ; on the 14th he
came, and went to his old lodgings at Mrs. Kil-

bourne's. Thefe two Nights it doth not appear
where he was •, he might have been at Bromley,

it is but an Hour's Ride. As to the Servants, fay

they, they fhould have remember'd his fettingup

his Horfe ;—-He might fet up his Horfe at an
Inn, and go privately to my Lord Bifhop.

Notwithftanding my Lord Bifhop was ill, and
tho' he fhould have proved to your Lordfhips Sa-

tisfaction, that after he was fo, he did not, nor
could admit of Company, yet we fubmit it to

your Lordfhips that it is no Anfwer ; for he was
not very bad till he had been in the Country two
or three Days, and thefe letters might be dictated

or written in thofe two or three Days before he

was fo ill.

My Lords, I beg leave to obferve, what the

Servants have fworn. Here is Grant, that is my
Lord's Butler, he fays, that my Lord Bifhop went

the 1 2 th of April to Bromley, and he attended him
there till the 21 ft, and on the 21ft he was fent to

Town upon fome Matters relating to the JVefi-

minfier-'E\e6thn ; and another Servant about him
gives an Account, that two or three Days after

my Lord Bifhop came down, he was taken fo ill

in his Hands and Feet, as not to be able to help

himfelf. Thefe are two or three Days beyond

the Time that Kelly was out of his lodging,

which was the 12th and 13th, (and thefe two or

three Days muft be the 14th and 15th) it may be

my Lord Bifhop was fo difabled indeed as he fays -,

he fays he is almoft certain that no Stranger was

with the Bifhop ; but he fays the Apothecary or

the Minifter might be with him in his Illnefs, tho"

he did not fee them himfelf. If it is poffible for

the Apothecary or the Minifter to be with him,

and he not fee them, why is it not as poffible

that Mr. Kelly might be there, and he not fee

him there?

The next Witnefs that is called only fpeaks to

the 1 8th and 19th ; when Grant came to theElec-

4 D tion,



94- Proceedings againft Bijhop Atterbury, 9 G.I.452
tion, another Servant was Tent for, and he went,

and he fays my Lord Bifhop was very ill. Samuel

Steele gives an Account of my Lord Bifhop's 111-

nefs, and his attending him.

My Lords, they have brought all the Servants

of the Houfe, the very Stable-Boy, to prove that

my Lord Bifhop could not fee any body without

their Knowledge •, even the Nurfe that attended

his Lady when fne was dying. The Servants

that were waiting upon his Lady fwear, That it

was impoflible any body mould come to my Lord

Bifhop, and they not know it; and they are as

pofitive, in relation to any body's coming to my
Lord Bifhop, as the Servants that immediately

attended him.

But, my Lords, there is a Matter, which we

fhall offer in Evidence, that entirely deftroys this

Evidence of my Lord Bifhop's being fo ill, that

he could not move Hand or Foot, and of his not

being in a Capacity of dictating Letters : that he

did actually fend a Letter the 21ft of April to a

perfon in Town ; and this very Grant, that hath

given this Account to your Lordfhips, brought

up the Letter to Town on the 2 1 ft of April. We
have this to give your Lordfhips in Evidence ;

then what is the Evidence of all thofe Servants,

who fwear that it is impofiible thefe Letters

fhould be writ on the 20th of April, and that no

body was admitted to come to him in order to

write thefe Letters?

My Lords, as to the Evidence that hath been

given, in relation to Kelly's Hand-writing, they

have called Witneffes to difprove the Evidence on

our Side, who, looking upon the Letter of the

20th of Auguft, fwear they do not believe it to be

Kelly's Hand-writyig. Our Witneffes do believe

it ; their Witneffes do not believe it to be his

Hand-writing, and fay that it is not like it.

There are feveral Letters mown them, tho' in'

a lefs Hand, that are agreed to be Kelly's Hand-

writing ; and your Lordfhips may judge, by

looking on them, whether they are not of the

fame Hand with the Letter of the 20th of Auguft ;

tho' the Character is fomething lefs, we humbly

apprehend they will appear fo to be. Befides,

there are thofe Circumftances relating to the

Hand-writing of Mr. Kelly, that put it beyond

all Difpute that it is his Hand, and that is the

Anfwers he hath received to thofe Letters which

we charge to be written by him. We have traced

him from place to place, where the Letters that

came in anfwer to his Letters, were directed ; to

Mr. Andrews at the Dog and Buck, there Kelly em-
ploy'd a Perfon to take them up, and they were

deliver'd to him -, and at Burton's Coffee- Houfe
Kelly took up the Letters that were directed thi-

ther, in anfwer to thofe Letters that were of his

Hand-writing. So there is not only the Evidence

of Witneffes, that knew his Hand, and believe

it to be his Hand, but here are the Anfwers to

them actually taken up by Kelly himfelf : and that

we humbly apprehend is fo ftrong an Evidence,

joined with the other, that, when one or two
Witneffes come and fay they do not believe it to

be his Hand-writing, their Teftimony fhall not

overthrow it.

My Lords, there is another piece of Evidence

given by them, relating to the Letters of the 20th

of April, which were enclofed in a Packet fent to

Boulogne ; the Packet is directed to Mr. Alexander

Gordon Banker, at Boulogne : they have produced

a Certificate from Boulogne upon Oath, wherein it

is faid, that he is no Banker, and denies that he
received any Packet from Kelly, or that he knew
him : This is a Certificate, and prov'd by a Per-
fon who believes it to be fo. Your Lordfhips will

pleafe to obferve what this Paper is, and that it is

brought here by a perfon that knows nothing of
its being fworn, but fays, he is ufed to Tranfac-
tions of this kind, and he believes it to be a Cer-
tificate from Boulogne.

My Lords, we fhall produce a Gentleman,
who was at Boulogne at the Time that the printed

Report and Appendix of the Houfe of Commons
came there, and he was at Mr. Gordon's Houfe:,

when they were difcourfing about this Matter •,

and what they then faid, we humbly fubmit will

be believed ; for what they then faid was fpoken
as of an indifferent Thing, and they did not then
fee it could be of any Confequenre to difguifethe

Truth. Mr. William Gordon the Father faid, that

he was at Paris when this Packet is fuppofed to

have come : but Mr. Alexander Gordon the Son
own'd that he was at home, and that this Packet
came to him, but, faid he, what was in it I krtow
not, but I deliver'd it as is mentioned in the

Appendix.

My Lords, there is another piece of Evidence,
they have given, with relation to James Talbot,

to whom the Packet was deliver'd at Boulogne.

Here is a Witnefs produced to prove that he was
in Town the 29th of April 1722, and he could

not be miftaken, becaufe he had paid him Money,
and he had entred it in his Book. The Evi-
dence goes no farther than to prove, that

one James Talbot, that was a tall black Man,
was then in Town ; but it doth not appear that

this was the perfon mentioned to have taken

this Packet at Boulogne, and carry'd it to Pa-
ris : So that their proof, as to this Matter, is

infurficient.

But we fhall fhew your Lordfhips, from an

Account we have here from Mr. Crawford, his

Majefty's Refident at Paris, that this James Tal-

bot came to Paris that very Day, as he is men-
tioned to have brought thofe Letters to Paris,

and was actually there at that Time : and that we
humbly apprehend will be a full Anfwer to them,

and take away any ground of Suppofition, that

the Evidence they have given concerning James
Talbot, can be apply'd to that James Talbot who
received the Packet at Boulogne.

As to the Evidence relating to Mr. Kelly's being

in Town the 20th of April, we humbly apprehend

from what hath been faid, it is not material whe-
ther he was there or not ; but they have not

proved it, for Mrs. Kilbourne and her Maid, the two
Witneffes produced by them for this purpofe, fay

that he came to Mrs. Kilbourne's Houfe the latter^

end of April, they believe the 20th, but they are

not pofitive as to the Day. If he had been at

Mrs. Kilbourne's the 20th of April, it is no Anfwer
at all to our Evidence, and the ftrong Circumftan-

ces there are to induce a Belief, that the Letters

might be dated at another time than really they

were written.

My Lords, another Evidence is Mr. Pope, a

Gentleman of Learning, with whom my Lord
Bifhop of Rochefier ufed to converfe ; and he gives

you an Account that he knew nothing of this Con-
spiracy, that the Bifhop never open'd his Mouth to

him about it, nor acquainted him with it -, that he

was



1 7 a 3* and others^ for a Treafonable Confpiracy. Aci
was frequently with him, and their Difcourfe was upon the Method of coming at that Sii], which
only about Matters of Literature. they could not difclofe in fo publick a manner
No doubt my Lord Bifhop hath converfed with without doing a rmnifeft Prejudice to themfelves*

Perfons on different Subjects, to whom he would which no Wknefs is ever compell'd to do.

communicate nothing of an Affair of this Nature. 4. The ri'ixt Hardfhip is of the like nature the
My Lords, upon the whole Matter we muit not fufferihg the Clerks of the Poft-Office to be

fubmit it to your Lordfhips, whether we have not examin'd, as to the Method and Authority by
made out the Charge againft my Lord Bifhop of which they open'd Letters, by which they mlcrht
Rochefter, to your Lordfhips Satisfaction, if not by have been fubjected to the fevere Penalties of the
legal Evidence, yet by Evidence that will fatisfy Statute 9 Anna, if they had not exactly purfued
and convince any Perfon that will confider it. the Methods prefcribed by that Statute. But his

My Lords, a great deal of Regard is due to the Lordfhip's Innocence could not pofiibly have been
Character and Function of the Reverend Prelate manifefted by it; for are the letters lefs criminal,
at the Bar: but if my Lord Bifhop of Rochefier if the Perfon who flopped them did not punctual-
hath departed from his Character and Function, ly purfue the Directions of that Statute ? It would
and hath gone and engaged in a traitorous Con- be thought a ftrange Defence in a common Of-
fpiracy, and been guilty of Treafon towards his fender, if, inftead of proving his Innocence at his

King, and Perjury towards his God, we humbly Trial, he fhould object that he was taken without
apprehend, if this be proved, that his Character a proper Warrant ; which, if true, don't make
and Function are fo far from being a Mitigation, him the lefs criminal.

that they are a great Aggravation -of his Crime. 5. The fifth Hardfhip was refuting to let Mr.
Wefhall fubmit it to your Lordfhips, to do what Lewis declare any thing that came to his Know-

your Lordfhips think is confiftent with Juftice and ledge by his being employed in the Secretaries

Equity. Office fome Years ago. This Hardfhip could be
added only to fill up the Catalogue of Complaints,

Mr. Wearg fpoke next. fince, notwithftanding your Lordfhips Order,-
Mr. Lewis did declare what he was call'd for, tho'

My Lords, be afterwards own'd, that he came to the Know-
1T muff be admitted, that the Reverend Pre- ledge of it by being employ'd in that Office,

late at the Bar, has made his Defence with the 6. The fixth Hardfhip was in reading an Exami-
utmoft Force and Beauty of Eloquence. nation not dated, fign'd, or fworn. But I appre-
Was I capable of anfwering it in the like man- hend the Counfel for the Bill have more reafon to

ner, which I own lam not, yet I fhould not think complain of Hardfhips of this fort, in reading Pa-
myfelf at liberty to do it, under the prefent Cir- pers on behalf of his Lordfhip, as Examinations
cumftances. fign'd and fworn, without ever proving that they

For, tho' it may be excufable, in a Perfon upon were fign'd or fworn to, or that any fuch Perfons
his Defence, to make ufe of that powerful Inftru- were ever examin'd ; whereas the Examination
ment of Error and Deceit, which always impofes hinted at in the Bifhop's Complaint, was read as

upon the Reafon, and mifguides the Judgment in an Examination, or rather Confeffion of a Perfon
proportion as it affects the Paffions; yet, I can't fince dead, not fign'd nor fworn to, and fairly

think the fame Methods juftifiable in a Perfon left to your Lordfhips, to have fuch Weight as

employ'd to carry on the Profecution. the nature of the Evidence deferved.

I fhall therefore examine the Force of what has 7. The next Hardfhip, viz. that of reading

been offered on behalf of the Reverend Prelate, Letters wrote by another Perfon, without Proof
ftripp'd of the Ornaments and Colours of Rheto- that they were wrote with the Prelate's Privity,

rick. is begging the Queftion upon the whole Proceed-

I fhall, in the firft place, confider that Cata- ing. For whether there was Proof of their being

logue of Hardfhips, which his Lordfhip has com- wrote with his Privity or not, is the Subject of the

plain'd of. prefent Enquiry.

1. The firft Complaint was that of Severities 8, 9. The two laft Hardfhips complain'd of,

and Indignities offer'd him during his Confine- feem to be calculated for Perfons without Doors,

ment: but the Subject of this Complaint not ari- who are Strangers to what pafs'd at your Lord-
fing from any of the proceedings before your Lord- fhips Bar, that he was denied a Copy of the let-

fhips, I can give it no other Anfwer, than by fay- ters in Cypher, until the Trial was fo far advanced
ing, that lam very credibly inform'd 'tis a Com- that he could not make the proper ufe of thofe

plaint without Foundation. Copies. Will any one who reads this Complaint
2. Reading Extracts of Letters was the next in his Lordfhip's Speech imagine, that after he

Hardfhip complain'd of by his Lordfhip, and re- had a Copy of thofe letters, he had twice as much
prefented as if they were read as Evidence againft time for his Decypherers to perufe them as he
him ; when it was declared by the Counfel for himfelf defired ?

the Bill, that they were only read upon the ge- Or will a Perfon who fhall read the next Com-
neral part of the Bill, and did not affect his Lord- plaint in his Lordfhip's Speech, that he was re-

fhip. fufed to read any of the Papers contain'd in the

3. The third Hardfhip was, excufing theDecy- Trunk that had not been read by the Counfel for

pherers from anfwering fuch Queftions propofed the Bill, ever be perfuaded that his Lordfhip read

by his Lordfhip, as tended to aDifcovery of their the three firft Examinations of Neynoe, that had
Art; that is, in other Words, refufing to do an not been read by the Counfel, the Papers taken

Act which muft prejudice another Perfon, and in Neynoe's Pocket, the Certificate of the Surgeon

could be of no Service to his Lordfhip: for the return'd by Mr. Crawford, neither of which had

Truth of what they teftified, depended upon the been read by the Counfel for the Bill ; that his

Skill and Integrity of the Decypherers, and not Lordfhip was exprefly told, he was at Liberty to

read
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read any Paper in the Trunk he fhould think ne-

ceffary to his Defence •, and was only refufed read-

ing one Paper, becaufe he own'd it was for no

other purpofe, but to raifean Objection to a Mat-.

ter which had not been infifted on by
T
he Counfel

for the Bill, that he might anfwer the Objection

which he himfelf fhould raife ?

Thefe things will feem incredible to one who
fhall read this Catalogue of Complaints in his

Lordfhip's Speech ; and yet thefe are fome of

thofe Complaints, which with the Affiftance of

a warm and mafterly Style, drew Tears from fome

of your Lordfhips Eyes:- - -..

But when ftripp'd of that falfe Beauty, and ex-

amined by thefureand unerring Rules of Reafon,

appear to be without Foundation-, and to have

been made without that ftrict Regard to Truth,

which, I prefume by fome part of his Lordfhip's

Speech, he would be thought always to have.

From thefe Complaints his Lordfhip proceeds

to fupport fome of the Objections taken by his

Counfel to the Bill.

And one of the firft Objections is of the fame

nature with fome of the Hardfhips that have been

complain'd of; that is, it might be an Objection,

did it not want the Foundation of Truth.

The Objection I mean is, that it is a Bill ex poji

faffo: Your Lordfhips have heard a great deal

faid upon the Hardfhips of Bills ex pqjt faclo.

We have been call'd upon tofhew againfl what
Law he has offended : it has been faid, if he has

not offended againfl any Law, will you make a

Law in his Cafe, which will not be a Law in the

Cafe of any other Man ? This is a furprizing Ob-
jection.

The Notion I always had of a Law ex poft faRo
was, where a Fact was made criminal by a Law,
which was not fo at the time that Fact was com-
mitted.

But is that the prefent Cafe? Was it no Of-
fence, before this Bill was brought in, to corre-

fpond with the Pretender and his Agents, in order

to fubvert our Conftitution?

Are we to be call'd upon to fhew againfl what
Law this is an Offence ?

Or to have a Complaint made, that in punifh-

ing a Man for fuch an Offence, you are making a

Law in his Cafe, that will not be a Law in the

Cafe of any other Perfon ?

I hope it will be a Law in the Cafe of every
Man that equally deferves it.

But his Lordfhip is fenfible of this Anfwer,
and therefore gives it a very artful Turn, by ap-
plying it, not to the Fact, but to the Evidence.
His Lordfhip feems to argue, that accumulative
Evidence is as unreafonable as accumulative
Treafon -, and objects that Proofs which com-
municate Light and Strength to each other, have
only the Formality, without the Force of Evi-
dence.

This Objecton is deflructive of all Proof that

is not Mathematical ; for all other Proof mufl ne-
ceffarily be what he calls accumulative.

That is, it confifls of a variety of Facts and
Circumflances laid together, fufficient to induce
a Belief which any of them fingly would not do.
This is the very Principle upon which the Trial of
every Matter of Fad, not capable of a Demon-
stration, does and mufl proceed.

Your Lordfhips in the next place have heard a

firing of Objections, that have been repeated a-

gainft each of the Bills.

That a Subject of England ought to be tried

according to the Laws of England and Magna
Charta

:

To be convicted by legal Evidence :

And that Diflinction between legal and parlia-

mentary Evidence is abfurd.

All thefe Pofitions I agree to

;

But at the fame time I mufl affirm, that this is

a Trial agreeable to the Laws of England and
Magna Charta ; and that a Proceeding of this Na-
ture is as neceffary a part of our Conftitution, as

the Eftablifhment of the ordinary Courts inWeSl-
minfter-Hall.

The difference between parliamentary and legal

Evidence, taken in the general Senfe of the word,
Legal, is improper.

And I affirm, the Evidence which has been
offered in fupport of this Bill, is legal Evidence.
What is legal Evidence, depends upon the Na-

ture of the Inquiry, and the Judicature before

which the Inquiry is made.

Depofitions in writing are not legal Evidence
in a Court of Law, but they are legal Evidence
in a Court of Equity.

Upon an Indictment for Felony, or any other

Mifdemeanour, one fingle pofitive Witnefs, or

Circumflances only without any pofitive Witnefs
to the Fact, is legal Evidence.

But upon an Indictment for Treafon, the Law
requiring two WitneJTes in the Courts below,

one Witnefs, or Circumflances, is not legal Evi-
dence.

In parliamentary Enquiries, which are except-

ed out of that Act and not reflrained by any other,

every thing is legal Evidence which may proper-

ly tend to a Difcovery of the Truth.

I can't think myfelf at liberty at this time of
Day, to mention what fell from the other fide,

againfl the Power of the Parliament in general,

and the rather becaufe the next Objection which
they relied upon was introduced with an admiffion

of that Power.

But they fay it ought never to be exercifed but

in Cafes of Neceffity ; and inflance particularly

in the Bill againfl the South-Sea Directors, as a

Cafe of that Nature. Is there any Comparifon
between the Offence of thofe Men, and of one

who has endeavoured to fubvert our whole Confti-

tution, to deftroy our Religion, our Liberty, and
every thhing that is valuable?

When we reflect that thefe Endeavours have

been conflantly carrying on ever fince the happy
Eftablifhment of the Proteftant Succeffion

;

That the many Difcoveries of their Plots, the

many Examples of publick Juftice, have had no
other Effect, than to make them more fubtle and

cunning how to avoid the common Forms of the

Law:
Thefe Reflections fhew the Neceffity of fuch a

Proceeding, to convince the World, according

to your Lordfhips Report, that as Artifice and
Difguife don't leffen the Danger to the Publick,

nor mitigate the Guilt of the Offender, fo neither

ought they to protect him from Punifhment.

The next Objection was addrefied chiefly to

one part of your Lordfhips, who were told that

no civil Power upon Earth could deprive a Bifhop

of the Exercife of his holy Function, but that

mufl be done by another Judicature j and there-

fore



1723. and others
, for a Treafonable Confpiracy. 455

fore it was obferv'd by one of the Counfel, that

wherever Iflue is join'd in the Common Law
Courts, whether Bifhop or no, the Court where

fuch Iflue is depending, muft write to the Metro-

politan to try it, according to the Law of the

Church.

Whether an Act of Parliament can deprive a Bi-

fhop, fo as to make the Acts done by him after-

wards invalid, is a Controverfy not proper at this

time •, but it will be admitted on all hands, that

an Act of Parliament may reftrain a Bifhop from

the Exercife of his Function within any part of

this Kingdom, fo as to make the Exercife of it

Criminal in him, or in any that aflifts him. And
I believe if this Bill mould pafs into a Law, and

there fhould be a Queftion whether his Lordfhip

was afterwards Bifhop of Rocbefter, the Courts

of Law, upon producing the Act of Parliament,

would hardly think it neceffary to trouble the

Metropolitan.

His Lordfhip has been pleafed to fay, that this

is the firft Inftance where a Member of thisHoufe

has been judged in another.

I wonder that his Lordfhip, who is fo great a

Mafter of our Englijh Conftitution, mould have

forgot the Cafe of one of his Predeceffors in the

See of Rocbefter, in the Reign ofHenry VIII. agajnft

whom a Bill was brought in the Houfe of Com-
mons, inflicting fevere Pains and Penalties, which

pa fled in that Houfe, and afterwards received the

Approbation of this, and the Royal Aflent.

They have clofed their Objections to the Bill,

with a very pathetick Admonition againft the

Confequences of it.

They fay the wifeft Man can't forefee, nor the

mod innocent Man declare himfelf fafe from the

Confequences of this Bill.

That a wife Man fhould not be able to fore-

fee what will happen hereafter, is not very
itrange •,

But he muft be a very wife Man indeed, in my
poor Opinion, who can forefee any danger, to

Innocence from the Proceedings upon this Bill.

Your Lordfhips have attended with the utmoft

Patience, for feven Days together, to the Proofs

for and againft this Bill ; and have given the Perfon

accufedall the Opportunities, afforded him all the

Afliftance poflible to make out his Innocence.

And whoever fhall ufe this Precedent as a han-

dle for Oppreflion and Injuftice, would certainly

be guilty of the fame Oppreflion and Injuftice

without this Precedent.

The next Part of their Defence, confifted in

Obfervations upon the Evidence for the Bill.

They raife great Triumph from Neynoe's Exami-
nation, which they would reprefent as the Foun-
dation of the whole Charge, or offered as fuch

by the Counfel for the Bill.

But if it was, they have been fo far from weak-
ening, that they have added ftrength to that Foun-
dation.

As to the Inconfiftencies in it, they are not

Neynoe's, but Kelly's. As to the Tale they have
told, that at the very Time when he was deluding
a great Man with Confeflions, either to get Mo-
ney out of him, or to find an opportunity of mak-
ing his Efcape, he fhould declare to Skeene and to

Steward that what he had confefled was falfe ; I

fay, as this is improbable in itfelf, fo it appears
by our Evidence to be a mere Fiction of their own,
without any poflibility of being true.

Vol. VI.

It appears to be an Attempt, by a parcel of
defperate People engaged in the fame Intereft, to
weaken Neynoe's Evidence, whom they looked up-
on as a Betrayer of their Caufe and Party.
From the Evidence of Neynoe they proceed to

the other Evidence.

And here they tell your Lordfhips that we have
fupported the Bill by Innuendo's, Arbitrary and
Invidious Interpretations ; that when a Woman
is named, it means a Man ; that two different

Names fignify the fame Perfon •, that Books of Ac-
count, and mercantile Terms, by a new kind of
Metaphor, are taken in an ill Senfe : and all this

aflifted with the Whimfles and Conjectures of
Decypherers.

Thefe are pretty founding Expreflions; but,
when confider'd, are nothing but Sound.

Is it an arbitrary Interpretation, when a let-

ter fays, I faw Mrs. Ulington, He is in great Tri-
bulation for poor Harlequin, but bis Obligations
are the fame, which he defires may be made
known ; to apply this to a Man ? When two let-

ters are wrote by the fame Perfon, but fign'd by
different Names, to apply thofe two Names to

that Perfon ?

When letters give a Caution not to write any
more, till new Books of Account can be fettled

and fent over by fafe Elands ;

Becaufe thofe who have got part may by the
fame means have got the whole :

To exprefs a doubt whether they have been be-
tray'd by falfe Friends, or an open Enemy:
To talk of having Wine, but wanting Barrels:

of the abfence of the King and Court, as affording

a proper opportunity of fending over and felling

their Wine:
A Man muft have laid afide his Reafon, that

can think this the language of Perfons really deal-

ing in a mercantile way : 'Tis the plain and com-
mon Cant of a treafonable Correfpondence.

They next object to the unreafonablenefs of ap-
plying the Circumftances which relate to Jones
and lllington, to the Bifhop of Rocbesler.

Was no body elfe befides the Bifhop out of
Town? Was he the only Man that had the Gour,
or who loft his Lady at that time ?

Were thefe Queftions to be asked fingly, they

might be anfwer'd, that there were other Perfons

in the like Circumftances.

But then the Anfwers would be nothing to the

Purpofe.

The only Queftion applicable to the prefent

Cafe would be, Is there no other Perfon who was

in Town on the feventh of May, out of Town on
the tenth and fourteenth, in Town on the fifteenth %

whofe Wife died the Week before the thirtieth of

April, he himfelf then ill of the Gout ; to whom a

Dog was fent from France of the name ofHarlequin,

that broke its Leg, and was brought to Mrs.
Barnes, by Mr. Kelly, in order to be cured?

Thefe are the Circumftances of Jones and Tiling-'

ton, and they are every one prov'd true of the Bi-

fhop of Rocbefter', and I believe your Lordfhips

can hardly think they are fo of any other Perfon.

They faid they fhould falfify feveral of thefe

Facts ; but they have only faid it.

In the Papers they have produc'd from the Sur-

geon concerning the Dog, he contradicts himfelf.

In the firft he fays, he gave Mr. Kelly a Dog for

his own ufe, to difpofe of as he pleafed

;

In the fecond he fays, he gave it for Mrs. Barnes

:

4 E Buc
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But Mrs. Barnes tells you, that the Dog defign'd

for the Bifhop was in her Cuftody, when the other

given by the Surgeon was expected over.

Their Attempt to difprove the Circumftances

of being in Town, has met with as little Suc-

cefs.

In a letter of the feventh of May, 'tis faid Mr.

Illington is come to Town for a Day only

:

We fhewed that the Bifhop was in Town upon

that Day ; they anfwerus by faying, he ftay'd in

Town two Days after.

Does this difprove his being in Town upon the

feventh ? or does it weaken the Proof of his be-

ing then in Town, becaufe he alter'd his mind,

and (laid two Days longer than perhaps he at firft

intended ?

This is the only Attempt they made to difprove

any of the Circumftances relating to Mr. Jones

and Illington. As to the other Inftances which

they pretend to difprove, they relate to Wefton

and Rig, and were not mentioned by the Counfel

for the Bill.

They next object to the Method of proving the

Similitude of Hands, and obferve that the origi-

nal letter prov'd to be Mr. Kelly's, and the three

letters applied to the Bifhop of Rochefter, are da-

ted at four Months diftance; and how is itpoffible,

that the Clerks of the Poft-Office mould be able to

fwear upon their Memories that they are of the

fame Hand-writing ?

This is not a fair Reprefentation of the Evi-

dence : For the Clerks told your Lordfhips that

there was not any one Poft, during all that time,

which did not bring fome letter in the fame Hand,
all which they copied, and had by that means con-

tracted a perfect Idea of the Hand ; fo that they

did not fwear from Memory, but from a Know-
ledge gain'd by Experience, and many conftant

repeated Obfervations upon the fame Hand.
There have been fome other Objections made,

that are fcarce worth taking notice of.

'Tis faid Mrs. Illington is in great Tribulation'

for poor Harlequin, which Kelly could never fay

of the Bifhop of Rochefter.

Surely there is nothing in this -,

'Tis an Expreffion that might be ufed of a Man
of the graveft Character in a letter of this fort,

to the Author of fuch a Prefent.

Mrs. Illington is mentioned eleven Days after the

Bifhop's Lady was dead. This is the Inftance

where tis faid Mrs. Illington is in great Tribula-
tion for poor Harlequin, but his Obligation is the

fame, which hedefiresmay be made known.
That Jones is mentioned in other Cyphers for

other Perfons, as in one for the Duke of Norfolk,
in Plunket's for a different Perfon.

But does it therefore follow that in Kelly's he
can't mean the Bifhop of Rochefter ?

It certainly does not.

And they feem to be convinced that the Bifhop
is too well defcribed in this Correfpondence, under
the Names of Jones and Illington, to doubt whether
he is meant by them.
And therefore they endeavour to give it another

Turn, by faying this may be a malicious Contri-
vance of fome Perfons, who have inform'd them-
fdves of hisLordfhip's Motions, and the Circum-
ftances of himfelf and Family: And to make this

i he more probable, they fay that Jones and Illing-

ton are the only Perfons mentioned in this Corre-

fpondence of Mr. Kelly's, with Circumftances of
this Nature.

One would not imagine the Perfons who made
this Objection, had fo often heard the letters

read.

E. 41. 'Tis faid Hore is laid up with his old Diftem-
per, Hobbert is pretty well recovered.

E. 45. Mr. Hore is laid up, andjo is Jemifon with

the Gout.

E. 49. Rep. is faid to be in the Country.

E. 59. Ho. and Den. are faid to be gone into the

Country.

E. 62. Nic. W. is now in Town, he is well as to

Health.

E. 64. Trotter is faid to be out of Town the next
Morning.

E. 69. Den. is faid to come to Town, Rep. and
Ho. to be in the Country.

E. 73. C. Saunders is well, and with a Friend in the

Country.

Thefe are all Inftances where the fame Circum-
ftances are mentioned of other Perfons, that are

mentioned of Jones and Illington.

If Jones and Illington are oftneft mentioned, it

is becaufe he was the principal Perfon in this Cor-

refpondence.

But this malicious Contrivance muft be carry'd

on by Mr. Kelly : fOf

It has been proved that the Letters were wrote

in his Hand, that the Anfwers were addreffed ac-

cording to his Directions

;

That he received the Letters fo directed.

I believe your Lordfhips have no Sufpicion that

Mr. Kelly bore an 111- Will towards the Bifhop:

I am fure there has been no Proof of it, nor of

any malicious Contrivance againft him.

But, my Lords, this is the common trite Excufe

of every petty Offender.

Your Lordfhips can fcarce read a Trial, where

the Defendant don't complain that it is all a mali-

cious Contrivance of his Enemies.

I heard this very thing warmly infifted upon a

few Terms ago, at another Bar, and with as much
Proof, by a Perfon concern'd in a Part of this Con-

fpiracy, who has fince been attainted and own'd

his Guilt.

But we have gone ftill further, we have fhewn

that Kelly was an Acquaintance of the Bifhop of

Rochefter's.

Which is indeed acknowledged, without any

fatisfactory account given for what Purpofe his

Lordfhip fhould contract an Acquaintance with a

young Fellow, that hasdeferted his Orders, and is

a profeffed Nonjuror.

Your Lordfhips, Iprefume, from the Behaviour

of Mr. Kelly, can hardly be perfuaded that he had

no other Employment under the Bifhop than to

furnifh him with Beaver-Stockings, which the Bi-

fhop owns to have received from him as a Prefent.

But we have proved by the ftrongeft Evidence

that can be, by a letter under his Lordfhip's Seal,

and I may venture to fay (from the Obfervations

that have been made from the letter itfelf ) under

his Hand, that John/on, i. e. Kelly, is the Perfon

in whofe Hand the Bifhop returns his Anfwers.

No Account is given of this letter, by whom it

was wrote, nor to whom, nor how it came among
his Lordfhip's Papers.

All that is faid in anfwer to it is, that 'tis

poflible Seals may be counterfeited, or there may
be

/



1723. and othersj for a Treasonable Confpiracy. 457
be feveral Impreffions of the fame Seals: but is

there any proof of this ?

It appears that the Imprefilon on the firft letter

was broke when feized ; that it was in the Hands of

the Committee of the Houfe of Commons before

the fecond letter was taken •, which makes it im-

poflible to imagine an Imprefiion mould be taken

off the firft to put upon the fecond.

But his Lordfhip is pleafed to afk, Is it agreea-

ble to the Cunning with which he is charged, to

keep fuch a letter by him on purpofe, as it were,

to furnifh his Adversaries with Evidence ?

No, my Lords, neither do I imagine his Lord-

fhip knew he had it by him.

It was found amongft his papers, and, no

doubt of it, was left there accidentally; and 'tis

by fuch little Accidents that the moft cunning

Men are detected ; there is no Danger of their

committing greater Overfights.

His Lordfhip is pleafed to obferve, that at

firft the Houfe of Commons reprefented this let-

ter as a letter wrote to him •, but now 'tis difco-

vered to be wrote by him : It is fo, and very

plainly, and his Lordfhip may thank himfelf for

the Difcovery ; and the not difcovering it fooner

is furely no Objection to the Truth of it when
difcovered.

It may be urged, and has been infinuated,

that if Mr. Johnfon is the perfon in whofe hand the

Bifhop returns his Anfwers, yet how does it ap-

pear that thefe particular letters which are ap-

plied to the Bifhop, were wrote by his Direc-

tions ?

If it appears that Johnfon is the perfon in whofe

Hand he writes, and that thefe letters are of the

Hand-writing of Johnfon, figned by that Name,
which denotes the Bifhop in the Correfpondence,

this will be thought a reafonable proof that they

were wrote with his privity.

But they faid they fhould prove it impoffible

that thefe three letters fhould be wrote with

the privity of the Bifhop ; for they bear Date the

20th of April, whereas the Bifhop came to Town
the nth, went to Bromley the 12th, and within

two or three Days after was taken fo ill with

the Gout, that he had neither the ufe of his

Hands nor Feet, and had a Servant always attend-

ing him, who will prove that no Stranger came
near him all that time.

If this had been made out, it would not be a proof

that the letters were not dictated by him ; for

both Kelly and the Bifliop were in Town upon the

nth and 12th, and the Bifhop was not confined

at Bromley upon the 13th and 14th, when Mr.
Kelly was out of Town, and probably at Bromley.

And tho' the letters bear Date upon the 20th of

April, yet 'tis not to be imagined, that they

were wrote upon that Day ; for it requires a good
deal of time to reduce three letters into Cyphers •,

and the Method generally ufed, where letters are

to be fent in Cyphers, is, to write them in com-
mon Hand firft, and then reduce them to Cyphers
after : fo that it's probable the Subftance of thefe

letters was dictated many Days before they were
perfected and fent.

But the Evidence given by the Bifhop's Ser-

vants is not to be regarded.

The firft Servant, when he had fworn what he

thought was material for the Bifhop, being prefTed

by a noble. Lord with a Queftion relating to the

letter directed to Dubois, refufed to give any An-

fwer, rill the Bifhop publickly gave him leave ;

tho' he was fworn to fpeak the whole Truth :

which fhews too great an Attachment to his

Mafter's Intereft, to deferve much Credit.

He and the fecond Witnefs did admit, that

the Apothecary, or the Minifter of the Parifh,

might be with the Bifhop without their Know-
ledge ; and if fo, why not Mr. Kelly, whofe
Vifits required more Secrecy than either of the

others ?

And I muft here obferve, that what the Reve-
rend Prelate infifted upon, to add Credit to the

Evidence of thefe Witneffes, is the greateft Ob-
jection to their Teftimony imaginable.

They tell your Lordfhips, that tho' they were
with the Bifliop in the Tower, yet he never once
fpoke to them concerning the Matter they had
given in Evidence, till they themftlves recollected

it upon reading the Report ; and finding that

the Bifhop was charged with being the Author of
three letters, dated the 20th of April, they im-
mediately recollect that the Bifliop was ill at that

time, and they conftantly about him. This feems

to be a Story fcarce credible,

That the Bifhop himfelf, who was fo nearly

concerned, fhould not, upon reading the Report,

recollect the Circumftances he was under at the

time when thofe letters bore Date, if the Truth
was as they would reprefent it ; but that the

Servants fhould firft recollect this, and fuggeft it

to their Mafter.

Or if the Bifhop did recollect it, 'tis ftrange he

fhould not mention it to thofe Servants, who
were prefent with him in the Tower, and the

only Perfons, who, as they fay, were capable of

clearing his Innocence.

This had been very natural, and proper under

his Circumftances : and his not fpeaking to them
firft, could hardly proceed from an unreafonable

Scruple, left he fhould be fufpected of laying a

byafs upon them ; fince his Lordfhip has, after

he knew they were to be Witneffes, given each

of them a place under him as Dean of Wefi-

minfler.

The reft of the Servants that were called, tho'

they contradict the firft, by admitting that two

other Gentlemen were at the Bifhop's at Bromley,

during the Time in queftion •, yet they plainly

fhew a greater Regard for their Mafter's Intereft,

than for Truth: for tho' one of them was but the

Helper in the Stable, and anodier the Nurie that

attended his lady in her Illnefs, yet they take

upon them to fvvear, that they verily believe no

Stranger could be with their Mafter in private,

but they fhould have known of it, and that they

never knew of Mr. Kelly's being there.

Every body's Obfervation muft fuggeft to them

that fuch a Belief muft be without Foundation.

The next Arguments ufed on behalf of the

Reverend Prelate at the Bar, were raifed from

his unambitious refigned Temper of Mind, and

from the Style of the letters laid to his Charge,

That it's not probable he fhould ufe fo indecent

an Exprefiion of perfons he was concerned with,

as to call them pretending unfupported People.

What Weight there is in thefe Arguments, I

muft fubmit to your Lordfhips, who are much

better acquainted with his Temper and Style than

I can pretend to be.

The laft thing prefTed by the Reverend Prelate,

is a folemn Proteftation, I cannot fay of Inno-

cence,
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cence, becaufe it feems to me to be conceived deprive a bilhop or all his Preferments ; and to

in fuch Terms as not to contradict any part of prohibit him the Ufe and Exercife of his Function

the Charge infilled upon by the Counfel for for his life.

As to this Objection, whatever influence it

may have abroad among ignorant people, when
the Speeches come to be printed ; yet, as to

your Lordfhips, who know our Conltitution lb

well, I cannot imagine that it can have any

Weight or Influence at all. And indeed when I

confider all the Ads of parliament relating to

the Supremacy, that have been made for near

two hundred Years , when I confider the Articles

of our Church, our Canons, and the Subfcrip-

tions that the Bilhop himfelf muff, have made,
and muff, have required from others, in the Ex-
ercife of his Function as a Bifhop ; when, I fay,

I confider all thefe things, it is matter of Won-
der to me, that fuch an Objection Ihould be

a Bifhop of the Church of

a lawyer of the Kingdom of

the Counfel for

the Bill :

°

It is chiefly calculated to anfwer fome parti-

cular Circumftances of Times, without any De-

nial of the general Charge, or the leaft Decla-

ration of Affection or Loyalty towards his pre-

fent Majefty.

But if his proteftations amounted to a direct and

pofitive Denial of the Charge, they ought not to

have any Weight with your Lordfhips, fincethis

is a Defence equally in the power of the moft guil-

ty as well as the innocent: a little proof is better

than many proteftations.

And I can't help obferving upon this Head,

and I hope his Lordfhip won't impute this Obfer-

vation to ill-nature, but a Senfe of my Duty,

which obliges me to make all proper Obferva-

tions, That it appears his Lordfhip has not always

that Ariel: Regard to Truth, which he ought to

have, by the Papers taken upon his Servant at the

Tower.
The Nature of the punifhment has been much

talked of in the Courfe of thefe proceedings, and

great lamentations made upon it, but furely with-

out any Reafon.

made, either by

England, or by
England.

I do not indeed recoiled: above one inflance of

a particular Act of parliament made to deprive

a Bifhop; which is, that of Fi/her, Bifhop of Ro-

chefter ; who was fo deprived in the Time of Henry
VIII. But, as to general Acts of Parliament,

whereby both Bifhops and Prefbyters have been

For this Argument fuppofes the party guilty deprived of their Preferments, we have a good

of the Charge, or elfe it's ridiculous to object to

the Severity of the Punifhment.

And I may venture to affirm, this is the mildeft

punifhment that ever was inflicted for fuch an

Offence.

His life is not touched •, his liberty nor pro-

Number. Thus, in the beginning of Queen
Elizabeth's Reign, a 1 moft all the Bifhops of Eng-
land were fo deprived: And at the Revolution,

many were fo ; and all might have been fo, if

they had not complied with the Terms of the Act
of Parliament : And at the Reftoration, many

perty affected; he is only expelled the Society hundreds of Prefbyters were deprived in the fame

whole Government he difapproves, and has endea-

voured to fubvert ;^and is deprived of the publick

Employment which* that Government had intruft-

ed him with: The Enjoyment of his life, his

private Eftate, and his liberty, under any other

Government that may be more agreeable, is al-

lowed him.

This is fcarce to be called a punifhment, being

nothing more than what was abfolutely neceffary

for the publick Security.

The Commons of Great Britain have done their

part towards providing this Security, and I don't

doubt but it will meet with the Concurrence of

your Lordfhips.

The Counfel having done, the Lords in a grand
Committee went thro' the Bill, and about ten

manner. And I conceive that it cannot well be

doubted, but that the fame Authority which can

make laws by which the whole Bench may be

deprived, may exert icfelf in a particular Cafe,

if they have juft Reafons for it.

As to the Trial of Bifhops for any Crimes
they fhall be guilty of, we are to confider the

different Nature of the Crimes of which they are

accufed ; and the Trial by law muft be accord-

ingly. If the Crime be of an Ecclefiaftical Na-
ture, fuch as Ecclefiaftical Courts can take Cog-
nizance of, as Simony, Herefy, and the like ;

the Trial regularly muft be by the Arch-Bifhop

of the Province, taking to his AfMance fome of

his Suffragan Bifhops. But even in this Cafe, if

either the Arch-Bifhop fhall, upon Complaint,

neglect to try him ; or, if upon Trial he fhall
of the Clock at Night, adjourned to Wednefday, acquit and abfoIve him . the Accufer may appeal™ay *5-

,
to the King in Chancery : Which Court may ap-

Their Lordfhips being then fat, the aforefaid point a Commiffion of Delegates, who may, by
1 was read the third time, and a Motion being the Authority of the Crown, judge him, deprive

made, that the Bill fhould pafs, it occafioned a

long Debate, in which the Bifhop of Salifhury

fpoke as follows.

My Lords,

AS I have fometimes troubled your Lordfhips

with what I had to fay in other Debates,

I believe it will be expected that I fhould fay

fomething in a Cafe fo extraordinary as this is

;

and wherein a Brother Bifhop is fo nearly con-

cerned. I beg leave to begin with taking Notice

of fome Things that were peculiarly addreffed to

this Bench, both by the Reverend Prelate, and

his Counfel, from the Bar.

The firft is, That we would confider how a-

grceable it may be to the Canons and Difcipline

of the Church, in this extraordinary Manner to

him of his Bifhoprick, prohibit him the Ufe of

his Function for his life (if the Crime deferve it)

tho' he were before acquitted by the Arch-Bifhop.

But if the Crime be of a Civil Nature, fuch as

Treafon (which is the Cafe now before us) the

Eccjefiaftical Authority has nothing at all to do

with it; and fhould any Ecclefiaftical Judge at-

tempt to meddle with it, he would be judged to

attempt againfl the King's Crown and Dignity,

and quickly have his Proceedings ftop'd, by a

Prohibition out of the Temporal Courts. And I

would beg leave to obferve further, that were

this Bifhop to be tried in the common Courfe of

law, for the Crimes whereof he is accufed in

this Bill, it muft be either by your Lordfhips,

as a Member of this Houfe ; or by the Judges
and



1723. and othersi for a Treafonable Confpiracy. 459
and a Jury in Weftminfter-Hall. I would not at ceived againft an Elder or Prefbyter, and much
prefent fay which, becaufe it would lead me out lefs againft a Bifhop, but upon the Oaths of two
of the way : But in this Cafe, if either your or three Witnefies.

Lordfhips, or the Judges below, fhould pafs Sen- In anfwer to this, I beg leave to obferve,

tence upon him for the Treafon of which he is that our Tranflation renders the Words, not,

here accufed, that Sentence would, ipfo fatlo, upon the Oaths, but, before two or three Witnefies:

deprive him of the Bifhoprick : It would alfo which feems to import a very differenc Senfe

make him liable to lofe his life ; but it would from that his Lordfhip puts upon them. But,

not, ipfo fatlo, take it away, as it would his Bi- not to enter into any critical Examination of the

Ihoprick : He might notwithftanding that Sen- Truth of our Tranflation, or what the real

tence live many Years ; but from the Moment of Senfe of the Words is, I would only make thefe

ic, would be no more Bifhop of Rochejler. two fhort Obfervations : Firft, that the Senfe

Thefe Things, I humbly conceive, are abun- the Bifhop puts upon them, that an Accufation

dantly fufficient to anfwer this firft Difficulty ; againft a Prefbyter or Bifhop, muft not be fo

and therefore 1 fhall add no more but this one much as receiv'd into Court, but upon the Oaths
Obfervation : That the way that is now taken to of two or more Witnefies, is not practifed in the

deprive him, is the only way that I know of, Church of England •, and, I believe, never was
wherein the Bifhops can have any Part in the practifed in any Chriftian Church whatever.

Sentence of Deprivation. The fecond Obfervation I would make, is, That
The next Thing that was fuggefted from the whatever be the Senfe of thefe Words, it regards

Bar, particularly to this Bench, was, That we only the Conduct of a Bifhop towards his Pref-

ihould confider well what we are doing, and byters ; but certainly was never intended to give

have a care that we do not, by concurring in a Law to the Supreme Power of a Kingdom, in

this Bill, make our Titles to our Bifhopricks pre- its Proceedings in Cafes of High-Treafon, againft

carious. any Subject whatfoever.

As to this Admonition, the Anfwer is very But the Bifhop urges further, that the Jewijh

eafy, That it becomes us, as we have the Honour Law did require at leaft two or more Witnefies

to have Seats in Parliament, to take care to do in all Judicial Proceedings ; and from thence

Juftice ; as, on the one fide, to the Prifoner, infers, that it ought to be fo amongft us.

fo on the other fide, to our King and Country ; In anfwer to this it may be reply'd, That this

and to truft in God, that in fo doing we fhall is a part of the Judicial Law of the Jews, which
neither hurt ourfelves, nor our Succeffors. But, was not given to us, and therefore doth not ob-
fofarasjuft Judges may look to Events, the Argu- lige us any more than the reft of that Law doth ;

ment feems to me to lie the other way : For, if except where the Reafon of the thing lays an
for want of doing Juftice againft Traitors to King Obligation upon us. But indeed, I am of Opi-
George, the Pretender fhould happen to prevail, nion, that that Law doth oblige us, fo far as it

(which God avert) the Title of Proteftant Bifhops was intended to oblige them,' and fo far as it can

is like to be very precarious indeed. be adapted to the infinite Variety of Cafes that

As to the power of Parliament to pafs Bills muft happen in Judicial Matters. That Law is

of this kind, the Parliament always had it, has very fhort, and therefore muft leave many Quef-
frequently exercis'd it, and always muft have it ; tions that may be made about it undetermined : I

it being eflential to the very Being of the Su- fhall at prefent take notice of thefe two only,

preme Power. The lives and liberties of every which may be material to our prefent Difpute ;

Man in England are fubject to it : and tho' the the firft is, Whether the Meaning of it be, that

Exercife of this Power may be dangerous to Per- all Controversies and Accufations whatever, muft
fons who will venture upon treafonable Prac- be determined by Witnefies and no other way ?

tices, trufting to their Cunning and Artifice to or, Whether upon Suppofition that the Matter
fkreen them from the Law ; yet I have that Con- be to be determined folely by Witnefies, and no
fidence in the Integrity and Juftice of the Crown, light can be brought to it any other way •, that

and two Houfes of Parliament, that, fo long as then the Witnefies muft be at leaft two ? The fe-

this Example is followed, of giving a full and cond is, Whether thofe Witnefies muft fwear di-

fair Hearing to the perfons accufed, innocent reclly to the Fact ; for Inftance, that they faw
Men cannot eafily fuffer •, or, in all Events, that fuch a Man murther another, or the like ; or

if Corruption or Faction fhould ever fo far pre- whether it may not be fufficient, that they fwear

vail, that there fhould be Danger to innocent to fuch Circumftances, as infer a ftrong and vio-

Perfons, it will be much eafier to corrupt Wit- lent Prefumption, that fuch a Fact was committed
nefies or Juries, or to find other Methods to by fuch a Perfon ?

deftroy them, than it will be to prevail upon a Thefe things are left undetermined in that fhort

Parliament to do it: As I am perfuaded that, in Law of the Jews ; but, I humbly conceive, are

this particular Cafe, had there been any Corrup- fufficiently determined by the Nature of the thing,

tion, fome other Method would have been found and by the Laws of all Nations, and particularly

out, more effectually to come at the Perfon con- of our own. It is true indeed, that in Cafes of
cerned than this is like to do. High-Treafon, we have from Political Confidera-

The laft Particular that the Bifhop peculiarly tions determined, that there muft be two pofiuve

addrefs'd to this Bench, was, That we would Witnefies, to fome one or more Overt-Acts of
confider the Words of St. Paid to Timothy % the fame Treafon : bur, as to all other Crimes,

Againft an Elder receive not an Accufation, but before that equally affect the Lives and Eftates of all the

two or three Witnejfes, 1 Tim. 5. 19. The Senfe Subjects of England, this is not the Cafe ; and
of which Words his Lordfhip underftood to be, Men may by Law lofe their lives when there is

That an Accufation fhould not be fo much as re- not fo much as one pofitive Witnefs to the Fact.

Vol. VI. 4 F I
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I beg leave to explain this in the Words of my
Lord Chief Juftice Cojce ; f When a

* 1 Inftit. ' Trial is by Witnejfes, % regularly the

fol. 6. t Affirmative ought to be proved by two or

« three Wilnejjes ; but when the Trial is by Verditl of

' twelve Men, there the Judgment is not given upon

' Witnejfes, or other kind of Evidences, but upon the

' Verditl ; and upon fuch Evidence as is given to the

* Jury, they give their Verdifi ; and many times Ju-
' ries, together with other matter, are much induced

* by Prefumptions? And indeed, if no Man could

be convicted of Murder, or Robbery, or other

Crimes of that Nature, but by two pofitive Wit-

neffes that faw the Fact done ; nothing would be

eafier or fafer than the Commiffion pf thofe

Crimes ; and no Man could have any Security,

either for his Perfon or his Eftate : And therefore,

if in Cafes of High-Treafon our Law requires po-

fitive Witnefies, it is not from any moral Necefil-

ty, or point of Conlcience •, but from political

Reafons, which mud, and always will be, fubject

to the Judgment of Parliament.

Having now done with what was from the Bar

peculiarly applied to this Bench, and having, I

hope, given a very plain Anfwer to it, I now beg

your Lordfhips leave to proceed more directly

to the Bill itfelf. And here, two things are ne-

ceffary to be confidered, in order to convince

your Lordfhips, that it is a Bill fit to be palled

:

The firft is, the Lawfulnefs of it -, the fecond is,

the Prudence or Expediency of it.

As to the Lawfulnefs of it, it will be necefTary

alfo to confider two things ; firft, Whether your

manner of Proceeding in this Bill be lawful : fe-

condly, whether the Bifhop be really Guilty of

the Crimes charg'd upon him.

As to the manner of Proceeding, many things

have been objected : That it is by way of Bill,

and not a Trial in the Courfe of Law •, That Evi-

dence has been admitted, that would not have

been admitted in any of our Courts -, That thefe

Things are contrary to the liberty of the Sub-

ject ; That every Subject has a Right to the Laws
of his Country ; and That he has an Injury done
him, if he be denied the Benefit of them. This I

take to be the Sum of what has been objected a-

gainft the Juftice of your proceedings in this Bill.

In Anfwer to thefe Objections, I beg leave to

confider, firft, wherein the liberty of England

confifts; which is a Pointcommonly pretty much
miftaken. Many People are apt to imagine, that

the Difference betwixt us, and fome of our neigh-

bouring Countries, is, that they are under Abfo-
lute Power, and we are not ; whereas in truth all

Countries, that are Supreme within themfelves,

have equally an Abfolute Power; and in the Na-
ture of the thing it cannot poffibly be otherwife :

No Government can fubfift, if there be not a

Power in it to change, to abrogate, to fufpend,

or difpenfe with its Laws, as Neceffity or Con-
veniency fhall require -, which is what we call

Abfolute Power : and therefore, the Difference

betwixt one Government and another, does not

lie in this, that one has fuch a Power and the

other has not ; but lies merely in the Difference

of the Hands in which this Power is placed.

Where this is placed in one Hand, in the King,
we call that an Abfolute Monarchy: Where this

is not folely in the King, but only as he acts. in

conjunction with the States of the Kingdom,
that we call a Limited Monarchy ; and the

People that live under fuch Government, are
called a Free People ; becaufe they live under
Set Laws, which could not at firft be made
nor can afterwards be altered or difpenfed with

but by their own Confent. However, there is

ftill in fuch Countries, a Power equally above all

their Laws, as there is in the moft abfolute Mo-
narchy in the World.
What I have faid upon this firft Head, will in a

great meafure explain a fecond Queftion : What
that Right is, which the Subjects of this Country
have to its Laws ; which is, in fhort, a Right to

claim the Benefit of them againft the Crown, or
any Court acting under the Crown, till the States

offhe Kingdom (which are virtually every Man in

t|ie Kingdom) think fit to confent to the Altera-

tion of them. The King is indeed Supreme, but
his power is only according to the Laws in being :

By them he is bound to act, and if any of his Of-
ficers act contrary to them, what they do is null

and void ; and they a,re pupiihable for if -, and
the Subjects have a Claim of Right againft them,.

But if the King and his People think fit to come to

a new Agreement to alter any fuch Law, there's

an end of all Claim of Right in the Subject : the

Claim is taken away by their own Confent ; for,

as I faid before, every Man in the Kingdom vir-

tually confents to what is done by an Aft of Par-

liament.

And there is an abfplute Neceffity that there

mould be fuch a Power as this in every Country ;

for the State of human Affairs, is, fp changeable,

tjhat it does not admit of any Set of unalterable

Laws. What is good at one time, may be de-

ftructive at another ; and what is generally good*
may, under particular Circumftances, require a

Difpenfation by a proper Authority. And here,

give me leave to pbferve to your LordfhipSj the

Difference, there, is betwixt the eternal Laws of

Juftice and Righteoufnefs, and all pofitive Laws
whatever. That as to the firft, we are made for

them, and the nearer we do in all things conform

to them, the more noble, and lovely, and excel-

lent Creatures we are: but as to pofitive Laws,

they are all made for us ; and the more they con-

form to us, the more they obviate all our Wants
and Difficulties, the more they anfwer to all our

Neceffities, the better they are.

As to what is complain'd of, that your Lord-

fhips have admitted Evidence to be read, that

would not have been admitted in the Courts be-

low : I conceive, that acting in the Capacity you

now do, you have a full Power to do it, and have

not broken any of the general Rules of Juftice by

it. You have let in all the light that you .thought

might be proper to give you a full Knowledge of

the Matter ; and in the Capacity you now act, I

cannot but hurnbly be of Opipion, it was your

Duty to do fo : but in forming of your Judgments,

I take for granted, that your Lordlhips wjjl di-

ftinguifh, and lay no mpre.Weight upon any thing

than it deferves.

As to the Rules of receiving Evidence in IVeft-

minfier-Hall, I conceive, that they are no part of

natural Juftice, but only artificial Rules fram'd for

Conveniency ; and bind no Courts, but as they

have agreed to them, and fo are become the Cu.f-

toms of the Court. That thefe Rules are no part

ofnatural Juftice s ppears from hence, that even a-

mong ourfejves they are different in different

Courts : That thofe ufed in our Courts, are. very

different



1 7 23. and other's, for a Treafonable Confpiracy. 46

1

different from thofe ufed in other Countries : That

they differ here, according to the different Caufes

or Crimes that are to be tried. Nay, they are fo

far from being fundamental Parts of Juftice, that

they muft require a good deal of Time and Art

to form them. And I am perfuaded, that was a

Perfon of good natural Senfe, who knows nothing

of the Law, afked his Opinion ; he would be apt

to think it to be a Part of natural Juftice, that

every Perfon that profecuted a Caufe in any

Court, mould be at Liberty to produce before

that Court, whatever he thought material to his

Caufe. And there is no doubt, but that this was

the original Way of Proceeding : but that in pro-

cefs of Time, when Courts came to have a good

deal of Bufinefs, and they found by Experience,

that this Way of laying every thing before 'em,

tended to lengthen Cades, (which was efpecially

inconvenient where Juries are concerned, who

muft end a Caufe before they part) thefe Rules

were gradually found out ; which, tho' they may

be, for the Reafons above fpecified, generally

convenient, yet may fometimes hinder Juftice,

by not fuffering all the Light to come into

Court, that may be material in the Caufe.

Having faid thus much concerning the Juftice

of your Method of Proceeding, I now come to

confider the fecond and the main Point of Juftice

to be regarded in this Bill ; which is, Whether

the Biftiop be Guilty, or not, of the treafonable

Practices charg'd upon him in it. And in this I

fhall be the fhorter, becaufe your Lordfhips have

heard the Evidence on both Sides, and all that

has been faid from the Bar by both Sides upon it

;

and becaufe there are many Noble Lords in the

Houfe, much abler to lay things of this Nature dif-

tinetly and clearly before your Lordfhips, than I am.

The Caufe of Kelly is fo connected with that

of the Bifhop, that I muft beg leave to fpeak a

few Words to the one, before I proceed to the

other. As to Kelly, I would obferve in the firft

Place, that one ftrong Prefumption of his Guilt

is, that when he was firft taken up, he refifted

the Officers ; that he feized his Sword, and fome

Papers that had been taken away from him •, and

was refolute to burn thofe Papers, tho* with the

apparent Hazard of his own Life, and beiDg

guilty of the Murder of one of the Officers that

had feized him.

In the next Place, it is prov'd before your

Lordfhips, that after he was taken up, the People

at his lodgings burn'd the reft of his Papers ; a

plain Evidence, that they who knew his manner

of Life and Converfation, fufpected that he was

Guilty. And this is agreeable to what Neynoe told

the Chancellor of the Exchequer ; that there was

at that time, a general burning of Papers.

Thirdly, Another Prefumption of his Guilt, is,

that when he was taken up the fecond time, he of-

fered feveral Sums of Money to the People of the

Houfe where he was in Cuftody, to fuffer him to

efcape, as appears from their Oaths at the Bar.

Thefe things I mention, not as full Proofs of his

Guilt, but as ftrong Preemptions, that-ma'ke every

thing eiie that is fworn againft him very credible.

The chief Evidences of his Guilt, are, a great

Number of intercepted letters, both from him,

and to him, containing treafonable Matters.

Thofe from him, are by feveral Witneffes prov'd

to be his Hand- writing, particularly by the Offi-

cers of the Poft-Office, who took them and tran-

fcribed them. And as to thofe to him, feveral
Witneffes have prov'd that he gave Orders at
feveral Publick-Houfes to take them in, when
they came from the Poll ; that he himfelf receiv-
ed them from thence, opened, and read them :

And it is alfo farther proved, that Anfwers were
returned to them in his own Hand-writinc.
Thefe things all together, I take to be fuch plain
and ftrong Evidences of his Guilt, that I fhall

trouble your Lordfhips no farther about him.
As to the Perfon concerned in this Bill, tho' it

be a great Trouble to me, to think that any Bi-
fhop of this Church fhould be guilty of fo foul a
Crime, as that objected to him ; yet I cannot but
be of Opinion, that if he be really guilty, the
Intereft of our Church, as well as Juftice to our
King and Country, do require, that he fhould be
convicted and punifhed. And indeed, I cannot
but be humbly of Opinion, that whoever believes

Kelly to be guilty, muft believe the Bifhop to be
guilty too.

I fhall not infill upon what is commonly called

Hear-fay Evidence, tho' there be a great deal of
it againft the Bifhop ; only muft obferve, that the

Conduct of a Proteftant Bifhop muft have been
very odd and unaccountable, if he be innocent,

that fo many Jacobites (as have done in this

Cafe) fhould declare, that they not only efteemed

him to be in the Plot, but to be the chief Con-
ductor of it. It is, however, fit to fay fomething

as to the Cafe of Neynoe ; becaufe the Bifhop and
his Counfel have taken up fo much of your
Lordfhips Time, and produced fo many Witnef-

fes to prove him a Knave. I did indeed myfelf

always think him to be a Knave, and that nothing

that he faid was to be believed, merely upon his

Authority : But on the other fide, the Teftimony
of the greateft Knave in the W7

orld, may be ta-

ken againft himfelf: and they themfelves have
proved, that he was a Jacobite, and thoroughly

in that Intereft, even when he was making fome
Difcoveries againft them •, and therefore, what
he fays, in that refpect, bears fome Weight ; as

being againft Perfons whom he favoured, and
would hurt as little as pc-lTible. Some other

Things that he had faid are alfo confirmed by

concurrent Circumftances, and other Difcoveries v
and thefe may have their Weight, tho' he were

never fo great a Knave. One of the Things that

he faid in his ConfefJion, was, that he frequently

went with Kelly to the Biihcp of Roehejfer's, and
left him there (as Kelly told him) to write his

letters. This is confirmed by a credible Wit-
nefs at your Bar, who fwears, that Neynoe ufed

to be frequently at his Houfe, and told him,

at leaft three or four times, that he waited

there for a fenfible ingenious Gentleman, that

was gone about Bufinefs to the Bifhop of Ro-

chejler : He did not indeed tell him his Name -,

but the thing feems to me to look ftronger than

if he had ; becaufe it would have looked more
like a Piece of Art and Contrivance, to have told

the Name of a Man, whom he knew to be gone

to the Bifhop about a criminal Correfpondence.

I would only beg leave to take notice to your

Lordfhips,of one thing more relating to Nynce

:

the Bifhop's W7

itneftes have fully proved, that

Neynoe told them, that the Chancellor of the Ex-

chequer had given him feveral Sums of Money, to

endeavour to get out of Kelly, tlie Explication of

the Cant Names that were ufed in the Correspon-

dence \
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dence ; and that he had promis'd him much great-

er Sums, if he would go to France, and get it

out of Dillon and the Jacobites there : The Infe-

rence from which I take to be very plain, that

the Court did not then know, who the Perfons

were, that were defigned by thofe Cant Names j

and that they did believe that Kelly did know,

and that Dillon and the Jacobites in France knew

too : which effectually and fully confutes that

Suggeftion of the Bifhop, of which he did not

bring the leaft Proof, that the Plot was a Contri-

vance of Perfons in Power.

The next Thing I would beg leave to take no-

tice of, relating to the Bifhop, is a letter (taken

among his Papers) from a lady of great Quali-

ty ; of which the Bifhop, tho' it was objected to

him by the Counfel for the Bill, has taken no no-

tice -, which I conceive he would and ought to

have done, had it been poffible to
* The Dutcbefs

ive fair Account of it. The
/Ormond. ^ . ^ ^ ^ ^ ^
that fhe fent fomething that Jhe had received, Jhe could

not tell for whom ; but let it be for whom it would,

fhe thought He might be trufted, and that it could not

be put into better Hands. A ftrong Sufpicion this,

confidering all Circumftances, that here was a

Correfpondence by Cant Names, which the Lady
did not certainly know, but believed the Bifhop

might ; or however, that he was in all Events a

Perfon to be trufted.

Another very fufpicious Circumftance againfl:

the Bifhop, is, the letters from Captain Hal/lead,

and what has been proved at your Bar, that this

fame Captain Halftead, a little before he went in

his Ship to fetch over the Duke of Ormond, waited

upon the Bifhop, and ftay'd with him an Hour.

This Thing indeed^ directly proves nothing ; but

all things confidered, is very fufpicious : and the

more fo, becaufe the Bifhop has given no Ac-
count, either of his Acquaintance with him in ge-

neral, or of the particular Reafon of that Vifit,

at a time that leaves fo much ground to fufpect

the worft.

The next Particular that deferves your Lord-
fhips Confideration, is, the letter to Dubois,

found among the Bifhop's Papers when he was

taken up, and found now to be fealed with the

fame Seal with that letter taken upon the Bi-

fhop's Servant, which he confeffeth to be his own
Hand-writing. It is not indeed proved, that the

letter to Dubois is the Hand-writing of the Bi-

fhop : but any body that reads it, will eafily be

perfuaded, that it is not the natural and ordinary

Way of Writing of any Perfon, but a difguifed

Hand like a Print ; except only fome few let-

ters which efcaped the Care of the Writer, and
are very like thofe of the Bifhop. But after a

long Examination, which has taken up a great

deal of your Lordfhips Time, it appears plainly,

that the Seals are the fame, and that the one could

not be counterfeited from the other ; becaufe, the

firfb letter was originally taken with the Seal bro-

ken, and was in the PoiTeffion of theHoufe ofCom-
mons when the fecond letter was taken upon the

Bifhop's Servant. It appears plainly by this let-

ter to Dubois, that the Perfon who wrote it was
in a fecret and dangerous Correfpondence •, that

he was an Acquaintance of Mr. Johnfon, or Kelly

;

that he received letters by his Hand, and wrote

an Anfwer in his Hand. How far all thefe Cir-

cumftances, taken together, prove the Bifhop to

be the Author of this letter, I muft fubmit to
your Lordfhips Judgment : for my part, I think
they do; efpecially confidering, that the Bifhop
has given no Account of it, which he ought to

do by Law, of a letter of this Nature, plainly

proved upon Oath to have been in his Poffeffion.

I now beg leave to proceed to that which is the

principal Charge againft the Bifhop, the dictating

to Mr. Kelly the three letters of the 20th of A-
pril ; fign'd, one, by the Name of Jones; another

by the Name of lllington; the third by the Figures

1378; which the Decypherers explain by the

Letter R. The firft, directed to Mr. Chivers, or
Dillon ; the fecond to Mr. Mufgrave, or Lord
Marr ; the third, to Mr. Jackfon, or the Pre-
tender.

It may be proper, before I take notice of the

Proofs which fhew that the Bifhop did really dic-

tate thefe letters, to take notice of an Objec-

tion with refpect to the Time : The letters are

dated the 20th of April, and the Bifhop has pro-

duced five or fix of his Servants, who fwear, that

about that Time he was fo very ill, that he could

not write himfelf ; and that he did not fee any
Perfon to whom he could dictate thefe letters.

Now in anfwer to this, it may replied : That
it does not appear, that all the Servants which

the Bifhop then had, were produced before your
Lordfhips ; and you cannot but be fenfible, that

treafonable Practices are commonly carried on in

a very fecret Way : and it appears, that the Bi-

fhop's Correfpondence with Kelly has been fo

carried on ; for tho' there is plain Evidence, that

they were frequently together, and that they were

acquainted is confefs'd, both by the Bifhop and
Kelly ; yet, fcarce any one of the Servants pro-

duc'd, would confefs, that ever they had feen

Kelly, or fo much as ever heard of the Name of

Johnfon, which was the Name by which he went.

In the next place, none of thefe Witneffes prove,

that the Bifhop was fo bad that he could fee no
Company, till about the 16th or 17th of April ;

and it's very probable, that the letters muft

have been dictated fo long, if not longer, be-

fore the 20th on which they are dated ; becaufe

Kelly was to tranfcribe and put them into Cypher,

which is a Work ofTime and Care ; and perhaps

after all, they might be defignedly poft-dated,

that the Bifhop finding himfelf going into a great

Fit of the Gout, might have all that to plead

which your Lordfhips have heard, if the Matter

fhould ever be called in queflion.

Upon all thefe Confiderations, I cannot but

think it very clear, that the Bifhop might have

dictated thefe letters : We are now therefore to

examine whether he did or no.

The firft Thing that brought any Light into

this Matter, was the fmall Accident of a Dog
being fent from France, which, by the inter-

cepted letters appeared to be fent to one that

went by the Names of Jones and lllington. When
Mrs. Barnes was examined before the Council,

upon Kelly's being taken up, it appears plainly

flie was upon the Referve, and would confefs

nothing that flie thought might tend any way
to hurt Kelly: but being afk'd about this little

Dog, who it was for, flie readily anfwered, that

Kelly had told her it was for the Bifhop of Ro-

chester ; which fhe has fince confirm'd by Oath at

the Bar of this Houfe. This little Accident, not

fufpected at the time of the Difcovery to be of

any
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any Confequence, has given Occafion fince, to

look into fo many Circumftances, as plainly bring

the matter home to the Bifhop. And indeed, if

all the particulars in the intercepted letters be

compared, with thofe things that are in proof

with refpect to the Bifhop, I believe your Lord-

fhips will be of Opinion, that they cannot all

belong to any one Perfon in the World befides

himfelf. In the firft place, fince it's proved that

Kelly wrote thefe letters, the perfon who dictat-

ed 'em muft have been an Acquaintance of Kelly's ;

it is confeffed on all hands that the Bifhop was

fo. In the next place, it is implied in one of the

intercepted letters, that the perfon that went

by the Name of Jones and Illington, was a Clergy-

man ; fo far flill agrees to the Bifhop. Again

further : this perfon is mentioned in all the inter-

cepted letters, as a perfon of great Confequence

and Credit, upon whofe advice the party very

much depend: and indeed the very Air and

Manner of writing the three letters, plainly fhew,

that the perfon who wrote 'em, thought himfelf

fo ; this alfo agrees with all the other Difcoveries

about the Bifhop. Were there no other particu-

lars but thefe, it will be hard to imagine that

they could well belong to any other perfon. But

if we confider further, that this Jones or Illington

came to Town fuch a Day of the Month, went

out of Town fuch another Day of the Month,
came back again to Town fuch another Day, was

himfelf fick at fuch a time, that his Wife was fick

at fuch another time, and that fhe died at fuch a

time ; all which are in Evidence with refpefl to

the Bifhop •, if we do, I fay, confider all thefe

Circumftances together, it will plainly appear,

that they can belong to no other Man in the

World but the Bifhop.

After this, I humbly apprehend nothing need

be faid •, however I beg leave juft to mention

fomething relating to the letter that was taken

upon the Bifhop's Servant •, by the whole Air of

which letter, it looks as coming from a perfon

who did notefteem himfelf to be innocent, but who
thought, that nothing could be legally proved

againft him : and therefore there is not one Word
of his Innocence in it, which is the firft Thought
that muft naturally have come into the Head of

any one that really was fo. He writes wholly

with the air of a Man that had been ufed to In-

trigues •, fpeaks of the Concern that his Friends

fhould have for him and the Caufe ; difcourfes

largely about the Kind of Evidence that was a-

gainft him •, takes notice in particular what can-

not affect him: if (fays he) the Nar-
* i.e. Report, rathe * relates chiefly to Neynoe'^

Sample'j, and Layer's Affairs, fo far it

cannot affetl me ; for I never heard of the Names of

either of the Three, till after this Plot broke out. It is

plain by thefe Words, that he did not then know
what was in the Narrative againft him ; but he
is very fure, that neither Neynoe nor Sample, nor

Layer could affect him. Could an innocent Man
have thus diftinguifhed, and could not they have
affected him as much as any body elfe, if he
really was innocent ? Nothing can affect fuch a

Perfon but Forgery, and that may come from any
Quarter : but in the whole letter he does not

exprefsthe leaft Sufpicion of Forgery ; and yet, as

I faid before, this is the firft thought that muft
naturally have come into the Head of an innocent

Perfon, becaufe nothing but Forgery could do
him any harm. I would only juft beg leave to

Vol. VI.

hint at this one thing more ; That as he fays, that
thefe three Perfons could not affect him, becaufe
he never knew 'em ; fo accordingly they have not
affected him, or faid any thing of their own
Knowledge about him ; which is one good Evi-
dence,' that what is faid againft him is not forged

but real.
Y

I am afraid that I have troubled your Lordfhips
too long, tho' with a very imperfect Reprefenta-

tion of the Juftice of this bill ; and therefore fhali

be fhorter upon the next Head, which is the Ex-
pediency or Prudence of it.

Had there been what we call legal Evidence
againft the party concerned, your Lordfhips, I

take for granted, would not eafily have gone to

this extraordinary Method of Proceeding : for

tho' it cannot be doubted but that the Parliament

have this Power, whenever they think proper to

make ufe of it ; yet, I do agree with other noble

Lords, that it is a Power not fit to be ufed, but

where and when the Publick Good requires we
fhould ufe it, which I humbly conceive is the Cafe

at prefent. A moft dangerous Plot againft the Go-
vernment has been difcovered : a great number of

letters and papers relating to it have been laid

before the two Houfes of Parliament : thefe have

been printed and publifhed by Order of both

Houfes : The Eyes, not only of our own Country,

but of all Europe, are upon us, to fee what we
will do. Tho' the Evidence of a Plot in general,

be as clear as the light ; and the Evidence a-

gainft feveral particular Perfons very plain ; yet,

as our laws are, it is not what we call legal

Evidence : The Parties concerned will make no
Confeffion, and we have not the Methods ufed

in all other Countries, to extort Confeffion from

them. What then? Shall we fee our King -and.

Country in Danger, and do nothing for them ?

Shall Confpirators go on with total Impunity, on-

ly becaufe they are obftinate, and artificially

fcreen themfelves behind the law ? I doubt,

my Lords, that if this prove the Cafe, we fhall

appear ridiculous in the Eyes of all the World :

That our Friends and Enemies both at Home and

Abroad will think, that we have no Zeal for the

Prefervation of our King and Government; and

if once they do think fo, your Lordfhips cannot

but be ail fenfible, how this muft encourage our

Enemies and difcourage our Friends, and bring

us into that contemptible State, in which no Go-
vernment was ever long fupported.

But a noble Lord has been pleafed to obferve,

that the beft way to ferve the Government, is to

do popular Things, and by that to procure the

love of the people. I perfectly agree in this with

the noble Lord, and cannot but be humbly of O-
pinion, that this Government has done fo, as far

as it has been able: Our Religion has been pre-

ferved ; Juftice has been equally adminiftred to all

forts of People ; none of our Rights or Liberties

have been invaded •, we have lived at Peace at

home, while many other Countries have fuftered

all the Miferies of War: thefe are, or I am fure

fhould be efteemed, popular things ; and if fome

other things, which might have been for the

Good of the People, have not been done, it has

been the Fault of thofc that complain moft, and

not of the Government. And if there be Dif-

contents now in the Kingdom, it's plain that the

Foundation of 'em was laid long ago, by the Ene-

mies to our prefent Happy Settlement : For I

am perfuaded, that the Difcontents were higher

4 G and
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and greater within four Months after the King

came to England, and fliewed themfelves much

more, in a number of Rebellious Riots and Tu-

mults, than any thing that appears at prefent ;

and yet nothing then could be objected to the

Government, but that fome Perfons were not

preferred, who both before and fince have made

it too plain that they were not fit to be trufted.

But as it is the Duty of thofe in Power, to do

all the popular things they can -, fo I muft beg

leave to obferve, that it is the Duty of all the

Subjects (and the greater they are the more it is

their Duty) to put the beft Interpretation upon

the Actions of the Government, that things will

bear ; not to mifreprefent •, not to put falfe Co-

lours upon things •, and much more not to invent

lyes and flanders, and difperfe 'em up and down

the Kingdom, in order to alienate the Affections

of the People. Thefe things have been done, and

done with great Care and Diligence, and by fome

too, who would take it very ill to be called Jaco-

bites. Thefe are the chief Caufes of the Difaf-

fection among us, and indeed of all the real Grie-

vances we labour under. Is the King forced to

put the Nation to Charges, to keep up a greater

Number of Forces than otherwife would be need-

ful ? It is intirely owing to this Caufe. Are our

Debts not paid ? Is our Credit not fo good as we
would be glad to have it ? Let this artificial Rai-

ling of Difcontents once ceafe, and thefe things

will quickly mend of themfelves. Indeed, were

this a time for it, I think it might plainly be prov-

ed, that the Debts we labour under had never been

contracted, but for this abfurd difcontented Hu-
mour : Nay, it is to this, that we intirely owe
the Danger we are in from this very plot •, for it's

plain from all the Intelligence we have about it,

that it was carried on upon the Confidence, that

all difcontented Perfons were Jacobites: and tho'

the Confpirators did in this greatly deceive them-

felves: yet it's certain that they built their Hopes
upon this Foundation.

But it's further faid by the fame noble Lord,
that this extraordinary way of Proceedings will

not procure Friends to the King •, but will rather

anger and provoke, and fo hurt his Intereft inftead

of helping it.

To this Ianfwer, that I do indeed fufpect, that

many People will be angry ; as I hear that the

Jacobites thro' the Kingdom are : A plain Evi-

dence this, that they do not think that the Friends

of King George are worrying one another ; for

they would not be angry at that. Thofe that

moft defire to deftroy our liberties, are become,
upon this Occafion, the great patrons of liberty ;

as indeed they have been in a great meafure ever
fince the Revolution, when any thing has been
propofed for the Support of the Government.
No fooner were their Schemes of Arbitrary Pow-
er in the Time of King James overturned, and a
new Government fettled which they did not like ;

but they, in order to deftroy it, fet themfelves a-

gainft every thing that was neceffary for it's De-
fence, under the Colour of liberty ; that is, they
defired to have their own Hands as loofe as pof-

fible, to hurt it •, and the Hands of the Govern-
ment as much tied up as poMible, that it fhould
not be able, either to hurt them, or defend itfelf.

Thus at prefent,- they clamour againft the Addi-
tional Forces, tho' eftablifhed by Parliament -, and
againft all Methods, either to difcover or punifh

the Confpiracy. And they judge right in this

for their Caufe ; becaufe, if they could have car-

ried thefe points to their mind, they might then

be more free in carrying on their Plots, and with
lefs Danger put them in Execution. For thefe

Reafons I take it for granted, that all thefe people
will be angry •, but I cannot but humbly be of
Opinion, that it is much better they fhould be
angry with us for defending ourfelves, than that

they fhould firft fneer at us, as Fools for neglect-

ing our Defence ; and then be able more cafily

to undo us.

As to others, that poffibly may be difpleafed at

what we are now doing, I would hope, that a lit-

tle Time and confederation will fet them right,

and convince them, that it is not only juft, but

(all things confidered) neceffary to be done

;

becaufe, if the Parliament do, upon this occafion,

fhew their Zeal in the Defence of the Government,
it will animate and give Courage to the Friends

of it both at home and abroad. Foreign Powers
will be apt to court the Friendfhip of a Prince,

at the Head of a mighty Kingdom ; if they fee,

that he and his Pofterity are like to continue

there : All the Affairs of the Kingdom, which
refpect them, will be managed with more Eafe,

with more Honour, and with/lefs Expence ; and
they will be inclined, not t6 foment but to dif-

cover Plots, if they came to their Knowledge.
But on the contrary, if we give 'em any Reaibn
to fufpect, that we look another way, they will

quickly do fo too, and ftrive which fhall be for-

warder!: to help the Pretender to involve us in

Blood and Ruin. And as to the Subjects at home,
I would only obferve, that all Mankind are apt

to fhew moft Zeal for a Government, when they

think it fafe, and like to ftand, and be able to

protect them : But to fufpect the contrary is a

moft dangerous Temptation to the Fidelity of

Subjects as has been feen by the Experience of

all Ages. And therefore I hope, that your Lord-

fhips will, by your Unanimity and Zeal in this

matter effectually convince the World, that the

Danger does and fhall lie in oppofing, and not in

defending the prefent Government.

I hope that what I have now been faying, has

convinced your Lordfhips, both of the Juftice and

Prudence of this Bill ; give me leave to obferve,

that your Moderation has been very great too,

both in giving fo full and fair a Hearing, and in

making the Penalties fo much lefs than the Crimes

deferve.

It is now above a Year fince the Plot was firft

difcovered ; a Plot of a moft defperate Nature,

to feize the Perfons of the King and Prince, and

to bring in a Popifh Pretender upon us. The Ex-
ecution of which, was to be begun by fazing

the Tozver, and attacking the City of London on

all fides; and was thence to fpread itftlf into all

parts of the Kingdom. Lord ! what Ccnfufion ;

what Murders ; what Plundering ; what burn-

ings muft this have caufed? Whatever had been

the Iffue, the very Attempt muft probably have

occafioned the Sacking and Burning of this great

City: The utter lofs at onceofali public!; Cre-

dit: The Murder of infinite Numbers of Peo-

ple: The Aftonifhment, and Amazement, and

Undoing of almoft all, but of thofe vile

Wretches who would have had the plundering

of all fides. If it had gone on, how many, of the

Noble Lords that I now fee, would have been

before
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before this in their Graves ? But I forbear going

any further in this Tragical Representation, and

delire only to obferve, That tho' it has been dis-

covered above a Year, how very little of it we

yet know : and I do appeal to your Lordfhips

Consideration, who know the State of the World

very well, whether there be any Country in it

either Bond or Free, which, had 'they difcover'd

but a fifth part of what we know of a Plot of this

Nature, would not in a Week's time have found

means to get to the Bottom of it. However, my
Lords, I ftill commend your Moderation ; and

do hope, that we mail never find Reafon to re-

pent of it, and that this little which is now do-

in°\ will be a Warning to Confpirators, not to

provoke further the Patience ofan injured Nation.

I doubt not but upon this and all other Occa-

sions, your Lordfhips will be ready to (land by a

wife, a good, and a merciful Prince ; and

that you will, according to your Oaths, defend

him, ao-ainft all Treafons, and Traitorous Con-

spiracies whatfoever.

And in the laft place, give me leave, as a Chris-

tian and a Proteftant Bifhop to hope, you will do

your beft, that a Popifh Pretender may never be

Set at the Head oS this Proteftant Church : One,

who muft think himfelf bound in Conscience to

deftroy it •, and inftead oS that pure Religion

which we now enjoy, bring in horrible Superfti-

tion and Idolatry, NonSenSe and Tyranny ; at-

tended with all the Sad Calamities, which Popifh

Princes always have brought, and always muft

bring upon Proteftant Countries.

After whom the Duke of Wharton Spake as fol-

lows:

SOME Words which have Sullen Srom the Re-

verend Prelate, who Spoke laft, have made it,

in Some meaSure, neceflary Sor me to trouble your

Lordfhips with the ReaSons that induced me to

differ with him in Opinion, and to give my Ne-
gative to the Bill now depending before us.

If I don't miSunderftand his Lordfhip (and iSI

fhould miftake his Meaning, I hope he will Set

me right) he was pleaSed to Say, That PerSons

without Doors Would be apt to caft different Re-

flections on the particular Behaviour of every

Lord this Day : That thofe who were Sor the

palling of this Bill, would be accufed of Malice

and Partiality ; and thofe who were of contrary

Sentiments, would be branded with Disaffection

to the prefent Happy Eftablifhment.

For my Part, I am far from thinking, that Con-

siderations ofthis Nature will have the leaft Weight
with any of your Lordfhips •, and am very certain,

that every one, who gives his Vote on this im-

portant Occafion, has attended, with the greateft

Care, to the Evidence that has been given at your

Bar, which is the Foundation of this Day's Debate.

The Proofs that have been brought to Support

the Charge, and the Bifhop's Defence, are to be

thoroughly confidered ; and when your Lordfhips

proceed according to the Rules of Jufcice, you
will not fear, nor value, any ConSequences which
may attend the discharging of your Duty.

So far I will venture to affirm, That the beft

Way to fhew our Zeal to his Majefty, and the

preSent Government, is, To act .in all CaSes,

both in our Judicial and Legiflative Capacities,

with that Honour and Impartiality, as ought to

flourifh' in this great Council of the Nation.

I could have wifhed the Noble Lords who have
given their Reafons for the palling this extraordi-

nary Law, would have entred into the particular

Circumftances of this Cafe, and confidered it Sin-

gly on its own Merits : But inftead of Speaking on
that Head, I cannot but take Notice, That they
have wandered from that (which ought to have
been their only Confideration) into learned DiS-

courSes on Bills of this Nature in general.

I Shall not trouble this Houfe with any Argu-
ments againft Attainders. Many Lords, of
greater Weight and Abilities than myfelf, have
already Spoke fully to this Point in the preceding
Debates.

I Shall only So Sar agree with the Reverend
Prelate, who Spoke before me, That it is proper,

that Such a Power of punifhing by Bill, fhould be
vefted in the Legislature, to be exercifed on extra-

ordinary Emergencies : But then I muft add, IS

ever that Power is abuSed : if ever it is employed
to deftroy innocent PerSons, it is evident, That
the lives, liberties, and Fortunes of every Subject

in Britain are in the utmoft Danger, and liable

to be facrificed to the Fury of a Party.

It has been admitted, That every Bill of Pains

and Penalties is to Stand upon its own bottom ;

and that the paffing of one Act of this Nature, is

not to be brought as a precedent for the fupport-

ing of another, unlefs there be convincing Evi-

dence to inSorce each CaSe. And therefore the

proper Confideration now beSore us, is, Whether
the Evidence offer'd againft the Unfortunate Pre-

late, is Sufficient to induce your Lordfhips to be-

lieve him Guilty of the heavy Crimes of which he

Stands accufed ?

My Lords, I Shall take the liberty of confider-

ing the whole ProoSs that have been brought on
this Occafion, both by way oS Charge, DeSence,

Reply, and Rejoinder ; and tho' I own mySelf

very unequal to this Tafk, yet, Since no ether

Lord, who could do it much better, has under-

taken it, I think it my Duty as a Peer, and as an

Englijhman, to lay it before your Lordfhips in the

beft Manner I am able.

The Method I Shall obferve for the more clear

Stating of the Cafe, fhall be to lay every parti-

cular Branch of Evidence before you, and to

diftinguifh the feveral Parts of the AccuSation,

and confider them Separately, to avoid Ccnfufion,

and to be the more exact in what I have to offer.

I hope, I fhall have your Lordfhip's Indulgence

for taking up So much of your Time as this will

require : But I afiure you, I fhall endeavour to be

as brief as the Nature of the Thing will admit,

and will intrude on your Patience as little as pof-

fible.

I muft alfo defire your Lordfhips will pardon

me, if I repeat feveral Arguments that have been

uScd by the CounSel at the Bar •, and if I even men-

tion Some Things which fell from me in the De-

bate on Mr. Kelly's Bill, whofe Cafe is very much

interwoven with the preSent ; So that it is almoft

impoffible to avoid it.

BeSore I go any-further, I cannot but fiy, That

were theSe Crimes plainly proved againft the Bi-

fhop of RocheJIer, his Sacred Function and Station

in the Church would be Aggravations of his Guilt

:

But, as this is certain on the one hand, So on the

other, your Lordfhips v/ill require very clear De-

monftration, before you can think it poflible for

a Bifhop of the Proteftant Church (who his Sig-

nalized
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nalized himfelf in Defence of the Reformation,

and the only one of that Bench where he had late-

ly the Honour of fitting, that ever wrote in fa-

vour of Martin Luther) to ingage in a Confpiracy

for introducing Popery and Arbitrary Power

amongft us.

My Lords, the Counfel for the Bill opened the

Charge with acquainting the Houfe, That it was

only to be fupported by producing of decyphered

letters, full of fictitious Names and Cant Words

:

They were fo very fair as to confefs, they had not

one living Witnefs that could charge the Bifliop

with any thing, nor even fo much as a letter under

his own Hand •, therefore, on the firft View,

this Manner of condemning, on fuch kind of Evi-

dence, ought to require our utmoft Caution, left

we fhould eftabliih a Method, which our Enemies

may hereafter take to deftroy the greateft and moft

innocent Subject in the Kingdom.

Mr. Wearg cited two Cafes, which he would

willingly have us receive as Precedents, to juftify

the admitting of circumftantial Evidence : The
one was, the Cafe of jijkton, who was condemned

on Circumftances only. But, my Lords, this

was before the Treafon-Act was paffed, which

requires Two Pofitive Witneffes ; and nothing

could induce the Legislature to pafs that Law,
but a thorough Conviction of the Danger that

might attend the admitting of any Proofs which

were not pofitive or certain.

The fecond Cafe he cited, was that of Harrifon

for the Murder of Dr. Clench ; and the learned

Gentleman tells you, that it was the pulling out

of a Handkerchief that led to the Difcovery of

that Murder. It is very certain, Circumftances

may lead to the Difcovery of Evidence; but muft

be well fupported before they can be converted

into convincing Proofs.

The firft Piece of Evidence that was offered at

the Bar, was the Extracts of Letters from abroad,

which this Houfe feems, in fome meafure, to have

declared to be immaterial, when they did not fo

much as defire to fee Copies of the whole letters,

nor the Originals ; and even admitted one to be

read which was Anonymous. But it will not be

improper to obferve, that thro' this whole Cor-

refpondence the Bifhop of Rocbefter is not named.

And therefore I cannot fee why they took up our

Time with reading Papers quite foreign from this

Cafe •, efpecially fince every Body allows there

has been a Confpiracy, which is the only Fact to

be gathered from this Correfpondence.

The next Point which was attempted to be

proved, was, That Captain Halftead went to fetch

the late Duke ofOrmond, and was at the Deanery
with the Bifhop before he embark'd. There are

alio two letters found in the Bifhop's Clofe-Stool,

from this Gentleman to his Lordfhip, which were
read, and are only Appointments for Vifits, but

mention nothing of this Defign •, and, I think,

there was a Coachman, that proved Halftead was

an Hour with him fome Days before he left London.

This, my Lords, was opened as a Matter of

great Importance : But your Lordfhips muft re-

member, that the fuppofed Defign of Halftead's

bringing the late Duke of Ormond into England,

is only proved by Hearfay. One of the Crew be-

longing to the Ship in which he went, has depo-

fed, That it was the Common Report at Bilboa,

that Halftead came there on that Errand.

How far common Fame is to prevail, I fubmit:

But if this Hearfay were true, is every Perfon

who was an Hour with this Gentleman before

his Departure, fuppofed to be privy to this Pro-
ject? And what a ftrain'd Conftruction is it to

infinuate, the Bifhop of Rochejler knew of hrs

Intention, becaufe he received a Vifit from Hal-

ftead, who was a Tenant under his Bifhoprick?

And this is the more extraordinary, fince it has

not been fo much as pretended that any Corre-

fpondence has paffed between the Reverend Pre-

late and the late Duke.

They then produced letters directed to one
Dumvill, which were decyphered. And Mr. Willes

was examined to prove, that they were rightly

and juftly explained.

My Lords, It very well deferves your Lord-
fhips Confideration, how far this kind of Evi-

dence is to be admitted : It has appeared to your
Lordfhips by the Oath of Mr. Willes himfelf,

that it is an Art which depends upon Conjec-

ture ; for this Gentleman has confeffed, that

every Man is liable to a Miftake in this, as well

as in other Sciences. He tells you, that he and
his Brother Decypherer varied in One or Two
Inftances : He allows, that the Chafms, which
they were forc'd to leave in thofe letters, might
alter the Senfe of them. And, therefore I cannot

but think, that an Accufation grounded on fuch

Proofs, is uncertain and precarious.

The Perfon who is the Decypherer is not to be

confuted, and what he fays muft be taken for

granted, becaufe the Key cannot be produced
with Safety to the Publick; and, confequently

(if his Conjectures be admitted to be Evidence)

our Lives and Fortunes muft depend on the Skill

and Honefty of Decypherers, who may with

Safety impofe on the Legiflature, when there are

not Means of contradicting them for want of

feeing their Key.

My Lords, in the Cafe of Coleman, the Key
was printed, as has been well obferved by the

Counfel at the Bar ; and I am very much furpriz-

ed, that Gentlemen of fuch Abilities and Inte-

grity, as the Members of the Secret Committee
(who, in another Place, were fo exact as to print

the French Originals with the tranflated letters,

that the World might fee how juft and candid the

Profecutors of the Plot were) did not, for the

Satisfaction of the Publick, permit us to fee the

Key in print, on the Truth of which depends

fuch a Chain of Confequences.

I own myfelf intirely ignorant of this Art:
But, as I fhould be very far from condemning a

Man on my own Conjecture, I fhould much lefs

do it on the Conjectures of others.

The greateft Certainty Humane Reafon knows,

is, a Mathematical Demonftration •, and were

I brought to your Lordfhips Bar, to be try'd

upon a Propofition of Sir Ijaac Netvton's, which

he upon Oath fhould fwear to be true, I would

appeal to your Lordfhips, whether I fhould not be

unjuftly condemned, unlefs he produced his De-
monftration, that I might have the liberty of en-

quiring into the Truth of it, from Men of equal

Skill?

I cannot think any Man will allow Evidence

of this Nature to be good : But if in this Cafe re-

lating to the decyphered letters to Dumvill, your

Lordfhips fhould admit it, there is nothing men-
tioned in them that can affect the Bifhop, nei-

ther is he at all nam'd in them, but they are only

brought to prove the Confpiracy in general.

The
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The Examinations of Mr. Neynoe are the next

Points that are laid before your lordfhips: And

indeed, I mud do the Gentlemen at the Bar the

Juftice of faying, That they forbore mentioning

any thing of them, when they open'd the Charge.

They were fo fenfible that fuch Proofs could

not have the leaft weight to affect the bilhop,

that tho' in the Cafe of Mr. Kelly they were pro-

duced againft him, as very material to fupport

that Bill, yet they did not think proper to name

them againft the bifhop ; which, I am thorowly

perfuaded, is owing to what appeared at your

Bar by the Examination of Mr. Bingley, and the

univerfal Opinion which every Peribn feemed to

have of the Villany of Mr. Neynoe' s Tranfac-

tions.

My lords, Thefe Examinations were never

figned by the Perfon, neither was he ever exa-

min'd to them upon Oath : So that were they of

Confequence, and he a Perfon of Credit, they

could not be admitted to affect any Perfon what-

foever, in any Court of Juftice or Equity. I don't

mean, That they could not be read according

to the ftrict Rules of Wejlminfter-Hall; which is

admitted on all Sides they could not : But I dare

affirm, that no Credit can be given to 'em on any

Account whatfoever.

The Perfon was clofely confin'd, and confe-

quently in the Hands of the Government ; fo that

he was at that Time under the greateft Apprehen-

fions, which might, in fome meafure, prevent

him from fpeaking Truth, with that Sincerity

and Candour of which every Perfon ought to be

Mafter, when he is examin'd on Matters of fuch

nice Nature.

Tho' thefe Papers were intirely given up by the

Counfel for the Bill, yet the Extract of them was

read, and they are the vifible Foundation of this

Charge ; and if they are infignificant, the whole

Accufation falls to the Ground : For the whole

Proof of the bifhop's dictating to Mr. Kelly, de-

pends on Mr. Neynoe's bare Affirmation.

The whole of what Neynoe fays, or is fuppofed

to fay, is, That Mr. Kelly told him he wrote the

bifhop's letters for him : Mr. Kelly denies it, and

Mr. Neynoe was fo confcious that he had been

guilty of many Crimes, that he endeavoured to

withdraw from Juftice, and the Providence of

God, it is faid, intercepted him.

My lords, if you will confider the Improba-

bilities of this Evidence, altho' it were upon
Oath, and figned by him, it cannot be fupported.

He tells you, That he was intruded to draw up
Memorials to the Regent : Yet none of thofe have

been produced : And yet it is apparent the Copies

of them might, with Eafe, have been obtained,

if he had been as thorowly preffed to deliver them,

as he was to declare he wrote them.

Thefe Memorials, he fays, were wrote by the

Order of Mr. Henry Watfon, whom he takes to

be the late Earl Marijhall : And I am certain your

lordfhips did not think that Fact material, when
you came to a Refolution, That the bifhop of

Rochefter fhould not be at liberty to afk, if En-
quiry was made of the faid Neynoe, or if he gave
any Satisfaction to the lords of the Council,

touching that important Fact of Watfon's, whom
he took to be Earl Marijhall, lying with him fe-

veral Nights.

It was very well obferved by a learned Gen-
tleman at the Bar, That no body can believe the

late Earl Marifhal would have repofed fo great a

Vol. VI.

Confidence in a Perfon, who was intirely a Stran-
ger to him, and of fuch little Note; and the Ja-
cobite Party muft be in a low Condition, when
they make ufe of fuch a Creature to write Papers
of that Importance.

There is fo much Improbability in this and o-
ther Points, and fo much Contradiction in feve-
ral Parts of his Examinations, that they appear
to me, and muft to all reafonable Men, as the
Dictates of Fear, and not agreeable to Truth.
He mentions, That the Reverend Prelate (for

fuch I ftill may call him) had fome Favours offer'd

him by the Court ; but that cannot be true, and
muft be added to the reft of thefe Abfurdities.

But, my lords, what in my Opinion clears up
all thefe Matters, and makes it impoflible for me
to give the leaft Credit to this, or any other Part
of the Charge, are, The feveral Teftimonies of
Bingley, Skeene, and Stewart.

I muft obfcrve to your lordfhips, That the
two firft Perfons, Bingley, and Skeene, are actu-

ally now in feparate Cuftodies ; and confequently
could have no Communication one with another.

The Third is at Liberty ; but his Teftimony is

fo thorowly fupported by Mr. Gordon and Mr.
Kynajlon, that no doubt can arife as to the Ve-
racity of it.

Thefe Gentlemen, who are in the Hands of
the Government, are under Hopes and Fears; and
therefore, it is certain, when they fpeak a Lan-
guage, which, perhaps, may be difagreeable to

thofe on whom they at prefent chiefly depend, it

muft be the Spirit of Truth that prevails.

Mr. Bingley was before us in the' Cafe of Kelly,

and was alio examin'd at the Bar of the Houfe
of Commons, tho' not upon Oath ; and tho' he
has been more feverely treated, as he told your
lordfhips, and more ftrictly confined fince his

firft Examination, yet he has perfifted in his Sto-

ry : And tho' he was fo long at your Bar, and fo

many Queftions put to him, yet he never varied

in any one Circumftance, but appeared confident

thro' the whole Courfe of his Behaviour.

I fhall not detain your lordfhips with recapi-

tulating his whole Evidence, for I did it very

fully on a former Occafion. But your lordfhips

will remember, he told you, Neyyioe abounded
in Money, which Neynoe faid (after he was ap-

prehended at Deal) an Honourable Perfon (and on
this Occafion, I hope, I may name him) Mr.
Walpole gave him : And more particularly, he men-
tions 50/. which Neynoe faid he received the

Night before he went to France.

Bingley told your lordfhips, That Neynoe had
ajj'ured him, he ufed to meet this Honourable Perfon in

the Stable-Yard at Chelfea: And, my lords, the

Errand on which he was going to France, was,

To difcover fome Secrets relating to Cyphers,

which he would have ingaged Bingley to have

done for him ; and particularly, to get them, if

poffible, out of Mr. Kelly, Which, he faid, could

he obtain, would be ofgreat Advantage to him.

That Neynoe had declared to him, He would be

even with Mr. Kelly, before he was aware of it, or

Words to that Effect : And that Mr. Kelly always

feem'd averfe to any Acquaintance with Mr.
Neynoe, of whom he entertained a mean Opinion,

That Neynoe's Father refufed him Money ;

which makes it highly probable that his Poverty

was the Occafion of his Villany: And that when
he was taken at Deal, he had declared to him,

Mr. Walpole expected to find the Plot about him ;

4 II and
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and fince Mr. Walpole could not, he muft make

one for him.

Neynoe told Bingley, That this Honourable Per/on

had vowed Deftruclion to the Bijhop <?/"Rochefter, by

faying, He would pull down the Pride of this Haughty

Prelate; which is fufficient to convince your

lordfhips how little Regard ought to be had to the

Hearfay Evidence of fo falfe a Wretch.

Mr. Bingley fays, That part of this Account

he had given to the lords of the Council : And I

could have wifhed, that his Examination (as

well as fome others to the fame purpofe, which

were taken about the fame time) had been laid be-

fore the Parliament.

Mr. Skeene, who isalfo in Cuftody, hasdepofed,

That he lay in the fame Houfe with Neynoe, and

had fome Converfations with him.

That Neynoe had told him, What he had faid of

the Bifhop of Rochefter was intirely falfe. And,

That Mr. Walpole had offered him a confiderable

Annuity to turn Evidence ; and hadgiven him Inflec-

tions before he was called in to the Lords, what Que-

ftions would be afked him, and what Anfwers he

fhould make, and threaten d him with Newgate if he

would not comply.

Skeene fays further, That Neynoe fwore (and I

hope the Reverend Bench will, in fuch a Cafe, per-

mit me to repeat the Words) by God, there were two

Plots ; One of Mr. Walpole'j, againfl theprotefling

Lords, and one of his, to bite Mr. Walpole ofMoney

:

And this feems to be the only Time that ever Mr.
Neynoe averr'd any thing upon Oath.

To convince the World, what a Creature this

Neynoe was, he tells Skeene further, That once at

Lord Townfhend'j Office, he had a great Inclination

to have ftabb'd the Chancellor of the Exchequer. He
tells you, That Neynoe had wrote a Paper to

declare. That all he had faid of Lord Orrery was

falfe.

My lords, The next witnefs was Mr. Stewart,

who was unfortunately in Cuftody when Neynoe

was brought to Town from Deal.

Stewart fays, That he flept the fecond Night

with Neynoe : That Neynoe had told him what he

had faid of the Bifhop, was falfe ; and that Mr.
"Wa.\po\e had offered him agreat Sum ofMoney, if he

would fwear to what he faid, and turn Evidence,

which he declared he could not do.

That Mr. Walpole had taken him into another

Room before he was examined, and told him what

Queftions he would probably be afked, and what An-

fwers'he fhould give.

He fays, That Neynoe told him alfo, That he

had like to have kill'd Mr. Walpole, and fo put an
End to the Plot: And that Mr. Walpole had given
him a Paper of Directions, which he was to anfwer,

in order to be a Witnefs againfl the Protefling

Lords.

As a Confirmation of his Teftimony, Stewart

fiiys, He told this to Mr. Gordon before Mr.
Neynoe was drowned, and to Mr. Kynafton before

the Meeting of the Parliament.

Mr. Gordon confirms this Part of his Evidence,

and affures your lordfhips, that he had heard it

from Stewart before the Death of Neynoe. And
Mr. Kynafton, a Gentleman of an undoubted Cha-
racter, lately a Member of Parliament for Shrewf-

bury, has afiured your lordfhips, That he was ac-

quainted with Stewart's Account of Neynoe before

the Meeting of the Parliament : And adds this

Circumftance, That when in the Appendix he faw
thofe fix Queftions printed, he fhewed them to

Stewart, who feem'd rejoyced, and faid, You fee,

Sir, what I told you is true.

Such concurring Teftifrionies from Perfons kept
fo feparate, and who are fpeaking againft their

own private Intereft, mult have the greatcft
Weight, and muft at' leaft prevent any rational

and impartial Perfon from giving the leaft Credit
to the bare Hearfay of this Philip Neynoe.

If any doubt could remain, as to the Validity
of this Teftimony, it is fufficiently confirm'd by
the Perfons brought' to difprove it.

The Chancellor of the Exchequer himfelf does
not pretend to deny that Neynoe told thefe Thino-s,
but only adds other Circumftances to convince
you of Neynoe' s Villany, and affares you, That
at the Time he was receiving Favours from him,
he was thorowly convinc'd he intended to cheat
him, which was the Occafion of his being ap-
prehended.

He own'd the Tranfactions between them
before Neynoe went to France, and particular-

ly the Money mention'd by Bingley; which are

Proofs that Neynoe muft have difclofed thefe

Secrets fince they could not come from Mr.
Walpole, and He and Neynoe on]y were privy to

it.

Mr. Walpole has fhewn your lordfhips the foul

Draught of the Queftions mention'd by Stewart ;

and when he denies that part of Neynoe''s Declara-
tion relating to the Inftructions given him before

the Examinations, he owns, he was twice alone
with him , once the firft Night of his being
brought to Town, and the fecond time, when he
gave him the Paper of Directions, which might be
Foundation enough for Neynoe to frame fo notori-

ous a Falfhood.

The Witneffes brought by the Counfel for the

Bill, to the Character of Mr. Bingley, feem rather

to confirm it than otherwife ; and all agree, they
never heard any thing againft his Morality.

They indeed have faid, he bore the Character of
a Jacobite ; and fuffered for having difperfed a Li-
bel : But Mr. Baron Gilbert, who was his Judge
when that Punifhment was inflicted on him, has

told your lordfhips, That his private life was
not vilified at his Trial, and that neither Perjury

nor Forgery were ever laid to his Door.
Tho' the Punifhment he fuffered was the Pillory,

yet it is the Crime, and not the Punifhment, that

makes the Ignominy ; and for this I can appeal to

the learned Judges.

In order to deftroy the Evidence of Mr. Skeene^

they produced one Pancier, who tells you, That
Skeene had revealed many Secrets to him relating

to the Plot ; and particularly of a Military Cheft,

which was collected to carry on thefe fuppofed

Defigns, and fupport the Jacobites.-—But I prefume

every body who heard the two Perfons at the

bar, could not but remark the Steddinefs with

which Mr. Skeene denied thefe Affeverations, and

the Confufion with which the other affirmed

them.

Mr. Pancier feem'd to drop fomething which in-

tirely deftroys any Credit that could be given to

him, by faying, That he had owned to Mr. Skeenex
that he was a Friend to this Adminiftration ; and
yet has fworn, That after fuch a Declaration,

Skeene had it ill perfifted in his Story, and reveal-

ed fome Part of this Intelligence to him. How
far this is probable, your lordfhips are the beft

Judges.

Mr.
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Mr. Pander goes further, and tells you, That

Part of this Convention happened in St. James's

Park, in the prefence of one Bufour. This Dufour

was i'n the Hands of the Government ; and I can't

conceive why we have never feen him or his De-

pofitions, when it would have been fo eafy to

have brought this corroborating Witnefs to Mr.

Pander's Teftimony.

I can't but think, That the not producing this

Man's Evidence, is a ftrong Circumftance to con-

vince your Lordfhips he did not agree in the fame

Story with Mr. Pander.

They alfo produced Skeene's Attainder for the

Prefton Rebellion : But there have been many Acts

of Grace fince, fo that he is capable of being an

Evidence : and there has nothing appeared to tra-

duce his Character as a Man of Morals.

In order to fhew your Lordlhip's, that Neynoe

could not poffibly make thefe Confeffions to Mr.

Skeene and Mr. Stewart, the Counfel for the Bill

maintain, That they will prove Neynoe and the

Prifoners were not together after the firft Night.

This, my Lords, would be very material ; but

I think it appears, by the proofs brought to fupport

this Aflertion, that they frequently have converfed

one with another.

The firft Witnefs they call'd, was Mr. Crawford

the Meffenger, in whofe Houfe the Prifoners were

in Cuftody ; and my Lords, I can't but fay, it

leems very odd, they fhould bring a Man to fwear

he had done his Duty : He has told your Lord-

ftiips, That Lord Townjhend had given him Or-

ders, that Neynoe fhould be clofe confined -, and

if, after that, it fhould appear, that he had neg-

lected fuch Directions, there is no queftion, but

that he inftantly, and defervedly, would have

been removed out of his Employment.
This Meffenger, in this Situation, tells you,

That afcer the firft Nighc they never convers'd,

to the beft of his Knowledge : That Mr. Skeene

call'd Neynoe a Rogue of an Informer ; and fpoke

in very hard Terms of him •, which I indeed

think it appears the Fellow well deferv'd.

Crawford fays, That Mr. Neynoe had fome paper,

two Sheets of which he found miffing. He like-

wife fwears, That Mr. Stewart lay upon the Stairs

;

and owns, he had at that time two Servant-maids.

Mrs. Crawford, his Mother, fwears, That, to

the beft of her Knowledge, the prifoners were

never together : That (he kept the Keys of the

Rooms herfelf, but ufed to fend up the Maid,
Hannah Wright, with the Dinner.—Your Lord-
fhips will obferve, that both this Woman and her

Son fwear to the beft of their Knowledge only,

and are far from pofitive Witneffes.

Hannah Wright, when fhe was firft call'd,

fpoke in the fame Language with them, tho' fhe

afterwards recollected herfelf better.

When the Bifhop came to rejoin, Francis

Wood, Thomas Wood, and Mr. Rujfel feverally

fay, That this Hannah Wright had declared to

them, That fhe ufed to Jet the prifoners con-

verfe together whenever fhe had an Oppor-
tunity, which was when Mr. Crawford and his

Mother were out of the way ; and that fhe ufed

to ftand upon the Stairs and give Notice when
any perfon came, that they might retire into

their feveral Rooms. And the other Maid,
whofe Name is Chrifiian, has depofed, That
Hannah gave the Key of Neynoe's Room to Stew-
art, and feveral times defired Stewart to go up

to him, and that they were together an Hour
or more. And when Hannah was called a fecond
Time, fhe own'd fhe was turn'd away for Sufpi-
cion of having help'd Neynoe in his Efcape

;

That fhe has Mt Skeene's Door open, who lay
near Neynoe ; and that there was a large Hole
in Neynoe's Door, thro' which they might con-
verfe.

She faid, That Neynoe gave her a Paper, which
fhe was to convey for him ; but that it was taken
out of her Bofom, and burnt by one of the Pri-
foners.

When Mr. Stewart faid, That he fat upon Ney-
noe's Bed the fecond Night, and lay in the Garret
where there was a Partition, but a Communica-
tion between 'em, Hannah faid, She could not
be pofitive to that, but believes it true.

Mr. Crawford, when he was call'd to that Point,
according to his ufual Cuftom dehies it to the
beft of his Knowledge.

Your Lordfhips will now judge, whether the
greateft Credit is to be given to the Belief of a
Meffenger and his Mother, who are fwearing
that they did their Duty, or to the pofitive
Oaths of Skeene, Stewart, Gordon, Kynaflon, Frau-
ds Wood, Thomas Wood, Rujfel and Chrifiian, con*
firm'd by the Confeffion of Hannah Wright, when
fhe came to be crofs-examinedand confronted.

This, my Lords, concludes what has appear'd
at the Bar, relating to Mr. Neynoe and his Tranf-
actions ; and I am pretty certain, every impartial
Body muft agree with me, That fo far from gi-
ving the leaft Credit to what he fays, there have
appeared fuch Circumftances in the Tran factions

which are now come to Light, that muft make
the greateft Caution neceffary, before we believe
any other part of the Charge.

Your Lordfhips will take notice, That Mr.
Crawford confeffes Mr. Neynoe had the Ufe of Pa-
per, and found two Sheets miffing ; and Hannah
Wright owns (he had a Paper from him, which
was burnt by one of the Prifoners. This, my
Lords, undoubtedly was the Paper relating to
Lord Orrery, mentioned by Skeene in his Evi-
dence.

My Lords, I am now coming to the great and
only Foundation remaining to fupport this Bill,

viz. Neynoe's Examination : for if his Hearfay is

not to be believed, which is the Proof that was
offered to fhew that Mr. Kelly was the Bifhop's

Secretary, and ufed to write for him : and par-

ticularly, That the Bifhop dictated Three Let-
ters, which were wrote in Kelly's Hand, and
tranfmitted to France under Cover to Monfieur
Gordon le Fils

;

Then, as every Body muft 3gree, the Bifhop
ought to be acquitted; and when hereafter this

great Affair comes to be canvaft'd by Pofterity,

it will ftand or fall as this Fact fhall be ftrongly

made appear,

They firft read Plunket's Cypher, and Mr.
Vanradike attefts it to be his Hand-writing.

When this Piece of Evidence was offer'd, Peo-
ple were at a lofs to know what they intended to

make of it, and little thought that they fhould

be drove to make ufe of Jackfon, (binding for the

Pretender in that Cypher, to fhew that the let-

ter directed to Jackfon (one of the three before-

mention'd, affirm'd to be dictated by the Bifhop

of Rochefter to Mr. Kelly) was to the Pretender.

I fhall take notice of this extraordinary Proceed-

ing
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ing when I come to confider thofe Letters : I fhall

only fay now, That were Mr. Plunket's Corref-

pondence to be regarded, the plot is of a very

deep Nature ; for he has had the Impudence to in-

finuate the mod ridiculous Afperfions againfl the

greateft Men amongft us.

Three of his letters were read out of Cypher,

in Two of which Mr. John/on is named, that

is Mr. Kelly ; but neither Mr. Kelly, nor the Bifhop

The Difference which they tell your Lord-
fhips they obferve, between the Cut of the let-

ters in that of the 20th of Auguft, and the others,

is, That one is longer and ftraiter, the other wi-
der and fhorter: which is obvious to any body
that will look on both, and is a Confirmation of
their Veracity.

The profecutors of the plot might have prov'd
this .better, and not have been driven to the Tef-

of Rochefter are allowed places in his Cypher, and timony of a Meffenger to fupport this great Foun-

confequently were not in an Affociation with dation of their Charge. It is notorious what

him. Johnfon is only fpoke of by Plunket, when Search they have made for Evidence of all kinds -,

he is mentioning Domeftick News, and in no o- and as Mr. Kelly was educated in a College, they

ry News-Letter that might eafily have found credible Witneffes to
that point, if thofe letters had been wrote

ther than might be in ev

went by the General Poft.

My Lords, in order to fhew that the Three

letters fent under Cover to Mr. Gordon le Fils,

were Mr. Kelly's Hand-writing, which they very

juftly thought was neceffary to be made appear

before they proved that the Bifhop was concern-

ed in them ; they produced a letter of the 20th

of Auguft, which a Clerk of the Port-Office

fwears was ftopt at the General Poft-OfHce.

To convince us this letter is Mr. Kelly's Wri-

ting, Hutchins the Meffenger fays, To the beft to pay bills drawn by him in the Hand-writing

of his Knowledge it is Mr. Kelly's Hand; and they were fhewn, and no perfons could contra-

at the fame time owns, he never faw him write diet them ; and yet the Sentence againfl him was

till after his Commitment, and then he flood a great blemifh to that Reign. The Great Lord
by him while he wrote two letters, one to Chief JuHice Hol(, in the Cafe of Crojby, refus'd

Lord Townjhend, theother to Mr. Delafaye: Thofe to admit it
;_
and the Lord Chief Bzron Bury

t on

letters were produced at the Bar, and therefore Francia's Trial, follow'd that Example,

every Lord in the Houfe is as good a Judge of At prefent, give me leave to fay, There is no

the Similitude as the Meffenger, who has lately Evidence that it is Mr. Kelly's Hand, and there

been reflored into Favour, on what Account I is pofitive proof that it is not. Therefore,

him.
7

In the Cafe of Similitude of Hands, when it

has been the moft clearly and pofitively proved
as on the Trial of Colonel Sidney, it has been
efleemed to be cruel, that a Man fhould be con-
victed on fuch kind of Evidence ; and the At-
tainder of that unfortunate Gentleman was re-

verfed for that Reafon.

In Sidney's Trial, his bankers fwore, They ufed

cannot tell.

If Mr. Kelly, during his Confinement, counter-

feited and difguifed his Hand, then the Meffen-

ger's Evidence can't be of any Weight-, and if

he wrote as ufual, then every perfon is equally

we who live under fo equitable, jufl, and hap-

py a Government, can never convict a Man, in

thefe Days of Liberty, on fuch infufficient Con-
jectures.

They next produced the Three letters, which,

capable of framing an Opinion of it, who fees they would infmuate, were wrote by Kelly, and

the Three Letters.

The next Witnefs is Malone, who fwears, he

has feen him direct letters, but can't tell how
long fince he faw him write, nor how often.

The perfons who contradict this Evidence are

fo pofitive, fo clear, and fo concurring in their

Teflimony, that no Doubt can rife upon it.

Mr. Bingley, when he was fhewn this letter,

fwears it is not like his Hand-writing.

Mr. Brown, a Peruke maker, well vers'd and

acquainted with his Writing, when he was fhewn

the letter of the 20th of Auguft, and the Date of

it hid, by the Counfel for the bill (fo that he

were mentioned
were fworn by the

dictated by the Bifhop, which
by me before, and which
Clerks of the Poft-Office to have been ftopt going
to France.

The Bifhop defired to examine them relating

to thefe letters being detain'd, and would fain

have known who took them out of the Mail : this

he thought was proper for him to demand, fince

he feem'd to infinuate, That he queflion'd their

ever having been in the Poft-Office. But your
Lordfhips would not fuffer any Enquiry to be
made on this Head, and voted it inconfiftent

with the publick Safety, and unneceffary for the

could not know what paper it was before him) Defence of the prifoner, to permit any further

fwears, it is not his Hand-writing. When the

letter to Delafaye was produced, he declared,

That was his Hand-writing: When another pa-

per was fhewn, (I think it was the Marriage
Articles) he faid, That was more like his Hand-
writing than that of the 20th of Augufl, but he

did not believe it was wrote by him •, and when
they queflion'd him upon the letter to Lord
Townjhend, he fwore it was Mr. Kelly's Hand-
writing.

Queftions to be afk'd in relation to this impor-
tant Affair.

Thefe honefl Gentlemen, the Clerks of the

Poft-Office, have depofed further, That the pa-

pers produced, are true Copies of the Originals

detain'd by them ; tho
1

, at the fame time, they

confefs, they never examin'd them after they had
copied them.

_
They pofitively fwore further, That the Ori-

ginals were of the fame Hand with the letter

Mr. Pickering, who had Occafion to know Mr. of the 20th of Auguft, tho' they affirm this barely

Kelly's Hand, having lent him fome Money, and upon Memory, never having mark'd any letter

received feveral notes and letters from him du- in order to know it again: and one of them de-

ring that Tranfaction, does agree with Mr. Brown clared upon Oath, That he did not believe there

in every particular and molt minute Circum- could be fuch an Imitation of Kelly's Hand as

ftance ; which is a clear and evident proof, that

this letter of the 20th of Auguft was not wrote

by Mr. Kelly.

the whole Houfe agreecould deceive him ; tho :

That Hands may be counterfeited fo as to de-

ceive the Men that wrote them.

They
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They own, they never compared two original Clerks of the Poft-Office, to be his Hand-Wri-
letters between the 20th of April, and 24th of ting: But firft they read a Cypher taken upon Mr.
Auguft, tho' they might have ftopt a letter one Dennis Kelly, and fworn by the Meflenger Hut(Thins

Poft, without Prejudice to the Government, in to be wrote by George Kelly.

order to be more certain in their Evidence. I can obferve nothing upon this Cypher, but

Thus, my Lords, mould this Bill pafs, |this that the B;fhopof Rochejier is not mention'd in it y

great Man rauft fall by the Dependance this which feems very extraordinary, and is not a Proof

Houfe muft have on the Memory of thefe Clerks, of the Reverend Prelate's being in a Confpiracy.

Mr. Lewis, who has long ferv'd in the Secre- The letters they read of Mr. Kelly are of no
tary's Office, tells us, that frequently letters and Moment, and are only calculated to fix the Names
Seals ufed to be counterfeited : and, in a more of Jones and Illington upon the Bifhop.

particular manner, by one Brocket, who excelled They give an Account of his Lady's Death,

fo much in this Art, that he has cheated many the Bifhop's own Illnefs, his going to and from
Perfons, and has fo far deceived them, that they Bromley ; and in fome ofthem, the Dog Harlequin

have not known his Copy from their own Originals, is mentioned.

When thefe letters, thus attefted, came to be
.

It feems repugnant to Reafon, that in a Trea-

read, they are in Cypher ; fo that it muft again fonable Correfpondence of this Importance, a
depend on the Honefty of a Decypherer, before Gentleman mould venture his life to give an Ac-
they can poffibly be made Treafonable. count of the State of one Perfon's private Affair,

Mr. Willes declares, They were truly decypher- and entertain his Friends Abroad with no other

ed according to the beft of his Judgment and Bufinefs in fuch a Tract of Time.

Skill ; and more particularly, that the Number In the letters directed to Mr. Andreivs at the

1378, which is fubfcribed to the third letter Dog and Duck, which are proved to have been re-

directed to Jack/on, ftands for the letter R. But ceived by Mr. Kelly, Jones and Illington are not

when fome Lords afk'd him a Queftion, which named ; and thofe in which we find them, were

perhaps had he anfwer'd, might have proved him fuch as pafs'd thro' the Poft Office, and were

to be under a Miftake ; he refufes to give an An- attefted like thofe under Cover to Gordon le Fils.

iwer, either in the Affirmative or Negative, for It is not likely, that in a Tranfaction of fo fe-

fear ofrevealing his Art. Your Lordfhips thought cret a Nature, Mr. Kelly fhould take fuch Pains to

proper to prevent any further Crofs-Examination give fuch a Defcription as might give the leaft

of this Gentleman, by a Refolution. room for a Sufpicion that the Bifhop was concern-

Mr. Willes fays. He fhew'd thefe letters decy- ed ; much lefs to have mentioned fo many Parti-

phered to my Lord Townjhend, before he commu- culars, as it may be fuggefted he has done, if there

nicated them to Mr. Corbire, who is a Clerk in could be any Poftibility of wrefting the Meaning
the Secretary's Office, and then he fays, That of Jones and Illington, and interpreting of them to

Mr. Corbire and he agreed. mean the Bifhop.

Before thefe letters can yet prejudice the Bi- William Wood, the Bifhop's Coachman, is

fhop, the Cant Names in them muft be explain'd, brought to prove the particular Times of the Bi-

according to the Key which the Profecutors of mop's being in or out of Town, in order to fhew,

the Plot have made ; and in order to it we muft that they agree with the Times mentioned ofJones

believe that Jack/on ftands for the Pretender, be- and Illington in the intercepted Correfpondence 5

caufe Mr. Plunket gave him that Tixle in his Cy- and he refrefhes his Memory by a Book ofMemo-
pher. Can there be a greater Abfurdity, than randums, which might have been deftroyed, ific

to imagine a Perfon of the Bifhop of Rochefier's had been apprehended by the Bifhop's Friends,

Capacity, fhould borrow a Name of that Confe- that fuch Evidence could affect him.

quence, from fo infignificant a Wretch as Plunket, What they next attempt, was to fhew, That the

who it does not appear ever faw him ? Dog brought over by Mr. Kelly from France, and
Indeed, the Counfel for the Bill did not read which Mrs. Barnes fwears, that he once told her

thefe letters againft the Bifhop, fince they had no was for the Bifhop of Rochejier, was a ftrong Cir-

Proof of his dictating them, and they were only cumftance tofix the 'Na.meoflllingtonon the Bifhop.

read on Account of the general Confpiracy. My Lords, Mrs. Barnes, who is under the

I muft obferve, It was a great Artifice of thefe Cuftody of a Meffenger, is the only Witnefs to

learned Gentlemen, whenever there was a Piece of this Point ; and what fhe fays, is only Hearfay

Evidence to which the Bifhop objected, they con- from Kelly : She owns that Kelly never told her fo

ftantly pretended, they produc'd it to the Plot in but once, and that was when fhe thought to have

General; for they knew it could not be admitted kept it for herfelf: And indeed, it might be

againft the Reverend Prelate : But yet when they barely an Excufe to prevent his parting with it,

came to fum up, they applied them to this par- for he had promifed to bring her fuch a Prefent

ticular Cafe ; which is not agreeable to that Can- before he went to France.

dour that is neceffary on fuch Occafions. She owns, that to her Knowledge, the Bifhop

If your Lordfhips fhould be of Opinion, that never faw the Dog, nor fent any Meffage about

Kelly wrote them ; that they were ftopp'd at the it ; which feems to be very extraordinary, that if

Poft-Office ; that they were duly copied •, that this Prefent was of fuch great Confluence, he

they were truly decyphered, and the Cant Names fhould not have had Curiofity enough, at leaft, to

explain'd; yet ftill this cannot affect the Bifhop, fee it: An Affidavit was read from Birmingham,

unlefs it be fix'd upon him that he dictated them : a Surgeon in Paris, which fays, That he gave this

Two of them were fign'd Jones and Illington, and Dog to Mr. Kelly, for Mrs. Barnes.

to induce your Lordfhips to believe the Bifhop Before I leave this Circumftance of the Dog, it

was Guilty, as they affirm'd, they endeavour to is proper to obferve another great Improbability,

prove thofe Names muft denote him. And, in which is, in a letter wrote a few Days after the

Order to it, they read fome letters, affirm'd in Death of the Bifhop's Lady, itisfaid, Mrs. Illing-

the fame manner, (as before mention'd) by the ton was in great Tribulation for the lofs of poor

Vol. VI. 4 I Harlequin-,
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Harlequin ; and can it be fuppofed, that at a Time

when the Bifhop was in Affliction for the Death

of his Wife, he mould indecently difcover fo

much Grief for fuch a Trifle ?

I think this is fufficient to convince any Perfon

whatfoever, that this Correfpondence is of a very

extraordinary Nature.

Mrs. Barnes has told your Lordfhips, That Mr.

Kelly came from Brknee the i ith of April.

My Lords, I am now come to the only Piece

of Evidence that feems particularly levelled at the

Bifhop ; which is, The Proof that has been given

of the dictating thofe letters : and unlefs this be

clearly and plainly made appear, I cannot conceive

that any thing can be laid to this Prelate's Charge.

Unlefs it is evident, that the Bifhop did dictate

as alledged, I cannot think any ofyour Lordfhips

can vote him Guilty according to the Rules of

Juftice ; for no Man is fafe either in his Life, Li-

berty, or Fortune, if he may be deprived of either,

on account of a Correfpondence in which it does

not appear he was concerned. Tho' your Lord-

fhips fhould fo far credit the precarious Evidence

at your Bar, as to believe that Jones and Illington

flood for the Bifhop of Rochefter ; yet unlefs it

is plain that it was with his privity, it is certainly

impoffible this Bill fhould pafs : And if it fhould,

it will hereafter be in the power of any two Men,

one at Home, and one Abroad, to ruin the moft

innocent Perfon, by entring, without his Know-

ledge, into a Correfpondence of this Nature.

If the being named in Treafonable letters be

a Crime, tho' it does not appear it was with the

privity of fuch Perfor.s, I will fubmit to your

Lordfhips, how fac Men of the greateft Zeal to

the prefent Eftablifhment, are to be affected by

Mr. P/a«£i?/'sInfinuations.

No Man ought to fuffer for the Suggeftions of

another Perfon, unlefs it appears he has given

great Foundation for them. And in this Cafe,

would it not be moft extraordinary and moft un-

juft, to punifh this Reverend Prelate, for a Crime

which there is no Proof he ever committed ? I

mean, the dictating of thefe letters. And if, on

the other hand, the unfortunate Circumftances of

his Affairs have furnifhed him with Means of

fhewing, beyond Contradiction, that he could

not be concern'd in the letters of the 20th of

April ; that for a confiderable time he could not

fee Mr. Kelly ; and that there never was an Inti-

macy between them : Then, my Lords, I hope,

every Man who gives his Vote for the rejecting

this Bill, has the ftrongeft Evidence of his Side to

fupport his Opinion ; and need not be afraid or

afhamed to own it here, or any where elfe.

This part of the Evidence being of great Con-

fequence, I muft beg your Lordfhips Attention,

whillt I recapitulate the Heads of it, as clearly

and diftinctly as poffibly I can.

The firft Witnefs they call'd, was Flower, a

Chairman, who fwears, That he carried Kelly

twice or thrice to the Deanery ; but that the Bi-

fhop was never at Home, and confequently did

not fee him. His Partner fwore, he had carried

him, with Flower, one of thofe Times.

The next Perfon produced, was a Porter, one

Vanlear, who depofed, That he went about Chrift-

mas was Twelve-Months, twice, with Mefiages

from Kelly to the Bifhop •, the laft ofwhich Times,

he carried fome Beaver Stockings •, that the Bifhop

fent for him up Stairs, gave his Service to Mr.

John/on, and thank'd him for his Prefent.

Mrs. Kilburne, at whofe Houfe Mr. Kelly lodged,

fays, That once a Servant came from the Bifhop,

to know how Mr. Johnjon did, and was forry he

could not have his Company at Dinner.

William Wood, the Bifhop's Coachman, fays, he,

once ftopp'd in Bury-Strcet ; but does not know
for what ; and that the Bifhop fent a Servant

fome where, who prefently returned. And,
Lloyd, who keeps the Star and Carter in Palace-

Yard, has told us, That Neynoe once came to his

Houfe, and told him, he ftaid for an ingenious

Gentleman, who was gone to the Bifhop of Ro-
chester's Houfe.

This, my Lords, is all the Proof they offered

of this Intimacy ; from which they would infer,

that the Bifhop dictated thefe letters, and is confe-

quently Guilty of the Crimes laid to his Charge.

If your Lordfhips confider what was produced

on the other fide, I am fure you muft agree there

is no Foundation for this Affertion.

Mrs. Kilburne denies, to the beft of her Know-
ledge, that the Bifhop ever came to her Houfe,

or that his Coach ever ftopp'd there, or ever was

fent for Kelly.

That Kelly did not go out of Town, from the

time he came from France, till he was taken up,

the 19th of May, and never lay out of her Houfe
one Night.

This, my Lords, was confirmed by her Maid
Anne Ellis.

Mrs. Barnes fays, She never heard of any Mef-
fage from the Bifhop to Kelly, nor ever had any
Converfation with him about the Bifhop.

William Wood the Coachman, who liv'd with

the Bifhop four Years, has declared, that the Bi-

fhop of Rochester never fent him with hrs Coach
to Bury- Street to fetch any Perfon from thence,

that there was no Stranger at Bromley for a Fort-

night before his Lady died, which was the 26th
of April ; that no-body could come in a Coach or

on Horfeback, but he muft know it •, that he never

faw fuch a Perfon as Mr. Kelly, till he was fhew-

ed him at the Tower ; and, that the Bifhop went
ill of the Gout to Bromley the 12th of April, and
did not return to London till the 7th of May.

Malone, Mrs. Barnes's Servant fays, That fhc

never faw the Bifhop, or any of his Servants,

with Mr. Kelly.

Thomas Grant, who has been the Bifhop's Ser-

vant nine Years, has declared, That the Bifhop

went to Bromley the 12 th of April very ill of the

Gout, and that no Stranger could come to him,
from the time he went to Bromley, till after his

Wife's Death •, that one or other of the Servants

always fat up with him ; and that no Perfon

could vifit him, but they muft know it ; for they

were either in the fame Room, or the next Room
to him i and that no Stranger, except Dr. Aldridge

and the Apothecary, came near him. Grant fays,

That he was fore'd to go to Town to attend at

the Weftminjler Election of Scholars on the 21ft of

April, but left Beauchamp there, who came down
for that purpofe on the 18th.

Beauchamp and Steen, who were the two Servants

that attended with Grant, fwear the fame thing.

Sufannah Harvey, SarahJones, Thomas Farnden*

Elizabeth Higginfon, and all the Servants agree,

that they never heard of any perfon by the Name
of Kelly or Johnfon's being with the Bifhop. And,

Mrs. Englijh, who tQok the Names of the Bi-

fhop's Vifitors for many Years, does not remem-
ber, that fhe ever heard of fuch a Perfon as Kelly

or
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or John/on. And I doubt not, but that every

Lord muft allow, that it is not poflible to have

a more clear, a more ftrong, or legal Proof to a

Negative, than this is.

I muft obferve to your Lordfhips, that moft of

thefe Servants have been in ftrift Cuftody, and

feverely ufed, particularly Farnden, and yet your

Lordfhips fee how unanimous they are in their

Evidence : and their Teftimony is fo pofitive,

that I cannot conceive any perfon can fuggeft

there was the leaft Intimacy between this Reve-

rend Prelate and Mr. Kelly ; and much lefs, that

he could be with him to write the letters that

are dated the 20th of April.

Mr. Reeves did, indeed, fo far agree, as to be

of Opinion, that they might have been wrote the

Uth of April, which was the Day Kelly came
from France: But, my Lords, Mrs. Barnes has

depofed, he went to Bed the Minute he came
home, and lay there for a confiderable time ;

befides, it is improbable that letters wrote the

nth, fhould not be fen t till the 19th. But if any

further Argument was necflary to confute this

abfurd Suppofition, the Earl of Sunderland's death

is mentioned in the letter to Cbivers, and that No-
ble Lord died the 19th ; at which Time it hath

been proved, Mr. Kelly was not with the Bifhop.

The Bifhop of St. Afaph did at firft peremp-
torily contradict one part of Mr. Grant's Evi-

dence, by faying, he had received a letter from

the Bifhop of Rochester, at the Time which Grant

has fworn he was fo ill of the Gout that he could

not write.

His Lordfhip pofitively affirmed, That he re-

ceived this letter on Saturday the 21ft of April in

the Morning, and faw Grant in London between

Twelve and Two : But when it was proved
that Grant did not leave Bromley till the Evening
of that Day, and that another perfon officiated

for him as Butler in the Deanery, by Reafon
of his Abfence, then the Bifhop feemed to think

himfelf under a Miftake, and allowed it might
have been fome time before.

His Lordfhip owned, He never received a let-

ter from the Bifhop of Rochefter before nor fince,

and therefore was a Stranger to his Hand.
I could have wifhed this Reverend Prelate had

recollected himfelf more fully, before he had
given his Teftimony in a Matter of this great

Importance to one of his Brethren.

There was another Witnefs examined, which
was Crofton the Shoemaker, to prove, that Talbot

(who was faid to have received the three letters

directed to Gordon le Fils) was at that Time in

London, when he was fuppofed to have been in

Boulogne.. Crofton fwears he faw him in Town the

19th of April, and proved it by his Book.
There was another perfon called, whofe Name

was Donner, that depofed, Gordon owned to him
the receiving of this pacquet •, but an Affidavit was
produced from Gordon, in which he denies it. Don,-

ner's Evidence is only hearfay, the other is pofitive.

My Lords the Counfel for the Bill produced
ibme papers which were taken in the Bifhop's
Cuftody when he was apprehended, and endea-
vour to draw very ill-natured and forced Con-
ftructions from them.
The Firft was a letter from the Dutchefs of Or-

mond, in which fhe acquaints him, That Jhe had
fimething to fend him, which Jhe could not trufl to 4
better Hand ; or Words to that effect. And this

they would pretend to inftnuate, were fome trea-

fonable papers. *

I appeal to all Mankind, whether it is not very
extraordinary to fuppofe, that the Bifhop fhould
be prefumed to convey a Traitorous Correfpon-
dence thro' that Channel. Every Body knows
the Friendfhip which was between the Reverend
Prelate and that Family •, and it is not furprizing

that this unfortunate Lady fhould think him a
proper perfon to confult, and intruft with her own
Affairs. Therefore I can't think, that thefe gene-
ral Exprefllons can at all affect him.

The next they read, is a paper found, or pretend-

ed to be found, at the Deanery, fubfcribed to Du-
bois, but without Date : In this the Perfon who
writes it, fays, He received a letter by Mr. John-

fon, to which he returned an Anfwer in his Hand.
The Secret Committee, at firft, apprehended

that this was received by the Bifhop •, and thus it

paffed, till upon feizing a letter wrote in the

Tower by his Lordfhip, they found a Similitude in

the Seals, which immediately enlightned them,
and then it was prefently faid to have been wrote
by the Bifhop.

They then wanted to fix this to be the Bifhop's

own Hand-writing, and they could find no other

Way of doing it, but pretending there was a Si-

militude between the E's in this letter, and thofe

which the Bifhop generally ufed. I believe it is

the firft time that ever fuch an Argument was
brought to prove that the whole letter has been
wrote by a Perfon : much lefs was it ever pre-

tended to be offered to a Court of Juftice againft

any prifoner whatfoever : But, I believe, there

is no Man acquainted with the Bifhop's Hand,
but fees it is not wrote by him.

They would alfo affirm, that when in this

letter the Bifhop is fuppofed to fay, That he re-

turned an Anfwer in Mr. Johnfon's Hand, it muft

be underftood to be his Hand-writing : which, I

muft confefs does not at all appear to be a necef-

fary Conclufion ; for he might deliver his Anfwer
into Mr. Johnfon's Hand, which, I think, is more
natural to fuppofe than the other.

Your Lordfhips muft judge, how improbable it

is, that the Bifhop fhould keep fuch a letter by
him, which he wrote himfelf; or that when fuch

Care is taken, as the profecutors of the plot them-

felves fay, for preventing any perfon's difcovering

the Intimacy between Mr. Kelly and him, fuch a

Secret fhould be trufted in Writing, and even with-

out a Cypher.— The Two Seals which gave this

Turn, are Cicero
y
s Heads, which are very com-

mon. And are to be found every where. They are

one broke, the other whole, which muft make it

very difficult to judge of them: and it isallow'd,

that, at beft, it is but precarious Evidence.

If Mr. Neynoe fpeaks Truth, when he faid, The
Bifhop had Notice of the Storm that threatned

him, I am certain, that this paper, if it could have

been apprehended of Confequence, would have

been deftroyed : But, I believe, it was impoffible

for him, or any body ejfe, to think it fhould

meet with fuch an Explanation.

The next letter they produced, which they

feemed to think material, was that which was

feized on his Servant going to Mr. Morrice: In

this he fays, That the Evidence of Flunket, and

thofe people, could not affecl: him ; but as he does

not mention Mr. Kelly, they would have it prefum-

ed, that this a proof, that Kelly could have faid

fomethingof him. But, I think, this muft appear,

to be a very ill-natured Affertion.

Your lordfhips will confider, he was then writ-

ing
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ing to his Son-in-law ; and therefore no great Ac-

curacy was necefiary.

In another place, he fays, That if they im-

peach'd him, he fhould remain in prifon for fome

time; and this they would decypher to be an Im-

plication of his Guilt.— But, in my poor Opini-

on, it is the Reverfe : Hefeems to fay, That if the

Commons fhould be induced to fend up an Im-

peachment againft him, he was fo fatisfied of his

own Innocence, and your Lordfhips Juftice, that

he thought the Confinement till his Trial, would

be the only Misfortune that could attend him.

The Example of the Earl of Oxford was recent in

his Memory, and might juftly create in him a

Fear of undergoing a long Imprifonment.

It is objected, That he, in this Letter, makes

no proteftations of his Innocence: But if you will

confider he writes to Mr. Morrice, I believe every

body will agree, that fuch Declarations were not

necefTary.

Mr. Layer's Attainder was read ; but it does

not appear, That the Bifhop had any Correfpon-

dence with him •, therefore I can't conceive why
we were troubled with it.

My Lords, I have now gone thro' the whole

Evidence that is brought to juftify this extraor-

dinary proceeding, and muft obferve the Steps that

have been taken to procure all the poflible Means
to work the Deftruction of this Great Man.
You have feen his very Servants confined, who,

it does not appear, were guilty of the leaft

Glimpfe of Treafon.

Lawfon, a Baker of Bromley, who appeared at

your Bar, has been employed to examine the per-

sons in the Bifhop's Neighbourhood, in order to

find the leaft particular that could amount to the

Shadow of a proof; and went fo far, as to offer

Wood the Coachman the Wages that were due to

him, if he would have gone the lengths that were

required.

Mr. Bingly told us in the Cafe of Kelly (and as

it has not been difproved, it is to be taken for

granted) that a Warrant was fhewn by the Mef-
fenger, figned by a Secretary of State, to carry

him to Newgate, which he was told was unavoid-

able, unlefs he would own the letter of the 20th
of Augufl to be Mr. Kelly's Hand-writing : But it

appeared the next Day, to be nothing but in or-

der to terrify him.

Mr. Kelly himfelf has told your Lordfhips, That
Mr. Delafaye offered him his own Terms, if he
would have turned Evidence : And this was done
to deftroy the Bifhop of Rochesler ; or, to fpeak
in the language mentioned at your Bar, To pull
down the Pride of this haughty Prelate.

Your Lordfhips may remember, That Mr.
Wearg objects to the Bifhop's Servants, becaufe
two of them had Employments, as appears by his

Lordfhip'sown letter : but, my Lords, when they
were examined, they acquainted the Houfe, that
it was upon reading of the Report, that they re-

collected the Bifhop's Circumftances before the
Death of his Wife. And if every Man who has
a Place under the Bifhop, is not to be efteemed a
a free Agent, when he is upon Oath, I hope it

will be allowed, on the other hand, that thofe
wlio have Employments under the Government,
ought not to be admitted ; then all the Witneffes
that have been brought to fupport the bill, from
the Decypherer to the Meffenger, will be difcre-

dited, and the whole Profecution muft fall to the
Ground.

My Lords, it has been a Hardfhip that has at-

tended the Bifhop, that he has been forced to

prove a Negative ; and the Difficulty has been the

ftronger upon him, that your Lordfhips have not
permitted Mr. Kelly to be examined, as was moved
by a Learned Lord, in my Eye ; and if the Gen-
tleman had fworn what he fo folemnly affirmed at

your bar, relating to this Affair, I can't conceive

we could have had the leaft Debate.

The Noble Lords who appeared the moft zea-

lous in this profecution, were thofe who oppofed
the Examination of Mr. Kelly ; which in my poor
Opinion, is a ftrong Argument, That, if he had
been brought before us, he would have perfifted in

his Declarations of the Bifhop's Innocence.

The Reverend Prelate has defired of any Lord
in the Adminiftration, and even the Honourable
Perfon who appeared at your bar, to declare, whe-
ther any one fingle Perfon had charged him (on
their own Knowledge) of being guilty ofany trea-

fonable Practice. And it has appeared to the con-

trary : Therefore this whole Charge is founded

upon the flight Circumftances and improbable In-

nuendoes before- mentioned.

Another Objection,which has been raifed, is, that

Mr. Kelly made Refiftance, when he was feized,

till he had burnt fome of his Papers : But, my
Lords, I don't fee any Reafon to lay this to the

Charge of the Bifhop.

Kelly is to anfwer for his own Actions, and is

unfortunately like to fuffer for 'em : A Perfon of

his Age might have many letters in his Cuflo-

dy, which he did not Care fhould be feen, and
yet of a different Nature from a Traiterous Cor-

refpondence.

After this Evidence is confidered, I cannot

think your Lordfhips will eftablifh fuch a Prece-

dent, which hereafter may be employed to ruin

the greateft amongft you. And if ever hereafter,

pains and penalties are unjuftly inflicted on any
perfon, pofterity will derive the Original of fuch

Bills from the proceedings of this Parliament ;

and what Opinion will be framed of us, fhould

this be paffed into a Law, I fubmit to every im-

partial Perfon.

It muft be left to your Lordfhips Confederation,

which will be of moft fatal Confequence to the

Publick, The leaving this Precedent (of Con-
demning on fuch kind of Evidence) like a Sword
which your Enemies may take up when they

pleafe, or the banifhing the Bifhop of Rochefler^

in the Evening of his Days, who afone could do,

in his fingle Perfon, no Prejudice to the Confti-

tution. If he were inclined to overturn it, as his

Enemies fuggeft, he is in a better Situation A-
broad than at Home, to execute that Defign, and

direct the Counfels of the Difaffected. . The Ruin
of one Man will not heal the Wound, that the

paffing of this bill feems to make in the Govern-

ment of this Kingdom.

It has been faid in the Debate, That the bi-

fhop ought to have made Proteftations of his

Zeal for his Majefty and his Family : But, I

think he took the moft ready Way of performing

his Duty, when he fhew'd himfelf Innocent of

the Crimes laid to his Charge.

If he had made ufe of any Exprefllons, which

thofe lords blame him for omitting, the fame

Good nature would have call'd it Hyprocrify ; and

thofe who are difpleas'd with his Silence, would

have accufed him of Infwcerity,

My



j 72.3. and otherS) for a Treafonable Confpiracy. 475
My lords, this bill fcems as irregular in the Pu-

nifhments it inflicts, as it is in its Foundation, and

carries with it on unnatural Degree of hardfhip.

It is Felony for his Children to correfpond

with him : And in this Circumftance, it is dif-

ferent from the only bill that carries with it the

leaft Refemblance of this; I mean, That for the

banifhment of the Earl of Clarendon.

The Earl had flown from the Profecution,

and retired beyond Sea. The Charges againft

him were, principally, for advifing a Standard Ar-

my ; and another Article exhibited was, That he

had advifed and procured divers of his Majeftfs Sub-

jects to be imprifon'd againft Law, in remote JJIands,

Garijbns, and other Places, thereby to prevent them of

the Benefit of the Law, and to produce Precedentsfor

the Imprifoning any other of his Majefty's Subjecls in

like Manner.

The 7th Article againft him was, That he had,

in afhort Time, gain'd to himfelfa greater Eftate than

can be imagin'd to begain'd lawfully infojhort a Time

:

And contrary to his Oath, he had procured feveral

Grants under the Great Seal from his Majefty, for

hbnfelf, and his Relations, offeveral of his Majeftfs

Lands, Hereditaments and Leafes, to the Dijprofit of

bis Majefty.

There need not have been any Witneffes of

thefe Crimes, for they were apparent •, and every

body knew that he was Prime Minifter : Yet Sir

Francis Goodier, upon that Debate in the Houfe

of Commons, declared the Sentiments which I

exprefs'd at the Beginning, That he was not againft

Proceeding, but unfatisfied to do it without Witnefs^

it being like fwearing in verba Magiftri.

Another great Man, upon the fame Queftion,

and an Anceftor to a Noble Lord near me, faid;

That if the Parliament fet afide Law in this Cafe, we
Jhould be happy to fee Law declaring the Power of

Parliaments.

The Punifhment for Correfponding with the

Earl was High-Treafon, and then Two pofitive

Witneffes were neceffary to convict : But in this

Cafe, one corrupt, terrified, and perjur'd Perfon

may take away the Life of the moft innocent Man.
There is another great Misfortune which this

Bill brings upon the bifhop, which is, That he

is incapable of receiving his Majefty's Pardon.

This, my lords, is an Entrenchment upon the

Prerogative. And what muft make it the more
fevere in this Cafe, is, That his Majefty's In-

clinations to Mercy (which are the diftinguifh-

ing Characters of his Life) are ftop'd by this Law,
which the unfortunate Prelate might have Hopes
of receiving when he had merited it, by a duti-

ful behaviour to the Country that had fent him
to wander abroad in Exile, and by his future

Conduct have confirm'd, if poffible, the Evi-

dence he has given of his Innocence.

My lords, in the Cafe of the Earl of Danby,

your lordfhips have declared, That his banifh-

ment fhould be no Precedent, nor drawn into Ex-
ample for the Time to come, and have fo enter'd

it in your Journals.

It has been prov'd, That this Reverend Prelate

was at the time that he was fufpected to be acting

in Treafon, engaged in Studies of the moft high

Nature, which is a Circumftance that ought to

have fome Weight.

If this Bill pafs into a Law, fueh Evidence is

eftablifh'd, and fuch a Method of Proceeding in-

trodue'd, as muft effectually render all that is

dear to us precarious •, and it ever, hereafter, we
Vol. VI.

fhould fee a wicked Adminiftration, fupported by a

corrupt Majority in Parliament, this Step taken
in thefe Times of Liberty, will be a fufficient Pre-
cedent to give a Colour of Juftice to the Actions
of thofe who fhould be wanton in Tyranny.
The Reverend Prelate, who fpoke before me,

mentions fome Cafes relating to Bills of Attain-

der, which in my poor Opinion, differ very much
from our prefent Queftion.

The Attainder of Sir John Fenwick was only

to fupply the want of a VVitnefs who had de-

pofed againft him upon Oath before the Grand-

Jury, and who was fpirited away by the Prifo-

ner's Friends : But at prefent, your lordfhips are

to fupply the Defect of Evidence, by condem-
ning on improbable Conjecture. There was a

Noble Lord in this Houfe the other Day, I don't

fee him now, who made the greateft Figure in

Oppofition to that Bill, I wifh we could have
his Affiftance on this Occafion.

My lords, fince that Reverend Prelate has

quoted fome Cafes, he will permit me to remind
him what has been formerly faid upon Acts of
Attainder; That fuch Bills, like Sifyphush Stone,

have frequently roll'd back upon thofe that were
the chief Promoters of them.

This prudential Argument fhould reftrain us

from being too forward with them at this Time
of Day.

The Act for the Attainder of the Earl of
March pafs'd, becaufe he had been inftrumental

in procuring the Attainder of another lord, under
pretence of a letter, which the Record fays,

was no Evidence.

The lord Cromwell is another known Inftance

of this Obfervation : He was the firft who advifed

this violent Proceeding in Henry the Sth'sTime:
And it is remarkable, that the Advice he gave
to the Ruin of others, prov'd, not long after,

fatal to himfelf.

I have now given your lordfhips the Reafons

why I am againft the Bill. I fear I have tired your
Patience, and fhall therefore conclude with the

Words of the Great Man I before mentioned ; I

mean, Sir Heneage Finch, in the Cafe of the Earl of

Clarendon— ' We have an Accufation upon Hear-
' fay, and if it is not made good, the blackeft
1 Scandal Hell can invent, lies at our Doors.'

The Refult of this Debate was, that the Bill,

pafs'd the Houfe ; it afterwards obtain'd the Royal
Affent, and was as follows

:

An A6i to infliti Tains and Penalties on

Francis Lord Bifhop of Rochefter.

WHEREAS in the Years One thoufand

feven hundred and twenty one, and One
thoufand feven hundred and twenty two, a detefta-

bleand horrid Confpiracy was formed and carried

on by divers Traitors for invading your Ma-
jefty's Kingdoms with foreign Forces, for raifing

an Infurrection and Rebellion againft your Ma-
jefty, for feizing the Tower and City of Lon-

don, and for laying violent Hands upon your

Majefty's moft facred Perfon, and upon his

Royal Highnefs the Prince of Wales, in order

to fubvert our prefent happy Eftablifhment in

Church and State, by placing a Popifh Pre-

tender on your Throne: And whereas for the

better concealing and effecting the faid Con-

fpiracy, divers treafonable Correfpondences were,

within the time aforefaid, carried on by Letters

4 K written
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written in Cyphers, cant Words, and fictitious fice, Dignity, Promotion, Benefice, or Employ-
Names ; which Confpiracy, had it not been dif- ment within this Realm, or any other his Ma-
appointed by the Goodneis of Almighty God, jefty's Dominions, andalfoofand from ufing or

exercifing any Office, Function, Authority,' or
Power Ecclefiaftical or Spiritual whatfoever-, and
mall and do fuffer perpetual Exile, and be for

ever banifhed this Realm, and all other his Ma-
jefty's Dominions, and fhall depart out of the
fame on or before the Five and twentieth Day of
June, in the Year of our Lord, One thoufand
feven hundred and twenty three : And that if the

withftanding the many folemn A fill ranees by him ftid Francis Lord Bifhop of Rochefter fliall return

given of his Faith and Allegiance to your Ma- into, or be found within this Realm, or any other

jelly, by taking the Oaths by Law appointed to bis Majefty's Dominions at any time after the faid

be taken, inftead of the Oaths of Allegiance and Five and twentieth Day of June, in the Year of
Supremacy ; which Oaths he had likewife taken our Lord, One thoufand feven hundred and
at fundry Times, during the refpective Reigns of twenty three, he the faid Francis Lord Bifhop of

their late Majefties King William and Queen Rochefter, being thereof lawfully convicted, mail

would have deprived your Majefty's Kingdoms of

the Enjoyment of their Religion, Laws and Li-

berties, involved them in Blood and Ruin, and fub-

jecled your people to the Bondage and Oppreffion

of Romijh Superftition and Arbitary Power : For
which execrable Treafon Chriftopber Layer hath

been indicted, tried, convicted, and attainted. And
whereas Francis Lord Bifhop of Rochefter, not-

Mary, and of her late Majefty Queen Anne ; and
notwithftanding he had frequently abjured the

Pretender, hath, in direct Violation of his faid

repeated Oaths and Obligations,, and to the great

fcandal of Religion, and his Holy Function,

been deeply concerned in forming, directing, and
carrying on the faid wicked and deteftable Con-

fpiracy, and hath been a principal Actor therein,

be adjudged Guilty of Felony, and fhall fuffer

and forfeit as in Cafes of Felony, without Benefit

of Clergy, and fhall be utterly incapable of any
Pardon from his Majefty, his Fleirs or Suc-
cefibrs.

And be it further enacted by the Authority
aforefaid, That all and every Perfon and Per-
fons, who fhall, from and after the faid Five

by traitoroufly con ful ting and correfponding with and twentieth Day of June, in the Year of our

divers Perfons to raife an Infurrection and Rebel- Lord One thoufand feven hundred twenty three,

lion againfl your Majefty within this Kingdom, be aiding or aflifting to the Return of the faid

and to procure a foreign Force to invade the fame, Francis Lord Bifhop of Rochefter into this Realm,
in order to depofe your Majefty, and place the or any other his Majefty's Dominions, or fhall

Pretender on your Throne ; and by traitoroufly harbour or conceal him within the fame, or any

correfponding with the faid Pretender, and Per- of them, being thereof lawfully convicted, fhall

fons employed by him, knowing them to be fo be adjudged Guilty of Felony, and fhall fuffer

employed : Therefore to manifeft our juft Ab- and forfeit as in Cafes of Felony, without bene-

horrence of fo wicked and abominable a Confpi- iic of Clergy.

racy, and our Zeal and tender Regard for the And be it further enacted by the Authority

Prefervation of your Majefty's Perfon and Go- aforefaid, That if any of the Subjects of his

vernment, and of the Proteftant Succefilon in your Majefty, his Heirs or Succefibrs, except fuch

Majefty's Royal Family, the folid Foundations of Perfons as fhall be licenfed for that Purpofe by
our prefent Happinefs and future Hopes ; and to

the end that no Confpirator may, by any fub-

til Contrivance or Practice whatfoever, efcape

Punifhment, and that all others may by the

Juftice of Parliament be for ever hereafter de-

terred from engaging in any traitorous Confpi-

racies or Attempts, We your Majefty's moft
dutiful and loyal Subjects, the Lords Spiritual

and Temporal, and Commons in Parliament af-

his Majefty, his Heirs or Succefibrs, under his

or their Sign Manual, fhall, from and after the

faid Five and twentieth Day of June, in the

Year of our Lord One thoufand feven hundred
and twenty three, within this Realm or without,

hold, entertain, or keep any Intelligence or Cor-

refpondence in Perfon, or by Letters, Meffagei.,

or otherwife, with the faid Francis Lord Bifhop

of Rochefter, or with any Perfon or Perfons em-
fembled, do humbly befeech your Majefty, that ployed by him, knowing fuch Perfon or Perfons

it may be enacled ; and be it enacted by the King's
moft excellent Majefty, by and with the Ad-
vice and Confent of the Lords Spiritual and
Temporal, and Commons in Parliament afiem-

bled, and by the Authority of the fame, That
the faid Francis Lord Bifhop of Rochefter, from
and after the firft Day ofJune, in the Year of our
Lord One thoufand feven hundred and twenty
three, fhall be, and is hereby, to all Intents and
Purpofes, deprived of all and lingular his Offices,

Dignities, Promotions, and Benefices Ecclefiafti-

cal whatfoever, and that the fame, and every of

to be fo employed, fuch Perfon fo offending,

being thereof lawfully convicted, fliall be ad-

judged Guilty of Felony, and fhall fuffer and

forfeit as in Cafes of Felony, without benefit of

Clergy.

And be it further enacted, That if any Offence

againfl this Act fhall be committed out of this

Realm, the fame fhall or may be alledged, laid,

enquired of, and tried in any County within

Great Britain.

In purfuance of this, on Tueftday the 18th of

them, fhall from thenceforth be actually void, as June, the deprived bifhop of Rochefter, accom-

if he were naturally dead; and that the faid Francis panied by his Son-in-Law Mr. Morrice and his

Lord Bifhop of Rochefter fhall from thenceforth Wife, embark'd on board the Aldborough, one of

for ever be difabled, and rendred incapable of hisMajefty's Ships ofWar, and on irzWay the 2 1 ft,

and from taking, holding, or enjoying any Of- landed at Calais,
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CXCV. The Trial of Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield,

Lord High Chancellor of Great Britain, lefore the

Houfe of Lords, for High Crimes and Mifde-
meanors in the Execution of his Office, May 6, 1725.
10 Geo I.

The First Day.

IBOUT Eleven of the Clock, the Lords

being feated in their Houfe, the Ma-
nagers for the Houfe of Commons being

in ihe Conveniences made for them at

their Lordfhips Bar, Thomas Earl

of Macclesfield, having a Stool plac''dfor him within

the Bar, and his Counfel, viz. Mr. Serjeant Pro-

Syn, Doclor Sayer, Mr. Lingard, Common-Ser-

jeant of the City of London, Mr. Robins, and Mr.
Strange, ftanding near him at the Bar, the Serjeant

at Arms made Proclamation as follows

:

Serj. at Arms, Oyez, Our Sovereign Lord the

King ftric~tly charges and commands all manner
of Perfons to keep Silence, upon Pain of Impri-

fonment.

Then the Serjeant at Arms again made Procla-

mation as follows

:

Serj. at Arms. Oyez, Whereas a Charge of

High Crimes and Mifdemeanors has been exhibit-

ed by the Houfe of Commons, in the Name of

Themfelves, and of all the Commons, of Great

Britain, againft Thomas Earl of Macclesfield ; all

Perfons concern'd are to take Notice, that he now
ftands upon his Trial, and they may come forth

in order to make good the faid Charge.

Then the Clerk- Affiflant, by Direction of the

Lord-Chief-Jufice King, Speaker of the Houfe of
Lords, read the Articles of Impeachment, the

Earl of Macclesfield's Anfwer, and the Replica-

tion of the Houfe of Commons, as follows

:

ARTICLES
Exhibited by the Knights, Citizens, and Burgeffes in

Parliament ajfembled, in the Name of Themfelves,

and of all the Commons of Great Britain, againft

Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, in Maintenance

of their Impeachment againft himfor High Crimes

and Mifdemeanors.

WHereas the Office of Lord Chancellor of

Great Britain is an Office of the higheft Dig-

nity and Truft, upon the impartial and uncorrupt

Execution whereof the Honour of the Crown, and
the Welfare of the Subjects of this Kingdom great-

ly depend : And whereas Thomas Earl of Mac-
clesfield, in or about the Month of May, in the

Year of our Lord, One thoufand feven hundred

and eighteen, by the great Grace and Favour of

his mod Excellent Majefty, was conftituted and
appointed Lord Chancellor of Great Britain, and
did thereupon take the ufual Oath for the due Exe-
cution of that High Office, whereby he did fwear

well and truly to ferve our Sovereign Lord the

2

King, and his People, poor and rich, after the
Laws and Ufages of this Realm, and fuch other
Oaths as have been accuftomed ; and the faid Earl
continued in this great Office until about the
Month of January, in the Year of our Lord,
One thoufand feven hundred and twenty four,

and in Right thereof was intruded with the No-
mination and Admiffion to the Offices of Mailers
of the Court of Chancery, which Mailers of the
faid Court are Officers of great Truft fworn to
ferve the King and his People, and affociated to
the Lord Chancellor for his Affiftance in the due
Adminiftration and Execution of Juftice in the
faid Court : And whereas his Majefty, upon the
faid Earl's being appointed to the Office of Lord
Chancellor, did, of his Grace and Bounty, be-
llow upon the faid Earl the Sum of Fourteen
thoufand Pounds, or fome other great Sum, and
did likewife grant unto George Parker Efq-, now
commonly called Lord Parker, Eldeft Son and
Heir Apparent of the faid Earl, a Yearly Pen-
fion of Twelve Hundred Pounds, payable out of
his Majefty's Receipt of the Exchequer, during
the joint Lives of his Majefty and the faid Lord
Parker, determinable upon his Majefty's making
a Grant to the faid Lord Parker, in Pofleflion of
the Office of one of the Tellers of his Majefty's

Exchequer, for the Term of his natural Life,

which Office being of the yearly Value of Fifteen

hundred Pounds, or upwards, has been fince

granted by his Majefty unto the faid Lord Parker
for his Life, who in or about the Month of July,
in the Year of our Lord, One thoufand {even

hundred and nineteen, was duly admitted to and
doth ftill enjoy the fame ; and the faid Earl du-
ring the Time of his continuing Lord Chancellor

of Great Britain, did not only enjoy the ufual Sala-

ry, Fees, and Profits belonging to his Office, of

a very great annual Value, but alfo did continue

to receive an annual Penfion of Twelve hun-
dred Pounds, which his Majefty in or about the

Month of June, in the Year of our Lord One
thoufand feven hundred and fixteen, had granted

to him and his Afligns, during his Majefty's Life ;

and did likewife receive from the Crown a further

annual Allowance of Four thoufand Pounds, and
many other Advantages : Yet the faid Thomas,

Earl of Macclesfield, not being fatisfied with this

large and ample Revenue, nor regarding the Ob-
ligation of his Oath, or the Duty of his high and

important Office, but entertaining wicked and

corrupt Defigns and Views, to raife and procure

to himfelf exceffive and exorbitant Gain and Pro-

fit, by divers unjuft and oppreffive Practices and

Methods herein after-mentioned, whilft he con-

tinued
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tinued in the faid Office of Lord Chancellor, did

Illegally, Corruptly, and Extorfively take and

receive to his own private Ufe the following or

fome other great Sums of Money.
ARTICLE I.

10 G. I

That Richard Godfrey, Efq; having Contracted

v/ithSir Thomas Gery, One of the Matters of the

Court of Chancery, for the Purchafe and Surren-

der of his Office, at the Price of Five thoufand

Pounds, or fome other great Sum of Money ;

The faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, whilft he

continued Lord Chancellor of Great Britain, and

before the Admiffion of the faid Richard Godfrey

into the Office of One of the Matters of the Court

of Chancery, did, by colour of his Office of

Lord Chancellor, Illegally, Corruptly, and Ex-

torfively Infill upon, Take and Receive of and

from the faid Richard Godfrey the Sum of Eight

hundred and forty Pounds, or fome other Sum of

Money, for the Admitting him into fuch Office

of a Matter of the Court of Chancery, and to the

Intent that the faid Richard Godfrey mould Have,

Exercife and Enjoy the fame, which faid Office

Touches and Concerns the Adminiftration and

Execution of Juftice in the faid Court, and the

faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, being Lord

Chancellor, in .Purfuance and Execution of the

faid wicked and corrupt Bargain, or in Purfuance

of fome other Bargain or Agreement of the fame

Infamous and Corrupt Nature, did admit and

fwear the faid Richard Godfrey into the Office of

one of the Matters of the faid Court of Chancery,

upon the Surrender of the faid Sir Thomas Gery,

in Breach and Violation of his Oath as Lord
Chancellor, and of the great Truft in him repofed,

contrary to the Duty of his Office, and againft

the Good and Wholefome Laws and Statutes of

this Realm.
ART. II.

That the Office of One of the Matters of the

faid Court of Chancery becoming vacant by the

Death of Samuel Browning, Efq; One of the late

Matters of the faid Court ; the faid Thomas, Earl

of Macclesfield, whilft he continued Lord Chan-

cellor of Great Britain, and before the Admiffion

of James Lightboun, Efq; into the faid Office of

One of the Mafters of the Court of Chancery,

did, by colour of his Office of Lord Chancellor,

Illegally, Corruptly, and Extorfively Infift upon,

Take and Receive of and from the faid James
Lightboun the Sum of Six thoufand Pounds, or

fome other great Sum of Money, in Confideration

of, and for the Admitting him into fuch Office,

and to the Intent that the faid James Lightboun

fhould Have, Exercife and Enjoy the fame,

which faid Office touches and concerns the Ad-
miniftration and Execution of Juftice in the faid

Court, and the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield,

being Lord Chancellor, in Purfuance and Execu-

tion of the faid wicked and corrupt Bargain, or

in Purfuance of fome other Bargain or Agree-

ment of the fame Infamous and Corrupt Nature,

did admit and fwear the faid James Lightboun in-

to the Office of One of the Matters of the faid

Court of Chancery, in Breach and Violation of

his Oath, as Lord Chancellor, and of the great

Truft in him repofed, contrary to the Duty of

his Office, and againft the good and wholfome
Laws and Statutes of this Realm.

ART. III.

That John Borret, Efq; having contracted with

John Meller, Efq; One of the Mafters of the Court
of Chancery, for the Purchafe and Surrender of
his faid Office, at the Price of Nine thoufand
Pound, or fome other great Sum of Money ; the

faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, whilft he con-
tinued Lord Chancellor of Great Britain, and be-

fore the Admiffion of the faid John Borret into the
Office of one of the Mafters of the Court of
Chancery, did, by colour of his Office of Lord
Chancellor, Illegally, Corruptly, and Extorfive-
ly infift upon, take and receive of and from the
faid John Borret the Sum of fifteen hundred and
feventy-five Pounds, or fome other Sum of Mo-
ney, for the admitting him into fuch Office of a

Mafter of the faid Court of Chancery, and to the

Intent that the faid John Borret fhould have, ex-

ercife and enjoy the fame, which faid Office

touches and concerns the Adminiftration and Exe-
cution of Juftice in the faid Court ; and the faid

Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, being Lord Chan-
cellor, in Purfuance and Execution of the faid

wicked and corrupt Bargain, or in Pur-
fuance of fome other Bargain or Agreement of
the fame infamous and corrupt Nature, did ad-

mit and fwear the faid John Borret into the Office

of one of the Mafters of the faid Court of Chan-
cery, upon the Surrender of the faid John Meller,

in Breach and Violation of his Oath as Lord Chan-
cellor, and of the great Truft in him repofed,

contrary to the Duty of his Office, and againft the

good and wholfome Laws and Statutes of this

Realm.

ART. IV.

That Edward Conway, Efq; having contracted

with John Orlebar, Efq; one of the late Mafters of

the Court of Chancery, for the Purchafe and Sur-

render of his faid Office, at the Price of Six thou-

fand Pounds, or fome other great Sum of Money,
the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, whilft he

continued Lord Chancellor of Great Britain, and
before the Admiffion of the faid Edward Conway
into the Office of one of the Mafters of the Court

of Chancery, did, by colour of his Office of Lord
Chancellor, illegally, corruptly, and extorfively

infift upon, take, and receive of and from the

faid Edward Conway, the Sum of fifteen hundred

Pounds, or fome other Sum of Money, for the

admitting of him into fuch Office of a Mafter of

the faid Court of Chancery, and to the Intent that

the faid Edward Conway fhould have, exercife,

and enjoy the fame, which faid Office touches and

concerns the Adminiftration and Execution of

Juftice in the faid Court; and the faid Tho?nas,

Earl of Macclesfield, being Lord Chancellor, in

Purfuance and Execution of the faid wicked and

corrupt Bargain, or in Purfuance of fome other

Bargain or Agreement of the fame infamous and

corrupt Nature, did admit and fwear the faid

Edward Conway into the Office of one of the Maf-

ters of the faid Court of Chancery, upon the Sur-

render of the faid John Orlebar, in Breach and

Violation of his Oath as Lord Chancellor, and of

the great Truft in him repofed, contrary to the

Duty of his Office, and againft the good and

wholfome Laws and Statutes of this Realm,

ART. V.

That William Kynaflon, Efq; having contracted

with William Rogers, Efq; one of the Mafters of

the Court of Chancery, for the Purchafe and Sur-

render of his faid Office, at the Price of fix thou-

fand Pounds, or fome other great Sum of Money,
the
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the Mafters of the Court of Chancery, didj by
colour of his Office of Lord Chancellor, Illegally,

Corruptly, and Extorfively Infift upon, Take, and
Receive of and from the faid Francis Elde± the

Sum of Five thoufand two hundred and fifty

Pounds, or fo'me other great Sum of Money, in

Confideration of, and for the Admitting him into

fuch Office of a Mafter of the faid Court of Chan-
cery, and to the Intent that the faid Francis Elde

fhould Have, Exercife, and Enjoy the fame,

which faid Office touches and concerns the Ad-

and to the Intent that the faid William Kynafton miniftration and Execution of Juftice in the faid

fhould have, exercife, and enjoy the fame, which Court ; and the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield,

faid Office touches and concerns the Adminiftra- being Lord Chancellor, in Purfuance and Execu-

tion and Execution of Juftice in the faid Court ; tion of the faid wicked and corrupt Bargain, or

and the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, being in Purfuance of fome other Bargain or Agreement

Lord Chancellor, in Purfuance and Execution of of the fame infamous and corrupt Nature, did

the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, whilft he

continued Lord Chancellor of Great Britain, and

before the Admiflion of the faid William Kynafton

into the Office of one of the Mafters of the Court

of Chancery, did, by colour of his Office of

Lord Chancellor, illegally, corruptly, and ex-

torfively infift upon, take, and receive of and

from the faid William Kynafton, the Sum of fifteen

hundred and feventy-five Pounds, or fome other

Sum of Money, for the admitting him into fuch

Office of a Mafter of the faid Court of Chancery,

the faid wicked and corrupt Bargain, or in Pur-

fuance of fome other Bargain or Agreement of

the fame infamous and corrupt Nature, did admit

and fwearthe faid William Kynafton into the Office

of one of the Mafters of the faid Court of Chance-

ry, upon the Surrender of the faid William Rogers,

in Breach and Violation of his Oath as Lord

Chancellor, and of the great Truft in him repo-

fed, contrary to the Duty of his Office, and a-

"ainft the good and wholfome Laws and Statutes

of this Realm.
ART. VI.

That Thomas Bennet, Efq; having Contracted

mthjohn Hiccocks, Efq; one of the Mafters of the

Court of Chancery, for the Purchafe and Surren-

der of his faid Office, at the Price of Seven thou-

fand five hundred Pounds, or fome other great

Sum of Money, the faid Thomas Earl of Macclef-

field, whilft he continued Lord Chancellor of

Great Britain, and before the Admiflion of the

faid Thomas Bennet into the Office of One of the

admit and fwear the faid Francis Elde into the

Office of one of the Mafters of the faid Court of
Chancery, in Breach and Violation of his Oath,

as Lord Chancellor, and of the great Truft in

him repofed, contrary to the Duty of his Office*

and againft the good and wholfome Laws and
Statutes of this Realm.

ART. VIII.

That the Office of One of the Mafters of the

faid Court of Chancery becoming vacant by the

Death of John Borret, Efq; One of the late Maf-
ters of the faid Court, who died infolvent, greatly

indebted to the Suitors of the faid Court, the faid

Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, whilft he continued

Lord Chancellor of Great Britain, without fecu-

ring a juft Satisfaction to the faid Suitors, for

their Debts, and before the Admiflion of Mark
Thurfton, Efq; into the faid Office of One of the

Mafters of the Court of Chancery, did, by co-

lour of his Office of Lord Chancellor, Illegally,
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colour of his Office of Lord Chancellor, Illegally,

Corruptly, and Extorfively Infift upon, Take, and

Receive of and from the faid Thomas Bennet, the

Sum of Fifteen hundred and feventy-five Pounds,

or fome other Sum of Money, for the Admit-

ting him into fuch Office of a Mafter of the faid

Court of Chancery, and to the Intent that the

faid Thomas Bennet fhould Have, Exercife, and

Enjoy the fame, which faid Office Touches and

Concerns the Adminiftration and Execution of

Juftice in the faid Court ; and the faid Thomas,

Earl of Macclesfield, being Lord Chancellor, in

Purfuance and Execution of the faid wicked and

corrupt Bargain, or in Purfuance of fome other

Bargain or Agreement of the fame infamous and

corrupt Nature, did admit and fwear the faid

Thomas Bennet into the Office of One of the Maf-
ters of the faid Court of Chancery, upon the

Surrender of the faid John Hiccocks, in Breach and

Violation of his Oath, as Lord Chancellor, and
of the great Truft in him repofed, contrary to

the Duty of his Office, and againft the good and
wholfome Laws and Statutes of this Realm.

ART. VII.

That the Office of one of the Mafters of the

faid Court of Chancery, becoming vacant by the

Death of WilliamFello'ws, Efq-, one of the late Maf-
ters of the faid Court, the faid Thomas, Earl of

Macclesfield!, whilft he continued Lord Chancellor

of Great Britain, and before the Admiflion of

and Receive,

the Sum of Five thoufand two hundred and fifty

Pounds, or fome other great Sum of Money, in

Confideration of and for the Admitting him into

fuch Office of a Mafter of the faid Court of Chan-

cery, and to the Intent that the faid Mark Thurfton

fhould Have, Exercife, and Enjoy the fame,

which faid Office touches and Concerns the Ad-
miniftration and Execution of Juftice in the faid

Court ; and the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield,

being Lord Chancellor, in Purfuance and Execu-

tion of the faid wicked and corrupt Bargain, or

in Purfuance of fome other Bargain or Agreement

of the fame infamous and corrupt Nature, did

admit and fwear the faid Mark Thurfton into the

Office of one of the Mafters of the faid Court of

Chancery, in Breach and Violation of his Oath,

as Lord Chancellor, and of the great Truft in

him repofed, contrary to the Duty of his Office,

and againft the good and wholfome Laws and

Statutes of this Realm.

ART. IX.

That whereas Thomas Bennet, Efq; in or about

the Month of Augutt, in the Tenth Year of his

Majefty's Reign, was poffefs'd of an Office in the

Court of Chancery, called the Office of Clerk of

the Cuftodies, for the Term of his Life, by Vir-

tue of his Majefty's Letters Patents under the

Great Seal of Great Britain, which Office is an

Office of Truft in the faid Court, in the Gift and

Difpofal of the Crown by Grant under the Great

Francis Elde, Efq; into the faid Office of One of Seal, and concerns the writing and making Com-

Vol. VI. 4 L mifflons
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millions to inquire of Ideots and Lunaticks, and creafe the illegal and corrupt Gain, arifing to

the Procefs thereupon, and Letters Patents for himfelf from the Sale and Difpofal of the Offices

the Cuftody of the Bodies of Ideots and Lunaticks, of Mailers of the Court of Chancery, in Violation

and the keeping, entring, and tranfcribing Or- of the great Truft repofed in him for the Care
ders, Reports, and Accounts made and declared and Protection of the Suitors of the faid Court,

touching Ideots and Lunaticks, and their Eftates whofe Money and Effects were, by Orders of die

in the laid Court of Chancery ; and the faid Tho- faid Court, lodged in the Hands of the Mailers
mas Bcnnet having agreed with Hugh Hamerjley, of the faid Court of Chancery, did admit feveral

Efq; to refign the faid Office, in order to obtain Perfons to the faid Offices of Mafters of the faid

his Majefty's Royal Grant of the faid Office to

the faid Hugh Hamerjley, the faid Thomas, Earl

of Macclesfield, being then Lord Chancellor of

Great Britain, did refufe to permit or accept of

fuch Refignation, until the faid Thomas Bennet

had agreed to pay unto the faid Thomas, Earl of

Macclesfield, or unto his Ufe, One hundred and

five Pounds, or fome other Sum of Money, as a

Confederation for the fame, and, by colour of his

Office of Lord Chancellor, did Illegally, Cor-

ruptly, and Extorfively Infill upon, Take, and

Receive, of and from the faid Thomas Bennet,

the faid One hundred and five Pounds, or fome

other Sum for and in Confideration of the permit-

ting and accepting fuch Surrender of the faid Of-

fice, in order to and for the obtaining and procu-

ring a New Grant of the faid Office to the faid

Court of Chancery, who, at the Time of fuch
their Admiffions, were of fmall Subflance and
Ability, very unfit to be trailed with the great
Sums of Money and other Effects of the Suitors

of the faid Court, lodged in their Hands by the
Orders of the faid Court; and did publickly in

open Court, when he fat there as Lord Chancel-
lor, falfly reprefent the faid Perfons, fo by him
admitted to the Offices of Maflers of the faid

Court of Chancery, as Perfons of great Fortunes,

and in every refpect qualified for the Truft repo-

fed in them, to the manifefl Deceit and Injury of

the Suitors of the faid Court.

ART. YAl

That whilll the faid Thomas, Earl of Maccles-

field executed the faid Office of Lord Chancellor,

Hugh Hamerjley ; and in purfuance thereof, the an unjufl and fraudulent Method was praclifed 1

faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, then being Lord the Court of Chancery upon the Sale of the Offices

Chancellor, and One of the Lords Juflices of this of Mafters of the faid Court, and upon the Ad-
Kingdom, during his Majefly's A bfence, didac- millions of new Maflers, that the Prices or Sums
cept, or caufe to be duly accepted, the Refigna- of Money agreed to be paid for the Purchafe of

tion of the faid Thomas Bennet of the faid Office, the faid Offices, and for the Admiffions thereinto,

and by his Interefl and Recommendation did ob- were fatisfied and paid out of the Monies and Ef-

tain and procure his Majefty's Royal Warrant for feels of the Suitors of the Court depofited in the

preparing and palling his Majefty's Grant of the Hands of the refpective Maflers, furrendring their

faid Office, underj:he Great Seal, to the faid Hugh Offices, or dying, either by way of Retainer of

Hamerjley for the Term of his Life ; which Grant the Purchafe Money in the Hands of the Mafler

afterwards, in or about the Month of September, refigning, or of replacing the Money difburfed

in the Tenth Year of his Majefly's Reign, did ac- for fuch Purchafe or Admiffion by the fucceeding

cordingly pafs the Great Seal, then in the Cuftody Mafter, out of the Money and Effects of the Sui-

of the faid Earl, for which all the ufual and ac- tors coming into his Hands •, by which Practice

cuftomed Fees were paid, over and befides the

laid One hundred and five Pounds, in great De-
ceit of the Crown, in Breach and Violation of his

Oath, as Lord Chancellor, and of the feveral

the Price and Value given upon the Sale of the

faid Offices, and Admiffions thereinto, during the

time aforefaid, were greatly advanced, and feveral

Perfons of fmall Ability and Subflance were en-

great Trufls then in him repofed, contrary to the couraged to contract for the faid Offices, upon a

Duty of his Office, and againft the good and Profpect of the eafy method of paying for the

wholfome Laws and Statutes of this Realm. Purchafe of the fame, by means whereof great

R Deficiencies have incurred in the Offices of feveral

Mafters of the faid Court, admitted by the faid

That the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, which they have not

whilft he continued Lord Chancellor of Great been able to anfwer and make good ; and although

Britain, did Illegally and Corruptly Ordain, the faid Practice was notorious and publick, and

Name, and Make divers other Officers and Mi- the faid Earl was well informed thereof, and ful-

nifters of his Majefty, for Gift and Brocage, and ly acquainted therewith, yet the faid Thomas,

did likewife illegally and corruptly fell divers o- Earl of Macclesfield, in order to increafe his own
ther Offices, touching and concerning the Ad- unjufl and corrupt Profit in the felling the faid

miniftration and Execution of Juftice in the Court Offices, and the Admiffions thereto (which in con-

of Chancery, to feveral Perfons, for divers great fequence of this evil Practice was raifed and re-

Sums of Money, which the faid Earl did receive

from the faid Perfons for their refpective Ad-
miffions into fuch Offices, and before they were

admitted thereinto, and in order that the faid

Perfons fhould have, exercife, and enjoy the fame,

ceived by him out of the Effects of the Suitors,

for whom he was intrufted) did not at any Time,

whilft he continued in his Office of Lord Chan-

cellor, ufe or take any meafures to reform the

faid Abufe, or to prevent the fame, either by

in great Breach ot the Truft in him repofed, and caufing proper Schedules to be taken of the mo-
or" his Oath as Lord Chancellor, contrary to the

Duty of his Office, and againft the Laws and

Statutes of this Realm.

ART. XI.

That the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield,

whilft he continued in the Office of Lord Chancel-

lor of Great Britain, in order to advance and in-

ney and Effects of the Suitors delivered over and

transferred, or by appointing any Perfon, in his

Behalf, to infpect or fupervife the Transfers or

Deliveries thereof, or in any other manner; but

on the contrary, the faid Thomas, Earl of Mac-

clesfield, unjuftly, corruptly, and contrary to the

Duty of his faid Office of Lord Chancellor (to

whom the Superintendency of the faid Mafters,

and
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and of their Accounts did appertain) did fatter forty fix Pounds four Shillings, or fome other

the faid fraudulent Practice to proceed and be great Sum due from William Wilfon, a Banker, to

excrcifed without any Controul or Check, where- the faid Fleetwood Dormer, to the intent that the

by great Embezzlements have been made of the Money received on Account thereof mould be

Suitors Money and EfFecfs, to their great Lofs, applied and difpofed of, as the faid Court of

the Offices of feveral of the Matters of the Chancery mould order and direct, the faid Tho-

mas, Earl of Macclesfield, whilft he continued

Lord Chancellor of Great Britain, for the unlaw-

ful Purpofes aforefaid, without Regard to the

Intereft of the faid Suitors, by colour of his Of-

fice, did, in an unwarrantable, clandeftine, and
unufual manner, authorize, direct, and eftabliffi

a precarious and trifling Compofition with the

faid William Wilfon, upon the Terms of the faid

William Wilfon'% paying the Sum of Fourteen

hundred fixty three Pounds, two Shillings and a

Penny, and affigning Ten thoufand Pounds, part

of a Debt of Twenty two thoufand and fixty

Pounds, twelve Shillings and five Pence, pre-

m
faid Court, who have not been able to anfwer

and pay their refpective Ballances owing upon

their Accounts, in breach of the Truft repofed

in him for the Prefervation ol the Eftates and

Effects oi the Suitors, to the Dishonour and

Difcredit of the faid Court, and to the great In-

jury and Defrauding of the faid Suitors, in a

Court of Equity, ettubliihc-d tor their Relief and

Protection.

ART. XIII.

That Fleetwood Dormer Efq; one of the Ma-
tters of the Court of Chancery, having embezzled

great part of the Money and Effects belonging tended to be due to the faid William Wilfon from

to the Suitors of the faid Court, with which he

was 'intruded by the faid Court, and difpofed ol

the fame for his own private Advantage, by

Means whereof there became, and ftill continues

a great Deficiency in that Office, to the Amount
of twenty five thoufand Pounds, or fome other

great Sum ; and the faid Fleetwood Dormer, hav-

ing abfconded, and for fome time abfented him-

felf, Application was made to the faid Earl of

Macclesfield, then Lord Chancellor of Great Bri-

tain, to fecure the Perfon of the faid Fleetwood

Dormer, and to take proper Methods for com-
pelling the faid Fleetwood Dormer to make Satif-

faction to the Suitors for the Money and Ef-

fects, which he had fo embezzled, yet the faid

Earl, from an Apprehenfion that a publick Dif-

covery of the faid Deficiency might leflen the un

Edward Poulter, or to that effect, in Difcharge

of the faid Debt ; and to that End, upon the

Report of John Hiccocks Efq; then one of the

Matters of the faid Court, without any Atten-

dance order'd or had thereupon, and without

Notice to the faid Suitors, did, by a private Or~
der not made in open Court, order the faid Hend-

ry Edwards to accept of the faid Compofition,

in full Difcharge of the faid Debt, which faid

Edward Poulter was a Perfon infolvent, and has

fince abfconded for Debt, and none, or but a

very fmall part of the faid Ten thoufand Pounds,

has been or is ever likely to be received.

ART. XV.

That the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield,

whilft he continued Lord Chancellor of Great

juft Gain he propofed to make to himfelf, by fel- Britain, to carry on his corrupt and unjuft Pur=

ling and difpofing of the faid Offices of Matters pofes, and to conceal the Deficiency that was

of the faid Court, neglected and declined either in the Office of the faid Fleetwood Dormer, did,

to fecure the Perfon of the faid Fleetwood Dormer, in or about the Month of February, in the Year

and his Eftate and Effects, or to make a proper of our Lord, One thoufand feven hundred and

Enquiry into the faid Deficiency : But on the

contrary, the faid Earl, whilft he continued Lord
Chancellor of Great Britain, did endeavour, by
many indirect Practices, to conceal from the Sui-

tors of the Court, the true State and Condition

of the faid Office, as well with refpect to the

Effects of the faid Fleetwood Dormer, as to the

Debt due from him to the Suitors of the Court

twenty, order the feveral Matters of the faid

Court of Chancery to bring in their Accounts

of the Cafti, Effects, and Securities in their

Hands belonging to the Suitors of the Court,

not with a Defign of examining their Accounts,

or fecuring the Eftate and Effects of the Suitors,

but with an intent to terrify the faid Matters*

and thereby oblige them to contribute great Sums

and upon Motion made in the faid Court of Chan- of Money towards anfwering the Demands that

fhould, from time to time, be made upon the

faid Office ; for which purpofe, he the faid Earl

did at feveral Times reprefent, or caufe to be

reprefented to the faid Matters, that if they re-

fufed fo to do, the Money and Effects of the

Suitors would be taken out of their Hands, and

the faid Matters deprived of making any Profit

of the fame ; by which Practices the faid Earl,

being then Lord Chancellor of Great Britain, by

colour of his Authority, did perfuade and in-

duce nine of the Matters of the faid Court of

eery (after the faid Earl knew that the faid Fleet-

wood Dormer had fo abfconded) on behalf of

fome of the Suitors of the Court, to have their

Effects transferred from the faid Fleetwood Dormer
to fome other Matter, for the better fecuring

thereof, the faid Earl of Macclesfield, (in order

to delude the Suitors of the faid Court into a Be-

lief that their Effects were fafe, and thereby to

prevent a publick Enquiry) then fitting as Lord
Chancellor in open Court, did fay, That the faid

Parties need not be in hafte, and did at the fame
time falfely and deceitfully declare, that the faid Chancery, to pay Five hundred Pounds each for

Fleetwood Dormer was only gone to take the Air
in the Country, and that he would return in a

little time, and all would be well, or to that Effect.

A R T. XIV.

That the faid Fleetwood Dormer, having to-

wards Satisfaction of the Suitors of the faid Court,
affigned to Henry Edwards Efq-, (who fucceeded
him in his Office of Matter of the faid Court of
Chancery), a Debt of Twenty four thoufand and

the purpofes aforefaid, feveral of whom paid the

fame out of the Money or Effects of the Suitors

in their Hands ; but after fuch Payments, the

faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, did not ob-

lige the faid Matters to deliver in their Accounts

in purfuance of fuch his faid Order.

ART. XVI.

That Elizabeth Chitty, Widow, having ob-

tained an Order of the Court of Chancery, on or

about
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about the feventeenth Day of March, in the tenth upon did order, that the faid Henry Edwards

Year of His prefent Majefty's Reign, made by fhould examine in what Manner the faid two

the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, then Lord hundred and fixty Pounds was depofited with the

Chancellor, whereby Henry Edwards Efq; one of faid Fleetwood "Dormer, and whether there was

likely to be a Lofs of any Money depofited with

the faid Fleetwood Dormer.
the Mafters of the faid Court of Chancery, who

fucceeded Fleetwood Dormer Efq; in the faid Of-

fice, was ordered to pay her the Sum of one

thoufand Pounds, part of the Sum of ten thou-

fand Pounds, or other great Sum of Money, for-

A R T. XVII.

That notwithftanding the faid Earl of Maccles-

merly paid into the Hands of the faid Fleetwood field well knew that there was a very great Defi-

Dormer, as a Mafter of the faid Court, and by ciency and Lofs by the Failure of the faid Fleet-

the faid Order mentioned to be then in the Hands wood Dormer, and that the faid Henry Edwards,

of the faid Henry Edwards; and the faid Henry his Succeffor, had not fufficient in his Hands to

Edwards complaining to the faid Earl, that the pay the whole Money due to the Suitors of the

making Orders upon him to pay Money which Court, that had been received by the faid Fleetwood

had been received by the faid Fleetwood Dormer, Dormer on their Account ; yet the faid Earl of

was a very great Hardfhip upon him the faid Macclesfield, being Lord Chancellor, in order

Henry Edwards, in regard he had not any Money to carry on his unjuft Defigns of concealing the

or Effects in his Hands to anfwer fuch Demands, faid Deficiency, and to prevent any publick En-

the faid Earl of Macclesfield, being then Lord quiry that might arife from the juft Complaints

Chancellor, in further profecution of his unjuft of the Suitors of the faid Court, did, from Time
and corrupt Purpofes, did, by colour of his Au- to Time, in manifeft and wilful Violation of the

thority, endeavour to prevail with the Mafters of Truft repofed in him, make Orders on the faid

the faid Court of Chancery, to raife the faid Sum Henry Edwards for Payment of the Money be-

of one thoufand Pounds out of their Effects, by longing to feveral particular Suitors, which had

reprefenting to them, that a Difcovery of the been lodged in the Hands of the faid Fleetwood

Deficiency in the faid Office might occafion a Dormer; in Obedience to which Orders feveral

Parliamentary or Publick Enquiry into the Na- Sums were paid, without regard to, orconfidera-

ture and Condition of their Offices, and hazard tion of the Proportion which the reft of the

the Forfeiture of the fame, by reafon of their

having bought the faid Offices contrary to Law,

which the faid Earl then declared would affect

him, but themfelves much more, or to that ef-

fect; but the faid Mafters refufing to raife the

faid Sum of one thoufand Pounds, the faid Earl

of Macclesfield did order his Secretary Peter Cot-

Suitors were entituled to, out of the Effecls of

the faid Fleetwood Dormer, whereby many of the

faid Suitors loft the Benefit of their proportiona-

ble Share, to which in Juftice they were entitled.

ART.- XVIII.

That the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield,

tlngham Efq-, to pay'the faid one thoufand Pounds; notwithftanding that he very well knew, and was

who, in purfuance of the faid Earl's Directions, informed that the Mafters of the faid Court did,,

in or about the Month of July, one thoufand fe- or that it was in their Power, from Time to

ven hundred and twenty four, did pay the fame Time, and at their Pleafure to difpofe of and

to Afican Chriftopher Lochman, for the Ufe of the employ the Money and Effects belonging to the

faid Elizabeth Chitty ; and the faid Earl of Mac- Suitors of the faid Court, which were intruded

clesfield, upon Application made to him by the with them refpectively, and more particularly,

faid Afcan Chriftopher Lochman, for Payment of that the Deficiency appearing ^in the Office of

the faid Money, did acquaint him, that he, the Fleetwood Dormer, Efq; one of the Mafters of

faid Earl, had given Directions to his Secretary the Court of Chancery, was chiefly occafioned by

for payment of that Sum, but at the fame time his, the faid Fleetwood Dormer's, having taken up-

declared to the faid Afican Chriftopher Lochman, on himfelf unduly to difpofe of and employ the

that he, the faid Earl, believed this would be the Money and Effecls belonging to the Suitors of

laft payment fhe was like to receive out of the

faid Money paid into the Hands of the faid

Fleetwood Dormer, for the Refidue thereof was

in great Danger of being loft, by reafon of the

the faid Court,which were intrufted in his Hands •,

and notwithftanding that, foon after the faid Fleet-

wood Dormer became infolvent, it was reprefented

and propofed to the faid Thomas, Earl of Mac-
Deficiency in the Effects of the faid Fleetwood clesfield, then Lord Chancellor of Great Britain,

Dormer, or to that effect. Notwithftanding all

which proceedings, in this and feveral other Ar-
ticles mentioned, upon a Motion made in the

Court of Chancery before the fiid Thomas, Earl

of Macclesfield, then Lord Chancellor, on or a-

bout the fifth Day of December laft, in a Caufe

in order to prevent for the future any Loffes that

might happen to the Suitors of the faid Court,

that the feveral Effects and Securities belonging;

to the Suitors fhould be placed out in fuch Manner,
as that the Power of difpofing, imploying, or

in any manner trading with the fame, might be

there depending between Jane Harper, Plaintiff, totally taken away from the faid Mafters, for

and Thomas Cafe, and others, Defendants, rela- the effecting of which juft Defign, a particular

ting to the Sum of two hundred and fixty Pounds, Method was laid before the faid Earl; and it

or fome other Sum, depofited in the Hands of was alfo further propofed, that the faid Mafters

the faid Fleetwood Dormer, before his abfeonding, fhould give fome reafonable Security to anfwer
and wnich was then apprehended in great Dan- the Ballance of fuch Cafh, as fhould, from Time
gcr of being loft, the faid Thomas, Earl of Mac- to Time be in their Hands ; and notwithftanding

clesfield, then fitting in Court as Lord Chancel- the faid Earl was credibly informed, that the Suf-

lor, did publickly, fa'lfely, and deceitfully de- fficiency of fome other of the faid Mafters was

clare, that he had heard there was a Deficiency very much fufpected, yet the faid Thomas, Earl

in the Office of the faid Fleetwood Dormer, but of Macclesfield, whilft he was Lord Chancellor of

that he, the faid Earl, knew nothing of it, only Great Britain, contrary to the Duty of his Office,

as publick News, or to that Effect ; and there- and thereby propofing to make unlawful Gain

to
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himfelf by the Difpofal and Sale of the Offices

of Matters of the laid Court of Chancery •, and

in order to induce Perfons to give him, the fa id

Earl, a greater Price or Reward for their being

admitted to the fame, did not require or demand

any Security whatsoever, to be given by any of

the faid Matters, upon their being admitted to

their Offices, or at any other Time •, and the

faid Earl with the fame corrupt View and Inten-

tion, and to keep up the Price of the faid Offices,

totally neglected to enquire into the Accounts of

the faid Matters, and did fraudulently, unjuftly,

and in Breach of the Truft repofed in him, per-

mit and incourage the Matters of the did Court,

to employ and traffick with large Sums of Mo-
ney belonging to the Suitors of the faid Court,

and to make Intereft thereof for their own unjuft

Gain and Profit ; and the faid Earl, after fuch

Propofal made to him, as aforefaid, or at any

other Time, during his Continuance in the faid

Office did not take any Care that the Effects of the

faid Suitors fhould be placed out in fuch Manner, as

to prevent the Matters from trafficking there-

with, or that the faid Matters fhould give fuch

Security, as was propofed •, by Means whereof

oreat Deficiencies, to the amount of many thou-

iand Pounds, have been, through fuch Default

of the faid Earl, occafioned in the Offices of fe-

veral other of the Matters, to the great Lofs and

Injury of the Suitors of the faid Court.

ART. XIX.

That whereas his moil Sacred Majefty, out of

his fatherly Goodnefs to his People, did, in or

about the month of November laft, direct an En-
quiry to be made into the Accounts of the ma-

ART. XX.
That the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield,

whilft he continued in the Office of Lord Chan-
cellor of Great Britain, in Breach of the Truft
repofed in him, and contrary to the Duty of his

Office, did, at feveral Times, borrow and re-

ceive of fome of the Matters of the faid Court,

feveral great Sums of the Money belonging to the

Suitors of the faid Court, depofited in the Hands
of fuch Matters, and did make ufe thereof for his

own private Service and Advantage, fo long as he

had occafion for the fame.

ART. XXI.
That the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield,

whilft he continued Lord Chancellor of Great

Britain, did, in an illegal and arbitrary Manner,
extend the Power and Authority of Lord Chan-
cellor, and of the Court of Chancery, beyond
their lawful and and juft Bounds, and did arbi-

trarily and illegally affume to himfelf, as Lord
Chancellor, and by colour of Office, an unjuft

and unlimited power of difpenfing with, fufpend-

ing and controuling the Statutes of this Realm,
made for the Security and Prefervation of the

Eftates and Properties of the Subjects of this

Kingdom, to the great Oppreffion of the Suitors

of the faid Court, in fubverfion of the Laws and

Statutes of this Realm, in manifeft Breach and

Violation of the Rights and Liberties of his Ma-
jefty's good Subjects, and of his own moft fo-

lemn Oath, as Lord Chancellor of Great Britain ;

and more efpecially, when Francis Tyfon, Efq;

deceafed, being feized, and poffeffed of a real

Eftate of the Value of Three thoufand Pounds

per Annum, or fome other great annual Value,

did, by his laft Will and Teftament in Writing,

fters of the faid Court of Chancery, to the Intent duly executed, in or about the month of Otlober,

that proper methods might be taken for the Se-

curity of the Suitors of the faid Court ; the faid

Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, being then Lord
Chancellor of Great Britain, and one of his Ma-
jefty's moft Honourable Privy Council, in order

to obftrucl the fame, and to prevent a parlia-

mentary Enquiry into the State and Condition of

the Offices of the faid Matters, in Breach of the

feveral great Trufts repofed in him, did give Ad-
vice and Encouragement to the faid Matters to

afiift and fupply each other with money and

Effects, and did reprefent to the faid Matters,

that it would be for their Honour and Service, to

appear able and fufficient, and that, if they made
a bold Stand now, it might prevent a parlia-

mentary Enquiry, or to that Effect, and did per-

fuade feveral of them to make falfe Reprefenta-

tions of their Circumftances to his Majefty, by
adding a Subfcription to their refpective Ac-
counts delivered to the faid Earl, to be laid be-

fore his Majefty, to the Effect following (viz:)

That they were able to anfwer the money and
Securities in their Hands, and were willing to

pay the fame to fuch Perfons as were entituled

thereunto, although the faid Earl knew, or had
good reafon to believe, that feveral of the Ma-
tters were not then able to anfwer the Ballance of
their Accounts, nor are they yet able to fatisfy or

give

make good the fame; and when the faid Matters

were afterwards required to produce the Calh and
Effects of their Suitors in their Hands, fome of
the faid Matters, according to fuch Advice and
Encouragement given by the faid Earl, did fupply
others of them with Cafh and Effects, to make a

falfe fhew and appearance of their Ability and Rea-
dinefs to anfwer the Ballance cf their Accounts. lion of

Vol. VI.

One thoufand feven hundred and feventeen,

and devife all his faid real Eftate to the Child his

Wife was at that Time enfeint with (if fuch Child

fhould be a Son) for his Life, without Impeach-

ment of Watte, with Remainders to the firft,

and other Sons of the faid Infant in Tail male,

and did likewife by fuch Willexprefly nominate

and appoint his faid Teftator's Vv'ife, Rachel Tyfon,

to be the Guardian of all his Children, during their

refpective minorities, if fhe fhould fo long con-

tinue a Widow ; and the faid Francis Tyfon, foon

after died, leaving one Daughter, and the faid Ra-

chel, his Widow, with Child, after whofe Decree

the faid Rachel was delivered of fuch Child, be-

ing a Son, afterwards named Francis John Tyfon,

in whofe Right by Virtue of the faid Will, and

of the Statute made in the twelfth Year of the

Reign of King Charles, the Second, intituled,

An Actfor the taking away the Court of Wards and

Liveries, and Tenures in Capite, and by Knights

Service, and Purveyance, and for fettling a Reve-

nue upon his Majesly in Lieu thereof; the faid Ra-

chel Tyfon did lawfully take into her Care and

Cuftody her faid Infant Son, and the Eftate fo

devifed to him, or was willing and endeavoured

fo to do, and to undertake the management of

his faid Lands and Tenements for his beft Ad-

vantage, and demeaned herfelf therein, without

any mifbehaviour •, yet the faid Thomas, Earl of

Macclesfield, being then Lord Chancellor of Great

Britain, under colour of his Office and Authori-

ty, did, by feveral Orders made by him, in the

months of January and February, in the filth

Year of Majefty's Reign, or in one of them, il-

legally and arbitrarily, and in direct cpntraven.

the Statute made in

4 M
that Behalf, remove

an. 1
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and exclude the faid Rachel Tyfon, the Guardian Articles, or other Accufation or Impeachment a-

of the faid Infant, and alfo John Nicholas Efq; gainft the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, and

(a Perfon of good Subftance and Ability, nomi-

nated by the faid Rachel Tyfon, to be Receiver

of the Rents and Profits of the faid Infants fi-

liate, and approved by Robert Holford, Efq; one

of the Matters of the faid Court, and for that

alfo of replying to his Anfwers which he fhall

make unto the faid Articles, or any of them, and
of offering Proof to all and every the aforefaid

Articles, and to all and every other Articles, Im-
peachment, or Accufation, which fhall be exhi-

Purpofe, who had given fufficient Security for bited by them, as the Cafe fhall, according to the

the due' Execution of his faid Truft) from the Courfe of Parliament, require, do pray, that the

Management and Receiverfhip of the faid Infant's faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, may be put to

Eftate •, and did, by fuch Orders, unduly and anfwer the faid Crimes and Mifdemcanors, and

injurioufly nominate and appoint Robert Doyley, that fuch Proceedings, Examinations, Trials, and

Efq-, a Creature and Confident of his own, and Judgments, may be thereupon had and given,

a Perfon altogether unfit and unqualified for fo

great a Truft, to be Receiver of the Rents and

Profits of the faid Infant's Eftate, and to have a

Salary for the fame with a Power to kt fuch

Part of the faid Eftate, as was or fhould become

untenanted, with the Approbation of the faid

Robert Holford, although the faid Rachel Tyfon

did exprefly object: unto, and oppofe fuch Ap-

pointment of the faid Robert Doyiey, and did infift

to have the Benefit and Exercife of her Right

in that Refpect, as the Guardian appointed and

intrufted by her late Hufband; and the faid

Robert Doyley, after he was fo admitted into

the faid Receiverfhip, did for feveral Years re-

ceive the Rents and Profits of the faid Infant's

as are agreeable to Law and Juftice.

The Anfwer of Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, to

the Articles exhibited by the Knights, Citizens, and

Burgeffes in Parliament ajfembled, in the Name of

themfelves, and of all the Commons of Great Bri-

tain, in Maintenance of their Impeachment againsl

him, for high Crimes and Mifdemcanors, fuppofed

to have been by him committed.

THE faid Earl, faving to himfelf all Advantage

of Exception to the faid Articles, and of

not being prejudiced by any Words or want of

Form in this his Anfwer, and alfo faving to him-

felf all Benefit and Advantage of the Act for the

King's moft gracious, general, and free Pardon
Eftate, to the Amount of about Ten thousand herejn after m̂ ntionedj and an Rights and Pri
Pounds, or other great Sum, and in his Life

time did embezzle and convert to his own Ufe

great Part thereof ; and in or about the month

of November, One thoufand feven hundred and

twenty two, died infolvent and indebted to the

faid Infant and his Eftate, in the Sum of Two
thoufand fix hundred Pounds, or other great

Sum, upon the BaHance of his Account, no Part

whereof hath hitherto been fatisfied or paid •, and

the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, in further

Abufe of his Power, and in contempt of the

viledges belonging to him as one of the Peers of

this Realm, for Anfwer to the faid Articles faith,

That he, having for feveral Years executed the

Office of Chief Juftice in the Court of King's-

Bench, hisMajeftyof his royal Grace and Favour

was pleafed, the tenth Day of March, One thou-

fand feven hundred and fifteen, to advance the

faid Earl to the Dignity of a Peer of this Realm,

and created him Baron of Macclesfield ; and, in

regard to his Circumftances at that Time, was

further pleafed, for the better Support of that
Laws and Statutes of this Realm, when upon Honour> to grant to the faid Earl the penfion of
Debate of the matter in the faid Court of Chan- Twe ,ve hundred ds Amum ^ in the Afti _

eery, before the faid Earl being then Lord Chan-
c]es mentioned5

'
able at the Receipt of the

C
,

eIl0^ 1

,

n ^em0
r
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,
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Fehruar^ m Exchequer; and his Majefty was then likewife

pleafed to declare his Royal Intentions or givingthe fifth Year of his Majefty's Reign, or in one

of them, it was infifted upon, in Behalf of the

faid Rachel Tyfon, by her Council of great Abi-

lity and Experience in the faid Court, that fuch

the Proceedings of the faid Earl, as Lord Chan-

cellor, were a reviving the Power of the Court

to the faid Earl's only Son, George Parker, for

his Life, an Office of confiderable Profit, when
a proper Opportunity fhould offer ; that in the

Beginning of May, in the Year One thoufand fe-

ven hundred and eighteen, he the faid Earl, was,
of Wards, and were not fupported or warranted b hjs Majefty

>

s

&
reat Grace and Favour5 ap_

b7 a
"X

P«ccdent in the Court of Chancery, he,
inted Lo

J

rd Cha
*
ce]]or of Great Britar>h and

the faid Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, then fit

ting in the Court as Lord Chancellor, did not

only perfift in fuch his Appointment of the faid

Robert Doyley, but did alfo arbitrarily, and in

Defiance of the faid good and beneficial Statute,

fay and declare, in open Court, that then he

would make a Precedent in that Inftance, or he,

poir

was fworn before his Majefty in Council the four-

teenth Day of that Month, when the following

Oath, being the ufual Oath of Lord Chancellor,

was adminiftred to him, (viz.)

Y*0 U fhall fwear, that you JJjall well and truly

ferve our Sovereign Lord the King, and his Peo~

the fiid Earl, declared and expreffed himfelf to pie, in the Office of Chancellor of Great Britain;

that Effect ; which Actings, Proceedings, and

Declarations of the faid Earl, have been and were

not only very injurious and prejudicial to the Right
and Intereft of the faid Rachel Tyfon, as Guar-
dian, and to the great Damage and Lofs of the

Infant Francis John Tyfon, and a notorious Vio-

lation of Property, but were alfo a dangerous

Exercife of illegal and arbitrary Power, to the

Deftrudtion of the Laws and Conftitution of this

Realm, in manifeft Breach of his Oath as Lord

and you floall do Right to all Manner of People,

Poor and Rich, after the Laws and- Ufages of this

Realm ; and truly you fhall Counfcl the King, and

his Council you floall lain and keep ; and you Jhatt

not know nor fuffer the Hurt or Di/heriting of the

King, or that the Rights of the Crown be decreased

by any Means, as far forth as you may lett, and if

you may not lett it, you foail make it clearly and ex-

prefly known to the King, with your true Advice-

and Counfel •, and that you fib all do and purchafe the

Chancellor, and in great Abufe of his Authority. King's Profit in all that you may ; all whichyou Jhait

And the faid Knights, Citizens, and Burgeffes, do to the besl of your Skill and Knowledge,

by Proteftation, faving to themfelves the Liberty As God fhall help you.

of exhibiting, at any Time hereafter, any further And
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And the faid Earl at the fame Time took the tives, and with fuch Defigns, or in fuch Manner,
Oaths of Allegiance and Supremacy, but no Oath as is fuggefted in the faid Articles, and with this

of Office befides that above fet forth ; and the Refervation he anfwereth, as followeth : By way
faid Earl doth admit, that, during his Conti- of general Anfwer to fuch of the faid Articles,

nuance in the faid Office of Lord Chancellor, he as relate to the making any prefent by perfons

did enjoy the ufual Salary, Fees, and Profits be- admitted to the Office of Matters in Chancery •,

longing to fuch Office, which, he fays, are of the faid Earl doth fay, that the fame has been long

much lefs annual Value than they are generally ufed and practifed in the Time of his Predecef-

(as he believes) efteemed to be ; and that his Ma- fors, in the faid Office, and that fuch prefents

jefty was pleafed to grant him the Salary or Al- have been reckoned amongft the ancient and
lowance of Four thoufand pounds per Annum, in knovyn perquifites of the Great Seal, and the

the Articles mentioned, during fuch Time as he making and accepting thereof has been notorious

fhould continue to be Lord Chancellor ; but the to all the World, and never before looked upon
fame is fo far from being particular in the Cafe of to be criminal or complained of as fuch ; and the

the faid Earl (as the faid Articles would infinuate) faid Earl humbly hopes, that the giving or re-

that it is no other than what hath been for many ceiving of a Prefent on fuch Occafion is not cri-

Years paft conftantly granted to, and enjoyed by minal in itfelf, or by the Common Law of this

his predeceffors in the faid Office ; and the faid Realm, and that there is not any Act of Parlia-

Earl doth likewife admit, that his Majefty did, ment whatfoever, by which the fame is made cri-

of his royal Grace and Bounty, fign a Warrant minal, or fubject to any Punifhment or Judg-
for payment of the Sum of Fourteen thoufand ment, which can be prayed in this Profecution ;

pounds mentioned in the faid Articles, to the and the faid Earl thinks himfeif obliged humbly
faid Earl, out of the Receipt of the Exchequer, to lay this before your Lordihips, not only in his

whereof Two thoufand pounds was the conftant own Defence, but in Vindication of the Honour
ufual Allowance from the Crown to the Lord of fo many Great and excellent Men, who have

Chancellor or Lord Keeper, for and towards the been his Predeceffors in the faid Office, and have

Expences in entring upon the faid Office ; and all along done the fame, for which the faid Earl

the Refidue of the faid Fourteen thoufand pounds, is now complained of, and of others having been

over and above the ufual Fees and Deductions up- Lords Chief Juftices of the King's Bench and
on payment thereof, was his Majefty's royal Mu- Common Pleas, Mafters of the Rolls and other

nifkence to the faid Earl, and the fame was re- Judges, who have likewife received Prefents in

ceived by him accordingly} and the faid Earl Money, upon the Admiffion of the feveral and
doth likewife, with the greateft Gratitude, own, refpective Officers under them, in feveral Courts

that about the fame Time, his faid Son being of Juftice, and who, the faid Earl is aflured,

then of a proper Age, and defirous to go abroad never apprehended themfelved to be Guilty of any
to travel, his Majefty was pleafed to grant to Crime againft any the good and wholfome Laws
the faid George Parker the yearly penfion of or Statutes of this Realm.

Twelve hundred pounds, payable out of the Re- I. &c. To the firft, fecond, third, fourth, fifth,

ceipt of the Exchequer, during the joint Lives fixth, and feventh Articles, the faid Earl further

of his Majefty, and the faid George Parker, de- faith, that long before the 24th of "July, One
terminable upon his Majefty's granting to him, thoufand feven hundred and twenty one, he did ad-

the faid George Parker, in PoffefTion or Reverfion, mit and fwear Richard Godfrey, James Lighiboun,

John Borret, and Edward Conway Efouires, into

the Offices of Mafters of the Court of Chancery,
and every one of them did freely and voluntarily,

and of their own accord, as former Mailers had
done to the Predeceffors of the laid Earl, fend to

the Office of one of the Tellers of the Exche-
quer, for Life, and his coming into the actual

Poflfefiion thereof, and which the faid Earl likewife

admits has been fince granted to his faid Son,

and that he came into the actual poffefTion thereof

in or about July, One thoufand feven hundred and the faid Earl a Prefent upon Occafion of their re-

nineteen, whereby the faid yearly penfion is de- fpective Admittances, which the faid Earl accepted,

termined ; and the faid Earl faith, that, during and that after the faid 24th of July, One thcu-

his continuance in the faid Office of Lord Chan- fand feven hundred and twenty one, he did admit
cellor, or at any other Time, he never once had and fwear William Kynafton, 'Thomas Bennd, and
a Defign, or View, or Wifh to raife to himfeif Francis Elde into the Offices of Mafters of the

any exorbitant Gain or Profit, much lefs ufed or Court of Chancery, and faith, that every of the

ever thought of ufing any Unjuft or Oppreffive • faid Perfons laft named, did freely and voluntarily,

Methods to Extort or Obtain any Sum whatfoever, and of their own Accord, in like Manner, fend

as in the faid Articles is fuggefted, but fuch Views a Prefent to the faid Earl upon Occafion of their

and Practices are inconfiftent with the whole Tenor refpective Admittances, but faith, that, it being
of his Life and Actions; and in cafe it fhall be pretended by the faid Kynaslon and Bennet, that

thought proper for the faid Earl to lay before your they were by fuch Prefents difabled from anfiver-

Lordfhips an Account of his Eftate and Fortune, ing fo much of the Money due from them to the

and of the confiderable Sums of Money he has Suitors of the Court, he the faid Earl did after-

diftributed for the Relief and Support of others, wards, and before the Impeachment, deliver the

it will appear that he is not fuch a defigning, a- Prefent fo fent him by the faid William Kynaslon,

vantious, and oppreffive Man, as in the faid Ar-
ticles he is represented ; and the faid Earl humbly
hopes, that he fhall be allowed, in this his An-
fwer, to diftinguifh between Acts themfelves, and
the Inferences drawn from them by the faid Ar-
ticles, and that, whenever he admits any Fact,

he may not be underftood to admit that fuch Fact
was by him done or committed upon fuch Mo-

being fifteen hundred feventy five Pounds ; and

alfo the Prefent fo fent him by the faid Thomas
Bennet, being the like Sum of Fifteen hundred fe-

venty five Pounds, into the Court of Chancery,

in open Court, to be applied for the Benefit of

the Suitors, as the Court fhould Direct, and that

the faid Earl retained of the Prefent fo fent him
by
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by the faid Francis Elde, no more than the mentioned, in which the faid Earl owns he did

Sum of One thoufand eight hundred and fifty accept a Prefent.

Pounds. X. In Anfwer to the tenth Article the faid

VIII. To the eighth Article the faid Earl fur- Earl faith, The fame is conceived in fuch genera!

ther faith, That in July laft the Office of one Terms, that it is not to be expected he mould

of the Mailers of the faid Court became vacant give any particular Anfwer thereto ; however,

by the Death oi' John Borret Efq; who died in- he faith, That, during the whole Time of his

teflate, but whether folvent or not, he cannot being Lord Chancellor, he never once took any

fay ; but upon notice of his Death, the faid Earl Money, Prefent, or Gratuity whatfoever, for or

did at firft defire Richard Godfrey Efq; one of the upon Account of the naming, making, or ad-

Mafters of the faid Court, who had been very mitting any Officer whatfoever, other than be-

well acquainted with the faid Mr. Barrett, and fore particularly named, except in the Cu Tutor's

his Affairs, and afterwards the faid Mr. Godfrey Office, where he owns he has done, as was done

and John Bennet Efquire, another of the Mailers by all his Predeceffors before him.

of the faid Court, to inquire into his Effects, XI. In Anfwer to the eleventh Article the faid

and to take what Care they could about the fame, Earl faith, That the fame not containing any

who, after fome Inquiry, informed the faid Earl, particular Charge, he apprehends himfelf not

that they believed there would be no Deficiency, obliged to give any particular Anfwer thereto ;

and fecured a confiderable Part of the Effects of but however, in general, does fay, That he ne-

the faid Mr. Borrett, and entred a proper Caveat ver did admit any Perfon into the Office of a

in the Prerogative Court, to prevent Adminiftra- Mafter of the Court of Chancery, but who was

tion being granted to any Perfons who might either known to be of Subftance and Ability,

embezzle the faid Borret's Eflate ; and afterwards, and fit to be trufted in fuch Office, or, upon a

at the Requeft of the faid Earl, proceeded fo far, proper Enquiry, very well recommended to him

as to obtain a Sentence in the faid Prerogative as fuch ; and, whenever there have been feveral

Court, for Adminiftration to be granted, for the Candidates, the faid Earl has conftantly given

Benefit of the Suitors of the Court, to them, the the Preference to him that he thought would beft

faid Mr. Bennet and Mr. Godfrey, which was af- difcharge the Office, and mod for the Honour of

terwards, upon their waving thereof, granted to the Court, and the Advantage of the Suitors

;

Mr. Paxton, as the faid Earl believes, but the and believes that he may, upon fome Occa-

faid Earl thought it proper and necefTary to ad-

mit another Mafter in his Place, to carry on

the Bufinefs of the Court, and to be intituled to

demand the Effects of the Suitors, from the Re-

prefentative of the faid Mr. Borrett, when one

fions, have declared, that he thought the then

Body of Mafters as good, with rel'pect both to

their Eftates, and Ability for Difcharge of the

Office, and their Integrity, as had been at any

time before, or to that Effect, and what he did

fhould be appointed ; and therefore, about the fay to that Purpofe, he thought to be really

fifth Day of Angus! laft, did admit and fwear true.

Mark Thurfion Efq-, into the faid Office, vacant XIT. To the twelfth Article the faid Earl faith,

by the Death of the faid Borrett, and the faid That if there was any fuch Practice as is men-

Earl admits the faid Mark Thurjlon did upon that tioned in the Article, of paying for the Places of

Occafion freely and voluntarily, and of his own the Mafters out of the Money and Effects be-

Accord, fend a Prefent, whereof two thoufand longing to the Suitors of the Court, he was to-

Pounds, and no more, were retained. tally ignorant of it ; but admits, that he did not,

IX. In Anfwer to the ninth Article the faid nor did any of his Predeceffors, that ever he

Earl faith, That he believes Thomas Bennet Efq; heard or believes, give any particular Directions

in this Article named, was poffeffed of the Of- for Schedules to be made of the Money and Ef-

fice of Clerk of the Cuftodies, in the Article de- fects of the Suitors of the Court to be delivered

fcribed, and that fuch Office is in the Gift and

Difpofal of the Crown, by Grant under the Great

Seal, but denies that he did at any time infill up-

on the Sum of one hundred and five Pounds, or

any other Sum of Money, to permit or accept

of the Refignation of the faid Thomas Bennet, or

did refufe to permit or accept thereof, until the

faid Thomas Bennet had agreed to pay the fame,

or any other Sum on that Account ; but faith,

That although the faid Office be ufually granted

by the Crown, yet it has always been looked

upon to be the Right of the Lord Chancellors,

or Lord Keepers, to recommend to that, and
other Offices under the Great Seal, and to ap-

prove and allow of the Deputies to execute the

lame ; and, upon fuch Recommendations and

over to the fucceeding Mafters, but believes, that

in virtue of the general Order of Transfer made
of courfe upon every Admittance, fuch Schedules

were made between the new Mafters and their

Predeceffors, or the Reprefentatives of their Pre-

deceffors ; and it the ill Confequences, in the

Articles alledged, had followed from fuch Prac-

tice, or the not ordering fuch Schedule, which

he does not admit, he infills that the fame could

not render him criminal.

XIII. In Anfwer to the thirteenth Article the

faid Earl faith, That after Chriflmas, in the

Year one thoufand feven hundred and twenty,

he was informed, That the faid Fleetwood Dormer

had withdrawn himfelf to Holland, where he then

was, and thereupon the faid Earl ufed all the

approving of Deputies, have accepted Prefents, propereft Methods he could for fecuring his Ef-

and looked upon the fame as their Right ; and
further faith, That there have been two of fuch

Offices granted in his Time, one of which ap-

pearing to him to be a Cafe wherein the Party

had fuffered great Hardfhip, the faid Earl palled

the fame without any Prefent whatfoever, though
the Office be of confiderable Value •, the other

was the Cafe of Mr. Hamerfey, in the Articles

fects, and particularly directed Mr. Hiccocks and

Mr. Rogers, the then two Senior Mafters of the

Court, to make an Enquiry into his Affairs and

Accounts, and to confider what would be molt

proper to be done •, and the laid Earl believes,

that the faid two Mafters, in purfuance of the

Directions from the faid Earl, did fearch the

Chambers of die faid Tleelzvocd Dormer, in Lin-

coln's-
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coln's-Inn, to fee what Books, Accounts, or Ef- fhould pay, apply, and difpofe of the faid Debt,

feels could there be met with, but found no Ac- or fuch Part thereof, as mould be, from time to

count whatfoever, nor any Effects of Value, and time, by him got in, jind received of and froni

did put a flop to the transferring of the Stock, the faid William Wilfon, in fuch manner as the

then in the Name of the faid Fleetwood Dormer, Court mould order and direct, or to that Effect %

in any of the Publick Companies •, and the faid after which faid Affignment fo made, the Earl

Fleetwood Dormer's Perfon being thus out of believes that the faid Mr. Edwards ufed great En-

Reach, and his Accounts and Effects wholly un- deavours to obtain Payment and Satisfaction of

known, except the Stock, which could not be the faid Debt from Mr. Wilfon ; but finding all

difpofed of without his Concurrence, a Propofal his Endeavours fruitlefs, and that the faid Wilfon

was fome time afcer made to the faid Earl, That had 'long before ftopt Payment, and was in no

the faid Fleetwood Dormer might have a Promife Condition of paying his Creditors the whole of

of his Liberty from the faid Earl, and upon that their Debts, but that he was willing, and had
Condition he would come over, and affign all his offered to come to a Compoficion, and to pay
Effects, and affift in getting them in, and fettling

and adjufting his Accounts •, and the faid Earl,

feeing no other Way open to get any thing for

the Suitors, and being made to believe, that if

any Deficiency mould happen, the fame would

be made up by the other Matters, did agree,

That in cafe the faid Fleetwood Dormer would

come over, and make a full Difcovery of all his

Effects, and affign the fame for the Benefit of

the Suitors, he the faid Earl would allow him his

Liberty on that Condition, and not otherwife ;

and the faid Earl was foon after informed, That

the faid Fleetwood Dormer fubmitted to thofe

Terms, and would very foon come over, and

difcover and deliver up his Effects -, and the faid

Earl did not doubt, but the whole Debt upon

the faid Fleetwood Dormer would be paid. And
the faid Earl faith, That he does not remember
that any Application was ever made to him, by
the faid Mafters of the faid Court, for any Affi-

itance of the Court, touching the Perfon or Ef-

fects of the faid Fleetwood Dormer, but what he

granted, fo far as he thought it tended to the

Benefit of the Suitors, and believes that no Ap-
plication was ever made to him by the Suitors,

them in Proportion the utmoft he was able •, the

faid Mr. Edwards thereupon, about the thirtieth

Day ofjune^ in the Year of our Lord, One thou-

fand feven hundred and twenty two, preferred his

Petition to the faid Earl, as Lord Chancellor, fet-

ting forth in Subftance the State of the Cafe, as

before- mentioned, and praying that it might be
referred to one of the Mafters of the Court, to fee

if fuch Compofition, fo propofed by the faid

William Wilfon, were for the Benefit of the Perfons

intituled to receive the fame •, and the fame was
accordingly, by Order of the faid Earl, referred

to Mr. Hiccocks, the then fenior Mafter of the

Court, to enquire into, and make his Report
therein ; and about the fix and twentieth Day of

July, then next following, the faid Mr. Hiccocks

made his Report, that the faid William Wilfon

had, under his Hand in Writing, propofed to

affign over to the faid Mr. Edwards, as a Com-
pofition for, and in full Dilcharge of, the Sum
of twenty four thoufand forty fix Pounds and
four Shillings, therein mentioned to be due and
owing from him to the faid Mr. Edwards, as

Affignee of the faid Mr. Dormer, the Sum often
thoufand Pounds, Part of a large Sum due to

or any of them, or any other, to fecure the Per- the faid William Wilfon, from Edward Poulter of

fon of the faid Fleetwood Dormer, or for compel- Hackney, Gentleman, in this Article mentioned 3

and to pay the faid Mr. Edwards in Specie, the

Sum of one thoufand four hundred fixty three

Pounds, two Shillings and one Penny, over and
above the Sum of five hundred and fixty Pounds,

then already paid to the faid Mr. Dormer, in

part of the laid Compofition , and that upon
Consideration had of the Circumftances of the

faid William Wilfon, and the faid feveral Matters,

he was of Opinion, that the accepting the faid

Compofition would be for the Benefit of the

Perfon or Perfons intitled to receive the fame ;

upon which faid Report the faid Mr. Edwards*

about the third of Augufi then next, preferred

another Petition to the faid Earl, with the faid

Report annexed, and thereby exprefly prayed the

faid Earl to order him, the faid Mr. Edwards*

ling him to make Satisfaction to the Suitors ; and
the faid Earl faith, That he never endeavoured

to conceal the true State and Condition of the

faid Office from the Suitors of the Court, nor

did any of them apply, till very lately, to the

faid Earl to look into the fame ; and further

faith, That he remembers nothing of his ever

ufing any fuch Expreffion, as is charged in the

faid Article, at any time before or after he knew
that the faid Fleetwood Dormer abfeonded.

XIV. To the Fourteenth Article the Earl faith,

That Henry Edwards, Efq-, in this Article men-
tioned, fucceeded to the Office of Mr. Dormer,
about the the eighteenth Day of May, one thou-

fand feven hundred and twenty-one ; but, by
reafon of the Diforder the faid Office was then un-
der, and the great Danger of a Lofs therein, the to accept of the faid Compofition, whereupon
Earl had given up and quitted all the Advan- the faid Earl, in a proper and ufual manner, or-

tage which might accrue to him upon the Difpo- dered the fame as prayed ; and the faid Earl

fal thereof, and left it entirely to the other Maf- faith, that he was informed, and believes, that

ters to raife what money they could thereby, the faid Compofition was made and agreed to,

which was agreed to be all applied towards ma- upon a Confultation of all or moft of the Mafters

king good any Deficiency or Lofs, which might of the faid Court, who the faid Earl did believe

happen to the Suitors of the Court concerned would ufe their beft Endeavours to get as much
in that Office •, and thereupon the Sum of five as they could ; and the faid Earl faith, he hath

thoufand Pounds was raifed, by the Difpofal of heard, and believes it to be true, that befides the

the faid Office to Mr. Edwards, and was applied one thoufand four hundred fixty three Pounds,

accordingly; and the faid Earl believes the Debt two Shillings and one Penny, then paid down,
from William Wilfon, in this Article mentioned, there hath been fince got in by Mr. Edwards*

was affigned by the faid Mr. Dormer to the faid on account of the faid Debt from Edward Poul-

Mr. Edwards IziTm&i and to the Intent, that he ter, the Sum of one thoufand Pounds, or there-

Vol. VI. 4 N aboutsi
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1

Affi in , as heexpefted, he did, about the beginning

ffcDuts J and that at the time of the ladiaiu
fcrwfef following, caufe another letter to be

ment, the faid Debt claimed by Mf* »«»
^ ^ ng th to b m heir

Wff, was a juft Debt and Judgment at ca
both the k?ers fe?t ^0 tI ,,m

has been fince obtained for cghecen thot.land
.^^ he dirc.aed the pamC ular Mc

m^^^^^S' thod in which he -™ —*
•j n-w-U.** ^f the faid Wtlforfs Debt

oToidTa men~tof the faid» Debt,

which arofe on account of their Deahng.*»*£
5« Stock, and Subfcnptions in the Year one

thoufand feven hundred and twenty,

made up ; but the faid Earl, being afterwards

convinced how difficult and tedious a Work it

would be, and what Gbitruction it would give

to the Bufinefs of the Court, and that at hit it

thoutana ievcu "-,.>...- _ : Chancery, could not be depended upon with any Certainty,

Poulter not only brought his Bill^ha"c* r

£ was forced to lay afide that Defign, and to con-

but, after the fame was difmiflcd, and that he ^^ ^ &oing on ^ the , R d

was taken in Execution at mfon \^n*%^om ^.^ ^ predecefiors nad done • and humbly

mon Law, he found means to make his Wcape ^ ^^^ That what has been lately

out of the Cuftody of the Marfhal ox the court ^ ^ ft ^ the Accounts of the faid

of King's Bench, and to get over ^trance or ^^ ^ infuperabie Difficulties

ifc//W, where he ftill cont.nues, as the
tiouana, wncic iu. •<-'" «-"——7-7 , , f

informed; but he is^^V^f^^
ter the faid Efcape, a Commifiion of Bank^ptcy

was taken out againft him by the faid Wilfon

upon which fome Effefts were recovered, and

likewife anAclion at Law brought and a Ver

dicl: and Judgment for eighteen thouftnd Pounds

and upwards
6
obtained by the M^?& *M part of the Money brought before Mr. Dor

fon againft the Marfhal, on account of the laid t
remember that the hid Henry Ed-

y
Efca|e •, and faith he hath likewife been inform- ^rtll any Complaint thereof to the faid

ed, That the faid Edward Poulter and the Mai- / Mr _ £dwar^ not having then

lhal have each of them offered confiderable Sums £ ^ ^^ of ^^^ in his Hands,

of Money by way of Compofition for the laid
f and dmt in yft/ fol.

Debt; but the faid W^, from a Perfuafion of reluied l^^^^
^ the Ardcks named

of fuch an Undertaking.

XVI. To the fixteenth Article the Earl faith,

That he believes that, on or about the feven-

teenth of March, one thoufand feven hundred

and twenty three, fuch Order was made as m

the faid Article is mentioned, for Henry Edwards

Efq; to pay Elizabeth Chilly one thoufand Pounds,

the Abilities of the faid Edward Potdter to pay ^ ^ ^ &^ [

the Whole, did at firft refufe any Compofition appJ ed n ^^ ^^ ^ ^ ^ ^
with the faid Poulter, and fince hath been afraid

^ ^ ^ ^ Qne thoufa.nd Founds , al-

to make any Compofition, «&a "™™"'™*
kdg'ing that he the faid Mr. Lochman was to

the Marfhal; and what may be the Conlequence &* ^ tha£ he had made a Compofi-

thereof, with regard to the Suitors of the Court,
,

j^ ^ CredhorSs upon which one thoufand

or what further Sums of Money may be reco- ^ ^ be paid ifl ^ort time

vered upon account of the faid Debt, towards
r

, (>-Jr-cL£ii— «-!,,=> T7jrl fairh. he
making them Satisfaftion, the Earl faith, he

cannot with any Certainty take upon him to an-

XV To the fifteenth Article the Earl

faith That about the Month of February, in the

Year of our Lord one thoufand feven hundred

and twenty, he gave Orders to his Secretary to

which he then mentioned; and that he the faid

Mx. Lochman was to have the faid one thoufand

Pounds for that Purpofe ; and that, if he had it

not by the Time, the Compofition would be

void, and he fhould be utterly ruined ; and at

length the faid Earl, being greatly moved by the

preffing Importunities of the faid Mr. Lochman,

and twenty, he gave Orders to his Secretary to ^""6^ ^ for the ve reaC Dihrefs m
write to the feveral Matters of the Court of and by c

^ dJd . fc

Chancery, to bring in their Accounts of the which h P^..^
one thouhnd Pounds

Cafh, Effecls, and Securities in their Hands, be- lupp^y
and accordingly direaed

lon-ing to the Suitors of the Court, and believes

he did fo, but denies that the fame was done

with any unjuft Purpofe, or with any Thought

to terrify the faid Mafters to make any Contri-

bution, towards fatisfying the Demands upon the

out of his own Pocket, and accordingly directed

Mr. Collinzham, then his Secretary, to pay it,

taking from the faid Mrs. Chilly an Affignment

of the Benefit of the faid Order, and believes

the fame was done accordingly ; and that upon

bution, towards fatisfying the Demands upon the ™™
J™, f

°
further Sum for the

faid Office of Fleetwood Dormer, but beheves ^d ^fS/^ or h°er own Ufe, the faid Earl

what they did contribute, they paid freely and ^f^jj^^hat the faid one thoufand Pounds

voluntarily, and out of their own Money, and m gh t IH.im t a^ ^ ^ ^^ ^

therein, as the faid Earl believes, did no more ™s all tha he^n P ^ ^^
than follow a Precedent of the like Nature on and the fa id Ear does

MafteK ^ ^
the Failure of Dr. Eddisbury,.formerly a Matter any^Di courie

pounds ^
of the faid Court ; and the faid Earl faith, That «£m^*J
his real and whole Intention in calling for the faid Mr̂ °~

fhe ]aft Branch of the faid Article

Accounts, was to inform himlelt, in the belt
he Fa6l waSi tj,at one

manner he was able, of the State and Condition the &»d *arl a^th t ^
of the feveral Offices, and thereby to be the bet- 7^«,

t", ^0 firmed the beft Purchafcr of

ter able to make proper Regulations concerning ™'^ ^ t£

C

f r>^^ at the Price of

the fame ; and therefore though the fa.d Article pa« of ^f^ ° ^ fo long ago as

feems to infinnate, as if the calling for the fa d wo ^|^ ^ one thoufand feve„

Accounts was dropped, as f^ « ^ h nd'ed and feventeen, and it being at the fame

teMS53^^ S tLAhe Tenants fi,uld attorn , him, on
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his bringing his Purchafe Money before Mr. that the fame would ali in due time be made
Dormer, then one of the Mailers, and the faid good, and as Mr. Dormer's, Effects were coming
Money having been brought before the faid Ma- in by degrees, and no Application was made to

Iter the twenty fourth Day of December, one him by any of the Perfons concerned, to put a

thoufand feven hundred and feventeen, and the flop to, or any Reftraint upon, the Payments,

Tenants, having attorned to Jackman, but the he did not think it incumbent upon him, ex Of-
Conveyances not being then executed, though ficio, to make a Declaration of an Average. And
long before approved, a Motion was made in the the faid Earl faith, That he does not know that

Court of Chancery before the faid Earl on the any Order was made by him for Mr. Edwards to

fifth Day of December laft, that all Parties might pay any Money that had been lodged with Mr.
execute the Conveyances, and the two hundred Dormer, except the Order aforementioned, in the

and fixty Pounds be paid to the Plaintiff, to- Cafe of Chitty, but believes feveral Orders have

wards Satisfaction of a Demand fhe had out of been made by the Court for that Purpofe, and

the Eflate of the faid Harper ; and thofe that that the faid Mr. Edwards, under a firm Perfua-

were to have the Refiduum of the faid T. Har- fion that the whole Deficiency would be made
fer's Eflate, infilled, that they were always ready good, paid out the whole Sums fo ordered, fo

to join in the Conveyances, if the Purchafe Mo- far as the Money then in his Hands would extend,

ney were applied to difcharge the refl of the XVIII. To the eighteenth Article the faid

Eflate, that they were apprehenfive of a Defi- Earl faith, he never knew how the Maflers kept

ciency of Mr. Dormer's Eflate, and therefore or difpofed of the Money and Effects belonging

neither they nor the Plaintiff ought to be Suf- to the Suitors of the Court; and as he believes,

ferers by fuch Deficiency, the Delay having been that after Dr. Eddisbury's Failure, the then Lord
occasioned by the Purchafer, and not by the Chancellor, fo he knows that after Mr. Dormer's

Plaintiff, and therefore fcrupled executing the misfortune, the Earl thought of feveral methods

Deeds, unlefs upon Payment of the Money to to prevent any Inconvenience upon the like Ac-
the Plaintiff, and difcharging the refl of the cident for the future ; but they had both the fame

Eflate therefrom ; and this being the firfl Time misfortune, not to bring any of them to fuch

that any Queftion relating to Mr. Dormer's Defi- perfection, as to venture to put them in practice,

ciency had been laid before the Court, by any of That feveral Propofals were made to him by
the Suitors, the faid Earl took notice of its being the Perfons he confulted upon that Occafion, but

fo, and believes he might exprefs himfelf to this none that he believes, it will be held criminal not

Effect, That he had indeed heard of the faid to have then eftablifhed ; fome things were pro-

Dormer's Deficiency, but that it had never yet pofed that he thought impracticable, fome infuf-

come judicially before him, upon Complaint of ficient, fome inconliftent with that compleat Re-
any of the Suitors of the Court ; and further de- gulation he hoped to make, the Objects he pro-

clared, That if there fhould be any Deficiency in pofed to himfelf, were to provide for whatever

his Office, feveral Circumftances had concurred Deficiency might happen in the Office late Mr.
thereto, as JVilfon the Banker's flopping Pay- Dormer's, to fecure the Suitors from any fo-

ment, greatly indebted to him, Poulter's going ture Lofs, and to make feveral Regulations rela-

away in Wilfon's Debt eighteen thoufand Pounds, ting to the Offices of the Maflers, and he thought
and upwards, after a Verdict and Judgment at thefe would be beft done together, nor had he
Law, and Poulter in actual Execution for it

;

perfected the Scheme of any one of them to his

and that, as he had heard, Wilfon had then lately own Satisfaction; he remembers no Propofal,

brought an Action of Efcape againfl the Mar- that he thought would take it totally out of the

ihal, and recovered a Verdict againfl him for the Power of the Maflers, to difpofe of the Securi-

like Sum j and how all thefe Matters would at ties or Effects, or effectually fecure the Cafh.

laft come out, the faid Earl faid he did not know, The faid Earl admits, that he did not demand
or he expreffed himfelf to that Effect, and no any Security to be given by any of the faid

other ; and thereupon ordered, that it fhould be Maflers at the time of their Admittance, be-

referred to Mr. Edwards, to examine whether the caufe it had not been done by his Predeceffors,

faid two hundred and fixty Pounds was depofited who were much wifer Men than himfelf, nor
with Mr. Dormer for the Benefit of any particu- was he fo much as afked by any of the Parties

lar Perfon, and whom, and what was the Occa- interefled fo to do ; as to what the faid Earl did
fion of the Delay, that the faid Conveyances with relation to the Accounts of the faid Maflers,

were not executed, and the faid two hundred and he hath already fet forth, and faith, That he
fixty Pounds, Purchafe Money, paid out before gave no Permiffion nor Encouragement to the

the Year one thoufand feven hundred and twen- Maflers of the Court, to employ or traffick

ty ; and whether there was likely to be a Lofs with the Suitors money for their own Gain o.r

of any Money depofited with the faid Mr. Dor- Profit ; he owns, that with refpect to the Secu-
mer, and that upon the Mailer's Report fuch rities in the Hands of the Maflers, he made no
further Order fhould be made, as fhould be juft

;

general Order, and thinks it the lefs material,

and the faid Earl hopes the faid Order was very becaufe, notwithflanding what is alledged in the

proper and neceffary, and takes the Liberty of Clofe of this Article, he believes all the prefent

reprefenting to your Lordfhips, That this was Maflers did, in December laft, produce all the

after the Accounts of the Maflers had been laid Securities in their Hands, and the Court of Chan-
by the faid Earl before the Lords of the Coun- eery hath fince fecured the fame for the Benefit

cil, and had been for fome Time under the Con- of the Suitors.

fideration of the Judges and others, appointed by XIX. To the nineteenth Article the faid Earl

His Majefty to infpect the fame. faith, That upon great Confideration of Mr.
> XVII. To the feventeenth Article the Earl Dormer's Deficiency, and of the Danger there

faith, That he never endeavoured to conceal the might be of further Inconveniences, with relation

Deficiency occafioned by Mr. Dormer's Failure, to the Money and Effecfs in the Hands of the

but as the faid Earl was under a full Perfuafion, Maflers,
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Mafters, and of feveral Difputes and Differences fo many Men's Mouths were open agamft them
that had arifen in the Court of Chancery, and of as Infolvent, it would be for their Honour and
fome Applications of the faid Mafters, for efta- Intereft to make it appear, that they were able

blifhing them in their juft Rights, and of fome and Sufficient, as he then believed them to be,

Practices of the Mafters, which the faid Earl but never thought of a Contrivance to have them
thought ought to be reformed-, he was convinced, Deceitfully appear or feem what they really were

that the fame was a work of too great Confcquence not ; and he fays they did then withdraw to make
for him fingly to attempt, and being highly fen- the Subfcription, or at leaft fo many of them
fible of his moft facred Majefty's paternal Good- whofe Accounts were then ready ; and foon after

nefs to his people, did prefume humbly to be- delivered them to the faid Earl, who carried them
feech his Majefty, as the Fountain of Juftice,

to depute fome of His moft Honourable Privy

Council, to take the matters aforefaid into Con-

fideration, in order to the eftablifhing fuch Regu-

lations, as might tend to the Honour of that High
Court, and to the Advantage of his Majefty's Sub-

jects being Suitors there ; which Requeft, His

Majefty, out of His wonted Goodnefs, was pleafed

to receive very gracioufly, and named feveral

Lords, and other Honourable Perfons of His
Privy Council, to be a Committee, to take the

with him to the Committee of Council, whither

he was then going, without looking upon them ;

but upon reading them at the Council, it was
obferved that they had not all ufed the fame
Words, having varied confiderably, but what any

of the Subfcriptions- were, he cannot take upon
him to fet forth.

And the faid Earl further faith, that a fubfe-

quent Order being made by the faid Earl, for

the faid Mafters to produce their Securities, and
their Caffi, before the Perfons appointed to In-

fame into Confideration ; and purfuant to His fpect their Accounts, they made great Complaint,

Majefty's Command, the faid Committee met, that fo.many hundred thoufand Pounds fhould

and began with the Accounts of the faid Mafters, be required at fo fhort a Warning, and fome of

wherein the faid Earl begs leave to appeal to fuch them faying, that though they had Effects fuffi-

o'f your Lordfhips, who attended in that Con> cient, and could raife the Whole, if they had

mittee, whether he did not contribute to the ut- a little Time, delired the faid Earl to allow them
moft ofhis Power, to have every thing done which further Time for that Purpofe ; but the faid Earl

the faid Committee thought expedient : And the faith, that he required them to beftir themfelves,

faid Earl faith, that he made all fuch Orders as and raife it immediately, telling them that fince

were by them judged requifite, and fo preffed the they had Effects to give Security, they might
Execution thereof, that not only the Accounts of find Friends to furnifh the Money; and be-

all the Mafters then in being were brought in, but lieves he did fay, that fome of their own Bre-

all the Securities in all their Hands, and the Cafh thren might perhaps be able to let them have

of moft of them were actually lodged in the Bank Money till they could raife it another Way.
of England, and therefore the faid Earl is greatly But if any of them did fupply others with Cafh.

furprized, to find himfelf charged with obftructing or Effects to produce, only to make a falfe Shew
the taking thofe Accounts, which he had thus de- and Appearance of their Ability, and Readinefs

fired might be taken, and contributed to the tak- to anfwer the Ballance of their Accounts, the

ing of them with all his Power. And the faid

Earl faith, That he never thought of preventing

a parliamentary Enquiry, any otherwife, than by

making it unneceffary, and procuring to the Sui-

tors a full Redrefs of all their Grievances, and rec-

titying whatever he found amifs, and that he look-

faid Earl knows nothing of it, and is fure they

had not the leaft Encouragement from him fo to do.

XX. To the twentieth Article the faid Earl

faith, that it never entered into his Thoughts,

to make ufe of, nor did he ever make ufe of

any of the Money belonging to the Suitors of the

ed upon to be his Duty, and begs leave to fay it Court, for his own private Advantage, but be-

here once for all, in anfwer to all the feveral

Infinuations of that kind contained in the Ar-
ticles.

And the faid Earl further faith, that while the

faid Accounts were taking, every one of the faid

Mafters declared over and over, that they had
Effects fufficient to anfwer their whole Accounts,

lieves, that in December, One thoufand feven

hundred and twenty, having Occafion for the

Sum of One thoufand five hundred Pounds, and

asking his Secretary, Mr. Cottingham, whether he

could lend him the fame, he faid he could not,

but would procure it for him, and accordingly

borrowed the fame from Mr. Godfrey, one of the

and the faid Earl firmly believed the fame to be Mafters of the faid Court, and the faid Earl gave

true, and as all of them, that he faw (which he his own Note for Payment thereof to the faid

believes were all, or at leaft all but Mr. Kynafton) Mr. Godfrey, and in February following repaid One
had told the faid Earl, that they were able to an- thoufand Pounds, part of the faid principal Sum >

fwer their Accounts; and when they brought but in the fame Month of February, One thou-

their Accounts to the faid Earl, for him to lay fand feven hundred and twenty, upon a frefh Oc-
before the faid Committee, Mr. Holford had wrote cafion borrowed again Part of the faid One thou-

under his Account fome Declaration to that Ef- fand Pounds fo paid back, and a Note or Notes
feet, and fome others of them, as he remembers, were given for the Payment thereof ; and fome
had made ufe of fome other Exprefllons, which Time after the Earl ordered the whole Money
he thought not fo proper; and fome, as he be- borrowed of the faid Mr. Godfrey to be paid, with

lieves, had wrote nothing (but he cannot diftin- all the Intereft due for the fame ; and the faid

guifh the Perfons) and the faid Earl thinking that Godfrey received the Principal, but would not be

when the faid Accounts came to be laid before prevailed upon to take the Intereft, or any Part

the Committee of Counfel by him, it would be thereof: and the faid Earl faith, that all the faid

proper that the fame Thing fhould be declared to money was repaid within the Compafs of a Year,

the Committee, which had been faid to him fingly, after it was borrowed ; and the faid Earl declares,

he advifed them all to write the fame Words un- that he never received or borrowed any Sums of

der their Accounts, and did tell them, in great money whatfoever of any of the Mafters of

Sincerity and Friendfhip, that at a Time when the laid Court, except as above fet forth.

XXI
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XXI. To the One and twentieth Article the faid

Earl faith, that upon the ftrifteft Preview of his own

Behaviour, during the Time he had the Honour of

ferving his moft Sacred Majefty in the Office of Lord

Chancellor, he is not confcious to himfelf that he ever

did, in any illegal or arbitrary manner, extend his Pow-

er, or the Power of the Court, beyond their lawful and

juft Bounds, or that he did arbitrarily or illegally al-

fume to himfelf, as Lord Chancellor, or by Colour

of his Office, any unjuft and unlimited Power of

difpenfingwith, fufpending, or controuling the Laws

or Statutes of this Realm, or that he any ways op-

preffed the Suitors of the Court, or was guilty of any faid Robert Boyley, that upon the eighteenth Day of

491
him Receiver becaufe of his own Refpeft for him,
but becaufe he was named by the faid John- Tyfon,
who was Uncle of the faid Infant, and Executor ot
his Father's Will in Truft for him, and by the fame
Will appointed his Guardian in cafe of his Mother's
Death or Marriage, and to whom the faid Tcftator
had devifed the faid Eftate, in cafe of the Death of
the faid Infant without Iffue Male, and whofe l"n-

tereft it therefore was to take Care of the Infant's

Intereft in that particular -, and the faid John Tyfon
and Sir Csfar Child (whofe Daughter the faid John
Tyfon had married) had fuch Confidence in him the

Breach or Violation of the Rights or Liberties of the

Subject, or of his own Oath, as Lord Chancellor:

And with regard to the particular Complaint againft

him in this Article, the faid Earl faith, that Rachel

'Tyfon, in the Article named, as the Earl is informed,

caufed a Bill to be exhibited in the Court of Chan-

cery, in the Name of her Son and Daughter, in the

faid Article likewife mentioned, by their Pro-

chien Amy, againft herfelf, and the faid John Tyfon

and others, to have the Trufts in the Will of her

late Husband duly performed ; and the fame was

brought to Hearing at the Rolls the feventh Day of

July, One thoufand feven hundred and eighteen, and

by the Decree then made, it was amongft other

Things ordered, upon the Prayer (as the faid Earl

March, One thoufand feven hundred and eighteen,

they entred into a Recognizance, together wich him,
in the Penalty of feven thoufand Pounds, for the

faid Robert Boyley's duly accounting for and paying
the money he fhould receive out of the faid Infant's

Eftate ; and the faid Earl faith, that no Complaint
was ever made to the faid Earl againft the faid Ro-
bert Boyley to the Time of his Death, but he owns
that he hath heard, that upon the Mafter's Stating

the Accounts fince Chriflmas laft, there does appear
due from the faid Robert Boyley about Two thoufand
and five or fix hundred Pounds, but believes there is

not any Fear or Doubt but that the fame is very well

fecured by the faid Recognizance.

And the faid Earl faith, that he does not remem-
hath heard and believes) of the Counfel employ'd by ber the particular Expreffions ufed by the Counfel or

the faid Rachel Tyfon, that a Receiver fhould be ap-

pointed of the Rents and Profits of the Real Eftate,

who was to have a Salary allowed him, and Power to

let and fet the faid Eftate, as there fhould be Occafion,

with the Approbation of the Mafter, to whom the

Caufe was referred : and the faid Earl faith, that an

Execution of that Part of the Decree, which direct-

ed a Receiver to be appointed, the Mafter having

certified that he had appointed John Nicholas, Efq;

to be the Receiver of the Rents and Profits of the

faid Eftate, the faid John Tyfon, thinking himfelf

aggrieved thereby, did, in the ufual Courfe of Pro-

ceedings in the faid Court, caufe Exceptions to be

filed againft the fame, and upon the arguing thereof

before the faid Earl, by Courtfel of both Sides, Affi-

davits were read, to fliew that the faid John Ni-

cholas was an improper Perfon ; that the faid Tef-
tator had declared in his Life-Time, that the faid

John Nicholas by Name fhould not have any Thing
to do with the management of his Eftate ; and that

a confiderable Part thereof confifted in old Houfes
and Water-Works: and the faid Earl, uDon a full

Hearing of both Parties, was of Opinion that the

faid John Nicholas ought not to be appointed the Re-
ceiver ; and upon the Propofal of the hid John Tyfon, infiflTupon the Benefit of his Majefty's moft gracious

then in Court, order'd Robert Boyley, Efq; to be and general Free Pardon, granted to all his Subjects

Receiver, he giving Security to be approved of by the (not therein exceptedJ in and by an Aft of Parliament

faid Mafter-, which Order was made, as he believes, for that Purpofe made in the feventh Year of his

on the fifteenth of January, in the Year One thoufand Majefty's Reign, in Bar of, and in his Defence againft

feven hundred and eighteen ; and affirmed upon the the faid Impeachment, and the faid Articles exhi-

Re-arguing the faid Exceptions on the fixth of March, bited in maintenance thereof, and all and every the

in the Year One thoufand feven hundred and eighteen ; Proceedings thereupon, fo far as the fame extend to

fince which Time the Parties interefted have never any Negleft, Offence, or Mifdemeanor, or fuppofed

thought fit to complain thereof to your Lordfhips by Negleft, Offence, or Mifdemeanor, or any other Aft,

Appeal, in order to have it reverfed, as miftaken or Matter, or Thing, fuffered, done, or committed, or

himfelf, upon arguing or re-arguing the faid Excep-
tions, but he cannot believe that any Counfel of great

Ability and Experience in the faid Court, would have

thought what the faid Earl did extraordinary, much
le'fs would have ufed fuch an Exprefiion to the faid Earl

as in the Articles, which is an indecent Cenfure of

his Proceedings •, and here being a Decree in this

Cafe, approved of by all Parties, that a Receiver

fhould be appointed to receive the Rents and Profits

of the Infant's Eftate, the laid Earl is at a Lofs toun-

derftand, how the fixing on the Perfon to be the Re-

ceiver, upon good Security, to account for and pay

the fame for the Infant's Ufe, is Reviving the Courc

of Wards, whofe Bufinefs it was to take the Rents and

Profits of the Infant's Eftate for the King's Ufe, with-

out accounting for any of them to the Infant, but

barely providing a maintenance for him, at the Dis-

cretion, perhaps of fome Grantee of the Cuftody,

Thus the faid Earl has laid his Cafe before your

Lordfhips, and doth further, for anfwer to all the

faid Articles, fay, that he is not guilty of all or any

of the matters contained in the faid Articles, or any

of them, in manner and Form as they are therein

charged againft him ; and the faid Earl doth further

unjuft, though now the making thereof is complained
of as a crime ; and the faid Earl is not afhamed to

own, that he was very well acquainted with the faid

Robert Boyley for fome Years before the faid Order,
and believed him to be a Perfon of great Honour
and Integrity, Application and Exaftnefs, and be-

lieves there are feveral Perfons of Diftinftion to whom
he had the Honour to be known, who had the fame
Opinion of him ; but the faid Earl did not appoint
Vol. VI.

omitted, by him the faid Earl, before the four and

twentieth Day of July, in the Year One thoufand fe-

ven hundred and twenty one, and doth humbly in-

fift, that no Evidence ought to be given againft him

for or concerning any of the Matters or Things afore-

faid, in and by the did Aft pardoned, or any of them ;

and doth aver, that he is not within any of the Ex-

ceptions in the faid Aft contained.

Macclesfield.
The

4 O



49 » ipy. 7fo 7Vi^/ of Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, 70 G.I.

The Commons REPLICATION to the Anfwer of Thomas Earl of Macclesfield.

">HE Commons have confidered the Anfwer of

Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, to the Articles

exhibited againft him by the Knights, Citizens,

and Burgeffes in Parliament affembled, and obferve,

that the'faid Earl hath induftrioufly avoided giving a

direct and particular Anfwer to feveral matters pofi-

tively and certainly alledged againft him in the faid

Articles, which, from the Nature of the Facts them-

felves, muft neceffarily lie in his own Knowledge, and

hath attempted to dilguife and cover the real Crimes

laid to his Charge, by immaterial and evafive Infi-

nuations of Facts of a different Nature ; and that

many Farts of the faid Anfwer are contradictory to,

and inconfiftent with each other, upon which they

mi°-ht demand your Lordfhips immediate Judgment

:

Yet theCommons being able to maintain the Truth and

Juftice of their Accufation, are willing to enter into

the due Examination thereof : and do aver their Charge

of High Crimes and Mifdemeanors againft the faid

Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield to be true, and that the

faid Earl is Guilty, in fuch Manner as he ftands im-

peached •, and that the Commons will be ready to

prove their Charge againft him, at fuch convenient

time as fhall be appointed for that Purpofe.

Lord C. J. King. Gentlemen of the Houfe of Com-
mons, you may proceed as you pleafe.

Sir G. Oxenden. My Lords, the Commons of Great

Britain in Parliament affembled have, out of their indif-

penfible Duty to his Sacred Majefty, and Zeal for the

Security of the Eftates and Properties of their Fellow-

Subjefts, exhibited a Charge of High Crimes and Mif-

demeanors againft the Earl of Macclesfield, late Lord

Chancellor of Great Britain, complaining of many

dangerous and corrupt Practices, many grievous and

heinous Offences committed againft the good and

wholefome Laws and Statutes of this Realm.

The firft and principal Accufation of the Commons
is, That the Earl at the Bar, whilft he continued in the

Office of Chancellor, did illegally and corruptly infift

upon, and take ofdivers Perfons, feveral great and ex-

orbitant Sums ofMoney, in order to, and before their

Admiffion into their Offices of Mafters in Chancery -,

and that thofe Offices concern the Adminiftration of

Juftice in that Court.

This, my Lords, is a Charge of the deepeftDye;

The Crime alledged ftrikes at the very Root of Govern-

ment itfelf-, it is the Effence and Stability of Society,

that Juftice fhould be adminifter'd with Clearnefs and

Impartiality, that the People may fit eafy under the

Wings and Protection of the Laws, and their Proper-

ties be guarded from unjuft Invafions. In the Progrefs

of the Charge your Lordfhips will obferve, That al-

moft all the other Crimes and Mifdemeanors, of which

this noble Perfon ftands accufed, are fubfervient to this

chief Defign of amaffing together vaft and immenfe
Sums of Money, and that they have a tendency to ad-

vance the Price of thefe Offices : Whether they be acts

of unjuft Oppreffion ; of wilful Neglect ; or of partial

and unequal Adminiftration of Juftice; whether they

be acts of open Violation ofDuty, or of fecret and pri-

vate Intrigue to elude the publick Juftice of the King-
dom : Your Lordfhips will find thefe Arrows drawn
all from the fame Quiver, dipt in the fame deadly

Poifon, and directed to the fame Mark.
In order to fet this in the cleareft light, I muft go on

and obferve, That the Commons charge in the next

place, That infufficient Perfons were found out and
pitched upon, to be admitted Mafters of the Court

;

Men of fmall Subftance and Ability ; no ways fit to be
entrufted with the great Sums of Money and Effects
lodged in their refpective Flands.

My Lords, the natural Qualities and Endowments
requifite to recommend Men to fo great a truft ought
to have been Flonefty and Probity ; the acquir'd ones,
thofe of Knowledge and Experience ; without a due
Mixture of thefe it was very hazardous to admit any
into truft: But no doubt Credit and Competency of
Fortune were Ingredients perfectly neceflary ; becaufe
whatever Lofs, or Misfortune, might attend the Ma-
nagement of a Matter fo accomplifhed, in the ordering
the Suitors Money, here might be fome Provifion com-
ing out of hisEftate to make Reparation. Your Lord-
fhips will, noqueftion, at the firft View, ihink it car-

ries an odd Appearance, when this unfortunate Earl had
refolved within himfelf, at all Hazards, to raife exorbi-

tant and immenfe Treafuresoutofthe Saleand Difpofal
of the Mafters Places, how it fhould anfwer his corrupt
Defigns to admit into them Perfons of fmall Subftance,
and fome of almoft defperate Fortunes, utterly unable
to lay down the vaft Prices thofe Offices were fold for at

publick Auction : But, my Lords, theVaftnefsof the

Price was no Objection, or Difcouragement, to a Per-

fon already undone, provided he might be made eafy in

the manner of Payment, and run no Hazards. Men
of Subftance might very well be afraid to Prefent, as

his Lordfhip's Phrafe is, a whole Eftate at once for an
uncertain and precarious Profpect, either ofSuccefs in

the Office, or of Life, or Health, to enjoy it •, fo that

the fitteft Engines and Inftruments to effect the noble

Lord's Purpofes, were Men of fmall and (nattered Cir-

cumftances. And therefore the Commons go on and
charge, That there wasa fraudulent and unwarrantable

Method made ufe of in paying for the Mafters Offices

out of the very Money belonging to the innocent Sui-

tors of the Court.—That this Practice was notorious

and publick, and the Perfon at the Bar well acquainted

therewith. Your Lordfhips now obferve, That the

greateft Difficulty of all to an indigent Perfon, viz, the

Payment of the Money, was, by this dangerous and

unjuftifiable Contrivance, totally removed, and when a

Man was neither to be out ofPocket himfelf, nor thrown
into any Fears and Apprehenfions of being queftioned

for mifapplying the Suitors Money, is it at all to be

wondered at, that the price of thefe Offices fhould fwell

to that Bignefs, as long to be the topick of Converfation

in the World about us, and at laft become the Subject

of a national Enquiry? This fcandalous Method of

Payment is of the moil malignant Kind, and a Suitor

is, contrary to theLaw of Nature, made the Inftrument

of his own Deftruction ; his Subftance which ought to

be his Support and Relief, is turned to his Oppreffion,

or if Part only be taken from him, it is in order to

arm another to difpolfefs him of the Reft. The great

Perfon, whofe Duty it is to protect his Property, is

the Promoter of his lofs, and is the more unpardona-

ble in it, as he turns that lofs to his own Advantage.

If it be a thing univerfally condemn'd, for xa Perfon

in the Earl's late high Station, to borrow a Suitor's

Money without his Knowledge, notwithftandinghe of-

fers a moderate Intereft for it, becaufe it is encoura-

ging the Mafters, by his own Example, to lend out

Sums with as much Juftice to other People, How in-

finitely greater is this Offence ? If it be a Crime to

put Mens properties to hazard, how much blacker is it

to take them to one's felf, and incorporate the Widow's

Mite with one's own Heap ! But, my Lords, when
fuch
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fuch prodigious Sums were extorted from the Matters, was necefiary fbme meafures fhould be immediately con-
could it be any Myftery how they were to re-imburfe certed to prop and iupport this tottering Office 5 and
themfclves ? For although they paid no Money of their therefore, my Lords, you will now find him armin
own, yet they made themfclves accountable for what himfelfwith the Weapons ofAuthority and uncontrouH
they ufed of the Suitors ; was it not an obvious Con- able power, and playing the Tyrant under the fpecious
fideration, That if they dared pay for their Employ- pretence and colour of Duty. For the Commons go
ments with part of the Truft-Money, they meant to on and charge, that the Perfon at the Bar, during the

traffick and game with the remainder too ? They came time he was Lord Chancellor, made an Order for the

in Matters upon fuch Terms, for no other Purpofebut Matters to bring in their refpeftive Accounts ofthe Cafn
to pillage and fleece thofe under their Care. What andSecuritiesin their Hands; (a veryproper Infpeftion,

mutt be the natural and unavoidable Confequence of no doubt, had it been well defigned) but your Lord-
lodging in their Hands fuch uncontroulable and licen- fhips will obferve the Charge is, That this was done to

tious Power over their Cam, but that thefirft ill Run terrify and induce the Matters to contribute money to-

would cruih them at once, and pave the Way to great wards Dormer's Deficiency ; to conceal the true State of
Deficiencies! But left the profpeft of fo calamitous a the Deficiency from the Knowledge of the World :

Cafe fhould deter the moft greedy from contracting for and they further alledge, That in purfuance of this in-

a Matter's place on Terms the moft inviting, you will timidating Order, money was contributed for that

fee, in the Series of this Affair, what Shifts, what Arti- purpofe, part ofwhich we mall prove to be paid fince

fices were employed, to hide fuch a miferable Scene the aft of Grace, on the nth of sluguft, 172 1, and
from the Eyes of the World. For the Commons in that thofe Accounts were not infifted upon after that,

the next place charge, That Fleetwood Bonner, Efq; My Lords, This propofal met with its deferved Oppo-
having embezzled great part of the Effefts belonging fition from the Matters ; however, the appreheniion

to the Suiters of the Court, died, indebted to them in of lofing the Cafh and Effects prevailed at laft, the point

divers Sums of Money, amounting in the whole to was carried, and a Sum accordingly contributed. When
25000/. and upwards ; that the noble Lord at the Bar your Lordttiips have but juft now feen that there was a

has not made any proper Inquiry into Dormer's Defied very vifible, and defigned Neglect in forbearing to in-

ency, taken no Care about his Effefts, but has endea- quire into Dormer's Effects, and to go to the Bottom
voured to hide and conceal, from the Suitors, the State of his Deficiency ; is it to be imagined, that this cal-

and Condition of the Office, and that this Concealment ling for the State of their Accounts cou'd be done out

was, left a publick Difcovery of the Deficiency might of Vigilance and Duty? No man can think fo ; were
lelTen theunjuft Gains he propofed to himfelf from the they ever infifted upon after the Contribution ? His
faleoftheMafters places. Your Lordttiips obferve here, Lordftiip knows they never were ; if the real Defiga

That one Accufation is, a great and manifeft Negleft in was to fearch and examine them, it was as proper a time

the Execution and Difcharge of his Duty ; a wilful and to do it after the nth of Auguft as before, no body
deliberate Neglect ; not arifing from the Infirmity of believes they were in a better Condition, the Mafters had
human Nature, but growing out of the Corruption of the fame free power of their Cafh, and the Perfon at the

it ; mitigated by no one Shadow of Excufe, but aggra- Bar had as deep a Senfe of his Duty after that day fure,

vated by the Attendance of 'many forefeen ill Confe- as before. IfthemifbehaviourofDoTwrgaveoccafion
quences. If an Office abufed in the moft fatal Man- to this defigned Infpeftion into the general Condition

ner, on the Brink and precipice of utter Deftruftion, of the other Offices, how came it about the Defign

was not a proper Object of his immediate Infpeftion, was never carried into practice, till his Majefty, out

no wonder the moft profperous Offices did not deferve of Companion and paternal Goodnefs to his opprelTed

his Care ; what Matter, who was an Eye-Witnefs of People gave directions for that End ? The Deficiency

this, would be under that decent and necefiary Awe of of Dormer continues (till, and yet the Earl impeached

the prefiding Perfon, and keep himfelf within thejuft has made no Regulations in the Offices, examined no
Bounds and Limits of his Office? This, my Lords, is Accounts during the Time he remained in that high

indeed a wilful Negleft: But if you look on it in an- Pott-, nor {tt up any Lights, or Land-marks, where-

other Light, in order to conceal the Deficiency, that by the prefent deficient Mafters might have cleared the

the Value of the Mafters Places might not be run down, Rocks on which they have fplit. No, my Lords, this

it will appear, in its worft Colours, an Artifice to fup- was only a pretence of regulating-, a Diffimulation of

port and carry on a Fraud, a Contempt ofDuty for the Duty, for the better Concealment of Dormer's Frauds,

fake of Corruption. The Series of the Accufation will Befides, the Propofal that the Mafters fhould contribute

evidently Ihew, that the Earl's Heart wasfet upon this to the patching up a Deficiency in another's Office, is

Concealment ; for we fhall now find him beginning to unjuft in itfelf, and fatal in its Confequence. Can any

difplay his utmoft Ingenuity ; here was an Accident, thing be more repugnant to Juftice than to oblige one

which, unlefs great Care were taken, would entirely fru- Perfon to repair the LolTes of another, incurred without

ftrate and blow up his Defigns ; were Dormer's Defici- his Knowledge or Fault ? Or where is the Advantage

ency divulged abroad, and the whole Body of the Sui- to the Offices in general, allowing it to be juft ? IfDor-

tors (who had fure a Right, even from Compaffion, mer's Deficiency be fupplied out of other Offices, will

to be taken care of) made acquainted with the ruinous not thofe Offices mifs thofe Supplies, and be as much
Condition of his Office, who would anfwer that the impoverifhed in the general, as Dormer's is mended in

Government itfelf might not have been alarmed, and a particular ? Surely, my Lords, there needs no reafoning

publick Infpeftion made four Years ago into the other about this, the Thing fpeaks itfelf. The Commons
Mafters Accounts too? The dread of a publick Exami- take notice of an alternative in this Article ottered to

nation now overbalanced ail other Considerations; and the Mafters, either to confent to a Contribution, or to

as fome of the Suitors (whofe Intelligence and Sagacity be immediately ftripp'd of the Cafh and Efiefts ; fo

were better than the reft) were daily preffing and fol- that upon paying down the Sum demanded, a Matter

liciting for their Due, the Office-money embezzled, was confirmed afrefh. in the ill Conduft of his Affairs,

nocare taken to fecure Doner's Effects, all Supplies and he payshisFine, and renews his Leafe of Knavery and

Demands on Wilfon cut off by the wretched and unwar- Impunity ; his Books may be kept as clofe from Infpe-

rantableCompofition made for theSuitors without their ftionas the Books of the Sybils, they contain alike the

Confent or Knowledge : Thefe Diftrefles and Difficul- Deftiny of Mankind, and he may go on with Authori-

ties preffing and furrounding this unfortunate Earl, it tv
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ty to prey upon the properties of the Fatherlefs and had already offended againft the Laws of the Land,

Widow; and no doubt the Mafter argues upon as if they would avoid Punifhment, the beft way of do-

good Grounds as the noble Earl ; and concludes, that ing it, was by a new Tranfgreffion. You have his

if for the Advantage of his unjuft Schemes, the in> own Word for it, that he knowingly exceeded the fta-

peached Lord thinks it highly reafonable to extort tutable Limits prefcribed by the Wifdom of our An-
money from him belonging to the Suitors, which is ne- ceftors, for the Safeguard and Protection of the Rights

ver to be reftored, it may, with parity of Juftice, be as and Properties of the Britijh Nation. If the Buyer is

decent for him to take the fame liberty with their Calh Criminal, how can the Seller be Innocent ? And yet

too, for the Service of his own. But the Commons de- his Lordfhip, it feems, knows of no Statute now in

reft the corrupt Practices of both, and expect exem- being, on which Judgment can be prayed in thisPro-

plary Juftice on the great Offender at the Bar. fecution. 'Tis this wilful and deliberate Tranfgreliion

Thus far I have touched in a general manner on the of the Laws that has opened that Fountain of Iniquity

Management and Artifices ufed in the Concealment of which has drowned and laid wafte the Fortunes of our

Dormer's deficiency, and, no doubt, it muft create an Fellow Subjects.

univerfal Aftonifhment in your Lordfhips, how it In flating the Charge thus far, it is evident, That
could ever enter into the inmoft Recedes of his neither a wilful Neglect of Duty has been wanting,

thoughts, that fo great a Calamity as this could poffi- nor a thorough Contempt of Juftice ; no Pains fpared,

bly be for ever hid in Darknefs ; that fo torn and no Artifices unemploy'd to plunge the Deficiency in

ghaftlya wound couldever healof itfelf; or rather, that Dormer's Office in the deepeft Obfcurity. You have

it mould not by long Neglect become quite incurable, found him forcing and wrefting a Contribution from

Your Lordfhips will obferve in theenfuing Charge, the Matters ; not iuch a one, my Lords, as would e-

That Mrs. Elizabeth Chilly, an unfortunate Widow, qually anfwer all Demands on the Office, but as a bare

having obtain'd an Order from the Earl at the Bar, by Sufficiency to fatisfy the Importunities of Perfons for

virtue of which Mr. Edwards, Dormer'sSucceflbr, was the prefent, and thereby lull others into a deftructive and

to pay her iooo/. part of a much larger Sum depofi- fatal Security ; to make a falfe fhew and appearance of

ted in the Hands of Mr. Dormer, and Edwards refufing Ability in this Office, which the Mafters were after-

to pay the fame, not having fufficient in his hands, out wards directed to do in theirs. Your Lordfhips fhall

of .Dor-wr's Effects, to anfwer the faid Demand. The foon find him acting another Part, and difheartning

impeach'd Lord did again make ufe of the fame Arti- Lockman from ingaging any further in the Marriage

fices and Stratagems to compel the feveral Mafters to with Mrs. Chilly (for the Sollicitations of a weak Wo-
contribute this further Sum of iooo/. to ftop the man to have her juft Due might be eafier dealt with)

Complaints, and trifle the murmurings of Mrs. Chilly \ alluring him, that the Deficiency was fuch as muft in-

and did alfo intimidate them, by reprefenting, That if fallibly root out all future Hopes and Expectations on

the Deficiency were known, a parliamentary Enquiry her Account ; and yet the clofe of this Article fets

would probably enfue, and the Mafters be deprived of forth, That fo lately as the fifth of December laft, this

their Offices, having bought them contrary to Law

:

Earl fitting then in open Court, did, in a Caufe de-

This not taking Effect, the Commons charge, That pending before him, proteft and affirm, That, for his

in order to accomplifh his wicked and corrupt Purpo- part, he knew nothing of Dormer's Deficiency, but as

fes, he did himfelf pay the iooo/. into Lockman's publick News. My Lords, if Truth and Sincerity

Hands, for the Ufe of Mrs. Chilty, faying, this was are not to be found in the Seat of Judgment, where

the laft money me was ever likely to receive, by rea- muft we look for them? Where fhall we place our

fon of a Deficiency in Dormer's Office. My Lords, Confidence, if there is no Dependence on the Affirma-

you fee here is a fecond Attempt, a frefh Endeavour to tion of a Judge ? Where ihall we feek Examples wor-

conceal the deficiency by the aid and affiftance of the thy our Imitation, if the uprighteft Places afford them
fame meafures made ufe of before, but backed by the not? But to pafs over this unpleafing Scene, your

Terrors of a national Infpection. The Continuation Lordfhips will be pleafed to take notice, That the

of thefe Arts is no fmall prefumpticn, that the End unfortunate Perfon at your Bar, in hopes ftill to cover

defigned was unjuft in the Earl's own Judgment. His the Deficiency, made divers Orders on Mr. Edwards
Condemnation, in this Inftance, arifes and fprings out for the difcharging and paying the intire and full Dues
of his own Arguments and Conduct. If a publick to fome of the Suitors, whilft others were put off" with

Difcovery of this Deficiency would lay the Foundation an inconfiderable Share. Is there any thing more noble

of a publick and national Examination ; what fafer, in the Mind ofMan, than a defire of diftributing equal

what more expedient meafures could be concerted and Juftice ? Without equality Juftice is deftroy'd and fa-

taken, than immediately to fatisfy Mrs. Chilly's De- crificed to the Pafiions and Infirmities of Men •, and

mands ; by the Refufal of which, this publick Difco- yet your Lordfhips will find there is no Virtue fo love-

very, fo much, and fo juftly apprehended, might come ly, no Principle fo amiable, but muft be abandoned and

ouc ? And what ftronger Inducement could he lay proftituted to the carrying on this wretched Scheme,

before the Mafters, why the Burden of this Payment Such is ever the miferable Fate of thofe who dip their

fhould fall upon them, than by fhewing in how fatal Hands in Corruption •, they engage originally in one

a manner that national Examination would affect them- Vice only, but are forced to adopt and cherifh a num-
felves? He reprefents to them their having purchafed ber of others to keep that one a Secret from the

their Offices (and many of them of himfelf too) in World. For it becomes, at laft, neceffary to do in-

direct defiance of the Law, and that it was their near juftice for the fake of Security ; Peoples Necefiities,

Concern to avoid the Pit, in which they were likely to tho' they may be alike, yet are their Pafiions quite

be fwallowed up. My Lords, I take this to be a plain different, and aneceflitousand ftarving Suitor of a bro-

Confeffion of his Crime: Our Accufation is, That ken and worn-out Spirit might be turned away from

the fale of thefe Offices is repugnant to Law and Juf- his Lordfhips Prefence with a tenth Part of his Right,

tice ; here is his own manifeft Acknowledgment that whilft one of a more obftinate Make, and a bolder Con-

it is fo, but aggravated and heightened by this flagiti- ftitution, would infift upon, and wrangle for the whole,

ous Circumftance, That whilft he is reminding the This difference of Tempers might facilitate, poffibly,

Mafters of that Guilt which he himfelf fhared, he fuch unjuft Dealings for a Time ; but could this par-

draws an Argument from that very Guilt, why they tial Preference of one Perfon to another, in manifeft

fhould afiift him in a frefh. Offence ; and fince they Contempt and Violation of the Rules of Equality,

be
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be any otherwife of Service to this Noble Lord, or Ruin of Widows and Orphans plead for Punifhment

make any amends for diminifhing Reputation, but by and Reparation ? The Commons rely upon your Lord-

flopping the mouths and Cries of the folliciting Suitors fhips Juftice that they mall.

with fuch Proportions as would go down with them, But, my Lords, there is a Charge behind, which
prevent the Contagion from breaking out, and difap- contains matter worthy your Obfervation • itfets forth*

point the Application of a publick Remedy! You fee That his moitfacred Majefty, out of his fatherly Good'
plainly the miferable Confequences the Sale of the Ma- nefs to his People, having directed an Enquiry to be

fters Places has been attended with ; the fraudulent me- made into the accounts of the Mailers in Chancery, in

thod of Payment ; the unjuft and uncontrouled Abu- the month of November la ft, the Earl impeached did,

fes of the Mailers ; the great Neglect ofDormer's De- by his advice and authority, perfuade and induce them
ficiency; the unjuftifiable Concealment of it ; the to make falfe Reprefentations of their Accounts and
ftretches of Art and Injuftice in the manner of doing Circumftances to his Majefty in Council, and to afiiffc

it; 'tis one continued Series and Succeffion of male- one another with cafh and effects to make a falfe (hew and
adminiftration, calculated for the advancing the Profit appearance oftheir ability, that a parliamentary Enqui-

and Gain of the Perfon at your Bar. Your Lordihips ry might be prevented ; and did oblige them to declare

would, no doubt, wonder elfe, why fo great a Truft as in Writing, at the Foot of their Accounts, That they

upwards of a million of money, fhould be repofed in the were able and willing to pay the Ballance, although

Mailers, without fome reafonable Security on their the Earl well knew many of them were not. Your
Part, or fome proper Reftraint laid upon them for their Lordihips, fure, cannot but be aftonifhed at the Bold-

due and fair Difcharge of it, efpecially, fince Dormer nefs of this Attempt, to defeat and fruftrate the gracious

had broke, and brought upon the Sufferers fo fatal a Intentions of his moil facred Majefty, to take from his

misfortune : And this it is, my Lords, that raifes the re- unfortunate Subjects that redrefs and fatisfaction, which

fentmentand amazement ofthe Commons, who farther their Duty and Loyalty, their Wrongs and Sufferings

charge, That, notwithftanding the Earl well knew that had claimed in his Royal mind ; to deceive his Majefty

Dormer's Deficiency was chiefly occafion'd by the liber- at the very Council-Table, where he had the Honour
ty he affumed to himfelf of Trafficking and Gaming himfelf to fit ; and to deprive the Commons in Parlia-

with the Suitors Effects, and that the other Mailers ment of that Inquifition for Juftice, which the Nation

did, or had it in their Power foto difpofeof, or other- expected at their Hands. The Dread and Apprehenfion

wife mifem ploy the money and Securities in their of parliamentary Juftice is a ftrong Prefumption of his

Hands-, and, notwithftanding a reafonable and proper Guilt. Why, my Lords, fhould publick Enquiries

Scheme was laid before him, whereby the like misfor- terrify and difmay an innocent Perfon ? National Ac-
tune might be prevented for the future, yet the Earl quittals are eternal Monuments of Renown ; they are

never required any Security, or laid any Reftraints on more glorious and lafting than Pillars of Marble, or tri-

the Mailers, but left them to the wide and boundlefs umphal Arches •, they remain upon Record to all Po-

Liberty of abufing their Truft as Avarice and Ambi- fterity, never to be defaced by the malice or Teeth of

tion fuggefted Occafions. I will not enter into the Time. But, my Lords, as there are monuments of

Confideration how far it may have been the Practice Praife, fo there are Columns of Infamy -, there are Na-
not to require Security, I take it for granted, if none tional Condemnations as well as National Acquittals;

has been formerly demanded, it was becaufe the Prefi- and the noble Lord muft now take his Fate in the Judg-

ding Perfons were vigilantly executing the Duty of ment of your Lordihips, which he fo much dreaded,

their Offices, and by frequent Inflections into the Ma- It is an Evidence of a Man's Crime, if he flies for it ;

fters Accounts, restraining them from the Exercife of it betrays a Self-Conviction in the Party accufed, in

unwarrantable Power. But were that otherwife, bad that he dares not abide a legal Trial ; it is another

Precedents, my Lords, will not juftify Omiffions; no, Circumftance againft a Man, to be found tampering

nor extenuate them, tho' I believe not any Inftance with a Witnefs, and carries with it fome Prefumption

can be produced, not fo much as the Appearance of of his Guilt ; becaufe no innocent Perfon wants the aid

any, where it was fo indifpeniibly and abfolutely Ne- and affiftance ofa falfe Evidence. Your Lordihips have

cefiary as in this Cafe •, there was no need or ufe of feen him as it were flying from his Trial, and you will

any Example to remind him of it, common Prudence now find him tampering and intriguing with the Ma-
teaches us the Necefiity of providing againft Difor- fters in the moil dangerous and artful manner ; and that

ders or LofTes for the time to come, which our paft the Mailers are Evidence, and clofe ones too, willfully

Negligence has once brought upon ourfelvesor others; appear at your Bar. You ihall find him colouring and

'tis the only Attonement a man can make for his for- gloffingover the Mailers Accounts, with Touches and

mer Faults; and if the Perfon at the Bar had had at Strokes of his own, hoping to ihelter his own male-

heart the leaft Intention of repairing the Breaches made Adminiftration, by putting the Vizor of Integrity on
in the Juftice of that Court where he governed, here theirs ; this is the glorious Exit he makes ; thus he

was the moil fortunate Opportunity of doing it ; for finifhes his Impartial and Jufi Adminiftration.

your Lordihips ihall find the very Mailers themfelves, My Lords, the Evidence to fupport this Charge will

in a manner, importuning and folliciting him to tie up be opened to you, by the learned Gentlemen to whom
their Hands by fuch proper and equitable Reftrictions, the particular Proofs are afligned ; I fhall not therefore

as would put the fluctuating Fortunes of their Fellow- take up your Time in entering upon that which ex-

Subjects on the firmefl Eitablifhment. Had the No- ceeds my Province ; I only beg leave to hope for your

ble Lord liftened to this Propofal (which will come further Indulgence, while I make a general Obferva-

more properly within the Province of another Gentle- tion or two on the Nature of the Charge,

man to open to your Lordihips) the unhappy Defi- The Ground-work and Bafis of this noble Perfon's

ciencies in the prefent Mailers Offices had been fortu- Crimes is Corruption, a thing in private life the moft

nately prevented, the Clamours of the World about detefted, and in publick Perfons, of the moil malignant

us had been ftopt, and the Nation eafy. Did not Ne- Influence to the State. It deprives the Crown of that

ceffity demand it ? The deplorable Havock committed folid Strength and Grandeur, that fhining Luftre and

fince fhews it did. Did not the national Voice call Beauty, which ajuft Execution oftheLaws reflects upon

aloud for it ? The Profecution of this Day is fufficient it ; it difarms the People of that Security and Safety

Teftimony. Was it not his Duty ? Sure I am, it which naturally flows upon them from an impartial and

would have been his Happinefs. And fhall not the uninterrupted Adminiftration of Juftice, The Con fe-

Vol. VI. 4 P quence
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quence of which will ever be, the Crown will lofe that

P
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this Nation vindicated and afferted its own Honour

proach apon us ; and, by fowing the Seeds of difcontent Bribery in the Reign of Edw. III. Nay, the Sentence

at home, expofes us to the Incurfions and Depredations extended even to Lofs of Life itfelf, though that part

of our Enemies: But, my Lords, when it protects itfelf has been thought not fufficiently warranted, and fhould

under the Shadow of Juftice, and puts on the Smiles of have ended in Imprifo'nment only. Every one knows

Innocence, 'tis high time to rife up in Defence of our the Vengeance hurled on the Earl of Middle/ex, which

violated Laws, and fet a publick mark of infamy upon

it. To what purpofe are Judges and Minifters reftrain-

ed, by the Provifion of Acts of Parliament, from feh

lino- Offices under their Protection and Care, if Men

is to be found in the Rolls of Parliament. This un-
fortunate Earl, having delayed Juftice to the Farmers
of the Cuftoms, in a Matter referred to him by King
James I. and having polluted his Hands with exorbi-

fhaU hide themfelves under example in bar ofthe Laws! tant Bribes, was fentenced in Parliament to lofe all his

Will Example plead for him? Surely, my Lords, there Offices, which he held in the Kingdom-,, to be for

are none fuch : Or, if there were, what would that be ever uncapable of any Office, Place, or Employment in

but to defend Crimes by their own Blacknefsand Ma- the State; to be imprifoned in the Tower of London

lignity ? As if a Diftemper were not to admit of any during the King's pleafure ; to be fined 50,000/. ne-

R'emedy, becaufe it is general and contagious. But ver to fit in Parliament any more, nor to come within

fuppofing, for Argument's fake, there have been Great the Verge of the King's Court. The Cafe of my
Perfons, his Predeceffors, who have ventured upon fmall Lord Bacon is another Inftance of the Virtue and In-

Prefents and Gifts on fuch Occafions, does it follow, tegrity of your Anceftors, in the Abhorrence they

with any colour or pretence ofReaibning, becaufe thofe fhewed, and the Punifhment they inflicted on thac

have been confined within the bounds of moderation, Great Man's Crimes.

therefore the Extortion of exorbitant Sums, to connive My Lords, if the Offences committed by the Earl,

at outragious Meafures and Oppreflions, exceeding al- and thofe of the great Perfonsjuft mentioned were com-

moft the Fears of the Oppreffed themfelves, fhould pared, and the Confequences naturally flowing from

take Shelter under the poor Pretence of Precedent and them, it would be found how much greater Guilt is

Example? Alas! my Lords, I am afraid Example comprehended in the Charge of this Day. I will not

only operates according to Mens Appetites and Paf- fpend your Lordfhip's Time, in enlarging on a Di-

fions ; elk whence comes it about, that Example ftinction between Bribery In an Office, and Bribery

fhould have all the Beauty of an Angel in this In- by Colour of an Office •, between Bribery in a Judicial

ftance, and all the Deformity and Horror of a Fiend Way, on Account of Judgment in Caufes, and Bribe-

in another? His great * Predeceffor made no Attempts ry in theDifpofal of Offices, that concern the Admi-

to conceal a deficient Office in his Time. No, my niftration of Juftice ; but only obferve, that the Sale

Lords, he had no corrupt Purpofes to feed. The of the Matters Places, accompanied with the Circum-

fame noble Perfon never ordered fome Suitors their ftances I have already explained, is attended with more

entire Demands, and left others groaning and ftarving mifchievous and opprefiive Confequences to the Sub-

under the Preffure of an unequal Diftribution; he did
j
ect, than a Judge's accepting a Bribe in Caufes de-

the direct contrary. Happy had it been for this un- pending before him. By means of the latter a Perfon

fortunate Perfon, happy for the Widows and Father- is put to an extraordinary Expence indeed to come at

lefs, had he copied after the Example of his renowned his Right; or, if he is deprived of it by a corrupt

Predeceffors, in their wife and upright Diftribution of Determination, yet ftill there is another Refource; and

Juftice, as well as flown to their eminent Names for Pro- his Happinefs is, that he may appeal to Parliament for

tection, in the illegal Practices wherewith he is charg'd

!

Redrefs. But the Confequence of the other Cafe is,

To what a low Ebb is the Virtue and Reputation of he can come at no Right at all ; his Money is embez-

this Nation reduced, if Impunity fhall juftify Often- zled and loft, the Matter runs away, the Chancellor is

ces •, if Bribery fhall receive a Patronage from great Ex- in the Secret, and there is no Remedy left. Is it any

amples, and the bafeft Actions be adorned with the Excufe to fay, that the Matter is liable toanfwer for

fame Luftre and Honour, that are only due to the his own Frauds, and not the impeached Lord? I beg

rnoft virtuous. But, my Lords, the Commons have only to put the following Cafe. If a Keeper, who
found him bargaining and bartering an f Office, in has undertaken the Care and management of a mad-

the Gift of the Crown, for the poor and fordid Ad- man, wilfully neglects his Duty, fees the diforderedPer-

vantage of an hundred Guineas. This is an Inftance fon going to do Mifchief, and does not interpofe, is

wherein the very Perfon of the King is infulted in not the Keeper refponfible? Surely, my Lords, by the

the moft flagrant manner ; 'tis a Proltitution of the Law of Reafon he ought. But what if the Noble

Regal Honour and Dignity, by one who had theTruft Lord did not forefee the mifchief, and yet be the Oc-

repofed in him, as one of the joint Guardians of the cafion of it, from the Exercife of an unlawful Act,

Realm during his Matter's Abfence : As if too there

was no Accefs to the Throne for Grace and Favour,

no tatting the refrefhing Streams of that Fountain of

Goodnefs, which rifes in his Majefty's Breaft, for the

univerfal Comfort of a dutiful and happy People, but

by the Affiftance of the moft abandoned Meafures.

there is no queftion but he would be anfwerable. A
Perfon intends to rob the King's Forreft, and fhooting

at a Deer, kills the Keeper, is not he guilty of mur-

der? No doubt he is: Becaufe though he did not in-

tend murder, yet the Act he was about, was an un-

lawful Act. But, my Lords, the Perfon at your Bar

Can your Lordfhips any longer wonder the People's has not this Excufe; he forefaw the Confequence, and

Properties were imployed to ill Purpofes, when his Ma- his Intention was bad.

jefty's Prerogative is traffick'd with and fold ? Could it When the Commons confider the high Station in

be expected a poor Suitor's Rights fhould remain fecure which this noble Lord was placed, the many fignal

under his Protection, as Chancellor, when the King's marks of his Majefty's Favour and munificence be-

were precarious in the Hands of his own Truftee? flowed upon him ; the notorious Breach and Violation

And yet, my Lords, how often and how glorioufly has of his Oath, and of the feveral great Trufts repofed

* Lord Cowper. f Clerk of the Cuftod'm.

in
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in him •, when they have found him proftituting and that it is difficult to know whether he intends to repre-
abufing the Authority and Dignity of the Crown, fent the lawfulnefs of felling thofe Places for a Price,
trampling upon the Laws and Statutes of the Realm, or only of taking a Prefent which the Party gives
deftroying and confounding the Properties and Rights freely, voluntarily, and of his own accord, and which
of divers of his Majefty's Subjects ; the Commons his Lordfhip fays his Predeceffors ufed to take,

could not fit ftill, and fee this great Offender triumph There poffibly may be a Difference between a Pre-
in the Luxury of unpunifhed Crimes, without ufing fent and a Price-, if there is, it is the latter his Lord-
their beft and moft effectual endeavours to bring him fhip is charged with taking •, a Price fixed by his Lord-
to Punifnment, and to make him an Example of the fhip, infifted upon, haggled for, and with Unwilling-
Juftice of the prefent Age, a Warning and a Terror nefs paid by the Purchafer.

to Times to come. But, my Lords, even this may be faid to be nothing
Sir Clement Wearg, Solicitor General. My Lords, I more than an Offence againft the Statute of Edw. V\.

have likewife received the Commands of the Commons, which as it creates the Offence, fo it prefcribes the
to lay before your Lordfhips the Evidence, in mainte- Punifhment.

nance of the Charge of High Crimes and Mifdemea- Where the Perfon admitted to the Office is in all

nors, againft Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield. Refpects equal to the great Truft repofed in him ;

Tne Nature of the Charge confifts, Where the Price given bears a Proportion to the
In illegally and corruptly felling and difpofing of lawful Gain arifing from fuch Office, there may be

Offices, which concern the Adminiftration of Juftice; fome Pretence to fay, it is only an Offence againft

in ufing and practicing many indirect and unjuftifiable that Statute.

methods, for the keeping up the Price of fuch Offi- But if Perfons are admitted to an Office, by which
ces, in order to advance his own unjuft Gain. they are intruded with near 100,000 /. and give as

My Lords, the Honour of every Government, and much, or more, for that Office, than their whole Sub-
theHappinefsof every Nation, depend upon nothing ftance amounts to

;

more than a ftrict impartial Adminiftration of Juftice

;

If the Price they give is greater than can poffibly be
and the Juftice of every Court depends not only upon given, by one who would be contented with the ho-
the Uprightnefs of the Judge that pronounces the De- neft Profits of the Office ; if that Price is paid for

cree, but likewife upon the Honefty and Uncorrupt- out of the money of the Suitors of the Court ; if,

nefs of the leffer Officers, who are Affiftants to him, to make the Officers amends for giving; fuch extrava-to" '"O
and upon whole Reports and Reprefentations his De- gant Prices, they are connived at, indulged, in-

crees are founded. couraged to traffick with the Money and Effects of
It was doubtlefs from a juft Senfe of this, that the the Suitors of the Court, lodged with them for fafe

Legiflature, in the fifth Year of Edward VI. in or- Cuftody only;

der to prevent fuch a corrupt Bartering for Offices* This is fomething more than barely an Offence a«

which was before that Statute, againft Law, wifely gainft the Statute of Edward VI.
provided, that where any Office, which concerned 'Tis felling aLicence to abufe and defraud the Sui-

the Adminiftration of Juftice, not excepted in that tors of the Court, and making the Suitors themfelves

Statute, was procured for money, the Office fhould pay the price of that Licence.

become void, and the Parties concerned in the corrupt It is this the Commons have charged the Earl of

Bargain difabled from holding it. Macclesfield withal. And this furely is illegal, and
The Court of Chancery, in which the Earl prefided, againft fome Law or Statute in being,

muft be allowed with regard to the Number and great My Lords, the ill Confequences of this Practice are

Value of Suits inftituted there, to be by far the moft very obvious ; the leaft of them is a Delay of Juftice,

confiderable Court of Juftice within this Kingdom. from the Mafters ufing Shifts and Excufes to continue

The Matters of Chancery are (next to the Perfon that that money in their Hands, which they are allowed to

has the Cuftody of the Great Seal, and the Mafter of make a Gain by, and which probably, when called

the Rolls) the great Officers of that Court. for ; may be locked up by fome hazardous Contract.

They are, by Commiffion under the Great Seal, af- But the moft fatal Confequence is, what cannot

fociated with the Judges in hearing Caufes, and claim be mentioned or thought of, without feeling the great-

a Right to interpofe their Opinions in the making of eft Compaffion for the unhappy People concerned in

Orders and Decrees under that Commiffion. it; the Lofs which the Suitors of the Court are likely

They are intrufted by the Court to ftate and report to fuftain by it. The Hazard was all theirs, but the

matters of Fact, upon the Truth and Fairnefsof which Gain belonged to others.

Reports the Juftice of the Decree of the Court muft My Lords, whatever Excufes might be made for

depend. They are fworn to advife the Chancellor his Lordfhip, from the great Variety of Bufinefs his

himfelf. high Office engaged him in, which might prevent

And of late Years they have been intrufted with the his Attending to thofe Things ; an Accident happened

Effects and Eftates of the Suitors of the Court, to an in his Lordfhip's Time, fufficient to awaken the moft;

knmenfe and incredible Sum. engaged Attention.

My Lords, great part of the Charge againft the When Dormer withdrew from his Office, the Ma-
Earl confifts in fetting up thofe Places to Sale, in fters themfelves were alarmed at it.

ufing unwarrantable methods to incouragePurchafers, When it appeared his misfortunes were brought up.

and increafe the Price. on him by trafficking with the money of the Court,

It is matter of great Surprize, to find in his Lord- and lending it to Goldfmiths at lol.per Cent, they

fliip's Anfwer an Infinuation, that it is not illegal, or expreffed a Concern for the Suitors of the Court.

againft any Statute, to fell thofe Offices. And to prevent the like mifchief for the future, a

Surely, my Lords, there are no Places, that concern Propofal was made to his Lordfhip by one of them,

the Adminiftration of Juftice, more improper to be that the Mafters might give fome Security for the mo-
fold from the Nature of them, or the Selling of which ney in their Hands ; that the Effects might be put in

is more evidently againft the Statute of Edward VI. the Name of more than one Mafter, to prevent their

than the Mafters in Chancery, unlefs it be Judges being trafficked with.

themfelves. ' This might have prevented the mifchief for the fu-

But it muft be owned, the Expreffions made ufe of ture, at leaft in fome Degree,

by his Lordfhip, are conceived in fuch doubtful Terms, But
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But who then would have given 6000 /. for the

Purchafe of a vacant Place ? Who would have givert

1500 Guineas to procure an Admiffion ?

For thefe Reafons the Commons charge the Propofal

was not liftned to, was not put in Execution.

My Lords, another Accufation againft the Earl con-

fifts in his amufing the Suitors of the Court, with a

falfe Representation of the Matters Subftance, by decla-

ring from the Bench, That they were men of as good

Fortunes as ever filled thofe places.

Such an Encomium from a Chancellor would have

been a great Honour, had all the perfons really de-

ferved it.

But it furely reflects Difhonour, if fpoke at a Time

when fcarce any one perfon, who heard it, could give

credit to it.

When it was the Subject of common Converfation,

that one third of the Mailers had given as much, fome

of them more, for the Purchafe of their Places, and to

procure their Admiffion, than they were worth in the

World at the Time of their purchafe. And the per-

fon, for whofe fake the Compliment was made, leafl

deferved it of any, having but lately been a Receiver

of a County, nominally discharged by fubftituting his

Brother into his place, and having paid off a large Ar-

rear, foon after he got the Money of the Suitors into

his Hands, out of that money.

But there was then a Mailer's place vacant.

His Lordihip is further charged with endeavouring

to conceal the Deficiency in Dormer's Office •,

With making a trifling, precarious Compofition, for

a large Debt affigned for the Benefit of the Suitor, in

a very unwarrantable manner ;

With making Orders for the payment of money out

of that deficient Office, without regard to the other

Suitors, who were entituled to a proportion of what

was left.

His Lordihip feems to intimate, That he never

thought there would be any Deficiency in that Office,

but is under a full perfuafion that all would be made
good.

Flow that is confiilent with his quitting 1500 Gui-

neas from the Danger of a great Lofs in that Office, I

fhall fubmit to your Lordihips ; but furely the manner
in which Dormer withdrew was a ftrong fymptom of a

Deficiency, when the Mailers intrufted to fecure his

Effects found little more than the Debt from Wilfon to

anfwer a Ballance of near 40,000/.

When that Fund was reduced to nothing by a Com-
pofition made for half that Sum upon a Beggar, who
has fince efcaped out of Goal, and abfeonds for Debt.

From whence thofe full Aifurances could arife, we
mufl wait to hear from his Lordihip.

That his Lordihip did endeavour to conceal this De-
ficiency, needs no other proof than his not doing any
one Act in publick relating to it.

Had Mr. Dormer's perfon been rendered facred, by
that extraordinary promife of Security, mentioned in

his Lordihip's Anfwer, yet he might have been exa-

mined upon Interrogatories to difclofe his Effects.

The Suitors might have had fome Warning to have
ufed their Diligence in difcovering his Eitate, and pre-

venting any Concealment of it.

Nothing of this done, but on the contrary, upon an
Application by one of the Suitors to have his money
transferred to another Mailer, from an Apprehenfion
of Lofs, after Dormer had abfented himfelf from the

Office, he was informed from the Bench, that his

Fears were raih, the Mailer only gone to take the

Air, and that all would be well.

From this Time every thing was carried on with the

greatelt privacy between his Lordihip and the Mailers.

Orders were made for the payment of money out of

10 G. I.

that Office, as if it had been clear from all Sufpicions

of Lofs, contrary to that Rule of Equality, which is a
fundamental principle of a Court of Equity, That
where feveral perfons have Demands out of a Fund like

to prove deficient, they muil bate in proportion.

And altho' where that Fund is in the Hands of pri-

vate perfons to be paid by them, it may be intelligible

to talk of judicial Knowledge, and an ex Officio De-
claration of an Average,

Yet where the Fund is in the Hands of the Court,
the payment is to be made by the Court, and the Lofs
fuilained while the Court was poffeffed of that Fund.

Every Knowledge of fuch Lofs is judicial, and the
Court ought in Juilice, by what means foever the
Knowledge of that Lofs comes before the Court, to
direct the payment in proportion only.

There is but one Article more that I fhall take parti-

cular notice of, whereby his Lordihip is charged with
endeavouring to difappoint Flis Majefty's gracious In-

tent of having the Accounts of the Mailers, and the
State of their Office enquired into.

His Lordihip, to put a flop to fuch Enquiry, per-
fuaded feveral of the Mailers to make a falfe Appear-
ance of Subftance, and a Shew of Readinefs to pay
over the money and effects of the Suitors of the
Court in their Hands.

This was not only a Breach of his Duty as Chancel-
lor, but a great Violation of that high Truil repofed
in him as he was a Privy-Counfellor •, and if his

Lordihip did at the fame time in Council feem to

promote every Step taken there, that is a very greac
Aggravation of his Crime.

Such, my Lords, is the Nature of the Charge,
which the Commons have exhibited againft the Earl
of Macclesfield ; which they are able to make good by
plain and clear proof.

Sir William Strickland. My Lords, The Gentlemen
who have fpoke before me, having fully opened to your
Lordfhips the general Charge againft the Earl ofMac-
clesfield, it is my province, and that of the Gentleman
who is to fpeak after me, to open the Evidence we fhall

produce to make good the feveral Facts contained in

the §lh, 6th, yth, Sth, and gth Articles ; but as the

ninth differs very much in its Circumilances from the

other four, I fhall fay nothing to that Article, but
leave that to the Gentleman to whom the opening of
thefe Articles is likewife allotted.

My Lords, We fhall fhew you, that notwithftand-

ing the many^r*?^ and beneficial Favours bellowed up-
on this Earl by the bountiful Hand of his Majefty ;

and all thofe Honours confer'd upon Himfelf and his

Family ; the Dignity of his high Office, and the great

Trufi repofed in him, have been profiituted, in order to

fatiate a boundlefs Appetite for unlawful Gain.

This I fhall now particularly proceed to fhew, by
mentioning to your Lordfhips, in the firil Place, the

feveral Grants which the Earl, in his Anfwer, hasown'd

to have received ; and, afterwards, by opening the Evi-
dence, the Commons will produce, to make good their

Charge contain'd in the 5th, 6th, yth, and Sth Articles

abovementioned, which relate to the illegal and corrupt

Admiffion of four Mafters in Chancery.

The firft beneficial Grant the Earl, in his Anfwer,
owns to have receiv'd from his Majefty, before the Ho-
nour of Peerage was conferr'd upon him, was 1200/.

a Tear granted to him and his Affigns, during the life

of his Majefty, in, or about June 1716; in the next

place, that in the Year 17 18 he was created Lord High
Chancellor of Great Britain ; and, that at the fame time,

his Majefty, out of his Royal Bounty, did beftow upon
him 14000/. and likewife granted to his eldeftSon,

now Lord Parker, an annual penfion of 1200/. pay-
able during the joint Lives of his Majefty and the

faid
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faid Lord Parker, but determinable whenever he fhould which we fhall produce to make good the 6th article

be put into poffeffion of one of the Offices of a 'Teller which relates to the illegal and corrupt ad million of Mr!
in the Exchequer for Life, and which Office he has Thomas Rennet to the Office of a Mailer in Chancery,

*

fince obtained ; and over and above all thefe great and Mr. Thomas Bennet, about May, iyzo, bar»ain'd
beneficial Grants, the ufual Salary of 1500 /. a Year out with Mr. Hiccocks, then a Mafter in Chancery, for the

of the Hanaper Office ; the other great Profits and legal Sale of his Office, at the price of 7500 /. The next
Perquifites of his high Office, the Earl owns to have Thing to be done, was to apply to Mr. Cottingham,

had an allowance of 4000/. a Tear. As thefe were all which he did, defiring to be recommended to my
marks of the greateft Honour, Efleem and Confidence Lord Chancellor for that Office, Mr. Cottingham did
from his great and munificent Benefactor, fo furely recommend him, and told him, that the Lord Chanccl-

they ought to have produced in him all fui table Re- lor had no Objection to him, that he knew his Fa-
turns of Gratitude, by a juft and impartial Execution ther, and mould be glad to oblige him ; the Compli-
of the Trull repofed in him, to the Honour of his ment, however, ended with a proposition of a pre-

Majefty, and the Good and Welfare of his Subjects, fent, as he call'd it, and faid, he indeed would name
But, my Lords, The Thirft of Gain was predomi- no Sum, but that his Brother, then a Mafter in Chan-

nant; and in purfuance of that, he did, in a manner eery, and Mr. Godfrey would eafily chalk out a Me-
highly derogatory to the Dignity of the Office he then thod for him. Mr. Bennet, my Lords, after confulr>

bore, illegally, corruptly and extorfively, by Himfelf and ing thefe Gentlemen, offer'd 1000 Guineas ; Mr. Cot-

Servants, treat and barter for the Sale of Offices of Ma- tingham /hook his Head, and faid, he did not care to
Iters in Chancery, which Offices concern the Admini- go to the Chancellor with an offer of that Sum, that

ftration of Juftice ; and, in the fame manner, did take more had been given, and he hoped Mr. Bennet would
very great Sums of Money for their Admiffions into the not lower the Price. Mr. Bennet gave fome Reafons
faid Offices. why he hoped Lord Macclesfield would accept the

I muft take notice that his Lordfhip, in his An- 1000 Guineas, and faid he did not care to give moreg,i » *_ uiuiv. 3

fvver, does not deny to have taken all the feveral Sums Mr. Cottingham again told him, he did not care to o-q

laid to his" Charge by the Commons, on the Admiffion with that mellage ; upon which Mr. Bennet afked him
of the Matters, mentioned in the Articles of Im- what had been given by other Mafters; Cottingham
peachment, to their refpective Offices; but alledges told him 1 500 Guineas.

that he took them as Prefents only, freely and voluntarily However, Mr. Bennet again defired he would o-q

given, and fuch as had been ufual on fuch Occafions. to the Chancellor, and faid that if the Sum he had
But, my Lords, we fhall fhew you that the Sums of offered would not do, he would give 1500/. ; Cot-

money taken by him were taken in the Manner al- tingham defired to be excufed from going on that

ledged in the Articles ; and by the Evidence I fhall meffage, and faid my Lord did not love Haggling ;

now open, your Lordfhips will fee how very different and that if Mr. Bennet would give no more, he might.

this matter will appear from that which the Earl would lofie the Office, for that if the Ghancellor fhould refufe

infinuate in his Anfwer; I fhall begin by opening the that Sum, he would not go with any other Offer.

Evidence to the 5th Article, which relates to the ille- Upon this, my Lords, Mr. Bennet at lafi, confented
gal and corrupt admiffion of Mr. William Kynafton to to give the 1500 Guineas-, and this will appear
the Office of a Mafter in Chancery, in Auguft 1721. to have been what the Lord Macclesfield calls Mr*
We will fhew you that before Mr. Kynafton was ad- Thomas Bennefs free Gift. The Guineas were paid
mitted to be a Mafter, he was advifed by Mr. Rogers to Mr. Cottingham, who paid them to the Chancellor*

(with whom he had then contracted for the Sale of for which Mr. Bennet was admitted into his Office,

his Office for 6000 1.) that the Lord Chancellor would which appears to have coft him 9075/. and that very
expect 6 or 700/. for his admiffion, upon this he Sum, upon the making up of his Accounts, appeared
applied to my Lord's Secretary, Mr . Cottingham , (who to have been wanting in his Office, for the making \
appears to have been the Broker on all thefe Occafions) up of his Ballance due to the Suitors of the Court*

and defired to be recommended to the Chancellor for I muft take Notice to your Lordfhips, that the Lord
that Office, and told Mr. Cottingham, that if it was Macclesfield, in his Anfwer, alledges, that the faid Ky-
necelTary, he could obtain my Lord Bradford's, Recom- nafton and Bennet pretending they were difabled from
mendation ; the Secretary only anfwer'd, that another anfwering to the Suitors of the Court, fo much Mo-
Mafter had given 1500 Guineas on the fame Occafion ; ney as he had taken from them at their refpective Ad-
Mr. Kynafton then offered 1 000 /. ; Cottingham reply 'd, millions, the faid Earl did, before the Impeachment,
he could mention nothing left to the Lord Chancellor pay into the Court of Chancery, for the Ufe of the

than 1500/. ; but being afterwards asked by the per- Suitors of that Court, the two feveral Sums received

ion who was to pay the Money, what Sum would be by him from Mr. Kynafton and Mr. Bennet ; but, my
infifted on ; anfwered, It mult be 1500 Guineas ; no- Lords, that we fhall fhew to be agrofs Miftake in the
thing it feems was to be abated, for this (Mr. Cotting- Anfwer, for we fhall prove the faid Sums were not re-

ham told Mr. Kynafton) was one of the &?/? Offices, paid by him till after the Impeachment, and after they

being the fulled of Money and Securities. Money and had by Affidavit charged the Payment of thefe Sums
Securities, my Lords, the property of the Suitors of the as one Caufe of the Deficiency in their Offices.

Court; and how fatal the Matters making Ufe of fuch I come next to fhew the Manner in which Mr.
Money for their own Profits has been, in order to re- Francis Elde was admitted to his Office of a Mafter
imburfe themfelves for the very great Sums paid for in Chancery, which happened in February, 1723, up-
their Offices,- is now too feverely felt by Numbers of on the Death of Mr. Fellows; we fhall fhew your
helplefs Orphans and injured Suitors. Mr. Kynafton, Lordfhips, that Mr. Elde applied perfonally to the

however, feeing no Poffibility of admiffion without Chancellor, who told him he would treat with him in

paying the whole fum of 1 500 Guineas, comply'd at a different manner from any man living; in two or
laft, fent the Guineas to Mr. Cottingham, who after- three Days after this he applied again to the Earl for the

wards paid them to the Chancellor ; and the next Day Office, and then did mention a Sum of4 or 5000/. my
Mr. Kynafton was admitted and fworn a Mafter. Lord told him, Mr. Elde and I muft not make Bargains.

I come now to open to your Lordfhips, the Evidence So, my Lords, Mr. Elde after this went to Mr. Colting-

Vol. VI. 4 Q ham.
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ham, and told him of his intention to give the Chan-

cellor 5000 /. Mr. Cottingham advifed him to make it

Guineas. And, in purfuance of this Advice, Mr. Elde

did, on or about the ift of Febr. 1723, carry to the

faid Lord Macclesfield's houfe 3000 Guineas and 2 1 00 /.

in Bank-Notes, muffled up in a Dutch-Bafiet, which he

10G.I.
retainedno more than 1 850/. and, of that received from
Mr. Thurjion, no more than 2000/. By this, I pre-
iume, the World is to believe, the Earl made an imme-
diate Reftitution of the Remainder of the money j

But, my Lords, we will fhew you, that no money
was returned to Mr. Elde till November laft, a Time

fent up to my Lord by Mr. Cottingham, who left it with that he ftood in need of it tofhew and produce his Bal-

his Lordjlnp, brought down word all was well, and with

in a day or two after Mr. Elde was fworn into his Office.

I would obferve upon this, That a Prefent, which

might have been innocently made, and as innocently re-

ceived, had needed no fuch fecret Conveyance. But,

my Lords, the Suitors of the Court now began to be

awakened by the Apprehenfions of their Lojfes, and the

lance ; nor to Mr. Thurjion, till Otlcber laft, at which
Time it was evident an abfolule Stop muft be put to the

infamous Practice of Stock-Jobbing with the Suitors Mo-
ney; and which of confequence would put thofe two
Mafters out of a Poffibility of reimburfmg themfelves
the great Sums fo lately paid lor their Offices.

My Lords, the next thing we fhall prove will be^

Voice of the People to exclaim againft that infamous Thatin all thefe TranfactionsMr. Cottingham has a&ed
manner of admitting Mafters in Chancery, and there- by my Lord Macclesfield's immediate Directions $ and

fore I prefume, my Lords, Privacy was now come to when we have proved that, and the feveral Facts I have

be thought fo necefiary, that the Secretary himfelf, now opened to your Lordfhips, I doubt not but you

tho' concerned in the Tranfaction, was kept ignorant will be of opinion, that we have fully made out the

of the Contents of the Bajket. Allegations in the Vth, Vlth, Vllth and Vlllth Ar-

I come next to open the Evidence we will produce, tides, in their utmoft Extent •, and that the faid Earl has

to prove t\\z illegal and corrupt Admiffion of Mr. Mark
Thurjion to be a Matter in Chancery, as it is laid in the

Vlllth Article. He fucceeded Mr. Borrett about the

5th of Augufl laftpaft: And, my Lords, notwith-

itanding what the Earl of Macclesfield alledges in his

Anfwer, That he was informed by Mr. Godfrey and

taken the feveral Sums laid to his Charge, illegally,

corruptly, and extorfively, in Breach and Violation of his

Oath us Lord Chancellor, and of the great Truft in him
repofed, contrary to the Duty of his Office, and againft

the good and wholfome Statutes of this Realm.
Mr. Doddington. My Lords, I am commanded by

Nlr.Jobn Bennet, that there was like to be no Deficiency the Commons to affift the Gentleman who fpoke be-

in that Office. We will fhew your Lordfhips, That fore me, in making good the Vth, Vlth, Vllth,

before Mr. Thurfton's Admiffion there wasa great Confu- Vlllth and IXth Articles againft the Earl of Mac-

fion in it ; and that his Lordfljip muft hzveforgot himfelf, clesfield, which relate to his taking money for Offices,

when he fays he ever was acquainted by thofe two The Commons look upon this part of their Charge

Mafters, that there was like to be no Deficiency in that as a neeeffary Foundation of the whole, becaufe from

Office. this infatiate Defire of Gain have fprung all the Evils

This, my Lords, the Commons will produce to and mifmanagements, charged upon the Ear! in the reft

fhew, That, notwithftanding the very great loffes al- of the Articles.

ready fuftained by the Suitors of the Court of Chan-
cery, from the great Prices given by the Mafters for

xheir Offices, the great Confufion then in that Office,

and in which there is a Deficiency of more than 10,000/.

yet, in the fame unlawful Purfuit of Gain, he did ad-

mit Mr. Mark Thurjion to the Office of a Mafter in

Chancery, for the Sum of 5000 Guineas* The man-
ner of it was thus, my Lords.

The Charge againft the Earl in four of thefe Arti-

cles is in fhort this, that he took feveral great Sums
for the Admiffion of feveral Perfons into the Office of

Mafters in Chancery •, and that he took them illegally,

extorfively, corruptly, in Breach and Violation of his

Oath as Lord Chancellor, and of the Truft in him

repofed.

My Lords, thefe Facts have been fo clearly flateci

Mr. Thurjion, upon Mr. Borrett's Death, applied to to your Lordfhips, and the extorfive and corrupt man-

Mr. Cottingham about that Office, and the Price agreed ner in which they were committed, in Breach of his

upon betwixwt them was 5000 Guineas ; with this Agree- Oath as Lord Chancellor, fo ftrongly inforced by the

ment Lord Macclesfield was acquainted, and feemed to Gentleman who fpoke before me, that I fhall not trou-

agree to it : But afterwards, upon a Report's being ble your Lordfhips upon thofe Heads,
fpread, that Lord Macclesfield defigned to give the Of- As to the Illegality of fuch Practices •, that has been

fice to Dr. Sayer, Mr. Thurjion (well advifed no doubt) laid before your Lordfhips by the learned Gentleman
applied to Lady Macclesfield ; and, after many Argu- who opened the general Charge •, and, I do not doubt,

mentsufed to perfuade her to write to my Lord in his will be further explained by other Gentlemen to your

Favour, produced at laft 5000 Guineas in Bank-Notes, Lordfhips Satisfaction : But when the Earl is pleafed

which had their defired Effect ; my Lady wrote, and to fay, in his general Anfwer to all thefe Articles,

That he hopes receiving Prefents on fuch Occafions

" is not criminal in itfelf, or by the Common Law
" of this Realm, and that there is not any Act of

Parliament by which the fame is made criminal,"<t

Mr. Thurjion in two or three Days was admitted to

his Office.

My Lords, I will make this Remark upon this

Tranfaction ; That the taking fuch an extravagant Sum
of money for an Office, in which there was like to Though I have not had the Happinefs to have been

prove a great Deficiency, was fo far from being thought bred to the Profeffion, I muft beg leave to remind

blamelefs even by the Earl himfelf, that it looks as [{this him of the Statutes of Richard II, and Edward VI,

Way was neeeffary to be found out, to hide this Tranf- as to the Statute Law : And by all that I have ever

action too from the Secretary, who had had the firft heard, or can learn, the whole Tenor and meaning of

hand in it: And, to take all caufe of Sufpicion away the Common Law does difapprove and condemn fuch

from him, he was ordered to be fure to take no Money Practices, (though poffibly it has not been an adjudged

from Mr. Thurjion, on account of his Admiffion ; Cafe) And theStatutes I have mentioned are one Proof

which he obferved fo religioufly, that I think he fcru- of fuch meaning of the Law, to me, at leaft, who
pled even his own Fees. have always looked upon them to be Comments and

Before I conclude, my Lords, I muft take notice of Declarations, made from time to time to explain and

an Expreffion in the Earl's Anfwer to the two laft Ar-
ticles I have mentioned. I

That, of the money he received from Mr. Elde, he

inforce fuch Conftruction.

Putting up Offices of Juftice to Auction, my Lords,

is repugnant to the Dictates of plain Reafon, and con-

1 fequently
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fequently to the whole Senfe and Spirit of the Com-
mon Law of this Realm, which is founded upon Rea-

fon ; and in this Repugnance to the Intent and mean-

ing of the Law of the Land, lies this Offence, (in

my poor Judgment) as to the Illegality of it.

We hope therefore, my Lords, ('when we have gi-

ven our Evidence) that it will fully appear to your

Lordfhips, from what we have opened, That the Earl

of Macclesfield has taken the Sums charged upon him ;

and that he has taken them, as they are charged in

the Articles, extorfively, corruptly, illegally, in Breach

and Violation of his Oath as Lord Chancellor, and of

the Truft in him repofed,

lam now come to the IXth Article, which I am com-

manded to open to your Lordfhips ; and, indeed, it

is a mod extraordinary Inftance ofhuman Frailty : The
Earl of Macclesfield here is not charged with taking

money of a Perjfon who received an Office from him,

but of one who quitted an Office ; not for an Ad-
miflion, but for a Refignation.

I believe, this is the firft Inftance, my Lords, where

any Perfon, on the other fide of this Bar, was ever ac-

-cufed of forgetting his own Dignity, the Dignity of the

Auguft Body he belonged to, and the Honour of his

Sovereign, whofe Counfellor he was, and whofe Royal

Authority was, at that time, lodged in his Hands, for

an hundred and five Pounds. This is fo amazing, that

did I not know there was full Evidence to the moft

minute Parts of this Charge, I myfelf fhould not be-

lieve it ; and I am fure your Lordfhips Hereditary

Greatnefs of Mind rauft make it fo inconceivable to

you, that I fhall need all your Patience and Indulgence

in what it is my Duty to ftate to your Lordfhips, till

you hear the Evidence we fhall produce.

The Cafe, my Lords, is this : Mr. Thomas Bennett

one of the Matters mentioned in the Vlth Article, foon

after his Adrniffion, wasdefirous to part with his Office

of Clerk of the Cuftodies, (which is in the Gift of the

Crown) to Mr. Hamerjley ; but being unwilling to do

any thing, without my Lord Macclesfield's Approba-
tion, he applied to Mr. Nottingham, his Secretary, to

obtain it upon this Occafion. Mr. Cottingham pro-

mifed to acquaint his Lordfhip with this Requeft. In

a few Days Mr. Cottingham told Mr. Bennet, that he

had acquainted my Lord with his Defign, but faid, a

Prefent was expected of him ; and afked him, what

he would give? (Your Lordfhips will obferve, that

this was their conftant method, in driving all thefe

Bargains ; for they were confcious that they were do-

ing what was illegal) Mr. Bennet replied, That he did

not apprehend that any thing was due to my Lord
on this Account ; for that he fucceeded his Brother,

Mr. John Bennet, and neither himfelf, nor his Bro-

ther, made Lord Cowper any Prefent : And further

added, That he hoped my Lord would not infill up- ceptance of any Gratuity for advifing the King, as a

on any thing, on fo trifling an Occafion, fince he had Counfellor, to grant this Office, had been highly Cri-

fo lately paid him fo confiderable a Sum. But ftill minal, for he was, at that Time, one of the Lords

Cottingham infifted that a Prefent was required. Upon Juftices, and during this whole Charge a Minifter of

which Mr. Bennet feeing himfelf fo hard driven, faid State ; but he does not fay that he obtain'd leave for
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Bennet did take it out, and when it came to the Great
Seal, no Confideration was had of what he had given
before, but it coft him about 64 /. for the Seal.

We fhall call Mr. John Bennet to inform your Lord-
fhips, that when he refigned to his Brother, he afked
the Lord Cowper if any thing was due to his Lordfhip*
who told him nothing was due.

This, my Lords, is the naked State of the Cafe, and
I fhall make no Remarks upon it ; I think nothing can
be added to illuftrate it, becaufe I am confident there
never was any thing like k.

But I think, ouc of Duty to the Commons, and
Juftice to the Earl of Macclesfield, lam obliged to take
Notice of what he alledges in his own Defence againft

this Charge.

His Lordfhip is pleafed to fay, " That the 5
this

" Office of Clerk of the Cuftodies has been ufually
" granted by the Crown ; yet it has been always look'd
" upon as the Right of the Lords Chancellors, or the
" Lords Keepers, to recommend to that, and other
" Offices under the Great Seal, and approve of the

Deputy to execute the fame ; and upon fuch Recom-
mendations, and approving of Deputies, have ac-

" cepted Prefents, and look'd upon the fame as their

" Right.

I fhould not have taken Notice of his putting this

Part of his Defence in the plural Number, and endea-

vouringtofhelter himfelf under the pretended Practices

of his PredecefTors, if he had confined it to this Ar-
ticle ; but in his general Anfwer to all the Articles we
have opened to your Lordfhips, he fays, " That he
" has done no more than his PredecefTors, Great
" and Able Men have done before him, and therefore
" hopes that it fhall not be imputed as a Fault to
" him." And indeed this Reafoning runs through al-

rnoft his whole Defence.

My Lords, we could fhew, That he has done more
than any of his PredecefTors ; but your Lordfhips ve-

ry well know, that is not now in queftion. I am fure,

how Great or Able foever a Man may be that com-
mits a Fault, your Lordfhips will always be Great
enough, and Able enough to punifh him for it, when
he comes before you. And I am furprized the Earl

fhould fuppofe, that you will connive at a corrupt Pra-

ctice in him, (if this be one) becaufe you have not

condemned it in others, who were never called to an-

fwer it before you, if any have been guilty of it. I

hope your Lordfhips will look on it as a new Way
of Reafoning, firft made ufe of by the Earl of Mac-
clesfield, to juftify his own Faults by the Faults ofano-

ther, and extenuate the Danger and malignity of a

Diftemper by the Extent and Inveteracy of it.

By the reft of this Argument of his, your Lord-
fhips plainly fee, that he himfelf thinks that the Ac-

Mr. Bennet to refign, and a new Grant of the Office

as a Favour from the Crown •, no, that he feems to

admit would have been highly blameable ; but he

fays, that as Lord Chancellor, he had a Right of

Recommending to this Office ; and his whole Conduct

unhappily explains, that he looked upon a Right of

for leave to refign. Accordingly on the 28th Beftowing or Recommending to be a Right ofSel-

ofJuly, 1723, Mr. Bennet carried a Bank-Note of 105/. ling ; fo that by his own Argument, he thinks him-

to Cottingham ; and, in about three Weeks time, (your felf juftifiable in doing that as the chief Officer and

Lordfhips will be pleafed to remember, that his Majefty Diftributor of juftice, which he feems to own would

was then abroad) Cottingham told him, that the Sign be highly unjuftifiable in a Minifter or Servant of the

Manual was come over, and chid him for not taking Crown,
out the Patent; The Confequence of which was, Mr.

he would give my Lord 105/. In a fews Days Cot-

tingham told him, That my Lord accepted the 105/.

but that he was to look upon it as a particular Favour,

that he accepted fo fmalla Sum ; and that if he would
bring the money to him, Cottingham, he need take no

farther Trouble, for my Lord would apply to the

King,
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I fhall take Notice of but one Part more of his

general Anfwer to the Articles, which we have open-

ed to your Lordfhips, and that is where he fays, " That
" during his Continuance in the faid Office of Lord
" Chancellor, or at any other Time, he never once
*' had a Defign or View, or Wifh to raife to himfelf

" any exorbitant Gain or Profit, and appeals to the

*' whole Tenor of hisLife and Actions for the Truth
" of his Affertion."

This, my Lords, is an Inftance how little the

greateft Men are acquainted with themfeives, and

how much they are liable to miftake, when they talk

of their own Actions ; many of his Tranfactions in

money matters, have been opened to your Lordfhips;

more will be opened; and furely, my Lords, you

mult be of Opinion, that this inordinate longing af-

ter Gain, this Impotence of Mind where Money was

concerned, is a conftitutional Weaknefs in the Earl

of Macclesfield, which has given a -Tincture to every

Thing that paiTed thro' his Hands: Your Lordfhips

have feen him taking great Sums, accepting fmall

ones, taking 5000 /. accepting 105 /. taking for Offices

in his own Gift, for Offices in the Gift of the Crown,

taking for Admiffions, taking for Refignations •, in

this, indeed, he has fhewn an Impartiality that, on

every other Account, were highly to be wifhed in a

Judge.

My Lords, I would not trouble your Lordfhips

again after our Evidence is examined, and therefore

beg leave to fay, that the Commons look upon thefe

Practices fo nearly to concern the Welfare of the

People, they reprefent, that, notwithftanding the

great Part they bear in the Confti'tution of this Realm,
they have thought it indifpenfibly neceflary to appear

themfeives, and demand Juftice of your Lordfhips,

and we do it with the more Pleafure, becaufe we are

affured, that when the Commons are Profecutors, and
your Lordfhips Judges, the meanefc Subject will have

Juftice, and the greateft will not find Favour.

And, my Lords, confidering that the Earl of Mac-
clesfield is to be judged by the moft auguft Afiembly
in the World, of which he is himfelf a Member; it

is but a fufpicious Symptom of his Confidence in his

own Integrity, when he lays hold of any Subterfuge

to avoid your Judgment, or endeavours to fecure

himfelf againft any Part of it by any Plea but that

of his Innocence, and the Juftice of his Caufe.

Sir Thomas Pengelly, bis Majefty's Serjeant. My Lords,

before the Managers lay before your Lordfhips any
Evidence upon the particular Articles, there are fome
Things, we apprehend, neceflary to be taken Notice
of in the Introduction to the Articles, which are not

iufficiently admitted to the Lord Macclesfield, in his

Anfwer, and wherein we apprehend it will be necef-

fary to give your Lordfhips fome Satisfaction ; and that

is relating to his immediate Duty as Lord Chancellor,

and the Obligation he is under of an Oath, which is

adminiftred to hisLordfbip, and iseftablifhed by Act
of Parliament. My Lords, we think it proper to

lay this before your Lordfhips, becaufe the noble Lord
has forgot it, not only in his Anfwer, but in his Con-
duct. The Oath is eftablifh'd by the Statute of the

1 2 th of Rich. 2. which enacts, That the Chancellor, &cc.

Jhall not name or make any Officer, or Minifter, of the

King, for any Gift, or Brocage, but make allfuch Of-
ficers and Ministers of the befi and moft lawful Men.
My Lords, I beg leave to fhew, that this Oath is

eftablifh'd by Act of Parliament, and afterwards

mew your Lordfhips, that it has been adminiftred to,

and taken by the noble Lord within the Bar. It is

the Statute of the 12th of Rich. 2. chap. 2. which en-

Joyns this Oath to be taken by his Lordfhip.

Mr. Lulwyche. My Lords, we are not willing to
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trouble your Lordfhips with more than is neceflary,

or to go about to prove thofe Things that are ad-
mitted by the Earl's Anfwer, but where they are noc
fully admitted in fuch a Manner as they are charged
and with all that Advantage that we think we can
make of them, we muft beg leave to trouble your
Lordfhips with the Proof of them. My Lords, it

is admitted by the Anfwer, that there was an Oath
of Office taken ; and it is likewife fet forth in the
Anfwer, what that Oath was, but the Anfwer goes
no farther, and doth not admit any Thing as to an-
other Oath founded on the Statute of the 12th Rich. 2.

which hath frequently been taken by the noble Lord ;

we think it therefore neceflary to have the Statute of
Rich. 2. firft read, and the Oath that is there pre-

fcribed, and to fhew you that the Noble Lord within
the Bar, did take that Oath feveral times.

Then the Clerk read the Statute of 12 Rich. 2,

chap. 2. viz.

" Item, It is is accorded that the Chancellor,
" Treafurer, Keeper of the Privy-Seal, Steward of
" the King's Houfe, the King's Chamberlain, Clerk of
" the Rolls, the Juftices of the one Bench and of the
" other, Barons of the Exchequer, and all other that
" fhall be called to ordain, name, or make Juftices
" of Peace, Sheriffs, Efcheators, Cuftomers, Comp*
" trollors, or any other Officer or Minifter of the
" King, fhall be firmly fworn, that they fhall noc
" ordain, name, or make Juftices of Peace, Sheriff,

" Efcheator, Cuftomer, Comptroller, nor other Of-
ficer, nor Minifter of the King, for any Gift or
Brocage, Favour or Affection ; nor that none which
purfueth by him, or by other, privily or openly to

be in any manner of Office, fhall be put in the

fame Office, or in any other, but that they make
" all fuch Officers and Minifters of the beft and moft
" lawful Men, and fufficient to their Eftimation and
" Knowledge."
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg leave that Mr. Eyre

may be produced and fworn, in order to prove the

Adminiftration of this Oath, and to prove the Noble
Lord's taking it feveral Times.

Mr. Thomas Eyre fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire that

Mr. Eyre may be afked, Whether he is an Officer of

the Exchequer, and what that Book in his Hand is ?

Mr. Eyre. My Lords, This Book I have had in

my Cuftody ever fince I have been in the Office. I

have been there forty Years. This is the Book ia

which the Statute of 12 Rich. 2. isenter'd; and, be-

fore the Privy Council name the Sheriffs, this Statute

is read over to them, and then the Privy Counfellors

are all fworn.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords,, we defire the Oath may
be read.

Mr. Eyre. There is no Oath in the Book, 'tis only

the Statute.

Earl ofMacclesfield. Will your Lordfhips bepleafed

that he may fpeak aloud. He fays there is no Oath
in the Book.

Mr. Eyre. The Statute is read, and as foon as it

is read the Book is prefented to the Privy Counfellors,

and they are fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire he may
be afked, Whether he was prefent at any Time when
the Earl of Macclesfield has taken the Oath to perform

this Statute in the Court of Exchequer ?

Mr. Eyre. Yes, feveral Times.
Earl of Macclesfield. I beg leave to afk this

Queftion in the firft place, Is there any Oath there in,

that Book ?

Mr. Eyre. No, nothing but the Statute QfRifh. 2.

Earl
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Earl of Macclesfield. Nothing but the Statute of
Rich. U ? What is it you read, or do at that Time
when you fay the Privy Counfellors are fworn ?

Mr. Eyre. As foon as this Statute is read, the
Bible is prefented to the privy Counfellors, and
they kit's the Book.

Earl of Macclesfield. Is there any one Word faid

to them, or by them ?

Mr. Eyre. No, the Statute is read over, and
the Privy Counfellors kifs the Book.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire he

may read it.

Earl of Macclesfield. My Lords, I defire that
he may read the very Words in the Book, as he
reads them in the Exchequer.

[Mr. Eyre reads the Statute.]

Anno xii Richardi Secundi

for High Crimes, and Mi/demeanors*

X fc? Treafurer Gardein du Privy Seal SenefcaW de
Hofteille Roy, Chamberleyn du Roy, Clerke du Rolls,

Juftices de lune Bank & de lautre, Barons de le Ex-
chequer &f toutz autres, que Serrouni Appelles Dor-
doigner nomer ou fair Juftices de la Peace, Vifcounts
Efcbeators, Cuftomers Comptrollers, ou Afcune autre
Officer du Roy, ou Miniftrejeroit firtnement Jurez, W

5°3
ther this hath not been taken to be Swearing them
to do what is commanded by this Statute

?°

Mr. Serj. Probyn My Lords, we"beg leave to
objeft to that Queftion. We apprehend the Wit
nefs is only called to give Evidence as to the F ift
and not to ftate his Reafons and Conftrudbons of
Fact,

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I beg leave then to
afk a Queftion that I hope they won't objeft to -

Whether or no this is not the manner of Swearino-
the Lords, upon the Nomination of Sheriffs in the
Court of Exchequer ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we humbly b^o-
leave to objeft to that Queftion : We apprehend
That centers in the fame thing with the former.
I he Witnefs has already given your Lordihips
an Account of all that is faid and all that is don-
when this Aft of Parliament is produced He- fvr fc "' iiuuiuiciii is produced, bl

TE M, Accorde eft & affientez' que le Chancellor
te

,

l]s yom Lordfhips the Aft ofParliament is read
they kifs the Book ; nothing is afked of them'
nor is any thing anfwered : And yet the Gentle-
man is pleafed to afk, whether this is called a
Swearing ? The Witnefs has given his Evidence
your Lordfhips will determine whether it be a
Swearing or no.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I defire he may be
Serementez, quils ne Ordeigne noient ne facent Jufti-

alke?' whether this Rifling the Bible upon the
ces de la Peas, Vifcounts Efcbeators, Cuftomers Comp-
trollers, ne null autre Officer ne Miniftre du Roy, pur
null' manner Don' ne Brocagefavor tfaffettion, nique
null que parfui par luy ou par autf en priv' ou en
Apert Deftre en Afcune manner Office, foit mijs en
mefrne /' Office, ou en Afcune autr\ unque que Usfa

reading this Aft, is not ufually done at the time
of appointing the Sheriffs ?

Mr. Eyre. As foon as ever the Aft is read over
the Privy- Counfellors kifs the Bible.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire it may-

be _ afked, whether they proceed to name or. ap-
„.k.ju^ y ^jj^c, ut* cn sytuue amr , unque que its fa- — '

""^-'"^ "»cy proceed to name or ap-
cient toutz tielz Officers & Minifters de le pluis Bon

point an? Sheriffs before they kifs the Bock in
& Loyalz & les pluis fufficientz a lour ejfient F£ lour

lhl
? manner ?

Confidence.

Earl ofMacclesfield. Thofe you fay are the very
Words you read at that Time when the Sheriffs
are nominated in the Court of Exchequer ?

Mr. Eyre. Yes.

Oath taken by the Privy-Counfellors on this Oc-

Mr. Eyre. No, they do not.

M. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we fhall reft this
matter here.

Lord Lechmere. My Lords, I would be glad if
this Queftion might be afked the Witnefs; Whe-
ther there is any Entry or memorandum made

ble

Mr. Eyre. Yes.

Earl of Macclesfield. Do you fay any one Sylla-
more

Mr. Eyre. No.
E. of Macclesfield. In the next place, I defire he

may tell your Lordihips what it is that the Offi-
cer does at this time ?

Mr.

cafion ?

Mr. Eyre. No, there is not.

Mr. WeSt. We fubmit this matter to your
Lordfhips

: This Statute prefcribes, that an Oath
fhall be particularly taken ; the Faft has been
ftated by the Witnefs : And whether it does not
amount to the Proof of an Oath, that they willv^. xj •

i t> , ,, ,

aniuuui. lu luc rroor or an uatn, that thev w 11

Iters .SS^Utl** '° a" thC PriT COmP'y "**. th" A& off^toelt, weKCounfellors, and they kifs it.

E. of Macclesfield. Does he not carry it to the
Judges too ?

Mr. Eyre. Yes every one prefent kiffes the
Book.

E. of Macclesfield. Does he fay any thino- to
them? °

Mr. Eyre. No.
E. of Macclesfield. You fay he doth not fay any

thing to them ?
J

Mr. Eyre. No, nothing at all.M

your Lordihips Judgment.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We fhall leave this Evidence

to your Lordfhips, and fubmit it your Deter-
mination, whether this noble Earl can excufe
himfelf from his Obligation to this Aft of Par-
liament, as an Oath ? It is very probable, by his
future Conduft, he might be of Opinion, that
there was no Obligation of any Aft or Oath up-
on him : But upon the Evidence given, we fhall
fubmit this Faft : And fhall next proceed to call

fome Witneffes to give an Account of the Naturer Seri Ptnajh aaT t j 3 r , ,.

"immsu» lu give an account of the NatureE^l^l^^™^^ o the Offices of the Mafters in Chancery, who areMr. Eyre may be afked, whether, during his time,
this hath not been the ufual method of Swearing
the Lords of the Privy-Council ?

Mr. Eyre. Yes, my Lords, it has.
Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, it feems to be a

v^eltion whether this is fwearing at all. There-
tore the Queftion I defire may be afk'd this Wit-
new, is, what Book it is they kifs?
Mr. Eyre. My Lords, it is the Bible.
^Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, whe-

admitted, by the noble Lord, within the Bar.
We fhall firft produce the Oath which is admi-
niftred to every Mafter in Chancery upon his Ad-
miffton : Then we fhall fhew the Commiffions
from Edw. the Vlth's time, and fo from time to

time, to this Day ; wherein the Matters in Chan-
cery are joined with my Lords the Judges, to
hear and determine Caufes in the Abfence of my
Lord Chancellor ; to punifh Contempts, to exe-
cute and adminifter a Jurifdiftion in that Court.

4 R The
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The particular Oath very little varies from the

Oath adminiftred to the Lord Chancellor, which,

in his Lordfhip's Anfwer, is fet out at large.

However, we fhall now beg leave to produce the

Oath, ; and to thatpurpofe, wedefire Mr. Pynfent, are Stampt •, lince they make an Objection of that

the Deputy-Clerk of the Crown in Chancery, may Nature, we defire they may be read.

be examined, and he will produce the Oath before

ioG.I,
Mr. Strange. Are they upon Stamps ?

Mr. R. Paxlon. Yes, Sir, with a double Six-
penny Stamp.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, it feems they

your Lordfhips. Clerk reads.

Mr. Pynfent fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Sir, will you produce, be-

Fore the Lords, the Oath adminiftred to the Ma-
ilers in Chancery, upon their Admifllon to their

Offices?

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, we hope he fhall

give an Account, whether he hath feen the Oath
taken, and hath adminiftred it?

Mr. Pynfent. Yes, my Lords, I have feen the

Oath taken, and have adminiftred it myfelf.

^ Reads the Oath.

Sacrm
Magiftrorum]

Cancel larie

Sexta pars Pat' de Anno Regni Regis Edn
Sexti quarto.

Rex &c. Dilcis & fidelibus Confiliariis Suis Rbto
Southwell Militi Cuftodi ac Magro Rotulorum Cancel-
lar' nre Willo Portman Militi uni Jujlic' nrorum ad
Plita coramNob' tenend' affgn' JacoboHalesMilili uni
Jujlic' nrorum deBanco RicoReade Militi et Johi Tre-
gonwell AroMagris Cancellar' nre predce AcD'ilcis Sibi

Johi Olyver Clico Willo Cooke Aro Johi Croke Aro et

Anthonio Bellajfis Clico Magris ejufdem Cancellar'' nre
Saltm. Quia Predilcus et fidelis Confiliarius nr' Ricus
Riche Miles Dus Riche Cancellar' nr'Angl' adeo Cor-YE Jhall /wear that well and
^oris invalitudine ad pre/ens laborat ad ad ea que in

truhe Ye Jhall ferve the Kinge Cur> Qancellar' nre in caufis et materiis int' diverfos li-

)
Our Sovereign Lord, and his People, gm^ Subditos nros ibidem pendent* tracland' audiend*

in the Office of one of the Maifters of his Chauncerye,
difcuciend' et terminand' Sint&fieri debeant adprefens

to the whiche Te be called: Te fhall not ajfent, ne ^ro tempore non Sufficiat Confiderantes igilur ipm ad
Procure the Difherytaunce, ne perpetual Damage of Sahm cjcjus pofle rej}itui Si ab arduis ijs nrh rf
the Kinge, to Tour Power, nefraude ; Te Jhall doe or fotminacoe caufarum in Cur' Cancellar

1

nrependen' ad
caufe to be made wrongfullye to anye of his People, ne tempm aijnneat Et Volentes nichilominus interim inm any thinge that touchethe the Seale : Andlawfullye ejuflm Cancellarii nri abfencia omibus & Singulis
Te Jhall Counfail the thinges that touchethe the Kinge, Ugeis & Subditis nris quibujcumq; mafiasfuas in Cut3
when ye fhall be thereunto required. And the Coun- Cancellar' nre predceprojequentibus plenum fc? celerem
jayll that Te fhall geve touching him, Te fhall not dif- Jufijcjam exhiberi Ac de fidelitatibus fc? providis cir-
clofe. And yf Te know anye thinge of the Dijhery- cumfpeccoibus vris plenius Confidentes Affignavimus Vos
taunce or Damage of the Kinge, or fraude to be made octo septem Sex quinq; quatuor& ires vrm quorum Vos
upon anye thinge that touchethe the keeping of the

prefat'Robte milePortemanJacobeHalesJohes Olyver
Seale : Te fhall put Tour lawfull Power it to re- £? y hes Qroke unu' effe Volumus Ac tenore prejenciu*
drejfe and amende ; And yf that Te cannot do, Te J)amus Fob' otto Septem fix quinq; quatuor & tribus
jhall advyfe the Chauncellor,orLordeKeper ofthe Seale, vrm quorum aliquem vrm Vos prefat' Robte Wille
or other whiche may that amende, to Tour Power. As porteman Jacobe Hales Johes Olyver Gf Johes Crooke
God you helpe, and by the Content of this Poke. unu > efie Volumus plenam poteftatem & auttoritatem
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, there will be mdiend* et examinand' quajcumq; materias caufas

Directions given to lay a Copy of this Oath, as & peticoes coram Nob' in Cancellar' nra int' quofcumq;
well as Copies of other Records, upon your Lord- n„m &? Subditos nros tunc pendent' et impoflerum
fhips Table.

The next Evidence we fhall produce, are Com-
miffions beginning in the Time of Edw. VI. to this

time, granted to Matters, appointing them to

hear Caufes, &c. The firft Commiffion we fhall

produce, is dated the 9th of Otlober, the 4th of

ibidem exhibend' & penden' & eafdem matias

caufas & peticoes juxta Sanas difcrecoes vras finalit*

trninand' £s? debit' execuoi demandand' partefq; in

matijs Sive caufis vel peticoibus illis noitas & Specifi-

catas ac tefies &? alios quojcumq; quos Vob' fore vide-

bilur evocand' quociens expedire videritis coram Vob*
Edw. VI. My Lords, we defire that Mr. Paxton fi Septem Sex quinq; quatuor vel tribus vrm quorum
may be fworn, who has Copies of thefe Com- aliquem vrum vos prefate Robte Wille PortmanJacobe
miffions, and has examined them with the Re- Hales Johes Olyver&Johes Croke unu' effe Volumus
cords, evocand' ac ipos fs

5

eorum quemlt debile examinari com-M r. Ralph Paxton fworn. pellend' diefq ; produilorios imponend'& affignand' pro-
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire that

ceffufq; quofcumq; in ea parte neceffarios concedend' et

he may be asked, whether the Copies in his hand
fieri faciend' contemptus etiam quofcumq; ibidem comifs'

are true Copies, and where they were examined ? Sive perpetratos debite caftigand' & puniend' cetaq;

Ld. Co. fuft. King. Are they true Copies, and omia& Singula faciend' et exequend' que circapretnijfa
where did you examine them ? neceffariafuerint Seu quomodolit oportuna Et ideo Vob'

Mr. R. Paxton. My Lords, they are true Co- Mandamus qd circa premiffa diligent' intendatis ac ea
pies. I examined them in feveral Places. I muft fac ' &? exequamini cum effcu Mandamus etiam tenore

look upon each of them, and then I fhall tell your prefenciu' omibus fcf Singulis Ojficiariis & Miniftris
Lordfhips where I examined them. I examined nrjs Qur' nre predce qd Vob' oclo Septem Sex quinq;

Jome at the Kolls, lome at the retty-mg Office, quatuor et tribus vrm quorum aliquem vrm Vos prefate
and fome at the Report- Office. Rofoe miie porteman Jacobe Johes Oliver & Johes

Ld. Ch. Juft. King. Did you examine them all

there ?

Mr. R. Paxton. I did.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Are they true Copies ?

Mr. R. Paxton. I believe they are, 1 took a

great deal of Care and Pains in examining of them.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, wedefire that

thefe Copies may be read.

CrokeSemper unu' effe Volumusin execucoepremifjbrum

diligent' intendantprout decet Volumus etiam &perpre-

fentes Concedimus quodomia&*Singulajudicia Sive fina-

lia decreia per Vos oclo Septem Sex quinq; quatuor vel

tres vrm quorum aliquem vrm Vos prefate Robte Wille

Porteman Jacobejohes Olyver et Johes Crooke unu ' effe

Volumus Semper hmoi caufis Sive materijs reddend'

Sive fiend' Sint & effe debeant tanti & confimilis va-

loris y
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loris effcus efficacie roboris et virtutis ac ft per Cancel-

lariu' nrm AngV et Cur* Cancellar' predce reddit' Sive

reddend' forent Provifo Semper qd otnia & Singula

huiufmodi judicia Sive finalia Decreta per Vos otto

Septem Sexquinq; quatuor veltres vrm quorum aliouem

vrm Vos prefate Robte Wille Porteman Jacobe Johes

Olyver et Johes Croke unu' ejfe Volumus virtute pre-

fenciu' reddend'' Sivefiend' manibus vris ottoSeptetn Sex

auinq; quatuor vel Ires vrm quorum aliquem vrm Vos

prefate Robte Wille Porteman Jacobe Johes Olyver C5?

Johes Croke unu' effe Volumus Subficribantur £s? config-

nentur & Superinde eadem judicia Sive decreta pre/at'

Cancellar* nro prefententur & libentur ut idem Cancel-

lar* nr* antequam irrotulentur eadem Similit* manufua

confignet In cujus rei teflimoniu* has Lras nrasfierife-

cimus Patentes ufq; ultimu* diem Novetnbr* proper*fu-

tur* duratur* Si non intrim per alias Lras nrasPatentes

hide Comijfioni Superfederi decreverimus T. R. apud

Weflm* nono die Ottobr*

per ipm' Regem
Concordat' cum Recordo et

Examinat' per me
WM. ROOKE.

Mr. Sen. Pengelly. We have feveral others of

the fame Nature, which we have proved, and fhall

not trouble your Lordfhips to read them. We
fhall beg leave to lay them on your Lordfhips

Table. We fhall now defire to read fome later

Commiffions ; fome granted when the noble Lord

within the Bar had the Cuftody of the Seals him-

felf.

E. of Macclesfield. If your Lordfhips pleafe,

the Date of that may be read.

Clerk reads.

« pEORGIUS Dei Gra' Magna? Britan-

c ^J nia; Francia; & Hibnias Rex fidei defen-

* for &c. Praedilecto & fideli Confiliario nro Jo-
« fepho Jekyll Mil' Magro Rotlorum Cur' Cane'

« nre ac Dilcis' & fidelibus nris Littleton Powys
« Mil' un' Jufticiar' nrorum ad plita coram nobis

« tenend' affign' Johi Blencow Mil' un' Jufticiar'

« nrorum de Banco Robto Tracy Ar' al' Jufti-

* ciar' nrorum de Banco Robto Price Ar' un' Ba-
« ron' Sccij nri Johi Smith Ar' al' Baron' Sccij nri

c Robto Dormer Ar' un' Jufticiar' nrorum de
1 Banco Robto Eyre Mil' un' Jufticiar' nrorum
« ad plita coram nobis tenend' afiign' Johi

« Pratt Mil' al' Jufticiar' nrorum ad plita coram
« nobis tenend' affign' Jacobo Mountagu Mil'

* un' Baron' Sccii nri Johi Fortefcue Aland Mil'

« un' Baron' Sccij nri Thome Gery Mil' Willo
« Rogers Johi Hiccocks Willo Fellows Jacobo
* Meller Johi Orlebar Fleetwood Dormer Samu-
* eli Browning Robto Holford Henrico Lovi-
4 bond & Johi Bennet Aris faltm Quia predilect'

4 & fidel' Confiliar' noftr' Thomas Doms Parker
* Cancellar' noftr' magne Britannie nris arduis

negotiis ex Mandato nro continue attendens in

eisdm adeo verfatur quod continue attendere

non poteft ea que in Caufis & materiis in-

ter diverfos ligeos & fubditos nros ac alios in

Cur' nra Cancellar' penden' agen' tractand'

audiend' expediend' difcutiend' & terminand'

fint & fieri debent Nos premifla Confiderantes

volentefq; eibus & fingulis ligeis nris ac aliis

quafcunq; materias fuas in eadm' Cur' Cancel-

lar' profequen' five profecutur' plenam & celerem

Jufticiam exhiberi tarn in abfentia quam in pre-

fentia predict' Cancellar' noftr' Magn' Britann'

ac de fidelitate & providis circumfpeciobus

vris in hac parte plumu' confidents affigna-

vimus vos ac tenore prentium Damus vob' &
aliquibus tribus vel plur' vrum Quorum prefat'

Jofephum Jekyll Littleton Powys JohemBlen-
coe_ Robtum Tracy Robtum Price Johem
Smith Robtum Dormer Robtum Eyre Johem
Prat Jacobum Mountagu & Johem Fortefcue
Aland unum efTe volumus in abfentia diet' Can-
cellar' noftr' Magna; Britannia; plen' prefat'

& auctat' audiend' & examinand' quafcunque
materias Caufas & petitiones coram nobis in

dca Cancellar' nra inter quofcunque ligeos &
fubditos aut alios quofcunque nunc penden'
aut Importer' ibm exhibend' & penden' mate-
rias Caufas & peticones juxta fanas difcreti-

ones vras vel trium vrm Quorum prefat' Jofe-

phum Jekyll Littleton Powys Johem Blencowe
Robtum Tracy Robtum Price Johem Smith
Robtum Dormer Robtum Eyre Johem Pratt

Jacobum Mountagu & Johem Fortefcue Aland
unum efle volumus finaliter terminand' & debit'

execution' demandand' Partefq-, in materiis cau-

fis feu petitionibus ill Is nominat' & fignifkat' ac

Teftes & alios quofcunq; quos vobis vel tribus

vrm (ut pred' eft) fore videbitur evocand'

quoties expedire videritis coram vobis vel tribus

vrm (ut pred' eft) evocand' Ac ipfos & eorum
quemlibet debite examinari diefq; production's

imponend' & affignand' proceflfufq; quofcunq;

in ea parte neceflar' concedend' ac fieri faciend"

Contemptus etiam quofcunq-, comifs' five per-

petrat' debite caftigand' & puniend' ceteraq-,

oia & fingla faciend' & exequend' que circa

premifla. neceflar' fuerint feu quomodolibet op-

portuna Et ideo vobis mandamus qd circa pre-

mifla diligent' intendatis & ea fat' exequamini
cum efitu Mandamus etiam tenore prentium Of-

ficiar' & Miniftr' Cur' nre Cane' pred' qd vobis

vel tribus vrm (ut pred' eft) in execuc' premif-

forum diligenter intendant prout decet Volumus
etiam ac per prentes concedimusquod oia & fin-

gula Judicia five finalia decreta ac Ordines per

vos aut tres vrum ut prasd' eft fuper hum' caufis

five materijsacpeticioibus ut prefertur reddend'

five fiend' fint & efTe debeant tanti & confilis

valor' effect' efficatie roboris & virtute Ac fi per

pra;d' Cancellar' noftr' Magna; Britannias & Cur*

Cancellar' nre prsd' reddit' five reddend' forent

Provifo tamen quod oia & fingula Judicia five

finalia decreta per vos vel tres vrm ut pra;d' eft

virtute prentium modo & forma ut prasdicitur

reddend' five fiend' Manibus vris vel trium vrm
Quorum prefat' Jofephum Jekyll Littleton

Powys Johem Blencowe Robtum Tracy Rob-
tum Price Johem Smith Robtum Dormer Rob-
tum Eyre Johem Pratt Jacobum Mountagu &
Johem Fortefcue Aland unum efle volumus fub-

fcribentur & confignentur & fuperinde eadem

Judicia five finalia decreta prefat' Cancellar'

noftr' Magn' Britan' prefententur & libentur

Quodq; null' eorundem Judicior' five final' de-

cretor' irrotulentur aut quovifmodo execut' fint

antequam idem Cancellar' noftr' Magn' Britann'

ea manufua propria filiter confignet Et quod he

Ire nre Patentes durabunt & permanebunt in

pleno robore & effect' donee aliter per alias lras

nrs Patentes huic Commiffioni fuperfedcri

mandat' foret aut prasdict' Cancellar' noftr'

Magn' Britann' in plena Cur' determinari de-

cret' & irrotulat' erit In cujus rei Teftimoniu'

has lras nras fieri fecimus Patentes Telle meipfo

apud Weftm' duodecimo die Maij Anno Regni

noftri quarto

per ipfum Regem
WR1GH1E.

Mr.
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire that there may
be another Commiffion read, dated the 20th of

January, the 8th of the King.

Clerk reads.

4 ^EORGIUS Dei Gratia Magna? Bri-

4 VJ tannia?, Francis, & Hibernian Rex, fidei

< Defenfor, &c. Praedilecto & fidel' Confiliar'

4 nro Jofepho Jekyll Mil' Magro Rotulor' Cur'
1 Cancellar' nre ac Dilcis & Fidelibus nris Little-

4 ton Powys Mil' un' Juftic' nroru' ad plita co-

* ram nobis tenend' affign' Johi Blencow Mil'

' un' Juftic' nrorum de Banco Robto Tracey Ar'
* al' Juftic' nrorum de Banco Robto Price Ar'
4 un' Baron' Sccij nri Robto Dormer Ar' un'

* Juftic' nrorum de Banco Robto Eyre Mil' un'

* Juftic' nrorum ad plita coram nob' tenend'
4

affign' Jacobo Montagu Mil' un' Baron' Sccij

* nri Johi Fortefcue Aland Mil' un' Juftic'

' nrorum ad plita coram nob' tenend' affign'
4 Franco Page Mil' un' Baron' Sccij nri Johi
* Hiccocks, Willo Fellowes, Robto Holford,
4 HencoLovibond, Johi Bennett, Rico Godfrey,
- Jacobo Lightboun, Johi Borrett, Edro Con-
4 way, Henco Edwards, & Willo Kynafton, Ar'
' falum. Quia Chariflimus Confanguineus & Con-
' filiar' nofter Thomas Comes de Macclesfield
' Cancellar"' nofter Magna? Britannia? noftris ar-
; duis negotiis ex Mandato noftro continue at-
: tendens in eifdem adeo verfatur quod continue

attendere non poteft ea que in Caufis & Ma-
teriis inter diverfos ligeos & fubditos noftros ac

alios in Cur' noftra Cancellar' penden' agen'

tracland' audiend' expediend' difcutiend' &
terminand' fint & fieri debent nos premifia

10 G. I.

* oia & fingula faciend' & exequend' que circa
' prsemifia neceflar' fuerint feu quomodo fibet
4 opportuna. Et Ideo vob' mandamus quod
' circa prsemiffa diligent' intendatis & ea fac' &
' exequamini cum effectu. Mandamus etiam te-
' nore prefentiu' officiar' & miniftr' Cur' noftre
' Cancellar' pra?d' quod vob' vel tribus vrm' (uc
' pra?d' eft) in executione prsemifforum di!io-e

-nL
>

' intendant prout decet Volumus etiam & per
' prefentes concedimus quod oia & fingula ju-
f dicia five final' decreta ac ordines per vos &
' tres vrm' (ut prasd' eft) fuper hum' caufis five
' materiis, & petitionibus ut prefert' reddend'
* five fiend' fint & efie debeant tanti & confilis
' valor' eftectus efficacie roboris & virtutis ac
4

fi per prsed' Cancellar' noftr' Magna? Britan-
' nia? & Cur' Cancellar' noftre prsed' redd it' five
' reddend' forent. Provifo tamen quod oia &
* fingula judicia five finalia decreta per vos vel
* tres vrm (ut prsed' eft) virtute prefent' modo
' & formatur predicitur reddend' five fiend' ma-
* nibus vris vel triu' vrm' Quorum prefat' Jo-
* fephum Jekyl Littleton Powys Johem Blen-
4 cowe Robtum Tracey Robtum Price Robtum
4 Dormer Robtum Eyre Jacobum Montagu
* Johem Fortefcue Aland & Francum Pageunum
* efie Volumus fubfcribantur & confignentur &
* fuperinde eadem judicia five final' decreta prc-
4

fat' Cancellar' noftro Magna? Britannia? prefen-
4 tentur & libentur Quodq; nulla eorundem
* judiciorum five final' decretorum irrotulentur
* aut quovis modo execut' fint antequam idem
4 Cancellar' nofter Magna? Britannia? ea manu
4 fua propria filit' confignet Et quod he litere

* confiderantes volentefq-, omnibus & fingulis * noftre paten' durabunt & permanebunt in ple-
ligeis noftris ac aliis quafcunq; materias fuas ' no robore & effeclu donee alit' per al' literas

' in eadem Cur' Cancellar' profequend' five pro
fecutur* plenam '& celerem Jufticiam exhiberi

tarn in abfentia quam in pra?fentia praed' Can-
* cellar' noftri Magna? Britannia? ac de fidelitate

' providis Circumfpectionibus vris in hac parte
4 plurimum Confidentes Aflignavimus vos ac te-
6 nore prefent' Damus vob' & aliquibus tribus
* vel plur' vrm' Quorum prefat' Jofephum Jekyl
4 Littleton Powys Johem Blencowe Robtum Tra-
4 cey Robtum Price Robtum Dormer Robtum
* Eyre Jacobum Montagu Johem Fortefcue A-
4 land & Francum Page unum efie Volumus in
4
abfentia dicli Cancellar' noftri Magna? Bri- prehend it neceflary to read all the others over

;

per al' literas

noftras patentes huic CommifTion' fuperfederi

mandat' foret aut per dictum Cancellar' no-
ftrum Magna? Britannia? in plena Cur' determi-
nari decret' & irrotulat' erit. In cujus rel tefti-

monium has literas noftras fieri fecimus paten-
tentes Tefte meipfo apud Weftm' Vicefimo die

Januarij Anno rni' nri' Octavo.

Per ipfum Regem

WR1G HTE.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we don't ap-

tannia? plen' poteftat' & Authoritat' audiend' &
examinand' quafcunq •, materias caufas & peti-

tiones coram nob' in dicta Cancellar' noftra

inter quofcunq; ligeos & fubditos aut alios

we fhall deliver them in ; unlefs it be defired by
the noble Lord. My Lords, we now beg leave

to call Mr. Meller, who hath executed the Office

of a Mafter in Chancery for feveral Years. He
quofcunq; nunc penden' aut importer' ibidem will give your Lordfhips fome Account of the
exhibend' & penden' & eafdem materias caufas Nature and of the manner of Execution of that
& petitiones juxta fanas difcretiones vras vel Office, in fupport of what the Commons have
triu' vrm' Quorum prefat' Jofephum Jekyl charged.

Littleton Powys Johem Blencowe Robtum
Tracey Pobtum Price Robtum Dormer
Robtum Eyre Jacobum Montagu Johem For-

Mr. John Meller fworn.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire Mr.
tefcue Aland & Francum Page unum effe Vo- Meller may be afked whether he hath executed
lumus finalit' terminand' & debit' execution'

demandand' partefq-, in materiis caufis feu

petitionibus illis noiat' & fpecificat' ac teftes

& alios quofcunq-, quos vob' vel tribus vrm'
(ut praed' eft) fore videbitur evocand' quoties

the Office of a Mafter in Chancery, and how long,
and what is the nature of that Office?

Ld. Ch. Juft. King. Sir, you hear the Que-
stion? -

Mr. Meller. My Lords, according to the beft

expedire videritis coram vob' vel tribus vrm' of my Remembrance, I was admitted a Mafter
ut praed' eft) evocand' ac ipfos & eorum quern- the latter End of the Year 170S, and continued
libet debite examinari compellend' diefq; pro- fo till July 1720. The general Nature of the
ductiores imponend' & afllgnand' proceflufq;

quofcunq; in ea parte neceffar' concedend' ac
fieri faciend' contemptus etiam quofcunq; comifs'

five perpet' debit' caftigand'-& puniend' ceteraq;

Office is, to digeft and film up thofe matters

which are ordered upon Hearing to be referred

to us, by way of Report: That is the general

Bufinefs. There is a further Bufinefs, when Bills

of
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of Cofts are to be taxed, they are taxed and ad-

jufled by us what is to be paid. I don't recoiled

any more particular Bufinefs.

Mr. Lutwycbe. I defire he may be afked, for

whofe Service and Ufe thofe Reports are made?

Mr. Meller. Thofe Reports are made for the

Ufe of the Suitors of the Court. 'Tis to ftate

the Facts that the Lord Chancellor has referred to

the Mailer, that are too tedious for the Court

to look into.

Mr. Lutwycbe. To whom are they returned

and directed ?

Mr. Meller. Thefe Reports are made to the

Court, to the Lord Chancellor, or the Mailer of

the Rolls. They have thefe Reports, and make
a final Order upon them.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire he may be aiked,

when Reports of the feveral matters referred to

the Mailer to confider of, which would take up
too much Time of the Court to fettle, are made,

whether thofe Reports of the Mailer are at all

conclufive ? Or what is the method in cafe the Par-

ties don't acquiefce ?

Mr. Meller. My Lords, the Report is only to

ftate the Facts to the Court; and till the Report

is confirmed by the Court, what the Mailer hath

reported has no Effect. So that I apprehend it is

only to lay the State of the matter before the

Court : If what the Mailer reports, feems agree-

able to the Court, then they confirm it ; if not,

they vary it, or fometimes fend it back again to

the Mailer for his further Confideration.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I defire that Mr.
Meller may inform your Lordihips, if any Per-

fon apprehends the Facts miftaken, whether they

have not an Opportunity of rectifying this Re-
port of the Mailer
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forms an Opinion upon the whole. Then it goes'

to the Court, and the Parties have Liberty to go
upon thofe Objections before the Court, who fi-

nally determine.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire, my Lords, that Mr.
Meller may acquaint your Lordihips who prefided
in the Court when he came in?

Mr. Meller. My Lord Cowper, I take it, was
then Chancellor; it was in the Year 1708, or
the Beginning of 1709.
Mr. Com. Serj. We defire to know whether he

gave any Money when he came into the Office,

and to whom ?

Mr. Plummer. We have called this Gentleman
to give an Account of the Nature of the Office
of a Mailer in Chancery, we are not come to that

Matter of giving of Money ; we fubmit whether
it is neceffary to enter into that Queflion now ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. If this Gentleman is to be
called again, we beg leave to referve that Queilion '

till they come to that Part of the Charge.
Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I have another Que-

ilion to aik: It has been afked, whether the De-
termination of a Mailer in Chancery is final ? I

defire it may be aiked, if the Mailer in Chancery
makes a Report, to which there is no Exception,

whether the Decree in Chancery is not according
to that Report ?

Mr. Meller. I take it, after the Mailer has

made a Report, and there is no Exception to it,

that Report is firft confirmed nift, and then it is

confirmed abfolutely upon a fecond Motion.
Mr. Lutwycbe. My Lords, I defire he may be

asked another Queilion : If there be a Reference

concerning an Anfwer which is alledged infuffi-

cient, and the Mailer reports it infufficient, whe-
ther it is not final and conclufive, unlefs the Party

Mr. Meller. My Lords, fo far as I apprehend, takes Exception to fuch Report?

the Rule of the Court is this, when a Report is Mr. Meller. Unlefs the Party takes Exception,

drawn up, the Parties on both Sides have Liberty 'tis looked upon as final : For then he fubmits

to object to that Report before the Mailer; and and puts in a farther Anfwer, and then the End
whatever they put in by way of Objection before of referring it to the Mailer is anfwered : But the

the Mailer, they may fpeak to thofe feveral Points Party may except if he pleafes.

when the Report comes before the Court.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. What are the matters that

are' generally referred to the Mailers by the

Court ?

Mr. Meller. The Chief matters are the ilating

of Accounts.

Mr. Strange. My Lords, I beg leave to aik

the Witnefs this Queilion. Whether any matters

of Judgment are at any Time referred by the

Court to the Mailer ?

Mr. Meller. The Nature of Reports requires

fome Conclufion upon them, to be given by the

Mailers according to the beft of their Opinion.

But the Court gives a Sanction to thofe Reports.

Mr. Strange. Whether in any one Inftance,

the Judgment of the Mailer is final to the Suitor ?

Mr. Meller. I will recollect, and give your

Lordihips the beft Account that I can remember
as to that. I think when a Mailer has taxed a

Bill of Coils, there is a Subpoena taken out for

the Coils upon the Mailer's Report, without go-

ing to the Court. I am not fure.

Mr. Com. Serj. When Exceptions are taken to

a Mailer's Report, doth the Mailer or the Court
pafs a Judgment upon them ?

Mr. Meller. The Method is this, when a Re-
port is drawn up, a Copy is given to both Sides,

and each Side puts in fuch Objections to it as

they think proper ; the Mailer goes through thofe

Objections, and having gone through them, he

Vol, VI.

Mr. Lutwycbe. As to the taxing of Coils, whe-
ther when the Colts are taxed to a particular

Sum, that is not final and conclufive, unlefs the

Party makes Application to the Court?

Mr. Meller. I apprehend I did anfwer that be-

fore. The Mailer, after he has taxed the Bill of

Coils, the Clerk in Court, as I take it, makes

out Subpoenas for Coils of courfe : But I cannot

fpeak to that fo well as the Clerks in Court ; but

I take that to be the Practice.

Earl of Abingdon. I would be glad to be in-

formed in this Point : Suppofing a Sum of Mo-
ney to be laid out upon a Purchafe or Mortgage,

whether the Titles of thofe Eftates are not com-

monly referred to a Mailer, and whether the

Matter does not judge of, or determine thofe

Titles?

Mr. Meller. In that Cafe, I can only fpeak to

what came before myfelf. When there was an

Order to put Money out upon a Mortgage, the

firft Step I took was, I fent the Title-Deeds to

fome able Counfel ; when I had his Opinion, I

ufed the beit of my Judgment to inform myfelf:

If I found no Objection, then I thought I was

obliged to allow the Security, and accordingly

made my Report of Allowance ; and then, as

Mailer, fet my Hand to the Side of the Deed.

Mr. Lutwycbe. Another Queflion I would beg

leave to aik. Tho' it is well known, yet it is fit

it ihould appear from the Witnefs, and that is,

4 S whether
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whether the Matters don't fit upon the Bench with ther the managers will have any Occafion to call

my Lord Chancellor in open Court in Weftminfter- him again •, but he fhall flay here to attend, in

Hall every Term ? order to be called when he is wanted, either by

Mr. Meller. My Lords, in Wefiminfter-Hall the Noble Lord or any other Perfon. We don't

three Mafters are required to attend the Chan- think fit to trouble your Lordfhips with any other

cellor ; at his own Houfe two ; and the like at

the Rolls.

Mr. Com. Serj. If the Gentlemen have done,

we beg leave to afk one Queftion : Whether even

in the Cafe of Cofts, if the Parties are diffatif-

fied, Application is not made to the Court (tho'

not by way of Exception, yet by Motion) to

refer it back again ?

Mr. Meller. In the Cafe of Cofts, it hath been

a very rare thing to apply to the Court. Some

Inftances there have been, I believe, but few.

Mr. Com. Serj. I beg leave the Mafter would

inform your Lordfhips, whether in the Cafe of

Titles, if there happens any Difference in the

Opinion of the Parties, they apply to the

Evidence as to that matter. Their Authority
in Court appears by the Commiffions that have
been produced. It is not faid in the Introduction

to the Articles, that the Matters are to controul

the Lord Chancellor, but to afiift him in the Ad-
miniftration and Execution of Juftice, of which
we think we have produced the fulleft Proof*,

and beg leave to proceed to another Part of our
Evidence, that which relates to the Profits of
the Office of Lord Chancellor. The ordinary

Profits, not to mention the extraordinary ones,

which have been made by the Noble Lord within

the Bar, I think may be computed to amount to

8000 /. a Year, or thereabouts •, fo that there is

no Occafion to ufe other Means. But not to

Court, or are concluded by the Opinion of the enter into them all, we fhall only beg leave to

Mafter ?

Mr. Meller. I never knew, during the Time
that I was in the Office, that any Title was ever

contefted before the Court ; I mean in my own
Cafe.

Mr. Com. Serj. Whether or no he knows any

Cafe where the Parties have differ'd in Opinion much he has paid him?

call one Witnefs to prove one grofs annual Sum
of 1500 /. a Year paid out of the Hanaper-OJfi.ee.

My Lords, we defire Mr. Pynfent may be afked,

for what annual Sum he accompted to the late

Lord Chancellor out of the Hanaper-OJfi.ee, du-

ring his Time of being in the faid Office ; how

about a Title, that the Matter's Opinion has con-

cluded the Parties ?

Mr. Meller. I don't know, while I was in the

Office, that there was ever any Objection before

me in the Cafe of a Title.

Mr. Robins. Give me leave to afk one Que-
ftion : You fay three Mafters fit with my Lord
Chancellor at IVeftminfier, two at his own Houfe:

I defire to know what they do there, whether

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I beg leave to op-

pofe that Queftion. I believe there is no Pay-

ment from the Crown but what is always upon
Record ; and therefore that being a matter of a

higher Nature, they ought to produce thofe Re-
cords, and not examine Witnefies -viva voce to it.

E. of Macclesfield. I believe this Gentleman
is right in his Objection in Point of Law. But
however, as this Perfon is the proper Officer, and

I believe an honeft Man, I will not infift uponthey fit as Affiftants?

Mr. Meller. My Lords, I don't know that ever the Nicety.

their Advice was afked. Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire to know how
Dr. Sayer. My Lords, I would afk whether much a Year he has paid to the impeached Lord

they ever interpofed by way of Judgment, or out of the Hanaper-Ojfice ?

took upon them to act as Judges ?

Mr. Meller. My Lords, I think not, I don't

remember any Inftance of it.

Mr. Strange. My Lords, I defire he may be

afked, whether what the Mafter ever does is con-

firmed of courfe, or is there not a Motion for

that purpofe ?

Mr. Meller. I thought I mentioned that be-

fore : I fhall repeat it again. There is firft a

motion to confirm nifi Caufia; and upon the fe-

cond motion, unlefs there is Caufe fhewn, it is

confirmed.

Mr. Pynfent. I have no Voucher with me;
but as far as I can charge my memory, 'tis about

13 or 1400 I. a Year.

E. of Macclesfield. If he had had his memoran-
dum with him, I was willing he fhould giveNyour

Lordfhips an Account of that matter ; but if he

fpeaks only by an uncertain memory of it, I hope

I fhall not be bound by it, efpecially when he

himfelf affigns the Want of his Vouchers as a

Reafon why he cannot be certain.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire he

may be afked, How much he can take upon him
Mr. Strange. My Lords, I defire he may be to fay he has paid ? It is not material whether by

afked, if there is not an Affidavit of Service of
the firft Order ?

Mr. Meller. I believe there is ; but that is the

Bufinefs of the Sollicitor.

Mr. Strange. My Lords, I beg leave he may
be afked one Queftion more, whether there is not
a Certificate alfo from the Regifter that no Caufe
is fhewn ?

Mr. Meller. My Lords, I can't fpeak particu-

larly as to that •, it is a Bufinefs that does not lie

before the Mafter in his Office : I believe in many
Cafes the Regifter certifies.

.

Dr. Sayer. We will trouble your Lordfhips
with no more Queftions except this one ; that is,

Whether we fhall fee Mr. Meller asain ? For if

we are to take our leave of him now, we fhould
offer fome other Queftions before he departs.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I can't tell whe-

Warrant or Special Direction : it is only a Que
ftion of Fact, whether he can be certain to a Sum,

either 13 or 1400 /. a Year, or other Sum?
Mr. Pynfent. I can fay above 1000/. a Year.

If I had my Vouchers here, I could be more

certain.

Mr. Com. Serj. The Noble Lord waved the

Objection, upon a Suppofition that he had a

certain Account. As he has not, I muft beg

leave to infift: upon the Objection that I made a-

gainft the legality of the Proof.

Mr. Lulwyche. We only afk in this Cafe to a

Fact, what he paid to him ; and I will add this

further, for what Time ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we muft infift upon

our Objection. The Witnefs fays he is uncertain

how much he has paid : He fays he has Vouchers

which will fhew the particular Sums he has paid ;

and
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and fince it is in their Power to produce thofe tor, may have the Receipts in their Pockets, I

Vouchers, we mult fubmit it that they fhall pro- thought it was then high Time to flop them. This
duce the bed Evidence they have in their Power Gentleman did fay it was more than iooo/. My
to give, and that the Receipts and Vouchers fhall Lords, I admit it, I believe it to be wool, a.

be produced. Year, or thereabouts: if I knew exactly, I would
Mr. Com. Serj. The Anfwer of the Honour- tell it, I never intended to difpute the Matter,

able managers to the Objection, is no Anfwer. Mr. Weft. I would not have your Lordfhips

They fay 'tis a matter of Fact ; but that matter imagine that the Commons are capable of work-
of Fact is matter of Record : it muff, be proved ing up a Witnefs. It is unworthy of the Corn-

by the Record, becaufe the Law expects the mons of Great Britain, of the Gentlemen ap-

higheft Proof to be made that can be, even in pointed managers in their Behalf; it is impolh-

trifling Cafes, and much more when the Honour ble that they fhould have any View but the

of fo great a Lord is in Queftion. Truth of the Fact, and the Juftice of the Caufe.

Mr. Serj. Prcbyn. I defire to know if there is The Queftion afked was only what it was he

not conftantly a Receipt given upon every Pay- paid ; it was not endeavouring to work him up
ment ? to any Thing. If this was a Queftion relating to

Mr. Pynfent. Yes, and thofe Receipts are car- the Crimes charged upon his Lordfhip, I fhould

ried into the Auditors Office, and there they reft. not have been fo much furprized ; but this is

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Then they can be come at? only an Aggravation contained in the Preamble.

Mr. Pynfent. Yes, they are carried in yearly. I think the litigating the Point is as great an

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, I did not expect Aggravation, as the proving the Payment of the

this Objection : But we mult fubmit it whether Money.

there is any Foundation for it. If the matter of E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I did not in-

Record be infilled on, only with refpect to the tend any Reflection upon the Commons ; nor did

Receipt given, there is no Need of it : better E- I fay any thing which amounts to it. I did fay

vidence cannot be given to prove Payment, than the Sollicitor might have the Receipts, I don't

the man who paid it. The common Evidence know what they have in their Hands. The
to prove Payment of Money, is to produce a learned Gentleman that fpoke laft, fays 'tis not a

man to fwear that he paid that money. No bet- Charge, only an Aggravation: if it be an Ag-
ter Evidence can be given ; and tho' a Receipt is gravation, fhould it not be proved, and legally

given, yet when a Perfon proves he paid the mo- proved? But I have been ready to make this

ney, he need not produce the Receipt : it is better matter eafy, for I agreed it to be as much as

Evidence than the Receipt: A Receipt may be their own Witnefs can with any Certainty fay it

given without Payment. Therefore we appre- was, and I don't think it to be any Aggravation ;

hend that the VVitnefs's Proof of the Payment, and therefore told your Lordfhips I believed in

is fufficient to prove this matter of Fact. might be uoo /. a Year, or thereabouts, not be-

Mr. Com. Serj. I apprehend there is no mo- ing willing to take up any more of your Lord-

ney either received or iffued out by the Crown, fhips Time about it.

but what appears by Record. It is not only Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, the managers

thofe Receipts that is the Strength of the Objec- for the Houfe of Commons do not think it fo

tion ; but when there are matters uncertain, and material whether it be n or 1500/. a Year. We
the Witnefs fays he can't declare what it was, will take the Noble Lord's Admiffion: And we
whether upon that Foundation your Lordfhips apprehend, as it is 1100/. a Year, it is a reafon-

won't expect a certain Evidence, not only from able Addition to the Salary of his Office,

the Nature of the^ Thing, but from the prefent E. of Macclesfield. I only would afk this Qje-

Circumftances of this Cafe, when the Witnefs ftion, Do you remember what the Chancellor's

declares that he cannot remember it? Annual Salary is?

Mr. Strange. My Lords, I wonder to hear it Mr. Pynfent. No, I do not.

faid, that a Perfon who fv/ears to the Payment of E. of Macclesfield. That is Part of the Parti-

money, is the moft certain Evidence. He may cular that makes up the 1100/. per Annum ?

be miftaken, the Receipt cannot. Therefore we Mr. Pynfent. I think it is fo.

muft fubmit it, as they have opened it, whether E. ox* Macclesfield. Is it not 300 /. per Annum?
this is the beft Evidence ? Mr. Pynfent. I think it is thereabouts.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I wonder your Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I defire he may
Lordfhips fhould be troubled with any Thing of be afked, whether or no this 1100/. a Year

this Kind, in order to prove a Salary of 1500 /. hath been ufually allowed to the preceding Lords

a Year belonging to the Noble Lord's Office, Chancellors ?

when we afk only to the Quantum of the Sum Mr. Pynfent. I take it for granted that it

which he did receive from Mr. Pynfent : The Qje- was fo.

ftion is, whether we fhall be admitted to afk that Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we fhall now

Queftion? It is admitted that the Witnefs paid proceed to call our Witneffes in Support of the

the Salary: All the Queftion is, what he paid? Ninth Article, that being a diftinct Particular,

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I am forry relating to a Sum not at all involved in the

your Lordfhips Time fhould be taken up about a Queftions touching the Mafters 5 and, as we ap-

Thing of this kind. When the Objection was prehend, received by the Noble Earl under

firft made by my Counfel, which I apprehend is Circumftances of the greateft Aggravation that

right, I flood up to acquaint your Lordfhips, ispoffible; abufing the Royal Authority, or that

that I did not inflft upon the Nicety of it. This Share of it which the Noble Lord enjoyed at

Gentleman ufed to pay me money, and I believe that Time when he was one of the Lords Juftices.

he is a very honeft Gentleman •, but when he Therefore we give Preference to that Article,

comes to fay he is not fure how much, and they and defire Mr. Thomas Bennct, whom I fee in

were working him up to a higher Pitch, andthefe your Lordfhip's Houfe, may be fworn and ex-

Gentlemen, for ought I know, or their Sollici- amined.& Mr.
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, Mr. Bennet was

the Perfon who was poflefied of the Office of

the Clerk of the Cuftodies, at the time of the

Refignation of it for the Benefit of Mr. Ha-

merfley, who has now a Patent. We have the

Patent here ; and if that be read, it will more

fully acquaint your Lordfhips with the Nature of

the Office, and then we fhall acquaint your Lord-

fhips with the Nature of the Tranfaftion.

The Patent begun to be read,

1 Tefte, &c. 5
t0 Septemb' An. 10 Georgii Regis.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Tho' the Noble Lord's

Name be not mentioned in the Patent, yet it

is fufficiently known from the Date and Time
of it, that it was when the Noble Lord was one

of the Lords Juftices, and had the Cuftody of

the Seals, and that at that time he affixed the

Seals to this Patent.

Then the Patent was begun again to be read.

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I beg Pardon

for interrupting, I don't know whether they

think it of any particular Ufe to read it through -,

if not, for faving your Lordfhip's time, I admit

that a Grant was made of the Office to Mr. Ha-
merfley, on the Surrender of Mr. Bennet.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, as it is necef-

fary to fhew the Refignation of Mr. Thomas Ben-

net, fo likewife the Nature of the Office ; and
therefore to the end that may be the better feen,

we beg leave the Patent may be read.

Clerk reads.

GE O R G I U S Dei Gratia, Magnas Bri-

tannia, Francias & Hibernias Rex, Fidei

Defenfor, &c. Omnibus ad quos prefentes li-

teras noftrse pervenerint falutem. Cum nos per

Literasnoftras Patentes fubMagnoSigillo noftro

Magnas Britannias confeftas geren' dat' apud
Weftm' vicefimo die Martii, Anno Regni no-

ftri tertio pro nobis Heredibus & Succefforibus

noftris dederimus & Concefferimus Dilefto &
fideli noftro Thomas Bennet Armigero Officium

Clerici ad Scribend' & Conficiend' omnia & fin-

gula Bria de diem claufit extremum, & Manda-
mus & Commiffiones ad inquirend' poft mortem
& de Ideotis & Lunaticis & ad melius inquirend'

inde & fuperfed' eorundem ac omnia al' Bria

& Procefs' eorund' ac omnia al' Bria de Procefs'

cujufcunque Generis Nominis Naturas vel Spe-

ciei effent vel forent que ante turn de vel nuper
in Cur' Wardor' &Libationum aliquor' Prede-

ceffor' noftror' antetunc Regum vel Reginar'

Angl' perWarrant' ibidem dum eadm' Cur' ftetit

& fuit in Ufu & Vigore fa ft' & Concefs' affignat'

vel appunftuat' fuerant, vel fieri concedi affig-

nari vel appunftuari confuerant vel debuerant
ac de vel in Cur' noftra Cancellar' vel aliquor'

PredecefTor' noftror' antetunc Regum vel Re-
ginarum Angl' fub Magno Sigillo Angl' impe-
trat' & perfecut' fuerant vel impetrari & profe-

qui confueverant vel debuerant ac oies & fingul'

Litems Paten' de Cuftod' Corporum- omnium
Wardor' Idiotor' & Lunaticor' noftror' Hered'
& Succeflbr' noftrorum & de Maritag' eorund'

Wardor' fub Magno Sigillo Magnae Britannias

impetrand' & profequend' necnon omnia al' Bria

Commiffiones & procefs' cujufcunque Generis

Nominis Naturas vel Speciei efient vel forent de
vel in Cur' noftra Cancellar' Hasred' & Succef-

for' noftrorum fub magno Sigillo nro Magnas
Britannias Heredu' vel Succeflbrum noftrorum
premiffa predifta feu eorum aliqua tangen'

vel concernen' fiend' concedend' impetrand'
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feu profequend' HA BEND' tenend' gau-
dend' & exercend' prediftum Officium & omnia
& fingula premifla predifta fuperius_ fpecificat'

prefat' Thomas Bennett per feipfum vel per
iufficientem Deputat' fuum five Deputatos fuos

fufficientes a die dat' prerecitat' Literarum no-
ftrarum Patentium ad Termin' & pro Termino
vitas naturalis ipfiusThomas Bennett una cum om-
nibus predift' profic' & advantag' ad indefpec-

tan' prout per eafdem Literas Paten' (inter al')

in eifdem content' relatione inde habita plenius

liquet & apparet cumque prasfat' Thomas Ben-
nett per quoddam Scriptum fuum fub Manu &
Sigillo fuis figillat' geren' Dat' nono die Au-
gufti, Anno Regni noftri decimo, ac in Cur'
Cancellar' noftra debito modo Irrotlat' Officium

& premifla predifta ac tot' ftatum jus Titulum
& interefle fua in eifdem una cum diftis recitat'

Literis noftris Patentibus Cancelland' in Ma-
nus noftras furfum reddiderit. Quam quidem
furfum redditionem nos acceptavimus ac per
prefentes acceptamus Sciatis modo quod nos de
Gratia noftra fpeciali ac ex certa Scientia &
mero motu noftris Dedimus & conceffimus ac

per prefentes pro nobis Heredibus & Succeffo-

ribus noftris Damns & concedimus dilefto &
fideli noftro Hugoni Hamerfley de Interiori

TemploLondin' Armigero diftum Officium Cle-

rici ad fcribend' & conficiend' omnia & fingula

Bria de diem claufit extremum & Mandamus
& Commiffiones ad inquirend' poft mortem &
de Idiotis & Lunaticis & ad melius inquirend*

inde & fuperfed' eorund' ac omnia al' Bria &
Procefs' eorund' ac omnia al' Bria & Procefs'

cujufcunque Generis Nominis Naturae vel Spe-

ciei fint vel fuerint quas antehac de vel nuper
in Cur' Wardorum & Liberationum aliquorum

Predeceflbrum noftrorum nuper Regum vel Re-
ginarum Angl' per Warrant' ibidem dum eadem
Cur' ftetit & fuit in Ufu & Vigore faft' con-

cefs' affignat' vel appunftuat' fuerunt vel fieri

concedi affignari vel appunftuari confueverunt

vel debuerunt ac de vel in Cur' noftra Cancel-

lar' vel aliquorum Predeceflbrum noftrorum nu-

per Regum vel Reginarum Angl' fub Magno
Sigillo Angl' impetrat' & profecut' fuerunt vel

impetrari & profequi confueverunt vel debu-

erunt ac omnes & fingul' Literas Paten' de Cu-
ftodia Corporum omnium Wardorum Idiotorum

& Lunaticorum noftrorum Hasred' & Succeflbr'

noftrorum & de Maritag' eorund' Wardor' fub

Magno Sigillo Magnas Britannias impetrand' &
profequend' necnon omnia al' Bria Commiffio-

nes & procefs' cujufcunque Generis nomis Na-
turas vel Speciei fint vel fuerint de vel in Cur'

noftra Cancellar' Heredum & Succeflbrum no-

ftrorum fub Magno Sigillo noftro Magnas Bri-

tannias Hered' vel Succeflbrum noftrorum pre-

mifla predifta feu eorum aliqua tangen' vel con-

cernen' fiend' concedend' impetrand' feu pro-

fequend' ac ipfum Hugonem Hamerfley Cleri-

cum & Officiarium noftrum Hered' & Succeflbr'

noftrorum ad fcribend' & conficiend' omnia &
fingula predifta Bria Commiffiones procefs'

fuperfed' Literas Paten' ac omnia & fingula cas-

tera premifla fuperius fpecificat' de vel in dift'

Cur' Cancellar' noftra ac Hered' & Succeflbr'

noftror' impofterum de tempore in tempus

concedend' profequend' feu quovifmodo impe-

trand' Qrdinamus, Conjlituhnus, Erigimus & Sta-

bilimus per prefentes Habend' Tenend'' Utend'

Gaudend* Exercend'' Fungend' & Adminiftrand'

predict' Offic' & omnia & fingula premifla pre-

' difta



lyij. H. L. for High dimes

didta fuperius fpecificat' prefat' Hugoni Ha-

merfley per feipfum vel per fufficientem Depu-

tatum fuum five Deputatos fuos fufficientes a

confeftione harum literarum noftrarum Patent'

ad Terminum & pro TerminoVitae natural is ip-

fius Huo-onis Hamerfley una cum omnibus & fin-

c-ulis Feod' profic' commoditat' emolument' ju-

nbus Privileg' & al' rebus quibufcunque modo

vel antehac ufitat' pro premilfa vel eorum aliqua

recept' feu eifdem vel eorum alicui pertinen' in-

cident vel incumben' quovifmodo adeo plene li-

bere & integre ac in tarn amplis modo & forma

prout prefat' Thomas Bennett, vel aliquis alius

five aliqui alii predictum Officium & camera pre-

miffa feu eorum aliqu' antehac habentes vel

exercentes habens feu exercens habuerunt ex-

ercuerunt perceperunt & gavifi fuerunt habuit

exercuit percepit & gavifus fuit aut habere exer-

cere percipere aut gaudere debuerunt aut de-

buit in & pro Exercitio ejufdem Officii & cas-

terorum premifibrum. Et hoc abfque computo

feu aliquo alio proinde nobis Heredibus vel

Succefioribus noftris reddend' folvend' vel fa-

ciend' Volumus etiam ac per prefentes pro no-

bis Heredibus & Succefioribus noftris concedi-

mus prefat' Hugoni Hamerfley quod ipfe cu-

ftodiet intrabit & tranfcribet omnes & fingulos

Ordines Reportationes & comput' fact' decla-

rat' & perfect' five faciend' declarand' & perfi-

cie'nd' tangen' vel concernen' diet' Idiot' vel Lu-

natic' & flat' eorund' vel eorum aliquorum vel

alicujus Volumus etiam quod nullus alius Cleri-

cus Cancellarias noftrae Hered' vel Succefibr'

noftror' nee aliquis alius five aliqui alii cum
Scriptur' Confeclione feu Compofitione pre-

dicorum Briorum Commifiion' procefs' Lite-

rarum Paten' vel cum Cuftodia Intracone &
Tranfcriptione predict' Ordin' Reportation' &
computorum aut al' premifibrum aut alicujus

eorundem ullo modo fe intromittat feu intro-

mittant fine affenfu & confenfu ipfius Hugonis

Hamerfley. Et quod idem Hugo Hamerfley

aut Deputat' fuus five Deputat' fui fufficien' in

hac parte aflignat' five affignand' Omnia &
fingula predicta Bria Commiffiones Literas

Paten' Ordinationes Certification' Compofition'

& csetera premilfa de vel in dicT Cur' Cancel-

lar' noftra ac Heredum & Succeflbrum noftro-

rum profequend' conficiend' impetrand' cufto-

diend' intrand' vel tranferibend' fcribere con-

ficere cuftodire intrare & tranferibere poflint

& quilibet eorum poffit. In cujus rei Teftimo-

nium has Literas noftras fieri fecimus Patentes

Teftibus Willielmo Archiepifcopo Cantuar' &
casteris Cuftodibus & Jufticiariis Regni noftri

apud Weftmonafterium quinto Die Septembris,

Anno Regni noftri Decimo.

Per bre' de privato Sigillo,

CO C KS.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. The Reading of thefe Let-

ters Patents fhews, that this Office is in the Gift

of the Crown : It likewife fhews, that the Re-
fignation of Mr. Tbo. Bennct was for the Benefit

of Mr. Hamerfley', for that is recited in the Letters

Patents themfelves. Now, my Lords, we fhall

fhew your Lordfhips upon what Confideration or
Bargain that Refignation and new Grant were made.

Mr. Com. Serj. I beg leave to make an Ob-
jection to that : The Foundation of this Article
is a corrupt Agreement for the Refignation of an
Office accepted by the Lord Chancellor. Now,
in the Letters Patents in general, a Refignation
is taken notice of j but they ought to make it ap-
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pear, That his Lordfhip's Permifllon or Accep-
tance of it is neceflary. The Refignation is not
made to the Lord Chancellor : Therefore we
hope it fhall not, by way of Conclufion and Im-
plication, be an Evidence to prove this Refigna-
tion to be accepted or procured by him. The Re-
fignation was in facl: made without his Privity ;

and the Refignation itfelf is of Record, and muft.
be proved by Record.
Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, I can hardly think

myfelf at your Lordfhips Bar, by the Objections
which are made by the Counfel for the noble
Lord. They object before they hear us : They
object we cannot prove the Refignation to the
Earl

: When we have produced our Proof, then
they will fee whether it be fufficient : 'Tis time
enough for them to make the Objection then.
If we are to be objected to, upon every Witncfs
we call, before we have asked them one Queftion,
I

_
am afraid a great deal more Trouble will be

given your Lordfhips than we are willing to give.
We are firft to ask our Queftions : if we ask an
improper Queftion, they may object: to the Que-
ftion : Or, if the Anfwer don't prove our Charge,
they may obferve on it when it is given. I little

expected' this Method at your Lordfhips Bar.
Lords. Go on, go on.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We don't apprehend there
is any Occafion to enter into this Objection. It

is a Refignation to the Crown, but through the
Hands of the Lord Chancellor : He is the Lord
that puts the Seal to the Inftrument: But if fur-

ther Evidence be neceffary, they muft object: to
that when we have gone through the Proof.
Therefore we beg Leave to ask Mr. Tbo. Bennet.

Mr. Lutwyche. I thought they would have ob-
jected to our asking Mr. Bennet any Queftions ac
all.

Mr. Onflow. It is rather an Obfervation upon
our Evidence, which will be more proper for them
when they come to make the noble Lord's Defence.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg leave to ask Mr.
Bennet, what Application he made for Liberty to

refign this Office, and for Mr. Hamerfley to be
admitted ?

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. My Lords, as foon as I was
admitted a Mafter of the Court of Chancery,
which was the 3d of June 1723, I thought it in-

confiftent to hold this Office of Clerk of the

Cuftodies, which I had before ; and therefore I

intended to furrender it to fome Perfon that was
proper : _ And after I had found Mr. Hamerfley,

and made an Agreement with him, I applied to

Mr. Cottingham, then Secretary to my Lord Chan-
cellor. I told him I was pofiefled of an Office in

the Gift of the Crown, and was willing to fur-

render, and was going to apply to a Secretary of

State, to get the King's Leave to furrender, for the

Benefit of Mr. Hamerfley. I told him that the

Office being in the Court of Chancery, the Se-

cretary of State would naturally ask my Lord
Chancellor, whether the Perfon I propofed was

well-affected to the Government, and qualified

for the Place: And therefore, for that Reafon,

I thought it my Duty to acquaint my Lord Chan-

cellor with my Intention, and who the Perfon was,

I intended to fucceed me. I defired Mr. Cotting-

bam to acquaint my Lord Chancellor that Mr.

Hamerfley was the Perfon. Mr. Cotiingbam re-

plied, he would acquaint my Lord Chancellor, and

I fhould have an Anfwer as foon as poffible. He
appointed me to meet him the next Day, when

he told me he had acquainted my Lord Chancellor

4 T who
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who the Perfon was, and that my Lord Chan- with him, we beg that he may be asked a few
cellor faid he had not any Knowledge of him. I Queftions on behalf of my Lord Macclesfield.

told Mr. Cottingham he might have acquainted his What was it you defired Mr. Cottingham to fay in

Lordfhip that he knew him, for he lived the next your Favour to my Lord Macclesfield ?

Door to him : He is a Gentleman at the Bar well Mr. Tho. Bennet. I defired Mr. Cottingham to

known ; and I do afTure you he is in the Intereft acquaint my Lord Chancellor, that I intended to

of the Government. Says Mr. Cottingham, my apply myfelf to the Secretary of State, for Leave
Lord Chancellor don't know him, nor do I. I was

furprized at that. But however, faid he, Mr.
Bennet, there is a Prefent expected by my Lord
Chancellor, and if I made that Prefent, the thing

might be made eafy, and my Lord Chancellor

would do what I defired ; that is, to acquaint the qualified for the Place, and well affected to the

Secretary of State, that Mr. Hamerjley was a Government.

to furrender the Place of Clerk of the Cuftodies,

and to beg the Favour, that if the Secretary of
State mould enquire of him after the Abilities'

and Circumftances of Mr. Hamerjley, he might af-

fure the Secretary of State, that he was a man

Perfon well affected to the Government ; and that

I defired he might fucceed me in my Place. Mr.
Cottingham faid, there muft be a Prefent. On this,

I told Mr. Cottingham, that it was not ufual to

give any Prefent upon this Occafion ; that, in my
own Cafe, when I came in, I gave none to my
Lord Cowper, and my Brother told me that he

and that at his coming in, he asked

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Was that all ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I think that was all.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Was that all that Mr. Cot-
tingham told you he had asked?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I don't remember any thino-

more, but only Mr. Cottingham returned for An-
fwer, my Lord did not know Mr. Hamerjley, and
I muft make a Prefent, and then what I defiredgave none

Lord Cowper if any thing was due to him, and my would be complied with

Lord Cowper denied that any thing was due, and Mr. Serj. Probyn. I think you fay you had
abfolutely refufed any thing : Befides, faid I, it ibme Treaty with Mr. Hamerjley about the Sur-

is very hard for my Lord Chancellor to ask or ac- render of your Office ?

cept any thing from me, becaufe I fo lately paid Mr. Tho. Bennet. Yes.

him fo great a Sum as fifteen hundred Guineas Mr. Serj. Probyn. Had you come to any Agree-
for my Mafter's Place; but if he will have it, I ment with him for the Office, if you could pro-
will give him one hundred Guineas. He faid he

would acquaint my Lord Chancellor with it ; and
the next day, or the day after, he told me that

cure a Surrender and Admittance ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Then I defire to know what
my Lord Chancellor would accept of that •, but it Sum of money he was to pay you for that Office,

was a very fmall Prefent, and it was a Favour my
Lord accepted it ; and my Lord would fend over

to Hanover for the King's Warrant, and I need

have no further Trouble befides paffing the Pa-

tent.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire he may
be asked, whether he paid the one hundred Gui-

neas to Mr. Cottingham, and in what manner ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I did pay it, I think it was in

a Bank Bill of 105 /.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Do you remember at what
time?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. It was long before the Re-
fignation : For, fome considerable time after, Mr.
Cottingham asked me what I meant that I did not

pafs the Patent, for the Warrant was come over.

I faid I had employ'd Mr. Tench to do it ; but

if you could procure him to be recommended ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We hope the Counfel will

not ask fuch a Queftion.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Jt is not fo proper for us to ob-
ject : The Objection is to come from him : We
may tell him that he is not bound to anfwer fuch
a Queftion, unlefs he pleafes.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I defire to be excufed an-
fwering a Queftion that is not material on one
fide or the other.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I hope it will be thought rea-

fonable, that he fhould inform your Lordfhips,
what was the Consideration that induced him to

furrender his Office, or what money he was to
have ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I might have furrendered
that Office without receiving any Money for it

;

however I would fpeak to him again ; which ac- whether I gave it away, or whether I fold it, is not

cordingly I did, and Mr. Tench paffed the Patent, material

and I paid him 64/. 17J. the Fees for paffing

the Patent.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was that over and above
the one hundred Guineas?
Mr. Tho. Bennet. Yes, my Lords.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was there any Deduction
upon the Payment of the one hundred Gui-
neas ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. None at all.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I defire he may be
a<=ked, how long this was after he was admitted a

Mafter in Chancery ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I believe it was about fix

Weeks. I was admitted a Mafter in Chancery
the Beginning of June, and the latter End of July

Mr. Strange. I defire to know whether he gave
it away.

Mr. Weft. The Queftion is only to induce him
to accufe himfelf of a Fact which may be preju-

dicial to him, and it hath no influence on the

Queftion before your Lordfhips ; which is not,

whether this Gentleman had a Right to give away
or fell his Office, but whether the Earl of Mac-
clesfield corruptly took money.

Mr. Sol. Gen. It is our Duty that he fhould

not be furprized into a Queftion that may fubject

him to Punifhment. It is not properly an Obje-

ction from us ; but we ought to let him know,
that an Anfwer to the Queftion may fubject him
to a Profecution. If he thinks fit to anfwer, we

following, I furrender'd my Office of Clerk of the have nothing to fay to it.

Cuftodies. Mr. Plummer. I have another Objection to the

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We have done with Mr. putting of this Queftion. I perceive the Counfel

Bennet. intend to draw out this Trial to an exceflive

Mr. Serj. Probyn. If the Gentlemen have done Length ; I hope your Lordfhips, for your own
Sakes,



1 7i j, H. L. for High Crimes

Sakes, will not permit this Queftion to be an-

fwered ?

E. of Abingdon. If this Point be infifted on,

on both Sides, it cannot be avoided but theymuft

withdraw: But I hope the Counfel for the noble

Lord will confider very well of it, before they

give your Lordlhips or the Managers that Trou-

ble: For if your Lordlhips fhould judge the Que-

ftion unreafonable, it would throw a Difgrace up-

on themfelves, and be at lead of no Service to the

noble Lord that is impeached.

E. of Macclesfield. I humbly apprehend this

Queftion to be extremely material, as that Cir-

cumftance of his having made this Prefent of One

hundred Guineas out of Two thoufand, perhaps,

which he received for furrendring the Place, muft

fet this matter in a different light than it would

appear in, if nothing elfe had been done but the

bare paying of the One hundred Guineas ; but fince

I perceive it to be your Lordfhips Senfe that he

fhould not be afked the Queftion, I therefore de-

cline infifting on it.

Dr. Sayer. My Lords, I beg leave to afk

Mr. Bennet this Queftion : He was pleafed to fay

that he gave a Hundred Guineas. Now I defire

it may be afked of him, whether he gave it to

permit him to refign, or to give a Recommenda-

tion of Mr. Hamerftey, or what elfe. That he

would pleafe to explain it, what it was given

for.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I have faid it twice; but I

will repeat it again. I faid that it was that my
Lord Chancellor might recommend the Perfon to

the Secretary of State ; for I apprehended it was

not in my Lord's Power or Gift : He might have

done it without taking any Money.

Dr. Sayer. With Regard to the 64 I. odd mo-

ney, what was that paid for? Whether to the

Great Seal only, or for the whole Fees in paiTing

the Patent through all the Offices ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. It was paid to Mr. Tench the

Clerk of the Patents, who paffed this Patent thro'

all the Offices ; and the Great Seal was included in

it, as I apprehend.

Dr. Sayer. I alk who this Mr. Tench is, whe-

ther he is an Officer belonging to the Great Seal,

under the Lord Chancellor ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. He is Clerk of the Patents

;

I do not know who he belongs to.

Mr. Robins. My Lords, I defire he may be

afked, Whether Mr. Cottingham told him, that

the Lord Macclesfield infifted upon any particular

Sum ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Mr. Cottingham told me, that

my Lord infifted upon One hundred Guineas ;

and I argued the Unreafonablenefs and Hardfhip

of it.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I defire Mr. Ben-

net may acquaint your Lordfhips, whether ever he

made any Application to the noble Lord for Per-

mifTion to refign ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I never fpoke to my Lord
myfelf.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. If the Gentlemen have done

with him, we beg leave to explain this Matter,

and to afk him upon what Account it was that

Mr. Cottingham, from my L.ord Macclesfield, faid a

Prefent was expected ?

Mr. Tho Bennet. I can't fay what was Mr.
Cottinghani's Reafon ; but he faid my Lord Chan-
cellor did not know Mr. Hamerjley •, and then

he went on, and faid, a Prefent was expected.

I apprehended, Mr. Cottingham took it, that I
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could not do it without my Lord Chancelloi
Confent.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,
Whether the Hundred Guineas was paid for a
Recommendation of Mr. Hamerjley, or that the
Whole, of procuring the Warrant for the Patent,
was to be done for it ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Mr. Cottingham affured me,
I need have no farther Trouble about it, if I

would pay the Hundred Guineas : He would get
the King's Warrant ; and I fhould have no far-

ther Trouble, but paffing the Patent.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire he may

be afked, whether he depended upon thefe Af-
furances, or whether he made Application to any
body elfe ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I never made any other Ap •

plication ; and I told Mr. Cottingham, if any Ac-
cident happened of Death, &c. before the War-
rant came over, I hoped my Lord Chancellor
would return the Hundred Guineas ; and he faid,

furely fo.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I beg leave to obferve,
that the Patent proves that this corrupt Bargain
was executed.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, whe-
ther Mr. Cottingham delivered to him the Sign-
manual, or whether Mr. Cottingham got the Pa-
tent paffed ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I never faw the Sign- manual.
He delivered it, as I believe, to Mr. Tench.

Mr. Lutwyche. Did Mr. Cottingham give you
Notice when the Sign-manual came over?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Yes, he did give me Notice
it was come over, and was very angry I did not
go about it.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire Mr. Bennet may give

your Lordfhips an Account what Time it was?
Mr. Tho. Bennet. About the latter End of

July.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be afked, whe-
ther he had not made Application to the Secre-

tary*s-Office?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. No, I had not made any Ap-
plication at all.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Did you never make any

Application to any other Perfon, either before

or after ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I am pofitive I did not.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Did you ever fay about that

Time, that you had made Application to any

other Perfon ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. No, I don't remember that

I did.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. No •, did you never make
Application to any body elk ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I never told any body, to

the beft of my Knowledge and Belief. I am very

confident I never did.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, if they have

done with this Witnefs, we beg leave to call

Mr. Cottingham, who was an Agent, and paid

over this money to my Lord Macclesfield.

Mr. Peter Cottingham fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we only call

Mr. Cottingham to acquaint your Lordfnips when

he paid over thefe Hundred Guineas to my Lord

Macclesfield.

Mr. Cottingham. In July I think it was.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. How long after you re-

ceived it from Mr. Tho. Bennet ?

Mr. Cottingham. I believe I paid it over that

Day, or the Day after.
J
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked, Office, to reimburfe himfelf the Money he had

how long before the Patent was paffed ?

Mr. Cottingham. I can't tell, becaufe I can't

certainly fay when the Patent paffed.

Mr. Lutwyche. We defire to afk him, whe-

ther it was that Year when the King was beyond

Sea?

Mr. Cottingham. I think, my Lords, it was ;

it was in July i 723.

Mr. Com. Serj. If the Gentlemen of the Houfe

of Commons have done with him, I beg that he

would give your Lordfhips an Account what Dif-

courfe he had with Mr. Bennet ?

Ld. Ch. Jicft. King. You hear the Queftion?

Mr. Cottingham. Mr. Tho. Bennet told me he

paid to Mr. Hiccocks for his Office.

Mr. Strange. What Office was that?

Mr. Cottingham. The Matter's Office.

Mr. Strange. Did he mention that?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, he did mention it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. If they have done, we bee
leave to ask Mr. Cottingham, fince he informed my
Lord, of the Circumftances of Mr. Ha?ner/ley, whe-
ther he acquainted my Lord of Mr. Hamerjley, be-
fore or after the Time he paid the 100 Guineas?

Mr. Cottingham. I acquainted his Lordfhip be-

fore.

M. Serj. Pengelly. I beg leave to afk another

Queftion. If this Gentleman can inform your

had agreed with Mr. Hamerjley for the Place of Lordfhips upon what Account it was, he received

Clerk of the Cuftodies ; and that he did not think

it convenient to keep two fuch confiderable Pla-

ces which depended upon his own Life only ;

that is, the Matter's Place, which he had before

purchafed, and this. He told me he had dif-

pofed of this Place to Mr. Hamerjley, in order

to reimburfe himfelf Part of the money he had

paid to Mr. Hiccocks for his Matter's Place that

the 100 Guineas from Mr. Bennet ?

Mr. Cottingham. I received the 100 Guineas
upon Account of his Surrender of his Office.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg leave to ask ano-
ther Queftion. Whether before he agreed with
Mr. Bennet, he had informed my Lord Macclesfield

of any Propofal, or what was to be expected ?

Mr. Cottingham. No, I don't remember I did.

he had purchafed of him, and for that Reafon he All that paffed on that Occafion was, Mr. Bennet

did not care to keep both. laid he was willing to give 100 Guineas, and he

Mr. Com. Serj. Did he tell you how much he hoped his Lordfhip would not infill upon more,

had difpofed of it for? Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I beg he may be afked ano-

Mr. Cottingham. No, he did not. ther Queftion. Whether when he came back

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I defire Mr. Cotting- from my Lord Macclesfield to Mr. Bennet, with

ham may be afkeci what it was Mr. Bennet defired the Account of the Acceptance of the One hun-

him to requeft of my Lord Macclesfield ? dred Guineas, he did not tell Mr. Bennet he ought

Mr. Cottingham. To the beft of my remem- to take it as a favour that his Lordfhip accepted

brance, he faid, he hoped that his Lordfhip would fo little?

Mr. Cottingham. I can't remember, but I

think I did not.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Can you fay you did, or
you did not ?

Mr. Cottingham. To the beft of my Remem-
brance I did not.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire he may inform

Dr. Sayer. It is of Confequence ; and there- your Lordfhips what Anfwer he brought to Mr.
fore I defire it may be afked, whether at the firft Bennet from my L,ord_Macc!esfield ?

Time he applied, he made this Offer of One hun-
dred Guineas?

Mr. Cottingham. He did, and I paid it over

to my Lord Macclesfield.

Dr. Sayer. I defire Mr. Cottingham may be afk-

accept of a Hundred Guineas, becaufe he had

received from him fo lately a Prefent for his ma-
iler's Place , and iie defired his Lordfhip to for-

ward his Petition to his Majefty.

Dr. Sayer. Was this on the firft Applications?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes ; he never made but one
Application to me.

Mr. Cottingham. The Anfwer my Lord Mac-
clesfield ordered me to give Mr. Bennet, was, that

he agreed to accept of the 100 Guineas according

to his Propofal.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether was this Offer of
ed, whether he knew Mr. Hamerjley before this -the 100 Guineas the firft Time, or after Mr. Cot-

Time ?

Mr. Cottingham. I knew him very well, he was
my next Door Nighbour both in Town and
Country.

Dr. Sayer. Did you tell Mr. Bennet you did

not know him?
Mr. Cottingham. No, I never told him fo, it

was impoffible I fhould •, he was my next Door
Neighbour both in Bell yard, and at Hampjlead.

Dr. Sayer. What Character had Mr. Hamerjley ?

Mr. Cottingham. A very good one.

E. of Macclesfield. When you firft fpoke to me did not fay the firft Time

tingham had fpoken to my Lord Macclesfieldabout
it?

Mr. Cottingham. Mr. Bennet propofed to me to

give the 100 Guineas before I fpoke to my Lord
about it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether it was the firft

Time he offered the 100 Guineas, or fome Time
after.

Mr. Cottingham. He offered the 100 Guineas

the firft Time.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether Mr. Cottingham

of this matter, what did you tell me?
Mr. Cottingham. I told your Lordfhip Mr. Ha-

merjley was my next Door Neighbour both in

Town and Country ; and that he was a Gentle-

man of as unqueftionable a Character as any at

the Bar-, and your Lordfhip was pleafed to de-

pend upon me for his Character.

Mr. S range. He is pleafed to fay Mr. Bennet

did not inform him what Agreement was made be-

tween him and Mr. Hamerjley. But did not he fay

on what Account he refigned ?

Mr. Cottingham. He told me he furrendred the

that fomething was ex-

pected ?

Mr. Cottingham. I believe I did fay the Great
Seal would expect fomething.

Mr. Lutwyche. Mr. Cottingham fays, he believes

he did fay fomething was expe&ed. Then I de-

fire to refrefh his Memory, and that he would
acquaint your Lordfhips whether that was men-
tioned before the 100 Guineas were offered ?

Mr. Cottingham. No, not as I remember.
Mr. Lutwyche. What did you fay on that Oc-

cafion ?

Mr. Cottingham. I faid on that Occafion, as

he
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he offered ioo Guineas, I told him my Lord was

willing to accept of it.

Mr. Lutwyche. I am fpeaking of the fir ft Dif-

courfe he had with him, I think he does recoiled

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I am.fure Mr. Cottingham
told me that my Lord Chancellor did not know
him, and I think he told me that he did not
know him. That made me fay, Why, Sir that is

that he faid my Lord expected fomething on the ftrange you mould not know him, when he lives

Account of this Office?

Mr. Cottingham. The firft Difcourfe when that

was mentioned, I told him my Lord expected

fomething to be paid by way of Compliment.

Mr. Lutwyche. Was that the firft Difcourfe ?

Mr. Cottingham. The firft that I remember.

Mr. Lutwyche. I beg another Queftion. If

Mr. Cottingham told Mr. Bennet that my Lord ex-

pected fomething by way of Compliment, how
came Mr. Cottingham to know that ?

Mr. Cottingham. Mr. Bennet afked me if I be-

the next Door to you !

E. of Macclesfield. Before, he faid Mr. Cotting-

ham faid he did not know Mr. Hamerjley. I think
he told your Lordfnips fo, that he did not know
him.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. It is impoffible to fwear to a
Converfation at fo great Diftance.

E. of Macclesfield. You are not pofitive ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I am not pofitive.

E. of Macclesfield. Then, if he is not pofitive

whether Mr. Cottingham told him fo, I defire he

lieved his Lordfhip would not expect a Compli- may be afked whether he is pofitive that he an-

ment ? I told him I believed his Lordfhip would,

and then he faid he would give ioo Guineas.

Mr. Lutwyche. Had you any Difcourfe with

my Lord Macclesfield before ?

Mr. Cottingham. No, none at all. I told him

it was ufual to make a Prefent ; and then he told

me he was willing to give ioo Guineas.

fwered Mr. Cottingham, Why Sir that is very ftrange

that you fhould not know him, when he lives the

next Door to you !

Mr. Tho. Bennet. lamas pofitive of the one
as of the other. This Converfation patted be-

tween us, as near as I can remember.
Mr. Cottingham. It is very ftrange I fhould fay

Mr. Plummer. I know Mr. Cottingham is a fo of my very next Door Neighbour, and a Gen
very honeft Gentleman. I defire to afk him, if tleman at the Bar.

Mr. Bennet did not then tell him, that when his

Brother was admitted, my Lord Cowper would

take nothing?

Mr. Cottingham. He did not, upon the Oath

I have taken, this is the firft Word I heard of it:

I did not know whether his Brother paid any thing

or nothina;.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. There is fome little Varia-

tion, tho' not material, between Mr. Bennet and

Mr. Cottingham ; we beg that Mr. Bennet may
come to the Bar again.

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I don't oppofe

Mr. Sennet's coming to the Bar again ; but I think

it is very extraordinary for Perfons to produce

Witneffes to confront their own Witneffes.

Mr. Lutwyche. We do it to confirm the Te-
ftimony of our Witnefs.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. In an Affair of this Na-
ture it is impoffible to produce direct Evidence,

without producing the Agent employed. Mr. Cot-

tingham was the Agent made ufe of by the Chan-
cellor, and we beg leave to afk of Mr. Bennet

what Anfwer Mr. Cottingham brought or faid he

brought from my Lord Chancellor relating to

this Affair.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. When Mr. Cottingham went
from me to my Lord Chancellor, there was not
a Word of money mentioned the firft Time. I

would not fo much as put it into his Head •, and
he returned to me the next Day, and told me my
Lord Chancellor infifted upon a Prefent. Then

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Therefore I wondered at it.

Mr. T->v.twyche. There is but one Thing more
relating to this Article. It is very well known
that his Lordfhip was one of the Lords Juftices.

Mr. Cottingham. It is very ftrange fure, Mr.
Bennet, that I fhould not know him. He is a
Gentleman at the Bar, I fee him every Day ac

Weftminfter Hall.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. That was the Wonder I made
of it. I might miftake you •, I am fure you faid

my Lord did not know him, and I believe you
faid you did not know him. Mr. Cottingham is

very deaf, and he might miftake me.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we apprehend,

the noble Lord does not put us on the Proof of
his acting as one of the Lords Juftices.

E. of Macclesfield. If Mr Delofaye is there,

I defire he may be called to give an Account of

my acting.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What I call Mr. Delafaye

for, is to give an Account of my Lord's acting as

one of the Lords Juftices. If they don't admit

it ; we muft call him.

Dr. Sayer. My Lords, we defire he may be

called.

Mr. Delafaye called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire Mr. Delafaye

may be fworn.

Mr. Delafaye fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Since that is infifted upon
for Form-fake, which is notorious to the whole

I faid it was very hard, and I would give my Lord Kingdom, we only beg leave to afk Mr. Delafaye,

ico Guineas if it muft be fo.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was it not at the fecond

meeting that he infifted on a Prefent to my Lord ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. At the fecond meeting. At
the firft Time he did not, becaufe there was no
mention made of money.
Mr. Cottingham. All that Mr. Bennet faid to

me on that Occafion was, that in regard a Com-
pliment of 1500 Guineas had been fo lately given
to his Lordfhip, he hoped his Lordfhip would take
no more of him than 100 Guineas.

E. of Macclesfield. Thefe Gentlemen are

pleafed to differ in their Evidence. I would afk
Mr. Bennet a fecond time, whether Mr. Cottingham
told him that he did not know Mr. Hamerfiey.
Vol. VI.

whether my Lord Chancellor acted as one of the

Lords Juftices at the Time of this Patent, [fhew-

ing him Mr. Hamerfiey' % Patent.] Look upon the

Date of that Patent.

Mr. Delafaye. Yes my Lords.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly, My Lords, we only afk

this Witnefs whether my Lord Chancellor, who
had then the Cuftody of the Great Seal, acted as

one of the Lords Juftices?

Mr. Delafaye. Yes, my Lords, he did.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I beg leave to afk him, whe-

ther he knew any thing of Mr. Sennet's Petition

being tranfmitted to his Majefty abroad, and by

whofe Direction ?

Mr. Delafaye, Mr. Sennet's Petition was tranf-

4 U mitted
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mitted to his Majefty abroad, by the Direction of Rogers for the Purchafe of his Office, I defired
the Lords Juftiees. one Mr. Baily to go to Mr. Cottingham, my Lord's

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire this Witnefs would Secretary, to know what my Lord Chancellor
inform your Lordfhips, whether in Mr. Berviet's would expect for my Admiffion into the Office
Petition it was defired that a Grant of his Office and treat with him about it. Mr. Baily told me
ihould be made to any, and what particular Per-

fon.

Mr. Lutwyche. I think we may reafonably

object to that Queftion. We are not for trou-

bling your Lordfhips with unreafonable Ob-
jections ; but when a Gentleman experienced in

the Law mall afk Queftions, concerning written

Evidence, we mult oppofe that, and fubmit it to

your Lordfhips.

Then the managers for the Commons acquaint

it was befl for me to talk with Mr. Ccttingham
myfelf. So I went to him, and told him my
Cafe. He mentioned to me that other Matters
particularly Mr. Conway and Mr. Borret, had
given Fifteen hundred Guineas apiece. I pro-
pofed to him One thoufand Pounds, or One
thoufand Guineas-, he laid he could not iv

tion it to my Lord Chancellor under Fih.
hundred. I agreed to give it, but I thought he
meant Pounds, and made Preparations for it ac-

ing the Houfe, that they had gone through with cordingly ; but Mr. Baily afterwards telling me
their Evidence to the Ninth Article, did intend

next to proceed to the Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, and

Eighth Articles •, and alledging it was requihte

their Evidence fhould be given entire, fubmitted

it to their Lordfhips whether they fhould now
proceed •, whereupon, they and all Parties were

directed to withdraw, and the Lords refolved to

proceed further in the Trial To-morrow at Ten of

the Clock in the Forenoon, and adjourned to

Nine a Clock To-morrow morning.

Friday May 7. The fecond Day.

The Lords being feated in their Houfe, and

the managers being come, and the faid Earl fit-

ting on a Stool as before, and his Counfel at the

Bar; Proclamation was made by the Serjeant at

Arms as follows.

that he had feen Mr. Cottingham, and that he in-

fifted upon Guineas, I fent them to him on the
8th by Mr. Baily, and the 9th I was admitted and
fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Arguments were
made Ufe of by Mr. Cpttifigham, to raife the Price
from One thoufand to Fifteen hundred Guineas?

Mr. Kynaslon. I don't particularly remember;
but either Mr. Rogers or Mr. Cottingham faid it

was the oldeft and the beft Office.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Wl t r any thing was
faid that the Office was full of Cam ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We apprehend that a Lead-
ing Queftion.

Mr. Lutwyche. It is a proper Queftion. But
however, if they do not like it in thofe Words,

Our Sovereign Lord the King ftrictly charges we will put it into another Form. Whether there

and commands all manner of Perfons to keep Si-

lence, upon Pain of Imprifonment.

Then another Proclamation was made as on the

firft Day, That all Perfons concerned were to

take Notice, that cTho?nas, Earl of Macclesfield

now ftands upon his Trial, and they may come
forth, in order to make good the Charge.

Ld. Ch. Juft. King. Gentlemen of the Houfe
of Commons, you may proceed in your Evidence.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. The Managers will now
proceed to the Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, and Eighth

Articles, being all of the fame Nature and Kind,

relating to the corrupt taking of Money on the

Difpofal of the Offices of the Mafters in Chan-

cery. The Queftion between the Commons and

the Lord impeached upon thefe feveral Articles,

is, the manner of taking this money. The Com-
mons charge the taking of the money to be by

was any Difcourfe about the Profits of the Office ?

Mr. Kynafton. I don't remember it.

Mr. Lutwyche, Was there any DifcoUrfe about
your being recommended by any one ?

Mr. Kynaslon. I told him I had the Honour to

be known to the late Lord Bradford, and defired

to know whether his Recommendation might be

neceflary.

Mr. Wesl. What Reafon did they give yo«
why it was the beft Office ?

Mr. Kynaslon. Becaufe it was the Senior Office,

and had molt Caufes in it.

Sir Win. Strickland. I defire to know what An-

fwer Mr. Cottingham gave him, when he faid he

believed he might obtain that noble Lord's Re-
commendation ?

Mr. Kynafton. I don't remember any he made.

Mr. Plummer. Whether any Objection was

Extortion, and Corruption, and to be drawn out made by him to the Price; upon his coming into

the Office, by reafon of any Deficiency in Tlor-

mer\ Office ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. That Queftion is liable to

the fame Objection that was made to the former

;

it is too leading.

Mr. Sol. Gen. It is a fair Queftion, whether

any Objection was made by him, on Account of

the Deficiency of Dormer's, Office ?

Mr. Kynaslon. I mentioned this to Mr. Rogers ;

he made little of it ; I mentioned it afterwards

to Mr. Cottingham, he too feemed to make light

of it, and faid it would be made up: So that I

apprehended it would be of no great Confequence.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Reafon did he give,

why he thought his Admiffion to the Office was

not Worth Fifteen hundred Pounds ?

Mr. Kynafion. I don't know that I mentioned

of the mafters againft their Confent ; the Lord
in his Anfwer infifts, that it was freely and vo-

luntarily given, as Prefents, upon their refpeclive

Admittances. The managers apprehend that

they fhall give your Lordfhips full Satisfaction,

that the Charge of the Commons is true, and
that the manner of taking thefe Sums charged on

the Lord, will be fupported by the Evidence

that will be produced. The firft Witnefs that

we fhall call is Mr. William Kynafton to the Fifth

Article.

Mr. William Kynafton fworn.

M. Serj. Pengelly. We defire that Mr. Kyna-

fton may be afked, when he was admitted to be one

of the Mafters of the Court of Chancery ?

Mr. Kynafton. On the 9th of Auguft, 172 1.

' Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire that he may be

afked, concerning the manner of his Admittance,

what Tranfactions there were before-hand about

it, with whom, and what he gave the Lord Chan-

cellor for his Admiffion ?

Mr. Kynafton. After I had agreed with Mr.

any thing.

Mr. Lutwyche.

ney paid ?

Mr. Kynafton.

In what manner was the mo-

I did not count it, but the Sum
of
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of fifteen hundred Guineas was carried in a Bag

by Mr. Bally to Mr. Cottingham.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be asked,

whether he had any Difcourfe with Mr. Rogers

the former Mafter, about the Value of this Of-

fice, before he fpoke with Mr. Cottingham ?

Mr. Kynajion. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. How much did he fay it was

worth ?

Mr. Kynajion. He faid, he ufually made 1700/.

a Year of the Office, and fometimes 2000/. a Year,

Lord Lecbmere. My Lords, I would ask him
another Queftion ; I think Mr. Kynajion talks of
6000 /. being paid by him to his Predeceffor : I

would be glad to know in what manner that was
paid, and out of what money or effects?

Mr. Kynajion. My Lords, when I treated with
Mr. Rogers, he mentioned to me what money he
had in his Hands belonging to the Office ; and we
entred into Articles in relation to my paying him
6000/. for his Place: And when I came up to
Town, in order to take the Office, before I went

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked, what to my Lord Chancellor's, I gave him a Bond for

Sum of money he gave Mr. Rogers for his Place ?

Mr. Kynajion. 6000 1.

Dr.'Sayer. I defire this Gentleman may be ask-

ed, at what time he paid Mr. Cottingham* this fif-

teen hundred Guineas ; whether it was before or

after his Admiffion ?

Mr. Kynajion. Before ; I believe it was the 8th

or 9th of Augusl in the morning.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire this further Queftion,

whether he paid it out of the Suitors money, or

out of Effects of his own ?

Mr. Kynajion. It could not be paid out of the

Suitors money, for I was not then admitted.

Mr. Com. Serj. Whether Mr. Baily, or any body

elfe, concerned in negotiating this Affair, gave

any Account of your Subftance and Ability ?

Mr. Kynajion. No, I believe not.

Mr. Lutwyche. If the Gentlemen have done, I

be^ leave to ask him one Queftion, and it is in

relation to what he was examined to firft : He
faid there was a Difcourfe, that the Office was

worth 1700 or 2000/. a Year. Now, my Lords,

I would ask him, how it was Mr. Kynajion appre-

hended thefe great annual Profits did arife ?

Whether by the ordinary Profits of the Office, or

the making ufe of the Suitors money ?

Mr. Kynajion. I underftood it of both together.

Mr. Lutwyche. There hath been one Queftion

afked, as if there" was no Colour to fay this mo-

ney was paid out of the Suitors money : But I

6000/. This was the 9th, and on the 12th he de-
liver'd me up the Bond, and paid me 9/. in mo-
ney ; and I gave him a Receipt for fix thoufand
and nine Pounds.

E. of Strafford. I defire he would explain him-
felf on that part ; where he fays, he gave him up
his Bond ; whether he reckoned the 6goo /. fa

much fhort of the Suitors money ?

Mr. Kynajion. Yes, my Lords, I did.

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I defire he may1

be afked this Queftion. He fpeaks of a Gentle-
man that paid him 1100/. part of the 1500
Guineas ; I defire he may be afked, whether that

Gentleman had any, and what money of his in

his Hands?
Mr. Kynajion. My Lords, I had money in that

Gentleman's Hands : When I lived in the Coun-
try, he ufed to receive money for me in Town,
on Government Securities, and other Occafions*
and pay as I directed : There was an Accompt
current between us, ^nd I did not then precifely

know what Balance was then in his Hands 5 but
I have caft it up fince, and find that there was a-

bout 300 or 400 /. due to me at that time.

E. of Macclesfield. If I apprehend him right,

he fays he had an Accompt current with that Gen-
tleman at that time, and kept Cafh with him.
Mr. Kynajion. He ufed to receive and pay mo-

ney for me when I was in the Country.
E. of Macclesfield. I beg leave to afk one

would beg leave to afk another Queftion to ex- Queftion more, if Mr. Kynajion did n.e't afterwards

plain that : I think Mr. Kynajion lays, that the

money paid for him by Mr. Baily, was not out of

the Suitors money, becaufe he was not then ad-

mitted •, but I would afk, How it was repaid or

replaced ?

Mr. Kynajisn. I did not imagine, when I came

to Town, that the Place would have come to fo

much : There was 1 100/. and 400/. I borrow'd of

a Gentleman, one Mr. Rogers atTemple-Bar ; and

I afterwards accompted with him for that money,

for I kept an Account of the money of the Court

with him.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Sum of money was

reported to be in your Office, and to go along

with the Office as Cafh ?

Mr. Kynajion. I was told there was about

20,000/.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire to know who told him fo?

Mr. Kynajion. Mr. Rogers.

Lord Lecbmere. When the 11 00/. and the

400/. was accompted for to the Perfon that firft

lent it, if I did underftand him right, he fays he

accompted for it, and it was allow'd out of the

Suitors money.

Mr. Kynajion. Yes, my Lords, the money lent

me to pay Mr. Cottingham, I did accompt for that

money out of the money belonging to the Suitors

of the Court : I underftood it was ufual to do fo,

and that others had done it.

keep, with that Gentleman, the Cafn of tne Sui-

ters, as well as his own Cafh, promifcuoufly ?

Mr. Kynaslon. Yes.

Sir Wm. Strickland. When were the fifteen hun-
dred Guineas paid ?

Mr. Kynaslon. On the 8th the fifteen h
- J

red

Guineas were paid, and the 9th I was admitted.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We don't now proceed to

examine relating to the manner of payment for

the Offices out of the Suitors money, becaufe

there will be a diftinct Examination as to that, up-

on another Article ; the prefent Queftion being

only about the Sum paid for the Admiffion, and
not out of what money, which we don't enter in-

to at prefent.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we think it necef-

fary to mention this, becaufe otherwife it will take

up a great deal of your Lordfhips time unnecefia-

rily, and it will be proper to keep the Evidence en-

tire ; and therefore we hope theCounfel on the other

Side fhall be confined to afk fuch Queftions only,

as are proper to the Article they are upon. My
Lords, we defire Mr. Charles Baily may be called.

Mr. Charles Baily fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire he may
be afked, Whether he paid any money, and what

Sum, to Mr. Cottingham, and when ?

Mr. Baily. My Lords, a Day or two before

Mr. KynaUon was admitted, I paid fifteen hundred

Guineas,
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Guineas, which was given for his Admiffion. I

delivered it in a Bag to Mr. Cottingham.

Mr.Serj. Pengelly. For what Ufe was it paid ?

Mr. Bally. I apprehend it was for the Ufe of

my Lord Chancellor.

Mr. Lutwyche. Upon what Account ?

Mr. Baily. For his Admiffion to the Office, on

Mr. Rogers's Surrender.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I think he fays it was paid a

day or two before he was admitted.

Sir Wm. Strickland. Before the payment of this

money, what Difcourfe was there between you

and Mr. Cottingham ?

Mr. Baily. I was requefted, by Mr. Kynafton, to

io G. I.

Mr.Serj. Pengelly. Whether he acquainted the
Earl of Macclesfield that he had received it upon
Mr. Kynaslon's Admiffion ?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, my Lords, 1 told the F.arl

of Macclesfield that Mr. Baily had paid me the mo-
ney, by the Direction of Mr. Kynaslon.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Flow long was that before

Mr. Kynaslon was admitted ?

Mr. Cottingham. I can't fay juftly the time, ic

might be two or three days. There was a day ap-
pointed for the Admiffion of Mr. Kynaslon, but
fomething happened that he could not be admit-
ted that day.

Sir Wm. Strickland. My Lords, I defire to afk

attend Mr. Cottingham, to know what was expect- this Witnefs one Queftion : At that time, whe-

ed ; and Mr. Cottingha?n told me fifteen hundred ther Mr. Cottingham can recollect himfelf, if Mr.

Guineas was expected to be paid, as a Sum for

Mr. Kynafton's, Admiffion.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. If the Counfel for the noble

Lord don't ask this Witnefs any thing, we beg

leave to call another Witnefs.

Mr. Com. Serj. There are feveral matters we
apprehend proper to be asked now, and yet may
fall under the other Article. Whether it is your

Lord/hip's Pleafure that we fhall now ask Mr.
Baily as to the Circumftances and Character of

Mr. Kynafton ?

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, there is an exprefs

Article to that point ; wherefore when we come
to that, then is the time.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. One Queftion may be proper

Kynaslon did not make an Objection of the great
Deficiency that had happened in 'Dormer's Office?

Mr. Cottingham. Upon the Oath that I have
taken, he did not.

Sir Wm. Strickland. I defire another Queftion,

whether he did not tell Mr. Kynafton that this was
one of the beft Offices ?

Dr. Sayer. My Lords, I ask your Pardons ; I

hope they fhall be confined to the general Que-
ftion, What was faid, and not to Particulars.

in relation

to be asked before this Gentleman goes, and that

Sir Wm. Strickland. What was faid

to the Goodnefs of the Office ?

Mr. Cottingham. I did fay before the Honou-
rable Committee, that when he agreed to give the

fifteen hundred Guineas, I told him that he had
purchafed a very good Office ; and I did fay, that

is, Whether when Mr. Cottingham told him what there was a great deal of Bufincfs in it •, but I ne-

was expected on his Admiffion, he told Mr. Ky- ver knew what money was in the Office •, nor do I

wafton of it ? know it to this day. I own I did fay before the Ho-
Mr. Baily. Yes,,Sir, I told Mr. Kynafton that nourable Committee, that I told him he had pur-

fifteen hundred Guineas was expected. chafed a good Office.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Then I defire he may be asked, Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether was this before or

whether Mr. Kynafton did not immediately confent after the Agreement made with Mr. Kynafton ?

to give it, or what did Mr. Kynafton fay ? Mr. Cottingham. I think at the fame time ; juft

Mr. Baily. Mr. Kynafton faid he muft fubmit to after we had fettled the Compliment to be paid to

it, and do as Mr. Cottingham had mention'd, or to m y Lord Macclesfield, I told him he had pur-

that purpofe.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether Mr. Kynafton in-

Formed him of offering him any lefs Sum, and
what ?

Mr. Baily. Mr. Kynaslon mentioned to me that

he thought it had been but 1500/.

chafed an Office with very good Bufinefs in it.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. 1 defire one Queftion more

;

Whether he remembers that there was any men-
tion made of 1000/. or one thoufand Guineas by
Mr. Kynafton ?

Mr. Cottingham. No, I remember nothing of it.

E. of Macclesfield. How came Mr. Baily to know He asked me what my Lord expected ; I told him
it was Guineas ? what my Lord had from the preceding Mafters,

Mr. Baily. Becaufe Mr. Cottingham told me fo. he expected the fame from him : I never heard a

Mr. Cottingham called, but did not imme- Word of 1000/. or one thoufand Guineas, nor

diately appear. knew nothing at all of it. I have given you the

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we are unwil- beft Account I can as to the Fact that happened
ling to give your Lordfhips Trouble, only beg relating to the Agreement : Mr. Baily may re-

leave to take notice, that Mr. Cottingham wasSe- member more of it ; the Fact is above four Years
cretary to the Lord impeach'd, during the whole ago.

Courfe of his Adminiftration ; he is not imme- Mr. Serj. Pengelly My Lords, we now beg

leave to proceed to the 6th Article, relating to

Mr. Thomas Bennet, who was admitted the firft of

June, ijiT,-

(Mr. Thomas Bennet fworn before.)

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire that

Mr. Bennet may give an account to your Lordfhips

when he was admitted, and upon what Bargain?

diately under the Power of the managers, but he
is under the Obligation of a Summons, and had
Notice to attend.

Mr. Cottingham appears.

Mr.Serj. Pengelly. My Lords,we defire he may
be fworn.

Mr. Cottingham fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we beg leave to Give an account of the whole Treaty
ask Mr. Cottingham this Queftion ;The money that Mr. 1

'ho. Bennet. I was admitted the lft of

he received from Mr. Charles Baily,whether he paid June 1J23. and before my Admiffion, and as

it over to the late Lord Chancellor, and when ? foon as I had agreed with Mr. Hiccocks my Pre-

Mr. Cottingham. The money which I received deceffor, I applied to Mr. Cottingham, and de-

from Mr. Charles Baily, the fifteen hundred Gui- fired him that he would acquaint my Lord Chan-

neas, I paid it to my Lord in a day or two I be- cellor I had agreed with Mr. Hiccocks to fuc-

lieve ; I believe the next day ; it was very foon af- ceed him in his Office, and defired him to let me
ter I received it from Mr, Baily. know
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know my Lord Chancellor's Thoughts, whether

he approved of me to fucceed Mr. Hiccocks. Soon

after that, I believe the next Day, or a Day

after, he met me, and told me he had acquaint-

ed my Lord with the Meffage I fent; he faid

my Lord expreffed himfelf with a great deal of

Refpect for my Father Mr. Serjeant Bennet, and

that he was glad of this Opportunity to do me

a Favour and Kindnefs, and he had no

Objection in the World to me: That was the

Anfwer Mr. Cottingham returned ; he then

mentioned there was a Prefent expected, and

he did not doubt but I knew that ; I anfwered,

I had heard there was, and I was willing to do

what was ufual ; I defired to know what it was

that was expected, and what would be expect-

ed ; he faid he would name no Sum, and he

had the lefs Reafon to name a Sum to me, be-

caufe I had a Brother a Mafter, and I was well

acquainted with Mr. Godfrey who had recom-

mended me, and I might apply to them, and

they would tell me what was proper for me to

offer-, I told him upon that Occafion I would

confult my Brother and Mr. Godfrey ; according-

ly I did, and I returned to Mr. Cottingham, and

told him, I had talked with them about it, and

their Opinion was a thoufand Pounds (but I

believed, I faid, I would not Hand for Guineas)

was fuffkient for me to offer. Upon this Mr.

Cottingham fhook his Head, and faid, That

won't do Mr. Bennet, you muft be better ad-

vifed ; Why, faid I, won't that do, I think it is

a noble Prefent: Says he, A great deal more

has been given : Says I, I am fure my Brother

did not give fo much, nor Mr. Godfrey, and

thofe Perfons, you advifed me to confult with,

told me it was fuificient, and I defire you to

acquaint my Lord with the Propofal : Says he,

I dont care to go with that Propofal, you

may find fome-body elfe to go: Says I, I

don't know whom to apply to : Says he fur-

ther, Sure Mr. Bennet, you won't go to lower the

Price, (thefe were his very Words, at leaft

I am fure that was the meaning of them) I

can allure you Mr. Kynaflon gave 1500 Gui-

neas. I faid that was above three or four Years

ago, and fince that Time there have been feveral

Occafions of lowering the Prices; the fall of

Stock hath lowered the Value of Money ; and

I think I mentioned Dormer 1

?, Deficiency, and

I did not know what the Confequence of that

might be ; and therefore, I thought at this

time of Day, when Stock and every Thing
was fallen, a thoufand Guineas was more now
than 1500 when Mr. Kynafton gave it. He ftill

infilled he did not care to go with that Mef-
fage. Says I, Only acquaint my Lord with it,

and if my Lord infills upon more, I will confi-

der of it : Says he, There is no haggling with

my Lord, if you refufe it, I don't know the

Confequence, he may refent it fo far, as not to

admit "you at all, and you may lofe the Office.

Then I began to confider, and was loth to

lofe the Office, and told him I would give

1500 /. he faid Mr. Kynaflon had given Guineas.

Then I asked whether it muft be in Gold.

He faid, in what you will, fo it be Guineas.

In a Day or two after he came and told me,
that my Lord was pleafcd to accept of me,

and he fhould admit me as foon as Opportunity

ferved, and he would give me Notice. He
Vol. VI,

and Mi/demeanors, e 1 a
accordingly gives me Notice about the latter
End of May ; he told me. my Lord had fixed
a Day for my Admiffion, and my Father and
I went to my Brother Bennet's, and took him
up by the Way, in order to pay our Refpect's
to my Lord on that Occafion. We had not
been there long, but there was a meffage
brought to my Houfe, to kt me know that my
Lord was very ill, and I could not be admit-
ted; but I fhould know in a little Time when
I fhould : Upon that, I faw Mr? Cottingham af-
terwards, and I afked him how my Lord did,
and when I fhould be admitted : Says he, I can't
fix the Day ; but be in a Readinefs, and I mall
fend for you. Accordingly, on the ift of June,
1723. he fent, and defired me to come immedi-
ately, and to come alone, and bring no Body
with me, for my Lord would fwear me in that
morning. Accordingly I went, and the firft Que-
ftion Mr. Cottingham ask'd me was, if I had
brought the money? I told him, to be fure I
fhould not come without it. He afked what it

was in? I told him in Bank Bills, two Bank Bills,

one of 1000 /. and the other 575 /. He took
them up, and carried them to my Lord; He re-

turned back, and told me my Lord was ready
to admit me. I was carried up Stairs, and then
fworn in his Bed-chamber.

Mr. Serf Pengelly. My Lords, I defire, if he
can remember, he may be afked in what Name
thofe Notes were made payable, or in what man-
ner they were made?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I can't remember the Names
the Notes were made payable to, they were fent
for, from the Bank for this Purpofe ; but I believe

they were feigned Names.
Mr. Serf Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

why he thinks they were feigned Names, and
for what Reafon the Notes were taken in feigned
Names ?

_

Mr. Tho. Bennet. The Reafon was, becaufe I

did not think it proper to take them out in the
noble Lord's Name, nor in my own Name.

Mr. Serf. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire he may
be afked, of whom he received thofe Bank Notes,
whether they were his own, or whether he bor-
rowed them.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I borrowed a Draft upon the

Bank, of my Brother ; he kept his Cafh at the

Bank, and he gave me a Draft upon the Bank,
and I fent to the Bank, and ordered the Notes
to be made out in feigned Names.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. J defire he may be afked,

whether by his Brother, he means his Brother
the Mafter ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Yes, my Brother the Maf-
ter ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. And where did he keep
his Cafh ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. He kept his Cafh at the

Bank.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire Mr. Bennet may
inform your Lordfhips what Converfation he

had with my Lord Macclesfield when he was ad-

mitted?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I had no Converfation with

him before I was fworn. At that Time my
Lord was in Bed, and as foon as I was fworn

in, my Lord called me to him, fhook me by the

Hand and wifh'd me Joy, and faid he had a

Refpect for my Father Serjeant Bennet^ his old

4 X Friend
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Friend and Acquaintance, and the Family •, and

faid he, You are fworn in by a dying Chancellor.

I told him, I hoped his Lordfhip would live a

great many Years.
' Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire Mr. Cottingham

may be called.

Mr. Cottingham called, and appeared.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire Mr.

Cottingham may be afked, to whom he paid the

1500 Guineas which he received from Mr. Iho.

Bennet ?

Mr. Cottingham. I paid it to the Earl of Mac-

clesfield.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether he carried it im-

mediately or not, or at what Time?
Mr. Cottingham. Mr. Bennet brought it to me,

as I remember, in a Bank Note of 1500 Guineas,

and I gave it to my Lord.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether this was done im-

mediately after you received it?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, my Lords, immedi-

ately.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire, Mr. Cottingham,

that you would recolleft your felf, and tell us

whether he offered 1000, or 1500 Guineas?
Mr. Cottingham. I have recollected, and what

he offered to me was 1 500 Guineas, and I never

heard of a Farthing lefs ; I never heard a Word
of 1000 Guineas.

E. of Macclesfield. If your Lordfhips pleafe, I

defire Mr. Cottingham may be afked, what Con-
dition I was in, in Refpeft to my Health at that

Time ?

Mr. Cottingham. The Earl at that Time was
very ill, Mr. Bennet having preffed to be admit-

ted the firft Opportunity; I think your Lord-
fhip fell ill the laft Day of Easier Term, 1723,
and I meeting with Doctor Mead, the Doctor
told me, the Earl was in fo dangerous a Condi-
tion, that if his Diftemper had not a Turn, he
thought he could not live 24 Hours. The Doc-
tor and I went and fupped together ; he bid me
to be at the Earl's next Morning •, I met him
there, and he told me the Earl's Diftemper had
a Turn, and he might get over it: I afked the

Doctor, telling him there was a Bufinefs that

M. Serj. Pengelly. That is all we ask. My Mr. Bennet preffed me to do, if it would be fafe

Lords, we only beg leave to obferve one thing for the Earl to do it. Lie told me if it did not

that arifes from the Anfwer of the Lord impeach- admit much Thought and much Company, it

ed to thefe two Articles, which is, that after- might be done. I told him it would not admit

wards, and before the Impeachment, he did de- much Thought or Company, and he faid it might
liver the Prefent fo fent to him by the faid Wil- be done.

liam Kynafion, being 1575 /. and alfo the Prefent

fo fent to him by the faid Tho. Bennet, being the

like Sum of 1575 /. into the Court of Chancery,

in open Court, &c.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords we defire that

Mr. Cottingham may be

what Converfation there was

Mr. Bennet, concerning the Payment of this 1500
Guineas?

Mr. Cottingham. Mr. Bennet told me, that he

had agreed with Mr. Hiccocks for the Surrender of

his Office. He told me he was a Perfon known
to the Earl •, but if he wanted a further Cha-

E. of Macclesfield. What was the Occafion

that Mr. Bennet was defired to come alone?

Mr. Cottingham. The Reafon was upon the

Account of your Lordfhip's Indifpofition ; and

for that Reafon I fent to Mr. Hiccocks for hisSur-

afked one Queftion, render, becaufe my Lord could not fee much Cotn-

between him and pany.

Mr. Strange. I defire to afk you, upon whofe

Importunity it was you aflced Dr. Mead this?

Mr. Cottingham. I afked it my felf, but it

was, becaufe Mr. Bennet importuned me fo:

And I remember this Circumftance, when I

went to his Houfe, he had fomething of the

rafter, his Father, Sir John Bennet, and his Bro- Jaundice, and looked ill. I afked him if he was

ther, would give him a further Character. I

acquainted the Earl ; his Lordfhip told me that

he knew Mr. Bennet, that he had a good Cha-
racter, and had married a good Fortune, and
the Family was a wealthy Family, fo that the

Earl would oblige him, and admit him. A
Day was appointed to admit Mr. Bennet; but
the Earl falling Sick before the Time came that

he was to be admitted, which was, I think, the

laft Day of Eajler Term, 1723, it was then de-

layed , Mr. Bennet was prodigious preffing to

have it done, and faid that Mr. Hiccocks refufed

to go on with any Bufinefs in the Office > and

fit to be admitted : I thought Mr. Bennet would

not have been fo eager, if he did not think the

Earl had been dying, and that then he would have

waited longer.

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, if the Gentlemen

have done, I defire to afk one Queftion ; Whe-
ther on Occafion of thefe Matters Places being

vacant, he took Directions from my Lord Chan-

cellor to fet a Price, or did it of his own Head?
Mr. Cottingham. I had no Directions in this

matter ; but when any Vacancy or Alienation

happened, and they aflced me what Compliment

I thought would be acceptable, I told them the

he had been complimented upon it, the Family Compliment that had been before made. Ifpoke
knew it, and he was loth to be difappointed, and
he teized me almoft out of my Life ; upon that,

I promifed to fpeak to the Earl, and as foon as

the Earl was able to do Bufinefs, it was done.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. If you pleafe to recoilect

yourfelf, what was the particular Sum Mr. Bennet

offered ?

Mr. Cottingham. 1500 Guineas.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Did he talk of any lefs Sum?
Mr. Cottingham. Not a Farthing lefs; he aflc-

ed me what was expected, I told him the Sum
Mr. Kynafion had paid, which was 1500 Guineas;
and he never offered a Farthing lefs.

it as my own Opinion, and without any Dire-

ctions from the Earl.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

whether ever he concluded any Bargain with any

of thefe Matters, without his Lord's Approba-
tion ?

Mr. Cottingham. No, I did not.

Mr. Onjlow. I would ask Mr. Cottingham one

Queftion, which, I think, he hath not anfwered ;

I ask whether he had not, in general, Directions

from the Lord Chancellor, to infift upon, or ask

any particular Prices for thefe Places?

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I am forry

the
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the leirned Gentlemen do not obferve their Mr. Cottingham. I did not. They afked me
own Rule, in confining their Examinations to what I thought the Earl expected, I told them
fuch Anticles as they go upon, thofe they have a

Right to afk to, and thofe only ; therefore with

humble Submiffion, it is more proper to each

Article where they charge me to have infilled

upon a Price, to afk to that Price, than to ask

1500 Guineas, as I mentioned before ; they a-
greed to give it, and my Lord faid he would
take it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. At the Time when the
Lord Macclesfield agreed to take thofe Sums, whe-

thefe general Queftions, whether I did ever direct ther he did not infill upon the full of thofe Sums
him to iinfift upon any Price? It is not that I am to be paid ?

afraid o;f the Queftion that is put, but I am a

fraid of its being made a Precedent for giving

your Loj :dlhips a great deal of unnecefiary Trou-

ble.

Mr. Onflow. This is proper to this Article,

becaufe i t charges the Earl with infilling upon

Prices. Therefore I defire to know, whether the

Earl did ever give any Order to him to infill upon

any of tl lefe Prices ? I hope the Gentleman fhall

anfwer the Queftion

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, he faid he would take
them.

Mr. Plummer. My Lord Macclesfield does
not difown in his Anfwer the accepting of a
Prefent in general ; but avoids faying what
Sum in particular he accepted. Therefore I
am apt to think the Instructions the Secretary
had, might be like the Anfwer : So that it is

very proper to afk whether he had not general
Inftruclions, that when any Matter's Place was

Mr. iMtwyche. We apprehend we are upon a vacant, or like to be vacant, he fhould infill up
proper (Queftion, on the one Side we fay thefe on fuch a Price.

Sums were infilled upon, and that there was an Mr. Cottingham. I had no fuch Inflections :

Agreement made for them ; on the other Side the The Gentlemen came and talked to me, and pro-
noble Lord in his Anfwer fays, they were Pre- pofed to me the Sum they were willing to give,

fents, without any Regard to any Agreement, and I laid it before the Earl: I had no particular

and voluntary, as if there had been no Bargain at Inflections,

all. Mr. Plummer. With Submiffion, Mr. Cotting-

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we only pro- ham has not anfwered the Queftion, therefore I

pofe a general Queftion, which, we apprehend, beg leave to afk him further, whether he hath
arifes from Mr. Cottingham 's Examination, not faid elfewhere, that he received particular

When Money is expected, we apprehend it is Directions from my Lord Macclesfield to infill

the fame as infilling upon it : Therefore we de- upon fuch a Sum ?

fire Mr. Cottingham may inform your Lordfhips,

whether he infilled upon any of thefe Prices

without Direction from my Lord Maccles-

field?

Mr. Cottinghajn. I cannot fay but I have, and
if you name the Mafters, I can anfwer more par-
ticularly.

Sir Wm. Strickland. I would afk him this Que-
Mr. Cottingham. The Mafters propofed thofe flion, whether he has not directly faid, that he

Sums to me, to make fuch a Compliment to my
Lord, and I acquainted the Earl with it : I did

nothing without the Earl's Approbation.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked if

he did not infill on thofe Prices ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I beg the

tran faded none of thefe Affairs without my
Lord's Direction?

Mr. Cottingham. I own it I have faid fo ? I

own it before your Lordfhips, that I faid that

what I did he approved of.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire he may be afked

Queftion may be confined to fome particular this Queftion, to each diftinctly, whether I fo

Article they are now upon; for as they are much as knew any Thing of the matter as to any
now upon two particular Articles, they cannot, Sum offered by Mr. Kynajlon or Mr. Bennet, till

according to the Rules they were pleafed them- he told me the whole Sum ?

felves to lay down, ask any Queftion, but

what relates to them : We therefore defire they

may confine themfelves to thefe two Articles.

never.Mr. Cottingham. No,
E. of Macclesfield. Whether I had any Dif-

courfe about Mr. Kynafton or Bennet, being ad-

As to any Queftion they propofe to any of the mitted, or the Money they fhould give, till he

Articles they have opened, let them be as told me they would give me 1500 Guineas?

general as they will ; but we defire they may Mr. Cottingham. No, not any Difcourfe : I

confine themfelves to thofe Articles : Other- told the Earl what they offered, and he was pleaf-

wife one Queftion may involve all Articles to- ed to accept it.

gether. E. of Macclesfield. I beg leave he may be

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether we fhould now afked this other Queftion, fince thefe Gentlemen

ask to Bennet or Kynajlon, or to thofe who came have gone now into that matter, whether he

after, we are under your Lordfhip's Direction : did not tell me at the fame Time that Mr. Ky-

Butwe defire he may be asked, whether from the nafion faid he would give me 1500 Guineas, that

Direction he received from the Earl of Macclesfield, he likewife faid, if that was not fufficient I might

he did not infill on thofe Sums from Kynafton and pleafe myfelf ?

Bennet ? Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I hope the Queftion may
Mr. Cottingham. I have told you that they had be afked in general, when they have taken Liberty

both voluntarily agreed of their own Accord to to interrupt the managers for asking leading

give 1500 Guineas, and I told my Lord Maccles- Queftions; and hope his Lordfhip will ask no-

field of it. thing that is leading.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be asked, E. of Macclesfield. Then I defire he may be

whether he did not by Direction of my Lord asked when Mr. Kynafton offered 1500 Guineas,

Chancellor infill upon thofe Sums, and he would whether he faid any Thing concerning any fur-

not receive under ? ther Sum ?

Mr.
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Mr. Cottingham. To the beft of my Remem-

brance, I fpeak it doubtfully, I am not ccr*

tain Mr. Kynafton told me if the 1500 Guineas

would not fatisfy the Earl, he mould fatisfy him-

c 1 r
t

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know certainly

whether he told me fo ?

Mr. Cottingham. I am fare I did..-

E. of Macclesfield. What did I fay thereon?

Mr. Cottingham. Your Lordlh.p faid you

would take 1500 Guineas, and you would take

no more.
, ,

. _ a -

Mr Plummer. I defire to ask this Quefhon,

How Mr. Kynafton came to offer more, or to

think the Earl fo infatiable that the Earl ex-

pected more: I ask Mr. Cottingham how he

came to offer from Mr. Kynaslon more than was

asked ?
, T ,

Mr. Cottingham. I told you what my Lord

Macclesfield put to me. I certainly told him fo.

But as to what Mr. Kynafton told me, that I fpeak

doubtfully, it is a confiderable Time ago •, I

cannot fpeak it pofitively, I fpeak doubtfully, to

the beft of my Remembrance it was fo: I told

your Lordfhips before.

Mr Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we fhall not

trouble your Lordfhips with calling any more

Witneffes on this Article, when it appears plain-

ly, that he was intruded to adjuft the Prices,

and whether they were given to him or my Lord

is not material. As to this Article and the Ar-

ticle relating to Mr. Kynafton, we fhall leave it

with this Obfervation, He is pleafed to fay in

his Anfwer, as to the few Prefents received from

Mr. Kynafton and Mr. Bennet, that he the faid

Earl did afterwards, and before the Impeachment,

deliver the fame into, the Court ofChancery, in open

Court. ' All that we beg leave to put your Lord-

fhips in mind of, is, that from your own Jour-

nals it will appear, the Impeachment was brought

up here the 13th of February 1724- When my

Lord comes to fhew at what Time he paid the

money, we apprehend it will be ten Days after.

The next Article relates to Mr. Francis Elde.

Mr. Elde called.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire that

Mr. Elde may be fworn.

(Sworn accordingly.)

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire Mr. Elde

may be asked when it was he was admitted a

Mafter in Chancery ?
m

Mr. Elde. My Lords, I was admitted the nrft

Day of'February laft was twelve month.

Mr Lutwyche. We defire he may be asked,

whether he applied in Perfon to my Lord Mac-

clesfield to be admitted into this Office, and whe-

ther it was upon Death or Refignation ?

Mr. Elde. Upon the Death of Mr. William

Fdlowes fome of my Friends came to me, and

put k into my Head that this Office might be a

proper Office for me, and I took fome Time to

confider of it. I had fome Encouragement at the

Bar, and was very unwilling to quit it, but after

two Days Confideration I went to my Lord hirn-

felf; I told his Lordfhip an Office was fallen by

the Death of Mr. Fellowes ; if his Lordfhip thought

me a proper Perfon •, and I fhould be glad to

have it I was come to wait upon him about it.

His Lordfhip faid, he had no manner of Ob-

jea'iori to me, he had known me a confiderable

rime, and he believed I fhould make a good

Officer.

Earl of Macclesfield 10 G. I.

Mr. Lutwyche. What further Difcourfe was

there ?

Mr. Elde. My Lord at that Time defired

me further to confider of it, and come to him

again : And fo I did. I went back from his

Lordfhip, and I came again in a Day or two, I

believe it was the fecond after I came back

from his Lordfhip, and told him I had confider-

ed of it, and defired to know if his Lordfhip

thought fit to admit me •, and I would make

him \ Prefent of 4 or 5000 /. I cannot fay

which of the two I faid, but I believe it was

5000 /.

Mr. Lutwyche. What Anfwer did my Lord

return, when you made him that Propofal ?

Mr. Elde. My Lord faid, Thee and I, or You

and I, my Lord was pleafed to treat me as a

Friend, muft not make Bargains.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire he may

be afked, whether my Lord Macclesfield faid ia

what manner he would treat with him, whe-

ther in a more beneficial manner than any Body

elfe?

Mr. Elde. My Lord Macclesfield did fay, that

if I was defirous of having the Office, he would

treat with me in a different manner than he

would with any man living; thofe were the

Words my Lord ufed, to the beft of my Re-

membrance.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. After this Anfwer of my
Lord Macclesfield, That they muft not make Bar-

gains, what further Application did he make?
'

Mr. Elde. I made no further Application at

all, but fpoke to Mr. Cottingham, meeting him

in Weft minfter- Hall, and told him I had been at

my Lord's, and my Lord was pleafed to fpeak

very kindly to me, and I had propofed to give

him 5000 /; Mr. Cottingham anfwered, Guineas

are handfomer.

Mr. Lutwyche. We defire to know what he

paid, and in what manner, and in what Specie ?

Mr. Elde. My Lords, I paid my Lord,

I cannot fay I paid it him, but I paid 5000

Guineas.

Mr. Lutwyche. In what Manner? Who did

you pay it to ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. After this Agreement with

Mr. Cottingham to make it Guineas, as being

handfomer ; we defire he may inform your Lord-

fhips what he did purfuant to this, and what he

carried with him?

Mr. Elde. Upon this I immediately went to

my Lord's : I was willing to get into the Office

as foon as I could. I did carry with me 5000

Guineas in Gold and Bank Notes : I am not cer-

tain whether there was 3000 Guineas in Gold or

two, but I think there was three, and the Refi-

due of the money was in Bank Notes. This I

brought to my Lord's Houfe.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire he

may be afked what they were put into, or in what

they were carried ?

Mr. Elde. I had the money in my Cham-

bers. I could not tell how to convey it •, It

was a great Burthen and Weight, but recolled-

ing I had a Bafket in my Chamber, I put the

Guineas into the Bafket, and the Notes with

them •, I went in a Chair and took with me the

Bafket in my Chair. When I came to my Lord's

Houfe I faw Mr. Cottingham there, and I gave

him the Bafket, and defired him to carry it up to

my Lord. ^
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Anfwer did he re
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Mr. Elde. I faw him go up Stairs with the

Bafket, and when he came down he intimated

to me that he had delivered it.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire he may

be afked whether he acquainted Mr. Cottingham

with what was in the Basket ?

Mr. Elde. I did not.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. After Mr. Cottingham came

and acquainted you he had delivered the Bas-

ket, how long after that was it before you faw

my Lord ?

Mr. Elde. I did not fee my Lord after that,

till I was fworn in.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. How long was that after ?

Mr. Elde. I cannot be pofitive, but it was

within a Day, either the fame Day, or if not, ic

was the next Day after.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

when Mr. Cottingham returned down Stairs after

the Delivery of the Bafket, what he faid to him

about the Time of his being admitted ?

Mr. Elde. I do not remember he faid any thing

to me about my being admitted. I took that for

granted.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. And when he was admitted,

whether he was admitted in the Clofet, or in

what Room ?

Mr. Elde. When I was to be admitted, my
Lord invited me to Dinner, and fome of my
Friends with me ; and he was pleafed to treat

me and fome Members of the Houfe of Com-
mons in a very handfome manner : I was after

Dinner fworn in before them.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire to alk, Whether
he had the B fleet again?

Mr. Elde. Some months after I fpoke to my
Loru's Gentleman, and defired him if he faw
fuch a B fk?t, that he would give it me back;

and fome time after he did fo.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was any money returned in

it?

Mr. Elde No, my Lords, there was not.

Mr. Lutwyche. There is one Thing in the

Earl's Anfwer, that he retained only Part of

the Prefent fo made him by Mr. Elde. I per-

ceive the Gentlemen of the other Side do not

afk any Queftions about it ; if they do not, we
fhall go on.

Sir Wm. Strickland. I defire to know what
Mr. Cottingham did fay, after he had carried up
the Bafket, and came down again?

Mr. Elde. To the beft of my Remembrance,
he faid nothing to me, but as I repeated it be-

fore, he intimated to me that he had delivered

it to my Lord Macclesfield. I cannot fay as to

any particular Difcourfe ; but I underftood that

he had delivered it.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, if they have
done with Mr. Elde, I would beg Leave to afk

him one Queftion, and that is in relation to what
the impeached Earl faid in his Anfwer, that he
retained of the Prefent fent him by the faid Mr.
Elde no more than the Sum of 1 850 /. We defire

therefore that he may be afked, how much was
returned to him of the 5000 Guineas which he at

firft paid ?

Mr. Elde. 3400.
Mr. Weft. When was that returned again to

him?

Mr. Elde. In November laft, to the beft of my
my Remembrance.
Vol. VI.

Mr. Onflow. In what manner was that money
returned to him ?

_
Mr. Serj. Probyn. We have not yet done with

him. I defire to know when you went out of
Town, and when you returned, and how loner

after your Return was ic repaid ?

Mr. Elde. It was repaid to me, to the beft of
my Knowledge, within three, four, or five Days

"

after my Return. As foon as I came from the
Country, the Earl took notice of it, and faid

that he would repay me : For fome Time in

May before, or thereabouts, the noble Lord had
taken notice, that he had received this Pre-
fent from me, and he would make me exceedingly
eafy.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. This was before you went
out of Town ?

Mr. Elde. Before I went out of Town.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. When did you return to

Town ?

Mr. Elde. I returned the 19th, 20th, or 21ft

of November.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. How foon after you came
to Town did you fee my Lord ?

Mr. Elde. Very foon after I came to Town.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. What Difcourfe had you

with him about it ?

Mr. Elde. My Lord told me he would return

me my money again, he did not fay all, but he

would return me my money ; and that he had
done it before, had it been convenient.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. How foon after this Dif-

courfe was it, that the money was returned ?

Mr. Elde. I believe two or three Days.

Mr. Onflow. If the Gentlemen have done, I

defire he may be afked in what manner this money
was returned, and by whom ?

Mr. Elde. After this Difcourfe, my Lord Parker
fent for me, my Lord Chancellor was then at

Weftminfler-hall, and told me my Lord Chan-
cellor had defired him to pay to me 3400/. and
he did pay it.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, if I underftand

Mr. Elde right, he faid there was fomething
mentioned by my Lord of this Kindnefs before he

went into the Country. I defire he may be afk-

ed, Upon what Occafion he was going into the

Country at that time ?

Mr. Onflow. I defire that he may firft anfwer

in what manner, by whom, and where, this mo-
ney was repaid to him, whether in money, or

notes, or how ?

Mr. Elde. To the beft of my Remembrance it

was paid in this manner, there was 1400/. in

Bank Notes, and 2000/. in India Bonds.

Mr. Onflow. Who was this paid by ?

Mr. Elde. By my Lord Parker.

Mr. Onflow. Whether he gave any Receipt

for the money, or any Part of it, and to what
EffecL

Mr. Elde. When my Lord paid me the mo-
ney, he faid my Lord Macclesfield had ordered me
to be paid the money ; but his Lordfhip not

having fo much by him, therefore he had or-

dered him to make it up, and to pay me two

thoufand Pounds out of his own money ; and

that as 2000/. of it was his own money, he defired

me to give a Note of the Receipt of it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether was that Note,

a Note for Repayment of the money, or a

Receipt ?

Mr. Elde. It was not for Repayment, that

I remember, but it was an Acknowledgment

4 Y of
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that I had re-
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of the Receipt of the money,

ceived fo much.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether it did not contain

a further Acknowledgment, for Repayment?
Mr. Elde. Not that I know of.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was it faid upon whofe

Account the money was paid ?

Mr. Elde. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire he may be afked,

How many Days before he was to produce the

Balance of his Cafh before the Commiffioners,

that he received this money ?

Mr. Elde. I cannot fay how long before •, it

Jo G. I.

Mr. Plummer. I defire he may be afked,Whcn
the Note was delivered up to him?

Mr. Elde. That was afked before ; I cannot tell

the Djy.

Mr. Plummer. It was never afked here before :

The Queftion I afk is, When the Note was de-

livered up
Mr. Elde. I do not remember the Day.
Mr. Plummer. As near as you can ?

Mr. Elde. In the Beginning of December.

Mr. Sandys. I beg leave to afk one Queftion:
Pie fays that he applied this money, which he re-

ceived of my Lord Parker, towards making good
might be a Fortnight or three Weeks ; I cannot the Ballance of his Accompt ; Whether or no,

fay it was not long before

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether it was not necef-

fary for him to make ufe of this money, in order

to make up this Balance ?

Mr. Elde. I will anfwer that Queftion as well

as I can : I did make ufe of it to that pur-

he did not firft refufe to fwear to the Ballance

of that Account ; and what was the Occafion
of it ?

Mr. Elde. When I had delivered in my Ac-
compt, the Queftion I was afked the firft Time,
was propofed to me, not by any of the Judges

pofe, as having it by me ; but I was not fo poor who were appointed to infpect our Acccmpts,
as to be put to a Necefilty of fo doing ; I could but by Sir Nathaniel Gould, who propofed it in

have had the money any where of any body that

knew me.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I defire he may be

afked, Whether he can remember the particular

Time to a Day, when it was repaid him ?

Mr. Elde. Upon my Oath, I cannot tell the

particular Time.
Mr. Onflow. Was it after the Inquiry was

fuch a manner, that I could not by any means
take it. He afked me, Whether I owed any
thing, and I was to fwear I owed nothing : I

told him I could not fwear any fuch thing. I

had fome Arguments with him about the Abfur-

dity of fuch an Oath, and faid, if I owe a mil-

lion of money, that is nothing to the purpofe:

There is the money due on the Ballance of my
directed to be made by the Lords of the Coun- Accompt; I deliver it to you ; I laid the money

upon the Table, and infilled upon leaving it with

them.

Mr. Sandys. Whether that Note was delivered

to him after he refufed to take the Oath?
Mr. Elde. It was.

Mr. Sandys. Whether that Note was not the

cil?

Mr. Elde. Yes, my Lords, I was in the Coun-

try when the Inquiry was directed to be made,

and a month after.

Mr. Lutwyche. I mentioned a Queftion be-

fore ; Mr. Elde was mentioning that my Lord
Macclesfield had faid to him before he went out of Occafion of his refufing to take the Qath
Town, that he would make him exceeding eafy

;

I defire he may be afked where he was then go-

ing, and upon what Occafion ?

Mr. Elde. My Lords, I was going into Staf-

ford/hire, where the little Effects I have in the

World lie.

Mr. Lutwyche. I would know upon what Occa-

fion ?

Mr. Elde. I never miffed going into the

Mr. Elde. I cannot fay but it was an Ingredient

in it.

Sir George Oxendcn. I would be glad to know
where this Note is ?

Mr. Elde. When my Lord Parker delivered

it to me, I lapt it up, and put it in my Pocket

:

My Lord afked me why I did fo ? I anfwered,

I would keep it as a memorandum of my Lord
Chancellor's Favour to me ; but when I came

Country the Beginning of August, for thefe ten home, confidering that it would be of no Service,

Years paft. and that it might be hazardous to keep it by me,

Mr. Lutwyche. Whether there was any parti- I tore it.

cular Occafion for his going down into the Coun- Dr. Sayer. I defire he may be afked, Whether
try at that Time ? he did not look upon himfelf entirely difcharged

Mr. Elde. If your Lcrdfhips are of Opinion from any Demand on Account of that money, or

that this is a fair Queftion, I will as fairly anfwer did think himfelf bound to anfwer it ?

it. I went down to my Houfe, to look into what
little Affairs I had there. I called at Stafford firft,

and there declared myfelf a Candidate for the

Election that was to enfue.

Mr. Lutwyche. We defire he may be afked,

When he returned ?

Mr. Elde. I returned about the 19th or 20th
of November.

Mr. Plummer. Mr. Elde fays, when my Lord
Parker paid him, he had a Note from him, ac-

knowledging the Receipt of the money : I defire

to know, Whether that Note was taken up again,

and when ?

Mr. Elde. I do not think myfelf bound to an-

fwer it.

Dr. Sayer. Whether he apprehends it to be a

free and perfect Gift ?

Mr. Elde. I do, my Lords.

Mr. Cottingham called again.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we left

Bafket in the Hands of Mr. Cottingham

fore it is neceffary that Mr. Cottingham inform

your Lordfhips what became of it afterwards ;

what he did with the Bafket, after he had it

from Mr. Elde ?

Mr. Cottingham. My Lords, I carried it up to

the

there-

Mr. Elde. The Note I gave my Lord Parker? my Lord, and kt it down in his Study.

Mr. Plummer. Yes.

Mr. Elde. My Lord Parker fent for me, and
gave me the Note again. I do not know that I

I w my Lord Macclesfield till after I had fcen Lord
Parker, and he had given me up the Note again.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What did you fay to my
Lord?
Mr. Cottingham. Nothing. Mr. Elde ordered

me to carry ;ip the Bafket •, I carried it up, and

there I let it down : i never faw it afterwards.

Mr.
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether do you remem-

ber what Anfwer my Lord Macclesfield made at

that Time ?

Mr. Coltingham. None that I remember.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether did he open the

Basket ?

Mr. Coltingham. No. The Bafket was cover-

ed up, and I let it down in my Lord's Clofet.

Mr. Ser'u Pengelly. Whether after that Time

he appointed any Time for Mr. Elde to be ad-

mitted ?

Mr. Coltingham. I think he was admitted that

very fame Day.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire this Witnefs may

be afked, whether he received any Thing from

Mr. Elde, befides what was in the Bafket ?

J2 5
He was one your Lordfhip

had a great Opinion of, and that he was very de-
ferving. I never heard your Lordfhip exprefs
a better Opinion of any Man than of Mr. Elde.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We have done wich this
Article: The next Article is the 8th. We dtfire
Mr. Thurfton may be fworn.

Mr. Mark Thurfton fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire that
Mr. Thurfton may give your Lord (hips an Ac-
count, When he was admitted into one of the
Offices of the Mailers in Chancery, and upon
whofe Death ?

Mr. Thurfton. My Lords, I was admitted into
this Office upon the Death of Mr. Barret, and the

Mr. Coltingham. Not a Farthing* except my Day of my Admiffion was the 5th ofJugufl la ft.

Fees: Nor no more of any of the Mafters than Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may"be afked,

my ufual Fees. Whether, before his Admiffion, he had made any

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire Mr. Coltingham Application either to my Lord Macclesfield ox his

may be afked, whether at this Time, when Mr. Secretary, or any Perfon concerned for him ?

Elde defired to be admitted into this Office, there Mr. Thurfton. My Lords, before my Admiffi-

was any other Perfon who defired it, or made on, I did make fome Application to my Lord
any OJer for it ? Chancellor's Secretary Mr. Cottingham ; and at

Mr. Cottingham. Mr. Lucas, a Gentleman of that Time I made a Propofal of making a Pre-

the Te?nple, was recommended to the Earl by Mr. fent of 5000 Guineas, to be admitted into the

Bidfirode, who is fince dead. He had been for- Office. Mr. Cottingham afked me feveral Quefti-

merly a Commiffioner of the Excife ; his Name
was Wijitlock Bidftrode. Mr. Lucas did tell me
upon that Occafion, if the Earl would admit

him, he would give him 6000 /. for the Office.

I took a Memorandum of it at that Time, and

I had it in my Hands four or five Days ago.

ons about my Circumftahces, and what Perfons
I could name that would recommend me to his

Lordfhip : To which I gave the proper Anfwers,
and mentioned feveral Gentlemen he knew. Af-
ter that, I having the Honour of being acquaint-

ted with my Lord Commiffioner Gilbert, before I

Mr. Serj. Probyn. When Mr. Lucas told you took any other Steps, I waited on his Lordfhip,

this, whether did you inform the then Lord Chan- and acquainted him with my Refolution, and
cellor of it ?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, I am fure I did ; and

the Anfwer he made me was, that Mr. Elde was

of a Family which were his particular Friends

and Acquaintance, for whom he had a great

begged the favour of him, that he would take

the Trouble to recommend me to my Lord
Chancellor, as his Friend, and a fit Perfon for

the Office. His Lordfhip did take that Trou-
ble, and waited upon my Lord at Weftminfter,

Friendfhip and Value, and that he fhould have who was then fitting upon the Bench ; and af-

it 1000 /. cheaper, or lefTer than any Body ter Notice was fent him of that Gentleman's be-

elfe. ing in the little Room behind, his Lordfhip

Mr. Strange. I defire he may be afked, whe- came off the Bench; and fome Time being

ther before Mr. Elde was admitted, he did not ac- fpent in Converfation between them, I was cal-

quaint the noble Lord, that this Mr. Lucas would led in, and kindly recommended by that honour-

give 6000 U able Perfon ; and my Lord Macclesfield feemed

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, I did. to approve of me upon his Recommendation.
Mr. Serj Pengelly. I defire to know whether But I fhould acquaint your Lordfhips, that as to

I underftand Mr. Cottingham right? He fays, that that Part of the Tranfaction with Mr. Cottingham,

my Lord would let Mr. Elde have it cheaper than he faid that he would report thofe Things to my
any Body elfe : Whether he underftood by that, Lord Macclesfield, of my Character and Perfon,

that my Lord expected fome Body elfe would give though he never reported any thing back to me
him more ? again upon it : But I took the next enfuing Steps,

Mr. Cottingham. My Lord faid he would let by the intervention of the honourable Gentleman,

vlr. Elde have it upon the Score of particular my Lord Commiffioner Gilbert.

Friendfhip and Acquaintance.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. If I heard him right, I

fubmit it to your Lordfhips, whether he did not

fay that Mr. Elde fhould have it 1000/. cheaper

than any other Perfon. I afk whether be did

not underftand my Lord Macclesfield would have

1000 /. more from any other Perfon?

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords;, I hope I am not

to be charged with the Imaginations of this Gen-
tleman ; he is afked about his Apprehenfion of
my Intention in a Cafe that did not happen. I

defire he mav be afked, if he knew what Cha-
racter Mr. Elde had?

Mr. Cottingham. A very good one.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire it may be afked

Sir Will. Strickland. Whether he did not un-

derftand, that my Lord Macclesfield agreed to his

Propofal s ?

Mr. Thurfton. Yes.

Sir Will. Strickland. After this Tranfaction with

Mr. Cottingham, what further Application was

made? And why he was not immediately admit-

ted at that Time ?

Mr. Thurfton. It was not expected by me to be

immediately admitted at that Time : Becaufe

my Lord Chancellor did not abfolutely deter-

mine me to be the Perfon ; but faid he had fo

good a Character of me, that he believed I fhould

be the man.

Sir Will. Strickland. Whether Mr. Thurfton, be-

whetherhe did not know that I had a great Opi- ing uneafy about the delaying of admitting him,

nion of Mr. Elde\ Ability and Integrity ? did apply to any other Perfon afterwards ?

Mr. Thur-
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Mr. Thurfton. After my being introduced to under my Infpection
-,
and I don't find the Gen tle-

my Lord Chancellor, there was fome Time for men that have, can give an Account of it.

my Lord's Confideration. Near a Week after, a Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I do not afk to a particular

Meffage was fent me by Mr. Cottingham, that Sum ; but whether there was a Deficiency, any

my Lord would be ready to admit me fuch a Deficiency, and about what Sum ?

Day. Before the Day came, I had a Meffage Mr. Thurfton. I do not know any Thing at

contradicting

being engaged

all about the matter; I might as weJ] guefs
what a Gentleman is worth that I know nothing
of.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether there were Effects

fufficient to anfwer all the Suitors Demands?
Mr. Tburflon. I cannot tell ; becaufe there was

was named by every body to be the Perfon fix- not any particular or exact Accompt taken of it,

ed upon •, and People reforted to me to tranfict that is come to my Knowledge.

the Bufinefs of the Office, which I could not do Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether the Suitors have
without being duly admitted. And fhortly af- been paid the money left, or depofited by them
ter that Time, there was a Report fpread, in the hands of Mr. Borret ?

that my Lord Chancellor had defigned to make E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, if there be any

it, upon my Lord Chancellor's

to attend the Council on that

Day7 After that, I expected the Appointment

of another Day for that purpofe •, and in the

mean time this Affair had got into the pub-

lick News-Papers, as every thing does, and I

a Prefent of the Place to fome Gentleman in

the Country, which gave me an Uneafinefs, and

put me upon an Expedient, that fince I could

not have ready Accefs to fo great a Perfon as

his Lordfhip, I went to Kenfington one morning

to wait upon the Countefs of Macclesfield ; and

Order of the Court for their being paid, it will

appear, and they may produce thofe Orders to
your Lordfhips : How can they pay without any
Order ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I do not fpeak of Orders, I
only afk, Whether he knows that the Suitors have

upon fending up my Name, and that I defired been paid?

to fpeak with her, in a fhort Time I had the Mr. ThursJon, It is impoffible for me to have
Honour of feeing her, and acquainted her that any Knowledge of it, for the Reafons I gave
1 was the Perfon that my Lord had promifed the you before ; having had no Infpection of thofe

Office to, and that I could not proceed therein Accompts.

without being fworn; therefore I defired her Mr. Lutwycbe. I defire he may be afked, Whe-
Ladyfhip to intercede with my Lord, that I ther any Effects, or Money, or Cafh, and. to

might be fpeedily fworn in. Her Ladyfhip faid, what Value, have been transferred to him, as the

fhe never did meddle in any Affairs of a pub-

lick Nature. I ufed feveral Arguments with her,

as that the Thing was now publick and in

Print, that it might be a great Difappointment

to me, and might* affect my Character, if my
Lord did not think fit to admit me. I laid a good
deal of Strefs upon thefe Arguments, and I ac-

Effects of Mr. Borret ?

Mr. Thurfton. About 4200/.
Mr. Lutwycbe. Whether he knows what the

Cafh was, that was in Mr. Borret's Hands ?

Mr. Thurfton. No, my Lords, I do not know.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

Whether he has been applied to by any of the Sui-

quainted her Ladyfhip that I did not expect or tors of the Court, upon the account of money de*

defire to come in without the due Prefent that pofited in Mr. Borret's Hands ?

is always efteemed the Perquifite of the Great Mr. Thurfton. I cannot fay no body has ap-
Seal. Then I repeated thofe other Arguments plied to me for money due in Mr. Borret's Of-
again, that my Character might be affected by fice •, feveral Suitors or their Reprefentatives

thefe Difappointments ; whereby her Ladyfhip have been enquiring after fuch Things, who
was prevailed upon to promife fhe would write have been fatisfied with having fuch an Anfwer
a letter, and acqjaint my Lord Chancellor with as the prefent Circumftances would furnifh.

it. Before I went away from the Room where There were fome Sums of money, before this

I had the Honour to be with the Lady, I did broke out, paid to Suitors, that was Intereft mo-
leave upon the Table, Bank Notes to the Value
of 5250 Pounds.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. How were they directed ?

Mr. Thurfton. I directed them to the Countefs

of Macclesfield.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

How foon after this he was admitted ?

Mr. Thurfton. I believe it was within two or

ney ; and who were reprefented to me as People
in Neceffity, to the amount of 3 or 400/. When
this broke out, I then defifted Payment, upon the

Advice of a great Friend.

Mr. Lutwycbe. I defire he would explain him-
felf, what he means by faying, before this broke
out?

Mr. Thurfton. What I mean was, the Inquiry
three Days after at fartheft, that I was admitted made into the Mailers Accompts, by his Ma-
and fworn into this Office.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire he may give your
Lordfhips an Account who was his Predeceflbr ?

Mr. Thurfton. Mr. Borret^ as I acquainted your
Lordfhips before

jefly's Direction in Council.

Mr. Lutwycbe. The Sum of money he paid, I

defire he may be afked, Who he received that

Sum from ?

Mr. Thurfton. I received it from Mr. Godfrey^

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire he may acquaint the Mafter in Chancery.

your Lordfhips of the State of the Office, as it Mr. Lutwycbe. I defire fie may be afked, Whe-
came into his Hands. What was the Deficiency ther he knew of any Adminiftration taken out
of the Office, due to the Suitors of the Court, to Mr. Borret^ and'at what Time?
not anfwered by the Effects of Mr. Borret^ when Mr. Thurfton. I believe Mr. Godfrey and Mr.
it came into your Hands? Bennet were defired to take thatTrouble upon them,

Mr. ThursJon. That is a Queftion I can't pof- to look intoMr.-Sorm's affairs, by the LordChan-
fibly anfwer, becaufe I never had thofe Accompts cellor; which they proceeded and took fome fteps in,

till
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till they were difcouraged from it by the Enquiry and are able to transfer ; or in Cafe, upon Death,

that wasfet on foot. They tell me now, that Ad- where their Reprefentatives are able to do it?

miniftration is granted to Mr. Paxton._

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may inform your

Lordfhips, fince he paid the Intereft, why he did

not pay the Principal?

E. of Macclesfield. I believe it would fave your

Lordfhips time, if Mr. Serjeant would afk his

Queftions in fuch a manner, as not to imply

fomething which was not admitted, or faid by

the Witnefs. The Queftion fuppofes a principal

Sum demanded ; the proper Queftion is, firft to

afk if any principal Sum was demanded, and whe-

ther it was, or was not paid

Mr. Tburfton. The Reafon it was not done, I
conceive, was becaufe it was impracticable, there
being no Reprefentative of my Predeceffor, no Ad-
miniftration being taken out.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may inform your
Lordfhips, whether he was not applied to, by a no-
ble Peer of this Houfe, concerning fome Effects de-
pofited in the Hands of Mr. Borret, and what ac-
count he then gave him of the State and Situation
of the Office ?

E. of Macclesfield. I am really very forry to
trouble your Lordfhips fo often. What is it to

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I apprehend that Mr. Thur- me what this Gentleman faid? He is now upon his

fion fays, That Creditors came to him, Suitors of Oath, and to give to your Lordfhips an Account
the Court, and he could not pay anymore than the what he knows; but to afk him what he faid at

Intereft •, therefore I apprehend they came to him fuch a Time, to affect me, I hope they will not in-

for the money lodged in the Hands of Mr. Borret. fift upon it.

Therefore I defire he may be afked, whether any Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When he has declared what
of thofe Perfons that demanded their money were he faid, then there will be another Queftion, whe-
paid ? ther that was true in Fact ? And that Queftion will

E. of Macclesfield, I defire he may be afked, then affect the impeached Lord,

whether any demanded the principal Sum ? and E. of Macclesfield. If Mr. Serjeant will afk a

by what Order? proper Queftion firft, he may •, but he fhould not

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire to afk my own Que- afk an improper Thing, becaufe he will afk a

ftions ; I apprehend I am not to be directed in the proper Queftion afterwards,

afking my Queftions by the Lord impeached. I Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We apprehend it is proper

defire to afk what Suitors applied, and what Sums Evidence to be given, that he gave fuch an Ac-
they demanded ?

Mr. Tburfton. The Names of the Suitors I can't

recollect, I believe it is not neceffary to trouble

your Lordfhips with them. The Sums demanded

count of the Office, in anfwer to the noble Lord
Therefore I defire to know what Account he gave
to that noble Lord ?

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I humbly oppofe

were only Intereft money. The principal Sum, for that Queftion, and defire your Lordfhips Judg-
which I paid the Intereft, to the beft of my re-

membrance, was 700 /. There was no Demand
made of principal money to be paid. But there

might be Enquiries made, I believe, by a noble

Peer of this Houfe, which I was fo very unfortu-

nate, that I could not inform his Lordfhip of the

State of what he enquired after.

Mr. Plummer. Mr. Tburfton fays, he defifted

from paying any further Sums, upon very good
Advice ; I defire to know why, or by whofe Ad-
vice, he defifted paying?

ment, whether he is to afk what this Perfon faid ?

Mr. Lutwycbe. I believe the fame End may be
obtained by afking a Queftion without Difpute,

and to which there can be no Objection ; that is,

Whether or no he had any Reafons to think that

there was a Deficiency in the Office, and what
thofe Reafons were ?

Mr. Strange. My Lords, we beg leave to oppofe

that Queftion : What his private Opinion may be,

is no Evidence ; he and another may think va-

rioufly of the fame matter. They are to afk him
Mr. Tburfton. It was upon a prudential Reafon as to Fact, and not to his Opinion

I did defift ; becaufe, when a publick Inquiry was

fet on foot, I did not know how far I might

be affected, in being made anfwerable my felf

for it.

Mr. Plummer. Whether he had any Sufpicion

that there was a Deficiency in Mr. Borrefs

Office?

Mr. Tburfton. There was a Sufpicion that there

was not competent money to fatisfy all the Suitors

Demands.

Mr. Plummer. I have not had the Happinefs to

be bred a Lawyer, and therefore may be miftaken

as to legal Evidence: But furely when your Lord-

fhips are examining a Perfon to the Deficiency of

his own Office, none can give a better Account

than himfelf. I defire he would anfwer what he

knows, whether he had the compleat money of

Mr. Barrel's transferred to him ?

Mr. Tburfton. The compleat money of the Of-

fice hath not been transferred to me, and for the

Mr. Lutwycbe. I defire he may be afked, whe- Reafons I have mentioned to your Lordfhips ; for

ther there was not an Order for transferrins the want of an Adminiftration.

Effects in Mr. Borrel's Hands to him ?

Mr. Tburfton. Upon the Admiffion of every

mafter, there is an Order of Courfe figned by the

Lord Chancellor, to transfer the Effects to the

Succeffor.

Sir Wm. Strickland. I would beg leave to afk

Mr. Tburfton one Queftion, and I hope a material

one; Whether, on his Admiffion into that Office,

he did not find a great Confufion in it ?

Mr. Tburfton. I can't fay that upon my Ad-

Mr. Lutwycbe. I afk if any fuch Order came million into that Office I found great Confufion in

to him? it, becaufe all Papers that came within my View

Mr. Tburfton. There did, my Lords. were very regular, and well adjufted to difpatch

Mr. Lutwycbe. Was there any Transfer of the Bufinefs upon.

Effects according to that Order ? Sir W. Strickland. I defire he may be afked, whe-

Mr. Tburfton. No, there was not a compfcat ther, if he had known the State of_this Office^ he

Transfer.

: Mr. Lutwycbe. Why was it not, as ufual in the

Cafe of other mailers, that either are removed,

Vol. VI,

would have given Five thoufand Guineas for it ?

Mr. Tburfton. If I had known the State of the

Office, and the Confequences of it, as appear at

4 Z this
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this Time before your Lordfhips, rather than have

given 5000/. for it, I would have given 5000/. to

have been without it.

Mr. Serj. Prcbyn. Of the money he paid or left

at the time he mentions, on my Lady Macclesfield's

Table, I defire to know if he received any of it

back again?

Mr. Tburilon. I received back again, from the

Lady Macclesfield, the Sum of 3250 /. in Bank-

Notes, the fame as I enclofed, when I firft left it.

Dr. Sayer. Do you know the particular Circum-

flances of that Tranfaction, and upon what Oc-

cafion the Money came to be returned? Give a

full Account of that whole Tranfaftion.

Mr. Thurslon. Soon after my Admiffion, and as

foon as I could adjuft the Affairs of my Office, it

being the latter End of Summer, and little Bufinefs

ftirring, I went into the Country for my Health.

The Servant I left in Town, fent me word, that

there were feveral MefTages from my Lord Chan-

cellor, that he fuppofed might be of Importance.

As foon as I could conveniently, I returned to Lon-

don, and in a Day or two went my felf to my Lord

Chancellor's Houfe, and I fent to know what the

Occafion of thofe mefTages was. They faid, it was

not from my Lord Chancellor, but it was a mef-

fagefrom my Lady Macclesfield. Upon that I im-

mediately after waited upon her Ladyfhip. She

informed me then, that (he did not know that I

had left fo large a Prefent with her, as me found

it was : And declaring I mould be ufed with Ho-
nour, me returned to me 3250/. and the other

part, fhe faid fhe would appropriate to her own
Ufe.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire Mr. Tburfton may
be afked, if there was any notice taken of any Or-

der or Directions from my Lord Chancellor about

re- payment of the Money ? or whether it was on-

ly a Tranfaclion between him and my Lady Mac-
clesfield.

Mr. Tburslon. There was no Notice taken of any

Orders from my Lord Chancellor; rather an ex-

prefs Defire that my Lord Chancellor mould never

be acquainted with it.

Mr. Strange. I would ask when this money was

reftored ?

Mr. Tburfton. The time when the money was
reftored, was about the middle of Otlober.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be asked, whe-
ther at the time he firft applied to Lady Maccles-

field, he laid down the Paper thofe Bank Bills were

in on the Table, before he received any Anfwer
from my Lady, or afterwards ?

Mr. Tburfton. I laid down the Bank Bills on the

Table, to the beft of my Remembrance, at the

time of my coming away, and taking leave.

Mr. Com. Serj. Whether they were inclofed in

a Paper ?

Mr. Tburfton. They were inclofed in a Paper,

and aifo fealed up.

Mr. Com. Se*j. Whether they were opened du-

ring the Time he was there?

Mr. Tburfton. No, they were not.

Mr. Com. Serj. Or taken up by my Lady during

that Time?
Mr. Tburfton. No, my Lords, I don't remember

they were.

Mr. Com. Serj. Whether he named the particu-

lar Sum to her Ladyfhip ?

Mr. Tburfton. No, my Lords, not in the leaft.

I did not give any Intimation what Sum was in-

clofed.

Earl of Macclesfield, 10 G. I;

Mr. Strange. I defire he may be afked, whether
he can remember that my Lady did or did not
open it, before he went away ?

Mr. Thurslon. To the beft of my Remembrance
it was not opened, before I went out of the
Room.

Mr. Strange. I defire he may be afked this fur-

ther Queftion, whether he apprehended that my
Lady Macclesfield was acquainted with the Con-
tents, till after he was gone?
Mr. Tburfton, I did not apprehend that my Lady

Macclesfield was acquainted with the Contents of
it, till afterwards.

Mr. Weft. Since that Gentleman hath been afked
concerning his Apprehenfion, I defire he may be
afked another Queftion of the fame kind, which is,

Whether he apprehended he fhould have been
admitted, if he had not left the money ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We fubmit it to your Lord-
fhips, whether that be a fair Queftion.

Mr. Weft. Really I think it is a proper Queftion,
upon the Foundation of the Queftion afked before.

The former Queftion was, whether he apprehend-
ed my Lady knew what he had kft ? I ask, whe-
ther he apprehended he fhould have been admitted,
if he had not left that Sum?

Mr. Tburfton. I do not apprehend, that if I

had come without the money, I fhould have been
admitted. But if the Notes had been return'd to

me without any other Anfwer, then I fhould fully

have apprehended that I fhould not have been
admitted.

SirJohn Rufhout. I defire he may beask'd, whe-
ther he had any particular Acquaintance with the

Lady Macclesfield before?

Mr. Tburfton. I had not that Honour.
Sir John Rujhout. Whether he had ever feen her,

or been in her Company before?

Mr. Tburfton. My Lords, I believe I never was.

Sir. John Rujhout. My Lords, we dc-fire he may
be asked what he apprehends was the Reafon of

3250/. being returned to him ?

Mr. Tburfton. I know not whether I fhould

trouble your Lordfhips with my Apprehenfions,

they may not bejuft ; but fo far as I could collect

from the Lady's Difcourfe, the Reafon was, fhe

thought it too large a Prefent.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may beask'd, when
the 3250/. was returned, in what month it was?

Mr. Tburfton. It was in Otlober.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether he can recollect

in what Time of the month ?

Mr. Tburfton. I believe it was about the middle

of Otlober, to the beft of my Remembrance.
Dr. Sayer. My Lords, we defire he may beask'd,

whether the return of this money was before or

after the then firft Seal before Michaelmas Term ?

Mr. Tburfton. To the beft of my Remembrance,
the firft Seal was about the middle of Otlober, and

it was returned before the firft Seal.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I defire he may
be ask'd, whether there was any mefTage fent a-

bout the returning of the money, before the Re-
turn was made?

Mr. Tburfton. I have acquainted your Lordfhips

that feveral mefTages paft, while I was in the

Country.

Mr. Robins. When he waited upon my Lady
Macclesfield, after his Return out of the Country,

I defire he may be asked, whether fhe mentioned

any Thing to him of the Reafon of thofe mef-

fages?

Mr. fburfton.
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Mr. Thurfton. She mentioned the Reafon, and Mr. Plummer. And why ?

faid, that it was to return the mpney, which flie Mr. Cottingham. The' Earl ordered me to take

faid was too large a Prefent, and that flje was no money of him. Upon that general Order I

afraid my Lord Chancellor fhould come to the made a little difficulty, and told him of it ; the

knowledge of it. anfwer he made me was, Why fhould I make any
Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he would inform your difficulty, when he had been thus generoufly dealt

Lordfhips, when he went tp Kenfington to my Lady with by my Lord Chancellor ?

Macclesfield, vyhere my Lord Macclesfield was ? Sir W?a. Strickland. Whether at that time, when
Mr. Thurfton. When I went to Kenfington to my he firft mention'd the 5000 Guineas, it was not a

Lady Macclesfield, my Lord Macclesfield was then Day or two before his admiffion ?

engaged in the Bufinefs of the Court of Chancery, Mr. Cottingham. I believe it was a Day or two
at the latter end of the Sittings, or firft Seal after before his admiffion.

Michaelmas Term.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. In what ftate of Health was

my Lord Chancellor at that time ? Had he not

continued fome time before at London, and not at

Kenfington ?

Mr. Thurfton. My Lord Chancellor, by the en-

quiry I made, was at that time in London.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Howfoon after your Admiffion

did the Lord Chancellor go into Oxfordfhire ?

Mr. Thurfton. The very Day after my Admif-

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, We have done with
Mr. Cottingham ; fince the name of Dr. Sayer is men-
tioned on this Occafion, whom the noble Earl de-
clared he would compliment with the Place thac
fell vacant, I defire this Witnefs may be afked,
Whether that was a real Compliment to Dr. Sayery
or whether Dr. Sayer made any application, or
was to give any thing for it ?

Mr. Cottingham. I believe, if Dr. Sayer had been
then in Town, my Lord would really have made

{ion, my Lord Chancellor went into Oxford/hire, him a Compliment of it without any prefent. My
as I was informed by one of my Lord's Officers, Lord told me Dr. Sayer was his particular Friend,

and he had a great Value and Refpecl for him.
Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I beg leave to afk a

Queftion upon that Queftion. He fays he thought
my Lord Macclesfield would have given it him for

who came to me that Day upon fome Bufinefs

Mr. Cottingham again call'd.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire Mr. Cot- nothing-, I afk him, If he then thought he gave
tingham may be afked, whether upon the Propofal it Mr. Thurfton for nothing?

of 5000 Guineas made to him by Mr. Thurfton, Mr. Cottingham. The Anfwer lean make to that

he acquainted my Lord Macclesfield with it? Queftion is, that I did not apprehend my Lord
Mr. Cottingham. I acquainted my Lord Chancel- was fo well acquainted with Mr. Thurfton, as to

lor with the Propofal made by Mr. Thurfton of give it him for nothing.

5000 Guineas. Dr. Sayer. I defire he may be afk'd, Whether he
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether did he approve of did not reprefent to the Earl of Macclesfield, that

it, or reject it? there was a neceffity for the immediate putting a
Mr. Cottingham. I am not very certain, whether Mafter into that Office, for the difpatch of Bli-

the Earl did not fay he would take time to con- finefs ?

fider of it. Bat in the main, according to my
Apprehenfion, the Earl feem'd to approve of it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be ask'd,

Whether he receiv'd any thing for my Lord Mac-
clesfield's Ufe upon Mr. Thurfton's Admiffion ?

Mr. Cottingham. No, my Lords, I receiv'd no-

thing but my own Fees.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. If he received nothing,Whe-
ther he received any Directions from my Lord
Chancellor, relating to his receiving, or not re-

ceiving any thing from him ?

Mr. Cottingham. I did reprefent it to the Earl,
that it was neceffary to put fomebody into the
Office, for feveral Practifers had been with me
about their affairs in that Office, and otherwife

the Bufinefs might be transferred to another Of-
fice, which would have been a great prejudice.

Upon that the Earl faid, Mr. Thurfton fhould be
admitted.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Whether you had not applica-

tion from the Suitors themfelves, and whether there

was not a Clamour from them on account of the

Mr. Cottingham. The Earl was pleafed to tell ftop it put to Bufinefs?

me, he had a defign to have given that place to Dr. Mr. Cottingham. Yes, there was ; it happened to

Sayer, but he was at that time in the country, out be in the long Vacation, and fomething, I told the

of town, at.Durham : He proceeded fo far as to

order me to take no money of Mr. Thurfton.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When was that ?

Mr. Cottingham. Very foon before he was ad-

mitted.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we fubmit this as

Evidence of the Lord's knowing of the Receipt of
this Prefent of 5000 Guineas.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I defire to know of
Mr. Cottingham, Whether my Lord Macclesfield

had any acquaintance with Mr. Thurfton before

this Propofal ?

Mr. Cottingham. I can't fay as to that, whether
he had or had not ; I believe he had not, as I

apprehend.

Mr. Plummer. I defire he may be afk'd one

Queftion, Whether he made any difficulty of ac-

cepting his Fees on Mr. Thurftori's Admiffion ?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, I did.

Earl, muft be done, there was an abfolute Necef-

fity to come to fome Refolution or other in the

matter.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. In this Article, as an aggra-

vation, it is alledg'd, that Mr. Borret died infol-

vent: We beg leave to call fome WitnefTes to

give an account of the State of the Office at his

admiffion, and afterwards at the time of his

Death.

Mr. Meller called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire Mr.
Meller may be afk'd, what Sums in Cafh and Ef-

fects he delivered over to Mr. Borret, at the time

of his coming into the Office ?

Mr. Meller. My Lords, I take it to be about

1 29,000/. I refer myfelf to the account given in

to
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to the Judges, and Directors of the Bank, and

figned by my Hand.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we fubmit it, whe-

ther this is regular, to examine to an Accompt

Viva Voce, which account hath been reduced into

writing?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Surely theWitnefs may make

ufe of his own paper to refrefh his memory.

E. of Macclesfield. I don't know what thefe Gen-

tlemen intend. They are reading a Charge againft

Mr. Borret, to fhew what was delivered over to him,

at the time he came into the Office. Is it expected

I mould be able to give an account what was paid

to him, or by him, while he was Mafter ? that I

fhould give an account of his Eftate and Effects,

what it is, and if there was fufficient to pay, in his

Hands, or not ? If thefe Gentlemen had any Or-

der of the Court, in which this had been fixed

and fettled, that might have been fomething. It

is impoffible for me to enter into it. -It appears

he died inteftate, Adminiftration was not granted

till a great while after his Death , not till very late-

ly: What account hath been taken of his effects I

don't know, nor can any way fhew. They are be-

ginning with an account which I apprehend is not

a proper Evidence to be given as againft me, to

prove that this Gentleman had not Effects fuffi-

cient to anfwer the Demands upon his Office. .

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, this Evidence re-

lates to an accompt delivered in by the approbation

of the Lord impeached, on the Enquiry made before

the Lords of the Council. As this Accompt was

delivered in before them, we apprehend fo far it is

a proper Evidence, and a Foundation for a farther

Enquiry, how much of it remains in the Office :

We fhall afk other perfons afterwards, as to the

Deficiency. All die ufe we now make of it, is, to

fhew the grofs Sum that was at firfl transferred

over to him.

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, if they mean only

to fatisfy your Lordfhips Curiofity, by fhewing

how great a Sum there was in that Office, I think

it is of no great importance.

Mr. Lutwyche. All that we endeavour to prove

now, is, what was very notorious at the time of

Mr. Borret
,
s Death ; that there was a great Defici-

ency, and that he died infolvent, and the Earl goes

a great way in this matter in his own anfwer. He
fays in his anfwer, That on the Death of Mr. Bor-

ret, he defired Mr. Godfrey and Mr. Bennel to en-

quire into his Effects, and to enter a proper Caveat

in the Prerogative Court, to prevent Adminiftra-

tion being granted to any perfon who might em-
bezzle the faid Borret's Eftate, and to obtain Ad-
miniftration to be granted to them for the benefit

of the Suitors of the Court. This goes a good way,
I apprehend, to incline your Lordfhips to believe,

that there were thofe fteps ufed, which are unufual

in the cafe of a man's Solvency. Therefore what
we would afk to, is, that the Witnefs would give

an account of what he knows concerning the De-
ficiency in this Office, or give an account of fuch

Circumftances, as may induce your Lordfhips to

believe there was fuch a Deficiency.

Mr. Com. Serj. If the Gentlemen who appear
on the behalf of the Houfe of Commons think

fit to rely upon our anfwer, they may do it.

Mr. Sol. Gen. 1 think Mr. Meller hath proved
that he transferred 120,000/. to Mr. Borret; we
will now go on, and prove the Deficiency.

Mr. Com. Serj. Mr. Meller hath fpoke Viva Voce,

in a matter which we apprehend is capable of much

Earl of Macclesfield, 10 G. I.

better proof-, therefore we hope what he has
faid fhall not go for Evidence. There muft have
been a Schedule, and he has the counterpart of
that Schedule, by which the Effects were deliver'd

over.

Lord Trevor. Mr. Meller hath a Paper in his

Hand •, I defire to know, What that Paper is?

Mr. Meller. The Paper I have before me, is the

very Account of the money delivered to Mr. Bor-

ret, and the feveral Times when •, it is made by
way of Schedule. There is another Paper by way
of Abftract. I drew them together at the time I

delivered it to the Judges. I had not time to

draw out the full account, and therefore I made
an Abftract, both which are figned.

E. of Macclesfield. The noble Lord afked the

Queftion exceeding proper. The Queftion afked is,

What this Paper was? Perhaps it is the very ac-

compt Mr. Borret and he made up between them,
and figned. I afk therefore, Whether it is the

accompt between them, or whether it is an ac-

compt of his own drawing up fince?

Mr. Meller. This is the accompt I drew up
from my Books, of which Mr. Borret had a Du-
plicate. I verified ail thefe Items, and likewife

proved the payment of the money by Goldfmiths

and Bank Notes.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We apprehend that this is as full

Evidence as can be laid before your Lordfhips.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We fubmit it, Whether your

Lordfhips are of opinion, that this is proper Evi-

dence? Mr. Meller hath been propofing a Paper,

which is not the original accompt delivered •, it is

not the Book, but a Copy of the Book taken out,

and given in Evidence in another place : Now he

would by this Evidence, figned by himfelf, charge

Mr. Borret with money deliver'd over to him -, but

as it is an accompt only figned by Mr. Meller, we
fubmit it, Whether it can be a Charge upon the

Reprefentative of Borret, and confequently if it

can be any Evidence at all ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg leave to infift upon

it as proper Evidence. When a perfon makes up
an accompt of his own Hand-writing, and draws

it up, and fwears that to be a true accompt upon

his own Knowledge, Whether this is not proper

Evidence ?

E. of Macclesfield. This Gentleman has really gi-

ven hisEvidence, though it was objected to: It will

be a proper enquiry hereafter, when we come to

confider the Evidence that hath been given,Whe-
ther it be good proof of what it is brought for ?

Dr. Sayer. We fhall referve our Objection to the

laft.

Mr. Sol. Gen. They may referve what Obferva-

tions they pleafe •, it is an Objection to be made
now, or not at all.

Lord Lechmere, It would be of fome Service to

prevent mifpending your Lordfhip's Time, if the

noble Lord would diftinguifh between Objections

and Obfervations ; for a great deal of Time has

been taken up in Obfervations on Evidence, which

are proper afterwards on the Defence.

Mr. William Thomp/on called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Mr. Ihompfon is one of the

Gentlemen, who by the confent of the Lord within

the Bar, as well as of the reft of that Committee,

did examine into the accompts of the Mafters in

Chancery j and we beg leave to afk him, In the—

accompt delivered in before the noble Lord him-

felf
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felf, what appeared to be the Deficiency upon Mr. Bennet, were employ'd by himfelf to take the Ef-

Borret's Account ? feels of Mr. Borret into their Cuftody.

E. ofMacclesfield. If it does appear by thofe ac- E. of Macclesfield. If I apprehend Mr. Thompfon,

counts, thofe accounts may be produced before he fays, the Charge is taken from the account given

your Lordfhips, and your Lordfhips may be Judges; by Mr. Mellsr himfelf. I defire to know,Whether
but I be°r they may not infift upon this Gentleman Mr. Meller was not called upon to difcharge hirri-

o-ivino- his Opinion, in order to affect me with his felf of the money he had in his hands, before he

Collections or Inferences upon them.

Mr. Sol. Gen. The original accompts are here.

They are on your Lordfhips Table. It will be

proper to examine this Gentleman as to that.

Mr. Plummer. I beg leave to make one Obfer-

vation, and I believe it may prevent mifpending

furrender'd to Mr. Borret, and whether that was
not the Occafion of his being there ?

Mr. Thompfon. I apprehend Mr. Meller was fent
for, in order to know the State of the Office at

the time he left it.

E. of Macclesfield. So he gave an account how
your Lordfhips time. They make an Objection it flood at the time of quieting the Office, and

to this Evidence, as if your Lordfhips were going what he paid over to Mr. Borret ?

to try how the Deficiency was made up ; whereas Mr. Thompfon. I apprehend he did fo.

your Lordfhips are only trying, whether there was Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire Mr. Thompfon may be

cr was not a Deficiency. afk'd,"Whether the 77,485/. Difcharge, was taken

E. of Macclesfield. If the accompts are before from the relation of Mr. Godfrey and Mr. Bennet,

your Lordfhips, and lie upon your Lordfhips Ta- or from the Books themfelves ; or whether he did

ble, and he only declares to your Lordfhips his

Obfervations on thofe accompts, for your Lord-

fhips Eafe, and to fave you fome Trouble, 1 have

no Objection to it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Upon the flaring the accompt,

examine the Books himfelf?

Mr. Thompfon. I went through every Particular

of Mr. Meller's accompt -, as to the other, my me-
mory does notferve me to anfwer particularly.

E. of Macclesfield. Whether they did not report

which we apprehend is a matter of Evidence, when at that time, they could not take the accompts

a Gentleman computes the Sum on one Side, and perfectly, for want of an Adminiftrator ?

the Sum on the other Side, we defire to know what Mr. Thompfon. I believe, my Lords, we might
appears to Mr. Thompfon to be the Deficiency ? do fo ; and I believe, if the Report is turn'd to,

Mr. Tho?npfon. I can't rely upon my memory for it will appear fo. I don't mention thefe Sums as

the Sum, but I have in my Hand a Report made an exact accompt, they were the beft accompts

to the Committee of Council, that I figned with my we could get ?

Name ; by which it appears, that Mr. Meller, at fe- Dr. Sayer. The Queflion I would trouble your

veral times, paid to Mr. Borret 1 20,000 /.That Mr. Lordfhips with, becaufe ft is of great cenfequence,

Borret paid out to the feveral Suitors 77,485/. and is, Whether the accompt of 120,000/. which lies

I find the Charge remaining on Mr. Barret's Office as a Charge upon Mr. Borret's Office, is not the

unpaid to theSuitors, is 42,515/. Thefe are the

Sums that, upon Examination of the accompts,

we find to be right.

Dr. Sayer. If the Gentlemen that are Managers
for the Houfe of Commons have done, we beg

accompt which Mr. Meller is to difcharge himfelf

by, and of thofe Effects for which he otherwife

remains refponfibie ?

Mr. Thompfon. How far Mr. Meller is to dif-

charge himfelf, I am no competent Judge. This

leave to afk Mr. Thompfon this Queflion, Whether is the accompt that the Office, as I apprehend,

on the making up of thefe accounts any Executor flood charged with.

or Adminiftrator of Mr. Borret was prefent. Dr. Sayer. To put the Queflion fhorter, V/he-

Mr. Thompfon. When we examined the accounts, ther it is the accompt of Mr. Meller, as Predecef-

we underflood there was no Reprefentative of for in the Office to Mr. Borret ?

Mr. Borret ; and I think it is put in the Report, Mr. Thompfon. I apprehend it fo.

that we could get no account but from his Clerk, Mr. Plummer. Whether Mr. Meller did not pro-

Mr. Godfrey and Mr. Bennet, two Matters in Chan- duce Receipts for Mr. Borret, for this whole ac-

cery.

Mr. Com. Serj. What Books were they he formed

thofe accounts from ?

Mr. Thompfon. The firfl Charge, or the Charge
from Mr. Meller on Mr. Borret, was taken from

Mr. Meller's account. The yy^Sgl. paid out,

was an account from Mr. Borret's Books, made up
by his Clerk, under the Inflection of Mr. Godfrey

and Mr. Bennet.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be afked, Whe-
ther he himfelf knew thofe to be Mr. Borret's

Books, or only by relation from other Perfons ?

Mr. Thompfon. Only by relation from his

Clerk.

Mr. Com. Serj. Then, with Submiffion, they

muft go further before the BaJIance can be taken

notice of. They muft eftablifh that thefe Books
are Mr. Borret's Eooks.
Mr. Sol. Gen. We have done with Mr. Thompfon.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We hope the Counfel for the

Earl impeached, will be pleafed to read his own
Anfwer, wherein he owns that Mr. Godfrey and Mr.

Vol. VI.

compt r

Mr. Thompfon. To the beft of my remembrance,

Mr. Meller did produce Vouchers for every article

fet down in his accompt.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afk'd,Whe-
ther there were any Proofs made of thefe Vouchers ?

Mr. Thompfon. What the Gentleman means by

Proofs, I don't know. They were Receipts under

Mr. Borret's own Hand for the whole Sum.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be afk'd, Whether

he is acquainted with Mr. Borret's Hand- Writing,

or whether there was any Proof made of it?

Mr. Thompfon. Mr. Borret's Clerk was there,

and affirm'd every Receipt to be Mr. Buret's

Hand-writing.

Mr. Com. Serj. I would afk, if there was ar.y

Oath made, or if it was only upon his Word ?

Mr. Thompfon. If your Lordfhips will give me
leave to have recourfe to the Report, I will recol-

lect my felf. I can't Uy whether Mr. Borret's

Clerk was fworn or no, I think he was ; I don't

find it fit down in the Report.

5 A Mr.
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Mr. Lutwyche. I would beg leave to afk this

Queftion ; This Report, that is fign'd by him as

one of the Committee, whether it was laid before

the Council, and to whom delivered in, in order

to be laid before the Council ?

10 G. I.

was at his Chambers in the Temple, we found his

Papers in great Confufion, lying without any me-
thod or order. We collected them as well as we
could, and what Things we found of Value, or
belonging to the Suitors, as Goldfmiths Notes,

Mr. Toompfon. This very Report was delivered Notes under Hand lor money, we put them upon
by Mr. Baron Gilbert, to the Committee of Council, a File •, and that File, together with other little

E. of Macclesfeld. I hope it is the fame that is moveables we found belonging to him, as rino-s

before your Lordfhips, if it is not, I can't tell and a watch, were all put in a Eag, and fealed

what to fay to if. up by Mr. Bennet and myfelf, Mr. Grant, who
Mr. Serj. Pergelly. This is the original Report, was Mr. Barrel's Lady's Father, and Mr. Grant

of which your Lordfhips have a Copy on your the Clergyman, who was his Lady's Uncle •, and
Lordfhips Table. we put them into a Trunk, and lock'd them up ;

E. of Macclesfield. I defire it may be delivered and they are now at my Houfe.

in, and lie upon the Table. Sir Wm. Strickland. 1 would afk him, Whether
Mr. Godfrey called. the next of Kin did not refufe to take out Admi-

Mr. Sol. Gen. We defire Mr. Godfrey may be niftration, becaufe of the Deficiency ?

afk'd, Whether upon the Death of Mr. Borret, he Mr. Com. Serj. Here can be no anfwer, but yes

was directed to take an account of the State of or no ; I hope Gentlemen will not afk fuch Que-
his Office? flions.

Mr. Godfrey. Upon the Death of Mr. .gom-/, my E. of Macclesfield. I defire he may be afk'd,

Brother Bennet and I were defired by my Lord Whether any Advice was given concerning taking

Macclesfield, to look into the Affairs of Mr. Bor- out, or not taking out Adminifbration ?

ret's Office, and fee how the accompt flood •, and Mr. Godfrey. Mr. Grant the Uncle faid, that he

likewife to fee what Securities were in the Bank, was a Creditor of Mr. Borret's by Bond (which in-

in the Exchequer, and Eaft-India Company, and deed I was furprized to hear, I did not think he

other Funds. Accordingly, I went to the Bank, and owed any man a Shilling) between 6 and 700/.

the Eaft-India Houfe, and took an Account of And being fo great a Creditor, he thought if he

what I found flood in his Name there. I believe took out Adminiflration he fhonld be paid firft.

Mr. Bennet will fatisfy your Lordfhips, he went to I told him, as Mr. Borret had been in an Office of

the Exchequer and other Places. I applied firft to great weight, and there was a great Truft, I could

the Bank, to Mr. Hanger, who was then Deputy not tell how matters flood in the Office ; and if

Governor, and he was fo kind to fend an Officer

to fearch the feveral Books, and I had this Ac-
compt: There was in Mr. Borret's Name 1000/. in

Sl.pcr Cent. Annuities, 1000/. Bank Stock. And

there fhould prove a Deficiency, I believed he would

involve himfelf in taking out Adminiflration, in

much more trouble than he was aware of.

Sir Wm. Strickland. I dtfire he may be afk'd,

then I went to the Eaft India Houfe, and there If he did not apprehend there would be fuch De-

was 240 /. Eaft-India Stock in his Name. This ficiency ?

was all the Account I took.

Mr. Sol. Gen. In what State was the Office! in

general ?

Mr. Godfrey. I did not look over the Office Books.

I believe Mr. Bennet, who was with me, took that

Charge upon him : I believe he is capable of giving

you an account. I did not fee the Office- Books
at all : But upon my talking with Mr. Bennet

about it, he found there was more Stock and Se-

curity in Mr. Borret's Name in the feveral Funds,

than he could find him charg'd with in the Books
of the Office.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When Mr. Thompfon and the

other Gentlemen enquired into the particular Ef-

Mr. Godfrey. I did net apprehend at that

time there would be any Deficiency. Fie had been

in the Office about four Years •, he had had Op-
portunities of re imburfing himfelf: He had a

handfome Fortune of his own when he came in,

and had with his Lady 3000 /. therefore I was

under no apprehenfion that there would be a De-

ficiency.

E. of Macclesfield. I beg leave I may afk Mr.

Godfrey, Whether he was acquainted very well

with the Affairs of Mr. Borret, and knew his Cir-

cumftances ?

Mr. Godfrey. I have had fomeYears acquaintance

with Mr. Borret. As to his real Eflate, I was not

feels, whether, when he appear'd there, the ac- perfectly acquainted with it, I had it only by com-

compt he gave in was a true accompt ? mon relation, that he had an Eflate of about 400/.

Mr. Godfrey. To the beft of my knowledge, a Year, or rather better ; but I don't know it of

in relation to Mr. Barrel's, it was. my own Knowledge.
Mr. Sol. Gen. I defire one Queftion more,Whe- E. of Macclesfield. As to his real Eflate, you

ther it is ufual to enquire into the Effects of a fay you don't know it of your own Knowledge ;

Predeceffor, unlefs there is reafon to fufpect a De- Whether are you particularly acquainted with

ficiency ?

Mr. Gcdfrey. I don*t know whether it is ufual,

but it is extremely necefiaryWhen this Gentleman
was expiring in fuch an Office, having no Friends

in Town, nor any intimate acquaintance befides

myfelf to take care of his Effects •, I thought I

ought to take fome care, that his Office fhould

his perfonal Eflate ?

Mr. Godfrey. No, my Lords.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire Mr. Godfrey to in-

form your Lordfhips, what he faid to me after

Mr. Borret's Death, Whether there would be a

Lofs or not a Lofs in Mr. Borrefs Office ?

Mr. Godfrey. I can't at prefent remember what

not be plundered ; and that was the only Reafon Difcourfe paffed between the noble Earl and my
that induced me to take care of his Effects, that felf, upon the death of Mr. Borret. I believe I might

thev mi^ht not be embezzled. fay, and it was my opinion, that there would be

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether they did not find no Deficiency. I have heard his Eftate was fuch,

the Office in great Confufion? and I knew very well that his Lady's Fortune was

Mr. Godfrey. In that Part of his Office which fo
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fo much, and that he difpofed of a Place, which into the Affairs of Mr. Borret's Office, apprehend

was the Filazer of
'

Yorkffoire; for which he had, as that there was a Deficiency.

I have been inform'd, 4200/. And thefe were the Mr. J. Bennet. I did hear it reported that there

Reafons that induced me to believe there wou'd be would be a great Deficiency in that Office, at the

no Deficiency; and I knew very well that I could fay Time I was defired by my Lord Macclesfield to

of my own Knowledge, Mr. BorretWv'd at no extra- look into it; and I was likewife informed foon

.nt rate ; for I am fure all the Time he was a

Matter, and in Town, he never fpent 200 I. a

Year.

Sir JV?n.Strick. He fays, he has heard he had

400 /• a Year in Land : Does he not as well know

after, that there was like to be no Deficiency.

Sir Wm. Strick. I defire he may be afked, how
he found it?

Mr. J. Bennet. I found his Papers and Accompts
in the utmofl Confufion. His Accompts were

that that Eftate was fettled upon his Family and moftly in loofe Papers: There was one Book in

Children ? deed, but that extended no farther than to the

Mr. Godfrey. I have heard, that upon his Chriftmas before his death, which was near three

Mairiao-e, fome part of it was fettled, but whe- quarters of a Year before he died. Mr. Godfrey

ther all be fettled, or not, I can't tell. defired I would join with him in taking out Ad-

E.ofMacclef It feems this Gentleman fay?, he minifiration ; after a good deal of importunity I

did not fpend 200/. a Year. How came you to

imagine that he fhould fpend no more than 200/.

aY^ar?
Mr. Godfrey. He told me Co.

E. of Macclef. Where was his Family ?

Mr. Godfrey. In the Country.

E. of Macclef. With whom ?

Mr. Godfrey. With his Lady's Father •, and when

did confent.

Sir W?n. Slrick. I defire one Queflion more. He
fays he was informed foon after, there was like to

be no Deficiency in the Office. I defire to know,
whether hedid inform the Earl of Macclesfield there

was like to be no Deficiency ?

Mr. J. Bennet. No, Idid not, but I did inform

him, that there was not fo great a Deficiency as was

he was in Town, he had private Chambers in the reported, which was 25 or 30,000 /. I could make
Temple, and only kept one Servant, and one Horfe.

E. of Macclef. I defire he may beaiked, whether

he did not once intend and propofehimfclf to take

out Adminiftration to Mr. Bcrret, and if he did

not take fome Steps towards it?

Mr. Godfrey. I had fo great a concern for the

Office, and the Securities not being transferred to

a proper Hand, that I was willing to take out Ad-

no regular Computation, every thing was in the

utmoft Confufion, as I acquainted my Lord.

E. of Macclef. I defire he may be afked, whether
he did not inform me, that he found more Stock in

Borret's name,in theBooksof the feveral companies,

than he could find charged upon him in the Office?

Mr. J. Bennet. Not to my Remembrance ; for I

did not look into the Stocks of the Companies; that

miniftration, rather than there fhould be any cla- was Mr. Godfrey's Bufinefs.

mours on account of the neglecf of Bufinefs in the E. of Macclef. You then look'd into his Books?

Office. But, my Lords, upon confidering the Mat- Mr. J. Bennet. I did fo.

ter, I did not apprehend that I was fo fit a Perfon E. of Macclef. Then upon your looking into his

for that purpole. I was not very young my felf, I Books, and Mr. Godfrey's looking into the Compa-
had two Children, and thofe young: I apprehended nies Books, and comparing them together, I defire

that if I fhould drop off befure things v/ere fettled, you would inform my Lords, whether you did not

the Cafe might be ftill the fame as 1 found them : take more to be in his Name, than he was charged

Therefore, I defired I might have fomebody joined

with me in thistroublefome Affair, fori did forefee

a good deal of Trouble in it. However, I faid I

was willing to engage in it, if my Brother John
Bennet were joined with me, rather than there

fhould be any clamour upon the Office ; and I per-

finded him to do the fame; and accordingly, I

went down to the Commons, to fee if Adminiftra-

with in the Books of the Office?

Mr. J. Bennet. Upon Mr. Godfrey's Accompt
there appeared, upon cafting it up, to be more
Stock in his Name than the Securities he was an-

fwerable for to the Court.

E.of Macclef. Viehzs laid, he could not tell what
the Deficiency would be, becaufe he could not make
up a regular Accompt; I defire he may be afked,

whether he did not tell me that he believed theretion could be granted to us two. The Relations in

.the Country, and thofe People concerned for them, would be no Deficiency ?

were very willing that Adminiftration fhould be My. J. Bennet. No, I did not.

granted to Mr. Bennet and my felf ; and accordingly E. of Macclef. Did you not upon your Oath ?

Procefs was fent to cite the Children; andthatdone, Mr. J. Bennet. After Mr. Borret's death, I did

as I am inform'd, Sentence was given, that I and my fay to feveral People, when they were clamorous

Brother Bennet fhould have the Adminiftration. But (but whether I faid fo to my Lord Macclesfield, I

then this unhappy enquiry coming out, we did not

know what Situation we might be in, and for that

Reafon I declined it.

E. of Macclef. Has Mr. Borret a Wife living,

or is fhe dead ?

Mr. Godfrey. His Lady died a month before him.

E. of Macclef. What age are his Children ?

Mr. Godfrey. The eldeft is about three Years old,

and the youngeft about two, as I am informed -, I

never faw them.

Mr. John Bennet was called andfaorn.

Sir Wm. Strick. The Queflion I defire he may
be afked is, whether he did not,upon the enquiry

can't tell) that upon the beft Accompt 1 could

make of his con fu fed Affairs, there would bea De-

ficiency of 4 or 5000 /. and I believed not more.

Mr. Com. Serf Tho' Mr. Bennet d id not look into

the Books of the publick Companies ; yet whe-

ther he did not examine at the Exchequer upon

that Occafion ?

Mr. J. Bennet. Yes.

Mr. Com. Serj. I dfffire he may be r.fked,

whether he did not tell Mr. Godfrey afterwards,

that upon what appeal 'd, there would be no De-

ficiency ?

Mr. J. Bennet. No.

Mr. Plummer. Mr. Bennet has faid, upon com-

paring the Books, he found more Stock in Mr.
Borret's
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Barret's Name, than he was charged with to the for the Suitors, and to the difhonour of the pub-

Court. I defire he may be aflced, if he found more lick Juftice of the Kingdom, prefidcd feven Years

Stock than the money and the Effects he was in the Court of Chancery ; in which Time, a deft.

charged with to the Court ? ctency °f above four/core thoufand Pounds, has hap-

Mr. J. Bewnet. No my Lords, the beft Calcula- pened upon the Matters//* admitted •, and, what

tion I could make, was, that there was near 4 or perhaps may be worthy of pur Lordjhips particu-

5000/. Deficient. ^ ar Notice, of the fix matters on whom there ap-

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We fhall leave this Article, pears to be a Deficiency, Four of them were ad-

with this Obfervation, that Mr. Borret died infol- pitted, by Him. If our Evidence, my Lords, as to

vent, and a debtor to the Suitors of the Court, of ™S Article, retted only on the Proof of thefe De-

whichwe have given full Evidence ; and that Mr. fkiencies, it would, we apprehend, befufficientto

Thurfton was admitted into that Office by the Earl evince what the Commons have here alledged, That
Impeach'd, without procuring fatisfaftion to the Perfons of fmall Subftance and Ability, have, by

Suitors of the Court, or Security for their Debts: the Earl at the Bar, been preferred to be matters

If that was done, it lies upon the noble Lord to of the Court of Chancery. But, my Lords, to

Drove it.
bring this Charge ftill nearer to the Earl, we have

Mr. Onflow. My Lords, the Commons having it in Proof, and ftrongly fo, that little or no in-

made good that part of their Impeachment, by quirywas ever made by him, into the Characters and

which the Earl of Macclesfield ftands charged with Circumftances of thofe He admitted into thefe Of-

extorting many great, and extravagant Sums of Aces. That in fact, my Lords, they were Men of

money, for the admiffion of feveral of the Ma- very mean Fortunes. No fecurity ever required

iters of the Court of Chancery into their refpec- of Them ; which ftill made it the more neceflary,

tive Offices: We fhall now proceed, my Lords, that their own Ability fhould be thoroughly looked

to fupport the Eleventh and twelfth Articles, which ™to and well approved. We fhall fhew your Lord-

contain many corrupt Praclices, ufed by the faid fhips, That they were entrufted, fome of 'em,

Earl, to advance and encreafe the illegal Gain, a- w'uh forty, fixty, one of 'em, I think, to the a-

rifing to himfelf from the Sale and Difpofal of mount of a hundred thoufand Pounds in Cafh and
thofe Employments. Securities : And yet, my Lords, no other Ufe was

The Eleventh Article charges him, my Lords, made of This, but to enhance the Price of the

with admitting feveral Perfons to thofe Offices, Office, when it was to be Sold and Barter'd, for the

who at the Time of their Admiffion, were offmall benefit of the Earl. The Argument ufed, to

Subftance and Ability, and highly unfit for fo great bring up any Perfon to the Rate the Earl infifted

a Truft, as by the nature of their Employments on, was the largenefs of the Sum to be transferr'd

at that Time, was to be placed in 'em. to the Purchafer. The Temptation generally fuc-

The Matters in Chancery, my Lords, have of ceeded : The Reafon your Lordfhips will eafily

late Years, been the Treafarers of that Court ; the imagine ; and when the Price was thus agreed up-

Repofitory of the money and the Effects brought °n
5 no other Qualification was required, the Perfon

into the Court; brought there my Lords, not by ftood right in the Earl's Opinion, and was thought

the choice and confint of the Parties concerned, but proper to be AJfociated to him. Were it only

by the compulfion of the Court, under the Faith of that, my Lords, the Commons would not have

a better Security : But fo, my Lords, has it fallen troubled your Lordfhips with this Article,- .

out, that this pretented Security, has ferved only but to be AJfociated to him in the Adminiftration

to delude the Suitors of the Court, into a falfe arid Execution of Juftice, and to be entrusted with

Quiet, whilft their Eftates have been made a Prey the Fortunes of whole Families, whofe only fup-

to infamous Stock-jobbers, and wantonly wafted, by port, perhaps, depended on the Ability and In-

fomeof 'em, to fupport the extravagancy of their tegrity of thefe Men : How well, my Lords, the

Living. Earl confulted in the appointmentof thefe Officers,

The Fortunes, my Lords, of Orphans and Luna- the Honour of that publick Juftice they were to

ticks, are from the Companion of our Govern- aJfisJh'im. in; What Regard He has had for the

ment, a part of the Care of the Court of Chan- Interesl of Thofe, whole Eftates He thus flung

eery; and have been lodged in the Hands cf into their Hands, The Evidence we fhall produce

the Matters, as a Place of Santluary, till the to your Lordjhips, and your own Obfervations up-

Owners fhould become capable of managing their on it, will abundantly fhew, notwithftanding his

Eftates themselves: When they come my Lords, flat denial of this part of the Charge.

to require their Fortunes, he, who was the Supreme I will troublejyoz/r Lordfinps but with one particu-

Judge in a Court eftablifhed for their Relief; He, Jar more in this Article, and it is what the Article

who was the Great Guardian of Infants and Luna- concludes with. A remarkable Declaration by the

ticks, will be found to havefuffer'd an advantage Earl, of the Ability, and other Qualifications of the

to be taken of the weaknefs of the One, and the Mafters, particularly thofe promoted by him ; and
mifcry of the Other, to render their helplefs condi- this happened, my Lords, upon as remarkable an
tion a means of their Ruin, infttad of their Pro- Occafwn. A very honourable Perfon, then a Judge
leblion. alfo in that Court, and now juftly at the Head of it,

This, my Lords, is the nature of the Truft re- having feen with Indignation, the Havock that was
pofed in the Mafters of the Court of Chancery, and making of the Effects of the Suitors; out ofcom-
this the Ufe they have been permitted to make of paffion to them, and from a Zeal for Juftice, endea-

it. The Greatnefs of the Truft, will fhew your vour'd to put fome flop to it, in an Inttance that

Lordfhips, what Precautions a Lord Chancellor came within his Cognizance. An Order was made
ought to have taken, as to the Officers admitted by him, my Lords, on one of the mafters, to allow

into thefe Employments; and the Abufe of this fome Profit to a Suitor arifing from herown money,
Truft, will demonttrate how little His care has which the matter defigned as it was thought, to

been, whofe Duty it was to provide Perfons of In- have funk to his own Ufe. The matter thought
tegrity, and refponfible Men, for the execution of himfelf aggrieved, and fled for Redrefs to his Pa-
thefe Offices i but who, my Lords, unfortunately tron,
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iron, the then Lord Chancellor, the Earl now under for fo great a Truft. The Twelfth Article will

your Lordfhips Confideration ; and he was fecure lay before you a moft corrupt Practice, ufed with-

in fo doing, for the Order was immediately dif- out Controul, while the Earl was Chancellor, by
charged; and then it was, my Lords, to obviate the which this illegal Gain was immenfely increafed;

Clamours that were breaking out from all forts of and whereby thofe Matters of whom the Corn-

People againft the Matters, that the Earl did in mons complain in the preceding Article, were

open Court, then fitting as Lord Chancellor, in his tempted and enabled to buy their Offices at ex-

judicial Capacity, declare, that the prefent Matters travagant Prices.

were Men of as great Probity, Fortunes, and Abi- Your Lordfhips will fee what Methods were ufed

lities, as any fet of Matters that ever were in that on the Admiffion of Matters in Chancery : Great

Court; and that he had had the Satisfaction of put- Sums were paid for the Surrenders and Admiffi-

tinginmottof them himfelf. As this, my Lords, ons, and thofe Sums were taken from the Money
was fpoken in general of them all, but with a pecu- of the Suitors; fometimesthePurchafe-Money was

liar Regard to thofe he had admitted ; the Com- borrowed ; but after Admiffion, repaid from the

mons have laid it to be to the manifeft Deceit and Cafh of the Office; fometimes the Value of the

Injury of the Suitors of the Court, which they are Purchafe was left in the furrendring Matter's

juftified in doing, by the Thing itfelf being falfe, Hands : Whatever different ways were taken at the

by the Proof we have, my Lords, that the Earl mutt beginning, they all tended to this; the Suitors

know it to be falfe, and by the Refemblance it were to make the Purchafer eafy, and the People

bears to that Series of other mean Artifices he had were perfwaded to bid high, by being told how
long been practicing to give a counterfeit Credit to eafily the largeftSums could be raifed.

thefe corrupt Officers. A Credit, my Lords, he was It was a common Recommendation to a Pur-

foon to receive fomeBenefit from; for the Witnefs chafer, to tell him how much Cafh was in the

will inform your Lord/hips, that a Vacancy of a Office ; and that he need not be afraid to make
Matter in Chancery happened the Day before this any Contract good, Money would be ready as foon

fignificant and memorable Declaration was made. as he was admitted : Your Lordfhips will fee the

My Lords, The Commons have made this Arti- Confequences of fuch Recommendations. Matters

cle a part of their Charge againft the Earl ofMac- did offer, and give more than could be pre-

clesfield, as being the great Source of the Evil that fumed they were worth, the Suitors Money was at

is likely to befal the unhappy Sufferers in the Court Hand to make good the Bargin ; and thefe are

of Chancery ; and as it was the Means he made ufe the mafters in whofe Offices appear the greateft

of to draw to himfelf thofe extravagant Sums of Deficiencies.

Money we have proved him to have received: For It will appear to your Lordfhips, that Mr.
Men of fmall Fortunes, vzyLtfrii, as they have more Kynafton, and Mr. Thomas Bennet, procured their

Temptations, fo they run lefs hazard than others in Places in this manner. Mr. Kynafton difcharged a

preying upon Money that is entrufted with them ; Bond of fix thoufand Pounds to his Predeceffor, by
and it is this, my Lords, that encourages fuch Men giving a Receipt of the fame Value. Mr. Bennet

to give exorbitant Rates for Employments which gave a Receipt to his Predeceffor for ten Thoufand
afford them thofe Opportunities. Pounds; both acknowledged a Transfer of fo much

Thus, my Lords, I have opened toyour Lordfhips of the Suitors money, the one received but Nine
the Subftance of the Eleventh Article, and the na- Pounds, and the other Fifteen Hundred, the

ture of our Proof upon it. The Twelfth Article reft was kept back as part of the price of their Of-

will be opened and enforced to your Lordfhips by the fice ; and is now a part of their Deficiencies. How
Gentleman who is to come after me. I fhall there- great their Deficiencies are, may be obferved to

fore detain your Lordfhips no longer than to make your Lordfhips ; Mr. Bennet's is near Ten Thou-
this one Observation, That as the Office of a Ma- fand Pounds, and Mr. Kynafton's above Twenty
fter in Chancery is of great Truft and Importance, Thoufand.

that as thefe Officers are appointed to this Truft This is the Practice, the impeached Lord,

by the file Difcretion of the Lord Chancellor ; and in his Anfwer, declares himfelf totally ignorant of,

that the Effects of the Suitors of the Court are de- and is what the Commons declare he knew, con-

pofited in their Cuftody, by his immediate Orders, nived at, and encouraged ; and as they have been

which he might have placed vnfafer Hands ifhe had always careful to aver nothing but what they are

thought fit ; he becomes by all this in the nature of fatisfied will be fully maintained, this Article will

zfuperior Truftee for, and is therefore juftly anfwer- be fupported by Proofs, that the impeached Lord
able to the Suitors for theBehaviour of thefe Men. was well informed ofwhat he now denies the Know-
So, my Lords, in fome Degree may the Publick be ledge of; that it was the Subject of his Difcourfe,

thought anfwerable for him ; which makes hisGuilt and that he feared, and endeavoured to prevent a

without Meafure, who has thus brought a Difgrace Difcovery.

upon his Country, by proftituting one of its higheft And your Lordfhips will find him obferving

Courts of Juftice to h\s own Avarice and Corruption, on the Accounts of fome of the Mafters,

to the Rapine and Corruption of his inferior Officers, as they were given in on the late Enquiry,

and to the Undoing of thofe, who, by the Conftitu- That they were given in in the worft Manner ; That

tion of the Kingdom, have been forced into his they fhould convince the World that they paid for their

Power. Places out of the Suitors Money; and, That they

Mr. Pahner. My Lords, The Gentleman that would at loft difcover what he had always, when

fpoke laft has fully opened the Evidence of the afked, taken care to deny.

Eleventh Article, and has fhewn to your Lordfhips, The impeached Lord admits, in his Anfwer,

that for his own private and illegal Gain, theim- that he never cau fed any Schedules to be made of the

peach'd Lord did commit the Money and Effects of Suitors Effects, to be transferred over to fucceed-

the Suitors, to Men no way of Subftance fufficient ing Mafters : That it was what his Predeceflbrs ne-

Vol. VI. 5 B ver
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ver did before him, and that if the Confequences or as their own proper Stock and Annuities, by
alledged by the Commons, have arifen from this which part of the Ballance of Cafh in their Hands
Practice, or the not ordering fuch Schedules, he might be made good, or fecured. It was further

thinks he is not Criminal. ordered, That they fhould each of them forthwith

My Lords, the Charge of the Commons is gene- deliver into the refpective Companies, a Declara-

ral, that he knew the Abufe, and took no Care to re- tion in writing, wherein fuch Stock, in each refpective

form it •, if he had taken Care that the Effects of Company, or the Annuities there transferable, as

the Suitors fhould have been transferred by Sche- by their refpective Accompts appeared to belong
dule ; if he had appointed any one to overlook the to the Suitors of the Court, and likewife the Stock
Transfer ; if he had taken any method at all to and Annuities by them refpectively propofed to-

be affured that the Effects of the Suitors were duly wards making good, or fecuring their Ballance of
made over according to this Order of Transfer, Cafh, or fo much thereof as mould equal the Bal-

the Commons would not have charged as they have lance of their faid Accompts ; in Cafe they had in

done, and perhaps he had not at this Time ap- their Names, more than fufEcient for that purpofe
peared fo nigh your Lordfhips Bar. fhould be declar'd to be upon Truft to attend the

But if the impeached Lord thinks he is juftified Orders of this Court : And it was further order'd

;

by faying, it was not his Duty, and therefore the That the faid feveral mafters, fhould forthwith

Omiffion no Offence : The Commons aver in their give to the faid Mr. Baron Gilbert, their Poll Ac-
Article, that it is the Duty of the Chancellor of compts of their Receipts and Payments fince the

Great Britain, to fuperintend the Mafters and their former Accompts -, and by a fubfequent Order of the

Accounts ; and it is fubmitted to your Lordfhips, 2 1 ft Day of the faid December, It was order'd, That
whether he is not Criminal, if he fuffers money de- the feveral and refpective mafters, whofe Effects fo

pofited by the Orders of his Court in the Hands of ordered to be fecured, did not amount to the whole
the mafters, to be without Order, conveyed or Ballance ofthe Cafh admitted by their Accompts to

left in private Hands. be in their Hands, fhould forthwith fecure the reft of
I mall fay no more to your Lordfhips on this Ar- the Ballance ofthe Cafh appearing to be due on their

tide, but leave the Proof of it to the Evidence. refpective Accounts, by depofiting in like manner
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, the Proof in fup- Bank Notes, or other Effects to the Amount there-

port of thefe Articles, will go to them both pro- of, or enter into a Recognizance in a competent
mifcuoufly. In the firft Place we beg leave to fhew Sum of money, with two or more Sureties to be ap-

to your Lordfhips, the feveral Orders of Court, proved of by Mr. Baron Gilbert, Mr. JufticeZ^a-
which ftate the Deficiencies of feveral Mafters, ton, and Mr. Juftice Raymond, or any two of them,

for duly anfwering from Time to Time as this

Mr. Ralph Paxton fworn. Court fhould direct, fuch Sum and Sums as the re-

maining Deficiencies of their faid refpective Bal-

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire he may be afked, lances amount unto. And whereas, Mr. Edward
whether the Papers^ he produces, are true Copies of Conway, oneof the mafters of this Court, did, on
the Orders Examined by the Books in the Office. the 1 9th Inftant, attend the Right Hon. the Lords

Mr. R. Paxton. My Lords, they are true Copies, Commiffioners for the Cuftody of the GreatSeal of
I examined them. Great Britain, and acknowledge that he was Debtor

to the Suitors of the Court on the Ballance of his

__ Cafh Accompt, the Sum of 13039/. 4s. ^d. I. and
that he had brought into the Cheft the Sum of 3000/.

T nrrk Com OrAn Curt* °nly
'

f° that he remainS Debtor on the faid Cal}lLords Lom. Urao ^Un<e.
Ballance, the fum of 10039/. 4;. 44 1. and that fince

making the faid former Orders, he had fold 3500 /.

Veneris 29. Die Januarii, 1724. South Sea Stock, in the Caufe between the Lord
and Lady Faulconberg, which was intended a Secu-

H E R E A S, by an Order made by the Rt. rity for the fum of 3425/. and that he had fince

Hon. the late Lord High Chancellor of paid off only the fum of 2593/. gs. 3d. purfuantto

Great Britain, the Seventeenth Day of December laft, the Orders of this Court in that Caufe, fo that there

it was {inter al') ordered, That the Bank Notes, remained the fum of 831/. ioj. gd. in his Hands,

and other Effects therein fpecified, produced before to be applied to the Parties concerned in that Caufe;

Mr. Baron Gilbert, Mr. Juftice Denton, and Mr. and that he had fince fold 2000/. South Sea An-
Juftice Raymond, Sir Nath. Gould, Mr. Thomfon, nuities Stock, part ofthe Sum of 17950/. South

and Mr. Hanger, three of the Directors, and one Sea Annuities Stock, belonging to the Suitors of the

of them Deputy- Governour of the Bank of Eng- Court in feveral Caufes, which he ought tore-place.

land, by the feveral mafters of this Court, upon the Their Lordfhips did thereupon order, That the

Examination of their Accompts, for or towards an- faid Mr. Conway, fhould in a Week, depofite the

fwering the Ballance of Cafh admitted by their faid Sum of 10039/. 45. 4J. I. and alfo the faid Sum
Accompts, to remain in their refpective Hands be- of 831/. 10s. 9d. belonging to the faid Caufe of

longing to the Suitors of this Court, fhould be de- Faulconberg and Faulconberg in Bank Notes, or mo-
pofited in feveral Chefts, and that then the faid ney in his Cheft at the Bank of England, and alfo

Chefts fhould be locked up and left in the Cuftody fhould replace the faid Sum of 2000/. South Sea

of the Bank of England, in fuch manner as by the Annuity Stock, or that he fhould enter into a Re-

faid Order is provided: And whereas, the mafters cognizance of 26000/. with two fufficient Sureties,

had in their feveral Accompts, given in Particulars to be approved of by one of the Lords Commif-
ofStock and ofAnnuities, transferrablein the Books fioners for the Cuftody of the Great Seal of Great

of the feveral Companies, ftanding in their Names, Britain, for anfwering the faicl Sums, and repla-

which belonged to the feveral Suitors of this Court, cing the faid 2000/. South Sea Annuity Stock, in

fuch

W
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fuch Manner as this Court fhould direct: And
this Court being Yefterday informed by Mr. Attor-

ney General, on behalf of the Suitors of this

Court, that the faid Mr. Conway had not depofited

either of the Sums aforefaid, or entered into a

Recognizance with two Sureties, as by the faid

Order he was directed : It was thereupon ordered

that he fhould on this Day attend the Court, to

mew Caufe why he did not yield Obedience to the

faid Order. And he now attending accord-

ingly, and admitting that he had not depofited

either of the Sums aforefaid, nor replaced the

faid 2000 /. South-Sea Annuity Stock, or given Se-

curity with two Sureties, as by the faid Order is

required : And whereas he did formerly upon Ex-
amination of his Accompts, produce to the Per-

fons who infpected the fame, bank bills, and notes,

fufficient to make good the faid Sum of 13039 /.

4 j. and \d. t : being the whole ballance of his

Cafh Accompts, but had only depofited 3000 1.

part thereof in purfuance of the faid Order : And
it being feveral times demanded by the Court,

whether he did know or remember the Names of

the perfon or perfons from whom he had the faid

bank notes, or any of them, or did know or remem-
ber the Names of the perfon or perfons to whom
he had fince paid or delivered them, or any of

them, he declined giving any direct Anfwer to the

faid queftion relating to his own proper knowledge

and remembrance, but upon Oath faid, it was

impoffible for him to anfwer the fame ; whereupon,

and upon hearing of Mr, Attorney General and

Mr. Sol. Gen. on behalf of the Suitors ; and

what was farther infilled on, this Court doth de-

clare, that the faid Mr. Conway is guilty of very

high Contempts, and doth therefore do for his

faid Contempts, ftand committed to the prifon of

the Fleet ; and that for making provifion for the

Execution of his Office, and that no prejudice

may happen to the Suitors of the Court by reafon

of the faid Commitment, he do in the Cuftody of

the Warden this Afternoon, deliver all his books

and papers belonging to his Office, unto Mr. Hoi-

fordone, other of the Mafters of this Court, who
is to aft therein as he the faid Mr. Conway ought to

have done during his Commitment ; and the Clerk

of Mr. Conway is to be at liberty, if he thinks

fit, to attend Mr. Holford therein, and Mr. Conway
is at liberty from time to time to make fuch Pro-

pofals to the Court for making good his Defici-

ency as he fhall think proper.

R. P. Examined 6th of May, 1 720. hy Book

of Entries, Cur'' Cane' Letter B.

Lords Com. Ordo Curia.

Mercur. tertlo Die Febr. Ann.
Regni Georgii Regis undecimo.

WHereai ;

- Order of the 29th of Jaw.
laft, for the Reafons therein contain'd, it

was ordered that Mr. Thomas Bennet, one of the

3

and Mi/demeanors.

Mafters of this Court, fhould then fitting in 'theCourt give his own Recognizance to be taken by

Cwi f°
Tk T ?

±er
c
°f the Mafters of thisCourt in the Penalty of 18150 /. conditioned to

fion?H

r
" f

Parfe Sum °f 9°75 l
-
herein men-

tioned, in fuch Manner as this Court mould di-
rect i and that upon his fo doing, the time for his
performing of an Order of the 12th of Jan. laft
for depofiting the faid 9075 /. or procuring two ormore Sureties to enter into a Recognizance of the
lenalty aforefaid, as in the faid Order is men-
tioned, fhould be enlarged till this Day : And if
he fhould procure fuch Sureties to enter into fuch
Recognizance, he was firft to give the Names of the
intended Sureties to Mr. Paxton (Soil, on behalf of
the f uitors of this court) to the end he might enquire
after their Abilities; and the faid Mr. Thomas Ben-
net, was this Day to attend the Right Honourable
the Lords CommuTioners, for the Cuftody of the
GreatSeal ofGreat Britam,when fuch farther Order
ihould be made as fhould be juft. And the faid
Mr. Thomas Bennet this Day attending their Lord-
lhips, in the Prefence of Mr. Attorney General
and Mr. Solicitor General, on behalf of the Sun
tors of the Court ; and the faid Mr. Thomas Bennet

,

now delivering into Court a Particular of feveral
Eftates which he propofed to affign and convey as
the Court fhall direct, in truft for the Suitors of
the Court, and fubmitting to be examined upon
Interrogatories, for difcovery of all other Eftate
he has both Real and Perfonal, and that the fame
fhall be alfo affigned and conveyed to the fame
Truft : Their Lordfhips do therefore Order, that
the time for the faid Mr. Thomas Bennett givin°-
his Recognizance with two or more Sureties in
the Penalty aforefaid, be enlarged until Wednefday
next, at which time the faid Mr. Thomas Bennet
is to attend in Court, when fuch farther Order
fhall be made as fhall be juft. But in the mean
time, he is to affign and convey the feveral Efhtes
by him now propofed, unto the faid Mr. Holford
as he, the faid Mr Holford, fhall approve and di-
rect:, and is alfo within that time to produce and
leave with the faid Mr. Holford, all Deeds and
Writings in his own Hands relating thereto ; and
fo far as he is able to procure the Mortgagee and
Annuitant, to produce and leave with the faid Mr.
Holford, the feveral Deeds and Writings in their
refpeclive Hands relating to the faid Perfons.
And the faid Mr. Thomas Bennet is alfo within the
fame time to be examined upon Interrogatories,
before the faid Mr. Holford, for difcovery of all

other, his real and perfonal Eftates, and is alfo
to affign and convey the fame to the faid Mr. Hol-
ford, as he fhall approve and direct. And what
Eftates fhall be by him, the faid Mr. Thomas Ben-
net, fo affigned and conveyed to the faid Mr. Hol-
ford, as aforefaid, the fame are to be upon Truft
for the Suitors of the Court, as the Court fhall
direct ; and the faid Mr. Paxton is forthwith to
prepare and lay Interrogatories before the faid Mr.
Holford for the Purpofe aforefaid.

R. P. Examined 6th of May, 1725; by Book

of Entry', Cur' Cane* Letter B.

Ordo
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Sum of eight Hundred and thirty one Pounds ten
Shillings and nine Pence, in his Hands, to be ap-
plied to the Parties concerned in that Caufe ; and
that he has fince fold two Thoufand Pounds South
Sea Annuity Stock, part of the Sum of feventeen
Thoufand nine Hundred and fifty Pounds South
Sea Annuity Stock, belonging to the Suitors of
the Court in feveral Caufes, which he ought to
replace: Their Lordfhips do thereupon Order

WHereas, by an Order made by the Right that the faid Mafter Conway, do in a Week, depo-
Honourable the Lord High Chancellor of fite the faid Sum of ten Thoufand and thirty nine

Great Britain, the feventeenth Day of Decemberhft, Pounds four Shillings and four Pence Half Penny,
it was (amongft other things) ordered, that the and alfo the faid Sum of eight Hundred and thirty

bank notes and other Effects therein fpecified, pro- one Pounds ten Shillings and nine Pence, belong-
duced before Mr. Baron Gilbert, Mr. Juftice £)<?#- ing to the faid Caufe ofFaulconberg and Faulconberg

ton, and Mr. Juftice Raymond, Sir Nathanael Gould, in Bank Notes or Money in his Cheft at the Bank
Mr. Thompfon, and Mr. Hanger, three of the Di- of England ; and alfo do replace the faid Sum of
rectors, and one of them Deputy Governor of the two Thoufand Pounds South-Sea Annuity Stock -

Bank of England, by the feveral Matters of this or that he do enter into a Recognizance of twenty
Court, upon the Examination of their Accounts, fix Thoufand Pounds, with two fufficient Sureties

for, or towards anfwering the ballance of cafh ad- to be approved of by one of the Lords Commiffi-
mitted by their faid Accompts to remain in their oners for the Cuftody of the Great Seal of Great
refpective hands belonging to the Suitors of this Britain, for anfwering the faid Sums, and replac-

Court, fhould be depofited in feveral Chefts, and ing the faid two Thoufand Pounds South-Sea An-
that then the faid Chefts fhould be locked up, and nuity Stock, in fuch Manner as this Court fhali

left in the Cuftody ofthe Bank of England, in fuch direct.

Tbo. Parnell, Dep. Reg.

R. P. Examined 6th of May, 1725. <witb

Book of Entries, Court Cane' Letter B.

Ordo Curia.

Mercurii Vicejimo Die, Januarii. 1724.

WHereas by an Order made by the Righe
Honourable the late Lord Chancellor of

manner as by the faid Order is provided. And
it was further ordered, that the faid feveral matters

fhould forthwith give to the faid Mr. Baron Gilbert,

Pott Accompts of their Receipts and Payments

fince their former Accompts. And by a fubfe-

quent Order of the one and twentieth Day of the

faid December, it was ordered, that the feveral and

refpective Matters of this Court, whofe Effects, fo

ordered to be fecured, did not amount to the

whole Ballance of the Cafh admitted by their Ac-
compts to be in their Hands, fhould forthwith fe-

cure the reft of the Ballance of the Cafh appear-

ing to be due on their refpective Accompts, by

depofiting in like manner, Bank Notes, or other Great Britain, the feventeenth day ofDecember laft,

Effects, to the Amount thereof, or enter into a it was (among other Things) ordered, That the

Recognizance in a competent Sum of Money, with Bank Notes, and other Effects therein fpecified,

two or more Sureties, to be approved by Mr. Ba- produced before Mr. Baron Gilbert, Mr. Juftice

ron Gilbert, Mr. Juftice Denton, and Mr. Juftice Denton, and Mr. Juftice Raymond; and Sir Natha-

Raymond, or any two of them, for duly anfwering nael Gould, Mr. Thompfon, and Mr. Hanger, three

from time to time, as this Court fhould direct, fuch of the Directors, and oneof them Deputy Governor

Sum and Sums, as the remaining Deficiencies of of the Bank of England, by the feveral maftersof

their faid refpective Ballances amount unto. And this Court, upon the examination of their accounts,

Mr. Edward Conway, one of the Mafters of this for, or towards anfwering the ballance of cafh ad-

Court, this day attending the Lords Commiflioners mitted by their faid accounts to remain in their

for the Cuftody of the Great Seal of Great Bri- refpective Hands belonging to the Suitors of this.

tain, and acknowledging that he was debtor to the Court, fhould be depofited in feveral chefts, and

Suitors of the Court on the Ballance of his Cafh that then the faid chefts fhould be locked up and

left in the cuftody of the Bank of England, in fuch

manner, as by the faid Order is provided. And
it was further ordered, that the faid feveral

mafters fhould forthwith give to the faid Mr. Ba-

ron Gilbert Poft Accounts of their receipts and

Account, in the Sum of thirteen Thoufand and
thirty nine Pounds four Shillings and four Pence

half Penny ; and that he had brought into the

Cheft the Sum of three thoufand Pounds only, fo

that he remains Debtor on the faid Cafh Ballance,

the Sum often Thoufand and thirty nine Pounds paymentsfince their former accounts. And by a fub-

four Shillings and four Pence Half Penny ; and
that fince the making the faid former Orders,

he has fold three Thoufand five Hundred Pounds
South-Sea Stock, in the Caufe between the Lord
and Lady Faulconberg, which was intended a Secu-

rity for the Sum of Three Thoufand four Hun-
dred and twenty five Pounds-, and that he hath

fequent Order of the one and twentieth day of the

faid December, It was ordered, That the feveral

and refpective mafters of this Court, whofe Effects

fo Ordered to be fecured, did not amount to the

whole ballance of the Cafh admitted in their ac-

counts to be in their Hands, fhould forthwith fe-

cure the reft of the ballance of cafh appearing to

fince paid off only the Sum of two Thoufand five be due on their refpective accounts, by depofiting,

Hundred and ninety three Pounds nine Shillings in like manner, bank Notes, or other effects, to the

and three Pence purfuant to the Orders of this amount thereof, or enter into a Recognizance in a

Court in that Caufe ; fo that there remains the competent Sum of money, with two or more Sure-

ties
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ties, to be approved by Mr. Baron Gilbert, Mr.

Juftice Denton, and Mr. Juftice Raymond, or any

two of them : for duly anfwering from Time to

Time, as this Court mould direct ; fuch Sum and

53

Mr. Waller Sworn.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, we defire he may be

Sums as the remaining Deficiencies of their faid afk'd, whether he applied to my Lord Chancellor

refpective Ballances amounted unto •, and Mr. upon an Order made by his Honour the Mailer of

Kyna/lon, one of the Matters of this Court, being the Rolls, relatirfg to Mr. Conway'; and what it

this Day prefent before the Right Honourable Sir was my Lord Chancellor faid on that Occafion ?

Jeffery Gilbert, Knight, one of the Lords Com- Mr. Waller. Injulyijz^. I had Directions from

miffioners for the Cuftody of the Great Seal of my Client, to apply to Mr. Conway, to lay out up-

Great Britain, and being examined touching the on South-Sea Annuities the Sum of4006/. that had

Money and Effects for which he was anfwerable to

the Suitors of the Court, did admit, that the Sum

of thirty one thoufand nine hundred and fifty four

Pounds, fifteen Shillings and a Farthing, was the

Cam Ballance in his Hands, due to the Suitors ;

and that he had depofked in his Cheft at the Bank,

the Sum of four thoufand fix hundred and eighty

fix Pounds, one Shilling and nine Pence, in pur-

fuance of the Order of the feventeenth of Decem-

ber aforefaid ; and that he had declared a Truft of

three hundred Pounds South- Sea Stock for the

Suitors, which at the prefent valuation is three

hundred and fixty Pounds ; fo that there remains Rolls directed he mould lay out the Money im

the Sum of twenty fix thoufand nine hundred and mediately

been brought before him in a Caufe between Mr,
Davenant and my Lord Cardigan. The Matter
told me at firft, he would take Care of.it. Upon
further Application, he faid the Order had direct-

ed another Sum of Money fhould be brought before

him in the fame Caufe, and that he could not
put out the one without the other. Upon this, I

applied, by Petition, to theMafter of the Rolls,

praying, that Mr, Conway might be oblig'd to put
out the Money, and that he might anfwer Inter-

eft for it after he had had it a reafonable Time
in his Hands. Upon that, the Mafter of the

eicrht Pounds, eleven Shillings and three Pence Far-

thing, deficient and unfecured to the Suitors of the

Court ; and propofed towards Satisfaction thereof,

to Affign over a Debt of twenty thoufand eight

hundred and fifty Pounds, owing to him from

Mr. Belahaye, in fuch manner as fhould be

thought proper for the benefit of the Suitors :.

But aliedged that he was not to be charged with

the Sum of feven thoufand five hundred and feven-

ty five Pounds, mentioned in his Accounts to be

part of the aforefaid twenty fix thoufand nine

hundred and eight Pounds, eleven Shillings and

three Pence Farthing. Whereupon their Lord-

fhips confidering what was aliedged by him, were

ofOpinion, That he was anfwerable to the Suitors produced.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I beg your Lordfhips Pardon
for interrupting this Witnefs. In the manner he
is going on, your Lordfhips obferve, he is taking.

Notice of Orders, Petitions, Acts of the Court,
and this he gives upon his Memory. We think
thefe ought to be produced.'

Mr. Sol. Gen. If they are defirous fo entertain

your Lordfhips with them, we have them all here.

We only make ufe of them to let in the Decla-
ration of the noble Lord.

E. of Macclef. If that be all the Ufe, there is

no need to produce thefe Orders : But if they

are to introduce Evidence with relation to the

Merits of the Caufe, it is proper to have them

of the Court for the faid Sum of feven thoufand

five hundred and feventy five Pounds; and do

therefore Order, That the faid Mr. Kynafton do,

in a Week, depofite the faid Sum of twenty fix

thoufand nine hundred and eight Pounds, eleven

Shillings and three Pence Farthing, in Money or

Bank Notes, in his Cheft at the Bank of England,

or enter into a Recognizance in the penalty of fifty

three thoufand eight hundred and feventeen Pounds,

with two or more Sureties, to be approved of by

one of the Lords CommifTioners for the Cuftody of

the Great Seal of Great Britain, . to Anfwer and

Pay the faid Sum of twenty fix thoufand nine hun-

dred and eight pounds, eleven Shillings and three

pence Farthing, in fuch manner as this Court fhall

direct.

Tho. Parnelly

Dep. Reg.

R. P. Examined the 6th o/May, 1725. by the

Book of Entries. Cur' Cane' Letter B.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We don't difpute the Juftice of
the Order then made, but afk the Occafion of
it ; and all we defire is what was declared, and
what was the Occafion of the Declaration.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. The Managers don't enter

into the Confideration whether the Order is juft,

or no. All they reprefent to your Lordfhips, is

the Occafion of this Declaration. Whether a

Man acts juftly, that detains Money, and does not

pay it out when he ought to do it, that we leave

to another Determination. But what we afk now„
is the Declaration of the Earl of Macclesfield, and
the Occafion of it.

Mr. Waller. Upon the Petition to the Mafter

of the Roils, he made an Order to put the Mo-
ney out, and that the Mafter fhould pay fome
Intereft. On this, he applied to my Lord Chan-
cellor, to difcharge this Order. My Lord, upon
that Occafion, faid, the Mafter was not to blame,

and that the then Mafters were a Set of Matters

of as great probity, ability, and fortune, as ever

had been before ; and that his Lordfhip had had

the Satisfaction of having put in moftof them him-

felf. I can't fay that thefe were the very Words,

but it was to this Effect.

Mr. Sol. Gen. When, at what Time was this?

Mr. Waller. This Declaration was made the 21ft

Mr. Sol. Gen. The Managers for the Houfe of

Commons lay before your Lordfhips thefe Orders,

to fhew, that the feveral Mafters therein mention-

ed, were deficient. It will be incumbent on the

noble Lord to fhew, that when they were admit-

ted, they were of Ability proper for fuch a Truft. of'January, 1723.

We now proceed upon the Declaration that was Mr. Sol. Gen. Where was it?

made on the 2 1 ft ofJanuary laft was twelve-month,

and defire that Mr. Waller may be called.

Vol. VI. i C Mr.
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Mr. Waller. In Court, at my Lord's Houfe in

Lincoln*'s- Inn-Fields, where he ufually fat.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Was there at that time any Va-

cancy of any Matter's Office ; and how long did

that Vacancy happen before ?

Mr. Waller. Mr. Fellowes died either the Day
before, or the Day but one before.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Was there any Obfervations made

at that Time of any Perfon in Court that took

notice of what was faid ?

Mr. Waller. One of the Counfel took Notice

of fomebody taking Notes, and faid he believed

it would be in the Amjlerdam Gazette in a fhort

Time •, or to that Purpofe. My Lord Chancel-

lor afic'd who he was ?

E. of Macclef. I defire he may tell your Lord-

fhips, when Application was made to me by way

of Complaint of it, what it was I faid at that

Time?
Mr. Waller. I don't remember.

E. of Macclef. Pray recollect your felf, ifldid

not fay it was right, and they had a Right to

take Notes there.

Mr. Waller. I don't remember that you did.

E. of Macclef. Did I make no Anfwer?

Mr. Waller. Not as I remember.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afk'd, whe-

ther he kept any Notes or Memorandum of the

Words that were then faid?

Mr. Waller. No, my Lords.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. How does he then come to

remember the very W'ords?

Mr. Waller. Since my Lord Macclesfield's Coun-

fel will have it, I muft acquaint your Lordfhips,

that it ftruck me with fo much Aftonifhment to

hear fuch a Declaration made on the Matters,

which moft People thought they did not deferve,

that indeed I could not but remember it, and have

remembred it ever fince.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We have feveral other Per-

fons who were prefent at this Time, when this

Declaration was made ; but we apprehend it was

fo publick, fo notorious, and has been fo diftinct-

ly proved by a Perfon prefent, that it will be un-

neceffary to call further Evidence to it.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We beg leave to trouble your

Lordfhips as to one Circumftance, to afcertain

the Death of Mr. Fellowes: We have one of Mr.

Fellowes's Servants here.

Edward Ange fworn.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We defire he may be afk'd, whe-

ther he was a Servant to Mr. Fellowes?

Mr. Ange. I was a Clerk in Mr. Fellowes's Of-

fice, at the Time of his Death, and many Years

before.

Mr. Sol. Gen. When did he die, what Day ?

~Mr. Ange. Upon the 19th of January, 1723.
Mr. Sol. Gen. It was the 21ft that the Declara-

tion was made, fo that it feems that it was necef-

fary ; and fuch a Declaration was wanting at that

Time to keep up the price of the Office.

Mr. Lightboun called.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We defire Mr. Lightboun may be

afk'd, whether he gave any Intimation to the Earl

of Macclesfield, that the Circumftances of fome of

the Matters were fufpicious, before the 21ft of

January was twelve-month?

_

Mr. Lutwycke. I defire Mr. Lightboun would
give your Lordfhips an Account what Difcourfe
he had concerning the Matters with the Earl of
Macclesfield.

Mr, Lightboun. I can't fay I acquainted him
with my fufpeeting any of the Matters by Name,
being deficient, but I told him in Convention,
that as a Deficiency had happened in Mr. Dor-
mer's Office, the like Accident might happen in

others ; and that it might be proper for his Lord-
fhip to take fome meafures to prevent the like for

the future, if poffible.

Mr. Lulwyche. In the Year 1723. Whether had
you any Difcourfe with my Lord Chancellor re-

lating to the Circumftances of any of the Matters,
or about any Propofals of Security to be given by
them ?

Mr. Lightboun. In the Year 1723. I had fome
Converfation with my Lord upon that Subject,
and it was upon the Occafion of my Lord's fend-
ing for me to know why I had not complied with
a Propofal of the Matters, to pay 500 /. towards
making good Mr. Dormer's Deficiency. I afk'd,

whether it was his Lordfhip's Propofal, or whe-
ther it was a Propofal from fome of the Matters.
My Lord faid, it was mention'd by the Matters,
and he approved of it ; and as the reft had com-
plied, he hoped I would.

Mr. Sol. Gen. You need not now give a particu-

lar Account of this •, this will be proper on another
Occafion ; that I defire to afk you now, is only
in general, whether before the 2 1 ft of January
1723. you had any Converfation with my Lord
about the Deficiency of the Matters, and that
there was Reafon to fufpeel a Deficiency in fome
of the Matters?

Mr. Lightboun. I did not mention any particular

Perfon, but only that an Accident had lately hap-
pen'd, and as it had happen'd, it might happen a-

gain ; but I was far from mentioning any Matter
by Name, for I might thereby have made my felf

liable to an Action.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We don't defire to afk him whe-
ther he mention'd any particular Matter, but only
in general, whether he did not fay he had Grounds
to fufpect fome of them? The Queftion is in ge-

neral.

Mr. Com. Serj. The Queftion was firft afk'd in

general, but the Anfwer not coming out to their

Satisfaction, they now apply it to a particular

Fact, to which the Anfwer required is only Yea
and No. This we apprehend not to be altogether

fo regular, we therefore defire the Queftion may
be afk'd in other Terms.
Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, I will afk the Que-

ftion in general, whether he gave any Intimation

in general, that there might be a Sufpicion of the

Mailers ?

Mr. Lightboun. I did in general acquaint my
Lord, as this Accident had happen'd, I did not

know how foon it might happen again. The
Year 1720. had made great Havock, and I did

not know what Effect it might have hadamongft us.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire Mr. Lightboun may be

afk'd, whether he can recollect that he had any

Difcourfe with my Lord Macclesfield to that Effect

at any other Time before January 1723.
Mr. Lightboun. My Lords, I can't confine my

felf to a particular Time. I have had the Honour
of many Converfations with my Lord Macclesfield

on this Subject, and what patted at one particular

Time
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Time more than another, I can't remember I with the firft part of the Article, and then fhall

have often had the Honour to hear his Lordfhip bring it home to the noble Lord.
mentioning the Methods which he thought of, to Mr. Sol. Gen. We fhall prove the whole, that
prevent it, and to propofe fuchMethods as I thought there was fuch a Praclice, and that it is reafo-

of, but I can't tell all the particular Times. nable to think the noble Lord knew it, or had
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afk'd, reafon to fufpecl it, and did not prevent it. We

whether from the Conversation which pafs'd be- muft firft begin with the Praclice.

tween the Earl of Macclesfield znd himfclf, it ap- Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire he
pear'd to him, that the Earl had any Sufpicion of may give your Lordfhips an Account of the Me-
a Want of Subftance in the Mafters? thods taken at the time he came into the Office

Mr. Lightboun. My Lord, when I mention'd it, of felling and paying for thofe Offices, and in
feemed unwilling to think fo. He faid he hoped what Manner the Agreement for his Office was
not •, he hoped there was no manner of Danger, tranfacled ?

they were all recommended to him for Men of Mr. Kynafton. My Lords, I treated with Mr.
Fortunes, or to that Effect. Latterly, this laft Rogers for the Sale of his Place in May, 1721. I
Year, when my Lord was talking of this Matter, did underftand then, and had heard before, that
he feemed to think there was a Neceffity that there the Method was, that they retained fo much of
fhould be an enquiry into this Affair: and when theMoney belonging to the Office for their places
the Matters were ordered to bring in their own and that fuch had been the praclice. I did aoree
Accompts, I remember I told my Lord I quefti- with him, and entered into Articles to pay him
oned if they were able to do it. My Lord faid 6000 /.for his Place. I went for fome time into

he hoped it, and wifh'd it. the Country, and when I was there, he wrote
E. of Abingion. If Mr. Lightboun be left to his to me, and told me that he defigned torefio-n the

own Difcretion, to relate without Interruption place on the 9th of Augufi. I did come up to
whatever he can recollect that paffed between Town, and on the 9th of Auguft I o-aVe him a
him and Lord Macclesfield before January 1723. Bond for 6000 /. Then I went with him to my
when this Declaration was made in Court, it may Lord Macclesfield, and was fworn in Matter. There
give your Lordfhips a fuller Light and Satisfaction, was a general Order for him to deliver over the

Mr. Lightboun. I don't remember to have had Effecls and Securities to me ; after this he delivered
any particular Converfation about the Abilities of up the Bond which I had given him, and retain'd

the Mafters, farther than I have mentioned to fo much Money belonging to the Suitors of the
your Lordfhips. I have told you that I did give Court, as amounted to 6000 /. He paid me nine
fome Hints in a doubtful Manner, that I wasdif- Pounds, and delivered me up my Bond, and I gave
fitisfied ; but it would very ill have become me to him a Receipt for 6009 /.

have mentioned particular People whom I was Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire to know what was
doubtful of. paid for his Admiffion ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we proceed now Mr. Kynafton. 1500 Guineas were paid to Mr.
to examine fome Witneffes upon theArticle relating Cottingham by Mr. Baily.

to the Mafters coming in, and in what manner the Mr. Serj. Pengelly. How was it repaid ?

Money was paid upon their Admiffion, either on a Mr. Kynafton. In February afterwards, I ftated an
Surrender, or Death of a former Matter ; and Account with the Perfon that was my Cafh Keeper
out of what Fund that Money was paid. We and kept my Money, in relation to the Money
beg leave to call Mr. Kynafton. receiv'd and paid, and he charg'd me with the

1575/. and deducled it out of the Money of the

Mr. Kynafton called. Suitors which he had received.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg leave he may be how much Cafh, what Sum of Money, came to

afk'd, in relation to his Treaty with Mr. Rogers, his Hands from Mr. Rogers ?

when he came into his Office ? and in what Man- Mr. Kynafton. Something above 20000 /.

ner the Money paid for the Office was raifed? Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

Mr. Kynafton. It was in May 172 1. whether when thefe Effecls were by the Order of
Mr. Corn. Serj. Before Mr. Kynafton anfwers to Transfer delivered from Mr. Rogers to him, there

this, we hope the Managers fhall intimate to your was any Perfon prefent on behalf of my Lord
Lordfhips, that they have Evidence to apply this Macclesfield, to fee them delivered over ?

to the Lord who now ftands accufed ; otherwife Mr. Kynafton. No.
a bare Difcourfe between Mr. Rogers and Mr. Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was there any Account de-
Kynajlon, cannot affecl the Earl of Macclesfield. manded of him afterwards, either by my lord

Mr. Lutwyche. I apprehend this Interruption is Chancellor or his Agent, of the Quantum of the
very unneceffary : It is the firft part of the Arti- Effecls or Cafh?
cle we are going to prove, that it was a Practice Mr. Kynafton. I don't remember there ever was.

among the Mafters in Chancery, to pay the Money Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I beg leave to afk, whether
for their Places out of the Suitors Money •, and at that Time he had Money enough of his own to

that though the Chancellor had good reafon to pay Mr. Rogers 6000 I. for his Place, and 1500
fufpecl or know this, yet he applied no Remedy Guineas to my Lord Macclesfield for his Admiffion?
or Redrefs, but let it go on for his own Benefit

:

Mr. Kynafton. Yes, I believe I had more Money
Therefore we muft begin with the firft part of at that time, but it was out upon Security ; I was
the Article. They are not to examine and afk worth more.
the Managers, whether they have any Proof of Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What was his Inducement to

the latter part of the Article ; we are beginning come into this Office ?

Mr.
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Mr. Sol. Gen. Or, I would afk it 'mother Words,

whether the eafinefs of his paying for his Place

was not one Thing that induc'd him to Purchafe ?

Mr. Kynafton. Yes, I believe it was one Induce-

ment to me to purchafe the Place.

Sir Wm. Strickland. I beg leave to afk another

Queftion. Mr. Kynafton fays he had more Money

or" his own at that Time, but I defire to know whe-

ther he could have paid 7575 I. which he gave for

his Office, unlefs he had paid it out of the Suitors

Money ?

Mr.Kynafton. No, I could not have paid the whole.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. If the Gentlemen have done,

I defire he may be afked, what Money he had ofhis

own at that Time, either in Cafh, or in his Bank-

er's Hands, or in Security ?

Mr. Kynafton. I really cannot tell, I believe I

might have between 2 and 3000 /.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. How much can you take upon

you to fay you had ?

Mr. Kynafton. Really I cannot tell.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Speak to the neareft you can.

Mr. Kynafton. I believe I had about 2000/. very

near three in Money and Effects.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. What other Eftate had you?

Had you any real Eftate ?

Mr. Kynafton. I had an Eftate fettled upon me at

my Marriage, no other Eftate.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire you to give an Ac-

count, whether you had any other perfonal Eftate?

Mr. Kynafton. No. I do not remember I had* ex-

cept you reckon Timber fuch.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire my Lords, he may be

asked, what the annual value of his real Eftate was?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I fubmit, whether he be

obliged to tell his whole Circumftances?

Mr. Kynafton. I 'am very willing to tell, it was

about 400 /. a Year.

Mr. Com. Serj. Whether he had not his Eftate

without Impeachment of Waft ?

Mr. Kynafton. Yes.

Mr. Ser. Probyn. Ofwhat Value might the Tim-

ber be?

Mr. Kynafton. I was once bid 2500 /. for it, but

now they know I have an Occafion to fell, they

will not give me fo much.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I beg leave he may be asked,

whether at that Time his Father was living?

Mr. Kynafton. Yes, he was at the Time of my
purchafing the Place.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. AstheCafh was above 20000/.

of what Value were the Securities ?

Mr. Kynafton. Really I cannot tell, I have given

in an Account of the Effects.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. About what Sum ?

Mr. Kynafton. I have given it in my Accounts

what it was.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. To what Sum doth the whole

both in Cafti and Securities amount ?

Mr. Kynafton. I believe under 50,000 /. about

46000 /.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. The Securities as well as the

Cafh?
Mr. Kynafton. I mean the Securities and the Cafh

together.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Upon this evidence, we fub-

mit it to your Lordfhips, whether the Timber up-

on his Eftate was a proper Security for 50,000/.

to be put into his Hands.

E. of Macclef. He now reprefents his Eftate to

be 400 /. a Year. How was it reputed ?

Mr. Kynafton. I believe about 500/. per Annum.

Earl of Macclesfield 10 G. 1.

Mr. Plummer. I defire to ask him, whether if

he had felled every ftick of Timber on his Eftate,

that and his perfonal Eftate would have paid what
he was to give for his Mafter's Place?

Mr. Kynafton. No, it would not.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, WemakeUfe
of this as a Proof of the former Article.

Mr. Thomas Bennet called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, We defire he
may be asked in what manner the Transfer of his

Office was tranfacted, and how the money was
paid for his Mafter's Place ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. My Lords, when I treated

with Mr. Hiccocks about the Surrender of his Of-
fice, one of the firft Things he told me was, thac

I need raife no money to come into this Office, for

whatever money we agreed for, mould be deducted
out of the money to be paid over to me, which
I underftood to be the money belonging to the
Suitors of the Court.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What was done in purfu-
ance of this?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. This encouraged me to goon
and proceed, in order to come into this Office, I

fuppofedthistobethePractice, elfe J had not gone in.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether was that generally

reputed to be the Practice?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I own I thought fo. I was a
younger Brother, and had not money enough of
my own to come into that Office.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg leave that he may
inform your Lordfhips how much he was to pay,

and how it was raifed and paid ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. The Sum I agreed to pay Mr.
Hiccocks was i goo I. and the Sum to my Lord
Chancellor was 1500 Guineas, which 159075/.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We hope that he lhall in-

form your Lordfhips how it was raifed and paid.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. As to the 1500 Guineas, I ac-

quainted your Lordfhips I borrowed it of my Bro-

ther, and the next Day returned it him again out

of the money I received of Mr. Hiccocks. As foon

as I was admitted, I went to Mr. Hiccocks, and de-

manded of him the Suitors effects. He paid me
1500/. and told me I muftgive a Receipt for 9000/.

I told him, it was hard to have no more money
paid me, when he told me there was much more
Cafh in the Office, and that I had given my Lord
Macclesfield more than he had offered to pay me

:

He faid he fhould pay me more afterwards, but he

infilled on my taking this now, fo I took the

1500/. and gave him a Receipt for 9000 /.

Mr. Serj . Pengelly. I defire he may be asked,

whether upon any Occafion he had any Difcourfe

with the Earl ofMacclesfield relating to the method
of his coming in, or about the re-payment of the

1500 Guineas he paid him.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. In order to give an account of

this, I muft acquaint your Lordfhips of the Occa-

fion of my waiting on his Lordfhip. Mr. Holford

told me, that my lord Chancellor had fent to him,

and defired that he and my Brother John Bennet

would endeavour to accommodate matters between

Mr. Hiccocks and myfelf, on Occafion of the Defi-

ciency ofmy Accounts. Mr. Holford faid he did

not care to go, but my Brother did go to Mr.
Hiccocks. He would do nothing, no Accommo-
dation could be made ; but my Brother told me
that my lord Chancellor would pay back to me the

1500 Guineas which he had received, fo the mat-

ter with Mr. Hiccocks might be accommodated.
Mr. Serj.
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When was this? fhouJd receive it : He would not fay how, becaufe
Mr. Tho. Bennet. It was about the time of our I might be called upon to anfwer what Difcourfe

giving in our Accompts patted between his Lordfhip and me in another
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was it before Chnftmas, or place.

Mr. Lutwyche. Was there any thing done upon
that?

after?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. It was before Ghriftmas lafl, in

December. I think about the 7th of December. Up- Mr. Tho. Bennet. Hearing nothing from my
on that I afked my Brother, whether I might de- Lord Chancellor for a Fortnight after° I went to
penduponir, that my Lord Chancellor would pay his Secretary, Mr. Dixon, and told him that I had
back the 1500 Guineas? And he faid, Yes, he had ufed fuch Expreffions in my Accompt, that if the

it from his Lordfhip •, and he did affure me I

micrht depend upon it ; but he faid nothingcould be

done with Mr. Hiccocks. Then I defired them to ac-

quaint my Lord with if, they both declined it,

and defired I would go my felfupon this Occafion.

I went, and I told my lord, I was come to wait

upon his Lordfhip to thank him for the kind Of-

fer he had made to my Brother, of returning the

1 500 Guineas, and I wifhed the fame could be faid

of Mr. Hiccocks, and I could prevail with him ;

but nothing could be done : I came to return his

Lordfhip thanks; and I thought I fhould have

Money was not produced, it would oblige me to
name my Lord Chancellor ; and I defired him to
acquaint my Lord that I could not pay this Mo-
ney, and that I muft difcover it in a Day or two.
This was Sunday Night : The fame Night M. Dix-
on return'd from my Lord, and told me, that
if Mr. Holford would be prefent the next morning
at the payment of the Money at Mr. Kynafton's
Chambers, that Mr. Kynajlon and my felf fhould
receive it. We were there the next day. Mr. Dix-
on came, but brought no Money, faid my Lord
expected fome Indemnification. We faid, as to art

received the Money then. My Lord afked me to Indemnification we could give none. He faid he

fit down, and then told me if he had known I would go to my Lord. I was in hopes he would
had been to give fo great a Sum of Money for the have brought the Money ; but when he came back,

Office, he would not haveadmittedme. I told him he faid it was an Holiday, and no Money could

I did give fo great a Sum, but immediately as foon be had, and defired we would go to the judges, and
as I was admitted, I enfured my Life to the Va- defire two or three days time to produce this Mo-
lue of 8000/. which coft me 400 I. fo that if I ney. I told him we could not do it, for that very-

had died, no harm would have come to the Suitors. Night the Report was to be laid before the King
My Lord faid, it was very honourably done. Soon and Council. He then returned again to my Lord
after that, he faid, he was very forry to fee the Items Chancellor, as he told us, and when he came back,

that were put into my Accompt zndMr. Kynafion's he faid my Lord Chancellor was gone out. Up-
in relation to Sums in the Hands of an honourable on that we gave in my Lord Chancellor's Name
Perfon ; for, fays he, that hath difcovered the Me- to the Judges, and the Gentlemen of the Bank,
thod of purchafing thefe Offices, that the Money and they gave it in to the Council, as I am in-

is deducted out of the Suitors Money, which, faid formed.

he, I have always taken pains to deny, when
ever I have been asked the Queftion.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg leave now to afk

him, how much the whole of theCafh, and Secu-

rities transferred from Mr. Hiccocks to him, amount-

ed to?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I believe near 100, 000/.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I apprehend he faid before,

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords wedefire hemayan-
fwer this Queftion, whether it was explained what
that Indemnification was, which was expected,

and in what manner it was to be?
Mr. Tho. Bennet. My Lords, Mr. Dixon explain-

ed it thus,

E. of Macclesfield. I hope whatever Mr. Dixon
faid, fhall not affect me ; but that they will pro-

he was a younger Brother, and had but little For- duce him: He is able to fpeak for himfelf.

tune of his own ; I defire he may be afked whether Mr. Lutwyche. Then I only defire he may be

any Care was taken by my Lord Macclesfield as to afked what Officer Mr. Dixon was under my Lord
the transferring the Effects of the Suitors in Mr.
Hiccocks's Hands over to him ? and whether any
Perfon was employed by my Lord to fee the Ef-

fects transferred over ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. No.

Chancellor?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. M. Dixon was my Lord's Se-

cretary,

Mr. Lutwyche. Whether at that time that you
had the Difcourfe with my Lord Macclesfield, you

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether there was any other mentioned or faid any thing of Mr. Dixon's having

Security for this great Sum of Money depofited in come to you, in my Lord Macclesfield's name?
his Hands, befides what was made by this Infu- Mr. Tho. Bennet. No my Lords, that was before

ranee on his Life? Mr. Dixon's, coming to me.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. No, my Lords, I know of no Mr. Lutwyche. Did you take Notice at any time

other Security. That was a voluntary Act ofmy to my Lord Macclesfield of Mr. Dixon's coming to

own, and I paid for it. you?
Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, Mr. Bennet fays, Mr. Tho. Bennet. No, I never fpoke to my Lord

he had fome reafon to hope that the 1500 Guineas Chancellor afterwards. This was the 27th of
would be given him back again ; I defire he may December, and it was the 7th of December that

be afked whether there was any fubfequent Over- I waited upon my Lord.
ture about paying the 1500 Guineas back again? Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We think itappears that Mr.
Mr. Tho. Bennet. My Lord Chancellor difmiffed Dixon was an Agent of my Lord Macclesfield's: I

me at that time, and told me, I fhould not know defire to know what the Nature of the Propofal of

Indemnification was, that he made?

E. of Macclesfield. I can't think Mr. Serjeant is

in earneft. Hive they proved that he was em-

D ployed

by what means, or by what methods I fhould re-

ceive the Money, or by whofe Hands ; but his

Lordfhip would take Care that one way or other I

Vol. VI. 5
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ployed by me? I have heard no proof of it, only

Mr. Serjeant hath faid it. Mr. Dixon himfelf is the

proper perfon to give an Account of what he told

them from me. If they do infift upon it, I muft

beo- your lordfhips Judgment.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. If it is infilled upon by the

Noble lord, to difavow the proceedings of his own

Agent, we will wave it.

E. of Macclesfield. I neither avow nor difavow,

but I object to the Evidence of this Gentleman a-

bout the Difcourfe of what Mr. Dixon faid, who

is living, and can fpeak for himfelf.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. If the noble lord will afk

him any thing, he may, we have done.

E. of Macclesfield. I beg leave that Mr. Bennet

may be afked two or three Queftions : He has in-

deed given Evidence which greatly furprizes me.

In the firft place I defire he may inform your lord-

fhips, whether, when he was with me, he did not

tell me that if Mr. Hiccocks would pay 2000/. he

would make good the whole Money?
Mr. Tho. Bennet. No, I did not fay fo ; I could

not make good the whole Money, or any thing like

it. I faid that fuch a Report had been fpread, that

I propofed, that if Mr. Hiccocks would pay me
20CO /. I would anfwer the reft-, but I was notable.

E. of Macclesfield. I would be glad to know how
he came to tell me of a Report of his own Aft: Was
it a Report without any Foundation ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I went to Mr. Hiccocks, and

told him I wanted 6000 /. but he faid if 2000/.

would do, he believ'd he could lend me that. Lend
it me, faid I ; if you give me 2000/. it isfome-

The 'trial of Thomas Earl ofMacclesfield,

you
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E. of'Macclesfield. I defire to know whether he
was married before?

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. I was.

E. of Macclesfield. What Fortune had
with your Wife?
Mr. Tbo. Bennet. The Fortune I had with my

Wife, was in the Whole between 2 and 3000 /.

part of it was an Houfe.

E. of Macclesfield. What was the Value of that
Houfe?

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. I had not let it then, but fince

my coming into the Office I have let it for 90/.
a Year.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know if he did
not keep his Coach and Equipage at that time?

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. I did fet up my Coach in

the unfortunate Year 1720. I was once worth
20,000 Pounds, but loft it all, and became much
indebted ; the Eftate I had of my own was mort-
gaged for more than it was worth.

E. of Macclesfield. Whether he was married in

1720!the Year,

M. Tbo. Bennet. No, I was not.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know what E-
ftate he hath given into the Court of Chancery?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. That Account lies upon the

Table.

E. of Macclesfield. What yearly Value is that?

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. About 900/. per Annum ; part

of it is fettled, the reft mortgaged, and an Annuity
charged on it more than it is worth.

E. of Macclesfield. Has any Eftate been pur-

chafed with your Money, or Money which came
thing. And this was the Foundation of this Report, from you, fince you was a Mafter ?

E. of Macclesfield. I cannot give Evidence my Mr. Tbo. Bennet. Part of that given in was fo,

felf to difprove him in this ; and therefore I defire 68 I. per Annum, and 40 /. per Annum.
to know whether he, has faid to any other Perfons, E. of Macclesfield. Has any other Eftate been

that if Mr. Hiccocks would pay him two thoufand, purchafed with your Money, or Money which

or three thoufand Pounds, or thereabouts, he would came from you, fince you was a Mafter?

in.

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. None, but what I have given

I have given in every Shilling.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I defire he may be
afked, whether he was not at the Time of his be-

coming Mafter in Chancery, in Poffeffion of the

Office of Clerk of the Cuftodies ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Yes, I was.

Mr. Com. Serj. Now, my Lords, it will be very

proper to afk him what that was fold for, that

the Value of his Eftate may be known.
Mr. Tho. Bennet. That may affeft me and my

Succefibr.

Mr. Lutwyche. I don't know whether we need

put you in mind, that the late Aft of Parliament

defire he may be afked, only indemnifies the Mafters, but there is none to

was with me, I did not indemnify the Clerk of the Cuftodies.

Mr. Com. Serj. Which way it will affeft Mr.
Bennet I don't know. I apprehend no Aftion
can lie againft him for the Money he re-

ceived, nor any criminal Profecution or Informa-

tion. But that I may not mifpend your Lord-

pay the reft ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I might fay, I would endea-

vour to raife the reft ; but I never faid I would

pay the whole, for I knew I was not able.

E. of Macclesfield. Mr. Bennet underftands my
Queftion, to which he hath given no Anfwer. My
Queftion is, Whether he hath not told fome other

People, that in Cafe Mr. Hiccocks would pay 2 or

3000/. he would pay all the reft?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. No, my Lords, I never told a-

ny Body that I would pay the reft; but I believe I

might fay, if Mr./7itT0t^wouldgiveme2 or 3000/.
I would ftand the Hazard ; for I did not expeft that

all the Money fhould be taken out of my Hand
E. of Macclesfield. I

whether at that time he

afk him, with what Confcience and Honefty he
could buy a Place, when he had not Money to

pay for it? or whether it was not in anfwer to

that, that he told me that he had infured his life?

vlr. Tho. Bennet. My Lord did fay fo to me. I

ar fwered, I had not Money •, that I had not bought ftiips Time; I defire Mr. Bennet may inform your
had it not been for theCafh oftheSui-
that I had fince infured 8000 /. on my

the Place,

tors ; and

life, in order to fecure the Suitors

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know what vifi-

ble Eftate the Gentleman then had, and of what
yearly Value ?

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. My Lords, when I came into

the Office, I believe I had about 250/. a Year, or
thereabouts.

Lordfhips of the yearly Value of the Place.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. It is about 250/. a Year.

E. of Macclesfield. A Patent for Life?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Yes, my Lords.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. How much hath it been fold

for?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I can't tell what it hath been

fold for : It may have been once fold for about

1200 /.

Mr. Serj.
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Mr. Serj. Probyn. At that time when you fur-

rendered, what might it have been fold for ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I beg leave to fubmit, whe-

ther I am obliged to anfwer that Queftion.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. If it was not faleable by

Law, it was not worth a Farthing. I beg leave

to put your Lordfhips in mind, that Mr. Bennet

was excufed Yefterday from anfwering a Queftion

of the fame Nature : The Counfel hope that this

Day, being a new Day, they may have Liberty

to afk the fame queftion over again.

Mr. Com. Serj. There was another Ingredient

in your Lordfhips Refolution Yefterday. I hope

it is no Injury to him to anfwer how much he hath

known it to be fold for •, without mentioning by

whom.
M. Serj. Probyn. We hope Mr. Bennet will an-

fwer the queftion, what is the moft he hath known
it to be fold for ?

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I object to his an-

fwering that queftion, becaufe if he did fellithim-

felf, that might be the greateft Sum that he hath

known to be given for it, and that will fubjeet

him to a Penalty.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We don't afk who gave it, or

who received it : but what is the greateft Price he

hath known that Office to be fold for ?

E. of Macclesfield. He fays he hath known it to

be fold for 1200 /. I defire he may be afked whe-

ther he hath not known that it hath been fold for

more ?

Mr. Thomas Bennet. I believe it hath been fold

for more.

E. of Macclesfield. And how much more ?

Mr. Weft. This queftion is an indirect way to

come at that queftion that was denied them Yef-

terday.

Sir Will. Strickland. My Lords, with humble
Submiffion, the queftion afked by the Noble Lord,

tends directly to make Mr. Bennet tell what he

fold his own Office for; for if his own Office was

fold, it is probable that he fold it for the greateft

price ; and to tell that, is to make him fay what
he fold his own Office for.

Mr. Lutwyche. By this method your Lordfhips

Refolution of Yefterday will be evaded. We took

it then, that the Witnefs was not obliged to dif-

cover what he fold the Office for. Now they are

afking what is the greateft price he knew the Of-

fice fold for ? Then the next queftion may be, to

whom was the Office fold, and by whom was it

fold ? Therefore we muff, humbly fubmit it to

your Lordfhips, that it is not a queftion to be

afked.

Mr. Com. Serj. To object to a queftion becaufe

another may follow, is odd arguing. When fuch

a queftion is made, it will be then time enough to

oppofe it : Therefore I hope that we fhall go on.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I apprehend this

queftion is proper, and the Anfwer to it is ne-

ceffary.

Lord Lechmere. Your Lordfnips will obferve

fome Rules in your proceedings. An Objection

hath been made : An Anfwer hath been given :

both Sides infift upon your Lordfhip's Judgment:
that being done, they muft withdraw. Therefore

I defire they may withdraw.

E. of Macclesfield, The Reply is not yet made ;

fomething has been faid by the Gentlemen who
are managers by way of Objection to the quefti-
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on that was propofed, which, if they infift upon,
I defire my Counfel who are to reply, may be
heard before they withdraw.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. The managers for the Houfe
of Commons have been pleafed to examine into
the Circumftances of Mr. Bennet, at the time he was
admitted Mafter, in order to fhew that he was then
not of Subftance fit to be intrufted with fo great a
Sum of money. We are then in Duty obliged to

examine him as to that fubftance, and the value
of his Effects. He hath told your Lordfhips what
Eftate he hath in land ; we are now to examine
him as to his perfonal eftate : He hath told us he
had an Office, the Clerk ofthe Cuftodies ; that he
hath parted with it ; the money arifing by that

Office muft be reckoned as part of his perfonal

Eftate. To come at the Value of the Office, we
do not afk him any queftion that makes him liable

to a penalty ; but fuch a queftion, where the anfwer

to it may be given with fafcty ; and that is, what
is the greateft fum he hath known to have been
given for the Office of the Clerk of the Cuftodies?

He may anfwer this without involving himfelf

in any Difficulties, for it is not afked what he
himfelf hath fold that Office for? No anfwer to

this general queftion can affect him with any ill

Confequence.

Dr. Sayer. I humbly apprehend this is no way
irregular. We are inquiring about his Effects ; it is

owned he had the Office of Clerk of the Cuftodies,

therefore that muft be a part of his perfonal Eftate

:

The anfwer to our queftion can't any way involve

him in Danger, or fubject him to any Penalty

;

becaufe it doth not neceffarily follow that he fold

his place at the greateft price that he ever knew
it fold for. We fubmit it, whether it is not a

queftion fair with regard to the Witnefs, and pro-

per to be put to him.

Mr. Robins. We agree that where he may fub-

ject himfelf to a lofs, there is no forcing him to

anfwer; no perfon is bound to accufe himfelf. But

this is only a matter ofdifcovery what the Value of

this Office is; the anfwer cannot affect him ; and

therefore we hope we fhall have an anfwer.

Mr. Strange. My Lords, I am furprized to hear

it faid that this is not a queftion material for the

Noble Earl's defence : Surely it is as material for

us to increafe his eftate, as it is for them to dimi-

nifh it. They have already examined into parti-

culars, to fhew what fmall fubftance he was of, and

what the Eftate he had was mortgaged for : the

proper anfwer to be given to that, as far as it will

go, will be to fhew that he had other Eftate and

effects, and we are not able to fhew that without

examining him. I humbly fubmit it therefore

that we are as proper to go into that Evidence, as

they were ; it is equally material ; and as they

have examined to it on behalf of the Commons,

we are intitled to examine to it likewife on be-

half of the Noble Earl.

E. of Macclesfield. I apprehend the Objection

is, That he is not to be afked a queftion, which if

he anfwers he will charge himfelf with a Crime or

penalty. Whatever anfwer he makes to this quef-

tion cannot charge him : Let him anfwer and fay

that he hath known this place fold for 1000, 1500,

or 2000 /. can that be given in Evidence fo as to

affect him ? Therefore the Queftion to Day is not

the fame as was afked yefterday : It was then afk-

ed, what he had received for his place? and if he

had
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had anfwered and faid what he had received, it

would have been a Confeffion, which would have

convicted him : But if the Anfwer be, That he

knows it was fold for fuch a price, and that is gi-

ven in Evidence, by that anfwer it doth not ap-

pear that he fold it : Therefore upon that I hum-

bly fubmit to your Lordfhips, and we are ready-

to withdraw.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. This is by a Side-wind to

know your Lordfhips Opinion upon the 9th Ar-

ticle.

E. of Macclesfield. I beg leave to interrupt

that worthy Gentleman. I agree that the Com-
mons that bring in the Charge, have a right to

reply ; but with Submiffion this is an Objection

arifing from my Counfel, and the reply belongs

to them.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we apprehend

the Objection arifes from the managers, and there-

fore the Reply belongs to them. The managers

made the Objection, therefore we beg leave to

obferve, that this is in Confequence to defire your

Lordfhips Judgment upon the 9th Article, Whe-
ther the office of the Clerk of the Cuftodies be fale-

able by law, or no? If he is obliged to anfwer this

Queftion, it is upon a fuppofkion that the Trans-

action is lawful : Therefore in an Affair of this

Nature, there can be no other View but to get an

opinion upon this article. My Lords, we appre-

hend this proceeding is in confequence the fame as

if a queftion was propofed to your Lordfhips,

whether my Lord Macclesfield could by law fell

the Place of Clerk of the Cuftodies?

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I triuft beg leave to

mention this to your Lordfhips. When it is con-

fidered upon what Foundation this queftion is afk-

ed, and what it doth mean, it can be only to elude

your Lordfhips Refolution yefterday, and to make
that of no Effect. My Lords, there fhould be al-

ways the greateft candour ufed before your Lord-
fhip?, that no Tricks or Methods fhould be made
ufe of to afk that which fhould not be afked. Now,
my Lords, what is the queftion they are examining
to, and the Ufe to be made of it? Here is a Per-

fon that is alledged to be of mean Ability, and
the queftion is, What Subftance and Eftate he hath ?

and they would reckon into part of his Eftate an

Office not faleable by law, and afk him, what
that Office is worth ? From whence the Inference

muft be, that he fold it.

E. of Macclesfield. That is not the queftion,

what it is worth ; but a particular Fact, what is

the moft that it hath been fold for?

Mr. Lutwyche. What doth that tend to ? The
queftion is, What Eftate this Gentleman had that

could enable him to pay this money for this of-

fice? They have examined him about his own E-
ftate, and his Wife's Eftate, but then there is ano-

ther part of his Eftate ; which was this office of
Clerk of the Cuftodies. What is that ? It is that

very thing which we fay it is unlawful to fell.

Therefore we fubmit it to your Lordfhips as no
way material to the Defence of the Earl. We
hope your Lordfhips will not admit that to be
done by an indirect method, which would not be

admitted to be done by a direct one.

Ordered to withdraw. Which was accordingly

done ; and all parties concerned being after

fome time called in again,

Earl of Macclesfield, 10 G. I.

The Lord Chief Juftice King declared to them,
That it was the order and judgment of the Lords,
that the faid queftion was not to be afked.

Mr. Plummer. I would afk Mr. Tho. Bennet one
queftion, Whether every thing he had in the World
at the Time of his Purchafe of the Mafterfhip,was
worth the money he gave for it?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. All I had in the World was
not worth it.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, Mr. Bennet fays

he mortgaged his Eftate for more than it was
worth ; I defire he may be afked whether he knew
at that time, that it was not worth fo much as k
was mortgaged for ?

Lords. No, No.
Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I beg leave to afk

this queftion, and I hope it will be very proper,

that is, I defire to afk Mr. Bennet, as he hath gi-

ven an account of a converfation with my Lord
Macclesfield ; I defire to know if my lord Mac-
clesfield, at the time of his Admiffion into his of-

fice, did afk him what he was worth?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. My lord Macclesfield never
afked me any queftions in Relation to my circum-

ftances, or any thing like it.

E. of Macclesfield. My lords, I defire he may
be afked, whether I had any notice of his lofles

by the South-Sea?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Not that I know of : I don't

know that my lord Chancellor had any Notice of
it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, if the Counfel

have dene, we ihall not give your Lordfhips any
farther trouble on thefe two Articles : Both of them
are as clearly and as fully proved and fubftantiated

as it is poffible. It comes out now upon the Exa-
mination, that tho' feveral mafters were intrufted

with 40, 50, or 80,000 /. they were not of any
competent Subftance, not really worth what they

paid for their particular places. As to the manner
of their paying for their places, if we have not

given a direct evidence that his Lordfhip knew it,

yet the practice and notoriety of the Fact being

proved, and that it was thus generally underftood,

is a reafonable evidence in itfelf, and by the no-

tice the Earl took of it himfelf by the feveral

queftions he hath afked, we think it is yet clear-

er. We humbly fubmit whether upon this evi-

dence every part of thefe two Articles is not fuf-

ficiently proved ? We depend upon the Examina-
tion already taken, and will take up your Lord-

fhips time no farther.

Then the Managers and the Counfel were di-

rected to withdraw ; and the Lords adjourn'd

to the next Morning at Ten a Clock in the

Forenoon.

Saturday May Sth. The Third Day.

TH E Lords being feated in their Houfe, pro-

clamation was made by the Serjeant at Arms
for Silence ; and another Proclamation, That all

perfons concerned were to take Notice, that Tho-

mas Earl of Macclesfield now flood upon his Trial,

and they might come forth in order to make
good the Charge.

Lord Ch. Tuft. King. Gentlemen of the Houfe of

Commons, you may proceed in your Evidence.

Mr.
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fhould happen, the fame fhould be made up by-

other Mafters; did agree, that in Cafe Mr,
Dormer would come over, and make a full Dif-
covery of all his Effects, and affign the fame
for the benefit of the Suitors, the faid Earl
would allow him his Liberty on that Condi-
tion, and not otherwife.

The noble Lord fays, No other way was open

1715-

Mr. Gybbon. My Lords, YourLordfhips hav-

ing already heard what has been offered in Sup-

port of the preceding Articles, I am commanded

by the Commons to affiit in maintaining the 13th

and 14th Articles of their Impeachment againft

the Earl of Macclesfield.

The Charge in thefe Articles is, That the Earl

knowing Mr. Dormer (one of the Mafters in Chan-

cery) had difpofed of great Part of the Suitors to get any thing. Sure, my Lords, the grantino-

Money for his own private Advantage, by which of a Sequeftration would have been one and the

there became and ftill continues a Deficiency of at fpeedieft way to have found out and fecured the

leaft 25000/. and that Mr. Dormer abfconded Effects; but it might have been a way too open ;

upon that Occafion •, That Application was made for it muft have publifhed the Deficiency of the

to the Earl thereupon, who inftead of taking Office; whereas Mr. Dormer'?, coming home, and
proper Methods to compel Mr. Dormer to make quietly refigning, hufhed all Enquiry.

Satisfaction to the Suitors (from an Apprehenfion What the Earl means by being made to believe

that a publick Difcovery of the faid Deficiency the Deficiency fhould be made up, I am at a Lofs,

might leffen the unjuft Gain the Earl propofed my Lords, to know. Made believe ! how, or by

to himfelf, by felling and difpofing of the faid whom? It dees not appear the Mafters entred into

Offices) did endeavour by many indirect Practices any Contract to do it ; and could his Lordfhip

to conceal from the Suitors of the Court the true think any Difcourfe between him and the Mafters

State and Condition of the faid Office, and did (if fuch there was) could be a fufficient Security

falfly and deceitfully declare that Mr. Dormer for the Suitors of the Court?

was only gone to take the Air-, that he would

return in a little time, and all would be well.

That Mr. Dormer having towards a Satisfac-

tion to the Suitors of the Court, affigned to

But fuppofe the Mafters had contracted to fup-
ply the Deficiency, I fubmit to your Lordfhips
how far that Contract would have been juftifi-

able ; for how fhould that Supply arife? If out

Mr. Edwards (who fucceeded him in his Office of of the Suitors Money in the Mafters Hands,
Mafter) a Debt of 24046/. 4;. due from Mr. that was only fupplying one Deficiency by ma-
Wilfon (a Banker) to Mr. Dormer, to the intent king another ; and if it was to be out of their own
the Money received on that Account fhould be Eftates, that likewife, by leffening the Sub-
applied as the Court of Chancery fhould direct, ftance of the Mafters, would diminifh the Se-

the Earl of Macclesfield, for the unlawful Purpofes curity of their own Suitors -, and what, my
aforefaid, without regard to the Intereft of the

faid Suitors, by Colour of his faid Office, did in

an unwarrantable, clandeftine, and unufual

Manner, authorize, direct and eftablifh a pre-

Lords, could induce the Mafters to enter into

fuch a Contract? I can imagine nothing, but to

conceal the Deficiency, in order to raife a Value
on their own Places upon their Refignations.

carious and trifling Compofition with the faid I therefore fubmit to your Lordfhips, whether

Wilfion, upon his paying 1463/. is. id. and the Earl's Anfwer is not an implyed Confefiion

afligning 10,000/. part of a Debt of 22,060/. of an Endeavour to conceal this Deficiency, in

\is. gd. pretended to be due to the faid Wilfon order to keep up the Price of the Office ? Your
from Edward Pouher, in Difcharge of the faid Lordfhips obferve on what Condition the Earl

Debt; and to that End, on Mr. Hiccocks's Report, fays he permitted Mr. Dormer to come over,

then one of the Mafters of the faid Court, with- But I do not find the noble Lord alledges, that

out any Attendance ordered or had thereupon, in order to gain the End propofed, Mr. Dormer
and without Notice to the faid Suitors, did by a was examined on Interrogatories touching the

private Order, not made in open Court, order

Mr. Edwards to accept the faid Compofition in

full Difcharge of the faid Debt ; which faid

Poulter was a Perfon Infolvent, and has fince ab-

fconded for Debt, and none, or very fmall part

Debts due to the Suitors of the Court, or to

what Eftate or Effects he had to anfwer the fame

:

We can fhew your Lordfhips there was no fuch

Examination. We fhall prove, that Mr. Dormer
did not give a fatisfactory Account of his Bal-

of the faid 10,000/. has been, or is ever likely to lance, and with great Difficulty was prevailed

be received. on to convey his Eftate for the Benefit of the

YourLordfhips will pleafe to obferve, that Suitors: But yet, my Lords, he continued to

the Earl is charged with the higheft Breach of have his Liberty. How the Earl will account

Truft in relation to the Suitors of the Court of for thofe Proceedings, I leave to your Lordfhips

Chancery, and to have committed that Breach of Confideration : I can fee no poffible Account can

Truft for the moft unjuftifiable End.
The Crimes, my Lords, ftated in thefe Articles,

are in themfelves fo heinous, they need no aggra-
vation ; and I think the noble Lord's Anfwer lhews
they are capable of no Excufe.
He is pleafed to fay, " That Mr. Dormer be-

' ing out of Reach, his Effects unknown, ex-
' cept the Stock, which could not be transferred
' without his Concurrence, and the Earl feeing
' no other way open to get any thing for the

Suitors, and being made believe, if a Deficiency

be given but this, that an Examination on In-

terrogatories touching the Debts of the Suitors,

and Mr. Donner's Anfwer and Confinement,

muft have publifhed the Deficiency of the Of-

fice. The Earl is pleafed to fay, " He did not

" doubt but the whole Debt upon the faid

" Fleetwood Dor?ner would be paid.

I prefume he did not doubt but it would be,

becaufe he knew in Juftice it ought to be paid ;

and fince it is before your Lordfhips, I likewife

do not doubt but it will be paid.

Vol. VI. 5E The
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The noble Lord in his Anfwer is ple.ifed to legal or juft Advantage. Where then is the Ge-
quote on fome Occafions the Example of his Pre- nerofity ? A Sum of" Money, which he ought
deceffors; I wifh, for the Sake of the unhappy not to have taken, is given up towards anfwer-
Suitors, and for the Honour and Juftice of the ing the Debt of the Court, for which I take in

Court of Chancery, he had here followed the hisLordfhip himfelf is anfwerable.

Steps of his PredecelTors in the Cafe of Dr. Eddis-

bury.

" The noble Lord infifts, He does notremem-
" ber any Application made by the Mailers for

" any Affiflance of the Court, touching the Per-

" fon or Effects of Mr. Dormer, but what he

*? granted, as far as he thought tended to the Be-

" nefit of the Suitors.

We mail offer Proof to the contrary : But

had that been fo, was that, my Lords, fufficient?

Was the Earl to wait the fetting of a Profecution

on Foot, 'till Application made by the Ma-
ilers ? It was not probable many of them (who

He is pleafed to fay, " That after Mr. Dor-
" mer's affigning Mr. Wilfon's Debt to Mr. Ed-
*_' wards, the Earl believes Mr. Edwards, ufed
" great endeavours to obtain Payment and Sa-
*« tisfaclion of the faid Debt from Mr. Wtlfon ;

" but finding all Endeavours fruklefs, and that
" Mr. Wilfon had flopped Payment, and was in no
" Condition of paying his Creditors the whole
" of their Debts, but had offered to come to a
" Compofition, and to pay them in Proportion
" the utmoft he was able, Mr. Edwards there-
" upon petitioned his Lordfhip.

What thole great endeavours were, I am, my
had bought at high Prices, and on Refignations, Lords, at a Lofs to know; fori can't find there

were to make the moft of their Places) would was any Commilfion of Bankruptcy taken out

apply for the fecuring the Perfon or Effects of againft Wilfon (though that was advifed and
Mr. Dormer, they would not willingly have had preffed as a fafe and neceffary Method) no Suit

a Mafler imprifoned ; the Difcovery of a Defi- in the Court of Chancery, or in any other Court
ciency in him would have made other Suitors commenced againft him, to get in this Debt, or
apprehenfive that the fame might have happen- that he was fo much as ferved with any Procefs

ed to them ; for every one knew how freely thofe about it. How then the Earl can fay, that all

Gentlemen trafficked in the fatal Year 1720. Endeavours were found fruitlefs, I leave to your

The very Notion of a Deficiency would have Lordihips Confideration.

put the Suitors on an Inquiry, and upon calling He is pleafed to fay, " Mr. Hiccocks reported,

the Money out of the Mafters Hands. Could

then the Earl expect they would intereft them-

felves much in an Examination of this Kind ?

But was it lefs his Duty to enquire and give all

neceffary Orders, and take all proper Precautions

for the Suitors Safety, becaufe the Mafters neglect-

ed it? No, certainly, unlefs for the Reafon af-

figned in the Article.

The Earl fays, " He did never endeavour to

" conceal the true State and Condition of the

Office from the Suitors, nor did any of them,It

'twas his Opinion the accepting the faid Com-
" pofition would be for the Benefit of the Per-
" fons entitled to receive the fame.

My Lords, It does not appear Mr. Hiccocks

had looked much into Wilfon's Circum fiances,

had examined the Particulars of his Books on
Oath, had called the Creditors before him to en-

quire into the Juftice of their Debts, or to know
the Amount; but yet took upon him to appor-

tion Part of Poulter's Debt, as a Compofition for

the Suitors of the Court, though it will appear

until very lately, apply to him to look into that Wilfon paid feveral of his Creditors after

*' the fame.

He well knew, that many of them called for

their Money, and were ordered their whole De-

mands, while Mr. Edwards had wherewithal to

pay ; but thofe unhappy Suitors, who did not

know of the Deficiency and, from fuch Orders

wards their full Demands.
Strange Proceeding fure in an Affair of this

Nature ! for which I will not pretend to Account.

But, my Lords, I cannot but obferve that the

two Mafters, who were employed to take Care on
this important Occafion, for the innocent un-

for the whole Money, might well be perfuaded happy Suitors, were very foon (pending the

there was no Deficiency, and confeqently did not Affair) allowed to fell their Places at exorbi-

complain, have now, I fear, a melancholy

Cafe. And with what Grace the Earl can in-

fill, that no Suitors ever did, or at leaft till very

lately, complain, I leave to your Lordihips Con-

fideration.

The Earl is pleafed to fay, " He remembers
" nothing of his ufing the Expreffion charged
" in the Article, either before or after he knew
" of Mr. Dormer 1

?, abfeonding.

I believe the noble Lord, on a little Recol-

lection, will eafier call to Mind what he faid on

this Occafion, than be able to give a juftifiable

Reafon for it.

He is pleas'd to fay in his Anfwer to the 14th

Article, *' He quitted all the Advantage of the

" Difpofal of Mr. Dormer's Office.

The Gentlemen, who have fpoke before me,

have, I hope, fufficiently made it appear to

your Lordihips, that there could be no fuch

tant Prices. 'M.T.Rogers, Augufi 1721. for 6,oco/.

and Mr. Hiccocks, June 1723. for 7,500/. and

which very Sums now remain a Debt to the

Suitors of the refpective Offices. Your Lord-

ihips have already heard what was demanded and

paid on thofe Refignations.

The Earl is pleafed to fay, " That on Mr. Ed-
*' wards's fecond Petition with Mr. Hiccocks's Re-
" port annexed (in which Mr. Edwards ex-

" prefly prayed, that he might be ordered to

" accept the faid Compofition) the Earl in a

" proper and ufual Manner ordered the fame as

" prayed, and was informed, and believes, that

" the faid Compofition was made and agreed to

" on a Confultation of all or moft of the Ma-
" Hers of the faid Court.

I have heard, my Lords, the proper and ufual

Manner is to have Petitions ot this Nature let

down to be heard in Publick, and the Parties

concerned
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concerned to be fummoned ; Petitions relating

to Bankrupts, to Lunaticks, to Ideots, I believe

are fo: The Statute in the Cafe of Bankrupts

directs publick Notice to be given in the Ga-

zette, for the Creditors to meet •, they have an

Opportunity there to make all proper enquiries,

and fee every thing done that may be moft for

their Advantage; the Bankrupt is not entitled

to his liberty, nor any Benefit allowed him,

without a Certificate that he has made a full

Difcovery of his effects, and that there appears

no Reafon to doubt of the Truth of fuch Difco-

very •, and not then neither, unlefs four Parts

in five in Number and Value of his Creditors

fio-n fuch Certificate, and teftify their Confent.

How the Earl could think it juft that the Sui-

tors of the Court of Chancery (whofe money

was forced from them by the Power of that

Court, and put into the Hands of a Bankrupt

Matter) fhould have lefs Care taken of them,

lefs Privileges allowed them for their Security,

than any other Creditors in the Kingdom, I can

no way comprehend, but muff, think, my lords,

this clandeftine and unufual Proceeding a flrong

Proof of the Crime charged in thefe Articles.

" As to what the Earl fays of the Compofiti-
" on being agreed to by moft of the matters;

if that, my Lords, had been fo (though we
fhall give Evidence to the contrary) I fhould

not at all have wondered at it ; for any Compo-
fition obftructed the Inquiry and Proceedings,

which otherwife muft neceffarily have been

publick : But, my Lords, had the Compofition

been agreed to on a Confultation of all or moft

of the Suitors concerned, that indeed would
have been a good Defence of the noble Lord.

" He is pleafed to fay, at the Time of Wil-
" fon's Affignment of Poor's Debt, that Poul-

" ter was looked on to be a fubftantial Perfon.

We fhall produce to your lordfhips evidence

to the contrary : And I muft obferve that ihe

Earl does not offer to fhew any proper Inquiry

was made touching his Solvency. Sure, my
lords, when that Debt was taken as a Payment
for the Suitors of the Court, his Circumftances

fhould have been carefully looked to, and a Re-
cognizance with Securities taken in Court; but

that could not be done without a publick No-
tice of the Deficiency.

When I confider, my lords, the long expe-

rience and great Abilities of the noble Earl, I

can never think the Remifnefs in this In-

quiry thefe clandeftine and unufual Proceedings,

this precarious and trifling Compofition, could

have happened through Inadvertency only : I

therefore, my lords, muft infift upon it as a

manifeft Proof of the Charge contained in thefe

Articles.

The Gentleman who fpeaks after me on this

Occafion, will open the evidence we fhall offer,

and I will therefore take up no more of your
lordfhips time.

Mr. Hedges. My lords, it falls to my Share
to endeavour to be Affiftant to the Gentleman
who fpoke laft, in maintaining the 13th and 14th
Articles; which I fhall do by ftating the evi-

dence to your lordfhips, as fhortly as I

can.

My lords, The 13th Article fets forth, that

Mr. Dormer having embezzled great Part of the
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Suitors effects, to the amount of 25,000 /. or
fome other great Sum, and he thereupon obfcond-

ing, Application was made to the Earl Gf Mac-
clesfield, then lord Chancellor, to fecure his Per-
fon and Effctls, which his lordfhip neglected and
declined to do ; and endeavoured to conceal the true

State of the Office, as well with refpect to Mr. Dor-
mer's effects, as to the Debt due from him to the

Suitors. And upon motion made in the Court of
Chancery (after his lordfhip knew that Mr. Dor-
mer had abfconded) that the effects of fome of the

Suitors might be transfer'd to a more fecure Of-
fice, his lordfhip in order to delude the Suitors

into a Belief of the Safety of their effects, and
to prevent a publick Inquiry, then fitting in

open Court, did fay, That the Parties need not

be in hafte ; falfely and deceitfully at the fame
Time declaring that Mr. Dormer was only gone
to take the Air in the Country, and that he would
return in a little time, and all would be well, or

to that Effect. And, my Lords, notwithftand-

ing the Earl's Endeavour in his Anfwer to evade

the Charge contain'd in this Article, I am perfua-

ded, upon hearing the Evidence, your Lordfhips
will reft fatisfy'd, that it has been made out in e-

very particular. For, my Lords, as to the firftpart

of the Charge, where he denies that he was ever
advised tofecure Mr. Dormer's perfon, it will be made
appear to your Lordfhips, that Mr. John Bennet,

and Mr. Lightboun, went from a Meeting of
feveral of the Mafters, and in their Names ac-

quainted the Lord Chancellor, that it was their

Opinion, that Mr. Dormer had not fairly ftated

his Accounts ; that there was a Deficiency of up-
wards of 20,000 /. and that it was neceffary for

example's fake, he fhould be committed, accord-

ing to the Precedent fet him by the lord Cowper
in Dr. Eddifbury's Cafe. But the Earl infifting on
Mr. Dor?7ier's Liberty, they again repeated the

neceffity of making fuch an Example, but at laft

left the Earl fixed in his Refolution of continu-

ing Mr. Dormer at Liberty.

My Lords, this Promife of Freedom to Mr.
Dormer was only conditional ; If he gave in a
fair and juft Account, and affifted in getting in the

Debts. But he was {ofar from complying with

thefe Conditions, that when he gave an Account
in Writing of the Ballance of his Cafh, amount-
ing to 49,000/. he only inform'd them, that

24,000/. of it was due from one Wilfon a Banker,

fince broke ; but as to the Remainder, the Ma-
fter, to whom it was given, could never obtain

from him any other Notice where it lay, or what
was become of it.

Immediately upon this, the Mafters werefum-
mon'd, and acquainted with it ; and the next morn-
ing that Account was left with Mr. Cottingham for

the Lord Chancellor's perufal.

Your Lordfhips will be firther inform'd, that

Mr. Rogers and Mr. Hiccocks, being directed by

the Lord Chancellor to procure a Conveyance

of Mr. Dormer's Eftate to them, for the Benefit

of the Suitors, it was with the. greateft Difficulty

that Mr. Dormer was prevailed upon to comply

with it.

In the next place, my Lords, his Lordfhip,

in his Anfwer, denies, that he endeavour'd to

conceal the true State of the Office from the

Suitors ; or that he remembers any thing concern-

in
"

41 o



5 jo 1 9 j. The Trial of Thomas
ing the Exprejfwn he is charg'd with ; that Mr.
Dormer was only gone into the Country to take

the Air, and that he wou'd return in a little time,

and all wou'd be well.

My Lords, I muft agree, that, fince his Lord-
fhip is refolv'd to deny that he endeavour'd to

conceal the State of the Office, it were to be

imfitfd by him that he cou'd fafely deny this Ex-
preffion, fince if true, it proves that endeavour di-

rectly upon him. But, my Lords, the Words
•were fpoken by his Lordfhip in open Court,

and can be /worn to by a Perfon, whofe Bufii-

nefs in Court at that time was fuch, as can

poffibly leave no room for a Doubt, or a

Mijiake.

For farther proof, my Lords, of his Lord-
fhip's Endeavour to conceal the State of this Office,

we fhall fhew, that a meffage was fent from the

Lord Chancellor to Mr. Lightboun with a Pro-

pofal that he fhou'd advance 500 /. towards this

Deficiency : Acquainting him, at the fame time,

that it was for the Honour of the Court ; and that

the Appearance of a Deficiency wou'd be attend-

ed with ill Confequences. But Mr. Lightboun

refused to comply with that Demand, which he

thought wou'd only Jkin over the Wound, and

not effectually cure it. And yet, my Lords, this

Propofal, which Mr. Lightboun had the Honeftyand

Courage to rejecl, was enforc'd by the impeach'd

Earl with the 'Threats of a Parliamentary Enquiry;

afferting, that if the mafters did not contribute to-

wards the Concealment of this Deficiency, it would

occafwn a publick Enquiry; wherein, if it fhou'd

appear, that they had bought their Places con-

trary to the Statute 5 and 6 of Edward 6. it might
go ill with him, but that it wou'd fare much worfe

with them ; turning even that Parliamentary En-
quiry, which he ought to have dreaded as his fure

Punifihment, into means for extorting of money.

We have alfo Proofs that at another meeting

of the mafters, a farther Demand was made upon
them, in order to conceal the State of that Office;

but all the mafters then refufing to contribute to

a Concealment fo unreafonable in its own nature,

the Lord Chancellor paid that Demand of 1000/.

himfelf; not out of anyjujl regard to the Suitors,

but for his own Profit and Advantage, well know-
ing, that the Notoriety of this Infolvency,

wou'd make the mafters Places lefs valuable ; and

therefore was content to part with this Sum, to

infure to himfelf a greater profpect of Gain at

his next Sale. Nor was it necefiary for thofe,

who dealt at this Auclion, to bring any money
of their own to it •, the mere admittance into

the Office immediately giving them Pojfeffon

of a Cafh fufficient to anfwer his Lordfhip's

Expectations. And thus Beggars were his beft

Purchafers ; though fure to be the worft Truftees

for the Publick.

How great a Hardfhip muft it be, my Lords,

to the Suitors of that High Court, to be contend-

ing many Years for thtit juft Property, at an Ex-
pence poffibly no ways proportionable to their re-

maining Fortunes; and to find at laft, when they

had obtain'd a Decree in their Favour, that

their money -was lo/l in a Bankrupt Office, without

hopes of recovery ? This is a Confideration in

which every man in Great Britain is more or lefs

concern'd. For what Eftate is there, which may

Earl of Macclesfield 10 G. I.

not fome way or other in the Courfe of a few
years, come under the Direclion of that Court?
How much then does it concern every Individual,
and even the Legijlalure itfelf, that all its Ave-
nues of Juftice fhou'd befiafie and open ? But how
much more does it concern the Honour and Con-
fidence of the Perfon, who prejides in it, if there
fhou'd be a dangeoous Precipice in the way, to be
the firs! in fetting up a Mark for all the'World
to avoid it?

But, my Lords, if in this Article, which I
have open'd to your Lordfhips, there appears
a Criminal Endeavour to conceal the Deficiency
of this Office, fupported by a falfie Afifiertion
made in open Court, in order to delude the
Suitors into an Opinion that their Money wasfafe
and a great neglect in not fecuring Mr. Dormer'l
Perfon ; in the 14th Article, he will appear in a
yet more guilty Light, not only neglecling, as in
the former, to enquire into his effects, but on
Enquiry made, and Time had for mature delibe-
ration, confirming a precarious and trifling Com-
pofition, and tying down the Suitors of the
Court by his Authority, to the certain Diminu-
tion of one half at leaft of their effects, and in all
probability to the irrecoverable lofs of the whole.
My Lords, in the Anfwer which his Lordfhip

returns to this Article, he denies none of the
matters of Fact contain'd in it, but admits them
as they there ftand charg'd. I fhall therefore
only make fome Obfervations on the nature of
this Tranfaction, and on the Affertions in his
Lordfhip's Anfwer.

In the firft place, my Lords, he infinuates
that Mr. Edwards us'd\ great endeavours to obtain
payment from Wilfion, but found them fruitlefs;

[Vilfion having ftopp'd payment long before.
My Lords, I know not what endeavours his

lordihip can prove Mr. Edwards to have us'd ; but
whatever they were, they were not unlikely to
prove fruitlefs, fince as his lordfhip adds imme-
diately, Wilfion had long before flopped payment:
But this we can prove, That Wilfion's Books
were never infipecled by Mr. Edwards ; that he
never knew what his Debts were ; nor any thino-

more of him, than that Wilfion came voluntarify
to Mr. Edwards, and propos'd of himfelf to pay
him 1400/. in ready money, and to affign over
to him a Debt of 10,000/. due from one Poulter,
whofe Circumftances were ftill more precarious

than his own.

In the next Place, his Lordfhip afTerts, that
he order'd this whole Affair of Wilfion's Compo-
fition in the ufiual manner ; and is inform'd, and
believes, that this Compofition was made and
agreed to, upon a Confiultation of all, or moft of

the Mafters. But, my Lords, we fhall make it

appear, that the Delivery of the Petitions, the Or-
ders made upon them, and the whole Tranfaclion of
this Affair, was carried on from firsl to las! in a
clandeftine, private, and unufual manner.
As to the Confent which his Lordfhip fays he

believes the other mafters gave to this Compofiti-
on, we ihah prove my lords, that Mr. Edwards
was the only Perfon concerned on behalf of the

Suitors, and fo far was he or any of the reft of
the mafters from taking the beft Care they could,

that the firft Draught of a Compofition, which
Wilfion brought, was accepted and fettled between

him
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him and Mr. Hiccocks. And that when Mr. Ed-

wards &A mention this Compofition to fime of the

Mafters, they were fo far from approving of it,

that Mr. Edwards acquainted the lord Chancellor,

that it was the Opinion of one of them, that a

better Compofition was to be had. And another of

the Mafters was fo far from agreeing to this Me-

thod at all, that he propos'd a Commifiion ofBank-

ruptcy as the only means to bring this matter to a

proper Light.

But that Light, my lords, was what his lord-

fhip was moft afraid of. That wou'd have difco- Subject. Againft apparent Extortioners and

ver'd the deficiency of this Office, which would Robbers, we guard ourielves with a Caution pro-

have brought a difrepute upon others, and confe- portionable to the infamy of their Characters:

quently have lower d their Price. This was his But when the Sanctity of the laws, and the En-
lordfhips only Care ; whilft for the reft he cou'd figns of Authority, deflgn'd to defend and protect

fxt unconcerned, and fee fo great a Sum of the Sui- us, are made ufe of to invite us into Ruin, how

the Pounds which had before been oppreffively
extorted.

But, my lords, in this impeachment, the Com-
mons, with Regard to the Dignity of their own
Proceedings, with Regard to this auguft Judica-
ture, are not defirous to enlarge upon Matters of
fmaller Moment. His lordfhip might have en-
joy'd his hundred Guineas in quiet, had not a long

Series of his Conduct in fo high a Station, tended
to deflroy the Reverence due to the laws, by ' ari

Execution of them inftrumental to the Ruin of the

tors Money -wafting away to nothing, as it pafs'd

thro' the Hands fucceffively of three Bankrupts.

But, my lords, we fhall farther prove, that

when his lordfhip order'd a Petition to be preferr'd

to himfelf, that he might approve of this Compo-

fition, he never order'd the Suitors to be acquaint-

ed with it, nor had they any Notice of it. Nor

fure and extenfive muft that Ruin be ?

My lords, The Commons have beheld with the
deepeft Concern fuch corrupt Practices in this high
Court ; fuch, as have deform'd the Beauty of Ju-
ftice, and render'd the Adminiftration of it grie->

vous, and even fatal to the Subject. They have
beheld that Minifter of Juftice, whom the laws

did his lordfhip ajk, if Wilfon had compounded of the land have invefted with an extraordinary

with any other Creditors, nor fo much as enquire Power to punifh Frauds and Deceits, himfelf car-

if he hzd fworn to his Circumftances. rying on a moft pernicious Deceit, to the great

It will be made appear, that at this very time difhonour of the Court, and the ruin of its Suitors.

Mr. Edwards was intorm'd, and did believe that The Guardian of Orphans become their Oppreffor,

Poulter's Circumftances were very bad, and that the Keeper of the King's Confcience proftituting

neither he nor any one elfe attended the Commif- his own, and the Dignity of his high Station, to

fion of Bankruptcy againft Poulter on Behalf of the an ignominious Traffick with the beft bidder, ahd
Suitors. employing the Scales of Justice in the Bufi*

And, my lords, to judge a little farther of this nefs of an Ufurer.

matter, by a very fure Rule of Juftice •, that, of But, my lords, that Parliamentary Enquiry is

doing as one would be done by : Your lordfhips

will find that Mr. Edwards confefies, that if it had

been his own money, he wou'd have lookt more
carefully after it.

farther yet, my lords, we fhall prove, that not-

now come, with the Terrors of which he forced

the Mafters into Corrjpliance with his arbitrary

Demands. He then foretold it might poffibly go
ill with him, tho' it would fare worfe with
them. So juft a Decree pronounc'd by himfelf'a-

withftanding this Debt was compounded with Wil- gainft himfelf, is, we truft, in no Danger of being

fon, yet he has paid the whole Amount of other reversed ; but reft affur'd, that as far as it regards

to feveral of his Credi- him, it will be unanimoufly confirm'd by your
Lordfhips

Debts, with Intereft,

tors.

Lafily, my lords, his lordfhip in his Anfwer
fays, that he believes Mr. Edwards has fince got

in one thoufand Pounds of Poulter's Debt. The
Truth is, one thoufand Pounds has been recover'd;

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we fhall now proceed
to our Evidence on thefe two Articles together r

To fhew to your Lordfhips that the Deficiency

of Donner's Office was endeavour'd to be conceal'd

but it was by an accidental Difcoveryof conceal'd by many indirect Practices: and firft of all we
Effects belonging to Poulter ; one thoufand Pounds fhall call a Witnefs to prove Mr. Dormer's Defi-

ofwhich was paid to Mr. Edwards by Wilfon, as ciency to be about twenty-five thoufand Pounds.

Part of Poulter's, Debt. Mr. Thomfon called, and appeared.

But does his lordfhip ferioufly intend this for a- Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire that Mr.
ny Vindication of himfelf, or any Compenfation to Thompfon may refrefh his Memory, as this Matter
the Suitors, that afterfour or five years expetlation, was referred to him to examine; and that he would
inftead of twentyfour thoufand Pounds due to them,

he believes one thoufand Pounds may have been

fince recover'd ?

I cannot help obferving here to your lordfhips,

how different a Care has appear'd throughout his

lordfhip's whole Behaviour, with Regard to his

private Advantage, and the Safety and Protetlion

of the Suitors of the Court.

In their Cafe, he could think it equitable tofub-

pleafe to give your Lordfhips an Account how he

found the State of Mr. Dormer's Office, and what
Deficiency there was in it ?

Mr. Thompfon. My Lords, I find in our Report
the Debt due from Mr. Dormer's Office was ftated

at 49604/. us. nd. and I find that Mr. Ed'
wards, who fucceeded Mr. Dormer in that Office,

had paid to the Suitors 23725/. 15s. qi fo that

there remains due to theSuitorsof the Court, fuch

ject their Eftates to the loffesofa Mafler in Chan- as have paid their Money into Mr. Dormer's Of-
cery, who had fquandefd and gam'd away their fice, the Sum of 25878/. 16;. id. ±. And this I

Subftance and his own. But in his own private believe to be a true State of the Account, from
Affairs, how cautioufly circumfpetl was his lord- fuch Evidence as was laid before us.

fhip ? The leaft Advantage was not neglected, and Mr. Lutwyche. If the Counfel on the other Side

if a Matter's Place was to be alienated, a difference don't think fit to ask this Evidence any Queftion,

of Guineas was meanly infifted upon, inftead of we beg Leave to call Mr. Edwards, who fucceed-
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Mr. Edwards. I think he faid he came from
Mr. Cothngham ; I don't know that he mention'd
your lordfhip. I underftood your lordfhip had
been acquainted with it, but not that he acquainted
you of it.

55*
ed Mr. Dormer, and will give your Lordfhips an

account of the State of that Office, and what the

Deficiency was.

Mr. Henry Edwards fworn.

Mr. Lutwyche. My lords, we defire that Mr.

Edwards may be asked, how much the Deficiency

is in Mr. Dormers, Office ?

Mr. Edwards. My lords, according to the Ac-

count given in, the Deficiency appears to be a-

bout twenty five thoufand odd hundred Pounds •,

but fince that, there is difcover'd about fifteen

hundred Pounds more, which was not brought

into the Account. It was difcover'd about three

Weeks or a Month ago, and not before.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be ask'd whether

he knows of any other Deficiency difcover'd?

Mr. Edwards. No, my lords, 1 do not.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, I defire Mr. Ed-

wards may be afked, that as there hath been a

further Deficiency difcovered, whether there hath

not alfo been a Difcovery of further Effects ?

Mr. Edwards. Not as I know of. I am in-

Mr. Campbelfworn.
Mr. Lutwyche. My lords, I defire that this

"Witnefs may be asked, whether he knows of any
Goods or Effects of Mr. Dormer being difcover'd
and at what Time, and how long they had lain
in that Place where they were found.

Mr. Campbel. In the Year 1721, I did buy a
Parcel of Hops, but who they belong'd to I did
not then know •, but fince I find they were Mr.
Dormer's. They were one hundred and forty eio-ht

Bags of Hops. I fold fixteen of them the fame
Year, one hundred and one fince. I bought them
of Countrymen ; fome of one man, and fome of
another. I bought them by Commiffion, but Mr.
Dormer was not the man that employ'd me, nei-

ther did I receive the money from his Hands.
Mr. Lutwyche. We defire to know how long

formed Adminiftration hath been lately taken out the Goods did lie in that Place where they were -,

to Mr. Dormer, that there hath been a Difcovery

of Effects, but to what Value I can't tell.

Mr. Strange. I would defire he may be ask'd,

whether he hath had any Account from the

Adminiftrator ?

Mr. Edwards. I have feen Mr. Paxton, who I

underfland adminiftred. He told me he had dif-

cover'd fome Effects, but he did not tell me to

what Value.

and whether there were any Lofs by the Sale of
thofe Goods, being left fo long there.

Mr. Campbel. They had lain there above three
Years, and I believe, modeftjy fpeaking, there was
above five hundred Pounds lofs upon them.

MwPlummer. I defire Mr. Campbel may be asked
how he came to know they were Mr. Dormer's
Hops?

Mr. Campbel. I never did know they were

Mr. Lutwyche. If the Counfel for the noble Earl Mr. Dormer's Hpps, nor do I frill know it, but as
I am told.

Mr. Plummer. My lords, I defire he may be
asked who told him fo ?

Mr. Campbel. ThisGentleman told me fo [point-
ing to Mr. Paxton.']

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, we fhall now call

Mr. Paxton, who hath taken out Adminiftration
by the Direction of the lords Commiffioners of
the Great Seal ; and under that Adminiftration he
hath poffefs'd himfelf of thofe Effects, which were
fcatter'd and lay wafte before.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, I beg leave this

Witnefs may be firft asked one Queftion. I think
he hath faid that he bought thofe Hops by Com-
miffion, not by the Order of Mr. Dormer, nor for

Mr. Dormer : I defire he may be asked, by whofe
Direction they were kept fo long by him ?

Mr. Campbel. He that gave me the Orders to

buy them was not Mr. Dormer, neither did he pay
me the money. The Reafon they lay fo long
was, I had no orders to fell them.
Mr. Serj. Prob. Who was the Perfonthat gave

you orders to buy them :

Mr. Campbel. The Perfon's Name is Mr.
Longmead.

Mr. Serj. Prob. "Where does this Perfon live ?

Mr. Campbel. He lives at IJlington.

Mr. Com. Serj. My lords, I defire this Wit-
nefs may be asked, whether or no about the time

that thefe Hops were bought, they were not very

cheap, and at a low Price?

Mr. Campbel. They were at a low Price.

Mr. Com. Serj. Whether a great Number of

E. of Macclesfield. Can you recollect ifyou hear People have not kept Hops upon a Suppofition

his. Name? Was his Name Goodfellow ? that they would rife?

Mr. Edwards. I believe it was. Mr. Campbel. Yes they have a great many.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire, if you can recol-

lect, who he faid he came from ?

Mr.

have done, we would beg leave to ask another

Queftion, in relation to this matter. They exa-

mine what were the other Effects of Mr. Dormer,

we defire to know, ifMr. Edwards can inform us,

how long ago this Difcovery was?

Mr. Edwards. I can't certainly tell. I believe

]z is about two months ago that Mr. Paxton hath

iiad Adminiftration ; and fince that he hath made
this Difcovery.

Mr. Lutwyche. It is proper from this Queftion

that hath been ask'd by the Counfel for the noble

lord, to call another Witnefs to prove that there

have been effects difcovered, and that there have

been Goods laid by three or four Years, and al-

moft fpoil'd, becaufe no Care was taken of his Ef-

fects.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, before this Gen-
tleman goes, I beg leave he may be asked one o-

ther Queftion, whether he had not Notice before

Cbrijlmashft., that therewere other Effects of Mr.
Dormer, and from whom?

Mr. Edwards. Yes, I believe I had ; and when
I underftood that Mr. Paxton was the Perfon who
had taken out the Adminiftration, I told him
of it.

E. of Macclesfield. My lords, I defire he may
be asked who it was that brought him Notice

of thefe Effects?

Mr. Edwards. It was a Gentleman that came
out of the Country. I don't remember his Name.
He was a Perfon that lived near the Place where
Mr. Dormer's Country Houfe was. I have forgot

his Name.
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Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked, whe-

ther he did not keep other Hops as well as thefe

by him, for the Advantage of a better Market ?

Mr. Campbel. Yes, I had feveral other Hops
bought in that Year that I kept for a better Mar-

ket, and ftill had a worfe. I have Hops by me
coft me 5 /. a Hundred, not worth now 10 s. a

a Hundred.

E. of Macclesfield. How much a Bag might

that be?

Mr. Campbel. I can't tell how many hundred

may be in a Bag : I can't tell, becaufe they are

not weighed.

E. of Macclesfield. Whereabouts?

Mr. Campbel. Sometimes thereare three hundred,

fometimes 2 and a half, fometimes 2 and 3qrs.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, to explain this Mat-

ter I defire he may be afked, whether thisLofshe

fpeaksof, of 4 or 500 /. happened in the Difference

of the Price, or by the Hops being fpoiled?

Mr. Campbel. Both by the Difference of Price,

Hops being cheaper, and by the Antiquity of the

Hops.
Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire he may be

afked who is this Mr. Longmead ?

Mr. Campbel. He keeps a Shop in IJlington, he

keeps a Grocer's Shop.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I defire he may be

afk'd, whether he is not Mr. Dormer's Servant, or

an Agent for him ?

Mr. Campbel. For any thing I know he was an

Agent for Mr. Dormer.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, we defire he may be

afk'd, whether for ought he knows he was not an

Agent for Mr. Dormer ?

Mr. Campbel. I believe he was an Agent for

him, and I have good Reafon to believe it, becaufe

he paid me all the Money, and gave me Orders

to buy the Goods.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know whether the

Witnefs infers that Longmead was Mr. Dor?ner's

Agent becaufe he paid him money ; might not he
have paid him the money, tho' he had not been
his Agent?

LA. Ch. Juf. King. Speak your own Knowledge,
whether he was Agent for Mr. Dormer or no.

Mr. Campbel. I never did afk him whofe they
were: He employed me, and I bought the Goods,
and did fuppofe they were for Mr. Dormer. I

never afk'd him whether they were his Goods or
not.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, we defire that Mr.
Paxton may be called, to fhew how he difcovered
thefe Effects.

Mr. Nicholas Paxton Sworn.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire Mr. Pax-
ton may give your Lordfhips an Account what he
knows of thefe Hops.
Mr. Paxton. After I had got Letters of Admi-

niftration to Mr. Dormer granted me, I did make
what Inquiry I could, relating to the Effects of
Mr. Dormer. This Mr. Longmead came and told
me of fome Hops ; that he was Servant to Mr.
Dormer, and had bought them by his Direction.
Then we went to Mr. Campbell who took out a
Handful and faid they were Saleable, and would
bring in about 200/. He told me they coft 800/.
and it would be beft to difpofe of them as fa ft

« I could, that there might be no more Lofs.
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fti
They are not yet fold, they may be worth about
200/.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, It is admitted by the
Anfwer, that Mr. Dormer abfentcd himfeif and ab-
fconded. It was notorious, and talked of by every
Body: It will lie upon this Noble Lord to give an
Account what he did thereon. My Lords, we
will now proceed to give your Lordfhips an
Account of this Compofition made with Wttfin
who was indebted to Dormer. This Wilfon was
a Banker, the Perfon that Mr. Dormer intrufted
with Money ; and upon that Occafion, there be-
ing a great Debt due to Dormer, as is (et forth in

the Articles, a Compofition is made with Wifon
on Account of that Debt. There were fuch Deal-
ings and Proceedings therein, as will appear to
your Lordfhips to have been unufual and unwar-
rantable. We beg Leave therefore to fhew your
Lordfhips a written Evidence, an Order under the
Hand of this noble Lord himfeif for this Compo-
fition though never drawn up : And indeed your
Lordfhips will obferve that through the whole
Courfe of thefe Proceedings, there is not any one
Affidavit, or any one Order, or any Report filed

in the ufual Manner. From whence we may infer,

that it was intended to beaclandeftinething, that
nothing might appear of it upon Record, as other
things do. The firft thing we fhall beg Leave to

fhew is, an Affignment from Mr. Dormer to one
of the Mafters in Chancery of this Debt. When
we have fhewn that Affignment, then we fhall

beg Leave to give your Lordfhips an Account of
the Methods and Proceedings thereupon.

Mr. William Green fworn, and the Affignment
produced.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire this Wit-
nefs may be afked, whether he faw this Deed exe-

cuted, and by whom ?

Mr. Green. My Lords, I did fee this Deed exe-

cuted by the late Mr. Dormer: I am one of the

Witneffes to it, and John Jones is the other Wit-
nefs.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire this Deed
may be read.

Clerk reads. This Indenture made the fix and
twentieth Day of July, Ann. Dom. 1721, and in

the feventh Year of the Reign of our Sovereign

Lord George by the Grace of God, King of Great-

Britain, France and Ireland, Defender of the Faith,

&c. Between Fleetwood Dormer of Lincolns-Inn

in the County of Middlefex, Efq; late one of the

mafters of the High Court of Chancery of the one

Part, and Henry Edwards of Lincolns-Inn aforefaid,

Efq; one of the mafters of the faid High Court of

Chancery of the other Part. Whereas William

Wilfon Citizen and Goldfmith of London, is and

ftands juftly indebted unto the faid Fleetwood Dor-

mer upon Account, in the full and juft fum of

twenty four thoufand and forty fix Pounds and four

Shillings of lawful money of Great Britain, or up-

wards, as by the Books of the faid William Wilfon

may and doth appear: And whereas the faid Fleet-

wood Dormer is and ftands juftly indebted to divers

Perfons, Suitors in the faid High Court of Chancery

,

in feveral confiderablefumsof money, for and on

Accompt of moneys brought before and paid to

him as one of the mafters of the faid Court : Now
therefore for the more fpeedy getting in and re-

covering of the aforefaid Debt, due and owing by
and
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and from the faid William Wilfon as aforefaid ; and Adminiftrators, and all and every, or any other Per-

alfo for the more fpeedy and effectual Payment of fon or Perfons whom it may concern, the aforefaid

all fuch Sum and Sums of money as are owing by

the faid Fleetwood Dormer as aforefaid: This In-

denture witneffeth, That for the Ends and Purpofes

aforefaid, and for and in Confideration of the fum

of 10 s. of lawful money of Great-Britain to

the laid Fleetwood Dormer in Hand paid by the faid

Henry Edwards, at or before the enfealing and de-

livery of thefe Prefents, the Receipt whereof is

hereby acknowledged : He, the faid Fleetwood Dor-

mer, hath granted, affigned, transferred, and fet

over, and by thefe Prefents, doth grant, affign,

transfer, and fet over unto the faid Henry Edwards,

his Executors, Adminiftrators, and Affigns, the faid

Debt or Sum of twenty four thoufand and forty

Debt or Sum of twenty four thoufand and forty

fix Pounds and four Shillings, and other the laid

hereby affigned Premiffes, and every or any Part
thereof upon the Trufts aforefaid, and likewife

to compound for the fame, and every or any Part
thereof, as he or they (hall in their Difcretions

think fit, and upon Non-payment of the fame Debt
or Sum, Debts or Sums, or any Part thereof, or
bring, commence, and profecute fuch Action or
Actions, Suit or Suits, either at Law or in Equity*
or elfewhere, for the Recovery thereof, as he or
they fhall be advifed, and on Payment thereof, or
any Part thereof, to give Receipts and Difcharges

for the fame, and one or more Attorney or Attor-

fix Pounds and four Shillings, and all and every nies for the Purpofe aforefaid, to make and confti-

Part thereof, and all and every other Debt or Debts,

Sum or Sums of money any ways due or owing

by or from the faid William Wilfon to the faid Fleet-

woodDormer and every Part thereof, and alllntereft

due or to grow due for the fame, and all Bonds,

Bills, Notes, and other Securities, for the fame or

any Part thereof. And all the Right, Title, In-

tereft, Property, Benefit, Advantage, Claim, and

Demand whatfoever, both in Law and Equity, of

him, the faid Fleetwood Dormer, of, in, to, or out

of the fame, and every or any part thereof, to have,

tute, and at Pleafure to revoke, and generally to

do and act in the Premiffes for the recovering and
obtaining of the faid Debt or Sum of twenty four

thoufand and forty fix Pounds and four Shillings,

and other the faid hereby affigned Premiffes, and
every or any Part thereof, as fully and effectually

to all Intents and Purpofes as he the faid Fleetwood

Donner, his Executors or Adminiftrators might
have done -, giving and hereby granting unto the

faid Henry Edwards, hisExecutors, Adminiftrators

and Affigns, the full and whole Power and Autho-

hold, receive, perceive, take, and enjoy the faid rity of him the faid Fleetwood Dormer, in and about

Debt or Sum of twenty four thoufand and forty the Premiffes upon the Trufts aforefaid ; hereby

fix Pounds and four Shillings, and all fuch ether ratifying, confirming, and allowing all, and what-

Debts and Sums of Money as are due or owing to

the faid Fleetwood Dormer by the faid William Wil-

fon as aforefaid, and every Part thereof, and all the

Benefit thereof, and all and lingular other the

Premiffes unto thefaid Henry Edwards, his Execu-

tors, Adminiftrators, and Affigns upon truft. Ne-
verthelefs, and to the Intent and Purpofe that he,

the faid Henry Edwards, hisExecutors, Admini-

ftrators, or Affigns, fhall and do iflue, pay, apply,

^nd difpofe of the fame, or fuch Part or Parts there-

of, as fhall from time to time be by him or them

got in and received in fuch manner as the faid high

Court of Chancery fhall in that Behalf order or di-

ever the faid Henry Edwards, his Executors, Admi-
niftrators, or Affigns, or his or their Attorney or

Attomies fhall lawfully do or caufe to be done in

or about the Premiffes by Vertue of thefe Prefents.

And the faid Fleetwood Dormer doth hereby for

himfelf, his Heirs, Executors, and Adminiftrators,

covenant, promife, and agree to and with the faid

Henry Edwards, his Executors, Adminiftrators, and
Affigns in manner following: That is to fay, that

he, the faid Fleetwood Dormer, hath not received,

compounded, releafed or difcharged, orconfented

to the receiving, compounding, releafing, or dis-

charging the laid Debt or Sum of twenty four

rect, for and towards Payment and Satisfaction of thoufand and forty fix Pounds and four Shillings,

fuch Debts and Sums of money as are now due and and other the hereby affigned Premiffes, or any part

owing by the faid Fleetwood Dormer, for or on Ac-
count of monies brought before and paid to him,

as one of the mafters of the faid Court. And in

the mean time, after Receipt thereof, and until

the fame fhall be fo paid, applied, and difpofed of,

fhall and do depofit, lend, or place out the fame,

or any part thereof, in fuch manner as the faid

Court of Chancery fhall in that Behalf order or di-

thereof, and that he, his Executors, or Admini-
ftrators fhall not, nor will at any time hereafter,

receive, compound, releafe, or difcharge the fame

or any part thereof, without the Confent of the

faid HenryEdwards, hisExecutors, Adminiftrators,

or Affigns, firft thereunto had and obtained in

writing under his or their Hands. And further,

That he the faid Fleetwood Dormer , his Executors

rect. And for the better enabling the faid Henry and Adminiftrators, fhall and will at the Requefts,

Edwards, hisExecutors, Aminiftrators, and Af- Coft and Charges of the faid Henry Edwards, his

figns, to get, call in, and receive the aforefaid Debt Executors, Adminiftrators, or Affigns, make, do,

or Sum of twenty four thoufand and forty fix and execute, or caufe and procure to be made, done,

Pounds and four Shillings, and other the faid here- and executed, any further or other lawful and rea-

by affigned Premiffes upon the Trufts aforefaid

He, the faid Fleetwood Dormer, hath made, ordain-

ed, conftituted and appointed, and in his Place and

Stead put and deputed, and by thefe Prefents doth

make, ordain, conftitute and appoint, and in

his Place and Stead, put and depute the faid Hen-

ry Edwards, his Executors, Adminiftrators, and

Affigns, his true and lawful Attorney and Attornies

irrevocable for him the faid Fleetwood Dormer, and

in his Name ; but upon the Trufts aforefaid, to afk,

demand, fue for, recover, and receive of and from

the faid William Wilfon, his Heirs, Executors, or

fonable Acts, Deeds, Powers and Authorities, for

the better enabling him, the faid Henry Edwards,

his Executors, Adminiftrators, and Affigns, to

fue for, recover, and obtain the faid Debt and Pre-

miffes hereby affigned, and every or any part there-

of upon the Truft aforefaid. And it is hereby de-

clared and agreed that the faid Henry Edwards, his

Executors, Adminiftrators, or Affigns fhall not

be charged or chargeable with, or accountable for

any more monies than he or they fhall actually re-

ceive, or fhall come to his or their Hands by Ver-

tue of thefe Prefents ; and that it fhall and may be

lawful
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lawful to and for the faid Henry Edwards* his Ex-
ecutors, Adminiftrators and Afngns, in the firft

place, by and out of the premiffes, to deduct and
reimburfe him and themfelves all fuch loffes, cofts,

charges and expences as he, they, or any of them
fhall fuftain or be put unto, by Reafon of the

Truft hereby in him repofed, or the Management
or Execution thereof, or any other thing in any
wife relating thereunto: In witnefs whereof, the

faid parties to thefe prefents have hereunto inter-

changeably fet their Hands and Seals the Day and
Year firft above written.

Fleetwood Dormer.

Mr. Lutwyche. The next thing we fhail trouble

your Lordfhips with in relation to this matter of

the Compofition, is a petition of Mr. Edwards,

to which there is an anfwer. The anfwer is writ

by Mr. Cottingham* and figned by the noble

Lord. I mentioned to your Lordfhips that no
Order is drawn up upon it : Nothing appears in

publick : Therefore we muft beg leave to prove

the Earl's Hand to this Order made upon this

Petition.

E. of Macclesfield. After taking the petition in

his Hand and looking upon the Name fubfcribed

to the anfwer written upon it, faid, My Lords,
this is my Hand.

Clerk reads*

ss
and Mi/demeanors.

That it appears to your Petitioner, that the faid
William Wiljon is indebted to divers other Perfons
in great Sums of Money, and for fome time hath
not been able to carry on his Bufinefs, or to
make good and pay the faid Debt lb affigned to
your Petitioner; but hath lately offered to your
Petitioner and his other Creditors to come to a
Compofition, and to pay them in proportion the
utmoft he is able. And your Petitioner doubtino-
whether he can with fafety to himfelf, agree to
any fuch Compofition,

Humbly prays your Lordfhip would be
pleafed to refer it to one of the matters
of this Court, to fee if fuch Compofi-
tion fo propofed by the faid Wilfon be
for the Benefit of the perfons intituled
to receive the fame.

And your Petitioner fhall ever pray, &ct

30"1 of June, 1722.
Be it as is prayed* and to that End

let it be referred to Mr. Hiccocks
one of the Mafters of this Court* and
let the Mafterfpeed his Report : After
which* fuch further Order will be
made as /hall be jufi •* of which give
Notice forthwith.

Macclesfield C.

To the Right Honourable Thomas Earl of
Macclesfield, Lord High Chancellor of
Great Britain.

The humble Petition and Reprefentation of Henry
Edwards, Efa; one of the Mafters of the high

and honourable Court of Chancery.

Sheweth*

THAT William Wilfon* Citizen and Gold-
fmith of London* is and ftands juftly indebt-

ed to Fleetwood Dormer, Efq-, late one of the maf-

ters of this Court upon account, in the full Sum
of twenty four thouiand and forty fix pounds,

four Shillings, as by the Books of the faid Wil-

liam Wilfon doth and may appear.

That the faid Fleetwood Dormer is and ftands

juftly indebted to divers perfons, Suitors in this

Court, in feveral confiderable Sums of Money.
And for the more fpeedy getting in and recovering

the faid Debt, and effectual Payment of all fuch

fum and fums of Money as are owing by the faid

Fleetwood Dormer as aforefaid, the faid Fleetwood

Dormer* for that End and Purpofe, hath by Inden-

ture bearing date the 26th of July 1721, granted,

affigned, transferr'd, and fctover to your petition-

er, his Executors, Adminiftrators, and Afligns,

the faid debt or fum of twenty four thoufand and
forty fix pounds four Shillings in Truft, and to

the Intent that your Petitioner fnall pay, apply,

and difpofe of the fame, or fu'rh part thereof as

fhall from time to time be by him got in and re-

ceived of and from the fiid William Wilfon, in

fuch Manner as this Court fhall order and
direct.

Vol. VI.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I beg leave to take
Notice, that in this Petition it is exprefsly reci-

ted, that Dormer was indebted to the Suitors of the
Court, and that being fo, we apprehend thegreateft
Care fhould have been taken for their Benefit.

Your Lordfhips fhall fee in the Progrefs of this

thing, how it was tranfacted. I believe any per-
fon that is concerned in the Court of Chancery*
hath not known fuch a Proceeding in the moft
trifling Matter whatfoever. My Lords, the next
thing is a fecond Petition, faid to be with a Re-
port annexed, but we can't find it filed ; here is

a paper of Mr. Hiccocks not ftampt nor filed, which
we do apprehend to be the Report meant, and
therefore we defire that may be firft read.

Clerk reads,

2&h of July, 1722.
Hereas by an order made by the Right Ho-
nourable the Lord High Chancellor of Great

Britain, the thirtieth of June laft, upon the hum-
ble Petition of Henry Edwards* Efq; one of the

Mafters of this Court, I am directed to fee if the

Compofition in the faid Order mentioned, to be

offered or propofed to be made by William Wilfont

Citizen and Goldfmith of London, to the faid Mr.
Edwards, as Affignee of Fleetwood Dortner, Efq;

late one of the mafters of this Court, who was a cre-

ditor of the faid William Wifon* for the Sum of

24046/. 4 j. in the faid petition mention'd, be for the

Benefit of the Perfons entituled to receive the fame.

I have been attended by the (aid Mr. Edwards* and

by the faid William Wiljon* and confidercd of the

feveral Matters by the fiid Petition and Order to

me relerr'd. And the fiid William Wilfon hath un-

5 G der
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der his hand in Writing propofed to afilgn over to be made, and thus referr'd, and a Report hath

to the faid Mr. Edwards (as a Compofuion for, been made, the Prayer of the Petition is, that

and in full Diicharge of the faid Sum of 24046 /. Mr. Edwards may be ordered to accept of this

as.) the Sum or" 10000 /. part of a larger Compofition, or to make fuch other Order, as his

Sum due to the faid William Wilfon, from Edward lordlhip fhould think fit. The Anfwer to it is,

Poulter of Hackney, in the County of Middle/ex, Be it as is prayed, of which give Notice forth-

Gent. and to pay to the faid Mr. Edwards in Spe- with •, by which I fuppofe the parties understood

cie the Sum of 1463/. 2;, id. over and above that it was ordering Mr. Edwards to accept of this

the Sum of 560/. already paid to the faid Mr. Dor- Compofition. Now it is wonderful to me, if he

mer in part of the faid Compofition. And upon was ordered to accept of the Compofition, why it

is faid, give Notice forthwith ? What? when theConfideration had of the Circumftances of the

faid William Wilfon, and the faid feveral Matters, I

am of Opinion that the accepting the faid Com-

pofition will be for the Benefit of the Perfon or

Perfons entitled to receive the fame. All which I

humbly certify and fubmit to his Lordihip.

Hiccocks.

Mr. Lutwyche. Now read the Petition of Mr.

Edwards, and the Order thereupon.

Clerk reads.

thing

given:

it is

What ?

is done ? Bcfides, there is another thing

more material, to whom fhould fuch Notice be
? furely to the fuitors of the Court. But
well known his lordfhip had not appointed

any follicitor for the fuitors of the Court, and
they had no Notice, tho' here is a femblance or

fhewofwhat is done in other Cafes. We fhali

beg leave to fhew next to your lordfhips, that

thefe Orders on thefe Petitions, this Report, and
thefe Proceedings, were not one of them entred

7b the Right Honourable

Macclesfield,

Great Britain

or filed as Orders ufually are.

Mr. Plummer. My lords, I beg leave to make
Thomas Earl of one obfervation before this matter goes over.

Lord High Chancellor of The petition is by Mr. Edwards only, one of the

mafters, and it is that my lord Macclesfield would

The humble Petition of Henry Edwards, Efq;

one of the Mafters of the high and honourable

Court of Chancery.

Sheivethi

THAT upon your petitioner's former petition

preferr'd to your Lordfhip relating to William

Wilfon, Citizen and Goldfimth of London, your

Lordihip the 30
th

of June laft was pleafcd to refer

it to Mr. Hiccocks, one of the Mafters of this

Court, to fee if the Compofition mentioned in the faid

petition and Order to be propofed by the faid Wilfon,

would be for the Benefit of the Perfons entitled

to receive the fame.

That the faid Mr. Hiccocks having been attend-

ed by your petitioner, and the faid Wilfon, hath,

purfuant to your Lordfhip's faid Order, made his

Report dated the 26 th
of July laft, whereby he

certifies, that he is of Opinion that the accepting

be pleafed to order him to accept of the Compo-
fition. None of the fuitors of the Court, who
were the perfons entitled to receive the fame, are

petitioners.

Clerk reads two Certificates from, and figned

by Edward Goldfbrough, Deputy Regifter, that

there were no fuch orders entred, nor no fuch

Report filed.

Mr. Lutwyche. My lords, the Compofition is

figned by William Wilfon. I defire Mr. Edwards
may be afked whether he knows Mr. Wilfon'

&

Hand ?

Mr. Edwards. This is figned by Mr. Wilfon ; it

is Mr. Wilfon's Hand.

Clerk reads,

w Hereas a fuit in Chancery is now depend-

ing between Mr. Edward Poulter of Hack-

of the Compofition in his Report mentioned, will ney, and myfelf, for the fum of 22060 /. 12 s. 5 d.

be for the Benefit of the Perfon or Perfons entitled which he agreed to pay me for and upon doling

to receive the fame, as by the Report annexed. all accounts between us : And whereas Fleetwood

Dormer, Efq-, late a Mafter in the high Court of

Wherefore your petitioner moft humbly prays Chancery, being indebted to divers perfons, fui-

your Lordfhip to take into your Confidera- tors in the faid Court, in feveral confiderable funis

tion the Matter of the faid Report, and to of money, for and on account of money brought

order your petitioner to accept of the faid before and paid to him as one of the mafters of

Compofition upon the terms therein men-
tioned, if your Lordihip fhall fo think fit,

or to make fuch other and further Order in

the premiffes, as to your Lordihip fhall

feem moft meet.

And your petitioner fhall ever pray, &c.

3
d of Auguft, 1722.

as

the faid Court, he the faid Fleetwood Dormer, for

the better payment thereof, did by Alignment
dated the 26 th of July 1721, afilgn over to Henry

Edwards, Efq-, one of the Mafters of the faid

Court, a debt or fum of 24046 /. as. which was

and is due and owing from me to him the faid

Fleetwood Dormer : And whereas I being incapa-

ble of paying the faid Debt of 24046/. 4 s. did

On the Report annexed be it as is prayed. Of lately propofe as a Compofition for and in full Di!-

which give Notice forthwith,

Macclesfield, C.

charge of the fame, to aflign to the faid Henry Ed-

wards the fum of 10000/. part of the fum of

22060 /. 12 s. t^d. due to me from the faid Edward
Poulter, as aforefaid ; and likewife to pay to him

the faid Henry Edwards, the fum of 1463 /. 2 s. id.

Lord may explain it, for I believe there is no pre- in fpecie, over and above the fum of 560 /. De-

cedent for it i when there is a Compofition thus fore paid to the faid Mr. Dormer, in part of the

laid

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I mult beg leave to

make one Obfervation upon this, that the noble
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faid Compo fit ion : And whereas on a petition pre- willing to pay the Debt to Mr. Dormer, in pro-

fer'd to the Right Honourable the Lord High portion with his other Creditors, and afked mr
Chancellor of Great Britain, by the faid Henry Ed- whether I would accept of a Compofition, am':

wards, repreienting the matter of the faid propo- give him a Difcharge in full. I told him I had
fal ; and after feveral fubfequent proceedings had no pov/er to make a Compofition, but however I

upon the faid petition, his lordfhip was pleafed, would reprefent it to fome of the mafters ; and ac-

by Order dated the third of Angus! , 1722, to or- cordingly I fpoke to Mr. Hiccocks, who was then

der the faid Henry Edwards to accept of the faid fenior mailer, and told him the propofal Mr. Wil-

Compofition : And the faid Henry Edwards hav- fin had made; and I believe I mentioned it to o-

ing thereupon agreed to accept of the faid Com- thers, butefpecially to Mr. Hiccocks, he being the

pofition, accordingly I do hereby, in Confiderati- fenior matter, and more particularly concerned in

on thereof, affign over to the faid Henry Edwards Mr. Dormer's affairs. Mr. Hiccocks was of Opini-

the fum often thoufand pounds, part of the fum on I could not fafely make a Compofition. I afk-

of twenty two thoufand and fixty pounds, twelve ed, What method then was the moft proper to be

fnillings and five pence, due to me from the laid taken ? if that was really all he had to pay, I had

Edward Poulter as aforefaid, having already paid better fecure that than have nothing. He faid he

him, the faid Mr. Edwards, the other fum of did not fee why it might not be in this Cafe as in

1463 /. 2 s. 1 d. before- mentioned. And I do here- other cafes ; whether upon a petition to my Lord
by promife to pay to the faid Henry Edwards, Efq; Chancellor, he might not direct an Enquiry to

or his order, the faid fum of ten thoufand pounds, be made by a mafter, whether it was for the Be-

on my recovering the fum of twenty two thou- nefit of the parties to make fuch compofition or

fand and fixty pounds, twelve fhillings and five nor. Upon that I waited on my Lord Chancel-

pence aforefaid, orotherwife to pay him a like pro- lor, and acquainted him with Mr, WilfonS pro-

portion of what I fhall recover, more or lefs, from pofal. I told his lordfhip, I thought I had not

the faid Edward Poulter. And I do hereby fur- power to do it. He faid, I think fo too ; I don't

ther promife, that I will not do any Aft to incum- fee that you have power to do it, Said I, I am
ber or difcharge the Demand I now have againft informed that it is ufual in cafes of this Nature, to

the faid Edward Poulter, without the Confent of apply to the Court by petition, that it may be re-

the faid Henry Edwards. And whereas the faid ferr'd to a mafter, to fee whether the accepting of

Mr. Edwards does now accept of the faid Com- this compofition be for the Benefit of the parties

pofition, I do hereby declare and agree, that if I concerned or not. Yes, fays my lord, I think

donoton Demand pay him the before-mentioned that is very proper, that will indemnify you, I

proportion of what I fhall recover from the faid would have you prefer a petition ; which accord-

Edward Poulter as aforefaid, or do any ways dif- ingly I did.

charge the Demand I now have againft him, with- Mr. Lutwyche. I would beg leave to afk in

out the Confent of the faid Henry Edwards, that Relation to what he mentions, that it was taken

then the faid Compofition fo made by the faid Notice of that he had no power to make fuch

Edwards, fhall be void, and of no effect, as if compofition, whether any thing was faid whe-
it had never been made. And I do hereby further ther my lord Macclesfield had fuch a power ?

promife, I will at my own Charge profecute the Mr. Edwards. No, there was nothing faid of

faid fuit, and alfo do and execute all further and that.

other ads that fhall be neceffary for the better af- Mr. Plummer. My lords, I defire he may be

figning to the faid Henry Edwards, Efq •, the be- afked, whether any of the fuitors were acquainted

fore-mentioned proportion of what I fhall or may with this intended compofition ?

recover as aforefaid, from him the faid Edward Mr. Edwards. No.
Poulter, as he the faid Henry Edwards fhall at any Mr. Sol. General. Did my lord Macclesfield

Time require. Witnefs my Hand this twenty give any Direction to give Notice to any of the

eighth Day of Augufi, 1722. fuitors ?

Mr. Edwards. No.

William Wilfion. Mr. Plummer. My lords, I defire he may be

afked if he himfelf attended Mr. Hiccocks when
Mr. Wilfin was before Mr. Hiccocks ?

31ft ofOclober, 1724. Paid to Henry Edwards, Mr. Edwards. I am not fure I was there at any

Efq; the fum of one thoufand pounds, in part of time with Mr. Wilfion.

this Note or Affignment. Mr. Plummer. If he knows what methods were
'o

taken to know what Mr. Wilfion was worth ?

William Wilfion. Mr. Ed-wards. I underftood that Mr. Hiccocks

and Mr. Rogers, the two fenior mafters, upon

Mr. Dormer's abfenting himfelf, had Mr. Dor-

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, this Compofition mer's accompts laid before them, and that they

which hath been read to your Lordfhips, is recit- were directed to infpect thofe matters ; and I was

ed to be in full Satisfaction and Difcharge of Wil- informed they did look into Dormer's Books,

fin's Debt. Now we beg leave Mr. Edwards and had alfo the perufal and infpedtion of Mr.

may be afked, whether he made any Application Wilfin's Books, to fee how Mr. Dormer's affairs

to the Earl of Macclesfield, before the firft petition flood in thofe Books.

was preferr'd ? Mr. Plummer. My lords, I defire Mr. Ed-

Mr. Edwards. My Lords, I had received pro- wards may be afked if any Body was employed

pofals from Mr. Wilfion, he came to me and told for the fuitors on their Behalf?

me, he had a fum of money in his Hands, and was
Mr.



Mr. Edwards. I was before Mr. Hiccocks, but

not prefent with Mr. Wilfon.

Mr. Plummer. I afk if any Body on the fuitors

Behalf was before Mr. Hiccocks, when Mr. Wil-

fon was there, to fee and crofs-examine him ?

Mr. Edwards. I don't remember there was.

Mr.Serj. Pengelly. My lords, I defire Mr. Ed
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Earl of Abingdon. As I apprehend, there was no
Commiflion of Bankruptcy againft Wilfon, there-

fore I would know what method was taken to

inform the Court of the real Subftance and Abi-
lity of Wilfon before this Compofition was
made

Mr. Edwards. I know of no other Application

wards may be afked whether this petition is of his made to the Court by Mr. Wilfon

own Hand-writing?

Mr. Edwards. No, my lords.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Do you know whofe it

is?

Mr. Edwards. It is my Clerk's Hand.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether the two laft lines

were ftruck out before the anfwer to the petition,

and by what Hand ?

Mr. Edtvards. I don't know when they were

ftruck out.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we will beg

leave to mention what it is. At the End of the

firft petition, the mafter defires an indemnifica-

tion by the Order of the Court: Part of the pe-

tition is, that he may be indemnified and faved

harmlefs in making fuch Compofition. But that

is ftruck out before the anfwer, which fhews, as I

Earl of Abingdon . Was Wilfon examined upon
Oath? '

Mr. Edwards. Mr. Hiccocks told me that Mr.
Wilfon had made an Affidavit, that this Sum of
money which he propofed as a compofition, was
what he was able to pay in proportion with the

reft of his creditors, and that he grounded his Re-
port thereupon.

Mr. Lutwyche. Was this Affidavit ever filed ?

Mr. Edwards. No, my lords.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My lords, we defire he may give

an Account how much he hath received of this

ten thoufand pounds.

Mr. Edwards. The firft Sum was fourteen hun-
dred and odd pounds, and the Sum of one thou-
fand pounds fince.

Mr. Sol. Gen. How much of this was of the ten

humbly apprehend, the very Notice that the Earl thoufand pounds?

of Macclesfield himfelf took, how dangerous and

hazardous that Tranfaclion was.

Read the Words.
Clerk reads. And that your petitioner may be

indemnified and faved harmlefs in making fuch

Compofition.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Do thefe Words (land now
in the Reading?

Clerk. No, they are razed out.

Mr. Edwards. I remember this was a paper

that I laid before 'the honourable Committee. I

was a little furprized to fee thofe Words ftruck pounds was paid?

Mr. Edwards. Only the one thoufand pounds.
Mr. Sol. Gen. What is become of Poulter ?

Mr. Edwards. Wilfon hath told me that he is in

Holland or France.

Mr. Sol. Gen. What was his chancier, as to

fubftance at the time of his compofiticn ?

Mr. Edwards. I never met any Body that could

give an Account of his Characler. All I heard

of him was from Mr. Wilfon himfelf.

Mr. Lutwyche. My lords, I defire he would ac-

quaint your lordfhips when the one thoufand

out ; but when they were ftruck out I can't fay,

nor by whom.
Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, if they

were ftruck out before he delivered the petition

into the Committee?
Mr. Edwards. Yes they were.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, we defire he may be

Mr. Edwards. I can't recollecl exactly the

Time.

Mr. Lutwyche. As near as you can, before or

fince Chriftmas ?

Mr. Edwards. I believe it was in September ox

Oelober laft ; I believe in October.

Mr. Sol. Gen. I defire Mr. Edwards may inform
afked how much he hath received of this Compo- your lordfhips what he thought of Poulter, at the

fition?

L.ord Lechmere. I defire him to explain himfelf,

whether thefe Words were ftruck out after the

petition delivered, and before the order made by
the noble Earl ?

Mr. Edwards. My Lords, I don't remember
ever to have taken Notice, that thofe Words
were ftruck out, till I had occafion to look for it

to lay it before the Committee.
Lord Lechmere. Whether he hath any Doubt

whether they were ftruck out before they were

delivered into the Committee ?

Time of the compofition, whether he looked upon
him as a man of fubftance?

Mr. Edwards. I could make no Judgment of

the man, I never faw him before -, I know nothing

of him, otherwife than as Mr. Wilfon told me.

Mr. Sol. Gen. That is no Anfwer to my Qne-
ftion, which is what his opinion was as to his

fubftance at the time of the compofition, whe-
ther he would have trufted him with one hundred
pounds?

Mr. Edwards. I can't tell what Anfwer to give

to it ; Wilfon reprefented him to me as a man able

Mr. Edwards. They were ftruck out before I to pay the Debt ; and from his Reprefentation I

delivered them into the Committee.

Mr. Sol. Gen. In whofe cuftody was this peti-

tion ?
,_

Mr. Edwards. I believe part of the time in Mr.
Hiccocks's ; Mr. Hiccocks fent it to me, and I have

had it ever fince.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether he ftruck out thefe

Words that were inferted for his own indemnifi-

cation ?

Mr. Edwards. No, upon my oath I did not.

believed that Poulter was fufficient.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Whether he enquired into Poul-

ter's Characler ?

Mr. Edwards. There was no Body I knew to

enquire of.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Did he enquire, or did he not ?

Mr. Edwards. I afked Mr. Wilfon as many que-

ftions as I could, and what his opinion was about

him. He told me he, believed he was able to pay
his Debts, and he told me one Helbut a Jew, who

was
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was his Bail, could tell his Subftance. I hap-

pen'd to meet Helbut at the Rainbow Coffee-

Houfe, and I afk'd him if he knew Poulter.

He faid Yes. Says I, Is he a man of any Sub-

ftance, What is he? No, fays he, I believe he

is in very mean Circumftances. This is all I ever

alked.

559
ons, and firft we begjeave that he may be afkt,
whether any of the mailers- were acquainted with
this Agreement or Compofition with Mr.
Wilfon.

Mr. Edwards., I don't remember tha't any were,
but Mr. Hiecocks.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we defire he may
Mr. Sol. Gen. What was your Opinion of this recollect whether there was any Confutation be-

Man's Abilities ? tween him and any other mailer, as to the manner
Mr. Edwards. My Lords, I told you that as that this Compofition fhould be made, before it

to the account I had of him, Mr. Wilfon gave was accepted, and whether it was a reafonable
me a great affurance that he was a Man of Compofition or not ?

Ability. Mr. Edwards. I mentioned it to two or three
Mr. Plummer. I defire he may be afk'd, whe- other mailers at the publick Office, but I

ther Mr. Wilfon hath not paid his whole Debt can't charge my memory particularly who they
to feveral other Creditors ? were.

Mr. Edwards. I am inform'd he hath paid his

full Debt to fome Creditors.

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I defire he may be

ask'd, what Directions he receiv'd from my Lord
Macclesfield to inquire into this Man's Circum-

ftances ?

Mr. Edwards. I had no Directions.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Was that before the Time
that the Compofition was made ?

Mr. Edwards. Before the Time I applied to
my Lord Macclesfield.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I defire that Mr.
Edwards may inform your Lordfhips from whom
it was that he received this Information, that feve-

Mr. Plummer. Whether any inquiry was made ral of the Creditors of Wilfon were paid their full

by the Earl of Macclesfield ?

Mr. Edwards. Not as I know of.

Mr. Lutwycbe. I think he mentioned one

Helbut as his Bail : I defire to know whether

there was a Suit commenced for this Debt af-

fign'd ?

Mr. Edwards. I underllood it was for this Debt

affigr.ed, which Wilfon recovered at Law.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire he may

be ask'd, whether Mr. Poulter hath appeared

Debts ?

Mr. Edwards. The firft Perfon that informed
me was Sir Laurence Carter ; I happened to be
at his Chambers, and naming to me the Affair of
Wilfon, he told me his Brother Mr. Thomas Carter
had received 120/. which Mr. Wilfon owed him,
and which was his whole Sum.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire to know when it was
that he received that Sum ?

Mr. Edwards. There was no Time mentioned
here and been efteemed folvent, or a Perfon quite when that was paid him : As near as I can recol-

gone away r

Mr. Edwards. I have not feen Mr. Poulter, nor

any that have feen him, for fome confiderable

Time.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I beg leave

to make one Observation, and it is to fave your

Lordfhips Time ; that is, That you would be

pleafed to obferve in the Proceedings upon this

left the Time, when Sir Laurence Carter told me
this, it was foon after the Compofition.
Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords; I defire he may

recollect, whether this Payment was made before
the Compofition or after ; did not he fay it was
before the Compofition?

Mr. Edwards. No, I don't remember that.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. 1 defire he- may be afked,
Article, the feveral Acts and Orders made by the whether he knows any thing of this Payment to

Earl of Macclesfield relating to this Deficiency of

Dormer's, do take Notice of his Deficiency, and

you'll find the Earl himfelf doing one Ad which
makes a Deficiency ; that is, compounding a Debt
due from Wilfon to Dormer; and therefore thofe

Mr. Carter of his own Knowledge?
Mr. Edwards. No, I don't know it of my

own Knowledge, but I believe it to be very
true.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Since he had this Informa-
Orders having been read before your Lordfhips, tion of one Debt being paid intirely, tho' he had
you will pleafe to retain them in your memory, compounded with others, I defire he may be
till we come to the 6th Article, wherein it is afk'd whether he ever charged Mr. Wilfon with
charged that there was a Deficiency in Dormer's, it ?

Office, and there we Ihall Ihew that this noble Mr. Edwards. Yes, my Lords, I did : A little

Lord declared that he never knew of any Defici- after I went to Mr. Wilfon, and I told him that

ency ; and by an Order made in Court, pronoun- I was informed he had paid Mr. Thomas Carter

ced by himfelf, he then did direct that a Mailer his full Demand, and it was rumoured about that

fhould inquire if there was any Deficiency in this he had paid feveral others their full Debts, and
Office •, fo that thofe publick Acts won't be ne- that it look'd unfair. Says he, this Money was
ceff.iry to be read over again upon that Article, lent me by my particular Friend, to pay off fome
but as now produced, will be fufficient to prove little ftraggling Debts to keep me up in my Bufi-

the Notice the noble Earl had of this Deficiency, nefs, and therefore I was unwilling he fhould

and that even he made part of the Deficiency

himfelf.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we have done upon
thele two Arricles we have opened.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, if the Gentle-

men have done, we defire to ask lome Quell i-

Vol. VI.

lofe it.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Whether did he apprehend

this to be a new Debt contracted fince his Failure,

or an old one due before ?

Mr. Edwards. I don't know when the Debt

was contracted.

5 H Mr.
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Mr. Com. Serj. I apprehend he fays, that this

money was lent him by fome Friends to fet him

up again ?

Mr. Lutwyche. Really, my Lords, we would

not interrupt the Gentlemen, but I take it, what

they are going on with is not Evidence. We
muft fubmit it, whether what Mr. Wilfon faid

is Evidence, either on the one Side or on the

other?

Mr. Com. Serj. We mud humbly be in your

Lordfhips Judgment, whether this kind of Evi-

dence be not as proper on our Side as on the other ?

moil of the Evidence Mr. Ed-wards has given to

affect the noble Earl, has been only Informations

he has had from Wilfon or Sir Laurence Carter,

and yet now the learned manager objects the fame

Information muft not be admitted as Evidence on

the other Side. I apprehend if any Favour is to

be fhewn on either Side, it fhould rather go on in

the fupport of Innocence.

Lords. Go on, go on.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, we don't oppofe their

going on, we only beg leave to fet your Lordfhips

right. We did not give a Tittle of Evidence of

what Mr. Wilfon faid : We have proved the Peti-

tions, we have proved the Orders, we have

proved the Facts; v/e did not mention a Word of

Sir Laurence Carter, it fprung from this Exami-

nation •, but we are willing they may go on, if

your Lordfhips think fit.

Earl of Macclesfield. My Lords, I apprehend

there is no Occafion to give your Lordfhips any

trouble. If what this Gentleman hath faid, with

relation to Mr. Wilfon' s Payment to his Creditors,

is no Evidence, it needs no Anfwer.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, we defire that Mr.
Edwards may inform your Lordfhips, whether or

no there was any Consultation among the Ma Iters

relating to this matter, and what their Opinion

was ?

Mr. Edwards. I don't know of any Confulta-

tion about it.

Mr. Com. Serj. We defire that he may inform

your Lordfhips, whether he made any Acknow-
ledgment for his being admitted into his Office,

and to whom this money was paid, and to what

Purpofe, and how applied ?

Mr. Edwards. My Lords, the Steps I took to

be admitted into my Office, if your Lordfhips

will give me leave to trouble your Lordfhips with

the Narrative, were thefe. Firft, I applied to

Mr. Godfrey one of the Matters, with whom I

had moil Acquaintance : I told him I heard Mr.
Dormer's Office would be difpofed of; he told

me he believed it would. Says I, if I could be

accepted I have fome Thoughts of treating for it.

What is the ufual method in thofe Cafes to be re-

commended to my Lord Chancellor ? Says he,

you muft apply to my Lord's Secretary Mr. Cot-

tingham ; accordingly I did, and I told Mr. Cot-

tinzbam that I had heard Mr. Dormer's Office

was to be difpofed of. Mr. Cottingham told me
it was to be difpofed of. I then talk'd to him

about the Terms. Mr. Cottingham told me, As to

the Price and the Perfon, my Lord Macclesfield

had left it intirely to the other matters; for what-

foever that Place could fetch, was intended to

go towards making up Mr. Dormer's Deficiency.
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Upon that, my Lords, I went again to Mr.
Godfrey, and after a meeting or two, I conclud-
ed to give five thoufand Pounds if I could be ad-
mitted. Whether Mr. Godfrey, or Mr. Cotting-

ham, or who went to my Lord I can't tell. I

had not the Honour to fee my Lord till I was
admitted : But upon thefe Terms I was approv-
ed. I had Directions, I can't fay whether Mr.
Godfrey or Mr. Cottingham gave me the Directi-

ons, that I fhould pay my money into the Hands
of Mr. Rogers the then fenior mafter; according-

ly I did pay five thoufand Pounds, and in three

or four Days after I had the Honour to be admit-
ted and fworn in.

Mr. Strange. My Lords, I defire he may be
afked, whether at the time of his Admiffion any
Prefents were made by him to the Earl of Mac-
clesfield or to his Secretary ?

Mr. Edwards. None at all, but the Secretary's

Fees as ufual in thofe Cafes.

Mr. Strange. Whether at the Time he agreed
to pay the Sum of five thoufand Pounds for the

Office, he knew how the money was to be
apply'd ?

Mr. Edwards. Yes, Mr. Godfrey told it me
when I went back to him from Mr. Cottingham ;

I remember to have afked him feveral Queftions,

and made him feveral Propofals relating to the

Office, for we differed a great deal about its

Value ; I think I firft propofed three thoufand

Pounds for it ; but he difliking that and fome
other Offers I made him, I defired to know how
much it was that my Lord Macclesfield infilled

upon ? to which fie anfwered, that it was not

my Lord's Intention to take any thing for the

Admittance, but that he had left it to the Difpofal

of the Mafters, to make the moft of it for the

Benefit of the Office.

Mr. Com. Serj. Whether he knows how this

money was difpofed of, and to what Ufe em-
ployed ?

Mr. Edwards. I can't remember the Time, but
fome fhort Time before Mr. Rogers furrendred his

Office, he paid me back this five thoufand Pounds
which I in a little Time paid to the Suitors of the

Court.

Mr. Strange. Whether before he furrendred

his Office, he had any Difcourfe with the mafters

how Mr. Dormer's Debts were fecured ?

Mr. Edwards. No otherwife than upon this

Treaty. I told Mr. Cottingham, I hear there is a

Difcourfe of a Deficiency in Mr. Dormer's Office ;

fays he, I believe there is, but how much I can't

tell ; but that can be no Objection to you, be-

caufe you are to anfwer for no more than you
receive. Matters are all fettled and taken Care

of, that what Deficiency foever there is fhall be

made good.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. By whom?
Mr. Edwards. He did not fay by whom, or

in what manner.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Had you any Difcourfe with

any other mafter ?

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I beg leave to make
one Obfervation. The Counfel fays with any

other mafter, and the Gentleman at the Bar fays

it was Mr. Cottingham told him fo.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. This Gentleman I am ex-

amining
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aminin<* is one of the Matters, therefore it is not

improper to ask whether he had any Difccurfe

with any other of the Matters ?

Mr. Edwards. I made the fame Objection to

Mr. Godfrey, and he anfwered me much the

fame. Mr. Godfrey faid he could not tell what

the Deficiency was, but whatfoever it was, that

would be all fettled and made good.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. As he had this Difcourfe

with Mr. Godfrey, I defire he may be ask'd,

whether he hath not likewife had fome Difcourfe

with Mr. Rogers how this Deficiency was to be

made good ?

Mr. Edwards. No, I don't remember I had

any Difcourfe with Mr. Rogers.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I defire he may
inform your Lordfhips, whether at any other

jf5i

once asking fome Queftions relating to that Ac-
count, and it was told me, that the State of this
Deficiency had been kid before my Lord Chan-
cellor before I was admitted. Upon that I did
conclude, that this contribution of the matters,
of five hundred pounds apiece, had been in Con-
cert with my Lord Chancellor. I underftood it

to be fo ; I don't know whether my Lord gave
Orders that it fhould be fo.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be asked who
it was that told him fo ?

Mr. Edwards. I think Mr. Hiccocks told

fo.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we have done.
Mr. Robins. I defire to know what Anfwer

Mr. Hiccocks gave to the Queftions he asked ?

Mr. Edwards. Only that my Lord was ac-

time he had any Difcourfe with any of the matters quainted with it, and had the State of Mr. D;;--

me

about this matter ?

Mr. Edwards. My Lords, I often talk'd upon

this Subject with the matters, as a matter which

very much concern'd my Office. This I men-

tion'd at the time I came in. They were then

all of Opinion that this Deficiency was to be made
good. I don't remember that any Body told me
in what method or particular way it was to be

made good.

Mr. Com. Serj. I dtfire he would inform your

Lordfhips, as near as he can remember, whether

it was faid that it would be made good, or that

it was to be made good?

Mr. Edwards. I can't remember the diftinct

"Words, I took it to have the fame tendency and

meaning.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be ask'd,

whether he hath not feveral times and on many
Occafions heard the matters declare, that this

Deficiency was to be made good, and by the

matters ?

Mr. Edwards. I have heard them feveral times

declare, that they did not doubt but it would be

made good ; but I never heard them fay that it

would be made good by the matters. I have

often heard the matters fay they would not make
it good.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be ask'd,

whether about the time that the matters advan-

ced the five hundred Pounds apiece, he did not

hear them declare how this Deficiency of Dormer
was to be made up ?

Mr. Edwards, My Lords, when I came into

the Office, I think the very Day that I was ad-

mitted, Mr. Rogers paid five hundred Pounds ;

eight more paid five hundred Pounds apiece,

fome atone time, fome at another ; they did not

all pay at the fame time. That I heard was to go
towards making up this Deficiency ; but how
far the matters intended to contribute further, I

can't fay.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may inform your

Lordfhips, whether he did not apprehend that

the making up of this Deficiency was a great

Concern to him ?

Yes, I think it hath been of a

me. *

I defire to know then how
it comes to pals that he inquired no more into

it?

Mr. Edwards. My Lords, I remember I was

Mr. Edwards.
great Concern to

Mr. Com. Serj.

mer's Office laid before him.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, if they have
done, we only beg leave to obferve, that they

have been eftabliihing the Notice of this whole
Deficiency on the Ear], upon the firft Vacancy
in the Office, even before Mr. Edwards came
in •, fo that the whole Tranfadlion afterwards

proceeded upon a full Notice of the Circum-
ftances and State of the Office. The Evidence
of the Contribution of the matters, and of the

Earl of Macclesfield, towards making good this

Deficiency, prevents, in a great meafure, our

bringing any Proof to the fifteenth Article, which
is now going to be opened.

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, if they have done,

I only beg leave to obferve, that the very letting

Mr. Edwards pay his five thoufand Pounds to

the Deficiency of the Office, and my Lord Mac-
clesfield's not taking it to his ownUfe, is a fuffi-

cient Proof of his Knowledge of the Deficien-

cy. And as to this Compofition, I have one

Queftion more to ask. I think he fays he men-
tion'd it to two or three matters ; I defire to

know if he did fo, and whether they approved

it?

Mr. Edwards. I think one of the two or three

matters was Mr. Lighlboun. He was there, and

he did fay, as I remember, that he thought we
might as well lofe the whole, as take fo fmall a

part of fuch a Debt.

Mr. Plummer. I defire another Queftion, and

that is, if he confulted any of Mr. fVUfon's Cre-

ditors before he made this Compofition ?

Mr. Edwards. No, my Lords, I did not know
any of them.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. How much did he receive

in the whole from the matters?

Mr. Edwards. I received five hundred Pounds

from nine of them.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did any of the matters, and

which, refufe ?

Mr. Edwards. Yes, Mr. Lighlboun refufed.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. For what Reafon ?

Mr. Edwards, that I can't tell -, he did not

give any particular Reafon.
'
Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I believe it may be

neceffary to trouble your Lordfhips with asking

another Queftion : Whether this Difcourfe in

relation to this Compofition, was before or af-

ter the Compofition was made ?

Mr. Edwards. I believe it was before.

Mr.
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Then I defire to know whe- large Sums to anfwer the Demands of that Of-
And further to engage them to a Compli-

$6l ipj

Mr. Com. Serj.

ther Mr. Edwards, upon that or any other Oc-

cafion, acquainted the noble Earl of it?

Mr. Edwards, No, I don't remember I did.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, I believe we have

done with thefe two Articles.

Sir John Rujhout. My Lords, the Commons
proceed to the fifteenth Article againft fhomas

fice

ance in that Refpect, he reprefented~ta~them~
that unlefs they would do it, the money and ef-
fects of the Suitors would be taken out of their
Hands: That by this means he did induce nine
of the mailers to contribute five hundred Pounds
apiece, which feveral of them did, out of the

Earl of Macclesfield, and they have entrufted me Suitors money in their Hands ; and this beirio-

to lay open to your Lordfhips the Subject mat-

ter of this, and the two enfuing Articles, and the

Nature of the Evidence they think proper to

produce to make good the Charge in thefe Ar-

ticles ; by which it will appear to your Lord-

fhips very fully, that the Crimes charged upon

their
done, they were never obliged to bring 1

Accounts.

What Anfwer is given to this Charge? The
Anfwer hath been read, and I need not trouble
your Lordfhips with a Recital of it. But the
Earl admits that he gave fuch Orders that the

the Perfon at your Bar, which have already been matters mould bring in their Accounts
That feveral matters did afterwards pay and

contribute as is charged :

That they were not afterwards obliged to
bring in their Accounts :

But then in Excufe he alledges, That this was
not done to terrify the Matters to make any
Contribution to the Demands on Dormer's Of-
fice :

That what they did contribute, he bel leves

manifested in fo many Inftances, did not proceed

from miftake, or mere Negligence-, altho' thefe

would have been Faults not excufeable in a Per-

fon placed in fo high a Station, but that they

were the Effects of Art and Contrivance, form-

ed to carry on and promote a corrupt and illegal

Gain and Advantage to himfelf.

It may feem at firft fight very furprizing, and

may not readily obtain Belief with your Lord-

fhips, that a Perfon raifed by his Majefty's abun- they paid freely, and out of their owi
dant Goodnefs, to Stations of fo great Honour ney:

and Profit, who had received large Additions to That he believes he follow'd therein a Prece-
a plentiful Income by fucceflive and repeated dent of the like Nature in the Failure of Dr
Grants from the royal Bounty, that fuch a Per- Eddijbury :

fon fhould condefcend to receive, much more That he continued to call for the Accounts
that he fhould ufe Arts and Stratagems to obtain but was convinced how tedious a Work it would
further Supplies to his infatiable Thirft of lu- be, what Obftruclion it would »ive to the Bu-
cre.

.

finefs of the Court ; fo he laid i?afide : And ob-
But this your Lordfhips will plainly fee to be ferves, that what is lately done with refpect to

the Accounts of the Matters, fhews the infupe-
rable Difficulties of fuch an Undertaking.
From this Anfwer your Lordfhips may reflect

how jutt the Obfervation is, that the Commons
have- made in their Replication, when they fay
the Earl of Macclesfield hath induftrioufly a'
voided giving a direct and particular Anfwer to
feveral matters pofitively and certainly alled^ed
againft him, which from the Nature of the Fads
themfclves mutt neceffarily lie in his own Know-
ledge.

For he admits the Fact charged upon him by
known, and not effectually remedied, none would the Article ; but to fhat part of it which charges
ever after purchafe a matter in Chancery's Place, that this was done to conceal the Deficiency^
at leaft not at fuch exorbitant Prices to which Dormer's Office, he makes no Anfwer at all.
the Purchafe had lately been raifed. And where the Article charges, that in order
What then mutt be done? here was like to to obtain what is own'd to be done, he did re-

be an entire Stop put to this Branch of Revenue prefent to the matters, that unlefs they would
which had yielded fo plentifully, and proved fo comply, the money and effects of the Suitors
beneficial to his Lordfhip. fhould be taken out of their Hands ; to thi
The Contrivance therefore is to oblige the ma- likewife he makes no Anfwer.

iters, who had already paid for their Places, to

pay again towards making good this Deficien-

cy, and by an artful drawing them to a Com-

the Cafe, when we have given our Proofs to

the fifteenth, fixteenth, and Seventeenth Articles.

Your Lordfhips have already heard that there

was a very great deficiency and lofs of the Sui-

tors money in the Office of Mr. Dormer, a late

matter in the Court of Chancery ; that the Earl

at your Bar then prefiding in that Court, well

knew that there was fuch a Deficiency •, that in-

ttead of applying Remedies to redrefs the Evil,

he made ufe of feveral Methods to cover and
conceal it •, it being very obvious for him to re-

flect, that, if fuch a Deficiency was publickly

13

My Lords, It may be difficult for me who am
little converfant in Law Proceedings, to lay this
matter in its ftrongett light before your Lord-

pliance in this Point, to conceal and continue the fliips. But I take the Cafe to be this
mifchief.

This is what the Commons charge in the fif-

teenth Article, that the Earl of Macclesfield, to

conceal the Deficiency in Mr. Dormer's Office,

did order feveral matters of the Court to bring
in their Accounts of the Cafh, Effects, and Se-

curities belonging to the Suitors which were in

their Hands, with Intent to terrify the matters

thereby, fo far, as to oblige them to contribute

The Commons charge, that the Earl of Mac
clesfield, to conceal the Deficiency in Dormer's
Office, order'd the matters to bring before him
their Accounts of the Suitors Effe&s, and threat-
ned that unlefs they would contribute towards
that Deficiency, thofe EfTecls fhould be taken
out of their Hands: They contribute, the mat-
ter is dropt, and no Accounts are ever brought
before him.

The
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The Earl acknowledges that he ordered thole

Accounts to be brought before him ; that upon

his crivino- that Order feveral mafters contributed

500°/. apfece, and that afterwards the bringing

the Accounts was dropt •, that this was done to con-

ceal Dormer'% Deficiency, and procured by the me-

nace of taking the Effects of the Suitors out of

the Hands of the mafters cannot be denied : What
part of the Charge then remains unadmitted? I

muft fubmit it to your Lordfhips, whether, upon

what the Earl hath allowed in exprefs terms by his

Anfwer, as well as what he hath admitted by not

anfvvering at all, the whole Charge of this Article

doth not (land confeffed, and the Commons might

demand Judgment againft the Earl, upon this Ar-

ticle, on his own Confeffion.

But the Earl adds lbme things by way of Ex-

cufe, I fuppofe, or Extenuation of the Offence ;

how immaterially and how evafively your Lord-

ihips will foon obferve.

He denies, that the ordering the mafters to bring

in their Accounts, was done to terrify them to

make any Contribution towards Dormer's Deficien-

cy, and yet there is not the leaft Appearance ofany

other End or Defign, for which it could be done ;

nor does he mention, or fo much as pretend to any

other End which with the leaft Colour of Reafon

could be intended by it ; he fays, indeed, he had a

mind to know the State and Condition of the fe-

veral Offices, that he might be able to make pro-

per Regulations concerning them •, but the thing

was dropt before he had this Knowledge given

him, and before he made any one Regulation in

the matter ; and yet he folemnly declares that this

was his real and whole Intention : If it was his In-

tention, how came he to alter it fo foon ? Could it

not laft till one Regulation was made in a matter

which wanted it fo much r

Your Lordfhips will from hencejudge, That the

Crime which the Commons charge upon the Per-

fon at your Bar was not a Sin ol Ignorance •, he

was informed of the mifcarriage of the Officers of

his Court, he was confcious that it needed Regu-
lation, he had fometimea Thought and Intention

to make fuch Regulation ; but, alas, it fcon proved

abortive, and the intended Reformation, however

neceffary for the Honour of the Court, as well as

the Safety and Advantage of the Subject, was foon

laid afide : A Conduct fo weak and fo greatly in-

confiftent, as not to be accounted for in any Per-

fon, who had not been capable of pleading Inno-

cence and Pardon to the fame Fact.

However his Lordihip having found it neceffary

to excufe this proceeding with the mafters, by pre-

tending an Intention to make fome Regulations

concerning them ; it became as neceffary, in the

next Place, to make fome Apology for not pro-

ceeding to fuch Regulations.

And for this he fays, that it would be a difficult

and tedious Work :

That it would be an Obftruction to the bufinefs

of the Court :

That what has been lately done fhews the infu-

perable Difficulties of the Undertaking.
I may reafonably fear I fhould grow tedious to

your Lordfhips if I fhould attempt to take notice

of all the Inconfiftencies, Inconfequences and Eva-
fions in the Anfwer to this fingle Article.

Upon what account was the Perfon now at your
Vol. VI.

and Mi/demeanors,

-
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Bar advanced to the higheft Station of the Law;
intrufted with the Distribution of Juftice and Equi-
ty in his Majefty's fupreme Court in Wefiminfier-
Hall., if it was not to fecure the Property of the
Subject to thofe to whom it did in Confcience be-
long ? And upon what Account were the moneys
brought into Court depofited with the matters, but
only for fafe Cuftody, till it appeared to whom
Equity would determine the Right?

But when it was once manifeft that thofe, who
were employed in this truft, hadihamefully broken
it, and by notorious mifmanagement were likely

to bring Ruin to all the Suitors of the court,
was it fit to cherifh and cover up the Evil becaufe
it was a difficult and tedious Work to redrefs it ?

Was it likely to be lefs difficult by the Delay, or
rather did not every Day propagate and increafe

the mifchief, and make it lefs capable of Reme-
dy ? Or could any thing be more proper for the

Bufinefs of the court ?

Your Lordfhips have too great Sagacity not to

difcern the Weaknefs of fuch an Excufe, nor will

you eafily be perfuaded to believe, That the Earl
of Macclesfield was only going on in a Path his

Predeceffors trod before him, or that he is to be
fheltred, becaufe what hath been fince done hath

met with Difficulties in the Undertaking.
It is known, how upon the fir ft Failure, in the

Time of his Predeceffors, an effectual Remedy was

immediately applied ; and that thofe, who have

fince attempted to give an helping hand, have pre-

vented any new Eruption of the Evil complained

of; and if the undertaking was attended with Dif-

ficulties, their care and commendable Zeal for the

publick Service have already been able to furmount

them in fome meafure ; altho' the grofs encourage-

ments given by the Earl of Macclesfield had laid

fuch a ftrcng Foundation for thofe Difficulties, as

if he had defigned really to make them infuperable,

that they might ferve for fuch a Sort of Excufe

as he now endeavours to draw from them.

But the Earl alledges further, that he believes the

mafters, who contributed towards Dormer's Defi-

ciency, did it freely and out of their own money ;

and that in bringing them to contribute he follow-

ed the Precedent in Dr. Eddifbitry's, Cafe.

I need not trouble your Lordfhips long upon

this Branch of the Article, fince no one befides

his Lordfhip can well believe the mafters contri-

buted freely ; and the Proof we fhall lay before

your Lordfhips upon this Head will give full Sa-

tisfaction, that none of them did it freely, nor all

of them out of their own money ; nor is it the crime

the Commons charge, that the mafters were pre-

vailed on to contribute towards the Deficiency;

but that the Earl, whofe high Station made it his

Duty, when he was informed of the Deficiency, to

take care to redrefs it, did not, as in the cafe of

Dr. Eddijvury, provide that the whole money be-

longing to the Suitors fhould be effectually an-

fwered ; but inftead of following that Precedent in

thejuft and honeft ufe of it, he turned it to anfwer

his own corrupt purpofes, and to conceal from pub-

lic notice, that lofs to the Suitors which it was his

Duty to have wholly prevented.

The next Article we proceed to is the fixteenth,

which charges, that one Elizabeth Cbitty having ob-

tained an Order of the 17th of Marcb, in the

tenth Year of his prefent fVLjefty, whereby Mr.

5 I Edwards y
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Edwards, who fucceeded in Mr. Dormer's office, It is further obferved by the Earl, that this

was order'd to pay iooo/. part of a very large happened after fuch time as the Mailers Accounts

Sum due to her, which had been paid into Dor- had been laid before the Lords of the Council,

trier's Hands •, Mr. Edwards complained of this as and had been under the Examination of the Judges

an Hardfhip to him, who had never received the and others to whom they had been referred by his

money ; upon this the Earl would have perfuaded Majefty ; and there may be fome reafon to doubt

the reft of the Mafters to pay the money to pre- whether the Knowledge of a Deficiency had been

vent a Parliamentary Enquiry, and they refufing, fo foon declared by his Lordfhip, if the Exami-

ne paid it himfelf to one Mr. Lochman for the ufe nation under which his Majefty's abundant Good-

of the faid Mrs. Chitty ; with Intimations however, nefs and Care for his People had put thofe Ac-

that me muft not expect any more of the 10,000/. counts, had not already laid open and made

which had been paid on her account into Dormer's public Difcovery of it.

Hands. The
1 7th Article charges, That tho' the Earl of

Your Lordfhips will be furprized at the Detec- Macclesfield knew of the great Deficiency in Dor-

tion here made both of the Guilt and the Boldnefs mer's office, yet to conceal it, in order to carry on

of the Offender •, that the Perfon, who is fo fenfi- his corrupt and unjuft Defigns, he made Orders

ble of his Crime, as to tell the Mafters this matter upon Mr. Edwards for the payment of feveral fums,

would affect both himfelf and them, who difcerns which were paid without Regard to the Proportion

the monftrous confequences of the mifchief before the reft of the Suitors were juftly entitled to out

him, who forefees the Punifhment of that crime of Ztora^r's effects, and confequently to their great

by a Parliamentary Enquiry •, that this Perfon, in- lofs and Prejudice: To this the Earl anfwers

ftead of applying Remedies to the Evil, fhould with his ufual Candour, That he never endea-

ufe little Artifices only to conceal it. voured to conceal the Deficiency, but as he was

What Anfwer gives the Earl to this charge ? under a full Perfuafion it would in due time be

He admits the Order made, and that Mr. Edwards made good ; that he did not think it incumbenton

refufed to pay the iooo /. that he himfelf paid the him ex officio to make a Declaration of an Average

;

money, and told Lochmann that was all they muft that he doth not know any Order was made by

expect from him ; but he does not believe he had him for Mr. Edwards to pay Money lodged with

any Difcourfe with the Mafters to perfuade them Mr. Dormer, but believes feveral Orders were

to pay the iooo /. to Lochmann. made by the Court for that Purpofe.

Your Lordfhips muft be convinced of the Guilt, Your Lordfhips upon the bare reciting the

when the Offender himfelf hath not the affurance Words of the Anfwer, will perceive the Art and

to deny it •, he cannot deny but that he knew and Fallacy of the Anfwerer ; he doth not know any

reprefented the confequences that would enfue what Order was made by him, but believes feveral were

was done -, that it would produce a Parliamentary made by the Court ; as if he could hope to make

Enquiry ; that it would affect himfelf as well as the your Lordfhips believe, he was a Stranger to, and

mafters, and thawt would hazard the Forfeiture of unconcerned in the Orders made by the Court, of

their Offices. Your Lordfhips have now an Op- which he was the only Judge,

portunity to vindicate the Honour of Parliaments, He admits he did endeavour to conceal the De-

and to leave this Inftruction to Pofterity •, that ficiency, but was perfuaded it would be made good

thofe who forefee their unwarrantable actions will in due time, without acquainting your Lordfhips

give occafion for a Parliamentary Enquiry fhall with any Grounds for that Perfuafion, or even

not be able by any contrivances, by any means mentioning when he thought that due time would

whatever, to evade the Juftice of it. come.

As to the laft part ofthis Article, which charges, He intimates it was incumbent to make a Decla-

That on a motion in a caufe, Harper againft Cafe ration of an Average, but thought it not incumbent

and others, relating to 260/. which having been upon him to make it ex officio: He could not deny

paid into Mr. Dormer's Hands was in Danger of it to be the moft equal rule, that if a lofs was inevi-

being loft, the Earl falfly and deceitfully declared table, an Average ought to be made •, that the lofs

he had heard there was a Deficiency in Dormer's might be born equally and in proportion among all:

office, but knew nothing of it only as public News

:

He could not deny the making Orders to pay fome

The Commons will give fufficient Evidence to your was inconfiftent with, and deftructive to this Equa-

Lordfbips of the Truth of this charge. lity ; and he could not however think it incumbent

The Earl indeed gives a large Account of this on him to do this ^jc officio: and yet it belonged to

caufe and the Orders made in it, and then con- no body's Office but his own to effect it.

eludes, he believes he expreffed himfelf to this Ef- Thus your Lordfhips may obferve how, to

feet, That he had indeed heard of Dormer's Defici- every Article, the Anfwer either admits the

ency, but that it had never come judicially before charge or ufes loofe, general, or foreign Circum-

him upon complaint of any of the Suitors of the locutions to evade it, when the Evidence of the

court; that feveral circumftances taken Notice of Fact will not allow him to deny it ; yet he would

at large had concurred thereto, and adds, that he be thought to fay fomething at leaft in excufe : But

faid he did not know how all thefe things would his Knowledge ofyour Lordlhips fuperiour Under-

come out, and expreffed himfelf to that effect and ftanding, ought to have deterr'd him from all Ex-

no other •, and upon all this Circumlocution in the pectations of impofing upon your Lordfhips by

Anfwer, without any denial of the Words as they any little Shifts and Artifices of this kind -,
nor

Hand charged, we have reafon to believe your Lord- fhould he hope topafs here the Anfwer as fufficient

fnips would be very well fatisfied without further which muft have been reported contrary, If I am
Proof, that the Words mentioned in the Article rightly informed of the Practice, by any of the

were undoubtedly ufed by the Earl of Macclesfield'. Mafters of his Court.
But
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But I fliall not longer detain your Lordfhips

with Obfervations in matters in themfelves fo

evident ; what is admitted to every one of thefe

three Articles is fufficient to juftify the Charge of

the Commons, and whatever remains but im-

perfectly admitted, we doubt not, by WitneiTes

and other Proofs, to make out to your Lord-

ihips entire Satisfaction

.

My Lords, It is a Province enjoined me like-

wife, to maintain the Charge exhibited by the

Commons of Great Britain, in the fifteenth, fix-

teenth, and feventeenth Articles of their Impeach-

ment againft 'Thomas Earl of Macclesfield. And it

is with the greater Chearfulnefs I undertake that

Province, fince I come to demand that Juftice,

which your Lordfhips are always difpofed to ad-

minifter, to every Subject of Great Britain ; and

therefore I cannot but be fully allured of your juft

Inclinations, to do equal Right where it is de-

manded by the Houfe of Commons, the Repre-

fentative Body of the whole united Kingdom.

It is very ftrange, that the Earl now under Pro-

fecution ; who hath been fo many Years within

the Walls of this Houfe ; who hath fo long been

Witnefs of your Lordfhips great Integrity and

Wifdom, fhould not thereby be deterred from at-

tempting what might fubject him to yourCen-

fure. But it is ftill more unaccountable, that a

Perfon, who hath had fo long Experience of that

Judgment and Sagacity, whereby you fkilfully

diftinguifh between right and wrong, fhould hope,

by the Artifice of Words, and loofe, general, e-

vafive Expreflions ; that he fhould ever hope, I

fay, my Lords, by fuch Fig- leaves as thefe, to

hide himfelf from the Eyes of your Lordfhips

impartial Juftice.

The worthy Gentleman, who hath preceded me
upon this Head, hath fo fully open'd the feveral

Articles now under Confideration, and hath fo

clearly detected the Sophiftry and Infufficiency of
the Anfwersthat are given to them, that I fliall

not need to be long upon that Head ; it would
indeed be difficult to add any thing new to what
hath already been obferved, did not the innume-

rable Fallacies and Inconfiftencies with which his

Anfwer abounds, continually fupply frefh Ma-
terials for Obfervation.

But I fhall content myfelf only to take Notice

upon the Anfwer to the fifteenth Article, that the

Earl ftands in a manner convicted by his own
Confeffion : He admits the Fact, but would avoid

the Confequence by faying, that he really intend-

ed to make the Mafters bring in their Accounts,

altho' he did not do it: If it was intended, why
was it not done? It was a difficult and a tedious

Work.
I am furprized, my Lords, to find that any

Perfon fhould expect to fatisfy your Lordfhips,

by fo weak, and frivolous an excufe.

A Perfon who prefides in the higheft Court in

Weftminfter-Hall, is informed of fome unwarran-
table Praclices of the Officers to whom the mo-
ney of the Suitors is intrufted, which for want of

due Care hath already proved very pernicious, and
muft in Time prove deftructive to the Property
of all the Suitors of that Court, unlefs fome fpeedy

Check be put to this growing Evil : is convinced

the matter needs Regulation ; but he lets it go on,

becaufe it would be a difficult and tedious Work
to redrefs it.
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In moral Evil, my Lords, the Continuation of

the Practice of an ill Habit, becaufe it is difficult
to break it, is fo far from extenuating, that it is

juftly efteem'd to aggravate the Fault ; and I
don't doubt but that your Lordfhips will have
the fame Sentiments in this Cafe ; for fince it was
necefiary to apply a Remedy, the fooner it was
done the better, and the Difficulty of the Work
fhould have been a Spur, rather than a Check to
a vigorous Endeavour for redreffing it.

In his Anfwer to the fixteenth Article, your
Lordfnips will obferve the fame Prevarication
fpread through the whole: The Widow Cbitty
having a confiderable Sum of Money, to which
fhe was intituled, brought into Court, and depo-
fited in Mr. Dormer's Hands for the fafe Cuftody
of it only, petitions for 1000 /. part of her own
money ; fuch a petition could not be denied en-
tirely, without bringing on a fpeedy Enquiry of
the Caufes and Occafions of the Embezzlement
which had happen'd in that Office; and the Dif-
covery muft have brought on a Neceffity of re-

medying the Evil, that would thereby have been
made fo publick, and fo notorious.

An Order therefore is granted, that the 1000/.
fhould be paid ; but then the Difficulty is renew'd,
how to make that Payment without difcovering
to the Publick the Mifmanagement; which muft
have put a Stop to the Sale of the Mafters Places,
which were difpofed of at exorbitant Prices, and
brought in an immenfe, tho' illegal Gain. Mr.
Edwards would not pay it ; he had no money of
Mr. Dormer's in his Hands; the next Applica-
tion was made to the Mafters of the Court, to fee

if they could be prevailed on once more to raife

a Sum by Contribution amongft them ; to this

End they were told, that if they did not comply,
Dormer's Deficiency would be discovered ; and that

might occafion a Parliamentary Inquiry, the Con-
fequence of which might be, the Forfeiture of their

Offices, bought contrary to the Statute of Edward
the fixth : that this might affect himfelf a little, but
them much more ; all this my Lords, is charged in

this Article, and not denied by the Earl, but in fuch

a lamentable, evafive manner, as betrays more
Guilt than an open, and ingenious Confeffion.

It pafTes my Obfervation, in that little View I

have been able to make of paft Times, that any

Judge of a Court in Weftminfter-Hall, fhould own
the Knowledge of fo great a Crime in the Officers

of his Court, as that they came into their Places

contrary to Law, without any Cenfure, or Blame
for it.

But that a Perfon raifed by the unmerited Boun-

ty of his Majefty, to prefide in the higheft Court

there, to conduct the Adminiftration of Juftice a-

greeable to the Rules of Equity and good Confci-

ence, as his Majefty's Vicegerent in that great Sta-

tion ; that fuch a Perfon fhould not only be con-

fcious of the Illegality of the Mafters obtaining

their Places, and a Party to fuch Illegality, but

fhould have theAflurance to make ufe of that as

an Argument, to extort money from them, in or-

der to prevent the Difcovery, and the Punifhment

confequent thereto, will, I perfuade myfelf, flir

up in your Lordfhips the greateft Indignation.

It feems he apprehended the Terror of a Profe-

cution by Parliament might have fome Effect up-

on them, and engage them to comply with his De-

mands,
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mands, altho' it had not the leaf!: Effect upon Protestor of all the Fortunes of the Fatherlefs and
himfelf. It was a proper Expedient to bring Lunaticks, fhould not upon the firft Intimation,

them into a Contribution of iooo/. but it was or even Sufpicion that they were like to be Lofers

not fufficient to deter him from thofe Practices, caufea ftrict Examination to be made into it.

which juftly merited fuch a Profecution. It can fcarce be believed a Perfon who has fo

Our Anceftors thought it became them to keep great a Capacity to judge in what manner he ou^hr.

in Awe the greateft Subjects in the Realm, and to act, fhould ever defcend to fo low a Degree, fo

none were too big to be call'd to Account for the unworthy the Station in which he was placed, fo

Wrongs and Injuries they did the Publick ; the unworthy the Dignity and Honour to which he
Cafe of Michael de la Pole in Richard the Second's had been advanced, as to deny the Knowledge
Time, and Card. Woolfey in Henry the Eighth's, (otherwife than as News and accidental Difcourfe;

with many others, fome of which have been al- of what he had been fo frequently inform'd of,

ready mention'd to your Lordfhips, are flagrant and what he had taken Pains fo long, and fo de-

Inftances of it. And we have now ajuft Oppor- liberately to conceal.

tunity of fhewing, that we have the fame Regard I need not ufe any Words to reprefent to your
for the Honour of Parliaments, and the Good of Lordfhips the Indignity of fuch Prevarication,

the People , that no one ought to prefume to who will upon the firft Intimation be fenfibie of
tranfgrefs the Laws, be his Station, or his Power every thing that may feem in the leaft Degree to

never fo highly advanced, upon profpect of Irri- depart from the Rules of Honour : It is indeed

punity ; iince a Britijh Parliament can reach the almoft inconceivable, that a Perfon advanced to be

moft lofty, and punifh the mod infolent, corrupt a part of your noble Body, fhould fo far forget

Offender : So that he, who is not reftrained with- himfelf and you •, it is what, if he could have ex-

in the limits and boundaries of the Law out of prefly denied by his Anfwer, we rauft have def-

Awe and Reverence to it, muft expect to fall a pair'd to have gain'd Credit in, tho' we could have

Sacrifice to the Power of their Juftice. proved it by inferior Witneffes ; but his Anfwer
Your Lordfhips have here an Inftance of one will fufficiently convince your Lordfhips of the

placed at the Head of the Law, who is confcious Truth of the Allegation •, for he who could not

that his Actions are contrary to it ; who makes no directly deny a Charge of fo grofs a Crime, muft

Scruple of avowing this, where it may ferve his by his own Silence, in a matter of fo heavy a Na-
Intereft, defies a Parliamentary Inquiry, and goes ture, be concluded to be guilty of it.

on in Practices which he knows, and profeffes to I have already detained your Lord fhips fo lono-

be illegal. Your Lordfhips will obferve how he upon this fixteenth Article, that I fhall not take

endeavours to fhelter himfelf from Danger, and the liberty of trying your Patience by makino-

by an infamous Degree of Diffimulation •, what any Obfervations upon the Seventeenth, but fhall

he openly avows, to raife a Contribution from the leave it to the Gentleman that is appointed to

Mafters of the Court, he more publickly denies, aflift in it.

with Defign to* carry a plaufible appearance in It contains only repeated Inftances ofa corrupt

this Affair to the People. Endeavour, ftill to conceal the Knowledge of that

The Deficiency ofDormer at laft became a pub- Deficiency from the Publick, which it was his

lick Clamour -, it was not Mrs. Chitty only, but Duty to have prevented ; or at leaft to have fup-

many others wanted their Money depofited and plied, and rather to have made it good, than have

entrufted in the Hands of the Court, and by the conceal'd it. What Ground or Reafon could there

Court entrufted to the Cuftody of the Mafters -, poffibly be, why a mifchief of this Kind, if it did

and the Suitors then made open Complaint upon happen by Accident, fhould with fo much Induftry

this Subject. In theCaufe therefore ofHarper and be covered and continued ? When that Conceal-

Cafe, a motion being made, that 260/. lodged in ment could anfwer no good or honeft Purpofe,

Downer's Hands might be paid before the Execu- but muft by the Delay increafe and grow more

tion of the Conveyance, directed by the Court

;

defperate, and tend to bring Deftruction and Ruin

he who had been fo long inform'd of the fhame- on the Suitors of the Court ?

ful Embezzlement of the Money of the Suitors in But as your Lordfhips, by the Proofs upon the

Dormer's Office, who had invented fo many art- former Articles, had an Opportunity to take notice

ful Contrivances to conceal the Knowledge of it what large Sums of Money had been paid for the

from the Publick, in order to ferve his own pri- Purchafe or Exchange of the Places of the Ma-
vate, unjuft, corrupt Defigns, the matter being fters of the Court of Chancery ; it is natural to

now declared in open Court, he could no longer conclude from thence, that the Mafters were necef-

deny the Knowledge of what he was fo plainly in- farily to be indulged in making ufe of the Suitors

form'd of-, that therefore all By-ftanders might Money in they Hands, in order to make up the

imagine his Care and Concern for the publick vaft Sums they had given for their Offices-, and if

Good was fo extraordinary, that he could not have there had been mifcarriages in Attempts of that

forborn to have remedied the mifchief if he had Kind (which in bold Adventurers for fuch Ends

been before apprized of it ; he then publickly and could hardly be avoided) the Difcovery of fuch a

fa lfly declared that he had heard there was a Defi- mifchief would have made it abfolutely neceffary

ciency in Dormer's Office, but that he knew no- to have removed the Money from thofe who had

thing of it but as publick News. In the Earl's An- proved fuch unfaithful Stewards, or at leaft to have

fwer, my Lords, he explains this Expreflion, by obliged them to have given proper Securities to in-

laying, that it never came judicially before him demnify thofe, whole Fortunes were intrufted to

upon the Complaint of any of the Suitors of the their Care, from any lofs which might happen by

Court: This I am perfuaded your Lordfhips will their mifmanagement ; the Confequence of which

think a very poor Excufe, that he who was the Caution muft unavoidably have drawn on a Re-

trenchment
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trenchment of the exorbitant Prices which of late

have been given for thofe Places.

But I need not give your lordfhips any further

Trouble, by enlarging more upon this Topick,

who ought rather to make Apology for having

been already fo long upon it -, the Gentleman who

went before me, and he that will follow me upon

this Head, will be fufficient to give your lord-

fhips more ample Satisfaction ; and the Certainty

of the Facts (which the Earl himfelf feldom hath

the A fluranee to deny, but only attempts by fa He

Colours to avoid the Inferences from them) will,

where-ever there is need or occafion, be fupported,

and made good by full Evidence.

Mr. ctbompfon. My Lords, I am commanded by

the Commons to affift in maintaining the fifteenth,

fixteenth, and feventeenth Articles of their Im-

peachment. The Gentlemen who have gone before

me, have acquitted me from giving your lord-

fhips any Trouble upon two of thefe Articles •, and

I count it my good Fortune that the third is fallen

to my Lot, fince the Evidence to prove the Charge

contain'd in it, is fo very clear and direct, that

little need be laid, either to fhew the Neceffity of

the Accufation, or the Truth of the Facts alledg'd

by the Commons.
Mr Lords, I will avoid, as much as I can, re-

capitulating any Evidence which has been opened

before ; but the Crimes of the unfortunate Earl of

Macclesfield art fo interwoven, that it may be fome-

times neceffary for me to look back upon Circum-

ftances that have been fpoken to upon other Ar-

ticles.

The Commons in the feventeenth Article fet

forth, ' That the Earl very well knew there was
« a Deficiency in Mr. Dormer's Office, and that

* Mr. Edwards (his SuccefTor) had not fufficient

* in his Hands to pay the whole money due to

* the Suitors.' My Lords, as to the Earl's

Knowledge of this Deficiency, he admits it in

his Anfwer, by faying, ' He never endeavour'd
' to conceal it :' and Mr. Edwards has not only

declared upon Oath this Day at your Bar, there

was a Deficiency, but alfo, ' That it was laid be-

* fore my Lord before he was admitted.'

Yet ' Notwithftanding he very well knew it,'

the Commons aver, ' That he did from time to

c time make Orders for the Payment of feveral

* Sums out of this Office,' and in fupport of this

Charge, we fhall produce divers of his Lordfhip's

original Orders.

And, my Lords, I appeal to the Teflimony of

every mailer in Chancery, who has been, or may
be examined before you ; I appeal to your Lord-

fhips Obfervations upon the Evidence you have

already heard, whether or no fuch Proceedings

were not calculated, « to carry on his unjuft De-
figns, and to prevent a Parliamentary Enquiry.'

As to the latter part of the Article, ' That Sums
* were paid without any regard to, or confidera-

* tion of the Proportion the reft ofthe Suitors were
* entitled to,' we fhall not only prove the Fact,

but fhewlikewife that this Partiality was not car-

ried on inadvertently, but deliberately •, that this

unequal Diftribution of Right did not flow from a

fupine Neglect, or carelefsOverfight, but fprung

from a deprav'd Intention, and determin'd Cor-

ruption,

Mr. Edwards will acquaint your Lordfhips, that

5$7
he forewarn'd the Earl of the Confluences that
muft follow from his Payments, who ftill bid him
' continue paying,' and Mr. Ligbtboun (reafoning
with him as became a Perfon afibciated to the
Chancellor) urg'd, ' chat he did not think any
' meafuresjuftifiable in a Court of Equity, where-
' by any undue Preference might be given, and
' fome have their whole money and others be left

' in the Lurch.'

So that this Mifdemeanor, this Fraud, was in
« manifeft and wilful Violation of the Truft re-

' pos"d in him,' a Truft, my Lords, (when faith-

fully executed) wherein confifts the Glory and
Happinefs of this Kingdom. It is the Security of
all our Properties, a Refuge for diftreft Widows,
and a Protection to helplefs Orphans ; and when
the Commons faw that Oppreffion had pofleftthe

Seat of Juftice, that Partiality had ufurped the
Throne of Equity, that the Guarantee for our
Fortunes was become the Invader of them, they
beheld it with Indignation and Horror, and have
applied to your Lordfhips to demand Redrefs
and Vengeance.

Now, my Lords, I beg your Attention, whilft

I take a view of the Earl's Anfwer.
He fays, ' He never endeavour'd to conceal

< Dormer's Deficiency.' You will hear that he did,

and alledg'd, ' It would be for the Honour of the
* Court to conceal it.

The accus'd Earl proceeds, ( As he was under
' a full Perfuafion the fame wou'd be made grood.'

I dare fay the Earl of Macclesfield will at a proper
time acquaint you what were the Grounds of this

' Perfuafion.' The Commons obferve, with the

deepeft Concern for the miferable Suitors, that they

have met with no Foundation, no Colour of Rea-
fon to induce ' Them' to entertain fuch Hopes.
On the contrary, the Mafter who fucceeded to

Mr. Dormer's Office frequently reprefented to the

Lord Chancellor, ' The Hazards the Suitors were
' in from this Deficiency.'

Yet the Earl boldly afTerts, that this very Maf-
ter * Mr. Edwards was under a firm Perfuafion the

* whole would be made good.' We fhall con-

vince your Lordfhips he never had the leaft Prof-

pec]:, the leaft Glimpfe of it •, and I'm afraid the

Earl and he had juft the « fame full and firm Per-
' fuafion of the State of this Office.'

The noble Lord goes on : ' And as no Applica-
' tion was made to him by Perfons concern'd to

' flop Payment.' I fuppofe he means before that

remarkable Motion which produe'd his extraordi-

nary Declaration in open Court.

Perhaps the learned Lord will here make ano-

thernotable Diftinction, and explain by the Words
c Perfons concern'd,' the ' Suitors only •,' and

have recourfe to his old Subterfuge, ' That it

never ' came judicially before him.' We think,

and no doubt your Lordfnips will think fo too,

that c Mr. Edwards was a Perfon concern'd •*

that hisprefling Applications ought to have been

fufficient, and that our Evidence is not to be de-

feated by fo weak an Evafion.

But admitting, my Lords, * That the Earl had
« this full Perfuafion, and that no Application was

' made to him to flop payment:' What Juftifi-

cation does he draw from thence? ' That he did

* not think it a Duty incumbent upon him, ex

1
officio, to make- a Declaration of an Average.'

Vol. VI. 5K How
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Macclesfield
;

How contradictory, my Lords, how inconfift- as the Chancellor's confcious Heart Ion"- fince pre
ent is this with his Anlwer to the fifteenth Article ! fag'd ; and the Commons think they have fhavn
There he pleads the Cafe of Dr. Eddisbury, and in good Reafon why your Lordfhips fhould con
that Cafe an Average was declar'd. The Precedent vince the Earl of Macclesfield that he fiatter'd him"
was follow'd to encourage Contribution, but was felfwith vain Hopes, when he menae'd the Ma
laid afide when it directed him to fecure the Sui- fters, " That this Enquiry would affect him bur
tors their Proportions. Here I can't help obferving, " them much more."

that, as the Earl has thro' the whole Series of his The Commons are fenfible, that he who hasfo
Actions copied Precedents from the word Views, fo long been a Stranger to Juftice, will at laft rnee-
he has now quoted them in the moft difadvantage- with it here •, and that your Lordfhips providenthl
ous manner. When his Predecelfors took fmall Wifdom will never fuffer fuch Reproaches to be
Sums, he ventur'd by their Examples to fwell his call upon this, as have been thrown out upon
Demands to exorbitant Prices-, but when their Pat- another Nation. ' That a Jud^e is an Evenino
terns fhou'd have led him to a nice and fcrupulous

Caution in the Choice of his Officers, he diidain'd

to tread in their Footfteps. And, my lords, this

Precedent was good for the corrupt Purpofe of

concealing a Deficiency, but ceas'd to be fo,

when it was to do Juftice to the injur'd Suitors.

He has turn'd his Weapons upon himfelf, and if

Dr. Eddisbury guards him in one Article, he muft of

neceffity wound him in another.

What I fhall next take notice of in hisAnfwer

is, " That he does not know any Orders were

Wolf-, that Juftice ftandeth alar off, and Equit?
' cannot enter.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we be* leave
to call our Witnefies in fupport of thefe ArticlesWe defire Mr. Conway may be call'd.

Mr. Conway call'd and[worn.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, we beg leave that

Mr. Conway may be ask'd, whether he paid any
money in the Nature of a Contribution, andWe have the Receipt here (fhewing it to

" made by him except in the Cafe of Cbitty." Mr. Conway.)

That Cafe is attended with fuch Circumftances, Mr. Conway. My Lords, this is a Receipt o-iven

and may be follow'd by fuch Confequences, that me by Mr. Edwards, Aug. n, 1721. for the'Sum
he has not yet, nor will, I dare fay, foon forget of 500 /. contributed by me.
it: However, I prefume he will recollect others,

when we produce his own original Orders for

three feveral Payments, one of 400 /. another of

642 /. and a third of 2000 /.

This Evidence alone, my lords, would fupport

this Article, but the Earl has thoroughly confirm-

ed the Charge in his next Sentence. " He believes

" Orders have been made by the Court."

Tho' his own Orders were criminal, Orders from

the Court were innocent, till they received his

Stamp of Guilt, who knowing the Condition of

the Office, commanded " Payments to be made
*' as Orders came in." The irnpeach'd lord (and

were this his only Offence, therefore juftly irn-

peach'd) commanded thefe Payments.

His Defence is again become his Accufation.

Orders from the Court wou'd have ended, had
he fuffer'd the Mafter to ftop Payment, but that

would have difcover'd what he took fuch unwar-
rantable Pains to conceal •, and from that Con-
cealment arofe the Injuries to the Suitors: that

was the malignant Ground-work of his infamous
Defigns, and is now the Subject of our juft

Charge

He reads the Receipt.

Aug. 11, 1 72 1.

Receiv'd then of mafter Edward Conway, Efq;
the Sum of 500/. voluntarily contributed
by him in Aid of the Deficiency of my
Predeceflbr Fleetwood Dormer, Efq; in the
Cafh of his Office, which I promife to
repay in cafe the fame fhall at any time
hereafter be otherwife made good,

H. Edwards.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire he may be ask'd
in what manner he paid it, whether it was out of
his own money or ftopt out of any other money
paid into Court?

Mr. Conway. Soon after, (my Lords) I was ad-
mitted a mafter, Mr. Dormer's Deficiency broke
out

;
and the Contribution of the mafters beinc* then

Certainly the Earl did not mean here obliquely fpoken of, I was among the reft applied to, to con-
to infinuate that he had a Sharer in hiswicked Ad-
miniftration, or to bring another great Name in

queftion with his : That were not for his Service.

Characters, my Lords, receive their Luftre from
their Foils.

My Lords, I have open'd to you, that we fhall

prove the Accufation contain'd in the Article,

and enforce it from the Earl's Anfwer. If your

tribute : I was fworn in in January 1 720, and this
Receipt is in Auguft 1721, when Mr. Edwards
came to me to bring me fome junior mafters mo-
ney, which he was to deliver to me, out of which
he ftopt this 500 /. upon account of the Contri-
bution which I had promis'd to come into.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg leave that Mr. Co*.

way may be askt, whether the 500/. was allowed~ ,' .
" "'-• — —"- - """-»• -»« j"-"ji -"v ""*/ mv «m, wucuicr tne 500/. was alJowed

Lorofhips find we have made good our Charge, or deducted at that time out ofthe Suitors monev ?
I fubrnit it to your Lordfhips what Judgment
you will pafs upon fuch " manifeft and wilful
*< Violations of the Rights of the Subject."

Far be it from me to add load to the Guilty

;

here indeed it is impoffible. Crimes committed
by a Lord Chancellor, are capable of no Aggra-
vations; his Station enhances his Guilt. Such
Crimes are now become a parliamentary Enquiry,

_

Mr. Conway. Yes, my Lords, it was ftopt by
him at that time.

Mr. Serj.Pengelley. What Perfuafions were made
ufe of to induce the mafters to contribute to pay
this money ?

Mr. Conway. When the Affair of Mr. Dormer
came out, what I can remember is, That letter that
came from him from Holland was fent to Mr. Hcl-

fori
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a

ford to be read before the Mafters in the publick my Lord Chancellor's Room at Weflminfler and
Office, and there the Mailers fpoke of it what he ask'd me, whether there had been mentioned
they thought proper.

_

to me a Propofal of paying or advancing 5oo / a
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Intimation was there piece towards making up the Deficiency of D

'

-

from him, or from any other Perfon, of any Di- Dormer's Office, for carrying on the Bufinefis there?
reftion from my Lord Macclesfield relating to the I faid I had heard it ; he faid it was propofed that
Payment of this 500 /. Contribution ? it mould be immediately raifed, that the Bufmefs

Mr. Conway. I think my lord Macclesfield's Se- of the Office might be carried en, till Mr Dor
cretary was there at the time Mr, Dormer's letter men's Effeels could be difpoled of and fold- and

I think he had fpoken what he had prin- fome Intimation was given, that poffibly we mi^ht
cipally to fay before I came in, but I think he faid

the Confequence might be fatal to the Mafters, if

we did not take care of this Deficiency.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We would not prefume to in-

terrupt the learned Managers ; but I think the par-

ticular time when this was done, and the particular

Sums that were paid by each Mafter mould befta-

ted. I remember Mr. Edwards was pleas'd to fay

the firft 500/. that was contributed was paid up-

on the Day he was fworn in, which I think was

in May 172 1. We defire therefore that he would
pleafe to exprefs the Day, when every other Sum
was paid in.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We only defire this Gentleman
to fpeak to his own Payment.

have our money again as Dormer's Effects cameln
I have heard fuch a Thing talk'd of, fays I, but
I will never come into it ; I thought it attended
with dangerous Circumftances, and a dangerous
Precedent, and therefore I was refolved I would
not contribute.

Mr. Plummer. Can you recoiled what paffed
afterwards?

Mr. Lightboun. He faid all the reft would. I
faid I would not, and I continued the fame Refa-
ction when I talked with the mafters about it.

;

Mr. Plummer. I defire ho may be asked if my
Lord Macclesfield ever preffed him to pay this mo-
ney, and when?
Mr. Lightboun. It was often men tion'd tome by

Mr. Conway. The Receipt is dated Auguft 1 r, the mafters, why I did not contribute as the o
1 7 2 1 . Then Mr. Edwards ftopt fo much Money.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire he may be afked

how he paid that Money, whether voluntarily, or

freely, or upon what Ground?
Mr. Com. Serj. I beg Pardon, but I muft beg

leave that the Wicnefs may declare at what time

this TranfacYion was.

thersdid, and I was made not a little uneafy for not
having done it. I think in the beginning of the
Summer 1722, as near as I can remember the time,
my Lord Chancellor coming out of Court at his
own Houfe, (where I had the Hone ur to have been
fitting with him) faid, Mr. Lightboun, I would
fpeak with you. I followed his Lordfhip into his

Mr. Conway. It was the Day the Receipt bears Houfe up into his Study, where my lord was pleafed
ite, the TranfacTion happen'd Aug. 11,1721. to fay, Mr. Lightboun, I am very forry to hear thatDa
Mr. Sol. Gen. We defire he may be afk'd what

induced him to pay in this Sum ?

Mr. Conway. It was ftopt as a Contribution to-

wards making up Mr. Dormer's Deficiency.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, we defire that this

very forry
you have not contributed your 500/. towards ma-
king up Mr. Dormer's Deficiency ; for, fays he, it

muft be confidered, that it will be attended with
ill Confequences, if that matter is not taken care
of. I asked him, was it your Lordfhip's Propo-

Witnefs may be afk'd, whether there was any pre- fal ? He faid it came from the two fenior mafters,
ceding Promife or Agreement to pay this money? but he approved of it. Ianfwered, that if it had
Mr. Conway. My Receipt mentions a Promife. come from his lordfhip, it might have had a dif-

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Then I defire to know how ferent Confideration, but as it was theirs, and to
long before this Promife was made ? ferve their own Purpofes, I hop'd his lordfhip would
Mr. Conway. Soon after the Deficiency wasfpo- not infiftupon my coming into it. The two feni-

ken of in Mr. Dormer's Office, in February 1720. or mafters had been long in their Offices, were
about three Weeks after I was admitted. grown in Years, and were willing to o-e t out, and

^ „, , .. ,
fell at high Prices; one of them had flipt cut, and

Mr. Edwards called. the other was about it ; that I was but lately come
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we only call Mr. into the Office, and intended to continue in it, and

Edwards to afcertain the time when he received the faid, I will not concern my felf in this Affair, un-
Money of Mr. Conway for his Contribution. lefs the Office can be put upon fuch a Foot that
Mr. Edwards. My Lords, according as I have the Suitors may be made fife and eafy.

taken it out ofmy Book, it was the nth of Au- Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, I defire he may
luft l 7 21 - be ask'd, whether at this time my lord Maccles-

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Now, my Lords, we (hall field made ufe of any Reafons, Arguments or Pro-
fhew the manner how this Payment was made. mifes towards prevailing upon him to pay this

money ?

Then Mr. Lightboun was called and appeared. Mr. Ligtboun. I can't fay my lord prefs'd me ;

Mr. Plummer. I defire Mr. Lightboun may be he left me to my own Inclination, butadvis'dme
afk'd if he was ever prefs'd to pay 500/. by whom, to pay it, and not to ftand out ; to do as the reft

and for what? did, and not to ftand alone in it.

Mr. Lightboun. Not long after Mr. Dormer's Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether did he mention of
Failure, Mr. Coltingham-.— what Confequence or Advantage it would be to

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I hope yix.Lightboun the Mafters?

fhall mention the time as hegoes along. Mr. Lightboun. Flis lordfhip faid, if therewere
Mr. Lightboun. Not long after the Failure of not fome meafures taken it might be of ill Confe-

Mr. Dormer, I met Mr. Cottingham by accident at quence, and that this was the only Expedient he

thought
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thought of. I told his Lordfliip, I thought there that his Lordfliip could defire of me-, but this

were°many others, but this was one I would not was a Thing of fuch a dangerous Confequence,

come into; but that it was not for me to pre- that I would not contribute one Farthing, and that

fume to chelate to his Lordfhip, I thought it did I had given his Lordfliip my Rt-afons before; if

not become me. ne would hear them again, I would repeat them a-

gain -, but this one was of molt Weight with me,

Mr. Sen. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire he may that it might be a Precedent, and look'd upon as

be afk'd, if after thefe Difcouragements my lord an Undertaking for one another, ifever there fliould

Macclesfield did not again demand money of him, be a national Inquiry into thefe matters-, and that

and when? I would be anfwerable only for my own Debts:
That as I had not contributed towards the misfor-

Mr. Lightboun. My Lords, in the Year 1724, tunes of others, I would not contribute towards

about the latter end of July, I met Mr. Cotl'mgham Payment of their Debts ; that I did not know but

by accident at the Tavern. He came in and defi- the paying Contributions to make good the De-

red me to <ro into a Room, for he had fomething mands on other Offices might make Deficiencies

to fay to me. He told me, that my Lord Maccles- in our own -, I had always refus'd it, and never re-

feld had fent him to tell me, that he wonder'd that pented it, and I had the pleafure of hearing every

I had not paid my 500 / ; that there was 1000I. mafter repent the doing it. I called upon the reft

to be paid to Mrs. Chitty, or to Mr. Lockman, of the mafters to deal ingenioufly with my lord,

that mult be immediately paid-, that my lord had to tell him what they had fa id when they had

been apply'd to, and much prefs'd, and it muft be talk'd over the matteramong themfelves, that they

forthwith paid, 'and he expected that I would ad- would not contribute any more-, upon that Mr.

vance the 500/. and the reft of the mafters 50/. Holford got up and faid, he would never do it.

apiece, which would make up the Sum. I faid Then my lord faid, he either would pay it him-

to Mr. Cottingham, I cannot think my lord Mac- fclf, or take care it fhould be paid.

clesfield would fend you on fuch an Errand tome; ._.

t ij t AC 1 , t ,„n„)A r,^ nnw if T Mr. Plummen I defire he may be afk'd, if my
I tod my Lord formerly 1 would not pay it, 1 , ... r /. . L

* '
• l l- t jp /u: ^ah«;«v» ,„,! L c;a lord Macclesfield ufed any infinuanons with refpect

was with his Lordfnip this morning and he laid
a

nothing of it, and fhall have the Honour ofwaiting
to tlie™Jiament -

upon him in a Day or two, and if he then think Mr. Lightboun. I forgot that my lord Mac-
fit to talk to me about it, I fhall give him a clesfield was plea fed to fay, that the Confequences

proper Anfwer; but I don't care to fend my Mef- of not contributing to raife a Sum of money to

fage to him by you, becaufe meflages are liable to pay the Debt of Mr. Dormer, might be that the

be miftaken andmifreprefented, and I will give my money and Securities would be taken out of our

Anfwermy felf. Upon that Mr. Cotl'mgham began Hands. I told him I was ready to deliver both

to be angry at my •diftrufting him and thinking the money and Securities the next Day, if his

that he came of his own Accord, and averr'd to Lordfhip made the proper Orders, and I was pro-

me that he came with my lord Chancellor's Privi- perly indemnified. 1 think his Lordfhip faid fur-

ty. I repeated the fame Anfwer again to him, that ther, this may produce a Parliamentary Enquiry,

I would give my own Anfwer to his Lordfliip, and fliould it be refolved that purchafing a maf-

and would return none by him. In a Day or two ter's Place is contrary to the Statute of the fifth

after there was an Intimation given that my lord and fixth of Edward VI. you might lofe your

Chancellor expected all the mafters to attend him Places; to that 1 replied, I would quit my Of-

at fix a Clock in the Evening : we imagined that fice rather than. hold it upon thofe Terms of pay-

it was a call upon the other mafters for more mo- ing other mafters Debts. He went on further

ney, and for my five hundred Pounds. They had about a Parliamentary inquiry; 1 faid, let the

all declared to me they would never contribute any Confequence be what it will, I would not pay

thing more, and therefore I defired them that in it. Then I called upon the other mafters, who
cafe that were the Bufinefs, they would freely de- faid they would not pay it.

clare their Thoughts before my Lord himfelf. I

believe it was the fenior mafter I prefled to do it, Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, As to the pay-

faying to him, it beft becomes you to give the ing of the 1000 /. to Mrs. Chitty or Mr. Lock-

Anfwer; fays he, if the Queftion be put, I fhall man, I defire Mr. Ughtboun may be afk'd whe-

propofe that we may have time to confider of it. ther the late lord Chancellor was pleafed to fay

I defired he would not do that, it would encou- that he had or would take care to pay the 1000/.

rage my lord, and he might think that if he impor- himfelf, or what the particular Expreffion was

tuned it farther we would comply, and for my that he then made ufe of, that he had taken care

part I am determined not to do it; fo we went or would take care?

on to my lord, and were carried up Stairs, when
we came there, my lord faid, there hath been an Ap- Mr. Lightboun. I can't remember at this dif-

plication made to me on the behalf ofMr. Chitty tance of time, whether he faid he had, or would

or Mr. Lockman, I think he was the Perfon ex- take care to pay it. There is fo little Difference,

prefly named, and that he had been much prefled that I cannot fay which. I do not pretend to

by Perfons of Diftinction ; and then he turned to fay thofe were the very Expreflions my Lord
me, and faid, Mr. Lightboun, I am extremely fur- ufed to me, or I to him. I fpeak as to the

prized you have not paid the 500/. as the reft Tenor or Purport of our Conversation, I would

have done. After he had us'd a good many Per- neither aggravate nor foften matters,

fuafionsand Arguments, I told his Lordfliip it was

with great Concern that I refus'd to do any thing

Mr.
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. The next Witnefs we call is

Mr. Holfordt
who was prefent at this Converfa-

tion.

Mr. Holfcrd fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire Mr. Holford mzy

be afked, whether he was prefent at this time, as

57i
it would be a Favour if he would give us his Opi-
nion, in what Manner it might come before the
Parliament, and in what way. He faid, it might
come in by the Committee for Courts of Juftice,
appointed by the Houfe of Commons at the Be-
ginning of every Seffion. But when I came out
of the^ Room, I faid, it was more likely to come

is mentioned, when the Matters were required by by Way of Complaint than that Way
the Earl of Macclesfield to raife this loool. for

Mrs. Chitty or Mr. Lockman.

Mr. Holford. My Lords, I was prefent at that

Meeting. It was defired, as I apprehended, by

my Lord Macclesfield, for us to attend him at Six

o'Clock. When we came up there, I think, the

firft thino- that my Lord Macclesfield faid was, he

afked Mr. Lightboun why he would not pay his

500 /. as others had done. Mr. Lightboun did give

this Anfwer : That he had told him feveral times

before, that he would not do it ; he had given his

Reafons, and it was in vain to repeat thofe Rea-

fons a<*ain, he was of the fame Mind ftill. My
Lord then fpoke of a Demand there was of 1000 /.

on Mr. Dormer's Office for one Mrs. Chitty, and

Mr. Lockman, and I apprehended, my Lord men-

tioned it as if he intended that the Mafters mould

contribute towards making it up ; but he after

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,
whether, at this time, the Mafters agreed to come
to a Contribution to pay this 1000 /. and what
was faid about it.

Mr. Holford. It was difagreed to •, and when it

was fo, my Lord did fay, that he himfelf would
pay the 1 000 /.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We leave that as a Circum-
ftance of my Lord's endeavouring to prevent a
Parliamentary Enquiry.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we defire Mr.
Holford may be afked, whether he can be pofitive
as to the time of this Meeting?

Mr. Holford. I believe it was in July, or Auguft,

Mr. Serj. Probyn. You can't be pofitive?
Mr. Holford. No, I can't be pofitive.

. Mr. Serj. Probyn. Whether was there, at thac

faid he would take Care of it. After that my time, any Propofal made to raife Money, by any
Lord did not mention the 1000 /. but, in general,

fpoke of the Deficiency in Mr. Dormer's Office,

and it ought to be made up •, and he propofed, as

I did apprehend, that the Mafters fhould make it

up. Mr. Lightboun did call upon me to declare ;

upon that I told my Lord, it was very unadvife-

able to contribute towards a Deficiency which

no Body knew what it was ; and the doing fo

would only be ruining one's felf, for fear of being

undone •, and, for my Part, I was unwilling to do

it; any Body elfe might do as they thought fit.

Mr. Plummer. In what Manner did my Lord
addrefs himfelf to Mr. Lightboun, did he do it in

gentle Terms, or -how?

Mr. Holford. He fpoke pretty fharply to him.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What was faid by the Earl

of Macclesfield, to perfuade the Mafters to come
into this Contribution ?

Mr. Holford. My Lord faid it was a grievous

thing, there had not been that due Care taken

there ought to have been-, that thofe who came
firft had all their Money, and thofe that came af-

ter would have none ; which would make a great

Clamour upon the Mafters.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What was faid upon that ?

Mr. Holford. I don't remember what in parti-

cular.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What was faid, as to a

Parliamentary Enquiry ?

Mr. Holford. I remember my Lord did fay, it

annual Sum or Payment out of the Offices, to-
wards paying the Deficiencies by Degrees?
Mr. Holford. I do not remember any fuch thing.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. Was fuch Propofal made at

any other Time.
Mr. Holford. I don't remember that it was ever

propofed by my Lord. I have heard talk among
the Mafters of a great many Schemes and Propo-
fals ; but they never did agree in any one thing.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may refrefh his me-

mory, and that he may inform your Lordfhips
if there was not a Propofal made, that if they
might be maintained in their Offices, as they then
were, they would not then confent that a Contri-
bution fhould be raifed among the Mafters.

Mr. Holford. No, I don't remember that; I be-
lieve it was mention'd, that fuppofing the Mafters
might be continued on the Foot they were, whe-
ther they would not think it worth their while to
do it. I faid it was a Matter fit to be confidered,

and I did not know but it might ; but there was
no Method propofed but what feemed difficult;

and I don't remember that any thing was agreed
to.

Mr. Strange. I defire he may be afked, whether,
after they had contributed the 500/. a piece, their

accompts were called for by my Lord Macclesfield^

in the Manner they were called for before?

Mr. Holford. I don't know but they might. The
Manner of calling for thofe Accompts was thus:

might perhaps occafion a Parliamentary Enquiry. There was a Writing left in the publick Office, in

Suppofe, faid he, the Parliament fhould refolve,

that the Office of a Matter in Chancery is a Place

relating to the Execution of Juftice, and refolve

that every Body that hath purchafed thofe Offices

is within the Statute of the 5th and 6th of Edward
VI. It may affect me in fome Degree, in the lofs

of the Difpofition of the Offices ; but it will affect:

you in the lofs of the places themfelves.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether any Perfon then

asked my Lord, in what Manner it might come
before the Parliament ?

Mr. Holford. I afked my Lord myfelf, and faid

Vol. VI.

which there were a great many Items in what Me-
thod thofe accompts fhould be brought in. I had
prepared mine, and waited till they fhould be
called for ; but they were not called for, nor de-

manded •, fo I laid mine by.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be afked, whe-
ther this Difcourfe, in relation to the raifing of

Money, was to pay off the whole Deficiency, or

confined to pay off this Demand of 1000 /.

Mr. Holford. I don't remember any Propofal,

but only a Difcourfe that was ftarted. I did not

apprehend the whole Deficiency was intended to

5 L be
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be paid •, for I never knew any Body that could Macclesfield, till the Order made by the Council?

tell what the whole Deficiency was, till of late.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire to know, whether he

fpeaks this from his Memory ?

Mr. Holford. I can fpeak from nothing but my
Memory.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire that he will inform

your Lordfhips, whether he doth not remember^

that in November la ft there was a Signification to

Mr. Holford. My lords, I did deliver an ac~
compt to my lord Macclesfield, or to Mr Colting-

bam, of my money, but not of the Securities.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire Mr. Edwards mxf
be called again.

[Accordingly Mr. Edwards was called and
appeared.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, we beg leave that

the Matters, and to him in particular, to bring in Mr. Edwards may give your lordfhips an account

their Accompts? (becaufe he was immediately concerned in a De-
Mr. Holford. Yes, my Lords. mand made upon this Office) what application was
Mr. Com. Serj. If there was fuch an Intimation made to him for this Mrs. Ckitty's money •, and

in November laft, to deliver in their Accompts, what application he made to the Earl of Maccles-

how comes it that you fay you have them by you field on that Occafion.

ftill ? Mr.' Edwards. My lords, there was an Order
Mr. Holford. This is a Miftake •, you mifappre- brought to me, that was made by my lord Mac-

hend me. The Accompt, that I mentioned before, clesfield, for the Payment of iooo /. to Mrs Chilly.

was what was immediately called for, afcer the I told the Party, I had not money in my Hands
Failure of Mr. Dormer ; but the Accompt in No- of Mr. Dormer's, fufficient toanfwer the Demand
vember laft was what was called for by the Judges, upon the Office. I then went to my lord Mac-
and delivered into the Council. clesfield. I told him (I had been forced to trouble

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I defire to know, him pretty often upon that Occafion ) that it gave
whether Mr. Holford can remember what the par- me a great deal of Uneafinefs, that there was no
ticular Directions, as to thofe Accompts, were, Fund in my Hands to anfwer thofe Demands that

and whether the Accompts he prepared were drawn were upon my Office. I hoped his lordfhip would
up according to thofe Directions? take Care that there fhould be a Supply, or that

Mr. Holford. Thofe Directions were many •, in he would not be pleafed to make orders upon me
drawing up my Accompt, I did not draw it up for payment of money.

exactly according to thofe Directions ; but I drew Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Give an account of the

them up to fhew the Ballance of Cafh and Secu- whole that paffed, the whole Converfation.

rities in my Hands. Mr. Edwards. My lord Macclesfield, in anfwer
E. of Macclesfield. I would defire to know, whe- to that faid (at leaft, it was what I underftood

ther they were not the like Directions as in No- by his anfwer) that, if the People would but have
vember laft, and whether the Matters did not think a little Patience, he was doing every thing ne-

it impracticable to draw it up accordingly ? ceffary, and making proper Regulations for that

Mr. Holford. Yes, my Lords, they did ; they Purpofe.

thought it difficult; I thought it was not practica- Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

ble without a great deal of Trouble. whether my Lord Macclesfield, at that time, di-

Sir George Oxenden. I defire to know, whether

it was required by my Lord Chancellor to look

into Dormer's Deficiency, to fee what the true

State of it was at that Time ?

Mr. Holford. All I heard of it was : I heard

that my Lord had ordered Mr. Edwards to deliver

in an accompt of Mr. Dormer's Office to me and
Mr. Bennet : He did deliver one •, but it was an

Accompt done in Hafte, and did not fliew what
the Deficiency was. For fome of the Payments

redted him to proceed to make any further Pay-

ments, or encouraged him to go on to make Pay-
ments ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we apprehend
that is too leading a Queftion.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Directions he had, in.

general.

Mr. Edwards. My Lords, I had no other Di-

rections that I remember.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may acquaint

faid to be made, no proper Vouchers were pro- your Lordfhips, whether he faid any thing relat-

duced ; there were miftakes, and it was not a pro
per accompt ; and without examining it we could

not depend on it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. He mentions, that at this

meeting it was faid, fuppofing the Matters might
be continued on the fame Foot they then flood,

£?V. I defire Mr. Holford may explain what he

ing to the State and Condition of the Suitors of

the Court ?

Mr. Edwards. Several times that I had the Ho-
nour to wait on my Lord Macclesfield, I told him
there was like to be a great Deficiency in Mr.
Dormer's Effects : All that had been raifed out of

Dormer's Effects was exhaufted and gone, and
meant by the Foot they then flood on ; what li- there were a great many Demands ; and I hoped
berties and privileges were meant by that Expref- Provifion would be made toanfwer them : It was
fion ? not for me to do it elfe ; and I hoped it was not

Mr. Holford. I underftood it was their continu- expected that I fhould.

ing in the PofTeffion of the money. Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was any thing reprefented
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether that was to lock at that time, concerning paying fome of the Suitors

the money up in a Cabinet, or to have Power of of the Court, and not others ?

the money to make ufe of it ? Mr. Edwards. About that time, or rather fince,

Mr. Holford. For my own Part, I fhould not as I remember, I told my Lord Macclesfield that I

have lock'd it up. faw the matters were determined not to make any
Mr. Lutwyche. I would beg leave to afk him, further Contributions ; and if that were to be the

as he hath mentioned the calling for the accompts,
whether he delivered any accompt to the Earl of

Cafe, and there was to be no further Supply of

money, it would be very hard for fome to have

all
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all their money, and cithers none at all. My Lord

Chancellor faid, I do not know what to fay to it

;

I think it is very hard it mould be fo ; I will take

all the Care I can, and hope to make every Body

eafy.

Mr. Lutivyche. My Lords, I defire he may be

afked, whether he had not paid all the Money, or

near all, when this Difcourfe happened?

Mr. Edwards. Yes, My Lords.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, whe-

ther he was prefent at the meeting of the mafters,

when this iooo/. was infifted upon, and on what

Occafion it was ?

Mr. Edwards. It was upon a Summons that all

the mafters fhould attend his Lordfhip •, I am not

fure, as to the Day ; I think it was the latter End

of July: We waited upon his Lordfhip about fix

of the Clock in the Evening, and my Lord men-

tioned it to Mr. Lightboun, that he was furprized

that he had not contributed his 500/. he won-

der'd that he fhould be fo backward in doing what

others thought right to do, and that there was

Occafion at that Time for the Payment of 1000/.

he mentioned, either to Mrs. Chitty or Mr. Lock-

man. Mr. Lightboun told him, that he did not

expect to be afked again upon this Subject, he had

fo often told his Lordfhip he would not contri-

bute ; other People might do what they pleafed,

but, as for his Part, he was determined not to do

it.

Mr. Lutwyche. We defire to know what patted,

and what was faid by the Earl, at that meeting ?

Mr. Edwards. When this was refufed by Mr.

Lightboun, there was a Difcourfe in the Com-
pany, that if the reft of the mafters would advance

50/. a piece, and Mr. Lightboun his 500/. it would

make up the Sum. The mafters, moft of them,

fpoke their mind, and fhewed an Unwilling-

nefs to contribute any more. My Lord Mac-

clesfield was pleafed to fay, this is a Thing ofCon-

fequence, a matter that ought to be confidered

;

here is a very preffing Occafion for a Sum of mo-

ney to be immediately paid •, if not paid, I don't

know what the Confequence may be •, Clamours

begin to grow pretty ftrong, I don't know but it

may occafion a parliamentary Enquiry •, or to that

Effect.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be ask'd, whe-

ther there was any further Difcourfe what the

Parliament might do?

Mr. Edwards. My Lord Macclesfield was pleafed

to fay further, I don't know, if this matter comes

into the Confideration of Parliament, how far it

may affect your Offices, the Sale of them is a-

gainft an Act of Parliament : Suppofe it fhould be

refolved by the Houfe, that thefe Places, being

bought contrary to the Act of Parliament, are for-

feited, I can't fay how far it may affect me in fome

meafure, but it will affect you much more.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Thefe are the very Words of

the Article, and we may rely upon the Opinion of

the Earl himfelf, when he was in the Poffeffion of

that great Office?

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I defire Mr. Ed-

wards may be asked, whether the Subject Matter

of this Difcourfe was the Payment of this 1000/,

or making good the Whole of Dormer's Defici-

ency ?

Mr. Edwards. I underftood the only Subject to

be this 1000 1.

E. of Macclesfield- You underftood it for"

Mr. Edwards. And the Reafon why I under-
ftood it fo was, becaufe if Mr. Lightboun would
have been pleafed to have paid his 500/. and the
other mafters 50 /. a piece, it would have made
up the Sum.

E. of Macclesfield. Was the Propofal of paying
50 /. a piece, after Mr. Lightboun had refufed the
Payment of 500/.

Mr. Edwards. I believe it was.

E. of Macclesfield. What Occafion was there for

the Propofal to pay 50/. a piece, when the Pay-
ment of 500/. was abfolutely refufed ?

Mr. Edwards. I believe it was underftood by
feveral, that, if the other mafters would have con-
tributed 50 /. a piece, it would have been an In-

ducement for Mr. Lightboun to have come in and
paid his 500/.

E. of Macclesfield. Somebody muft propofe this

that had that Apprehenfion ?

Mr. Edwards. I can't fay who propofed it, nor
whether it was propofed by my Lord Macclesfield',

but 50/. a piece was mentioned.

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I defire to know
of Mr. Edwards, whether the mafters did not at

any Time agree to make good 'Dormer''?, Defici-

ency ?

Mr. Edwards. My Lords, I think I remember*
a meeting of the mafters at his Lordfhip's
Houfe, not long before this, where they feemed
inclinable to agree, that if they were continu-

ed in the Rights of their Office in all Refpects,

and on the fame Foot as they had enjoyed them,
that then they would have endeavoured to have
made this Deficiency good.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know if he hath
not faid, that on his coming into the Office, the

mafters told him, they would make good the De-
ficiency ?

Mr. Edwards. I can't fay the mafters ever told

me, they would make good the Deficiency ; I can't

fay I ever heard them fay, that they would make
it up.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire you would recollect

yourfelf, whether, when you was with me, and I

defired you to give an Account of this matter,

you did not fay, that the mafters did promife to

make it good, or elfe you would not have come
into the Office?

Mr. Edwards. I don't remember I told your5

Lordfhip fo ; I believe it was defigned by the ma-
fters to have it made up, if not the Whole, the

greateft Part of the mafters, were inclinable to

make up the Deficiency.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire an Anfwer to the

Queftion, whether he did not fay, that the ma-

fters did promife him to make good the Defici-

ency ?

Mr. Edwards. I don't remember that I faid fo

directly •, I told your Lordfhip, that unlefs I had

had Affurances, that the Deficiency of the Office

would have been made up, I never would have

meddled with it. Thefe AlTurances I had from

Mr. Cottingham and Mr. Godfrey.

E. of Macclesfield. I think you fay, the mafters

did feem to agree, that if they were kept in Pof-

feffion of the Rights of their Offices, they would

contribute. Had you two meetings with me in

July, or Augufi ?

Mr.



ip5» ^e Trial 0/Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, 10G. i.

Mr. Edwards. I think there were two in the Mr. Plummer. My Lord Macclesfield hath afk'd

fame month of July: Within a Month the two feveral Queftions, and I would make an Obferva-

meetings were. tion upon this Evidence, That thefe Gentlemen

E. of Macclesfield. Whether the matters have not applied to Lord Macclesfield to redrefs Grievances,

made feveral Complaints to me, of the Invafion of but he would not promife them a Redrefs till they

their Right in their Offices, and defued me to

make an Order to redrefs them ? \

Mr. Edwards. Not only Complaints of that

Sort were made, but I believe thofe Complaints

paid this Debt.

Sir George Oxenden. I defire to know what he
means by the Profits of the Office?

Mr. Edwards. The principal Thing that I mean
were reduced into Writing, and laid before your is the keeping of the money ; but there were fe-

Lordfhip ; there were frequent Complaints by veral other Things in which we thought our Of-
Concurrence of all the matters, fices lefiened, by taking away the cuftomary Fees

E. of Macclesfield. How long before that Time which ufually belonged to the matters,

were Complaints made to me, of the matters Sir George Oxenden. If the Profits of the Office

being injured in the Profits of their Office ? was the keeping of the money, I fuppofe they

Mr. Edwards. I believe near a Twelvemonth.

E. of Macclesfield. Was it not more ?

Mr. Edwards. It was a full Year.

made ufe of it ?

Mr. Edwards. Yes, my Lords, I believe it was
not underftood by any Body, that the money was

Earlof Macclesfield fhews Mr.Edwa.rds a Paper, defigned to be lock'd up. By the Profits of the

Mr. Edwards. This is what I mentioned, a Re- money is meant the putting out the money at In-

prefentation in Writing laid before your Lord- tereft for ourfelves. But that is not all, the pla-

fhip. cing the fame out at Intereft for the Suitors occa-

E. of Macclesfield. Pray look upon that. fions feveral Perquifites, as Reports and other

[Shews another Paper, which Mr. Ed- Things, which would be loft by taking away the

wards looks upon. money.

E. of Macclesfield. Are thofe two Papers figned

by you, and the other mafters whofe Names are

at the End of them?

Mr. Edwards. Yes.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know in the next

Place, whether I was not much pretted by the ma-

fters to have made fome Alterations in the Pro-

Mr. John Bennet called again.

ceedings of the Court ? And what Anfwer did I

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, we defire Mr. John
Bennet may be afk'd, whether he was prefent at

the meeting at the Lord Chancellor's, when Pro-

pofals were made for the raifing this iooo/.

Mr. Bennet. My Lords, I was there, and my
Lord Macclesfield was earneft in perfuading Mr.

Mr. Edwards. Upon this Reprefentation there Lightboun to pay his 500/. Mr. Ltghtboun faid

were a great many Applications made to my Lord he had much rather bring in all the money and

Macclesfield. I weitf feveral Times myfelf. Some- Securities he had in his Hands, and deliver them
times two or three would make Application to up, than pay this 500/. Upon which my Lord
him, that he would be pleafed, if he thought the Macclesfield faid, delivering up the money and Se-

matters reprefented to be Grievances, that he curities too might be the Confequence, but that

give

would redrefs them. My Lord did fay, that he

thought, that the matter of our Complaint was

juft, and that thofe matters were proper to be

rectified, and he would take all proper meafures

to do it.

E. of Macclesfield. And why were not all thefe

Things fet right?

Mr. Edwards. I remember one Circumftance

that I believe will be an Anfwer to the noble Lord's

Quettibn. Thofe matters were not laid together

all at once before my Lord Chancellor, but fome

at one Time, and others at another Time j and

was not the worft ; there might be Votes of the

Houfe of Commons, that the Office ofa Matter in

Chancery did concern the Execution of Juftice,

and that the mafters in Chancery, by purchafing

their Offices, had incurred the Penalty of the Sta-

tute of Edward the Vlth, and thereby forfeited

their Places, and that a new Set of mafters might
be put in ; it might redound to fome Lofs to his

Lordfhip in difpofing of thofe Offices, but it

would redound much more to their Lofs, the Lofs

of their Places.

Mr. Lutwyche. When the mafters refufed to con-

my Lord Macclesfield did fay, I would have you tribute to this of Chitty, what faid my Lord?
draw up a State of all thefe Grievances you com- Mr. Bennet. My Lord faid, he would take Care

plain of, and then I fhall fee them better under one of it himfelf, or that he would pay it himfelf, I

View, and take them together.

E. of Macclesfield. Was there any Order made in

Favour of the mafters, and to redrefs thefe Grie-

vances ?

Mr. Edwards. I remember we were a little im-

patient that there was no Order made ; we often

follicited on feveral Accounts before they were

made.

can't fay which.

Mr. Lutwyche. Whether any thing was faid con-

cerning the Confequence of not paying this 1000/.

and whether any mention was made of Dormer'i

Deficiency ?

Mr. Bennet. There was mention made of Mr.
Dormer's Deficiency, and one mafter mentioned,

that it was a bottomlefs Pit •, and as my Lord had

E. of Macclesfield. For what particular Reafons defired me and Mr. Holford to take fome Account

were you fo impatient? of it, we both declared, we had not received fuch

Mr. Edwards. It is impoffible to recollect the a fatisfaclory Account from Mr. Edwards, as

particular Reafons ; they were, in many Inftances, could be depended upon, and that the Deficiency

relating to the Proceedings at the Rolls, and the appeared to us to be very uncertain.

Innovations there to the Prejudice of the mafters

Offices. Mr.
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Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, whe-

ther any mention was made of any Fear of the

Difcovery of that Deficiency ?

Mr. Bennet. I can't fay by whom it was faid,

but it was faid in Difcourfe, If this iooo/. was

not now paid, the Deficiency of Mr. Dormer''?, Of-

fice would be difcovered.

Mr. Lutwyche. Pray recollect who was that faid

C575

Whereas the Defendant, Elizabeth Chitty,—

.

E. of Macclesfield. It is not neceffary to trouble
my Lords in hearing the whole Order, only the
ordering Part?

Mr. Paxton reads again,

by?
Mr. Bennet. I can't take upon me to fay whom His Lordjhip doth order, that thefaid majler do, out

of thefaid mo?iey in his Hands, pay unto the Defen-
dant Eliz. Chitty the Sum of one thoufand pounds,
and to the Plaintiffs the Sum of five hundred
pounds, fubjetl to thefurther Order of this Court.

Mr. Lovibond fworn.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire that Mr,
Lovibond may be afked, whether he was at the

meeting, when the matters attended my Lord
Macclesfield about July laft, and what paffed at

that meeting?

Mr. Lovibond. I was at that meeting with fe-

veral of the other mailers, I think moft of them :

As to what paffed then, acoording to the belt of
my Recollection, the firft thing was, my Lord
Macclesfield turned to Mr. Lightboun and afked him,
why he had not paid the 500/. as well as the reft

of the mafters ; to which he replied, he never

would, and gave my Lord fome Reafons why he
would not. Then my Lord Macclesfield was pleafed

to fay, there was a matter that required Expedi-

tion, a further Demand was made of a Sum of

money, by one Mr. Lochman, who belonged to

the Prince's Court, and it did behoove us to find

out fome Way to make him eafy. He propofed

that the mafters fhould raife that money among
them. The mafters in general faid, that they

could not do it.

Mr. Lutwyche. What Arguments were made ufe

Mr. Bennet. The Admonition was generally to of by my Lord Macclesfield, to perfuadethem to it?

take Care to perform our Duty, not to give any Mr. Lovibond. I remember that Mr. Lightboun

Caufe of Complaint, and, in particular, not to go faid, rather than pay it, he would deliver up all

out of town, till a Week after the laft Seal. the money and effects in his Hands, and my Lord

E. of Macclesfield. Do you not remember, that MacclesfieldAid reply ; Perhaps that is not the worft

I faid in my admonition, that if any mafter failed of the matter, it may be worfe than that ; fuppofe

in his Duty, I owed it to the reft to punifh him, there fhould be a Parliamentary Enquiry, and the

t was faid by, but it was faid in the Converfation

that paffed at that time.

Mr. Lutwyche. And who were then prefent ?

Mr. Bennet. I believe, all the mafters.

Mr. Lutwyche. And who befides?

Mr. Bennet. My Lord Macclesfield.

Mr. Lutwyche. Were not all the mafters againft

making up the Deficiency?

Mr. Bennet. Yes, all of them.

E. of Macclesfield. Was Dormer's Deficiency

then known ?

Mr. Bennet. It was known abroad, but it was

not known how much.

E. of Maccclesfield. Were there two meetings

between me and the mafters in July, or the Be-

ginning of Auguft?

Mr. Bennet. I believe within a month there were

two meetings.

E. of Macclesfield. What was the fubject matter

of the other meeting ?

Mr. Bennet. The firft meeting was to put us

all in mind of our Duty, and to admonifh us to

avoid any Complaint ?

E. of Macclesfield. That was the firft meeting.

Was there any thing faid about Dormer's Defici-

ency ?

Mr. Bennet. I don't remember there was.

E. of Macclesfield. What Admonition was it

that was given to the mafters, and what was faid

to them, if they did fail in their Duty ?

and to make him an Example ?

Mr. Bennet. I believe you did fay fo.

Mr. Lutwyche. At the time when this Admoni-
tion was given, was any thing then faid about your

Accompts ?

Mr. Bennet. No, I don't remember that any

thing was then faid on that Subject.

Parliament fhould come to a Refolution, that you

have forfeited your Offices, by having bought

them againft the Statute of Edivard the VI th.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, whe-

ther any Encouragement was given, in cafe they

would pay this money ?

Mr. Lovibond. I don't remember there was any

E. of Macclesfield. In Point ofRegularity, when thing fpoke by way of Encouragement to the ma-

fters, for Payment of that Sum of money.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire to know what was the

Refult of this matter, as to this Sum of Money
being to be paid, and who it was that faid it fhould

be paid ?

Mr. Lovibond. Upon the Refufal of the ma-

fters, my Lord Macclesfield faid, Well, I will

take Care of that Part myfelf.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, whe-

ther any thing was then faid in relation to the De-

ficiency of Dormer's Office ?

Mr. Lovibond. Yes there was fome Difcourfe

about that matter, and my Lord Macclesfield did

exprefs himfelf as though it would bean unlucky

dium Laurence Executor. Winifred Sheldon Spinfter Thing, and it muft be made up one Way or other.

Defunct. Quer. Elifam Chitty, Johannem Ruffel& and he defired the mafters to think of a Way to

alios Defendentes. make it up. My Lord Macclesfield faid, if you can

Vol, VI. 5 M have

thefe Gentlemen fpeak of this 1000 /. they fhould

produce the Order ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. It is here, and it is admitted

in the Anfwer.

[The Order produced, proved by Mr. Ralph
Paxton, who fwore it to be a true Copy of
the Order takenfrom the Report-Office,

Mr. Paxton begins to read.

Martis decimofeptimo Die Martii Anno Regni Georgii

Regis decimo, inter Prideaux Sutton Cler. & An-
nam Uxorem ejus, Mercy Shelden Spinfter & Egi-
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have the Enjoyment of your Places, as you have would do it, my Lord Macclesfield would make
had them thefe Forty Years, will you come into Mr. Lightboun pay his 500/. We, who were then

fome Terms to make up that Deb:? Some faid prefent, feemed to agree, that if my Lord would
they could not come into it •, fome faid there make Mr. Lightboun pay his 500 /. we would pay
mio-ht be a means of paying it by Annual Inftall- our 50 /. a piece. In the Evening, when we at-

ments out of their feveral Offices , fome feemed tended my Lord Macclesfield, his firft Application

to aoree to it •, others faid we may as well make was to Mr. Lightboun, and as foon as we came, he
good°the Bankers Debts, as make good this kidtohim^r. Lightboun, Iamfurprizedyouhave

Debt. not Paid your 500/. as the reft have done, I won-
E. of Macclesfield. I defire he may be afked, deratit; and he ufed fome hard Expreflions, that

whether he did not agree, that this Deficiency I wonder he could ftand it, I could hardly'have
done it ; but Mr. Lightboun did ftand it, and refufed
to pay it, and gave his Reafons for it, and faid
he had given them over and over again.

Mr. Sol. Gen. What Reafons were laid before
you to pay it ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. The Reafons laid before us

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know, whether by my Lord Macclesfield were, that there was a

they did all agree ?
;

Deficiency in Dormer's Office, which he was afraid

Mr. Lovlbond. I believe the major Part did. I would break out; for here was a Demand of a

did not. Sum of Money by one, for whom he had been

E. of Macclesfield. Do you believe any befides fpoken to, by a Perfon of very great Diftinclion.

yourfelf difagreed? I did not know who it was then, but I afterwards

Mr. Lovibond. Indeed I can't tell. The great- underftood it was Mr. Lcckman, that was the Per-

eft Part did agree. I can't fay I heard any Body fon that was to have the money ; and he afked, if

refufe. we did not think it for our Intereft to make fuch

E. of Macclesfield. Some, he fays, did agree to it, a Perfon our Friend ?

the major Part, and none that he heard refufed. Mr. Sol. Gen. Was there any thing more faid?

I defire to know, if it was not endeavoured to find Mr. Tho. Bennet. My Lord Macclesfield faid, that

out a Way to make up whatever Deficiency there in cafe this money was not paid, and fome me-
was ; and whether this was the fubjecl matter, thod found to make up the Deficiency of Mr. Dor-

fhould be made good by Annual Payments ?

Mr. Lovibond. No, I did not.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know, whether

the reft of the mafters did not ?

Mr. Lovibond. I believe fome of the mafters

did.

the making good the 1000/. or the whole of the

Debt?
Mr. Lovibond. The making good the whole of

the Debt, as I underftood it.

E. of Macclesfield. I think he faid, that I faid

then, I would tak'e Care of the 1000/. Whether

was that after they had agreed that the Deficiency

fhould be made good, or before ?

Mr. Lovibond. No, I think it was before.

Mr. Plummer. I defire to know, if my Lord

Macclesfield did fay, he would take Care of it, when

the mafters refufed to contribute ?

Mr. Lovibond. To the beft ofmy Remembrance,

it was upon their Refufal, that he faid fo.

Mr. Thomas Bennet called again.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. My Lords, before the mana-

gers propofe a queftion, I beg the Favour to

mention a Thing that my memory flipped me
in Yefterday. My Lord Macclesfield then afked

me, what Eftate I had purchafed ? I faid 68/. a Deficiency?

mer, he believed it might occafion a Parliamentary
Enquiry, which might hurt him very much, but,

faid he, I believe it will hurt you, Gentlemen, much
more.

Mr. Lutwyche. Were there any of the mafters

that afked him any queftions, how he apprehend-
ed it would come into Parliament?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Yes, Mr. Holford afked him
the queftion, Can your Lordfhip imagine, in what
method this may come into Parliament? My
Lord anfwered, Upon the meeting of every Par-

liament, Committees were chofen by the Houfe of

Commons, and among the reft there was a Com-
mittee of the Courts of Juftice, and he thought it

very likely, that That Committee might take this

under Confideration.

Mr. Sol. Gen. What was faid upon the mafters

refufal to raife the 1000/. ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. After Mr. Lightboun refufed

to pay towards the 1000/. my Lord then faid he

would make up that.

Mr. Sol. Gen. Was there any Talk of Dormer's

Year in Kent, and 40 /. per Annum in Suffolk. I

forgot a Houfe I bought for 700 /. which is

mortgaged for the fame Sum. The Accompt lies

upon the table, I forgot it then, and I did then

Mr. Tho. Bennet. There was fome Difcourfe a-

bout making up Mr. Dormer's deficiency. Several

of the mafters were againft it. No Scheme could

be found that would make it up. I faid upon

refer to my Accompt that lies upon the table, that Occafion, that it was a bottomlefs pit, and

that I might not be miftaken. Mr. Edwards had not given Satisfaction to any of

Mr. Sol. Gen. I defire he may be afked, whe- the mafters what the deficiency was.

ther he was prefent at this meeting at my Lord
Macclesfield's.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. Yes, I was fummoned to at-

tend my Lord Macclesfield on this Occafion. I

dined that day with my Brother and Mr. Lovibond

and one more ; and my Brother told me, that

there was a propofal come from my Lord Maccles-

field by Mr. Cottingham. Lie faid it was, that the

mafters fhould advance 50 1, a piece, towards a

Sir George Oxendon. Was there any mention made
at this meeting of the Statute ofEdward VI.

Mr. Tho. Bennet. My Lord Chancellor faid, He
did not know but our Offices might come within

the Statute ofEdward VI: And, if that fhould be

fo refolved by Parliament, we mult forfeit our

Offices ; and therefore had we not better do fome-

thing than forfeit our Offices ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we beg leave

Demand in the Court of Chancery; and in cafe we to call Mr. Lochnan
y to whom this 1000 /. was

paid
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paid, and to fhew your Lordfhips the Declaration faid Purchafe Money may be paid to her toward
that was made by the Earl of Macclesfield at that Satisfaction of what is due to her by Vertue of
Time. the faid Decree

: Whereto the Couh'fel for the De
Mr. Lutwyche. We beg Leave firft to read the

Order in the"Caufe of Harper and Cate.

[The Order is proved,

the faid Decree
fendants had Cafes alledged," dw they 'are intided
to the Refidue of the faid Tho' Harper's Eftate
after fuch Payments, as are directed by the faid
Decree to be made out of the fame, are made,
and the Defendants Cafe and his Wife were al-
ways ready to join in executing the faid Convey-

Sabbati qainto Die Decembris, Anno Regni ^
nce

7

s
'
uP°nan Application being made of the faid

Georvii Regis imdecimo, inter Ja?ta Jackma^\ purchafe Money towards what is due

Harper vidua $uer noma Cafe Clericu
l? r™ A

but bei"S a PP>'ehenfive of a De

&Sara Maria' uxor ejus, TT-L* *.L *«* ot Manner's Eftate, to anfvver the Mo.

fey, & alios Defendentes.

Mr. Ralph Paxton reads.

Henricu Hal-

UPON opening of the matter this prefent

Day unto the Right Honourable the Lord
gh Chancellor of Great Britain, by Mr. Sollici-

tor General and Mr. Williams, being of Counfel

for the Plaintiff; and Mr. Benjamin Jackman, in

the Prefence of Mr. Talbott, of Counfel for the

Defendants: The Cafes. It was alledged, That
it being, by the Order made on the hearing of

this Caufe {inter alia) ordered and decreed, that

nies brought before him, purfuant to the Orders
of this Court; and conceiving they ought not to
be Sufferers, though fuch Deficiency might ap-
pear, and the Delay being occafioned by the Pur-
chafer, and not by the Plaintiff, and the faid Ma-
tter not having fettled the faid Conveyances, they
did therefore fcruple to execute the faid Convey-
ances, until the faid Jackman's Purchafe Money
fhould be applied to the Purpofes in the faid De-
cree ; but are willing, if the Court mould fo think
proper, on Payment of the faid 260/. Purchafe
Money to the Plaintiff, and the faid Tho. Harper's

the Sum of 500 /. Pounds, part of the Marriage Eftate being difcharged of fo much, to execute
Portion of the Plaintiff, receiv'd by Tho?nas Harper the faid Conveyances. Whereupon, and upon
Clerk, her late Hufband, fhould be made good hearing of the faid Affidavits of the faid Jofeph
to her with Intereft from his Death, at the Rate of Herring and Thomas Atwood, and an Affidavit of
5/. per Cent, per Annum, together with her Cofts Notice to the Defendant Halfey read, and what
of this Suit, to be taxed by Dormer, then one was alledged on both Sides ; His Lordfhip doth
of the Mafters of this Court, out of the faid Tho- order, that it be referred to the faid Mr. Edwards,
mas Harper's, Eftate (for which, and other Purpo-

fes, in the faid Order, fo much as fhould be ne-

ceffary of the faid Thomas Harper's Eftate was
to be fold to the belt Purchafer that could be got

for the fame, with the Approbation of the faid

to examine, whether the faid 260/. was depofited
with the faid Mr. Dormer, for the Benefit of any
particular Perfon, and whom, and what was the

Occafion of the Delay, that the faid Convey-
ances were not executed, and the faid 260/. Pur

Matter:) And the faid Matter having, by his Re- chafe Money paid out before the Year 1720. and
port, (made purfuant to the faid Order, and) whether there is likely to be a Lofs of any Mo-
dated the 1 2 th of December, 171 6, certified the

Sum of 55 7 /. 1 6 s. 5 d. to be due to the Plain-

tiff for Principal and Intereft, befides Cofts. And
the faid Defendants having been ferved with a

Writ of Execution of the faid Decree, the faid

Matter, by his Report dated the 9th of November,

nies depofited with the faid Mr. Dormer : And,
upon the faid Matter's Report, fuch further Orders
fhall be made, as fhall be jult.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, this Order was
made in December laft : It is a Direction to Mr.

17 17. allowed the faid Jackman the Purchafe of Edwards to fee, whether there was likely to be any
three Houfes at Kenfington (Part of the PremifTes Lofs of any Monies depofited with Mr. Dormer :

directed to be fold) at the Sum of 260/. And the

faid Matter's Report being afterwards abfolutely

confirmed, the laid Jackman obtained an Order
of the 19th oft December, 1717. whereby it was
ordered, That the Writings belonging to the faid

Eftate, purchafed by the faid Jackman, fhould be

deliver'd to his Counfel, and that the Tenants
of the faid Eftate fhould attorn to him, on bring-

ing his Purchafe money before the faid matter.

And the faid Jackman did accordingly, on the

24th of the fame December, bring his faid Purchafe

money before the faid matter, as by his Certifi-

cate of that Date, now read, appears, and the

Tenants attorned to the faid Jackman : But the

Defendants have ever fince, by trifling Pretences

and Excufes, put off the executing proper Con-
veyances to the faid Jackman, although the fame

We pray that Mr. Lockman may be fworn.

Mr. Lockman fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg Leave that Mr. Lock-

man may be afked, whether he attended upon
the Earl of Afacclesfield at any Time relating to a

Sum of Money, and where.

Mr. Lockman. I received an Order from the

Earl of Macclesfield upon Mr. Edwards for 1000 /.

but not being able to receive it of Mr. Edwards,

I went to Kenfington to wait upon the Earl of Mac-
clesfield, and told his Lordfhip the Neceffity I had

for this icoo/. which belonged to Mrs. Chi/ty, but

the Benefit of it was made over to me; that I had

the Misfortune to be backwards in my Affairs,

and hadfome South-Sea Contracts to make up, and

have been long fince fettled and allowed by Mr. had made a Compofition of my Debts, for which

Edwards, one of the mafters of this Court, the I had about three Weeks to pay it in, and there

-

faid Mr. Dormer's Succeffor, as by the Affidavits fore I defired the Favour of his Lordfhip to order

°f Jofeph Herring and Thomas Atwood appears. It me the Payment of this 1000/. His Lordfhip

was therefore prayed, that all Parties may forth- was pleafed to tell me, that if I attended him in

with execute Conveyances of the faid Houfes to Town, and applied to him there, I fhould have

the faid Mr. Jackman, or as he fhall appoint: And the Money paid. Upon which I waited upon his

it was on the Plaintiff's Behalf prayed, that the Lordfhip in Town j and when I had the Honour
to
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to fee his Lordfhip, he told me, that he had en-

quired into the Affair relating to that Money up-

on which the Order was made, that it was in Mr.

Dormer's Office, where there was a Deficiency,

that he could not yet bring all the Matters to fet-

tle that Matter •, but if I would come a few Days

after, he would fee what he could do for me.

Thereupon I attended feveral Days, and went to

Weftminfter-Hall, and fpoke to Mr. Cottingham, and

he laid great Pains had been taken by my Lord,

but he had not yet been able to bring any thing

to bear, but he did not doubt but in a little Time
he could bring it to bear to his Satisfaction ; there

had been fome Motions made by Serjeant Chefi-

fljire, &c. which had frightned the Matters from

raifing Money ; but if I attended in a few Days,

he would do what he could for me. I v/aited

fome Days, and at laft I took the Freedom to

wait upon my Lord Macclesfield at his own Houfe

in Lincoln's- Inn-Fields, and I told his Lordfhip I

had attended many Days in Town, and had ne-

glected my Duty and Service ; that the next Day
was the laft Day appointed to pay my Compofi-

tion, and having depended upon this Money, I

had made no other Provifion. Whereupon his

Lordfhip faid, he had taken a great deal of Pains,

and had fpoken to the Mafters, and that I fhould

attend his Lordfhip next Day at Weftminfter at

Ten, and he would fee what he could do for me,

but that there was none of the Eftate of Mr. Dor-

mer left. I waited upon his Lordfhip according-

ly the next Day at Weftminjler. His Lordfhip cal-

led me into his Room, and told me that Mr. Cot-

tingham fhould pay me the iooo/. but he believed

there would come no more, that this would be the

laft of the Money, or the laft Sum that Mrs.

Cbitty would receive; and that if fhe had nothing

elfe, I might, by marrying her, in Expectation of

a Fortune, make myfelf worfe than I was.

Mr. Dodington. I defire Mr. Lockman may be

afked, what the whole Sum was that was paid

Earl of Macclesfield, io G. I.

in;

Mr. Lockman. I took it to be about 10,000/.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be asked,

if the Earl of Macclesfield gave any further Reafons,

why it was like to be the laft Sum?
Mr. Lockman. The Earl of Macclesfield did not,

at that Time, give me any Reafon •, but the Day
before, when I had the Honour of feeing his

Lordfhip, at his Houfe in Lincoln''s-Inn-hields, and
once before that, his Lordfhip told me that the

Mafters in Chancery were apprehenfive of lofing

a great deal of their Privileges and Profits of their

Places ; and therefore fome of them were not
willing to advance any money.

Mr. Weft. My Lords, I beg Leave to ask Mr.
Lockman, whether he received any Direction or

Intimation, as to the keeping of this private, the

telling, or not telling it?

Mr. Lockman. I did receive no Intimation at

that Time ; afterwards, when the Sollicitor met
me, he ask'd me, Pray, fays he, Mr. Lockman,
have you received the 1000/. you follicited for?

Yes, I have received it. Pray, who then paid it

you ? I told him Mr. Cottingham •, fays he, Mr.
Cottingham denied it to me. Upon that I met
Mr. Cottingham fome Time afterwards in the Court
of Requefts. He told me I fhould fay nothing
of it : Befides this, I received no Intimation to

keep it fecret.

Mr. Weft. What did he fay to you then ?

Mr. Lockman. He faid at firft meeting me,

You can't fare well, but you muft cry out Roaft-
meat. I, being not well acquainted with that

Phrafe, did not know what he meant. I did
not know that I had ever eat Roaft-meat or boil'd

meat with him either ; fo I told him, if that was
in relation to his paying me the 1000/. it was
only what was due, and I hoped there would be
Care taken to anfwer the Remainder. He an-
fwered, he could not tell what the Confequence
would be, whether ever it would be made up, or
not, he could not tell, he was very uncertain.

E. of Macclesfield. Sir, I defire to know of you,
whether you did not reprefent yourfelf to me to

be in the utmoft Diftrefs, if this money was not
paid to you, that in fuch Cafe you muft be ru-

ined ?

Mr. Lockman. I remember I told his Lordfhip,
that this money, I had borrowed of Mrs. Chitty,

that I had fettled a Compofition with my Creditors

and wanted this money to fatisfy them ; that it

muft be paid the next Day ; and if I did not
then pay it, it would be a great Damage to me

;

but I preffed his Lordfhip more, as I depended
upon his Lordfhip's Promife, and that was the

Reafon I prefs'd it the more.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire he may be asked,

whether I ever promifed to pay him at any Time
before that ?

Mr. Lockman. When I went to wait upon your
Lordfhip at Kenfington, your Lordfhip promifed
me it fhould be paid •, that, aflbon as you came
to Town I fhould apply to your Lordfhip, and
you would give Orders, and it fhould be done.

E. of Macclesfield. Whether he did not look
upon it, that I did this out of Compaffion to

him?
Mr. Lockman. I took it as Part of a Sum of

money due, and I did not look upon it as Cha-
rity, or out of Compaffion.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know, whether he
did not intreat it of me as an Act of Compaffion
to him?
Mr. Lockman. I don't underftand the Englijh

Terms, I did not ufe the Word Compaffion •, I

beg'd that your Lordfhip would be fo good as to

order me the money.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know, whether

the firft Time he applied to me I promifed to pay

the money ?

Mr. Lockman. Your Lordfhip promifed the

Order fhould be given to the mafter, and that I

fhould be paid.

E. of Macclesfield. When was that Promife?
Mr. Lockman. When you promifed to order

the mafter, and I fhould have the money.

E. of Macclesfield. How long before r

Mr. Lockman. I can't very well remember;
becaufe the Sollicitor waited feveral Times upon
the mafter, and the mafter told him there was

nothing. I went to the matter's Houfe, and then

to the Rolls, and there I faw him ; and he told

me there were no Affits in his Hands of Mr.
Dormer's.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know, whether

he did not defire a further Sum, after this 1000/.

was paid by Mr. Cottingham, and how much ?

Mr. Lockman. My Lord, I afk your Lord-
fhip's Pardon, I don't remember I then afk'dany

other Sum. When I faw your Lordfhip afterwards,

I afked your Lordfhip, if it was not poffible to

have another 1000/. You was pleafed to tell me,

there could be no more paid.

E.of
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E. of Macclesfield. Did not you follicit for a

further Sum, till Mr. Cottingham chid you?

Mr. Lochnan. Mr. Cottingham was a little

angry, when I prefs'd him. I went out of Doors,

Mr. Cottingham followed me. I flood in the Yard,

Mr. Cottingham came out, and told me he had an

Order from my Lord Chancellor to call the matters

to a meeting, and fee what could be done. I

laid, ftill this is uncertain, how fhall I do if I

have not this money ? it will be a great Prejudice

to me. _

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know whether he

did not afk a further Sum of 500 /. or 570 /.

Mr. Lochnan. There was an Order, on a

letter of Attorney from Mrs. Chitty, for that

Sum. But never, after I was at your lordfhip's

Houfe at Kenfington, did I afk if I could have a

thoufand Pounds more.

E. of Macclesfield. When was that 500 /. paid ?

Mr. Lochnan. I don't know.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know, whether

between the Time you fay you was promifed the

1000/. and the Time of paying it, you did not

defire to have the Sum of 574/. advanced for

Mrs. Chitty's Ufe.

Mr. Lockman. When your lordfhip had told

me that 1000/. was all that could poffibly be

obtained, I made no further Sollicitations.

E. of Macclesfield. How long was it that you
came to Kenfington, to afk me for that 1000/.

before the other 1000 1, was paid?

Mr. Lockman. Three Weeks before.

E. of Macclesfield. Then after that Time you
never demanded any more ?

Mr. Lockman. After your lordfhip had told

me that was all that could be obtained, then I

defifled from afking any more.

E. of Macclesfield. And that was about three

Weeks before the Time you received the money ?

Mr. Lockman. I believe, between a Fortnight
and three Weeks, or thereabouts.

Mr. Corn. Serj. I defire he may be afked, whe-
ther he can be certain as to the Expreflion, whe-
ther this was the laft money that was like to be
paid, or that my lord would pay.

Mr. Lochnan. It was , as I remember, in

thefe Words : If the lady hath no other Fortune
than what is in Chancery, in the mailer's Hand,
this will be the laft of ic.

Mr. Sol. Gen. We defire Mr. Atwood. may be
called.

Mr. Atwood fworn.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire Mr.
Atwood may be asked, whether he was in Court
at the Time a Motion was made upon an Order
in a Caufe between Harper and Cate.

Mr. Atwood. My Lords, I was at the late

Lord Chancellor's Houfe, where, about the 5th
of December laft, the motion was made. I was
Sollicitor for Mrs. Harper in the Caufe. The Oc-
cafion of it was, There was an Eftate decreed to

be fold, and the money was to be paid into the

mailer's Hands, who was Mr. Dormer: The
money was accordingly paid, and the Convey-
ances approved of by the Counfel, and a Fine
agreed upon 5 but at laft the Parties would not
execute, unlefs the money was paid them; ob-
jecting there would be a Deficiency in Dormer's
Office: Therefore they mov'd that they might
Vol. VI.

$7§
not be obliged to execute the Conveyance, till the
money was applied and paid to the Plaintiff. My
Lord Chancellor was pleafed to declare thereon,
that he had heard there would be a Deficiency of
Mr. Dome's Effects ; but it had never judicially
come before him ; and what Knowledge he had
of it was only as publick News, and referred ic
to Mr. Edwards to examine, whether there was
likely to be a Deficiency, or not. I was near two
months before I could get this Order palled*
and then the Impeachment came on. The Re-
gifter told me, he was afraid this Order would
do fome mifchief. When I had got the Order,
I was told by feveral People about the Town,
that Mr. Dormer's Effects were very defective

;

and that my Lord Chancellor had directed a
Compofition to be made with one JVilfon who
was a Banker ; and had directed Mr. Hiccocks to
compound for Haifa Crown in the Pound, and
that others had twenty Shillings. Lord Chan-
cellor had directed an Enquiry to be made whe-
ther any Deficiency. I was advifed to put in
thefe Words: By what Means; becaufe I was
told then it was, by reafon of compounding that
Debt with Wilfon ; but the Regifter would not
let them fland.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. The making of the Order,
in this Cafe, confirms the Evidence of Mr. At-
wood, that his Lordfhip declared he had heard of
it no otherwife than as publick News; becaufe
by this Order he directs Mr. Edwards to enquire,

whether there was likely to be a Deficiency, or
not, although it had been fo well known to his

Lordfhip fome Years before.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. He fays there are Words
flruck out of the Order ; I defire to know, whe-
ther thofe Words were not added by himfelf to

the Order?
Mr. Atwood. Yes, they were added by me be-

fore it palled.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. When ?

Mr. Atwood. After I had the Order from the

Regifter.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When was that?

Mr. Atwcod. It was near two months before

I could get the Order paffed.

E. of Macclesfield. Had you the Order paffed

before the Impeachment?
Mr. Atwood. Yes, I believe I had.

E. of Macclesfield. Had you it paffed before

this mattter came into Parliament?

Mr. Atwood. I don't particularly know; I be-

lieve it was before your Lordfhip was im-

peached.

E. of Macclesfield. Whether was it after I had
parted with the Seals?

Mr. Atwood. I believe after.

E. of Macclesfield. How long was it before

you added thofe Words?
Mr. Atwood. Two or three Days after I had

got the Order.

E. of Macclesfield. When was it the Regifter

flruck out thofe Words ?

Mr. Atwood. I can't fay, I believe it was be-

fore the Impeachment. The other Side had let

thofe Words be in ; but yet the Regifter flruck

them out.

E. of Macclesfield. Was it after I had ceafed to

be Chancellor?

Mr. Atwood. I believe it was.

N E,of
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E. of Macclesfield. Was any thing faid, at that Mr. Ralph Paxton, being called, appeared, and

Time, of the Accident of Wilfon's breaking and proved the feveral Orders following, which were

Poulter's going off?
%

then all read.

Mr. Atwood. I do remember your Lordfhip

faid Wilfon was become Bankrupt, and that he

had Money of Mr. Dormer's ; and you faid fame-

thing ofa Perfon that was fued by Wilfon, and of

a Recovery againft him, and of an Action

brought for an Efcape; and you concluded, upon

the Whole, that all you knew of the Matter was

only as publick News. This was after you had

given an Account of the matter of Wilfon and of

An Order, dated 1 8 January, 8° Georgii Regis.

Another, dated 8 March, 8° Georgii Regis.

Another, dated 5 July, 8° Georgii Regis.

Another, dated 22 December, 9 Georgii Regis.

the Marfhal.
. .

Dr. Sayer. I defire he may be afked, whether Jovis decimo caavo Die Januarii Anno
my Lord did not exprefs a Doubt, how thefe Regni D'ni Georgii Regis oSlavo, inter

matters might come out ?

Mr. Atwood. I don't know what his Lordfhip

was pleafed to doubt of.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire Mr. Atwood would

recollect himfelf whether there was any Notice

taken, how this might come out, when the Re-

port of the matters fhould be made ?

Mr. Atwood. I don't remember any thing

tending to that.

"Jonathan Jones Infant' per Eliza Jones
Vidua' prox Amif & diBa' Eliza' Jones
%uer\ Thoma Jett Arm' & Petru' fVife,

Defendentes.

UPON opening of the matter, this prefent

Day, unto this Court, by Mr. Serjeant

Chejhire, of Counfel with the Plaintiff Jonathan

Mr." Com. Serj. Whether he took any Memo- Jones, in the Prefence of Mr. Ketleby, of Counfel

randa of thefe Words, and when ?

Mr. Atwood. No, I took no Memoranda of

them, till I was fummoned to attend the Com-
mittee.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire Mr. Atwood may give

a Reafon, how he comes to forget Fads, and re-

member a Form of Words ?

Mr. Atwood. I don't remember all the Facts

that have been afked.

Mr. Robins. Whether my Lord did not men-

tion a particular Sum that was owing from Wilfon

to Dormer ?

Mr. Atwood. I believe my Lord did mention

a Sum, and I believe it was 18000 /.

Mr. Robins. Whether he did not mention that

with the Plaintiff Elizabeth Jones ; and the De-
fendant Wife, and Mr. Horfely, of Counfel with
the Defendant Jett. The Counfel for the Plaintiff

Jonathan Jones alledged, that Jonathan Jones de-

ceafed, Father of the Plaintiff Jonathan Jones,

and Husband of the Plain tiffElizabeth, by his Will,
devifed one Moiety of his Eftate, which was
wholly perfonal, after Payment of his Debts and
Funeral Expences, to the Plaintiff Elizabeth, and
the other Moiety to the Plaintiff Jonathan Jones,

when he fhould attain his Age of One and
Twenty Years, together with the Produce there-

of, and made the Defendants, Jett and Wife,

Executors in Truft for the faid Plaintiffs, who
duly proved the faid Will. That the Plaintiffs

Wilfon had brought an Action of Efcape againft having brought theirBill in this Court, to have

the Marihall?

Mr. Atwood. Yes, that Wilfon had brought an

Action of Efcape againft the Marfhall.

Mr. Robins. Whether he did not mention, that

Wilfon had recovered a Judgment againft the

Marfhal ?

Mr. Atwood. Yes, that Wilfon had recovered a

Judgment.
Mr. Robins. Whether was there any thing faid

of the Efcape ofPouIter ?

an Account of the faid Teftator's Eftate, for a
maintenance for thtPizintiff Jonathan, during his

Infancy, and a Performance of the faid Will:

Upon the Hearing of this Caufe, it was referred

to Mr. Dormer, then one of the Matters of this

Court, to take an Account of the faid Teftator's

Eftate -, and the Surplus thereof, after the Dedu-
ctions therein mentioned, was to be divided into

Moieties ; and the PlaintiffElizabeth's Moiety was

to be forthwith alligned to her ; and the other

Mr. Atwood. Yes, my Lord did mention, that Moiety was to be placed out at Intereft, by the

faid Matter, for the faid Infant's Benefit. And
the faid matter was to affign a Maintenance for

the faid Plaintiff, for the Time paft ; and was alfo

to confider what was proper to be allowed for

his Maintenance, for the future. That the faid

Matter, having proceeded to take an Account of

I do not remember any thing of the faid Teftator's Eftate, it appeared, that fo

much thereof was raifed by the Sale of Bank and

there was an Action brought againft the Marfhal,

for that very Efcape.

Mr. Com. Serj. Whether my Lord having
mentioned thefe Particulars, he did not from
thence infer, he could not then tell, how matters

might come out ?

Mr. Atwood.

that.

Mr. Lulwyche. My Lords, I fhall only make South-Sea Stock, and brought before the Matter,

one fhort Obfervation. The lord Macclesfield as amounted to Five Thoufand, Nine Hundred,
faith in his Anfwer, that he doth not believe that and Eighty-five Pounds, Three Shillings, and

he had any Difcourfe with the Matters about the Four Pence, one Moiety whereof, after Payment
Payment of this 1000/. I fubmit it to your of her Share of the Coffs of this Suit, belongs

Lordfhips, whether there are not four or five to the Plaintiff Elizabeth Jones, and has been ac-

Witneffes to it. We have now done with the cordingly paid to her. And the other Moiety
Sixteenth Article. belongs to the Plaintiff Jonathan Jones, and is

Mr. Sol. Gen. We fhall proceed to our Proofs now in the Hands of Mr. Edwards, one of the

on the Seventeenth Article. And it will be ne- Matters of this Court, who fucceeded the faid

ceffary to lay before your lordfhips three or four Mr. Dormer, and to whom the Reference in this

Orders, for the Proofof this Article. Caufe, hath been transferred. That the Plaintiff,

Jonathan
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Jonathan Jones, hath now attained his Age of Moiety of the faid Money, after Deduction of
One and Twenty Years,

_

as by Affidavit and his Share of the faid Cofts : And he had eon-
Certificate appears, and is intitled to receive traded, for a Poft in the Army, which witli his
his Moiety of the faid Monies, after Deduction of Equipage, wiJJ amount to Two Thoufand
his Share of the faid Cofts. And having con- Pounds, which he is advifed will be very ex-
tracted fome considerable Debts, for his Mainte-

nance, and otherwife, during his Infancy, for

which he is threatened to be arrefted, in cafe

the faid Debts are not fpeedily paid : It was

therefore pray'd, that the faid Mafter may, out

of the Monies in his Hands, pay to the Plaintiff,

Jonathan Jones, the Sum ofFour Hundred Pounds,

which, upon reading the faid Affidavit and Cer-

tificate, and upon hearing the Counfel for the

Plaintiff, Elizabeth Jones, and the Defendant,

Wife, who confented thereto, and the Counfel

vantageous for him to purchafe ; and therefore ie

was_ pray'd, that the faid Mafter may pay to the
Plaintiff, Jonathan Jones, out of the Money in
his Hands, a Sum not exceeding Two Thoufand
Pounds, to be laid out in the Purchafe of a
Commiffion, and for other Purpofes. Whereupon,,
and upon hearing of the Plaintiff, Elizabeth foxes,
and Defendant Wife's. Counfel ; and hearing an
Affidavit of Notice of this Motion to the FJe-
fendant, Jett, read, and what was alledged by the
Counfel on both Sides: It is ordered, that the faid

for the Defendant, Jett, who did not oppofe Mafter do, out of the Money in his Hands, pay
the Payment thereof, is ordered accordingly,

Jovis oSiavo Die Martii Anno Regni D'ni
Georgii Regis otiavo , inter Jonathan'

Jones & Eliza' Jones Quer , I*homa' Jett
Arm £? Petru Wife, Defendentes.

UPON opening of the Matter, this prefent

Day, unto the Right Honourable the

Lord High Chancellor of Great Britain, by Mr.
Serjeant Che/hire, being of Counfel for the Plaintiff,

Jonathan Jones, in the Prefence of Mr. Ketlebey,

of Counfel for the Plaintiff, Elizabeth Jones, and
for the Defendant, Wife: It was alledged, that

Jonathan Jones deceafed, Father of the Plain-

tiff Jonathan Jones, and Hufband of the Plain-

tiff Elizabeth Jones, by his Will, devifed one
Moiety of his Eftate (which was wholly per-

fonal) after Payment of his Debts and Funeral
Expences, to the PlaintiffElizabeth, and the other
Moiety to the Plaintiff Jonathan Jones, when he
fhould attain his Age of One and Twenty Years*
together with the Produce thereof; and made the
Defendants, Jett and Wife, Executors in Truft
for the faid Plaintiffs •, and the faid Defendants
duly proved the faid Will. That the Plaintiffs

exhibited their Bill into this Court againft the
Defendants, to have an Account of the faid

Teftator's Eftate, and a Performance of his Will.
And upon the hearing of the Caufe, it was re-

ferred to Mr. Dormer, then one of the Mafters of
this Court, to take an Account of the faid

unto the Plaintiff, Jonathan Jones, the Sum" of
Two Thoufand Pounds; the Plaintiff, Elizabeth

Jones, and the Defendant, Wife, having fubferibed
the Regifter's Book, fignifying their ConfenE
thereto.

Jovis quinto Die Julii Anno Regni D'ni
Georgii Regis oclavo, inter Jonathan*
Jones & Eliza' Jones §>uer Ihoma' Jett
Arm' & Petru Wife, Defendentes.

UPON opening of the matter this prefent

Day, unto the Right Honourable the Lord
High Chancellor of Great Britain, by Mr. Serj.

Chefhire, being of Counfel for the Plaintiff, it was
alledged, That Jonathan Jones deceafed, Father
of the Plaintiff Jonathan Jones, and Flusband of the
Plaintiff Elizabeth Jones, by his Will devifed one
moiety of his Eftate (which was wholly perfonal)

after Payment of his Debts and Funeral Ex-
pences, to the Plaintiff Elizabeth, and the other

moiety to the PlaintiffJonathan Jones, when he

fhould attain his Age of One and Twenty Years,

together with the Produce thereof, and made the

Defendants, Jett and Wife, Executors in Truft for

the faid Plaintiffs, and the faid Defendants duly

proved the faid Will. That the Plaintiffsexhibited

their Bill into this Court againft the Defendants,

to have an Account of the faid Teftator's Eftate,

and a Performance of his Will, and upon the hear-

ing of the Caufe, it was referred to M. Dormer,

then one of the mafters of this Courts to take an

Account of the faid Teftator's EPcate; and the
leltators Eftate; and the Surplus thereof, after Surplus thereof, after the Deductions therein men-
the Deductions therein mentioned, was to be di- tioned? was to be divided into moieties, and the
vided into Moieties

; and the Plaintiff Elizabeth's pia j ntjff Elizabeth's moiety was to be forthwith
Moiety was to be forthwith affigned to her. affigned to her, and the other moiety was to be
And the other Moiety was to be placed out at In- placed out at iotererl, by the faid mafter, for
terelt by tnefaid Mafter, for the faid Infant's the faid Infant

»
s Benefit. That the faid mafter

Benefit. That the faid Mafter having proceeded
to take an Account of the faid Teftator's Eftate, it

appeared, that fo much was raifed by the Sale of
the Bank and South-Sea Stocks, and brought be-
fore the faid Mafter, as amounted to Five
Thoufand, Nine Hundred, and Eighty-Five
Pounds, Three Shillings and Four Pence, one
Moiety whereof, after Payment of the Plaintiff moiety thereof, after''Payment of the Plaintiff
Elizabeth Jones's Share of the Cofts of this Suit, Elizabeth Jones's Share of the Cofts of this Suit,
belonged to her, and had been accordingly paid hath been in purfuance of feveral Orders of this

£ ••tr£ r

the °ther Moiety belonged to the Court paid to her, and the other moiety, which
plaintiff Jonathan Jones, and was in the Hands of belonged to the Plaintiff Jonathan Jones, was paid
Mr. Edwards, one of the Mafters of this Court over to Mr. Edwards, one of the mafters of this

(whofucceededthe faid Mr. Dormer.) That the Court (who fucceeded the faid Mr. Dormer). That
plaintiff^Jonathan Jones, has attained his Age of thc Plaintiff Jonathan Jones, having attained his
Une and Twenty Years, as by Certificate and A ^c of One and Twenty Years, and being intitled

Affidavit appears, and is intitled to receive his to° receive his moiety of the faid money, after

Deduction

having proceeded to take an Account of the faid

Teftatcr's Eftate, it appeared by feveral Certifi-

cates from the fiid mailer, that fo much thereof

was raifed by the Sale of the Bank and South Sea

Stocks, and brought before him, as amounted to

Five Thoufand nine Hundred and eighty five

Pounds three Shilling, and four Pence, that one
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Deduction of his Share of the faid Cods, and he out at Intereft, on Government, or fuch other

having contracted for a Poft, in the Army, which, Security as he mould approve of, for the Bentht

,„;*], u; c Fn„;™ p_ will amount to two Thou- of the Parties to whom the faid fhould belong.
with his Equipage, will amount to two

and Pounds, he did, on the eighth Day of March

laft, apply to the Court for that money, and it

was then ordered, that the faid mafter fhould,

out of the money in his Hands, pay unto the

Plaintiff Jonathan Jones the Sum of two Thou-

fand Pounds, the Plaintiff Elizabeth Jones, and

Defendant Wife, having fubfcribed the Regifter's

Book, fignifying their Confent thereto •, that pur-

fuant to the faid Order, the faid mafter paid the

faid two Thoufand Pounds, and there now re-

maining in his Hands of the Plaintiff" Jonathan

Jones's Share of the faid money, about the Sum

of fix Hundred and forty two Pounds. That the

faid Plaintiff Jonathan Jones,- having prefent Oc-

cafion for the faid money, hath executed a letter

of Attorney to the Plaintiff Elizabeth Jones, his

mother, dated the Five and Twentieth of May

laft, impowering her to receive all monies due

to him from the faid mafter, and the Intereft

thereof, for the purpofes therein mentioned. It

was therefore prayed, that the faid Mafter may

pay to the faid Plaintiff, Elizabeth Jones, the Re-

mainder of the Money which is in his Hands,

belonging to the faid Jonathan's Share, purfuant

to the Letter of Attorney, executed for that Pur

In purfuance whereof, the faid Sir Robert Nightin-

gale carried the faid Ten Thoufand Pounds be-

fore the faid Mafter, who placed the fame out

at Intereft, and on the nine and Twentieth of

July, One Thoufand Seven Hundred and Nine-

teen, though the faid Ten Thoufand Pounds*

With the Intereft, which had been received by

the faid Mafter, amounting to Eleven Thoufand
three Hundred and fifty-nine Pounds, feven Shil-

lings, and three Pence, the faid Mafter, by his

Report, certify'd, That he had placed eleven

Thoufand three Hundred Pounds, Part thereof,

out on the Land Tax, for the Year One Thou-
fand Seven Hundred and Nineteen, at four Pounds

per Cent, and that the Nine and Fifty Pounds

feven Shillings and three Pence remained in his

Hands ; that on the third of Auguft, one Thou-
fand Seven Hundred and Twenty, the Plaintiffs,

by Petition, applied to his Lordfhip, That the

Mafter might pay them fome money to carry on

this Caufe, and for their other Occafions •, upon
hearing whereof, they were ordered Six Hundred
Pounds out of the money in the Matter's Hands,

which they have received accordingly. That the

Defendant, Elizabeth Chitty, had, ever fince the

pofe, which, upon hearing of Mr. Horfeley, of Death of her late Hufband, Jc/iah Chitty, wanted

Counfel for the Defendant Jett, and what was

alledged on both Sides, his Lordfhip held reafo-

nable° and doth order the fame accordingly.

Sab'ti vicefimo fecundo Die Decembr Anno

Regni D'ni Georgii Regis nono, inter Fri-

deaux Sutton Cler & Anna Uxor ejus

Mercy Sheldon Spinflr & Egidiu' Law-

rence gen Extor" Winifred Sheldon Spinflr

Defunct' £>uer, Elizam Chitty & Joh'em vantage thereof, her

Ruffell & at per Billa ad revivend' & difpofed of them inpt

Supplement' Defend',

WHEREAS the Defendant Elizabeth

Chitty, on the Eleventh of this Inftant

December, preferred her petition to the Right Ho-
nourable the Lord High Chancellor of Great Bri-

tain, fhewing, That the Plaintiff and Winifred faid Teftator's Eftate, except what fhould be de-

Sheldon, fince deceafed, having executed their Bill creed thereout to her Children, by her firftHuf-

for an Account of the Eftate of Ralph Sheldon,_ who

money, not only to defend the faid Caufe, but

alfo for her Support, and other neceffary Occa-

fions, and that neither the, nor her late Hufband,

had received any Part of the Principal or Intereft

before the Mafter, nor any other Part of the Te-

ftator's Eftate, except fome Jewels which were

delivered up by the Truftees of the Teftator's

"Will in India, to her and her late Hufband, which,

or the greateft Part thereof, fhe claimed as her

Paraphernalia, but that fhe had no Benefit or Ad-

Hufband having fold and

his Life-time. Therefore,

and for that the Money in the Elands cf Mr. Ed-

wards, one of the Mafters cf this Court, who fuc-

ceeded the faid Mr. Dormer in his Office, were

confulerably encreafed by the Intereft which had been

received by him, and for that the faid Mrs. Chitty

was, as aforefaid, in titled to two Thirds of the

eight

died in the Eaft-Indies \ and to have their Shares

and Proportions thereof, purfuant to his Will

It was on the hearing of this Caufe, the

and twentieth of May, One Thoufand Seven

Hundred and Fifteen, declared, That the Defen-

dant Elizabeth Chitty was intitled to one Third

of the faid Eftate, under the Will of theTeftator

Sheldon, her fecond Husband, in her own Right,

and to a Moiety of the other two Thirds, in right

of, or, as furviving the Children fhe had by

the faid Sheldon, who Were dead, and that the

other Moiety of the faid two Thirds belonged

band, who were intitled to one moiety of their

Father's Eftate, which was pofieffed by the faid

Ralph Sheldon, and for that fhe was obliged to

maintain them, it was prayed, That the faid

Mr. Edwards might, out of the money in his

Hands, and which fhould be paid in, upon the

coming in of any of the Securities taken for the

fame, pay unto the Defendant Mrs. Chitty fuch

Sum of money as his Lordfhip fhould think fit,

to enable her to carry on the faid Caufe, and for

her immediate Support, and other Occafions.

Whereupon all Parties were ordered to attend his

Lordfhip, on the then next Day of Petitions.

to the Plaintiffs, or thofe whom they reprefented And whereas the faid Plaintiffs, on the eighteenth

and decreed the fame, after juft Allowances to D*y of this Inftant December, alfo preferred their

be paid and diftributed accordingly ; and Sir Robert Petition to his Lordfhip, fhewing, inter al* That

Nightingale, Bart, fince dead, having by his An- they were, thro' their great Occafion for money,

fwer, admitted to have in his Hands Ten Thou- forced to apply the greateft part of the money,

fand Four Hundred and Seventy Pounds, three

Shillings and Six-pence, part of the Teftator's

Eftate: It was ordered, That he fhould carry

Ten Thoufand Pounds thereof, before Mr Dor

ordered them as aforefaid, towards their Sup-

port ; and that the faid Caufe had been long de-

pending, and very expenfive, and was likely to

undergo greater Travail before the faid Mafter,

tner, then one of the Mafters, to be by him placed before the faid Account could be taken, fo thac

they

A
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they had great Occafion for more money, not

only to carry on the faid Caufe, but alio for their

Support, and other neceffary Occafions ; and

therefore praying that the faid Mafter might alfo

out of the monies in his Hands, and which fhould

be paid in, upon coming in of any of the Securi-

ties taken for the fame, pay unto the Plaintiffs,

or their Sollicitors, fuch Sums of money as his

Lordfhip fhould think fit, to enable them to car-

ry on the faid Caufe, and for their immediate Sup-

port and other Occafions ; and the matter of the

laid Petition, being ordered to come on with the

Defendant Cbitty' s Petition ; and Counfel on both

Sides this Day attending accordingly. Where-

upon, and upon hearing both the faid Petitions

read, and what was alledged by the Counfel

on both Sides : His Lordfhip doth order, That

the faid Mr. Edwards do, out of the money in

his Hands, pay unto the Defendant, Mrs. Chilty,

the Sum ofSix Hundred Pounds, and alfo unco the

Plaintiffs One Hundred Pounds a-piece, and it

being now alledged, that John fVyvill, Efq-, hav-

ing exhibited his Bill againft the faid Giles Law-
rence, for Payment of a legacy of two Hundred
Pounds, bequeathed to him by the Will of the

faid Winifred Sheldon. It was on the hearing the

faid Caufe, the firft Day of December, One Thou-
fand Seven Hundred and Twenty One, decreed,

That the faid Mr. Wyvill fhould be paid the faid

Legacy and Intereft, together with the Cofts of

,8}
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we have gone

through thefe three articles that have been opened,
and we fhall call no more Proof to them.

Then the Houfe adjourned to Monday next at Ten
0' dock in the Forenoon.

The FOURTH DAY.

Monday, May 10.

The Lords being feated in their Houfe, and
the Managers being come, and the Earl
ftting on a Stool, as before, and his Coun-

fel and Sollicitors at the Bar, the Ser-

jeant at Arms inade Proclamationfor Si-

lence, as alfo another Proclamation, That
all Perfons concerned were to take notice,

that Thomas, Earl of Macclesfield, now
food upon his 'Trial, and they might come

forth in order to make good the Charge.

L.Ch.J. King.GEntlemen of the Houfe of Com-
mons, you may proceed.

I am commandedMr. Plummer. My Lords,

by the Commons, to affift in maintaining their

that Suit, Out of the Affets of the faid Ralph Impeachment againft Thomas, Earl of Maccles-

Sbeldon. It is further ordered, that the faid field 5 and when I confider how neceffary it is

Mafter, do, out of the money in his Hands, pay for the Honour of his Majefty's Government,

the Plaintiff, Lawrence, the further Sum of Three that an impartial Examination fhould be made

Hundred Pounds, to enable him to fatisfy the

faid Decree.

Mr. Lutwyche. Pray fhew Mr. Edwards thofe

Orders.

[The Orders fJjewn to Mr. Edwards.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire that

Mr. Edwards may be afked, whether he hath paid

any money in that Caufe?

Mr. Edwards. Here are two Caufes, which is

it you mean, that of Jones and Jett ?

Mr. Lutwyche. Yes, that of Jones and Jett.

Mr. Edwards. The money ordered, by thofe

feveral Orders, hath been paid by me.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire to know, whether Mr.
Edwards can inform your Lordfhips, whether it

is the whole money, or but in part ?

Mr. Edwards. It is the whole money in the

Caufe.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, whe-

into the Behaviour of this Earl, while he enjoyed

the High Office of Chancellor ; I am perfuaded,

that every good Subject muff with Pleafure ob->

ferve in what manner this Profecution is carried

on ; it muft be a Satisfaction to them, to fee the

Commons placing a Confidence in your Lordfhips

Juftice, and proceeding in the Legal Parliamen-

tary method by Impeachments, and your Lord-

fhips meriting that Confidence, by laying afide all

ufelefs Ceremonies, and making the Profecution

practicable and eafy. A harmony between the two

Houfes of Parliament always to be wifhed for,

and which alone can bring impeachments to a

happy ifiue, and deter great Offenders from op-

preffing their Fellow Subjects.

My Lords, In former Reigns, Profecutions of

this kind, have met with other Obftructions, and

the Crown has often interpofed its Authority to

fave a Favourite Minifter ; but, his Majefty, who

ther the money was paid out of Mr. Dormer's Ef- has no other Views, but the Welfare and Happi-

fects, or out of his own ?
ne& °^ IS People and wno is always attentive

Mr. Edwards. Out of Mr. Dome's Effects. to their intereft, was the firft who took notice,

E of Macclesfield My Lords, Mr. Edwards is that the Earl of Macclesfield had abufed the Truft

a little miftaken, pleafe to put the Orders in ;
and Confidence repofed in him. And who can

here are three Orders in one Caufe, and one in (without the da peft Senfe of Gratitude) confider

another ; I defire to know, whether in both the Conduct of his Majefty in this Affair, who

Caufes the whole money was paid out? immediately difmiffed him his Service, and left

Mr. Edwards. In that between Jones and Jett, him to the Juftice of an injured Nation ? And

the whole money was paid out, in the other be- the Earl of Macclesfield himfelf will have this Ad-

tween Sutton and Sheldon, the whole was not paid, vantage by it, that his Name will be delivered

but only Part down to Pofterity, as a monument of his Maje-

Mr Serj Penally We beg leave to afk Mr Ed- fty's Paternal Goodnefs to his People. The im-

wards, whether he did not pay the whole that was menfe Liberalities, the great Honours, the high

ordered by thofe feveral Orders ?
Dignities conferr'd on him by his Majefty, will

by

Mr. Edwards. Yes, my Lords.

Mr. Lutwyche. Mr. Edwards did tell your Lord-

fhips before, that all the money, arifing by Mr.

Dormer's Effects, was paid out and gone.

Vol. VI,

be fo many marks of his Royal Munificence to

the Earl, while he appeared to be his Worthy

and Faithful Servant. And Pofterity will with

due Veneration obferve, that neither the greateft

5 O Favour,



J84 l 95- The Trial °f
Thomas Earl o/Macclesfield, 10 G. I.

Favour, the neareft Accefs to his Sacred Perfon, future. My Lords, here is one of thofe Incon-

nor any former merits towards Himfelf, and his fiftencies the Commons take Notice of in their

Royal Family, could in his Majefty's Reign, Reply, and on which (without any farther Proofs)

fhelter the Higheft Officer of the Crown from they might fafely demand your Lordfhips Judg-
Juftice, who, prefuming on thofe Advantages, ment.

would venture to opprefs his Majefty's Loyal and But to confider his Anfwer farther : He fays,

Faithful People. he believes it will not be held criminal in him,

My Lords, The particular province,affigned me not to have eftablifhed any of the Propofals that

in this Profecution, is to make good the 1 8th Ar- were made to him by the Perfons he confulted

tide, wherein I fhall have the Affiftance of a Gen- on that Occafion : Some Things were propofed

tleman, who willamply fupply all the Defects or that he thought impracticable, fome infufficient,

Omiffions I fhall be guilty of. and fome inconfiftent with that compleat Regula-

As this Article has been read by your Lord- tion he hoped to make : The Objects, he propo-

itiips Clerk, I fhall not mifpend your Time in a fed to himfelf, were, to make good Mr. Dormer's

needlefs Repetition of it ; but will obferve, that

the Subftance of the Charge contained in it, Is a

wilful Neglect of the high Truft repofed in the

Earl of Macclesfield, as Chancellor, That he did

not reftrain the mafters of the High Court of

Chancery, from trafficking with the Suitors mo-

ney and Effects, but did permit and encourage

that Practice, tho' he was advifed to put a Stop

to it, and fully informed of the Dangers, which

were then likely to enfue, and which have fince

Deficiency, to fecure the Suitors from any fu-

ture Lofs, and to make feveral Regulations re-

lating to the Offices of the mafters : And he
thought thefe would be beft done together ; nor

had he perfected the Scheme of any of them to his

own Satisfaction.

My Lords, I am unwilling to make any Ob-
fervations on this Part of his Anfwer ; it is in

itfelf fo grofs, I am afraid, if I took it in Pieces,

I fhould appear ludicrous, which I fhall take

actually enfued, to the great lofs and Injury of great Care to avoid on fo folemn an Occafion.

the Suitors of the faid Court. But I appeal to yourLordfhips, if a Perfon was

My Lords, As this wilful Negledl is highly cri- to read this Anfwer, who was not acquainted

minal in itfelf, fo it is greatly aggravated by the with the Times of thefe Occurrences, whether

unjuft and corrupt Views which induced him to he muft not imagine that the Earl of Macclesfield

be guilty of it, and the pernicious Confluences had quitted the Great Seal within fome very fhort

which have neceffarily attended it ; and, my Lords, Time after Mr. Dormer's Failure. Whereas it has

fince you have heard the Evidence that has been appeared to your Lordfhips, that Mr. Dormer went

given on the former Articles, of the exorbitant away from that Office in the Year 1720. and

Sums of money which he exacted for the Difpo- that the Earl of Macclesfield continued Chancel-

fal of the Offices of mafters in Chancery, even af- lor till January laft, which is more than four

ter Dormer's Failure, we don't doubt but your Years after, during all which Time (by his own
Lordfhips are convinced that he left the mafters Confeffion) he knew the Affairs of the mafters

that unreafonable . unlimited power, over the of the Court of Chancery to have been in great

Effects of the Suitors of the Court, with no other Diforder, and to have wanted feveral Regula-

View, but as a bait and incitement toothers, to tions: But, becaufe he could not think of a Scheme
purchafe thofe Offices (when Vacancies fhould hap- perfectly to his Mind to anfwer all his Defigns,

pen) at the fame, or greater Prices. he therefore has done nothing. This Anfwer
As I have ftated the Charge contained in this muft be left to your Lordfhips Judgment, but

Article, in as clear a manner as I am able •, I I am afraid, my Lords, the letting the mafters

beg leave, my Lords, to make fome Obfer- go on, without any Check, was the Scheme the

vations on the Earl's Anfwer. He begins with moft to his Satisfaction, and moft effectually ob-

an abfolute Denial of his knowing, how the tain'd the Ends he really propos'd to himfelf,

which were the making an exorbitant Gain by

the Sale of their Offices, which muft have fal-

len in their Price, if a Stop had been put to

their trading with the Suitors money.

My Lords, he farther anfwers, That he re-

andmafters kept or difpofed of the money
Effects belonging to the Suitors of the Court.
This Anfwer, my Lords, was a Surprize to the

Commons, as well becaufe fuch an Ignorance
would have been criminal in the Perfon, who
ordered fuch prodigious Sums of money into their members no Propofal that he thought would
Hands, and who fhould be fuppofed to have had take it totally out of the Power of the mafters

fome Care of the Suitors; as alfo becaufe We have to difpofe of the Securities or Effects, or effe-

the cleared Proofs imaginable, that he did know ctually fecure the Cafh. I can't omit taking
it, and it has already been proved by the Exa- Notice of the wording this Paragraph ; and
mination of feveral of the mafters before your I believe your Lordfhips will agree with me, that

Lordfhips. But what Want can we have of the Words He thought, totally, and
Proofs ? when the Earl of Macclesfield himfelf in

his farther Anfwer to this Article confeffeth it,

by faying, that after Mr. Dormer's misfortune,
he thought of feveral methods, and feveral Pro-
pofals were made to him by Perfons he confulted difpofed of the Securities and Effects, and would
on that Occafion, to prevent any Inconvenience have fecured, in great meafure, the Cafh-, and this

on the like Accident, for the future. Pray let us Evidence the Earl of Macclesfield muft be well a-

effect'ually, are thrown in with great Cau-

tion. My Lords, We think we can prove to You
that a Propofal was made to him, that would have

taken it out of the Power of the mafters to have

confider, What was Mr. Dormer's, misfortune?

What was this Accident? Why truly, Mr. Dor-
mer had trafficked with the Suitors Money and
Effects, and had loft near 30,000/. And this the
Earl of Macclesfield knew, and this made him
think how to prevent fuch Inconveniencies, for the

/

ware of, for Fie has it in his Hands as well as

We ; and I forefee the Strength of his Defence,

in this Point, lies in the Caution of his Anfwer:
But, my Lords, if any Propofal was made to him,

which would have cured the greateft Part of the

Evils the Court laboured under, I am fure your
s Lordfhips
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Lordftips will hold it criminal in him not to their Power over it? Was he the only man in
have made ufe of it, and the rather, becaufe he England that knew nothing of their Deficiency ?

fubftituted no other in its room. And if he was, my Lords, Is that Ignorance an
My Lords, He admits he took no Security of Excufe, or Aggravation ? But we ft all prove 'to

the matters, and fays, he was never afked fo to your Lordftips, that he not only was told of this
do. My Lords, We will prove that he was Traffick with the Suitors money, but was fore-
asked fo to do, and that taking Security was told the Confequences of it, the Danger of fa-
part of the Propofal I have mentioned. In this ture loffes was pointed out to him, and°propofals
Place he takes Notice of his Predeceffors, who for preventing 'em were given him in Writing
(as he fays) were wifer Men than himfelf, and And who was it, my Lords, that made thefe
who took no Security of the mafters. My Lords, propofals ? Who gave him this Warnino- ? One of
We don't accufe his Predeceffors, nor are we ob- the mafters of the Court, One interefted in the
liged to juftify them ; but, if I may be permit- Traffick of the Suitors money, a Gamefter at the
ted to give my own private Opinion, It is, that fame Table with the impeach'd Earl. Advice
if fuch misfortunes had happened in his Prede- from fuch a Hand muft be fincere and unfufpect-
ceffors Days, and fuch Application had been made ed ; nothing but Juftice, or a ftrong Apprehenfion
to them, they were fo wife, they would have of their common Danger, could have extorted it

;

applied a proper Remedy :
His not doing fo, un- nothing but the blindeft Avarice could have pre-

der thefe Circumftances, We look on as a plain vented the Compliance with it. But what ftill

Permiflion, and a ftrong Encouragement to the renders this Conduct more amazing is, that the
mafters to traffick with, and employ the Suitors impeach'd Lord had not the Advantage of a fin-

money for their own Gain and Profit. And it gle propofal only, and from a fingle mafter, but
muft appear fo in a ftronger Light, when your of feveral propofals, and from feveral of 'em.
Lordftips are acquainted that Mr. Ligbtboun, who Mr. Knayfton will inform your Lordftips, That he

is himfelf a mafter in Chancery, was the Per- and other Mafters waited on the Lord Chancellor, and
Ton who made the Propofal, and who muft (by propos'd to give Security in Land, or Money, for their

my Lord's not ufing it) plainly fee, that my Lord Cafh, and to make their Truft lefs by putting the Secu-

was refolved to lay no Reftraint on them, which titles in two Mafters Names, or in the Names of the

might have tempted Mr. Ligbtboun himfelf to have Parties and one of the Mafters ; with which he
made an ill Ufe of that Power

: But as he pro- then appeared pleas'd, tho' he afterwards did no-
feffed to my Lord Chancellor his Abhorrence of thing in it, and expres'd his diflike of the propo-
the mafters abufing their Truft, by alienating fal. Yes, my Lords, the propofal was too rea-

the Suitors Effects, and dented my Lord to put fonable to be refus'd, and too felf-denying to be
a Stop to that Practice; fo it appeared by his follow'd. So far was the unfortunate Lord from
Accounts given in before the Judges, that he following it, or acting in any manner confident

had appropriated the fpecifick Securities of the with it, that foon after the Failure of Mr. Dormer,
Suitors to every particular Caufe. And, my Lords, after thefe propofals were made to him, he fells the

we look on it as a great Aggravation of the Offices of feveral mafters at moft exorbitant Prices.

Crimes contained in this Article, which I have And was this what my noble Lord fets forth in

now gone through, That my Lord Macclesfield his Anfwer, as one of the Expedients he thought of,

ftould continue to act with fuch mean, low afterDormer's Misfortune, for preventing any Incon-

Views, as were unbecoming a mafter in Chan- venience, on the like Accident,for thefuture ? W as this

eery, when he had the Afflftance of a mafter, the only Method ofCure the noble Earl brought to

who behaved himfelf with a Prudence, Integrity, fuch Perfection, as to venture to put it in Practice?

and Refolution, which would have been becoming My Lords, the Gentlemen, embarqu'd in the

the Lord Chancellor. fame Bottom with this unhappy Lord, faw the

Mr. Cary. My Lords, It is my Province to Ship finking, and propos'd throwing over-board

afiift the Gentleman, that fpoke before me, infup- part of their unjuftifiable Gains, to prevent their

porting the Charge of the Commons in the 1 8th general Wreck ; but the impeach'd Earl does not

Article, which he has open'd with fo great Force only boldly fteer on the fame Courfe, but takes in

and Perfpicuity, that it is unneceffary for me to lading, more Weight of Guilt, if not in defiance

give your Lordftips more Trouble upon it, than of the danger, certainly in the Neglect of it.

by making an Obfervation or two on the moft And how, my lords, does his Anfwer excufe

material parts. The Beginning of this Article this Conduct? He admits that feveral propofals;

fets forth, That the Earl of Macclesfield very well were made on that Occafion, but fome he thought

knew, or was inform'd, that the Mafters did, or that impraclicable, fome infufjicient, fome inconfiftent with

it was in their Power to difpofe of, and employ the that compleat Regulation he hoped to make. And be-

Suitors Money and Effects. To which, he. is plea- caufe fome were infufficient, fome inconfiftent,

fed evafively to anfwer, " That he never knew and not anfwering the full Idea of Perfection pro-

" how the Mafters kept, or difpofed of the mo- pos'd by his Iordftip, muft therefore nothing be
" ney and Effects belonging to the Suitors of attempted? Muft we have no Relief, becaufe we
" the Court." The contrary of this will be abun- defpair of an abfolute Cure ? Muft no Remedy be

dantly prov'd, in the manner the Gentleman has apply'dtoadyingPerfon, becaufe it is not certain'

already ftated it. it will reftore him to his perfect Strength ? Thus
But were it not, my Lords, fo ftrong in Proof, far indeed is certain, It is much better to do no-

the Guilt to me appears felf-evident ; 'tis much thing, than to continue fuch methods, as firft

the fame, whether he knew it, or knew it not
-,

brought the Diftemper upon him. We muft there-

hisLordftip may take the Alternative. What! did fore leave it with your Lordftips to judge, whe-

He, Lord Chancellor, fupreme Director of the ther the Inconfiftency of the propofals with the

Court, the great Truftee of England (who order'd Earl's private Views was not the true Reafon of

the money into the mailer's Hands, who order'd their being thought impraclicable and infufficient.

it out of their Hands) did He know nothing of And what thofe Views really were, the whole

Tenor
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Tenor of our Evidence has, and will fhew. Views and might be the Ruin of us all, if fuch a

beneath the Dignity of his high Office, and far Conftruction were put upon it. My Lord was
below a Member of this Auguft Affembly. pleafed to fay, it was the only Expedient he

My Lords, the Commons farther charge this could think of for making good the deficiency,

unhappy Earl, that he not only knew, but conniv'd I told him I had as much at Heart the doing

at, and encouraged this dejlruclive Traffick : And in of that as any Body-, and that it' a proper Ex-
anfwer to this, He fays :

" That he gave no pedient could be found out to pay Mr. Dormer's
" Permiffion nor Encouragement to the Mailers deficiency, and prevent the like Accident amono-
" of the Court, to employ or traffick with the us for the future, by putting the Offices on fuch
" Suitors Money." We have fhewed your Lord- a Foot, that the mafters might execute them
fhips, he knew it, and knew it in the moft affect- with Honour to the Court and themfelves, and
ing manner, by the Ruin it had produced. We with Safety to the Suitors, I fhould be glad to

need not fliew you that He had power to prevent contribute to fuch Regulations. His Lordfhip

it. And furely, my Lords, to know it and not faid he fhould be glad if any fuch Thing could

prevent it, in his Situation, was to permit it, be thought of, and afked me, if I could think

And as his not preventing it was a Permiffion, fo of any method by which that might be done,

his Example was an Encouragement : And when I told him I believed I had, at which he ex-

the Mafters faw him (the greateft Object in the preffed great Satisfaction ; and we being then

Compafs of their View) taking every indirect ftanding, his Lordfhip defired I would fit down,

method to make the moft or his High Office •, He then afked me, in what manner it was that

lure, they muft think that Example (join'd to the I propofed the Suitors fhould be made fafe : I

Neceffity he Him/elf hid them under by the exor- told his Lordfhip that I apprehended it was ini-

bitant Prices he exacted) a fufficient Encourage- poffible to expect, that the mafters could give

ment to authorize them in the like Practices in a Security adequate to fuch a Truft ; that there

theirs. The Examples of great Men, my Lords, were many Inftances of great Officers, whofe

are Encouragements, and the AfTembly I fee be- Truft was fo great as to be above giving ample
fore me is an illuftrious Proof, they ought to be Security, particularly the Tellers of the Exche-

ib, and will do Honour to thofev/ho follow them: qrier, and the Treafurers of the South-Sea and
And from the Influence thofe Examples have, and Eaji-India Companies : But if a competent Secu-

ought to have over the reft of mankind, it has rity were taken, and fuch I apprehended might
been fuppos'd, that the only Paffage to Flonour be given, I hoped it would anfwer the Intent,

was through the Temple of Virtue -, but, my and give Satisfaction, fince ample Security for fo'

Lords, tho' there be but one Paffage to it, there great Truft could not be expected. I then told

are many from it; and fo many are the Frailties his Lordfhip, that if the Caufes of Mr. Dormer's.

of human Nature, that the Building would be im- misfortunes were confidered, they would be found

perfect, without a Back-door to let out, whatfoever not only to proceed from fquandering or mifap-

fullies or pollutes it: A Door, my Lords, your An- plication of the Cafh, but from Power over the

ceftors have opened to former Lord Chancellors. Securities in his Hands ; for that the money
But we fhall call our Evidence, andfubmitthe could not be fo much, but the Securities amount-

whole with the greateft Security and Satisfaction ed to a greater Sum. He faid it might be fo,

to your Lordfhip's Judgment. but how to prevent it he would be glad to know.
Mr. Plummer. I defire Mr. Lightboun may be I told his Lordfhip, that if the Securities, for the

called. future, were to be taken in the Names of the ma-

[ Mr. Lightboun being called appeared, fter, and one or more of the Parties, the Suitors

Mr. Plummer. I defire Mr. Lightboun may in- would be fafe. It was then obferved, but whe-
from your Lordfhips, whether he had any Dif- ther by my Lord, or me, I do not remember, that

courfe with my Lord Chancellor, about putting an objection might arife to this method, for

the Offices of Mafters of Chancery into a better that if either the mafter or the party fhould die,

Regulation ? the Truft would furvive ; and thereby either the

Mr. Lightboun. My Lords, in order to anfwer Court lofe its Power over the Security, or the

this queftion it will be neceffary for me to repeat matter's fole Power over it be reftored ; but,

fome part of the Account I gave when I was laft to prevent that, I propofed that they might
at your Lordfhip's Bar. I then acquainted your be taken in the Name of two or three, or more of

Lordfhips, that in the Beginning of the Sum- the mafters, with or without the Perfons inte-

mer, in the Year 1722, the Lord Macclesfield, refted, as the Court fhould think proper; and
having directed me to attend him, told me that that it was hardly to be imagined that all the

he had heard I had not contributed my 500 /. mafters would betray their Truft, and rifque

towards making up Mr. Dormer's Deficiency, their Fortunes to oblige any one, by fuffering him
as the other mafters had done; that he did to traffick with the Securities of the Court, taken

not expect I would have flood out, and was in their joint Names ; efpecially, if Care was
forry to hear of it, as he had a more particu- taken, that fuch mafter, as was to be joined, or

lar Regard to my Conduct than any of the reft, be a Check upon another mafter, fhould have a

becaufe I was the only mafter of his immedi- Third to be a Check upon him. My Lord
ate Choice ; and on his Lordfhip's telling me Macclesfield objected, That there was a great

that it was firft propofed by the mafters, and Number of South-Sea and India Bonds, and other

not by his Lordfhip, I told him I was not wil- Securities, payable to the Bearer, that could not

ling to comply with it, and thought it a dan- be in the Names of any particular perfons, and
gerous Expedient ; that it might be hereafter fo could not be fecured in that manner ; and
looked upon as an Undertaking one for another, that it would be troublefome to lock them up.

and therefore I would not come into it ; and To which I replied, I knew no occafion for put-

that as this Accident had happened to Mr. Dor- ting out money on South-Sea or India Bonds, or

?ner, the like might happen again to others, fuch fecurities, fince there were other Securities

fufficient,
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fufficient, which might be under a proper Re-

ftriction, and which were not partable, but are

transferable in Books at the Bank, or elfewhere,

•viz. Stocks, Bank-Annuities, Civil-Lisl Annuities,

Four per Cent Annuities, Land and Malt Tallies,

and Lottery Orders, which were affrgnable by Iri-

dorfement ; and that, if thefe Securities were

taken in the Names of feveral Perfons, it would

be impoflible for any one Perfon to difpofe of

them, without the Knowledge and Confent of

all. My Lord expreffed great^Satisfaction at this

Propofal ; and then afked me, in what manner

Mr. Dormer'?. Deficiency would be provided for?

I then acquainted his Lordfhip, that there was

always a conliderable Cafh in each mailer's

Hands ; and that if fome part of that was placed

out at Intereft, in the Name of all the matters, it

would be no Injury to the Owners, if it was

ready, when called for ; and the produce would

raife a Fund to pay Mr. Banner's Debt ; and that

it was very likely the Lords of the Treafury

might, on fuch an occafion, give us the Prefe-

rence, and let us choofe a proper Part of the

loans on the Land and Malt-Tax, to lend the

money upon ; that if any mafter wanted any

Part of the money he had placed out on that Oc-

cafion, to anfwer the Suitors Demands, fuch Se-

curities were eafily converted into money. I was

unwilling to fix any Sum for each mafter to ad-

vance •, but believe I did mention 3, 4, or 5000 /.

for his Lordfhips Confideration ; and took No-
tice that would amount to 40 or 50,000 /. and

would, in due Time, raife a Sum of money fuf-

ficient to anfwer the Deficiency of Mr. Dormer.

My lord made fome Doubts ; but faid he

would be exceeding glad to give his Affiftance ;

but was afraid he could not properly order

the Suitors money to be laid out, but for their

Benefit whofe money it was. I faid, I thought

that might be done without any Order, if his

lordfhip approved it, and the mafters all came
into it, and placed it out in all their Names •, and
that at any Time, by difpofing of the Security

taken for it, the money might be raifed, when
wanted. My lord made fome Doubt, whether

it could well be done ; but was pleafed with

the Propofd : And many other Things were faid,

which I cannot, at this Diftance of Time, re-

collect. I had, my lords, two Views in it, but

won't be pofitive that I mentioned them to my
lord. I apprehended it would not only raife a

Fund to pay Mr. Dormer's, debt •, but that it would

diveft each mafter of the power over 5000/. of

the Suitors money, which he had in his Hands. I

alfo took Notice, that if fome fmall Security

was taken from the mafters, but am not certain

that I mentioned any Sum; but believe I might
fay 5000 /. and that fuch a Security, with cur

Offices, valued at about 5000/. a- piece, would,

wirh the money placed out for the Payment of

Mr. Dormer's Debt, be a Security for the money
in our Hands, were we but diverted of the power
over the Securities, which was four parts in

five of the Truft: And tho' 15,000/. will net

anfwer the mqpey which a mafter may fome-

times have in his Hands ; yet, where a man gives

a Security for 14 or 15,000/. he'll fcarce run

av/ay for 20,000/. This I thought, might be

of Service to the publick, and defined my Lord
to confider of it : And his Lordfhip faid, that

fontething might be grafted on this Plan ; and
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defired me to put it in Writing. I told his Lord-
fhip 1 did not know, whether this Scheme mi*hc
be agreeable to every Body ; that I came into the
Office but very lately ; and that it was neceflary
•for me to have a good Correspondence with my
Brethren

; and that I was afraid, if it fhould be
known that I propofed any thing without their
privity, I fhould be ufed more unkindly amon°-
them than I had already been 5 and therefor!
hoped his lordfhip would not let them know,
that it was my Propofal, nor fhew them any-
thing of mine in writing ; and tock my Leave of
my lord at that Time. The other mafters knew
I had been with my lord ; but I did not com-
municate the Occafion of my going to him, or
the Propofal; but I founded the reft of 'the
Mafters, how any propofal of this Kind was
agreeable to them : Moft of them were averfe to
it, particularly that of diverting them of the Se-
curities ; becaufe that fhew'd a Diftruft of them,
and, they faid, would diminifh the Reputation of
the Office. They were againft placing out any
fuch Sum as 5000/. fome were rather willing to
contribute annually, than to pay fuch a Sum of
money down : And finding them averfe to it, I
was a little cautious how 1 put this Propofal
into Writing. It was near a month before I kt
about it ; and then did it by way of letter, in
which I took Notice in the Beginning, that it

was in Obedience to his Lordfhip's Command.
Mr. Plummer. I beg pardon for interrupting

the Witnefs ; I defire he may be afked, if he did
not fend that Letter to my Lord Macclesfield?

Mr. Lightboun. I wrote a Letter, to the fame
Purport or Effect with what I had propofed, ex-
cept in fome Inftances which" I found other
mafters averfe to, and was cautious of carrying
it too far; and believe, inftead of 5000/. to be
placed out, I only mentioned 2000/. or fuch other
Sum as fhould be agreed on. And though I

mentioned a larger Sum, when I was with my
Lord, and a fmaller by Letter, I kh that to my
Lord's Direction, as his Lordfhip fhould think
neceffary. I don't remember, or believe, that I

took notice in my Letter of the fmall Security I

propofed to be taken, the rather, becaufe the

mafters differed much in their 1 noughts about
that: Some of them were for giving none;
therefore I faid nothing of it. I thought that

was my Lord's province more than mine ; but

I ftuck the more clofely to that of placing out of
the money, for payment of Mr. Dormer's Defi-

ciency, and taking the Securities in feveral

mafters Names. And when I had writ the

letter, I fent it to my lord about June, or July,

1722, by my Clerk, who told me he delivered it

to my Lord's Servant.

Mr. Plummer. I defire to know, if he kept any
Copy of that letter?

Mr. Lightboun. I kept the original Draught,

which I apprehend I writ the letter from. I

can't fay it is an exact Copy; becaufe in tran-

fcribing, I might after Words which I difliked,

and put in others ; and therefore I am not furs it

is a true Copy ; it may vary in Form, but not in

Subftance.

Mr. Plummer. I defire he may be afked, whe-

ther ever he fpoke to my lordabour it, and that

my Lord acknowledged the Receipt of 1

1 >

letter ?

5*
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And having before obferved, from whence this

588 I

Mr. Lighthoun. My Lords, I think I did fay,

in the Prefence of fome of the mafters, when my

Lord talked of taking Security in feveral mafters

Names, that if his Lordfhip would look into the

letter I writ to him at fuch a Time, he would

find that Propofal made : I don't remember my

Lord made any Reply, he did not deny it. But

not long before Chrifimas, my Lord did mention

this letter to me, upon this Occafion : When I

was palling my Accompt before the Judges, and

great Deficiency has arofe, I fubmit it to your
Lordfhip, whether the taking all Government
Securities for the future, in the Name of two or

more Mafters, may not prevent the like Misfor-

tune hereafter : And the Depofn to be put out to In-

tereft, to raife a Fundfor the Payment of Mr. Dor-

mer'i Debt, together with our Office, won'din agreat

Meafure, be a Securityfor the Cafh with which we
Jhould then only be intruflcd.

I expect it will be objected, againft the Depo-
the Directors of the Bank, I had told them of this

letter ; which his Lordfhip, having heard of, fit, that fome mafters may not always have that

afked me, what I had faid about it? I told his Sum in their Hands •, but I will venture to fay. 'tis

Lordfhip I had acquainted them with the Con- ftarceprobable that can happen, ifthe Money be dirett-

tents of the letter I wrote : Says He, I have that ed as ufual, to be brought before the Mafters, both

letter by me.

Mr. Plummer.

duce theiletter.

Mr. Lighthoun.

letter.

Mr. Plummer.

tion.

I defire Mr. Lighthoun may pro-

My Lords, I have not the

The original Draught you men-

[Mr. Lightboun produces the Draught.

Mr. Plummer. Is that your own Hand-writing,

and the Subftance of the Letter you fent to the

Lord Chancellor?

Mr. Lightboun. It is my Hand-writing, and

the Subftance of that Letter.

Mr. Plummer. I defire it may be read.

[Mr. Baily reads the Draught.

My Lord,
N Obedience to your Commands, I here lay

before your Lordfhip my Thoughts upon

the Affair you were pleafed to mention, when I

had laft the Honour to wait upon your Lordfhip;

and muft own, that a provifion, for the Demand
upon Mr. Dormer's Office, might anfwer our pre-

fent purpofe: But, with great Submiffion, I think

it concerns the Honour of the Court of Chancery,

to find out fome proper Expedient to prevent

the like Accident for the future : And I beg leave

by Your Lordfhip and the Mafter of the Rolls, with-

out which the Mafters can't think themfelves much in-

terefted in the Event of Mr. Dormer'* Affair.

It may alfo be objected, that the Alteration

propofed, in the future taking Government Secu-

rities, will fhew a Diftruft, and caufe Refle-

ctions upon the mafters; but I fhall think it a

Happinefs, to be diverted of a power never to

be ufed, without the greateft Violation of the

Truft repofed in us that can well be imagined;

and I think it evident, that it had been a much
greater, if we had never been intruded with it;

and as this Variation may be begun by ourfelves,

without any publick Direction or Alteration in

future Orders, I think it will rather turn to

our Reputation than Difadvantage, and will cer-

tainly eafe the minds of the Suitors, which ought

to have fome Consideration in this Affair. I am
unwilling to trefpafs longer on your Lordfhip's

Time; but if I have the Happinefs to have offered

any thing thought practicable byyour Lordfhip,when I

have the Honour to be admitted to wait upon you, I

hope to fatisfy your Lordfhip, that I fhall, with

Pleafure, contribute, as becomes vie, to facilitate any

Undertaking of this Kind; and that I have as

much at Heart the Reputation of the Office I

had the Honour to be placed in by your Lord-

to obferve, that the great Difficulty, which this fhip, asjiny of my Brother mafters. BuMw we

Gentleman has brought upon himfelf and the Court,

proceeds not only from his Squandering or Mifapplica-

tion of the Court Cafh in h's Hands (were that all,

his Eftate and Office would much more than have

anfwer 'd the Demand) but I am afraid it is too ob-

vious, that his Power over the Government Securities,

that had been transferred to, or brought before him, or

upon which he hadplaced out the Money of the Suitors

of the Court in his own Name, has been the Occafion of

this great Deficiency, which Ihope may be providedfor,

and the Credit of the Court retrieved andfupported,

by everyMafter''s advancing 2000/. orfuch other Sum
as fhall be agreed on, out of the Cafh of the Court in

his Hands ; which being placed out at Intereft, the

yearly Income thereof, together with the Produce ofMr.

have different Views, it is not furprizing that we

think not alike ; which makes me fear that no-

thing of this Kind will be approved of, unlefs re-

commended by your Lordfhip ; and am,

My LORD,

Tour Lordfhip's

Most obedient Servant,

J. Light bou n.

Mr. Plummer. What Date is it ?

Mr. Lightboun. I did not expect when I wrote

Dormer'* Eftate, will anfwer the Demands that may this letter, that I fhould have been called upon

be expected on his Succeffor; and will, in due Time, to give any Account of it, and did not put any

make good the Debt upon the Office, provided the Date to it; but to the beft of my Knowledge,

Money that has already, or may hereafter be

raifed, from his Eftate, or any other Way, for

that purpofe, be forthwith apply'd to difcharge

fuch Demands as carry Intereft, or be inverted

in fuch Securities as have been difpofed of by

it was in June, 'July, or August, 1722 ; but it is

from Circumftances I recollect that, rather than

from any Remembrance I have of the exact

Time.
Mr. Lutwyche. I only defire that Mr. Light-

Mr. Dormer, belonging to the Suitors, to anfwer houn may recollect the Time, when he firft men-

the fame and the accruing Intereft, which I hope tioned this to my Lord Macclesfield, and this

the Gentleman that fucceeds him has already taken

Care of ifnot, the Demand will rather encreafe than

Hminijh.

letter was taken Notice of to him?

Mr.
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Mr. Ughtbonn. Indeed, my Lords, I cannot State of our Offices ; and,

I believe it was at a meeting of feveral

589

do that,

of the matters, at my Lord's Houfe. I often

had the Honour to be admitted to him, with or

without other matters. His Doors and Ear

were always open to me ; and I was often

troublefome to his lordfhip. But I cannot re-

collect the Time, when this was firft mentioned.

Mr. Plummer. I think he fays the Matters

mi CTht have different Views. I defire he would

explain himfelf, what he meant by that?

Mr. Lightboun. I meant by that to put my
Lord in mind of what I had faid, when I had the

.
I concluded, that

would bring the other matters on the Stage, with-
out which, nothing effectual could be done. My
Lord faid he would have a Conference with the
matter of the Rolls, and the Matters, in order
to debate thefe matters; and I did not doubt,
but, upon that Occafion, the Deficiency of Dor-
mer's would come out, and that fomething micrht
be done for us, confiftent with the Honour ofthe
Court, and the Suitors Safety. But that Confe-
rence was delayed; the Grievances in all Re-
fpects grew greater ; we grew more troublefome
to my Lord Chancellor; my Lord then faid,

Honour to be with him laft, when his Lordfhip there was a Neceffity of redreffing all the Grie-

toldme, that the propofal of a Contribution came vances; he mentioned the matters »ivin°- Secu-

from the two fenior matters, I then faid that their rity, that of taking Securities for the Suitors in o-

Defign was only to s-kin over this Wound, till ther People's Names, and continuing the Matters

they could get out : That one of them hadflipp'd in the Enjoyment of their Offices, as they had
his Neck out of the Collar already, and another ufed to have them, and faid it would be beft to

was about getting out. I told his lordfhip, that, do all together. With this we were put off for

as I was but lately come into the Office, I pro- fomeTime, but, on further Solicitation, my lord

pofed to fpend my days or wear myfelf out in

the Service ofthe Court. Therefore, that their

Defign was to get out, and mine to continue in,

was what I meant by different Views.

Mr. Plummer. Mr. Lightboun hath given your

Lordfhips an Account of his Propofals and Argu-

ments ufed with my Lord Chancellor ; I defire to

know, whether he ufed any other inducements

faid, he was now determined to do fomething n

this Affair, and his Lordfhip defired a more par-
ticular Account of the Grievances complained of
by the matters, and their Reafons, and the In-

conveniencies to the Suitors that accrued from the

new methods, which the matter ofthe Rolls had
turned the Bufinefs of the Court into ; and that

the matter, both with refpect to the Suitors and

to perfuade my Lord to make fome Orders re- the matters, might be fully underftood, his lord

lating to the matters ?

Mr. Lightboun. It was a long Time before I

heard any more of this Affair. As they were

quiet, without any Application to me for the

500 /. or to come into any Contribution, which

fhip preffed, that fomething of that Kind might
be drawn up in Writing and laid before him, and
he would make Orders proper to make a thorough
Reformation in the Court: And, I remember
his Expreffion to me was, it would favehim much

I was refolved againft; fo I did not think it pru- Trouble, if what was drawn up by the matters,

dent for me to make any Buttle amongft my Bre- not only contained the Things which they had

thren. I thought I had done my Duty, I had Grounds to complain of, but was put into the

given my Opinion when it was required, and I Form of Orders necefiary to be made, for him to

did not ftir in it till the matters apprehended confider of, and alter, and add fuch others as

themfelves very much aggrieved, by the Variation he had prepared, or thought neceffary. And foon

the matter ofthe Rolls was pleafed to make in after, a fecond Reprefentation was prepared and

the Practice of the Court, by directing all the was delivered to my lord. And alter his lordfhip

had had it fome fhort Time, there was a Meeting
at my lord Chancellor's, where the matter of

the Rolls and the matters were prefent, and at

that Time there was a good deal of Difcourfe

money of the Suitors to be brought before his

Ufher, andfometimes to be put out by him with-

out the matters Approbation ; which not only

deprived the matters of any Advantage from

thence, but of thofe Fees that were due to them, about the money. But when the matter of the

on the receiving and placing out at Intereft, or Rolls began the Topick of his Jurifdiction, ex-

clufive ot the King's Commiffion, Heats arofe,

and little was done at that meeting. I think

fome Perfons of Quality came to fpeak with my
lord, and that broke it up. I was foon after-

wards with my lord, and I afked his lordfhip

what he intended to do: He faid he was for ry

Matters were got to that Heighth, but that he

found if the Matters would give up the Judica-

ture, they might be made eafy in their Demands,

and Things put upon the old Foot, and the Sui-

tors made fafe too. Upon that Occafion, I did

take the liberty to fay, if there was a judicial

Power in the matters by Vertue of the King's

paying it out again ; and, as I took it, it no Way
anfwered the End, nor was for the Benefit or Se-

curity of the Suitors : Becaufe if the Truft was

too great, and the Suitors Property not fafe in

eleven Men's Hands, much lefs was it fafe in the

Hands of one. Therefore I apprehended there

was Reafon for Complaint. On this Account

we had feveral Meetings; I was always ready

to come into any Reprefentation to my Lord, in

hopes that Grievances of all Kinds might be

looked into, and, I believe, often complained

to my Lord of thefe matters. We went to my
Lord Chancellor, and acquainted him of our

Grievances; my Lord defired us to put them into Commiffion, as it was his Majefty's Prerogative

Writing, we all readily concurred in that: Ac-

cordingly we drew up our Complaints of thefe,

and other Incroachments on our Offices, by Way
of Reprefentation, which was delivered to my
Lord Chancellor, and after my Lord had had it

fome Time, and nothing, done, we frequently

importuned my Lord, to confider the declining a

to grant, we could not give it up ; and that, for

my part, I would not exchange or barter it for

the Cuttody of the Suitors Money. I brieve

my lord propofed, at this meeting, to have had

the Aflittance ofthe Matter ofthe Rolls in mak-

ing thefe intended Orders; and I recollect, that

Deficiency of this laft Reprefentation,

which

o
ter tl
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which I was prefent at, I heard that my lord Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be asked
hadfhewnit to the mafter of the Rolls before whether there was any fecond Application, befor'^
the meeting, which I took amifs, my lord defi- the Reprefentation was put into Writing ?

ring it for his own private Ufe : Upon which I Mr. Ligbtboun, Immediately upon the mafter
went to him in order to withdraw it, and told of the Rolls's varying the method of the Court
him it was done in fuch Hafte, that all the Ma- and directing the money to be paid in to the
Iters had not considered it ; but whether I alledged Ufher, the mailers went to my" lord Chancel-
to him, or He to me, I don't remember, but it lor's, which I believe mult be before Cbriftmas'
was faid, that' it was very proper the Mafters 1722. I believe Mr. Holford remembers it better -

mould all fign it •, and I think I carried it back to and that from Time to Time, I have often told
the Mafters, and that we all figned it ; and then him that my lord Chancellor would do nothing
it was delivered back to my Lord. And, I be- in it.

lieve, upon the Face of that Reprefentation it will Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire to ask him, when
appear, that it was drawn up at my Lord Chan- that meeting was between the late lord Chancel-
cellor's Requeft. lor and the mafter of the Rolls ?

The firft Reprefentation was chiefly confined Mx. Ligbtboun. That I believe was the be<nn-
to fuch Grievances as affected our felves, the fe- ning of laft Summer.

&

cond is more at large •, I don't know whether his Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire he may fay who
lordfhip will produce it. Some Things in it was then prefent at that meeting with the ma-
may feem to bear hard upon his Honour the fter of the Rolls?

mafter of the Rolls, and may give Offence ; but Mr. Ligbtboun. My lords, At that meeting w ; trl

it will be confidered, that it was written at a the mafter of the Rolls the lord Chancellor
time when there were great Differences between was there, had the great Seal before him ; and the
the mafter of the Rolls and the mafters. Nay, two Senior Regifters were there, with Pen Ink and
I think I may fay, the whole Court of Chancery Paper before them, in proper Habits; the Mafter
was in a State of War. of the Rolls, and all the mafters in their Gowns

;

Mr. Plummer. I defire he may be asked, if he and the Secretary was there, and the mafters all
ever laid before my lord Chancellor the Ex- hoped the Orders were to be then pronounced -

pectations of the World ; that he would reform but I can't remember that the Remitters fet Peri.
thefe Abufes and Grievances? to Paper. The Ufher was likewife"there.
Mr. Ligtboun. I have often mentioned that' to Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may, if he can re-

my Lord, and preffed it rather more and oftener collect it, give a particular Account of what
than became me. I was afliamed to be fo trou- paffed at that meeting.
blefome, and I was furprized that my lord did Mr. Ligbtboun. The mafters infifted they had
not do fomething in it ; tho' I foon found, and a Right by Cuftom to have the money brought
have often told one or other of the mafters and before them, where there was any Reference to a
others, that my 'lord would do nothing in it. mafter, whether it was by Orders made upon
However, I continued to perfevere in preffing it

;

hearing, or by Interlocutory Orders, or if there
and exprefly mentioned the great Inconveniencies was a Direction in that Order, by which the mo-
the Court would be run into, for want of a pro- ney was brought in for the Payment, or Applica-
per Regulation, and with what an ill Grace we tion of it; in thefe Cafes they alled°ed, that the
could apply to his Succeflbrs to redrefs thefe Grie- money had, time out of mind, been^brou^ht be-
vances, in Cafe his lordfhip grew weary of the fore the mafter, to whom the reference was di-
fatigue of Bufinefs, and quitted the great Seal ; reeled ; and they did admit, that where money
-that they would tell us, we had long acquiefced was brought in upon Bills of Interpleader or In-
under them, and that his lordfhip not having fo terlocutory Orders, where there was no Refe-
much as looked into diem, they would not care rence to a mafter, the money had ufually been
to meddle or interfere in it. I preffed it home to directed to be brought into Court, in Order to
his lordfhip, and thought he made Doubts and be kept till it could be determined 'whofe it was
Difficulties where there were none. Indeed I

thought in this his lordfhip wanted his ufual

Refolution, and almoft ventured to fay fo. I

know not whether it is very proper to mention
it, but I did take the liberty to tell his Lord- ~j _ _ — j

-..„ w ,,„..„ ^«uvt(.i.V.I till \^S I

fhip, that if he did not redrefs thefe Grievances, made, declaring it fo
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or to what Ufe it was to be applied ; and there
they admitted the money was formerly kept by
the Ufher. This I apprehended was infifted upon
by the mafters as their undoubted Right, and it

was expected an Order would have been then

unlefs my lord Lecbmere fucceeded him, I defpair-

ed of feeing them fettled on any better Foot. I

. hppe my lord will pardon my mentioning his

Name.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, We have done

with Mr. Ligbtboun.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be asked,

when the firft Application was made by the ma-
fters to redrefs their Grievances?

Mr. Ligbtboun. 1 really can't tell. I went fo

frequently to my lord, that I cannot diftinguifh

one Time from another ; I believe other mafters

that went feldomeT can tell better ; but I believe

it muft be a Year and a half, or 2 Years ago, or

more : I cannot tell the Time.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire to know what fur-
ther paffed relating to Facts only, without any
Account of his own Expectations ?

Mr. Ligbtboun. Some Debate arofe about the
mafter of the Rolls's Judicature, ftarted I think
firft by himfelf.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to put Mr. Ligbtboun
in mind of fome Things, and firft to ask him,
whether upprj that Application they had made to
me in relation to the Alteration or Variation, as
he calls it, in the Practice of the Court, by the
Orders made by the mafter of the Roils, whe-
ther I did not require them to lay Precedents be-
fore me, that I might be fatisfWhow that mat-
ter flood ?

I, jr.
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E. of Macclesfield. My lords, I defire Mr. Light-

hun may be afked whether the Regifters were not

more. asked abo "t: the Practice of the Court and if in

E. of Macdesfield. Whether there had not been all their Obfervation and Experience the money
like Directions, that the Ufher mould lay Prece- in the Cafes before fpecified was order'd to the

Mr. Lighthun. Your lordfhip did-, but it was

lono- before that meeting, I believe a Year and

dents before me ?

Mr. Lighthun. I don't know of any fuch Dire-

ctions to him, but I remember my lord Chan-

cellor called for his Precedents, and wondred he

had not brought them, if he had any for his pur-

pofe

Ufher?
Mr. Lighthun. They were, my lords.

E. of Macdesfidd. And what Anfwer did they
make ?

Mr. Lighthun. They anfwered, that the mo-
ney, after hearing, and on interlocutory Orders^

had beenE. of Macdesfield. I defire Mr. Lighthun may where the Application was directed

recollecl whether the queftion was not put to the ufually ordered to the matters.

Ufher, with relation to the Ufage of the Court, E. of Macdesfield. I defire Mr. Lighthun may be

to put the money into the matters Hands, in all asked, whether it was not after this, that the ma-
Cafes where the money was brought into Court, iter of the Rolls began to fpeak with relation to

to be difpofed of, either to be put out at Intereft, the Judicature, and how that was introduced ?

or paid to Creditors, or Legatees, whether he Mr. Lighthun. I have forgot the Circumftan-

had any one Precedent to the contrary? ces and Manner of its being introduced by the

Mr. Lighthun. I remember he had none, and Matter of the Rolls. But I remember one Ex-
I apprehended the Ufher did not make out any predion of his Honour's, That he would have the

fort of Claim to keep fuch money. Matters confider how proper it was for them to

E. of Macclesfield. I don't ask what the Ufher infift upon a Judicature, which would impower
made out, but what Queftions were asked him

about the Ufage and Precedents.

Mr. Lighthun. I believe they were ask'd for,

and I am fure he then produced none.

them to order Money into their own Hands.
But how he introduced that Difcourfe I don't
know •, but I faw the lord Chancellor had not
a Mind that Topick fhould be touched upon,

E. of Macclesfield. Pray recollect, and confider; and that the Matter of the Rolls brought it in

muchagainft his Lordfhip's Inclination ; but how
I don't remember. If your Lordfhip puts me in

mind, I may recollecl:.

E. of Macdesfield. The Ufher, was not he ap-
prized of this meeting ?

Mr. Lighthun. Yes.

E. of Macclesfield. Did the Matter of the Rolls

did I fpeak to him, as to one that had not

any Precedents to produce ; or did I make men-

tion as if he had brought Precedents, and ask

him if he could fay, that among thofe Prece-

dents there was one to the Purpofe, to make out

that the Ufage was not fo ?

Mr. Lighthun. I fay your lordfhip blamed him

for not bringing thefe Precedents. I believe your give any Opinion relating to this Matter of the

lordfhip afked him, if he could bring any Prece- Money being paid to the Ufher?

dent to the Point? and, to the beft ofmy Remem-
brance, he faid he had none, or gave no fatisfacto-

ry Anfwer, but fuch as I thought evafive ; but

I cannot remember particularly what your lord-

fhip and he faid to each other.

E. of Macclesfield. This is a very indifferent

Account ; fince Mr. Lighthun hath fo good a me-
mory, I defire to know whether the Ufher was

not told, that his Precedents had been read, and

Mr. Lighiboun. He infifted on his own Judica-

ture, and both introduced and ftuck to that Dif-

courfe.

E. of Macdesfield. Do you remember his faying

that the Matters mutt not expect favour at the

Rolls, if they contended for Jurifdiction ?

Mr. Lighthun. My Lords, I do not.

E. of Macclesfield. You fpoke of my irrefoluti-

on : Was it not with refpecl to the Difpute be-

pofTibly I might have overlooked fome that were tween you and the Matter of the Rolls?

material ; and therefore defired him to fhew Mr. Lighthun. I could not tell were it ftuck,

whether there was among them any one Precedent, there was fome Difficulty made of determining

that related to money brought in, in thefe Cafes?

Mr. Lighthun. He produced none.

E. of Macclesfield, Did it not appear that he

had produced Precedents before, and they had

been read, and that poffibly I might have over-

looked fome of them?

that Matter ; but your Lordfhip did not commu-
nicate to me your Reafons why you did not pro-

ceed upon that or any other of the Matters

Affairs.

E. of Macclesfield. I prefume, Mr. Lighthun^

you did not every time you came to me, fpeak

Mr. Lighthun. On your lordfhip's mentioning to me of the Affairs wherein the Matters thought

of it, I do recollecl: fomething did appear, that themfelves hurt ?

your lordfhip had feen his Precedents, and did ex-

peel he fhould have brought more.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire he may be afked

whether he did pretend he could produce more ?

Mr. Lighthun. No, my Lord, I did not.

E. of Macclesfield. You fometimes fpoke to me
about the Money, and at other Times relating to

the Matter of the Rolls •, I defire to know, when
Mr. Lighthun. My lords, I cannot be particu- you applied to me with refpeel: to the Difputes

lar in that

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know whether he
did not own that he had no fuch Precedents?

Mr. Lighthun. In Anfwer to that, my lords, I

cannot fay pofitively he did or did not ; for I be-

with the Matter of the Rolls and the Innovations

made on your Offices ; if it was not upon that

you found me irrefolute?

Mr. Lighthun. Your Lordfhip always faid it

was proper to fettle all at one Time, that fome

lieve I have feen fome few Orders of antient Dates, Security fhould be given by the Matters, and fome-

being brought thing done to make it reafonable to expecl it

from them ; which was to eftablifh the Matters in

their juft Rights, and upon that occafion your

Lordfhip mentioned taking Securities in diffe-

5 CL rent

that were Precedents of money being brought
into the Ufher's Hands, in Order to be difpofed

of after hearing. But there were but few of
them.

Vol. VI. r
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rent Perfons Names, . and upon that Score the old

Propofal of mine was revived.

E. of Macclesfield. I have no further Queftion

to afk.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire Mr.

Holford may be called.

Mr. Holford called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, We defire

Mr. Holford may be afked, whether at any

time, and when, he heard of a Propofal made
by Mr. Lightboun, and whether it was made pub-

lick?

Mr. Holford. My Lords, a good while ago, I

believe two or three Years, Mr. Lightboun and I

had a great deal of Difcourfe about the Condition

and Circumftances the Court of Chancery was

then in ; and about the Confufion that was

like to happen by the unfortunate Accident

that had happened to Mr. Dormer. We did

talk of a great many Things that were proper

to remedy it. A great many were the fame

that are mentioned in the Letter that hath been

read. I think I told him, it was very right, e-

fpecially as to the matter of the Securities, which

was the greateft power a Mailer was trufled

with ; for, as the Securities were above three

Parts in four of the whole Truft, if there could be

a way found out to fecure that, it would be a tak-

ing away three Parts in four of our Truft •, and
confequently would not leave fo great a Power in

the Mailers ; but as long as they were taken in

the Name of one Perfon, and no truft declared,

he could difpofe of thofe Things, and no body
could hinder it. Therefore I thought it proper to

be taken in two Qr three Names. I believe when
it was propofed to be in two Mailers, it was men-
tioned there might be a third, and then no harm
could happen to the Suitors, unlcfs Corruption

ran through the whole Office. I remember
fome time after, that Mr. Lightboun did Ihew me
the rough Draught of this Letter, which he faid

he had fent to my Lord ; and we read it over to-

gether at my Houfe : I told him, it was very
right, and that he had put it upon as good a

Foot as upon the firft Confideration it could be
put upon : That every new Method was liable to

Inconveniencies, but for my Part I thought it

looked fair, in that, as to the Matter of the Se-

curities, the Money in the Mailers Hands was
left pretty much to the Direction of my Lord
Chancellor.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be asked,

whether thefe Propofals that were made were a-

greeable to him, fo far, that if they were directed

by my Lord Chancellor, he would have fubm it-

ted to them?
Mr. Holford. Yes, my Lords, I fhould have

readily fubmitted to them.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

whether he remembers any Difcourfe of thefe

Propofals before my Lord Chancellor in his pre-
fence ?

Mr. Holford, I don't remember I ever had the
Honour of fpeaking to my Lord Chancellor a-

bout any of them •, nor to have been at any meet-
ing where they were fpoken of before my Lord
Chancellor.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I defire he may be
ask'd, whether he can recollect when he had this

Difcourfe with Mr. Ligkboun, and when this

Earl of Macclesfield, 10 G. I.

Draught of the Letter was fhewn him ?

Mr. Holford. About two Years ago ; fome time
after it had been written, and fent to my Lord
Mr. Lightboun told me, fays he, I have writ to my
Lord to the Effect of what we talked of; and £

will fhew you the letter ; and he pulled out the
Copy and fhewed it me.

E. of Macclesfield. Was you at that meeting
which Mr. Lightboun hath mentioned, when the
Mafters and the Mafter of the Rolls were there ?

And what pafTed, as near as you can remember?
Mr. Holford. My Lords, I think it was upon

Midfummer Day, if I remember right, and the
Mafters, the Ufhers, the Regifters, and the Ma-
fter of the Rolls, were all there. My Lord
Chancellor declared there had been fomeDifputes
in the Court of Chancery, and he had called them
together to adjuft thofe Difputes, efpecially in re-

lation to the Money of the Court. I believe the
Ufher was called upon to know whether he had
any Precedents to offer in Juftification of his own
Right, or of what he claimed as a Right •, and
the Ufher, I think, faid at that Time, he had no
more than he had already delivered to his Lord-
fhip i I believe his Lordfhip faid thofe Precedents
were not much to the Purpofe; the Ufher faid

he had no more, and delivered no more ; and after

fome Difcourfe, there were feveral People fpoke,
the Ufher infilling there were fome Precedents to

the Purpofe. Then a Difpute arofe about the

Jurifdiction of the Mafter of the Rolls; and fo

the Affair broke up at that time. I think nothing
more was done.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire that

Mr. Kynajton may be called.

Mr. Kynajlon called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, We defire that

Mr. Kynajlon may give your Lordfhips an Ac-
count, whether he knows of any Propofal made
to the Earl of Macclesfield, relating to the fecuring

the Effects of the Suitors ?

Mr. Kynajlon. Yes, My Lords, I do ; there

were feveral meetings among the Mafters private-

ly before they came into an Agreement. I think

they all did agree, that they would go to my Lord
Macclesfield, and propofe to him to give Security,

and to fettle the Matter of the Securities fo,

that it fhould not be in the Mafters power to dif-

pofe of them. I remember it was agreed upon,
that it fhould be fo reprefented to my Lord, and
I believe all, or mofl of the Mafters, went to my
Lord Macclesfield, and did propofe it to my Lord.
I am very pofitive fome Propofals were laid before

him. Some propofed to get People to be bound
with them, but there might be fome Difficulty

in that ; others propofed that they fhould give

Land Security, but it was thought likewife that

might meet with Difficulties in relation to the

Title.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was there any Propofal

made as to the Securities in their Hands?
Mr. Kynajlon. Yes.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. In what manner was it pro-

pofed that the Securities fhould be taken ?

Mr. Kynajlon. I am not pofitive, but it was to

this purpofe ; that they fhould be put in one or two
of the Mafters Names, and of the Perfons con-

cerned. I am not certain how that was, but it

was fomething of that Kind,

Mr.
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Mr. Serj.Probyn. My Lords, I beg leave to ask fters, who are dead; and that fome of the pre-

this Witnefs when this was? lent Mafters have not produced the Ballance
Mr. Kynajion. I do not remember the time ex- of their Cam, nor given a fatisfadory Account

aftly. I believe it was fome time about Chrijlmas how the fame is to be made good, and it not
was twelve Month. having been ufual for the Mafters of the faid
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, We fhall call no Court to give Security for the Money in their

further Witnefies upon this particular Article

;

Hands, the faid Committee thought advifeable
but beg leave to refer to your Lordfhips recol- that till this Affair could be more maturely con-
ledion what paffed Yefterday, from the Exa- fidered, and proper methods eftablifhed for fe-

mination of all the Mafters, relating to the En- curity of the Suitors of the faid Court, the Ef>
couragement and Inducement that proceeded from feels herein after mentioned, which have upon
my Lord Macclesfield, to the Mafters, to perfuade this Occafion been produced, fhould be at pre-
them to make up Dormer's Deficiency, if their fent fecured in the manner herein after mention-
Offices fhould be eftablifhed on their old Foot -, ed, and recommended to the Right Honoura-
which fufficiently proves the Notice the Earl had ble the Lord Chancellor, to take fuch Order
of their trafficking and dealing with the Money therein, as fhould be proper ; all which beino-

belonging to the Suitors of the Court. In the communicated to all the faid Mafters, and the
next place we fhall lay before your Lordfhips an faid Report now read in the prefence of them
Order, made by the Earl of Macclesfield, of the all, except Mr. Kynajion, who is indifpofed, and
17th of December, 1724. Tho' as to the feveral thereby prevented from attending •, and upon hear-
Propofals made to his Lordfhip by the Mafters, ing what was alledged by the faid Mafters, and
he doubted of the power he had to make any Or- the Fafts of the faid Report, fo far as con-
der, yet when it was too late, or after the loffes

had happened, when the Affair of this great De-

ficiency appeared, then doth he make an Order,

that looks with fome Care, but with this Intro-

duction, that it was not ufual for the Mafters to

cerns their refpeftive Securities in their Hands
and Power, and the Ballance of Cafh. in their

Hands not being controverted, his Lordfhip
therefore doth think fit, and fo order, that the
faid mafters, Mr. Holford, Mr.Lovibond, Mr. John

give Security ; tho' it appears to your Lordfhips Bennet, Mr. Godfrey, Mr. Lightboun, Mr. Conway
that they had offered it, and were willing to

do it.

Mr. Ralph Paxton proves the Order,

Clerk reads, Ordo Curia Jovis Decimo Septimo

die Decembris, 1724.

WHereas his Majefty has been pleafed to

appoint a Committee of feveral Lords and

others, of his moft Honourable Privy Council ;

to make fome Inquiries concerning the Court of Exchequer Annuities and Orders, and other

Mr. Edwards, Mr; Thomas Bennet , Mr. Elde, and
Mr. T'hurfton, all now prefent, and likewife Mr.
Kynajion, do forthwith prepare and fend to the
Bank of England, every one a Cheft with one
Lock, and Hafps for two Padlocks ; the Key of
the Lock to be kept by the matter, and the

Key of one of the Padlocks by Mr. Smith, and
Mr. Malthus, two of the Six Clerks of this

Court, or one of them, and the Key of the

other by the Governor, Deputy Governor or

Cafhier of the Bank-, and that all the Bonds,

Securities given in upon their faid Accompts,
as Securities belonging to the Suitors of this

Court, or as the proper Securities of the faid

mafters, towards making good the Ballance of

their refpeclive Cafh ; and likewife the Bank
Notes and Cafh fo given in, and not fince paid

to, or laid out for the Suitors of the Court,

Chancery, and particularly concerning the Mo-
nies of the Suitors of that Court, in the Hands
of the Mafters or other Officers of that Court,

and to confider which way the fame may be beft

fecured ; and the Lord Chancellor having at their

Defire ordered the feveral Mafters to give in

their refpeclive Accompts, which they according-

ly did ; and Mr. Baron Gilbert, Mr. Juftice Den- be depofited in the faid Chefts, under the In-

ton, and Mr. Juftice Raymond, and likewife Sir fpection of Mr. Baron Gilbert, and the other per-

Nathanael Gold, Mr. Thompfon, and Mr. Hanger, fons appointed, as aforefaid, to infpect the ma-
three of the Directors, and one of them Deputy fters Accompts, or of fome of them •, and that

Governor of the Bank, having been appointed then the Chefts be locked up, and left in the

and defired by the faid Committee, to infpect Cuftody of the Bank of England ; but fo to be

and examine the faid Accompts, and who have kept, as that the mafters may have eafy Ac-

proceeded fo to do, and after having been feveral cefs thereto, to comply with the Orders of this

Times attended by the faid Mafters, have made Court, till further Order may be taken concern-

a Report thereof to the faid Committee of Coun- ing the fame ; and whereas the mafters have

fel; whereby it appears, that, tho' all the Ma- in their feveral Accompts given in particulars

fters of the faid Court have produced before of Stock, and of Annuities, transferable in the

them all the Securities and Certificates of their

having the Stock and Annuities in their Names

;

which upon their Accompts, they appear to be

chargeable with as belonging to the Suitors

of the Court, and much the greater Part of
the Mafters have brought before the faid Mr.
Baron Gilbert, and other Perfons above named,
their Cafh or Securities eafily convertible into

Money, Certificates of Stock, and Annuities fuf-

ficient to make good the Ballance of their Ac-
compts : Yet upon the faid Report it appears
that there are yet confiderable Deficiencies of
Monies, which were in the Hands of fome Ma-

Books of the feveral Companies, Handing in their

Names, which belong to the feveral Suitors of

this Court, or as their own proper Stock and

Annuities, by which part of the Ballance of

Cafh in their Hands may be made good or

fecured ; it is further ordered, that they do

each of them forthwith deliver in to the refpe&ive

Company, a Declaration in writing, wherein

fuch Stock in each refpeftive Company, or the

Annuities there transferrable, as by their re-

fpective Accompts, appear to belong to the Sui-

tors of the Court, and likewife the Stock and

Annuities by them refpeftively propofed towards

making
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making good, or fecuring their Ballance ofCafh,

or fo much thereof, as mall equal the Ballance

of their faid Accompt ; in Cafe they have in

their Names more than fufficient for that Pur-

pofe, it fhall be declared to be upon Truft, to

attend the Orders of this Court ; and the faid

refpective Companies are to take Care, that pro-

per Entries be made thereof in their Books, fo

that fuch Stock or Annuities be not transfer-

red, but by Order or Leave of this Court, and

the faid mailers, upon performing the Order

above, are to take proper Certificates, figned

by Mr. Baron Gilbert, and the other Perfons ap-

pointed as aforefaid, to infpect the faid Ac-

compts, or fome of them ; and by the Perfons

keeping the Keys of the faid Chefts, of the

Particulars of the Bonds, or other Securities}

The Trial 0/Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, 10 G. 1.

« pear able and fufficient, and that if they made
* a bold ftand now, it wou'd prevent a parlia-
« mentary Inquiry. In the next Place, That
4 the Earl peifuaded feveral of them, to make
« falfe Reprefentations of their Circumftances to
« his Majefty, by adding a Subfcription to their
« Accounts, that they were able and willing to
« Anfwer the Effects in their Hands, tho* the
« Earl then knew, or had good reafon to be-
* lieve the contrary; and that feveral of the
* mafters, according to the Earl's advice, did
« fupply others with Money and Effects, to make
* a falfe Shew, and Appearance of their Abi-
f lities.

Your Lordfhips take notice, that the time
mentioned in the Article, is November laft ; at
which time, and for fome Years before, the King-

Cafh and Notes, depofited and locked up in dom had rang of the Abufes and Corruptions of

fuch Chefts, as aforefaid, and Certificates Sign- the Court of Chancery, with little hopes of Re-
ed by the fame Perfons, and by a proper Offi- drefs, but from the Juftice of Parliament: The
cer of the Bank, that fuch Chefts are depofited Earl cou'd not but forefee, that the Period was

in the Bank, and Certificates figned by the then drawing near, when the Cries of the Op-
proper Officers of the refpective Companies, of preffed and the univerfal Diffatisfaction, rais'd

the Declarations made as aforefaid, by the re- againft his Adminiftration, wou'd fome way or

fpective mafters, and of the Entries thereof; other, force its Relief.

and it is further ordered that the Goldfmiths This Cry for Juftice having reach'd his Majefty's

Notes, produced by the faid mafters, in giv- Ear, He was pleafed to direct the Inquiry mend-
ing in their Accompts, be by them turned in- on'd in the Article, and whilft this was depending,

to Bank Notes, and fo depofited as aforefaid ; the impeached lord finifh'd that Scheme of Inl-

and the faid feveral mafters are forthwith to quity, he had carried on fo long without con-

give Mr. Baron Gilbert Poll-Accompts of their troul.

Receipt and Payments, fince the former Ac- The Facts charg'd in this Article contain in

compts, and a Copy hereof is to be deliver'd themfelves the vileft Deceit and Treachery ;

to Mr. Kynafian, he not being now prefent ; heighten'd, and aggravated by the wicked Purpo-
and another Copy left at the publick Office of fes, for which they were contrived ; Firft, to have
the mafters, with their Clerk there, for their mifled the Council Board into a groundlefs Belief

more eafy Recourfe thereto, in order to their of the mafters fufficiency to anfwer the Suitors

;

exact Compliance therewith. and on this Foundation he built a more impious,

but more fatal Project, the preventing a Parlia-

Edw. Goldesbrouh. mentary Inquiry.

The Anfwer given by the Earl to this Article

Deputy Regifter. deferves a particular Notice ; He fays, ' That up-
8 on great Confideration of Dormer's Deficiency,

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. By this Order your Lord-

fhips will obferve, that fome of the infuperable

Difficulties were furmounted, and fome of the

Evils cured ; and tho' that Method will not take

it totally out of the Power of the mafters, yet

why the noble Lord could not have proceeded fo

far before, is left to your lordfhips Determinati-

on ; we fhall not call any further Witneffes on

thefe Articles, we apprehend we have fully made

them out. The honourable Gentleman who opens

the next Article, will proceed.

Lord Morpeth. My Lords, It falls to my lot, to

open to your Lordfhips the 19th Article of this

and the Danger there might be of further In-

conveniencies with relation to the Suitors Ef-
fects, of fome Difputes in the Court, and of
fome Practices of the mafters, which he thought

ought to be reformed, he was convinced, it was
a work of too great Confequence, for him fingly

to attempt ; and being highly fenfible of his

molt facred Majefty's paternal Goodnefs, did

prefume humbly to befeech his Majefty, as the

Fountain of Juftice, to depute lbme of his

Privy Council to take the Matters into Con-
fideration.

My Lords, Seven Years, and more had pafs'd

impeachment, and, it being fome time fince it was fince he was made Lord Chancellor, three Years,

read at your Table, 'twill be neceffary for me fince Dormer's, Deficiency, without one honeft

fhortly to recollect it. Thought, for any thing that has yet appear'd, or

The Article charges, * That his Majefty, ha- one fincere Step taken by him, for the Honour
* ving in Novemb. laft, directed an Inquiry into of the Court, or the fafety of the Suitors, if

' the Accounts of the mafters, to the intent, that the Examination order'd by his Majefty, did
« proper methods fhould be taken, for the Secu- fpring from his Lordfhip's Requeft, his real In-

* rity of the Suitors, the Earl of Macclesfield, tention, in defiring it, will be belt known from
* being then Lord Chancellor and one of the his former Conduct, and from the Ufe, we fhall

1 Privy Council, in order to obftruct the fame, prove, he intended to have made of that Inquiry;
* and to prevent a parliamentary inquiry into the his paft Behaviour has already appear'd to your
' Condition of the Offices of the mafters, did, in Lordfhips, to have been a Series of Extortion
* the firft Place, advife the mafters to affift each and Oppreffion, conftantly attended with the

' other with Money and Effects; and for their vileft and meaneft Artifices to keep it fecret;

* Encouragement, reprefented to them, that it the King's paternal Goodnefs was moft noto-
s wou'd be for their Honour and Service to ap- rioufly abufed, by him, who was intruded to

difpenfe
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Difpenfe it ; and that Fountain of Juftice pol- By this he confefles, he did think of prevent-

luted which he now dares to name in his De- ing the Inquiry of Parliament.

fence
'

;
\

He has not dared to deny the Facts charged,

I think my felf juftified in charging this Part from which this Defign was manifeft, becaufe he

of his Defence, as an Ad of high Diffimulation knew they would be fully proved, But the Sub-

before your Lordlhips ; and a prefumptuous At- terfuge he flies to, viz. that he did intend to pre-

tempt, to cover his own Guilt under his Ma- vent it, by rendring it unneceflary, is impoffible

jetty's' facred Name, and the Orders he was to be believed, tho' the Commons fhou'd offer no

pleafed to give for that Inquiry. The Earl has, Proofs at all to this part of the Article; unlefs

indeed, acknowledged one Truth, in this part his Lordfhip imagines, that he is able to carry on

of his 'Anfwer, ' That the great Deficiencies, the Impofition fo far, as that the concealing from
' and Danger to the Suitors, and the Practices his Majefty the true Condition of the Suitors, by
« of the Mailers (which he does not name, the methods he was then practifing with the ma-
1 but fays) ought to be reform'd, had con- fters, fhould be taken by your Lordlhips to be the

« vinc'd him, that the Reformation of them means of procuring them full Redrefs; and it is

* was a Work too great for him, fingly, to felf-evident, that if his Contrivance had taken

c attempt. place, the immediate and full Relief of the SuU

My Lords, The many Proftitutions of the tors, which was his Majefty 's gracious Pur pole,

Dignity of the great Office, which have been had thereby been wholly defeated : The Commons
proved upon him, had doubtlefs greatly wound- therefore may infift upon it, that this flagrant

ed the Honour, and Authority of the Court it- Circumftance is eftablifhed by his own Confef-

felf; and the Earl had bound himfelf fo faft fion, efpecially fince your Lordlhips find that in

to thofe Mafters, whom he had admitted, by the following parts of his Anfwer, the Earl de-

the Bands of Corruption, which he had not clares, ' That Mr. Holford having fubfcribed his

Accounts, with a Declaration of his Abilities,

and Readinefs to anfwer the Suitors, and fome
of the mafters having ufed Expreffions, as he
thought, not fo proper, others of them having

made no Conclufions at all ; he did advife them
all to write the fame Words under their Ac-
counts, as Mr. Holford had done, and did tell

them, in great Sincerity and Friendlhip, that at

a Time when fo many Mens Mouths were open
againft them as infolvent, it would be for their

Honour and Intereft to make it appear that

they were able.'

Thus far the Anfwer is a full Confeffion, that

Power to break through, that nothing which

tended to the Honour of that high Court, or

the Advantage of the Suitors, cou'd be expected

from his Hands.

The next Paflage of his Anfwer is a wretched

Mixture of the moft abject Flattery of fuch of

your Lordfhips, as attended that Committee,

to whom, I believe, his Lordfhip very truly

Declares, he was entirely fubfervient; and of

falfe Praifes of himfelf, for the great Services

he contributed to that Inquiry : However, after

this Introduction, the Anfwer goes on and de-

clares, ' That he' is greatly furprized, to find

6 himfelf charged with Obftructing the taking he advifed all the Mafters to add Mr. Holford's

« thofe Accounts, which he had thus defired Conclufion to their Accounts.

« mi^ht be taken, and had promoted with all His Lordfhip fays, he was induced to do this

< his" Power. from their afluring him they were able ; this Af-

This is a poor Evafion and Affectation of Inno- fertion will appear to be notorioufly falfe; how-

cence, and the more furprizing, to come from ever, if it had been true, his Lordfhip, it feems,

his lordfhip, whofe mifconduct had fo notori- took their bare Words for it, at the fame Time

oufly been the Occafion of that Inquiry. And that he declared to them, that fo many Mens

the Charge is not, as he infinuates for obftruct- Mouths were open againft them as infolvent

:

ing the taking the Accounts, but, for procuring But here, unhappy Man, he flies again for Sanc-

falfe Accounts, and Reprefentations to belaid tuary to. the Integrity of his own Heart, and

before the Council, by which means that inquiry allures your Lordfhips, ' That he never thought

might have been fruftrated. ' ofa Contrivance to have them deceitfully ap-

But he proceeds in his Anfwer to a Declara- ' pear to be what they really were not' ; tho*

tion, the moft aftonifhing of all others, * That this Declaration of the Innocence of his Mind
« he' never thought of preventing a Parliamen- ftands alio in direct Contradiction to the Fact

' tary Inquiry, any otherwife, than by making it he had juft before confeffed ; and in the very

« unneceflary, and procuring to the Suitors a full next Lines he again confefles, that fome of the

1 Redrefs of 'all their Grievances, and rectifying mafters, purfuant to his own Directions, did

* whatever he found amifs ; and that he looked withdraw to add the fame Words to their Ac-

* upon to be his Duty, and begs leave to fay it counts, as Mr. Holford had done to his ; which

* here, once for all, in Anfwer to all the Infi- he carried to the Council without looking into

nuations of that kind contained in any of the them, and, when they were read there, the Ma-
i Articles' fters, n feems vvere honefter Men than the Earl

By the laft Words, the Earl, in a very fummary expected, or would have had them to be; for,

manner, pronounces his own Acquittal ; butyour notwithstanding his Advice, all or them did not

lordfhips will obferve, that the Article charges make thefe Subfcnptions to their Accounts.

To the other Charge in the Article, of his ad-

vifing them to ftand by one another and appear

able, his Lordfhip has given a particular Anlvver,

' That an Order being made upon the Mafters,

' to produce their Securities and Cafh, and the

« Mafters complaining of the fhort Time to pro-

' duce fuch great Sums, he conf-flcs, he did lay,

him, in plain Words, with actual advifingthe ma-

fters to mifreprefent their Accounts, in order to

prevent a Parliamentary Inquiry, and that, if they

made a bold ftand now, it might prevent one

;

His lordfhip anfwers, that he never thought ot

preventing it, otherwife, than by procuring full

Redrefs, tsV.

Vol. VI. R that
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c that he required them to beftir themfelves, and
* might fay, that fome of their Brethren might
« perhaps be able to let them have Money, till

* till they could raife it another Way.'

The Excufe he offers for this Advice, is a very

unjuftifiable one, it is, that the mafters declared

to him, that they had not the Suitors Effects rea

10 G.I.

My Lords, The Part which Mill remains to me
is fuch, as I own my felf utterly unable to per-
form, I mean, to aggravate this Offence in iuch
Manner as it deferves ; the amazing Scene this

Article has opened, muft not be judged of fine-

ly, and by it felf; nor can it be accounted for but
as the Offspring of a Mind thoroughly debafed

dy, which, by the Duty of their Offices, his lord- and flowing from the mod incurable Corruption

fhip knew they ought to have had, but had Ef- And tho' they have ifiued from that Source, as

feels fufficient to raife the whole, if they could from an unexhauflible Fountain, yet it can't be de-

have had more Time. By his own account of nied, but as the Earl's third for Lucre grew
this Matter 'tis plain, that the Mafters did at that ftronger upon him, with that his Invention alio

Time difclofe to him one of the Practices, which has conftantly improved into fome new Device

'twas his Duty to have reformed ; and yet your or Management for fecuring his exorbitant Ad-
Lordfhips fee what Confideration he had of it •, vantages, by preferving the Secret. 'Twasa re-

even at this Juncture he advifed them to fupply markable Law, in one of the wifeftof the Grecian

one another, which they accordingly did, and the Governments, arifing from their Dread and Ab
Deceit prevailed, till the Order for carrying

the Securities and Cafh to the Bank made the

Difcovery.

Perhaps, my Lords, I have dwelt too long on

the Earl's Anfwer ; but, I think, it will appear

to your Lordfhips to betray fuch a Confufion

of Mind, as nothing but theheavieft Preffuresof

horrenceof a corrupt Judge, That no Man, bred

up to Merchandice, fkould be admitted into any Of-
fice of Judicature, till he had quitted that Employ-
mentfor at leaft ten Tears ; and the Reafon was,

becaufe the Fingers of Merchants had been too

much ufed to Traffick.

The Earl's Adminiftration, in the higheft Seat

Guilt could have produced, and is a ftronger of Juftice in this Kingdom, has appeared to your

Conviction of him than a thoufand WitnefTes. Lordfhips to have been one continued pyratical

I will, in the next Place, give fome fhort Ac- Trade-, during the Courfe of which, from Time to

count of our Evidence to this Article. The Ma- Time, as Opportunities have offer'd, hehasprey'd

fters themfelves will prove the Earl's Directions, alike upon Mafters and Suitors-, his craving Ap-
either given by his own Mouth, or by hisSecre- petite was, in no Sort, check'd by the approach
tary's, when they were required to make up their of Death itfelf; and the Hand of a dying Chan-
Accounts to be laid before the King in Council, cellor, as he exprefs'd himfelftooneof the mafters,

that they ffiould ftand by one another, and give was open'd to receive that unjuft Gain he had fo

the belt Account, they could, to prevent a Par- plentifully fed upon in full Health : To which,

liamentary Inquiry, and that they need only to and his other Misbehaviours, your Lordfhips now
produce or fhew^ Bank or Goldfmith's Notes-, fee, that not only the Ruin of many even of the

and that it was a critical Juncture, and that the Mafters, but the Difhonour, Diftrefs and Confu-

Strong fhould affift the Weak, and that they fion ftill remaining in that part of the publick Ju-
muft make a Stand, and defeat the Defigns of ftice muft be imputed -, and how groundlefs and

their Enemies. unaccountable foever the repeated Affertions in the

We fhall farther prove his Lordfhip's exprefs Earl's Anfwer, that the Mafters freely and volun-

Directions to the mafters, to add the fame Con- tarily parted with their money to him, now ap-

clufion to their Accounts, as Mr. Holford had done

to his, which was, that they were able and ready

to anfwer their Balances : tho' the Earl did not fo

much as ask any of them whether they could

make it good, and fome of them declared the

contrary ; and at that Time alfo he told them,

that it would be for their Honour and Service,

and that it would look well to the Council to ap-

pear able and willing.

We fhall alfo prove, that this falfe Advice of

pear to be -, yet, from the Unwillingnefs and
other confeious Circumftances, with which he has

fince, at feveral Times, refunded fome parts of his

extorfive Gains, tho' the Guilt is not leifen'd, his

Lordfhip is thereby Self-condemn'd.

The Fund out of which he has raifed his un-

warrantable Profits, ought to have been held by

him as facred and inviolable, being depofited in

the Sanctuary of his own Court: Flis Extortions

therefore muft be judged of, not as private Vio-

the Earl was followed by feveral of the Mafters, lations of Property, but as Pillage taken from the

in both Refpects ; and that afterwards, when the Treafure of the Publick; the Livelihood of the

Suitors Effects were to be carried into the Bank, Widow and Fartherlefs under the Protection of
feveral of them who had before appeared able, the Law, in a Court of Juftice ; great part of it,

now proved deficient in great Sums, and Bank
and Goldfmiths Notes, and other Effects, to a

great Value, with which feveral of them had
been accommodated, and which they had produced
to the Perfons appointed to examine the Accounts,
and which, as appears by the Reports on your
Lordfhips Table, they had fworn to be their own,
and not lent them for the Purpofe of accounting,

now vanifhed, and a Deficiency appeared of four-

fcore thoufand Pounds and upwards, which ftill

continues.

. This Evidence will fully maintain our Article,

and, if any Proof is neceffary, will fufficiently

clear up the Earl's Intentions.

perhaps, dedicated to Charities: And how far

your Lordfhips may, in this Refpect, confider it

as a facrilegious Plunder, is left to your Judg-

ment : However, the injuries done to di ft relied,

fhip-wreckd Sufferers, have been always efteemed

the higheft Barbarity.

But the Methods the Earl has ufed from Time
to Time to excufe and cover his Crimes, tho' they

were the natural Refuse of an obftinate unrelen-

ting mind, yet are more heinous than the Crimes

themfelves. Your Lordfhips can't forget the Oath

of his Office, which he has fet forth at large in

his Anfwer ; he was fworn to do Right to all man-

ner of People, poor and rich, according to the Laws
and
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and Ufages of the Realm, and not to do or fuffer the mediate Effect : For an eminent Hiftorian of
Hurt of the King, ifhe could hinder it

; if not, clearly thofe Times has recorded, that fome Time after
and exprefiy to make it known to him, with his true his Sentence in Parliament, meetino- the Earl of
Advice and Counfel. 'Tis fuprizing to find his Mddlefex, then Lord Treafurer (whom he had
Lordfhip to have fo utterly abandon'd all Regard Ground to fufptct to have been instrumental in
to this folemn Obligation, as the whole Courfe his Difgrace) in Difcourfe with him he recom-
of his Behaviour fully demonstrates. You have

alfo heard the Oath he caufed to be adminifter'd

to the mafters, immediately after he had fhared

with them the Eftates of the Suitors •, by which

Oath they were likewife Jfflorn neither to do Hurt to

mended it as a Rule to be obferv'd by the Earl,
and all great Officers, to

Remember a |3arliamen£ (mil come.
And the fame Author further obferves, that

tho' the Lord Bacon had not the Spirit of Divina-
the King, nor to do any Fraud to the Hurt of any of tion, and tho' the Treafurer defpifed and laughed
the People; and it has appear'd in what manner at his Advice, yet, within two Years after^rhe
they have fince been practifed and tamper'd with Treafurer alfo was condemned in Parliament
by the Earl himfelf, in order to conceal and fup- for Bribery, Extorfions, Oppreffions, and other
prefs the Knowledge of the Grievances of the Sub- grievous mifdemeanors.

ject, which he had procur'd ; fometimes they were I will conclude with one Obfervation more: It

threaten'd, at other Times cajoled and feduced, may, my Lords, be too justly apprehended, rhat
but always deceived ; and this Artifice, difclofed the moft dangerous Symptoms of a declining Corn-
by this Article, was his laft Shift. When he faw monwealth do then appear, when Men°in the
the Storm began to arife, he deliberately contrived higheft Stations in Government, efpecially thofe
to turn the fatherly Goodnefs of his bountiful which concern the Administration of Juftice, fhall

mafter to the Destruction of his People, and, be fo fir loft to all Senfe of Virtue, as 'to be
by this moft unparallel'd Attempt, to have ren- guilty of fuch odious Crimes as thofe now charg'd
der'd the Throne it felf the Shelter of his Iniqui- upon the Earl; yet, we promife ourfelves, that
ties, and acceffary to his Oppressions •, but 'twill

now appear, that this was conducted to another

Point, to skreen himfelf from the Juftice of Par-

liament.

My Lords, There have been Crimes fo unex-

ampled, and of fo horrid a Nature, that the

in

afford us

the Punifhment of

a hopeful Profpect

your Lordfhips Justice,

thofe Crimes, will

of a reviving State ; and that whenever the Cnmes
and Mifdemeanors of this unfortunate Earl fnall

hereafter be mentioned, it will be remembred at

the fame Time, for the Honour of your Lord-
Malefactors have been try'd at midnight, and im- fhips, and the Benefit of the whole Nation,
mediately drown'd, and the Journal Books burnt, that he received a Condemnation fuitable to
in Com passion to mankind, that the memory of his Guilt.

the Proceeding being destroyed, the Crime it felf Mr. Sndl, My Lords, I would gladly have
might not be propagated. been excufed this Service, becaufe I have been
The Offences of the impeached Lord are ri- extreamly indifpofed, ever fince I receiv'd the

pened to a Fulnefs furpaffing all Belief, too big in- commands of the Houfe of Commons, and becaufe
deed for the ordinary Hand of Juftice -, but the lam otherwife truly fenfible of my Inability to

Commons of Great Britain, whofe Inquiry he execute thofe Commands, in the manner they
vainly flattered himfelf he could prevent (tho' the ought to be executed. But thefe Reafons, being
Terrors of it had long lain upon his Breast) have, thought infufficient by others to prevail for my
by this Time, I prefume, convinced his Lordfhip •,

and his Example will, I hope, convince the

World, that no Offender, how great or fubtil

foever, can efcape their Juftice, of which this

abfence, it is no longer a matter of Choice, and

I muft comply with the duty impofed upon me.

Your Lordfhips therefore will be pleafed to con-

fider (as the Truth is) that what 1 have to fay is

publick Proceeding will be an eternal monument, only the Product of a few Hours, and that it is

as well as of the Shame of the unfortunate Earl.

The Lord Bacon, one of his Predeceffors, made
a frank Submission to your Lordfhips Ancestors

upon the Accusation of the Commons, and ta-

king Comfort to himfelf from his Afflictions, ufes

thefe Words, ' That hereafter the Greatnefs of a

* Judge or magistrate fhall be no Sanctuary or
4 Protection to him againft Guilt •, and that, af-

' ter his Example, it was like, that Judgeswould
' fly from any Thing in the Likeness of Corrup-
* tion, tho' at a great Distance •, which tends to

* purging the Courts of Juftice, and reducing

impoffible for me, in fo fhort a Time, to offer

any Obfervations, any Arguments, but fuch as will

appear crude and indigefted on this great and

important Subjeil.

The Earl then at the Bar ftands under an Im-

peachment of all the Commons of Great Britain, of

high Crimes and Mifdemeanors in his late Office of

Lord high Chancellor, and tho' the Charge ag.iinft

him in the Article now under your Lordfhips con-

fideration, be of a different Nature, yet in every

Circumftance it is as highly criminal, as any of

thofe that have gon; before it. The Accusation

' them to their true Honour and Splendor.' He hitherto has generally run upon Corruption in the

did, indeed, urge it as no fmall Excufe for him- fale of Offices, Extortion, and a Series offoul Pra-

felf, that Bribery and Corruption, the Vices of ftices to cover and conceal the Deficiency in Dor-

. which he flood impeached, were the Vices of the mer's Office, which had drawn upon him an uni-

Times ; but the'Commons rejoyce to find, that

the Earl, now before your Lordfhips in Judg-
ment, has no Ground to claim the fame Excufe.

The Admonitions left by that penitent great

Man, and the juft Punifhment he underwent, have,

I believe, conduced to prevent the like Evil for

near an hundred Years, tho' they had not an im- cf the injured 'Suiters. Thefe clamours had juiUy

a ri fen

verfal Cry for Redrefs. All the littie Arts, that had

been plaid over and over again upon the Mafiers,

either by applying to their Hopes,^or Fears, as

opportunity olfer'd, had prov'd ineffectual •, and

fome other expedient muft be found out, fome

invented, to quiet the clamoursnew Stratagem
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arifen from a Suppofition of the Mafters Injolvency, a bold and defperate Attempt to miflead his Ma-
and no method could be fo likely to ferve his jefty, and to obftruct his gracious Endeavours
turn to appeafe them, as one, that would make to find out proper Methods for fecurino- the Mo-
tbe Mafters feem to be folvent. He therefore ven- ney and Effects of the Suitors, which is an In-,

tur'd to advife them to aflift one another, to re- (lance on one Hand of his bafenefs and ingratitude
prefent their Circumftances in a falfe Light, by to his Sovereign, to whom he ow'd every thing ; on
Subfcribing their Accounts as Mr. Holford had the other of his Injuftice and Barbarity to thofe of
done ; and thus hepropos'd to deceive the Suitors, hisfellow Subjecls, whom he had injur'd, whom he
and to make the Mafters appear to the,World able had opprefs'd, during the whole courfe of his Ty-
to anfwer the Monies and Effects in their Hands

:

rannick Adminiftration.

But this laft Effort was as unfuccefsful as his What, my Lords, muft have been the Con-
former. For if the Mafters were able and fiif- fequence, if this Contrivance had pafs'd ? And ic

ficient, what reafon could he have for his Ap- would have pafs'd upon a Prince of lefs Difcern-
prehenfions of a

v
Parliamentary Enquiry ? If they ment than his Majefty. Whenever it had been

were not able, he had indeed reafon for fuch difcovered, all the Obloquy would have been
Apprehenfwns, which leaves your Lordfhips no thrown upon his [acred Per/on, as if he had been
room to doubt, but that this Advice was given engaged in a Confederacy to Jkreen that Guilt which
with a View only to keep the Affair out of he was labouring to detetl. But the Earl's avari-
Parliament; and the conftant Anxiety he la- tious Temper had ftt fo wrong a Bias upon his Ac-
bour'd under to fecure that main Point, does tions, that the Means by which he propofed to
more than decypher the Secret of the whole Tran- fhelter himfelf, and to conceal his Depredations
faction.

(

have brought upon him (what he fo long dreaded

J

Now, my Lords, this extrordinary Step could this jus! and neceffary Profecution.

not proceed from any Doubt the Earl could have, As to the Earl's Anfwer to this Article, I hope
whether the Parliament was able and willing to I may be excufed the Liberty of faying, that it is

redrefs thefe Grievances and Inconveniencies, or either vain, evafive, or falfe.

whether it would contribute its Afilftance to the He begins with enumerating the many Incon-
Relief of the Suitors : No, my Lords, he knew veniencies and Abufes, which he thought necef-
very well, that the Parliament was the proper fary to be reformed in the Court of Chancery
Place for redreffing Abufes in the Courts ofJ uft ice. and with affuringyour Lordfhips of his good In-
He was fenfible too, that it had always interpos'd tentions to contribute to the Reformation of them -

with Accufations and Impeachments, and that ill but your Lordfhips will belt judge of this pretend-
aclions had, in no Age, met with Favour there, ed Zeal, and of the Sincerity and Candour, with
He could have no Hopes that his Ambiguity which it is urged, by considering the conflant
of Expreffion, his Dexterity in playing upon Tenor of his A&ions, by examining whether he
Words, in wrefting their proper Senfe and Mean- can produce any Inftance of his having endea-
ing, could (land .him in any Stead ; or that all voured to correct thefe Abufes, or to remove
his Subtilty could be a Match for the Wifdom of thefe Inconveniencies. Now I don't find thro'
the Legiflature: But, perhaps, he might imagine, his whole Anfwer, nor have I heard it afferted
that a Committee of Council might be wrought up- that he ever attempted any Thine* of that Kind.
on, and milled by Appearances, at lead fo far, On the Contrary, it is too apparent, that many
as to protracl the evil Day ; and who could tell of them took their Rife while he prefided in
what Time or Accident might bring about ? A- Chancery.

nother Ail of Grace might come, and expunge In the next place, my Lords, he arrogates to
the whole Score. himfelf the Merit of that Enquiry, which his Ma-

I fhould have congratulated your Lordfhips jefty had directed to be made by a Committee of
and the Houfe ofCommons, and even the accu- his Privy Council ; and infills, that it was the
fed Earl himfelf, if the jus! Apprehenfwns he con- Effect of his Application.
ceiv'd of a Parliamentary Inquiry had raifed in How true this Affertion is, fome of your
him a compaffion equal to the Sufferings of the Sui- Lordfhips may know. But the Part he acted in
tors: If it had begot a Repentance of his former that Enquiry, might have obli«'d him to Silence
Mifdeeds and Crimes, and a Refolution of future or at leaft have reftrained him from boaftino' of
Innocence and Uprightnefs : But your Lordfhips his Conduct. The Commons charge him directly
find, it had a very different Effect ; it only pro- with obftructing the Methods then propofed for
duced a vile Contrivance to guard himfelf againft fecuring the Property of the Suitors; and it is

Punifhment for what was paft, and to make it riot a fuffkient Anfwer, to fay, that this Enquiry
more difficult hereafter, to detect him in the was begun at his Inftance, and that he prefs'd
fame Praclices. This is a Behaviour my Lords, the Mailers to bring in their Accompts : For all
which is fo far from deferving your Mercy, that this may be true, and yet he mi»ht <?ive them
it calls aloud for your Indignation, as well as Juf- the Advice I have already mention'd, and com-
tice. This is a Circumftance, which is not only plain'dof to your Lordfhips. Surely, my Lords,
a high Aggravation of his Guilt, but a great In- it is a Juftice due to his Majefty, to obferve up-
dignity to the Authority and Honour of Parlia- on this vain-glorious Part of the Earl's Anfwer
ment; which I hope will never be eluded by the that, whatever Share He had in fettino- this En-
Artifice of the mosl cunning and Jkilful, nor con- quiry on foot, all the good Fruits, to be hop'd
troul'd by the Influence of the mott: powerful and for from it, are the Refult only of his Ma :efty's

favour'd Minifler of State. Paternal Care of his People.
But, if the impeach'd Earl's Aclions may be al- He further fays, That he never thought of pre-

low'd to be any Proof of his Intentions, the Fact venting a Parliamentary Enquiry, any other
ftated in this Article goes further, and implies ^rtv, than by making it unneceffary, and by pro-

curing
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curing the Suitors a full Redrefs of all their Grie- dance of Items, and Columns, in what manner
vances, &c.

.

thofe Accompts were to be made up. The
This is another Inftance of his Difingenuity

:

Matters had a meeting on this occafionj and
For the Grievances complain'd of, could no where a great many, if not all of them, agreed, that

be redrefs'd but in Parliament ; and therefore the making up of the Accompts in that manner
nothing more can be underftood by the Words as my Lord Chancellor had directed, was im-
[Any other ways, than by making it unneceffary] practicable in fo fhort a time ; for we were di-

-than by making it SEEM unneceffary ; which is reeled to do it forthwith. It was reprefented by
a poor and mean Prevarication. fome of the Matters to Mr. Cottingham, and I

Nor is there any Credit to be given to what believe, by him to my Lord Chancellor, that it

he urges in Excufe for his Fraudulent Propofal was impoffible to do it in fo fhort a time, and

to the Matters, viz. That while the Accompts it would take up a Month or two, or more. I

'were taking, all the Matters, at leatt all that he did not know what other People could do : I

faw, except Mr. Kynafton, had declared that they had begun to make up my Accompts -, I could

bad Effetls fufficient to anfwer their whole Ac- have done it in a fhort time, having been in but

compls, Sec. a little while : Others, indeed, that had been in

For we (hall prove to your Lordfhips by Mr. twelve Years, and mutt have given an Accompt
Thomas Bennet, and Mr. Kynatton, that it is falfe, of the whole Proceedings of that time, couid

unlefs you'll fuppofe them perjur'd: For they are

very pofitive, That the Earl never ajk'd them

whether they had Effetls to anfwer, or not, or were

able to pay in their Cofh-Ballance : Nay, they

are fure they did not tell him fo, becaufe in Fail it

would have been falfe, if they had.

Befides, your Lordfhips will have the concur-

rent Teftimony of almoft all the Mafters to prove,

that (while they were making up their Accompts
to lay before the Committee of Council) they were

directed by Cottingham and Dixon to affift one a-

nother in making a Shew of their Abilities ; and

that fome of them, viz. Mr. John Bennet, Mr.
Godfrey and Mr. Conway, complied with this Di-

rection, which we mutt afcribe to the Earl him-

felf, as being given by his Two ChiefAgents and Mi-

mfters.

Who is it, my Lords, that has been guilty of

the Crimes, laid in this Impeachment ? It is a Peer

of Parliament I A Lord High Chancellor of Great

Britain I And how precarious mutt be the Pro-

perty, how deplorable the Condition of the Sub-
jects of this Kingdom, if fuch Crimes mould not

be punifh'd iny<? exemplary a manner, as to carry

down Terror to aMfucceeding Chancellors ?

My Lords, If I have exprefs'd my felf with

too much Acrimony on this Occafion ; if what I

have faid, has any way offended the Impeached

Earl, I hope he will do me the Juftice to be-

lieve, that I meant it only in Detefiation of his

Crimes, and not in Difrefpetl to his Perfon. For
I affure him, I mould have been heartily forry

not do it. I was inform 'd by my Brother, that

he could not have done it in a Year : But foon

afterwards I was told, that the Order was dif-

pens'd with, by my Lord Chancellor; and all we
were to do, was to make up an Accompt of the

Ballance of the Money and Securities that were
in our refpective Offices diftinctly, the Money
and Securities in Two. Diftinct Columns, only

the Sum total at the Bottom. This Order the

Mafters all comply'd with, as appears by their

Accompts : And between that and the qth Day
of November following, we had feveral Mefiages
from my Lord Chancellor by Mr. Cottingham to

difpatch thefe Accompts ; for they were much
wanted, being to be laid before the Committee of

Council. On the 10th of November we had ex-

prefs Orders to appear at my Lord Chancellor's

Houfe with our Accompts ready. All the Ma-
fters, except Mr. Conway, were there.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afk'd,

if there was any other meeting before that of the

1 oth of November ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. I thing there were fome meet-

ings at Mr. Edward's Houfe by Mr. Cottingham''

%

Direction before, and after that at my Lord's

Houfe. At thofe meetings, at one of them, I

particularly remember (which was the moft ma-
terial of all) Mr. Cottingham brought Mr. Dixon

with him, and introduced him, faying, we need

not be afraid of Mr. Dixon; for he brought him
there by my Lord's Direction, becaufe he himfelf

was deaf, and could not well hear what was faid.

for the Misfortune he has brought upon himfelf, Upon that he began his MefTage, and faid, Our
if it had proceeded from Ignorance or Neglecl, and Accompts were then laid before the Council juft

not from an infatiable Appetite after illegal Gains, at that Time : Bur, faid he, fuppofe my Lord
which he is pleafed to mif-call Voluntary Prefents, Chancellor or the Council fhould expect, that the

and for which I muft ever entertain the Vtmott Bonds and Securities fhould be infpected, wouldever

Abhorrence. I will therefore conclude with a

Word of Advice out of the Scripture for his future

Conduct, That he fhall receive no Gift ; for a Gift

blindeth the Wife, and perverteth the Words of the

Righteous.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we beg leave

that Mr. Thomas Bennet may be examin'd, and
that he may give your Lordfhip's an Account of
what pafs'd after this Inquiry directed by his

Majefty, begun ; what Order and Direction the

Mafters receiv'd from his Lordfhip in the Exe-
cution of that Inquiry ?

Mr. Tho. Bennet. My Lords, I think, on the

$d of November laft we receiv'd an Order from
my Lord Chancellor, to make up our Accompts.
It was a very particular Order, exprefs'd abun-

Vol. VI.

you be willing, that any Officer from him
fhould infpect your Books and Securities? The
Mafters anfwer'd, They were ready and wil-

ling to do it ; I don't remember any body that

oppos'd it. The next Queftion Mr. Cottingham

ask'd, was, whether we could produce the Bal-

lance of our Cafh, and fhew that we had the

Money ? To that all the Mafters fpoke in general,

that they were under a great Concern and Sur-

prize, and defir'd to know what Mr. Cottingham

meant by that : Whether it was only to pro-

duce the Money, or the Money to be taken from

us? and whether there was any Danger of that?

Says Mr. Cottingham, you are only to produce:

the Ballance of Cafh, and fhew it. We afked,

whether we fhould produce it in Goldfmiths Notes,

5 S or
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or Bank Notes ? Says he, I believe Goldfmiths

Notes will ferve : You are to fhew the Ballance

of your Cafh ; but I think, Bank-Notes will do
better. Upon that Mr. Lightboun faid, I don't

know what the Confequence of this may be. Sup-
's

pofe, when we have produced thefe Notes, they fcription. I did fubfcribe thus
ihould be detain'd from us, I am afraid moft of

the Goldfmiths Shops about Temple-Bar would be

fhut up the next Day, and Inquiry would be

made what Holiday it was, and Thoufands of

Families might be ruin'd by this Tranfaftion.

Mr. Cottingham propos'd, You may ftand by,

and affift one another. Mr. Kynajlon, faid, I

find, we are like to be facrific'd, and given up ;

for my part, I will neither borrow, nor lend

:

Any one that borrows is a Knave, and he that

lends is a Fool. Upon this, the Mafters were

in great Concern. Mr. Cottingham and Mr. Dixon

went back to my Lord Chancellor, and ftaid a-

bout an Hour and half, and then return'd to us,

Mr Tbo Bennet. I can only anfwer for my
ki ^l h°

rd did n0t afk me
' whe^er I was

able and fufficient; but only directed me to write
that Subfcription that Mr. Holford had done ; and

i go down, and write, in effect, that Sub-
: ' My Lord I

• have all the Securities ftanding in my Name
« as in the within mention'd Accompt are fpeci'
* fied ; as alfo the Tallies, Orders, and Bonds
< in my cuftody •, and as to the Money I am
< ready to give your Lordffiipfatisfaction, that!
« am able to anfwer it to every Perfon that is en
< titled thereto. The Words, to a Demonflra-
tion, which are in Mr. Holford's Subfcription, I
omitted, becaufe I could not make it out to the
Lords of the Council.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, We beg leave
to produce thefe Accompts, and fhew to your
Lordfhips that Subfcription of Mr. Holford, that
was to be followed by the other mafters, and the

and faid, my Lord was very bufie, and difmifs'd firft Subfcription of Mr. Bennet.

ing

us, and fo we went home.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When was the next meet-

?

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. I don't remember ; we had fe-

veral meetings. I don't remember when the

next was.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What pafs'd on the 10th

of November in the Prefence of my Lord Mac-
clesfield, at his Houfe?

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. When we came to my Lord
Chancellor's Houfe, upon the 10th of November , lating to a Stand?

Mr. Onflow. Pray, teJl my Lords, if you can
remember, was there any other Expreffion made
ufe of at that time ?

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. The Expreffion was, it would
be for our Honour and Service, to appear able
and fufficient.

Mr. Onflow. No other Words ?

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. And it would
prevent a parliamentary Enquiry.

Mr. Onflow. Was there nothing mentioned re-

be a means to

all the Mafters then prefent carry 'd up their Ac-
compts : Two or three had not their Accompts
ready ; my Brother and Mr. Conway had not

theirs ; but all that were ready, carry'd them up
to my Lord, and, according to Seniority, deli-

vered them to his Lordfhip. The firft was Mr.
Holford : He had added to his Accompt, a let-

ter, I don't remember the Words, or that it was

read ; but I remember a Subfcription, which my
Lord Chancellor read, and that he faid it was very

good, and he lrk'd it very well, and, I think, he

faid it down upon the Table. The next mafter

gave his Accompt, and fo all the reft. My Lord
look'd them all over ; fome of the mafters he

objected to. I remember I had written at the

Bottom of my Accompt, as near as I can re-

member, / am ready and willing that tbe Bonds

and other Securities in my Hands, may be infpecled

by fucb Perfon as your hordfloip fhall appoint. My
Lord, after looking them all over, faid he lik'd

Mr. Holford's, Subfcription, and, fays he, I wifti

you would all make ufe of that: For it would
be for your Honour and Service, to make your
felves appear able and fufficient to anfwer the

Effecls in your Hands. Somebody afk'd my
Lord, what might be the meaning of this Com-
mifiion being appointed by his Majefty ? This,

fays he, I apprehend, will prevent a Parliamen-

tary Inquiry.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire that Mr. Bennet

ing at Mr

Mr. TLv. Bennet. I don't remember that then ;

Mr. Cottingham faid fomething of that at a meet-
Edwards's.

(The Subfcription fhew'd to Mr. Bennet. And
proved by him to be Mr. Holford's Hand.)

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords we beg leave,
that this Subfcription may be read, which was to
be follow'd by all the mafters.

Clerk reads.

* I have all thefe Securities ftanding in my
< Name, as in this Accompt. is fpecified, and
4 will procure Certificates from the proper Offices,
« that I have, and had them before the Account,
* ifyour Lordfhip requires it. And as to the mo-
« ney, I am ready to give your Lordfhips fatisfa-

' clion, to a Demon fixation, that I have it in my
« power to anfwer it to every Perfon, that fhall

' appear to be entitled to it, and
' me a Legal Difcharge.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg leave to read Mr.
Tbo. Bennet's Firft Subfcription, that my Lord
was not fatisfy'd with.

Clerk reads.

e My Lord, I am ready and willing theSecuri-
e ties in the foregoing Account mentioned, fhall

1 be infpecled by fuch Perfon or Perfons as your
' Lordfhip fhall be pleas'd to appoint.

Tbo. Bennet, loth Novemb. ij 24.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Your Lordfhips obferve,

there is nothing in this Subfcription, as to the

Now we beg leave

who can give

may repeat the Expreffion my Lord made ufe of

to perfuade them to fubfcribe, as Mr. Holford had Cafh, and the producing it

done.

Mr. Tbo. Bennet. That they might appear able

and fufficient . I think, thofe were the Words.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire he may

be ask'd, whether my Lord had at that time made
an Inquiry of the mafters, whether they were able

and fufficient?

to fee the fubfequent Subfcription.

Clerk reads.

10 Nov. 1724. My Lord, I have all the Secu-

rities ftanding in my Name, as in the within

mention'd Accompt are fpecify'd ; as alfo the

Tallies, Orders and Bonds in my cuftody. And
as

;
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* as to the Money, I am ready to give your Lord-
« fhip fatisfaction, that I am able to aniwer it to

* every Perfon that is entitled thereto.

Tho. Bennet.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Your Lordfhips obferve, he

hath left out the Words To a Demonfiration, be-

caufe he thought that he could not fo clearly make
it out. I beg leave to mention, that thefe Ac-

compts and Subfcriptions thus alter'd, were actual-

ly delivered in, and laid before the Council, and

are the Original Accompts.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I would afk Mr.

Bennet, when thisPropofal wasoffer'd to him, that

he fhould fubfcribe as Mr. Holford had done,

whether he made any Excufe, or pretended he Parlour in my Lord's Houfe.

60

1

Mr. Kynafion. I had writ before : < My Lord,
« the Perfon I employed to write out this Ac-
« compt, has only gone thus fir as to theNum-
* ber of the Bonds. I have brought the Bonds with
* me, and defire you'll appoint any Perfon to in-
' fpect them, and the other Securities I have here
s given an account of.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What was writ afterwards ?

This is wrote with a different Ink from that be-
fore : And as to the Money, I am ready to pay it

to the Perfons entitled thereto. That is with a dif-

ferent Ink.

Mr. Kyna/lon. I believe, upon looking upon it,

[ went down with the reft, and writ that in the

was not able to do it ?

Mr. Thomas Bennet. No, I did not ; I did as

the reft of the Matters did.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may inform your

Lordfhips when this was ?

Mr. Thomas Bennet . I think, it was the nth or

1 2th of November ; I can't be pofuive as to the

Day.
Mr. Kynafton called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,
whether he, or any other of the mafters then re-

ceived any Explanation how this Sufficiency or
Ability was to appear?

Mr. Kynafton. Not then, I don't remember any
thing of it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Or at any other Time ?

Mr. Kynajlon. Some time after this, this was
the 10th of November, and I believe, between that

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire that and the 16th, when we were to attend the Judges,

Mr. Kynafion may give your Lordfhips an Ac- the mafters were fummon'd to meet at Mr. iso-

count, whether he was prefent at this Meeting on wards's Houfe : I underftood, it was a Summons
the 10th of November, and what paffed there re- from my Lord Macclesfield; and when we were
lating to their Accompts ? here, there came Mr. Cottingham and Mr. Dixon.

Mr. Kynafion. Yes, my Lords, I was there the I don't remember all the Difcourfe; but they were
10th of November. telling us what was to be done: Firft, we were to

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What paffed at that Time produce our Securities, and there would be no
at the Earl of Macclesfield's ? great Nicety in producing them : And then, next,

Mr. Kynafton. I think I came there before the we were to produce the Ballance ofCafh: And I

reft of the Mafters, or only two or three were remember, on that, Mr. Cottingham hid, You muft

ftand by one another, and affift one another.

Bank-Notes, faid he, will be beft ; but if you

can't get them, then Goldfmiths Notes. You muft

get one or other to produce and fhew.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, whac

he thought he meant by the Propofal of getting

Goldfmiths Notes, or Bank Notes?

Mr. Kynafton. I did take the meaning in the

worftSenfe to be, for the Mafters barely to make
a Shew of them ; and that made me complain ;

there before me. We gave my Lord an Ac-
count, that we had drawn out our Accompts of

the Securities and Cafh, and the Ballance in each

Matter's Hands. Soon after the reft came. My
Lord firft received Mr. Holford's Accompt, being

the Elder Mafter. A Letter at the End of his

Accompt was read : My Lord feem'd to be af-

fected with, and to approve very well of it. There
was fome Writing at the End of it relating to the

Ability. My Lord faid, it would do very well to

have fomething to the fame purpofe at the End of and I fpoke warmly, and faid, I faw what the

the other Mafters Accompts, and mentioned to us

to go down and write it ; accordingly we did go
down, and moft of us, if not all, did write to

that Purpofe.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Gin you recollect what

Defign was ; and whoever

was a Knave
borrow'd any money

and he that lenton that Occafion,

it was a Fool.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afk'd, whe-

ther there was any Recommendation by Mr. Cot-

Expreffions the Earl of Macclesfield ufed, to re- tingham or Mr. Dixon, and in what particular Ex-

preffions thofe Recommendations were made ?

Mr. Kynafion. I believe, Mr. Lightbounexprefs'd

himfelf, That if they borrow'd Goldfmiths Notes,

and they were detained, the Goldfmiths Shops

would be ihut, and People would be enquiring

what Holiday it was.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, what

was faid about making a Shew ? if Mr. Cottingham

own'd what was the meaning of thofe Wo:ds ?

Mr. Kynafton. I don't remember: They were

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire he pretty warm and faid they would go to my Lord

may be afk'd, whether there was an Enquiry made Macclesfield, which they did, and return'd again.

by the Earl of Macclesfield, as to his Ability or Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I defire he may be

Sufficiency? afk'd whether it was generally underftood among

Mr. Kynafion. No, I am fure as to my felfj and the mafters, that giving of Bank-Notes and Gokt-

I don't know as to any body elfe. fmiths Notes was to be underftood borrowing?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he would inform Mr. Kynafion. I underftood it fo myfelf, and

your Lordfhips, what Subfcription he had firft believe feveral others did ; Mr. Lightboun,

commend it to the Mafters ?

Mr. Kynafion. My Lords, I can't juftly recollect;

I think it was, It would look well before the Coun-
cil, and prevent a further Enquiry, or a parlia-

mentary Enquiry, lam not pofuive which : But

that I underftood to be the meaning of it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What was it that would
look well to the Council ?

Mr. Kynafion. What Mr. Holford had writ at the

Bottom of his Accompt, That they tvere ready, &c.

made, and what was added, or what Advice was
given ?

and

Mr. Holford, and fome of the others did fo, by

what they faid,

Mr.
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Mr. Serf. Pengelly. My Lords, we have done wards's, that my Lord defired that two of the

with this Witnefs. matters fhould attend the Council with the Ac-
Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I defire to afk compts of the whole, and that Mr. Holford being

this Witnefs the fame Queftion that I ask'd the the fenior matter, fhould be one, and he was to

other •, and that is, whether at the time when this choofe whom he would have go along with him ;

Propofal was made to him, that he fhould fubfcribe and I having given Mr. Holford intimation before

as Mr. Holford had done, he made any Objection of my Lord's inclination, Mr. Holford defired me
to it? to go with him. I told him, I did not care to carry

Mr. Kynafton. No, I did not makeany Objection in any other Accompts than my own ; as I had

to it. I had been there firtt, and with my Lord, not concerned my felf in other matters Accompts,

and at the farther End of the Room, that I re- I would not then begin ; I would not carry any
member lefs what happened at that time, than but my own, and no body elfe fhould carry mine ;

other People did. I would not be a Reprefentative of the Body.
Upon that, Mr. Holford recollected himfelf, and

Mr. Lightboun called. faid, nor he neither •, he would carry no Accompts
but his own. I faid, the Accompts were calPd

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord, we defire that for by my Lord Chancellor, and not by the Privy

Mr. Lightboun may give an Account of what patted Council, and thereupon I thought it proper to

at this meeting, relating to the bringing in of the wait upon my Lord Chancellor, and deliver them

Accompts? to him.

Mr. Lightboun. What meeting? That at Mr. Mr. Lutwyche. Your Lordfhips will cbferve, the

Edwards's, or that at the Earl of Macclesfield's? Perfons thought rnoft proper to appear for the reft

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. That at Mr. Edwards's. of the matters, Mr. Holford and Mr. Lightboun,

Mr. Lightboun. I was at Mr. Edwards's about were fo apprehenfive of the matters being deficient,

that Time, at fome meeting when our Accompts that they did not care to appear for them. I de-

were talked of, but whether it was before they fire Mr. Lightboun may be afk'd, what pafs'd on
were delivered in, or afterwards, I cannot tell, the 10th of November, when the Accompts were

We had fo many meetings about that time at Mr. deliver'd to the Earl of Macclesfield ?

Edwards's, that I don't remember exactly, which Mr. Lightboun. My Lords, upon the 10th of
was before, and which after. I remember, at the Novetnber my Accompt was not ready at the time

meeting when Mr. Cottingham and Mr. Dixon both I was to deliver it. I rather chofe it fhould not

were there, there was fome Difcourfe relating to be ready ; becaufe I did not care that it fhould be

the Producing of the Securities, and of theBallance carry'd in by any body but my felf. However, I

of the Cafh. I then afked, whether we fhould waited at the proper Time; and when we came
produce it inBank notes, or Goldfmith's Notes, and there, Mr. Holford deliver'd in his Accompt, and
I understood, it was hinted that the Goldfmiths a Letter he had writ to hisLordfhip, and fix'd to

that we had dealt with, would afiitt any matter that his Accompt, which was there read. My Lord
wanted money, but by whom it was faid, I can't feem'd to like the Letter, and took notice of it

;

recollect. The Anfwer I made to that, was, that and I think, another or two, who were my Seniors,

I fhould be forry that any matter fhould borrow deliver'd in their Accompts. When it came to my
Notes of a Goldfmith, and that they fhould be turn, I acquainted my Lord, that mine was not

ftay'd or fecured when produc'd, which I appre- ready; but I would go home and finifh them, and

hended would be done ; and next morning feveral attend his Lordfhip with them at the Cock-pit by
Goldfmiths would be forc'd to fhut up theirShops, Eight of the Clock. Accordingly I did, and fent

and it would look like a Holiday in Fleetftreet. it in to his Lordfhip.

Mr. Lutwyche. Do you remember any Thing Mr. Lutwyche. What pafs'd farther relating t©

concerning a Net? their figning of the Accompts ?

Mr. Lightboun. I don't remember the Expref- Mr. Lightboun. I know nothing of it ; for I

fion of a Net. went away to finifh my own.

Mr. Lutwyche. What Application was made to Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire that

any of the matters to carry in their Accompts, and Mr. John Bennet may be call'd.

to whom ?

Mr. Lightboun. My Lord Macclesfieldom morn- Mr. John Bennet appeared.

ing fent for me, and defired me, that when the

Accompts were brought into the Council, I would Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we defire that Mr.
be thereabouts, that if there was any occafion to John Bennet may be ask'd, whether he was at this

clear up or explain any thing, or give farther fa- meeting at Mr. Edwards'sHouk, and what pafs*d

tisfaction to the Council, I might be ready. I told at that time?

his Lordfhip, I would give no Satisfaction about Mr. J. Bennet. My Lords, I was at that meet-

any one's Accompts but my own. But ifhisLord- ingatthattime, vj\\ex\Mv. Cottingham md Mr. Dhc-

fhip pleated that I fhould attend, I would be there- on came in, and told us they came from my Lord
abouts ; and if his Lordfhip pleated, I would have Chancellor; and Mr. Cottingham faid, he had

another matter with me: I x\wx\'d Mr. Holford, brought Mr. Dixon with him, becaufe he was deaf,

and my Lord defired me to acquaint Mr. Holford and could not well hear. Mr. Cottingham faid, he

with it, which I did ; who faid, he was ready to had two Queftions to propofe ; firft whether we
go with me to anfwer any Queftions that fhould be were willing that all our Bonds, and other Securi-

ask'd, arifing on the Perufal of his Accompts. ties in bur Cuttody, fhould be infpected by him or

Mr. Lutwyche. What did he defire you to at- any other? All of us were willing, and agreed to

tend for ? that. The fecond was, whether we were willing,

Mr. Lightboun. To refolve any Queftion or Dif- or would produce the Ballance of Cafh in our

ficulty that fhould arife before the Council. After hands before the Council? To this the matters

this, Mr. Cottingham told Mr. Holford at Mr. Ed- made a Stand, and faid, The Cafn was confidera-

ble;
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ble •, and It could not be prefum'd that they kept my own Accompt of my Money Securities, and
it lock'd up in Chefts or Trunks in their own Hou- the Accompt of my Eftate.

fes •, that was the way to have our Throats cut

:

But we believ'd we could do it in a reafonabler

Time. To which Mr. Cottingham faid, Can't you

.produce it in Bank Notes or Goldfmiths Notes?

Bank-Notes, faid he, will be bell ; but do it in

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire to know what Sub-
fcnption Mr. John Bennet made to his Accompt
at firft, and what afterwards?

Mr. J. Bennet. I came to my Lord Macclesfield
juft after the Gentlemen had been delivering; in

Goldfmiths Notes, if you can't get Bank Notes, their Accompts ; and they were below, writing

To which Mr. Lightboun faid, Ifwe produce them their Subfcriptions to their Accompts. I had then

in Goldfmiths Notes, and there mould happen to made no Subfcription to my Accompt ; they told

be a Net thrown over 'em, and they fhould be

fecur'd, the Goldfmiths might be oblig'd to fhut

up their Shops, and People would be enquiring

what Holiday it was ; and it might be a great

Damage to thofe Goldfmiths.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afk'd, whe-

ther any thing was faid of affifting one another?

Mr. J. Bennet. Mr. Cottingham prefs'd us very

much to help and affift one another, as far as we

were able.

Mr. Lutwyche. Whether was any other Ex-

preffion made ufe of by him ?

Mr. J. Bennet. I don't remember there was:

But he repeated it feveral times, that we fhould

ftand by, and affift one another with Cafh.

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I defire to ask this

Witnefs, if, in purfuance of the Advice given by

Mr. Cottingham, he did affift any of the mafters, very little while.

or was affifted by any of them ? Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be asked,

Mr. J. Bennet. One of the Gentlemen did af- while he was there, .whether any thing was pro-

fill me with Cafh, which is lock'd up in the Cheft : pofed, and by whom, for the mafters to lend one

I gave him Security for it. And as to my affifting another money or Notes ?

any Body, Mr. Conway inform'd me, he had a Mr. Lovibond. There was Mr. Cottingham and

Real Security for 9000/. and begg'd, if I could, Mr. Dixon, and one of them faid, that the ma-
fters fhould ftand by one another, and recommend-
ed it to them to affift one another with Bank Notes
or Goldfmiths- Notes.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. To what Purpofe ?

Mr. Lovibond. Neither of them faid to what

me what my Lord had recommended to them to
write ; and I had one of them laid before me.
I took my Pen and Ink, and varied it in fome
meafure, and made the Subfcription in this man-
ner :

' I have all the Securities in my Name, as
' fpecified bn the other Side ; and all the Bonds
' and Orders are in my Cuftody ; and I am
' ready to fatisfy your Lordfhip, that I am able
' to anfwer the money to every Party, that is

' entitled, or fhall have a right to receive it.

J. Bennet.

Mr. Lovibond called.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I defire he may
be asked, whether he was prefent at this meeting
(that hath been fo often mentioned) at Mr. Ed-
wards's ?

Mr. Lovibond. My Lord, I was there but a

that I would affift him with 5000/. and in two or

three Days I fhould have it again: I told him, I

had in my Accompt mentioned my Cafh, and

that I had offered to make up the Ballance by my
Real Eftate, and fo could not affift him with any

Cafh. Pie afk'd me, if I had any Bonds by me? Purpofe.

I told him I had 2000/. Bonds ; and if he could

engage to bring them back to me in two Days, he

fhould have them : And upon lodging a Bag of

Writings with me, which he told me was a real

Security for 9000/. I accordingly did lend him
them, and he brought them back again to me
in two Days Time.
Mr. Plummer. I defire he may be afk'd, what

his Inducement was for lending the Bonds?

Mr. J. Bennet. The real Inducement was the

real Security which was given me : But it had

been recommended by Mr. Cottingham too.

Mr. Plummer. I defire to know whether he

open'd the Bag, to fee what the Security was, or

took it by Content?

Mr. 7- Bennet. No, I did not open it ; Mr.
Conway affured me it was fo.

Mr. Plummer. What ufe did he make of thofe

Bonds?

Mr. J. Bennet. Indeed I don't know.
Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I defire

be afk'd, whether thofe Bonds
Suitors of the Court?
Mr. J. Bennet. They were brought in by the

What was the Difcourfe

beion^'d

he may
to the

Mr. Serj. Pengelly.

about at that Time?
Mr. Lovibond. The Difcourfe was about the Ac-

compts, and how every Man's Ballance was to be

made up.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire to know, during

that Time, whether Mr. Lovibond obferv'd that

Mr. Cottingham or Mr. Dixon went to my Lord
Chancellor ?

Mr. Lovibond. Yes, my Lords, they both went,

and I came away, and did not ftay till they re-

turn'd.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire to ask, Whether

Mr. Lovibond did not lend fome of the mafters

fome money ?

Mr. Lovibond. I lent fome money to Mr. Ben-

net.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. How much was it ?

Mr. Lovibond. It was 10,200 and odd Pounds.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire to know, whether

Mr. Lovibond was prefent upon the Delivering in

of the Accompts on the 10th of November laft?

Mr. Lovibond. Yes, my Lords, I was.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he would look upon

Suitors of the Court after my Accompt was de- that Subfcription he at firft made upon the Ac

liver'd in, and I muft give them in my Poft- compt, when he delivered it in.

Mr. Lovibond. It is here.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Read it.

Mr. Lovibond reads. ' All which before

-

mention'd Particulars I am ready to anfwer oh

demand, or to give Security fotodo, whenever

r'd. 11- Lovibond.

Accompt : Therefore I faid, I muft have them a-

gain in two Days time.

I defire he may be afk'd,

he had given in his

Mr. Serj. Pengelly

whether this was after

Accompt?
Mr. J. Bennet. Yes,

Vol. VI.

given own

it was after I had given in requir

Mr.
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be ask'd, Edwards may give your Lordfhips an account of

whether my Lord Macclesfield made any Objecti- what paffed at this meeting at his Houfe

on to any Part of that Subfcription, and what

Part in Particular?

Mv. Lovibond. He made an Objection to the

latter Part of it, becaufe that might imply that

my Effects were not ready.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether did you alter it

afterwards, or was it recommended to you to

alter, and in what manner?

Mr. Lovibond. My Lord Macclesfield mention'd,

that Mr. Holford's Conclufion of his Accompt was

moft proper ; and I had bed alter it to that, and

make that the Form ; accordingly I did, I went

down Stairs, and altered it as it now ftands.

Mr. Lutwyche. Read this Subfcription.

Clerk reads.

« All thefe Securities (landing in my Name as

« in this Account is fpecified, I am ready to pro

Mr. Edwards. My Lords, I received a meffage

from Mr. Cottingbam, to know if I would give

Leave for the mailers to meet at my Houfe?
to which I confented. Some came before Mr. Cot-

tingbam, and asked me if I knew what this meet-

ing was about ; I could give them no Account of

it. Mr. Cottingbam foon after came, and the reft

of the mailers. Mr. Cottingbam faid, he had two
or three matters to lay before them •, One was,

whether we were willing that our Bonds and Se-

curities mould be infpected, by my Lord Chancel-

lor, or by any Perfon he ihould appoint ? Every
body confented hereto. I think, another thing

was, my Lord Chancellor thought it proper, we
ihould carry our Accompts to the Council : There
were fome objected to that, and we thought it

not proper ; and the Conclufion of that was, we

cure Certificates from the proper Offices, that were to deliever. them to him, as being moft pro-

I have, and had them before this Account, if

« your Lordihip requires it-, and as to the mo-

' ney, I am ready to anfwer it upon Demand to

' every Perfon entitled thereto, and who can give

« me a legal Difcharge.

November i oth 1 724. H. Lovibond.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I beg leave to

make one Obfervation upon this: 1 would not

trouble your Lordfhips with obferving upon every

one of them •, but there is fomething very parti-

cular and remarkable in this Cafe of Mr. Lovi-

bond's. Mr. Lovibond had faid, as the Truth of

the Cafe was, when he delievered in his Accompt,

and this Subfcription, that he was able to pro-

duce or give Security, &c. That would have

lookt before the Council as if the money was not

ready to be produced, it was only giving Security

;

id for that Reafon this Alteration is to be made,

per for my Lord Chancellor to carry them to the

Council.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was that all that was of-

fer'd at that meeting ?

Mr. Edwards. Really I don't know but that there

was a third thing mention'd. I can give you but a

very imperfect Account of this meeting -, and that

for this reafon •, it was not thought proper that my
Servants ihould come in, and they oblig'd me to

go often out, which I did ; and afterwards I

heard the chief Subftance of this meeting. And
I remember, that after I had heard the main

matter, I faid, Gentlemen, the chief Confidera-

tion is to get your money ready as foon as you

can-, I think the intent is plain to get the money
away from you.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether do you remember

any Advice that was then given, relating to the

to make it look as if he had the actual Ballance in making up of the Ballance?

his hands ^ r>^war^s - No, my Lords, I do not remem-

Mr. Sen. Probyn. My Lords, we defire he may ber : I heard fomething afterwards by the ma-

be asked, whether at the Time that he wrote this iters, about producing Notes •, but if any thing

Subicriotion, he was not able to produce the Bal- was mention'd about it, it was when I was out of

lance ?

Mr. Lovibond. My Lords, I did in my Con-

clufion offer it -, and I could have done it the next

Day.
Mr. Strange. I defire he may be ask'd, whe-

ther he could have done it out of his own Eftate,

or Effects?

Mr. Lovibond. I could have done it out of my
own Eftate

the Room.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether on the 10th of

November was you prefent at the Earl of Macclef-

field's ?

Mr. Edwards. Yes, my Lords, I was.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Look upon that Accompt
and Subfcription.

Mr. Edwards looks upon it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be asked,

Mr. Strange. Did not you mention the Sum of what Subfcription hefirft made, when he gave it

10,000 and odd Pounds lent ? I defire to know,

whether you took real Security for it ?

Mr. Lovibond. Yes, I have a Real Security.

Mr. Strange. In Land ?

Mr. Lovibond. Yes, in Land

in, and whether any Alteration or Addition was

made by him afterwards ?

Mr. Edwards. Some of the mailers were at my
Lord Chancellor's before me: I did not think it

neceffary, nor had written any thing to my Ac-

Mr. Plummer. I defire he may be asked, if my compt before I came there: So I went into a

Lord Macclesfield asked him any Queilions about

his Ability?

Mr. Lovibond. No, my Lord did not ask me

any Queilions about my Ability.

Dr. Sayer. I defire he may be asked, whether at

that time he did not believe, that all the mailers

were fufficient and able to make ,good their Ac-

compts?

Mr. Lovibond. I did believe fo, from what Dif-

courfe I heard pafs among themfelves. I had no

Knowledge of their Affairs, or of their Eftates.

Mr. Edwards called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire Mr.

Room, and writ this that was firft writ :
' My

' Lord, I am ready and willing, the Securities

« in the foregoing Accompt mention'd, ihall be

' infpected by fuch Perfon or Perfons as your

' Lordihip ihall be pleafed to appoint.

H. Edwards.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What other Subfcription

was made after that?

Mr. Edwards. After I had made this Subfcrip-

tion, I carried my Accompt, and deliver'd it to

my Lord Chancellor; who looking upon this

Subfcription, did not feem to approve of it: But

he thought Mr. Holford's more proper, and defir'd

me
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me to alter it, that all might be as Mr. Holford's

was. I then went out of the Room, and tranfcri-

bed the Subftance, if not the Words of Mr. Hol-

ford's upon my Accompt, and then I delivered it

to my Lord again.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Read that Subfcription.

Mr. Edwards reads.] ' The feveral Sums of

money and Securities mention'd in this Accompt
are what have come to my Hands fince I was

admitted a Mafter, feparate from what were in

the Hands of Mr. Dormer during the time he

was a mafter (the account whereof, by reafon

of the Shortnefsof time, I have not been able to

fettle ; but will as foon as poffible) and for which

I am ready to procure Certificates from the

feveral Companies and Offices, if your Lord-

ftiip requires it. And as to the Money, I am
ready to pay it to every Perfon lawfully in-

titled thereto, having a proper Difcharge for

the fame.

Nov. 10. 1724. H. Edwards.

Mr. Serj. Prohyn. My Lords, if they have

done with this Witnefs, I defire he may be afked,

if he was not ready to pay his Ballance according

to his Subfcription ?

Mr. Edwards. Yes, I was ; I could have paid

it in a Week fooner than the time required.

Mr. Conway called.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My lords, I defire that Mr.
Conway may give your lordfhips an account whe-
ther he was at this meeting; ?

Mr. Conway. My lords, I was prefent at the

firft meeting at Mr. Edward's Houfe, when Mr.
Cottingbam deliver'd my Lord Chancellor's Com-
mand, that we fhould provide and prepare our
Accompts: But nothing more happen'd during

the time of my ftay at that meeting: I went a-

way immediately. At the fecond meeting Mr.
Cotlinham and Mr. Dixon were there : Mr. Cotting-

bam had a great Cold ; and, as I remember, there

were two Propofils made : The firft was in rela-

tion to our Bonds and Securities , and the 2d. was
in relation to the Money and Cafh. After every

Mafter had deliver'd his Opinion to thefe Points,

Mr. Cottingbam and Mr. Dixon went to wait upon
my Lord Chancellor with an account of what the

matters had faid •, and before they came back, I

was gone.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afk'd,

whether at that time, when it was propos'd to

the matters to produce their Cafh, they faid

they were able to do it ?

Mr. Conway. Every mafter deliver'd his Opi-
nion as he thought fit. Mr. Lightboun merrily
faid, If we produced Goldfmiths Notes, and they
mould be fecured, the Goldfmiths Shops would
be fhut up, and People would be enquiring what
Holiday it was. Mr. Kynafton made fome Obfer-
vations ; every one fpoke as they thought fit.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

whether they all declared, they were able and
ready to make good their Accompts ?

Mr. Conway, I think they all did.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether to produce their

Effects or their Cafh?
Mr. Conway. I am not fure, whether it was

mentioned Cafh or Effects-, we made no diftin-

ftion at that time between Cafh and Effects.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,
whether he himfelf declared, that he was able
and ready to produce his Effects ?

6qj
M. Conway. I did declare it at that time, as I

afterwards writ, that I would endeavour to pro-
duce my Effects?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether there was any,
and what Advice or Inftruttion given, relating to
their affifting of one another?

°

Mr. Conway. No fuch thing happened while
I ftaid there.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire it may be afked,
whether Mr. Conway at any time afterwards bor-
rowed any money of any of the matters and of
whom ?

Mr. Conway. The firft time I attended the
Judges and the Directors ofthe Bank, I did brino-
my Securities, and an Account of my Effects at
the fame time, without borrowing a Farthino- from
any Perfon

: Before the Securities were° gone
through, and the Account of my Effects taken,
it was obferved, that the fame was liable to Ob-
jection, as confiding of Land, Mortgages, Bonds
and Notes, and things of that kind. And before
I went, I was told, that fome of the matters had
taken an Oath ; I defired to know what that Oath
was: It was anfwered, that it was a voluntary
Oath ; and I faid, I could only fwear, that I

had Effects to anfwer ; and that I would endea-
vour to turn thofe Effects into Cafh, and fo with-
drew.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,
whether he borrowed any money ?

M r. Conway. Some time after this I waited
upon Mr. Godfrey ; and before I came away, he
afked me if I had any Bonds? I told him I had;
then pray, fays he, let me have what you can
fpare, and fend them immediately : Whereupon
I went Home, and fent him 5000/. India Bonds.
Some Days after that I expected Mr. Godfrey to
return me the Favour; and I carried to him Ef-
fects to (as I apprehended) the Value of 6 or

7000 /. or more ; and I defired him to lend me
Bonds, and he feemed unwilling without the Se-

curity, and he kept the Security.

Mr. Lidwyche. He hath not anfwered to thofe

Queftions, whether he borrowed money, and
what Sums.

Mr. Conway. Mr. Godfrey lent me upon the

Bonds, 9000/. and Mr. Bennet, 2000 1.

Mr. Lutwycbe. Only to purfue this Queftion,

I defire to know, whether the Securities were tur-

ned into money, or into Notes?
Mr. Conway. Yes, my lords, they were turned

into Notes.

Mr. Lutwycbe. I defire he may be afked, whe-
ther they were lock'd up, or he did take them
back again ?

Mr. Conway. I took them back again.

Mr. Lutwycbe. What became of them after-

wards ?

Mr. Conway. Some of them I paid off, others

I returned to the Perfon that had advanced me
money on thofe Bonds.

Mr. Lutwycbe. I take it, he fays, he had the

Effects that produced thofe Notes from MvGod-

. frey and Mr. Bennet ; therefore I defire to know,

what became of thofe Notes after he carried them

back from the Judges ?

Mr. Conway. I returned them to the Perfon

that had advanced me the Notes on thofe Bonds.

Mr. Lutwycbe. Who was that ?

Mr. Conway. The Goldfmith, Mr. Rogers, at

Ten;fie- Bar.

Mr.
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Mr. Plummer. I defire to know when he re- whether any thing, or how much hath been rais'd

turned thofe Bonds again ? out of that Eftate ?

Mr. Conway. In a few Days after. Mr. Conway. It is made fo very lately, that I

Mr. Lutwyche. My lords, it may be neceffary don't know that any thing hath been raifed fince:

to examine how it was that he perfuaded the It is but a few Days ago that it hath been made.

Goldfmith to let him have thofe Notes ? Lord Lechmere. My Lords, I would be glad

Mr. Conway. I gave him Bonds for them. to know, as there is a Ballance of 13,000/. whe-
Mr. Lutwyche. Whether were thofe the Bonds ther he ftands indebted to any other Perfons, but

that you had from Mr. Godfrey and Mr, Bennet ? to the Suitors of the Court, and to whom ?

Mr. Conway. They were. Mr. Conway. No, my Lords, I don't owe any
Mr. Lutzvyche. Whether they were not deli- thing to any body, to my Knowledge.

vered to the Goldfmith in the Nature of a Pledge Mr. Lutwyche. I fhould be very glad if Mr.
for thofe Notes? Conway could extricate himfelf out of the Diffi-

culties on Account of the Deficiency in his Office.

It is very proper to inquire how, and by what
Eftate, that is to be made good.

Mr. Conway. It is to be made good by an Eftate
in land.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire to know whether that
Eftate is fettled, whether it was not fettled upon
his marriage ?

Mr. Conway. It was never fettled on my mar-
riage. I was Tenant in Tail, and my Wife and Son

he had lent Mr. Godfrey 5000/. /Ww-Bonds, and joined with me in levying a Fine,

in return he expected that. Mr. Godfrey fhould Mr. Lutwyche. Whether it isnot fettled byWill?

affift him •, I defire he may be afked this Quef- Mr. Conway. I was Tenant in Tail by the Will

tion, whether the 5000/. in India-Bonds he fup- ofmy Father; I have levied a Fine, and my Wife
plied Mr. Godfrey with, was after or before he and Son have joined with me.

produced his Cafh to the Committee? Mr. Onflow. Whatlntereft had your Son in ijt?

Mr. Conway. After. Mr. Conway. No Intereft, as I apprehend ; but

Mr. Serf Pengelly. Was it before Godfrey had I thought it was neceffary he fhould join, to takeoff

Mr. Conway. Yes, they were.

Mr. Lutwyche. What became of the Bonds?

Mr. Conway. I return'd them.

Mr. Lutwyche. To whom ?

Mr. Conway. To Mr. Godfrey and Mr. Bennet.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When he carried back the

Notes to the Goldfmith, at that time, whether

he took up the Bonds ?

Mr. Conway. I did.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. As I apprehend, he fays,

done it ?

Mr. Conway. After he had produced his Secu-

rities.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was it before or after he

had produced his Cafh ?

Mr. Conway, ft was after he had produced his

Securities, and before he had produced his Cafh.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we think it

all Difficulties and Objections to the Title.

Mr. Onflow. Whether there are no Annuities
charged upon that Eftate, and what they are ?

Mr. Conway. There are no Annuities charged
on that Eftate.

Mr. Onflow. No Payment to the Mother?
Mr. Conway. There is, out of another Eftate.

Mr. Onflow. What are the rents ofthe Eftate you
will be very neceffary to lay before your lordfhipsa have fecured for the Payment of this money •,

General State or Account of the total Deficiency;

to fhew how much, upon the Examination and

Enquiry that hath been made, the total of the De-
ficiencies in the feveral Offices amount to ; and

we apprehend, that we are able likewife to give

an Account of fome additional Deficiencies that

have been difcovered fince. I apprehend, there

was at that time near 100,000/. Deficiencies.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afk'd, whe-

ther at that time when he wrote the Subfcription,

he was able to pay the Ballance of his Accompt ?

Mr. Conway. I was, in Effects I had, and I

faid no otherwife.

Mr. Conway. Between 5 and 600/. a Year.

Mr. Onflow. Is that your Computation, or is

it let at fo much now?
Mr. Conway. I can't fay it is all let fo ; there

are fome Demefns.

Mr. Onflow. What are the Rents of that part of

the Eftate that is let ?

Mr. Conway. I take it to be 500/. a Year.
Mr. Onflow. What, let at 500 /. a Year ?

Mr. Conway. Yes, or thereabouts.

Mr. Onflow. Do you reckon the whole Eftate to

be worth 500 /. a Year ?

Mr. Conway. No, I don't reckon in the whole

Mr. Sandys. I defire he maybe afked, if my Eftate, but only that which is conveyed for the

Lord Macclesfield afked him as to his Ability? fecuring of this money.

Mr. Conzvay. No, my Lords, he did not ; to Mr. Onflow. Then I defire to know what are

my remembrance he did not. I deliver'd my Ac- the Rents of this Eftate as it is let?

compt to Mr.' Cottingham. Mr. Conway. I take it to be 500/. a Year, or

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked, thereabouts, that is applied for, and as a Security

what Deficiency there remains upon his Office; to anfwer my Deficiency,

whether he can recollect how much it is? Lord Lechmere. This 13,000/. Ballance is due

Mr. Conway. My Lords, I believe it is 13,000/. to the Suitors, which he fays is fecured by this E-
my Charge, of which I can take off fomething in ftate : I would be glad to know how the Deficiency

my Poft-Accompt.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked, whe-

ther he is now able to make good the Deficiency in

his Office?

Mr. Conway. Yes, my Lords, I am.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Whether he hath made any

Conveyance of any Eftate as a Security for it?

Mr. Conzvay. I have.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

3

came, and what is become of this 13,000 /. that

is due to the Suitors ?

Mr. Conway. The Occafion of it was, my com-

ing into the Office coft me to my PredecefTor 6000/.

I paid befides 1500/. upon my AdmifTion, and

500/. Contribution towards making good Mr.
Dormer's, Deficiency.

Mr. Onflow. How was the reft of the Debt

contracted? You have mention'd but about 8000
Pounds. Mr.
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Mr. Conway. I believe I might, upon Account of

my Brother, borrow 1500 or 2000/, to fatisfie his

Account to the Crown.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Out ofwhat Cafh did you repay it?

Mr. Conway. I believe it might be out of the Office.

Mr. Onflow. What is become of the reft ; how did

you apply the Remainder ?

Mr. Conway. The Remainder; I can't tell but I

may have fo much due among my Acquaintance ; I

believe I may.

Mr. Onflow. Did you then lend your Acquaintance

out of the Suitors money ?

Mr. Conway. I believe I might at times lend Friends

out of the Cafh that remained dead and ufelefs, and

becaufe I apprehended it was Secure.

Mr. Onflow. You fay, you have lent to feveral of

your Acquaintance out of the Suitors Cafh ; I would

have you name any one Perfon to whom you have

lent any of the money of the Office?

Mr. Conway. I remember a noble Perfon, if it is

proper to mention his Name, to whom I lent 2600 1.

he is now dead.

Mr. Conway. No, It is applied in a Caufeof a Sui-
tor, and now it remains as Security.

^
Earl of Ablngdon. I am fo nearly related to that

Noble Lord that is mentioned, that I muft do that
Juftice, as to put Mr. Conway in mind, as I did Mr.
Hiccocks before,That ifany Queftion is afk'd him , which
may perfonally fubjetl him to any Penalty, or, as he
hath the Bar Gown, may concern his Client, he ought
to be left to his Difcretion, whether he will or will

not anfwer.

Lord Lechtnere. A Perfon is not obliged to anfwer
any thing that may criminally affect him ; but where
the Enquiry is after a Debt, in order to explain his

Oath as to his Sufficiency, which is the matter ofDe-
bate, furely that is material, and ought to be an-
fweredto; and I defire to be informed, whether this

2600 /. which he faid was lent this noble Lord out of
the Suitors money, was repaid to him by my Lord
Bulkeley, and when ?

Mr. Conway. It is not repaid. It is applied in a
Caufe ; the parties have approved of it as a Security.

Lord Lechmere. When was this money in the Hands
Mr. Serj. Prohyn. I don't know whether your lord- of my Lord Bulkeley applied to the Benefit of any Sui

fhips will not be pleafed to confine the managers to exa- tor, and by what Order or Authority?

mine only to the particular Article they are now on.

Mr. Onflow. We are now upon the Article of the

Deficiencies, and the Queftion hath been afked by the

Counfel for the Noble Lord, whether this Deficiency

can be made up by Mr. Conway ? therefore it is proper

to know, whether this Deficiency is likely to be

made up, and to know where the Money is, and

therefore I would afk who this fix and twenty hun-

dred Pounds was lent to ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I fubmit it whe-

ther that Queftion be proper, becaufe Mr. Conway

hath given Land Security to make good this Defici-

Mr. Conway. It is fome Time fince, fbme months
ago, five or fix months ago.

Lord Lechmere. Was this by any Order of the

Court of Chancery ?

Mr. Conway. No, my Lords, by the Approba-
tion of the Parties.

E. of'Macclesfield. My Lords, if you pleafe to

give me leave, I would fuggeft fomething, that pof-

fibly may help towards the better underftanding him.
If my Guefs be right, this relates to his Poft-Ac-
compt. He hath faid his Charge is 13,000/. And
he hath faid, he could difcharge 2000/. or more, of

ency, and therefore it isnot material for your lordfhips that Ballance by a Poft-Accompt ; Now I apprehend

Judgment, to enquire how this Deficiency happened. this he is fpeaking ofnow, is that Article of the Poft-

Vlr. Lutwyche. I am very, forry to lay before your Accompt. I don't know, if I guefs his meaning right,

lordfhips the Reafons and the Order upon which he

was committed. I apprehend it extremely ^material

upon this Point, and arifeth from what the Counfel

for the noble Lord have entred into themfelves; for

they have asked, whether he was able to make good

his Deficiency : Now is it not proper for us to ask

the particular Circumftances, to find out the Truth,

whether he is fo or not. Therefore I beg leave to

aflc one Queftion, not waving the other, whether he

hath affigned over all his Debts that he could, to make
good his Deficiency ?

Mr. Conway. I have affigned over all my real Eftate.

Mr. Lutwyche. Whether he hath affigned over this

26co/. due to him ?

Mr. Conway. That is applied.

Mr. Lutwyche. Applied, How?
Mr. Conway. Applied amongft my Caufes.

Mr. Lutwyche. Did he lend a Nobleman a Sum of

money, and apply it to a Caufe ?

Mr. Convjay. That Sum of money you are pleafed

to enquire after, I applied to a Caufe.

Mr. Onflow. He faid he lent a Sum of Money, &c.

Idefirehemay be afked, who this 2600/. was lent to?

but I defire he may inform your lordfhips, in cafe it

be otherwife.

Lord Lechmere. It may be for your Information to

know who are the Perfons to whom this is applied ;

that it may be known whether it is in the Poft Ac-
compt or not?

Mr. Onflow. My Lords, We defire firft to know,
what Security my Lord Bulkeley gave ?

Mr. Conway. He gave a Bond and Judgment.

Mr. Onflow. Who is it you have applied the Se-

curity to?

Mr. Conway. It is in the Caufe of Faulconberg con-

tra Faulconberg.

Mr. Onflow. Do you reckon this Part of the 1 3,000/

now deficient ?

Mr. Conway. No, I do not reckon it in that Sum.

Mr. Onflow. Your Lordfhips will pleafe to recol-

lect, that his Deficiency is 13,000/. We ask him how
that Deficiency came ; he hath given Your Lordfhips

an Account of 10,000 odd hundred Pounds •, and firft

faid the Refidue was in the Hands of his Acquain-

tance, and named 2600 /. money of the Suitors to be

in the Hands of my Lord Bulkeley, now he faith this

Mr. Conway. I was applied to by a Nobleman to laft Sum isnot Part of the 13,000/. Therefore now I

would afk, how the Remainder of his Deficient mo-

ney was applied, or how the Debt happened ?

Mr. Conway. If my Lords will pleafe to give me

leave toexplain if, As to the Remaindcrof the 1 3,000/.

you have been pleafed to reckon 10,000 odd hundred

Pounds to be made out-, then there is 2100/. odd

Ap- money I have laid out in land, which I have fince

conveyed, which makes 12,000 odd hundred Pounds;

and the reft I have in Bonds and Notes, which I have

to make up the Refidue.

c U Mr.

lend him the Sum of 2600/
Mr. Onflow. By whom was you applied to ?

Mr. Conway. By my Lord Bulkeley, and accordingly
it was advanced to him, and it is fince applied in a

Caufe.

Mr. Onflow. Applied, How ?

Mr. Conway. Applied in a Caufe, with the

probation of the Parties.

Mr. Onflow. Hath it been repaid ?
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Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked, whether Solicitor in a Caufe in Chancery, between Sir Erafmus

he hath thofe Notes, and they are ready ? I defire to JSorris and Alexander Norris ; foon after the Accompts
know, whether they have not been paid into Court were brought into the Register's Office, I went to look
to make up his Deficiency ? and fee if Mr. Conway had charged himfelf with a

Mr. Conway. No I humbly hope to have it al- Sum of money paid in, in that Caufe. I found by his

lowed me on my Pott Accompt, being applied in the Accompt, that it was not charged. I had drawn up
forefaid Caufe with Approbation of the Parties. the Accompt, and given a Copy of it to Mr. Conway

Mr. Onflow, We have done with him ; and leave which he did not deny, but he faid, there was not fo

him to Your Lordfhips Obfervation.

Mr. Thompfon called.

much by i or 200 /. Said I, there is no Entry at all

of the Caufe, and no mention ofany Sum. I told him
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we beg leave, that it was an Omiffion not to mention the Caufe or Sum.

Mr. Thompfon may give Your Lordfhips an Account,

upon the Inflection and Examination of thofe Ac-
compts, how much the Deficiency of the feveral

matters amounted to ?

Mr. 'thompfon. So much as the feveral matters flood

charged with by their own Accompts, and did not

lock up or produce proper Securities for, I account

a Deficiency-, and by this Rule, I have collected the from Lady Day latt was Twelve-month
Deficiencies of the feveral matters, from the Reports

made to the Committee of Council.

Mr. John Bennett Deficiency amounts to L. 17,541:

15: 10.

Mr. Conway's Deficiency in his Cafh only amounts

He faid, that he believed it was not fo much, he did
therefore not mention it. I afked him, why he did
not infert, how much it was as he thought it? He faid

becaufe he would pay in all.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire he may be afked, how
much the whole money in that Caufe was?

Mr,.Sanderfon. L. 2274:8: n. befides Intereft

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, this is the Sum of the

Account we had to lay before Your Lord/hips of the

Deficiencies, notwithftanding the matters reprefented

themfelves as able to pay the whole. We would not

reprefent it to Your Lordfhips, that this will cer-

to L. 10,039: 4: 4^, but Mr. Conway, while his Ac- tainly be the Lofs, becaufe fome of the matters have

compts were under Examination, fold 2000/. South

Sea Annuity, and 3500 /. South Sea Stock j and of

the money arifing thereby, he paid to the Suitors, to

whom fuch Annuity and Stock did belong, no more

given Security for fome Part ; tho' we apprehend the

Security given will not be fufficient for half.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to afkMr. Thompfon,

whether this Charge he makes upon Mr. Borret's

than L. 2593 : 9 : 3. fo that his Deficiency is increafed Office be a Charge taken from the Office, or only an

by the Sum of L. 3550, fomewhat more or Jefs, ac- Account taken from Mr. Meller?

cording to the Price he fold at. Mr. Thompfon. This Charge was taken from the

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Was what he fold, part of the Vouchers, which Mr. Meller produced.

Suitors Security ? E. of Macclesfield. Are there any Payments allowed,

Mr. Thompfon. Yes,— .—Mr. Kynafion's Deficiency made by Mr. Borret in his Life time?

amounts to L. 26,908; 11:3 ~. Mr. Thompfon. A great many.

Mr. Thomas Bennet's Deficiency amounts to 9075. /. E. of Macclesfield. Who gave you an Account of

is

The Total of the Deficiency of the prefent matters

L. 67,114.: 11: 5$.
The Charge that remained upon Mr. Borret's Of-

fice, amounted to L. 56,050: 10: 1 j. But Mr.
Bennet and Mr. Godfrey, the matters, who had the

Care of his Effects, gave it as their Opinion before

the Judges and Directors, that the Effects he left,

would produce 44, 000 /. and upwards ; fo that I

compute the Deficiency of Mr. Borret's Office at

L. 12,050: 10: ii.

The Total Charge upon Mr. Dormer's Office, when

that?

Mr. Thompfon. Mr. Meller, my Lord.

E. of Macclesfield. But I fpeak of the money paid

by Mr. Borret himfelf, not what Mr. Meller paid.

Have you any Account what Mr. Borret paid out

himfelf?

Mr. Thompfon. The Account we had of this, was

from one Mr. Parker, as I think his Name was, who
was Clerk to Mr. Borret. He produced feveral Re-

ceipts for Sums paid: And the matters in Chancery,

who had the Care of Mr. Borret's Effects, allowed

he refigned to Mr. Edwards, amounted toZ.. 49, 604: the Books and Papers produced by Mr. Parker, to be

11: 11; but Mr. Edwards has paid in Difcharge of the Books and Papers belonging to M r. Borret's Office,

that Sum, the Sum of L. 23,725: 15: 9J. fo that E. of Macclesfield. As to the Effects belonging to

the Deficiency of Mr. Dormer's Office amounts to L. Mr. Borret, who gave you the Account of them?
Mr. Thompfon. Mr. Bennet. and Mr. Godfrey.

E. of Macclesfield. Do you know who is Admini
ftrator to Mr. Borret ?

Mr. Thompfon. I have heard that Mr. Paxton is.

Mr. Nicholas Paxton. Yes, my Lords, I took

out Adminiftration to Mr. Borret, about the middle

25,878: 16: i±.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether in that is Mr. Wilfion's

and Mr. Poulter's Security included in Dormer's Ac-
compt ?

Mr. Thompfon. Mr. Dormer's Deficiency I take to be

L. 25,878: 16: 5 i •, and the whole Deficiency I take

to be L. 105,043: 17:84. And if any Securities or of^on/laft.

Sums of money belonging to the Suitors are omitted Lord Lechmere. I defire to afk Mr. Thompfon whe-

in the matters Accompts, fuch Securities and Sums ther the Computation he hath made of the feveral De-

are not included in this Eftimate. ficiencies, amounting to an hundred and five thoufand

E. of Macclesfield. Have you had before you the Pounds, is taken from the Voluntary Accompt*;

Adminiftrator, either of Mr. Borret or Mr. Dormer? of the matters delivered in, or whether any of

Mr. Thompfon. No, my Lord. the Suitors were concerned in thofe Accompts, or havf
;

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we fhall beg leave been Parties to fuch Computations?

to call one Witnefs to give your Lordfhips an Ac- Mr. Thompfon. From the matters Voluntary Ac-

compt of another Deficiency of2000 /. upon Mr. Con- compts only.

way, which is not charged in his Accompt. We defire Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I beg leave to afk one Queftion.

that Mr. Sanderfon may be called.

Mr. Sanderfon fworn.

Mr. Lutwyche. We defire, that Mr. Sanderfon may

which arifes from the Queftion, which the Lore

within the Bar hath been pleafed to afk, whethei

Mr. Godfrey and Mr. Benmt were not the matter.
1

give Your Lordfhips an Accompt of any money in that appeared, and were employed under the Earlo

Mr. Conway's Hands, and how much it is, that is Macclesfield at that Time, and had the Cuftody

not brought to Accompt? the Effects of Mr. Borret? Mr'

Mr. Sanderfon. My Lords, I was concerned as a



171$. H.L. for High Crimes and Mi/demeanors.

Mr. Thompfon. Mr. Bennet and Mr. Godfrey were the

Perfons that appeared to us to have the Care and Cu-

ftody of Mr. Barrel'% Effects.

Lord Lechmere. As to the Nature of thefe Deficien-

cies, I think he fays, thefe Deficiencies arife upon the

Cafh B.il lance. Then I would be glad to know, whe-

ther in the Accompts that he hath perufed, and in the

i
Computation of thofe Deficiencies, the feveral Deficien-

; cies of the Cafh Ballance arife upon the whole Ballance,

or are appropriated to any particular Suitors concerned

i in thofe Ballances?

Mr. Thompfon. No Part of the Cafh Ballance is ap-

propriated to any particular Suitor.

Mr.lVeft. My Lords, the Commons have nowpro-

;
duc'da very long, and as they apprehend, a very full and

convincing Evidence, in maintenance of the Impeach-

ment by them exhibited againft Thomas Earl of Maccles-

field, for high Crimes and Mifdemeanors ; and I am
commanded to acquaint your Lordfhips, That they do

not intend to trouble this Houfe with any further Ex-

amination. But, my Lords, the Commons confidering

the Length and Variety of the feveral Facts and Cir-

cumftances, that have been offer'd, are of Opinion, It

may be of Service to that Caufe, in which their Zeal

for publick Juftice has made them to engage, that the

whole of what they have infifted upon or produc'd,

fhou'd in fuch manner, as I am able to obey their Com-
mands, be fhortly recapitulated and prefented in one

View to your Lordfhips Confideration.

The Charge in general, and the feveral Articles of

it, have been fully open'd by thofe Gentlemen, who
preceded me upon this Occafion. The Witneffes who
have been examined, and the other Evidence that has

been read, have been fully confidered, fo far as they

relate to thofe Particulars, that were the immediate Oc-

cafion of their being produc'd; I fhall not therefore

wafte Time, by enumerating once more the Articles of

the Charge, nor by too minutely repeating the whole

Evidence that has been given : But fhall endeavour to

reduce this Ions; and various Examination to fome
general Heads, that may exprefs the Subftance of the

general Articles, and then remind your Lordfhips of

what I can recollect to have been moft materially of-

fer'd in Support of them. To this End, my Lords, I

beg leave in the firft Place, to oblerve that ftrict U-
nion and Connection there is between the Crimes of

which this Earl (lands charged. Your Lordfhips can-

not but remark, that the Articles mutually fupport,

and almoft prove each other ; fo that if any one be ad-

mitted to be proved, it is difficult, if at all poffible, to

doubt the Truth of the reft.

A wicked and corrupt Defign and View to raife and
procure to himfelf exceffive and exorbitant Gain and Profit,

was the fatal Principle, from which all this Mifchief

fprung. It was this that prompted the Earl of Mac-
clesfield to extort thofe large Sums of money, which
he received from the feveral Perfons, whom he ad-

mitted to the Office of matters of the Court of Chancery,
fhe gratifying this Avarice engaged his Lordfhip to ne-

glect every other Confideration, to overlook that Care
he ow'd to the Suitors of the Court, and to admit Per-

fons of fmall Abilities, and every way unqualified for

the Difcharge of fo great a Truft. This, oblig'd

him to connive at, and permit the fraudulent Practice

; of paying the Exceffive Price of their Places, out of the
money belonging to the Suitors of the Court.

fjl That again, forc'd him to fuffer, or rather to encou-
rage the purchafing mafters, to traffick and game with

lit theEftates of the Suitors. There was no other
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way, by which thefe liberal Purchafers, cou'd Reim-
burfe themfelves. — And this Circumftance, even after

it was apparent the Suitors were likely to lofe a great
Part of their Effects, reduc'd him to the unhappy

Neceffity of refufing to take thofe meafures, that were
neceflary to prevent that Practice for the Future. And
when the fatal Effects of this unbounded Liberty,

which he permitted the mafters to enjoy, began to ap-

pear, then was He compell'd to become a Confede-
rate with the deficient mafters, to prevent its being
known to the World. • From hence fprung the

unequal Compofition with WilfoH: The partial Orders
for the Payment of money : The private Contribution,

to anfwer the moft preffing Demands : And from hence

his own Liberality to Lockman, But when all thefe

Methods prov'd ineffectual, and he found the Cries of

the Widows and Orphans had reach'd his Majefty,

then, my Lords, did the Lord high Chancellor of Great

Britain combine with thefe Mailers, advife and per-

fuade them to make falfe Reprefentationsof theirCir-

cumftances and Accompts, in Order to deceive his Ma-
jefty, to fruftrate his moft gracious Intentions for the

Good of his Subjects, and to prevent (what he moft

fear'd) a parliamentary Inquiry.

Thefe, my Lords, are the malignant Confequences

of that Corruption of which the Earl of Macclesfield is

accus'd •, and which the Commons apprehend to be

perfectly confident with the whole Tenor of his Aclions,

during the Time of his being Chancellor.

The Commons began their Evidence with that Oath,

which it was prov'd the Earl had taken, in Confequence

of the Statute of the 12 Ric. II. and which was ad-

miniftred in the ufual andaccuftomed manner. I fhould

not have reminded your Lordfhips of this Circum-

ftance, if it was not for that unacountable Attempt, to

quible away the Sanctity of an Oath, and to reprefent

it as a meer Ceremony and Form, for no other Reafon,

but becaufe it was read to him in French, and when he

kifs'd the Bible, his Lordfhip and the Clerk faid no-

thing to each other. They afterwards gave other Evi-

dence, relating to fuch Profits as he had made of the

Office of Chancellor, which he did not admit in his

Anfwer. But I do not apprehend it neceflary to

mention them particularly to your Lordfhips.

The firft general Plead ofAccufation againft the Earl,

is, That he Corruptly, Illegally, and Extorfively infifted

upon, and received great Sums of Money, for the Admif-

fion offeveral Perfons into Offices relating to the Admini-

firalien and Execution of Juftice.

To lead the Way to this Charge, the Commons
began their Evidence with the 9th Article, which re-

lates to his taking 100 Guineas from T. Bennet for

permitting him to refign his Office of Clerk of the

Cuftodies, and for procuring a new Grant of that

Office to Hugh Hamerfley.

The Commons chofe to begin with this Article, not

becaufe they thought the Sum taken fo considerable,

as to have any great Influence upon the Judgment

your Lordfhips may give upon this Occafion •, but

becaufe the Fact difcovers the Man, and fully explains,

what manner of Mind he mult be endu'd with, who

could ftoop to an Action fo low and ford id. This Article

does of it felf lay a Foundation of Probability for the

others, in which he is charg'd with the extorting of

much larger Sums. It is true, His Lordfhip in his

Anfwer gives himfelf a very different Character, and

offers to produce a Catalogue of his own Generofities.

What Argument there would be in this when produc'd,

I cannot comprehend. I will therefore endeavour to

fave your Lordfhips that Trouble. I can admit even

more than is defired : Inftead of being Generous, I

will fuppofe his Lordfhip (far from the Truth) to have

been profufe: Yet ftill would it prove nothing: For

furely, it is not a new Character in Hiftory, that even

Squanderers fhould be Rapacious.

To prove the Particulars of this Article, the Refig-

nation of Bennet and the new Grant to Hamerfley, were

both.
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both prov'd. And as to the Payment of the money, intermediate Proceedings, that he has told your Lord-
Mr. Cottingham, who was Secretary to my Lord Mac- fhips he knows not how, or by whom the Warrant
clesfield, and who, thro' the whole Courfe of the Evi- came into the Hands of the Clerk of the Patents,

dence, appears to have been his great Agent and Con- It is difficult not to feel fome Indignation rife at the

fident : He owns the Receipt of the hundred Guineas, bare relating this meannefs ! Mean it would have beer

and fwears he paid 'em to the Earl, within a Day or in any Man:' But for a Peer of Great Britain, an Ear!,

two after he received them. He alfo owns the Confi- Lord Chancellor of the Kingdom, and a Chancellor 7i

deration, for which this money was paid, That it was obliged and fo dearly bought, to proftitute fo many illu

for permitting Bennet to furrender his Place. ftrious Characters, in fo low a manner as to become ;

Were there no Evidence but Cottingham alone, theCom- Broker for the Hire of 100 Guineas, is aftonifhing

mons think they have fufficiently prov'd this Fad. But But, my Lords, when I confider that this Earl was a

the Evidence of T. Bennet puts it beyond Contradi- the fame Time one of the Lords Juftices of the Kin»
ction, and makes it manifeft, that the hundred Guineas dom, in a Commiffion to execute fome of the Function
were in a manner extorted.— He fwears foon after of Majefty itfelf, I want Words to exprefs fuch ;

he was admitted a Matter, he was defirous to part with Tranfaction in its proper Colours,

his Place of Clerk of the Cuftodies •, and to that End My Lords, I have mentioned the Evidence relating

apply'd to Cottingham for my Lord Macclesfield's Fa- to this Point fomething the more particularly, becauf

vour, and acquaints him with thePerfon, to whom he the Proof comes up to the exprefs Words of the Sta

defired the new Grant mould be made: Cottingham upon tute of the 12 of Ric. II. and proves, as I apprehend
this fpeaks to my Lord, and fome fhort time after tells beyond Contradiction, that the Earl of Macclesfiel

Mr. Bennet, that neither my Lord nor himfelf knew difpos'd of this Place for Gift and Brokage.

Hamerfiley.YourLordfh'vps may remember that the Earl Before I quit this Article, I beg leave to obferveti

by his crofs Examination, feemed to endeavour at fome your Lordfhips, that my Lord Macclesfield in his An
fmall Triumph upon this Circumftance. My Lords, it fwer infifts upon it to be the Right of the Chancel

is not fo wonderful, that Cottingham fhould not fpeak lors to accept Prefents •, and therefore owns he did i,

Truth, there is no giving Evidence to the Tone of the this Cafe accept a Prefent. But then he avoids, as h

Voice, nor the Air and Manner, in which a Converfa- every where elfe does, the naming any particular Sur

tion is carry'd on ; more efpecially, if it be confidered, that he accepted. I wou'd willingly ask, why this Pre

that Cottingham was a Man who doubtlefs upon thefe caution, if what he did was lawful and right? Iwouli

Occafions would not have known his Father without alfo obferve, that there is fomething ftrangely equivc

the mediation of Gold. Bennet was furpriz'd at this cal in that Part of his Anfwer, where he denies he ir

Speech, as well he might, when Hamerfley lived next fitted on 100 Guineas, or any other Sum. This Ar
Door to Cottingham. However, Cottingham at laft ex- fwer both explains his extorfive Method of proceedin

plain'd theMyftery, by letting him know, a Prefent and almoft demonftrates the Practice of ir. For it

was expetledby the Earl, and Cottingham himfelf own'd, very remarkable his Lordfhip does not deny he infifte

he did fay the Earl infifted upon a Prefent. upon a Prefent in General, but only that he did nc

Mr. Weft was here interrupted by the Earl of infift upon any particular Sum.

Macclesfield, who faid that Cottingham^ My Lords, your Lordfhips will find by the Cour:

Words were not, That he infilled upon, but of the Evidence, that this Artifice of not naming
that he expected a Prefent. Upon which Oc- particular Sum was not peculiar to this Inftance •, bi

cafion Mr. Onflow reprefented warmly to the my lord Macclesfield, whenever a Matter's Place, or an

Lords, that the Behaviour of. the Earl was other Place was to be fold, carefully avoided fixing tr

Irregular, and that the Managers ought not Price by demanding a certain Sum. No, — Ir w,

to be broken in upon while they were fpeak- more gainful to fet every Thing up to the belt Bi(

ing. And then Mr. Weft went on, der, and refolve never to difpofe of any Office, till tl

My Lords, It is my Duty to reprefent the Actions fanguine Purchafers, by bidding on each other, we
of this Earl in the ftrongett Light ; and the ftrongeft artfully fcrew'd up voluntarily to offer a Prefent,

Light is the jufteft Light. Upon Recollection I do his lordfliip gently phrafes it, but as the Commoi
not think the Word I us'd to be of Force equal to think, they have prov'd the Fact to be, a Corrupt a\

the Fact. My lords, The Expectation of a Chancel- Exorbitant Price, equal to the avaricious Wifhes
lor communicated by a Secretary to a new made Ma- the Seller.

Iter, is more than to infift. But be that as it will ; Ben- The next Inftance to which the Commons call'd Ev

net in anfwer to thefe Expectations, reprefented the dence, was the illegal Sale of feveral of the Offices

Hardfhip of being oblig'd to pay Money upon this Oc- Matters in Chancery. Now, my lords (not to be m
cafion, when he had fo lately paid a very large Sum to minute in mentioning the Evidence) it is manifeft froi

the Chancellor ; and by way of Argument told him, the Oath of Office, which they take, from the Coij-

that when he came into the Place himfelf, he paid no- miffion granted to the Matters in Conjunction with V:

thing ; and his Brother told him, that lord Cowper up- Judges, and from the Evidence given by Mr. MellL

on the like Occafion had taken nothing, becaufe as that relating to that fubordinate Jurifdiction, which trr/

Noble Earl faid, nothing was due. At laft, my lord exercife, '•That thefe Offices do relate to the Admimfim
Macclesfield and his Secretary, being both inexorable, tion and Execution ofjuflice.

Bennet agreed to pay the one hundred and five Pounds. My lord Macclesfield, in his Anfwer to this Partf

After this Agreement was made, Cottingham acquaint- the Charge, induftrioufly is filent as to the parties

ed his lord with the Bargain, and then told Bennet, that Sums which he received, altho' your lordfhips v!ll

the Earl agreed to it : But withal, that it was a great obferve, that Payment of the individual Sums chartd

Favour he would take fo fmall a Sum ; and Cottingham in the Articles has been prov'd by the Perfons the;

-

at the fame Time made this very remarkable Declara- felves, who paid the Money. Kynafton und Bennet ic

tion, That if Mr. Bennet, would bring the hundred exprefs as to the Payment of 1500 Guineas each ; IV'.

Guineas, he need take no farther Trouble, for the Elde is pofitive as to his carrying to the Earl 500
Chancellor would apply to the King for leave for him Guineas in a Dutch Bafket ; and Mr. Thurfton fwea

;,

to refign, and would take Care of the other necefiary he left 5000 Guineas with lady Macclesfield. Now if

Steps. And accordingly the Bargain was executed in lords, as the Earl infills that it wasa known Perquife

that manner. For Mr. Bennet knew fo little of the of the Great Seal to accept of Prefents upon the adm-
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ting new Matters ; why does he not own the Re- to give that Sum, Cottingham again reprefen ted that it

ceipt of the feveral Sums, with which he is charged? mult be Guineas, upon which the 1500 Guineas Were

If it was a known and eftabliuVd Perquifite, doubtlefs paid.

the Sum payable would have been as known and efta- Mr. Bennet, he fays, that when he had agreed with

blifh'd. And this Confederation I apprehend to be the Mr. Hiccocks, he alio applied to Cottingham to know
Reafon of his lordfhip's Caution. He cou'd not but what Sum was neceffary to be paid the Earl. Ccttmg-

feel the Abfurdity of his own Argument, and yet I will ham agreed that a Prefent was neceffary, but he wou'd

admit as much as his lordfhip or his Counfel can defire not name the Sum. Upon this, after Bennet had con-

j
upon this Occafion. His Predeceffors poffibly may fulted with his Brother and Mr. Godfrey, he again went

have accepted fmall Gratuities from new matters, after to Cottingham, and offer'd 1000 Guineas •, but Cotting-

their Admiffion. Therefore//.? may publickly, and ham, diffatisfy'd with this, fhook his Head, and faid,£te

J

without any other Confideration, fell them to the beft would not go to the Chancellor with that Sum ; a great deal

Bidder for the moft he cou'd get. My lords, the more had been given, and he hoped he would not lower the

Argument wou'd have been jutt as good, during the Price. Bennet however ftill prefs'd Cottingham to offer

Time that it was ufual for the Gentlemen at the Bar, the 1000 Guineas, to which Cottingham replied, there

to give New Years Gifts to the Chancellor, to prove was no haggling with the Chancellor ; and that if he would

he might have fold his Favours, and boldly fuffer'd no not give more, he might be abfolutely refufed, and loje the

one to plead before him, who wou'd not farm his Pra- Place. Bennet, ftruck with this Reply, agreed to give

ctice, and pay the full Price of what it might be worth, the 1 500 Guineas, tho' Cottingham gracioufly told him,

To fupport this Imagination of its being a common he need not bring it in money, for Bank Bills would

Perquifite of the Great Seal, my Lord Macclesfield does do as well. I cannot help obferving, that there

in his Anfwer aver, that every one of the matters I was a ftrange Caution ufed as to the Payment of this

have named, didvohmtarily and of'their own Accord fend money, altogether inconfiftent with the Nature of an

a Prefent to his Lordfhip on Occafion of their refpective eftablifh'd Fee, or regular Perquifite. Mr. Bennet fent

Admittances. How far it was a Prefent the Evi- his Clerk to take out the Bills in a feign'd Name, and

dence I mail mention to your Lordfhips will fully ex- for this Reafon, becaufe otherwife they could not fo

plain. At prefent, I beg leave to obferve the Equivo- eafily be parted with. Cottingham it feems, was fome-

calnefs of thefe laft Words, On Occafion of their feveral thing jealous of a Man, who had the Confidence to

Admittances. This was not accidental, but calculated perfift fo long in offering but 1000 Guineas, and there-

on Purpofe to make the whole appear like a common fore the firft Word he faid to him, when he repair'd to

and ufual Perquifite. As the Words ftand in the An- the Chancellor to be fworn in, Have you brought the.

fwer, the natural Conftruction is, that thefe matters Money? Bennet anfwered like a Man, who perfectly

voluntarily made the ufual Prefent to his Lordfhip, after well knew the Family, He fhould not have ventur'd to

they were admitted to their Offices : And yet the criti- have come without it. Upon this the money was

cal Senfe of the Expreffion does not exclude the Pay- paid, the matter was fworn, and the whole Bargain

ment of the money, even byway of Bargain, before fully executed.

their Admiffion. For even in that Cafe, the money Thefe kind of Bargains were now become lo much
may as truly be faid to have been paid on Occafion of the Subject ofcommon Difcourfe, that the Earl thought

their Admittance. I fhould not have mentioned this it neceffary to be fomething more cautious, and even

Part of the Anfwer, if it was the only Inftance of his Cottingham was not now to be fo much in the Secret

Lordfhip's deviating from Truth. I fhould have ima- as formerly. Mr. Elde applied to the Chancellor him-

gin'd it to be an Overfight, of either his Lordfhip or felf, and without any Ceremony offers his Lordfhip

hisCounfel. But by the Obfervations, that have been 5000 Guineas for this judicial Office. The Earl, it

made by the Gentlemen who opened the feveral Arti- feems, was not at all offended with this Liberty, but

cles ; Contradiction, Equivocation, and (I wifh I anfwered with the engaging familiarity of a great Man;
cou'd not fay) Untruth fhine in every Part, and appear Thee and I mufil not make Bargains. I will treat thee in

to be the predominant Qualities of the whole. My in a different Mannerfrom others. My Lord Macclesfield

Lords, I mention this, not only as an Aggravation, but was as good as his Word, for upon this Elde went to

even as a Proof. For what Caufe mutt it be that re- the Secretary, and offer'd him 5000 Guineas, and he

duces a Man of the Abilities this Earl is known to pof- reported to his Lord what paffed : So that Cottingham

fefs, and of the Character He did once enjoy, to make was not difmiffed this Service at once; and the matter

ufeoffuch mean, fuch contemptible Arts? Arts ! Un- was fo far agreed, that Mr. Elde went in a Chair to

worthy a great Man ; uhpractic'd by an innocent Man, the Earl's Houfe, with his Basket, in which he fwears,

and I doubt not, will prove ufelefs to the Guilty. he put 5000 Guineas, and delivered it to Cottingham,

The Fact upon the Evidence appears to be thus, who carried it up to his Lord: But at the fame Time
Kynafion, Bennet, Elde and Thurfi'on, all concur in this he fwears, he did not know what was in it. Upon
Circumftance, That they paid their money before they this, Elde was introduc'd, and fworn into his Office.

were admitted into their Offices. Mr. Cottingham alfo Your Lordfhips will obferve that the Basket was no
owns that he received the money of Mr. Kynafion and Part ofthe Bargain, and therefore thefcrupulous Earl

Mr. Bennet, and carried up the Bafket of Mr. Elde, be- returned it back to him Empty.
fore any of them were fworn. All thefe Perfons like- The laft Perfon examined as to this Point, was Mr.
wife agree, and Cottingham confirms their Teftimony, Thurfion, and He alfo was treated in a Manner different

that they apply'd to him as the proper Perfon to recom- from all others. He was certainly better recommended
mend them to my Lord Macclesfield, and to be inform'd than any of them, and in the Strength of that was ve-

of what Sum they mutt offer, in order to render them- ry well received. Upon which he was Sanguine e-

felves acceptable to his Lordfhip. The Evidence of nough to expect he mould have the Place. But, my
Kynafion proves it to be a direct Bargain, for he fwears, Lords, before he was recommended, Mr. Thurfion

when he acquainted Cottingham of his having agreed likewife apply'd to Cottingham, and offer'd 5000 Gui-

with Rogers for the Purchafe of his Place, that he neas. Cottingham faid he would report ; but he was not

offer'd but 1000/. as a Prefent to the Chancellor : Up- trufted to return an anfwer.— In the mean Time Care

on which Cottingham faid, he wou'd not mention to my was taken by the artful fpreading of Rumors, That
Ford any Sum under 1500 /. and when Kynafion agreed Mr. Thurfion fhould hear the Chancellor intended to

Vol. VI. cX give
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give the Place away to another Perfon. Alarm'datthis, the Subject muft not be added to this Corruption?
and feeingallothermethodsofRecommendationavaird Or, can the Man, who fells thefe Places, with no other
nothing, he applied to my Lady Macclesfield ; and af- View than to fatisfy his own Avarice, retain his Inte-

ter ufing feveral Arguments to no purpofe, As that his grity, and be a fevere or competent Check upon the
Name had been printed in the publick News, to be thefuc- Actions of thofe Officers, to whom he has fold ? And
ceeding Mafier ; That Perfons applied tohim for the Bufinefs that is the Reafon of the Judg-

of the Office; and that his Reputation and Charatler de- ment reported by Moor, viz. That Moor 781.

fended on his Succefs ; He at laft told her he did not ex- the Sale of Offices is Malum in fe, Stochvith and North.

peel: to have the Place for nothing, and therefore he left and therefore finable. But when
Bills for five thoufand Guineas upon the Table, and fo to what I have now faid, I add the Confederation of
retir'd. Thefe he found were the beft Arguments, and the Oath enacted by the Statute 12. Rich. II. (his

the beft Recommendation ; for within two or three Lordfhip will be pleafed to add his own Opinion and
Days after he was fworn into the Office. This new Apprehenfions) I do not conceive it poffible to doubt
Way of Proceeding, deceiv'd even Cottingham himfelf but that the Sale of Offices relating to the Adminifiration

fo much, that he even fcrupled to take his own Fees, of Juftice, is criminal in it felfi criminal by the common
I know not whether I ought to mention any other Par- Law, and criminal by Act of Parliament,

ticulars ; but by the Queftions put to the Witneffes, The next Point to which the Commons gave Evi-
whenthey were crofs examined, it feemsasif his Lord- dence, is the neceffary Confequence of what llaftmen-
fhip would perfuade you, that this wasentirely a Tranf- tioned : I mean the admitting Perfons to the Office of
action between Mr. Thurfton and my Lady Macclesfield, matters, who were of mean Subftance, and every way
and in which he was in no wife concerned. If your unqualified for that Truft. The Evidence given of the

Lordfhips can believe that the Earl intended really to Deficiency, now in feveral of thofe Offices, is fo full

give away this Place for nothing, the Earl will be for- and unconteftable, that I fhall avoid the Repetition of

tunate: For Mr. Thurfton himfelf own'd, he did it, and only juft name Mr. Ihompfon, and refer your
not think he mould have had the Place, if he had not Lordfhips to the Report made to the Council, the Or-
left the money. ders of the Court of Chancery, and the other Papers now

I have repeated this Part of the Evidence more fully upon the Table. Their being deficient at this time isa

to your Lordfhips, becaufe, as I apprehend, it clearly violent Prefumption, and that, in Point of Law, isfome

explains the Earl's artful methods of Extortion, and Degree of Proof, that they were of fmall Subftance at

alfo proves that in this whole Proceeding, The Money, the time of their Admifiion. How elfe is it to be con-

inftead of being voluntarily given, was unjuftly extorted, ceiv'd that mailers, who have been fo fhortatimein
and that inftead of being a Prefent or ufual Perquifite, it their Offices, fhould be fo much in Arrear? Kynafton

was an illegal and corrupt Bargain and Sale ofOffices, re- was admitted but in Auguft 172 1, and in 1724 there

luting to the Adminifiration and Execution of Juftice. appears a Deficiency of 26,908 /. T. Bennet is admitted

The laft Thing I fhall mention to prove this Point but in June 1723, and in little more than a Year there

is an Evidence, to his Lordfhip, moft unexceptionable, isa Deficiency of 16,075/. And it is remarkable, that

I mean the Earl of Macclesfield himfelf-, for my Lords, both thefe mafters have fworn, all they were owners

confider once more his Anfwer in Relation to this very of in the World, was not fufficient to have paid the

Point. What Caution! What Equivocation ! What vaft Prices they gave for their Offices. Yet thefe Men
Confufion of Mind ! That could make him even for- were chofen out to be trufted, one with near 50,000/.

get the Time of his own Impeachment. What other and the other with near ico,ooo/. of the money be-

Circumftances of Guilt ! That during the Courfe of longing to the helplefs and the miferable. By the fkill

this Trial have been vifible to your Lordfhips.— Bank my Lord Macclesfield fhew'd the other Day, in endea-

Bills taken out in feign'd Names, the Secrecy with vouring to prove a Man illegally worth 1000/. or

which the money was paid, the dead Silence as to 1500/. who had own'd himfelf to be worth nothing;

the Price agreed : One five thoufand Guineas in a Ba- your Lordfhips may fee it was not want ofKnow-
fket ; another five thoufand Guineas left on a Toilett

;

ledge how to make an Inquiry, that made his Lord-

and laftly, His own Declaration to the mafters almoft fhip neglect it. It was becaufe he never once concern'd

in a Body; How much they, how much himfelf might himfelf, whether they had Subftance or nor. TheSum
be affected. I fubmit to your Lordfhips what Infe- he himfelfwas to receive, was his only Confederation, and

rence is to be drawn from all thefe Particulars. The therefore his only Care; for as Mr. Bennet has exprefly

Commons are perfuaded all flowed from this Principle, declared, he never once asked him, either before or

That his Lordfhip, the Mafters, the Seller, and the after his Admiffion, any one Queftion in order to be!

Buyer, were all confeious that the whole Tranfaction inform'd of his private Circumftances.

was illegal and corrupt. And yet, my Lords, thefe are the Men, whom his

Before I quit this Head of the Charge, I muft take Lordfhip, as Mr.Waller has particularly fworn, thought 1

Notice of that Part of his Lordfhip's Anfwer, wherein fit in open Court, and while he was fitting in the fa-;

he hopes that the receiving Prefents on fuch Occafions cred Seat of Truth and Juftice, to declare Men of as

is not criminal in it felf, or by the Common Law of great Fortune, Abilities and Skill, as had ever fat in that

this Realm; and that there is notany Act of Parliament Court. I much more readily concur in the Truth of

whatfoever, by which the fame is made Criminal. I the other part of his Lordfnip's Declaration, and pro-

hope his Lordfhip intends that the Words, Or by the ved by the fame Witnefs, That he hadgreat SatisfatTwn

Common Law of this Realm fhould be underftood as Ex- in the having admitted moft of the mafters himfelf. The
planatory of the Expreffion, Criminal in itfelf; other- Reafon Mr. Waller gave, in Anfwer to fome quibbling!

wife it fuppofes a very ftrange Diftinction. For furely Queftionsof his Lordfhip's, for his particularly remem-

an Action cannot be conceived to be Criminal in itfelf, bring this remarkableSpeech, is clear and convincing to

and at the fame Time not contrary to the Common Law of every Man ; That the Aftoniffiment he was firitck with at

this Kingdom. Is it poffible for any one to imagine, that the Hearing, madehim to remember it. And happy would

Corruption in the Officer is not the neceffary Confe- it beforhislordfhip, was it poffible ever to be forgotten!

quence of being obliged to purchafe his Place ? This is But what could make the Earl of Macclesfield break

in Terminis the Reafon of the Statute of Edw. VI. Is it out into this Panegyrick ? A Reafon fo mean, and at

poffible for any one to imagine, that Oppreffion of the fame time fo grofs, that I almoft wonder even his
1

Lord-
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Lordfhip would venture toad upon it in Publick. A and infifted upon its being given him, or not at all
Day or two before this happened, a mailer died, and He reported this to the Earl, who difpleas'd at ir°

a new Purchafer was to be invited.
^

faid, Hiccocks fhould pay 2000/. and that he himfelf
I have juft now mentioned the Satisfaction his lord- would repay the 1575 /. but it fhould be in fuch a

fhip had in the Sale of thefe Offices. The Effect of manner, as that Bennet fhould not know in what man-
which was, that the Earl connived at and permitted ner it was done. Moft profound politicks this 1 Bennet
the unjuft Method that was praftifed, for the pur- afterwards told your lordfhips, that he found the Earl

i chafing mafters to pay the Price of their Offices, out intended to trick him out of this money ; for feveral

\ of the money belonging to the Suitors of the Court. Times and Places were appointed for Payment, with-
This Practice the Commons charge to have been out any Effect. And therefore the Accounts were

; notorious, and the Evidence produc'd to your Lord- delivered in, and the Story comes out. Your lord-
\ ihips proves that it was fo. Godfrey, Conway, Ky- fhips certainly obferv'd, that my Lord Macclesfield
nafton, and Bennet fwore, that this Circumftance in- was very much offended with Mr. Bennet's Evidence,

' duc'd them to become Purchafers ; and indeed as to and therefore took care to crofs examine him moft
them, the Fact provesjt felf, even though they had accurately. But that Fatality which conftantly attends
not fworn it to be fo. For they have both own'd, they Guilt, was fo ftrong upon him, that the Anfwers
were not able to buy without it; nay, they were fo low given by this and almoft every other Witnefs, to
that even the fifteen hundred Guineas, they paid the the Queftions propos'd by the Earl, and his Counfel
Earl himfelf, was out of the Suitors money. And thus evidently, as I apprehend, deftroy his own Anfwer'
far the Earl of Macclesfield himfelf has own'd in his and confirm our Accufation, But, my Lords, it

Anfwer. But alas ! That would prove nothing, if it is not only the Anfwers of the WitnefTes, but even'his
was not accompanied with a Fact, that cannot be dif- Lordfhip's own Queftions that afford Evidence ao-ainft

believed; My Lords, He has repaid the Money!
After this, I think, I need not repeat the Evidence

fo minutely as to explain the particular method, in

which this Fraud was tranfacted. The whole feems

him. For to what part of the Charge am I now fpeak-
ing? Why to that, wherein he is accus'd of knowing
and endeavouring to conceal the Practice of paying
the Purchafe out of the Suitors money. And what

obvioufly calculated for no other End or Purpofe, than does his Lordfhip afk ! Bid net you at this Meeting tell

to induce Perfons of fmall Abilities to become Pur- me, that if Hiccocks wouldpay 2000 /. you then would
chafers, by facilitating and making eafy the method makeup the reft yourfelf ? By his lordfhip's own Con-
of Payment. And indeed it was fo eafy, that I won- feffion therefore, Bennet was with the Earl upon this

der his Lordfhip did not meet with Perfons, who Occafion ; they did talk upon the Subject, Bennet has
would agree to give one half of the money, for an inform'd your Lordfhips. Hiccocks retaining theSui-
opportunity of running away with the other. And if tors money, was part of the Converfation. Elfe why
they had, I do not fee but his Lordfhip's Defence fhould he pay 2000 /. ? His lordfhip did concert how
would have been juft as good as it is now. Such a to make up this Affair, and confequently how to con-
Price might with as much Reafon be called a Perqui- ceal the whole. To this Queftion of the noble Lord's
fite, as his condefcending to take but five or fix thou- Bennet anfwers confiftently with what he had faid be-
fand Guineas, when no one would give more. It is fore, That he did notfay, if Mr. Hiccocks would pay
true my Lord Macclesfield does in his Anfwer fay, 2000 /. that then he would ftand the reft. And the Rea-
that he was ignorant of this Practice, But I apprehend fon he gives is good, He was not worth the Money.
his Lordfhip to be as muchmiftaken in this, as he has Your Lordfhips remember the other part of the Dia-
been in other particulars: For, my Lords, it appears logue. I fhall only add, that the Earl beingangryat
by Mr. Bennet''s Evidence, that he not only knew of thisEvidence, afksMr. Bennet, And how couldyou, as an
this Practice, but endeavoured to conceal it. honeft Man, offer to buy a place, when you were not worth

It happened that when this Mr. Bennet delivered the purchafe Money? I fubmit to your lordfhips, whe-
his Accounts to the Privy Council, he concluded with ther it was not as honeft for him to buy without Mo-
a very remarkable Article; Item, In the Hands of ney, as for his Lordfhip to fell without Right.

Perfons of Ability and Honour, 9c 75 /. My Lord Mac- I have now ftated to your lordfhips the Fact, as to

clesfield, at fight of this Particular, afks him theRea- this fcandalous Practice. And I think it can never be
fon of it ; Mr. Bennet explains it, That as to 1575/. thought reafonable to fuppofe the Eavl ofMacclesfield
he meant his Lordfhip, and as to the Refidue, Mr. only ignorant of what every one elfe knew : Or that

Hiccocks, of whom he bought, had detained fo much he did not know of what he endeavour'd to conceal,

of the Suitors money in his Hands, by way of Pay- And if it is certainly true, that the Office of Chan-
mentfor his Place, and at the fame time he complained cellor is an Office of the higheft Truft, it is as true,

to his Lordfhip of the Hardfhip with which he had that every wilful Neglect of what is necefTary to be
been us'd. The Confideration that induced him to done, in order to difcharge that Truft, is criminal. It

give fo large a Price, was his being immediately to cannot be doubted, but that this Practice was unjuft,

receive a very large Cafh ; and yet the firft time he and fraudulent upon the Suitors of the Court. It can-

waited on Mr. Hiccocks for that purpofe, he could get not be doubted, but that the Earl of Macclesfield knew
but 1500/. and that upon the hard Terms of giving of this Practice. It cannot be doubted but that the

a Receipt for 9000/. During this Converfation, Chancellor was the proper Perfon, becaufe in Fact, be

Bennet fwears, the Earl faid with fome Concern, That was the only Perfon, who could, ex Officio, either re-

his Accounts were made up the worft way in the World, medy or prevent this Abufe. What ought to be the

for every Body would now judge, that what he paid for Confequence of thefe PremifTes, the World will learn

bis Office, came out ofthe Suitors Money, and that what by your Lordlhips Judgment.
had been fo much fufpected would be now difcovered, and Hitherto, myLord's, Avarice, uncorruptedAvarice I

zvhat be himfelf had taken fo much Pains to deny, when- has been the only Principle of this Earl. In what fol-

ever he was afked the Queftion. After this his Lord- lows, your Lordfhips will perceive A pprehenfion and

(hip and Bennet enter into a ferious Confultation, Fear begin to mingle in all his Actions ; and for this

how to make up this Affair. The Chancellor bids Reafon the Bankruptcy oiDormer was to be concealed,

him go to Mr. Hiccocks, to try what he would do. that the Clamours of the World might be hufhed. It

But it feems he could not be brought to do more, has appeared in Proof to your Lordfhips, that upon
:han to lend zqoqL which Bennet absolutely refufed, Dormer's abfeonding, the Deficiency in his Office a-

mounted
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mounted to upwards of 52,000 /. for the Account up-

on the Table, which reduces the Ballance to 49,000/.

was made up long after the mafters had been obliged

to contribute their 500/. each.— When Dormer run a-

way, it is natural to imagine, that even this Chancellor

mould have turned his Thoughts to the Security of the

Suitors: Not becaufe it was his Duty fo to do, but as

Mr. Dormer was a matter whom he had not had the

Satisfaction to admit himfelf, he might with the more

Security have given himfelf the Show at leaft, of

acting vigoroufly in relation to his Affairs. By the

Evidence that has been given it appears his Lordfhip's

Behaviour was quite the Reverfe •, my Lord Maccles-

field, inftead of being Sollicitous for the Good of the

Suitors, was apprehenfive only of the lofs that might

happen to himfelf, by finking the Price of Places, and

thereby defeating that gainful Trade he carried on in

the Sale of them. But this Thought was attended with

another Confideration, that this open Acknowledge-

ment of the Bankruptcy of one mafter might induce

the World to fufpect the Abilities of the reft, and as

he beft knew what Care, what Circumfpeclion he

had ufed upon their Admiffion, fo he was determined

to prevent an Incident of that kind. With thefe

Views therefore every Step that was taken was my-

sterious, and the Deficiency itfelf with the utmoft cau-

tion keptfecret •, fofecret, that at laftfomeof the ma-

tters themfelves, hisown mafters, for that veryReafon,

refufed to contribute any farther towards it. // is a

iottomlefs Pit, fays one ; We know not what it is,

fays another.

The firft Step the Earl took was to direct Mr. Ro-

gers and Mr. Hiccocks to carry on a private Negotia-

tion with Dormer, for his Return into England, af-

furing him in his Lordfhip's Name, that his Perfon

fhould not be confin'd, provided he made an Aflign-

ment and Difcovery of hisEftate and Effects. Upon
this Dormer returns, and executes an Affignment ; but

I do not find he was ever examin'd upon Interrogato-

ries, or that any of his Creditors attended, in order

to enquire into the Truth of his Difcovery. Your
Lordfhips obferve, that the Promife of liberty was

conditional; but Dormer, and the Earl, tho' for very

different Reafons, were equally afraid of this Com-
mitment •, and therefore his Lordfhip took Care not

to direct any Proceeding, that might lay him under

a Neceffity of doing it. If there was nothing elfe

in the Cafe, this Behaviour was fufficiently Grofs.

But, my Lords, it was ftill worfe ; for Mr. Lightboun

has acquainted your Lordfhips, that foon after Dor-

mer's Failure, he waited on my Lord Macclesfield, and

told him, that he fufpected the Account given in by
Dormer was not Fair and Juft ; and that therefore he

ought to be committed for example's fake. This,Wit-

nefsadded another Circumftance, that juftifies what I

have before fuggefted to your lordfhips, as the Reafon
of the Earl's Conduct. He fays, that in this Conver-
fation with his lordfhip he intimated and gave broad

Hints of his fufpecting the abilities of fome of the

other mafters ; he reprefented that the Year 1 720 had
been a very fatal Year, and might affect the matters as

well as other People; that what had been might be, and
feveral other matters of this Nature. Your Lordfhips

remember the manner in which this evidence was
given, there was an air of Probability and Truth, that

appeared in it ; he own'd indeed, when the Noble Earl

afk'd theQueftion, for fear, I fuppofe, left your lord-

fhips fhould want Proof of there having been fuch a

Difcourfe, that he did not name any mafter in parti-

cular whom he fufpected. He did not know how far

an action might lie, and if known, it would make him
unacceptable to his brethren, and himfelfmightbemade
uneafy in his Office, and feveral other Reafons of that

kind ; and therefore he chofe to exprefs himfelf in gene-

Earl o/Macclesfield, 1 o G. I.

ral Terms. Your lordfhips will obferve that the Earl
was very early in thisRefolution, fome way or other to

patch up this affair oWormer's, fo far at leaft, as to

make it laft his Time : For Mr. Kynafton has informed
your lordfhips, that when he was in Treaty with Mr.
Cottingham, to be admitted Succeflbr toMr.Borret he
objected this very Deficiency of Dormer's as a Reafon
why the Chancellor fhould not infift upon fo large a
Sum, fince the Confequence of it muft naturally leflen

the Value of the Office. But he made light of it, and
faid, it would foon be made up. Mr. Edwards alfo, who
fucceeded Dormer, faid he neverwould have bought the
Office, if he had not been affured the Deficiency
would have been made good. Here your lordfhips

may alfo remember, that my lord Macclesfield, by crofs-

examining this Gentleman, laboured to prove, that

the mafters had actually agreed, in all events, to make
good Dormer's effects. Mr. Edwards faid, he could

not jay 'twas aclually agreed, he hoped they would, and
by Converfation he had had, imagined they were inclined

fo to do, &c. Upon this the Earl afked, From whom
then hadyou thofe Ajfiurances that it would be done? His
lordfhip (ever fortunate in his Queftions!) I believe

was not well fatisfied with the anfwer; for fays Ed-
wards, Ihad themfrom Cottingham and Godfrey. Their
Names and Qualifications are well known to your
lordfhips.

The nextStep that was taken, relates to the Compo-
fition of a Debt of 24,046 /. due from one Wilfon a

Banker, to the eftate ofMr. Dormer. This Compofi-
tion the Commons do aver the Earl did direct and efta-

blifh, in an unwarrantable and clandeftine manner. On
the other hand, my Lord Macclesfield does in his an-

fwer fay, that it was done in the proper and ufual man-
ner: Your lordfhips will judge of the Truth between

us. The Commons, to prove their Averment, have pro-

duced the original Inftrument of Compofition, by

which it appears that this Debt of 24,000/. was to be

difcharged for the Sum of 1463/. in money, and an

Affignment of 1 0,000/. or a proportionable part ofwhat

fhould be recovered of a defperate Debt of 22,600/.

due from one Poulter (who alfo is a Bankrupt) to Wilfon.

The Introduction to this Affair was thus •, Mr. Ed-

wards, to whom Dormer affigned his Effects, acquaint-

ed the Chancellor that Wilfon propofed a Compofition,

but apprehended he had not Power to conclude any

fuch Agreement. To this the Chancellor agrees, and

therefore advifed him to apply to the Court by way
of Petition for that Purpofe. Edwards followed this

Advice, and petitioned. Upon which the Earl refer-

red the matter to Mr. Hiccocks, who made his Re-

port, which being annexed to another Petition, the

Compofition was confirmed. In the Anfwer which

the Earl gave to the fecond Petition, thefe Words arc

inferted, Of which give Notice forthwith; To what

Purpofe thefe Words were inferted, I cannot compre-

hend, unlefs it was to deceive the poor mafter, whc

trufted him, into Ruin, by craftily laying a Ground-

work for throwing the Blame of the whole upon him.

unlefs he could divine to whom this Notice was tob<

given. For his Lordfhip took Care not to give an)

Directions, as to what Perfons, or in what manner i

fhould be done. During this whole Tranfa&ior

Wilfon was never examined upon Interrogatories; N(

one Creditor ever fummoned to attend ; the Charade

of Poulter perfectly unknown, or by what they die

know, they might have reafonably fufpected what af

terwards happened; No Knowledge o{ Wilfon's Affairs

but what he communicated himfelf; the firft Propofa

he made was accepted ; no Confultation with any

ther of Wilfon's Creditors; and to fhow how ufefu

that might have been, it has been proved to you

lordfhips, that Wilfon has paid feveral of his Credi

tors their whole Debt. Thi,
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This was the Care the Earl thought fit to take Orphans, Lunaticks, the Wards and Suitors of
of the Suitors of the Court: Doubtlefs he imagin'd, the Court were the wretched unhappy merchan-
that tho' more vigorous meafures might fecure dice, in which the Earl of Maccksfield thought fit

more money, yet they might at the fame Time to deal. When Kynajion was to buy, he lwears

make the Circumftances of the Court too publick

;

that Cottingham, or Rogers, or both, recommended
for, at the fame Time his Lordfhip took abun- it to him as being the Senior Office, and there-

dant Caution to prevent any of thefe Particulars fore the befi. And Cottingham himfelfown'd, the

coming to the Knowledge of the Suitors, or of firft Day of this Trial, that he had acknowledg'd
the World. For, my Lords, not one of thefe to a Committee of the Houfe of Commons, that

Facts appears upon any Record or Regifter what- he faid to Mr. Kynajion, You have -purchafed a very

foever ; the Whole was a private and clandeftine good Office ; for there is a great deal of Money in it.

Tranfaction between his Lordfhip, two or three But, my lords, the Thing proves itfelf: Confidef

matters and the Bankrupt himfelf. Your Lord- the Nature of the Office, the attendance and
fhips have a Certificate from the proper Officers labour that is required ; deduct the unlawful In-

for what I now fay, 'That none of thefe Petitions, Re- tereft made of the Suitors money ; how can the

ports, or Orders, were ever regularly drawn up, orfled, honeft Fees (even fuppofing it lawful to fell) be

My Lords, this Caution, this Secrecy, this worth 6, 7, 8, or 9000 /. I leave this for my
Myftery, is a flrange Way of proceeding for lord Macclesfield to explain, and fhall at prefenc

Juftice and Equity ; but, if the contrary be fup- take it for granted, that the mafters efteem'd the

pofed to have been his Intentions, the Whole is Cuftody of the money to be part of their Bargain.

of a Piece, natural and confiftent.

Permit me, my Lords, once more to obferve

upon his lordfhip's Crofs-Examinations. And,
Firft, He very nicely examin'd Edwards, as to

what he had recerv'd by virtue of this Compofi-

tion ; and certainly it receives a wonderful Jufti-

fication from Mr. Edwards's owning that he re-

ceived in Oilober laft 1000/. The next Point he

examin'd to, was his lordfhip's Diligence in

Securing Dormer's Effects. The Commons brought

Evidence to fhew, that fome of Dormer's Eftate

had been conceal'd, and, for ought I know, it

That there was, in fact, a Contribution by
the mafters of 500/. each, is evident from the

Receipts now upon your lordfhips Table; and
Mr. Holford fully explains the method that was
taken to draw them into it. He received, loon

after the Report of Dormer's Bankruptcy, an
Order from Mr. Cottingham to prepare and bring

in his Accounts to the Chancellor ; foon after that,

it was intimated to him, that a Contribution of

500/. was neceffary towards fupplying the Defi-

ciency ofDormer : Upon which he paid his money,
and his Accounts (tho' ready, as he fwears ex-

may be true, that one Goodfellow, by his lordfhip's prefly) were never afterwards called for.

means, did give the Adminiftrator (appointed

fince his lordfhip's Difmiffion) the firft Notice

of it. The Fact is, that a Parcel of old Hops,

500 /. the worfe for keeping, were not long fince

fold for the precife Sum of 100 Guineas. To
which I fhall only fay, that I wonder his lordfhip

Lightboun was another matter, who received

Orders to prepare his Accounts ; but not paying

his money, Cottingham, fome fhort Time after

Dormer broke, ask'd him if he had not heard of the

Propofal to contribute 500/. Lightboun own'd he

had : Cottingham then faid, 'twas neceffary to raifs

chofe to recal that Sum into your lordfhips fome money to go on, and that, if he contributed,

memory.
My lord Macclesfield hitherto might poffibly

meet with the Approbation of thofe mafters, on
whom he vouchfafed to fmile: Both he and they

feem to have confidered themfelves as in an

In tereft feparate, and quite oppofite to that of
the Suitors. His View was to keep the Circum-
ftances of the Court fecret, and to prevent any
Thifig that might happen to leffen his Profits in

the Sale of Places: Theirs was to retain the money
of the Court in their Hands, and for that Reafon
to hufh any publick Clamour that might occafion

the taking it away. I think I am not miftaken

in this Conjecture, becaufe I find his lordfhip

himfelf was of the fame Opinion : For this was
the great Artifice and Machine, which his lord-

fhip employ'd, to terrify them into a Contribu-

tion of 500/. each, towards fupplying the Defi-

ciency of Dormer's Office. To fhew how much
this Cuftody of the money was in the mafters

Thoughts, your lordfhips will be pleafed to re-

member, that all the mafters own'd, that it

made a very considerable Article in what they

call'd, the Profits of their Places. Mr. Holford (on

whom the only blemifh I know, is the misfor-

tune he has had of being a matter) acknowledg'd,
in anfwer to a Queftion propofed by a Noble
lord, That he nnderjtood it fo ; for he never propos'd

to lock the Money up, but to employ it for his own
life. In fact, it was what the mafters bought,

and what the Chancellor fold, or rather, Widows,
Vol. VI.

poffibly the money might be repaid. Still Light-

boun was inflexible, and faid it was a dangerous

Step, and he would not pay the money. Upon
this Refufal, he inform'd your lordfhips, that he

was look'd upon as a very troublefome Fellow,

among the mafters, and little Arts were us'd to

make him uneafy in his Office : But when this

likewife prov'd ineffectual, the Earl himfelf, at

laft, condefcended to talk with him, and in the

beginning of the Year 1722, he was taken into

his lordfhip's Study ; and the Earl told him, he

was forry to hear he did not pay -, defired him

to confider the Confequences, and how dangerous

it was, not to take Care of Dormer's Affair. Upon
this, Lightboun ftill refus'd to pay, faying he did

not know how far a Contribution of this Kind

might be conftru'd to be an Undertaking of the

mafters to anfwer one for the other : At the fame

Time he boldly and honeftly reprefented to the

Chancellor, how cautious his lordfhip ought to be ;

that this method was no Cure for the mifchief;

and that as to its being propos'd by the Senior

mafters, 'twas no Argument to him, and ought to

raife fome Jealoufy in his lordfhip, fince they

were vifibly endeavouring to withdraw from the

Court, and came into a Project of this Kind, only

to keep up the Credit of the Court, till they found

an Opportunity of felling their Places at great

Rates j'and a great deal more to this Purpofe ; and

concluded with a peremptory Refufal to contri-

bute.

5Y However,
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However, as the other matters paid their money, mon Senfe Would have been upon his Guard : My

the Earl was not difcourag'd, but depended upon Lord Macclesfield knew, that thefe mailers gam'd
it that Tome Time or other (as he told Mr. Ed- with the Suitors money themfelves, or tor an
wards) he lhould be able to force Mr. Lightboun to extravagant Intereft lent it to thofe who did : He
comply and therefore, as he thought ; he had by knew that this was the Occafion of Dormer's Defi-
this means contriv'd a Fund to anfwer any De- ciency : He knew that the other mafters had it

mands upon Mr. Dormer's Office, he went on, juft

as if there had been no Deficiency at all. By the

Orders that have been read to your lordfhips,

and by the Evidence of Mr. Edwards, who paid

the money, it appears that he made feveral Or-

ftill in their Power to do the fame ; therefore he
permitted it: He took no meafures to prevent
it ; therefore he encouraged it.

But what could engage this Earl (whofe Under-
ftanding is no wife queftion'd) after fo fatal

ders for the Payment of money, without any Re- Year, thus to rifque his own Character •, and what
gard to that due Proportion all the Suitors of the perhaps he values more, his own Fortunes not
Court were entitled unto. His lordfhip in his only upon the Understanding, the Integrity, but
Anfwer fays, It was not incumbent upon him, ex even the good Fortune of a parcel of Men, whom
officio, to declare an Average. If it was not his he had thus pick'd up, without either Enquiry or
Duty, my Lords, for God's fake, whofe Duty Care? My Lords, as the Borrower is to the Lender,

was it? This is too grofs to be a Sin of Igno- Jo a corrupt Chancellor is the Servant ofhis confederate

ranee. A Barrifter of but a Term's (binding knows, Officers. He durft not put a flop to their Practices

nay, it is obvious to the loweft Capacity, that (tho' his own Eftate was embarked with theirs)

where feveral Perfons have Demands out of one left Refentment and Revenge lhould make 'em
Common Fund, and that Fund proves to be de- difcover the infamous Secrets, with which they
fective, all ought to be upon the fame Foot, and were entrufted. How durft he demand Security

be paid in an equal Proportion. Mr. Lightboun, from thofe whom he had admitted, knowing they
Mr. Edwards, both reprefented to him the Hard- Were able to give none ? Surely, my lords, no Rea-
fhip of one Creditor's receiving his whole Demand, fon, but fuch as I have now mention'd, cou*d induce
and another Creditor, who had equal right, lofing his lordfhip to neglect (and a long neglect a-

his whole Debt. The Reafon therefore of this o- mounts to a Refufal) the obliging thefe mafters
therwife abfurd Proceeding cou'd only be, that the to give Security, or elfe to call them to a ftrict

Declaration of an Average wou'd publifh that Account, as to their Cafh and Securities, after he
Deficiency to the World, which he had us'd (6 had been inform'd by Mr. Lightboun, that fome
many Stratagems to conceal. even of the mafters were to be fufpected. But

I cannot conclude this Part of the Evidence, Mr. Lightboun this Day went farther; he repre-

which relates to that Criminal Defign the Earl

carried on of concealing this Deficiency, and of

deceiving the Suiters of the Court, without re-

minding

fented the Danger of milling Men with fuch
vaft Sums : That this Credit had been the Occa-
fion of all the Loffes in the Court, and therefore

your lordfhips of one other Inftance propos'd a Scheme of Security, to prevent any
of this noble Earl's great Regard for Truth and

Veracity. Mr. Atwood, who was the Solicitor in

the Caufe of Harper and Cafe, in which the De-
ficiency of Dormer being mentioned, the Earl

took occafion to declare, 'That indeed he had heard

Loffes for the future. The Chancellor did not ab-
folutely reject this Propofal ; that was too grofs
even for himfelf: He therefore defires Mr. Light-
boun to put it in Writing: 'Tisdone; and his lord-

fhip mod carefully kept it by him for two Years,

of the Deficiency, but nothing of it had ever come judi- without taking any notice of it. But, my lords,

daily before him; and that he knew nothing of it but there is one Circumftance in this Neglect, that
as publick News. This, my Lords, was after he in Equity (and furely a Chancellor will not de-

had paid iooo/. towards it himfelf. After what
I have faid, I fhall not attempt to aggravate

this Proftitution of the Seat of Juftice. But this

did not fatisfy his lordfhip : That his Difiimula-

tion might for ever remain upon Record, he

dine to be try'd by that Rule) makes his lord-
fhip anfwerable for a very large Sum in one
Cafe only, without entring into any the other
Conferences of his Crime. Mr. Kynafion, your
lordfhips remember, was prov'd to be deficient

thought fit to pronounce an Order, that is nOw in the Sum of 26,000 odd hundred Pounds; and
upon your lorcflhips Table, and dated no longer

ago than in December laft ; in which he directs the

mafters to enquire, whether there was any Defi-

ciency in Dormer's Office ; and whether the Suitors

were likely to lofe any Part of their Money, or

not.

Your lordfhips know the Contract that was
made between the Chancellor and the mafters

:

I therefore fhall not wafte your Time in men-
tioning Evidence to prove, that they, who gave

yet, my lords, this vzry Kynafion did, in the Year
1722, propofe to his lordfhip, to give land, or
other Security, for the Effects with which he was
entrufted. I know his lordfhip will object what
this Gentleman has before fworn, in relation to
his own Circumftances : But what is it to the
Suitors, whofe Land it is, provided it be pledg'd
for their Safety ? What Anfwer, my Lords, mufi we
give to our Fellow-Subjeels, thofe unhappy People, who,
are undone, 1 will not fay by Kynafton'j and the.

fuch vaft Prices for the Cuftody of the money, other mafters Deficiency, but his lordfhip's own wilful
did not neglect the Opportunity of employing it NegletJ ? J will not take up any more of your
for their own Ufe. The Proof is but too vifible : lordfhips Time upon this Head. In what I haye
They who are rich, confefsif, and they who are already mention'd, it is proved, notwithstanding
poor, dare not deny it: It was the neceffary what the Earl in his Anfwer fays to the contrary,
Confequence of his lordfhip's Extortion ; and
that put it out of his Power, to take thofe Mea-
fures that were neceffary to prevent that Pra-

ctice. The misfortunes of the Sout'h-Sea Year were

fo univerfal, that .furely any Man of even com-

that he knew the mafters converted the money
of the Suitors to their own Ufe. And he himfelf
owns, that he did not infift; upon" any Security
From them. In a late Order of his own making,
he has recited it not to be ufual in the Court of

Chancery,
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Chancery, for the matters to give Security ; and to the other matters, in relation to this iooo / The
therefore in his Anfwer covers himfelf under the matters not feeming willing to comply he us'd
Praftice of his Predeceflbrs. My Lords, the Rea- many Arguments to perfuade 'em to it

• He defires
fonablenefs and Neceffity of Security- depends" 'em toconfidertheconfequences; the occafion pref-
upon the Greatnefs of the Truft committed, and fes, and Clamours grow ftrong •, and if this Affair
the Qualities of the Perfons intrufted. In Dr. Ed- was not taken care of, Dormer's Deficiency mull
di/hury's Czk, tho' there v/as a Stop, yet there' break out; and therefore what he propofed rs
Was no lofs, tor his Eftate prov'd fufficient to an- the only way- to prevent a Parliamentary Inquiry
fwer all Demands. And therefore his lordfhip's Upon this Lightboun interpos'd, and faid If 'it

Argument, in my Apprehenfion, amounts to this, was fo, he could not help it: That he had rather
That beeaufe his Predeceflbrs did not infift upon lofe the keeping of the money and Securities than
Security from Perfons who wanted none, there- hold it upon thofe Terms. The Chancellor re-
fore he might juftly entruft thofe who were able ply'd, But that is not the worft : Suppofe the"
to give none. Houfe of Commons mould in a Committee of
My Lords, I am come to the laft Head ofour Juftice refolve, that your Offices relate to the Ad-

Charge, and your Lordfhipswill now fee the Earl miniftration of Juftice ; that the- buying them is

of Macclesfield abandon'd to all his Fears ! Even contrary to the Statute of Edward VI. and there-
Avarice forfakes him ! The Dread ofa Parliamen- fore forfeited. Confider (fays he) tho' it may
tary Inquiry fits heavy on his Mind ; and I firmly affect me, as to the Difpofal of thefe Places for
believe, he now repents his having illegally taken the future, yet it will affecl: you much more in
this money, beeaufe he parts with it to prevent, the Lofs of your Places ; and therefore, upon the
if poflible, that Punifhment he mod juftly de- whole, defired them to agree to the Contribution,
ferves for having received it. He finds all his My Lords, the Matters were Proof againft his
Arts in vain to hinder his Practices being known Lordfhip's Eloquence, and [eriatim refused to corn-
to the World ; and therefore his whole Study is ply. Upon which the Earl was ftruck, and with a
now bent how to ward off their coming into Par- vaft concern faid, Then I will pay it my felf. What
liamenr. Guilt, what Fear, mutt this Noble Earl be fenfible
The firft Inftance of this appears in the Cafe of, thus to part with that money he had fo fa-

of Mrs. Cbitty. The Fa61 is thus: An Order was crifie'd his Honour to get! In this manner the
made for the Payment of iooo/. to her, Part of a' Earl parted with his mafters, and Lockman re-
Sum upwards of 11,000 /. belonging to her, and turns again to the Charge; and at laft, meeting
which had been paid into the Hands of Mr. Dor- the Chancellor in the Room behind the Chancery
fher. She, it feems, afllgns this Order to a very Court, he got a Promife from him, that Mr. Cot-
importunate Solicitor, one Mr. Lockman, who, as tingbam fhou'd pay the ioco /. But at the fame
he has told your Lordfhips, diligently purfu'd the Time hislordfhip (I fuppofe to get rid of fo trou-
Chancellor fromLondon toKenfington, fcomKenfmg- blefome a Suitor) advis'd him not to eno-ao-e with
ton to JVeft'minJter-Hall, and the Court ofChancery the Widow Cbitty-; for if her money in theCourt of
it felf. He reprefented to his Lordfhip the Cir- Chancery was all her Fortune, that Sum was all me
cumftances he was in; that he had compounded was like to have. Soon after this, Cottingham paid
fome South-Sea Contracts, and abfolutely wanted, the money. But it feems he forgot to defire Lock-
and infilled upon his money to compleat his agree- man to keep the Secret; fo he told it about fo much,
ment, and fet himfelf at Liberty. The Chan- that Cottingham meeting him rebuk'd him for it/,

cellor finding himfelf fo prefs'd, was at laft fore'd faying, Can't you farewell, but you muft cry Roaft
to promife him, that he would take care to get Meat? Your Lordfhips undoubtedly remember,
the money paid. Upon this he fummonsa meet
ing of the mafters, in order to perfuade them to

pay the money, by a Contribution of fifty Pounds
each ; and in the mean while it had been given

out among them, that fuch a Contribution was
expected. Cottingham himfelf, as Mr. Lightboun

fays, told it to him, arid at the fame time made
a frefh Demand of the old Sum of 500/. and afk'd

him what Anfwer he would fend to the Chancel-

lor? Lightboun prudently replies, he would deli-

ver his Anfwer himfelf; and in the mean while

that the Earl endeavoured to fhew, by CrofVexa-
mining, that he had generoufly given this 1000 k
to Mr. Lockman, out of meer Charity and Com-
panion to his miferable Circumftances. Lockman
reply'd very reafonably, that his- Circumftances
were not fo low as to want his Charity ; for he
might have difcounted the Order; and he did not

think it a Favour that he was paid : his own.
The Evidence I have now laft mention'd toyour

lordfhips, even without the Afliftance of other

Proof, almoft maintains the whole Charge. By
he applies to the other mafters, tells them the ill the Teftimony of a Cloud of Witnefles his lord-

Confequences of what they had done, and works fhip here confeffes the Sale of Offices, and owns
them all up to a Refolution not to comply with that S.ile to be illegal: He acknowledges his being

this frefh Demand. He defires 'em not to give acquainted with Dormer'% Deficiency ; and at the

the Chancellor falfe Hopes, but to fpeak their fame time endeavours to conceal it : He in a man-
kind freely. And thus prepared, they all repair ner confeffes his own Guilt, pronounces Sentence

to his Lordfhip's Houfe. I need not upon this upon himfelf, and therefore propofes methods to

Occafion repeat the Names of the Witneffes, for prevent a Parliamentary Inquiry,

all the mafters prefeut concur in giving the fame But, my lords, there is ftill more behind: There

Teftimony. His Lordfhip began the Confe- isnot only a'XTonnection among the Articles, but

rence with afking Mr. Lightboun, in a Very angry the Crimes charg'd in 'em rife upon each other. Hi-

Tone and manner, why he did not pay his 500/. ? therto his Deceit has extended only to the Subject,

Who reply'd, he had often told hislordfhip the Rea- but now he attempts the Throne it felf His Ma-
fon, and that he neither cou'd nor wou'd pay, and jeftygracioufly directed an Inquiry to be made into

was confirm'd in his Refolution, by his having fince the Diforders of the Court of Chancery. His lord-

heard all, or moft of his Brethren repent of their

Compliance. The Earl, without regarding Light-

fo««'sReafon, proposed the Neceflities of theCourt

fhip knewthatthisdutiful HoufeofCommons wou'd
not interpofe in the Affair, till his Majefty'sCom-

mands were obey'd, and therefore he now jiunmons

all his Arts and Skill to ward the Blow, and decaivq.

his
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his Majefty into a Belief, that the World had taken

a falfe Alarm; and that the Circumftances/ of the

Mafters were much better than they were repre-

fented to be; That they were able to anfwer all

Demands; and that confequently the Suitors of the

Court were not in any Danger. His Agentsare fent

among the mafters, to encourage them to ftand by

each other; that they mould make a bold ftand,

and defeat the Defigns of theirEnemies. He him-

felf becomes their Counfellor, and advifes, and

(without Inquiry, or Regard to either Truth or

Juftice) he perfuades them to make fuch a Sub-

scription to their Accounts, as might miflead the

Council in any Report they Ihould make to his

Majefty.

All his Thoughts, Counfels, and Meafures, are

now fwift and precipitate. Your Lordftiips have

heard Evidence of the feveral Difcourfes ofColting-

ham and Dixon ; the meeting of the mafters at Mr.
Edwards's, and the laft Conference with the Chan-

cellor himfelf; all within two or three Days of

each other, and all tending to the fame End ofde-

ceiving the King, and preventing the Parliament.

My Lords, all the mafters concur in the meeting at

the Chancellor's Houfe; when, it feems, his Lord-
fhip, upon confidering their feveral Accounts, de-

clared his Approbation of Mr. Holford's Subfcri-

ption ; and without any the leaft Inquiry into their

Abilities and Circumftances, he advis'd them all

to make the fame Subfcription as Mr. Holford had
done.

Your Lordfhips have likewife heard it prov'd,

that the mafters, in order to make a Shew, were

advis'd to aflift and ftand by each other. Bennet

and Conway are both Inftances of this Counfel's be-

ing put in Practice ; and But why fhould I

abufe your lordfhips Patience with particularly re-

capitulating the Evidence that has been this Day
given ? I obferv'd the Attention with which it was

heard, and any Thing I can fay, will only weaken
thatlmprefiion it mult naturally have left on your

Lordfhips mind. I fhall therefore conclude the

Whole with an Obfervation from the Parliament-

Roll of Henry IV. Complaints and Sudfidies belong to

the Commons, Judgments belong to the Lords, and

Redrefs is the Glory of the Crown.

My Lords, The Commons have now difcharg'd

their Duty ; they have declar'd their Grievances,

explain'd the Crimes, and produc'd the Offender.

They are affur'd the King will of his Fatherly

Goodnefs, grant a juft Redrefs, and apply a pro-

per Remedy ; and they doubt not but your Lord-
fhips will pronounce a righteous Judgment.

Then the Houfe adjourned to Wednefday next,

at Ten of the Clock in the Forenoon.

Wednefday, May 12. The fifth Bay.

T'H E Lords being feated in their Houfe, the
Serjeant at Arms made Proclamation for Si-

lence ; as alfo another Proclamation, That all Per-
fons concerned were to take Notice, that Thomas
Earl of Macclesfield now flood upon his Trial, and
they might come forth, in order to make good
the Charge. ,

L. C.J.King. Gentlemen, You that areCounfel
for the Earl oi Macclesfield, may now proceed.

Mr. Serj. Probyn.

May it pleafe your Lordjhips,

1HAVE the Honour to beCounfel for the Noble
Lord within your Bar, the E,.ofMacclesfield,v/ho

(binds impeach'd for highCrimesandMifdcmeanors
m the Name of all the Commons of Great Britain

Earl of Macclesfield, to G. I.

My Lords, When I confider the Importance of
this Charge, in refpect to the Noble Earl im-
peach'd, the great Experience and wife Conduct
of the feveral Gentlemen of the Houfe of Com-
mons, who are intrufted to manage the Profecu-
tion, and the great Variety of Arguments they have
ufed to enforce and aggravate their Charge, it is

with the utmoft Concern that I prefume to appear
before your Lordfhips in his Defence ; not but that
I am well affured of the Truth and Juftice, the
Strength and Fulnefs of the Defence which may be
made in his behalf, but out of real Confcioufhefs of
my own Inability todifcharge fo great a Truft

Unequal to it I fhould have been, had thelono--
eft Time been allowed me to prepare myfelf; but
I fhall now appear much lefs capable, having fo
very little, fo few Days Notice of your Lordfhips
Pkafure in appointing me for that Service.

If therefore I fhall be fo unhappy, as to offer
any Thing in this Cafe lefs proper, or correct, than
might otherwife be expected from me, I hope I
fhall obtain your lordftiips greater Indulgence.
The Offences, which are charged to be commit-

ted by the Noble Earl impeach'd, are contained in
many Articles, no lefs than twenty one in the whole

;

but the Gentlemen of the Houfe ofCommons have
been pleas'd to wave feveral of them, and, I hope,
when your Lordftiips have heard us, and our E-
vidence, you will be pleafed to acquit him of all
the reft.

Thefe Articles have been conceived with the
greateft Caution, and opened with the wreateft
Art,

_

heighten'd with every Circumftance that
may induce Refentment, and urged againft the
Noble Earl impeach'd with a particular Zeal, well
becoming the great Concern which thofe Gentle-
men always fhew for what they apprehend the
Publick Service, and the faithful vigorous Dis-
charge of the great Truft repofed in them by the
Houfe ofCommons.
The impeach'd Earl is purfued back from his

late Refignation of the High Office of Lord Chan-
cellor, through every Stageof Publick Life; and,
with inquifitive Eyes, they have alfo view'd and
pry'd into even his moft private Tranfaftions,
fo as not even the leaft Indifcretion has paffed un-
obferved.

Some Actions, which in themfelves are truly
innocent, and are declared to be fo by the con-
ftant uniform Practice of all the Great and Ho-
nourable Perfons that have gone before him, are
here reprefented as highly culpable.

Others, which we humbly apprehend, are not
only innocent, but commendable and meritorious,
even his perioral Acts of Charity, are imputed to
him as Crimes.

But in one Refpect I muft beg leave to congratu-
late the impeach'd Earl, and think it is his^great
Felicity, that in this fo publick an Examination, fo
ftrict and rigid a Scrutiny into his whole Conduct, at
leaft ever fince he was firft advanced to the Great
Seal, there is not one Objection made, one Inftance
given of Corruption, Partiality, or Oppreffion, in
his own perfonal Administration of juftice ; and
therefore, I hope, I may well conclude (fince it is

admitted by the Profecutors themfelves) that he
has deny'd Juftice to no Man, he has delayed Juftice
to no Man, he has fold Juftice to no Man.
The principal Objection that feems to be rely'd

on by the learned Managers, and the only one
which I humbly apprehend can any Way affect the
impeach'd Earl in the prefentCafe, is, that poffibly
he may have been too eafily lead into a good Opi-
nion of fome Perfons, who in the Eye ofthe World

appeared
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appeared to be Men of good Subftance, and fair mine nothing finally, for when they have made
Reputation, Perfons that were recommended to him fuch Enquiry as the Court directs them, they only

by others of undoubted Honour and Credit ; that certify their Opinions of the feveral Matters refer-

he has admitted thefe Perfons into Offices of great red to them by way of Report, which Report is not

Truft and Profit under him ; and they have at conclufive to theParties; for either of the Panics

length been found not to have deferved the good

OpTnion, which he at firft had been perfuaded to

entertain of them.

Some of thefe Officers have been negligent,

others unfaithful in the Difcharge of their Duty

;

and in their Crimes 'tis now attempted to involve

the impeach'd Earl as their Principal and Patron.

And, in regard the principal Complaints againft

the noble Earl are founded upon the Difpofition of

the Offices of Mafters in Chancery, therefore it has

been thought neceffary (in the Preamble of the

Articles exhibited) to reprefent the Mafters in

Chancery as Officers of very great Truft, fworn

to ferve the King and his People, and affociated

to the Lord Chancellor by particular Commiffions,

for his Affiftance in the due Adminiftration and

Execution of Juftice.

My Lords, what Ufe Mafters inChancery might

formerly be of, and what Affiftance to the Lord

Chancellor they might antiently give, I know not •,

but at prefent they feem to be ofvery little Advan-

tage to him in the Determination of Caufes in

Court.

that thinks himfelfaggrieved by fuch Report, may
take Exception to it ; and the Court, on hearing
fuch Exception, will controul the Mafter's Report,
and determine as they think Juft. And in cafe the
Parties themfelves do not controvert the Matter re-

ported, but totally acquiefce and fubmit to it, yet
is not die Mafter's Report a final Judgment, nor
will bind the Parties thereto, till it be afterwards
confirmed by the Order of the Court: It receives

its Authority and Sanction from the Order of the
Court, and has none without it.

But it was certainly very rightly judged by the
learned Managers, and they have thought it very
material for them, to advance the Reputation of
thefe Offices, in order to make it more penal to

have any Prefent or Compliment made to the Great
Seal, upon the Admiflion or Refignation of the

Mafters.

Another Obfervation was made by one of the

learned Gentlemen of the Houfe of Commons, in

relation to their general Charge, which is this;

They charge, that the Earl, in or about Mrtjy, One
thoufand feven hundred and eighteen, by the great

They fit indeed in Court, at proper Diftances, Grace and Favour of his Majefty, was conftituted

on each fide the Chancellor, and feduloufly attend Lord Chancellor, and did thereupon take the ufual

his Motions, but never pretend to advife or inter-

pofe in Judgment.

They have likewife the Honour to be named in

Commiffions ofAffociation to the Lord Chancellor

;

but the whole Body are not always named in fuch

Commiffions, but only fuch particular Perfons as

Oath for the due Execution of that Office, and fuch

other Oaths as have been accuftomed ; in order,

as I conceive, to infinuate that he had acted con-

trary to, or in Violation of fome particular Oath

which had been adminifter'd to him.

The Earl in his Anfwer admits, That on the

his Majefty is pleafed to think fit: And this appears fourteenth ofA£ry,One thoufand feven hundred and

from one of the oldeft Commiffions that has been

produced and read before your Lordfhips, I think

it was the Commiffion granted to Robert Southwell

and others the 9th of O#ofor, 4 Edw. VI. where-

in there were not more than four or five of the Ma-
fters named; tho' I believe in the later Commif-
fions their Names are ufually all inferted. But

eighteen, he took the Oath of Office as Chancellor,

which is fet forth in his Anfwer ; that at the fame

Time he took the Oaths of Supremacy and Allegi-

ance, but no Oath of Office, except that above fet

forth.

To this Part of the faid Earl's Anfwer, the

learned Managers are pleafed to object, That the

Commiffion ? None at all, that they can execute of

themfelves in the Abfence of the Mafter of the

Rolls, or fome of the learned Judges named there-

in ; for the Judges and the Mafter of the Rolls are

only included in the Quorum.
But, my Lords, Commiffions of this Kind are

not uncommon: Clerks of Affize, and other Offi-

cers, are named in the Commiffions of Affociation

what Power or Authority is given them by this Oath prefcribed by the Statute of Richard the Se-

cond, had been frequently adminifter'd to the

noble Earl, but that he had forgotten that Oath

in his Anfwer, as well as in his Conduct: and

Practice.

And to prove this Fact, Mr. Eyre (one of the

Officers of the Exchequer) was produc'd, on whofe

Evidence it did arppear (as we apprehend the Fact

truly is) that when the Honourable Privy Council

to the Judges of Affize, in their refpective Circuits, are annually affembled in the Court of Exchequer,

yet aft as minifterial Officers only under them. to prepare a Lift of Names of proper Perfons to be

And I humbly apprehend, that in this Cafe it prefented to his Majefty, for his Choice of Sheriffs

has been fufficiently proved before your Lordfhips, for the Year enfuing, and the Judges then alfo at-

by a Gentleman (that was once a very good Ma- tending, one of the Officers of the Court reads over

fler in Chancery) that they now pretend to exer- thevery Wordsof the Statuteofi?zV^ri the Second

cife no judicial Authority whatfoever. in French, and then the Bible is prefented to the

They examine and ftate fuch particular Matters noble Lords, and others of the Privy Council, and

and Facts, as the Court is pleafed to refer to them, alfo to the Judges prefent, which they kifs, and

foritsbetterlnformation, and which the Court it then proceed to the Nomination of the Sheriffs for

felf has not Time to look into; they fettle Ac- the feveral Counties in England.

counts depending between the Suitors of theCourt; My Lords, I muft obferve that upon this Occa-

they look into, and take Counfel's Opinions upon fion no formal Oath is adminifter'd, in purfuancc

Titles of Eftates bought and fold by Order of the of this Act of Parliament; nor any Entry or Record

Court ; and they tax Cofts. madeof any Oath taken by all or any of the Perfons

This feems to be their principal Concern ; and prefent.

yet in this they are not abfolute Judges, they deter-

Vol. VI. 5 Z The
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The Words of the Aft of Parliament are, That it can relate to fuch Oaths only, as the noble Earl

the Chancellor, Treafurer, and other great Officers took at the fame Time, when the general Oath of
therein named, the Juftices of the one Bench, and Office was adminifter'd to him.
of the other, the Barons of the Exchequer, and o- And the Earl, by his Anfwer, certainly under-
thers, who fhall be called to ordain or make Juftices flood it in this Senfe ; otherwife, to make a com-
of Peace, Sheriffs, or other Officers therein named, pleat Anfwer to fo general a Charge, he muft have
or any other Officers or Minifters of the King, fhall been under a Neceffity, to have fet forth all the
be firmly fworn that they fhall not ordain, name, Oaths which he hath taken in his whole Life-time-
or make fuch Officers for any Gift or Brokage. at leaft, fince his firft Oath as Chancellor.

This Act of Parliament doth direct an Oath to He took the Oath of Office as Chancellor the
be adminifter'd, tho' the precife Form of the Oath fourteenth of May, One thoufand feven hundred
is not prefcribed. and eighteen -, this Proceeding in the Exchequer is

But the Acl of Parliament it felf can't be called proved to be in November{allowing: Who would
that Oath which itfelf directs ; nor the reading or underftand that this Charge intended to couple two
hearing that Act of Parliament read, be called the Tranfactions together, that in themfelves were fo

adminiftring or taking that Oath : The Oath muft diftinct and remote ?

be fomething diftinct from the Act of Parliament Having thus endeavoured to remove thefeOb-
which directs it. jections, which feem to be no Part of the Charge,

Therefore, my Lords, I humbly fubmit it to but only ufed as introductory to it, I fhall now
your Lordfhips, that the reading of this Act of proceed to the Charge itfelf.

Parliament, upon this particular Occafion, is rather The firft and general Charge is, That the faid

ufed as a particular Exhortation or Admonition to Earl, not regarding the Obligation of his Oath
that Auguft AfTembly, how they ought to demean or the Duty of his Office, but, entertaining wicked
themfelves in that finglelnftance of their Duty (the and corrupt Defigns and Views to procure himfelf
Choice of Sheriffs) than to have an univerfal Obli- exorbitant Profit, by divers unjuft and oppreffive

gation in refpect to the Nomination of all other Practices, whilft he continued in the Office of
Officers in general. Chancellor, did illegally, corruptly, and extorfive-

Ifthis was intended to be adminifter'd as an Oath ly> take and receive to his own private Ufe great

of Office, then being once taken by any Perfon Sums of Money, in Breach of his Oath, and
in Office, it need not be taken again, during the Violation of his Duty as Lord Chancellor,

fame Perfon's Continuance in the fame Office -, but This is infifted on by the Gentleman, who firft

this Act of Parliament is annually read over upon fpoke, as an offence of the deepeft Dye, which
the Return of every Election of Sheriffs, and feems ftrikes at the very Root and Foundation of all Civil

to be particularly applicable to that Duty. Government; and to render it more odious, it is

Sheriffs are indeed very great Officers, have introduced as an Act of the higheft Ingratitude to

whole Counties under their Influence and Jurif- hisMajefty, aswellasinjuriousand oppreffive to his

diction; and therefore very fingular Care ought Subjects. To demonftrate this, it is reprefented,

to be taken in their Nomination. that upon the faid Earl's being appointed Lord
The Chief Juftices andJudges prefent upon that Chancellor, in May, One thoufand feven hundred

Occafion, ufe the fame Ceremony of KiJJing the and eighteen, hisMajefty was pleafed, of his Grace
Book ; and if this fhould be interpreted an Oath, it and Bounty, to beftow upon him the Sum of four-

would be of great Extent, and the Confequence of teen thoufand Pounds in Money, and to grant him
that muft be, that the beft Offices fhould have no feveral other yearly Penfions and Payments, which
Candidates for them ; for the latter Part of the another Gentleman (in obferving the Evidence
Oath, directed by this Act, is, That none, who given on this Head) was pleafed to fay, did, toge-

purfueth by him, or by other, privily or openly, ther with the ufual Salary, Fees, and Profits, be-

to be in any manner of Office, fhall be put in the longing to the Office, amount unto near ten thou-

fame Office, or any other. fand Pounds per Ann. and this was flrongly urg'd

So, if this be confider'd as an Oath, every one of as enough to fatiate the Appetite of the molt Ava-
the great Perfons that have taken it, muft be indif- ricious, and prevent any illegal and corrupt Extor-

penfably obliged not to give any Office to any Per- tions of other Sums from his Majefty's Subjects,

fbn that hath even afk'd, or made Application by To this, my Lords, we hope your Lordfhips

himfelf, or any one in his Behalf, for that or any will think the noble Earl has put in a very plain

other Office whatfoever. and fatisfactory Anfwer.

If this Conftruction, which is now contended for, That he had, for feveralYears before hisAdvance-

was admitted, a great many Perfons might be ment to the Great Seal, the Honour of ferving his

thought guilty of Perjury, who themfelves never Majefty in the Office of Chief Juftice of the Court

apprehended it ; and how far the Guilt of this Per- of King's-Bench; and as a Reward for good and
jury may be extended, is not eafy to determine. faithful Services in that high Office, hisMajefty,

But, my Lords, it is not the noble Earl's Inten- outof his Royal Grace and Favour, upontheio^
tion to incur the Cenfure of quibbling himfelfout of of March, One thoufand feven hundred and fifteen,

the Obligation of an Oath, or the Letter of an Act was pleafed to advance him to the Dignity of a Peer

of Parliament; we beg leave to infift, that in what- of this Realm ; and for the better Support of that

ever Light this Tranfaction is taken, it can't be Honour, to grant him a Penfion of twelve hundred

conftru'd to be the taking an Oath within the Inten- Pounds per Annum, and to declare his Royal In-

tion of the Charge contain'd in the prefent Articles, tentions of giving the faid Earl's eldeft Son an Of-

which is, That he took the Oath ofOffice, and fuch fice of confiderable Profit, when Opportunity

other Oaths as have been of Right accuftom'd. fhould offer.

This Charge, my Lords, muft be confined to That xnMay, One thoufand feven hundred and

fome reafonable Time, wherein thefe other Oaths eighteen, his Majefty was pleafed to appoint him

charged muft be fuppos'd to be taken : I apprehend Lord Chancellor ; on the 14V-6 of the laid Month
of

(
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of May, he took the ufual Oath of Office, and

at the lame Time the Oath of Supremacy and

Allegiance, and no other Oath of Office.

That during the Time he continued in the Of-

fice as Lord Chancellor, he enjoy'd the ufual

Salary, Fees, and Perquifites, which Mr. Pynfent

(who was called as a Witnefs to this Particular)

proved to be about eleven or twelve hundred

Pounds per Annum.

That his Majefty alfo granted to him the Sa-

lary of four thoufand Pounds per Annum, during

his Continuance in that Office •, which was not

particular in his Cafe, but conftantly granted to,

and enjoyed by all his Predecefiors.

That to this, his Majefty was further pleafed

to fign a Warrant to him for fourteen thoufand

Pounds, as mention'd in the Articles •, whereof

two thoufand Pounds was the ufual Allowance to

other Lord Chancellors, or Keepers, towards the

Expences in entring upon the Office; and the reft

was his Majefty's Royal Munificence, and received

as fuch.

The Noble Earl likewife admits, that his

Majefty was alfo pleafed to grant his only Son,

then going to travel, a yearly Penfion of twelve

hundred Pounds, determinable upon his Ma-
jefty's granting him one of the Offices of Teller

of the Exchequer for Life ; which was according-

ly granted, and he came into the Poffeffion of

it, in One thoufand feven hundred and nine-

teen, whereby that Penfion determined •, fo that

the yearly Payments to his Lordfhip were but

fix thoufand four hundred Pounds per Annum,
befides the Penfion of twelve hundred Pounds
to his Son, which foon after determined, upon
his coming into Poffeffion of his prefent Office.

This is all the Revenue which the Noble
Earl received during his Continuance in this

great Office: And, I humbly prefume, this can't

be thought exceffive, confidering the great Fa-
tigues, Difficulties, and Expences, that neceffa-

rily attend the Execution of this high Office:

Perhaps other Offices might be found, that are

lefs difficult in the Execution, and yet fuperior

in Profit.

But, my Lords, the Objection does not feem
to turn that way •, but rather, that this Noble
Lord, not contented with thefe feveral Inftances

of Royal Grace and Bounty, illegally, corruptly,

andextorfively took and received other great Sums
from other Perfons to his own Ufe.

This the Noble Earl exprefly denies, and fays,

That during his Continuance in the Office of
Chancellor, or at any other Time, he never once
had a Defign or View, or even a wifh, to raife

to himfelf any exorbitant Gain or Profit, much
lefs to extort Money by any unjuft or oppreflive

Methods whatfoever.

And indeed, my Lords, this is a Charge that

gives the Noble Earl at once the greateft Trouble
and Surprize ; he never fufpected a Crime of this

Sort, fo contrary to his Nature, and the whole
Tenor of his Life, could ever be objected to

him : And to fhew that this is without any
Foundation of Truth, the prefent Circumftances
of his Family and Fortune (when laid before

your Lordfhips) will abundantly demonftrate
and convince Mankind, that he is not that rich,

that avaricious, and corrupt Man, he is re-

prefented.

for High Crimes and Mi/demeanors. 611
As he has received large Bounties from his

Majefty, he has been abundantly liberal to Per-
fons that were proper Objects of Charity ; and
his Purfe has been always open to fuccour and
relieve the DiftrefTed.

This, my Lords, brings me on to the mate-
rial and principal Part of the Charge, which is,

That he did illegally, corruptly, and extorfively

take and receive to his own private Ufe great
Sums of money, in Breach of his Oath, and Vio-
lation of his Duty as Lord Chancellor.

The Inftances given of this corrupt taking of
money refer to the feveral Sums mentioned in

the five Articles, which the Gentlemen of the
Houfe of Commons were pleafed firft to enter

upon, and which relate to the feveral Sums of
money received from the four matters in Chan-
cery, mentioned in the fifth, fixth, feventh, and
eighth Articles, and the Clerk of the Cuftodies

mentioned in the ninth.

If the Charge contained in thefe feveral Ar-
ticles be a Crime, it muft appear to be fo in its

own Nature -, to be an Offence at Common Law ;

or made fuch by fome Act of Parliament. I fub-

mit it to your Lordfhips that taking a Prefent,

or taking money from Perfons upon their Re-
commendations or Nominations into Offices,

though they do concern the Adminiftration or

Execution of Juftice, is not a Crime in its own
Nature; it is no Act of Immorality ; it is no Act
of In juftice to any Man ; for no Perfon has any
particular Right to thefe Offices, but his Advance-

ment muft be owing to the Favour or Friend-

fhip of him, who has the Right and Power of

Nomination : And if the Office it felf be valua-

ble, fo is the Right of Nomination to it, and

may be efteemed as Part of the Eftate of that

Perfon to whom it belongs. And if we con-

fider it in this Light, I think it can't be de-

nied but that every Man has a natural Right

to difpofe of his own Eftate or Intereft, his own
Friendfhip or Favour, upon what Confideration

he pleafes: It is his own, and therefore he has

a Right to make any juft and legal Advantage

of it.

From hence, my Lords, I would beg leave

to infer that the taking a Gratuity or Sum
of Money from any Perfon, upon his Nomina-

tion to one of thefe Offices, is not criminal

in it felf, if fimply confidered, and diftinct from

the Good or Evil Confequences that poffibly may
atttend it.

And, in the next Place, I humbly fubmit it

to your Lordfhips, that it is not a neceffary

Confequence, that every one that buys an Of-

fice, muft and will behave himfelf either un-

faithfully or corruptly in it. Inftances may be

given, and thofe very antient ones, of Offices

of Juftice, Offices of the higheft Character in the

Adminiftration of Juftice, that have been pur-

chafed, and purchafed from the Crown.

In Mr. Madox's Hiftory of the Exchequer,

Page 43. we find that Richard Fitz- Allured, in

the Time of King Stephen, fined fifteen Marks

of Silver, that he might fit with Ralph Bajfett

to hold the King's Pleas; and in Page 743.

of this Book it appears, that Ralph Baffdt

was the King's Jufticier. Here we fee one of the

Juftices of the King's Bench purchafing his Office

for fifteen Marks in Silver.

And
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And in the fame Page of the faid Book it Common Pleas, ortoany of the Jufticesof Affize,

appears, that in the feventh Year of King John, as now be, or hereafter fhall be, but that they

Walter de Gray gave the King five thoufand and every of them may do in every behalf

Marks pro habenda Cancellaria Domini Regis tota touching and concerning any Office or Offices to

vita fu'a, & pro habenda hide Charta Domini be given or granted by them, as they, or any
Regis. of them, might have done before the makino of

Thefe, my Lords, are great Inftances what this Act, any Thing therein contained to the con-

the antient Ufage was, in purchafing even the trary thereof notwithftanding.

higheft Offices of Juftice. What is that which thefe great Officers of
Inferior Offices were doubtlefs difpofed of in Juftice might have done before the makino- this

the fame manner-, and if this had been thought Aft? They might have given, granted, bar-

Criminal, we fhould have had fome Inftances in

our Law Books, wherein they would have ap-

peared to have been adjudged fo.

I beg your Lordfhips leave to confider in

the next Place, and that very briefly, whether

this can be taken to be criminal within the

Words of the Statute of Edward VI. which has

gained, or fold, the refpeftive Offices under
them, in fuch manner as they thought fit

;

and by this Provifo they may continue do fo

ftill.

What Alteration then is made in the Law by
this Aft of Parliament? Here is no new Offence
created, but a particular Penalty given, to be in-

been taken Notice of by fome of the learned flifted on all that fhall buy or fell Offices, not

Managers. contained in any of the fubfequent Provifoes;

By the 5th and 6th ofEdw.Vl. c \6. it is that is, the Contraft made between the Buyer
Enafted, That if any Per/on or Perfons ft)all at any and Seller is declared void: The Party felling

Time thereafter bargain and fell any Office or Offices, lofes his Eftate and Intereft in the Office ; and
or take any Money, Fee, or Reward, or any other Pro- the Party buying is render'd incapable to hold

jit, direclly or indiretlly,for any Office or Offices, which and enjoy it.

jhall in any wife touch or concern the Adminiflration In Caftle's Cafe, Cro.Jac. 644. it was adjudged,

of Publick Juftice ; All and every fuch Perfon and That when a Statute appoints a Penalty for the

Perfons that Jhall fo bargain and fell, or take any doing a Thing, which was no Offence before,

Money, Fee, or Reward, for fuch Office or Offices, and appoints how it fhall be recovered, it fhall

jhall not only lofe his Right, Intereft and Eftate in be punifhed by that means, and no other.

fuch Office or Offices, but alfo every Perfon and Per- Therefore, my Lords, in the prefent Cafe, fup-

fons that fhall give or pay any Sum of Money, Re- pofing that the Prefents proved to be fometimes

ward, or Fee, fhall be adjudged a difabled Perfon in made to the impeached Earl, upon the Nomina-
the Law, to have, occupy, and enjoy the faid Office tion of Mailers in Chancery, can be interpreted

or Offices. ^
a felling of an Office, or taking Money for ao

This is the Purport of this Aft of Parliament, Office, within the Intention of this Aft of Par-

fo far as it relates to the Offence charged in thefe liament, it can be liable to no other Punifhment

Articles ; and I apprehend it cannot be extended

to the prefent Cafe.

Here are no prohibitory Words that Perfons

than what the Aft it felf directs ; and this the

Noble Earl has already fuffered by his Lofs of

the Great Seal. The Statute inflicts a Penalty

fhall not bargain and fell Offices, nor any Words upon the Seller of an Office, only of forfeiting

declaratory that they could not do fo before, by the Nomination to the Office for the future; and
Common Law. no other Penalty or Punifhment ought to be in-

And all Penal Laws are to be conftrued favou- flifted by virtue of this Aft of Parliament ; and
rably for the Benefit of the Subjeft, and not ex- confequently the Offence, as now charged againft

tended beyond the Letter. the Noble Ear], and the Fafts, as proved before

But on the contrary, by the many Provifoes your Lordfhips, cannot fubjeft him to any Pu-
after contained in this Aft of Parliament, it is nifhment or Judgment, that can be prayed in

plain that all Offices, before the making of this this Profecution, upon the prefent Articles of Im-

Aft, might be bought and fold without Offence ; peachment.

and many Offices are authorized and intended by But my Lords, there is another Anfwer,

the exprefs Provifoes of this Aft, to continue to which the Noble Earl has been pleafed to make
be bought and fold for the future. to this Part of the Charge againft him, and which

For by the firft Provifo in this Aft, it is de- I hope your Lordfhips will have great regard

clared not to extend to any Office of Inheritance; to.

which is an exprefs Declaration that Offices of

Inheritance were to be bought and fold even after

the Aft fhould take place.

The fecond Provifo I apprehend is ftronger to

our Purpofe; for by that it is declared, That this

Aft fhall not extend to any Contraft made or a-

greed before the firft of March then next, but all

It is the Example of the many great and learn-

ed Perfons, who have executed this high Office

before him.

The Precedent is too antient, for us to dis-

cover when it was firft made ; and I humbly
fubmit it to your Lordfhips, that the imme-
morial conftant Ufage and Practice of it in all

fuch Bargains and Contracts to be good, as if the Ages fince, will fufficiently eftablifh the Rea-

Aft had never been made. fonablenefs and Juftice of the Precedent.

And, my Lords, there is yet a further Pro- The fame Objeftion, which is now made a-

vifo, That this Aft, or any Thing therein con- gainft the Noble Earl impeached, in this particu-

tained, fhall not extend, or be prejudicial, or lar Inftance, might undoubtedly have been in-

hurtful to any of the chief Juftices of the King's fifted upon againft every one of his Predecef-

Courts, commonly called the King's Bench and fors.

And
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And I doubt not but we (hall be able to prove, pears, that thefe Payments were not Sums of

that thefe Officers have made Prefents to the Great Money extorted and unwillingly paid by the Gen-
Seal, as frequently and conftantly as the feveral tlemen, who were admitted into the feveral Of-
Vacancies have been fupplied. fices that have been mentioned, but Prefents vo-

This noble Lord has only followed the Example luntarily made, andprefs'd upon the Earl impeach'd,
of hisPredeceffors; he has trodden in their Steps: with fuch Application and Earneftnefs that fhews,
And I muff, beg leave to fay, There muftbefome- that at the Time they were offered, the Perfons
thing peculiar in his Cafe, if the fame Paths, which offering thought they were not equal to the Va-
led them to Honour and Immortality, fhall be- lue of the Favour they expected. And their Im-
tray him to Infamy and Difgrace. portunity was fo great, that Mr. Thomas Bennet

This Objection, my Lords, fome of the learned one of the prefent Mafters, that has been fo ofcen
Managers of the Houfe of Commons were well examined, would endure no delay, but impatiently
aware of; and therefore they have endeavour'd to prefs'd to be fworn into his Office, at a time when
diftinguifh the prefent from the preceding Cafes. the late Chancellor was fick, and by his Phyfician
They admit it to be true, that fmall Sums have thought to be dying. This may rather be faid

been formerly given to, and accepted by former to be extorting a Favour from the impeached Earl,
Chancellors, upon Admiffions into thefe Offices, by than Money from Mr. Bennet, ev'n upon his own
way of Compliment or Prefent, and this without a Evidence.

Crime: But then they urge, that the Sums now My Lords, We do humbly infift, That as the
complain'd of are exorbitant ; they are bargained, noble Earl within your Bar was not confcious of
haggled for, and given unwillingly by the Pur- any Crime in accepting thefe Prefents, fo he is

chafer ; and that there is a great difference between juftified in fo doing, by the Example of many fuc-

a Prefent given, and a Price bargain'd for and paid, ceffions of great and learned Men, who have done
My Lords, I can't deny but that this Diftinction the fame in the like Cafe. And fhould this now

isjuft: A Prefent implies a voluntary Gift of fome- be adjudged Criminal, what Numbers ofvery good
thinglefs than the Valueofthe Thing given, orpro- and juft Men muft be involved in the Imputation
mifed, for which that Prefent is to be made •, a of this Guilt? It muft rteceffarily fpread an uni-

Price, the full Value of the Thing contracted for. verfal Cloud of Infamy and Reproach over the

And I think the Earl's prefent Cafe is exactly Afh.es of many juft and upright Sages of the Law,
within this Diftinction, and juftifies the Earl's An- whofe Memories have hitherto been preferved as

fwer in this refpect. venerable and facred ; Men w! o defpifed Riches,

The Prefent which Mr. Kynafion made to the and abhorred the remoteft appearance of Bribery,

Earl, upon his Admiffion, was One thoufand five and never were, nor were fufpected to be Corrupt

:

hundred and feventy five Pounds. The Price he yet thefe Men thought it a juft Duty, owing to

paid Mr. Rogers for the Purchafe of his Office, was themfelves and Succeffors, to adhere to the known
no lefs than fix thoufand Pounds. and juft Rights, the ancient eftablifhed Fees and
The Prefent which Mi-.Thomas Bennet made to Perquifites of their Offices; and believ'd itasjuftly

the faid Earl, upon his Admiffion, was One thou- due to them, as the Salaries which were annexed to

fand five hundred and feventy five Pounds. The their faid Offices.

Price he paid Mr. Hiccocks for the Purchafe of his My Lords, We fhall beg Leave to mew that this

Office, was feven thoufand five hundred Pounds. has been the ancient Ufage and conftant Practice of
Mr. Elde, upon his Admiffion into the Office, all Ages; and that the feveral greatPerfons, who

upon the Death of Mr. Fellowes (the former Matter) fucceffively have prefided in the greateft Courts of
made a Prefent to the late Chancellor, of five thou- Law and Equity, from the earlieft Times to the

fand two hundred Pounds. But when his Lordfhip prefent, have difpofed of the feveral Offices in

confider'd the Greatnefs of the Sum, he returned their Gift, as they became vacant, for Money,
him all but eighteen hundred Pounds: When at Frequent Inftances of this kind will be produced
the fame time Mr. Lucas offered fix thoufand before your Lordfhips, in our EviJence.

Pounds for the fame Office. My Lords, I would not be understood to mention
Mr. Thurfton has alfo proved, that he left Bank- this, fo as to infift that the Actions or Examples of

Notes to the amount of five thoufand two hundred the greateft Perfons will alter the Nature of Good
and fifty Pounds, fealed up in a Letter at the Earl's and Evil, or give a Sanction to any Action that in it

Houfe, before his Admiffion, upon Mr. Borret's felf is really Criminal ; but only as an Argument
Death. But when the Lady, to whom the Letter (and I apprehend it a very ftrong one) to prove,

was directed, difcovered how great the Sum was, that it was the concurrent Opinion of all thofe

fhe, without any Application made to her for that Great Perfons that have taken Prefents, upon their

Purpofe, returned all but two thoufand Pounds. Difpofition of Offices, that it was not criminal to

And this, my Lords, was done before the Seal, do fo.

before Michaelmas-Term laft, before the Mafters The Opinion and Judgment of fo many learned

were ordered by the Privy-Council to give in Perfons muft have very great Weight in a Cafe of

their Accounts ; and when the prefent Profecution this Nature : And if in ftrictnefs it can't be faid to

was not in any fort apprehended : And it is like- juftify the Action, it will certainly very much Ex-
wife proved, That Mr. Lucas, upon this Occafion, tenuate the Guilt.

renewed his Offer of Six thoufand Pounds for the In the next place, the Gentlemen are pleafed to

Office ; and Mr. Thurfton was admitted for a lefs proceed tofhew, That Mafters in Chancery, being,

Sum of Money. as before reprefented, very great Officers in that

Thefe, my Lords, we humbly hope and infift, Court ; the noble Earl within the Bar, for his own
are not Inftances of a corrupt Mind, an avaricious, corrupt Gain, has admitted Perfons into that Office,

rapacious Temper, fuch as fome of the Gentle- that were not duly qualified for it, and forced them

men Managers have been pleas'd to reprefent to give great Prices, and bartered and haggled for

them. On the contrary, we humbly hope, that fuch Prices,

upon the Evidence already given, it plainly ap-
Vol. VI. 6 A This,
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This, my Lords, is urged as the greateft Incon- Deficiencies had been fupply'd by a volun-
venience, That Men who have no Subftance of tary Contribution of the other Matters then in

their own, fhould be trufted with fuch large Sums Being. Why was not Security then demanded ?

of other Perfons Money. and why not all the other Mailers then called

It is infilled, That honefty, Probity, and good upon to bring in their Accounts, to prevent the
Subftance, are abfolutely neceffary for the Suitors like Deficiency for the future? If that Method
Security; yet Inferior Perfons have been put in by had been thought either prudent or practicable,

his Lordfhip, who had little or no Subftance of no doubt it would have been then taken: And
their own : That they paid great Sums for their this being then not done, or ever before or after

Places, yet paid it out of the Suitors Money •, and atttempted to be done, is a good Argument, that
that this was known, connived at, and encouraged it was not expedient, or, it may be, poffible to
by the noble Lord that then prefided in the Court be done, at leaft upon the fingle Authority
of Chancery. This therefore could only be with a of one Lord Chancellor. And that therefore is

view to enhance the Price of thofe Places: For a good Excufe for the Omiffion or Neglect in

what would not People hazard, who had nothing that Particular, in the prefent Cafe.

of their own to lofe? If any Profit could be made, But, my Lords, It is now objected, That as the
it was their own ; if any Lofs, the Suitors-, for Sums of Money in the Mafters Hands are greater
no Security was given to anfwer the Effects in their than ever, and it may not be proper to alter the
Hands.

_

ancient Method of the Mafters receiving and
My Lords, It muft be confefs'd, that this way keeping it for the Suitors Benefit ; yet greater Care

of Arguing has a very popular Appearance, and ought to be taken of the Perfons to be admitted
finds an eafy Accefs to every Ear. Mafters, upon Vacancies and Resignations. And
The Court of Chancery muft be admitted to therefore another part of the Charge againft the

be the greateft Court of Juftice in the Kingdom : Honourable Earl impeach'd, is, That he appointed
And it muft be alfo admitted, That the Bufinefs Perfons to be Mafters of the Court, that were
of that Court has of late Years increafed, in Pro- not proper or fufficient either in Subftance, Know-
portion, more than any other Court ; and confe- ledge, or Probity.

quently, much greater Sums of Money are now Thefe are faid to beallefTentialRequifitesin the
depofited in the Hands of the Mafters of that Character of every good Mafter %, but grofly ne-
Court, than formerly. glected in the prefent Cafe : And a Reafon iso-jven,

This may poffibly make it to be wifhed, that or (if I may prefume to fay) rather invented,

fome better Method might be found out, for the in the prefent Cafe, that it was the Advantage
Suitors Security, than has been formerly ufed. of the Earl impeach'd, to put in fuch unquali-

But in what Manner this Reformation is to be fied Perfons; becaufe fuch Perfons would be drawn
made, is beyond the Power, or at leaft the Pru- in, to give larger Prices for their Places, and con-
dence of any one Judge or Chancellor to deter- fequently it redounded to the Earl's Advantage,
mine ; the ancient Practice of every Court is the My Lords, I muft beg Leave to obferve, that in

Law of that Court ; and it would be a danger- the Evidence that has been given, there has not been
ous Experiment for any one prefiding Judge to any one Inftance proved (or at leaft, that I can
vary it : If any ill Confequence to the Suitors recollect) that any of thefe Mafters were really

attended fuch an Alteration, he that made the Infufficient in any of the Particulars objected to.

Alteration would certainly be anfwerable for the at the Time of their refpective Adrnifiions into

Confequences of it ; for every Suitor will then their feveral Offices ; or at leaft that the
fay, Why was the ancient Practice vary'd? He that noble Earl impeached, then knew that they were
made the Alteration, furely did it for his own Infufficient, or had any reafon tofufpect it: They
Advantage •, and then every Argument that in the were all Gentlemen of good Families, well Edu-
prefent Cafe is only colourably made ufe of, in cated ; each of them a Barrifter at Law (which,

that would be obvious and natural, andbeapply'd I fubmit to your Lord/hips, is not the leaft ex-

with double Force. penfive Education) and had all vifible Fortunes,

He that acts without a Precedent, acts upon the and appeared as Perfons in very plentiful Cir-

Feril of his own Judgment : But he that acts cumftances.

againft Precedents, againft ancient, concurrent, Even Mr. Conway and Mr. Thomas Bennet (who
uniform Precedents and Practices, is without Ex- are the Perfons intimated to be the leaft quali-

cufe, and juftly to be fufpected of fome particular fied in Point of Fortune and Subftance) had at

View, in the Language of the prefent Articles. that time very good Eftates in their PofTeffions

;

The Earl of Macclesfield, when he was firft in- Mr. Bennet had then alfo a very valuable Office,

trufted with the great Seal, found the Suitors Clerk of the Cuftodies ; had married a Lady of

Money in the Cuftody and Care of the Perfons who considerable Fortune, kept a Coach and decent E-
were then Mafters of the Court, and without any quipage in Town ; was the Son of Sir JohnBen-
Security given or demanded for it. net, tho' a younger Son ; and the whole Family

He confider'd, that his Predecefibrs were a Sue- then feemed to be in a very profperous Condi-

cefilon of Great and Honourable Perfons, of equal tion. Mr. Thomas Bennet has proved to your

if not greater Sagacity and Learning, Probity and Lordfhips, that he was worth twenty thoufand

Experience, than any that ever had fate in any Pounds, in the Year 1720. And it does not ap-

Court •, they found the Mafters in pofleffion of pear, that the late Lord Chancellor was ever in-

the Suitors Money upon the fame Eftablifhment, formed ofany Incumbrances upon his Eftate (tho*

and they left them fo. now, he fays, there are great ones) or that his

Was it proper or prudent for him to oppofe Circumftances were lefs at the Time of his Ad-
his fingle Opinion to the united Judgment of fo million, than in the Year 1720. Surely the* the

many wife and great Men that had gone before late Lord Chancellor had at that time no rea-

him? furely, no. Inconveniencies had been feen fon to fufpect his being unqualified in Point of

before, and Deficiencies had happened, and thofe Subftance.
Mr.



17 if*
H. L. for High Crimes and Mi/demeanors. 6zs

Mr. Conway had alfo then a very good vifible by the prefent Earl Impeached, the fame Care
Eftate in Land, an Eftate of Four or Five hun- taken, as had been formerly in the like Cafes by
dred Pounds a Year •, had been Receiver- General any of his predeceflbrs.

offeveral Counties in Wales, had difcharged his But, my Lords, I would beg leave to fubmit
Office punctually, and produc'd Jiis Quietus to the it, That fuppofing it to be poffible that greater

Lord Chancellor, before Ad million

Mr. Kyr.afton had, at the time of his Admiffion,

an Eftate of Four hundred Pounds a Year in land,

Timber of very confiderable Value, and a Per-

gonal Eftate of two or three thoufand Pounds ; and

Care might have been taken by the late Lord
Chancellor, in infpecting the Schedules and
Transfer of the Effects of Mafters to their

Succeffors •, Does it appear that the Suitors of
the Court have been any way injured or preju-

moreover, was a Gentleman of a very good Fa- diced by that pretended Neglect ? Or would the

mily and unblemifhed in his Character. greateft Care, the greateft Exactnefs in this Parti-

Mr. Tburjlon, I think, the Gentlemen of the cular, have given the Suitors any greater Advan-
Houfe of Commons don't object to in any refpect. tage or Security ? Certainly, not at all: For let

None of their Reputations, in refpect of their Pro- the Effects of the preceding Mafter be never fo

bity, have been called in queftion, 'till their late carefully and juftly Examined and Scheduled, and
Misfortunes: And as to their other Perfonal En- after that transferred, and actually delivered to

dowments, their good Senfe and Judgment, I need the fucceeding Mafter; has not the new Mafter

only refer to your Lordfhips own Obfervations, to whom thefe Effects are thus carefully and juftly

upon their feveral Examinations in the prefent delivered, the fame power over them, to manage
Trial. and difpofe at his pleafure, as he would have had,

But, my Lords, great Strefs feems to be laid in cafe fuch Transfers had been made with lefs

upon the Mafters paying for their Offices out of Caution and Exactnefs, as in the prefent Cafe?

the Suitors Money ; or replacing the Money fo If any corrupt agreement had been made by any
paid out of the Suitors Money. new Mafter, upon coming into his Office, and pre-

Suppofe that was the Practice amongft the vious to this Transfer, to have repaid or replaced

Mafters ; does it appear to your Lordfhips, that any Sum of Money, before borrowed by him, ei-

the impeached Earl had any Notice, or the leaft ther for the purchafe of his Office, or any other

Information given him of this Practice ? Or if he Occafion •, could not he have complied with this,

had known it, how could he poffibly have pre- and paid it out of the Suitors Money or Effects, the

vented it? Certainly, no other way, than by or- very next Moment after they were transferred to

dering all the Money immediately out of their him? And would the previous Care and Caution

Hands. And then another Difficulty would have in any degree obftruct or prevent his fo doing?

occurred, how that Money fhould have been dif- I apprehend, not at all ; for as foon as the Mafter

pofed of. Publick Societies would not fubmit to is in poffcffion of the whole Money and Effects,

be under the immediate Direction of the Court of he may return any part that he pleafes to his pre-

Chancery ; and no private Perfon could be trufted deceffor, by virtue of an Agreement before made
with fo great a Sum, or give Security for it. for that purpofe; which would be as much to

The Mafters of the Court are in nature of the prejudice of the Suitors, as if what was fo re-

Cafhiers; they fubfift upon Truft and Credit ; and turned to the predeceffor, after a Transfer made,

no Security can be expected toanfwer theQ^ntity had been retained in the firft Inftance by the pre-

of Cafh in their Hands, more than in the Cafe of deceffor, and never actually delivered over to his

a common Banker. People will truft Men in Credit Succeffor.

with the Cuftody of a Thoufand Pounds j when if Therefore, myLords, this Security, as projected,

they propofed to borrow an Hundred Pounds on is but Imaginary ; and gives the Suitor no greater

Security, would fcruple to let them have it. But Advantage than he had before ; and confequently

the Objection is carried yet farther: It is faid, if this ought to be no Ingredient of Complaint againft

Security could not be expected, why were not their the Impeached Earl.

Books infpected, upon one's transferring toanother, But, in the next place, it is ftrongly urged, that

and Schedules taken of their Effects ? tho' the Noble Earl during his High Offices, might

To this it muft be anfwered, That the Lord not have Leifure to attend little Occurrences, or

regard fmall Neglects ; yet the Going- off of

Mr. Dormer fhould have awaken'd him; fome
Chancellor has not Leifure to attend this Duty
Perfonally. And what other Perfon can be ap-

pointed more fit to be trufted (as an Infpector of Care fhould, upon that Accident, have been taken.

If what had paffed before was only Supinenefs,

this was a wilful Neglect ; and not enquiring into

the State of his Affairs, and fecuring his perfon

and Effects for the Suitors, was concurring in

Defrauding the Suitors.

My Lords, this was indeed a remarkable Occur-

rence : The Going-off of Mr. Dormer was unfore-

feen, and unfufpected : His perfon was withdrawn,

and out of the power of the Court ; but all imagin-

able Care was taken to fecure his Effects.

The two Senior mafters immediately were d ircct-

the going-out Mafter's Accounts) than his Sue
ceffor, who is to ftand charged with all the

Money and Securities, and the whole Effects

transferred?

Can any Obligation incline a Man more ftrongly

to Care and Exactnefs in Bufinefs, than private

Intereft ? And his own private Intereft will oblige

him not to make himfelf accountable for more
than he actually receives, and has transferred to

him. And when the fucceeding Mafter has ex-

amined the Effects of his Predeceffor, by proper

Schedules approved of by himfelf, they are then ed toenquire into his Effects, fecure his Chambers,

and put a ftop to all transfers in his Office. What

more poffibly could be done in this hmergency,

his perfon being out of the power of the Court?

A propofal is made on his Behalf, That it the

then Chancellor would engage that his Liberty

fhould be fecured to him, he would return, and

difcover

transferred to him by a General Order of the

Court, and he becomes accountable for what is

fo transferred.

This, my Lords, we humbly fubmit, has been
the ancient Ufage and Practice of the Court in

thefe Cafes ; and that the fame Method was ufed
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difcover and affift to get in his Effects. This is This, my Lords, we apprehend, was an en-
thought reafonable, and for the Suitors Benefit, gaging in this Affair with all the Zeal that could
and accordingly complied with; and thereupon be defired on the Earl's part ; no Evidence of any
the unhappy Man returns, and not only makes the Defign or Endeavour to conceal the Deficiency :

belt Difcovery of his Effects, but delivers all in All or moft of the Matters confuked upon this

his power, for the Benefit of the Suitors. Could Compofition, and confented to it: And as for

any thing be more Advantagious to the Suitors, thofe that were not Parties to it, they are not
or contribute more to their Intereft than this? bound by it.

The Impeached Earl had indeed promifed his But it is objected, That this Tranfaction was
perfon fliould not be imprifon'd ; and it would Private and Clandeftine between the Matters and
have been the higheft breach of Faith to have

departed from it. Had not that promife been

made, Mr. Dormer had not return'd, nor any

Difcovery been made by him ; but by this means

they had the Benefit of the beft Difcovery that

could be had, and the beft Affiftance the Noble

the then Chancellor •, not carried on in the ufual
Manner, nor any Notice given to the Suitors in

Reality, tho' a Pretence of uncertain Notice men-
tioned at the Bottom of the Order.

My Lords, we hope this cannot affect the Noble
Lord within the Bar ; it is the Duty of the

Earl could give them. He never deny'd or dif- Chancellor to pronounce Orders in Court ; but it

couraged any Application that was made by or is the Care and Duty of the Solicitors or Clerks
for the Intereft of the Suitors in that refpect, in Court to fee them Drawn up, Entred and Re-
nor endeavour'd to conceal the true State of his

Effects, and the Condition of his Office. And
as to the Expreffions infifted on to delude the

Suitors, by faying, as has been objected, That
Mr. Dormer was only gone to take the Air,

and would foon return ; tho' thefe Expreffions

have been much infifted on, in the Arguments

giftred, in proper Time and Form.
The Subftance of the Order is pronounced by

the Court: The Form is the Act of the Regifter

;

and the Chancellor can't have Leifure to attend
the Entries of all his Officers.

Fourteen hundred Pounds was paid in upon this

Compofition ; One thoufand Pounds has been
againft the Impeached Earl, I do not remem- brought in fince, out of Poulter's Effects : fo much
ber that they have been mentioned in the has been fecured at all Events by this Compofition,
Evidence. and theSuitors have received the Benefit ofit. Have

And, my Lords, to fhew that the Impeached the Gentlemen on the other Side fhewn, thatwith-
Earl did all that was in his power to render out this Compofition, any thing could have been
what Affiftance he could give the Suitors ; when fecured to the Creditors in General, or that any
a new Mafter was to be appointed ; he left the

Difpofition of the Office to the Direction of

the other mafters : And Mr. Edwards gave no

lefs than Five thoufand Pounds for that Office

of Mr. Dormer's, which was wholly apply'd to

other Creditor has obtained more advantageous
Terms ? It was faid indeed that other Creditors

had received their full Demands: But I fubmit to

your Lordfhips, that no Proof has been made
thereof, only an uncertain Hear-fay of fmall Sums

wards the making up his Deficiency. By this fent, togivehim new Credit after his firft Abfcond-
Enquiry, Dormer's Real eftate was fecured to ing. But when the Compofition was made, a good
the Suitors % and it was expected by the Earl him- Debt was fubfifting to Wilfon from Poulter, and
felf, and by Mr. Edwards who fucceeded Mr. Dor- Judgment obtained againft him, and he commit-
mer, that the reft of his Deficiency, which was ted to the King's-Bench Prifon in Execution. The
then uncertain, would have been fupplied by the Marfhal fuffers him to Efcape : thereupon an Ac-
other Mafters, provided they could be continued tion is brought, and Judgment obtained againft

in their Offices upon the old Eftablifhment. the Marfhal, for his Efcape ; and at length the

It may not be improper to obferve further in Marfhal is run out of the Kingdom, to avoid

this Cafe, That Mr. Dormer's Deficiency does not making a proper Satisfaction,

appear to have happen'd through any Extravagance What a Series of evil Accidents concur to in-

of his own, or by his mifapplication of the pub- creafe this Misfortune, and prevent the juft De-

lick Money : He employ'd Mr. Wilfon, then a per- fign of the Earl to do the Suitors all the Juftice

fon in good Credit, as his Banker, and entrufted in his Power ! But to whom has he been De-
him with his Cafh. Wilfon had Dealings with fective, if all prudential Steps have been taken?

Poulter in the fatal Year 1720. Wilfon was redu- It is hard that he fhould anfwer for the Con-
ced, and flopped payment; his Debt to Mr. Dor- fequence, that he could not, it was not in his

mer was then Twenty four thoufand and forty fix Power to prevent,

pounds ; this, Mr. Dormer affigns to Mr. Edwards But, my Lords, in the 1 5th Article, it is objected

his Succeffor in the Office ; it was all that Mr. Dor-

mer had, all therefore that he could reftore, and

more than could be got in : For Mr. Edwards

to the Impeached Earl, That to carry on his

unjuft Purpofes, inConcealingDon^r's Deficiency,

in February one thoufand feven hundred and twenty,

applying for this Money, found Mr. Wilfon not he ordered the mafters to bring in their Accounts of

able to pay the whole Debt, and thereupon a their Cafh, Effects, and Securities ; not with a real

propofal is made of a Compofition. defign to Examine the Accounts, and fecure their

The Mafters con fidering this, thought proper Effects, but to terrify them into a Contribution ; and

to petition the Lord Chancellor, that it might threatned that the Cafh fliould be taken out of

be referred to the Senior Mafter, Mr. Hiccocks, their Hands, if they did not comply ; by which

to examine and report, Whether it was for the means he got nine of the faid mafters to contri-

Benefit of the Perfons entitled, that a Compo- bute Five hundred Pounds a-piece out of the Suitors

fition fhould be accepted. Money, and then no farther proceedings were had

The Mafter to whom this Qyeftion was referred, upon their Accounts.

Reports it Reafonable ; and an Order is made, up-

on a fecond Petition preferred, That the Compo-
fition fhould be accepted.

My Lords, One would have thought that thefe

Proceedings, which fo plainly tended to the Good
of the Suitors, could not by any Artifice have been

interpreted to their Prejudice. In
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In February i 7 20, the late Lord Chancellor (find- and afcertained, in order to fix the Proportion to

ing Mr. -Dormer's Deficiency like to be greater than be paid, in Average. And this, my Lord, to this
at firit it was apprehended) was willing to' look time, through the many Accidents before men
into the State of the Accounts of the other Mailers, tioned, it has not been poffible to effect • \nd there
to guard againft the like Misfortune •, and at the fore, the not directing Payments in an \veraee
fame time propofes to them to advance Money to can't be reasonably objected to the prefent'im'
help to pay Mr. Dormer's Deficiency. Five hundred peached Lord as Criminal : His Intention th-"ou*h~
Pounds a piece is railed by nine of them, and ap- out the Whole appears to te calculated for the
plied accordingly, the laft of thefe five hundred alone Service and Benefit of the Suitors of the
Pounds paid in Augujt 1 72 1. And upon the 7th of Court, without any Profpecl or Poffibility of Ad
November 1721a iecond Letter is written to flatten vantage to himfelf His Defi^n was to procure
tHefe Accounts, and every Argument ufed that could every Suitor full Satisfaction for hi> Demand • And
be thought likely to induce them to it: But the if nothing had happened to interrupt" fo Lift a
Labour proved too difficult, and the Puriuit was Defign, 'tis poffible that his great Zeal for the pub-
forced to be given over 'till a more convenient Time lick Good, and his indefatigable Induftry, miUt
and Opportunity fhould prefent. What was done in due time have had their' defired Effect

&

in thislnftancealfo, I beg leave to fay likewife, But greater Powers have now interpoied , and
was following the Example of another Great Man, this Difficulty being found to exceed the fino-le

in theMethod he took in theCafeofBr. Eddisbury, Authority of a Chancellor, may be .thouaht^to
and that has fomeCircumftanceslefs favourable than deferve the greater Power, Care and Wlfdom of
the prefent: Dr. Eddisbury was always in Town, the Legiflature.

or at leaft within the Reach or Power of the Court, My Lords, What afterwards happened in the
and yet his Perfon was not fecured for many Years Cafe of Mrs. Gbi'tty, is in part anfw'ered, in what
after his firft Failure, has been obferv'd upon the laft An&f; and'

I

Upon the 29th of January, 7 Anna, there is an humbly apprehend, that a plain Narrative of that
Order entred in his Cafe, (the only one we can Fact, will be a fufficient Anfwer to the Objection
.find on the File) for Dr. Eddisbury to deliver up that has been made in this refpect. The Earl of
his Effects to the two Senior Matters: It recites, .Macclesfield having no certain Account what Cafli
That Dr. Eddisbury had feveral Sums and Securities of Mr. Dormer's femain'd in his Succeffor Mr. Ed-
for Money in his Hands, and that feveral Orders wards''s Elands, made Orders for payment of Sums
had been made for Money out of his Hands; which of Money, from time to time, as Application was
were not complied with; and that he declared made in Court; and particularly to pay Mrs. Chilly
himfeif not able to pay ; and that his xAccounts -One thoufand pounds, part of eleven thoufand
given in were not full : It is therefore Ordered, pounds of her Money which had been brought
That in four Days time after Notice, he do Ac- into Court in Mr. Dormer's time. Mrs. Chilly

?

aT-

count to the feveral Matters, and deliver in to the figns this to Mr. Lockman. Mr. Lockman applies to
Lid Matters' what he hath in Hand, and the Re- Mr. Edwards, the prefent Matter, for payment,
port to be taken in ten Days. and is there difippointed of his Money : Then he
My Lords, By this Order it appears that Dr. applies to the Lord Chancellor, and reprefents the

Eddisbury had feveral Orders made upon him for preffing Neceffities they laboured under, That the
Money tobepaid, not in Average,'forTome Time, payment. of one thoufand pounds to'-him at that
and thofe Orders not complied with ; and that he Juncture of Time, would be of oreater Service to
had not. given full Examination, and had Prevari- him than the whole Money could be at any fiT-

cated with the Court; yet the laft Extremity, the tureDay: That this Sum of Money, if immediate-
Committing his Perfon, and ordering Payment in ly advanced, would make his Creditors eafy ; and
an Average, was not thought of, 'till it was certain- without it, he mutt inevitably be thrown into a
ly known, and he had actually confeffed, that he .Goal,

had not Affets to pay the Whole. - This, my Lords, -we mall be able to .make out
In the prefent Cafe, Mr. Dormer was examin'd ;

in proof (tho
s Mr. Lockman, upon his Examina-

difcov-r'u his Eftate, affigned the Whole in Truft tion, deny'd it,) and the late Chancellor, out of
for the Suitors, but died before the Enquiry could pure Companion and Charity to this Gentleman, and
be perfected. believing hisCircumftances to be as' he reprefented

In Dr. Eddisbury's Cafe the other Matters con- them, pays him the Money out of his own pocket

;

rributed at firft to fupply his Deficiency, as they and at the fame time, or foon after, told him,
fince did in the Cafe of Mr. Dormer : And this that he mutt expect no more from him, but mutt
without dOub.t was fo done, in hopes that his Effects, wait J

till Mr. Dormer's Effects could be got in, or
when fully difcovered, would in time prove fuffi- the Money could be advanced fome other way!!

cient to anfwer all, or much the greateft part of What Objection can be reafonably made to this

the Suitors Demands : And thus far both Cafes are part of the "impeached Earl's Conduct ? To deli-

p.ua'i-l, and Orders made for Payments to the re- ver a Suitor in Diftrefs •, to' extend a Charitable

fpeftive Sujtors in genera:, as they applied for Arm to refcuc him from the very Gates of a prifon

them. And no Average was directed in the Cafe juft opening'to receive him. If this be a Crime,
of Dr. Eddisbury, 'till it appeared even by his own and to be objected to him by the very perfon.

Con'e^iion, that his Affets were not fufficient to who now enjoys his Liberty, as the Gift of this

make good the Suitors whole Demand : And when noble Lord's generous but undeferved Bounty; I

the quanlum of the Deficiency was known, Pay- mutt not pretend to fey that he has many Virtues.

merits were directed by the Court to be made in On the contrary, I hope it will abundantly ap-

Avcrage. So, in all probability, in due time the pear to your Lordfhips, even trom this Inttancv,

like Order would have been made in the prefent and from the whole Series of this noble Lord's
Cafe : But that could hot poffibly be done 'till the Conduit, that he firmly believ'd that all the Suit-

Value of Mr. Dormer's Effects could be known ors of the Court would, ifi due time, be made
Vol. VI. CB cafy,
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eafy, and their whole Demands be made good to

them. And had the whole Body of the Matters

as chearfully concurred in this good Defign, and

contributed as generoufly to fupport the Honour

of the Court, and themfelves, 'tis more than pro-

bable that the Suitors would not long have had

any juft Occafion of Complaining, nor your Lord-

fhips the Trouble of this Profecution.

It was for this End, that the Matters were fo

often called upon to.make a reafonable Contribu-

tion, and all Arguments made ufe of that would

either perfuade or terrify them into a Compli-

ance, in makingtheSuitorseafy, 'till a proper Fund

or Method could be found out to give them entire

Satisfaction. Mod of the Matters, I think all

but one, were convinced that this was a reafonable

and juft Propofal, and exprefs'd a Readinefs to

come into it •, and 'twas for this Purpofe, that

they were bid to confider of the Confluences of

forfeiting their Offices, and of a Complaint in

Parliament

And for whofe Benefit were thefe Arguments

thus made and preffed upon the Mailers? Who
could profit by their Compliance, or fuffer by

their Refufal ? Not the Chancellor himfelf :
He

had no other Intereft to ferve, no Inclination to

gratify, but a juft Zeal for the publick Good,

and a generous Concern for the great Lofs that

was like to happen to the Suitors of the Court,

without, his vigorous Interpofition and Afliftance.

This, my Lords, I humbly hope, appears to be

the fole and juft Principle upon which this No-

ble Lord has founded all his Defigns and Actions,

to reftore the Credit of the Court, which had

been greatly injured by other Mens ill Conduct

;

to procure the Suitors in general the beft Satis-

faction that could be obtained ; not partially pre-

ferring one to another, but endeavouring to do

every Suitor full and equal Juftice, in order, as their

Complaints were brought before him.

As to the Expreffions proved to be made ufe

of by the impeached Earl, in the Cafe of Harper;

furely they can have little weight.

Can it be imagined, that after fo many Tranf-

aftions had happened in the Court of Chancery,

in relation to Mr. Dormer's Misfortunes, and the

great Loffes that were like to happen to the Suit-

ors thereby, the then Chancellor himfelf fhould

be the only Perfon that had never heard of it;

and even after fuch time as he had been endea-

vouring to find out Means to remedy fo great

an Evil ? Could any Man of lefs Sagacity than

he muft be allowed to have, conceive that he

could be credited, even in the Court wherein he

prefided, in faying (as it is now reprefented)

That he was a perfecl Stranger to the Affair of

Mr. Dormer; that he had heard nothing of it,

but as idle News, a flying Report, that might be

trueorfalfe? No, my Lords, that certainly could

not be his Intention, in fpeaking the Words that

are laid to be uttered by him on this Occafion.

But when a Purchaser under the Decree of the

Court, that had paid his Money in to theMafter,

and required his conveyances to be executed,

could not procure the Parties interefted to exe-

cute, without aftual Payment of the Purchafe-

Money to them at the Time of the Execution,

and that Money was funk in Mr. Dormer's Hands;

this firft brought the Deficiency of Mr. Dormer

in Judgment before his Lordfhip; and it was the

firft time it came regularly before him in Judg-

Earl 0/ Macclesfield, 10 G.I.

ment. Upon this he declared, That then it was

a proper Time for him to make a ftrict Enquiry

into this Matter: He could not properly enter

upon this Enquiry, upon the uncertain Reports of

Perfons about the Town, or upon any private

Converfation or Information that he might have

received, and poffibly might have theExpreffion of

common Talkers of News; but now that it came

judicially before him, he would throughly examine

into the whole Matter, and endeavour to apply

a proper Remedy.
This, my Lords, we fhall prove to be the

Occafion and Manner of the fpeaking thefe Words,

by Perfons that were then prefent in Court ; and

this happened but in December laft was Twelve-

month ; and accordingly it was ordered to be

put under the immediate Examination of Mr. Ed-

wards, who fucceeded Mr. Dormer in the Office,

and who muft therefore be admitted to be the

moft proper Perfon to perfect that Enquiry, and

alfo becaufe he was the moft concerned in the

Confequences of it: But Time has been wanting

to proceed as far as he intended in that neceffary

Work. .

My Lords, Tho' by this time, it can't be pre-

tended but the late Chancellor, as well as

every other Pe-rfon belonging to the Law, mull

know of Mr. Dormer's Deficiency ; yet I believe,

that none had then difcovered, or even imagined

how great it was ; and that even his Lordfhip,

and moft other Perfons, were perfuaded, that

whatever fhould appear to be wanting in his

own Effects, would be fupplied by the other

Mafters; or fome other Method would be found

out to prevent any real Lofs to the Suitors;

and in virtue of this Perfuafion, Orders were

made for Payment of Money to the Suitors, as

they apply'd for it, without directing an Ave-

rage

This is exclaimed againft, as contrary to all

Equity, fome to have all, and others to lofeall,

when they were all to be paid out of one Common

Fund.

My Lords, Had it been proved to you, that

when thefe Orders were made, it had legally ap-

peared to th ehen Chancellor, that Mr. Demur's

Effects would at all Events prove Deficient, and

that no way had been forefeen, whereby that Defi-

ciency could have been fupplied ; I muft admit

this Objection would have been very ftrong : And

in that Cafe, to have order'd full Payment to thofe

Suitors who firft applied, and left nothing for thofe

that came after, would have been a manifeft Par-

tiality. ^ '

,-.-. ,

But this is not the prefent Cafe. When the

Court ordered the firft Payments to be made, it

does not appear in Proof (as I humbly apprehend)

that there would at laft be any certain Deficiency

in Mr. Dormer's Effects, or at leaft no pretence

of judoing how great that Deficiency was like

to be °And confequently, the Payment of the

whole Demand to the Suitors that firft applied,

does not neceffarily infer that there would be any

Lofs to thofe which came after. His Effects, upon

further Enquiry, might poffibly come out to be

more than were at firft difcovered ; they might

prove fufficient to anfwer all Demands: Or in cale

the Deficiency was not very great, a moderate

Contribution from the other Mafters, or, it maybe,

a reafonable Addition intended to be made to that

by the Chancellor himfelf, would have fupplied
' that
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that Defect. And that this was really intended, I Senior Mafter had ufed, and thought it a proper

apprehend that the Evidence already given does precedent for the reft. They all complied, with-

abundantly demonftrate. out Hefitation or Objection ; no one pretended

Another Objection has been made ; That very they had not fufficient then in their Hands to

oreat Sums of Money have been depofited in the make good their Balance; and accordingly fub-

Mafters Hands, without any Security ; and that

fome propofals have been made to the Noble Earl,

for fecuring in fome meafurethofe great Sums, and

preventing the Matters having too great Power

over fo great a Cafh.

Mr. Ligtboun, one of the prefent Matters, firft

mentioned the Propofal: He had before commu-

nicated it to Mr. Halford. The Chancellor received

fcribed to it, That they were able and willing to

make good their refpective Balances; or to the

like Effect.

Can it be imagined, that this fo fair and candid

a Tranfaction, intended for the Satisfaction of the

Council, and the good Security of the Suitors, can

by any means be interpreted an Impofition upon
His Majefty, by the late Chancellor? It was for

it kindly, defir'd him to reduce it into Writing; His Majefty's Service that the Accounts mould

took Time to confider of it, and frequently talked be laid fully and truly before him in Council; and

with him about it; always fhewed an earneft De-

fire that this might be done, but thought the pro-

pofed Scheme not effectual. Many Confutations

were had upon this propofal; at laft he fummons

all the Matters of the Court, the Regifters, the

Ufher, and other Officers of the Court; obtains

it mutt likewife be a great Satisfaction to His Ma-
jefty, to find that his Subjects money in the matters

Hands was fecure, by feeing their Acknowledg-
ment, under their Hands, that they were able.

The late Chancellor knew no more than any of

the reft of the Honourable Privy-Council, or His

the Favour of the Mafter of the Rolls to join with Majefty himfelf, that this Declaration was falfe;

him and them in the general Confultation ; and

every one expected fome effectual Refolution would

have been made, upon this grand Affair.

But the Mafter of the Rolls then taking notice

that there were other things in the Court that re-

quired a Reformation, as well as this ; and taking

notice that the mafters in Chancery had lately af-

fumed to themfelves a Power of Judicature in the

Court, in oppofition to him ; infifted, That this

and therefore it was equally an Impofition upon
Him and Them ; but no Fraud, no Crime in the

Chancellor himfelf; which is the Objection now
made againft him. And indeed, many of the

mafters which have been now examined before

your Lordfhips, have, upon their Evidence, De-
clared, That the Subfcriptions thus made to their

Accounts, were true, and that in Fact they have

given good and effectual Securities to anfwer the

pretended Power ofJudicature in the mafters fhould refpective Balances of their Accounts,

be given up by them, before he would enter into How hard a Work this Regulation of this great

the Debate of the other Queftion. Abufe in the Court of Chancery was, the late

Mr. Ligbtboun, upon whofe original propofal Experience has fhewn ; and a total Reforma-

this great Affembly was convened, was the firft, tion of it hereafter, would have proved more diffi-

if not the only Perfon that oppofed the relinquifh-

ing this new-affumed power, tho' he knew the

Confequence would be the Deftruction of the other

propofition which himfelf had made.

Fie preferred the Affectation of this Power of

Judicature in his Office, more than the Intereft of

cult, without the prudent and cautious Prepara-

tion, which the Noble Earl within the Bar has

made for it, and which in due time he might have

been able to effect.

Thus my Lords, I have endeavoured (but very

imperfectly, lam fenftble, andconfufedly) to offer

all the Suitors; and upon this, the great Expec- what occurs to me in the Impeached Earl's Behalf.

afce

tation of this folemn meeting was difappointed,

and nothing done.

What could a Lord Chancellor do more, that

has the Honour of the Court and Intereft of the

Suitors the moft at Heart ?

Mr. Lighlboun himfelf tells your Lordfhips, that

this laft Attempt proved unfuccefsful, he be-

jan to think there was but one fingle Lord in the

World that had fufficient Spirit to undertake it.

But during all this time, nothing had happened
to give the late Chancellor any juft Jealoufy or

Suspicion of the Deficiency of any of the other

Mafters. They are proved to have often declared

they were Sufficient; nay, they have themfelves

I afk your Lordfhips Pardon, and His, for taking

up fo much of your Time fo unprofitably. What
Omiftions I have made, I doubt not, will be fup-

plied by the feveral learned Gentlemen that are to

fpeak after me.

I have this very great Satisfaction, that before

your Lordfhips, the Merits of this, or any other

Caufe, will not fuffer through the Incapacity of

the Advocate on the one fide, nor the Solemnity

of the Profecution on the other. When Facts are

proved before your Lordfhips, no Obfervationscan

be equally Inftructing as your Own. And upon the

Evidence given, your Lordfhips will undoubtedly

form a Juft Judgment: A Judgment, I humbly
fworn, upon the giving in their Accounts, that they prefume to hope, That thelmpeached Earl is Not
were able. to make good the Balance. The Noble
Earl Impeached, fincerely thought they were fo

•,

and therefore when their Accounts were brought
to him, in order to be laid before the Counfd,
in Obedience to His Majefty's gracious Commands,
he did all that was in his power or Capacity to

forward that good Defign, and make it fuccefsful :

He ordered the Mafters to fpeed their Accounts:
And when they were brought before him, he ob-
ferving that the Senior Mafter had under-written
his Account in a full, and plain, and more direct

Manner than the other mafters had done, he told

tL'un, He liked the Form which Mr. Holford the

Guilty of any of the Articles exhibited againft him.

Dr. Sayer. My Lords, I am likewife of Counfel

for the Noble Earl Impeached.

I am afraid it may feem fomewhat improper,

that I fhould engage in a proceeding of fo much
Difficulty, foreign to the profeflion in which I am
bred : But as the very great Obligations I have

to the Earl, prevail on me fo far to forget my
own Unfitnefs, I hope they will, on your Lord-
fhips, toexcufe it.

The Articles exhibited by the Honourable the

Floufe of Commons, charge him with Corrup-

tion
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tion and Extortion., in the moft odious Manner

;

and the learned' Managers have heigten'd every

Circumflance with the greateit Artand Eloquence;

every ill Turn which his Actions, his Words,

his very Omiffions could be imagined capable

to receive, hath been given ;, Sufpicions and Jea-

loufies. have been rais'd ; v and every Confidera-

Itwas for their Sakes (the confhnt Motive of
his Choice) that he appointed him Lord Chan-
cellor.

This once was the Earl's Character ; this once
his Merit. Thefewere, nay, are (till our Obliga-
tions to him". My lords, experienced Worth has
a Right to greater Confidence and Credit : This is

tion forgot, which could interpret them in his a Rule of Evidence, and of common Juftice; and
Favour. unlefs the mod: convincing Proofs are offered,

This my. Lords, was their Duty, as Managers-, your Lordfhips never can believe, that one who
and tho'., by fome, undertaken with Reluctance

;

has done fo greatly Well, can do fo Bafely as is

yet, I may venture to fay, it has been performed fuggefted, by the Charge,

by all with great Succefs and Reputation. ..-But fuppofing, upon fo very ftritl an Enquirv
But however unanfwerable their Eloquence may into the.l- Conduct of any Great Man, fomething

be, we hope to be able to defend, the' Earl a- amifs was found (for the Greateft are but Men,
aginft the Facts they have alledged ;. and mew, and mull. have Failings) yet is former Merit
That they were either not. done, or done with not quite , to be forgot. Publick Services are

Innocence and Honour. Againft meer Imagina-

tions, nothing can fecure him, but your Lord-

fhips_ Candour and Juflice.

The words Orphans,, and Widows, and Luna-

ticks, have been employ'd to raife Tendernefs

and Compaffion, and arm your Lordfhips againft

every Argument which we can offer. Well was it

commanded by the Jewijh Law, Not to refpetl

thought j.u ft Reafons for RemiJJion of the high-
eft paft Offences, though done perhaps meerly
with a View of obtaining it: And. mail thofe
done upon a more generous Principle, arifinp-

from an honeft difinterefied -.Heart, deferve a lei's

Regard ?

,B.ut my lords, that I may have the better Op-
portunity of obferving, on the Evidence brought

the Per/on of the Poor, in his Caufe ; knowing for the Commons, as well as on the Arguments
. the Difpofkion of Human Nature, and the Ne- offered, I fhall beg leave to follow the learned

cefiiry of guarding>againft this generous Weaknefs. managers in the method they took them felves.

I

..This Caution Ought particularly to be remembred
. The Foundation of their. Charge, is, The difpc-

.,by Englifiomen, who are allow'd to be more fub- ftng of feveral Offices for confiderable Sums of Mo-
,jt& to an Excels of it, than thofe of any other -ney. This is the. Corruption ! This the Extortion

!

.Nation. And to aggravate the Guilt of this, and raife

The learned Managers have very rightly ob- your Lordfhips Indignation, the Preamble fets

ferv'd,,how much your Lordfhips Honour is con- forth, " That in or about May 1718, the Earl

.cern'd in this, Profecutjon.; My Lords, It was with

the greateft Satisfaction I heard them fay it ; for

.Jam by it induced to think, that notwithftand-

.ing the Zeal which has. been exprefs'd, they will

" was appointed Lord Chancellor of Great
" Britain, and did thereupon take the ufual. Oath
." for the due Execution -of that High Office, and
" fuch other Oaths as have been accuttomed."

be much pleafed to find every Member of your And the fubfequent Articles proceed to charge

.Lordfhips Body Innocent.

It appears from the Anfwer, and needs no

Proof, That the Noble Earl was once Lord

Chief Juftice of the King's-Bench: And his Con-

duft m that great Station, will, I hope, be fome

'Defence. .
-

_ ;
,.

'.
, ;

I may appeal to thofe,Gentlemen who are now

.his lordfhip with Breach and Violation of his

Oath, as Lord Chancellor. The learned, Gentle-

men who had the Conduct of the Evidence, jufi:-

,ly ieml.ble of theLxpectation they had railed by
.this Aggravation, did attempt a Proof

' The Earl, in his Anfwer, had fet forth at

large, the Oath he took as Lord Chancellor, whe-n

Managers againft him, whether they have not ap- firjt appointed ; and had inftftid,: that he took no

plauded him with.Warmth? whether they have

not commended his Zeal and Intrepidity in the

Caufe of Lberty and our Country? hisfteady Ad-

herence to the Proteflant Succejfion ? his uninflu-

enced Behaviour ? My Lords, J would afk,, whe-

ther then they did not praife and love him ? whe-

ther they, did ' not efteem his being placed in

that High Station (which he ,executedwith Ho-
nour) their Comfort,,, their Security.

My Lords, I beg' pardon for replacing thofe

Times before your Thoughts, or for defiring any

.other Oath .of Office. Was this the Oath the

Earl had thus broke and violated? No, it was
not this ; but' one, . which, by the l/lrticles, he is

.no where charged .with ever having- taken. Up-
on the Choice of Sheriff's, it feems, the 12 th of
Ric. II. is annually, in. Old French, read over by
the Clerk ; and all prefent at the Council kifs

the Bible. , It is this Tra'nfa&ion with which they

would affect the Earl; But, my Lords, it is no-

torious, that the Statute is fo far grown obfolete,

that in no other Inftance befides this' of Sheriffs,

to.confjder, how an Accufuion againft him, fup- is it at prefent taken notice of. And as the Oath
ported by meer Refinements, would at that time

have been' regarded. My Lords, his experiene'd

Merit would;then ;have filene'd every Objectiqn.

If there wanted any Evidence of the High
Character he bore while in that Station, we

•upon
;

this,Qccafion muft be abfojutely confiri'd to

the Choice of them; fo is it evident, that the

Statute it felf never did nor was intended to reach

Officers of die nature with thefe in queftion ; as I

fhall further obferve. And indeed, with the Oath
might appeal to the great Rewards His Maiefty directed, the Statute is fo extremely rigid, that I

has beftow'd upon him: 'Thofe very Graces which muft own, for my part, I 'do not fee any Service

have been exaggerated againft him, are the nobieft it can do Society, in its full Extent. It may per-

Teftimony in his Favour., His Majcfly thought haps afford fome Protection to a Firjl Minifies in

him worthy of the. Great Seal, becaufe he /had layinghim under the Obligation ofan Oath, to put

found him faithful in his other Trufts. His Mat none into any Office who ihall purfue or folicit by

jefty approved him, becaufe his Subjects had: himfelf or by olber.

, . ) However,
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However, I can't help thinking that the learned ture have properly diftinguifhed between felling

Manager had but very fmall pretence for^ the Re- Juftice and Offices concerning the Adminiftration ofju-

fiection he was pleafed to make, in faying, that ftice ; and not as the learned Managers have done.

the Earl feetned to have forgot this Oath not only in With them the felling Juftice is abfolutely forbid,

his anfwers, but in his conduEt ; when it appears is abfolutely Corrupt and Immoral. Thefelling Offi-

that he himfelf had forgot how he had charged it ces is Matter of meer Policy, varied in different

in his Articles. If he will caft his eye back upon Governments, prohibited in fome, allowed in others,

them, he will find that the Preamble makes men- Among the Romans the Law in this Particular

I
tion of no Oaths, but what were taken by the Earl fluctuated and changed, and tho' the Sale ofOffi-

upon his Majeftfs Appointment of him to the Seal; ces was generally forbid, yet it received great Al-

and the Articles charge him only with Violation terations, as the Emperors or the People were dif-

ofh\s Oath, as Lord Chancellor. pofed: When Elections of the Magiftrates were

Having juftified the Earl's Memory in this Popular, the Sujfragia, or Votes of the People were

Point, I proceed to juftify his ConduEt in others ; bought and fold •, but as this Practice produced

and I hope the Defence he has made by his An- frequent Riots and Diforders, frequent Laws were

fwer will have its Weight with your Lordfhips. made to reftrain it, which are ftill extant, and

The Earl has infilled, " That the making Prefents has part of the Body of the Civil Law : However3

" heen long ufed andpracffed in the Time of his Prede- all proving unfuccefsful, the Emperors took beca-

" cellars ; lhatfuch prefents have been reckon'damongft flon from it to ufurp upon the People, and name the

" the antient and known Perquifites of the Great Seal; Magiftrates themfelves : This Tranflation of Au-
«' that the making and accepting them has been Noto- thority carried the Benefit to Courtiers* and other

" rious to all the fVorld, and never before looked upon Men of Power, who took a fort of Brokage for

" as Criminal, or complained of'as fuch." My Lords, their Intereft. Theodofiv.s, the Emperor, lb far

this (as far as Proof is requifite) We fhall make gave Countenance to this Practice, that he even

fully appear by great Numbers of Witneffes, allowed an Action for the Recovery of what was

who are able to fpeak to both the Opinion and promifed for Procurement of any Place. In procefs

Pratlice of the Earl's PREDECESSORS, of Time the Emperors themfelves participated

To this it has indeed been faid, that the Earl and took a Share of this Advantage, which in-

may be Guilty, tho' his Predeceffors have efcaped troduced a diftinction of Suffragium Dominicum, and

uncenfured or unpunifhed. My Lords, the Examples privatum. Suffragiumprivatum, quodAulicis dabatur \

we have followed are too Worthy to lead us in- andDominicum,quod Imperialibus rationibus inferebatur.

to Guilt : But, my Lords, if the Earl has only This Diftinction, as well as the Practice, is very

done what they have done, and received what Evident from the two Novels of Juftinian, which

they efteemed an honeft Perquifite ; was the were intended abfolutely to prevent for the future

Practice in it felf not quite fo regular at firft, all Sale of Offices. In Novel 161. it is faid, Ejuf-

yet, Sunt tokrabilia, qua confuetudo comprobat—Ufage modi Dominica fuffragia magnum reddebantpecuniarum

(if antient) has fo great Authority, that it makes cumulum ; and in Novel 8. that by the Prohibition,

the Common Law of England ; and tho' with us Queftus immodicus imminuitur imperio.

it cannot repeal a Statute, or deftroy its Force, It is well known that in France, the Laws have

which it does in other Countries, yet, my Lords, varied in like manner. Sometimes the Sale ofOffi-

there is an Equity to be obferved ; and Reafon ces was permitted, fometimes forbid ; but at pre-

as well as Humanity muft inform your Lordfhips, fent, and for this laft Century, it has been fo

that no Man ought to be treated with the ut- far incouraged, that Officers retain the Right of

moft Severity, which an old Statute may direct ; Refignation even in Succeffion, and tranfmit it to

when great Examples may have led him to the their Heirs, in cafe they have paid the Annual Tax

Action, and a long Connivance of his Predeceffors or Duty within the Year.

promifed him Security from Cenfure. I mention this to fhew what the Opinion has

But the Earl's Defence flops not here ; he been of other Governments ; that they have not

fays, " He humbly hopes that the giving or receiving efteemed this Practice fo highly Criminal, or

" Prefents on fuch Occafions is not Criminal in it unreafonable •, and as they have not, fo neither

"
felf or by the Common Law, and that there is have we : For notwithftanding what has been urged

" not any AH of Parliament whatfoever, by which with fo much Ingenuity •, (according to my poor
" thefame is made Criminal, orfubjecl to any Punifh- Apprehenfion) that very Statute of Edw. VI. fo

" ment." To this the learned Gentlemen have much infilled on, is the ftrongeft Proof which can

given but very general Anfwers. Some have by be given, not only that in particular inftances

Rbetorick, inftead of Reafon, endeavoured to per- the Sale of Offices is now permitted, but that it

fuadeyour Lordfhips, that the Act it felf is highly was in general before that Statute, by the Common

Sinful, and that the Corruption in felling Offices is Law of England. This Statute in Sect. $d. enacts,

greater and fir more dangerous to Society, than that " All Bargains, Sales, Promifes, &c. fhall be

even felling Juftice it felf : Others have talked of " void." And yet by Sect. 6lh, it makes Provi-

Common Law, and Statutes, but have produced flon, that " // fhall not extend to any Bargain,

none, except thofe of 12th of Rich. II. andV. and " Sale, Gift, Grant, &c. concluded and agreed

6 of Edw. VI. and a few Inferences drawn from " before the Firft Day of March next coming, but

them, which I fhall fpeak more largely to imme- " that the fame Bargain and
_

Sale fo concluded

diately : And as the Learning and Experience of thok " and agreed, fhall always remain, continue, and be

Gentlemen are too great for any Law to efcape " in fuch force, ftrength, and effeEt, as if this Ail

their Obfervalion, as is their Honour to referve any for " had never been had or made." If Bargains and

their Reply, I fhall take it for granted, that fince Sales, agreed before the Firft of March, are to

no other has been mentioned, there is no other. continue in fuch Force, &c. as if this Act had never

My Lords, the Writers upon the Law of Na- been made, the Conlequence to me feems cer-

Vol. VI. 6 C tain,
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tain, that thofe Bargains and Sales had Force, and what the Legiflature thought of the Offence of
that they were before Effectual and Legal ; for felling Offices. And, indeed, it would have been
otherwife the Provifion would be abfurd and (if I may ufe the Expreffion) unbecoming the
ridiculous. Legiflature to have inflicled feverer Penalties, while

The yth Section of this Statute ftill goes fur- by the fame Law it permitted the firft Judges in the

ther, and makes a perpetual Provifion, that " This Nation to do what it feemed to condemn in others.
" Acl, or any thing therein contained, Jhall not in When a Law is once paft, the Tranfrreffor
" any wife extend, or be prejudicial or hurtful to any of it is fubjetl only to what that Law directs • to
" of the Chief Jujlices ofthe King's Courts, commonly inflict a greater Punifhment, would be deferring
" called the King* s Bench, or Common Pleas, or to Law, and acting arbitrarily. This Obfervation will
" any of the Jujlices of the Ajffize that now be, or hold in every Inftance, in Matters of Common
«' hereafter Jhall be ; but that they, and every of them, Juftice, as well as Publick Policy: To forbid to Rob
" may do in every Behalf, touching or concerning or Murder, is only to enforce what was always
<c any Office, or Offices to begiven or granted by them, Law; to forbid to fell Offices, is to lay a Political

" as they, or any of them, might have done before Reftraint on Acts indifferent. And yet in the former
*' the making of this Acl. Cafe, to punifh the Offender beyond the Law, would

If this Statute be Explanatory of what the be unjuft and arbitrary. Are Prohibitions meerly

Common Law was before, and as fuch it was in- Political more Sacred? Or is a Trefpafs againft them
filled on, it is certainly impoffible to doubt, but more feverely to be treated, than one againft the

that by the Common Law the Sale of Offices was Law of Nature, the Law of God ? No, Your
allowed :

" the Chief Jujlices, &c. may (TOUCH- Lordfhips (I fay it with Submiffion) are the Su-
" ING THE IR O FFIC ES) do as they might preme Judges of the Nation •, as fuch, the Supreme
" have done before :" This Act is to prevent the Sale Judges of the Law ; for by the Laws your Lord-

of Offices, and yet not of their Offices: They had fhips always judge : It is the peculiar Bleffing

been ufed to bargain, and fell them, and ftill may of our Nation, to have known certain Laws, to be

do it, for this Act is not to be in any wife pre- the Guide of our Aclions, and the Meafure of

judicial, or hurtful, to any of them. This is the our Punifhments ; to fecure to us this Bleffing has

plain Senfe, this the very Language of the Pro- been the Labour and the Glory of our Anceftors.

vifion. For the Sake of this, the R E V O L U T I O N is

But I humbly conceive that this Provifion is beloved; and for a fteady Adherence to this Sacred

not only an Evidence of what the Common Law itfelf Rule, hisMAJESTY is efteemed the Joy, the

was, but that the Acl of Rich. II. (of which I Safety, the Liberty of his People.

before made mention) could never be intended to I beg Pardon for dwelling fo long upon this

reach Offices of this Nature; for as the Act of Rich. Subject; but the Honourable Gentlemen of the

II. directs an Oath, which the Chief Juflices, &c. Houfe of Commons having made the Sale of'Offices

are exprefly required to take, can it be imagined the Foundation of their whole CHARGE, I

without the greateft Extravagance of Fancy, that thought it of fome Confequence to prove to your

the Legiflature fhould be fo very forgetful, as to Lordfhips, that it is no ways Criminal in it felf

:

guard and fecure to them a Privilege, which they And, my Lords, if it be not Criminal, Where is

could never exercife without the higheft Perjury ? the Corruption? Where the Extortion? Is it in

This, my Lords, is the only Statute, which, the Manner of receiving Prefents ? How that was,

as I apprehend, any way concerns the Charge the Learned Serjeant of Counfel with me has al-

brought againft the Noble Earl : But does this ready given your Lordfhips an Account : An Ac-

Statute make the Sale of Offices Criminal ? Does it count, which we hope does fufficiently jujlify the

direct a Punifhment, or even by any general Claufe Earl againft the Imputation of Haggling, or of.

forbid the Practice of it ? 'Tis true the Bargains fcrexving up the Candidates to what they gave. But

are hereby made void, the Perfon who fells, does as thefe feveral Articles will be more fully fpoke

lofe his Right of Nomination, and he who gives or to, when we come to produce our Evidence, I

pays, is to be adjudged difable in Law to have the fhall pafs them over with an Obfervation or

Office. My Lords, thefe are the Difcouragements, two. If the Earl had fo great a Thirstfor Gain, and

which the Legiflature then thought proper to was fo refolutely bent to amafs fuch exceffive Sums of

lay fuch Bargains under, thefe the only Penalties

:

Money, it is to me very ftrange, that whenever
,

If the Earl has by his Conduct done what this his Opportunity offered, and he had the free and

Statute difapproves ; if he has bargained and fold full Difpofal of an Office upon a Vacancy by Death,

Offices, which your Lordfhips judge within the he fhould always receive a much lefs Sum, than

Statute, and the confant Ufage of his Predeceffors what from the very face of the Articles them-

will not give Protection, the Statute points out felves appears conftantly to have been paid by Majter

your Lordfhips Juftice. But, my Lords, this to Majter. Had the Earl put the Office up to Auction,

unfortunate Great Man, we think, has already or even infilled on a Price, Is it probable that he !

more than fatisfied this Law, he has refigned the Seal, fhould not be able to obtain one as great ?

and yet Jtands Impeached before your Lordfhips. However, as I pafs, I can't help taking notice

Offences are to be judged of by the Penalties of the Circumftance with which the Article of

and Punifhments the Legiflature has annexed; Mr.Thurfon's admiffion is introduced, " ThatBorvett

for in determining the Penalties, it determined " died'insolvent, greatly indebted to the Suiters, and the

the Senfe it had of the Offence: When Penal '' faid Earl did, withoutfecuring ajusl Satisfaction, ad~

Laws are made, it muft always be fuppofed, that " mit him." Your Lordfhips muft haveobierved, that

a Confideration was had of the Malignity of the the Earl is not fo much as charged here with a kiww-

Act forbid, and of its Influence on Society, and ledge of this infolvency ; and, my Lords, knowledge

that the Punifhment directed was efleemed ade- only can create the guilt. If the Earl did not

quate and juft : By this rate it is eafy to guefs know it, can your Lordfhips cenfurehim? If it be

afked
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afked why he did not? Mr. Godfrey, who was pro-

duced and examined by the managers, has alrea-

dy given a full Anfwer : Mr. Godfrey was mod in-

timate with the Affairs of Barrel, and as fuch was

directed by the Earl to infpect them ; he has de-

pofed, that he told the Earl, he thought there

would be no deficiency in his Office, this (your Lord- faid or done, or vice verfa, is at firft Sufpicion

fhips may remember) he faid was his own fincere then an Evidence againft him.
Opinion, and he gave good Reafons for it

6n
Upon thefe Charges are built the whole of the

following Articles: Every Expreffion, every Action
which could bear an ambiguity, has been collected
to for?n a Crime. The Earl has received money
for his Offices, his Aim is therefore Gain by Sale of
Offices, an eafy Inference; and whatever is after

and

Mr.
Borret had a very good Income, reputed 400 /. per

An. befides his Place •, he had lately married a

Wife of Fortune ; his Family lived with his Fa-
ther-in-law ; and he himfelf a man of no Ex-
pence : My Lords, Mr. Godfrey told you, he was
fo fully in this Opinion, that when Mr. Green, the

deceafed's Uncle, made a demand of a debt, he

was greatly furprifed, not imagining that he had owed
one fingle farthing. Whence this deficiency ( if there

is any) none can tell : But, my Lords, that fatal

Year of 1720 is not fo long paft, as to leave us

quite without conjecture -, a Year, my Lords, when
the Contagion was fo virulent, that fcarce any Vir-

tue was left uninfected; and thofe who funk under

it, remarkably deferve our Pity, as fad Inftancesof

human Frailty : To this Tear, the mafters owe their

whole Diftrefs, and to them the Earl, tho' innocent,

But, my Lords, before I proceed to try Particu-
lars upon this Head, I muft beg your Lordfhips
Patience to compute in general the very fmall Ad-
vantage the Noble Earl could propofe by the
Scheme, the learned Gentlemen have projected for
him : The Office of Lord Chancellor is precarious,
and only during Tleafure : The King, for his Sub-
jects Welfare, jealous of every Minifter, and ready
to remove the greateft Favourite upon the very
firft Offence ; and upon this Contingency, what
would the Chance of difpofing of a Matter's Place
be worth? A very trifle, I may boldly fay, not fo

much as what he has refufed the Opportunity of
gaining upon every compleat vacancy he has difpofed
of. And can your Lordfhips fufpect a Character
once fo dear, once allowed fo worthy, of doing fuch
little Things, T fhould fay, fuch bafe Things, for

no Advantage, and yet to promote this illegal and
this aggravated Charge : But, my Lords, fuppofing corrupt Gain on which his Heart was eagerlyft ? The
a Deficiency in this Office, and known too by the Earl noble Earl is further charged " with having ad-
himfelf, what Satisfaction to the Suitors was from " mitted feveral Perfons to the Offices of Mafters,
him expected? What could he poffibly fecure ? " who were at the Time offmall Subftance and Abi-
There is but one Method: which, I hope, he will " lily: " Againft this there lay an obvious Ob-
not, by the Managers, be thought criminal in not jeftion ; Why Perfons of fmall Subftance ? When
taking, fince it is that, which they themfelves con- the Earl might have, and indeed always had,
demn as illegal and corrupt. when of his own Choice, others of Sufficiency.

It may be expected, that I fhould ihew fome Wherefore, to make their Charge confident, a
Regard to the 9th Article : But as it is that which fraudulent method is fuppofed to be introduced,

the learned Gentlemen made choice of to begin of paying for their Places out of the Effects cf the

with, I apprehend greater Difficulties than I fee,

and therefore fhall leave the Confideration of it to

thofe, who are much more able to furmount them
than myfelf: But I muft afk Pardon, that I can'c

reach a Diftinction on which great Strefs has been
laid : It has been obferved by more than one,

that in this Cafe, the money was paid for the re-

fignation, and not for the a,

'

real Difference, whether the

pays the Compliment? Muft
that it was confidered in the Bargain, and part

of it ? Or is it imagined that a greater Hardfhip
was in this Cafe done Mr. Thomas Bennet, by a

feeming Obftruclion of his Inclination to part with
an Office, when in fact the Earl could not hinder

his refigning it? For notwithftanding the Obfer-

by a learned Gentleman, that the

'ion. Is there any

Buyer or the Seller

it not be fuppofed

'& o
vation made

Court ; a Method beft fuited to fuch Perfons : But
your Lordfhips Juftice muft have led you to ob-
ferve, that they no where fo much as infinuate, that

the Earl knew them to have been as charged :

They were fenfible of the proper Caution he had
taken, and ( as it will appear in Evidence ) that

not only previous Inquiries were always made,

and none admitted, who came not well recommended,

or perfonally known to the Earl himfelf; but that

when feveral Candidates have offered, his Lord-
fhip has been fo unmindful of the little Views, he

is fuppofed ever to have acted with, that he has

conflantly preferred him he thought the worthieft,

tho' the prefent to the Earl was far lefs than what
others gave him Expectation of. This furely,

my Lords, will be enough to vindicate his Care ;

and tho' it fhould appear, that he was deceived

Lord Chancellor was the King's Officer, and there- in any fingle Inftance ; nay, tho' the Man himfelf

fore a Refignation to the Crown was the fame as to

him ; yet am I from his very great Abilities per-

fuaded to believe, that he is not fo entirely a ftran-

ger to the Thought of that high Office, as not to be

able to diftinguifh the Crown from the Seal, and to

know that in many Inftances of Patronage they are

different : The Lord Chancellor being the King's Off-

fhould be the Evidence of his own Deceit and Fraud,

yet I hope, my Lords, fuch Perfon will have his

full Compliment of Credit, if he is believed in the

Character he gives of himfelf But to make fome

excufe for the Earl's good Opinion of this Mr.
Thomas Bennet, and his Circumflances, I muft ob-

ferve, that it is Evident from his own Account

cer, a Refignation to him may in fome Cafes be equi- which lies upon the Table, that when he was ad-

valent in Law to one made to the Crown itfelf, mitted, he had an Efiate of between 5 and 600 /.

but never e contrario. As to this particular Office, per An. he had befides an Office for Life of 250 A
and indeed to many others of the like Nature, we per An. he kept his Coach, and then lived in Repu-

ftiall make it fully appear, that tho' the Officer tation : However, I muft confers, that in further

himfelf is in the Nomination of the Crown, yet has Proof of his great Intergily, this Gentleman has

he always been under the Recommendation of the depofed, that Part of his Eftate was then Mori-

Seal, and has as conflantly paid Acknowledgment to gaged for more than it was worth. I fhould upon

the Lord Chancellor. this

I
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this Occafion put your Lordfhips in mind of what plained of for its Irregularity would not have been
happened upon this Gentleman's Confrontation, be- made without a Notice ; but as Mr. Wilfon, whofe
caufe he has been fingular in his Evidence on more particular Intereft it was to have them Parties did
Fads than one ; but we fhall take another Oppor- not defire it, we apprehend the Order to be in the
tunity of difplaying this Worthy Perfon's Veracity, ufual manner. My Lords, the mailers (as is in

that your Lordfhips may know how much Regard Evidence) having in fome meafure engaged them-
to pay to him, by feeing how little Regard he has /elves to make good the Deficiencies, if any fhould
for Truth. happen, the Earl could have no reafon to doubt
As to the Schedules, the Neglect of which is the Juftice of the Propofal of Mr. Wilfon, after Mr

made fo Criminal, it would be enough to fay, Hiccoch had reported it, and Mr. Edwards, the

that the taking them could not prevent the Fraud Succeffor in the Office, had prayed the Earl to order

complained of; for what would be the Difference him to accept it.

in deducting the Sum agreed on for the Purchafe up- It feems, my Lords, a very forced and unkind
on the transfer, or repaying it the minute after?'And Conftruction, which the Articles put upon the

if the new Mafter is really able and fufficient, where Accounts his Lordfhip had required of the mafters •

but the worthieft Behaviour may be thus mif-
conftrued. The mafters themfelves had made the
Propofal of contributing, and it will appear that they
all (except Mr. Lightboun) did pay their Money
voluntarily. What occafion then for fuch Me-
thods as are fuggefted to terrify and oblige them
to this Contribution ? Is it in Proof that the requiring

their Transfers were not compleat, the only Confe- the Accounts did influence one fingle mafter ? No,
my Lords, but, on the contrary, you will find
that the Payment by the mafters did not pre-
vail on his Lordfhip to defift •, for it will be in

Evidence, that the Earl fill perfevered, and that
by the Earl's direction a Letter was wrote to the
mafters, after the feveral Payments were made, com-
plaining of their Delay, and requiring their Ac-
counts. The Earl, indeed, upon Representations,
did afterwards think the method impracticable,

which he is the better juftified in faying, becaufe
the very fame method has been fince found fo by

is the Injuftice done in either Cafe ? But we fub-

mit whether fuch Schedules muft not be made

between mafter and mafter: For without them

their Accounts cannot be fettled ; and as it is for

the Intereft of him who fucceeds, fo is it for

the Security of the other who refigns. But fup-

pofing the Practice to have been as charged, and

quence I fee is, that both mafters are bound, and

the Suitors have by it a double Security. It has

happened fo in the Cafes of both Mr. Hiccocks

and Mr. Rogers ', they imprudently retaining the

Effects of the Court, for the Sale of their Offices,

have thought it proper to petition the Lords

Commiffioners to repay the money : So that fome

good Fortune has attended this Practice, ill as

it is, the Suitors have by it got fo much mo-
ney more, than what otherwife they would have

had.

My Lords, when Dormer's Affair ( tho' fuffici- the Honourable Committeefor infpecling their Accounts,

ently unfortunate) is confidered by your Lord- and departed from as fuch

fhips, I hope that the noble Earl will not be

thought to have acted otherwife than as became

his Character : Upon the firft notice of the mis-

fortune, the Earl took all poffible Care both to

fave the Effefts, and fecure the Office ; he fent the

two fenior mafters to fearch his Chambers, and to

flop the Transfers of all Stock, which flood in his

Name, in any of the publick Companies. My
Lords, had the Earl had that Eye on Gain, had he

had that Apprehenfion of Difcovery, which is repre-

Upon this Subject of Dormer's Deficiency, I
muft beg leave to remind you of what Mr. Ed-
wards told your Lordfhips. He faid, " That they

" were all of Opinion, that the Deficiency would be
*
' made up ; and unlefs he had believed it, he would
" not have entred into the Office." If Mr. Edwards,
who was fo much concerned, was in this Perfua-
fion, why might not the Earl too with Inncence?
And, my Lords, this Perfuafion, this Expectation,
is, I humbly conceive, a very fatisfactory Reafon,

fented, he would fcarce have taken this laft Step, why the Earl, had he been obliged to have declared

which muft and did make a Sufpicion of the Office an Average ex officio, in common Cafes, might be ex-

publick : When Mr. Dormer was returned, and cufed the doing it in this.

upon fuch Terms as the Managers themfelves can't

fay were unreafonable to grant to one, whofe Per-

fon was out of reach, and whofe Effects and Ac-

counts were in the greateft Confufion : His Liber-

ty was all he afked, and that upon Condition only

of a. full difcovery and a fair Affignment of all he had.

I fay, my Lords, when Mr. Dormer was returned

As to the Cafes of Chitty and Harper, when
the Circumftances which attend them, are laid

before your Lordfhips, the Inferences drawn from
each will appear equally unreafonable : For the

Earl can no more be fuppofed to have intended

a Concealment of Dormer's, Deficiencies by the Order
he made, after he had exprefsly mentioned in opei

upon thefe Terms, which we hope he has honeftly Court the feveral Accidents, by which they had

performed, his Office was fold, and every Thing happened, than he could by the Payment of icoo I,

done, not to conceal, but to fupply the Deficien-

cies. I would not enter too minutely into the

C'ompofition with Mr. Wilfon : It will, I conceive, be

a full and fatisfactory Anfwer to the Charge, to

obferve that as the Suitors were not Parties to it,

they can no ways be injured by it. H the Com-

pofition be precarious, trifling, andunjufl, the Suitors

are ft ill at Liberty to proceed : If more could be

had, they ftill may have more-, but till more

is recovered, it muft be admitted that the little,

which is gained, is owing to the Compofition. Had
the Suitors been Parties, the Order fo much com-

to Mr. Lockman, when he told' him/ that u

would be the laft Payment Mrs. Chitty was likely t\

receive, the refidue being in great danger from Dor
mer's Deficiency. But when we prove to yoi
the very great diftrefs Mr. Lockman reprefentec

himfelf to be in, your Lordfhips will be convincec

that the money was by the Earl advanced from ru

other motive, than a generous and comtafifwnate Re
gard to him : This at that time was Mr. Lockman' i.

own Senfeof it ; this he has often fince acknowledged^

tho' upon his Examination he was pleafed to clam
it as his Right, and own no Obligation.

I thinl
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I think it will be (I fhould fay, it is already) to offer in Vindication of the Earl from the
very full in Proof, that the Earl defired a tho- Charge of Avarice ; and therefore, without de-
rough Reformation of'his Court; and tho' Difficul- nying a publick Fail, he was pleafed by his
ties have obftrufted it, yet furely, my Lords, Eloquence to try whether he could not brino-

it can't be imputed to any omifIion_ of his, in Charity itfelf under fufpicion : Whether he
the light the Charge would place it. There could not confound the difference between the
were Difficulties, not only with Regard to the moft worthy Generofity, and the Luxury and De-
Mofters and their Accounts, but to their Jurifi bauchery, and the Riots of a CAT ILINEl
diction and Privileges : Difficulties of fuch a na- What innocence is fecure againft the Power of
ture, that one of the Witneffes thought they fuch Eloquence ? My Lords, had he not
required the greateft Refolution to furmount them, thought this a Defence againft the very Foun-
If the noble Earl had not a Refolution quite fuffi- dation of the whole Charge, he would not
Hmt, it might perhaps be his misfortune, but have furprifed us with fuch an Anfvver : He
furely not his Fault. But what Propofals of Se- well knew that the Earl could have Orphans
entity the Matters could poffibly make, which and Widows, the poorer Clergy, and the Youth of
they efteemed ufeful or convenient to themfelves, the Univerfity, to appear and acknowledge their

and the Earl fhould refufe, I can't conceive. I Obligations to him: Obligations made greater by
imagined from the Scheme on which the Charge being unajked; I cannot fay unexpetled, becaufe

is founded, that their Inlerefi had been xhefame, every Object, in diftrefs within his Knowledge,
had been one, and what ferved their purpofe had Reafon to expect Relief. I would afk

muft have ferved the Earl's ; and yet now we are the learned Gentleman, whether Expences of
this kind were part of CATIL1 N E's Pro-
fufenefs ?

This, my Lords, will be an Anfwer to their

oft repeated Imputations, and muft clear the
Earl from all fufpicion of ever having acted

from fuch fordid motives, or from any thirsl

or itnpotence of Gain. Is it likely that he

told the contrary.

How the learned Gentlemen have made out

the feveral Deficiencies, muft be confidered,

when we are upon their Evidence to that Ar-

ticle : I will only obferve, that no permifjion or

encouragement of the Earl's has been proved, by

which they are increafed ; that no Money has

been compelled into court, by any Order he has fhould incourage the higheft Villany to raife a

ever made, to advance their Offices, nor any

Countenance given by him to any one ill Pra-

ctice.

How far the Earl is guilty of obftrucling the

inquiry his Majefty had direcled, or how far he

was inftrumental in deceiving the Council Board,

we fubmit upon their own Evidence : It ap-

pears, that at the meeting at Mr. Edwards's,

Houfe, all of them declared they were able to

anfwer their feveral Ballances ; and when the

Subfcriptions were Signed, they were believed to

be as they had declared themfelves : If they

were, where was the Fraud in the Propofal to

affift each other? Or how could it be underftood

to make a falfe Appearance with Propriety ofLan-
guage, or common Juftice ? But it is remark-

able, that this Advice, however fair and honeft,

was not given by the Earl, but by Mr. Cot-

ivngham, and without his privity or knowledge,

and occasionally in Converfation with the Ma-
fbrs : And as to the Sulfcription, which they

added ; did the Earl ufe any Arguments to

perfuade them to it ? Did he prefs them, or

tven defire them to Sign it ? No, they them-

felves confefs, that he but barely recommended it,

Sum, and then apply it to relieve the Poor and
the Diftreft? Is it credible, at the fame time,

that Virtue and Bafenefs fhould thus jointly go-
vern him ? Hard indeed is the Condition of
the Earl, when his very Virtues', when his mojl

commendable Anions, are turned to his Dif-

grace and Injury I But under all, it is a great

Satisfaction to him, that your lordfhips are

his Judges ; and he fubmits his whole Con-
duct to your Juftice.

Mr. Lingard, Common Serjeant.

My Lords, the Gentlemen that have gone
before me upon this Occafion, have fo fully

opened the Nature of the noble Earl's defence

in general, that I fhall not prefume to take

up any more of your lordfhips Time, by fol-

lowing them in that Method ; but fhall con-

fine myfelf to the 5th, 6th, 7th, 8th, and

9th Articles ; and fhall beg leave to inform

your lordfhips what we have to lay before

you, in relation to the Matters contained in

thofe Articles. But before I proceed, I fhall

beg your lordfhips Permiffion to go out of

thofe Articles, fo far as fhortly to obferve,

that in the Preamble to the Articles of Im-

as being what their fenior Mafter had made, and bet- peachment, where the feveral Favours and Ad-
ler in Form than fome others, which were then pro- vantages, which the noble Earl at the Bar re-

duced. He ufed no Arguments, he preft them ceived from the Crown, are enumerated, thofe

not •, and they, honefi Men (as they themfelves which were the peculiar Marks of his Maje-

have depofed before your lordfhips) made no fty's Royal Bounty to him, and thofe which

Scruple or Objection to it. I beg Pardon : I were the ordinary Benefits and Allowances,

fhculd do Juftice to Mr. Thomas Bennet, who I

think had his Scruple to the Word Demonjlra-

tion. So that if falfe Reprefentations have been

made, they who have made them are the guilty

;

they have deceived the Council-Board, and not

the Earl -, the Action was their own, free and
unfolicited.

But, my Lords, not to detain your Lordfhips
longer •, one of the learned Managers feemtd what they really were

fenfible of the force of one Evidence we have
Vol. VI. 6 D

which the Earl enjoyed in common with his

Predeceffors in that Office, are fo blended to-

gether, and fet in fuch a light, that at leaft

it gives an occafion to miftake fome of the

latter Sort, for thofe of the former ; if it does

not amount to an Infinuation to that Purpofe,

in order to enhance the particular Advan-
above

tas;es which the noble Earl has received

My
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My Lords, I fhould be injurious to that that could be thought of, have been wanting
noble Lord, who is poffeffed with Sentiments to reprefent it under all the moft aggravating
of the deepeft Gratitude to his Majefty, fhould Circumftances, and in the moft odious and
1 endeavour to leffen the Inftances of his Roy- frightful Appearance, that the blackeft Co-
al Munificence towards him : And I purpofely lours could give it.

omit mentioning any thing of the noble Earl's My Lords, The Earl, by his Anfwer, denies

Merit upon this Occafion (tho' I humbly ap- that he did. at any time infill upon the Sum
prehend that I fhould be thought very excu- of 105 /. or any other Sum of Money, to

fable in fo doing) becaufe I am fenfible, that permit or accept of the Refignation of Tho-

he choofes to owe every thing purely to his mas Bennet, mentioned in the 9th Article ; or

Majefty's goodnefs : Yet as he has (very pro- did refufe to permit or accept thereof, until

perly as we humbly apprehend) in his An- the faid Thomas Bennet had agreed to pay the

fwer, fct one of thofe Matters in its true fame, or any other Sum of Money on that

Light ; by informing your Lordfhips that the

Annual allowance of 4000/. per Ann. mention-

ed in the Preamble to the Articles, and which

he admits to have been granted to him, du-

ring- the Time he fhould continue Lord Chan-

Account : Which is a denial of that, which
is properly the Charge in that Article : He
does indeed admit, that he did receive a Pre-
fent from Thomas Bennet, under the Circum-
ftances mentioned in the Anfwer to that Ar-

cellor, is no way particular in his Cafe -, but tide ; and likewife that he accepted the Pre-

that the fame has, for many Years paft, been fents, which were freely and voluntarily fent

constantly granted to, and enjoyed by his Pre- to him, by the feveral Perfons mentioned in

deceffors •, give me leave, my Lords, for a the four preceding Articles ; in two of which

Proof of what is fo infilled on, to refer your Inftances, all, and in the other two, great

Lordfhips to what appears upon your own part of what he fo received, has been return-

Journal, in the Cafe of the Lord Somers, up- ed. But his Lordfhip very rightly (as we
on the Impeachment exhibited againft him by humbly apprehend) infifts upon it in general,

the Houfe of Commons, for high Crimes and that the acceptance of Prefents upon fuch Oc-
Mifdemeanors; where, in the Introduction of the cafions has been long ufed and pracTtifed by

Charge in the 8th Article, this Appointment his Predeceffors •, ^ndthat they have been

of 4000 /. per Ann. to him is alledged in Ag- reckoned as the antient and known Perqui-

gravation of that Charge againft him. His

Lordfhip, by his Anfwer thereto, admits, that

during his Cuftody of the great Seal, he did

receive the Profits and Perquifites thereto be- ject to any Judgment, which can be prayed

longing, which before his Time were become in this Profecution.

Predeceffors ,

reckoned as the antient and known
fites of the faid Office : That it is not Cri-

minal in itfelf, or by the Common Law, or

againft any Statute of this Realm •, or fub-

very inconfiderable ; and that he did alfo re

ceive an Annual allowance from his then Ma-
jefty, of 4000 /. per Ann. being the like Pen-

fion that had been allowed to feveral of his

Predeceffors. This, we humbly apprehend,

plainly fhews both that this allowance has

been ufual, and likewife the Reafon of ma-

king fuch allowance ; which is the inconfidera-

blenefs of the ordinary Profits and Perquifites

belonging to that high Station.

I fhall now proceed to the Articles I pro-

pofed to fpeak to ; in which the Matter, which

is charged as Criminal upon the Earl, is, That

The Gentlemen of the Houfe of Commons,
my Lords, in order to fupport what they

have infilled upon, and to make it appear

that fuch an Acceptance of Prefents is Crimi-

nal, have caufed the Statute of 12 Richard 11.

to be read to your Lordfhips ; and have pro-

duced Mr. Ayres, to give an Account of the

Ceremony, which is annually practifed upon
the Occafion of Nominating of Sheriffs.

I won't prefume to act the Cafuift, or trou-

ble your Lordfhips with any Niceties, by que-

stioning, whether what paffes upon that Oc-
cafion ought to be efteemed an Oath or no ;

he did illegally, corruptly, and extorfively, in- but, my Lords, I hope I may venture to fay,

fift upon, take and receive, the feveral Sums

of Money therein refpectively mentioned, for

the admitting the feveral Perfons named in

the 5th, 6th, 7th, and 8th Articles, to be

Matters of the Court of Chancery •, with a

fmall variation in the 8th Article, by way of

Aggravation, that there was a deficiency in

that Office •, which is there taken notice of:

And for permitting Thomas Bennet, as it is al-

ledged in the 9th Article, to refign his Of-

fice of Clerk of the Cuftodies ; which is agreed

to be a Charge much of the fame Nature

with that in the four preceding Articles ; and

is alledged to be againft the good and whol-

fome Lav/s and Statutes of this Realm.

It has been ftrongly infifted on, by the Gen-

tlemen appointed to manage this Profecution,

that this is a Matter which is Malum in fe, have been produced, where Perfons had been

and confequently a Crime at Common Law, cenfured, or punifhed, for a Practice, which

as well as exprefly againft the Statute of 12. has been reprefented to your lordfhips as the

Rich. II. and 6th of Edw. VI. and no Means, moft vile, and pernicious Sort of Bribery and

Corrup-

that it is very plain, is is no Oath of Office

in general, for this Reafon, becaufe if it had

been fo, the once taking it had been fuffici-

ent ; and there would have been no occafion

of repeating it Annually, in the flight Curfory

manner Mr. Ayres has given an Account of,

upon one particular occafion ; which likewife

fhews, that what is then done, is confined to

that matter only, which is then tranfacting,

and not intended to be generally obligatory in

other Things.

If the accepting of Prefents, upon occafion

of recommending, or admitting Officers to

Places, had been underftood to be Criminal, in

the Eye of the Common Law, or againft the

Statute of 12 Rich. II. no doubt, but in io

great a length of Time, Precedents might
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Corruption •, and yet, notwithstanding the ma-

ny marks of the Severity of the Government
againft Bribery and Corruption, which have been

taken Notice of, the Gentlemen of the Houfe of

Commons have b-en pleafed to acknowledge,

that there is no Precedent, no Judgment to efta-

blifh and warrant what they affert to be Law in

this Point.

My Lords, I beg leave to fay, that a ftronger

Argument than this, can hardly be thought of,

to prove that this Behaviour is not illegal: It is a

method of reafoning in our Law, and, I conceive,

confonant to the general reafon of Mankind;
That where a Thing never has been done, it is

to be fuppofed there is no Ground or Founda-

tion for the doing it. Nor can this Way of

Reafoning be avoided, but by fuppofmg that

there never have been any Inftances of this Na-
ture before, or thofe fo rare, and private, that

the Government had no Opportunity of taking

notice of them : A Suppofition, my Lords, fo

extraordinary, that there is hardly room to

admit cf it : And therefore, when we mail,

with your Lordfhips PermifTion, lay before you,

Inftances of this Thing having been frequently

and openly done ; it will not be fo much in

order to prove the contrary of fuch a Suppo-
fition, as to give an opportunity to your Lord-
fhips, and to intreat you to reflect on the great

Abilities, and unquestionable Integrity of thofe

excellent Perfons, who have acted in the fame
Manner ; the Notoriety and Opennefs with

which this has been tranfacted, and the per-

fect Silence of the grand Inquifitors of the

Nation, and the whole Legiflature in Regard
thereto: And then to confider, the Clearnefs

and force of fuch a Comment upon the Law,
both from the Actions of thofe, whofe Cha-
racters will not allow of a Sufpicion, that

they would act contrary to what they appre-

hended to be the Law : And from the Silence of
thofe, who fhould and would, no doubt of it,

have taken fevere Notice of it, if it had been
thought to have been fo.

But fuppofe, after all that has been faid, that

this was ftill a doubtful Point, would it not,

my Lords, be extremely hard to roufe up an

old antiquated Law, which for fo many Cen-
turies has quietly flept, without exerting it

felf, without fixing any mark, or leaving any
Traces of its Force and Vigour, to point out

tjie Danger attending fuch a Practice ; a Pra-
ctice that has been owned and countenanced
by fuch great and unexceptionable men, and
objected to by none ; and which from thence,

might well receive the Appearance of being
fair and innocent : Would it not, I fay, my
Lords, be very hard, without fome previous

Notice of the Danger, to put this Law in Ex-
ecution, to uniheath this rufty Sword, to wound
this Noble Earl with ? We hope your Lord-
fhips would think fo, if it were capable of

hurting him, which we humbly apprehend
it is not ; and that, if there is any Doubt re-

maining with your Lordfhips, as to the lega-

lity of the Earl's Behaviour in this Point, that

the Statute of 6th. of Edw. VI. will clear it

up beyond queftion ; and that it will manifeftly

appear by that Statute, that accepting of

Prefents is neither Malum in fe, againft the

6l?
Common Law, cr the Statute of Rich. II. and
that this Statute of Edw. VI. muft be looked
upon as a declarative Law in thofe Points, or
otherwife, it muft be allowed (which none fure
will fuppofe) that the Legiflature of this King-
dom has made a Provifion to fanclify a mo-
ral Evil ; ( for that is the Import of Malum in

fe) to allow, permit, and even encourage, con-
trary to the Statute and Common Law, a
Practice not only immoral, and vile, but of
the moft pernicious Tendency and Confequence,
if the Reprefentation made of it by the Gentle-
men of the Houfe of Commons is to be re-
garded.

My Lords, I fhall pafs by the fourth Para-
graph of that Statute, whereby it is provided,
that the faid Act fhould not extend to Offices
of Inheritance ; tho', I prefume, the Largenefs
of the Eftate can hardly be thought to alter
the moral Nature of the Action. By the 6tb
Paragraph, there is a Saving for all Bargains,
Sales, Promifes, and Agreements, of or for
any Office, made before the firft of March ;

and fuch Bargains, Sales, and Contracts, are
exempted out of the force of that Act. Your
Lordfhips will be pleafed to obferve, This
Seflion of Parliament began the 23d. of Ja-
nuary \ fo that this faving Claufe makes a Pro-
vifion for Futurity. My Lords, this would be
to eftablifh Iniquity by a law, if the accepting
a Prefent on Occafion of admitting a Perfon
into an Office, was immoral and criminal, as
has been afferted. But if it were fo, and like-
wife againft the Statute of 12 Rich. II. and con-
trary to the fuppofed Oath, taken in purfuance
of that Statute ; what, my Lords, muft be
thought of the laft Paragraph, which provides,
that the Act fhould not extend to the Chief
Juftices, or Juftices of Affize, that then were,
or thereafter fhould be ? Thefe all Annually
take the fame Oath ( if it is to pafs as fuch

)

upon the fame Occafion of nominating of She-
riffs, as Mr. Ayres has informed your Lord-
fhips ; and are confequently, by Virtue thereof,

under the fame Obligation in this refpect, as a
Lord Chancellor: And can your Lordfhips fup-

pofe that fo many Reverend and Learned Per-

fons, who, from their known Duty of Attend-
ance, muft be prefumed to be prefent in your
Lordfhips Houfe, whilft this Law was there

under Consideration, would have forborn in-

forming their then Lordfhips, how contra-

dictory thofe Parts of this Statute were to

the Common Law, and the Statutes of this

Realm, efpecially that of Richard II. Can it

poflibly be conceived, that the whole Legifla-

ture would pafs a Law, not only to allow, in

feveral Inftances, the Practice of what was fo

contrary to the Law of Reafon, as well as the

Common and Statute Law ; but even to give a

Licence, and Encouragement, to break an

Oath prefcribed by Statute, and Annually re-

peated ? And that no Body fhould ever fcru-

ple the doing fo, or difcover the Illegality of

this Practice, but upon this unfortunate Occa-

fion ? And yet, my Lords, monflrous as thefe

Suppofitions are, they muft (as I humbly con-

ceive) be allowed of, or it muft be granted

that fuch Acceptance of Prefents is not Ma-
lum in fey or contrary to the Statute of Richard
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II. And I hope it is plain, that this Statute of

Edward VI. is in effect a declarative law in thofe

Points.

My Lords, The Gentlemen of the Houfe of

Commons feemed fenfible of thefe Difficulties

;

and therefore they have with great Industry,

endeavoured to diftinguifh what the Earl has

done, from the common and ordinary way of

accepting of Prefents, upon fuch Occasions.

They have told your Lordfhips, that his me-

thod was Haggling and Extorfive ; and have

given it abundance of other hard Names : They
have, to confirm it, informed your Lordfhips,

that the Prices lately given, have been higher

than thofe formerly accepted upon the like Oc-

cafions : Tho' they have not condefcended to at-

tempt the Proof of it.

My Lords, As the manner of the Earl's ta-

king of Prefents will depend in a great meafure

upon the Evidence, which has been offered to

your Lordfhips, upon thefe Articles ; I fhall beg

leave to take fome fhort Notice of it. As to

the 9th Article, Mr. "Thomas Bennet has been

pleafed to inform your Lordfhips, that he did

defire to have the Earl's Recommendation of

Mr. Hamerfty, to fucceed him as Clerk of the

Cuftodies ; and that being told at the fecond

meeting with Mr. Cottingham, that a Prefent

would be expected, he faid it was a very hard

and unreafonable Thing to expect a Prefent from

him, who had fo lately paid a large Sum, upon

his being admitted into his other Office : But

upon its being infilled on, that 100 Guineas

mould be paid, he was forced to comply there-

with, and agree to pay it.

My Lords, I humbly infift upon it, that if an

entire Credit were to be given to what Mr.
Bennet has faid upon this Occafion, it would

not amount to a Proof of the Charge contain-

ed in this Article : The Corruption and Extor-

tion therein complained of, being restrained to

the Confideration of permitting and accepting

the furrender of the Office there mentioned

;

all the other Parts of that Article being only

introductory to, or in Aggravation of that

fuppofed Offence. But Mr. Bennet has not

mentioned to your Lordfhips one Syllable of

the Earl's having refufed to permit or accept a

furrender of that Office, or of his having received

any Sum of money in Confideration of his per-

mitting or accepting Mr. Bennet's Surrender

thereof

But, my Lords, we muft beg leave to fubmit

it to your Lordfhips Confideration, what Cre-

dit is to be given to Mr. Bennet's ^Evidence, fo

far as it does go, for this Purpofe. The Gentle-

men of the Houfe of Commons have thought

fit to call Mr. Cottingham, as a Witnefs to this

Article ; who owns that in his firft Difcourfe

with Mr. Bennet upon this Occafion, he told him,

he believed a Prefent would be expected to

the Great Seal, and that Mr. Bennet freely offer-

ed 100 Guineas, before Mr. Cottingham fpoke

to the Earl about that Affair. He exprefsly

contradi<5ts Mr. Bennet in what he faid of Mr.
Cottinojoam's infifting upon ioo Guineas, and
Mr. Bennet's Agreement to give that Sum at the

fecond meeting, Mr. Cottingham fwearing, that

the offer of 100 Guineas was voluntary on

Mr. Bennet's Part; and that it was at their firft

meeting. There are feveral other Contradictions
in their Evidence •, but I fhall only take Notice
of that, where Mr. Bennet pretends, that Mr.
Cottingham afferted he did not know Mr. Ha-
merfty, his next door Neighbour. This Mr. Cot-
tingham denies, and Mr. Bennet is forced in fome
meafure to retract what he had fo pofitively fworn

;

and comes down to a Belief only, that Mr. Cot-
tingham faid fo, but will not be pofitive.

It is fomething furprizing, that after they have
done Mr. Cottingham the Honour to call him as
a Witnefs, and given him a Credit by fo doino-,
Hints fhould be flung out, that Mr. Cottingham
knows no body, except where there is Gold in
the Cafe •, that Gold is a great clearer of the
Eye-fight, and the like Infinuations, to the lef-

fening his Character. But why then did they
call him as a Witnefs? Surely, my Lords, if he
is a Perfon not to be believed, it was not altoo-e-

ther fo proper to produce him as a Witnefs be-
fore this Auguft Affembly. But, my Lords, we
fhall eafe them in that matter, by throughly efta-
blifhing Mr. Coltingham's Reputation ; tho' it is

fomething unufual to fupport the Reputation of
a Witnefs produced by the other fide: And we
hope your Lordfhips v/ill then find no difficulty

in determing whether Mr. Bennet or Mr. Cotting-
ham deferves moft to be credited.

In fupport of the 5th Article, Mr. Kynafton is

called as a Witnefs. I fhall take no notice of any
part of his Evidence, but what relates particular-
ly to the Charge in this Article, the money paid
upon his Admittance, and the Circumftances of
that Tranfaction. Mr. Kynafton indeed has faid;
that he would willingly have paid but 1000/.
upon his Admittance ; and accordingly offered
that Sum, which Mr. Cottingham would not
hearken to; and therefore he fubmitted to pay
1500 Guineas; but he owns at the fame time,
that he has not a very exact Remembrance of
what paffed upon this Occafion. Mr. Baity, to
whom Mr. Kynafton refers, and who was his Agent
in this Bufinefs, in his Evidence has given your
Lordfhips an Account, that Mr. Kynafton,when he
understood that 1500 Guineas was apprehended
to be the Prefent he intended to make, faid, that
he thought it was only 1500 /. but mentions
nothing of the Offer of 1000/. It is very strange,
if that had been the Cafe, that he fhould not
have taken notice of that likewife. But Mr. Cot-
tingham, who is again called as a Witnefs, fhews
the reafon why no notice could be taken of fuch
an Offer ; and that is, becaufe there really was
none fuch. He denies that Mr. Kynafton offered

1000 /. and fwears that the Sum offered by Mr.
Kynafton, was 1500 Guineas, and withal de-
clared, that he would aquiefce under what the

Earl fhould think fit in that matter ; and in-

forms your Lordfhips, upon his being interro-

gated by the Gentlemen of the Houfe of Com-
mons to that Purpofe, that he never did ac-

quaint the Earl with what paffed upon that occa-

fion till the whole thing was agreed and fettled ;

and that, when he was informed of it, he expref-

fed himfelf to be well fatisfied therewith. Sure-

ly, my Lords, here are no extraordinary En-
deavours or Artifices ufed to enhance the Price ;

no haggling, by firft naming one Sum, then ano-

ther,
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ther ; but at once the matter is propofed, and

at once agreed and concluded.

To prove the 6th Article, my Lords, Mr. Tho-

mas Bennet, is called again ; and here again the like

misfortune happens as before ; Mr. Bennet differs

widely from Mr. Cottingham, who is called upon

the fame fide to prove the fame Article. Mr. Ben-

net fays, that he acquainted Mr. Cottingham, that

he thought iooo /. was enough to give upon his

Admittance, and with his Reafons for fuch Opi-

nion •, but that, however, he was willing to give

iooo Guineas. Mr. Cottingham has Sworn that no

fuch Offer was made, that nothing of that Nature

paffed ; but that Mr. Bennet, upon being informed

what had been done before upon the like occafi-

ons, freely offered fifteen hundred Guineas.

My Lords, The very nature of the Thing, upon

the Circumftances agreed on all Hands, fpeaks

ftrongly in favour of Mr. Cottingham, and in con-

tradiction to Mr. Bennet, as to what is afferted by
each of them upon this occafion. Your Lord-

fhips obferve what condition the Earl is agreed

to be in at that time ; had Mr. Bennet apprehended

that he had fo very hard terms put upon him, as

he would not have your Lordfhips believe he did:

Would he not have flayed fome little time, to

have feen the effect of fo violent a diftemper, as

a Pleuretic Fever, which his Lordfhip then la-

boured under in a very high degree ? efpecially

when Mr. Bennet appeared at the fame time to be

in no very good State of Health himfelf; of

which he was reminded by Mr. Cottingham ; who
was fo far from acting the rapacious part, in be-

half of the Great Seal (which was not in a way
to fuffer, by the admiffion of a Perfon likely to

make a new vacancy by Death) that perceiving Mr.
Bennet to look yellow, and out of order, he defired

him to confider what he was going to do, when
he took a Place for Life in his Condition. Mr.
Bennet told him, k was only a Cold •, and that

therefore he would proceed, This Gentleman,

who was fo cautious, as he pretends, as to the

Sum he was to give upon his Admittance, and

which he then thought to be fo unreafonable,

hurries on this Affair, under thefe Circumftances

c is own, as well as the Earl's State of Health ;

and tho' out of order, as he himfelf owned,

prefies an extorted Sum of 1500 Guineas, into

the Hands of, probably, a dying Chancellor. Will

not your Lordfhips think it more likely, that Mr.
Bennet apprehended, that as the Price of Things

then went, he might not, under a new Chancellor,

come into the Office upon fo eafy Terms as were

then offered him ; rather than that he thought

himfelf to be hardly ufed upon that Occafion?

And here, my Lords, I beg leave to take Notice

of what has been urged, to induce your Lord-

fhips to look upon this Acceptance of Prefents,

by the Earl in particular, to be extorfive •, which

is, that the Sums of money given upon thefe, and

the like Occafions, are lately greatly encreafed.

Your Lordfhips will be pleafed to obferve upon

what has hitherto appeared, that the Sums taken

by the Earl upon the Admiffion of a mafter into

the Room of one deceafed, have been conftantly

lefs than what the mafters, who have refigned,

have had as a Confideration for fo doing. And it

is very eafy to account for the late increafe of

the Sums given upon thefe Occafions, without any

Extortion in the matter. As perfonal Eftateshave

vaftly increafed within thefe few Years, and Set-

tlements, and Provifions for Families, have been

made out of the Publick Stocks and Funds, the

Vol. VI. i

Bufinefs of the Court of Chancery hath increafed
proportionably •, and confequently, People would
be more defirous of, and give more money for the
Purchafe of thefe Offices, which were improved
by fuch increafe of Bufinefs. And as the common
Intereft of money is grown lower, it is natural to
fuppofe, that People would be the more ready to

inveft their Fortunes in thofe Things, which were
likely to produce a better Income, even in Pro-
portion to the rifque that was run upon their

Lives, than could be made of money, in an ordi-

nary way. But whether that, which I have men-
tioned, or whatever elfe may be the Caufe of it,

it is fo plain and notorious that all Places and Of-
fices have of late Years increafed in their Value,
that it would be mifpending your Lordfhips time
to enter into the Proof of it.

My Lords, As to the Admiffion of Mr. Elde in-

to his office, and the Acceptance of a Sum of
money upon that occafion, which makes up the

Charge contained in the 7th Article ; and as to fo

much of the 8th Article, as relates to the like

Tranfaction with Mr. Thurjion ; there is not the

leaft Colour or pretence from the Evidence, which
has been given to fupport thofe Charges, to ground
a Suppofition of Haggling, or driving a Bargain.

On the contrary, from that very Evidence it ap-

pears, that what was done by Mr. Elde, and Mr.
Thurjion, was perfectly free and voluntary ; and at-

tended with a good deal of Solicitude and Unea-
finefs in the latter, leaft his Offers fhould not be

accepted ; the Circumftances of which I fhall not

trouble your Lordfhips with repeating. And tho"

from the Troubles he has fince met with in that

Office, he has fomething altered his opinion of it,

your Lordfhips will be guided by what he then

thought, and acted. Your Lordfhips will be

pleafed to obferve from the fame Evidence, that

great part of the money prefented by thofe Gentle-

men, has been returned to them again •, and tho' k
is fome time afterwards before it was done, it was

plain, there was a much earlier Intention of doing

fo. Mr. Elde has informed your Lordfhips, that

in May following his Admiffion the Earl intimated

to him, that he would return part of the money -,

And Mr. Thurjion received feveral meffages,which

plainly appeared to be in order to a Return of part

of the money which he had given •, tho', on occa-

fion of his being out of town, it was fome time af-

ter before he knew the meaning thereof, or had

the money returned.

My Lords,There is one particular Circumftance

in the 8th Article, which has taken up a great deal

of your Time ; that, I mean, of the Deficiency in

Mr. Borret's office. Why that matter was inferted

there, and why it has been fo much laboured, and

your Lordfhips troubled with fo much Proof about

it, I muft own myfelf at a lofs to conceive ; un-

lefs it be allowed and admitted, that the taking of

money, upon the Admiffion of a Perfon to the of-

fice of one of the mafters of the Court of Chan-

cery, is not purely and fimply Malum in fe, illegal,

and contrary to the Statute of Rich. II. but that,

if it be done to raife money to make good the de-

ficiency in the office, as was done in the Cafe of

Mr. Edwards, which your Lordfhips have upon

this occafion heard of, it is right and well. How
otherwife can the Deficiency in the office be an

Aggravation of the fuppofed Crime of taking a

Prdent upon the Admittance of a Perfon into it?

Is it unreafonable to admit a new mafter into an

office wherein there is a deficiency ? Is it not as

neceffary to fill up that Vacancy as any other ?

6 E Cer-
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Certainly more fo, in order to have one, whofe

Duty obliges him to a more particular Care of the

Affairs thereof, which feem more to want it. The
Aggravation then of the Fault, or rather the Fault

itfelf, muft confift in the not applying the money
received, towards the difcharge of the deficiency.

But how can it be a Fault not to do fo, unlefs there

had been an obligation fo to have applied it ? And
how can there be an obligation to make fuch Ap-
plication of the money, where there is fo ftrong an

obligation, as has been infilled on, not to raife any

money at all by fuch means ? My Lords, we humbly
apprehend, that the endeavour to aggravate what

is charged as a Crime in this Article, has weak-

ned, at leaft, what is laid as the Foundation for its

being a Crime ; and this with little or no Succefs

in the Proof, attempted to be made of this mat-

ter ; fo far, I mean, as relates to the Earl's

Knowledge of the Deficiency, or his want of Care

to be informed of the State of that office.

I won't repeat what Mr. Godfrey has fa id upon

this occafion ; your Lordfhips perceive that he and

Mr. John Bennet were thought the fitteft Perfons

to infpect the Affairs of Mr. Borrel, after his de-

ceafe ; and were accordingly appointed to do fo

:

And upon having examined Things, as well as they

then could, were both of opinion, as Mr. Godfrey

fays, that there was no likelihood that there

would be any Deficiency ; and with this the Earl

was acquainted. Mr. Bennet indeed, differs fome-

thing from Mr. Godfrey^ as to the Account which

he gave of this matter ; but not fo much, tho' his

Account was to be taken, as would anfwer the pur-

pofe for which he was called ; the aggravating the

Charge in this Article againft the noble Earl

;

who, there is no Room to doubt, would have acted

as generoufly in this Cafe, as. he did in the Cafe of

Mr. Edwards, upon his coming into Dormer's of-

fice, if the Circumftances, as reprefented to him,

had been in any near degree alike.

My Lords, I have thus ftated the matter of thefe

feveral Articles, to the beft of my Remembrance,
in its true light, as it ftands upon the Evidence

already given. We fhall beg leave to call fome

"Witneffes to prove, that feveral noble and great

Perfons have taken Prefents upon thefe occafions

;

men of excellent Characters ; fome ofwhom feve-

ral of the Gentlemen of the Houfe of Commons
have taken fuch Notice of, that I may fafely ven-

ture to fay, they will concur in the Opinion,

that they were Perfons of fo much Integrity, that

they would not have taken fuch Prefents, if they

had thought it illegal fo to have done ; and of fo

great Abilities, that their Judgment muft be of the

greateft weight in this Point. We fhall further

trouble your Lordfhips to explain the nature

of the Payment of 64. /. which Mr. Thomas Ben-

net told your Lordfhips he made, over and above
the 100 Guineas, paid by him on Account of the

Office of Clerk of the Cuftodies. He might, no

doubt, if he had pleafed, have informed your Lord-
fhips, that the molt part of this 64 /. was either

paid to the Clerks of the Office, or belonging to

other Officers, and that not above 33 J. came to the

Great Seal ; and we apprehend that to have done

fo, would have been more agreeable to the Since-

rity, with which a "Witnefs ought to fpeak, than

to have left it in that general manner, where it

might look like another Payment to the Earl.

And I hope your Lordfhips will excufe my ob-

ferving upon this Occafion, the unhappy Circum-
itances of the noble Earl at the Bar : If he takes

a fmall Sum, as this of the 100 Guineas for In-

ilance, it is poor, pitiful, and a Proftir,ution of his

Honour •, ifa larger Sum is taken, he is avaricious,
greedy, rapacious, and I don't know what : Tho*
your Lordfhips will obferve, the Sums accepted
are regulated according to the Nature of the Of-
fice, on Account of which they are given. My
Lords, his very Care in other Inftances is made his
Fault, his Actions muft be all fuppofed to be done
with corrupt Views-, and yet his not Acting is

equally blamed ; it is Carelefnefs, and Neglect.
This is the Light in which his whole Behaviour
has been fet before your Lordfhips, and that wich
all the Aggravations and Vehemence imaginable.
But it is your Lordfhips, who, in a fuperior and
calmer Station, are to weigh and judge of thefe;

matters. It is from you the noble Earl is to expect
Judgment ; and it is his Happinefs, that it is fo.

And in order thereto, when we have laid this Evi-
dence before your Lordfhips, together with an Or-
der, which fhews the Payment of the monies re-
ceived from Mr. Thomas Bennet and Mr. Kynafton,
into the Court of Chancery ; we fhall fubmit the
matter of thefe Articles to your Lordfhips. And
notwithftanding all the fevere Things which have
been faid upon this Occafion, we humbly hope
your Lordfhips will be of Opinion, that the noble
Earl at your Lordfhips Bar, is not guilty of any
of the Charges contained in thefe Articles.

Mr. Serj. Prcbyn. My Lords, we now proceed to
call our Witneffes, and to prove the feveral Facts
we have opened ; and we beg leave to proceed in
the fame method as the Gentlemen, who are the
Managers for the Houfe of Commons, have done.
As they began with the 9th Article, fo we in our
Evidence fhall likewife begin there; and fhew that
Prefents have conftantly been made to the Great
Seal upon all Admiffions into the Office of the
Clerk of the Cuftodies •, and that in many other
Offices under the Direction of the Great Seal, Pre-
fents have been ufually made by the respective Of-
ficers on their Admiflions; and this hath been the
known uninterrupted Ufage ; and every Chancel-
lor hath taken them as cuftomary Prefents. We
defire, in the firft place, that Mr. Roger Lewis may
be called.

Mr. Roger Lewis fworn.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire he may be afked,

how long he hath been concerned as a Deputy in

the Office of the Clerk of the Cuftodies ?

Mr. Lewis. I have affifted as Clerk of the Cufto-
dies of Lunaticks and Idiots, for the fpace of about

35 Tears.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked, who
was the firft that came into the Office of Clerk of
the Cuftodies in his Remembrance?

Mr. Lewis. Mr. Henry Wynne was the firft that

came in after I was Clerk there.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Who fucceeded Mr. Wynne ?

Mr. Lewis. Mr. Roger Thompfon ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn, I defire he may be afked, whe-
ther Mr. Thompfon be now living or dead ?

Mr. Lewis. Mr. Thompfon^ I have been informed,
hath been dead about thefe 9 or 10 Years paft.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked, whe-
ther any Prefent or Compliment was made to the

Great Seal on Mr. Thompfon' s Admiffion ?

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I object to the Anfwer-
ing of that queftion ; and defire to know, whether
your Lordfhips will have Evidence againft Gentle-

men that are dead, who are no way capable of An-
fwering for themfelves before your lordfhips here ?

If my Lord can fhew any Title or Right he had to

fell this Place, we are ready to hear him •, but to

give Evidence againft a Perfon that is dead, and
cannot fpeak for himfelf ; I fubmic that to your
Lordfhips. Mr.
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Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, this matter is very cern'd in the Queftion, is an Opinion of weight

;

proper to be objected to now, and it is very ne- but the Opinion ofa Perfon concerned in the Que'
ceffary for your lordfhips Determination in the ftion, is not to be look'd upon as of any Authority.
Beginning of this Affair. I fee by this Queftion, If the noble Lord makes ufe of this kind of Evi-
and their Opening, what large Compafs the Gen- dence, by way of mitigation, or of leffenino- his

tlemen have taken, not only as to thefe Offices, Offence, in that View it can be of no Significancy

:

but as to many other Offices for which Prefents were Becaufe the Aggravation or Miti»acTon of the
given. I take the proper Queftion before your lord- noble Lord's Offence muft arife from the parti-

fhips to be, Whether this be lawful by the laws and cular Circumftances, Manner, and Facts of his

Statutes of the Realm ? and if that be the Que- Offence. We muft fubmit it therefore to your
ftion, I fubmit it whether it is material to give lordfhips Confideration, whether this is a proper
an Account what other Perfons have done? Whe- Inquiry or no.

ther, whena Perfon is brought upon a Profecution Mr. Serj. Prohyn. My Lords, we beg leave to in-

fer an Offence againft the Law, it be material for fift upon it, that this is a proper Queftion, and
him to fay, that other Perfons have been guilty of very material for the noble Earl's Defence. He
the fame Crimes ? This is a Queftion at Law hath infifted in his Anfwer, * That what is ob-

upon theConftruction of the Statute ; and they fay

it is neceffary for them to give thefe Inftances, to

fhew the Judgment of thofe great Perfons upon the

Act of Parliament ; but fure I am, it was never

yet attempted to give in Evidence the Actions of

other Perfons in order to expound a Statute. The
Expofition of a Statute muft be founded on the

Words of the Law, and not on the Actions of

other Perfons. In all the Experience I have had in

cafes of Profecutions for Crimes founded on the

Common Law, or on Acts of Parliament, Gentle-

men argue from what the law is, what Authori-

ties have been in thofe Cafes, and what the Con-

ftruction hath been in former Judgments. My
lords, this is a matter of great Confideration to

your Lordfhips, not only upon the Account of the

Precedent, butalfo upon the Account of the Time
that your Lordfhips are like to fpend, if you are

to go through all the Offices of the law, to fhew

how many great men have accepted Prefents. It

will take up a great deal of Time, without any

Fruit at all. But, my Lords, there are other

Confiderations which will prove it unreafonable

to admit of this Evidence: At prefent your lord-

fhips have under your Confideration the Cafe of

this noble Lord within your Bar; but would they

in Defence of him impeach others, not here to

defend themfelves ? Many of them are dead,

others are living : Will you try Perfons not ac-

cufed, and without being prefent to anfwer for

themfelves ? But, my lords, with refpect to our

felves, is it reafonable for us to take upon us the

Examination offeveral Facts, without knowing who
the Perfons charged are, what the Circumftances of

the Cafe were ? Are we to fhew the Difference, or

ftate the Circumftances? It is impoffible for us to

do it. My Lords, this being the Nature of the

Cafe, it is a matter for your lordfhips Judgment,

jected to him in this Inftance, hath been long
ufed and practifed in the Time of his Predecef-
fors ; and that fuch Prefents have been reckoned
among the ancient and known Perquifites of the
Great Seal ; and the making and accepting there-

of hath been notorious to all the World, and
never before looked upon to be criminal, or
complained of as fuch ; and that he humbly
hopes, that the giving or receiving of a Prefent
on fuch an Occafion, is neither criminal in it

felf, nor by the Common Law of this Realm ;

and that there is not any Act of Parliament, by
which the fame is fubjected to any Punifhment
or Judgment, which can be prayed in this Pro-
fecution ; and the faid Earl further hath faid/

that he thinks himfelf obliged humbly to lay this

before your lordfhips, not only in his own De-
fence, but in Vindication of the Honour of fo

many great and excellent men, who have been
his Predeceffors in the fame Office, and have all

along done the fame, for which he is now com-
plained of; and alfo of others, who have been

Lord Chief Juftices of the King's Bench, and
Common-Pleas,Mafters ofthe Rolls,andJudges,

who have likewife received Prefents in money,
upon the Admiffion of the feveral Officers under

them in the refpective Courts of Juftice wherein

they prefided ; and who, the faid Earl is affured,

never apprehended themfelves to be guilty of

any Crime againft any the good and wholefome

Laws or Statutes of this Realm : And there-

fore we take it to be our Duty to give proper E-
vidence to fupport this Part of the noble Earl's

Anfwer.' But, my Lords, it is objected by the

Gentlemen that are Managers for the Houfe of

Commons, that they are not prepared to enter

into this Proof, becaufe they had no Notice that

fuch Evidence would be given : In Anfwer to

jiow in the Beginning, that your lordfhips may which we humbly fubmit it, that the Anfwer the

fee the Extenfivenefs of the Evidence they have

hinted at, and intend to produce. That which
we infift upon is two things, that it is not mate-

rial, and that there is no manner of Notice for

the Perfons fo charged to make any Defence, or

to fhew how the Circumftances of the Cafe were.

So, my Lords, we muft beg leave to have your

lordfhips Judgment in this matter.

Mr. Sol. Gen. My Lords, if the noble lord pro-

duceth any one to make out his Innocence, we do
notoppofe it. But if the noble Lord endeavours

to fhew what the law is, from the Practice of other

People, it is altogether improper. It is impoffible

that the law can be judged of by the Practice of

other People in committing the fame Facts. That
can't have the Weight of the Opinion of a great

Man. The Opinion of a learned Perfon, not con-

noble Lord hath given, that feveral prefiding Offi-

cers in the Courts of Law and Equity have always

received fuch Prefents, is fufficient Notice to them

to be prepared to anfwer fuch Evidence as might

be offer'd to fupport this Allegation. My Lords,

as to the other Objection, that the Opinions of

great men are not Evidence in their own Cafes,

we fubmit it that in this Cafe it is a material Cir-

cumftance. Though the Precedents of great men,

(whofe Names they are unwilling to hear) who
have taken Prefents in like Cafes, and not thought

it criminal, may not controul your Lordfhips

Judgment in this Particular, yet I humbly appre-

hend that fuch Inftances cannot but have great

weight in the Event of this Cafe. They are mate-

rial Circumftances, ftrong Inducements to incline

your Lordfhips to believe, that this noble Lord
had
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had no avaricious, no corrupt Defign, in accepting neffes, to prove that other Perfons, his Predecef-

the common cuftomary Prefents that were volun- fors, have done the fame.

tarily tendred to him. And fince it is made fo Mr. Strange. My Lords, I apprehend we have
material a Part of his Defence, and that he might the fame Right tojuftify our felves by Precedents,'

well think himfelf innocent and fecure in follow- as they have to accufe us by Precedents. What
ing the Examples of fo many honourable and the noble Earl's Predeceffors in other Inftances.

learned Perfons, of which we are prepared to have done, hath been mentioned by wav of Ag-
give your lordfhips many Inftances in Evidence •, gravation. The Cafe of Dr. Eddijbury hath been

and fince they have Notice of it, and that the noble mentioned over and over by the Gentlemen of the

Lord hath infifted upon it in his Anfwer, we hum- Houfe of Commons ; and they have aggravated

bly beg your lordfhips will admit us to give the the Offence of the noble Earl, for not following

feveral Inftances in Evidence. that Precedent; and as they had a Right to ao--

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I beg your lordfhips gravate the Earl's Offence, by not following the

Patience. My Lords, we humbly apprehend this is Precedents of his Predeceffors, fo we think we
very proper and regular Evidence. I think there have the fame Right to fhew in other Inftances, 1

that we have followed the Examples which have
been fet us by our Predeceffors. But they fay, this

is againft law : Whether that is fo, or not, 13

can be no Evidence more proper. If the noble

Lord fhould have the Misfortune to be thought

culpable, will he not appear under another View

to your lordfhips, when he hath had the Concur- the Queftion ; and it will be material for the De-

rence of feveral great Perfons, of whofe Integrity, cifion of that Queftion, to take into your Confide-

Honour, and Knowledge, no Queftion hath ever ration, what hath been the Opinion of great Men in

been made ? If he himfelf hath introduced this all Ages, upon this Acl: of Parliament. Continual

Practice, and fet it up by himfelf, it will then Ufage, from time to time, even from the making
moft certainly be an Aggravation ; if he hath done of the Acl of Parliament, is the belt Expofnion

more than others have done, it will be an of that law. Contemporary Ufage, or the Opi-no
Extenuation. My Lords, taking it in that light,

there is no Reafon why this Evidence fhould not

be given. But, I hope your Lordfhips will fur-

ther confider of the prefent Cafe : Here is a law

infifted upon, of feveral Hundred Years ftanding,

that makes this Criminal : It is owned that there

nion of thofe, who were at the Time of the

making of a law, hath always been efteemed the

beft Interpretation of that law ; and therefore,

as we fhew the Ufage to be conformable to what
we now infift upon, I humbly hope it will have
a great influence upon your lordfhips, as to the

hath been no Determination or Judgment at Law Expofition to be now put upon this Act of Par

that this is Criminal : Practice, efpecially in Re- liament : It hath been laid, This Way of Proceed-

fpect of old Statutes, hath oftentimes been allow- ing tends to accufe great Perfons of Honour, &c.

ed and admitted to explain the Senfe and mean-

ing of thofe Statutes. There are no Records

preferved of this, and therefore we are under a

Neceffity to confine our felves to fuch Evidence

as we can produce of living Witneffes, and therein

we apprehend we are proper, as it is Part of the

matter in Iffue before your lordfhips. Your lord-

fome that are dead, and fome that are now liv-

ing ; we fhall not enter into fo nice a Debate

:

it is fufficient for us that it is proper and necef-

fary Evidence for the Defence of our Client. It

is a material Evidence in this Cafe, whether other

Perfons have difpofed of thefe Offices, and have

incurred any Penalty ; if they have done it, I

fhips are as well to try the Earl's Anfwer, as the humbly apprehend that no Objection remains a-

Commons Articles. Another Circumftance they gainftour entring into the Evidence of that Kind.

are pleas'd to mention againft receiving this Evi

dence, is, the taking up of your lordfhips time.

Your lordfhips have had the Goodnefs and Juftice

to hear, with great Patience, a very long Evi-

dence, with repeated Obfervations and Openings

of the Articles, in order to prove a noble Peer,

one of your own Body, to be Guilty: Can it be

fuppofed that your lordfhips will not have that

Patience, which is due to all People in Favour of

Innocence, and when one of your own Body Hands

Whatever is your lordfhips Judgment in Point

of law, it is material for your lordfhips Confede-

ration, whether this noble Lord hath fet this on

foot of his own Accord, or hath not trod in the

Paths of his noble Predeceffors ? Your lordfhips

will take it into your Confideration, and what-

ever the Point of law may happen to be, it mutt

be faid, that if this noble Lord did err, he erred

with his Predeceffors.

Earl of Macclesfield. My Lords, I would not

impeached ? For thefe Reafons we humbly hope trouble your lordfhips, if I did not think it ne-

that this Evidence fhall be admitted ; and that ceffary to infift upon your lordfhips admitting

the noble Earl fhall have the Benefit of this Ex- this Evidence : Indeed, if I thought it would

planation, what the Senfe of fo many great and impeach the Character or Reputation of any of

excellent men hath been of this old and doubt- the noble lords, who have been my Predeceffors,

ful Statute. whether they be now dead or alive, I would un-

Mr. Robins. My Lords, we apprehend your dergo any Punifhment rather than do it. But I

lordfhips will not be of Opinion, that this will hope it was innocent, both in them and me •, and

be to defend the prefent Impeachment, by the

Impeaching of others. We lay it down as the

Foundation of our acting, that our Predeceffors

have done the fame, notwithftanding this Statute

of Edward the Vlth, and therefore it is a reafon-

able Inference, that this was not taken to be

within the faid Statute. We apprehend it can-

not reflect upon any that are either Dead or

living •, and that, as we are in Defence of this

that its being done by Perfons of fuch unblemifhed

Honour, will be one ftrong Argument of its being

fo ; and, my Lords, I proteft their Example was

the fingle Reafon with me for doing of it ; and

if it had not been done before, I would not

have done it : This was

what I have done. For
men fay, my Lords, that

and that the law muft

the true Ground of

what thefe Gentle-

this is not material,

be proved by law

noble Lord, we are at liberty to examine Wit- Books and Judgments, I thought the common
law
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Law was common Ufage, and that which of Explanation of an Aft of Parliament, we
hath conftantly and openly been done with- cannot admit it. It is not proper to <*ive, in

out being cenfured or blamed, cannot be con- Evidence, that which doth not make o-'ood

trary to common Law. If this be not allowed, the Defence in Anfwer to the Articles. "We
I am highly obliged to thefe Gentlemen, that cannot admit a Thing of this Nature, which
they have not accufed me for taking money may be attended with great Inconveniencies

in many other Inftances, relating to my Office ; We do not know what may be grafced on
to inftance in one only, upon the palling of fuch an Admiffion ; therefore we beg Leave
every Patent there is a fmall Fee due, and to fubmit it to your Lordfhips Determina-
conftantly paid to the great Seal ; if they tion.

had accufed me of this, and called it criminal, Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, It is faid very

I know not what to have faid to it, unlefs roundly, That this is an old doubtful Statute,

Ufage and Cuftom had juftified it; I claim and therefore you ought not to take Notice
it as a Right, and unlefs Ufage will prove of it. As to the doubtfulnefs of it, I believe

the Right, I know no other Way. I own it is too plain; as to the Obfoletenefs of it,

this is fomething different : In that Cafe, I it is a Statute that is read every Year in

infifl on a particular Sum by Ufage: I do the Court of Exchequer. And therefore what-
not infill in this Cafe that there is a parti- ever Doubts may be of this matter at the

cular Sum due as a Fee, but that I had a Common Law, yet this Statute makes it plain.

Right, or Liberty, to accept of fuch a Sum And I defire the Counfel for the Noble
as the Party fhould give: But, fay the Gen- Lord to tell us, where any Statute is more
tlemen, this Evidence is to make other Per- plain and pofitive ; and wherein they have
fons Criminal •, That is very true, if this be ihewn the Jeaft Doubtfulnefs in the World,
a Crime. Thefe Gentlemen take it for grant- but rather object that it hath gone too far!

ed; but whether it be a Crime or no, will Doth any Judge, in Point of Evidence, on
be for your Lordfhips final Determination: an Indictment for Breach of a Statute-Law,
And I hope your Lordfhips will not be of permit Perfons to give Evidence, that others

Opinion, that it is a Crime. If it fhould have been guilty of the fame Facts, and that

come out to be in your Lordfhips Judgment therefore it is no Breach of the Law ? Suppofe
a Crime, it will be a great_ Cenfure upon my this is to be confidered as doubtful, on Con-
PredecefTors, who all, as it is well known ftruction of the Statute, what then is the corn-

by every body, did the fame Thing. But if mon ordinary method? It is well known, that

this be underftood to be a matter, that is the Jury find the Fact fpecially, and it is

admitted to have been praclifed, and to need referred to the Court for their Opinion on the

no formal Proof, I had rather let this Exa- Law. My Lords, give me Leave to mention
mination alone : It is uneafy to me, to enter how this matter is •, here is an Act of Parlia-

upon any thing that can draw a Reflection ment, a general Act, the Judges are to take

upon any Perfon : Therefore I fumbit it to Notice of it, it is plain and pofitive-, the

your Lordfhips. Counfel make a Doubt on the Conftruction

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, The mana- of this Statute; it is infilled upon, that other

gers are accountable to the Commons for any People have done it, and have not been
Thing they admit without their "Direction

;

punifhed ; and would fuch a Thing be ever

therefore, unlefs they are fatisfied and con- permitted to be found by a Jury, or would
vinced that they ought to admit it, it is any Regard be had to it if found ? I ap-

not to be expected for the managers to do prehend the noble Lord, who hath been a

it. It is faid, that the Things offered are great mafter of Evidence in his Time, would
in Extenuation : That it would be a greater not have permitted it to be done : They
Guilt, if there were not former Examples have fhewn no Precedent for it: In its own
to juftify it : I apprehend for that Reafon Nature it is unreafonable. Are we to exa-

it is an improper Time to infifl upon this mine into the particular Manner and Circum-
now: Becaufe matters of Aggravation or Ex- ftances of every particular Cafe of the feveral

tenuation muft come fubfequent to your Lord- Perfons that are now either Dead or Living ?

fhips Determination on the Articles, and will It is unreafonable, it is unprecedented, to offer

be the Confideration of your Lordfhips, when fuch Evidence ; and I hope your Lordfhips

you come to confider of the Judgment that will not admit of it.

is to be given. I have known by frequent Mr. Plummer. My Lords, the Counfel

Experience, in Profecutions of a Criminal for the noble Lord take that for granted

Nature, that where the Defendant hath been which we deny. The admitting thefe Wit-
convicted, he hath been allowed to lay Cir- neffes to be examined, is admitting that it

cumftances before the Court, in mitigation of is not a Crime. Reputation is of great Va-
the Punifhment: And if, hereafter, this comes lue, and great Care ought to be taken of

to be confidered of in this manner, the ma- it ; and we are willing to take Care of the

nagers will have an Opportunity to give a Reputation of the noble Lord's Predeccffors.

proper Anfwer thereto. If in this Anfwer he I am not a Lawyer, but I never heard that

had infifted on it as an eflablifhed Fee fup- that was not a Crime, which an Act of

ported by Cuftom, and had claimed it as of Parliament fays is fo. And that this is a

Right, it had been proper to have examined Crime, I beg Leave to remind your Lord-

Witneffes in Support of that ; but when he fhips, that he himfelf declared lb to r Uc.

infills upon it as a matter of Difcretion, and 6 F mafters

Vol. VI.
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mafters in Chancery, that they had bought all dead: He is about to give you an Ac-
their Places againft Law. I take that to be count of what he did, and was faid to him
a fair Confeffion that his Opinion was, that it at that Time by his matter, in

was a Crime.

Lord Lechmere. Before the Counfel with-

draw, I would have this Queftion explained

to me by the Counfel of the noble Lord,
Whether this Practice be infilled on as a Proof
of a Right in the Great Seal to take this as a

Perquifite, or whether it be offered as an Ex-
tenuation?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we infift upon it

in both Refpects.

Then the Managers and Counfel were order'd

to withdraw ; and after fome Time, being

called in again,

Lord Chief Juft. King. Mr. Serjeant Probyn,
It is their lordfliips Judgment that you are at li-

berty to proceed in your Evidence, as you were

lnc If the Perfon

his tranfact

that faid itthat Affair

were now alive, to be examined to it himfclf

before your lordfliips, it would not be Evi-
dence without examining him ; but if dead,

what he faid concerning this Fact may be
given in Evidence, it is concerning the Party's

own Act, and what he told him at the Time
it was doing. Therefore we hope they will

not oppofe this Evidence, which in the Nature
of the Thing is all that poflibly can be now
given.

Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lords, I hope this is

what your Lordfhips will not fuffer to be
done. I never knew the Sayings of a dead
man given in Evidence to prove a particular

Fact : They have been only admitted in Proof
of general Ufages and Cuftoms •, but as for a

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we defire Mr. particular Fact, lying in the Knowledge of a

going on.

Roger Lewis may be called again.

Mr. Lewis called.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I defire this

Witnefs may be afked, how long he hath been
a Deputy in the Office of the Clerk of the

Cuftodies?

Mr. Lewis. About five and thirty Years.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Who was then in the

Office ?

Mr. Lewis. Mr. Henry Wynne.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. How long did he continue

in that Office ?

Mr. Lewis. About Twelve months.

particular Perfon, by his Death you have loft

your Evidence.

Earl of Macclesfield. My Lords, if they will

infift upon it, we muft withdraw.

Mr. Plummer. This man here is upon his

Oath ; but the Evidence that he muft give of
the Saying of another, muft be of a Saying not

upon Oath.

Lord Trevor. If there be a Difference in

Opinion between the noble Lord and the Ma-
nagers, they muft withdraw. But I don't fee

any Reafon to withdraw. I will tell my Opi-
nion, that fuch an hearfay Evidence is no Evi-

dence.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may inform your

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Do you know who fucceeded Lordfliips, whether he knows any Thing as to

him ?

Mr. Lewis. Mr. Roger Tbompfon.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, I defire he

may be afked, whether any Prefent was made
by Mr. Thompfon, on his Admiffion into the

Office ?

Mr. Lewis. I do not know of any Prefent

made by Mr. Tbompfon.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. By Mr. Wynne, or Mr.
Thotnpfon ?

Mr. Lewis. No ; but Mr. Wynne told me

—

the Tranfaction, of his own Knowledge?
Mr. Lewis. I know that Mr. Wynne, whether

he had furrendred, or was going to furrender, I

don't remember, but he told me

—

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, they are go-

ing on again in the fame Way.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. Do you know any Thing of

your own Knowledge?
Mr. Lewis. I had money in my Hands of Mr.

Wynne"'?,. He told me

—

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Evidence of this Sort is by
Mr. Serj. Probyn. Is Mr. Wynne living or dead? your Lordfliips Judgment not to be permitted.

Mr. Lewis. He is dead. Mr. Serj. Probyn. He informs your Lordfhips,

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, we beg leave that he hath known this Office thirty five Years,

to object to this : What a particular Perfon told Now, I defire that he may declare what hath

him is not Evidence, we hope this fliall not be been the Ufage on Surrenders and Admittances

admitted. into this Office of Clerk of the Cuftodies, whe-

Mr. Lutwyche. They know this was never al- ther any Prefent, or Gratuity, hath been made to

lowed. the great Seal ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. If the man be living, the Mr„ Serj. Pengelly. This is the fame Thing
Objection is good, but now he is dead, we hope again.

it may be allowed. Mr. Soil. Gen. If Gentlemen put this gene-

Mr. Com. Serj. The Gentlemen object, that ral Queftion with no other View but to draw

we are not at liberty to afk what hath been out what your Lordfhips have determined

declared concerning that matter by a Perfon to be no Evidence, we muft oppofe it. It is a

that is now dead •, we humbly apprehend it is plain Queftion, Whether he knows of his own
within the Rule of Evidence, and I muft ap- Knowledge that any Money was given ? And
peal to the Memory of your lordfliips, whe-

ther it is not good Part of the Evidence that

hath been given by the managers.

Earl of Macclesfield. My lords, what we
are giving Evidence of, is of a Thing tranf-

acted thirty five Years agoj the Parties are

we defire he may be confined to his own
Knowledge.

Earl of Macclesfield. The Gentlemen fay,

that as to matters of Ufage, it is ufual to en-

quire what old Men have faid and declared.

I apprehend this is a matter of Ufage we are

now
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now inquiring after

for High Crimes and Mi/demeanors,

but if your lordfhips are

of Opinion that this fhould not be afked, I be-

lieve he doth not know any Thing of his own

Knowledge of the money being actually paid to

the Great Seal.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, we defire that Oaker goes, that he may explain himfelf which

Mr. William Oaker may be called.

Mr. Oaker. The firft was Mr. Tkompfon, who
furrendred to Mr. Edwards, he furrendred to
Mr. John Bennet, and Mr. John Bennet furrendred
to Mr. 'Thomas Bennet.

Mr. Onflow. My lords, I defire, before Mr.

Mr. Oaker fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, we defire that

Mr. Oaker may be afked whether he knows of

any Demand, or Claim, made upon the Admif-

fion, or Surrender, of the Clerk of the Cufto-

dies, and by whom ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, this Queftion

is contrived in an odd manner. The Queftion

muft arife upon the Fact, not antecedent to

the Fact. The Queftion of any Claim before,

fhould be whether he knows of any money

paid, and in what manner.

E. of Macclesfield. It is the ftronger, if ic

is claimed and paid : But I apprehend, if it

were only claimed, it is Evidence.

Mr. Oaker. I don't well underftand the Quef-

tion as it is put, but I remember in my lord

Cowper' s firft Time, in the Year 1710, that Office

was transferred from Mr. Thompfon to Mr. Ed-

wards ; 1 was then Secretary of the Lunaticks,

and I remember I inquired of one or both of

thofe Gentlemen, if any Prefent was made to

my lord on that Occafion, and was anfwered,

that nothing had been ufually given in the Cafe

of that Office, and that they had fatisfied my
Lord thereof. Afterwards, when my Lord
Cowper had the great Seal again, and I was again

Secretary of the Lunaticks, his Lordihip was

pleafed to obferve to me, that he had fuffered

himfelf to be impofed upon in feveral matters,

when he had the Seal before, and inftanced par-

ticularly in the Affair of transferring the Office

of Clerk of the Cuftodies; and faid he was very

well fatisfied thofe Gentlemen had impofed upon

him, by affuring him that nothing had ufually

been given on transferring that Office; for he

was well affured there had been Prefents on that

of thofe two Times it was that my Lord Cowper
faid, he was impofed upon"

Thing

Mr. Oaker. It was the firft Time.
Mr. Onflow. I defire to know if he took any

at either Time ?

Mr. Oaker. I don't know, otherwife than as

I have before declared.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we defire that

Mr. Edward Dapper may be called.

Mr. Dapper fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, I defire that Mr,
Dapper may be afked, whether he knows of any
Sum of money that hath been paid, or received

on the Surrender, or Admiffion, of any Clerk

of the Cuftodies?

Mr. Dupper. I did not fee any Money paid.

I did give my Lord Macclesfield an Account that

there had been 250 Guineas paid upon a former

Surrender of that Office before this Mr. Ha-
merfly was admitted.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. From whom had you that

Information ?

Mr. Dupper. My Lords, I don't know how
far I may be permitted to name that Perfon's

Name.
Many Lords. Name him.

Earl of Macclesfield. Was it from one that

had the Cuftody of the great Seal ?

Mr. Dapper. Yes, my Lords.

Lord Who was it from?

Mr. Dupper. I had it from my Lord Harcourt*

My lords, I cannot fay I faw the money actually

paid •, neither can I fay, that his lordfhip re-

ceived this money. But I was a Servant to my
Lord Harcourt, and his Lordfhip kept an Ac-

count of the Profits of the Office of Lord High
Chancellor in his Time, in his own Writing;

and I made two Copies of that Account in a

Occafion, and did not fee any Reafon why there large hand-writing for his lordfhip's Ufe ; and I

generally made two Copies of each, for fear

one fhould be loft or miflaid when wanted. One

of thefe Copies I kept by me, which I have here

;

fhould not : And his lordfhip ordered me to en

quire, as particularly as I could, what had been

given, and by whom, that he might know what

to do if a Thing of that Kind fhould happen
again.

Mr. Plummer. My lords, I believe this Gen-

tleman was Servant to my lord Cowper, when
he was Chancellor laft ; I defire to know if any

Vacancy of this Office happen'd in the laft time

that he was Chancellor.

Mr. Oaker. There was a Vacancy in the laft

Time. I don't know what Sum of Money was

given for it ?

Mr. Plummer. My lords, I defire this Wit-
nefs may be afked, if ever he knew that my
Lord Cowper did take any Thing for the Sur-

render of this Place ?

Mr. Oaker. I don't know, I believe he had

nothing the firft Time, but he thought him-

felf impofed upon in it, and bid me inquire about

it. As to the fecond Time, I never could in-

form my felf what was done in it.

Lord Lechmere. I defire he may be afked,

Who it was that furrendred this Place of Clerk

of the Cuftodies, and to whom ? Name them.

in it is an account of

Office, and there is

250 Guineas

the yearly Profits of that

this particular Item, of

received for the Surrender of the

Office of Clerk of the Cuftodies, which I copied

from a Memorandum, or Account of his lordfhip's

own hand-writing.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, I don't know

what he is going to do. I hope there is very little

notice to be taken of what he hath faid. A
man tells a Story that is a Servant: I hope no

Credit will be given to what he fays.

Mr. Com. Serj. My lords, I defire he may

inform your lordfhips, when it was that he gave

an Account to the Earl of Macclesfield, that fo

much money had been paid, and upon what Oc-

cafion it was ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Give an Account ! he knows

nothing

Mr. Com. Serj. My lords, I hope

not think it an improper Queftion.

that he gave an Account, I

you will

He fays,

defire to know what

he
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he gave an Account of, and if he knows upon Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

what Occafion it was ? whether at that time he gave Satisfaction to

Mr. Dupper. My Lords, the Reafon of my Mr. Cottingham, that it ought to be infifted upon?
giving this Account was, There was a Difcourfe Mr. Dupper. I told him fo much had been given

between Mr. Cottingham, who was my Lord for the Surrender of that Office, and I never

Macclesfield's, Secretary, and my felf, about the knew of any Office under the Great Seal trans-

Office of Clerk of the Cuftodies. Mr. Coiling- ferred without money.
Mr. Lutwyche. I defire Mr. Dupper may ac-

quaint your Lordfhips what the yearly Value of
that Office is, that was given to him?
Mr. Dupper. I never was in PofTeffion of it.

Mr. Lutwyche. Do you know what is the yearly
Value of it ?

Mr. Dupper. No.
Mr. Lutwyche. Can you give no Account ofit

?'

Mr. Dupper. No: The man hath been in Pof-
feffion of it, I believe, thefe threefcore Years,
and I believe he will live thefe threefcore Years
longer.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we defire that

ham told me, that Mr. Bennct was going to fur-

render his Place of Clerk of the Cuftodies: I

afked him, to whom? He told me, it was to

his Neighbour Mr. Hamerjly. I anfwered, I

am very glad to hear it ; there will then be a

piece of money for my Lord Chancellor. Mr.

Cottingham faid, That is more than I know;

was there ever any money paid upon the Trans-

fer of this Office? I faid, Yes, I remembred there

was, and I never knew any Offices or Places

under the Great Seal transferred without an

Acknowledgment paid to the Great Seal. He
asked me what? I told him I had a Copy of the

Account of the Profits of the Great Seal, kept Mr. Laiton may be called

by my Lord Harcourt in his Time, and that I Mr. Laiton fworn.

would look into that Copy, and tell him what Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked,

had been paid on the Surrender of that Office, whether he was not formerly a Curfitor ?

I did look into that Copy, and the next day I Mr. Laiton. I was a Curfitor almoft three and

told Mr. Cottingham, that 250 Guineas had been forty Years.

paid on the Surrender of that Office. And af- Mr. Com. Serj. I defire that he will inform

terwards, and before the Transfer, I told my your Lordfhips, whether any money was paid,

Lord Macclesfield of it. either by him, or any other ?

Mr. Strange. When Mr. Hamerjly was na- Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we beg leave

med I defire to know if Mr. Cottingham did not to underftand your Lordfhips Refolution, whe-

at that time call him his Neighbour ? ther it extends to allow an Examination as to

Mr. Dupper. I did not know Mr. Hamerjly the felling of any other Offices not contained in

at that time; but Mr. Cottingham called him the Articles?

his Neighbour. Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we fhall endea-

Mr. Plummer. »My Lords, I defire he may vour to prove that Acknowledgments have been

be afked, if he told my lord Macclesfield of this anciently and ufually paid upon Admifilons into

before Mr. Bennet refigned to Mr. Hamerjly ? all Offices under the Great Seal. And this is

Mr. Dupper. Yes, I did my lords. Part of this noble Lord's Defence, That it is

Mr. Lutwyche. My lords I defire to afk him ufual for the Great Seal to take money for the

one Queftion. I think he is pleafed to fay transferring of thofe Offices. This Witnefs was

there is no place under the Great Seal, but what one of the Curfitors in the Court of Chancery

;

an Acknowledgment is taken for: I defire to therefore I hope it is proper to give Evidence

know whether he himfelf hath not a Place given of money given for thofe Offices, as being Of-

him by that noble Lord for his Life ? fices under the Great Seal. Therefore my lords,

Mr. Dupper. No, my Lords. I defire he may be afk'd, whether he hath known
Mr. Lutwyche. Had you no Place at all gi- of any money paid to the Great Seal upon the

ven you?
Mr. Dupper. I have the Reverfion of a Place,

which is not fallen as yet.

Mr. Lutwyche. What Place is that?

Mr. Dupper. The Sealer's Place.

Mr. Lutwyche. Do you enjoy that Place ?

Mr. Dupper. No.

Surrender, or Admiffion of any Curfitor?

Mr. Lutwyche. My lords, I fubmit it whether

it is proper for your lordfhips to let them into

this Evidence. I take it that the immediate Quef-

tions before your lordfhips are only upon two
forts of Offices, one of the Clerk of the Cufto-

dies, the other the mafters in Chancery. Now
Mr. Lutwyche. Was there any money given for whether Your lordfhips will let them into an

that Place ? Evidence of all the Offices of the Kingdom,

Mr. Dupper. No, Sir: It is what I had for which is very extenfive, I fubmit to your lord-

fifteen Years Service. I was his Clerk, and I fhips Confideration.

acted as his Steward, in Town and Country, a Mr. Plummer. Your lordfhips obferve, that

great many Years ; and his Lordfhip was plea- we have not gone upon the xoth Article, where

fed to give me that Reverfion as a Reward for we have laid that he fold feveral other Offices

:

the Labour and Pains I took in his Service. Confidering the great Extenfivenefs of it, and

Mr. Serj. Pengelly, My lords, I defire he may that it would draw this Trial into a great length,

be afked, how long after it was that he carried we have waved it; and therefore fubmit it to

this Account to Mr. Cottingham, that he fpeaks your lordfhips Confideration, whether he fhall

of, how long after he had found it?

Mr. Dupper. I don't exactly remember: But

as near as I can guefs, it was the next Day, the

firft time that I faw him afterwards.

make his Defence to any thing we have not yet

given Evidence to.

Earl of Macclesfield. This would be to put

a great difficulty upon me. The Charge againft

me being founded upon a Suppofition, that the

taking
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taking money upon admitting Perfons into Offices E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I don't know-
in the Court of Chancery is criminal; part ofmy whether this will not go through a great Part of
Defence is, that the conftant practice of my Pre- my Defence, which will be to fhew that other

deceffors fhews the general Opinion to be other- Offices have been difpofed of by the mafterof the

wife, and therefore I have by my Anfwer infift- Rolls, the Chief Juftices, and other Judges. This
ed upon it generally, that not only for the one is in my Anfwer: The Commons had Notice
particular Office of the Clerk of the Cuftodies, of it; and they have joined Iffue upon it. I won-
or matters in Chancery, but for all other Offices der to hear it faid they have not joined Iffue,

under the Great Seal, money hath been given ; when in the Anfwer it is infilled upon, and they

therefore whether the Office for which I prove have replied thereto. This is a Thins; that thefe

the money to be given, be one of the Offices

charged in the Articles, and proceeded upon, or

another not charged, or charged and waved, it

will be the fame thing. The Argument is the fame

with refpect to the foundation of the Accufation,

if in all other Offices, of which Perfons now living

can give an Account, monies have been taken

without Crime, and without Blame ; by parity of

Reafon it may be taken in thefe. I offer this

Evidence, not to fhew I am not criminal with

refpect to the Curfitors Offices ; their waving that

g'

ge^Gentlemen are very well aware of; it is fo
c

neral and^ univerfal a Thing, that every Body
knows of it. I don't know whether it is intend-
ed to make any Diftinction between this Cafe*
and what is done in other Cafes; if they do, I

would be glad to hear it ; if they do not, then
I would beg your Lordfhips Determination upon it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we are not to
declare our Opinion, whether there is any Diffe-

rence, or not ; the Qaeftion is in Point ofEvidence.
Mr. Soil. Gen. My Lords, I don't apprehend

eneral Article which comprifes them, admits it; that we have joined Iffue on every Thing that

but to make out that Branch of the Induction, in

order to infer from the whole my not being cri-

minal in the Particulars they do proceed upon ;

for if it was no Crime to take money from the

Curfitors, and all the reft, befides the mafters in

Chancery and Clerk of the Cuftodies, it is no

the Noble Earl hath thought fit to put in his

Anfwer. The Commons have charged him with
feveral Crimes: He hath anfwered to thofe

Crimes : The Commons reply, that they are ready

to make good their Charge. By this, Iffue is

joined upon every Thing in the Charge; but not

more fo to take it from them: If this Objection upon every foreign Thing that he hath put into

be allowed, the Proof, which in its full latitude his Anfwer. We infift that he is not to give

would be of great Extent, and go to all my Pre- Evidence of the Sale of any other Offices, bur

deceffors within 50 or 60 Years, will be confined of thofe that he is particularly charged with. As
to a very narrow Compafs, when reftrain'd to to the Curfitors Office, and other Offices that

what Account can be given in only two Sorts of

Offices, by Perfons who faw the money paid, and

happen to be ftill alive. Befides, for ftrengthening

that Argument from other Inftances, I have in

another Part of my Anfwer infilled, that other

Perfons of great Wifdom and Honour, have like-

he is not charged with, we fay he is to give no
Evidence.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, becaufe it is infilled

upon that whatever this Noble Lord hath faid

in his Anfwer, we have replied to ; I would ob-

ferve that the very Replication takes Notice of

wife without Scruple, and without Cenfure, dif- this very Thing, and was one of the Things con-

pofed ol other Offices for money ; that this hath

been conftantly practifed in the Difpofal of all

Sorts of Offices in Weflminfier-Hall, money hath

been taken for them all along ; this Proof I mull

be cut off from too, if I am to give Evidence only

of what was done in the cafe of thofe Offices for

which they proceed againft me : I hope therefore

the Gentlemen will not oppofe the going on to

make the Proof propofed by my Counfel.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, if it be put in

this general manner of all other Courts, and in all

other Inftances, we apprehend it will be a very

extraordinary Examination. A Perfon is charged

with a particular Charge of one Fact, and he

would examine to another, with which he is not

charged. This is befide the Iffue, and not be-

fore your Lordfhips. Here is a Charge by the

Commons of Great Britain, and an Anfwer and

Defence to that, which can go only to thofe par-

ticular Offices charged. Now, to introduce an

Evidence of this Nature, is exceeding any Rule

or Inftance that hath been ever heard of. If they

apprehend by propofing and infilling on it in this

High Court of Judicature, they fhall be allowed

fidered of by the Commons, and therefore the

Reply is, " That he hath endeavoured to evade
" the Enquiries into his own Crimes, by in-

" finuating Facts not material to the matters

" charged.'
3 And therefore, my Lords, we in-

fift that he may not enquire into thofe matters

which we have not charged.

Mr. Com. Serj. I don't know whether I may
be at liberty to add, that I humbly appre-

hend, that what the Gentlemen of the Houfe of

Commons now infift upon, is contradicting your

Lordfhips Refolution already taken.

Then the Managers and Counfel were order'd

to withdraw, and being afterwards called in again,

and returned ;

Lord Chief Juft. King. Mr. Serj. Probyn, The
Lords have refolved, that the Counfel for the

Earl of Macclesfield be not permitted to give

Evidence touching the Sale cf the Office of

Curfitors, for that no Evidence hath been given

in Relation thereto, by the Managers for the

Houfe of Commons.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. Then if it be your Lordfhips

Pleafure, we beg leave to call one Witnefs more,

to proceed in a method wholly new, we can't tell in oppofition to the evidence given by Mr. Thomas

Bennet, in Relation to a Sum of money paid by him

upon the Surrender of his Office of Clerk of the
the Confequence of fuch an Allowance ; and it is

to no purpofe for the Managers to come pre-

pared to examine to a particular Fact ftated be-

tween us, when there may be ten thoufand things

infilled on that are not in Iffue.

Lord Vifcount Townfoend. I can't fay this is

within the Rule your Lordfhips laid down. If it

is infilled upon, the Counfel muft withdraw.

VeL. VI.

Cuftodies ; he gave your Lordfhips an Account

that he had paid the Sum of Sixty four Pounds,

(befides the Sum of One hundred and five Pounds,

which he at firft agreed to give the Great Seal)

upon his Surrender of that Office. Now, my
Lords, we fhall fhew your lordfhips, that no part

6 G of
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of that Sum of Sixty four Pounds was really paid

to the Great Seal, as Mr. Bennet feems to insinu-

ate, but was all laid out in the Fees and Expen-
ces of paffing his Patent through the feveral Of-

fices that are proper upon that Occafion. And to

this End we defire that Mr. Tench may be called.

Mr. Tench fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, we defire Mr. Tench

may inform your lordfhips, if he was employed

in taking out the Patent for Mr. Thomas Bennet,

upon hisSurrender of the Clerk of the Cuftodies ?

Mr. Tench. My lords, I was imployed by Mr.
Thomas Bennet to fue out the Patent, and I paid

the Fees of every Office of paffing the Patent,

which comes to between 60 and 70 /.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire he may tell us

what Officer he is?

Mr. Tench. I am Clerk of the Patents to the

Attorney General, and Deputy Clerk of the Pa-

tents in Chancery.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be afked, what
part of thofe Fees are paid to the Great Seal ?

Mr. Tench. There is a Dividend of the money
arifing from the Patents, of this 1 I. 8 s. 4 d. and

3 s. went to the Great Seal.

• 'Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be asked, whe-

ther any more came to the Great Seal out of the

64/. than 1 /. lis. qdl
Mr. Tench. I don't know that there is any more

of the Dividend of the Patent. The reft went
amongft others for their feveral Fees at the feve-

ral Offices.

Mr. Com. Serj. I won't trouble your Lordfhips
to afk to whom the reft of the money belongs,

but whether the Remainder is paid over to other

Offices ?

Mr. Tench. I don't know that any thing is paid

to the Great Seal, upon paffing the Patent Office,

but the Dividend of 1 /. 1 1 s. 4 d.

Mr. Com, Serj. I defire he may inform your
Lordfhips, whether the Remainder is paid to

other Offices?

Mr. Tench. Yes, to other Offices, to the Hana-
per Office, the Secretary's Office, the Signet and
Privy Seal.

Earl 0/ Macclesfield, 10 G. I.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we fhall trouble
your Lordfhips with no further Evidence on this

Article : But beg your lordfhips Favour to beo-in

our Evidence on the $tb, and other Articles.

Mr. Sandys. My Lords, I defire he may be
afked, where he found the Warrant for paffing
the Patent at that Time?

Mr. Tench. I had the Warrant from the Se-
cretary's Office.

Mr. Sandys. I defire he may be afked, if he
knows how it came there, and by whole Direc-
tion, if he knows who procured it?

Mr. Tench. My Lords, I drew a Petition by
Mr. Bennefs Direction, to the Secretary of State;
upon that the Petition was referred to the At-
torney General, and upon his Report, there was
a Warrant. I know of no other Proceedings re-

lating to it.

Mr. Sandys. My Lords, I defire he may be afked
at whofe Inftance he drew up that Petition ?

Mr. Tench. I drew it up at Mr. Thomas Bennet's

Requeft.

Mr. Sandys. To what Purpofe was that Pe-
tition ?

Mr. Tench. The Petition recited that the Pa-
tent was granted to his Brother, and that up-
on his Brother's furrendring, it might be granted
to him.

Mr. Sandys. It is the Iaft Petition we defire to

be informed of, what the Purport of that was-,

not the Petition of Mr. John Bennet, when he fur-

rendered to Mr. Thomas Bennet, but the Petition of
Mr. Thomas Bennet, when he furrendred to Mr.
Hamerjly ?

Mr. Tench. It was a Petition reciting the Grant
to Mr. Thomas Bennet, and that he might refign to

Mr. Hamerjly's Ufe, who was a Perfon well af-

fected to his Majefty and the Government.
- Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we now proceed

to the other Articles, which relate to the Pre-

fents made by the matters in Chancery to the

Earl of Macclesfield.

Upon this the Honfe adjourned to the next Morn-
ing Ten a Clock.

Thurfday the 13th of May, 1725. The Sixth Day.

The Lords being feated in their Houfe^ and the two Proclamations being made

m on the former Day.

LORD ChiefJuft. King. Mr. Serj. Probyn,

you may go on with your Evidence.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we beg leave to

lay before your Lordfhips fome inftances, where,

upon former Admiffions of mafters in Chancery,

Sums of money have from time to time been taken

by the Great Seal. We defire Mr. Meller may
be called again.

Accordingly Mr. Meller appeared.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire Mr. Meller may
be afked, whether he knows of any Sum of mo-
ney paid to the Great Seal, upon the Admiffion
of a mafter in Chancery, and what Sum ?

Mv. Meller. My lords, I humbly apprehend, that

the Subjects of Great Britain are not compellable in

any cafe to give an Anfwer to any matter that

may be to their Prejudice. I fpeak it with the

greateft Submiffion to your Lordfhips. For my
part, I am very unwilling to do any thing that

may any ways lefTen the Security of the Subject,

therefore I humbly hope your Lordfhips will not

compel me to give an Anfwer to any Queftion of

this Nature. I humbly fubmit it to your Lord-

fhips Judgment.
Earl oi\ Macclesfield. My Lords, the Queftion

he is afked is a general Queftion, whether he

knows of any money paid to the Great Seal by
any mafter in Chancery upon his admiffion.

Whether he knows, or doth not know it ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we beg leave tp

acquaint the Houfe of the Circumftances of Mr.
Meller, from whence the Objection rifes. He was

formerly a mafter, but before the late Act of Par-

liament he quitted that Office, and hath no In-

demnification,
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demnification, as the prefent Matters have by that

Act. Therefore, as I apprehend, his Objection is,

that he can't give an Anfwer to this Queftion,

without fubjecling himfelf to a Penalty, and ac-

cufmg himfelf of an Offence againft the Law.
Mr. Lutwyche. This general Queftion tends to

make him accufe himfelf, and fubject himfelf to

a Penalty.

Earl of Prfacclesfield. My Lords, I would gladly

know whether thefe Gentlemen object to this Que-

ftion or not ; if they object themfelves to it, they

have a right fo to do, and to offer their Reafons,

and they muft be left to your Lordfhips Judgment.

But they have no Right to inftruct a Witnefs.

Mr. Lutwycbe. I never endeavoured to inftruct

any Witnefs. It is very well known I never at-

tempted any fuch thing •, and that noble Lord
knows it. I am now here, notasCounfel, but as

one of the Managers for the Houfe of Commons,
and by their Command, and fo have moreReafon
to take Notice of this Reflection. We do not in-

ftruct Witnefles, this is no fuch thing. It is an

Objection which we have a Right to make. We
have done it already, and have had your Lord-
ihips Determination upon it. It is not fo very

long ago, but the noble Lord may remember this

very Queftion was directly afked of Mr. Bennet,

and then refufed ; the next Day afked again by
a fide-wind, whether he knew any, and what
Money had been given for the Place ? and rejected

by your Lordihips ; and then a Queftion was
asked, How much he knew the Place fold for ? and
your Lord (hips likewife refufed that: Here now
is a Queftion afked of a Man that hath been a

Mafter in Chancery, and not indemnified by the

Lift Act, whether in Effect he paid any Money
for his Office ? Your Lordihips thought this in-

duced a Penalty, becaufe you thought it neceffary

to pafs an Act of Parliament to indemnify the

prefent Mafters ; but it is well known it doth not

extend to thofe who were Mafters before •, and
therefore as there is a Penalty annexed to it, he

ought not to anfwer this Queftion. Befides, for

the fake of our Proceedings, it ought not to be an-

fwered, and we have a Right thus to interpofe,

that when your Lordfhips have refufed the fame
thing in another Man, the fame is not to be infilled

upon again.

Mr. Spy, Pengelly. My Lords, it is the Duty of

the Managers to take Notice of the Behaviour of

the Lord impeached. Whether he apprehends

that he hath a right to controul the Managers in

this Houfe, and whether that arifes from the Seat

he enjoys, your Lordfhips will confider the Con-

fequences of this Behaviour. When the firft Day
we vvere told, that we were working up the Wit-

nefles, and now that we are inftructing them,

whence could this Lord have this Imagination,

but from his own former Practice?

Earl of Macclesfield. My lords, as to that Gen-
tleman that thought himfelf reflected upon, he

greatly miftakes me. 1 did not intend to reflect

upon him as going to inftruct the Witnefs in

his Evidence ; I believe him as far from it as any

Man in England. I know him to be a Perfon of too

much Honour ; and I had not the leaft Thought
when I fpoke it, of his inftructing a Witnefs in

that Senfe. But here a Witnefs ismaking fome

Difficulty in ar.fwering a Queftion, and I thought

that that Gentleman who fpoke firft, was ftating

that wnich made the Witncfs's Objection ; which

I apprehended did not belong to the Managers to

do. That is what I meAnt by inftructing. The Que:
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ftion that is afked is, Whether he hath known of
any Money given to the Great Seal, upon an Ad-
mifTion of a Mafter in Chancery ? Say they, he
was a Mafter in Chancery himfelf, therefore it

may include his giving Money upon his being ad-
mitted : But be that fo, he may know of other
Perfons befides himfelf that gave Money. My Que-
ftion therefore is general, whether he knows of
any Money given to the Great Seal on Admiflion
of a Mafter in Chancery ? The Queftion your lord-

fhips refolved was as to Mr. Bennet himfelf, and
confined to his fingle Office •, and had I afked Mr.
Meller what he had given on his Admiflion to his

own Office, it had been another Matter, and within

your lordfhips Refolution. But the Queftion that

is now afk'd, includes what he knows hath been
given by other Mafters-, therefore he may give an

Anfwer without charging himfelf. If Ire anfwers

that he doth not know of any Money given by
any other Mafter except himfelf ; then it will come
to the Queftion the managers would bring it to.

In the mean time give me leave to fay, that thofe

Gentlemen, by being Managers for the Houfe of

Commons, have not a Right of treating Perfons in

a different manner than what they fhould do if

they were not Managers. That that Gentleman

fhould fay, that what I fpoke about inftructing

of Witnefles, arifeth from a Practice of my own,
is a language unbecoming the Dignity of your lord-

fhips Bar. Is this a Way of treating Mankind? Is

this a fit method of carrying on a Profecution ? Is

this decent fpeaking before fo auguft a Judicature

as this ? What I faid of inftructing a Witnefs, im-

ported no faulty way ofInftruction.

—

{After qjhort

Paufe) I have ufed a great deal of Preparation

not to be difturbed at any Expreflions that fall

upon this Occafion. It is a faulty Way of inftruct-

ing a Witnefs, to tell him what he fhall fay, but

to tell him he hath a legal Objection to a Queftion

that isafked, I know no Crime in that. My lords,

I beg Pardon for taking fo much Notice of this

Matter •, but I infift upon an Anwer to this Que-

ftion, whether he knows of any Money given to

the Great Seal, on an Admiflion of a Mafter in

Chancery? He may anfwer affirmatively, with-

out at all affecting himfelf; and I fubmit, whe-

ther he ought not to do it.

Mr. Plummer. My lords, if the Counfel for the

noble lord have done, I beg leave to reply. The
noble lord fays, that this Gentleman may poffi-

bly anfwer, and not accufe himfelf. But if by the

Anfwer he may accufe himfelf, it is a Reafon

why he fhould not anfwer. The method propofed,

that he may fay, he doth not know of any but

himfelf, is accufing himfelf. As for the other

Point about inftructing Witnefles, it is not our Wit-

nefs, but his own Witnefs, who refufes to anfwer.

Mr. Onflow. The Managers cannot but obferve

the indecent Behaviour of this lord, and his un-

worthy manner of treating us. What we fay here,

we are ready to fay any where. We do not think

the lord at the Bar fhould be directing the Ma-

nagers, as if he fat in his Place as Judge : If we do

any thing unbecoming, we are fubject to your

lordfhips Judgment. We appear not here as

common Profecutors, and are not to be treated as

common Counfel by him, as he would have treat-

ed Counfel in another Place. We are here Ad-

vocates for all the Commons of Great Britain, to

demand Juftice againft this Earl ; and fubmit if

to your lordfhips, whether he is to treat us in

this unbecoming manner. As for the Queftion,

the very Reafon he now gives for afking it, is the

fame
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fame that was given by him for examining Mr.
Bennet, and your Lordfhips then over-ruled it. It

is only by a fide Wind afking a Quefton of a Wit-

nefs, the Anfwer whereto will unavoidably charge

him with a Crime : He cannot anfwer without

charging himfelf. This lord hath laid a Trap for

the Witnefs to accufe himfelf. He fays he may
anfwer that he knows nothing of any money
given by any matter but himfelf-, which is di-

rectly faying that he himfelf hath given money.

We hope therefore this Queftion fhall not be

afked ; and we infift upon the Objection.

Mr. Palmer. In Duty to the Houfe of Commons,
I think my felf obliged to take Notice of the

flrange Behaviour of this lord in this Inftance.

According to your lordfhips own Rule, tho' he

fits within the Bar, yet he is not a Judge; and

therefore I muft beg for myfelf, in the Names of

the managers, and in the Names of all the Com-
mons of Great Britain, that no fuch Language or

Behaviour be again ufed •, if it fhould, we cannot

bear it, but muft retire.

Earl of Macclesfield. My lords, I defire the ge-

neral Queftion that I have propofed may be afked ;

I do not know what is your lordfhips Pleafure

;

I think I have a Right to have it anfwered.

Mr. Plummer. I object to the Lord's going on.

The Lord hath anfwered; we have replied; and

I infift upon it he hath not a Right to fpeak any

more.

Duke of Argyle. I hope they will withdraw.

Ordered to withdraw.

then the Managers and Counfel withdrew., and be-

ing called in again, and returned ;

Lord Chief Jujl. King, Mr. Serjeant Probyn, the

Queftion propofed by the noble Earl to Mr. Meller

was, Whether he knew of any money paid to the

Great Seal by any mafter on his Admiffion ; and

Mr. Melller infifting that he had been a late mafter

in Chancery, and was not obliged to anfwer the

Queftion, becaufe it might tend to accufe him-

felf; the lords upon Debate are of Opinion, that

he is not bound to anfwer that Queftion.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, then we defire he

may be afked, whether he knows of any Sum of

money paid by any other Perfon, except himfelf,

upon the Admiffion of any mafter ?

Mr. Com. Serj. I would not prefume to afk any

Queftion that is improper, I underftand your

lordfhips Refolution to be, that we are not to

afk the general Queftion of Mr. Meller, becaufe it

might affect himfelf; this Queftion, we think, will

not ; Whether he knows of any Sum of money
given upon the Admiffion of any other mafter?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we fubmit it,

whether this Queftion differs at all in Confequence

;

tho' it be not in the fame Words, yet it is to the

fame Effect: It is in other Words to afk the

fame Queftion over again. We hope they will

not give your lordfhips this Trouble.

Mr. Lutwyche. My lords, the Queftion implies

that he gave money himfelf.

Lord Lechmere. If the Counfel would explain

themfelves more particularly, name the mafter,

the Perfon who received it, or any other par-

ticular Fact ; then it will appear whether that be

a proper Queftion.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, we humbly appre-

hend, that we are at liberty to afk this Queftion

in the Form propofed, otherwife we fhall in a

great meafure be precluded from the juft Defence

of the Noble Earl. We Could not prefume to afk

thefe Witneffes beforehand, who were the Perfons

10 G. 1

that gave, or the particular Pcrfons that received -,

but as thefe Perfons have been in the Office, and
muft know the Nature of admitting the Mafters
in Chancery ; we hope they will explain it in their
Evidence, and name the particular Perfons, who
either gave, or received Money upon that Occa-
fion. We are not proper to afk more particularly.

Mr. Com. Serj. My lords, I fhall be very loth
to give any Dirtafte to this Honourable Houfe ;

therefore I beg Leave to know, whether or no we
have Liberty to afk this Queftion, and whether
your lordfhips Refolution extends to it? I hum-
bly take it, we are at Liberty to afk the Queftion,
and the Witnefs is not obliged to anfwer, if he
apprehends that as the Queftion is formed he can-
not anfwer without an Inconvenience to himfelf.
I would not willingly afk any Queftion that I

thought the Houfe would think improper.
Lord Trevor. If the noble Lord infifts upon

this Queftion, it is proper that he fhould name
fome Perfon, concerning whom he would afk;
otherwife, it is indirectly to overthrow your lord-
fhips Refolution.

Earl of Macclesfield. My lords, I am very un-
fortunate in this Matter. I would afk him the
Queftion in fuch a Manner, as fhould not carry
any the leaft Imputation on him : but if I fhould
firft name one Mafter, and afterwards another, m
fo great a number of Mafters, it would be tedious ;

I only ask in fhort, what he knows of any Money
taken by the great Seal for, or on the Admiffion
of other Mafters? I don't afk him concerning
himfelf, but only concerning other Mafters

;

Whether he knows any thing of the Tranfactions
of other Mafters Admiffion befides his own? I

hope your lordfhips will think this may be afked,

with this Explanation and Declaration, that it

don't extend to any thing relating to himfelf-,

but only whether he knows any thing concerning
any Money paid by any other Perfons ? and to

name them particularly.

Lord Chief Juft. King. You hear the Queftion.

Mr. Meller. Is it your lordfhips Pleafure that I

fhould anfwer to the Queftion as it is now form'd?
My lords, I don't know, or remember, that ever

I had a Difcourfe with any Mafter about what he
gave, or what he was to give, for any Place ; ex-

cept I have heard Dr. Eddisbttry fay

—

Mr. Lutwyche. My lords, we object to this as

not being Evidence, but only Hearfay.

Mr. Meller. Except Dr. Eddisbury, I don't know
one indeed.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, we defire that Mr.
Lovibond may be called.

Mr. Lovibond called.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My lords, we hope that Mr.
Lovibond, beingoneof the prefent mafters, and con-

sequently within the Indemnity of the late Act of
Parliament, may be examined, as to what happen-
ed in his Cafe: And we defire that he may be afk-

ed what Sum of Money was paid to the Great Seal,

on his being admitted a mafter in Chancery?
My Lovibond. My lords, as to that Tranfaction,

it is many Years ago, above twelve Years ago, I

will recollect what I know of it to the beft of my
Remembrance. My lords, I never had any Treaty
in that Affair with the Great Seal, nor with any
Officer belonging to the Great Seal ; nor did I

employ any Body in it. But there was an Ac-
quaintance of mine, a mafter in Chancery, fince

cieceafed, who apprehending it to be for my
Service, without my Knowledge tranfacted it.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Who was it?

Mr.
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Mr. Lovibond. Mr. Browning, He came to

me, and told me, I have fettled the whole mat-

ter, you muft be fworn in this Night, and you

muft fend to Mr. Cottingham or Mr. Appleby,

then Officers under the Great Seal, 700 /. in

money or Bank Bills. I did fend it that Night

and was then fworn in.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, I defire he may

be particular as to the Time : It is necefTary

he mould be certain.

Mr. Lovibond. Mr. Browning faid, he had

fettled it with the Great Seal, that I mould be

fworn in that Night ; my Lord Harcourt was

then Chancellor.

Mr. Strange, My Lords, I defire he may be

afked, Whether he was admitted upon a Death

or a Surrender?

Mr. Lovibond. I was admitted upon a Sur-

render.

Mr. Strange. By whom r

Mr. Lovibond. Mr. Pitt.

E. of Strafford. Before the Witnefs goes, I

defire to afk him how much he gave to Mr. Pitt

upon his Surrendring?

Mr. Lovibond. It was 2000 /.

L. Harcourt. My Lords, If the Gentleman is

not o-one, I defire to afk him a Queftion or two.

Mr. Lovibond called again.

L. Harcourt. My Lords, I defire he may be

asked, Whether he was worth fo much Money
as to pay 2700/. of his own Money at that

Time?
Mr. Lovibond. Yes, my Lords, and much

more.

L. Harcourt. I defire he may be asked, Whe-
ther he paid it out of his own Money, or out of

the Suitors Money ?

Mr. Lovibond. I paid it out of my own
Money.

L. Harcourt. I defire he may be asked, Whe-
ther Mr. Pitt, at the Time of his Admiffion,

transferred and actually delivered over to him

all the money of the Suitors that then was in his

Hands ?

Mr. Lovibond. Mr. Pitt, to the beft of my
Belief, delivered over every Thing that was in

his Hands to me.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, We defire that

Mr. Cottingham may be called again.

Mr. Cottingham called.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, We defire that

Mr. Cottingham may be asked, whether he knows

any thing of any Tranfaclion relating to the Pay-

ment ofany Sum of money on the Admiffion of

Mr. Holford.

Mr. Cottingham. My Lords, if I remember

right, there was 800/. paid.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. How long ago ?

Mr. Cottingham. It is feveral Years ago : There

was 800 /. or 800 Guineas given or paid on his

Admiffion, feveral Years ago.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. To whom ?

Mr. Cottingham. My Lords, Sir Richard Hol-

ford defired me to recommend his Son to the noble

Lord that then had the Great Seal.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Who was it?

Mr. Cottingham. The Lord Harcourt. Sir

Richard Holford was my old Friend and Acquain-

tance: I accordingly did recommend trims

Vol. VI.
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Mr. Holford came under a good Character to
my Lord Harcourt ; my Lord agreed to admit
him, but he firft defired to know whether he
had any Eflate in Poffeffion fufficient to anfwer
the Suitors money? Upon my faying this to

Sir Richard Holford, Sir Richard faid, He had
none in Poffeffion, but agreed to fettle an Eftate

upon his Son; and to the beft of my Remem-
brance, it was either 800/. or 800 Guineas that

was given on his Admiffion, for the Ufe of my
Lord Harcourti

L. Lechmere. To whom was it paid?
Mr. Cottingham. I can't fay whether it was

paid to me, or to Mr. Appleby.

Dr. Sayer. Who carried the Propofal ?

Mr. Cottingham. I carried the Propofal. Sir

Richard Holford, as I told you, being my Friend
and Acquaintance, defired me to do it: Accord-
ingly I tranfacted the whole matter; being an

upper Secretary, it was left to me.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, I defire to ask this

Witnefs one Queftion as to this matter. He
fays, That Mr. Holford was recommended as a

man of a good Character; I defire to know
whether he hath not ever fince maintained that

good Character ?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, he hath made an ad-

mirable good mafter as ever I knew ; and hath

executed his Office with as much Honour and In-

tegrity as any mafter. I never heard any Com-
plaint againft him in my Life.

Mr. Lutwyche. Can you recollect who paid

the money, Mr. Holford, or Sir Richard Hol-

ford?
Mr. Cottingham. Sir Richard, I believe: I can't

recollect. He was a young man ; I prefume, Sir

Richard Holford, his Father, paid the money.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may inform your

Lordfhips, whether it was on a Death or Sur-

render ?

Mr. Cottingham. As I told you before, It was

on a Surrender : Upon the Surrender of Sir

Robert Legard, If I remember right.

L. Harcourt. My lords, If that Witnefs is

not gone, and the Counfel for the Earl, and the

managers for the Houfe ofCommons have done

with him, I defire to ask him, If he can tell

whether any Account was taken of the Suitors

money by his Predeceffor, and whether all the

Suitors money was delivered up by Sir Robert

Legard to Mr. Holford at the Time of his Ad-
miffion?

Mr. Cottingham. My lords, I believe it was.

But I was not privy to that, I did not tranfiict

that matter ; I have heard that an Account was

made up.

E. of Strafford. I would not ask the fame

Queftion twice ; I think no Body hath asked it

already ; I defire to know, If he knows of his

own Knowledge, what was given to Sir Robert

Legard for his Surrender?

Mr. Cottingham. I know nothing of it.

L. Harcourt. My Lords, If I might have

your Lordfhips Indulgence, in order to have

this matter a little further explained, I defire

Mr. Holford himfelf, or Mr. Appleby, or both of

them may be called.

Mr. Holford called.

L. Harcourt. I defire to know of Mr. Holford,

Whether at the Time of his Admiffion, when

he was fworn mafter, Sir Robert Legard transfer-

6 H red



65* *95

red and delivered' over to him all the Effects of

the Suitors ?

Mr. Holford. He did, my lords,

L. Harcourt. I defire to ask him, Whether

the money, that it was faid he prefented to the

Great Seal on his Admiffion, was his Father's

The Trial of'Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, 10 G. i.

Mr. J. Bennet. It was paid out of my own
money.

Sir 'Thomas Gery called.

Mr. Com. Serj. My lords, The Queftion thatoreau oeai vm "^ auun«'«") "— — - — -- - j- - -j * ^*- u

money, or his money, or whether it was out of I lhall propofe to Sir Thomas Gery, is under the

the Suitor's money ?

Mr. Holford. My Father paid it belore any

thing was delivered to me.

E. of'Strafford. I defire to ask the Gentleman

this Queftion, What money he paid to Sir

Robert Legard on his Admiflion to his Place?

Apprehenfion that I mentioned before, that we
are at liberty within the meaning of your
Lordfhips Refblution to propofe it, he being at

liberty to anfwer or not to anfwer, if the
Queftion carry any Imputation upon him. I

would not ask a Queftion that is improper: I

Mr. Holford. My lords, I did not give it my dehre that Sir Thomas Gery will inform your

felf ; I can tell your lordfhips what I believe lordfhips what he knows has been paid to the

was'given'» and I have fome Reafon to think I Great Sea1, uPon the AcJmiffion of a mafter in

know the Truth ; I believe it was 2000 /. Chancery ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I defire he may Sir Tho. Gery. My Lords, I never did know,

be asked, How long it was after his Admiffion of my own Knowledge, of any Sum paid to

before th'efe Accompts and Effects were delivered the Hands of any Lord Chancellor whatfo-

him ?
ever*

Mr. Holford. My lords, when I came to my lord Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may anfwer the

Harcourt to be fworn in, my lord Harcourt had an Queftion, Whether he hath known any Sum of

Account delivered there of what was in Sir Ro- money paid to the Ufe of the Great Seal, or of

bert Legard's Hands. My lord Harcourt took my Lord-Keeper or Lord-Chancellor, upon the

the Paper in his Hand, and asked me, If I was Admiffion of any mafter ?

fatisfied to be charged with that? I told him, Sir Thomas Gery. I can't tell how that may

Yes. I was then fworn in, and a Day or two affect me; I refer that to your Lordfhips. I

after the Things were delivered over to me by think I am not bound to anfwer.

Sir Robert Legard. &• °f Macclesfield. I think he faid, He doth
not know of any money paid to a lord Chancellor.

Mr. John Bennet called. Dotn he intend t0 {nc]ufe Lord-Keeper ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be asked, Sir Thomas Gery. Neither Lord-Keeper, nor

What'money was paid by him to the Great Seal Lord-Chancellor.

on his Admiffion?,

i(
.

i

... .,, E. of Macclesfield. It maybe, not into the Hands

Mr. Bennet. I gave Mr. Woodford, the Secre- of a Lord-Chancellor or Lord-Keeper. I defire he

tary of the Great Seal at that Time, 500/. I don't may be afked, If he hath not known it paid

know that it was given to the Great Seal; I gave to the Ufe of the Lord-Chancellor, or Lord-

it with that Defign

Mr. Serj. Probyn. When was it?

Mr. J. Bennet. About two or three Days be-

fore I was admitted.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. When ?

Mr. J. Bennet. It was in March, 17 16.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Who was Chancellor then?

Mr. J. Bennet. My Lord Cowper was Chan-

cellor.

Keeper ?

Sir Tho. Gery. That, I hope, I fhall not be
obliged to anfwer. I fubmit that to your Lord-
fhips.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. If the Gentleman is not

pleafed to give a more particular Anfwer, we
muft fubmit.

L. Harcourt. I defire to ask this Witnefs one

Queftion, which will not draw him into any

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Whether was it paid before Inconvenience, whether ever he was required in

his Admiffion? anY Lord-Chancellor's or Lord-Keeper's Time,

Mr. 7. Bennet. It was paid before my Ad- to make up an Account of the Suitors Money,

million.
' anc* whether ever he did fo?

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he would inform your Sir Tho. Gery. Yes, I did it three feveral

lordfhips, whether he came in upon a Surrender Times; once in my lord Cowper's Time; and

or a Death ?
when the noble Lord that asks me the Queftion

Mr. J. Bennet. It was upon a Surrender. was in that place, I did the like ; and I did it

L. Ch. 7. King. Upon the Surrender of again when my lord Cowper was Chancellor.

whom ?

Mr. J. Bennet. Of Mr. Medlicot.

At all thofe Times I gave a particular Account

of the Sums of money in my Hands, the Tims

L. Balhurft. I defire he may be asked, whe- it came in, and how it was difpofed of, and the

ther'he paid it out of his own money ? diftindt Securities, in diftindt Columns.

Mr. 7. Bennet. It was my own money. E. of Strafford. He fays twice in my lord

L Balhurft. I defire he may be asked, whe- Cowper's Time : I take it, he means both the

ther'he had any Account of what was in the Times that my Lord Cowper was Chancel-

former matter's Hands, and when delivered lor?

over to him ?

Mr. y. Bennet. The Effects were all deliver'd

over to me in a Week's Time, except fome very

fmall matters.

Sir Thomas Gery. Yes, my lords; and the

fame in my lord Harcourt's Time.

L. Harcourt. I defire he may be afked, whe-

ther all the reft of the matters did fo as well

L Bathurjl. What was the money that was as himfelf?

given to your Predecefibr?

Mr. J. Bennet. 3000 /.

L. Balhurft. Was that paid out of the Suitors

money, or out of your own ?

Sir Thomas Gery. I believe they did ; I have

heard them all declare fo.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we have now

called all the living WitnefTes that are willing or

compell-
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compellable to fpeak to this Article. We have once at fuch a Rate, and what they are now
a great many other Witneffes that would fpeak that is the matter, as I take it

to this, as a conftant Ufage time out of mind: Mr. Lutwycbe. My lords," I apprehend the
But we apprehend it to be againft your lord- Direction was given to the noble lord not to
Ihips Refolution to call and examine any Wit- ask concerning the Sale of any Office but what
neffes but to what they can fpeak of their own was in the Articles, and the managers had
Knowledge, and them we have produced. We given Evidence to. Now to ask the Difference
fhall now beg leave to proceed to prove, or Increafe of the Prices of a Clerk in Chan
That the Offices in the Court of Chancery are cery's x

D
lace, is, we apprehend, to ask to the

increafed in their Value beyond what they very Thing that your lordfhips have over-ruled
were formerly, that not only thefe, but all already.

other Offices, as they have increafed in Value, E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, this is not
have increafed in the Price; all Offices have like the Curfitors Office, which is in the Dif-
rifen in Value, and the Price given in this pofition of the Great Seal ; your lordfhips Re-
Inftance, is no more than in Proportion to the folution was, That the Witneffes were not to an-
Prices given for others. fwer as to their giving money to the Great

Mr. Com. Serj. We apprehend, my Lords, Seal. The Evidence we are now upon, is an
it is fo notorious, that all Sorts of Offices Inquiry that relates not to any money given to
have rifen in their Value, that a very fmall Evi- the Great Seal, but what thofe Perfons paid to
dence will be fufficient. We have a great many one another for an Office that doth not belono-
Witneffes to this Purpofe, we will only call to the Great Seal.

°

fome few. We defire Mr. Steele may be called. Mr. Onflow. At the End of your lordfhips
Refolution Yefterday, the Reafon given why

Mr. Steele fworn. they ought not to be let into the Examination
as to the Offices then in Queftion, was, becaufe

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, We defire to no Evidence had been given thereto by the
know before they proceed, Whether they de- managers, and it was not charged nor men-
fign to afk as to thofe Offices your Lordfhips tioned in the Articles, altho' the noble lord did
gave them Direction laft Night not to afk to. infift that he mould be let into that Examina-
Your Lordfhips gave them Directions not to tion, becaufe in the Preamble of his Anfwer,
afk any Queftions, but to the particular Offices he had taken Notice of thofe Offices. This Cafe
mentioned in the Articles •, this is a Piece of is ftronger, becaufe the Offices now defired to
Dexterity to elude that Refolution. be examined into, are neither in the Articles

Mr. Lutwycbe. My lords, I fubmit it to your nor Anfwer, nor hath any Evidence been given
lordfhips, Whether this Attempt is not directly to them ; and therefore we hope he (hall not be
the fame as that which was over- ruled Yefter- let into this Examination.

day. If the Witnefs is to give an Account whe- Mr. Com. Serj. We humbly hope your
ther the Price of the Curfitor's Office, or other lordfhips will permit us to enouire whether
Offices have rifen, they muff, then fhew that the Bufinefs of thofe Offices in 'the Court of
they were fold ; which is the very Queftion Chancery is not greatly increafed, and whether
your lordfhips determined they fhould not ask the Value of the Offices be not increafed with
to. it ?

Mr. Serj. Trobyn. My Lords, We were then M . Serj. Prolyn. Notwithstanding your lord-

directed by your lordfhips not to prove any fhips Direction in the former Queftion, we fub-

money was paid to the Great Seal for any mit whether we may not be permitted to ask
other Offices, but thofe particularly mentioned this Queftion, Whether the Offices in the

in the Articles. We don't pretend now to ask Court of Chancery are not increafed in Va-
as to the Payment of money to the Great Seal, lue much beyond what they were Seven Years

but only whether Offices in General have not ago?
much advanced in their Prices? Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, That is the very

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, It is extraor- Queftion that we object to.

dinary Ufage to tell us of Offices in General; E. of Macclesfield. What I before offered was,

there are private Offices, there are Offices in that there had been a Ufage to make Prefents

other Courts in Wefiminfter-Hall. We apprehend to the Great Seal ; I apprehend your lord-

your lordfhips Determination is fo ftrong fhips over-ruled it as to the Curfitors Office,

againft what is now attempted, that they becaufe there was no need of an Excufe as to

would not urge it, unlefs they thought that that Office, as there is no mention made of it

the managers had forgot every Thing that in the Articles, nor any Proof offered againft

happened. me. This is not of any Payment to the Great

Mr. Com. Serj. My lords, The Queftion we Seal, but goes by way of Excufe as to the

ask is, as to Employments in General, Offices Sums, to fhew the increafe or Difference of the

in the Lav/, or any other Offices; we defire Prices of Offices in General. It is notorious

to inform your lordfhips in General, that the that money now carries a lefs Intereft, and that

Value of all Employments, not of the Lawonly, the Price of all Offices is increafed. I don't

hath rifen. know whether the Gentlemen will deny it. If

E. of Macclesfield. I will inform your lord- they do not, I will not trouble your lordfhips

Ihips how the matter is. I believe this Gentle- any farther about it.

man is not intended to be asked what Offices Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We have no Occafion ei-

belonging to the Great Seal are Worth, but ther to confefs or deny any thing that is not

what Difference there is in the Value of other before your lordfhips in Judgment. Therefore,

Offices, to what they were heretofore; parti- if they expect any Anfwer, we give this, That

cularly how the Prices of the Seats in the Six it is not before your lordfhips in Judgment.

Clerks Office are increafed; that they were Mr.
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Mr. Lutwyche. I apprehend the Reafon of

your lordfhips Refolution Yefterday, was, That
there was no Charge in the Articles concerning

thofe Offices ; the fame Reafon equally holds to

what they are asking now in relation to Clerks in

Chancery.

Mr. Plummer. My lords, I fhould be extreme

lorry to make any Objection to any Evidence

that is material : But, if he is pleafed to exa-

mine this Gentleman how far by the Increafe of

Bufinefs the Value of any Office is rifen, that

muft be of the Annual legal Value, and not

according to the liberties he left to his Ma-
ilers.

Mr. Serj. Prohyn. I defire he may be asked,

Whether he doth not know that the Prices of

Offices are greater now than they were for-

merly?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My lords, we don't under-

ftand they have any fuch Permiffion to ask that

Queftion. To repeat the fame Thing over and

over again, we apprehend they think we are

afleep.

E. of Macclesfield. Your lordfhips feem not to

be of Opinion that this Queftion fhould be asked ;

therefore to fave your lordfhips time, I will wave

the Queftion.

Mr. Goldejbrough fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We will proceed in the

next Place, in Confirmation of that Part of

the Anfwer to this Article, That two Sums of

money , mentioned to be paid to my lord

Macclesfield by Mr. Kynafton and Mr. Bennet,

were both paid bajck into the Court of Chan-

cery. We defire Mr. Goldejbrough may be asked,

Whether he knows of the two Sums of 1500
Guineas, and 1500 Guineas, that were paid by

my lord Macclesfield into the Court of Chan-

cery.

Lord Lechmere. My lords, I beg pardon.

I think the Queftion that the noble Earl hath

waved, if I miftook not, was about the Rife

and Increafe of Value of the Offices in Chan-

cery. Now, notwithftanding the noble lord

hath waved it, yet it may be proper for your

lordfhips Confideration, whether he fhould not

have liberty to ask it, if he thinks fit.

E. of Strafford. I think what the noble lord

hath faid is confiderable, and it may be proper

for our Judgment.
Ld. Vif. Town/end. I move that they may

withdraw.

Ld. Lechmere. It may be proper to have

the Queftion repeated again. I therefore defire

that the Counfel for the Earl would repeat the

Queftion again that they would have asked of

Mr. Steele.

Mr. Serj. Prohyn. My lords, The Queftion

is, Whether the Price of Offices in the Court of
Chancery, and in the Six Clerks Office, parti-

cularly, are increafed now more than antiently

they were.

Thereupon the Managers and Counfel

withdrew, and being returned.

Lord ChiefJufl. King. Mr. Serjeant Probyn, the

Lords have confidered the Queftion on which
you withdrew. Their lordfhips are of Opi-
nion, That you are at liberty to ask the Quefti-

on, Whether the Price of Offices in the Court
of Chancery, and in the Six Clerks Office par-

Earl of Macclesfield, 10 G. I.

ticularly, be increafed now more than heretofore
they were?

Mr. Steele. My lords, I came to be a Clerk
in the Chancery Office in the Year 1687. I

ferved my Clerk fhip in the Office -, and in that

Year, and for feveral Years afterwards, I know
that waiting Clerks Places were bought at

50 Guineas, or lefs, and after I was out of my
Clerkfhip, I was offered a waiting Clerk's Place
in the Office for 50 Guineas. They are not
fworn, nor have Power to take a Clerk ; and
fince that Time I have known them fold for

3, 4, and 500/. My mafter was a fworn
Clerk, and he fold his fworn Clerk's Place for

230/. It was a Clerk at the Seat ; and by the

Cuftom of the Office, he that hath one Clerk
cannot take another till the firft Clerk be pro-

vided for ; but I having a Propofal to go into

a Seat of greater Bufinefs, that induced me to

give a Note to the Gentleman that bought the

Seat, that I would not be an Incumbrance on
the Seat, otherwife he would not have given fo

much. Since that Time I have known a fworn

Clerk's Place fold for 800/. Particularly I trans-

acted a Sale upon a Brother-in-Law's Account;
I contracted for 500/. and then there was a
Clerk upon the Seat that had not ferved half his

Clerkfhip out.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. What Sum of money had
they upon taking a Clerk at that Time, and
what now ?

Mr. Steele. I did treat in order to put my Brc-

ther-in-Law Clerk to one Mr. Athnfon, in the

Office.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. What Time was that ?

Mr. Steele. To the beft of my Remembrance
it was in 1703, or 1704, and he had 100 Gui*
neas. Since that Time my Brother- in-Law,

while he was there, had 300/. or 300 Guineas
with a Clerk.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may explain to your
lordfhips what he means by a Ckrk being an
Incumbrance to a Seat?

Mr. Steele. By the Cuftom of the Office, he
that is put a Clerk, muft be provided for before

his mafter can take another. The mafter fo

taking him, cannot take another Clerk, till he is

provided for by a fworn Clerk's Place, or a wait-

ing Clerk's Place.

Mr. Lutwyche. If the Counfel have done, I de-

fire to ask one Queftion, that is, The Gentleman
fays, he came into the Office in the Year 1687.

I defire to know how many Clerks there were at

that Time?
Mr. Steele. There were at that Time but

60 fworn Clerks ; there was an Addition

made, to the beft of my remembrance, in my
lord Jejferys's Time; Sir John Trevor was then

mafter of the Rolls, I think there was an Ad-
dition of thirty.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire to know whether they

are not reduced from 90 to 60 again ?

Mr. Steele. They are not at prefent yet re-

duced.

Mr. Lutwyche. Whether they are not intended

to be reduced ?

Mr. Steele. If any one dies without fur-

rendring his Office, they don't fill up the Place

of that Perfon with another ; but any one may
furrender.

Mr. Lutwyche. How many are there now?
Mr. Steele. I have been told there are about

12 or 13 lefs than 90: They are to be re-

duced
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duced from 90 till they come to the ancient confiderable Profit ; and to make up that to
Number of 60 -, and they are reduced as they them, the Fees of the fmall Writs were <*iven

die without furrendnng.

Mr. Lutwyche. We don't expect you to give

an exact Account ; How many may there be ?

Mr. Steele. I can't take upon me to fay how
many ; but, as I have been informed, I believe

there are about 16 or 17 above the 60 remain-

ing : I may be miftaken, I am not certain ;

but there are feveral Gentlemen here, who can

give an exact Account.

Mr. Lulwyche. I defire to know whether the

to them, and the Term Fees ; but in my Appre-
henfion, the Tenour Bill was a greater Advan-
tage than thofe Fees that have been given in
Lieu of it.

Mr. Common Serj. That worthy Gentleman's
Queftion hath occafioned me to defire, that he
would inform your lordfhips, Whether, upon
the whole of the Aft, the Six Clerks Offices

are better or worfe ?

Mr. Steele. In my Opinion, they were bet-

Offices are not a great deal better, by there be- ter before the Act, than they are now,

ing fewer of them ? Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we have more
Mr. Steele. Certainly, I believe that is pretty WitnefTes to this purpofe ; but we apprehend

natural ; the fewer the Offices are the better •, that Mr. Steele hath fpoken fo fully ,to it, that

but the Offices are not fo good as they were we mail not trouble your lordfhips with any
when I came Clerk. They have reduced feve- others, as to this Matter. The next Witnefs

ral Profits belonging to them fince I came out which we fhall beg leave to call, is in relati-

of the Office, by the Act of Parliament made on to the two Sums of 1575 /. that were paid

For the Amendment of the Law. into the Court of Chancery by the Noble Earl,

Mr. Lutwyche. You fay they are fold for for which we did call Mr. Goldejbrough.

more than formerly they fold for ; I defire to

know whether fome of thofe Clerks, whofe

PredecefTors have had good Bufinefs belonging

to the Office, have not made that Seat fell

better ?

Mr. Steele. Certainly it doth •, if the Per-

fon furrendring had good Bufinefs, that Seat

will fell for more than a Seat of lefs Bufinefs.

Mr. Common Serj. I defire that he will inform

Dr. Sayer. Before your lordfhips enter into

an Examination of this Fact, I will only beg
leave to take Notir- as to the Time of this

Repayment : The learned Managers were
right in their Obfervations, That it was after

the Vote for the Impeachment •, but it was be-

fore the Articles were exhibited. This is mi-

ftaken in the Anfwer, but I am fure the Ho-
nourable Houfe of Commons will be fo candid

your Lordfhips, when it was in point of Time as to think it was a Miftake only, and that 'tis

that thefe Offices fold at fo low a Rate ? impoffible it could be with any View of de-

Mr. Steele. It was in the Year 1694 that ceiving the World, fince both Facts were upon

the Gentleman to whom I was Clerk furren- Record ; the Earl was fo very impatient to

dered his Seat. have his Anfwer in, that no Delay might be

Mr. Common Serj. And when was it you knew charged upon him, that I aflure your Lordfhips

50 Guineas paid for the Place of a waiting the Anfwer was not fettled till 3 or 4 a Clock

Clerk ?

Mr. Steele. The 50 Guineas I fpeak of for a

Waiting Clerk's Place, was in the Year 87, or

thereabouts.

Mr. Common Serj. Whether was that before

the Increafe of the additional Number of

Clerks ?

Mr. Steele. Much about the Time that the

Additional Number oi Clerks was added.

Mr. Common Serj. I defire he would inform

your Lordfhips, whether the Prices began to

rife before any Reduction was made ?

Mr. Steele. Yes, before the reducing of them.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. When was the R.edudion

of them made ?

Mr. Steele. I can't tell the exact Time.

There was an Order made, that they fhould

not be filled up as they died without Surrender,

in the Morning of that Day that it was de-

livered in. In fuch a Hurry, a Miftake of this

Nature, I hope will not be taken amifs, nor

be looked upon by the Houfe as defigned.

My Lords, I thought it my Duty to obferve

this, before your Lordihips entred into this Ex-

amination.

Mr. Goldejbrough called*

Mr. Common Serj. There are two Sums of

Money taken Notice of to be given by Mr.

Kynajion and Mr. Bennet to my Lord Macclesfield,

I defire you would inform my Lords, whether

thofe two Sums were paid back again, and

when, and in what Manner?
Mr. Goldesbrough. My Lords, the 23d of Fe-

bruary hft my Lord Macclesfield came into Court,

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked, and depofited in Bank Notes and Money to

Whether there was not a Difference of Price be- the Value of 3000 Guineas. The Lords Com-

tween thofe Seats which were full or empty of miffioners were pleafed to direct the inverting^

it in South-Sea Annuities, in the Names of

Mr. Holford and Mr. Lovibond, the two Senior

Mafters of the Court, for the Benefit of the

Suitors of the Court.

Mr. Common Serj. I think, my Lords, we

need not afk whether Mr. Goldesbrough be the

Bufinefs, or whether they were all at a. Par ?

Mr. Steele. The Price always varied, as

there was much or little Bufinefs.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. But every Seat, whether

great or lefs, had a Rife in Proportion ?

Mr. Steele. Yes.

Mr. Cary. I defire he may be afked, Whe- proper Officer ?

ther there hath not been an Act of Parliament Lords. No, no.
#

fince the Time he mentions, which hath been Mr. Common Serj. I would with Submifiion

Beneficial to the 60 Clerks ? afk another Queftion ofMr. Goldesbrough ; I would

Mr. Steele. There was an Act of Parlia- beg leave to inform your Lordfhips what the

ment, called, An Acl for the Amendment of the Queftion is. There hath been an Examination

Law ; by which the Go Clerks had the Term on the Part of the Gentlemen of the Houfe of

Fees inftead of the Tenour Bill, which was a Commons into the Nature of thefe Offices,

Vol. VI. 6 I »nd
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and I hope it will not be improper, Mr. Goldes-

brough being now at your Lordfhip's Bar, to afk

him as to the manner of the money coming in-

to the matters Hands, whether it be by Com-
pulfion, or at the Inftance of the Parties.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. This mult appear by the

Order. No money is paid in but by Order.

Mr. Corn. Serj. The Orders are infinite, but

Mr. Goldesbrough being the Regifter, may be pro-

perly afked, what the Practice and Ufage of

the Court is in this Inftance. It is ufual to afk

the Officers of the Court, what the Practice

and Ufage of the Court is. If we fhould pro-

The Trial of Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, io G. i

Mr. Lutwycbe. Was it always fo ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. It hath been fo ever fince.

Mr. Lutwycbe. Ever fince what time ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. Ever fince the Time that
Mr. 'Trevor gave Security.

Mr. Lutwycbe.' What I would know is, Whe-
ther the Orders and Directions at firft were not
in general, to pay the whole money into Court ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. No, my Lords.
Mr. Lutwycbe. How was it ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. On all Orders interlocutor*
before Hearing, it was paid in to the Ufher :

On all Orders for money, fubfequent to the

duce 20 Orders, they might object that others Hearing, it was brought before the matter.

are not fo-, and therefore I beg Mr. GoIdesbrough, E. of Macclesfield. This Queftion hath been
the proper Officer, may inform Your Lordfhips, afked Mr. Goldesbrough, with relation to the pay*

what the Practice of the Court is. ing of money into Court, and being brought be-

Mr. Goldesbrough. Upon Decrees, when Cau- fore a maffer, I defire he would inform Your
fes are heard, the Counlel pray what Decree is Lordfhips what the difference between them is ?

proper : Where Eftates are to be fold, they Mr. Goldesbrough. Money brought into Court*

order the money to be brought before the is money brought in before Hearing, and is

mafter. fubject to the Order of the Court, to be paid

Mr. Lutwycbe. My Lords, I defire to afk one out either before the Hearing, or after, as the

Queftion ; Mr. Goldesbrough is a very experien- Nature of the Cafe requires. Money brought

ced Officer of the Court, hath been a good in after Hearing, is money to be put out on
while in the Place, and probably may give Security, and is brought before the mafter.

Your, Lordfhips fome light into this matter.

The Queftion I would afk, is, When he firft

knew the Office, whether it was ufual to direct

the money to the mafters, in the manner it

hath of late been directed ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. I can't fay it was.

Mr. Lutwycbe. The next Queftion is, When
the prefent Ufher of the Rolls had given Secu-

rity, whether there were not fome Orders made

by the late Lord Chancellor, as well as by the

mafters of the Rolls, for Payment of money

to the Ufher of the Rolls ; that is, into Court ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. Yes, there was.

Mr. Lutwycbe. I defire him to explain the

Difference between paying the money into

Court, and paying the money to a mafter.

What is underftood by paying it into Court ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. Paying it into Court, is

paying it to the Ufher.

Mr. Lutwycbe. I defire to know, whether

there were not fome Orders made, after Mr.
Trevor the prefent Ufher had given Security, for

Payment of money to him ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. Yes, there were.

Mr. Lutwycbe. I defire to know, how foon

after thofe Orders were varied ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. I can't remember when the

Orders were varied ; as to thofe made before

Hearing, and for continuance of an Injunction,

I don't know they are altered yet.

Mr. Lutwycbe. What I afk is, Whether he

had any Directions touching the varying of

Orders, for the Payment of money ; any Di-

E. of Macclesfield. Whether when money is

ordered to be brought in to be difpofed of, as

upon a Purchafe, or upon a Decree, to pay
Debts, &c. The Courfe of the Court in all

his Time hath been to bring it into Court, or

before a mafter ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. I can't fay it hath been fo

in all my Time : Since the Revolution it hath
been generally brought in before the mafter,

before it was brought into Court.

E. of Macclesfield. Have the Orders made by
me, fince the Ufher gave Security, been made
in the fame manner as thofe by my PredecefTors ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. Yes, They have been the

very fame.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know, when
firft the money paid into the Hands of the

Ufher went into another Courfe, that is, upon
the Ufher's Death, or not giving Security ; and
what method was taken then ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. I believe, after the Revolu-
tion, there was looked upon to be a Defect in

the Security of the Ufher, and it was upon that

Confideration, that the money was ordered

before the mafter.

E. of Macclesfield. And afterwards was there

not an Alteration made of all the money that

ufed to be paid to the Ufher ? Was it not or-

dered to be brought before the junior mafters?

Mr. Goldesbrough. In my Lord Cowper's Time,
when there was a Difference between the U-
fher and his Deputy, my Lord Cowper, upon

that, did order the money to be brought, and

reef ion, I mean, from my Lord Macclesfield, to lodged in the two junior mafters Hands. They
vary the Order ?

Mr. Goldesbrough. Money paid before Hear-

ing, was paid into Court ; money paid upon
the Decree, was brought before the mafter. I

had no Direction from my Lord Macclesfield to

vary the Order

were each to keep a Key, and the Ufher ano-

ther : When any money was paid, it was

paid out of the Cheft, kept under thofe Keys

;

and the money that was paid in, was paid in

there.

E. of Macclesfield. Was not the money that

Mr. Lutwycbe. Was there any Variation or ufed to be paid in to the Ufher's Hands, directed

Difference in drawing up the Order, for fome in to the junior mafters Hands ?

time after the Ufher gave Security, from what Mr. Goldesbrough. It was fo.

it was fome time before ? E. of Macclesfield. As to the money appoint-

Mr. Goldesbrough. Upon interlocutory mo- ed to be difpofed of, for payment of Debts, or

tions, the money was brought before the U- otherwife, how was that paid ? Was that put

flier, and fo it hath been ever fince. into the Cheft, or into the Hands of the re-

fpective mafters, to whom it was referred ?
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Mr. Goldejhrough. I think it was put into the

Cheft ; there was then no Difference at all.

E. of Macclesfield. Had no other mailers then

any money brought before them ? was all brought

before the junior mailers?

for High Crimes and Mi/demeanors, 657
Mr. Thurjlon was admitted into this Office, upon
the Payment of 5000 Guineas, another Gentleman
offered 6000 /. Mr. Cottingham proved the fame
as to Mr. Elde. This we do to fhew, that his
Lordlhip was not that avaricious Perfon, as he

Mr. Goldejbrough. The general Order was, for hath been reprefented ; he refufed 6ooo7. and
the money to be brought before the junior mailers

to be kept in a Cheft there.

E. of Macclesfield. Mr. Goldejbrough miilakes

the Queilion. I don't alls: how the money
was ufually brought ; but had no other mailer

money brought before him in my Lord Cowper's

Time?
Mr. Goldejbrough. Yes, My Lords.

E. of Macclesfield. What money was that? Up-
on what Occafion?

Mr. Goldejbrough. The bringing the money to

the two junior mailers, was found to be incon-

venient ; whereupon, after that it was altered,

and the money was brought before the mailers,

to whom the Reference was in Court.

E. of Macclesfield. Whether the money that

was paid in to the two junior mailers, was not

fuch money as was before ordered to be paid into

Court ?

Mr. Goldejbrough. Yes.

took lefs from another,

may be called.

We defire Mr. Ellis

Mr. Ellis fvvorn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire Mr. Ellis may be
aiked, what he knows of any Sum of money that
was offered for the Mailerfhip in Chancery, to
which Mr. Thurjlon was admitted, and what that
Sum was ?

Mr. Ellis. Upon the Death of Mr. Borret,

Mr. Richard Lucas came to me at my Lord Mac-
clesfield's, and told me, That his Brother defired

to have the Place of a Matter in Chancery, then
vacant: And he faid, that as I was in my Lord
Macclesfield's Family, I might be of Service to

him, in conveying Mr. Lucas's Propofal to my
Lord. He then told me, what I was to offer my
Lord Macclesfield for that Place ; he faid he was
fo fenfible of my Lord Macclesfield's Honour and

E. of Macclesfield. I defire you would recollect, Generofity, that he would leave it entirely to

whether you was not prefent at a meeting of the his Lordlhip, what he would have in Confidera-

tion of his coming in. But if my Lord Maccles-

field did not approve of a Propofal fo undeter-

mined as that was, I was to offer 6000 /. or

6000 Guineas ; I don't remember which of
thofe two Sums, but one of them I am certain

it was. I did offer it to my Lord, who told

me Mr. Lucas had been well recommended to

him* and he was fatisfied with his perfonal

Character, and with this Offer. My Lord Mac-
clesfield faid no more ; and I could not prefs his

Mailer of the Rolls, and Uiher, and others ; whe-

ther this was not under Confideration, what mo-

ney ihould be paid into Court, and what mould
be brought before the mailer ?

Mr. Goldefbrough. Yes.

E. of Macclesfield. Whether you was not then

aiked, whether money directed after a Caufe is

heard, to be difpofed of, was not brought before

a mailer ?

Mr. Goldejbrough. Yes, I was aiked that queilion.

as now,

E. of Macclesfield. What Account did you give Lordlhip to explain himfelf any further. I re-

turned that Anfwer to Mr. Lucas, and heard

nothing further of that matter, till my Lord
Macclesfield had declared that Mr. Thurjlon ihould

have it.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be aiked, whe-

of the Courfe of the Court in that Particular ?

Mr. Goldejbrough. I gave the fame

That the latter Practice had been to

before the mailer, to whom the Caufe

ferred.

bring

was

it

re-

E. of Macclesfield. Do you remember, whether ther the Gentleman that applied to him, was not

the Ufher was not aiked, whether he had any

Precedents of money, paid into his Hands, to be

diilributed amongii Legatees, or Creditors, and

what the Anfwer was ?

Mr. Goldejbrough. He faid he had none.

E. of Macclesfield. Do you apprehend the

Courfe of the Court to be, that money brought

in before Hearing, is to be paid in to the Uiher,

and money after Hearing, to be brought in be-

fore the mailer ?

Mr. Goldejbrough. Yes, I do.

E. of Strafford. I defire he would inform your

his Friend and Acquaintance ?

Mr. Ellis. Mr. Richard Lucas was my Acquain-

tance ; when he defired me to do this, I told him

it was not proper for me to apply about matters

of fuch Nature ; but in Friendship to him, I

would fpeak to my Lord about it.

Mr. Plummer. I don't know whether the coun-

fel have done ; if they have, I defire to afk this

Witnefs what Mr. Richard Lucas is himfelf?

Mr. Ellis. He is a Clergyman.

Mr. Plummer. I defire to afk him, If Mr.
Richard Lucas did not, at the fame Time that he

Lordihips, what the Security is, and how much, propofed the 6000/. lay fome Reilri&ion^or Con

that is given by the Ufher ; and whether it is

the fame now, as it was before my Lord Cowper

made that Alteration ?

Mr. Goldejbrough. I can't fay any thing as to

that, I know nothing of it, it doth not lie in my
Province.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Your Lordihips will pleafe

to remember, in the Cafe of Mr. Elde, though

he paid 5250 /. all the money was returned,

except 1850 /. So the fame as to Mr. Thurjlon,

5250 /. that all was returned in a reafonable

Time, except 2000 /. fo that to thefe Facts, we

dition, upon which he was to pay it. Plad not

you fuch Inflructions ?

Mr. Ellis. No, I don't remember he did any.

Mr. Plummer. Then I defire to afk you, If he

did not fay, Provided Mr. Borret's Deficiency was

made good ?

Mr. Ellis. He mentioned no fuch Condition to

me; he did fpeak of Mr. Barrel's Deficiency; I

told him I had heard there would be no Defici-

ency there. Upon which he faid, he had beenraif-

fured there would be none, by a Genrleman known

to us both; but however that be, fays he, ivy

fliall not tro'uble your Lordihips with any Wit-, Brother is willing to enter into a Treaty with my
neffes. But now we fhall beg leave to lay be-' Lord Macclesfield upon thofe Terms.

fore your Lordihips another Evidence, that when ^ r *
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Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we fhall trouble

your Lordfhips no further upon thefe Articles we

have been upon, the other Gentlemen will anfwer

what is to follow.

Mr. Robins.May it pleafe your Lordfhips, I

am likewife by your Lordfhips Permiffion affigned

of Counfel with the noble Earl, who has the mif-

fortune to lie under the Weight of fo heavy a

Charge, as an impeachment of the whole Body of

the Commons of Great Britain; and fhall beg

leave to open to your Lordfhips the Nature of

his Defence, and the Strength of his Evidence,

with regard to the Eleventh and Twelfth Articles

of this impeachment.

I am fenfible, my Lords, that the Solemnity

of this Profecution, from the Weight and Num-
ber of thofe, who are become the Accufers of

this noble Earl, and the awful Appearance and

Wifdom of thofe who are to be his Judges, and

the Name of an impeachment in Parliament, may
feem to carry an Argument of greater Crimes

and greater Guilt, than are to be met with in the

ordinary Courts of Juftice below.

But, my Lords, with the greateft Submiffion,

if the Solemnity of the Proceedings on this Oc-

cafion has not altered the Nature of Things, and

imprinted a'Guilt where there is noGuile,we hum-

bly hope we fhall be able to lay before your Lord-

fhips fome few Obfervations and Circumftances of

Evidence, that will, at leaft, extenuate, if not

wholly abate and take out the Sting and malig-

nity of the feveral Crimes, whereof this noble

Earl ftands accufed.

Your Lordfhips, without Queftion, will have

long fince obferved, That the Loffes and Suffer-

ings of Widows, of Orphans, and others, who,

from the Diftrefs and Impotence of their Con-

dition to help or defend themfelves, have fled

to the Court of Chancery, when this noble

Earl prefided there, for Sanctuary and Pro-

tection ; that thefe have been juftly made ufe of

as the greateft Aggravations of the Crimes, where-

with he is charged, and they have been difplayed

with the utmoft Force of Eloquence, and in the

mod moving Strains of Commiferation and Pity.

And I believe, my Lords, every one that heard

them have fhared and gone along with the Ho-
nourable Managers for the Houfe of Commons,

in the Concern and Indignation they have fo juftly

fhewn towards thofe, who have been the Authors

and Contrivers of them.

Thefe, my Lords, are Subjects, wherein the

richeft Fancy may almoft lofe it felf, and the poor-

eft can never be at a Lofs for fomething to offer

to move and affect the Paffions of mankind.

And the learned managers for the Honourable
Houfe of Commons, have adorned and fet off

their Charge againft the noble Earl on this Head,
with fo many Beauties of Expreffion, and fo great

a Propriety and Choice of Language, to engage

and win over all the Paffions of Humane Na-
ture to their Side, that it will be difficult, if not

impoffible, for Us, who may feem to have un-

dertaken an Argument leading to difprove and

reafon againft the Force and Truth of all thefe,

to hope for Succefs, but by fhewing to your

Lordfhips, that the noble Earl entirely joins with

the learned managers in their juft Refentment

and Concern on this Occafion, that he is deeply

affected with the loffes, the Depredations and the

Havock, which has been made of the Fortunes

of the unhappy Suitors of the Court of Chancery.

That he has long been endeavouring to put a

Stop to them, that at one Time he has contri-
buted his Reafon, his Judgment, and his Under-
danding, to find out effectual methods for the
Cure of them ; at other Times has made Ufe of
his Power, his Authority and that Majctty
wherewith, as Lord Chancellor, he feems to be
inverted, to enforce and haften the compleating
of them.

That he has convened the matters, the Remi-
tters, and the feveral Officers belonging to his
Court, to confult, advife and affift, in finding
out means to ftop the growing Evil ; that he
has affifted with his Purfe, has advanced eonfi-
derable Sums of money of his own, and when
Nothing would do, when the mifchief appeared
too big for his fingle Endeavours to oppofe, that
he then at laft prefumed humbly to lay the whole
before his Majefty in Council, as well for his
Majefty's Affiftance and Direction, as to teftify

how much he had at Heart the finding out a Re-
medy for the Cure of thofe overgrown Difeafes,
this Epidemical Contagion, which was fpreadin^
through e^ery Part of the Court where he pre^
fided, and feemed to threaten Deftruction and
Ruin to the whole.

Thefe, my Lords, we humbly hope will prove
the noble Earl not to have been an idle and un-
concerned Spectator at the Tragedy that was act-
ing around him ; that he faw and felt the Com-
motions it had raifed, and was fully determined
to put an End to them as fpeedily and effectually
as he could.

But when, my Lords, a Stop was put immedi-
ately to his Endeavours •, when he was difarmed
almoft in the very Beginning of his Onfet, and
when the great Seal, and therewith his Power to
proceed further, was taken from him, your Lord-
Ihips will not impute it to him, that he was forced
to fit ftill, and leave it to others to effect what
he had, fo profperoufly and happily, begun.

Your Lordfhips, without queftion, will have
already obferved, That thefe fatal mifchiefs did
not fpring up all at once, That they had long
been growing, That the Seeds of them had lain

buried and concealed for a confiderable Time,
and, That they hardly appeared at all, till they
were grown too ftubborn and obdurate, to yield to

an eafy Cure.

Your Lordfhips will likewife, no doubt, have
obferved, that however in the ftricteft way of
confidering Things, the Chancellor may poffi- •

bly be thought to be anfwerable for them
; yet,

that they did not originally proceed from him,
that he had not the immediate Cuftody or Order-
ing of the Suitors money or effects.

That the Matters in Chancery, who are no
lefs than Eleven in Number, by the Conftitution

of the Court, and the Nature of their Office,

were neceffarily to be entrulted with that Part of
the Bufinefs thereof.

And when your Lordfhips fhall likewife be
pleafed to obferve further, That enough, and
more than enough for the ftrongeft Conftitution

of Body, and the greateft Abilities both of
Mind and Underftanding, remained ftill for

the Chancellor's own Share, in the Difpatch of
the daily and neceffary Bufinefs of the Court
where he prefided, the innumerable Avoca-
tions, by his Attendances on your Lordfhips, on
His Majefty, and the Council, and other Ser-

vices, which the Duty of his High Station re-

quired from him ; Your Lordfhips, no doubt,

will
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will eafily reflect, that he had but little leifure,

fuddenly, and immediately to go through fo ar-

duous, fo difficult, and fo tedious an Undertak-

ing, as the ftating and fettling of the matters Ac-

counts, for no lefs than almoft a million of money,

which has now appeared to be in their Hands.

And, your Lordfhips, we are perfuaded, are no

flrangers to the many and almoft infuperable Dif-

ficulties which even at laft have attended the Pro-

fecution of that Affair, the great length of Time
it has taken up, the number and variety of meet-

ings and Confultations with Perfons of the greateft

659
further Purfuit of them, that this will be a Con-
fideration of the greateft Weight with your Lord-
fhips in determining the Fate of this noble Earl,
and that he will not be made Criminal for leav-
ing it unfinifh'd, when his Power of proceeding-
further therein, was fuddenly and unexpectedly
taken from him.

My Lords, your Lordfhips very well know
that the Bufinefs not only of the Court of Chan-
cery, but of all the other Courts of Weftmlnfier-
Hall, and even of your Lordfhips Supreme Court
of Judicature, is, and muft neceffarily be diftri-

Abilities and Experience, to go to the bottom of buted and difpofed of into variety of Hands, that

, and whether even yet they have been able ful-

ly to effect it, or have fixed on fuch methods of

Enquiries as have laid open the whole Scene, or

will certainly prevent the like mifchiefs for the

time to come; thefe, my Lords, we humbly ap-

prehend, are Confiderations that will not be

thought altogether unworthy of your Lordfhips

Notice, in determining the Guilt or Innocence of

this noble Earl, of the Crimes laid to his Charge.

It muft indeed be admitted that they have for

the prefent, taken away the money, Effects, and

Securities of the Suitors out of the matters Hands,

and fo have prevented any lofs for the time to

come on their Part.

But whether, my Lords, they are even yet

fome are afflgned to one Province, fome to ano-
ther, and all ofthem concurring to the fame End,
the carrying on the Bufinefs of the refpective

Courts to which they belong.

And, my Lords, the Officers and Minifters of
each of thefe Courts of Juftice, On their being ad-

mitted thereto, give each of them the Security of
an Oath, or fome perfonal Security for the due
and faithful difcharge and execution of their Duty,

whilft they continue in their Offices,

Now, my Lords, what can be the End of re-

quiring and retting on thefe Securities, but to

relieve and eafe the minds of their Superiors from

the neceffity of prying and examining daily into

their Behaviour and Conduct, to the hindrance

difpofed of in fuch manner as fully to anfwer the and neglect of their own greater and more imme-
Ends propofed, whether the Eafe and Conveni- diate Duty ?

ence of the Suitors of the Court will appear to be

more effectually provided for, than they were be-

fore, by the methods that have now been taken

to difpofe of their money and fecurities ; thefe,

my Lords, I am afraid are Queftions more eafily

afked, than anfwered.

But, my Lords, all I would be underftood to

mean by this, is, and I mean nothing more by

it, than that the fettling and adjufting of the mi-
llers Accounts for fuch great Sums of money,

The Officer is at the Peril of his Oath, or the

Security he has given, nay, even at the Peril of

the Office itfelf, to difcharge his Duty as he

ought, .and juftly forfeits his Office by a neglect

or breach of any part of his Duty therein •, and
if one or two of them fhould have no regard to all

or any of thefe Ties, muft the ten Righteous

that are left, nay, muft the Chancellor himfelf

be punifhed for their Sakes?

But, my Lords, Matters in Chancery are gene-

placed and difpofed of in fuch variety of Hands, rally, if not always, chofen from the Profeffion

fo difficult to be throughly confidered or under- of the law, and the manner of their Education

flood ; and fo little to be depended on if they and the nature of their Studies are juftly fuppofed

were underftood ; that this, my Lords, was rather

the work of Perfons at full leifure, of Perfons

converfint in the Nature and manner of Accounts,

that it was the work of variety of Perfons of diffe-

rent Capacities and Abilities, and fo the taking

of thefe Accounts lately has abundantly verified

and proved them to be.

And then, my Lords, we humbly hope that

the fingle Endeavours of a Chancellor to the fime

end, by being unfuccefsful, will not be made cri-

minal, and that he will not be obliged under the

pain of an Impeachment in Parliament, to do
what, with the greateft Submiffion, has never

yet been attempted, or if attempted, has met

with the fame ill Succefs with the Endeavours of

the prefent Earl, and could never hitherto be

compleatly or perfectly effected.

But, my Lords, with great Submiffion, if the

ftating and fettling of thefe Accounts, on a juft

and lading Foundation, fhould be admitted to

be the Duty and Office of a Lord Chancellor,

and that be is bound under Pain of an Impeach-

ment to take care of them, yet as this is a Work of

the greateft Moment, Judgment, and Confedera-

tion, and muft unavoidably take up a very great

portion of Time, and put a total Stop and Ob-
struction for the prefentsto ail the other Branches

of his high Office, we humbly hope, my Lords,

that his being cut off in the miclft of his Endea-

vours of that kind, and thereby prevented from

Vot. VI.

to fet them above the Temptation of mean, of

bafe, or little and unjuft Actions.

Many of that Profeffion your Lordfhips will

permit me to obferve, do now, and have in all

Ages, worthily adorned even the auguft Body

of the Houfe of Peers, and have been advanced

to the higheft Dignities in the State.

And, then, my Lords, I humbly hope 'twill

not be thought an Obfervation altogether impro-

per, that when one of this liberal Education, when

one brought up in the ftudy and practice of a Pro-

feffion, whofe very Principles confift in the

knowledge of Virtue and Honour, of the Rules

of Juftice and Equity, and all the Accomplifh-

ments which can adorn Life, or make him ufe-

ful to his King and Country ; I fay, my Lords, I

humbly hope 'twill not be improper to obferve*

that when fuch a one applies for an Office in the

Civil Government, which he is in any Degree

qualified for, 'tis no wonder that he fhould meet

with a more favourable Reception than other Per-

fons, who perhaps may have nothing but their

Eftates or Fortunes to recommend them.

The very Profeffion of fuch a one is, my
Lords, almoft a fufficient Security and Recom-

mendation of itfelf, and immediately induces a

Perfusion and Belief, that they will do nothing

to forfeit their Honour, their Reputation, or that

Credit and Efteem, which they fo juftly do and

ought to Regard and Value.

6 K But
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But when, my Lords, 'tis remembred that the

additional Security and Sanction of an Oath is

iikewife required from them, when they invoke

the Majefty of Heaven to Blefs them as they

perform their Duty, what higher, what greater

or better Security can be taken from them for

the due and faithful Difcharge of their Duty in

the Office they are entring upon ?

The Oaths they take upon that Occafion, your

Lordfhips have already heard, and no doubt will

have obferved, that they differ little from the

Oath, which even the Lord Chancellor himfelf

takes on his being admitted to his own high Office.

And as they fit with him in Judgment on the

Bench, fhare with him in carrying on the molt

important Bufinefs of that Court, which is next

in Dignity to the Supreme Court of Judicature

we are now before, when they are in mofl Cafes

neceffary for the diftributing and dealing out

juftice and Equity, and fixing the Rules and

Bounds of Property to the Suitors there. Can it,

or will it, my Lords, be eafily or readily imagin-

ed, that they ffiould have no Regard to. all

thefe facred Ties of Duty, that they mould pro-

flitute their Honour, their Confcience, and every

Thing that is dear and valuable to them, for the

fake of any worldly or temporal Confideration

whatfoever ?

Thefe, my Lords, we humbly apprehend are

fome of the Reafons, which may be offered, why
no perfonal Security has ever been required from

a Mafter in Chancery, on his Admiffion into

that Office, any more than from the Chancellor

himfelf.

And if this be fo, tho' there could be no need,

Or Occafion for the Chancellor's making any De-

clarations concerning their Ability or Subftance,

yet we humbly hope we mall be able to fhew to

your Lordfhips, that this Declaration, which is

made one of the Articles of an Impeachment
againft this noble Earl, that even this too, was

not without its juft Foundation of Reafon and

Truth.

And this, my Lords, leads me to obferve a

little on the Eleventh Article of this Impeach-

ment.

[Article XI.] My Lords, the Eleventh Article

contains a two-fold Charge againft the Earl ;

Firft, That whilft he continued in the Office of

Lord Chancellor, in order to advance and increafe

the illegal and corrupt Gain anting to himfelf

from the fale and difpofal of the Offices of Mafters

in Chancery, he did admit feveral Perfons to thofe

Offices, who at the time of their Admiffions were

of fmall Subftance and Ability, unfit to be truft-

ed with the great Sums of money and Effects of

the Suitors lodged in their Hands.
The Second Charge againft the Earl in this Ar-

ticle, is, That he did publickly in open Court falfly

reprefent the Perforrs by him admitted to the Of-

fices of Mafters of the Court of Chancery, as Per-

fons of great Fortunes, and in every refpecl qua-

lified for the Truft repofed in them.

Thefe, my Lords, are the two Branches of

this Article againft the Earl, and I would bc-g

leave to obferve upon it in genera], that 'tis not

fo much as charged or infinuated in any part of

it, that the Earl knew or had the leaft Notice of

any infufficiency or inability in the Mafters at

the Time he admitted them to take upon them

that great Truft.

If that had been the Cafe, or could have been

clearly made out, the Commons without doubt

would not have omitted fo material an Aggra-
vation of this part of their' Charge againft the
Earl.

They have indeed proved, that the Earl did
not think fit to take the mafters own Words for
their Abilities and Fortunes, and therefore never
afked them the Queftion.

But, my Lords, we hope we fhall be able to
fhew to your Lordfhips, that the Earl took a
much more proper and effectual method, to be
fatisfied of the Truth of their Circumftances and
Abilities, than by any Appeal he could have
made to themfelves ; that he did not content
himfelf with barely afking the Queftion for the
fake of an Anfwer, which he ought to have had
no regard to, whether true or falie, but that he
weighed, confidered, and judged of the Account
he received of them on his Enquiry from others,

and determined accordingly, whether they were
or were not fit to be placed in an Office of fo
great Truft.

That in Confequence thereof, he abfolutely re-

jected fome, though their Friends offered him a
greater Prefent, or if it muft be called fo, a grea-

ter Price for their Offices than others, for want
of an Eftate or Fortune in Poffeffion of their

own, that might be fome ways adequate to
the great Charge they were going to be entrust-

ed with.

That from the fame Views of Security to the
Suitors of the Court, he refufed to admit others,

from an Apprehenfion that the Sums they offered,

though confiderably greater than were offered
by others, would too much exhauft and leifen.

their own Fortunes, to be able with any Degree
of Eafe or Credit to fupport themfelves, or be
confiftent with the Safety and Security of the
Suitors money and Effects, to be entrusted with
them.

Thefe Inftances, my Lords, we fhall be able
to produce to your Lordfhips ; and when we have
fo done, we hope we fhall need to be in very lit-

tle Pain for the Second Part of this Charge, which
the Earl by his Anfwer has partly admitted to
be true, that is, that he believes he may upon
fome Occafions, have declared, That he thought
the, then, Body of mafters as good, with Re-
fpect both to their Eftates and Ability for the
Difcharge of their Office, as had been at any
time before.

This, my Lords, the Earl owns by his An-
fwer, That he may on fome Occafions have
faid •, and if it were true, where was the Crime
of it? 'Twas indeed more than he needed to have
faid, as no One had Authority to require him
to make any Declaration at all about the

mafters. *

But, my Lords, if he had faid more than he
needed to have faid, and yet his faying was true ;

we hope, my Lords, that will never be imputed
to him as criminal.

Indeed, my Lords, the Honourable Managers
for the Houfe of Commons, both in their Open-
ing, and the Courfe of their Evidence, have tack-

ed to this Declaration a Circumftance arifing from
the Death of Mr. Fellowes, one of the mafters,

which happened juft before this Declaration was
made, from whence they would infer, and one
of them was pleafed to fay, 'Twas a neceffary

Declaration to be made at this Time, to give
i

Notice that the Office was worth buying, or to

that Effect.

Bat I
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But, my Lords, we humbly hope, how inge- thefe great Men, thefe Judges, thefe Matters in

nious foever the Obfervation may be, that it will Chancery, to give Security for the Suitors money
have no Weight with your Lordfhips, if the Truth and effects in their Hands, as if they were not fie

and Nature of the Cafe it felf will fupport the otherwife to be trufted with them.
Declaration that was made upon that Occafion. They are juft before made a fort of petty Chan-

But, my Lords, before I leave this Article, I cellors, equal in Dignity and Power to the
would beg leave to add one Obfervation more Judges themfelves, and fit to be entrufted with the

to what I have already faid upon the firft Part of Difpofal of the Properties and Fortunes of all the

it, concerning the Obligation on the mafters in Suitors of the Court of Chancery, and therefore

Chancery to be faithful in the Difcharge of their their Places muft not be bought or fold ; but here

Duty, from the Honour of their Profeffion, and they are reduced and abafed to the low and fervile

the Nature and Sanftity of the Oath they take on Condition of a common Receiver or Rent-Gathe-
their being admitted mafters.

And, my Lords, I the rather chufe to take

Notice of it, becaufe 'tis an Argument, which

the honourable managers for the Houfe of Com-
mons have themfelves furnifhed us with.

Your Lordfhips werepleafed to obferve, That

rer, and muft give Security for all the Suitors

money or effects that fhall happen to come to

their Hands for fear they fhould run away with
it.

All, my Lords, I fhall prefume to add further

under this Head, is, That though one of the

in the very Beginning of their Evidence, they mafters has indeed frankly owned, That he was
took great Care and Pains to exalt and dignify worfe than nothing when he came into his Place

the Office of Mafters in Chancery as high as of a Mafter in Chancery, yet from another part

poffible, and therefore they read to your lordfhips of his Evidence, he owns, and it fully appears,

feveral Commiffions, and put in others to the Ta- that he groflyabu fed and impofed upon the Earl in

bie, from the Time of Edward the Vlth, down concealing it from him, of which the Earl, when
to this Time, to prove, That the Mafters in he came to have Notice, very juftly complained,

Chancery were joined in Commiflion with the and expreffed his Surprize and Refentment, that

Mafter of the Rolls, and the Judges themfelves, he fhould pretend to come into an Office which

for the hearing and determining of Caufes in he was not able to pay for.

Equity, in the Abfence of the Chancellor.

And 'twas faid by one of the learned mana-
gers in the firft Day's Opening upon that Occa-
fion, That the Mafters in Chancery were next in

Pov/er to the Chancellor himfelf, after the Mafter

of the Rolls.

From which I would humbly prefume to infer,

That if this be fo, if they are Perfons of fuch

Eminence and Worth, and fo nearly related to

Juftice it felf, on their commencing mafters, 'tis

full a higher Obligation on them to be careful in

the Difcharge and Execution of their Office ;

and then, whether thefe Confederations, whether

the Ties of Honour, of Confcience, and of the

Venerable Company they are from thenceforth

joined with, and made equal to ; whether thefe

may not in a great meafure be fuppofed to fuper-

fede that ftri£t Enquiry, which a Lord Chancel-

lor would otherwife think himfelf obliged to

make-, this, my Lords, we humbly hope will not

be thought an Argument altogether foreign to the

prefent Queftion before your Lordfhips, but will,

we hope, at leaft extenuate, if not wholly wipe

And how far the fame Gentleman will in time

to come remember the kind and generous Return

made him by the Earl, of the Fifteen Hundred
Guineas, when he came to find him in Diftrefs

afterwards for want of it : This, my Lords, muft

be left to hisown Confcience, and the Gratitude of

his own Heart ; as muft alio the like Return of

Fifteen Hundred Guineas made to another of the

maftersunder the like Diftrefs and Inability to bear

the Want of it ; Thefe, my Lords, are Inftances

of the greateft Generofity, Honour and Tender-

nefs, Ihadalmoft faid Charity, in the Noble Earl,

that perhaps can be produced in Private Life on

the like Occafions ; however, they have been dif-

figured and difguifed, by the Learning and

Ingenuity of the Honourable Managers tor the

Houfe of Commons.
In the mean time, my Lords, I would beg leave

to obferve, that the ready Paying and Producing

of thefe Sums to the Earl, for their Places at firft,

their not giving him the leaft Notice or Intimation

that it was not their own money, and the Figure

and Appearance they made in the World ; thefe

offany Guilt, that for want of fuch Enquiry might all concurring might eafily miflead the noble Earl

poffiblv be imputed to the Ear] on his Admiffion into a Perfuafion and Belief, that they really were

of Mafters. what they appeared to be; that they were well

But, my Lords, there is one Obfervation fur- able and fufficient to bear the Expenceof it. And

ther, which I cannot let pafs on this Occafion, neither of thefe Two, or of the other mafters have

though 'tis not ftridly to the Article I am now given any Sort of Evidence, that the Earl knew,

or had reafon to entertain the leaft Sufpicion to

the contrary: And if now, at laft of all, the Defi-

ciencies of thefe, and of all the other mafters placed

in by the Earl fhall appear to have been already

upon.

And that is, my Lords, what the fame learned

manager obferved in his Reafoning upon that

Point, That the Offices of Mafters in Chancery

being Offices of fuch great Truft and Dignity, made good, or to be fo far fecured, as to prevent

that no Offices were more improper to be bought any Danger of a Lofs to the Suitorsof the Court,

and fold than they, except thofe of the Judges

themfelves.

This, my Lords, might, and no doubt, was a

very juft and proper Obfervation to be made,

in fupport of the Point they were then endeavour-

ing to maintain.

But, my Lords, it falls out very unfortunately,

to difparagc and weaken another Part of their

Articles, which, without doubt, they have equally

at Heart to maintain, and that is the obliging

from their feveral Offices (which we humbly hope,

on the ftrifteft Examination, will appear to be

the Cafe) we may then humbly prefume to hope,

that the Earl will not be thought to be Criminal

under any Part of this Article ; but that Your

Lordfhips great Juftice will acquit him wholly of

it. .,

[Article XII.] But, my Lords, I would now

humbly beg leave to offer a few Words and Ob-

fervations on the Twelfth Article, which comes

next to be confidercd of. This
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This, my Lords, charges that whilft the Earl And, my Lords, if this be fo, as it can be no
was Chancellor, an unjuft and fraudulent method ways Criminal in the Earl not to put a Stop to a

was practis'd in the Court of Chancery, on the Sale Practice he was wholly ignorant of, and which

of Mafters Places, and on the Admifiions of new the mafters kept private amongft themfelves, We
Matters ; that the Sums agreed to be paid for the humbly hope, how ill foever the Mafters may be

Purchafe thereof, were paid out of the Suitors thought to have deferved of this noble Earl, that

money, either by way of Retainer, or by repla- the Earl himfelf will not be thought to have de-

cing the fame again, in the Hands of the Selling ferved ill of your Lordfhips, in not endeavouring

Mafter, immediately after the Admiffion of the to prevent it ; and that in Confequence thereof,

new one : And that by this Practice the Price Your Lordfhips great Juitice will acquit him of

and Value of thefe Places was greatly advanced, this Part of the Impeachment.

and Perfons of fmall Ability and Subftance were And, my Lords, As to the laft Part of this

encouraged to contract for the fame, which has Charge, the not caufing proper Schedules to be

occafioned great Deficiencies. taken of the Suitors Money and Effects, delivered

This Part, my Lords, fhews only the Contri- over to the fucceeding Mafter, as a method,

vances amongft the mafters themfelves, how to which might in all probability have prevented

get intothofe Offices ; and fo far the Earl feems the Practices amongft the Mafters, complained of

to be but little concerned in it. in the firft Part of this Article ; this, my Lords,

But then comes the Charge againft the Earl, we humbly apprehend, neither can, nor is ir«-

that though thisPractice was notoriousandpublick, tended, even by the Articles themfelves, to

and the Earl was fully acquainted therewith, yet, affect the Earl further or otherwife, than as a

for his own unjuft and corrupt Profit, in the Sel- means he ought to have made ufe of, to put a

ling of thofe Places, he took no meafures to pre- Stop to thefe dangerous Contrivances, formed

vent or reform that Abufe, either by caufing Sche- and fet on foot amongft the Mafters, to difpofe of

dules to be taken of the money and effects of the their Places to the beft Advantage.

Suitors, delivered over to the new mafter, or by But, myLords, If the Earl himfelfknew nothing

appointing any Perfon to fupervife or infpect the of thefe Contrivances, if he was wholly a Stran-

Transfer, and Delivery thereof : But on the con- ger to, and unacquainted with the mifchief, 'twill

trary, fuffered that fraudulent Practice to con-

tinue without controul, whereby great Embezzle-

ments have been made of the Suitors Money and

Effects.

MyLords, the noble Earl, byhisAnfwer, fays,

furely, we hope, be no Crime in him, that he

did not look out for a Cure.

But, my Lords, It may, perhaps, be worth
while, juft to confider of the wonderful Difcovery

that feems to have been made of thefe Schedules,

That he was totally ignorant of thispractice amongft and how far they would have anfwered the ends

propofed, admitting the Earl had known of thefe

Practices amongft the Mafters, and had been bet-

ter difpofed than the Commons are pleafed to think

he was, for the remedying of them.

And, my Lords, I am afraid this would have

the mafters •, but admits, that he never gave any

particular Directions for Delivery of the Suitors

money and effects, fey a Schedule to the fucceed-

ing mafter ; and fays, he never heard that his

Predecefifors ordered fuch Schedules to be

made •, but fays, he believes fuch Schedules were proved very far from being an infallible method

made, between the new mafter and the old, on of remedying thefe Evils for the time to come

;

the general Order of Transfer, made of Courfe for, my Lords, if the Mafters would but truft one

on the Admittance of the new mafter. another, or any Body would truft them for a very

This, my Lords, is the Earl's Anfwer to this few Days, might they not have done juft the fame

Article. And as he has in general denied his thing they did before ? might they not have im-

Knowledge of thefe Practices amongft the mafters, mediately replaced the Money again in the Hands
it was certainly expected by Your Lordfhips, that of the Selling Mafter ? or have paid off a Bond
the honourable managers for the Houfe ofCommons, or any other Security they had given on the Bor-

would have fully proved it upon him, and thereby rowing of the Money, as foon as ever they were

have falfified his Anfwer to this Part of the Charge, admitted, and had got the Suitors Money into

But, my Lords, if I did not greatly miftake the their Hands ? And if they had fo done, and this

Evidence to this Point, it has proved nothing more, had been difcovered and complained of, would it

than that the Earl knew of this Practice, at the not, with great Juftice, have been called inftituting

fame time that all the reft of the World did, that a trifling and fallacious method of Security for the

is, a little before Chriflmas laft ; when the Curtain

drew up, and difplay'd the mafters in their true

Colours.

Then it was, and not before, that the Earl was

Suitors, which could do them no manner of Ser-

vice, but tended only to amufe and deceive them ;

and then whether this would not have made abet-

ter Figure in an Impeachment, than what is here

let into this Secret by the kind Affiftance and fixed upon, may, we humbly hope, be thought de-

Help of Mr. Thomas Bennet, and the Affidavits ferving of Your Lordfhips Notice °, efpecially, my
that were made by him and others on that

Occafion.

But, my Lords, with great Submiffion, the

Earl's knowing of it at that time was a little

too late for him to give any Orders for prevent-

ing or redrefiing it for the time to come ; for the

great Seal was taken from him fometime before,

and then all his Knowledge after could be of no
ufe to him, but only to fhew how treacheroufiy

he had been dealt with, in not being let into this

Lords, when it might have been fo eafily explain-

ed and urged as no doubt it would have been by
the learned Managers, that the very taking of

thefe Schedules was for the fake of feeing into

the Nature and Value of the Office to be fold,

that he might the better know how to fet his Price

upon it.

But, my Lords, I fhall only beg leave to add

one or two very fhort Obfervations more upon

this Head, and then call fuch WitnefTes, as we have,

ufeful Part of Learning, whilft it might have done to fpeak to thefe two Articles,

him any good. And, my Lords, the firft Obfervation I would

beg leave to mention, is, that the, Earl by his An-
fwer
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fwer owns that he did not, neither did he ever Nation; this, my lords, we humbly hope wil
hear, that any of his Predeceffors ordered fuch deferve to be thought of. In the mean time as
Schedules to be made; neither is there the leaft the Commons have chofen your lordlhips to' he
Proof on the Part of the Honourable Managers for the Judges, the Earl himfeJf with the flreatef*
the Houfe of Commons, that any fuch Schedules Plealure joins with them, and humbly appeals to
ever were made, or thought of, 'till Mr. Lightboun your lordfhips Juft and Impartial Judgment

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, the "Evidence,
which we have next to lay before your lordfhips§
relates to the nth Article, by which it ftands chaf-
ed that feveral maitersadmitted by the nobleEaH-
were Perfons of fmall Subftanceand Ability ; and iri

that refpeft very unfit to be trufted with the Great
But, my Lords, thele are not the Schedules the bums of money, and other Effects belonging to

Articles mean, as I apprehend, or, if they are* the Suitors, which were lodged in their Hands
the Earl at leaft was to have one Part of them ;

by Order ofthe faid Court ; notwithftandin°-which
or elfe they could be of no Ufe to him in guarding the Noble Earl did publickly in open Court de-
againft any fraudulent Practices of the matters, clare them to be Perfons of great Fortunes and
And if he had had one, what Security that could in every refpect qualified for the Truft fo 'repd-
have been to the Suitors of the Court, if the ma- fed in them, to the manifeft Deceit and Preiu-
Iters fhould have been difpofed to make Ufe of dice of the Suitors of the faid Court: But, my
their money afterwards; this my Lords, I have lords, tho' the Charge of this Article be' con-

very happily hit upon them

Indeed, the Earl owns by his Anfwer, that he

believes fuch Schedules were ufually made between

the Old mafter and the New, on the General Or-

der of Transfer made of Courfe in the Admit-

tance of the new mafter

ceived in general Terms,, yet I apprehend we are
now only to account for the Abilities and Cir-
cumftances of fuch of the mafters, as they have
defcended into any particular Evidence againft,
upon that Head : Now the mafters, who have
been admitted in by his lordfhip, and againft
whom any Infinuations of this kind have been
levelled, are Mr. Kynafton, Mr. Bennet, Mr, Elde*
and Mr. Thurjhn : But I fhould in the firft Place

already endeavoured to confider of.

The next Obfervation,„my Lords, I would beg

leave to make under this head, is, That if fuch

Schedules had been made, what Security would

this have been to the Earl, that they were in all

Refpects true, or with any certainty to have been

depended on?

Some, my lords, even of the mafters themfelves,

in the hurry they were lately obliged to give in

their Accompts, difcovered afterwards feveral mi- obferve, as to Mr. Elde and Mr. Thurfton, I

ftakes and Omiffions therein; and though they were there is not the leaft Pretence of any Deficien-
given in upon Oath, yet on a Review, and a cy in either of their Offices, from any Evidence
more narrow and careful Inflection and Exami- that has been yet offered by the learned Managers %

nation of them, 'twas found they were not alto- they ftand both of them without Objection in point
gether to be relied on ; and therefore the mafters ofSubftance; as to Mr. Kynafton, indeed, I do
were forced to {ct them right in their Poft-Ac- own, That at the Time, when he delivered in his

counts, given in at fome diftance of Time after ; Accounts, there appears to have been a Deficien-

and whether any, or what other, or better Securi- cy in his Office ; but fince that Time he hath
ty for the Truth of thofe Accounts has been yet

found out, I am wholly ignorant of.

My lords, the Third, and laft Obfervation, I

would beg leave juft to mention, and fubmit to

your lordfhips under this head, is, Whether
there be any, and what real mifchief in the Pra-

ctice it felf, fo grievoufly complain'd of in this

Article?

given fuch Security, as the Court thought fit to

accept of, for anfwering it to the Suitors concern'ch

At the time of his Admiffion he appears to have been
a man of Fortune ; he had a good Eftate in Land,
andaconfiderablefumof money in Bank; and had
a great deal of Wood upon his Eftate: If he really

was a man of a confiderable Fortune at that time*

and if heappeared fo, and came well recommended
It is, my lords, notorious, That in every one in other refpects to the noble lord, what Foundation

of the Offices of thefe mafters in Chancery, there is there lefttofupportthat part of theCharge againft

is always neceflarily a much greater Sum of Mo- the noble Earl? As to Mr. 'tho. Bennet, indeed, tho'

ney lying dead in the Office, than goes to pay he did make an Appearance in the World, equal to

for their Places, either for want of Securities a man of Fortune, yet he now pretends it was far

whereon to place the money, or from the different from being fo, tho' he had an Eftate in land ; yet

Claims of Perfons entitled thereto ; or to fatisfy he has told your lordfhips it was incumbred ; but^

the Demands of Creditors, and other Perfons, as with Submiffion to your lordfhips, it doth not ap-

they fhall from Time to Time come in and prove pear that any of thefe Incumbrances were made
rheir Debts, and from feveral other Caufes, which known to the noble Earl ; on the contrary, heap-

I need not here enumerate. peared to him in the fome light as in the Year 1720,

And then, my Lords, Whether there be any when he faith he was worth 20,000/. and thefe

great Difference between paying for their Places Incumbrances being private itisimpofliblethenoble

out of the Suitors money, lying dead in their Earl fhould then know them ; we fhall fhew that at

Hands, or raifing fo much money out of their this timehe was notonlyamanof vifibleSubftance,

own Eltatcs and Fortunes, in order to let the but of realSubftance, equal to thole, whoareufu-

Suitors money lie dead; whether a Practice of ally admitted into thefe Offices; and if he was equal,

this Nature, which does no Sort of Hurt to the both in reputation and fortune, with thofe admitted

Suitors, is of no Advantage to the mafters, and by the noble Earl's Predeceffors, we hope it fhall

which the Earl himfelf was wholly a Stranger to, not be imputed a Crime in him, to have trod in their

and which if he had known, could not have been fteps in that particular : In order to make this out

prevented ; whether this can be heightned or im- againft Mr. Bennet, we fhall prove that about the

proved into fo heinous a Crime in the Earl, as to time when heapplied to Uiccocks, toget back part of

need or deferve the moft folemn Profecution, the 7000/. he then declared his Subftance was fo

which we are acquainted with, a Profecution by good, that if he could but have 2000/. he would

the Reprefentatives of the whole Body of the pay the reft hirnfelf; he denied before your Lord-

Vol. VI. 6 L fnips
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fhips, that he fa id fo, but we have Perfons of un-

doubted Character to prove, that he did fay fo.

And when that appears, we hope you will give

the lefs Credit to Mr. Bennett Teftimony in any

other particular, which concerns his Fortune; we

fhall likewife prove, as to Mr. Hiccocks and Mr. Ro-

gers, that the Sums of money, which they retained,

are now fubmitted to be returned by them refpec-

tively to the Court, to anfwer any Deficiency, fo

far as the Eftates of their SuccefTors mail fall fhort

in fatisfying the fame; fo that upon the whole, the

Suitors are in no poffibility offuffering by any

Tranfaclion of Bennet or Kynaslon. We mail beg

leave to call our Witneffes, and prove the feveral

Facts I have opened to your Lordfhips upon this

Article.

Mr. Coni.Serj. My Lords, wehumbly apprehend,

that in this Cafe the noble Earl is not refponfible

for the bad Circumftances of the Party ; if he,

upon inquiry, have received fuch an Account as is

proper to rely upon, and to fatisfy a reafonable

man, it is fufficient : The greatnefs of the Trufts

repofed in thefe matters, hath been magnified, and

great it is; but your lordfhipswill pleafe to confi-

der, that it is not to be expected from the Nature

of the Thing, that Perfons of great or overgrown

Fortunes, fhould take upon them thofe Offices.

They have informed your lordfhips, that 120,000/.

hath been in one of thefe Gentlemen's hands. I be-

lieve no Perfons of fuch vaft Eftates as 100,000

or 1 50,000/. would give themfelves the trouble of

executing thefe Offices, attended with fuch rifque,

and requiring fo great attendance. I believe the

Office of a matter in Chancery will never find ei-

ther fuch buyers or fellers ; all that can be expected

is, that they muft b& men of reafonable Fortunes,

Perfons of 4 or 500 /. a Year, brought up with a

liberal Education ; Perfons, who are of good

Characters as to their Integrity and Abilities ; this

is all that can be reafonably expected, and we ap-

prehend it hath appear'd to your lordfhips, that

thefe mafters, which the Evidence hath been given

of, were fuch, and fuch a Reprefentation was made
of them to the noble Earl. My lords, I muft fub-

mit it upon the Evidence given in that behalf by
the Gentlemen of the houfe ofCommons in this

Profecution, that Mv.KynaJlon did appear noway
unfit, but a Perfon proper to be admitted into fuch

an Office ; no Objections are made either to Mr.
Elde or Mr. Thurjlon. As to Mr. Thomas Bennet,

it will appear that his Deficiency will be made good,

and that is the beft proof of his Ability ; and, we
hope, Mr. Kynafton's will be fo too : As to Mr.
Thomas Bennet, he hath denied that ever he told

Mr. Hiccocks, that if he would return 2000/. he

would pay the reft : Being ask'd, whether he had

declared to any/ Body, that he had made that offer

to Mr. Hiccocks., he anfwered directly in the Nega-
tive, that he had not, no he was fare he had not

;

he was asked the Queftion over and over. But, if

my Inftructions don't fail me, we fhall produce three

witneffes to fhew your lordfhips, that Mr. Bennet

deckrcd the fame thing over and over again, and

confcquently it could not be a flip of his memory.

Mr. Steele called.

Mr. Serj. Prohyn. I defire he may inform your

lordfhips, as to what Reputation and Character

Mr. Bennet was of, in point of Fortune, when he

was admitted mafter?

Mr. Steele. Which of the Bennets ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Mr. Thomas Bennet:

Mr. Steele. It is near two Years ago fince Mr.
Thomas Bennet came to be admitted a mafter in Chan-
cery, hewas looked upon then to be a man of o- od
Subftanceand of good Reputation ; and fince that
he had married a Lady of a good Fortune, he made
a good Appearance in the World, and was gene-
rally efteemed to be a man of Subftance.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Did he keep his Coach?
Mr. Steele. I have heard fo ; I don't know that

of my own Knowledge.
Mr. Plummer. My Lords, if the Counfel have

done, I defire to know what Character Mr. Bennet
had as to his Integrity, whether he was accounted
an honeft man or no ?

Mr. Steele. My lords, I never heard to the con-
trary in my life ; nor ever knew any thing to the
contrary.

Mr. Walker fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire that Mr. Walker
will inform your lordfhips, what he knows of any
Propofal or Agreement for the Repayment of any
money by Mr. Hiccocks.

Mr. Walker. My lords, Mr. Hiccocks, by order

of the Court of Chancery, was to be examined upon
Interrogatories, whether he had paid over all the

monies and fecurities of the Suitors of the Court
of Chancery, to his Succeffor Mr. Bennet ? It hav-

ing been alledged by Mr. Bennet, that he retained

out of them 7500/. Mr. Hiccocks did think fit to

fubmit to the Payment of that money, to make fo

much good to the Suitors of the Court, as the

EftateofMr. Bennet fhould prove defective in fa-

tisfying, as appears by the Petition delivered by
him, and the Anfwer to the Petition.

Mr. Lutwyche. We fhall fee that by the Petition.

We defire that the Copy of the Petition may be

read ; they are giving an Account of written Evi-

dence: I defire to ask you, whether you are not

concerned as Clerk for Mr. Hiccocks?

Mr. Walker. I am concerned for Mr. Hiccocks

as his Solicitor.

Mr. Lutwyche. Whether you had any Autho-
rity from Mr. Hiccocks to prefent that Petition ?

Mr. Walker. I had Authority to prefent that

Petition.

Mr. Lutwyche. When did you prefent the Pe-

tition?

Mr. Walker. About three or four Days ago.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire to fee what the

Petition is? It hath been prefented fince the Great

Seal was in Commillion : Read it.

/
Mr. Walker reads it.

To the Right Honourable the Lords

Cornmiffioners for the Cuftody ofthe

Great Seal of Great Britain.

The humble Petition ofJohn Hiccocks, Efq;

late one of the Mafters of this Court

Shewetb,

THAT by an Order of the 23d of Feb.

laji upon the Affidavit of Thomas Ben-

net, Efq-,yourPetitioner s Succeffor, (whofwore

that the Sum ofj$ool.part of the Monies be-

longing to the Suitors ofthis Court, did remain

in
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in your Petitioner s Hands, and was neverpaid

ever to him) it was ordered that your Peti-

tionerflmild be examinedupon Interrogatories,

whether all the Monies, Securities, and other

Effects, belonging to the Suitors of the Court,

were delivered over by your Petitioner to the

(aid Thomas Bennet, a?id whether your Peti-

tioner kept away any, and what part, by him.

'That Interrogatories have been accordingly

prepared, andyour Petitioner is ordered toput

in his Examination, orJland committed.

That your Petitioner, by Reafon of his In-

dijpofition, is not in a Capacity to put in his

'Examination.

That though your Petitioner did pay over,

fatisfy, and ajjign to theJdid Thomas Bennet,

all the Monies, Effects, and Securities ofthe

Suitors ofthe Court inyour Petitioner's Hands;
and the /aid Thomas Bennet hath given your

Petitioner a Receipt in fullfor the fame, yet.,

Jofar, as theEJlate ofthefaid Thomas Bennet
Jhallfall/hort tofatisfy thejujlDemands ofthe

Suitors of the Court; your Petitioner is willing

to pay the Sum of 7500 /. into Court, Subject

to the Order of the Court, fofoon asyour Peti-

tioner can raife thefame; and your Petitioner

is willing to pay the Sum of2000 /. part there-

of within ten Days, and the Refidue thereof

within three Months,fo as thefame (as between

your Petitioner and the faid Thomas Bennetj

may not be confrued to extend to eafe thefaid
Thomas Bennet'* EJlatefrom being liable in

the firfi Place to anfwer the Demands of the

Suitors of the Court ; but fo as thefame may
abide as a Security to anfwer any deficiency of
thefaid Thomas Bennett EJlate ; andto the end
it may appear whether there will be any de-

ficiency or not, that the real andperjbnal EJlate
of theJaid Thomas Bennet may beforthwith

JoId, and dijpofed of; and in thefirjt place ap-

ply d to anjwer the Demands of the Suitors

of the Court; and the rather, for that your

Petitioner is informed, the faid Tho. Bennet
hath, purfuant tojbme Order ofthis Court, by

Recognizances, and other AJfurances,J'ubJecied

his whole EJlate towards making good thofe

Demands.
Tour Petitioner therefore mofi humbly prays

your Lordjlnps, that, uponPayment into Court
oj the J'aid 7500 /. on the Terms aforej'aid,

Subject to the further Order of the Court, all

further Proceedings upon the j'aid Order, for
Compelling your Petitioner to be examined
upon Interrogatories, may befiayed.

And your Petitioner, &c.

He reads the Order, May 8th, 1725.

UPON Payment of 3000 /. into Court,

and giving Security, J'uch as Mr. Hol-
iordjhall approve of, for Payment of the fur-
therSum 0/4500 /. alfo into Court, in a Month,
bothSums to be Subject to thefurther Order of

and Mifdemeanors,

the Court; let all proceedingsfor the compel-
ling the Petitioner to be examined upon the In-
terrogatories before the Mafter, be J'tayed,

Hereofgive noticeforthwith

J. Jekyle, C. S.

R. Raymond, C. S,

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I would be glad to know,
Whether we can rely upon this as an Authentick
Order. Did he examine it ?

Mr. Walker. The Original Petition and Anfwer
are in the Regifter's Office, to draw up an Order,
Mr. Lutwyche. Is it a right, a true Copy ?

Mr. Walker. It is.

Mr. Lutwyche. Did you examine it ?

Mr. Walker. Yes, I did.

Mr. Com. Serj. If it is not wholly immaterial to

examine into the Circumftances of this Gentleman^
I would ask whether Mr. Hiccocks is a Perfon of
Ability, fufficient to make good this Sum ?

Mr. Walker. My Lords, I don't know the Cir-

cumftances of Mr. Hiccocks, nor his Riches. I be-

lieve he is able to do what he hath propofed. I

believe he hath paid the 3000/. in money this

morning ; he told me he would ; and he hath pro-

pofed Security for the Remainder, 4500/. and I

believe the Security will be approved of.

Mr. Lutwyche. If they have done, I defire he

may be afked, How long ago it was fince Mr. Hic-

cocks was ordered to be examined upon Interro-

gatories ?

Mr. Walker. I think the Order is dated the 29th

of February.

Mr. Lutwyche. And how long ago is it fince

this Propofal was made?
Mr. Walker. The Petition was prefented the 8th

of this Inftant May.
Mr. Lutwyche. Was the Petition prefented before

his Examination ? When was it anfwered ?

Mr. Walker. It was anfwered the 8th of May*

It was preferred a little while before. I believe^

two or three Days. There was an Order, That

Mr. Hiccocks mould put in his Examination in

four Days, or ftand committed; thereupon this

Petition was prefented,

Mr. Lutwyche. I think it was on Payment of

fo much money, and giving Security for the reft,

that all Proceedings were to ftay. I don't find

Mr. Walker can fay the money is paid, or Security

given.

Mr. Walker. Mr. Hiccocks told me the 3000/.

was paid, and I know he hath offered Security for

the 4500/.

Mr. Lutwyche. One or two Securities ?

Mr. Walker. I believe only Sir John Buckworthi

Mr. Richard Rogers fworn,

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be asked what

he knows of the Payment of any money, or the

Directing the Payment of any money into Courc

by Mr. Rogers, the late mafter, in Satisfaction of

the Deficiency of Mr. Kynajlonl

Mr. Rogers. I did, my Lords, by the direction

of Mr. Rogers, the late mafter, prefer a Petition

about the latter End of April laft, upon the 28th,

or 29th of April, to the Right Honourable the

Lords Commifiioners, and thereby did offer to give

a Recognizance to make good to theSuitors of the

Court any Sum not exceeding 6000/. ? s the Eftate

of Mr. Kynafton fhould prove defective in anfwer-

mg
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To the Right Honourable the Lords Com-
miffioners for the Cuftody of the Great

Seal of Great Britain.

The humble Petition of William Rogers, Efq

;

late one of the mailers of the High-Court of

Chancery,

T
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ing the Effete of the Suitors of the Court. The Perfons, and in fuch manner, as your Lord/hbs
Petition is anfwered, and I believe they defign to Jhould diretl.

pay the money. _ That upon hearing the [aid Petitioner, upon the
Mr. Serj. Probyn Have you the Petition ? 2 3 d of Feb. lajl, your Lordjhips were pleafed to
Mr. Lutwyche. Is the Order Drawn up? Order your Petitioner Jhould be forthwith (hitlh
Mr. Rogers. The Petition it felf I have in my examined before Mr. Hoi ford, one of the Mailers of

Hand. t

^i
Court

J

i whether M the Monies, Securities, and
The Clerk reads. EJfetls, belonging to the faid Suitors, were delivered

over by your Petitioner to the faid Mr. Kynafton
and whether he kept any, and what Part thereof
by him. J

That in purfuance of the laft Order Interrogatories
have been exhibited for the examination of your Peti-
tioner; and in Cafe your Petitioner Jhould put in his
Examination thereto, he doubts not, but it would ai-
pear that your Petitioner hath ailed with great Jujlice
towards the faid Mafier Kynafton, and that Mr.

<,, .
Kynafton ought to anfwer and make good the faid

5tleweth ' 6000/. to the Suitors of the faid Court; however

HAT by an Order, made by your Lordjhips the your Petitioner being unwilling that any part of
20th of January laft, it was ordered that Mr. P* Deficiency in the faid Mafter Kynafton'.? Office

Kynafton, one ofthe Mafters of the faid Court, who &$* he mVuted to your Petitioner, or that the

fucceeded your Petitioner, Jhould in a Week depofite ^ttors °f the Court Jhould be put to any Expence or

the Sum of 26,908/. 11 s. 3 d. ^ in the Bank of
trouble, ™ making any further Enquiry touching the

England (being theBallance of the Account of Money ff™ °ooo/. your Petitioner is willing (ifyour Lord-

and Securities of and belonging to divers Suitors of the •> $s ft"2^ think fit) togive his own Recognizance, or

faid Court, paid into the Hands of the faid Mafter
a iood and Efficient Mortgage, to be approved ofby

Kynafton, and your Petitioner) or in Default thereof,
one °f the Rafters of this Court, to fuch Perfon or

that the faid Mafter Kynafton Jhould enter into a -Perfons as your Lordjhips fhall diretl, to anjwer

Recognizance, in the Penalty of 5 3,817 /. with two an<* make good to the Suitors of this Court any fum
or more Sureties to anfwer and fay the fame as your n0t exceeding 6000/. as the Eftate and Effecls of
Lordfhips fhould diretl-. thefaid /I4r. Kynafton pall fall fhort of Jatisfying

That the faid Kynafton not having paid the faid the faid 26,908/. iij. %d. \, which he was ordered

26,908 /. 1 n, 3d. s. into the Bank, or given fecurity to depofite in the Bank of England as aforefaid ; or if

for the jame, as thefaid Order diretled ; and having your Lordjhips fhall think it more for the benefit

before propofed towards Satisfatlion ofthefaid 2 6,908 /. andfecurity of the faid Suitors, that your Petitioner

1 \s. 3d. ^ to affgn over a Debt of 20,850/. owing Jhould bring 6000 /. into Court, your Petitioner is

to hi?n from one De la Hay, for the Benefit of the willing to bring in fuch fum for the Purpofe 'afore-

faid Suitors ; it was by an Order made by your Lord- faid, having a reafonable Time allowed him to raife

fhips the 29th of Jan. laft, Ordered, That the faid thefame.

Mafter Kynafton fhould affign over De lay Hay'j Forafmuch therefore as it is not pretended, but

Debt to Mr. Holford, one other of the Mafters of that your Petitioner has paid and delivered over to

the'Jaid Court, for the Benefit of the faid Suitors, Mr. Kynafton all the Money and fecurilies belong-

and fhould give his own Recognizance for the faid ing to the /uitors of this Court, which were in your

26,908/. 11s. 3d. ^ in the Penalty of 53,817 /. And Petitioner's Hands at the Time when he furrendred

upon his fo doing, the Time for his performing the faid his faid OJfice to the faid Mr. Kynafton, except the

former Order Jhould be enlarged to the Wednefday fum of 6000 /.

follozving

That by another Order made the 3d of Feb. laft,

your Lorfhips Ordered, That upon Mr. Kynafton'.?

affgnwg of the faid Debt, and upon his fignifying his

Confent to be examined upon Interrogatories for Dif-

covery of all other his real and perfonal Eftate, and
that thefame might be afjigned, and conveyed to the

faid Mafier Holford in Trustfor thefaidfuitors, the

lime for performing the former Order fhould be en-

larged to the Wednefday following.

That purfuant to the faid Order, the faid John
Kynafton ajfgncd over the faid De lay Hay'; Debt,

but the fame not being fufficient to anfwer the faid

fum of 26,90% I. \\s. 3d. ^ Nicholas Paxton, Sol-

licitor for, and on Behalf of the fuitors of the faid

Court, on the 15th of Feb. laft, preferred his Peti-

tion to your Lordjhips, felting forth the
,
feveral

Proceedings aforefaid ; and that it appeared by Mr.
Kynafton'.? Affidavit that 6000/. part of the faid

26,908 /. 11s. 3d. 4 was retained by your Petitioner,

at the time your Petitioner furrendercd his faid OJfice

to the faid Mr. Kynafton •, and that thefamefill re-

mained in your Petitioners Hands : It was therefore

prayed that your Petitioner might forthwith pay the

fame for the Benefit of the faid fuitors, or to fuch

Your Petitioner humbly prays your Lordfhips
will be pleafed to make fuch Order in the

Premiffes, as to your Lordfhips fhall feem
meet .; and that in the mean Time all Pro-
ceedings upon the faid Order of the 23d of
February laft, for examining your Petitioner

upon Interrogatories, may be rtayed.

Andyour Petitioner, &c.

The Clerk redds the Order. 29th of April, 1725.

Upon the Petitioner's paying the faid 6000/.

into Court, fubject to the further Order
of this Court, let all Proceedings upon
the faid Order of the 23d of February laft,

for examining the Petitioner upon Interroga-

tories be ftayed. Hereof give Notice forth-

with.

Jeff. Gilbert, C. S.

R. Raymond, C. S.

There was another Petition preferred, but never

anfwered.

Clerk
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To the Right Honourable the Lords Commifiioners for in thefirft Place, to anfwer the Demands of the

the Cuftody of the Great Seal of Great Britain. Suitors of the Court ; or, if all, or any part of

The Humble Petition of William Rogers, Efq; late
the faid 6000 I. fhall be appliedfor that Pur-

one ofthe Mailers of this Court, Pf >J
hat >™r Pawner may then ftand in

the Place of the Suitors of the Court, to have
SHEWE T H, Satisfaction out of the Eftate of thefaid Mr K y-

TH AT Mr. Paxton, in behalf of the Suitors nafton, for all, or fo much of the faid 6oco/
upon Mr. Kynafton, being 26,908 /. 1 r s. 3 d.± as Jhall befo applied ; and that the faid 6000 /.

deficient in his Accounts, to aniwer the Suitors fo to be depofited byyour Petitioner, or any Part
monies in his Hands, having, by his Petition to thereof, may not be applied towards making good
your Lordfhips, reprefented (inter alia) That your the faid Mr. Kynafton'j Deficiency, till after

Petitioner, upon furrendring your Petitioner's Of- Sale and Difpofal of all thefaid Mr. KynaftonV
fice to him, detained, and ftill hath in his Hands, real andperfinal Eftatefor that Purpoje.

the Sum of 6000 /. of the faid Suitors money ;

your Lordfhips, upon hearing the faid Petition, And your Petitioner fhall everpray, &c.
on the 23d of February laft, were pJeafed to order

your Petitioner fhould be examined before Mr. Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Is there any Order upon
Holford, one of the rrrafts-rs of this Court, Whe- this ?

ther all the Monies, Securities and Effects, be- Mr. Rogers. This was never anfwered.

longing to the faid Suitors, were delivered over Mr. Lutwyche. If they have done, I defire he
by your Petitioner to the faid Mr. Kynafion ? may be afked, if he hath given any Notice to the

That your Petitioner, on the 29th Day of April Sollicitor of the other Side, of the Order on the

laft, preferr'd the annexed Petition to your Lord- firft Petition ?

fhips; and your Lordfhips were, thereupon pleaf- Mr. Rogers. I did acquaint Mr. Paxton, that

ed to make the Order thereunto fubfcribed. I had fuch an Order ; but I did not ferve it upon
That your Petitioner is informed, the faid Mr. him.

Kynafton hath, purfuant to a former Order of your Mr. Corn. Serj. I defire to afk you, Whether,
Lordfhips, by Recognizance and Affurances, fub- when you told Mr. Paxton of it, he infifted upon
jeered his whole Eftate towards making good his a formal Service ?

faid Deficiency. Mr. Rogers. Mr. Paxton faid, Let it be done
That your Petitioner, upon furrendering his as foon as poflible.

Office, received from the faid Mr. Kynafton, pro- Mr. Com. Serj. What Anfwer did you give to

per Difcharges for all Monies, Securities and Ef- Mr. Paxton, when he defired it might be done as

fetts of the faid Suitors, then in your Petitioner's foon as poflible?

Hands, which your Petitioner is ready to produce Mr. Rogers. I told him, I was raifing the mo-
and prove : And the faid Mr. Kynafton from that ney by Direction of Mr. Rogers.

Time, never pretended but that the Account de- Mr. Com. Serj. I afk you, If you had any Di-

livered in to him, contained a full Account of all rections from Mr. Rogers, for the Payment of, or

the Money, Effects and Securities of the Suitors of for raifing the money ?

the Court in your Petitioner's Hands, except the Mr. Rogers. Yes, I had. I believe it will be

Sum of 70/. or thereabouts, which your Petitio- paid in a Day or two. I can't directly fay what
ner was always ready to pay him, provided he Day. Such a Sum is not immediately raifed.

would have given your Petitioner an Account Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be afked, Whe-
wherein the faid Omiffion or Miflake confifted ;

ther there is any Reafon to doubt of his Ability to

and your Petitioner, upon Examination of his raife the money ?

Vouchers, found the fame to be true •, but the Mr. Rogers. I believe he is able to give a Se-

faid Mr. Kynafion hath hitherto neglected fo to do, curity ; but, as he lives in the Country, he may
though your Petitioner hath fent to him feveral not be able at prefent to pay fo much money ;

Times for that Purpofe. but he is now in Town, and endeavouring to

That your Petitioner, upon the terms menti- raife the money,

oned in the annexed Petition, is willing to pay Mr. Corn. Serj. My Lords, we beg leave to call

a ready Obedience to your Lordfhips Order there- two or three Gentlemen, with Refpecl: to Mr.

upon •, and for that Purpofe, now humbly offers, Thomas Bennet, what he hath faid ; and that he

in Six Days time, to pay 2000/. part of the faid faid he was able to pay all the reft of the money,

6000/. into Court, fubjecl: to the further Order of if Mr. Hiccocks would pay 2000 /.

the Court, fo far as may be neceffary to make
good any Deficiency to the Suitors of the Court, Mr. Holford called.

which Mr. Kynafton's Eftate fhall not be fufficient Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we beg leave to

to anfwer. begin with Mr. Holford, and to afk him, Whether

he was not employed, or concerned as a Friend to

And your Petitioner humbly prays, he may have a Mr. Thomas Bennet, to go to Mr. Hiccocks, and

Month's Time to pay in the remaining 4000 /. what Propofals he was to make to Mr. Hiccocks?

(your Petitioner being obliged to borrow the Mr. Holford. Prefently after the Article was

fame on his Eftate) and that all Proceedings on delivered in by Mr. Thomas Bennet, relating to the

the faid Order of the 23d of February laft, money he faid was in the Hands of Perfons of A-

againft your Petitioner, may in the mean Time, bility and Subftance, to the Judges and Gentle-

be flayed : And your Petitioner further humbly men of the Bank, Mr. Bennet did fend to me, to

prays your Lordfhips, That the faid Order, defire I would fpeak to Mr. Hiccocks, that if he

made by your Lordfhips on the 29th of April would pay him but 2000 /. he would pay the Re-

lafl, may be fo far explained, that as between mainder of the money. I did not much care to

the faid Mr. Kynafton and your Petitioner, the undertake it'; but upon fome Importunity,^ I did

fame may not be conftrued to extend to eafe go upon the faid meffage •, and it was this, 1 hat he

thefaid Mr. Kynafton'* Eftate from being liable, defired me to tell Mr. Hiccocks, that if he would

Vol. VI. 6 M pay
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pay him back 2000/. he could or would take care

that the reit mould be paid, and Mr. Hiccocks

Ihould not be troubled about the Remainder.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked,

Whether he had any Difcourfe with Mr. Thomas

10 G. 1

Thomas Bennet directly, of his Ability to pay in

this money, when thele Accompts were called for -,

but I do remember, at a preceding Time, he was
talking of Hiccocks's detaining his money by way
of Retainer; explaining the Reafon, why he paid

Bennet, concerning what parted between him and for the Place that he bought of Mr. Hiccocks out of

Mr. Hiccocks?

Mr. Holford. Mr. Hiccocks told me
Mr. Lutwyche. That is no Evidence.

Mr. Holford. I am only relating the Anfwerhe
returned to my meffage •, which was, That Mr.
Bennet had given in that Article, and brought his

Name in Queftion, without ever acquainting him

of it ; and therefore he would never have any thing

to do with him. I did give him that Anfwer, and

never troubled myfelf any more about it.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire Mr. Holford would re-

colled; the Time.
Mr. Holford. I believe it was the next Day after

he had given in that Article.

Mr. Lutwyche. I think they call this Witnefs to

prove a Contradiction in Mr. Bennet' s. Mr. Hol-

ford fays, He laid he was willing, he would take

care the reft fhould be paid. I defire to know,
Whether he declared he had the money to pay,

the money in his own Hands?
Mr. Holford. No, my Lords, I can't fay he

told me fo.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to ask him, If Mr.
Bennet did not exprefsly tell him, That he was

the Suitors money, that it was the molt compendi-
ous method of doing in that Cafe, and prevented
the Trouble of mortgaging his Eftate.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Did he fay any thing in cafe

of his death, Whether he fhould leave iufficient

to fatisfy it ?

Mr. Thurflon. He faid at that Time, ifhedied,

there would be Eftate fufficient to anfwer it ; there-

fore he had the lefs Occafion to trouble himfelf to

raife the money, but to pay it in the particular

manner I have mentioned.

Mr. Plummer. I defire toafkhim, If Mr. Ben-

net explained to him in what manner the money
was to be raifed, to make good the Deficiency?

Mr. Thurflon. He did not at all explain to me,
how he was to raife it.

Mr. Plummer. I defire to ask you more parti-

cularly, Whether he mentioned to have infured

any money upon his Life?

Mr. thurflon. Not at that Time, as I remem-
ber •, I have heard him at other Times talk of in-

furing of money on his Life.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When was the firft Time
that Mr. Bennet told you, that if Mr. Hiccocks

able to pay the money ; or if Mr. Holford would would pay him Two thoufand Pounds, he would

have gone upon the Errand, without being fatis- make up the reft himfelf?

fled that he was able to pay the money ? Mr. Thurflon. My Lords, I can't remember
Mr. Holford. Mr. Hiccocks was my old Acquain- distinctly the Time, never having imagined I

tance and Friend, I did not intend to deceive fhould be called upon to repeat it on this Occa-

him •, if I had not believed what Mr. Bennet faid

to be true, and th'at he could make good what he

at that Time fent me to defire Mr. Hiccocks to

accept, I would not have gone on that Errand to

him.

Mr. Thurftcn called.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we defire Mr.
Thurflon may inform your Lordfhips what he hath

heard Mr. Thomas Bennet fay, in relation to Mr. money in Mr. Hiccocks's Hands ?

fion •, but it muft necefiarily be after the Accompts
were given in before the Judges. I can't exactly

remember the Time, or Day, or Week.

Mr. Elde called again.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we defire that

Mr. Elde may inform your Lordfhips what Dif-

courfe he had with Mr. Bennet, in relation to the

Hiccocks, about his paying back 2000 /.

Mr. Thurflon. I do remember Mr. Thomas Ben-

net told me, and I think I was then fitting in the

publick Office, that if Hiccocks (as I think his Ex-
preffion was) would pay him back 2000 /. he would

make up the reft himfelf.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire Mr. Thurflon to ex-

Mr. Elde. Some fmall Time after I had given

in my Accompt, I faw Mr. Bennet ; and he came

up to me and faid, That it was hard that he could

not have any money from Mr. Hiccocks. He faid,

If he would pay him 2000/. he would, or could

pay the reft. I do not remember which.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Whether he thinks he mi^ht

plain himfelf, whether he expreffed himfelf in that have been able to pay it, if he had thought fit?

manner that Mr. Thurflon apprehended he was Mr. Elde. I know nothing of Mr. Bennett Cir-

able to do it ? cumftances; I am as little acquainted with him, as

Mr. Thurflon. I can't fwear critically to the laft with any I muft necefiarily have Correfpondence

Words, that he would make up the reft himfelf-, with.

but he fpoke in fuch Words, that I underftood he

meant fo •, that was the Senfe of thofe Words, as

I have delivered it now to your Lordfhips.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Had you any Difcourfe at any
other Time with Mr. Thomas Bennet about it?

Mr. Thurflon. I believe I had fome Difcourfe

with Mr. Thomas Bennet at another Time •, and I

afked him, Why he would not pay in as much as

he had undertaken, if Mr. Hiccocks had paid him
2000/. ? The Reply he gave me was, All he had
in the World would not do it.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked,

if he had any Difcourfe with Mr. Thomas Bennet

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, We fhall not

trouble your Lordfhips with any further Evidence

on the nth Article, in which we think we have

fufficiently contradicted Mr. Thomas Bennet, as to

the Charge he hath made on the Noble Lord. As

to the 1 2th Article, that principally relates to

that Part, That the purchafe money was paid out

of the Suitors money ; that is a Fact that lies

upon the Gentlemen of the Floufe of Commons to

prove : It is impoflible for Us to prove a Negative,

they are to prove the Affirmative, and they have

not attempted to prove it by any Witnefs ; but

by Mr. Thomas Bennet : Nov/ this being a Fact

at any Time, about his Ability to pay this money, that refts intirely upon Mr. Bennct's Evidence, we

or whether he was able to pay it ? fubmit, Whether your Lordfhips can believe any

Mr. Thurflon. I had no Difcourfe with Mr. tiling upon the Credit of his Teitimony ?

Mr. Com.
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Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, We humbly appre- to obferve upon the Evidence brought to fupporc

hend the Gentlemen of the Houfe of Commons, the Charge contained in thefe Two Articles, it

by joining thefe Two Articles together, did it as will be proper to take Notice to your Lordfhips,

if they were the fame, and did depend upon one That the Honourable Managers for the Houfe
another: For unlefs the matter in the i ith Ar- ofCommons, have not offered one Tittle of Proof,

tide be eftablifhed, what was done on the 12th, as to the declaration pretended to be made, re-

will be of no great Significancy ; For if Perfons lating to Mr. Dormer's being gone to take the

of good Ability, who are refponfible, and fit to Air, though they were pleafed to inlarge upon
anfwer the money that comes to their Hands, it in their Opening ; but we have the Satisfaction

be admitted to be mailers, it is not very material to know, That we are before your Lordfhips,

whether the Forms of transferring in like Tranf- who are incapable of receiving any Impreffions

actions of that Nature are ftriftly purfued or no; from Facts that are barely opened, and not

becaufe the Perfon, being fufficient and refponfible,

will anfwer that money that is fo detained. I

choofe to call them Forms, for, with Submiffion,

if we examine them, they are Forms, and no-

thing elfe : Whether they take all the money

proved •, and therefore we reft allured, that no
Weight will be laid upon this Cirumftance, fince

no Evidence has been produced in Support of this

Part of the Charge.

My Lords, as to the other matters contained

from the preceding mafter, or replace with the in thefe Articles, we humbly hope to give your

Succeffor's own money, what is detained by the Lordfhips abundant Satisfaction in the Noble Earl's

Predeceffor, it comes to the fell fame Thing, and Behaviour on that Occafion ; that all the proper

are only different Forms or methods of Payment. Steps were taken to fecure the Intereft of the Sui-

Upon the whole, we apprehend, We have efta- tors ; and that, if there ftill remains any Defici-

blifhed our Anfwer to the nth Article ; we think

the other follows of Courfe ; and that there is no

Neceffity to give your Lordfhips any further

Trouble on this Head ; but that the Noble Earl

will ftand clear as to any Accufation on thefe

Two Articles.

ency, it is not to be imputed to any Neglect of the

Noble Earl within the Bar.

Your Lordfhips were pleafed to obferve in the

Courfe of the Evidence produced by the Honour-
able managers for the Houfe of Commons, That
Mr. Dormer's Failure happened about Chriftmas,

My Lords, it was about that Time that1720

'Then all Perfons concerned in the Impeachment, Mr. Wilfon, who had large Effects of Mr. Dor

were dtretled to withdraw, and then the Houfe ad- mer's in his Hands, flopped Payment; which un-

journed to Ten o'Clock the next Morning.

Friday, 14 May, 1725. The Seventh Day.

fortunately obliged Mr. Dormer, without the

Knowledge or Sufpicion of any one, to retire

himfelf to Holland; and foon after, Notice was
given of it to Mr. Cottingham, who immediately
acquainted the Earl of Macclesfield with it.

Upon this, my Lords, no Time was loft ; for

the Two Senior Mafters, Mr. Hiccocks and Mr.TH E Lords being feated in their Houfe, the

Serjeant at Arms made Proclamation for Si- Rogers, were appointed to inquire into Mr. Dor-
knee ; asalfoanother Proclamation, That all Per- mer's Affairs : His Chambers were fearched ; the
fons concerned, were to take Notice, That Tho- Transfer of any Stock in the publick Funds was
mas Earl of'Macclesfield now flood upon his Trial

;

ftopp'd ; and all Endeavours ufed to procure a
and they might come forth in order to make good fall Satisfaction for the Suitors of the Court : But,
the Charge.

L. Ch. J. King, Mr. Serjeant Probyn, you may
go on.

Mr. Strange. My Lords, We who are Counfel

for the Noble Earl within the Bar, beg leave to

my Lords, though thefe methods were very pro-

per to prevent the embezzling of Mr. Dormer's

Effects, yet your Lordfhips will readily perceive,

that no Steps, that could be taken whilfl Mr.
Dormer was on the other Side of the Water, could

proceed to his Defence againft the 13th and 14th be in any Degree effectual towards the Payment
of his Debts.

And therefore, my Lords, it was, that upon a

Propofal of Mr. Dormer's, to come over and dif-

cover his Effects for the Benefit of the Suitors, in

cafe he might be affured of his liberty, and not

be left to die in a Gaol in his old Age (as him-

felf expreffes it) the Noble Earl within the Bar,

Articles of the Commons Charge.

My Lords, The Facts contained in thefe Two
Articles, are kid to be done with a View of con-

cealing a Deficiency, that had happened in the

Office of Mr. Dormer, a mafter of the Court

;

upon whofe Failure it is charged, that there was

a total Neglect, either to fecure his Perfon or

Effects, or to enter into any Inquiry into the Defi- was prevailed upon to give him thofe Affurances

;

ciency: And that altho' the State of this Affair

was fully known to the Earl of Macclesfield, yet a

declaration was afterwards made in open Court,

That Mr. Dormer was only gone into the Coun-

try to take the Air ; That he would return

again in a little while, and all would be well:

And that in further Profecution of this Endeavour
to conceal the deficiency in Dormer's Office, a pre-

carious and trifling Compofition was made with a

Creditor of Mr. Dormer's ; and this without any

Notice to the Suitors of the Court.

My Lords, I fhall, for my Part, confine my-
felfat prefent to thefe Two Articles only, re-

ferving any thing I may have to offer in general

to the clofe of the defence ; but beiore I proceed

but upon Condition, That he made a full Difco-

very, and affigned over all he had.

Suppofe, my Lords, the Propofal had not

been complied with, would the Suitors have been

in a better Condition than they now are in? The
Perfon of Mr. Dormer was out of Reach •, the

Stock could not be transferred without his Pre-

fence or Confent, nor were there any means to

procure it under thefe Circum fiances, without

ferae Compliance on the Side of the Noble Earl.

To fay, my Lords (and it was only faid) That

Dr. Eddifbury's Perfon was fecured, is, in mv
humble Apprehenfion, an Argument of no weight

in this Cafe, fince it does not appear, that he

was out of the Reach of the Court before his 1'ai

llll .
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lure ; and, I am perfuaded, the Gentlemen, who
mentioned this Inftance, don't defire to have it

thought, That the Noble Lord, who then prefided,

was capable of fo great a Breach of Faith, as to

deprive him of his Liberty after a Promife to

the contrary : It mull be fubmitted, therefore, to

your Lordfhips, whether the committing a man
in the Power of the Court, was a Precedent that

could be followed in the Cafe of Mr. Dormer.

My Lords, to finifh this Part of the Defence

in not fecuring the Perfon of Mr. Dormer, I fhall

beg leave only to obferve, That though it is al-

ledged in the Articles, and was infilled on in the

Opening and Summing up, That Application

was made to the Earl of Macclesfield for that Pur-

pofe, yet the Honourable Managers forgot to call

any Witneffes to the Proof of that Particular;

which mufl therefore reft upon the Denial in the

Anfwer of the Noble Earl.

My Lords, It was infilled upon, That Mr.
Dormer had not complied with his own Propofal

in difcovering and delivering up his whole Ef-

fects ; and for that Purpofe a Witnefs was called

to inform your Lordfhips of a very great Dif-

covery that has been fince made of a Quantity of

Hops, that belonged to Mr. Dormer: Your
Lordfhips remember how very lamely they were

proved to belong to Mr. Dormer, and how rea-

sonable an Account was given of their being kept

fo long in Hopes of a better market. My Lords,

we fhall not prefume to entertain your Lordfhips

with any Counter-Proof of fuch a trifling Evi-

dence (as a learned manager was pleafed to call

it) but beg leave to infer from thence, That it is

evident a more than ordinary Care was taken in

looking after Mr. Dormer's Effects, fince, after

Four Years, which have patt from the Time of

affigning his Eftate, a few mufty Hops are all

that are difcovered.

My Lords, we humbly hope to make it fully

appear to your Lordfhips, That the complying

with Mr. Dormer's Propofal was the only means

to procure any Satisfaction : Had not Mr. Dor-

mer been induced to come over, his Books and

Accounts would never have appeared ; and had
he died Abroad, as he did foon after his coming
Home, I am perfuaded the deficiency would have

been much greater : And if a full difcovery of his

Effects was not made (which, however, I appre-

hend there is no Foundation to believe, after the

Hops are laid out of the Cafe) the fame will ap-

pear to be owing to his death, which happened
in a fhort Time after his Return.

My Lords, The feveral Seeps that were taken

towards fecuring the Effects of Mr. Dormer, muft
neceffarily prornulge his Failure in fome mea-
fure ; the Chambers could not be fearched ; there

could not be Caveats enter'd in the Books of all

the publick Funds ; nor could Lockman be cau-

tion'd againft expecting any more out of the Effects

of Mr. Dormer, without making fome Noife, and
giving People Notice : And, therefore, when we
have made out thefe Facts, I humbly hope, the

Noble Earl will (land acquitted of any defign to

conceal the State of Dormer's Office, in Prejudice

of the Suitors , but that, confidering all the Cir-

cumftances of the Cafe, he took the wifeft and
propereft Courfe to fecure as ample a Satisfaction

for the Suitors, as it was in his Power to do.

My Lords, The 14th Article, relating to the

Compofition with IVilfon, vvilJ give me no Occa-

fion to take up much of your Lordfhips Time.

It is called a precarious and trifling Compofition,
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and was aggravated in the Opening, and fo, of
courfe, in the fumming up, by a matter, which
they failed in the Proof of, That IVilfon

was fuffered to compound this Debt, though.

he paid others their whole Demand with In-

tereft.

My Lords, The Witnefs, who was called to

prove this, did by no means come up to what was
opened : He did, indeed, fay, That he was in-

formed, That IVilfon had paid fome Perfons their

whole Debt ; but he, at the fame Time, acquaint-
ed your Lordfhips, That thefe were fmall Debts

;

and that he did not pay them out of his own Ef-
fects, but from a Supply adminiftred by a Friend,
only to give him a Credit at his fetting up again -,

and the unfortunate End of this man (of which I

am juft now informed) is an unanfwerable Proof
of his Inability to pay the Whole.
My Lords,. As a further Argument to prove

the Reafonablenefs of this Corhpofition, I beg
leave to appeal to another Part of the Evidence
produced on this Article by the managers of the

Houfe of Commons ; whereby it appeared, That
Mr. Wilfon's Books were perufed by two matters,

and himfelf was put upon his Oath ; and that he
fwore the Compofition he then offered, was all

he was able to make; which I humbly fubmit to

your Lordfhips, as an Anfwer to what an Ho-
nourable manager was pleafed to object, when
he infifted, that there ought to have been a Com-
miffion of Bankruptcy againft Wilfon, that there-

by his Effects might have been difcovered upon
Oath.

My Lords, There were many other Creditors

of Mr. Wilfon's, befides Mr. Dormer, who might
have applied for a Commiffion of Bankruptcy,

if it would have been for their Advantage; but,

as every body is acquainted with the great Ex-
pence and Dday of fuch a Procedure, I believe

they will be thought to have taken the wifeft

Courfe : Here was all the Benefit of a CommifTion,

by the putting Wilfon upon his Oath, and none of

the Expence and Delay that attend fuch an In-

quiry.

My Lords, Another Thing opened, and not

proved, is, That at the Time of this Compofition,
Poulter, who was Wilfon's Debtor, was worth
nothing : It is true, my Lords, he was afterwards

in Execution, and efcaped ; but if we make ic ap-

pear to your Lordfhips, That at the Time of the

Compofition he was a vifible Perfon, and not fuf-

pected, I humbly hope, whatever has happened
fubfequent to the Compofition, will be no Ingre-

dient in fhewing it to have been a trifling and
precarious one at the Time of making it.

My Lords, I beg leave humbly to obferve,

That the Honourable Managers have not been

pleafed to inftance, how the Suitors would have

been in a better Condition, in cafe this Compo-
fition had not been made : Could they have fhewn

your Lordfhips, that if Part of the Debt had not

been taken, the Whole might have been obtained,

I muft confefs, there would have been fome Rea-
fon to have called this a trifling Corhpofition ;

but, fince nothing of that Nature has been at-

tempted, I muft fubmit the whole Tranfattion,

upon what I have already offered, to have been

a Tranfaction mod for the Advantage of the

Suitors, confidering the Circumftances that at-

tended this Compofition.

My Lords, An Honourable Manager, who
fpoke Second upon this Article, was pleafed to

fay, That by this Compofition the Suitors were

• tied
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tied down to a certain Lofs of Half their De-

mand. My lords, I humbly apprehend the

Confequence to be directly otherwife ; and that

the Suitors are not tied down at all : As they

were no Parties to the Compofition, they were

not bound by it ; nor is Mv. Wilfon, by this Com-
pofition, in any degree difcharged as to the

Suitors of the Court ; fo that if Wilfon be able to

pay the Whole, he is ftill as liable to the De-

mands of the Suitors, as if this Compofition

had not been made ; and if this be fo, it will

be to the Advantage of the Suitors, that they

had no Notice, which, however, I apprehend,

was, in the Nature of the Thing impracticable.

My lords, It was infilled upon, That the

Petitions, and Orders, and Reports on this Oc-

cafion were in an unufual and clandeftine man-

ner •, and a Certificate has been read to your

Lordfhips to prove, That they were never filed

and regiftred, as is ufual in other Cafes : But do

they, my lords, pretend to fay, that this was

by the Order, or with the Privity of the Earl

of Macclesfield? The Bufinefs of a Chancellor

is to make Orders; but I never yet heard it

was his Duty to fee them drawn up and regiftred;

and therefore, if there was any thing unufual in

this, it is not to be imputed to the Neglect of the

Noble Earl, unlefs it was proved to have been by

his exprefs Direction.

My lords, It has already appeared, that this

Compofition, and the Proceedings upon it, did

not proceed from the Noble Earl; but were pro-

pofed to him ; Mr. Edwards did acquaint your

Lordfhips, That it was himfelf, who firft pro-

pofed it to the Earl, after having advifed with

Mr. Hiccocks, who put him into that method.

This, my Lords, is the Nature of our Defence

againft the 13th and 14th Articles of the Com-
mons Charge : We humbly hope the feveral Steps

that were taken, will apppear to have been for the

Benefit and Advantage of the Suitors, and with

no other View, than the fecuring them their

whole Demand ; that the Compofition fo much
complained of, was given into, only as a means

towards the attaining that End, and could in no

Event be prejudicial to the Suitors of the Court,

as the Gentlemen of the Houfe of Commons
would reprefent it to your lordfhips.

Mr. Dormer Parkhurft fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we defire Mr.
Parkhurft may be afked, What Converfation

puffed between him and Mr. Dormer, previous to

his going abroad, and upon what Occafion he

was obliged to go abroad ?

Mr. Parkbursl. Mr. Dormer came to me about

the latter End of November, 1720, at my Cham-
bers. I had then fome-body elfe with me; upon

that Account he faid nothing to me, but defired

I would come next morning early to him. I

went, and when I came to him (he lived then

in Chambers in Lincoln's-Inn) he fhut the Door,

and told me, he had a thing of great Importance

to communicate to me in relation to himfelf;

and then told me, he defigned to go abroad:

He faid Mr. Wilfon, his Goldfmith, the Day be-

fore had been with him (this was on a Sunday

Morning, and he had been with him the Satur-

day before) and had acquainted him, That the

Monday following he fhould b; obliged to fhut

Vol. VI.
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up Shop, and flop payment: He. had a great
deal of money in his Hands, and he was a-

fraid, that as foon as it was known, that Mr.
Wilfon was unable to pay; the Sollicitors, and
Praclifers belonging to the Court, who knew he
kept Mr. Dormer's Cafh, would immediately be
alarmed ; and that Application would be made
thereon, to my Lord Chancellor ; and he be-
lieved, that the firft thing to be done, in rela-

tion to himfelf, would be to confine him ; and
that there would be an Order for his being com-
mitted ; and therefore to prevent that (for he could
not live a Week without Air and Liberty) he was
refolved to withdraw himfelf, and retire to fome
Place or other. Upon this, I expreffed a great

deal of Concern, and endeavoured to perfuade

him againft it: I defired him to make hisCircum-
ftances known to my Lord Chancellor and the

matters: He faid No; he was fu re the Confequence
would be his Confinement, and was come to a

Determination with himfelf, to fecure his Perfon;

his Uneafinefs, was from the Fear, that he fhould

be confined ; but he would leave every thing fairly

behind him, and hereafter come over and obey
any Order, from my Lord Chancellor; but the

firft Thing he would do, he was refolved to with-

draw, to fecure himfelf from being confined.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. What happened after he was
gone abroad ? and what Notice was taken of it ?

Mr. Parkhurft. In a little time after this, I

underftood he had put this Refolution in Execu-

tion, and had withdrawn himfelf. He had defired

me, that I fhould not mention it to any Body ; and

gave out by his Clerk, that he was gone into the

Country. I did, after this, in about three Weeks
receive a letter from him, that he was then at

Rotterdam ; and there was a letter inclofed, which

he defired me to fhew to fome of the matters.

I think I fhewed it to Mr. Rogers ; afterwards,

according to his Directions in the letter to me, I

carried it to Mr. Cottingbam. It was directed to

Mr. Cottingbam, who was then Secretary to my
Lord Chancellor; I carried the letter to him, and

left it with him.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. If you can, recollect what

were the Particulars of that letter, the Contents

of it, relating to any Terms of his coming over

again

Mr. Parkhurft. It is a great while ago ; I have

but a faint Remembrance of it ; but I think it was

much to the fame Purpofe with what he commu-

nicated to me at firft, after he had acquainted

me with the unhappy Affair, as hath been men-

tioned. He faid he had a great Sum of money in

Mr. Wilfon' % Hands ; and when he found Wilfon

unable to pay, he was apprehenfive of an im-

mediate Confinement, which he could not poffibly

bear; therefore he had withdrawn himfelf; but

that he had left his own Eftate intire behind him,

and every thing relating to the Suitors ; and he

was willing to come over to give an Account of

the State of the Office, and of his own Eftate ; and

he was willing to make over all his own Eftate, to

anfwer the Deficiency of the Office, as far as it

would go, and to do every thing the Court fhould

think fit to order him, provided he might have

his liberty both before and after : He defired he

might not be confined, and he would do every

Thing that the Court would order him to do, or

fhould be defired of him, as much as if he was

confined. ^ .

6 N Mr. Serj%
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Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire he may be afked,

If he knew how it was, that Mr. Wilfon came to

have fo much of Mr.Dormer's Effects in his Hands,

and upon what Account?

Mr. Parkhurft. 1 did not know, till this Affair

happened of Wilfon's failing, what money he had

in his Hands belonging to Mr. Dormer. I ufed to

fee Mr. Wilfon with him •, I knew Mr. Wilfon had

Cam of his in his Hands •, but afterwards, by

way of Juftification of himfelf, for lofing fo much

money, I heard him fay, it was an unlucky Ac-

cident, he had a confiderable Sum of money paid

into his Hands, by Order of Court, and a con-

io G. i

I know butMr. Parkhurft. I believe he did,

few Inftances of it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether he never heard
him declare that Mr. Wilfon paid him Intereft?

Mr. Parkhurft . I never heard him declare he
did : He never fpoke tome about it particularly.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be asked, Whe-
ther he can inform your Lordfhips, how long
Mr. Wilfon had been Banker to Mr. Dormer ?

Mr. Parkhurft. I can't fay exactly how long:
I believe fome Years.

Mr. Com. Serj. If the Gentlemen have done
with this Witnefs, we beg leave to call another,

fiderableSum, which came in upon the Land-Tax, to prove what Care was taken to flop thofe Ef-

and he did not know at that Time, what to lay

it out in •, the Stocks were fo high and precarious,

he would not buy any •, and he thought Wilfon's

Hands as fafe a Place as any at that Time ; he

could not keep it by him in his Chambers, and he Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, we defire that Mr*

was o-oing into the Country for three or fourWeeks-, Elphinfione may inform your Lordfhips what he

and when he favv things were fettled, then he

would lay it out: But when he came back to

Town, he found Mr. Wilfon in thofe declining

Circumftances. This was after he returned from

Holland. I knew nothing before of this, nor that

he had anv great Sum of money in his Hands

feels, that were in the publick Funds.

Mr. John Elphinfione fworn.

knows of any Orders or Directions given, in re-

lation to the Effects of Mr. Dormer that were in

the Publick Funds •, and by whom thofe Directi-

ons were given ?

Mr. Elphinfione. My Lords, I have been to

fearch the Books of the Bank, the SoutbSea, and

Mr. Serj. Probyn. He faith that he did propofe, Eaft-India Companies, to fee what Stock Fleet-

That he would come over and makeaDifcoveryof, wood Dormer, Efq; one of the mailers of the Court

and deliver up his Effects, in cafe his Perfon was of Chancery had in the Books of thofe Companies,

fecured ; now I defire he may recollect, before and what Orders there were for flopping Mr. Dor-

he did come over, if he knew of any Steps taken me'r'i transferring fuch Stock. My Lords, I went

to fecure his Effects-, and whether any Thing in firft to the Bank, and fearched a Book of that

his Chambers was taken Care of, and by whom ?

Mr. Parkhurft. I can give but one Inftance of

it, that is, Mr. Rogers, a mafter in Chancery, came

to me one morning, and defired me, upon the

Account of being a Relation, for I was no other-

wife concerned, that I would go along with him

Company, called a Leidger, where Mr. Dormer's

Accompt was ftated by way of Debtor and Cre-

ditor. I found in that Book, a Memorandum
written over Mr. Dormer's Account in red letters,

as follows, j^. No Transfer. 1 likewife enquired,

if there were any Orders of the Court of Chancery ,

to look into Mr. Dormer's Chambers, to fee what for flopping the Transfer of fuch Stock? I was

there was, what Securities, or any thing of that

Nature belonging to the Office. I remember we

did find feveral Things, feveral Land Tax Tallies

which Mr. Rogers gave an Account of.

know what the Number was.

I don't

told by the Clerk, That he knew of none. I en-

quired of the Clerk at the Transfer-Office, if

there was any Order of the Court of Chancery for,

transferring Mr. Dormer's Stock to Mr. Edwards,

the fucceeding mafter; after fome fearch, he

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Who took Poffeffion of them ? brought me an original Order, Signed Parker, C.

Mr. Parkhurft. Mr. Rogers, the mafter in

Chancery.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. By whofe Direction did you

underftan'd that Mr. Rogers took this Care ?

Mr. Parkhurft. I underftood it was by the

Direction of the Court. He came to me, and de-

fired me to go along with him, to fee that no Per-

dated n July, lyn. I have a Copy of that

Order in my Hand, whereby it appears, that ail

the Stock and Annuities, in the Name of Mr.
Dormer, were ordered to be transferred to Mr.
Edwards, on the 1 2 th of July iyzi, viz. the Day
after the Date of the faid Order. I found in the

Transfer Book of that Company the Sum of

fon meddled with any Thing but what belonged 3393/. 16s. transferred by Mr. Dormer to Mr.
Edwards, and Mr. Edwards's Acceptance of the

fame. This is a Copy of the original Order.
to the Suitors ; and he took them, and locked them

up in his Clofet or Scrutore.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we have done

with this Evidence.

Mr.. Plummer. I think he fays, the Reafon of

I afterwards went to the South Sea Houfe ; I

fearched the Books of that Company, and in

the Book marked Letter D. N°. 6. Folio 430.

Mr. Dormer's having fo much money in the Hands where Mr. Dormer's Accompt is ftated by way of

of Mr. Wilfon, was, that there was a great Sum Debtor and Creditor, I found a Memorandum over

of money come in upon the Land-Tax : I defire Mr. Dormer's Account, which is as follows ; Stock

to know, if Mr. Dormer left this money dead in not to be transferred without Order from the Court

the Hands of Mr. Wilfon, or if he had any Intereft of Directors {be being failed) or from the Court of

for i t ? Chancery. I alio fearched the Transfer-Book of

Mr. Parkhurft. I know nothing of that. By the faid Company ; and I found in Book N°. 5.

way of Juftification, he faid, It was unlucky he Page 86. that on the 12th Day of July 1721.

had fo much money paid into his Hands at that

Time ; Times were fo precarious, he did not know

how to lay it out.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

2251. /. 14. s. South Sea Stock was transferred by

Mr. Dormer to Mr. Edzvards, and under the Trans-

fer I faw Mr. Edwards's Acceptance ; Mr. Dormer
figned the transfer, and Mr. Edwards figned the

Whether Mr. Wilfon did not ufually keep Mr. Dor- Acceptance. I enquired if there were any Orders

'mcr's Cafh, and the Cafh of the Office ? for flopping Mx.Dormcr's Stock from being trans-

ferred.
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ferred. I found no fuch Order, nor any Order

for transferring the Stock that was transferred \

and the Reafon which the Clerk of that Office

o-ave, was, That upon the unhappy Turn of the

belongs to

It was brought to me by a
the Transfer-Office at the

Affairs of that Company, feveral of the Clerks

being difcharged, and many Books and Papers

being deifroyed, loft, or miflaid, and the reft in

the utmoft Confufion, rendered it impoffible to

find any fuch Paper at this Diffance of Time. I

went likewife to the Eaft-India Company ; but I

could not find upon thofe Books any Stock belong-

Mr. Elphinftone.

Clerk that

Bank.

Mr. Lutwyche, Was that Original Order left in
the Book ?

Mr. Elphinftone. No, my lords, I faw no Book
of Orders

; it was a fingle Order brought to me.
Mr. Lutwyche. You fay there was an Order

figned Parker C. was there any fuch Order drawn
up by the Regifter of the Court ?

'. Elphinftone. I know nothing of its being
ing to Mr. Dormer* or that he had any Intereft in drawn up by the Regifter. I law Parker C. Signed
that Company
Mr. Strange. I beg leave to take Notice of

one Thing he fays, relating to the Words exprefly

entered in one Leidger Book ; it ftands that Mr.

Dormer fhould not transfer any Stock, he being

failed.

Mr. Elphinftone. Yes, the Memorandum ewtxed.

in the South-Sea Leidger Book, is, as follows:

Stock not to be transferred without Order from

the Court of DiretJors (he being failed) or Court

of Chancery ; the Words, be being failed, are in a

Parenthefis, and then follow the Words, or Court

of Chancery.

Earl of Macclesfield. Who was then Governor

of the Bank

?

Mr. Elphinftone. I think Mr, Hanger was.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Were the Entries dated ?

Mr. Elphinftone. There was no Date to any of

the Memorandums ; they are wrote juft over Mr.
Dormer's Account, and under a Line drawn to

feparate Mr. Dormer's Account from another Per-

fon's.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Was that before the Trans-

fer made to Edwards ?

Mr. Elphinftone. There is no Date to the Memo-
randum for flopping the Transfer of Mr. Dormer's

Stock ; but it mull be before the Transfer.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. But the Entry in the Books,

was it precedent or fubfequent to the Transfer?

Mr. Elphinftone. When I fearched for the Ac-

count, I found the Account and the Memorandum
for flopping the Transfer of the Stock, placed

over it, in a Book called the Leidger, and when
I fearched for the Transfer of the Stock, I found

that in the Transfer-Book, which is a different

Bcok.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. What Transfer-Book was it ?

Mr. Elphinftone. It was the Transfer-Book

N°; 5. in Page 86. where I found Mr. Dormer's

Transfer, and Mr. Edwards's Acceptance ; but the

Leidger is quite a different Book. It was in the

Leidger marked D that I found the Memorandum
for flopping the Transfer of Mr. Dormer's Stock

to an Order ; and I believe it was the noble Earl's
Hand.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. He hath a Copy of if, I
believe it is proper to put it in, or that it may be
read.

Mr. Lutwyche. Mr. Elphinftone may read it to
your Lordfhips,

Mr. Elphinftone reads. Martis u.July'ijU'
" I do order, that all theBank Stock andAnnuities
" therein fubferibed, belonging to Fleetwood Dor-
" mer, Efq •, late one of the mafters of this Court,
" be by him forthwith transferred to Henry Ed-
" wards the fucceeding mafter." Parker C,

To the Governor, Deputy Governor, and Direc-

tors of the Bank of England.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire he may be afked

Whether he heard any thing of Mr. Dormer's
being gone to take the Air ?

Mr. Elphinftone. No, My Lords, I never did,

upon my Oath.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether he did not hear the

Earl of Macclesfield make a Declaration to that

Purport?

Mr. Elphinftone. I do not remember that the

Noble Lord ever made any fuch Declaration.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. He mentioned feveral Or-
ders he found in the Books of the Bank, as I appre-

hended him ; whether was there any other Order

under My lord Macclesfield's Hand ?

Mr. Elphinftone. No, I faw but one Original

Order, figned by the Noble Earl, of which, this

is a Copy in my Hand.
Mr. Lutwyche. This was an Order under my

Lord's Hand, a confiderable Time after : I defire

he may be afked, whether he hath heard of any

Order directed to the Governor, Deputy Gover-

nor, &c. of the Bank, and fign'd by the Chancel-

lor, and that Original Order left there ?

Mr. Elphinftone. My Lords, I would be very

caulitus of faying any Thing thatldonot remem-

ber ; but I do remember fomethingof a Difcourfe

of an Order given for flopping of Dormer's Stock

and Effects about the Time of Mr. Dormer's ab-

over his Account ; but I could not tell what Day fconding, but when it was I can't tell.

of the month it was entred i there were promif-

cuous Dates in the Year 1720, 21, 22, 23, and

24, to feveral Articles of that and other Accounts,

but no Date to the Memorandum at the Head of

his Account. I took this Copy of it, which I have

in my Pland.

Mr. Lutwyche. Pie did not underftand me : My
Queftion is, Whether or no he hath ever heard of

any Order directed to the Governor, &V. of the

Bank, and figned by the Chancellor, and that Ori-

ginal Order left there ?

Mr. Elphinftone. No, My Lords, I don't fay I

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire to afk one Queftion, heard of any other Order, figned by my Lord

which, indeed, is to explain, what he mentioned

concerning an Order, that I think, he takes to be

figned by my Lord Chancellor. I defire to know
the Date of it?

Mr. Elphinftone. It was a loofe Order brought

tome, dated 11 July iyii.

Mr. Lutwyche. Who brought it?

Chancellor, and directed to the Governor, &c. of

the Bank; but I heard an Order was given by

my lord, to flop Demur's Stock.

Mr. Lutwyche. I only afk, Whether in this, or

any other Inftance, my lord Chancellor made

Orders to the Bank, to be left there ?

Mr.
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Mr. ElphinsJone. I don't know what Orders

are made; it was out of my Province; I had
nothing to do with that ; my Bufinefs was quite

another Thing.

ftop the Transferring of any Stock or Effects in

his Name.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I would beg leave to take

Notice of one Obfervation, that has been made
on the Evidence given in Relation to the Order of

the late lord Chancellor, as tho' it was unufual to

direct any in that manner to the Bank ; but to that

I beg leave to anfwer, that this was not an Order of

Court ; but only a particular Direction, which he,

in his private Capacity, fent to that Company,
out of his great Care to fecure the Effects of the

Suitors; and this, I apprehend, fully clears him
of the Objection made to him of Neglect to do it

in his judicial Capacity.

Mr. Com. Serj. Your lordfhips cannot choofe

but obferve, that this very Thing implies fome
Caution taken, that thefe Effecls of Mr. Dormer's

ihould not be transferred without the Privity of

the Great Seal : This Order, we apprehend, was
for that Purpofe ; and to make this plain, we
fhall fhew, that Mr. Cottingham went from my
Lord Chancellor about this matter.

Mr. Cottingham called.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire Mr. Cottingham

may be afk'd, How he came to have Notice, and
from whom, of Mr. Dormer's withdrawing him-
ielf; and what care was taken to fecure his

Effects ?

Mr. Cottingham. Soon after Christmas, 1720,
to the bed of my Remembrance, as to the Time,
Mr. Parkhursl, Mr. Dormer's Nephew, came to

me, and told me, his Uncle, Mr. Dormer, had
withdrawn himfelf into Holland; and the Reafon
was, upon account of his having left money and
Effects belonging to the Suitors, in Mr. Wilfon's

Hands, and Mr. Wilfon had been very unfortunate

in the South Sea Year, and was likewife gone off.

I acquainted the Earl ofwhat pafTed. The Earl

directed me to attend the two Senior matters,

Mr. Hiccocks and Mr. Rogers, and confider what
was proper to be done on that Occafion. On Con-
fideration, we agreed, that it was neceffary to

get Mr. Dormer over.

We then confidered, that it was not poffible to

have him over, unlefs he was fecure ofhis Liberty.
A propofal was made to the Earl, that in cafe he
came over, he mould have his liberty : The Earl
agreed to it. In the mean Time, to the belt of
my Remembrance, Orders were given for fearch-
ing of his Office, and fecuring what Effects and
Papers were there. The matters told me, that

purfuant to thefe Directions, they had fearched
his Office, and lock'd up what they found there

;

but his Effects there were of very little Value.

The next Step the Earl took, was, he directed

Perfons to go to the Bank and South- Sea Houfe, to

In April following, when Mr. Dormer returned,

he came late to me one Evening, and afked me,
If the letter writ by the matter, was writ by the
Earl's Direction? I told him Yes. He then afked
me, If the Earl had promifed his Liberty? Other-
wife he would be gone again.

I told him the Earl had promifed him his Li-
berty, if he would make a full Difcovery of all

his Effects upon Oath ; and make over all he had
to the two Senior matters, for the Benefit of the
Suitors of the Court ; and affift them in getting in

every Thing that belonged to him.

He faid, thefe Conditions he readily fubmitted
to and would attend the matters accordingly. I

fpoke to Mr. Rogers, to know whether he would
have an Order in Form to examine Mr. Dormer
upon Interrogatories; and that, if he would, I

would prepare one, and get it fign'd. He told me,
It was not neceffary; and that they thought it was
beft to get the Eftateand Effects in the firft Place

before that fhould bedone; fearing if Mr. Dormer
was feverely dealt with, he fhould run away, and
an Order might be had afterwards, if neceffary. I

forgot to tell your Lordfhips one Circumftance:
Some time, in the Summer following, either in

July or August, I happened to dine one Day at

the Blue-PosJs, behind Lincolns-Inn. Mr. Dormer
came to me with Tears in his Eyes ; he cried

bitterly, and faid, That the matters had ftrip'd

him of all he had in the World, and beg'd I

would intercede with the Earl to allow him fome-
thing. I defired him not to infift upon it ; for

his Effects, as I was inform'd, were not fufficient

to pay his Debts, and he knew well, that the

Earl could not give away the Effects of the Sui-

tors ; It was out of his Power.

Mr. Plummer. I think you fay, Sir, That Mr.
Dormer failed, by leaving his money and Effects

in Mr. Wilfon'

s

Hands ; I defire to afk him, What
he means by his Effects ?

Mr. Cottingham. The money and Effects be-

longing to the Suitors of the Court.

Mr. Plummer. And you told my Lord of
that ?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, I told my lord what
Mr. Parkhursl had mention'd of the money and
Effects of the Suitors of the Court being left in

Wilfon's Elands.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he would inform your
lordfhips, whether or no, upon this Occafion

and Tranfaction, he applied to the matters to

make up this Deficiency of Mr. Dormer's ?

Mr. Cottingham. As to the Deficiency of Mr.
Dormer, I always apprehended and underftood,

that the matters would make good that Defi-

ciency, Mr. Lightboun excepted, who always de-

clared, he would do nothing towards it, unlefs

it were put on another Foot.
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Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be afked whe-

ther he gave any fuch Information to the Earl of

Macclesfield ?

Mr. Cottingham. I did fo ; I told the Earl of it

;

and to the beft of my Remembrance Mr. Hiccocks

and Mr. Rogers ; my Lords, I wont be pofitive, but

I think Mr. Hiccocks and Mr. Rogers did order me
to wait upon the Earl, and let his Lordfhip know
that the Body of the mafters had undertaken to

make up the Deficiency •, I do think fo, I will

not be pofitive of that, I think it was fo.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may inform your

Lordfhips, if he knows how it came to pafs that

Mr. Dormer had money in Mr. Wilfon' s Hands ?

Mr. Coltingbam. Mr. Parkhurfi told me, and I

think Mr. Dormer likewife, but of that I am not

certain, that Mr. Dormer had left the money in

his Hands when he went into the Country in the

long Vacation.

Mr. Onflow. I defire he may be afked what

were the Words that Mr. Rogers and Mr. Hiccocks

faid to him when he apprehended the mafters

would make good the Deficiency ?

Mr. Cottingham. I think it was what I told

your Lordfhips, that the Body of the mafters

would make good the Deficiency •, I do not, I

cannot fwearthat pofitively.

Mr. Onflow. Did any other of the mafters tell

you fo?

Mr. Cottingham. Mr. Godfrey told me, I am
pofitive of this, that Mr. Godfrey told me that

the Body of the mafters would make good the

Deficiency •, I muft except Mr. Lightboun.

I have heard Mr. Edwards fay, that he would
never have paid his 500 /. if he had not appre-

hended that it would have been made good.

Mr. Com. Serj. This makes it neceffary for us

to afk another Queftion, and I defire he may be

afked, tho' he doth not remember the particular

Words, yet whether that induced him to believe

that they intended fo to do ?

Mr. Cottingham. It did.

Mr. Com. Serj. Whether upon this Belief he did

inform the noble Earl that they would make good
Mr. Dormer'% Deficiency ?

Mr. Cottingham. I did, I told the noble Earl

fo, and that his Lordfhip needed not to be unea-

fy, they would make it good, and I always ap-

prehended, I always underftood they would make
it good.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire he may be afked whe-
ther the Deficiency of Mr. Dormer was ever ftated

foas to know how much it was.?

Mr. Cottingham. No.
Mr. Lutwyche. Did they agree to make up the

Deficiency when they did not know how much
it was ?

Mr. Cottingham. I heard fome of the mafters

fay at firft, that it was 17,000 /. or 18,000 /. after-

wards they faid 20,000/. and then 22,000/. and

of late it comes out to be 26,000 /.

Mr. Lutwyche. If I underftand Mr. Cottingham

right, he fpeaks of feveral mafters, I defire to

know whether he meansall, except Mr. Lightboun ?

I defire to know whether they all fingly pro-

mifed ?

Mr. Cottingham. Singly, as I remember ; Mr.
Edwards can tell I was at a meeting with them
at the Tavern, I think they faid fingly.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked

whether this Difcourfe with the mafters about

Vol. VI.
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paying this Deficiency was abfolute, or upon fome
particular Terms or Conditions of paying the
money ?

Mr. Cottingham. Mr. Edwards told me that
they would make good the Deficiency, provided
they continued on the old Foot as ufual.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. That is, to have the Dif-
pofal of the money, the money to be in their
Hands ?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire to know whether you
acquainted the Earl of Macclesfield with this?

Mr. Cottingham. No, this was but lately that
Mr. Edwards told me that. It was, I believe, in

November or December laft.

Mr. Lutwyche. Did none of the other mafters
acquaint you fo ?

Mr. Cottingham. No, I don't remember any
other mafter did.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire to afk you whether
you ever heard what Intereft Mr. Wilfon allowed
to Mr. Dormer ?

Mr, Cottingham. In December laft, when the

Accompts were before the Judges, the Earl told

me that Mr. Wilfon' % Compofition was complain-
ed of; it was faid, that Mr. Wilfon had paid

20 5. in the Pound ; and ordered me to talk with

Mr. Wilfon ; and accordingly I did fee him, and
blamed him for impofing upon the mafters in the

Compofition he made with them, when he had
paid other Creditors whole Demand ; he denied it.

Mr. Lutwyche. That is not the Queftion •, what
Intereft did Mr. Wilfon allow Mr. Dormer for the

Suitors Cafh ?

Mr. Cottingham. I am going on to that Part.

Mr. Wilfon faid to me -, why is all the Blame laid

upon me ? I allowed Mr. Dormer very large Inte-

reft for his money : I could have fet afide his

Debt upon the Score of an ufurious Contract -, I

was refolved I would not do it, I would fhew

my felf to all the World to be an honeft man ; I

gave my Creditors all that I had, what would

they have more ?

Mr. Lutwyche. Whether he mention'd Ten
per Cent, or no ?

Mr. Cottingham. No, he did not, but he faid

he had given large high Intereft, and the Court

had had as much as his other Creditors.

Mr. Com. Serj. When was this Difcourfe ?

Mr. Cottingham. It muft have been in December

laft, when the Judges were inquiring into this

matter, becaufe he told me Mr. Edwards had been

with them about the Compofition.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. PvecollecT: what was faid up-

on this Difcourfe, whether he faid that the Court

or the Mafters had as much as any of his other

Creditors ?

Mr. Cottingham. He told me, I am an honeft

man, the mafters had as much as my other Cre-

ditors, what would they have more ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. It is our Misfortune we can't

produce Mr. Wilfon here, we are deprived of his

Evidence, which would have been very material,

by his Death ; we are told he has very lately fhot

himfelf.

Mr. Cottingham. He was very poor, I always

looked upon him to be an honeft man ; he told me

at the fame time, 1 forgot to tell your Lordfhips,

if Mr. Pouller could be but delivered up, he- fhould

be very eafy ; he was fure he was in Circumftancca

to pay him.V
6 O Mr.
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Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, if the Gentlemen

have done with this Witnefs, we defire to call a

Witnefs or two in relation to the fourteenth Arti-

cle, to fhew the Credit of Poulter when his Debt

was affigned. We apprehend that a little Evi-

dence will ferve to clear up the Innocence of this

noble Earl on this Occafion : The great Concern

the noble Earl had to make up this Deficiency of

Mr. Dormer, made him with the bed of his Know-

ledge and Power apply thereto ; a little Evidence

will make it appear, that however unfortunate it

was in the Confequence, he did it to make the

moft he could for the Suitors of the Court.

Mr. Hunt Sworn.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, we call this Wit-

nefs to prove the two Judgments, the one againft

Poulter, to fhew that there was a real Debt due

from Poulter to Wilfon ; the other is a Copy of a

Judgment by Wilfon againft the Marfhal of the

King's Bench, for the Efcape of Poulter.

Mr. Hunt. My Lords, I examined thefe two

Copies of Judgments with the Records in the

Court of King's Bench. They are true Copies

of the Judgments.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be afked whe-

ther he was the Attorney for Mr. Wilfon ?

Mr. Hunt. I was the Attorney for Mr. Wilfon

in that againft Machen, and entred up the Judg-
ment in the other.

Mr. Com. Serj. Is it your Lordfhips Pleafure

that the Judgment fhould be read at large ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Read only a Word or two of

the Judgments, the Names of the Plaintiff and

Defendant, the money demanded, and the Sums
recovered.

Clerk reads the Beginning and Ending.

Memorandum quod alias, fcilicet Termino Santli

Hilarii uW prceterit' coram Domino Rege ven* Wil-

lielm' Wilfon verfus Edvardum Poulter—.Ideo confi-

deraf eft quodprcsdicl' Willielm' recuperet verfusprcs-

faf Edvardum Poulter damnafua, que quidam dam-

na in totofe attingunt ad oclodecim millefeptingeni' £f?

fexagint' libras duodecim folid' & quinque denar'.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. The firft is againft Poulter.

Mr. Lutwyche. Look when the Judgment was
figned.

Mr. Hunt. It was figned 22 Dec. 172 1.

Tke Judgment read againft Machen.

Placita coram Domino Rege apud Weftm' de Term1

Sancli Michaelis, undecimo Georgii. Memorandmn
quod Willielm' Wilfon—protulit—billam—verf Ri-

chardum Machen—.de placito debiti—quod reddat

ei oclodecim mille feptingent' otloginf £s? uri
1

lib.' - •

Ideo confiderat' eft quod prad' Willielm' Wilfon recu-

peret &c.

Judgment figned 27 Nov. 1724.
Mr. Com. Serj. If your Lordfhips pleafe he may

be asked if he knows of any Offer made by Poul-

ter for a Compofition, and what Sum of money
was offered, and how Mr. Wilfon behaved himfelf

on that Occafion.

Mr. Hunt. I don't know of any Compofition
offered, of my own Knowledge, I have heard the

prefent Marfhal of the King's Bench fay, there was
1000 /. offered; but I had Orders from my Client,

if any Offer was made to me, not to accept it,

but to refer the Perfon who made it to him.
Mr. Com. Serj. As Mr. Wilfon is dead," I de-

fire Mr. Hunt may be asked Whether Mr. Wilfon
gave any Reafon for that Order not to compound
with him?
Mr. Hunt. Mr. Wilfon hath often faid that it

was his Opinion Mr. Poulter was able to pay him.
Mr. Com. Serj. We have done, my Lords, with

this Witnefs.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we beg leave to
call a Witnefs to fhew that at this Time Mr.
Poulter had the Reputation of being a man of
Subftance, and an honeft man.

Mr. Peter Gandy Sworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I defire Mr. Gandy
may give your Lordfhips an Account whether
Mr. Poulter had not the Reputation of being a
fubftantial man about the year 1722 or 1723.
Mr. Gandy. Mr. Poulter always lived in good

Reputation, and was reputed to be an honeft
man ; he lived at Hackney, he told me he pur-
chafed 6000 /. South-Sea Stock, which coft him
36,000/. and transferred it to Mr. Knight, and
Mr. Knight gave him nothing for it.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire to ask you whether
he was a fubftantial honeft man ?

Mr. Gandy. I believe he was ; he always bore
an extraordinary Character, I believe I might fum-
mon all Exchange-Alley, and they would fay the

fame 1 he was reputed to be worth a great deal

of money and a very honeft man.
Mr. Lutwyche. At what time was this that he

was thought a man of Subftance ?

Mr. Gandy. When he lived at Hackney.

Mr. Lutwyche. After he was arretted ?

Mr. Gandy, Yes.

Mr. Lutwyche. Will you fay after he was ar-

retted he was a fubftantial man?
Mr. Gandy. No, my Lords, I do not fay he

was, but he was generally reputed to be fo.

Mr. Lutwyche. Whether at the fame time you
mention that he told you the Circumftance of

transferring Stock to Mr. Knight, that was not

given as a Reafon for his Deficiency.

Mr. Gandy. He faid he had been able to pay
Mr. Wilfon every Farthing, if Mr. Knight had not

gone away.

Mr. Lutwyche. That is what Mr. Poulter told

Mr. Gandy.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be asked

when Poulter was firft known to be in a failing

Condition ?

Mr. Gandy. I don't know.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When was he arrefted ?

Mr. Gandy. I don't know ; he told me he

fhould have been able to have paid Mr. Wilfon if

Mr. Knight had not gone away.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did he give you that as a

Reafon why he could not pay Mr. Wilfon ?

Mr. Gandy. Mr. Knight not paying him, he

faid he could not pay Mr. Wilfon.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was that the Reafon ?

Mr. Gandy. Here is another Gentleman will

tell you he was employed to make a Compofition
with Mr. Wilfon and he can tell you more.

Mr. Onflow. What was Poulter's Profeffion ?

Mr. Gandy. He was a Servant to Mr. Stroud.

Mr. Onflow. What is Mr. Stroud?

Mr. Gandy. Mr. Stroud is a Sworn Broker.

Mr.
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Mr. Onflow. I defire to know what Profefiion

this Perfon is of?

Mr. Gaudy. I tranfact in Exchange-Alley as a

Broker.

Mr. Lutwyche. Did not Mr. Poulter tranfact as

a Broker too ?

Mr. Gandy. Yes.

Dr. Sayer. We are not now upon the Point

what he was really worth at that time, but what

his Reputation and Character was, and therefore

we defire to know what that was, whether he was

not looked upon as a fubftantial man ?

Mr. Gandy. He bore a good Character.

Mr. Strange. What was his Character, as to his
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Mr. Scott. He faid he looked upon Mr. Poulter

not to be an honeft man, and that he could pay
more ; I faid he had better take that than keep
him in Prifon.

Mr. Com. Serj. Notwithstanding thefe private
Intimations of his Difability, I defire to know
what was his general Character as to his Circum-
ftances ?

Mr. Scott. He was looked upon to be a very
honeft man, and in good Circumftances ; he hath
been trufted with Thoufands and Thoufands of
Pounds.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

Whether the money, the 24,000 I. JVilfon lent to
him, was not for Stock-jobbing, for him to traf-Circumftances at that time

Mr. Gandy. His Character was then very good, fick with in the Alley

and fo continued till he was put in Prifon. Mr. Scott. I know nothing at all of that.

Mr,
Mr,

Strange. Where is he now ?

Gandy. He is at Rotterdam.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether he hath not decla-

red fo ?

Mr. Scott. No, I know nothing of that-, when-
ever I was in Company with Mr. Wilfon he was

Scott may in- always very fhy, and would not fpeak freely,

form your Lordihips whether he knew Mr. Poul- Mr. Plummer. I defire he may be afked, Whe-
ter, and what his Character and Reputation was, ther in June or May 1720, he looked upon Mr.
as to Subftance. Poulter to be a good man ?

Mr. Scott. Mr. Poulter I had been acquainted Mr. Scott. Mr. Poulter, in April or May 172 1,

with a great many Years ; I looked upon him to told me his Circumftances, and defired me to go

Mr. Scott Sworn.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire that Mr.

be a very honeft man ; and in the Year 1720 he

tranfacted abundance of Bufinefs, and I did a great

deal of Bufinefs for him, and fome other Gentle-

men at that time, as a Scrivener. In the Year

1720, upon the Fall of the Stocks, he came and

told me he was ruined by it, and begged of me
to affift him. He told me at firft he had fome
Accompts depending with Mr. JVilfon.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may repeat it,

where he told him, and when ?

Mr. Scott. About December 1720, before Mr.
Knight went away, he faid he had large Accompts
with Mr. Wilfon, and that he was utterly ruined,

becaufe he faid he had transferred 6000 /. South-

Sea Stock to Mr. Knight, which coft him 40,000/.

or better, and if he could not get it ofMr. Knight,

he muft be ruined. He told me I was acquainted

to Mr. Wilfon to meet thofe Gentlemen, and to

treat with them ; but everybody then, except four

or five Perfons to whom he had made known his

Circumftances, reputed him an honeft and a fub-

ftantial man.

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may inform your
Lordihips, In May 1721, what his general Cha-
racter was, or what was generally thought by
other People of him, without relation to his own
particular Knowledge.

Mr. Scott. He was looked upon as a man of

Subftance, and a very honeft man.

Mr. Sandys. I defire he would explain himfelf;

Whether he was looked upon at that time by him-

felf to be a fufficient man, and able to anfwer the

Demand of Mr. Wilfon ?

Mr. Scott. He had told me a Reafon to induce

with feveral Gentlemen of Mr. Wilfon's Acquain- me to have but an ill Opinion of his Ability, that

tance, and defired me to fpeak to him or them a-

bout this matter.

Sometime after Mr. Wilfon's Agents, Mr. Afh-

ton, I think, and one Mr. Newton, fent to Mr. Poul-

ter, and defired a meeting on the Behalf of Mr.
Wilfon. I went on the Behalf of Mr. Poulter, and

carried a Friend with me ; we met at the Crown
tavern over againft St. Clement's Church, and we
told them how Mr. Poulter was ferved •, that Mr.
Knight had fo much Stock of his without any man-
ner of Confideration, as Mr. Poulter had told us

;

that Mr. Poulter was willing to do any thing

they could expeft. Some confiderable time after-

wards, I heard Mr. Poulter had been arrefted, and

he defired me, as being acquainted with Mr. Wil-

fon, to go to Mr. Wilfon and. fee if I could make
up the Affair, he apprehended that his Bail would

furrender him : Whereupon I went to Mr. Wilfon,

and told him, that Mr. Poulter protefted to me he

was worth but 3500 /. or thereabouts, and that

he would endeavour to get Friends to make it up
4000 /. if Mr. Wilfon would accept it. I was with

Mr. Wilfon feveral times about this matter, but he

would not accept it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did he give any Reafon why
he would not accept it ?

he had transferred 6000 /. Stock to Mr. Knight,

which coft him 40,000 /. and upwards.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether Mr. Poulter at that

time went on dealing in the way of Bufinefs as he

did before ?

Mr. Scott. No, I believe he did not at that

time: I believe in 1720 his Bufinefs was done,

and he thought himfelf worth a great deal ofmo-

ney.

Dr. Sayer. Whether in the Year 1720 he was

not looked upon to have got a great deal of mo-

ney, and for that Reafon to have quitted his Bufi-

nefs ?

Mr. Scott. It was then taken fo •, he was then

looked upon as a man of great Subftance : There

were not above five who knew his Circumftances

to be otherwife ; he was generally looked upon

then to be a man of Subftance.

Mr. Lutwyche. It is a very furprifing way to

eftablifh a man's Reputation to fay he was a man

of Subftance when he offered a Compofition, and

at the fame time he could not pay his Debts, he

is underftood to be a man of Subftance •, I defire

to know, Whether it was after or before you

had that meeting, and offered the Compofi-

Mr.
tiom



©> 8 1 9 J • The Trial of Thomas Earl of Macclesfield,

Mr. Scott. I believe it was after.

Mr. Lutwyche. Did you take him to be a man
of Subftance afterwards, after you had offered a

Compofition for him ?

Earl of Macclesfield. This Gentleman hath an-

io G. I.

of concealing the Deficiency of Dormer's Of-
fice.

For which Purpofe, my Lords, it is faid the
Accompts of the mafters were called for, not
with any Defign ofexamining the Accompts, but

fwered two Things very confident, that he and with an Intent to terrify the mafters, and oblioe
three or four more, who knew Mr. Poulter's Cir- them to contribute towards anfwering the De-
cumftances, knew that he was not a man of Sub- mands that fhould be made upon that Office:
ftance then, but that all other People looked upon And as an Inftance of this Defign, the Commons
him to be a man of Subftance, and he tells you charge, That after a Contribution by nine of the
how he came to be fo efteemed. mafters, the Earl did not oblige them to bring in

Mr. Scott. Yes, fo it was. their Accompts.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire to know again, whether That upon occafion of another Sum of mo-
after the Year 1720, he tranfacted Bufinefs as he

ufed to do ?

Mr. Scott. No.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire to know again, where

he lived after the Year 1720, and what means he

had to live upon, befides his Bufinefs?

Mr. Scott. He lived as a Gentleman at Hack-

ney, had his Houfe well furnifhed and full of

Plate •, I have been at his Houfe feveral times.

Mr. Lutwyche. How long ago ?

Mr. Scott. I believe a Year and a half, or two

Years ago ?

ney wanted to pay off a Suitor who had an
Order for money in Dormer's Office, the noble
Earl preffed the mafters to raife it amongft
themfelves ; and, upon their Refufal, caufed his

Secretary to pay it : And that notwithftanding
this Notice of Dormer's Deficiency, an Order
was afterwards made for Mr. Edwards to en-
quire, whether there was likely to be a Lofs of
any money depofited with Mr. Dormer.
And as a farther Inftance of this Endeavour

to conceal the Deficiency, it is infilled on, that

feveral Orders were made for the paying fome
Dr. Sayer. I don't apprehend it is material what Suitors the whole of their Demand, without re-

this Gentleman thought from the private Conver- gard to that juft Proportion to which the other

fation he had with Mr. Poulter. The general Suitors were entitled.

Reputation is fufficient for us to juftify what was

done •, I defire he may be afked, whether till that

Converfation he himfelf did not look upon him

to be a man of Subftance ?

Mr. Scott. I looked upon him to be a man of

Subftance, till he told me he was fo unhappy that

This, my Lords, is the State of the Complaint
contained in thefe three Articles.

And as to the firft part of the Complaint in

calling for the Accompt, and terrifying the ma-
fters into a Contribution, I fhall beg leave to

infift upon two Facts ; either of which, in my
he could not get his forty thoufand Pounds and humble Apprehenfion, will be a fufficient De-
upwards of Mr. Knight. fence againft the Charge.

Mr. Lutwyche. When was it he told youfo? The firft, my Lords, is, That the Contribu-

Mr. Scott. I believe fome time in December 1 720 tion was voluntary : And the next is, That long

that he told me fo firft. after this Contribution the Accompts were con-

Mr. Lutwyche, The Compofition was in 1722. tinued to be called for, notwithftanding it is

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked charged to have been dropp'd immediately up-

one general Queftion,Whether after the Year 1 72 1 on the Contribution.

Mr. Poulter retained any Character of Sufficiency To prove the Contribution voluntary, I beg
or Ability? leave, my Lords, in the firft place to look back

Mr. Scott. He was looked upon by every one upon Mr. Lightboun's Evidence, where he ac-

that did not know this Affair of Mr. Knight's, to quainted your Lordfhips, that upon his afking

be a man of Sufficiency in 172 1. the noble Earl, who the Propofal came from,

Mr. Lutwyche. After 172 1, Whether it was not the Earl's Anfwer was, That it came from fome
of the mafters : And he concluded his Accompt
of that Converfation with informing your Lord-
fhips, that upon his declining to contribute, the

generally known that Mr. Poulter was an ineffici-

ent man ?

Mr. Scott. No, I believe not.

Earl of Abingdon. If they have done, I defire to Earl left him to his Liberty

afk this Witnefs a Queftion, Whether it was gene-

rally known that Mr. Poulter had tranfacted for

Mr. Knight ?

Mr. Scott. Not as I know of, I believe not.

But, my Lords, not to reft it upon Mr. Ligbt-

boun's Evidence only, we fhall call Mr. Cotting-

ham, who was acquainted with the whole Trans-

action, and will inform your Lordfhips, that the

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we fhall trouble Contribution was altogether voluntary, and of
your Lordfhips with no further Evidence on this their own Propofal.

Article. So ifyour Lordfhips pleafe, we fhall now My Lords, the other Branch of the Article, and
proceed to the other Articles. which indeed is the Jet of the whole, relates to

Mr. Strange. With your Lordfhips Permiffion the dropping the Defign of looking into the Ac-

we will now go on to the next Set of Articles compts upon the making of this Contribution,

that were opened by the managers for the Ho- which we fhall be able to falfify ; and the Ac-
nourable Houfe of Commons, which are the fif- count, my Lords, we fhall give of the whole

teenth, fixteenth and feventeenth Articles. And I

fhall now, as I did before, confine my felf to

thefe particular Articles.

Tranfaclion is this

In February iy20, Mr.Cottingham,bythe'E^r\'s

Directions, wrote a Letter to the Mafters, re-

The Charge, my Lords, in thefe three Articles quiring them to make up their Accompts, and

confiftsof feveral Acts fuppofed to be done by, or prefent them to the Earl, according to a Plan

by the Order of, the noble Earl within the Bar, which he imparted to them in that Letter,

and are laid to be all tending to the fame Defign

2 Your
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Your Lordfhips arepleafed to obferve, that Mr.

Dormer's failure was at Chfiftmas, and this Letter

in February following, before Mr. Dormer had any

leave to come over, or any Difcovery had been

made of the Condition of his Office.

My Lords, The ufe which the Honourable

managers. fay was to be made of this Letter, was

fo little underftood, that fome of the maftersdid,

purfuant thereto, make up and deliver in an Ac-

count, tho' not according to the Directions they

had received-, and the Affair of Mr. Dormer co-

ming on, caufed a Stop in making up thefe Ac-
compts, till after the appointing a Succefibr, and

the making the Contribution, which, I think, is

already fixed to have been in or about Angus! 1721*

My Lords, The Summer being then far ad-

vanced, and every Body going out of Town, the

Accompts were not exacted at that Time ; but

upon their Return to London a new Order was fent

by Mr. Cottingbam in November, with frefh Di-

rections for bringing in their Accompts.

My Lords, I muft here beg leave to obferve,

that if the Contribution was all that was aimed

at by calling for thefe Accompts, how comes it to

pafs that Mr. Ligbtboun, who never contributed,

was not called upon, in a particular manner, to

bring in his Accompt, which, I did not obferve,

was proved, or fo much as opened by the learned

and Mtfdemeanors. 679

managers:

My Lords, The true Reafon why thefe Ac-
compts were not brought in, was the infuperable

Difficulties of fuch an Undertaking; of which, I

am perfuaded, no other Evidence need be given,

than to reflect on the Proceedings that have been

of late in taking thefe Accompts.

But, my Lords, a learned manager was pleafed

to fay, Why did this noble Earl keep the Office,

if he was not able to do the Bufinefs of it? I hope

your Lordfhips won't think the noble Earl was

idle all the while: Every Body knows the great

Variety of Bufinefs, and the continual hurry a

Chancellor is in : The ordinary Bufinefs of the

Court of Chancery is fufficient to engage a Man
of uncommon Application : What a Fatigue then,

my Lords, muft it be, when the necefTary Atten-

dance upon your Lordfhips, and at the Council

Table, are both taken into the Account ? Sure I

am, my Lords, it can never be faid, that there

was no want of Time or Leifure for taking thefe

Accompts.

My Lords, The next Branch of the Charge
is the Order for 1000/. to Mrs. Chitty, which it is

faid was paid by the Noble Earl's Direction, in

order to conceal the Deficiency : But pray, my
Lords, does not the Article and Evidence both

deftroy the Suppofition? Could the Earl of Mac-
clesfield intend to conceal the Deficiency, when he

cautioned Lockman againft marrying Mrs. Cbitty,

in profpect of any more Money to be coming out

of Dormer's Office. " That this would be the lasl

" Payment (I give your Lordfhips the very Words)
*' Jhe was like to receive out of the Money paid into

" the Hands ofMr. Dormer, for the Refidue thereof

" was in danger of being loft, by reafon of the De-
*' ficiency in the Ejfetls of Mr. Dormer." Is this,

my Lords, a Concealment of the Deficiency? A
Payment of 1000 /. of the Noble Earl's own Mo-
ney, in order that the Suitor fhould have no fuf-

picion of a Deficiency !

But to go further, my Lords, we fhall fhew,

that the payment of this Money did not proceed

Vol. VI.

from any fuch low Motive, as, I may fay, is un-
charitably reprefented in this Article, but from a
noble Mixture of Generofity and Companion.
Mr. Lockman, my Lords, reprefented himfelf

as an undone Man if he had not the Money : He
firft infinuated himfelf among the Noble' Earl's
Servants, as a Perfon under the utmoft Diftrefs %

and the frequent Solicitations, which himfelf
owns, are a ftrong Evidence of that Diftrefs :

When he had gained Accefs to the Ear], he told his
Story in fo moving a manner, not without Intima-
tions of fome defperate Refolution he might be
forced to take if he had not the Money againft the
time, that, in pure Companion to his" Diftrefs,
the Noble Earl (whofe Purfe was always open
to the Unfortunate) was prevailed with to order
him the Money. And we fhall prove to your
Lordfhips, that how little fenfible foever he now
is of fo great a Favour, yet at that time he ex-
prefs'd himfelf in Terms of one the moft highly
obliged ; and I believe when our WitnefFes to
this Tranfaction come to be examined, they will
leave Mr. Lockman very little Credit with your
Lordfhips, and will wipe away the moft remote
fufpicion^ of affecting any Concealment by this

Tranfaction.

My Lords, The laft Branch of this Article re-

lates to a Declaration faid to be made by the Earl
in the Caufe of Harper and Cafe, and an Order
made therein for Mr. Edwards to enquire if there
was likely to be a Lofs of any Money depofited
with Mr. Dormer.

My Lords, The particular Occafion and manner
of that Declaration and Order have been fully fta-

ted by the Evidence we have already given of the

feveral Judgments and Proceedings that have been
againft Mr. Poulter and the Marfhal, which I fhall

not trouble your Lordfhips with a repetition of, it

being fufficient for my Purpofe in anfwering it as

an Inftance of Concealment, to obferve, that the

whole Tranfaction was after the Accompts of the

Mafters had been laid before the Committee of
Council, when it was too late, and to no purpofe

to affect any Concealment.

My Lords, The laft Branch of the Charge I

am now upon, relates to the making Orders for

paying to feveral Suitors their whole Demand, out

of the Effects of Mr. Dormer, without regard to

that juft Proportion to which the other Suitors

were intitled : And the Cafe of Eddisbury was men-
tioned for this purpofe ; tho' I did not obferve the

Gentlemen enter'd into any Proof of what was
done in that Cafe.

My Lords, In Proofof this Article feveral Or-

ders were read : Bat I appeal to the Evidence of

Mr. Edwards, whether it did not appear, upon

his crofs Examination, that it was but in one Caufe

only where the whole Money was paid out; and

whether that fingle Inftance is a fufficient Proof

of this Article, I muft fubmit to your Lordfhips.

But, my Lords, the true Anfvver is this: Both

the Noble Earl and Mr. Edwards doubted not

but that the Deficiency would be made good, and

proceeded upon that Expectation ; nor can a

ftronger Evidence be given (and I defire it may
be applied to fome of the other Articles) that they

were under this Perfuafion, than Mr. Edwards's

making Payments without any Objection.

Efpecially, my Lords, when it is confider'd

too, that Mr. Ligbtboun, who was fo averfe at firft

to any Contribution, has. in that letter which.

6 P has
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has been read to your Lordfhips, mentioned fe- again, together with many other Particulars which
veral of his own Schemes for making good the his lordfhip thought neceffary for his more exact

Deficiency. Information. It will be likewife made appear to

And if there was a Profpeft of making good the your lordfhips, how the Mafters were feverally

Deficiency (as I humbly apprehend it is plain confulted with about this Matter, and that the

there was) it was very proper and natural to make Affiftance of the Matter of the Rolls was at length

the Orders in the manner they are now complain'd called in. But all the Mafters agreeing, and par-

o'f. The nature of ordering Money out of Court ticularly Mr. Holford (who had been in the Office

makes it impoflible the Suitors fhould call for it for twelve Years) that it was next to impoffible

all at once, but the fame is order'd out by De- to bring in their Accompts, as firft directed,

grees: And Mr. Cottingham^ taking an Affignment in any reafonable Time-, then it was, and not

of Chittfs Order, fhews plainly, that it was ex- before, that the noble Earl condefcended that

pected Effects would in time come in to difcharge they might bring them in in a different Manner,
that, and all other Demands. Now, my lords, as to the Suggeftion that all

I would not, my Lords, be underftood by any this was only a Scheme, made ufe of to terrify

thing I have offered, as if I intended to difpute the the Mafters into a Contribution towards Dormer's

Rule of Equity that has been laid down by the Sufficiency, give me leave to fay it is impoffible

Managers, That where feveral Perfons have De- to collect the leaft View of that Kind from the

mands out of one Common Fund that cannot an- Evidence laid before your lordfhips on that Head ;

fwer the whole, there ought to be an Average in for the Mafters who did contribute on this Occa-

fuchCafe: But what I fhall beg leave to infift fion, have all fworn that they paid in their Mo-
uponis, That that Rule only holds place where the ney voluntarily, and without being any ways in-

Quantum of what is left to anfwer is fix'd and cer- fluenced by his lordfhip's Threats or Perfuafions;

tain. In this Cafe the Effects were daily coming fo far from that, that Mr. Ligbtboun (the only

in, and therefore a Declaration of an Average Mafter who refufed concurring in this Contribu-

where there was likely to be no Deficiency, would tion) made no other Objection at firft to it,

not, in my humble Apprehenfion, have been ad- than that the Propofal did not come from his

vifable or proper. lordfhip, but from the other Mafters •, for in

I beg leave, my Lords, to clofe my Obferva- that Cafe he declared, That, if it had come from
tions upon all the Articles relating to the Conceal- the noble Earl himfelf, he might have had more
ment of Dormer's Deficiency, with fubmitting it Regard to it, and would have taken it into his

to your Lordfhips Judgment, if the whole Tranf- Confideration. So that we doubt not upon the

action does not fpeak itfelf to have been one con- whole, but it will plainly be made appear to your

tinued Endeavour to fecure to the Suitors their lordfhips, that the conftant Application which
whole Demand, and to have been no more. the noble Earl made from time to time to the

Mr. Serj. Probyp. My Lords, the Managers, Mafters for this Purpofe, proceeded from no 0-

when they entered upon thefe Articles, produ- ther View, than that as foon as he might be truly

ced an Order made by the late Lord Chancellor, informed of the State of their Offices, he fhould

in the Year 1720, by which the Mafters were apply proper Remedies to whatever Abufes he

obliged to bring in their Accounts, which as fhould difcover •, and that as this was always his

they charge to have been concerted with other real Intention, fo he would have put it effectual-

Views, and for very different Ends than at firft ly in Execution, had he not refigned the Great

appear, we think it will be extreamly proper for Seal fo foon.

us to begin our Defence to that Part of the Mr. Com. Serj. My lords, we fhall call a Wit-
Charge with a Witnefs who is ready to fhew nefs to fhew, that after the 500/. apiece was

your Lordfhips the real Defigns the impeached paid, the Accompts were called for ; it cannot

Earl had in calling for thefe Accompts; and his then be pretended, that this calling for the Ac'
Evidence, we humbly conceive, will fatisfy your compts was to terrify the Mafters to pay this

Lordfhips that it could be for no other Purpofe 500/. apiece.

than that the Earl might the better know the The Time of the Payment of thefe five hundred

true State and Condition of their refpective Offi- Pounds was in Augufl ; thefe Accompts were called

ces, in order to find out a proper Method of for in the Beginning of November.

redreffing fuch Grievances as were moft appre-

hended at that Time. My lords, it will appear Mr. Cottingham called,

by the Courfe of the fame Witnefs's Evidence, Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire Mr. Cottingham would

that the other Order that was made upon them inform your lordfhips whether any Directions

afterwards in December following, in as ftrong were given to call in thofe Accompts about No-
Terms as the former, could be for no other vember, 1721.

Reafon or Purpofe than that his lordfhip hath Mr. Cottingham. I did in November, by the

affigned in his Anfwer, that he might underftand Direction of the Earl, write a letter dated the

the State of the feveral Offices, fo as to be able 7'h Nov. 1721.

to apply proper Remedies to the Danger which L. Ch. Jujl. King. Have you any Draught of

was then dreaded. All this will appear yet more that letter?

fully from the Evidence of another Witnefs, Mr. Cottingham. I have a Draught, the Com-
who is to inform your lordfhips of the parti- mittee required me to leave the letter with them,

cular Directions the Noble Earl gave about the Mr. Lulwyche. My lords, we will do the

Manner of bringing in thefe Accompts, with the noble Earl all the Juftice we can; here are the

Names of the Caufes of the refpective Solicitors letters.

concerned in them, and alfo what the feveral Sums Mr. Cottingham. The firft letter is dated Feb.

firft paid in were, the Time when fo paid in, and 14. 1720.

alfo when the fame or any Part were paid out Mr. Lutxvyche. Who is it directed to?

Mr.
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Mr. Cottingbam. The Letter is directed to

each mafter, and this is the letter.

68
Bennet, Mr.
Mr. Conway,

Holford, Mr. Barrett, Mr. Godfrey,
and Mr. Lovibond.

SIR,

IAm commanded by my lord Chancellor to fig-

nify to you, that you do with all convenient

Speed lay before his lord/hip an Accompt in fe-

veral Columns,

Of the Name of the Caufe.

The Solicitor or Agent.

The Date of the Order.

For what Purpofe the money was brought in.

How much was brought in.

When.
How much in Hand.

How much on Security,

How much paid out.

i.

2.

3-

4-

5-

6.

7-

8.

A diftinct Account of the Securities,

Caufe.

From whom the Security is taken.

What the Security is.

In whofe Name taken.

For how much each Security.

The total of the feveral Securities in the

fame Caufe.

7. In whofe Hands lodged.

1.

2.

3-

4-

5-

6.

A diftinct Accompt of money paid out.

1. Caufe.

2. By what Order, and of what Date.

3. When paid.

4. To whom.
Your very humble Servant,

14 Feb. 1720. P. Cottingbam

SIR,

BY my letter of the fourteenth of February

laft, I fignify'd to you my lord Chancellor's

Pleafure; which was that you fhould with all

convenient Speed lay your Accompt before his

Lord (hip ; (the method whereof was to be in fe-

veral Columns fubfcribed at the Foot of that let-

ter.) I am now further to acquaint you, that his

lordfhip is very much furprized to find, that in

all this Time no fuch Accompt hath been laid

before him : And therefore hath commanded me
to tell you, that it is expected to be delivered

in, on or before the laft Day of this Term. And,

if this is not comply'd with, you will oblige his

Lordfhip (though very unwillingly) to think of

other meafures •, which I doubt not but you will

avoid, by a ready Compliance with what is a

fecond time required of you. And to the End
there may be no miftake as to the method of

your accompting, I here fubfcribe it again at the

Foot of this Letter ; and am,
Sir,

Your very humble Servant,

J Nov. ij2\. P. Cottingbam.

To the beft of my Remembrance, this Letter

was delivered to ten of the mafters.

Mr. Lutwycbe. Did you read it to them ?

Mr. Cottingbam. No : I am going to give you

an Account. My Lords, according to a Memo-
randum! kept at that Time of this letter, it was

delivered to ten of the mafters: to Mr. Rogers,

Mr. Hiccocks, Mr. Fellowes, Mr. Ligbtboun, Mr,

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We defire that the fecond
Letter in Nov. 1721. may be read.
Mr. Cottingbam. The fecond Letter is dated

7 Nov. 1721. " Sir, by my letter of the fourteenth
" of February laft, I fignify'd, fcfr. N.47."
Mr. Serj. Probyn. By this it appears to be after

the feveral 500 Pounds were paid in, the laft 500
Pounds was paid in in August, before, which
fhews that thefe Accompts were to be delivered
in for no other Reafon than that the Suitors
fhould have Satisfaction, as foon as a proper Re-
medy could be found.

Mr. Ccm. Serj. I beg leave to make one Ob-
fervation-, here is .

_
Mr. Lutwycbe. If they have any more Que-

ftions to afk the Witneffes, they may ; the Ob-
ferving is proper afterwards.

Dr. Sayer. I only beg leave to afk this one
Queftion, to be better informed. The Letter re-

cites, it is written by the Command of my lord

Chancellor: I would afk whether my lord Chan-
cellor did give fuch Directions ?

Mr. Cottingbam. Yes, my Lords, he did.

Mr. Plummer. If they have done with the

Queftion, I would afk Mr. Cottingbam in the

Words of his own Letter, Whether the Earl of
Macclesfield did oblige the mafters to deliver in

their Accompts in Purfuance of fuch his faid

Order?

Mr. Cottingbam. Of the Letter of November

1 72 1. I have kept no Memorandum ; of the firft

Letter I have.

Mr. Plummer. Whether that Letter of 172 1.

was delivered to the mafters?

Mr. Cottingbam. I believe it was.

Mr. Plummer. Then I defire to know, if the

mafters did deliver in their Accompts?
Mr. Cottingbam. I don't remember they did.

Mr. Plummer. I defire he may be asked, if after

this time that the 500/. was paid in Obedience

to the firft letter, there was afterward any other

Demand made upon the mafters for more money ?

Mr. Cottingbam. I know of no Demand made
upon them, except the 500 /. apiece.

Mr. Plummer. I defire he may be afk'd if he

doth not remember Mrs. Chitifs Affair, and if

that was not after 1721 ?

Mr. Cottingbam. The Bufinefs of Mrs. Cbitty

was but in July laft.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

Whether fince no Accompt was called for after

this laft Letter, whether he did not underftand

the Reafon to be, becaufe he apprehended the

mafters would make good Mr. Dormer's Defi-

ciency ?

Dr. Sayer. My Lords, I fubmit it, whether

that Queftion is material as to what his Appre-

henfion was ; yourlordfhips are Judges only upon

Evidence of Fact, and not upon his Thoughts or

Apprehenfions.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Why were not the Accompts

called for afterwards?

Mr. Cottingbam. I really can't tell the Reafon.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether he acquainted my
Lord Macclesfield that the mafters would make

good the Deficiency ?

Mr. Cottingbam. I told your lordfhips I did.

Mr.
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Therefore I defire he may
be afked, Whether after that Time he received

any Orders to fend to the matters to give in their

Accounts?

Mr. Cottingham. I can't fpeak particularly as

to the Times.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether thofe other mea^

fures, intimated in his letter to be taken, were

not fignify'd to him by my Lord Macclesfield to

be, that the Cafh fhould be taken out of their

Hands ?

Mr. Cottingham. My Lord called me into his

Study, and directed me to write this Letter; all

he faid was, he was forry that the mafters had

not brought in their Accompts as he required,

and that if they did not bring them in by the

laft Day of the Term, he faid he would take

other meafures : My Lord did not fay to me what
thofe other meafures were, whether it was to

make an Order in Form, and then he fhould ex-

pect they would yield Obedience to it; all the

Earl told me was no more than to write to the

mafters, that he would take other meafures, what
thofe other meafures were I do not know, but I

apprehended it to be an Order his Lordfhip

would make for obliging him to it.

Mr. Snell. I defire he may be afked, Whether
he did not himfelf apprehend by thofe other mea-

fures, the taking the money out of the mafters

Hands ?

E. of Macclesfield. My lords, I fubmit it whe-

ther a Qyeftion of this kind is proper ; he hath

been afked what thofe meafures were; he hath

told your lordfhips that he knows not, but he

lias faid what he apprehended they were ; if now
any Fact occur to him that may give Reafon for

apprehending othemvife, let him acquaint your

lordfhips with it.

Mr. Cottingham. Your Lordfhip faid you would

take other meafures ; what I apprehended was,

your lordfhip would make an Order in form if

they did not comply with that letter.

Dr. Sayer. My lords, I beg leave to afk one

Queftion: Whether the mafters, after this let-

ter was brought to them by Mr. Cottingham, did

not reprefent to him the Difficulty of making up

their Accompts?
Mr. Cottingham. There were feveral Particu-

lars mention'd in the former Letter, there was the

Caufes to be named, &c. Some of the mafters

told me they had not kept their Accompts fo as

to anfwer all the Particulars in the letter; others

faid it would take up a great deal of Time ; others

that the manner required was very difficult and

tedious, and that it was almoft impracticable,

fo many Items were contained in the letter, that

they feemed to fay it could not be done.

Dr. Sayer. I defire he may be afked, Whether
he hath any Paper of the method of Accompting
required by the Committee, that his majefty

was pleafed to direct to look into this matter?

Mr. Cottingham. I have not a Copy of it here.

There is an original Order, if the mafters pleafe

to produce it, 1 left it with Mr. Lightboun.

' Mr. Com. Serj. If the Gentlemen have it, I

hope they will produce it.

Mr. Cottingham. The original Order is of the

third of November laft, which I lef t figned by the

Earl.

E. of Macclesfield. This will come more pro-

perly under another Article : The Gentlemen,

the mafters, will take Care to look it out that it

may be ready by that Time.
Mr. Cottingham. My Lords, I have now found

it; I can'rfay it is a true Copy, dated the third
of November, 1724. figned Macclesfield, C. Let
the feveral Mafters Am I to read it mv
Lords ?

y

Mr. Lutwyche. What, the Order of the third
of November laft ?

Mr. Com.Serj. This Order cannot relate to this
matter. We are now upon the fecond Letter in
1721. The Letter is framed in fo ftrong Terms
that it can't be fuppofed but the Earl was very
much in Earneft, and it can't be infinuated as if
intended to make the mafters comply in the Af-
fair of Mrs. Chitty and Lockman, becaufe that
Tranfaction was but in July laft.

Earl of Macclesfield. I defire, my Lords, to go
a little back again, upon recollecting that the Que-
ftion the honourable Manager was pleafed to ask
about his giving me an Account that the mafters
would make good the Deficiency, carries an In-
sinuation, as if this method were dropp'd upon
it: I defire he would inform your Lordfhips
Whether he can be fure of the exact Time, whe-
ther this was before or after November, 1721.
Mr. Cottingham. I really can't be fure of the

exact Time.
E. of Macclesfield. How near was it to Mr. Dor-

a's going out, and Mr. Edwards's comin<* into
his Office?

Mr. Cottingham. Mr. Edwards came in in May
1721. It was near his coming in.

E. of Macclesfield. I defire to know whether
you can recollect the Time you did tell me of
it? Whether it was after November ijzi. or
before ?

Mr. Cottingham. I feveral Times mentioned it
to your Lordihip before November 1721. and I
believe feveral Times after, but that I cannot
certainly tell, nor can I be particular to a Day.

E. of Macclesfield. Did you ever hear of it be-
fore the 500/. a-piece was paid?
Mr. Cottingham. No, my Lords, it was after

they had paid the 500 /. a-piece ; but, my lords,
I don't know that they agreed to make good the
Deficiency, I only told my lord I thought they
intended it.

Lord Trevor. He hath proved two letters fent
by the Direction of the Noble Earl. As to the
firft letter he kept a Memorandum as to the
Time, but no Memorandum of the fecond. I
would afk him as to the Time, when the mafters
made that Reprefentation of the Difficulty of
giving in the Accounts, whether it was before or
after the fecond letter, or between the firft and
the fecond Letter ?

Mr. Cottingham. To both the Letters they ftill

made a Reprefentation of the Difficulty.

Lord Trevor. Then I defire to afk one Qyefti-
on more, that is, Whether, after the Reprefenta-
tion made after the fecond letter, they owned that
they had received the fecond letter ?

Mr. Cottingham. I verily believe that the fecond
letter was deliver'd to the Mafters as the other
was, but I have kept no Memorandum of it; I

verily believe the Mafters had it ; I can't tell

;

I took it for granted they had it; I trufted one
of my Clerks with it to take a Memorandum ;

I enquired after him ; he hath been gone from
me, and I can't find him out: I verily believe it.

I have
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to doubt but I gave it ; the

mailers know that.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. If Mr. Holford is called, he

will explain it ; on his crofs Examination he ad-

mitted a fecond letter was fent for him, and left

in the publick Office : That appear'd in his crofs

Examination.

Mr. Strange. It might not be improper (this

letter is before the honourable managers) to en-

quire if they had it not from fome of the ma-

ilers

.

Mr. Cottingham. No, they had it from me.

Mr. Holford called.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afk'd,

"Whether he had not any notice of the letter in

November 1 721, whereby the mailers were obliged

to bring in their Accounts ?

Mr. Holford. Indeed, my Lords, I do not re-

member that letter.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked,

"Whether he remembers a fecond letter about Ac-

compts ?

Mr. Holford. "Whether it was a letter or a

mefTage I cannot tell ; but between the firft Ac-

compt in February 1720, and the laft in Novem-

ber lail, I was called upon to Accompt, and had

prepared it •, but this fecond letter dated in No-

vember 1 72 1, I do not remember any thing of

it.

Mr. Serj. Probyn . How long was it after the

Payment of the 500 /.

Mr. Holford.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. That is all we contend for.

Mr. Holford, I believe not above a Year before

the lail.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

whether after this letter, fuppofed to be in No-

vember iJ2i, his Accompt was ever demanded of

him ?

ing it

:

me to fpeak to the Earl concern

i

I would, and accordingly I did ; he
the mailer. When I came to him,
him of it ; he faid he had

It was a good while after.

I promifed

fent me to

I fpoke to

no money •, I informed
the Earl of it ; the Earl laid he could not tell

what to do. I informed Mr. Lockman of it ; he
feemed to be under the greateil Concern, and faid,

if he had not the 1000/. he was undone ; he was
going to marry Mrs. Chitty, and Mrs. Chitty
would not marry him, unlefs his Debts were paid,
and fhe had given him this 1000/. to pay his

Debts. He had compounded his Debts, and he
repeated it over and over again, that if this rood /.

was not paid, he was undone.
I have not &en a Gentleman in a greater Di-

ftrefs than he appeared to be •, on which I told
him, if he would pleafe to have a little Patience
I would confider the thing, aid fee what could
be done. I did confider it ; and it came into my
mind that Mr. Lightboun had not paid his 500/.
I acquainted the Earl with it, and laid Mr. Light-
boun had not paid his 500 /. and if he could pre-

vail upon him to do it, I thought it would be
eafy to get 50 /. a-piece of xht other mailers, and
that would do.

By the Earl's Order, I attended Mr. Lightboun,
and told him that the Earl expected him to pay
his 500 /. but I could not get a Penny from him ;

fo he refufing to pay the 500 /. that Propofal of
the 50 /. a-piece dropt : I acquainted the Earl of
this •, he faid he could not tell what to do. I ac-

quainted Mr. Lockman, and told him I had done
all that was in my Power to do ; and that it was
not to be done, unlefs he expected I mould pay it

out of my own Pocket, which I was fure he could

not expect : When I told him that, he faid, I am
undone, Mrs. Chitiy will not marry me, his Royal
Highnefs the Prince of Wales will not protect me,
my Creditors will throw me into a Gaol, there I

mull rot and ilarve. He made ufe of fo many

Mr. Holford. I did deliver to my Lord an Ac- extravagant Expreffions, and was under that Pain

compt of November 1721; and I think a Year

before November lail, in purfuance of either a

letter or a meffage, I don't know which, my
Lord required an Account ; then I deliver'd an

Account of money , not of Securities in my
Elands.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether that was an Ac-

count in purfuance to that letter, demanding and

requiring it of him ?

Mr. Holford. Not as I know of, indeed.

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, as fome mention

hath been made of it, I think it may be proper

to know what he can fay to it, whether he

ever promifed to make good the Deficiency of

Mr. Dormer ?

Mr. Holford. I never did my Lords.

and Agony of mind, that I apprehended he would

do himfelf a mifchief. I could fay nothing to it,

I had done all for an unfortunate Gentleman that

poflibly I could do. Two or three Hours after

this, when I was at Dinner^ he came to me again,

and told me the Earl wanted to fpeak with me im-

mediately ; he begged of me of all things in the

World to go : On that I went to the Earl. The
Earl was pleafed to fend for me into an inner

Room, and faid, that he was teized out of his

life by Mr. Lockman; I told him I was fo too,

I had no Reft Night nor Day for him ; I then re-

prefented to the Earl his own Story in Subflance

as he had told me. The Earl faid he was forry to

find Mr. Lockman brought to that State and Pafs.

I told the Earl I was afraid of the Confequence, I

did not know what a defpairing man might do,

died again.Mr. Cottingham c

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may inform your

Lordfnips what he knows in relation to the Pay-

ment of the 1 000 /. to Lockman, and what Con-

verfation he had v/ith Mr. Lockman.

Mr. Cottingham. About the beginning of July

lail, to the beft of my Remembrance, Mr. Lock-

man toid me, that Mrs. Chitty had an Order upon

Mr. Edwards the mafter, to pay her ioco/. That

fhe had been with the mailer, but could not get

the money, and that he had fpoke to my Lord

Macclesfield about it, and the Earl had promifed

to fpeak to the mailer. And he defired

Vol. VI.

he feemed to be in the utmoil Defpair. Upon
that the Earl ordered me to pay him the 1 000 /.

and faid, he would pay it me again. When I

aw Mr. Lockman, I told him I had now received

Orders to pay him •, I had not the money by me,

but he mould have it in a little time, three or four

Days wouid break no Squares ; he faid, I am fa-

tisfy'd, provided it is paid. I faid I had it not by

me, I muil borrow it; I did fo •, and on the thir-

tieth of July I paid him the 1000/. I think it

was three or four Days after, he afked me what

Reward he fhould give me; I told him that Ins

Diftrefs was fo great that he fhould not give

6 Q any
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any Reward ; I would not take a Penny of him, and your Lordfhips will pleafe to recollect, that

and I never had the Value of a Difh of Coffee of Lockman fwore he never made any Demand of
him ; I paid him the money, I borrow'd it for any money befides the 1000/.

that Purpofe. Says I, Mr. Lockman, it appears Mr. Lutwyche. That is to be obferved when
to me that you are in great Diftrefs, I will bor- the Witnefs is examined throughout.

row the money. I did borrow the money, and Mr. Serj. Probyn. I afk whether Mr. Lockman
paid Intereft for it, meerly to fupply the Gen- did petition my Lord Chancellor for this Sum of
tleman. money ?

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be aflced if Mr. Cottingham. I don't remember Mr. Lock-

et knows of any other Sum of money demanded man petitioned. I believe not.

by Mr. Lockman after this iooo/. was thus agreed Mr. Serj. Probyn. Or Mrs. Cbitty?

to be paid him ? Mr. Cottingham. Yes, Mrs. Chitty did, before

Mr. Cottingham. After this money was agreed the Payment of this iooo /. as I remember.

to be paid, and, I think, the fame Evening, I re- Mr. Lutwyche. Was there any Petition prefer-

ceived this letter from him, which any Gentleman red before the Payment of the icoo/. becaufe the

that will may read. (The Letter read.) Sign'd money was not paid according to the Order, which
Lockman. Monday Evening. I think was dated March 1 7, 1723.

Mr. Cottingham. Yes : I told you fo before.

SIR, Monday Evening. Mr. Lutwyche. I defire to know whether there

Am very fenfible of the Favour you have already was not a general meeting of the mailers before

done me, in promoting what my Lord in fo my Lord Macclesfield order'd him to pay the faid

affable a manner was pleafed to promife me, which iooo /. to Mr. Lockman ?

Kindnefs I fhall gratefully acknowledge all my Mr. Cottingham. Yes, there was.

life : But as there is fo great a Neceffity, I hope Mr. Lutwyche. Whether it was not after the

you will pardon me the fooner in being once more meeting of the mafters, when it was propos'd to

troublefome, to beg of you to remind his Lord- Mr. Lightboun to pay his 500 /. and the others

fhip of letting Mrs. Chitty have the other 574 /. 50 /. a-piece ?

which my Lord was pieafed to fay we Jhould have, Mr. Cottingham. Yes, I believe it was.

and without which Mrs. Chitty, who hath nei- Mr. Plummer. Mr. Cottingham hath given a

ther out of Chancery nor her Eftate received any long Evidence, he hath told you on the Appli-

money this two Years, cannot fpare me the whole cation for this iooo/. he recollected that Mr.
iooo /. As my whole Eafe and Quiet depends Lightboun had not paid his 500/. and if he could

on your kind Affiftance, I muft beg, Sir, once get him to pay his 500/. and the other mailers

more to ufe your Intereft to let us have it on 50 /. a-piece, that would make up the 1 000 /.

Thurfday Afternoon , between Four and Five, The Queftion I would afk is, if Mr. Cottingham

when Mrs. Chitty intends to wait on you for the had then any Orders from the Earl of Macclesfield

other. I fhall be very proud on all Occafions to to convene the mafters ?

fhew with

am,
how much Gratitude and Efteem '.

SIR,
Your moft oblig'd

humble Servant,

A. Lockman.

Dated Monday Evening, no other Date. My
Lords, Upon the Receipt of this letter, the ve-

ry fame Evening I laid it before the Earl, I told

him that it appeared by this he wanted 570 /.

more. The Earl faid he was very much furprized

at this Gentleman's fending fuch a letter, he did

not know what he meant by 570 /. more that he

promifed, and, in ihort, told me he could ad-

vance no more.

Mr. Strange. I defire he may be afked, whe-
ther he had any Difcourfe with Mr. Lockman, re-

lating to this 570 /. after this letter ?

Mr. Cottingham. I had a Difcourfe with him
fome time afterwards about the letter.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire to afk him, whether

after this letter Mr. Lockman came to know what
Anfwer he would give him ?

Mr. Cottingham. Mr. Lockman came on the

Thurfday following, being the thirtieth of July ;

Mrs. Chitty did not come : And then I told him
that I had received his letter, and had laid it before

the Earl, and that the Earl underftood not what

he meant by it, that this was a growing upon
him, and he would not pay a Penny more ; I

thought he had been very generous to him, and I

told him I wondered what he meant.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I beg leave to take notice,

Mr. Cottingham. No, I had then, no Orders.

The firft Order I had to convene the mafters

together, was on a Monday, before Payment of

the iooo /. as I remember : Mr. Edwards was then

at my Lord's Floufe, and my Lord ordered me to

fpeak to him to convene the mafters, and they

were convened, and came to my Lord's Houfe
that Evening, as I was told, but that was after

the money was ordered to be paid.

Mr. Lutwyche. I defire Mr. Cottingham may
look upon that, and tell us whether it is his

Hand.
Mr. Cottingham. This is my Hand (reads.)

His Lordfhip can do nothing in it at prefent.

Mr. Lutwyche. Do you remember any thing of

this Petition being offered ?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, I do remember it ; it is

a Petition of Mrs. Chitty preferred to the Earl, to

be paid iooo/. This Petition came to my Hands,

the Earl faid, he could do nothing in it at prefent,

and this Order writ upon it is my Hand.
Mr. Lutwyche. Whofe Petition is it ?

Mr. Cottingham. The humble Petition of the

Defendant Elizabeth Chitty, Mrs. Chitty 's Petition.

Mr. Lutwyche. What is the Anfwer writ upon
the Back.

Mr. Cottingham. Flis Lordfhip can do nothing

in it at prefent.

Dr. Sayer. We apprehend it is of Confequence

to have this meeting cleared. I defire he may be

afked, whether he knows of any meeting of the

mafters, and when, and what was done there ?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, there was a meeting that

Evening, but I was not prefent.

E of
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E. of Macclesfield. By the Queftions they have

afked, they have taken it for granted as if he

knew what was done at that meeting of the ma-
ilers ; I defire to know whether he was prefent

or not at that meeting of the mafters ?

Mr. Cottingham. I was not, I faid fo before.

E. of Macclesfield. Then I think he fays the

Day of Payment of this money was on the thir-

tieth of July.

Mr. Cottingham. Yes.

E. of Macclesfield. What Day were the mafters

called upon to meet ?

Mr. Cottingham. I can't be pofitive, but I think

it was the Monday before Payment of the iooo/.

This meeting of the mafters was between the Or-

der and the Payment of the money.

Mr. Plummer. I believe there is a miftake in

this matter •, I defire to know of Mr. Cottingham

whether Mr. Edwards was not by when he ac-

quainted the Earl with this Demand, and propo-

fed to him the method of paying it by Mr. Light-

boun s 500 / and the other mafters 50 /. a-piece.

Mr. Cottingham. No, no.

Mr. Plummer. I defire it may be cleared then,

and to afk him if Mr. Edwards was not by when

he acquainted my Lord Macclesfield of the Demand
of the 1 000 /.

Mr. Cottingham. No, Mr. Edwards was not by :

When this 1000/. was directed to be paid, Mr.
Edwards was in the Houfe, but the Earl did not

fee him ; when I fpoke to Mr. Lightboun for the

500/. it was only between Mr. Lightboun and me,

Mr. Edwards was in the Houfe when my Lord
fpoke to me, and ordered me to fpeak to Mr. Ed-

wards to convene the mafters together.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked

whether the 1000/. was paid before he made the

Propofal to my Lord Macclesfield, that Mr. Light-

boun's 500/. and the other mafters 50/. would

pay it ?

Mr, Cottingham. The money was paid after-

wards, I have told you fo before.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Before the 1 000 /. was paid,

whether did not you hear that the mafters had

refufed to advance the further Sum of 50/. a-piece ?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, I told you fo before, that

Mr. Lightboun would not pay his 500 /. fo the o-

ther mafters did not pay their 50 /. a-piece ; this

was fome time before the Payment of the 1000/.

Mr. Elphinftone called.

Mr. Strange. My Lords, we defire Mr. Elphin-

fione to give your Lordfhips an Account ofwhat he

knows of the Application of Mr. Lockman for this

1000/.

Mr. Elphinftone. My Lords, Mr. Lockman and

I often had Converfaticn together before he recei-

ved the iooo/. upon the Account of Mrs. Chitty.

He told me often that he had compounded his

Debts with his Creditors, and if he could not re-

ceive the 1 000 /. againft a certain Day, on which

he had engaged to pay it, he fhould be ruin'd and

undone ; and fome time after he told me, that his

Creditors had been with much Difficulty brought

to give him fome few Days longer for Payment

of the Compofition, and that if he had it not

then, he fhould be ruin'd and undone for ever;

fwearing by the bleffed Name of God, that that

Difappointment would be a means of breaking

off the march with the Lady.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Go on.

Mr. Elphinftone. I can't be pofitive as to the
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Day, whether it was the fame Day that he recei-
ved the iooo /. or a Day or two before ; but I
then heard the noble Earl declare to him, that in
Pity and Companion to his Circumftances, and
the great Difficulty he then laboured under, he
the faid Earl had given Directions to Mr. Cot-
tingham to pay him the icco/. and about two
Hours after, or fomething more, Mr. Lockman
came to me, and with abundance of Joy told me
how much obliged he was to the noble Earl, for that
he had relieved him in his Circumftances, by giv-
ing Mr. Cottingham Orders to pay him the iooo/.
He feemed to exprefs this with an uncommon Plea-
fure, and did not at all doubt it would be agreea-
ble to Perfons of the higheft Diftinotion and
Character to know it, and that he would make
them acquainted with it. My Lords, I think it

was on Friday laft, in a Converfation with me and
others here in the Painted Chamber, he declared
he would rather have given two or three hundred
Guineas or Pounds, than have been examined on
this Occafion ; and faid, Damn it, it hath hap-
pen'd, thro' a filly Word or two I dropt to the So-
licitor on the other fide, I afked him what it was,
he faid it was his telling him he had received the

1000/. for Mrs. Chitty, by the noble Earl's Di-
rection.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. After this money was paid,

whether he hath had any Difcourfe with him,
and whether it was owned by him that it was out

of the Earl's own Pocket ?

Mr. Elphinftone. Yes, many and many a time,

and with great Refpect.

Mr. Plummer. I defire the Counfel for the no-

ble Lord may explain one thing: I think the Wit-
nefs faid, Mr. Lockman faid He had rather give

two or three hundred Pounds than have been ex-

amined. Whether the Witnefs doth apprehend

by what Mr. Lockman faid, that he comes an un-

willing Witnefs ?

Mr. Elphinftone. No, my Lords, I did not fay

that Mr. Lockman was an unwilling Witnefs, but

that he told me and others, he had rather have

given two or three hundred Guineas or Pounds,

than have been examined on this Occafion.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We fhall give your Lordfhips,

no further Evidence on this Article ; we fhall now
proceed to the feventeenth Article, which charges

the Earl of Macclesfield, that in order to conceal

the Deficiency in Dormer's Office, and to prevent

any publick Enquiry, he did from time to time,

in Violation of the Truft repofed in him, make
Orders on Mr. Edwards for Payment of the mo-
ney belonging to feveral particular Suitors, which

had been lodged in the Hands of Mr. Dormer ; in

Obedience to which Orders feveral Sums were

paid, without Regard to, or Confideration of the

Proportion which the reft of the Suitors were en-

titled to, out of the Effects of the faid Mr. Dor-

mer, whereby many of the faid Suitors loft the

Benefit of their proportionable Share, to which in

Juftice they were entitled.

The Crime fuppofed in this Charge is denied

by the Earl in his Ar.fwer ; he had no certain

Knowledge what Mr. Dormer's Eftate would come

out to be ; but he was under a full Perfuafion that

Effects would come in in clue Time, to make full

Payment; and that the only Reafon why they

were not paid in an Average, was becau : no Ap-

plication was made by any of the Suitors for that

Purpofe.
1

• Mr.
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Mr. Com. Serj. As to the feventeenth Article,
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your Lordfhips obferve there was a full Perfuafion

both in the noble Earl and Mr. Edwards, that there

would be fufficient to pay every one-, befides I

think he himfelf made not above one Order, not

more than this one in the Cafe of Chitty ; your

ferve upon the whole, that there is not the lead
Evidence to fupport that Part of the Article
whereby the Earl is charged with permitting and
encouraging the Trafficking with the Suitors Ef-
fects. So far from it, my Lords, that the quite
contrary appears from the Evidence which Mr.

Lordfhips will pleafe to obferve, from the Evi- Lightboun has given upon this Article. H
dence of Mr. Edwards, that the noble Lord who

made thefe Orders was firmly of an Opinion, from

the Accounts he had received, that the Deficien-

cy would be made up, fo likewife Mr. Edwards

then under the fame Perfuafion : "We mailwas

e nas
intorm'd your Lordfhips, that when a Propofal
was made, in order to the making good the De-
ficiency in Dormer's, Office (which the Earl had
confefiedly fo much at Heart) that each mafter
fhould out of the Suitors Effects in his Hands,
place out a Sum of money, the Interefl whereof
fhould be applied for that Purpoie ; the Earl
would not give the leaft Countenance to that Pra-

reft it here, that it was no manner of Fault, under

thefe Apprehenfions, to make fuch an Order as

that was.

Mr. Robins. If your Lordfhips pleafe, there is ctice, by coming into the Propofal •, but in plain

in the Clofe of the fixteenth Article a Declaration, Terms declared he neither could nor would give

fuppofed to be made by the Earl of Macclesfield, any Encouragement or Direction for the Difpofal

then fitting in Court, I had the Honour to be in

Court when the Declaration was made : As I had

the Honour to be in Court at that Time, I ap-

prehend that what he faid was

Mr. Plummer. If the Gentleman fpeaks as

Counfel, he ftands in a proper Place, but if he

comes as an Evidence, I beg he may come to the

Bar and be fworn ; I humbly appeal to your Lord-

fhips if it is not proper.

Lords. Ay, ay.

Dr. Sayer. If the Gentlemen think it proper

to infill upon it, the Gentleman is ready to be

fworn.

Mr. Com. Serj, The Gentleman's Character is fo

unexceptionable, that we hope the learned Gen-

tlemen will not put this Difficulty upon him of

taking an Oath in a Caufe, wherein he is Coun-

fel.

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I infift upon it, be-

caufe then I fhall have the liberty of afking fome

Queftions, which I apprehend I have not now.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, We fubmit it

upon the Evidence that hath been already given,

he himfelf did declare then, when it came before

him regularly, he would examine into it ; and the

firft Opportunity this came before him in Judg-

ment, he then put it into a method, and accord-

ingly referred it to a mafter, and all proper mea-

fures were taken.

of the Suitors Effects, for any other Purpofe "than
their own Benefit.

My Lords, The Gentlemen of the Houfe of
Commons are fo fenfible of the Defect of their

Evidence as to this Point, that they feem not to
rely upon it, but are forced to fly to Implication
for Affiftance ; and your Lordfhips are told that
this Part of the Charge is a Confequence of the
Earl's not having taken Care that the Suitors Ef-
fects were fo placed out, as to put it out of the
Power of the mafters to make fuch an ufe of

and that this Neglect amounts to a Per-
and Encouragement to the mafters, to

of and traffick with them as they have

them
million

difpofe

done.

My Lords, If this Part of the Article is to be
confidered as a diftinct feparate Charge, it is fo

obvious, of how dangerous a Confequence it

would be to admit fuch argumentative Evidence
only as a Proof of it, that I apprehend I need
not trouble your Lordfhips with faying any thing
more to it; if it is to be looked upon as a Con-
fequence only of fome other Part of the Charge,
as a mifchjef arifing from the neglect of putting

thofe Effects of the Suitors out of the Power of
the mafters to make fuch ufe of them, I am fome-
thing at a Lofs to know why it is made a diitinct

felf-iubfifiing Charge ; it may perhaps by that

means fwell the Bulk of the Article, but we hum-
Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, "We fhall, with your bly fubmit it to your Lordfhips Con fi deration,

Lordfhips Permiffion, now proceed to lay before whether it at all increafes the Weight of it.

you what we have humbly to offer in Defence of

the noble Earl as to the 1 8th Article. The Charge

therein contained is in Effect, that tho' the Earl

knew, that the mafters of the Court might and

did difpofe of, and traffick with the Effects of the

Suitors ; and tho' Propofals were made for reme-

dying of it, yet the Earl neglected to enquire into

My Lords, The Charge in this Article is not
founded upon a bare Neglect of the Earl, upon
an Omiffion only of doing what it is conceived
he ought to have done, for the Prevention of this

mifbehaviour of the mafters ; that perhaps was
thought too flight a Ground for an Article

of an Impeachment, efpecially when the Ne-

n-
the Accounts of the mafters, permitted, and en- gleet here complained of does not

couraged them to employ, and traffick with the

Effects of the Suitors, and took no Care that thofe

Effects fhould be placed out, fo as to prevent fuch

Practices of the Mafters, or that they fhould give

fuch Security as was propofed ; and this is charg-

ed to be done with a corrupt View and Intention

of making an unlawful Gain by the Sale of thofe

Places, and to keep up the Price of them.

The Proof of thefe matters depends entirely

upon the Teftimony of Mr. Lightboun, Mr. Hol-

ford, and Mr. Kynaflon, with the particular Re

con fill in

the not redreffing any particular Grievance, poin-
ted out by the Complaint of any of the Suitors

of the Court, but in the not making general Or-
ders for the Reformation of the mafters. Per-
haps, my Lords, it might be thought, that fuch
a Charge would have been fufficiently anfwered,
by alledging, as the Truth is, that the mafters
have only been continued by the Earl in the fame
Degree of Truft and Power in which he found
them, and with which they were invefted lon«-

before he prefided in that Court : It may be too,

petition of whofe Evidence, I fhall not prefume my Lords, it might be confider'd, how wide and
to trouble your Lordfhips, after fo much Time dangerous a Field for Impeachments and other

has been already fpent ; but fhall beg leave to ob- Profecutions would have been opened, by making
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too were fiippofed to be concerned, were repre-
fentcd to the Earl ; and, amongft other's^ that of
money being order'd to be paid into the Hands
of the U fner of the Court, inftead cf the ma-
ilers ; which was reprefented as a thing of ill Con-
fequence, and dangerous to the Suitors of tire

Court, as well as injurious to the mailers.- It

appears likewife, that it was thought proper, if

not neceffary, to take all thefe matters into Con-
fideration together, that the intended Regulation
might be entire, and not by piece-meal ; and Mr.
Lighiboun himfelf was of that Opinion, as well as

Mr. Holford. And tho' it is alledged, that the

Earl was credibly inform'd that the fuficiency of
out, we muft humbly fubmit it to your Lordfhips fome of the mafters was much fufpected, and con-

Judgment, whether or no this Article does not fequently, that a more immediate regard fhould

fall to the Ground ? have been had to what concerned the Effects in

But what Proof, what Evidence has been offer'd- their Hands •, yet when your Lordfhips confider

for that purpofe ? None, my Lords, that I re- how that ftands upon Mr. Ligbtboun's Evidence;
member ; but your Lordfhips are left to collect it, that it was only a general Intimation, without nam-
by way of Argument, from the Earl's not having ing any particular Perfon, and that Mr. Light

it criminal in every one who had the Superinten-

dency of an Office, barely to neglect, or omit,

the introducing fuch new general Orders and Re-

gulations, as fcemed to carry a Probability of pre-

venting the Abufes of the under minifters of luch

Office ; and therefore it is, my Lords, as it may
be prefumed, that the Earl's Behaviour in this Re-

fpect is alledged to be fraudulent, and unjuft, and

with an Intention of making unlawful Gain to

himfelf, by the Difpofal of thofe Offices, and with

a corrupt View and Intention to keep up the Price

of them : So that it is not Remiisnefs, or Negli-

gence that the Earl ftands here accufed of, but

Fraud and Corruption, and if this is not made

made ufe of proper Expedients to prevent this ill

Practice •, the mafters, by that means, were mere

at Liberty to make a Profit out of their Offices,

which for that Reafon fold at higher Prices, and

bonn declared he had no certain Ground for fuch

Sufpicion •, it will not, we hope, be thought a

Fault not to fingle out that Part of the intended

Regulation -, efpecially when the fame Witnefs

therefore the Earl muft be guilty of this Neglect informs your Lordfhips that it was as impracli

with that View •, a fevere (tho' not a ftrict) Con- cable for the mafters to have given an adequate, that

ftquence indeed ! Is the Profpect of Gain, from

hence, lb certain, as to tempt ib ftrongiy ? And
are there no other Reafons apparent why the Earl

fhould defer his Regulations in this matter ? I

need not put your Lordfhips in mind of the great

is, a proper Security, as for the great Officers of
the Exchequer, or the Treafurers of the South-Sea,

or other great Companies to do fo. And your

Lordfhips will be pleafed to think it well deferves

Confideration, whether it was in the Earl's Power
Uncertainty of a Continuance in that high (but to compel the mafters to give even fuch Security

flippery) Station : And as the Profit fuppofed to be as they could ; and if it fhould be faid, that if they

in View, depends upon the Death or Alienation of would not have complied, he might have order'd

the mafters, which fometimes do not happen in the money out of their Hands ; it will require

a long Interval of Time, when this Uncertainty time to confider where, in fuch Cafe, he muft

is added to the other, I appeal to your Lordfhips, have placed thofe Effects. It would have been

whether it can be eafily imagined, that any, even as extraordinary to have required Security from

the moft greedy Perfon, allowing him only to be the mafters which came in afterwards, and fo

in his Senfes, could be prevailed upon to hazard to have put them upon a Foot different from the

his Reputation and Quiet, upon fuch diftant, fuch others, when it was under Confideration how to

uncertain Hopes ; efpecially, my Lords, if the

Neceffity of fo harfh a Conclufion be excluded,

by its appearing that there were other matters,

which might probably enough be the Reafon, or

Occafion of the Earl's not immediately entering

upon thefe Regulations.

It appears, by what Mr. Lightboun has faid,

that the Earl was very willing and defirous of hav-

ing thefe matters regulated •, and that when he

fettle the whole. But, my Lords, the Event has

fhewn that there was not fo much occafion for fo

fpeedy a Precaution in this matter, for the Purpofe

for which it was then principally intended, which

was the preventing the mafters from embezzling

the Securities of the Suitors in their Hands, fince

there is no occafion of Complaint in that refpect,

they having been all deliver'd up, and the Defi-

ciencies which have happen'd have been in the

firft informed the Earl that he had fomething to Cafh in their Hands, of which there was then fo

offer to his Confideration in relation thereto, the

Earl feemed very glad, and mightily pleafed with

the Propofals, and gave him all due Encouragement.

It appears, my Lords, that after fome time taken

by Mr. Lightboun, to difcourfe the mafters upon

this Plead, he wrote a letter to the Earl, con-

little apprehenfion or likelihood, that the pre-

venting it was one of the things the leaft under

Confideration. So fhort fighted and uncertain is

human Prudence! So different the Judgments

made of things in Profpecl only, from what they

are in Experience ! I make no Queftion but your

taining feveral Propofals for the regulating the Af- Lordfhips will have a due regard thereto, and

fairs of the mafters ; and your Lordfhips will ob- make all equitable Allowances on that Account.

fcrve the times and manner of the Earl's fending

for and preffing the mafters to bring in their Ac-

compts, which, notvvithftanding the different turn

that has been endeavour'd to be given to it, we
humbly infill upon it, appears to have been done,

in order the better to enable the Earl to judge of

and regulate thefe matters.

As there were Propofals for regulating the Con-

duct of the mafters, in refpect of the Suitors, fo

feveral Grievances, which the mafters were fup-

pofed to labour under, and in which the Suitors

Vol. VI.

Your Lordfhips have been further inform'd,

that, in order to fettle thefe matters, feveral

meetings were had, and, amongft the reft, one

very folemn one, at which were prefent both the

Earl and the mafter of the Rolls. I need not

trouble your Lordfhips with a Repetition of what

pafs'd there, it is fufficient to obferve, that no-

thing being fettled, the Earl, whofe mind was

intent upon this Affair, propoild fome Expedients

to facilitate matters ;
particularly, that if the

mailers would quit then Pretenfions to a co-ordi-

6 R nate
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nate Power of Judicature with the matter of the pected, the ioth of November latt, efpecially Mr.
Rolls, that matters might be made eafy, in te- Holford's, which was to be an Accompt of twelve
fpect of the ordering the Payments of the money: Years, that the Earl however order'd them to be
But this would not be complied with. And when got ready in the bed manner they could, and told

it was found, by Experience, impracticable to them, if it mould appear they wanted more time
bring any thing about, with the Agreement of to make them perfect, that on Application it

the Parties, the Earl declared that he would take would, without doubt, be granted.

the whole matter into his Confideration ; and After which your Lordfhips have heard, that

fince he could not have the Concurrence of others, at a meeting of moft of the matters at Mr. Ed-
he himfelf would regulate thefe matters as foon as wards'$, when Mr. Cottingham came in, he pro-

he could. Upon the whole of the Evidence of- pofed to them, fome fay, three things, others

fer'd upon this Article, more efpecially Irom what two ; but all of them agree in Subftance, that

Mr. Lightboun and Mr. Holford have faid, it plainly 'twas to have their Accompts and Securities in-

appears, that for a confiderable time paft, even fpecled, and to produce the Ballance of Cam in

from the latter end of the Year 172 1, here has their Hands, if it fhould be required,

been an Intention of regulating the Offices of the And as to the infpecting of their Accompts and
matters of the Court of Chancery ; that fuch In- Securities, your Lordfhips have been pleafed to

tention has been purfued, and feveral Steps taken, cbferve, that not one of them appear'd to make
and Endeavours ufed, to bring it to effect ; and any Difficulty or Objection to it, but, on the con^

your Lordfhips, I hope, perceive the many Diffi- trary, readily confented and agreed to it.

culties that have interpofed, and will not be at a But as to the producing their Ballance of Cam,,

Lofs to find Reafons for the Earl's not having they were fomething ftartled at that, as not know-
actually made thefe Regulations, very different ing what was intended by it; and therefore afked

from the diftant view of an unjuft Gain. Mr. Cottingham if they Were only to produce or

My Lords, the Bufmefs of Reformation, how- mew it, or if 'twas going to be taken away from,

ever defirable it may be, is in all Inftances, at- them.

tended with Difficulties, and in the prefent Cafe, And though Mr. Cottingham\ Anfwer was, that

thole Difficulties have been increafed by the diffe- they were only to produce it, as he underttood,

rent and jarring Intereft of the Parties concerned ;
yet feveral of them appear'd to be very jealous

which, at lealt, prevented their Concurrence in that 'twas going to be taken out of their Hands

;

fuch Reformation, and in a great meafure depri- and Mr. Edwards, one of the matters, exprefiy

ved the Earl of the Benefit of the Advice of thofe, faid fo, and therefore advifed them to get it ready

who were the moft able to inform him what was as foon as they could.

fit to be done. But your Lordfnips have been pleafed to ob-

Your Lordfhips are fenfible how great a Por- ferve, that whatever they underttood by it, yet

tion of the Earl's tim&muftneceffarily be taken up not one of them faid, or fo much as infinuated, to

in the difpatch of the ordinary Bufmefs of that Mr. Cottingham that they were not able to anfwer

Court, and in his Attendance upon the publick or make good their Ballance of Cafh, only that

Functions of his Office ; and if, under thefe Cir- fome of them had it not all ready immediately ;

cumftances, he has not been able to bring his and Mr. John Bennett faid it could not be expected

good Intentions to effect, and complcat them, be- they fhould keep it all by them, for fear of having

fore it was put out of his Power fo to do, your their Throats cut, and that therefore they mult

Lordfhips, we hope, will think it more his riiif- have fome reafonable Time given them to raife it

fortune than his Fault, and that he is not to be in ; and Mr. Conway exprefiy fwears that he ap-

reputed guilty of any Neglect or Omiffion in that prehended they all faid they were able and fuffi-

refpect, which can be adjudged to be Criminal, cient to produce their Cafh and Effects.

We fhall not trouble your Lordfhips with any And, my Lords, it feems very natural and rea-

Evidence upon this Article, but fubmit it upon fonable to believe that they did fay fo, or at leaft

what has been already offer'd. that Mr. Cottingham underttood it fo, becaufe

Mr. Robins. May it pleafe your Lordfhips, The when fome of them afk'd whether they were to

laft Article which the managers for the honourable produce it in Specie, or whether Bank Notes or

Houfe of Commons have been pleafed to clofe this Goldfmith's Notes would not do as well, he made
folemn Profecution withal, is the Nineteenth ;

Anfwer, it certainly would do as well, and there-

wherein they have endcavour'd to reprefent the Earl, fore advifed thofe that had not fuch Notes ready

as defigning to abufe and impofe upon his moft by them to provide them, and to ftand by and

facred majefty, for the fake of fkreeping and pro- affift one another.

tecting the matters from a Parliamentary Enquiry, Now, my Lords, with great SubmifTion, all

and to keep up the Price and Credit of their Offices, this feems to be a very natural, plain and artlefs

But, my Lords, we humbly hope no Evidence Reprefentation of this meeting: And when Mr.
appears to have been given that does in the leatt Cottingham had thus acquainted the matters what
iupport or prove any fuch Defigns in the Earl. was expected from them, and had Affurances from

'Tis true, indeed, that when his majefty was them all, that they were ready and willing to

gracioufiy pleafed to order the matters Accompts comply with what had been propofed,

to be laid before a Committee of the Lords of the Can there be any room to doubt but that the

Council, in order to infpect the fame, that the Noble Earl was very well pleafed with this Ac-
Earl, in Obedience to his majetty's Commands, count from Mr. Cottingham ? And therefore when
thought he could not be too zealous in giving they met after, at the Earl's Houfe on the 1 oth of

Orders for their preparing and getting the fame November, no wonder he did not particularly afk

ready, and therefore order'd them immediately to them the Qucftion, whether they were able and

fet about it. fufficient to pay or make good the Ballance of their

And when fome of them objected, that 'twas Cafh, for this Mr. Cottingham had before allured

impoffible to have them ready by the time ex- him
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were, and therefore no need for the

Earl to afk theQueftion over again.

And Mr. Lovibond, one of the mafters, fwears

exprefly, not only that he himfelf was ready and

willing to pay and produce his own Ballance, but

that, from what paffed at the Earl's Houfe, he

believed or thought all the reft of the mafters

were fo too.

Now, my Lords*, if this -be fo, if the Noble

Earl was fully fatisfied that all the mafters were

able to make good their AccOmpts, and he was

juft then going to lay a State of them before the

Lords of the Council ; is it at all to be wonder'd

at, that his Lordihip fhould give them his Advice

or Opinion what Form of Words or Subfcription

he thought would be moft proper to exprefs their

meaning by ?

for High Crimes and Mifdemeanors,

s gave the mafters

andmoney
'twould be

And as he approved of the Form made ufe of

by Mr. Holford on that Occafion, was it or could

it poffibly be any Crime in the Earl to advife the

reft to fubfcribe or under-wfite the fame Form to

their Accompts likewife ?

And your Lordfhips have been pleafed to ob-

ferve, from the Evidence of all the mafters, that

not one of them made any Scruple or Difficulty of

it, but went into another Room, as if they were

really going to under-write the very fame Sub-

fcription to their Accompts.

'Tis true indeed, my Lords, fome of them,

when they were got by themfelves, were confcious

they could not come up fully to ir^ and therefore

varied the Form, as beft fuited their own Circum-

ftances.

But your Lordfhips have been pleafed likewife

to obferve, that the Noble Earl was fo far from be-

ing in any Plot with the mafters, to deceive his

majefty or the Lords of the Council, that he took

their Accompts, with the Subfcriptions they had that they were able and willing to make good the

ment which the Earl afterward
to affift and fupply each other with
Effects, and reprefented to them that
for their Honour and Service to appear able and
fufficient

; I fay, my Lords, can any thing in the
World be more unnatural, than to imagine, that
by this the Earl meant to advife them to make a
falfe fhew and appearance ?

They had before allured him, or given him the"

ftrongeft Reafons poffible to believe, that they
could make a true fhew and appearance. Why-
then fhould he advife them to make a Falfe fhew
and appearance ? What End or Purpofe in the
World could this ferve, either for themfelves or
his Lordfhip ?

This rarely* my Lords* could never be the
Earl's meaning •, or if it was, whilft he was under
a Perfuafion that they were all able and fufficient

to anfwer and make good the Ballance of their Ac-
compts , if he meant to advife them to make a
falfe fhew and appearance* it muft have been by
advifing them to conceal Part of their Cafh and
Effects, for fear the World fhould really take
their Words, and be of Opinion that they were
as able and fufficient to make good their Accompts*
as they had under their Hands acknowledged
themfelves to be.

But, my Lords, as the Conftruction the other
way is not only moft natural, but alfo confiftent

and agreeable with all that had before pafs'd on
-that Occafion, furely, my Lords, it muft be a
ftrange wrefting and perverting of Words to un-
derftand them otherwife*

The Sum of this whole Article, my Lords, is

this : The mafters were on a fudden call'd upon
to bring in their Accompts of Cafh and Effects,

and they did fo, and declared, at the fame time.;

under-wrote, without fo much as ever fookang to

fee if they were conformable to Mr. Holford's,

Subfcription, and apprehended they really had

been all the fame, till upon reading them before

the Lords of the Council, the variance between

them appear'd.

But your Lordfhips have not heard of one Word
of Reproof given them by the Earl afterwards,

for not obferving his Directions in making the Sub-

fcription he defired.

If the Earl had had any Defigns of impofing on

his majefty or the Council, by getting the mafters

to under-write fuch a particular Form of Subfcrip-

tion to their Accompts, would he not have been

more careful before he carried in thofe Accompts to

the Council Board, to have feen that they had ex-

actly purfued his Orders, for fear of aDifcovery ?

Nay, my Lords, can it poffibly be imagined

but that when he came afterwards to find they

had deceived him, and had not under-written the

Subfcription, they pretended, and went out of

the Room feemingly on purpofe to comply with •,

I fay, my Lords, can it poffibly be imagined,

but that if the Earl had had any Views or Defigns

of his own in it, he would have feverely rebuked

and reprimanded them afterwards for not obferv-

ing his Directions.

But your Lordfhips have not heard one Word
of Proof that the Earl complained, or ever ftid

any thing afterwards to the mafters about it.

Now, my Lords, if this be fo, can there pof-

fibly be a greater or ftronger Concurrence of Cir-

cumftances to fhew that the Advice or Encourage-

fame on a reafonable time given them for raifing

the money , but being afterwards called upon for

their money fooner than they expected, and ap-

plying to the Earl for his Advice and Directions

what to do in it, he advifes them to affift and fup-

ply one another with money and Effects, till their

own could be gotten in ; tells them it would be

for their Honour and Service to appear able and

fufficient, and that he would not have them let

the World fee, at a time when there had been fo

much Clamour and Noife about them, that they

were not always ready, even at a Minute's Warn-
ing, to make good their Accompts.

This, my Lords, is the whole of this grievous

Complaint againft the Earl ; and as it feems to be

nothing but a Piece of good Advice in the Earl

given to the mafters for their own fakes, in great

Sincerity and Friendfhip, as the Earl expreffes

himfelf in his Anfwer, without any poffibility 6f

Advantage to the Earl himfelf, we humbly hope

your Lordfhips will not think it worthy of a

Place in this Impeachment.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, we fhall not give

your Lordfhips much trouble on this Article, we
fhall only call Mr. Holford.

Mr. Holford not then appearing, Mr. Cotthigham

was called in again.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we defire that

Mr. Cottingham may inform your Lordfhips of the

time the mafters had the letter which he refers

to, and which he delivei'd, whereby the Ac-

compts are directed to be brought in. We did

deli re
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defire Mr. Holford to bring it up with him : If

Mr. Holford hath not the letter, and it is not

among the mailers, we muil examine Mr. Cotting-

ham about it.

Lord Ch. Jnft. King. Mr. Holford is come.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. This is the Copy of a letter,

the Original of which Mr. Holford hath-, if he

hath it not here, I hope your Lordfhips will

leave to read the Copy.

My Lords, I defire that Mr. Holford may
your Lordfhips an account of this letter.

Mr. Holford. My Lords, 1 have it not-, Mr.

give

give

Kynqfton did inform me juft now that he believed the Time prefixed

hind the Court with my Lord, and I did fay, I

thought it would be very tedious to do exactly
as this Order directed, becaufe it- would require a
tranferibing of every Particular that each mailer
in the Court had ever paid and received for feve-
ral Years, even where Caufes were ended many
Years ago, and that I thought it an impracticable
Thing. My Lord told me that muil be no Ob-
jection to the bringing in of the Accompts;
if we could not do as well as he wiih'd, we
fhould do it as'well as we could -, and defir'd them
to be ready, that they might be brought in by

it might be in his Cuftody, but he hath it not here.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. Your Lordihips will give us

leave to examine Mr. Cottingham.

Mr. Cottingham. My Lords, there was an Or-

der made, dated the 3d of November laft, of which

my Clerk made a Copy. I can't fay I examined

it myfelf : The Order is,

The Dates of the Orders for bring-

ing in

little

very

Let the feveral mailers of the high Court of

Chancery forthwith prepare and' deliver to me
a perfect Account oi the MONEY in their

Hands, therein diilinguiihing, in feveral Co-

lumns,

The Names of the Parties to the Caufe.

Money

t Securities

The Time of brinsins: in each Sum.
Particularly expreffing the Sums transferred

and paid to them at their coming into their

Office in the iiril Place.

How the fame hath been difpofed.

What Sums paid out, and ) r When
to whom, -'

S- < and

What invefted in Securities, > I By what Order.

Specifying the Securities, by Dates, Num-
bers, &c.

Where the Securities are at prefent.

What money remains in their Llands.

Where the fame now is.

Nov. 3, 1724. Macclesfield, C.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, we beg leave to

obferve, that this Order is very much the fame

with the Directions given by the Noble Lord be-

fore to bring in their Accompts ; but, upon the

Nature of the thing, there feems to be a very good
Reafon why they did not comply punctually

with it. .

Mr. Plummer. Upon this Obfervation, my
Lords, I beg leave to afk this Witnefs, Whether
the mailers have not given in fome Account, not-

withilanding the Difficulty of the method ?

Mr. Cottingham. Yes, my Lords, they have.

. Earl of Macclesfield. Mr. Holford will inform prefcrib'd them ?

your Lordfhips of this. Mr. Holford. It was not.

Mr. Holford. I believe this is a Copy of the Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he would inform

Order given by my Lord Macclesfield for bringing your Lordihips, whether they have not been call'd

in our Accompts in November laft. upon frequently to haften their Accompts?
Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be aiked whe-

whether the mailers were able to make up the ther they have been fince called upon by the ho-

Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may be aiked whe-
ther there were any Arguments ufed by my Lord
to recommend Difpatch in this matter ?

Mr. Holford. My Lord recommended it to

me to be fure to have the Accompt ready by the
Time ; I think he faid it was to be delivered in

to the Council by fuch a Day.
Mr. Com. Serj. I defire he may inform your

Lordihips if nothing was faid about making an
Excufe a Pretence for delaying the Accompts,

Mr. Holford. My Lord did defire that they
might be prepared according to thofe Directions,

but faid This riVuft be no Excufe for not bringing

in the Accompts as well as you can by the Time.
Mr. Plummer. When this Accompt was aiked

for, how long was it before it came in ?

Mr. Holford. Three or four Days or a Week.
Mr. Plummer. And you gave them in corn-

pleat and right, fully and amply.

Mr. Holford. Yes, there were fome
miftakes -which were rectified afterwards,

final 1 ones.

Mr. Com. Serj. By Reafon of this Queftion

that hath been aiked, give me leave to trouble

your Lordihips with aiking another, Whether in

the Accompt deliver'd in there was any thing

more than the Ballance of the Accompt ?

Mr, Holford. Yes, the Accompt I deliver'd in

was an Accompt of every particular Caufe, and of

the money and Securities in every Caufe, and I

did add the Solicitors Names in every Caufe, as

far as I knew ; I believe all the- others were not fo.

Mr. Com. Serj. How were the others ?

Mr. Holford. I believe the others were the

fame, only not the Solicitors Names.
Mr. Com. Serj. I don't mean that, but whether

there was not the Ballance of each particular Ac-

compt deliver'd in?

Mr. Plolford. There was the Ballance of the

particular Caufes, and the whole fummed up to-

gether.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may be afked,

whether it was practicable to give in their Ac-
compts in the method directed within the Time

Accompts purfuant to the Directions given in that

Order.

Mr. Holford. I believe it was the next Day after

nourable Committee of the Council, to bring in

their Accompts according to the faid method ?

Earl of Macclesfield. I defire he may be aiked,

this was fent, that Mr. Cottingham did inform me of whether after this Accompt brought in, and the

it ; I had not feen it, I was then at Wefiminfter, Ballance made upon every Caufe, they have been

fitting in Court with my Lord Macclesfield; after fince called upon to make up the Accompt accord-

the Court was up I went into the little Room be- ing to the firit Inilructions or not ?

Mr.
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Mr. Holford. We have not been required to

purfue the former Inftructions.

Mr. Com. Serj. If the Gentlemen of the Houfe
of Commons have done as to this Article, we
have done. My Lords, We mall now beg leave

to call fome Witneffes to the eftablifhing the Re-
putation of Mr. Cottingham ; when one fide have

endeavoured to leffen his Credit, it will be neceffa-

ry for the other Side to call Witneffes to confirm

his Credit. As to the Teflimony he hath given,

it is very material, as it flands in Oppofition to

the Evidence of others ; tho' it be not directly

contradicted, yet it is very different from fome

Accounts, which your Lordfhips have received

from fome of the mailers, particularly from Mr.
Thomas Bennet : And as for the managers of the

Houfe of Commons, notwithftanding he was call'd

a Witnefs by themfelves, tho' they have not faid

in direct Terms that he is a Perlbn not to be cre-

dited, yet calling him a black Minifter of Iniquity,

and ufing a great Number of fuch like other Ex-
preflions feem to carry fome Infinuation, as if

6$ t
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of an hundred People, ninety of them will
him rather a greater Character.

Mr. Com. Serj. And as to the remaining ten,
what Character doth he believe the remaining ten
will

Mr
give hirc ?

Price. I believe that the remaining; ten can-
not juftly charge him with any thing that is ill.

Mr. Hickman call*d and fwofn.
Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire Mr. Hickman may*

likewife give your Lordfhips an Account how
long he hath known Mr. Cottingham ?

Mr.John Hickman. I have known Mr. Cottingham
thirty Years, I believe ; he had always a very good
Character, he was Clerk to me for two Years* he
was a diligent faithful Clerk, and hath had a very-

good Character ever fmce, and I never heard any
thing to the contrary.

Mr. Blithman fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, We have a great

number to this Purpofe ; I defire you would in-

Mr. Cottingham was not a man of that Integrity form my Lords how long you have known Mr.
as I believe all that know him will bear Teflimony Cottingham, and what his Character is ?

to. We beg leave therefore to call a few of that Mr. Blithman. My Lords, I have known, and
Number as Witneffes to his Character and Repu- been intimately acquainted with Mr. Cottingham,

tafion, who have known him for feveral Years, for above twenty Years ; while he was a Practifer

and have had a full Opportunity of knowing his in" the Court of Chancery, we were now and then
Character and Behaviour in the feveral Stations he concern'd one againft another in Bufinefs, and I

lias been in. obferv'd him to act with great Diligence for his

Clients, and in a fair way of Practice in refpect to'

Mr. Goldejbrough called. his Adverfaries; he had the Character of the Pra-

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I defire he may differs of the Court of Chancery in general, for be-

be afked how long he hath been acquainted with ing a very honed and fair man •, after he was pro-

Mr. Cottingham ? moted to be Secretary to my Lord Macclesfield,

Mr. Goldejbrough. I have been acquainted with every Practifer of the Court that had any Bufinefs'

Mr. Cottingham upwards of twenty Years. muff have frequent Recourfe to him, and he was

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he would inform obferv'd to difcharge that Office with great Juftice

your Lordfhips, during his Acquaintance with and Difpatch to the Suitors, with great Civility

him, what hath been his Character ?

Mr. Goldejbrough. All the Time he was a Soli-

citor, I obferved him to have a good Character ;

he behaved himfelf with all Integrity and Fidelity

as ever I knew -any body of his Profeffion.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. You fpeak as to his general

Character.

Mr. Goldejbrough. I never heard he had any

Blemifh on his Reputation, he always maintain'd

a very fair Character.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. During the Time he was

Secretary to the Lord Chancellor, how did he

behave himfelf?

Mr. Goldejbrough. He bore a very fair Chara-

cter in the Place, as fair as ever any body did that

went before him.

Mr. Price fworn.

Mr. Com. Serj. We defire he may give your

Lordfhips an Account what he knows of the Cha-

racter of Mr. Cottingham, and how long he hath

known him ?

Mr. Price. My Lords, I have known him up-

wards of twenty Years, I never knew any body Corruption, that hath ftudied nothing in the whole

I always took him to Conduct of his life but the amaffing £

to the Practifers, and with a ftrict Regard to the

Honour of his mailer and the Court ; he was

content with his juft Fees, without ever demand-

ing or expecting more en Pretence of Expedi-

tion, or upon any other Account. In general, I

took him for a very honefr. man, and he was al-

ways fo reputed during the Time that I knew

him.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we might apply

to fome of the learned Managers themfelves, were

it proper upon this Occafion, but we hope his

Character is fo clearly eftablifhed, by what Evi-

dence has been already offer'd, that there is no

Neceffrty for troubling your Lordfhips with any

more on this Head : But we fhall trouble your

Lordfhips with one Piece of Evidence more, of a

different kind, which the noble Lord is with a

great deal of Difficulty oblig'd to fubnift to, and

that relates to the private Conduct of himfelf, of

which many enjoy the Benefits, and all were en-

joyn'd and oblig'd to keep fecret -,
but now it is

become neceffary to make known, finee he hath

been reprefented in Publick as a Perfon full of

fay any thing amifs of him,

be a very fair and honeft man : I know no man
in his Place behav'd himfelf better than he hath

done.

Mr. Com. Serj. We defire to afk not only to

what Mr. Price's Opinion is, but to what is the

Opinion of others, as to his general Character ?

Mr. Price. I believe, if you afk his Character

Vol. VI.

to himfelf, in Oppreffion of his Majefty's Subjects-,

it is now become neceffary, for the Vindication

of his Lordfhip's Innocence, to fhew that His Au-

ctions (which beft fpeak the Intention) have 1

of a different Nature; that as his Lordfhip h h

received great Bounties from his Majcfty, i>> he

hath been as liberal in fharing them with tholbeen as

6 S who
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At the time he died, how

faid he was on Bartholomew
As I have been inform'd, my

who have wanted his Relief. Multitudes of In- Mr. Serj. Probyn

fiances might be given of this kind, but we old was he ?

mail only lay fome few before your Lordfhips, Mr. Oaker. He
and then beg leave to fubmit to your Confidera- Day laft aged 102.

tion, whether it be poffible to fuppofe, that a no- Lord fent a Surgeon and an Apothecary to attend

ble Lord, whofe Heart was fo charitably inclin'd him, and paid them, and the Expence of his Fu-
to relieve the afflicted who apply'd to him, and neral ; and the whole that came within my Know-
to feek Opportunities of doing good to Strangers ledge was about 120/. Afterwards there were
who were no ways known to him, could be guil- two Clergymen recommended to his Lordfhip for

ty of Actions fuch as his have been reprefented a living that was in his Difpofal ; my Lord could

by the Managers of the Houfe of Commons
How can thefe things be reconciled, that a man,

truly religious, truly virtuous and charitable, fhould

be guilty of Oppreffion, Injuflice, Avarice, and

Corruption ? We beg leave to lay fome few

Inftances of this Nature before your Lordfhips,

and then fubmit their Weight to your Lordfhips

great Judgment.
Mr. Com. Serj. I beg leave to obferve, that in

a great many Articles, the Intention being what

the managers have much relied upon, we humbly turn'd out of his Curacy, and being an Inmate,

apprehend we have clear'd the noble Lord from was order'd by the Officers of the Parifh to quit

not foon determine which to give it to ; one of
them was a poor Curate in Surrey at Thames Bit-
ton: This poor man complain'd, that he could
not attend longer in Town, nor had money to
carry him home ; my Lord gave him a Guinea, and
told him he might go home, he need not ftay,

but fhould be fent to when he had determin'd what
to do for him. A little while after, he came to
Town again, and faid that it being reported, that
his Lordfhip would give him a living, he was

thofe Intentions he is charg'd with, by what we
have already offer'd to your Lordfhips ; but if any

Doubt fhould ftill remain, when it fhall appear

that he was a conftant Benefactor to the Oppreffed

and Afflicted, that a conftant Spirit of Benevo-

lence hath reigned in the Breaft of this noble Lord
towards mankind, you will think it impoffible for

the Parifh, but that he had not money to remove
his Family ; and my Lord being told of that, fent

for him, and gave him a Sum of money in a Pa-
per ; I afked the Clergyman what it was he gave
him, and he faid twenty Guineas. He had foon
after a living given him by my Lord, in Kent, and
then as he was removing his Family to his living,

a man to be fo contradictory to himfelf, that at they were, here in Town by the way, taken ill of
the fame time as he was doing all the Good he the meafles ; upon which the poor Gentleman
could in Private, he fhould be guilty of Avarice, wanting money to proceed on his Journey, came
Corruption and Oppreffion in the moft publick again to my Lord, and his Lordfhip gave him
manner. Thefe Qualities are fo inconfiftent, that twenty Guineas more, as he told me ; and I believe

they could not reign.in the fame Breaft at one and

the fame time, for that Reafon we mall beg leave

many Inftances we
and firft we defire

to mention a few of the great

might produce on this Head :

that Mr. Oaker may be called

Mr. Oaker fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I defire that

Mr. Oaker may give your Lordfhips an Account

how long he hath been employ'd under the noble

Earl within the Bar ?

Mr. Oaker. I ferv'd his Lordfhip all the Time
that his Lordfhip had the Great Seal.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may give a ge-

neral Account during all the time that he ferv'd

his Lordfhip, how far he hath been privy to any

charitable Actions he hath done ?

Mr. Oaker. My Lords, I have the Names of

his Lordfhip hath given him feveral times fince,

but I don't know the Particulars, neither had I

known any of thofe I have mention'd, had not the

poor Clergyman himfelf told me of them.

Mr. Com. Serj. What is his Name, and where
is his living ?

Mr. Oaker. His Name was Vigurs, and his

living is near Sittingbourne in Kent. There was
one man, a converted Jew, I believe he is here

himfelf; he hath had of my Lord feventy or
eighty Pounds. There is one Thwaites, a Qua-
ker, who hath attended the Houfes of Parliament
long, and is very well known, hath had a pretty

large Sum of money, befides other Affiftance

;

Sixty Pounds I paid him at once by my Lord's Or-
der. There is one Mr. Wickam, a Gentleman in

the Navy, a half-pay Officer; he had out-run

that, and was in the Marjhalfea Prifon, and could

fome few in my Hand, I can only tell the Names not make up his matters ; a Friend of his was per-

and Sums of fuch as accidentally came in my way, fonally acquainted with me, and faid my Lord had
for his Lordfhip always did thofe Actions private- fome Knowledge of this Officer, and defir'd me
ly, and with his own Hands, if it could conveni- to acquaint him with his Cafe, which I did, and
ently be. When I firft came to ferve his Lordfhip, his Lordfhip faid he had no Acquaintance with

having heard his Lordfhip's Character of being him, but had known his Father, and for his fake

very bountiful to almoft every body that came in

his way, I therefore endeavoured to inform my-
felf more particularly from fuch Perfons as I ap-

prehended apply'd to him for any Affiftance of
that Nature. The firft that I remember was one

Mr. Brown, who had been Author of feveral Pra-

ctical Books in the Law ; his Lordfhip was pleafed

for fome Years before I acted under him, to pay
for him 24 s. a month for his Board and Subfift-

ance , befides Cloaths and Pocket-money ; the

Perfon that ufed to pay it being a'ofent in my time, Another poor Clergyman my Lord gave a living

I paid it for near feven Years, till Chriftmas laft, to, and he was very lame, and came to Town to

when he died. go into the cold Bath ; he happened to be arrett-

ed

would clear him ; and it being faid he was in for

about thirty Pounds, his Lordfhip faid if it came
to forty Guineas he would pay it, fo that it fet

him out of Diftrefs, and cleared him of all Debts

;

the Gentleman did make up his Affairs, and my
Lord paid the money, and befides gave him a

whole Suit of Cloaths, double Shoes and Stock-

ings, and Wigs, and new Sword and Belt, fit

to appear in the World again, which came to

fomething above forty Pounds in the whole.
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ed for an old Demand of 3 6l. His Wife came to an Account of what charitable Acts he hath known
my Lord, who gave her money tor prefent Sub- done by the Earl of Macclesfield?

Mr. Hunt. I have known my Lord to be a ve-
ry generous and noble Patron :

fiftance, and order'd me to take care that the

whole Affair fhould be made up, and the whole
Debt was clear'd and difcharg'd, and all the Colls

and Charges paid out of his Lordfhip's Pocket.

There are abundance of other fmall Sums I might
mention of the fame kind, but it would be end-

leis to trouble your Lordfhips with them. Then
there is another matter which I mention to your

Lordfhips, not fo much for the Value as for the

manner of doing it ; a poor Gentleman refiding

at the Bath, had a Place given him, as he faid, in

Ireland, but had not money to carry him over,

and therefore only beg'd 40 s. to carry him o-

ver to Ireland; my Lord order'd me to remit

him five Guineas, which he received, but after-

wards he wrote word that he and his Family were

I can fpeak from
feveral Inftances, relating not only to myfelf, but
to feveral other Gentlemen of the Univerfity of
Oxford. The firfl Time I had the Honour of be-
ing known to his Lordfhip, was about Wlntfuntide
1722, upon the Recommendation of one Mr.
Thornbury, Vicar of Thame in Oxford/hire. The
Noble Lord afked Mr. Thornbury what Perfons
he knew in the Univerfity that were inclinable to
be ftudious : Mr. Thornbury was fo kind as to men-
tion me as one : Upon which his Lordfhip fent
for me to dine with him the Day after j I carried
him fome of the private Exercifes that I had done
in the Univerfity, which his Lordfhip read over,
and was fo kind as to approve. His Lordfhip

ill at the Time, and therefore had expended the kept me with him feveral Days, and defired to
money, and wanted the fame Supply again ; my
Lord then order'd me to remit him ten Guineas

more, which I did. Here is at your Lordfhips

Ear one Mr. Saunders, a Clergyman, who hath

fundry times received of his Lordfhip's Favours

whilfl a Youth, and upon the Foundation in the

Charter-Houfe ; and when he went from thence to

the Univerfity, his Lordfhip gave him forty Gui-

neas ; and afterwards, when he was near going

into Orders, remitted him fixty Pounds to clear all

have more Converfation with me, and he difmifs'd
me with a generous Prefent of twenty Guineas,
telling me he fhould be glad to fee me when he
came to Shirburn, and that he defign'd to make
me a Prefent now and then till he could do fome-
thing elfe for me. About Chriftmas after was the
next Time I waited on my Lord : I carried him
again fome of my Univerfity Exercifes, which his

Lordfhip perufed, and was fo favourable as not to

miflike them. His Lordfhip difmifs'd me at that
matters in the Univerfity, which I fent to Dr. Bent- Time, with another generous Prefent of twenty
ley by his Lordfhips Order. I don't mention fe- Guineas, and further Affurances of future Fa-
veral other Particulars, but they are very numerous, vours. About this time I had received a letter

both what patted through my Hands, as well as from Mr. Gagnier, Deputy Profeffor of Arabkk in
others of his Lordfhips Servants, hardly a Week the Univerfity of Oxford-, v/herein he complained
paffed without fome Inftance of this kind. to me, that he had been ill ufed by fome Perfons

Mr. Com. Serf As you was under the Great in the Univerfity, for having v/rit a Poem in

Seal, you can inform my Lords, when Clergymen Praile of her Royal Highnefs. This I related to
were admitted to their livings, whether his Lord- his Lordfhip : His Lordfhip exprefs'd a great deal
fhip has not frequently order'd their Fees to be of Concern for his misfortune, pity'd his Cafe, and
remitted them ? fent him by me a Prefent of twenty Guineas.

Mr. Oaker, My Lord frequently gave Orders The third Time I had the Honour to wait upon
to remit the Fees of his own Officers, and at his Lordfhip was about Michaelmas 1723, when
other Times his Lordfhip paid the Fees of the I received likewife a Prefent of twenty Guineas

:

Patent Officers and Stamps out of his own Pock- I fhould have alfo mention'd that I received other

et ; and hath given the Clergymen money befides fmaller Prefents from his Lordfhip, five Guineas

to pay their Journeys to their livings, and other- at one time, and one Guinea at another. The laft

time I had the Honour of waiting on his Lordfhip

and receiving his Bounty, was about Eafler 1724,
when his Lordfhip made me the ufual generous

wife to fuftain them, and to buy Books.

Mr. Com. Serj. Do you remember Mr. Higgs?

Mr. Oaker. Mr. Higgs was greatly indebted,

and in Prifon ; his Lordfhip difcharg'd him, and Prefent of twenty Guineas, and was fo kind as

paid fuch Debts as were infifted upon, to the Va- to fend by me thirty Guineas more, viz. fifteen to

lue of about ninety Pounds : He is there to give Mr. Hutchinfon, and fifteen to Mr. Greenway ; fo

your Lordfhips a particular Account. that within the fpace of two Years I received of

Dr. Sayer. As a great deal depends upon the his Lordfhip's Bounty, for the ufe of myfelf and

manner of doing thefe things, I would afk him as the Gentlemen of my Acquaintance, one hundred

to the manner in which they were done, whether and thirty fix Guineas, upon no other Account, and

in an oftentatious manner, or how ;

Mr. Oaker. My Lord did thefe generous A-
ctions merely as they fell in his way, and without

mentioning them, or letting them be (cerx or

known, as far as I could ever perceive ; fo that

where I did not apply to his Lordfhip myfelf for

fuch People as came to me, I never knew it but

by Accident ; and in Cafes where I was privy, my
Lord generally gave me more than was afked, his

method being, as far as might be, to fet Perfons

entirely free, and to do them a full Service.

Mr. Hunt, a Clergyman, fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we defire that

Mr. Hunt would recollect and give your Lordfhips

for no Confideration whatever, but to encourage us

in our Studies, and fupport us in the Univerfity.

Dr. Sayer. I would know whether the thirty

Guineas were look'd upon as a fingle Bounty, or

was it to be an annual Charity ?

Mr. Hunt. I believe fo; they told me they had

received it as fuch before ; we all looked upon

our feveral Benefactions as to be continued.

Mr. Smithys, a Clergyman, fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may give an Ac-

count of what he knows of my Lord Macclesfield's

Charities.

Mr. Smithys. My Lords, In the Year 1721

there became vacant the Place of a maflcr of an

Hoipitul
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Hofpital in the Town of Colchefier, in the Difpo- Mr. Plummer. If my Lord Macclesfield thinks it

fal of my Lord Chancellor, to which mafterfhip, decent to give this Evidence, we do not think fit

King James the Firft had annex'd the Cure of to oppofe it,

Souls of a Parifh adjoining, and which Parifh had

no other Provifion for a minifter.

The former mailer had taken no notice of the

Parifh, nor had any Care been taken time out of

mind (as I have been informed by the Inhabitants

of the Parifh) of either burying their dead, or

Dr. Sayer. The Charities laid out by my Lord
Macclesfield have been to fit out Clergymen for

Parifhes, and to provide Churches for Panfhes.

Mr. John Meyer fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire this Witnefs to in-

baptizing their Infants. My Lord Chancellor be- form your Lordfhips, whether he was not fof-

ing (as I have been told) informed of this, fent merly a Jew.

to me to know if I would accept of the matter's Mr. Meyer. I was a Jew formerly.

Place. I would not miflake, my Lord's Chaplain Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he would give your

fent me word, if I would accept of the Place, and Lordfhips an Account of his Converfion, and

let him know my Chriflian Name, his Lordfhip what Circumftances of life he was then in, and

would fend me the Grant of it. I did fo, and how he was relieved ?

then my Lord was pleafed to enquire into the Na- Mr. Meyer. I was, by feveral misfortunes, and

ture of the thing. I informed his Lordfhip that by the hardfhip of my Relations, reduced to great

no Care was taken of the Parifh at all, tho' I ap- Extremities, after 1 was converted from Judaifm.

prehended the mafter of the Hofpital ought to Mr. Serj. Probyn. After you were converted,

take Care of it. My Lord then was pleafed to what Charities have you received ? Have you re-

give me the Grant of the Hofpital, and obliged ceived any Collection made for you by any Per-

me to a particular Care of the Parifh •, and at the fon ?

.

fame time defired me to let him know what Con
dition the Church was in. I informed him that

it was utterly unfit for divine Service ; none had

been performed in it (as I had been informed)

Time out of mind ; and the Parifhiones were in

Mr. Meyer. I did apply myfelf to my Lord
Macclesfield for Charity, by the Recommendation
of feveral worthy Clergymen : Upon which Re-
commendation, his Lordfhip was pleafed to be-

flow upon me a Charity of fifty Guineas. I was

fuch a Condition of Poverty, that they were not fet up in a way of living in the Parifh of St. in-
capable of making it fit for divine Worfhip. therines near the 'Tower ; then the Fire happen'd

My Lord then was pleafed to order me to ac- there, and I was burnt out, after which I had a
quaint him how much would put the Church in dangerous Fit of Sicknefs.

Repair. Upon this I thought proper to apply to His Lordfhip got an Account of the fame, and
Workmen for their Advice ; and by their Advice fent me a fecond Relief of twenty Guineas. The
I informed his Lordfhip thirty Pounds would do fame Time that his Lordfhip gave me fifty Gui-

lt. My Lord ordered me to fet the Workmen at neas, he fent twenty Guineas to the Reverend
Mr. Shute, who was Treafurer to the Society for

propagating the Gofpel in Foreign Parts.

Work, and he would pay their Bills. Before the

Church was finifhed, through my Unfkilfulnefs,

and the Cunning of Workmen (as I then thought)

this thirty Pounds would not do. I acquainted his

Lordfhip with it, and he defired to know how
much more would do. The Workmen told me
ten Pounds. My Lord ordered the Workmen to clesfield's Bounty ?

Mr. Edward Sanders fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may give an Ac-
count of what he hath received of my Lord Mac-

proceed, and they fhould be paid the other ten

Pounds ; but by the falling of a Wall, and other

Accidents, this money was not flill enough. I

was afhamed to betray my own Ignorance, in fuf-

fering myfelf to be fo impofed upon by the

Workmen (as I imagined his Lordfhip Would
think) I determined to pay the reft of the mo-
ney myfelf; but being encouraged by Dr. Sayer,

I did inform his Lordfhip of the Condition we
were in. I then received an unlimited Commif-
fion to let the Workmen finifh the Work, and
fend up their Bills when they had done, which

Mr. Sanders. My Lords, in the Year 1 7 1
3 the

Duke of Somerfet, through the Interceffion of the

Earl of Macclesfield, put me into the Charter-

Houfe, where I was educated eight Years and
an half; all which Time his Lordfhip furnifhed

me with Books ; and at my leaving of the School,

he gave me forty Guineas for the better profecu-

ting my Studies at Cambridge : In a Year and an

half after this, he gave me fixty Pounds. My
Lords, this was not all ; for when I acquainted

his Lordfhip at my going into Orders, that! owed
fome money at Cambridge, his Lordfhip was plea-

they did, and my Lord immediately paid the mo- fed to give me forty Guineas more, towards the

ney, which amounted to 52/. 6 s. 1 1 i d. difcharging of my Debts.

Dr. Sayer. I defire he may be afked what fort

of Parifh this is, and what kind of People the

Inhabitants of it are ?

Mr. Smithys. It is a poor Parifh, but not nu-

merous ; there is not one in the Parifh that is

called mafter -, not one, I believe able to contri-

bute a Shilling towards a Work of this kind,

without hurting himfelf or his Family.

Mr. Thornbury, a Clergyman, fworn.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I defire he may
inform your Lordfhips what he knows of his

Lordfhips Charity ?

Mr. Thornbury. My Lords, what I have to in-

form your Lordfhips of is this ; that in the Year

1 72 1, about the latter End of July, fome Applica-

Dr. Sayer. I defire he may be afked whether tion having been before made to my Lord Chancel-

the Earl has any relation to it, or any Eftate

thereabouts ?

Mr. Smithys. He hath no relation to the Town,
nor Seat near it, nor any particular Concern, that

I know of, for any man belonging to it.

lor by my Father, I had the Honour to be fent for

by his Lordfhip to London. When I came to Town,
as it was my only Bufinefs, fo I made it my ear-

lieft Care to wait upon his Lordfhip, who was

pleafed to receive me with the greateft Kindnefs

and
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and Contlefcenfion, telling me he had fome Liv-

ings at that time in his Difpofal, one of which he

intended forme ; his Lordlhip likewife offered, if

I had a Mind to fee the Livings, he would be at

the Expence of my Journey, and that I fliould

have my Choice when I was come back ; but I

anfwered, I would refer that to his Lordfhip's

Pleafure. In a few Days after, he ordered his

Secretary of the Prefentations to prepare a Pre-

fentation of me to a Vicarage in Somerfetjhire,

called Ninebead. When the Prefentation was

fealed, and I had received Inftructions to go and

wait upon his Lordfhip for it, he was gracioufly

pleafed not only to give me the Prefentation, but

alfo difcharged the whole Fees, and likewife made
me a Prefent of ioo Guineas to buy me Books

withal.

Mr. Tbo. Withers, and Mr. HenJIoaw called, who
not immediately appearing,

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, lam told here

is a Reverend Prelate, who will willingly ffand

up in his Place, and give your Lordfhips an Ac-

count of what he knows of fome of my Lord
Macclesfield's Charity.

The Lord Bifhop of Oxford ftands up.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire your Lordfhip would
give an Account of what you know of this Mat-
ter?

Bifhop of Oxford. My Lords, the Queftion put

to me is concerning my Lord Macclesfield's Bene-

factions and Encouragement to Learning in the

Univerfity of Oxford. I am a good Witnefs of

it ; for my Lord fome time fince defired me to re-

commend a Number of young Men to him,

whom I thought proper Objects of his Favour,

and like to make a confiderable Progrefs in Law,
Phyfick, Divinity, or any other Branch of Learn-

ing. He faid he was willing to beftow a confider-

able annual Stipend on them, for no other end

but to enable them to buy Books, and encourage

them to follow their Studies ; and this without a-

ny Regard to Party, but merely for the promoting

of Learning in the Univerfity. I recommended
feveral Perfons to him, and enquired into the Cha-

racters of fome who were recommended by others,

and have no Reafon to doubt but that every one

that was thought deferving had a confiderable Al-

lowance. I can't charge my Memory with par-

ticular Sums, but believe his Lordfhip faid he was

willing in the whole, to expend this way four or

five hundred Pounds every Year. This is the Sum
of what I know ; if your Lordfhips defire to be

informed of any Thing more particularly, I am
ready to give an Anfwer to the beft of my Know-
ledge.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, we have now gone
through our Evidence, and I fhall beg your

Lordfhips Indulgence for the making fome fhort

Obfervations upon what has been offered in De-
fence of the noble Earl, now at your Lordfhips

Bar •, and as this Proceeding has already been

drawn out to a very great Length, I am fenfible

it will become me, to ufe as much Brevity as

may be. I fhall, however, before I proceed, beg

leave to trefpafs upon your Lordfnips Patience fo

far as to fay, that if in the Courfe of this Pro-

ceeding, any thing fhould have flipped from us

who are of Counfel for the Earl, which might not

h? lb exactly fuitable to the very great Kefpect

Vol. VI.

and Mi/demeanor m
and Deference, which is due frOm every one to
this auguft Affembly, I hope your Lordfnips tnflj
in your great Goodnefs, impute it only to the In-
advertency, which the Variety of Incidents and
Hurry attending Proceedings of this Nature, may
reafonably be fuppofed to occafion, and as fuch
excufe it.

We hope, my Lords, that what has been hum-
bly offered to your Confideration, in Behalf of
this noble Earl, has made him appear a Peribn
very different from what he has been reprefented
to be, by the Gentlemen of the Houfe of Com-
mons ; and I am apt to perfuade myfelf, that if
they had been as well informed beforehand, of
what he had to fay in his Vindication, as they
were of what they had to object to his Conduct,
your Lordfhips would have been fpared the great
Trouble occafioned by this long Profecution.

It is, my Lords, the peculiar Happinefs of our
Conftitution, to have in the different Parts of it$

all the Requifites neceffary and proper for the
Prefervation of the Peace and Welfare of thofe
who have the good Fortune to live under it. In
thofe, whofe Part it is, like Centinels, to watch
for and guard the Liberties and Safety of the
People ; who are the grand Inquifitors, to fearch
into, and expofe every Thing that has even the
Appearance of being hurtful or dangerous to the
Liberties or Properties of thofe they reprefent 5

Vigour, Warmth, Zeal, I had almoft faid fome
Degree of Paffion, feem proper Qualifications 3

whilft Calmnefs, Moderation, and Patience, nor,

altogether without Tendernefs and Mercy, are
the proper Characterifticks of thofe, who by the
Conftitution are to determine and judge. And,
my Lords, I may venture to fay, that, to the
Glory of our Nation, all thefe Qualities have
been exercifed, and every Part of our Conftitu-
tion hath exerted itfelf, upon Occafion of this

Proceeding: His Majcfty's great Condefcenfion,
in readily laying this Matter before his Parlia-

ment •, the Zeal and Vigour of the Houfe of
Commons, in examining into it; the great Abi-
lities and Induftry which the learned Gentlemen^
who have had the Honour of managing this Pro-
fecution, have fnewn, (they'll pardon me, I hope,
for faying, I could have wifhed it had been at-

tended with fomething lefs Harfhnefs and Seve->

riry •,) and your Lordfnips great Goodnefs and Pa-
tience, hitherto fo confpicuous, and of the Con-
tinuance of which there is not the leaft Reafon to

doubt, are fo many illuflrious Proofs of it.

Give me leave, my Lords, to proceed fur-

ther, and mention the Part which the noble Earl

at the Bar hath had in this Affair. Llis Readinefs,

when after his Endeavours for that Purpofe, he

found the thorough Reformation of the Court

of Chancery a Work too difficult for him fingly

to effect, in laying the Affair before his Maje-

fty in Council ; the feafonable and proper Orders

he afterwards iffued out upon that Occafion •,

and his Zeal in prtffing to have them immedi-

ately comply'd with*, leave him ffil!, we hope,

fome Share of the Reputation and Merit of what

has been, or is likely to be done towards the

Reformation of that Court. Nor will your Lord-

fhips be at a Lofs, to what Caufe to afcribe this

Behaviour of the Earl, notwithftanding the Kcpre-

fentations which have been made oi him -, when

you fhall confider the fteddy Affection and Zeal

for our Conftitution, which on all Occafions

G T have
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have fo remarkably appeared in him. Your Lord- countenance what he hath done upon fuch Occa-
fhips, no doubt, remember thofe Times and Con- fions,_and that without any Marks of Parliamen-
junclures, which it was thought required not

only good Wifhes and Affection, but Vigour
likewife and Courage, to fupport and preferve to

us the Continuance of our Conftitution. Then it

was, and for that end, that this noble Lord fo

tary Refentment. If this noble Lord flood in

need of an Excufe for having taken Prefents,

how effectual would this be for that Purpofe ?

For fure, my Lords, if it were allowed that he
had erred in this Matter, yet after fuch great Ex-

eminently exerted all thofe great Abilities he was amples, your Lordfhips would think it an Error
Mailer of; and that with fuch Succefs, as gained only, and not an Offence which deferved a heavy
him the approbation of his Majefiy, who thought Cenfure.

his Services fo fignal, as to juftify his Munificence

towards him, and his Goodnefs in railing him to

fo great Honour. And can it eafily be thought,

my Lords, that one fo qualified, fo affectioned,

fo didinguifhed, fhould enter into a wild De-

fign of deceiving both King and Parliament ?

Or that he fhould enter into it, and carry it on

in fo poor and indifcreet a manner, as is fuggefted

in the Charge againft him ? in a manner fo void

of Thought and Contrivance, that it relifhes

The reft of the Articles have fo near a Relation
to the charge of taking Money, being only
Aggravations of that Matter, under the feveral

Circumftances therein contained, that I humbly
apprehend, they do in a great meafure depend
upon, and will ftand or fall together with it.

And as the Evidence which has been given in

relation to them, and the Obfervations made
thereon, have been fo full, and are yet fo frelh

in your Lordfhips memories, I will avoid troubling

more of Madnefs than any thing elfe. Suppofe your Lordfhips with a needlefs Repetition of any
he could be thought capable of attempting to thing upon thofe Heads.

conceal Matters that were fo notorious to every

body, and that by a Means, which from the

very Nature of it, mud in fome fhortTime have

betrayed the Contrivance ; yet furely, my Lords,

his Fears and Apprehenfions would have reftrain- amaffing Wealth. And great Endeavours have

My Lords, the Source of all the Evils here

complained of in the Earl, is fuppofed to be Ava-
rice : Every thing is afcribed to an immode-
rate Thirft after Gain, an irregular Defire of

ed him from communicating himfelf in a Matter

of fo high Concern, without Diftinction, to fo

many Perfons as were then fuppofed to be pre-

fent -, that he fhould publickly give fuch Orders

been ufed to perfuade your Lordfhips, that the

Earl was fo wholly tainted, fo thoroughly poffef-

fed with this Vice, that he had nothing in View
but to gratify it ; and every fingle Action of his

as would certainly expofe him to the Refentment had a Tendency that Way. But fure, my Lords,

of his Majefty, and both Houfes of Parliament, the Evidence juft now laid before your Lordfhips,

in Hopes that fuch a Secret would be kept by fo fhews a Spirit and Temper of Mind far different

many People as are fuppofed to be concerned in from that, and totally inconfiftent with it. And
it i furely, my Lprds, is a Charge of fo extraor- none, I hope, will object againft cur having en-

dinary a Nature, as will require better Proof than

what arifes from uncertain Expreffions, in Dif-

courfe with a Number of People at the fame

time, and they in fo great a Hurry and Confu-

fion, that there was very great room for Mif-

apprehenfions, and where it was eafy for one to

miftake what was faid to another, as if fpoke to Rewarder of them, may be withdrawn from their

tred into a Proof of that Nature ; there are fome
Occafions, and furely this is one, that will jufti-

fy the moft modeft man in publishing his own
good Deeds ; and upon which even charitable

Acts, as firft intended, as they ought to be bu-

ry'd in Silence, and known to none but the great&

himfelf: And from hence it proceeded, as I pre-

fume, that the Account given of that Tranfact ion,

by the Gentlemen concerned in it, is fo various

and uncertain, that we humbly hope your Lord-

fhips will not think it reafonable to be relied on,

as a Proof of fuch a Charge.

Privacy, and difclofed to publick View.

My Lords, the Inftances which we have pro-

duced are not of pompous Charities ; we fhould

then, no doubt, have been told that Vanity and

Oftentation had the greateft Share in them : Had
they been a few Inftances only which were laid

My Lords, the Foundation of this whole Com- before your Lordfhips, though far exceeding in

plaint againft the Earl is his Acceptance of Pre- Value thofe which have now appeared •, it would

fents or Gratuities, upon the Difpofal of Places

or, as the Gentlemen of the Houfe of Commons
are pleafed to ftyle it, the felling of Places, prin-

cipally thofe of the Matters of the Court of

Chancery. We have admitted the Facts, but

without admitting thofe Circumftances which ac-

company it, as it ftands charged in the feveral

Articles for that Purpofe ; and we hope we have

perhaps have been faid, that thofe were Starts

and Fits of Charity: But your Lordfhips will ob-

ferve that thefe have flowed in a continual Stream,

and can be owing to nothing but a conftant habi-

tual Benevolence towards Mankind, a regular and

continual Inclination to do good. And can fuch

a Temper and Difpofition of Mind be confident

with infatiable Avarice, bafe Corruption, and

fatisfied your Lordfhips, that it was no ways il- mercilefs Cruelty, in fpoiling and oppreffing Wi-
legal to act as the Earl hath done upon thofe Oc-
cafions. To fupport our Reafoning upon that

Head, we propofed to fhew to your Lordfhips,

what the Sen fe and Opinion of divers great and

dows, Orphans, and Lunaticks, and fuch too,

who were under his Guardianlhip and Prote-

ction ?

My Lords, we hope it will be thought impof-

learned Men had been, in refpect to the Law in fible for fuch oppofite Sentiments to reign in the

that Point, from their own Practice and Beha-

viour : And we hope that the Evidence which

hath been offered for that Purpofe, hath plainly

made it out, that the Earl hath the condant

Ufage of his Predeceffors in that Office, as well

as of other great Perfons in other Stations, to

fame Bread, at the fame time •, and that at lead,

where any thing may appear doubtful in the Earl's

Words or Actions, not only the received No-
tion of our Law, of prefuming always in Favour

of Innocence, but this Benignity of Temper in

the Earl will determine your Lordfhips to confi-

der
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der it in the mod favourable Light, and never to in-

tend any thing harfh, which will admit of a mild-

er Conftruction.

The Cries and Tears of Widows and Orphans

have been artfully introduced, to raife your Lord-

ihips Companion and Indignation upon this Oc-

casion. It is no Wonder, my Lords, that Wo-
men and Children fhould be frightened at the firft

Appearance of the Deficiency in the Suitors Ef-

fects, which was reprefented in fo terrible a

View ; but we hope, my Lords, the Terror is

funk with the Deficiencies, and that in a great

Meafure thefe Cries are hufhecl, and Tears dry'd

up, now it already appears (as we hope it evi-

dently does) that no very confiderable Lofs is

likely to happen to the Suitors, and that thePro-

fpect of its being leffened flill improves.

Under thefe Circumftances fhould your Lord-

fhips think (which we humbly hope there is no

Ground to fuppofe) that the Earl has fallen into

any miftakes •, yet when his Majefly, your Lord-

fhips, and the Commons, have extended their

Clemency to thofe maflers, who have been the

acknowledged, the immediate Inftruments and

Actors of the Evils complained of, and of what-

ever may be prejudicial to the Suitors ; and the

Legiflature hath interpofed, to preferve them in

the Enjoyment of their Offices -, we hope the Earl

would not be the only Object, on which your

Lordfhips Goodnefs did not fhine. We rather

hope your Lordfhips will confider his misfor-

tunes •, and when you look upon the high Emi-
nency from whence he is fallen, and view him at

your Lordfhip's Bar, fcourged with the feverefl

Stripes the Tongue can inflict, and what can be

more cutting ? a Punifhment, from which he had

fome Reafon to expect that his Relation to your

illuftrious Body might have protected him : That
thefe Circumftances will raife thofe generous Sen-

timents of Tendernefs, which always dwell in no-

ble Breafts: A Tendernefs, noways inconfiftent

with your Lordfhips Juftice, to which the Earl

chearfully fubmits himfelf ; and that in Imitation

of the unerring Judge of all, whofe Vicegerents

you are on this Occafion, your Lordfhips will in

Judgment remember Mercy.

Mr. Onflow. I would not interrupt the Gentle-

man that fpoke laft before he had ended ; but I

muft now, before this Gentleman goes on, inform

your Lordfhips that an Incident hath happened,

that the Managers think they are obliged to take

Notice of. The Risdit Reverend Prelate is not

by the Managers in the leaft fufpected as to his

Veracity, and the Truth of what he fays? but in

judicial Proceedings, efpecially in a criminal Cafe,

as this is, the Managers think Witneffes of all

Sorts are to be examined upon Oath ; not, as I

have faid, that they have any Doubt of the Reve-

rend Prelate's Veracity -, but for the fake of the

Precedent, and to prevent ill Confequences, the

Managers think his Lordfhip muft, as all other

Perfons do, give his Teftimony upon Oath:

Your Lordfhips have Precedents in the Cafe oi

my Lord Strafford and others. The Witneffes,

if members of your Lordfhips Houfe, are to be

fworn at the Table, and give their Evidence in

their Place.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, if it is infixed

upon, that what the Reverend Prelate fays fhould

be taken as Evidence; we humbly apprehend, ac-

cording to the Rule of Evidence, he is to give

and Mi/demeanours. fig I
his_ Evidence upon Oath. And this being fo ma-
terial an Incident, and the Profecution having pro-
ceeded fo far, we humbly beg leave to put your
Lordfhips in mind, that it is infifted upon in Point
of Teftimony, that the Reverend Prelate would
be pleafed to be fworn.

Lord Lechmere. No doubt but the Reverend
Prelate ought to be fworn. It was not taken No-
tice of. If the Prelate beoalled upon as a Wit-
nefs, his Evidence muft be upon Oath,

Bifhop of Oxford. My Lords, I fhould be ve-
ry forry to give any Offence to your Lordfhips

;

if the honourable Managers infill upon it that I

take my Oath, and your Lordfhips direct me fo to

do, I am as willing to give my Evidence upon
Oath, as without it. I fubmit it to your Lordfhips,
whether you will look upon the Journals, to fee

how the Precedents ftand.

Lord Lechmere. If it be infilled upon to look
into the Journals, the Parties muft withdraw.

Thereupon k was waved, and the Bifhop fworm

Bifhop of Oxford. My Lords, for the Advance-
ment and Encouragement of Learning in the U-
niverfity of Oxford, I remember my Lord Mac-
clesfield fome time fince, told me he was willing to
allow confiderable Salaries to Perfons that were
ftudious and fober ; and that this fhould be done
for the Advancement of any Sort of Learning in

genera], without reftraining it to any particular

Science or Faculty, and without any Relation to

Party, provided the Perfons were worthy : And I

defire leave to own to your Lordfnips, that other-

wife I would not have had any Concern in it. I

did, my Lords, recommend feveral Perfons, whom
I thought proper Objects of his Lordfhip's Boun-
ty; and at his Lordfhip's Requeft, enquired the!

Characters of others, who had been before recom-
mended to him. I have Reafon to believe that fe-

veral of thefe fucceeded in his Lordfhip's Favour.}

and received bountifully from him. I dare not*

at this Diftance of Time, charge my memory
with particular Sums, but believe that the noble

Lord affured me, he was willing, in the whole, to

lay out this way four or five hundred Pounds a

Year. This, as near as I can remember, is the

Subftance of what I faid before.

Mr, Robins. My Lords, I fhall prefume to take

up very little of your Lordfhips Time, in obfer-

ving on what has paffed at this folemn Affembly

of the two Houfes of Parliament.

The Occafion of it has been to examine into

the Conduct and Behaviour of a Member of your

own auguft Body, during the Time he had the

Honour to ferve his moft facred Majefly in the

high Office of Lord Chancellor.

And the Commons have faithfully difcharged

their Part, by omitting no one Circumftance or

Ingredient, that could poffibly ferve to heighten

and aggravate the Crimes they have thought fit to

lay to his Charge.

But whether after all, the Miftakes, the Inad-

vertencies, the Example of others, and the Frail-

ties even of human Nature itfelf, are not the

whole, the Sum total of all this folemn and pom-

pous Trial, will I believe with many remain for

ever the Queftion.

It would not perhaps be for the Service of this

noble Earl to fay, that every Step he took, every

Advance he made, for the Benefit and Relief of

the
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the Suitors of the Court where he prefided, was your Lordfhips will therefore permit me to take
the beft that could poffibly have been invented

;

Leave of this auguft Aflembly with fome few
'twill, we hope, be fufficient to fay, that he fin- fhort Obfervations both upon the Charge and th-c

cerely thought them the beft : And if better have Defence.

been fince found out, which have proved more ef-

fectual to the fame end, it only proves him not

to have been infallible, which furely is no Crime.

And if the Actions of his private Life, his Ju-
ftice, his Piety, his Charity, and his Compaction

Your Lordfhips did for four Days fuccefTively

fit to hear this noble Earl arraign'd as the molt
corrupt, oppreffive, and avaricious Perfon upon
Earth : It was done too, my Lords, in a Man-
ner, from which I fhould have thought the Re-

for others, may be allowed to caft any Light or lation he bears to your Lordfhips would have been
Reflection on his publick Conduct and Behaviour, a fufHcient Protection ; and without which the ho-
I believe, my Lords, I may prefume to affirm that nourable Managers might very weJl have difch.ire-

thofe who are acquainted with his Innocence in ed their Duty to the Houfe or Commons, in Liy-

the one, will never be brought to think him cri- i ng the Cafe before your Lordlhips.

minal in the other. But, my Lords, whatever Refe'ntment this

My Lords, I am afraid many are the Abufes, Treatment of one of your own Body might raife

the Corruptions and the Evils which have fprung in your Lordfhips, I mult for my own Part con-
up in our Courts of Juftice, even to the Difpa- fefs, that I heard it all with Pleafure ; as it was
ragement and Difcredit of Juftice itfeJf. And an open Acknowledgment, that all honeft Arc
Complaints of this kind have been made in almoft and legal Liberty were neceffary in aggravating
all Ages, though at the fame Time they have been the Charge, and poffeffing your Lordlhips with
juftly placed to the Account of fome of the low- that Opinion of the noble Earl, that the Gen-
eft, and moft inferior Officers and Minifters, which tlemen of the Houfe of Commons defire you
are neceffarily and unavoidably made ufe of in the would entertain.

Difpenfation and Diftribution of Juftice. My Lords, the Charge in one general View
And if an effectual Method of Cure could be confifts of an Accufation againft the noble Ear]

found out for thefe ; if thofe who are to give the either for doing what his PredecefTors did before
laft Hand to the Completion of Juftice were pure, him, or for not doing what it is not pretended
the Streams would then run clear and undifturbed they ever did : A Angular Misfortune to this no-
to the end. ble Perfon, that the following fuch great Exam-

But, till that is done, till Means are applied pies fhould in every Inftance be imputed to him
for the purging and clearing thefe Channels, thro' as a Crime.

which Juftice muft be conveyed, 'tis no wonder As to the accepting Prefents for Offices, my
that the Fountains themfelves look as it were mud- Lords, we have fully proved to your Lordfhips,
dy, and polluted by Reflection. that the fame was done by the PredecefTors of the

But; my Lords, h'ow defirable foever thefe Ends noble Earl within the Bar; and we muft humbly
may be, they are only the Work of the Legiflature •, infift, that if the Statute of Edward VI. be taken
a Chancellor, or a Judge, may fit by and lament, as laying a Reftraint upon that Practice, yet hav-
but they cannot help them. ing put the Cafe, and faid what fhould be the
They are only to be effected by that Power, Confequence, your Lordfhips cannot go out of

which has a Sort of Omnipotence; and when they that Statute to punifh the noble Earl.

are effected, I believe none will rejoice and con- My Lords, it is the Mifery (I may fay the SJa-

gratulate themfelves more, than the many learned, very) under which other Nations groan, that the
great, and upright Men, which prefide in our Punifhment for Crimes is arbitrary and variable,

feveral Courts of Juftice. and that he who commits the fmalleft Offence may
In the mean time, my Lords, as the Sentence be put to undergo the moft rigorous Punifhment:

which is prayed againft this noble Earl, will be But God be thanked, my Lords, he hath not dealt

of little Avail to flop the Mifchief ; as 'twill in fa with this Nation, but that this People hath
fome fort be a Punifhment of the Innocent, and
letting the Guilty efcape : We are too well ac-

quainted with your Lordfhips juft and righteous

Proceedings, to be in any Pain for this noble Earl.

Knowledge of the Laws; Crimes here are ftated,

and fo, my Lords, are their Punifhments ; and
give me Leave, my Lords, to fay, that this is

one of the main Channels through which our An-
Let felling of Places, taking of Prefents, or any ceftors have deliver'd down to us that Liberty,

other the known and ufual Profits attending great which is the Glory of this, and the Envy of all

Preferment, be for ever abolifh'd by a plain and other Nations.

explicit Law ; and I believe I may prefume to My Lords, the Act under your prefent Confi-

fay, that no Complaints of this kind will ever be deration puts the Cafe of accepting Money for

made more ; that Weftminfter-Hall will never a- an Office, and fays, the Confequence fhall be the

gain be named in an Impeachment, and that your Lofs of Nomination: There are no Words that

Lordfhips will have no Trouble of this kind for declare Offices were not faleable by Law, or that

the future. they fhall not be faleable for the future, upon
But this, my Lords, I am fure I may venture which to found a Profecution by Indictment or

to fay, and I will fay no more ; that if it had Impeachment ; though if fuch Words were in

been the Fortune of this noble Earl to have liv'd this Act, I fhould ftill humbly infift, that as well

in fuch happy Days, his Name would never have upon an Impeachment as upon an Indictment, the

been tranfmitted to Pofterity in an Impeach- Statute, and that only, muft be the Guide in af-

ment.

Mr. Strange. My Lords, we are now come to

the Clofe of the Defence, wherein to avoid Con-

fufion, I have hitherto confined my felf to the

particular Part which it was my Duty to open

;

certaining the Punifhment.

My Lords, the Articles have beftowed many
Epithets upon this Action ; fuch as illegally, cor-

ruptly, extorfively, &c. But your Lordfhips will

not find them in this Act -of Parliament.

And
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And as to its being an Offence at Common

Law, give me leave, my Lords, only to put you

in mind of three Provifoes in this Aft, which

fpeak the contrary in the ftrongeft Terms. The

firft is the Claufe which confirms all Bargains then

made, and which were to take Effect at a future

Day. The next is a Declaration to what Offices

the Aft fhall not extend, fome whereof are of a

for High Crimes and Mifdemeanors. 69$
ded in the Queen's Bench, and faw (unmoved)
the Tide of Preferment rolling towards a diftant
Shore. The true Intereft of his Country in the
prefent Royal Family was then his fteddy Purfuit,
and his Merit confifted in advancing it to the ut-
moft

5 and his Majefty, who was beft able to
judge of the Greatnefs of his Services, thought
they deferved a Reward proportioned to the moft

publick Nature, as Keeper of a Foreft, Manor,fcff. exalted Merit, and therefore added him to your
And the third is that which takes Notice, that by Lordfhips Body.

Law the Judges might difpofe of Offices, and E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I beg leave that

therefore leaves them to the full Liberty they had I may have the liberty to lay before your Lord-
before the Aft. mips fome Obfervations on the feveral Parts of
And if in this Impeachment we Hand clear as the Evidence given on both Sides.

to the felling of Offices, then no Afts or Omif- Your Lordfhips will eafily imagine, that a
fions towards raifing the Price (if any fuch had Charge of this Nature muft have

&
affefted me

very much, and the great Fatigue I have under-
gone hath not allow'd me the liberty to confider
every Part fo as to make the proper Reflections

been proved) will make the Earl criminal, which

is the whole of the Charge.
_

My Lords, your Lordfhips were told in a very

moving manner, that the noble Earl was purfued fit to lay before your Lordfhipst

hither by the united Cries of Widows and Or- I hope your Lordfhips will give me a little

phans But we have heard none: No In- Time-to recolleft my Thoughts, that I may fpeak

itance has been given of any one Preference in in fuch a manner as is fitting to your Lordfhips.

Judgment, of one Penny taken during the whole I defire your Lordfhips will give me leave to make
Courfe of his adminiftring Juftice to thefe King- my Obfervations on Monday next.

doms, or of any one voluntary Complaint that

has been made againlt the Earl; and yet, my
Lords, he has been reprefented as if his Crimes

were full blown, as if he had divefted himfelf of

Humanity, and taken Pleafure in the Mifery and

Diflrefs of his Fellow-Subjefts : as one, whofe

only Motive of Aftion was inordinate Gain and

wicked Lucre ; and as one, overtaken by the

Commons, triumphing in the Luxury of unpu-

nifhed Crimes. You have been told too, my
Lords, That in him Oppreffion ufurped the Seat

of Juftice , and that by him the Beauty of Juftice

was deformed, and through his Means Juftice ftood

afar off, and Equity could not enter.—How little

Ground, my Lords, there was for thefe Com

Thien-^he Managers and the Counfel withdrew 1

and the Houfe adjourned to Monday Morning
next, the feventeenth Day of May.

Monday thefeventeenth of May, 1 7 2 y 9

The Eighth Day.

*TPH E Lords being feated in their Houfe, the
*• Serjeant at Arms made Proclamation for Si-

lence, as alfo the other Proclamation, that all Per-

i
may, I think, be fairly inferred from the fons concerned were to take Notice, that Thomas

Defeft of Evidence in this Particular ; fince, after Earl of Macclesfield now ftood upon his Trial, and

the ftrifteft Scrutiny both into his publick and they might come forth in Order to make good the

private life, your Lordfhips have not had one Charge.

Witnefs appear at your Bar againft him. Lord Ch. Juft. King. Mr. Serjeant Probyn, you

But, my Lords, fince the Cries of Widows and may proceed.

Orphans were fo much mentioned by the honoura

ble Managers ; we, who are Counfel for the noble

Earl, thought it our Duty to fhew your Lord-

fhips, that thofe Cries were not againft him as an

Oppreflbr, but to him as a Reliever. And how
little foever this noble Earl thought of having an

Account of thefe Matters brought to your Lord-

fhips Bar, yet furely, my Lords, this is now a

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, I am humbly to

afk your Lordfhips Pardon for fome Omiffions we
have made in the Evidence we were inftrufted to

lay before your Lordfhips in Behalf of the noble

Lord impeached the laft Day we had the Honour
to attend your Lordfhips upon this Occafion :

We had fome Witneffes to offer more than were

examined at that Time, and we hope your Lord-

Circumftance, under which it is lawful for the left mips Indulgence will continue to hear them now

Hand to know what the right Hand doth. And
thefe Afts of Charity and Generofity, which were

not treafured up for your Lordfhips Bar, but for

a greater, are however proper to appear in this

Place, in Vindication of the noble Earl againft a

Charge of Covetoufnefs and Corruption.

And now, my Lords, give me leave to add,

That tho' the private manner in which thefe Cha-

rities were performed, has made it neceffary for hath been directly contrary to any Difpofition of

us to enter into a particular Account, and an Ac- this Kind ; but we apprehend it would ftill have

count that takes in fome of them only ; yet the greatly added to the Weight of this Ev.dence,

noble Earl has a Merit to plead, of which I am had it at the fame Time appeared to your Lord-

fure there is no Occafion to call a Witnefs. Your fhips what the Funds were, out of which thefe

Lordfhips all remember the Time when he prefi- Charities arofe i that the real

Vol. VI.

they are but very few, but yet fuch as we ap-

prehend are extremely material to the noble Lord's

Defence. The laft Evidence we laid before your

Lordfhips related to feveral Charities given by the

noble Earl, in order to fhew that he was not of

that avaricious Temper as hath been reprefented

in Support of this Profecution •, and that the

conftant habitual Courfe of his Life and Aftions

6 U noble
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noble Lord hath purchafed, does not amount to impofiible we fhould know any more of it than
more than 3000/. a Year, and that his perfonal what ferves hisPurpofes. Therefore, my Lords

we fubmit it, Whether they mall be permitted to
Eftate fcarce exceeds 2000/. When we have

fhewn this, it muft fatisfy your Lordfhips, that

the noble Earl hath been much more charitable

than, according to his Circumftances, he could af-

ford. There is another thing I beg leave to

go into this fort of Evidence? or, whether
your Lordfhips will enter into any farther Ex-
amination ?

Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, we think it is of
take notice of, to obviate an Objection I am ap- great Confequence to your Lordfhips, when art

prehenfive we fhall hear of from the other Side ; Evidence hath been fo full, and with fo great
and that is, that thefe Charities were not given by Patience heard to every particular Article ; when
the noble Lord out of his own Pocket, in regard that Evidence hath been fummed up, and enforced
there is a Sum of Money called Box-Money, by Counfel, and every particular of the Articles
which is laid out and diftributed in private Chari- animadverted upon ; we think there is no Prece-
des by the Chancellor every Year. But to explain dent in any Court of Juftice, where new Witnef-
pny Suggeftion of this Kind, we fhall fhew that fes have, in fuch a Cafe, been permitted to be
this Box-Money, though anciently ufed to be con-

fiderable, yet of late Years it hath not amounted
to more than 172/. a Year: And as there have

been always particular Objects of Charity recom-

examined. Witnefles here have been produced -,

there hath been an Interruption of two or three

Days for the noble Lord, at his own Defire, to

make his Obfervations on the Evidence ; to offer

mended to this Bounty, fo this Money hath been now to produce Witnefles that they had omitted
apply'd by his Lordfhip in the fame manner it u- to produce before, is perfectly new and unufual.

fually was apply'd by his Predeceflbrs ; and that I fuppofe they had thefe Witnefles in their Briefs,

no Part of this Money ever went in any of thofe and, if they had thought fit, they might have
feveral Charities, we have already given your called them. I know of no Inflance of the like

Lordfhips an account of. in any Court of Juftice ; if the Gentlemen of the

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we beg Leave, other Side will tell us the Precedent, they may.
on the Behalf of the Managers, to offer to your I think it is of dangerous Confequence, not only
Lordfhips Confideration, fome Reafons why they in this Cafe, but in all other Proceedings in Courts
ought not to be permitted, at this time, to go into of Juftice. If your Lordfhips think fit to let them
the Evidence offered, after the Indulgence of ma- into one or two Witnefles, I do not know why
ny Days, and Defence made on the Articles, and your Lordfhips, with equal Reafon, may not let

the Evidence fumm'd up by the Counfel for the them go over another Courfe of Evidence.

Lord impeach'd ; and a Day is only given to hear My Lords, as to the other Matter about this

the Lord himfelf, at his own Defire, to fum up or noble Lord's Eftate, that is not a Matter infifted

defend himfelfagainft the Charge againft him; they upon by any Evidence that we have given; and
ought not now to be allow'd to enter into a new I fubmit it, Whether it is proper, or any way con-

Defence, or to give new Evidence. It is a new
Method of Practice, after the Conclufion of the

Counfel upon the whole Evidence, to fay they

have more Evidence to fome of the Facts. My
Lords, I don't know any thing of that Nature
ever allowed, efpecially after the Examination

ducive in this Cafe, to any thing that is material

for your Lordfhips Judgment in this Matter, for

this Reafon, becaufe if it was material, it is im-

pofiible for us to know the Truth of it. We
have no Right to examine this noble Lord upon
Interrogatories as to his Eftate, efpecially as to

clofed, and an Adjournment for a Day or two. his perfonal Eftate ; a Man may in thefe Days
Befides, as to that Part of the new Evidence which have the Opportunity of being worth 100,000/.

the Counfel have opened, relating to the partial- and People not know where it lies ; as to his real

lar Eftate and Circumftances of this Earl, how
can the Managers be provided to give an Anfwer
to it ? There is nothing in the Articles leading

thereto ; they do not charge him with having a

great and large Eftate, though that hath been

Eftate, it might be known if it was material ; but

we fubmit it, Whether it is incumbent upon us

to enquire, at this time of Day, into the noble

Lord's Eftate?

It is impofiible, in the Nature of the Thing,

formerly a proper Article in an Impeachment, that your Lordfhips fhould have that fatisfactory

But it is not made one in this Cafe ; the Charge Account, or that we fhould have fuch Notice of

of the Commons is confined to particular Sums it as is proper to make any Defence of it to us

received. If the Managers had gone into the En-
quiry of any other Sum, at leaft without particu-

lar Notice to him, I believe it would have been

objected againft by the impeached Earl. There-
fore to go into this fort of Evidence, where
there is no Charge by the Commons, is putting

the Commons to anfwer what is not in Queftion,

material ; but we fubmit it, that it is not mate-

rial at all ; and therefore we hope your Lord-

fhips will keep to the Rule kept in all Cafes in

all other Courts of Juftice, where People have

made their full Defence, or elfe there would be

no End of Things.

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, we did not lay to

which if they do, muft lengthen out the Trial the Charge of this Earl, that he was poftefled of

unneceflarily. If the Circumftances of his Eftate a great Eftate ; we have only laid to his Charge

be material, there muft then be a further Time what he hath unjuftly pofiefied, we have only

given to contradict their Proof, which poffibly charged him with Matters of Fact, which we
may be done as to his real Eftate : But as to his think we have made out ; and therefore hope

perfonal Eftate, how is it poffible for any Man to your Lordfhips will oblige him to anfwer to that,

give an Account of that? Doth not this lie in and to that only, and not to go to another Thing
his own Knowledge entirely ? No body can open we have not charged.

his Chefts or Cabinets at home : So that it is Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we apprehend it

is
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is frequently prattled, that where Counfel have There is no Inftance that where Counfel hath
omitted material Evidence, even after Summing been fumming up the Evidence, and, before the
up, the conftant Indulgence of the Courts below other Side have replied, an Omiffion hath been
lets them go into Evidence to fupply that Omif- difcovered, that that Omiffion hath not been al-
lien, low'd to be fupplied. And
We take it to be our own Fault. We had in I appeal to my Lords the Judges Whether

our Inflections, and it is in your Lordfhips they have ever known this piece of Indulgence de-
Breaft, whether we lhall not fupply that Omif- nied upon any Trial whatfoever in the Courts be*
fion, we lhall not run into a long Evidence, our low. My Lords, with great Submiffion the E
Witneffesare but two or three. vidence is not vet finifhed •, I am forry' I muft

Dr. Sayer. My Lords, I beg leave to think, yet give your Lordfhips the Trouble of obfervina
that as we point out a particular Fad, diftinct a good many Things that have been hitherto
from any we have examined to before, there can omitted: This is a Matter the Counfel had Di-
be no Apprehenfion of any Danger at all ; and if, regions about, the Witneffes were attending but
as the Gentlemen have inform'd your Lordfhips, it they were omitted to be called for j I hope'your
is what is ufual in Courts below, that fuch Omif- Lordfhips will not, for fuch a Miftake, exclude
fions have been always permitted to be fupply'd, me the Benefit of their Teftimony: Had it been
your Lordfhips fure will aft with equal Equity in calling frefh Evidence to any Matter that hath
this Cafe. What we undertake to prove is the been examined to before, there might poffibly be
Circumftance of his Eftate ; and though the Gen- fome Grounds for an Objection of this kind ; but
tlemen of the Houfe of Commons did not make it I mean only to call one or two Witneffes to 'frefh.

a Matter of Charge in their Articles, yet in his Matter, that hath not been enquired into before.
Anfwer the noble Earl takes Notice of it, and it There hath yet been no Witnefs examined as to
will fhew that the Earl had not his Heart fo in- the Box-Money, or my real or perfonal Eftate

;

tent upon Gain, when it fhall appear that his and yet thofe two Things are material, and it

Fortune is fo much lefs than the World might may greatly turn to my Prejudice if I have not
have imagined it to be, and when at the fame the Liberty of producing this Evidence in relation
Time we fhew his Generofity, and that by to them.

means thereof his Eftate was much leffen'd and It hath been reprefented that I have an Eftate
check'd. vaftly more confiderable than in Truth I have -,

I would take Notice of the other Matter, with and this Matter of the Box-money, as I have
regard to the Evidence of the Charity : It is only been informed, gave Birth to a Report abroad,
to explain and prevent a Miftake, left it fhouldbe as if what I gave for Charity was out of that
imagined that thefe feveral Inftances of Charity Fund.
were out of the Box-Money, or Fund for Charity As to this latter, I dare truft the Candour of
in the Court of Chancery. But, I believe, we thefe Gentlemen, that they do not believe if, and
need not trouble your Lordfhips with this, for that if they do not infift that what I gave was out of
the Noble Earl is fo well fatisfied with the Integri- the Box-Money, it will be needlefs for me to
ty and Honour of the learned Managers of the prove that it was not. But as to the other Matter,
Houfe of Commons, that he is under no appre- I hope I fhall not be precluded from having thofe
henfion to have that turn'd upon him. The Witneffes examined, becaufe it was before omit-
principal Matter is relating to his Eftate. ted ; wherefore I humbly beg your Lordfhips
As we have in great Meafure left it to the Earl Directions thereupon, whether I lhall be at Li-

himfelf to fum up the feveral Evidences, and have berty to lay their Evidence before your Lordfhips
done but little ourfelves, the Objection of the or not.

Evidence being closed and fummed up is not fo Mr. Onflow. I would beg leave to fet your
ftrong as in other Cafes ; we fubmit it, whether Lordfhips right as to that of the Box-Money,
your Lordfhips will not indulge us fo far as to The Noble Lord infinuates as if fomething of
produce a Witnefs or two to this Matter. that had been mentioned by the Managers; no-

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, we do not afk this thing hath been mentioned of it, either by the

as a Matter of Right, but as a Matter of Indul- Evidence or by the Managers,
gence. I own the Rule that the Gentlemen of Earl of Macclesfield. No, I beg leave to ex-
the Houfe of Commons have laid down is a gene- plain myfelf ; I did not fay the Managers had in-

ral Rule for the Government of Evidence. lifted upon it, but only faid it is a Matter that I

We can't controvert that, but I believe it will have heard without Doors ; but I believe I may
not be controverted on the other fide, that fuch a rely upon their Candour that they will not make
piece of Indulgence was hardly ever denied, and it an Objection now, in Cafe they oppofe my
we hope your Lordfhips will not deny it upon giving Evidence to the contrary,

this Occafion. Mr. Lutwyche. My Lords, lam a little furpri-

Earl of Macclesfield. My Lords, I don't ap- zed, why the Noble Lord mentions this of the

prehend that this is a thing fo very extraordinary, Box-Money, when not one fingle Word hath

or fo dangerous, as hath been reprefented. It been faid of it, either by the Evidence or by the

would be extremely fevere, if, in a Caufe of fo Managers : Why theo fhould this Noble Lord
great Length, and fo much Fatigue, I Ihould himfelf mention it ? And why fhould he call Eyi-

have Witneffes ready to give your Lordfhips an dence to a Thing that hath no manner of relation

Account of fome Facts material for my Defence ; to any Thing that hath been faid ? If his Lordfhip

and my Counfel happening not to call them, al- will pleafe to give us leave to reply ; if we then

though they were attending, and there fhould be fay any Thing of it, he may then give an Anfwer
a certain Form that Ihould exclude me from to it ; but it is improper now to be giving an Ao-
having the Benefit of their Evidence ; I don't fwer to an Objection that was never made, and to

know what this is founded upon, I never heard which the Evidence hath not faid one Word.
of fuch a Form or Rule.

Lord
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Lord Steward. If the Noble Lord thinks this I have already undergone has been very great, and

a Point to be infifted on, it is then neceffary for I hope your Lordfhips will allow me fuch a Time
all to withdraw.

Ordered to withdraw, which was done ; and

being afterwards called in again,

Lord Chief Jufiice King. Mr. Serj. Probyn, it

is the Opinion of their Lordfhips, that the Evi-

as you will think competent ; the Work I have
to do will take up -a great many Hours; there

hath been Variety of Evidence, I hope your
Lordfhips will indulge me till Wednefday

t \t is

of very great moment to me, and 1 am Aire I

denceoffefed by the Earl of Macclesfield, with re- Should be. unwilling to mifpend your Lordfhips

fpeft to the further Account of his Charity, be not

now admitted 1
, and they are likewife further of

Opinion, that the Earl of Macclesfield be not now
permitted to give Evidence of the Value of his

Eftate, either real or perfonal.

Earl of Macclesfield. My Lords, your Lord-
fhips were pleas'd to indulge me to this Day to lay

before your Lordfhips what I had to fay in my
Defence, againfh the Charge brought againft me
by the Commons, and againft the Proof fupport-

ing that Charge, which your Lordfhips with fo

much Patience heard. From the Time your Lord-
fhips were pleafed to allow me this liberty till

now, I have applied myfelf with the utmoft Di-

ligence to prepare my felf for my Defence.

To this End it hath been neceffary to look

over the Notes, taken of the Evidence given on
both fides, and likewife of what was faid by thofe

Gentlemen who are Managers for the Houfe of

Commons. I find it very neceffary to lay before

your Lordfhips many Obfervations on the Evi-
dence, which depend upon an exact comparing of
them together. It being a matter that hath ta-

ken Up fo much Time, and there being fuch a
Diftartce between the Evidence given on the one
fide and the other, I have been employ'd wholly
from the laft Time till now in the Consideration

of it; and I can fay with Truth, I have not flept

five Hours thefe two Nights, and yet I have not
been able to get through it, and I am not now
prepared to lay before your Lordfhips what I have
humbly to offer for my Defence ; there are many
Things exceeding material to be fubmitted, and I

beg therefore, that your Lordfhips will indulge me
a farther Time, fo that I may be able to do it in

fuch a manner, as may fet the Evidence and Ob-
fervations upon it in fuch a light as your Lordfhips
riiay p'afs a proper Judgment. I don't do this out
of Delay; I believe your Lordfhips will eafily ima-
gine I mould be glad to have this matter over,

whatfoever the Event may be, for I am quite

fpent, and my Strength and Spirits wafted with
the Fatigue I have already undergone. My Lords,
I have been fo far from any Delay in the Courfe
of this Profecution, that when I put in my An-

Time, and delay this Matter unneceffarily : It

really gives me the greateft Uneafinefs to find

myfelf in that Condition, that I cannot think of
being able to do it fooner ; I was before afraid

that I fhould not be able to do it by this Day,
but yet refolved to do all that was poflible for me,
and therefore declin'd afking then for any longer

Time.
I hope your Lordfhips will indulge me; if

your Lordfhips knew the Fatigue I have under-
gone, and the Effect it hath had upon my Health,
I am fure in Humanity you would make no Diffi-

culty of granting me farther Time to prepare my
felf in a proper manner, in a Cafe that is of fo

great moment to me ; and I hope the Gentlemen
of the Houfe of Commons will not be againft it

;

if they fhould overprefs this matter, I don't know
but the Fatigue of it may bear fo hard upon my
life, as to fave your Lordfhips the Trouble of
paffing any Judgment upon this Occafion.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we don't ap-

prehend the Lord properly applies to us in this

Inftance.

All Parties were direcled to withdraw, which being

done.

i The Houfe adjourned till Wednefday Morning
len a- Clock, the 19th of May, 1725.

Wednefday, May io, 1715.

The Ninth Day.

TH E Lords being feated in their Houfe, the

Serjeant at Arms made the two ufual Pro-

clamations, as on the former Days.

L.Ch.Juft.King. 'M.T.Serjeant Probyn, if you
pleafe to proceed.

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I am firft to re-

turn my molt humble Thanks to your Lordfhips,

for the Time you have been pleas'd to indulge me
fwer, as your Lordfhips were informed by one with, for recollecting my Thoughts, and looking

of the Gentlemen of my Counfel, tho' it was over the Evidence that has been offered on either

not finifh'd till between three and four a- Clock fide, during the Courfe of this tedious Proceed-

in the Morning, yet I chofe to get it ingrofs'd, ing ; that I might be able to put thofe Obferva-

and put in the fame Day, rather than there tions I have made upon it in fuch a light, as became
fhould be theleaft Appearance of any Delay on my one who was to fpeak in a Cafe of fo great Im-
Part; and I do not know whether by endeavour- portance, at your Lordfhips Bar.

ing fo very much to difpatch this Work, I have My Lords, I have been under fome Misfortunes

not rendered myfelf unfit and unable to go on in this Profecution ; your Lordfhips muft, no
with it: Human Nature can hardly bear what I Doubt, have obferved the Difappointmentslhave

have gone through. met with, in Queftions I afked of fome Perfons,

At my Years, if I fhould undertake to do it who appeared as Witneffes in the Courfe of this

by To-morrow, I am afraid I fhould fink under Trial, which it was impoffible I could have had

the Weight of fuch a Tafk, and not be able to

come before your Lordfhips prepared as I ought
be ; therefore I hope your Lordfhips will be

any Inducement to propofe, but from my own
Knowledge of the Anfwers that fhould have been

returned. My Counfel, thro' the great Hurry
pleas'd to allow me till the Day after; the Fatigue that ufually attends Proceedings of this Nature,

happened

to

'<
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happened not to be inftructed in fome Particulars, the unparalleled Goodnefs of this Reign for your
that were extremely proper to have been laid be- Lordfhips to have ComDaffion upon the Errors -

fore your Lordfhips upon this Occafion : Eefides Miftakes, and Weakness of the faithful fteddv
that, the Variety of the Facts, continued to be Servant of a Prince, vvhofe Mercy has 'been fo
given in Evidence from one Day to another, has often extended, in fo great a DeWee to the hi^h-
in this particular Cafe been carried on to fuch an eft Crimes of his bitter Enemies.^

°

unufual length, that they have not been able in Before I enter upon my particular Defence I
the end to make themfelves fo perfect Mafters of beg leave to take Notice of fomethina that has
the Evidence, as the Importance of the Cafe re- been faid with Relation to the Anfwer which!
quired.

_
have put in to thefe Articles of Impeachment, as

I fhould trouble your Lordfhips with an Apo- containing a Plea of a Pardon at the fame Tims
logy for my own Inability to lupply this at pre- that 1 infill upon my Innocence ; and its not be-
fent, both from the extreme Fatigue I have un- ing a full Anfwer to all the particular Charges ia
dergone during the whole Courfe of this Profe- the Articles. As to the firft, my infiftinp ori

cution, and becauie that my laft Illnefs has broke his Majefty's moft gracious, °-e neral, and°free
my Memory to a great Degree. But whatever Pardon for aJl things before the° twenty-fourth of
Difficulties I have laboured under, when I confi- July, 1J21,
der your Lordfhips are my Judges, I cannot doubt My Lords, I hope, and am myfclf of Oni-
but your Candour and Goodnefs will have a due nion, that I have not done any thino that is cri-

Regard to them, and make Allowance for the minal, or needs a Pardon ;

Want of Order or Accuracy in any thing I have But when fo many Gentlemen of Learning and
to lay before you ; and therefore, rather than afk great Parts, undertake to make out, that That is

any more Time of your Lordfhips for preparing a Crime which I thought and ftill think hot fo j

myfelf, I will endeavour to go on now as well as fhould I opiniatre to that Degree, and be fo con-
I can. fident that your Lordfhips will be of my Opinion*
My Lords, the Charge brought againfi me is as to refufe the Benefit of a Pardon, which his

very heavy, as laid in the Articles, and highly Majefty has fo gracioufly granted to ail his Sub-
exaggerated by the Gentlemen that are appointed jects ?

Managers by the Houfe of Commons. When little Imprudences, and fo many Omlf-
That which I think is charged as the Foun- fions, and even idle Words, loofe Talk, and un-

dation of the whole, is, guarded Exprefllons, are laid to my Charge as

My entertaining wicked and corrupt Purpofes, Crimes, and made the fubjeift Matter of an Im-
to raife and procure to myfelf excefiive and ex- peachment •, and fome of them charged without
orbitant Gain and Profit. mention of any Time, or the Name of the Caufe

This it is that hath made me extorfively and in which it is pretended they were fpoke, or any
illegally take Money, upon the Admittance of other Circumftances by which I might be ena-

Mafters, and Difpofal of other Offices. bled, either myfelf to recoiled or to make En-
And the being fet upon the Gain arifing from quiry of others, in order to prepare for my De-

the Mafters Places, with the Defire to advance fence ; it had been Folly in me not to have taken

it, or keep it up, is reprefented to be the Source Advantage of the Pardon,

cf .all the reft of the Things complain'd of, which And as for the Reflexion intended, to expofe
feem to me to be charged only as Contrivances for the Abfurdity of pleading Innocence and a Par-

that Purpofe. don to the fame Offence ; what is more confi-

This is fuch Corruption of Heart, and carries ftent than to fay, I ought not to be punifhed, be-

with it fuch a Malignity, that it makes every caufe the Fact charged is no Offence, or if it be

Action and every OmifTion criminal: Every rafh one it is pardoned? But had the Gentleman who
Word, every Neglect or Imprudence, nay Things made it, been pleafed to have read the laft Act of

perfectly innocent in their own Nature, or per- Grace carefully through, he would have found

haps commendable, are fo infected by it, as to that it exprefly provides, that the Pardon fhall

deferve the fevereft Cenfure and Punifhment. fupport the Plea of Innocence, and upon Not
Whether I wait in Expectation of the Appli- guilty pleaded, the Act tnay be given in Evidence

cation of the Suitors, with Refpect to Dormer's to prove the Perfon not guilty. And, in the No-
Deficiency, or of myfelf endeavour to get it made tion of our Law, it wipes away whatever Guilt

good, or even pay my own Money towards it, it there was, and leaves the Perfon innocent, that is,

is all one, fo wicked a Heart corrupts all. as a very great Lawyer and a very wife Man ex-

And the Violation of my Oath as Lord Chan- preffes it, it takes away not only pcenam but rea»

cellor, and of the great Truft in me repofed, turn, the Guilt as well as the Punifhment.

contrary to the Duty of my Office, is made the As to the Reflexion made upon my Anfwer in

Aggravation of almoft every Article. another refpect, as if it were not full and direct,

I fhali endeavour to fhew your Lordfhips, that and that in Chancery, the Court where I had

the feveral things charged upon me are either not prefided, it would be held an infufficient Anfwer;
true, or not criminal ; or if your Lordfhips fhall Probably it might befo •, but that is, becaufe that A

judge otherwife of them than I do, yet that they Plaintiff there has a Right to require a Difcovery

were the Effects, not of Wickednefs, but of of all fuch Facts as are material for his Advantage,

Miftake ; and if I have ever done any thing for upon the Oath of the Defendant. And there-

the Service of my Country, of the Conttitution, fore the Anfwer is not only the Parry's own De-

of his M.ijefty, and of the Royal Family, and the fence, but it is to fupply the Plaintiff with Evi

prefent Efhhlifhment, and for the Adminiftration dence, who therefore may except to it as infuffi-

of publick Juftice, it might not be unfuitable to cient, fo fur as it is fhorr of anfwtring to, and gi-

Vol. VI. 6 X ving
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ving an Account of all, of every minute Circum-
flance that he charges.

But do they imagine that to be the Cafe in a

criminal Profecution ? or that the Defendant there

is obliged to furnifh Evidence, or to confefs any
thing that may tend to affect or charge himfelf ?

No, my Lords ; the Anfwer there is only for the

Defence of the Perfon accufed: And Not guilty is

a full Anfwer.

And my Lords, I infill upon it, I have given a

full Anfwer to all the Articles at the end of my
Anfwer, where I have pleaded the general IfTue,

and in exprefs Words faid, That I am not guilty of did thereupon take, that

all or any the Matters contained in the Articles, or Chancellor in May 17 18

10 G. I.

" our Lord 1 7 1 8, by the Grace and Favour of his

Mod Excellent Majefty, was conflicted and
" appointed Lord Chancellor of Great Britain,
" and did thereupon take the ufual Oath for the due
" Execution of that High Office, whereby he did
" fwear well and truly to krvc our Sovereign
" Lord the King and his People, poor and rich,

" after the Laws and Ufages of the Realm, and
" fiich other Oaths as have been accuftomed ; and the.

" faid Earl continued in this great Office," C5V.

"Where the other Oaths accuflomed, as well aa
that particularly defcribed, are confined to what I

is, upon my being madi
-\t leafl to my poor

Underftanding it appeared fo. Nor did I at all

imagine, that it referred to what was done the

third of November after, which was but the fame
as had been done the third of November be-

fore.

And accordingly my Anfwer is confined to the

Proof of a Word in my Anfwer, if the Charge in fame 'time that I was fworn Lord Chancellor be-

the Articles is not fupported by the Evidence given fore his Majefty in Council, the fourteenth of

againfl me. May 1718, when I took the Oath of Office kt
And I flill hope your Lordfhips will be of Opi- forth in the Anfwer ; and at the fime time took

nion, that tho' fome of the Matters mentioned in the Oath of Allegiance and Supremacy. And there

the Articles are proved, and indeed fome are ex- is no Pretence that I took any Oath upon the

prefly admitted by me, and others never difputed •, Statute of Richard II. at that Time.

any of them, in manner and form as they are there-

in charged againfl vie \ which is of itfelf a direct

and full Anfwer, without more.

And tho' I have fet forth other Facts, it is only

where I have thought fome things might be far-

ther explained. But there is no need to make any

yet that none of them is admitted or proved in

fuch manner as it is charged in the Articles.

Having faid thus much, I proceed to conlider

what has been offered in Proof againfl me.

My Lords, the Preamble of the Articles is in-

tended for an Aggravation of my Crimes, by (hew-

ing what Oath I had taken, which I had viola-

ted •, and what Favours I had received from his

Majefty, and was* not fatisfied with them.

As to the lafl, give me leave to fay, that I can

never exprefs the Senfe of my Fleart for his Ma-
jefly's Favours and Bounties, and that it ought to

be a high Aggravation, if I have abufed them.

<.<•

The Words of the Anfwer are,

" That in the beginning of May, in the Year

1718, he the faid Earl was, by his Majefly's

great Grace and Favour, appointed Lord Chan-
cellor of Great Britain, and was fworn before

his Majefty in Council the fourteenth Day of

that Month ; when the following Oath, be*

ing the ufual Oath of Lord Chancellor, was

adminiftred to him, viz. you fhall fwear, &c.

And the faid Earl, at the fame Time, took the

Oath of Allegiance and Supremacy, but no

Oath of Office beftdes that above fet forth.

My Anfwer therefore plainly relates to what

I pretend to no Merit, but that of a Heart full was charged^ and my taking no Notice of any

of Duty and Zeal for his Service •, but his Royal
Grace and Goodnefs has exceeded, not only my
poor Services, but even my Defires and Wifhes.

And whatever becomes of me, in whatever

State of Life I am, my Gratitude and Duty fhall

never abate.

upon this Statute, ought
but toForgetfulnefs,

not to be

its not

im-

being

Oath
puted to

charged. It is not charged, and therefore not

anfwered to.

But it is now infilled upon,

laid upon i't, that at the

and great Strefs

of Sheriffs,naming

As to the Violation of my Oath, no fuch Crime which is done in the Exchequer upon the third

is made out againfl me.

The Oath of Office taken by the Chancellor

when he enters upon that Office, has no relation

to what is laid to my Charge : I have fet it forth

verbatim in my Anfwer, and no Argument has

been attempted to be drawn from it.

But it was faid the other Day, that I had taken

of November every Year, I took an Oath upon

the Statute of 12 Richard II. which extends to

the Difpofal of the Office of Mailers in Chan-

cery.

To iudge of the Truth of this new Charge,

your Lordfhips will be pleafed to • confider

what it is that is yearly done the third of No-

an Oath upon the Statute of the twelfth ofRichard vember, upon that Occafion of naming of She-

ll, which I had forgot, both in my Anfwer and in riffs.

my Conduct. The Managers were not pleafed to open what

As to my Anfwer, I beg leave to obferve, that paffes every Year upon the Nomination of She-

the Anfwer is fuited to the Charge. I am not riffs, which had been proper before they called

charged in the Articles to have ever taken any the Witnefs to prove it ; if they had, it might

Oath upon that Statute, nor is the Oath fuppofed have faved me the Trouble of asking any Que-

to be taken on the third of November at all men- ftions.

tioned. But the Examination, and the Teflimony of a

The Words of the Preamble, which is the only Witnefs that fpoke indiftinctly and low, tend-

Part of the Articles that mentions my taking any

Oath, are thefe :

" And whereas Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, in

" or about the Month of May, in the Year of

ed, as I thought, to have the Statute entered in

the old Book of the Exchequer in obfolete

French, and fo ill read as hardly to be under-

flood, to pafs for the Form of an Oath then

adminifter'd
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adminifter'd upon the Statute which had been

juft before read in EngUJh to your Lordfhips at

the Table; and fo it might be taken to be an

Oath conceived in the Words of the Statute, ex-

tending to all Nominations of Officers, and to

all Times, and not confined to that Occafion.

I did therefore afk fome Qqeftions, not to

quibble away an Oath, as one of the Managers
was pleafed to exprefs it, but to have the Matter

laid before your Lordfhips in its true Light, and

which came out to be thus.

The Lords of the Privy-Council and the Judges*

being afTembled for naming Sheriffs for the fol-

70jf
meddle not with naming any of the Officers cbmi
prized within either the particular or oenera!
Words. &

If therefore, my Lords, the Eifhoos were de-
bred to draw up a Form of an Oath co be taken

ori

lowing Year, at the Time and Place appointed

for that Purpofe, the Act of Parliament of 12

Richard II. is read, directing feveral Perfons to

be fworn, concerning their naming of Sheriffs,

and of fome other Officers fpecify'd in the Aft,

and with general Words extending to more ;

then an Officer gives a Bible to every one

upon this Statute by all the Perfons atttiidjn-
the third of November for the Naming of Sheriffs
I prefume they would confine the Oath to the oar-
titular Occafion,

I fubmit to their Confideration, whether the?
would draw it up fo, that every one prefent
ihould fwear that he would obferve this Sta-
tute, or not go contrary to this Statute, in the
Nomination of Officers which he has not any
Right or Power to name, nor is ever called
to name: Whether they would frame filch ari
Oath, whereby the Judges fhould fwear that they
would not name Juftices of the Peace, Efchea-
tors, Cuftomers, or Comptrollers, for Gift or
Brocage, Favour or Affection, when they cannot7-1 „• p rn j t j r 1

°, "u^uuu, wiicn uiey cannot
of the Pnvy-Counfellors and Judges prefent, who name them at all, either by Provifion of Law or
all, one after another, kifs it ; but nothing is faid

to them by the Officer or any one elfe, nor are

any Words fpoken by them.

I know it has been much doubted how this

could be called Swearing, or taking an Oath.

But that is not at all what I infift upon

by Ufage.

I apprehend this would be an improper, if not
a vain Oath.

And a conftructive taking of an Oath, which
is all that can be infifted upon here, ought not td
be carried farther than would be proper to ex-

There being fomething facred in the Ceremony, prefs in Words at length.

1 agree the Action_ fhould be confider'd as a fo- And therefore, as all the Perfons affiftine* therd
lemn Undertaking in Nature of an Oath, to ob- certainly take the fame Oath, and many of them
ferve that Statute in the Bufinefs we were then have nothing to do with the Choice, or naming
entring upon -, and fo it is an Engagement to pro- of any of the other Officers in the Act befides
ceed then to name Sheriffs according to the Di- Sheriffs •, and as this Adion yearly repeated on
rection in that Scatute. this particular Occafion, fhews it to be intend •

And accordingly this is repeated every Year
upon the like Occafion, though the Perfons are

the fame, and has been fo by me for feven Years

together, before I was Chancellor, and for as

many fince.

But to extend this farther than that Occafion,

is, I humbly infift upon it, going beyond what
the Action then done imports.

The Statute plainly relates to Nominations or

Elections, where Numbers of Perfons are cal-

led together to name Officers-, the very reading

theStarute fhews it, and when I come to fpeak of

the Conftruction of that Act of Parliament, it

will be yet more plain.

And when it provides, " That the Chancellor,
*' Treafurer, Keeper of the Privy Seal, Steward
" of the King's Houfe, Chamberlain Of the King,
" Clerk of the Rolls, juftices of the one Bench
" and of the other, Barons of the Exchequer,
" and all others, who Jhcill be called to ordain,
*' name, or make Juftices of the Peace, Sheriffs,

" Efcheators, Cuftomers, Comptrollers, or any
other Officer or Minifter of the King fhall be

ed to relate only to Sheriffs ; I have always
thought that it went no farther than to oblige
mevthat in the Affair, which we were then en-
tring upon, I fhould act according to that Sta=
tute.

And I am perfuaded, that in this Cafe, I have
the univerfal Concurrence of the Judgments of
others. For I do not believe that ever any Per-
fon that affifted on that Occafion, had the

leaft Apprehenfion of his then taking ah Oath;
which related to any thing but that particular

Occafion.

But if they all did take an Oath fo exten-

five as to reach to the Difpofal of all other

Employments, (which is the Senfe wherein I

believe the Managers would have the Words
of the Act to be underftood,J God knows in

what Guilt many of them have involved them-
felves.

It is a Part of the Statute, and Part of that to

which the Perfons called to name Officers are di-

rected to be fworn, That none who fues by hitnfelf,

^wi^.. v^n^i ui mnniLu ui lhv. xviug muji u^ or by any other, in private, or openly, to be in any

firmly fworn, &c" I take it to mean that they manner of Office, /hall bs -put into the fame Office

\

fhall be fworn when they are fo called together, or any other.

and met. And the Practice is accordingly. Will thefe Gentlemen urge that every Lord
There are fome old Statutes that fay, that the Treafurer, Lord Commiflioner of the Treafury,

Chancellor with the Council fhall appoint Juftices or other Lords in great Employments, that give

t<

1 * J
of the Peace, the Treafurer with fome others

fhall name Cuftomers, &c. But the Ufage at this

Time is, (and it has been fo for fome Hundreds
of Years) that the naming of Juftices of the

Peace, is in Fact in the Chancellor only ; of

Cuftomers and Comptrollers, in the Treafurer-,

and many of the Perfons named in the Statute

Places, or name Perfons for Places to the King,

and have once attended at the naming of She-

riffs, have been guilty of a Violation of this Oath,

in every Inflance, where they have named any

Perfon to any Office, who, by himfelf, or his

Friends, ever nfked for the Place given, or for

any other ?

I can-
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I cannot imagine that they will attempt to car- Parties as far as he could, and then flared the
ry it fo far. But if they do, I will yet prefume, whole Accompt fo as he thinks is right-, which
that your Lordfhips will not, by fuch a new Con- at laft has its Force, not from him but from the
ftruction, condemn fo many Perfons that are in- Court, which confirms it if not difputed, or exar
nocenr, or thought themfelves fo. mines the difputed Points if defired.

Hence I think myfelf not to have taken any Upon References to them whether Anfwers are

Oath upon the Statute of 12 Ric. II. which any fufficient, they are to compare the Words of the
way extends to Matters in Chancery ; and I hope Anfwer with the Words of the Bill, and ftate whe-
your Lordfhips will think fo too. ther they find them full: And if the Parties do

not acquiefce in the Mailer's Opinion, the Court
What is the particular Meaning of this Act, and takes the Trouble to make the Companion,

what Arguments may be drawn from the Provi-

They are iikewife Cafhiers, not of the Court
but of the Suitors, and always at their Prayer.

fion therein, I (hall not trouble your Lordfhips

with at prefent, but fhall referve the Considera-

tion of it for another Place : But as to the Charge
of violating an Oath founded upon it, Jet the

Obfervations I have made, from the Frame of

And the Parties have this Advantage in hav
the Mafters for their Cafhiers, that they have

ing

the Act and the Nature of the Action at prefent ready Method to compel Payment by Order of
fufHce. the Court, and a Commitment of the Perfon or

Sequeftration, (that is feifing all their Efiates and
The fubject matter of the fir ft Articles, as Effects,) or both, upon fuch Order, in a more

they ftand in Order, and which I believe has given and cheap way; whereas again ft other Cafhiers
rife to this Profecution, is the taking Money for they muff, be put to the Charge and Delay of a
the Places of Mafters in Chancery ; long practifed tedious Suit, if the Money be not paid,

without Blame, though made my great Crime.
And other Officers, whofe Places are allowed

What has been urged from the Nature of the to be fold, do the fame Things, ma-ke Reports to

Office, the Oath which the Mafters take, and ftate Facts on References, are Cafhiers of the
the Commiffions granted to them, together with
the Matter of the Rolls and the Judges to hear

Caufes in the Abfence of the Chancellor, will not
have any Weight in the Queftion, whether it be
criminal to take Money on admitting them.

Money brought in, and tax Cofts, which is ano-
ther thing the Mafters do.

As to the Oath ; it is the old Oath, before the
Office was fo greatly changed •, what Advice to
be given to the King it refers to, will be hard I

I beg leave to fay, that the Office anciently was believe to explain, and has not been attempted ;

quite different from what it is now, fo that it is but if the Writs requiring their Attendance here
in a manner forgot what it originally was. One wcre looked into, poffibly it may be thought, that

Branch of their Office anciently, and then reckon- anciently they attended your Lordfhips in a man-
ed of Importance, was the framing Writs, which ner different from what they now do, and have
are now made out by the Curfitors ; and that done from before the Time of our Memory.
which is their greateft Bufmefs now, there appear
no Footfteps of being done by them, or any others

anciently.

Their Bufinefs now 1

is chiefly preparatory to

And as to the Commiffion to hear Caufes in

Abfence of the Chancellor, that makes no more
Variation in the Nature of their Office, than it

doth in the Office of Clerk of Affize, (exprefly

the Determination of the Court of Chancery upon allowed in the Statute of Edw. VI. to bedifpofed

References made to them by the Court, in order for Money) that the Clerk of Affize is conftantly

to their ftating Things to the Satisfaction of the joined with the Judges in the Commiffions of Oyer

Parties ; or reducing the Difpute to fome few and Terminer and Goal Delivery, for the Trial of
Heads, in which they differ, for the eafier Deter- Criminals, even for capital Crimes,

mination of the Court.

And that which they are moft generally em-
ployed in thus, is matter of Accompts.

Very frequently the Parties, after having had

To proceed therefore to the Points of the

Charge.

It is founded fingly, upon the taking Money for

admitting the Mafters into the Office ; and the

the Items examined and proved, agree before the Manner of taking it extorfively, without reference

Mafter the whole Accompt, and almoft always to any want of Qualification in the Party admit-

ted ; and therefore cannot be maintained, unlefs

the taking of Money be in all fuch Cafes crimi-

nal, or that the Manner of taking or extorting it

the greateft part of it. And if the Parties
1

are dif-

fatisfied, they are at Liberty, by Objections in

Writing which are called Exceptions, to ftate to

the Court the diftinct Items which they difpute,

by which means the Court is eafed of the Consi-

deration of all the reft of the Items of the Ac-
compt. And the Mafter makes no judicial De-
termination •, but when he makes his Report has

only done the Drudgery of an Accomptant, com-

in thefe Cafes make it fo.

Therefore I will firft fpeak to the general Que-
ftion, whether taking Money upon Occasion of
putting in a Mafter, is in all Cafes criminal in itfelf,

or by the Common Law, or made fo by any Sta-

pared Vouchers, heard Objections, convinced the tute which fubjects it to any Judgment or Punifh-

ment,
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ment, which can be prayed in this Profecution ; it leads to Inconveniencies, it is a Temptation to
as I have expreffed it in my Aniwer. him that difpofes of Places to make ill Officers
And that which I humbly infift upon as to the and a Temptation to the Officers to extort Money

firft, that is, whether it can be faid to be wicked and abufe the Subjects, in order to get up their

or criminal in itfelf, or from the Reafon and Na- Money again. °

ture of the Thing, is this: Anf. But is it therefore a Crime, where the
An Office may be confidered in two Refpects

;

Temptation is refilled, and a very good Officer is

Firft, with Refpect to the Duty ; that is, the Con- put in, and he behaves himfelf perfectly well ?

cern of the Publick •, that the Perfon be duly qua- The Point of the Charge now under Confidera-
lified to difcharge his Office well. Secondly, with tion refts fingly on this, that I took Money for

Refpect to the Profit and Advantage ; and that is admitting Mr. Francis Elde (for inftance)
; and tho*

merely private, and concerns the Officer only, taking Money is a dangerous Practice, and may
And whilft he difcharges his Duty well, without be a Temptation to let in an ill Man, is it there-

Extortion, or other Misbehaviour, the Publick is fore a Crime to put in Francis Elde, who is not al-

little concerned in it, whether the Profit be more ledged to be an ill Man or any way unfit, and is

or lefs. As in thofe Offices, which are very nu- really an excellent Mafter ?

merous and of great Confequence, that may be This Argument concludes, only that the allow-

executed by Deputy; provided the Deputy be- ing it to be generally practifed is inconvenient, and
have himfelf well, the Publick has never concern- may in the Deliberations of the Legifiature be pro-

cd itfelf what his Salary or Allowance from his perly ufed to prove it fit to be reftrained by a Law

:

Principal is, whether it be greater or lefs. But is not of force, in a Court of Juftice, to prove

And as the Perfon who is put into a very be- it to be a Crime in every inftance, becaufe it may
neficial Office, fuch as one of thefe, for his Life, occafion a Crime in fome.

has not any antecedent Right to the Office, and Farther, as to the Matter of Temptation to put

therefore not to the Profits arifing thereby ; and in one unfit

:

he that prefers him is not bound to give it him ; The Liberty of preferring Relations to Offices

therefore when he puts him into it, he in effect is a Temptation to put in Perfons unfit -, and,

grants him all the Profits of the Office for his without doubt, has often prevailed. Suppofing

Life : And if the Officer make him a Prefent for therefore it might be proper matter of Deliberation

it, either unexpected, by way of Thanks after he in the Legifiature, how far a Reftraint fhould be

is put in, or expected, which he had told him of put upon it; yet, in the mean time, is advancing a

before, or give it at the Time, or before that he Relation to an Office, which he is fit for, a Crime,

is admitted ; I fee not any Immorality either in becaufe in other Inftances it has occafioned a Crime,

the Giver or Taker. It is Money given for Pro- or may do fo, or is a Temptation to it? And
fits to be received during Life. would it be a fufficient Charge of a high Crime

The Publick is concerned only in the Goodnefs againft me, to fay that I illegally and corruptly put

of the Officer, not how advantageous to him the into fuch an Office A. B. my Son or my Brother ?

Grant of the Office is, nor in the Inducement I apprehend not.

which he that appointed him had to put him in ;
Till a Reftraint is laid, the Thing may be inno-

whether Friendfhip, Acquaintance, Relation, Im- cently done,

portunity, great Recommendation, or a Prefent. If a Reftraint be laid, the Law will operate up-

I agree, that a Perfon taking a Prefent and put- on it, fo far as the Reftraint extends •, but farther

ting in an unfit Perfon, when he knew him to be than that, and the Confequences declared to enfue

fo, or had juft Ground to believe him fo, is cri- thereupon, it will remain as before,

minal : Not becaufe he has taken a Prefent, but Confidering this therefore in itfelf, and upon the

becaufe he has prejudiced the PublickJ.tnowingly :
Reafon of the Thing, where is the Force of the

It may be an Aggravation, that he had taken Argument? You took 5000/. for putting in

Money ; but the Crime is, the Wrong done to Mr. Elde or Mr. Thurfton, a very fit Perfon and

the Publick in the Perfon advanced. It had been an excellent Mafter, and therefore you are crimi-

the fame Crime, had he done it for the fake of nal, becaufe fome body elfe at another Time may

Kindred, or Friendfhip, or for Recommendation, put in another Mafter not fit, upon his giving a

or any other Reafon. Prefent.

But if a Perfon very well qualified be placed in If this then be not criminal in itfelf, how do

an Office, and the Publick has all the Advantage they prove it to be fo by the Common Law?

from him that it can have from an Officer in that The only Cafe they have inftanced as any Au-

Poft, and fo I who placed him, have well dif- thority for that Purpofe, is that of Stockwilh and

charged my Duty to the Publick •, is it material North in Moor's, Reports.

how well I loved him, how nearly he is related, But here give me leave to fay, that it was proper

who it was that perfuaded me to prefer him, or and juft for the learned Managers to produce, in

what he gave me on that Account, whether be- making out their Charge, all their Arguments on

fore, or after he was put in ? Will any of thefe this Head of the Illegality of this Practice, that

Circumftances make me criminal in an Action by there might be a proper Opportunity of weighing

which I ferved the Publick well ? If the Publick them, and giving them a fatisfadory Anfwer (if it

have all the Benefit it can have, where is the Im- could be done) at this Time of my Defence, and

morality ? where is the Crime, if I have an Ad- I prefume they have done fo. But if they mould

vantage too ? efpecially if Ufage has in fome fort think fit to referve any frefh Argument tor their

annexed that Advantage to my Office, which is Reply,which we fhall apprehend may want an An-

taken from his ? fwer, your Lordfhips will, in that Cafe, give me

Obj. I know it may be objected with great Ap- leave to infift upon a Right of taking proper ino-

pearance of Reafon, that this Practice is dangerous, tice of it afterwards, and not let ihem leap.any

Vol. VI.
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Benefit by lying by, in fuch an unprecented man- And in many Places, Ufury is faid to be ma-
ner, and expecting your Lordfhips Judgment, lum in fe, and with greater Colour ; and yet I
without hearing the other Side upon it. believe a Profecmion for it, would fcarce be
The only Cafe, I fay, which they have inftanced thought maintainable, farther than the Act of Par-

in, is the Cafe of Stockwith and North in Moor's liament will juftify it.

Reports 781. I have looked upon the Cafe as it is But as to this particular Matter of a Sheriff let-

in that Book, and it appears to be thus

:

ting his Bailiwick to farm, before it was fpecially
" North was fined in the Star-Chamber, for that reftrained by Acts of Parliament for that Purpofe,

*' he, being Sheriff ofNottingham in the 43d Year there are many Footfteps of its being an ancient
" of Queen Elizabeth, took Money for the Goaler- and allowed Practice.

a.

c

fhip and Bailiwick for that Year ; he gave them
firft to his Servants, who fold them, but he him-

felf received the Money. And this was adjudg-

ed to be letting to Farm of his County, contrary

to the Statute of 4 Hen. IV. cap. 5. Yet there

note, that the Statute itfelf gives a Penalty cer-

tain and pecuniary, and is malum prohibitum, non

infe. But the Court took it, that in as much as

The Stat, de attintlis, Raft. Sheriffs 5. containing
feveral Provifions about Sheriffs, directs, that
" that Statute fhall extend as well to thofe which
" were Sheriffs and other Minifters, that let to
" leafe their Bailiwicks as to Sheriffs and other
" Minifters which hold their Bailiwicks them-
" felves."

Where the Sheriffs holding their Bailiwicks

to" Corruption follows upon the Covetoufnefs ofOf- themfelves, or letting them to Leafe, which is

V ficers, and they are forced thereto by the Prices letting them to Farm, is fpoken of as perfectly
*' which they give for Things which ought not to indifferent.

" be fold ; that this putting to Farm and felling Nor is the Expreffion fuppofed to be ufed in
tl of Offices, is malum infe, and finable". Moor, pretended to be built on any precedent

It appears here, that this was a Profecution upon Authority or Fact, but is barely the Reafoning of
the Statute of 4 Hen. IV. for the Point adjudged whoever he was that ufed it, from the Temptation
was, that this was contrary to that Statute, and to which Officers that pay Money are expofed ;

therefore whether what was done, wasagainft the and how juft it is, I fubmit upon what I have laid

Common Law, or malum in fe, or not, was not at before your Lordfhips on that Subject. Tho' the

all in Judgment before the Court. Danger from that Temptation is much greater in

And the mention of that is introduced as fpoke the Cafe of Bailiffs and Sheriffs that have only ig-

to remove a Doubt, how North came to be fined, norant People to deal with in remote Parts in the

when a particular Penalty is (as it is there faid) Country* where it is difficult and chargeable to

given by the Act of Parliament. obtain Redrefs, than in the Cafe of Mafters in

But that is a grofs Miftake in the Reporter ; Chancery, that act under the View almoft of
the Act of Parliament is very fhort, I defire it a Court of Juftice, and where Perfons wronged
may be read.

a

a.

It was read, as follows:

" Stat. 4. Hen. IV. cap. 5. Every Sheriff fhall

abide in proper Perfon in his Bailiwick for the

Time that he fhall be fuch Officer, and that

he fhall not let the Bailiwick to farm to any
Man, for the Time he occupieth fuch Office;

and that the faid Sheriff" be fworn from time to

time to do the fame in efpecial, amongft other

Articles comprized in the Oath of Sheriff."

Your Lordfhips obferve, that there is in this Act
only a prohibitory Claufe againft the difpofal of fuch

Bailiwick, but no pecuniary or other particular

Penalty of any kind, inflicted by that Statute: So

that it could not be a queftion whether a Fine was

proper, as that Reporter fuppofes.

The Exactnefs of the Report therefore is not to

be rely'd upon, and what other Miftakes may be fact the greateft Offices have anciently been fold

in it, I know not. Indeed it is a pofthumous even by the Kings ; and that not in a clandeftine

was

have an eafy Opportunity every Day to obtain

Redrefs.

So that this loofe Expreffion mentioned by
Moor, (coupled too with a grofs Miftake) not at

all to the Point of Judgment, is of very little force

to prove the Cafe to which it is applied to be

againft the Common Law, and of lefs to prove

the prefent Cafe to be fo.

What then is there farther offered ? Do they

fhew that by the Common Cuftom Of England,

which is properly the Common Law of Eng-
land, the taking Money for Offices has been,

from Time to Time, punifhed, or condemned as

criminal ?

No; it is admitted on the one hand, that

there is not one Inftance of its having been pu-

nifhed or condemned as criminal, at the Common
Law

:

And on the other hand, it is notorious, that in

manner, but fo that the Price, and what it

paid for, have been entered upon Record.

The Inftances have fome of them been men-

tioned.

Richard the Son of Alured, in the 5th of King
Stephen, was to pay fifteen Marks that he might

King,

Work, uncorrect Notes taken for his own ufe,

and not intended to be publifhed.

But however, taking it for Truth, that fome of

the Judges did fpeak to the effect in that Report

:

It is a common Obfervation, that when Judges
are proceeding in the Cafe of a plain and exprefs

Law, Words ufed by them that tend to difcounte- fit with Ralph Baffet for the Pleas of the

nance and farther expofe the Crime then cenfured, which Ralph Baffet was then Jufticier.

are of no great Authority. And Walter de Grey, in the feventh of King

The very fame thing is done in Lord Chief John, gave the King 5000 Marks to have the

Juftice Coke's 1 2th Report, with refpect to turn- King's Chancery for his Life, and the Bifhop of

ing arable Land into Pafture; againft which there Norwich engages for the Payment,

was then an Act of Parliament in being; and I have the Copies of both the Records here in

farther to difcountenance it, it is there faid to be my Hand, if there be any doubt of them.

malum in fe.

Nor
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Nor are our Hiftories quite filent. In Hollin-

fhead, in the fifth Year of Richard I. (who

was one of the intermediate Kings between

the two Kings I have named) it appears what

was done, almoft with the Sanction of Parlia-

ment, certainly with their Notice, and not with

their Diflike.

" The King (fays the Hiftorian) called a Par-

«* liament at Nottingham, and the firft day of their

* Seffion Gerard de Camville was difcharged of the

Office of Sheriff of Lincoln, and difpoffeffed

both of the Caftle and County. And fo was

'05?

IC

his Principal have the Inheritance of the Office ?

This Provifo is therefore plainly founded only
upon the Regard the Law-makers had to the Pro-
perty and Interest of fuch Owner of an Office,
which they would not prejudice, and therefore he
is left at full Liberty to fell the Office itfelf, or a
Deputation to it.

But if to take Money from a Perfon who is to
have or execute an Office, were unlawful by the
Common Law, or wicked in itfelf; it is impoffi-
ble that the Owner of the Office could have a

(.< Right to that wicked or unlawful Gain ; nor could
likewife Hugh Bardolf of the County and Caflle the Law-makers have any regard to it.

of York, and of the Caftle of Scarborough, and And fince here they are careful not to take it

of the Cuftody and Keeping of the County of from him, they allow it. They in effect make a

Weflmoreland. The which Offices (as he goes formal Declaration that it is lawful, and that the

on) being now in the King's Hands, he fet Provifion made by that Act is not fo neceffary, as

them on Sale to him which would give moft. that it fhould in any degree interfere with his pri-

Hereof it came to pafs, that where the Lord vate Property in that Inftance.

" Chancellor offered to give fifteen hundred
«' Marks beforehand for the Counties of York,

" Lincoln and Northampton, and one hundred
" Marks of increafe of Rent for every of the

«' fame Counties-, Geffery Archbifhop of York of-

•* fered to the King three thoufand Marks afore-

hand only for the County of York, and one

Farther^

Seel. III. makes void all Agreements, Bonds and
Promifes for Money, for any Office or Deputation.

But Sect. VI. provides, that the Act fhall not ex-

tend to Agreements, Bonds, £sJV. made or con-

cluded before the firft of March then next.

This fuppofes it the Practice at that Time, not

thoufand Marks yearly of increafe, and fo had only to give and take Money for Offices, but to

** the fame committed to his Regiment. make formal Contracts for that Purpofe, which

And in the Cafe of Magdalen College, in the fif- the Courts of Juftice were to compel the Perfor-

teenth of King James I. reported in 1 Rolls's Re- mance of.

ports 157, Sir Henry Hobart then Attorney General, Does it condemn them as criminal in them-

and foon after Lord Chief Juftice of the Common felves, by reafon of the Danger ?

Pleas, argues from it, as a Principle not to be No : on the contrary it does not efteem the

contefted, That if any one procure an Office to Danger fo great, as that to avoid it the Property

himfelf for 1000/. of the Gift of the King, the arifing upon thefe Contracts fhould be taken away,

Office is not loft by the Statute of 5 §s? 6 Ed. VI. or at all impeached: but leaves a Remedy in a

which fhews the think not wicked, not malum in

fe, or againft the Common Law, for the Preroga-

tive cannot extend to what is fo.

My Lords,

Whoever makes the Grant, or receives the Mo-
ney, the King or a Subject, the Temptation under

which the Officer who paid it lies, to reimburfe

himfelf, is the fame. And if the Strength of that

Court of Juftice to enforce the Performance of a

Contract, which muft neceffarily caufe a publick

mifchief, if that were true that it is unlawful in

itfelf, and that its Unlawfulnefs arifes from the

Mifchiefsconfequent upon paying Money on that

Occafion.

Had the makers of that Law been of the Opi-

nion which thefe Gentlemen feem to be of, and

thought fuch Traffick a Wickednefs, it had been

Temptation make the thing criminal, it will make impoffible for them not to have put a Stop to it,

it foin all Inftances,

It has been taken notice of by thofe Gentlemen

who are of Counfel for me, that the Provifoes in the

very Statute of 5 & 6 Ed. VI. prove, that this is

not againft the common Law, or criminal in itfelf,

at the fame time that it puts a particular Reftraint

upon the Practice of buying and felling Offices, or

Deputations to Offices.

Give me leave to add fome Obfervations upon
the Provifoes in that Statute.

Sect. IV. contains a Provifo, that this Act fhall

not extend to any Office whereof any Perfon is

feized of any Eftate of Inheritance.

Suppofe a Man that has an Office of Inheri-

tance takes Money from a Perfon whom he ap-

points as his Deputy

;

Is not that Deputy as liable to be tempted fo

reimburfe himfelf by Extortion or Corruption,

is if his Principal had but an Eftate for Life ?

Can a Deputy's Behaviour turn upon the Title

of his Principal? So that 1000 /. (for inftance)

paid by him, will certainly make him corrupt, • if

his Principal holds his Office for Life, but will

not make him guilty of the leaft Misbehaviour, if

and abfolutely difannulled all Securities and Cau-

tions for the Performance.

I do not fuppofe the Form of Expreffion ufed

in this Provifo will be criticifed upon, or that it

will be urged that the Words of this Provifo only

import, that thofe Bonds are left in fuch Force as

they would have been, if the Atl had not been made,

and does not make them good.

That would be a poor Subterfuge. The Pro-

vifo makes them not good, 'tis true. Why? Be-

caufe it plainly fuppofed them to be good before ;

but that Sect. III. would make them void,
.
if this

Provifo did not prevent it ; and this Provifo is on

purpofe to prevent it, and for nothing elfe.

And would the makers of a Law, would thefe

Gentlemen in making a Law, inferta Provifo that

Agreements fhould continue of fuch Force as they

were before, . if they thought them of no Force be-

fore ? Nay if they thought them not only void,

but mifchievous?

The faving a Right of Action upon fuch Bonds,

and making a Provifo in "Favour of "them gives

them fuch Countenance, .that. thofe. that had any

fuch would certainly . infill upon them,. and the

ren«ns
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Perfons that were bound would be difcouraged me is not condemned by the Common Law or
from difputing with them what the Legislature did Ufage of this Kingdom. It' it be, it properly Jay

not think fit to deprive them of, and would there- on them to make it out ; but they have fhewn no-
fore pay without {landing a Suit. thing to prove it ; not one Inftance of its beine

There is yet one Provifo more in this Act, ma- punifhed at Common Law, or blamed ; not one
terial to the prefent Purpofe. Citation out of the old Books of the Common

Seel. VII. provides, that this Act fhall not ex- Law, precedent to the Acts of Parliament made
tend or be prejudicial to the Lords Chief Juftices or relating to Things of that Kind. On thecontra-

Judges of Affize " but that they may do in ry, I have fhewn it practifed in the higheft ln-
«' every behalf touching any Office to be given or ftances, without Blame or Cenfure : And thatfe-
" granted by them, as they might have done before veral Claufes in the Statute of E. 6. were plainly
*' the making of this Atl ; any thing above mention- founded upon a Suppofuion of this Practice beino-
«' ed to the contrary thereof in any wife notwith- allowed by the Common Law, and continue the
" ftanding. Allowance of it, in fome Instances, to this

This plainly implies, that at that Time, and Day.

before, it was the Practice for the two Chief Ju- This is what I had humbly to lay before your
dices and Judges of Affize to take Money for the Lordfhips, with refpect to the Common Law.
Offices in their Courts, elfe nothing in this Act And I fhall now confider it as it ftands upon the

could extend to what they ufually did, or be of Acts of Parliament.

any Prejudice to them.

And it fhews too, that the Law-makers did not

diflike the Practice.

I beg leave to fubmit to your Lordfhips, whe-
ther this doth not amount to a Declaration of
theLaw, that the taking Money for Offices, what-

And as to Acts of Parliament relating to this

Matter, they have fuggefted only two, the Sta-

tute 12 Ric.ll. cap. 2.andtheStatute5C5:

6£^.VL
cap. \6.

As to the Statute 12 Rich II. The Provifion
of this Statute is to bind thofe who make or name

ever Danger there may be from it in fome Cafes, Officers in the Cafes to which it extends, under an
does not neceffarily in all Cafes, caufe bad Of- Oath to obferve the Directions of that Statute ia

ficers to be made ; nor the paying it make the their fo doing. And I hope I have already fully

Officer extort : For the Nature of Things changes anfwered the Pretence of my having taken an Oath
not with the Titles of Perfons. An Officer that upon this Statute, which extends to any of the

pays Money to a Lord Chief Juftice, will be un- Officers in the Court of Chancery, I fhall now
confider that Statute and what may be urged from
it, a little more particularly. And,

1. As I have already mentioned, I take the Sta-

tute of 12 Rich. II. to relate only to fuch Nomina-
tions as are in nature of Elections •, that is, fuch
where the Nomination is in feveral Perfons.

In thofe Cafes it is common with us to have fuch

Oaths adminiftred, but not in others. We find

der the fame Temptation to get it up again, as

he that pays to a Lord Chancellor.

As to the Wording and Form of Expreffion of
this Provifo, I take it to be very clear, that the

Words [as they might have done before the making of
this Atl] are declaratory ; that they might before

the making of this Act take Money for Offices

;

and becaufe in the Cafe of thofe Officers the

Danger was not fo great, it is ftill faved and pre- them in Colleges, and other Bodies of Men
ferved to them. The great Ufe and main Intent of fuch an Oath

If it be faid that nothing is faved to them but in thofe Cafes is, to prevent Combinations, Strife,

the doing what they might have done before, and and Brigues, where the feveral Perfons concerned
that they could not before lawfully take Money for will naturally have feveral Views. And the Ani-
Offices ; I beg leave to anfwer, that if that be fo, mofities and Contentions arifing thence among fo

the Claufe is perfectly frivolous. A ftrong Preju- great Officers as this Statute takes Care of, might
dice againft the Expofition that makes it fo in all greatly affect the publick Peace.

Cafes, but much more fo here. The Things which caufe moft Contentions oa
For as the Judges are always Attendants in this fuch Occafions, are Money, Affeclion, (by reafon

Houfe, and this Claufe greatly concerns them •, it of Kindred or Friendfhip) and great Solicitations.

is highly probable that it was drawn up and pro- Accordingly this Act extends to all three, and
pofed by themfelves. takes Care to forbid the laft {Solicitation) wholly ;

And if taking Money for Offices were then and the being influenced by either of the former,

efteemed criminal ; if the Notion is right which is The Perfons called to name, or make Juftices of
now contended for, that taking Money for Of- the Peace, Sheriffs, or any other Officer or Mini-
fices was againft Law, was Corruption ; and that fter of the King, are to befworn, that they neither

this Law was then palling to lay farther particular name nor make them for any manner of Gift or Bro-

Reftraints upon it ; is it poffible that the Judges cage, Favour or Affeclion ; nor any that purfues by

could prefume to afk not to have a Difficulty or himfelf or any other, privately or openly to be in any

Difcouragement laid upon their being guilty of manner of Office, be put in that fame Office, or any

Corruption, or their doing a thing unlawful ? other ; but that they make allfuch Officers and Mini-

Ox is it poffible that the Lords and Commons iters of the moft good and lawful, and the moft fuffi-

fhould confent to it ? cient to their Knowledge and their Confcience.

Or if the Judges would afk it, would they not
have made it effectual? Would they, by pro- My Lords, in the next place,

pofing the Provifo, in effect, own a corrupt Pra- 2. The Words of the Statute plainly import as

ctice, and their Refolution to continue it, afk Pro- much ; that the Nomination there meant, is what
vifion for it, and be indulged -, and yet not afk is made by feveral Perfons when they are called

what would effectually juftify them in it? together.

I hope therefore that what is charged againft

2 " It
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" It is accorded and
« cellor, Treafurer, Keeper of the Privy Seal,

" Steward of the King's Houfe, Chamberlain of"

" the King, Clerk of the Rolls, Juftices of the

«' one Bench, and of the other, Barons of the Ex-
" chequer, and all others who ihall be called to

" name or make Juftices of the Peace, Sheriffs,

" Efcheators, Cuftomers, Comptrollers, or any
" other Officer or minifter of the King, fhall be
" firmly fworn that they neither name nor make
" Juftices of Peace, Sheriff, Efcheator, Cufto-

*' mer, Comptroller, or any other minifter of the

" King, &V. for Gift or Brokage, Favour or Af-
" feftion, &c.

I own, that there feems fome Difficulty as to

this, becaufe 1 do not know of any law, at that

time, that any of thefe Officers, except Sheriffs,

were named by an Afiembly of feveral Perfons.

But though there were no law requiring it,

there might be an Ufage to do it, by fome Di-

rection from the Crown for better Information.

for High Crimes and Mifdemeanors.
afferited, that the Chan- with it, though in a diftinft Oath.

fit

But that has never been done, nor has it ever
been adminiftred to a fingle Perfon at that or any
other Time. Which is the ftrongeft Argument
poffible that it is not what was then meant, or
ever underftood to be meant, by that Statute,
But on the contrary, in the fingle Inftance where
feveral are called together to name Officers, that
is in the cafe of Sheriffs, the fwearing of them,
to obferve this Statute on that Occafion, is never
omitted to this Day.

Give me leave to obferve one thing more, that
a Chancellor, a Treafurer may poffibly be fcveri

Years in his Office-, I believe Treafurers have iri

faft been all or the greateft part of their Time
without ever taking this Oath, which is never
taken, unlefs they happen to affift at the naming
of Sheriff,, which there is no law requiring the
other great Officers to attend at, and which is now'

become little more than a matter of Form, the

lift fettled in that Afiembly being every Year de-
And what is now done in relation to Sheriff's, parted from in many Counties

turns in fome part upon fuch Ufage continued

down to this Time, without any law, that I could

ever hear of, for to fupport it, as to all the Per-

fons who now meet to name them.

For by a Statute of 9 Ed. II. called the Statute

of Sheriffs, printed in Raft. Tit. Sheriffs 2. "She-
" riffs are to be affigned by the Chancellor, Trea-
" furer, Barons of the Exchequer, and by the Ju-
" ftices.

By 14 Ed. III. cap. 7. Raft. 12.

" Sheriffsfoall be ordained by the Chancellor, Trea-
* e furer and Chief Baron of the Exchequer, taking to

" them the Chief Juftices of the one Bench and of the

" other; if they be prefent : And in the Abfence of
•* the Chancellor, by the Treafurer, the Barons ofthe

And if this that I have thus offered be the

whole meaning of the Statute ; then at this Day,
as the Ufage now is, it has nothing to operate

upon but the Nomination of Sheriffs, and there-

fore extends to no other Cafes, and confequently

not to any of the Officers in the Court of Chan-
cery.

But may it not be faid, that though the Oath
required by this Statute extend not to the prefent

Cafe, yet will not this Provifion amount to a

Declaration of the Senfe of the law-makers, that

the Things thus provided againft are fuch as

fhould not be done, and confequently that the do-

Statute will be againft law ?ing of them after fuch

To date this diftinftly, would take up more
Exchequer and the Juftices. And thatfiallbe done Time than is proper upon this Occafion

" yearly on the Morrow of All Souls (that is the
* third of November) in the Exchequer.

This is the Statute that fixes the Time and
Place now obferved.

But as to the Perfons, though the Juftices of
both Benches are in the firft Aft, yet none of
them, but the Chief Juftices are in the laft. And
the Lord Privy Seal, Lord Steward, Lord Cham-
berlain, and the Clerk of the Rolls, and other

Lords of the Council, are in neither. And yet by
conftant Ufage, all thefe attend at the naming of

Sheriffs ; and, as they fee occafion, give their Ad- thing a Crime, which, may be rectified and re-

But this I beg leave to fay, and it will be as

well applicable to the Statute of E. VI. as to this,

and perhaps more directly.

Afts of Parliament that contain political Pro-

vifions for making Regulations, or for avoiding

Things not wicked, but which may be inconve-

nient, have not always this Confequence, that

Actions done contrary to what they defigned in

the very Cafes then in view will be criminal, and

much lefs in Cafes not in view.

Our law is fparing, in making the doing a

vice and Afliftance, and all take the Oath.

And by like Ufage, which we cannot now ac-

count for, there was probably fome fuch Practice

with refpeft to other Offices.

For it is to make the Statute abfurd, which pro-

vides that fuch and fuch, and all others thatfhall be

called to name Juftices of the Peace, Sheriffs, Efchea-

tors, &c. fhall be fworn to name thefe Officers without

Favour or Affetlion, if neither they nor any others

were called to name any of thefe Officers.

3. This is the ftronger, becaufe conftant Pra-

dreffed another way.

There are feveral Acts of Parliament to re-

ftrain Ecclefiaftical Perfons from making long

leafes, to prevent the [nconveniencies fuch lea-

fes may bring upon their Succeffors •, thofe Afts

declare fuch leafes void, which therefore are

againft the Intent of thofe laws ; but it was never

thought that the making or accepting fuch leafes

was criminal.

The Senfe of the law-makers is to have no

Confequence, but what neceflarily follows from

ftice, the beft Expofitor, has thus expounded this the Provifion by them made.

Statute.

If the Intention of this Statute were, that all

the Particulars firft named, that is, Chancellor,

Treafurer, Keeper of the Privy Seal, Steward of

the King's Houfe, Chamberlain of the King, &c

.

were to be feparately fworn, as to the refpeftive

Officers under each of them feverally ;

Then this muft have been made part of their

Oath of Office, or adminiftred at the fame time

Vol. VI.

What they intended was, that the Succeffbr,

if he pleafed, might fet them afidc ; which would

have this Effect, that none would take fuch lea-

fes, or they would do it on Terms advantagious

to the Succeflor, or with a Refolution of being

fo good Tenants, as that the Succelfor would

not take Advantage of it: So that either the

leafe would be vacated, or the Inconvenience

would be prevented without, which fully anfwers

6 Z the



7

1

1 1 9 5 . 75&£ 7r/^/ 0/ Thomas Earl of Macclesfield,

the End of the Act. And this is very applicable

to the Statute of Ed, VI.

In this Act of Ric. II. The Inconvenience pro-

vided againft is only in Elections or Nomina-

tions by Numbers ; the Provifion is by taking an

Oath.

If fuch Oath be taken and broke, that is a Crime •,

for that is the neceffary Confequence of the Pro-

vifion made, Violation of an Oath being undoubt-

edly criminal. But where no Oath is taken, much

more where none is required, I do not fee how
doing the thing can be a Crime ; merely becaufe

in fome Cafes it is in this manner provided againft,

and would be criminal if in doing it an Oath had

been violated.

One thing intended to be entirely prevented in

Cafes within this Statute is Solicitation, or defiring

a Place.

But has it ever been conftrued, in confequence

of this Provifion, that if I put a Perfon into an

Office, who ever afked that or any other, I

ihould be a Criminal, though I never took this

Oath?
Then the Confequence will be, that the afking

a Place, or the modeft offering a Man's felf for it,

(which would be fuing or purfuing for it in the

Words of the Aft,) will Jay him under a perpe-

tual Difability of having that Place, or any

other.

Nay, fince afking a Place is what the Statute

has made a Provifion to prevent ; whoever afks a

Place, does a thing intended to be prohibited by

the Statute, and is therefore criminal.

Was this ever the Conftruction of this Act ?

Nay, every one that affifts in what was thus

intended to be prevented will be criminal, and fo

will every one that afks for another at his Re-

queft.

My Lords, at this rate the Statute will be very

extenfive.

I would beg leave to mention one Cafe more,

and hope the Gentlemen of the Houfe of Com-
mons will not take it amifs, or look upon it as

any Difrefpect to them.

By the Statute i Hen. V. cap. i. "7/ is enabled,

" That Knights of Shires be not chofen unlefs they

" be re/dent within the Shire where they mail be

" chofen, the Day of the Date of the Writ of
" Summons. And that the Citizens and Burgefes
** of the Cities and Boroughs be chofen Men, Citizens

*' and Burgeffes, refiant, dwelling and free in the

" fame Cities and Boroughs , and no other in any

" wife.

The Statute 23 H. VI. cap. 15. recites this laft

part of that Statute, and enacts, that it be duly

kept in all Points.

And this is the Statute upon which Actions

ufed to be brought, in our time, for falfe Returns

of members to Parliament.

This is in direct Words a Prohibition of any

Perfon's, being chofen that is not refiant : But fince

the natural Effect of this Provifion would be, that

(the fubject matter thereof being the Cafe of a

legal Authority conferred by the Choice) Perfons

chofen, not being fo qualified, might in confe-

quence of this law be rejected.

If this political Provifion be not complied with,

is there another Confequence to follow, inftead of

redreffing it this way, and the Parties concerned

to be therefore made criminal ?

Is it criminal in thofe who chufe for their

ID G. I.

not onlyReprefentatives in Parliament, Perfons

not refiant, but whom they never faw ?

Is it criminal in thofe unqualified Perfons, to

prefume to take their Places in the Houfe ?

Is it criminal in the other members, knowing
fuch to be amongft them, not to turn them out ex

officio, even though no Complaint be made from
without Doors ?

I think not.

Yet I apprehend that will be the Confequence,
if laws of that Nature are thus to be explained,

and every Action is to be judged criminal, which
any Act of Parliament has made any fort of Pro-
vifion to prevent.

As to the Statute of 5 & 6 Ed. VI. cap. j 6.

Although it has made Provifion againft the Sale

or Difpofal of Offices for money, yet nothing can
be inferred from thence in Support of this Pro-
fecution.

But that your Lordfhips may take a better View
of that law, permit me to lay before you a few
Obfervations.

The Preamble fets forth the End for which this

Reftraint was laid.

" For the avoiding of Corruption vfh'ichmay here-

" after happen to be in the Officers and Minffters in

" thofe Courts, and Places, and Rooms, wherein
" there is requifite to be had the true Adminiftra-
" tion of Juftice, or Services of Truft:
" And to the Intent that Perfons worthy and meet

" to be advanced to the Place where Juftice is to

" be adminiftred, or any Service ofTruft executed,

" fliould hereafter be preferred to the fame, and
" no other.

Here is mention made of Corruption, but it is

that which may happen in the Officers appointed, it

calls not the taking money upon the appointing them
Corruption.

It in effect fays, what I have before faid.

That giving and taking money is a Temptation

to thofe who difpofe Offices, to put in fometimes

unfit Perfons ; to thofe who buy to extort and be

corrupt : And confequently that if this Practice

continue, there will be Inftances, in which this

Temptation will fo far be yielded to, that Perfons

not worthy v/ill fometimes be preferred, and thofe

Perfons vfiWfome of them venture upon being guilty

of Corruption.

But to avoid all the Corruption which may happen

in thofe Inftances, and to the intent that this Temp-

tation may in no cafe prevent, but that worthy Per-

fons be advanced, and no other in any Inftance, the

Statute is made.

The main End whereof is anfwered, if worthy

Perfons be advanced, and they be not corrupt,

but behave themfelves well.

What then is the particular Provifion made by

this Statute? Not making way for an arbitrary

Punifhment, by declaring it to be Corruption, or cri-

minal, or againft the Provifion of any former Law>

to give or take money for an Office.

Not declaring that itfhali be criminal for the fu-

ture.

Not even enacting, that no Perfon fiall take or

give money for an Office: which might make

the Contravention of this law, a Crime for the

future

:

For it is remarkable, that this Statute has not £0

much as any prohibitory Words in it;

But the whole Provifion is barely putting the Cafe

by way oiSuppofition, ''ifa Perfon do take money,''Sec

and
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and declaring the Confequence, which Confequence

is, that t\\tPerfon taking the money, if it were for

an Office, Jhall lofe the Nomination to that Office ; if

for a Deputation, he fhall lofe his Intereft in the

Office : And the Per/on paying fhall be adjuged a

difabled Per[on to have, occupy, or enjoy the Office

or Deputation. That is, as appears afterwards,

he is difabled, fo far as concerns himfelf, his right

to have it, and to continue the taking of the Profits

:

But not fo far as the Publick has benefit by him

:

For by a Provifo for that Purpofe, all Acls done by

him are valid.

The Effe<5t of which is, that the Officer who
comes in for money holds that Office precarioufiy,

which would otherwife have been for Life, and is

713
them from anfwering the Queftion.
And might I have been allowed to have giveri

Evidence of what has been from time to tinie de-
clared, by Parties concerned, who are now dead,
it would have been proved much farther.

But I apprehend the Thing is notorious ; altho9

fome Proofs have been offered for Form-fake, yet
it was equally well known before ; known to all

the World.
Give me leave likewife to argue farther upon

this whole matter from what I faid once already,
that it is admitted there is not one Inftance,
that fuch taking money has been punifhed either at
Common Law or upon Aft of Parliament ; that
this, according to the Rules of our Law, is one of

wholly at Mercy, if he gives the lead Occafion of the ftrongeft Arguments that it is not p'unifhable.
Complaint againftJiim ; and fince he that put him For it is not to be prefumed, but that it has been

often done ; the Statute of Ed. VI. takes notice
of the Practice, not only of doing it, but of enter-
ing into formal Contracts and Bonds for that Pur-
pofe.

Littleton, our mod celebrated Lawyer, upon a
Queftion, whether an Adion would lie upon a
certain Act of Parliament, refts upon it as a deci-
five Argument in favour of the Negative, that it

was never feen or heard that any Action was

in has loft the Nomination, there accrues to the

King a Right to fill the Place with a better man
in cafe he thinks fit.

And therefore I will not controvert, but that the

Right or Power of Nomination to an Office may,

by a Profecution grounded upon this Statute, be

taken from the Perfon who enjoyed it, and vefted

in the Crown.

But as there is no fuch Power of Nomination to

thefe Offices now in me ; but I have loft it with the brought upon that Statute ; alledging, that if any
Office of Chancellor, and therein have fuffered a much Aclion might have been brought for this matter it

greater Lofs than that ofthofe Nominations only •, No muft be taken, that at fome time or other it would
Judgment can begiven againft me upon this Act, and have been put in practice. And the Lord Chief
therefore neither can there be founded upon it any Juftice Coke, in his Commentary upon Littleton, ob*
Profecution againft me •, for that is but a method ferves, that as Ufage is a good Interpreter of laws,
of praying and obtaining a proper Judgment. fo Non-Ufage, where there is no Example, is a
And to adjudge, that upon the Cafe which has great Intendment (as he calls it) that the Law

happen'd, (fuppofing it to be within the Words will not bear it. Not that an Act of Parliament
and meaning of this Statute) any Punifhment fhall (as he goes on) can by non-ufer lofe its Force %

be inflicted, or any Confequence follow, beyond the but that it may thereby be expounded, or declared
Lofs of the Nomination, is (with great Submiffion) how the Act is to be underftood.

to go quite out of this Statute. This is what I have to fubmit to your Lordfhips,
Thus I have endeavoured to make out what I that the taking money for Offices is not criminal,

firft propofed, that the receiving a Prefent upon which, I apprehend, is the whole Charge in the
thefe Occafions is not criminal in itfelf, or by the Articles, except the manner of taking it varies the
Common Law, and that there is not any Act of Confideration, which I fhall take Notice of after-

Parliament whatfoever by which the fame is wards.

made Criminal, or fubject to any Punifhment There is not the leaft Pretence, that money was
or Judgment which can be pray'd in this Profe- given for putting in Perfons unqualified, thefup-
cution. pofed Crime is fingly the taking money.

And as to what has been faid byway of compar-
My Lords, ing it to the Cafe where any judicial Order or De-
All this Reafoning is greatly fortified by Ufage, termination is made for a Bribe ; give me leave,

by my Predeceffors ; which Ufage is exprefly with great Submiffion, to infift upon it, that there

proved before your Lordfhips by all the mailers, is not the leaft Parity at all betwixt that and the

who could not refufe giving Teftimony •, that is, all prefent Cafe : For in matters of Judgment, if the

the prefent matters admitted by my Predeceffors, Party have a Right to what he fues for, he ought
who are indemnified by the Act of this Seffion for not to be put to buy his own ; and much lefs, if

that Purpofe : And, I think, is proved too by the

former mafters now living, who declined giving an

Anfwer to the Queftion, when afked, what they

gave or knew given ; making this their Excufe,

that by our law no man is bound to accufe him-
felf, and that to own they had given money would
expofe them to the Penalties of this Act. For
whatever might be the Confequence of owning
they gave money -, there was no Danger in faying

he has not a Right, fhould he be at liberty to

purchafe of the Judge, that which is the Right of

another.

But this here is not matter of Juftice, but mat-

ter of Favour and pure Bounty, whether I put in

this man or that man into a Place in my Difpofal,

depended wholly upon my own Choice and Plea-

fure •, fo that the Cafes are not at all alike.

A Bribe ftrikes at the Root of the equal Admi-
they gave none. And they might have given an niftration of Juftice ; it is a profeffed Byafs, and

Anfwer in the Negative fafely, but that the Truth can mean nothing but to deftroy Indifferency,

and their Oath would not allow them to do it. and to render the Judgment partial.

And this Refufal of theirs to anfwer, was not a It is therefore difallowed in all Nations, and in

Contrivance of mine, they were fupported in their all Ages ; and is exprefly forbid by the Law pf

Objection by the Gentlemen that are managers, God: And had the Gentleman who touched upon

who were pleafed to give their Afllftance to defend the Text which condemns Gifts, been pleafcd to

cite



714 l 95- The Trial of Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, io G. L
cite it at large, it would have appeared to relate cerned in it or knew of it, was but this. That
to Bribes given in Cafes of Judgment, Deut. xv. 1 8, Mr. Cottingham informed me of a voluntary Offer
19. " Judges and Officers Jhalt thou make thee in all made by Mr. Bennet of 1500 Guineas which I
" thy gates And theyfhattjudge the People with accepted. I believe he thought himfclf not ill ufed

"juft Judgment. Thou Jhalt not wreji Judgment, and 1 being then extremely ill, he preffed tobead-
thou Jhalt not refpetl Perfons, neither take a Gijt. mitted, ior fear (as Mr. Cottingham fwears he

" For a Gift doth blind the Eyes of the wife

As to the manner of taking money in the fe-

veral Articles V, VI, VII, VIII, the Cafe ftands

thus.

V. There are in all, eight Articles relating to

thought) of falling into worfe Hands. On Thurf-
day, and in the Nights before and after, I remem-
ber I loft near 50 Ounces of Blood, in about 24
Hours. And that Night Dr. Mead told Mr. Cot-
tingham, that if the Diftemper had not a Turn
very foon, I could not live 24 Hours. On Friday

this matter; but they have proceeded only upon Mr. Cottingham fays, the Doctor told him the Di-
four : The firft of which is the fifth Article, and

relates to the money taken on Mr. Kynajion s Ad-
mittance.

Upon their own Evidence it appears, that

Mr. Kynajion was well recommended by Mr. Bayly,

a Perfon of a very good Character ; that the firft

and only meffage brought to me, with relation to

his Admittance and the money to be paid, was

this ; that he defired to be admitted on the Surren-

der of Mr. Rogers, and would make a Compliment
of 1500 Guineas, or, if I did not think that

ftemper had a Turn : On Saturday morning Mr.
Bennet, after great importunity, was admitted while
I was in Bed, but Company kept out of the Room
as much as could be.

This is v/hat they have proved by Mr. Cotting-

ham.

Mr. Bennet, who mentions nothing at all of me
of his own Knowledge, but of the Kindnefs with
which I fpoke to him, and told him that he was
admitted by a dying Chancellor, is their other

Witnefs, who is to fhew invidious Circumftances.
enough I mould pleafe myfelf ; and my Anfwer And very folicitous he feems to be to do it.

was, I was pleafed with the 1 500 Guineas, and he

was admitted.

It has been endeavoured to make what was then

done odious; by reprefenting, that Mr. Kynajion

firft offered 1 000 /. but Mr. Cottingham would not

propofe it ; that it was work'd up by Mr. Cotting-

ham's telling him that he had bought a good Office ;

that Mr. Rogers had told him heulually made 1 700/.

He takes care to fay, that he was ordered to

come alone, and bring no body with him ; as if

it were the better to keep fecret the Payment ofthe

money, tho' he knew my great Weaknefs was the

Reafon.

He affects to fay, the Bank-Notes were taken

out in feigned Names, and that it was not thought

proper to u'fe my Name or his. Tho' upon ano-

and fometimes 2000 /. per Annum of it, and that th.tr Article, when he is examined again, it comes
he underftood the Profits arofe out of the ordinary

Profits of the Office, and the Ufe of the Suitors

money together.

As to the Offer of 1000 /. Mr. Cottingham, a

Witnefs produced by themfelves, denies it. And
Mr. Bayly, their other Witnefs, who firft broke the

Affair to Mr. Cottingham, and at his Return from

him, told Mr. Kynajion that Mr. Cottingham faid

1500 Guineas would be expected, fwears, that

Mr. Kynajion immediately fubmitted to what Mr.
Cottingham had fo mentioned,only he faid he thought

it had been but 1500/. And this was before Mr.
Kynajion faw Mr. Cottingham

out, that the feigned Name was that of his Clerk,

whom he lent to take out the Notes, and it was

merely Bennet''s own aoing.

He fays, he offered 1000 /. to Cottingham at

firft, and tells a long Dialogue they had about it,

but Cottingham himfelf upon his Oath denies

it all.

So that here, at laft, nothing is proved that paf-

fed with me, but the 1500 Guineas being offered

to me and accepted.

And give me leave to obferve, that the two

Sums in thefe two Articles, were certainly not paid

out of the Suitors money. For whatever other

So that Mr. Kynajlon's Oath is directly contra- Objection may be made againft taking the Pre
dieted by the Oath of Mr. Cottingham, one of their

own Witneffes ; and is highly improbable from

what Mr. Bayly another of their own Witneffes

fwears.

And as to what Mr. Cottingham faid about the

goodnefs of the Office, he fwears it was after the

1500 Guineas were agreed to be paid. And in-

deed upon that depended not fo much what he was
to prefent to me, as what he was to pay to Mr.
Rogers, which had been agreed upon before Mr.
Cottingham was fpoken to.

So that here is nothing but my accepting aSum by Death
of 1500 Guineas, which was propofed to me as a

voluntary Offer, when I was at the fame time told

I might have more, if I would infift upon it ; with-

out one aggravating Circumftance, with relation to

the Perfon admitted, or what I did.

fent before Admiffion, it has this Effect, to fhew

that it came not out of the money of the

Suitors.

And yet there being a Pretence (without ftating

the Circumftance ofTime, which I have juft taken

notice of) that they were paid out of that money,

and that the Suitors were in danger of being Suf-

ferers ; I brought the money into Chancery, to be

fubject to the Orders of the Court.

The two other Articles, the feventh and

eighth, were upon Admiffions to Places vacant

VI. The next of thefe Articles is the fixth,

which concerns Mr. Thomas Bennet, and the money

VII. The feventh Article concerns the Cafe of

Mr. Elde ; and the Fact, as they have themfelves

proved, is thus

:

Upon the Death of Mr. Fellowes, the former

mafter, 5000 Guineas is offered and given to me
by Mr. Elde ; 6000 /. is offered by another.

It is admitted, that Thomas Bennet about three

given me by him, on account of his being admitted Quarters of a Year before, upon coming into

Mafter upon Mr. Hiccocks's Surrender. his Place gave his Predeceffor, who furrendred to

And the whole of the Fact, fo far as I was con- him feven thoufand five hundred Pounds, and to

the
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the Great Seal 1576/. in all 9075/; and that

Mr. Kynafton, two years before him, gave his Pre-

deceffor 6000 /. and to the Great Seal 1575 /. in all

7575 I-

And Mr. Elde, a Man of unblemifhed Character,

for High Crimes and Mi/demeanors.

of a good Eftate, and not one Objection to his Fit- the Mafters, is but 38 so l\ that is iRcn /

nefs, is admitted, though he pays fo very much
and lefs than was at

7lj
Upon the whole, all that can be pretended to be

in my hands now, upon thefe four Articles con-
cerning Mr. Kynafton, Mr. Tho. Bennett, Mr. Elde,
and Mr. Thurjlon, which are all the Managers have
proceeded upon, relating to Money received from

from

fhort of what others had paid

the fame time offered.

And of this that he paid, 3400 /. was returned to

him, and only 1850 /. retained.

I will not trouble your Lordfhips in relation to

what my private Intentions were in that Tranf-

acfion; if they were capable of being proved, I be-

lieve your Lordfhips would not diflike them.

Some little Reflection has been made upon the

Money being brought in a Bafket, as if it were for

Privacy,and even to conceal it from Mr. Cottingham.
Whereas it plainly appears to have been with-

out any Defign, and only Mr. Elde's making ufe of

a Convenience he accidentally had in his Chambers.

But if there had been an Intention to conceal it

from Mr. Cottingham, why was he the Hand to con-

vey any thing? why was he thePerfon to bring up
the Bafket ? Mr. Cottingham knew 6000 /. had been

offered by another, and might rather guefs this to

be more than lefs.

• And had Mr. Elde not been himfelf examined

(which at that time it was not expected he would

be) and Mr. Cottingham proved, that Mr. Elde had

told him he would give 5000 /. for the Place ; that

another offered 6000 / ; that he had told me of it

;

that Mr. Elde after delivered him a Bafket, which

by its weight he believed to have Money in it ; that

he brought it to me ; and that Mr. Elde was that

day, or very foon after, admitted : According to

the Candour of conftruing my Aftions, this would

have been faid to be a convincing Proof, that there

was 6000 /. in the Bafket, or more : it being im-

poffible for the avaricious temper of the Earl of Great Seal, upon another difpofition of this Office;

Mr Elde, and 2ooo7. from Mr. Thurjlon ; the reft
having been all returned.

And as to that which was given back to Mr.Thur-
fton ; he has fworn, that he was fent for feveral
times, in order to have part of his Money returned,
and received it before the firfl Seal after Michael-
mas, near a Month before any Order by the Lords
of the Council to call for the Accounts, and while
every thing was in the fame State as when he paid
it, and from his Evidence, it cannot be judged to
be any thing but the effect of Generofity.

Mr. Elde's was not returned till after the Ac-
county were begun to be taken, he continuing a
long time in the Country ; but when he came to
Town, he had it.

IX. The 9th Article relates to 100 Guineas given
me by Mr. Tho. Bennet, upon his difpofing of his

Office of Clerk of the Cuftodies or Lunaticks to

Mr. Hamerfly.

The Evidence is quite contrary to the Charge,
as it is laid in the Articles, and amounts but to this,

That Bennet having agreed to difpole of his Office

to another, fent me a Prefent voluntarily of 100
Guineas upon that occafion, and tho' I, at that

time, knew that more had been given in the like

cafe, I was contented with that, and accepted if.

This is within the fame reafon, as the Cafe of
the Mafters •, it has been praftifed by my Prede-
ceffors, as a Right of their Office, upon Difpofi-

tions of this Office, and others of the like na-

ture.

Befides the proof of what had been paid to the

Macclesfield, for his Impotency of Mind, his con

fiitutionalWeaknefs in matters of Money not to take

the greater Sum.

VIII. The 8th Article concerns the Cafe of

Mr. Thurjlon.

There, upon Mr. Borrett's death, 6000 /, was

offered me by another worthy Gentleman, but

Mr. Thurjlon was admitted.

it has been proved, that another of my Predeceffon

the late Lord Cowper, declared his Opinion, that

he thought it his right to have a Prefent : And he

having then paffed a Grant of this very Office,

without having had a Prefent, upon the Party's

having pretended and affured him that it had not

been ufual to give any for that Office ; he expreffed

great diffatisfaclion, and declared that he thought

he had been impofed on, that he law no reafon

He fays he gave upon that Occafion 5000 Gui- why that Office fhould not pay as well as others of

the like nature. Which implies both the Fact of

receiving Gratuities, or Prefents upon Transfers

neas, but that all above 2000 /. was returned.

My Lords, Since what paffed relating to that

matter is not capable of proof, I will not trouble

you with the particulars of it, which might be

material.

Mr. Thurjlon is likewife a Perfon unexception-

able; Mr. Baron Gilbert, now one of the LordsCom-
miffioners for the Cuftody of the Great Seal, gave

me an extraordinary Character of him, and that

determined me in his favour.

But there is no Objection to him neither, and

therefore there needs no proof.

This is the State of the Fact upon thefe two Ar-

ticles.

This is fo far from Extortion ; the Money is

voluntarily offered.

So far from Avarice ; the greater Sum is refufed,

and a lefs taken. And even the greateft part of

that returned, 3400 /. in the one cafe, and 3250 /.

in the other.

And the Perfons fuch, that, were I to go through

Wettmintter-hall, I cannot eafilypick out two better

Men.

Vol. VI.

of fuch Offices, and his claim in g; a Riodit to re-

ceive them.

As to the difcourfe Mr. Bennett pretends to have

had with Mr. Cottingham, Mr. Cottingham denies

it ; and as they both are produced by the Mana-
gers to this point, this is a clafhing between their

own Witneffes ; and that cannot be faid to be

proved by them, which is affirmed by one of rheir

Witneffes, and pofitively denied by the other.

And if there had been any fuch Difcourfe, it is

not brought home to affect me ; for there is no

pretence that I knew any thing of it.

But as to the whole Fact, wherein they differ, f

think, from the Character that has been given of

Mr. Cottingham, and what has appeared of Mr.

Bennet, it will be no queftion ac all, which of

them two fhould be believed.

X. As to the 10th Article, there is no Evidence

given.

7 A XI.
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XI. The next Article is the nth. And the And it is pretty remarkable, that their Pefi-

Subftance of it is, That in order to advance and in- ciencies are neither more nor lefs than the Sums
creafe the illegal and corrupt Gain arifing to myfelf they at firft paid to their PredecefTors and to me
from the Sale and Difpofal of the Offices of the Mafters upon their being admitted to their refpective Offi!

of the Court of Chancery, in violation of the TrusJ ces. In this therefore I apprehend your Lord-
repofed in me for the Care and Protetlion of the Sui- fhips will think their Oaths are of very little va-

tors, I did admit feveral Perfons to the faid Offices of lue. It is hardly to be imagined, that they mould
Mafters, who at the time of their Admiffions were of have been fo long in their Offices, and have juft

fmall Subftance and Ability, very unfit to be truftcd faved nothing, nor wafted •, and that they are not

with the great Sums of Money and other Effetls of a fingle Farthing either richer or poorer.

the Suitors lodged in their Hands. But whatever your Lordfhips Opinion, with re-

flect to that, may be •, I own, I cannot but think,

The Mafters are not by this Article charged that there is fomething very extraordinary in the

with the want of any other Qualification whatib- Attempt •, that thefe two Men have agreed with
but that of Eftate ; nor is there the leaft two Mafters, that were in pofTeffion of two goodever,

Proof, or Pretence, that they were not in all other Offices for Life, to give one of them 6000 L the

refpecls, Men of Abilities equal to the Duty to other 7500/. for their Places; and now, that

be difcharged by them, honeft, and unexception- they are got into pofTeffion, would have the money
able in point of Reputation •, but the fingle Ob- back, and continue in the Places too : That is, in

jedtion to them is, that they were Perfons of a fhort, they are tricking thofe Mafters out of their

fmall Subftance. Places, under pretence of buying them.

The Proof offer'd upon this Article is this: But whatever their Behaviour or their Eftates

They have produced three Orders made in the may now be, they appeared to me Perfons of Re-
Court of Chancery in the Months of January and putation, and Fortune, when they were admitted:

February laft, whereby it appear'd that Mr. Conway, And I do not obferve, that the Article hath fo

Mr. Kynafton, and Mr. Tho. Bennet had not at that much as fuggefted, that I knew any thing to the

time brought in all the Money that appeared to be contrary.

then in their Hands belonging to the Suitors of the

Court. This is their whole Proof.

But I am intirely at a lofs to know, how this

can be ftretched to prove, what Ability they were

of at the times of their refpective Admiffions, or

One of the managers wondered that I mould
let in Perfons of no Fortune ; and he folves it only

by this, that they would give better Prices.

That had been fomething, if the Price had been

given to me ; but leaves it incredible, that I fhould

indeed that they are not of ability now to pay their let in any, that I had the leaft Sufpicion had no

whole Ballances, merely becaufe on fuch a parti- Fortune •, for the old Mafters to receive 6000 /. and

cular Day they had not paid their refpective Bal- 7500/. at the fame time that they reprefent me
lances into Court,

Nor is there the leaft Proof that I had any rea-

fon to fufpecl their Ability, when I admitted them.

Mr, Conway had an Eftate of between 5 and 6

hundred Pounds per Annum.

Mr. Kynafionv/as reprefented to me as a Man of

Subftance: Now, that he comes under another

Article, to fwear it down, he owns that he has an

Eftate of 4 or 5 hundred Pounds a Year, with

Timber upon it worth 2500/; and had likewife,

at that time, in Money in the Funds, to the value

of two or three thoufand Pounds.

Tho. Bemiet was efteemed a Man of a very good

Eftate and Subftance. Pie is the Perfon to fwear

himfelf now worth nothing. And, to do it ef-

fectually, he flicks not at owning, that he has

mortgaged part of his Eftate for more than it is

acting upon the view of burying the Mafters, and

having the whole Price myfelf.

"Where I was to have the whole Price, and the

Temptation was greater, there is no Pretence I

took in Men of no Fortune. And is it poffible to

think I would do it, where the Mafters were to

have the Price, and I fo fmall a Proportion ?

Great Strefs has been laid on comparing the

Sums in the Mafters hands, with their Eftates -,

in order to fhew their Unfitnefs to be trufted with

thofe Sums.

How that Proportion is to be adjufted, I own,

I am a little at a lofs. Here is a Mafter, that has

an Office that brings in a confiderable Profit, and

is worth 5000 /. which cannot be run away with :

He has a handfome vifible Eftate of4 or 5 hundred

Pounds a Year •, and a good Reputation. How
worth. Yet there is upon your Lordfhip's Table, much money may he be properly trufted with ?

I do not mean as a Borrower, who may be pre-

fumed in fome want, of one fort or other, be-

caufe he borrows •, but as a Cafhier for the Sui-

tors ? There are very few Bankers that have

fuch a Fortune to fet up with. And I do not fee

that any of thofe Bankers, that is a Man of good

Reputation, and good Credit (tho' perhaps he has

not a good Fortune of his own) is thought the

woirfe of by thofe who deal with him, becaufe he

is trufted with very great Sums, far more than he

is worth. The more he is intruded with, the more

are his Gains, and the fafer all think themfelves

that have money in his hands.

There is in the Clofe of this Article another

the Particular given in by him to the Court of

Chancery, wherein his Eftate, befides that which

he fays he purchafed fmce he was Mafter, appears

to be about 500 /. per ann. and he owns he had,

when he was admitted, a Place for Life of 250 /.

per ann. which he after difpofed of. He fays he

vv-as worth 20,000 /. and had been fufficient ftill,

but for the Lofies in 1720, which he owns were

not known to me, nor generally fufpected.

But, my Lords, thefe two Gentlemen are making
their Circumftances mean, in order to get back the

money they paid for their Offices ; which they

could not do by their own Oaths, directly for

their own Ufes: and therefore they have thought

fit to keep back fo much of the money of the Sui- Charge, that I did publickly in open Court, falfely re

tors, when called upon to bring it in, that fo the

Suitors may complain to the Court of Chancery,

and then their Oaths may be

Suitors to found

PredecefTors.

a Demand
made ufe of, for the

upon againft their

prefent the Mafters admitted by me, as Perfons of

great Fortunes, and in every rcfpecl qualify'dfor the

Truil repofed in them, to the mamfesl Deceit and

It/jury of the Suitors.J J J My
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My Lords, as to that, I think nothing can more

plainly fhew, than this Article, and what has been

faid upon it, the forced Conftructions put upon

what I do.

?17
It was obferv d by one of the Gentlemen, that

open d the Evidence, that this was upon a remar-
kable occafion, when the Matter of the Rolls had made
an Order upon one of the Matters, to make a Suitor

Mr. Waller proves, that in July 1723, Ideclar'd fome Compenfation out of his own money in the
in Court, that the Mafters were Perfons of as good Matter's hands, and I fet it afide. And Uv. Waller
Fortunes and Abilities as any Set of Mafters bad ever began to tell fomething of the merits of the Cafe
been before them. Which is fpoke ofthe whole Body But a very learned and a very judicious Gentleman'
of Mafters, and not of thofe only who were admit- one of the managers, was pleafed to fay, They
ted by me. He fays he was aftonijh'd at it. But he did not difpute the Juftice of my Order'; nor is

has given no Reafon why. If he knew any thing, there any Charge of fuch [njuftice in the Articles.

ithat any of them were not fuch as I defcribed

next Article is the 12 th, which fets

any

them ; a little Candour would have made him
believe, that I was not rightly apprized of their

Chara&ers ; and a little Concern for the Honour
of the Court, wherein he was a Practifer, would

have made him fet me right.

But, my Lords, is there any Reafon affigned,

why I fhould think otherwife than I fpoke ?

Mr. Lightboun is examin'd, to prove, that he told

me, fome of them were fufpicious : But he does

not fay any fuch thing. All he fays is, that he

took notice to me of Mr. Dormer's misfortune, and

told me, he knew not how foon the like misfor-

tune might happen to others ; which might be,

(though they were all fufficient) if the Perfon,with

whom they fhould depofit Effects, upon going into

the Country, mould fail.

But his Expreflion is a little remarkable ; that

he cannot fay he told me any of the Mafters parti-

cularly were fufpicious, " For he did not know how
"far he might be liable to an Anion." An Action

!

what ! for one Mafter informing the Chancellor,

of the Circumftances of other Mafters, in order to

have proper Care taken ! could he fear it ? Who was
to be the Witnefs ? What muft be the ground of

the Action, if he told nothing but what was true ?

But I think, he faid he had not any particular

Grounds for his Sufpicion ; and he fays, / was un-

willing to believe it of any of them. Why ? becaufe

(as he fays I told him) Ihadhad very good Characters

ofthem y
and therefore 1 hoped they were allgood Men.

It was not very kind, in that Gentleman, to call

it an Unwillingnefs to believe, there was Ground to

fufpect them ; when I affigned fome Reafons,

why I fhould not fufpect them ; and he gave me
none, why I fhould.

So that here appears not any Reafon, why I

fhould believe otherwife than what Mr. Waller

heard me fay.

But to what end fhould I fay it, if I did not be-

lieve it ? Orhow were the Suitors injured, or deceived

by my faying fo ? Mr. Waller was not deceived ;

was any body elfe deceived ? Or could any one

be injured ? But they have difcover'd a reafon,

why I faid it. They lay that Mr. Felloweswasjull

dead, and there was a Matter's Place then vacant

:

And that fact they have proved. But can any thing

be more ftrained, than their Inference from it?

Did I defign, by faying thefe Mafters were men
of Fortunes and Ability, to raife the Price of that

Vacancy ? or to tempt Beggars to come in, that

cared not what Price they gave ? Does not what
was then done, clear me of all Sufpicion of that

kind ? Mr. Elde was the Perfon then admitted, a

Gentleman of a very good Eftate, of very good
Character in Wejlminfler-Hall, and 750 /. more of-

fer'd by another, that was no Beggar neither, re-

fufed. And after that, Mr. Thurjlon was admitted,

preurably to one that offcr'd 6000/. Is it poffible,

that I fhould give better Proof that I had not that

avaricious View in it, that is fuggefted ?

a

XII. The
forth

" That whilft the faid Thomas Earl of Macclef-
" field executed the Office of Lord Chancellor, an
" unjuft and fraudulent method was practifed in
" the Court of Chancery upon the Sale of Offices
" of Mafters of the faid Court, and upon the Ad-
" million of new Mafters, that the Prices or Sums
" of money agreed to be paid for the Purchafe of
" the faid Offices, and for the Admiffion thereinto,
" were fatisfy'd and paid out of the monies and
" Effects of the Suitors of the Court depofited
" in the Hands of the refpective Mafters, furren-
" dring their Offices, or dying ; either by way of
" reteiner of the Piujhafe in the hands of the
" Mafter refigning, or of replacing the money dif-

" burs'd for fuch Purchafe or Admiffion by the
" fucceeding Mafter, out of the money and Effects
" of the Suitors coming into his hands ; by which
" Practice the Price and Value given upon the Sale
*' of the faid Offices, and Admiffions thereinto,

during the Time aforefaid, were greatly advan-

ced, and feveral Perfons of fmall Ability and
Subftance were encouraged to contract for the

faid Offices, upon a Profpect of the eafy method
of paying for the Purchafe of the fame, by means

whereof great Deficiencies have incurred in the

Offices of feveral Mafters of the faid Court,

admitted by the faid Thomas Earl of Macclesfield,

which they have not been able to anfwer and

make good ; and although the faid Practice was

notorious and publick, and the faid Earl was

well inform'd thereof, and fully acquainted

therewith, yet the faid Thomas Earl of Macclef-

field, in order to increafe his own unjuft and cor-

rupt Profit in the felling the faid Offices and

the Admiffions thereto (which in confequence of

this evil Practice was rais'd and receiv'd by him

out of the Effects of the Suitors, for whom he

was intrufted) did not at any time, whilft he

continu'd in his Office of Lord Chancellor, ufe

or take any meafures to reform the laid Abufe,

or to prevent the fame ; either bycaufing proper

Schedules to be taken of the money and Effects

of the Suitors deliver'd over and transferr'd, or

by appointing any Perfon in his behalf, to infpect

or fupervife the Transfers or Deliveries there-

of, or in any other manner. But on the contra-

ry, the faid Thomas Earl of Macclesfield,imjuft\y,

corruptly, and contrary to the Duty of his faid

Office of Lord Chancellor (to whom the Super-

intendency of the faid Mafters and of their Ac-

counts did appertain) did fuffer the faid fraudu-

lent Practice to proceed and beexercifed without

any Controul or Check, whereby great Embezle-

ments have been made of the Suitor money arid

Effects, to their great Lofs, in the Offices of fe-

of the Matters of the laid Court, who
veral

" have not been able to anfwer and
}

v their 1

fpeftivi
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" fpective Ballances owing upon their Accounts, in

" breach of the Truft repofed in him for the pre-

" fervation of the Eftates and Effects of the Sui-

" tors ; to the difhonour and difcredit of the faid

" Court, and to the great injury and defrauding of

« the faid Suitors in a Court of Equity, eftablifhed

*' for their Reliefand Protection."

My Lords, In fupport of this Article, two of

the Mat\ers,Mr.KynaJlon and Mr.Tbo.Bemiett, have

fworn, that their PredeceSSors ftopt the price of the

Places out of the Suitors money, which was to be

delivered over to them : and that they gave the

greater Price for their Places, becaufe they found

this an eafier way of purchafing them. Indeed I

muft confefs, that, according to the manner of pro-

ceeding of thefe two Gentlemen, it will come out

to be an exceeding eafy way, which they have dis-

covered : fince, if they can prevail in their prefent

Attempt, they will have paid no price at all for

them ; they are to have their money back again,

and not to be in the leaft impoverished by theTranf-

action. But is there any proof, that I was (as the

Article charges) well informed of it ? Or that I

knew any thing of it at all ? Not in the leaft, but

only upon the Oath of Mr. Tbo. Bennet, who fwears

that in a Converfation with me about a Treaty be-

tween him and Mr. Hiccocks, I took notice of an

Article in his Account, delivered in to the Lords

of the Council, wherein he mentioned 9075 /. of his

Cafh to be in the hands of Perfons of Ability,

meaning, as he after explained it, in the hands of

Mr. Hiccoch his Predeceffor and myfelf; and faid,

I was forry for it, becaufe it was discovering the

method of paying for their Places out of the Court

money, which I had taken care conftantly to deny.

This (fuppofing rhy meaning to be what he

would have) is furprizing. He fays, that at the

beginning of this difcourfe I was fo cautious, that I

would notfpeakto him about returning the money

I had had, becaufe probably lie might be examined

about that Converfation in another place. And yet

he pretends that in the fame Converfation I told

him this. But does even he pretend, that I ever

knew this, which I had taken care to deny ? And
was this a time to tell him of it, when he fays, I

expected he might probably be examined about his

Converfation with me ?

But I believe your Lordihips will not give him

the leaft credit, in this or any thing elfe that affects

me. I beg leave to remind your Lordihips that I

afked him whether he did not then tell me, that, if

Mr. Hiccoch would give him 2000 /. he would pay

the reft of the money (which was to fhew that he

was worth at the leaft all but that 2000/.) He
denyed it. My Lords, I then told your Lorfhips I

could not difprove him in that, for I cannot be a

Witnefs for myfelf. Therefore I afked him to

another thing, wherein, if he did not tell the Truth,

I might be able to falfify him •, I afked him, if he

had not faid fo to Somebody elfe? He pofitively

faid, No. He faid there was fuch a report, but he

denyed the thing. At laft he did own that he had

Said, that if Mr. Hiccocks would repay 2000/. he

would ftand it, or run the hazard, but never told

any body he would pay the reft •, he was not able.

But Mr. Holford Swears, that Mr. Tbo. Bennet Sent a

meflage by him to Mr. Hiccocks, that ifMr. Hiccocks

would repay 2000 /. he v/ould difcharge the Ar-
ticle in the Account, and take care to pay the reft,

and he believed that Mr. Bennet was able to pay it,

or he would not have carried the meffige. And

Earl of Macclesfield

,
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another Gentleman Swears, that he Said he would
make it up, and a third that he could or would
pay it. So that he Hands contradicted in this par-

ticular, which I apprehend is material, by three

WitneSSes.

As to the method oS Payment mentioned in the

Article, it isftated to be, that the Price of the Office

was fatisfy'd out of the Effecls of the Suitors, either

by way of Reteiner of the PurchafeMoney in the hands

of the Mafter furrendring, or oS replacing the money

difburfedfor fuch Purchafe by the fucceeding Maftery

out of the money and Effecls of the Suitors comino- to

his hands : and the Methods Suggefted Sor prevent-

ing this, are, caufing proper Schedules to be taken of
the money and Effecls deliver''d over, or appointing

Perfons to infpetl or fupervife the Deliveries -, but 1

took not thefe meafures, nor any others.

My Lords, the method of'paying by Reteiner could

only be upon Surrenders. And why fhould I there

affift to raiSe the Price ? why affift to get a higher

Price Sor one, whom I was to have no more to do
with, only to have a poorer man come in, that might
bring DiSgrace upon the Court and upon me ?

As Sor the other method, the replacing the money

paid, that is, as I underftand it, borrowing the

money to make payment, and then when the Ef-

fects are transferred, difcharging the Debt out of

them : How was that to be hindered ? not by
Schedules, and feeing theEffecls delivered over. The
Delivery of the Effecls is neceffary to put that me-
thod in practice, and is Sar Srom hindering it.

But is this delivery over of the Effects fo very

material ? Mr. Meller did not deliver over the

Effects to Mr. Borret for fome time : had they been

ftill in his hands, had it been the worfe for the

Suitors ? Whatever a Mafter does not deliver over,

he continues refponfible Sor, and the Suitors have

the Same Security for them, as they had before.

Hiccocks and Rogers did not deliver over the Effects,

but ftopt Part for Payment ; the confequence is,

that they are compelled to bring them in. Had
Schedules been made, and the Effects deliver'd

over, and So Kynafton and Bennet been Sorced to

purSue the other method, the Suitors had not had
either Hiccocks or Rogers at Stake.

Indeed I never apprehended it neceffary Sor me
to See the Orders Sor Transfers obeyed, any more
than any other Orders of the Court. It is the

Intereft of the new Mafter to call for the Effects,

and of the old one to have a regular Difcharge,

which I do not See how he can have, without an

Inventory oS the Particulars, and a Receipt upon it

;

which is what I underftand to be a Schedule, tho'

it be never filed •, tho' I apprehend the word Sche-

dule is taken in a different Senfe in the Report to

the Council. And this I did believe the Intereft

of the Parties had made them do. Nor has it yet

been fhewn, that it was my Duty to look after thefe

Transfers. By what Law, by what eftablifhed

Practice, where does it appear, that a Chancellor

is bound to fee fuch Schedules made, and the Ef-

fects transferred ? If it be his Duty, without

doubt there is Some method, by which it may ap-

pear he has discharged it, in cafes where he has

done So. But is there ever any Entry made of it ?

Are the Schedules filed with any Atteftations, that

the Effects were actually delivered over in pre-

sence oS PerSons appointed by the Lord Chancel-

lor ? The Effects in Mr. Holfordh CaSe were *e-

Jiver'd over, I think, the day of his admittance, in

Mr. Lovibond's in about a Week, in Mr. Sennet's

in a fhort time ; whether in prefence of InSpectors,

ap-
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appointed for that purpofe, or not, has not ap-

peared. Yet, my Lords, the Queftion is not now,

Whether it be wifer and better to have Schedules

prepared and filed, and for a Lord Chancellor to

give Orders to fee it done : But whether it be

his Duty fo that it is a Crime not to fee it done ? If

the Suitors defire to have Schedules filed, in order

to be the better able to know how much the new
mailer is charged with ; it is their part to fearch

and make Application ; and upon fuch Application,

it is the Chancellor's part to make proper Orders

;

which they again are to take care to draw up, to

enter, to profecute, and fee executed. And as

to my defire, and Intention, to increafe my own
unjuft Gain ; which is to give the Tincture of

Guilt to this, and make it criminal ; can it be con-

ceived, that I, who take not advantage of a higher

Price, when I may have it, fhould, in order to

raife the Price, refufe to. check a Practice which

the mailers are fuppofed to make ufe of, to the

prejudice of the Suitors, and only for their own
Gain ?

XIII, XIV, XV, XVI, XVII.
The 13, 14, 15, 16, and 17th Articles all relate

to Dormer's, Affair •, and contain feveral fuppofed

Stratagems to conceal his Deficiency : all founded

upon the fame View, and to prevent the Gain upon
Sale of Offices from being Ieffen'd. Without that

View to gain, I do not fee any thing in thefe Ar-
ticles, that is criminal. And therefore, if, in your

Lordfhips Judgment, I fhall ftand acquitted of

that, upon a full examination how my Heart flood

affected in that Particular, I think all mufl fall to

the ground.

XIII. As to the 13th Article particularly; It

fers forth "That from an Apprehenfion that a publick

Difcovery ofT)ovmer'sDeficiency might lejfen the unjuft

Gain Ipropofedto make to myfelfby felling and difpofing

the Offices of Mafters, Inegletled and declined either to

fecure his Perfon or Eftate , or to make a proper Inquiry

into the Deficiency ; but endeavoured by many indireh

Practices to concealfrom the Suitors the true State and

Condition of his Office, as well with refpetl to his Ef-
fects, as to his Debt to the Suitors. And the latter

part of the Article fays, That upon Motion made in

the Court of Chancery (after Iknew Dormer was ab-

fconded) to have theEffetls offome of the Suitors tranf-

ferred to another Mafterfor betterfecuring them, I, to

delude the Suitors into a Belief that the Effects were

fafe, and thereby prevent a public Inquiry, there faid,

That the Parties need not be in hafte, that Dormer
was only gone to take the Air in the Country, that he

would return in a little time, and all would be well.

As to this latter part, they have not fo much as

examined aWitnefs to prove it: So that what Evi-

dence has been offer'd upon this Article, amounts
in truth to no more, than a Proof of D:rmer's be-

ing deficient. But as to any Endeavour of mine
to conceal the State of that Affair ? or any refufal

or neglect to do my Duty ? there is no Proof.

It appears, that he went off in November 1 720,
that his Clerk and his Servants by his Order, gave

out, that he was only gone into the Country for

a while. But he was gone into Holland for fear of

a Gaol. I knew nothing of it till after Chriftmas,

and then all the Steps were taken that were thought

mod likely to get as much as poffible for the Sui-

tors. I lis Chambers were fearched by fome of the

mafters, and directions were given to ftop the

Vol. VI.
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transferring his Effects in the public Funds. And
it was carried on fo far, that he was flripp'd of all,

and with Tears begged, that Application mould be
made to me, for fome Allowance out of it for his
Subfiftence

; which Mr. Cottingham refufed, becaufe
the Eftate fell fhort, and he knew I could not or-
der him the money of other People. And it is not
now pretended, that any thing was not difcovered
by him, but only a parcel of Hops ; and that plain-
ly was not concealed fraudulently, for he made no
advantage of it; the Hops are unfold to this day.

But the Charge of concealing Dormer's Affair be-
ing the Foundation of fo many Articles, give me
leave here to fay fomething of it, tho' they have
made no Proofs of it, or of the other Facts in this
Article.

My Lords, He going away in November, and ne-
ver appearing more in Court, or in his Office, but
another put into his Place in May ; it is impoffible
his failing was, or could be, kept a Secret. Mufl
not all the Suitors, who had money in his hands,
know that he was gone ? For my own part, I ne^
ver imagined it was a Secret. And as they, and
their Agents, could not but know what was doing;
had they not been fatisfied, that the Court was ta-

king the befl meafures to make up the Deficiency;
would they not have made Application for fome
Relief? 1 did believe the mafters would make it

good, Mr. Cottingham fvvears he told me fo from
them ; He indeed does not now rightly remember
the time, and anfwered not at firft very readily

whether it were before, or after November 1721,
when the fecond Letter about the Accounts was
wrote. But, of necefiity, it mufl be before ; be-
caufe Mr. Edwards fays, Mr. Cottingham told him
it would be made up, juft about the time of his

being made mafter, which was in May 1721 ; and
it is not pretended, there ever was any Thought,
that it fhould be made up any other way, but by
the mafters. Mr. Edwards fays too, fome of the

mafters told him it would be made up ; he does
not remember by whom they faid it fhould be made
up; but I think he fays, he thought, I believe the

thing fpeaks, it could be by no body elfe but the

mafters. And even Mr. Lightbouns letter in 1722
takes notice of it as a thing always under delibe-

ration, how the mafters fhould make it up ; and
that he differed from the reft only in the manner;
and in infiftins; that at the fame time care fhould

be taken, that the like Accident might not happen
again, and they be expofed to another Contribu-

tion. If I Was too credulous in believing this, fure

it is no Crime. And I am apt to think, your

Lordfhips will be of Opinion, that the Suitors be-

lieved the fame, or thofe, whole money lay fo that

it might probably continue fome Years, would have

applied to have an Account taken, and that their

Proportion fhould be referved. But nothing of that

kind was dene by them. Afterwards there breaks

out a Difpute between the mafters and the mafter

of the Roils; thereupon Mr. Lightboun informs your

Lordfhips, that many Orders were made in pre-

judice of the mafters in other Branches of their

Office ; the Language of the Court varied (as he

expreffes it) in orders; and the money put into an-

other Channel ; whereby they loft, not only any

Advantage that might be made of the money, but

many Fees and Peiquifites, that arofe thereupon,

and in the other Branches of their Office. Had
not this happened, or fhould it be cured, lam per-

fumed that Dormer's Deficiency would all be made

good. Contrary meafures may prevent it.

7 B There
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There was fome little Reflexion made upon that My Lords, what could make a greater Noifey

part of the evidence, which related to the meflage than that a mafter in Chancery abfconded, and no

I firft fent to the Bank ; and alfo for that the Or- money was received or paid, nor Bufinefs done in

der, which was afterwards fent, and a Copy of it his Office from November to May, and then ano-

read, was never enter'd with the Regifter. ther put in his Place.*

But your Lordfhips have had an Account that One of the Gentlemen expreffes his Aftonifh-

the effect of my meflage to the Bank (tho' there ment, how it could enter into my Heart, that this

was no formal Order made) was, that a me- could always be concealed, or that fo ghaftly aWound
morandum was entered in their Books, that no could ever heal of itfelf, without the Application

Transfer fhould be made without leave from the of proper Remedies,

Court of Directors, or Court of Chancery, which My Lords, it is yet more aftonifhing that it fhould

had the defired effect. But it is true I made no enter into my Heart to endeavour to conceal it, for

formal Order, becaufe I did not apprehend, that thofe Reafons which he fuppofes I had in view.

I had Authority to hinder them from permitting And I fhould have thought the Arguments that

him to transfer, by an Order of Court to be en- raffed his Wonder at my having done fo, ftrong

tered in a Caufe, wherein they were no Parties. Arguments that I never did it ; and indeed it is

And that which was fent after, was only to deli- impofiible I fhould endeavour or hope to conceal

ver them from the Reftraint, they, it feems, look'd that, which I knew was lb notorious and publickly

upon themfelves to be under, by that meflage ; known. Nor was I without Endeavours towards

and to anfwer the Entry in their Book. healing the Wound : Some of thofe Endeavours

And as to its not being enter'd ; I muft like- are attempted now to be made part of my Crime,

wife obferve, that even the Directions fent in No-

vember laft to the matters by advice of the Com- XIV. The 14th Article fuggefts, " That the

mittee of Council, for preparing and bringing in " faid Fleetwood Dormer having towards Satisfa-

their Accounts were never entered : And yet the " ction of the Suitors of the faid Court, affign-

Gentlemen will not imagine, that that could be " ed to Henry Edwards, Efq. ( who fucceeded

with a defign to have it kept a Secret •, but the

true and only reafon of it was, that thofe. Forms

are not neceflary, but in adverfary Suits, or unlefs

there be occafion to inforce the execution of fuch

Orders by the Procefs of the Court.

" him in his Office of Mafter of the faid Court of
" Chancery) a Debt of 24046 /. 4 s. or fome other
" great Sum due from William Wilfon, a Banker,
" to the faid Fleetwood Dormer, to the intent that

the money received on the Account thereof,

But they charge and argue, altho' they have pro- " fhould be applied and difpofed of, as the faid

ved nothing, that I have neglected my Duty.

My Lords, It is proved that I did a great deal

more than they have proved to be my Duty. And
what did I omit ?

Obj. I did not (fay they) fecure his Perfon.

Refp. My Lords, was that a Crime ? He was in

Holland out of my reach. When he came into Eng-

land, it was to deliver up all he had to the Suitors,

and on promife of Liberty.

But if I had, would that have been of ufe to the

Suitors ?

Obj. I iflued no Sequeftration to feize his Eftate.

Refp. The Eftate was got without one, which is

much better. The mod ufual Allowance upon a

Sequeftration is 6 s. 8 d. a day to every one of the

Sequeftrators that are employed to put it in exe-

cution, which would foon have eat up great part

of the Eftate. And I do not know that the Se-

' Court of Chancery fhould order and direct, the
" faid Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, whilft he conti-

" nued Lord-Chancellor of Great-Britain, for the
" unlawful Purpofes aforefaid,without Regard to the

" Intereft of the Suitors, by Colour of his Office,

" did, in an unwarrantable, clandeftine, and un-
" ufual manner, authorize, direct, and eftablifh,

" a precarious and trifling Compofition with the

" faid William Wilfon, upon the Terms of the faid

" William PFilfon's paying the Sum of 1463/. 2 s.

" id. and affigning 10000/. part of a Debt of
" 22060 /. I2J-. 5 d. pretended to be due to the

" faid William Wilfon from Edward Pouter, or to

" that Effect, in difcharge of the faid Debt : And
" to that End, upon the Report of John Hiccocks9
" Efq. then one of the Mafters of the faid Court,

" without any Attendance ordered or had there-

upon, and without Notice to the faid Suitors,<.(

queftrators would have found out the poor parcel " did by a private Order not made in open Court,

of Hops, which is all that was not got then ; and " order the faid Henry Edwards to accept of the

it was not imbezzled, but has been brought in now
without the help of a Sequeftration.

Obj. I did not examine him upon Interrogatories.

Refp. I order'd Cottingham to propofe to the

mafters, whether they would have one ; and they
thought he would make a fair Difcovery without,

and were afraid left that appearance of Diftruft and

faid Compofition, in full Difcharge of the faid

" Debt, which faid Edward Poulter was a Perfon

" infolvent, and has fince abfconded for Debt,
" and none, or a very fmall part of the faid 10000/.

" has been, or is ever likely to be received."

This Article your Lordfhips obferve relates

ICmHardfhip might drive him away again, but if they fingly to the Compofition with Wilfon, which is

fhould find it requifite, they would apply. No ap- charged to be authorized by me to the unlawful

plication was ever made to me to have it, nor Purpofes aforefaid, that is, to conceal Dormer's
does there any fraudulent Concealment appear, nor Deficiency, and keep up the Prices of the Offices.

any thing diverted from the Satisfaction of the

Suitors. And if he made a fair and honeft Dif-

covery of all, what imports it, whether he were
fvvom, or not fworn to it ?

Bat I would beg leave to afk, Why fhould I

neglect what was proper ?

The Reafon they affign is, That if I had done
thefe things, it would have made a No/feand brought

the Matter out.

Suppofe this Tranfaction had been publick,'nay

fuppofe Wilfon had been openly fued for this Debt

;

would that have fallen the Price of Offices, or dis-

covered Dormer's Deficiency ? If his abfeonding

and affigning his Place to Mr. Edwards, did not

difcover it; would the Proof of his affigning this

Debt to Mr. Edwards have difcovered it ? What
End then could the Privacy of this Trar.faction

ferve ?

But
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But tho' it does not anfwer the Purpofe, that is

charo-ed ; yet it is infilled upon to be prejudicial to

the Suitors, and giving up a great part of the money

due to them from Wilfon, and done in a clandeftine

wanner, and without their Knowledge.

What Proof then is there, that this Compofi-

tion was prejudicial to the Suitors ? A fmall one

it is indeed, but for a defperate Debt ; and what

Proof is there that they could have had a better j

or that it had been better to have had none ?

It is faid, that Wilfon paid to fome of his Credi-

tors their whole Debts.

It is true, that was faid, but it has not been

proved. If it had been proved, and the Circum-

ftances fhewn, probably it would have appeared,

that he had a particular View in paying thofe their

whole Debts, and it might be more beneficial to

him to do fo, and keep them his Friends ; than if

he had paid them only a part, as he did to his o-

ther Creditors.

And as fmall as the Sum is, my Lords, give me
leave to fay, it had never been got in for the Benefit

of the Suitors, if this Compofition had not been

made. So that 2463 /. has been got for the Cre-

ditors, tho' no more fhould be recovered from

Poulter, than the 1000 /. already got from him ;

where nothing had elfe been had, for what ap-

pears.

Obj. But Poulter was inefficient, and the Debt

affigned from him worth nothing.

Refp. As to Poulter's Circumftances at that time

:

Some Perfons have been called, who have proved

('tis true) that he was infufficient at that time, and

could not pay more than three or four thoufand

Pounds ; but the fame Witnefles give an Account,

that his ill Circumftances were then known but to

lour or five Perfons of his Acquaintance, and that

by all other People, who had any Knowledge of

him at that time, he was looked upon to be very

fufficient ; he had left off* his Bufinefs upon having

raifed an Efcate ; he was of good Reputation ; he

lived at Hackney in a Houfe making a good Ap-
pearance, with good Furniture, and a great quan-

tity of Plate, till the Iaft, till the time of his being

put in Prifon, which was not till laft Year, that he

furrendered himfelf in difcharge of his Bail.

But fuppofe he was not fufficient, how does that

affect, me ? I was not obliged to concern myfelF

with it, and left the Compofition to the manage-

ment of the mafters ; they made it : Wilfon had

fworn an Affidavit in Writing of his Circumftances,

and that this was as much as he could pay to the

Suitors: Mr. Hiccocks, a Gentleman of very good
Reputation, was the matter, he being then fenior

matter, to whom I referred the Confideration of it,

according to the courfe of the Court •, he was
upon his Oath in what he acted therein, and made
his Report, that he was of Opinion this Compofi-

tion would be for the Advantage of thofe to whom
the money was to be paid. And upon that I

grounded the Order.

for High Crimes and Mi/demeanors.

Obj. But the Suitors had no Notice to difpute
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omental to them: Therefore they have the Be-
nefit of all that has been got in* upon it, and yet
have ftill a right to enquire into the true Circum-
ftances of Mx. Wilfon, and to recover, in propor-
tion with his other Creditors, any Effects he mall
appear to have unfairly concealed.
Upon the whole of this Matter, could the

Mafter, or I, have any indirect End to ferve, by
allowing Wilfon to compound at an under rate ? It
is not pretended I knew him, or could intend him
a Favour. Why then fhould I defignedly leffen
Dormer's Fund, which was before deficient, and
which I was endeavouring to make up ?

Obj. But it is faid, that this was bv mv Di-
rection.

'

Refp. Suppofe it were ; they have not proved any
thing to induce a fufpicion that it was not per-
fectly innocent, nay beneficial to the Suitors, or
probable to be fo.

But the Proof is only, that Mr. Edwards fpoke
to me about it, and afked me, if he might com-
pound it of himfelf. I thought not : But Mr.
Hiccocks having afterwards informed him that it

was ufual to do things of that kind upon a Report
grounded on the Party's Oath, and an Order foun-
ded thereon ; he propofed that method, and I

thought it might be fo done. And he did it.

But whether this was prudent, or imprudent

;

where is the Crime ? This tended nothing to con-
ceal Dormer's Affairs : he was known to be broke -,

and Wilfon's Debt was efteemed defperate. There
was no otherView, nor could be, but to get fome-
what towards Dormer's Deficiency, and no body is

at all hurt by it.

Obj. But this was unufual,

Refp. In what ?

Obj. No day was appointed to hear Counfel

upon it.

Refp. My Lords, There was no occafion for

Counfel ; there was nothing for Counfel to be heard

to ; there was nothing for them to argue. The
Order is in direct purfuance of the Report.

Indeed, upon carelefly reading the Article, one

would imagine the Charge to be, that this was an

Order made upon Mr. Edwards, without giving

him Notice, or hearing Counfel for him. And that

would be very unufual andunjuft; if it were not

that it is ordered upon his own Petition, and at his

own Requeft.

Your Lordfhips will likewife obferve, that this

was the 3d of Auguft, after the Seals were over •,

and if I muft have appointed it to come on, upon a

publick day (not to have it concealed) it muft have

waited till October ; And by that time Wilfon, and

his Effects, might probably have been gone, and

the Opportunity of getting any thing loft.

As to fome few new Obfervations made upon

reading thefe Proceedings, I fee not how they tend

to prove any Crime in in;:.

it. Obj. They are not filed.

Refp. The Confequence of that is only, that Mr. Refp. That is not my Affair. And if they are

Edwards being their Truftee, and Wilfon know- never filed, they will affect no body, and canto:

ing it, whatever could be done between them poffibly do harm.

would nut bind the Suitors, if it were any way de-

Obj,
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Obj. Some Lines or Words appeared rafed out : come into a Compofition : For it is faid, when that

which import that Mr. Edwards mould be indem- had its effect, and the money was paid, they were
not obliged to bring in their Accounts.nified.

Refp. If he afted fairly in this matter, he would

be indemnified, tho' thofe Words were out ; and

if he did not, they ought not to be in.

In fhort, here is not the leaft Evidence, but that

this Compofition was made with a View to get as

much as could be for the Suitors, out of a defperate

Debt; there is no body hurt by it ; and if it be

not of advantage to the Suitors, they may avoid

it.

XV, XVI. The 15, 16, and 17th Articles

were opened together : But one Gentleman fpoke

more particularly to the 17th, as being of diffe-

rent nature from the others •, and therefore I will

fpeak to it feparately.

The principal Subjects of the 15th and 16th

Articles are 4500/. raifed by the matters, and

ioco/. by myfelf, towards Dormer's Deficien-

cy-

In the laft Article I fpoke to, the Crime was,

the lefifening Bonner's Effects by a trifling Com-
pofition ; in thefe, increafing them 5500/. is a

Crime.

At firft fight, one would think this commen-

dable, but, by I know not what Fatality, every

thing grows criminal by my having any concern

in it. My Intention infects all. It is laid that I

intended by it to carry on my corrupt Purpofes, that

is, as one of the Gentlemen explained it, to conceal

Dormer'j Deficiency.

But all that appears upon the Proofs offered

relating to my Intentions is, that here was a

ftrong Defire to make good Dormer's Deficiency ;

and that way of concealing it is furely not blame-

able.

But then as to the 4500/. is is faid, that I in-

duced the mafters to pay it by colour of my Au-
thority.

How is this proved ? ;

Mr. Conway produces, and proves, the Receipt

he had given him by Mr. Edwards, for goo I. vo-

luntarily contributed by him towards Mr. Dormer'.?

Deficiency ; and fays, that he had promifed it in

February, and paid it accordingly in Auguft.

Mr. Edwards fays, that in 1721 he received

500 /. apiece from all the mafters, but Mr. Light-

boun.

Mr. Lightboun fays, that when Mr. Cottingham

fpoke to him of it in February 1 720, he told him,

all the other mafters had agreed to it •, but Mr.
highborn refufed it : That I never fpoke to him of

it till January 1722, which was near two Years

after ; that then, I was fo far from making ufe of

my Authority, that when he afked me, whether it

was my Propofal or the mafters ; upon its be-

ing faid, it came from the two fenior mafters,

he took occafion to fpeak more freely againft

it ; and though I ufed fome Arguments with

him, yet he fays I left him to his own Inclina-

tions.

My Lords, thefe are their Proofs. But they are

to be helpt out by fome Conftructions.

01} . It is faid, that the Letter which I caufed to

be fent in February 1 720 to require them to give in

their Accounts, was in order to terrify them .to

Refp. This then, I fuppofe, is that Colour ofAu-
thority by which (according to the Charge in this

Article) I induced them to contribute.

But in the firft place I befeech your Lord-
fhips to confider, whether it can be thought,
that any of the mafters would pay 500 /. rather
than let me know what was in his hands;
which was all the Confequence of my having
an Account ? If it cannot ; why fhould it be,

without the leaft Proof, imagined, that I mould
expect it ?

In the fecond place I muft beg leave to ob-
ferve, that the mafters beft know, what effect

that Letter had upon them, and what was the

motive of their advancing that money j but none
of them have fworn, that they were in the leaft

induced to pay the money by the fear of that

Letter, or by the apprehenfion of being forced

to give in their Accounts if they did not com-
ply. Nor do the Circumftances fhew it. For
Mr. Conway came in but in that February, and
had but little money in his hands, and a very
fhort Account to make. Mr. Kynafton and Mr,
Tho. Bennet, who are now deficient, were not then

mafters. Mr. Holford had got an Account ready,

yet he paid. Mr. Lightboun gave in no Account,
and yet he did not pay.

So that upon a View of the Evidence, here

is a good Action done, very beneficial to the

Suitors ; and no indirect Practice to bring it

about,

And therefore the Charge not being proved, I

am according to my general Plea, not guilty of the

matters contained in this Article, or any of them, in

manner and form as they are therein charged a-

gainsl me. And there is no. occafion to make out

what I have ftated in my Anfwer, to have made
this matter more clear, in cafe they had given oc-

cafion, by having produced Evidence to maintain

their Charge.

However I have fhewn a fecond Letter, written

by my Order, in November following, requiring

thofe Accounts with more earneftnefs. Mr. Cot-

tingham produces the Draught of it, and tho' he
will not (wear pofitively that he delivered or fent

it ; becaufe he does not find any memorandum of

it : he verily believes he did, and has not the ieaft

ground to fufpect the contrary.

Your Lordfnips will obferve, how very parti-

cular the Account was directed to be.

The firft Letter was wrote the 14 of February,

1720, Your Lcrdfhips will give me leave to read

the Copy kept of it.

[Reads.] " 14 February 1720.
" I am commanded by my Lord to fignify to

" you, that you do, with all convenient fpeed,

"jay before his Lordfhip an Account in feveraJ

" Columns

.

" 1. Of the Caufe.

" 2. Sollicitour, or Agent.
" 3. The Date of the Order.
" 4. For what Purpofe the money was brought

in.

" 5. How much was brought in.

" 6. When.
« *7

/'
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" 7. How much in hand.

"8. How much on Securities.

*' 9. How much paid out.

723
" The Dates of the Orders for 7 f Money or

j" \ Securities.bringing in

A diftinR Account of Securities.

tf 1. Caufe.

«« 2. From whom the Security is taken.

" 3. What the Security is.

" 4. In whofe Name taken.

" 5. For how much each Security.

" 6. The total of the feveral Securities.

« 7. In whofe hands lodged.

A difincJ account of Money paid out.

" 1. Caufe.

" 2. By what Order, of what date.

" 3. When paid.

** 4. To whom.

The fecond Letter is dated the 7 November 1 72 1

.

And is in thefe words

:

[Reads.,]

" By my Letter of the 14 of February lad, I

fignified to you my Lord Chancellor's pleafure,

which was that you fhould with all convenient

fpeed lay your Account before his Lordlhip,

the method whereof was to be in feveral Co-
lumns fubfcribed at the foot of that Letter. I

am now farther to acquaint you, that his Lord-
lhip is very much furprized to find that in all

this time no fuch Account hath been laid before

him ; and therefore hath commanded me to

tell you, that it is expected to be delivered on

or before the lail Day of this Term ; and if

this is not complied with, you will oblige his

Lordfhip (tho' very unwillingly) to think of

other meafures, which I doubt not but you
will avoid by a ready compliance with what
is a fecond time required of you. And to the

end there may be no miftake as to the method
of your accounting, I have fubfcribed it again

at the foot of this Letter."
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And Mr. Cottvigham explains what he appre-

hends was meant by that PafTage of other Mea-
fures, that I would make an Order in form,

that is, an Order of Court to be entered with

the Regifter. He tells your Lordfhips what

Reprefentations they made of the Difficulties of

drawing up fuch Accounts: And I did not af-

terwards infill upon them. And your Lordfhips

will be pleafed to obferve, that the Letter fent

by me, in Form of an Order, in November kit,

by Advice of the Lords of the Council, was for

an Account much in the fame manner. The words

are thefe :

[Reads.]

" Dated 3 November 1724.

" Let the feveral matters of the High Court
" of Chancery forthwith prepare and deliver to

" me a perfect Account of the money in their

" Hands, therein diftinguifhing in feveral Co-
*' Jumns.

*' The Names of the Parties to the Caufe.

Vol. VI.

" The Time of bringing in each Sum.
" Particularly expreffing the Sums frank

" ferred and paid to .them at their
" coming into their Offices, in the firft

" Place.

" How the fame hath been difpofed,

" What Sums paid out, and to 7 rwhen and
" whom, Wby what

" What inverted in Securities, -> C Order.
" Specifying the Securities by Dates,Num-
" bers, &c.

" Where the Securities are at prefent,
" What money remains in their Hands,
" Where the fame now is.

Mr. Halford tells your Lordfhips, that another
Account was carried in by my Order inflead of
one fo particular ; for that an Account drawn up
in that manner, would have taken up feveral

months: And in February 172 1 or 1722 it muft
have taken up many more ; becaufe there were then
mailers, who had been much longer in their Offi-

ces, than Mr. Holford the now Senior matter had,

in November laft, been in his. And thofe Accounts
muft have gone through their whole Time. And,
if your Lordfhips will be pleas'd to look upon the

Report on the Table, it will appear that thejudg-
es and Directors reported, that no regular Ac-
counts could be taken, unlefs they were brought
down from the Beginning of the time, that each

matter had been in his Office ; and yet the Lords
never infilled on any fuch Accounts afterwards

(tho' I had made an Order for them by their Ad-
vice) nor the Lords Commiffioners fince ; which
what is it, but falling into the fame Sentiments that

I had done before ? The requiring the Dates of the

Orders on which money was paid, and the Sollici-

tors Names (which I found not one of the matters

was able to give me) was intended by me, that I

might be able to make fome Examination into the

Truth of the Accounts, that fhould be given in.

And for want of that, your Lordfhips know, what

methods the Lords Commiffioners have been forced

to take ; to have the Accounts of the feveral ma-
tters printed and publifh'd, and difperfed through-

out England at apublick Expence ; that People may
come in voluntarily to make a Surcharge. And yet

it is well known, that the preparing the prefent Ac-
counts, fhort as they are, containing only the Bal-

lances of Securities and Cafh, which the mailers

owned to be then in their Hands in each Caufe, fo

took up their Times, that the Bufinefs of the

Court before them ftood flill for feme time, and

their Attendance in Court was difpenfed with.

No Wonder then if I did not infill on thefe Ac-

counts, which were to be attended with fo trouble-

fome, fo tedious, and (o fatiguing an Enquiry.

Thefe are fome Facts, that I have not indeed

examined to ; but with Submiffion I do not Hand

in need of them : If I did, they are notorious; and

I believe the managers, fome of them at leafl,

know them, and will not deny them ; and the ma-

tters, being your Lordfhips Attendants, may be afk-

ed to them, by any of your Lordfhips, who (hall

7 C think
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think there needs any farther Satisfaction to be

io G. T.

given concerning them.

Obj. But why then did I not content myfelf

with the fhorter Accounts, and take them at leaft,

fuch as were deliver'd into theCommittee ofCounciJ?

Refp. As to thofe Accounts ; I mall beg leave to

fay fomething upon them under the 1 8th Article,

which, I flatter myfelf, will give your Lordfhips

intire Satisfaction on that Head.

Upon the 1 6th Article I take the Liberty to fay

as to the tooo/. paid on Mrs. Cbitty's Account;

I never expected that an Aft of Humanity to Mr.

Lockman fhould be made a Crime.

The fuppofed Crime, I think, confifts in this,

That it was infarther Profecution of my unjuft and

corrupt Purpofes, that is, Keeping up my gain in

felling Places, by concealing Dormer'^ Deficiency.

How is this proved ?

Mr. Lockman tells of his applying to me, and my
faying to him at firft, that it mould be paid •, but

telling him after, that there were not fufficient of

Dormer's EfFefts left ; that the mailers were in great

Apprehenfions of lofing the Profits of their Places,

and were not willing to advance any mOney ; that latter end of July lad ; and fome fuch Arguments
he told me of a Compofition he had made, that the ufed as in the Articles, but not (as is charged) to

Time was near; that then I faid, I would order have a prefent Purpofe ofpaying the iooo/. anfwe-

Cpttingham to pay the money ; but told him, that red, but to have Dormer's Deficiency ail made
if Mrs. Chitty had nothing elfe, he might by marry- good, by fmall annual Payments out of each Office.

and as to Mr. Lockman's Teflimony, who denyed
that he apply'd for a farther Sum ; it has been pro-
ved, under his own Hand, that he apply'd for 574 /.

for Mrs. Chitty, on Pretence fhe could no otherwife

fpare him the whole 1000/, and this after the time
was appointed for Mrs. Chitty to receive the
1000/.

Here the Earl of Macclesfield informing the

Lords, that he found himfelf lb far fpcnt,

as not to be able to proceed at prefent, the

Houfe adjourned during Plcafure, and after

fome time the Houfe being rtiiimed, the

Earl of Macclesfield went on.

My Lords, when your Lordfhips were pleafed to

allow me to retire, I was juft upon Mr.',. Cbitty's

1000 I, and had fpoke of that Part of the Tranf-
aftion that related to Mr. Lockman. And as to the

next, which is the Charge of endeavouring toper-
fuade the mafters to advance that 1 000 /. and uiing

the Arguments in the Article mention'd for that

Purpofe

:

Upon the Evidence it does appear, that there

was a meeting of the mafcers at my Houfe in the

ing her make himfelf worfe ; for there would be no

more money paid her thence. And he fwears that

he did not look upon that Sum to be paid out of

Companion, but only as it was due. He fays, it

was about a fortnight before the 1000/. Was paid,

that I told him no more would be paid. Upon
fome Queftions put to him by me, he faid, he afked

for another 1000/. on account of Mrs. Cbitty's

Children : But that after I had told him, no more

than the firft mention'd 1000/.would be paid,which

was a fortnight before it was paid, he afked it no

A View, which I hope your LordPnips will think

very innocent and commendable, whether likely to

be fuccefsful or riot. And this was fo much the

Intent of my defiling the mafters to come together,

that tho' that icoo/. v/as the immediate Occafion,

that difcover'd the EfFefts to be then ali gone, and
fo might naturally be mentioned, and I doubt not

biit it was, I do not yet refriember that I perfua-

ded the mailers to pay it ; Nor does Mr. Lovi-

bond remember it ; and Mr. Holfcrd's Exprefilofi

was (if I took him right) only, that he ap-

more ; and deny'd that he apply'd for the Pay- prehended it was mentioned as if the mafters

ment of 500/. or 574 /. after I had promis'd the fhould contribute to make up that 1000/. How-
1000 /.

My Lords,

prove that I paid this money to conceal Dormer's

Deficiency ; for he fays I told him before, that

all this, fuppofing it true, does not

Dormer's EfFefts were all gone and at the

ever, my Lords that was not the End which I aimed
at and mentioned ; and upon the whole Evidence

all agree, that the DifcOurfe about the 1000/. was
foon over, and ended with my faying, That I Would
take, or had taken Care of it. Mr. Lightboun fays,

Time when I made the Promife of that money, he is not fure which of the two Expreffions I made
I told him no more of her money would be paid, ufe of. And even Mr. Tho. Bennett fays, that when
And is it rightly collected from this Action, I had faid fo, nothing was afterwards faid of that,

without farther Proof, that my Intention in paying but of Dormer's Deficiency ; and then came in the

this money, was to conceal the very thing, which I Difcourfe of the Parliament. Mr. Holford repre-

at the fame Time exprejly publifhed? fents if, that after fome Difcourfe of the 1000/,

But, my Lords, it is fully proved on my Part by I fpoke of Dormer's Deficiency ; and particularly

yir.Cottingham and Mr. Elphinflone, that this 1000 /. of the mifchief, which was what Mr. Edwards had

was advanced out of a generous Companion, and

not out of any by-end : That his Application was
founded on this, that he was to marry Mrs. Chitty,

a little before faid, that fome had had all, and others

none (which would not at all be cured by Pay-

ment of this 1000/.) and that then I mentioned,

and was to have this 1000 /. to pay a Compofition that that might make great Clamour, and pofTibly

for his Debts; that I had fent him word of the De- occafion a Parliamentary Enquiry: Where if it

ficiency, and that he could not have the money ; were refolved that buying thofe Places was againft

fo the great Secret was out: But that he after- the Statute of jEi.VI.it might afteft me in the Dif-

wards appear'd in the utmoft Diftrefs and Agony, pofal of the Places, and the mafters in the Enjoy-

in Danger of laying violent Hands on himfelf, and ment of their Places : He fays feveral things were

defperate : This Diftrefs moved me ; I told him, I propofed, but nothing agreed on. One Propofal

would order the money to be paid out of Companion was, whether if the mafters were continued on the

to him ; he afterwards fpoke of it with the utmoft fame Foot they had been, it would not be worth

Acknowledgment: I told him this, and gave the their while to contribute?

Order accordingly on Monday, and it was paid the The mafters have not had fo good memories in

Thurfday following, which was the 30th of July ; this Cafe as I hoped. But Mr. Lovibond does

fwear,
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fwear, that all or the greateft Part did then agree,

that if their Offices were eftablifh'd, as they had

been for forty Years, they would make an annual

Contribution towards Dormer's Deficiency. And
he heard no body fay otherwife, only he himfelf

(he fays) did not agree to it.

So that it appears upon the whole, that what I

faid was not with Intent to fupply a prefent Pur-

for High Crimes and Mifdemeanors. 725
of it

;
if I had known to a Farthing what Dormer's

Deficiency would be ; I could not as aJudge found
an Order upon my own private Knowledge, but
muft make it in the fame manner as iff had
known nothing at all ; and accordingly that Order
is worded in the fame manner, as it muft have been,
if I had never heard ofDormer's Failure before.

Befides, it had been then talked, that JVilfon
pofe, as is charged ; for I had declared to them, had not dealt fairly in his Compofition ; and if la
I had taken care of that, or would take care of it. and if he were worth it, the Suitors ipight recover
And if I could, by fetting fuch an Example, or by near 22,000 /. more againft him. A matter ex-

tremely proper for the mafter to enquire into.any Arguments I could ufe, induce them to contri-

bute by Payments, as they could be fpared out of

the Profits of their Offices, to make good the whole

Deficiency, or if not all, yet to make good the

Proportion of thofe who had had no part of Dor-

mer's Effects, I fee no harm ; and I am fure there

was no Fraud in it. It is to conceal it and pre-

vent Clamour or Inquiry about it, only by paying

it; which would leave no Room or Occafion for

Clamour or Inquiry ; or if they could not pay the

"Whole, by paying the Proportion which any one

could be intitled to.

And this Propofal, to have it paid by Annual

Payments out of the feveral Offices, did not tend

to raife the Price of them, but on the contrary by

laying a Burden upon them, would greatly dimi-

nifh their Value.

Whether the Defign I had, or the Arguments

I ufed, were prudent, or difcreet, or proper, I

fubmit to your Lordfhips Judgment ; but the Ar-

guments were not ufed for the Purpofes in the

Article, but for the Benefit of the Suitors of the

Court.

But to give this fome appearance of a Crime,

they are forced to attribute it to criminal Views

and Defigns, of which they have made no Proof, nor

fhewn any Probability, fcarce Poffibility, that they would be moft for the good and benefit of theSui-

XVII. As to the 17th Article, which relates to
Orders for payment of monies depofited with
Dormer ; which Mr. Edwards (as is charged) was
directed by me to pay, without regard to that Pro-
portion, which ought to have been obferved in a
defective Fund.

They have read four Orders made by me, and
no more, three of them in one Caufe ; and only
one of them directs the whole money to be paid
out. I faid in my Anfwer, that I did not know
that I had made any other Order than that of
Chitty ; but believed the Court might have made
others ; which gave occafion, it feems, to fome of
the Gentlemen to wonder at the Diftinction be-

tween me and the Court. My meaning was, that

fuch Orders might have been made by the Court
in my abfence, for ought appeared ; that is, by the

mafter of the Rolls and Judges, with others in

Commiffion for hearing of Caufes.

But as, to what was done by me ; the proper

Anfwer to this Article, the true one, and 1 hope
a fatisfactory one, is, that I acted fo as I thought

tors. I fully believed all along, that the Whole
would be made good, to which I contributed all I

could ; and I acted accordingly. If I was mifta-

ken, I hope it is no Crime.

XVIII. As to the 1 8 th Article, three

Were the Principles of this Action.

I might farther obferve, that the paying the

1000/. and leaving the 500/. (which in the very

fame Order is directed to be paid to the Plaintiff)

unpaid, and the 574 /.demanded by Mr.Lockman,

unpaid; would not at all hinder the Deficiency

from breaking out.

As to the Expreffion charged in the End of the are charged upon me in this Article.

Article, to be ufed by me, I agree, I ufed one

Very near it ; but with other Expreffions along with

it (which the Witnefs in effect owns) that fhew,

I could not poffibly have any ill Defign in it; nor

could any Inconvenience enfue upon it. No Que-

ftion had till that time been laid before the Court

relating to Dormer's Deficiency : Chitty's was only

an Application for Favour, for a Sum then parti-

cularly wanted, becaufe there were at that time no

Effects; and was paid by me out of Compaffion ;

there was no Queftion of Right about it to be de-

cided, as was here, when the Difpute was, who
was to bear the Lofs, if any, and could be de-

termined only upon Circumftances. I at the

fame time was fo far from endeavouring to have

it believed, that there was no Deficiency in Dor-

mer's Office, or that I knew not of it, that I

declared a great deal, which I knew about that

matter.

As to what they object, that the Order is drawn

up in fuch a manner as implies (as they fay) my

Neglects

Not taking proper care of the Securities

lodged with the mafters.

Not taking Security for the Cafh.

Not taking the mafters Accounts.

mitting

There is another thing expreffed, which is per-

and incouraging the mafters to traffick

with the Suitors money and Effects. But that I

apprehend means only, that the not taking due

care to hinder them, is permitting and incoura-

ging them. So that it does not make a diftinct

Branch of the Article ; but is only a fuppofed Con-

fequence of the reft.

As to the Securities and Cafh, what I am char-

ged to have omitted doing, was never done be-

being wholly ignorant of the matter, by directing fore by my Predecefibrs, nordefircd then of me by

an Enquiry whether there was likely to be any De- the Suitors. And, therefore I fuppofe, there is a

ficiency or not

:

particular Reafon afilgned why it ihould have been

Give me leave to fay, that if I had known more done by me, tho' not before ; and that is Mr. Dor-

mer'i
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to me about it, Mr. Lightboun and Mr. Kynajlon.

Mr. Holford the 3d fays, He never was once with
me about it, only he liked fome things which
Mr. Lightboun told him he propofed.

mer's Failure, which is charged to have been chiefly

occafion'd by his taking upon himfelf unduely to

difpofe and employ the money and Effects of the

Suitors in his hands. And this the Article char-

ges that I knew.

My Lords, as to this particular Reafon : To add

a new Duty to my Office from it, and to lay me

under an Obligation to do that, which my Pre-

deceffors were not obliged to; it ought to be

clearly made out that the Fact is true, that this

was the Caufe of Dormer's Failure ; that I knew

it to be fo; and that thereby it became my Du-

ty, unalked by the Parties interefted, to make

the new Provifion expected. But there is no

Proof that Dormer did unduely difpofe of or em-

ploy the money and Effects of the Suitors in his

hands ; much lefs is it proved, that I ever knew

it, or had the leaft reafon to fulpect it; but the

contrary.

The Account Mr. Parkhursl gave of whatpaffed

at the time of Dormer's going off, was this (which

was reprefented to me, and never fhew'd to be

falfe) That Mr. Dormer, who was his Uncle, in-

formed him, that having happened to receive a

greater Sum than ordinary out of the Exchequer,

and going into the Country in the Long Vacation

1720, he knew not where to leave it fafer than

with Mr. Wilfon, an eminent Banker ; and he left it

with him to the value of 24,000/; that upon his

return to Town, he found Mr. Wilfon ftopt pay-

ment ; and that therefore he would withdraw him-

felf, for fear of a Goal ; that accordingly he v/ent

into Holland, and wrote a Letter from Rotterdam

to Mr. Parkhursl, with one inclofed, to be fhewn

to the matters, and fent to me or Mr. Cottingham ; he

gave fome account of the Letter, that it fet forth

the Cafe to the effect above ; and the Draught

thereof is in the hands of the managers, which

they might produce, if they thought proper. This

I took to be the true State of the Cafe ; and ne-

ver heard any thing to the contrary (except Mr.

Lightboun's Gueffes, founded on no Fact, but on

the greatnefs of the Sum, which this accounts for

another way) till December lafr, when I was told,

that Wilfon pretended, he borrowed it of Mr. Dor-

mer at an high Intereft ; but as this appears to be

fpoke in excufe of himfelf, an After-thought at

four Years diftance is little to be regarded, and

hov/ever, if it were true, ought not to affect me,

to whom it was never difclofed. But according

to this that I have ftated above, which was cer-

tainly the truth of the Cafe, or however what ap-

peared to me ; Dormers Failure was not occafioned

by his undue difpofing of or employing the money
and Effects ; but it was a Misfortune owing to the

Tear 1720, and Circumftances peculiar to that

Time ; fo not likely to happen again. On Dr.

Eddifbury's Failure there appeared no Accident,

but his own ill Conduct : Yet no Change was

made by the Lord Chancellor, as to the Effects,

or Cafh, or giving Security.

But it was urged, that tho' this had not been de-

fired of me by the Suitors, it had been propofed

to me by the mailers themfelves

:

And three of the mafters were called to prove

this. But only two of them pretend to have fpoke

Mr. Lightboun s whole Evidence, taken all to-
gether, clearly proves what I fet forth in my An-
fwer; that I had in view three things. 1. The
making good Dormer's Deficiency. 2. Settling the
mafters in their juft Rights. 3. Securing the
Suitors from future Accidents. The iff was the
Principal, and always uppermoft with me. The 2d
was plainly neceffary, in order to that. The 3d
for fecuring the Suitors from future Accidents of
that kind, I was likewife very defirous of; bur,
I own, at that time, while I thought the mafters
then in being Perfons of Ability and Subftance,
and he gave me no reafon to think otherwife, I

apprehended there was no need of any extraordinary
Expedition in it.

As to making good the Deficiency ; It appears,
that at the time of Mr. Lightboun's Propofal, the
mafters were all willing to contribute ; only Mr.
Lightboun flood out ; and his Reafon, which in his
Examination to the 1 6th Article he fays, he upon
one Occafion mentioned to me as fufficient, was, that
it would be a Precedent for his paying other Debts
of other mafters. And upon his Examination ta
this Article, he fays, that he told me in difcourfe
on that Subject, that as Dormer's Accident had hap-
pened, the like might again ; and fo often, that it

could not be fupported; and afterwards, that if

any thing could be done to make good Dormer's De-
ficiency, and put things upon a fecure Bottom, he
would b>e as ready to contribute as any body. He
then gives an account of the Propofals he made,
which he fays, I defiredhim to reduce intoWriting
for my Confideration, which he did ; the Copy
of it was produced and read, and I have the Let-
ter itfeif here in my hand ; and there only, I

apprehend, is to be found the Propofal which is

to affect me, and not that which he now from
his memory mentions to be the Propofal, but
differs from the Writing in feveral things ; which
not being in the Letter, if he had mentioned them
curforily in that Difcourfe, I muft have looked

upon them as what upon farther Confideration he
did not think proper.

My Lords, The occafion of the Propofal was
my fpeaking to him about contributing to Dor-

mer's Deficiency ; and both that and the Propo-

fal itfeif fhew, that it was really no more, than

laying before me the Terms upon which he would
contribute.

In thofe Terms, the principal thing infilled

upon by him was, that the money fhould be con-

tinued to be brought before the mafters ; which,

I apprehend, had then been a little broken in upon

:

Which is expreffed in thefeWords,fhewing the Im-

probability, that a Fact objected fhould happen,
" if (as his words are) the money be directed as

" ufual to be brought before the mafters, both
" by your Lordfhip and the mafter of the Rolls;

" without which the mafters cannot think them-

" felves much interefted in the Event of Mr. Dor-
" merV Affair ."

The
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The other thing he infifted upon was, that he

fhould be fecure from being expofed to the

like Inconvenience, by failure of another matter ;

and therefore what he propofes, in relation to fe-

curing the Effects, is not a thing propofed to be

done of itfelf, feparately, but in company with

the other Regulations.

That part that relates to the Rights of the

matters, was afterwards prefTed farther, as it was

apprehended they were more broken in upon

;

and produced the Reprefentation of the matters,

which Mr. Lightboun the other day mentioned to

your Lord/hips.

And this hkewife explains feveral parts of his

Evidence : It explains what he fays, that he

prefled me fo often to do fomething, and thought

that to be Irrefolution, which was indeed my
Caution to proceed upon fure grounds, in doing

a thing, which, if not perfectly well founded,

might have the Appearance of being contrived on

purpofe to advance, or keep up the Profits of the

Offices of the matters. It explains his Apprehen-

fion, that if I did not do it, it would not be done

by my Succeflbr, unlefs the Seal fhould come into

the Hands of a noble Lord, whom he named. It

fhews, that what he prefled, was not fo much
for the matters to give Security, or to make up
Dormer's Deficiency, and retrieve the Honour of

the Court, as to have Orders made, for the Be-

nefit of the matters •, which I thought ought to

go together.

For it wanted no Refolution in me, or in any

other Chancellor, to make Orders upon the

matters, to fecure the Effects of the Suitors in

their Hands •, had that been the thing prefled,

and efpecially if, as is pretended, they them-

felves defired it. But it might require Refolu-

tion to fupport the matters againft the Claims

of an honourable Perfon, with whom they then

had a Difpute.

This View of this matter will make your

Lordttiips confider it in a different light from
what the managers have endeavoured to fet it

in ; and that my Slownefs did not proceed from

my concern for the keeping up of the matters

Offices, but from my Caution not to be too preci-

pitate in advancing them.

And had I taken the meafures defired, and

made Orders to prevent the matter of the Rolls

from directing, in his Decrees, the money to be

brought before the Ufher, and from referring Ir-

regularities to the fix Clerks ; and to fettle in their

favour the other matters in difpute (tho' I will do

them the Juftice to declare, that I do, fo far as I

have feen of it, think the matters in the right

therein) yet I am apprehenfive, that at firft fight

it would have been matter of Complaint againft

me, as a contrivance to advance the Offices of the

mafters ; and that the Schemes propofed by Mr.
Lightboun for giving the Security he reprefents as

fufficient, would not have been thought a Ballance

to it.

Having faid this, give me leave to weigh the

Propofals.

And firft, his Propofals for providing for Dor-

mer''-, Deficiency.

The way of doing it, which he propofes, is

this : Having ftated, in the firft page of the

Letter, what he takes to have been the occafion

of this great Deficiency, he goes on, " which I

" hope may be provided for, and the Credit of
*' the Court retrieved and fupported by every

Vol. VI.
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" matter advancing 2000/. or fuch other Sum
" as fhall be agreed on, out of the Catti of the
" Court in his Hands ; which being placed out
" at Intereft, the yearly Income thereof, toge-
" ther with the Produce of Mr. Dormer's Eftate,
" will anfwer the Demands that may be expe-
" died on his Succeflbr, and will in due time
" make good the Debt upon the Office.

But as to this, I thought it both impractica-
ble and infufficient ; and I told him, and he very
fairly owns it in his Evidence, that I could not
make an Order of that kind ; becaufe it would
indeed be ordering one man's money to be put
out at Intereft, to pay another's Debt.

His next Propofal relates to the Securities*

lodged in the hands of the mafters, which he
thought of the greateft Confequence •, becaufe, as

he now fays, he told me that Dormer's Accident
came by trafficking with Securities; which he
inferred from a Suppofition that there was not
then fo much Cafh in his hands. This Fact is

contrary to the Reprefentation made as above to

me, and the Suppofition, with refpecf. to the

quantity of Cafh, is obviated by his having juft

received a great Sum out of the Exchequer.
And your Lordfhips have heard from the Report
to the Lords of the Committee of Council, that

the mafters have brought in all their Securities j

fo that what Mr. Lightboun thought the greateft

Danger, has proved to be none at all,

However, to prevent that, which he thought
the greateft danger, he propofes the taking all

Government Securities for the future, in the

Names of two or more mafters ; his Words are

in page the 2d. " Having before obferved from
" whence this great Deficiency arofe, I fubmit
" it to your Lordfhip, Whether the taking all

" Government Securities for the future, in the

" Name of two or more mafters, may not pre-

" vent the like misfortune hereafter.
' : He fays

now, that he propofed them to be taken in

the Names of fome mafters, and of a third Per-

fon ; but that is not mentioned in the Letter,

nor does Mr. Holford mention it in his Evi^

dence.

As to this Propofal, he has now fworn, as the

Truth is, that I ftarted a Difficulty upon that

head, by objecting that this would not anfwer all

Cafes, particularly with refpect to the Eaft-India

and South-Sea Bonds, by reafon that they are pay-

able to the Bearer. And his Anfwer was, That

there was no neceffity of taking thefe Securities ;

fuch might be taken as are transferable in the

Books of the Companies.

On confulting others upon this, I found, that

as to Eaft-India and South-Sea Bonds, wholly to

difallow the taking thofe Securities would be

hard. Many People choofe them, becaufe there

is little variation in the Price, only fometimes a

few Shillings higher or lower ; whereas in Annui-

ties, and much more in other Stock, the fall of

the Price, by the time the money was to be paid

out, might eat up the Intereft and more. That

there would be a difficulty to difpofe of thofe at

that time in the hands of the mafters ; probably

the Owners would not confent ; it had been

their choice, that had determined the laying out

of the money upon thofe Bonds ; that to fend

them to the market all together would occa-

fion a fall of the Price, and a great lofs, which

would raife a Clamour, and give great Diffatis-

faction.

7 D I
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I thought thefe feveral things had great neceffary, and yet trifled in it ; and thofe that

Weight, and deferved molt ferious' Confidera- were willing to find fault, would fay, it was done

tion. I then thought of locking up thefe Bonds only to amufe the Suitors, and lull them into a

in Chefts, with two Locks, one to be kept by falfe Security.

the matter, to whom they belonged, and the

other by the next matter after him, and to

take the other fecurities in the Name of two

matters.

Bat I was told by Perfons of great weight,

that that was but two matters inftead of one,

and would not be fatisfactory : And Ihould I

join more of them, it would occafion more trou-

ble, and pofiibly more charge ; but they were

ttill matters.

At laft I refolved to take the Securities (other

than the Bonds) in the Names of two matters,

and a third Perfon to be named by the Parties.

But ttill I ftuck at the Bonds, and was never fet

right in that, till it was too late. But I have

now learned, which neither I nor Mr. Lightboun,

as your Lordfliips may obferve by his Evidence,

had fkill enough to know, that they might be

indorfed to two matters and a third Perfon, and

fo the Property be fixed in them ; which, had I

afterwards continued Chancellor, I was determi-

ned to have put in Practice.

As to the Cafh, how that might be made fe-

cure, his whole Propofal is contained in thefe

Words, in the fecond Page :
" The Depofit to

*' be put out at Intereft, to raife a Fund for the

" Payment of Mr. Dormer's, Debt, together with
" our Office, would in a great meafure be a
*• Security for the Cafh, with which we fhould
" then only be intrufted. " By the Depofit he

means that of 2000 /. or fuch other Sum as fhould

be agreed upon, as -I before read to your Lord-

fhips.

This is the Nature of his Propofal, with rela-

tion to the Security for the Cafh •, which I ap-

prehend mutt appear to be neither practicable, as

I obferved before, nor fatisfactory. And had I

built upon this, and made a Regulation accord-

ingly, I was very apprehenfive thofe that were
before difTatisfied, would call it trifling.

He then takes notice of the money being

lodged with the matters very effectually, tho'

it is by way of anfwer to an Objection, that

every matter may not always have fuch a Sum
in his Hand -, to which he anfwers : " I will ven-
" ture to fay, it's fcarce poffible that can happen,
*'

if the money be directed as ufual by your Lordfloip any in view) was the fame : So that

*' and the Mafter of the Rolls." And then he adds their Propofal, what fhould hinder

Se-And till I could adjuft the matter of the

curities lodged with them, particularly the Eafl-

India and South -Sea Bonds, no Security, that

it would be practicable for the matters to give,

would bear any Proportion to what was in their

hands, when it fhould be 50, 60, or 80 thoufand
Pounds.

But if I could contrive to make all the Se-
curities fafe, and reduce the Cafh into a nar-

rower Compafs* by making Orders for putting

out the money of courfe, whenever, through
neglect of the Parties, or otherwife, it fhould

happen to lie beyond fuch a time ; then a Secu-

rity might be given by the matters to anfwer
it.

But, as I told your Lordfliips, the Eaft-India

and South-Sea Bonds were too hard for me, till

the matter was before the Committee of Coun-
cil-; and had the matters behaved themfelves,

as I expected they would in the matter of
their Accounts, I then intended to have laid my
Thoughts before the Council, and to have had
their Authority and Sanction for putting them
in Practice.

The other Propofal fuppofed to be made to

me, is fpoke to by Mr. Kynafton, and him only.

And though he fays all, or moft of the matters,

agreed to it, and thereupon he waited upon me
about it •, I do not find that any of the reft

know any thing of it. I obferved, that neither

Mr. Lightboun nor Mr. Holford (both produced to.

this Article) are examined to this great mat-

ter, upon which the matters are faid to be a-

greed ; nor is any other mafter called to it, tho'

his Account of it is fo very imperfect, and ftands

in need of being explained, as well as fupport-

ed. As to the Securities,- it reaches not aty;

the Bonds are left under the fame difficulty

as before. And as to the Cafh, he mentions no
Sum or Value in which the Security was to be

given.

But, my Lords, upon the whole, both from

what Mr. Kynqfton and Mr. Lightboun fay, it is

plain they were confulting their own Intereft,

to keep the Office free from Incumbrances

:

And their Intereft and mine (if I could have

if it was
me from a-

(to fhew the Strefs laid upon this) " without
" which the mafiers cannot think themfelves much
" interefted in the Event of Mr. Dormer 3

^ affair"
And fays in the 3d Page :

" If I have the hap-
" pinefs to have offered any thing thought pra-
" cticable by your Lordfhip, when I have the
*' Honour to be admitted to wait upon you, I

" hope to fatisfy your Lordfhip^ that I fhall with
*' Pleafure contribute, as becomes me, to facili-

*' tate any Undertaking of this kind.'*

I think this proves what I faid in the begin-

ning ; and I fubmit it to your Lordfliips, whether
I am criminal in not complying with thefe Pro-
pofals.

My Lords, I have told your Lordfliips feveral

thoughts I had about the Securities. Give me
leave to mention fomething of my thoughts, with

relation to the Cafh.

I thought to take a fmall Security would only

Ihtw that I was convinced that a Security was

greeing thought it infuffi-to it , but that I

cient ?

The third ti^ig charged in this Article is,

That I did not take the matters Accounts, that

is, Accounts of what Effects of the Suitors they

had in their hands.

My Lords, It is true, this was proved to

be done by my Lord Cowper at his Entrance

into his Office , both the firft -and fecond

time ; it was done by another noble Lord,

as has been proved at your Lordfliips Bar

,

once, and I believe it was done by that Lord
oftner.

My Lords, Had I taken their Accounts too,

I doubt in me it would not have had the fame

approbation, as it had in thofe noble Lords.

In my Cafe it would have been afked, What
care I had taken to be fure that the Accounts

delivered me by the mafters were true ? Whe-
ther I had feen the Securities and Cafh ? And

what
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what Satisfaction I had, that they were able to

make them good ? I mould, perhaps, have been

told, that without that, the bare taking of an

Account was of no ufe. And thefe Enquiries

were of fuch a Nature, that if they were to. be

purfued effectually and with exactnefs, I own I

had not ftrength to go through them.

72p
But is there at lad, any Deficiency made out

to be in thefe matters, by which the Suitors are
to be Sufferers ?

Nor did I think the taking Accounts from the

matters neceffary, becaufe I do ftill take the

Liberty to fay, I was fully perfuaded, all the

matters were good and honeft men ; and if they

were not, I do not fee it would be of any ufe to

take fuch Accounts. For I would be glad to

know, whether if I had taken an Account yearly

from every matter, he would have been one half-

penny richer or poorer, or at all more able to pay

the Suitors ?

Obj. It is faid indeed, that all thefe were wil-

ful Omiffions ; and for fear the Price of Places

ihould be funk.

Refp. But of that there is not the leaft Proof.

And the Circumftances of the Cafe above fet

forth, I hope, give a much more natural account

of it. And the Difficulty what to do in fuch

a cafe cannot be expreffed by any Words I

can make ufe of, fo ftrongly as by what has

patted, fmce I order'd the money and effects to

be locked up, and lodged at the Bank, which

were intended (and fo the Order of the 17 De-

cember expreffes it) to continue there only till

the Affair could be more maturely confidered,

and a proper Provifion made for the Security of

the Suitors. Five months are now elapfed, and

nothing has been yet done : Tho' the Suitors

fuffer vaft Inconvenience. For, in order to get

any money from thence, there mutt be a Matter,

and a Six-Clerk, and two Directors, and a Cer-

tificate from the Regifter, which occafions fo

great an Expence, that in the cafe of fmall

Sums, People do not think it worth their while

to go for them to the Bank, but choofe to be

without their Interett rather than come at it

through fo many Difficulties. And if the Lords

Commifiioners, three of them, fuch great men,

have found this matter too difficult to fettle to

their Satisfaction •, is it a Crime in me, that I

was not able to difcover a method for making
things eafy and fecure ?

This Article is clofed with the great Deficien-

cies that have happened with regard to the Effects

of the Suitors.

But, my Lords, give me leave to fay, if that

Deficiency have not happened by any fault of

mine •, if thofe misfortunes, which have befallen

fome of the matters, be not owing to any

Crime in me ; no part of all that is charged in

this Article, ought in Juftice to lie at my door.

As I have obferved before, the great danger,

which was at firft apprehended, and fo often

talked of by Mr. Lightboun, related only to the

Securities, which the matters had in their hands

;

but that which happened related to the money
only. And tho' this Accident fell out, whilft I

had the Great Seal, yet it might as well have

happened in my Predeceffor's time, fince nothing

that I have done has given the leaft occafion to

it,

Mr. Thompfon has been called as a Witnefs to
prove thefe Deficiencies ; but he has only
fhewn an Eftimate of Borret's Deficiency, and
that fome of the prefent matters had not paid
in their Ballances at fuch a time ; and how
much the farther Sums they were to pay a-
mounted to.

But have the Suitors therefore loft the money ?

No, my Lords, that does not appear j but on
the contrary,

Mr. Conway, one of them, and whom they
have themfelves produced as a Wicnefs, has fworn,
that he has afligned an Eltate fufficient to pay all

his Deficiency.

One of the managers was pleafed to own that

he meant by Deficiencies, the money not yet paid
in, nay the money not paid in at the time of ma-
king the Orders ready ; and did admit, that fince

thofe Orders, there had been Satisfaction or Se-
curity for the molt part.

But, my Lords, it is the Lofs of the Suitors,

that alone can give ground to complain.

The Order concerning Mr. Tho. Bennet men-
tions his Deficiency to be only 7500/. and 1575/.
reprefented by him to be in the hands of his

Predeceflbr and me.

The latter Sum of 1575/. is brought into

Court. And we have fhewn that Mr. Hiccoeks,

his Predeceffor, has petitioned, that he may
pay in the 7500 /. which is the whole De-
ficiency. And here appears a confiderable E-
ftate, of I think 750 I. per am. of Mr. Bennefs

befides.

Mr. Kynafton's Deficiency is reprefented to

have been before Chriftmas 26,908 /. 11^. 3 d. |

;

arifing all, but what he faid was in my hands,

and the hands of Mr. Rogers his Predeceflbr, only

hence, that his Cafhier was dead inteftate, and

Adminiitration difputed ; and fo he could not

come at the money.

There is paid in by me 1575 /.

There is offered to be paid 7
by Mr. Rogers, and will > 6000
be paid — —

.

3
A Debt from Mr. Delahay,

^
which he fwears a juft/ 20,850

one, is affigned — J

* ^

In all 28,425

And the Deficiency being"?
2 ^ g

computed at — j
11 3i

This exceeds it in the Sum of 1 5

1

6

And he has an Eftate of between four and five

hundred Pounds a Year, and Timber of the Va-

lue of 2500/. to make good any part that may

not be got from Delakafs Eftate, tho* his Ef-

fects
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fe<ts are in one of the Reports mentioned to have

been then found to be in London alone above

.20,000/. And I have heard that the Lords

Commifiioners have ordered them to be brought

into Chancery, and that 1 6 or 1 8 thoufand Pounds

are actually brought in.

The Trial of Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, 10 G. I.

What is faid to be Mr. Borret's Deficiency, is

the foot of an Account, which the Report that

reprefents it, and Mr. Thompfon

fay could not be properly taken.

in his Evidence,

And when fully examined into* there may

come out to be no lofs there neither. Mr. God-

frey fwears Mr. Barrel to have been in good Cir- " willing

cumflances when admitted •, to have an Eftate ;

to have fold an Office for, I think, 5000 /. upon

the occafion of his coming in malter ; to have

lived with fmall Expence, his Wife's Father main-

taining his Family. And, as he enjoyed the Of-

fice four Years, there can be no great Deficiency,

and probably will be none at all.

But, my Lords, it is extremely hard upon me,

if by their producing an uncertain Eftimate, I am
to be obliged to ftate the Accounts of one, who
is dead, whofe Adminiftrator is Sollicitor againft

me, without their fearching into his Papers and

Affairs, and giving a perfect Account how they

fland. It is exceeding hard, give me leave to

fay, that your Lordfhips mould be judging up-

on me as criminal, from Facts of this kind,, to

which I am an intire Stranger, when there is no-

thing like Proof, that there will be a Farthing De-

ficiency at laft, but only that the money is not

yet come in.

I beg leave to obferve one thing more, That

the Mailers, that are now called the deficient

matters,- are not one of them
though it is made an Article againft me, that I

did not commit Mr. Dormer, who was in Hol-

land. Therefore, fince they are at Liberty, it

muft be taken for granted, that the Lords Com-
miffioners had good Reafon not to commit them ;

and yet their Deficiency, which is not a Crime

in them, fufficient to juftify the committing

them , is to be made a Crime in me, fuffi -

cient to fupport a Charge of High Crimes and

mifdemeanors. Your Lordfhips fee how far this

ought to affect me ; and I fubmit, upon what I

have faid, whether it can fupport the Charge in

this Article.

" and Encouragement to the faid matters to af-

" fift and fupply each other with money and ef-
" fects, and did reprefent to the laid matters,

"that it would be for their Honour and Service,
" to appear able and fufficient ; and that if they
" made a bold Stand now, it might prevent a
" Parliamentary Enquiry, or to that Effect ; and
" did perfuade feveral of them to make falfe

" Representations of their Circumftances to his
" Majefty, by adding a Subfcription to their re-

" fpective Accounts deliver*d to the faid Earl, to
" be laid before his Majefty, to the Effect follow-
" ing, viz. That they were able to anfwer the
" money and Securities in their Hands, and were

to pay the fame to fuch Pcrfons as
" were entitled thereunto ; although the faid
" Earl knew, or had good Reafon to believe, that
" feveral of the mafters were not then able to
" anfwer the Ballance of their Accounts, nor are
" they yet able to fatisfy or make good the
tc fame 5 and when the faid mafters were after-

" wards required to produce the Cafh and Ef-
" feels of the Suitors in their Hands, fome of
" the mafters, according to fuch Advice and
M Encouragement given by the faid Earl, did
" fupply others of them with Cafh and Effects,

" to make a falfe Shew and Appearance of their

" Ability and Readinefs to anfwer the Ballance of
" their Accounts.'*

My Lords, the two things, which are made
the Heads of the Charge in this Article, relate to

the Subfcriptions of fome of the mafters writ-

ten under their Accounts ; that they were able

to make good the Ballances ; and their after-

wards producing Cafh, to make a falfe Shew
of their Ability. As to the

that the material Part of the

perfitaded them to make falfe

Cuftody ; Reprefent'ations of their Circumftances by a Subfcri-

ption which I knewi or bad good Reafon to believe,

was falfe.

and Appearance

firft ; I take it,

Charge is, that I

As there is not the leaft Proof offered that I

knew or had reafon to believe the Subfcription

falfe, this Charge I think intirdy falls to the

Ground.

Article, which relates

taking the Accounts :

XIX. As to the 19th

to what was done about

It charges,

" That whereas his moft facred Majefty, out

" of his Fatherly Goodnefs to his People, did in

" or about the month of November laft, direct

" an Enquiry to be made into the Accounts of

Upon the Proof attempted to be made, I

think it appears,' that when Mr. Holford brought

in his Account, purfuant to my Order, he (with-

out my knowing any thing of it) had wrote a

Subfcription at the End of it, to this Effect : " I

*' have all thefe Securities ftanding in my Name,
" as in this Account is fpecify'd, and will pro-
*' cure Certificates from the proper Offices, that

" I have and had them before this Account, if

" your Lordfhip require it, and as to the money,
" I am ready to give your Lordfhip Satifaction

" to a Demonstration, that I have it in my Power
" to anfwer it to every Perfon, that fhall appear

the mafters of the faid Court of Chancery, " to be intitled to it, and who can give me a legal

to the Intent that proper methods might be " Difcharge."

taken for the Security of the Suitors of the They fay, I read it, and fpoke of it with Ap-
faid Court ; the faid Thomas Earl of Macclef- probation. .

''field, being then Lord Chancellor of Great-

" Britain, and one of his Majefty 's moft Honou

«

rable Privy Council, in order to obftruct the

fame, and to prevent a Parliamentary Enquiry

into the State and Condition of the Offices

of the faid mafters, in Breach of the feveral

great Trufts repofed in him, did give Advice

There were only Part of the Mafters ready

with their Accounts •, and Mr. Lovibond was the

next, that delivered me his, and he had wrote

to the fame Effect in Subftance -, only as to the

Cafh, he wrote that he was ready to give Secu-

rity.

My
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My Lords, Every Body knows that he was

able to anfwer it ; and he iwears he had it ready,

and was able to have paid it the next Day ; and

he appears to have lent 10,000 /. to a Brother

Mailer on that Occafion. I was therefore fur-

prized to fee

which looked as

money. And upon that it was, that he fays, I

recommended to him to make ufe of the fame

Exprefiion, as had already been ufed by Mr. Hol-

ford; and fo accordingly he did.

Thomas Bennet had fubfcribed, before he came,

thus, " I have all the Securities ftanding in my
*' Name as in the within Account are fpecified,

«' as alfo the Tallies, Orders, and Bonds in my
*« Cuftody ;

" but had faid nothing of the money:

He fwears, that I faid, I wifhed all would make

ufe of the fame Form as Mr. Holford had done :

And that it would be for their Honour and Ser-

vice to appear able and fufficient. He fays, that

Mr. Lightboun, as I remember, afked what was

the meaning of bringing it before the Com-
mittee? and that I faid, it would be a means to

prevent a Parliamentary Enquiry ; that I did not

afk him whether he was able, but directed him

for High Crimes and Mi/demeanor s. 73 1

who made Sub-So that of the fix mailers
fcriptions, [ fpoke only to five.

Three of them have proved themfelves able;
and I believe no body doubts it.

Mr. Thomas Bennet made no Objection, or Dif-
him make ufe of an Exprefiion, ficulty, and has been curious not to let his exceed

if he were not able to pay the the Truth.

Mr. Kynafton, has voluntarily gone beyond
what I defired. And I make no Quedion but
he thought himfelf able to anfwer it, though I
doubt his being ready.

But is there the lead Evidence offered, that I

knew Mr. Kynafton and Mr. Thomas Bennet were
not able, or had Reafon to believe or fufpect
it? No, on the contrary, Mr. Lovibond, their own
Witnefs, who is one of the matters, and conver-
fant among them, told your Lordfhips upon
his Oath, that by their Gonverfation he be-
lieved they were able to make good their Ac-
counts.

In the mean time, your Lordfhips obferve, that
thefe deficient maders had all their Securities

ready, and voluntarily fubfcribed fo to their Ac-
counts, without my fpeaking to them. In. which
Point Mr. Lightboun, under the lad Article,

to wrke -; I fuppofe he means by the general Di- thought there was the mod Danger
rection ; for I do not apprehend he fays, that I

fpoke it to him in particular : And it is not pre-

tended, that he made the lead Scruple of figning

it as true, or expreffed any Backwardnefs in it •,

and he in Effect owns he did not. But he in-

forms your Lordfhips how extremely tender. he appear that they were able, &c
was, not to write any thing but what was drictly

true; and that therefore, in his Subfcription, he

took Care to leave out the Words to a Demon-

firation, which are in Mr. Holford's. And Mr.

Holford's Subfcription running, " And as to the

*' Money, I am ready to give your Lord/hip Satis-

« faction TOA DEMONSTRATION that 1 have ]y thought him;
*' it in my Power to anfwer it to every Perfon that Shew ?

" fhall appear to be intitled to it, &c." Mr. Ben-

net could not come quite up to this ; but he

fubferibes, " And as to the money, I am ready to

" give your Lord/hip Satisfaction, that I am able to

** anfwer it to every Perfon that is intitled thereto?'

This therefore, that he has fubfcribed, is, I fuppofe,

if he is to be credited, exactly true : And if fo, I

have not perfuaded him to make afalfe Subfcrip-

tion.

Mr. Kynafton fays, it was recommended to them
by me to make fuch a Subfcription as Mr. Hol-

ford's ; that I faid, it would look well to the

As to the Words, That it would be for their

Honour or Service to appear able and fuffi-

cient ;

I will not be pofitive as to the Words,
whether it were to appear able, &e; or to make it

In a fair Con-
is the fame as thedruction, the Senfe of the fird

!atter.

When Mr. Holford fubferibes, That he is able

to pay to every Perfon, who fhall appear to be in-

titled ; or, if I fhould fay, Mr. Thomas Bennet ap-

pears not fo fair or able a Man, as I former-

does it import only a falfe

As for what is faid ofpreventing a Parliamentary

Enquiry

;

Mr. Thomas Bennet reprefents it to be fpoke in

Anfwer to the Quedion, What was the meaning
of bringing it before the Committee ? And fays,

my Anfwer was, That it would prevent a Parlia-

mentary Enquiry.

If I faid it, the Reafon is obvious, and the

Thing innocent.

It is notorious, that the lad Summer there

a great Clamour againd maders in Chan-
which was heightned by fome Difputes

was

eery,

Council, and prevent farther Enquiry or Parlia- they caufed in the Court of Chancery ; that it

mentary Enquiry,

knows not which
or fome other Enquiry, he

, fo he comply'd. But, my
Lords, his Subfcription is not what I recom-

mended. Mr. Holford only undertakes to fhew
he had it in his Power to anfwer the money, &c.
that is, that he either had the money, or Effects,

which being difpofed of, would raife it. But
Mr. Kynafton goes farther, he

to pay it to the Perfons intitled.

was generally believed, that it would come into

Parliament; and I am perfuaded it would have
come into Parliament fomething fboner, if the

Committee of Council had not taken this matter

into Confideration.

I am likewife perfuaded, that had the maders
all been able to make good the money in their

fays, I am ready Hands, and proved that they were fo ; and that

they had behaved themfelves well ; and that the

Mr. Lightboun heard nothing fpoken of the Lords of the Committee, after finding their Ac-
Subfcriprion ; he went away to finifh his Accounts,

which were not compleat.

Mr. John Bennet was not there ; but at his

coming, being told what I had faid to the others,

he, without Scruple, fubfcribed, without my
fpeaking to him.

Mr. Edwards fays he was able to pay it.

Mr. Lovibond was called lad; but I before gave been nothing die in it. And it was natural for

an Account what he faid. me to think, that nothing would more tend to

Vol. VI. 7 E make

counts right, had proceeded to advife proper

Regulations, the matter would never have come
into Parliament with Refpect to them, whatever

it might as to me.

And as to them, I believe, they were not de-

firous to have the matter in Parliament, becaufe

of the vaft Trouble it mud give them, had there
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make them eafy, in complying with what the

Committee mould think fit, than by letting them

know, that if it gave them Trouble in one refpect,

it would eafe them more in another.

And fo far I thought it for the King's Service,

and my Duty, to haften the Accounts before the

Council, and to ufe all means I could to have

things carried on with Speed and Effect ; that

fuch members of Parliament, as had their Eyes

on this Affair, might plainly fee that proper mea-

fures were effectually carrying on by the Lords ;

fo that there would be no Occafion to take up

fome of them perhaps commendable, into fo many
Crimes.

And yet it is very extraordinary, and fcarce

poffible to be conceived, but that if there had been
fuch a corrupt Heart, it muft have broke out
upon fome other Occafion of my Life. Not one
inftance of my whole Life has been yet produced
to fhew it.

Several of thofe under me have been exa-
mined ; feveral Officers immediately attendant

on me, that received confiderable Profits and Sa-
laries, to the amount of Three or Four Thoufand

this Affair in Parliament, or for the Legislature Pounds per Annum, and more; If I had fet my
to interpofe.

But as to my own Share, I freely own I had

not the leaft Apprehenfion of what has fince be-

fallen me.

I was fo far from obftrudting the taking thefe

Accounts, that Mr. Holford has informed your

Lordfhips, that when the firft Order was fuch,

as would require a very long Time to be com-

plied with, I prefied them not to make ufe of

that as an Excufe for Delay, but to bring in an

Account of their prefent Ballances, and to let

the Lords know the Reafon, and then to afk Time
for more perfect Accounts, if fuch fhould be re-

quired ; which were not.

As to their making afalfe Shew of C&(hpurfuant

to my Advice and Encouragement,

They have not offered a Word of Proof of

any Thing faid or done by me, or by my Order,

concerning any Part of that whole Affair ; if they

had, I am fure, whatever had appeared to be

done by me, would at the fame Time have

Heart upon Gain, a certain Profit might have
been there yearly made, amongft thofe whom I

had wholly at mercy, and in private. But there

has no Appearance been found of any thing of
that Kind : And is it not more likely that I

fhould have laid hold of a certain Profit, than
be laying Schemes for Advantages upon the un-
certain Contingency of the Sales of Mailers Of-
fices ?

The Value of fuch an Expectation is a mere
Trifle ; and with Refpect to the Probability of
its happening, it was exceeding uncertain whe-
ther I fhould have an Opportunity of putting in

one fingle mafter.

Three mafters have happened to die in my
Time; and two of thofe in lefs than the Space of

a Year : But I think not one in nine Years before.

My Lord Cowper admitted but one in the lafl

Time of his being Chancellor, which was four

Years ; and that was upon a Surrender.

There are 24 Curfitors ; only one has died in

appeared not capable of the Conflruction in the my Time : 30 Commiffioners of Bankrupts ; only

Article.

But inflead of that they have given a confuted

uncertain Account of fomething, that paffed be-

tween Mr. Cottingham ~z.vA the matters; but never

called Mr. Cottingham to bring it Home to me,

nor any way fhewn that I knew any thing of it,

either before or after. Nor do I really under-

ftand it at lafl. I do not apprehend that Mr.
Cottingham advifed them to'furnifh one another

with money, but upon good Security ; nor did

they do it. Nor do I fee, what harm it is, if a

mafter, having Occafion for money, borrows ' it

of another mafter, upon good Security.

The only Perfon that they feem to fix any Fraud

upon, is Mr. Conway, and, which appears very

odd, only by his own Evidence; and yet he

feems I to juftify himfelf too.

But if not ; there is no Proof, nor Ground of

one died in above fix Years,

Surrenders of the Offices of mafters are rarely

till after 16 or 17 Years, fometimes 30 or 40
Years Enjoyment.

My Life was very uncertain : The Office of

Chancellor much more fo.

Little therefore was to be hoped from the Pro-

fit to be made by mafters Places.

My Lords, in the next Place, I apprehend, that

it appears I did not take the Advantage I might

have taken.

When the Time came for me to reap the

Fruit of all my Contrivances, all thofe Schemes

and Stratagems, the Work of above three Years,

(a great Space in the Time of a Chancellor) fee,

whether there be the leaft mark or Symptom of

this impotent Defire of Gain !

What I did proves, beyond all Contradiction,

Sufpicion, that I was any way privy to it, or af- that I never had any fuch Views, as thefe they lay

fiftirig in it, or that I had any the leaft Share to my Charge
whatfoever in it

And therefore I am not Guilty.

XX, XXI. On the 20th and 21ft nothing has

been offered.

My Lords, I have now gone through all the

feveral Articles, that have been endeavoured to be

fuppor'ied againft me; and I think I may fay as

I did in the Beginning, that except thofe relating

to the Difpofal of Places, which are of another

Kind and another Confideration, all the reft muft,

I took not the Advantage I might have done

;

I took a lefs Sum, when a greater was offered

;

and Part of the money was returned again to Mr.

Elde and Mr. Thurfton. And when Mr. Thurfton's

money was returned, only for being more than it;

was expected to be, every thing was in the fame

State as when it was paid.

And poffibly your Lordfhips will think, from

fome other Evidence given, that amaffing a great

Eftate was never my View ; and that rapacious

to be made criminal, turn upon that Aggravation and bafe Ways of getting money are not. confiftent

in the Articles, from my inordinate, wicked, and with my Way of laying it out.

corrupt Dejigns of procuring to myfelf exceffive and As this is a full Anfwer to the Charge of my
exorbitant Gains and Profits by divers unjusl and Defire of Gain ; and the whole Malignity of all I
oppreffive Praclices after mentioned. am charged with arifes from that fuppofed Prin-

It is fuch a corrupt Heart only can change ciple of my Actions ; without this, though there

Actions, that in themfelves - are innocent, and fhould have been Imprudence, Indolence, too

£reat
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great Confidence, perhaps Credulity, Irrefolution, This High Jurifdiftion may be exercifed for

or any other Defect or Weaknefs, there has been the Prefervation of the Rights of the Lords and
nothing wicked.

_ _

Commons, againft the Attempts of Powerful Evil
And, if your Lordfhips are fatisfied of this one Minifters, who depend upon the Favour of the

Thing, I apprehend the Sting of this Impeach- Crown ;

ment is taken out. Or, it may be put in Execution for the Eafe
My Lords, Having thus gone through all my and Relief of a good Prince, whofe Honour

Obfervations, it may poffibly be expected I fhould has been betray'd by a corrupt Servant ; and yet,

clofe them with offering fomething in General : whofe Clemency makes him unwilling to punifh

;

But I think it properer to forbear. fo that it becomes neceffary for his faithful Com-
I am not confcious to myfelf, that it is necef- mons to take into their Care the proiecution offuch

fary in this Cafe to apply to the Paffions ; which an Offender.

is a common Artifice to aflift a weak Defence. If Former Reigns have fupply'd your Journals

I have done any publick or private Good (of with many Examples of the firft Kind,

which laft fome Specimen has been laid before The prefent Reign produces an Inftance of the

your Lordfhips) it will, I am confident, have its latter Sort, wherein the Commons bring before

full Weight. your Lordfhips in Judgment a Peer offending,

I fubmit my whole Life and Conduct to your with the greateft Ingratitude, againft a moft juft,

Lordfhips Judgment ; and rely entirely upon your and moft merciful Sovereign.

Juftice for my Acquittal. For, the King's Royal Munificence beftowed
upon this Earl, in the moft abundant meafure,

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I am not going to could not exempt the Inferior Officers from his

make any Obfervations upon this Speech ; neither Exactions, nor protect the Suitors and their Pro-

did I interrupt the Lord in making it. But one perties in the King's own Court of Chancery,

thing I am to fay for Form Sake : We produced The general Crime charged upon the Earl,

to your Lordfhips a Copy of a Letter writ from in Five of thefe Articles, is Extortion by Colour of

Mr. Lightboun to my Lord, he hath now read the his Authority as Lord Chancellor.

Original Letter ; I defire that the Original may be The Offence alledged in the other two Arti-

delivered into Court, that we may have the Per- cles, is grofs and wilful Negligence in his Office, to

ufal of it. the great Damage and Lofs of the Suitors of the

Court, but to his own private Gain and Advantage.

The particular Exactions are his taking One
Hundred and Five Pounds from Mr. Thomas Bennet,

for accepting the Refignation of the Office of

Clerk of the Cuftodies in the Court of Chancery,

in order to obtain a New Grant to Mr. Hugh
Hamerjley, and procuring the fame to pafs the

Great Seal accordingly.

His exacting Fifteen Hundred Guineas from Mr.'

Kynafton, for the admitting him to be a mafter

of the Court of' Chancery, upon the Refignation

of Mr. Rogers.

His exacting the like Sum of Fifteen Hundred

Guineas from Mr. Thomas Bennet, for the admitting

him to be a Mafter of the fame Court, upon the

Surrender of Mr. Hiccocks.

His exacting the Sum of Five Thoufand Guineas

from Mr. Elde, for the admitting him to be a

E. of Macclesfield. I believe the Gentleman is

perfectly in the Right of it. It is here.

The Houfe adjourned to Friday

Morning next, at Ten a-Clock.

Friday May 21, 1725. The Tenth Day.

THE Lords being feated in their Houfe, the

Serjeant at Arms made Proclamation for

Silence : As alfo the other Proclamation, That all

Perfons concerned were to take Notice, that Tho-

mas Earl ofMacclesfield now flood upon his Trial,

and they might come forth in order to make good
the Charge.

Ld. Ch. Juf. King. Gentlemen of the Houfe
of Commons you may proceed.

Mr. Serj.Pengelly. My Lords, The Part affign'd

to me in this Impeachment againft the Earl of

Macclesfield, is to reply to his Defence upon the Mafter of the fame Court, upon the Death of Mr.
Fifth, Sixth, Seventh, Eighth, Ninth, Eleventh, Fellowes.

and Twelfth Articles.

Before I enter into the particular Examination

of the Objections made againft the Charge of

the Commons contained in thefe Articles, and

of the matters alledged, either in Juftification,

His exacting the like Sum of Five Thoufand Gui*

neas from Mr. Thurfton, for the admitting him to

be a Mafter of the fame Court, upon the Death

of Mr. Borret.

The laft Article relating to Mr. Thurfton is

or Excufe of the Lord Impeached ; I fhall take charged with this Aggravation, That the former

the Liberty of obferving, Mafter was Dead Infolvent, greatly indebted to the

That your Lordfhips are now exercifing a Suitors of the Court ; and that the Earl did not fe-

Power of Judicature, referved in the original Frame cure ajujl Satisfaction to the Suitors.

of the Englifh Conftitution, for the Punifhment And the Exaction of the One Hundred and Five

of Offences of a publick Nature, which may affect Pounds from Mr. Thomas Bennet, is alledg'd to be

the Nation ; as well in Inftances, where the Infe- done when the Earl was one of' the Lords Jufticfs.

rior Courts have no Power to punifh the Crimes Thefe Mifdemeanors, as well as all the other

committed by the ordinary Rules of Juftice ; Offences, of which the Earl is now accufed, were

as in Cafes within the Jurifdiction of the

Courts of Weftminfter-Hall, where the Perfon

offending is, by his Degree, raifed above the

Apprehenfion of Danger, from a Profecution

carried on in the more ufual Courfe of Juftice ;

and v/hofe exalted Station requires the united

Accufation of all the Commons of Great-Britain, King's Bench •, bccauie the Commons have not

by their Reprefentatives in Parliament. produced any mifbehaviour in the Execution

of

committed by him whilfr he executed the Office

of Lord Chancellor.

From whence the Earl and his Counfel take

Occafion to make a Triumph upon the fuppofed

Juftice and Regularity of his Adminiftration and^

Conduct, when he prefided in the Court of
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bf that Office wherewith to furnifh out an Ar-

ticle againft him.

This may be an Inftance of the Lenity of the

Commons, but it is no Proof of the Earl's Inno-

cence ; who beft knowing his own Behaviour, de-

clines to abide the Examination of his Actions

during the fix Years of his Continuance in the

Office of Lord Chancellor ;

But flies to a Sanctuary for Indemnity and Dis-

charge ; which Shews; that the Earl efteem'd

himfelf more fecure under Shelter, than upon a

Juftification of his Conduct.

And the Succefs of the Commons, in the very

ftrong and full Evidence, which they have laid

before your Lordfhips in maintenance of thofe

Articles, upon which they have proceeded, leaves

very little Reafon to imagine that they would

have failM in their Proof, if they had extended

their Inquiry into his former Life, or had enter'd

into the reft of the Articles.

And after the ftrict and long Examination of

Witneffies, which has entertain'd your Lordfhips

for fo many Days, I may venture to fay, that the

Confiftency and Uniformity of the Proof given

in Support of the Accufation of the Commons,
upon fo many different Heads, are Sufficient to

convince all the World of the Neceffity, which

there was, for the Honour of the King, and the

Welfare and Satisfaction of the Nation, to carry

On the prefent Profecution ;

And, I hope, have already fully Satisfied your

Lordfhips of the Truth and Juftice of the Com-
mons Impeachment.

But as there have been feveral Objections made
on the Behalf of the Earl impeach'd, as well to

the Foundation of the Charge itfelf, and to the

Event and ConSequence of it, as to the Suffici-

ency of the Evidence of the Facts alledged ; it

will be neceflary for me to give an Anfwer to thefe

Objections, and to maintain the Charge in thefe

Refpefts ;' which I Shall proceed to do by Shewing,

that the Impeachment is wellfounded, and that the

Faffs in the Articles before Stated have been plainly

and fully prov'd.

•The Earl himfelf began with infilling, That
his General Oath of Office has no Relation to

the Offences charg'd ; and that no Inference can

be made . to his Prejudice from the Tenor of that

Oath.

But the Earl's Remembrance, or Explanation

of his Oath, is very defective; he has fet it out at

large in his Anfwer, and thereby he Swears, that

He will well and truly ferve the King and his People

in the Office of Chancellor, and do Right after the

Laws and Ufages of this Realm ; which compre-

hends the Observation of every thing, which is

Part of the Duty of, or incident to his Office,

And the avoiding of every illegal and unjuft

Action in the Execution of it.

And the Omiffion of any Part of his Duty, or

the Commiffion of any Offence againft. the Duty
of his Office, is a Breach of this Oath of Office,

altho' the Particulars are not enumerated in the

Oath ; and the contrary Opinion will open a Door
to the Commiffion of all manner of Injuftice and.

Rapine by Civil Officers.

The Earl likewife relies upon . it, That the

whole Charge turns upon his wicked and corrupt

Intent and Views alledg'd in the Introduction,

which (as he Says) have not been made appear

;

But theSe will be apparent Srom the Proof of

she feveral Facts charg'd s which, if they are un-

Earl of Macclesfield, io G. I.

lawful and unwarrantable, and do tend to the

raifing .money by corrupt and extorfive meaSures,
will manifeft that Intent, and prove it as Strongly

as if he had declared his Defigns in open Court -,

for Such Acts cannot be done with a good and
honeft Intention.

The main Objection againft the Article is,

That there is no matter of a Criminal Nature
contained in the money Articles; or if there is

a Crime, yet that there is no PuniShment annexed
or incident to it, which your Lordfhips can now
inflict upon the Earl, after he is removed from his

Office.

In anSwer to which I fhall infift That,
The Earl's Selling theSe Offices, or diSpofing

of them for money taken by him before the

Admiffion of the Succeeding Officers in the

manner alledged and prov'd, is an Offence at

the Common Law, and punifhable by Fine
and Imprifonment, upon Indictment or Infor-

mation ; as well, where the money was taken

for an Admiffion upon a Refignation, as upon a
Death.

To make out this, it muft be confider'd, That
The King having the executive Power, or

the Administration of Ordinary Juftice, lodged
in Him, is in ConSequence obliged to provide

and appoint capable and Sufficient Officers, necef-

fary for the due Execution of Juftice, in his

feveral Courts, for the Benefit of His Subjects :

His Coronation Oath proves this.

And accordingly the Crown has always paid

the Salaries or Fees of the Lord Chancellor,

and other principal Officers of Juftice, and alfo

of many inferior minifters, out of the Royal Re-
venue; and other Subordinate minifters were

maintain'd by the chief Officer, to the End
that the Subject fhould not be expofed to Exaction

or Oppreffion, under Pretence of any Demand
of Fees or Reward by the minifters of publick

Juftice for the Execution of their Offices;

which is the Source of all that Corruption,

which at any Time Springs up in the Courts of

Juftice.

The Antient Law
of England was, that Stat.JVeftm. I. cap. io.

none having any Of- J. 3. Ed. 1.

fice concerning the Co. z. Infi. ij6, 209, 210.

Adminiftrationofju- Co. 3. Infi. 145, 147, 148.

ftice, Should take a-

ny Fee or Reward of any Subject for the doing of

his Office, to the End he might be free and at

Liberty to do Juftice.

And feveral Charters of former Kings,, and

Statutes declaratory of the common Law in

that Refpect, have been made to inforce the due

Obfervation thereof, as,
r

Stat.JVeftm. j. 3 Ed. L c.26. 20 Ed. III. c. 1.

My Lord Coke, 3

Infi. 146. fays, the Co. 2. Infi. 74, 176, 205,

,2q Ed. III. c, i, is 210.

only a Command-
ment of 'the, King; and that there is no Record

of any Such Act in any Parliament Roll, and yet

neceflary, to be printed, becauSe the 4/^ Chap-

ter of this Parliament refers to the Pains contained

in it.

Yet, if it be only the King's Charter, it is 3
Declaration of the Common Law at that Time*
but it is printed in Old Raflal's Edition of Sta-

tutes, Fol. 89, and in all the reft of the printed

Statutes.

20 Ed.UI.
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Co. 3. Infi. 224, 225.

Co. 3. Inft. 146. cap. 68.

of Bribery, Extortion, &c.

20 £i. III. cap. 6. and more particularly the aft of
11 H. IV. Rot. Pari. Num. 28. by which it is

ena&ed,

I
Tern, £>ue null Chanceller, Treforer, Gar-

dein de Prive Seal, Counfeller du Roy, *
fe->

rementezaCounfeilduRoy, ne nullautre Officer,

Judge, ne Miniftre du Roy, prenant Fees ou

Gages de Roy, pur lour ditz Offices ou Services

preigne en null Menere en 'Temps avenir afcun

Manere de Done ou Brocage de nully pour lour

ditz Offices et Services, a faire fur Peyn de re-

fpondre a Roy de la Treble de ceo que iffi preig-

nont, et de fatisfier la Partie et punys al Vo-

luntes de Roy, et foit difchargez de fon Office,

Service, & Counfeil pur toutz jours, &c.

I
Tern, That no Chancellor (this High Officer is

mentioned in the firft Place by Name)
Treafurer, Keeper of the Privy Seal, Councelkr of
the King, *fwom of the King's Council, nor no o-

ther Officer, Judge, nor Minifler of the King, receiv-

ing Fees or Wages of the King for their faid Offices

or Services, take in no manner in Time to come, any
manner of Gift or Brocage of any Perfon for doing

their faid Offices and Services, upon Pain to anfwer
to the King the Treble of what they fo take, and
to fatisfy the Party, and to be punijFd at the

King's Pleafure, andjhall be difcharg'dfrom his Of-
fice, Service, and Counfelfor ever, &c.

* iV. B. The Printed Books have miftaken this Word.

This Statue is enter'd on the Parliament Roll

of that Year, amongft the Records in the Tower

;

it is not indeed enter'd on the Statute Roll : But

the Parliament Roll is the Original, and is the

Warrant for the Statute Roll, and is therefore of

greater Authority.

In the Margin of the Roll is enter'd thus,

•viz.

Refpe5fuatur per Dominum Principem cs
5

Confilium.

For which Reafon my Lord Coke fays it was

never printed in the Book of Statutes, of which

he highly complains ; and therefore has recited

it at large, and caufed it to be printed in his

3d Inf. Fol. 146. c. 68. of Bribery, Extortion, Sec.

and c. 10 1. of Judgments and Executions, Fol.

224, 225. which is one of the firft Books rela-

ting to the Crown Law, read by the Students of

the Lav/, and was thus published by that great

Man, to imprefs an early Abhorrence of every

'thing which may tend to Enaction and Extortion ;

and muft have often come under the Confideration

of the impeach'd Lord.

Thefe Statutes have indeed been opened, and

alter'd by fubfequent Statutes, as to feveral infe-

rior Officers ; and fome fmall Fees have been an-

ciently allow'd, and permitted in particular Ca-

fes ; but it has been

Co. 2. Fnfi. 74, 209, 210. obferv'd, that from

fuch Indulgences ma-
ny OpprefTions of the People have enfued.

But the Common Law, and the feveral Acl:s of

Parliament before mention'd, do not only ftill

remain in Force, with refpedl to the Lord Chan-

cellor, but have been confirmed and inforced by

other Statutes.

And the Great Charter of our Liberties, Ma-
gna Charta, c. 29. Co. 2. Inft. 55, 56. does im-

ply this,

Nulli vendemus Juftitiam aut ReSium ;

which according to my Lord Coke's Comment,
Is fpoken in the Perfon of the King, who in Law

is prefent in his own Courts of Juftice, and repeat-

ing thefe Words, which (fays He) extend to the

End, vjhich is Juftice, and to the Mean, where-

by Juftice may be attained, which is the Law ;

or, as it muft he u: d~rftocd, the Adminiftration

of the Law by the Officers of Juftice; unlefs

' Vol. VI.

it can be fuppofed, that the Statute provides a-

gainft the lefier Evil, but allows the greater Mif-
chief ; that it prohibits the Sale of a particular

Decree or Order, which may be right and juft in

itfelf;

But leaves the King's fuperior Officer at Li-

berty to fell the whole Body of the Suitors of
the Court in the Grofs, to the Exaction and Op-
preffion of the under Officers, in the Fees which
they fhall demand againft Law and Right.

So that if the Earl impeach'd had exempli-

fied this Rule of my Lord Coke in the Court of

Chancery, where he immediately reprefented the

King's Royal Perfon ; and once in a Term fitting

in Court between his Mailers, who paid for their

Places out cf the Suitors Effects, had repeated to

the Suitors this glorious Declaration,

Nulli Vcndeinas Juftitiam

;

He muft have made a very incenfiftent Figure, in

the Opinion of the meaneft Capacity.

It will then be plain, That as to fuch Offices,

which are in the immediate Gift and Difpofal of

the Crown, they cannot in their own Nature be

faleable, or difpofed of for money ; becaufe the

King himfclf cannot be fuppofed to fuffer them

to be put to Sale.

And the Minifters of the Crown, who have no

immediate Right in the Office, and are only to

execute and confirm the King's Pleafure in the

Difpofal of the Office, cannot fell that which is

not their own •,

Nor ought, or can they lawfully take any Fee

or Reward, for accepting Resignations, or mak-

ing new Grants, or Admiffions into Places, or for

conferring inferior Offices, with which they are

intrufted by Virtue of their own Office ; which

would be the taking money for the doing of their

Office, contrary to the Law, and the before men-

tioned Statute.

But there is another very good Acl: of Parlia-

ment, which has been read at your Lordfhip's

Table, and proves this Practice of felling fuch

Offices, to be an Offence at the Common Law,

viz.

12 Rich. II. c. 2.

Co. 1. Inft. 134. a. Intituled, None ftmll

Co. 3. Inft. 145, 147, 148. obtain Offices by Suit

or for Reward.

Item, // is accorded, that the Chancellor (by

7 F exprefs
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exprefs Name) Treafurer, Keeper of the Privy

Seal, Steward of the King's Houfe, the King's Cham-

berlain, Clerk of the Rolls ; the Jujlices of the one

Bench, and of the other ; Barons of the Exchequer,

and all other that Jhall be called to ordain, name,

or make Jujlices of the Peace, Sheriffs, Efcheators,

Cuftomers, Comptrollers, or any other Officer or Mi-

nifler of the King, fhall be firmly fworn, That they

/hall not ordain, name, or make any fitch Officers,

nor other Officer or Minifler of the King for any fuperior Officer by

Gift or Brocage, Favour or Affeclion.

The Act proceeds farther in a different Form
of Expreffion, and to another matter :

Nor, that none which purfueth by him, or any o-

iher, privily or openly, to be in any manner of Of-

fice, Jhall be put in the fame Office, or any other \

but that they make all fuch Officers and Minifler

s

of the beft and moft lawful Men.

The Earl apprehended the Strefs of this Sta-

tute, and how much it preffed upon him ; and

therefore has endeavoured to diftinguifh him-

felf, not only out of the Oath, but out of the

intire Act, by objecting, that this Statute, and

the Oath therein directed, only extend to fuch

Nominations as are made in the Nature of Electi-

ons, by an AfTembly of all thefe great Officers

So that this latter Part of the Statute ought to

be obferv'd ; but the Officer is not required to be
fworn to the Obfervation of it.

This Statute takes it for granted, that the

contrary Practice of naming fubordinate Offi-

cers for Gift or Brokage was unlawful before,

at the Common Law ; fince it does not create

or enact it to be an Offence, but provides an
additional Con (train t or Obligation upon the

an Oath, not to commit
the Offence ; and it ftill remains an Offence at

the Common Law, and don't depend on that

Statute, but is a great Offence, altho' the Oath
be not taken.

This Statute

general Words,

and Minifters, when they are called together for in Chancery:

contains the moft extenfive and
and mentions Officers of many

Sorts, and different Degrees, as well high as

low, relating to the Peace, publick Juftice, and
the Revenue ; and that no Officer, of any Kind
whatfoever, in the King's Service, nam'd or

ordain'd by the great Officers of State, might
efcape or be omitted, the Act concludes the De-
fcription with thefe Words ; Or any other Officer

or Minifler of the King ;

And therein manifeftly comprehends both thefe

Offices of Clerk of the Cuflodies, and of Mafters

are

by
by

the

For this Statute refers to Officers who
only nam'd or recommended to the King
the Chancellor, &c. and yet are conftituted

the King's Letters Patents, as Jujlices of

Peace, and Sheriffs, whereby the ufurped Fee for

Recommendation is declared illegal ; and alfo

to other Officers, who are immediately confti-

tuted and appointed by the chief Officers, by
Authority deriv'd from the King, and by vir-

tue of the Truft in them repofed for the King's

Honour and Service, and for the Benefit of his

public meeting, which is Sheriff; and all the reft People, as Efcheators and others ; and thereby the

that End ; which Word (together) is of his own
inferting, to ferve his Purpofe ; as in the Cafe of

Sheriffs, and not to their fingle and feparate No-
mination of Officers, in Right of their refpective

Offices by themfelves.

This is the Earl's own Objection, and not of

his Counfel, and will (if allow'd) expound away
the whole Act, in all the exprefs Inftances men-
tioned in the Statute, fave one

;

For there is but one Officer named in the

Act, who is nominated thus in an AfTembly or

are ordain'd, and made by the great Officers fe-

parately, in their own Right ; as Jujlices of Peace

by the Chancellor ; and Efcheators, Cufiomers, and
Comptrollers by the Lord Treafurer.

And the reft of the Words of the Act, viz. Or
any other Officer or Minifler of the King, will be

totally expunged by this nice Interpretation.

But the Words plainly mean, that every one of

thefe Officers, who by virtue of his Office fhall

be call'd (not call'd together) by Command of the

Crown, or in Execution of his Office, to name or

make any inferior Officer, fhall be fworn ; for

they never are all call'd together, unlefs on the

Nomination of Sheriffs.

other pretended Fee for Nomination is con-

demned.

Sheriffs and Efcheators named in the Act, are

Officers relating to the Adminiftration and Exe-
cution of Juftice ; and Efcheators more efpeciaily,

to Inquifitions touching Idiots and Lunaticks,

and the Commiffions and Proceedings thereon ;

which is the chief Part of the Truft and Office

granted by the Letters Patents to Mr. Hamcrf-

ley, as Clerk of the Custodies, and which was re-

figned by Mr. Thomas Bennet -, and it will ap-

pear by the Patent itfelf, that this Office in the

Court of Chancery, has a very near Relation

to the Office of Efcheator ; and the Grant very

The Earl, for more Security, and for the fake fully defcribes the Nature and Antiquity of this

of better Company, objects farther ; That the Office.

Argument from this Act and the Oath will go And as to the Nature and Antiquity of the

too far ; for then they are fworn not to prefer any Offices of Mafters in Chancery, they appear fully

who make Suit or Application for any Office. from the Oath taken by every Mafter upon his

But that is no Part of the Oath -, and they are Admiffion, which is of the fame Import and Ef-

only fworn fo far as the Statute extends it, which feet, in many things, with the Oath taken by the

is to the former Part ; and this Claufe in the Con- Lord Chancellor himfelf, viz.

clufion of the Act is only directory, and introdu-

ces a new Inftruction to the great Officers, but

does not carry on the Purport of the Oath ; for

the Words are, It is Accorded, that the Chancel-

lor, &c. (in the Affirmative) Jhall be fworn, that

they fhall not name, &c. and the Sentence which
follows is a new Claufe, beginning with a Ne-
gative, viz. Nor, that none which purfueth, &c.
Jhall be put into any Office, &c. and refers to

To ferve the King and his People, and to coun-

fel the things that toucheth the King ; to prevent

the Difheritance of the King, or Fraud to his Peo-

ple ; and not to difclcfe the Counfel which he {hall

give touching the King ; and to redrefs Damage

or Fraud in the keeping the Great Seal, and to

advife the Chancellor thereof, &rV.

And alfo from the ancient Commiffions pro-

duced and read, giving the Mafters Authority,

the Perfon applying, and not to the Officer ap- by the Name and Defcription of Mafters cf the

pointing. Court, to hear Caufes, and make Decrees (in like

3 manner
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manner as the Judges Affiftants) in the Abfence

of the Chancellor ; and to punifh Contempts, and

to do other like Acts of Jurifdiction ; and like-

wife from the actual Exercife of their Offices in

making Reports, and Taxation of Cofts, and the

manner thereof prov'd by fome of the mailers

(and not contradicted) as that a Subpana iffues im- cial Authority,

mediately upon the mailer's Taxation of Cofts, Thefe Comm (lions

without any Order or Confirmation of the Lord

Chancellor ; that their Reports in other Inftances

turn'd into Decrees of Court, if not alter'd

7 17
and that in the Commiffion 9 Oil. 4 Ed. VI. four
of the Matters only were in Commiffion ; and
when they are in Commiffion, that they have no
Authority to aft without the Prefence of the Maf-
ter of the Rolls, or one of the Judges ; and there-
fore thefe Commiffions did not give them a judi-

are

upon Exceptions, and from many Authorities in

the Lav/ Books.

By all which it is evident, that the Offices of

Mafiers in Chancery are judicial Offices, or Offices

as well as the Office of
a Mafier, fubfifling fo anciently, fhew, that They
were to be taken Notice of, and comprehended
within the Statutes made to prevent the Sale of

Offices of Jujtice ; and of late Times they have all

been put into the Commiffion, as appears by the

late Commiffions granted to the prefent Mailers,
fince the Earl had the Cuftody of the Great Seal^

which partake of a judicial Authority and Nature; and produced at the Table ; and (without entring

and do touch and concern the Adminiflration and

Execution of Juftice in that Court ; and that the

Mafiers are affociated for that Purpofe to the Lord

Chancellor, as alledged in the Articles.

But upon this Occafion it will be proper to

recite more particularly the Authority of the Sta-

tute of

A. 13 Edri. I. call'd Wettm. 2. cap. 24. Et
quotiefcunque de catero evenerit in Cancellaria, quod*

in uno cafu reperitur breve, 6? in confimili cafu ca-

dente fub eodem jure, & Jimili indigente Remedio non

reperitur ; concordent Clerici de Cancellaria in brevi

faciendo, vel atterminent querentes in proximum Par*

liamentum, &c. & de confenfu jurifperitorum fiat

breve, ne contingat de catero quod curia Domini Re-

gis deficiat conquerentibus in Jufiitia perquirenda.

Co. 2. Infi. 405, 407. Thofe here called Cle-

rici, were at this Time, and before, called Ma-
giftri Cancellaria, and were affociated to the Lord
Chancellor ; of whom Fleta faith,

into the Difpute between the Mafier of the Rolls,

and the Matters in Chancery, touching Jurifdiction,

wherein the Earl, in his Defence, has declared,

he thought the Mafiers were in the Right) the

Judges themfelves in thefe Commiffions are only

authorifed to hear Caufes, and make Decrees, with
the Prefence and Concurrence of two Matters ; fo

that the Authority under this Commiffion is not

lefs of a judicial Nature, from the Number of
Perfons neceffary to make a Court •, no more than

it can be argued from the fame Reafon, that the

Judges in that Commiffion are not judicial Offi-

cers, becaufe they cannot make a Decree without

two Mafiers.

And altho' the Commiffion is not properly in-

cident to the Office of Mafier, as annexed there-

to ; yet as it has always attended upon, and ac-

companied the Office, it proves, that the Mafiers

from the firft ifiuing thefe Commiffions, have

been always invefted with a general judicial Power,

Cui affocientur Clerici honefii &f circumfpetli, Do- if they had not enjoy'd fuch Authority before.

mino Regi jurati, qui in legibus fcf confuetudinibus

Anglicanis notitiam habeant pleniorem, quorum Offi-

cium fit fupplicationes <3? querelas conquerentium

Audire &? Examinare, £s? eis fuper qualitatibus Inju-

riarum ottenfarum, debitum Remedium exhibere per

brevia Regis.

The granting and iffuing the Writ, or firft Pro-

cefs, upon the Prayer of the Plaintiff, or Party

profecuting, is the firft judicial Act of the Court,

upon the Commencement of a Suit.

And this proves ftrongly, that the King by

his Royal Office, confirm'd by this Aft of Par-

liament, did at his own Expence, and not at

the Charge of the Suitor, provide thefe Clerks

or Mafiers, to the End, that no Subject who had

a Right, fhould be without a Remedy in the

King's Courts

;

Ne curia Domini Regis deficiat conquerentibus in

Jufiitia perquirenda.

And the Nomination of thefe Mafiers is only

intruded with the Lord Chancellor, as reprefent-

ing the King, and for the Relief of the Subject.

13 Edri I. Stat. JVefim. 2. cap. 24, 50. Co. 2.

Infi. 407, 486. Co. 1. Infi. 54. b. John Webb's

Cafe 8 Co. 48, 49. Co. 3. Infi. 82.

So that it is a Breach of his Truft, in the Lord
Chancellor, to confer any of thefe Offices for

Gift or Brocage, or to name and appoint unfit

and infufficient Perfons ; fince it is the Duty of

his High Office to provide a Supply of proper

Officers to carry on the due Execution

in that Court.

But it is faid, That it has not been

But it is not neceffary to rely intirely upon

that Point •, for if thefe Officer were- only Minifi

terial, yet they concern the Adminiflration and

Execution of Juftice in the Court of Chancery,

and, as fuch, are under the Regulation of the

like Offices at the Common Law, and are fully

within the Defcription of the Statutes of 12 Ric.

II. and 5 and 6 Ed. VI. And this,

According to the Earl's Opinion, when he en-

deavour'd to terrify the Mafters to contribute to

Mr. Dormer's Deficiency.

And as the Earl impeach'd, in Right of his

Office of Lord Chancellor, was only intruded

with the Nomination of the Mafiers for the Service

of the King, and for the common Benefit of alj

the King's Subjects ; thefe Offices are no more

faleable, or to be difpofed of for money, than if

they had remain'd in the immediate Gift of the

Crown, by Grant under the Great Seal.

It was objected, that Matters in Chancery are

not exprefly'mentioned in the Act of 12 Ric. II.

and that the Statute is a Penal Law, and ought to

be conflrued ftrictly, and ought not to be exten-

ded by Equity to thefe Officers :

But the conftant Rule of Expofition of Statutes

of this Nature contradicts that Affertion ; for,

Statutes made for the Furtherance and Advance-

ment of Juftice, for the Suppreffion of Extortion

and Oppreffion, which (fays the Book) are horri-

ble and odious Crimes, fhall have a benign and fa-

vourable Interpretation

of Juftice Beawfage's Cafe, 10 Co. 101

Co.

conftant] y 5 Co

ufed to put all the Matters into Commiffion,

82.

77-

102. Twine's Cafe,

Gooch's Cafe, 5 Co. 60. Booth's Cafe,

Co. 34-

And

Powlter's Cafe, 1

1
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And upon this Occafion permit me to repeat

the Words of that Great Man, the Lord Coke

:

Extortion is no other

Beawfage's Cafe, 10 Co.

lOI, I02.

ISthan Robbery, but

more odious ; for Rob-

bery is open, and has al-

pofe it to be taken at the Time of his coming into

the Office, which was in May 171 8. and this Oath,
at the fooneft, could not be taken by him till the
November following.

To this I anfwer, That the manner of admi-
niftring this Oath is in the raoft folemn and fipni-

ways the Appearance of Vice ; but Extortion puts on ficanr. Form poflible ; for the repeating an Oath
the Vifage of Truth, and is more difficult to be try'd briefly to obferve the Statute in all Things, or
and difcern'd, and is for the mosl part accompanied containing a fhort Abftract of the Subftance of
with the damnable Vice of Perjury in the breaking it, would not be near fo explicite and directory,

that Oath which theOf- as the reading over aloud, by a proper Officer of
Co. 3. InsJ. 149. ficer took when he was the Court of Exchequer, the Acl of Parliament it-

admitted to his Office ; felf, the Chancellor at the End kiffing the Bible ;

Which proves the Import and Effect of the gene- an Exhortation, which ought to make the deep-

ral and ufual Words in an Oath of Office. eft Imprefllon upon the Confcience of a righteous

And here I can't help taking Notice of the At- Magiftrate, when confirm'd by the Sanction of a

tempt of the Earl Impeach'd, by his own crofs Promiflbry Oath.

And to fay, that it is no Oath of Office, be-

caufe he repeated it Annually, is to contradict

the Act itfelf, which enjoins him to take it as

Chancellor, and in the actual Execution of his Of-
fice , and the Repetition of it Annually, upon
this great Occafion of nominating Sheriff's, de-
monftrates the Opinion of our Anceftors, of the

Importance and Confequence of the Obfervation

of it, for the Service of the King, and the Be-
nefit of his Subjects ; becaufe there can be no
other Time more memorable, or more likely to

engage Attention to it, than in fo publick an Af-

own
Examination of Mr. Eyres, the Officer of the Ex-
chequer, and the Queftions propofed by himfelf

relating to the manner of his being fworn purfu-

ant to the Statute of 12 Ric. II. viz. The Earl

afk'd him,

What was it that you did read ? Did I lay any
thing ? Or what did I do ? Or to that Effect

;

The Officer anfwers, / read over the Statute out

of the Exchequer Book in Old French ; and after I
had read it, I carried the Bible to the Lord Chan-

cellor, &c. who, at the Conclufion, kifs'd the Book,

but he faid or repeated nothing. But this has been

the antient Form, which I have obferv'd for forty fembly proceeding to appoint the Sheriffs of the

Tears, and I believe has been always ufed.

In this Inftance, your Lordfhips faw an En-
deavour of the late Supreme Officer of Juftice to

explain away, or turn to Ridicule, the ftricteft

and moft folemn Tie and Obligation upon his

feveral Counties of the Kingdom, upon whofe
Power, Fidelity, and Juftice in the Execution

of their Offices, not only the Properties, Liber-

ties, and Lives of the Subjects of this Kingdom
fo much depend, but even the Security of His

Confcience and Honour, impofed by Authority Majefty's Perfon in any Time of Danger ; and
of Parliament for* the preventing Corruption; the very Being of the Houfe of Commons, upon the

whereby the Earl did then (tho' fince upon the

Obfervation made by the World of fuch his Be-
haviour, he has a little recollected ) fhew, that

his calling God to Witnefs to his Promife for the

Obfervation of an Act of Parliament made a-

gainft that Vice, deferv'd to be as little confi-

der'd by him, and to have as little Influence upon
his mind,

juft and fair Returns which ought to be made by
Sheriffs, upon the Election of Members to ferve

in Parliament.

Can this Statute then be treated and called ob-

folete, which is thus publickly proclaim'd every

Year, to enforce the more exact Obfervation of

it?

And to fay, That the Articles are confin'd to

As Oaths taken by Traders at a certain Place, fuch Oaths of Office, as were taken by him on his

for their better Accommodation in carrying on a firft Appointment, is an equivocal Interpretation

prohibited or fraudulent Traffick. peculiar to the Anfwer -, for the Articles refer ge-

This is a full Explanation of his Referve in an nerally to all fuch Oaths which have been acculto-

equivocal Anfwer, where he fays, That when he med to be taken by the Lord Chancellor by reafon

took the ufual Oath of Office, he at the fame Time of his Office. And this Oath ought to have been

took the Oaths of Allegiance and Supremacy, but no taken by him upon his firft Appointment, if the

mean-
alledging,

Oath of Office befides that above fet forth

Alrho' he could not but underftand the

ing of the Introduction to the Articles

That he did take fuch other Oaths as have been ac-

customed; and could not but remember his repea-

ted Qbfervations of the Ceremony, at leaft, which
he had annually practifed under this Statute.

But the Earl's Counfel have made it neceffary

to enter farther into this Tranfa&ion, by their

infifting, that here was no Formal Oath prefcrib'd

or taken, no Entry or Regiftry kept of it ; and
that the reading over the Statute is merely an
Admonition or Exhortation by the Officer to the

whole Aflemby.

And the Earl has infilled, That it is not an Oath

of Office, becaufe an Oath of Office (as he ixprefs'd

it) is taken once for all, but this is repeated An-
nually •, and if it is an Oath of Office, yet it is

not particularly charged in the Articles, nor re-

fer'd to in any manner, becaufe the Articles fup-

Ufage of aclminiftring it at this annual Seafon had

not been an Excufe for his poftponing it to that

Time ; and from that Ufage it has follow'd, that

this Oath is not taken by any of the Officers at

any other Time ; but it was the Eari's Duty to

obferve this good and wholfome Law, as well be-

fore his taking this Oath, as afterwards.

And the Earl could not have forgotten tin's his

it was forfolemn Engagement without Defign

mighthis Intereft not to mention it •, and he

flatter himfelf, that the managers would not have

taken notice of it.

And as to the Difference in the Form of admi-

niftring this Oath from the common method, it is

not material ; for the

Co. 3. Lift. 164,165.

ufual Form is not effential.

to the Oath itfelf, it being

fufficient that there is a cal-

ling Almighty God to be a

Witnefs of the Truth of the Eari's Promife, by

his touchirg the Holy Scripture.

But
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But whether the Oath be conftantly or ufually But in Anfwer thereto, it appeared upon the
taken in Practice, or not, it will not alter the Law; Evidence in regard to Mr. Hamerfifs Office of
and the Crime of felling thefe Offices for Gift and Clerk of the Cufiodies, that there beino- no Salary
Brokage ftill remains, notwithftanding the Neglect annexed to the Place, it did belong to

&
the Secre-

of this additional Obligation to refrain from the tary of State to recommend or to'obtain the Si
Commiffion of it. Manual; fo that the Earl's Defire of Gain in this

The Objections made by the Earl and his Coun- Inftance carry'd him beyond the Limits of lus

fel upon this Head, have occafioned this Digreflion. own Office, where he had no Right of Recom-
The next Part of the Earl's Defence is a direct mendation, to raife the poor low s'um of One hun-

Jufiification of the Fa6t of which he is accufed

;

dredandfive Pounds, at the Time when he was
and, not contented to leave it to his Counfel (for One of the Regents ; and thus he join'd his Share
whofe Excufe it might have been faid, that they of the Royal Authority to his Power of Lord Chan-
were willing to try every thing) the Earl himfelf cellar, in order to get and fecure to his own pri-

has infifted upon it, that his taking thefe Sums of vate Ufe fo considerable a Sum as One hundred
money is lawful ; becaufe, as Lord Chancellor, he and five Pounds from an exhaufled Mailer ! A
had a Right of Recommendation of Mr. Hamerfiy, as ftrong Evidence of his corrupt Intent and Views,
an Officer appointed by Patent under the Great This fingle Exaction overturns the whole Fa-
Seal, and alfo the Right of Nomination and Ad- brick of Merit, fuppofed to be raifed by the few
mfiion of the Mafiers, folely in himfelf; and a fcatter'd Inilances of Charity, which he has been
man may difpofe of and difpenfe his own Favour pleafed to divulge in Evidence,

upon what Terms he pleafes ; and Officers may But if the Authorities cited for the Earl to this

give money for their Places, and yet be good Of- Purpofe prove any thing, they prove too much -,

ficers, as it is fuggefted. that the Offices of the Judges in the Supreme Courts

But fome Inilances of a very extraordinary of Juftice were lawfully to be bought and fold at

Nature were cited out of the the Common Law, before the Ad. 5. Ed. VI. which
Madox'j Hijl. ofthe Hiftory of the Exchequer, to prove is an Opinion that the Earl himfelf, in his Anfwer,
Excbeq- .43- 743- thax.Cbancellors,]udges,md other did not think convenient to difclofe or infill upon •

ft'Jge, iTeifu/es
Officers of Truil, had purchafed and it is going a long way back for an Example to

it. their Places of King Stephen and prove the Lawfulnefs of an Action, which he could
King John; viz. That Richard not find without the Affiftance of an Antiquary.

FitZ'Almed gave King Stephenfifteen Marks to hear He might have brought more recent Inilances

Pleas ; and Walter de Gray gave King John five from Countries, where unlimited Power does pre-

thoufand Pounds to have the King's Chancery for vail, and where Juftice itfelf, and the Places in

Life; and other Officers there named. which it is to be difpenfed, are not to be attained

Mr. Madox, the Collector and Publiiher of this without a Bribe.

Hiftory of the Exchequer, 43, 44, mentioning thefe But it feems as if the Lord impeached had an
Inilances, fays, That in the Time of King Stephen, early Inclination to look out for a Precedent, to

Geoffrey the Chancellor fined in three thoufand and give him a Countenance in fuch like Practices -,

fix Pounds and a Mark for the King's Seal. This I yet he found none publifh'd to the World, ex«

underfiand to be a Fine then lately made with the King cept in the Reigns of two Princes, whofe arbi-

for the Office of Chancellor, or to have the keeping of trary Behaviour produced that memorable Law,
the Kings Seal. But at the fame time Mr. Ma- the Great Charter of our Liberties, firil pafs'd in the

dox the Publiiher makes this honeil Reflection upon Form of a Charter ann' 1 7 Johan , and confirm 'd

his Precedents ;
ann* 9 Hen' III. wherein it was at that time found

Which Precedent, fays he, may juftlyfeem firange neceffary to declare by a Law, Nulli vendemus

to us at this Day ; but it feemeth that in thofe times Juftitiam aut Return. Magna Charta, cap. 29.

things of the like kind with this were fometimes done. Co. 2. Inft. 55.

Which Obfervation the Counfel, or the Earl him- From which Declaration of the Crown it ne-

felf, were not pleafed to repeat. ceffarily follows, that the Adminiilration and
And fome Inilances were cited out of the Ro- Execution of Diilributive Juilice to a free People,

man Law, where Part of the Revenue of the Em- are not to be eileem'd the Property or Eitate of

perors did arife out of Perquifites of this Kind ; a Great Officer, to be raifed or increafed by his

from whence it was inferr'd, that the taking thefe Sale of the fubordinate Offices of Juilice ; but

Sums for Sale of Offices, was not againil Natural are the great Prerogatives of an Englifh Prince,

Juftice. to be exercifed freely for the Safety and Eafe of

But thefe are of no Authority in this Kingdom, the Subje<5t, without introducing Expencc and

when they are repugnant to the Law of the Land, Charge upon the People, in their Application for

and have never been receiv'd ; and the Common Juilice and Right.

Law of England mutt be the Rule of Juilice in And when a Doctrine of this dangerous andde-

this Cafe. ftructive Nature to the Rights and Liberties of

And Mr. Dupper, the Earl's late Undersecretary the whole Nation, as it expo fes their only Secu-

of the Bankrupts, was produced, to prove by his rity to Sale for money, is thus avowedly and

Opinion and Obfervation, that no Office whatfo- openly juilified and infilled upon at your Lord-

ever palling by Grant under the Great Seal ought fliips Bar, by a Peer of your Houfe, who has

to be furrender'd or granted without an Acknow- born the high Office of Lord Chancellor of Great

ledgment (as he call'd it) to the Chancellor or Britain in the firil Reign under the Act of Settle-

Keeper; and that he had formerly communicated ment of the Crown: Your Lordfhips will take

theie his Thoughts to the Earl and his Secretary the belt meafures to render the cure in

Mr. Cottingham. their Expectation of Juftice, by a luitable and

And your Lordfhips, upon Recollection of the public mark of your Deteflation of (b licentious

Evidence, will find the Ufc and Improvement they an Opinion; and thereby convince the Na-

wcre pleafed to make of this Advice, in the Cafe tion, that even the meer Su ion of fuch

of Mr. Thomas Bennet's Surrender, a corrupt Principle is an undefcrv'd Reproach,

Vol. VI. 7 G aild
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and highly injurious to his Majefty's Admini-

ftration.

Yet if it mould be fuppofed, by way of Argu-

ment (which has not been proved, and therefore

cannot be admitted) that the Sale of thefe Offices

has been of late tolerated, for the greater Increafe

of the Perquifites of the firft Officer of the

Crown, in the principal Court of Juftice ; yet the

Earl's raifing and receiving thefe exorbitant Sums,

above double to any Inftance before his own

Time, which he has made appear, upon a Pre-

tence that the Bufiriefs of the Court of Chancery

was very much advanc'd during his Refidence

there, will be as criminal, as it he had put the

Offices to Auction, when no Sum or Fee had ever

been taken or heard of.

And in his method of Practice there can be

no Diftinction between a Prefent and a Price ;

for he made the moft always of his Share or

Claim in the Office. When he was only to ad-

mit upon a Surrender, he took fifteen Hundred

Guineas for his Good Will and Approbation meer-

]y ; and when he admitted upon a Death, he took

five thoufand Guineas at the leaft, altho' the Office

was greatly in Debt •, as in Borret's Cafe, where

the Suitors will lofe upwards of twelve thoufand

Pounds of their Effects, by the loweft Compu-
tation.

As for the fmall antient Fees which have been

paid to the Great Seal for Time immemorial, upon

the fealing every Patent, thefe are out of the pre-

fent Queftion ; and where Uiage beyond Time of

memory has allow'd the Receipt of thefe little

Sums, it will be prefum'd (if there was Occafion

for it) that fome Act of Parliament had pafs'd to

make it lawful.

And when it is Yaid, that a good Officer may
give money for his Place, and may refift the

Temptation of Extortion ; it is what the Law
of England would not truft to human Frailty ;

and if all the Actions and Behaviour of the beft

of the Matters, with refpect to their Fees, their

manner of Proceeding upon References, and their

difpofing and trafficking with the money of

the Suitors, were to be enquired into more parti-

cularly, there can be no doubt, from what has

appeared in Evidence upon this Trial, but that

the Temptation and Inclination to Profit, towards

reimburfing themfelves the money advanced to

the Earl, and the preceding Mafter, have over-

come their moil fteady Refolutions to Virtue and
Self-denial.

As to the citing particular' Cafes, wherein the

Sale of Offices Judicial, or of the like fort with

thofe in Queftion, have been determin'd to be il-

legal at Common Law, I apprehend it is not ne-

ceffary ; for that the Reaibn of the Common Law,
and the Purport of the feveral Statutes mention'd,
do fully and fufficiently maintain the Validity of
the Articles in that refpect.

And the managers might more properly call

upon the Earl and his Counfel for Authorities or

Judgments to the contrary.

But matters of a corrupt Nature are always
privately tranfacted, and no Witneffes, or at mod
very rarely, are to be produced befides the Parties

concern'd.

And if the Earl will produce any Inftance in the

Books, where fuch a Tranfa&ion has been men-
tion'd, I may engage to fhew him at the fame
time, that it has been holden illegal.

The Authority already cited by a Learned
manager is exprefs

:

s Earl of Macclesfield, 10 G. I.

Stockwith conf North, Moore
781. North wasfined in the Star- Noy 102.
Chamber,for that he being Sheriff

of the County of Nottingham did take moneyfor the

Goalerfhip and the Bailiwick for his Tear ; and atfirft
he gave them to his Servants, who fold them, but him-

felf received the money, and this was adjudged to

be a letting to Farm of his County, contrary to the

Statute of 4 Hen. IV. cap. 5. Yet there note, fays

the Reporter, that the Statute itfelfgives a Penalty
certain and pecuniary, and it is malum prohibitum,
non in fe. But the Court held, that in as much as

great Corruption enfuesfrom the Greedinefs of the Of-
ficers, and they are inforced thereto by the Prices

which they give for Things which ought not to be

fold, that this fetting of offices to Farm and Sale, is

malum in fe, and finable.

But the Earl objected, that this Opinion is ex-

trajudicial ; and the Court were miftaken in one
part, when they fay, that the Statute 4 Hen' IV.

did inflitl a Penalty ; whereas it did not, but only

prohibited the letting to Farm the Bailiwick, which
was lawful before, and therefore properly finable,

as a Breach of the Act.

In Anfwer to which, it is plain upon Perufal of
the Book, that that Part relating to the Act 4 H. IV.

impofing a Penalty, is only the Note of the Coun-
fel, or Reporter, who took that particular Offence

to be only malum prohibitum ; and whether the

Court did impofe that Fine by Force of the Sta-

tute, or as warranted by the Common Lav/, it will

not weaken the Authority ; becaufe the Court ex-

prefly declare it to be their Opinion, that thefelling

of the Office of Goaler was malum in fe, andfinable ;

which fhew'd the Judgment Of the Court on that

part of the Queftion ; fo that there is no mifcake

to be imputed to the Court.

And my Lord Coke, in his %Inft.fol. 146. cap.

6%. of Bribery and Extortion, andfol. ii^.& 225.
cap. 10 1. of Judgments and Execution, defcribes

thefe Crimes as Offences at the Common Law, and
puts his Examples accordingly, which may be there

confuked.

So in the Cafe of'Smith and Mall, 2 Rolls, Rep.

263. and Linley's Cafe, Hutton. jo. where it is

holden, That if any Judge or Officer takes more than

the ufualFees, he is 'punifhable by Tnditlment at the

Common Law. Which neceflarily implies, that

they are punifhable at the Common Law, for tak-

ing money where no Fee at all is due.

The ftrict Definition of Extortion is, When any

Perfon, CoUre Officii extorquet Feodum non debitum^

piufquam debitum, aut antequam debitum. Hutton.

52, 53. Co. 3. Inft. 149, 150. Beawfage\ Cafe,

10 Co. 1 or, 102. Dive and Maningham, PIozv-

den, 68. a. Co. 1. Inft. 368. b. Sir John Bingley's

Cafe, Poph. 149. Rex & Gover, 1 Sid. 91.

But largely, Extortion is taken for any Oppreffion

by extort Power, or by Colour or Pretence ofRight.

Co. 1. Inft. 368. b.

But it is urged by the Earl and his Counfel, that

it appears from the Statute 5 & 6 E. VI. that the

buying or felling of thefe Offices was lawful at the

Common Law, and is not prohibited by the Statute

1 2 Rich. II. and that the Statute of E. VI. neither

declares nor creates any Crime; but only impofes

a fpecial and particular Penalty, by Lois of the

Office or Difability, and therefore the Earl hav-

ing been difmifs'd the Great Seal, there can be no

Puniffiment inflicted upon him.

It is agreed by them, that the Statute 5 and 6

E. VI. includes both the Offices of Clerk of the

Cujlodies, as an Office of Clerkfhip in a Court of

Record j
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Record •, and of the Mqfters in Chancery, as Offi-

cers touching the Adminiftration and Execution of

Juftice, in point of Defcription.

And upon reading the Act it is evident, that this

Statute in the Preamble, and throughout the whole

Act, treats this way of dealing, as a Corruption, and

illegal in its Nature, and exprefiy calls it fo.

The Preamble fays, For the avoiding of Corrup-

tion, which may happen hereafter to be in the Officers

for High Crimes and Mifdemeanors. 74

1

the particular Articles affign'd to me, and fhall
obferve not only upon the Proofs given by the
Commons in maintenance of thofe Articles, but
likewife upon the Examination made on behalf
of the Earl impeach'd, and in his Defence.
As to the money Articles, I fhall make this ge-

neral Obfervation upon the Evidence, that it has
been agreed by all the Witneffes examin'd there-
to, as well by Mr. Cottingham, the Earl's Secretary,

and Minifters in thofe Courts and Places, wherein and on thefe Contracts his Lordfhip's Broker, as

there is Requifite to be
_
had the true Adminiftration by the Maflers themfelves, and their Agents,

of Juftice or Services of TrusJ

And this Statute carries the Punifhment farther,

but does not take away the Punifhment of it as a

mifdemeanor at the Common Law, by Fine or

Imprifonment upon Indictment.

that the whole Tranfaction was done and finifh'd,

and the money actually paid and deliver'd into
the Lord Chancellor's, own Hands (except Mr.
Thurfton's Five Thoufand Guineas, which were deli-

ver'd to another for his Lordfhip's Service) before
And there is not any Provifo in the Act which the Refignation of the former Officer was accepted,

mentions or exempts the Court of Chancery, or any

of the Officers of that Court ; but in confequence,

when it mentions otherCourts in aProvifo,muff, more

fbrongly be intended to include them in the Act.

T'hefir'/? Provifo extends to Offices of a private

Nature, and to Offices of Inheritance, and can't

and before the Admiffion and Swearing of the Suc-
eeffor.

So that the principal Point and main Strefs of
the Articles are thus in fact agreed upon by both
Parties.

But as to thefe Articles, and more particularly

relate to any judicial Office, nor to either of thefe with refpect to the One Hundred and Five Pounds
Officers, who hold only for Life ; altho', where the receiv'd from Mr. Thomas Bennet, and the Fifteen

Nature of the Office has allow'd it to become inhe- Hundred Guineas each receiv'd from Mr. Kynafton

ritable, it makes it alienable ; but no fuch Inftance and Mr. Bennet, the Earl and his Counfel have

is to be met with in the Cafe ofjudicial Offices. fuggefted a Deficiency in the Proof, arifing from
The fecond Provifo is to prevent any Perfon's a Contrariety in the Evidence given by Mr. Cot-

being furpriz'd into the Penalty unwittingly, be- tingham the Earl's Secretary, to what has been
fore Notice, of the Act, or by a Retrofpect. And fworn by Mr. Bennet, Mr. Kynafton, and Mr.
akho' the Statute takes Notice that divers Perfons

did make fuch corrupt Bargains, it is only by Way
and with an Intent of preventing, and not of le-

gitimating them ; and it leaves them all as they

Charles Baily ; and, upon the Credit of the Secre-

tary's Teftimony, would fuppofe that each of thefe

Sums proceeded firft from the free and voluntary

Offer of the Mqfters, and was not infifted upon
ffood at Common Law, until that Day appointed by the Earl or his Secretary before hand, as charged

by the Act was paft. in the Articles, and prov'd by the Mqfters, but

And the laft Provifo does nothing more, and only accepted and receiv'd by Cottingham and the

leaves the Juftices to act upon their own Know- Lord Chancellor.

ledge and Difcretion in the Law, according to the

Nature of the Office, without calling any Imputa-

tion upon them unnecefTarily

But the Nature of the Tranfaction, and the

Circumftances of the Perfons, do very ftrongly

fupport the Credit of the Witneffes produced by

But fo exceeding cautious was the Legiflature, the Commons, and the Probability of their Tefti

that there is not any Expreffion, in any Part of the

Aft, to declare or enact fuch Bargains in the Cafes

excepted, to be good.

But the Statute leaves them entirely to the Re-

gulation and Direction of the Common Law and

former Acts of Parliament.

So that altho' the Earl of Macclesfield, by his

being difmifs'd from the Office of Lord Chancellor,

is not liable to fuffer the additional Punifhment,

contain'd in this Act, of Lofs of his Office : Yet

he will ftill be liable to the Punifhment at Com-

mony, who have prov'd every Part of thofe Ar-

ticles, in the very Words of them; and Mr. Cot-

tingham himfelf has confefs'd enough to maintain

the Articles in Subftance, altho' he fhould be cre-

dited in any Circumftance wherein he varies from

the other Witneffes.

As to the ninth Article, it will be very difficult

to believe that Mr. Bennet, who had lately paid

the Lord Chancellor fo large a Sum for his Admif-

fion to the Office of a Mqfter, which he had bor-

rowed of his Brother, and who had paid no Ad-

mittance money for this Place of Clerk of the Cu-mon Law, and upon the feveral other Statutes,

and accordingly remains open and fubject to your /odies to the former Chancellor, the Earl Camper;

Lordfhip's jut Sentence. and who had likewife been informed by his Bro-

For where a Statute does give or impofe a new ther Mr. John Bennet, that nothing was paid by

Penalty, for a matter which was an Offence at him to Earl Cowper upon his being admitted to

the Common Law, the Profecutor may purfue ei- the fame Office, and that Lord Cowper himfelf had

ther of the Remedies; altho' where a Statute makes declared to Mr. John Bennet that there was no-

or creates the Offence, that Remedy rauft be taken thing due upon his Admiffion ; that Mr. Thomas

which tl\G Statute gives. Bennet, under thefe Circumftances, fhould of bis

Reign' cont.Wigg' Pas' A.Anne Banco, ReginSalk. own Accord firft propofe a Prefent (as it is called)

460. Com' Leiccft. £s? Mandy 2. Sid. 32. Dr. Huf-

fey's Cafe, 9. Co. 74. Cranbank's Cafe, 2. Rolls

Rep. 49. Burgen's, Cafe, 1. Ven. 13. 1. Sid. 409.

Thus I have gone into this long Debate, to fhew

that the Commons have founded their Articles upon

when he could not well imagine that there was

any Pretence to it; that is hardly credible.

And Cottingham himfelf has own'd, that he told

Mr. Thomas Bennet that fomething was expected,

and that he carried the Propofal of One hundred

the general Rules of the Common Law, fupported andfive Pounds to the Earl, who accepted if, and

and inforced by divers Ads of Parliament. thereupon he receiv'd the money from Mr Lennet,

As to the Proofs ;
and paid it over to the Earl; after which the

Earl then took the whole Care upon lumkl!

of
I fhall now. take notice of the Evidence upon
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of expediting the Sign Manual and the Pa- not been able to give legal Proof of any one In-

tent. fiance of that kind, upon the change of this Of-

Now, Cottingham being the Factor employ'd by fice of Clerk of the Cufiodies.

the Earl in all thefe Bargains, who has been a- For Bupper did not fee any money paid on that

vow'd by the Earl to be his Agent, and has been Occafion, nor knows any thing of it, of his own
produc'd as his Witnefs, and fupported by him ; Knowledge, but only copied an Account which he

every thing that Cottingham declares and acts in came by very oddly, wherein (as he fays) there

compleating thefe Contracts, will be confider'd was an Item to that effect ; and his Evidence de-

as the Act of the Earl himfelf, and his own bar- pended meerly upon Hear-fay, and ought to have

tering ; efpecially, when Cottingham (as he depo- no Regard.

fed before your Lordfhips) did not conclude the The Evidence of Mr. Oker turns againft the

Bargain, until he had receiv'd the Earl's Appro- Earl; for altho' there were Surrenders in both

bation thereof •, and when the Earl, at the End, the Times, when Earl Cowper held the Great

confirms the whole by his Receipt of the money. Seal, yet nothing was paid or taken by him ; and

And a. Lord Chancellor's expecting fomething, upon the Surrender of Thbmpfon to Edwards in the

or a Sum of money, be it more or lefs, and this late Queen's Time, it was faid that nothing was

his Expectation declared and notified by his Se- given •, and upon the Surrender of Mr. John Ben-

cretary to the Perfon applying to be admitted into net to Mr. "Thomas Bennet, whilft Earl Cowper en-

the Office, is a peremptory Demand, and an in- joyed the Seal under his Majejly, nothing was paid

lifting, when the Lord Chancellor alone, and no or claimed.

other, has the Power of taking the Refignation, And the fuppofed Intimation or Opinion of

or making it effectual by paffing the new Patent, Lord Cowper, which Oker mentions, was between

and of admitting the new Officer. thefe two Surrenders, which makes it very un-

But this matter has been explain'd and confirmed likely that Earl Cowper fhould make fuch a De-
by the Evidence of Dupper the Under Secretary, claration ; yet if fuch Difcourfe there was, it is

the Earl's own Witnefs, upon whofe Authority plain, that upon better Confideration, the Lord
the Earl relied, who acquainted your Lordfhips, Cowper departed from fuch Pretenfion, and dif-

that upon Cottingham s telling him of the intended cover'd no Expectation of any thing, upon the

Surrender of Mr. Thomas Bennet, Dupper faid, laft Surrender and Grant of this Office.

there ought to be an Acknowledgment to the Great And as nothing was taken by Lord Cowper, upon
Seal, and he had heard that money had been the Surrender of Mr. John Bennet to Mr. Thomas
given, which Cottingham himfelf at firft doubted Bennet, it will be prov'd, that on the Surrender

of ; but Dupper foon fatisfied both the Earl and of Mr. Edwards to Mr. John Bennet, Lord Cowper

his Secretary that money might be afk'd. refufed to hear of a Prefent, when it was hinted

This confirms the Evidence of Mr. Thomas Ben- at, and declared that nothing was due to the

net, that nothing was faid about money to be given, Great Seal.

or an Expectation ofrfomething at his firft meeting But this Defence, which is founded upon a fuppo-

with Cottingham, but it was introduced by Cotting- fed Ufage to receive a Fee for permitting fuch Sur-

ham at their fecond meeting ; which mull: be after renders, and from thence would infer a Right, or

this Advice and Information of Dupper, and that an Excufe to the Earl impeach'd, in doing the

then the Resolution was taken of expecting a Sum like, is a Proof and Confirmation of the Article,

of money. as charg'd by ihcCommons ; That the Earl did in-

This argues the Diffidence of the Earl impeach- lift upon the money, as his Right and Due.

ed in fetting up this Pretence, and his Sulpicion ART. V. As to the Bargain with Mr. Kynafton,

of the Illegality of it ; yet the Opinion of the Per- it appears from his Teftimony, and the Evidence

fon advifing, and the Earl's own Inclination to of Mr. Charles Baily, who paid the money, that Mr.
Gain, were too powerful to be refilled. Kynafton endeavour'd to obtain the Admiffion at a

But to remove the Foundation of this Objection : lower Rate. At firft he offer'd but one thoufand Gui-

The Point or Charge of thefe Articles lies in neas; and at the End Mr. Baily underftood it to

the taking thefe Sums by the Earl, colore officii fui, have been agreed for at fifteen hundredPounds; and
as Lord Chancellor, and without Right, which is when Mr. Cottingham hid fifteen hundred Guineas

Extortion and Corruption. were expected, Baily did not proceed till he had
And if he did receive thefe Payments by Co- informed Mr. KynasJon therewith, who anfwer'd,

lour of his Authority, and without Right, (and he that fince Mr. Cottingham had mentioned that

has made out no Pretence of Right) he will be guilty Sum, he muff, fubmit, and do accordingly,

of the Crimes charg'd upon him, in how artificial And this Difpute, upon the Difference between
a manner foever he tranlacted thefe matters. Pounds and Guineas only, explains the manner of

It will amount to the fame, whether they pro- thefe Dealings ; That they were formal Contracts

pofed the Sum to him, or he and Bargains between the Secretary and the Ma-

E
°

llid

J

'f\ Cafe
H9 ' made the Demand upon them ; Jlers, at the belt Price that could be got ; and

yet if fomething was expected tho' there was no haggling with the Earl himfelf

by him, and he declin'd doing the Duty of his (as Cottingham exprefs'd it at one of thefe Dealings)

Office, until that fomething was offered and paid yet he had a faithful Steward, who could and did

to him, it is an Exatlion and an Impofition, which haggle very well for him ; and when the Secretary

is criminal, and maintains the Articles. had done his utmoft, the Earl accepted the Price

And it is remarkable, that the Earl would never which had been agreed upon.

give Credit for his Prefent, but always had it fafe ART. VI. As to the fifteen hundred Guineas,

in his own Hand, before he admitted the Officer, paid by Mr. Thomas Bennet for his Admiffion,

It has been attempted, on behalf of the Earl and the manner of making that Bargain, Mr.
of Macclesfield, to prove that former Chancellors Bennet's Evidence of his firft offering one thoufand

have ufed to claim and receive money upon the Guineas, and Cottinghanfs Refufal of it, faying, He
talcing Surrenders, and making new Grants of this hoped Mr. Bennet would not lower the Price, and

Office; but herein the Earl has fail'd, and has the Hazard of his being refus'd, and that there was

no
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no haggling with my Lord, and at lad agreeing

for fifteen hundred Guineas, is fupported from the

ufual Behaviour 0$ Cottingham, as well as from the

Probability of the thing itfelf ; that a man may
reafonably be prefumed to endeavour to fave what

he can, and when he is purchafing, to get it at

9

for High Crimes and Mifdemeanors. 743
may be reafonably prefum'd to have been made
ufe of by him to make a falfe Shew before the
Commiffioners ; are rather Decrees againft himfelf;
than any Extenuation of his Guilt.

""

And as to the Earl's great merit, which he fo
largely dwelt upon, and fo often repeated, that he

the cheaper! ; altho' (as it has appear'd upon the might have had/* thoufand Pounds from Mr. .La-
Examination) Mr. Bennet had little Reafon to ex- cas, which he relinquifh'd, to accept offive thou-
pect that a fucceeding Chancellor would be fatis- fand Guineas from Mr. Elde. The Managers will
fied with his Circumftances, and admit him. call Mr. Lucas\ who (in anfwer to Mr. Elde's Te-
Upon the Earl's Defence againft the Charge ftimony) will prove, that when he offer'd the fix

contained in thefe two Articles, it was prov'd by thoufand Pounds, it was upon this exprefs Condition,

Mr. Goldefbrough the Regifler, that the Earl, about that if the Money of the Suitors, or the Cafh, was
the 23d of February laft, had paid thofe two Sums taken out of the Mafiers Hands on a Parliament
into the Court of Chancery, to be apply'd for the tary Enquiry, he fhould have a Return of fome
Benefit of the Suitors ; and this is offer'd either in Part ; and that the Earl fhould indemnify him a-

gainft all Deficiencies.

So that the Earl did not refufe Mr. Lucas's fix
thoufand Pounds, from a Dif-inclination to the.

Sum, if he could have kept the whole fecurely j

but becaufe five thoufand Guineas paid abfolutely.

his Difcharge, or as a Merit. But this was done

feveral Days after the Impeachment, and after pub-

lick Complaint had been made againft the Earl

upon thefe two Infiances, and is a very proper ex-

ample of the Earl's own Conftruction of a volun-

tary Prefent; for after the Houfe of Commons had was better than fix' thoufand Pounds fubject to'

a

taken this Affair into their Confideration, and had Condition of refunding, and incumber'd with an
demanded Juftice and Satisfaction from the Earl Engagement of Indemnification,

by a Parliamentary Profecution, the Earl then did But the Earl's chiefDefence is rais'd from the

freely and voluntarily, and of his own accord, make Practice of his Predeceffors, who (as he pretends)

a Prefent to the Suitors of the Court of thefe two Jed him into thefe miftakes ; and he has prov'd

Sums, which he had, in the like free and volun- feven hundred Pounds to have been paid by Mr,
tary manner, receiv'd as a Prefent from Mr. Ky- Lovibond, about twelve Tears fince, and eight hun-

nafilon and Mr. Bennet. dred Pounds by Mr. Holford, and five hundred
But this Action contradicts his whole Defence

;

Pounds by Mr. John Bennet, in the Year 171 6.

and fhews that he was convinc'd that he had no upon their refpective Admiffions into the Offices

Right to receive or detain the Money, and was a- of Mafiers ; and from thence rnfifts, that altho' he
fraid to keep it any longer. can't claim the exact Sum offifteen hundred Pounds
ART. VII. and VIII. As to the two five thoufand receiv'd by himfelf upon Admiffions, as a certain

Guineas receiv'd by the Earl of Mr. Elde and Mr. and eftabhfh'd Fee or Perquifite, becaufe he has

IhursJon, it is prov'd that the Price was fettled be- taken twice as much as his Predeceffor did ; yet

tween them and Mr. Cottingham ; and when Mr. this Praclice gives him a Right to a Prefent, and
Elde (of whom the Earl exprefs'd fo good an O- it was in his own Difcretion to declare the Sum, as

pinion) offered five thoufand Pounds, Cottingham he fhould think reasonable, according to the late

iaid Guineas were handfomer -, and the particular Increafe of the Bufinefs of the Court.

method of Payment fhews the inward Rebukes of

his Confcience, and his Fear of a Difcovery.

And thefe two Fails fhew the Prevalency of his

Avarice, above any other Paffion. For in Mr.
Elde's Cafe, he broke thro' the Obligation of

Gratitude and Friendfhip to him, to receive his

money in a cover'd manner, in a Bafket. And in

Mr. Thurfion's, he tried to beguile his Fear of a

But, a Prefent altogether uncertain in the Quan*
turn, and depending in this manner upon the Plea^-

fure of the Perfon who is to receive it, feems to

differ very little, if at all, from a Price.

The Earl infifts likewife, that the Denial or Re-

fufal of fome other of the Witneffes to anfwer his

^ueftions, is a farther Proof that they paid money.

This fhews that the Earl thinks he wants the

Difcovery, by fuffering the money to come to him Proof very much, when he makes ufe of fuch an

thro' a private and unfufpected Hand. Argument to raife Evidence.

And thefe two Inflames were of fo nice a Nature, The Witnefs refufes to anfwer fuch Queslions,

that his faithful Secretary own'd, that he was not which he is not oblig'd by the Rules of Law to

admitted into the Secret. For it appears that the refolve, concerning the manner of his Admiffion-,

Earl either knew or fufpected there would be a and the Commons cannot call Witneffes to contradict

Lofs in Borret's Office by his Infolvency, tho' it

was not reduc'd to any Certainty •, and it now ap-

pears, at the leaft, to amount unto twelve thoufand

Pounds.

But the Earl left the Suitors of the Court to bear

that Lofs, and never took Care to procure a jusl

Satisfaction to them. Which the Commons urge

both as an Evidence and an Aggravation of his

Guilt ; fince he therein prefer'd his own private

Gain to that Security, which his high Trusl requi-

red him to have provided for the Creditors of the

Court.

And the returning great Part of thefe two Sums,

after the Confufion and Diforders of the Court be-

came publick; and Part of Mr. Elde's money, af-

ter the Mafiers had been call'd upon to bring in

their Cafh, and which upon Mr. Elde's Evidence

Vol. VI.

or explain that which has never been deliver'd in

Evidence.

Yet the Earl defires your Lcrdfhips to believe

this as Evidence, tho' you never did hear it, and to

act and vote, upon your Honour, as if you had

heard and admitted it.

But howfoever the Earl may have directed him-

felf, he can never think that fuch an unjuft In-

finuation will prevail upon your Judgment ; or

that he can thereby move your Lord/hips to give

up your Honour in the higheft Exercife of your

judicial Power.

And thefe two or three late Inftances, which he

has produced, cannot change the Common Law, or

repeal the feveral Acls of Parliament, whereby they

are declar'd illegal ; and if he makes ufe of them as

Precedents, he ought to take them with all their

7 H Circum-
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Circumftances, which upon the whole matter ra- Power and Authority by virtue of their Offices of old

ther turn againft him. For Mr. Holford and Mr. 'Times accujlomed, to appoint Clerks and Minifiers

Lovibond were at that time, and ftill continue men within the fame Courts, fhall be charged andfworn to

of Subftancej and Mr. John Bennet was of Abi- appoint fuch Clerks and Minifiers for whom they will

Jity at/ the Time of his Admiffion, altho' in the anfwer at their Peril, which be fuffcient, faithful,

Year 1 720, he fuftain'd feveral Loffes, which im- and attending to that which pertaineth to than in

pair'd his Eftate. And they all paid the Sums of Performance of the Bufinefs, as well of the King as

Money mentioned out of their own Eftates, and no of his People.

Part of it out of the Suitors Cafh or Effetls: And This Act would have been extended farther* if

the whole of the Suitors Effetls was deliver'd over it had been efteemed neceffary.

to them by an Account with which they flood

charg'd.

So that altho
5
thefe few Inftances were not ani-

madverted upon, either becaufe they were not

publickly known, or that no Inconvenience did

enfue therefrom ; yet they will afford no Excufe

to the Earl impeach'd, for taking double or treble

the Value of thofe Sums upon his Admiffion of

Maflers, who were Perfons of fmall or incumber''d

The Frame of both thefe Statutes does fhew the

Bent of the Englifh Conftitution, to provide for tfac

Eafe and Benefit of the Subjetl.

But the old Rule, refpondeat fuperior, will hold
againft the Earl in this Cafe, efpecially when it ap-

pears by the Evidence of Mr. Goldefbrough the Re~

gifter, a Witnefs produe'd by the Earl, that this

Practice of paying money generally into the Hands
of the mafters, was not in ufe at his firft coming

Eflates, and who were neceffitated to employ the into the Regifier's Office, about the Time of the

Cafh and Effects of the Suitors in the Payment for Revolution. So that the Earl impeach'd took

their Offices, and for their Admiffions ; and thro' upon himfelf the Difpofition of the Suitors money,

whofe Infolvency fo great a Lofs and Damage has without a proper Ground and Juunification,

come upon the Suitors. And the Offence contained in this Article does

But an Officer of publick Truft and Service ought not depend upon his Knowledge, that the Perfons

to look well to his Precedents before he follows admitted were infufficient and unable; but that the

them •, and if he will purfue an illegal or unjufti- Earl did not require and take full Satisfaction and

fiable Precedent, he does it at his Peril, and muft Evidence in a proper manner, to make it manifeft

anfwer for the Confequences ; efpecially in the Si- that they were able and fufficient, as had been done

tnation of the highest Officer in the Kingdom, who by his Predeceffors ; particularly when Mr. Holford

was intrufted with the Adminiftration of publick was admitted Mafter, his Father was obliged to

Juflice, in the fupreme Court of Law and Equity ; fettle a real Eftate upon him of good Value,

and whofe Duty it was, as well to declare and ex- The Earl ought either to have advane'd Perfons

pound the Law to others, and to regulate and re- equal to the great Trusl and Charge, or to have

form the Exactions and Abufes, which at any reduced the Trusl and Depofit to the Condition

Time may have crept into the inferior Courts of and Circumftances of the Perfon, as his Predecef-

Juftice to the Injury*and Oppreffion of the Suitors fors had done.

of other Courts, as to prevent or fupprefs Corrup- So that it is evident the Earl had only in view

tion and Extortion in the Court where he more the Price and Profit of the Sale of the Office, which
immediately prefided. would rife higheft upon the Inability and Unfitnefs

ART. XI. As to this Article, the particular Cir- of the Officer.

cumftances of Mr. Kynafton and Mr. Thomas Bennet And it was therefore very properly faid by one

have been prov'd, and the Deficiencies in their Off- of the Earl's Counfel, that he weigh'd the Maflers

ces, and how unequal they were to the Truft of the before he admitted them.

great Sums and Effetls depofited in their Hands.

By the Orders of the Court, which have been

read, it appears that Mr. Kynafton 's Deficiency a-

mounts to 26,908 /. 1 1 s. 3d. iq. and Mr. Ben-

net's to 16,075 /. Mr. Kynafton had about 50,000/.

But he weigh'd them only for the Sake of the

Price they were to pay to himfelf ; and when he
had done with them, he left them of very little

Weight for the Security of the Suitors.

His falfe, tho' memorable Declaration in open
in money and effects of the Suitors in his Cuftody, Court, upon the 21ft of Jan. 1723, explains his

and Mr. Thomas Bennet near 100,000 /.

This is likewife a high Breach of Trusl in the

Earl, and is an Offence againft the Statute of 1

2

Rich. II , cap. 2.

2

whole Scheme, when he publifh'd from the Bench,

That the prefent Maflers were Men of as great For-r

tunes as any Set of Maflers had ever been.

The Words were prov'd by Mr. Waller, and
12 Ric, II. cap. 2. •— But that they make allfuch have not been contradicted by any Witnefs.

Officers and Minifiers of the besl and moil lawful At that time Mr. Dormer's Deficiency had taken

Men. Air ; and Mr. Waller upon his Examination laid,

Which Words in the Law import Sufficiency of The S-ufpicion of leveral of the mafters was then fo

Subftance, as well as Capacity. ftrong, that this Publication rais'd Aftonifhmentin
And the Statute 2 Hen. VI. cap. 10. takes it for the Hearers. But there was then a Vacancy, and an

granted, that the fuperior Officers were before that Office to be fold. Mr. Fellowes died 19 Jan. 1723,
Time under the Obligation of the Common Law, and it became necefTary to give the Office a Repu-
or fome former Statute to that Effect ; when by the tation.

faid Act, 2 Hen. VI. cap. 10. Co. 4. Inft. 114. in- And altho' the Infufficiency of fome of the Ma-
tituled, Wliat manner of inferior Officers fi?all be fters had been decently intimated to the Earl by
appointed in the King's Courts, it is enacted, To the Mr. L^ghtboun, upon his feveral Propofals, and
Intent that better and more fure Government be had the Earl may be prefum'd to know the general

within the Courts of our Lord the King, for his Pro- Apprehenfion of the World. Yet in this folemn

fit, and Eafe of his People, which have to purfue manner the Earl became an Officer to himfelf, to

and to do in the fame ; it is ordained and eftablifh-

ed, That all the Officers made by the King's Letters

Patents Royal within the faid Courts, which have

proclaim his own market.

ART. XII. The Practice and Injury to the Sui-

tors can hardly be more aggravated than is ex-

prefs'd in the Articlekklf, And
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And it has been prov'd in every Particular necef-

fary to fupport the Article ; and no Proof has been

offer'd on the Part of the Earl to contradict or ex-

tenuate the Charge, by making appear his Vigi-

lance, or any Care or Regard to prevent the fatal

Confequences of the Pratlice.

The particular Methods of preventing this Fraud

fpecified in the Article, are only to fhew the Pra-

cticability of fbme fort of meafures proper to have

been put in Execution, in order at ieaft to render

the corrupt Praclice and Abufe difficult, altho'

they had not prov'd compleat in all refpects to re-

drefs and prevent them.

And by the Witneffes call'd on the Part of the

Earl himfelf, it was exprefly prov'd, that fome of

thefe Methods had been practifed with Effect in

the time of his Predeceffors, and that no Lofs had

happen'd to the Suitors^ during that Regulation.

An Account of the Suitors Cajh and EffetJs was

brought to the then Lord Chancellor Harcourt by

Mr. Holford, as the Account of his Predeceffcr, be-

fore he was admitted ; and he was thereupon afk'd

if he would be bound by that Account, and ftand

charged accordingly ? to which he agreed, and his

Subftance was fufficient to anfwer it.

The Cajh Money was for fome Years lock'd up
in the Hands of the two junior Mafters in Lord
Chancellor Cowper's Time.

And it has been prov'd, that the total Accounts

of all the Mafters have been taken three feveral

Times within a few Years ; that is, twice by Lord
Cowper, and once by Lord Harcourt.

And altho' the Earl feems either to doubt of his

Authority, or of the Pofllbility of doing this in his

own time; it can be prov'd, that he requefted to fee

the Accounts, and to be inform'd of this method,

and accordingly had a Sight of the Books, and
made an Appearance of putting it in Execution.

Befides, the late Accounts deliver'd in by the fe-

veral Mafters before the Commijjioners named for

that Purpofe, fhew, that fuch an Attempt was
practicable, and might have been compleated in

a reafonable Time.
But the Earl of Macclesfield, by his own Con-

feffion, is guilty of a total Neglect of all meafures;

and never profecuted one honeft and real Step to-

wards the fupprefiing this Abufe.

He might have given Directions and made Or-

ders for the fecuring the Suitors Effetls, in the

fame manner before the late Inquiry, as he has

done fince.

His Secretaries and Agents might have fupervi-

fed the Obfervation of thefe Orders ; and have at-

tended to infpect the complete Transfer of the Sui-

tors Effetls, as well as to receive his Lordjhip's ex-

torted Premium,

And if after the Earl had taken thefe, or any

other probable meafures, the Mafters had broken

their TrusJ, the Fault would have lain upon the

Difhonefty of the Mafters, and not upon the Con-

nivance or Negligence of the Lord Chancellor.

But upon this Article the Anfwer of the Earl im-

peached is directly falfified. For he declares upon
his Honour, upon that Honour which is communi-
cated to him from the Privilege of the whole Or-
der of Peers (but of which he himfelf has only

made a Shew or Appearance) that he was totally

ignorant of this Praclice ; although it appears in

Proof to have been a matter pubhckly known du-

ring his Adminiflration. It was one Inducement to

Mr. Kynafton, and the fingle Temptation to Mr.
Thomas Bennet.

and Mi/demeanors. 7df
This Notoriety is a reafonable Evidence to charge

the Earl with the Knowledge of a fraudulent
Tranfaction propagated under himfelf; efpecially
when the Pretence of his Ignorance muft a*
from the wilful Neglect of his Duty.

But exprefs Notice is prov'd out of his ownMeuih
by Mr. Thomas Bennet ; and farther, that the Earl
had been ufed to proftitute his Honour by a Courfe
of Denial of this Fact upon former Occafipns.

For Mr. Bennet in his Account, which he had
deliver'd in to the Judges, had inferted this re-

markable Item, viz. Item 9075 /. in the Hands of
Perfons of Ability ; which included the 7500 h
paid to Mr. Hiccocks, and the 1575/. paid the
Chancellor for his Admiffwn.

Mr. Kynafton alfo in his Account had inferted an
Item to the lame Effect for a like Sum.

Mr. Thomas Bennet went foon afterwards to the
Chancellor, who enter'd into Difcourfe with him
thereupon, and faid : / am forty you have given in

your Account in this manner ; it was the worft way
in the World: For all the World will now judge

\

that you paid for your Office out of the Suitors Mo-
ney ; and what hath been fo much fufpetled will now
be difcover'd, which I have always taken fo much
Pains to deny, zvhenever I was ajk'd the Quefticn

:

And wifh'd he had been acquainted with Mr. Ben-
nett Neceffities before Mr. Bennet hadgiven in that

Item ; or to this very Effect.

The Probability of the Truth of this Evidence

Hands ccnhtm'd from the Nature of the thing, and
the State of the Account itfelf, which has not been

contradicted by the Earl; and feems farther

ftrengthened by an Opinion which the Earl had
entertain'd, and which he dropt in his "Defence on
Wednefday, viz. That the Suitor was not the worfs

by this Method; for by this Detention the former

Mafter remain dfill refponfible, and (as he obferv'd)

by Mr. MellerV retaining fome Part of the Suitors

Effetls, the Deficiency in Mr. Borret'j Office was
not fo large.

This feems a ftrong Symptom of the Earl's

Knowledge of the Pratlice, when it had obtained

his Approbation.

But the Money retain'd by Mr. Meller was no

part of the Price of the Office, but were other Sums-

and Effetls which he retained in his Hands, and

never paid over to 'Mr. Borret, upon the repeated

Application and Requeft of the Suitors, who
doubted Mr. Borret's Sufficiency.

But fuppofe the former Mafter had died, or fail'd

with thefe Effetls in his Hands ; how fhould the

Suitor have come to a full and legal Proof of this

Tranfaction ? and how many Perfons was he to pro-

fecute, to difcover and receive his own Money ?

The Importance of this Part of Mr. Thomas

Bennet'''s Teltimony has given Occafion to the Earl

and his Counfel to object to his Credit ; and an En-

deavour has been ufed to make out, that Mr. Ben-

net has contradicted himfelf, and has deny'd here

at your Lordfioips Bar upon his Oath, what he had

formerly declared to other Perfons.

For that Mr. Bennet being afk'd (with an Intent

to prove his Ability to pay the reft of his Deficien-

cy) Whether he had not faid, that if Mr. Hiccocks

would pay him back two thoufand Pounds, he would

pay the resJ himfelf, Mr. Bennet denied he had fo

declared ; and yet, as they urge, the contrary is

fworn by Mr. Holfcrd, MwThurfton, and Mr.Elde.

In Anfwer to this Mr. Holford gave in Evidence,

that Mr. Bennet faid, that if Mr. Hiccocks would

pay him back two thoufand Pounds, he would take

Care
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Care that the res! of the Money Jhould be raifed. Lofs of Interesl on the Ca/h, and their being hin-

But Mr. Bennet did not fay, he had the Money, der'd from the Employment of their Money.

tho' Mr. Holford believed he had by his manner The Earl has not adventured to enter into a

of fpeaking. particular Difcharge of the total Deficiency affigned

Mr. Thurfton depofed, that Mr. Bennet deck- by the Commons, upon the Evidence of Mr. Thomp-

red he would make up the reft himfelf; but after- /on, and collected from the Accounts ftated upon

wards told him, that all he had in the World would the late Enquiry, amounting to more than one hun-

not pay it: dred thoufand Pounds. Nor has he given any An-

And Mr. Elde fwears to the fame Effetl. fwer to the great Lofs which the innocent Suitors

And this Teftimony does not contradict, but ra- fuftain by the Infolvency of the two deceafed ma-

ther confirm Mr. Bennet's Evidence. For he made Iters, Dormer and Borret.

no direct Declaration of his Ability to pay the reft, This great Confufion and Damage brought upon

but, being liable to the Suitors, he feem'd to be a Court, where the Eftates of the moft wealthy

willing to get what he could from Mr. Hiccocks: Subjects, as well as of lefler People, do fooner or

Befides, his Difcourfe at thefe times cannot ftand later come, became a National Concern, not mere-

in Competition with his Oath, according to the ly from the Extenfivenefs of the Lofs to the parti-

common Rules of Evidence ; and a Witnefs's Credit cular Suitors, but likewife from the apparent Dan-

is not to be taken away upon an uncertain Expreffion, ger thereby arifing to the Publick.

proved by each of the Earl's own Witneffes in dif- This general Ruin awaken'd the Care and Zeal

ferent Words, when from the Ambiguity of it there of the Commons in Parliament for Jufiice to their

cannot poffibly be any voluntary Contradiction. Fellow Subjects.

But the Commons will confirm the Truth and This introduced the Charge againft the Earl in

Fairnefs of this Teftimony of Mr. Bennet, by pro- the Twelfth Article, which has been proved as it

ving that the Earl had exprefs'd the fame Concern is alledged, viz. That by this unjusl andfraudulent

and Diflike of the manner of thefe Accounts in re- Pratlice, the corrupt Profit made by the Earl upon.

fpedt of thefe Items to others, before any Parlia- the Sale of the Offices of Mafters in Chancery, has

mentary Enquiry. in Confluence been raifed and received by him out of

There is likewife another matter of Fact, which the Effetls of the Suitors of the Court, for whom he

afiifts the Proof of this Article, which is, That the was intrufted ; in Breach of the TrusJ repofed in him

Price of the Office, and of the Admiffion, are com- for the Prefervation of the Eftates and Effetls of

prehended in the Accounts of the Mafters Deficien- the Suitors, to the Difhonour and Difcredit of the

cies, and make the greateft Part of Mr. Bennet's Court, and to the great Injury and Defrauding of

Deficiency, and near a Moiety of Mr. Kynafton's. the Suitors, in a Court of Equity eftablijh'dfor their

Which manifefts the Danger and Injury of this Relief and Protection.

unjuft Practice to the Suitor, whofe Eftate is there-

by put upon the Hazard of the Majler's good or My LORDS,
bad Succefs, and his Property loft with a deficient If the Mifdemeanors of which the Earl impeach'

d

Mafler. ftands accufed were not Crimes by the ordinary Rules

And here the Corruption and Mifbehaviour of oiLaw m. Inferior Courts, as they have been made
the Earl appear with the higheft Aggravations. out to be ; yet they would be Offences of a publick

The extorted Profit made by the Earl is raifed Nature, againft the Welfare of the Subjetl, and the

out of thofe Effetls which are depofited in the Common Good of the Kingdom, committed by the

Court upon the Faith and Honour of the King's Higheft Officer of Juftice, and attended with fo great

Adminiftration under the Care of the Chancellor, as and immediate Lofs to a multitude of Sufferers ;

chief Truftee, by whofe Connivance (if not Con- and as fuch, they would demand the Exercife of
fent) they are thus imbezzled ; and the miferable the extraordinary J'urifditlion vefted in your Judica-

Suitor muft either fit down with the Lofs, or be ture for the Public Safety, by virtue whereof your

forced to expend his little remaining Subftance in Lord/hips can inflict that Degree and Kind of Pu-
a tedious Procefs to recover back his own Eftate nifhment which no other Court can impofe.

thus wafted and converted by the Mafters. When thefe Offences have been proved upon the

Unnecefiary Delays and Protractions of Caufes are Earl impeach'd, of what Confideration in Judg-
the unavoidable Confequences of this Pratlice; and ment can the Earl's miftaken and mifplaced Cha-
in this manner the Bufinefs of the Court, and the rities be ? Can they alter the Fails charged upon.

Profits of the Mafters Offices have been increafed him ? or turn Extortion and Fraud into Liberality

by the Purfuit of the Parties after their own Ef- and Piety ? Can the merit of a few private Good
fects, which in the Conclufion terminates in fo Works attone for the Plunder of the whole Body of
heavy a Lofs. the Suitors of the Court of Chancery, upon whom
The late Orders made upon the Petitions of Mr. this Earl, by his Mifbehaviour, has brought a De-

Hiccocks and Mr. Rogers fince the Impeachment, and ficiency of one hundred and eight thoufand Pounds ?

fome fince the Trial commenced, tho' not proved He depends upon the Prayers and Wifhes of
to have been as yet comply 'd with, and at beft are thofe few, who have been the Partakers of his

but Dcpofits to attend the Event of the Conteft be- Bounty, without being Sufferers by his Crimes. But
tween the former and the prefent Mafters, have the Voice of the Commons for Juftice againft this

been made ufe of by the Earl in his Defence; which Great Offender, not only includes the Complaints
is a new Attempt in him to make a falfe Shew and of the particular Sufferers, but the Accufaiion of

Appearance of Reftitution and Satisfaction. an injured Nation, whom the Earl had endeavour'd

Altho' if it was a real and a compleat Return of to cut off" from the Protection, which ought to be
the Principal Money, it would be a very fmall Ex- deriv'd to them from the Father of his People.

cufe and Extenuation for the vaft Prejudice done to The Commons having now maintain'd the Truth

all the Suitors of the Court, by the locking up their and Jufiice of their Charge againft the Earl im-

Money, EffeCts, and Securities, and flopping the peach'd upon thefe Articles, leave him to your

Payments thereon for fo many months, befides the LordftoipsyoR. Determination.

I Mr.
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Mr. Lutwyche.

My LORDS,

I am commanded to affift in the Reply ; and

flnce I was obliged to bear my Share in this Profe-

cution, I was willing it mould be fuch as would

o-Jve me an Opportunity of hearing what would be

faid and proved in the impeach'd Lord's Defence,

before 1 fpoke freely upon the matters in Judgment

before your Lordfhips

7^7
fworn (they being at the fame Time prefent)
and faying, You the Chancellor, Treafurer, i£c.
Jhall fwear.

I mail therefore have the Charity for the Noble
Lord to think and take it for granted, that he
was fworn as the Statute required, and that he
underftood the Statute, tho' it was read in Old
French, and that he did not prevaricate, when he
did this folemn Aft.

Suppofing therefore that the Statute 1 2 R. II. is

in Force, and that the Oath was really taken •, the
next Confideration is, what the Law is upon the

And I may now venture to fay, as he was un- feveral Fafts and Circumftances proved againft the
. 1 • r_ 1 „ r^i L- :- i_. 1 t _ t • -r. i • F- ,- ,,• ° , ^,-

fortunate to bring fo heavy a Charge upon him-

felf, he has ftill been more unfortunate in his

Defence -, I fubmit it to Your Lordfhips Ob-

fervation, whether any Part of the Evidence

offered by the managers has not been confirmed,

nay enforced upon him, by his own Evidence ;

and fome of the Charges upon him he has

endeavoured to evade by fuch Excufes and Ar-

guments, as have made even his Defence cri-

minal.

My Lords, Upon the Examination of the firffc

Witnefs produced on the Part of the Commons,

his Lordfhip was pleafed to make it a Queftion

whether he took the Oath directed by the Sta-

i'mpeached Lord in Relation to his felling the Of-
fices of mafters in Chancery.

The Anfwer put in to the Charge of the Com-
mons fays, The mafters freely and voluntarily

fent a Prefent without admitting any particular

Sum ; we fay that particular Sums (and thofe very

exorbitant) were infilled on, and a Bargain driven

for the Offices, as much as could be in any Cafe

by way of Brokage ; nay the very Benefit of hav-

ing the Suitors money comes into the Confidera-

tion of the Price.

The Words of the Statute of R. II. are general,

and in Point of Reafon it mould extend to this

Cafe above others ; becaufe the Offices of mafters

tute of 1 2 Richardll. The Objection feemed to in Chancery do not only concern the Admin iftra-

be, that tho' the Statute was read, and his Lord-

fhip kiffed the Bible, yet he was fworn to nothing.

This was fo furprizing to all that heard it, and

the Report of it raifed fuch Indignation, that it

might have been expected his Lordfhip would have

drawn a Veil over this Part of the Cafe, and have

taken Care that it fliould not be mentioned again

;

but inftead of that, his Counfel, nay he himfelf,

tion of Juftice, but are in fome meafure judicial;

they tranfact a great Part of the Bufinefs of the

Court, and have ufually been in Commiffion to-

gether with the mafter of the Rolls, and the Judg-
es, for hearing of Caufes.

Lord Chief Juftice Coke in his 'Third Injiitutes,

p. 145. places this Offence of felling Offices under

his Chapter of Bribery, where he ftates the Defini-

have thought fit to bring this Point into Difpute tion of Bribery to be, When any Man in a judicial

in his Defence, and his Lordfhip does not even Place takes any Fee or Penjion, Robe or Livery, Gift,

yet fully own that he took the Oath. Reward, or Brokage of any Perfon that hath to do

The Statute has been reprefented as obfolete, before him any way, for doing his Office, &c. He
read in Old French, and not regarded, and the comments upon the Words of this Definition and

Oath not duly adminiftred ; that the Officer faid more particularly upon thofe Words, of any Per-

nothing to his Lordfhip, nor he to the Officer. fon that hath to do before him any way, and he

The Witnefs told Your Lordfhips, that at a takesNotice that it is not confined to taking money,

meeting of the Great Officers every Year in the where a Suit is depending •, but alfo where any in

Exchequer, this Statute was read, and they im- a judicial Place doth any thing for Gift or Reward

mediately kiffed the Book ; and that this was the by Virtue or Colour of his Office, tho' there be

ufual method of taking the Oath prefcribed by no Suit at all depending,

that Statute. For Example, (fays he) If the LordTreafurer,for

My Lords, I would obferve, that if there had any Gift or Brokagefhall make any Cuftomer,Comptrol-

been any thing in the taking of the Oath that his ler, or any Officer or Minifter of the King ; this is

Lordfhip thought not regular, it was his Duty, Bribery: For he ought to take nothing in thai Cafe by

who was the Chief of that Affembly, to put them the Statute of n R. II. This Example alfo proves*

in a right method agreeable to the Statute : And that the Statute is not confined to the Conftruction

therefore this Objection is very extraordinary to

come from him.

It is a dangerous Practice for any one to make
a Shew of taking an Oath, and yet, by fome nice

Diftinctions, endeavour to perfuade himfelf or

others that he is not fworn.

I do not know but moft of the Old Oaths that

are taken, may by the like Arguments be evaded,

as well as this ; the very Oath of Office fet forth

in this Lord's Anfwer is, You /hall fwear, &c.

and in that Cafe a nice Diftinguifher may as well

fay, that he repeated nothing, and that there are

not Words de prafenti, whereby he is fworn. But

where is the Defect in adminiftring this Oath ?

The Officer reads out of the Statute, That the

Chancellor, Treafurer, &c. fhall be fworn, and

then they kifs the Book.

I do not fee there is much Difference between

faying, The Chancellor, Treafurer, 6JV. fhall be

Vol. VI.

that has been endeavoured to be put upon it, that

it relates only to Cafes, where the Chancellor, Trea-

furer, &C meet together, as they do, when they

nominate Perfons for Sheriffs ; for the Example is

of the Lord Treafurer alone.

But, My Lords, we infift upon it that this, as

well as other Statutes (that have been mentioned)

are but Declarations, and further Remedies for

what was the Common Law. The Cafe that was

cited out of Moor's Reports, 781. takes it to be

fo, of a Sheriff felling the Office of Gaoler, and

his Bailiwick ; but there was an Objection made

the Report of that Cafe, that it fays the

gives a Penalty certain and

that Stature gives no cer-

to

tute, 4 H. IV. c. 5.

pecuniary •, whereas

tain Penalty, and therefore it might be a right

Refolution upon that Statute. But the Declara-

tion of the Court, upon which the Party was

fined, was becaufe the Offence was malum w fe \

7 I and
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nalty, yet I think the Statue 23 #. VI. c. 10. does

give a Penalty of 40 /. in the fame Cafe of a

Sheriff, and yet the Party was fined at the

Difcretion of the Court. The fame Cafe is alfo

reported in Noy, 1 02 . where he takes no Notice

of any Penalty, and the Report is in thefe Words :

" 7V. was Sheriff of Nottingham, 43 Eliz. and took

" money for the Offices of Gaoler and Bailiwick,

" and he firft gave them to his Servants, who
" fold them, but he himfelf had the money."

And he was fined for that, for it is contrary to

4 H. IV. cap. 5. And alfo by the Court, That

that is a Corruption, and a great Caufe of Op-

preffion in the Officers, and fuch Sale of Offices is

malum in fe, and fin cable.

My Lords, I think the impeached Lord has ad-

vanced a very dangerous Pofition upon this Point.

He is pleafed to fay, the Publick has nothing to

do to enquire about any thing, but whether the

Officer be a good Officer ; that if he be fo, the

Publick is not hurt, though he gives the Chan-

cellor money for his Place. Here I prefume he

was fenfible that it might be objected, that the

fame Argument would hold for taking money in

a Caufe before him, provided it was a good Judg-

ment : And therefore was pleafed to fay, that the

Difference between this Cafe and taking a Bribe

for Judgment in a Caufe is, That in the one Cafe

the Party has a Right to have Judgment, but in

the other Cafe no man has a Right to his Favour

or Recommendation, unlefs upon Terms. This

is very extraordinary, and the fame Argument

would prove, that it is lawful for him to take

money from every Judge that comes into Weft-

minfter-Hall. It is well known, that the Chan-

cellor generally recommends in that Cafe, and

yet it might there be faid, What is the Publick

the worfe, provided he is a good Judge ? Surely

this is fuch a Doftrine, as is not fit to be pro-

claimed to the World, and would tend to uni-

verfal Corruption.

My Lords, There was a very extraordinary

Precedent cited out of Madox's Hiftory of the

Exchequer, p. 43. where he fays, in the Reign

of King Stephen, Geoffery the Chancellor, fined in

3006/. 13 j. \ d. for the King's Seal. This the

Author underftands to be a Fine then lately made

with the King for the Office of Chancellor, or to

have the keeping of the King's Seal. The Au-

thor himfelf obierves, that this Precedent may
juftly feem fcrange to us at this Day. And truly

fo it may, for in the Inftance before Your Lord-

fhips, inftead of paying money to the Crown for

the Office, here are very great Sums of money

paid by the Crown for an Acceptance of it.

But what does this Precedent tend to ? Is it

to prove the Office of Chancellor likewife fale-

able? This is fo entirely new, that it wants a

better Authority than this Precedent. It is a

great while ago, if it were as the Author takes

it to be. But the fame Author, p. 42. fays, That

the Ancient Hiftorians fay little concerning the

Duty of Chancellor, or the Nature of his Office;

and it does not appear what the Bufinefs of his

Office was at that Time, and nothing pertinent to

the matter before Your Lordfhips is to be col-

lected from it. It is very ftrange to fuppofe the

Common Law, that is founded upon Reafon,

fliould admit the higheft Place of Judicature to

be filled by thofe that come in by fuch corrupt

methods. And therefore we muft beg leave to

infill, that it was an Offence at Common Law,
as well as by the Statutes.

But fuppofe this matter refted only upon the
Statute of Edward VI. I do not fee but it is

an Offence and mifdemeanour in his Office of
Chancellor to fell thefe Places of matters in

Chancery, and that he is anfwerable for it before
Your Lordfhips as a Crime.

This Statute is made againft buying and felling

of Offices (for that is the Title of the Statute)
And fhall it not be an Offence cognizable before
Your Lordfhips, for a Chancellor to put in Offi-

cers in a manner that is condemned by Aft of
Parliament ? When he by Virtue of the Office
is to appoint, it is a Breach of his Oath of Office
to appoint contrary to the Laws and Statutes of
the Kingdom ; but more efpecially when he does-

it for corrupt Gain.

As to this Point, there is a great deal of Dif-
ference between one Officer felling to another, and
a Judge that prefides in the Court, whofe Duty it

is to fee that proper Perfons be appointed accord-
ing to Law •, inftead of that, by this method he
fhews them a bad Example on their very Admif-
fion into the Office, and introduces them by Cor-
ruption in the firft Inftance, even by the very Aft
of Adminiftring the Oath to them.

If this Great Officer fhould be liable to no
other Punifhment, than an Incapacity of Nomi-
nating again to the fame Office, the Aft would
have little Effeft, and that Penalty would fig-

nify very little ; fince his own Office is during
Pleafure.

My Lords, I fhall now proceed to reply to

the Defence that has been made on the Thirteenth

and all the fubfequent Articles, which is the Pro-
vince more particularly afligned to me.

The Charge in the Thirteenth Article is, That
upon the Failure of Dormer, inftead of taking

proper Steps for obtaining a Satisfaction by re-

gular and juftifiable methods, the Earl of Mac-
clesfield neglefted and declined thofe methods,

and by many indireft Practices endeavoured to

conceal the true State and Condition of the

Office ; left a publick Difcovery of the Defici-

ency fhould leffen the unjuft Gains he propofed

to make by the Sale of the Offices of mailers

in Chancery.

Upon this Article the impeached Lord has faid,

he thinks it hard that thefe mifcarriages fhould

be charged upon him, that this Affair about

Dormer was a misfortune that might have hap-

pened in any other Chancellor's Time, and not

his Fault.

My Lords, If this unfortunate Lord had done

what became him in his high Station upon the

Failure of this mailer, God forbid that the mif-

fortune upon the Office fhould any ways have

been laid to his Charge ; if he had been defirous

to have proceeded in a regular method, he might

very eafily have done it ; the Paths of Virtue

and Juftice would have been eafy, he need not

have found himfelf at the End of Four Years

furrounded with fuch infuperable Difficulties.

If a fair, plain, and open method had been

taken for enquiring into, and ftating the Debt due

to the Suitors, and the Account of Dormer's Ef-

fefts to fatisfy it, thefe could have been no Dan-

ger to the Chancellor, whatever the Deficiency

had been ; but the Truth was, he could not part

with thofe vaft and exorbitant Prices, to which

he had at that Time railed the Places of mailers

;

he
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he found the fweet of that Gain, and was willing with a parol Direction
;

to run fome Hazard for it.

Tho' it was known that Dormer was gone,

yet the quantum of the Deficiency was not

known ; and if it had been publick, the money
might probably have been taken out of the ma-

tter's Hands ; a Parliamentary Enquiry might

have enfued, and he might have loft thofe exor-

believe

on an

to be

which
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Chancehor, that are in Earneft, are always in
Writing; nor can they be enforced unlefs they
are lo

; and therefore there muft be fome private
Reafons for thefe extraordinary Proceedings.

Another Thing that was infilled on, was,' That
the Earl (as he expreffes it in his Anfwer) was
made to believe that the mailers would make

bitant Profits, which he afterwards actually made good the Deficiency. What Reafon had he to
of thofe Places •, and thefe were the true Reafons

of the Concealment, and of die clandeftine Pro-

ceeding that followed ; nothing elfe hindered

him from proceeding with Safety to himfelf- by

regular Orders of the Court. When Orders of

Court are regularly made, there is a quick Way
of putting them in Execution : It has been ob-

ferved by the Counfel in this Cafe, that it is

more expeditious againft an Officer of die Court,

than another ; and it is certainly fo. There

might have been a Sequeftration againft Dormer

in a very little Time, and that would have intitu-

led the Court to the PoffefTion of his Effects for

the Benefit of the Suitors •, which in a great mea-

fure anfwers what was objected of the Neceffity

of Dormer's coming over, and having his Liberty

in Order to transfer his Stock. It was likewife

faid, that it was neceflary for the Difcovery of

his Effects ; and yet when he did come over, he

was never examined on Interrogatories. Surely

if a Chancellor will take upon him to grant a man
his Liberty, when he is to make Satisfaction to

the Suitors, he ought to take care thc.t the Con-

fideration for the granting him his Liberty fhould

be performed.

But it is faid, What Harm has happened by

not taking thofe Methods ?

My Lords, Here are two remarkable Inftances

it ? They never told him fo ; m a i

ter of that moment he had no reafon to depend
hear-fay Evidence. He knew this was
an Undertaking for the Debt of another ;

could not by Law be Obligatory, unlefs
reduced into Writing.

My Lords, I cannot account for thefe Things,
either in the Chancellor, or thofe mafters that
had the management of this Affair, unlefs it be
(as the Article charges) to conceal the Deficiency
of the Office, I mean, the quantum of that De-
ficiency

; and that both the Chancellor and the
two Senior mafters thought it their Intereft to do
fo, that all of them might fhare in the Sale of
the Places : The two Senior mafters were defirous
(as was mentioned by the Evidence) to fell out,
and the Chancellor was ready to receive his Share
of the money.

The Fourteenth Article is the Article about
the Compofition with Wilfon ; and I muft beg
Leave to fay, notwithftanding what has been in-
fifted upon, That it is a clandeftine, unufual,
and unwarrantable Proceeding. We did take
the Liberty on our Evidence to this Article
to obferve to Your Lordfhips, That the Peti-
tion of Mr. Edwards (on which this Compofi-
tion is founded) takes notice that Dormer was
indebted to the Suitors of the Court in feveral

of the Confequences of this Neglect, by which confiderable Sums of money ; which fhould have
it appears neither the Debt to the Suitors was been a Caution to the Chancellor to have taken a
known, nor the quantum of the Effects that there more than ordinary Care in this matter; but in-

were to pay it. ftead of that, there is not any one Order, Affi-

Mr. Edwards told your Lordfhips, That the davit, Report, or any one Proceeding, that ap-
Deficiency of Dormer was at firft about 25,000/. pears upon Record throughout this whole Affair.

but that about a month ago he difcovered a The Report produced appeared to be the On-
farther Debt of about 1500/. here there is a ginal under Mr. Hiccocks's Hand, which was a

very great Deficiency concealed : On the other

fide the Effects of Mr. Dormer, that fhould have

gone towards paying this Debt, have been con-

cealed and leffened by the want of fuch an Exa-

Demonftration that it was not filed at the Time
when the Order was made for eftablifhing this

Compofition, nor has been fince.

My Lords, If there be but an Affidavit annexed
mmation. Your Lordfhips heard the Evidence to a Petition, care is ufually taken to order that

about the Parcels of Hops belonging to Dor- it fhall be filed ; but it was not thought conve-

mer, that were worth Seven or Eight Hundred nient in this Cafe to have any thing puolick.

Pounds, that lay concealed Four Years, and were My Lords, The Earl of Macclesfield in his De-
not difcovered till lately. The Counfel, indeed, fence to this Article begun with a Copy of a

faid, They were only a Parcel of mufty Hops Judgment obtained by Wilfon againft Poulter, that

that have been found. But if he had been exa- was figned 22 December iju, and is for 18,774/.
mined on Interrogatories, in all Probability, he whereas the Debt pretended to be affigncd by
would have difcovered them at firft, and they Wilfon, is 12,060 1. So that tho' the Judgment was
had been worth 5 or 600/. more than now, and for all that Wilfon could pretend to (for ought ap-

the Suitors would have had the Benefit of them

;

5, or 600 /. is a confiderable Sum in Mr. Dor-

mer's Effects ; and no one can tell but there might

be other Inftances of the like Kind.

What is the Anfwer his Lordfhip gives to this

grofs and wilful Neglect? Fie tells Your Lord-

fhips, That he gave Directions to the two Se-

nior mafters to make Enquiry into Dormer's Af-

pears) yet the Debt pretended to be affigned, is

mentioned to be above 3000 /. more than what
the Judgment is for ; which is a farther Objec-

tion to this Compofition, that did not appear

before.

The next Point the Earl examined to, was the

Sufficiency of Poulter, in order to prove the Af-

fignment of Poultcr's D^bt to be valuable; and

fairs and Accounts ; He left it to them, and that there were two or three Brokers produced on this

they did not think it requifitc to examine him up- Account.

on Interrogatories, or toufe him with Hardfhip.

It is very extraordinary, that in a matter of

that great Concern, he fhould content himfelf

They were very unlucky WitnefTes to prove

the Man's Ability, for they happened to be the

very Perfons to whom he had clecued his Insol-

vency -.
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to govency •, oiu of them (Scott) was employed

to Mr. Wilfon to Compound with him.

But then a very notable Diftinction was taken

by the Earl himfelf, That tho' Poulter difclofed

to thefe Witnefies that he was Infolvent, and that

they were let into the Secret ; yet all other People

took him to be a good Man. The Evidence

produced to prove this, were only thofe that knew

he was Infolvent, and not One of all thofe others

that it is faid took him to be Solvent.

But we hope we have made it plain (and if

it were neceffary, we could make it clear beyond

Difpute) that Poulter was a broken man at that

time.

Another Objection was, How does it appear

that a better Compofition could have been

made ?

My Lords, Thofe that prefume to take upon

them, without a lawful Authority, to make a Com-
pofition to bind the Parties concerned, ought to

make it appear to be a very good one ; but on the

contrary it appeared in this Cafe on the Exami-

nation of Mr. Edwards, that Wilfon (when he was

afterwards charged with it) owned he had paid

feveral others their full Debts ; and 'tis notorious

that he kept his Shop open till lately.

My Lords, The Anfwer to our Objection, That

no notice was given to the Suitors, of this Re-

ference ;;bout the Compofition, carried in it (I

thought) fomething extraordinary. It was faid

both by the Earl of Macclesfield and his Counfel,

That whatever the Lord Chancellor did, could

not bind the Suitors, they not having notice, and

therefore the Suitors might recover the whole

from Wilfon, and no body was hurt.

My Lords, There is fomething very (hocking

in this Excufe, it ftrikes fome Horror to think,

that this poor ignorant man (Wilfon) mould be

made to believe upon the Faith of a Court of

Juftice, that his Compofition was in full Dif-

charge of his Debt, if there was at the fame time

a Referve, that it might be fet afide for want of

notice to the Suitors ; the Excufe feems to carry

in it a greater Guilt than the Crime charged.

This unfortunate man (Wilfon) was living at the

Beginning of this Trial, but has fince laid vio-

lent Hands on himfelf, and he is dead : I make
no Reflection what might be the Occafion of it.

My Lords, I did mention that upon the Abfo-
lute Order made for Mr. Edwards accepting this

Compofition, it was ordered to be accepted with

this Addition to the Order, viz. Of which give

Notice forthwith. I mentioned it, that the Earl

might have explained what he meant by direct-

ing Notice after the Compofition was ordered

to be accepted, or to whom Notice was intended

to be given -, I have heard no Anfwer to that,

but what the Earl was pleafed to fay about the

Articles, that on reading them he thought he

happened, that particular Petitions have been
heard in Vacation-Time, if Neceffity required it

;

and I don't underftand why there needed to be
fuch a Fondnefs for having this done fo much in

hafte, unlefs it were for the Purpofes charged in

the Articles. There was likewife fomething faid

by the Earl, of the finking out of the Prayer of
Indemnification, that if it were juftifiable, it

needed no Order to indemnify, and if it were
not juftifiable, it ought not to be in ; but what
we fay is, that it looks like a Diffidence whether
it was juftifiable or not, and fince it was put into

the Prayer of the Petition, that Mr. Edwards
might be indemnified, if the Chancellor thought
it not juftifiable, he ought to have kt Mr. Ed-
wards know it, as much as he ought to have let

Mr. Wilfon have known that the Compofition
would not be good without the Suitors being
Parties. As there is no tolerable Account given

for fuch an extraordinary Proceeding, we fubmit
to Your Lordlhips, whether it is not rightly

charged to be for the unlawful Purpofes men-
tioned in the Articles. If a Commimon of Bank-
ruptcy had been taken out againft Wilfon, the

quantum of the Debt to Dormer, and confequently

of the Lofs of the Suitors, muft have been

known, and other Suitors might have been alarmed,

and a thorough Reformation might have hap-

pened ; which might have ended in the taking

away the money from the mafters, and the Price

of the Places would have been lowered, which
was always moft carefully avoided.

My Lords, I now proceed to reply, to the

Defence made on the Fifteenth, Sixteenth, and
Seventeenth Articles.

The Fifteenth Article is, That after the Failure

of Dormer, the Earl of Macclesfield, in order to

carry on his corrupt and unjuft Purpofes, and to

conceal the Deficiency, did call for the Accounts

of the mafters, not with any Intent of Examin-
ing them, or to fecure their Effects, but to ter-

rify the mafters and oblige them to contribute

500 /. apiece ; and after that Purpofe was ferved,

did not oblige them to bring in their Accounts.

The Sixteenth is, That he perfuaded the ma-
fters to pay the 1000 1, ordered to Mrs. Chitty for

the like Purpofes.

And the Seventeenth is, For letting all the

money belonging to Dormer be paid away to

fome of the Suitors, without obferving a Pro-

portion, to which all were equally intitled.

To the Fifteenth the Earl of Macclesfield fays

in his Anfwer, That he did really call for the

Accompts with an Intent to examine them, and

that he might regulate matters, and that after

the 500 /. was paid, ftill he called for the Ac-
compts ; for that there was a Letter fent in No-

vember 172 1, to the mafters, infilling upon hav-

ing them ; but as to this fecond Letter, as Mr.
had been charged with compelling Mr. Edwards Cottingham did not fpeak at all pofitively to it, but

that he believed, but could not bepofitive, that it was

fent, and that he had taken no memorandum of it,

&c. we muft beg leave to acquaint Your Lord-

lhips, that this fecond Letter was never fent;

and every One of the mafters will a;ive Your
But

to accept of a Compofition without Notice to

him •, whereas it was done on the Petition of

Edwards. My Lords, the Notice fhould have been
given to the Suitors, and that before the Compofi-
tion was ordered to be accepted ; that is what the

Article charges, and what the managers infill on, Lordlhips that Account

:

and no Anfwer is given to that Objection.

It was faid, That if it had been fet down to

be heard in the ordinary Courfe (it being the Third
of Augufi) in Vacation-Time, it could not have
come on till the next Term.

I believe that Lord knows it has very often

fuppofing

give

it had

been fent, can any one imagine that the Chan-

cellor would not have purfued that Direction,

and have had thofe Accompts, if he had really

intended it ? What is the Excufe at laft ? He had

required fo many Particulars in the Accompts,

that it was almoft impracticable to do it. My
Lords,
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Lords, if the Charge in the Articles be true, it

anfwered the Defign the better, that it fhould be

difficult; we fay it was done to get from the ma-

ilers 500/. apiece to quiet matters for the pre-

fent, and when that was done, there was no more

Ufe made of that Order. But what is moll won-

derful of all is, that, tho' in Four Years Time it

was fo difficult a Work that it could not be done,

yet, when the Committee of Council had called

for the Accompts, the Earl of Macclesfield ufed

fuch Diligence, that he procured them to be ready

in a Week's Time •, and tho' all the Directions

and Particulars which he had required, were not

obferved, yet it feems they were all that were ne-

cefTary and fufficient, and it was hoped fuch as

would prevent a Parliamentary Enquiry.

The Earl in his Anfwer values himfelf much
upon this Expedition, not confidering how in-

confiftent it was with the Difficulties which were

made an Excufe for not having it done Four

Years before.

Jt was infilled on, upon this Head, that Mr.

Lightboun did not pay, and yet he brought in no

Account ; but however, Nine of the mailers did

pay, and the Chancellor well knew it would

have looked very partial to have proceeded a-

gainft one fingle mailer, and not the reft ; that

would have been too barefaced, and fo Mr.

Lightboun efcaped too ; befides there was not a

Total Defpair even of him, for he was feveral

Times afterwards fpoke to, about making good

his 500 /.

It was faid likewife, the Bufinefs of the Court

mufl have been at a Stand, if thefe Accompts had

been purfued.

My Lords, If it had been fo, it had been more

for the Reputation of the Court, and for the Be-

nefit of the Suitors in general, to have had fome

Time employed about this necefTary Work ; and

if there had been a willing mind, one long Va-

cation would have been fufficient without any In-

terruption to the Bufinefs of the Court.

After all thefe Excufes the Earl is pleafed to

fay, if he had taken the Accompts, it would have

fignified nothing unlefs he went farther.

My Lords, If he never begun, he could never

bring any thing to Perfection ; and in his An-
fwer he confelfes, it was necefTary to have the

Accompts in order to make Regulations. But

after all he is forced to come to this Conclufion

(as he fays in his Anfwer) to go on in the fame Road
bis Predeceffors had done ; tho', by the way, it has

appeared to Your Lordfhips, that it is not the

fame Road ; for his two immediate Predeceffors

did call for the Accompts, and had them.

The Sixteenth Article is grounded on the Per-

fuafions to pay 1000/. (ordered to Mrs. Chitty)

to prevent a Parliamentary or publick Enquiry,

and that the Earl afterwards paid the fame him-

felf to Mr. Lock-man, &c.

My Lords, We called Six or Seven WitnefTes

to this Article, and did obferve at that Time the

Earl in his Anfwer faid, He believed he did not

perfuade the mailers to pay this 1000 h And his

Lordfhip was pleafed to fay, when he fpoke in

his Defence, That he ftill believed, that he did

not perfuade them to pay it.

My Lords, It is very ftrange that there fhould

be any Doubt made of it -, the Occafion of the

meeting, and the Nature of the thing plainly

fhews it. Firft Mr. Cottingham went to Mr. Light-

boun, and told him, that there was a prefent Oc-
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cafion for this 1000/. that it was propofed he
fhould pay the 500/. (which he fhould have paid
before) and the other Mailers 50 /. apiece, which
would make up the 1000/. When the mailers
were going to the Lord Chancellor's, they dif-

courfed among themfelves, that their going was
upon Occafion of another Call for money.
When the Chancellor came to them, he men-

tioned
_
the preffing Neceffity there was for pay-

ing this 1000/.

Mr. Edwards particularly fays, that he repre-

fented to them this matter of 1000/. as a thing

of Confequence, a very pr-effing Occafion of a Sum of
money immediately to be paid; he faid, Ido not know
what the Confluence may be ; Clamours begin to grow
Jlrong. I do not know but it may come to a Parlia-
mentary Enquiry. Mr. Lovibond fays, that my
Lord told them, this was a matter that required

great Expedition, for one that belonged to thePrince's

Court, and all of them underftood there was a Pro-
pofal to pay the 1 000 /. and that was the Occafion
of the meeting. All the mailers that have been
examined on this Head confirm it.

What is it that is to evade all this Evidence ? It

is only this poor Shift, I did not (fays the Noble
Lord) perfuade them to pay the 1 000 /. but I per-

fuaded them to pay all Dormer's Deficiency.

My Lords, There is no Evidence to fupport

this Diftinclion, but on the contrary, there were
Arguments ufed for the advancing of this money.
And if he was not able to perfuade them to pay
this 1000/. there was no Likelihood of prevailing

on them to pay the whole.

My Lords, Another matter infilled on in Re-
lation to this Article was, that the money, which
was paid to Lockman, was paid out of Compaffion ;

Lockman fays he took it as his due, and I think he
was in the right; he gave an Alignment of the

Order, when it was paid ; and certainly this can in

no Sort be added to the Lift of this Noble Lord's

Charities, that he has been pleafed to publifh ; but

the Difcourfe with the mailers before fhews plain*

ly what were his Inducements for paying it ; he

feared the Confequence if it were not paid, and

chofe rather to do it, than venture thole Enqui-

ries that the not paying it might occafion.

I think the Earl feems to agree, in Subflance,

to the Declaration at the End of the Articles,

that was made the Fifth of December laft, viz.

that he had heard of Dormer'^ Deficiency, but knew

nothing of it but as publick News, &c. A ftrange

Declaration to come from the Bench at the End
of Four Years, during which Time were all thefe

Tranfaclions about Dormer's Deficiency ! Then it

was that he was pleafed to refer it to Mr. Ed-
wards, to enquire whether there was likely to be a

Lois of any money, when at that Time he knew
very well that all Dormer s money was gone, and

Mr. Edwards had none in his Elands.

The Seventeenth Article is for ordering and

permitting Dormer's money to be paid out with-

out Regard to Proportion ; this was a manif.lt

Injuftice, and fo difcourfed of between this Lord
himfelf and Mr. Edwards ; and the Anfwer that

is given to it is, That we have produced but Four

Orders made by the impeached Lord for luch

Payments.

My Lords, I think it not material whether

the Orders were made by himfelf, or the Court

;

he was warned feveral Times of the Confe-

quence ; he took the management of thefe mat-

ters to himfelf, and let Things run on, hoping

7 K tlu
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the money would tail his Time ; and now all upon them, and that it might be called for at

is gone, and paid away, and many diftreffed Peo- any Time ; and if his Lordfhip had thofe Ac-
ple are left without any thing. In the Caufe of compts, I dare fay he would have ken that

Jett and Jones, the Orders that were read, ap- there was ten Times as much Cafh in the ma-
peared to be made by this Lord himfelf ; and fters Difpofal, as there was in one of thofe Pre-

the Parties have been fo lucky as to have got deceffors Time. And it might have been of
their whole money, whilft others are in the ut- Ufe to him to have feen what prodigious Sums
moll Neceffity without any Subfiftance. of money were in their Hands, and how great

The Confequence is, that the reft of the the Danger was.

Suitors, who were intitled to an equal Pro- As to the prefent Commiflloners, the Noble
portion, have no Remedy for it. What may Lord was pleafed to fay, the Difficulties of ma-
be done for them in Charity and Companion king the mafters accompt have appeared by
is of another Confideration ; but their legal their Proceedings.

Right is taken away by him that fhould have My Lords, They have been fufficiently taken

protected them. tip with endeavouring to compel the mafters to

An Objection was made by the Counfel, That give Security for the Deficiencies incurred in this

there was no fixed Fund of Dormer's Effects, Lord's Time. The Difficulty was not fo much
from which to have fettled a Rule of Proportion, in taking an Accompt, as in making good the

This is excufing one Fault by another : Firft, Deficiency.

Care is taken not to have an Accompt fettled

;

They have been forced to take what Security

and then that is made an Excufe for not fettling they could get from the mafters from Time to

a Proportion. " Time, and I wifh the Deficiency do not ftill

The Eighteenth Article relates to the ma- come out worfe than is expected ; no one can

fters trafficking with the money ; which was as yet fay what it will be.

notorious, as that there was fuch a Place as My Lords , The Nineteenth Article was
Exchange-Alley. founded on the Endeavours of the Lord impea-

The Year 1 720 has been mentioned both ched, to deceive His Majefty in Council, by
by the Earl and his Counfel, and it was fo fa- perfuading the mafters to make falfe Repre-

tal a Year, that furely, if a Reformation were fentations of their Circumftances to His Ma-
ever to be made, it fhould have been upon jefty, by a Subfcription to their Accompts, and

that Occafion. I think there is but little Dif- by ailifting one another to make an Appearance
ference, whether they traded with the money of Ability.

themfelves, or put it into another's Hands at This, my Lords, was the fad Conclufion of

high Intereft, and permitted them to trade with this long Scene of Iniquity •, when it was be-

it. Could any one imagine that Dormer let come neceffary , and it was no longer to be

24,000 /. lie in PFilfon's Elands for nothing ? avoided, that there fhould be Accomprs deli-

Mr. Cottingham, upon the Examination of my vered in. There is an Attendance on the

Lord's own Counfel, gave Evidence, that Wil- Chancellor ; and one of the mafters having

fon infifted he allowed high Intereft for it. And concluded his Accompt with a Reprefentation

it was well known it was in the Power of all of his Ability and Readinefs to pay the mo-
the mafters to traffick with the money, and ney, the reft are perfuaded to do it in the

this after exprefs Warning by one of the ma- like manner, without fo much as afking them
fters to the Chancellor not only by Word of concerning the Truth of it; and there is one
mouth, but by Letter written (as I take it) in Inftance that was very remarkable, which was

1722. But every Thing of a Regulation of in the Cafe of Mr. Lovibond, that where he, of
that Kind was liable to Objection ; one Thing his own Accord, could go no farther than to

that was propofed was fo eafy to be done, that fay he was able to pay or give Security to pay ;

there is no Excufe it was not complied with, that was not thought fufficient by this Lord,

which is in Relation to the Securities, by pla- becaufe it would imply a Diffidence that the

cing them in two or three Names, which would money was not then forth coming ; and there-

have prevented the mafters from difpofing of fore thofe Words about Security were not to be

the Securities. mentioned. Others of them, that were no ways
This might very eafily have been done. The capable of producing the money, were induced

only Anfwer that was given, was, that it would to make the like Subfcription.

not anfwer all the Securities. When it was expected the money fhould be

This was made a Reafon for doing of no- produced, then Mr. Dixon and Mr. Cottingham

thing, and there was fuch a Backwardnefs to have a meeting with the mafters to confult what
do any Thing of this Kind, that the meaneft was to be done ; then it was that Propofals

and moft trifling Excufe was fufficient to fa- were made for the mafters to affift each other,

tisfy his Lordfhip , not to take any Step to- and to get Goldfmiths Notes and other Effects to

wards it. fhew to the Judges.

My Lords, Upon this Article the impeached It has been objected, that the managers did not

Lord was pleafed to mention feme of his Pre- think fit to call Mr. Cottingham and Mr. Dixon.

deceffors, and alfo his Succeffors : As; to his two My Lords, We called the mafters that were

immediate Predeceffors, he doubts the taking the prefent at that meeting, who gave Your Lord-
Accompts by him in the manner they did, would fhips an Account of that Tranfaction, and it

have been thought of no Ufe. turns the Objection upon the impeached Lord,

My Lords, I am apt to believe a good Ufe that he did not think fit to call Mr. Cottingham

might have been made of it ; it would have and Mr. Dixon (that were his Servants and A-
put a Check and Reftraint upon the mafters, gents) to contradict that Evidence ; if this Lord
they would have acted with more Caution

,

had no Concern in that matter, he would cer-

when they knew the Ballance was a Charge tainly have called them to that Purpofe, and his

not
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not examining them to it, greatly confirms our from Mr. Elde and Mr. Thurfion for the mailer's
Evidence. Office : We mall fhew how that hapoen'd

'

Your Lordfhips may remember the many In-

confiftencies, Evafions, Equivocations, and In- Mr. Richard Lucas Sworn
fufficiencies in his Lordfhip's Anfwer to the Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We defire that you would
Articles of Impeachment, which have been ob- inform my Lords, whether you made any Ap-
ferved and plainly made out by the managers plication to the Earl of Macclesfield, or to Mr.
for the Commons Cottingham, about coming into the matters Of-
My Lords, He was pleafed to make a Di- fice at the Time when Mr. Elde or Mr Thurfion

ftinction between an Aniwer to Articles of Im- were admitted, and what patted,
peachment, and an Anfwer to a Bill in Chan- Mr. Richard Lucas. My Lords, Upon the
eery ; that the Plaintiff in a Caufe had a Right Death of Mr. Fellowes, beincr perfuaded by fome
to a full and plain Difcovery, but that the Cafe Friends to make an Application for the Office
before Your Lordfhips differs. My Lords, I vacant by his Death, I did go immediately to
would beg leave to mention, that there was an Mr. Cottingham ; my Lord Macclesfield bein^ then
Inftance of an Impeachment before Your Lord- out of Town, I thought it proper to o- °to his
fhips, in which the Lord now impeached had a Secretary.

great Share in the Reply, wherein he laid very Lord Ch. Juftice King. Pleafe to fpeak up.
great Strefs upon the Infufficiency and Evafions M. Richard Lucas. I fay, upon the Death of
in the Anfwer. The Perfon then impeached had Mr. Fellowes, I was perfuaded by fome Friends
very hard Names given to him on that Account, to make Application for the Matter's Place •,

and even his Silence was infilled on as a Confefiion and upon that, I went to Mr. Cottingham, and
of his Crimes. told him the Affair I came about. He told me,

As to the Noble Lord's Charities, I beg leave Mr. Lucas, you know you have formerly had
to fay, that, as it is a great Addition to the fome Talk with me about an Affair of this Na-
merit of Charity, to have it kept private , it ture ; it is to no Purpofe for me to recommend
was the more extraordinary thefe Charities you to my Lord, unlefs you bid more than
fhould be now published ; becaufe I do not fee formerly you have done. Upon that I im-
they are any ways material to the matters be- mediately told him, I was ready to give 6000 /.

fore Your Lordfliips. Here are plain Facts There was fome Talk patted between us be-
charged and proved, and if in a Cafe of this fides, but it being fo long ago, and not ex-
Kind thefe Charities are to wipe off the Charge, peeling to be called to give an Account of it,

it is a Kind of Commutation that has not been I cannot now recoiled it. One Thing I can
before heard of.

_
My Lords, he that would be recollect that he intimated to me, That my

the mod meritorioufly charitable, fhould firft be Lord Macclesfield had fome Intentions of making
juft. The Lord fhould have firft confidered thofe fome Orders , or doing fomewhat that fhould
Suitors that he had injured, he fhould firft have be for the Eafe or Advantage of the matters

;

made Satisfaction to them, and then have offered but his Lordfhip would not do it at that Time,
his Gifts. becaufe it would look as if he had an Inten-

Thus we have endeavoured to lay before your tion of making Advantage of that Vacancy. A
Lordfhips the whole Circumftances of this Cafe : Day or two afterwards I met Mr. Cottingham

There needs no Eloquence to aggravate the in the Flail, and afked him, If he had fpoke
Crimes ; I pretend to none ; but the Cries of to my Lord about me ? He told me, he had

;

Widows and Orphans will have the molt per- but that my Lord was pleafed to enquire into

fuafive Eloquence, and when they have Juftice my Circumftances, and did think it proper that

on their Side, they will have Weight with Your fome Security fhould be given by the matters

;

Lordfhips. and I being immediately to be put in by his

My Lords, The Cafe before Your Lordfhips Lordfhip , it was the more incumbent upon
is founded on Corruption, and a Series of Fraud him to fee what Security I was able to give.

to fupport that Corruption. The People had Upon that I waited upon him to know what
long murmured at it, but the Grievance increa- Security was expected : He mentioned to me
fed at laft to fuch an intolerable Degree, that 10,000/. Security. I told him, That after fuch

it became a National Concern, and there was an Time as I had parted with 6000 /. I could not

unavoidable Neceffuy of a Parliamentary Profe- take upon me to fay, I could myfelf make up
cution. a Security to the Value of 10,000/. but what

My Lords, The Commons hope they have with the Affiftance of Friends , and mine

done their Duty in bringing it here, and we own Eftate, I might poffibly do it. Upon
hope your Lordfliips will give fuch Judgment, talking of the matter with my mother, fhe was

as will be confiftent with Your Lordfhips Honour very willing to join in the Security. Upon
and Juftice. that I wrote a Letter , I cannot remember

whether it was directed to my Lord Macclef-

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, We fhall beg field, or to his Secretary ; but to one or the

leave to call a Witnefs or two ; the firft to other it was. I fent it by my Servant, and I

the Imputation endeavoured to be thrown up- was informed by Mr. Cottingham, That his Lord-

on Mr. Thomas Bennet\ Character, in Relation fhip had a Sight of it. But afterwards being un-

to the Difcourfe that paffed between him and eafy at giving fo large a Sum of money, and

the Earl. We fhall fhew that he declared it confidering from the Talk that then wa.% that

at that very Time, or foon after the Lord had thefe matters might come into Parliament, I

fpoke it to him. We defire alfo to examine was advifed, and I thought it proper, to have

Mr. Lucas, who applied for the matter's Place, fome better Hold upon his Lordfhip, to make

It was infifted, That the Earl was offered 6000 /. fome Return, in Cafe any thing fhould happen

and actually refufed to take it ; but took 5000 /. to leflen the Value of the Plate : Upon that, I

2 did
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did write a Letter , I cannot remember the Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Orders did you give

whole Contents ; but I pretty well remember to your Brother ? Did you give him any Order to

the Subftance, which was, That I would under- pay the money without Confideration of being

take to give the Security required to the amount liable to the Deficiencies ?

of z 0,000/. I believe, I did alfo mention my Mr. R. Lucas. I gave him no Order at all,

real Eftate, which was near 300 /. a Year, to I thought it was not come to bear yet.

be a Part of the Security, and I did add, That Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was there any thing palled

notwithstanding the prefent Difputes between after that ?

the mafter of the Rolls and the other mafters, Mr. R. Lucas. I conceive, my Lords, you
and the Talk there was of bringing it into won't think it proper for me to give an Account
Parliament, I was not at all uneafy ; becaufe I of what palled between Mr. Ellis and my Bro-

could fecurely depend upon his Lordfhip's Ge- ther.

nerofity, that he would take it into his Confi- Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire to know, whether

deration, in Cafe any thing happened amifs in your Brother had any Orders or Directions from
the next Seilidn of Parliament •, I can't remember you to go on ?

exactly the Words, but my Lord Macclesfield Mr. R. Lucas. I have told you every thing I

has the Letter ; if I am miftaken, his Lordlhip can recollect •, I only told him, I defired him to

will fet me right. fpeak to Mr. Ellis to recommend me to his

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Upon this Letter of your Lordlhip, upon the Foot I have mentioned, viz.

Expectation of being repaired, if any thing hap- on the Foot of the former Propofals.

pened, had you any Anfwer ? Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Had your Brother any Au-
Mr. R. Lucas. The next thing I heard, was thority from you to give 6000/. without being

That Mr. Elde was in the Place, and Mr. Cot- fecured from the Deficiencies ?

tingham was pleafed to fay, he was a particular Mr. R. Lucas. Six thoufand Pounds was the

Acquaintance of my Lord's, and therefore had Sum to be given, and I defired my Brother to

it. mention the Deficiencies, and that I fhould not

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When Mr. Cottingham told be underftood to be fubject to any of them,

you this, what Anfwer did he return as to my Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Was it to be given abfo-

Lord's Approbation of the Propofal ? lutely without Referve, or with Regard to be

Mr. R. Lucas. He faid, to the belt of my Re- fecured from the Deficiencies ?

membrance, That my Lord was pleafed that I Mr. R. Lucas. I did defire that the Bufinefs

offered 6000 /. at once, provided I would give of the Deficiency might be explained, and that it

Security, if that fhould be thought proper. might be underftood that I would- not be anfwera-

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Since you was difappointed ble for any of them,

when Mr. Elde came in, What pafTed when
Mr. I'hurjlon came in ? whether did you renew Mr. Edward Lucas fworn.

your Application then ? Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire you would inform

Mr. R. Lucas. I was, with Abundance of Re- my Lords, whether you received any, and what

gret and Fear, prevailed upon to renew my Ap- Directions from your Brother, upon the laft Va-
plication. cancy, when Mr. Tburjlon came in, of the ma-

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What were your Fears ? king Propofals for your Brother's coming into

Mr. R. Lucas. My Fear was about the that Office ?

bringing this matter into Parliament, and that Mr. E. Lucas. Soon after Mr. Borret's Death,

I did not know what Effect that might have my Brother exprelTed an Inclination to me of
upon the Profits of the Place. Upon that, my fucceeding in that Office : I told him, I had
Brother told me, he was acquainted with Mr. El- an Acquaintance with Mr. Ellis, my Lord Mac-
lis, his Lordfhip's Chaplain, and, if I pleafed, he clesjield's Chaplain ; and if he would give me
would go to him, and get him to fpeak to my any Commiffion, I would communicate it to

Lord about it. Mr. Ellis, I believing that a proper Way of

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Directions did you communicating it to my Lord. My Brother

give to your Brother as to offering any thing, did defire me to go to Mr. Ellis, and to in^

and upon what Terms ? form him myfelf, that he had fo juft a Senfe

Mr. R. Lucas. I cannot fay whether my of my Lord's Honour and Generofity , that

Brother had a direct Commiffion from me to he believed he might leave the Terms to be

mention that I was then ready to give 6000 /. fixed by my Lord himfelf. I went to Mr. Ellis,

but it was my Apprehenfion, and the Apprehen- and did tell him as my Brother had defired me.
fion of all thofe that knew this Affair, that I Mr. Ellis faid, He did not much care to con-

fhould not come in under fo much; I am not cern himfelf in the Affair; if it had been to

very pofitive that fuch a Direction was given, recommend to a Living, it might be proper for

I did mention another thing to my Brother, to him ; but this was out of his Province. I ac-

acquaint Mr. Ellis, that I had heard more of the quainted him with what Steps my Brother had
Deficiencies in the feveral Offices of the mafters, formerly taken, in order to obtain one of thefe

and that I was not without Apprehenfion, that Offices, and explained to him the Nature of the

if I fhould give 6000 /. to come into this Place, thing, and perfuaded him to lay this matter

I might from time to time be called upon for fe- before his Lordlhip. Upon which he was then

vera! Sums of money in order to make good pleafed to fay, He would go to my Lord (who
paft Deficiencies ; and I thought that it would was at Kenfmgton) the next Day, and bring me
be unreafonable for me to be brought into any an Anfwer.

Contribution for making good thofe Deficiencies, Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Flad he any Directions ei-

when I had no Concern in them. I then defired ther as to the Price, or the Terms ?

it might be mentioned. As for the Anfwer, I Mr. E. Lucas. I don't knoW of any Directions

never law Mr. Ellis. he had, either as to the Price, or the Terms.
Mr.
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Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What did you fay about the

Security, and the Deficiencies in the feveral Of-

fices ?

Mr. E. Lucas. This was another Converfation,

about a Week, or Ten Days after; after Mr. Ellis

had brought me an Anfwer, then I remember

y^
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What was the Anfwer my

Lord fent ?

Mr. E. Lucas. The Anfwer that Mr. Ellis
brought was, That my Lord had no Objec-
tion to my Brother, he did remember that he
had been formerly recommended to him, but

my Brother gave me Directions to confult with that there was fome other Perfon propofed by
Mr. Ellis, whether it was not proper to make my fome of the mafters, of whom he* expected a
Lord a direct Offer of 6000 /. but/hen it would farther Recommendation, and could not now
be reafonable, that he fhould be indemnified

or fecured from any Damage, or Deficiency by

any of the precedent Mafters ; and that he

fhould not be called upon to make good any

fuch Deficiency. I told Mr. Ellis this, and he

faid, there was no Room for this, there might

be Deficiencies in fome other of the Offices,

give any other Anfwer to it : He alfo told
me, That he apprehended, if that Perfon did
not fucceed, my Brother might have the Re-
fufal. I faid it was indifferent whether my
Brother then fucceeded, or not; becaufe my
Lord told him , That one or two mafters
were inclinable to fell, and if they did, he

but he had heard, there was no Deficiency might have an Opportunity of buying of thofe

in Mr. Borret's Office. I had likewife heard mafters. This patted on the Second Conver-
fo, but whether there was a Deficiency or not, fation.

[ could not tell ; my Brother was willing to

enter into a Treaty with my Lord upon thefe

Terms.
Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did you hear any Thing

more about it r"

Mr. E. Lucas. About a Week after Mr. Ellis

writ to me, That my Lord Macclesfield had ap-

proved of Mr. Thurfton.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Pleafe to recollect whe-

ther your Direction was about Borret's Defi-

ciency only, or about all the Deficiencies in ge-

neral ?

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Go on.

Mr. E. Lucas. The Third Converfation was
fometime afterwards at my Lord Macclesfield's

own Houfe in Lincoln 's-Inn-Fields. I went by
my Brother's Directions meaning to confult

with Mr. Ellis in a friendly manner, whether
he did think it advifeable to make his Lord-
fhip a direct Offer of 6000 /. I faid if he gave
it, it was reafonable, that he fhould be indem-
nified from any Damage that fhould happen
by Reafon of the Deficiency in any of the
Offices, and not be obliged to contribute to-

Mr. E.Lucas. My Directions from my Bro- wards making them up ; he faid my Lord had
ther were about all the Deficiencies ; Dormer'sDe- not fpoken to him about that, that he could

ficiency ran in his Head, and he thought it un- not have every Opportunity he defired to fpeak

reafonable, that he fhould be obliged to con- with him ; that as to the Deficiencies, he had
tribute to any Deficiency precedent to his coming heard there was none. I faid, I had like-

in mafter. wife heard fo ; but whether there was or no,

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did you communicate this my Brother was willing to enter into a Treaty

to Mr. Ellis ? with my Lord upon thofe Terms. This to the

Mr. E. Lucas. I did communicate it to Mr. beft of my Remembrance is the whole I know
Ellis ; if not in fuch exprefs Terms, yet to that of the matter.

Effect, that it was unreafonable, that my Bro- Mr. Serj. Probyn. I only would beg leave to

ther fhould be obliged to contribute to make up afk this Queftion, When the firft Propofal was

thofe Deficiencies that were preceding to his be- made to Mr. Ellis, whether he did propofe a

ing mafter ; I am fure, I added thofe Words, certain Sum ?

That he fhould not be obliged to contribute to Mr. E. Lucas. I don't remember I did ; but I

make up thofe Deficiencies that were precedent to think I told Mr. Ellis my Brother had formerly

his being mafter.

Earl of Macclesfield. My Lords, I fubmit,

whether it be not proper, that Mr. Ellis be called

before this Mr. Lucas goes away.

Mr. Ellis called, but not examined
again immediately.

Earl of Macclesfield. Mr. Lucas, I defire that

you would declare to my Lords over again, what

you have given in Evidence.

Mr. E. Lucas. The firft Time I faw Mr. Ellis

was at my mother's Houfe, immediately after

Mr. Borret's Death. I then told him of my Bro-

ther's Intention to purchafe a matter's Place,

and that my Brother had fo thorough a Senfe of knew that he had offered my Lord Macclesfield

my Lord's Honour and Generofity, that he 6000 /.

would leave the Terms to my Lord himfelf. Earl of Macclesfield. My Lords, we beg leave

Mr. Ellis was not at firft inclinable to concern that Mr. Ellis may give an Account of what Pro-

himfelf in it, but upon telling him what Steps pofal he made to me from Mr. Lucas.

my Brother had taken in Regard to it ; he faid Mr. Ellis. My Lords, the Account Mr. Lucas

out of Friendship to me he would engage in it, has given Your Lordfhips is true in all the

and go to my Lord, and bring me an Anfwer. Particulars, as far as I can remember at this

This was the firft Converfation. Mr. Ellis Diftance of Time, though there are a good

did the next Day bring me an Anfwer from my many that I could not have recollected of

Lord. myfclf, only as to this one, his not impower-

Vol. VI. 7 L ing

offered 6000 /. and I told Mr. Ellis this, and

did lay before him all the Circumftances of that

Affair, to make him the more inclinable to

engage in it.

Mr. Com. Serjeant. I defire he may be afked,

whether any Terms befides were mentioned than

what Mr. Lucas has mentioned before ?

Mr. E. Lucas. I don't remember there were

any other Directions then given, I can't be

pofitive, but that he was willing to leave it

to my Lord's Honour and Generofity. And
my Lords I can fwear pofitively, that till the

firft Day of thefe Proceedings, when I met

Mr. Ellis in the Court of Requefts, I never
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ing me to offer this 6000 /. I fhould not have

gone to my Lord, unlefs I had had fome par-

ticular Offer to mention. I particularly re-

member I made him that Offer, and I am as

certain, that Mr. Lucas did fpeak to me to make

the Offer of 6000 /. for this Reafon, that I never

knew that Mr. Lucas had offered 6000 /. be-

fore by Mr. Cottingham, till this Impeach-

ment begun, when Mr. Lucas, being here, ac-

quainted me that he had made that Offer to

my Lord.

Mr. E. Lucas. I defire Mr. Ellis may be afk-

ed, whether ever he told me, that he offered

Lord Macclesfield 6000 1 ?

Mr. Ellis. I believe I only did tell him in

general, that I had made his Lordfhip the Of-

fer which he had defired me to make, and in

general likewife, that my Lord was well fatisfied

with it.

Mr. Com. Serjeant. I defire he may inform

Your Lordfhips, whether, when he told Mr.

Lucas, that he had made that Offer which he

had defired him, he did enquire what that Of-

fer was ?

Mr. Ellis. No, my Lords, he did not.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, they have called

Mr. Ellis to confront Mr. Lucas ; but they agree

together in all the material Circumftances. Mr.

Ellis fays, what Mr. Lucas fwears is true in every

Particular, unlefs in Relation to the Offer of

6000 /. In all the reft Mr. Ellis confirms Mr.

Lucas's Evidence.

Mr. E. Lucas. I don't pofitively fwear that I

did not give him that Commiffion, but to the beft

of my Remembrance, I did not give him that

Commiffion.

Earl of Macclesfield. I defire Mr. Ellis may
be afked, when he made the Propofal to me,

whether he mentioned any Condition whatso-

ever ?

Mr. Ellis. No, my Lords, I did not mention

any Condition.

Mr. E. Lucas. Till after the firft Converfa-

tion with Mr. Ellis, I had no Direction from my
Brother to mention any Price or Condition ; I

gave an Account to Your Lordfhips of two dif-

ferent Converfations.

Earl of Macclesfield. When the Anfwer was

brought, that I was fatisfied with the Propofal,

what did he do farther upon it ?

Mr. E. Lucas. My Lords, Mr. Ellis did not

tell me, that my Lord Macclesfield was fatisfied

with the Propofal, but that my Lord Macclesfield

had no Objection to my Brother, and he had

formerly received a Recommendation of him ;

but at prefent another Perfon was recommended
by fome of the matters, whom he expected to be

farther recommended.

Mr. Plummer. My Lords, I ' defire Mr. Ellis

may be afked, how long, before Mr. Thurfton was
admitted, was the Converfation about giving Se-

curity, that Mr. Lucas might be indemnified from

the Deficiencies ?

Mr. Ellis. My Lords, in one of the Lift

Converfations, which was after I had fpoken

to my Lord Macclesfield, Mr. Lucas might fay

fomething about having Security. But I don't

recoiled: it with any Certainty; if he did, it

was fome Days before Mr. Thurfion was ad-

mitted.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. I defire he may inform

Your Lordfhips, Whether he ever told my Lord

10 g. r,

Macclesfield any thing of this Difcourfc about
Security ?

Mr. Ellis. No.
Sir Geo. Oxenden. He fays, He never told my

Lord Macclesfield of that Converfation: I defire
to know, if he told my Lord Parker ?

Mr. Ellis. No, my Lords, I told no bodv
at all.

1

Mr. Strange. My Lords, I beg leave to make
one Obfervation ; a learned manager was pleafed
to obferve upon the Appearance of thefe Two
Witneffes together, That now the Evidence of
Mr. Lucas is confirmed by Mr. Ellis: Your
Lordfhips are pleafed to remember, that Mr. El-
lis was our Witnefs, and was firft examined ; and
therefore I fhould apprehend the Obfervation may
be turned much properer the other way : That
the Evidence of Mr. Ellis, who was our Witnefs,
and was firft examined, is now confirmed by Mr.
Lucas.

Earl of Macclesfield. My Lords, I defire he
may inform Your Lordfhips with relation to
the Difcourfe that paffed betwixt them about the
Deficiencies ; Whether the Objection did not re-

late fingly to them ?

Mr. Ellis. I don't well remember what paffed
upon the Subjeft of the Deficiencies ; what I

have faid to Your Lordfhips before, I remember
full well, becaufe a particular Circumftance made
me recollect, that Mr. Lucas did fay, he had heard
there was no Deficiency in Mr. Barrel's Office

;

which I had heard too ; but at what time that

Difcourfe was, I can't recoiled ; it might be as

he reprefented it.

Earl of Macclesfield. Mr. Lucas faid to you,
That he was willing to treat upon thofe
Terms ?

Mr. Edw. Lucas. Upon thofe Terms, or to

that Effect, I did fay.

Mr. Plummer. I only would make this Obfer-
vation ; Both thefe Evidences confirm this, that

Mr. Lucas was an inquifitive man, and would
not part with his 6000 /. fo eafily as to afk no
Queftions.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We beg leave now to call

a Witnefs as to the fecond letter or Order,
fuppofed to be fent in November 172 1, to all

the mafters. Mr. Cottingham could not take up-
on himfelf to fay, that it was delivered -, he had
kept a Memorandum of the firft, but none of
that, and he believed he might fay, it was de-

livered ; we deny any fuch letter was deliver-

ed, and beg leave to afk as to that particular

Point.

Mr. "John Bennet called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,

whether in November 1721, any fecond letter, or

Order, of the Purport of the firft Order, was

fent, or delivered, in relation to the mafters

bringing in their Accompts ?

Mr. J. Bennet. My Lords, I never faw any

fuch letter.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did you ever hear of it ?

Mr. J. Bennet. I never heard of it before, till

I heard Mr. Cottingham read it at the Bar.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did you receive any Ac-

count from the other mafters, that they had re-

ceived any fuch letter ?

Mr. J. Bennet. No, my Lords, never.

Mr. Serj: Pengelly. Do you recollect any Dif-

courfe between my Lord Macclesfield and your

Brother, relating to your Brother's Account ?

Mr.
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Mr. J. Bennet. I don*t recoiled the whole.

Mr. Serj. Pengetty. What do you recoiled: ?

Mr. J. Bennet. My Lord hath declared to

me, That he wondered Mr. Kynajion and my
Brother lhould put fuch an Item in their Ac-

compts, which would make a Difcovery, that the

for High Crimes and Mi/demeanors.

Mr. Lightboun. I never heard of it, till I
heard it at Your Lordfnips Bar from Mr, Cot-

?)?

tingham.

Mr. Edwards called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire he may be afked,
matters had bought their Places with the money whether he ever heard of this Letter of Nov 1721?

_

Mr. Edwards. I never heard of fuch a Letter,
till I heard it mentioned at this Bar.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. So that, my Lords, we ap-
prehend this letter, when written by Mr. Cotting-
ham, was a Pocket-letter to be made ufe of on
any proper Occafion. The managers have done
with their Evidence and the WitnefTes ; they fhall
call no more. We humbly apprehend, that we
have cleared up the Reafon, why the Lord took
5000/. rather than 6000/. It was from Hopes of
greater Gain in having 5000 /. abfolutely, without
being liable to refund, than 6000 /. liable to fuch a
Contingency. Upon the Evidence we fubmit the
whole matter to Your Lordfhips Determination.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. My Lords, we will be fhort
in our Reflections upon this new Evidence. We
apprehend theirEvidence proves, what was infifted

Mr. Holford called. upon by us, that there was Care taken in dif-

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lords, we defire he pofing of thefe Offices, and that my Lord Maccles-

of the Court, which might be of mifchievous

Confequence ; that whenever it was objected

to him, he had always taken great Pains to

deny it.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. When was this ? About

what Time ?

Mr. J. Bennet. About Chrijlmas lafl.

Mr. Serj. Probyn. We beg leave to take No-

tice of the Nature of this Evidence, that it is

very improper now, being new Evidence ; not

to the fame Purpofe to fupport what was gi-

ven before, but new matter, and therefore not

proper.

Mr. Lutwyche. We apprehend it is very pro-

per, becaufe Mr. 'Thomas Bennet's was objected to,

and this confirms his Evidence.

may be afked, whether this letter, or Order, of

November 1721, was ever communicated to him

by Mr. Cottingham ?

Mr. Holford. No, my Lords, I never heard of

it till now lately.

Mr. Com. Serjeant. I defire Mr. Holford would

inform Your Lordfhips, whether there were not

then feveral mafters fenior to him ? and whether

it is not ufual to leave thofe letters, or Orders,

with the Senior mafters ?

Mr. Holford. I don't know that fuch Order,

or letter, was left at that Time. Mr. Hiccocks

and Mr. Fellowes were Seniors to me.

Mr. Com. Serjeant. I defire he may be afked

the other Part of the Queftion, Whether it is

not ufual to leave Orders, wherein the mafters

are generally concerned, with the Senior ma-

fters ?

Mr. Holford. It is not; but the Ufige gene-

rally is to be left at the Publick Office. It

might be left with the Senior mafter, for ought

I know.

Mr. Lovibond called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Did you ever hear or know

of this Letter or Order of Nov. 1721 ?

Mr. Lovibond. I never heard of any fuch let-

ter or Order, till I heard it read at this Bar.

Mr. Kynqfton called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Mr. Kynajion, will you give

my Lords an Account, whether you heard of this

letter or Order of Nov. 1721 ?

Mr. Kynajion. I fuppofe you mean the letter

which Mr. Cottingham read.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. The fame.

Mr. Kynajion. I never heard of it, till I heard

it read at this Bar.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I hope this will explain Mr.

Cottingham\ Want of memory, when he faid that

he could not remember it.

Mr. Lightboun called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. I defire to afk you, whe-

ther you know any thing of this letter of Nov.

1721 ?

field having perfonal Knowledge of one Gentle-
man did prefer him before another, whom he
did not know, though he had lefs money from
him, than he could have had of the other. It is

agreed by Mr. Lucas and his Brother, that there

was a propofal of 6000/. made upon this Occa-
fion : Mr. Ellis tells you, Mr. Lucas gave him Or-
ders to propofe it to my Lord Macclesfield without
any Terms whatfoever : He never mentioned any
Terms, or intimated any Condition or Reftriction

to my Lord Macclesfield. Upon that his Lordfhip
was pleafed to direct a proper Enquiry to be

made, what Security he was able to give for the

Difcharge of his Office ; here there was 6oco /.

propofed without any Terms by one whom he
did not know ; but he preferred another whom
he did know to be well qualified, for 5000/. This

doth not fhew any Neglect in the noble Earl

;

but all the Care and Caution that ever could

be taken •, and this fhews that the Earl could not

do this out of an immoderate Defire of Gain, when
6coo /. was propofed to be given ; but he prefer-

red another whom he knew to be well quali-

fied for lefs money ; fo that we apprehend this

is an Evidence which is much in favour of

the Earl. As to the other matter, the ma-
fters not knowing of this letter, your Lordfhips

obferve what Evidence was given by Mr. Cotting-

ham. This is a Tranfadtion fome time ago, he

fays that he writ this letter by the noble Lord's

Order, that he cannot now fay to which of

the mafters he delivered it, or whether it was

perfonally delivered by him, or by one of his

Clerks. Your Lordfhips will obferve, that there

were two mafters Senior to Mr. Holford, viz. Mr.

Hiccocks and Mr. Fellowes ; and it might probably

be delivered to one of them ; one of them is

fince dead, the other is yet living; but we

were not aware of the Objection, and fo have

not him here. This doth not impeach Mr. Cot-

tingham s Credit or his Evidence, fo far as it con-

cerns the Earl.

Mr. Com. Serj. My Lords, I will not enter into

a ftrict Comparing of the Evidence, we appre-

hend that what Mr. Ellis fwore (lands confirm' d

in every thing by Mr. Lucas, and we have

Reafon
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Reafon to thank the Gentlemen of the Houfe they have called every one of them, and not

of Commons for this Evidence. There was one one hath faid fo, but agreed that they had paid

material Part of our Evidence, that the Earl had it as a Voluntary Contribution ; fo that there

a thorough Intention of entring into the Regu- is no manner of Occafion for what hath been

lation of thofe matters ; but by Difputes arifing in faid about this letter. Mr. Cottingham did fay be-

relation to the Jurifdiction of the matter of the fore your Lordfhips, that he thought the let-

Rolls, he was hindred. ter was fent, and he had no Reafon to believe

Now the Evidence of Mr. Lucas corroborates the contrary •, but indeed he had no memoran-

our Proof on this Head, he faith that Mr. dum of its being fent. It is very extraordinary

Cottingham told him, tho' Security had not been to fuggefb, that this mould be a pocket letter,

taken, yet at prefent the noble Lord had a Can any Perfon imagine that that letter was cak

Reformation in View, and Security would be culated for an Occafion like this ? Was there

expected ; and therefore he enquired what Se- any Apprehenfion of this Profecution in 1721?

curity he could give ; there was not only an My Lords, it is not worth while to trouble your

Enquiry into his prefent Circumftances, but Lordfhips with any more Remarks about fo

likewife an Intimation that Security would be groundlefs a Pretence. In the Reply there hath

expected. This fhews the Earl's Intention ; and been fomething new offered to your Lordfhips

if the Thirft of Gain had fwayed him, Mr. Lu- to make out my receiving money from the

cas would never have had thofe Bugbears to mailers to be an Offence at common law; and

affright him from giving fo much money. Up- there have likewife been mentioned feveral Acts

on the whole it appears that no part of our Evi- of Parliament, to neither of which I have had

dence is any way impeached by the new Evidence any Opportunity of giving an Anfwer before •, I

they have given. therefore apprehend I have a Right to take No-
Earl of Macclesfield. My Lords, I beg leave to tice of them now. And firfl I beg leave to ob-

fay a very few Words upon what hath been newly ferve to your Lordfhips, that every one of thefe

offered, as to the Evidence to take off my hav- Acts of Parliament relates plainly to Judges who
ing preferred 5000 Guineas with a Perfon I take Bribes, or take money for doing their Duty,

thought a better man, to 6000 /. with another, or for doing thofe Things they were bound to

whom I thought a good man. I apprehend it do; they lie upon your Lordfhips table, and if

is not taken of at all by any Thing that has your Lordfhips will but look upon them you will

yet been offered. Mr. Lucas owns that at the find all to be fo.

firft Time there was an Expectation of Security, That of Magna Charta is plainly fo, that Ju-

and he has given your Lordfhips an Account ftice fhall be adminiftred to the Party without

that he afked what Security was expected ; and paying for it.

was anfwered I think to the Value of 10,000/. So the Statute of 12. R, II. that they fhall. —

*

and that what he fpoke of the Deficiency, was Mr. Serj. Pengelly. My Lord cannot be re-

only that he fhould not be liable to farther Or- gular to reply to us on that Statute,

ders to be made upon him for Contribution to Earl of Macclesfield. The Statute is, that they

the former Deficiencies of other mafters ; and fhall not make any Officer for Brokage.

in the latter Time, when the Clamour was great- Sir G. Oxenden. We muft fubmit it to your

er, Mr. Ellis offered me 6000 /. abfolutely with- Lordfhips whether this can be regular ; the

out any Condition, and I faid I approved of the noble Earl hath had his Defence, we have re-

Perfon and of the Offer, but I had another Gentle- plied; it is not regular for him to enter into a

man then under Confideration. Their Evidence Debate now.

indeed varies as to the Particulars of the Conver- The Statute is upon your Lordfh'ps Table ;

fations they had upon this Subject : But whatever and your Lordfhips will confider it.

Difcourfe palled between them, unlefs it came Earl of Macclesfield. I will not take up your

to my Knowledge, it ought not to affect me. Lordfhips Time any farther in infifting upon

I never heard, nor is it fo much as pretended, it ; but I hope at lead thofe Gentlemen will

that I ever did hear, there were any manner of not oppofe my taking Notice of one Thing
Terms or Conditions whatfoever annexed to the that is new ; though not any part of the Ar-

Propofal made by Mr. Lucas. tides, which is what the Gentlemen have faid

Mr. Ellis has been afked this Queftion, and with relation to Wilfon's Compofition not being

has fworn pofitively he mentioned none at all binding^ upon the Suitors of the Court ; that

to me ; fo that there is not the leaft Pretence it is matter of Horror that Wilfon fhould truft

that the Reftriction, fuppofing Mr. Lucas annexed to the Faith of a Court of Juitice, and upon
any to the Propofal (which I muft obferve is flatly that enter into a Compofition, which at laft

contradicted by Mr. Ellis's Evidence) ever came fhould net be effectual and binding. To that

to my Knowledge. give me leave to anfwer, that if Wilfon had

As to what Evidence is given in relation to acted honeftly, and given a fair Account of

the letter of November 1721; your Lordfhips his Eftate and Effects in this Cafe, and it had ap-

will remember, that when I fpoke of that, I en- peared upon the whole, that he could not pay

tred upon it as a Thing not at all neceffary more than according to this Compofition ; and

for me ; becaufe they had not proved the Ar- at the fame Time that it muft be a real ad-

ticle, that the letter writ in February was with vantage to the Suitors to have received their

an Intention to terrify the mafters into a Con- Proportion of what he was able to pay, with-

tribution ; but all the Proof they produced was, out the Expences of a Statute of Bankruptcy

;

that the mafters had paid a voluntary Contri- in that Cale he would have the Benefit of it

:

bution, and upon that they made fome Obfer- But in Cafe he could have paid more, and

vation ; but not one of the mafters ever gave this appeared only to be a fraudulent or unfair

your Lordfhips an Account that they did it by Compofition, it would be no way conclufive up-

Reafon of, or under the Terror of this letter; on the Suitors; and as he ought not to reap any

Benefit
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Benefit, fo neither would they fuffer any Prejudice

by it upon that Suppoiition.

Mr. Serj. Petigelly. The managers are entitled

to the Reply and Conclufion.

As to our Evidence newly given, it proves in

the ftrongeft manner, that if there was a Reafon

for diftinguifhing between 5000/. and 6000/. it

was becaufe the 6coo /. was attended with an In-

cumbrance; and if it be faid that the Earl had

no Notice of it, it is prov'd that his Agent, or

the Perfon whom he employ'd, had this Account

deliver'd to him, and knew it; and we appeal to

the Letter which is in their Hands. And therefore

this is fo far a Confirmation of the other Part of

the Charge of Neglect when Security was offered.

Why was not the Perfon accepted ? Why Mr.
Elde preferr'd ?

Mr. Lucas's Directions to his Brother, and his

Tranfactions are confirm'd by Nir. Ellis, my Lord's

own Chaplain ; and the only Reafon why the

Bargain was not concluded, was, becaufe of the

Privilege infilled upon by the Perfon to be indem-

nified from all Contributions and Charges.

Earl of Macclesfield, I beg your Pardon, if I

trouble your Lordfhips once more, in relation to a

Piece of new Evidence, which I did not before re-

flect upon ; I am under a very great Difadvantage

from thefe Gentlemen, who are for tying me down

to very great Hardfhips, fo that if any thing flips

my memory, at what they call the proper Time,

it muff, at this rate be loft for ever. I would take

Notice of one Thing, with relation to what Mr.

Thomas Bennet faid of what I fpoke, of denying

that the mafters paid for their Offices out of the

Suitors money ; they are attempting to prove that

I knew of their doing fo, and they prove it by

fhewing, that I faid I had always denied it.

But, my Lords, is there any of the mafters that

came in in my Time, that fays I knew any fuch

thing ? No, my Lords, not one of all thofe ma-

fters that came in in my Time, and appear to

have tranfacted in this manner ; there are only

two, Mr. Kynafton and Mr. Thomas Bennet ; but

is there any of them, or any other, that pretend

that I knew they did fo ? Here are two Perfons

that paid for their Offices out of the Suitors mo-

ney ; and becaufe I told one of them afterwards,

admitting what he faid to be true, that I had heard

it faid it was fo, and deny'd it ; Is it from thence

to be concluded that I knew it was really fo ?

My Lords, I beg leave to obferve as to the mat-

ter of the difference of the Prices ; I gave Evi-

dence of the difference of Prices in other Offices,

and their Rife from 50 1. to 500 1. in one Inftance,

and from 200 /. to 800 /. in another.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. We are unwilling to inter-

rupt the Lord ; but now for him to go back again

into the whole, is a greater Right than his Lord-

fhip is entitled to ; therefore from the Duty we
owe to your Lordfhips, we hope every Thing that

is regular fhall be obferv'd.

Earl of Macclesfield. I fubmit if your Lordfhips

think I am irregular ; in the Confufion my Papers

were in when I made my Defence from them,

the Notes relating to this and fome other matters

were overlook'd : But as to the Reply, I muft beg

leave to make one general Obfervation, That the

Gentlemen have thought the Arguments ufed by

me in that Defence, either fuch as they could

not anfwer, or fuch as needed no Anfwcr, fince

they have not attempted to anfwer any of them ;

and which of the two, I muft leave to your Lord-

fhips Determination.

and Mtfdemeanors. 759
Mr. Onflow. My Lords, in the Couffe of our

Reply, we made ufe of the Statute of Henry IV
We have it not printed, but we have an attefted
Copy in Writing, and the Original Roll ; if your
Lordfhips pleafe, this atteftedCopy may be brought
up to your Lordfhips Table.

Mr. Nicholas Paxton fworn.

Mr. Paxton. My Lords, I examined this Copy
with the Deputy-keeper of the Rolls in the Tower,
and it is a true Copy.

Earl of Macelesfield. Whether that Parliament
R.0II be in the Nature ofa Journal or a Statute Roll,

wherein the Act of Parliament is enter'd r

Mr. Paxton. My Lords, the Officer is here ; he
will give your Lordfhips an Account.

Mr. Lutwyche. It is quoted by my Lord Coke
to be of the fame Nature as a Parliament Roll.

Mr. Holmes called.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Mr. Holmes, Where is this

Roll kept ?

Mr. Holmes. My Lords, I am Deputy-keeper
of the Records.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Where ?

Mr. Holmes. In the Tower.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. What Roll is that ?

Mr. Holmes. It is the Parliament Roll of the

nth of Henry IV.

Earl of Macclesfield. I defire he may inform

your Lordfhips whether there be any Difference or

Diftinction between the Parliament Roll and the

Statute Roll ?

Mr. Holmes. There are a great many private

Acts enter'd upon the Parliament Rolls ; that are

not in the Statute Rolls ; what is in the Statute

Roll was fent down by Writ into the feveral Coun-
ties to be proclaim'd in the feveral County Courts.

Mr. Serj. Pengelly. Whether that is not the O-
riginal Roll ?

Mr. Holmes. This is the original Roll.

E. of Macclesfield. I apprehend the Parliament

Roll contains the Petitions, and the King's Anfwer.

Mr. Holmes. It doth.

E. of Macclesfield. Before it comes to be pub-

lifhed as a Law, is it not drawn up in Form, and

enter'd upon the Statute Roll ?

Mr. Holmes. The Petition is a piece of Parch-

ment ; after it hath patted King, Lords, and Com-
mons, then it is entred on this Roll.

Mr. Onflow. Whether the King's Affent is not

entred upon this Roll ?

Mr. Holmes. There is le Roy le Veut.

Lord Lechmere. I defire, for your Lordfhips

Satisfaction, that he may read what is upon the

Parchment Roll.

Mr. Holmes reads it, &V.

Pari. Rot. N°2 8. 11 HAY.
"^Item,^ UE nul' Chaunceller, Tre-

Refpectuatur / ^w forer, Gardein de Privie

per Dominumf Seal, Counfeller da Roy, Scrementz

<;

Principem & f a Counfeill du Roy ne nul" autre Offi-

cer Juge ne Mini/Ire du Roy parnant

\fees ou gages de Roy pur lour ditz

J
Offices ou Services, preigne en nulle

manere en temps avenir afcun ma*-

nere de doun ou brocage de nutty

pour lour ditz Offices ct Services,

affaire fur peyn de refpondre a Roy

de la treble de ceo que iffi preignont,

et de fatisfier la Partie et punys al

volonte de Roy, etfoit difchargez de

fon Office, Service, &? Counfeill pur

y M tOUtZ
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tdutzjours, & que chefcun qui vorra it be an Aft of Parliament or no, is a Queftion

pur [iter en la dite Matier eit lafuit that the Noble Earl now makes. I thought it had

fibienpur le Roy comepur luy mefmes been the common Learning, that all the old Laws

&? eit la tierce partie de fome de qui were Petitions from the Commons, and the King's

le parties foit duement convicl. Anfwer to them •, and that they were entred upon

T r> . ., the Parliament Roll •, and that the Parliament Roll
J^e Roy le Voet.

wag onJy a Voucher to the Statute RolL j cou]a

E. of Macclesfield. What is there in the margin ? give many Inltances where that Voucher was noc

Mr. Holmes. Refpecluatur per Dominum Princi- purfued, and the Statute Roll drawn up different

pern & Concilium.
'

from the Parliament Roll •, and that was the very

E. of Macclesfield. That I may not be mifunder- Reafon of altering the manner of palling Laws in-

ftood in this matter, and accufed of going to quib- to the method that is now ufed. This is my Lord

ble away sn Aft of Parliament; your Lordffiips Chief Juftice //a/f's Account in one of the modern

will give me leave to obferve in the firft Place, Reports.

That luppofing this to be an Aft of Parliament, it Mr. Plummer. The Earl impeach'd hath prin-

relates to Cafes wherejudgments are given, or where cipally infilled on two things ; the one is the ta-

the Parties have a Right, and not any way to me or king a lefs Sum of money for a mailer's Place

to my Cafe; and having premis'd this, your Lord- when vacant, when he had a greater Sum offer'd

fhips will fee how this matter Hands. Here are him ; and that therefore it follows that he hath not

two Rolls, the one is in the Nature of a Journal, made corrupt Advantages in order to raife his

wherein an Entry is made of the feveral Proceed- own Fortune, and that he is Innocent. He hath

ino-s, and there are in it great Numbers of Petitions called the Negotiator in this Affair to prove, That

to°the Kino- by the Commons ; whereby they pray, when he was offer'd 6000 /. he took 5000 /. The

That Afts may be made, and the King's Anfwers Commons have by their Witnefs explain'd it ; and

upon them : The Anfwer it may be is agreeing to this matter is now fully clear'd, and your Lord-

fome Part of what they pray, or fometimes to no fhips have the whole before you ; and I will make

Part, but a Provifion made quite different from no farther Obfervation upon it.

what they pray. At that Time the Judges drew The fecond Thing that he lays great Weight

up the Afts afterwards in Form, and thence then upon is, that he called for the Accounts of the

thofe Afts were entered upon the Statute Roll

;

mailers, notwithstanding the 500 /. apiece was

and they were promulgated at that Time by Pro- paid in. Upon examining the Witneffes, it doth

clamation on Writs iffued to the Sheriffs of the not appear that any of the now mailers knew any

feveral Counties. Now this hath in the margin of thing of it. I leave it to your Lordfhips Confi-

the Parliament Roll, Refpecluatur per Dominum deration, whether, if the Earl of Macclesfield had

Principem &? Concilium. When the Judges came af- been in earneft, he would not have had a Return

terwards to draw up the Statutes of this Parliament, of that Order. It doth not appear there was ever

in order to publifh them, there being a Refpeclua- any Account given in ; therefore when thefe two

tur fet upon this in the Parliament Roll ; they for- Points are made plainer againfl him now than they

bore to draw it up amongfl the reft, and it is not were on our firft making good the Charge, tho'

entred upon the Statute Roll at all, nor ever printed he feems to fay the Sting of the Impeachment is

in any Statute Book fince, nor was it ever pub- taken out, yet it is plain the Sting is not taken out

lifh'd by the Sheriffs, nor confequently fent to the of it, but it ftill remains ; and your Lordfhips will

feveral Courts of Juftice, nor ever taken Notice of give fuch Judgment as is juft and legal,

by them as a Law ; for the Reafon of that maxim, Then the Managers for the Houfe of Corn-

That the Courts of Juftice are bound to take no- mons, and the Counfel withdrew, and then the

tice, ex officio, of public Laws, and not of private Houfe adjourned.

Laws, was becaufe the publick Laws were tranf-

mitted to them under the Great Seal. The Faft

then in this Cafe doth appear to be, that when the Tuefday, 25 May, 1725. The 1 \th Day, the Lords

Afts of this Parliament of 1 1 Hen. IV. came to be being feated in their Houfe, and the Managers

drawn up and promulgated, this having a Refpe- being come, andfeated as before, the ufual Pro-

Eluatur enter'd upon it, was not entred upon the clamation was made for Silence.

Statute Roll, and fo not publifhed ; this is the Faft. £ Ch> Juft R . A/fY Lords, Your Lordlhips
However it doth not concern me, nor doth it relate * TyJL ha

•

heard the £^_
to the prefent Cafe at all, as I obferved to your

dence ^^ Caf haye d
°

a Queftion,
Loidlhips before : If I had made a Decree for mo-

which ^ feveral] £q be tQ Yq^ Lordfhi in

ney ; if I had refufed a Writ or Snbptna, unlefs ^^ 0|&n
'
The^eftion ig^ h rWj

the Party had paid me money then I had been
Ear] of Maccksfidd ^ of High Crimes and

within the Statute but not in this Cafe.
Mifdemeanors charged upon him by the Impeach-

Mr. Lutwyche We fay this Statute doth concern
m£nt of ^ Houfe

°
of Emmons, or not Guilty,

him: But as to what:he faith, that there is an Entry
urHonour?

in the Marg.n, Refpecluatur per Dominum Princi- ^ ^ Juft _ R Rohm Lord wa$oU What
pem,tfc. this is taken Notice of in the 3 dlnft.tute, £

.
- ^ j h Thomas Ezrl of Macclesfield,

where my Lord Coke particularly affirms, that this >>
rf Hj

. g^ and Mifdemeanors charg»d
is an Aft of Parliament m Force, and is upon the g

>

h{m
&^ Jm chment of the Houfe of

Parliament Roll, and takes notice of RefpecJuatur,
^ommoni or not Guilty ?

&c. that it was in Faft done by the Prince, the
Lord

>

gl ^ Honour _

Son of King Henry IV. but without Authority ;
* J r

and that notwithstanding fuch Refpite, this Aft of The fame Queftion was federally put to the reft,

Parliament is in full Force. whofe Names and Votes are as follow.

Mr Weft. Suppofing it to be an Aft of Parlia- Nicholas Lord Lechmere, Guilty upon my Honour.

ment it extends to the Earl's Cafe ; but whether Matthew Lord Dude, Guilt
£,

&?f*

Thomas



H. L.

Thomas Lord Onflow,

Men Lord Bathurfl,

Thomas Lord Foley,

Samuel Lord Mafham,

Thomas Lord Trevor,

Thomas Lord Montjoy,

George Lord /fojy,

^0/5w Lord Gower,

Henry Lord Herbert,

John Lord Afloburnham,

James Lord Waldegrave^

Charles Lord £_?»#,

Charles Lord Cornwallis,

Charles Lord .Srac?,

William Lord Brooke,

James Lord Compton,

William Lord Hunfdon^

Hugh Lord Clinton,

John Lord Delawar,

Algernon Lord Percy,

William Lord Abergavenny,

for High Crimes

Guilty upon my Honour
Guilty, £gV.

Guilty, &V.
Guilty, &JV.

Guilty, &V.
Guilty, &V.
Guilty, £sV.

Guilty, &V.
Guilty, &V.
Guilty, &V.
Guilty, &V.
Guilty, &5V.

Guilty, &c.
Guilty, &c.
Guilty, csV.

Guilty, &fV.

Guilty, &V.
Guilty, &V.
Guilty, csV.

Guilty, 6JV.

Guilty, £gV.

Stephen Lord Bifhop of Exeter, Guilty, &V

.

William Lord Bifhop of Brijlol, Guilty, &rV.

Edward Lord Bifhop of Chichefter, Guilty, &V.
Richard Lord Bifhop of 67. Davids, Guilty, &c,
John Lord Bifhop of Norwich, Guilty, &c.
John Lord Bifhop of Carlifle, Guilty, &c.
William Lord Bifhop of Bangor, Guilty, &fV.

}fo/Sjp£ Lord Bifhop of Glocefter, Guilty, &JV.

Thomas Lord Bifhop of £/y, Guilty, GfV.

#^>//£ Lord Bifhop of Peterborough, Guilty, &jY.

Samuel Lord Bifhop of Rochefler, Guilty, &V.
John Lord Bifhop of Oxford, Guilty, &c.
John Lord Bifhop of St. Afaph, Guilty, &V.
Richard Lord Bifhop of Winchefler, Guilty, &V.
William Lord Bifhop of Durham, Guilty, fcrV

.

Edmund Lord Bifhop of London, Guilty, &c.

George Lord Vifcount Torrington, Guilty, &c.
Simon Lord Vifcount Harcourt, Guilty, &c.
Richard Lord Vifcount Cobham, Guilty, &V.
Henry Lord Vifcount Tadcafter, Guilty, &V.
Z&»ry Lord Vifcount Lonfdale, Guilty, &c;
William Lord Vifcount Hatton, Guilty, &c.
Charles Lord Vifcount Townjhend, Guilty, &c\
Lawrence Lord Vifcount Say and Seal, Guilty, &c.

Thomas Earl of Pomfret, Guilty, &c._
Bennet Earl of Harborough, Guilty, &c.
William Earl of Cadogan, Guilty, &c.
Talbot Earl of Sujfex, Guilty, &c

.

George Earl of Halifax, Guilty, &V.
7^« Earl of Brijlol, Guilty, fcff.

Thomas Earl of Strafford, Guilty, &V.
Wafhington Earl of Ferrers, Guilty, &V.
Archibald Earl of //ay, Guilty, &V

.

ift»ry Earl of Deloraine, Guilty, csV.

7^« Earl of Stair, Guilty, &V.
George Earl of Orkney, Guilty, C5f

.

Charles Earl of Selkirk, Guilty, &?c.

7«?»w Earl of Findlater, Guilty, &V.
David Earl of Buchan, Guilty, &f

.

7<?^« Earl of Rothes, Guilty, &c.
George Earl of Cholmondeley, Guilty, l£c.

William Earl of Albemarle, Guilty, csV.

Frederick Earl of Rochford, Guilty, fcff

.

Richard Earl of Scarborough, Guilty, csV.

Montague Earl of Abingdon, Guilty, &V

.

William Earl of Yarmouth, Guilty, &V.
Richard Earl of Burlington, Guilty, &V.
Charles Earl of Carlifle, Guilty, £rc

tfW Mi/demeanors.

Nicholas Earl of Scarfdale,

Robert Earl of Sunderland,

William Earl of Denbigh,
Edward Earl of Warwick,
George Earl of Northampton,
John Earl of Leicefter,

Henry Earl of Lincoln,

Thomas Earl of Pembroke,

John Marquifs of Tweedale,

James Duke of Chandos,

William Duke of Manchefter,
Philip Duke of Wharton,
Thomas Duke of Newcaftle,

Peregrine Duke of Ancajler, Lord")
Great Chamberlain, f

7?^« Duke of Roxburghe,

James Duke of Montrofs,

John Duke of Montague,
Charles Duke of Grafton, Lord ]

Chamberlain,
(

y^/z D. of Greenwich, Lord Steward,
William Duke of Devon/hire, Lord 7

Prefident,
j

7<*I

Guilty, csV.

Guilty, csV.

Guilty, &V.
Guilty, csY.

Guilty, err.

Guilty, &V.
Guilty, csV.

Guilty, fcfr.

Guilty, csV.

Guilty, tVr.

Guilty, &?r.

Guilty, c^Y.

Guilty, &r.

Guilty, &V.

Guilty, &JV.

Guilty, &V,
Guilty, Cifr.

Guilty, csV.

Guilty, csV.

Guilty, &V.

William Lord Archbifhop of Gz#-

terbury,
> Guilty, crV.

L. Ch. Juft. /£?»§•. My Lords, Your Lordfhips
have unanimoufly found Thomas Earl of Maccles-

field guilty of High Crimes and Mifdemeanors
charged upon him by the Impeachment of the

Houfe of Commons.
Then the Managers for the Houfe of Commons

and the Council withdrew ; and then the Houfe ad-

adjourned.

Wednefday, 26 May, 1725. The 12th Day.

The Lords being fat, and the Managers being come,

the ufual Proclamation was made for Silence.

THEN the Gentleman Ufher was commanded
to call in the Earl of Macclesfield, who being

come to the Bar, the Speaker acquainted him, that

the Lords had fully confidered of his Cafe, and

had unanimoufly found him guilty of High Crimes

and Mifdemeanors charged upon him by the Im-
peachment of the Houfe of Commons.

E. of Macclesfield. I attend your Lordfhips, in

Obedience to your Lordfhips Command ; but I am
perfuaded, that if your Lordfhips knew what I

iuffer, your Lordfhips would not have required this

of me, the rather as I did not intend to make any

Exceptions in relation to the Proceedings, or give

your Lordfhips any farther Trouble. I am now to

expect your Lordfhips Judgment; and I hope that

you will be pleas'd to confider, that I have luffered

no fmall matter already in the Trial, in the Expence

I have been at, the Fatigue, and what I have fuf-

fered other ways; befides the cruel Diftemper

which this hath brought upon me. I have paid

back 10,800/. of the money already, I have loft

my Office, I have undergone the Cenfure of both

Houfes of Parliament, which is in itfelf a very

fevere Punifhment. My Lords, the Deficiency of

Mr. Dormer doth found large, 25,000/. but my
Lords, it was not through my Fault that the De-

ficiency happened, nor was that mafter put in by

me; on the contrary, with great Difficulty, it is

reduced by my means to 10,000/. lefs than other-

wife
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wife it would have been. My Lords, all the Lofs

that can be fuftain'd by any thing charged againft

me, is only what fome of the Suitors might have

had more for their Proportion, than they can do

now out of Mr. Dormer's Effects. His Debt came

to about 47,000/. his Effects to about 13,000 /.

which is about a fourth Part : I don't find there

is one Suitor hath made his Complaint, that he

hath not received his five Shillings in the Pound,

Mrs. Gritty hath received her Share.

Mr. Onflow. My Lords, We muft fubmit it to

your Lordihips. This was proper when the Noble

Lord was making his Defence ; but it is not fo in

Arreft of Judgment. Your Lordfhips have found

him guilty of the Fact, and he is now arguing in

Defence of it : If he hath any thing in Arreft of

Ju.lgment, he may fay it, and the Commons are

here ready to anfwer it.

I was very unwilling, my Lords, to interrupt

the Earl, and do it now with great Reluctancy -,

but it is for the fake of Regularity in your Lord-

fhips Proceedings j and we muft appeal to your

Lordfhips whether the Noble Lord is not now
going into the Repetition of what he faid in his

Defence ?

E. of Macclesfield. My Lords, I fubmit whether

this be not proper in mitigation of your Lordihips

Sentence ; but whether it be or be not, I leave my-
felf to your, Lordfhips Juftice and Mercy ; I am
fure neither of them will be wanting, and I en-

tirely fubmit. I don't know whether your Lord-

ihips will be pleafed to difmifs my Attendance at

this Time, or whether your Lordfhips will require

me to come again under this very great Uneafi-

nefs ; I fubmit it to your Lordfhips.

Then the faid Earl, as alfo the Managers, were

directed to withdraw ; and the Houfe ordered

Thomas Earl of Macclesfield to be committed to

I

Gentlemen,
T is with the greateft Chearfulnefs that I 0-

bey the Commands of the Houfe on this

" Occafion ; and yet I was never, on any Occa-
" fion, more fenfible of the Difficulties of per-
" forming them as I ought ; but I have this Sa-
" tisfaction in this Motion's being made when I

" leaft expected it, that my not being prepared
" may be fbme Excufe for thofe Defects, which
" I fhould not have been able to have fupply'd,
" had I had never fo long a Time for Confide-
" ration.

Gentlemen,
" You have maintained the Charge of the Com-

" mons, with that Force of Argument, Beauty
" of Expreffion, and Strength ofReafon, as would
" have gained you the higheft Applaufe in the
" moft flourifhing of the Grecian Commonwealths ;

'.« and I may add,

Nee dignius unquam
Majeftas meminit fefe Romana locuiam.

" But I fhall not enlarge farther on this Part of
" your Praife, being fenfible that I am not able
" to exprefs myfelf in a manner fuitable to the
" Dignity of the Subject ; your own Tongues are
" only equal to fuch an Undertaking ; and were
" I able to do it, your Modefty would not permit
" it : I fhall therefore proceed in obeying the
" Commands of the Houfe, in fuch a manner,
" as you yourfelves may hear it, not only with-
" out Offence, but I hope with Satisfaction ; by
" endeavouring to fet. in their proper lights the
" great and lafting Benefits your Country will re-

" ceive by your faithful Difcharge of your Duty.

You have ftopp'd the Cries of Orphans, and
the Cuftody of the Gentleman Ufher of the Black « dried up the Tears of the Widow ; even thofe
Rod; and then proceeded to the Confideration of

what Judgment to give upon the Impeachment a-

gainft the faid Earl, and afterwards adjourned to

Thurfday Eleven of the Clock, the 27th of May.

Thurfday, 27 May 1725. Ihe 13th Day.

AMefTage was fent to the Houfe of Commons
by Mr. Baron Page and Mr. Juftice Denton,

to acquaint them, That the Lords are ready to

give Judgment againft Thomas Earl of Macclesfield,

if they with their Speaker will come and demand
the fame.

Hereupon a Motion was made, and the Que-
ftion propofed, That this Houfe will demand
Judgment of the Lords againft Thomas Earl of

Macclesfield; which occafioned a warm Debate,

that lafted till Five in the Afternoon, when the

previous Queftion being put, that the Queftion be

now put, it was carried in the Affirmative by a

majority of 136 Voices againft 65 ; and then the

main Queftion being put, it was refolv'd, That
this Houfe will demand Judgment againft Thomas
Earl of Macclesfield. This done, the Commons
refolv'd, Nem. Con. That the Thanks of this

Houfe be given to the Members, who were ap-
- pointed the Managers of the Impeachment againft

Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, for their faithful Ma-
nagement in their Difcharge of the Truft repofed

in them. Hereupon Mr. Speaker gave them,
they ftanding up fevcrally in their Places, the

Thanks of the Houfe, as follows

:

who muft ever be infenfible of the Benefits they.

" receive, Ideots and Lunatics (and fuch only can
" be infenfible of them) will be Partakers of the
" Fruits of your Labours.
" But you are more particularly intitled to the

" Thanks of this Houfe, by having made the
" Profecutions of the Commons againft great Of-
" fenders, practicable ; The Power of Impeach-
" ment, that Sword of Vengeance, which the
" Conftitution has put into the Eland of the Com-
tc mons, and which, when drawn by Party-Rage,
" when directed by the Malice of Faction, or
" wielded by unfkilful Hands, has too often woun-
" ded that Conftitution it was intended to preferve,

" has now, by your able Management, turn'd its

" Edge to its proper Object, a Great Offender ;

" and if the Wound it has given fhould not be fo

" deep, as many expect •, yet you may be very
" fure, it never can be imputed to the Want of
" Strength in your Arm ; And I hope and truft,

" from your prudent Conduct through the whole
" Progrefs of the Trial, that this great Privilege

" of the Commons will ever remain a Terror to

" evil Doers -, and that it may be a Praife to them
" that do well, the Houfe has unanimoufly come
" to this Refolution :

" Refolved, Nemine Contrad icente, That the

" Thanks of this Houfe be given to the Members,
" who were appointed the Managers of the Im-
" peachment againft Thomas Earl of Macclesfield,

" for their faithful Management in their Difcharge

" of the Truft repofed in than,"

A Me frige
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A Meffage was brought from the Houfe ofCom
mons by Sir William Gage and others, to acquaint

the Houfe of Lords, That the Commons, with

their Speaker, do intend immediately to come to

demand Judgment again ft Thomas Earl of Mac-

clesfield', and do defire that the Painted Chamber,

and other Paffages to the Lords Houfe, may be

cleared forthwith.

The Meffengers were called in, and told, That

the Lords had given Order as defired,

Which was done accordingly

for High Crimes and Mifdemeanors, 763
" Thomas Ezrl of Macclesfield, The Lords have

" unanimoufly found you Guilty of High Crimes
" and Mifdemeanors, charged on you by thelm-
" peachment of the Houfe of Commons, and do
" now according to Law proceed to Judgment
" againft you, which I am ordered to pronounce.
" Their Lord/hips Judgment is, and this High

" Court doth adjudge,

That you Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, be fined
in the Sum of Thirty Tboufand Pounds unto our So-
vereign Lord the King ; and that youJhall be Jm-

Then the Commons, with their Speaker, being prifoned in the Tower of London, and there kept
prefent at the Bar of the Houfe, the Lord Chief in fafe Cuftody, untilyouJhall pay thefaidFine
Juftice King, Speaker of the Houfe of Lords, di- Then the Speaker with the Commons withdrew
reeled the Gentleman-Ufher of the Black-Rod, ' to and the Earl of Macclesfieldwas taken from the Bar'
bring Thomas Earl of Macclesfield to the Bar ; who, Ordered, Thai the Speaker of this Houfe do give
after low Obeifances made, kneeled until the faid Order for the Printing and Publijhivg the Trial of
Lord Chief Juftice acquainted him he might rife. Thomas Earl of Macclesfield ; and that no other
Then the Speaker of the Houfe of Commons Perfon but fuch as he Jhall appoint, do prefume to

faid as follows : Print the fame.

" My Lords, _ Ordered, That the faid Earl of Macclesfield be
«« HpHE Knights, Citizens, and Burgeffes in committed to the Tower of London, there to be kept
11 X Parliament affembled, in the Name of in fafe Cuftody until he Jhall pay the abovemenlioned
«« themfelves, and of all the Commons of Great- Fine of Thirty Tboufand Pounds to the Kin* ; and
" Britain, did at this Bar impeach Thomas Earl of that the Gentleman-Ufher of the Black-Rod in
«' Macclesfield of High Crimes and Mifdemeanors; whofe Cuftody the faid Earl at prcfint is ; do him
«' and did exhibit Articles of Impeachment againft fafely convey to the faid Tower, and deliver him
" him; and have made good their Charge : to the Conftable thereof, or in his Abfence to the
" I do therefore, in the Name of the Knights, Lieutenant, or Deputy-Lieutenant of the fame;

«« Citizens, and Burgeffes in Parliament affembled, and that the faid Conftable, Lieutenant, or Deputy

-

«' and of all the Commons of Great-Britain, de- Lieutenant do receive the Body of the faid Earl, and
" mand Judgment of your Lordfhips againft him keep in fafe Cuftody there, until he Jhall have
" Thomas Earl of Macclesfield, for the faid High paid the faid Fine.

Crimes and Mifdemeanors." Then the Houfe adjourn'd to Monday, 31 May,
Then the Lord Chief Juftice King, Speaker of 1725

<<

<c

the Houfe of Lords, faid,

«' Mr. Speaker, The Lords are now ready to pro-

ceed to Judgment in the Cafe by you mention'd.

And the Earl of Macclesfield was conveyed to
the Tower, where he continued Prifoner for fome
Time till he paid his Fine.

CXCVI. Proceedings in the "Trial of Captain John Porteous for
Murder. Publifhed by Order of the Houfe of Lords.

Curia yujiiciarice, S. D. N. Regis, tenta in

Novo Sefjionis Domo Burgi de Edinburgo,

Quinto Die Men/is Julii, Millefimo feptin-

gentefimo trigejimo Jexto, per Honorabiles

Viros, Andream Fletcher de Milton, jfitfti-

ciarium Clericum, Dominum Jacobum Mac-
kenzie de Royftoun, Magiftrum Davidem
Erskine de Dun, Domifios Gualterum Prin-

gle ^Newall, ttf Gilbertum Eliot ^Minto,
Commi/fionarios Jufticiarii> diSios S. D. N.
Regis.

Curia legittime affirmata.

Intran.

Il^OHN PORTEOUS, lately one of

the Captain-Lieutennants of the City

Guard of Edinburgh, prefent Prifoner

in the Tolbooth of Edinburgh, Pannel.

Indicted and Accused at the Inftance of

Duncan Forbes Efquire, His Majefty's Advocat
for His Highnefs Intereft, for the Crimes of
Murder and Slaughter, and others, as is more
fully mentioned in the Indictement raifed againft

him there annext. Setting forth, That where,
by the Law of God, the Common Law, the

Municipal Law and Practice of this Kingdom,
Vol. VI.

and the Laws of all other well-governed Realms,
Murder and Slaughter, maiming and wounding
with mortal Weapons, any of the Subjects of

fuch Realms, and the ordering, commanding,
and caufing any Band, or Number of Men, arm-

ed with Firelocks, and other mortal Weapons,
to fall upon, wound, murder, and deftroy

Numbers of His Majefty's Subjects, innocently

and lawfully affembled, by firing fharp Shot

amongft them, whereby Multitudes are, or

may be endangered, and many Men, Women,
and innocent Children are, or may be killed or

wounded, without any juft Caufe or Occafion,

and without lawful Warrant, more efpecially

when committed in the publick Streets of a City,

by a Perfon lawfully commiffioned by the Magi-

ftrats thereof, to command fuch Band of armed

Men, for the Prefervation of Peace and Order,

and for the Defence of the Inhabitants, and

others reforting thereto, are Crimes of a high

Nature, and feverely punifhable : Yet true
it is, and of Verity, That he the faid John

Porteous had prefumed to committ, and was guilcy

and acceffory, or art and part of all and every, or

one or other of the forfaid Crimes aggrava cd as

aforfaid ; In so far as, upon the Fourteenth

Day of Aprile Iaft, or one or other of the Diys

of the faid Month, when the deceus't y/;;

7 N Wdfon,'
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WilfoHi fentenced to be hang'd to Death by the

High Court of justiciary, was to be executed at

the Grafs-market of the City of Edinburgh, he

being at that time one of theCaptain-Lieutennants

©f fhe Town Guard of the faid City, lawfully

commiffioned by theMagiflrats and Toun Council

thereof; and in the ordinary Courfe of Rotation

with the other Officers of the faid Guard, being or-

der'.'! to attend at the faid Execution, topreferve the

Peace, and fupport the Executioner in the Dif-

ch rge of his Duty, having under his Command
a Detachment of about Seventy Men, he did then

attend in the faid Grafs-market accordingly, and

after the faid Andrew V/ilfon had hung upon the

Gallows, erected for his Execution, until he was

dead, at leaft for a confiderable time, and lb

long as there was ground to conclude he was dead ;

he the faid John Porteous, making off all Fear of

God, and Refpect to his Majefty's Laws., and

conceiving a moll wicked and malicious Purpofe

of delbroying, wounding and maiming Numbers

of his Majefty's Subjects, the Inhabitants of the

faid City of Edinburgh, and others there aflem-

bled at the faid Execution, without any juft Caufe

or neceffary Occafion, ordered the faid Detach-

ment of the Guard under his Command to fire

upon the People fo affembled at the faid Execu-

tion ; and the Men, at leaft feverals of them hav-

ing fired, as it feems he apprehended, over the

Heads of the Multitude, fo as to avoid doing

them harm, he with Threats and Imprecations

repeated his Commands to fire, calling out to

them, to level their Pieces and be damn'd, or

Words to that Purpofe ; and at or about the fame

time, he levelled the Firelock that was in his

own Hand, taking Aim at Charles Hufband Ser-

vant to Paul Hujband, Confe£t\onzr in the Abbay

of Holy rood-Houfe, and moft wickedly and mur-

derouily fired at him, whereupon he immediatly

droped to the Ground, having received a Wound
by a Bullet or large Drop of Lead on the left

Side of his Head, which pierced into his Brain,

and another large Wound likewife by a Bullet or

large DropofLead on the left Side of his Neck, and

a third Wound in his Body, and a fourth Wound
in his left Hand, at leaft a mortal Wound or

Wounds,whereof he died in fome ftiort Space there-

after; At LEAST,hedidfo level his Piece,and ap-

peared to take his Aim at fome one of the inno-

cent Multitude, who happened to ftand directly

over againft him, and he did fire, and upon his

fo firing, the faid Charles Hufband, at leaft one

or other of the Perfons particularly after men-

tioned, or more of them, did immediatly drop

to the Ground, having received a mortal Wound
or Wounds, whereof they foon after died ; and

by his faid Example and Command, feverals of the

faid Guard, to the Number of Twenty, lefs or more,

did at the fame time with him, or foon after him,

fire upon the innocent Multitude, whereby all,

or one or more of the following Perfons received

mortal Wounds, whereof they foon after died,

viz. Archibald Ballanlyne, Son to John Bal-

laniyne, younger Dyfter in Dalkeith, received fc-

veral Wounds, with Bullets or large Drops of

Lead, which peirced into his Body, at leaft a

mortal Wound or Wounds in his Head or Body,

whereof he died a few Days thereafter, and John

Anderfon Son to George Anderfon in Craighead,

Drover, received a Wound in the Head with a

Bullet or large Drop of Lead, at leaft a mortal

Wound o Wounds in his Head or Body, fo

that he died in few Hours thereafter; and the

following Perfons were grievoufly maimed, hurt,

and wounded, to the great Danger of their

Lives, viz. Margaret Arthur alias Airth, Refidentei*

in the Cannon-gate, near the Water-gate thereof,

Jean Peal, Servant to James M' Dowal Mer-
chant in Edinburgh, David Wallace Journeyman
Wright in Edinburgh, James Philp late Servant
to Lauder Efquire, Refidenter in the
Cannon gate, David Kidd Taylor in Edinburgh,
Patrick Spalding Apprentice to David Mitchel
Jeweler in Edinburgh, James Lyle, and Alexander
Wallace both Servants to James Wright Stayma-
ker in Edinburgh, John Miller Taylor in Edin-
burgh, David Ogilvie Writer in Edinburgh, and
James Nivan late Servant to William Sellars Wri-
ter in Edinburgh, Refidenter in the Potter-Row :

At least, the faid Perfons were fo killed,

wounded, and maimed, by the firing in manner,
and by the Direction, as aforfaid, and by the
fecond firing after mentioned; for not contented
with the Barbarities thus committed, after he had
with the faid Company or Detachment of the
City Guard marched towards, or into the Place
or Street called the Weft-bow, he, without juft
Caufe or Occafion, again ordered the Men under
his Command, to face about and fire upon the
People, and at or about the fame time, he fired

a Mufket or Firelock that was in his own Hand,
having either reloaded, or caufed to be reloaded
his own Piece, or taken another out of the Hand
of one of the Guard ; and feverals of the faid

Guard did, upon that fecond Example and Com-
mand of his, fire upon the Multitude, whereby A-
lexanderM Neil Son to Edward M" Neil Indweller
in Morton-hall, received a Shot in the Head with a
Bullet or Lead-Drop, which pierced into his Brain,
at leaft a mortal Wound orWounds in his Head or
Body, fo that he died thereof in a few Days there-

after; and Margaret Gordon Servant to William
Ogilvie Taylor, in Saint Mary Wynd in Edin-
burgh, received a Wound in the Head above the
left Eye, with a Bullet or large Drop of Lead,
which pierced into her Brain, at leaft a mortal
Wound or Wounds in her Head or Body, fothat
fhe died thereof in a fhort Space thereafter; and
Henry Grahame Taylor in Cannon-gate received a
Wound in the Head, with a Bullet or large Drop
of Lead, which pierced into his Brain, at leaft a
mortal Wound or Wounds in his Plead or Body, of
which he died in a few Hours thereafter: At
least, by this, and the other Firings by him,
and by his Order and Example above mentioned,
all, or one or more of the PerfonsparticuLrly above
recited, as having been killed, received mortal
Wounds, of which they foon after died, and all

or one or more of the Perfons above recited, to

have been wounded, were grievoufly maimed,
hurt, and wounded, to the great Danger of their

Lives; At least, at the Time and Place a-

forfaid, the faid Perfons above named and men-
tioned to have been reflectively killed and wound-
ed, were all, or one or more of them, wickedly,
and malicioufly flaughtered, murdered, and
wounded, by Wounds feverally given th?m by
mortal Weapons: And he was guilty, arc

and part of the Slaughter, Murder, and wound-
ing of all, or one or more of them: All which,
or any Part thereof being found proven by the
Verdict of an Affize, in preience of the Lords,
Juftice General, Juflice Clerk, and Commiffio-
ners of Judiciary, he ought to be moft exemplarly
punifhed with the Pains of" Law, to the Terror
of others to committ the like in time coming.
Sic Subfcribitur,

Cb. Arejkine, A. D.
Pur-
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Purfuers.

Duncan Forbes, Efq; his

Majefty's Advocat.

Mr. Charles Erjkine his

Majefty's Solicitor.

Mr. Hugh Forbes, his

Majefty's Advocat-

Depute.

Mr. Patrick Haldan.

Mr. Hugh Murray Kin-

nynmont.

Sir James Elphingjloun.

for Murder.

Prolocutors in Defence.
Mr.

_

James Grahame,
junior.

Mr. Henry Home.
Mr .Alexander Lockhart.

Mr. James Lefsly.

Mr. James Holburn.

Advocats.
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The Libel being openly read, and debate vi-

va voce, in prefence of the Judges, Pannel, and

Jury, the Lords ordained both Parties to give in

their Informations to the Clerk of Court in or-

der to be recorded, and the Purfuers to give in

theirs again ft Friday next* at Six o' Clock at

Night, and the Prolocutors for the Pannel to

give in theirs againft Tuefday thereafter, and con-

tinued the Caufe till Friday the Sixteenth Inftant,

and ordained Affizers and WitnefTes then to at-

tend, and the Pannel to be carried back to Prifon.

July 12 th
, 1736.

Information for his Majeftfs Advocat for his

Highnejs's Intereft, againft John Porteous

late Captain Lieutenant of the City Guard

of Edinburgh, Pannel.

and Imprecations, repeated his Commands to
fire, calling out to them to level their Pieces,
and be damn'd ; that at or about the fame time
he levelled the Firelock that was in his own Hand,
taking aim at one Charles Hv.Jband, and fired at
him, whereupon he immediately dropt to the
Ground, having received Wounds, whereof he
inftantly died ; at leaft, that he levelled his Piece,
feeming to take aim at fome One in the Croud'
and fired it ; and that upon his firing, the faid
Charles Hujband, or one or other of the Perfons
in the Indictment mentioned dropt, havino- re-
ceived Wounds by Bullets, of which they in-
ftantly died -, and that by his Commands and
Example, feveral of the City Guard under his
Command, fired upon the innocent Multitude,
whereby the Perfons particularly mentioned in
the Indictment, were killed, maimed, and
wounded.

The Indictment further charges, That not
contented with this Barbarity, the Pannel, after

he had marched off his Detachment towards, or
unto the Place or Street called the Weft Bow, a-

gain ordered the Men under his Command, to
face about and fire upon the People, and at or
about the fame time, fired a Mufket or Firelock
that was in his own Hand, having either re-

loaded, or caufed to be re-loaded the Piece for-

merly fired by him, or having taken another out
of the Hand of one of the Guard ; and that fe-

veral of the faid Guard, did upon that fecond

THE Pannel is charged by the Indiftment, Example and Command, fire upon the Multi-
with murdering, flaughtering, maiming, tude, whereby the Perfons defcribed in the In-

and wounding divers of his Majefty's Subjects,

by firing with his own Hand, and caufing and
ordering a Band of armed Men under his Com-
mand, to fire upon a Multitude of innocent

People, aflembled to fee an Execution in the

Grafs-market of the City of Edinburgh, without

any juft Caufe or Provocation ; contrary not on-

ly to the Laws of God and Nature, and to the

good and laudable Laws of this and all other

well governed Realms, but alfo contrary to the

exprefs Duty of his Office, who was one of the

Commanders of the City Guard, intended to

preferve the Peace of the City, and to protect

the Inhabitants thereof from all violence •, and who
was on that Occafion entrufted with the Command
of a large Detachment of the faid Guard to pre-

ferve Peace and Order, to fecure the Execution

of a Sentence of the High Court of Jufticiary,

and to prevent all Riots and Tumults, whereby
the Execution of the faid Sentence might be dis-

appointed, the Laws might be violated, and the

People aflembled might be hurt or deftroyed.

The Indictment fets forth, particularly, That
at the time and Place libelled, where a great

dictment, were killed or mortally wounded:
And the Indictment concludes in common Form s

that the Pannel is guilty, or Actor art and partof

the Crimes aforfaid, or one or other of them.

The Charge in this Indictment is fo heinous,"

that one fhould have imagined, it would have
been decent in the Pannel, to have made no Ob-
jection to the Relevancy, and to have founded

upon no Defence for avoiding the Effect of the

Lybel, if true, but to have contented himfelf

with a flat Denial thereof, repofing himfelfupon
his Innocence, if he is truly not guilty of the

Facts alledged, without any other Defire, but

that of having a fair Examination of unbyaffed

WitnefTes, to be produced by him as well as the

Profecutor, in order to difcover the real Circum-

ftances of the Tranfaction.

But his Procurators, it feems, thought it their

Duty to move every Objection againft the Re-
levancy of the Lybel, and to offer every Defence

that their Invention could fuggeft from a particu-

lar Relation of the

Tranfaction, which
Circumftances of the whole
they laid before the Court

upon the Pannels Information, and which they

Multitude of Innocent Perfons, of all Ages, and offered to prove, to make good their Defence,

of different Sexes, were lawfully aflembled, to

fee the Execution of Andrew Wilfon, fentenced

to be hanged by the High Court aforfaid ; the

Pannel having under his Command a Detachment

of feventy armed Men of the City Guard, and

having conceived a moft wicked and malicious

Purpofe of deftroying, maiming, and wounding
Numbers of his Majefty's Subjects, the Inha-

bitants of the faid City, and others aflembled at

faid Execution, without any juft Caufe or necef-

fary Occafion, ordered the faid Detachment un-

der his Command to fire upon the People fo af-

fembled •, that the Men under his Command,
having probably, in his Apprehenfion, fired o-

ver the Heads of the People, he, with Threats

Vol. VI.

They informed the Court therefore, on behalf

of the Pannel, That the Magiftrats apprehend-

ing, that fome violent Attempt might be made
for refcuing Wilfon, the Offender fentenced to

be hanged, had ordered the Pannel to attend the

Execution, with the greateft Part of the City

Guard, to fupport and protect the Executioner

in the Difcharge of his Office, with Directions

to repel Force by Force -, that to make thofe Di-

rections effectual, Powder and Ball were by the

Town Trcafurer delivered out of the Town's
Magazine to the City Guard, the Morning of

the Execution, with Directions to load their

Pieces : That befides this Precaution, the Dan-

ger of the Refcue appeared to the Magiftrates

7 N 2 fo
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fo great, that they defired ofGeneral Moyle, and ob-

tained a Detachment of the regular Troops, who
were pofted near to the Place ofExecution, in or-

der to fupport the City Guard, if there had been

occafion ; and whofe Commanders were told, that

the Lord Provoft would give them Authority to

fire, if it mould prove neceffary •, that the Pan-

nel with the Town Guard attended accordingly

the Execution •, That when the Offender was

hung up on the Gibbet, the Magiftrats retired

from the Scaffold, and repaired to a Houfe over-

againft it in the Grafs-market ; that after the Of-

fender had been hung up for fome time, the

Multitude became unruly, and begun to fling

Stones of great Size, and with great Violence,

that fome of the Guard were thereby hurt ; one

had his Shoulder-blade broke, others werebruifed,

and the Timber of the Drum was beat to Pieces •,

that the Infolence of the Mob growing ftill

greater, and they preffing from all Sides upon the

Guard, the Pannel, who apprehended they might

have intended to carry off the Criminal, who by

this time was cut down, in order to attempt the

recovering him to Life, found it neceffary for

him to keep off the Multitude by Threats and

Menaces •, that to this end he prefented his Piece,

firft to one Quarter, and then to another, calling

to the People to Hand off, and threatning that if

they did not, he would fire, that neverthelefs, he

neither fired himfelf, nor gave any Orders to

fire, but on the contrary, when fome of the

Guard, provocked by the Hurts they received,

had, without his Orders or Authority, prefumed

to fire, whofe Example was followed by feveral

others, he did all he could to prevent that Mif-

chief, by commanding them to defift, and ac-

tually did beat down the Muzzle of one of the

Mens Pieces, who was prefenting it in order to

fire •, that finding he could not be obeyed, he

endeavoured to march off his Men, and prevailed

with feveral of them to follow him fome fmall

Way up the Weft Bow, when again fome of thofe

Men who followed him, provocked, by what,

he did not know, faced about, and fired towards

the Grafs-market ; that the firft Notice he had of

this Firing was by hearing it, which made him

turn about in order to flop it ; that at this laft

Place, he neither fired, nor gave Orders to fire ;

that he marched as many of his Men as he could

o-ather together back to the City Guard Room ;

that there he prevented the Mens cleaning their

Pieces, that the guilty who fired might be di-

ftinguifhed from the Innocent who did not fire ;

that his own Piece had not at that time been at

all fired •, that confcious of his Innocence, and

that he had on this, as well as on every former

Occafion, done his Duty with Patience and Tem-
per, he prefented himfelf before the Magiftrates,

whereas nothing was eafier for him than to have

made his Efcape, and that in their Prefence the

Firelock which he had in his Hand was pre-

fented, and appeared not to have been at all

fired •, and that therefore it was impofiible the

Lybel, as lybelled, could be true.

From this, which was faid to be the State of

the Cafe, the Procurators for the Pannel, con-

tended, firft, That the Lybel was infufficient,

as not defcribing with proper Accuracy the par-

ticular Part of the Street, where the Perfon fup-

pofed to be fhot by the Pannel flood, and his

Situation with refpect to the Pannel at the Time,

becaufe thereby the Pannel was deprived of the

Opportunity of making his Defence, by found-
ing it particularly on Circumftances, which he
might avail himfelf of, if the Pofition and Situa-
tion had been diflinctly defcribed.

To this it was, and is anfwered, That the Ly-
bel is as particular as the Law requires, defcribino-

the Street where the Execution was had, which
is all that the utmoft Scrupulofity could expect in
fuch a Cafe. Minute Circumftances cannot
be known to the Profecutor, or certainly dis-

covered, but by Proof upon the Trial : Every
Circumftance of the Pannel's own acting muft
be known to him ; and therefore, if from the
Pofition or Situation in which he was at the Time
of the Firing, he can fhow that it was impofiible
he could have killed the Perfon, whom he is

charged to have fhot, defcribing and proving
thofe Circumftances, he may have Advantage
from them, but cannot object to the Profecu-
tor, that he did not minutely defcribe a Situa-

tion that was not known to him, and which de-
fcribing perhaps erroneoufly, might minifter an
unjuft Occafion to a Criminal to efcape Juftice :

Wherefore this Objection to the Form of the
Indictment, ought to be repelled.

But in the Second Place, The Procurators for
the Pannel, very unneceffarily, one fhould think,
if he is Innocent of Firing, or ordering to fire,

and in fome degree inconfiflently with that Plea,

alledged, That the delivering out Powder and
Ball to the City Guard ; the ordering fo great a

Detachment to attend •, the calling for the Regu-
lar Troops to fupport the Town Guard ; the In-
timation to the Commander of thofe Troops, that

they fhould have Orders to fire,in cafe of Necefllty;

and the Direction to the Pannel to fupport the Exe-
cution of the Sentence againft JVilfon> and in cafe

of a violent Refcue or Deforcement, to repel force

by force, amounted to a flat Order from the Magi-
ftrats to fire, when it became neceffary : And
that the violent Affault made by the Mob, as

aforfaid, with Stones, which were to be confi-

dered as Lethal Weapons, in order as the Pan-
nel believed to carry off the Offender, in hopes
of recovering him to Life, made it neceffary to

repel force by force : Wherefore thefe Circum-
ftances to infer the Order, and the violent Affault

of the Mob as mentioned, ought to be fuftained

and admitted to Prooff, as a total Defence againft

the Indictment, at leaft as Circumftances fit to

mitigate the Punifhment, and reftrain it from the

pcena ordinaria ; fince the Pannel being verfans in

ticito, and engaged in the Difcharge of a lawful

Piece of Duty, if any Excefs was committed by
him, it ought not to be attended with Capital

Punifhment, but ought to be corrected extra or-

dinem, according to the Degree of the Excefs.

To this it was anfwered, That tho' it were
true, which is not at all upon the Part of the

Profecutor denied, that the Magiftrats upon juft

Apprehenfion of Diforders, and an Attempt for

a violent Refcue of the Criminal, who was Sen-

tenced to die, had ordered Powder and Ball to

be diftributed to the Guard, had increafed their

Numbers, had obtain'd Afliftance from the Com-
mander of the regular Troops, with Affurance,

that in cafe of necefllty they fhould be authorized to

fire, had directed the Pannel at all Hazards to

fupport the Execution, and prevent a violent

Refcue, and had even told him, that in cafe of

necefllty he was to repel force by force, it will

not in the leaft follow, that thofe Orders could

in
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in any Degree jufblfy him, except in cafe of Ne-
ceffity, except there had been an Attempt to-

wards a violent Refcue, which could not other-

wife have been prevented, and except all the

proper Precautions for diffipating otherwife the

Mob, and for legitimating the Aft of Firing

upon them, had been previoufly made ufe of.

For in the firft Place, No Order from any Civil

Mao-iftrate whatever, can juftify a Barbarity lb hor~

rid,°as that which is charged on the Pannel. Had

the'Provoft, and all the Magiftrats of Edinburgh

been prefent on the Spot, and had they or-

dered him to fire upon the Innocent People,

when there was no juft Caufe for fo doing, thofe

Orders indeed might fubjeft the Magiftrats, as

well to the Penal Confequences that attend Mur-

der, but could not on the lead acquit him, who

was' not at all bound to obey fuch illegal Or-

ders and who therefore afted at his Perril.

In the Second Place, It is not at all pretended,

that the Pannel had any Orders exprefied or im-

plied to fire, except the Violence of an Attempt

to refcue, not otherwife avoidable, made it ne-

ceffary. Had that been truly the Cafe, Firing

poffibly might have been the Pannel's Duty, the

readino- the Proclamation undoubtedly would have

made It juftifiable ; and this the Magiftrates

knew when they ordered Ammunition to be di-

ftributed, and invited the regular Troops to their

Affiftance : But till it became neceffary, when

there was no Hazard of a Refcue, before any

Diforder was fought to be quel I'd by the legal

Precaution of reading. the Proclamation, which

is intended to intimidate Rioters, and to feparate

the Innocent from the Guilty, by giving due

Notice to all thoughtlefs People, who without

any Malevolence are mixt with the Multitude, to

feparate from the ill Meaning, it was the moil

Cruel as well as unjuftifiable Aft, that has at

any Time been heard of, to make ufe of the

Weapons that were put in the Hands, of the

Guard, for the Security of the Peace and of the

People, to deftroy fo many Innocents, who had

not in any Degree offended.

For, Thirdly, Tho' the Pannel mentioned the

flingin^ of Stones, and the Size of fome of them,

with fome Hurts received therefrom, yet the Li-

bel charges, and he admitts that the Criminal

was cut down before this trifling Provocation

prevailed with any one to fire : His Duty then,

fo far as concerned the Execution of the Sentence,

was over : He alledges no Danger, nor can he

in thofe Circumftances of a Refcue, no Invafion

with Fire Arms, or other mortal Weapons, fit

to deforce or deftroy a Detachment of Seventy

difciplined Men, with loaded Pieces and fcrewed

Bayonets : How then can the Exigence, or the

Orders defend him ? If his Act had been abfo-

lutely neceffary, fome Defence might have been

founded on that Neceffity joined with his Orders :

But when his Allegations, tho' they were true,

do not point out the leaft Neceffity, and are in

reality founded on nothing elfe than the cuftom-

ary Impertinence on fuch Occafions, of flinging

Dirt and Scones at the Executioner, tho' the

Provocation thereby given might perhaps juf-

ftify a Cholerick Man, for drubbing any of

the Aftors for their Wantonnefs, yet to be

fure, it could not juftifie the Slaughtering of

the Offender, far lefs can fuch Impertinence

in a few Boys, or other idle People, excufe the

firing fharp Shot upon an Innocent Multitude

,

7D7
whereby Numbers of his Majefty's Subjefts were
deftroyed : And therefore itTeems to be beyond
all doubt, the Pannel can find no Shelter from
thofe Orders, or the Duty he imagines lay upon
him to fire ; and muft therefore ftand or fall,

upon his being, or not being Guilty of the Fafts
charged upon him.

The Procurators for the Pannel endeavoured to
find an Argument for him, in a late Refolution
of the Court, which fufpended a Sentence of the
Court of Admiralty, proceeding upon an Inter-

loquitor that found it neceffary for Soldiers, who
happened to kill in the Execution of their Duty,
when by Order attending Cuftom-houfe Officers,

to prove, that the killing was neceffary for the

Defence of their Lives, inferring from this Re-
folution, that the Court did not think it neceffary

for the Pannel to prove, that he was in Danger of
his Life : And though all that their Obfervation
neceffarily implies were granted, they could have
no Benefite by it, becaufe in this Cafe the Pannel
neither does, nor can aver, that the Firing which
he was perfonally guilty of, and ordered, was ne-

ceffary for fecuring the Execution of that Truft
that was committed to him, or for prefervinp-

the Rights of the Crown, or any Subjeft.

Where a Man has by Law Weapons put in his

Hand, to be imployed, not only in Defence of
his Life when attack'd, but in Support of the

Execution of the Laws, and in Defence of the
Property of the Crown, or Liberty of any Sub-
jeft, he doubtlefs may ufe thofe Weapons, not
only when his own Life is put fo far in Danger,
that he cannot probably efcape without making
ufe of them, but alfo when there is imminent
Danger, that he may by Violence be difabled to

execute his Truft, without reforting to the Ufe
of thofe Weapons : But when the Life of the

Officer is expofed to no Danger, when his Duty
does not neceffarily call upon him for the Execu-
tion of his Truft, or for the Prefervation of the

Property of the Crown, or the Prefervation of
the Property or Liberty of the Subjeft, to make
ufe of mortal Weapons, which may deftroy His
Majefty's Subjefts, efpecially Numbers of them,
who may be innocent, it is impoffible, from the

Refolution of the Court of Judiciary hinted ar,

to expeft any Countenance to, or Shelter for the

inhumane Aft.

And upon a Principle very near allied to this,

the Pannels Pretence, that being verfans in liciro,

and intruded with the Execution of legal Orders,

any Excefs, that for lack of Difcretion he may
have been guilty of, cannot be pu'nifhed_pd?«£

ordimria.) ought to be repelled ; for it's obvious,

the Truft repofed in him, and the Duty expefted

from him, was no more than to fee the Execu-
tion perfected, and to refift any violent Attempt
to refcue, which fhould difappoint the Execution

of the Law. Now when the Sentence of the

Court of Judiciary was executed, when the Cri-

minal was hanged and cut down, before any
Perfon fired, the Truft repofed in the Pannel, and
the Duty expefted from him ceafed f he was no
longer an Officer employed, to that end for which
the Fire Arms were loaded, and his Aftions came
to be eftimated of by the fame Rules, that would

have made them lawful or unlawful upon every

ordinary Occafion, where no particular Dan-
ger threatned, and where no neceffary Service

was in view,

And
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And therefore, as in fuch Cafes, the Pannel

muft be convinced, that nothing fhort of being

conftituted in immediate Danger of Death with-

out firing, could juftify him or his Guard for

making ufe of loaded Fire Arms, he muft in

confequence acknowledge, that in the cafe in

Queftion, no Danger of Life, which he could

not have avoided, having threatned him and his

Guard, he was abfolutely inexcufeable for firing,

and that therefore his mifchievous and temera-

rious Act muft be attended with the higheft Pe-

nalty.

An armed Man who afTaults, and without juft

Caufe deftroys another Man tho' armed, and in

no particular Truft or Confidence with him, the

Law confiders and demeans as a Murderer ; but

when the Captain of a City Guard, who has an

armed Force committed to his Care, for the

Good and Safety of the Community, thinks fit,

upon any flight Offence or Provocation, to turn

thofe Arms, and that Force upon a Crowd of

Citizens lawfully as well as innocently affembled,

he is, in Addition to the Slaughter and Deftruc-

tion that enfues, guilty of the mod notorious

Breach of Truft, and for an Example to others,

•whom it may be neceffary for the Good of the

Community to truft, ought to be punifhedin the

moil fevere manner. Men fo trufted are under

double Tyes, for befides the general Obligations

of Duty and Humanity, a particular Confidence

is repofed in them, which at the Peril of their

Lives they ought to anfwer.

The Procurators for the Pannel complained,

That in the Indictment he was charged with a

wicked and malicious Purpofe of deftroying,

wounding, and maiming Numbers of his Ma-
jefty's Subjects ; arid by the Pannel'sfober and mo-

deft Deportment on former Occafions, and the

whole Circumftances precedent to the melancholy

Accident now in Queftion, endeavoured to fhew

that he had no premeditated malicious Defign.

But this again was to no purpofe : The Profecu-

tor never heard, nor, fo far as he knows, did

ever any Man before this time, complain of the

Wickednefs or Inhumanity of the Pannel, and he

has received no Information, by which he can be

induced to think, that for any confiderable time

before the Fact complained of, the Pannel had

premeditated the deftrudtive Action of which he

is accufed. But then his Procurators very well

know, that firing and ordering to fire, imply,

and are Proof of a wicked and malicious Pur-

pofe of deftroying thofe that are fired at: Mali-

litia and Propofitum pracedunt iffum, in the Con-

ftrudtion of Reafon as well as Law, and whoe-

ver wilfully murders and deftroys his Majefty's

Subjects, muft be demean'd as a Murderer, if

his malicious Purpofe preceeded the drawing of

the Tricker, or giving the Orders, one Mo-
ment, as much as if it had been preconceived a

whole Year.

Thefe Shews of Defence, rather than Defen-

ces being removed ; the next thing that comes to

be confidered, is the Hiftory of the Pannel's

Behaviour, during the melancholy Tranfaction,

which his Procurators offered to prove, and in-

fifted, would, if proved, be a fufficient Defence

againftthe Facts charged in the Lybel.

But in this the Profecutor can by no means a-

gree, for he takes it to be extremely plain, that

every finglc Circumftance alledged by the Pan-

nel. may be true, and yet it may alfo be true,, that

he with his own Hand fired, and killed one or
more of the innocent People, and that he or-

dered the Men under his Command to fire.

It may, for Example, poffibly be true, that
he, at fome Period or another of the Action,
called out to the Mukitude to ftand off', or that
he would fire ; that he at fome one Point or ano-
ther of Time prohibited the Men to fire, and
ftruck down the Pieces of fuch as were prefent-
ing them ; and yet it may alfo be true, that he-

at fome other point of Time gave the precife
Word of Command to fire, and actually fired

the Piece that was in his Hand : Before he loft

his Temper he might have threatned only, be-
fore he took the Refolutionof annoying, as well
as after he faw Mifchief done, he might have
endeavoured to prevent a particular Act of In-
humanity ; but his doing fo at certain Periods,
is no conclufive Evidence, that at other Points
of Time his Conduct might not have been very
different.

Were his giving Orders, or actual firing dubi-
ous, the Circumftances mentioned for the Pan-
nel might create a ftrong Prefumption for him :

But if it fhall be proved, as it is charged in the
Lybel, that he actually fired the Piece in his
Hand oftner than pnee, and gave pofitive Or-
ders to fire •, what can it avail him, that at fome
other Periods of the Fray, he behaved himfelf
in a different manner ? fince both the one Al-
legation and the other may be true.

But the Procurators for the Pannel infilled, That
though the Propofition they undertook to prove
was in fome degree a Negative, yet it was fo
circumftantiated as to be capable of a pofitive

Proof; for they faid that credible Witneffes could
be produced, who would inform the Court and
Jury, that during the whole Fray, they keept
their Eyes upon the Pannel, and were attentive

to his Actions ; and that they could take upon
them to fay, that thorow out the Scuffle he did
not fire his Piece, nor order the Guard to fire,

but that he threatned to fire, which might by
Perfons at a diftance who heard the Word Fire
only pronounced, be miftaken for a Command,
and that he prefented his Piece only in a mena-
cing Pofture, but without firing, which mio-fit

have milled the Spectators into an Opinion that

he did fire, though he really did not ; if any
one who was near him happened to difcharge his

Shot about the fame time.

This reafoning however is manifeftly defective,

becaufe the Evidence of the Witneffes, who fhall

fay, they did not fee or hear, bears no Propor-
tion in point of Weight, to the Teftimony of
thofe, who ihall upon Oath pofitively fay, that

they did hear or fee.

And befides the obvious Reafon for maintain-

ing this Diftinction in the common Cafe, there is

a particular Confideration that fupports it, in the
cafe of a Fray or Tumult, where Shots are fired.

Murder enfues, and there is a general Confufion
and Surprize. No one could poffibly be fo in-

terefted in keeping his Eyes upon the Pannel,
when it could not be forfeen there would be oc-
cafion to give Evidence touching his Behaviour,
as not to be lyable to be carried off from that

Object, upon any frefh Surprize that happened
in the Tumult : The firing of a Shot, the fling-

ing of a Stone, the extraordinary Behaviour of
any one of the Multitude, or of the Guard,
might imperceptibly have drawn the Eyes and

Atten-
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Attention of any Spectator from the Pannel, to

that new Object, and prevented his feeing or

hearing what he faid or did in the mean time :

7&9

And therefore no Witnefs, or Number of Wit- band.

neffes, who mould take upon him or them to fay ab-

folutely, That the Pannel did not at any Period of

the Fr'ey fire, or order to fire, would at all be

credible, at leaft moft certainly they could not

be credited againft fuch Witnefies as mould po-

fitively fay, that they faw or heard him fire, or

order to fire.

If Witnefies fhall fay again ft the Pannel, that

they faw him prefent his Piece and fire, and for

might have been

he fired. Where he is firft charged with firing
no more is faid, than that he levelled the Firelock
that was in his Hand, and fired it at Charles Hufi

ow the Frelock that was in his Hind,
that belonging to another Man,

as well as his own: And in the other
tht Indictment

it is faid that

lock that was in his Hand, having either re-load-
ed, or caufed to be re-loaded his own Piece, or
having taken another out of the Hand of one of
the Guard : So that the Lybel in every Article
of it may be true, and proved ; and yet it may

part of
.
where he is charged with firing,

he made ufe of a Mufket or Fire-

their Caufa Scientia (hall aver, that they obferved be alfo true, that the Pannel did not fire his
iflaing out of the Muzzle of

a Man drop down dead in the

Fire and Smoke
his Piece, and

P.ace towards which he pointed it, will that E
vidence be fufficiently contradicted by Perfons

who may fay they obferved no fuch Thing, or

that others of the Guard fired about the fame

Time, and at the fame Place ? 'tis humbly thought

it cannot, becaufe this is fetting up Negative Evi-

dence, only againft pofitive, which neither Law
or Reafoi? permits.

A.^d if redible Witnefies fhall aver, That the

Captai 1 distinctly ordered the Guard to fire, can

it avail him that other Witnefies heard him

threaten the Croud, that if they did not retire

he would fire, without hearing the pofitive Or-

der-, ror firing given ? in a Tumult every indi-

.. own
Piece.

And as to the Article, That the Pannel, con-
fcious of no Guilt, appeared voluntarily before
the Magistrates, when he could eafily have made
hisEfcape : It can poffibly infer no Preemption
for his Innocence, if the Facts charged in the
Indictment are made good. Whoever fhall be
fatisfied by the Proof, that the Pannel acted in
manner lybelled, muft be convinced, that he
was governed in his Actions by no Principle of
Difcretion, and muft therefore lay no weight
upon an Act of his, which can yield no Infe-
rence, unlefs he is fuppofed to have been
verned by Difcretion and Prudence.

Having thus run over the feveral Circumftan*
ces of the Pannel's Narrative. The Profecutor

go-

vidual cannot poflibly hear every Thing that paf- apprehends, he may fafely conclude, that they
fes ; but then it is no Evidence that particular

Words were not uttered in a Fray, that fome

Perfons prefent at the Fray did not hear or at-

tend to them.

And the Pannel in framing his Defence on this

Article, does not feem to have attended to what

is exprefly lybelled againft him, That in great

An^er he faid to the Men under his Command,
upon their firing over the Heads of the Multi-

tude, Level your Pieces, and be damn'd. Will

this Circumftance, fhould it be proven, be at all

confiftent with that Part of the Defence, which

tends to render the Expreffion Fire dubious ? If

the Pannel's Paffion moved him to utter the Ex-

preffion, Level your Pieces and be damn'd ! Is it

at all doubtful in what Senfe the Word Fire was

pronounced ? Thefe things are, 'tis thought, too

plain to be further infifted on.

The only remaining Circumftance, on which

the Procurators for the Pannel feemed to lay

ftrefs, was the Condition of his Firelock, when

the Action was over, and his voluntary prefent-

ing himfelf before the Magiftrats, when he could

have made his Efcape, from which they would

have inferred, an Impofiibility that he was guil-

ty of actual firing, his Firelock appearing not to

have been difcharged, and a ftrong Improbability

that he was confeious of naving given any crimi-

nal Orders, fince without neceffity he freely pre- that a fair and ftrict Enquiry be made, where the

fented himfelf to Juftice.

Now as to thefe Matters, it muft be obferved,

cannot jointly or feparately, be fuftained as a
Defence, againft the Charge laid in the Indite-
ment : Becaufe, tho' every Circumftance alledged,
were undeniably proved, the unhappy Pannel
might neverthelefs be guilty, and a pofitive Proof
of the Facts charged muft necefTarily prevail with
every unbiafled Jury-man, to join in a Verdict
againft him.

The" Profecutor is neverthelefs far from wifh-
ing, that the unfortunate Pannel, fhould be de-
prived of an Opportunity of laying every Cir-
cumftance, that may make for his Defence before

the Jury by Proof, tho' he humbly infifts they
cannot be fuftained as a Defence Relevant to af-

foilzie from the Indictment. It is poffible the
Fact may come out otherwife in the Trial, when
Witnefies are upon Oath, than it did when the
Examination was taken in the Precognition 5 and
fhould the Proof of the Inditement be in mate-
rial Circumftances defective, the Evidence of-

fered for the Pannel may have its weight; where-
fore, fo far as the Forms of the Court will allow,

the Profecutor makes no Oppofition to the in-

dulging the Pannel to bring what legal Evi-
dence he can, for the Information of the Jury.

It is far from being the Intereft of the Crown,
or of the Publick that an innocent Man fhould

fuffer ; but it is greatly the Intereft of both,

Firft, That the Condition in which the Pannel's

Firelock appeared, can yield no Evidence for

him : A Piece that has been fired may be re-load-

ed, and fo cleaned and brufhed up, as to leave no

Veftige or Mark of the former firing •, and the

Piece which the Pannel made ufe of in firing,

might have been changed, and another produced

to the Magiftrates in the Room thereof.

But idly, The Indictment no where avers,

that the Pannel made ufe of his own Piece when

Guilt lyes, when a Mafiacre fo cruel and fo dan-

gerous happens, to the end, that if the Officer,

who has Power put in his Hand, for the Pre-

fervation of the Peace, and for the Protection of
the People, fhould, from any unjuft Motive
whatever, make ufe of that Power in breach of

the Laws, to the Destruction of the People, he

may be made an Example to reftrain others in

the fame Circumftances, from the like mon-
ftruous and dangerous Abufes in time coming.

In refped whereof, &c. Sic fubferibitur.

Dun. Forbes.

In-
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Information for John Porteous late Captain

Lieutennant of the City Guard of Edin-

burgh, againft His Majejifs Advocat.

TH E Pannel ftands indicted at the Inftance

of His Majefty's Advocat for his Highnefs

Intereft, for the Crimes of Murder, and Slaugh-

ter, Maiming, and Wounding ; and the Fads

charged againft him, from whence thefe Crimes

are pretended to be inferred, are thefe following;

That the Pannel being one of the Captain Lieu-

tennantsofthe faid City Guard, was by theMagi-

ftrats of the City, ordered to attend with a De-

tachment of about Seventy Men of the faid Guard,

at the Execution of Andrew Wilfon, fentenced to

be hanged by the High Court of Jufticiary -, and

that the faid Andrew Wilfon, having hung upon

the Gallows, erected for his Execution, in the

Street called The Grafs Market', until he was dead,

at leaft for a confiderable Time, and fo long,

that there was ground to conclude he was dead,

he the faid Pannel, conceiving a wicked and ma-

licious Purpofe of deftroying, wounding, and

maiming the Perfons, Inhabitants of the faid

City, and others, affembled at the faid Execution,

did, without any juft Caufe or neceffary Occafion,

order the faid Detachment, under his Command,
to fire upon the People fo affembled ; and that

fome of the Men having fired, as it would feem

the Pannel apprehended, over the Heads of the

Multitude, with Intention to avoid doing them
harm, he the faid Pannel, did with Threats re-

peat his Commands to fire, calling out to the

Men, to level their Pieces and be damn'd, or

"Words to that Purpofe ; and that at the fame
Time, he levelled the Firelock that was in his

own Hand, taking Aim at one Charles Hujband,

and having fired the faid Firelock, the faid

Charles Hujband immediately dropt to the Ground,
having receiv'd a Wound or Wounds by Bullets

or large Drops of Lead, whereof he died in a

fhort Space ; and that by the Pannel his faid Ex-
ample and Command, feverals of the faid Guard,
to the Number of about Twenty, did, at the

fame Time, or foon thereafter, fire upon the In-

nocent Multitude, by which Fire, two other

Perfons were killed, and feveral others wounded,
maimed, or hurt ; and that the faid Pannel ha-

ving thereafter marched off the faid Detachment
of the Guard into that part of the Street aforefaid,

called The Weft Bow, he did again, without any
juft Caufe or Occafion, order the Men under his

Command, to face about and fire upon the People

;

and that at this Time, the faid Pannel did fire a
Mufket, that was in his own Hand, having either

reloaded, or caufed to be reloaded, his own Piece
or Firelock, or taken another out of the Hands
of one of the Guard ; and that feverals of the

faid Guards, did upon that fecond Example and
Command of the Pannel's, fire upon the Multi-
tude, by which Fire, Three other Perfons were
killed; at leaft that, by the faid Firings of the
Pannel, or of the Firings of the other Men in the

faid Detachment of the Guard, proceeding from
the Pannel's Order and Example, the feveral

Perfons, mentioned in the Indictment to have
been killed, maimed, or wounded, were all re-

fpectively killed, wounded, or maimed : Where-
by the pannel is guilty of the Killing, Wound-

ing, or Maiming the faid Perfons ; at leaft is Art
and Part thereof, or acceffory thereto ; from
whence the Indictment concludes, That the Pan-
nel out to be punifhed with the Pains of Law, i. e.

Capitally.

To this Indictment the Pannel pleaded not
Guilty ; for that he had, at no time, durino- the
Execution of Andrew Wilfon aforefaid, given

3

any
Order, or fhewed any Example to the faid De-
tachment of the Guard then under, or that ou^ht
to have been under his Command, to fire upon
the Multitude fo affembled ; and that he didf at
no time, fire any Piece or Firelock himfelf upon
the faid Crowd

; that tho' it might be true, that
at, or about the Time of the faid Execution, 'feve-
ral Perfons were killed and wounded by the Fi-
rings of that Detachment of the Guard, which
indeed ought to have been under the Pan-
nel's Command, and which he does, with great
Grief and Sorrow, regrete ; yet that, as fuch
Firing proceeded wholly from the Men in the
faid Detachment, without any Order or Example
from the Pannel, fo he could not be charged
therewith, however fatal or tragical theConfeqiSn-
ces of fuch Firing may have proved.

That tho' the Pannel, as confeious of his own
Innocence, could fafely reft his Trial upon the
Denial of the Facts aforfaid, and upon fuch
Proof, as he could bring, by the Evidence of
Multitudes of Perfons of undoubted Credite, who
happened to be prefent, clofe by him, cIuW
this unhappy Scene, that he was nowayes initru°
mental in the Killing or Wounding the faid Per-
fons, but that upon the contrary, he did all that
was in his Power, to prevent and reftrain the faid
Firing upon the Multitude

; yet, that he was ad-
vifed by his Council, that they could not, durino-
the conducting of his Trial, confident with their
Duty, fuffer him the Pannel, to omitt or abandon
any Defence that was compitent to him in Law ;
and that therefore, as by the Law oi Scotland, the
Pleading to an Indictment, upon fuppofed Fads,
is no legal Admiffion of fuch Fads, the Pannel
was at Liberty to plead any other Exception,
that lay againft the Form of his Indictment, or
even to plead, that tho' fuch Firing had pro-
ceeded from his Order or Example, yet even in
that Cafe, fuch Firing, and the Confequences
wherewith it was attended, was not fufficient to
fupport the Charge againft the Pannel, of the
Crimes of either Murder, Slaughter, Maiming,
or Wounding, or to render him obnoxious to
the Pains libelled,

And in the Entry of the Debate, The Procura-
tors for the Pannel afk Liberty to offer to the
Court, a full Recital of the Behaviour of the Pan-
nel, during the Execution of the faid AndrewWil-
fon, and for fome fhort Space previous and fubfe-
quent thereto ; and alio, to offer a fhort Rela-
tion of what they apprehend was the Caufe, that
the Execution of the faid Andrew Wilfon was atten-
ded with fuch an unufual Confluence of People,
and was ordered to be guarded and over-feen by
fuch a numerous and unaccuftomed armed Force.
The fa;d Andrew Wilfon, along with one Ro-

bertfon, and others, had been fentenced to Death
by your Lordfhips, for robbing one of the Col-
lectors of His Majefty's Revenue of confiderable
Sums of Money of the Publick ; and while they
lay under this Sentence, they were allowed, as
ufual, to go to the Church adjoining to the Pri-
fon, for the Benifite of Divine Service, under the

z Cuftody
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Cuftody of a fmall Detachment of the City

Guard ; and while the Convifts were thus at

Church, Robert/on, one of them, found means to

efcape from his Keepers of the Guard, by fud-

denly jumping over a Pew, and getting out at the

Door of the Church •, his Retreat apparently

being favoured by the Mob, or loweft Sort of the

People, he eafily made his Efcape, without ha-

ving been ever fince overtaken.

From this Efcape of Robertfon's, fo favoured

by the Mob, and from ftrong Surmifes and Sug-

geftions, that, at the Execution of Wilfon, a Rel-

cue was intended by the Mob, which indeed there

was a realbnable Ground to apprehend ; becaufe

the Commons have imbibed a pernicious and ab-

furd Conceit, as if the Robbing of the Publick

Money, was a Crime more pardonable, than pri-

vate Robbery: Therefore it was, as the Pannel

apprehends, that the Magiilrats of the City,

from aSenfeof their Duty to prevent the Execution

of the Laws being any further defeated by the Ref-

cue oi Wilfon, took the ftrongeft Precautions that

the Execution of him fhould be made effectual.

In Confequence whereof, as would feem, the

Provoft of the City, fent for the Pannel, in

whom, he muft take the Liberty to fay, Confi-

dence was generally put upon thofe difficult Oc-

cafions, and told him, that there being great Ap-
prehenfions of a Mob at Andrew Wilfon' & Execu-

tion, that therefore there was a Neceffity to be

well prepared to prevent their Defigns ; and for

that end, that he would have the whole City

Guard, to attend at the Execution, he having

given Orders to the Town Treafurer to furnifh

the Men with Powder and Shot, and fuch other

Military Ammunition as might be neceffary for

the Ufe of the Men in maintaining the Peace

of the Town, and fupporting the Execution of

the Laws. And this Conference with the Provoft

happened upon the Monday preceeding the Exe-

77 l

only, where neverthelefs they would be ready at
a Call in cafe of Neceffity ; but that he had or-
dered the whole Band of the City Guard ,to attend
at the Execution it felf, with proper Arms and
Ammunition, namely, Slug Shot, with Orders
to repel Force by Force, and even to dis-
charge their Arms among the Mob in cafe of
Refinance.

On Wednefday the Day of the Execution, iq
the Forenoon, the Pannel attended the Provoft,
and told him, That in Obedience to his Com-
mands, the Men were all ordered to be in Rea-
dinefs, their Arms put in order, and loaded;
whereof the Provott approved, and told the
Pannel, That he was to be ready betwixt Two
and Three in the Afternoon, with his Guard,
and to draw out until the Party of the King's
Troops, from the Cannon-gate pad him •, and
that fo foon as the King's Troops were drawn up
in the Lawn-market, the Pannel, with the City
Guard fhould forthwith march to the Prifon,
and conduct the Prifoner to the Place of Exe-
cution, without allowing him firft to go to the
Town's Council-houfe, as ufual, (till with Inten-
tion, as would feem, to prevent any Opportu-
nity of Refcue, or Difturbance upon that Head;
and at this Time in the Forenoon the Pannel
humbly propofed to the Magiftrates of the City,
that they would fend a Proclamation through
the Town, as a Caution to fuch Innocent unwary
People, as might by Curiofity be drawn to the
Sight of the Execution, warning them of their
Danger, in cafe any Difturbance fhould happen

>

or attack be made upon the Guard. And ac-
cordingly George Lindfey one of their Clerks,
made a Scroll of the faid Proclamation to be
fent through the Town ; but for what Reafon
it was not proclaimed, the Pannel knows not,
and at the fame time the Pannel remembers fome
one or other of the Common-Council of the

cution of Wilfon, which followed on the Wednef- City propofed in cafe of Difturbance, the read-
day thereafter. But it feems the Magiftrats of the ing of the Riot Aft, and for that Purpofe fent

City* not thinking even this Precaution fufficient, for a Dozen of Copies of the Aft to a Book

-

upon the Tuefday thereafter, the Provoft fent the fellers Shop, in order to diftribute them amono-
Pannel with a Letter to General Moyle's Refiding the proper Officers of the Law, authorized to

near the City$ and Chief Commander of the For- read and proclaim fuch Aft ; but it feems at no
ces in Scotland, telling the Pannel, that the Im- time either of thofe Propofals were put in Exe-
port of this Letter was, defiring from the Gene- cution ; nor at the Time of the faid Execution,

ral an Order for a Party of the Regiment lying did any Officer of the Law, authorized to pro-
in the Cannon-gate to enter the City (a Thing claim fuch Aft, attend with the Pannel.

A fhort fpace before the Pannel marched with
his Men from the Guard-houfe, towards the

Place of Execution, he was heard fay, That he
had no Cartrages in his Box; on which a Cor-
poral told him, that he would get him fome ;

and accordingly the Corporal did, in prefence of
feveral of the Men, open the Pannels Cartrage

Box, wherein it was obferved there were no Cart-

very uncommon, except in the Cafe of urgent

Neceffity ) in order to over-awe the Mob, and

thereby maintain the Peace during the faid Exe-

cution.

It feems this Letter to the General induced him
to fend a verbal Meffage in return thereto, by a

Perfon of known Honour and Veracity, Major
Pool, of that Regiment now lying in the Cannon-

gate, who told the Provoft, that the General rages, and put three Cartrages therein, with

wanted to know of him, what part the King's

Troops were to aft, and what Precautions had

been taken for preventing any Infult or Invafion

that might be made upon the Troops, or what
Length thefe Troops might go in the cafe of

Tumult or Difturbance. To which the Provoft

one o^ which the Pannel loaded his Piece, and
immediately marched away with the Men.
When the Criminal was condufted to the

Scaffold erected for his Execution, the Detach-

ment of the City Guard were ported on the

the Street, in a Circle furrounding the Scaffold,

made anfwer, That there was no reafon to appre- in order to keep off the Mob ; but becaufe of a

hend any lnconveniency would happen to the

King's Troops, becaufe he would have them
only to parade, for a Terror to the Mob, in a

Street called the Lawn-market, removed from the

Sight of the Execution, but at a fmall Diftance

Vol. VI.

certain Building, called the Corn-market, nigh

adjoining to the Scaffold, part of the Men did

alio incircle that Building. And here it may
not be improper for the Court to caft their Eye
upon a Plan of the Ground, and the Pofture of

7 O the
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the Men, in order to have a clearer view of the

Defcriptions to be hereafter mentioned.

So Toon as the Criminal was thrown over the

Ladder, and fo left hanging upon the Gibbet,

the City Baillies immediately withdrew nigh to,

directly oppofite, and in view of the Scaffold,

but without leaving any Order or Officer of the

Law to attend with the Pannel : And it had hap-

pened, that fome fhort Space before the Act of

Execution, while the Minifter was affifting the

Criminal by Prayer, the Pannel had gone up to

join, leaving his Piece with the Serjeant; and

fo foon as publick Prayer was ended, or fome

fhort time after, and the Convict left to his own
private Devotion, the Pannel took back his Piece

in his Hand, and afterwards came off the Scaf-

fold, and polled himfelf at the Weft End of the

Detachment of the Guard.

So foon as the Convict had been hung up as

aforfaid, and that the City Baillies had with-

drawn from the Scaffold, the Mob became to be

troublefom, intending, as would feem, to ufe this

laft Shift, immediately to cutt down the Criminal,

and endeavour to bring him to Life by bleeding -,

an Expedient, which when timeoufly applied,

has on many other Occafions been known to be

attended with Succefs, and the Mob fell a mur-

muring, that they would have him inftantly cutt

down, and if it were not quickly done, they

would do it themfelves : And at this time they

preffed hard upon the Guard, ftricking at them

with Sticks, feizing of their Fire Arms and Ba-

yonets, and throwing exceeding big Stones at

the Guard ; one whereof cutt a Drummer to the

the Scull, another broke one of the Men's Shoul-

der Bones, another wounded one of the Men's

Legs, and feveral others of the Men were wound-

ed, whereby they are yet unable to do Duty r

The Truth of all which can be attefted by their

common Surgeon, who is by the City ordered

to attend them upon all Exigencies.

This Infolence in the Mob alarm'd the Pan-

nel, and ft 111 obferving it to encreafe, he was

apprehenfive that the Mob might cbftrud the

perfecting of the Execution ; for no Criminal

can be cutt down from the Gibbet, but upon the

Order of a City Bailiff, upon a Judgement that

the Criminal has hung up until he is compleatly

dead, agreeable to the Sentence which always

commands fuch Convict to be hang'd until he be

dead ; therefore it was that the Pannel fent a

Meffage to the Bailiffs, to know if he fhould

fuffer the Criminal to be cutt down from the Gib-

feet ; who brought back an Anfwer, That the Con-

vict was to hang there yet for a Quarter of an Hour.

At this time the Mob wax'd exceeding bold,

became very turbulent, and preft hard upon the

Guard, and while the Pannel was endeavouring

to keep off the Crowd from preffing among the

Soldiers, at one End of the Scaffold, fome of

the Convicts Friends, affifted by the Mob, catch-

cd an Opportunity and cutt him down without

any Order : And tho' the Convict, being thus cutt

down, was in the Poffeffion and Keeping of the

Mob, who were endeavouring to recover him to

Life, by caufing the Veins pt' both Arms to be

opened : Whither it was that they were appre-
• henfive, that the Guard would recover him out

of their Hands, as having been cutt down with-

out Order ; or that the Officers of the Law were

defigned to fee to his Interment, and that he was
• executed to death ; or that the Convict's Body

was intended to be given to be anatomized by
the Surgeons, as is fometimes practifed, where
Perfons of low Degree or notorious Offenders,

are fentenced to Death ; or from whatever Mo-
tive it proceeded, the Mob began to infult and
attack the Guard : And upon this Attack it was,

that the Man aforfaid' had his Shoulder Blade
broken ; and another fo bruifed, that he has been
never able to do Duty fince •, and the Timber of
the Drum was broke by the force of an exceeding
large Stone that was thrown, and feveral others

of the Men were hurt and wounded.

This Violence in the Mob fo alarmed the Pan-
nel, that he made a Step or two forewards.to the

Weftward of the Scaffold, turning about his

Face towards the Weft Port, from whence the
throwing of the Stones moftly proceeded ; and
having put his Piece to his Shoulder^ he levelled

it at the Mob, and pointing it around to them,
threatning with an audible Voice, That if they
would not be at Peace, and leave off throwing
Stones, and attacking the Men, he would fire

among them •, but immediately recovered his Piece
without firing it ; the Threats being only intended

to intimidate the Mob.
But unfortunately upon this enfued the whole

Tragical Scene ; for no fooner had the Pannel
ftept forward, threatning to fire as aforfaid, but

one of the Men came up from behind him, ^and

running by him upon his Right Hand, inftantly

difcharged his Piece, upon which one of the

Crowd dropt down, fuppofed to be Charles Hus-
band, and which Charles Hujband will upon Proof
be found to have been the Perfon who ttimul-

tuoufly ftept in and cut down the CriminaL
Immediately upon this firft.Fire, another of

the Guard came up to the Pannel, v/ith his Piece

prefented and cocked, andafk'd if he fhould fire ;

to which the Pannel anfwered with fome Vehe-
mence, No, by no Means, and ftruck up his

Piece, bidding him go to his Rank, and actually

thruft him thereto.

After the Example of this firft Fire, feveral

more of the Men were heard to difcharge their

Pieces, but upon what Provocation the Pannel
cannot tell ; thefe Shots having been at a confide-

rable Diftance from the Pannel, proceeding, as

is fuppofed, from fuch of the Men as were ftand-

ing at the South-weft Corner of the Corn-market 5

whereas, as has been noticed, the Pannel was
ftill Handing at his former Station, to the Weft
of the Scaffold and Gibbet.

The Pannel not knowing the fatal Confequen-
ces of thofe Shots, but fufpecting however that

Mifchief would happen, feeing the Men had
been fo rafh as to fire without Orders, thought it

was the beft Courfe he could take, to lead off

the Men of the Guard as foon as he could ;

and for that end he called aloud to them to>

follow him, and after having given Orders to

the Serjants to gather them together (for k
was impoffible to bring them into Ranks by the

confufion of the Mob) he marched off as many
of them as he could find, by the North-fide of
the Scaffold, towards the Foot of the Weft Bow,
and towards a Parcel of the Men, whom one of
the Serjants had gote together at the Foot of the

Bow, but as he was going to join that Parcel of
the Men, he heard a Piece fired near him, with

which he was a good deal furprized, and yet

more, when he obferved two or three People tali

to the Ground 3 and which Obfervation was the

firft
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firft thing that greatly alarmed the Pannel, as difcharged if, and would not allow it to be d<
knowing from thence, that certainly Mifchief was mean time a certain Perfon of Credite came ,m
done: But it is certain that this fatal Shot did to the Pannel, and afked if he had h>d ? To
not proceed from the Pannel, but from a certain whom he made anfwer, He had not • "but the
Man in the Guard, that can be well proven-,' Perfon not being fatisfied with the Anfwer nut
who, after having fired this Shot, immediately his Finger into theMuzzel of the Pannel's Piece
retired amongft the Croud, and then gote him- and after having rubbed it about, and after having
felf joined to the Party : And furely the Ma-
giftrats of the City will remember, that when

a Precognition was taking of the feveral Facts

and Occurrences upon this tragical Day, that a

certain Perfon told them, That if they would be

alfo viewed the Lock, faid to the Pannel,
] fee

you have not fired, and I am glad of it.

The King's Troops having paffed the Guard,
the Pannel filed off the Men into the Guard, and
ordered the Serjeants to keep them clofe till fur-

pleafed to fift the whole Band of the Guard be- ther Orders, and by all means not to differ them
fore them, he would point out the Man who
made this laft Fire, but the Magiftrats over

looked this Offer.

As foon as the Pannel faw there was no re

{training the Men from Irregularities, he marched

to clean their Pieces : And at the fame time the
Pannel delivered his Carabine, loaded as afore-
faid, at the Guard Door, to one of the Guard,
neither entering the Guard himfelf, nor any other
Houfe, but went immediately to the Provoft :

off fo many of them as he had gote together, Thus his oun Piece was brought back loaded, and
without taking time to forme them into any Or- apparently without having been fired, and the
der ;

giving Orders at the fame time to the Ser-

vants, to beat and prefs off the reft with all

manner of Difpatch. Upon which he obferved

thofe that hadftraggled come off partly from about

the Scaffold, and partly from Eaft-end of the

Corn-market, and fall into the Rear ; and while the

other two Cartrages which he had gote at the
Guard were found upon his return in his Cartrage
Box.

When the Pannel went up to the Provoft,
fome Perfon there prefent alledged he had feen
the Pannel fire, which he contradicted, and be^'d

Pannel was thus marching up the Bow, upon the the Provoft to fend for his Piece, which he told

Front of the foremoft Part of the Men, and had he had deliver'd at the Guard as aforfaid, and
come as far as the Turn of the Bow, he heard that it would appear from infpecting of her, that

fome dropping Shots firing in the Rear, and fhe had not been fired : And the Piece being ac-

about thirty or forty Paces diftant from him, cordingly fent for, and brought up to the Council

which he fuppofes may have proceeded from thofe Chamber, and after being ftriclly infpecled, it

Men who were ftraggling upon the Eaft-fide of the was agreed by all prefent that fhe had not been
Corn-mercate, nigh to the Head of the Cow-gate, fired ; and in this Condition fhe ftill lies loaded,

but upon what Occafion the Pannel knows not

;

but being alarm'd with the Shots, he looked

back, fuppofing the Men might be attack'd by

the Mob, and obferving no Marks of any fuch

Attack, he thought the moft prudent Courfe

he could take was forthwith to march off the Men.

It falls here to be noticed, That all this

Firing, from firft to laft, and whereby fo much
Mifchief has been done, lafted not above two

or three Minutes •, and therefore, confidering the

in the Cuftody of the Magiftrates along with the
Cartrage Box, containing the two Cartrages, as
aforfaid.

Tho' the Pannel has a pretty important Prize
at Stake, yet he refts in full Security, that he
will prove to the Conviction of the Court every
Article above recited, and a good deal more in

his behalf to be hereafter mentioned : And if it

fhould here be made matter of Wonder, how
fuch different Accounts as are given of this Mat-

Violence of the Mob, and the ftraggling Situa- ter can confift together, feeing Numbers of People

tion of the Men of the Guard, and fuppofing are impreffed with the Guilt of the Pannel, and

the Truth of the above Narrative, which will that even good, well-meaning People, who were

be attefted in proper Time by the Oaths of many prefent upon the Spot, perfift in affirming that

Gentlemen of undoubted Veracity ; and who had the Pannel was guilty, by both firing himfelf, and

fair Opportunity of Obfervation at the Time, it giving repeated Orders to fire.

is left with the Court, and to every impartial The Pannel can give no other Account of this

By-ftander, whether the Pannel could well have Matter than in this Way. A miferable Slaughter

done more for the Safety of the Burgh ; confi-

dering that it fhall alfo be proved, that during

thefe few Minutes of Firing, accompanied with

great Hurry and Confufion, the Pannel gave fe- lay the heavy Load upon the Pannel, in order

was, fome how or other, committed within the

Town. The Guilt muft be laid to fome-body's

Door •, and whether any Art might be ufed to

veral repeated Orders to the Men to reftrain from

firing •, but obferving thofe Orders prove inef-

f.ctual, he endeavoured to fweep them off the

Field with all manner of Precipitation.

The Pannel marched on with the Men to the

to draw the Attention of the Multitude from an-

other Point in View, the Pannel fhall not fay ;

but intreats the Honourable Court, and every

candid Reader, who may happen to take up this

Information, to look into the Caledonian Mercu-

Guard-houfe, and as he thinks with Coolnefs and ries of the fifteenth and nineteenth of Aprile laft,

Deliberation, paffing by the King's Troops in Papers fuppofed to be publifhed by Authority ;

the Lawn-market (a Thing generally efteemed where will be found a moft charitable Account of

fomewhat inconfiftent with Guilt, efpecially fuch the Matter, touching this misfortunate Pannel,

horrible Guilt as he is charged with.) Upon his who was then lying in- clofe Confinement, with-

Arrival at the Guard-houfe, he drew up his Men
there, fending a Serjant to the Provoft for Or-

ders, which were brought, That they fhould wait

on their Arms till the King's Troops paft •, and

fome of the Men in waiting, offering and at-

tempting to clean their Guns, but the Pannel

Vol. VI.

out any body being allowed Accefs to him ; and

of confequence, could have no Opportunity of

vindicating himfelf, until once the Prejudices

were deep-rooted and rivetted, fo as even to catch

the unwary, though well-meaning, Part of the

People j and thefe beatiful Relations of this

7 O 2 Tran-
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Tranfaction, are adorned with fome witty Sar-

cafms, very proper to this melancholy Occafion,

and painted out with ingenious Reflections, and

quaint rhetorical Invectives, very fuitable to the

Authors of thefe hiftorical Relations.

And indeed the Authors of thefe Accounts

of the Matter, whoever they are, have the Im-

pudence to affirm, and the Wickednefs to en-

deavour to fix it upon the Pannel, as an

Inftance of Premeditation and Felony fore-

thought, that the Pannel had ordered the De-

tachment of the Guard to load with Ball and Slug-

fhot, before they marched from the Guard : And
this worthy Author affirms, that fuch doing was

unprecedented, and fuch as the Pannel would not

pretend Orders for ; notwithstanding that it is

now, with his ufual Candor, admitted by his

Majefty's Advocat in his Information againft the

Pannel, and dare not be denied, but that the

Pannel had Orders to fee the whole Mens Pieces

loaded with Bullet and other Shott, and even to

fire thofe Pieces amongft the Mob in cafe of

Exigency.

The Prejudices againft the Pannel being once

artfully rooted, it was an eafy Matter to catch

the giddy Mob, who are not able to look back

and decern the true Springs and Caufes ofThings

:

For fuch is the Nature of human Paffions, that

if they are once artfully moved, they will be apt

to mifguide theUnderftandings •, even of Perfons

of Obfervation ; and thus the Speat having once

been created againft the Pannel, it grew into a

Torrent, and flew like a Train of Fire, every

one adding Fewal to the Flame, and Sparks

originally increafe into a mighty Combuftion ;

and fo, in like manner, Things entirely of them-

felves innocent, may be multiplied into horrid

Cruelties and favage Barbarity.

It might alfo operate to the Prejudice of the

Pannel, that this Scene was acted in a very fhort

Space, attended with great Commotion and Con-

fufion. Words and Actions might be mifcon-

flrued (whereof more particular Notice fhall be

taken hereafter) whereby Perfons even of Judge-
ment, might be deceived, and thereby fall into

the vulgar Notions. And here it cannot be

deemed an ufelefs Digreffion in the Pannel to give

a Caution to all Gentlemen, who may happen to

be called in Evidence upon this Trial, (for 'tis

feared the Mob are not capable of this Advice)

not to affirm Things upon Oath, except their

Obfervations have been accompanied with all that

Certainty which thofe Senfations wherewith Man-
kind is endued, can admit of ; becaufe any in-

confiderate Rafhnefs to the Prejudice of the Life

or Fame of the Pannel, cannot fail, for hereafter,

to be attended with very painful Stingsof Remorfe.

It was obferved for the Pannel, as a Thing
that could not be denied, that upon many for-

mer Occafions, he had been fingled out as the

fitteft Perfon to maintain the Peace of the City,

by quelling of Mobs and Tumults ; and that he

had never hithertofore, during all the many Oc-
cafions on which he had been employed, ever

difcovered any imprudent Rafhnefs or cruel Tem-
per in the Exercife of his Command, but had

expofed his Perfon to very great Danger, rather

than involve the City in Blood, or proceed to

fuch Extremities, as the Law even would have en-

teirely juftified.

It was alfo obferved in Behalf of the Pannel,

that it was no new Thing for the private Men in

the City Guard, who, though they are tolerably

acquainted with Difcipline, yet are not fubject to

the military Law, to take upon them to fire upon
the Multitude, without any Order from their

Commander, whereof the following Inftances are

offered, and which cannot be denied ; to witt ;

That at the Settlement of Mr. Wotherjpoon, as

a Minifter in the Weft Church Parifh, a Party

of the City Guard under the Pannel's Command,
did, one or more of them, in the Rear Ranks,
within the Weft-gate of Edinburgh, while the

Pannel was marching on their Front, face about
and fire upon the Mob, without any Order, and
by which Fire feverals were dangeroufly wounded

;

and the like happened in a few Years ago, after

the Execution of one Campbel, when a Detach-
ment of the City Guard were conducting the

Corps of the Perfon executed, which was deli-

vered over to the Surgeons of Edinburgh, by Or-
der of the Magiftrates. And the fame Thing
happened a few Years ago at a Race at Leithy

where the Party of the Guard was commanded
by Captain Lind, whereby feveral Perfons were
wounded. And another Inftance was given,

where the fame Irregularity happened, within

thefe few Moneths at the Execution of Brown the

Smith, when the Detachment of the City Guard
was commanded by both Captains, hind and Fer-

gufen. And, indeed, innumerable other Inftances

might be given of the Rafhnefs of the Men in

this Particular, which it is needlefs to condefcend

upon, becaufe they are notourly known in the City.

It may alfo deferve Notice, that the pri-

vate Men of the Guard might be prompted to

fire without Orders, partly from Refentment,

that Robert/on before -mentioned had efcaped

out of their Hands, and partly from being en-

couraged by the general Order they heard was
given by the Magiftrates to fire, in cafe of Re-
fiftance : For it is now found, that feverals of
them were heard fay before they went out to

the Execution of JVilfon, that now they had gote

Arms and Ammunition put in their Hands, and
therefore would not fail to ufe them, in cafe they

were attacked, or any Refiftan.ee made.

Thefe Obfervations 'tis humbly thought cannot

fail to operate in favours of the Pannel, in cafe

the Proof of the Libel fhall be attended with

any Uncertainty or Dubiety : And altho' the

Pannel is not fo weak of Judgement, as to imar

gine that fuch Prefumptions can prevail againft

pofitive and certain Proof; yet he doubts not,

that in due Time, when the Proof is led, fuch

Obfervations muft have Weight with the candid

Jury.

One Thing more we muft obferve in general,

That as he has been employ'd for thefe many
Years paft, as the Scourge of the Mob, tho' ne-

ver once known to proceed to Extremities ; yet

fuch Station of his may be the Caufe of draw-

ing Refentment from the lower Sort of the Peo-

ple againft him.

The Pannel has juft Reafon to afk the For-

givenefs of the Honourable Court for dwelling

fo long upon Generals ; but 'tis hoped, from
what is above noticed, and that this is the firft

Occafion he had of vindicating himfelf from the

Afpertions and Prejudice of his Adverfaries, he

may merit the Pardon of the Court.

And now to proceed to the Particulars in the

Indictment: And whereas it fets forth, That the

Pannel conceiving a molt wicked and malicious

Purpofe
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Purpofe of deftro^ng wounding and maiming wh ich was not known to him ; and that by theNumbers of his Maicfty's Subjefts Inhabitants defcribing of which, perhaps erroneoufly the

tt YATW 7' had afted the feveral Profecutor might minifter anunjuft Occ fion toMatters and Things charged m the Indictment

:

a Criminal ro 3<™> TnfW J

The Pannel muft obferve, that the Circumftances
of the Cafe naturally exclude any Suppofition of
premeditate Malice and Refentment in the Pan-
nel, becaufe 'tis impoflible to conceive, that the
Pannel mould have retain'd any Malice againft

a Multitude of Perfons, of whom he neither had,
nor can be fuppofed to have had, any Acquaint-
ance : And tho' it was admitted, that the Cir-
cumftances of the Cafe do exclude any fuppofed
long premeditated Malice ; yet it was urged, that

in Law every wicked Aftjon does prefume Ma- Judgement from whofe Hands thofe Wounds

a Criminal to efcape Juftice.

To which it was replied for the Pannel, That
tho' it is true that, in moft Cafes, the defcribing
the Street where the Guilt was committed,
would be a fufficient Defcription •, yet, that, in
the prefent Cafe, where it was laid in the Indict-
ment, That in a Crowd or Multitude, various
Shots were fired by different Hands, and there-
by Wounds given ; 'tis even necefTary to defcribe
the particular Place of the Street where fuch
Wounds where received, in order to form

lice, tho' inftantaneous to fuch Wickedneiycom-
mitted.

To which it was anfwered in Behalf of the
Pannel, That the Circumftances of the Cafe, as

laid in the Indictment, do even exclude any Pre-
fumption of Malice accompanying the Acts
charged in the Indiclment ; becaufe every Action
muft be conftrued in the moft favourable Senfe -,

and therefore the Actions charged againft the

had proceeded. The Pannel might have fired

elufory, or in the Air, and the Wounds received
may have proceeded from the Shots of others :

That tho' the Pannel knows his own Pofition and
Situation, and can prove them •, yet fuch Proof
could not avail him, nor be received by the
Court in the Point of Relevancy ; becaufe it

would be a fimple Negative, which could not
be admitted of, nor would not apply, unlefs the

Pannel, muft even be conftrued to have proceed- particular Places of the Street, in which the
ed from a principle of Duty in the Pannel, in

maintaining the Peace of the Place, and in fup-
porting the Authority of the Laws, and the
guarding of that Execution of them, which was
committed to him by lawful Authority.

In the next Place, An Exception was taken to
the Indictment, as not having been kid with fuf-

ficient Certainty •, the Indictment no where ex-
preffing the particular Places of that large Street
wherein the Guilt is charged to have been com-
mitted, whereby the Pannel was precluded from
making his Defences with Certainty : For had it

been laid in the Indictment at what Places in the
Street the particular Perfons, affirmed to have
been killed and wounded, were fo killed or
wounded ; the Pannel might have had an Op-
portunity of proving, from the Circumftances of
his Situation at the feveral Periods, that it was

Wounds are faid to have been received, had been
defcribed to him •, a Situation which the Pannel
cannot be fuppofed to know ; whereas the Pro-
fecutor muft be fuppofed to have known it, feeing

the fame Information that led him to know of
the Wounds received, muft neceffarily upon In-

quiry have certiorated him at what Places of the

Street fuch Wounds were received, feeing the

Maters and Things laid in the Indictment, are

charged to have been committed at High-day-
light, in Prefence of Multitudes. And tho' the

Pannel is fully fatisfied of the good Difpofition

of the Honourable Profecutor, to lay a fair and
certain Inditement againft every Pannel, yet it

muft be admitted, that all Indictments ought to

be laid with all that Accuracy and full Defcrip-

tion that the Nature of the Thing can admitt of:

And, as to fuch Part of the Anfwer for his Ma-
impoffible that fuch Wounds could have been re- jefty's Advocat, as faith, that fuch particular

ceived from his Hands. And tho' it may be Defcription of Place, if perhaps erroneoufly de-
true, that fuch Part of the Indictment as charges fcribed, might minifter an unjuft Occafion to the
the Pannel's Order to fire, would be of univer- Pannel to efcape Juftice •, it's anfwered, That
fal Influence, and reached over the whole Cir- fuch erroneous Defcription of Place could in
cumftances of Guilt charged in the Indictment, no fenfe affect the Trial, beaufe tho' fuch Defcrip-
yet as actual Execution made by the Pannel was tion Ihould not be proved, it would not vary the

charged feparate from his Order to fire, fuch Cafe, providing the aCt of Killing were proved
Proof of Innocence, whereof the Pannel pleaded againft the Pannel, becaufe fuch Defcription of

an Opportunity might have afforded him a De- Place is but a Circumftance immaterial to be prov-
fence againft fuch Part of the Indictment as en by the Profecutor ; but for the Reafons above
charges his own Firing and Killing. affigned, highly material for the Pannel to know,
To this it was anfwered by his Majefty's Ad- in order to lay his Defence before the Court,

vocat, That the Lybel was as particular as the It was in the next Place offered as a Defence
Law required, defcribing the Street where the for the Pannel, That the Refiftance of the Mob
Execution was committed, which is all that the was fo great, and the Attack of the City Guard
utmoft Scrupulofity could expect in this Cafe

:

Becaufe minute Circumftances cannot be known
to the Profecutor, or certainly difcovered, but

by Proof upon Trial, and that every Circum-
ftance of the Pannel's own acting muft be known
to him. And therefore, if from the Pofition or

Situation in which he was at the Time of the

Firing, the Pannel can fhew that it was impof-

fible he could have killed the Perfon whom he is

charged to have fhot

thele Circumftances,

fo violent againft them, in beating, bruifing, and

wounding the Men, as has been above noticed,

while they were in the lawful Execution of that

Office, committed to them by lawful Authority,

that fuch Refiftance and Attack muft have jufti-

fied the Guard, in repelling the Violence of the

Mob •, fince fuch Proceedings in the Guard were

acted in fupport of the due Execution of the

Laws, which the Mob were highly Criminal in

by defcribing and proving difturbing. That this Argument as pled for the

he may have Advantage Pannel, was not only confonant to the Rules of

from them, but cannot object to the Profecutor, Reafon, but agreeable to fundry Judgements and

that be did not minutely defcribe his Situation, Precedents of the Court, particularly that in the

Year
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Year One thoufand fix hundred and ninety two, his Command to the Abbay, and defended hinr

it appears from the Books of Adjournal, That felf, and fired upon the Bailiffs, Heraulds, and

James Gordon Meffenger at the Execution of a Purfevants •, fhot feveral Perfons dead upon the

Caption, did, with many others his Affiftants, Spot, and wounded a great many others,

armed with Guns, Swords, and other hoftile The Defence pled for Captain Wallace was,

Weapons, fhoot feveral Shots, whereby one Alex- That the keeping of the Abbay was committed to

anderjack was killed dead upon the Spot, amidft him by order of the Privy Council, which he

a numerous Crowd, which the Alarm of Noife was obliged to maintain fo long as the Truft of

and Tumult had drawn together, and whereof it was committed to him ; That as to the Order
only part can be fuppofed to have come there of Privy Council, to deliver up his Perfon, it was
with Intention to refift the Meffenger ; and the contrair to an Aft of Parliament James the Sixth,

faid James Gordon and the others his Affiftants, whereby any General Warrant, for putting the

being indicted for Murder, the Lords fuftained Perfon of any Man in Ward, except where fuch.

this Defence to him, relevant to elide the Libel Warrant was figned by four Officers of State,

limply, viz. That he, in the Execution of a whereof the Chancellor, Treafurer, or Secretary

Caption, haven his Blazen difplayed, was by of State to be one, which had not been praftifed

force of Arms hindered to enter the Houfe of in Wallace's Cafe, was prohibited' and dif-

Loanmy, by the Perfons within that Houfe, and charged.

that they did threaten and menace the Meffenger The Lords, after a very learned Debate, did

and his Afliflants, and that they threatened to fuftain thefe Defences to Captain Wallace, viz.

raife the Country, and that the Country did ac- That on the Sabbath Night, or fhortly before, a

cordingly rife, and befet/ and furround the Mef- Rabble did meet in feveral Places, in great Num-
fenger, either in the Houfe, or without the bers, and that feverals of them did declare to

Houfe; the faid Country People being armed John Paler/on their Refolution to trouble the Pan-

withGuns, Swords, and other invafive Weapons. nel on his Guard, and to pillage the Abbay, rele-

Here your Lordfhips perceive, that the Court vant to reftrift to an arbitrary Punifliment.

juftified the Meffenger in mooting amongft the Here your Lordfhips perceive, that the Court

Mob, and killing •, becaufe the Perfons in the fuftained a previous Intention only declared, that

Houfe forcibly hindered him from entering, and they would trouble the Pannel on his Guard, and

threatened and menaced him, being armed with pillage the Abbay, fufficient to moderate the Pu-

invafive Weapons ; and the prefent Cafe is more nifhment •, fo tender are the Laws towards any
favourable in behalf of the Pannel, who acted by Perfon committing Hoftility in Defence of his

lawful Authority, as well as Gordon in the other Guard : And then the Lords fuftained the fol-

Cafe did, and who was fupporting the Execution lowing Defence relevant to elide the Libel altoge-

of the Laws, as well as Gordon was ; with this ther, to wit, That the Rabble did, in a tumul-

Difference upon the fide of the Pannel, That he tuous Manner, come down the Cannon-gate with

was not only hindered and menaced in theExe- Swords and Fire Arms, and did beat fome of the

cution of his Duty, but he and his Guard inva^ Pannels Centinels ; and being defired to ftand,

ded and affaulted, beat, bruifed, and wounded, they notwithftanding advanced fo near, that the

as has been above noticed, and whereof a ftrong Pannel could fpeak with them ; and after he had

Proof fhall be brought •, and that the Mob in the defired them to remove, or be at their hazard,

prefent Cafe were not only armed with, but in they, notwithftanding thereof, ftill perfifted to

their Attack upon the Guard, made ufe of, big advance.

Stones, of Two or Three Pound weight, which The Application in the prefent cafe is eafy :

muft be allowed to be very invafive Weapons ;
The Pannel many Times exhorted the Mob to

and therefore the Pannel fubfumes, that the De- ftand off ; notwithftanding of which, they ftill

fence offered for him in the prefent Cafe, is preffed upon him ; he many times advertifed

ftronger, and ought rather to be allowed him, them of their Hazard ; threatned to fire upon
than that which was fuftained to Gordon. Only them if they would not keep off ; his Centinels

the Pannel muft do the Juftice to His Majefty's were not only beat, but bruifed and wounded j

Advocat, as to acknowledge, that this Precedent all which is offered to be proved.

was not hitherto offered in the Debate ; but when Another cafe was mentioned in the Debate to

the Record is infpedted, will be found to ftand your Lordfhips, which ftrongly fupported the

in the precife Terms as above-mentioned. Plea of the Pannel, becaufe it was a Judgement
There was in the former Debate, a Precedunt of your Lordfhips pronounced but very lately,

of the Court offered, as againft the Pannel, after the molt folemn Declaration of the Court %

which the Pannel, with Submiflion, apprehends and wherein, the Pannel is informed, The Court

makes for him, namely Captain Wallace's Cafe, was unanimous ; and which Judgement feerned to

fometime after the Revolution. Captain Wallace be of that Importance, as to induce the Court to

was indicted in the One thoufand fix hundred and reverfe the Proceedings of the High Court of

ninety two, for having refufed in the One thou- Admirality, after a folemn Trial by Jury in that

fand fix hundred and eighty eight, to deliver up Court •, a Verdict returned, finding the Lybel

himfelf, in Obedience to an Order of the Prefi- proven, and the Defence not proven ; and a

dent of the Council, and feveral Privy Councel- Sentence of Death pronounced by the Judge of

lers, whereof Two were Officers of State ; and the High Court of Admirality.

the Bailiffs of Edinburgh, having gone down to The cafe before the Admirality was this; A
the Cannon-gate, with a Herauld and Purfevant, Corporal and a private Centinel in Collonel Ha-
with their Coats of Arms difplayed, to put the milton's Regiment were indicted before the Admi-
Order of Privie Council in Execution ; notwith- ral for Murder ; for that they had, upon the

ftanding which, Captain Wallace would not deli- High Seas, killed Hugh Frafer younger, of Bel-

ver himfelf up, but retired with the Men under nain, by flabbing him with a Bayonet in the
2 Breaft,
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Breaft, and afterwards throwing him into the Sea, of their, Duty, will juftify the Perfons refitted in
whereof he inftantly died. the Aft of killing the Refifter.

The Defence plead for the Pannels, was this, And if that was the folemn and unanimous
That the Pannels were by military Order, ap- Opinion of the Court in a Cafe fo recent ; mull
pointed to attend the Officers of the Cuftoms in not fuch Judgement afford a ftrong Aro-.jment to
Jeizing of Goods by Law made feizable ; and the. Panne], that he and his Guard were refitted

that the Pannels being in a Boat, upon the Seas, while in the undoubted Execution of their Duty'
along with the Cuftome-houfe Officers, in queft in being beat, wounded, and bruifed by an un-
of fuch Goods, the Perfon killed did come up ruly Mob ; who, there was good Reafon to ap-
with them in another Boat, with others in Com- prehend, intended to defeat the Execution of the
pany with him ; and that Frafer the deceas'd Criminal

;

jumped into the Boat, where the Pannels and To this laft Cafe, the Pannel met with no o-
the Cuftome-houfe Officers were, and endeavour- ther Anfwer from his Majefty's Advocat, buc
ed to take hold of their Arms •, which was both this, That the Pannel cannot plead the Benefite
a Refiftance and an Attack of the Cuftome-houfe of this Cafe •, becaufe he neither does, nor can.

Officers while in the Execution of their Duty. aver that the firing proceeding from him or his
Upon the other hand, it was pled againft the Order, was neceffary for fecuring of the Exe-

Pannels, That Frafer's jumping into the Boat, cution of that Truft that was committed to him:
was with no Intention to make Refiftance, but His Majefty's Advocat does admitt, that where
rather to fave his own Life from the Thrufts of a Perfon has by lawful Authority Weapons puC
the Pannels, their Pieces having been aimed at into his Hands, to be employed either in defence

him ; thatthofe in the Cuftome-houfe Boat could of his Life, when attackt, or in fupport of the

have no juft Apprehenfion of being maftered by Execution of the Laws, or of the Property of
Mr. Frafer, he having no invafive Weapon a- the Crown, or Property of the Subject •, fuch
bout him whatever, and being the only Perfon Perfon may ufe thofe Weapons, not only when
who offered to get into the Cuftome-houfe Boat, his own Life is fo far in danger, that he cannot

in which there were feveral Perfons well armed. probably efcape without making ufe of them,
- The Judge of the High Court of Admirality but alfo where there is imminent Danger, that he
admitted of the Pannels Plea, in this Manner on- may by Violence be difabled to execute his Truft

:

ly, fuftains theDefenceof Self-Defence proponed But withall feems to contend, that the Pannel was
by the Pannels, that the killing of the faid Hugh under none of thofe Circumftances at the time he
Frafer, by them, or either of them, was in committed the Guilt charged upon him in the

the neceffary Defence of their Lives, and repel- Indictment •, for that the Execution of the Cri-

led the whole other Defences proponed for the minal was over before the Scuffle began, or any
Pannels. Refiftance was made to the Pannel, and the

The Jury returned their Verdict, finding the Guard under his Command ; and that being the

Pannels both guilty, art and part, of killing the Cafe, the Pannel can plead no other Defence,

faid Mr. Frafer; and finding it not proven, that than fuch as might arife from his being put wi-

the killing of Mr. Frafer was in the neceffary der the imminent Danger of his Life.

Defence of the Pannels Lives : Upon which Ver- But with great Submiffion, Thefe Pofitions of

did returned, the Judge fentenced both the Pan- his Majefty's Advocat are affumed v/ithout any
nels to be hanged, Authority, and, as would appear, not only in

The Proceedings of the Court of Admirality plain Oppofition to the Laws, but to the many
were laid before your Lordfhips for a Review, Precedents already offered in behalf of the Pan-

which, 'tis believed, is the fingle Inftance where- nel ; for it's hoped it muft be admitted, even by
in it was ever contended, that the Proceedings of my Lord Advocate himfelf, and is indeed foad-

the High Court of Admirality in Matters Cri- mitted by him, that the Pannel was once in the.

minal could be reviewed by any other Court. lawful Execution of his Duty, and was obliged

Notwithftanding of which, your Lordfhips, at all Hazards to fuppport the Execution of that

were pleafed to reverfe the Sentence of the Judge Criminal who was committed to his Guard ; fure-

Admiral ; no doubt, upon fuppofed Error in his ly then, the Execution of the Pannel's Duty can

Proceedings ; becaufe the Verdict of a Jury, never be faid to have been at an end, until once

pronounced upon Evidence, cannot be reverfed ; the Criminal was fully executed to Death, and as

and in confequence of which Judgement of your fuch ordered to be cut down by lawful Authority;

Lordfhips, the Pannels were fett at Liberty. unlefs it mail be faid that it was the Pannels

Now the Pannel is advifed, that fuch Judge- Duty, the Moment the Convict was hung up,

ment in your Lordfhips could ftand upon no to let him inftantaneoufly be cut down, refcued

Foundation other than this, viz. That your Lord- by the Mob, and brought to Life again ; which

fhips had reverfed the Judgement of the Ad- feems to have been their plain Intention : For it

miral as erroneous, in not fuftaining this De- feems to be confeffed upon all Hands that there

fence to the Pannels : That they were refilled by was danger of a Refcue, which feems to have

Mr. Frafer deceafed, while they the Pannels been the occafion of all this extraordinary Appa-

were in the Execution of their Duty. ratus ; and for preventing of which 'tis admitt-

And as the degree of Refiftance offered by ed, that the whole Guard was fent out with their

Mr. Frafer to the Pannels, was by the Pannels Pieces loaded, and even with Orders to fire at

themfelves maintained to have been no higher all Ventures in Cafe of fuch Refcue. Was it

than what has been fet forth to your Lordfhips; not then a neceffary part of the Pannel's Duty to

the forfaid unanimous Judgement of your Lord- protect and fupport the Execution of the Convict,

fhips pronounced after many folemn Deliberations, when hanging by the Neck in the Air, until fuch

does by confequence (how, that it was your time as he was cut clown by lawful Authority,

Lordfhips unanimous Opinion, that a very fmall as fuppofed fully dead ? And 'tis certain that in

degree of Refiftance of Perfons in the Execution anfwer to the Pannel's Meffige, Orders were

2 brought
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brought from the Bailiffs that he fhould yet hang
a quarter of an Hour, which furely it was the

Pannel's JDuty to fee obeyed, and which Orders

of the Bailiffs the Mob neverthelefs did refill,

and cut down the Criminal long before that time

was elapfed, and which the" Pannel was in duty

bound to oppofe j and from this Contraft, it is of-

fered to be proved, all theViolence in the Mob pro-

ceeded : But can it be with any Juftice affirmed,

but that the Pannel was in the Execution of his

Duty, while he and his Guard were Handing up-

on the Spot under Arms ? Is not every Perfon

in the Execution of his Duty while he is either

going to, or coming from any lawful Expedition?

and therefore it feems impoffible to maintain, but

that the Pannel, and the Detachment under his

Command, were in the lawful Execution of their

Duty, until they had once returned, and were

difperfed and difmiffed from Duty, at which

time only they were reduced under a private Ca-

pacity.

And even the Protection of the Hangman,
who had actually received feveral Wounds and

Contufions, and was in danger of being tore to

Pieces by the Mob, was a part of the Pannel's

Duty : For tho' he is a Minifter of the Law,
fomewhat odious ; yet he is a neceffary One for

the Society, and lies under a greater Neceffity of

being protected, from his being fo obnoxious to

the Refentment of the Mob ; and at lead in

Humanity, muft have fuch Protection afforded

him, as to defend him from having his Brains

knockt out.

How then can it be faid, in any Senfe, that

the Pannel was in fuch Situation, that he could

only plead the Benefite of Self-defence ? It is

a known Rule in Self-defence, that a Perfon in-

vaded muft retire as far as he can with Safety :

But if that is the Cafe of a City Guard (main-

tained at great Expence) that fo foon as they are

invaded, they muft immediately betake them-

felves to their Heels^ it will be apparent, that

they are but keept up for very ufelefs Purpofes.

At the fame time the Pannel can with great

Candor aver, That he is far from being of that

Difpofition of Mind, as to be ready to take the

Advantage, which the Law might afford, againft

an unruly giddy Mob; whereof he has given

Proof upon many former Occafions, as muft be

allowed him •, and whereof even the prefent

Cafe will be an Inftance in his Favours, if he

meets with Juftice from the Evidence : But with

all, he muft be allowed to obferve, that it would

be a dangerous Pofition, That a Guard keept up
for the Maintenance of the Peace of the capital

City of this part of the Nation, when they are

affembled together upon Duty, fhould be allowed

to plead no higher Privilege, than that of Sel-

defence in the ftrickeft Senfe.

And whereas my Lord Advocate feems only

to admitt, That a Perfon who has Weapons put

in his Hands by lawful Authority, for the De-
fence of the Property of the Crown, or Liberty

of the Subject, may only ufe thefe Weapons
when he is in imminent Danger of having the

Execution of his Truft defeated by Violence : If

fuch is the Cafe, the Execution of Duty will be-

come a very ticklifh Point ; and 'tis apprehended,

that few Folk will be fond of it, if they canpof-

fibly live without it ; and of Confequence, fuch

Doctrine muft very much difcourage any Perfons

from offering their Service, either to the Crown
or Commonwealth.
And as the Supreme Executive Power is by the

Conftitution vefted in His Sacred Majefty, our
Sovereign ; therefore my Lord Advocat, who,
by his Office, is of Council for His Majefty in

all Caufes, will, no doubt, have due Confidera-
tion, how far an Argument is to be preffed againft

the Pannel ; which by plain Confequence, muft
tend to weaken, if not defeat, the Execution of
the Laws.

One would rather be inclined to think, That
where a Perfon has the Truft of the Execution)

of the Laws committed to him, the fmalleft Re-
fiftance to this Truftee, as fuch, is a guilty Ag-
greffion, and that every Oppofition of fuch Ag-
greffion is lawful Defence, becaufe no Man muft
be above the Laws ; and the Life of the Laws,
in which the common Good is employed, is of
greater Value than the Lives of any One or Num-
ber of the Individuals, and fo ought to be de-

fended at all Perils.

His Majefty's Advocat upon this Head, in his

Information againft the Pannel, does affume this

Fact, That the Mob or Multitude affembled at the
Execution, were behaving themfelves peaceably ;

and from this feems to draw his Inferences againft

the Pannel, which indeed will run high enough.
The Pannel very well knows, that no Order
whatever will juftifie the, Perfon executing that

Order, if fuch Order appears evidently to be
unlawful •, and yet in Cafes which appear doubt-
ful, an Order from a Superiour will have it's own
Weight; more efpecially in military Matters, or
fuch other Things as refemble them.

But with Submiffion, This Reafoning upon the

Mobs being fuppofed quite peaceable and inno-
cent, is entirely out of the Cafe ; for, as we are

now upon Relevancy, the Facts muft be fuppofed,

and then the Argument confidered in that View

:

And as the Pannel does aver, That he and his

Guard, while in the Execution of their Duty,
did meet with ftrong Refiftance from the Mob,
in fo much that many of the Men were greatly

hurt and bruifed : And if that was the Cafe, it

was an unlawful Invafion of Perfons, to whom
the Execution of the Laws were committed ;

and fo might be by them, in fupport of thofe Laws,
refented to a pretty great Length ; except it fhall

be maintained, that in the Situation of the Pan-
nel and his Men were pofted, they could plead

no higher Priviledge than that of Self-defence ;

which, with great Refpect, cannot be main-
tained, but rather feems to be a Contradiction ;

becaufe they had not only their own Defence to

take care of, but alfo the Defence of the Peace and
Quiet of this City, and of the Execution of the

Laws, and that due Obedience was given to

them.

In a Word, upon this Head, the Pannel's Ar-
gument is not only fupported from the Nature
of the Thing, becaufe a Man who fights with
the Laws upon his fide, fights with great Advan-
tage againft thofe who are fighting againft the

Laws ; and for that reafon, if a Man were to

fight a Duel, the Laws would be the beft Second ;

but alfo, 'tis believed, that no Inftance can be
given in this Country, or in any other of civilized

Policy and Government, where a Perfon, pro-

ceeding to what Extremities whatever againft

Perfons who had affailed him, while in the due
Execution
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Execution of the Law, ever fuffered the Pains Pannel ali the Time
tybelled.

My Lord Advocat feems to infinuate, as if the

Reading of the Riot-act, had been a Duty in-

cumbent upon the Pannel, whereby the Innocent

Part of the Multitude would have had time to

have taken care of their own Safety : But then

his Lordfhip will be pleafed to confider, that no

Perfon is by Law authorized to proclaim that

Act, other than a Juftice of Peace, Sheriff,

Mayor, Bailiff, or other Head Officer •, and no

Perfon, under any of thefe Characters, was left

with the Unfortunate Pannel •, but he was aban-

doned and left to grapple with Occurrences in the

beft Manner his own Difcretion could fuggeft to

hjm

779

But then the Reading of that Act could not

ffifwer the prefent Exigency : For tho' the Read-

ing of that Law may perhaps fometimes anfwer

the End for which it was intended, namely,

, that they not only obferved,
that he did not fire his own Piece, and gave no
Order for firing

; joined with this other Circum-
ftance, that no Proof will appear, during the
whole Scuffle, that ever the Pannel made ufe of
any Firelock, but his own ; and that his Piece,
when returned to the Guard, was found loaded,
and in fuch Condition, that it was even confeffed
by the Magiftrates themfelves, and many others,
not to have been fired ; with this further Addi-
tion to exclude that further Part of the Charge
in the Inditement, of the Pannels having made
ufe at any Time of any other Piece than his
own, viz. that he carried his own Piece in his
Hand the whole Time, except during the Space
of Prayer above-mentioned, when he o-ave it to
his Serjant : And it mall alfo be proved, that
there was but one Shot fired at this Time, at
which Charles Hujband is fuppofed to have recei-
ved his Death Wounds. And as to the other

The preventing the Demolition of any Houfe or dropping Shots that are charged in the Indictment
Meeting-houfe ; but if the Pannel in the prefent to have followed upon this firft Shot, if from the
Cafe, fhould be fuppofed bound to have keep his Evidence adduced, the Pannel's Proof fhall appear
Hands acrofs for the Space of one Hour, after

the Reading of this Act ; then it is certain that

the Mob might have prevented the Execution of

the Law in far lefs Space. And it is certain,

that by the Act, the Mob is not put in Contempt,

or expofed to the Penalties of it, until once they

continue together one Hour after the Reading

thereof.

His Majefty's Advocate is alfo pleafed to hint,

to be mod pregnant, that he gave no Orders to
fire at this Time, then he is not chargeable with
the Confequence of fuch Firings.

And this further Circumftance mud ftrongly
operate in favours of the Pannel ; to witt, that
at the Time of this fuppofed Orders to fire, the
Men were not drawn up in a regular Line or
Band ; but were either ftraggling, mixt with the
Mob, or in a circular Form, furrounding the

as if the offering of this Plea in Behalf of the Scaffold in the Grafs-Market, which excludes all

Pannel, founded upon the Refiftance of the Mob, Poffibility of any fuppofed general Order to fire ;

was in fome fort inconfiftent with another to be unlefs it be fuppofed that the Pannel was a mad
hereafter mentioned for him, viz. his Innocence

of the Facts : But, no doubt, my Lord very well

knows, that by the Laws of Scotland there is no

Inconfiftency in fuch different Pleas. And this

leads to the Confideration of the Exculpation of-

fered for the Pannel, aryfing from his Innocence

of the Guilt, either of the Action, Command,
or Order charged againft him in the Indict-

ment.

And in the firft Place, as to fuch Part of the

Indictment as charges him with either having

fired himfelf, or having given Orders to fire,

whereby Charles Hujband was killed. Though it

is indeed true, that it is impoffible, from the

Nature of the Thing, for the Pannel to prove an

abfolute Negative •, becaufe, as His Majefty's

Advocat very juftly argues, if the Charge in the

Lybel is proven, to witt, That the Pannel either

did fire, or gave Orders to fire, at this Time
himfelf, no negative Evidence can prevail againft

it ; yet as to this Point, the Pannel offers to

prove, .what the Lawiers call a circumftantiate

Man, feeing any Compliance with fuch Order
muff have led the Men to fire each in his oppo-
fite Neighbour's Breaft, and a great many into
that of the Pannel.

It is not altogether impoffible that the Pan-
nel's Expreffion of the Word Fire, might have
erroneoufly induced this Fellow that came
from behind his Back (who of himfelf per-

haps was too forward to embrace fuch Order,
had it been given) to difcharge his Piece : And
if the Perfon firing was guilty of an Error, or

of a Mifconftruction of Duty, the Pannel is not
chargeable therewith ; feeing that every Perfon

that has the leaft Knowledge of the Exercife of
Arms, muft know, that he is not to receive an
Order to fire from Implication, but from fome
known certain Rule of Difcipline.

And for this Reafon it is, that the Pannel

takes it to be a very wife Part of the military

Inftitution, to avoid Mifconftructions, That no
Man receives Orders to fire (efpecially when he

is refting or fhouldering his Arms) but upon a

Negative, which in a good Meafure refolves into precedent Series of Exercife attended with fome

an Affirmative, viz. That at this Time, when
Charles Hujband fell, and gote the Wounds char-

ged in the Indictment, whereof it's fuppofed,

he died, the Pannel as has been above recited,

was in the following Situation ; that is to fay,

he was pointing his Piece with his Face towards

the Weft Port, threatning the Mob, that if they

would not keep off, he would fire •, and that im-

mediately, upon this Expreffion, a private Centi-

nel of the Guard, came up from behind him,

and difcharged his Piece, by which it will be

proven Charles Hujband received his Death
Wounds •, becaufe it lhall be proven, by Perfons

of undoubted Veracity, that were hard by the
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Solemnity, to avoid Miftakes ; greater or lefs in-

deed according to the Nature of the Occafion.

Sometimes indeed, as was obferved in the De-
bate on the Side of his Majefty's Advocat, Per-

fons will, very juftly, fire upon fo fhort Adver-

tifement as the Tuck of a Drum ; but 'tis be-

lieved, that is never practifed, but during the

Noife or Tumult of Battle ; when it is fuppofed

that the Voice of verbal Order cannot reach the

Men •, and then this Tuck of the Drum, or any

other Signal of firing, muft be previoufly ad-

vertifed to be the Signal of fuch Action.

Another thing falls alfo to be noticed here,

touching this firft Charge in the Indictment, and

7 P which
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which may be even taken thro' the whole •, That

when two or more Perfons are nigh together,

levelling their Pieces at the fame time, it is not

eafy for the fharpeft Eye* efpecially if at any

Diftance, to determine from what Piece the Fire

proceeded , and of this Point military Men* beft

acquainted with the Exercife of Fire Arms, can

give the beft Account.

And laftly, upon this Head, the beft Conjec-

ture the Pannel can make, is this, That upon

this firft Fellow's firing, without either Order

or Example from the Pannel his Commander,

the other dropping Shots that enfued, proceeded

from other rafti Fellows of the Guard ; who en-

couraged by this firft Example, directed and dii&

charged their Pieces againft fuch Part of the

Mob, as they refpectively fuppofed any Injury or

Invafion upon them had proceeded.

The next material Circumftance, charged in

the Indictment, is that, touching the Pannel's

Behaviour at the Weft-bow % where it is charged,

That he commanded the Men to face about, and

fire upon the People ; and that at or about the

fame time, he fired a Mufket or Firelock that

was in his own Hand , having either reloaded,

or caufed to be reloaded, his own Piece, or taken

another out of the Hand of one of the Guard •,

and that upon this fecond Example and Com-

mand of the Pannels, feveral others of the

Guard, under his Command, did fire ; whereby

the Perfons mentioned in the Indictment v/ere

killed and wounded.

As to which Part of the Charge, the Pannel

offers the following Proof: And Firft, As to Or-

der he fhall prove by Multitudes of Perfons nigh

him at the time, and who were narrowly ob-

ferving him (and Orders are generally given with

an audible Voice) they heard no fuch Order gi-

ven, nor heard no Exprefiion of the Pannel,

that, by the moft remote Confequence, could

have been interpreted an Order to fire : And
here the Pannel's Memory, upon the moft fe-

rious Reflection, cannot divine what could have

given Occafion to any Body's conjecturing that

he gave an Order to fire at this time. And
here alfo the former Obfervation falls to be

noticed, touching the Solemnity of an Order for

firing.

2
do

. As to the Action of firing charged againft

the Pannel himfelf, for firing at this time ; the Pan-

nel offers to prove the very Centinel, at leaft, that

it was a Centinel of the Guard, who gave the firft

Fire at this time, which was the Shot at Robert'Jons

Closjhead. And the Pannel is informed, as has

been above noticed, That at the time of taking

the Precognition, an Offer was made to the Ma-
giftrates to fingle out the Fellow, if they would

fuffer the Guard to be drawn out, who fired that

Shot towards Robertsfons ClosJJjead, by which the

two or three People fell. And further, The
Pannel offers to prove, upon this Head, not only

that this Fellow was the firft Perfon that fired,

without any Order from the Pannel circumftan-

tiated, as is above noticed, but alfo by many Per-

fons of undoubted Credite, that they could not

obferve the Pannel fire, or difcharge any Piece

himfelf, during the whole Time that this- Firing

is fuppofed to have continued. And here the

Pannel could evidently caft up many Inconfiften-

cies to your Lordfhips, that muft necefianly be
implied, and many Preemptions that ftrongly

exclude any fuppofed Order or Example of the
Pannel at this Time ; but does not think it al-

together fo prudent to mention them at pre-
fent.

As to the taking a Piece out of another Man's
Hand, and firing of it, fuch Action was a re-

markable Occurrence, and muft have fallen out
under Obfervation •, and fo the Pannel can fay-

nothing about it, but leave it to Evidence, with
this only Obfervation, That* as it was a notable
Event, it will operate almoft as ftrong in the
Negative as in the Pofitive. And it muft be left

to the Jury to balance the Evidence, if a Con-
trariety fhall appear ; and to lean to that Side at-

tended with the greateft Credibility* taken the
known Rule of the Law into the Compafs,
namely, Favour to the Pannel in cafe of Dubiety,
Only this Obfervation falls to be made to your
Lordfhips, That the Circumftances of the Caie
call aloud for the Pannel's being allowed a Proof
upon this Part of the Indictment.

The Pannel does agree with His Majefty's Advo-
cate, That no negative Evidence can take away a
pofitive Proof; but the Pannel humbly thinks he
has offered a pretty circumftantiate one : And as

my Lord Advocate feems to admitt the Neceffiry

of a Proof on both Sides, fo the Pannel will not
labour that Point with your Lordfhips ; not
doubting but you will allow him in general, to
prove what he can, to exculpate him from the
Guilt laid in the Indictment ; and that your
Lordfhips by your Interloquitor will allow him as
much Scope in that Particular, as any Precedent
of your Lordfhips Court can authorize. And
there are feveral Inftances, and one very particu-

lar one, wherein great Latitude was allowed,
both as to the Circumftances precedent, concomi-
tant, and even fubfequent to the Acts charged in
the Indictment.

Some general ufeful Reflections might be made,
but this Paper is already drawn out into too great
Length, and as the Pannel has learned Judges,
and a difcerning and candid Jury, the lefs needs
be faid ; becaufe 'tis fuppofed they will naturally

occurr to thefe interrefted in the Trial ; and no
doubt fuch will lay afide all Prejudices and Pre-
pofTeflions •, and will never once think of, but
utterly defpife the Confequences of popular Rage
or vulgar Clamour.

If the Pannel is guilty of the Charge in

the precife Way and Manner it is laid againft

him in the Indictment, he is of Opinion him-
felf he deferves to fuffer : But if upon the
other hand, it fhall come out that he is entire-

ly innocent of the Blood of thofe Men where-
with he is charged ; he thinks his Cafe deferves

Angular Commiferation : Becaufe, if Bonds and
Imprifonment, Lofs of Employment and Bread,
Obloquy, and Reproach of Blood-guilt, and
Mafiacre, and, of Confequence, lofs of Charac-
ter, be Calamities in human Life ; then has he
had as great a Share of them as ever attended In-

nocence. Sicfubfcribitur.

Ja. Grabame, jun.

Curia



fJZ6. Scotl. for Murder. 781

Curia Jufticiaria, S. D. N. Regis, tenia in

Pratorio Burgi de Edinburgo, Decimojexto
Die Men/is Julii, Millejimo feptingentejimo

trigejimo Jexto, per Honorabiles Viros, An-
dream Fletcher de JVJilton, Jujiiciarium

Clericum, Dominum Jacobum Mackenzie de

Royftoun, Magifirum Davidem Erskine de

Dun, Dominos Gualterum Pringle de New-
hall,^ Gilbertum Eliot de Minto, Commiffi-

marios Jufliciarii, diSlos S. D. N. Regis,

Curia legittime affirmata.

Intran.

JOHN PORTEOUS lately one of the

Captain Lieutennants of the City Guard of
Edinburgh, Panrtel,

Indicted and Accused as in the former
Sederunt,

The Lords, Juftice Clerk, and Lords Com-
miffioners of Jufliciary, having confidered the

Indictment purfued at the Inltance of Duncan
Forbes Efquire, his Majefty's Advocate, againft

John Porteous Pannel, with the foregoing De-
bate thereupon, Fand, That the Pannel having

at any of the Times and Places libelled, fired a

'Gun among the People afTembled at the Execu-
tion libelled, or having given Orders to the Sol-

diers under his Command to fire ; and thereup-

on, they the Soldiers or any of them having ac-

cordingly fired ; and upon the firing, either by
himfelf or them, the Perfons mentioned in the

Indictment, or any of them, were killed or

bounded, or the Pannel's being art and part of
any of the forfaid Crimes ; all feperatim relevant

to infer the Pains of the Law : But allowed the

Pannel to adduce what Evidence he could with
refpect to his Behaviour at the Time the forfaid

Crimes are libelled to have been committed ; for

taking off the Circumftances which fhould be
brought for inferring his being guilty, or art and
part of the Crimes lybelled ; and remitted the

Pannel and the Indictment as found relevant to

the Knowledge of an Affize, Sic Subfcribitur

Andr. Fletcher, I. P. D.

The Lords, Juftice Clerk, and Lords Commif-
fioners of Judiciary, continued the above Di-
et at the Inftance of his Majefty's Advocate,
againft Captain John Porteous, till Monday
next at Seven of the Clock in the Morning ;

and ordains Affyfers and WitnefTes then to

attend, under the pain of Law, and the Pan-
nel to be carried back to Prifon.

Curia Jufticiaria, S. D. N. Regis, tenia in

Novo Seffioms Domo Burgi de Edinburgo,
Decimo nono Die Men/is Julii, MillejmoJep-
tingentefimo trigejimo Jexto, per Honorabiles
Viros, Andream Fletcher^ Milton, Jufti-
ciarium Clericum, Dominum Jacobum Mac-
kenzie de Royftoun, Magi/lrum Davidem
Erfkine de Dun, et Dominum Gilbertum
Eliot de Minto, Commijjionarios fufliciariiy

dicl.S. D.N. Regis.

Curia legittime affirmata,
•r -

Intran.

JOHN PORTEOUS lately one ofthe Cap-
tain Lieutennants of the City Guard of Edin-

burgh, Pannel,
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Indicted and Accused as in the former
Sederunts. Thereafter the Lords proceeded to
make Choice of the following Perfons to pais
upon the Affize of the faid John Porteous,

ASSIZE,
Sir John Inglis of Cra- James Hunter, Writhe

mond.

Alexander, Gibfon of Pent-

land.

George Halyburton of

Fordell.

James Baird of Chefter-

hall.

John Hogg ofCambo.
Thomas Dundas of Le-

them.

Alex. Brand of Brandf-

field.

John Jollie, Vintner in

Edinburgh.
\

there.

William Wight, Baxter
there.

John Bell, Brewer in

Edinburgh.

James David/on, Book-
feller there.

David Inglis Merchant
there.

Alexander Sharp, Mer-
chant there.

Patrick Manderftoun,

Merchant there.

The above Affize being all lawfully fworn, and
no Objection of the Law in the Contrary;

THE Pannel John Porteous judicially confef-

fed, That Time and Place libelled, the

feveral Perfons mentioned in the Indictment to

have been killed and wounded, viz. Archibald

Ballantyne, Son to John Ballantyne the younger,

Dyfter in Dalkeith -, Margaret Arthur j alias Airth,

Refidenter in the Cannon-gate near the Water-
gate thereof; John Anderfon, Son to George An-
derson in Craighead, Drover •, Jean Peat, Servant

to James M' Dowal, Merchant in Edinburgh ;

David Wallace, Journey-man Wright in Edin-

burgh ; James Philp, late Servant to

Lauder Efq; Refidenter in the Gannon-gate ; Da-
vid Kidd, Taylor in Edinburgh ; Patrick Spaldan,

Apprentice to David Mitchell, Jeweller in Edin-

burgh ; James Lylk, and Alexander Wallace, both.

Servants to James Wight, Staymaker in Edin-

burgh •, John Miller, Taylor in Edinburgh ; Da-
vid Ogilvie, Writer in Edinburgh ; and James
Nevin, late Servant to William Sellers, Writer in

Edinburgh, now Refidenter in the Potteraw ; A-

lexander M' Niel, Son to Edward M' Niel, In-

dweller in Mertounhall ; Margaret Gordon, Ser-

vant to William Ogilvie, Taylor in Saint Mary
Wynd, in Edinburgh ; and Henry Grahame, Tay-
lor in Cannon-gate ; and Charles Hufband, Servant

to Paul Hujband, Confectioner in the Abbay of

Holy-rood-houfe ; were fo killed or wounded by
Firing proceeding from the Party of the City

Guard, then under his Command, as mentioned

in the Indictment. Sic fubfcribitur,

John Porteous.

Andr. Fletcher, I. P. D.

His Majeflfs Advocate for proving his Lybel3
adduced the WitneJJes after deponing, viz.

J
Ames Drummond Merchant and Refidenter in

in Edinburgh, aged Thirty Years or thereby,

married, folemnly fworn, purged of Malice,

partial Council, examined and interrogated,

Deponed, that Time and Place libelled, and after

Andrew Wilfon had hung fome Time upon the

Gallows, about a quarter of an Hour, as the De-

ponent thinks •, he faw theExecutioner going up

the Ladder, as the Deponent apprehended, to

cu: him down ; upon which he law fome fmall

Stones thrown by the Mob at the Executioner j

7 P 2 fome
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fome whereof the Deponent believes might have

fallen upon the Guard : Upon which he faw the

Pannel advance from the Guard Weft- ward, reft-

ing his Firelock upon his Thigh* as if he had

been bending it, and thereafter faw him raife it

to his Breaft, moving it from one Point to an-

other: And foon thereafter, the Deponent heard

a Shot from the Place where the Pannel was

Handing, but did not obferve, whether the Shot

came from Captain Porteous's Firelock; and,

much about the fame time, obferved one of the

Soldiers go out of his Rank Weftward, and upon

the. North-fide, and faw him go further Weft

than the Place where Captain Porteous was ; the

Side of the Window, where the Deponent was

ftanding in Robertfon's Houfe, covered the faid

Soldier from the View of the Deponent, by the

Time the firft Shot was fired ; and which Soldier

had a Gun and a fcrewed Boyonet in his Hand,

levelled with the Butt end of it at his Breaft;

and the Deponent did apprehend at the time that

Captain Porteous had fired, becaufe he faw him

in a firing Pofture, and immediately heard a

Shot, and faw a Man in a few Minutes thereafter,

as foon as the Mob difperfed, lying upon the

Street, upon a Line, whither the Deponent faw

Captain Porteous's Piece directed ; and that the

above-mentioned Soldier came from the Body of

the Guard which was behind Captain Porteous.

Caufa Scientia patet. And this is the truth, as

he fhall anfwer to God. Sic fubfcribitur

J. Drummond. .

Andrew Fletcher.

Sir William Forbes Advocat, aged Thirty

Years or thereby, married, folemnly fworn,

purged of Malice, partial Council, examined and

interrogated, Deponed, That Time and Place

libelled, and after the deceaft Andrew Wilfon had

hung about Twenty or Twenty-five Minutes upon

the Gallows, The Deponent from a Window in

Orr the Stablers Houfe, oppofite but a little to

the Weft-ward of the Gallows, faw the Execu-

tioner go up fome Steps of the Ladder, as the

Deponent believes, to cut down the faid deceaft,

and faw thereupon, Stones thrown at the Execu-

tioner ; upon which the Executioner immediately

retired to the Guard, and the Mob continued

throwing of Stones •, fo that the Deponent does be-

lieve fome of the Stones might have touched the

Guard ; and about this time, the Guard were

drawing together to the North and Weft of the

Gallows, where the Captain was ftanding, and

did foon thereafter fee the Pannel, advancing

Weftward, fire his Gun among the People affem-

bled at the Execution ; and obferved the Fire

and Smoak iffuing out at the Muzzle of his

Piece, tothebeft of the Deponent's Obfervation ;

which he thought at the time very diftincl, and

that the faid Shot was the firft which the Depo-

nent heard ; and the Deponent at the Time did

imagine, that the Pannel had fired his Shot high,

but whether that proceeded from the Situation

that his Firelock wasin, or from the Appearance

that the Fire and Smoak made that iffued out of

his Piece, the Deponent cannot now particularly

charge his Memory. That thereafter the Depo-

nent heard feveral dropping Shots, about Twenty,

but cannot be pofitive as to the Number ; that

when the forfaid Facts happened, the Depo-

nent was upon the South-fide of the Street, and

the Pannel to the North of the Middle of the

Street almoft oppofite to the Window where the

Deponent was •, and when the Pannel fo fired,

the Deponent did not obferve any Soldier fo

far advanced Weft-ward from the Body of the

Guard as the Pannel was. Caufa /dentin fatet.

And this is the Truth as he fhall anfwer to

God. Sic fulf.

William Forbes.

Andrew Fletcher.

Mr. William Frafer Son to the Lord Saltoun,

aged twenty four Years or thereby, unmarried,
folemnly fworn, purged of Malice, partial Coun-
cil, examined and interrogated, Deponed, That
he was in a Window in one Orr's Houfe in the

Grafs-Mercat, the South Side of the Street, that

Day that Andrew Wilfon was execute ; that after

Wilfon had hung fome time on the Gallows, he
faw the Executioner go up fome Steps of the Lad-
der, as he apprehended, to cut him down ; and
then faw the Mob throw Stones and Dirt at him

;

upon which the Hangman came down, and went
in amongft the Soldiers that were ftanding at the

Foot of the Scaffold : That foon after the Hang-
man had come down, he faw the Pannel prefent

and level his Gun, moving the Muzzle to and fro9
and then faw him fire ; and to the beft of his

Knowledge or / pprehenfion, faw the Smoak
iffue out of the Mouth of the Piece ; that irrirner

diatly thereafter within a Second or two, he
heard feveral dropping Shots fired by the Sol-

diers, who were there on their Arms ; that he
thinks the dropping Shots he then heard came
from near the Place where the Pannel was ftand-

ing. And deponed, that at the Time forfaid

the Pannel fired his Gun, he did not obferve any
of the Soldiers advance before him and prefent

their Guns. Caufa fcientiee patet. And this is

the Truth as he fhall anfwer to God. Sic. fubr
.

William Frafer.

Ja. Mackenzie.

Mr. William Urquhart ofMeldrum, aged, thirty

eight Years or thereby, married, folemnly fworn,

purged of Malice, partial Council, examined and
interrogated, Deponed, that he was prefent at

Andrew Wilfon's Execution the Time libelled, in

the Houfe of one Orr, on the South Side of the

Street, in Company with Sir William Forbes and
Mr. Frafer, the preceeding Witneffes ; that after

Wilfon had hung fome Time, he faw the Execu-
tioner go up fome Steps of the Ladder in order

to cut him down, as he apprehended, and faw
the Mob throw feveral Stones at him upon.

which he came down, therefore the Mob con-

tinued to throw Stones, fome of which tell a-

mongft the Guard ; whereupon he heard feveral

dropping Shots fired by the Soldiers; that he faw
the Pannel prefent his Piece, immediately heard

a Shot, which he apprehended was Shot by the

Pannel, but did not obferve it fo narrowly as to

fee the Smoak or Fire iffue out of his Piece,

Caufa fcienti<e patet. And this is the Truth as he
fhall anfwer to God. Sic fubr

.

William TJrquharU

Ja. Mackenzie.

'

"James Dewar of Vogrie, aged fixty-four Years,

or thereby, married, folemnly fworn, purged of
Malice, partial Council, examined and interroga-

ted, Deponed, That Time and Place libelled at

Andrew Wilfon's Execution, he was in a Window
in
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in his own Houfe at the Foot of the Weft-bow, in

the Eaft-fide of the Way -, that he faw the Hang-
man go up fome Steps of the Ladder, after Wilfon

had hung fome time ; and faw the Mob throw

fome Stones, one of which hurt the Executioner

on the Face ; upon which he came down the

Ladder ; whereupon he faw the Pannel prefent

his Piece and Fire, which was the firft Shot he

heard or faw ; that when he faw the Pannel fire,

his Side was to the Deponent, and that the Pan-

nel was then Handing on the Eaft-fide of the

Gibbet ; and that he fired his Piece to the Weft:

And Deponed, he faw the Fire of the Powder

from the Pan, and heard the Report of the Shot.

Depones, That when the Pannel fired, as afor-

faid, he was ftanding on the Sou th-eaft fide of the

Scaffold. Deponed, That Wilfon was cut down
not by the Hangman, but by fome that were

ftanding at the Foot of the Gallows, and that

Wilfon was cut down before he heard any Shots

:

Deponed, That he ftood at his own Window
before Wilfon was thrown over, and continued

looking at the Place of Execution till he was cut

down, and heard the Shots as before mentioned.

And being interrogated what kind of Cloaths

Captain Porteous had then on, declares he cannot Caufa fcientia patet
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be pofitive, but believes they were Red Cloaths

but is pofitive that he knew Captain Porteous

Face when he faw him fire. Caufa fcientia patet.

And this is the Truth as he fhall anfwer to God.

Stcfulr*

James Dewar.

Ja. Mackenzie.

George Drummond, Efq; One of the Commif-
fioners of the Cuftomes, aged Years, or

thereby, married, folemnly fworn, purged of

Malice, partial Council, examined and interro-

gated, Deponed, That at the Time and Place

libelled, the Deponent was in the Houfe of Baillie

Halyburton on the right Hand, on the North-fide

putting the Butt of it to his Shoulder. D eponcd,
That after the faid firft Shot, within a Minute he
heard another, and fo it continued till about the
Numberof Eighteen or Twenty; and this was
at the Time ot the Firing obferved by the Depo-
nent; but within fome Minutes thereafter, there
was a fecond Firing, which he did hear, and
upon hearing came to the Window, and obferved
fome Lime fallen from an oppofite Houfe, which
he judged to have been occafioned by the Bullets:
And as to the eighteen or twenty dropping Shots,
in the firft Firing, were from the Soldiers imme-
diacy behind the Pannel, betwixt whom and
them, he obferved no Perfon interpofed ; and he
obferved the Time of the firft Shot the Pannel's
Face was looking Weft-ward, as was all the
Soldiers behind him, Deponed, That the Sol-
diers at that time, who fired, were to the Depo-
nent's beft Remembrance to the North-ward of
the Scaffold •, and the Pannel was then, to the beft
of his Remembrance, either upon a Line to the
Gibbet, or a little Weftward of it. Further de-
poned, That the Soldier who firft fired, as faid

is, advanced from behind the Pannel, and paft
upon his right Hand, to the North-ward of him.

And this is the Ttuth as he
Sic fulr

. 1J36.
Ge. Drummond,
Da. Arjkine.

fhall anfwer to God,

Druggeft in Edinburgh^William Johnjloun,

aged Forty Years, or thereby, married, fo-

lemnly fworn, purged of Malice, partial Coun-
cil, examined and intorrogated, Deponed, Time
and Place libelled, he the Deponent being prefenC

at the Execution of Andrew Wilfon, he did ob-
ferve the Pannel take a Gun out of a Soldier's

Hand, at which Time he was ftanding 'cwixt the
Corn-mercate and one Tod's Shop, which is under
Baillie Halyburton's Houfe ; thereupon he ob-
ferved the Pannel advance fome Steps Weftward,

of the Corner of the Srait-bow, the Third-ftory, and did fee him prefent and level his Gun, that

at the time of the Execution of Andrew Wilfon, is to fay, Hold it out and fire amongft the Mul-
and from a Window of the faid Houfe, after

the Criminal was thrown over, and had hung for

fifteen or fixteen Minutes, the Executioner was

about going up the Ladder ; and after he went

up two or three Steps, he obferved feveral Stones

thrown at him ; which made him return ; and

while he was on the Ground, he obferved his'

Nofe blooding -, and at this time he obferved

one or two Perfons or more ftanding at the Foot

of the Gallows •, one of whom ftreatching up his

Arm with a Knife, he obferved cut the Rope ;

the Executioner having mixed with the Soldiers,

he did obferve the throwing ofStones to continue,

and fome of them fell among the Soldiers. De-

poned, That immediatly thereafter he obferved

one of the Soldiers advance a little before Mr.

Porteous to the Weft-ward, with a Gun in his

Hand, which he prefented ; and immediatly

thereupon the Deponent heard a Shot, which he

imagined to be from that Soldier, but did not

obferve Fire or Smoak ; tho' at the Time he

concluded it was from that Soldiers Gun, and is

pofitive that that was the firft Shot that was fired ;

and the Deponent did not think that the Stones

titude •, and did obferve the Smoak come out of

the Gun : And deponed, That this was the firft

Shot he heard, which Shot immediately followed

after the Criminal was cut down by a Hand ftand-

ing at the Foot of the Gibbet ; and the Deponent
at the Time was ftanding in a Window in the

Houfe of one Gairdner, Horfe-Ferrier by the

Mufe Well ; and when the Pannel was taking the

Gun out of the Soldier's Hand, he appeared to

be in Paffion, and it was fome fhort time before

he was Mafter of the Gun. Deponed, That to

the beft of his Remembrance the Pannel was
cloathed in red, but he being well acquainted

with the Pannel's Face, he is pofitive, that he

was the Perfon that took the Gun and fired as

aforfaid. And Deponed, That he believes there

was about thirty Yards Diftance betwixt the Win-
dow where the Deponent was, and the Pannel,

at the firft firing. Caufa Scientia patet. And this

is the Truth as he fhall anfwer to God. Sicfubr
.

Wm. Johnflon,

Da. Erfkine.

Mark Sprot, Skinner, and one.of the Confta-

that were thrown, did give any juft Caufe for the bles of Edinburgh, aged twenty-eight Years, or

Firing. Deponed, That about the Time when
he obferved the Soldier prefent his Gun, as faid

is, he alfo obferved the Pannel holding his Gun
in his Hand in a Level, but is not fure of his

thereby, married, folemnly fworn, purged of

Malice, partial Council, examined and interro-

gated, Deponed, That Time and Place libelled,

as he ltood on William Orr Scablers Window,
South-
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South-fide of the Grafs-mercate^ he faw Wilfon the

Criminal cut down from the Gibbet ; upon which

Occafion he did not obferve that there was any

greater Difturbance than ufual at Executions

:

That a very little while after the Criminal was fo

cut down, he obferved the Pannel advance before

the Soldier, and upon the North-fide of the Scaf-

fold over-againft the Gibbet, he faw him fire his

Piece towards the Weft, and the Smoak iffue

out of the Mouth of his Gun ; this he fays was

the firft Shot that was fired ; but immediately,

upon the back of that, a tall Man with his oun

Hair, about the third behind the Pannel, as he

thinks, fired off his Piece likewife towards the

Weft, but up in the Air over the Heads of the

Multitude : That very foon after feveral other

dropping Shots followed after, which when the

People fell back and opened, he obferved a young

Man lying upon the Ground as dead, directly op-

pofite to the Place where the Pannel fired. Caufa

Scientia patet. And this is the Truth as he fhall

anfwer to God. Sic fub\

Mark Sprott.

Gilb. Eliot.

George Campbell Wright in Edinburgh, aged

Twenty eight Years, or thereby, married, fo-

lemnly fworn, purged of Malice, partial Coun-

cil, examined and interrogated, Deponed, That
Time and Place libelled, the Deponent flood in

the Window of Mr. Carmichael's Houfe, in the

South-fide of the Grafs-mercate, directly oppofite

to the Gibbet ; That a very little after Wilfon

was cut down, he obferved the Pannel with four

or five of his Men about him, and that as he
pointed his Piece to and fro towards the Multi-

tude, he obferved 'him receive a Stroak by a

Stone thrown from behind the Scaffold, off which
it rebounded and ftruck him ; upon which he im-
mediatly fired his Piece ; but whether this was
the firft Shot or not, the Deponent cannot tell

for there was three or four fired much about the

fame time •, but that the Pannel fired, he is fure,

for he faw Fire and Smoak iffue from his Piece.

That upon thefe Shots already mentioned, he
faw a Man fall down upon his Back on the Street :

That after this he faw the Pannel raife his Muk
ket, and put his Hand to his Cartrage Box, as if

he intended to load again ; but does not know
what followed upon this, becaufe he immediatly

loft Sight of him. . Deponed, That when the

Pannel fired his Piece as above, he was ftanding

towards the South-eaft Corner of the Scaffold,

and pointed his Piece towards the South-weft :

That the Pannel's Fire with the Shots that went
off at the fame Time, were the firft that were

made on that Occafion. Caufa Sciential patet.

And this is the Truth as he fhall anfwer to God.

Sicfubr.

George Campbell.

Gilb. Eliot.

James Bald, Merchant in Edinburgh, aged

Thirty two Years, or thereby, Widower, fo-

lemnly fworn, purged of Malice, partial Coun-

cil, examined and interrogated, Deponed, That
Time and Place libelled, the Deponent ftood in

the fame Window with the immediate preceeding

Witnes, or at leaft in a Window in the fame

Room : That a little after Wilfon was cut down
from the Gibbet, he faw the Pannel advance a

little Weftward from the Corn-mercate, towards

the South-fide of the Gibbet, and fire off his

Piece Weft-ward, toward the Mufe Well: That
at this Time he faw none of the Soldiers near
him, nor obferved any other fire but his ; and
before there was any more firing, when the Mul-
titude fell back, he faw a Man lying dead, to-

wards the Place that the Pannel pointed his Piece;
that he is fure the Captain fired, fince he faw the
Fire and Smoak iffue from his Piece. Caufa Sci-

ential patet. And this is the Truth as he fhall

anfwer to God. Sic fub\

James Bald.

Gilb. Eliot.

Andrew Daw, Servant to James Montgomery^
Brewar in Potteraw, aged Twenty- two Years

9 or
thereby, married, folemnly fworn, purged of
Malice, partial Council, examined and interro-

gated, Deponed, That Time and Place libelled,

the Deponent was ftanding at the foot of Robert-

fen the Stabler's Clofs, when Wilfon was cut down
from the Gibbet ; immediately after which, the

Pannel, who was ftanding in the middle of the

Street, between the Deponentandihe Corn-mercatt

fired his Piece toward the Piace^where the Deponent
was ftanding; upon whichaBaxterin the Abbay, call-

ed Charles Hufband, dropt juft by the Deponent ; /

and his the Deponent's Coat was torne in the Shoul-

der with the fameShot; thathe heard the Report of
the Captain's Piece, tho' he neither faw the Fire

nor the Smoak, yet he is fure the Pannel fired, be-

caufe he faw no other Piece prefented at the fame
time: That the Pannel when he fired as above, was
as near to the Deponent, as the End of the Table
where he now ftands, is to the Weft-end of this

Room. Deponed, That the Shot mentioned to

be made by the Pannel, was the firft he heard that

Day. Deponed, That during the whole time ofthe

Execution he never came nearer the Scaffold than

Robertfon's Clofs-foot (by Robertfon's Clofs-foot is

meaned the end neareft the Grafs-mercat). Caufa

Scienti<spatet. And this is the Truth as he fhould

anfwer to God, and declaired he cannot write.

Sicfub'. Gilb. Eliot.

Walter Sheargold Indweller in Edinburgh, aged
Twenty eight Years, or thereby, married, fo-

lemnly fworn, purged of Malice, partial Coun-
cil, examined and interrogated, Deponed, That
he was prefent the Time and Place libelled ; and
after the Criminal Wilfon was cut down, he faw
Captain Porteous fire his Gun, holding the fame
ftreight out at the Multitude ; and that the Depo-
nent was then within three Yeards of the Cap-
tain, when he faw him fire, and that after he had
fired, he heard him call, Fire ; then heard fome
Shots, but does not know from what Hands they

came, for he immediatly retired to the Lawn-
mercate. Deponed, That when the Pannel fired,

his left Hand was towards the Scaffold, and he
fired towards the Weft-port. Deponed, That
the Scaffold was nearer to the Weft-port than the

Pannel was when he fired, that is, the Pannel

was nearer to the Corn-mercate : Deponed, That
this Shot by the Pannel, was the firft that he
heard at that time, and that he was prefent all

the time of the Execution ; that he was fo near

as to fee the Fire and the Col fine fly out of the

Pannel's Gun, Caufa fcientia patet. And this

is the Truth as he fhould anfwer to God. Sic

fubferibitur Walter Sheargold.

Wa. Pringle.

? John
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John Ritchie Servant to Mr. Archibald Mur-

ray, Advocate, aged Seventeen Years, or there-

by, unmarried, folemniy fvvorn, purged of Ma-

lice, partial Council, examined and interrogated,

Deponed, That the Time and Place libelled, the

Deponent was prefent at the Execution of Andrew

Wilfon ; and after the Criminal was cut down,

he faw and heard about Three Shots fired, and

then he heard a Fourth Shot, which was by

Captain Porieous ; and that he faw a Man fall down,

but the Deponent imagined it was from the Pref-

fure of the Croud, that there was very fhort

time betwixt the Shots, but that which was by

Captain Vorteous was the laft in order. That af-

ter the Criminal was cut down, the Guard drew

towards the North-fide of the Scaffold, that the

Deponent was ftanding within Two or Three

Yeards of the Foot of Robertfin's Clofs, when

he faw and heard the firing : Deponed, he heard

the Pannel mention the Word, Fire, before the

firing, deponed, That the Pannel was, to the

beft of the Deponent's Remembrance, ftanding

as far Weft as the Gallows ; but he cannot be

very pofitive ; the Mob and Crowd was fuch,

that he could not very diftindtly difcern : De-

poned, That the Shots mentioned by the Depo-

nent, firft Three, and then a Fourth, was the

firft he heard that time. Caufa Scientia patet.

And this is the Truth as he fhould anfwer to God.

Sicfufc.

John Ritchie.

Wa. Rringle.

Thomas Crook/hank, Servant to Thomas Frotter

Brewar in Edinburgh, aged Twenty two Years or

thereby, unmarried, folemniy fworn, purged of

Malice, partial Council, examined and interro-

gated, Deponed, That the Time and Place li-

belled, the Deponent being upon the Caufey on

the South-fide of the Scaffold, faw the Pannel,

who was then ftanding upon the North-fide of

the Scaffold, fire the Gun that was in his Hand

upon the Multitude ; the Point of the Piece be-

ing directed Weftward, and faw the Fire and

Smoak iffue out of the Muzzle of the Gun, that

was in the Pannel's Hand. And further deponed,

That the Pannel was ftanding at the North-fide

of the Scaffold, and at that end of it, which is

next the Bow. Caufa /dentin patet. And this is

the Truth as he fhould anfwer to God. Sicfub-

fcribitur Thomas Crcokjhank. And being further

interrogate, If thefaid Shot that the Pannel fired,

was the firft Shot, Deponed, That it was the

firft Shot ; but that feveral other Shots followed

immediately thereafter. And this is likewife the

Truth as he (hall anfwer to God. Sicfubfcribitur

Thomas Crook/hank.

Andr. Fletcher.

James Neilfin Gardiner in the Bull Clofs of E-

dinburgh, aged Thirty one Years or thereby, mar.

ried, folemniy fworn, purged of Malice, par-

tial Council, examined and interrogated, De-

poned, Time and Place libelled, the Deponent

being ftanding within the Foot of a Turnpike

near the Mufe Well, faw the Pannel who was

then ftanding upon the North-fide of the Scaffold,

a little to the Eaft-ward, where the Gallows was;

and faw the Pannel advance Weft-ward, towards

the Multitude, with his Firelock in his Hand,

moving it to and again, as if he had been beating

back the People ; and at the Third or Fourth
Motion, faw the Pannel fire the Piece that was
in his Hand upon the Multitude, pointing it

Weftward, and faw the Smoak iffue out at The
Muzzle of the faid Piece. That this was the
firft Shot which the Deponent heard, which was
foon followed by others ; for the Deponent ob-
ferved the Pannel after he had fired his Piece
retire fome Yards to the Soldiers, and faw Five
or Six of thefe Soldier's advance and fire upon the
Multitude ; and foon thereafter when the Multi-
tude were beat off, the Deponent faw a Boy
with black Hair lying within ten Yards of the
Turnpike where the Deponent was ftanding, and
faw Four other Perfons lying at different Places
upon the Street ; and faw the firft mentioned Boy
blooding at the Ear. Caufa Scientia patet. And
this is the Truth as he he fhould anfwer to God.
Sic fubfcribitur

James Neilfin.

Andr. Fletcher.

William Gordon, Baxter, and fervant in the

common Bakehoufe in Haflies Clofs in Edinburgh*

aged Twenty-one Years, or thereby, unmarriedj,

folemniy fworn, purged of Malice, partial Coun-
cil, examined and interrogated, Deponed, That
the Time and Place lybelled, The Deponent be-

ing at the Head of the Turnpike at the back of

the Mufe Well, did from thence fee Captain Por-

teous Pannel, who was then upon the North-weft
Corner of the Gibbet, waved his Firelock to

and again ; and thereafter faw the faid Firelock

while in his Hand, go off, and faw the Fire

and Smoak go out at the Muzzle of it ; and this

was the firft Shot which the Deponent heard that

Day, but heard feveral Shots thereafter ; and
that the Shot which the Pannel fired, was foon

after the deceaft Andrew Wilfon was cut down.

Caufa Sdentine patet. And this is the Truth as he

fhould anfwer to God. Sic fubfcribitur

William Gordoni

Andr. Fletcher.

James Nafmith, Servant to Colin Alifon, Wright

in Edinburgh, aged Twenty fix Years, or there-

by, married, folemniy fworn, purged of Malice,

partial Council, examined and interrogate, De-

poned, That Time and Place libelled, and foon

after the deceaft Andrew Wilfon was cut down
from the Gibbet •, the Deponent being upon the

Cawfay of the North-eaft end of the Scaffold,

beginning to take down the Scaffold ; and did

then hear the Pannel who was towards the

North-end of the Scaffold, fay feveral Times to

the Soldiers under his Command, Fire and be

damn'd ! and at the fame time faw the Pannel

advancing Weft-ward, with his Piece prefented

in his Hand ; and immediatly after hearing the

forfaid Words, he heard feveral Shots go off;

and when the forfaid Words were fpoken by the

Pannel, he was paffing by the Deponent Weft-

ward, about a Yard or two diftant from him.

Caufa Scientioe patet. And this is the Truth as

he fhould anfwer to God. Sic fubfcribitur

James Nafmith.

Andr. Fletcher.

David Broun Servant to Colin Alifon, Wright

in Edinburgh, aged Twenty eight Years, or there-

by, unmarried, folemniy fworn, purged of Ma-

Ike, partial Council, examined and interrogated,

2 Deponed
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Deponed, That Time and Place libelled, and

after the deceaft Andrew JVilfon was cutt down

from the Gibbet, the Deponent being {landing at

the Eaft End of the Scaffold, affifting to pull it

down ; and then faw the Pannel going along the

North-fide of the Scaffold Weftward, and heard

him give Orders to the Soldiers under his Com-

mand to fire, but does not remember the particu-

lar Expreflion •, and immediatly upon the Orders

being given as aforfaid, he heard feveral Shots ;

and when the Deponent heard the Pannel give

the forfaid Orders, he was about the Diftance of

the Breadth of the Scaffold from him. Caufa

Scientiapatet. And this is the Truth as he fhould

anfwer to God. Sicfubr.

David Broun.

Andr. Fletcher.

Matthew Kid, Servant to Thomas Mtlln, Dea-

con of the Meafons in Edinburgh, aged thirty-

three Years, or thereby, married, folemnly

fworn, purged of Malice, and partial Council,

examined and interrogated, Deponed, Time and

Place libelled, and foon after the deceaft Andrew

Wilfon was cut down from the Gibbet, the Depo-

nent being ftanding upon the plain Scones near

Capt. Todd's Shope, he faw the Pannel going

from the Well at the Bow-foot Weftward, and

faw him fire the Gun that was in his Hand, and

thereafter give Orders to the Soldiers under his

Command to fire ; thereafter heard him call to

the faid Soldiers to level their Pieces ; and faw the

faid Soldiers fire ; and that the Shot fired by the

Pannel as aforfaid, was either the firft or fecond

Shot •, which Shot he fired ftanding to the North-

eaft of the Scaffold, half way 'twixt that and the

Bow-foot Well ; and that when the Pannel or-

dered the Soldiers to level their Pieces, he was

fome Yeards nearer the Foot of the Bow. Caufa

Scientist patet. And this is the Truth as he mould

anfwer to God. Sic fubfcribitur.

Mathew Kid.

Andr. Fletcher.

James Maxwell, Servant to Colin Alifon, Wright

in Edinburgh, aged thirty-two Years, or thereby,

married, folemnly fworn, purged ofMalice, purged

of partial Council, examined and interrogated, de-

poned, That the Time and Place libelled, after Wil-

fon was cut down and put in his Coffine, there was

fome Stones thrown by theMob amongft the Guard

;

upon which he heard the Pannel to order the Sol-

diers to turn in ; and immediatly heard him

give the Soldiers Orders to fire, and be damn'd ;

and then faw him advance two or three Paces,

and faw his Gun cocked, and his Thumb upon

the Doghead, and faw him fire the Gun ; and

immediatly before he heard any other Shot, he

faw a Boy fall near a Copperfmith's Shop, to the

North-weft of the Place, from which the Pan-

nel fired his Gun. There were fix or feven more

Shot after the Orders were given ; and then he

faw three Men and a Woman fall, one of which

had a Wound in his Forehead, and another in the

Side of his Head : That after the Soldiers fired

as aforfaid, he heard the Pannel fay to one of the

Soldiers, That if he did not fire, he would take

his Piece from him. Deponed, That he the De-

ponent was then ftanding on the South-fide of

the Scaffold, helping to pull it down, when he

heard and faw what is above deponed upon ; and

that the Pannel was upon theNorth-fide of the

Scaffold, about ten Yards from it, over-againft

the Middle of the Scaffold : And deponed,
That the Pannel's Shot at that Time was the
firft he heard then fhot. Deponed, That he
was prefent at the Time from Wilfon*s coming
down to his Execution, till after he was cut down
and carried away ; during which Time he heard
no Shot fired, until that fired by the Pannel.

Caufa Scientia fatet. And this is the Truth as he
fhould anfwer to God. Tic fubfcrib".

James Maxwell.

Ja. Mackenzie.

William Douglas, one of the Soldiers in the
City Guard, Edinburgh, aged forty-feven Years,
or thereby, married, folemnly fworn, purged of
Malice, partial Council, examined, and interro-

gated, Deponed, That the Time and Place li-

belled, as the Executioner was going up the
Ladder to cut down Wilfon, there were feveral

Stones thrown at him, which obliged him to come
down the Ladder ; at the fame time there was
feveral Stones thrown amongft the Guard, before

Wilfon was cutt down, at which time he heard the
Pannel fay to the Soldiers, Be damn'd to you,
Bougars, Fire ; after which he heard feveral

Shots fired by the Men, but knows nothing of
the Pannel's having fired ; and that thefe were
the firft Shots he heard fired that Day, to the

beft of his Knowledge. Deponed, That the
Pannel when he uttered the Words before-

mentioned, was ftanding at the South-fide of the
Gallows. Deponed, That the firft Shots were
fired before Wilfon was cut down, and likewife

fome of them thereafter. Caufa Scientia patet.

And this is the Truth as he fhould anfwer to

God ; and declares he cannot write. Sic fub-
fcribitur.

Ja. Mackenzie.

Archibald Tetts, Litfter in the Abbay "of Holy-

rood-houfe, aged forty-eight Years, or thereby,

married, folemnly fworn, purged of Malice, par-

tial Council, examined and interrogated, Deponed,
That the Time and Place libelled, a little after

Wilfon was cutt down from the Gallows, he faw
the Pannel fire his Piece among the Multitude

;

and immediatly heard him fay to his Men, Le-
vell your Pieces, and fire and be damn'd ! Where-
upon there were a great many Shots fired by
them, and faw the Pannel take a Gun from one
of the Men, which he the Pannel fired. Deponed,
That he the Deponent was within fix Yeards
of the Pannel when he fired, and fpoke the

Words before-mentioned. Deponed, That at

the Time when the Pannel took the Gun from
the Soldier, he laid his oun upon the Scaffold,

and that there were fome Perfons, but very

few, then ftanding upon the Scaffold. Deponed,
That betwixt the Time that the Pannel fired his

oun Piece, and his taking the Gun from the Sol-

dier, as aforfaid, it might be about eight or nine

Minutes : And deponed, That at the time he

fired the fecond Gun, there were feveral other

Guns fired at the fame time. Depones, That
there was no Shot fired before the firft fired by
the Pannel y and that the fecond Shot fired by
the Pannelwas near the fame Place where he fired

the firft ; and that he had not moved above fix

or feven Yeards betwixt the firft firing and the

fecond ; and that fome of the Soldiers followed

the Pannel in that Space, and returned with him
again
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again to the Place where he fired firft. Caufa

Scientist patet. And this is the Truth as he fhall

anfwer to God. Sic fub
r
.

Archbald Tetts.

Ja. Mackenzie.

78;
thereafter he obfcrved the Pannel take a Gun
from one of the Soldiers, but what Ufe he made
thereof, he knowes not ; and it was very fhort
Time 'twixc the Pannel's Firing, and his taking
the Gun from the Soldier, as alfo, a very fhort
Diftance betwixt the Place where he fired, and
where he took the faid Gun ; the Place of his

William Murray, Barrowman and Indweller

in Edinburgh, aged twenty-feven Years, or there- firing to the Deponent's Memory*YeinsVear'to
by, married, folemnly fworn, purged of Malice, Robertfon's Closfhead ; and where he took the
partial Council, examined and interrogated, De-

poned, Time and Place libelled, the Deponent

being prefent at the Execution of Andrew Wilfon,

he did obferve two of the Soldiers under the

Pannel's Command, fire their Guns ; but the

Guns were fired up in the Air ; thereafter he ob-

ferved the Pannel fire his Gun amongft the Mul-

titude ; whereupon he obferved a Boy drop down,

and did hear the Pannel call out to the Soldiers,

Damn them for Bougars, why did they not fire,

even forward, and clean the Street ? At which

Gun, was a very little way up the Street from it

.

And the Shot he heard from the Pannel's Gun,
was the firft he heard that Day. Caufa fcienti*
patet. And this is the Truth as he fhall anfwer
to God. Sicfubr.

William Jamefon.

Da. Erjkine.

John Moffat, Baxter and Servant in the Com-
mon Bake-houfe in Ha/lies Clofs in Edinburgh,
aged twenty-fix Years, or thereby, married,

time the Deponent was ftanding about the South folemnly fworn, purged of Malice, partial Coun-
Pillar of the Corn-mercate, about twenty Yards ell, examined and interrogated, Deponed, That
Diftance from the Pannel, as he apprehends : at the Time and Place libelled, the Deponent was
Furder deponed, That after the faid firft firing, ftanding in Mr. Orr's Door, on the South-fide

he obferved the Pannel take a Gun out of a Sol- of the Grafs Mercate ; and fome fhort time after

dier's Hand, and fire again •, directing it towards Wilfon was cut down, he faw the Pannel take a

a Man he was purfuing ; which he did thirty or Gun out of one of the Soldier's Hand, before
fourty Yeards •, and upon firing, he obferved the

Perfon fo purfued, fall down : And being inter-

rogated how long his prefent Dulnefs of Hearing

remained with him ; Deponed, he has been as

dull of Hearing thefe feven Years paft. De-

poned, That the two Shots from the two Sol-

diers were the firft firing he heard upon that Oc-

cafion. Caufa Scienti<e patet. And this is the

Truth as he fhall anfwer to God. Sic fub
r

.

William Murray.

Da. Erjkine.

James Nicoll Watch-maker in Cannon-gate, aged

thirty-fix Years, or thereby, married, folemnly

fworn, purged of Malice, partial Council, exa-

mined and interrogated, Deponed, That he was

prefent, Time and Place libelled, at the Execu-

tion of Andrew Wilfon ; and then he did obferve

the Pannel fire his Gun, holding it out ftraight

before him, amongft the Multitude there affem-

bled ; and as he heard the Report of the Gun,

fo he obferved the Smoak of the Powder coming

from the Gun ; and this Shot was the firft he

heard upon that Occafion ; and the Pannel when

he thus fired, was ftanding betwixt the Gibbet

and one Mr. Cunynghame's Shope on the North-

fide of the Street, near the North-eaft-end of the

Scaffold. Caufa fcientia patet. And this is the

Truth as he fhall anfwer to God. Sic fub
T
.

James Nicoll.

Da. Erjkine.

William Jamefon Merchant in Edinburgh, aged

twenty-four Years, married, folemnly fworn,

purged of Malice, partial Council, examined

and interrogated, Deponed, That he Was prefent

Time and Place libelled, at the Execution of

Andrew Wilfon ; and about the Time when they

were cutting down the Criminal, the Deponent

then ftanding within three or four Yeards of the

Pannel, did hear him give Orders to theSouldiers

that were behind him to fire, and immediatly

thereafter he did hear the Pannel fire the Gun that

was in his own Hand ; and upon his firing, ob-

ferved the Smoak of the Powder come from it •,

Vol. VI.

Mr. Todd's Shope Door, which he immediatly
fired off" towards the North-weft ; a little before
which, the Deponent faw him fire his oun Gun
from the fame Place ; that upon the Captain's
Firing, the Deponent faw fome of the Soldiers,
who ftood behind the Corn-mercate, fire their

Guns up in the Air. Caufa fcientia patet. And
this is the Truth as he fhall anfwer to God.
Sicfubr

.

John Moffat.

Gilb. Elliot.

John Stewart, Merchant in Edinburgh, aged
thirty Years, or thereby, unmarried, folemnly
fworn,purged of Malice, partial Council, examined
and interrogated, Deponed, That at the Time and
Place lybelled, the Deponent was ftanding in a

Window of Wine Garden's, Houfe, on the South

Side of the Scaffold : That fome fhort Time be-

fore Wilfon was cut down, upon fome Stones be-

ing thrown at the Hangman, he obferved the Pan-

nel jump down from the South Side of the Scaf-

fold, and walk up brifkly towards the Place where
the Difturbance was, but nothing in his Hand
but a Cane ; immediatly after this Wilfon was cut

down ; upon which the Guard that attended the

Execution, began to march up the Bow -, and
that at the North-Weft Corner of the Gallows,

he obferved the Pannel take a Gun out of a Sol-

dier's Hand, with which he pufhed back the

Multitude ; and that when the Pannel came the

Length of the Bow-Foot, being upon the Rear of

his Men, he faw him receive a Stroke with a

Stone ; upon which he fuddenly turned about,

and waved his Piece to and again, towards the

Multitude, but without firing ; but a very little

after that, he turned about all at once, and ftcped

fome Steps forward, and fired off his Piece to-

wards the Crowd Weftward : That this was the

firft Shot which the Deponent either heard or faw

made that Day. Caufa fcientia patet. And this

is the Truth as he fhould anfwer to God. Sic.fulf.

Jn° . Stewart.

Gilb. Eliot.

\

7 0. John
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John Gibb, Cow-feeder in Cannon-gate, aged
-forty-four Years, or thereby, married, folemnly
fworn, purged of Malice, partial Council, exami-
ned and interrogated, Deponed, That Time and
P ace libelled, he was ftanding at Mr. Robertfon's
Clois-head, in the Grafs-Market; that a very little
after the Hangman had been on the Ladder, as he
thought, to cut down Wilfon, he obferved the
Pannel with his Gun in his Hand, advance to-
wards the Crowd, where the Difturbance was,
and prefent his Piece three Times ; the laft of
which Times, the Deponent thought he fired her
off; for he faw the Primine burn in the Pan
but could not fee the firey Smoak at the Muzzel'
becaufe of the Crowd ; neither could he with
Certainty diftinguim the Report, becaufe feveral
other Pieces were fired off at the fame Time •

That upon thefe Pieces being fo fired, he faw
one Mr. Niel drop down at the Mufe Well: That
before the Firing above-mentioned, he neither
heard nor faw a Shot made that Day. Caufa
fcientia patet. And this is the Truth, as he
ihall aniwer to God. Sicfubr

.

John Gibb.

Gilb. Eliot.

Follows the Witnejfes adducedfor the Pannel

C^Eorge Smeitpn, Writer in Edinburgh, aged
J. thirty Years, or thereby, married, folemnly

fworn, purged of Malice, partial Council, exa-
mined and interrogated, Deponed, That Time
and Place libelled, he was prefent at the Execu-
tion of Wilfon: That when the Executioner was
doing his Duty, he faw Captain Porteous come
off the Scaffold, becaufe the Mob was crowding
upon the Guard

; and while the Panne] was en°
deavounog to keep off the Mob, he faw a Man
with a Silk Napkine about his Neck, prefs upon
the Pannel, and feem to endeavour to grefp at

;

but that a young Gentleman there, in areerl
Cloaths, keept him off; and then the Pannel re-
turned to the Scaffold ; but about the time the
Criminal was cutting down, or to be cut down
the Pannel went off the Scaffold again j and
about that Time there was Stones thrown by theMob at the Hangman, and the Guard ; andfome
of them fell amonft the Guard : That fo far as
the Deponent could obferve, being upon a Barti-
z;ne, upon the South-fide of the Scaffold, five
Story high, the Stones feemed to be pretty large
but the Deponent cannot tell the Dementions •

and then he foon obferved a Shot, which was the
fit-it that he obferved, and came from one of the
Soldiers

; and this Shot was after the Criminal
was cut down

; and after this Shot, in a very
little followed three or four other Shots ; and at
this Time the Pannel had his Piece prefented to-
wards the Multitude ; and that he faw the Flafh
of the Pan of the Soldier's Gun that fired thefirft
Shot. Deponed, That the Pannel was pretty
near the Soldier that fired the firft Gun. Caufa
fiienttx patet. And this is the Truth as he fhould
anfwer to God. Sic fubr ,

Geo. Smeiton.

Wa. Pringle.

Place libelled, he was prefent at the Execution of
Wilfon, when he faw feveral Stones thrown by theMob at the Guard, of fuch Bignefs, that was
Jufficient to have killed them, in cafe they had
hitt them in a proper Place ; which continued
fome little Time. Deponed, That while the
Criminal was hanging upon the Gallows, the
Deponent faw a Man prefs towards the Pannel •

and being come near him, he held up his Hand
to him, in a threatning Manner ; but the Depo-
nent did not hear what Words he uttered De-
poned, That when the Pannel was upon the
Scaffold, he had no Gun in his Hand -, but when
he came off again, he took a Gun from a Soldier
Deponed, That when the Pannel came off the
Scaffold, he went about to the Weft-fide, and
turned about towards the North, endeavouring
to get his Men together, which he could not
weel do, they being fo much interfperfed with
the Mob ; and they continuing ftill to throw the
Stones, the Pannel turned about with his Face
towards the Weft ; and having his Fuzie in fuch
a Manner in his Hand, as if he had not defigned
to fire, but waving it from Side to Side, rather
feeming to intimidate them : And at this Time
there was a Soldier came upon his Right Hand
and fire clofe by the Pannel j and this was the
firft Shot the Deponent obferved: And deponed,
That he had his Eyes ftri&ly upon the Pannel
all this Time. Deponed, He did not fee the
Pannel fire ; and he is very well affured, that he
did not fire at that Time. Deponed, That this
Shot was immediatly after the Criminal was cut
down.^ Deponed, That after this, the Pannel
endeavoured to carry off his Men. Deponed,
That the Soldier that came up by the Pannel's
Right-fide, came up from behind him. Caufa
fctentta patet. And this is the Truth as he mould,
anfwer to God. Sicfufr.

Tho. Harton.

I

Wa. Pringle.

David Rannie, Merchant in Edinburgh, aged
Forty Years, or thereby, married, folemnly
fworn purged of Malice, partial Council, exa-
mined and interrogated, Deponed, That after the
nrft Firings were over, the Deponent from his
own Window in the Land above Baillie Dewars,
at the Foot of the Bow, faw the Pannel draw off
his Men, and marching up the Bow, halt at
JSailhe Crocket's Shop, at which time the Depo-
nent heard fome Soldiers fire, which the Depo-
nent apprehended was in the Rear ; the Depo-
nent looking upwards, and they that fired not
being under his Eye. Caufa friend* patet. And
this is the Truth as he mould anfwer to God.
Stcfubr

.

David Rannie.

Andr. Fletcher,

r/t^ l
l
art°ni Dodlor in the Regiment of

Welfh Fuzieleers, in the Cannongate, aged thirty
nine Years, or thereby, unmarried, folemnly
fworn, purged of Malice, partial Council, exa-
mined and interrogated, Deponed, Time and

rJit
n
rF

l^b Ser
Jeant in the Regiment of

Welfh Fuzieleers, aged Thirty-three Years, or
thereby, unmarried, folemnly fworn, purged of
Mahce, partial Council, examined and interro-
gated, Deponed, That the Time libelled, the
Deponent was fent by the Captain who com-
manded the Detachment of the King's Forces iiv
the Lawn-mercate to the Place of Execution, to
get Orders from the Magiftrates or the Pannel vand having gone up to the Scaffold, and while;
the Deponent was converfing with the Pannel, he
law a Stone thrown at the Executioner, which

cut
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cut him in the Nofe fo that he bled ; and about

the fame time there was a Stone, about the Big-

nefs of the Deponent's two Fills, hit the Calf of

the Deponent's Leg ; upon which the Deponent
with the Pannel came down from the Scaffold,

and thereafter faw the Pannel moving his Fuzie

in order to keep off the Crowd, who had by that

time preffed upon the Guard, and drove them
about four or five Yeards from the Place where

/ they were pofted at firft •, and thereafter the De-
ponent faw Captain Porteous endeavouring to keep

off the Mob with his Fuzie, weaving it to and

again, telling them to keep off, or he would fire,

but that there was no Fire at that time : And the

Deponent then walking towards the Weft-bow,

faw four or five of the Soldiers prefenting their

Pieces, and faw one of them advance to the

Right where the Deponent was (landing, and fire

upon the Crowd ; which was the firft Shot the

Deponent heard •, at which time the Deponent

faw the Pannel upon his Left Hand, about feven

Yeards from him ; and then the Deponent faw

two other of the Soldiers come up betwixt the

Pannel and the Deponent, and fire in the Air;

and thereafter heard four or five more Shots,

which the Deponent thinks was fired betwixt the

Place where the Deponent was {landing and the

Pannel ; and the Deponent during that time had

his Eye fixt upon thofe who fired, and did not

obferve Captain Porteous fire or give Orders

to fire ; and upon the firft Shot as aforfaid,

the Deponent obferved a Man drop at the

Entry of Robinfon's Clofs. Caufa fcienti<e patet.

And this is the Truth as he fhall anfwer to God.

Sicfubr .

Jn". Clark.

Andr. Fletcher.

Colin Campbell of Ardonnick, aged Forty-four

Years, or thereby, married, folemnly fworn, purged

of Malice, partial Council, examined and inter-

rogated, Deponed, That at the Time and Place

libelled, the Deponent in a Window from Mrs.

Carmichaells, oppofite to the Scaffold, obferved

noDifturbance till once the Executioner was going

up the Ladder to cut down the Deceaft Wilfon •,

and then faw fome Stones thrown at the Execu-

tioner, upon which he retired ; and as he was

paffing the Corn-mercate, the Deponent obferved

one of the Stones hit him, and faw fome Stones

thrown at the Guard, who were upon the North-

fide of the Scaffold ; and faw the Pannel making

Motion with his Fuzie to keep off the Mob ; and

afterwards turned towards the Foot of the Bow
very civily ; and then faw a Stone hit one of the

Soldiers ; and which Soldier, the Deponent faw

prefent his Firelock ; and faw another Stone hit

the fame Soldier ; and thereupon the faid Soldier

pointed his Firelock Weft- ward, and fired imme-
diatly ; and another Soldier fired immediatly

after him ; which Firings took the Deponent's

Eyes from off the Pannel ; and which two Fi-

rings, the Deponent thinks were the firft that

were fired by the faid two Soldiers who had ad-

vanced among the Crowd from their Party.

Caufa fcientU patet. And this is the Truth as he

fhould anfwer to God. Sic fubr.

C. Campbell.

Andr. Fletcher.

William Meanie, Serjant in the City Guard ofE-

dinburgh aged Forty-eight Years or thereby, mar-
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ried, folemnly fworn, purged of Malice, partial
Council, examined and interrogated, Deponed, the
Time and Place libelled, and about the Time' the
deceaft Andrew Wilfon was cut down, there was
Showers of Stones thrown at the Guard, and par-
ticularly one big Scone lighted betwixt the Depo-
nent, and Serjant Finlay, above three Pound
Weight ; and that the Drummer was cut in the
Head with a Stone, and the Drum ftruck with a
Stone ; and that Alexander Mufcheat Centinell,
one of the Guard, had his Shoulder Blade broke
with a Stone ; and that before thefe Strokes were
given, the Deponent, by Order of the Pannel,
was drawing off, and forming his Men in the
Foot of the Bow ; that the Pannel gave the De-
ponent his Fuzie, which was the Fuzie the Pan-
nel ordinarly carried, to keep, while he attended
the Execution, and the Prayers ; which the De-
ponent returned to the Pannel again, upon the
Signe's being given to cut down Wilfon, and be-
fore, the Pannel came down from the Scaffold.

Caufa fcientia patet. And this is the Truth as

he fhall anfwer to God. Sic.fubr .

William Meane.

Ja. Mackenzie.

Alexander Campbel, Apprentice to George
'Young, Surgeon in Edinburgh, aged eighteen
Years or thereby, unmarried, folemnly fworn,
purged of Malice, partial Council, examined
and interrogated, Deponed, That at the Time
and Place libelled, he faw feveral Stones thrown
among the Guard after Wilfon was cut down ;

and faw two of the Soldiers of the Guard ftep

afide from among the reft and fire ; and thefe

were the two firft Shots that he heard. Caufa
fcienti<e patet. And this is the Truth as he
fhall anfwer to God. Sicfubr

.

Alexr. Campbell.

Ja. Mackenzie.

Matthew Howert, Souldier in the City Guard
of Edinburgh, aged Fourty Years, or thereby,

married, folemnly fworn, purged of Malice,
partial Council, examined and interrogated, De-
poned, That he was prefent at Wilfon*s Execu-
tion, at the Time libelled ; and that before, and
after Wilfon was cut down, there was a great ma-
ny Stones, both great and fmali, thrown among
the Guard by the Mob ; that after the Pannel
came down from the Scaffold, he faw him wave
his Piece he had in his Hand, but did not offer

to prefent it; then he faw a Soldier ftep out from
the Reft, and fire his Piece in the Air ; as like-

wife Two or Three Soldiers that fired thereafter,

did likewife fire their Pieces in the Air ; and that

thefe, who fired firft, were ftanding clofs by
the Pannel, and the Deponent ; and thefe, were
the firft Shots he heard that Day ; and he heard
the Soldiers fay, one to another, Fire, or we
fhall all be knockt down ; and upon more Stones

being thrown among them, feveral of them did

fire ; but before that time he heard the Pannel
fay to the Soldiers twice, Do not fire. After

thefe Shots were fired, the Captain marched up
towards the Bow, and the Men followed him ;

that at the Time, that the Shots were fired, as a-

forfaid, the Pannel was ftanding at the Foot of

the Steps of the Scaffold, with his Face towards

the Cattle : And deponed, he was one of thofe

that followed the Captain, nor did he fee the

Captain fire, as he was going up theifow: That

7 Q_2 when
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when the Captain was marching on the Head o

the Men, up the .Sow, he heard a droping Shot,

or Two, fired from the Rear •, nor did he fee the

Captain return again towards the Scaffold, but

marched ftraight on up to the Town. Caufa

fcienli* patet . And this is the Truth as he fhall

anfwer to God. And declared he cannot write.

Sic fub
r

.

Ja. Mackenzie.

David Martinet Souldier in the City Guard of

Edinburghi aged Fourty Years, or thereby, mar-

ried, folemnly fworn, purged of Malice, partial

Council, examined and interrogated, Deponed,

That he the Deponent was one of the Party of

the City Guard, who attended the Execution of

Andrew Wilfon ; and before there was any fireing

he did hear the Pannel call to them, Not to fire;

and before that the Deponent had his Shoulder-

blade dif-jointed with a Stroke he received upon

it with a Stone. Caufa fcientia patet. And this

is the Truth as he fhould anfwer to God. And
declared he cannot write. Sicfub

r
.

Da, Erjkine.

William Byres, Soldier in the City Guard of

Edinburgh, aged Fifty one Years, or thereby,

married, folemnly fworn, purged of Malice,

partial Council, examined and interrogated, De-

poned, That he was one of the City Guard, who
attended the Execution of Andrew Wilfon ; and

that he did not hear Captain Porteous give any

Orders to fire ; but when the firing happened,

he was at fome diftance from the Pannel ; after

the firing of feveral Shots, the Pannel called un-

to the Soldiers, To" fall into their Ranks, and fol-

low him ; which accordingly the Deponent, and

the reft did ; falling in gradually as they were

able ; and followed him to the Guard-houfe, till

they were difmiffed ; and in their march up the

Bow, did hear one Shot that came from the

Rear, but by whom he knows not. Caufa fcien-

ti<e patet. And this is the Truth as he mould an-

fwer to God. Sicfulr
.

William Byres.

Da. Er/kine.

James Armour, Writer to the Signet, aged Fifty

Years and upwards, married, folemnly fworn, purg-

ed of Malice, partial Council, examined and inter-

rogated, Deponed, That he was looking over a

"Window, to fee the Execution of Andrew Wil-

fon ; after the Criminal was thrown over, and

cut down, he obferved the Croud of People

throwing Stones of considerable bignefs, but a-

gainft whom they were directed, he knew not,

but they fell among the Soldiers ; upon which he

heard Two or Three Shots, but from whofe

Hands he did not obferve : Thereupon there was

an Intermifiion for Two or Three Minutes ; but

thereafter, when the Pannel with his Party were

retiring, which they did in great Confufion and

Diforder, the Croud purfued after them, renew-

ed the throwing of great Stones, and in great

Number; upon which, fome of the Soldiers

turned about, and marched back, fome Eight or

Ten Paces, ftill in diforder •, and then heard a

good Number of more Shots fired, which to his

Grief he faw did great Execution. Caufa fcien-

ti* patet. And this is the Truth as he mould

anfwer to God. Sic fubr.

fames Armour,

Da. Erjkine,

John Robertfon, Stabler in the Grafs, mercat of
Edinburgh, aged Thirty Years, or thereby, mar-
ried, folemnly fworn, purged of Malice, par-
tial Council, examined and interrogated, De-
poned, That at the Time libelled, as he flood in
his oun Window, \n the Grafs-mercat, he faw the
Pannel with his Piece in his Hand, moving it to
and again, keeping off the Mob ; and heard
him fay, Fire, or I will fire, does not know
which of the Two: That immediatly after this
he faw a fingle Man ffep out, three or four-
Paces before Captain Porteous, and fire his Piece;
and the Deponent verily believed, that the Peo-
ple who fell near his Clofs, gote their Wounds
by that Shot •, becaufe they were lying that Place
towards which the Man feem to point. Depo-
ned, That he heard fome firing towards the Foot
of the Bow, before the la ft mentioned Shot. Caufa
fcientia patet. And this is the Truth as he fhould
anfwer to God. Sic fub".

Joh Robertfon.

Gilb. Eliot.

George Vint Coal Grieve to Sir William Baird
of Newbyth, aged Fourty- fix Years, or thereby
married, folemnly fworn, purged of Malice
partial Council, examined and interrogated, De-
poned, That at the Time libelled, he was in
John Robertfotfs Window in the Grafs-mercate ;
when he obferved the Pannel moving his Piece
to and again, as if keeping off the Mob ; and
at the fame Time he faw one of the Soldiers, a
black-haired Man, ftep forward before the Pan-
nel and fire his Piece; upon which the Pannel
turned about to him and pufhed him into his
Rank : Deponed, That he did not fee the Pan-
nel fire at that time, or any other ; and that the
mentioned Shot was the firft he heard or faw
that Day. Caufa fcienti'a patet. And this is the
Truth as he fhall anfwer to God. Sicfubr

.

George Vint.

Gilb. Eliot.

Alexander Thomfon Town Officer in Edinhurghy
aged Fourty Years, or thereby, married, folemn-
ly fworn, purged of Malice, partial Council,
examined and interrogated, Deponed, That be-
ing upon the Scaffold on the Fourteenth of A~
pril laft, when Wilfon was executed ; the Pannel
fent him to the Magiftrats, who were in William
Orr's Houfe, to know of them how long the
Criminal fhould yet hapg upon the Gallows;
that he returned to the Pannel with the Magif-
trats Direction ; which was that he fhould ftill

hang a quarter of an Hour ; but before the half
of that Time was expired, Wilfon was cut down.
Caufa fcientice patet. And this is the Truth as he
fhould anfwer to God. Sic fub

T
.

Alex. Thomfon*

Gilb. Eliot,

Peter Coulflon, Merchant in Edinburgh, aged
Twenty five Years, or thereby, married, fo-
lemnly fworn, purged of Malice, partial Coun-
cil, examined and interrogated, Deponed, That
Time and Place libelled, and after the firft firin°-

the Deponent being ftanding under the North-
weft Corner of the Com-mercate, faw the Pannel
march the Guard under his Command up the

Weft-Bow ; and faw feveral of the Rear of thaC
Guard fire upon the Pepole affembled at the Ex-
ecution ; and at the fame time obferved, That

the
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the Pannel was within the fir It Turn of the Weft
Bow, and fo out of the Deponent's view. Caufa
Jcientia patet. And this is the Truth as he fhouid
anfwer to God. Sic fubr

.

Pet. Coidftoun.

Andr. Fletcher.

John Kennedy Surgeon in Edinburgh, aged Fifty-

Years, or thereby, married, folefrinl.y fworn,
purged of Malice, partial Council, examined
and interrogated, Deponed, That fome fhort

Time after the Execution of Andrew Wilfon, in

April laft, The Deponent attended the Perfons of
the Town Guard after mentioned, viz. Alexander

Mujhet Soldier, the Spine of whole Shoulder-

bone was crufhed, and Alexander Braid Soldier,

who had a Contufion in his right Foot ; both
which Perfons informed the Deponent, that they
received thefe Hurts at the Execution of the faid

Andrew Wilfon ; and that the laft mentioned Per-
fon is lame to this Day. Caufa fcientia. The
Deponent was employed to wait upon the faids

Perfons. And this is the Truth as he fhouid

anfwer to God. Sicfub*.

John Kennedy.

Andr. Fletcher.

The Lords Juflice Clerk and Coram iffioners of

Judiciary, Ordained the Affize to inclofe inftant-

ly in a Room prepared for them in the Exchequer,

and return their Verdict in the Old Court-Houfe

to Morrow at Four a Clock at Night ; and the

haill Fifteen to be then prefent ; each Perfon un-

der the Pain of Law ; and the Pannel to be car-

ried back to Prifon.

Curia Juficiarice, S. D. N. Regis, tenta in

Prcetorio Burgi de Edinburgo, Vigejimo

Die Menjis Julii, Millef.moJeptingentefimo

trigefimo Jexto, per Honorabiies Viros, An-
dream Fletcher de Milton, Jufiiciarium

Clericum, Dbminum Jacobum Mackenzie

de Royftoun, Magijirum Davidem Eiikine

de Dan, Dominos Guakerum Pringle de

Newhall, et Giibertum Eiiot de Minto,

Cammifjionarios Jufticiarii, diet. S. D. N.
Regis.

Curia legittime affrmata.

Intran.

JOHNPORTEOUS lately one ofthe Cap-

tain Lieutennants of the City Guard, Pannel,

Indicted and Accused as in the former

Seden. nts.

The Perfons who paft upon the Affize of the

faid John Porteous, returned their Verdict in Pre-

fence of the faids Lords ; Whereof the Tenor
followes.

Edinburgh, July, 20th, 1736.

The above Affize having inclofed, did choice

Sir John Inglis of Cramond, to be their Chancel-

lor •, and James Davidfon Bookie Her in Edinburgh,

to be their Clerk : And having confidered the

Indictment at the Inftanceof Duncan Forbes of

Collodden, Efq; his Majefty's Advocat for his

Highnefs Intereft, againft John Porteous, late

one of the Captain Lieutennants of the City Guard
of Edinburgh, Pannel ; with the Lord Juftice

Clerk, and Lord Commiffioners of Judiciary,

their Interloquitor thereupon -, and Depofuions of

791
the Witneffes

i_
adduced for proving thereof; the

Pannels own judicial Confeffion, and Depofitions
of the Witneffes adduced for the faid John Por-
teous Pannel, his Exculpation. They all in one
voice fand it proven, That the faid John Porteous
Pannel, fired a Gup. among the People, affembled,
at the Place of Execution, and time libelled
As alfo, That he gave Orders to the Soldiers
under his Command, to fire 3 and upon his and
their fo firing, the Perfons mentioned in the In-
dictment were killed and wounded. And fand it
proven, That the Pannel and his Guard were at-
tacked and beat by feveral Stones of a confidera-
bje bignefs, thrown amongft them by the Mul-
titude

; whereby feveral of the Soldiers were
bruifed and wounded. In Witnefs whereof our
faid Chancellor and Clerk, in cur Name, have
iubfenbed their Prefents, Day, and Place for-
faid. Sicfubr

.

Jo. higlis Chan 1".

James Davidfon Clerk;

I^HE Lord Juftice Clerk and Lord Com-
miffioners of Jufticiary, having confidered

the Verdict of Affife returned againft John Por-
teous Pannel of this Date, They in refpect thereof,
by theMouth of John Dalgleifr Dempfter of Court,
Decerned and Adjudged the laid John Por-
teous, To be taken from the Tolbooth of Edin-
burgh, upon Wedmfday the Eighth Day of Sep.
tember next to come, to the. Grafs-mercate of
Edinburgh, the common Place of Execution of
the faid Burgh, betwixt the Hours of Two and
Four of the Clock of the Afternoon of the faid
Day, and there to be hanged by the Neck upon
a Gibbet, by the Hands of the Executioner, un-
til he be dead ; and ordained all his Moveable
Goods and Gear to be Efcheat and Inbrought to
His Majefty's Ufe, which was pronounced for
Doom. Sicfubr

.

And. Fletcher.

Ja. Mackenzie.

Da. Erfin e.

Wa. Pringle.

1 Gilb. Eliot.

The Prifoner being thus ordered for Execu-
tion, prefented the following Petition to her Ma-
jefty,

To Her Moft Excellent Majesty,

Queen CAROLINE,
Guadian of thefe Realms;

The moft humble PETITION of John
Porteous late Captain-L'eutenant of the

City-Guard of Edinburgh -, now under

Sentence of Death :

Sheweth,

THAT a certain Perfon named Andrew
Wilfon, being convicted in the High Court

of Jufticiary of Scotland, for a Robbery of the

Publick Money, committed on the High-Way,
was fentenced to Death for that Offence ; and it

being apprehended, the Populace would refcue

the faid Offender, or commit fome Outrage at his

Execution, your Petitioner was appointed by the

Magiftrates of the faid City, to attend fuch Exe-

cution with a Detachment of the City-Guard,

with-
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with Orders to fee the fame duly executed, and

to fupprefs any Tumults that might happen upon

that Occafion : And, for that End, the faid De-

tachment had Powder and Ball delivered to them

out of the City Magazine.

That, while the faid Offender was hanging up-

on the Gibbet, the Populace began to infift to

have his Body cut down, before the Ma gift rates

had given Orders for that Purpofe ; and your

Petitioner having no Authority to confent thereto,

without fuch Orders, they threatned to cut him

down by Force ; and, in order fo to do, crouded

in great Numbers upon your Petitioner and his

Men, and did actually afiault them with large

Stones, by which feveral of the Detachment were

hurt and wounded.

That, during this Tumult, divers of the faid

Detachment, without Order from your Petitioner,

unfortunately fired upon the Multitude, whereby

feveral Perfonswere killed, and others wounded.

That your Petitioner, after having ufed his ut-

moft Endeavours to reftrain fuch Firing by_ his

Men, perceiving them to run into Confufion,

and to aft without Orders, drew them off as faft

as poffible to the Guard •, and committed fuch as

he fufpected to have fired, to the Cuftody of the

Guard, together with their Pieces, which he or-

dered to be kept for Inflection, in the fame Con-

dition as they were then in.

That your Petitioner being accufed of having

himfelf fired upon the Multitude on this Occa-

fion, and alfo of having ordered the Detachment

to fire, without any juft or reafonable Caufe, your

Petitioner was put upon his Trial in the High
Court of Jufticiary aforefaid, for the faid fup-

pofed Offence, and the Jury empannell'd to try

your Petitioner, by their Verdict, found, That it

was proved, thatyour Petitioner had fired a Gun, and

alfo had given Orders to the Detachment and Guard

under his Command, to fire upon the Multitude fo

affembled ; from which firings either of your Peti-

tioner, or of the Detachment of Guard under his

Command, by his Order, thefeveral Perfonsfpecified

in the Indictment againft him, were refpeclively killed

and wounded. And alfo found it proved, That the

Mob affembled at the Execution aforefaid, did invade

and attack your Petitioner, and the Detachment of

Guard under his Command, with Stones, of a con-

fiderable Bignefs, whereby feveral of the Men of the

Guard were bruifed and wounded.

Upon which Verdict returned by the Jury, the

Court decerned and adjudged your Petitioner to

be hanged upon a Gibbet, upon the Eighth Day
of September next.

That tho' your Petitioner is fenfible of that

Deference and Refpect that's due to the Verdict

of a Britifh Jury, yet he humbly begs leave to re-

prefent to your moft excellent Majefty, the fol-

lowing Circumflances as they appeared upon his

Trial ; to wit, That the Evidence againft your
Petitioner, as to his having fired, or given Or-
ders to fire, was very contradictory and incon-

fiftent ; for tho' fome of the Witneffes depofed,

that your Petitioner fired the firft Shot, yet they

differed extremely as to your Petitioner's Situa-

tion, at the time he is alledged to have fo fired,

as well as in other Circumftances ; fome placing

him at one Corner, and others at a quite oppo-
fite Corner of the Scaffold : Some alledging, that

none of the Soldiers were then near your Peti-

tioner, and that no othe r Shots were fired at that
time •, while others defcribe your Petitioner as

encompaffed with Soldiers, and fay, that feveral

Shots were fired inftantly upon your Petitioner's

firing fuch firft Shot •, and fome agree, that the
firft Shot was not fired by your Petitioner, but
by a Centinel of the Guard, who was clofe by
your Petitioner.

Whereas, a great many Perfons, of undoubted
Credit and Veracity, produced on the Part of your
Petitioner, exprefsiy fwore, That, during the
whole time of the Firing, (which continued about
four or five Minutes) they took exact Notice of
your Petitioner's Behaviour and Conduct, and
could not obferve that he fired at all j but that,

upon the Mob's prefllng feverely upon your Peti-
tioner and his Men, and pelting them with large
Stones, your Petitioner called aloud to keep off",

otherwife he would fire •, and that upon your Pe-
tioner's pointing his Piece, in order to intimidate

the Mob, a Centinel of the Guard, (unknown to
the Witneffes) advanced from behind your Peti-

tioner, and fired the firft Shot, upon which one
of the Multitude fell to the Ground : From which
Example, they fuppofed, feveral others fired ; by
means whereof, the feveral Perfons in the Indict-

ment mentioned, were either killed or wounded.
And as a farther Circumftance, to fhew that your

Petitioner did not fire, it was proved, that upon
his Return from the Execution, your Petitioner

went directly of his own Accord to theMagiftrates,

who examined his Piece, and found the fame load-

ed, and in fuch Condition, that they agreed and
were fatisfied, it had not been fired ; and the Ser-

jeant of the Detachment attefted, that your Peti-

tioner having delivered his Piece to the Deponent
to keep, while your Petitioner attended the Devo-
tions at the Execution, the Deponent reftored the

fame again to your Petitioner, juft before your
Petitioner defcended from the Scaffold, which is

a ftrong Circumftance to fhew that your Petitioner

muft have fired his own Piece, if he had fired

at all.

Your Petitioner alfo begs leave humbly to ob-
ferve, that when a Band of armed Men are toge-

ther, and fome of them fire, it is very difficult,

efpecially for thofe at a Diftance, to difcriminate

the Perfons that actually fired ; and your Peti-

tioner is in Charity led to believe, that the Cir-

cumftance of your Petitioner's levelling his Piece,

and threatning to fire, attended with that of the

Centinel's having fired juft behind your Petitioner,

may have induced fome unwary Perfons, in the

heat of popular Fury and Refentment, to be too

pofitive in the Affertion of Facts, in their nature

dubious and uncertain.

And as to your Petitioner's having given Or-
ders to the Men to fire, though two or three Per-

fons gave Evidence againft your Petitioner as to

that Fact, yet neither did they agree touching

the Place where your Petitioner was flanding,

nor in the Form of Words pretended to be ufed

by your Petitioner in the giving thereof. Whereas
it was depofed by a great Number, particularly

of the Soldiers, who were clofe by year Peti-

tioner during the whole Time of the Fray, that

they could not obferve that your Petitioner gave
any fuch Orders ; but on the contrary, that he
called aloud to the Men, Don'7 fire, and that he
pufh'd back the Man that fired the firft Shot into

his
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his Rank, (which fhews that your Petitioner did
not approve thereof;) that he drew off the Men
as faft as he could ; and that being purfued and
pelted by the Populace, divers in the Rear turned

about and fired, when your Petitioner was at fuch

Diftance, that he could not poffibly be privy or

confenting thereto.

It was likewife obferved at the Trial, and not

contradicted, That upon many former Occafions of
Tumults, when your Petitioner with the Guard
hath been ordered to quell the fame, your Peti-

tioner had bore great Infults from the Populace,

even to the Danger of his Life, without firing,

or ordering his Men to fire, and that in Cafes

where he would have been well juftified by the

Law in doing either.

So that upon the whole, as your Petitioner hath

the inward Satisfaction of being confcious to him-
felf of his Innocence of the Facts charged againft

him, fo he humbly apprehends, that the Evi-

dence adduced to prove the fame, when com-
pared with your Petitioner's Defence, will not ap-

pear to be certain or conclufive.

But in cafe your Petitioner had been guilty ei-

ther of firing, or ordering his Men to fire, upon
the Occafion aforefaid, your Petitioner moft hum-
bly intreats your Majefty to confider, that your
Petitioner was in the Exercife of a Truft dele-

gated to him by the lawful civil Authority ; that

he and his Detachment were firft unlawfully af-

faulted and invaded by the Populace, and divers

of his Men bruifed and hurt ; and if, in the Cafe

of fuch an Infult upon the Laws, your Petitioner

had proceeded to repel Force by Force, your
Petitioner humbly begs leave to obferve, That
tho' he fhould look back with the utmoft Sorrow
upon fo fatal an Event, yet he humbly hopes,

that the Provocation and Aggreffion aforefaid,

would be confidered by your moft excellent Ma-
jefty, in your profound Wifdom, as a great Ex-
tenuation of an Offence, which could not be fup-

pofed to be attended with any prepenfe Malice
of your Petitioner, againft Perfons of whom he
had no Knowledge ; and that your Petitioner

would be deemed a proper Object of the Royal
Clemency.

Your Petitioner therefore moft humbly prays your

moft excellent Majefty, to take your Petitioner's

unfortunate Cafe into your Royal Conjideration ;

and to extend that Mercy and Compaffion to your

Petitioner, by which your Majefty, adorned

with all Excellent and Princely Qualities, is

fo remarkably diftinguifhed ; and that your

Majefty will be gracioufly fleafed to ijfue your

Royal Warrant for your Petitioner's Pardon.

And your Petioner, whofe Duty hath hitherto

rendered him, on all Occafions, moft zealoufty

attached to his Majefty, and our happy Confti-

tution, will, from the additional Bond of the

tnoft poiverful Gratitude, devote that Life to

the Service of His moft excellent Majefty, and
His Illuftrious Houfe, which he fhall enjoy as

the Fruit of Your Majefty's Clemency and

Grace.

Her Majefty was pleafed fo far to comply with
this Petition, as to grant a Reprieve, which was
fignified as follows.
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Curia Jujiiciarice, S. D. N. Regis, tenia in
Novo Sejionis Domo Burgi de Edinburgo,
Tertio Die Menfis Septembris, Millfimofep-
tingentefimo trigejimofexto, per Honorabiles
Viros, Andream Fletcher de Milton, Jufti-
ciarium Clericum, Dominos Jacobum
Mackenzie ^Royftoun, Gualterum P. in-

gle d?Newhall, Commifjionarios Jufticiarii,
dittos S. D. N. Regis.

Curia legittime? ajjirmata,

TH E faid Day the Lord Juftice Clerk de-
livered a Letter from his Grace the Duke

of Newcaftle, one of His Majefty's Principal
Secretaries of State, whereof the Tenor fol-
lows.

Whitehall, Auguft 26, 1736".

My Lords, Application having been made to
Her Majefty in the Behalfe of John Porteous, late

Captain Lieutenant of the City Guard of Edin-
burgh, a Prifoner under Sentence of Death in the
Goal of that City ; I am commanded to fignify

to your Lordfhips Her Majefty's Pleafure, That
the Execution of the Sentence pronounced againft
the faid John Porteous, be refpited for fix Weeks
from the Time appointed for his Execution. I

am my Lords, Your Lorfhips moft Obedient
Humble Servant. Sic fubfcribitur.

Holies Newcaftle,

Directed on the Back thus,

To the Right Hon. the Lord Juftice General, Juftice

Clerk, and other Lords of the Jufticiary at Edin-
burgh.

THereafter, the faid Lords, gave their War-
rand to the Magiftrats of Edinburgh, for

flopping the faid Execution, whereof the Tenor
follows. By the Right Honourable the Lord
Juftice Clerk, the Lords CommifTioners of Jufti-

ciary : Whereas Her Majefty Guardian of the

Kingdome, has been gracioufly pleafed by a
Letter figned by his Grace the Duke of New-
caftle, one of His Majefties principal Secretaries

of State, to fignifie Her Pleafure to us, That the

Sentence of Death pronounced againft John Por-

teous, late Captain Lieutennant of the City Guard
of Edinburgh, prefent Prifoner in the Tolbooth of
Edinburgh, which was to have been execute upon,

him, upon the eight Day of September Inftant,

be refpited for fix Weeks from the Time ap-

pointed for hisExecution. These Therefore,
In Obedience to Her Majefties Commands, dif-

charge and prohibite the Magiftrats of Edinburgh^

and all other Officers of the Law, from putting

the forfaid Sentence of Death in Execution, upon
the faid John Porteous, till the Twentieth of

Oclober next to come ; on which Day, the faid

Magiftrats of Edinburgh, are hereby required

and ordained to put the former Sentence of

Death in Execution, upon the faid John Porteous

in
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in all Points, as they will be anfwerable. Given
at Edinburgh, the third Day of September, 1736

Years. Sic fubfcribitur.

And. Fletcher.

Ja. Mackenzie.

fVa. Pringle.

Extracted Furth of the Books of Adjournal,

upon this, and the preceeding One hundred

and twenty-four Pages. By me John Da-

vidfon, Clerk to the Court of Judiciary.

Jo. David/on, Clerk.

But the Populace being greatly difpleafed with

this Favour ftiewn to Captain Porteous, againft

whom they were mightily incenfed, audacioufly

took upon them to execute the Sentence them-

felves. Accordingly on I'uefday, September the

7th, about Ten o'Clock at Night, (being the

Night preceeding the Day, which had been ap-

pointed by the Court for his Execution,) fome

Men by Surprize, entered the City, feized all

the Fire-arms, Battle-axes, and the Drums be-

longing to the City Guard. The Mob in a few

Minutes lock'd and fecur'd all the City Gates,

and with Drums beat an Alarm, then attempted

to force open with Hammers and other Inftru-

ments the Prifon Door-, but thefe failing, they

fet fire to it, and burnt it. When they entered

the Prifon, they called upon the Under-Keeper

who was within, and made him open the double

Locks of the Apartment where Captain Porteous

was; it had alfo a Bolt within, but was not

bolted, fo they had ready Accefs. He beg'd

they would fpare him till next Afternoon •, but

they refus'd hisRequeft, and immediately hurried

him away, which was about Eleven o'Clock.

"When brought out of Prifon, he was heard to cry.

They then marched out with lighted Torches

before them : In their Way to the Grafs-market,

paffing by a Barber's Sign-poft, fome called out

to hang him up there ; but it was refolved to

hang him where the Murder was committed •, fo

they proceeded to the Place that the Gallows ufed

to be fixed for Execution, wherq he was about a

Quarter of an Hour, till they opened a Shop and
brought out a Rope, one End of which they
threw over a Sign-poft, about 20 Foot high, be-
longing to a Dyer in the High-ftreet, near the
ordinary Place of Execution. He defired fome
Time to prepare for Death ; but they anfwered
They would allow him no more than thofe who
were fhot. They then pulled him up in the
Drefs in which they found him, viz. a Ni»ht-
Gown and Cap. He having his Hands loofed,
fixed them 'twixt his Neck and the Rope, where-
upon one with a Battle-ax ftruck towards his
Hands. They then let him down, and having
on two Shirts, they wrap'd one of them about
his Face, and tied his Arms with his Night-
Gown ; then pulled him up again, where he
hung next Morning till Day-light. When he
was cut down, and carried to the Grey-Friers
Church, upon infpecling his Body, it appeared
his Left Shoulder was wounded, his Back difco-
loured, and his Neck broke.

It was obferv'd, that this Mob was under a
ftricTter Concert and better conducted than ufual

;

for as marching along to the Execution, Porteous
obferving a Gentleman of his Acquaintance, he
gave him a Purfe of 23 Guineas, which he de-
fir'd might be delivered to his Brother. They left

the Prifon Doors open, and Liberty to the Prifo-

ners to make their Efcape ; and after the Execu-
tion was over, they left the Arms and Drums on
the Place of Execution, where they were found
the next Morning. During the Tumult, Parties
of armed Men, with Drums, patroled in the
different Streets, to prevent any Surprize from
the King's Forces, quarter'd in the Suburbs.
After the Execution was over, they went to the
Lord Provoft's Houfe, and told him, they were
fatisfied, and fo difmifs'd, without offerin« any
other Violence.

There is one further Circumftance, That in

order to fupply the Want of Clergymen, they
order'd two of the graved of their Number to
exhort him, as he went to the Place of Exe-
cution.

CXLVII.



CXCVII. The Trials of Samuel Goodere, Efq-, Matthew
Mahony, and Charles White, for the Murder of Sir John
Dineley Goodere, E. (Brother to thefaid Samuel GoodereJ
on Board his Majeftfs Ship the Ruby : At the Sejfons of
Peace, Oyer and Terminer, and General Goal-Delivery,

held in and for the City of BRISTOL, and County of the

fame City, in the Guild-hall of the faid City ; before the

Right Worjhipful Henry Combe, Efq-, Mayor of thefaid
City, Michael Fofter, Efq; Serjeant at Law, Recorder

^

and others his Majeftfs fuftices of Goal-Delivery, Begun
on Tuefday, the 1

7

th

of March 1 740. andcontinued by Ad*
journment to Thurfday, the 26 th

of the fame Month, 174L
Publijhed with the Approbation ofMr. RECORDER.
p^CN Wednefday, the 18th of March, 1740,

v| a Bill of Indictment was found by the

Am- Grand Inqueft for the City of Briftol,

W$$mQ&> and County of the fame City, again ft

Matthew Mahony and Samuel Goodere, for the

Murder of Sir John Dineley Gocdere ; when Dr.

Middleton (Mr. Goodere's Phyfician) acquainted

the Court, That, in his Opinion, Mr. Goodere

was, through bodily Indifpofition, unable to un-

dergo the Fatigue of his 1 rial. But being afk'd

by Mr. Vernon (of Counfel for the King) whe-

ther the Prifoner's Health would not permit him to

be brought into Court and plead to his Indict-

ment ; and the Doctor declaring his Opinion,

that he might be brought up, Mr. Recorder was

pleafed to order, that he fhould be brought up

the next Day, in order to plead to his Indict-

ment. Accordingly, on Thurfday the 19th, Mr.

Goodere and Matthew Mahony were brought to the

"Bar ; when the Court proceeded thus :

Clerk of the Arraigns. Matthew Mahony, hold

up thy Hand ; Samuel Goodere, hold up thy Handj;

(which they feverally did.) You ftand indicted

by the Names of Matthew Mahony, late of the

Parifh of St. Stephen in the City of Briflol, and

County of the fame City, Labourer •, and Sa-

muel Goodere, late of the lame Parifh, City and

County, Efq; for that you, not having the Fear

of God before your Eyes, but being moved and

feduced by the Inftigation of the Devil, on the

19th Day of January, in the 14th Year of the

Reign of our Sovereign Lord George the Second,

by the Grace of God, of Great Britain, France

and Ireland, King, Defender of the Faith, and

fo forth ; with Force and Arms, at the Parifh

aforefaid, in the City aforefaid, and County of

the fame City, in and upon one Sir John Dineley

Goodere, in the Peace of God, and of our faid

Sovereign Lord the King, then and there bdng,

felonioufly, voluntarily, and of your Malice afore-

thought, did make an AfTault ; and that you,

the aforefaid Matthew Mahony, a certain Cord,

Vol. VI.

of the Value of one Penny, about the Neck of
the faid Sir John Dineley Goodere then and there

felonioufly, voluntarily, and of thy Malice a-

forethought, did put and faften ; and that you
the aforefaid Matthew Mahony, with the Cord
aforefaid, (by you, the aforefaid Matthew Ma-
hony, fo about the Neck of the aforefaid Sir John
Dineley Goodere put and fattened) then and there

him the aforefaid Sir John Dineley Goodere felo-

nioufly, voluntarily, and of your Malice afore-

thought, did choak and ftrangle •, of which faid

Choaking and Strangling of him the aforefaid

Sir John Dineley Goodere, by you the aforefaid

Matthew Mahony in manner and form aforefaid

done and perpetrated, he the aforefaid Sir John
Dineley Goodere then and there inftantly died

:

And that you, the aforefaid Samuel Goodere, then

and there felonioufly, voluntarily, and of thy

Malice aforethought, was prefect, aiding, a-

betting, comforting, and maintaining the afore-

faid Matthew Mahony in manner and form a-

•forHaid, felonioufly, voluntarily, and of his

Malice aforethought the aforefaid Sir John Dim-
ley Goodere to kill and murder ; and fo you the

faid Matthew Mahony, and Samuel Goodere, in

manner and form aforefaid^ the aforefaid Sir John
Dinely Goodere then and there, felonioufly, volun-

tarily, and of your Malice aforethought did kill

and murder, againft the Peace of our faid Sove*

reign Lord the King, his Crown and Dignity.

Clerk of the Arraigns. How fayeft thou, Mat-
thew Mahony, art thou guilty of the Felony and

Murder whereof thou ftandeft indicted, or not

guilty ?

Mahony. Not guilty.

CI. of Arr. Culprit, how wilt thou be tried ?

Mahony. By God and my Country.

CI. of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance,

CI. of Arr. How fayeft thou* Samuel Goodere,

art thou guilty of the Felony and Murder where-

of thou ftandeft indicted, or not guilty ?

Samuel Goodere. Not guilty.

7 R CL
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Cl. of Arr. Culprit, how wilt thou be tried ?

Samuel Goodere. By God and my Country.

Cl. of Arr. God fend thee a good Deliverance.

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Recorder, I attend as Coun-

fel for the King on this melancholy Occafion,and

it is with nofmallRegret and Concern I at any time

aft in this Station againft my Fellow-Creatures,

when under Circumftances like thofe of the Pri-

foners at the Bar ; and the rather, as knowing it

almoft impoflible fo to a£t, in a Bufinefs of this

nature, as not to be thought on the one fide to

have done too much, and on the other too little :

However, Sir, I fha-11, in the Courfe of this

Profecution, endeavour to obferve that Medio-

crity which is ever infeparable from humane

Minds ; and if I can be fo fortunate as to con-

duel: myfelf to the Satisfaction of you, Mr. Re-

corder, and the Court, I fhall readily give up

the reft, and content myfelf with the Thoughts

of having aimed at a juft Difcharge of my Duty.

Sir, the Prifoners, Mr. Goodere and Mahony

have thought proper to plead in chief to their

Indidtment, and put themfelves upon their Trial

in the ordinary Courfe of Law ; and as far as may

bejudged from outward Appearnce, Mr. Goodere

feems able enough at prefent to take his Trial

on the Merits or Demerits of his Cafe : And if

fo, we for the King are ready, on our Parts, to

enter upon our Duty. On the other hand, if,

in the Opinion of that learned Gentleman [Dr.

Middleton] Mr. Goodere is not in a fit Condition

(through bodily Weaknefs or Indifpofition) to be

brought upon his Trial, God forbid we fhould

be for preffing it on with fuch Celerity, as to

prejudice him in making of his Defence. But

then, as we would not be for accelerating his

Trial, fo neither would we be for giving into any

affected Delay. I therefore hope, Sir, fuch a

Day will be fix'd for the coming on of this Bufi-

nefs, as that the Sea-faring part of our Witneffes,

whom at prefent publick Juftice calls for abroad

as well as at home, may be difpatched at due

time for the other neceffary Service of their King

and Country.

Mr. Recorder. I think we ought to proceed to

the Trial immediately, unlefs Caufe be fhewn

to the contrary.

Mr. Frederick, Counfel for Mr. Goodere. I ap-

peal, Sir, to the Do&or, whether Mr. Goodere's

Cafe and Circumftances will at prefent admit of it.

Mr. Recorder. Let Dr. Middleton be fworn.

Dr. Middleton fworn.

Mr. Vernon. Dr. Middleton, I think, Sir, you

have attended Mr. Goodere (the Prifoner at the

Bar) during the Courfe of his Illnefs, will you

pleafe therefore to give the Court an Account of

his prefent State of Health ?

Dr. Middleton. Mr. Goodere has been my Pa-

tient for fome time in a malignant Fever, which

left him laft Sunday Evening, and fince that time

he has been growing better, and on the mending
hand ; in his Fever his Head was very much dif-

ordered (as at prefent happens to be the Cafe of

many that are fuzed with this Epidemical Fever,

the Head being generally much affected in molt

of them) I think he will not be able to bear the

Fatigue of his Trial at prefent. If he is put up-

on hisTrial, it will bean hardfhip.

h,r. Recorder. If the Cafe be fo, that his

Head is difordered, whereby he is render'd lefs ca-

gtohle ot making his Defence, I think it would

be a Piece of Inhumanity not to put off his Tri-
al. What if we adjourn it to this Day feven-

night

?

Mr. Vernon. I am heartily glad to find Mr.
Goodere is on the mending hand, and hope he
will continue to mend ; his Counfel feems to
think he may now come upon his Trial

; yet,

for the honour of Dr. Middleton, I would not
prefs it on at this Juncture.

Mr. Recorder. What doth Mr. Goodere himfelf
fay to it ?

Samuel Goodere. I hope in eight or nine Days
to be better, or dead.

Mr. Recorder. I have propofed this Day feven-
Night.

Samuel Goodere. Whatever you pleafe I fubmit
to.

Mr. Vernon. Dr. Middleton, Sir, as you are

known to be a Gentleman of great Honour and
Abilities, we may fafely depend upon your Ac-
count ; therefore I fhould be glad to know how
foon (humanly fpeaking) Mr. Goodere's bodily

Health may admit of his taking his Trial. I

know, Sir, you are a Gentleman that has a great

Regard and Care for your Patients.

Dr. Middleton. I fhould rather choofe to ex-

ceed in Care than fall fhort of it.

Mr. Vernon. But 'tis poffible to have an over-

care : Therefore, Sir, I would afk you, whe-
ther, upon your Oath, you do not think he
will be able, in point of Health, to take his

Trial in three or four Days ?

Dr. Middleton. The Captain may put himfelf

on his Trial now, if he pleafes ; but I don't

think he's fit for it, upon my Oath. If it was
left to me, I fhould defire the whole Time the

Recorder has mentioned.

Mr. Frederick. That is to this Day feven-night,

we fhall not be able to attend the Court fooner.

WT
e hope the Trial will be put off till this Day

feven-night ?

Mr. Recorder. Let it be fo.

Cl. of Arr. Matthew Mahony, you {land charg-

ed likewile upon the Coroner's Inqueft for the

fame Felony and Murder, art thou guilty, or

not guilty ?

Matthew Mahony. Not guilty.

Cl. of Arr. Samuel Goodere, you likewife (land

charged upon the Coroner's Inqueft for the fame

Felony and Murder; art thou guilty, or not

guilty ?

Samuel Goodere. Not guilty.

Mr. Recorder. The Prifoners may withdraw.

On Thurfdcy, the 26th of March 1741, the

Court metaccording to Adjournment; and, being

open'd, the Prifoners Matthew Mahony and Sa-

muel Goodere, were brought again to the Bar

;

and the Court proceeded as follows

:

Mr, Shepherd, Counfel \ Mr. Recorder, the

for the Prifoner Goodere. J Prifoner Goodere has

in a great degree loft his Hearing, therefore de-

fires that. he may be brought nearer the Witnef-

fes, that he may be able to hear what they fay.

Mr. Recorder. Let him come nearer. Mahony,

are you willing to come forward to the Bar ?

Mahony. Yes, my Lord, I am hard of hearing.

Mr. Shephard. He defires the fame Indulgence.

Mr. Recorder. If he defires it, let him come

forward too.

Mr.
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Mr. Vernon. Mr. Recorder, by this Indul-

gence being moved for on the behalf of Mahony
as well as Mr. Goodere, I prefumc thefe Gentle-

men attend as Counfel for them both, if Matter

of Law mould arife.

Mr. Frederick. No, Sir, I do not.

Mr. Shepherd. No, Sir, I do not.

CI. of Arr. Cryer, make a Proclamation for

Silence.

Cryer. Oyez, Oyez, Oyez ; The King's

Majefty's Juftices ftrictly charge and command
all Manner of Perfons to keep filence, upon Pain

of Imprifonment.

CI. of Arr. You Matthew Mahony and Samuel

Gcodere, now Prifoners at the Bar, thefe Men
which you mail hear called, and will perfonally

appear, are to pafs between our Sovereign Lord
the King and you, upon Trial of your feveral

Lives and Deaths ; it you, or either of you,

will challenge them, or any of them, you muft

fpeak unto them as they come to the Book to be

fworn, before they be fworn. Cryer, make an

Oyez, and call the petty Jury.

Cryer. Oyez ; You good Men that are im-

pannelled to try between our Sovereign Lord the

King and the Prifoners at the Bar, anfwer to your

Names, and fave you Fines.

Mr. Recorder. Prifoners, you have each of you

the Liberty of challenging twenty of the Jurors,

without mewing Caufe : But you muft now de-

clare whether you will challenge feverally or not;

for if you do not join in your Challenges, we
muft try you feverally.

Mahony. I leave it to the Captain to challenge.

CI. of Arr. Chrifiopher Bromadge.

Cryer. He appears.

CI. of Arr. Mr. Bromadge, to the Book.

Cryer. Chrifiopher Bromadge, look upon the

Prifoners •, you Prifoners, look upon the Juror ;

you ftiall well and truly try, and true Deliverance

make, between our Sovereign Lord the King
and the Prifoners at the Bar, whom you fhall

have in Charge, and a true Verdict give, accord-

ing to your Evidence : So helpyou GOD.
And the fame Oath was adminiftred to the

reft, (which were fworn) and their Names are as

follow

:

Chrifiopher Bromadge, ----- fworn.

Ifaac Brodribb, -------- fworn.

John Merewether, ------ -fworn.

Chrifiopher Lilly, ------- fworn.

"James Wimble, -------- fworn.

Jofeph Gregory, fworn.

John Scott, ---------- fworn

.

Ifaac Bannifier, fworn.

William England, C^t. Goodere, I challenge him.

Francis Billow, Capt. Goodere, I challenge him.

William Jones, -------- fworn.

Samuel Page, fworn.

John Berks, fworn.

William Dyer, - fworn.

Clerk cf Arr. Cryer, count thefe.

Chrifiopher Bromadge, John Scott,

Ifaac Brodribb, Ifaac Bannifier,

John Merewelher, William Jones,

Chrifiopher Lilly, Samuel Page,

James Wimble, John Perks,

Jofeph Gregory, William Dyer.

Vol. VI.
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Cryer. Twelve good Men, and true. Gentle-

men, are ye all fworn ?

CI. of Arr. Cryer, make Proclamation.
Cryer. Oyez, Oyez, Oyez ; If any one can

inform the King's Majefty's Juftices, the King's
Serjeants, the Kirg's Attorney or Advocate, be-
fore this Inqueft be taken between our Sovereign
Lord the King and the Prifoners at the Bar, of
any Treafon, Murder, Felony, or other Mif-
demeanour, committed or done by the Prifoners
at the Bar, or either of them, come forth, and
you fhall be heard, for the Prifoners ftand at the
Bar upon their Deliverance ; and all Perfons bound
by Recognizance to profecute them, or either of
them, come forth, and profecute, or you will
forfeit your Recognizances.

CI. of Arr. Matthew Mahony, hold up thv
Hand ; Samuel Goodere, hold up thy Hand. Gen-
tlemen of the Jury, look upon the Prifoners, and
hearken to their Charge ; they ftand indicted by
the Names of Matthew Mahony, late of the Pa-
rifh of St. Stephen in the City of Brifiol, and
County of the fame City, Labourer ; and Samuel
Goodere, late of the fame Parifh, City and Coun-
ty, Efq-, for that they not having, (as in the In-
dictment before fet forth.) Upon this Indict-

ment they have been lately arraigned, and there-

upon have feverally pleaded not guilty ; and for

their Trials have put themfelves upon God and
the Country, which Country you are: Your
Charge is, to inquire whether they, or either of
them, be guilty of the Felony and Murder in

manner and form as they ftand indicted, or not
guilty. If you find them, or either of them,
guilty, you fhall inquire what Goods or Chattels,

Lands or Tenements they, or either of them had,

at the time of the Felony committed, or at any
time fince : If you find them, or either of them,
not guilty, you fhall inquire whether they, or

either of them fled for the fame : If you find

that they, or either of them did fly for the fame,

you fhall inquire of their, or either of their

Goods, and Chattels, as if you had found them
or either of them guilty : If you find them, or

either of them not guilty, and that they or either

of them did not not fly for the fame, fay fo, and

no more ; and hear your Evidence.

Mr. Vernon. May it pleafe you, Mr. Recorder,

and you Gentlemen that are fworn on this Jury,

I am Counfel for the King againft the Prifoners

at the Bar, who ftand indicted for the Murder of

Sir John Dineley Goodere ; they ftand alfo charged

on the Coroner's Inqueft with the fame Murder :

And tho' it is impoflible for human Nature not

to feel fome Emotions of Tendernefs at fo af-

fecting a Sight as now prefents itfelf at the Bar ;

yet, Gentlemen, fhould the Guilt of this black

and frightful Murder be fixed upon the Prifone|s

(as from my Inflections I fear it will) Pity muft

then give way to Horror and Aftonifhment ac

the Bafenefs and Barbarity of the Fact and Cir-

cumftances ; and our Sorrow ought to be, that

through the Lenity of the Laws, the Unnatural

Author and Contriver of fo fhocking a piece of

Cruelty, and this his Brutal Accomplice in the

Ruffianly Execution of it, fhould be to (hare the

common Fate of Ordinary Malefaclors. Gen-

tlemen, you perceive it is laid in the Indictment

that the Prifoner Mahony ftrangled the Deceafed,

and that the Prifoner Goodere was prefent, aiding

and abetting him in that barbarous Action, and fo

7 R 2 in-
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involved in the fame Guilt* and equally a Prin- upon Sir John to fee and be reconciled to his

cipal in the Murder: But, Gentlemen, Mr. Re- Brother. And Sir John having appointed Tuef-

corder* I believe, will tell you, that the only day the 13th of January laft in the Morning for

Matter for your Inquiry will be, Whether the calling on Mr. Smith at his Houfe in Colledge-

Prifoners were concurring in the Murder of the green, Mr. Smith foon made his Brother, Mr.

Deceafed* and prefent at the Strangling of him ; Goodere, acquainted therewith ; and no fooner

for if fo, whether Mahony, Mr. Goodere, or an- was he informed of it, but he begun to take his

other in fact ftrangled him ; it will in confidera- Meafures for the executing his wicked Scheme

tion of Law be the fame thing, and the Act of againft his Brother's Life. For on Monday (the

Strangling will be as much imputable to each of Day before Sir John was to be at Mr. Smith's)

them, as if they had both afiifted in putting the Mr. Goodere, with the other Prifoner Mahony,

Cord about the Neck of the Deceafed, and been his (his infeparable Agent and Companion in every

actual Executioners ; nor will it be material whe- Stage of this fatal Bufinefs) went together to the

ther they ftrangled him with a Rope, a Hand- White Hart, an Ale-houfe near the foot of the

kerchief, or their Hands, fo the kind of Death Colledge-green, in the View of, and almoft oppo-

be proved. And, Gentlemen, as to the Crime fite to Mr. Smith's, in order to fee if it was a fit

ftt forth in the Indictment, I have Matter; in my Place for their defperate Purpofe : and finding it

Brief, for a very heavy Charge againft both the to be fo, Mr. Goodere commended the Pleafant-

Prifoners, but diftinguifhed againft the Prifoner nefs of the Clofet over the Porch, and faid he

Mr. Goodere with this black Characteriftick, that would come and breakfaft there the next Day.

he was Brother of the Deceafed, and, as fuch, And accordingly the next Morning (which was

bound by the Ties of Blood and Nature, to have Tuefday the 13th) Mr. Goodere, with his Friend

preferved his Perfon from Violence •, and yet, Mahony, and a Gang of Fellows belonging to the

Gentlemen, I am afraid it will appear, that his Privateer called the Vernon, whom they had hired

Brother died by his Procurement, and in his Pre- to affift them in the way-laying and feizing of

fence, which is the fame, in effect, as if he had Sir John, (but whom, one would have thought,

periihed by his Hand. But as it would ill be- the Name of that gallant Admiral fhould have

come me to aggravate in a Cafe of this nature, I infpired with nobler Sentiments) came to the

fhall only ftate to you the moft material Paffages White Hart, where having ordered they fhould

relating to the Murder of that unfortunate Gen- have what they would call for, he went himfelf

tleman, and leave the reft to come from the to breakfaft in the Clofet over the Porch, from

Mouths of the Witneffes themfelves. And, Gen- whence he had a full View of Mr. Smith's Houfe,

tlemen, (as I am inftructed) there had been a whilft the others polled themfelves below on the

long and very unhapy Difference between the de- Look-cut for Sir John ; and it was not long be-

cealed Sir John and his Brother the Prifoner, fore he came on horfeback to Mr. Smith's : But

owing to various Occafions •, and amongft others, his Stay was very fhort, being obliged to go to

to Sir John's having cut off the Entail of a large Bath ; however, he promifed Mr. Smith to be in

Eftate in Worcestershire, to which Mr. Goodere Briftol again by the Sunday following. He was

(as the next Remainder-man) would have other- feen from the White Hart by Mr. Goodere and his

•wife flood intituled, in default of Iffue of Sir Spies upon the Watch •, but having a Servant,

John. Gentlemen, this Mifunderftanding by de- and riding with Piftols, they did not think pro-

grees grew to an inveterate Grudge and Hatred per to attempt the feizing of him then ; bur, as

on the part of Mr. Goodere ; which was fo rooted he rode down the Flill by St. Auguftine's Back,

in his Heart, that it at length worked him into Mr. Goodere called out to Mahony in thefe Words,
a formed Defign of deftroying his Brother, and Look at him well, Mahony, and watch him, but

making away with him at all hazards and events, don't touch him now. And in fact, Gentlemen,

The great Difficulty was, how to get Sir John the Prifoners and their Companions followed and

into his Power, for he generally travelled armed ; watched Sir John a confiderable way. Afterwards

nor was it eafy to get together a Sett of Fellows, Mr. Smith acquainted the Prifoner Mr. Goodere*

fo bafe and defperate, as to join with him in the that his Brother was to be with him on the Sunday

carrying off his Brother. But, unfortunately for following % and little thinking that an Interview

the Deceafed, the Prifoner, Mr. Goodere, having between Brothers could be of a fatal Tendency,

been lately honoured by his Majcfty with the advifed him to be in the way, that he might bring

Command of the Ruby Man of War, happened, them together : Which Advice the Prifoner ob-

in January laft, to lie ftationed in King-road, (as ferved with but too great Punctuality, taking care,

much within the County of Briftol, as the Guild- in the Interim, to lay fuch a Train, as that it

hall where this Court is fitting.) Sir John (who ihould be hardly poflible for his Brother to efcap6

<#as advanced in years, and very ailing) had, it falling into his Hands. He ordered the Man of

feems, been advifed to come to Bath for the Re- War's Barge to be fent up for him on the Sunday,

covcry of his Health: And having cccafion to accordingly it came tip about 2 or 3 that After-

tranfact Affairs of Confequence at Briftol with noon-, of which Mr. Goodere being informed by
yiv.Jarrit Smith, Mr. Goodere took this Oppor- one Williams, a Midfhipman, whom he had or-

tunity of laying a Snare for his Brother's Life, as dered up in it, he enquired of Williams, if he

you will find by the Event. He applies to Mr. knew the River,, and Brick-kilns going down it?

Smith, and taking notice to him of the Mifunder- And Williams telling him he did, Mr. Goodere

Handing between himfelf and his Brother, pre- ordered him to get all the Boat's Crew together,

tends a fincere Defire of Reconciliation, and de- and be fure to place the Barge at the Brick-kilns,

fires Mr. Smith, if poflible, to make up the and leave but two or three Hands to look after

Breach between them •, and Mr. Smith promifed the Barge, and bring all the reft of the Men to

to do his utmoft towards eife&ing a Reconcilia- the White Hart Ale-houfe, and wait for him
tion, and was as good as his Word ; for, by his there, for he had a Certain Perfon coming on
Intereft and .Perfuufions, he at length prevailed board, Accordingly, Gentlemen, Williams and

3 moft
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moft of the Barge-men came to the Place of Ren-

dezvous at the White Hart, where Mahony, with

feveral of the Privateer's Men (I believe, all, or

moft of the fame Gang that had been there on

the Watch the Tuefday before) were alio met by

Mr. Goodere's Orders to way-lay and feize Sir

John, and ftood at the Window on the Look-

out, in order to watch his coming out of Mr.

Smith's. Thus, the Ambufcade being laid, the

Prifoner Mr. Goodere goes to Mr. Smiths about

three in the Afternoon, (the Hour at which Sir

John had appointed to be there •,) he went direftly

towards his Brother Sir John, and kiffed him,

(what kind of Kifs it was, will beffc appear by

the Sequel) and obferved to him with an outward

Shew of Satisfaction, that he looked in better

Health than he had formerly done. Mr. Smith

was fo good to drink Friendship and Reconcilia-

tion between the two Brothers : Mr. Goodere

pledged it in a Glafs of Wine, which he drank

to his Brother Sir John ; and Sir John (being

under a Regimen) offered to pledge him in Wa-
ter, little thinking his Brother defigned to end

their Differences, by putting an End to his Life.

But that, Gentlemen, you'll foon fee was the fole

End he had in view •, for Sir John in about half

an Hour taking his Leave, Mr. Goodere was

following him, Mr. Smith ftopt Mr. Goodere,

faying, / think, I have done great things for

vou. Says Mr. Goodere, By God this wont do ;

and immediately followed his Brother : And meet-

ing fome of the Sailors whom he had polled at

the White Hart, fays to them, Is he ready ? and

being anfwered, Tes, he bid them make hafte.

Mahony, and the other Fellows who were on the

Look-out at the White Hart, feeing Sir John go

down St. Auguftine's Back, immediately rulh'd

out, and (as they had been ordered by Mr.

Goodere) feiz'd Sir John as their Prifoner. Tuft

then Mr. Goodere himfelf was come up, and had

joined his Companions, and fhewed himfelf their

Ring-leader: For (according to my Inftruftions)

he gave them pofitive Orders to carry Sir John

on board the Barge, and they but too exaftly ob-

ferved the Word of Command. They hurried

on Sir John with the utmoft Violence and Precipi-

tation, forcing him along, and even ftrjking him

in the Prefence of his Brother, and (as the Ro-

mans ufed to do their Malefactors) dragged him

through the publick Way. The poor unfortu-

nate Creature made repeated Outcries of Murder,

that he was ruined and undone, for his Brother

was going to take away his Life. He made

what Refiftance he could, and called aloud for

Help, but all was to no purpofe. Several Per-

fons indeed followed them, and afked what was

the matter ? but they were anfwered by Mr.

Goodere and his AfTociates, that the Perfon they

were hailing along was a Murderer, had killed a

Man, and was going to be tried for his Life.

The moft of this Ruffianly Crew being armed

(it feems) with Bludgeons and Truncheons, obliged

the People who came about to keep off; holding

up their Sticks at them, and threatning to knock

them down. Gentlemen, when they had thus

forced Sir John towards the End of the Rope-

walk, Mr. Goodere (who all along bore them

Company, and animated them as they paffed

along) bid them make more Difpatch, and mend

their Pace. Accordingly they took upSir John,

and carried him by main Force a confiderable

way, then fet him down again, and pufhed and

hailed him along, till they had got him to the
Slip, (oppofite to the King's Head.) Sir John.
cried out, Save me, fave me, for they are going to
murder me. There the Barge came up, and the
Prifoner Mr. Goodere had his Brother forced on
board, and with Mahony and the reft went alfd
into the Barge. Sir John then called out, For
God's fake run to Mr. Smith, and tell him, lam
going to be murdered, or I am an undone Man.
And crying out that his Name was Dineley, Mr.
Goodere ftopt his Mouth with his Hand, to pre-
vent his telling his other Name : And though Sir

John was in an ill State of Health, yet his hard-
hearted Brother forcibly took his Cloak from off
his Back, and put it upon himfelf: And having
thus got him into his Power, he ordered the
Men to row off, telling his Brother, that now
he had got him into his Cuftody, he would take
care of him, and prevent his making away with
his Eftate. Bur, Gentlemen, in fact, fo little

did he think himfelf concerned in what Sir John
did with the Eftate, that he was of Opinion,
no Aft of Sir John's could affeft it longer than
his Life

; and that it muft neceffarily devolve to
him (as the next in Remainder) on his Brother's
dying without Iffue. And this, Gentlemen, he
declared to Mr. Smith but a few Days before.
And indeed his Brother at once faw what kind
of Prevention it was he meant ; / know, fays he
to Mr. Goodere, (foon after his being forced into
the Barge) you intend to murder me this Night,
and therefore you may as well do it now, as carry
me down. Poor Gentleman, his H.art mifgave
him, that the Defign of this bafe and daring
Outrage was to make the Ship his Prifon, one of
his Cabbins his Slaughter-houfe, and the Sea his

Grave, and therefore he made it his Choice to

be thrown overboard in the River (where his

Body might be found) rather than buried in the

Ocean. The Prifoner Goodere denied, indeed,

he had any fuch Defign, but yet could not re-

frain from the ufual Exhortation to dying Per-

fons, that HE WOULD HAVE HIM MAKE
HIS PEACE WITH GOD. At the Redclifft

the Privateer's Men were fet on more ; and, I think,

about Seven in the Evening the Barge reached

the Ruby Man of War, then in King-road. Mr.
Goodere had, in their Paffage, talked of bleeding

and purging his Brother to bring him to his

Senfes, pretending he was a Madman ; for he

knew very well that very few of his own Men
would have amfted him in fuch an Enterprize,

had they not been under a Belief that his Brother

was really mad. And to keep up fuch a Notion,

as foon as he had got him on board the Ruby, he

hurry'd him down what, I think, they call the

Gangway, into the Purfer's Cabbin, making an

Apology, that he had brought a mad Fellow

there •, then ordered two Bolts to be clapt on the

Cabbin-door, for the making his Prifon more
lecure ; which was accordingly done. And now
having made his Brother a Prifoner, his next Step

was to deftroy him. He took Mahony with him
into his own Cabbin, and there the cruel Means
of murdering his Brother were concerted between

them. They agreed to ftranglehim; and engaged

one White (who is hereafter to ftand to the Juftice

of his Country) to aflift them in the Butchery.

I fhould have told you, Gentlemen, that it is

ufual in Ships of War to place a Centinel over

Perfons under Arreft ; and accordingly one was

placed by Mr. Goodere's Order with a drawn Cut-

las
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las in his Hand at the Door of the Cabbin where

Sir John was confin'd. This Centinel, about

twelve at Night, was relieved by ont Buchannan.

It was impoffible for the Prifoners to put their

wicked Defign in Execution whilft this huchannan

remained at the Cabbin Door ; fo, to remove

that Obftacle, Mr. Goodere, (after having been

in clofe Conference with Mahony and White)

comes down to the Purfer's Cabbin, takes the

Cutlas from Buchannan, and orders him on Deck,

pofting himfelf at the Door of the Purfer's Cab-

bin, with the drawn Cutlas in his Hand. I mall

open none of the Circumftances difclofed by Ma-

hony in his Confeflion, as being no Evidence

aeainft Mr. Goodere, but it will be made appear

to you in Proof, that Mahony and While came to

the Purfer's Cabbin whilft Mr. Goodere ftood

polled at the Door of it ; that they were let into

the Purfer's Cabbin by Mr. Goodere himfelf. Ma-

hony in particular was feen by one Macguinefs (who

kept watch in the Gun-Room) to go into the Pur-

ler's Cabbin, Mr. Goodere at the fame time {landing

Centinel at the Door of it, and waving his Cutlas

atM-Guinefs, to make him keep back. He did

fo ; but Mr. Goodere waved the Cutlas at him

a fecond time, and bid him keep back. Then,

Gentlemen, it was that Mr. Goodere and his two

Accomplices effected the cruel Murder of his un-

fortunate Brother. Mahony was heard to bid him

not ftir for his Life •, and then in conjunction with

White, whilft Mr. Goodere ftood watch for them at

the Cabbin Door (which Mr. Recorder will tell

you was the fame as being actually within it) fell

on this unhappy Gentleman, as he lay in the

Cabbin : And one of them having half throttled

him with his Hands, they put a Rope about his

Neck, and at length ftrangled him. Great were his

Agonies, and long and painful the Conflict be-

twixt Life and Death. He ftruggled violently,

and kicked againft the Cabbin, crying out feveral

times very loud, Murder ! muft 1 die ! help, for

God's fake ; fave my Life, here are twenty Guineas,

take it : For he well knew they were itrangiing

him by his Brother's Order, and therefore ottered

them a Bribe to fpare his Life, but the Ruffians

were relentlefs and inexorable. The Ship's Cooper

(one Jones) and his Wife lying in the adjoining

Cabbin, heard his dying Out-cries, and the Nolle

occafioned by his kicking •, his Cries too were

heard by others far beyond the Cabbin-Door.

Nature at length gave way, and he expired un-

der thefe Cruelties. Then Mahony called for a

Light, that they might all have the Evidence of

their Eye-fight that Sir John was actually dead ;

and (which is a fhocking Circumftance in the

Cafe) Mr. Goodere himfelf handed them in the

Candle on that Occafion. Buchannan perceiving

the Light difappear, was coming to him with

another •, but Mr. Goodere waved his Cutlas at

him to ftand off. Such, Gentlemen, was the fa-

tal Conclufion of this tragical Bufinefs. What
was feen by the Cooper and his Wife after the

Candle's being handed in, with regard to rifling

the Deceafed, I choofe Ihould come from their

own Mouths. The Murder being thus effected,

Mr. Goodere locked the Door, and withdrew to

his own Cabbin •, Mahony and While were, by

his Order, put aboard the Yawl, and fent to

Briflol. They did not fly the City, Gentlemen,

depending that their Fellow-Murderer would

fome-how fmother this Deed of Darknefs, and

take care of their Security for the fake of his

own : But Divine Providence ordered otherwife.

The honeft Cooper, though he durft not give the

Alarm whilft the Murder was committing, for

fear of fharing the fame Fate with Sir John, yet,

as foon as he could with Safety, made a Difcovery

of the whole that he had heard and feen. 'Twas
concluded Mr. Goodere had made away with his

Brother ; which too evidently appeared on the

Cooper's forcing open the Purfer's Cabbin-Door,
where Sir John lay murdered, and thereupon the

Cooper had the Refolution to feize the Murderer,
who remained on board (though his Captain.) He
pretended Innocence ; and when brought by War-
rant before Mr. Mayor and other of the City Ma-
giftrates, publickly declared he did not then know
that his Brother was murdered, and went fo

far as to deny his having had any Hand in

either the feizing, detaining, or murdering him.

But, Gentlemen, if my Inftructions don't mif-

lead me, we (hall fix the thing at leaft as

ftrongly upon Mr. Goodere as Mahony, and more
ftrongly upon them both than I am willing to

open it. We fhall therefore call our WitnelTes,

and, upon the whole of the Evidence on both

fides, appeal to your Judgments, and to your Con-
fciences, whether both the Prifoners, by the Parts

they bore in this horrid Action, have not forfeited

their Lives to the Juftice of their Country asAccom-
plices in Guilt, and Principals in the Murder of

the unfortunate Sir John Dineley Goodere.

Mr. Shephard. Mr. Recorder, I beg leave, be-

fore the WitnelTes are examined, to fay, that

there are a great many Circumftances in the Cafe

laid before this Court, and I don't know how
material it may be for the WitnelTes to withdraw,

and not be in the hearing of each other during

the time of Examination •, I fubmit it to you, as

it is ufually done in Cafes of this nature, whether

it ought not to be done in this Cafe, where it

appears from the Gentleman's own Opening,

there are Variety of Circumftances. I doubt not,

Sir, but that you will fee equal Juftice done be-

tween the King and Prifoner.

Mr. Recorder. It cannot be infilled on as a

Matter of Right that the WitnelTes be examined

apart •, but it is generally fo ordered, if it is de-

fired. I hope, Sir, you will obferve too, that

the Prifoner hath no Right to be heard by Coun-

fel, unlefs in Matters of Law. If any fuch

Matter arife, I fhall be ready to hear you.

Mr. Vernon. If Mr. Shephard moves this as a

Matter of Right, I would juft remind him of

what Lord Chief Juftice Treby fays in Peter Cook's

Trial, that it is not of Neceffity that the Wit-

nelTes Ihould be examined apart at the Inftance

of the Prifoner, though an Indulgence gene-

rally granted. Sir, the Crown, perhaps, has

a Right to fuch Examination, but not the

Prifoner. We have a great Number of Wit-

nelTes, all of whom attend here on the pub-

lick Service, (and fome of them Perfons of Fi-

gure ;) and it would, I doubt, be calling a fort

of Blemilh on their Credit to examine them
apart. Could that Gentleman lhew the leaft

Glimmering of Sulpicion as to the Fairnefs of

our WitnelTes, they ought in Juftice to withdraw ;

but as they are free from the leaft Imputation

in that refpect, I fee not why they Ihould be in-

commoded, and hope he will not contend for it.

Mr. Shephard. I own it is not of Neceffity

that the WitnelTes be examined apart in favour

of the Prifoners, nor do I intend to throw any

Imputation on the WitnelTes ; but by Mr. Ver-

non's Opening, fome of them appear to be Wit-
nelTes
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neffes who were concerned in taking away the

deceafed Gentleman to the Ship, and all thefe, I

fuppofe, are intended to be called as Witneffes.

I own it is a Matter of Indulgence, and I dare fay,

Sir, that you will indulge a Prifoner, in thefe

unfortunate Circumftances, the Benefit of makino-

the beft Defence he can.

Mr. Recorder. Let the Witneffes withdraw.
Officers, clear the Way.
Mr. Vernon. We hope, Sir, it is not intended

that all our Witneffes in general Ihould withdraw
without Distinction.

Mr. Jarrit Smith, (Solicitor for the Profecu-

tion.) We defire there may be a Room for our
Witneffes, where they fhalj be together, or I

may lofe half my Witneffes. I am myfelf a

Witnefs, Mr. Recorder, mull I withdraw ?

Mr. Recorder. No, you fhall not go out.

Who do you call firft, Mr. Vernon ?

Mr. Vernon. Oyer, call Thomas Chamberlayn
Efq; (Mr. Chamberlayn fworn.) I think, Sir,

you have been for fome time acquainted with Mr.
Goodere, the unhappy Gentleman at the Bar.

Mr. Chamberlayn. A late Acquaintance.

Mr. Vernon. Pray, Sir, will you give an Ac-
count to Mr. Recorder and the Jury, whether
Mr. Goodere, at any time, and when, defired your
Interpofition with Mr. Jarrit Smith to bring about
a Reconciliation between him and his Brother
Sir John Dineley Goodere ?

Mr. Chamberlayn. Yes, Sir, he did. The
Captain applied to me to go to Mr. Smith to

interpofe for him with Sir John ; and I did
apply.

Mr. Vernon. Pray, Sir, how long was it be-

fore this unhappy Affair happened ?

Mr. Chamberlayn. About three Weeks, I be-

lieve.

Mr. Vernon. And did Mr. Smith undertake
that good-natur'd Office ?

Mr. Chamberlayn. Mr. Smith faid, he fhould

be ready to do it, and promifed me to do all he
could in the Affair.

Mr. Vernon. When you applied to Mr. Smith,

was you alone, or was Mr. Goodere with you ?

Mr. Chamberlayn. I went firft alone ; afterwards

Capt. Goodere went with me to Mr. Smith's Houfe.
Mr. Vernon. What was the Occafion of your

going to Mr. Smith's ?

Mr. Chamberlayn. To intreat him to ufe his

good Officers to get a Reconciliation between Sir

John and the Captain.

Mr. Vernon. Be pleafed, Sir, to tell us what
paffed on that Occafion, and whether Mr. Goodere

acquainted Mr. Smith with the Nature of the

Mifunderftanding between him and his Brother.

Mr. Chamberlayn. Yes, Sir ; that they had
been both at Law a great while, and fpent a great

deal of Money, and therefore Mr. Goodere was
willing to have Mr. Ja,ritlymith to reconcile the

Matter between them, to prevent the Ruin of

the Family, and many more fuch Expreffions as

thefe.

(Mr. Jarrit Smith fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Smith, will you give an Ac-
count of what you know of this fatal Bufinefs.

Mr. Jarrit Smith. Some lew Weeks before

this Murder happened, Mr. Chamberlayn applied

to me, and told me, that Mr. Goodere (the Prifo-

ner at the Bar) defired thac I would ufe my ut-

moft Endeavour with Sir John Dineley Goodere
to be friends and reconciled with Mr. Goodere,

and that I would fuffer him to bring Mr. Gooder e

to my Houfe. I told him, I often heard Sir
John fay, that there had been warm Difputes be-
tween them, but would make ufe of all my En-
deavours to reconcile them, and that it was pity
they fhould live in hatred, as they were the only
two Brothers. Some time after Mr. Chamberlayn
brought Mr. Goodere to my Houfe, where they
ftaid about a Quarter of an Hour, when Mr.
Goodere gave me Thanks for the Promife I had
made to Mr. Chamberlayn, and he then defired

I would do all I could to promote a Reconcilia-
tion. I told him, I ihould be glad to be a happy
Inftrument of that fort ; and that the firft time
I fawSirJ^ I would fpeak to him on the
Affair, and endeavour to prevail on him to meet
Mr. Goodere. The Captain laid, if any Man in

England could do it, I could. I told him, I

hoped to fucceed. Mr. Chamberlayn and Mr.
Goodere went away. Some little time after they
were gone, I faw Sir John, and told him, that

Mr. Goodere had applied to me to do all I could
to reconcile them. Sir John feemed to fpeak
much againft it at firft, and thought it would be
to no Purpofe-, for that he had been a real Friend
to the Captain, who had ufed him very ill ; but
at laft he was pleafed to pafs a Compliment
on me, and faid, I can't refufe you any thing you
afk of me. He then mentioned feveral Things
the Captain had faid •, and in particular told me,
that at the Death of Sir Edward Goodere his Fa-
ther, Mr. Goodere the Prifoner had placed feveral

Perfons in the Houfe where Sir Edward lay dead,

in order to do him fome Mifchief, and he ap-

prehended to take away his Life.

Mr. Shephard, I muft fubmit it to the Court,

that what Sir John faid at that Time is not matter

of Evidence.

Mr. Recorder. It is not Evidence, but perhaps

it is introductory to fomething Mr. Smith has

further to fay ; if it be not, it fhould not have

been mentioned.

Mr. Jarrit Smith. An I that he had endea-

voured to fet afide a common Recovery, and

made ftrong Application to the Court of Com-
mon-Pleas for that Purpofe.

Mr. Shephard. Whether this be Evidence, I

infift upon it in point of Law that it is not, and

it may have an Effect, on the Jury.

Mr. Recorder. I will take Notice to the Jury
what is not Evidence. Goon Mr. Smith.

Mr. Jarrit Smith, After Sir John had repeated

feveral Stories of this fort, he concluded at laft

(as I told you before) and why, Mr. Smith, if you

afk it of me, I can't refufe. I faw Mr< Goodere

foon after, and told him I had feen Sir John,

and talked with him, and he was pleafed to tell

me, that he would fee him, and bid me con-

trive a convenient Place to bring them together.

I told Mr. Goodere about the Attempt to fet afide

the Recovery. I wonder, faid Mr. Goodere, he

fhould mention any Thing of that, for I can fet

it afide when 1 pleafe. I told him, I thought he

could not ; for, faid I, I have had a good Opi-

nion on it, and am to lend a large Sum ofMoney
upon the Worcefterjhire Eftate. He faid, I won-
der that any body will lend him Money upon that

Eftate, I am next in Remainder, and they will

run a Rifque of lofing their Money I doafiure you -

7

and he cannot borrow a Shilling on it without

my Confent: but if my Brother was reconciled,

then, if we wanted Money, we might do it to-

gether,
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gether, for he cannot fecure it alone. He told

me* that he fhould take it as a great Favour, if

I could fix a Time as foon as I could to bring

them together. Soon after 1 faw Sir John, and

he told hie he was very deaf, and was advifed to

go to the Bath, and then appointed to be wi:h

me on Tuefday the 13th of January laft in the

Morning, when he would talk with me about the

Bufinefs of advancing the Money on his Eftate.

After this I faw Mr. Goodere, and told him that I

had feen his Brother •, that he was to be with me

on7W/%the 13th of January laft, and defired

him to be in the Way, for Sir John was always

Very punctual to his Appointment ; and if Bufinels

or any Thing happened to prevent him, he al-

ways fent me a Letter. Mr. Goodere thanked

me, and told me he would be in the way : and

on the Tuefday Morning Sir John came to me on

Horfeback, juft alighted, and came into my
Office. I afked him to fit down, which he refu-

fed, faying his Head was bad •, that he muft go

for Bath, having been advifed to go there tor

fome time, and then he did not doubt but he

mould be better. I told Sir John, that his Bro-

ther knew he was to be in Town, therefore hoped

h would fit down a little, for that I had proniiicd

him to bring them together. He faid, I can't

how •, but you fhall fee me again foon, and then

I may do it. I afked him, when fhall I fee you

again, to finifh the Bufinefs you and I are upon,

the Writings are ready, name your own Time,

the Money will be paid ? He appointed to be

with me on Monday Morning to fettle that Bufi-

nefs •, and faid, I fhall come to Town the Satur-

day or Sunday before, and when I come I will let

you know it: He then mounted his Horfe and

rid off. Shortly after (as I was going to the Tol-

zey) at, or under Blind-gate, I met Mr. Goodere,

and told him I was glad to fee him, and that his

Brother had been in Town. He faid, he had feen

him, and thought he looked better than he ufed

to do. I told Mr. Goodere, that his Brother had

appointed to be with me Monday Morning next

on Bufinefs, and I expected him to be in Town ei-

ther the Saturday or Sunday before. I then had

many Compliments from Mr. Goodere, and he

faid, how good it would be to make up the matter

between him and his Brother. I heard nothing

of Sir John being in Town till Sunday the 18th of

January laft in the Morning, when he fent m- a

Letter to let me know that he came to Town the

Night before, and would be glad to call upon me
at any time I would appoint. I fent him for

Anfwer, that I was to dine from Home, but would

return, and be at Home at Three o'Clock jjjpit

Afternoon. And as I was pafting by, I ftopt the

Coach at Capt. Goodere''s Lodgings in Princes-

Street. I afked if he was at Home ? found him
alone, and then fhewed him Sir John's Letter.

He read it, and afked the Time I appointed. I

told him Three o'Clock that Afternoon. Said

he, I think my Brother writes better than he ufed

to do. I faid, Mr. Goodere, I think it would be

beft for you to be accidentally on Purpofe at that

Time at my Houfe. No, fays he, I don't think

that will be fo well, I think it would be better for

you to fend for me. I returned to my Houfe, and

my Servant told me that Sir John had called, and

that he would be here again prefently. Whilft

my Servant was telling this, Sir John came in •,

I took him by the Hand, and afked him how he

am fomethiiigdid ? I thank God, fays he, I

better •, and after I haVe fettled this Affair met*

you, I will go to B'.th for fome Time-, and then,

I hope, I fhall be better. I faid s Capr. Goodere

is waiting, I beg yoU will give me leave to fen<4

for him ; you know you faid you Would fee him.

With all my Heart, fays Sir John^ I know {

gave you leave. I then fent down a Servant to

Captain Goodere's Lodgings, to let him know that

Sir John was with me, and defired him to come
Up. The Servant returned, and faid, here is

Captain Goodere \ on which I faid, Sir John,
pleafe to give me leave to introduce your Brother.

He gave me leave ; Captain Goodere came in,

went directly and kitted him as heartily as ever I

had feen any two Perfons who had real Affections

one for the other. I defired them to fit down.
Sir John fate on one fide of the Fire, and Captain

Goodere on the other, and I fate between them.

I called for a Table and a Bottle of Wine, and
filling a full Glafs, I faid, Sir John, give me
leave to drink Love and Friend fhip. Ay, with

all my Heart, fays Sir John ; I don't drink Wine,
nothing but Water ; notwithftanding, I wi(h

Love and Friendihip. Captain Goodere filled a

Bumper, and pledged it, i'poke to his Brother,

and drank LoveandFriendfhip, with his Brother's

Heaf h. We fate fome time, all feemed well, and
I thought I could have reconciled them. The
Cork lyingout of theBottle, CaptemGoodere takes

up the Cork in his Hand, put it into the Mouth of

the Bottle, and ftruck it in very hard. I then faid,

though Sir John will not drink Wine, you and
I will. No, fays Captain Goodere, I will drink

Water too, if I drink any more •, and there was
no more drank. After they had talked feveral

things (particularly Captain Goodere of the Plea-

fantnefs of the Situation of the Eftate in Eere-

ford/hire, and Goodnefs of the Land) in a very

pleafant and friendly way, Sir John rofe up, and
faid, Mr. Smith, what time would you have me
be with you To-morrow morning? I appointed

nine o'clock. He faid, Brother, I wifh yon
well ; then faid to me, I will be with you half

an Flour before. Sir John went down the Steps

the Captain was following; I ftopt him, and
faid, pray don't go, Captain, let you and I drink
a Glais of Wine. No more now, I thank you,

Sir, faid he. I think, faid I, I have done great

Things for you. He paufed a little, and faid,

By God, it will not do ; and in a very fhort time

the Captain went very nimbly down the Steps.

I followed him to the Door, and obferved him
to go after Sir John down the Hill ; and before

he turned the Ciiurch-yard Wall, to be out of

my Sight, I obferved fome Sailors come Out of the

M hite Hart A le-houfe within view of my Door,
and they ran up to Captain Goodere, I heard

him fay, Is heready ? (I thought he meant the

Boat) They faid, Yes. He bid them make hafte,

Then they ran very faft towards the lower Green,

one of them having a Bottle in his hand ; Cap-
tain Goodere went very faft down the Hill, and
had it not been by mere accident I fhould have

followed him, (but fome People think 'twas well

I did not) for 1 promifed my Wife to return to

the Houfe where we dined in Queen's Square*

where I went foon after.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Smith, did they all go to-

wards the lower~Green ?

Mr.
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Mr. Jarrit Smith. No, Sir ; but fome towards

the Butts on St. Augufiin's Back. Sir John went

that way, and Captain Goodere followed him ; but

the Men who came out of the Aiehoufe went to-

wards the lower Green fome of them. About 5
o'clock in the Evening, as I was riding up the Hill

towards the Colkdge-green, I obferved a Soldier

look'd hard at me into the Coach, as if he had

fomething to fay, and feemed to be in a Confufion.

I walked into the Court, the Soldier with me, and

then he faid, I am inform'd, Sir, your Name is Mr.

Jarrit Smith. Yes, fays I, it is. (What I am now
going to fay, Mr. Recorder, is what the Soldier

told me.) He told me, that as he was drinking

with a Friend at the Kings Head Ale-houfe at the

Lime-kilns, he heard a Noife, and ran out to fee

what was the "matter, when he faw a Perfon dreffed

(as he defcribed) like Sir Johns Drefs.

Mr. Vernon. Pray, Sir, how was Sir John dref-

fed ?

Mr. Jarrit Smith. Sir John was dreffed in Black

Clothes, he had a ruffled Shirt on, a Scarlet Cloak,

a Black Velvet Cap (for the fake of keeping his

Ears warm) and a broad-brimm'd Hat flapping.

He defcribed this exactly, and told me likewife,

that the Captain of the Man of War and his Crew

had got the Perfon into Cuftody, and by force had

put him on board the Man of War's Barge or Boat

lying near the Slip, by the King's Head ; that the

Gentleman cry'd out, for God's fake, if you have

any Pity or Compaffion upon an unfortunate Man,

go to Mr. Jarrit Smith, and tell him how I am
ufed : and that the Captain hearing him cry out,

Itopt his Mouth with his Hand.
Mr. Recorder. What did the Soldier defire of

you ?

Mr. Jarrit Smith. The Soldier defired me to in-

quire into it, for that he did not know the Inten-

tion of taking off a Gentleman in that way.

Mr. Recorder. Did you do any thing on that Re-

queft of the Soldier ?

Mr. Jarrit Smith. Yes, Sir ; it immediately oc-

curred to me, that Sir John, when he left my
Houfe, told me that he was going to his Lodgings.

I . went to his Lodgings, (which was at one Mr.
Berrow's near the Mint) I there afked for him, and

related the Story I had heard ; they told me they

had not feen him fince he went to my Houfe.

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Smith, Sir, will you inform us

by what Name the unfortunate Gentleman (you are

fpeaking of) was commonly called.

Mr. Jarrit Smith. Sir John Dineley Goodere ; his

Mother was a. Dineley, and there came a great Eftate

from her fide to him, which occafion'd his being

called by the Name of Dineley.

Mr. Vernon. When Sir John went from your

Houfe on Tuefday, was he alone, or had he any

Attendants with him ?

Mr. Smith: Sir John was well guarded ; he had

Piftols, and. I think his Servant had Piftols alfo.

Mr. Vernon. I think you told us but now, that

Sir John was to be with you on the Sunday ; pray,

when did you let Mr. Goodere know it, Sir ?

Mr. Smith. I met Captain Goodere that very Day
at Blind-gate, and told him of it ; and he faid, he

had met his Brother himfelf.

Mr. Vernon. Pray, Sir, did Mr. Goodere tell

you, to whom the Eftate would go on Sir Johns
Death ?

Mr. Smith. Yes, he has often faid he was the

next Remainde-r Man, and that the Eftate would

come to himfelf, on his Brother's Death.

Vol. VI.

Mr. Recorder. Well, Mr. Goodere, you have
heard what Mr. Smith hadi faid, have you anv
Queftions to afk him ?

Mr. Shephard. Mr. Recorder, what I have to
afk of you, with Submiffion, in behalf of Mr. Goo-
dere, is, that you will indulge Counfel to put his
Queftions for him to the Court, and that the Court
will then be pleafed to put them for him to the
Witneffes. It is every day's Practice at the Courts
oflVeftminJler, Old Bailey, and in the Circuit.

Mr. Vernon. This, I apprehend, is a matter
purely in the Difcretion of the Court, and what
can neither in this or any other Court of criminal
Juftice be demanded as a Right. The Judges, I

apprehend, aft as they fee fit on thefe occasions,
and few of them (as far as I have obferved)
walk by one and the fame Rule in this particu-
lar : fome have gone fo far, as to give leave for

Counfel to examine and crofs-examine Witneffes ;

others have bid the Counfel propofe their Queftions
to the Court, and others again have directed that

the Prifoner fhculd put his own Queftions : The
Method of Practice in this point, is very variable

and uncertain ; but this we certainly know, that by
the fettled Rule of Law the Prifoner is allowed no
other Counfel but the Court in Matters of Fact,
and ought either to afk his own Queftions of the
WT

itneffes, or elfe propofe them himfelf to the Court.
I have one more Queftion to afk of Mr. Smith be-
fore we part with him.

Sir, I think you was prefent when Mr. Goodere
was brought to Brifiol, after his Brother's being
killed, I'd be glad to know whether you then

heard him fay any thing, and what concerning this

foul Bufinefs ?

Mr. Smith. I was prefent when Mr. Goodere was
brought to Briftcl after this Murder happened,
when he was afked (before the Juftices) about the

feizing, detaining and murdering Sir John Dineley

;

and he then directly anfwered, that he did not

know that his Brother was murdered or dead. He
was then afked in relation to the manner of feizing

him, and carrying him away ; he faid he knew no-

thing of it till he came to the Boat, and when he

came there he faw his Brother in the Boat ; but he

did not know that his Brother had been ufed at

that rate.

Mr. Shephard. Mr. Smith, Sir, you are fpeak-

ing about Sir John ; by what Name did you com-
monly call him ?

Mr. Smith. Sir John Dineley Goodere.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Goodere, have you any

Queftions to afk, Mr. Smith ?

Samuel Goodere. Yes, Sir. Mr. Smith, I afk you,

what Sir John Deneley's Bufinefs was with you, and

how much Money was you to advance ?

Mr. Smith. Five Thoufand Pounds, Sir •, and I

told him that I was fatisfied that it was a good
Title?

Samuel Goodere. I ask you, if you knew him to

be a Knight and Baronet.

Mr. Smith. I can't tell, I never faw the Letters

Patent.

Samuel Goodere. Can't you tell how you ftyled

him in the Writings ?

Mr. Vernon. I am very loth to interrupt Mr.

Goodere, but muft fubmit it, Sir, that this Queftion

is extremely improper, becaufe perfonal Knowledge

is by no means legal Evidence of his Brother's ha-

ving been a Baronet , for Baronettage muft be de-

rived from Letters Patent : Neither can I fee, Sir,

(with great Submiffion) how it would be at all ma-

7 S t,erjal
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terial in. this Cafe, whether the Deceafed was a Ba-

ronet, or not. By the .Indictment die Prifoners

{land charg'd with the Murder of one Sir John Dine-

ley Gopdere, and theWitnefs Mr. Smith proves that

the Party whom we fhall fhew to have been mur-

dered, commonly went by that Name.
Mr. Shephtyd. "With great Submiffion, Mr. Re-

corder, I think it a very material Queftion in point

of Law : Upon the face of the Indictment it .ap-

pears, that he is defcribed by the iSTame of Sir John

Dineley Goodere, in a Declaration for the King, the

Party ought to be fet forth with his Additions and

Titles, the Perfons committing the Fact, as well

as the Perfon on whom it was committed : The
Deceafed is defcribed by the Name of Sir John

Dinehy Goodere, and if he was a Baronet by Pa-

tent, it's .not his Title, and it amounts to the fame

as if they had miftaken the Chriftian Name ; if the

Deceafed was a Baronet, then he is improperly de-

fcribed, and then the Prifoners can't be found guil-

ty on this Indictment. The Queftion .before you,

Si,r, is, Whether -this Queftion was proper to be

afked the Witnefs ?

Mr. Recorder. .Can I prefume .him to have been

a Baronet, or can J admk of parol Evidence to

prove him fo ?

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Recorder, I beg leave to be

heard in anfwer to this Observation of Mr. Shep-

Jyqrfis? which I apprehend to be one of the moft

extraordinary I have ever heard from a Gentleman

,p£ ,dae long Robe, and am bold to fay the learned

^Gentleman who made it (if in earneft) is nuich

miftaken in it, and jn the Doctrine he hath ad-

vanced concerning it. With great Deference to

your Judgment, Sir, I fpeak it, his Objection (if

I apprehend it rightly) is, that the Perfon men-

tioned in the Indictment to have been murdered,

is there defcribed by the Name of Sir John Dinehy

Qoodere only, and that by the Evidence it appears

the Perfon murdered was Sir John Dineley Goodere

Baronet -, and he would from thence infer, that

jthere is a Miftake in the Delcription of the Perfon

murdered, and a Variance between the Indictment

and the Evidence. Our ^Baronets, 'tis well known,

are but of modern Jnftitutiop, and their Creation

jby Patent from the King, as the Fountain of Ho-
nour •, and whoever reads Lord Coke's 12 th Re-

port, will find it to have been refolved, at a learped

Conference in the Time of James the Firft, That
the King could erect fuch a Dignity by Pafent de-

pendable to the Heirs Male of the Body, as a Fee

conditional and forfeitable for Felony.— But that

where a Baronet is murdered, it is neceffary to fet

forth his Name (or more properly Title of Digni-

ty) in the Indictment, I muft take the liberty to

deny : The Difference, which I apprehend has

been always taken and allowed, is between the In-

dictee or Perfon charged by the Indictment with

committing the Offence, and the Perfon on whom
the Offence is laid therein to have been committed.

'Tis indifputably true, that the Indictee's. Addition

(whether of Title or otherwife) muft be fet forth

in the Indictment •, but what is the Reafon ? Why,
becaufe it is cxprefsly fo required by the Statute of

the 1 ft of Henry the 5th, which directs, that in In-

dictments and Writs where Proccfs of Outlawry is

awardablc, the Eftate, Degree or Myftery of the

Defendant fhall b.e Superadded to his Name, to pre-

vent troubling one Perfon for another. But, Sir,

w:th great Submiflion, that Statute was never ta-

ken to extend to any other but the Defendant. All

the Law requires, as to the Perfon on whom the

Offence is laid to have bcetpcommitted, is a con-
venient Certainty in the-DeJaiption of him -, and
furely a Defcription by the right Chriftian and Sur-

name is fuch, and funicient to afcertain the Perfon

murdered, efpecially where it dees not appear there

was any other of the fame Name. In the Indict-

ment againft Coke and Wood-burne on the Coventry

Act, for disfiguring Mr. Cokes Brother-in-Law Mr.
Crifpe, and which was fettled with great Advice,
the Perfon disfigured is defcribed as here, one Ed-
ward Crifpe only ; and all the modern Precedents
of Indictments at the Old JBaily are filent, as to the
Addition of the Perfon on whom the Offence is faid

to be committed •, and it is certainly beft and fafeft

to .omit. it. Lord Coke in his firft Inftitute lays it

down, that a Perfon may have divers Surnames,
and that a Purchafe by either of•them is fufficient,

and yet but one of them is his true Name ; which
fhews the Law is not ifo over^-curious in the man-
ner of defcribing Perfons : and, if I rniftake not, it

has been held that even the Indictee himfielf can
take no Advantage of a Miftake of his Surname,
if his Chriftian Name be right, and he be otherwife

defcribed with convenient. Certainty. Befides, Sir,

this is begging the Queftion ; for it does not ap-

pear in Proof that the Deceafed was a Baronet, he
might for aught appears judicially to the Court
have been .baptized by the Name of Sir John. Ba-

ronettage as a Patent-Dignity we know is Matter of

Record, which is a thing proveable only by itfelf

;

therefore it they would have taken any Advantage
of it, they fhould have had die Letters Patent of

Creation, or an Exemplification of them, at leaf!

En Poigne, (as the Law terms it) ready to produce

in Court : and for an Authority in Point, Sir, I

beg leave juft to mention the Cafe of Sir Richard
Grahme (Titular Lord Prefion) ; he was indicted

as a Commoner, and objected .that he was a Lord,

and as fuch triable by his Peers. But Lord Chief

Juftice Holt, and other Judges then prefent, ac-

quainted him they could take no judicial Notice of

h-is being a Lord (though they themfeives called

him fb out of Courtefy when they ipoke to him)
unlets he produced the Patent of Creation, or a

Copy of its Inrollment, becaufe Matter of Record ;

fo his Objection vanifhed, and fo I hope will this

Gentleman's. Had we called the Deceafed in the

Indictment Sir John Dinehy Goodere Baronet, then,

Sir, we ffiouid probably have been told, that we
had failed in Proof of the Identity of the Perfon,

for that the Baronettage was in its Creation annex-

ed to and made a Concomitant on the Patentee's

Surname of Goodere, and waited only on that Name,,

and that the Deceafed, confidered as a Baronet, was

not of the maternal Name of Dineley, and fo upon
the matter no fuch Perfon as Sir John Dinehy

Goodere Baronet ever in Reraw Naiura.

Mr. S'hephard. Mr. Recorder, Mr. Vernon fays

it does not appear that Sir John Dinehy was a Ba-

ronet, and that we ought to produce the Letters

Patent to fhew him fuch ; I think it a pretty hard

Objection, confidering that by Lav/ a Prifoner can-

not look into his. Indictment, nor have a Copy of

it, in order to be advifed thereon. Here it comes
out only on hearing the Indictment read, and the

Perfon killed is therein defcribed by the Name of

Sir John Dinehy Goodere only, without adding the

Title Baronet ; fo that it was impoffible for us to

be prepared with the Letters Patent, or with any

Evidence of his being a, Baronet ; therefore hum-
bly hope we are proper in afking this Queftion of
the Witnefs Mr. Smith, who was fo converfankwith.

the
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the deceafed Gentleman, had the Perufal of his

Writings, ail his Title-Deeds lay before him, fo

that he cannot but know the Certainty of his Tide
and Degree.

Mr. Recorder. It is a great Miftake to fay, that

it is neceffary to fet forth in the Indictment the

Addition of the Perfon on whom the Offence is

fuppoied to be committed ; the Law requires no

fuch thing, and- the Prifoners fuffef no manner of

Inconvenience by leaving out the Addition •, be-

caufe on this Indictment if they mould happen to

be acquitted, or fliould be convicted of Homicide

under the Degree of Murder, they may plead that

Acquittal or Conviction in bar of a fecond Profe-

cution for the fame Fact, with an Averment that

the Party mentioned in both Indictments, though

under different Defcriptions, was one and the fame

Perfon : It is fu'.Ecient that the Deceafed is de-

fcribed by his Chriftian Name, and the Surname by they pleafed •, Mahony went backwards and for

8o5
ther Man fays he, Landlord, can't you open them
Windows m the Parlour ? I told him, I would, and
lot did

; he looked out, and I thought that he had
been looking for fomebody coming from Colledre
Prayers.

1 He afked where my Wife was? Says1,
me is a-bed • becaufe, faid he, I talked with her
about having fome Coffee for Breakfaft. I told
him, flie fhould come down prefently, but I had
much rather he would go down to the Coffee-houfe,
where he would have it in order. No, fays he, I
will have it here. My Wife came down, he afked
if he might go up ftairs where he was before ; he
went up, and by and by Mahony and three Men
more came in ; I did not know Mabony's Name :

When they came in, the Captain was above flairs*

he directed me to make his Men eat and drink
whatever they would, and he would pay for it

;

I brought them Bread and Gheefe, they' eat what

which he was commonly called. The Queftion

propofed to the Witnefs is improper ; for it is not

at all material in the prefent Cafe, Whether SirJohn

was a Baronet, or no. I would not deny the Pri-

foners any Advantage they are by Law intitled to,

but I cannot admit of Evidence which can ferve

only to amufe. Mr. Goodere, Have you any

more Queflions to afk this Witnefs ? Mahony, have

wards, up flairs and down feveral times ; he we
out, but where, or what for, I did not know.

Mr. Vernon. Did Mahony, when he went up
ftairs, go in to Mr. Gcodere ?

Hobbs. Yes, feveral times ; Mahony put the Cof-
fee, and fome Bread and Butter, and made the
Toaft, and done every thing for the Captain, I
thought he had been his Footman. When the

[Bothjiient.] Captain had breakfafted, and hid made the Men
welcome, he fhifted himfelf, (fome Porter brought
frefh Clothes to him). By and by a Man rid along,,
who, I believe, was Sir John Goodere's Man, with
Piftols before him ; I heard fomebody fay that it

was his Man : and foon after the Captain had
fhifted himfelf, Mahony went out about a Quarter
of an Hour, and came back fweating, and went up
to the Captain ; and I looking out of the Window
faw the Man on horfeback, and leading another
Horfe, (which I took to be his Mailer's) ; and by
and by Sir John mounted, and rid down between
my Houfe and the Church ; and I had fome glifnpfe

of him, and heard the Captain fay, look well at

him, but don't touch him.

Mr. Recorder. This you heard the Gentleman
above flairs fay to the four Men below ?

Hobbs. Yes, Sir, he fpake thofe Words to the

four who came in.

Mr. Vernon. Did Sir John and his Man appear

you any Queflions to afk

{Morris Hobbs fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Hobbs , I think you are the

Landlord of the While-Hart Alehoufe.

Hobbs. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Vernon. Pray whereabout is the Houfe ?

Hobbs. Over-againft St. Auguftine's Church.

Mr. Vernon. Can you fee Mr. Jarrit Smith's

Houfe from the Window of yours ?

Hobbs. Yes, Sir, very plain.

Mr. Vernon. I prefume you are not unacquainted

with the Prifoners Faces ?

Hobbs. I have feen the Prifoners feveral times.

Mr. Vernon. I would not lead you in your Evi-

dence, but would be glad you'd give an Account

to Mr. Recorder, and the Jury, whether Mr. Goo-

dere (the Gentleman at the Bar) applied to you a-

bout coming to your Houfe ; if fo, pray tell us

when it v/as, and upon what Occafion ?

Hobbs. The 12th of January (which was on

Monday) Captain Goodere and Mahony came to my to have any Arms ?

Houfe •, Captain Goodere afked my Wife, Have Hobbs. Yes., Sir, they had both Piftols before

you good Ale here ? She faid, yes ; he alio afked, them.

What Place have you over head ? I anfwered, a Mr. Vernon. Thofe Men that were along with

Clofet, a Place where Gentlemen ufually fit to look Mahony, do you know what Ship they belong'd

out. Will you pleafe to let me fee it ? fays he. Yes, to ?

Hobbs. There was a young Man, I believe fome-

thing of an Officer, came to my Wife, and afked

her, Is the Captain of the Man of War here ? She
anfwered, that fhe did not know ; but there was a

Gentleman above, and there were fix other Men
befides in the other Room in another Company,
which I did not know belonged to the Captain,

until he order'd fix Pints of Ale for them. The
Captain ordered Entertainment for ten Men.

Mr. Vernon. Where were thofe fix Men ?

Hobbs. In the Kitchen ; they did not belong to

the Man of War, nor were not in Company with

the other four.

Mr. Vernon. Now, will you proceed to give an

account what followed upon Mr. Goodcre's faying,

Look well at him, but don't touch him,

Hobbs. As foon as Sir John went down the Mill,

this Mahony flept up to the Captain :\r\d cat.v down
again, and he and the other three in his Company

7 S 2 went

Sir, faid I. I went up to fhew it, he and Mahony
went up ; the Captain faid it was a very fine Pro-

fpect of" the Town ; he afked for a Pint of Ale, I

drawed it, and he gave it to Mahony, he drank it

:

and then the Captain afked my Wife, whether he

might have a Difh of Coffee made to-morrow

Morning ? Sir, faid fhe, 'tis a thing I don't make
ufe of in my way ; but, if you pleafe, I will get it

for you. Then he told her, he would be there to-

morrow Morning by about Nine o'clock. Maho-

ny was by then.

Mr. Vernon. Did you hear this Difcourfe pals

between your Wife and Mr. Goodere ?

Hobbs. Yes, I did, and then the Captain paid for

his Pint of Ale, and went away •, and the next

Morning (being Tuefday the 13th of January) he

came again to my Houfe before my Wife was up,

and I was making the Fire, (for I keep no Servant.)

I did not know him again, I thought he was ano-

Vol. VI.
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went down the Hill, and the Captain followed then all thofe Men rufhed out, and followed them,

them ; the Clothes which the Captain pulled off Mahony paid the Reckoning, and went away ; I

were left in the Room ; when the Captain was go- ran in to fee after my Tankard, for I was more

in°- out at the Door with his Sword and Cloak, I afraid of lofing that than the Reckoning. And
thought I was pretty fafe of my Reckoning, be- that is all I do know from the Beginning to the

caufe of his Clothes being left. The Captain faid End.

at the Door, Landlady, I will come back and pay Mr. Vernon. How long did he continue at your

you prefently. Houfe on the Sunday ?

Mr. Vernon. How long was it before Mr. Goo- Hobbs. I believe, Sir, an Hour and an half;

dere returned to your Houfe ? and there was fome or other of them flill looking

Hobbs. He came again in about a Quarter of an out, and waiting at the Door.

Hour : When he came again, he went up flairs, Mr. Recorder. You fay that Mahony defired you

changed a Guinea, he afked what was to pay ? I that if you faw the Gentleman in the black Cap

told him four Shillings and one Penny half-penny, go by, to fend a Porter ; who did you apprehend

and then went away. About an Hour and a half that Gentleman to be ?

after Mahony and the other came again, fweating, Hobbs. The Gentleman that rode down the

and faid they had been a Mile or two out in the Tuefday.

Country. Mahony afked Credit for a Tankard of One of the Jury. To what Place was you to fend

Ale, and faid his Mailer would come up on Saturday the Porter ?

following, and then he would pay for it: Well, Hobbs. To the ScotchArms in Marjh-ftreet, where

faid I, if he is to come up on Saturday, I will not Mahony lodged, if the Gentleman in the black Cap

ftand for a Tankard of Ale ; but if he don't come, did go up to Mr. Smith's.

how fhall I have my Reckoning ? Says Mahony, I Mr. Vernon. I think, you fay, you faw Mr. Goo-

live at the Scotch Arms in Marjh-ftreet. Well, faid dere on the Sunday go down the Hill, after the Gen-

I, I will not deny drawing you a Tankard of Ale, tleman in the black Cap.

if you never pay me. Said he, you had befl get Hobbs. I did, Sir ; but nobody at all was with

the Room ready againfl Saturday, and make a Fire, him.

and juft dull it. Samuel Goodere. Did you fee me at all that Day ?

Mr. Vernon. Pray, when Mr. Goodere went away Hobbs. Yes, Sir, I faw you go into Mr. Jarrit

from your Houfe, was he in the fame Drefs as when Smith's ; and when you came down the Hill, after

he came firfl there that Day ? the Gentleman in the black Cap, you called out to

Hobbs. No, Sir. When he came there he had a Mahony and his Company, and bid them to look

light-coloured Coat, and he looked like a Country fharp.

Farmer at his firft coming in ; but when he was Samuel Goodere. Did you fee any body with me
out, he had a Scarlet-Cloak on, wore a Sword, and that Day ? I was not at your Houfe that Day.

had a Cane in his Hand ; a Porter brought him Hobbs. I did not fay you were ; but as you was

the Things. going to Mr. Jarrit Smith's, I heard one of your

Mr. Vernon. Do you know any thing of what Men fay, there goes our Captain, or elfe I had not

happened on the Sunday following ? looked out.

Hobbs. Yes, Sir •, the Sunday Morning Mahony Mahony. I beg leave, my Lord, to afk him who
came to my Houfe, having Troufers and a fhort it was that the Captain bid Mahony to look fharp

Jacket and Leather-Cap on, afked for a Quart of to ?

Ale, this was Sunday : My Wife faid, don't draw Hobbs. The Gentleman with the black Cap.

any more upon tick. Mahony gave a Six-pence Mr. Recorder. Was the Gentleman in the black

and paid for it, and faid, See that the Room be Cap, at whofe going by they all rufhed out, the

clear, the Captain will be up in the Afternoon, and fame Gentleman whom you had feen before go to

then he'll be here : And as he was going out of the Mr. Jarrit Smith's ?

Houfe, he faid to me, if you fortune to fee that Hobbs. Yes, Sir •, but Mahony gave Half a Crown
Gentleman go up with the black Cap before that for my Reckoning, and as they rufhed out fo hafti-

time, do you fend a Porter to me to the Scotch ly, I was afraid they had taken away my Tankard

;

Arms. I told him I had no Porter, and could not for which Reafon I went to look after it, and faw

fend. About 3 o'clock in the Afternoon, when no more.

he came again with a Perfon who had a fcalled {Thomas Williams fworn.)

Face, and one or two more, a Man who lodged in Mr-. Vernon. Mr. Williams, I think you belonged

the Houfe came and told me, that they wanted to to the Ruby at the time when this melancholly

go up flairs -, but I would not let them, becaufe it Affair happened ?

was in Service-time : They all went into the Par- Thomas Williams. Yes, Sir.

lour, and had a Quart of Ale, and when that was Mr. Vernon. What Station was you in r

drank, Mahony called for another •, and then eight Thomas Williams. I was ordered to walk the

or nine Men more came and called for Ale, and Quarter-deck.

went into the Parlour, but flill kept looking out ; Mr. Vernon. Will you give an Account of
and one of them being a little Fellow, I don't know what you know in relation to the ill Treatment
his Name, kept flamming the Door together, rea- of Sir John Dineley Goodere ? tell all you know a-

dy to break the Houfe down. Says I, don't break bout it.

my Houfe down about my Ears, don't think you Thomas Williams. I came up on Sunday the eigh-

are in Marjh-ftreet ; then the little Fellow came up teenth Day of January lafl for my Commander,
as if he was going to flrike me, as I was coming went to his Lodgings, he was not at home ; I was
up out of the Cellar with a Dobbin of Ale in my told there, that he dined that day at Dr. Middk-
Hand, for a Gentleman going to the Colledge : I ton's, and he was juft gone there. I went to Dr.

faw this Gentleman (pointing to the Prifoner Sa- Middleton's after him, and he was juft gone from
tnuel Goodere) and the Deceafed walk down the thence ; I then returned to his Lodgings, and found

Hill, I looked after them, and fo did Mahony ; and him there ; I told him the Barge was waiting for

his
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his Honour. He afk'd me if I knew the River,

and if I knew the Brick-yard at the Lime-kilns ?

I told him that I knew the Lime-kilns, and at laft

I recollected that I did remember the Brick-yard he

meant. That is well enough, fays he. While I

was there, Mahony came up to him, and the

Captain defired of me to go down ftairs, for he

wanted to fpeak to Mahony in private. I went

down ftairs, by and by Mahony came down and

went away ; then I went up to Captain Goodere a-

crain, when he directed me to get all the Hands to-

gether, and go down into the Barge, and, fays he,

let it be landed at the Brick-yard. He asked me
if I knew the White Hart in the Colledge-green ? I

told him I did, and he directed me to take eight

Men up with me to the White Hart, and let two

remain in the Boat, for I have a Gentleman com-

ing on board with me. I did as I was ordered

;

and when I came to the White Hart, I faw Maho-

ny, and fome of the Privateer's Men with him

there in a Room •, I did not like their Company, I

went into the Kitchen, I afked the Landlord to

make me a Pint of Toddy, he afked me whether I

would have it hot or cold, I told him a little warm ;

he was going about it, but before it was made,

Mahony and the Privateer's Men rufhed out of the

Houfe : I feeing that, followed them, they had

the Gentleman in poffefiion before I came to them,

and were dragging him along. I afked them

what they were at ? One of the Privateer's Men
told me, if I did not hold my tongue, he would

throw me over the Key River, and immediately

Captain Goodere came there himfelf : The Priva-

teer's Men afked what they mould do with him,

and he directed them to take him on board the

Baro-e. I followed them down the Butts, the

Gendeman cried out Murder, Murder ! Mr. Ste-

phen Perry the Anchor-fmith came out of his

Houfe, and afked me what was the matter ; I told

him I did not know : Mahony faid he was a Mur-

derer, he had killed a Man on board the Man of

War, and that he had run away, they had carried

him before a Magiftrate, and he was ordered

back to the Man of War to be tried by aCouit

Martial.

Mr. Recorder. Was the Captain within hearing

at the time Mahony faid that ?

'Thomas Williams. He was juft behind.

Mr. Recorder. Was he within hearing ?

Thomas Williams. He was •, and when they had

brought him into the Barge, Captain Goodere de-

fired to have the Cloak put over Sir John to keep

him from the Cold, but Sir John faid he did not

want a Cloak, neither would he have it. The Pri-

vateer's Men wanted me to put them on the other

fide the Water, but I faid I would not without the

Captain's Orders. They asked the Captain, and

he directed me to do it, and I put them afhore at

the Glafs-houfe, and juft as we came over againft

the Hot-Wells, there was a Gentleman ftanding

whom Sir John knew, to whom Sir John cried out,

Sir, do you know Mr. Jarrit Smith ? But before

he could fpeak any more, the Cloak was thrown

overhim to prevent his crying out, and the Cap-

tain told me to fteer the Barge on the other fide,

until we got clear of the noife of the People ; and

when we was got clear, he directed me to fteer the

Boat in the middle, as I ought to do. I obeyed his

Orders.

Mr. Recorder. Who threw the Cloak over him ?

Thomas Williams. The Captain. And the Cap-

tain being as near to Sir John as I am to your

Lordfhip, Sir John asked the Captain what h-
was going to do with him ? Says the Captain I
am going to carry you on board to fave you from
Ruin, and from lying rotting in a Goal.

Mr. Vernon. And what Reply did Sir John
make to that ?

Thomas Williams. He faid, I know better things,
I believe you are going to murder me •, you may
as well throw me overboard, and murder me here
right, as carry me on board Ship and murder me.
No, fays the Captain, I am not going to do any
fuch thing, but I would have you make your Peace
with God. As I fteered the Boat, I heard all that
paffed. We brought Sir John on board between
feven and eight o'clock, he could hardly go up in-
to the Ship, he being fo benumbed with Cold ; he
did go up of his own accord, with the Mens Af-
fiftance.

Mr. Vernon. How was he treated on board the
Man of War ?

Thomas Williams. Sir, I don't know how they
treated him after he went on board the Ship, I was
excufed from watching that Night, fo I went to
my Hammock ; but after I was got out of my firft

fleep, I heard fome People talking and walking
about backwards and forwards : I was furprized ;

at laft I peeped out of my Hammock, and asked
the Centinel what was o'clock ? he faid, between
Two and Three. And then I faw Captain Goodere
going down the Ladder from the Deck towards
the Purfer's Cabbin, but for what Intention I know
not, I believe he came from his own Cabbin.
Mr. Recorder. Whereabout is the Purfer's Cab-

bin?

Thomas Williams. The Purfer's Cabbin is in a
place called the Cock-pit, the lower Steps of the
Ladder is juft by the Door of the Purfer's Cabbin.

Mr. Recorder. And it was that Ladder you faw
the Captain go down, was it?

Thomas Williams. Yes, Sir, it was.

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Williams, you have not
told us all the Particulars of Sir Johns Treat-
ment between the feizing and carrying him to the

Barge.

Thomas Williams. One of the Men had hold of
one Arm, and another the other, and a third Per-

fon was behind fhoving him along.

Mr. Vernen. Where was Captain Goodere then ?

Thomas Williams. He was juft behind him.

Mr. Vernon. How near was he to him.

Thomas Williams. Sometimes he was as near to

him as I am to you.

Mr. Recorder. How many were there in the

Company, do you think, in the Rope-walk, when
they were carrying Sir John along ?

Thomas Williams. There were five of the Priva-

teer's Men, and Mahony made fix, and there

were nine belonging to the Barge ; about fixteen

in all.

Mr. Recorder. At what diftance was you?
Thomas Williams. At a pretty great diftance ; I

walked juft before them •, I faw them take him a-

long in the manner I have faid ; I heard Sir John

cry out Murder feveral times as he went, as they

took him along the Rope-walk.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Goodere, will you ask Wil-

liams any Queftions ?

Samuel Goodere. What fide of the Gun-room did

you lie in ?

Thomas Williams. The Star-board fide of the

Gun-room.

Samuel
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Samuel Goodere'. Why then it was impofiible for

you, i as you lay in your Hammock, to- fee any bo-

dy go down to the Cock-pit.

Thomas Williams-: Not at all, Sir; the Gunner's

Cabbin comes out further than ever was known of

that fort.

Samuel Goodere. Are there any: other Cabbins

befides the Purfer's in the Cock-pit? did you ever

examine them -how ftrofag they are, and what Par-

titions are there between them ?

Thomas Williams. I don't know any other Cab-

bin but the Purfer's in the Cock-pit ; the Cooper

lies in the Slop-room.

Samuel Goodere. Was you never in the Doctor's

Cabbin ?

Thomas V/illiams. No, never in my Life.

Samuel Goodere. Do you know where-about the

Ruby lay, when you brought that Gentleman on

board, where did you apprehend the Ship was ?

Thomas Williams. I did not know the Situation

of the Ship, I had no bufinefs to know that ; I was

but a Foremaft-man.

(Samuel Trivett fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Will you give an Account to Mr.
Recorder and the Jury of what you know relating

to this Bufinefs.

Samuel Trivet t. On Sunday the eighteenth of Ja-
nuary laft, I was at a Publick Hcufe in the Rope-
walk, I heard a Noife of People cryed Damn ye,

{land off, or elfe v/e will knock your Brains out

;

I ftepp'd up, and asked what Right they had to

carry a Man along after that manner ? I followed

them ; their Anfwer was, it was a Midfliipman

who had committed Murder, and they were taking

him down to the "Ship to do him juftice : other

People likewife followed enquiring what was the

matter : the Gentleman was behind; and ordered

therm to make morehafte.

Mr. Vernon. Look upon the Prifoner at the Bar,

Mr. Goodere; is that the Gentleman that ordered

them to make more hafle ?

SamueLT'rivett. I believe that is the Man, my
Lord : On the Gentleman's ordering them to make
more hade, five or fix of them caught him up in

their Arms, and carried him along, and as they

were got down about the Corner of Mr. Browns
Wall, he infilled upon their making more dif-

patch, and then they hurried him as far as Cap-
tain OJborn's Dock. By that time his Clothes were
ruffled, and fhoved up to his Arm-pits ; they put

him down, and fettled his Clothes, and then I faw

his Face, and knew him to be Sir John Dineley :

He cried out Murder feveral times, and faid, they

were taking him on board to kill him, he believed.

A s they were going with him along, he cried out

to Mrs. Darby, for God's fake affifl me, they are

going to murder me. I told Mrs. Darby, it was
Sir John Dineky : She faid, fhe knew him ; the

Cloak was then over his Face. As they got him
further, he called out to a little Girl, to get fome
boc y to affifl him for they were going to murder
him. They pufhed him along to Mrs. New's
Hotfe, and made a little Stop there, and then

they bro.ight him to the Water-fide, where was a

Boat ; they put out a Plank with Ledges nailed a-

crofs ; he was ordered to go on board the Boat

;

they got him on board, and put him to fit down in

the Hcrn-fheet: then he cried out, for God's fake,

Ger lemen, if any of you know Mr. Jarrit Smith

in t; e Colledge-green, tell him my name is Sir John
Din ley. One of the Men put his Cloak and co-

vered him, and before he could lay any more, that

Gentleman (pointing at the Prifoner Goodere) took
his Hand and put it on his Mouth, and would not
let him fpeak any further, and ordered the Boat to
be pufhed off, which was done ; and the Tide
making up ftrong, the Boat got almofl to the other
fide. I heard that Gentleman (pointing as before)
fay, Have you not given the Rogues of Lawyers
Money enough already ? Do you want to give them
more ? I will take care that they fhall never have
any more of you ; now Til take care of you.

Mr. Recorder. Prifoners, will either of you afk
this Witnefs any Queftions ?

Samuel Goodere. No ; I never faw the Man be-
fore in my Life.

(Thomas Charmbury fworn.)

Thomas Charmbury. On Sunday the eighteenth
of January laft, between the Hours of four and
five in the afternoon, I was on board the Ship
called the Levant, lying in Mr. Thompfon's Dock

;

I heard a Noife coming over the Bridge of the

Dock, and I faw a Man in a fcarlet Cloak, and a
parcel of People, fome before and fome behind,

guarding of him, and he made a noife. I went
towards them, to fee what was the matter, and at

Mr. Stephen Perry's Counting-houfe (they refted)

I afked, what was the matter ? They faid, he had
killed a Man on board a Man of War ; that he
had run away ; and they had had him before a
Magiflrate, and he was ordered on board the King's

Ship to be carried round to London to take his

Trial. Mr. Perry (on hearing the Noife) came
out and faw him ; fays Mr. Perry, Gentlemen,

do you know what you are about ? I would not be
in your Coats for a thoufand Pounds^ for it is Efq;

Goodere. They threatened to knock down any

that fhould come near ; a Fellow, I take him to

be Mahony, came up to me, and threatened to

knock me down feveral times. They took and car-

ried him as far as Captain James Day's Lofts and
Warehoufe, where he keeps his Hemp -, and there

they refted him again, and threatened to knock
down any that fhould come near them. Then
faid Mahony, Damn ye, here comes the Captain.

Immediately I turned about, and faw a Gentleman

with his Cane poifed in one hand, and his Sword
in the other, he had a dark fhag Coat and yellow

Buttons, whom I take to be that Gentleman the

Prifoner at the Bar. They took up the Man in the

fcarlet Cloak again, and carried him fo far as com-
ing out from the lower College-green into the Rope-

walk : the Prifoner Goodere came up to them, and

ordered them to mend their Pace ; they took him
up again, and carried him as far as Brown's Gar-

den, at the lower end of the Rope-walk, as faft as

they could well carry him, where they fettled his

Clothes, and in the mean while the Prifoner Goodere

came up to them again, and ordered them tomend
their Pace. With much difficulty they got him
between the Gate and Stile, and carried him as far

as the Warehoufe at the Corner of the Glafs-houfe,

there they refted and fettled his Clothes again:

Then they took him up and carried him down to

the Lime-kilns, as far as the lower part of the Wall

below Madam New's ; and then brought him down
to a Place oppofite to xhtKing's Head, and then they

puthim on board a Boat (I take it the Man of War's

Barge) having ten Oars, and they handed him in.

After, the Prifoner Goodere went into the Boat af-

ter him, and fet Sir John on the Starboard fide,

and the Prifoner Goodere on the Larboard fide ; then

Sir John cried out, Murder! you Gentlemen that

are on fhore, pray tell Mr. Jarrit Smith that my
Name
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Name is Dineley, and before he could fay Goodere,

fhe Gentleman took up the Flap of the Cloak,

threw it over the Face of Sir John, and ftopp'd

his Mouth ; and, fays he, I will take care of you,

that you fhall not fpend your Eftate ; and ordered

the Barge to be put off: And then he took the Gen-

tleman's Cloak from his Shoulders, and puts it on

his own.

Mr. Recorder. Who was it thatftop'd his Mouth
with the Cloak?

Mr. Charmbury. That Gentleman the Prifoner

at the Bar. The Boat was fo full, had fo many
People in it, that they were obliged to row but

with eight Oars : And when they proceeded down

the River, it being about three quarters Flood,

and the Gentleman continually crying out, they

went out of fight, and I faw no more of them.

(Mrs Darby fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mrs. Darby, I think, you live at

the Lime-kilns.

Mrs. Darby. Yes, Sir, I do.

Mr. Vernon. What do you know of this tragical

Affair?

Mrs. Darby. I faw Sir John Dineley forced along

between two Men, he crying out Murder, Murder,

for the Lord's fake fave me, fave me, for they are

going to kill me!

Mr. Vernon. Pray what were they doing to him

at that time ?

Mrs. Darby. Forcing him along, Sir ; one had

him under one Arm, and another under the

other.
)

Mr. Vernon. Did you then know him to be Sir

John Dineley Goodere?

Mrs. Darby. Yes, Sir ; laft Summer we mended

his Chair for him. I knew him Very well.

Mr. Vernon. You fay you knew Sir John'-, pray

did you know this Gentleman ? (pointing to Mr.

Goodere.)

Mrs. Darby. There were a great many other

Perfons there •, they told me that the Captain of

the Man of War was there behind them, which I

believe to be the Gentleman at the Bar: He was

dreffed in a dark Drabb-coloured Coat, and his

Waiftcoat trimmed with Gold.

Mr. Vernon. What further did you fee pafs ?

Mrs. Darby. I faw them hurrying him on board

the Boat, but I did not go any further than over-

againft my own Door; but when they were turn-

ing the Boat, I heard him cry out, but what he

fafd I know not.

(William Dupree fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Give an Account of what you know

of this Matter.

William Dupree. On Sunday the eighteenth of

January laft I was at the Sign of the King's Head,

upon the right-hand fide of the Red Lion as you go

down to the Hot Well, with a Friend of mine, a

Man that works with me, drinking a Pint of Ale;

there was a young Woman, fhe was reading at

the Window. She faid, fhe heard a great Outcry,

we heard the fame, we went out, faw a Company
of Men forcing a Gentleman along; 1 faw Captain

Goodere the Prifoner at the Bar coming behind

them: when they came down to Scriggins Slip, they

gave out a Report, that the Gentleman had mur-

dered a Man on board a Man of War, and they

were taking him on board for Juftice. They put

him on board the Yawl, and Captain Goodere flood

by whilft they did it. The Gentleman cried out,

for God's fake go and acquaint Mr. Jarrit Smith,

fgr I am undone,, they will murder me. I went

into the Houfe again ; the People advifed me to
go to Mr. Jarrit Smith, and inform him of it: as
I came home I called at Mr. Smith\ and told him
what I had feen and heard, and he told me he
would fee about it.

Mr. Vernon. I'd be glad to know whether upon
the Gentleman's crying out you faw any thing, and
what, done to him.

William Dupree. I faw the Captain., the Prifoner
at the Bar, put his Hand and ftop his Mouth.

Mr. Vernon, Are you pofitive you faw that?
William Dupree. Yes, I am.
{Theodore Court, Mafter of the Ship fworn.;
Mr. Vernon. Will you tell Mr. Recorder and

the Jury what you know concerning the Death of
Sir John Dineley Goodere ?

Theodore Court. On the eighteenth of January
laft, being Sunday, the Barge went up to fetch
Captain Goodere from Briftol, and about feven of
the clock in the Evening he came on board, and
when he came into the Gangway, fays he, how
do you all do, Gendemen? Excufe me, Gentlemen,
from going the right way to-night, for I have
brought an old mad Fellow on board, and I muft
take care of him. I faw a Gentleman with a black
Cap coming up the Ship's fide, and his Groans
mocked me, fo that I could not help him ; he
looked much furprized as a Perfon ufed ill : As
foon as he was on board, he was taken into cuftody,
and carried by the Captain's Orders down to the
Cock-pit, and put into the Purfer's Cabbin, and a
Centinel ordered upon him ; and I faw him no
more at that time. Next Morning I was told that
the Captain's Brother was murdered, and that the
Captain had given Charles White and Mahony
leave to go on fhore.

Mr. Recorder. By whofe Direction was he put
into the Purfer's Cabbin ?

Theodore Court. The Captain himfelf went down,
and fee them put him in.

Mr. Vernon. Whereabout in the Ship is tha.

Purfer's Cabbin ?

Theodore Court. In the Cock-pit.

Mr. Vernon. Was it a Place where Gentlemen
who came on board commonly lay ?

Theodore Court. No, nobody had laid in it for a

confiderable time. The next Morning the Cooper
met me, and faid, here is fine doings to-night, Mr.
Court ! Why, what is the matter, faid I ? Why,
faid he, about three o'clock this Morning they went
down and murdered Sir John. The Ship was in

an Uproar ; the Cooper faid, if Mr. Perry (the

Lieutenant) did not fecure the Captain, he would
write to the Board : We had feverai Confultations

in the Ship about it. The Captain fent for me to

breakfaft with him, I accepted of his Invitation : I

can't fay but he behaved with a very good Name
to all the People on board. About Ten o'clock

Mr. Perry, myfelf, and the other Officers, with the

Cooper, confulted about fecuring the Captain. Mr.
Perry caution'd us not to be too hot ; for, faid he,

if we fecure the Captain before we know Sir John
is dead, I fhall be broke, and yon too. We fent

for the Carpenter, and defired him to go down and

open the Cabbin-door, the Cerurinel who flood there

having faid it was lock*d ; the Carpenter went down,

opened the Cabbin-door, and came up and faid Sir

John was murdered ; and that he lay on his Left-

fide, with his Leg up crooked. I told them, Gen-

tlemen, there is nothing to be done before the Co-

roner comes ; and therefore we muft not touch

him : Whereupon the* Door was ordered to be

faftened
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faftened up : We then confuked how to take the

Captain, and a Method was agreed on for that

purpofe. And as foon as the Captain was taken,

lie declared he was innocent of it, that he knew

not that his Brother was murdered. When the

Coroner came, I law the Deceafed, and my Heart

aked for him.

Mr. Recorder. Who was it put the Centinel up-

on Sir John ?

Theodore Court. The Captain ordered it to be

done.

Mr. Vernon. Is it ufual to place a Centinel at the

Purfer's Cabbin-Door ?

Theodore Court. No, it is not •, unlefs there be

fomebody there under Confinement.

Mr. Vernon. Is there any other Cabbin near the

Purfer's ?

Theodore Court. Yes, there is the Slop-Room juft

by ; there the Cooper and his Wife Jay that Night

:

there is juft a little Partition ofabout half-inch Deal,

parting the Slop-Room from the Place where Sir

John lay confined.

Mr. Vernon. Pray, will you tell us whether any,

and what Difcourfe paffed between Mr. Goodere

and you, about failing ; and when it was ?

Theodore Court. Sir, in the Morning he afked

me, will the Wind ferve to fail ? He faid, he had

another prefiing Letter from the Lords of the Ad-

miralty to fail as foon as poflible. I told him, that

the Wind was Weft-South-Weft, and that we

could not go out to Sea •, for no Pilot would take

charge of the Ship, I believed. And as this is a

Harbour where a Pilot is allowed, I don't pafs for

this Place; otherwife I muft 'have obferved his

Orders. ,

Mr. Vernon. Did he acquaint you how far, or

to what Part, he would have. you fail ?

Theodore Court. Yes, Jie faid, if he got no fur-

ther than the Holmes, he did not care •, and afked

me, if it was fafe riding there. I told him, it was

not •, for it was foul Ground for fuch a Ship as

ours.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Goodere, will you afk this

Witnefs any Queftions ?

Samuel Goodere. . What Cabbins are there in the

Cock-pit?

Theedon'Court. I know no Cabbins there but

the Purfer's Cabbin and the Slop-Room, &V.

Mr. Vernon. Call Mr. Williams.

{William Williams fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Nix..Williams, have you any Watch
in your poffeffion belonging to Mr. Goodere.

William Williams. I have a Watch in my Pof-

feftiom .' -

Mr. Vernon. Pleafe to produce it, and let us

know how you came by it.

William Williams. I had it from a Vault in Back-

Jlreet.

Mr. Vernon. How came it to ' be fearched for

there ?
-

William Williams. The Night this thing was un-

der Examination, I was at the Council-Houfe, and

Culliford who keeps the Brockware Boat on the

Back, was there under Examination ; he then re^

ported that there was a Watch and fome Money
left in his Houfe : Upon which a Perfon was fent

down, and Culliford's Wife' at firft denied the

Watch,' but not the Money ; but at laft, after clofe

Examination, fhe. cqnfeffed that fhe had thrown

tie Watch into the Vault. Upon which, by the

Order of Mr. Alderman Day, I, with a Mafon,
opened the Vault ; where, on Search, I found the

Watch, and took it out. Here is the Watch ; but
whofe it is, I know not.

Mr. Vernon. Now I defire that Watch may be
fhewn to Mr. Court. [The Watch is delivered to

Mr. Court.']

Mr. Vernon. Now you have looked upon the
Watch, tell us if you can, whofe it was.

Theodore Court. I can't fwear pofitively to it

;

but I believe it was the Captain's Watch, he had'
fuch a one.

Mr. Vernon. Did Mr. Goodere ufe to carry a
Gold Watch about him ?

Theodore Court. The Captain did not ufually

wear a Gold Watch ; but I have feen fuch a Watch
as this is, hanging up in the Captain's Cabbin. I

believe it to be the fame.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Court, you was afked by
Mr. Goodere, how many Cabbins there are in the

Cock-pit ?

Theodore Court. There is the Steward's Room,
the Purfer's Cabbin, and the Slop-Room.

Samuel Goodere. Where is the Steward's Room ?

Theodore Court. That is the Place where the
Centinel ftands ; and there is a Place on the other
Side where the Surgeon lies.

Samuel Goodere. What Perfons were in that
Place that Night, do you know ?

Theodore Court. The Surgeon, I fuppofe.

Samuel Goodere. What other Perfons were in any
other of the Cabbins that Night ?

Theodore Court. The Cooper and his Wife.
Samuel Goodere. Has the Cooper a Wife ?

Theodore Court. I believe lo.

Samuel Goodere. How long before the nineteenth

of January did you new-moor the Ship?
Theodore Court. Thurfday the fifteenth of Ja-

nuary.

Samuel Goodere. How were the Bearings then ?

Theodore Court, (Looking on his Journal) Pof-
_/k-Point Weft and by South, Denny-liland North-
weft and by Weft, diftant by Computation about
four Miles : And the Point to the'Weftward of
the Hole's Mouth South-South-Eaft.

Mr. Recorder. Were thofe the Bearings on the
Eighteenth too ?

Theodore Court. I know no Difference ; it is faid

here, ditto 18 th : if there had been any Variation,

I mould have taken notice of it.

Mr. Vernon. In what Part of the River did the

Ship lie when Sir John was murdered ?

Theodore Court. She lay in King-Road.

Samuel Goodere. Do you know the Denny ?

Theodore Court. Yes, I do.

Samuel Goodere. Suppofe there was a ftrait Line
drawn from the South Corner of that Ifland to the

North part of the Water of Avon, would the Ship

Ruby have been on the Eaft or Weft part of that

Line ?

Th-eodore Court. As to that I am not a Judge,
unlefs I faw a ftrait Line drawn.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Court, how long did the

Ship continue in this Mooring?
Theodore Court. I new moor'd the Ship the Sun-

day following.

Samuel Goodere. Did theWind then blow Eafterly

or Wefterly ?

Theodore Court. The Wind blew hard Wefterly

the Sunday.

Samuel Goodere. As to the Diftance from the

Denny, I believe, you are right enough ; but I have
a Gentleman here who hath taken a Survey of the

River : and the Situation of the Ship, as it lay Sun-

day
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day the eighteenth of January, was in the River

Severn, very far Eaftward of the Water of

Avon.
Mr. Vernon. Mr. Recorder, by Mr. Goodere's

prefent Enquiries, he feems to be putting his

and his Fellow-Prifoner's Defence on the Points

of the Compafs •, I hope he has fome better

Point to go on : for if not, thefe I doubt will

ftand him in very little ftead. It appears in

Proof, that the Ship was ftationed in King-road,

when this Murder was committed : Now King-

road, we all know, has been all along reputed

and allowed to be within the local Limits of the

City and County of Briftol; and the City Pro-

cefs' runs thither, which mews it to be within

the Franchife of the City ; and the Sheriffs of

Briftol do there conftantly execute Writs and

other Procefs from above, which mews it to be

within their Bailiwick as a County, whofe Bounds

and Circuit are beft afcertained and pointed out

by Reputation and confentaneous Ufage, which

ftand as perpetual Monuments of their Limits,

after other Marks are effaced or obfeured by

Time.
Mr. Shephard. I don't at all queftion but this

City has great Powers, and its Limits are un-

doubtedly let forth by Charter.

Mr. Vernon. I mould be very forry to find the

Jurisdiction of a City (whofe Rights are dear to

me as my own) fhaken by a Side-wind, and hope

an Attempt of this nature will not be fuffered.

(Duncan Buchanan fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. I think you was one of the Com-
pany that was at the White-Hart upon Tuefday the

twelfth of January laft ?

Duncan Buchanan. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Vernon. Will you give Account by whofe
Directions you came up there ?

Duncan Buchanan. On 'Tuefday the thirteenth

Day of January laft the Boat and Barge were or-

dered up to Briftol ; but upon what account, I

knew not. I was ordered to go to the White-

Hart to attend the Captain, and there was Ma-
bony and the Privateer's Men drinking hot Flip.

I knew nothing of what they were upon. I faw a

Gentleman come out of Mr. Smith's, I fuppofe

it was Sir John Dineley Goodere ; he mounted his

Horfe, and had Piftols before him, and his Ser-

vant followed him with Piftols alfo. Then fome
of the Men ran out ; and Captain Goodere went
out after them, and ordered them to follow the

Gentleman. I ftaid there till the Captain came
back again -, and I know nothing more of what
was faid or done then.

Mr. Vernon. Will you give an Account what
happened on the Sunday following ?

Duncan Buchanan. Or. Sunday the eighteenth

Day of January about fever: o'clock in the Even-
ing the Barge came along-fide the Ship with the

Gentleman in it, I flood in the Gang-way to re-

ceive him ; when he came up, I heard him to

make a moan, and the Captain faid I have
brought a Madman on board, bring him along,

I will bring him to his Senfes by and by. I faw
them take him along the Gang-way ; you muft

not mind what he fays, faid the Captain -, and he

was ordered down to the Purfer's Cabbin •, I was
ordered Centinel there. About twelve o'clock

the Captain fent for me to come up to him, and
I laid down my Sword and went up, and Ma-
bony was there with him •, and there was a Bottle

Vol. VI.

of Rum and a Glafs before them : the Captain
afked me to drink a Dram, I thanked him and
drank. He afked me how his Brother was ? I
told him he groaned a little • fays the Captain,
I know the Reafon of that, he is wet, and I am
coming down by and by to fhift him with dry
Stockings : fo I left the Captain and Mahony to-
gether. Some time after the Captain came down
to me, as I was at my Poft at the Purfer's Cab-
bin ; he afked if his Brother made a noife { I

told him no : upon which the Captain liftened a
little time at the Door, and then faid, give me
the Sword, and do you walk upon deck ;

for I want to fpeak to my Brother in private.
Soon after this, Mahony went down, and very
foon after Mahony was down, I heard a great
ftruggling in the Cabbin, and the Gentleman cry
out Murder ! I then thought the Gentleman had
been in one of his mad Fits ; but now I fuppofe,
they were thenftrangling him. As I was walking
to and fro in the Gun- Room, I looked down, and
faw the Captain take the Candle out of the Lan-
thorn, which was hanging up there, and he gave
the Candle into the Cabbin.

Mr. Recorder. Where was Mr. Goodere when
you heard the Cry of Murder ?

Duncan Buchanan. In the Cock-pit by the Pur-
fer's Cabbin-Door, with the Sword in his Hand.

Mr. Recorder. What time of the Night was
this ?

Duncan Buchanan, Between two and three

o'clock ; I lighted a Candle at the Lanthorn in

the Gun-Room, and was going down to the

Captain with it, as fuppofing him to be without

Light ; and as I was going down with it, the

Captain held up his Sword, waved it, and faid,

go back and flay where you are.

Mr. Recorder. You faid, that Sir John Dineley

cried out Murder ! was that before you offered

the Candle to the Captain ?

Duncan Buchanan. Yes, Sir ; it was before.

Mr. Recorder. How long?

Duncan Buchanan. About a Quarter of an Hour.

Mr. Recorder. How long did the Cry of Mur-
der continue ?

Duncan Buchanan. About three or four Mi-
nutes : Soon after the Captain had ordered me to

keep back, he called for a Candle, and I carried

one down, and he gave me the Sword, and bid

me ftand upon my Poft ; and, faid he, if my
Brother makes any more noife, let him alone

and fend for me •, and he locked the Purfer's

Cabbin-Door, and took the Key away with him :

And in the Morning the Doctor's Mate, the

Cooper and I confulted together about it; and I was

willing to know, if Sir John was dead, or not?

And when we peeped intotheCabbin, we faw him
lying in a very odd fort of a Pofture, with his

Hat over his Face, and one of his Legs lay

crooked: uponwhich, we concluded he was dead.

Mr. Recorder. How long was you off your

Poft from nrft to laft ?

Duncan Buchanan. I can*t tell exactly.

Mr. Recorder. Recollect as well as you can.

Duncan Buchanan. About three quarters of an

Hour.
Mr. Recorder. And could you fee who was at

the Purfer's Cabbin-Door all that time ?

Duncan Buchanan. Yes, Sir ; I faw the Captain

ftand at the foot of the Ladder at the Door, with

a drawn Sword, from the time I went up to the

7 T time
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time I came down again ; he locked the Door,

and carried the Key away with him.

Mr. Vernon. Pray, were there any Bolts on the

Purfer's Cabbin-Door ?

Duncan Buchanan. Yes, there were Bolts on the

Door -, they were put on foon after Sir John came

on board : Sir John was in that Cabbin when

they were put on.

Mr. Vernon. You fay you heard a Noife and Out-

cry of Murder, how far was you from the Cabbin-

Door when you heard that Cry of Murder ?

Duncan Buchanan. I was walking to and fro

the Gun-room.
Mr. Vernon. How far is that from the Purfer's

Cabbin-Door?

Duncan Buchanan. As far as I am from you.

Mr. Vernon. Whom did you fee go into the

Purfer's Cabbin to Sir John ?

Duncan Buchanan. I faw Mahony go in there.

Mr. Vernon. Did you fee any other Perfon go

in befides Mahony ?

Duncan Buchanan. No, I did not ; I faw Mz-
hony go in juft before the Cry of Murder, but no

other Perfon.

Mr. Vernon. Do you know any thing about fe-

curing the Captain ?

Duncan Buchanan. Yes, I will tell you what

happened then. We went and fecured him. As
foon as he was laid hold of, he cried out, Hey !

hey ! what have I done ? We told him his Bro-

ther was murdered, and that he had fome Con-

cern in it. He faid, what if the Villains have

murdered my Brother, can I help it ? I know
nothing of it.

Samuel Goodere. Did you fee me in the Cabbin

at all ?

Duncan Buchanan. No, Sir, I don't fay you was

in the Cabbin

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Goodere, the Witnefs does

not fay he faw you in the Cabbin, but at the

Door, and with a Sword in your Hand, and that

you handed in a Light after the Cry of Murder

was over.

Samuel Goodere. I could not have been in the

Cabbin without Buchanan's feeing me go in, be-

caufe he flood at the Bulk- head of the Gun-

room.

Mr. Recorder. Mahony, will you afk this Wit-

nefs any Queftions ?

Matthew Mahony. Are you certain that I was

in the Cabbin when you heard the Groans ?

Duncan Buchanan. I am pofitive you was there

in the Purfer's Cabbin, when I heard the Murder

cried out.

{Daniel Weller fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. I think you are the Carpenter be-

longing to the Ruby Man of War.
Daniel Weller. Yes, Sir, I am.

Mr. Vernon. Give an Account to Mr. Recorder

and the Jury of what you know relating tothis

Bufi'nefs.

Daniel Weller. The eighteenth of January

laft, about feven o'clock in the Evening, the

Captain came on board in the Barge ; as I at-

tended him, I obferved he feemed in a pleafant

Humour, he came upon the Deck at once, and

faid he had brought a poor crazy Man on board,

who had been the Ruin of himfelf and Family,

and that he had now brought him on board to

take care of him : He took him down to the

Cock- pit, and having been there a little while,

one of my People came and afked for fome Bolts

;

I afked, what for ? He told me, it was to pat
on the outfide of the Purfer's Cabbin-door, to

bolt the crazy Gentleman in. I gave him a Bolt

;

after he had nailed it on, he came and wanted
another : I had another, gave it to him, and
went down to fee the Bolts put on. Sir John
cried out, What are you doing, nailing the Door
up ? I anfwered, No. I ordered the Door to

be opened, to turn the Points of the Nails. The
Door being opened, Sir John afked whether the
Carpenter was there ? I told him I was the Man.
The Centinel told me no-body muft go in there;
however, I went in, while they turned the Points
of the Nails. Sir John bid me fit down, and
afked me, what does my Brother mean by bring-
ing me on board in this manner, to murder me ?

No, Sir, fays I, I hope not, but to take care of
you. He afked me, if his Brother told me that

he was mad ? I faw no more of him till next
Morning.

Mr. Vernon. And what did you fee then ?

Daniel Weller. Next Morning the Lieutenant
fent me down to fee if Sir John was dead. I

went down, and afked the Centinel for the Key ;

he told me the Captain had been there in the

Night, and had taken away the Key in his Pocket.
I broke open the Cabbin-Door, and Sir John was
lying on one fide dead, with his Right Leg half

up bent, his Hat was over his Face, with Blood
befpattered about his Mouth and Nofe. I went
directly up, and told the Lieutenant of it.

Mr. Recorder. By whofe Orders did you put
the Bolts on the Door ?

Daniel Weller. One of my People came to me
for Bolts, and told me he was ordered by the

Captain to put the Bolts on ; and none of them
ever came for any thing to be done, without an
Order of an Officer.

{Edward Jones fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Jones, I think you are the

Cooper of the Ship Ruby.

Edward Jones. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Vernon. Was you on board upon Sunday

the eighteenth of January laft ?

Edward Jones. Yes, Sir, I was.

Mr. Vernon. In what Cabbin did you lie that

Night ?

Edward Jones. I had no Cabbin, but I made
bold to lie in the Slop-Room that Night, having

my Wife on board.

Mr. Vernon, Pray what is that you call the

Slop-Room ?

Edward Jones. It is like a Cabbin.

Mr. Vernon. How near is the Slop-Room to

the Purfer's Cabbin ?

Edward Jones. Nothing but a thin Deal-Par-

tition parts it from the Purfer's Cabbin.

Mr. Vernon. Will you relate to Mr. Recorder

and the Jury, what you know about the Murder
of Mr. Goodere's Brother : Tell the whole you
know concerning it.

Edward Jones. About Wednefday or Thurfday

before this happened, the Captain faid to me,

Cooper, get this Purfer's Cabbin cleaned out, for

he faid he expected a Gentleman fhortly to come
on board. I clean'd it out ; and on Sunday

Evening the Gentleman came on board, when
the People on Deck cried, Cooper, fhew a Light.

I brought a Light, faw the Captain going down
the Cockpit Ladder, the Gentleman was hailed

down ; he complained of a Pain in his Thigh
by their hailing him on board. The Captain

afked
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afked him if he would have a Dram ? he faid

no ; for he had drank nothing but Water for

two Years. The Captain ordered Mahony a

Dram, he drank it: He alio ordered one Jack

Lee to put two Boks on the Purfer's Cabbin-

Door. The Gentleman walked to and fro the

Purfer's Cabbin while they were nailing the Bolts

on. He wanted to fpeak with one of the Offi-

cers. The Carpenter told him he v/as the Car-

penter. Says the Gentleman, Do you underftand

what my Brother Sam. is going to do with me ?

and faid, his Brother had brought him on board

to murder him that Night. The Carpenter faid

he hoped not, but what was done was for his

Good. The Captain faid, they muft not mind

what his Brother faid, for he had been mad
for a Twelvemonth paft. And the Captain

went up again, and went into the Doctor's Room.

I went to Bed about eight o'clock. Some time

abcut eleven of the clock at Night I heard the

Gentleman knock, and faid, he wanted to eafe

himfelf ; to which the Centinel gave no manner

of heed. Is it not a fhame, faid he, to keep a

Gentlemen in after this manner ? At laft fome

other Perfon fpoke to the Centinel, and fays,

why don't you go up and acquaint the Captain

of it, that the Gentleman may eafe himfelf?

Soon after Mahony comes down with a Bucket,

for the Gentleman to eafe himfelf. Mahony fat

down in the Cabbin, and he and the Gentleman

had a great deal of Difcourfe together : The Gen-

tleman faid he had been at the Eaft-Indies, and told

what he had got for his Merit ; and Mahony faid,

fome by good Friends. I heard the Gentleman,

after Mahony was gone, pray to God to be his

Comforter under his Afflictions. He faid to

himfelf, he knew that he was going to be mur-

dered, and prayed that it might come to light

by one means or another. I took no notice of it,

becaufe I thought him a crazy Man. I flept a lit-

tle, and about two or three o'clock my Mife

Waked me. She faid, Don't you hear the Noife

that is made by the Gentleman ? I believe they are

killing him. I then heard him kick, and cry

out, Here is twenty Guineas, take it ; don't

murder me ; muft I die ! muft I die ! O my Life

!

and gave feveral Kecks with his Throat, and

then he was ftill. I got up in my Bed upon my
Knees, I faw a Light glimmering in at the Crack,

and faw that fame Man Mahony with a Candle in

his Hand. The Gentleman was lying on one

fide. Charles White was there, and he put out

his Hand to pull the Gentleman upright. 1 heard

Mahony cry out, Damn ye, let us get his Watch

out •, but White faid he could not get at it. I

could not fee his Pockets. White laid hold of

him, went to tumbling him up to get out his

Money, unbutton'd his Breeches to get out his

Watch ; Ifaw him lay hold of the Chain ; White

gave Mahony the Watch, who put it in his Pocket •,

and White put his Hand into one of the Gentle-

man's Pockets, and curfed that there was nothing

but Silver : But he put his Hand in the other

Pocket, and there he found Gold. White was

ooinor to give Mahony the Gold : Damn ye, fays

Mahony, keep it till by and by.

Ma. Recorder. In what Pofture did Sir John

lie at that time ?

Edward Jones. He lay in a very uneafy man-

ner, with one Leg up ; and when they moved

him, he ftill remained fo ; which gave me a Suf-

picion that he was dead. - White put his Hand
Vol. VI.

in another Pocket, took out nothing but a Piece
of Paper, was going to read it ; Damn ye, faid

Mahony, don't ftand to read it. I faw a Perfon's

Hand on the Throat of this Gentleman, and
heard the Perfon fay, 'tis done, and well done.

Mr. Recorder. Was that a third Perfon's Hand,
or the Hand of Mahony or White ?

Ed-ward Jones. I cannot fay whether it was a
third Perfon's Hand or not. I faw but two
Perfons in the Cabbin. I did not fee the Perfon,

for it was done in a Moment. I can't fwear I

faw any more than two Perfons in the Cabbin.
Mr. Recorder. Did you take notice of the

Hand that was laid on Sir John s Throat ?

Edward Jones. I did.

Mr. Recorder. Did it appear to you like the

Hand of a common Sailor ?

Edward Jones. No ; it feemed whiter.

Mr. Vernon. You have feen two Hands held

up at the Bar, 1 would afk you to which of them
it was moft like in colour ?

Edward Jones. I have often feen Mahony's and
White's Hands, and I thought the Hand was
whiter than either of theirs -, and I think it was
neither of their Hands by the Colour of it.

Mr. Recorder. Was Sir John on the Floor, or
on the Bed ?

Edward Jones. On the Bed ; but there was no
Sheets: It was a Flock- bed, and nobody had
lain there a great while.

Mr. Vernon. How long did the Cries and
Noife which you heard continue ?

Edward Jones. Not a great while ', he cried

like a Perfon going out of the World, very low.

At my hearing it I would have got out in the

mean time, but my Wife defired me not to go,

for fhe was afraid there was fomebody at the Door
that would kill me.

Mr. Vernon. What more do you know con-

cerning this Matter, or of Mahony and White's

being afterwards put on fhore ?

Edward Jones. I heard fome talking that the

Yaul was to go to fhore about Four of the Clock
in the Morning, and fome of us were called up,

and I importuned my Wife to let me go out. I

called, and afked who is Centinel ? Duncan
Buchanan anfwered, It is I. Oh, fays I, is it.

you ? I then thought myfelf fafe. I jumpt out

in my Shirt, went to him, fays I, there have

been a devilifh Noife To-night in the Cabbin,

Duncan, do you know any thing of the Matter?
they have certainly killed the Gentleman, what
fhall us do ? I went to the Cabbin Door where
the Doctor's Mate lodged, afked him if he had
heard any thingTo-night? I heard a great Noife,

faid he. I believe, faid I, they have killed that

Gentleman. He faid, he believed fo too. I

drawed afide the Scuttle that looked into the

Purfer's Cabbin from the Steward's Room, and
cried, Sir, if you are alive fpeak. He did not

fpeak. I took a long Stick, and endeavoured to

move him, but found he was dead. I told the

Doctor's Mate, that I thought he was the proper

Perfon to relate the Matter to the Officer, but he

did not care to do it then. If you will not, I

will, faid I. I went up to the Lieutenant, and
defired him to come out of his Cabbin to me.

What is the Matter ? faid he. I told him I be-

lieved there had been Murder committed in the

Cock-pit upon the Gentleman who was brought

on board laft Night. Oh! don't fay fo, fays the

Lieutenant. In that Interim, whilft we were

7 1 2 talking
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talking about it, Mr. Marjh the Midfhipman
came, and faid, that there was an Order to carry

White and Mahony on more. I then fwore they

Ihould not go on more, for there was Murder
committed. The Lieutenant faid, Fraybeeafy,

it can't be fo •, I don't believe the Captain would

cio any fuch thing. That Gentleman there, Mr.

Mar/h, went to afk the Captain, if Mahony and

White muft be put on fhore ? And Mr. Marjlj

returned again, and faid, that the Captain faid

they mould. I then faid, it is certainly true

that the Gentleman is murdered between them.

I did not fee Mahony and White that Morning,

becaufe they were put on fhore. I told the Lieu-

tenant, that if he would not take care of the

Matter, I would write up to the Admiralty, and

to the Mayor of Brijiol. The Lieutenant wanted

to get the Captain to drink a Glafs of Wine ; the

Captain would not come out of his Cabbin : Then
the Lieutenant went in firft, I followed him. I

told the Captain that my Che(t had been broke

open, and Idefired Juftice might be done. Then
I feized him, and feveral others came to my
Afliftance.

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Goodere, do you afk Mr.

Jones any Questions ?

Samuel Goodere. Do you know whether the

Midfhipman was fent away on the King's Bufinefs

or elfe only to put thofe two Men on fhore ?

Edward Jones. I know not ; you was the Cap-

tain of the Ship.

Mr. R.ecorder. Mahony, will you afk this Wit-
nefs any Queftions ?

Mahony. Did you fee me lay Hands on the

Gentleman ?

EdwardJones. Yes Idid,aslhavealready related.

{Margaret Jones fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mrs. Jones, pray acquaint Mr. Re-

corder and the Jury what you know about the Mur-
der of Sir John Dineley Goodere, (the Gentleman

ordered by Mr. Gocdere into the Purfer's Cabbin.)

Margaret Jones. About feven o'clock in the

Evening, the eighteenth of laft January, the

Captain (having been on fhore) came on board,

and came down into the Cock- pit, and afked if

the Cabbin was clean ? My Husband anfwered,

Yes. On which the Captain gave Orders to

bringdown the Gentleman •, and the Captain faid

to the Doctor, Doctor, I have got an old mad
Fellow here, you muft doctor him up as well as

you can. They brought the Gentleman into

the Cabbin, the Captain afked him how he did

now ? The Gentleman complained that he had

agreatPain in his Thigh, he was hurted by the

Mens hailing him as they had done. The Cap-

tain afked him if he would drink a Dram of

Rum ? He anfwered, No; for he faid he had

drank nothing but Water for two Years paft.

The Captain gave a Dram to feveral Perfons

there ; and he gave Orders for fome Sheets to

be brought •, and he faid to Mahony, As his Clothes

are wer, do you pull them off : And the Gen-
tleman faid to Mahony, Don't ftrip me, Fellow,

until I am dead. The Gentleman faid, Brother

Sam. what do you intend to do with me ? The
Captain told him, that he brought him there to

fave him from rotting in a Goal. About ten

o'clock Mahony was left there ; the Gentleman

defired him to go ; but Mahony faid, I have Or-

ders to abide here to take care of you. The
Gentleman faid to Mahony, I can abide by my
felf. Before the Captain went away, he bid Ma-

hony to fee if his Brother had any Knife about
him. The Gentleman gave up his Knife to Ma-
hony, defired him to care of it, for it was his

Sou's Knife. The Gentleman afked about the

Knife feveral times in the Night. About twelve
o'clock I went to fleep ; about two o'clock I a-

waked again : I heard the Gentleman talk to

Mahony, but Mahony advifed the Gentleman to

go to fleep. He faid, I cannot fleep. They talk-

ed together a great while. Mahony faid, I am to

go on fhore in the morning, and if you have any
Letters to fend to Brijtol, I will carry them
for you. I heard fomebody fay to the Gerv
tleman, You muft lie ftill, and not fpeak a Word
for your Life, Some Minutes after I heard a
great Struggling; who it was, I don't know.
The Gentlemen cried out, Murder, help for

God's fake ! and made feveral Kecks in his ThroaC
as though fomebody was {titling him. I /hook
my Hufband, told him that fomebody was ftifling

the Gentleman. I heard two People in the Cab-
bin whifpering ; I don't know who they were.
The Gentleman cried out Murder again, Help
for God's fake ! He faid, I have twenty Guineas
in my Pocket, here take it ; muft I die ! Oh my
Life ! And juft about that time, before he was
dead, fomebody from the Outfide offered to come
into the Cabbin : But I heard one of the Perfons
on the Infide fay, Keep out, you Negro ; and
then a great Noiie was made, I thought the Cab-
bin would have been beat down. Some few Mi-
nutes after the Gentleman had done ftruggling,

a Candle was brought ; I foon got up and looked
through the Crevice : I faw a Man, who I be-
lieve to be White, take the Gentleman by the
Coat, and pulled him upright. I faw Mahony
with a Candle in his Hand ; I obferved the other
to put his Hand in the Gentleman's Pocket. One
of them faid, Damn ye, pull out his Watch.
Then I faw the Perfon take hold of the Watch-
ftring and pull it out, and he faid to the other,

Here 'tis, take it, and put itinto thy Pocket. Then
one of them put his Hand in another Pocket,
and took it our, faid, here's nothing but Silver ;

and then he fearched another Pocket, and faid,

here it is •, and pulled out a Green Purfe : Soon
after that, the Door was unbolted, 1 heard a
Perfon fay, Where mail I run ? who I believe
was Mahony ; and the other, Charles White, faid,

Follow me, Boy. And they went to go upon
Deck through the Hatch-hole, which is an un-
common way : And that is all I know.
Mr. Recorder. Mr. Goodere and Mahony, do

either of you afk this Witnefsany Queftions?
Samuel Goodere. No.

Matthew Mahony. No.
{James Dudgeon fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Dudgeon, I think you are the
Surgeon's Mate belonging to the Ruby ?

James Dudgeon. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Vernon. Give Mr. Recorder and the Jury
an account what you know relating to this Mat-
ter.

James Dudgeon. I am very forry that 1 fhould
come on this Occafion againft Captain Goodere
becaufe he ever behaved towards me in a ^enteeJ
manner. The Weekbefore this happened, I was
told by one of the Officers, that the Captain was
going to bring his Brother on board ; and on
Sunday the eighteenth of January, about the dufk
of the Evening the Barge came down to the Ship,
1 was at that time walking the Qjarcer-deck

:

fome
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fome of our People feeing the Barge a coming,

they faid, our Captain is coming on board with

his Brother fure enough ; but inftead of coming
up the Quarter-deck, the Captain went down
upon the Main-deck, and I ftill kept walking

on the Quarter-deck, expecting to fee the Gen-

tleman when he went into the Great Cabbin ; but

I afterwards found that he was ordered down to

the Cock-pit. Soon after, I went down there

myfelf ; and the Captain being there, faid, Doc-

tor, I have brought a Madman to you, I don't

know what we fhall do with him, but we muft

make the beft of him that we can •, and Mahony

came down likewife : The Captain fent his Stew-

ard for a Bottle of Rum, Mahony had a dram of

it. The Captain afked Sir John, if he would

have one ? Sir John replied, no •, for, faid he,

I have not drank any thing of that nature for two

Years paft : he groaned feveral times. There

was then one Cole at the Foot of the Ladder, to

whom alfo the Captain gave a Dram : then there

was a Centinel put upon the Cabbin-door ; but

Cole afked the Captain if he might go in, and the

Captain faid he might. The old Gentleman made

a noife as the Captain went up the Ladder •, the

Captain told him, we have now brought you on

board, and will take care you fhall want for no-

thing. After the Captain was gone, Cole want-

ed to go in, but the Centinel would not let him ;

telling him, that his Orders were to let none in

but Mahony : however Cole went up, and got

leave of the Captain to go in, and he did go in.

Soon after this, the Captain came down again to

the Cock-pit, and came into my Place, and fat

down •, and after talking of things promifcuoufly,

he faid, he believed it would be proper for me
to go and feel his Brother's Pulfe -, or elfe, Doc-

tor, he faid, do you chufe to leave it alone till

To-morrow Morning ? I made anfwer, that To-

morrow Morning might be the beft time •, be-

caufe the Gentleman may be much confufed, by

being brought down on the Water. Come, faid

he, let us go in now ; for I believe, it will be as

well. If you pleafe, Sir, faid I, I will ; fo the

Centinel opened the Door, and we both went in.

Immediately after, the Captain went out again,

and forthwith the Door was fhut upon me ; which

very much furprifed me, to think that the Cap-

tain fhould leave me with a Madman, and I ob-

ferved the Captain to peep through : I then afked

the Gentleman what he moftly complain'd of,

and felt his Pulfe •, he then made fome Groans,

and told me, that he had got a great cold laft

WeekazEath, and that he felt a fevere Pain in his

Head. I was going to afk him fome more Quef-

tions,but the Captain called me, and faid, Don't

afk him any more queftions, but only feel his Pulfe.

ThentheCentinelopenedtheDoor,andIcameout,

and the Captain and I went into my Place again.

Well, Doctor, faid he, how do you find his Pulfe ?

Why, Sir, faid I, his Pulfe are very regular.

Why, faid he, I believe he was pretty much hur-

ried upon the Water. Then the Captain went

up the Ladder, and a little while after he came

down again ; there were two Midfhipmen with

me in my Place, and when the Captain came in,

they went to go out, but he defired one of them

to ftay, for he had fomething to fay to him, be-

caufe he was to go up for Letters in the Morning:

fo we fat down, and talked of various things •,

but I informed the Captain, that the old Gentle-

man have had hard Lodging To-night. Why,

faid he, I would put another Bed in there, and
have given him clean Sheets, but he would not
hear any thing of this kind. Then faid he to
me, Doctor, I believe it will not be amifs to
take an Inventory of every thing he has about
him, for fear it mould be reported that he is

robbed. I replied, Sir, it may not be amifs.
By and by Cole came tumbling down the Ladder,
the Midfhip-man opened the Curtain to fee who
it was ; Captain, faid he, that is Cole ; and I
then told that Cole had been drunk a great Part
of that Day. Soon after that the Captain opens
the Curtain, and fees Mahony ftandby the Centry.
Mahony faid he, I thought you had been about the
thing which I fent you to do •, which, I take to be
getting the Money out of the Gentleman's Poc-
ket. No, Sir, faid he, I chufe to do it after

heisafleep. Very well, faid the Captain. Then
the Captain fpoke to the Midfhip-man, and faid,

Mr. Marjh, you are to go up for Letters to-mor-
row, and if any one takes notice of what was
done to-day, you may tell the People that it is

my Brother, and he is very much difordered in

his Brains, and I have got him on board in hopes
of getting Relief for him. Sometimes, Doctor,
fays he, he can talk as well as you or I ; but at

other times, he is very much out of order. About
eight o'clock I was for going to bed, but did not

till an Hour and a half after ; and about that

time Sir John was making a great noife, and
afking who is without the Door, what muft I

do my affairs in the Cabbin, what a fhame is it,

will not you let me have any thing to do it in ?

But nobody made any Reply. Upon which I

faid to the Centinel, why don't you anfwer the

Gentleman, are not you alhamed of it? Upon
which, I fuppofe, one went up to the Captain,

and he came down, and faid, he was forry that

the Gentleman fhould make fuch a Difturbance ;

but he hoped, that the firft Night would be the

worft: Upon which the Captain went up, and
Mahony went in ; and I heard the Gentleman and
him talking together, and he afked Mahony,
what his Brother was going to do with him?
What, fays he, does he fay, I am mad ? For-

merly I ufed to be fo, but now I have not tailed

any thing ftronger than Water thefe two Years,

But, faid he, to be fure thefe Fellows are not

Sailors, who attacked me this day •, they are not

Sailors, for if fo, they are fadly degenerated

from what Sailors were formerly •, for I myfelf

have been at Sea, and might have been a Com-
mander. About half an Hour after Ten, I fell

afleep, but was very uneafy. About twelve the

Centinel was fent for to go up to the Captain, but

foon came down again ; and about half an Hour
after two I awaked, hearing fome ftir in the

Cock-pit •, and I heard Mahony's Voice in the

Cabbin, faying, Lie ftill, and fleep, Sir. In a

fhort time after that I heard a Struggle, and Sir

John cried out, here is twenty Guineas for you,

take it •, muft I die ? And it feemed to me by his

fpeaking, that they were ftifling his Mouth. Up-
on which the Perfon who ftood Centry on the

Cabbin turned the Key, whereupon Mahony cried

out in a terrible pucker, Damn ye, keep the

Door faft. Upon which I fpake, and faid, What is

the matter, what a noife is that?And the Perfon who
ftoodCeruinel made anfwer, Nothingat all,nothing

at all ; fo I lay ftill a while, andall was pretty quiet.

A little time after that, Mahony called for a Light

and the Cabbin-door was opened, and a Ljght

hanJe4
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•handed in •, the Cock-pit was then in Darknefs,

fo all was quiet again for fome time. Soon after

that the Cabbin-door was opened again, and I

heard as if two or three People were coming
put of the Cabbin, and heard Mahony fay, Which
way fhall I go ? And fomebody made anfwer, You
may go through the Hatch-hole. He repeated the

Queftion, Which way mall I go? And the other an-

fwered, By the Ship-fide. I then thought fomebody
hadbeenmurdering SWJobn fureenough, and they

are carrying off his Body that way ; at the fame

time a Perfon ftept up the Cock-pit Ladder, and

I heard the Captain's Voice, and he faid, Cen-

try, if he makes any mere noife, let me know it;

but I thought within myfelf, that he was paft

that. After this was paft, all was pretty quiet,

and the Centinel kept walking without my Room

:

I was cautious of fpeaking to him, not knowing
who he was ; but foon after one of the Captain's

Servants came down to the Score-room for Li-

quor, and he afked the Centry whether he had.

made any noife lately ? To which he reply'd,

you may tell the Captain that the Gentleman hath

been at the Lock. About half an Hour after,

the Perfon who was upon the Watch came to me,

and afked, If I had any Commands on fhore, for

the Boat was going up ? I told him no •, but,

perceiving by his Voice who it was, I called him

to come to me in the dark, and I whifper'd and

faid to him, Mr. Heatborne, here hath been a

hellifh Cabal to-night, I believe they have mur-

dered the Gentleman ; doth Mahony goon fhore?

He anfwered, that he did ; then, faid I, the

thing is done. I then afked who was the Centry

without my Door, and he told me ; whereupon I

called the Centry to me, and afked him, what
noife and cabal is this that hath been hereto-

night ? He faid, he did not know ; but the Cap-

tain, faid he, hath been down feveral times to-

night, and that he had taken the Sword from

him. Juft after this, in came Edward Jones the

Cooper, and his Wife, making and trembling
;

and faid, White and Mahony had murdered the

Gentleman fare enough. I told them, I did be-

lieve they were both going on fhore ; and I

would, faid I, have you tell the Lieutenant what

you faw of the matter, and let him know that I

am of the fame opinion with you : but do you

firft go into the Steward's Room and draw the

Scuttle, and then you'll fee whether he is dead,

or no. Upon which they went and drawed the

Scuttle, and a Cat fled in their Face, and they

found the Gentleman lay in the fame pofture as

White and Mahony left him. I then bid them go
and tell the Lieutenant the matter, that thofe

Fellows might be prevented from going afhore ;

but yet, faid I, we can't flop them neither, fee-

ing they have the Captain's Orders. Then went
Jones up forthwith, and, I believe, told the Lieu-

tenant ; and I alfo ftept up to him juft after, and
told him, that I believed Sir John was actually

murdered •, for faid I, there have been a terrible

noife in the Cock-pit to-night, and the Captain

himfelfwas there this Morning when 'twas almoft

three o'clock, and the Men that were wkh him" are

going on fhore. The Lieutenant anfwered, that

he could not flop thefe Men from going afhore,

becaufe the Captain hath given them leave ; fo,

faid he, we muft let it alone till Morning, to fee

whether the Gentleman is dead, or no. About
•.eight o'clock in the Morning I went to him again ;

but he told me it was bed to defer it till we did three o'clock.

fee whether the Captain fends down to him, or

not. It is, faid he, no way proper for us to

think of feizing the Captain, till we fee that the

Gentleman is actually dead, and have reafon to

think he is murdered. When the Captain's Break-
faft was ready, he lent for the Lieutenant and m:
to come andbreakfaft with.him : accordingly we
did •, and foon after there was a Shore- boat came
towards us, and then Mr. Chamberlayne came on
board, and went to the Lieutenant's Cabbin •, and
the Lieutenant told that Gentleman, that they
were then going to feize the Captain, for it was
believed that he had been acceffary to the Murder
of his Brother. Immediately a Meffage was
brought by one of the Men, that Sir John was
dead : upon which the Captain was forthwith
feized by eight or ten Men.

Mr. Vernon. How far was your Cabbin from
the Purfer's ?

James Dudgeon. I can't fay certainly, but be-

lieve about three Yards.

Mr. Vernon. Did you view the Body of the De-
ceafed whilft he lay dead in the Purfer's Cabbin ?

James Dudgeon. I did.

Mr. Vernon. And did you find any vifible Marks
of Violence upon him ?

James Dudgeon. Sir, I faw no Rope, but he
had a Neck-cloth about his Neck, and there were
fome Marks in his Neck, which looked like the

fcratching of Nails -, and I believe that he was
ftrangled, the Blood came out of his Nofe and
Mouth.

{William Macguinis fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Was you on board the Ruby Man
of War at the time when this matter happened?

William Macguinis. Yes, Sir, I was.

Mr. Vernon. Then give an account of what
you know concerning it.

William Macguinis. The Night in which the

Gentleman came on board, I was appointed to

be the Centinel at twelve o'clock ; but when the

Gentleman came on board, I was in my Ham-
mock. I was called up to ftand Centry in the

Gun-room ; and (pleafe you, my Lord) I had
not been long on my Poft before I faw the Cap-
tain come down ; and foon after I faw Mahony,
that Man there (pointing at the Prifoner Mahony)
alfo come down. I ftopt him, and afked him
where he was going ? Damn your Blood, you
Son of a Bitch, what is that to you ; how bufy

you make yourfelf? And when he came to thebot-

tom of the Cock-pit-Ladder, I heard him fay to

another Man, Come here, this' is the way ? But
who it was hefpake to, I know not. This was
a little after two o'clock. The Captain efpied

me, he made towards me, and waved his naked
Cutlafh, and faid, Stand back ! ftand back !

Mr. Vernon. Where was Mr. Goodere, when
he advanced towards you, and bid you ftand back ?

William Macguinis. The Captain was down in

the Cock-pit then.

Mr. Vernon. Had he any thing in his Hand ?

William Macguinis. Yes ; he had a Cutlafh.

Duncan Buchanan had been ftanding Centinel in

the Cock-pit, but was releafed by the Captain. '

Mr. Vernon. What more did you fee?

William Macgu'ms. I faw Mahony go into the

Purfer's Cabbin, and afterwards, 1 faw the Cap
tain and Mahony come up again from the Cock-pit.

Mr. Vernon. About what time ?

William Macguinis. I believe it was then about

Mr.
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Mr. Recorder. Mr. Goodere and Mahony, do

either of you afk this Witnefs any Queftions ?

Samuel Goodere. No.
Matthew Mahony. No.

(Mr. Walker fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. I think you are the City Mafon ?

Walker. I am.

Mr. Vernon. Look upon that Watch, and give

an Account how you came by it ?

Walker. I found it in the Neceffary-houfe, at

the Brockware-Boat, a Public-houfe on the Back.

Mr. Vernon. Who kept that Public-houfe at

the time you found the Watch ?

Walker. One Culliford.

Mr. Vernon. Was it accidentally, or upon

Search that you found the Watch ?

Walker. I fearched for it in the Neceffary-

houfe, by the Juftices Orders ; when I found it,

the Cafe was in one Place, and the Watch in

another, about a Yard apart.

{Sarah Culliford fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Look upon that Watch, Mrs^

Culliford ; you live at the Sign of the Brockware-

Boat on the Back, do you not ?

Sarah Culliford. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Vernon. Do you take that to be the fame

Watch, that was found by Mr. Walker, the City

Mafon, in your Neceffary-houfe ?

Sarah Culliford. Yes, Sir j I believe it is the

fame.

Mr. Vernon. From whom did you receive it,

before it was thrown into the Neceffary-houfe ?

Sarah Culliford. I received it from Mahony 1

&

Hands, that Man there ; (pointing to the Priso-

ner Mahony.)

Mr. Vernon. How long before he was appre-

hended ?

Sarah Culliford. I had it in my Poffefilon about

two Hours before, and two Hours after he was

taken up.

Mr. Vernon. And what became of it after-

wards ?

Sarah Culliford. This young Man (meaning

the Prifoner Mahony) was drinking in my
Houfe, he pulled out the Watch, delivered it

to me, and defired me to keep it for him until

he did call for it : Some Time after J had Bufi-

nefs to go out, I went into Town, and had the

Watch in my Pocket ; when I came back, my
Children told me that the Conftable had been

there to fearch the Houfe for it, which much
furprized me ; I went and threw the Watch into

the Neceffary-houfe, for fear 1 fhGuld come in

Trouble.

{Joftas Fuffel fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Fujfell, look on that Hand-
kerchief, and give an Account from whom you
had it, and when ?

Joftas Fujfell. I had this Handerchief from

Mahony, on the 19th of January lafb, the Night

when we took him, I found it upon his Neck ;

when he was feized, he took it off; I took it out

of his Hand, it was bloody then as it is now, I

put it into my Pocket.

(Mr. John Mitchel, Chief Clerk to the

Town-Clerk, fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Mitchel, what Paper is that

in your Hand ?

Mr. Mitchel. The Examination of Mathew
Mahony, the Prifoner at the Bar, taken before

Henry Combe, Efq; Mayor.

if
Mr. Vernon. Did you fee the Prifoner Mahony

fign it in hisPrefence ?

Mr. Mitchel. Yes, Sir.

Mr. Vernon. Did he do it voluntarily ?

Mr. Mitchel He did.

Mr. Vernon. Did you fee Mr. Mayor fio-n thai
Examination ?

Mr. Mitchel. Yes, I did.

Mr. Vernon. Then I defire it may be read ?

Mr. Recorder. Read the Examination ?

Clerk reads the Examination, in thefe Words

:

City andCounty \ [q
. .
ripHE voluntary Exa-

o/Briftol. 5 ' X mination and Con-
-feffion of Matthew Mahony, a Native of Ireland,
aged about 2 1 Years. This Examinant confeffetli

and faith, That about fixteen or feventeen Days
ago, and feveral times fince, he was defired by
Mr. Goodere, Captain of the Ruby Man of War,
now lying at King-Road, in the County of the
City of Briftol, to feize his, the Captain's Brother,
Sir John Dineley Goodere, Bart, and bring him on
board the faid Man of War ; and that on Tuefday
lafb, this Examinant and the Crew belonging to

the Man of War's Barge, and Edward Mac-
Daniel, John Mac-Graree, and William Hammon,
Privateer's Men, were placed by the faid Captain
at the White- Hart Alehoufe oppofite St. Au-
guftine's Church, in order to feize Sir John Dine-
ley Goodere that Day •, but it fo happened, the

Captain forbid them to do it then. And that On
Sunday laft, this Examinant, the faid Barge's
Crew, or the greateft Part of them, and George

Beft Cockftern of the Barge, the faid Edward
Mac-Daniel, John Mac-Graree, William Hammon,
and one Charles Bryer, Privateer's Men as afore-

faid, were again placed at the White-Hart afore-

faid, to feize the faid Sir John Dineley Goodere,

and waited there for fome Time ; and he coming
out of Mr. Jarrit Smith's Houfe, and coming
under St. Auftine's Church-Yard Wall, this Exa-
minant and his Comrades purfued him, and near

the Pump there, they came up with him, and
told him there was a Gentleman wanted to fpeak

with him ; and he afking where the Gentleman
was, was anfwered a little ways off, and he went
quietly a little way, but no one appearing, here-

fifted and refufed to go, whereupon this Exami-
nant and Comrades fometimes forcibly hailed and
pufh'd, and at other Times carried him over St.

Auftine's Butts, Captain Day's Rope-walk, and
along the Road to the Hot-Well, (Captain

Goodere being fometimes a little behind, and
fometimes amongft the Croud all the way) till

they came to the Slip where the Barge lay. But
Sir John was very unwilling to go, made the ut-

moft Refiftance, and cryed out Murder a great

many Times •, and when he was put into the

Barge, called out and defired fomebody would
go to Mr. Jarrit Smith, and tell him of his ill

Ufage, and that his Name was Sir John Dineley.

Whereupon the Captain clapt his Hand on Sir

John's Mouth to flop his fpeaking, and told him
not to make fuch a Noife, he had got him out of

the Lion's Mouth (meaning the Lawyers Hands)
and would take care he fhould not fpend his Eftate

;

and bid the Bargemen row away, which they did

;

and in their Paffage to the Man ofWar, the two
Brothers bicker'd all the Way : But when they

came to the Man of War, Sir John went on
board
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board as well as he could, and the Captain took

him down into the Purfer's Cabbin, and ftaid a

little Time with him, and feated him with a

Dram of Rum, and then left him for a confide-

rable Time. And in the Interim fent for this

Examinant into his, the Captain's Cabbin, and

there told this Examinant he muft murder his

Brother, for that he was mad, and fhould not

live till Four o'Clock in the Morning •, and this

Examinant reafoning with him, and telling him

he would not be concerned, and that he thought

he had brought him there with Intent only to

bring him to Reafon, and take care that he

fhould not fpend his Eftate in Law, and to have

a perfect Reconciliation ; but the Captain ftill in-

filling, that as this Examinant had taken him,

he fhould do it ; and this Examinant then fay-

ing, he was not able to do it of himfelf ; the

Captain replied, if this Examinant could get no-

body elfe, he and this Examinant muftdo it them

felves. And then ordered him to call one Eli/ha

Cole, and he being too drunk to undertake fuch

an Affair, bid this Examinant call one Charles

White, a very flout lufty Fellow, and the Captain

gave him a Dram, and bid him fit down, and

foon gave other Drams, and afk'd if he could

fight, and told him here's a Madman, he muft

be murdered, and thou fhak have a handfome

Reward. And this Examinant, the faid Charles

White, and the Captain, being all agreed to

murder the faid Sir John Dineley Goodere, the

Captain then propofed the Method, and produced

a Piece of Half-inch Rope of about nine Foot

long, and Charles White having made a Noofe in

the Rope, the Captain faid, applying himfelf to

this Examinant and the faid Charles IVhite, You

muft ftrangle him* with this Rope, and at the

fame time gave the Handkerchief now produced,

that in cafe he made a Noife, to flop his Mouth ;

and faid, I will ftand Centinel over the Door

whilft you do it; and accordingly inftantly went

out of his own Cabbin, and turned the Centinel

from the Purfer's Cabbin-Door, and let this Exa-

minant and White into the Purfer's Cabbin,

where Sir John Dineley Goodere was lying in his

Clothes on a Bed : The Captain having pulled

to the Door, and Handing Centinel himfelf, the

faid White firft flrangled Sir John with his Hands,

and then put the Rope about Sir John's Neck,

and hailed it tight, and Sir John ftruggled, and

endeavoured to cry out, but could not. And this

Examinant confeffes, that whilft White was

ftrangling Sir John, this Examinant took care to

keep him on the Bed, and when one End of the

Rope was loofe, this Examinant drew and held it

tight ; and thus each bore a part till SirJohn was

dead •, and they having rifled the deceafed of his

Watch and Money, knock'd at the Door to be

let out ; and the Captain called out, Have you

done ? They replied, Yes. He opened the

Door,, and afked again, Is he dead ? and being

anfwered in the Affirmative, and having a Light,

iwore by God he'd be fure he was dead ; and then

went in himfelf, and returning, locked the Door

and put the Key in his Pocket, and they all

went together to the Captain's Cabbin again, and

there this Examinanr ^ave the Captain Sir John's

Watch, and the Captain gave this Examinant

his own Watch in lieu of it ; and then the Cap-

tain gave them both fome Money, and White af-

terwards gave tHis Examinant eight Guineas, as

part of the Money he took out of the Deceafed's
Pocket, and then the Captain ordered them to
be put on fhore in his own Boat. And further
this Examinant confeffes^ and faith, That before
and after the Murder was committed, the Cap-
tain, Charles White, and this Examinant confulred
what to do with theCorpfe; and the Captain pro-
pofed to keep it two or three Days in the Ship,
and as he expected to go to Sea, would few it rib
in a Hammock, or fomething clfe, and there
throw it overboard : And that before this Exa-
minant and his Comrades were fent to feize Sir
John, as is before fet forth, they were ordered by
Captain Goodere, that, if they met with any Re-
fiftance they fhould repel Force by Force, and
were prepared with fhort heavy Sticks, or Blud-
geons for that purpofe.

Matthew Mabony.

Mr. Recorder. [Speaking to the Jury.] Gen-
tlemen, you are to take notice, that this Confef-
fion is Evidence againft the Prifoner Mahony alone,
and fo far only ought you to regard k. h is no
Evidence, nor ought you to lay any Strefs upon
it, as againft the Prifoner Goodere.

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Recorder, we have gone
through with our Evidence of the Fact, and here
we fhould have relied it, were it not that Mr.
Goodere, by his ftrict Enquiry into the Spot where
the Ship lay, feems to queftion whether it was
within this County or not : A Queftion, which,
I confefs, I no more expected to hear of, than
whether we ourfelves are now within it. How-
ever to obviate all Pretence of that Kind, and
give the Gentlemen of this Jury as full Satisfaction

in the Point, as undoubtedly the Grand Inqueft
for the Body of this County had before they
found the Bill, we fhall beg leave to call a Wit-
nefs or two, juft to fhew that King-Road has been
conftantly taken to lie within the City and County
of Brijlol ; and that accordingly the Sheriffs Offi-

cers of Brijlol, from time to time, have ufed to
execute both the City and County Procefs in

King-Road; which, I apprehend, will of itfelf

be fatisfactory Evidence, without entring into
any other Difquifition of the County Limits
Call Mr. Wint.

(John WinI fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Wint, what Officer are you
in Brijlol ?

John Wint. I am an Officer to the Sheriffs of
Brijlol, and have been fo for thefe thirty Years
and upwards.

Mr. Vernon. Have you been ufed, as an Offi-

cer to the Sheriffs of Brijlol, to ferve Procefs in

King- Road ?

John Wint. I have ferved Procefs in King-Road
forcy or fifty Times.

Mr. Vernon. How far down the River ?

John Wint. Very often down as far as Pojfei

Point.

Mr. Recorder. What Kind of Procefs have

you ferved there ?

John Wint. Town Actions out of the Mayor
and Sheriffs Court, and out of the Piepowder
Court.

Mr. Recorder. Have you ever executed Pro-

cefs there which was directed to the Sheriffs of

Brijlol ?

John Wint. Yes, Sir, I have ferved Sheriffs

Warrants, or Writs, iffued from above, out

of



1 74 1 . Brift . andMatthew Mahony, for Murder. 819

of the Court of Kings-Bench and Common-Pleas Mrs. Gethins. Sir, I have already faid that

to the Sheriffs of Bnftol. you fpoke to me about a Room to put your Bro-

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Goodere, will you afk this ther in, but what you mention about Mahony, I

Witnefs any Queftions ? know nothing of that.

Samuel Goodere. Yes, Sir : Is all that is called Mr. Vernon. Pray is King-Road in the Road
King-Road within the Liberty of the City of toyourHoufe?

Briftol? Mrs - Gethins. No, Sir.

John M T

int. Yes it is. Mr. Vernon. Was your Garret a proper Place

Samuel Goodere. Are youfure of it? of Accommodation for a Gentleman, and one

John Wint. I know where the Ship Ruby lay who was efteemed an Englijh Baronet think you ?

was within the City of Briftol. Pray, do you keep a Mad-houfe, Madam ?

Samuel Goodere. How do you know that ? Mrs. Gethins. No.

John Wint. Becaufe I have been 'down with Mr. Vernon. Don't you think fuch a Confine-

the Mayor to the Holmes. ment would have been the way to have made him
Mr. Vernon. Call Mr. Lowden. mad ?

(Mr. Lowden fworn.) Mr. Recorder. Was any Perfon as you know
Mr. Vernon. What Officer are you, Mr. to have taken care of him in your Garret ?

Lowden? Mrs. Gethins. I have heard the Captain talk

Lowden. I have been an Officer in this City with his own Doctor about it.

about nineteen Years : I have ferved Town Samuel Goodere. I ihall give you and the Jury •

Actions, Town Warrants, and Warrants made as little trouble as may be. I have an Evidence

out upon Writs from the Courts of JVeftminfter- in Relation to Mahony and White's going away
Hall, and th& Admiralty, in King-Road: And any at Four o'Clock in the Morning, becaufe it is

Part of King-Road on the Southward of the charged that I fent them away. The Boat went

Denney, we always take it to be in the Liberties away in the King's Service to bring Letters,

of Briftol. (Mr. Marjh fworn
.

)

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Recorder, we have done. Samuel Goodere. Did you go afliore in the

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Goodere, and Matthew Morning about the King's Bufinefs, or what Bu-

Mahony, the Counfel for the King has gone thro' finefs did you go about ?

with his Evidence, and now is your Time to Mr. Marjh. I had an Order about Eight

enter upon your Defence. o'Clock the Night Sir John was brought on board

Samuel Goodere. May it pleafe your Lordfhip, to go up in the Morning to Briftol for the Letters

I lhall endeavour to give you and the Jury as from the Admiralty, and about Four of the

little Trouble as pofTible. I fhall call Evidence Clock in the Morning I was called up to go; but

to prove that the Gentleman was a Lunatick, and the Lieutenant feemed much difordered, and bid

difordered in his Senfes, and I was doing my me come to him before I fet out. I waited on

beft to take care of him. the Lieutenant, and told him, that White and
Call Mrs. Gethins. Mahony faid they had Liberty to go on more,

Mr. Recorder. What do you call her to that the Captain had given them Liberty to go -,

prove? the Lieutenant faid, he knew nothing of it. But

Samuel- Goodere. I call her to prove that before as it is always my way, before I carry any body

my Brother was taken onboard, I was to take an °ff> I faid, I would go to the Captain and afk

Upper-room of her to put him in, where he leave. I went to the Captain, and afked him,

might be taken care of, to cure his Madnefs. if White and Mahony had Liberty from him
Mr. Recorder. What, Mr. Goodere, do you to go on fhore ? and he faid, Yes, let them

admit then that you did take your Brother on g°-

board ? Samuel Goodere. Mr. Marjh, did you go upon
Samuel Goodere. I do admit that I carried my the King's Bafinefs, or on purpofe to take up

Brother on board. I went in the Boat along thefe Men ?

with him. Mr. Marjh. I went about the King's Bufi-

(Mrs. Gethins fworn.) nefs.

Samuel Goodere. Mrs. Gethins, didl notfpeakto Mr. Vernon. But it was after Sir John was

you a Fortnight or three Weeks before rny Brother brought on board, that Mr. Goodere ordered you
was taken on board the Ship, to have a Garret to go up ?

of you to put him in, and that Mahony was Mr. Marjh. Yes, Sir, it was.

to have five Pounds a Month to take care of Mr. Vernon. Did any body elfe go up with

him ? you, befides Mahony and White ?

Mrs. Gethins. The Prifoner Captain Goodere, Mr. Marftj. No, there did not.

did afk me if I had not a Garret to let him keep Mr. Vernon. Did Mr. Goodere give you Or-
his Brother in, for that he was a Mad-man : And ders to put them on fhore in any particular

Captain Goodere never made it a Secret that he Place ?

intended to take and keep his Brother as a Mad- Mr. Marftj. I will do Juflice between Man
man. and Man ; the Captain did not give me Orders

Samuel Goodere. Whether I did not tell you to put them on fhore in any particular Place,

that Mahony was to take care of my Brother a Mr. Vernon. Were they landed publickly or

Fortnight or three Weeks before he was taken on privately ?

board ? Speak to the time as near as you can re- Mr. Marftj. I put them on more at the Gibb,

collect ; and whether you knew that Mahony about fix of the clock in the Morning,

was to have five Pounds a Month, and that I Samuel Goodere. Now, may it pleafe you, Sir,

made no manner of Secret of it, and that I en- I fhall fhew that Mahony had bufinefs at Briftol

deavoured to take care of him as a Lunatick. that Day by Appointment, to receive fome Wages
Vol. VI. 7 U that
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for which purpofe I fhall

thing of

of Mahony's coming to

to fettle an Affair with

that was due to him

call Mr. Dagg.

{Abel Dagg, Keeper of Newgate, fworn.)

Samuel Goodere. Do you know any

Captain Mervin, and

Brifiol on the Monday

him ?

Abel Dagg. There was one Captain James

Mervin who failed into this Port, and on his

coming was charged as a Debtor in my Houfe,

at the Suit of fome Gentleman in London, in an

Action of three or four hundred Pounds. Ma-
hony was one of his Sailors until he was preft,

and he charged the faid Mervin with an Action

for his Wages. Captain Mervin had a defire to

make up the matter with Mahony. I went to

the Captain of the Man of War the Tuefday or

Wednesday before this Affair happened, which

was the firft time I ever faw him, to the beft of

my knowledge : The Captain faid he would

meet me the Monday following, in order to ac-

commodate the difference.

Mr. Vernon. Was Mahony appointed to meet

you that Day, or not ?

Mr. Recorder. Mind the Queftion, was Ma-
hony to come that Monday ?

Abel Dagg. The Captain made an Appoint-

ment, my Lord, to meet on the Monday ; and

I told Mr. Taylor the Attorney, that Mahony was

to come on fhore that day, to make up the mat-

ter lfetween him and Mervin.

Mr. Vernon. I would afk you another Queftion ;

Had White too any Affair to make up at Brijlol .
?

Abel Dagg. No, I know nothing of that.

Samuel Goodere. Now I call Bridget King.

Mr. Recorder. What do you call her for ?

-Samuel Goodere. Touching the Lunacy of Sir

John Dineley.

{Bridget King fworn.)

Samuel Goodere. Mrs. King, will you give the

Court an account of what you know of the Lu-
nacy of my Brother Sir John Dineley.

Bridget King. Pleafe you, my Lord, I think

he was mad ; for he would get up at two or three

of the clock in the Morning, and call his Ser-

vants up, and fall a finging ; and then he would

go to bed again, and fwear it was but twelve

o'clock at Night, and lie a-bed all Day. He
would fend his Boy out all over his Grounds to

pick up Stones, and have the Wheelbarrow rat-

tling about the Streets on a Sunday: he hath ringed

the Bell to call his Servants up to his Bed-fide,

and when they were come up, he would afk

them what they did there, and fwear they were

come to fhoot him ? He himfelf hath gone over

all his Grounds on a Sunday to pick Sticks, and

hath fent his Servants to Market when there was
none ; and he would be bufy in every thing, and

hang on the Pot himfelf; and he hath been quite

raving mad.

Mr. Vernon. Did you live as a Servant with

Sir John ?

Bridget King. I lived as a Servant with him
in London, and he came down for the Air to

Tockington ; he brought me down to go to Bath.

Mr. Vernon. How long did you continue with

him ?

Bridget King

Mr. Vernon.

A Twelvemonth, Sir.

And how durft you venture to

live fo long with a Mad-man ? He did not go
mad for love of you, I hope ? Have you lived

any time in Brijlol?

Bridget King. No.
Mr. Vernon. Then I fuppofe you came but now

from London.

Bridget King. Yes, I did.

Samuel Goodere. Do you believe he was a Mad-
man ?

Bridget King. In the Actions that I have feen

by him, I have reafon to chink he was a Mad-
man.

(Mrs. Mary Stafford fworn.)

Samuel Goodere. Mrs. Stafford, will you tell his

Lordfhip and the Jury what you know of Sir

John being a Lunatick ?

Mary Stafford. Sir John hired me for a Houfe-
keeper in London, and told me he had a
great many Servants, and he wanted a Houfe-
keeper. When he brought me down, he or-

dered me to his Seat at Tockington ; where, he
faid, he had a great deal of Company frequently.

When I came there, I found there was nothino-

in what he had told me ; for, inftead of a great
many Servants, he had but one : a poor old flut-

tered Houfe, ready to tumble down about one's

ears, and the Houfhold Goods all to pieces : he
was a Mad-man •, for if I had followed his Di-
rections in any thing, I fhould have done mif-
chief. He hath fent me and the reft of his Ser-

vants to Thornbury Market, when there was none;
he hath ringed the Bell to call his Servants to
come to his Bed-fide to him, and when we have
come up to him, he hath afked us, what we did
there ? Sir, faid I, you called me up •, he hath
faid, he did not : and after we had been there a
quarter of an Hour, he would take a Knife, Fork,
Glafs-Bottle, or any thing that came in his way,
to throw at us, afking of us, what did we come
to rob him ? And I was afraid of my Life, to

live with him. I do believe he was a Mad-man,
or elfe he would never have acted as he did : he
would go into the Kitchen, and take the Pot and
hang it on the Fire. I ftyle him a Mad-man by
his Actions.

Mr. Vernon. And muft he therefore be hanged
himfelf like a mad Dog, think you ?

Mary Stafford. I know nothing of that, Sir.

Mr. Vernon. How long did you live with Sir

John ?

Mary Stafford. Three Months, Sir.

Samuel Goodere. Call Mr. Robert Cock.

Mr. Recorder. What do you call him to

prove ?

Samuel Goodere. My Lord, in order to prove

Sir John Dineley a Lunatick. Mr. Cock, will you
give, an account to my Lord and the Jury what
you know of the Lunacy of Sir John Dineley ?

{Robert Cock fworn.)

Robert Cock. My Lord, I have known Mr.
Dineley at Charlton for fome Years ; I have been

feveral times in his Company •, I have feen him
do feveral Acts of Lunacy as a Mad-man.

Mr. Vernon. Where do you live ?

Robert Cock. I live in Cumberland, when lam
at home.

Mr. Vernon.

Robert Cock.

Majefty.

Mr. Vernon.

Robert Cock.

Are you of any Bufinefs ?

I am an Officer belonging to his

What kind of Officer?

A Salt Officer.

Samuel Goodere. I will not give your Lordfhip
and the Jury much more trouble. I am entirely

innocent ; they have not proved that I was pre-

fers at the Death of Sir John Dineley.

Mr.
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Mr. Recorder. Don't deceive yourfelf; though

they have not proved that you was actually in the

Cabbin, when Sir John was murdered, yet they

have given Evidence of that, which (if the Jury

give Credit to) will amount to Prefence in the

eye of the Law.

Samuel Goodere. I mail now call fome WitnefTes

to my Character, and likewife to fhevv how im-

probable it is, that I mould be guilty of the

Murder of my Brother. Call Mr. Pritchard.

(Mr. Pritchard fworn.)

Mr. Pritchard. I have known Mr. Goodere, the

Prifoner at the Bar, many Years : He always

bore the Character of a good Hufband, a good

Neighbour, and a kind Friend.

Samuel Goodere. I fliall call a Perfon who faw

the Will of Sir John Dineky ; and then any body

Mr. Watkins. I never did ; but on the con-
trary, I take him to have been a Man that always
had his Senfes in a regular Exercife.

Mr. Vernon. Do you know, Sir, whether there

was any Mifunderftanding between the two Bro-
thers ?

Mr. Watkins. There has been a long Mifunder-
ftanding between them.

Mr. Vernon. What have ycu heard the Prifo-

ner Mr. Goodere fay, in relation to Sir John's
making his Will ?

Mr. Watkins. I believe he told me, that Sir

John had not power to make a Will : I told him
it was my Opinion, if they would be reconciled

together, Sir Johns Will would not Hand.
(Mr. Thomas fworn.)

Samuel Goodere. Mr. Thomas, how long have

would think that I mould be the maddeft Man in you known me, and what was my Character ?

the World to commit a Murder that I knew

would be Forty Thoufand Pounds Damage to me.

It was my bufmefs, confidering the Circumftance

of the Will, and that I was Sir John's Heir at

Law, at all events to preferve him. Call Mr.

Watkins.

(Reverend Mr. Watkins fworn.)

Samuel Goodere. Mr. Watkins, did not you fee

or hear the Contents of Sir John Dincley's Will,

Mr. Thomas. 1 have known the Prifoner, Mr.
Samuel Goodere, a great many Years, have very
often been in his Company : I never found but
that he ever behaved with all the Good-nature
that poffibly could be. I always took him to be
a good-natured well-behaved Man, and he is a

Man well-beloved in his Country.

(Mr. Ajhfield fworn.)

Mr. Ajhfield. I have known Mr. Goodere a great

and did you not tell me prefently after the Will many Years, I never heard any ill of him till

was made the Contents of it, and how long was

that before his Death ?

Mr. Watkins. It was above three Months, or

half a Year before his Death, to the beft of my
Knowledge. It was fo long ago, as you dined

with me at Cropthorne.

Samuel Goodere. Did you not inform me, that

that Will did cut me off of every thing, and

this Affair; he is reputed in the Country of a
general good Character. I have been concerned for

him in feveral Suits, I never knew any ill of him.
Mr. Vernon. Pray, Sir, what have you heard

Mr. Goodere fay, concerning his Brother's cut-

ting off the Entail of his Eftate ?

Mr. Ajhfield. I have heard Mr. Goodere fay,

that his Brother had no power to cut off the En-
tail, and that he would fet the Recovery afide ; I

have heard him fay that forty times.

Mr. Vernon. What is your opinion as to the

gave the Eftate to the Foots ; and that Sir John

told you fo ?

Mr. Watkins. Sir John told me that he had

made his Will, and had cut his Brother off from Sanity or Infanity of Sir John ?

every thing •, and that he had given the Eftate to

the Foots : of which I told Mr. Goodere foon

after.

Samuel Goodere. How long ago ?

Mr. Watkins. I can't tell exactly ; about half

aYear, or three quarters of a Year, it might be

Mr. Ajhfield. I never thought him a Mad-man ,

I always thought him one of the beft Under-
ftanding in the whole Family.

(Reverend Mr. Rogers fworn.)

Mr. Rogers. I have been acquainted with the

Prifoner Goodere feveral Years, I know he hath

Mr. Vernon. They have been giving Sir John behaved very well, done good Offices to all Man-
the Character of being a Lunatick ; I think, Sir, kind ; and I never heard any other of him.

you are Minifter of Crophorne, and muft, I pre- [Mr. George Forcevil fworn.]

fume, have been pretty converfant with Sir John, Mr. Forcevil. The Prifoner Goodere hath been

and a frequent Witnefs of his Behaviour in that my Neighbour for fourteen or fifteen Years ; he

Neighbourhood ; be pleafed therefore to fpeak hath always behaved well in his Neighbourhood,

what you know, as to his Sanity or Infanity of and has a very good Character ; he conftantly

Mind. attended his Church twice a Day Sundays, and
Mr. Watkins. Sir John's Character in my opi- would be there at Prayers almoft every Day ; he

nion hath been very much mifreprefented to the was always a fober Man, and a good-humoured

World. During my Acquaintance with him, I Gentleman. I thought him to be a good Man.
have found him to be a good Neighbour, and a Samuel Good,ere. Mr. Recorder, I would not

kind Friend : He was a Man of ftrong Paffions ; give you and the Jury any more troubi; in rela-

if any one affronted him, he would let the Party tron to my Character ; all I have to fay further

know that he did refent it. All his Tenants of our

Country, and thofe I have converfed with fay,

that he was one of the beft of Landlords.

Mr. Vernon. I don't afk you, Sir, concerning

his moral Character; but whether he was in his

is, my being deprived of Evidence in my Be-

half, by reafon of my Diforder and the Sicknefs

in the Goal, which hath prevented my Fr ^nds

from coming to me to advife me about mak -ng

my Defence ; and alfo of having feveral Wit-
nefTes from on board the Ship, which might have
been of great Service to me. I had an Order
from the Lords of the Admiralty to reqi re

he was then in very good them to ftay on fhore, if I had occafion lor then ;

but, as the Ship was gone before the Letter ca^e
did you ever know him to my hands, I have no occafion now to tell i ,e

Names of the Perfons.

7 U z Mr,

Senfes, or not ?

Mr. Watkins. In his Senfes! I faw him lad

Chrijtmas, he was making up his Accounts with

feveral of his Tenants

Underftanding.

Mr. Vernon. Pray

vifited with Lunacy ?

Vol. VI.
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[Mr. Goodere held up the Letter in his hand,

but the Court did not receive it.]

Mr. Frederick. Mr. Recorder, there have been

feveral Afperfions publifhed in the New-papers,

to the prejudice of Mr. Goodere ; there has been

a Pamphlet alfo publifhed, which I have here in

my hand, intitled, The Briftol Fratricide ; but I

hope the Gentlemen of the Jury will take no notice

of, nor be influenced by them againft the Prifoner.

Mr. Vernon. I dare fay they will have no Regard

to any Book, but that on which they have been

fworn: thofe who know them and their Charac-

ters, muft certainly think fo.

[The Jury declared they had never feen any

fuch Pamphlet, or Papers.]

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Recorder, we muft beg leave

to alk Mr. Jarrit Smith's Opinion, as to Sir John's

being a Lunatick, or not ?

Mr. Jarrit Smith. Mr. Recorder, I am fur-

prifed to hear it faid by fome of Mr. Goodere's

WitnefTes, that Sir John Dineley Goodere was

mad ; I knew him fourteen or fifteen Years, and

converfed with him both in Perfon and by Let-

ter 5 but never difcovered that he was in the lead

diforderedin his Senfes, I always took him to be

a Man of found Underftanding. On the Sunday

,

the Day before his Death, he expreffed himfelf

with a great deal of Good-nature and Affection

at the fight of his Brother.

Mr. Shephard. Mr. Recorder, with humble
Submiffion, I am inftructed to offer it in Evidence,

that the Place where the Ship lay is not within

this City and County of Briftol.

Mr. Vernon. We have already proved it to be

within the County of Briftol ; nor is there the

leaft reafon to apprehend, that Mr. Recorder will

extend the Rule of Boni Judicis eft ampliare Ju-
rifdiclionem to the extending of the County an

Inch beyond its ancient and known Limits : He
is too juft to attempt it. On the other hand, we
may depend he will not fufFer the County-Limits

to be abridged, but fervare Jus illafum; and (as

he hath hitherto done) difcountenancea! 1 Encroach-

ments on the Rights and Franchifes of Briftol.

Mr. Recorder. It has been proved, and indeed

it can't be denied, that at the time the Fact in

queftion was committed, the Ship lay in King-

road ; and I think the Evidence which has been

given of the Exercife of Jurifdiction by the Ma-
giftrates of the City and County of the City in

King-road, and of the Sheriff's Officers executing

Procefs of all kinds there, amounts to a full Proof

that King-road is within the Body of the County

of the City of Briftol. It is the fame fort of Proof

by which the Bounds of every County in the

Kingdom muft be afcertain'd, the doing Acts in

the Place in queftion by the Officers of the County,

which muft be done in that County, and no other.

Mr. Goodere. All King-road is not in Briftol.

Will yourLordfhip pleafe to admit me to call Mr.
///// ? he is a Gentleman that has furvey'd the

Situation of the Place where the Ship lay, and
will defcribe it.

Mr. Vernon. I am forry to find Mr. Goodere

driven to this Subterfuge in his Defence, I could

wifh he had one to make on the Merits ; if he

ftands upon his Innocence, what need of all this

Stir about the Station of the Ship, or where on
Earth can he hope to be tried before a fairer, or

more impartial Judicature than the prefent ?

Samuel Goodere. Call Mr. HilL

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Goodere, if you can fhew

that any Part of King-road is, or ever was efteem-
ed to be in any other County than the County of
the City of Briftol, I will hear you ; otherwife

it will be to no purpofe to defcribe the Situation

of the Ship, fince it is admitted that fhe lay in

King-road.—Mahony, have you any thing to fay?

Mahony. I hope your Lordfhip will confider

that I was a poor, prefs'd Servant, and I was
drunk when I made the Confeflion, and I was
frightned out of my Wits.

Mr. Recorder. You fay you were drunk when
you made the Confeflion ; 'tis poffible, that Night
when you were firft taken and brought before the

Magiftrates, you were in Liquor, but it feems
your Confeflion was not taken 'till the next Day.

Mahony. My Lord, I was in Bridewell, I did
not fleep a Wink the whole Night.

Mr. Recorder. Have you any WitnefTes to call ?

Mahony. No, pleafe your Lordfhip, I am a
Stranger here, I have no Witneffes to call.

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Recorder, I apprehend we
are in a Cafe exceeding clear againft both the
Prifoners at the Bar ; and, confidering that Death
and Life are in the Power of the Tongue, I am
unwilling to reply, where Life is at ftake ; but,

as Mr. Goodere feems to lay fome Strefs on the
Circumftance of his not being actually in the
Cabbin, at the time his Brother was murder'd
there, I beg, Sir, you will indulge me an Ob-
fervation or two as to that fingle Point : Not
that I imagine the leaft Doubt in Law can re-

main with Mr. Recorder, but being in the Cafe
of a Capital Profecution, I would leave no Ob-
jection unanfwered that has the leaft Dependance
on the Law ; and I agree, Sir, that in order to

bring Mr. Goodere within the Compafs of the In*

dictment, he muft appear to have been prefenr9
as an Abettor, at the Perpetration of the Mur-
der. The Law is extremely clear in this Parti-

cular, but then it is as clear, that if feveral Per*
fons are engaged in a Defign of murdering ano-

ther, and one of the Party ftands upon the

watch, at the Room or Houfe-door, whilft the

reft actually commit the Murder, he is, in the

Judgment of the Law, prefent at the Murder,
and as much a Principal in it as the reft : and the

Law is the fame, though he ftood at a confide-

rable diftance from the Place where the Murder
was committed, as at the Gate or the Lane's
End ; for it is not neceflary he ihould be in

Confpetlu, if near enough at hand to embolden his

Accomplices in the Murder, through the Hopes
of prefent Affiftance, or Security from the Per-

fon upon the watch. And fo it is exprefsly kid
down, in Lord Chief-Juftice Hale's Hiftory of
the Pleas of the Crown, in the Chapter oiPetit-

Treafon ; where he fays, that if a Wife or Ser-

vant confpires with a Stranger to kill the Huf-
band or Mafter, and be in the fame Houfe with

the Stranger whilft he commits the Murder, the

Wife or Servant is guilty of Petit-Treafon,

though not in the fame Room where the Murder
was committed. The fame Doctrine is laid down
in fecond Hawkins's PI. Cor. 312. (whom as a

living Author I cite, only for the fake of

the Authorities he has been at great Pains in col-

lecting.) And the Cafe of Lord Dacre is full in

point: My Lord Dacre, with Manfel and feveral

others, went by Night into another's Park, un-

lawfully to kill Deer •, my Lord waited about the

Park-Gate upon the watch, whilft the reft went
a quarter of a Mile into the Park, where they

met

!
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met and killed the Keeper ; Lord Bacre, though

atfo great Diftance when the Keeper was killed,

was adjudg'd a Principal in the Murder, and ac-

cordingly died for it. And agreeable to this,

was likewife the Cafe of Berry , (the Porter of

Somerfet-Houfe) who was concerned with Green,

Hill and others, in the Murder of Sir Edmund-

Bury Godfrey ; fome of them way-laid that wor-

thy Magistrate, and having indeed him into the

Yard leading to Somerfet Houfe, Green, Hill and

others ftrangled him. Berry was one of their

Gang, andwhilffcthe others were committing the

Murder, flood at a great diftance from them on

the watch, upon the Stairs leading to the upper

Court of Somerfet-Houfe : he was indicted with

Green and Hill, as being prefentand abetting the

Murder, and upon this Evidence was convicted

and executed. Gentlemen of the Jury, in the Cafe

now before you, it is fully made out in Proof,

that the Deceafed was under one continuing arm-

ed Force, from the Inftanr. of his being feized to

that of his Death ; and that his Brother (the Pri-

soner Mr. Goodere) put and kept him under that

Force. Then, Gentlemen, Mr. Goodere's dis-

placing Buchanan from the Cabbin-door, and

placing himfelf there in his ftead, with the drawn

Sword in his Hand -, Mahony's entering into, and

being let out of the Cabbin, whilft Mr. Goodere

kept Guard at the Door of it ; Mr. Goodere wav-

ing his Sword at Macguinis, and handing in the

Candle ; the dying Outcries of his Brother (which

could not but reach his Ears, thought not his

Heart) and other black Ingredients in this dread-

ful Cafe, are an undeniable Proof that Mr. Goodere

was concerned with Mahony and White as their Ac-

complice in his Brother's Murder, and took his

Stand at the Cabbin-door with no other Intent

than to embolden and affift them in the Perpe-

tration of that cruel Aft, and keep off others

from coming to his Brother's Relief, or from

difturbing them in the fatal Bufinefs they were

about. Under which Circumftance he is guilty

in the fame degree as Mahony -, and in the Eye

of the Law looked upon to have been as much

prefent at his Brother's Death (as an Abettor of

the Murder) as if he had ftood by the Bed-fide

and held the Sword over his Head, whilft Mahony

he looked upon as difordered in his Senfes, and
with a view of reducing him to Reafon ; then
furely Mr. Goodere's Cafe is very different froni

the Lord Dacre's. And that Mr. Goodere did
look upon his Brother to be fo

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Shephard, you are going off

from the Point of Law to Matter of Fact ; I

fhall charge the Jury, that if they believe Mr.
Goodere ftood at the Cabbin-door in order to pre-

vent any Perfons coming, who might have pre-

vented the Murder, or to encourage thefe wichin

the Cabbin in the Bufinefs they were about, they

muft find him guilty on this Indictment ; other-

wife they muft acquit him.

Mr. Shephard. If he was not there with that

Intention, he cannot be guilty ; and in this Cafe
no fuch Intention appears.

Mr. Recorder. Flis Intention is Matter of Fact,

which muft be left to the Jury on the whole
Evidence.

Gentlemen of the Jury,

THE Prifoners at the Bar, Matthezv Mahony
and Samuel Goodere, ftand indicted for the

Murder of Sir John Dineley Goodere. And the

Indictment charges that Mahony ftrangled him,
and that the Prifoner Goodere was prefent, aiding
and abetting him in the Fact. They are both
charged as Principals in the Murder. For, Gen-
tlemen, in the Eye of the Law, the Pcrfon who
is prefent, aiding and abetting, is as much a Prin-

cipal in the Murder, as the Perfon who actually

commits the Fact. "Whether the Prifoners, or
either of them, be guilty in manner charged in

the Indictment, you are to determine upon the

Evidence you have heard.

The Evidence has been very long •, but I will

endeavour to lay the material Parts of it before

you in fuch a light, as may beft affift you in your
prefent Enquiry.

'Tis out of all doubt, that Sir John Dineley

Goodere was ftrangled on board the Ruby Man of
War in King-road, in the Night between the

eighteenth and nineteenth of January laft. And
therefore what paft at that time, which may af-

fect the Prifoners, or either of them, as they ftand

charged on this Indictment, wili deferve your

was ftrangling him. So that, Gentlemen, I ap- principal Attention. But as the Profecutors have

prehend we have made good the Indictment a- (very properly I think) gone pretty far back in

gainft both the Prifoners, by clear and convin- their Evidence, in order to fhew by what means

cing Evidence ; and therefore doubt not but their Sir John was got on board, it will be neceffary

Guilt will ftand recorded to future Ages by the for you to take that Part of the Evidence like-

Juftice of your Verdict. wife into Confideration.

Mr. Shephard. Mr. Recorder, will you pleafe The firft Witnefs is Mr. Chamherlayne,

to indulge me a Word as to the Point of Law ? tells you, that about three Weeks before

Mr. Vernon mentions, in the Cafe of the Park

that he hath taken notice of, the Lord Dacre and

Jus Party came by Night unlawfully to kill Deer,

and therefore the Law prefumed they all came

with an intent to oppofe all that fhould hinder

them in thatDefign •, and fo when one killed the

Keeper, it muft be prefumed the Aft of all, be-

caufe purfuant to that intent. But whether the

prefent Cafe iscircumftanced as that Cafe, ought

to be confide'ed. I do admit that Mr. Goodere

was down in the Cock-pit at the time this Fact

was done, and he was certainly obliged (as hath

L;en obferved) by the Law of Nature to take

care of his Brother. Bat if he had no other In-

tention of carrying him on board the Ship, than

to fecure and take care of him as a Perfon whom

who
the

Murder happened, Mr. Goodere defired him to

ufe his good Offices with Mr. Jarrit Smith a

Friend of Sir John's, in order to bring about a

Reconciliation between Sir John and him.

Mr. Smith tells you, that Mr. Chamherlayne did

apply to him for that Purpofe ; and afterwards

brought Mr. Goodere to his Houfe on the fame

Errand : And that Mr. Goodere then repeated the

fame Requeft Mr. Chamherlayne had before made
in his Behalf. He fays he propofed the matter

to Sir John, who with fome Difficulty confented

to give Mr. Goodere a Meeting-, which wasfix'd

for Tuefday the 13th of January, at Mr. Smith's

Houfe in theColledge-Green, 01 which Mr. Goodere

had timely Notice. That on Tuefday the 13th,

Sir John rode up to his Door, and having juft

2 alighted
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alighted and acquainted him that he could not at

that time ftay -, but that the next Time he

came to Town, which would be the Saturday or

Sunday following, he would meet his Brother ;

he mounted his Horfe, and went oft, attended

by his Servant, both armed with Piltols. Pie

fays, that on the fame Day he met with Mr.

Goodere, and acquainted him, that Sir John would

be again at his Houfe on Saturday or Sunday ; and

it was then agreed that Mr. Good: re fhould have

notice when Sir John came. He fays, that on

Sunday Morning the 1 8th of January Sir John

fent him word, that he would be at his Houfe

that Day, at any Hour he fhould appoint •, and

accordingly Three in the Afternoon was ap

pointed^ He 'fays, that the fame Morning he

gave Mr. Goodere Notice of the Appointment.

That in the Afternoon Sir John and Mr. Goodere

met at his Houfe, where mutual Civilities palled

between them : That Sir John foon took his

Leave, the Witnefs and Mr. Goodere waiting on

him to the Door. Pie fays, that he prefs'd Mr.

Goodere to fray longer ; and faid to him, I hope

I have done great Thinss. To which Mr.

Goodere reply'd with fome Emotion, By God this

will not do ; and immediately followed Sir John

down the Hill. He fays, that Handing at his

Door he cbferved a Company of Sailors gathering

about Sir John, and heard Mr. Goodere fay to

them, Is he ready, or is it ready ? (he is not, I

believe, pofitive, what were the Words ;) To
which fome of the Sailors anfwered, Yes, Sir.

Whereupon the whole Company went haft ily off,

fome towards the Butts, others towards the Lower

Green ; and Mr. Goodere follow'd them by the

Butts. Mr. Smith had no Sufpicion at that time

that the Sailors were offering Violence to Sir

John, and fo made no farther Enquiry into the

matter; 'till a Soldier, who islikewife produced as

a Witnefs, told him what happen'd at the Barge.

The next Witnefs they produced is Maurice

Hobbs, who, it feems, keeps the White-Hart

Alehoufe at the Foot of the CoHedge-Green : And,
Gentlemen, you will obferve, that from the

Front Windows of that Houfe, one may have a

View of Mr. Smith's. And he tells you, that

on Monday the 12th of January laft the Prifoners

at the Bar came to his Houfe ; that Mr. Goodere

defired to fee an upper Room, over the Parlour,

fronting the Street ; and having feen it, faid,

he would come the next Morning and drink

Coffee in that Room. Accordingly, the next

Morning he came (early for that time of the

Year,) before the Windows were opened, or

Fires lighted •, his Drefs fo different from what
he wore the Day before, that the Witnefs did

not at fir ft recollect him. But, it feems, he

changed his Clothes after he came thither. He
feem'd willing to drink his Coffee in the Parlour;

but being defir'd to walk up ftairs, he went into

the Room he had pitch'd upon the Day before.

Soon afterwards the Prifoner Mahony, with three

other Perfons, came in ; and after them, five or

fix more. Thefe People, Gentlemen, were not

all together in one Room ; but they were all en-

tertain'd at Mr. Goodere's Expence. The Witnefs

tells you, that Mr. Goodere ordered they fhould

be entertain'd ; and at going away paid the whole

Reckoning. He fays, that while the Company
was at his Houfe, Mr. Goodere above ftairs, and

others below, Sir John Dineley Goodere rode by

from Mr. Smith's, attended by his Servant ; and

that as they paffed by, Mr. Goodere called out to

the People below, Look well at him, but don't

touch him. He fays further, that on Sunday the

1 8th of January, Mahony came to his Houfe in

the Morning, and defired him that if he faw the

Gentleman in the black Cap (by which Defcrip-

tion it appears Sir John was meant) go towards the

Green, he would fend a Porter to him at a Pub-
lick Houfe in MarJIo-Jlreet : That in the After-

noon Mahony came again, with a great many
otherPeople, all appearing by their Drefs to be
Sailors. And that as the Deceafed walked by the

Houfe, they all rufh'd out and went off. He
goes, I think, no farther in his Evidence ; for

he feems to be too much concern'd for his

Reckoning and his Tankard, to mind any thing

that paffed afterwards.

The next Evidence is Thomas Williams, who
belongs to the Ruby. He fays, that on Sunday

the 1 8th, he brought up the Barge from King-

road ; and was order'd by Mr. Goodere to leave

two Hands aboard the Barge, and take eight of

the Crew to the White-Hart Alehoufe on the

Colledge Green, and there wait for him : for, faid

he, I have a Gentleman to go on board me. He
accordingly went to the White Hart with his Men,
and there found Mahony and four or five People
belonging to the Vernon Privateer. He fays, he
had not been long there, before the Compa-
ny rufhed out of doors : Upon which he fol-

lowed, and found they had laid violent hands

on the Deceafed, and were carrying him on
board the Barge ; giving out, that he had mur-
dered a Perfon on board the Ship, and that

they were carrying him thither in order, as they

pretended, to bring him to Juftice. He tells

you, that the Prifoner Mahony was very ac-

tive in this Outrage ; and that the Prifoner

Goodere was prefent, feeing and hearing all that

paffed. He likewife gives you an Account of the

Converfation that paffed between Sir John and
the Prifoner Goodere, after they were in the

Barge; and, among other Things tells you, that

upon the Deceafed's faying, You are carrying

me on board to murder me ; the Prifoner Goodere

anfwer'd, No, I don't intend to do fo, but I

would have you make your Peace with God. This
Witnefs fpeaks little to what pafs'd after they came
on board the Ship ; for, fays he, I had been em-
ploy'd all Day, and went To-bed early. But he
telis you, that in the Night he heard a very un-

ufual Noife on board ; and that about Two in the

Morning, he faw the Prifoner Goodere go down
the Ladder leading to the Purfer's Cabbin.

You have heard, Gentlemen from the Witneffes,

whom I fhall mention prefently, that the Murder
was committed in this very Cabbin.

The Profecutors then called leveral Witneffes,

Samuel Trivet, Thomas Charmbury, Mrs. Darby,

and William Dupree ; who all fpeak to the man-
ner of carrying Sir John from the Colledge- Green to

the Place where the Barge lay.

Thefe Witneffes agree in general, that he was
treated with great Rudenefs by the Company in

whofe Hands he was. But, as the Prifoner

Goodere admits, that he did take his Brother on
board ; and, as Mahony endeavours to excufe the

part he had in it, by alledging that he was under

Command ; I need not be very particular in

repeating the Circumftances attending this part

of the Affair. Only, Gentlemen, it may be

proper for you to obferve, that the Pretence

2 given
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given out to blind the People who enquired into

the meaning of this Outrage, was, that the Gentle-

man had committed a Murder on board the Ruby.

And that when Sir John was on board the Barge,

and calling out for Help to the People on more,

telling them his Name, and begging them to let

his Friend Mr. Jarrit Smith know what had hap-

pen'd to him ; the Prifoner Gpoderezt that inflant

ftopt his Mouth. This Circumftance is prov'd by

three of thefe WknefTes.

The next Set of WitnelTes who have been

called, are Perfons belonging to the Ruby. And
from them you have an Account of what patted

from the time Sir John was brought on board to

the time of the Murder.

The firft is Theodore Court, the Matter of the

Ruby ; and he tells ycu, that about feven in the

Evening Sir John was brought on board, and

immediately by Mr. Goodtn's Order carried down

into that part of the Ship which is called the

Cockpit, and fecured in the Purfer's Cabbin, and

a Centincl fet on him. He tells you further, that

Mr. Goodere, as foon as he came on board, faid

to him and the other Company prefent, I have

brought a Mad-man onboard. And, Gentlemen,

you Will obferve, that the Ship's Crew were made

to entertain an opinion, that Sir John was mad ;

fays Mr. Goodere, don't mind what he fays, he is

mad. This, all the WitnelTes agree in. And
you may remember too, that when the poor

Gentleman wasdragg'd and hurried along towards

the Bar^e, then he had murder'd a Man on board

the Ruby, Now he is brought aboard, where

that Pretence cannot ferve, he is a Mad-man, and

mutt be confin'd. This Witnefs was prefent the

next Morning when the Purfer's Cabbin was

broke open, and Sir John was found there mur-

dered : upon which, he fays, Mr. Goodere was

made a Prifoner. But he tells you, that before

this, Mr. Goodere exprelfed a great Inclination to

fail that very Morning; and upon his reprefent-

ing to him the Danger of attempting the Briftol

Channel without a Pilot, he anfwer'd, if I can

but get as low as the Holms I don't care.

This Witnefs was afk'd a Queftion by Mr.

Goodere, touching the Place where the Ruby was

moor'd, at the time the Fact in queftion was

committed •, and he fays, that fhe then lay in

King-Road, and has defcribed her feveral Bear-

ings to Ports-head Point, the Denny, and the

Hole's Mouth. But, Gentlemen, it will not be

material in the prefent Cafe, in what part of King-

Road the Ship then lay, if you are fatisfied from

the Evidence you have heard,. that KingrRoad is

in the County of this City, becaufe it is admitted

by the Prifoner-, and indeed it is too plain to be

denied, that the Ship was then in King-Road.

The next Witnefs is Duncan Buchanan, who
was one of the Company at the White-Hart Ale-

houfe, on Tuefday the 13th; and he confirms

what Hobbs told you, that when Sir John and his

Servant rode by, the Prifoner Goodere call'd to

Mahony and the Company at the White-Hart,

and bid 'em mind him well, but not to touch

him. He fays too, that Mr. Goodere at the fame

time order'd fome of the Company to follow Sir

"John. He fpeaks much to the fame purpofe as

the laft Witnefs, touching the bringing Sir John

aboard, and carrying him into the Purfer's Cab-

bin ; and adds, that two Bolts were put on the

Out-fide of the Cabbin Door by Mr. Goodere's

Orders. He tells you, that he was the Centinel

placed at the Cabbin-door by Mr. Goodere, who,

you are to take notice, had then the Command

of the Ship •, and fays, that about Twelve at

Night he was fent for into the Captain's Cabbin,
where he found both the Prifoners at the Bar to-

gether. That Mr. Goodere enquir'd of him,
whether his Brother made any noife, and faid I

believe he is wet in his Feet, I'll carry him a

Pair of clean Stockings ? That between One and
Two' the Prifoner Goodere came down to the
Cock-pit, and liften'd fome time at the Cabbin-
door, where Sir John was; and foon afterward
took the Sword from him, and order'd him up
to the Deck ; and flood himfelf as Centinel at the
Door. He fays, that being on Deck he faw the
Prifoner Mahony go down the Ladder towards the
Purfer's Cabbin, and is pofuive he went into the
Cabbin; the Prifoner Goodere ftanding at the
fame time Centinel at the Door. He tells you
that a fhort time after this he heard a great noife

and ftruggling in the Cabbin, a Perlon crying
Murder, like one going into a Fit: that, I think,

was his ExprefTion. This Noife, he judges, con-
tinued four or five Minutes ; and is pofitive that

the Prifoner Goodere flood at the Dor all that

time, with the Sword in his Hand. Fie fays, that

after the Noife in the Cabbin ceas'd, he faW the

Prifoner Goodere hand a Candle into the the Cab-
bin ; and that he, feeing Mr. Gocderehj.d no Light
with him, lighted a Candle at the Lanthorn upon
Deck, and was going to carry it down ; upon
which he fays Mr. Goodere waved the Sword to-

wards him, faying, Keep back, flay where you
are. He fays, that foon afterwards the Prifoner

Goodere call'd for a Light, dcliver'd back the
Sword to him, lock'd the Cabbin.-Doer, and
put the Key in his Pocket ; and faid, if my Bro-
ther makes any more noife, let me know of it.

The next Witnefs is Daniel Weller, the Car-
penter of the Ruby : He agrees in the main with
the two former Witneffes, touching the bringing
Sir John aboard, the carrying him into the Pur-
fer's Cabbin, and putting the Bolts on the Door ;

and gives an account of the Converfaiion he had
with Sir John in the Cabbin while the Bolts were
fattening on : from which it feems natural to

conjecture, that Sir John expected he fhould have
foul play for his Life. He did not ftay long with

him ; for it feems nobody was to vifit the poor
Gentleman but Mahony. He fays, he broke open
the Cabbin-Door next Morning, and found Sir

John dead, and obferv'd fome Blood about his

Mouth and Nofe ; which, Gentlemen, is what
may be expected in cafe a Perfon is ftrangled.

The next Witnefs is Edward Jones, the Cooper
of the Ruby ; and he tells you, that on the Thurf-

day before the Fact in queftion was committed,

Mr. Goodere order'd the Purfer's Cabbin to be

clear'd out; for, faid he, I fball bring a Gentle-

man aboard. He fays, that foon after Sir John
was brought aboard, Mr. Goodere came down to

the Purfer's Cabbin, and offer'd him a Dram of

Rum, and alfo perfuaded him to make ufe of

fome to chafe his Leg, which it feems had re-

ceived fome hurt that Day. He fays, that Mr.
Goodere, fpeaking of Sir John to the People pre-

fent, faid, Don't mind what he fays, he'll be

v/ell enough again. He tells you, that about

eight o'clock he went to bed in the Slop- Room,
which, it feems, is parted from the Purfer's

Cabbin by a thin Deal Partition. That before

he went to fleep, he heard what paffed in the

Cabbin, particularly the Difcourfe between Sir

John and the Prifoner Mahony, which I need

not repeat to you. And fays likewife, that

he heard Sir John praying to God to deliver

him



S26 iqj.The 'Trial of Samuel Goodere, Efq, 1 4 Geo. II.

him out of his prefent Diftrefs, and exprefs The next Witnefs is James Dudgeon, who, it

himfelf as a Man fenfibleof his prefent Danger, feems, is the Surgeon's Mate. And he tells you,

He tells you, that betweeen Two and Three in that when Sir John was brought aboard, he was

the Morning, his Wife, who happened then to carried directly to the Purfer's Cabbin, and a

be aboard and in bed with him, waked him, Centinel placed over him. Says Mr. Goodere to

and that he then heard a great Struggle in the this Witnefs, Doctor, I have brought a Mad-man
Cabbin, Sir John crying out, as a Peribn in great on board, you muft do the beft you can with

Confufion and Diftrefs, Here's Twenty Guineas, him ; pray go and feel his Pulfe now ; or you

take it, take it, muft 1 die ? He fays, that in a may let it alone till to-morrow, the firft Night

little time all was quiet, from which he concluded will be the worft with him. The Doclor did go,

the Gentleman was difpatch'd ; and then a Light but was told by the Centinel, that he had Orders

was brought into the Cabbin ; upon this he foys, to let no body in but Mahony •, however, he went

he got up upon his Knees, and peep'd through in and felt Sir John's Pulfe, and found no Dif-

a Crevice In the Partition, and faw the Prifoner order there but what might be occafioned by the

Mahony and one Charles White rifling the Pockets fatigue he had undergone that Afternoon. This

of Sir John, who was laid upon the Bed, in the Witnefs, who, it feems, lodg'd in a part of the

Pofture he has defcribed to you, and motionlefs. Cockpit near the Purfer's Cabbin, fays, that about

He fays, at this time he faw a Hand at Sir Johns Two in the Morning he heard an unufual Stir in

Throat, and heard a Perfon fay, 'Tisdone, and the Cock-pit, and overheard Mahony, who was

well done ; he cannot fay who the Perfon was in the Purfer's Cabbin, fay, You muft lie ftill,

whofe Hand was at Sir John's Throat, but be- don't ftir •, and immediately there was a great

lieves 'twas not the Hand of White, or Mahony, Buftle in the Cabbin, Sir John crying, Murder,

for it was a white Hand, and not like either of and faying here's Twenty Guineas, take it, take it.

theirs. He fays that he lay in fear of his own Life He fays, that by the Noife he heard, and from

(as indeed I think he had great Reafon) 'till about other Circumftances he has mention'd, he then

Four in the Morning, and then the Men belong- apprehended that fomebody was ftrangling the

ino- to the Yawl being called up, he got up too, Gentleman. Before the Noife was quite over, he

and acquainted the Lieutenant with what paffed, fays he heard the Lock of the Cabbin go ; upon

and confulted with him and others of the Officers which fomebody within cry'd, Damn ye, keep the

about apprehending Mr. Goodere, which was af- Door faft. The Witnefs hearing this, call'd

terwards done in the Manner you have heard. out and enquired what was the Caufe of the Noife ;

The next Witnefs is Margaret Jones, Wife of and he fays that the Perfon who then flood at the

the laft Witnefs. And fhe gives much the fame Door anfwered, 'Tis nothing at all. He does

Account of the bringing Sir John aboard, and not fay who the Perfon was, but fays he is fure

Mr. Goodere's offering him Rum, as her Hufband that the Prifoner Goodere was in the Cock-pit

does. And fays farther, that Mr. Goodere talk'd while the Outcry was in the Cabbin. Soon after

of ordering Sheets for Sir John's Bed. But, Gen- the Noife was over, he fays, a Light was called

tlemen, it does not appear to me that any Sheets for, and carried into the Cabbin ; and in a little

were ordered, or indeed any fort of Refrefhment time he heard the Tread of People running out

provided for him, except a fingle Dram of Rum, of the Cabbin, and is fure he heard the Prifoner

which he refufed, having forborn the Ufe of Mahony fay, Which way fhall I go ? To which

ftron°- Liquors of all forts for a considerable Anfwer was made, You may go by the Ship-

time. This Witnefs likewife gives an Account fide. He fays, about this time a Perfon ftept

of the Converfation between Mahony and Sir up the Ladder from the Cock-pit, towards the

John, and tells you, that when Mahony offer'd Deck, and he then heard the Prifoner Goodere

to pull off Sir John's Stockings, he faid to him, fay, If my Brother makes any more Noife, let

Pray don't ftrip me till I am dead. She fays, me hear of it. Thefe Words, Gentlemen, if

that about Two in the Morning fhe heard Ma- you believe Duncan Buchanan, were fpoken to

hony defire Sir John to compofe himfelf to fleep ; him at the top of the Ladder. It feems indeed

and foon afterwards the Light was put out, and probable, that Mr. Goodere was foil icitous to know
fhe heard Mahony fay, You muft lie ftill and not v/hether Sir John made any Noife or no, after

ftir for your Life •, and immediately fhe fays there this time ; for this Witnefs tells you, that Mr.

was great ftruggling in the Cabbin, two Perfons Goodere's Servant, fome time afterwards, came

whifpering, and Sir John crying Murder, and to him to enquire whether he had lately heard

kecking in his Throat (as fhe expreffes it) fo any Noife in the Cabbin ? Yes, fays the Witnefs,

that fhe concluded they were ftrangling him. I heard fomething at the Lock. This Noife the

At this time, fhe fays, fomebody on the outfide Witnefs fuppofes was occafioned by a Cat which

of the Door offer'd to come in ; upon which, had been lock'd in the Room. This Witnefs in-

thofe in the Cabbin faid, Damme you Negro, fpected the Body the next Morning, and tells

keep out. She fays, the Noife and Strugghngs you, that he found great Impreffions about the

continued for a fhort time afterwards, and then Neck, and the Marks of Nails and Fingers on

all was quiet, and a Light was brought into it •, and upon the whole, is of opinion that Sir

the Cabbin. She then faw the Prifoner Mahony, John died by Strangling. And, Gentlemen,

and Charles White, the Perfon her Hufband fpoke whether a Rope was made ufe of in the Bufinefs,

of, rifling Sir John's Pockets. The particular or whether it was done by thrufting their Fingers

Circumftances fhe mentions in this part of her between the Neck and Cravat, and fo draining

Evidence I need not repeat. She fays, that after the Cravat clofe about the Neck, will not be ma-

this was over, they went out of the Cabbin, and terial ; for though the Indictment charges that it

the Door was lock'd and bolted ; and fhe heard was done with a Rope, yet if it appears on the

one of the Perfons fay, Which way fhall I gr, Evidence, that the Deceas'd was ftrangled by any.

where fhall I run ? To which the other anfwered, Means whatever, fuch Evidence will be fufficient

Follow me, my Boy. to maintain the Indictment.
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The next Witnefs, and the Iaft that has been

examined touching what was done on board the

Ship, is William Macguinis; the Centinel at the

Gun-room. And he tells you, that after Two in

the Morning, the Prifoner Goodere went down in-

to the Cock-pit ; that foon afterwards the Prifoner

Mahony pufli'd by him ; he fays he would have

kept him back, but Mahony gave him ill Language

and pafs'd on, and call'd to another Perfon to fol-

low him. He fays, that Duncan Buchanan was or-

dered up to Deck, and that he faw Mr. Goodere

Handing at the Purfer's Cabbin-Door with a Sword

drawn in his Hand ; and remembers, that when he

offer'd to come near the Cabbin, Mr. Goodere or-

der'd him to keep back : This was at the time the

Noife and Outcry was in the Cabbin. He fays fur-

ther, he faw Mahony go into the Cabbin before the

Noife was heard there ; and, that about Three in

the Mofning, he faw both the Prifoners at the Bar

go up the Ladder from the Cock-pit to the Deck

together.

The Profecutors then examined two Witneffes

touching the Gold Watch which has been produced.

One of them, Sarah Culliford, fays that the Prifoner

Mahony, the Day he was apprehended, deliver'd

the Watch to her, defiring fhe would put it by for

him ; that fhe, upon hearing that Mahony was taken

up for the Murder, in a Surprize, threw it into the

Vault. The other Witnefs tells you, that he, by

Order of the Magiftrates, open'd the Vault and

found the Watch there. This Watch the Profecu-

tors would fix upon the Prifoner Goodere, and to

that end, it was (hewn to Theodore Court, who was

examin'd before, to other Points. And he fays, he

cannot be pofitive, but believes it to be Mr. Goo-

dere's Watch, having often feen it, or fuch a one,

hanging up in his Cabbin. The Profecutors then

produced a Handkerchief, which was taken out of

Mahony\ Pocket the Night he was apprehended ;

it appears to be a little bloody, but I don't fee what

ufe they make of that Circumftance.

The next Piece of Evidence the Profecutors went

to, was Mahony's Examination and Confeflion,which

has been read to you. This, Gentlemen, is very

proper Evidence, and ought to have its Weight
with you, as far as it concerns Mahony himfelf

-, but

with regard to the other Prifoner Goodere, you are

to lay no manner of Strefs upon it, it is no Evi-

dence againft him.

The Profecutors then proceeded to fhew, that

King-road, where the Ruby lay at the time the Fact

was committed, is within the County of Briftol. I

think indeed that fome Evidence of that kind was

proper to be given, for your Satisfaction, and to

that end they hasr^ called Mr. Wint and Mr. Lowden,
two ancient Officers well known to you all. And
they fay, in general, that King-road has always been

adeemed to be within the County of Brijiol. And
they go farther and fay, that they have conftantly,

as Occafion required, executed Procefs of all kinds

in King-road ; Warrants from the Mayor and Al-

dermen, Procefs from the Mayor's and Sheriff's

Court, and Warrants grounded on Writs from a-

bove, directed to the Sheriffs of Briftol. And, Gen-
tlemen, I muft fay, that tho' another fort of Evi-

dence might have been given, touching the Bounds

of this County by Water, I know no Evidence fo

proper to prove the Bounds of any County, as the

conflant Exercife of Jurifdiction in the Place in

queftion, where that fort of Evidence can be had.

I think, I have repeated to you the material Parts of

the Evidence which has been given againft the Prifo-

ners at the Bar j and you will now confider what they

have offered by way of Defence, to this Charge.

Vol. VI.

As for Mahony, I do not hear him fay any thing
by way of proper Defence, nor has he called a fin-

gle Witnefs. He hopes indeed, that it will be taken
by way of Excufe, that he was a poor prefs'd Ser-
vant, and acted by Command. But, Gentlemen,
if you believe the Evidence which has been criveri

againft him, no Command of any Superiour what-
soever (fuppofing that to have been an Ingredient
in his Cafe) will excufe him.

Mr. Goodere fays, that his Brother was a Luna-
tick, and that he being his only Brother, thought
it his Duty to take Care of him in that Condition -,

that in order thereto he had endeavour'd to get a
Lodging in this City, where he was to be confin'd
under the Care of the Prifoner Mahony, who was
to have 5 /. a Month for his Attendance On him.
That not being able to get a Lodging for the Pur-
pofe in the City, he took him on board the Ruby,
in order to have him taken proper Care of there.

He denies that he' ever confented to the Murder, or
had any Knowledge of it ; and infills on the great

Improbability there is that he mould be concerned

in the Murder, fince, he fays, he knew that Sir John
had cut off the Entail of the Family-Eftate, and had
actually made his Will, by which he had devifed

the Eftate to another Branch of the Family. So
that, fays he, Sir John dying while this Will (lands,

I have no Chance for the Eftate : whereas, as long
as he lived, my Chance as Heir at Law continued ;

for he might have chang'd his Mind, and alter'd

or deftroy'd his Will.

The firft Witnefs he call'd Was M.s, Gethinsi

who, I fuppofe, lets Lodgings in the City ; and
fhe fays, that Mr. Goodere never made a Secret of
his Defign, ofconfining his Brother as a Lunatick $

and that about three Weeks before this Matter hap-
pen'd, he (poke to her for a Garret in her Houfe
for that Purpofe -, but (he remembers no Difcourfe

the Prifoner had with her about Mahony.

Mr. Goodere then call'd twoWitneffes in relation to

fomethingwhich was open'd againft him, (but not di-

rectlyprov'd by any oftheWitneffes call'd by the Pro-

fecutors) touching his fending Mahony and White a-

way in theYawl theMorning theFact was committed.

They were Mr. Marjh and Mr. Dagg.

Mr, Marjh fays, that on the Sunday in the Af-
ternoon, after Sir John was brought aboard, he was
order'd by Mr. Goodere to go up in the Yawl early

the next Morning, to fetch Letters from the Poft-

Office •, and he tells you that as he was fetting out

on Monday Morning he was inform'd by fome of
the Ship's Company, that Mahony and White were

to go with him. Upon which he went to the Cap-
tain to have his Orders ; for, faid he, I never take

any body afhore without leave. And he tells you*,

that Mr. Goodere did order him to take White and
Mahony up in the Yawl. He fays, that he had no
Orders to land them at any particular Place ; and
that they were put afhore at the Gibb, the ufual

Place of Landing, about fix in the Morning.

Mr. Dagg tells you, that Mahony had charg'd

one Mervin in his Cuftody in an Action for Wa-
ges ; that the Wednefday or Thurfday before this

Matter happened he waited on Mr. Goodere from

Mervin, in order to accommodate Matters with

Mahony : And that Mr. Goodere appointed to meet

Mervin on that Affair the Monday following. He can-

not fay, that Mahony was to meet on that day (tho' in-

deed he fays he did tell a Gentleman fo) and knows
not of any Bufinefs White had that day in Briftol.

Mr. Goodere next called three Witneffes to the

Point of Sir John's Lunacy. The two firft have

lived with him as Servants, artd they give you di-

vers Inftances of an extravagant unaccountable Be-

7 X haviour
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liaviour in him •, from which they conclude that he tration of it, he is in the Eye of the Law prefent,

muft have been a Madman. The other Witnefs fays, aiding and abetting, and equally a Principal in the

thatheknew Sir John for fome Years; andingene- Fact with thofe who actually commit it. An In-

ral fays that from his Aclions he took him to be mad. fiance or two may make this Rule better under-

He then called feveral Witneffes, Gentlemen of flood. If feveral Perfons agree to commit a Mur-
Worth, who have known him many Years ; and der on the High-way, or in the open Fields, and

they all agree in giving him a very good Character, one Party ofthem undertakes to fee the Fact commit-

as to his former Life and Conversation : and parti- ted ; the others difperfe themfelves to their feveral

ticularly fay, that they always took him to be a Stations, and fland upon the Watch to prevent a

o-ood-natur'd, well-behav'd Man, and one that me- Surprife : they are all equally guilty, and in the

rited the Love and Efteem of his Neighbours. One Eye of the Law prefent at the Fact. So, if a Num-
of thefe Witneffes, Mr. Forcevil, fays, that he was ber of People agree to commit a Murder, and to

conflantat Church on Sundays twice a Day, gene- that end break into a Houfe, and then difperfe

rally attended the Church-Service, and feldom mif- themfelves into feveral Rooms ; or, if any of the

fed attending at the Sacrament. Company fland without, and keep the Door while

Another of thefe Witneffes, Mr. Afhfield, having the Murder is committed within, they are all equal-

given the Prifoner a good Character, was afk'd ly guilty, and in the Eye of the Law prefent. Nay,

touching Sir John, particularly with regard to his tho' the original Intention might be barely to com-

Sanity ; and he feems furprifed to hear Sir John mit a Robbery, yet, if in Profecution of that De-

reprefented as a Mad-man •, and tells you, that he fign a Murder is committed, the whole Company,

always took him to be a Man of good Underfland- thofe who ftood upon the Watch, as well as thofe

ing : and goes fo far as to fay, that he took him who committed the Fact, are all equally guilty and

to be the Man of the beft Senfe in the Family. He Principals in the Murder. And therefore, Gen-

was afked, touching the Prifoner's having been in- tlemen, if, upon the Evidence which has been gi-

form'd of the Contents of his Brother's Will •, and ven, you believe that the Prifoner Goodere did fland.

he tells you that the Prifoner was inform'd of the at the Door of the Purfer's Cabbin while the Mur-
Purport of the Will ; but adds, that the Prifoner der was committed, in order to encourage thofe

declar'd that he did not value the Will : And fays, within in the Perpetration of the Fact, or to pre-

that there had been a long Mifunderflanding be- vent any Affiflance which might have come, you

tween the Brothers. muft find him guilty. And, Gentlemen, I muft

Mr. Goodere call'd a Witnefs (Mr. Watkins) to obferve to you, that it is proved by four WitntfT s,

prove that he was inform'd of the Contents of Sir that he was in the Cock-pit while the Cry of Mur-

Johns Will. And he tells you, that about half a der was heard in the Cabbin. Two of thefe Wit-

Year, or three quarters of a Year ago, he did in- neffes are pofitive that he ftood at the Cabbin-Door

form Mr. Goodere, that Sir John had made his Will, at that time with a drawn Sword in his Hand ; and

and had given his Eftate to the Foots ; who, it feems, that while he was there polled, he order'd them to

are Nephews to SirJohn and the Prifoner. But he tells keep back. And one of the fame Witneffes is like-

you, that the Prifoner then faid, he thought Sir John wife pofitive, that foon after the Cry of Murder

had no Power to make a Will. He fays, that in dif- ceas'd, Mr. Goodere handed a Candle into the Cabbin.

courfe about the Will, he fpoke it to the Prifoner as Mr. Goodere indeed has call'd feveral Witneffes,

his Opinion, that if Matters could be reconciled be- who have given him an advantageous Character ;

tween Sir John and him, that Will would not fland but, Gentlemen, I think it my Duty to tell you,

long : For, Gentlemen, he likewife fays, that there that tho' Character ought to have its weight when

has been a long Mifunderflanding between the Bro- Matters are in themfelves doubtful, or where the

thers. This Witnefs was likewife afk'd, touching Charge is fupported by Witneffes of doubtful Cre-

Sir John's Lunacy, and he feems furprifed to hear dit •, yet in clear Cafes, and when the Credit of

that his Sanity is call'd in queftion -, and gives him the Witneffes is not impeach'd, I think Character

an advantageous Character in other Refpects too. alone ought to weigh very little with you. And upon

This, Gentlemen, is the Subftance of the Evi- the whole, if you believe the Witneffes for the King,

dence that has been given on the one fide and the you muft find him guilty; if not, you muft acquit him.

other. And though the Evidence has been very As to Mahony, I think you can have no DifE-

long, and, as you obferve, chiefly pointed at culty if you believe the Evidence of Jones and

the Prifoner Goodere ; yet with regard to your pre- his Wife, and lay any Strefs on his own Con-

fent Enquiry, the Matter after all will lie in a nar- feffion ; and indeed he now rather endeavours to

row compafs. You obferve, Gentlemen, the In- excufe than denies the Fact,

dictment charges that he was prefent, aiding and Then the Jury withdrew, to confider of their Verdifit ;

abetting the Murder; and therefore however in- and after a jhort [pace, return d again.

ftrumental you may fuppofe him to have been in Clerk of Arraigns. Gentlemen, anfwer^to your

procuring the Death of Sir John, by carrying him Names. Chrifiopher. Bromadge.

onboard, and treating him there in the manner Chriftopher Bromadge. Here. [And fo ofthe reft.]

you have heard ; yet if you have not Evidence to CI. of Arr. Gentlemen, are you all agreed of

induce you to believe that he was prefent, aiding your Verdict ?

and abetting at the Murder, he will not be guilty Jury. Yes.

on this Indictment. But, Gentlemen, you muft not CI. of Ar. Who fhall fay for you ?

be deceiv'd by the meer Sound of Words. It is Jury. The Fore-man.

not neceffary, in order to render a Perfon guilty CI. ofArr. Matthew Mahony, hold up thy Hand.'

as a Principal in Murder or other Felony, that he You of the Jury, look upon the Prifoner: How fay

fhould be in the fame Room, or on the very fpot you, is Matthew Mahony guilty of the Felony and

where the Fact is committed, or even in fight or Murder, whereofhe ftands indicted, or not guilty?

hearing of it : If he be engaged in the Defign, and Jury. Guilty.

polls himfelf at the time of the Execution in a pro- CI. ofAr. What Goods or Chattels, Lands or

per Station to give Affiflance, if need be, or to Tenements had he at the Time of the faid Felony

prevent a Surprife whereby the Perfons actually and Murder committed, or at any Time fince, to

committing the Fact are encouraged in the Perpe- your Knowledge ?

Z Jury.
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Jury. None. dere is guilty of the Felony and Murder, whereof

CI. ofArr. Samuel Goodere, hold up thy Hand, he ftands indicted •, and that they, nor either of

You of the Jury, look upon the Prifoner : How them, had any Goods or Chattels, Lands or Te-
fay you, is Samuel Goodere guilty of the Felony and nements, at the Time of the faid Felony and Mur-
Murder, whereof he ftands indicted, or not guilty ? der committed, or at any Tince fince, to your

Jury. Guilty. Knowledge ; and fo you fay all.

Cl.ofArr. What Goods or Chattels, &c. (as before.) CI. of Ar. Keeper, take Matthew Mahony and

Jury. None. Samuel Goodere the Prifoners from the Bar, and look

Cl.ofArr. Hearken to your Verdict, as the to them ; they ftand convidted of wilful Murder.

Court hath recorded it. You fay that Matthew
Mahony is guilty of the Felony and Murder, where- Then the Court adjourn'd to the fame Place the

of he ftands indicted : You fay that Samuel Goo- next Morning Eight o'clock.

The Trial of Charles White, for the Murder of Sir John
Dineley Goodere.

ON Friday the 27th of March 1741, Charles Mr. Vernon. May it pleafe you, Mr. Recorder,

White was brought to the Bar of the Court, and you Gentlemen of the Jury, I am Counfel for

to be arraigned for the Murder of Sir John Dineley the King againft the Prifoner at the Bar, who ftands

Goodere, upon an Indictment found by the Grand indicted for the Murder of Sir John Dineley Goodere;

Jury for the City and County of Brifiol on the Day and the Indictment charges that one Matthew Ma-
precedmg •, and the Court proceeded thus : bony (who has already undergone the Juftice of his

Clerk of the Arraigns. Charles IVhite, hold up Country) ftrangled the Deceafed, and that the Pri-

your Hand. [Which he did.] foner at the Bar was prefent, aiding and abetting

You ftand indicted by the Name of Charles him in the Perpetration of that horrid Fact > and

White, late of the Parifh of St. Stephen, in the City which (if true) will be the fame in confideration of

of Brijlol and County of the fame City, Labourer, Law, as if the Prifoner had with his own Hands
for that you and one Matthew Mahony, late of the ftrangled the Deceafed, and actually drawn the fa-

fame Parifti, City and County, Labourer, not ha- tal Cord which put a period to his Life. Gentle-

ving the Fear of God, &c. on the nineteenth Day men, it is with an aking Heart I difcharge this me-

of January, in the fourteenth Year, &c. in and lancholy Task againft the Prifoner, but criminal

jupon one Sir John Dineley Goodere, in the Peace of Juftice muft be adminifter'd as well as civil, and

God, & c. then and there being, felonioudy, volun- the great Safety of the Innocent is in the Punifh-

tarily, and of your Malice afore-thought, did make ment of the Guilty : And of this the Prifoner may
an Aflfault •, and that the faid Matthew Mahony, a be afifured, that as he now ftands at the Bar for his

certain Cord of the Value, &V . about the Neck of Life and Death, and unaffifted by Counfel in Mat-

the faid Sir John then and there folonioufly, volun- ter of Fadt, I fhall carefully confine my felf to the

tarily, and of his Malice afore-thought, did put Letter ofmy Inftrudtions, without any Aggravation

and faften : And that the faid Matthew Mahony of Fadtsor Circumftances, and endeavour fo to dif-

with the Cord aforefaid, by him fo about the Neck charge my Duty on this melancholy Occafion, as

of the faid Sir John put and faftened, then and that he may have nothing to fear but from Guilt,

there, him the faid Sir John felonioufly, &c. did or to hope but from Innocence. And, Gentlemen,

choak and ftrangle ; of which faid choaking and as I am inftrudted, Captain Samuel Goodere, late

ftrangling of him the faid Sir John by the faid Mat- Commander of the Ruby Man of War, and Bro-

tbew Mahony, in Manner and Form aforefaid done ther of the late unfortunate Sir John Dineley Goo-

and perpetrated, he the laid Sir John then and dere, having on Sunday the eighteenth of January

there inftantly died. And that you the faid Charles laft, with the Afliftanceof Mahony and other Ruf-

White, then and there felonioufly, &c. was prefent, fians, forcibly feized upon Sir John, and hurried

aiding, abetting, comforting and maintaining the him on board the Ruby, (which then lay ftationed

laid Matthew Mahony in Manner and Form afore- in King-road, within the Body of your County)

faid, felonioudy, 13 c. the faid Sir John to kill and with a defign of murdering Sir John ; the Prifoner

murder ; and fo that you the faid Charles White, (a private Mariner belonging to the Ruby) was

in Manner and Form aforefaid, the faid Sir John pitch'd upon by the Captain as a Perfon fit to be

then and there felonioufly, £s£f. did kill and mur- concerned with Mahony in the Execution of that

der, againft the Peace, &c. bafe and barbarous Defign. And accordingly, on

How fay'ft thou Charles White, art thou guilty Monday the nineteenth about One in the Morning,

of the Felony and Murder, whereof thou ftandeft the Prifoner was called up by Mahony to attend the

indidted, or not guilty ? Captain in his Cabbin, which he did ; and the Cap-

Charles White. Not guilty. tain after plying the Prifoner pretty plentifully with

CI. of Arr. Culprit, how wilt thou be tried ? Rum, propofed to him the murdering of his Bro-

Charles White. By God and my Country. ther, in conjunction with Mahony ; and no fooner

Cl.ofArr. God fend thee a good Deliverance. faid but done, Gentlemen: for this infatuated

The Court proceeded in like manner as upon the Wretch the Prifoner, influenc'd by the ftrong De-

Indidtment againft Mr. Goodere and Mahony ; and lufion of Wickednefs, and Temptation of miftaken

the Names of the Jury fworn, were as follow

:

Gain •, and not content with his honeft Wages,

John Nafh. William Williams. nor confidering that the Wages of Sin are Death,

Jofeph Wilfon. William Arnold. gave at once into the monftrous Propofal for the

Samuel Cave. John Willis. fake of Plunder. In a word, Gentlemen, he readi-

William Abraham. Cornelius Sandford. ly followed Mahony into the Purfer's Cabbin, where

William Jones. John Taylor.
'

Sir John lay confined ; and as that unhappy Gen-

Robert Moody. Thomas Seed. tleman had from the time of firft feizing him been

Then Proclamation for Information was made, treated as a Malefactor, fo they executed him as

and the Jury charged with the Prifoner. 7X4 fuch

;
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fuch ; for Mahony feiz'd him by the Throat, and

then fattening about his Neck a Rope, which they

had brought with them for the purpofe, ftrangled

him in the Prefence and with the Affiftance of the

Prifoner •, and indeed without his Affiftance, Sir

John being ftrong and of an undaunted Spirit,

would probably have been able to have defended

himfelf againft the Attack of Mahony. Gentle-

men, no fooner had they robbed Sir John of his

Life, but they fell to rifling him of his Watch and

Money; they divided the Spoil between them,

and then betimes in the Morning the Prifoner with

his Accomplice Mahony made off from the Ship,

and took refuge in this City ; a very unfit Sanctuary

for Ruffians and Murderers, confidering the good

Order and Government of the Place, and the con-

ftant Care of its worthy Magiftrates in the due Exe-

cution of the Laws. But Juftice purfued, and will,

I doubt not, overtake him. He was apprehended,

and made an early Confeffion of his Guilt, and

comes now to anfwer for his Delinquency. Gen-

tlemen, we fhall call the Ship's Cooper and his

Wife, who heard the Groans and Outcries of the

Deceafed, and were Spectators of what paffed in

the Purfer's Cabbin immediately after this Trage-

dy, and faw the Prifoner in the very Act of rifling

the Deceafed, almoft at the inftant of his Death.

We fhall alfo lay before you the Prifoner's own Con-

feffion, on his Examination before the Juftices; and

then, Gentlemen, we doubt not, but you will be of

opinion, that by the Laws of his Country he ought

to die for his Tranfgreffion, as fome Atonement for

his own Guilt, and an Example of Juftice to others.

{Edward Jones fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Edward Jones, tell Mr. Recorder

and the Jury what you know concerning the Death

of Sir John Dineley Goodere ?

Edward Jones. On the 1 8 th of January laft, at

night, I was in bed with my Wife in the Slop-

room, next to the Purfer's Cabbin down in the

Cockpit in the Ruby Man of War, then lying at

King-road, and Sir John Dineley was then confined

iri the Purfer's Cabbin. I heard him pray to God
to be his Comforter under his Afflictions ; he faid

that he knew he was to be murdered there ; and

he prayed that it might come to light by one

means or another. But I took no notice of him,

becaufe I thought him a crazy Man, as I had heard

the Captain fay he was. After that, I fell afleep
;

and, I believe, about two or three of the clockmy
Wife waked me, and faid to me, Don't you hear

the Noife that is made by the Gentleman ? I be-

lieve they are killing him. I then heard Sir John
kick, and cry out, Here is twenty Guineas, take it,

take it •, don't murder me-, muft I die ! muft I die !

Oh my Life! and gave feveral Kecks with his

Throat like a dying Man, and then he was ftill. I

would have got out of bed, but my Wife perfuaded

me not, for fear I mould be killed too. It was

dark •, but a Light was handed in to the Purfer's

Cabbin, and then I got up upon my Knees, and I

could fee a Light glimmering through the Crack of

the Boards ; I faw Mahony with a Candle in his

Hand, Sir John was lying on his Side. The Pri-

foner Charles White was there, and he pulled Sir

John to turn him about, and White faid he could

not get the Watch out of his Pocket ; and he

tumbled him up to come at the Money, and unbut-

toned his Breeches. I faw him get hold of the

Watch-Chain ; and White gave Mahony the Watch

;

and White put his Hand in one of the Gentleman's

Pockets, and curfed that there was nothing but

Silver •, he put his Hand in another Pocket, and

there he found the Gold ; he offered it to Mahony,

but Mahony damned him, and bid him keep it till

by and by. White pulled out a Piece of Paper
from one of Sir John's Pockets, and was going to

read it ; but Mahony faid, Damn ye, don't ftay to

read it now.

Mr. Vernon. Was Sir John dead in appearance
when you faw them rifling his Pockets ?

Edward Jones. As they were turning him about,

one of his Legs was crooked, which made me think
he was dead, and that they had killed him in the

Dark. The next Morning I faw Sir John dead,
lying in the Purfer's Cabbin, and I believe he was
ftrangled.

Mr. Recorder. Prifoner, will you afk this Wit-
nefs any Queftions ?

Charles White. Pleafe you, my Lord, I defire

you will afk Mr. Jones, whether Sir John was liv-

ing or dead when he faw me in the Cabbin firft ?

Mr. Recorder. Mr. Jones, the Prifoner afks you
whether Sir John was living or dead when you firft

faw him in the Cabbin ?

Edward Jones. Sir John was dead when White
turned him about, for they killed him in the dark.

I heard two Voices.

Charles White. Whether Edward Jones faw any
body ftrangling Sir John befides Mahony ?

Mr. Recorder. The Witnefs does not fay that he
faw any body ftrangling Sir John, that he fays was
done in the Dark : but, he fays, he heard two Voices

in the Cabbin, and as foon as the Light was brought

in, he faw you rifling Sir John's, Pockets.

Mr. Vernon. Call Margaret Jones.

{Margaret Jones fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mrs. Jones, will you give Mr. Re-
corder and the Jury an Account of what you know
in relation to the Death of Sir John Dineley Goodere?

Margaret Jones. Yes, Sir. On the 18th of Ja-
nuary laft, at Night, I lay on board the Ruby Man
of War with my Hufband, and in the Purfer's

Cabbin, next to where we were in bed, Sir John
was under Confinement ; the Captain faid he was a

Mad-man, and that he brought him there to fave

him from a Goal. About ten o'clock Mahony was
left there with Sir John ; Sir John defired him to

go, but Mahony faid he had Orders to ftay there to

take care of him. About 12 o'clock in the Night

I went to fleep ; about two o'clock I awaked, and

heard the Gentleman talk to Mahony, and Mahony
perfuaded the Gentleman to go to fleep ; the Gen-
tleman faid he could not : they talked together a

good while. I heard fomebody fay to the Gen-

tleman, You muft lie ftill, and not fpeak a word for

your Life ; and then I heard a great ftruggling ;

who it was, I don't know. The Gentleman cried

out, Murder! Help, for God's fake; and made
feveral Kecks in his Throat, as though fomebody

was ftifiing him. I fhookmy Hufband, and waked

him. I heard two People in the Cabbin whifpering

;

the Gentleman cried out Murder again, Help for

God's fake ! he faid, Here's twenty Guineas in my
Pockets, take it, take it ; muft I die ! Oh my
Life ! And fomebody in the out-fide offered to go

into the Cabbin; but one of them within faid,

keep out, you Negro ; and then a great noife was

made, as tho' the Cabbin would have been beat

down ; and then a Candle was brought in. I got

up and look'd through a Crevice : I faw a Man, I

believe it was White, pulled the Gentleman upright.

Mahony had the Candle in his Hand. I obferved

the other put his Hand in the Gentleman's Pockets

;

one of them faid, Damn ye, pull out his Watch:

I faw the Perfon take hold of the Watch-ftring,

and pulled it out, and faid to the other, Here thee

take it ; and then fearched another Pocket, and

faid,
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faid, Here's nothing but Silver: but then he

fearched another Pocket, and faid, Here it is ; and

pulled out a Purfe. And foon after that I heard

the Door unbolted, and then I heard Mahony fay,

Where fhall I run ? And another faid, Follow me,

Boy. And they went upon Deck through the

Hatch-hold.

Mr. Vernon. Did you know the Voice of either

of the two Perfons whom you heard fpeaking to

one another ?

Margaret Jones. Yes, I knew Charles White to

be one of the Men by his Voice. I knew his Voice

when he faid to Mahony, Follow me, Boy. I am
certain the Prifoner at the Bar was in the Cabbin ; I

obferved his Bulk, but could not look earneftly at

him, being very much mocked and furprifed ; but

my flufband told me it was Charles White.

Mr. Recorder. White, will you afk this Witnefs

any Qyeftions ?

Charles White. Pleafe you, my Lord, to afk

her, whether fhe can fay that fhe ever heard my
Voice in the Cabbin ?

Mr. Recorder. Mrs. Jones, the Prifoner afks you,

if you heard his Voice in the Cabbin ?

Margaret Jones. I could not know his Voice in

the Cabbin, for he fpoke low; and when a Perfon

whifpers, the Voice is not fo diftinguiftiable : but as

foon as he fpoke aloud, I knew it to be his Voice.

Mr. Recorder. Did you fee him in the Cabbin,

Mrs. Jones ?

Margaret Jones. My Lord, I did not fee his

Face, but by his Voice when he went out, I knew
him to be the fame Man.

Charles White. Pleafe you, my Lord, to afk her,

whether fhe ever heard me fay, Follow me Boy,

before ?

Mr. Recorder. Mrs. Jones, you hear the Quef-

tion, give an anfwer to it.

Margaret Jones. I never heard him fay fo be-

fore ; but I knew his Voice perfectly well, having

been acquainted with him for two Years.

Mr. Vernon. We muft now defire that the Pri-

foner's Examination may be read. Cryer, fwear Mr.
James Britten, (fecond Clerk to the Town-Clerk.)

(Mr. Britten fworn.)

Mr. Vernon. Mr. Britten, what Paper is that ?

Mr. Britten. The Examination of the Prifoner

at the Bar taken before Mr. Mayor.

Mr. Vernon. Did you fee the Prifoner fign it in

Mr. Mayor's Prefence ?

Mr. Britten. Yes, I did.

Mr. Vernon. Did you fee Mr. Mayor fign it ?

Mr. Britten. Yes.

Mr. Vernon. Is that his Hand ?

Mr. Britten. Yes.

Mr. Frederick, Counfel for the Prifoner. It is

opened by Mr. Vernon, that this Examination con-

tains the Prifoner's ConfefTion of the Fact. I would

afk Mr. Britten, Was the ConfefTion voluntarily

made or not ? for, if it was not voluntarily, it ought

not to be read.

Mr. Recorder. That is an improper Queflion,

unlefs the Prifoner had infifled, and made it part

of his Cafe, that his ConfefTion was extorted by

Threats, or drawn from him by Promifes •, in that

Cafe, indeed, it would have been proper for us to

inquire by what means the ConfefTion was pro-

cured : But as the Prifoneralledges nothing of that

kind, I will not fuffer a Queflion to be afk'd the

Clerk, which carries in it a Reflection on the Ma-
giflrate before whom the Examination was taken.

Let it be read.

CI. of Arr. Reads.

831
20 January, 1740.

City and County off
theCityofBr&ol.S

t0mt
>

The Examination of Charles White, a Sailor
belonging to the Ruby Man ofWar, now ly-

ing in this Pert, born in Drogheda in Ire-
land, aged about thirty-fix Tears.

THE Examinant voluntarily confeffeth, and
faith, That he hath been a Sailor on board

the faid Ship for about feventeen months laft part

;

That about one of the clock in the Night of Sunday
laft, the eighteenth Inftant, he was afleep in his
Hammock on board the faid Ship, and was called
out by one Matthew Mahony, another Sailor on
board the faid Ship (and now in Cuflody) who
told him that the Captain (meaning Captain Samuel
Goodere, Commander of the faid Ship; wanted to
fpeak with him in his Cabbin ; and accordingly he
went to him : and when he came to him, the Cap-
tain afked him to fit down, and then gave him
a Wine-Glafs of Rum, and after that four or five
more, and then afked him if he could kill a Spa-
niard? and this Examinant anfwered him, That
he never did. Upon which the Captain told him,
he had got a Job for him to do, if he would under-
take it : And this Examinant afk'd him what Job
it was ? And the Captain told him, it was to make
away with his Brother, whofe Name (as this Exa-
minant is informed) was Sir John Dineley Goodere,
Bart, who was in the Purfer's Cabbin on board the
faid Ship : and the faid Matthew Mahony told this

Examinant, that he muft go with him to help do
it. Whereupon the faid Captain went out of the
Cabbin firft, Mahony followed him, and this Exa-
minant went next ; and when he came to the Pur-
fer's Cabbin-door, where Sir John Dineley was, the
Captain was ftanding Centinel himfelf at the Door
with a Cutlafh in his Hand, and Mahony had en-
tered the Cabbin, and this Examinant entered like-

wife, where Mahony was talking with the faid Sir

John, and had a piece of Rope, called three-quar-
ter of an Inch Rope, in his Hand, about fix Foot
in length, and Sir John was lying on the Bed ; and
particularly Mahony ask'd Sir John how his Head
was, and what he had got about it ? and at laft

told him, it did not fignify talking about it any
longer, and then fell on him on the Bed, took hold
of his Throat with his Hand fhis Stock being on)
and fo ftrangled him with his Stock, and after-

wards put the faid Rope about his Neck, (which
was prepared for the purpofe, with a Noofe in it,

before it was brought out of the Captain's Cabbin)
and then Mahony hailed the Rope tight about his

Neck ; and upon this Examinant's asking him what
he did that for? he faid, For fear he fhould not be
dead enough. And this Examinant took a Knife
out of his Pocket, and cut it off his Neck, and
threw it over-board. During all which time the

Captain flood Centinel at the Door as aforefaid ;

and as foon as this Examinant had fo cut the Rope
off, the Captain handed a Candle to Mahony, who
gave it to him, and Mahony took the Watch and
Money out of Sir Johns Pocket ; and then the

Captain ask'd them, Have ye done ? meaning, (as

this Examinant apprehended) murdered the faid

Sir John. And then came in himfelf, and this

Examinant went through the Hold, and came up-
on Deck, where he walk'd for about the fpace of

half a quarter of an Hour, and the Captain and

Mahony went into the Captain's Cabbin together,

and then this Examinant went into the Steeridge,

and Mahony called this Examinant into the Cab-

bin, where the Captain had undreffed himfelf in

order to go to Bed ; and there the Captain gave

him five Guineas, and this Examinant had received

of
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of the faid Captain a fix and thirty Shilling Piece

of Gold before the faid Sir John was murdered.

And further this Examinant faith, That Mahony

fhewed the Captain the Watch he had taken out of

Sir John's Pocket, and the Captain gave Mahony

his own Watch, and kept Sir Johns himfelf •, and

Mahony likewife fhewed the Captain the Money he

had taken out of Sir Johns Pocket, who bid him

keep it-, and Mahony gave it to this Examinant,

who put it in hisPocket,and he and Mahony fhared

the Money on the Fore-caflle, and this Examinant

had two Pieces to one, in confideration that Ma-
hony had the Watch -, and this Examinant believes

they fhared about thirty Pounds between them.

And further, this Examinant faith, That the faid

Captain told him and Mahony, that they might go

any where for three Weeks, and he would fend

them their Tickets. And laflly, this Examinant

faith, That between four and five of the clock the

fame Morning the Man of War's Yawl was go-

ing to this City, and he and Mahony landed at the

Gibb here. Charles White.

Mr. Recorder. Well, Prifoner, what have you

to offer in your Defence ?

Charles White. Pleafe you, my Lord, I was in

my Hammock between the Hours of Twelve and

One, and this Mahony came to me and faid, Charles

White, Charles White ! I faid, what do you want ?

He faid, Turn out. I afked him what he wanted

of me now ? He faid again, Turn out, turn out.

And with that I turn'd out, and went upon Deck

to make Water, and while I was doing it, he told

me that he wanted me to go with him. I afked

him where he was going to bring me ? But he led

me into the Cabbin where the Captain was. When
I came in, the Captain bid me fit down. I begged

him to excufe me from taking fo great a Freedom

as that, in his Company. But at laft I fate down,

and I drank a Glafs of Rum. Then the Captain

afk'd me, whether I had ever kill'd a Spaniard ?

I told him, No, I never was engaged with one to

kill him. Drink about, Mahony, faid the Captain.

With that we drank about, and finifhed a Bottle

and a half in raw Drams. With that he faid, come

along with me. I afk'd him where he was going ?

I went with him, the Captain firft, and Mahony

after him ; and they went below, and to what In-

tent I knew not, being quite in Liquor with drink-

ing fo much Rum. Said the Captain to me, when

we came down, Tarry here 'till I call you. Soon

after, Mahony came to me, and told me the Cap-

tain wants you. Then I went down into the Cab-

bin, and fat downinit,and Mahony and the Captain

were talking together; but what they did I know not,

for I never laid a Hand near the Gentleman.

Mr. Recorder. You fayyou were in the Purfer'sCab-

bin, and do you not know what happen'd there ?

Charles White. I cannot tell, Sir, what paft.

Mr. Recorder. If this Defence be true, how came
you to be fo unjuft to your felf, to make the Con-

feffion which has been read ?

Charles White. Pleafe you, my Lord, I was in

Liquor, and did not know what pafs'd between

them, for I had not my Senfes about me.

Mr. Recorder. Why, 'tis charg'd upon you, by

the Cooper, that you examin'd Sir John's Pockets,

and took out his Watch and Money, and a piece of

Paper which Mahony perfuaded you to throw a-

way, as of no Confequence, or elfe to put it into

your Pocket, and read it at another Time.

Charles White. Pleafe you, my Lord, I know no-

thing of it; I have feveral Witneffes tomy Character.

Mr. Recorder. Call your Witneffes.

(Michael Smith fworn.)

Mr. Recorder. How long have you known the

Prifoner ?

Smith. From a Child, Sir ; we went to School
together for eight Years.

Mr. Recorder. What do you know of him ?

Smith. Sir, I never heard to the contrary but that

he was an honefl Man, and bore a good Character.

{Theodore Court fworn.)

Court. I never knew any Harm of the Prifoner

until this unhappy Affair; but I have been inform'd,

that fince he hath been under Confinement, he hath
told feveral People who have gone to fee him, that

if he can get clear of this, he will kill my Mate.
(Edward Jones.)

Edward Jones. I have known the Prifoner for

three Years, but never knew any Harm by him

;

I was with him in the Wefi-Indies, in the Kingfale

Man of War, but 'till this Misfortune happened,
I never knew any Harm by him.

M Recorder. Are you fure then, that you faw
him in the Cabbin, rifling the Deceafed's Pockets?
Edward Jones. Yes, my Lord, I am fure of that.

(William Macgninis fworn.)

Macguinis. Pleafe you, my Lord, I knew the

Prifoner at the Bar ever fince he was an Infant, I

went to School with him, and never knew any
Harm that he did before ; I have often both eat

and drank with him, and when he is fober, he is

as good and civil a Man as need to be.

(Daniel Wellar, Carpenter of the Ship, fworn.)

Wellar. I have been about fixteen or feventeen

Months with him, and he always behav'd himfelf

well on board, and I never knew any Harm of
him before ; but his Voice is known from all the

Men in the Ship.

Mr. Recorder. To what purpofe do you fay, that

his Voice is known from all the Men in the Ship ?

Wellar. Becaufe they talked about his Voice of-

tentimes.

Mr. Vernon. If I apprehend him right, Sir, he
fpeaks this in Confirmation of Mrs. Jones's Evi-

dence, who fwore fhe knew the Prifoner's Voice.

Gentlemen, I was in hopes the Prifoner would have
flood to his former Confeffion, inflead of endea-

vouring to retract it, and have given Glory to God
by a public Penitence and Sorrow for the Heinouf-

nefs of his Crime, inflead of putting on a Shew
of Innocence againfl Proof fo apparent of his Guilt.

Defence, I apprehend, he has made none ;

he has called indeed fome Witneffes to fpeak to

his Character ; and Character, it mufl be admit-

ted, is of weight, by way of balancing the Proofs,

where the Fact is doubtful and uncertain ; but when
the Evidence is flrong and pregnant, and Guilt

flares the Prifoner in the Face, Character weighs

not a fingle Grain in the Scale of Juflice. How
far the Prifoner's Character and early Confeffion of

the Fact, with fome Ingredients in his Cafe, may
be of Service to him in another Place, is not the

prefent Confideration ; he flands now at the Bar

for your Juflice, not your Pity ; and it fully ap-

pears in proof, that he was an Accomplice with

Mahony in this barbarous Murder, as laid in the

Indictment ; fo that Life ought to go for Life, by

the Laws of God and Man, and I doubt not in

the leafl, but that you will confcientioufly difcharge

the Duty you owe to God and your. Country, by
going according to your Evidence, and finding the

Prifoner guilty.

Mr. Recorder.

GErjtlemen of the Jury, the Prifoner at the

Bar flands indicted for the Murder of Sir

John Dinelcy Goodere. The Indictment charges,

that
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that the Deceafed was ftrangled by one Matthew fay you ? is Charles White guilty of"the Felony and
Mahony, and that the Prifoner was prefent, aiding ^Murder whereof he fcandsindicted, ornotguiky?

Jury. Guilty.

CL of Arr. What Goods or Chattels, Lands o?
Tenements, had he at the time of the faid Felony
and Murder committed, or at any time fince, to
your knowledge ?

Jury. None.

CI. of Arr. Hearken to your Verdict, as the
Court hath recorded it: You fay, that Charles
White is guilty of the Felony and Murder whereof
he ftands indicted, and that he had no Goods or
Chattels, Lands' or Tenements, at the time of the
faid Felony and Murder committed, or at any
time fince, to your knowledge ; and fo you fay aJi,

CI. of Arr. Keeper, take Charles White the Pri-
foner from the Bar, and look to him ; he Hands
convicted of wilful Murder.

On Saturday the 28 th of March the Prifoners

and abetting him in the Fact

To fupport this Charge, the Profecutors have

called two WitnefTes, Edward Jones, and Marga-

ret his Wife. Edward Jones fays, that he lodged

in the Night between the eighteenth and nineteeth

of January laft, in the Ruby Man of War, in the

Slop-room, which adjoins to the Purfer's Cabbin ;

where, he fays, the Deceafed was confined. He
tells you, that about Two in the Morning he Was

waked by his Wife, and heard Six John crying out,

Here's twenty Guineas, take it, take it; don't

murder me ; .mud I die ? He fays Sir John gave

ieveral Kecks with his Throat like a Man expiring,

and quickly after was ftill. He teils you, that

then a Light being brought into the Cabbin, he

got up and look'd through a Crevice in the Parti-

tion, and faw the Prifoner at the Bar engaged in

rifling Sir John's Pockets, Mahony {landing by were brought again to the Bar, in order to receive

with a Candle in his hand. He fays, that Sir John their Sentence ; and the Court proceeded thus

:

was dead, as he believes, when the Prifoner was CI. of Arr. Cryer, open the Court

rifling his Pockets; and from what he obferv'd Cryer. Oyez, Oyez, Oyez; all manner of Per-

the next Morning, that he was ftrangled. fons that have any more to do before the King's
Margaret Jones is fomething fuller in her Evi- Majefty's Juftices of Oyer and Terminer, and o-e-

dence, as to fome Circumftances previous to the neral Goal-Delivery for this City and County, and
Murder; but in the main, agrees with her Huf-

band touching the rifling of Sir John's Pockets af-

ter he was dead. She is fure Mahony held the

Candle, and that another Perfon whom fhe takes

to be the Prifoner at the Bar, was rifling his

Pockets. She fays, fhe had not a perfect view of

him ; but by his Bulk, and from what her Huf-

band then told her, fhe concluded at the time,

that it was the Prifoner at the Bar. She fays fur-

ther, that when Mahony and that other Perfon

.went out of the Cabbin, fhe heard Mahony fay,

Whither fhall I run ? The other anfwered, Follow

were adjourned over to this Time and Place, draw
near, and give your Attendance.

CL ofArr. Mr. Recorder, will you pleafe that
the Prifoners fhall be called up to Judgment ?

Mr. Recorder. Yes.

CI. ofArr. Keeper, fet Matthew Mahony, Sa-
muel Goodere, and Charles White to the Bar ; which
was done.

Mr. Recorder. Ask them what they can fay to

hinder Judgment ?

CI. of Arr. Matthew Mahony, hold up thy
Hand, Thou haft been indicled of Felony and

me, my Boy. And then fhe fays, fhe knew it was Murder, thou haft been thereupon arraigned, thou

the Prifoner made that Anfwer, by his Voice, haft pleaded thereunto not guilty, and for thy
She fays fhe knows the Prifoner's Voice perfectly Trial, thou haft put thy felf upon God and thy

well, having been acquainted with him two Years. Country, which Country hath found thee guilty ;

The Profecutors then read the Prifoner's Exa- what haft thou to fay for thyfelf, why the Court
mination, which contains a full Confeffion of the

Fact, as laid in the Indictment.

You have heard, Gentlemen, what the Prifoner

has faid to this Charge. He admits that he went

into the Purfer's Cabbin, but fays, that being

much in Liquor, he knows nothing of what pafs'd

fhould not proceed to give Judgment of Death up-

on thee, and award Execution according to the Law?
[He offered nothing, but begg'd for Time to

prepare himfelf.].

CI. of Arr. Samuel Goodere, hold up thy Hand.
Thou haft been indicted of Felony and Murder,

there ; and denies that he had any Concern in the &c. what haft thou to fay ? &c.

Murder. He called fome WitnefTes to his Cha- [He offered nothing, but begged alfo for Time
rafter ; and I muft obferve to you, that one of his to prepare himfelf.]

WitnefTes, Daniel Wellar, fays, that the Prifoner's

Voice is diftinguifhable from the Voices of all the

Men in the Ship. This will give fome Weight to

Margaret Jones's Evidence, That fhe knew him
by his Voice.

And, Gentlemen, upon the whole, if you be-

lieve the Evidence for the King, and give Credit to

CI. of Arr. Charles White, hold up thy Hand.
Thou haft been indicted of Felony and Murder,
&c . what haft thou to fay ? &c.
[He offered nothing, but declared he was drawn

into it, and begged for Tranfportation for Life.]

CL of Arr. Cryer, make Proclamation for Silence.

Cryer. Oyez ; The King's Majefty's Juftices

the Prifoner's Confeffion, you muft find him guilty, ftraitly charge and command all manner of Perfons

'Then the Jury withdrew, to conjider of their Ver

dicl ; and after a jhort Space returned again.

CL of Arr. Gentlemen, anfwer to your Names :

John Nafi.

John Nafh. Here. [And fo of the reft.]

CL of Arr. Gentlemen, are you all agreed of

•your Verdict ?

Jury. Yes.

CL ofArr. Who fhall fay for you ?

Jury. The Foreman.
CL of Arr. Charles White, hold up thy Hand.

You of the Jury look upon the Prifoner ; How

to keep Silence whilft Judgment is giving, upon
pain of Imprifonment.

[Then Mr. Recorder fpoke to the Prifoners thus :]

Mr. Recorder. Samuel Goodere, Matthew Ma-
hony, Charles White, and * Jane Williams, you
have been all convicted, upon very full Evidence,

of.one of the greateft Crimes human Nature is ca-

pable of; deliberate and wilful Murder. A Crime,

which in all Ages, and through all Nations, hath

been had in the higheft Deteftation. For how-

ever Mankind have differed in other Matters, they

have been in one Sentiment concerning this Crime
and

Convifled at the fame Sejponsfor the Murder of her Bajlard Child,
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&nd the Demerits of it; as if 'they had been all Wit-
neffes to the Promulgation of the Precept, Whoever

.fheddeth Mans Blood, by Manfhall his Blood beJhed.

But this Crime^ great as it is, is capable of fe-

veral Aggravations, arifing from the Circumftances

which attend it.

To lay violent Hands upon a Perfon who never

gave his Murderer the leaft Offence, whom per-

haps he never faw till the Moment he was mark'd

out for Execution ; and to do this for Hire, fhews a

Mind loft, I fear, toallthelmpreffions of Humanity.

But what then is the Cafe of one, who can pro-

cure all this Mifchief, and involve others in this

Guilt ; efpecially if the Perfon to whom the Vio-

lence is offered, is near to him by the Ties of

Blood or Friendfhip ?

'Tis true, Murders of this kind are not very

frequent ; and lefs fo in this Nation than in any

other. But in the Cafe in which three of you are

concerned, they all concur.

A Gentleman of Diftinclion is murdered by

Perfons, who, in a manner, were Strangers to his

Face, and his only Brother aiding and abetting

the Murder. I may fay thus much, becaufe your

Country hath upon full Evidence found it fo.

I will carry thefe Reflections no farther: I

choofe to leave that Part to your own ferious

Confideration.

I hope I need not perfuade you to employ the

Time you have to live, in making your Peace

with God: I hope, I fay, that a Senfe of your

own Condition hath already put you upon that

.Work. And pray don't fuffer yourfelves to be

diverted from it by the Hope or Expectation

of Mercy from the Crown. His Majefty's Dif-

pofition to Mercy is^ great •, but his Love of

Juftice, and his Love to his People is ftill

greater. And becaufe I would not miflead you,

nor have you deceive yourfelves in a Cafe of

this Importance, I think it my Duty to deal

freely with you,

I do not fee what room any of you have to

expect Mercy.

You who have been the immediate Actors

in this Affair, what have you pleaded in mi-

tigation of your Crime ? One fays, he is a poor,

prefs'd Servant ; and the other, that he was

drunk when the Fact was committed. Nei-

ther of thofe Excufes can avail you. You both

undertook the Murder for Hire, rifled the Gen-
tleman's Pockets, and ihared the Plunder be-

tween you.

You had, perhaps, no Defign upon the Gentle-

man's Life, till near the Time of Execution. This
is no Excufe. It fhews you were ready to fhed

innocent Blood at the firft Call : That you yielded

to the firft Temptation. And if Drunkennefs could

be admitted as an Excufe for Crimes of this na-

ture, this would be no World then of Virtue and
Sobriety.

You, Sir, who have been the principal Actor in

this Affair, what have you offer'

a

1

for your felf ?

You admit, that you imploy'd a Number of
People to feize your Brother, here in the Heart of
the City, and in the Face of the Sun, and to cany
him on board the Ship of which you had then the

Command. This is too evident to be denied, and
for that Reafon only, I fear, 'tis admitted.

To give fome Colour to this unparallel'd Out-
rage, you fay, that your Brother was diffracted,

and that you took him on Board in order to put

him under Confinement. Admitting that your Bro-

ther was diffracted, was the Place you carried him
to, or the Hands into which you committed him,
or the Treatment which he met with from them
before he was got aboard the Barge, at all proper
for his Cafe, or fit for a Brother to think of ?

You called Mrs. Gethins to prove, that Mahony
was to have had five Pounds a Month for looking
after him at her Houfe. She remembers nothing
of Mahony. But, had that been proved, could it

at all avail you to fay, that for three Weeks before

the Murder was committed, you intended to have
confined him under the Care of the very Man who
now appears to have murdered him ?

Indeed, you have denied all Concern in the Mur-
der, or the leaft Knowledge of it. But it hath been
proved by three Witneffes, that you were in the
Cock-pit while the Murder was committing, and
might have heard the Noife and Struggle in the

Cabbin, the Cry of Murder, and your Brother's

dying Groans, as well as they did.

Nay, two of them are pofitive, that you ftood

Centinel at the Door, with a drawn Cutlafh in your
Hand, while the Fact was committing. One of
them fays that you delivered a Candle into the

Cabbin, after the Cry of Murder ceafed ; and that

you, foon after, lock'd the Door, and took the

Key with you. And it is agreed on all hands, that

when the Door was open'd the next Morning, your
Brother was found there murdered.

Thofe Facts,with other Circumftances, are ftrong

and pregnant Proofs of your Concern in the Mur-
der •, unlefs the Credit of the Witneffes could be
impeached, which you have not attempted to do.

It was charged as a Circumftance againft you,'

that after the Fact was committed, Mahony and
White were fent afhore by you. This likewife you
denied. But it came out of the Mouth of a Wit-
nefs called by yourfelf, that they went up in the

Yawl by Leave from you.

I have nothing more to do, before I proceed to

that which the Duty of my Place obliges me to,

than to exhort you all to make your Peace with

God by a ferious and hearty Repentance. His
Mercy is infinite, and to that we muft leave you.

For the Judgment of this Court is, That you, Sa-

muel Goodere, Matthew Mahony, Charles White,

and Jane Williams, gofrom hence to the Prifonfrom

whence you came ; andfrom thenceyoufhall be led to

the Place of Execution, where you fhall feverally be

hanged by the Neck till you fhall be dead. And the

Lord have Mercy on your Souls.

Then the Keeper carried away the Prifoners to

the Goal, to be referved till their Execution.

On Wednefday the 15th of April following, the

Prifoners Matthew Mahony, Samuel Goodere, and

and Charles White, were executed at Briftol, ac-

cording to the Sentence pronounced againft them.

They all confeffed the Fad. The Body of Ma-
hony is hung in Chains near the Place where the

horrid Fact was committed.

At the fame Court Charles Bryan, Edward
M''Daniel, and William Hammon, were indicted,

tried and convicted, for a Mifdemeanour, in for-

cibly affifting and feizing Sir John in the Pa-

rilh of St. Auguftine, in the faid City and Coun-

ty, and carrying him on board the Barge be-

longing to the Ruby Man of War; and were

fined 40 s. each, to be imprifoned for one Year,

and then each to give Security for his good Be-

haviour for one Year more.
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APPENDIX,
CONTAINING

Several RECORDS relating to the foregoing Trials
and Proceedings.

iH E Second and Third Trials in this

Collection being for Herefy (a Crime
heretofore very frightful, and pu-

nifhed with great Severity) it may
not be amifs to ftate how the Law
formerly ftood relating thereto, and,

fince we have not the Precedents of the Pro-

cefs iffued in thofe particular Inftances, to give a

Precedent or two in fome others of the fame Na-

ture.

By the ancient a Law, Burning was the Pu-

nifhment for Herefy ; but the Party accufed

was firft to be tried and convicted thereof by the

Archbifhop and the reft of the Clergy of his Pro-

vince affembled in Convocation. After Convic-

tion the Offender was delivered over into Lay-

Hands, and the Sheriff of the County, by virtue

of the Writ de Hteretico comburendo^ was to caufe

him to be burnt. Brit. lib. i. c. 17. Bro.Abr.tit.

Herefy. Fit%. Nat. Brev. 595.

The firft Statute in relation to Herefy is the 5th

of Rich. II. cap. 5. whereby it is enacted, That

the Sheriffs and other Civil Officers fhould ap-

prehend and imprifon Perfons fufpected of He-

refy, in order to their being tried by the Laws of

Holy Church ; and it being found inconvenient

to fummon the Convocation for the Trial of eve-

ry Offender, a Statute was made the 2d of Hen. IV.

cap. 15. impowering every Diocefan to imprifon

Perfons fufpefted of Herefy in their refpective

Diocefes, and try them (fo that fuch Diocefan pro-

ceeded judicially and openly againft fuch Perfons)

and where any Perfon was convicted, he might

be imprifoned at the Difcretion of the Ordinary ;

or, if the Party refus'd to abjure his Errors, or,

having abjured them, relaps'd, he was to be left

to the Secular Arm ; and the Sheriff (whom the

Ordinary might call to be prefent at the Trial

)

was to caufe the Party to be burnt in fome high

(or open) Place.

The Lord Chief Juftice Brook (in his Abridg-

ment, Tit. Herefy) fays, that upon this Statute it

was refolved, That if a Perfon was convicted of
Herefy in the Prefence of the Sheriff, the Ordi-
nary might commit him to the fame Sheriff, and
he was to caufe him to be burnt without the Writ
de Haretico comburendo ; but if the Sheriff was ab-
fent, or if the Heretic was to be burnt in another
County, in either of thefe Cafes the Writ de Hat-
retico comburendo muff, be firft obtained, before the
Sheriff could burn him.

Some Authors have wonder'd, Why the Writ
de Haretico comburendo was iffued for the burning of
Sawtre, when by the laft mentioned Act the She-
riff was impowered to execute Perfons convicted
of Herefy without that Writ : But the Wonder
ceafes, if we confider that the Sheriff could not
proceed to execute the Offender by his own Au-
thority, unlefs he was prefent at the Conviction

j
and though the Diocefan might call the Sheriff to
attend the Trial, yet he might too convict the Of-
fender in his Abfence. And further, Sawtre was
convicted by the Convocation ; and it may be dif-
ficult to give one Inftance where the Convocation
called the Sheriff to affift at the Trial of an He-
retic ; and, if they had, fuch a Conviction was not
within the Letter of the Act: Therefore, upon
this Conviction, the Sheriff was under a Neceffi-
ty of waiting for the Writ de Hceretico comburendo,
before he could execute him f.
By the 2d of Hen. V. cap. 7. all Civil Offi-

cers were to be fworn to affift the Ordinaries in
extirpating Herefies ; and one convict of Herefy
was to forfeit his Goods and Chattels, and Fee-
fimple Lands.

By the 25th of Hen. VIII. cap. 14. the Act of
the 2d of Hen. IV. is in part repealed ; and it is

thereby provided, That no Perfon fhall be execu-
ted as an Heretic, without the Writ de Hceretico
comburendo firft obtained.

By the iff of Eliz. cap. 1. the abovefaid Sta-
tutes, as well as that other Statute of the firft and
fecond of Phil, and Mar. cap. 6. againft Heretics,
are repealed.

a See WhitlocKi Speech in behalf of Jamts Nay/or, Vol.11, p. 273. N°. 53 S<e alfo Hales'* H. P. C. Vol. 1. p. 392
Note (b) and p. 394. and Note p. 709.
f The Writ for burning Saw/re feems to be a fpecial AcT: of Parliament made for th:it purpofe for it is tolled Per re^im ci/

concilium in parliamenii, which is to be intended of an Act of Parliament. Se-S. Co. Rep. 19. a. Pnn<t\ Cafe. See alio Hafe's
Hilt. t>. C. Vol. i. p. 396.

And
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And by the 19th of Car. II. cap. 9. the Writ

de Hceretico comburendo, with all Proceedings there-

on, and all Capital Punifhments in purfuance of

any Ecclefiaftical Cenfures, are from thence forth

utterly abolifhed.

So that at this day a Perfon convicted of He-

refy is liable only to Excommunication, and fuch

Pains and Difabilities as Perfons {landing excom-

municated for any other Offence.

fbe Writ de Hasretico comburendo, for burning

William Sawtre b
, convitled of Herefy in Con-

vocation c
.

RE X, &c. Majori & Vic' London falutem.

Cum venerabilis Pater Thomas Archiepif-

copus Cantuar' totius Anglise Primas, & Apofto-

licse fedis Legatus, de confenfu & affenfu, ac

confilio Epifcoporum, & confratrum fuffragan'

fuorum, necnon totius Cleri provincial fuas in

confilio fuo provinciali congregat', juris ordini-

bus in hac parte requifit' in omnibus obfervat',

"Will' Sawtre, aliquando Capellanum in hasres'

damnat', & per ipfum Willielmum praeantea in

forma juris abjurat', & ipfum Willielmum in hae-

refin predict' relaps', per fuam fententiam defini-

tivam ha^reticum manifeftum pronunciay' & de-

clarav', ac degradandum fore decreverit, & ab

omni prasrogativa & privilegio Clericali ea de

caufa realit' degradaverit, ipfumq; Will' foro fe-

culari relinquendum effe decreverit, & realiter

reliquit, juxta leges & canonicas fanctiones editas

in hac parte, & fanfta Mater Ecclefia non habet

ulterius quod fac' in prsemifs' : Nos igitur, zela-

tor juftitiffi, & fidei catholicae cultor, volentes

Ecclefiam fandam* ac jura & libertates ejufdem

manutenere & defendere, & hujufmodi haerefes

& errores de regno noftro Anglise (quant' in no-

bis eft) radicitus extirpar', ac hasreticos fie con-

viftos animadverfione condigna puniri; atten-

dentesq; hujufmodi hsreticos, in forma predict'

convidtos & damnatos juxta legem divinam &
humanam canonica inftitutione, & in hac parte

confuetudinar', ignis incendio comburi debere,

Vobis diftindtius quo poffimus prsecipimus, fir-

miter injungentes, quod prasfat' Will' in cuftodia

veftra exiften', in aliquo loco publico & aperto

infra libertat' civitatis praedicY, caufa prasmifla,

coram populo publice igni committ', ac ipfum in

eodem igne realiter comburi fac' in hujus criminis

deteftationem, aliorumq; Chriftianorum exemplum

manifeftum ; & hoc fub periculo incumbcnte nul-

latenus omittatis. Tefte, &e:

The Form of the Warrant to the Lord Chancellor

for ijfuing the Writ de Hseretico comburendo

againft Bartholomew Legatt, on a Conviclionfor

Herefy before the Ordinary.

JAMES REX.

JAMES, by the Grace of God, King of

England, Scotland, Frame, and Ireland, De-

fender of the Faith, &c. To our right-trufty

and right well-beloved Counfellor, Thomas Lord

Ellefmere, our Chancellor of England, Greeting.

Whereas the Reverend Father in God, John Bi-

ihop of London, having judicially proceeded in

a Caufe of Herefy againft Bartholomew Legatt, of

the City of London, in the Diocefe of the faid

Bifhop of London, concerning divers wicked Er-
rors, Herefies, and blafphemous Opinions, hold-

en, affirmed, and publifhed by the faid Bartho-

lomew Legatt, and chiefly in thefe Thirteen blaf-

phemous Pofitions following, viz. That the Creed
called the Nicene Creed, and Jthanafws's, Creed,

contain not a Profeffion of the true Chriftian

Faith, or, that he will not profefs his Faith ac-

cording to the fame Creeds ; That Chrift is not

God of God begotten, not made, but begotten

and made ; That there are no Perfons in the

Godhead ; That Chrift was not God from ever-

lafting, but began to be God when he took Flefh

of the Virgin Mary ; That the World was not

made by Chrift ; That the Apoftles teach Chrift

to be Man only 5 That there is no Generation in

God, but of Creatures; That this AfTertion,

God to be made Man, is contrary to the Rule
of Faith, and monftrous Blafphemy ; That Chrift

was not before the Fulnefs of Time, except by
Promife •, That Chrift was not God otherwise

than anointed God ; That Chrift was not in the

Form of God equal with God, That is, in Sub-
ftance of God, but in Righteoufnefs and giving

Salvation : That Chrift by his Godhead wrought
no Miracle; That Chrift is not to be pray'd un-

to : Wherein he the faid Bartholomew Legatt hath,

before the faid Reverend Father, maintained his

faid moft dangerous and blafphemous Opinions,

as appeareth by many of his Confeffions publick-

ly made and acknowledged. For which his dam-
nable and heretical Opinions, he is by definitive

Sentence by the faid Reverend Father John Bi-

fhop of London, with the Advice and Confent

of other Reverend Bifhops, Learned Divines,

and others learned in the Laws, aflifting him in

Judgment, juftly adjudged, pronounced, and de-

clared to be an obftinate and incorrigible Here-

tick, and is left by them under the Sentence of
the great Excommunication, and therefore as a

corrupt Member to be cut off from the Church
of Chrift, and Society of the Faithful, and is to

be, by our fecular Power and Authority, as an

Heretick punifhed, as by the Significavit of the

faid Reverend Father in God the faid Bifhop of

London, bearing Date at London the third day of

March, in the Year of our Lord 161 1, in the

Ninth Year of our Reign, and remaining in our

Court of Chancery, more at large appeareth.

And although the faid Bartholomew Legatt hath,

finee the faid Sentence pronounced againft him,

been often very charitably moved and exhorted,

as well by the faid Bifhop, as by many grave and

learned Divines, to difluade, revoke, and remove

him from the faid blafphemous and heretical Opi-

nions, yet he arrogantly and wilfully perfifteth

and continueth in the fame. We therefore, ac-

cording to our Regal Function and Office, mind-

ing the Execution of Juftice in this behalf, and

to give Example to others, left they fhould at-

tempt the like hereafter, have determined, by the

Aflent of our Council, to will and require, and

do hereby authorize and require you our faid

Chancellor, immediately upon the Receipt here-

of, to award and make out, under our Great

Seal of England^ our Writ of Execution, accord-

b This Peifon was executed according to the Writ in the Year 1401, and was the firft who was burnt in England hxHereJy

See an Account of the Proceedings againft him, and of his Execution, Fex\ Aas and Mon. Vol. I. p. 5 86.

c See Fitx. Nat. Brcv. 594. mg
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ing to the Tenor in thefe Prefents enfuing ; and

thefe Prefents fhall be your fufficient Warrant and The Writ for burning an Heretic in Englifh.
Difcharge for the fame.

TH E King to the Sheriffs of London, Greet-
ing. Whereas the Reverend Father in

The Writ de Hseretico comburendo. Chrift, John Bifhop of'London, hath fignified un-
to us, that when he in a certain Bufinefs of he-

RE X Vicecomitibus London falutem. Cum retical Pravity againft one Bartholomew Legatt,
Reverendus in Chrifto Pater Johannes, Lon- our Subject of the City of London, of the faid

don Epifcopus, nobis fignificavit, quod cum ipfe Bifhop of London's Diocefe and Jurifdiction,

in quodam hsereticse pravitatis negotio contra rightly and lawfully proceeding by Ads enacted,
quendam Bartholomeum Legatt, fubditum noftrum drawn, propofed, and by the Confeffions of the
civitatis London, dicti London Epifcopi dioces' faid Bartholomew Legatt, before the faid Bifhop
& jurifdicV, rite & legitime procedens per acta judicially made and acknowledged, hath found
inactitata, deducta, propofita, & per confeflio- the faid Bartholomew Legatt very many wicked
nes ipfius Bartholomei Legatt coram prsefato Errors, falfe Opinions, Herefies, and curfed
Epifcopo judicialiter factas & recognitas, com- Blafphemies, and impious Doctrines, exprefly

pent & invenit praefatum Bartholomeum Le- contrary and repugnant to the Catholick Faith
gatt quamplurimos nefandos errores, falfas opi- and Religion, and the holy Word of God, know-
niones, hasrefes & blafphemias execrandas, ingly and and malicioufly, and with a pertinacious,

& fcelerata dogmata catholics & orthodoxas obdurate, and plainly incorrigible Mind, to be-

fidei & religioni, & facrofancto Dei Verbo ex- lieve, hold, affirm, and publifh ; the fame Re-
preffe contraria & repugnantia, fcienter, malici- verend Father the Bifhop of London, with the

ofe, animoq; pertinaci, obdurato, planeque in- Advice and Confent as well of the Reverend
corrigibili credere, tenere, affirmare, & publi- Bifhops and other Divines, as alfo of Men learn*

care ; idem Reverendus Pater London Epifcopus, ed in the Law, in Judgment fitting and affifting,

cum confilio & confenfu tarn Reverendorum Epif- the fame Bartholomew Legatt, by his definitive

coporum & aliorum Theologorum, quam Juris Sentence, hath pronounced, decreed, and de-

etiam peritorum in judicio affiden' & affiften', clared to be an obdurate, contumacious, and in-

eundem Bartholomeum Legatt, per fententiam corrigible Heretic, and, upon that Occafion,

fuam definitivam, obduratum, contumacem, & as a ftubborn Heretic, and rotten contagious
incorrigibilem hasreticum pronunciavit, decrevit, Member, to be cut off from the Church of
& declaravit, eaque occafione tanquam protervum Chrift, and the Communion of the Faithful:

hasreticum, & membrum putridum & contagio- Whereas the holy Mother Church hath not fur-

fum, ab ecclefia Chrifti & fidelium communi- ther to do and profecute in this part, the fame
one recifum & amputatum fore. Cum igitur Reverend Father hath left the aforefaid Barthok-
fan<fta mater Ecclefia non habeat quod ulterius mew Legatt, as a blafphemous Heretic, to our
facere & exequi valeat in hac parte, idem Re- fecular Power, to be punifhed with condign Pu-
verendus Pater pra^fatum Bartholomeum Legatt, nifhment, as by the Letters Patents of the faid

ut blafphemum hasreticum, brachio noftro fecu- Reverend Father in Chrift the Bifhop of London,
lari reliquit condigna animadverfione plectend', in this behalf above made, hath been certified

prout per Literas Patentes prasfati Reverendi in unto us in our Chancery. We therefore, as a
Chrifto Patris London Epifcopi in hac parte fu- Zealot of Juftice, and a Defender of the Catho-
perinde confect' nobis in Cancellar' noftram lick Faith, and willing to maintain and defend

certificat' eft. Nos igitur ut zelator juftitias, the Holy Church, and Rights and Liberties of
& fidei catholicae defenfor, volentesq; Ecclefiam the fame, and the Catholick Faith, and fuch He-
fanctam, ac jura & libertates ejufdem, & fidem refies and Errors every where, what in us lieth,

catholicam manutenere & defendere, ac hujufmo- to root out and extirpate, and to punifh with

di haerefes & errores ubiq; (quantum in nobis condign Punifhment fuch Heretics fo convicted,

eft ) eradicare & extirpare, ac hasreticos fie con- and deeming that fuch an Heretic, in Form
vidios animadverfione condigna puniri, atten- aforefaid convicted, and condemned according

dentefq; hujufmodi hasreticum in forma prasdict' to the Laws and Cuftoms of this our Kingdom
convictum & damnatum juxta leges & confue- of England in this part accuftomed, ought to be

tudines regni noftri Anglian in hac parte confuet', burned with Fire ; we do command you, that

ignis incendio comburi debere : Vobis praecipimus, the faid Bartholomew Legatt, being in your Cuf-

quod dictum Bartholomeum Legatt, in cuftod' tody, you do commit publickly to the Fire before

veftra exiften', apud Weft-Smithfield in loco the People, in a publick and open Place in Weft-
publico & aperto, ex caufa prsemiffa, coram po- Smithfield, for the Caufe aforefaid ; and that you
pulo publice igni committi, ac ipfum Bartholo- caufe the faid Bartholomew Legatt to be really

meum Legatt in eodem igne realiter comburi fac' burned in the fame Fire, in Deteftation of the

in hujufmodi criminis deteftationem, aliorumq; faid Crime, for the manifeft Example of other

Chriftianorum exemplum manifeftum, ne in fi- Chriftians, left they Aide into the fame Fault;

mile crimen labantur ; & hoc fub periculo incum- and this that you in no wife omit, under the Pe-

bente nullatenus omittatis. Tefte, &c. ril that fhall follow thereon. Witnefs, &V.

Henry Hibirte.

The
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The [forged] IndiSiment and Outlawry d

of Sir John Oldcaftle, Lord

Cobham, for High-Treafon.

Hil. i Hen. V. Rot. y: B. R.

ALIAS coram Gulielmo Roos de Hamlak,

Henrico le Scrop, Gulielmo Crowmere

Majore civitatis London, Hugone Huls & fociis

Juftic' Domini Regis, ad inquirend' per facranV

proborum & legal' hominum de civkate Domini

Regis London, & fuburbiis ejufdem, ac de com'

Midd' tarn infra libertat.es, quam extra, de omni-

bus & fingulis proditionibus & infurrectionibus,

per quamplures fubditos Domini Regis Lollardos

vulgarit' nuncupates, & alios in civitate, fubur-

biis, & com' prasdidtis facTtis & perpretratis, nec-

non de omnibus proditionibus, infurrectionibus,

rebellionibus, & feloniis in civitate, fuburbiis, &
com' praed' per quofcunque & qualitercunq ; factis,

five perpetratis, & ad eafdem proditiones, infur-

redtiones, rebelliones, & felonias audiend' & ter-

minand' fecundum legem & confuetudinem regni

Domini Regis Angliae, per literas ipfius Domini

Regis patentes, affign' apud Weft' die Mercurii

proximo poft feftum Epiphaniae Domini, anno

regni Regis Henrici quinti poft conqueftum pri-

mo, per facram' xii. jur' extitit prsefentatum, quod

Johannes Oldcaftle de Coulyng in com' Kane'

chr' & alii Lollardi vulgar' nuncupat', qui contra

fidem catholicam diverfas opiniones hasreticas, &
alios errores manifeftos legi catholicae repugnan-

tes diu temerarie tenuerunt, opiniones & erro-

res prasdidtos manutenere, at in facto minime

perimplere valentes, quandiu regia poteftas, &
tarn flatus regal' Domini noftri Regis, quam fla-

tus & officium Pndacise dignitatis infra regnum

Angl' in profperitate perfeverarent, falfo & pro-

ditorie machinando, tarn ftatum regni, quam

ftatum & officium prjelatorum, necnon ordines

religioforum infra dictum regnum Angl' penitus

adnullare, ac Dominum noftrum Regem, fratres

fuos, prselatos & alios magnates ejufdem regni

interficere, necnon viros religiofos, relict' cult'

divinis & religiofis obfervanciis ad occupationes

mundanas provocare, & tarn ecclefias cathedrales,

quam alias ecclefias & domos religiofas de reli-

quis & aliis bonis ecclefiafticis totaliter fpoliare,

ac funditus ad terram profternere, & dictum Jo-

hannem Oldcaftle regentem ejufdem regni confti-

tuere, quamplura regimina fecundum eorum volun-

tatem, infra regnum pradidtum, quafi gens fine

capite, in finalem deftrudtionem, tarn fidei catho-

licse & cleri, quam flatus & majeftatis dignitatis

regal' infra idem regnum ordinare, falfo & pro-

ditorie ordinaverunt & propofuerunt, quod ipfo

jnfimul cum quampluribus rebellibus Domini Re-

gis ignotis, ad numerum viginti millium homi-

num de diverfis partibus regni Angl' modo guer-

rino arrivat', privatim infurgent', & die Mercurii
proximo poft feftum Epiphania; Domini, anno
regni Regis prsedidti prasdidto, apud villam &
parochiam fancti iEgidii extra Barram veteris

Templi London, in quodam magno campo ibi-

dem unanimit' convenirent, & infimul obviarent
pro nephando propofito fuo in prsemiffis perim-
plend'j quo quidem die Mercurii apud villam &
parochiam prsedidti J. Oldcaftle & alii in hujuf-

modi propofito proditorio perfeverantes, praedidtum
Dominum noftrum Regem, fratres fuos (videlicet,

Thomam ducem Clarencise, Johannem de Lancaf-
tre, & Humfredum de Lancaftre) necnon praslatos

& magnates praedidtos interficere, necnon ipfum
Dominum noftrum Regem, & haeredes fuos, de
regno fuo prjedicto exhasredare, & prsemiffa om-
nia & fingula, necnon quamplura alia mala & in-

tolerabilia, facere & perimplere falfo & proditorie

propofuerunt & imaginaverunt, & ibidem verfus

campum prasdictum modo guerrino arrivati' pro-
ditorie modo infurredtionis contra ligeancias fuas

equitaverunt ad debellandum didtum Dominum
noftrum Regem, nifi per ipfum manu forti gra-
tiofe impediti fuiffent. Quod quidem inditament'

Dominus Rex nunc, certis de caufis, coram eo
venire fecit terminandum. Per quod prjeceptum
fuit Vic', quod non omitteret, &c. quin caperet

prasfatum Johannem Oldcaftle, ft, &V, & falvo,

&c . ita quod haberet corpus ejus coram Domino
Rege apud Weftmonafterium ad hunc diem, fci-

licet die Mercurii proximo poft odtavas fandti

Hilarii, ifto eodem termino ad refpondendum
Domino Regi de prasmiffis, &c. Ad quos diem
& locum coram Domino Rege Vic', quod exigi

faceret eum de com' in com' quoufque utlagetur,

fi non, &c. & fi, &c. tunc eum caperet, & falvo,

&c. ita quod haberent corpus ejus coram Do-
mino Rege in odtavas fandti Johannis Baptiftse

ex tunc proximum fequentem, ubicunque, &c,
ad refpondendum Domino Regi de proditionibus

& feloniis fuperius fibi impofitis. Ad quas odta-

vas fandti Johannis Baptifte, an' regni R. Hen-
rici quinti poft conqueftum fecundo, Johannes
Sutton & Jo' Michell' Vic' Mid', coram Do-
mino Rege returnaverurit, quod ad com' Midd'
centum apud Braynford die Jovis proximo ante

feftum S. Barnabas Apoftoli, an' reg' R. Hen*
quint' poft conqueftum fecundo; & ad quatuor
com' ex tunc ex proximo prsecedentes, pradidtus

Johannes Oldcaftle exadtus fuit, & non compa-
ruit ; & quia ad nullum eorundem com' compa-
ruit, ideo praafentibus Coronatoribus com' prs-
didti utlagat' fuit, per quod inquiratur de terra

& catallis fuis.

Rex verfus Dominum Audley % for a Rape.

7 Car. I. nerofus, timorem Dei prae oculis fuis non habentes,

Wilts, fT. TUratores pro Domino Rege fuper fa- fed inftigatione diabolica moti & fedudti, vicefimo
J cramentum fuum prsefent' , Quod die Junii, anno regni Domini noftri Caroli, Dei

Martinus dominus Audley, nuper de Fountell Gif- gratia Anglian, Scotias, Francis, & Hibernian

ford in comitatu Wilts, & iEgidius Broadway de Regis, fidei defenforis, fexto, apud Fountell Gif-

Fountell Gifford predict' in comitatu predidlo ge- ford predict'& comitatu predidlo, vi & armis,&V.

d The Record appears to have feveral rafures in it. See Trials Vol. I.p. 36. N* 3. and-Fwr's Attsand Mon. Vol I p 6?c
e Vol. I. p. 388. N°. 31. and Hut. Rep. 115.
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APPENDIX
in Bz fuper Annam dominam Audley, uxorem
prsefati domini Martini Audley, in pace Dei &
dicti Domini Regis ibidem exiftent' infuk' fece-

runt. Et pnedi&usiEgidius Broadway prasdictam

Annam dominam Audley, vi & armis, contra vo-

luntatem ipfius Annas ad tunc & ibidem violenter

& felonice rapuit, ac ipfam Annam ad tunc &
ibidem contra voluntatem fuam vioJenter & felo-

nice carnaliter cognovit, contra pacem Domini
Regis nunc, coron', & dignitat' fuas, & contra

formam ftatuti in hujufmodi cafu edit' & provis*.

Et ultra, juratores prsedicti dicunt fuper facra-

mentum fuum praedicV, Quod prsedictus Marti-
nus dominus Audley prasdicto vicefimo die Junii,
ann' fexto fupradicto, apud Fountell Gifford prse-
dictam, in comitatu prsedicto, felonice fuit prje-
fens, auxilians, & confortans, abettans, procu-
rans, adjuvans, & manutenens prasdictum Aegi-
dium Br. ad feloniam praedictam, in forma prse-

dicta felonice faciend' & perpetrand', contra pa-
cem dicti Domini Regis nunc, coronam & digni-
tatem fuas, ac contra formam ftatuti prsedicti.

Rex verfus Dominum Audley f
, for Sodomy.

er

7 Car' I.

Wilts, ff. T Uratores pro Domino Rege fup
J facramentum fuum praefent', Quod

Martinus dominus Audley, nuper de Fountell

Gifford in comitatu Wilts', Deum pras oculis non
habens, nee natural ordinem refpiciens, fed infti-

gatione diabolica motus & feductus, primo die

Junii, an' regni Domini noftri Caroli, &c. fexto,

apud Fountell Gifford prgedicY in dicto comitatu

Wilts, in domo manfionali ejufdem Martini do-

mini Audley, ibidem vi & armis in quendam
Florence Fitz-patrick, yeoman, infult' fecit, &
cum eodem Florence F. ad tunc or ibidem nequit',

diabolice, felonice, & contra naturam rem Ve=
neream habuit, ipfumque F. ad tunc & ibidem
carnaliter cognovit, peccatumque illud Sodomiti-
cum deteftabtle & abominandum, Anglice vocat'

Buggery (inter Chriftianos non nominandum; ad
tunc & ibidem cum eodem Florence F. nequit'

diabolice, felonice, & contra naturam commific

& perpetravit in magnam Dei omnipotentis dif-

plicentiam, ac totius humani generis dedecus, ac

contra pacem dicti Dom' Reg' nunc, coronam
& dignitat' fuas, & contra formam ftatuti in hu-

jufdmodi cafu edit' & provis'.

Rex verfus Johannem Hampden s
, in the Cafe of Ship-Money.

2nV 13 Car' I. in Scacc*.

MEmorand', quod brev' Domini Regis nunc

fub figillo hujus Scaccar' per concefs
5
Ba-

ron' hie emanavit in hsec verba

:

ff. C AROLUS Dei gratia Anglias, Scotia,

Francise, & Hibernize Rex, fidei defenfor, &c.

Vic' Bucks falutem. Cum diverfe & feparal' de-

nar' fummaz: in fchedul' huic brevi annex* fpec',

virtute brevis noftri fub magno figillo noftro An-
glian geren' dat' quarto die Augufti, anno regni

noftri undecimo, affeffat' & onerat' fuer' fuper

feparal' perion' in ead' fchedul' nominat', in &
verfus provifion' navis pro guerra, una cum ap-

parat' & al' eid' pertin', in eod' brevi particular'

mentionat'; quibus quid' feparal' denar' fummis

fie affeffat' & onerat', & non folut' & fatisfadt'

exiften', per breve noftrum dc certiorar' geren'

dat' nono die Martii, anno regni noftri duode-

cimo, fub magno figillo noftro' prasd' emanat',

nomina earund' feparal' perfon' una cum feparal'

denar' fummis fuper ipfos onerat', in cur' Cancellar'

noftrs certificat' fuer'. Ac per breve noftrum de

Mittimus fub eodem figillo, geren' dat' quinto

die inftant' menfis Maii in Scaccar' noftr' mifs'

fuer' pro ulterior' procefs' fuper inde habend',

prout per tenorem praedicti brevis geren' dat'

quarto die Augufti, anno regni noftri undecimo,

ac per prsedict' breve de Certiorar' & certificat'

fuper inde fact' in dictum Scaccar' noftrum mifs',

& ibid' de record' in cuftodia Rememorat' noftri

remanen' plenius apparet, tibi prsecipimus, quod
non omitt' propter aliqu' libertat' quin ea ingr',

& per probos & legales homines de bal' tua fcir'

fac' prasfat' feparal' perfon' in diet' fchedul' no-

minat' & fpec', quod fint coram Baron' de Scac-

car' noftro apud Weftm' in octab' fanctas Trinit'

proxim' futur', ad oftend' & proponend', fiquid

pro fe habeant, vel dicere fciant, quare ipfi de

prasd' feparal' denar' fummis fuper ipfos modo
& forma prsedict' affeffat', & non folut', in

fchedul' il' fpec', onerari & inde fatisfacere non
deb' & ad ulterius faciend' & recipiend' in pras-

miffis, quod cur' noftra tunc ibidem duxerit or-

dinand' & habeas ibi tunc hoc breve, & nomina
eor' per quos eis fciri feceris. Tefte Humfr' Da-
venport' Mil, apud Weftm', vicefimo fecundo

die Maii, anno regni noftri decimo tertjo. Per
rotulum.

Memorandum de eodem anno Regis in re-

cordor' rotulo termini Pafchae, Tenor fchedul'

prasd' in brevi prsedict' mentionat', quoad Jo-
hannem Hampden, fequitur in haec verba : ff Sche-

dul' de nominibus certar* perfonar' in com' Bucks,

& cert' denar' fummar' fuper ipfos affefTat' &
onerat' in & verfus provifion' navis de guerra,

una cum apparat' & al' eid' pertin', virtute cu-

jufd' brevis fub magno figillo Angliae, geren' dat'

quarto die Augufti, anno regni Domini Reg*
nunc Caroli undecimo, & in cur' Cancellar' Dom'
Regis, virtute brevis de Certiorar' fub figillo

pra^d* eman', geren' dat' nono die Martii, anno

regni fui duodecimo, certificat' effe infolut', ac

per breve de Mittimus fub eodem figillo in Scac-

car' diet' Dom* Regis nunc miffis pro ulterior'

procefs' fuper inde faciend', prout per tenor' pre-
dict' brevis geren' dat' quarto die Augufti, anno

regni dicti Domini Regis nunc undecimo fupra-

dict', ac per breve de Certiorar', & certificat'

fuperinde fact' in dictum Scaccar' noftr' mifs', &
ibidem de record' in cuftod' Rememorat' Dom'
Regis reman' plenius apparet.

f Vol. I. p. 388. N»3i. and Hut. Rep. 115.
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A P P E N D I X.
Stoake Mandivile, Jf. Johann' Hampden Efq ;

Ad quern diem Anthonius Chefter Baronet', Vic'

com' prasdicl:', quoad praefat' Johannem Hamp-
den retorn', quod per Nicolaum Aris, Robertum

Alexander, Richardum Harrifon, &; Will'um

Heyborne, probos & legales homines de ball' fua,

fciri fecit, prsfat' Johann' Hampden, inter al',

quod fit coram Baron' infra fcript' ad diem & lo-

cum infra content', ad oftendend' & proponend'

fi quid pro fe habeat, vel dicere fciat, quare ipfe

de prsedicl' fumma fuper ipfum affeffat', & non

folut', in fchedul' prasdicV fpec', onerari & inde

fatisfacere non debeat, prout ulterius fibi praecipe

tur : Et modo, fcilicet a die fan&se Trinitatis in

tres feptiman' venit hie praed' Johannes Hampden,

in fchedul' prasd' nominat', in propria perfona

fua, & petit audit' brevis de Sciri facias prasd',

retorn' ejufdem, ac prasd' fchedul' eid' annexat',

& ei leguntur ; petit etiam audit' prasd' brevis,

geren' dat' quarto die Augufti, anno regni dicti

Domini Regis nunc Caroli undecimo, in brevi

de Sciri facias mentionat', & ei legitur in hasc

verba

:

Jf. Carolus Dei gratia Anglias, Scotias, Fran-

cis, & Hibernias Rex, fidei defenfor, &c. Vic'

com' noftri Bucks, Ball' & Burgens' burgi & pa-

roch' de Buckingham, Majori, Ball' & Burgens'

burgi de Chipping-Wiccombe, alias Wiccombe,

ac probis hominibus in eifdem burgis & paroch',

& membris eorund', & in villis de Agmonde-
fham, Wendover, & LViarlow magna, ac in om-
nibus aliis burgis, villat', hamlet' & al' locis in

diclo com' Bucks, falutem. Quia dat' eft nobis

intelligi, quod prasdones quia', pirati, & mar'

graffatores, tarn nominis Chriftiani hoftes Mahu-
metani, quam alii congregati, naves & bona ac

mercim' non lolum-fubditor' noftr', verum etiam

fuditor' amicor' noftr' in man", quod per gent'

Anglican' ab olim defend' confuevit, nefarie di-

ripientes & fpoliantes, ad libitum fuum depor-

tavere, homines in eifdem in captivitate mi-

ferrima mancipantes : Cumque ipfos confpicimus

navigium indies prasparantes ad mercatores noftros

ulterius moleftand', & ad regnum gravand', ni-

fi citius remedium apponatur, eorumque cona-

tui virilius obvietur : Confideratis etiam periculis,

quae undique his guerrinis temporibus imminent,

ita quod nobis & fubditis noftris, defenfion' ma-

ris & regni omni feftinatione, qua poterimus,

accelerare convenit : Nos volentes defenfioni

regni, tuitioni maris, fecuritati fubditor' noftr',

falva conductione navium & merchandizar' ad

regnum noftrum Anglias venien', & de eod' reg-

no ad partes exteras tranfeun', auxiliante Deo,
providere; maxime cumque nos & progenitores

noftri Reges Anglias domini maris prasd' femper

haftenus extiter', & plurimum nos tasderet, fi

honor ifte regius noftris temporibus depereat, aut

in aliquo minuatur •, cumque onus iftud defenfio-

nis, quod omnes tangat, per omnes debeat fup-

portari, prout per legem & confuetudinem regni

Anglias fieri confuevit, vobis prasfat' Vicecomiti,

Ball', Burgens', Majori, probis hominibus, &
omnibus aliis quibufcunq ; fupra mentionat' in

burgis, villis, vill.it', hamlet', & locis fupradicl',

eorumque membris, in fide & ligeantia, quibus

nobis tenemini, & ficut nos & honorem noftrum

diligitis, neciion fub forisfadtur' omnium quae

nobis forisfacere poteritis, fii miter injungend'

mandamus, quod unam navem de guerra, por-

tagii quadringint' & quinquagint' dolior', cum
hominibus tarn magiftris peritis, quam marinar'

valentioribus & expertis cent' & octogint* ad mi-
nus, ac etiam tormentis tarn majoribus quam mi-
noribus, pulvere tormentario, ac haftis & telis,

aliifque armaturis neceffar' pro guerra fufficien',

& cum duplici eskippamento, necnon cum vietu-

alibus ufque ad primum diem Martii jam proxi-

me fequent', ad tot homines competen', 6c ab-

inde in vigint' & fex feptiman' ad cuftag' veftra,

tarn in victualibus, quam in hominum falariis, &
al' ad guer' neceffar' per tempus illud, fuper de-

fenftonem maris in obfequio noftro in comitiva
cuftodis maris (cui cuftod' maris ante praed' pri-

mum diem Martii committemus) & prout ipfe ex
parte noftra dicftaverit moratur', parari, & ad
porturn de Portfmouth citra dictum primum diem
Martii duci faciatis, ita quod fint ibid' eod' die

ad ultimum, ad proficiend' exinde cum navibus
noftris, & navibus alior' fideiium fubditor' noftr',

pro tuitione maris, defenfione noftrum & noftro-

rum, repulfioneque & debellatione quorumcunq

;

mercatores noftros, & alios fubditos fideles pras-

dict' in dominia noftra ex caufa mercaturas fe di-

verfantes, vel abinde ad propria decJinantes fuper
mare gravare feu moleftare fatagentium. Aflig-

navimus autem vos Vic' com, noftr' Bucks, Bali*

& Major' burgor' & paroch' prasdict', aut aliquos

duos vel plures veftrum, quorum te praefat' Vic*
com' noftri Bucks unum effe volumus } infra tri-

gint' dies poft receptionem hujus brevis, ad afll-

dend' quantum de cuftag' prasdict' fuper prsed'

burgos de Buckingham & Chipping-Wiccombe,
alias Wiccombe, cum membris eorund', fepara-

tim poni aut aflideri debeat. Et fi hujufmodi
affeffament' infra prsedicl:' triginta dies per vos
duos, vel plures veftrum fieri non contigerint,

tunc aflignavimus te prasfat' Vic' com' noftri

Bucks ad affeffamen' hujufmodi fuper predict*

burgos & paroch', & membr' eorund', faciend*

prout rationabiliter vides faciend'; & volumus,
quod de toto facto tu praefat' Vic' Bucks, fub
figillo tuo prasdicV Majorem & Ballivos reddas

certiores. Aflignavimus etiam te praefat' Ball'

burgi & paroch* de Buckingham, ad aflidend'

omnes homines in eodem burgo & paroch', &
membris ejufd', & terr' tenentes, in eifdem na-

vem vel partem navis prasdict' non habentes, vel

in eadern non defervientes, ad contribuend' ex-
penfis circa provifion' prasmifibr' neceffar' ; & fu-

per prasdict' burgum & paroch', cum membris
ejufd' (ficut prasfertur) aflidend' & ponend', viz.

quemlibet eor' juxta ftatum fuum & facultates

fuas & portiones fuas ipfis affeffat' per diftrictio-

nes, aliofve modos debitos levand' & collectores

in hac parte nominand' & conftituend', & omnes
eos, quos rebelles & contrarios inveneris in pras-

mifiis carcere mancipand', in eodem moratur'

quoufque pro eod' deliberatione ulterius duxeri-

mus ordinand'. Aflignavimus etiam te prefab
Major' burgi de Chipping-Wiccombe, alias Wic-
combe, ad aflidend' omnes homines in eod' bur-

go & membris ejufdem, & ter' tenentes, in eifd'

navem vel partem navis prasd' non habentes,

vel in eadem non defervientes, ad contribuend'

expenfis circa provifion' prasmifibr' neceffar'; &
fuper prasdicl' burg', cum membris ejufd' (ficut

prasfertur) aflidend' & ponend', viz. quemlibet:

eorum juxta ftatum fuum & facultates fuas, &
portiones fuper ipfos affefs' per diftricliones, aliof-

ve modos debitos levand', & collectores in hac

parte nominand' & conftituend' & omnes eos,

quos rebelles & contrarios inveneris in praemiflis

in carcere mancipand', in eod' moratur', quo-

alque
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ufque pro cor' deliberatione ulterius duxerimus

ordinand'. Et ulterius affignavimus te praefat'

Vicecomitem com' noftr' Bucks ad affidend' om-
nes homines in praed' villis de Agmondefham,
"Wendover, & Marlow magna, & in membris

eorund', & in omnibus aliis villis, villat', burgis,

hamlet', & aliis locis in praedicV com' Bucks, &
terr' tenentes in eifdem, navem vel partem navis

praed' non habentes, vel in eadem non defervien-

tes, ad contribuend' expends circa provifionem

praemiffor' neceffar', & fuper praedicV villas, vil-

lat', burgos, hamlet' & locos, cum membris eorund'

(ficut praefertur) affidend' & ponend', viz. quem-
libet eor' juxta ftatum fuum, & facultates fuas, &
portiones fuper ipfos afleffat' per diftrictioncs,

aliosve modos debitos levand', & collectores in

hac parte nominand' & conftituend', & omnes

quos rebelles & contrarios inveneris in praemiffis

carcere mancipand', in eod' moratur', quoufque

pro eor' deliberatione ulterius duxerimus ordinand'.

Et ulterius vobis mandamus, quod circa praemiffa

diligenter intendatis, & ea faciatis, & exequamini

cum effectu fub periculo incumbente. Nolumus

autem quod colore praedicV mandat' noftr', plus

de eifd' hominibus levari faciatis, quam ad prae-

miffor' fufficiet expenfas neceffar', aut quod

quifquam, qui pecuniam de contributionibus ad

praedict cuftag' faciend' levaverit, earn, vel par-

tem inde ahquam penes fe detineat, vel ad a?

ufus quovis quaefito colore appropriare praefumat,

volentes, quod fi plus quam fufficiat collect' me-

rit, hoc inter folventes pro rata portionis ipfis

contingen' exfolvatur. Tefte me ipfo apud

Weftm' quarto die Augufti, anno regni noftri

undecimo. Petit etiam audit' praedicV brevis

geren' dat' nono die Martii, anno regni dicti

Domini Regis xii°, in predict' brevi de Sciri

facias rnentionat', 6c ei fimiliter legitur.

Carolus Dei gratia Angliae, Scotiae, Franciae,

6c Hiberniae Rex, fidei defenfor, &c. Vic' com'

noftri Bucks, qui fuer' inter quartum diem Au-
gufti anno regni noftri undecimo, 6c primum di-

em Martii tunc proxime fequent*, Ball' burg' 6c

paroch' de Buckingham, 6c Major' 6c Ball' burg'

de Chipping-Wiccombe, alias Wiccombe, in difto

com' Bucks, qui fuer' inter tempus praedicV, fa-

lutem. Per breve noftrum fub magno figillo

noftro Angliae confecV, geren' dat' praedicV quar-

to die Augufti, anno undecimo fupradicV, pro

defenfione regni, tuitione maris, fecuritate fubdi-

tor' noftr', ac falva conduclione navium & mer-

chandizarum ad regn' noftr' Anglic venien', 6c

de eodem ad partes exteras tranfeun', Vic' com'

noftri Bucks, Ball' burgi 6c paroch' de Bucking-

ham, necnon Burgens' ejufd' burgi, Major' &
Ball' de Chipping- Wiccombe, alias Wiccombe,

necnon Burgens' ejufd' burgi, 6c probis homini-

bus in eifdem burgis & paroch', 6c membris eo-

rund', 6c in villis de Agmondefham, Wendover,

& Marlow magna, ac in omnibus aliis villis, bur-

gis, villat', hamlet', 6c aliis locis in dicto com'

Bucks, mandavimus, quod unam navem de guer-

ra portagii quadringent' & quinquagint' dolior',

cum hominibus tarn magiftns peritis, quam ma-
rinar' valentioribus 6c expertis centum 6c oclo-

gint' ad minus, ac etiam tormentis tarn majo-

nbus quam minoribus, pulvere tormentatrio, ac

haftis 6c tehs, aliifque armaturis neceffar' pro

guerra fufficien', 6c cum duplici eskippamento,

necnon cum victualibus ad certum diem (in eod'

brevi content') ad tot homines competen', 6r ab-

inde in vigint' Sc fex feptiman', ad cuftag' homi-
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num & terr' tenen' burg', paroch', viil', villat',

& al' locor' fupra rnentionat' in dido com' Bucks,
tarn in vidualibus, quam in hominum falariis, 6c
al' ad guerr' neceffar' per tempus illud, fuper

defenfionem maris moratur' parari, 6c ad portum
de Portfmouth citra tempus in eod' brevi limitat*

duci faceretis. Cumque etiam per idem breve af-

fignaverimus Vic' com' noftri Bucks praed', Bali'

burgi 6c paroch' de Buckingham praed', 6c Ma-
jor' burgi de Chipping-Wiccombe praed', auc

aliquos duos vel plures eorum, quor' Vic' didti

com' noftri Bucks unum effe volumus, infra cer-

tum terminum proxim' poft receptionem brevis

illius, ad affidend* quantum de cuftag' praed'

fuper praed' burg' 6c paroch' de Buckingham, 6c
fuper praed' burg' de Chipping-Wiccombe, alias

Wiccombe, cum membris eorund', feparatim

poni feu aflideri deberet. Cumque etiam per

praed' breve noftrum afTignaverimus Bali' burgi

6c paroch' de Bucking', 6c Majorem de burgo de
Chipping-Wiccombe, alias Wiccombe, feparatim

6c refpective, ad affidend' omres homines in eifd
8

feparal' burg' 6c paroch', 6c membr' eorund', 6c
terr' tenentes in eifdem, navem vel partem navis

praed' non habentes, vel in eadem non defervi-

entes, ad contribuend' ad expens' circa provifio-

nem praemiffor' neceffar' ; 6c fuper praed' burg'

6c paroch' de Buckingham, 6c fuper praed' burg'

de Chipping-Wiccombe, alias Wiccombe, cum
membris eorund', ficut praefertur, ad tunc fepa-

ratim 6c diftinclive ponend', viz. quemlibet eo-

rum juxta ftatum fuum 6c facultates fuas, 6c por-
tiones fuper ipfos affelfat', per diftrictiones alios-

ve modos debitos levand', 6c collectores in ea

parte nominand' 6c conftituend' modo 6c forma
prout in eodem brevi praecept' fuit. Cumque
per idem breve noftrum ulterius afTignaverimus

Vic' dieti com' noftri Bucks ad affidend' omnes
homines in praed' villis de Agmondefham, Wen-
dover, Marlow magna, 6c in membris eorund',

ac in omnibus aliis villis, villat', burgis, hamlet',

6c aliis locis in praed' com' Bucks, 6c terr' tenen-

tes in eifd', ad contribuend' expenfis circa provi-

fionem praemiffor' neceffar', 6c ad caetera faciend*

6c exequend' modo 6c forma, quibus per breve

illud praeceptum fuit. Et quia nonnulli homines
6c terr' tenentes in praedicV com', burg', paroch',

vill', villat', hamlet', 6c aliis locis, per feparal'

taxationes 6c denar' fummas, per vos fuper ipfos

refpective erga contribution' oneris praed', juxta

exigen' brevis praed' pofit' 6c affeffat', nondum
folverint nee fatisfecerint, fed eas folvere recufa-

ver', 6c adhuc contradicunt, prout informamur:

Cumq; nos nuper voluimus certiorari, tarn de no-

minibus hominum 6c terr' tenent', qui ad contri-

buend' expenfis fupradicV affefs' fuiffent, ac de-

nar' fie affefs' non folviffent, quam de feparal'

portionibus vel denar' fummis iiiper ipfos impo-
fit', vos tamen nihil in return' ejufdem brevis

noftri mififtis, in noftrum contemptum : Vo-
bis igitur praefat' nuper Vic' com' noftri Bucks
mandamus, ficut al' mandaverimus, quod tarn de
nominibus hominum 6c ter' tenen' in com' praed'

per vos refpective virtute didi brevis noftri af-

feffat', quas denar' fummis fuper ipfos fie affef-

fat', quam nondum folver' nee fatisfec', fed eas

folvere recufant, quas de feparal' portionibus 6c

denar' fummis per vos praefat' nuper Vic' com'
noftri Bucks fuper ipfos affeflat', in fcript' re-

dud', cum omnibus ill' tangen', nos in cancel-

Jar' noftram fub figillis veftns diftinde 6c aperte,

fine delatione, vel ad ultimum ante vicefimum
B 2 fextum
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fextum diem April* proxime futuro, ubicunque

tunc fuerit', reddat' certiores, una cum hoc brevi.

Ac vobis praefat' nuper Ball' Durgi & paroch' de

Bucking', & Major' burg' de Chipping-Wic-
combe, al' Wiccombe, mandamus, ficut aliis

mandaverimus, quod tarn de nominibus praed'

hominum & terr' tenen' in burg' & paroch' de

Buckingham, & burg' de Chipping-Wiccombe,

alias Wiccombe, per vos refpective virtute dicti

brevis noflri fuperius primo mentionat' affefs',

quam de feparal' denar' fummis fuper ipfos affefs',

quas nondum folver' nee fatisfecer', fed eas fol-

vere recufant, quam de feparal' portionibus &
denar' fummis per vos fuper ipfos refpective af-

fefs' in fcriptis fideliter reduct', cum omnibus illis

tangen
9
, nos in cancellariam noftr' praed' fub fi-

gillo noftro diftincte & aperte, fine delatione,

vel ad ultim' ante predict' vicefimum diem Aprilis

proxime futur', ubicunque tunc fuerit', feparatim

reddatis certiores, una cum hoc brevi. Tefte me-

ipfo apud Weftm' nono die Martii, anno regni

noftri duodecimo. EYRE.
Ad quern diem Petrus Temple & Heneagius

Proby return' brev' praed' dors' fie :
-Jf.

Executio

hujus brevis patet in quibufd' fchedul' huic brevi

annexat', quarum quidem fchedul' tenor, quoad

praefat' Johan' Hampden per praefat' Petrum Tem-
ple retornat', fequitur in haec verba : Jf. Ego Petrus

Temple Mil' & Baronet', qui fui Vic' com' Bucks,

viz. inter quartum diem Augufti, anno regni Do-
mini noftri Caroli nunc Regis Angliae, &c. un-

decimo, & vicefimum fecundum diem Februarii

tunc proxime fequen', quo die exivi ab officio

meo Vic' com' prsed', dicto Domino Regi in

Cancellar* fuam, virtute brevis ejufdem Domini
Regis huic fchedul* annex', certifico, quod virtu-

te & fecundum exigen' brevis ipfius Domini Re-

gis e Cancellar' fua emanat, & ibidem de record'

irrotulat', & Vic' dicti com' Bucks inter al' di-

rect', geren' dat' quarto die Augufti, anno un-

decimo fupradict', affeffavi, Anglice have affejfed,

fuper feparal' homines & ter' tenentes com' Bucks

praed', quorum nomina fubferibuntur, feparal'

portiones & denar' fummas ad eor' particular' in-

ferius pofit' ad contribuend' expenfis circa pro-

vifionem navigii in eod' brevi mentionat' ; quas

quidem portiones & denar' fummas, five aliquam

inde parcel)'', ante exitum ab ofHcio meo Vic'

com' praedid', ad manus meas, vel ad manus
collector* in ea parte, virtute brevis ult' mentio-

nat' per me conftitut', praed' homines & ter' te-

nentes, aut eor' aliquis, quor' nomina fubferibun-

tur, non folverunt, fed eas folvere recufaver',

viz. Stoake Mandivile, Jf. John Hampden Efq ;

Et tenor al' fchedul' per praefat' Heneag' Proby
fidelit' return', & eid' brevi annex', fequitur

etiam in haec verba: viz. There is to be accounted

upon by the Affejfors, High Conjiables, Petty Con-

fiables within the Jaid County in general, which

cannot be accountedfor by Sir Peter Temple, being,

as it conceived, Jhort, Four Pounds.

Ego Heneagius Proby Arm', qui fui Vic* com'
Bucks inter vicefimum fecundum diem Februar',

anno Regni Dom' noftri Caroli nunc Reg' An-
gliae, &V. undecimo, & ab eodem die & anno
ufque primum diem Martii tunc proxime fequen',

dicto Domini Regi in Cancellar' fuam, virtute

brevis ejufdem Domino Reg' huic fchedul' an-

nex', certifico, quod homines & ter' tenentes

com' Bucks praed', aut eor' aliquis, quor' nomi-
na in quibufd' fchedul' huic brevi annex' expri-

muntur, qui affefs' fuer' per Petrum Temple Mil'

& Baronet' nuper Vic' com' Bucks praed', dum
in officio Vic' ejufd' com' fteterit, in feparal' de-
nar' portionibus, & denar' fummis ad eor' fepa-

ral' nomina fuperius poffit', ad contribuend' ex-
penfis circa provifionem navigii, virtute & fecun-

dum exigen' brevis ipfius Domini Regis e Can-
cell' fua emanat', & ibidem de record' irrot',

Vic' dicti com' Bucks inter alios direct' geren'

dat' quarto die Augufti, anno undecimo fupra-

dicV, Heneag' Proby exiften' Vic' praedict' com*
Bucks proxime port exitum dicti Petri Temple
Mil' & Baronet' ab officio Vic' ejufd' com', vel

ad manus collector' in ea parte virtute brevis ul-

timo mentionat' conftitut', non folver', fed eas

folvere recufaverunt. Et ulterius praefat' Johannes
Hampden petit fimiliter audit' praed' brevis de
Mittimus, de quo in brevi de Sciri facias praed*

fit mentio, & ei legitur in haec verba.

Jf. Carolus Dei gratia Angliae, Scotiae, Franciae,

& Hiberniae Rex, fidei defenfor, &c. Thefaur' &
Baronibus de Scaccario fuo, falutem. Tenore
cujufdam brevis noftri fub magno figillo noftro

Angliae confect', geren' dat' quarto die Augufti,
anno regni noftri undecimo, in rotulis Cancellar'

noftrae irrotulat', per quod Vic' com' noftri

Bucks, Ball' & Burgen' burgi & paroch' de Buc-
kingham, Major',' Ball', & Burgens' burgi de-

Chipping- Wiccombe, alias Wiccombe, ac pro-

bis hominibus in eifd' burgis & paroch', & mem-
bris eorund', & in villis de Agmondefham, Wen-
dover, & Marlow magna, & in omnibus aliis

burgis, villis, villatis, hamlet', & aliis locis in

dido com' Bucks, mandavimus, quod pro defen-

fione regni, tuitione maris, fecuritate fubditorum
noftrorum, ac falva conductione navium & mer-
chandizarum ad regnum noftrum Angliae venien',

& de eod' ad partes exteras tranfeun*, pararent

unam navem de guerra portagii quadringent' &
quinquagint' dolior*, cum hominibus tarn magiftris

peritis, quam marinariis valentioribus & expertis

centum & octogint' ad minus, ac etiam tormentis

tarn majoribus quam minoribus, pulvere tormen-
tario, ac haftis & telis, aliifque armaturis neceffar'

pro guerra fufficien', & cum duplici eskippamento,

necnon cum victualibus ad certum diem, in eod'

brevi content', ad tot homines competen', & ab-

inde in vigint' & fex feptiman', ad cuftag' homi-
num & terr' tenen" burgor', vill', villat', ham-
let', & al' locor' fupra mentionat' in dicto com'
Bucks, tarn in victualibus, quam in hominum fa-

lar', & al' ad guerram neceffar' per tempus illud

fuper defenfionem maris in obfequio noftro, in

comitiva cuftod* maris moratur', & ad portum
de Portfrn', circa tempus in eod' brevi limitat*,

duci facerent. Quodque refpective affiderent om-
nes homines in praed' burg' & paroch' de Buc-
kingham, & burg' de Chipping-Wiccombe, alias

Wiccombe, & caeteris burgis, villis, villat', ham-
Jet' & aliis locis in dicto com* Bucks, & mem-
bris eorund', & ter' tenentes in eifd', ad contri-

buend' expenfis circa provifionem praemiffor',

& ad caetera faciend' & exequend', modo& for-

ma prout per idem breve praecept' fuit ; vobis

mittimus^ praefentibus inter claus' breve, pro eo

quod falus regni noftri Angliae, & populi noftri

ejufdem periclitabatur, quod e dicta Cancellar'

noftra emanari narravimus, inter al' brevia ad

hujufmodi provifionem & affeffament' faciend'

per fingulos com', civitat', burg', vill', villat',

hamlet', & locos regni noftri Angliae & Walliae,

& membris eorund', e Cancellar' noftr' praed'

nuper emanat', & ibidem fimiliter irrot' ; ac

etiam
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etiam quod dictum al' breve noftrum ad certifi-

cand' nobis in eand' Cancellar', tarn de nomini-

bus hominum & terr' tenen' in praed' burg' &
paroch' de Buckingham, & burg' de Chipping-

Wiccombe, alias Wiecombe, & in caeteris burgis,

villis, villat', hamlet' & locis dicti com' Bucks,

qui de mandato noftro' praed' ad contribuend'

erga provifion' praemiffor' affefs' fuerint, ac de

nar' fuper ipfos fie affefs' non folver', quam de

feparal' portionibus & denar' fummis fuper homi-

nes & terras tenen' illos fie onerat' & impofit',

necnon certificationes quafdam in fcriptis, virtute

brevis illius reduct', & in di&am Cancellar' no-

ftram mifs'. Vobis etiam mittimus praefentibus

interclaus', mandantes, quod infpectis brevibus

& certificat' praed', ulterius inde pro levatione,

collectione, & receptione omnium & fingularum

praed' denar' fummar' de praed' contributionibus

adhuc non folut', fieri fac', prout de jure & fecun-

dum legem & confuetudinem regni noftr' Anglian

fuerit faciend'. Tefte meipfo apud Weftm' quinto

die Maii, anno regni noftri tertio decimo. EYRE.
Sicut in eifdem brevibus, & fchedul' eifd' annex',

in Scaccar' dicti Dom' Regis certificat', & ibidem

in cuftod' Rememorator' ejufd' Dom' Regis de re-

cord' remanen' plenius continetur. Quibus lectis,

auditis, & per ipfum intellects, idem Johannes

queritur, fe colore feparal' brev', return' eorund',

& fchedul' eifd' annexat', graviter vexat' fore &
inquietat', & hoc minus jufte ; quia dicit, quod

praed' feparal' brevia fuperius mentionat', return'

eorund', & fchedul' eifdem annexat', materia in

eifd' content', minus fuificien' in lege exiftunt ad

onerand' ipfum Johannem Hampden de aut cum
folutione praed' fumm' vigint' folid' fuper ipfum

in fchedul' praed', modo & forma praed', taxat'

& affeffat', aut alicujus inde parcell', ad quae ipfe

neceffe non habet, nee per legem terr' tenetur

refpondere. Unde ob infufficien' praed' feparal'

brevium fuperius mentionat', return' eorund',

fchedul' eifdem annex', ac material in eifdem

brevibus ac fchedul' content', ipfe idem Johannes

Hampden petit judicium, Si diclus Dominus Rex
nunc ipfum de praed' vigint' folid', aut aliqua in-

de parcell', ulterius impetere, feu onerare debeat

aut velit.

Robert Holbome.

Et Johannes Banks Mil', Attorn' Dom' Regis

nunc general', qui pro eodem Domino Rege fe-

quitur, prasfens hie in cur' ad eund' diem in pro-

pria perfona fua, dicit, quod praed' feparal' bre-

via, & return' eorund', ac fchedul' praed' eifdem

annex', materiaq; in eifdem content', fufficien' in

lege exiftunt ad praed' Johan' Hampden de

praed' vigint' folid' fuper ipfum in forma & ex

caufa praed' affeffat' onerand' ; quam quidem ma-

teriam ipfe diftus Attornat' dicti Dom' Regis ge-

neral', pro eodem Dom' Rege paratus eft verifi-

care; quamq; materiam praed' Johannes Hamp-
den non didicit, nee ad earn aliqualiter refpondit,

fed verificationem illam admittere omnino recufat

:

Pro eodem Dom' Rege idcirco petit judicium, &
quod praed' Johannes Hampden de eifd' vigint'

folid' oneretur, & inde fatisfaciat, &c.
Johannes Banks.

A Copy of the Judgment, as it is entred upon Record

in purfuance of the/aid Motion, and according to

the major Votes.

I"

1 T quia Barones hie fe advifare volunt de &
j fuper praemiflis, priusq' judicium inde red-

dant, dies dat' eft praefat' Johanni Hampden eod'
flatu quo nunc hie in octab' fanfti Michael is,

ut dicti Barones fe interim de iifdem praemiflis

advifare poflint, ac cum Jufticiar' de utroq'
banco inde deliberent, eo quod iidem Barones
hie inde nondum, csV. Et fuper hoc concordat'
eft inter Barones hie, tarn ex affenfu did' Attor-
nat' die!:' Domini Reg' general', quod diet' At-
tornat' praed' Johannis Hampden, & Confiliarior'

in lege peritor' ejufdem Johannis Hampden, quod
aliqui legis periti, tarn de confilio & parte diet' Do-
mini Reg', quam de confilio & parte die!:' Johannis
Hampden, cle praed' materia in lege, & ceteris

praemiflis in camera hujus Scaccarii, vulgariter nun-
cupat' The Exchequer Chamber, coram iifd' Baroni-
bus, afiidentibus eis Jufticiar' de utroque banco, ar-

gumentari interim publice audiantur. Ad quas
quid' octabas fancti Michaelis praed' Johannes
Hampden venit hie ut prius. Et quia Barones hie

ulterius fe advifare volunt de & fuper praemiflis,

priusq' judicium inde reddant, dies ulterius dat' eft

praefat' Johanni Hampden, eod' ftatu quo nunc
hie ufq' in oclab' fancti Hilarii, ut aliqui legis pe-
riti, tarn de confilio & parte diet' Domini Reg',

quam de confijio & parte diet' Johannis Hamp-
den, de praed' materia in lege, & caeteris praemif-

fis, in praed' earner' hujus Scaccarii, coram Ba-
ronibus praed', afiidentibus eis praed' Jufticiar' de
utroque banco, argumentari interim publice au-

diantur ; ac iid Barones, cum iifd' Jufticiar' inde

deliberent, eo quod nullus in lege peritus, vel

de confilio ipfius Domini Reg', vel de confi-

lio diet' Johannis Hampden adhuc auditur, &
Barones hie inde non advifantur, &c. Pofteaq'

medio tempore in praed' oclab' fancti Michaelis,

& praed' octab' fancti Hilarii, turn Attornat' &
Solicitator ipfius Domini Reg', quam duo legis

periti de confilio praed' Johannis Hampden, in

praemiflis exiften' ex parte ejufd' Johannis Hamp-
den, duodecim feparal' diebus in praed' earner'

Scaccarii, coram Baronibus hujus Scaccarii, afii-

dentibus eis tunc ibid' prsed' Jufticiar' de utroq'

banco, de praed' mater' in lege & caeteris prae-

miflis (recitato tunc ibid' record' praed' ) ad lar-

gum & fummat' argumentari quidq' inde ex

utraq' parte dicere potuiffent aut voluer', palam
& fingulatim audit' fuer'. Et praed' Attornat' &
Solicitator general' diverfa & quamplurima re-

cord', brevia, commiflion', & praeceden' tarn

hujus Scaccarii, quam cur' Cancellar', cur' de Ban-

co Reg', ac de Commu' Banco, mater' in lege,

& caetera praemiffa in feparal' brevibus return', &
fchedulis praed' content', ex parte diet' Domi-
ni Reg' proban', confirman', & manutenen', ad
tunc & ibid

5
produxer', oftenfer', & expofuer'

;

& ad praed' octabas fancti Hilar' prasd' Johannes

Hampden venit hie ut prius, & quia Barones hie

ulterius fe advifare volunt de & fuper praemiflis

priuiquam judicium inde reddant, dies ulterius

dat' eft praefat' Johanni Hampden, eod' ftatu quo
nunc hie, ufq' a die Pafchae in quindecim dies,

ut dicti Barones interim, cum praefat
3
Jufticiar' de

utroq' Banco ulterius deliberent, eo quod iidem

Barones hie inde nondum, &c. Ad quern diem

praed' Johannes Hampden venit hie ut prius, &
quia Barones hie ulterius fe advifare volunt de &
fuper praemiflis priufquam judicium inde reddanr,

dies ulterius dat' eft eid' Johanni, eod' ftatu quo
nunc hie, ufq' in cro' fanctae Trin', & diet' Ba-

rones interim cum praefat' Jufticiar' de utroq'

banco ulterius inde deliberent, eo quod iidem Ju-

fticiar' hie inde nondum, &V. Ad quern diem
praed'
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praed

s Johannes Hampden venit hie ut prius, &
fuper hoc vifis praemiflis, & per Barones hie ple-

ne intelledis, habitaque inde matura deliberatio-

ne cum praed* Jufticiar* de utroque banco, ac

poft argumenta tam per eofd' Jufticiar', quam per

praed' Barones fingulatim in praed' earner* Scacca-

rii publice inde fad', videtur inde Baronibus, ex

advifamento Jufticiar' praed', quod feparal' bre-

via praed', & return' eorund', ae fchedulae praed*

eifd' annex', ac mater' in eifd' content', fufficien'

in lege exiftunt ad praefat' Johannem Hampden
de praed' vigint' folid', fuper ipfum in forma & ex

caufa praed' afleflat' onerand'. Ideo confiderat'

eft per eofd' Barones, quod praed' Johannes
Hampden de eifd' vigint' folid' oneretur, & ex-

inde fatisfaciet, &c.

Rex verfus Harrifon h
, for a Mifdemeanour.

frpf 14 Car' I. B. R.

Mlddx'^ A Lias, fcilicet die Jovis prox' poft

X\ odab' fandae Trin' ifto eod' ter-

mino, coram Domino Rege apud Weftm', per

facrament' xii. jur' extitit praefentat', Quod cum
cur' Domini Regis de Communi Banco eft, & a

tempore cujus contrar' memoria hominum non

exiftit, fuit antiqua cur' de recordo didi Domini
Regis nunc, & progenitor' & anteceflbr' fuor*

Reg' & Reginar' Angliae, pro adminiftratione

juftitiae fubdit' hujus regni Angliae, & aliis in

communibus pl'itis per tot' regnum Angliae praed'

motis & emergentibus. Cumque eft contra co-

ron' & dignitat' Regiae majeftatis, necnon contra

legem & confuetudinem hujus regni Angliae, pro

aliqua perfona, vel aliquibus perfonis cur' praed',

feu aliquos Jufticiarios ejufd' cur', ead' cur' aper-

ta exiften', & Jufticiar' cur' illius in cur' ill'

praefentibus, & judicialiter fedentibus, difturbare.

Cumq' Ric' Hutton miles eft, & per diverfos an-

nos jam ult' elapfos fuit, & adhuc eft, unus Ju-
fticiar' did' Domini Regis nunc praed' cur' fuae ;

quidam tamen Thomas Harrifon de Creek in

com' Northampton "Clericus, Deum prae oculis

fuis non habens, fed inftigatione diabolica mot'

& fedud', fecum malitiofe imaginans, atque in

animo compaffans, quibus modis poffit praed'

Ricardum Hutton Milk', & adtunc & adhuc un'

Juftic' Domini Regis nunc de Communi Banco
praed

5
exiften', multiplicker defamare & fcanda-

lizare, machinansque & malitiofe intendens, quan-

tum in ipfo fuit, ipfum Ricardum Hutton in fcan-

dalum, ignominiam, contempt', & vilipend' indu-

cere, ipfumq' Ricardum Hutton de vita fua, ac

de bonis & catallis, terris, & tenementis fuis pra-

viter & malitiofe deprivare, necnon ad difplacen-

tiam & indignationem did' Domini Regis nunc

erga praefat' Ricard' Hutton incitand' & provo-

cand', ac ipfum Ricardum Hutton pro prodi-

tore tam apud did' Dominum Regem, & mag-
nates hujus regni Angliae, quam apud omnes li-

geos fubditos ejufd' Domini Regis haberi & exi-

ftimari fatagens, ac ad praed' cur' did' Domini
nunc de Communi Banco, 8c Jufticiar' did' Do-
mini Regis ejufd' cur', in cur' ill' praefent'exiftent',

& judicialit' fedentibus, difturband', & ad-

miniftrationem juftitiae in cur' ill' impediend',

quarto die Maii, anno regni Domini noftri Caroli,

Dei gratia Angliae, Scotiae, Franc', & Hibern' Re-
gis, fidei defenforis, &c. decimo quarto, apud ci-

vitat' Weftm' in com' Midd', viz. in magna aula

pl'itorum ibidem, cur' ipfius Domini Regis coram
ipfo Rege cur' Cancellar', & praed' cur' Com-
muni Banco in praed' magna aula pl'itorum

praed' apert', ac Juftic' ejufd' Domini Regis in

cur' praed' tunc ibidem praefentibus, & judiciali-

ter fedentibus, materias & caufas Domini Regis,
populi fui, ac regni fui Angliae aflidue attendent'

& audient', legesq' regni praed' fubdit' ipfius

Domini Regis miniftrant', praed' Thomas Har-
rifon ad barram praed' cur' didi Domini Regis de
Communi Banco, adtunc & ibidem violenter,

vi & arm is, &c. acceffit praed' cur' de Com-
muni Banco adtunc & ibidem in praed' magna
aula, ut praefertur, aperta exiften', ac Ricardo
Hutton Milk', & aliis Judicial' didi Domini
Regis cur' de Communi Banco praed*, in cur'

ilia tunc ibidem (ut praefertur) praefentibus, &
judicialit' fedentibus, & praed' Thomas Harrifon

adtunc & ibidem, ex fua mera malitia, malo ani-

mo, & malevola intentione, in praefentia & au-

dit' praefat' Jufticiar' praed' cur' de Communi
Banco, ac diverforum fervien' ad legem, multor*

viror' venerabilium, & alior' didi Domini Regis
fidelium fubditor*, falfo, nequk', & malitiofe prae-

fat' Ricardum Hutton Milk' de alta proditione ac-

cufavit, & adtunc & ibidem falfo, nequk', & mali-

tiofe haec fcandalofa, venenofa, defamatoria Angli-
cana verba, palam, publice, & alta voce dixit, i"

fipfum praefat' Thomam Harrifon innuendo) do
accufe Mr.Jujlice Hutton (praefat' Ricardum Hut-
ton Milk', un' Jufticiar* didi Domini Regis de
Communi Banco praed' innuendo) of high Trea~

fon9
in didi Domini Regis nunc, coron', dig-

nitat', & Regiae poteftatis fuae laefionem &
derogationem, & cur' fuae praed' contempt', &
fcandalum manifeftum jurifque & legum ipfius

Domini Regis regni fui praed', ac cur' de Com-
muni Banco praed', & Jufticiar' didi Domini
Regis, cur' illius, & adminiftration' juftitiae in

ead' cur', in nequiflimum exemplum omnium
aliorum malefadorum tali cafu delinquent', &
ad graviffimum fcandalum, infamiam, dedecus,

& final' deftrudionem praed' Ricardi Hutton Mi-
lit', & contra pacem didi Domini Regis nunc,

coronam, & dignitates fuas, &V. Cum per quod
praecept' fuit Vic', quon non omittat, &c. quin
venire fac' eum ad refpondend', &c. Cum &
modo, fcilicet die Veneris prox' poft odabas
fandae Trin' ifto eod' termino, coram Domino
Rege apud Weftm' ven' praed' Thomas Harri-

fon Clericus, cuftod' Henrici Hopkins Arm',
guardian' prifonae didi Regis de la Fleete, vir-

tute brevis didi Regis de Habend' corpus ad
fubjic', &c. ei inde dired', ad barr' hie dud'
in propria perfona fua, qui committ' praefat'

Marr', &c. Et ftatu' de praemiflis eo alloquunt*

qualker fe inde acquietari, dicit, quod ipfe non
eft inde culpabil', & de hoc ponit fe fuper pa-
triam. Et Johannes Keeling Ar', Cleric' Coronae,

& Attornat' Domini Regis in cur' ipfius Regis,

coram ipfo Rege, qui pro eod' Domino Rege in

i> Vol. I. p. 720. N° 38.
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hac parte fequitur, fimiliter, csV. Jo* ven* inde dies dat» eft tarn prasfat' Johanni Keeling, qui
jur* coram domino Rege apud Weftm' die Lu- lequitur, &c. quam praed' Thorns Harrifon Cle-
nas prox' poft quindenam fanclas Trin\ & quia rico, fub cuftod' prasd' Marr' interim commiflb
nee, &c. ad recogn', &V. quia tarn, &c. Idem falvo cuftodiend*, quoufq', &c.

Rex verfus Crook & ^//<?x, y^r «0/ taking the Oaths.

14 Car. II. 0. B. ad pacem in civitat' prasd' confervand', necnon
London 0! TUr' pro Domino Rege fuper facra- ad divers' felon', tranfgr', & a)' malefacla infra

J ment' fuum prasfentant, Qjod ad eand' civitat' perpetrat', audiend' & terminal id*

general' quarterial' fefllon' pacis Domini Regis, aflign', in aperta general' quarterial' feflion'

tent' pro civitat' London apud Guildhald' ejuf- prasd', praefat' Jufticiar' pacis uk' nominat'. exi-
dem civitat', die Mercurii fcil* vicefimo quinto ftentes major pars Juftic' pacis ipfius Domini
die Junii, anno regni Domini noftri Caroli iecun- Regis infra dictam civitatem London adtunc
di, Dei gratia Anglias, Scotias, Francis & Hi- fcilicet dicto vicefimo feptimo die Janii, anno
bernias Regis, fidei defenfons, &c. quarto deci- quarto decimo fupradicto, apud diftam paroch'
mo, coram Johanne Frederick Mihte, Majore fancli Sepulchri, in warda de Farringdon extra
civitat' London, Thoma Adams MiJ'& Baronet', London prasd' praefen' exiftent', obtuicrunt
Ricardo Browne Mil' & Baronet', & Thoma (Anglice did tender) Johanni Crooke nuper de
Aleyn Milite & Baronet', Aldermannis dictas ci- London Generofo, Johanni Bolton nuper de
vitat', ac al' fociis fuis Juftic' dicti Dom' Regis, London Aurifabro, & Ifaac Gray nuper de Lon-
ad pacem in civitat' prasd' confervand', necnon don Generofo, & eor' cuilibet feparatim per fe

ad divers' felon*, tranfgr', & al' malefacla infra (ad tunc exiften', & cuilibet eor' exiften' ukra
eandem civitat' perpetrat', audiend' & terminand' aetat' octodecim annorum) jurament' content' in
aflign'. Seflio kta pacis adjornat' fuit per praefat

5 quodam actu in parliament' Domini Jacobi nuper
Juftic' dicti Dom' Regis ibidem ufque diem Jovis, Regis Anglias, tent' per prorogaaonem apud
fcilicet vicefimum fextum diem ejufdem menfis Weftm' in com' Middlefex, quinto die Novem-
Junii, anno fupradicto, ad horam ieptimam ante bris, anno regni fui Anglias, Franc', & Hiber-
merid' ejufdem diei. apud Juftice-Hall in le Old nise tertio, & Scotias tricefimo nono, nuper edit'

Bailey, in paroch' fane!' Sepulchri, in warda de & provis' in his Anglicanis verbis fequen', vfz.
Farringdon extra London prasd', tenend' coram I do truly andJincerely acknowledge, profefs, teftify,

praefat' Juftic' & al' fociis fuis, ad faciend' ulterius and declare, in my Confcience before God and the

prout cur' con', &c. Ac ad eundem diem Jovis, World, that our Sovereign Lord King Charles the

vicefimum fextum diem Junii, anno quarto deci- Second is lawful and rightful King of this Realm,
mo fupradicto, general' quarterial' feflio lfta pa- and of all other his Majefty*s Dominions and Coun-
cis tent' fuit pro civitat' London prasd' per ad- tries ; and that the Pope neither of himfelf, nor by
jornament' praed', apud Juftice-Hall praed', in any Authority of the Church or See of Rome, or by

paroch' & ward' prasu', coram praefat' Johe' Fre- any other means with any other, hath any 'Power
derick Milite, Majore civitat' London, Thoma or Authority to depofe the King, or to difpofe of any
Adams Mil' & Baronet', Ricardo Browne Mil' & of his Majefty's Kingdoms or Dominions, or to au-
Baronet', & Thoma Aleyn Mil' & Baronet', Al- thorize any foreign Prince to invade or annoy him,

dermannis dictas civitat', ac Willielmo Wilde or his Countries, or to difcharge any of his Subjects

Mil' & Baronet', uno Servien' dicti Dom' Regis of their Allegiance and Obedience to his Majefty, or

ad legem, ac Recordator' civitat' praed', ac al' to give Licence or Ltave to any of them to bear

fociis fuis Juftic' dicti Dom' Regis ad pacem in Arms, raife Tumults, or to offer any Violence or

civitat' prasd' confervard', necnon ad divers' fe- Hurt to his Majefty's Royal Perfon, State, or Go-
Ion

3
, tranfgr', & al* malefacla infra eandem civi- vernment, or to any of his Majefty*s Subjects within

tat' perpetrat', audiend' & terminand' aflign'. Ac his Majefty
1
s Dominions. Aifo I do fwear from my

adtunc & ibidem prasd' general' quarterial' feflio Heart, that notwithftanding any Declaration, or

pacis prasd' ulterius adjornat' fuit per prasfat' Ju- Sentence of Excommunication, or Deprivation made
ftic* ulque diem Veneris, fcilicet vicefimum fepti- or granted, or to be made or granted by the Pope or

mum diem dicti menfis Junii, anno quarto deci- his Succeffors, or by any Authority derived, or pre-

mo fupradicto, ad horam feptimam ante merid' tended to be derivedfrom him or his See, againft the

ejufd' diei, apud Juftice-Hall prasd', in parochia faid King, his Heirs or Succeffors, or any Abfolu-

& warda prasd' tenend', coram prasfat' Juftic' & tion of the faid Subjeils from their Obedience, I will

al' fociis fuis, ad faciend' ulterius prout cur* con', bear Faith and true Allegiance to His Majejty, his

Ac fuperinde ad iftam eandem general' quarterial* Heirs and Succeffors, and him and them will defend

fefllon' pacis, tent' pro civitat' London per ad- to the uttermoft of my Pnwer, againft all Confpira-

jornament' prasd' apud Juftice Hall prasd', in pa- cies and Attempts whatfoever, •vhich fhall be made

roch' & warda prasd', dicto die Veneris vicefimo againft his cr their Ptrjons, their Crown and Dig-

feptimo die Junii, anno quarto decimo fupradicto, nity, by reafon or colour of any fuch Sentence or

coram prasfat' Johanne Frederick Milite, Majore Declaration, or otherwife ; and will do my beft En-
civitat' London, Thoma Adams Mil' &c Baronet', deavour to difclofe and make known unto his Maje-

Ricardo Brown Mil' & Baronet' Ricardo Chi- fly, his Heirs, and Succeffors, all Treafons and trai-

verton Armigero, & Thoma Aleyn Mil' & Baro- terous Confpiracies which IJhall know or hear of to

net', Aldermannis dictas civitat', ac Willielmo be againft him, or any of them. And I do further

Wilde Milite & Baronet', uno Servien' dicti Do- fwear, that I do from my heart abhor, detejl, and

mini Regis ad legem, ac Recordator' ejufdem ci- abjure, as impious and heretical, this damnable

vitat', ac al' fociis fuis Juuic' dicti Domini Regis Dotlrine and Pofftion, That Princes which be ex-

communi-
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communicated or deprived by the Pope, may be fcil' dicto vicefimo feptimo die Junii, annoquar-

depofed or murdered by their Subjects, or any to decimo fupradicto apud paroch' & ward*

other whatfoever. And I do believe; and in my praed', in dicta quarterial' feffion' pacis praed',

Confcience am refolved, that neither the Pope nor eofdem Joh'em Crooke, .Joh'em Bolton, & Jfaa-

any Per/on whatfoever, hath Power to abfolve me cum Gray, & eor' quemhbet feparatim per fe re-

of this Oath, or any part thereof, which I acknow- quifiver' ad jurament' illud fuper iacrofancta Dei
ledge by good and full Authority to be lawfully mi- Evangel' capiend'. Quodq-, iidem Joh'es Crooke,

niftred unto me, and do renounce all Pardons and Joh'es Bolton, & Ifaacus Gray, jurament' praed',

Difpenfations to the contrary. And all thefe things fie per praed' nominat' Juftic' pacis ejufdem Joh'i

1 do plainly and fincerely acknowledge and fwear, Crooke, Joh'i Bolton, & Ifaaco Gray, ut prae-

according to thefe exprefs Words by me fpoken, and fertur, oblat' & requifit', ad tunc & ibidem obfti-

according to the plain and common Senfe and Under- nate & pertinaciter capere recufaver', & quilibet

ftanding of thefame Words, without any Equivoca- eor' recufavit, in malum exemplum omnium alior"

(ion, or mental Eva/ton, orfecret Refervation what- dicti Domini Regis nunc fidel' fubdit' & in con-

foever. And I do make this Recognition and Acknow- tempt' dicli Domini Regis nunc, legumq; fuar',

ledgment heartily, willingly, and truly, upon the contra formam ftatut' praed', ac contra pacem
true Faith of a Chriftian. So help me God. Ac dicTti Domini Regis nunc, coron' & dignitat' fuas,

quod praefat' Juftic' pacis ult' nominat' ad tunc, &V. JV I L D.

Rex verfus Green, Hill
1

, and others^ for the Murder of Sir Edmondbury

Godfrey.

Mich* 30 Car' II. B. R. Anglice did fold and faften. Et quod praedict3

Midd", K lUrator* pro Dom' Rege fuper fa- R. G. cum praedict' fudario fie per ipfum R. G.
J crament' fuum praefentant, Quod plicat' & fixat' circa collum ipfius praed' E. B. G.

Robertus Green nuper de paroch' fanctae Marias adtunc & ibidem ipfum praed' E. B. G. felonice,

le Strond in com' Midd' labor', Laurentius Hill voluntarie, & ex malitia lua praecogitat', fuftbea-

nuper de paroch' praedict' in com' praed' lab', vit & ftrangulavit, Anglice did choke and Jlrangle%
Dom' Kelly nuper de paroch' praed' in com' de quibus quidem fuifocation' & ftrangulation*

praed' Cler', & Philbert Vernat nuper de paroch' ipfius E. B. G. praed' per ipfum praed. R. G. in.

praed' in com' praed' lab', Deum prae oculis fuis forma praed' fact' & perpetrat' ipfc praed' E. B. G.
non habentes, fed inftigat' diabolica mot' & fe- adtunc & ibidem inftant' obiit. Et quod praed*

duct' 12 die Oct', anno regni Domini Caroli fe- L.H. D. K. & P. V. adtunc & ibidem felonice,

cundi, Dei gratia Angl', Scot', Franc' & Hiber- voluntarie, & ex malitia fua praecogitat' fuer'

niae Regis, fidei defenfor', &c. 30, vi & armis praefentes, auxiliantes, abettantes, confortantes,

apud paroch' fanctae Mariae le Strond praed', in affiftentes, & manutenentes praefat' R.G. ad praed*

com' praed', in & fuper quendam Edmundum- E. B. G. in forma praed' felonice, voluntarie, &
bury Godfrey Mil', in pace Dei & diet' Dom' ex malitia fua praecogitat' interficiend' & mur-
Regis nunc, adtunc & ibidem exiften', felonice, drand'. Et fie jur' praed' dicunt fuper facrament*

voluntarie, & ex malitia fua praecogitata infult' fuum praed', quod praed' R.G. L.H. D.K. & P.V.
fecer'. Et quod praed' Robertus Green quod- modo & forma praed' praefat' E. B. G. felonice,

dam fudarium panni lin', Anglice a Linen Hand- voluntarie, & ex malitia fua praecogitata interfe-

kerchief, valor' fex denar', circa collum ipfius E. cer' & murdraver' contra pacem diet' Dom' Reg*
B. G. adtunc & ibidem felonice, voluntar', & nunc, coron', & dignitat' fuas, &c.
ex malitia fua praecogitat', plicavit & fixavir,

Rex verfus Tasborough and Price
k
, for Subornation of Perjury.

Pafcha 32 Car* II. B. R. London, coram juftic' ad gaol' praed' adtunc &
fl*. A Lias fcilicet die, &c. ult' praeterit' coram ibidem deliberand' aflign', fteterunt indictat' pro

JT\. Domino Rege apud Weftm', per facra- compafiation' (Anglice the compajfing) mortis &
men' 12 jur' probor' & legalium hominum com' finalis deftruction' dicti Domini Regis, & al' altis

praed', jurat' & onerat' exiften' ad inquirend' proditionibus in eodem indictamento fpecificat*

pro dicto Dom' Rege & corpore com' praed' prae- pofteaque ad feflion' praed' praed' T. W. alias, &c.

fent' exiftit', Quod cum quidam Tho' White, J. F. W. H. alias, &c. J. G. &A.T. per jurat*

alias Whitebread, Clericus, Johannes Fenwick patriae adtunc & ibidem debito modo inde triat'

Clericus, Willielmus Harcourt, alias Harrifon Cle- & convict' fuer', & perjudic' cur' adtunc & ibi-

ricus, Johannes Gavan Clericus, Anthonius Tur- dem debito modo attinct' fuer', prout patet per
ner Clericus, & Jacobus Corker, falfi proditor' record' inde juratoribus praed' in eviden' oftens'

:

contra fereniflimum Dominum noftrum Carolum Cumque etiam quidam Richardus Langhorn Ar'
fecundum, Dei gratia Angl', &c. 13 die Junii, poftea fcilicet ad deliberation' gaol* dicti Domini
anno regni dicti Domini regis nunc 31. ad deli- Regis tent' per adjornament' pro civitat' London'
beration' gaol' dicti Domini Regis de Newgate, apud Juftice-Hall praed', coram jufticiar' ad gaol'

teint' per adjornament' pro com' praed' apud Ju- praed' adtunc & ibidem deliberand' affign', 14.

ftice-Hall in le Old Bailey, in fuburbiis civitatis die Junii anno regni dicti Dom' Regis nunc 31.

• Vol. II. p. 760. N°. 79.
fc Vol. IJ. p. 1017. N°. 91.
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fuprad', legitimo modo ftetit indidat' pro com- ibidem falfo, illicite, injufle, advifate, corrupte

paffatione (Anglice comparing) mortis & final' promitten' & uterque eor' promitten' prsed' S. D.
deftrudion' didi Domini Regis, & al' altis pro- magn' & ingent' denar' fum' & mercedes, fi ipfe

ditionibus in eodem indidamento fpecificat' ; prsed' S. D. recraherct & denegaret totam evidenc'

pofteaque fuperinde ad eandem feffion' mat' per per ipfum S. D. verfus prsed' prodicor', ut prse-

jur' patrise, & adtunc & ibidem per judic' cur' fertur, dat', & feipfum S. D. in locis incognk' &
attind' fuit, prout patet per record' inde jurato- tranfmarin' retraherec & abfentaret. Et quod
rib' prsed' fimilit' in evidenc' oftens'. Cumque prsed' J. T. & A. P. ad nequiflimas machination*,

etiam quidam Stephanus Dugdale fuper feparal' pradication', & intention' fuas prsed' pcrimplend*

triation' indidament' prsed' fuit teftis produd' & & pro perficiend', poftea fcilicet 14 die Odobr',
jurat' ex parte didi Domini Regis nunc, & adtunc anno, &c. 31. fuprad', apud paroch' fandi An-
& ibidem legitimo modo material' evidenc' verfus drese Holbourn prsed' in dido com' Midd', falfo,

prsed' T. W. W. H. J. G. A. T. & R. L. illicite, injufte, advifate, & corrupte contra li-

dedit ad proband' ipfos culpabil' de materia in geanciar' fuar' debit', produxer' & oftender', &
prsed' indidamento fpecificat', quidam Johannes uterque adtunc & ibidem produxit & oftendic

Tasburgh, nuper de, &c. Gen', alias diet' J. Tif- prsefat' S. D. quandam notam in fcriptis, tenor

burgh de, fcfr. Gen', & Anna Price de &c. Spin- cujus quidem notse fequitur in his Anglican' ver-

fter, prsemiffa prsed' fatis fcien' & exiften' per- bis fequen', videlicet, Being touched with a true

fon' diabolice affedat' erga fereniffimum Dom' Remorfe of Confcience, and hearty Sorry for the

noftrum Carolum fecundum nunc Regem Angl', great III I did, in coming in a Witnefs againft the

&c. fupremum & naturalem Dominum fuum, ac Catholicks, and there fpeaking things which in my
machinant' & tot' virib' fuis intenden' pacem 8c own Confcience I know to be very far from the 'Truth,

communem tranquillitat' hujus regni Angl' per- I think my [elf bound in Duty both to God andMan,
turbare, impedire, &fupprimere (Anglice to ftifle) and for the Safety of my own Soul, to make a true

ulteriorem divulgationem (Anglice difcovery) die- Declaration how I was drawn into this wicked

tar' prodition', &, quantum in ipfis fuit, debitum Atlion: but being very well faiisfied that I Jhall

legis curfum eludere, nee non caufare & procurare create my felf many powerful Enetnies upon this ac-

quod credit' foret, quod perfon' fie ut prsefertur count, I have retired my felf to a Place of Safety,

attind', minus jufte attind' fuiffent, prsed' J.T. where I will with my own hand difcover the great

& A. P. ante triation' prsed' W. H. fcilicet prsed* Wrong that hath been done the Catholicks, and hope

13 die Junii, anno, &c. nunc 31. fuprad', apud it may gain belief. And likewife I prote/i before Al-

paroch' fandi Andreas Holbourn in com' Midd', mighty God, that I have no motive to induce me to

falfo, illicite, injufte, corrupte, & contra ligeanc' this Confeffion, but a true Repentance for the Mif-
fuse debit', folicitabant, fubornabant, & conat' chiefs I have done, and hope almighty God will for-

filer' perfuader', & uterque eor' adtunc & ibidem give me. Quodque prsed' J. T. & A. P. poftea

folicitabat, fubornabat, & conat' fuit perfuadere fcilicet dido 14 die Odob', anno, &c. nunc 31

prsefat' Stephanum Dugdale, quod ipfe prsefat' fuprad', ad paroch' fandi Andrese Holbourn prsed'

S. D. non foret teftis, nee daret evidenc' verfus in com' Midd' prsed', falfo, illicite, injufte, ad-

prsefat' W. Harcourt, alias, &fV. fuper triation' vifate, corrupte, & contra ligeanc' fuar' debitum,

ipfius W. H. alias, &c. pro proditionibus prsed', prsefat' Stephanum Dugdale ad prsed' notam in

Et quod prsed' J. T. & A. P. poft triation' prsed', fcript', fie ut prsefertur, eidem S. D. produd' &
fcilicet 14 die Odobr', anno &c. nunc gi fupra- oftens' fignare & fubferibere folicitabant, & per-

dido, apud prsed' paroch' fandi Andrese Hoi- fuadere conat' fuer', & uterque eor' adtunc &
bourn in com' Midd', falfo, illicite, injufte, advi- ibidem folicitabat & perfuadere conat' fuit, & ad-

fate, contra ligeanc' fuse debit' folicitabant, fub- tunc & ibidem falfo, illicite, injufte, advifate,

ornabant, & conati fuer' perfuadere, & uterque eor' corrupte promifer', & uterque eor' adtunc & ibi-

adtunc & ibidem, falfo, illicite, advifate, corrupte, dem promifit, quod fi ipfe prsed' S. D. prsed'

& contra ligeanc' fuse debitum folicitabat, fub- notam in fcript' fignaret & fubferiberet, quod

ornabat, & conat' fuit perfuadere prsed' Stepha- tunc ipfe prsed' S. D. magn' & ingent' denar'

num Dugdale, quod ipfe prsed' Stephanus Dug- fum' haberet & reciperet, in malum & pernitio-

dale retraheret & denegaret totam evidenc', quas fum exemplum omn' al' in tali cafu delinquen',

ipfe prsed' S. D. ut prsefertur, dediffet contra ac contra pacem didi Domini Regis, coron', &
prsed* proditor' eifdem J. T. & A. P. adtunc & dignitat' fuas, &V.

Rex verfus Smith !

, for a Libel.

32 Car. II. B. R. ter fubditos did' Dom' Regis movere, 24 die

IT. TUrator' pro Domino Rege fuper facram' Decembris, anno regni did' Dom' Regis 32,

J fuum prsefentant, Quod Francifcus Smith, apud in vi & armis, falfo,

nuper de in librar', Deum prse feditiofe, & maliciofe fcripfit & publicavit, &
oculis fuis non habens, fed inftigatione diabolica fcribi, imprimi, & publicari caufavit quendam

motus & fedud', & falfo & maliciofe machinans, fid', fals', fedit', & fcandalos' libell', intitulat',

& intendens fereniffimum Dominum noftrum Ca- A Speech lately made by a noble Peer of the Realm.

rolum fecundum, Dei gratia Anglise, Scotise, In quo quidem libello continent' hsec falfa, fida,

Francise, & Hibernise Regem, fidei defenforem, & fcandalofa verba fequentia: My Lords, 'tis a

8c regimen fuum, in odium 8c infamiam inter fub- very hard thing to fay, that we cannot truft the

ditos fuos inducere 6c inferre, & feditionem in- King; and that we have been already deceived fo

1 Vol 2. p. 1040. N° 93.
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often, that we fee plainly the Apprehenfions of Dif- will be of no Ufe, but Wafte Paper before Eafter,
content in the People is no Argument at Court ; and if the Court have Money to fet up for Popery and
tho* our Prince be in him/elf an excellent Perfon, arbitrary Defigns in the mean while. On the other

that the People have the great
efi Inclination imagi- hand, give me leave to tellyou^ my Lords, the King

nable to love, yet we muft fay, he is fuch an one, hath no reafon to diftruft his People. No man can
as no Story affords us a Parallel of. How plain, and go home and fay, 'That if the King comply with his

how many are the Proofs of the Defigns to mur- People, they will do nothing for him but tear all

der him? How little is he apprehenfive of it ? Et up from him. We want a Government, and we
in altera parte ejufdem libelli continent' ha?c falfa, want a Prince thet we may truft even with the

fifta, & fcandalofa verba fequentia : ff. My Lords, fpending of half our annual Revenues for fame time,

1 hear of a Bargain in the Houfe of Commons, and for the Prefervation of thefe Nations. In malum
an Addrefs made to the King ; but this I know, and & perniciofiffimum exemplum omnium alior' in

muft boldly fay it, and plainly, That the Nation is tali cafu delinquen', contra pacem did' Dom' Re-
letray'd, if upon any Terms we part with our Mo- gis, coronam, & dignitat* fuas. Unde idem At-
ney, till we are fure the King is ours. Have what tornat' petit advifament' cur* in prasmiffis, & de-
Laws you will, and what Conditions you will, they bit' legis proceffum.

Rex verfus Cellier
m

, for a Libel.

31 Car* II. O. B. ftants, making that the glorious Title by which
ff TUratores pro Dom' Rege fuper facramentum they pretended Right to all things. Thefe fort of

ff fuum prasfentant, Quod kliz' Cellier uxor Proceedings, as I grew in Under/landing, pro-

Cellier, de parochia fanct' Clementis Dacor' duced in me more and more Horror of the Party
in com' Midd' Gen', eadem Eliz' exiften' religi- that committed them, and put me on enquiring

onis papalis, Deum prs oculis fuis non habens, into that Religion, to which they pretend the

fed infligatione diabolica mot' & feducV, & falfo greateft Antipathy, wherein, 1 thank God', I found
& malitiofe machinans & intendens, fereniffimum my innate Loyalty not only confirmed, but encou-

Dominum noftrum Carolum fecundum, Dei gra- raged; and, let Calumny fay what it will, I never

tia Anglian, Scotias, Franciae, &Hiberniae Regem, heardfrom any Papift, as they call them, Prieft

& gubernationem fuam hujus regni Anglian, or Layman, but that they and I, and all true

necnon veram religionem proteftan', infra hoc Catholicks, owe our Lives to the Defence of our

regnum Anglias lege ftabilit', in odium, infami- lawful King, which our prefent Sovereign Charles,

am, & contemptum inducere & inferre, & fcan- the Second is, whom God long and happily pre-

dalum & infamiam imponere fuper quibufdam ferve fo. Thefe fort of Dotlrines agreeing to

perfonis, qui producti fuiffent teftes, & teftimon* my publick Morals, and no way, as ever I was
dediffent ex parte dicli Dom' Regis contra prsed* taught, contradicling my private ones, commend-

Eliz* Cellier, & alias perfonas, de alta proditione ing at thefame time to me Charity and Devotion,

-indictat' primo die Augufti, anno regni dicti I without any Scruple have hitherto followed, glory-

Dom' Regis tricefimo fecundo, apud praedicV pa- ing my felf to be in Communion with thofe (Pa-

rochiam fan&i Clemen' Dacor', in com' Midd' piftas innuendo) who were the humble Inftruments

prasd', falfo, malitiofe, & feditiofe fcripfit&pub- of his Majefty's happy Prefervation from the fatal

licavit, & fcribi, imprimi, & publicari caufavit, Battle at Worcefter, and whom, though poor, no

quendam fi&um, falfum, & fcandalofum libellum, Temptation could invite to betray him to thofe,

intitulat', Malice defeated, or a brief Relation of who by a pretended Proteflant Principle fought his

the Accufation and Deliverance of Elizabeth Cel- innocent Blood. Thefe Truths, L hope, may fa-

lier ; wherein her Proceedings both before and tisfy any innocent Perfon in my prefent Change;

during her Confinement are particularly related, nor can they wonder at my Continuance therein,

and the Myftery of the Meal-Tub fully difcover- notwithftanding the horrid Crimes of Treafon and

ed ; together with an Abfirabl of her Arraign- Murder laid to the Charge of fome Perfons, con-

ment and Trial, written by herfelf for the Sa- fiderable for their Quality and Fortunes , in that

tisfaclion of all lovers of undifguifed Truth. Party : For when I refletled who were Witnejfes,

In quo quidem libello continentur hasc falfa, and what unlikely things they depofed, and cb-

ficta, & fcandalofa verba, & figurae fequentia : ff.
ferved that many of the chiefeft Sticklers for the

I hope it will not feem jtrange to any honeft and Plot were thofe, or the Sons of thofe that ailed

loyal Perfon, of what Way or Religion foever, that the principal parts in the laft Tragedy, which

I, being born and bred up under Proteflant Pa- Hiftory told me too had the Prologue of a pre-

vents, fhould now openly profefs my felf of ano- tended Popifih Plot ; I fay, thefe things made me
ther Church ( Ecclefiam Romanam innuendo ) doubtful of the whole ; and the more I fearcbed

for my Education being in thofe Times , when my for Truth, the more I doubted that the eld Ene-

own Parents and Relations, for their conftant and mies of the Crown were at work again for its De-

faithful Affeclion to the King and Royal Family, ftrutlion. I being fully confirmed in this, thought

were perfecuted, the King himfelf murdered, it my Duty, through all forts of Hazards, to re-

the Bifhops and Church deftroyed, the whole loyal lieve the poor imprifon'd Catholicks, who in great

Party, meerly for being fo, oppreft and ruined, numbers were locked up in Gaols, ftarving for

and all, as was pretended by the Authors of thefe want of Bread ; and this I did fome Months be-

Villanies, for their being Papifts and Idolaters, fore I ever faw the Countefs of Powis, or any of

the conftant Charabler given by them to the King thofe honourable Perfons that were accufed, or

and his Friends ; and to make them odious, they receiving one Peny of their Money, direclly or

affuming to themfelves only the Name of Prote- indiretlly, till about the latter end of January

»l Vol. III. p. 89. N». foi.
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(1678) the Prifoners increafmg very much. Et both his Legs, by the Weight of his Irons; and
in alia parte ejufdem libelli (inter alia) conti- having been chained fo long double, tlyat he could

nentur haec falfa, ficla, &" fcandalofa verba, Jf. not ftand upright : He told me much of his hard
About this time I went daily to the Prifons, to and cruel Ufage, as that he had been fqueezed
perform thofe Offices of Charity I was obliged to

;

and hafped into a thing like a Trough in a Dun-
and on Thurfday January 9, (1678) I dined in geon under Ground, which put him to inexpreffi-

Newgate, in the Room called the Cattle, on the ble Torment, infomuch that he fwooned ; and that .

the Mafter Debtors fide ; and about Four in the Af- a Perfon in the Habit of a Minifler flood by all

ternoon I came down into the Lodge, with five the while ; that a Duke beat him, pulled him by

Women, of which three were Proteftants ; and we the Hair, and fit a drawn Sword ~to his Breaft

all heard terrible Groans and Squeeks, which came three times, and fwore he would run him through %

out ef the Dungeon called the Condemned Hole : and another great Lord had laid down a heap of
I asked Harris the Turnkey what doleful Cry it Gold, and told him it was Five hundred Pounds ;

was; he faid it was a Woman in Labour; I bid that he Jhould have it all, and be taken into the

him put us into the Room to her, and we would aforefaid Duke's Houfe, if he would confefs what
help her ; but he drove us away very rudely, both they would have him : And one F. a Vintner, that

out of the Lodge, and from the Door. We went lives at the Sign of the Half- Moon in Ch——

•

behind the Gate, and there liftened, and foon St — , by whcfe Contrivance he was accufed,

found that it was the voice of a Jlrong Man in took him afide, and bid him name fome Perfont
Torture, and heard, as we thought, between his and fay they employed him to take up the dead

Groans, the winding up of fome Engine. Tbefe Body in Somerfet-yard, and gave him Money for
Cries flopped the Paffengers under the Gate

;

fo doing ; That if he would do this, both F. and

and we fix went to the Turner s Shop without the he Jhould have Money enough. He alfo told me,

Gate, and flood there, amazed with the Horror that he was kept from Thurfday //'// Sunday with-

and Dread of what we heard ; when one of the out Vibluals or Drink, having his Hands every

Officers of the Prifon came out in great Hafle, Night chained behind him ; and being all this time

feeming to run from the Noife : One of us locked to a Staple, which was driven into the

caught hold of him, faying, Oh ! what are they Floor, with a Chain not above a Tard hng ; that

doing in the Prifon ? Officer. / dare not tellyou, in this great Extremity he was forced to drink his

Miftrefs. Cell. It's a Man upon the Rack, I'll own Water ; and that the Gaoler beat his Wife
lay my Life ortt. Offic. // is fomething like it. becaufe jhe brought ViEluals, and prafd he might

Cellier. Who is it, Praunce ? Offic. Pray, Madam, have it, and threw Milk on the Ground, and bid

do net ask me, for I dare not tell you; but it is her be gone, and not look at him. Et in altera

that I am not able to hear any longer ; pray let parte ejufdem libelli continent* (inter al') hsec

me go. With that he ran away towards Holbourn falfa, ficla, & fcandalofa verba fequentia : Jf.

as faft as he could. We heard tbefe Groans per- My Arraignment, which, in Confidence of my own.

fetlly to the End of the Old-Baily : They conti- Innocency, I continually prefs'd for ; not but that

nued till near Seven of the Clock ; and then a I knew the Danger, as to this Life, of encountcr-

Perfon in the Habit of a Minifler, of a middle ing the Devil in the worfl of his hftrumentsi

Stature, grey-haired, accompanied with two other which are perjurers encouraged to that degrce
i

Men, went into the Lodge; the Prifoners were as that profligated wretch (quendam Thomam-
locked up, and the outward Door of the Lodge Dangerfield teftem product' ex parte Dom' Regis

alfo, at which I fit a Perfon to ftand and cbferve contra prsed' Elizabetham Cellier, pro alta pro-

what fhe coidd; and a Prifoner loaded with Irons ditione innuendo) was, and has been Jince his

was breught into the Lodge, and examined a long being expofid to the World in his true Colours,

time ; and the Prifoners that came down as low both at mine and another's Trial. Et in al-

as they coidd, heard the Perfon examined, with tera parte ejufdem libelli continentur hasc falfa,

great Vehemency fay often, I know nothing of it ; fidla, & fcandalofa verba fequen' : jf. Nor have I

I am innocent ; he forced me to bely my filf

;

Jince received any thing towards my Lojjes, sr the

what would you have me fay ? will you murder leaft Civility from any of them, whilft Dangerfield,

me becaufe I will not bely my filf and others ? (prsedict' Thomam Dangerfield iterum innuendo)

Several other fuch like Expreffions they heard when made a Prifoner for apparent recorded

fpoken, as by one in great Agony. About four of Rogueries, was vijited by and from Perfons of

the Clock the next Morning the Prifoners, that confiderable Quality, with great Sums of Gold and

lay in a place about the Hole heard the fame Cry Silver, to encourage him in the new Villanies he

again two Hours, and on Saturday Morning again

;

had undertaken, not againft me alone, but Per 1-

and about eight of the Clock that Morning, a fins, in whofi Safety all good Men (as well Pro-

Perfin I employed to fpy out the Truth of this teftants as others) in the three Kingdoms are

Affair, did fie the Turnkeys carry a Bed into the concerned. Et in altera parte ejuldem libelli,

Hole : fhe asked who it was for; they told her it vocat' A Poftfiript to the impartial Reader, con-

was for Praunce, who was gone made, and had torn tinent' hsec falfa, ficla, & fcandalofa verba fe-

his Bed in pieces. That Night the Examiners quentia : jf.
And whenfoever his Majefty pleafes

came again, and Praunce was led away to the to make it as fafe and honourable to jpeak Truth
i

Prefs-yard. This, and many things of like na- as it is apparent it hath been gainful and meri-

ture, made me very inquifitive to know what paf- torious to do the contrary, there will not want

fid \n the Prifon. Soon after this Francis Co- Witneffes to teftify the Truth of more than I have

ral a Scotchman, that had been put into Newgate written, and Perfons that are above being made

upon fufpicion of carrying away Sir Edmund- the Hangman's Hounds for weekly Penfions, or

bury Godfrey'^ Body, and lay there thirteen any other Confiderations whatfoever.,^ In malum

Weeks and three Days in great Mifery, got out: & perniciouffimum exemplum omn' alior' in tali

I went to fee him, and found him a fad Jpeclacle, cafu delinquin' contra pacem did' Dom' Regis,

having the Flejh worn away, and great Holes in coron', & dignitat' fuas.
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Rex verfus Dominum Grey" £&P al\ for a Mifdemeanour in debauching the

Lady Henrietta Berkley.

Mich" 34 Car" II. Rot. i. B.R. Dom' Mariae al' fil' praed' praenobil' G. C. B. &
ft /^Uod Ford Dom' Gray de Wark,. R. C. foror' praed' Dominae H.) contra omnes leges tarn

KJ nuper de, &c. Gen', A. C. ux' praed' divin', quam human', impie, nequit', impure,

R. C. D. J. F. J. ux' praed' D. J. & R. I. cum & fcandalofe vivere & cohabitare tentaver', inci-

divers' al' male difpofit' perfon', eidem Attorn' taver', & folicitaver', & quilibit eorum tunc &
dicti Dom' Regis nunc general' adhuc incognit', ibidem tentavit, incitavit, & folicitavit. Et quod

20. die Augufti, anno regni Dom' Caroli fecundi praed' F. D. G. R. C. &c. ac al' perfon' ignot',

nunc Regis Angl', &c. 34. & divers' al' dieb' & vi & armis, &c. illicite, injufte, fine licentia, &
vicibus, °tam antea, quam poftea, apud paroch' contra voluntai' praefat' praenobil' G. C. B. in

de Epfom in com' Surr', falfo, illicite, injufte, profecution' nefandiffimar' confpirac' fuar' praed',

riet' Berkley, tunc virgin' innupt' infra aetatem manfional' praed' praenobil' G. C. B. ibidem fi-

18 annorum, & un' filiar' praenobilis G. comit' tuat' & exiften', &e cuftod' & regimine ejufdem

Berkley (eadem Dom' H. B. tunc & ibidem fub G. C. B. ceper', afportaver', & abduxer'. Et

cuftod', regimine, & educat' praefat
4

praenobil' praed' Dom' H. B. a praed' 20. die Auguft', anno

G. C. B. patris fui exiften') praed' Ford Dom' fuprad', & continue poftea, ufque diem exhibi-

Gray, R. C. lie. & divers' al' perfon' ignot' ad- tion' hujus information', apud paroch' de E. pr3ed*

tunc he ibidem falfo, illicite, injufte, & diabolice in com' praed', & in divers' iocis fecret' ibidem,

ad nequifllmas, nefandiftimas, '& diabolicas in- cum praefat' F. D. G. illicite, nequit', & fcanda-

tention' fuas praed' perimplend', perficiend', & lofe vivere, cohabitare, & remanere procuraver'

ad effectum redigend', praed' Dom' H. B. ad & caufaver*, & quilibet eorum procuravit & cau-

deferend' praefat' praenobilem G. C. B. patrem favit, in magn' Dei. omnipotent' difplicent', ad

praed' Dom' H. & ad fcortac', fornicat', & a- ruinam & deftruction' praefat' D. H. B. & ami-

dulterium committend', & in fcortat', fornicat', cor' fuorum triftitiam & difconfolat', in .malum

& adulter' cum praefat' F. D. G. (eodem F. D. G. & pernitiofum exemplum, &c. Unde, fcff

.

adtunc, & diu antea, & adhuc marito exiften'

Rex. verfus Major' ^ Commun' 8f Civ' civitatis Londini .

An Information in nature of a Quo Warranto.

Pafcha 34 Car* II. B. R. ticum in re, facto, & nomine, per nomen Ma-
joris & Communitat' ac Civium civitat' London',

London ff.
Memorand", Quod Robertas Sawyer ac per idem nomen placitare & implacitari, re-

Miles, Attorn Domini Regis nunc general', qui fpondere & refponderi, ac etiam habere Viceco-

pro eodem Domino Rege in hac parte fequitur, mit' civitat' & com* civitat' London', & no-

in propria perfona fua veri hie in curia Dicli Do- minare & cligere ex feipfis duas perfbnas fore

mini Regis, coram ipfo Rege apud Weftm\ die Vicecomit' civitat' praed' & com' ejufd' civitat',

Luna prox poji quinden' fancli Martini ult" pra- ac ill' fie nominat' & elect' praeficere & conftitu-

terit", £s? pro eodem Domino Rege protulit hie in ere Vic' civit' praed' & com' ejufdem civitat', ad

cur' dicli Domini Regis, coram ipfo Rege tunc fcf execution' & retorn' omnium brevium, billarum,

ibidem, quand' Information" verfus Majorem 13 & praeceptorum Dom' Regis pro adminiftratione

Communitaf ac Cives civitat' London ; qua qui- & executione juftic' infra civit' praed' & com'

dem Informatio fequitur in hac verba : Jf. ejufdem civit' exequend', faciend', ac ad faci-

end' & exequend' omnia & fingula al' infra civit*

London' ff. \ /I Emorandum, Quod Robertus praed', & com' ejufdem civit', quae ad officium

IVi Sawyer Miles, Attorn' Dom' Vic' faciend' pertinent ; ac etiam habere Vic' com*

Regis nunc generalis, qui pro eodem Dom' Rege Middlefex, & nominare, eligere & conftituere

in hac parte fequitur, in propria perfona fua ven* ex feipfis Vic' com' Middlefex, pro eodem com'

hie in cur' diet' Dom' Regis, coram ipfo Rege ut Vicecomes inde defervitur', ac omnia brevia,

apud Weftm', die Lunae prox' poft quinden' S. billas, & praecepta Dom' Regis infra com' Mid-
Martini ifto eodem termino, & pro eodem Dom' dlefex' praed' pro adminiftratione & executione

Rege dat cur' hie intelligi & informari, Quod juftic' ibid' exequend', & retorn* inde faciend',

Major & Communitas ac Cives civitat' London' ablque aliqua commiffione, five aliquibus Uteris

praed', per fpacium unius menfis jam ult' elaps', patcntibus a Dom' Rege inde obtent', five obti-

& amplius, ufi fuerunt, & adhuc utuntur, ac cla- nend'. Ac etiam quod Major & Aldermanni

mant habere & uti, abfque aliquo warranto, five ejufdem civit' fuerunt Juftic' Dom' Regis ad pa-

regali conceffione, infra civitat' London praed', cem infra civit' praed' confervand', ac ad feffiones

& libertat' Sc precinct' ejufdem civitat', diverfis pacis & placita coronse infra eandem civit' te-

libertat', privileg', & franchis* fequen', videl', nend', ac ad omnes felon', riot', & conventic'

Fore de feipfis unum corpus corporat* & poli- illicit' infra civit' praed' inquirend', audiend', &

Vol. III. p. 519. N d
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terminand' authoritate ipforum propria, abfque

aliqua commiflione, five al' authoritate a Dom'
Rege in ea parte concefs' five obtent\ De qui-

bus quidem omnibus 6c fingulis Jibertat', privi-

leg', 6c franchis' iidem Major 6c Communitas, ac

Cives civit' London prsed', per totum tempus

fupradictum fuper dictum Dom' Regem nunc

ufurpaverunt 6c adhuc ufurpant, in diet' Dom'
Regis nunc contempt', prerogative fuse regis

grave dampnum 6c prsjudicium. Unde idem At-

torn' diet' Dom' Regis nunc general', pro eodem

Dom' Rege pet' advifament' cur' hie in prsmifs',

£c debit' Jegis procefs' verfus prsfat' Major' 6c

Communirat', ac Cives civit' London prsd', in

hac parte fieri ad refpondend' diet' Dom' Regi,

Quo Warranto clamant habere, uti, 6c gaudere,

libertat', privileg', 6c franchis' fupradict', &c.
Per quod prsceptum fuit Vicecomitibus London,

quod venire fac' eos ad refpondend', &c.

Et modo, fcilicet die Luns prox' poft crafti-

num Afcens' Dom', ifto eodem termino, coram

Dom' Rege apud Weftm', ven' prsdicti Major

& communitas, ac Cives civitatis London', per

Benedictum Brown Attornat' fuum, 6c habito

auditu information' prsd', querunt, fe colore

ejufdem information is gravit' fore vexat' 6c in-

quietat', 6c hoc minus jufte ; quia proteftando

quod informatio prsd', materiaq' in eadem con-

tent' min' fuffic' in lege exift', ad quam quidem
informat' ipfi necefTe non habent, nee per legem

terrs tenent' aliquo modo refpondere : Pro pla-

cito tamen, quoad libertat', privileg', 6c franchis'

fequen' (viz.) ipfos Major' & Communitat', ac

Cives civit' London fore de fe ipfis unum cor-

pus corporat' 6c politic' in re, facto, 6c nomine,

per nomen Majoris 6c Communitat' ac Civium

civitat* London, ac per idem nomen placitare 6c

implacitari, refpondere ac refponderi, in infor-

mat' prsd' fuperius fpecificat', iidem Major &
Communitas, ac Cives Civit' London dicunt,

quod diet' Dom' Rex nunc ipfos occafione inde

impetere feu occafionare non debet, quia dicunt,

quod praed' civit' London eft, 6c a tempore cu-

jus contrar' memoria homin' non exift', fuit an-

tiqua civitas ; quodque Cives ejufdem civit' funt,

6c a prsd' tempore cujus contrar' memor' ho-

min' non exift', fuerunt un' corpus corporat' 6c

politic' in re, facto, 6c nomine, per nomen Ma-
joris 6c Communitat' ac Civium civitat' London,

ac per idem nomen per tot' tempus illud placi-

taver' 6c implacitat' fuerunt, refponder' 6c re-

fpons' fuerunt, 6c placitare 6c implacitari, refpon-

dere ac refponderi a toto tempore fupradicto ufi

fuerunt 6c confuever'. Quodque in Magna Charta

de libertat' Ans-l' in Parliament' Domin' Hen-
'o l

'

rici quondam Regis Angl' tertii, apud Weftm' in

comitat' Midd', anno regni fui nono tent', edit'

6c provis', continet', quod civitas London habeat

omnes libertat' fuas antiquas 6c confuetud' fuas •,

6c iidem Major 6c Communitas, ac Cives civit'

London ulterius dicunt, quod Domin' Edwardus

quondam Rex Angl' tertius, in parliamento fuo

apud Weftm' in Comit' Midd', anno regni fui

primo tent', per quandam chartam fuam, de con-

fen fu Prslator', Comit', Baron', ac totius Com-
munitat' regni fui in eodem parliament' fuo apud

Weftm' prsd' convocat' exiften', ac authoritat'

ejufdem parliament', confirmavit tunc Civibus ci-

vit' London prsed' libertat' fubfequen' (int* alia)

habend' fibi 6c fuccefforibus fuis in perpetuum,

imprimis recitando, Quod cum in Magna Charta

de libertat' Angl' contineat', quod civit' London

habeat omn' libertat' fuas antiquas 6c confuetud*
fuas ; 6c quod iidem Cives tempore confection*
diets charts, ac temporibus fancti Edwardi Re-
gis 6c ConfefToris, 6c Willielmi Conqueftoris, &:»
al' progenitor' diet' Regis Edwardi tertii, divers

'

libertat' 6c confuetud' tarn per chartas ipfor' pro-
genitor' fuor', quam fine chartis ex antiqua con-
fuetud' habuiffent, voluit 6c conceflit idem Rex
Edwardus tertius, pro fe 6c hsredibus fuis, per
chartam illam, authoritat' prsd', quod iidem Ci-
ves haberent libertat' fuas fecund' form' Magn*
Charts fupradiet', 6c quod pro aliqua perfonali

tranfgr', vel judicio perfonal' alicujus miniftri

ejufdem civit', non caperent' libertat' civit* ill' in

manus ejufdem Regis Edwardi tertii, vel hsred'
fuor', fed hujufmodi minifter, prout qualitas

tranfgrefs' requireret, puniret*, prout per eandem
chartam geren' dat' apud Weftm' prsed' fexto die

Martii, anno regni diet' Regis Edwardi tertii

primo fupradict', fub magno figillo fuo Angl'
figillat', hie in cur' prolat' (inter alia) plenus ap-
paret. Et iidem Major 6c Communitas^ ac Cives
civit' London ulterius dicunt, Quod ad inftant'

6c requifit' Communitat' regni Angl' in parlia-

mento Dom' Richardi nuper Regis Angl' fe-

cundo poft Conqueft', apud Weftm' prsed' anno
regni fui feptimo tent', aflemblat' pro majore quiete
6c pace inter ligeos ejufdem nuper Regis fovend',

6c pro bono publico, omnes confuetud', liber-

tat', privileg', 6c franch' civit* prsdict' tunc Ci-
vibus civit' illius, 6c eor' fucceffor', licet ufi non
fuerint, vel abufi fuennt eifdem, authorit

5

ejuf-

dem parliament' ratificat' 6c confirmat' fuer'.

Quodq' Domin' Henricus nuper Rex Angl' fex-

tus, per literas fuas patent', fub magno figillo

fuo Angl' figillat', geren' dat' apud Weftm' prsed'

vicefimo fexto die Octobr', anno regni fui vice-

fimo tertio, quas idem Major 8c Communitas, 6c
Cives civit' London hie in cur' proferunt pro fe,

hsredibus 8c fuccefforibus fuis, confirmavit Ma-
jori 6c Communitat', ac Civibus civit' London,
6c fucceffor' fuis, omnes 6c fingulas fuas libertat*,

franch', 6c liberas confuetud' adeo integras 8c il-

lsfas, ficut eas unquam aliquo tempore proge-
nitor' ejufdem nuper Regis Henrici fexti melius,

quietius, 6c liber habuiffent 8c tenuiffent, prout
per eafdem literas patent' (int' alia) plenius ap-
paret. Quodq' Domin' Edwardus nuper Rex
Angl' quartus, per literas fuas patent' fub magno
figillo fuo Angl' figillat', geren' dat' apud Weftm'
prsed' nono die Novembr', anno regni fui fecun-

do, quas iidem Major 6c Communitas, ae Cives

civit' London hie in cur' proferunt pro fe 6c
hseredibus fuis, confirmavit Majori 8c Cummuni-
tat', ac Civibus civit' London, 8c fuccefibribus

fuis in perpetuum, omn' 8c fingulas fuas libertat',

franc', 6c liberas confuetud' adeo integr' 8c il-

lses', ficut eas unquam aliquo tempore progeni-

tor' ejufdem nuper Reg' Edwardi quarti melius,

quietius, 8c liber' habuiffent 8c tenuiffent. Ed
ulterius idem nuper Rex Edwardus quartus per

eafdem literas fuas patent', conceflit eifdem Ma-
jori 8c Communitat', ac Civibus, quod licet ipfi,

vel prsedeceffor' fui, aut Major 8c. Alderman'

civit' prsdict', vel prsdeceffor' fui prsantea,

vel fucceflbr' fui extunc in poller', aliqua vel

aliquibus libertat' quietant' concefs' ordinat' ar-

ticulor' feu liberar' confuetud', aut alior' eifd'

literis patent' ejufdem nuper Regis Edwardi

quarti, feu al' literis fuis aut progenitor' fuor'

quondam Reg' Angl', eifdem Majori 8c Commit,

nitat' concefs' content', aliquo cafu emergence

plena
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plene non ufi, vel abufi Fuerint, noluit tamen

idem nuper Rex Edwardus quartus, quod propt'

hoc ipfi Major & Communitas, Alderman' &
Gives, feu fucceflbres fui, forisfacW aliquor'

praemifs' incurrerent ; fed quod ipfi, & eor' fuc-

ceffor', univerfis & fingulis libertat' quietant' con-

cefs', ordinat' articulis, liberis confuetud', & qui-

bufcunque al' in chartis & Uteris praediet' con-

tent', taliter non ufis, vel etiam abufis, 8c eor'

quolibet extunc de caetero plene 8c libere gaude-

rent, & eis uterent' fine impetition' vel impediment'

ejufd'em nuper Regis, feu haered' fuor', Juftic',

Efchaetor', Vicecom', aut al' Balliv' feu miniftr'

ipfius nuper Regis, vel al' quorumcunque, prout

per eafdem literas patent' ejufdem nuper Regis

Edwardi quarti hie in cur' prolat' (int* alia) ple-

nius apparet. Quodque Domin' Henricus nuper

Rex Angl' feptimus, per literas fuas patent' fub

magno figillo fuo Angl' figillat', geren' dat'

apud Weftm' praediet* vicefimo tertio die Juln,

anno regni fui vicefimo, quas iidem Major &
Communitas, ac Cives civit' London hie in cur'

proferunt pro fe, haeredibus 6c fuccefforibus fuis

ratificavit 8c confirmavit Majori & Communitat',

ac Civibus civit' London, 8c eor' fucceffor',

omnia 8c fingula libertat', privileg', quietant' &
liberas confuetud', quibus ipfi Major 8c Commu-
nitas, 6c Cives feu praedecefibr' fui habere, exer-

cere, feu gaudere confueviffent, vel ufi fuiffent,

aut debuiffent, adeo plene, plan', 6c integre, ac

fi ea omnia 6c fingula feparatim 6c verbat' in

eifdem literis patent' exprefs' declarat' 6c mani-

feftat' efient 6c fuifient, prout per eafdem literas

patent' (int' alia) plenius apparet. Et iidem Ma-

jor 8c Communitas, ac Cives civit' London ulte-

rius dicunt, quod Domin' Jacobus nuper Rex

Angl', &c. per literas fuas patent' fub magno

figillo fuo Angl' figillat', geren* dat', apud Ho-

norem fuum de Hampton Court vicefimo quarto

die Septembris, anno regni fui Angl' fexto,

quas iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives civit'

London hie in cur' proferunt, recitando, quod

cum quamplurimi progenitores ipfius nuper Re-

gis, quondam Reges Angl', de gratia fua fpe-

cial', ac pro gratis, laudabil', multiplicib', 6c con-

tin' fervit' per Majorem 8c Communitat', ac Ci-

ves civit' London, 6c praedecefibr' fuos tempo-

ribus retroacl* fact' 6c impens', necnon pro di-

vers' al' urgent' caufis 6c confederation' eos fepa-

ratim moven', dediffent, concefiifient, 6c con-

firmafient Majori 6c Communitat', ac Civibus

civit' London praed', 6c fucceffor' fuis, divers'

libertat', privileg', franch', immunitat', autho-

ritat', jurifdiction', ordinat', confuetud', quie-

tant', prout per feparal' literas patent' progeni-

tor' 6c praedecefibr* fuoF' quondam Regum Angl'

plenius 6c manifeftius liquebat 6c apparebat ; idem

nuper Rex Jacobus pro 8c in confiderat' fummae

fidelitat', conftant', 6c prompt' 6c laudabil' fervit'

per Major' 6c Communicat', ac Cives civit' Lon-

don praediet' eidem nuper Regi, in ipfius regn'

fui primis aufpiciis, 8c continue ufque tunc ma-

nifeft', 8c fideliflim' fact' 8c impens*, omnes 8c

fingulas literas patent', chartas, 8c confirmac'

praeclarifs' progenitor' 6c anteceffor' fuor', eif-

dem Majori 8c Communitat', ac Civibus civit'

London praediet', 8c praedecefibr' fuis, per quae-

cunque nomina incorporat' antea tunc tempora

fact', concefs*, feu confirmat', ac omnes & fin-

gulas donac', concefs', confirmac', reftitut', con-

fuetud', ordinac', explanac', articul', 6c omnes

al* res quafcunque, in quibufcunque literis patent'

five chartis quorumcunque progenitor*, praede-

cefs', aut anteceffor' fuor' Regum Angl', necnon

omnia 6c fingula in diet' literis patent', chartis,

concefs', confirmat', feu eor' aliquibus content*

recitat', fpecific', confirmat', feu explanat% ac

omnia 6c fingula jurifdiction', authoritat', privileg',

libertat', franch', quietanc', immunitat', liberas

confuetud' 6c haereditament' quascunque, quas

praed' Major 6c Communitas, ac Cives civit' Lon-
don predict', vel praedecefibr' fui, per nomen
Major' 6c Communitat', ac Civium civit' Lon-
don, feu per nomen Major' 6c Aldermann' civit'

London, feu per nomen Majoris, Civium, 6c

Communitat' civit' London, feu per nomen Ma-
joris, 6c Civium civit' London, feu per nomen
Majoris 6c Communitatis civitatis London, feu

per nomen Civium civit' London, feu per nomen
Baron' London, feu per nomen Baron' civit*

London, feu per aliquod al' nomen quodcunquev

ratione feu vigore aliquar' literar' patent', char-

tar', feu confirmac' aliquor' progenitor', praede-

cefibr', aut anteceffor' ejufdem nuper Regis Ja-
cobi quondam Regis Angl', aliquo tempore,

vel aliquibus temporibus habuiffent, feu rationa-

bilit' ufi fuifient, aut exercuiffent, rata habuit 6c

grata, ac pro fe, haered' 6c fucceffor' fuis accep-

tavit 6c approbavit, ac ea omnia 8c fingula prae-

fat' Major' &c Communitat', ac Civibus civit'

London' praedicl', 6c eor' fuccefforibus, per eaf-

dem literas fuas patent' ratificavit 6c confirmavit

habend', tenend', gaudend' 6c exercend' omnia
6c fingula praemifs', eifdem Major' 6c Communi-
tat', ac Civibus civit' London praediet', 6c fuc-

cefforibus fuis in perpetuum, adeo plene, libere,

6c integre, ac in tarn amplis modo 8c forma, ac
fi feparatim, fingulatim, 6c nominatim in literas

patent' ill' exprefs' nominat', declarat', recitat',

8c manifeft' efient 6c fuiffent, prout per eafdem
literas patent' (inter alia) plenius apparet. Quod-
que Domin' Carolus primus nuper Rex Angl',

(3c per literas fuas patent' fub magno figillo fuo

Angl' figillat', geren' dat' apud Weftm' praediet*

decimo octavo die Octobris, anno regni fui quar-

to decimo, quas iidem Major 8c Communitas, ac

Cives civit* London hie in cur' proferunt, omnia
& fingula privileg*, libertat', franc', quieranc*,

immunitat', 6c liberas confuetud' quaecunque,

quae praediet' Major 6c Communitas, ac Cives

civit' London praed', vel praedecefibr' fui, per

nomen Majoris 6c Communitat', ac Civium civit*

London, leu per nomen Majoris 6c Aldermann*
Civium 6c Communitat' London, feu per nomen
Majoris 8c Civium civit' London, feu per nomen
Majoris 8c Communitat' civit' London, feu per
nomen Civium civit* London, feu per nomen
Baron* London, feu per nomen Baron' civit*

London, feu per aliquod al' nomen quodcunque,
ratione feu vigore literar' patent', chartar', feu

confirmac', in eifdem literis patent' dicti nuper
Regis Caroli primi mentionat', vel ufu vel prae-

fcriptione, aut alio legal' modo aliquo tempore,
vel aliquibus temporibus ante tunc habuiffent,

feu rationabiliter ufi fuiffent, aut exercuiffent, rat"

habend' 8c grata, ac pro fe, haeredibus, 8c fuc-

cefforibus fuis acceptavit 8c approbavit, ac ea
omnia 6c fingula praefat' Majori 6c Communitat',
ac Civibus civit' London, 6c eor' fucceffor', per
eafdem literas fuas patent* ratificavit 6c confirma-
vit, prout per literas patent' ill' (int' alia) plenius

liquet 6c apparet. Quodque praed' Domin' Rex
nunc per literas fuas patent' fub magno figillo

fuo Angl' figillat', geren' dat' apud Weftm' praed*

vicefimo
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vicefimo quarto die Junii, anno regni fui decimo torn' omnium brevium, bill', & precept' Do-
quinto, quas iidem Major & Communitas, ac min' Regis, pro adminiftracione & execut' Juftic'

Cives civit' London hie in cur' proferunt pro ipfo infra civic* predict*, & com' ejufdem civic' exe-

Rege, haeredibus & fuccefforibus fuis, ratificavit quend', faciend', qua; ad officium Vicecom' fa-

& confirmavit Major' & Communicat', ac Civi- ciend' pertinent, ac ad faciend' & exequend*

bus civic" London, & fucceffor' fuis, omnia & omnia & fingula alia infra civit' predict' & com*
fingula jurifdiction', auchoritac', privileg', liber- ejufdem civic', qua; ad ofRcium Vicecem' faciend'

tat', franch', quiecanc', immunitac', & confuecud' percinent, ac ut Vicecom' com' Midd' pro eo-

quascunque, qua; prefac' Major & Communicas,

ac Cives civic' London, vel predeceffor' fui, per

nomen Major' & Communirac', ac Civium civic'

London, feu per nomen Majoris, Aldermannor',

Civium & Communitat' London, feu per nomen

dem com' defervitur', ac omnia brevia, bill', &
precept' Domin' Regis infra com' Midd' pre-
dict', pro adminiftracione & executione jufticise

ibidem exequend', & recorn' inde faciend', qua;

ad officium Vicecom' faciend' pertinen'; dicunc,

Majoris & Civium civic' London, feu per nomen quod dictus Dominus Rex nunc ipfos Majorem &
Major' & Communic' civit' London, feu per Communitat', ac Cives civitat' London, occafio-

nomen Civium civic' London, feu per nomen Ba- ne inde impetere feu occafionare non debet, quia

ron' London, feu per nomen Baron' civitat' Lon- dicunt, quod predict' civit' London eft, & a

don, feu per aliquod aF nomen quodcunque, ra- tempore cujus contrar' memoria homin' non exift',

tione vel vigore literar' pacenc', chartar', feu fuic antiqua civitas & anciqu' comic' de fe, quod-

confirmac' in eifdem liceris pacent' dicti Domin' que pred' com' Midd' per totum tempus pred'
fuit & eft antiquus comit', quodque cives ejuf-

dem civic' func, & a pred' cempore cujus con-

crar' memor' homin' non exift', fuer' un' Corpus
corporac' & politic', tarn per nomen Major' &
Communitat' ac Civium civit' London, quam per

nomen Civium London ; quodque Domin' Jo-

Regis nunc premencionac*, vel alicujus, feu ali-

quor' ufus, vel ufu prefcription* vel prefcriptio-

num, feu al' legali modo quocunque, aliquo

cempore, vel aliquibus temporibus ante tunc ha-

buiffent, feu rationabilit' ufi fuifTent, feu exer-

cuiffent, habend', tenend', gaudend', & exer-

cend' omnia & fingula premifs' predict' eifdem hannes quondam Rex AngP, per literas fuas pa

Majori & Communitat', ac Civibus civic' Lon- cent' fub magno figillo fuo AngP figillac', geren'

don predict', & fuccefforibus fuis in perpetuum, dac' apud bonam villam fuper Tokam quinto die

adeo plene, libere, & integre, ac in tarn amplis Julii, anno regni fui primo, quas iidem Major

modo & forma, prouc in eifdem literis patent' & Communitas, & Cives civitat' London hie in

fuperius mentionat' fore data five conceffa, aut cur' proferunt, conceffic civibus London* pred',

alic' ufu, prefcription', vel al' legali modo, feu Vicecomit' London & de Midd' cum omnibus

jure quocunque ante tunc refpective habit', ob- rebus & confuetudinibus, qua; pertinebant ad

tent', five gavifa fuiffent, ac fi feparatim, fingu- pred' Vicecom' infra civit' & extra, per terras &
latim, & nominatim in & per dictas liceras pa- per aquas, habend' & tenend' eis in perpetuum.

tent' ipfius Domin' Regis nunc exprefs' nominat', Et preterea idem Domin' Rex Johannes, per li-

declarat', concefs' & manifefta effent & fuiffent, teras fuas patent' pred' conceflk eifdem civibus

prouc per eafdem liceras patent* (inter alia) plenius London, quod ipfi de feipfis facerent Vicecom*

apparet. Eteo warranto iidem Major & Commu- quofcunque voluerint, & amoverent quando vo-

nitat', ac Cives civitat' London, per tempus in luerint, prout per eafdem literas patent' (inter alia)

informatione predicta fuperius fpecific' ufi fuer', plenius apparet. Quodque in Magna Charca de

& adhuc ucunc', ac clamanc habere & uci, liber-

tat', privileg', & franch', fore de feipfis unum
corpus corporat' & politic' in re, facto, & no-

mine, per nomen Majoris & Communicat', ac

Civium civicat' London, ac per idem nomen pla-

citare & implacitari, refpondere ac refponderi, Et iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives civit'

>ene licuit 8c licet: Abfque hoc, quod London ulterius dicunt, quod idem Domin' Rex

libertatibus AngP, in parliament' Domin' Henri-

ci quondam Regis AngP tertii, apud Weftm' in

com' Midd* anno regni fui nono tent', edit', &
provis', continet*, quod civit' London habeat

omnes libertat' fuas anciquas, & confuetud' fuas.

prouc eis bene

iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives civitat'

London, de libertat', privileg' & franch' ill' fu-

per dictum Domin 1 Regem nunc, per tempus

pred' in informatione pred' fuperius fpecific,

ufurpaver' feu ufurpant, prout per information'

Henricus tertius, per literas fuas patent' fub

magno figillo fuo AngP figillat*, geren' dat'

apud Weftm' pred' decimo octavo die Februarii,

anno regni fui undecimo, quas iidem Major &
Communitas, ac Cives civit' London hie in cur'

ill' pro dicto Domin' Rege nunc fuperius fuppo- proferunt, confirmavit Civibus London Vicecom*

London & de Midd' cum omnibus rebus &
confuetudinib', quae pertineb' ad pred' Vicecom'

infra civitat* & extra, per terras & per aquas,

prout per eafdem literas patent' (int' al') plenius

apparet. Quodque Domin' Edwardus quondam
Rex AngP tertius, in parliament' fuo apud Weftm'

in com' Midd', anno regni fui primo tent', per

quandam chartam fuam de affenfu Prelator',

Comic', Baron', ac totius Communitat' regni fui

in eodem parliamento fuo apud Weftm' pred'

convocat' exiften', ac authoritate ejufdem parlia-

menti, confirmavit tunc Civibus civic* London

pred* libertat* fubfequen', int? al', habendi fibi

& fuccefforibus fuis in perpecuum, imprimis re-

nicur. Qua; omnia & fingula iidem Major ac

Communitas, ac Cives civitat' London parat' funt

verificare ; unde petunt judicium, & quod liber-

tat', privileg', & franch' ill' eis & fuccefforibus

fuis in perpetuum deinceps allocent' & adjudi-

cenf, &quod ipfi, quoad premifs' ill' ab hac

cur' dimittant', &c. Ec iidem Major & Com-
municas, ac Cives civit' London, quoad liber-

tac', privileg' & franch fequen', viz. ipfos ha-

bere Vicecom' civit' & com' civit' London, &
Vicecom' Mid-1', & nominare & eligere ex fe-

ipfis duas perfonas fore Vicecom' civic predict',

& com' ejufdem civit' & Vicecom' Midd' ac

ill' fie nominat' & elect' preficere & conftituere

Vicecom' civic predict' *& com' ejufdena civit', cicando, quod cum in magna Charta de libertat*

& Vicecom' Midd', ac ut Vicecom' civit' pre- Ang' contineat', quod civitas London habeat

diet', & com' ejufdem civic', ad execut' & re- omnes libercac* fuas antiquas 6c confuetud* fuas

;
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& quod iidem Cives tempore confection' di&ae

charts, ac temporibus fancti Edwardi Regis &
Confefforis, & Willielmi Conqueftor' & al' pro-

genitor' dicti Regis Edwardi tertii, diverfas liber-

tat' & confuetud', tarn per chartas ipfor' progeni-

tor' fuor', quam fine chartis ex antiqua confue-

tud* habuiffent, voluit & conceflit idem Rex Ed-

wardus tertius pro fe & haeredibus fuis per char-

tarn ill', authoritat' praed', quod iidem Cives ha-

berent libertat' fuas fecund' formam Magn' Chartas

fupradict' ; & quod pro aliqua perfonal' tranfgr',

vel judicio perfonal' alicujus miniftri ejufdem ci-

vit', non caperet' libertas civit' ill' in manu ejufd'

Reg' Edwardi tertii, vel haered' fuor', fed hujuf-

modi minifter, prout qualitas tranfgr' requirerer,

puniretur, prout per eandem chartam geren' dat'

apud Weftm' praed' fexto die Martii, anno regni

dicti Regis Edwardi tertii primo fupradicV, fub

magno figillo fuo Angl' figillat', hie in cur' pro-

lat' (int' alia) plenius apparet. Et iidem Major

& Communitas, ac Cives civit' London ulterius

dicunt, quod ad inftant' & requifition' Commu-
nitat' regni Angl' in parliamento Domin' Richar-

di nuper Regis Angl' fecundi poft Conqueftum,

apud Weftm' praed' anno regni fui feptimo tent',

affemblat' pro majore quiet' & pace inter ligeos

ejufdem nuper Regis fovend', & pro bono pub-

lico, omnes confuetud', libertat', privileg', &
franch' civit' praed', tunc civibus civitat' illius &
eor' fuccefforibus, licet ufi non fuerint, vel abufi

fuerint eifdem, authoritat' ejufdem parliament'

ratificat' & confirmat' fuer'. Quodque Dominus
Henricus nuper Rex Angl' fextus, per literas fuas

patent' fub magno figillo fuo Angl' figillat', ge-

ren' dat' apud Weftm' praed' vicefimo fexto die

Oclobris, anno regni fui vicefimo tertio, quas

iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives civit' Lon-

don hie in cur' proferunt pro fe, haeredibus &
fuccefforibus fuis confirmavit Majori & Commu-
nitat' ac Civibus civit' London, & fuccefforibus

fuis, omnes & fingulas fuas libertat', franch' &
iiberas confuetud' adeo integras & illaefas, ficut

eas unquam aliquo tempore progenitor' ejufdem

nuper Regis Henrici fexti melius, quietius, & li-

ber' habuiffent & tenuiffent, prout per eafdem

literas patent' (int' al') plenius apparet. Quodq'

Domin' Edwardus nuper Rex Angl' quartus, per

literas fuas patent' fub magno figillo fuo Angl'

figillat', geren' dat' apud Weftm* praed' nono

die Novembi', anno regni fui fecundo, quas iidem

Major & Communitas ac Cives civit' London
hie in cur' proferunt pro fe, & haeredibus fuis,

confirmavit Majori & Communitat', ac Civibus

civit' London, & fuccefforibus fuis in perpetuum,

omnes & fingulas fuas libertat', franch', & Iibe-

ras confuetud', adeo integr' & illaes', ficut eas

unquam aliquo tempore progenitor' ejufdem nu-

per Regis Edwardi quarti melius, quietius, & li-

ber' habuiffent & tenuiffent. Et ulterius idem

nuper Rex Edwardus quartus, per eafdem literas

fuas patent' conceffit eiidem Majori & Communi-
tat' ac Civibus, quod licet ipfi, vel praedeceffores

fui, aut Major & Aldermann' civit' praed', vel

praedeceffor' fui prseantea, vel fuccefibres fui ex-

tunc in pofterum, aliqua vel aliquibus libertat'

quietant' concefs', ordination' articulor', feu libe-

rar' confuetudin', aut alior' in eifdem Uteris pa-

tcntibus ejufdem nuper Regis Edwardi quarti,

feu al' Uteris fuis, aut progenitor' fuor' quondam
Regum Angl', eifdem Majori & Communitat'

- concefs' content', aliquo cafu emergente plene

non ufi vel abufi fuerint. Noluit tamen idem

nuper Rex Edwardus quartus, quod propter hoc
ipfi Major & Communitas, Alderman' & Cives,
feu fucceffor' fui, forisfactur' aliquor' praemiffor*

incurrerent, fed quod ipfi & eorum fucceffor' uni-

verfis & fingulis libertat' quietant' concefs', ordi-

nal articulis, liberis confuetud', & quibufcunque
al' in chartis & literis praed' content', talit' non
ufis, vel etiam abufis, & eor' quolibet extunc ds
caetero plene & libere gauderent, & eis uterent*

fine impetratione vel impediment' ejufdem nuper
Regis, feu haered' fuorum, Juftic', Efchaetor*,

Vicecom', aut al' Balliv' feu miniftr' ipfius nuper
Regis, vel alior' quorumcunq', prout per eafdem
literas patent' ejufdem nuper Regis Edwardi quar-
ti hie in cur' prolat' (int' al') plenius apparet.

Quodque Dom' Henricus nuper Rex Angl' fepti-

mus per literas fuas patent' fub magno figillo

fuo Angliae figillat', gerend' dat' apud Weftm'
praed' vicefimo tertio die Julir, anno regni fui

vicefimo, quas iidem Major & Communitas, ac
Cives civit' London hie in cur' proferunt pro fe,

haeredibus & fuccefforibus fuis, ratificavit & con-
firmavit Major' & Communitat', ac Civibus civit*

London, & eorum fuccefforibus, omnia & fin-

gula libertat', privileg', quietant', & Iiberas con-
fuetudines, quibus ipfi Major, Communitas, & Ci-
ves feu praedeceffor' fui habere, exercere, feu gau-
dere confueviffenr, vel ufi fuiffent, aut debuifienr,

adeo plene, plane, & integre, ac fi ea omnia &
fingula feparatim & verbatim in eifdem Uteris

patent' exprefs' declarat' & manifeftat' effent &
fuiffent, prout per eafdem literas patent' (inter

alia) plenius apparet. Quodque Dom' Henricus
nuper Rex Angl' eclavus per literas fuas patent*

fub magno figillo fuo Angl' figillat
5

, geren' dat*

apud Weflm' praed' duodecimo die Julii, anno
regni fui quinto, quas iidem Major & Communi-
tas, ac Cives civit' London hie in cur' proferunt,

omnes conceffiones, & al' quaecunque in praed'

literis patent' praed' Dom' Regis Johannis fupe-

rius fpecificat' content', pro ipfo Rege Henrico,
octavo, & Haeredibus fuis, Majori & Communi-
tat', ac Civibus civitat' London, & fuccefforibus

fuis ratificavit & confirmavit, prout per eafdem
literas patent' ejufdem nuper Regis Henrici octavi

( inter alia ) plenius apparet. Quodque Dom'
Edwardus nuper Rex Angl' fextus, per literas fuas

patent' fub magno figillo fuo Angl' figillat', ge-

ren' dat' apud Weftm' praed' vicefimo primo die

Februarii, anno regni fui fecundo, quas iidem

Major & Communitas, ac Cives civit' London
praed' hie in cur' proferunt, omnes conceffion',

& al' quaecunque in praed' literis patent' dicti

Dom' Regis Johannis fuperius fpecificat' content',

pro ipfo nuper Rege Edwardo fexto, & haeredi-

bus fuis, Major' & Communitat', ac Civibus ci-

vit' London praed', & fuccefforibus fuis ratifica-

vit & confirmavit, prout per eafdem literas pa-
tent' ejufdem nuper Regis Edwardi fexci (inter

alia) plenius apparet. Quodque Dom' Maria
nuper Regina Angl', per literas fuas patent

5

fub

magno figillo fuo Angl' figillat', geren' dat' apud
Weftm' praed' primo die Martii, anno regni fui

primo, quas iidem Major & Communitas, ac Ci-

ves civitat' London hie in cur' proferunt pro ipfa.

nuper Regina, haered' & fuccefforiL-us fuis, omnes
conceffiones & al' quaecunque in praed' literis pa-

tent' dicti Dom' Regis Johannis fuperius fpecifi-

cat' content', Majori & Communitat', ac Civibus
civitat' London praed' & fuccefforibus fuis rati-

ficavit & confirmavit, prout per eafdem literas

patent' ejufdem nuper Reginae (int' al') plenius

apparet.
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apparet. Quodque Domina Elizabetha nuper

Regin' Angl', per literas fuas patent' fub mag-

no figillo luo Angl' figillat', geren' dat' apud

Weftm' praed' anno die iMaii, anno regni fui

quarto, quas iidem Major & Communitas, ac

Gives civitat' London hie in cur' proferunt, pro

ipfa nuper Regina Elizabetha, haered' & fuccef-

lbribus luis omnes conceffion', & al' quaecunque

in praed' literis patent' difti Dom' Regis Johann'

fuperius fpecificat' content', Majori &: Commu-
nitat', ac Civibus civit' London, & fucceflbribus

fuis ratificavit & confirmavit, prout per eafdem

literas patent' ejufdem nuper Reginae Elizabeth'

(inter alia) plenius apparet. Et iidem Major &
Communitas, ac Cives civitat' London ulterius

dicunt, quod Dom' Jocobus nuper Rex Angl',

per literas luas patentes fub magno figillo luo

Angl' figillat', geren' dat' apud Honorem fuum

de Hamp:on-Court vicefimo quarto die Septem-

bns, anno regni fui Angl' fexto, quas iidem Ma-
jor & Communitas, ac Cives civitat' London hie

in cur' proferunt, recitando, quod cum quam-

plurim' progenitor' ipfius nuper Regis, quondam
Reges Angl', de gratia fua fpeciali, ac pro gra-

tis, laudabii', mulnplicibus, cc continuis fcrvitiis

per Majorem & Communitat', ac Cives civitat'

London, & praedeceflbres fuos temporibus retro-

actis, fad' & im pens', necnon pro diverfis al' ur-

gentibus caufis 6c confiderationibus eos feparatim

moventibus, dediffent, conceflhTent, & confir-

m.iifent Majori & Communitati, ac Civibus civi-

tat' London praed', ac fucceflbribus luis, diverfa

libertat', privileg', franc', immunitat', authori-

tat', jurndiclion', ordinanc', confuetudin', & qui-

ctanrias, prout per feparai' literas patent' proge-

nitor' & pi aedeceflbr luor' quondam Regum Angl'

plenius & manifeftius liquebat & apparebat, idem

nuper Rex Jacobus pro & in confideratione fum-

mae fidehtat*, conltant', prompt', & laudabii'

fervitii per L>_ajorem & Communitat', ac Cives

civitat' London predict', eidem nuper Regi in

ipfis regni fui primis aufpiciis, & continue ufque

tunc manifeftat', & fideliffim' fact' & impens',

omnes & fingulas literas patentes, chartas, &
confirmation' preclariffimor' progenitor' & ante-

ceffor' fu<.-r', eifdem Majori & Communitat', ac

Civibus Civitat' London praedicV, & praedeceflb-

nbus fuis per quaecunque nomina incorporat' anrj

tunc tempora fact', concefs', feu confirmat', ac

omnes & fingulas donationes, conceffiones, con-

firmation', reftitution', confuetudines, ordina-

tiones, & explanationes, articul', & omnes al' res

quaicunque in quibufcunque literis patentibus,

five chartis quorumcunque progenitor', predecef-

for', aut anteceflbr' fuor' Regum Angl', necnon

omnia & fingula in di&is literis patentibus, char-

tis, conceffion lbus, confirmationibus, feu eor'

ahquibus content', recitat', fpecificat', confirmat*,

feu explanat', ac omnia & fingula jurifdictiones,

authontates, privilegia, libertates, & franchis',

quietant', immunitates, liberas confuetudines, &
haereditament' quaecunque, quae praed' Major &
Communitat', ac Cives civitat' London prasd'

vel predeceflbr' fui, per nomen Majoris & Com-
munitat', ac Civium civitat' London, feu per no-

men Majoris & Aldermann' civitat' London, feu

per nomen Majoris, Civium, & Communitat' ci-

vitat' London, feu per nomen Major' & Civium

civitat' London, feu per nomen Major' &" Com-
munitat' civitat' London, feu per nomen Civium

civitat' London, feu per nomen Biron' London,

feu per nomen Baron' civitat' London, feu per
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aliquod aliud nomen quodcunq', ratione feu vigore
aliquar' literar' patent', chartar', feu confirmation'

aliquor' progenitor', predeceflbr', aut anteceflbr*

ejuldem nuper Regis Jacobi, quondam Regum
Angl', aliquo tempore, vel aliquibus temporibus
habuifTent, feu rationabilit' ufi fuiflent, aut exer-

cuiffent, rata habuit & grata, ac pro fe, haeredi-

bus & fucceflbribus fuis acceptavit & approbavit,
ac ea omnia & fingula prefat' Majori & Com-
munitat', ac Civibus civitat' London praedicV, &
eor' fucceflbribus, per eafdem literas fuas patent'

ratificavit & confirmavit, habend' & tenend', gau-
dend' & exercend' omnia & fingula premiffa eif-

dem Majori & Communitat', ac Civibus civitat'

London predict', & fucceflbribus fuis in perpe-
tuum, adeo plene, libere, & integre, ac in tarn

amplis modo & forma, ac fi feparatim, fingula-

tim, & nominatim in literis patentibus ill' exprefs'

nominat', declarat', recitat', & manifeftat' effent

& fuiflent, prout per eafdem literas patentes (in-

ter alia) plenius apparet. Quodque Dominus Ca-
rolus primus nuper Rex Angl', &V. per literas

fuas patentes fub magno figillo luo Angl' figillat',

geren' dat' apud Weftm' praed' d^cimo odlavo die

Oclobris, anno regni fui quartodecimo, quas

iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives civitat'

London hie in cur' proferunt, omnia & fingula

privilegia, libertat', franch', quietant', immuni-
tates, & liberas confuetudines quaecunque, quae

pred' Major & Communitas, ac Cives civitat'

London pred', vel predeceflbr' fui per nomen
Majoris & Communitat', ac Civium civitat' Lon-
don, feu per nomen Majoris & Aldermann', Ci-

vium & Communitat5 London, feu per nomen
Majoris & Civium civitat' London, feu per no-

men Majoris & Communitatis civitat' London,
leu per nomen Civium civitat' London, feu per

nomen Baron' London, feu per nomen Baron'

civitat' London, leu per aliquod aliud nomen
quodcunque, ratione feu vigore pred' literar' pa-

tent' prasd' Dom' Regis Johannis, aut aliar' lite-

rar' patent', chartarum, feu confirmation' in eif-

dem Uteris patentibus di<5ti nuper Regis Caroli

primi mentionat', vel ufu, vel prefcription', auc

alio legali modo aliquo tempore, vel aliquibus

temporibus ante tunc habuifTent, feu rationabilit'

ufi fuiflent aut exercuiflent, rata habens & grata

ea pro fe, haeredibus & fucceflbribus fuis accep-

tavit & approbavit, ac ea omnia & fingula prae-

fat' Majori & Communitati, ac Civibus London,

& eor' fucceflbribus, per eafdem literas fuas pa-

tentes ratificavit & confirmavit, prout per literas

patent' illas (inter alia) plenius apparet. Quod-
que predicfus Dominus Rex nunc per literas fuas

patent' fub magno figillo fuo Angl' figillat', ge-

ren' dat' apud Weftm' praedicl' vicefimo quarto

die Junii anno regni fui decimo quinto, quas

iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives civitat*

London hie in cur' proferunt pro ipfo Rege, hae-

redibus & fucceflbribus fuis ratificavit & confir-

mavit Majori & Communitati, ac Civibus civitat'

London, & fucceflbribus fuis, omnia & fingula

jurifdiclion', authoritat', privilegia, libertates,

franch', quietant', immunitates, & confuetudin'

quaecunque, quae praefat' Major & Communitas,

ac Cives civitat' London, vel praedeceffores fui

per nomen Majoris & Communitat', ac Civium

civitatis London, feu per nomen Majoris, Aldcr-

mannoi', Civium & Communitat' London, feu

per nomen Majoris & Civium civitatis London,

feu per nomen Major' & Communitat' civit'

London, feu per nomen Civium civitat' London,
D feu



*eu per nomcn Baron' London, feu per nomen
Baron' civitat' London, feu per aliquod aliud no-

men quodcunque, ratione vel vigore praed' lite-

rar* patent' praed' Dom' Regis Johannis, aut

aliarum literar' patent', chartar', feu confirma-

tion' in eifdem literis patentibus dicti Dom' Re-

gis nunc praementionat', vel alicujus feu aliquor*

ufus vel ufuum, praefcription' vel prefcription',

feu alio legali modo quocunque aliquo tempore,

vel aliquibus temporibus ante tunc habuiffent, feu

rationabilit' ufi fuiffent, aut exercuiffent, habend',

tenend', gaudend', & exercend' omnia 6c fingula

praemiffa praed' eifdem Majori 6c Communitat', ac

Civibus civitat' London praed', & fuccefforibus

fuis in perpetuum, adeo plene, libere, 6c integre,

ac in tarn amplis modo & forma, prout in eifdem

literis patentibus fuperius mentionat' fore data,

five concefia, aut alit' ufu, praefcription', vel alio

legali modo feu jure quocunque ante tunc re-

fpeciive habit', obtent', five gavifa fuiffent, ac

fi feparatim, fingulatim, & nominatim in 6c per

diftas literas patentes ipfius Dom' Regis nunc ex-

prefs', nominat', declarat', concefia 6c manifefta

effent 6c fuiffent, prout per eafdem literas patent*

(inter alia,) plenius apparet.

Et iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives ci-

vitat' London ulterius dicunt, quod a. tempore

confection' praed' literar' patent' praed' quondam
Regis Johannis hucufque iidem Major & Com-
munitas, ac Cives civitat' London habuer' Vice-

corn' civit' & com' civit' London, 6c Vicecom'

comitat' Midd', 6c quolibet anno nominaverunt

& elegerunt ex feipfis duas perfonas, cives ejuf-

dem civitat', fore Vicecom* civitat' praed', 6c

com' ejufdem civitat', 6c Vicecom' com' Midd',

ac ill' fie nominat' ,6c elect' praefecerunt 6c confti-

tuerunt Vicecom' civitat' praed', 6c com' ejufdem

civitat', 6c Vicecom' com' Midd', ac ut Vicecom'

civitat' praed', 6c com' ejufdem civitat', ad exe-

cut' 6c retorn' omnium brevium, billar', 6c prae-

ceptor' Dom' Regis pro adminiftratione 6c exe-

cutione juftitiae infra civit' praed', 6c com' ejufd'

civitat' exequend' 6c faciend' omnia 6c fingula

alia infra civitat' praed', 6c com' ejufdem civitat',

quae ad offic' Vicecom' faciend' pertinent, ac ut

Vicecom' Midd' pro eodem com' defervitur', ac

omnia brevia, billas, 6c praefcripta Dom' Regis

infra coin' Midd' praed', pro adminiftratione 6c

executione juftitiae ibidem exequend', & retorn'

inde faciend', quae ad officium Vicecom' faciend'

pertinent. Et eo warranto iidem Major & Com-
munitas, ac Cives civitat' London, per tempus in

informatione praedicta fuperius fpecificat', ufi

fuer' 6c adhuc utunt', ac clamant habere 6c uti

libertat', privileg', 6c franch' habere Vicecom'
civit' 6c com' civit' London, 6c Vicecom' comitat'

Midd', 6c nominare 6c eligere ex feipfis duas

perfon' fore Vicecom' civitat' praed', 6c com'
ejufdem civit', 6c Vicecom' Midd', ac ill' fie no-

minat' 6c elect' praeficere 6c conftituere Vicecom'
civit' praed', 6c com' ejufdem civitat', & Vicecom'
Midd', ac ut Vicecom' civitat' praed', 6c com'
ejufdem civitat', ad execut' 6c retorn' omnium
brevium, billar', 6c praeceptor' Dom' Regis pro
adminiftratione 6c executione juftitiae infra civit'

praed', 6c com' ejufdem civit', exequend' 6c fa-

ciend', quae ad officium Vicecom' faciend' per-

tinent, ac ad faciend' 6c exequend' omnia 8c fin-

gula alia infra civitat' praed', 6c com' ejufdem
civitat', quae ad offtc' Vicecom' faciend' perti-

nent, ac ut Vicecom' Midd' pro eodem com'
Midd' defervitur', ac omnia brevia, billas, &
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praecepta Dom' Reg' infra com' Midd' praed',

pro adminiftratione 6c executione juftitiae ibidem
exequend', 6c retorn' inde faciend', quae ad offi-

cium Vicecom' faciend' pertinent, prout eis bene
licuit 6c licet.

Abfque hoc, quod iidem Major 8c Commu-
nit', ac Cives civitat' London, de libertat', pri-

vileg' 6c franch' ill' fuper dictum Dom' Regem
nunc per tempus praed' in informatione praedicta

fuperius fpecificat', ufurpaver', feu ufurpant',

prout per inform' illam pro dicto Dom' Re°-e
nunc fuperius fupponitur, quae omnia 8c fingula

iidem Major 6c Communitas, ac Cives civit' Lon-
don, parati funt verificare ; unde petunt judi-

cium, 6c quod libertat', privileg', 6c franch' ill'

eis 8c fuccefforibus fuis in perpetuum deinceps al-

locent', 6c adjudicentur, ac quod ipfi, quoad
praemiffa ill', ab hac cur' dimittantur, &c.

Et iidem Major 6c Communitas, 6c Cives civit'

London, quoad libertat', privileg', 6c franch'

fequend', viz. Major dictae civitat', & hujufmodi
Aldermann' ejufd' civit*, qui officium Majoritat'

civit' illius fuftinuer', ac inde fuer' dimiffi, ac

tres fenior' Aldermann' civit' praedict', qui diutius

in'offic' Aldermannat' civit' praed' fleter', 8c onus
6c officium Majorat' civit' praed' non fuftinuer',

forejuftic' Dom' Regis ad pacem infra civitat'

praed' confervand', ac ad feffion' pacis, 8z placita

coron', fcilicet, talia placit' coronae, qual' Juftic'

Dom' Regis ad pacem confervand' affign' legi-

tim' tenere poffent infra eandem civit' tenend',

ac ad omnes felon', riot', rout', 6c conventicul9

illicit' infra civit' praed' inquirend', audiend', 8c

terminand', in informatione praed' fuperius fpeci-

ficat' diet', quod die!;' Dom' Rex nunc ipfos Ma-
jorem 6c Communitat', ac Cives civitat' London,
occafione inde impetere, feu occafionare non
debet, quia dicunt, quod praed' civit' London
eft, 6c a tempore cujus contrar' memor homin'
non exiftit, fuit antiqua civitas ac antiquus comi-

tat' de fe, ac cives ejufdem civit' funt, & a prae-

dicto tempore, cujus contrar' memor' homin' non
exiftit, fuer' unum corpus corporat' 8c politic' in

re, facto, 8c nomine, per nomen Majoris 8c Com-
munitat', ac Civium civitat' London. Quodque
Dom' Carolus primus nuper Rex Angl', per lite-

ras fuas patent' fub magno figillo fuo Angl' fi-

giliat', geren' dat'- apud Weitm' praed' decimo
Octavo die Octobris anno regni fui quarto deci-

mo, quas iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives

civit' London hie in cur' proferunt, pro ipfo nu-

per Rege, haered' & fuccefforib' fuis, conceffic

Majori 6c Communitat', ac Civibus civit' London,
6c eor' fuccefforibus, quod Major 6c Recordai'

civit' praed', qui tunc fuer', ac Majores Recor-

dator' civit' praed', qui pro tempore forent, ac-

tam ill' Aldermann', qui Major' civitat' illius

praeantea extitiffent, quam ill' Aldermann', qui

onus 6c officium Majorat' civitat' praedicl' tunc in

pofterum fuftinerent 8c gererent, licet a Majorat'

ill' ceffarent, aut inde effent dimiffi, quamdiu Ad-
dermann' ibidem ftarent, 6c tres feniores Alder-

mann' civit' pro tempore exiften', qui diutius in

officium Aldermannat' fteter', 6c ante tunc onus

6c officium Majorat' civitat' illius non fuftinuer',

in perpetuum forent cuftodes, 8c quilibet eor'

effet cuftos pacis ejufdem nuper Regis haered',

6c fucceffor' fuorum, infra civitat' London praed',

6c libertat' ejufdem confervand' 8c cuftodiend',

ac eofdem Majorem 6c Recordator', ac Alder-

mann' praed', ad omnia 8c fingula ftatuta 6cordi-

nationes pro bono pacis dicti nuper Regis, hae-

red'
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red' & fucceflbrum fuor\ ac pro confervatione

ejufdem, ac pro quiet', regimine, & gubernatio-

ne populi ipfius nuper Regis, hsered' & fuccefibr'

fuor', edit' & edend' in omnib' fuis articul', tam
infra civitat' prsed', quam libertat' ejufdem, juxta

vim, formam, & effectum eorundem cuftodiend',

& cuftodire faciend', ac ad omnes ilios, quos

juxta formam & effectum ordination' & flatutor'

eorundem, & eorum alicujus in civitat' prsedict',

& libertat' ejufdem, delinquentes invenirent, ca-

ftigand' & puniend', prout fecundum formam or-

dination' & flatutor' ill' foret faciend' ; & ad

omnes illos, qui alicui vel aliquibus de populo

ejufdem nuper Regis, hsered', vel fuccefibr* fuor'

de corporibus fuis, vel de incendio domor' fuar'

minas facerent, ad fufHcien' fecuritat' de pace,

vel bono geftu fuo erga ipfum nuper Regem,
hsered' & fucceffores fuos, & cun6tum populum
ejus, hsered', vel fuccefibr' fuor', inveniend', &
fi hujufmodi fecuritat' invenire recufarent, tunc

eos in gaola ejufdem Domin' Regis de Newgate,
vel in aliqua al' prifona hsered' vel fuccefibr'

fuor' in prsed' civic' London, quoufque hujufmo-

di fecuritat' invenirent, falvo cuftodiri faciend',

Cuftodes & Jufticiar' ipfius nuper Regis, &
quemlibet eorum Cuilodem & Jufticiar' ejus hse-

red' & fuccefibr' fuor* infra civit' London prsed',

& libertat' ejufdem, idem nuper Rex Carolus

primus, pro fe, hseredibus & fuccefforibus fuis,

conftituit, fecit, & ordinavit per literas patentes

fuas prsed', ac ad omnia & fingula alia exequend*

& peragend', quse Juftic* & Cuftod' pacis ejus,

hsered* vel fuccefibr' fuor', infra aliquem com'
regni fui Angl' exequi, five peragere valerent,

poflent, aut deberent, virtute aliquor' flatutor' &
ordination' hujus regni fui Angl', aut virtute

commifiionis ejus, hsered' & fuccefibr' fuor', ad

pacem in aliquo hujufmodi com' confervand'.

Voluit etiam idem nuper Rex Carolus primus, ac

per eafdem literas patentes pro fe, hseredibus &
fuccefforibus fuis, concefiit prsefat' Majori &Com-
munitati, ac Civibus civitat' London, & eorum
fuccefibr', quod Major, Recordator civit' prsed'

pro tempore exiflen', & hujufmodi, ut prsefert',

Aldermann' pro tempore exiflen', qui officium

vel locum Majorat' civit' illius antea fuftinuer' &
exercuer', & tres hujufmodi, ut prsefert', feniores

Aldermann' pro tempore exiflen', qui locum
Majorat' prsedict' non fuftinuer', vel quatuor eo-

rundem, Major', Recordator', & Aldermanno-

rum, quorum diet* Major vel Recordator pro

tempore exiflen' unum effe voluit, forent Jufti-

ciar' ipfius nuper Regis, hsered' & fuccefibr' fuor',

& ipfos Jufticiar' fuos, hsered' & fuccefibr' fuor',

pro fe, hseredibus & fuccefibr' fuis in perpetuum,

afiignat' ad inquirend', quoties & quando eis me-

lius videret' expedire, per facramentum probor'

& legalium hominum, tam de civitat' prsed',

quam de libertat' ejufdem, per quos rei Veritas

melius fciri poffet de omnibus murdris, felon',

veneficiis, incantation', fcortileg', arte magica,

tranfgr', foreftallar', regretar', ingroffar', & ex-

tortionibus quibufcunque, ac de omnibus & fin-

gulis al' malefactis & offenfis, de quibus Jufticiar'

pacis ipfius nuper Regis, hsered' & fuccefibr'

fuor' legitime inquirere poflent aut deberent, per

quofcunque & qualitercunque infra civit' praed',

feu libertat' ejufdem, ante tunc habit' 'feu perpe-

trat', vel quse ex tunc ibidem fieri vel attemptari

contingerent, & tam de omnibus ill' qui in civi-

tat' prsed', & libertat' ejufdem, in conventiculis,

contra pacem ipfius nuper Regis, hsered' & fuc-
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cefibr' fuor', in perturbatione populi fui, hsered'

& fuccefibr' fuor', feu vi armata irent vel equita-
reot, feu extunc ire vel equitare prsefumerent. Et
etiam de hiis quse ibidem ad gentem diet' Dom*
Regis, hsered', vel fuccefibr' fuor' mahemand',
vel intcrficiend' in infidiis jacerent, vel in pofte-

rum jacere prsefumerent. Ac etiam de hoftellar'

& al' omnibus & fingulis perfon', qui in abufu
menfurar' & ponderum, five in venditione vic-

tual' contra formam ordination' & ftatut', vel

eor' alicujus inde pro communi utilitate regni fui

Angl', & populi ejufdem nuper Regis, hsered'

& fuccefibr' fuor' ejufdem edit' & edend* delin-

querent vel attemptarent in civit' prsed', & liber-

tat' ejufdem, feu extunc in pofterum delinquere

vel attemptare prsefumerent. Ac etiam de quibuf-

cunque Vicecom', Conftabular', Cuftod' gaolse,

& al' offic', qui in execut' ofneiorum fuor' circa

prsemifla, vel eor' aliqua indebite fe habuer',

aut in pofterum indebite fe habere prsefumerent,

aut tepidi, remifs', vel negligentes fuer', aut ex-

tunc tepidi, remifs', vel negligent' fore continge-

rent infra civit' prsed' 8c libertat' ejufdem, ac de
omnibus & fingulis articulis & circumftant', &
al' quibufcunque, per quofcunque & qualitercun-

que in civit' prsed' & libertat' ejufdem fact' five

perpetrat', & quse extunc ibidem fieri, vel at-

temptari contingerent qualitercunque prsemifs',

aut eor' aliqua concernen'. Et ad indictament'

qusecunque, quse coram Majore aut Recordatore

civit' prsed' pro tempore exiflen', & hujufmodi,

ut prsefert', Aldermann', vel quatuor aut pluribus

eorundem, quor' diet' Major' vel Recordator pro

tempore exiflen' unum effe voluit, tunc in pofte-

rum caperent' infpiciend', & ad procefs' inde ver-

fus omnes 6t fingul' fie indiclat', vel quos in po-

fterum fie indiclat' contingerent, quoufque cape-

rent', redderent fe, vel utlagarent' faciend' &
continuand', & ad omnia & fingula murdra, fe-

lon', venefic', incantat', fcortileg', artes magic',

tranfgrefs', falfas confpiration', & al' malefact',

foreftall', regretar', ingroffar', extortion', conven-

ticl', indictament' prsed', cseteraque omnia &
fingula prsemifs' fecund' leges & ftatut' regni fui

Angl', prout in hujufmodi cafu fieri confuevit

aut debuit, audiend' & terminand', & ad eafdem

delinquen', & quamlibet eorum, pro deliclis fuis

per fines, redemption', amerciament', forisfactur',

aut al' modo, prouTTecundum legem & confue-

tud' regni fui Angl', ac formam ordination' &
ftatut' eorundem fieri confuevit aut debuit, cafti-

gand' & puniend', ac ad omnia al' & fingula fa-

ciend', exercend', audiend', terminand', & exe-

quend' infra civit' prsed', ac libertat' ejufdem,

quse Juftic' ad pacem per leges vel ftatut' hujus

regni fui Angl' facere, exercere, inquirere, vel ex-

equi poflent & valerent, & in tam amplis modo
& forma prout aliquis al', aut aliqui al' Juftic'

ad pacem in aliquibus al' com' hujus regni fui Angl'

legitime facere, exercere, inquirere, punire, vel

quoquo modo exequi pofient aut valerent, prout

per eafdem literas patent' (int' al') plenius apparer.

Quodque prsed' Dom' Rex nunc, per literas fuas

patent' fub magno figillo fuo Angl' figillat', gc-

ren' dat' apud Weftm' prsedict' 24 die Junii,

anno regni fui decimo quinto, quas iidem Major

& Communitas, ac Cives civit' London hie in

cur' proferunt, omnes conceffion' & al' qusecun-

que' in prsedict' Uteris patent', prsedict* nuper Regis

Caroli primi fuperius fpecificat', pro eodem Do-
min* Regis nunc, hsered* & fuccefibr' fuis, Ma-
jori & Communitat', ac Civibus civit' London

D 2 prsed*,
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prasd', & fuor' fucceflor' in perpctuum, ratifica- prasfat* Majoris & Communitat', ac Civium civit*

vit & confirmavit, prout per eafdem literas pa- prasd' petit inde diem loquendi ufq; craftinum

tent
5

ipfius Domin' Regis nunc (inter al') plenius Sandas Trinitat'; & ei conceditur coram Dom'
apparet. Et iidem Major & Communitas, ac Rege ubkunque, &c. Idem dies dat' eft prasd' Ma-
Cives civit' London ulterius dicunt, quod tern- jori & Communitat', ac Civib' civit' London
pore confedion' prasd' literar' patent' prasd' nu- praed', &c. Ad quod quidem craftinum Sandas

per Regis Caroli primi, 8c diu antea, 8c exrunc Trinitat' coram Dom' Rege apud W tftm' ven*

hucufque fuer', & adhuc exiftunt Major & Re- tarn prasd' Robertus Sawyer Miles Attorn' Dom8

cordator civit' prasd', ac Alderman' cjufdem ci- Regis nunc General', qui pro eodem Dom' Re-
vit\ qui Major didas civit' extitiffent, 8c onus ge in hac parte fequitur, quam piasd' Major &
Majorat' civit' illius fuftin', ac tres & plures al' Communitas, ac Cives civit' prasd' per Attorn'

Alderman' ejufdem civit', qui onus Majorat' ci- fuum prasd'. Et idem Attorn' didi Dom' Re-
vit' ill' non fuftinuiffent. Quodque a tempore gis nunc General', quoad libertat', pnvileg', &
confedion' earundem literar' patent' prasd' nupcr franch' prasd', per ipfos ftipenus clamat' (viz.)

Reg' Caroli primi hucufq', Major 8c Recordator ipfos Majorem & Communitat', ac Lives civitat'

civit' prasd' pro tempore exilten', ac hujufmodi London tore de feipfis unum corpus corporat'

Alderman' ejufd' civitat' pro tempore exiftcn', qui & politicum in re, facto, & nomine, per no-

onus Majorat' civit' ill' fuftin', necnon tres fenior' men Majoris & Community', ac Civium civitat*

Alderman* civit' prasd' pro tempore exiften', qui London, ac per idem nomen placitare & im-

diutius in officium Aldermannat' civit' prasd' fte- placitari, refpondere ac refponderi, fuperius pla-

ter', & onus & officium Majorat' civit' ill' non citat' pro eodem Dom' Rege nunc die' quod per

fuftin', virtute literar' patent' ill' fuer' Jultic' ad aliqua per prasfat' Majorem & Communitat' ac

pacem infra civit' prasd', & libertat' ejufdem con- Cives civitat' London prasd' fuperius placitando

fervand', ac virtute literar' patent' ill', 8c fecun- allegat', eandem libertat', privilcg', & franch' eif-

dum formam 8c effiedum eorund' de tempore in dem Majori & Communitat' ac Civibus civitat'

tempus, per tot' tempus ill', tenuer' feflion' pa- London praed' allocari, feu adjudicari non de-

cis, 8c placita coron', fcilicet, talia placita coron', bent; nee iidem Major & Communitas, ac Ci-

qual' Juftic' Dom' Regis ad pacem confervand' ves de prasmifs' in Jnformac' prasd' fuperius

aflign' per idem tempus legitime tenuer', vel te- fpecificat' exonerari e'ebent, quia die', quod Cives

nere potuer' infra eandem civitat'. civit' London prasu' a tempore cujus contrar'

Et eo warranto iidem Major & Communitas, memot' homin' non exiftit, non fuer' corpus

ac Cives civitat' London, per tempus in infor- corporal' & politicum in re, fado, & nomine,

matione praed' fuperius fpecificat' ufi fuer', & ad- per nomen Majoris & Communitat' ac Civium
hue utuntur, ac clamant habere 8c uti libertat', civitat' London, modo & forma prout prasfat'

privileg', 8c franch', quod Major did' civit' 8c Major & Communitas, ac Cives civit' London
hujufmodi Alderma/in' ejufdem civit', qui onus prasu* fuperius placitando allegaver'. Et hoc idem

Majorat' civit' ill' fuftinucr', ac inde fuerunt di- Attorn' did' Dom' Regis nunc General' pro eo-

tnifli, ac tres feniores Aldermann' ejufdem civit', dem Dom' Rege nunc pet', quod inquiratur per

qui diutius in offic' Aldermannat' civit' praed' fte- patriam. Et prasd' Major & Communitas, &r

ter', & onus 8c officium Majorat' civit' ill' non Cives civit' London prasd' fcilicet, &c. Et prasd'

fuftinuer', fuer' Juftic' didi Dom Regis ad pacem Attorn' did' Dom' Regis nunc General', quo-

jnfra civit' prasd' confervand', ac ad feflion' pa- ad placitum prasfat' Majoris & Communitat',

cis, & placita coronas, fcilicet, talia placita co- ac Civium civit' London prasd', quoad liber-

ron', quaP Juftic' Dom' Regis ad pacem confer- tat', privileg', & franchis' prasd' per ipfos fupe-

vand' aflign' legitime tenere poffent, infra eand' rius clamat' (viz.) ipfos Majorem & Communi-
civit' tenend', ac ad omnes felon', riot', rout', tat' ac Cives civit' London fore de feipfis unum
& conventicul' illicit' infra civit' praed' inquirend', corpus corporat' & politicum in re, fado, &
audiend', & terminand', prout eis bene licuit & nomine, per nomen Majoris & Communitat', ac

licet. Civium civitat' London, ac per idem nomen
Abfque hoc, quod iidem Major ac Communi- placitare & implacitari, refpondere ac refponderi

tas, ac Cives civit' London, de libertat', privi- fuperius placitat', ulterius die' quod per aliqua per

leg', 6c franchis' ill' luper didum Dom' Regem prasfat' Majorem & Communitat', ac Cives civit'

nunc, per tempus prasd' in informatione prasd' London prasd' fuperius placitando allegat' ea-

fuperius fpecificat' ufurpaver', feu ufurpant, pro- dem libertat', privileg', 8t franchis' eifdem Ma-
in per inform' illam pro dido Dom* Rege nunc jori & Communitat', ac Civibus civit' London
fuperius fupponit' ; quae omn' & fingula iidem prasd' allocari, feu adjudicari non debent, nee

Major & Communitas, ac Cives civit' London iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives de pras-

parati funt verificare ; unde petunt judicium, & mifs' in Informatione prasd' fuperius fpecificat',

quod libertat', privileg', 6c franch' ill', eis &fuc- exonerari debent ; quia proteftando, quod Cives

cefforibus fuis in perpetuum deinceps allocentur ejufdem civitat', a tempore cujus contrar' me-
8c adjudicent', ac quod ipfi quoad prasmiffa ilia mor' homin' non exiftit, non fuer' corpus cor-

ab hac curia dimittantur, £<ff. porat' & politicum in re, fado, & nomine, per

Et quoad refid' libertat', privileg', & franch' nomen Majoris & Communitatis, ac Civium
in information' praedid' fpecificat', per ipfos Ma- civit* London, ac per idem nomen per totum
jorem 8c Communitat', ac Cives civitat' London tempus illud placitaver', ac implacitat' fuerunt,

fuperius minime clamat', iidem Major & Com- refponder' ac refpons' fuer', & placitare & im-

munitas, ac Cive3 civit' London libertat', privi- placitari, refpondere ac refponderi, a toto tem-
leg', £c franch' illis nunquam ufi fuerunt, feu pore fupradid' ufi fuer' & confuever', prout

utuntur, fed de eifdem penitus declamant, £gV. prasd' Major & Communitas, ac Cives civit'

Et praed' Robertus Sawyer Attorn' didi Dom' London prasd' fuperius placitando allegave-

Regis nunc General', qui pro eod' Dom' Rege in runt: pro placito tamen idem Attorn' did'

hac parte fequitur, habito auditu placiti prasd' Dom' Regis nunc General' pro eodem Dom' Re-
gs
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ge nunc ulterius die', quod prsed' Major 6c

Commurritas, ac Cives civit' London prsed' afiu-

mentes fupcr fe fore corpus corporat' & politi-

cum, ac ratione inde poteftatem & authoritacem,

habere ad feipfos infimul convocand', 6c aflfem-

bland' ad bona & falubria leges, ordines, & ordi-

nal', legibus & ftatucis hujus Regni Angl' mini-

me repugnan' five contrar', faciend' & conftitu-

end' pro meliori reginY & gubernat' Civit' prsed'

ac civium & inhabitant' ejufdem civitat', ac pro

confervat' pacis Dom' Regis infra civit' prsed',

iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives civit' Lon-
don prsed', fub colore & prsstextu inde, eorum
privatum lucrum & commodum folum refpicien',

contra fiduciam in corpore corporato 6c politico

per Dom' Regem & Leges hujus Regni Angl'

repofu', affumpfer' illicitam & injuftam poteftatem

& authoritat', ad denar' de fubdit' ac ligeis Dom*
Regis nunc levand' ad ufum ipforum Majoris &
Communitat' ac Civium civitat' London prsed'

propr', colore legum five ordination' per ipfos de

facto ordinat' & ftabilit', abfq j aliquo alio jure,

titulo, five authoritate quibufcunq ; ac in profe-

cution' & execution' hujufmodi illegalis & injuf-

tse poteftat* & authoritat' per ipfos fie ufurpat',

iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives civitat'

London prsed', die Jovis decimo feptimo die

Septembris, Anno Regni did' Dom' Regis nunc

vicefimo fexto, in eorum Communi Concilio ad-

tunc tent' in Camera Guildhall civit' London
prsed' (viz.) in Paroch' Sancli Michaelis Bafli-

fhaw London infimul afiemblat' fuer', condider' &
publicaver' quandam Legem, per ipfos de facto

inactitat', pro levatione fcparalium denar' fummar',

de omnibus fubdit' ac Ligeis Dom' Regis nunc,

tarn liberis quam non liberis hominibus Civit'

prsed', & aliis extraneis ad publica Mercata infra

Civitat' prsed' tent' acceden' cum victual' & pro-

vifionibus fuis ibidem vendend' (viz.) de qualibet

perfona pro quolibet onere equino (Angl' Horfe-

load) provifion* in aliquod public' Mercat' infra

Civit' prsed' per ipfum importat' ibidem vendend',

duorum denar' per diem, & pro qualibet caniftra

(Angl' Dojfer) provifion' in aliquod Mercat' prsed'

ibidem vendend' importat' unius denar' per diem,

& pro qualibet carectata provifion' tract' cum
non p!ur' quam tribus equis in aliquod Mercat'

prsed' ibidem vendend' importat', quatuor denar'

per diem, & pro qualibet carectata provifion'

tract' cum quatuor equis vel plur' in aliquod

Mercat' prsed' ibidem vendend' importat', fex de-

nar' per diem, ac diverfarum al' denar' fum' de

quibufiibet perfonis, quae aliqua victualia five pro-

vifion' ad Mercat' infra civit' London prsed',

feu eorum aliqua vel aliquod importarent ibidem

vendend', ac per eandem legem fie per eos ille-

galit' fa6t' iidem Major & Communit' ac Cives ci-

vit' London prsed' de facto ordinaver', quod ese-

dem feparal' denar' fummae folut' forent ad propr'

opus & ufum prsefat' Majoris & Communitat',

ac Civium civit' London prsed', ac quod fi aliquis

in Mercat' prsed' exiften' cum victual' five provi-

fionibus fuis ibidem vendend' recufaret, five dif-

fcrret folvere refpectivas ratas prsed', tunc talis re-

cufans five difTerens amot' foret a loco fuo Mercat'

prsed'. Et ulterius idem Attorn' diet' Dom' Re-

gis nunc General' pro eodem Dom' Rege nunc

die', quod prsed' Major & Communitas, ac Cives

civit' London prsed' fub folo colore & prsetextu

legis proed', fie per ipfos pro eorum privato lucro

&commodo illegalit' fact', & abfq ; aliquo alio

jure, titulo, five authoritate quibufcunq •, diverfas

ingentcs denar' Summas, in toto fc. attingen' ad
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quinq; mille libras per annum, per fpatium fep-
tcm annorum poft prsed' decimum feptimum di-
em Septembris, Anno vicefimo fexto fupradicto
prox' fequen', & amplius, apud London praed'
in Paroch' prsed', de omnibus Dom' Regis ligeis

& fubditis ad publica Mercata per totum fpatium
prsed' infra Civic' prsed' tent', cum victuaiibus &
provifionibus ibidem vendend' accedentibus, exe-
gerunt, levaver', & exigi & levari fecerunt, &
denarios illos ad eorum proprios ufus converte-
runt & difpofuerunt, in fubverfionem boni regi-
minis & gubcrnationis Civitatis prsed', & in mag-
nam oppreffionem & depauperation' fubditor'
die' Dom' Regis nunc ad Mercat' praed ict* cum
victuaiibus & provifion' fuis acceden' & venien',
ad grave dampn' & nocument' omnium Ligeo-
rum & Subdit' did' Dom' Regis, in augmentac'
preciorum omnium victual' & provifion' in Mer-
catis prsed' vendit', ac in diet' Dom' Regis nunc
& Coronae fuse Regise exhseredation' manifeftam,
ac contra fiduciam in corpore corporat

5 & poli-

tico per Dom' Regem ac Leges hujus Regni
Angl' repofu'. Et ulterius idem Attorn' dicti

Dom' Regis nunc General' pro eodem Dom'
Rege nunc die', quod ubi Seffio Parliamenti Dom'
Regis nunc per Prorogation' tent' fuit apud
Wcftm' in Com' Middlefex fuper vicefimum
primum diem Octobris, anno Regni dicti Dom'
Regis nunc tricefimo fecundo, ac ibidem con-
tinual' ufq; aecimum diem Januar' tunc prox'
fequen', ac fuper eodem decimo die Januarii^

anno Regni did' Dom' Regis nunc tricefimo fe-

cundo fupradict' apud Weftminft' prsed' idem
Parliamentum prorogat' fuit per diet' Dom' Re-
gem nunc ufq; vicefimum diem tunc inftantis

Januar', prsed' Major &: Communitas, ac Cives ci-

vitat' London prsed' poftea fcil' die Jovis decimo
tertio die Januar' anno Regni diet' Dom' Regis
nunc tricefimo fecundo fupradict', in eorum Com-
muni Concilio tent' in Camera Guildhall Civit'

prsed', viz. in Paroch' Sancti Michaelis Baffifhaw

London prsed' afiemblat', illicite, malitiofe, advi-

fate, & feditiofe, & abfq ; aliqua legali authoritate

in fe afiumpfer' ad cenfend' & judicand' diet'

Dom' Regem nunc, & Prorogation' Parliament!

per diet' Dom' Regem nunc fie fact'. Ac adtunc

& ibidem iidem Major & Communitas ac Cives

civitat' London, fie in eodem Communi Conci-

lio afiemblat', vota & fuffragia fua deder' & or-

dinaver', quod qusedam Petitio fub nomine Ma-
joris, Aldermannorum & Commun' civit' Lon-
don in Communi ConciP afiemblat', ditto Dom'
Regi nunc exhibit' foret, in qua quidem Petiti-

one content' fuit, quod per prsed' prorogation'

Parliamenti prsed' profecutio Juttic' publicse hu-

jus Regni ac prseparatio (Angl' the making pro-

vifion) neceflar' pro prsefervation' dicti Dom' Re-
gis nunc, ac ejus fubditorum proteftantium rece-

piflent obftruction' (Angl' Interruption) & iidem

Major & Communitas ac Cives civitat' London,
prsed', in Communi Concilio prsed', ficut prse-

fertur, afiemblat', illicite, malitiofe, advifate, &
feditiofe, & ea intentione, quod eadem Petitio

publicat' & difperfa foret inter fubditos diet'

Dom' Regis nunc fideles ad ipfos in opinion'

inducend', quod idem Dom' Rex nunc per pro-

rogation' Parliamenti prsed' publicam Juftic'

Regni obftruxiflct, & ad eofdem Subditos diet'

Dom' Regis incitand' in odium perfonse diet
8

Dom' Regis, & gubernation' in hoc regno fta-

bilit', & ad perturband' pacem & tranquillitat' in

hoc Regno Angl' adtunc & ibidem ordinaver',

quod eadem Petitio fie continen' fediciofam &
fcandii-
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fcandalofam materiam praed' imprefs' foret, ac

poftea fcil' die & anno uk' fupradict', apud

London praed' in Paroch9
praed' eandem Petition'

ea intentione, quod eadem publicat' & difpers'

foret inter fubdit' diet' Dom' Regis nunc

ad affectiones fuas a diet' Dom' Rege nunc &
gubernation' fua alienand' & divertend', mali-

riofe, advifate, & feditiofe, impreffer' & imprimi

& publicari fecer' & caufaver', in contempt' &
icandalum di6t' Dom' Regis nunc ac gubernati-

on' fuse hujus Regni Angl', ac in promotion'

& excitation' feditionis, & perturbation' pacis

& tranquillitat' infra hoc Regnum Angl', St in

pernitiofum aliorum Dom' Regis nunc Subdit' &
Ugeorum exemplum, per quod idem Major &
Communitas ac Cives civitat' London praed'

Jibertat', privileg', & franchis', praed' fore de fe-

ipfis corpus corporat' & politicum, per nomen
Majoris & Communitat' ac Civium civitat'

London forisfecer', praed' tamen Major & Com-
munitas ac Cives civitat' London praed' poftea,

fcil' per tern pus fuperius in Informatione praed'

fpecificat', Jibertat', privileg' & franchis' ill'

fuper did' Dom' Regem nunc ufurpaver' &
adhuc ufurpant, prout per Information' praed'

fuperius verfus eos fupponitur. Et hoc idem

Attorn' diet' Dom' Regis nunc General' pro eo-

dem Dom' Rege nunc parat' eft verificare, unde

petit judicium, & quod praed' Major 6c Com-
munitas ac Cives civitat' London de praemifs'

praed' convincantur, ac de Jibertat', privileg' &
franchis' ill' abjudicentur & excludantur, &c. Et
quod placitum praefat' Majoris & Communi-
tat' ac Civium civitat' London praed', quoad
libertat', privileg' & franchis' praed' per ipfos

fuperius clamat' (vizi) ipfos habere Vicecom' Ci-

vit' & Com' civit' London, & Vicecom' Com'
Midd', & nominare & eligere ex feipfis duas

perfonas fore Vicecom' Civit' praed', & Com'
ejufdem Civit', & Vicecom' Com' Midd', ac il-

los fie nominat' & elect' praeficere & conftituere

Vic' Civit' praed' & Com' ejufdem Civit', & Vic'

Com' Midd', ac ut Vicecom' Civitat' praed* &
Com' ejufdem Civitat' ad execution' & retorn'

omnium brevium, billarum & praecept' Dom'
Regis pro Adminiftration' & Execution' Jufticiae

infra Civit' praed' & Com' ejufdem Civit', exe-

quend' & faciend' quae ad Officium Vic' faci-

end' pertinent, ac ad faciend' & exequend' om-
nia & fingula alia infra Civit' praed' & Com'
ejufdem Civit', quae ad Officium Vicecom' fa-

ciend' pertinent, ac Vicecom' Com' Middlefex

pro eod' Com' defervitur', ac omnia brevia, bil-

las, & praecept' Dom' Regis infra Com' Mid-
dlefex praed' pro Adminiftratione & Executione

Jufticiae ibidem exequend' & retorn* inde faci-

end', quae ad officium Vic' faciend' pertinent,

fuperius placitat' : Necnon quoad placitum prae-

fat' Majoris & Communitat' ac Civium civitat'

London praed', quoad libertat', privileg' & fran-

chis' per ipfos fuperius clamat' (viz.) Major diet'

Civitat' & hujufmodi Alderman' ejufdem Civi-

tat', qui Officium Majorat' Civit' illius fuftinuer',

ac inde fuer' dimiffi, ac tres Alderman' fen' Civit'

praed', qui diutius in officio Alderman' Civit'

praed' deter' •, & onu3 & officium Majorat* Civit'

praed' non fuftinuer', fore jufticiar' Dom' Regis

ad pacem infra Civit' praed' confervandam, ac

ad Seffion' pacis & placita Coronae (fcilicet) talia

placita Coronae, qual' Jufticiar' Dom' Regis ad
pacem confervand' affign' legitime tenere pof-

fent, infra eandem Civitat' tenend', ac ad om-
nia Felon', Riot', Rout' & Conventicul' illicit'

infra Civitat', praed' inquirend', audiend', & tcr-

minand' fuperius placitat*, idem Attorn' Dom' Re-
gis nunc General', qui pro eodem Dom' Rege
in hac parte fequitur, pet' licenc' inde interlo-

quend' coram Dom' Rege ufq; a die Sancti Mi-
chaelis in tres feptimanas ubicunq; &c. Et ei

concreditur, &c. idem dies dat' eft praefat' Major'
& Communitat' Civibus civit' London praed*,

&c.

Et praed' Major & Communitas, ac Cives ci-

vitat' London, quoad praed' placit' praed' At-
torn' dicti Dom' Regis nunc generalis, in affign*

forisfaclur' libertat', privileg',& franchis' fequen',

videlicet, ipfos Majorem & Communitat', ac Ci-
ves civitat' London, fore de feipfis unum corpus
corporat* & politicum in re, facto, & nomine,
per nomen Majoris & Communitat', ac Civium
civitat' London, ac per idem nomen placitare &
implacitari, refpondere ac refponderi, per ipfos

fuperius clamat', fuperius replicando placitat' pro-

teftando, quod placit' illud, ac materia in eodem
content', minus fufficien' in lege exiftunt ad ipfos

Major' & Communitat', ac Cives civitat' Lon-
don, de libertat', privileg', & franchis' illis abju-

dicand' five excludend' ; proteftando etiam, quod
nullus actus vel factum, neque aliqua ordinatio

(Angl' By-Law) per Commune Concilium, vei

per Majorem, Aldermannos, & Commune Con-
cilium civitat' praed' confect', eft actus vel fac-

tum corporis corporat' & politici praed'; pro-
teftandoq; etiam, quod ipfi praed' Major' & Com-
munitas, ac Cives civitat' London, contra fidu-

ciam in eis repofit', nunquam affumpfer* fuper fe

aliquam illicitam vel injuftam poteftatem, ad de-

nar' de fubditis & ligeis Domini Regis levand' ad
privat' lucrum & commodum ipfor' Majoris &
Communitat', ac Civium civitat' London, co-

lore legum five ordinationum per ipfos fact' five

ordinat', prout praed' Attorn' dicti Dom' Regis
nunc generalis, pro eodem Dom' Rege fuperius

fuppon' ; proteftandoque ukerius, quod iidem

Major & Communitas, ac Cives civitat* London
non levaver' feu exeger* tantas denar' fummas per

annum, de perfonis ad publica mercata infra ci-

vitat' praed' tent', cum victualibus & provifioni-

bus ibidem venden' acceden', quant' dictus At-
torn' generalis pro eodem Domino Rege fuperius

allegavit. Pro placito tamen, quoad confection'

& publication' legis pro levatione denarior' de
perfonis ad publica mercata infra civitat' praed'

tent', cum victualibus & provifionibus ibidem

venden' acceden', ac exactionem & levation' hu-

jufmodi denar' fuperius fieri fuppofit', iidem Ma-
jor & Communitas, ac Cives civitat' London di-

cunt, quod Civitas London praed' eft, & a tem-

pore cujus contrar' memoria hominum non exif-

tit, fuit fumma & capitalis civitas & metropolis,

ac principalis portus hujus regni Angl', & in ci-

vibus & inhabitantibus maxime populofa, & in

concurfu hominum tarn ligeor' Dom' Regis, quam
extraneor' copiofiffima, emporiumque totius Eu-
ropae celeberrimum ; quodq' habentur & tenen-

tur, & a tempore cujus contrar' memoria homi-

num non exiftit, habebantur & tenebantur pub-

lica mercata infra civitat' praed' pro victualibus

& provifionibus adinde adduct' ibidem vendend'

;

quodque ipfi praed' Major & Communitas, ac

Cives civitat' London praed', decimo feptimo die

Septembris, anno vicefimo fexto fupradicto in re-

plicatione praed' mentionat', necnon continue

poftea, & a tempore cujus contrar' memoria
hominum non exiftit, feizit' fuer', & adhuc fei-

zit' exiftunt, de & in publicis mercatis praed' in

Dom'
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Dom' fuo, ut de feodo, ac per totum idem tem-

pus fumptibus fuis propnis provider', ac provi-

dere confuever' & debuerunr, fora mercatoria,

five loca ubi hujufmodi mercata tent' fuer', quo-

tiefcunque neceffe fuit, & ftallas, ftationes, & al'

accommodationes pro perfonis ad eadem mercata

venien' cum viclualibus & provifionibus ibidem

vendend', pro meliori & magis convenien' ven-

ditione & expofitione eorundem, & fupervifores,

& alios officiarios mercatorum illorum, pro pras-

fervatione boni ordinis in eifdem mercatis, & me-

liori regulatione eorundem, & magni concurfus

populi adinde confluen', ac emundaverunt, &
emundare confueverunt & debuerunr, fora mer-

catoria prsedicla, & pro fuftentatione dictorum

fumptuum fuorum per totum tempus praedictum

habuer' & perceper', ac habere & percipere con-

fuever', diverfas rationabiles tolnet', ratas, five

denariorum fummas de quibufcunque perfonis

ad mercata praed', ficut praefertur, venien', pro

ftallis, ftationibus, & aliis accommodationibus per

eas pro venditione, expofitione hujufmodi vicfua-

lium & provifionum in mercatis illis habit'. Et
iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives civitat'

London ulterius dicunt, quod cives & liberi ho-

mines civitatis praed', praedicto decimo feptimo

die Septembris, anno vicefimo fexto fupradicto,

& femper fuer', & adhuc exiftunt valde nume-

rofi, videlicet, quinquaginta mille homines, &
plur' ; quodque infra dictam civitat' London,

videlicet, apud praed' Parochiam fancti Michaelis

BafTifhaw, a tempore cujus contrar' memoria

hominum non exiftit, habebatur & fuit Commu-
ne Concilium ejufdem civitatis, de tempore in

tempus, quoties neceffe fuit, in eadem civitate

affemblat', confiftens de Majore & Alderman*

dictae civitatis pro tempore exiften', ac de quibuf-

dam Civibus exiften' liberis hominibus civitatis

illius, non exceden 5 numerum ducentar' & quin-

quagintar' perfonarum, e civibus & liberis homi-

nibus civitat' praed' annuatim elect', fore de

Communi Concilio illo, qui quidem Cives fie

elect' in hujufmodi Communi Concilio vocantur

Communiarii (Angl' Commons) civitat' London.

Quodque infra civitat' praed', videlicet, apud

praed' parochiam fancti Michaelis Baffifhaw, ha-

betur & exiftit, & a tempore cujus contrar' me-

moria hominum non exiftit, habebatur & fuit

talis confuetudo ufitat' & approbat', videlicet,

quod Major & Alderman' dicV civit', ac hujuf-

modi Cives fie elect' fore de Com' Cone' ejufdem

civitatis pro tempore exiften', in Communi Con-

cilio fio infra civitat' ill* affemblat', a toto tem-

pore fupradicto, fecundum confuetudinera civi-

tat' praed', fecer' & conftituer', ac facere & con-

ftkuere confuever' & poflunt, ac potuer', leges

& ordinationes pro meliori regulatione & guber-

natione publicor' mercator' infra civitat' prasd',

ac pro appunctuatione convenien' locor' & tem-

por', quando & ubi infra eandem civitat' mercata

ilia tent' fuerint, & pro affeffione, & in certitu-

din' reductione rationabilium tolnet', ratar', five

denar' fummarum folvend' per perfonas ad ea-

dem mercata venien', pro ftallis, ftationibus, &
aliis accommodationibus per eas pro venditione,

expofitione victualium & provifionum in mercatis

illis habit', quoties & quando eis videbitur expe-

diri ; dum tamen leges & ordinationes hujufmodi

Dom' Regi & populo fuo fint bonae fidei, & ra-

tioni confonae, ac legibus & ftatut' hujus regni

Angl' minime contrar'. Quodque in Magna
Charta de libertatibus Angl', in parliaments

Dom' Henrici quondam Regis Angl' tertii, apud
Weftm' in Com' Middlefex, anno regni fui nono
tent', edit' & provis', continetur, quod civitas

London habeat ornnes libertates fuas antiquas, &
confuetudines fuas ; & iidem Major & commu-
nitas, ac Cives civitat' London ukerius dicunt,
quod Dom' Edwardus quondam Rex Angl' ter-

tius, in parliament fuo apud Weftm' in com'
Midd', anno regni fui primo tent', per quandam
chartarn fuam de affenfu Praelator', Comkum,
Baronum, ac totius Communitatis regni fui, in
eodem parliaments fuo apud Weftm' praed' con*
vocat' exiften', ac authoritate ejufdem parlia-

ment!, confirmavit tunc Civibus civitat' London
praed' libertates fubfequen' (inter alia) habend'
fibi & fuccefforibus fuis in perpet', imprimis re-

citando, quod cum in Magna Charta de liberta-

tibus Angl' contineatur, quod civitas London
habeat omnes libertates fuas antiquas, & confue-
tudines fuas, & quod iidem Cives tempore con-
fectionis didae chartae, ac temporibus fandti Ed-
wardi Regis & Confefforis, & Will' Conquefto-
ris, & al' progenitor' dicti Regis Edward i tertii,

diverfas libertates & confuetudines, tarn per char-

tas ipfor' progenitorum fuorum, quam fine char-

tis ex antiqua confuetudine habuiffent, voluit &
conceftit idem Rex Edwardus tertius pro fe, &
haeredibus fuis per chartam ill', authoritate praed',

quod iidem Cives haberent libertates fuas fecun-

dum formam Magnas Charts fjpradicl', prout
per eandem chartam geren' dat' apud Weftm'
praed* fexto die Martii, anno Regni dicti Regis
Edwardi tertii primo fupradicto, fub magno ii-

gillo fuo Angl' figillat', hie in cur* prolat' (inter

alia) plenius apparet. Et iidem Major & Com-
munitas, as Cives civitat' London ulterius dicunt,

quod ad inftant' & requifitionem Communitatis

regni Angl' in parliamento Dom' Richardi nuper

Regis Angl' fecundi poll Conqueft', apud Weftm'
praed' anno regni fui feptimo tent', affemblat'

pro majori quiete & pace inter ligeos ejufdem

nuper Regis fovend', & pro bono publico, omnes
confuetudines, libertates, privileg', & franchis'

civitat' praed' tunc Civibus civitat' praed', & eo-

rum fuccefforibus, authoritate ejufdem parlia-

menti ratificat' & conhtmat' fuer'. Quodque
praedictus Dominus- Rex nunc, per literas iuas pa-

tentes fub magno figillo fuo Angl' figillat', geren'

dat' apud Weftm' praed' vicefimo quarto die Junii,

anno regni fui decimo quinto, quas iidem Major

& Communitas, ac Cives civitat' London hie in

cur' proferunt pro ipfo Rege, haered' & fuccef-

foribus fuk, ratificavit & confirmavit Majori &
Communitati, ac Civibus civitat' London, &
fuccefforibus fuis, omnia & fingula jurifdictiones,

authoritat', privileg', libertates, franchis', quie-

tantias, immunitates, & confuetudines quaecunque,

quae praefat' Major & Communitas, ac Cives ci-

vitat' London, vel praedeceffores fui, per nomen
Majoris & Communkat', ac Civium civitat' Lon-

don, feu per nomen Majoris, Alderman', Civium

& Communkat' London, feu per nomen Majo-

ris & Civium civitat' London, feu per nomen
Major' & Communkat' civitat' London, ftii per

nomen Civium civitat' London, feu per nomen
Baron* London, feu per nomen Baron' civitat*

London, feu per aliqucd aliud nomen quodcun-

que rarione vel vigore literar' patent', chartar',

feu confirmation' in eifdem Uteris patentibus dicti

Dom' Regis nunc prrementionat', vel alicujus

feu aliquoi' ufus vel ufuum, praefcriptionis vel

praefcriptionum, feu alio legah rnodo quocun-

que,
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que, aliquo tempore, vel aliquibus temporibus an- in tempus appunctuat' ad capiend' & recipiend'

te tunc habuiffent, feu rationabilit' ufi fuiffent, proficua omnium, vel aliquor' dictor' mercator',

aut exercuiffent, habend', tenend', gaudend', & ad ufum Majoris & Communitat', ac Civium ci-

exercend' omnia & fingula praemifs' praed' eifdem vitat' London, de & ab omni populo mercatorio

Majori & Communitati, ac Civibus civitat' Lon- adinde acceden', pro flaliis, ftationibus, & aliis

don praed', & fuccefforibus fuis in perpetuum, accommodationibus fuis in feparal' mercatis praed',

adeo plene, libere, & integre, ac in tarn amplis ut praefertur, fecundum racas fequen', & non
modo & forma, prout in iifdem Uteris patenti- amplius ; videl', pro qualibet ftaila five ftation'

bus fuperius mentionantur fore data five conceffa, de longitudine octo pedum, & Jatitudine quatuor
aut aliter ufu, praefcript', vel alio legali modo, pedum, pro venditione carnis aut pifcis, duos
feu jure quocunque ante tunc refpective habit', lolid' & fex denar' per feptimanam ; pro qualibet

obtent', five gavifa fuiffent, ac fi feparatim, fin- ftaila five ftatione de longitudine fex pedum, §c
gulatim, & nominatim in & per dictas literas Jatitudine quatuor pedum, duos folid' per fep-

patentes ipfius Dom' Regis nunc exprefs', nomi- timan' ; pro qualibet ftaila five ftatione de longi-

nat\ declarat', concefs', & manikfta effent & fu- tudine fex vel octo pedum, & lati udine quatuor
iffent, prout per eafdem literas patentes (inter alia) pedum, pro aliis commoditatibus, ties denar' per

plenius apparet. Et iidem Major &Communitas, diem; pro quolibet onere equlno provifion' non
ac Cives civitat' London ulterius dicunt, quod fuper ftallas, vel fub pubiica teclur' (Angl' Shel-

poft magnam illam conflagration' maximae partis ter) duos denar' per diem ; pro qualibet caniftra

civitat' London praed', quae fuit in menfe Sep- (Angl' Dojfer) confimilis provifion', un' denar'

tembris, anno Dom' millefimo fcxcentefimo fexa- per diem; pro quaP carectat' trad' cum non
gefimo fexto, ac alteration' in civit' & mercat'- plur' quam tribus equis, quatuor denar' per di-

praed' perinde occafionat', diverfae controvefiae, em ; & pro qualibet caractat' tract' cum quat'

& quaeftiones ortae fucr' infra eandem civitat' de equis vel pluribus, fex denar' per diem. Ac
& concernen' ftabilition' publicorum mercator' ulterius ordinat' & inactitat' fuit dicta authoritate,

infra civit' ill', & denar' fummar' per ligeos quod collectores aut receptorts appunctuat' vel

Dom' Regis pro victualibus & provifionibus in appunctuand', ut praefertur, haberent poteftatem

mercatis illis venditioni expofit' folubil', ac fu- fuper obftinata denegatione feu dilatione alicujus

perinde praed' die jovis decimo feptimo die Sep- populi mercatorii, ad folvend' refpectivas ratas

tembris, anno regni dicti Dom' Regis nunc vi- praed', illos ab eorum refpectivis ftationibus &
cefimo fexto fupradicto, quidam Will' Hooker locis amovere & diflocare. Et iidem Major &
Miles, tunc Major civitat' praed' & Alderman', Communitas, ac Cives civitat' London ulterius

dictae civitat', ac Communiarii, five Cives de dicunt, quod eaedem ratae per actum five ordina-

Communi Concilio ejufdem civitatis, tunc exi- tionem ill', ut praefertur, folvi ordinat', praed'

ften' in Communi Concilio fuo infra eandem ci- tempore confectionis ordinationis illius, & extunc

vitat' (fcil' in praed'. camera Guildhall civitatis hucufque fuerant rationabiles, & adhuc rationa-

illius, fituat' in praed' parochia fancti Michaelis biles exiftunt ; quodque ratae & denariorum fum-
Baffifhaw) ad tunc affemblat' fecundum confue- mae per eundem adtum five ordinationem folvi

tudinem dictae civitat', ac authoritate ejufdem ordinat', funt omnes ratae, tolnet', & denarior'

Communis Concilii, fecer', conftituer', & publi- fummae pro victualibus & provifionibus in mer-
caver' quendam aftum, five ordination' pro me- cat' praed' vendit', feu venditioni expofit' per ali-

liori regulatione & gubernatione publicorum mer- quas perfonas a dic~to tempore confeclionis ejuf-

cator' infra civitat' praed' tent', intitulat', AnAtt dem ordinationis hucufque, ad ufum Majoris &
for the Settlement and well ordering of the feveral Communitat', ac Civium civitat' London folubil'

pubtkk Markets within the City of London ; per & folut', quas quidem ratas fie folvi ordinat', &
quern quidem actum five ordination' (inter alia) null' alias, iidem Major & Communitas, ac Ci-

recitando, quod cum pro accommodation' po- ves civitat' London, a tempore actus five ordina-

puli mercat' CAngl' of Market People) cum ftallis, tionis illius, ut praefertur, fact', hucufque exe-

afferibus, tectur' (Angl' Shelter) & aliis hujufmodi ger' & perceper' fecundum formam & effectum

rebus neceffariis, pro eor' ftationibus in aliquibus ejufdem actus five ordinationis ; qui quidem actus

mercat' infra civitat' ill', ac pro emundand', pa- five ordinatio eft eadem lex per ipfos Majorem
viend', efcurand*, & munda cuftodiend' eadem, & Communitat', ac Cives civitat' London fupe-

ac etiam pro fuftinendo (Angl' defraying) inci- rius de facto inactitat' & publicat', fuppofit' in

den' onera reparationis & manutentionis dictorum praed' placito praed' Attorn' generalis fuperius re-

mercator', & fimiliter ad gratificand' & mune- plicando placitat' fpec'; abfque hoc, quod aliqua

rand' curam & attendentiam talium perfonarum, lex, actus, five ordinatio pro levatione denar'

qual' fbrent occupat' in eifdem, quaedam ratio- praed' de perfonis ad mercata praed' accedent'

nabiles ratae pro diet' accommodationibus & one- cum victualibus & provifionibus ibid' vendend',

ribus femper folut' fuiffent -, & ad intentionem inactitat' fact', five publicat' fuit aliter, vel alio

quod dictae ratae forent certe & publice factae modo, quam iidem Major 8c Communitas, ac

omni populo mercatorio (Angl' Market People) Cives civitatis London fuperius allegaver', prout

per quod perfonae, quae extunc per ordinem il- idem Attorn' generalis pro dicto Dom' Rege
lius cur' Com' Concilii occupat' forent, tanquam nunc fuperius fuppon', & hoc parat' funt verifi-

collectores vel receptores earundem ratar', prae- care. Et quoad refid' praed' placiti praed' At-
venirentur a demandando, exigendo, feu recipi- tornat' generalis in aflign' forisfactur', ut praefer-

endo plus quam allocat' fuit per actum five ordi- tur, fuperius replicando placitat', iidem Major &
nation' ill', ordinat' & inactitat' fuit authoritate Communitat', ac Cives civitat' London dicunt,

ejufdem Com' Concilii (inter alia) quod omnes £c quod vicefimo quarto die Aprilis, anno regni

quaelibet perfona & perfonae, ad aliquod diet' diet' Dom' Regis nunc tricefimo, & per diverfos

mercator' accedend' ad commoditates fuas ven- annos tunc ult' elapfos, ac poft eundem vicefi-

dend' & utterand', extunc folverent tali perfonae mum quartum diem Aprilis, infra hoc regiium

feu perfonis, qualts fuer' vel forent de tempore Angl', & alibi, videlicet, apud London praed',

in
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in praed* parochia faneV Michaelis Baflifhaw, pro- tertium diem Januarii, anno tricefimo fecund

is huju*

attinct

termino
fanct' Michaelis, anno regni Dom' Regis nunc

antiquas gubernation' & leges ejufdem regni, & tricefimo, incur' Dom' Regis coram ipfo Recxe;
ad fupprimend' veram religionem in eodem fta- eadem cur' apud Weftm' in com' Midd' adtunc
bilit', 6c ad extirpandum & deftruendum profef- & adhuc exiflen') prout per recordum & procef-
fores ejufdem religionis; qus quidem confpiratio fum inde in eadem cur' refiden' plenius apparet;
& conjuratio machinal' & profecut' fuer', & di- ac prsd' Willielmus Ireland, Thomas Pickering,
verfis locis, 6c per feparal* vias & media, ac per & Johannes Grove, ad deliberation' gaols Dom'
magnum numerum perfonarum feparal' qualitat' Regis de Newgate, tent' pro dicto com' Midd*
Sc graduum, qus agebant Sc fe occupaver' in eif- apud Juftice Hall in le Old Baily, in fuburbiis
dem, ad exequend' Sc perimplend' prsdieta fee- diets civitatis London, in menfe Decembris,

anno tricefimo fupradicto, prout per recordum
Sc proceflum inde in cuftod' Cuftodis Rotulorum
did' com' Midd' reman' plenius apparet ac

lerata 8c proditoria machinationes & propofita j

quodque poftea, fcilicet, vicefimo feptimo die

Septembris, anno tricefimo fupradicto, Edmun-
dus-Bury Godfrey, Miles, tunc unus Jufticiar' prsd' Thomas White alias "Whitebrcad, Johaii

nes Fenwick, Willielmus Harcourt alias Harri-
fon, Johannes Gavan, 8c Antonius Turner, ad
deliberationem gaols Dom' Regis de Newgate,
tent' per adjornament' pro com' Midd' prsd',
apud prsd' Juftice Hall in le Old Baily, in fub-
urbiis civitatis London, die Veneris decimo tertio

die Junii, anno regni diet' Dom' Regis nunc
tricefimo primo, prout per recordum Sc procef-

fum inde in cuftodia diet' Cuftodis Rotul' ejufdem
com' Midd' remanen' plenius apparet; Sc praed'

Rich' Langhorn ad deliberationem gaols Dom'
Regis de Newgate, tent' per adjornament' pro diet'

civit' London apud Juftice Ha'l in le Old Baily,

in parochia fanct' Sepulchri, in warda de Far-
rington extra London, die Sabbati decimo quarto

rochiam fanct' Maris le Savoy, in dicto comitat' die Junii, anno tricefimo primo fupradict', prouc

Dom' Regis ad pacem in com' Midd' confervan

dum aflignat', fecundum officii & juramenti fui

debitum, apud parochiam fancti Martini in cam-
pis, in eodem comitat' Midd', cepit examination'

& information' de prsfat' confpiratione & conju-

ratione, ac information', quod magna ilia con-

flagratio maxims partis civitatis London, qus
fuilfet in menfe Septembris, anno Dom' millefimo

fexcentefimo fexagefimo fexto, fact' fuit per Pa-

piftas; pofteaque per advifamentum, aflenfum,

confilium, inftigationem, & procurationem ali-

quorum dictorum confpiratorum, diverfs perfo-

ns in infidiis jacuer'Sc infecut' fuerunt prsfat'

Edmund-Bury Godfrey diverfis diebus, ea inten-

tione, ad ipfum murdrand', videlicet, apud pa-

Midd'j quod quidem murdrum poftea, fell',

duodecimo die Octobris, anno tricefimo fupra-

dicto, apud eandem parochiam, per eos perpe-

trat' & effectum fuit ; ac perpetrat' & effectum

fuit ea intentione, ad fupprimendum examina-
tion' & information', quas ipfe, ut prsfertur,

cepirTet, & ad deterrend' 6c intimidand' magi-
ftrat' & al' ab agendo in ultcriori detectione

confpirationis & conjurationis prsd'j pro quo
quidem murdro quidam Robertus Green,

Girald Clericus, Henricus Bury, Lau-
rencius Hill, Dominic Kelley, 6c Filibertus Vcr-
nat, poftea (fcilicet, termino fanct' Hilarii, an-

nis regni diet' Dom' Regis nunc tricefimo, 6c

tricefimo primo) in curia Dom' Regis coram ipfo

Rege apud Weftm', in dicto com' Midd', per

quandam jurat' prsd' ejufdem com' Midd',

per record' & procefs' inde in cuftod' Cuftodis
Rotul' diet' civitat' London remanen' plenius ap-

paret : quodque Willielmus comes Powis, Wil-
lielmus vicecomes Stafford, Henricus dom' Arun-
del de Wardor, Willielmus dom' Petre, 6c Jo-
hannes dom' Bellafis, tricefimo die Novembris,
anno regni diet' Dom' Regis nunc tricefimo fu-

pradict', apud Weftm' prsd' in prsd' com'
Midd' de altis proditionibus, & proditoriis con-
fpirationibus 6c conjurationibus prsd' legitime

accufati, & fuper inde prifons Dom' Regis,

fcil', Turri London commifs' fuer', ibidem lalvo

cuftodiend', ac in cuftodia fie exiften' iidem Wil-
liel' comes Powis, Williel' vicecomes Stafford,

Henricus dom' Arundel de Wardor, Willielmus

dom' Petre, 6c Johannes dom* Bellafis, ad fef-

fion' parliamen' diet' Dom' Regis nunc, apud
debica juris forma indictat' fuerunt; ad quod Weftm' prsd' decimo quinto die Martii, anno
quidem indictamentum, poftea (fcilicet, eodem regni fui tricefimo primo, per prorogation' tent'

termino) prsd' Robertus Green, Henricus Bury, per Communes hujus regni Angl' in eodem par-

6c Laurencius Hill, feparatim placitaver', quod liamento affemblat', coram Magnatib' 6c Proce-
ipfi non fuer' inde culpabiles, 6c de eo pofuer' rib' ejufdem regni in parliamento illo convocat'

fe fuper patriam ; ac poftea, fcilicet, eodem ter- 6c convent', de eo quod per multos annos tunc
mino fanct' Hilarii, in eadem cur' apud Weftm' ult' prsterit' proditoria 6c execrabilis confpiratio

prsd', pro diet' felonia 6c murdro per jurat' & conjuratio infra hoc regnum Angl', 6c alibi

patris prsd', in debita juris forma triati fuerunt, machinat' 6c profecut' fuit per Papiftas, ad alte-

6c inde legitime convicti Sc attincti, prout per rand', mutand', 6c fubvertend' antiquas guber-

nation' 6c leges hujus regni 6c nationis, 6c ad
fupprimend' veram religionem in eifdem ftabilit',

6c ad extirpand' 6c deftruend' profeflbres inde*

coramrecord' inde in eadem curia Dom' Regis
ipfo Rege apud Weftm' prsd' refiden' plenius

apparet. Quodque pro altis proditionibus 6c pro-

ditoriis conlpirationibus 6c conjurationibus prsd' qus quidem confpiratio & conjuratio machinat'

quidam Edwardus Coleman & Willielmus Ireland, 6c profecut' fuiflet in diverfis locis, 6c per fepa-

Thomas Pickering & Johannes Grove, ac Tho- ral' vias 6c media, 6c per magnum numerum per-

fonar' feparal' qualitatum & graduum, qus age-

bant in eifdem, & intendebant per inde ad exe-

quend' 6c confummand' prsd' fcelcrat' & prodi-

mas White alias Whitebread, Willielmus Har-
court alias Harrifon, Johannes Fenwick, Johan-
nes Gavan, Sc Antonius Turner, ac Richardus
Langhorn, Arm', exiften' Papifts, &C fuperfti- torias machinationes 6c propofita. Quodque die'

tion' Romanam profkentes ante prsd' decimum Willielmus comes Powis, WillieJmus vicecomes
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Stafford, Henricus dom' Arundel de Wardor,
Willielmus dom' Petre, fic Johannes dom' Bella-

fis, fimul cum Phil' Howard, communitcr voc'

Cardinal de Norf. Thoma White alias White-

bread, com' voc' Provincial' Jefuitar' in Anglia,

Rich' Strange nuper voc' Provincial' Jefuitar' in

Anglia, Vincent, com' voc' Provincial' Domi-
nicor' in Anglia, Jacobo Cooper com' voc' Prse-

fident' Benediftinor', Johanne Warner alias Clare

Baronetto, Williel' Harcourt, Johanne Keins,

Nicho' Blundel, Pool, Edwar' Mico,

Thoma Bedinfield alias Benefield, Bafil' Lang-

worth, Carolo Peters, Rich' Peters, Joan' Con-
yersj Dom' Georgio Wakeman (Anglice Sir

George Wake-man) Thoma Fenwick, Domi-
rrick Kelly, Fitz-Gerald, Evers,

Dom' Thoma Prefton (Anglice Sir Tho-

mas Prefton) Willielm' Lovel, Jefuitis, Dom'
Bakemore, Johanne Carrel, Johanne Townly,
Rich' Langhorn, Willielm' Fogarty, Thoma
Penny, Matthaso Medbourne, Edward' Cole-

man, Willielm' Ireland, Johanne Grove, Tho-
ma Pickering, Johanne Smith, fic diverfis aliis

Jefuitis, facerdotib', fratrib' (Angl' Friers) Sc

aliis perfonis, ut falfi proditores Dom' Regi

nunc, & huic Regno infra Tempus ult' pva=d'

proditorie confuluiffent, machinat' fuifTent Sc e-

giffent, ad Sc pro confummatione dicV improbar'

pernitiofar' fie proditoriar' machination', fie ea de

caufa nequiffimc fic proditorie agreaffent, con-

fpiraftent, 6c determinafient impriionare, depone-

re, 8e murdrare facram Majeftatem Dom' Regis

nunc, St ipfum de regali ftatu, corona, fie digni-

tate fuis deprivare, fie per maliciofam fic advifat'

Locutionem, Scriptionem, fie alit' declarafient tal'

fua propofita fie intentiones, ac etiam hoc Regnum
fie Nationem Papae Sc 'tyrannicse fuse Guberna-
tioni fubjicere, fie flatus fie hsereditates Proteftant'

fubdii' Dom' Regis feizire, fie int' fefe partiri,

ac erigere fie reftituere Abbatias, Monafteria, fie

al' Convent' & Societatcs, quse dudum per Leges
hujus Regni pro fuperftitione Sc idololatria fuis

fupprefs' fuifTent, fie eis tradere Sc reftituere ter-

ras fie pofTeffiones in Dom' Rege nunc fie fub-

ditis fuis per Leges fie Statuta hujus Regni veftit',

ac etiam nova Monafteria fie Conventus fundare

Sc erigere 6c omnes Proteftant' Epifcopos, Sc al'

perfonas Ecclefiafticas ab ofEciis, beneficiis, fit

promctionib' fuis amovere fie deprivare, fir eo

modo perfonam Dom' Regis nunc deftruere, Pro-
teftantem Religionem extirparc, jura, libcrtates

Sc proprietates omnium probor' fubditor' Dom*
Regis evertere, legalem gubernationem hujus

Regni fubverterc, fit idem Tyrannidi fedis Ro-
mance fubjicere. Quodqj die' Confpiratores fie

eorum participes Sc confederatores proditorie ha-

buiffent fie tenuiflent feparales conventiones, af-

femblationes, Sc confultationes, in quibus inter

cos machinat' Sc defignat' fuiffent, quse media
uterentur, fie quce perfonse 8c Inftrumenta impens*
forent ad Dom' Regem nunc murdrand', 6c ad
tunc fie ibidem determinafient id efficere per ve-

nefic', difplofionem (Angl' Shooting) perfora-

tionem (Angl' Stabbing) vel aliqua tal' vias

fie media, fie obtuliffent muncra fie promiffioncs

de advantag' feparalib' perfonis ad idem exe-

quend', ac conduxiflent fie impendifTent feparalei

improbas perfonas ire ad Windfor, fit alia loca

ubi Dom' Rex refidebat, ad ipfum Dom' Regem
murdrand' Sc deftruend', quas quidem perfonx,
feu carum aliqu' talia munera acceptaffent, Sc

perpetrationcm inde fufcepiffent, fit a&ualit' £c

die' loca intentione Sc propofito ill' ivifTent.

Quodqj die' Confpiratores ad melius perimplend*
proditorias fuas machinationes confuluiffent ad le-

vand', ac procurafTent Sc levaffent homines, mo-
netam, equos, arma fit ammunitionem, ac etiam
applicationem feciffent ad, Sc tra£taflent Sc cor-
refpondiflent cum Papa, ejus Cardinalib', Nun-
ciis 6c Agentib', fie aliis forinfecis miniftris fie

perfonis, ad levand' Sc obtinend' fupplementa
(Ang' Supplies) homin', monet', armor' fie ammu-
nitions, cum eifdem facere, levare Sc excitare
guerram, rebellionem fie tumultus infra hoc Regn'
fit idem invadere cum virib' forinfecis, fie depre-
hendere (Angl' to furprize) fefire fie deftruere Re-
gime Majeftatis claftem (Angl' Navy) fortalitia (Angl'
Forts) armamentaria (Angl' Magazines) fie loca for-
tia (Angl' Places of Strength) infra hoc Regn', fuper
quo calamitates guerrse, murdra innocenc' fubdi-

tor', virov', mulier' fie liberor', conflagrationes,

rapinas, devaftationes fit al' tremend' miferiae fie

exitia inevitabiP infequerentur, in ruinam fie dc-
flruclionem hujus nationis; fie quod die' confpi-
ratores procurafTent, Sc acceptaffent, ac deli-

berafTent feparal' inftrumenta, commifliones, fie po-
teftates fact' fie concefs' per aut fubt' Papam vel

al' illicitam 6c ufurpat' authoritatem, ad levand'

&c difponend' homines, monetam, arma, Sc al*

necefiaria pro cor' fceleratis 6e proditoriis machi-
nationibus, ac nominatim Commiftionem pro
die' Henrico Dom' Arundel de Wardor fore

Dom' Cancellar' Angl', aliam Commifilon' die'

Willielm' Comit' Povvis fore Dom' Thefaura-
rium Angl', aliam Commiffion' die' Johanne
Dom' Bellafis fore ducem General' (Angl' Ge-
neral) ad exercitus levand', al' Commiftionem die'

Willielmo Dom' Petre fore locum tenen' ducis

General, (Angl' Lieutenant General) die' exer-

citus fit poteftatem Angl' (a Powtr) pro die' Wil-
lielmo Vicecomite Stafford fore Expenditorem
(Angl' Paymafler) exercitus illius. Quodqj in or-

dine ad animand' feipfos in profecutione didtar'

fceleratar' conjurationum, confpiration' fie pro-

dition', fie ad celand' fie impediend' detectioncm
earundem, fie ad feipfos a jufticia Sc punitione

fecurand' Confpiratores prasd' participes fie con-
federatores fui ufi fuifTent multis impiis Sc dia-

bolicis praxib', yidel', caufaflcnt facerdotcs fuos

adminiftrare die' Confpiratorib' juramentum ta-

citurnitatis (Angl' of Secrecy) una cum eor' fa-

cramento, ac etiam caufaffent die' Sacerdotes fuos

fuper Confefiionib' dare abfolutiones fuas fub

conditione, quod ipfi concelarent die' Confpira-

tionem', ac cum circa menfem Septembris tunc

ult' prasterit' Edmundbury Godfrey miles Juftic'

pacis fecundum juramenti 6c officii fui debit' ce-

pifTet feparal' examinationes fic informationes con-

cern' prasfat' confpirationem Sc conjurationem,

die* confpiratores, feu eor' aliqui, per advifamen-

tum, affenfum, confil' fie inftfgationem refld'

eor' incitafTent fie procurafTent diverfas perfo-

nas in infidiis jacere, fie infequi prsefat' Edmund-
bury Godfrey diverfis dieb' ea intentione ad ip-

fum murdrand', quod poftea per eos perpetrat*

ficeffe&um fuit (pro quib' quidem horridis crimi-

nib' fie offenfis Robertus Green, Henricus Berry,

fic Laurentius Hill, poftea attinfti fuifTent, ac

Dominick Kelley fie Girald, Sc alii fugam
feciffeht pro eifdem) poft quod quid' murdrum,
fie antequam cadaver invent' fuit, vel mur-

drum cognitum aliquibus nifl participibus, in eo-

dem die' perfon' falfe retuler' quod vivus fuit,

Sc privatim maritat', fic poftquam cadaver' invent*

fuic
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fuit, difperfer' falfam 6c malitiofam relationcm, Addrefs) eidem Dom' Regi apud Weftm' praed*

quod ipfe feipfum murdraffet. Quod quidem fecer' & exhibuer', in forma fcquen', videl',

murdrum coirimiflum fuit ea intentione, ad ce- Quod ipfi Subditi Regiae fuze Majeftatis obfequen-
land' & fupprimend' evidentiam quam ipfe cepif- tiffimi & fidehffimi Dom' Spirituales & Tempo-
fet, ac de qua notitiam habuic, 6c intimidand' 6c rales, ac Communes in tunc praefenti Parliamento
deterrend' Magiftrat' 6c alios ab agendo in ulte- illo affemblat', profunde fenfibiles exiften' de
riori deteftione confpirationis 5c conjurationis trifti 6c calamitofa conditione hujus Regni, prae-

praed', ca etiam intencione die' Edmundbury God- cipue per impias 6c horrendas Confpirationes Pa-
tirey, dum vivus fuit, per eos ac participes 6c palis Factionis caufat', quae non folum deftructi-

fautores fuos minatus 6c deterritus fuit in ejus pro- onem Regalis Perfonae Regiae fuae Majeftatis,

fecutione inde, quodq' de eor' ulterion malicia verum etiam totalem fubveriionem Gubernat' 6c

federate machinati fuiffent perquam plurimas vera; Religion' in hoc Regno Angl' ftabilit' con-
fuggeftiones impon' imputationem 6c culpam fpiraviflec & intendiffet, ac invenien' eafdem de-

praed' horridor' & deteftabiP criminum fuper teftabiles machinationes adtunc obftinate per ean-

Proteftantes, ita quod perinde ipfimet evitarent dem Factionem profecut', tarn fovendo divifiones

punitiones, quas jufte meruiffent, 6c exponerent inter Majeftatis fuse fideles Subdic' Proteftan',

Proteftantes fcandalo magno, & eos fubjicerent quam per omnes al' nequiffimas machinationes,

profecutioni & oppreffioni in omnibus regnis non obftan' quamplurimis deteclionibus inde

6c patriis, ubi Romana Religio recepta 6c pro- (magna Dei milericordia & mirabili providentia)

feffa fuit. Quodque omnia ill* proditiones, cri- tunc nuper in Jucem prolat', quae omnia tremen-

mina & offenfe praementionat' fuer' machinat', da judicia tunc fuer' fuper hoc Regnum impen-

commifs', perpetrat', acta 6c fa6ta per prsed' Wil- den' pro plunbus 6c gravibus fuis peccatis, quam
lielm' Comitem Powis, Willielm' Vicecomitem meritiffime ac alit' humana ratione evitari nequi-

Stafford, Willielmum Dom' Petre, Henricum bant, quam per benediction' Dei particularem fu-

Dom' Arundel de Wardor, 6c Johannem Dom' per confultationes 6c conamina magni Concilii ip-

Bellafis, ac alios confpiratores praed' contr' Dom' fius Dom' Regis tunc in Parliamento affemblat',

Regem nunc, Coronam 6c Dignitat' fuas, ac in omni humilitate Regiae fuae Majeftati fuppli-

contr' Leges & Statuta hujus Regni fecund' Lege' caver', quod per Proclamation' fuam Regalem
& confuetudinem Parliament' impetit' fuer' ac dies folempnit' foret dedicat', in quo tam ipfi,

inde debite onerat', 6c in Prifona praed' ea oc- quam omnes ipfius Dom' Regis Subdit' per jejun'

cafione detent', prout per Record' 6c procefs' 6c preces Deo omnipotenti reconciliationem co-

inde int' Recorda Parliament' remanent' plenius narentur. Ac cum cordibus humilibus 6c peni-

apparet. Et iidem Major 6c Communitas ac tentibus eum implorarent, per ejus potentiam 6c

Civescivitat' London ulterius dicunt, quodinSef- bonitatem, ad judicia ill' divertend', 6c ad impia

fion' praed' Parliamenti die' Dom' Regis nunc, confilia 6c machinationes inimicorum fuorum fru-

apud Weftm' prsed' per prorogation' tent' fuper ftrand', ad corda fidelium Proteftan' Subdit' diet'

praedicV vicefimum primum diem Octobris, Dom' Regis uniend', 6c ad mifericordiam fuam

Anno Regni dicti Domini Regis nunc tricefimo 6c Evangelii fui lumen eidem Domino Regi 6c

fecundo fupradicV, in replicatione praed' men- dictis Subdit' fuis, 6c eor' Pofteritat' continuand',

tionat' ad inchoation' ejufdem Seffionis Dom' ac praecipue ad abundances benedictiones fuas fu-

Rex nunc, ex maxima regali cura 6c fcdulicate per facram Majeftatem ipfius Dom' Regis & tunc

fua pro praefervatione Religionis Proteftan' 8c fub- praefen' Parliament' impendend', quod confukaci-

ditor' a periculis per Papifticas Confpirationes ones 6c conamina eor' honorem, incolumitatem, 6c

imminen', per ejus gratiofam oration' ambab' profperitaccm Regiae fua; Majeftaci ac Populo fuo

domibus ejufdem Parhamenci adcunc 6c ibidem producerentj 6c fuperinde dictus Dominus Rex
fact' 6c allocut', inter alia recommendavit Dom' nunc duran' dicta Seffione Parliamenti, fcilicet

6c Commun' in Parliamento illo affemblac', ad fecundo die Decembris anno Regni fui tricefi-

profequend' ulteriorem examinacionem Confpira- mo fecundo fupradido, per proclamationem fu-

tion' praed' cum ftricta 6c impartiali inquifitione, am Regalem fub magno figillo luo Angl' figillat'

6c eis tunc dixit, quod ipfe non putavic feipfum geren' dat' apud Weftm' eifdem die 6c anno, re-

neque ipfos fecur' quoufque materia ilia plena- citando, quod cum Dom' Spirituales 6c Tempo-
rie perageretur. Ac ideo quod neceffar' foret, rales ac Communes in Parliamento illo affemblat'

quod pned' Dom' in praed' prifona Turris Lon- per eor' Supplication' (Angl' Addrefs) eidem Do-
don ad celerera triation' fuam adducerentur, quod mino Regi exhibit', notum ei feciffent, quod ip-

Jufticia fieret. Et iidem Major 6c Communitas fi profunde fenfibiles fuer' de trifti 6c calami-

ac Cives civitat' London ulterius dicunt, quod tofa conditione hujus Regni per impias 6c hor-

poftea in eadem Seffion' Parliamenti utraque rendas Confpirationes Papalis Factionis caufat',

domus Parliamenti illius in profecution' die' di- quas non folum deftructionem Regalis Perlonae

rection' Dom' Regis ftrictam 6c impartialem in- Regiae fuae Majeftatis, verum etiam total' fubver-

quifition' de praed' confpiratione fecer', 6c fuper fionem Gubernat' 6c verae Religionis apud ipfum

inquifition' ill' declaraver', quod fuiffct horribilis Regem 6c Subditos fuos ftabilit', confpiravifict 6c

confpiratio 6c conjuratio per Papiftas contra per- intendiffet j quodque eaedem deteftabiles machi-

fonam die' Dom' Regis &c Gubernation' fuam, nationes adtunc obftinate per eandem Factionem

quae tunc continuabant •, ac Commun' in eodem profecut' fuer', tam fovendo divifiones int' ejus

Parliamento affemblat' ulterius declaraverunt, quod fideles Subdit' Proteftan', quam per omnes aP

confpiratio 6c conjuratio ill' fupportat' & pro- nequiffimas machinationes, non obftan' quamplu-

fecut' fuiffent per poten' 6c irrequiet' molimi- rimis deteclionibus inde (magna Dei milericordia

na 6c machinationes, praefertim duran' tunc nu- 6c mirabili providentia) tunc nuper in lucem pro-

peris receffib' Parliamenti, 6c poftea in eadem lat', quae omnia tremenda judicia tunc fuer' fu-

Seffjone Parliamenti Dom' Spirituales 6c Tern- per eundem Dom' Regem 6c dittos Subdit' fuos

porales ac Communes in eodem Parliamento af- impendend' pro plurib.us 6c gravibus fuis peccatis,

femblat', eorum humilcm Supplicationem (Angl' quam meritiffitne ac alii' humana ratione praeve-
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niri nequibant, quam per benedictionem Dei par- and', 6c fuperinde prxd' Vicecomcs Stafford de
ticularem fuper confukationes 6c conamina magni altis proditionibus, 6c proditoriis confpirationibus
Concilii ipfius Dom' Regis tunc in Parliamento 6c conjurationibus praed', unde ipfe, uc pisefertur,

aflemblat', eidem Domino Regi humillime fup- impetit' fuit per Dominos Temporales in codem
plicaffent, quod dies maxime folempnit' foret parliamenco convent' ad profecution' Commun"
dedicat',. in quo Rex ipfemet & omnes Subdici hujus regni in parliamento illo aflemblat', in ea-

fui fideles per jejunium & preces Deo omnipoten- dem feflione parliamenti triat', convict', 6c de-

ti reconciliationem conarentur, ac cum cordibus bita juris forma attinct' fuit, prout per record' 6c

humilibus £c pcenitentibus eum implorarent, per procefs' inde inter recorda parliament' remanen'
ejus potentiam 6c bonitatem ad judicia ilia diver- plenius apparet, pofteaque in eadem feflione par-

tend' 6c ad impia confilia 6c machinationes ini- liamenti Willielmus Scrogs Miles, tunc Capit.l*

micorum ipfius Dom' Regis 6c diet' Subdit' fu- Juftic* Dom' Regis ad placita coram ipfo Rege
or' fruftrand*, ac corda fidelium Proteflan' Subdit' tenend' affign' per Communes hujus regni Angl'
diet' Dom' Regis uniend', 6c mifericordiam fuam in eodem parliamento aflemblat' coram magnati-
6c Evangelii fui lumen eidem Domino Regi 6c bus 6c proceribus ejufdem regni in parliamento

dictis Subdit' fuis ^C eor' Pofteritat' continuand', illo convocat' 6c convent' fecundum legem 6c

ac praecipue ad abundantes benedictiones fuas confuetudinem parliamenti accufat' 6c impetit' fuic

fuper ipfum Dom' Regem 6c tunc praefen' Parli- de alta proditione, 6c aliis magnis criminibus 6c

ament' impendend', quod confukationes 6c cona- malegefturis (inter alia) quod ipfe dictus "Williel-

mina eor' honorem, incolumitatem, 6c profperi- mus Scrogs tunc exiften' Capital' Juftic' cur'
x tatem dicto Domino Regi ac populo fuo produ- Domini Regis coram ipfo Rege proditorie 6c ne-

eerent, idem Dominus Rex ad illam eor' humi- quit' conat' fuiffet fubvert' leges fundamental' 6c

lem requifitionem promptiflime inclinavit, ac itabilit' religion' hujus regni Angl', ac loco inde

per illam ejus Regalem Proclamation' manda- introducere Papifmum (Angl' Popery) 6c arbi*

vit generale 6c publicum Jejunium per totum hoc trariam 6c tyrannicam gubernationem contra le-

Regnum obfervari, in tali modo quali poftea per gem, quod ipfe declaraffet per diverfa prodito-

eandem Proclamationem fuit direct' 6c pra^fcripc', ria & improba verba, opiniones, judicia, praxes,

ita quod tarn idem Dominus Rex, quam popu- 6c facta : Ac etiam quod cum fuiffet horribilis

lus fuus preces 6c fupplicationes fuas Deo omni- 6c diabolica confpiratio machinat' 6c profecut'

potenti emitterent ad 6c pro propofitis prasd', per Papiftas pro murdrando Dominum Regem
ac ea intentione, quod tam Religiofum Exerci- nunc, fubvertendo leges & gubernationem hu-
tium ad unum 6c idem tempus performaretur, jus regni, & pro deftruendo religionem Pro-
dictus Dominus Rex per Proclamation' ill* pub- teftan' in eodem regno, qus omnia dictus Wil-
licavit 6c declaravit omnibus Subditis fuis amanti- lielmus Scrogs bene fciviffet, in quantum ipfe-

bus, ac ftricte prscepit 6c mandavit, quod die met non folum triaffet, verum etiam judicium
Mercurii exiften' vicefimo fecundo die Decern- reddidiffet contra feparal* hujufmodi delinquen-

bris tunc inftan' jejunium ill* religiofe obfervat' tium, nihilominus dictus Willielmus Scrogs ad

6c celebrat' foret per Regnum fuum Angl', Do- diverfa tempora 6c loca, tam in cur' feden', quam
minium Wallise, 6c Villain Berwici fuper Twedam, alit', palam defamafTet 6c fcandalizaffet feparal'

6c ut idem cum omni decentia 6c uniformitate de teftibus, qui probaffent dictas proditiones con-

performaretur, idem Dominus Rex per advifa- tra diverfos de confpiratoribus, 6c dediffent evi-

mentum reverend' Epifcopor' fuor' componi, im- dentiam contra diverfas alias perfonas, quse tunc

primi, 6c publicari direxerat talem formam Divi- fuer' minime triat', ac conatus fuiffet detamare

rii Servicii, qual' ipfe apt' uti cenfuerat in omni- (Angl' to difparage) eor' evidenciam, 6c adimere

bus Ecclefiis 6c Locis ad tempus prxd', 6c Epif- credentiam eorum, per quod, quantum in fe fuit,

copis fuis dederat in mandatis ad ill' congru- proditorie 6c nequit'fupprefliffet & fuffbeaflet de-

ent' difpergend'. Quae omnia idem Dominus tectionem dictse Papalis confpirationis, ac ani-

Rex per Proclamationem fuam prasd' reverent' mafic t confpiratores (ad procedend' in eadem) in

6c decent' obfervari expreffe prascepit 6c man- magnum 6c manifeftum periculum facts vitse

davit, per omnes fubdit' fuos amantes, ficut fa- dicti Domini Regis nunc, 6c bene ftabilit' guber-

vorem Dei Omnipotentis refpexer', ac iram 6c nation' 6c religionis hujus regni Angl', prout per

indignation' ejus contra hanc terram evitarent, record' inde inter record' parliament' remanent'

6c fub poena fubeundi tales punitiones, qual' plenius apparet. At etiam in eadem feflione par-

dictus Dominus Rex jufte infligere poffet fuper liamenti, Dom' Spiritual' 6c Temporal', ac Com-
omnes, qui tam religiofum officium contemne- munes in eod' parliamento aflemblat', fe decla-

rent feu negligerent, prout per irrotulament' raver' eis manifeft' efle, quod ad tunc fuic, 6c per

ejufdem proclamationis in cur' Cancellar' ipfius diverfos annos tunc ult' elaps', fuiffet horrenda 6c

Dom' Regis de recordo remanen' plenius appa- proditoria confpiratio 6c conjuratio, machinat' 6c

ret. Qui quidem dies jejunii fecundum formam profecut' per ill* de Papali religione in regno

6c effect' proclamat' prsed' debite 6c folempnit' Hibernias pro trucidatione (Angl' maffacring)

obfervat' 6c celebrat' fuit in 6c per totum hoc reg- Anglor', 6c fubverfion' religionis Proteflan', Sc

num Angl', ac praecipue apud London prsed', in antiquas ftabilit' gubernationis regni illiusj de

parochia fancti Michaelis Baffifhaw. Quodque in qua quidem horrenda 6c proditoria confpiracione

eadem feflione parliamenti ult' mentionat', Com- 6c conjuratione Richardus Power Comes Tyrone

munes hujus regni in eodem parliamento affem- in regno Hiberniae, ad eandem feflion' parliamen-

blat', refolution' fecerunt procedere ad triatio- ti per Communes hujus regni Angl' ,n codem

nem pra*d' Dominor' in prifona Turris London parliamento aflemblat' coram Magnatibus 6c pro-

tune exiften', ficut prasfertur, impetit', 6c ftatim ceribus ejufdem regni Angl' in parliamento illo

incipere cum prjefat' Vicecomite Stafford, ac noti- convocat' 6c convent' fecundum legem &c confuc-

tiam inde Dominis parliamenti illius tunc deder', tudinem parliamenti impetit' fuit, ac inde debite

& eos requifiver' ad convenicn' diem pro tria- onerat' 6c prifona Dom' Regis de le Gate-houfe

tione ejufdem Vicecomitis Stafford appunctu- Weftm' ea occafione commiffus fuit, prout per

record'
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record' inde inter recorda parliament' remanem bernation' fuss, per continual, infernales, & di-

plcnius apparet. Quodque tam Domin', quam abolicas machinaciones Papiftar', & alior' adhae-

Communes in dicto parliament aflemblat' in ea- rentium fuor', ac fcientes nullam viam (fub Deo)
dem feflione parliamenti fuer' praeparantes billas tam effectual' ad prasfervand' Dom' Rcgem, ac

fecundum curium parliament' in leges inactitand' cives & inhabitan' ill' ab extrema ruina 6c de-

pro prasfervatione Domini Regis nunc, & fubdi- ftrudtione minat', quam per celerem feflionem

torum fuorum Proteftan', contra proditorias con- tunc prasfentis parliamen', cujus inopina proro-

fpirationes 6c conjurationes prasdicta penden', gatio magnopere addidit 6c augebat juftos timo-

quibus quidem feparalibus impetitionibus verfus res & fufpiciones animor' didor' peritionarior'
-,

eundem Richardum Power, 6c dictum Willielm' ipfi iidem petitores obfecraver' eidem Com' Con-

Scrogs, ac prasdict' Willielm' Comitem Powis, cilio, fie ut praefertur afTemblat', ad informand'

Henncum Dominum Arundel de Wardour, Wil- Regiam Majeftatem de ill' eor' timoribus 6c ap-

lielm' Dom' Petre, 6c Johannem Dom' Bellafis, prehenfionibus, ac quod fuit humile 6c fervens

minime determinat', ac eifdem Willielm' Comite defiderium, tam eoi' petitor', qium ipfor' Majo-

Powis, Henrico Domino Arundel de Wardour, ris & Aldermannor', ac Communiar' de Com'
"Willielm' Dom' Petre, Johanne Dom' Beliafis, Concilio i!lo, quod Regias fuas Majeftati placercr,

& Richardo Power in prifon' Domini Regis ex pro totali fruftratione impior' 6c fanguinolentor'

caufis prasd', ut prasfertur, exiften', idem parlia- propofitor' inimicor' fuor', ad permittend' ill'

ment', fuper prasd' decimum diem Januani, an- tunc prasfens pirliamentum, quod extitit proro

legavit, abfq; aliqua triatione dictor' Willielm' Papifm', ac reformaret (Angl' redrefj'ed) inulti-

Comit' Powis, Henric' Dom' Arundel de War- plicia gravamina, fub quibus tunc gemuir, 6c pro

dour Willielm' Dom' Petie, Johan' Dom' Bel- immediata fecuritate fua, quod iidem Major &
lads Willielm' Scrogs, 6c Richard' Power, feu Alderman', ac Communiarii de Com' Concilio

eorum alicujus, de altis prodition', & aP prasmif- ill', ordinarent quodcunque aliud, quod neceffai'

fis (unde ipfi refpedtive, ut prasfertur, impetit' 6c expedien' eis videretur in iil;> tempore periculi

fuer' ac qui aliter quam in parliament' inde tri- imminen', pro incolumitate mngnas civitatis illms.

ari non potuer') fad' five habit', ac antequam Et quia per legem terras hujus regni Angl 1

lici-

hujufmodi billas in leges inaclitat' fuer' : Quae turn eft lubdic' Dom' Regis in anguftiis 6c diffi-

quidem oratio dicti Dom' Regis, ac declarationes cultatib' ibis ad humilit' fupplicand' Dom' Regi,

& proceflus Dom' 6c Commun' parliamenti illius, pro remedio congruo in ea parte habend', prasd*

duran' dicta feflione ejufdem parliament', ut pras- die Jovis decimo tertio die Januarii, anno regni

fertur fact', ante eandem prorogationem parlia- diet' Dom' Regis nunc tricefimo fecundo fupra-

meiui illius publicat' fuer', videl', apud London dicV, prasd' Patient' Ward Miles, tunc Major

prasd' in prasdi&a parochia fancti Michaelis Baf- prasd' civitatis London, & Alderman' ejufdem ci-

fiftiaw ratione quorum quidem prasmifTor', cives vitat', fcil', Thomas Alleyn Miles 6c Bar', Jo-

& inhabitan' prasd' civitatis London, fideles fubdit' hannes Fredericke Miles, Johannes Lawrence

dicti Dom' Regis nunc exiften' maxime perterriti, Miles, Georgius Waterman Miles, Jofephus Shel-

ve in animis affecli, ac quam plurimum inqui- don Miles, Jacobus Edwards Miles, Robertus

etat' fuer' profundo fenfu 6c apprehenfione mag- Clayton Mle?, Johannes Moore Miles, Guliel-

nor' periculor' perfonas Dom' Regis nunc, 6c gu- mus Pritchard Miles, Henricus Tulfe Miles, Ja-

bernationi fuas hujus regni, ac religioni Prote- cobus Smith Miles, Robertus Jeffrey Miles, Jo-

ftan' 6c proftfloribus ejufdem, occafione confpi- hannes Shorter Miles, Thomas Gould Miles,

ration' prasd' impenden' 6c imminen', non aliter Gulieimus Rawfterne Miles, Thomas Beckford

Cprout per Dom' Spirituales 6c Temporales, ac Miles, Johannes Chapman Miles, Simon Lewis

Communes in dido parliamento affemblat', in Miles, Thomas Pilkington Arm', 6c Henricus

fupplicatione fua prasd', per Dom' Regem in pro- Cornifh Arm', ac Communiarii feu Cives de

clamat' piasd', ut prasfert', publicat' affirmat') hu- Com 5

Concilio diet' civitatis, in Com' Concilio

mana ration' evitand', quam per benedictionem fuo infra eandem civitatem, fcil', in prasd' ca-

Dei particularem fuper contultationes & conami- mera Guildhall civitatis iliius ad tunc fecund' con-

na eiufdem parliamenti, quidam cives 6c inhabi- fuetudinem diet' civitatis aflemblat', vora & fuf-

tantes ejufdem civitatis, nomine civium 6c inha- fragia fua, ex animis Dom' Regi perfidelib', &L

bitantium diet' civitatis, ante petitionem inde in pro fatisfaction' civium 6c inhabitan' ejufdem ci-

prasdi6to placito prasd' Attorn' general' fuperius vitat', qui petitionem eis in forma prasd' exhi-

replicando placitat' fpec' fact', feu fieri ordinat', buifTent, pro allevatione timoris 6c apprehenfio-

fcil', prasd' decimo tertio die Januarii, anno reg- nis, 6c inquietudims illor', ac ea intentione,

ni diet' Dom' Regis nunc tricefimo fecundo fu- quantum in fe fuit, pro prnslervatione perfonas

pradict', Patient' Vv'ard Mil', tunc Majori civita- Dom' Regis nunc, 6c gubernation' fuas hujus

tis London, 6c Alderman' did' civitatis, ac Com- regni Angl', 6c religionis Proteftan', deder', ac

nruniariis five Civib' de Com' Concilio ejufdem nemine contradicente agreaver' & ordinavev',

civitatis, in Communi Concilio adtunc in prasdicta quod quasdam petitio fub nomine ipfor' Majoris,

camera Guildhall ejufdem civitatis, in parochia Alderman', 6c Commun' civitatis London in

fancti Michaelis Baflifhaw prasd', fecundum con- Communi Concilio aflemblat', ditto Domino

fuetudinem di6te civitatis aflemblat', exhibuer' Regi nunc cxhibita force; cujus quidem peti-

quandam petitionem, continen', quod ipfi cives tionis tenor fcquitur in his Anglicanis verbis

& inhabitan' civitat* London, profunde fenfibles videlicet, To the King's mofi Excellent Majejly

:

exiften' de malis 6c exitiis fuper hanc nationem in 7he humble Petition of the Lord Mayor, jidsr-

generali, ac ill' civitatem London in particulari »?w, and Commons of the City of London in

penden', in refpect' periculi perfonas Dom' Regis Common Council affnnlled, molt humbly fiewb,

nunc, religion' Proteftan', 6c bene ftabilit' gu- 1'hat your Majeflfs- Great Council m Parliament

having
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having in their late Sejfion, in purfuance of your whatever elfe is dear to them, and to flrengthen

Majefly's Direblion, entred upon a ftricl and impar- your Majefty againft all Popijh and pernicious Coun-
tial Inquiry into the horrid and execrable Popijh fiels, which any ill affetled Perfons may piefume to

Plot, which hath been for feveral Tears lafl paft, offer : 'they do therefore moft humbly pray, that
and fill is carried on, for the Deftrutlion of your your Majefty will be gracioufly pleafed (as the only

Majefly's Sacred Perfon and Government, and Ex- means to quiet the Minds, and extinguifh the Fears
tirpation of the Proteftant Religion, and the utter of your Proteftant People, and prevent the eminent
Ruin of your Majefly's Proteftant Subjects: And Dangers which threaten your Majefly's Kingdoms
having fo far proceeded therein, as juftly to attaint, and particularly this -your great City, which hath
upon full Evidence, one of the five Lords impeached already fo deeply fujfered for the fame) to permit
for the fame, and were in further Profecution of the your faid Parliament to fit from the Day to which
remaining four Lords, and other Confpirators there- they are prorogued, until by their Counfels and En-
in : And as well the Lords Spiritual and Temporal, deavours thofe good Remedies fhall be provided, and
as the Commons in your faid Parliament affembled, thofe juft Ends attained, upon which the Safety of
having declared, That they are fully fatisfied that your Majefifs Perfon, the Prefervation of the Pro-
there now is, and for divers Years lafl paft, hath tefiant Religion, the Peace and Settlement of your
been a horrid and treafonable Plot and Confpiracy Kingdoms, and the Welfare of this your ancient City,

contrived and carried on by thofe of the Popijh Re- do fo abfolutely depend ; for the purfuing and obtain-

ligion in Ireland, for Maffacring the Englifh, ing of which good Effeels, your Petitioners unani-
and fubverting the Proteftant Religion, and the an- moufly do offer their Lives and Eftates, and fhall
tient eflablifhtd Government of that Kingdom: And ever pray, Sec. Ac adtunc & ibidem uferius
your faid Commons having impeached the Earl of agreavev' & ordinaver', quod petitio ill' p ft

Tyrone, in order to the bringing him to Juftice for przefentation' inde eidem Dom' Regi, imprefla
the fame, and having under Examination other Con- foret per talem perfonam, quaP dictus tunc Major
fpirators in the faid Irifh Plot : And your faid Com- civitat' London pised' appuncfuaret ; qua qui-
mons having likewife impeached Sir William Scrogs, dem petitio fie fuit imprimi ordinat', ea inten-

Chief Juftice of your Majefly's Court of King's Bench, tione, quod publicatio falfor' rumor' & relation*

for Treafon, and other great Crimes and Mifde- de & concernen' prasd' petition' dicto Domino
meanors, in endeavouring to fubvert the Laws of Regi exhibit' evitaretur, inimici D mini Regis,
this Kingdom by his arbitrary and illegal Proceed- & confpiratores prasd', a procedendo in conipi-
ings-y and having voted Impeachments againft feve- ratione fua praed' deterrerenrur, perturbations,
ral other fudges for the like Mifdemeanors, your quas boni Sc fideles fubditi dititi Domini Regis
Petitioners, confidering the continual Hazards to nunc in animis fuis ex caufis pr^dictis concepif-
which your Sacred Life and the Proteftant Re- fent, alleviarentur, & cives & inhabitan' ejuldem
ligion, and the Peace of the Kingdom are expofed, civitat' melius fcirent quid factum fuiffet in dicto

while the Hopes of a Popijh Succefj'or gives Counte- Communi Concilio de materia in petitione prxd'
nance and Encouragemenf to the Confpirators, in their eidem Communi Concilio, ut prarfertur, exhbit'
wicked Deftgns : And confidering alfo the Difquiet content'. Quodque prasd' petitio dicto Dm'
and dreadful Apprehenfions of your good Subjecls, by Regi fie praefentari agreat', poftea (fcil', prsed'

Reafon of the Miferies and Mifchiefs which threaten decimo tertio die Januarii, anno tricefimo fecundo
them on all Parts, as well from Foreign Powers, fupradicto) eidem Dom' Regi humilJime praden-
as from the Confpiracies within your feveral King- tat' fuit, videlicet, apud London prasd', in pras-

doms, againft which no fufficient Remedy can be dicta parochia fancti Michaelis BafTiihaw, ac po-
provided but by your Majefty ; and your Parliament Ilea (Icil', decimo quinto die ejufdem menfis Ja-
were extremely fiurprized at the late Prorogation, nuarii) per Samuelem Roycroft, quern dictus

whereby the Profecution of the publick Juftice of the Patient' Ward tunc Major civitat' London ad inde

Kingdom, and the making the Provifions neceffary appunctuavit, impreffa fuit juxta ordinem pixd*
for the Prefervation of your Majefty, and your Pro- in ea parte fact', videlicet, apud London prazd',

teftant Subjecls, have received an Interruption. And in parochia prsedict'3 quse quidem petitio, &
they are the more affetled herewith, by reafon of imprcfiio inde in forma predict', & ea ex caufa

the Experience they have had of the great Progrefs prasd' fact', funt eaedem petitio, & imprefiio, &
which the emboldened Confpirators have formerly publicario inde in prsed' placito prsed Attorn'

made in their Defigns, during the late frequent Re- generalis fuperius replicando placitat' fpec' : Abf-

ceffes of Parliament ; but that which fupports them que hoc, quod aliqua petitio de vel concernen'

againft Defpair is, the Hopes they derive from your prorogation' parliamenti prsed' fact', ordinat',

Majefly's Goodnefs, that your Intention was and publicat', feu imprefs' fuit, alit' vel alio modo,
does continue by this Prorogation to make way for quam iidem Major & Communitas, ac Cives ci-

your better Concurrence with the Counfels of your vitat' London fuperius allegaver', prout idem
Parliament. And your Petitioners humbly hope, Attorn' generalis pro dicto Domino Rege fupe-

that your Majefty will not take Offence that ytur rius fuppon' ; & hoc fimiliter parat' funt verifi-

Subjecls are thus zealous, and even impatient of the care. Unde iidem Major & Communitas, ac

leafi delay of the long hoped for Security, whilfi Cives civitat' London non intendunt, quod ipfi

they fee your precious Life invaded, the true Reli- per aliqua prasallegnt' prasd' libertat', privileg',

gion undermined, their Families and innocent Pofte- & franchis' fore de feipfis unum corpus corporat'

rity likely to be fubjetled to Blood, Confufion, and & politicum in re, facto, 2c nomine, per nomen
Ruin, and all thefe Dangers increafed by reafon of Majoris & Communitat', ac Civium civitat' Lon-
the late Endeavours of your Majefty and your Par- don, ac per idem nomen placitare & implacitari,

liament, which have added Provocation to the Con- refpondere ac refponderi, per ipfos fuperius, uc

fpiratorsy but have had little or no effebl towards pra-fertur, clam it' forisfecer', ac, ut priu 1

?, pet*

fecuring againft them; and they truft your Majefty judicium, & quod libertat', privileg', & franchis'

will gracioufly accept of this Difcovery, and Define ill' eis & tuccefforibus fuis in perpetuum de-

of their loyal Hearts to prefierve your Majefly^ and inceps alloccntur & adjudicentur, ac quid ipfi,

quoad
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quoad prasmifs' UP, ab hac cur' dimittantur, poftea, & a tempore cujus contrar' memoria ho=
&c. minum non exiftit' minime feifit' fuer', feu ad-
Et quoad exit' int' Dom'_Regem, 8t Major' hue feific' exiftunt de & in publicis mercatis

& Communitat', ac Cives civitat' London fuperi- praed' in dominico fuo, ut de feodo, nee per to-
ils in forma praed' juncV, idem Attorn' di6l' Dom' turn idem tempus fumptibus fuis propriis prov-i-

Regis nunc general' dicit, quod Major & Com- derunt, feu providere confucver' & debuei' fora
munitas, ac Cives civitat' London praed', funt mercatoria, five loca ubi hujufmodi mercata tent'

partes Defendentes, vers' quos idem Attorn' dicti fuer' quotiefcunq; necefle fuic, ftallas, ftationes, &
Dom' Regis nunc general' profecut' eft informa- alias accommodationes pro perfonis ad eadem mer-
tion' praed', & ea de caufa pet' breve Vicecom' catavenien' cum viclualibus Scprovifionibus ibidem
Hertf. (exiften' Com' civit' pried' prox' adjacen') vendend',promeliori 8c magisconveniend Vendition'
dirigend' de Venire fac' coram Dom' Rege duo- 8c expofition' eorundem, prout praed' Major &
decim, &c. de vicineto Vill' de Hertf. in Com' Communitas, ac Cives fuperius rejungendo alle-

praed', quae quidem Villa de Hertf. in Com' gaver'; proteftandoq; etiam, quod rat' praed' per-

praed' eft villa & vifn' in Com' Hertf. prox' ad- a£tum five ordination' praed', ut praefertur, foiv'i

jacen' civit' London praed'. Et quia praed' Ma- ordinat' praed', tempore confectionis ordinationis

jor & Communitas ac Cives civitat' praed' hoc non illius, & extunc hucufq; non fuer' rationabiles,

dedicunt, ideo praecept' eft Vic' com' Hertf. nee adhuc rationabiles exiftunt, prout iidem Ma-
praed', quod Venire fac' coram Dom' Rege a jor & Communitas, ac Cives fuperius fimiliter alle-

praed' die fan£ti Michaelis in tres feptiman' ubi- gaverunt. Pro placito tamen idem Attorn' diet'

cunq; &c. duodecim, t$c. de vicineto praed', per Domin' Regis nunc generalis dicit, quod per
quos, &c. & qui, &c. ad recogn', &c. quia tarn, quendam actum in parliamento d:cV Rom' Re-
is>c. Idem dies dat' eft tarn praefat' Roberto Saw- gis nunc tent' apud Weftmonafter' per feparales

yer Miles, qui fequitur, &ti quam praedicV Ma- prorogationes, decimo quarto die Februarii, anno
jori & Communitat', ac Civibus civitat' London regni diet.' Dom' Regis nunc vicefimo fecundo
praedicV, &c. Et praed' Attorn' dicti Dom' Re- (inter alia) inadtitat' fuit, ad finem quod apti &
gis nunc general', quoad placitum praefat' Major' commodi loci infra didtam civitat' 8c libertat' ejuf-

& Communitat' ac Civium civitat' London praed' dem, extrapofit' & appundtuat' forent pro re-

fuperius rejungendo placitat', pet' inde diem in- aedificand' 8c cuftodiend' mercata ampliori conve-
terloquendi coram didto Dom' Rege, a die fandti nientia quam antea fuer', ita quod principals ftra-

Michaelis in tres feptiman' ubicunq> 13c. 5c ei tae non forent impedit' (Angl' peftred) & obftrucV

conceditur, fjjV. idem dies dat' eft praefat' Majori & perinde, prout antea confuet' fuit, & quod Re-
Communitat', ac Civibus civit' London praed', gale Excambium, Guildhall, le Seflions Houfe in

&c. ad quas quidem tres feptim' fandti Michaelis le Old Baily, 8c commun' gaolae & prifonae infra

coram didto Dom' Rege apud Weftm' venit tarn praed' civitat', forent amplificat' & facV magis
praefat' Robcrtus Sawyer Miles, qui fcquitur, commoda pro publicis ufu & ornament' Civitatis,

&c. quam praed' Major 8c Communitas, ac Cives & melius fecuritand' a periculo & cafualitate con-

civitat' London praed' per Attorn' fuum praed'. fiagrationis, & quod aliquae convenien' diftantiae,

Et praed' Vic' com' Hertf. non mifit inde breve, intervall' 8c circuitus fundi forent relict' inter Re-
ideo ficut alias praecept* eft Vic' com' Hertf. gal' Excambium, 8c alias domos aedificand' infra

praed', quod venire fac' coram didto Dom' Re- civitat' praed', quod Major, Aldermanni, & Com-
ge in odtab' fandti Hilar' ubicunque, &V. duo- mun' civitat' praed' in Commun' Concilio affem-

decim, &c. de vicineto de villa Hertf. praed', &V. blat' impenderent (Angl' jhould and might employ)

per quos, &c. Sc qui, &c. ad recogn', &c. quia 8c per actum praed' authoritat' fuer' impendere

tam, &c. idem dies dat' eft tarn praefat' Roberto talia loca 8c portion' fundi infra Civicat' praed'

Sawyer Militi, qui fcquitur, &c. quam praedict' 8c libertat' ejufdem, prout per & cum dicti Dom'
Majori 8c Communitat', ac Civibus civitat' Lon- Regis nunc approbation' tunc fuer', vel ante de-

don, &c. cimum diem Martii, millefimo fexcentefimo fexa-

Et praed' Attorn' did' Dom' Regis nunc gene- gefimo nono, forent extrapofit' 8c adjudicat' ne-

ral', qui, &c. quoad placitum ipforum Major' 8c ceffar' & convenien', tam pro publicis mercatis

Communitat', ac Civium civitat' praed', quoad ibidem, quam etiam pro ornamento, amplifica-

confedtionem & publicationem legis pro levatione tione, 8c convenien' praed' Regal' Excambii, 8c

denariorum de perfonis ad publica mercata infra aliorum locorum praementionat', & cujuflibet vel

civitat' praed' tent' cum vidtualibus 8c provifionibus alicujus eorundem refpedtive, 8c ad intention',

ibidem vendend' acceden', ac exactionem 8c le- quod rationabilis fatisfadtio dat' foret proprietary

vationem hujufmodi denar' fuperius fieri fuppofit' 8c aliis habent' aliquem ftatum five interefle iri

per ipfos Majorcm 8c Communit', ac Cives, fupe- fundis 8c locis, quae fuifient vel forent extrapo-

rius rejungendo placitat', pro eodem Dom' Re- fit', capiend' 8c occupand' pro publicis locis mer-

ge nunc dicit, quod per aliqua per ipfos fu- catoriis, praed' Major, Aldermann', Sc Commun',
perius inde allegat' libertat', privileg', 8c fran- per ipfos, vel alios in ea parte fore appundtuat'

chis' fore de feipfis unum corpus corporat' 5c 8c authorizat', tradtarent 8c agrearent cum pro-

politicum in re, fadto, & nomine, per nomen prietar' 8c al' intereflat' in eifdem, 8c in cafu vo-

Majoris 8c Communitat', ac Civium civitat' Lon- luntariae recufationis, five alicujus talis inhabilita-

don, ac per idem nomen placitare 8c implacitari, tis, five impediment' qual' in quodam al' adtu

refpondere ac refponderi per ipfos fuperius, ut parliamenti in eodem adtu fpecificat', pro re-aedi-

praefertur, clamat', eifdem Majori 8c Communi- ficatione civitat' London, nuper antea facl', men-

tat' ac Civibus allocari non debent, quia prote- tionat' fuer', feu alius incarucitat' cujufcunqj in

ftanc

Cives

Septcmbr..

rcplicatione praed' mentionat', necnon continue quifit' caufarc jur' fore impannellat' in tal' mo-
do
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do Sc forma, prout per actum prsed' direct' &
appunctuat' fuit, ita quod null' duo jur' prsed' fie

fore impannellat' venirenc ex una & eadcrn warda,

adjudicare & affidere qual' compenfation', & fa-

tisfaction' in quibuflibet cafibus prsed' forent ad-

judicat', & dat' refpectivis proprietar', 6c aliis

interefTat' in fundis & locis fie extrapofit', capi-

end' 6c occupand' pro aliquibus ufibus vel pro-

pofitis, ut prsefertur, in profecutione ejufdem

actus, fecundum tal' eorum refpectivos flatus 6c

interefs'. Ec ukerius inactkat' fuit, quod pro om-
nimodis carbonibus, quae ab 6c poft primum di-

em Maii, millefimo fexcentefimo 6c feptuagefi-

mo, & ance vicefimum nonum diem Septcmbris,

qui forec in anno Dom' millefimo fexcentefimo

octogefimo feptimo, forent importat' & adduct'

in prsed' portum civitat' London, feurivumTha-
mefis, infra libertat' civitat' prsed' fuper eundem
rivum, folut' foret per viam impofitionis fuper-

inde, fecund' ratas poflea mentionat' (videl') pro

omnibus tal' carbonibus, qual' ibi importat' &
induct' forent ab 6c poft primum diem Maii, mil-

lefimo fexcentefimo 6c feptuagefimo, & ante vi-

cefimum quartum diem Junii, millefimo fexcen-

tefimo feptuagefimo feptimo, folut' foret pro qua-

libet celdar' feu tonna inde duos folidos ultra im-

pofition' duodecim denar' pro celdar' feu ton-

na per prsed' actum pro re-sedificatione 'civi-

tat' London appunctuat' folvend', & pro omni-

bus tal' carbonibus, quse ibidem importat* 6c

induct' forent ab & poft prsedict' vicefimum
quartum diem Junii, millefimo fexcentefimo

feptuagefimo feptimo, 6c ante prsed' vice-

fimum nonum diem Septembris, millefimo fex-

centefimo octogefimo feptimo, folut' forent pro

qualibet celdar' five tonna inde tres folidos ; 6c

iidem, vigore actus prsed', forent collect', levat'

6c folut' in tali forma 6c modo, in omni & quo-

libet refpectu, prout in & per prsed' priorem

actum fuit limitnt' 6c appunctuat' pro collectio-

ne & levatione debit' duodecim denar' pro cel-

dar', five tonna carbonum impofit' per prio-

rem actum prsed', 6c omnes & quaflibet poteftat',

authoritat', directiones, 6c provifion' in vel per

prsed' priorem actum mentionat', vel provis' pro

levatione 6c collectione inde: Omnefq; quidem
denar' fie recipiend', fuper comput' prsed' re-

fpectivarum impofition', feu earum ukerius de

tempore in tempus forent folut' in receptu Ca-
meras civitat' London, & abinde forent emanat'

6c folut' fecundum directionem & appunctua-
tion' prsed' actus de anno vicelimo fecundo fupra-

dicto, 6c non aliterj & prsed' Camera civitat'

London ftaret & onerat' foret cum toto refid'

denar' prsed' ibidem folut', qui non fie emanat'
forent 6c folut.' Et ukerius inactkat' fuit, quod
omnes 6c quselibet fumma & fummse monet',
quae levat' foret fuper reception' feparal' & re-

fpectivarum impofition' prsed', five per tal' addi-
tional' debit' in cafu concealament' inde, prout
per prsed' priorem actum appunctuat' fuit, fo-

ret occupat' 6c difpofit' modo & forma fequen'

(videl') una quarta pars omnium denarior', quse

ab & poft prsed' primum diem Maii, millefimo
fexcentefimo & feptuagefimo, 6c ante prsed' vi-

cefimum quartum diem Junii, millefimo fex-

centefimo feptuagefimo feptimo, forent levat',

five folubil' fuper reception' prsed' impofition'
duorum folid' pro qualibet celdar' vel tonna
carbonum, feu in cafu concealament' inde, ut prse-

fertur, foret occupat' 8c difpofit' pro 6c erg* fa-

tisfaction' pro fundis extrapofit' & occupat' pro
amplificationc ftratarum, confection' wharfarum
6c portuum, publicorum mercatorum locorum, &
aliorum publicorum ufuum, tarn in actu ill'

quam in actu prserecitat', mentionat', & appunctuat'
6c quod una medietas omnium denar', qui ab 6c
poft vicefimum quartum diem Junii, millefimo
fexcentefimo feptuagefimo feptimo, forent le-

vat' feu folubil' fuper prsed' impofit' trium fo-

lid' pro celdar' vel tonna carbonum, de tempo-
re in tempus foret occupat' & difpofit' pro fatif-

factione pro fundo extrapofit', & . occupat', ut
prsefertur, &c tal' al' publicis ufibus 6c propofit',
qual' in actu ill', 6c in actu prserecitat' fuer' men-
tionat' 6c appunctuat', prout per eundem actum
de anno vicefimo fecundo fupradicto (inter al')

plenius liquet & apparet. Et prsed' Attorn' diet*

Dom' Regis nunc general', qui, &rV. pro eodem
Dom* Rege nune ukerius dick, quod virtute
actus illius iidem Major &c Communitas, ac Ci-
ves civitat' London prsed', ante confectionem 6c
publicationem legis prsed', fcilicet, primo die Sep-
tembris, anno regni dicti Dom' Regis nunc vi-
cefimo fexto fupradicto, apud London prsed*, in

parochia 6c warda prsed', habuer' 6> receper' pro
debito 6c vectigali prsed' de duobus folidis pro
qualibet celdar' five tonna carbonum in civitat'

London, five portum ejufdem importat', ingent'
denariorum fummam ad propofita prsed'. Et ul-
terius idem Attorn' Dom' Regis nunc general',
qui, &c. pro eodem Dom' Rege nunc dick,
quod Major 6c Communitas, ac Cives civitat' Lon-
don, abfque aliquo jure, titulo, five authoritat'
quibufcunque, prsemiflis prsed' non obftantibus,
prsed' die Jovis, fcilicet, prsed' decimo feptimo
die Septembris, anno regni dicti Dom' Regis nunc
vicefimo fexto fupradict', in eorum Commun'
Concilio adtunc tent' in camera Guildhall civitat'

London prsed', videlicet, in parochia fan£H Micha-
elis Baffifhaw London, infimul afTemblat', fecer',

condider', & publicaver' prsed' legem per ipfos

de facto inactkat', pro levatione feparal' denar'
fummar' prsed', de omnibus fubdkis ac ligeis

Dom' Regis nunc, tarn liberisquam non liberis ho-
minibus civitat' prsed', 6c aliis extraneis ad publica
mercat' infra civit' prsed' tent' acceden' cum victual'

& provifionibus fuis ibidem vendend', aceafdem fe-

paral' denar' fummas, fub folo colore 6c prsetextu
legis prsed' fie per ipfos, pro eorum privato lu-

cro 6c commodo, illegalker fact', 6c abfque aliquo
alio jure, titulo, five authoritat' quibufcunque,
per prsed' fpatium feptem annorum poft prsed'
decimum feptimum diem Septembris, anno vice-
fimo fexto fupradicto prox' fequen', 6c amplius,
apud London prsed', in parochia prsed', de om-
nibus diet' Dom' Regis ligeis 6c fubdkis ad prsed'

publica mercata, per totum tempus prsed', infra

civitat' prsed' tent', cum victual' 6c provifionibus

ibidem vendend' accedentibus, exeger' 6c leva-

ver', 6c exigi 6c levari fecer', 6c denar' ill' ad
eorum proprios ufus, converterunt 6c difpofue-
runt, in fubverfion' boni regi minis be guberna-
tion' civitatis prsed', 6c in magnam oppreffion'

6c depauperation' omnium dicti Dom' Regis
nunc ligeorum, ad mercata prsed' cum vi6tualibus

6c provifionibus fuis acceden' 6c venien', ad grave
dampnum 6c nocumentum omnium ligeorum 6c
fubditorum dicti Domini Regis, in augmentation'
preciorum omnium victual' 6c provifion* in mer-
cata prsed' vendit', ac in dicti Domini Regis nunc
6c coronse fuseRegiseexhseredationem manifeftam,

ac
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ac contra fiduc' in ipfis, ut corpore corporat' vitat' London prsed' de prsemiffis convincantur,
& politic', per Dom' Regem ac leges hujus regni 6c de libertat', privileg', & franch* ill' adjudi-
Angl' repofit', prout prsed' Attorn' diet' Dom' ccntur 6c excludantur, &c.
Regis nunc generalis pro eodem Dom' Rege
nunc fuperius replicando allegavit j abfque hoc, Et prsed' Major & Communitas, ac Cives civit'
quod prsed' Major 6c Communitas, ac Cives civi- prsed', quoad moration' in lege prsefat' Attorn'

reduct', prout per placitum ipforum Majoris & materiam in lege in eod' placito fuo ad ipfos
Communitat', ac Civium civitat' London prsed' Majorem 6c Communitat', ac Cives civitat' Lon-
fuperius rejungendo fupponitur. Et hoc idem don ad clamand' prsed' libertat', privileg', &
Attorn' General' pro eodem Dom' Rege nunc franchis' fore de feipfis unum corpus corporat'
parat' eft verificare; unde 6c ex quo iidem Major & politicum in re, facto, 6c nomine, per nomen
& Communitas, ac Cives, libertat', privileg' & Major' & Communitat', ac Civium civitat' Lon-

nunc pet' judicium, 6c quod prsed' Major & fuperius allegaver', quam ipfi parat' funt verifi-

Communitas, ac Cives civitat' London prsed', de care, quam quid' materiam prsed' Attorn' die'

prsemiffis convincantur, ac de libertat', privi- Dom' Regis nunc general', pro eodem Dom'
Jeg' 6c franchis' ill' abjudicentur £c excludantur, Rege non didicit, nee ad earn aliqualit' refpond',

&fc. fed verification' ill' admittere omnino recufat, ut.

Et quoad placitum prsefat' Majoris 6c Commu- prius, pet' judicium. Et quod libertat', privi-

nitat', ac Civium civit' London prsed' fuperius leg', & franchis' ill' eis 6c fucceffbribus fuis de-
rejungendo placitat', quoad refid' prsed' placiti inceps allocentur 8c adjudicentur, & quod ipfi,

prsefat' Attorn' general' in affign' forisfadtur', ut quoad prsemifs' ill', ab hac cur' dimittantur, &c.
prsefertur, fuperius replicando placitat' idem At- Et quoad prsed' placit' prsed' Attorn' Dom'
torn' did' Dom' Regis nunc general', proteftan- Regis nunc general' pro eod' Dom' Rege, quo-
do, quod prsed' prorogatio dicti parliamenti per ad confection' 6c publication' legis pro levatione

prsefat' Dom' Regem fuit pro diverfis neceffar' denar' de perfon' ad publica mercata infra civit'

& urgentibus caufis, bonum 6c utilitatcm dicti prsed' tent' cum victual' 6c provifionibus ibidem
Dom' Regis 6c regni fui concernen', & fecun- vendend' acceden', ac exaction' & levation' hu-
dum veram 6c indubitat' prserogativam 8c pote- jufmodi denar' fuperius fieri fuppofit' fuperius

itatem dicti Dom' Regis nunc; 6c per eandem rejungend' placitat', iidem Major 8c Communi-
prorogationem profecutio publicse juftitise regni, tas, ac Cives civit' prsed' (ut prius) dicunt, quod
6c prseparationis (Angl' the making Provi/ions) ne- Major & Communitas, ac Cives civit' London
ceffar'

* pro prsefervation' diet' Dom' Regis, 6c prsed', a tempore cujus contrar' memor' horn'

ejus fubditorum Proteftantium, non recepiffent ncn exiftit, habuer', & habere confuever', ratio-

obttructionem (Angl' Interruption) prout per pe- nabil' tolnet', ratas, live denar' fummas de om-
titionem prsed' per vota 6c fuffragia prsefat' Ma- nibus perfon' ad mercat' prsed' cum victual' 6s

joris 6c Communitat', ac Civium civitat' prsed' provifion' ibidem vendend' tenend' pro itallis,

in dicto Communi Concilio affemblat', fie ut prse- ftationibus, 6c al' accommodation' per eas pro

fertur ordinat', falfe 6c malitiofe allegatur j pro vendition', expofitione hujufmodi victual' & pro-

placito tamen idem Attorn' general' pro eodem vifion' in mercat' ill' habit', 8c de hoc pon' fe

Dom' Rege nunc die', quod placitum prsefat' fuper patriam.

Majoris & Communit', ac Civium civitat' London
prsed' fuperius rejungendo in ea parte placitat', Et prsed' Robertus Sawyer Mil', Attorn' die'

materiaque in eodem content' minime fufficien' Dom' Regis nunc general', qui pro eod' Dom'
in lege exiftunt ad ipfos Majorem 6c Communit', Rege in hac parte fequitur, die', quod placitum

ac Cives civitat' prsed' ad clamand' libertat', pri- prsed' prsefat' Major' 6c Communitat', ac Civium
vileg', & franchis' prsed', fore de feipfis corpus civit' London prsed' fuperius repellando placitat\

corporat' 6c politicum in re, facto, 6c nomine, materiaque in eod' content' minus fufficien' in

per nomen Majoris 6c Commun', ac Civium civ' lege exiftunt ad ipfos M.jor' 6c Communitat', ac

London prsed', ac per idem nomen placit' 6c Cives civit' prsed' ad clamand' libertat', privileg',

implacit', refp' 8c refponderi, fibi allocand', feu 8c franchh' prsed', fore de feipfis unum corpus

adjudicand' manuten'. Quodq-, ipfe idem Attorn' corporat' 6c politicum in re, facto, 6c nomine,

gener' ad placitum ill' modo 6c forma prsed' pla- per nomen Major' 6c Communitat', ac Civium

citat' pro eodem Dom' Reg' nunc neceffe non civitat' London prsed', ac per id;m nomen pla-

habet, nee per legem terrse tenetur aliquo modo citare 6c implacitari, refpondere 6c refponderi fibi

refpondere. Et hoc idem Attorn' did' Dom' allocand' feu adjudicand' manutenend', ad quod

Regis nunc general' pro eodem Dom' Rege quidem placitum modo 6c forma prsed' placitat',

nunc parat' eft verificare. Unde pro defectu fuf- idem Attorn' die' Dom' Regis nunc general' ne-

ficien' placiti ipforum Majoris 6c Communitat', ceffe non habet, nee per legem tense tenctur

ac Civium civitat' prsed' in hac parte idem At- aliquo modo refpondere, pro eo, quod iidem

torn' dicti Dom' Regis nunc general' pro eodem Major 6c Communitas, ac Cives civit' prsed' jva

Dom' Rege nunc, ut prius, pet* judicium, 6c offender' quanta vel qualia tolnet', ratas, five

quod prsed' Major 6c Communitas, ac Cives ci- denar' fummas, iidem Major 6c Communit i*, ac

Vol. VI. F Cives
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Gives civit' London praed', a tempore cujus con- lege, unde tarn praed' Attorn' die' Dom' Regis

trar' memor'hominumnonexillit', habuer', necal- nunc general', quam praed' Major 8c Communi-
legaver' quod ipfi unquam habuer' tolnet', rat', tas, ac Cives civitat' praed' pofuer' fe in judic*

five denar' fummas per ipfos fuperius fuppofit' cur' ; fed quia cur' die' Dom' Regis nunc hie de

fore per legem fuam praed' fore reducV in certi- judic' fuo de 8c fuper praemiflis reddend' nondura
tudinem ; & hoc idem Attorn' die' Dom' Regis advifatur, dies inde dat' eft tarn praefat' Roberto
nunc general' pro eodem Dom' Rege parat' eft Sawyer Mil*, Attorn' die' Dom' Regis nunc ge-

verificare ; unde pro defe&u fufficien' placiti praed' neral', qui pro eodem Dom' Rege in hac parte

in hac parte, idem Attorn' die' Dom' Regis nunc fequitur, quam praed' Major' 8c Communitat', ac

general' pro eodem Domino Rege, ut prius, pet' Civibus civitat' London, £siY. coram Dom' Rege
judicium, 8c quod praed' Major' Sc Communitas, in praed' octab' fancli Hilar', ubicunque, &c.
ac Cives civitat' London praed', de piaemifs' de judic'

;

fuo inde audiend', co quod cur' Dom'
praed' in placit' praed' convincantur, & de liber- Regis hie nondum, &c.

tat', privileg', & franchis' uk 9
fupradict* penitus

excludantur 8c abjudicentur, &c. Ad quam quidem qctab' fan&i Hilar' coram
Dom' Rege apud Weftm', ven' tarn praefat' Ro-

Et praed' Major &C Communitas, ac Cives civi- bertus Sawyer Mil', qui fequitur, &c. quam praed'

tat' London praed' petunt licentiam inde inter- Major & Communitas, ac Cives civitat' London
loquend' coram Dom' Rege ufque in oclab' fanfti prasd', per Attorn' fuum praed'. Et praed' Major
Hilar', ubicunque, &c. & eis conceditur. Idem & Communitas, ac Cives civitat' London praed',

dies dat' eft praefat' Attorn' die' Dom' Regis ex quo ipfi fufficien' materiam in lege in placito

nunc general', &c. Et praed
5 Attorn' die' Dom' fuo praed' fuperius repellando placitat' ad ipfos

Regis nunc general', qui pro eod' Dom' Rege Majorem 8c Communitat', ac Gives civitat' Lon-
in hac parte fequitur, quoad placitum praefat' don ad clamand' libertat', privileg', & franchis9

,

Majoris & Communitat', ac Civium civitat' Lon- fore de feipfis unum corpus corporat' 8c politi-

don praed', quoad libertat', privileg', & fran- cum in re, fafto, & nomine, per nomen Majoris
chis' praed' per ipfos fuperius clamat', videlicet, 8c Communitat', ac Civium civitat' London, ac
ipfos habere Vicecom' civit' & com' civit' Lon- per idem nomen placitare & implacitari, refpon-

don, 6c Vicecom' com' Midd', & nominare & dere ac refponderi per ipfos fuperius clamat', eis

eligere ex feipfis duas perfon' fo.e Vic' civit' allocand' 8c adjudicand' manutenend' fuperius alle-

praed', & com' ejufdem civit', & Vic' com' gaver', quam ipfi parat' funt verificare j quam
Midd', ac ill' fie nominat' 8c elect' praefkere & quidem materiam praed' Attorn' die' Dom' Regis
conftituere Vic' civit' praed', & com' ejufdem nunc general' pro eodem Dom' Rege non dedic',

civit', & Vic' com' Midd', ac ut Vic' civit' praed', nee ad earn aliqualit' refpond', fed verification
5

& com' ejufdem civit' de execution' 6c retorn' ill' admittere omnino recufar, ut prius, pet' ju-

omniim brevium, billarum, & prseceptorum die', & quod libertat', privileg', & franchis' ill'

Dom 1 Regis pro adminiftratione juftitiae infra eis 8c fucceflbribus fuis in peipetuum deineeps al«*

civit' praed', 8c com' ejufdem civit' exequend' locentur 8c adjudicentur, 8c quod ipfi, quoad
8c faciend' quae ad officium Vic' faciend' perti- praemifs' ill', ab hac cur' dimittantur, &c. Et
nent, & ad faciend' 8c exequend' omnia & fin- praed' Attorn' die' Dom' Regis nunc general',

gula alia infra civit' praed', & com' ejufdem ci- qui pro eodem Dom' Rege in hac parte fequitur,.

vit' quae ad officium Vic' faciend' pertinent, ac quoad exit' praed' int' praed' Dom' Rcgem 8c

ut Vic' com' Midd' pro eodem com' defervitur', praefat' Major' 8c Communitat', ac Cives civitat'

ac omnia brevia, bi'las, 8c praecept' Dom' Regis London per patriam triand' fuperius junc~b', 8c

infra com' Midd' praed', pro adminiftratione & quoad libertat', privileg', d£ franchis' praed' per

executione juftitiae ibidem exequend', 8c retorn' ipfos fuperius clamat', videlicet, ipfos habere Vic'
inde faciend' quae ad officium Vic' faciend' perti- civit' 8c com' civit' London, & Vic' com' Midd'y
nent fuperius placitat'; nccnon quoad placitum & nominare 8c eligere ex feipfis duas perfon' fore

praefat' Major' 8c Communitat', ac Civium civi- Vic' civit' praed', & Com' ejufdem civit', ac

tat' London praed', quoad libertat', privileg', Sc Vic' com' Midd', ac illas fie nominat' Sc elecl'

franchis' per ipfos fuperius clamat', videlicet, praeficere 8c conftituere Vic' civit' praed' 8c com'
Major die' civitat', 8c hujufmodi Alderman' ejuf- ejufdem civitat', 8c Vic' com' Midd' sc ut Vic"
dem civitatis, qui officium Majorat' civit' ill' civit' praed' 8c Com' ejufdem civit' SiC execution'

fuftinuer', ac inde fuer' dimiffi, ac tres Alderman' 8c retorn' omnium brevium, billarum, 8c prae-

fenior' civit' praed', qui diutius in offic' Alder- ceptor' Dom' Regis pro adminiftratione juftitiae

man' civit' praed' iteter', 8c onus 8c officium infra civit' praed', 8c com' ejufdem civit' exequend',

Majorat' civit' praed' non fuftinuer', fore Juftic' 8c faciend' quae ad officium Vic' faciend' perti-

Dom' Regis ad pacem infra civit' praed' confer- nent, ac ad faciend' 8c exequend' omnia 8c fin-

vand', ac ad feflion' pacis &c placita coron', fci- gula al' infra civit' praed' 8c com' ejufdem civit',

licet, tal' placita coron
1

,
qual' Juftic' Dom' Re- quae ad officium Vic' faciend' pertinent, acutVic'

gis ad pacem confervand' aftlgn' legitime tenere com' Midd' pro eodem com' defervitur', ac om-
polTent infra eand' civitat' tenend', ac ad omnia nia brevia, billas, 8c praecept' Dom' Regis infra

felon', riot', rout', 8c conventicuP illicit' infra com' Midd' praed' pro adminiftratione 8c execu-
civit' praed' inquirend', audiend', &c terminand' tione juftitiae ibidem exequend', &c retorn' inde

fuperius placitat', idem Attorn' die' Dom* Regis faciend' quae ad officium Vic' faciend' pertinent

nunc general', qui pro eodem Dom' Rege in fuperius placitat', necnon quod libertat', privileg',

hac parte fequitur, petit ulterius liccne' inde in- 8c franchis' per ipfos fuperius clamat', videlicet,

terloquend' coram Dom' Rege ufque oclab' fan6ti Majorem die' civitat', Sc hujufmodi Al lerman'

Hilarii, 8c ei conceditur, &c. Idem dies dat' eft ejufdem civitat', qui officium Majorat' civitat' il-

praefat' Majori 8c Communitat', ac Civibus civi- lius fuftinuer', ac inde fuer* dimiffi, ac tres Al-
tat' London praed', £?V. Et quoad materiam in derman' fen' civitat' praed', qui diutius in officio

Alderman'
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Alderman' civit' praed' fteter', Sc onus & officium

Majorat' civic' praed' non fuftinuer*, fore Jufti-

ciat' Dom' Regis ad pacem infra civit' praed' con-

fervand', ac ad feffion' pacis & placita coron',

fcilicec, tal' phcita coron', qual' Juftic' Dom'

Regis ad paccm confervand' affign' legitime te-

nere poffent infra eandem civit' tenend', ac ad

omnia felon', riot', rout', & convention' illicit'

infra civit' praed' inquirend', audiend', 6c teimi-

nand' fuperius placitat' die', quod ipfe pro ecdem

Dom' Rege in ea parte ulterius profequi non vult

verfus praefat' Majnrem & Communitat', ac Cives

civitat' London praed'.

Ideo cons' quod praefat' Major 6c Communitas,

ac Cives civitat' London praed', quoad exit' int'

praed' Dom' Regem, & praefat' Majorem & Com-
munitat', ac Cives civitat' London praed', per

patriam triand' fuperius juncV, 6c quoad liber-

tat', privileg', 6c franchis' praed' pet ipfos fupe-

rius clamat', videlicet, ipfo* habere Vicecom'

civit' 6c com' civit' London, 6c Vic' com' Midd',

& nominate 6c eligere ex feipfis duas perfonas fore

Vic' civit' praed' 6c com' ejufdem civit', 6c Vic'

com' Midd', ac ill' fie nommat' 6c fled' praeficere

6c conftituere Vic' civit' p>aed' 6c com' ejuidem

civit', &Vic' com' Midd', ac, ut Vic' com' ci-

vit' praed' 6c com' ejuidem, ad execution' 6c re-

torn' omnium brevium, billarum, & preceptor'

Dom' Regis pro adminiftrauone juftitiae infra ci-

vit' p sed' 6c com' ejufdem civit', exequend' &
faciend' quae ad officium Vic' faciend' percinent,

ac ad faciend' 6c exequend' omnia & fingula al'

infra civit' praed', & com' ejufdem civitat', quae

ad officium Vic' faciend' pertinent, ac ut Vic'

com' Midd' pro eodem com' defervitur', ac

omnia brevia, billas, 6c praecepta Dom' Regis

infra com' Midd' praed', pro adminiftratione &
executione juftitiae ibidem exequend', & retorn'

inde faciend', qua: ad officium Vic' faciend' per-

tinent fuperius placitat', necnon quoad libertat',

privileg', 6c franchis' per ipfos fuperius clamat',

videlicet, Majorem die' civit', 6c hujufmodi Al-

derman' ejufdem civitat', qui officium Majorat'

civit' ill' fuftinuer', ac inde fuer' dimiffi, ac tres

Alderman' fen' civit' praed', qui diutius in offic*

Alderman' civitat' praed' fteter', 6c onus 6c offi-

cium Majorat' civit' praed' non fuftinuer', fore

Jufticiar' Dom' Regis ad pacem infra civit' prae-

didV confervand', ac ad leffion' pacis 6c placita

coron', fcilicet, talia placita coron', qual' Juftic'

Dom' Regis ad pacem confervand' affign' legiti-

me tenere poffint infra eandam civit' tenend' ac

ad omnia felon', riot', rout', & conventicul' il-

licit' infra civit' praed' inquirend', audiend', &
terminand' fuperius placitat', eant inde fine die,

falvo jure Dom' Regis, fi al', rjjV. Et quoad die'

feparaP materias in lege, unde tam praed' Attorn'

die' Dom' Regis nunc general', quam praed',

Major 6c Communitas, ac Cives civitat' praed',

pofuer' fe in judic' cur', fed quia cur' die' Dom'
Regis nunc hie de judic' fuo de 6c fuper praemifs'

reddend' nondum advifatur, dies inde dat' eft

tam praefat' Roberto Sawyer Mil', Attorn' die'

Domini Regis nunc general', qui pro eodem

Domino Rege in hac parte fequitur, quam praed'
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Major' & Communitat', ac Civibus civitat' Lon-
don, &c. coram Domino Rege a die Pafchae in
quindecim dies, ubicunque, &c. de judicio fuo
inde audiend', eo quod cur' die' Domini Re->is
hie nondum, &fc. Ad quern quid' quinden' Pa-,

fchae coram Domino Rege apud Weftm' ven'
tam praefat' Robertus Sawyer Mil', Attorn' did'
Domini Regis nunc general', qui pro e;>dem
Dom' Rege in hac parte fequitur, quam praefat*

Major 6c Communitas, ac Civit' London praed'
per Attorn' fuum praed', fed quia cur' die' Do-
mini Regis nunc hie de judicio fuo de 6c fuper
praemifs' reddend' nondum advifuur, dies inde
ulte.ior dat' eft tam praefat' Roberto Sawyer
Mil', qui fequitur, &c. quam praefat' Majori &
Communitat', ac Civib' civitu' London praed'

coram Domino Rege in craftin' Sand as Trinitat',

ubicunque, &c< de judicio fuo fuperinde audiend',

&c. eo quod cur' Domini Regis hie nondum, fjff.

Ad quod quidem craftin' Sancfae Trinitat' coram
Domino Rege apud Weftm' ven' tam praefat'

Robertus Sawyer Mil', Attorn' Domini Regis
nunc general', qui pro eodem Domino Rege in

hac parte fequitur, quam piaed' Major & Com-
munitas, ac Cives civit' London praed' per At-
torn' fuum praed'; 6c idem Attorn' die' Domini
Regis pro eodem Domino Rege pet' judic' ver-

fus praed' Major' 6c Communitat', ac Cives civit'

London praed' in praemifs' reddend', qucd die'

libertat', privileg', & franchis' fore de feipfis

unum corpus corpora'.' 6c poiiticum in re, fadlo,

6c nomine, per nomen Majoris 6c Communitat',
ac Civium civitat' London, ac per idem nomen
placitare 6c implacitari, reipondere 6c refponderi

per ipfos fuperius clamat', capiantur in manus
Domini Regis nunc, fup' quo, pro eo quod vide-

tur cur' hie, quod praefat' Major 6c Communitas,
ac Cives civit' praed', forisfecer' Domino Regi
nunc libertat', privileg', & franchis' praed', ob
caufts in replicatione praefat' Attorn' general' fu-

perius fpecificat' ; quodque placita praefat' Majo-
ris 6c Communitat', ac Civium civitat' London
praed' fuperius rejungendo 6c repellando in ea

parte placitat', materiaque in eifdem content',

minus fufficien' 6c invalida in lege exiftunt ad
praecludend' diet' Dom' Regem a forisfa&ur*

praed', aut ad ipfos Majorem & Communitat',

ac Cives civit' praed', ad clamand' libertat', pri-

vileg', 6c franchis' praed', fibi allocand' 6c adju-

dicand', manutenend', maturaque deliberatione fu-

perinde prius habit'.

Cons' eft, quod libertat', privileg', & fran-

chis' praed' fore de feipfis unum corpus corporat'

& poiiticum in re, fatto, 6c nomine, per nomen
Majoris 6c Communitat', ac Civium civit' Lon-
don, ac per idem nomen placitare & implacitari,

refpondere ac refponderi, per eofdem Majorem
6c Communitat', ac Cives civit' London praed'

fuperius clamat', capiantur 6c feifiantur in manus
Domini Regis, 6c quod praefat' Major & Com-
munitas, ac Cives civit' London praed', capiantur

ad fatisfaciend' die' Domino Regi de fine fuo

pro ufurpatione libertat', privileg', Sc franchis*

praed'.
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Rex verfus Pilkington ", cl? al*for a Riot.

Trifi. 24. (3 till. 54 &? ?f. Car. II. 5. R. nuper de London Gen', Benj' Alfop nuper de
London ft. /~XUod 24 die Junii, anno regni Do- London Gen', M. Meriton nuper de London

\f mini Caroli fecundi nunc Regis Gen', Car' Bateman nuper de London Gen', Jo-
Angl', Sec. 34. apud Guildhall civit' London hannes Trenchard nuper de London Ar', Sim*
quaedam Cur' afTemblation' civium 8c liberor' Miller nuper de London Gen', Jervas Byfield
homin' civit' London (communit' vocat' a Com- nuper de London Gen', W. Peachy nuper de
mon Hall) per Johannem Moore, Mil', adtunc 8c London Gen', 8c Richardus Farrington nuper de
adhuc Majorem civit' London, fummonit' 8c con- London Ar', praemifs' praed' fatis Icien', fed ex-
vocat' coram eodem J. Moore Mil', Majore ci- iften' perfon' male difpofit', 8c machinan' 8c inten-
vit' praed', legitimo modo tent' fuit tarn pro de- den' pacem dicti Domini Regis nunc 8c com-

adtunc 8c adhuc prox' futur', quam pro election' London praed', 8c praed' H. Cornifli, Ford Do-
diverfor' al' officiar' civit' praed', quodqj adtunc minus Grey, T. Gold Mil', J. Shorter Mil',
&C ibidem in Cur' praed' incept' fuit numerare ca- (3c. poftea, 8c poft adjornament' praed', fcil'

pita (Anglice to take the Poll) de eleclorib' tunc diclo 24 die Junii anno regni didti Domini Re-
& ibidem pra?fentib' pro manifeftatione eleftionis gis nunc 34 fuprad', apud paroch' fancli Micha-
perfonar' defervitur' in offic' Vic' civit' praed' elis B. London praed', in Guildhall praed' ibidem
pro anno fuprad', quodqj praed' J. Moore Mil', vi 8c armis, (3c. riotofe, routofe, illicite, & fe-

Major' civit' praedicV, poftea eodem 24 die Ju- ditiofe, fefe cum plur' al' perfon' male difpofit',

nii anno regni dicli Dom' Regis nunc 24 fuprad' Sc pacis dicli Domini Regis nunc perturbato-
apud Guildhall civit' London' praed' in paroch' rib', ad numer' mille perionar' eidem Attorn'
fandi Michaelis Baffifhaw London praed' legiti- dicli Domini Regis nunc general' adhuc incog-
mo modo fecit 8c fieri caufavit proclamation' pro nit', afTemblaver', congregaver' 8c coadunaver'

que diem Martis tunc prox' futur', adjornavit a- fe, 8c illicite, in 8c fuper praed' J. Moore Mil',

pud Guildhall civit' London praed' tenend', &c Major' civit' praed' in pace Dei Sc di£H Dom*
adtunc & ibidem po'ft adjornament' praed', fie Regis adtunc 8c ibid' exiften', infult' 8c afraiam

ut praefertur, fa£t' pned', J. Moore Mil', Major fecer', 8c ipfum Johannem Moore Mil' adtunc
civit' London praed' fecit 8c fieri caufavit procla- 8c ibid' verberaver', vulneraver', 8c maletracta-

mation' publicam pro deceffion' omnium perfo- ver', ita quod de vita ejus maxime defperabatur:

nar' ibidem ex occafione praed' afTemblat'. Et Et poft adjornament' praed', 8c proclamation'

ulterius idem Attorn' dicli Domini Regis nunc ge- praed', fie ut praefertur, per praefat' J. Moore
neral' pro eodem Domino Rege dat Cur' hie in- Mil' Major' civit' praed' facV, ipfi praed' T. Pil-

telligi 8c informari, quod Thomas Pilkington nu- kington 8c Samuel Shute, adtunc 8c ibidem, co-

per de London Ar' 8c Samuel Shute nuper de lore officii fui Vic' civit' London' praed', 8c praed'

London Ar' (tunc Vic' civic' London' praed') Ec Henr' Cornifli, Ford Dominus Grey, T. Gold
Henr' Cornifh nuper de London Ar', Ford Do- Mil', J. Shorter Mil', (3c. cum divers al' perfon'

minus Grey de Warke, Thomas Gold nuper de eidem Attorn' dicli Domini Regis nunc gene-

London Mil', Johannes Shorter nuper de Lon- ral' adhuc incognit', praefat' T. P. 8c S. Shute
don Mil', Thomas Player nuper de London illicite 8c feditiofe auxilian' 8c affiften' vi 8c armis,

Mil', Willielmus Gulfton nuper de London Mil', (3c. riotofe, routofe, 8c illicite, ibidem continu-

Slingsby Bethel nuper de London Ar', aver' ad capita numerand' (Anglice to take the

Nelthrope nuper de London Ar', Johannes Ay- Poll) de perfon' fie adtunc 8c ibidem illicite af-

liffe nuper de London Ar', Johannes Ellis nuper femblat', tanquam 8c quafi eaedem perfon' licite

de London Ar', Francifcus Jenks nuper de Lon- afTemblat' fuiffent pro eleclione Vic' civit' praed':

don Lintear', Robertus Barker nuper de London Et quod praed' T. P. S. Shute, H. Cornifh, Ford
Gen', Johannes Deagle nuper de London Panu- Dominus Grey, T. Gold Mil', J. Shorter Mil',

ar', Richardus Freeman nuper de London Ca- (3c. tunc 8c ibidem illicite, tumultuofe,'8c feditiofe

fearius, Benjamin Smith nuper de London Gen', affirmaver', 8c quilibet eor' affirmavit, dixit, 8c

Richardus Goodenough nuper de London Gen', alta voce praed' male difpofit' perfonis affirmavit,

R. Kay nuper de London Mercator, Lucy quod praed' Johannes Moore Mil', Major civit',

Knightley nuper de London Gen', Johannes London praed', illicite 8c injufte afTumpfifTet fuper

Wickham nuper de London Gen', Samuel Swyn- fe libertat' ad adjornand' Cur', quae fibi praed'

nock nuper de London Mercator, Jofhua Brooks J. Moore non pertincbatj quodque praed' T. Pil-

nuper de London Gen', Jo' Jekyll nuper de kington, S. Shute, H. Cornifh, Ford Dominus
London Gen', Dorman Newman nuper de Lon- Grey, T. Gold Mil', J. Shorter Mil', 8c al' tunc

don Gen', T. Rawlinfon nuper de London Gen', 8c ibidem praed' illicite &c male difpofit' perfon',

T. Carpenter nuper de London Gen', T. Charle- fie ut praefertur afTemblat' 8c congregat' vi & ar-

ton nuper de London Gen', Johannes Jekyll jun. mis, (3c. riotofe, routofe, illicite, 8c feditiofe, per

fpatium
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fpatium trium horar' ad pacem dicti Domini Re-
gis nunc perturband', &C riot' praed' committend',

excitaver', mover', perfuaver', procuraver', 8c

adtunc & ibidem, per totum tempus prasdic-

tum, in paroch' 6c warda prasdicta Guildhall

London prasd', magnos rumores, clamores, vo-

ciferationes terribiles, 6c infolitos ftridores, vi

& armis, feff. riotofe, routofe, & illicite, tu-

multuofe, & feditiofe fecer', & fieri caufaver'

& excitaver', in contempt' dicti Domini Regis

nunc, legumqj fuar', pacifque fuas perturbation',

& violation' manifeft', ad magn' pericul' incitand'

& movend' tumult' & eiTufion' quamplurimum
fanguinis ibidem, ad magn' terror', inquietud', &
timor' omn' ligeor' fubdit' dicti Domini Regis,

in malum exemplum omn' al' in tali cafu delin-

quen', & contra pacem dicti Domini Regis, nunc,

coron' & dignirat' fuas, i$c. Unde idem Attorn'

dicti Domini Regis nunc general' pro eodem
Domino Rege pet' advifament' Cur' bic in pra;-

mifs', & debit' legis procefs' verfus prasfat' T.
Pilkington, S. Shute, H. Cornifh, Ford Domi-
num Grey, T. Gold Mil', J. Shorter Mil', &c.
in hac parte fieri ad refpondend' dicto Dom'
Regi de & in prasmifs', &c. per quod prascept'

fuit Vic' civit' London praed', quod venire fac'

eos ad refpond', l$c. Et modo, fcil', die Mer-
cur' prox' poft tres feptiman' fanctae Trin', coram
Dom' Rege apud Weftm', ven' praed' T. Pilking-

ton, S. Shute, & Richardus Goodenough, per

Benedict' Brown Attornatum fuum, & habito au-

ditu information' prazd', feparatim dicunt, quod
ipfi non funt inde culp', & de hoc pon' fe fepara-

tim fuper patriam : Et prsed' R. Sawyer Mil', At-
torn' Dom' Regis nunc general', qui pro eodem
Domino Rege in hac parte fequitur fimilit', &c.
Et fuper hoc idem Attorn' di<5h Dom* Regis nunc
general', pro eodem Domino Rege dicit, & Cur'

hie oftendit, quod Thomas Pilkington & S.

Shute Ar', duo defend' fuperius nominat', Vice-
corn' civit' London prsed' ad prasfens exiftunt,

tamen ipfe idem Attorn' dicti Domini Regis nunc
general' pro eodem Domino Rege pet' breve

Domini Regis praefat' Vic' London dirigend
5

,

de venire fac' coram Domino Rege duodecim,
13c. ad triand' exit' prsefat' int' dictum Dominum
Regem & partes prasd' fuperius in forma prasd'

jun£r.' : Et quia prasd' defend' hoc non dedic',

ideo prcecept' eft prasfat' Vic' civit' London,
quod venire fac' coram Dom' Rege, a die fancti

Michaelis in tres feptiman' ubicunque, &c. duode-
cim, &c. per quos, &c. & qui, &c. ad recogn'

&c. quia tarn, &c. idem dies dat' eft tarn pras-

fat' R. Sawyer Mil', qui fequitur, &c. quam prasd'

T. P. S. S. & R. G. &V. Ad quas quid' tres fep-

timan' fan£H Michaelis coram dicto Domino Re-
ge ven' tarn praed' R. Sawyer Mil', qui fequitur,

tic. quam prasd' T. P. S. S. & R. G. per Attorn'
luu' prcsd' : Et Vic' civit' London non mifer'

inde breve, ideo ficut al' ven' inde Jur' coram
dicto Dom' Rege in octab' fancti Hilar' ubicun-

que, &c. per quos, &c. & qui, &c. ad recog',

&c. quia tarn, &c idem dies dat' eft tarn pras-

fat' R. Sawyer Mil', qui fequitur, &c quam
prsed' T. P. S. S. & R. G. &V. ad quas quidem
Octab' fancti Hilar' coram dicto Domino Rege
apud Weftm' ven' tarn prasfat' R. S. Mil', qui ie-

quitur, &c. quam prsed' T. P. S. S. Sc R. G. per

Attorn' fuum prsed', & Ford Dominus Grey, H.
Cornifh, T. Gold Mil', J. Shorter Mil', T. Player

Mil*, &c. per prsefai' B. B. Attorn' fuu' fimili-

ter ven\ & habito auditu information' prasd', fe-

paratim dicunt, quod ipfi non funt inde culp' &
de hoc fimiliter feparatim pon' fe fuper patriam.
Et praed' R. Sawyer Mil', Attorn' Domini Regis,
nunc general', qui pro eodem Domino Rege in
hac parte fequitur, fimiliter, &c. ideo, ficutal*

ven'^ inde jur' coram difto Domino Rege in
octab' Pur' beats: Marias Virginis, ubicunque, &a
per quos, tfc. Et qui nee, &c. ad recogn', &a
qui tarn', &c. idem dies dat' eft tarn piasfat' R.
Sawyer Mil', qui fequitur, &c, quam praed' T. P.
S. S, R. G. Ford Domino Grey, &c. ad quas
quidem octab' Pur' beatae Marias Virginis, coram
Domino Rege apud Weftm', ven' tarn praefat'

R. Sawyer Mil', qui fequitur, &c. ouam prsed*

T. P. S. S. R. G. Ford Dominus Grey, H. C.
T. G. Mil', &c. per Attorn' fuum praed' : Ec
Vic' civit' London praed' retorn' nomina duode-
cim jur', quor' nul', &V. ideo praecept' eft Vic'
praed', quod diftring' eos per omnes terr', &V*
& quod de exit', &c. & quod habeant corpora
cor' coram dicto Domino Rege a die Pafch' in

quindecim feptiman', ubicunque, &c. vel coram
dilect' & fidel' Domini Regis Edwardo Saunders
Mil', Capital' Juftic' Domini Regis ad placita

coram ipio Rege tenend' aflign', fi prius die

Martis prox' poft menfem Pafchae, apud Guild-
hall civit' London, per formam ftatut', &c. ven'

pro defectu jur', &c. ideo Vic' habeant corpora,

&c. ad recogn' in forma praed', &c. Idem dies

dat' eft tarn praefat' R. Sawyer Mil', qui, &c.
quam praed' T. P. S. S. R. G. Ford Domino
Grey, H. O. T. G. Mil', &c. ad quas quidem
quinque feptiman' Pafchae, ifto eodem termino,

cor' Domino Rege apud Weftm', ven' tarn' prse-

fat' R. S. Mil', qui fequitur, &c. quam praed
3

T. P. S. S. R. G. Ford Dominus Grey, H. C.
&c. per Attorn' fuum praed', & praefat' Capital'

Juftic', coram quo, &V. mis' hie record' fuum
coram eo habit', in haec verba: Pofcea, die &
loco infra content', coram infra nominat' Ed-
wardo Saunders Mil', Capital' Juftic' dicti Do-
mini Regis infra fcript', affociat' fibi Edwardo
Watts Gen', per formam ftatut', &£. ven' tarn

infra nominat' R. Sawyer Mil3

, Attorn' Domini
Regis nunc general', qui fequitur, &c. quam
prasd' T. P. b. S. R. G. Ford Dominus Grey,

H. C. &c. per Attorn' fuum infra fcript' : Et
jur' jurat', unde infra fit mentio, exact' ven' Sc in

jur' ill' jurat' exiftunt, & fuper hoc publica pro-

clamatio pro Domino Rege fact', prout mos eft,

quod fi aliquis fit, qui prsefat' Capital' Juftic',

aut Servien' dicti Domini Regis ad legem, aur.

Attornatum dicti Domini Regis generalis, auc

jur' prasd', de infra content' informare vellet, ve-

niret, &audiretur; & fuper hoc Gtorgius Jeffe-

reys Mil' & Bar', ex parte ditti Domini Regis

ad hoc faciend' fe obtulit, fuper quo procefs' eft

per cur' hie ad caption' jur' praed' pro jur' prasd'

modo comparen', qui ad veritat' de infra con-

tent', elect', triat', & jurat' fuper facramentum
praed' dicunt, quod prasd' T. Gold Mil', J.
Brooks, W. Miller, T. Charlton, D. Newman,

J. Jekyll jun', B. Alfop, M. Meriton, J. Tren-
chard, & J. Byfeild, non funt culp', nee eor' ali-

quis culp' eft dc prasmifs' in informatione in re-

cordo prasd' mentionat', prout interius placitando

allegaver' j & ulcerius jur' pra;d' fuper facramen-

tum fuum prasd' dicunt, quod prasd' Thomas
Pilkington, S. Shute, Ford Dominus Grey, T.
Player Mil', S. Bethell Arm', F. Jenks, J. Dea-

gle, R. Freeman, R. Goodenough, R. Kay, J.
Wickham, S. Swynnock, & S. Jekyll fen', func

culp*
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culp', 6c quilibet eor' eft culp'de praemifs' in infor- mation' prsed' interius verfus eos fupponitur
matione infra fcript' mentionat', prouc per infor- idco, &c.

Rex verfus Walcott b
, for High-Treafon.

jf Car'' II. O. B. inquirend' per facram' proborum & legalium ho-
^Ulielmus Tertius Dei gratia Anglian, Scotiae, minum civitat' London, ac aliis viis, modis, 6c

Francias, 6c Hibernias Rex, fidei defenfor' mediis, quibus melius fciverint aut poterint de
&c. diiecV 6c fideli noftro Johanni Holt Militi, quibufcunque prodition', mifprifion' prodition',

Capitali Jufticiario noftro ad placita coram nobis infurreclion', rebellion', 6c al' malefactis, ofFens'

tenend' affign', falutem. Quia in recordo 6c 6c injur' quibufcunque; necnon Juftic' fuis ad
proceflu, ac etiam in redditione judicii cujufdam gaolam fuam de Newgate pro civitat' London
indictamenti verfus Thomam Walcott, nuper de de prifon' in eadem exiften' deliberand' affign',

London generofum modo defuncV, pro quibuf- 6c eorum cuilibet breve fuum in hsec
dam altis proditionibus perfonam Domini Caroli verba:

fecundi nuper Regis Angliae tangent' modo in- Gulielmus rertius Dei gratia Angliae, Scotia?,

diclat' fuit, 6c fuperinde per quand' jur' fuperinde Franciae, 6c Hibemise Rex, fidei defenfor, &c.
intr

5
prasfat' nuper Regem & prasfat' Thomam Jufticiar' fuis per literas fuas patentes fub magno

Walcott, capt' coram Juftic' diet' nuper Regis figillo Angliae confecV nd inquirend' per facram'
ad gaolam deliberand' aflign', convicV exit', 6c proborum 6c lgalium hominum civitat' London,
judicium fuperinde reddit' fuit pro praefat' nuper ac aliis viis, modis, 6c mediis, quibus melius fci-

Rege verfus prsefat' Thomam Walcott, ut dici- verint aut poterint de quibufcunque prodition',

tur, quas quidem recordum 6c "prpceflum pra?- mifprifion', prodition', infurrc&ion', rebellion',

dicV caufa erroris intervenient' in curia noftra 6c al' malefaclis, ofFens', 6c injur' quibufcunque,
coram nobis venire fecimus, 6c judicium inde in necnon Juftic' fuis ad gaolam fuam dc Newgate
eadem curia noftra coram nobis reverfatur. Et pro civitat' London, de prifonariis in eadem exi-

qufa in reverfatione judicii przedicV coram nobis ften' deliberand' affign', 6c eorum cuilibet, falu-

fuper brev' dc error' prasdicV, error intervenit tern. Quia in recordo 6c proceflu, ac etiam in

manifeftus ad grave dampnum cujufdam Ifabellas redditione judicii cujufdam indictamenti verfus

Dillon viduas, Comitifiss Rofcomon, nuper uxoris Thomam Walcott nuper de London gen' de-
Wentworth Dillon Armig', nuper Comitis Rof- fun£tum, pro quibufdam altis prodition' perfon'

comon in regno noftro Hibernico, ficut ex que- Domini Caroli fecundi nuper Regis Angliae tan-
rela fua accepimus, nos errorem, fi quis fuerit, gent', unde indiclrat' eft', 6c fuperinde per quan-
modo debito corrigi, 6c eidem Ifabellaa plenam dam jur' patriae inter prasfat' Dominum nuper
6c celerem jufticiam fieri volentes in hac parte: Regem, 6c prsefat' Thomam Walcott, capt' co-

Vobis mandamus, quod* fi judicium fuper breve ram Jufticiar' dicli Domini Caroli fecundi nuper
de errore prsedicV reverfat' fit, turn recordum 6c Regis Angliaa, &c. ad gaolam prasdicV delibe-

proceffum prsedicla, cum omnibus ea tangent', rand' affign', convicl', & judic' fuperinde reddit'

nobis in parliamentum noftrum ad proximam kf- fit, ut dicitur, error intervenit manifeftus ad
lionem, vicefimo oclravo die inftantis menfis Juiii grave dampnum Johannis Walcott gen', filii &
tenend', diftincle, 6c aperte mittatis, 6c hoc breve, hatred' prsed' Thomas, ficut ex querela fua

ut infpecV record' 6c proceflu prasdidtis, ulterius accepimus : Nos errorem, fiquis fuit, modo de-
inde de aflenfu Dominorum Spiritualium 6c Tern- bito corrigi, 6c eidem Johanni plenam 6c celerem.

poralium in eodem parliamento exiftent', pro er- juftitiam fieri volentes in hac parte, vobis man-
ror'c illo corrigendo fieri fac', quod de jure 6c damus, quod fi judicium reddit' fit, tunc record*

fecundum legem & confuetudinem regni noftri 6c procefs' pracfcV, cum omnibus ea tangent',

Angliae fuerit faciend'. Tefte Thoma Archi- nobis, fub figillis veftris, vel un' veftrum, di-

epifcopo Cantuar', 6c caeteris Cuftodibus 6c Jufti- ftincte 6c aperte mittat', 6c hoc breve, ita quod
ciariis regni, apud Weftm', fexto die Julii, anno ea habeamus a die Pafchas in ties feptiman', ubi-

regni noftri o<5tavo. cunque tunc fuerimus in Anglia, ut infpect' re-

Martin. cord' 6c procefs' predict', ulterius inde pro er-

rore illo corrigend' fieri faciamus, quod de jure,

Refpons' Johannis Holt Mil', Capital* Jufticiarii 6c fecundum legem 6c confuetudinem regni no-

infra nominat*. ftri Anglise fuerit faciend'. Tefte meipfo apud
Weftm' decimo feptimo die Martii, anno regni

Record' & procefs' unde infra fit mentio, cum noftri feptimo.

omnibus ea tangen', Domino Regi infra nominat'

in praefens parliamentum propriis manibus protuli, Executio iftius brevis patet in fchedula & recordo

in quodam record' huic brevi annex', prout inte- huic brevi annex'.

rius mihi praecipitur.

J. Holt. Re[pons' Thoma Lane Mil', Major' civitat' London,

ac un' Juftic' infrafcript' record' & procefs', unde

Placita coram Domino Rege apud Weftm' de termino in brevi fupradicT fuit mentio, feauitur in hac

Pafcha, anno regni Domini JVillielmi tertii nunc verba.

Regis Anglia; 6cc. feptimo. Rot. 3.

London ff. Memorand', quod per quandam in-

London ff. Dominus R.ex mandavit Juftic' fuis, quifition' capt' pro fereniffimo Domino Rege,
per literas fuas patentes fub magno figillo, ad apud Juftice Hall in the Old Baily, London, in

k Vol. III. p. 684. N«n 7 .

parochia
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parochia fancti Sepulchri in warda de-Faringdon

extra London prxdict', die Jovis, fcilicet, duo-

decimo die Julii, anno regni Domini noftri Ca-
roii fecundi, Dei gratia Anglic, Scotis, Fran-

cis, & Hibernias Regis, fidei defenfor', &V.
tricefimo quinto, coram Willielmo Pritchard Mil',

Majore civitat' London, Francifco Pemberton
Mil', Capitali Juftic' Domini Regis de banco, &c>
acaliis fociis fuis Jufticiariis dicti Domini Regis,

per literas patent' ipfius Domini Regis eifdem

jufticiar' prsnominat', & aiiis, ac quibufcunque

quatuor vel plur' eorum, Tub magno figillo diet'

Domini Regis Anglias confecY, ad inquirend' per

facrament' proborum 6c legalium hominum de

civ' London, ac aliis viis, modis, 6c mediis, qui-

bus melius fcierint aut poterint, tarn infra liber-

tat', quam extra, per quas rei veritas melius fciri

poterit, & inquir' de quibufcunque prodicion',

mifpnfion' prodition', &c. infra civkat' prxdict',

tam infra libenat', quam extra, per quofcurque

& qualitercunque habit', fact', perpetrat', live

commifs', per quos vel per quas, cui vel quibus,

quando, qualit', & qu^modo, 6c de aliis articu-

lis & circumftant' prsmiffis, & eorum aliquod vel

aliqua qualitercunque concernen' plenius veritat',

6c ad eadem & al* prsmiffa audiend' & termi-

nand' fecundum legem & confuetudinem regni

dicti Domini Regis Angiix affignat', per facra-

ment' Rich' Alie arm', & aliorum proborum &
legalium hominum civitat' London prsd', qui

adcunc & ibidem jurat' & onerat' exiftenc ad in-

quirend' pro diet' Domino Rege pro corpore ci-

vitat' predict', extitit prsfentat', quod Tho4

Walcotc nuper de London gen', ut falfus prodi-

tor contra illuftriffimum & excellentifTimum prin-

cipem Dominum no ftrum Carolum fecund', Dei
grat' Angl', Scot', Franc', & Hibern' Regem,
& naturalem Dom' fuum, timorem Dei in corde

fuo non habens, nee debit' ligean' fuam ponde-

ran\ fed infti ; ;arione diabolica mot' 6c feduct',

dilectionem veram & debitam, 6c naturalem obe-

dient', quas verus 6c fidelis fubdit' diet' Domini
Regis erga ipfum Dominum Regem gereret, 6c

dejurcgerere tenetur, penitus lubtrahens, 6c to-

tis viribus fuis ir.tenden' pacem 6c communem
tranquillitat' hujus regni Angliae perturbare, 6c

guerram & rebellion' contra dictum Dominum
Regem fufcitare & movere, 6c gubernat' dicti

Domini Regis in hoc regno Angfs fubvertere,

6c diet' Dominum Regem a titulo, honore, &
regali nomine, coron' imperial' regni flu Anglize

deponere & deprivare, & dictum Dominum Re-
gem ad mortem & finalcm deitruction' adducere

& ponc-re, fecundo die Martii, anno regni Do-
mini Caroli fecundi nunc Regis Anglix, i§c. tri-

cefimo quinto, 6c diverfis al' diebus & vicibus,

tam antea, quam poftea, apud parochiam fancti

Micluelis Baffifhaw, in warda de BafHfhaw Lon-

don, malitiofe & proditorie, cum diverfis aliis

pro.Htoribus jur' prxd' igaoc', confpiravit, com-
paiTavit, imaginat' fuit, & intendebat dictum

Dominum Regem, fupremum Dominum fuum,

non folum de Regali ftatu, titulo, poteftate, &c

regimine regni fui Anglias deprivare 6c dejicere,

verum etiam eundem Dominum Regem interfi-

cere, 6c ad mortem adducere 6c ponere, & anti-

quam gubernat' hujus regni Anglix mutare, al-

terare, 6c penitus fubvertere, ac ftragem mifera-

bilem inter fubdit' diet' Domini Regis per totum

regnum fuum Anglias caufare & procurare, ac

infurre£tion' & rebellion' contra diet' Dominum
Regem movere 6c fufcitare infra hoc regnum
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Angliae, 6c ad eafdem nefandiflimas prodition',

6c proditorias compafTation', imagination', 6c
propofita fua praed' perimplend' 6c perficiend',

idem Thomas Walcott, ut falfus proditor, tunc
6c ibid', 6c diverfis aliis diebus & vicibus, tam
antea, quam poflea, malitiofe, proditorie, 6c ad-
vifate fe affcmblabat, conveniebat, & confultabac
cum prsd' al' proditoribus jur' predict' ignot',

6c cum eifdem tractabat de 6c pro eifdem fuis

proditionibus, Sc proditoriis compaffation', ima-
gination', 6c propofitis fuis profequend', exe-
quend', 8c perimplend', quodque idem Thomas
Walcott, ut falfus proditor, ma'itiofe, prodito-

rie, 6c advifate tunc 6c ibidem, 6c diverfis al*

diebus 8c vicibus, tam antea quam poftea, fuper

fe afTumebat, 6c predict' aliis proditoribus pro-

mittebat fe fore auxiliant' 8c afTiftent' in execu-
tion' prodition', 6c proditor' compafTation', ima-
gination', 6c propofit' fua predict' perimplend'

6c perficiend', 6c eafdem nefandiflimas prodition',

6c proditor' compaffation', imagination', 6c pro-

pofita fua prsdicV perimplend' 8c perficiend'

idem Thomas Walcott, ut falfus proditor, mali-

tiofe, proditorie, 6c advifate tunc 6c ibidem

arma, videlicet, (Anglice, Blunderbuffes)

Bumbard' (Anglice Carbines) Sclop' (Anglice

Piftols) 6c procurabat 6c praeparabat contra lige-

antise fuas debit', contra pacem dicti Domini
nunc, coron', 6c dignitat' fuas, &c. necnon con-

tra formam ftatut' in hujufmodi cafu edit' 6c

provis', &c. per quod prsecept' fuit, videlicet,

civitat' predict', quod non omitt', 13c. quin ca-

perent prxfat' Thomam Walcotc, fi, &c. ad re-

fpond', &V. 6c modo, fcilicet, ad deliberation'

gaols dicti Domini Regis de Newgate, tent' pro

civitat' London apud Juftice Hall predict' in

dicta parochia fancti Sepulchri, in warda de Fa-

ringdon extra London prsedict', ditto die Jovis,

undecimo die Julii, anno tricefimo quinto fupra-

drct', coram praefat' Williclm' Pritchard Mil*,

Majore civitat' London, ac aliis fociis fuis Jufti-

ciariis dicti Domini Regis ad gaolam fuam de

Newgate de prifon' in ea exilten' deliberand'

aifign', praefat' Juftic' dicti Domini Regis prius

nom ; nat' per manus fuas proprias deliberaver'

indictament' predict' hie in cur' de recordo in

formam juris terminand', &c. fupcr quo ad iftam

eandem deliberation' gaols diet' Domini Regis de

Newgate, tent' pro civitat' London praed' apud

Walcott, fub cuftod' Dudlei North Mil', 6c Petri

Rich arm', Vicecom' civitat' pisdict' (in quorum

cuftod' ex caufa prcedicta prsantea commifs'

fuit) ad barram hie duct' in propria perfona fua,

qui committitur prsfat' Vic' civitat' London, csV.

6c ftatim de prsmiffis prsdict', in indictameiu'

pnedicV fpecificat', ei fuperius impofit' allocuc',

qualit' fe vellet inde acquietari, idem Thomas

Walcott dicit, quod ipfe non eft inde culpabil',

6c inde de bono 6c malo pon' fe fuper patriam.

Ideo immediate ven' inde jur', &V. coram prs-

fat' Juftic' ult' nominal* hie, tfc. & jur' jurat' illius

per pnefat' Vic' ad hoc impanellat', fed', &c.

exact' vener', qui ad veritat' de prairnifs' dictnd'

elect', triat', 6c jurat', dicunt fuper facrament'

fuum, quod prsdictus Tho' Walcott eft culpa-

bil' de alt' prodition' predict' in indictamesit'

pvxdict' fpecificat', ei fuperius impofu' modo &c

forma, prout per indictameiu' pisdict' (upeiius

vcrfus eum fupponitur, 6c quod idem Thomas
Walcotc
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Wallcott nulla habuit bona feu catalla, terras five

tcnementa ad eorum notic' ; & fuper hoc ftatim

quacfic' eft de praefat' Tho' Walcott, fi quod pro

fe haheat vcl diccre fciat, quare cur* dicV Domi-
ni Regis hie ad judicium & execution' de eo

fuper veredicV praedicV procedere non debeat,

qui nihil ulterius dicit praeterquam ut prius dixe-

rat, fuper quo vifis, & per cur' hie plene intel-

lects omnibus & fingulis praemiflis, confiderat'

eft per cur' hie, quod praed' Tho' Walcott du-

catur ad gaolam dicV Domini Regis de Newgate,
unde venit, & ibidem fuper bigam ponatur, &
abinde ufque ad fureas de Tyburn trahatur, &
ibidem per collum fufpendatur, 6c vivens ad ter-

rain profternatur, & quod fecreta membra ejus

amputentur, & interiora fua extra ventrem fuum
capiautur, & in ignem ponantur, & ibidem com-
burantur, & quod caput ejus amputetur, quod-

que corpus ejus in quatuor partes dividatur, ill'

ponantur ubi Dominus Rex ea aflignare voluit,

&c. per quod praecept' fuit Vic', quod capercnt

eum, fi, &c. ad fatisfaciend', &c. & modo, fcil',

die Jovis prox' pott menfem Pafchae ifto eodem
termino, coram Domino Rege nunc apud

Weftm', ven' quidam Johannes Walcott, filius &
haeres praedicV Thomae Walcott defuncV, de alta

proditione praedicV convict' & attincV, per Be-

nedict' Browne Attornat' fuum, & habit' audit'

record' praedicV, fuper quo praed' Thomas con-

vicl' & attincV exiftit, dicit, quod in record' &
procefs' praedicV, ac etiam in redditione judicii

predict' manifefte eft errat' in hoc, vid', quod
apparet per record' praedicV, quod judicium red-

dit' eft pro dicVo Domino nuper Rege, ubi per

leges hujus regni Anglic judicium praedicV pro

dido Thoma Walcott reddi debuiflet, & in eo

manifefte eft errat'. Erratum eft ctiam in hoc,

viz. quod crimina in 6c per indictamentum prae-

dicV verfus praedicV Thomam impofit', per leges

hujus regni Anglian incerte, dubie, 6c nimis ge-

neralit' allegat' exiftunt, quodque idem indi£ta-

mentum fuppofuit, 6c eidem Thomae onerat &
imponit crimina diverfimoda, 6c toto genere

inter fc difcrepantia, quodque judicium fuperinde

reddit', fir 6c exiftit contrarium legibus Angliae,

£c minime pronunciand' vel imponend' pro vel

fuper hujufmodi crimina, qual' in indictamento

praedicV fupponuntur, 6c in eo manifefte eft er-

rat', unde pet' judicium cur' hie in praemifs', 6c

quod judic' 6c attincVur' praedicV ab error' prae-

dicV, 6c al' in recordo 6c procefs' prxdicV corn-

pert' exiftent', reverfetur, adnulletur, 6c penitus

pro nullo habeatur, 6c quod ipfe praedicV Johan-
nes Walcott filius 6c haeres praedicV Thomae, ad

omnia quae ipfe praed' Johannes, occafione judicii

&c attincVur' praedicV amiflt, reftituatur, (k. quod
..cur' hie procedat ad cxaminationem tarn record'

6c procefs' praedicV, quam materiar' fuperius pro

errore aflign', l$c. 6c quia cur' dicVi Domini
Regis hie dc judicio fuo de 6c fuper praemiffis

reddend' nondum advifatur, dies inde dat' eft

praefat' Johanni Walcott in ftatuto quo nunc, &c.
in cro' fancVe Trinitat', coram Domino Rege,
ubicunque, &c. dc judicio fuo inde audiend', &c.
ad quod quidem craft' fancVae Trinitat', coram

Domino Rege apud Weftm' ven' praedi&us Jo-
hannes Walcott per Attornat' fuum piaedicV, 6cy
ut prius, petit judicium, < 6c quod judicium &
attincVur* prasdicV, verfus praedicV Thomam Wal-
cott reddit', ab error' praedicV, 6c al' in recor-

do 6c procefs' praedicV compert' 8>c exiften', re-

verfetur, adnulletur, 6c penitus pro nullo habea-
tur, 6c quod ipfe praedicV Johannes Walcott,
filius 6c haeres praedicV Thomae, ad omnia qusc
ipfe idem Johannes, occafione judicii 6c attinftur'

praedicV amifit, reftituatur, 6c quod cur' hie
procedat ad examination' tarn record' & procefs*

praedicV, quam materiarum fuperius pro errore

aflign', &c. And after many Continuances 'tis entred

thus : Super quo vis', 6c per cur' hie intellects

omnibus 6c fingulis praemiflis, diligenterque exa-
minat' record' 6c procefs' praedicV, 6c err' per
praedicV Johannem Walcott fuperius aflign', 6c
al' in record' 6c procefs' praedicV compert' exi-

ften', maturaque deliberatione inde prius habita,

confiderat' eft, quod judicium praedicV ab error*

praedicV, 6c al' in record' 6c procefs' praedicV

compert' exiften', revocetur, adnulletur, 6c pe-
nitus pro nullo habeatur, 6c quod praedicV Jo-
hannes Walcott, filius 6c haeres praedicV Thomas
Walcott,, ad omnia quae ipfe occafione judicii 6c
attinctur' praedicV amifit, reftituatur, 6c quod
praedicV Johannes Walcott eat inde fine die, &c.
Et fuper hoc Johannes Trevor Miles, Attorn*
Domini Regis nunc general', qui pro eodem
Domino Rege in hac parte fequitur, coram Rege
ac proceribus hujus regni Angliae hoc praediclo

parliamento apud Weftm' in com' Middlefex af-

femblat', in propria perfona fua ven', 6c dicit,

quod in record' Sz procefs', ac etiam in reddi-

lione judicii fuper praedicV priori brevi didli Do-
mini Regis de errore corrigend', per praedicV

Johannem Walcott profecut' pro revocatione 6c

adnullatione judicii praedicV verfus praedicV Tho-
mam Walcott, fuper indictamentum praedicV,

pro alta proditione praedicV reddit', manifefte eft

erratnm in hoc, viz. quod ubi per rccordum prae-

dicV fupponitur, quod praedicV Johannes Walcote
pofuit loco fuo quendam Benedict' Browne At-
tornat' fuum ad profequend' praedicV primum
breve de errore in 6c fuper indictament' praedicV

pro alta proditione praedicV, quod tamen Bene-
dict' Browne nullum habuit warrant' Attorn' pro
eodem Johanne Walcott de recordo afHlat', ideo

in eo manifefte eft errat.' Errat' eft etiam in hoc,
viz. quod per record' praedicV apparet quod judi-

cium praedicV pro revocatione 6t adnullatione ju-

dicii praedicV verfus praedicV Thomam Walcott,
in forma praed' reddit', redditum fuit pro praed*

Johanne Walcott verfus dicV Dominum Regem,
ubi per legem terrae hujus regni Angliae judicium

ill' reddi debuiflet pro dicto Domino Rege verfus

cundem Johannem j ideo in eo fcil' manifefte eft

errat', 6c hoc parat' eft verificare, unde pet' judi-

cium, 6c quod judic' ill' ab error' praedicV, & al'

in record' dc procefs' praedicV exiften', revocetur,

adnulletur, 6c penitus pro nullo habeatur, 6c quod
dicVus Dominus Rex, ad quae omnia ipfe occafione

revocation' &c adnullation' judicii praedicV amiGt,

reftituatur, &c.

Me*
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Mich* ?f Car* II. B. R. claration, which Offences Jhall be judged High-Trea-
the Plea (drawn by Mr. Serjeant Rotheram) which fon, inter aha, inaditatum fuir automate ejufdem

he offered to the Court.
_

parliamenti, quod fi ullus cafus fuppofitu.^ efle

PRasdid' Algernon Sidney dicit, quod per proditio, qui non fpecificatur in eodem ftatuto,

ftatut' in p^rliamento inchoat' 6c tent' apud accident coram aliquibus Juftitiariis, Juftitiarii

Wek' odavo die Maii, anno regni Domini moram facient (Anglice Jhall tatry) fine aliquo
Regis nunc decimo tertio, & ibi continuat' ufque progreflu ad judicium (Angl ce going to Judgment)
tricefimum diem Julii tunc prox' fequen', 8c ab de prasdida proditione, ufque caufa morftretur
eodem tricefimo die Julii adjornatum uiique vice- & declaretur coram Regc & parliaruento fuo.

fimum diem Novembris tunc prox' fequen', in- Qyodque per ftatutum in parhamento tent' apud
timlatum, An Abl for the Safety and Prefervation of Weftm' in com' Midd', quinto die Odobris,
bis Majefty's Perfon and Government againfl Trea- anno regni Dominas Marias nuper Reginas Angltas

fonable and Seditious Practices and Attempts? inter primo, intitulatum, A Repeal of feveral Tre -Jons,

alia, ordinat' & inaditat' fuit, per autoritatem Felonies, and Praemunires, inadit' <uit, inter alia,

parliamenti prasdi&i, quod null' perfona five per- autoritate ejufdem parliamenti, quod abinde nul-

ionas, virtute adus prasdidi, incurreret aliquas lum fadum vel offens' exiften^per adum parlia-

penalitates in adu prasdido mentionat', nifi ip<e menti, vel ftatut' fad' proditio per verba ;cript'

vel ipfi profecut' eftet vel efTent infra fex men r
es notationem (mglice Cyphering) fad', aut alitor

prox' poft offens' commifc', & indict' effet fuper- quocunque capt' habit' cenfus ( \nghce deemed)

inde infra tres menfes polt talem profecutionem, vel adjudicat' efle dta proditio, nifi tantiim tal'

aliquo in ftatutu prasdid' coirent' in contrarium qua; declarantu & exprimuntur efle proditio in

non obftante. Et prasdidus Algernon ulterius vel per adum parliamenti, vel ftarut' fidum n
dieir, quod ipfe profecut' fuit & commiflus pri- anno vicefimo quinto regni prasnobilis Re->is Ed-
fonas Turri* de London, pro offens' in indida- wardi tertii cangen' vel concemen' proditi ne« vel

memo prasdid' mentionat', viceiimo fexro die declaraaones proditionis, & null' al', nee quod
Junii ultimo prsetcrito, & non antea, 8c ibidem aliquas pcenas mortis, penalities, vel forisfadur'

continuat' prifonar' hue ufque, & quod ipfe pvas- in aliquo modo fequuntur (Anglice enfue) vel (inc

di£t' Algernon non fuit indidat' pro aliquo vel alicui peccatori (Anglice Offender) vel peccatori-

aliqoibus offens' in indidamento piasdid' men- bus (Anglxe Offenders) pro facien' vel commit-
tionat', infra tres menfes prox* poft profecu io- ten' aliquim proditioncm .1 te»- quim tal' quas

nem prasdid'. Et h6c prasdid' \lgcrnon parat' in ftatuto praedido fado, in dido anno vicefimo

eft verificare; unde petit judicium, fi ipfe pras- quinto regni dicti Edwardi Regis ordin t' & pro-

did' Algernon, quoad aliquod crimen five of- vis', ahquo adu vel adus parliamenti, ltatut',

fens' in indidamento ptasdid' mentionat', quod vel ftatuta ad aliquod tempus antea habi'' vel

crimen vel offens' non fuit alta proditio ante con- fad' poit didum vicefimum quintum annum didi

fedionem ftatuti prasd', refpondere debeat, 8c nuper Regis Edwardi tertii, vel alqu^m al' de-

quoad omnes proditiones, crimina, 8c offens' in clarationem vel matenam in contraiium aliquo

indidamento prasdid' mentionata, quas non fuere modo non obftante. Et prasdidus Algern n di-

vel fuii alta proditio ante confedionem ftatuti cit, quod ipfe non eft culpabilis de aliqua vel ali-

prse. id', idem Algernon dicic, quod per ftatutum quibus proditi -ne vel proditionibus in indida-

in parliamento tento apud Weftm' in com' Mid- mento praedido mentionat' quas Ipecificatur vel

dlefex in fefto fandi Hiiarii, anno regni Domini fpecificantur in ftatut* u.timo mentionato modo
Edwardi nuper Regis Anglias tertii, anno regni 8c forma prout in indidamento prasdido men-

fui vicefimo quinto editum, intitulatum, A De- tionat'. Et de hoc ponit fe fuper patriate

Rex verfus Hampden d

, for a Mifdeameanour.

Hi? %6 Car'' II. B. R. gend' ult' die Junii, anno regni, &c. ^f. & di-

Midd' fl*. /^\Uod j >hannes Hampden nuper de verfis al' diebus & vicibus, tarn antea quam po-

\f paroch', &c. Gen', exiften' homo ftea, vi 8c armis, &c. apud paroch', &V. illicite,

pernitiofus, leditiofus, ac perfon' pravas mentis, injufte, maliciofe, 8c feditiofe le afle.. blavit,

necnon impiae, ii quiet', & turbulen' difpofition', conveniebat, confultabat, confpirabat, 8c confe-

ac machinans, prad cans, 8c falfo, illicite, 8c in- derabat cum diverfis male difpofit' find it' d d'

jufte, ma'itiofe, turbulent' 8c feditiofe intenden' Dom' Regis jur' prasd' ignot', 8c cum eifdem

pacem did' Dom' Regis nunc, 8c communem t'adabat de eifdem fuis nefandis 8c feditiofis com-

tranquillitatem hujus regni Angl' mquietare, mo- paffation', imagination, Sc propofit' praed' exe-

leftare, &c perturb-ire, 8c, quantum in ipfo fuit, quend', perimplend', 8c ad eff dum red. gend'.

feditionem infra hoc regn' Angl' fufcitare, mo- Et ulterius prasd' J. H. ad nequiflimas, nefan-

vere, 8c pericula procurave, 8c gubernation' did' diflimas, 8c feditiofas machination', predication',

Dom' R- gis in hoc regn' Angl' in odium in- 8c intention* fuas perimplend', &c ad efrVdnm re-

ferre. Quodque praed' J. H. ad nequiflimas, nc- digend', adtunc 8c ibidem, fcil', ult' di( Junii,

fandifllmas, 8c feditiofas indention' fuas prasd' anno regni, fcjV. ?f. fuprad', 8c diverfis al' dic-

perimplend' 8c perficiend', 8c ad effedum redi- bus 8c vicibus, tam antea, quam poftea, apud

e
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paroch' praed' in com' praed', vi 8c armis, &c.

falfo, illicite, unjuite, malitiofe, 6c feditiofe con-

fultabat, confulebat, confpirabat, 8c confedera-

bat de infurredion' infra hoc regn' Angl' habend',

& de procuration' 8c provifion' armor' 8c homi-
num armatorum praeparandor' in diver fis locis

infra hoc regn' Angl' ad eafdem nefandiflimas,

ncquiffimas, 8c feditiofas intention', compaffation',

imagination', & propofita fua praed' perimplend'

& perficiend'. Quodq-, praed' J. H. ad nequiffi-

mas, nefandiffimas, 8c feditiofas intention' fuas

praed' perimplend' 8c perficiend', 8c ad effedum
redigend', poftea ( fcil', dido ult' die Junii,

anno, IsV. If. fuprad') apud paroch' praed' in

com' praed', vi 6c armis, &c. falfo, illicite, in-

jufte, nequiffimc, malitiofe, 8c feditiofe conful-

tabat, agreabat, & confentiebat, quod qusedam
perfona, jur' praed' ignot', mitteretur in Scotiam
ad invitand' 8c incitand' diverfos male difpofit'

fubdit' didi Dom' Regis de regn' fuo Scotia; ad
veniend' in hoc regn' Angl', ad advifand' &
confultand' cum praefat' J. H. & praefat' al' male
difpofit' fubdit' didi Dom' Regis in hoc regn'Angl',
de auxilio & affiftanc' expedand' & fupplend' e
dido regno Scoriae, ad eafdem nequiffimas, ne-
fandiflimas, 8c feditiofas intentiones & compaffa-
tion' fuas praed' perimplend', faciend', & pro-
movend', in contempt' legum hujus regn' Angl'
manifeft', in malum & perniciofum exemplum
omnium aP in tali cafudelinquen', ac contra pacem
did' Dom' Regis nunc, coron', 8c dignitat' fuas,

Rex verfus Braddon and Speke % for a Mifdemeanour.

Mich'' 3f Car' II. Rot. f\. B. R.
{£. /~\Uod cum Arthur Comes Effex duodecimo
V^die Jan', anno, &<6. 35*. commifs' fuit

prifon' Dom' Regis Turris London, pro quibuf-

dam alt' prodition' per ipfum perpetrari fuppofit',

8c idem A. Comes Effex exiften' prifonar' in Tur'

London' prsed', pro alta proditione praed', 13.

die Jan', anno regni did' Dom' Regis 35. fuprad',

Deum prae oculis fuis non habens, fed inftiga-

tione diabolica mot' dc fedud', apud Tur' Lon-
don praed' in com' Midd', feipfum felonice, 8c

up felo de fe, interfecit 8c murdravit, prout per

inquifition' capt' apud Turr' London praed', in

com' Midd' praed', 14 die Julii, anno fuprad',

coram Edwardo Farnham Arm', tunc Coron'

did' Dom' Regis libertat' Turr' London, fuper

vifum corporis prasd' A. Com' E. coram Domino
Rege de recordo remanen' plenius liquet 8c ap-

paret. Quidam tamen Laurentius Braddon dc
Medio Templo London, Gen', & Hugo Speke
de Lincoln's-! nn in com' Midd' Gen', praemifTor'

non ignar', fed machinan' & malitiofe, 8c fedi-

tiofe intenden' gubernation' did' Dom' Regis
hujus regn' Angl' in odium, vilipend', & con-
tempt' ducere, 15. die Augufti, anno regni did'

Dom' Regis nunc if. fuprad', & diverfis al' die-

bus & vicibus, tarn antea, quam poftea, apud

paroch', &c. vi 8r armis, &c. falfo, illicite, ma-
litiofe, 8c feditiofe confpirabant, 8c conabantur
caufare fubdit' did' Dom' Regis hujus regn*

Angl' credere, quod inquifitio pvaed' indebite

capt' fuit, & quod prsed' A. Com' E. per quafdam
perfon' ignot', in quar' cuftod' fuit, interfed' 8c

murdrat' fuit, 8c ad malitiofas 8c feditiofas ma-
chination' Sc intention' fuas prasd' perficiend', 8c

ad effedum redigend', iidem L. B. 8c H. S. apud
paroch', &c. dido if. die Augufti, anno if. fu-

prad', falfo, illicite, injufte, 8c feditiofe confpi-

raver' procurare quofdam falfos teftes ad pro-
band', quod praed' A. Com' E. non fuit felo dc
fe, fed quod idem A. Com' E. per praed' perfon*

ignot' interfed' &c murdrat' fuit, & ad perfua-

dend' al' fubdit' dicl:' Dom' Regis credere hoc
fore verum, iidem L. B. 8c H. S. falfo, malitiofe,

8c feditiofe adtunc 8c ibidem in fcriptis declara-

ver', 5c declarari caufaver' praefat' L. B. fore

perfon', quae profequebatur murdrum praed' A.
Com' E. in maximum fcandalum 8c contempt'
gubernation' Dom' Regis hujus regni Angl', in

malum exemplum omnium al' in tali cafu delin-

quent ac contra pacem did' Dom' Regis nunc,
coron', 8c dignitat' fuas, &c. Unde idem Attorn'
did' Dom' Regis nunc general', &c.

Rex verfus Barnardifton
f

, for a Mifdemeanour.

Hir 3f & 36 Car' II. Rot* 43. B. R.
Midd' ff. /~\Uod cum quaedam diabolica 8c pro-

x^ ditoria confpiratio 8c infurredio

diverfar' feditiofai' 8c male-difpofit' perfonar' ad
Dominum noftrum Carolum fecundum nunc Re-
gem Angl' murdrand' 8c interficiend', 8c leges

8c gube<nationcm hujus regn' Angl', ut per leges

modo conftitut' 8c ftabilit', fubvertend' deted'
fuiffet j cumque etiam quidam Willielmus Ruffel

Arm', 8c diverfae al' perfon' de confpiratione 8c

proditione ill' per debitum legis procefs' fuiffent

triat', convi£fc', 8c attind', 8c pro eifdem execut'.

Ac quidam Algernon Sidney Arm', de confpira-

tione 8c proditione ill' exiftebat fimilitcr triat' 8c

convid' : Cumque fuper triation' praed' W. R. 8c

A. S. Willielmus Dominus Howard de Efcrick,
teftis ex, parte did' Dom' Regis ad prodition' 8c

confpiration' praed' proband' produd' fuifTet,

quidam Samuel Barnardifton nuper dc London
Bar', exiftens homo feditiofus 8c pernitiofus, 8c

turbulentae 8c inquietae animae 8c converfation',

falfo, illicite, malitiofe, nequit', tc feditiofe

machinan' 8c pradican', 8c intendens did' Dom'
Regem nunc, 8c gubernationem 8c regimen fua,

necnon publicam adminiftrat' juftic' in hoc regno

Angl' in odium, fcandalum, 8c vilipendium cum
fubdit' fuis inducere 8c inferre, ac difcordiam 8c

feditionem int' didum Dominum Regem, 8c li-

geos fubdit' fuos, 8c int' eofdem fubdit' movere,

incitare, 5c ponere, necnon pacem ejufdem Dom*
Regis, 8c tranquillitat' hujus regn' Angl' inquie-

tare, moleftare, 8c perturbare, 8c confpiration'

8c prodition' praed' concelare, 8c evident' pro

dido Rege in ea parte vilificare, fcandalizare, 8c

e Vol. III. p. 855. N° 124, f Vol. III. p. 933. N" 125.
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deterrere, & ad nequiffimas, diabolical & ne- lofum, & feditiofum libellum, seretf dat' primo
fandiffimas machination', predication', & inten- die Decembr', anno Dom' 168?, in quo quidem
tionesfuas prsed' penmplcnd', perficiend', & ad libello (int' al') content' fuer' hse falfs-, fidse,
effectum ndigend', 20 die Septembr', anno regn' fcandalolse, malitiofse libellofse, & feditiofe fen-,
Dom' Caroh fecundi nunc Regis Angl', &c, tentise Anglican' fequen', videlicet, Dear Sir, I
3f. apud paroch' fancti Michaelis Cornhill, Lon- am to anfwer you of z7th and lath paft ; and truly

.

don, vi Sc armis, tjc. falfo, ilhcite, lnjufte, ma- / cannot but with 'great Sorrow lament the Lofs of
; jitiofe, corrupte, & feditiofe fecit, compofuit, 6c our good Friend, honefi Sir John Wrioht ; but

fcripfit, & fieri, componi, fcnbi, & publicari cau- with Patience we muft fubmit to the Almighty, who
favit, quoddam falfum, fcandaloium, & leditio- can as well raife up Inftruments to do hitWork, as
fum libellum, geren' dat' 29 die Novembr', anno change Hearts, of which we have fo great an In-
JDom' 1683, in quo quidem libello (int' al') con- fiance in the times of the Duke 'of Monmouth
tent' fuer' has falfe,fi&se,fcandalofse, libellofe, ma- (prsed' J, Due' M. innuendo) that no Age or Hi-
litiofe, & feditiofe fententise Anglican' iequen', ftory can parallel. I am now thoroughly fatisfied,
videlicet, SIR, The Return of the Duke\of Mon- that what was printed in the Monday'* Gazette is

mouth to Whitehall, and his being received into ex- utterly falfe, and you will fee it fo declared portly.
traordinary Favour of his Majefty hath made a The King is never pleafcd but when he is with him,
firange Alteration of Affairs at Court j for thofe hath commanded all the Privy Council to wait on
that before fpake of him very indecently, now court, him, and happy is he that hath mofl of his Favour

:

cringe, and creep to him. His Grace complained to His Pardon was fealed and delivered him lafi Wed-
the King of the fcandalous Mifreprefentation that nefday

} 'tis faid, he will be reftored to be Mafter
mas made of him in the Monday'* Gazette, upon of the Horfe, and be called into the Council Tabic,
which the Gazetteer was called to an Account for it, and to all his other Places ; and 'tis reported he
who alledg'd for himfelf, that a Perfon of great will be made Captain-General of all the Forces, and
Quality feat him in Writing the Words therein re- Lord High Admiral j and he treats all his old
cited, commanding him to put them in the Gazette. Friends, that daily vifit him, with great Civilities

;

Tefterday being the lafi Day of the Term, all the they are all fatisfied with his Integrity, and, if God
Prifoners that were in the Tower upon the late fpares his Life, doubt not but he will be an Inftrument
fham Presbyterian Plot (confpiration' & prodition' of much Good to the King and Kingdom: He faid pup-
prsed' innuendo) were difcharged upon Bail; Mr. lickly, that he knew my Lord Ruffel (diet' Williclm'
Braddon, who profecuted the Murder of the Earl Ruffel pro confpiration' & prodition' prsed' con-
ef Effex, the Information put in againft him in the vicV", attinct', 8c execut' innuendo) was as loyal

King'* Bench by Mr. Attorney, for a pretended Sub- a Subjetl as any in England, and that his Majefiy
ornation, &C. was not profecuted, and his Bail was believed the fame; now I intend ftoortly to wait on
difcharged 5 andlthe paffmg Sentence upon the Author him my felf. It would make you laugh to fee how
of Julian the Apoftate, and the Printer of the late firangely our high Tories and Clergy are mortified,

Lord Ruffel'* Speech, was paffed over with Silence, their Countenances fpeak it ; were my Lord S
Great y/pplications are made to his Majefiy for his to be moved for now, it would be readily granted,

pardoning Mr: Sidney in the Tower (dictum Al- Sir George (Georgium Jeffreys Mil' & Bar\ Ca-
gernon Sidney, ut prsefertur, convict' innuendo) pital' Juftic' Dom' Regis ad placita in cur' ipfius

which is believed will be attained, and that he will Dom' Regis coram ipfo Rege tenend' affign',

be banifioed. The Lord Howard (diet' Williel- adtunc & adhuc exiften' innuendo) is grown very
mum Howard innuendo) appears difpifeable in the humble. "Tis faid, Mr. Sidney (dictum A. S. iu-

Eyes of all men; he is under a Guard at White- nuendo) is reprieved for forty Days, which bids

hall, and (as believed) will be fent to the Tower, well. Ac ad nequiffimas & nefandiffimas machi-
for that the Duke of Monmouth (Jacobum Ducem nation' & intention' fuas prsed' perimplend', per-

Monmouth innuendo) will accufe him concerning ficiend', & ad effectum redigend', idem S. B.
the Teftimony he hath given,, CvC (evident' fuper pottea (fcilicet, dicto 20 die Decembr', anno
triation' & conviction' prsed' W. R. & A. S. per regn' diet' Dom' Regis nunc 3f. fuprad', apud
eundem Dominum Howard, ut prsefertur, dat' paroch' fancti Michaelis Cornhill London prsed')

innuendo) The Papifis and high Tories are quite falfo, ilhcite, injulte, malitiofe, corrupte, & fe-

down in the Mouth, their Pride is abated, them- ditiofe fecit, compofuit, & fcripfit, & fieri, com-
felves and their Plot confounded, but their Malice poni, & fcribi, & publicari caufavir, quoddam
is not affwaged. 'Tis generally faid the Earl of al' falfum, fcandaloium, libellofum, & feditiofum

Effex was murdered ; the brave Lord Ruffel (diet' libellum, geren' dat' primo die Decembris, anno
Willielmum Ruffel, pro confpiration' prsed', ut Dom' 1683. ^n ^uo quidem libello (inter al')

prsefertur, convict', attincV, & execut' innuen- content' fuer' hse falfse, fictse, fcandalofse, mali-

do) is afrefh lamented. The Plot (confpiration' & tiofse, libellofse, & feditiofse fententise Anglican'

prodition' prsed' innuendo) is lofi here, except you fequen', videl', The late Change here in publick

in the Country can find it out amongfi the Addreffers Affairs is fo great and firange, that we are like

and Abhorrcrs. This fudden Turn is an Amazement Men in a Dream, can hardly believe that we fee,

to all men, and muft produce fome firange Event, and fear we are not fit for fo great a Mercy as the

which a little Time will fhew. Ac ad nequiffimas prefent Junclure fo feems to promife. The fham
& nefandiffimas machination' & intention' fuas Protefiant Plot (confpiration' & prodition' prsed'

prsed' perimplend', perficiend', & ad effectum innuendo) is quite lofi and confounded. The Earl

reditjend', idem S. B. Bar' poftea (fcif, diet' 2.0 of Macklesfield is bringing Atlions of Scandalum
die D-rcembris, anno regn' diet' Dom' Regis Magnatum agair.fi all the Grand Jurymen that in-

nunc 3f. fuprad') apud paroch' fancti Michaelis ditled him at the laft Affizes; and the fevera I Gen-

Cornhill London prsed', falfo, illicite, injulte, tlemen that were indibled in Chefhire and North-
malit.ofe, corrupte, & feditiofe fecit, compofuit, amptonfhire, will bring their feveral Acliom at

& fcripfit, & fieri, componi, fcribi, & publicari Law againft them. Ac ad nequiffimas & ncfan-

caufavit, quoddam al' falfum, fcandalofum, libel- diffimas machination' & intention' fuas prsed' ul-
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terius perimplend', perficiend', & ad efFcdum

redigend*, idem S. B. Bar' poftea (fcilicet, zo

die Decembr', anno regn' Dom' Caroli fecundi

nunc Regis Angl', &c. 3f.) apud paroch' fandi

Michaclis Cornhill London pred', falfo, illicite,

rnjuftc, corrupte, & feditiofe fecit, compofuit, 8c

feripfit, 8c fieri, componi, fcribi, & publicari

caufavic quoddam al' faljum, fcandalofum, libel-

lofum, 8c feditiofum libellum, geren' dat' 4 die

Decembr', anno Dom' 1683, in quo quidem libel-

lo (int' al') content' fuer' ha; al' falfae, fids, fcan-

dalofse, malitiofe, libellofae, Sc feditiofa; fententise

Anglican' fequen', vide!', Contrary to mofi Mens

Expectation, a Warrant is figned at laft for behead*
ing Mr. Sidney (did' Algernon Sidney innuendo)
at Tower-Hill next Friday: Great Endeavour:
have been u/cd to obtain his Pardon, but the con-
trary Party have carried it, which much dajheth
our Hope1 -, but God fiill governs. Ea intentione
ad incitand', movend', & procurand' feditionem'
malevolent', & difcord' int' did' Dom' Regent
& fubdit' ipfius Dom' Regis hujus regn' Angl%
necnon int' ipfos fubdit', in malum & pernitio-
fum exemplum omn' al' in tali cafu delinquen',
ac contra pacem Dom' Regis nunc, coron', Sc
dignitat' fuas, &c. Unde, &c,

Rex verfus Roiewell s
, for High-Treafon.

Mich" 56 Car" II. Rot. 1$?. B.R.
Surry (T. A Lias, fcil' die Martis, fcil' feptimo

XJL die Odobris, anno regni Domini

noftri Caroli fecundi, Dei gratia Anglise, Sco-

tia;, Francis, & Hibernise Regis, fidei defens',

&c. tricefimo fexto. Per quandam inquifitionem

capt' pro fereniflimo Domino Rege apud King-

fton fuper Thames', in comitatu Surr', coram

Georgio Com' Berkley, Francifco Wythens Mil*,

un' Juftic' didi Domini Regis ad placita coram

ipfo Rege tenend' aflign'; Thoma Jenner Mil',

un' Servien' dicTti Domini Regis ad legem, ac

Recordator' civitat' London ; Adamo Browne

Bar', Francifco Vincent Bar', Edvardo Evelin

Mil' & Bar', Jacobo Clarke Mil', Chriftophero

Buckle Mil', Richardo Heath Servien' ad legem,

Petro Rich, & Stephano Harvey Arm', Juftic*

didi Domini Regis, per literas patentes ipfius

Domini Regis eifdem Juftic' prenominat', ac

quibufcunque tribus vsl pluribus eorum, fub

magno figillo didi Domini Regis Anglise con-

fed', ad inquirend' per facramentum proborum

8c legalium hominum com' prsedid', ac aliis viis,

modis, 8c mediis, quibus melius fciverint aut po-

terint tam infra libertat', quam extra, per quos

rei Veritas melius fciri poterit, de quibufcunque

proditionibus, mifprifionibus proditionum, infur-

redionibus, rebellionibus, contrafaduris, tonfur',

lotur', falfis fabricationibus, 8c aliis falfitat' mo-
netas hujus regni Anglic, ac aliorum regnorum,

five dominiorum quorumcunque ; ac dc quibuf-

cunque murdris, feloniis, homicid', interfedioni-

bus, burglar', raptibus mulierum, congregatio-

nibus ac conventiculis illicitis, verborum prolatio-

nibus, coadunationibus, mifprifionibus, confede-

rationibus , falfis allegantiis , tranfgreflionibus

,

riot', rout', retentionibus, efcapiis, contempt*,

falfitat', negligent', conceleament', manutenent',

oppreflionibus, cambipartiis, deceptionibus, ac

aliis malefadis, offens', 8c injur' quibufcunque

;

necnon accefTar' eorumdem infra com' predid',

tam infra libertat', quam extra, per quofcunque

& qualitercunquc habit', fad', perpetrat', five

commifla, 8c per quos, vel per quern, cui vel

quibus, quando, qualiter, 8c quomodo ; ac de

aliis articulis 8c circumftantiis, premifla 8c eorum
aliquod vel aliqua qualitercunque concernen'

,

plenius veritat', Sc ad eafdem proditiones, 8c alia

premifla audiend' 8c examinand' aflign', fecun-

dum legem 8c confuetudinem regni didi Dom'
Regis Angliae, per facramentum duodecim jur'

^proborum 8c legalium hominum com' predid',

qui adtunc Sc ibidem jurat' 8c onerat' exiften9
ad

inquirend' pro dido Domino Rege, 8c corpore
com* predid', extitit prefentat'. Surr. ff. Jura-
tores, &c. The whole Indiclment, as in the Trial.
Quod quidem indidamentum Dominus Rex

nunc coram eo poftea, certis de caufis, venire
fecit terminand', &c. Per quod precept' fuit Vic'
com' predid' non omitt', fcrV. quin caperet eum,
fi, fcjV. ad refpondend*, ($c. Et modo, fcil', die
Jovis prox' poft tres feptimanas fandi Michaelis,
lfto eodem termino, coram Domino Rege apud
Weftm', venit predid' Thomas Rofewell, fub
cuftod' cuftod' prifon' de le Gatehoufe Weft-
minft', in cujus cuftod' preantea ex caufa pre-
did' commifs' fuit virtute brevis didi Domini
Regis de Habeas Corpus, ad fubjiciend' 8c reci-
piend' ad barram hie dud' in propria perfon' fua
qui committitur Marr*, &fY. Ec ftatim de pre?
miflis ei fuperius impofit', alloquut' qualiter fe
yelit inde acquietari, dicit, quod ipfe in nullo eft
inde culpabilis, 8c inde de bono 8c malo ponit fe
fuper patriam. Ideo ven' inde jur' coram diclo
Domino Rege apud Weftm', die Martis in odab'
fan&i Martini, per quos, &c. Et qui, (#c. ad
recogn', &c. quia, &c. Idem dies dat' eft pras-
fat' Thoma; Rofewell, fub cuftod' prsefat' cuftodis
prifon' de le Gatehoufe Weftm' iterum commifs',
falvo cuftodiend' quoufque, &c. Ad quem qui-
dem diem Martis in octab' fan&i Martini, coram
Domino Rege apud Weftm', venit prsdicV Tho-
mas Rofewell fub cuftod' prsefat' cuftod' prifon'
de le Gatehoufe Weftm' prcdicV, virtute brevis
Domini Regis de Habeas Corpus, ad fubjiciend',

&c. ad barram hie ducV in propria perfona fua,
qui committitur Marr', &c. Et jur' predict* per
Vic' com' predid' ad hoc impanellat' cxacl*
ven', qui ad veritatem de premiffis dicend' cleft',

triat' 8c jurat', dicunt fuper facramentum fuum,
quod predict' Thomas Rofewell eft culpabilis de
alta proditione predict', in indictament' predid'
fpecificat'j modo 8c forma prout per indidament'
predid' fuperius verfus eum fupponitur. Et quod
idem Tho' Rofewell tempore perpetrationis alta;

proditionis predid', feu unquam poftea, nulla
habuit bona feu catalla, terras, five tenementa,
ad notitiam jur' predid'. Et quia curia didi
Domini Regis hie de judic' fuo inde reddend*
nondum advifatur, dies inde dat' eft prefat' Tho-
ma; Rofewell, in ftatu quo nunc, &c. ufque
diem Mercur' prox' poft odab' Purificationis
bcata; Mariac Virginis coram Domino Rege,
ubicunque, &V. de judic' fuo inde reddend', &c-.-

* Vol. III. p. 997. N° 130.
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ante qucm diem di&us Dominus Carolus fecundus

Rex Anglias, &c. diem fuum claufit extremum,

& Dominus Jacobus fecundus fuper fe fufcepit

gubernationem hujus regni Anglias. Et modo,

icilicet die Mercur' prox' poft odtab' Purificatio-

nis beatas Maris virginis, ilto eodem termino

coram Domino Rege apud Weftm' venic pras-

dicV Thomas Rofewell in propria perfona fua,

fub cuftod' prasfat' cuftodis prifon' de le Gate-

houfe Weftm' prasdicf.', & alloquut' ei fi quid

pro fe habeac, vel diccre fciar, quare curia hie

ad judic' fuper indidtament' prasdidt' procedere

non debeat, dicit, quod didtus Dominus Carolus

fecundus, Dei gratia Anglias, Scotias, Francis,

& Hibernias nuper Rex, fidei defenfor, &c. per

literas fuas patent' fub magno figillo fuo Anglias

figillat', geren' dat' apud Weftm' vicefimo octa-

vo die Januar', anno regni fui tricefimo fexto,

de gratia fua fpeciali, ac ex certa fcientia & mero

motu fuis, pardonavit, remifit, & relaxavit, ac

per eafdem literas patentes, pro fe, hasred', &
fucceflbr' fuis, pardonabat, remittebat, 8c relaxa-

bat eidem Thomas Rofewell, per nomen Thomas

Rofewell nuper de paroch' de RedrifFe in com'

Surr' Clerico, feu quocunque alio nomine vel

cognomine, feu additione nominis vel cognomi-

nis, aut loci, idem T. Rofewell fciatur, cenfeatur,

vocetur, five nuncupetur, aut nuper fciebatur,

cenfebatur, vocabatur, five nuncupabatur, omnes

proditiones, quafcunque, unde prasfat' Thomas
Rofewell in termino fandti Michaelis jam uk'

elaps', in curia didti nuper Regis, coram ipfo

Rege apud Weftm' tent', convicV five attindfc'

fuitj ac omnia & fingula indidtament', judicia,

convidtiones, condemnationes, executiones, im-

prifonament', punitiones, & omnes alias pcenas

& pcenditat' quascunque fuper vel verfus ipfurn

Thomam Rofewell, de, pro, five concernen'

prasmiffis, feu eorum aliquo habic', fact', reddit',

five adjudicat', aut in pofterum habend', red-

dend', faciend', five adjudicand', necnon omnia

& fingula utlagar' verfus didtum Thomam Rofe-

well, ratione feu ocedfione prasmifforum, feu eo-

rum aliquor' vel alicujus promulgat', five in po-

fterum promulgand', ac omn' & omnimod' feci:',

querel', forisfudtur', impetitiones & demand'

quascunque, qua; didtus nuper Rex verfus ipfurn

ratione prasmifforum, feu eorum alicujus, babuit,

habet, feu in futuro habere poterit, aut hasred'

feu fucceffbres didti nuper Regis ullo modo ha-

bere poterint in futuro, fedtamque pacis ipfius

nuper Regis, quae ad ipfurn nuper Regem verfus

prasfat' Thomam Rofewell pertinet, feu pertinere

poteft occafione prasmiflbrum, feu eorum aliquor'

vel alicujus; Sc firmam pacem didci nuper Regis

ei inde debat & concedebat per eafdem literas

patent', volens quod idem Thomas Rofewell per

Vicecomites, Juftic', Ballivos, aut alios miniftros

ipfius nuper Regis, hasred', feu fuceeflbr' fuorum,

occafione prasmiflor', feu eorum alicujus, mole-

ftetur, occafionetur, perturbetur, feu in aliquo

gravetur} volens quod caedem literas fuas patent',

quoad omnia & fingula prasmifia fuperius men-

tionat', bon', firm', valid', fufficient', §C effedtual'

in lege fint & erint, licet crimina & offens' prae-

didt' minus certe fpecificat' exiftuntj quodque

pardonatio ilia in omnibus cur' didti nuper Regis,

& alibi, interpretetur 8c adjudicetur in beneficen-

tiffimo fenfu, pro firmiori exoneratione prasfat'

Thomas Rofewell, ac etiam placitetur & allocc-

tur in omnibus cur' didti nuper Regis, abfque

aliquo brevi de allocations in ea parte prius ob-

tent' five obtinend', non obftant' ftatut' in par-

liamento, anno regni diet' nuper Regis decim©
tertio fact' 8t edit', & non obftante aliquo defect'

auc aliquibus defedtibus in eifdem literis patent'

content', aut aliquo alio ftatut', adtu, ordinatio-

ne, provifione, proclamatione, five reftridtione,

auc aliqua alia re, caufa, vel materia quacunque
in contrar' inde in aliquo non obftant'. Ita ta-

men quod didtus Thomas Rofewell tal' bon' &
fuffic' fecurit«u' de fe bene gerend', a dat' literar'

patent' prasdidt' erga didtum nuper Regem, has-

red', & fucceflbres fuos, & cundtum populum
fuum inveniat, qual' appundtuat' & limitai' erit

per Capital' Juftic' decur' prasd' pro tempore exi-

ften'. Et idem Thomas Rofewell profert hie in

cur' literas patentes prasmifia teltificantes in hasc

verba

:

Carolus fecundus, Dei gratia Anglias, Scotias,

Francias, & Hibernias Rex, fidei defenfor, &c.
omnibus ad quos prasfentes literae noftras perve-

nerint, falutem. Sciatis, quod nos de gratia no-

ftra fpeciali, ac ex certa fcientia, & mero motu
noftris, pardonavimus, remifimus, & relaxavimus,

ac per prasfentes, pro nobis, hasredibus, & fuc-

cefToribus noftris pardonamus, remittimus, & re-

laxamus Thorns Rofewell, nuper de paroch* de

RedrifFe in com' Surr' Clerico, feu quocunque
alio nomine vel cognomine, feu additione nomi-

nis, aut loci, idem Thomas Rofewell fciatur,

cenfeatur, vocetur, five nuncupetur, aut nuper

fciebatur, cenfebatur, vocabatur, five nuncupa-

batur, omnes proditiones quafcunque, unde prs-

fat' Thomas Rofewell, in termino fandti Michaelis

jam ult' elaps', in curia noftra coram nobis apud

Weftmonaft' tent', convicV five attinct' fuit ; ac

omnia & fingula indictamenta, judicia, convidtio-

nes, condempnationes, executiones, imprifona-

ment2, punitiones, & omnes alias pcenas & pce-

nalitates quafcunque fuper vel verfus ipfurn Tho-
mam Rofeweil, de, pro, five concernen' prs-

miflis, feu eorum aliquibus habit', fact', reddit',

five adjudicat', aut in pofterum habend', red-

dend', faciend', five adjudicand', nee non omnia

& fingula utlagar' verfus didt' Thomam Rofewell,

ratione feu occafione prxmiflbrum, feu eorum
aliquorum vel alicujus promulgat', five in pofte-

rum promulgand', ac omnia & omnimod' feet',

querel', forisfadtur', impetitiones, 6c demand'
quascunque, quas nos verfus ipfurn ratione pras-

miflbrum, feu eorum alicujus habuimus, habe-

mus, feu in futuro habere poterimus, aut hasred'

feu fuceeffor' noftri ullo modo habere poterint in

futuro, fedtamque pacis noftrs, qus ad nos ver-

fus prasfat' Thomam Rofewell pertinent, feu per-

tinere poterint ratione prsmifforum, feu eorum
aliquorum vel alicujus ; & firmam pacera noftram

ei inde damus & concedimus per prasfentes, no-

lentes quod idem Thomas Rofewell, per Viceco-

mites, Jufticiar', Ballivos, aut alios miniftros no-

ftros, hasredum, feu fuccefToi' noftrorum, occa-

fione prasmifTorum, feu eorum alicujus, molefte-

tur, occafionetur, feu in aliquo gravetur. Vo-
lcnt' quod has literas noftras patentes, quoad om-
nia & fingula prasmifia fuperius mentionat', bo-

r.as, firmas, valid', fufficient', & efFeclual' in

lege fint & erint, licet crimina & offens' prasdidV

minus certe fpecificat' exiftunt, quodque hasc

pardonatio noftra in omnibus curiis noftris, &
alibi, imerpretetur & adjudicstur in beneficentif-

fimo fenfu, pro firmiori exoneratione prsfat' Tho-
mas Rofewell, ac etiam placitetur £c allocetur

in omnibus curiis noftris abfque aliquo brevi de

allocations



5° APPENDIX.
allocatione in ea parte piius obtenc', five ob.i-

nend', non obftante ftatut' in parliament' anno

rcgni noftri decimo tettio fact' & edit', & non

obit'ant' aliquo defect', ant aliquibus defectibus in

his iiteris patentibus content', auc aliquo alio fta-

tuto, actu, ordinatione, provifione, proclamatio-

ne, live reftrictione, aut aliqua alia re, cauia,

vel materia quacunque in contrar' inde in aliquo

non obftante > ita tamen, quod diet' Thomas

Rofewell tal' bon' & fuflicien' fecuritat' de fe

bene gerend' ex nunc erga nos, tigered' & fuc-

ceflores noftros, & cunclum populum noftrum

inveniat, qual' appun&uat' & limitat' erit per

Capital' Juftic' de curia praedi£t' pro tempore

exiften'. In cujus rei testimonium has literas no-

ftras fieri fecimus patentes, telle meipfo apud

Weftmonafl' vicefimo octavo die Januarii, anno

regni noftri tricefimo fexto.

Per breve de privato figillo, Barker.

Super quo vis' & per cur' hie intellect' omni-
bus & fingulis praemifs', cons' eft per cur' hie,

quod praedicV Thomas Rofewell (fub conditioner

mentionat' in Uteris patent' fupcrius recitat') de
altis p:oditionibus praedicV in in lictament' prae-

dicV fupenus fpecificat' exoneretur, & eat inde
fine die.

On the Back of the Pardon is written as follows:

Ifta Charta placitatur, allocatur, & irrotulatur

de record' coram Domino Rege apud Weftm'
termino fandti Hilar', anno regni Domini Jacobi
fecundi nunc Regis Angl', &c. primo.

Rex verfus Hayes \ for Higfi-Treafon.

Mich' 7,6 Car' If. B. R
London ff.OUod Jofephus Hayes nupcr

v<
-«- London mercator, ut falius

de
pro-

ditor contra illuftriffimum & excellentiftimum

Principem Dam' Carolum fecundum, Dei gratia

Angl', Scot', Franc', & Hiberniae Regem, &
naturalem Dominum fuum, timorem Dei in cor-

de fuo non habens, nee debiium ligeanc' luae

ponderans, fed inftigatione diabolica mot' & ie-

ducV, dHection' veram & debitam, & naturalem

obedienc', quas verus & fidel' fubdit' did' Dom'

Reo-' erga ipfum Dom' Regem gereret, & de

jure gerere tenetur penitus iubtrahens, '& totis

viribis fuis intendens pacem & communem tran-

quillitat' hujus regni Angl' inquietare, moleftare,

& perturbare, 6c guerram & rebellion' contra

diet' Dom' Regem iufcitare & movere, & gu-

bernation' did' Dom' Reg' in hoc regn' Angl*

fubvertere, & dift' Dom? Regem a titulo, hono-

re, &c regali nomine, coron' imperial' regni fui

Angl' deponere, dejicere, & deprivare, & diet'

Dom' Regem ad final' deftruction' adducere &
ponere, 32. die Augufti, anno rcg' Dom' Caroli

fecundi nunc Reg' Angl', &fV. ^f. apud paroch*
f ncti Mich' Baffifhaw, in warda de Bafliihaw
London, iatis fciens, quendam Thomam Arm-
ftrong nuper de London MiliV, ut falfum pro-
ditor', proditorie confpiravifle & imaginat' fuifle

mortem & final' deftruction' diet' Dom' Reg',
cc pro eadem proditione proditorie fu^am fecifle,

ipfe praed' Johannes Hayes poftea, fcilicet dicto

51. die Augufti anno 1 eg' diet' Dom' Regis nunc

jf. fuprad', & diverfis alf diebus & vicibus, tam
antea quam poftea, apud paroch' fancfi Michael*
Baffiflaaw, in warda de Baffifhaw London praed',

fcienter, malitiofe, leditiofe, & proditorie praed*

T. Avmftrong comfortavir, fuftinuit, & manute-
nuit, & praed

;

J. H. adtunc & ibidem pro com-
fortatione, iuftentatione, & manutentiore praed*

T. A. fummam attingen' ad centum & quinqua-

ginta libras legal' monet' Angl', malitiofe, fedi-

tiofe, & proditorie folvit, & lolvi caufavit, con-

tra ligeanc' fuae debitum, ac contra pacem diet'

Dom' Regis nunc, coron', & dignitat' fuaSj &c,
necnon contra formam ftatuti, &c*

Pritcliard verfus Papillon
x

,

An AElionfor Falfe Imprifbnment.

Pafcha 36 Car' IL B. R.

LondonfT. \l/llhelmus Pritchard Miles, nu-

VV per Major civit' praedicV, que-

rit' de Thoma Papillon in cuftod' Mar', cjSV. pro

eo videlicet, quod cum duodecimo die Februarii,

anno noftri Domini Caroli fecundi nunc Regis

Anglise, &V. tricefimo quinto, ipfe idem Wilhcl-

mus Pritchard, ac antea, & abinde per feparat'

menfes ex tunc prox' fequend' extitit Major ci-

vitat* London praed', in officium Majoratus illius

debito modo elect', prasfect', & jurat', ac fe-

cundum confuetudinem civitat' London' predict',

a tempore cujus contrar' memoria hominum non

exiftit, in eadem ufitat' £c approbat' officium

fuum Majoratus illius indies intendi debuit, per

afliduam diligent' ipfius Wilhelmi in regimine

civitat' illius, per ipfum fecundum debitum officii

fui praed' exequend', & performand' ad hono-

rem & dignitat' ad officium illud fpecfant' 6%

pertinen', prsedictus tamen Thomas exiftens unus
de Comitat' civitat' praed', & fub regimine dicti

Wilhelmi, virtute officii fui prsedicfi, prsemiffor'

non ignarus, fed machinans, £c falfe ac malitiofe

invidens felici ftatui ipfius Wilhelmi in officio fuo

prgedict', necnon ipfum Wilhelmum in executio-

ne officii illius minus jufte inquietare & diftur-

bare, praedicto duodecimo die Februarii, anno
tricefimo quinco fupradicto, idem Thomas Pa-
pillon, pro vexatione praefat' Wilhelmo adhibend'
(eodem Thoma adtunc non habente aliquam legi-

timam vel probabilem caufam actionis verfus ip-

fum Wilhelmum) falfe & malitiofe profequut' fuit

extra cur' didti Domini Reg' enram ipfo Rcge
nunc habit', fcilicet, apud Weftmon' in com'
Middlcfex adtunc & adhuc tent' exiften', quod-
dam breve ipfius Dom' Reg' de alias Capias

h Vol. HI. p. 1067. N u 131.
i Vol. Iff. p. 1072. N° 132.
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verfus ipfum Wilhelmum, per nomen Wilhelmi
Pritchard, Militis, adtunc Coronator' civitat' Lon-
don' praed' direct', per quod quidem breve idem
Dominus Rex nunc eidem tunc Coronatori pra:-

cepit quod caper' ipfum Wilhelmum Pritchard, fi

invent' foret in civitat' London' prsd', & eum
falvo cuftodiret, ita quod haberet corpus ejus

coram Domino Rege apud Weftm' die

cur' prox' poft quindenam Pafchas ex tunc prox'

fequend', ad refponden' prasfat' Thomas Papiilon,

per nomen Thomas Papiilon, Armiger', de pla-

cito tranfgres', & quod idem tunc Coronator ha-

beret ibi tunc breve illud. Et prasdietus Thomas
Papiilon, ex ulteriori nequitia & malitia fua pras-

cogitat' verfus ipfum Wilhelmum, poftea 8c ante

retorn' brevis prasdicti, fcilicet, vicefimo quarto

die Aprilis, anno tricefimo fupradicto, apud Lon-
don' prsed', videlicet, in parochia fanctas Mildre-

ds Virginia in Pulletria, in warda de Cheap',

London, prasdi&um breve de alias capias cuidam

5*
Johanni Brome, Gen', adtunc Coronator' civiV
London prasd' exiften', deliberavit exequend', ac
adtunc & ibidem apud Wilhelmum adtunc Major'
civitat' London' prsd', ut prafert', exiften*, prse-
textu brevis illius prasd' corp' fuum capi ccarreftari,

ac in prifona fub cuftod' ejufdem tunc Coronator'
per fpatium fex horarum, ex tunc prox' fequen',
detineri malitiofe & minus jufie procuravit, in
vituperation', derogation', & vilipendium pras-
dicti Wilhelmi Sc officii Majoratus iplius WilhJm'
prasd', necnon ad damnum, prasjudicium, 8c gra-
vamen ipfius Wilhelmi manifeft', ubi revera, &
de facto prasdictus Thomas Papiilon, prardido
tempore captionis, arreftionis, & detentionis ipfius

Wilhelm' in prifona fie, ur prsefert' fact', non ha-
buit aliquam juftam vol probabilem caufam aclio-

nis verfus ipfum Wilhelmum in prasmiffis prasd',

unde idem Wilhelmus die' quod ipfe deteriorat'

eft, 8c damnum habet ad valenc' decern mille libra-

rum, & inde produc' feclam, &c.

Rex verfus Hampden k
, for High-Treafon.

1 Jac' II. O. B.
Midd' fT. lp\Ominus Rex mandavit Juftic' fuis

\-J ad inquirend' per facram' probor'

ac legal' homin' de Com' Midd', ac aliis viis, mo-
dis & mediis, quibus melius fciverint aut poterint,

dequibufcunq; proditionibus, mifprifionibus prodi-

tion', infurrectionibus, rebellionibus, contrafactur',

tonfur', lotur', falfis fabricationibus & al' falfitat'

monet' hujus regni Anglias, 8c al' regnor', five

dominior' quorumcunque, ac de al' offens' & in-

jur' quibufcunque, ac Juftic' fuis ad gaolam fuam
de Newgate de prifonar' in eadem exiften', deli-

berand' aflign', necnon cuftod' pacis fuas, ac

Juftic' fuis ad divers' felon', tranfgr', & al' male-
facta in eodem Com' perpetrat', audiend' & ter-

minand' affign', & eorum cuilibet breve fuum
claufum, in haec verba : Jacobus fecundus, Dei
gratia, &c. Juftic' noftris ad inquirend' per fa-

crament' proborum & legalium homin' de Com'
Midd', ac aliis viis, modis 8c mediis, quibus me-
lius fciverint aut poterint, de quibufcunque pro-

ditionibus, mifprifionibus prodition', infurrection',

rebellion', contrafactur', tonfur', lotur', falfis fabri-

cationibus, 8c al' falfitat' monet' hujus regni An-
gliae, 8c al' regnor' five dominior' quorumcunque,
ac de al' offens' 8c injur' quibufcunque, ac Juftic'

noftris ad gaolam noftram de Newgate, de pri-

fonar' in eadem exiften' deliberand' affign', nec-

non cuftod' pacis noftrasj ac Juftic' noftris ad

divers' felon', tranfgr', 8c al' malefacta in eodem
Com' perpetrat', audiend', 8c terminand' aflign',

8c eorum cuilibet, falurem. Volen' certisdecaufis

record' conviclion' Johannis Hampden, Gen',

pro quibufdam altis proditionibus unde coram no-

bis indictat' eft, 8c fuperinde convict' extitit, ut

dicitur, coram nobis per vos mitti, vobis 8c cui-

libet veftrum mandamus, quod record' praed', cum
omnibus illud tangen', adeo plene 8c integrc prout

coram vobis jam refidet, quocunque nomine idem
Johannes nuncupetur in eodem, coram nobis fub

figill' veftris, aut unius veftrum, a die Pafchas in

quindecim dies ubicunque tunc fuerimus in Angl'

mittat', feu unus veftrum mittas, una cum hoc
brevi, ut uk' inde fieri fac', quod de jureacfecun-

dum legem 8c confuetud' regni noftri Anglias fore

viderimus faciend', T. E. Herbert, Mil', &c.
Per Cur'' Aftry.

Quod quidem breve £sf record'' in eodem brevi men*
tionaf, retornaf, & certificat' fuit, prout fequitur :

IT. Virtute iftius brevis mibi 8c al' direct', record,'

conviction' infra nominat' Johan' Hampden, Gen',
unde in ifto brevi fit mentio, cum omnibus ea tan-

gen', coram Dom' Rege huic brevi annex', mitto
prout interius prascipitur : Refpons' Roberti Jeffe-
reys. Mil', Major' civif London', ac un' Juftic' in-

frafcript'. Midd' AT. Memorand' quod, ad Seflion*

Oyer 8c Terminer Dom' Regis, tent' pro Com'
Midd' apud Hicks's Hall in St. JohnVftreet in

Com' prasd', die Lunae, fcil', 7. die Septemb', anno
regni Dom' noftri Jacobi fecundi, Dei gratia, &c.
primo, coram W. Smich, Bar', J. Berry, Mil', 8c

al'fociis fuis, Juftic' dicti Dom' Regis, per literas

paten' ipfius Dom' Regis eifdem Juftic' pra;no-

minat', ac quibufcunque quatuor vel plunbus
eor', fub magno figillo didti Dom' Regis Angliae

confect', ad inquirend' per facrament' probor' 8c

legalium homin' Com' Midd* prasd
3
, ac omnibus

al' viis, modis 8c mediis, quibus melius fciverint

aut poterint, tarn infra libertat' quam extra, per

quos rei Veritas melius far' poterit, 8c inquiri de
quibufdam prodition', milprifion' prodition', in-

furrectionibus, rebellionibus, contrafactur', ton-

fur', lotur', falfis fabricationibus, & al' falfitat'

monet' hujus regni Anglian, 8c al' regnor' five

dominior' quorumcunque, ac de quibufcunque

murdris, felon', homicid', interfection', burglar',

raptibus mulierum, congregationibus 8c conven-

ticul' illicit', verbor' prolationibus & coaduna-

tionibus, mifprifionibus, confederationibus falfis,

alleganc', tranfgr', riot', rout', retentionibus, efca-

piis, contempt', oppreflionibus, ac de al' articulis

8c offens' in eifdem literis paten' dicti Dom' Regis

fpecificat', necnon accefTar' eorundem, intra Com'
prasd', tarn infra libertat' quam extra, per quof-

cunque 8c qualitercunque habit', fact', perpetrat',

five commifs', ac de al articulis & circumftantiis

praemifs' 8c eor' aliquo vel alit' qu-ditercunque

concernen' plenius veritat', 8c ad eafdem prodi-

k Vol. IV. p. 207. N« 138.
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tiones 6c al' praemifs' audiend' 6c terminand', fe- non omitteret, &c. quin caperet eum ad rcfpon-

cund' legem 6c confuetud' hujus regni Angliae, dend\ &c. Ac quod ad deliberation' gaol' dicti

aflign', per facrament' W. Wood, Ar', & 14 al' Dom' Regis de Newgate tent' pro com' Midd'
probor' 8c legalium homin' Com' praed', adtunc praed' apud Jufticc-Hall in le Old Baily in fub-

6c ibidem jurat' 6c onerat' ad inquirend' pro dicto urbiis civitat' London', die Mcrcur', fcil', p die

Domino Rege 6c corpore Com' praed', praefentat' Decembr', anno regni dicti Dom' Regis Jacobi
exiftit, modo 6c forma fequen', fcil', Midd' fT. fecundi nunc Regis Angliae, tsfc. primo fuprad',

Jur' pro Domino Rege fuper facrament' fuum coram Roberto Jeffereys, Mil', Maj r' civit'

praefentant, quod Johannes Hampden, nuper de London', Edwardo Herbert, Mil', Capital' Ju-
paroch' fancti iEgidii in campis in Com' Midd', ftic' dicti Dom' Regis ad placita coram ipfo Rege
Gen', ut falfus proditor contra illuftriflimum 6c tenend' aflign', 6c al* fociis fuis Juftic' dicti Dom*
excellentifilmum principem Dom' Carolum fecun- Regis, ad gaolam fuam de Newgate de prifonar'

dum, nuper Regem Angliae, &c. naturalem Do- in eadem exiften' deliberand' aflign', ifta gaolae

minum fuum, timorem Dei in corde fuo non ha- deliberatio adjornat' fuit per praefat' Juftic' dicti

bens, nee debit' ligeanc' fuse ponderans, fed infti- Dom' Regis ult' nominat' hie ufque diem craftin',

gatione diabolica mot' & feduct', cordialem di- diem Jovis, fcil', 10 diem ejufdem menfis De-
lection', 6c veram, debitam 6c naturalem obedienc' cembr', anno primo fuprad', ad horam feptimam
quas verus 6c fidel' fubdit' dicti nuper Dom' Regis ante meridiem ejufdem diei, apud Juftice Hall
erga ipfum nuper Dom' Regem gereret, 6c de praed' tenend', coram praefat' Juftic' dicti Dom'
jure gerere tenebatur, penitus fubtrahens, 6c ma- Regis ult' nominat', ad faciend'ulterius prout cur'

chinans, practicans, 6c totis virib' fuis intendens ibidem confideraret, &V. Et fuper cundem diem
pacem 6c communem tranquillitat' hujus regni Jovis 10 diem ejufdem menfis Decembr', anno
Angliae inquietare, moleftare, 6c perturbare, &C primo fuprad', ifta gaol' deliberatio tent' fuit per

guerram 6c rebellion' contra dictum nuper Dom' adjorn' praed' pro com' praed', apud Juftic' Hall

Regem infra hoc regnum Angliae iufcitare, movere, prasd', coram praefat' Juftic' dicti Dom' Regis ult*

6c procurare, 6c gubernation' dicti nuper Dom' nominat', ac adtunc 6c ibidem praed' gaol' deli-

Regis hujus regni fui Angliae fubvertere, mutare, beratio dicti Dom' Regis ulterius adjornat' fuit

6c alterare, 6c dictum nuper Dom' Regem a titulo, per praefat' Juftic' dicti Dom' Regis ult
1

nominat'

honore, 6c regali nomine, 6c corona imperiali regni ibidem ufque diem craftin', diem Veneris, fcil',

fui Angliae deponere 6cdeprivare, 6c dictum nuper n diem ejufdem menfis Decembr', anno primo
Dom' Regem ad mortem 6c final' deftruction' fuprad', ad horam feptimam ante meridiem ejufdem
adducere 6c ponete, zo die Julii, anno regni diei, apud Juftice Hall praed' tenend', ad faciend'

dicti Dom' Caroli fecundi, nuper Regis Angliae, ulterius prout cur' ibidem confideraret, &c. Ac
25* 6c divers' al' diebus 6c vicibus, tarn antea ad eundem diem Veneris 1 1 diem ejufdem menfis

quam poftea, apud paroch' fancti iEgidii in cam- Decembr', anno primo fuprad', deliberatio iftius

pis in Com' Midd', falfo, maliciofe, diabolice, 6c gaolae tent' fuit per adjorn' praedict' pro com'
proditorie, cum divers' ^1' falfis rebellibus 6t pro- praed', apud Juftice Hall praed' coram praefat' Ju-
ditoribus jur' praed' ignot', confpiravit, compafTa- ftic' dicti Rom' Regis ult' nominat', ac adtunc 6c

vit, imaginat' fuir, 6c intendebat dictum nuper ibidem praed' deliberatio gaol' dicti Dom' Regis
Dominum Regem, tunc fupremum 6c naturalem ulterius adjornat' fuit per praefat' Juftic' dicti

Dom' fuum, non folum de regali ftatu, titulo, Dom' Regis ult' nominat' hie ufque diem Sabbati,

poteftat', 6c regimine regni fui Angliae deprivare fcil', 19 diem ejufdem menfis Decembr', anno
6cdejicere, verurh ttiam eundem nupei Dom' Re- primo fuprad', ad horam feptimam ante meridiem
gem interficere 6c ad mortem adducere 6c ponere, ejufdem diei, apud Juftice Hall praed' tenend'

per totum regnum fuum Angliae caufare 6c pro» 19 diem ejufdem menfis Decemb', anno primo
cur -ire, &c iinurrection' 6c rebellion' contra di- fuprad', deliberatio iftius gaol' tent' fuit per ad-

ctum nuper Dom' Regem infra hoc regn' Angliae jorn' praed' pro com' praed, apud Juftice Hall
procurare 6c auxiliari } 6c ad eifdem nequiflimas, praed', coram praefat' Juftic' dicti Dom' Regis

gend', idem Johannes Hampden, ut falfus prodi- hie ufque diem Mercui', fcil', 30 diem ejufdem
tor tunc 6r ibidem, fcil', dicto zo die Julii, anno menfis Decemb', anno primo fuprad', ad horam
regni dicti nuper Dom' Regis 3f fupradicl', 6c feptimam ante meridiem ejufdem diei, apud Juftice
divers' al' diebus 6c vicibus, tam antea quam Hall praed', tenend' coram praefat' Juftic' dicti

poftea, apud parochiam fancti JEgidii in campis Dom' Regis ult' nominat', ad faciend' ult' prout
praed' in dicto com' Midd', falfo, illicite, nequif- cur' ibidem confideraret, &c. Ac ad eundem
lime, diabolice, & proditorie, cum Jacobo nuper diem Mercur', 50 diem ejufdem menfis De-

curand' divers' magn' denar' fumm' 6c ingent' dicti Dom' Regis ult' nominat', & ad eundem

Regis nunc, coron' 6c dignitat' fuas, necnon contra praefat' Juftic' dicti D>m' R'gis ult' nominat',
formam ftatuti in hujufmodi cafu edit' & provis', praefat' Juftic' dicti Dom' Regis per dictas literas

fcrV. Per quod praccept' eft Vic' com' Midd', quod paten' ipfius Dom' Regis, fub magno figill' Angl',

ut



I

APPENDIX.
53

ut pr^fcrtur confeft', per manus fuas propr' deli- Regem Anglise, tfc . defund' ante ic diem Ja-
beraver' indictament; prsd hie incur' de record', nuar' ult', quandocunque, qualitercunque, feu ubi-
in forma juris terminand , &c. Ac fuperinde ad cunque fad', commifs', five perpetrat', licet idem

it

.

?
odie ejufdem menfis Decembr , anno pnmo fu- iftir, vel non exiftit, auc inde indiftari, arreftari,

,.

! prad', coram praefat Juftic dicti Dom' Regis, ad appcllari, redan, impetiri, atting>, convinci, ut-

e
pried' gaolam lpfius Dom' Regis de Newgate lagari, condempnari, five adiudicari, contigerit in

adjudicat', aut in polh..
ficat' ei fupenus impofiV, allocuc' qualit' fe velit bend', fiend', reddend', five adjudicand', necnon
inde acquktari, idem Johannes Hambden die' omnia & fingula utlagar' verfus diet' J. H. ratio-
quod ipfe non poteft dedicere, quin ipfe eft culpa- ne five occafione prxmifs', feu eor' aliquor' vei
bil'de aka proditione prsed* in indictament' prced' alicujus eor' promulgat', five in pofterum promul-
fpec' ci fuperius impofit' modo & forma prout gand', ac omnia 6c omnimod' fecV, querel', fines,

per indictament' prxd' fuperius verfus eum fup- iorisfactur', impetitiones, feifuras, procefs', 6c de-
ponitur, & altam prodition' pra:d' in indictament' mand' qusecunque, qua; dictus Dominus Rex
prsed' ex preffe cognovit : Et ftatim qusefit' eft de verfus ipfum ratione prsemifs', feu eor' alicujus

prasfat' Johannc Hampden, fi quid pro fe habeat, habuit, habet, feu in future habere poterit, aut
vel dicere fciat, quare cur' hie ad judic' 6c execu- hatred' & fucceflor' ejus ullo modo habere pote-^

tion' de eo fuper conviction' fuam prasd' 6c cog- rint in future, fectamque pads fuse, quce ad diet'

nition' fuam propr' altas proditionis prasd' in in- Dom' Regem verfus pnefat' J. H. pertinent, feu
dictament' prxd' fuperius fpec' procedere non de- pertinere patent, ratione prasmifs', feu eor' aliquor'

dicti Dom' Regis de Newgate unde ven', 6c ibi- gra', &c. omnibus ad quos prazfentes liters no-

dem fuper traham ponatur, 6c abinde ad locum ftrae pervenerint, falutem. bciatis quod nos de
execution' trahatur, 6c ibidem per collum fuum gra' noftra fpecial', ac ex certa fcienc' 6c mere
fufpendatur, 6c vivens ad terr' profternatur, 6c motu noftris pardonavimus, remifimus, 6c relaxa-

quod fecreta membra fua amputentur, 6c interi- vimus, ac per prasfentes pro nobis, haered', 6c
ora extra ventrem fuum capiantur, 6c in ignem fucceffor' noftris pardonamus, remittimus, 6c re-

ponantur, 6c ibidem comburentur, 6c quod caput laxamus J. H. de paroch', &t. Gen', feu quo-
e^jus amputetur, quodque corpus ejus in quatuor cuncq; al' nomine vel cognitionc, feu additione

partes dividatur, 6c quod caput 6c quarteria fua nominis vel cognitionis, aut loci idem J. fciatur,

ponantur ubi Dominus Rex ea affign' voluerit : cenfeatur, vocetur, five nuncupetur, aut nuper
Et modo, fcil', die Mcrcur' prox' poft quinden' fciebatur, cenfebatur, vocabatur, vel nuncupaba-
Pafchas ifto eodem termino, coram Dom' Rege tur, omn' 6c omnimod' prodition', mifpntion'

apud Weftm' ven' prasd' Johannes Hampden, jux- prodition', tranfgr', malefacta, crimina, 6c offens*

ta formam recognition' per ipfum 6c pleg' (uos qusecunque per ie folum, five cum aliqua al' per-

in hac parte prius cognit' in propr' perfona fua, lona, vel aliqmbus al' perfonis contra nos vel prae-

qui committitur Mar', &c. 6c adtunc 6c ibidem chariflimum fratrem noftrum Caro'um fecund'

per cur' dicti Dom' Regis hie quaslit' eft de eodem nuper Regem Anglias, &c. defunct', ante zf
Johanne Hampden, fi quid pre fe habeat, vel dicere diem' Januar' jam ult' elaps', quandocunque, qua-

fciat, quare cur' hie ad execution' fuper judic' litercunque, feu ubicunque fact', commifs', five

praed' in forma praed' reddit' procedere non de- perpetrat', licet idem J. H. de prsemifs' vel ali-

beat, qui ftatim die' quod dictus Dominus Rex quo prsmifs' indictat', arreftat', appellat', rectat',

nunc, ex gra' fua fpeciali, ac ex certa fcienc' 6c impetit', attinct', convict', condempnat', utlagat',

mere motu fuis, per fuas literas paten' fub magno five adjudicat' exiftit, vel non exiftit, aut inde in-

figillo fuo Anglian, geren' dat' apud Wellm' ip dictari, arreftari, appellari, rectari, impetiri, at-

die Febr', anno regni dicti Dom' Regis nunc tingi, convinci, utlagari, condempnari, (ive ad-

fecundo, pardonavit, remifit, relaxavit ac per judicari, cmtigerit in futuro, ac omnia 6c fingula

prasfentes pro fe, hacredibus, 6c fuccelforibus fuis, indictament', judic', condempnationes, attinctur',

pardonavit, remifit, 6c relaxavit Johanni Hamp- executiones, fines, imprifonament', punition', pee-

den nuper de paroch' fancti ^gidii in campis in nas mortis, pcenas corporal', 6c omnia al' pcen.is

com' Midd', Gen', feu quocunque al' nomine 6c pcenalitat' qusecunque fuper vel verfus prred'

vel cognitione, feu adicion' nominis vel cogniti- J. H. de, pro, five concernen' prsemifs' feu eor'

onis y.ut loci, idem J. fciatur, cenfeatur, vocetur, aliquo habit', fafl', reddit', five adjudicat', aut in

live nuncupetur, aut nuper fciebatur, cenfebatur, pofterum habend', fiend', reddend', five adjudi-

vocabatur, five nuncupabatur, omn' 6c omnimod' cand', necnon omnia 6c fingula utlagar' verfus

proditiones, mifprifion' prodition', tranfgr', ma- diet' J. H. ratione five occafione prasmifs' feu

lefacta, crimina, 6c offens' qusecunque, per fe eor' aliquor' vel alicujus eor' promulgat' five in

folum, five cum aliqua al' perfon' vel aliquibus al' pofterum promulgand' ac omn' 6c omnimod'
perfon' contra dictum Dom' Regem, vel praxha- feet', querel', fines, forisfactur', impetitiones, cen-

riffimum fratrem fuum, Carolum fecund' nuper furas, procefs' 6c, demand' quscunq; qu^ nos

Vol. VI. H .
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verfus ipfum ratione praemifs', feu eor' alicujus turn eft etiam in hoc, videlicet, quod indictamen-
habuimus, habemus, feu in futuro habere poteri- turn prac-d' menrionatur fore cape' 7 die Decemb'
mu5, aut haered' vel fucceffor' noftri ullo modo in record' praed' mentionat', coram Juftic' de au-
habere poterint in futuro, fectamq; pacis noftrae, diend' & terminand' in rccordo praed' mentionat'
quae ad nos verfus praefat' J. H. pertinet feu per- & per cos fore deliberand' Juftic' ad gaol' deli*

tincre poterit ratione praemifs' feu eor' aliquor', beration' in eodem recordo fpecificat', 30 die De-
vel alicujus eor' firmam pacem noftram ei inde cembr' tunc poftca in forma juris terminand', fed

damus & concedimus per praefentes, nolentes non apparet per record' convictionis praed', quod
quod idem J. H. per vicecom', jufticiar', ballivos, fcflio de audiend' & terminand' habuit aliquod
aut al' miniftros noftros, haered' feu fucceflbr' no- adjornament' vel continuation' ufque dictum 20
Itror', occafione praemifs' feu eor' alicujus mole- diem Decembr', ideo in co manileft' eft errat'.

iletur, occafionctur, perturbetur, feu in aliquo Erratum eft etiam in hoc, quod verba vi & armis
gravetur, volentes quodq; hae literae noftrae paten' &c. omittuntur in indictament' praed', ideo in eo
(quoad omnia & fingula praemifs' fupcrius men- manifeft' eft errat'. Errat' eft etiam in hoc, quod
tionat') bon', firm', valid', 8c effectual' in lege conftat per record' praed', quod procefs' 8c judic'

lint 8c erint, licet crim' & offens' praed' minus prsed' funt intrat' 8c recordat' fup' record' Julticiar'

certe fpecificat' exift' : Quodque haec pardonatio de audiend' & terminand', & non fuper record*

noftra in omnibus curiis noftris 8c alibi interpre- Juftic' gaol' deliberand', ideo in eo manifeft' eft

tetur & adjudicetur in beneficentiffimo fenfu pro errat'. Errat' eft etiam in hoc, videl', quod non
firmior

5

relaxatione, pardonatione, 8c exoneratione apparet per record' praed', per qualem authoritat*

praed' J. H. ac etiam placitetur & allocetur in Juftic' ad gaol' deliberation' in record' praed*

omnibus cur' noftris, abfque aliquo brevi de alio- mentionat', procefs' & judic' prsed' reddider*

catione in ea parte prius obtcnt' feu obtinend', verfus ipfum piaed' J. H. fup' indictament'

non obftante aliquo defectu aut aliquibus defecti- praed', ideo in eo manifeft' eft errat'. Errat' eft

bus in his literis patentibus content', aut aliquo etiam in hoc, quod fup' reddition' judic' in re-

ilatut', act', ordinatione, feu provifione, procla- cord' praed' mentionat' non apparet quis fuit, qui

matione, five reftriclion', aut aliqua al' re, caufa, ex parte Dora' Regis pro eodem Dom' Rege
vel materia quacunq; in contrar' inde in aliquo pet' judic' fup' conviction' dc materiis in indicta-

non obftante. In cujus rei teilimon' has litcras ment' praed' mentionat', ideo in eo manifeft' eft

noftras fieri fecimus patentes. T. meipfo apud errat'. Erratum eft etiam in hoc, quod in record'

Weftm', ip die Feb', anno regni noftri fecundo. prsed' dicitur, quod ad deliberation' gaol' Dom'
^uar' quidem literal pater? pratextu idem J. H. Regis de Newgate, tent' pro com' Midd' apud
pet' quod ipfe de pr^mifs' per cur' hie exoneretur. Juftice Hall in ie Old Baily in fuburbiis civic*

Super quo vis' & per cur' hie intellectis omnibus London', die Mcrcur', fcil', p die Decembr*
8t fingulis praemifs' cons' eft, quod prsed' J. H. coram Juftic' gaol' deliberation' in eodem record'

eat inde fine die, &c. .Et poftea, fcil', die Lunae mentionat7
, quod ifta gaol' deliberatio adjorn'

prox' poft craftin
5

afcenfion' Dom', ifio eodem fuit per praefat' Juftic', ubi dici debuit adjornat*

term', coram Dom' Rege apud Weftm' ven' eft, & non exprimi via recitationis in tempore
praed' J. in propr' perfona fua, 8c profert hie in prasterit', & in alio loco record' mentionat' prsed'

cur' quoddam breve Dom' Regis nunc claufum, dicitur, quod ifta gaol' deliberatio tent' fuit, ubi

Juftic' fuis hie direct', qui fequitur in haec verba : debuit exprimi tent' eft, 8c non quod tent' fuit,

Jacobus fecundus, &c. Juftic' noftris ad placita quia in tenfu praeterito eft mera recitatio tenendi

coram nob' tenend' affign', falutem. Quia in re- 8c adjornandi cur' ill', 8c non poffitivus actus

cord' & procefs', ac etiam in redditione judic' cu- cur' ill' gaolae deliberation' de determination' in-

jufdam indictament' coram Juftic' noftris ad gaolam dictament' praed', ideo in eo manifeft' eft errat'.

noftram de Newgate de prifonar' in eadem exiften' Erratum eft etiam in hoc, videl', quod judic' praed'

deliberand' affign', verfus J. H. de paroch', &c. reddit' eft pro Domino Rege, ubi reddi debet

in com' Midd', Gen', pro altit proditionibus contra pro defend', & in eo manifeft' eft errat'. Et hoc
perfon' Dom' Caroli fecundi nup' Regis Anglise, parat' eft vcrificare, unde pet' judic', & quod judic'

fratris noftri praechariffimi, unde coram eis nup* 8c attinctur' praed' ob error' praed', 6c al' in record'

attinct' fuit, ut dicitur, error interven' manifeft', & procefg' praed' apparen' compert' exiften' re-

ad grave dampn' ipfius Johannis,, ficut ex querela vocetur, adnulletur, & penitus pro nuilo habea-

fua accepimus : Nos error', fi quis fuerit, modo de- tur, 5c quod ipfe idem J. H. ad communem &
bito conigi, & eidem Johanni plenam & celerem liberam legem hujus regni Angliae, & ad omnia
Juftic' fieri volentes in hac parte, vobis mandamus, quae ipfe occafionc judicii & attinctur' praed' ami-

quod fi judic' inde reddit' fit, tunc vifis & cxami- fit reftituatur, & quod ipfe, tam de eadem con-

nat' record' 8c procefs' praed', quae coram nob' victione & attinctur', quam de indictament' praed'

certis de caufis Venire fecimus, 8c coram vobis jam per cur' hie dimittatur & exoneretur, 8c quod cur'

refident, ut dicitur, ulterius inde pro errore ill' hie procedat ad examination' record' 8c procefs'

corrigend
5

fieri faciatis, quod de jure Sc fecund' praed', t$c. 8c quia necefiar' 8c expediens eft, antc-

legem 8c confuetud' regni Angl' fuerit faciend'. quam cur' hie in hac parte procedat, quod tenentes

Teft' meipfo apud Weftm' 14 die Maii, anno regni terrar' 8c tencmentor', quae fuer' praed' Johannis 20
noftri fecund'. Et fup' hoc idem J. H. die', quod die Julii, anno regni diet' Dom' Caroli fecundi,

in record' 8c procefs' praed', necnon in redditione nup' Regis Angliae, &c. $f. quo die alta proditio

judicii attinctur' praed' manifeft' eft errat' in hoc, praed' fieri fupponitur, vel unquam poftea prae-

videlicer, quod ubi per indictament' praed' men- muniantur effendi, coram diet' Dom' Rege nunc
tionatur quod deliberatio gaolae in recordo judi- auditur' record' 8c procefs praed', fi, &c. ideo

cii, 8c attinctur' praed' mentionat', tent' fuit pro praecept' eft Vic' com' Midd' praed', quod per

com' Midd' apud Juftice Hall in le Old Baily in probos 8c legales homines de balliva fua, Scir' fac'

fuburbiis civit' London', non apparet per record' feparatim tenent' terrar', 8c tenementor', quae fuer*

praed' quod Juftice Hall, nee lc Old Baily, funt in praed' Johannis praedict' 20 die Julii, anno regni

com' Midd', ideo in co manifeft' eft errat'. Erra- dicti Dom' Caroli fecundi nuper Regis Angliae, &c.

3f
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de, &c. ufque ad praefatum terminum, 6c fie,

&c.
It does not appear by the Precedent, whether the

Judgment was reverfed or affirmed^ nor is the

. fuper hoc de gratia cur' fpecial' prsed' j. H. Report of this Cafe to be found in any of the

traditur in ball' H. A. de, &c. Arm', 6c W. J. Reports of that Time.

Rex verjus Dom Delamere !

, for High-Treafon.

1 Jac" II. Rof f. di£tum Dominum Regem infra hoc regn* Angl*
Ceftr' IT.T)Er quandam inquifition' capt' apud fufcitare, movere, & procurare, 6c gubernation'

JL Ceftr', in com' Ceftr', die Veneris difti Domini Regis hujus regni Angl' fubvertere,

II. die Decembr', anno regni Domini Jacobi fe- mutare, 6c alterare, 6c diclum Dominum Regem
cundi, Dei gra' Angl', Scotise, Franc', 6c Hi- a titulo, honore, 6c regali nomine, coron' im-
bemise Regis, fidei defenfor, &V. primo, coram penal* regni fui Angl' deponere 6c deprivare, 6c
Edwardo Lutwyche Mil', un' fervien' dicTti Dom' diclum Dominum Regem ad mortem 6c final*

Regis ad legem, acjuftic' Ceftr' Johanne Warre deftruclion' adducere 6c ponere, 14 die April',

Arm', altero Juftic' Ceftr', Philippo Egerton anno regni difti Domini Jacobi fecundi nunc
Mil' 6c Petro Shakerley Arm', per literas paten' Regis Angl', &c. primo, ac divers' al' dicb' 6c

cjufdem Domini Regis eis, 6c ahis, 6c quibufcun- vicib', tarn antea quam poftea, apud Mere in

que trib' vel plur' eor' inde confecV, ad inqui- com' Ceftr' prsed', falfo, malitiofe, diabolice, 6c

rend' per facramentum probor' 6c legalium homi- proditorie, cum divers' al' falfis proditorib' 6c re-

num de com' Ceftr', ac al' viis, mediis, 6c mo- bellib' jur' prsed' ignot', confpiraviffet, compaf-
dis, quibus melius fciviflent aut potuiffenr, tarn fayiflet, 6c imaginat' fuifTer, 6c intendebat diclum
infra libertat', quam extra, per quos rei Veritas Dominum Regem fupremum, verum 6c natura-

melius Fciri potuiflet, 6c inquiri de quibufcunque lem Dominum fuum, non folum de Regali ftatu,

ptoditionib', mifpnfionib' prodition', infurrec- titulo, potcftat', 6c regimine regni fui Angl' de-

tion, rebellion', contrafactur', tonfur', lotur', privare 6c dejicere, verum etiam eundem Domi-
falfis fabricationib', 6c al' fa'fitat' monet' hujus num Regem interficere, 6c ad mortem adducere

regni Angl', 6c al' regnor' five dominior' quo- 6c ponere, 6c antiquam gubernation' hujus regni

rumcunque, ac de quibufcunque murdris, felon' Angl' mutare, alterare, 6c penitu<, fubvertere, 6c

homicid', interferon', burglar', raptib' mulier', ftragem miferabilem int' fubdit' di<5ti Domini
congregation' 6c conventicul' illicit', verbor' Regis per totum regn' Angl' caufare 6c procura-

prolationib', coadunationib', mifprifionib', con- re, 6c infurre&ion' 6c rebellion' contra di6lum
federationib', falfis alle-'anc', tranfgr', riotis, Dominum Regem infra hoc regn' Angl' procu-
routis, retentionib', efcapiis, contempt', falfi- rare 6c auxiliari, 6c ad eafdem nefandiffimas, ne-

tat', negligeric', concelament', manutenen', op- quiffimas, 6c diabolicas prodition' 6c proditor'

preffionib', carabiparciis, deceptionib', 6c al' compaflation', imagination', 6c propofita fua prsed'

malefaclis, ofFens', 6c injur' quibufcunque, nee- perimplend', perficiend', 6c ad effe&urn redi-

non accefTar' eorundem infra com' Ceftr' prsed', gend', idem H. Baro de D. ut falfus proditor

tam infra libertat' quam extra, per quofcunque adtunc 6c ibidem, fcii* dicto 14. die April', anno

6c qualitercunque habit', fact', commifs', five 1. fuprad', 6c divers' al' dieb' 6c vicib', tam an-

perpetrat', per quos vel per qucm, cui vel qui- tea, quam poftea, apud Mere prsed' in com'
bus, quando, qualit', 6c quomodo, ac de aliis prsed', falfo, illicite, nequiflime, 6c proditor'

articulis 6c circumftanc' prsemifs', aut eor' quod- cum Carolo Gerard Arm' 6c al' falfis proditot'

libet, feu eor' aliquid vel aliqua qualitercunque jur' prsed' ignot', fe aflemblabat, congregabar,

concernen' plenius veritat', 6c ad eafdem prodi- confultabat, 6c agreabat ad fufcitand' 6c procu-

tion' 6c al' prsemifs' audiend' 6c terminand' fe- rand' divers' magn' denar' fum', & ingent' nu-

cundurn legem 6c confuetud' regni dicli Domini merum homin' armator' ad guerram 6c rebellion'

Regis nunc Angl' afllgn', per facrament' 12 jur' contra diclum Dominum Regem infra hoc regn*

probor' 6c legalium homin' com' Ceftr' prsed', Angl' levand' 6c faciend', ac civit' Ceftr' in com'
tunc 6c ibidem jurat' 6c onerat* ad inquirend' pro ejufdem civit' necnon caftrurn dicli Dom' Regis

dicto Domino Rege, 6c corpore com' Ceftr' Ceftr', apud Ceftr' in com' Ceftr' prsed', 6c

prsed', exiftit prsefentat', quod Henricus Baro de omnes munition' bellicas (Anglice vocat' the Ma-
Delamere in com' Ceftr*, ut falfus proditor con- gazines) in eodem caftro adtunc exiften' intrare,

tra illuftrifTimum 6c excellentiffimum Principem capere, feifire, 6c premiere (Anglice to furprize)

Dominum Jacobum fecundum, Dei gra' Angl', 6c in pofTeffion' 6c poteftat' fuas obtinere. Ac jur'

Scotise, Franc', 6c Hibernise Regem, fidei dc- prsed' ulterius fuper facramentum fuum prsed'

fenfor', naturalem Dominum fuum, timorem Dei tunc dixer', quod prsed' H. Baro de Delamere

in corde fuo non habens, nee debit' ligeanc' fuse poftea, fcil' rj die Maii, anno 1. iuprad', falfo,

ponderans, fed inftigatione diabolica mot' 6c fe- illicite, nequiffime, 6c proditorie iter feciflet a

dudl*, cordialem dil-ction', 6c veram, debit', 6c civit' London ufque ad Mere prsed' in com* Ceftr'

naturalem obedienc', quas verus 6c fidei' fubdit' prsed' ad prodit' propofita fua prsed' perimplend'
' dicH Domini Regis erga ipfum Dominum Re- 6c perficiend', ac quod idem H. Baro de Dela-

gem gererer, 6c de jure gerere tenebatur, peni- mere poftea, fcilicet 4 diejunii, anno 1. fuprad',

tus fubtrahens, 6c machinans, pra&icans, 6c totis apud M. prsed', in com' Ceftr' prsed', in ulte-

viribis fuis intendens pacem 6c communem tran- rior' profecution' prsed' illicit', nequiffimor', &
quillitat' hujus regni Angl' inquietare, moleftare, proditor' prnpofitov' fuor', divers' ligeos Sc fub-

6c penurbare, 6c guerram 6c rebellion' contra dit' di&i Domini Regis, jur' prsed' ignot', cum

1
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eodem H» Baron' dc D. & praed' al' falfis prodi- fiflct contra ligeancias fuse debit', contra pacem
torib', jur' prasd' ignot', falfo, illicite, nequifH- di6ti Domini Regis nunc, coron' & dignitat'

me, & proditorie, in guerra & rebellion' praed', fuas, necnon contra formam ftatuti in hujufmodi
& in proditoriis propofit' fuis prsed' jungere & cafu edit' 6c provis*.

Rex verfus Dominum Mohun, for the Murder of W. Mountford,

T
4/F. & M.

His Record is in the Trial m .

Rex verfus Charnock, for High-Treafon,

8 GuV III. O. B.
tnr* His Record is in the Trial a

.

Rex verfus Cranburne, Lowick, & al'°, for High-Treafon.

7 GuV III. fimas, nequiffimas, & diabolicas proditiones, &
Midd' fl". T Uiatorcs pro Domino Rege fuper fa- proditorias compafTationes, machinationes, &

J cramentum fuum prsefentant, Quod propofita fua praedicta perimplend', perficiend',

Chriftophorus Knightley, nuper de paroch' fanct' 6c ad effectum redigend', ipfi iidem Chriflopho-
Pauli Covent Garden in com' praed' Generofus, rus Knightley, Robertus Lowick, Ambrofius
Robertus Lowick nuper de paroch' fancti Pauli Rookwood, & Carolus Cranburne, & quampluri-
Covent Garden in com' prsedicto Gen', Ambro- mi alii falfi proditores (juratoribus praed' ignot')

iius Rookwood nuper de parochia fanclri Pauli poflea, fcil' eodem decimo die Februarii, anno
Covent Garden in com' prsedicto Generofus, 6c fupradicV, apud parochiam prsedidtam, in com*
Carolus Cranburne nuper de parochia fan£li Pauli prsed', ac diverfis aliis diebus 8c vicibus, tarn

Covent Garden in com' pisedicto Yeoman, timo- antea, quam poflea, ibidem & alibi in eodem
rem Dei in cordibus fuis«non habentes, ncc debit' com' falfo 8c malitiofe, advifate, clandeftino,.

ligeancise fuse ponderan', fed infligatione diabo- proditorie, ac vi & armis conveniebant, propo-
lica moti 6c feducti, ut falfi proditores contra fuer', tractaver', confultaver', confenfer', & a-

fereniflimum, illuflriffimum, clementiffimum, 6c greaver' ad ipfum Dom' Regem nunc ex infidiis

excellentiffimum Principem, Dom' Gulielmum & dolo percutiend' (Anglice to ajfajjinate) intcr-

tertium, Dei gratia Anglise, Scotise, Franciae, ficiend' & murdrand', & ad execrabilem, horrcn-

6c Hibernias Regem, fidei defenforem, &c. fu- dam, 6c deteflabilem afTaffinationem (Anglice

premum, verum, legitimum, legalem 6c indubi- AJfajJination) & interfectionem ill' citius exequend'

tatum Dom' fuum, cordialem dilectionem, ac & perpetrand', poflea, fcil' eifdem die & anno>

veram 6c debitam obedientiam, fidelitatem 6c li- ac diverfis aliis diebus & vicibus, apud parochiam
geanciam, quas quilibet fubditus dicli Dom' Re- prasdictam, in com' prjed', proditorie tractaver',

gis nunc erga ipfum Dominum Regem gereret, propofuer', 8c confultaver' de viis, modis, 8c

6c de jure gerere tenetur, fubtrahentes 6c penitus mediis, ac tempore 6c loco ubi, quando, qualiter,

extinguere intendentes ac machinantes, & totis & quomodo dictum Dom' Regem fie ex infidiis

fuis viribus excogitantes, defignantes, 8c confpi- facihus interficcrent, 6c confenfer', agreaver', 6c

rantes gubernationem hujus regni Anglice, fub afTenfer', quod quadraginta homines equeftres,

ipfo Domino Rege nunc de jure debit', felicit*, aut eo circiter (quorum iidem Chriftoph' Knight-
6c optime flabilit', omnino fubvertere, mutare, 6c ley, Robertus Lowick, Ambrofius Rookwood,
alterare, necnon eundem Dom' Regem ad mor- 8c Carolus Cranburne forent quatuor, 8c quilibet

tern 6c finalem deflructionem ponere 6c adducere, eorum proditorie fuper fe fufecpit efTe unum)
ac fubditos fuos fideles, 8c liberos homines hujus cum bombardis, fclopis, 8c fclopetis, pulvere

regni Anglis in fervitutem intolerabilem & mi- bombardico, & globulis plumbeis oneratis, 8c

ferrimam Ludovico Regi Gallico fubjugare 8c cum gladiis, enfibus, 8c aliis armis armat', infi-

mancipare, decimo die Februarii, anno regni diati forent 8c efTent in fubfeffa (Anglice in Am-
di6t' Dom' Regis nunc fepcimo, & diverfis aliis bujlj) ad eundem Dom' Regem in rheda fua

diebus 8c vicibus, tam antea, quam poftea, apud (Anglice his Coach) exiflen', quando foris iret,

parochiam fancli Pauli Covent Garden praed', in invadend' ; quodque quidam 8c competens nu-
com' prsedicto, falfo, maliciofe, diabolice, 8c merus de hominibus illis fie armat', in fatcllites

proditorie compafTaver', imaginati 8c machinati (Anglice the Guards) ipfius Dom' Re^is eum
fuer', excogitaver', defignaver', 6c intendebant tunc attenden', 6c lecum exiflen', aggreffi forent,

di6fc' Dom' Regem nunc occidere, interficere, 6c eos expugnarent 6c devincerent, dum alii eo-

8c murdrare, ac flragem miferabilem inter fideles rundem homin' fie armat' ipfum Dom' Regem
fubditos ipfius Dom' Regis per totum hoc regn' percuterent, interficerent, occiderent, 8c murdra-

Anglisc faccre 6c caufare, 8c ad eafdem nefandif- rent, & iidem Chriftophorus Knightley, Rober-

m Vol. IV. p. s
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tusLowick, Ambros'Rookwood, & Carol' Cran- perpetrat',&commifs'forent,advidend\fpeculand\
burne, ad prodition', & omnes proditor' intention', & obfervand', convenientiam, &aptitudinemejufd'
defignation', & machination' fuas prasd' exequend', loci pro hujufmodi infidiis, affafiination', & inter-
perpetrand', perimplend', &adeffedtum redigend', fedtione ibidem fiend', perpetrand', & committend*
poftea (fcil' prasdidto decimo die Februarii, anno ac (loco illo fie vifo & obfervato) poftea (fcil'eifdem
7. fupradidto, apud paroch'prasd' in com' prasdidt') die & anno) obfervationes fuas inde feparalibus de
diverfos equos, & quamplurima arma, bombardas, didtis proditor' & confpirator* retulit & impertivir
fclopos, enfes, & gladios, & al'armamenta, muni- videlicet, apud paroch' pnedidt' in com' prsedidt' j
tion', & res bellicofas, & inftruraenta militaria, falfo, prcedidtusq' Carolus Cranburne, eifdem die & anno'
malitiofe, fecretc, &proditorieobtinuer', emebant, ibidem in ordine ad eand' execrabil', horrend', &
colleger', &procuraver', acemi,obtineri, colligi,& detcftabil' affafllnation' & interferon' didti Dom5

procurari caufaver', ea intent', ad ilium in & circa Regis per proditores & confpiratores prsed' prom-
dcteftabil', horrend', & execrabil' aflaflinationem, ptius & magis audaciter exequend*, perpetrand', &
interfedtionem, & murdrum didti Dom' Regis nunc, committend', advifate, fcienter, & proditorie tulit

ut pnefertur, utend', occupand' & impendend', & & portavit inter diverfos dc proditoribus & con-
ad eadem prasmifla tutius & certius exequend', fa- fpiratoribus illis prorfum & retrorfum ab aliquibus
ciend', & perpetrand', prsed' Chriftoph' Knightley, ad al' eor' catalogum (Angl' a Lift) dc nominibus
cum quodam Edward' King fnup' de alta proditionc diverfor' homin' de illis, qui defignat' & appundtuat'
in machinando & confpirando mortem didti Dom' fuer' ad eund' Dom' Regem, fie ut prsefertur, ex
Regis nunc deb'convicV & attindt*) per confenfurn infidiis interficiend' & murdrand', contra debit' li-

& affenfum diverforum de proditoribus & confpira- geantia: ipfor' Chriftoph' Knightley, Roberti Lo»
toribus prsedidtis, did' 10. die Februarii, anno 7. wick, Ambr' Rookwood, & Caroli Cranburne, &
fupradidt', proditorie ivit & acceflit ad locum pro- contra pacem didti Dom' Regis nunc, coron', &
pofitum, ubi hujufmodi intenfa affaflinatio, inter- dignitat' fuas, nee non contra formam ftatuti in

fedtio, & murdrum didti Dom' Regis ex infidiis facV, hujufmodi cam edit' & provis', &c.

Rex verfus Vaughan p
, for High-Treafon.

7 GuV III. dam loco circa 14. leucas a Deal diftante, ac infra

JUrat' pro Dom' Rege fuper facram' fuum pras- jurifdidtion' admiral' Angl', feipfum prasfat' Tho-
fentant, quod ante & continue ufque ad odtav' mam Vaughan ut militem (Angl' a Soldier) ad bel-

diem Julii, anno rcgni Dom' noftri Willielmi tertii, lum prasd' contra didt' Dom' Regem nunc gerend'

Dei gratia Angl', Scot', Franc', & Hibern' Regis, & profequend', in fervitiumipfius prsefat' Ludovici
£dei defenfor', &c. 7. fuit bellum apertum inter Regis Gallici, in navicul' armat' prsed', vocat' Le
Dom' Willielmum nunc Regem Angl', &V. & Lu- Loyal Clencarly, falfo, malitiofe, nequiflime, & pro-

dovicum Regem Gallicum, quodque bellum illud ditorie pofuitj & quod ipfe idem Tho' Vaughan
eod'8. die Julii, anno7. fupradidt', &fempcr poftea in navicul' armat' prxd', vocat' Le Loyal Clencartyy
hucufq' continuat' fuit, &adhuc exiftit, quodq

; per ad tunc &: ibidem fie exiften', vi&armis, &c. ad-

totum tempuspra;d' didtusLudovicusRex Gallicus, tunc & ibidem fuper alto mari praed', ac infra ju-

&ejusfubdit', fuer', &adhucexiftunt inimici didti rifdidtion' admiralitatis Angl' pi zed', didtis inimicis

Dom' Regis nunc, ac quod tempore belli illius, & didti Dom' Regis nunc, in dicta navicula armata,

ante praedicV octavum diem Julii, anno feptimo fu- vocat' Le Loyal Clencarty, adtunc & ibidem fcilicec

prad', didt'Ludovicus Rex Gallicus fint'al') quand' exiften', falfo, malitiofe, nequiflime, & proditorie

navicul' armat',vocat' Le Loyal Clencarty(cu]\\s Tho' fuit adherens, auxilians, &comfortans; & quod
Vaughan fubdit' didti Dom' Regis nunc Angl', &c. prasd' Tho' Vaughan in execution' & pcrformatione

ad tunc fuit capitaneus) cum quamplur' fubdit'Galli- adhasfionis, auxiliationis,& comfortationis fuse przed'

cis, inimicis didti Dom' Regis nunc, ad numerum poftea, fcil' didto 8. die Julii, anno fupradidt', ibi-

if. perfonar' replet', przeparavit ad naves ac bona, dem fuper alto mari prasd', ac infra jurifdidtion'

catall', &denar' diet' Dom' Regis nunc Angl', &c. admiralitat' Angliar, fimul cum didtis inimicis di£t*

& fubditor' fuor' fuper alto mari, ac infra jurifdid' Dom' Regis nunc, in navicul' armat' prsed', vocat'

admiralitatis Angl' modo guerrino capiend' & fpo- Le Loyal Clencarty, adtunc & ibidem exiften', ad

liand', & bellum prsed' contra didt' Dom' Regem quamplur' locos maritimos in eadem navicul' armat',

cum Regem Gallicum, Thomas Vaughan nuper de fuor', fuper alto mari pra:d', ac infra jurifdidtion'

e
J

dit

Dom' fuum, timorem Dei in corde fuo non habens, dignitat' fuas, &5V. necnon contra formam ftatui.'

nee debit' ligeanc' fuse ponderans, fed inftigatione in hujufmodi cafu edit' & provis', &c.

diabolica mot' & feducV, cordialem diledtionem, ac Et jur' prasd' pro didto Dom' Rege fuper facram'

veram & debitam obedientiam, quas quilibet verus fuum prsed' ulterius prsefent', quod prxd' T.Vaugh-

& fidelis fubdit' didt' Dom' Regis nunc erga ipfum an, ut fall us proditor contra did' Dom' Regem nunc

Dom' Regem de jure gererc tenetur, penitus fubtra- Angl', &c. fuprem' Dom' fuum ultcrius machinans,

hens, ac machinans &intendens, quantum in fe fuit, pradticans, & tota vi fua intendens pacem & com-

bellum prxdidt' contra didtum Dom' Regem nunc munem tranquillitat' hujus regni Angl' perturbare,

p Vol. V. p. 17. N u
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Dom' Rcgem a titulo, honore, & rcgali nomine, armis, tarn invafivis, quam dcfenfivis, vi Sc armis,

coron' imperial' regni fui Angl', 8c dominior' fuor' &c. falfo, malitiofe, & proditoric, adtunc 6c ibidem

fuper alto mari praed' deponere Sc deprivare, & congregat'8cafremblat'exiften',feipfum fimil' armat'

ftragem miferabilcm fubditor' ejufdem Dom' Regis 8c arraiat\malitiofe,proditor',8c aperte affemblavitSc

nunc hujus regni fui Angl' fuper ako mari, ac intra conjunxit j Sc quod praed' T.Vaughan adtunc Sc ibid'

jurifdi&ion' admiral' Angl' pned' navigan', caufare in dicta navicul' armat', vocat' Le Loyal Clencarty
t

& procurare, praed' 8. die Julii, anno regni dicli cum dictis al' falfis rebcllibus Sc proditorib' (ficut

Dom' Regis nunc 7. fuprad', fuper alto mari, circa praefertur) affemblat' exiften', poftea, fcil' dicto 8.

I?

Ar
fo,

cumquamplur' al' falfis rebellib' & proditorib', jur' & proditorib', in navicul' armat* praed', vocat' Le
praed' ignot',guerram contra dict'Oom'Regem nunc Loyal Clencarty, ad tunc & ibidem, ad quamplur'
paravit, ordinavit, levavit, 8c geffit } & quod idem locos maritimos in eadem navicul' armat', vocat*

alto mari, circa 14. leucas a Deal diftame, ac infra fubdit' fuor' fuper alto mari praed', ac infra jurif-

jurifdi&ion' admiralitat' Angl', in didta navicul' ar- diction' praedict', vi 8c armis, &c. malitiofe, ne-

mat', vocat' Le Loyal Clencarty, vi Sc armis, &c. quiflime, Scproditorienavigavir, contra ligeanc' fuse

cum quamplur' aliis falfis rebellib' Sc proditoribus, debit', contra pacem dicti Dom' Regis nunc, coron*

jur' praed' ignot' ad nutnerum if. perfonar', modo Sc dignitat' fuas, &c. necnon contra formam ftatut*

guerrino armat' 2c arraiat', viz. tormentis, Sc al' in hujufmodi cafu edit' Sc provis', &c.

Rex verfus Com Warwick & Dom Mohim, for the Murder of R, Coote.

11 Gul III.

*npHis Record is in the Trial 1.

Regina verfus Fuller *, for a Cheat,

I Anna.

London ff. /~\Uod Willielmus Fuller nuper de,&c. regnum Angl' diftribuend' inter diverfos fubdit' dicti

Vrf^' primo diejanuarii, anno regni nuper Regis Willielmi tertii falfo praetens' fore mifs*

Dom' Willielmi tertii nuper Regis Angl', &c. 13. quoddam falfum, ficlum, fcandalofum, Sc defama-

apud London in paroch' beatae Mariae de Arcubus, torium libellum,intitulat' Original Letters of the late

in warda de Cheap, exiftens impoftor 8c communis Xing's(di8.um Jacobum fecundum nuper Regem in-

mendax, Sc perfona malorum nominis, famae, & nuendo) and others, to bis greateft Friends in England,
reputationis, falfo, malitiofe, nequit', & feditiofe with the Depofitions of Thomas Jones and Thomas
machinans, practicans, 6c intendens diet' Dom' Witherington, Efquires, proving the Corruption lately

Willielmum tertium nuper Regem Angl', 8c fubdit' prattifed to ruin this Nation, adtunc 8c ibidem falfo,

fuos falfo 8c illicite deludere; decipere, 8c defrau- illicite, nequit', injufte, malitiofe,fcandalofe, 6c de-

dare, 6c difcordia inter eundem nuper Regem, 6c ceptive comp.fuit, fcripfit, 8c impreffit, 8cimprimi
quamplur' proceres, magnates hujus regni Angliae, caufavit, in quo quidern falfo, ficto, fcandalofo, 6c

6c magnos officiarios 6c miniftros fiduciat' per di&um defamator' libello continctur (inter alia) ut fequitur,

nuper Regem in negotiis fuis concernen' regimen Sc videl', Thomas Jones Efquire depofeth, That he being

gubernation' dicti regni fui Angliae, 6c al' ligeos at St. Germain'.* (praed' locum vocat' St. Germains-

6c fidel' fubdit' dicti regni Angliae movere,excitare, in regno Franc' innuendo) the Court of the late King
Scfufcitare, acetiam proceres, magnates hujus regni James (praed' Jacobum fecund' nup' Regem Angl'
Angliae, 6c magnos officiarios 6c miniftros dicti &c. innuendo) in France, &c. Et idem Attorn'

nuper Regis per ipfum, ut praefertur, fiduciat', Sc diet' Dominae Reginae nunc general', pro ead' Dom'
al' ligeos 6c fidel' fubdit' fuos, in maximum odium, Regin' ulterius dat' cur' hie intelligi 6c informant
contempt', Sc vilipendium cum eodem nuper Dom' quod praedicV Willielmus Fuller, praed' primo die

Rege inducere 6c inferrc, ad divers' denar' fummas Januarii, anno 15. fupradict', apud London praed',

ab eodem Dom' nuper Rege callide, fubdole, frau- in parochia6c warda praed', ad nequiffimas machi-
dulent' 6c deceptive acquirere 6cobtinere, ipfe idem nationes, practication', 5c intentiones fuas praedict'

Willielmus Fuller, praed' primo diejanuarii, anno ulterius perficiend', perimplend', 6c ad effectum *e-

regni dicti Dom' nuper Regis 13. apud London digend', de diverfis officiariis 8c al' fubdit' dicti nu-

praed', in parochia 6c warda praed', ad nequiffimas per Regis Willielmi tertii, Sc de ficta refponfione

machination', pradtication', 6c intention' fuas praed' (Anglice Correfpondence) inter eos Sc Jacobum fe-

perimplend', perficiend', 6c ad effectum redigend', cundum nuper Regem Angliae, dum idem nuper
de diverfis officiariis 6c al' fubditis dicti nuper Regis Rex Jacobus fecundus in regno Franciae refidebat,

Willielmi tertii, Sc de refponfione (Anglice Corre- falfo pretens' fuiffc habit', ac de diverfis denariis

fpondence) inter eos 6c Jacobum fecundum nuper Re- fummis per di£V Jacobum fecundum, nuper Regem
gem Angl', dum idem nuper Rex Jacobus fecundus Angliae, a regno Franciae in hoc regnum Anglis
apud quendam locum vocat' St. Germains, in regno diftribuend' inter diverfos fubdit' dicti nuper Regis
Franciae refidebat, falfo pretens' fuifle habit', ac de Willielmi tertii pretens' fore mifs', quoddam al' ral-

diverfis denar' fummis per dictum Jacobum fecund' fum, fictum, fcandalos', 6c defamator' libellum, in-

nuper Regem Angliae, in regno Franciae, in hoc titulat' (int' al') Twenty fix Depofitions of Perfons of

I Vol. V. p. 137. N». 164. r Vol. V. p. 441. N<\ 173.
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Quality and Worth, adtunc & ibid' falfo, illicite, pro veritate affirmavir, ubi rcvera & in facto prad'
nequit', injufte, malitiofe, fcandalofe, 6c deceptive Thomas Jones nunquam fuper facrament' fuum de-
compofuit, fcripfit, impreffit, 8c imprimi caufavit, in pofuit prout in prasdidt' falfo, ficto, fcandalofo, Sc
quo quidem falfo, fidto, fcandalofo, & defamatorio defamator' libello fuperius mentionat' continetur, ac
libello continetur, int' al', ut fequitur, videl', Mr. ubi revera 8c in fadto, omnia & fingula prasd' fcan-
Jones has alfo made Oath, that he paid foool. more dalos' defamator' libell'content'8c fuperius fpecificat'

by the late King's Order (ordin' didti Dom' Jacobi fuer'&funtfalfa, fidta,8c veritati omnino contrar',in
fecundi, nuper Regis Anglias, iterum inuend') &c. magnum fcandal', prsejudic' & abufion' didti Dora*
Et quod prasdidtus Willielmus Fuller poftea, fell' Willielmi tcrtii, nuper Regis Anglic, &c. & mag-
didto i . die Januarii, anno regni didti Dom' Willi- nor' officiarior' 8c miniftror' didti nuper Regis Wil-
elmi tertii, nuper Regis Anglias, &c. 15 fupradidt', lielmi tertii per ipfum, ut prasfertur, fiduciat', &
didtos falfos, fidtos, fcandalofos, 8c defamatorios li- alior' ligeor' Scfubditor' cjufd' nuper Regis, in ma-
bellos, abfque aliqua legali authoritate, vi & armis, lum exemplum omnium alior' in hujufmodi cafu de-
&c. apud London prasd', in parochia & warda linqucn', ac contra paccm didti nuper Dom' Regis
prasdidt', illicite 8c injufte publicavit, utteravit, & Willielmi tcrtii, coron' & dignitat' fuas, &c.

Rex verfus Hathaways s

, for a Cheat.

Surr'ff. \jl Emorand', quod Edwardus Northey, per magnum tempus, fcil' per fpatium decern fepti-

JLVi Ar', Attorn' Dom' Regis nunc ge- manar' jejunaffc, ac diverfis morbis adtunc 8c ibid'

neral', qui pro eodem Dom' Rege in hac parte fequi- affici, Sc quod ipfc per ipfius Richardi extradtionem
tur, in propria perfona venit hie in curia didti Dom' fanguinis ejufd' Saras per fcalpationcm a prastens' fa-
Regis,coram ipfo Rege apud Weftm',dieJovis prox' fcinarione prasd' liberat' foret,quodq$prasd' Richard'

a. *..*.* r<.~.-:„,„~„. c.~sx: i\/i:-v.„»i:,. ;a~ ~*A> «-*.-m ' „ ,-1,.,.,.. St- :u;a> .,;«j--,„ :„ j o r 1 ^ o^

Southwark in com' Surr', Laborer, exiftens perfona falfo,malitiofe,8cfcient' afferuit feipfum a morbis illi',

malor' nominis & famas, 8cimpoftor, 8cmachinans per extraction' fanguinis prasd',libcrari, ubi revera8c
& malitiofe intendens quandam Saram Morduck,ux' in fadto prasd'Richard' nunquam fafcinat' fuit,& non
cujufdam Edwardi Morduck de Southwark in com' jejunaffet per fpatium prasd',nec per aliquod magnum
prasd', Waterman, fceminam per totum vitas fuas tempus, & ubi revera& in fadto prasd' Richard' ad-
tempus exiften' honeftam 8c piam, & non Sagam tunc 8c ibid' bene fciebat feipfum minime fafcinatum

fAnglice a Witch) nee Magiam (Anglice Witch- fuiffe per eand' Saram, in maximum dicti Dom' Re-
craft) Incantamentum (Anglice Inchantment) Incan- gis nunc, legumq; fuarum contemptum, 6c vilipend*,

tamentum (Anglice Charm) Fafcinationem (An- in valde malum & perniciofum exemplum alior' in
glice Sorcery) unquam exercen', in pcriculo vitas fuas hujufmodi cafu delinquentium,8c contra pacem ejufd'

amiffionis inducere, 11. die Febr', anno regni didti Dom' Regis, coron' & dignitat' fuas, &c. Undc
Dom' Regis nunc 12. apud Southwark prasd' in com' idem Attorn' didti Dom' Regis nunc general' pro
prasd' in prasfentia & audita diverfarum perfonarum, eod' Dom' Rege, pet'advifamentumcur'hicinpras-

falfo, malitiofe, diabolice, &fcient', & ut falfus im- miflis, & debitum legis proceffum verfus prasfat'

poftor, prastendebat & afferebat feipfum per eand' Richard' Hathaway in hac parte fieri ad refpon-

Saram fuiffe fafcinatum (Anglice bewitched) occafi- dend* didto Dom* Regi de 8c in prasmiffis, {j?c.

one prastens' fafcination' illius non polTe edere, ac

Regina verfus Hathaway \ for an AfTauIc.

2 Anna. fciebat feipfum minime fafcinat' fuiffe vel effe, ipfam
Surr' ff. \A Emorand', &c. quod quidam Richard' Saram,adtunc 8cibid'verberav',fcalpfer',vulncraver',

IVi. Hathaway, nuper de Southwark in 8cmaletradtaver',ita quod de vita ejus maximedefpe-
com' Surr', Laborer, Thomas Wcllyn, & al', cum rabatur, & alia enormia eidem Saras adtunc 8c ibid'

diverfis al' perfonis eidem Attorn' general' ignotis, intuler',ad grave dampnum ipfius Saras,in contempt'
2fdieSeptemb', anno regni didti Dom' Regis nunc didti Dom' Regis nunc, 8c contra pacem coron' 8c

1 z. apud Southwark prasdidt, in com' prasd', vi & dignitat' fuas, &c . Et idem Attorn' didti Dom' Regis
armis, £5? <r. illicite,riotofe,8croutofefefeaffcmblaver', nunc general' ulterius dat cur' hie intelligi & infor-

& magnam affraiam Scriotam adtunc &ibid'fecer% mari,Quod prsd'Richai-d'j&al',^. cum divers' al*

& fie affemblat' exiften', vi & armis, &c. adtunc 6c perfon* eid' Attorn' general' ignotis, 1 1 die Febr',

ibidem, in 8c fuper quandam Saram Morduck, uxor' anno regni dicti Dom' Regis nunc 1 2 fuprad', apud
cujufdam Edwardi Morduck, nuper de eadem, Wa- Southwark prasd', in com' prasd', vi & armis, &c.
terman, adtunc &C fempcr antea ibid' exiften',fcemin' riotofe,routofe,& illicite fefe affcmblaver',&magnam

honeftam, & non Sagam, nee unquam Magiam affraiam & riotam adtunc 6c ibid' feccr', & Cic affem-

(Anglice Witchcraft) Incantamentum (Anglice In- blat' exiften', vi & armis, &c. adtunc & ibid' in 8c

chantmeni) Incantamentum (Anglice Charm) Fafci- fuper prasd' Saram, in pace Dei & didti Dom' Regis

nation' (Anglice Sorcery) exercen', in pace Dei, & adtunc & ibid' exiften' infult' fecer', & ipfam Saram
dicti Dom' Regis adtunc & ibidem exiften', infult' adtunc 6c ibid' verberaver', fcalpfer', vulneraver', 6c

fecer', 6c fub iniquo pretextu, contra legem, ten- malctradtaver'ita quod de vita ejus maximedefperaba-

tand' an praed' Sara adtunc fuitSaga, eod' Richardo turj6cal' enormia eidemSaras adtunc 6c ibid' intuler',

adtunc & ibidem falfo, nequit', fcicn', 6c malitiofe ad grave dampnum ipfius Sarae, in contempt' didti

prastenden' 6c affercn' feipfum per eand' Saram fafci- Dom' Regis nunc,6c contra pacem coron'6c dignitat'

natum fuiffe, ubi revera ipfe prasd' Richardus nullo fuas. Et idem Attorn' didti Dom' Regis nunc general'

modo unquam fafcinat' fuit, 6c adtunc 6c ibid' bene ulterius dat cur' hie intelligi 8c informari, quod prasd'

• Vol. V. p. 482. N8 177. « Vol. V. p. 504.

Richardus,



60 APPENDIX.
Richardus, & al', &e. cum diverfis al' perfon* eidem grave dampnum ipfius Saras,in contempt' dicti Dom*
Attorn' general' ignotis, poftea, foil' prsed' n die Regis nunc, & contra pacem dicti Dom' Regis nunc,
Febr', anno 12 ult' fuprad', apud Southwark prasd' coron' 8c dignitat' fuas, &c. Unde idem Attorn' dicli

in com' prsed', vi 8c armis, &c. adtunc & ibid' in & Dom' Regis nunc general', pro eodem-Dom' Rege,
fuper prsed' Saram infult' fecer', & ipfam Saram ad- pet' advifamentum cur' hie in prasmiflis, & debitutn

tunc & ibid' verberaver', fcalpfer', vulneraver', & legisproceffum verfus prsefat'Rjchardum, 8c al',&V.

maletractaver', ita quod de vita ejus defperabatur, 8c in hac parte fieri ad refpondend' dido Dom' Rcgi
alia enormia eidem Saras adtunc 8e ibid' intuler', ad de 8c in prsemiflis, &c.

Regina verfus Bouchier,
u
for High-Treafon.

2 Anna. quodq; idem Jacob' Bouchier, timorem Dei in corde

Suffex' fT. IUR' pro Dom' Regina fuper facram' fuo non habens, 6c debit' ligeantias fuaserga di&ani
J fuum prasfentant, quod Jacobus Bou- Dom' Annam nunc Regin' Anglias, &V. fupremam,

chier, nuper de London', Gen', qui fuit fubdit' Dom' veram, legitimam, legalem, 8c indubitat' Dom' fuam
Gulielmi tertii, nuper Regis Angl', Scot', Franc', minimeponderans, & ut falfus proditor contra eand'

& Hibern', & modo exiftit fubdit' excellentiffimas Dom' Annam nunc Regin'Anglias,£siV. poll: 14 Diem
Principis Dom' Annas, nunc Reginas Angl', Scot', Januar', anno Dom' 1697* fcil' 10 die Decemb',
Franc',& Hibern', poll: 1 1 diem Decern', anno Dom' anno regni Dom' Annas nunc Reginas Anglise, &c.
1688, fcil' 1 die Aug', anno Dom' 1689, fuit in 2, proditorie redivit 8c veniebat in hoc regnum An-
regno Hibernise,8c poftea 8c antea 3 diem Decemb', gliae, fcil*, apud Eaft Bourne in com' Suffex', fine

anno Dom' 1697, ĉ ^' l ^ie Decemb', anno Dom' licentia a dido Dom' Gulielmo tertio, nuper Rege

1694 prsed' Jacob' Bouchier voluntarie ibat in reg- Anglise, &c. fub privato figillo ejufdem nuper Regis,

num Francisefine licentia a Dom' Willielmo tertio, vel a dicta Dom' Anna, Regina nunc, fub privato

nup' Rege Anglias, vel a Dom' Maria, nup' Regina figillo ejufdem Dom' Reginas nunc obtent', contra

Anglias, & quod prasd' Jacob' Bouchier prasd', 3 die ligeantias fuas debit', 8c contra formam flatuti in

Decemb', anno Dom' 1697, non fuit infra dominia hujufmodi cafu nuper edit' 8c provis', ac contra

Dora' Williclmi tertii, nuper Regis Anglise, &t. pacem, &c.

Regina verfus Lindfay, *for High-Treafon.

Midd' IT. IUR' pro Dom' Regina fuper facram' quodque idem David Lindfay, timorem Dei in corde
J fuum prasfentant, quod David Lindfay, fuo non habens, 8c debit' ligeantias fuse ergadictam

nuper de London, Gen', qui fuit fubdit' Dom' Wil- Dom' Annam nunc Regin' Anglias, &c. fupremam,
lielmi tertii, nuper Regis Angl', Scot', Franc', 8c veram, legitimam, legalem, 8c indubitat' Dom' fuam,

Hibern', 8c modo exiftit fubdit' excellent' Principis minime ponderans,8cut falfus proditor contra eandem
Dom' Anns, nunc Reginse Angl',Scot', Franc', & Dom' Annam, nunc Regin' Anglias, &c. poft 14
Hibern', poft 11 diem Decern', anno Dom' 1688, diem Januar', anno Dom' 1697, fcil' 10 die Decemb*
fcil' 26 die Martii, anno Dom' 1689, fuit in regno anno regni Dora' Annas nunc Reginse Anglise, &V.2,
Anglix, fcil' apud paroch' fan£ti Martini in campis proditorie redivit 8c veniebat in hoc regnum An-
in com' Middlefex' 8c poftea 8c ante 3 diem Decemb', glias, fcil' apud prasd' paroch' fanfti Martini in

anno Dom' 1697, fcil' 1 die Octobr' anno Dom' campis in com' Midd', fine licentia a diclo Dom'
i<S9<S,pr£ed' David Lindfay voluntarie ibat in regnum Willielmo tertio, nup' Rege Angl', &c. fub privat*

Francise, fine licentia a Dom' Willielmo tertio, nup' figil' ejufd' nup' Reg', vel a dicta Dom' Anna, Reg*
Rege Anglise, vel a Dom' Maria, nuper Regina nunc,fub privat' figil'ejufd'Dom'Reg'nunc obtent',

Anglias, & quod prasdicV David Lindfay, prasd' contra ligeant' fuse debit', 8c contra form' ftatuti in

3 die Decemb', anno Dom' 1697, non fuit infra do- hujufmodi cafu edit' 8c provis', ac contra pacem dicti

minia Dom' Willielmi tertii,nup' Regis Anglise,&V. Dom' Reginas nunc, coron' 8c dignitat' fuas, &c.

Dominus Rex verfus Coke £§P Woodburne y
,

Suffolk (T. Y U R' pro Dom' Rege fuper facrament' felonice fidit (Anglice did flit) cum intention' ad
J fuum prasfentant, quodjohan' Wood- eund' Edward' Crifpe ita faciendomodo prsed' ma-

burne, nuper de Burgo de Bury Sancti Edmundi in hemand' 8c deformand'. Quodque prsed' Arundel,

com' Suff', Lab', 8c Arundel Coke, alias Cooke, tempore felon' prsed', per prasfat' Johan' Wood-
nuperde Burgo prsed', Arm', poll: 24 diem Junii, burne, modo 8c forma prasd',illicite 8c felonice com-
anno Dom' 172 1, fcil' 1 die Januar', anno regni mifs' 8c perpetrat', fcil' eod' 1 die Januar', anno 8

Dom' Georgii nunc Regis Magnse Britan', &c. 8, fuprad', apud Burg' prsed' in com' prsed' ex propo-

. machinantes quendam Edw' Crifpe, Gen', adtunc &c fito ac ex militia fua prsscogitat', Sc per infidias, illi-

adhuc exiften' fubdit' dicti Dom' Regis nunc, mahe- cite 8c felonice fuit prasfens, auxilians, &z abettans

mare &z deformare, apud Burg' prsed' in com' prsed', prasfat' Johan' Woodburne ad felon* prasd', in forma

vi &t armis, &c. in & fuper prsed' Edw' Crifpe, in praed', felonice committend' 8c perpetrand'. Et fie

pace Dei. 8c dicti Dom' Regis adtunc 8c ibid' exiften', Jur' prasd' dicunt fuper facrament' fuum prasd',quod
ex propofito (Anglice on purpofe) ac ex malitiis fuis prsed' Johan' Woodburne, 8c Arundel, dicto 1 die

prsecogitat', &c per infidias (Anglice by lying in wait) Januar',anno 8 fuprad ict', apud Burg' prasd' in com'
illicite 8c felonice infult' fecer'.Et quod prsed*Johan' prsed', vi 8c armis, fjiV. ex propofito ac ex malitiis

Woodburne cum quadam Secure (Anglice a Bill) fuis prsecogitat',8c per infidias,felon' prsed' in form'

valor' un' denar', quam ipfe idem Johan' in manu prsed', illicite 8c felonice commifer' 8c perpetraver',

fua dextra adtunc 8c ibid' habuic 8c tenuit, nafum 8c uterqueeor'commifit&perpetravit,contra pacem
prasfat' Edw' Crifpe ex propofito ac ex malitia fua dicti Dom' Regis nunc, coron' 8c dignitat' fuas, nec-

prsecogitat', 8t per infidias, adtunc 8c ibid' illicite 8c non contra form' ftat' in hujufm' cafu edit'& provis'.

n Vol. V. p. $o6. N° 178. * Vol. V. p. 508. N« 179. y Vol. VI. p. 212. N a 192.
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An Alphabetical TABLE of the Principal

Matters contained in all the Six Volumes.

N. B. The Numeral Letters denote the Volume j the Figures the Pages of each.

A.

ABDICATION.
;- -&&WHE Principles the Convention went

upon, when they declared theThrone

W vacant at the Revolution V. 116
A B I N GT O N, Edward, Charles

Tilncy, Edward Jones, JohnTra-
vers, John Charnock, Jerome

Bellamy, and Robert Gage ; their Trial for

High Treafon the 15th of September, 1586,
28 Eliz. I. 134

The five firfi indicled for a Confpiracy againjl the

Queen's Life, and contriving to fet the Queen

of Scots at liberty ; the two lafi for receiving

and harbouring Traitors. ib.

The Court deny Abington a pair of Writing-Ta-

bles to take Notes ; but allow him to fpeak to any

Point as it was urged, before the whole Charge

was gone through. 135
The Confejfion of Babington and others, who had

been attainted of Treafon, read againjl them.

ib. & 136
Abington objecls that he could not be convicted

without two Witneffes brought Face to Face 137
The Court deny that two Witneffes are neceffary

en an Inditlmeni for High Treafon, on the 25th

of Edward III. ib.

The Prifoners are convibled 140
Their Judgment, and Execution ib. & feqq.

The bare hearing of Treafon, no Treafon ; and what

floall be deemed an Affent to it 138
ACCESSARY.

Where the concealing an intended Felonyfhall make

one an Acceffary before the Fail I. 326

Jf all the Principals are acquitted, the Jury fhall

not enquire of the Accejfaries : otherwife, if any

of the Principals are convicted III. 470ACCOMPLICE.
Accomplices in Treafon, legal Witneffes till they

are indicled 1. 1
1
3. II. 339. III. 883. IV. 149,

57 2
> 594

What an Accomplice has /aid, no Evidence againjl

thofe who are indicled with him III. 476
One indicled for Treafon, and another for a Mif-

demeanor for the fame Fail ; the Record of the

Convitlion of the firft for Treafon fhall not be

read in Evidence againjl the other III. 834ACCUSATION.
No Man bound to accufe himfelf I. 169.

II. 24. 463 IV. 606

Vol. VI.

Whether one accufed may legally be committed with-

out Oath made againjl him ? II. 743ACTION.
AHion de Scandal. Magnat. III. 987

Atlion lies for charging a Man with a Crime after

he has had his Clergy, or a Pardon V. 1 68
Where one arrefts another without probable Caufe

of Aftion, he is liable to an Atlion by the Party

grieved III. 1076
The purfuing malicious Methods to obtain a Right,

fubjecls the Party who takesfuch Methods to an
Aclion 1090

ADHERING. See Enemy.
ADJOURNMENT. See Parliament.

AIDING and ABETTING.
Whoever is privy and confenting to Treafon, or pro-

cures another to commit Treafon,J^^a Traitor \

and the Procurer of Felony or Murder is a Fe-

lon I. 73
What fhall be deemed an Affent to Treafon, &c.

I. 138. II. 594
The aiding a Traitor knowingly, Treafon II. 151
The encouraging a Traitor, Treafon II. 365, 594
Aiding and affifling a Pirate \ 'tis no Excufe to fay

he was under the Pirate's Command V. 314
Tet thofe who were Servants on board, are direcled

to be acquitted ib.

One held to be aiding and affifling at a forcibleMar-
riage, though not prefent at the Ceremony 478

AILESBURY, Thomas Earl of, IV. 606. See

Freind, Sir John.

ALIEN.
Aliens are good Witneffes I. 1

1

3

Natives of Scotland, Denizens of England to

all Intents II. 9
An Ail naturalizing the Father, naturalizes his

Iffue born before theAcl, without fpecial Words.

Not fo in cafe of Denization 12

An Englifhman having Iffue of an Alien Woman
out of the King's Dominions, fuch Iffue are De-

nizens of England ib.

Hewhopleads he is an Alien, mufil make it appear 1

5

Aliens fhall be tried by a Jury of half Foreigners

and half Natives III. 468. V. 449
An Alien and a Natural-born Subjecl indicled dif-

ferently V. 527
Whether a Juryman's being an Alien is fufificient

Caufe for arrefting Judgment ? 439
An Alien naturalized in Scotland fhall not inherit

Lands in England, as a Native of Scotland

may V. 524
* A An



An Alphabetical TABLE.
An Interpreter [worn; to interpret the Evidence to

the Aliens on a Party-Jury III. 472
ALLEGIANCE. See Oath.

Ligeantiam naturalem nemo ejurare poteft, nee

patriam exuere II. 9
Allegiance cannot be circumfcribed by Place, but

is due to the Per/on of the King V. 5 1

7

The Difference to be obferved in an Indictment for

one who owes Local Allegiance, and him who
owes Natural Allegiance 527. VI. 87

Spencer' j Treafon -, That Allegiance was due to the

King only in his Politick Capacity % and that the

People might compel him ^jDureffe (or perAf-

pertee) to yield to their Demands II. 305
ALLIES. See Enemy.

AMBASSADOR.
A French Ambaffador beheaded by the Duke of

Milan, for treafonable Praclices during hisEm-

bajfy to him I. 1
1

9

An Ambaffador may be triedfor Treafon II. 8

Earl of Caftlemaine charged by the Houfe of Com-

mons with going Ambaffador to Rome IV. 397
A BUI of Attainder again/1 a Perfon for killing a

Foreign Minifler V. 105
AMENDMENT. See Difcontinuance, Pleading,

Writ.

ANDERSON, alias MUNSON, Lionel, Wil-
liam Ruffel, Charles Parris, alias Parry, Hen-
ry Starkey, James Corker, William Marfhal,

and Alexander Lumfden, tried for High
Treafon the 1 yth of January, 1679, 31 Car. II.

n
: 993

Kemifh indicled and arraigned, for remaining in

England, having received Popifh Orders ib.

But beingfick he is remanded to Prifon ib.

Anderfon, &c. indicled alfo, for accepting Po-

pifh Orders ib.

Marfhal and Corker objeil they had been already

tried for High Treafon and acquitted; but are

told, that was for compaffing the King's Death,

&c. which is another Species ofTreafon 994
Anderfon firft tried 995
The King's Order for his flaying in England does

not avail him at his Trial ib.

Sir John Keyling opens the Evidence ib.

Whoever accepts Popifh Orders, by Confequence dif-

owns the King'sSupremacy, and offeris the Pope's

ib.

Dangerfield depofes, that he went to Confeffion to

Anderfon 996
And that he had an Indulgence from Anderfon to

be drunk as foon as he had received the Sacra-

ment ib.

Oates'* Evidence that the Prifoner performed the

Function of a Priejl ; and the Court direcls, that

it is not neceffary to prove his Ordination 997
Bedloe commits a Miftake in his Evidence againfi

Anderfon 998
The Prifoner urges in his Defence, that he wrote

in behalf of the King's Power againfi the Pope's

Supremacy ib.

And obfrves that the Judges had delivered their

Opinion that this Law was made only in ter-

rorem 999
The Chief Jufiice direcls the Jury 1 000
The Clerk abfives the Priejl when he fays Mafs.

ib.

Mr. Corker'* Trial ib.

He is proved to be Titular Bifoop of London ib.

A Convin. in the Savoy fuppreffed 1001
Mr. MarfliaFj Trial 1002
His own Confeffion, that he was a Priejl when

tried for the Popiflj Plot, brought as Evidence

againfi him II. 1003
Mr. Ruffel's Trial 1006
Oates and Bedloe complain that the Court is

crouded with Papifis 1007
Parris'* Trial ib.

The Venetian Ambaffador's Letter not admitted

as Evidence for the Prifoner 1 o 1 o
Starkey'.? Trial ib.

He fays that Oates did not know what a Priejl'

s

Habit was ion
Objects, that the Priejl makes the Mafs, and not

the Mafs the Priefi ib.

Says that a Proteftant hadJaid Mafs about Town
ib.

Says he had fpent 4000 1. and loft a Leg in the

King 's Service ib.

That he was banijhed in the Time of the Ufurpa-

tion, for refufing to take the Engagement againfi

the King ib.

Mr. Lumfden'* Trial ib.

He appears to be a Scotchman, and Procurator

for Scotland - 1012

The fix firft convicled -, but Lumfden being a

Scotchman, it was found fpecially as to him,

the Court doubting whether he was within the

Statute 1 01

3

The Recorder fiiews the Reafonablenefs of making

this Statute, and the putting it in Force at this

Time. 1 01 6
Sentence paffed on the firft fix 1 o 1

7

APPEAL.
In an Appeal, where one ftands mute, he fhall be

hanged I. 389
Appeals in Parliament remain in the fame State

on the meeting of a new Parliament as they were

in at the Diffolution of the old II 747
In an Appeal, the Prifoner may have Counfel; and

his Witneffes fhall be fworn 253
A Conviclion on an Indiclment for Murder no Bar

to an Appeal ib.

One acquittedfor Murder fhall give Security to an-

fwer any Appeal that may be brought III. 501
APPLETREE, Thomas, II. 5 8 5. See Meffenger,

&al.
ARCHBISHOP. See Bifhop.

ARGYLE, Archibald Marquis of, his Trial in

Scotland for High Treafon, 13 Car. II. 1661.

II. 417
The Charge againfi him, wherein are enumerated

feveral Alls ofHoftility in the Reign of the late

King ib. 418
The delivering the King's Perfon into theHands of

the Englifh Rebels ib.

In taking the part of Oliver Cromwell when Pro-

teclor, and oppofing King Charles the Second's

Reftoration 419 & feqq.

The Marquis's Anfwer 427
He pleads the Acl of Oblivion ib.

He denies mcfi of the other Articles 42 8

His further Anfwer 430
His Speech at his Execution 434

ARGYLE, Archibald Earl of, his Trial for

High Treafon) in November, &c, 1681,

33 Car. II. III. 441
November 3, 1681, the Earl takes the Scotch

Tefi in Council, his Royal Highnefs the Duke of
York, High Commiffioner, being prcfent ib.

The Privy Council's Explanation of the Tefi ib.

Novemb. 4. TheEarl o/Argyle beingabout to take

the Tefi as a Commiffioner of the Treafury, and

offering the Explanation he had offered the Day
before
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before, it was refolved he could notfit in Coun-

cil, not having taken the Tefi according to the

Meaning of the Atl III. 442
The Earl of Argyle'j Explication of the Tefi ib.

Novernb. 8. The Councilfend a Letter to his Ma-
jefiy, to acquaint him they had committed the

Earl to the Cafile, and ordered him to be pro-

fecuted for the fcandalous Paper he gave in as

his Explanation of the Tefi ib.

Novernb. 15. The King fends an Anfwer approv-

ing their Proceedings 443
The Inditlment againfi him for Treafon and Per-

jury, &c. ib.

Abfiratl of the Acls of Parliament whereon the

Inditlment is founded 444
The Earl's Petition that Sir George Lockhart

may be ajfigned of Counfel for him 446
The Anfwer of the Council ib.

-A fecond Petition of the Earl's ; with the An-

fwer of the Council, that they allow Counfel to

plead for him ib.

The Earl caufes Sir George Lockhart to be ferv-

ed with the Order of Council allowing Counfel

to plead for him 447
The Earl is arraigned Decemb. 12. before the

Lords of Jufiiciary 448
His Speech, reciting his Services to the King at

Worcefter Fight, &c. ib.

The King's Letter to the Earl, when he was Lord
Lorn 449

General Middleton'j Orders to the Earl, and the

Earl of Glencairn'j Letter to him, read in

Court ib.

Sir George Lockhart'j Argument and Plea for

the Earl of Argyje 450
The King's Advocate's Argument and Plea againfi

the Earl 455
Sir John Dairy mple'j Reply to the King's Advo-

cate 458
Sir George Lockhart'j Reply to the King's Advo-

cate 460
The King's Advocate's third Plea againfi the Earl

4°~3

The feveral Arguments enter'd by the Clerks in

Court 464
December 12. The Lords of Jufiiciary adjudge

the Libel or Inditlment to be wellfupported, as

to the Treafon ; and refer the Proof of the Fails

therein contain'd to the Affvze (or Jury) confifi-

ing of fifteen Peers and Commoners ib.

The Afiize having chofen theMarquifs <?/Montrofs

their Chancellor (or Foreman) with one Voice

find the Earl Guilty of Treafon, Leafing-mak-

ing and Leafing-telling •, and, by Plurality of

Voices, acquit him of the Perjury ib.

The Council acquaint his Majefiy with the Pro-

ceedings ib.

The King, in his Anfwer, diretls the Lords ofJuf-

iiciary to proceed to pafs Sentence ; but to re-

fpite the Execution 465
December 23, 1681. The Court pafs Sentence of

High Treafon upon the Earl in his Abfence, he

having made his Efcape 4.66

ARMSTRONG, Sir Thomas, Proceedings on the

Outlawry againfi him, Trin. 36 Car. II. 1684
III. 983

He defires he may have the Benefit of a Trial, ac-

cording to the Statute of Edw. VI. it being lefs

than a Tear fince he was out-law'd. The Court

anfwer, he did not furrender himfelf purfuant

to that Statute ; but was taken, and fo could

not have the Benefit of it ib.

Remarks on this Proceeding in. 984
Mrs. Matthews, thePrifoner's Daughter, exclaims

againfi the Court for murdering her Father\ and
is committed fa

The Prifoner charged with being one of thofe who
engag'd to kill the King q%c

He complains his Money was takenfrom him when
he was made Prifoner \jq%

Execution awarded j^.
His Behaviour at Execution ib.

Subfiance of his Dying Speech 986
Proceedings of the Commons upon this Attainder

His Attainder revers'd, 6 W. Ill ib
ARREST. ^Aclion.
ARUNDEL, Philip Howard Earl of, his Trial

for High Treafon, the 18th of April, 1589.
3 1 Eliz. before a Commiflion of Peers I. 1

64*

Inditledfor correfponding with Dr. Allen, a Trai-
tor, in promoting aforeign Invafion, andfaying
Mafsfor the Succefs of the Spanifh Armada 1 65A Pitlure found in his Trunk given in Evidence
againfi him jgg

Refus'd to have his Accufers brought Face to Face

He objetls to fome of the Witneffes, that they were
inditled or attainted ; but is over-rul'd 168

He is convitled j and Sentence pronoune'd upon
him

ib>

He dies in Prifon
jb#

ASHTON, John, his Trialfor High Treafon, the
19th of January, 1690. zW.andM. IV.455

The Inditlment, fee p. 410. in Lord Prefton'j
Trial.

The Prifoner is deny'd to have his Solicitor by him
at the Trial [\Jm

Mr. Serjeant Thomson's Speech before Evidence

456
Billop'j Evidence of his taking the Prifoners on

board a Tatch, with the Papers; as in the Lord
Prefton'^ Trial 464

Mr. Aihton'j Defence . 473
He calls Witneffes to his Reputation 476
Mr. Serj. Thompfon fums up the Evidence 479
The Chief Jufiice Holt directs the Jury 48

1

Lord Chief Jufiice Pollexfen adds his Obferva-
tions 484

Mr. Afhton is convitled 485
LcriPrefton and Mr. Afhton caWd to hearJudg-

ment 486
Mr. Afhton defires a Sight 'of the Inditlment ;

but is deny 3d ib.

Sentence pafs'd on theLord Prefton and Mr. Afh-
ton 487

. Mr. AfhtonV Dying Speech ib.

He refietls upon a particular Judge and Juryman

488
ASSASSINATION. See Plot.

ASSIZE. See Jury.

ASSOCIATION.
AJfociation enter'd into {for the Prefervation of

^ueen Elizabeth) by private Perfons, confirm'

d

by Parliament I. 143, 144
The Draught of an AJfociation to exclude the Duke

of York, found in the Earl of Shaftefbury'i

Study III. 424
ASTLIN, Jofeph, III. 949. S^SacheverelJ, Wil-

Jiam.

ATKINS, Samuel, his Trial for the Murder of

Sir Edmondbury Godfrey, 1678. 31 Car. II.

II. 792

His
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His Inditlment, as Accejfary with Green, Berry,

and Hill II. 792

He pleads Not Guilty ib.

His Inditlment, as Principal with Welch and~Lt

Faire 793
He pleads Not Guilty 794
The Jury fworn and charg'd with both Indict-

ments jb.

Sir William Jones, Attor. Gen. his Speech ib.

Charles Atkins'j Evidence of the Prifoner s ex-

freffing fome Refentment againft Sir Edmond-

bury Godfrey 795
And of his defiring to fpeak with one Child, who

would afterwards have engaged him in theMur-

der of a Man 796
BedlowV Evidence 797
He owns he had formerly declared that the Pri-

foner was in the Room where Sir Edmondbury

Godfrey'J Body lay, andfpake to him ; but now

cannot be pofitive whether it was the Prifoner

or not 1D «

Evidence that the Prifoner difappointedfome Per-

fons who expetled his Company that Day 798

The Prifoner proves, to the Satisfaction of the

Court, that he was at Greenwich at the Time

mention'd by Bedlow 799
He is acquitted 800

ATKINS, William, his Trial at Stafford-y^zw

for High Treafon, the 13th <?/Auguft, 1679.

3 1 Car. II. H.9 6 8

The Inditlment, for that, being a Subjecl of Eng-

land, he accepted Popifh Orders, and after-

wards refided in England ib.

Evidence of the Prifoner*s exercifing his Funtlion

He makes no Defence •„ and is eonvitled 970
ATKYNS, Sir Robert, his Remarks on Lord Ruf-

fel'j Trial III. 755> 7 84
ATTERBURY, Dr. Francis, Bifhop of Rochefter,

Proceedings in Parliament againft him, John

Plunket, and George Kelly, alias Johnfon,

upon Bills of Pains and Penalties for a trea-

fonable Confpiracy, May 1723, 9 Geo. I.

The Names of the Committee appointed by the

Houfe of Commons VI. 335
The Report of the faid Committee ib.

The Refolutions of the Houfe of Commons on the

faid Report 382

The Names of the Committee of the Houfe ofLords

ib.

The Report of the faid Committee ib.

The Refolutions of the Houfe of Lords on the faid

Report
\ 390

The Lord Chancellor's Speech, returning the Thanks

of the Houfe to the Lords of the Committee ib.

The AH to inftitl Pains and Penalties on John
Plunket ib.

Mr. Kelly'j Speech to the Houfe of Lords 391
The AH to inflitJ Pains and Penalties on George

Kelly, alias Johnfon 297
Sir Conflantine Phipps'j Speech for the Bifhop of

Rochefter 398
Mr. Wynne'j Speech for the Bifhop 406
Sir Conft. Phipps'j Recapitulation of the Evi-

dence 429
Mr. Wynne's Recapitulation 430
The Bifhop 's Speech in his own Defence 435
Mr. Reeved Reply 445
Mr. Wearg'j Reply 453
The Bifhop of Salilbury'j Speech for the Bill 458
The Duke of WhartonV Speech againft the Bill

465

The AH to inftitl Pains and Penalties on Francis

Lord Bifhop of Rochefter VI 475
The deprived and banifhed Bifhop embarks for

France VI. 476ATTAINDER.
Bill of Attainder againft the Earl of Strafford

I. 758, 761
Bill of Attainder againft Archbifhop Laud 1. 947,

948
Bill of Attainder againft Sir John Fenwick

V. 40
Bills of Attainder univerfally exploded, where the

Party is forthcoming 98
The firft Bill of Attainder begun in the Houfe of

Commons 125
Whether a Bill of Attainder againft a Commoner

can be brought in in the Houfe of Peers 127
Bill of Attainder againft one for killing a foreign

Minifter, after a Trial in an inferior Court 105
AUDLEY, Meavin Lord, his Trial for a Rape

upon his own Wife, and for Sodomy. Apr. 25.

163 1. 7 Car. I. I. 388
Opinions of the Judges upon feveral Points mov'd

to them by the Attorney-General before the

Trial ib.

Lord Steward's Speech to the Prifoner 390
His Charge to the Peers ib.

The Countefs's Examination read againft the Earl

39 2

Evidence that he held his Lady, while his Servant

ravifh'd her . ib.

Evidence of the Earl's committing Sodomy ib.

That he folicited his Servants to lie with his

Daughter at twelve Tears old ib.

His Daughter, the young Lady Audley'j Exami-
nation read againft him ib.

The Earl objetls to his Lady's Teftimony, that fhe

was a leud Woman 393
The Earl is eonvitled, andfentene'd to be hangd

;

but is beheaded 394
His Behaviour at Execution 395
Fitz-Patrick and Brodway, my Lord Audley'^

Servants, try'd and eonvitled ; the one for Bug-
gery, and the other for a Rape on the Lady
Audley 396

The Perfan proftituting himfelf adjudg'd guilty of
Felony as well as the Atlor ib.

The Judges Letter to the Lord Keeper about their

Cafe ib.

They are executed, and confefs the Crime aaj
AVERMENT. See Pleading.

AVERY. S^Dawfon, & al.

AXTEL, Daniel, III. 369. See Regicides.

B

BABINGTON, Anthony, Chidiock Titch-

burne, Thomas Salifbury, Robert Barnewell,

John Savage, Henry Donn, and John Bal-

lard, their Arraignment I. 128
Inditled ofHigh Treafon,for confpiring the Queen's

Death, and to fet the Queen of Scots at Li-

berty 129
They all confefs the Inditlment 129, & feqq.

After they pleaded Guilty, their former Confeffons

are read in Court 130, & feqq.

Being call'd to Judgment, they quarrel among one

another who were the firft Contrivers of the

Plot 133
Their Behaviour, and cruel Execution 140,141

BACON, Francis Lord, Proceedings againft him,

in Parliament, for Bribery and Corruption,

1620 , 1. 375
Report
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Report from the Committee of the Houfe of Com-

mons I. 375
A fecond Report of the faid Committee 376
Debates in the Houfe of Commons 377
The Report fent up to the Lords 378
A Conference between the two Houfe

s

379
The Lords read a Letter from Lord Bacon 380
And fend an Anjwer thereto 381
Receive afurther Complaintfrom the Commons ib.

State an Account of the Briberies and Corruptions

of the Lord Chancellor ib.

Who fends a general Confejfwn and Submijfion 382
Which is objecled to by the Lords 383
Afterwards he makes a particular Anfwer to each

Head of Complaint ib.

And acknowledges it at the Lords Bar ib.

The Commons demand Judgment ; which is pro-

nounced by the Lord Chief Juftice in his Ab-

fence, his Attendance being excus'd on account

of Sicknefs 387
Reduc'd to great Want ib.

His Death, and Burial ib.

BAIL.
jdPeer committed by the Houfe of Peers cannot be

bail'd by the Court o/King's Bench II. 622,754.

Bail not to be taken {even in cafe of a Peer) in a

Homine Replegiando, till the Party ejjaigned

be produced III. 544
The Bail cannot be a Witnefsfor the Principal 842

BAILLIE, Robert, <?/Jervifwood, his Trialfor High

Treafon, before the Earl of Linlithgow, Lord

Juftice- General of the Kingdom of Scotland, and

the other Lords of Jufticiary, at Edinburgh,

the 23d of December, 1684 III. 1095
The Indiclment, for confpiring the Death of his

Majefty, and endeavouring to excite an Infur-

reclion and Rebellion ib.

The Prifoner can demand no time to prepare for

his Trial in Scotland I097
Two Noblemen and thirteen Commoners upon the

Ajfize, or Jury ib.

An Accomplice, who had been indicled and con-

fejfed the Crime, admitted a Witnefs 1099
Earl of Tarras depofes, that the Prifoner went to

London to concert Meafures with the Englifh

;

and that Argyle was to have 10,000 1. of the

Englifh to begin an Infurreilion in Scotland

ib.

Carftare'j Evidence as to Lord RufleTj being con-

cern'

d

1 1 04
Mr. Sheppard privy to the Defign 1 105

Dr. Owen, and Mr. Mead of Stepney, concerned

in it 1 106

Sheppard' s Examination read concerning the Scots

coming to London to fettle Matters with the

Englifh ib.

Sir George Mackenzie, LordAdvocate, his Speech

1107

The Prifoner is convicled 11 10

The Manner ofpronouncingJudgment in Scotland.

IIII

BALLARD, John, I. 128. &?* Babington & al.

BALMERINO, John Lord, his Trial, for libelling

his Majefty and the Government, at Edinburgh,

the id of December, 1634, 10 Car. I. before

William Earl of Errol, Great Conftable ofScot-

land, Lord Juftice-General, and Sir Robert

Spotifwood, Sir John Hay, and Sir James

Learmouth, Ajfejfors to the Lord Juftice-Ge-

neral I. 429
The Indictment ib,

Vol. VI.

Concealing the Author, as well as compofing the
Libel, Capital . 1-431

The Petition, or Libel 4 > ?
The Kirk is apprehenfive of being new. modelld

ib.

That the King favour'd Arminianifm, and ad-
mitted Papifts tofit in Parliament 434

Counfel ajfign'd the Prifoner 435
They have Liberty of perufrng the Depofitions a-

gainft him ib.

His Counfel manage his Defence ib..

The King's Counfel reply 44.

3

The Prifoner's Counfel anfwer ; and the Counfel on
both Sides debate 459, &'feqq.

His Exceptions to the Indiclment over-ruled 470
TheAJfize (or Jury) empannell'd, confifting of eight

Lords andJeven Commoners ib.

A Juror challeng'd, for that he hadprejudg'd the

Prifoner 47 r

The Libel and Depofitions produc'd in Evidence a-

gainft the Prifoner ib.

The Counfel for the Prifoner make their Obferva-

tions on the Evidence 478
The Prifoner is convicted 480
Sentence paft'd; but he is pardon'

d

ib.

BANNANTYNE, John, V. 572. See Green,

Thomas, & al.

BARKER, Humphrey, III. 949. See Sacheverell,

William

BARNARDISTON, Sir Samuel, Bart, his Trial

upon an Information for a Mifdemeanour, the

14th of February, 1683, 36 Car. II. HI. 933
Upon Oath made of his being fick, his Recogni-

zance is refpited, and he is admitted to plead

by Attorney ib.

The Information open'd, for fcandalizing the Go-

vernment in feveral Letters, or Libels, written

to his Correfpondents, wherein he endeavours

to perfuade them, that the Plot againft the King

and the Duke, of which my Lord Ruffel, Sid-

ney, £?V. had been convicled, was a Sham.

III. 934
Sir Thomas Jenner'j Speech before Evidence ib.

Proved that he own'd the Letters before the Coun-

cil 935
And that they were laid, among his other Letters^

to go to the Poft-houfe ib.

The Letters read 937
Mr. Williams'j Speech for the Defendant 93 8

The ChiefJuftice' s Observations on the Evidence

940
Mentions in his Charge a contemptuous Expreffion

the Defendant had us'd of him 941
The Defendant is convicled, and receives Sentence

942
BARNES, Henry, V. sy6. See Green, Tho-

mas, & al.

BARNWELL, Robert, I. 121. S« Babington*

&al.
BAROVERSE, Sir James, I. 15. SeeBnmbre.

BASTWICK, Dr. John, try'd in the Star-Cham-

ber, with Henry Burton and William Prynne,

for feveral Libels, 13 Car. I. I. 481

Counfel reffing to fign their Anfwers, they defire

they may be acceptedfign'd by themfives ; which

is refu'sd 482
They not anfwering, the Charge is taken pro con-

feffo 483
The Titles of their Books ib.

They receive Sentence 486
Archbifhop Laud'j Speech ib.

* B Their
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Their Crime declared to be finding Faults in the

Common Prayer, and the Fajts appointed by

Authority I. 488
Their Difcourfes to the People, and with one ano-

ther, as theyftand in the Pillory 495
Upon their Petitions to the Parliament, their Sen-

tence is revers'd 504
BATEMAN, Charles, his Trial the gtb of Decem-

ber, 1685, 1 Jac.IL IV. 162

He defires his Trial may be put off, having had no

Notice ; but is told he had Notice enough, be-

ing try'd upon an Jnditlment of the preceding

Seffions ; and that Notice was a Favour which

the Prifoner could not claim. ib.

The Indiftment for High Treafon in confpiring the

Death of the King, and promiftng to affift in

feizing of the Kings Perfon, the Tower, &c.
ib,

A Witnefs is permitted to be examined after the

Evidence fum'd up 164

The Prifoner convifted ; Sentence pelfs'd on him,

and executed ib.

BAYARD, ColonelNicholas, his Trial at NewYork
for High Treafon, 19 Feb. 1701-2, 14W. III.

V. 419
Matters introductory to his Trial ib.

The Attorney General's Opinion that he was not

criminal 420
The Aft upon which he was tried 42

1

Some of the Grand Jury difmifs'd, who were fuf-

pefted of Tendernefs to him 422
The Indiftment found again/} him ib.

He objefts by his Counfel, that twelve Jurors did

not agree to find it 423
Which is over-rul'd

9 424
The Indiftment ib.

The Prifoner defires two Clerks to take Minutes ;

but is deny'd 425
He pleads Not Guilty ib.

Objeftion made by the Prifoner's Counfel, that the

Precept to fummon the Petit Jury was not un-

der the Hands and Seals of the Commiffioners :

whereupon the Court adjourned, and another

Precept was awarded 42 6

His Trial begins 42 7
The Prifoner convifted 435
He moves in Arreft of Judgment ib. 436
Sentence pafs'd on him as a Traitor 440

BAYNTON, Sarah. See Swendfen.

BEASLEY, Richard. II. 585. See Meffenger, & al.

BEAUCHAMP, John, I. 15. See Brambre.

BEDLE, Edward, II. 585. See Meffenger, & al.

BELKNAP, Sir Robert, I. 14. ^Brambre.
BELLAMY, Jerome, I. 139. S^Abington, & al.

BENNET, Ralph, III. 949. See Sacheverell,

"William.

BERRY, Henry, II. 760. See Green, Robert,

& al.

BETHEL, Slingfby, Efq; his Trial for Affault

and Battery at an Eleftion, 1681, ^ Car. II.

III. 413
The Indiftment ib.

Mr. Holt opens the Evidence ib.

Evidence of the Affault and Battery 414
Mr. Thompfon'j Speech for the Defendant 415
The Defendant's Evidence contradifts the King's

Witncffes ib.

Mr. Thorn pfon fums up for the Defendant 417
Mr. Holt for the King ib.

The Defendant convifted ib.

He is fined five Marks 4 1 8

BETHEL, Slmglby, Efq; III. 630. See Pil-

kington, & al.

BIGAMY. See Marriage.

BILLS of Attainder. See Attainder.

BISHOP of London. See Compton, Dr. Henry.—

:

of Rochefter. See Atterbury, Dr. Francis.

BISHOPS.
Impugning their Authority, adjudg'd to be an im-

pugning the Queen's Authority in Caufs Eccle-

fiuftical I. 17:

Archbifhop refufing to confecrate one elefted Bifhop,

incurs a Praemunire 8^o
Bifhops derive their Power in Temporals from the

Prince ; but in Matters purely Spiritual from
Chrift, though they may not exercife their Spi-

ritual Power without Leave of the Prince 885
The Title of Holinefs given to the Primitive Bi-

fhops 871
Epifcopacy Jure Divino 915
A Schifmatick may not be a Witnefs again/} his

Bifhop, by the Civil Daw 934
The Bifhops excluded from fitting in the Houfe of

Lords, by Aft of Parliament II. 337
Bifloops may vote in Matters previous to the Trial

in Capital Cafes II. 742. III. 101

BISHOPS, the Seven, their Trial IV. 304
They are brought by Habeas Corpus from the

Tower to the King's-Bench-Zfor, thefirfl Day
of Trinity-Term, 1688 . ib.

The Return of the Habeas Corpus read, in which
is recited the Warrant for their Commitment

ib.

Mr. Attorney prays the Information may be read

The Bifhops Gouflfel move they may be difcharg'd

before it be read ; for that they were not legally

committed 306
if}, Becaufe the Return fays they were committed

by the Lords of the Council, but not in Council;

and that the Lords have no Power to commit

but in Council ib.

idly, That a Peer cannot be committedfor a Mif-
demeanour 312

Rul'd, that every Commitment fhall be prefunid

to be purfuant to the Power of the Perfon com-

muting 311

If the Procefs, whereby one is brought into Court,

be illegal, the Party cannot be chargd with an

Informal ion 312
A Peer may be committed for Treafon, Felony, or

Breach of the Peace IV. 315
The making a feditious Libel deem'd an aftual

Breach of the Peace 316
Rul'd, that the Information fhould be read ; and

it was read in Latin ib.

The Declaration for Liberty of Confidence recited

.317
Order of Council for the reading and difiributing

it 319
The Bifhops Petition 320
Mr. Attorney prays the Bifhops may plead to the

Information ib.

The Bifhops Counfel infifl on an Imparlance ib.

. Sir Samuel Aftry tefiifies the Courfe of the Court

to be, that where one appears upon a Summons,

he fhall have an Imparlance ; but if he comes in

Cuflody, or on a Recognizance, he fhall plead

prcfenlly 324
In Capital Cafes, the Party accus'd mufi plead pre-

fently 323
Rul'd, that my Lords the Bifhops plead immediately

328
They offer a Pita in Paper, being the Subflance of

what their Couifel had already infijled on 329
The
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Tht Pica is vejeffcd as frivolous, and they are or-

der J to plead over ; whereupon they plead Not
Guilty IV. 332

The Court iireSis 48 to be return''d on the Jury,
and the Jury to be ftruck in prefence of the At-

torneys on both fides ib.

The Archbifuop enters into a Recognizance of 200 1.

and the »ther Bifhops in 100 1. each for their

Appear?. -tee 333
The Trial comes on, Friday the 29th of June,

1 68

3

ib.

The Names of the Jury ib.

Mr. Attorney, Sir Thomas Fowls, ftates the Cafe,

and opens the Evidence for the King 334
The Declarations under the Broad Seal given in

Evidence 335
Proof is hififted on, that they were the fame with

the printed Declaration 336
The Bifhops Hands to the Petition attempted to be

prov'd 337
Similitude of Hands, whether Proof of a Man's

Hand-writing in Criminal Matters 342
And if it be, whether the Witnefs himfelf be Judge

of the Likenefs ; or whether fome of the Par-

ty's Writing ought to be produced in Court for
the Jury to judge of it ib.

The Court divided about the Sufficiency of the

Proof ; and direiled the King's Counfel to pro-

duce other Proof of the Bifhops Hands 345
Mr. Blathwayt depofes, they acknowledg'd their

Hands before the Council 346
The Bifroops Counfel examine Mr. Blathwayt, if the

King did not promife that their owning their

Hands Jhould be no Prejudice to them 348
He depofes that the King made no fuch Promife ib.*

The Petition not prov d to befram'd in the County

where the Offence was laid ; and Matters of
Crime being local, it was infifted, that the De-

fendants mujl be prefum'd to be innocent 349
Held not neceffary to infert the whole Petition in

the Information 352
Putting a Libel into the Pofi, adjudg'd a Publi-

cation of it 353
The owning their Hands before the Council, did not

amount to a Publication ; but had the Witneffes

been pofitive that the BifJjops own'd that this

was the Paper they deliver'd to the King, it was
agreed that would have been a fufficient Proof

of theirpublifoing it; but the Witneffes not be-

ing pofitive in this, it was held they had fail'

d

as to their Proof of the Publijhing it : Where-

upon the People fhouted 361

The Lord Sunderland depos'd, that the Bifhops

apply'd to him, to ajfift them in delivering their

Petition to the King ; whereupon the Court were

of Opinion there was fufficient Proof of the

Publifhing 366
The Bifhops Counfel enter upon their Defence, and

infift that the Petition is no Libel 3 67
That it is the Subjects Right to petition ib.

They fhew that the King cannot difpenfe with the

Laws 369
And that the Bifhops were under a Neceffity of Pe-

titioning, being commanded to diflribute the De-

clarations 3 70
That it was allowable to fay, the King was mif-

taken in the Law ; and that this was daily prac-

tis'd in relation to his Grants ib.

The Defendants produce a Record, wherein it ap-

pears, that the Commons impower'd K. Rich. II.

with the Confent of the Lords, to fufpend the

Statute of Provifors 375

The Journals of the Houfes of the Lords and Com-
raons produe'd in Evidence oj6

Wherein are the Addreffes of the Commons to King
Charles II. againft the Difpevfing Power, and
the King's Anfivers ib, &c.

King Charles cancels his Declaration for fufpend-
ing the Penal Laws, and declares it Jhall ne-
ver be drawn into Example 381

The Commons Addrefs on K. James'.r claiming the

fame Power after Monmouths Rebellion 382
The Cafe of Thomas and Sorrel, in relation to the

Difpenjing Power, cited by Mr. Somers 3 84
The Attorney-General replies, that the Inftances

they have produe'd are Evidences againft them,
being only of Matters tranfabled in Parlia-
ment

3 8 5
That it may be a Libel though the Fatls are true

386
That the Bifhops Jhould'have acquieftd under thjir

Pqffive Obedience, till the meeting of a Parlia-
ment ib.

That the Law interprets the thing to be malicious

and feditious, if it be illegal ib.

Mr. Solicitor denies that the SubjetJ has a Right to

petition out of Parliament concerning Matters of
Government 387

He infifts that Votes and Addreffes are not Evidence,

and cannot be ftil'd Declarations in Parliament

389
That the King may make Conftitutions in Matters

Ecclefiaftical ib.

And that the Bifhops denying that Prerogative,

was in Diminution of the Prerogative, as laid

in the Information 390
The Chief Juftice holds it lawful to petition, but

not in that reflecting Manner as in the Peti-

tion 391
The Petition of the City of London for the fit-

ting of a Parliament, adjudg'd a Libel 392
The Chief Juftice direbis the Jury, and is of Opi-

nion with Mr. Juftice Allybone, that it was a
Libel 393 , 394

Mr. Juftice Holloway and Mr. Juftice Powell de-

clar'd their Opinion, it was not a Libel 394,

395
Mr. Juftice Allybone cites a Cafe in the Time of

King James I. where it was adjudg'd a Mifde-

meanour to petition the King to put the Penal

Laws in Execution 395
But was anfwer'd, the Reafon of that Judgment

was, becaufe the Puritans threatned, that, un-

lefs their Requeft was granted, many Thoufands

of the King's Subjeils would be difcontented ib.

The Court permit the Jury to fend for Wine 396
The Jury are not allow'd to have any Papers with

them, but what are under Seal ib.

They are kept together all Night, without Fire or

Candle ib.

The Bifhops are acquitted ; whereupon the People

fhout ', and a Gentleman is committed for it,

but releas'd again ib.

BLAGUE, Capt. William, his Trialfor HighTrea-

fon, the 13th Day of July, 1683. 35 Car. II.

III. 731, 739
There being but one Witnefs that fevore the Trea-

fon pofitively againft the Prifoner, the Chief

Juftice direiled the Jury to acquit him ; which

they did 744
BLASPHEMY. See Naylor James' II. 265
BLUNT, Sir Chriftopher, tryd with Sir Charles

Davers, Sir John Davis, Sir Gilly Merrick,

and
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tz//i Henry Ctiffe, /<?r High Treafon in the Earl

of EfTex'j' Plot, 1600 I. 209
They plead Not Guilty ; but upon their Trial con-

fers the Fatli ib. 210

Sir Gilly Merrick, and Mr. CufFe executed at

Tyburn, and their Behaviour 210

Sir Chriilopher Blunt and Sir Charles Davers be-

headed upon Tower-Hill 211

Sir Chriflopher Blunt's Speech at his Execution

ib.

BOLTON, John. See Crook, John

BONNET, Major Stede, The. Trial of him and

thirty-three others, for Piracy in South-Caro-

lina, 1718. 5 George I. VI. 156

Nicholas Trott Efq; Judge of the Vice-Admiralty,

his Charge to the Grand Inqueft 157
Five Pirates brought to their Trial 160

Thelnditlmentfor taking Tfo Francis, Peter Man-
faring Commander 161

Richard Allen Efq; Attorney-General, his Speech

before Evidence ib.

Mr. Hepworth'j Speech 163

Evidence for the King > 1 64
The Prifoners Defence 166

Mr. Juftice Trott'J Charge i6y

The Prifoners convicled ib.

Eight more tried for the fame Faff 1 68

Their Defence ib.

They are all convicled 169

Nine more tried for the fame Fat! ib.

Eight found Guilty ; and One acquitted 171

Five more tried for the fame ib.

Four found Guilty ; and One acquitted ib.

Eight triedfor taking The Fortune, CaptainRead,

Commander ib.

Evidence for the King 172
They are all convicled '

173
Nine more tried for the fame 1 74
Eight found Guilty ; and One acquitted ib.

Eight more triedfor the fame and convitled 175
Five tried for taking The Francis 176
Two convicled; and Three acquitted iyg
The fame Prifoners tried for fiealing The For-

tune ib.

One convicled; and four acquitted. 180

fudge Trott'j Speech before Sentence 181

Sentence pafs'd upon 29 Pirates 183
Twenty-two executed ib.

Major Bonnet'j Trial, for taking The Francis ib.

Evidence againjl him ib.

His Defence 185
He is convicted 186
Judge TrottV Speech before Judgment ib.

He is condemn''d, and executed 188
BOOKS. See Libels.

BOROSKI, George, Chriflopher Vratz, John Stern,

and Charles-John Count Coningfmark, tried

for the Murder of Thomas Thynn Efq; the

firft three as Principals, the lafi as Acceffary

before the Fail., Feb. 28. 1681. 34 Car. II.

III. 466
The Prifoners being Foreigners, an Interpreter

fworn ib.

Inaitled as of the Parifh of St. Martins, as well

all the Principals as the Acceffary, in one In-

diblment 467
The Subftance of the Inditlment interpreted to the

Prifoners in their own Language ib.

The Court demand if they would be tried after the

manner of the Englifh ; to which they affent,

and plead Not Guilty 468

They demand a Jury of half Foreigners, and half
Englifh ; which is granted III. 468

Alfo that there be no Friends or Relations of the

Deceafed upon the Jury ; which is granted ib.

Coningfmark demands a Jury of Quality ; agreed
they fhould confijt of confiderable Merchants ib.

The Court deny to try him diflinblly from the reft;

ib.

He is deniedfurther Time to prepare for his Trial

469
A Copy of the Pannel deny'd him ; but he is al-

lowed to look on the Pannel 46s;

They defire that none of the Foreigners on the Jury
be Roman Catholicks •, granted ib.

The Court diretl that firft an Englifhman, and
then a Foreigner, foould be called andfworn ib.

A Foreigner challenged for the King ; and the

Counfel infift they need not fhew Caufe, unlefs

they want Jury-Men ib.

The Court inform the Prifoners they may challenge

all the reft, and fo compel the King's Counfel to^

fhew Caufe ib.

Prifoners defire that thofe that are challenged

Jhould not come near thofe that are fworn ; it

is granted 470
Sir Francis Wythens'j Speech before Evidence

47*
The Evidence interpreted to thofe Aliens upon the

Jury, by Interpreters fworn for the Purpofe

47?
The Coroner examined, that fat upon the Body 474
Thejuftices who took the Examination of the Pri-
foners are not allowed' to read the Examination
as Evidence ib. & 476

What any of the Prifoners faid at their Exami-
nation, no Evidence againft any but themfelves

-,'.. 474
The Examination of one of the Witneffes before

the Privy Council fhewn him to refrefh his

Memory at the Trial 478
The Count's Defence 492 & feqq.

The three firft found Guilty 500
Coningfmark being acquitted of being Acceffary to

the Murder, the Court order him to enter into

a Recognizance, with three Sureties, to appear

next Seffions, and anfwer any Appeal, ifbraught

501
Sentence pronounced on Borofki, Vratz, and Stern

502
BOTHWELL, James Earl, triedfor the Murder

of the King of Scots I. 78
The Inditlment againft him 79
No Profecutor appearing, he is acquitted 8

1

Is afterwardsforced to fly the Kingdom, and turns

Pirate 82
BOUCHER, James, his "Trial for High Trea-

fon, for going into France, and returning with-

out Licence, Feb. 28. 1703 V. 506
He confejfes the Inditlment, and receives Sentence

5°7
BRADDON, Laurence, and Flugh Speke, tried

for a Mifdemeanour, Feb. 7. 1683. 36Car.IL
III. 855

The Information for endeavouring to make Peopls

believe that the Earl of EfTex was murdered by

thofe to whofe Cuftody he was committed ; and

for procuring falfe Witneffes to prove it ib.

Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, his Speech

before Evidence 856
The Earl's Commitment, and the Coroner's Inqui-

fition read 857
Evans
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Ev^.ns and Edwards depofe, that Mr. Braddon

caw i to Edwards to enquire about a Razorfaid
ic he feen by young Edwards to be thrown out

of rhe Window where the Earl of EfTex lodged

in the 'Tower III. 857, 861

Edwards, the Son, depofes that the Story he had

tc
\~ of the Razor was all faJfe 865

Dr. Haw kins's Son fwears the Story of the Razor
to be all falfe 866

The Information read which Mr. Braddon -pro-

cured young Edwards to fign 868

Evidence that Mr. Speke wrote a Letter into the

Country, recommending Mr. Braddon as a Pro-

fecu*or of the Earl of EfTex'* Murder 870
Evidence that a Girl had declar'd a Story of a

Razor fomething like Edwards'* 871, 880
The Counfel for Mr. Braddon enter upon the De-

fence 872
Where one has Counfel allowed, he ought not to

fpeak himfelf 875
Evidence of the Women of the Edwards'* Family

ib.

None of the Witnpffes can tell from whom they

had the Report 'in the Country of my Lord Ef-

fex'* Death, which they teftificd they had heard,

before he died 884

Mr. Speke'* Counfel make a Defence 880

He fpeaks for himfelf ib.

Bornency, who had been Gentleman to my Lord

EfTex fix Tears, and attended him in the Tower

when he died, gives Evidence that my Lord of

EfTex cut his own Throat 888

The Warder, the Centinel at the Door, and Cap-

tain Hawley, the Mafter of the Houfe, depofe

to the fame effetl 889, 890
The Chief Juftice's Obfervations on the Evidence

891

The Defendants are convicted 897
Mr. Juftice Wythens'* Speech before Judgment

899
Their refpeclive Fines are fet ib.

BRADDON, Laurence, his Vindication of the

Earl of EfTex III. 900
Copies of Informations taken before the Coroner

901

Mr. Braddon committed to a Gael in Wiltfhire,

and his Sufferings 905, 906
His own account of the Trial 908

The Lords Houfe, in 1688, appoint a Committee

to enquire concerning the Death of the Earl of

EfTex 910
The Depofilions which were laid before them

911

Evidence that feveral Perfons were in the Earl's

Room the Morning he died 914
Mr. Braddon'* Remarks 9 1 7

The Circumflance of the Razor confider'd 921

The Proceeaings upon the Coroner's Inquifition

924
Evidence that my Lord was murder'd by one Hol-

land 9 2 7> 928

AJummary Recapitulation of the whole Fail 929
BRAMBRE, Nicholas, Proceedings in Parliament

againfi him, the Archbifhop of York, the Duke

of Ireland, the Earl of Suitolk, and Lord Chief

Juftice Trefilian, for High Treafon I. 1

Articles againft them 6

None appearing but Brambre, the other four are

attainted 1 2

Brambre dcfires Trial by Combat ; which is re-

fund ib.

He is condemn'd and executed 13

Vol. VI,

A remarkable Circumjlance before his Execution

I. 13
Belknap, Holt, Fukhorpe, W. Burgh, Carey,

and Lockton tried X a

They confejs, and beg Mercy ib.

Their Lives are fav'd ; but tranfported ib.

Blake and Ufke coyidemn'd and executed ib.

Trefilian takes Lodgings at Weflminfter in Dif-
guife 1 z

Is difcover'd lying under a Table cover'd with
Bays, and brought before the Lords ib.

Is drawn to Execution . • • 12
Refufes to confefs any thing ib.

Will not climb the Ladder, till beaten with Staves

ib.

Jsftript ; the Names and Images of Devils found
under -his Clothes . ib.

Is hang'd ib.

Afterwards his Throat cut ib.

Buried at the Grey Friars ib.

Bifhop of Chichefter tried ; but his Judgment re-

fpited
1

5

Simon de Burleigh, Beauchamp, Baroverfe, and
Salifbury tried and executed ib.

BREWSTER, Thomas. II. 528. See Twyn,
&al.

BRODWAY, Giles I. 396. See Audley, Lord.
BROMWICH, Andrew, his Trial at Stafford-

Affizes for High Treafon, Auguft 13. 1679.

31 Car. II. II. 965
Some of the Jurors difcharged for being thought

Popifhly affcHed ib.

The Indiclment, for that, being a Subjetl of this

Crown, he took Popijh Orders, and refided in

England 966
Evidence of the Prifoner's adminiftring the Sa--

crament after the Popijh manner ib.

The Chief Juftice directs the Jury, that if they

believe the Prifoner to be a Prieft from the Cir-

cumftances, they might find him guilty, though

there were not two Witneffes that fivore it po-

filively 96$
The Prifoner convicled, and condemn'

d

ib.

BROOKS, Nathan II. 530. See Twyn, & al.

BRUCKLIE, John V. 572. See Green, Thc-
mas, & al.

BUCKNER, William I. 396. S^Prynne, &al.

BUGGERY I.388.

The Perfon proftituting himfelf adjudg'd guilty of
Felony I. 396

Emiffion without Penetration in the Attempt, ad~

judg'd the Offence was complete ; and fo in a

Rape 191
BULLS, A Papal Bull I. 956

BURGLARY.
Where one comes into a Houfe by Day, the Doors be-

ing open, and opens the Door to get out at Night,

'tis Burglary. See Turner'* Trial II. 524
One who ajjifts at Breaking a Houfe, is not guilty

of Burglary, unlefs he enters VI. 224,225,227
BURGH, William de. See Brambre.

BURN, James. See Green, Thomas, & al. V.572

BURTON, Henry, his Trial for feveral Libels.

See Baflwicke.

BUSBY, George, his Trial for High Treafon, in

accepting Popijh Orders, at the Affizes for the

County of Derby, July 25. 1681. 33 Car.II.

III. 328
His Arraignment ib.

The Prifoner infifts he has a Habeas Corpus to

remove him to the King's Bench, and could not

be tried in the Country ib.

* C Thi
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"The Court rule, that the Grand Jury havingfound

the Bill, he muft be try'd here III. 328

The Indictment ib.

Mr. Combes'.? Speech before Evidence 329

Evidence of the Manner of his Apprehenfion 330
Bufby obje£ls that he is an Alien, and fo not

within the Statute againft taking Popifh Orders

33 2

The ACl for naturalizing the Children of Subjects

born in Foreign Countries, during the late Re-

bellion, read jb.

Evidence of the Prifoner's officiating as a Prieft

333

Mr. Baron Street directs the Jury 338

Tells them, that the officiating as a Priefi is fuf-

ficient Evidence of his being in Orders 339
Bufby is convided, and Sentence gaffed, upon him

ib.

BUTLER, alias Strickland, Mary •, her Trialfor

Forgery at the Old Baily, the 12 th of Octo-

ber, 1699. 1 1 W. III. V. 232

The Indictment ._ .

1°-

Mr. Serjeant Wright and Mr. Notthey open the

Evidence 233

The Evidence againft the Prifoner 234

The Bond produced and read 235

ThePrifiner''s Counfil enter upon her Defence 23 6

The Pr
t
finer's Witneffes call'd 237

Lord Chief Jufiice Holt funis up the Evidence

ib.

The Prifoner convicted-, and Sentence paffed 23a

C.

CAMBRIDGE Univerfity ; Proceedings againft

them, 3 Jac. Ilr 1687 IV. 2,54

The Subftance of the King's Letter to them, to give

Father Francis, a Monk, his Degree without

adminiftring the Oaths to him ib.

They refufi to admit him ib.

A ficond Letter to the Univerfity ib.

The Univerfity apply to the Duke of Albemarle,

their Chancellor 255

The Vice-chancellor and Senate fummoned before

the High Commijfion ib.

The Perfins deputed by the Senate to attend ib.

They have Time allowed them to anfwer 256

Their Anfwer ib.

Their Hearing 257
The Court decree that the Vice-Chancellorfhall be

deprived ; and that hefioould be fufipendedfrom

his Mafterfhip 260

The Senate are difmiffed with a Reprimand 261

And ordered to fend up Copies of their Statutes

ib.

Balderfon eleded Vice-Chancellor 258

CAREW, John I. 858. See Regicides.

CAREY, Sir John I. 14. See Brambre.

CARNWARTH, Robert Earl of. See Derwe^t-

water, Earl of VI. t

CARR, Frances. See Somerfet, Cowtefs of.

CARR, Robert. See Somerfet, Earl of.

CARR, Henry, his Trial for a Libel reflecting on

the Jufiice of the Nation, at Guildhall, Lon-

don, July 2, 1.680. 32 Car. IL III. 57
The Subjiance of the Information ib.

A Tales pro defectu Juratorum ib.

lilt. Recorder's (Sir George Jefferies), Speech at

the opening the Information 58
The Evidence ' 5$>59

S he exceptionable Words read
.

60

Sir Frai cis Winnington, of Counfil for the De-

fendant, obferves from the Evidence,, that the

individual Paper mentioned in the Information

is not proved to be the Defendant's
"

III. 61
idly, That admitting it be his

7
it is not prov'd

to be done malicioifly ib.

The Prifoner calls Witneffes to Jhew he was well

affeded to the Government ib.

The Recorder's Reply to the Defence made by the

Prifoner s Counfil fi2
The Lord Chief Jufiice, in his Direction to the

Jury, fhews his Refentment at the Noife and
Humming the Party made in Court £?

He tells the Jury, they were not to exped fucb
ftritl Proof in this as in common Matters ib.

That prefumptive Evidence is often taken even in

Capital Matters ib.

That it had been refolvd and fubfirib'd by all

the Judges, when his Majefiy demanded their-

Opinions concerning the Regulation of the

Pr.efs, that to print cr publifh News-Books, or

Pamphlets of News, was illegal, and difco-

ver'd a manifefi Intent to the Breach of the

Peace ,, 64.

That if there were no Scandal in it, the Author
ought to be convided for .

publifhing fuch Books
without Authority, that alone being illegal ib;

He cenfures the Folly of the Age in being fo fond
of fuch Papers jb.

Says, that it was ridiculous far the Author to

hope a Court of Jufiice would not underftand

'what he defignd all the reft of the Worldfhould
underftflnd ib.

That if the Jury found him guilty of the Fall, the

Court would judge whether it imply'd Malice

ib.

And the Jury were not to trouble themfelves about

that ib.

That the Jury, by finding the Defendant guilty,

do not take it upon their Oaths abfilaiely that

he was, the Auther, but that they believe him
to be the Author ib.

The Jury withdrew., and after an. Hour's Recefs,

bring the Prifoner in Guilty ib.

CASTLEMAINE, Roger Earl of, his Trialfor
HighTreafon, 32 Car. II. 1680 III. 36

Indi.Ctment for High Treafin, in confpiring the

Death of the. King, the Subverfion of the Go-
vernment, Religion, &c. gj

Sir Crefweli Levinz3 Attorney General, opens thz

Evidence ib.

Oates'j Evidence of feveral Letters fent and re-

ceived by my Lord Cafllemaine about the Plot

S S
Oates'j Voyages to Spain and Flanders 3^
Oates'j Evidence of a Divorce between the Lord

Cafllemaine and Barbara Dutchefs of Cleve-

land 42
Dangerfield call'd as a Wltnefs for the King 43
Sixteen Records of Conviction agai?ift Dangerfield

for a Cheat 44
Upon which the Prifoner objeds to his beingJworn

ib.

The Matter debated between the. King's and the

Prifoner 's Counfil 45
The Opinion of the Court of Common Pleas ajk'd

47
Dangerfield admitted to be fworn ib.

H.e depofed that my Lord manag'd.the St. Omeis'
Witneffes ib.

Mentions a Sham- Plot ib.

Depofis that my Lord was angry with him becaufi

he refused to kill the King 48
The Lord Caftleaaaine. enters upen Ipis Defence ib.

Produces
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Produces a Record, and calls Witneffes to impeach

Oates'* Credit III. 49, 50
Records of Dangerfield'* being outlaw'dfor Felo-

ny, and feveral times pillory'd for Cheating 52
Mrs. Cellier'* Evidence of my Lord's ill Opinion

0/ Dangerfield 53
The Attorney General fums up the Evidence 55

'The Lord Chief Juftice directs the Jury ib.

My Lord Caftlemaine acquitted 57
CASTLEMAINE, Roger, Earl of, the Proceed-

ings in theHoufe ofCommons againfi him, 1 689,
1 W. and M. IV. 397

Charg'd with going Ambaffador to Rome, andfor
fitting in Councilnot having taken the Oaths ib.

He anfwers, that there was no Law againfi going

to Rome •, and he might not difobey the King's

Commands ib.

That he tranfatled nothing there concerning Reli-

gion ; and fhews how ferviceable he was to the

Englifh Merchants while he refided at Rome
398

As to his fitting in Council, the Judges were of
Opinion, the King might difpenfe with the Oaths

399
Complains he was illegally imprifon'd at the Revo-

lution ib.

He is committed to the Tower by Order of the Houfe

of Commons, and confin'd ilofe Prifoner 400
He moves for a Habeas Corpus, and is admitted

to Bail ib.

CAUSE. See Aftion.

CELLIER, Elizabeth, her Trialfor High Treafon,

June 11, 1680, 32 Car. II. III. 32

The Indictment for confpiring the Death of theKing,

and endeavouring to throw the Plot upon other

People ib,

Gadbury the Afirologer's Evidence ib.

Dangerfield call'd as a Witnefs 35
Brifcoe'* Evidence againfi Dangerfield ib.

His Pardon adjudg'd defective by the Court, as to

the Outlawry of Felony 3 6

Mrs. Cellier is acquitted ib-.

Dangerfield is taken into Cufiody ib.

CELLIER, Elizabeth, her Trial at the Old Bailey,

September 11, 1680, 32 Car. II. for a Libel

III. 89

The Indictment, for writing andpublifhing a Libel

call'd, Malice defeated, reflecting on the King,

the Protefiant Religion, the Government, Ma-
gifirates, King's Evidence, and the Jufiice of

the Nation ib.

Particularly it charges the Murder ofKingCharles I.

on the Principles of the Protefiant Religion ; the

Prcfecutors of the Popifh Plot as Enemies to the

Crown; charges the Government with ujing

Racks and Tortures to compel Prance and Cor-

ral to commit Perjury ; fays that it is dangerous

to fpeak Truth, and meritorious and gainful to

give falfe Evidence 90
Mr. Dormer'* Speech before giving the Evidence

John Fennygives Evidence of his buying the Book of

her, and her owning herfelf to be the Author 92

Downing the Printer's Evidence of his printing

part of the Book to foL 22. by Mrs. Cellier'*

Directions 93
Stephens'* Evidence of her acknowledging herfelf

the Author, and that fhe dictated the Words to

an Amanuenfis 93
Fowler depofes he bought two Books of her, and

attefis it was all falfe that was in the Libel

concerning his being atNewgate withfame great

Lords, and the Threats and Promifes thai were
us'd to Corral there HI. 04

His Evidence that Corral faid, he faw Sir £d-
mondbury Godfrey'* Body in a Sedan, and they

would have had him take the Body into his

Coach 04
The Book and the Indictment compar'd in Court 95
Prance depofes he was never tortur'd, but was very

well us'd in Newgate 96
Corral'* Wife depofes, that fhe was not fuffer'd to

fee her Hujband in Newgate ; that he had
Holes in his Legs when he came out, and was in

danger of being ftarv'd there ib.

Mrs. Cellier complains fhe had not Time to get her

Witneffes ; and urges in her Defence, that iffhe
had offended, 'twas ignorantly, for thatfhe ap-

prehended it lawful to publifh what others told

her 97
To induce the Court to be merciful, fhe fhews the

Hazards fhe had run toferve his Majefiy ; and
that floe loft a Father and a Brother, both in one

Day, in his Service 9 8

Mr. Baron Wefton directs the Jury: he tells them
9

that to torture Criminals was illegal, and never

us'd in England ftnce Campion thejefuit was
put upon the Rack, in the 20th Tear of the Reign

of Queen Elizabeth ib.

The Jury defire to have the Book with them out of
Court, but are told they could have no Papers out

of Court, that were not under Seal, without the

Prifoner*s Confent ; which floe refus'd 100
The Jury, after a little Time, return'd, and brought

the Prifoner in guilty ib.

Mrs. Cellier is committed, and carried Prifoner to

Newgate ib.

Monday, September 13, 1680, Mrs. Cellier be-

ing brought into Court, Mr. Recorder, SzVGeorge

JefFeries, pronounc'd Judgment on her 101

CHALLENGE.
No Challenge to a Peer I. 388

Juror challeng'd in Scotland for having prejudg'4?

the Caufe I. 471. at the Old Bailey IV. 748
Where a juror has a Pojfibility of an Inicreft in

the Caufe, good Caufe of Challenge I. 952
None may affift the Prifoner in his Challenges

II. 41. IV. 668

No peremptory Challenge but in Capital Cafes

II. 80b

The King need not fiiew Caufe, till the Pannel is

gone through III. 469
Contra IV. 423. V. 195
Challenge to the Array III. 631
Challenge for want of Freehold in London, not

allow'

d

135
No Challenge can be to the Favour againfi the King

825
No Challenge without Caufe, in cafe of a Mifde-

meanour IV. 1

The having been upon the Grand. Jury held to be a

good Caufe of Challenge 2

That a Juror has given a Verdict againfi another

in the fame Indictment, no good Caufe of Chal-

lenge 704
A Suit at Law between a Prifoner and a Juryman

no good Caufe of Challenge, unlefs prov'd by a

Record VI. 59
A Challenge for a Mifnomer in the Pannel over-

rule ib.

The Prifoner oblig'd to declare whether he will ac-

cept or challenge a Juryman before the King's

Counfel lake their Exception 247
Two peremptory Challenges allow'

d

248
CHAN-
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CHANCELLOR.

The Senfe of the Lord Chancellor's Oath difputed.

I. 2. VI. 503, 620, 704, 736, 747
CHARLES I. See King Charles.

CHARNELL, Nathaniel, III. 949. See Sache-

verell, William.

CHARNOCK, John I. 1 26. See Abington, & al.

CHARNOCK, Robert III. 515. See Grey,

Lord, & al.

CHARNOCK, Anne ib. See Grey, Lord, & al.

CHARNOCK, Robert, Edward King, and Tho-
mas Keyes, their Trial for High Treafon, in

confpiring to affaffinate King William, March
11, 1695, 8 W. III. IV. 562

Charnock infifts on the Equity of being allow 'd

Counfel, a Copy of the Indiilment, &c. accord-

ing to the late Ail', which was then to take

place in a few Days; but is deny'd 563
The Indiilment read in Latin twice 565
The Prifoners agree to join in their Challenges,

that they may be try'd together 566
SirThomas Trevor, Attorney-General, his Speech

before Evidence 567
The Prifoners dejtre one Witnefs may not hear what

another depofes -, granted 569
Porter'.? Evidence of the defignd Affaffination ib.

Charnock objeils againfi Porter'j Evidence, that

he owns himfelf an Accomplice 572
But is over-rutI'd 573
De la Rue's Evidence gy$
Pendergrafs'j Evidence 580
Charnock'j Defence, and Remarks upon the Evi-

dence 583
SirJohn LTawles, Solicitor-General, his Reply 589
Mr. Conyers and Mr.. Cowper on the fame Side

59°
Lord Chief Jujlice fums up the Evidence 59 1

The Prifoners c'onviiled 595
Charnock's Exceptions to the Frame of the Inditl-

, ment ib. 596
Sentence pafs'd on the Prifoners 597
Their Dying Speeches 598

CHICHESTER, Thomas, Bifhop of 1. 15. See

Brambre.

CHURCH.
The Church to determine what is true Doilrine, and

not the Parliament 1-935
The Clergy had a Power heretofore of granting

their own Subfidies 851
CLARENDON, Edward, Earl of, Proceedings

againfi him in the Houfe of Lords, 1663,

15 Car. II. II. 554
Articles exhibited againfi him by the Earl of Briilol

ib.

The Judges Opinions that the Charge was not re-

gularly brought in, nor contain d Matter of
Treafon, ifprov'd; with their Reafons §56,

& feqq.

With which Refolut ions the Houfe of Lords concur

Proceedings againfi him on an Impeachment by the

Commons, 1667, 19 Car. II. ib.

The Heads of the Commons Charge againfi the Earl

of Clarendon . 560
Rejolv'd, that the Houfe hadJ~ffident Grounds to

impeach the Earl 563
Rejolv'd, to impeach him of High Treafon on the

,h Article, for betraying his Majcjty 's Coun-

fIs 1-0 his Enemies 56 7
Mr. Edward Seymour carries up the Impeachment

in general Terms . ib.

The Lords refufe to commit the Earl, becaufe the

Impeachment was for Treafon in general 1 1. 5 68

The Commons ivfifi that a Peer ought to be com-

mitted on a general Impeachment $6g
Conference between the two Houfts upon that Point

57°
The Lords infijl upon their Refufal to commit him

573
Which the Commons refolve to be an Obfiruclion of

publickjuftice 577
A Meffage from the Lords, that the Earl was

zvithdrawn ib.

The Earl' s Petition to the Houfe of Lords commu-
nicated to the Commons 578

He infinuates that his Efia'te was not fo great as

reprefented ib.

And that he was not the Author of thofe Counfels

he was charg'd with ib.

His Petition voted fcandalous and feditious 5.80

ABill brought into the Houfe of Lordsfor the Earl's

Bani/loment 582
The Commons agree to the Billfor his Banifhment

584
CLEMENT, Gregory. See Regicides.

CLERGY.
The Cafe of a Peer as to Benefit of Clergy, in a Cafe

of Buggery and Rape 1-388
A Woman could not have the Benefit of Clergy

II. 502
One convicted of Felony, and admitted to his Cler-

gy, is reftored to his Credit III. 45
A Peer who has his Clergy, not to be burnt in the

Hand - II. 655
Ailion lies for charging a Man with a Crime. af-

terhe has had his Clergy, or a Pardon V. "1.68

The King might pardon the Burning in an Appeal

169
A Clergyman was not to be burnt in the Hand

170
The Original of Clergy, and how it came to be

extended to Laymen 171
Burning, as well as Reading, was neceffary to re-

fiore a Alan to his Credit ib.

COKE, Arundel, Efq; his Trial at the Affixes for
the County of Suffolk, with John Woodburne,
for disfiguring Edward Crifpe, Gent. 13 Mar.

1721, 8 Geo.'I. VI. 212. See Woodburne,
John.

COLE, John, his Trial for the Murder of Dr.
Clenche, 2 Sept. 1692, 4 W. & M. IV. 506

The Indictment. See in the Trial of Harrifon 488
The Witnefs depofes what her deceas'd Hufband

told her 507
Which is contradicled by another Witnefs ib.

Mr. Jujlice Dolben diretls the Jury 509
The Prifoner is acquitted ib.

COLEMAN, Edward, his Trialfor High Treafon

at the King's-Bench Bar» Nov. 27, 1678,

, 30 Car. II. II. 660
The Prifoner makes no Challenges to the Jurors ib.

Indiilment for comparing the Death of the King,

and confpiring to Jubvert the Eftablifised Reli-

gion and Government ib.

The Overt-Ad, writing to Le Chaife to procure

the French King's nfifiance in it 661
Mr, Serjeant Maynard opens the Evidence in ge-

neral 602
Sir William Jones, Attorneys-General, his Speech

": before Eviueuce 663
The People greatly prejudie'd againfi the Papifts

at this Time
, ,

. _ 665
Gates
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Oates 'depofes that he carry d the Letters which

Coleman wrote into France II. 666
Oates'J Evidence of the Confult at the White

Horfe Tavern 66j
The Dtfign of murdering the King communicated

to Mr. Coleman ib.

The Irifh in the Confpiracy 668

Coleman privy to the Defign of murdering the

King at Windfor ib.

To the Defign ofpoifining the King by Sir George

Wakeman 669
Coleman'.* Commiffion to be Secretary of State ib.

Coleman objebls, that Oates fetid before the Coun-

cil, he did not know him ; and now depofes he

was very intimate with him 670
Oates'J Anfwcr to that Objeblion ib.

Beclloe depofes he had carried Letters from Cole-

man to Le Chaife 6j%
Coleman'j Letters and Papers proved 674
Mi\ Coleman's firjl long Letter to Le Chaife, of

the State of Affairs in England 675
Penal Laws, how they came to be put in Execu-

tion fo fiverely in King Charles's Reign 678
Le Chaife'j Letter to Coleman, in anfiwer to

Coleman's long Letter 681

Another Letter prepared by Coleman in the Name
of the Duke 684

Coleman tells Le Chaife, they have great Hopes

of fubduing the Northern Herefy 685
Mr. Solicitor funis up the Evidence 68 7
The Chief Jufiice's Direclions to the Jury 689
Coleman is convibled 692
Receives Sentence the Day following ib.

Before it is pronounc'd, the Chief Juflice makes a
Speech to the Prifiner 693

Shews him, that he who brings in Popery, conse-

quently brings in a foreign Authority ; and that

he who enters on an ill Ablion, is anfiwerable

for all the Confluences ib.

Shews him, that there was no Hopes of Pardon,

the Nation was fo alarm'

d

694
Mr. Coleman makes a Speech in anfiwer to the

Chief Jufiice's ib.

Denies any Defign againft the King's Life, or to

fiubvert the Government 6g$
His Behaviour at Execution ib.

The Record of his Conviblion in Englifh at large

III. 120

COLLEDGE, Stephen, his Trialfor High Trea-

fion before the Lord Norreys, the Lord Chief

Juflice North, Mr. Juftice Jones, Mr. Juftice

Raymond, and Mr. Juftice Levins, at Oxford,

Auguft 17, 1 68 1, 33 Car. II. by a fipecial

Commiffion of Oyer and Terminer 341

Colled ge's Petition to his Majefty while he was

in theTower, that Smith and Weft might come

to him, and that he might have Pen, Ink, and

Paper, in order to preparefor his Trial 340

An Order of Council that he fhould have what he

petitionedfor 34 l

His Petition that he may have a Copy of his In-

die!went, and Counfel, and a Solicitor affign'd

him 34°

An Order of Council that his Friends and Rela-

tions may come to him ib.

The Indiblment for confpiring the King's Death,

and the Subverfion of the Government ; the O-

vcrt-Abls, his providing Arms at Oxford, and

declaring his Intentions to feize the King's Pcr-

fin, &c. 34 1> 342

Notice of Trial not neceffary in Capital Cafes

343

Vol. VI.

Colledge'j Papers which he had prepared for his

Defence, taken from him as he was brought
into Court HI. 343

The Court tell him they knew nothing of it, but that
no body had any thing to do to give him Papers

;

and that no one can fiolicit for one accus'd of
High Treafion, unlefis he be affign'd by the Court

344
He urges, that if he had his Papers, he fhould of-

fer fiome Matter of Law as to the Sufficiency of
the Indiblment ; and fays the Keeper who took

them from him, took them under a Pretence of
bringing them to his Lordfhip 34^

A Perfonftanding mute in High Treafion, fhallhave
Judgment as a Traitor ib.

One indicled of High Treafion, for folicitingfor one
who was accus'd of High Treafon 347

He objebls, that he is indicled with the Addition of
Carpenter, whereas in truth he is a Joyner; but
'twas pretended, the Law knows no Difference

between a Carpenter and a Joyner ib.

Having infifted ftrenuoufly for a long Time that he
might have his Papers again, and the Court

perjifting in refufing them ; at length he pleads,

Not Guilty 248
Having pleaded, he renews his Requeft for hisPa-

pers, and the Court command them to be brought

into Court, that they might perufe them ; and
finding Direclions in them from a third Hand
for what hefhould infift on as to Matter of'Law',

and feveral Libels upon the Government, they

order'd them to be lodg'd in the Hands of the

Sheriff's Son ; and that the Prifiner fhould

have recourfe to fiuch of them as were neceffary

to his Defence, and might take Copies of them,

but not of the Libels : and Aaron Smith, the

Prifiner's Solicitor, who brought them to him*

is made to give Security to attend the Court dur-

ing the Trial, and to anfiwer the Mifdemeanour ;

and Starkey, his other Solicitor, is fient for in-

to Court ib. 349
The Court adjourn till the Afternoon 350
Mr. North opens the Indiblment, and Mr. Attorney

the Evidence 351
The King's Witneffes called 352
They are ordered to be examined apart, at the Pri-

finer's Requeft ib.

Dugdale'^ Evidence ib.

Evidence of the Prifiner's affirming the King him-

felf was concerned in the Popifh Plot, and in

Godfrey'j Death ib. 353
The Prifiner gave the King the Nickname of Row-

ley
'

_
353

Ribbons wore by the Confipirators, with the Words

No Popery, No Slavery, in them 354
Several Ballads and Libels of the Prifiner's upon

the Government produced in Evidence againft

him ib.

Smiths Evidence of feveral warm Expreffions

ufid by the Prifioner 359
HaynesV Evidence to the fame purpofe 360
Turberville'j Evidence that he faid, if the King

began, they had feveral at Oxford ready to

fiecure him 363
Mr. Mafters and Sir William Jennings's Evi-

dence 364, 365
Colledge enters upon his Defence 365
He objebls, thai the Witneffes prove Fabls done in

another County 366
The Opinion of the Court thereupon ib.

He calls his Witneffes 368

To the Difiredit of Haynes ib.

*D To
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To the Discredit of Turberville III. 372
Dr. Oates teftifies againft all the King's Witneffes

374
Which they all contraclitl upon their Oaths 375
Evidence againft Smith 376
The Chief Juftice tells him he muft not call one Wit-

nefs to difprove what another of his Witneffes

had deposed 373
Colledge demands of the Court if the King's Coun-

fel may whifper among themfelves 390
The King's Counfel call more Witneffes ib.

Colledge makes his Obfervations on the Evidence

39 1

The Court order him to keep to the Point, and not

open Things he had no Evidence of 393
The Fails may be proved either before or after the

Time laid in the Indictment 394
The Prifonerjuftifying the Rebellion of the Parlia-

ment, was told by the Court they were declared

Rebels by AH of Parliament 396
The Prifoner's Defign to affift in feizing the King

at Oxford, proved by Dugdale and Turbur-

ville 398
Mr. Solicitor fwns up the Evidence for the King

399
Mr. Serjeant Jefferies'j Obfervations of the Evi-

dence for the King 403
Evidence given of Fails out of the County where

the Inditlment is laid ib.

Oates produced as a Witnefsfor the Prifoner to in-

validate the Teftimony of Dugdale, Turber-

ville, and Smith, who were formerly brought

to fupport his own Credit as to the Popifh Plot

404
Mr. Serjeant Jefferies obferves, that, notwithftand-

ing the Cry of thrlriih and Popifh Evidence a-

gainft the Prifoner, the King's Witneffes were

all Proteftants, and but one of them an Irifh-

man 405
The Chief Juftice diretls the Jury 406
He tells them, that whoever imagines to depofe the

King, or to imprifon him, are in Law guilty of
imagining the King's Death ib.

That if one Witnefs gives Evidence of an Overt-

Atl of Treafon in the County where the Crimi-

nal is indicled, and another Witnefs gives Evi-

dence of another Overt-At! of the fame Treafon

in another County, thefe are two Witneffes, as

the Law requires, and fufficlent to fupport the

Inditlment 407
Colledge complains that Mr. Attorney and Mr.

Solicitor were an Hour and a half with the

Grand Jury 408
The Jury have two Bottles of Sack at the Bar be-

fore they go out ib.

Colledge is convicled ib.

Lord Chief Juftice's Speech before Sentence ib.

Judgment is pronounced on Colledge as a Traitor

409
He is executed a Fortnight after ib.

His Behaviour at Execution, and Dying Speech

ib. 410COMMITMENT.
A Peer impeached for Treafon generally, the Lords

refufe to commit him II. 56J, 735
One committed by the Houfe of Peers refus'd to

be bailed by the King's-Bench II. 622, 754
The Caufe of Commitment ought to appear 6 1

8

A Peer may be committed for Treafon, Felony, or

a Breach of the Peace IV. 3 1

5

Whether a Commitment to the Cuftody of a Mef-
fenger be legal. See Kendall c,^y

COMMONS. See Parliament.

COMPTON, Dr. Henry, Lord Bifhop of London,
his Trial before the High Commiflion Court,
1686, 2 Jac. II. IV. 247

The Ecclefiafiical Commiffion ib.

The King's Letter, enjoining him to fufpend Dr.
Sharp, for Difobedience to the King's Orders

245
The Bifhop

1

s Anfwer ib.

Dr. Sharp'j Petition jb.

The Bifhop appears before the Commiffioners 250
Dr. Oldys'j Speech, in behalf of the Bifhop 252
Dr. Hodges on the fame Side ib.

Dr. Price for the Bifhop ib.

Dr. Newton on the fame Side 2 c 2

The Bifhop fufpended ib
CONFESSION. See Evidence.

CONINGSMARK, Charles-John, Count III. 4 66.
See Borofki.

CONSTABLE, John V. 445 . ^Kirkby,&al.
CONSULT. See Overt-Aft.

CONVICTION. See Trial.

COOK, John II. 341. &?<? Regicides.

COOK, Peter, his Trial for High Treafon, at the
Old Bailey, May 9, 1696, 8 W. III. IV.

738
The Indictment for comparing the King's Death,
and adhering to the King's Enemies 752

The Overt-Atls, confuliing and agreeing to pro-
mote an Invajion and Infurretlion, and fending
Charnock to invite over foreign Troops, and
providing Arms, &c. jb.

Jurors examin'd whether they have a Freehold
738.

—

in London of ten Pounds a-year 750
The Trial put offfor want ofJurors y±i
The Prifoner's Counfel objetl, that there ought

not to have been a new Pannel, but a Tales a-
warded

jb.

Which is over-ruled y*r
Exceptions taken to the Indiclment ib.

He offers to ajk every Man before he is fworn,
whether he has faid he believes him guilty

748
But upon Debate, the Queftion is refus'd 749
Sir Thomas Trevor, Attorney-General, opens the

Evidence y ca

Captain Porter'.* Evidence, that he met Sir John
Fenwick and others at two Meetings, and a-
greed to invite King James over y$$, yg$

Goodman'.? Evidence to the fame Purpofe
"

ygy
Mr. Serjeant Darnell Defence of the Prifoner

75%A Record of Convitlion read againft Goodman,
for confpiring to poifon the Dukes of Grafton
and Northumberland yrg

Evidence to prove that the Company was broke up,
at one of the Meetings, before Goodman came
in

_ 7 6 r

The King's and Prifoner's Witneffes confronted

y66
Sir Bartholomew Shower'.; Defence of the Pri-

foner yfty

The Prifoner's own Defence 769
Sir John Hawks, Solicitor-General, his Reply
for the King yy

Lord Chief Juftice's Directions
7 7 z

The Prifoner convicled yyr
Receives Sentence yyfi

Afterwards pardon 'd upon Condition of tranfport-

ing himfelffor Life ib.

CORKER, James II. 919. See Wakeman, & al.

& ^3- See Anderfon, & al.

CORNISH,
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CORNISH, Henry, Efp III. 630. See Pilking-

ton, & aJ.

CORNISH, Henry, Efq; John Fernley, William
Ring, and Elizabeth Gaunt, their Arraign-

ment, the K)th of October, 1685. IV. 130
John Fernley indicledfor High Treafon, in har-

bouring and concealing John Burton, a Traitor

William Ring indiiledfor High Treafan, in har-

bouring Jofeph Kelloway and Henry Law-
rence, Traitors and Rebels ib.

Henry Cornifh fet to the Bar ; he objecled that

be had not half a Day's Notice of Trial ; but

was told, he mufi -plead, before he could offer

any thing 132

The Inditlmcnt read, being for High Treafon, in

prcmifing to be aiding and affifling to the Duke

of Monmouth, Lord Ruffe), and others at-

tainted of Treafon ib.

Ring'i Trial comes on ^134
A Copy of the Record of the Convitlion of Kel-

loway and Lawrence, whom the Prifoner har-

boured, produced andfworn, and proved he re-

ceived them between the Time of the Treafon

committed, and their Convitlion ib.

Ring'j Examination before the Lord Mayor read

againjl him 135
Richardfon^rcr^ that the Perfons convicted were

the fame Perfons that the Prifoner harboured

ib. 136

The Prifoner, in his Defence faid, he did not know

the Perfons fo harboured were Rebels ib.

Fernley' j Trial comes on 137

The Record of Burton's Outlawry for HighTrea-

fon, whom the Prifoner harboured, was pro-

due'd ib.

Burton himfelf an Evidence that Fernley thePri-

foner harbour'd him ib.

Burton'^ Pardon produced, to qualify him to be

an Evidence 139

He pleads, in his Defence, that he intended to

difcover Burton, and get the Reward ib.

Elizabeth Gaunt arraigned 142

She was indicled for High Treafon, in concealing

the faid Burton, affifling him to efcape, and

giving him 5 1. in Money ib.

Ring and Fernley convicled ib.

Mr. Cornifh moves to put off his Trial, having

had but fhort Notice ; and is told by the Court,

that a Prifoner cannot infift upon any Notice

Pen and Ink never allowed the Prifoner, but upon

Petition ^
ib.

The Court tell him they cannot defer the Trial,

without the King's Counfel confent ib.

Mr. Cornifh is ft afide 144

Mrs. Gaunt'j Trial comes on ib.

Burton'.? Account of his Concern in the Rye-

Hcufe Plot, and of Mrs. Gaunt'.* affifling him

to efcape ib.

Mrs. Gaunt's Defence 146

She is convicled 147, 156

Mr. Cornifh'^ Trial comes on 147

Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney General, his Speech

before Evidence ib.

Rum fey depofes he favj the Prifoner at the Confult

with the Duke of Monmouth, Lord Ruffel,

&c. at Mr. Shcppard'j ; and that the Decla-

ration was read to him, and he approved it,

and faid, that poor Interefl he had he would

join with it J 4°

An Accomplice in Treafon a good IVitnefs, till he
is indicled IV. 14.9

Goodenough, who was outlawed and pardoned,
allowed to be a Witnefs, though the Prifoner
objecled, nothing could rejiore him to his Cre-
dit but an Acl of Parliament, unlefs the Out-
lawry were reverfed ib.

Goodenough depofes, that, talking of an Infurrec-
retlion, and Seizing The Tower, the Prifoner
faid he would do what he could ib.

Mr. Cornifh'^ Defence 150
He calls Witneffes to his Reputation 151
A Trial printed by Authority not admitted as Evi-

dence J r 2

Sir Thomas Jones, Lord Chief Juftice, his Charge
to the Jury I54

A IVitnefs examined, after the Jury had with-
drawn and returned ic$

Sheppard depofes the Prifoner was at his Houfe
but once when the Duke of Monmouth was
there ; and then no Paper was read to him,

for they did not take him to be one of the Com-
pany I57

And that he knew nothing of the Defign ib.

Rum&yfwears on the contrary, that Mr. Shep-
pard held the Candle while the Declaration was
read to him ib.

Cornifh convicled, and the Jury find 140 1. due
to the Prifoner from Mr. Sheppard 159

Eliz. Gaunt receives Sentence ib.

Sir Thomas Jenner, Recorder, his Speech before

Judgment 1 60
Sentence pronounced upon Ring, Fernley, and

Cornifh ib.

The Dying Speeches of Mr. Cornifh and Mrs.
Gaunt ib.

CORNWALLIS, Charles Lord, his Trial for
Murder, 30 Car. II. 1678 II. 725

Earl of Nottingham, Lord High Steward, his

Speech to the Prifoner ib.

His Charge to the Peers 726"

The Fail fated by Sir William Jones, Attorney-

General ib.

-Perfons indicled for the fame Offence and acquit-

ted, good Witneffes 728
My Lord's Defence ib.

Sir Francis Winnington, Solicitor-General, his

Speech ib.

Mr. Serjeant Maynard'j Speech
, 729

The Counfel urge that my Lord, being prefent, and
not fhewing he either difapproved or endeavour-

ed to prevent the Murder, ought to be deemed

guilty of it ib.

That where many are engaged in an unlawful De-

fign, and one of them murder a Man, the

reft are guilty, though at a Diftance ib.

Where any Queftion in point of Law arifes, it

ought to be put in the Prifoner''s Prefence. ib.

Many Perfons doing an unlawful Acl, whereby a

Man-jlaughter enfues, all who are engaged in

that unlawful Acl are as guilty as the Perfon

who kills the Man 730
The Prifoner is acquitted ib.

CORRUPTION of Blood. See Pardon

COTTON, Edward II. 585. See Meffenger,

&al.
COVENTRY-Aft, two tried and convicled on it

VI. 212

COUNSEL.
One may not be of Counfel with a Criminal in Trea-

fon or Felony, till he is affigned. II. 826. IV.

416
Counfel
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Counfel affigned to a Peer impeached of High Trea-

fon, who are permitted to be in Court and hear

the Evidence III. 122

Counfel not admitted to argue concerning the Law
and Courfe of Parliaments 208

Counfel affigned a Prifoner cannot be difcharged but

by his Client's Confent 233
A Prifoner fhall not have any Inftruttion from

Counfel, in Writings or otherwife, for the Ma-
nagement of his Defence in Capital Cafes 263

One permitted to advife with Counfel, who is ac-

cused of High Treafon 706
Where one is allowed Counfel, he ought not tofpeak

himfelf 875
Counfel not to be affigned in Treafon or Felony to

argue a Point of Law, but where the Court is

in Doubt IV. 417, 601

A Prifoner may not advife with Counfel in Capi-

tal Cafes, unlefs he affign fome Point of Law
which the Court think fit to be argued III.

1003. IV. 601

Where the Prifoner may have Counfel, the Court

will not be of Counfel with him 705
Counfel affigned a Pirate to advife with V. 289

COWARDICE. Cafes of Cowardice I. 816

COWPER, Spencer, Efq; John Marfon, Ellis

Stevens, and William Rogers ; their Trial

for Murder at Hertford-^^zw,July 1 6,

1

699.

1 1 Will. III. before Mr. Baron Hatfell V.194
The Indictment forfirangling and murdering Mrs.

Sarah Stout ib.

The Prifoners agree to join in their Challenges,

and are tried together 195
The Counfelfor the King having challenged a Ju-

ror, and the Pannel being gone through, and

there wanting Jurors, Mr. Cowper dejired the

Counfel for the King mightJhew their Caufe of
Challenge ib.

Mr. Baron Hatfell was of Opinion the King's

Counfel ought toJhew Caufe ; but Mr. Cowper
not infifiing on it, another was fworn ib.

Mr. Jones opens the Evidence 196
The Witneffes for the King call'd 197
Evidence that Mr. Cowper was lafi in the De-

ceafed's Company ib.

Evidence of the Manner in which fhe was found

199,214
The Phyjicians and Surgeons caWd, who infpefted

the Body of the Deceafed 203
Evidence of Sailors about the floating of dead Bo-

dies 207
Evidence againft Marfon, Stevens, and Rogers

208
The Examination of Marfon (before the Lord

Chief Juftice Holt) read as Evidence again/}

him 210
Mr. Cowper enters upon his Defence 211
He calls his Witneffes 214
Dr. Garth, Dr. Sloane, &c. examined as to the

floating of a dead Body in the Water 217
Mr. William Cowper, the Anatomift, his Evi-

dence and learned Obfervations in behalf of the

Prifoner 2
1

9

Mr. Cowper the Prifoner's Attempts to prove by

further Evidence that Mrs. Stout drowned her-

felf 221
Mrs. Sarah Stout'j Letter to Mr. Cowper the

Prifoner (directed to Mr. Marfhall) 224
Mr. William Cowper attefis her Fondnefs for his

Mr. Baron Hatfell directs the Jury V. 231
All the Prifoners were acquitted 232

CRANBURNE, Charles, his Trial for High
Treafon,Tuefday April 21, 1696. 8 Will. III.

698
He was inditled together with Knightley, Lo-

wick, and Rookwood, for the Affaffmation ;

but befides the Overt-AcJs they were charged
with, he was particularly charged with carry-

ing a Lift of the Confpirators Names from one

to another. See the Indictment 661
The Prifoner's Irons order 'd to be taken off during

the Trial 698
Exceptions taken to the Indictment after Plea

pleaded ib.

Five Exceptions taken to the Indictment, and ar-

gued ib.

But over-ruled 701
Sir Thomas Trevor, Attorney-General, his Speech

before Evidence
y 6

Captain Porter'.* Evidence of the Prifoner's car-

rying a Lift of the Confpirators from the one

to the other 707
Pendergrafs'j Evidence to the fame Effect 712
The Defence made by the Prifoner's Counfel 7 1 3
Lord Chief Juftice Holt fums up the Evidence

716
He is convicted 717

CROOK, John, trfd at the Old Bailey, with
Ifaac Grey and John Bolton, for refufing to

take the Oaths of Allegiance and Supremacy,

June 25, 1662. 14 Car. II. II, 463
He is tender 'd the Oaths the firfi Day of the Sefi

fions ib.

He complains of his long Imprifonment, and will

give no other Anfwer ib.

He is brought again to the Bar, and will not

fwear 464
He is indicted for Recufancy 465
He wrangles with the Court, and refufes to plead

to his Indictment 466
He pleads Not Guilty 467
Ifaac Grey and John Bolton being tender'd the

Oaths, and refufing to fwear, are alfo inditl-

ed 468
They plead Not Guilty ib.

They are brought to Trial ib.

After making a great Noife and Clamour in the

Court, they are found Guilty 470
They receive Sentence of Premunire ib.

CUFFE, Henry, his Trial I. 209. See Sir Chrif-

topher Blunt.

CURTIS, Mary, her Trial for publifhing a Li-
bel againft the Government, reflecting chiefly up-

on my Lord Chief Juftice Scroggs, 32 Car. II.

She fubmits, and is convicted

II. 1042
ib.

D.

D

Brother 225
Mr. Marfon, Mr. Stevens, and Mr. Rogers en-

ter upon their Defence 228

DAMAGES.
iAmages directed to be given according to the

Mifchief intended, and not according to what
the Plaintiff fuftain'd III. 1094

DANBY, Thomas Earl of, Proceedings againft

him on an Impeachment for High Treafon be-

fore the Houfe of Lords, the 23d of Decem-
ber, 1678. 30 Car. II. II. 731

Two Letters of the Earl's ib.

The fix Articles againft him ib.

The Earl's Speech upon bringing up the Articles

7S 2

Mr.
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Mr. Powle's Speech and Motion that the Earl be

committed U j~,
AM'fage to remind their Lordjhips of the Earl's

Impeachment, and that he might be committed

715A Meffagefrom the Lords that the Earl was with-
drawn jb.

Sir Francis Winnington'j- Speech on the Queftion,

If a Pardon may be pleaded to an Impeach-
ment ? ib.

Addrefs for a Proclamation to apprehend him 736
He pleads his Majejiy's Pardon 737
'The Earlfurrenders on a Pill brought in to compel

him to appear, and is committed 739
"The Commons queftion if a Pardon can be pleaded

in bar of an Impeachment ib.

The Commons refolve, that no Commonerfhall be of
Counfel with the Earl to maintain his Pardon

740
Reafons given by the Commons, at a Conference,

why they could not proceed to the Trial of the

Earl and the five Lords, at the times appoint-

ed by the Houfe of Peers ib.

The Commons deny a High Steward is neceffary

at a Trial upon an Impeachment ib.

The Lords refolve that the Bifhops may vote in

Matters previous to Trials in Capital Cafes 742
The Earl's Argument at the King's-Bench Bar,
why he ought to be admitted to Bail 743

An Indictment againft the Earl as Acceffary to the

Murder of Sir Edmondbury Godfrey ib.

The Earl fhews the Hardnefs of his Cafe 744
Accufed without Oath ib.

No particular Treafon fpecifyd ib.

Counfel threatned, if they fpoke to Matter ofLaw.
ib.

Urges that he has his Majejiy's Pardon ib.

And his Majejiy's Declaration of his Innocence ib.

Kept Prifonerforty Months without Profecution ib.

The King direcls the Attorney-General to confent to

his being bailed; and yet he is refused ib.

Appeals, Writs of Error, and Impeachments, need

not be begun de novo on calling of a new Par-

liament, but remain in the fame State they

were at the Diffolution of the old 747
But inferior Courts may proceed to grant Execu~

tion, &c. on a Prorogation or Diffolution, not-

withftanding 748
And the Houfe of Lords never proceed ex officio,

without the Parties petition to revive the Caufe.

ib.

Said that the King may impeach 749
Whether an Order of Parliament is of any Force

after a Prorogation, or Diffolution ? ib.

Perfons accufed of Capital Offences difchargedfrom
their Imprifonment, by the King's Writ to the

King's-Bench declaring them innocent. 750
On a defeclive Pardon, the Court order the Cri-

minal to procure another, in regard to the

King's Intentions ib.

The Lord Chief Juftice Pemberton delivers his

Opinion

:

752
That though this Court could bail for Treafon, yet

the Earl being imprifoned by a higher Hand,

they could not meddle with it ib.

Refolved by all the Judges, that the King could

not permit the Earl to go to his Country-Houfe

with a Guard 753
The Judges refolve, that the Popifh Lords could

not be bailed by the King's-Bench ib.

Whether, if a Man pleads a defeclive Pardon, he

may plead over ? 754
Vol. VI.

Three of the Judges of Opinion the Earl centi

not be bailed II. j-#
The other doubted ib.

The Earl is remanded to the Tower ib.

He is brought to the King's-Bench Bar a fecond
Time ib.

His Speech ib.

He is remanded j6
But afterwards bailed ib.

DANEGELT, the Tax fo called I. 571, 584
DAVERS, Sir Charles, and DAVIS, Sir John,

their Trial I. 209. See Sir Chriftopher
Blunt.

DAWSON, Jofeph, Edward Forefeith, William
May, William Bifhop, James Lewis, and
John Sparkes •, their Trials for Piracy at the

Old Bailey, the 19th of Odtober, 1690,
8 Will. III. V. 1

The Indiclment for piratically taking the Ship
Gunfway in the Eaft-Indies ib.

Dawfon pleads Guilty 2

The reft are acquitted ib.

Charge to the Grand Jury by Sir Charles Hedges,
upon other Indictments prefer'd againft the Pri-

foners ib.

Probable Evidence fujficient to induce them to find
a Bill ?

The former Petty Jury occafionally reflected upon

3> 5> 6, 14
A fecond Indictment found againft the Prifoners

for piratically taking The Charles the Second,
Capt. Gibfon Commander 4

Dawfon pleads Guilty 5
Two other Indictmentsfound againft the Prifoners ;

one for taking a Moorifh Ship, the other for
taking two Danifh Ships ib.

Evidence of their abetting and ajjifting Captain
Avery, in running away with The Charles the

Second 6"

And of their running away with The James Boat

ib.

Want of Wages the Occafion of their turning Pi-

rates 8

Evidence of all the Piracies laid in the feveral In-

dictments to have been committed by the Pri-

foners ib. & feqq.

They burn the Town of Meat in the Red Sea

9
Five other Englifh Pirates join them there, and

they lie in wait for the Mocha Fleet, andfur-

prize fome of them, and fhare the Treafure ib.

Negroes, who come to trade with them, robb'd of
their Gold, and made Slaves 10

The Prifoners enter upon their Defence 1

1

Lord Chief Juftice Holt direcls the Jury, that

thofe on board a Pirate-Ship are to be prefumed

to concur with him ; unlefs they can make the

contrary appear 14
They are conviCted ; and the Jury commended 1

5

The fame Prifoners tried and convicted on the two
other Indiclments ; for Piracy on the Moorifh
Ship, and the two Danifh Ships, by the fame
Evidence as in the Trialfor takingThe Charles

the Second ib.

They all receive Sentence ; and are executed 1

7

DEAGLE, John III. 630. See Pilkington, &
al.

DEFENCE. See Trial.

DELAMERE, Henry Lord, his Trial for High-

Treafon, 1 Jac. II. 1685. Lord Jefferies Lord

High Steward IV. 2 1 o
Lord High Steward's Speech to the Prifoner 2 1

1

* E The
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The Prifoner injifts that a Peer need not hold up

his Hand when he is' arraigned IV. 211

Lord High Steward is Judge, and has no Vote a-

mong the Lords Triers, where the Trial is by

Commijfion out of Parliament ib.

The Indictment for High Treafon, in confpiring the

Death of the King, raifing a Rebellion, &c. ib..

The Prifoner delivers a Plea to the Jurifditlion of

the Court, fetting forth that he ought to be try'd

by the whole Body of the Peers, the Parliament

not being dijfohed 212

Andfor that the Houfe of Lords,were already pof-

feffed of the Caufe ib.

The King's Counfel infift, that, during a Proro-

gation, the Proceedings are always before the

Lord High Steward by Commijfion 213

And that the Houfe of Lords were not poffefs'd of

the Caufe, they having only petitioned his Ma'
jefty that the Prifoner might be brought to his

Trial. ib.

Alfo that his Plea was in Paper, and in Englifh,

without Counfel's Hand, and therefore not ne-

ceffary formally to demur to it ib. 214
The Prifoner dejires Counfel, and Time to draw up

his Plea 214
He is anfwered, that, in a Plea to the Jurifditlion,

the Party ought to be ready to maintain it pre-

sently ib.

The Lord High Steward injifts that he is fole

fudge in this Court, and need not advife with

the Peers about it 115
The Plea is over-ruled ; and he pleads Not Guilty

ib.

Lord High Steward's Charge to the Peers ib.

All ^ueftions to be direcled and propounded to the

Lord High Steward, where the Trial is by Com-

miffion
' 216

Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, his Speech

before Evidence ib.

LordHoward gives ageneral Account of the Lord
Shaftefbury'.? Plot 2 1

8

Lord Grey'.? Evidence of the fame Plot, and the

Duke of Monmouth'.? Progrefs into Chefhire

221

Lord Grey'.? Evidence concerning Monmouth'.?

Rebellion, and the Dependance he had on the

Prifoner''s Affiftance ib.

Evidence of fome fufpicious Circumflances againjl

the Lord Delamere 226 & feqq.

Saxon'.? Evidence of the Prifoner's employing him

to ftir up the People, and fending him to the

Duke of Monmouth in the Weft 229
The Prifoner moves the Court to adjourn till the

next Morning, that he might review his Notes,

and prepare for his Defence, it growing late

230
The Lord High Steward propofes it to the Judges,

whether the Court can legally adjourn after E-
vidence given 231

The Lords withdraw, and the Judges likewife, to

confider of it ib.

The Judges declare, there has been no Precedent

of the Peersfeparating after the Evidence given

232
That a Jury, once charged, are not to be dif-

charged, till they have given their Verdicl ib.

That, indeed, at the Trial of a Peer in Parlia-

ment the Houfe may, and often has adjourned;

but there the Lords are Judges : in this Cafe,

they are in the Nature of a Jury 232
The Lords Triers may confult the Judges in the

Prifoner's Abfence ; but they can ajk no §>uef-

iions of the Lord High Steward in his Abfence^

nor can he withdraw with them IV. 232
At a Trial in full Parliament it is otherwife 233
In full Parliament the Lord High Steward has a

Vote ; but, when he fits by Commijfion, he has
none ib.

The Lord High Steward refufes to adjourn ; and
direcls the Prifoner to proceed in his Defence

ib.

The Prifoner permitted to charge the King's Evi-
dence with particular Crimes , 234

The Prifoner proves that Sir Robert Cotton,

Mr. Offley, and himfelf, were none of them at

his Houfe, when the King's Evidence depos'd

they were 236 & feqq.

Mr. Solicitor-General Finch fums up the Evi-
dence 243

It is not ufualfor the High Steward to repeat, or

obferve upon, the Evidence 246
One Witnefs who fwears direclly to the Treafon,

and another to a Circumfiance, affirm'd to be

two Witneffes in Law ib.

The Prifoner is acquitted ib.

DEMURRER. See Pleading.

DEPOSITIONS. See Evidence.

DERWENTWATER, James Earl of, Proceed-

ings on an Impeachment of High Treafon againjl

him, William Lord Widdrington,' William
Earl of Nithifdale, Robert Earl of Carnwarth,
William Vifount Kenmure, and William
Lord Nairn, 1 7 1

5. 2 George I. VI. 1

Mr. Lechmere'j Speech in the Houfe of Commons
upon his Motion for the Impeachment ib.

They are impeached, with George Earl Wintoun,
and Articles fent up 5

All plead Guilty, except the Earl of Wintoun ib.

The King's Commijfion, appointing William Lord
Cowper Lord High Steward ib.

The Articles read 6
Earl of Derwentwater'j Anfwer 8
Lord Widdrington'.? Anfwer 9
Earl of Nithifdale's Anfwer 10
Lord Nairn'.? Petition 1

1

Earl of Derwentwater'j Speech 1 z

Lord Widdrington'.? Speech ib.

Earl of Nithifdale'.? Speech 13
Earl of Carnwarth'.? Speech ib.

Lord Kenmure's Speech 14
Lord Nairn'.? Speech ib.

Lord High Steward's Speech before Judgment ib.

Sentencepaft upon them, as in Cafes ofHigh Trea-

fon 16
Earl of Derwentwater'.? Dying Speech ib.

He is beheaded, with the Lord Kenmure 1

7

DIGBY, Sir Everard I. 244. See Winter, Rob.
&al.

DISABILITY. See Witnefs.

DISCONTINUANCE.
The Diftringas TefteV the Day after the Return of

the Venire, a Difcontinuance V. 547
Whether this be amendable 574

DISPENSING Power. See Bifhops, the Seven,

their Trial IV. 304
DISTRINGAS. See Writs.

DIVORCE. See Howard, Lady Frances I. 315
DONN, Henry I. 128. See Babington, & ah

DOVER, Simon II. 529 See Twyn, & al.

DOWNES, John II. 39 6. See Regicides.

DUELS. See Murder.

E.
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E.

-T7ARLES, John II. 585. See Mefiehger, &

EDMONDSTON, Patrick V. 634. See Stir-

ling James, & al.

ELIZABETH, Queen, a noble Saying applauded

by her, concerning difrefpeclful Words fpoken

of Princes I. igj

ELLIOT, Edmund IV. 410. See Prefton.
'

ELWEYS, Sir Jervis, his Trial as Acceffary, be-

fore the Fail, to the Murder of Sir Thomas
Overbury, i6Novemb. 1615, 1 3 Jac. I. I.

Sir Jervis'^ Defence 342
He urges, that, though he did fufpecJ a Defign

ofpoifoning the Deceas'd, the concealing offuch

Sufpicion would not make him Acceffary before

the Fail 343
Franklin's Confeffion read againft him 344
He is convicled, and Sentence pafs'd ib.

His Execution ib.

EMBASSADOR. See AMBASSADOR.
ENEMIES.

Where the Subjects of a foreign Prince fhall be deem'

d

Enemies, though the Prince himfelf be in Amity

with this Crown I. 115. V. 34
Lawful for private Men to arm themfelves to op-

pofe a common Enemy II. gg^
What /hall be conftru'd an adhering to the King's

Enemies I. y^3
ENOUEST. See Jury.

ESCAPE. See Prifoner.

ESSEX, Robert Earl of, and Henry Earl of
Southampton, their Trial for High Treafon

in confpiring the DeftrutJion of the Queen, and

raifing an InfurretJion, Feb. 19, 1600. 43Eliz.

I. 197
No challenge to a Peer 198
Serjeant Yelverton'j Speech ib.

Sir Edward Coke, Attorney-General, aggravates

the Charge 199
Witherington'j Depofition read as Evidence, and

the Earl's Anfwer 200

Lord Keeper, Earl of Worcester, and Lord Chief

Juftice, their Declaration ib.

Sir Walter Ralegh*s Evidence 201

Sir Ferdinando Gorged Confeffion read 202

Evidence of the Prifoner's Defign to furprize the

Court, take the Tower, &c. ib.

Davers'j and others Confeffion to the fame effecl

ib. 203
EfTex defigns to call a Parliament ib.

And to have alter'd the Government ib.

EfTex'j Pretence that England was fold to the

Spaniards ib.

EfTex charges Sir Robert Cecil with faying, That

none but the Infanta of Spain had a Right to

the Crown of England ; upon which enfues a

fevere Expostulation between them 205
The Earls conclude their Defence 206

The Terms EfTex furrender'd upon 207
The fudges deliver their Opinion to the Peers af-

ter they were withdrawn ib.

The Prisoners are convicled ib.

Sentence pafs'd 208

Earl of EiTex'j Execution ib.

ESSEX, Arthur Earl of, his Death in the Tower.

See Braddon.

ESSEX, Robert Earl of, and his Wife, their Di-

vorce. See Howard, Lady Frances I. 315

EVIDENCE.
Depofitions of a Perfon abfent read in Evidence, in

a Capital Cafe I. 172
Circumstantial Evidence allowed as good Proof

againft a Puritan Minifter x g ^
Urg'd in like manner by Sir Edward Coke azainli

Sir Walter Ralegh 22c»
Allow'd and urg'd by the Court againft a Popifh

t,

P
[

ieJi IL 99?
Verbal Confeffions of Criminals may be offer'd as

Evidence againft them 100 cA Letter read in Evidence that was neither writ-
ten to or by the Prifoner n X^A Popifh Prieft performing the Funclion of a Prieft,
Evidence ofhis being in Orders. 802, 962, 966A folemn Refolution that, in a Cafe of Treafon,
there muft be two Witneffes believ'd by the Jury

III. 56
What was fworn againft a Criminal at the Trial

of another, ought not to be given in Evidence
againft him jj # g(j.

Evidence given, that had no relation to the Pri-
foners in particular, but only to the Plot in ge-
neral HI. I09? 79 g

Letters, or Certificates, on a Prifoner's behalf can-
not be read as Evidence H. 10 10

Hearfay not to be admitted in Evidence 279
III. 841, 883

Admitted II. 251, 881. VI. 803
In cafe one Witnefs proves an Overt-Ac! in one

County, and one in another, it is good Proof in
either HI. 366

Two Witneffes to every Overt-Ac! not neceffary

419
The Hand-writing of a Criminal prov''d, by com-

paring it with other Writings of his ; and by the

Witneffes fwearing they believ'd it to be the

Prifoner 's Hand III. 802. IV. n'j, 447
Bail cannot be a Witnefs for his Principal III.

842
What the Defendant has faid, no Evidence for him

843
In an Indiclmentfor Forgery, another Forgery was

not allow'd to be given in Evidence 844
A Trial printed by Authority no Evidence IV. 29,

Where the Prifoner would give in Evidence any

thing that was faid or done at another Trial,

he ought to produce the Record IV. 41
A Narrative fworn in the Houfe of Peers admit-

ted in Evidence 46
The Journals of the Lords and Commons, Votes,

and Addreffes, given in Evidence 376, 388
All People ftjall be allow'd Copies offuch Records

as may be Evidence for them 417
Treafonable Papers found on a Perfon, the Jury

may from the Circumftances judge of the Par-
ty's being privy to the Defign, though there be

no diretl Evidence of it 481
Evidence may be given of Fails done before or af-

ter the time laid in the Indiclment, fo it be be-

fore the Indiclment prefer'

d

§6g
No Exception can be made to the Proof after Ver-

dicl 596
Evidence may be given of Treafon committed in

another County than that where the Indiclment

is found 639, 640
No Evidence ought to be given without firjt opening

it 692
So the Evidence be probable, 'tis fufficient for the

Grand-Jury to find the Bill III. 4.19- V. 3,

The
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The Examination of a Witnefs withdrawn read in

Evidence V. 68

No Evidence ought to be given in Capital Cafes,

but in the Prifoner's Prefence 85
Whether there ought not to be as full Evidence on

a Bill of Attainder as in other Cafes ? 114,

124, 132

Perfons convitled on circumftantial Evidence 115

The fame Evidence required on Impeachments as in

inferior Courts 119

No Evidence ought to be given of an Overt-All not

laid in the Indiblment , unlefs it tend to prove

fome Overt-At! that is laid in the Indiblment

IV. 691, 6gy, V. 22

No Evidence ought to be given of the Contents of a

Letter, unlefs the Letter be produc'd V. 3

1

The Examination of a Criminal before a Magi-
jlrate given in Evidence againfi him at his

Trial IV. 135
The Grand Jury, may not fend for other Evi-

dence than is produc'd on the Part of the King

V. 423
The Anions of another given in Evidence againfi

the Defendant 488
Evidence given of Fails done after the Informa-

tion exhibited 492
Aprinted Proclamation not to be admitted in Evi-

dence 510
Extrabls out of printed Books admitted to be given

in Evidence 728
Examinations of Witneffes, who might have been

produced viva voce, frequently given in Evi-

dence againfi a Criminal anciently. I. 95, 315

347
Examinations taken in another Court where they

fhall be read in Evidence II. 945. III. 152

Examination of a Witnefs withdrawn read in

Evidence againfi a Criminal IV. 496
Examination of a Witnefs before the Coroner read

at the Trial againfi the Prifoner, though the

Witnefs gave his Evidence viva voce in Court

534
In what Cafes a Juror may be examined by the

Prifoner 748

Ifan Examination in Writing be taken by a Jufiice

of Peace, no Evidence can be given of whatpaft

at that Examination, unlefs the Writing be pro-

duced VI. 203
The Confeffion of a Prifoner can only affetl him-

felf, and not any Perfon join'd with him in the

Accufation 218
EXAMINATION. ^Evidence

EXCEPTIONS
To an IndiUment ought to be taken before Plea plead-

ed II. 89. V. 18

Exceptions taken to an Indiblment after Plea plead-

ed IV. 698EXECUTIONS
Varying from the Judgment I. 63, 394. III. 215

IV. 129
Three Gentlemen try'd andfin'dfor tampering with

a Prifoner at the Place of Execution I. 333

F.

FALSE Imprifonment. See Prifoner

FARREL, Richard II. 585. &?*Meffen-
ger, & al.

FARWEL, John III. 501. See Thompfon, &
al.

FAWKS, Guy I. 232. See Winter and the Con*

fpirators in the Powder-Plot

FELONY.
One convitled of Felony for impugning the Queen*

s

Authority in Caufes Ecclcfiaftical I. 176
The Perfon proftituting his Body in Sodomy, held

guilty of Felony 396
If the King kills a Man, 'tis no Felony in him

104
Felony may be try'd in any County whither the

Thief carries the ftolen Goods IV. 349. V. 524
Marrying a Woman while fhe is under a Force,

Felony, though the Perfon marrying her is not

the Author of the Force 477
FENWICK, John II. 69 6. See Ireland, & al.

and II. 829. See White, Whitebread, &
al.

FENWICK, Sir John, his Cafe on a Bill of At-
tainder brought into the Houfe of Commons a-

gainfi him, Novemb. &c. 1696. 8 W. III.

V. 40
The Introduelion, fhewing how the Bill of Attain*

der came to be brought in ib.

The Houfe put Sir John upon making a Difcovery

to them ib.

He injifis that they fioould fecure him, that his Con-

feffion fhould not be made ufe of againfi him ;

which they decline ib.

He dejires Time to recollecl himfelf, which they

refufe him ; and vote a Bill of Attainder 41
Fuller, the Impofior, offers to give Evidence a-

gainfi Sir John Fen-wick 42
Counfel and Solicitor affigned Sir John • ib.

Agreed that the Serjeant with the Mace fhould

ftand by the Prifoner at the Bar, during the

Hearing 43
The Bill read 44
Mr. Serjeant Gould opens the Charge in the In-

diUment, andfhews the Methods us d by Sir John
to protratl his Trial ib.

Mr. Serjeant Lovel, Recorder, fioews the Nature

of their Evidence 45
Sir John'.? Counfel defire Time for their Defence

46
And are allow'd till the Monday following $j
Refolv'd, that the Counfel for the Bill may exa-

mine Witneffes as to the Treafons contain'd in

the Indiblment, as well as to the Allegations in

the Bill $6
The Indiblment againfi Sir John read 58
Porter produc'd, to prove the Fabls laid ib.

Sir John'.? Counfel oppofe Porter'.? being examin'd

as to my Lady Fenwick'.? pratlifing with him
about his Evidence ; for that what the Wife
fays or does can be no Evidence for or againfi

her Hufband 59
And for that there was no Suggeftion in the Bill

of Porter'.? being tamper'd with by Sir John
himfelf 60

Refolv'd, that Porterfhould be examin'd as to his

being tamper'd with 62
Roe examin'd as to his being dealt with, to dif-

credit Goodman'.? Teftimony 63
Sir John'.? Counfel oppofe the reading of Good-

man'.? Examination taken by Mr. Vernon, a

Jufiice of Peace, as illegal Evidence 64
Admitted that, where a Witnefs could be produc'd,

his Examination ought not to be read againfi a

Prifoner ib.

Sir Thomas Trevor holds, that an Examination

before a Jufiice may be read, where the fVit-

nefs cannot be had 68

Refolv'd, that Goodman'.? Examination Jhould be

read 7

1

Sir
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Sir John'j Counfel oppofe the calling a Grand Ju-

ryman to give an Account of the Evidence Good-
man gave, to induce them to find the Bill a-

gainfi Sir John V. 72
Which is over-ruled without Debate ib.

Sir John'J Counfel oppofe the reading the Record

of Cook'j Convitlion 73
What is fworn againfl the Prifoner at the Trial of

another, is no Evidence againfl him ib.

But a Prifoner may make ufe of what was fworn
at another Trial in his Defence 74

Refolvd, that the Record of Cook'^ Convitlion

be read j6
Sir John'j Counfel oppofe the calling a Juryman

to depofe what Evidence Goodman gave at

Cook'j Trial ib.

Refolv'd, that Witneffes might be examin'd to

what Goodman faid at the Trial of Cook 78
Likenefs of Hands no Evidence of a Man's Hand-

writing 79
Mov'd to take Mr. Dighton, Sir John's Solici-

tor, into Cuflody 81

Sir John'j Counfel enter upon his Defence. Sir

Thomas Powis'j Argument ; he fhews the

Hardjhip of making an Acl to condemn a Man
ex poll fadto ib. 82

Shews that even the Regicides were admitted to a

Trial by a Jury 82

No Evidence can be given againfl aMan on a Trial

for his Life, but in his Prefence 85
Sir John Hawles'j Opinion, that a Confpiracy to

levy War was not an Overt-AH of compafiing

the King's Death ib.

Sir Bartholomew Shower'j Arguments againfl the

Bill 86
He urges, that the moft that could be done in Juf-

tice, was to fupply the Want of the abfent Wit-

nefs 87
That a Confult, in my Lord RuffelV Cafe, was

held to be no Overt-Acl ; and that was all that

was pretended to be prov'd here 8 8

Mr. Serjeant Gould'^ Reply 89
One Witnefs fufficient in fome Species of Treafon

ib.

Refoh'd by the Judges, that confulting to levy

War was Treafon ib.

Mr. Serjeant Lovel'j Reply ib.

Mr. Vernon'j Evidence of the Artifices us'd by

Sir John to delay his Trial 93
Debates upon the fecond reading the Bill g$
Judges ought not to go according to their private

Knowledge $6
The Lord Frefton pardon d on making a pretended

Difcovery, which he afterwards deny d ib.

One boil'd alive for poifoning People 97
Lord Cromwel and Mortimer attainted without

being heard ib.

A Judge ought to be a Witnefs for the Prifoner, if

he knows any thing that may acquit him ; & e

con u

a

98
Bills of Attainder univerfally branded, where the

Offender was forth-coming ib.

Suggefled by the Court-Party, that they had no De-

Jign againfl Sir John'j Life, but to bring him to

a Conffffion 1 00

The Lord Dclamere acquitted, becaufe there was

but one Witnefs againfl him 104

A Bill ofAttainder againfl onefor killing a foreign

Mimfler, ten Tears after the Fail, and after

he had been try'd at Common Law 1 05
Vol. YI.

The Senate of Venice executed Confpirators againfl
the State, after they had promifed them Par-
d°n v. 108

Nothing but an abfolute Necejfity could juftify the

paffng this Bill j Gg
The Parliament are to declare what's Treafon only,

when the Caufe comes before them from inferior

Court, by 25 Edw. III. 1 10
And the Judgment to begiven in theHoufe ofLords

11
Bills of Attainder us'd to begin by Impeachment ;

and then the Witneffes were upon Oath ib.

Whether it be jufl in the Parliament to take away
a Man's Life on lefs Evidence than in inferior

Courts xi a

Perfons convitled on prefumptive Evidence in infe-

rior Courts "5
Whether the Parliament atled according to Law

in declaring the Throne vacant on the Abdica-
tion ; or whether they went upon that Principle,

that the People might conflitute a new Govern-
ment for their Prefervation ? 116

Whether the Law of God requires two Witneffes in

Treafon, as was afferted ? nj
The Care ofthe Legiflature, inproviding thereJhould

be two Witneffes, to no purpofe, ifa Bill ofAt-

tainder may be brought in, when there is but

one 118
Neither Depojitions taken when the Party was not

prefent to crofs-examine the Witnefs ; nor any

thing that was fworn at another's Trial, ought

to be produc'd in Evidence againfl a Criminal

ib.

The Bill order'd a third Reading ib.

Debates on the third Reading 119
The fame Evidence is requir'd to convitl a Man

on Impeachments as in inferior Courts ib.

No two Nations agree in their Manner of Proof
120

Lord Cutts preffes thepaffing of the Bill, from the

Danger the Government was in 122

Young'.* Plot againfl the Bifhop of Rochefter

123
It is affirm'd, that two Witneffes were requir'd in

Treafon by the Laws of God, and the Laws of
all Nations ib.

Never any Man before taken out of the Hands of
inferior Courts, after Plea pleaded and Iffue

joind there, and cut off by an Acl ofAttainder

124
Injlances of feveral Attainders revers'd, becaufe

they were againfl Law ; which floews that the

Law ought to be the Rule, even in Bills ofAt-

tainder 125

If they were to be guided by one Statute, as to thi

Nature of the Pail, why not by another, as to

the Evidence requir'd to prove the Fail ib.

Thefe Bills ofAttainder obfervd to be fatal to the

Promoters of them ib.

If it be a good Reafon to reverfe Attainders, be-

caufe the Party had not the Benefit of the Laws,

the fame Reafon holds againjl the Enabling them

ib.

This the firjl Bill of Attainder began in the Houfe

of Commons, except the Duke of Monmouth'^
ib.

Objecled, if they were to have two Witneffes in

Treafon, according to the Jewifh Law, why not

in Murder too 126

That if it were the eternal Law of God to have
* F two
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two Witneffes, where was that Law before

Edw. VI. and why was it otherwife in fome
Species of Treafon ftill ? V. 1 2 7

Admitted, that in Treafon there ought to be two

Witneffes ib.

Whether the Attainder of a Commoner can begin

in the Houfe of Peers ? ib.

The Bill brought in, not becaufe of any Danger the

Government was in, but to vindicate a Pcrfon

of Honour 129
The Dangerof the Government but aPretence 130
Though Sir John'j prevaricating till a Witnefs was

withdrawn, &c. were not a fufficient Reafon

to put him to Death, it was fufficient to juftify

their proceeding in this Manner againft him

133
7/ is urg'd, that the Evidence given might be le-

gal Evidence in Parliament, though not in the

Courts below -, as appear d by the very Acls they

injifted upon on the other Side 134
The Bill pafs'd by the Commons 136
The Writ for his Execution ib.

His Dying Speech ib.

FERNLEY, John IV. 131. SeeCormSa.

FIELDING, Robert, Efq; his Trialfor Bigamy,

at the Old Bailey, Decemb. 4, 1706, 5 Ann.
V. 610

The Indiclment, for felonioufly marrying Barbara

Duchefs of Cleveland, Mary Wadfworth, his

firft Wife, being then alive ib.

Mr. Raymond opens the Indiclment 61

1

Sir James Montague opens the Evidence ib.

Mrs. Villars'j Evidence of her impofing Mrs.

Wadfworth on Mr. Fielding forMrs. Deleau

;

and of their Marriage by a Popifh Prieft 6 1

2

Mr. Fielding admits his Marriage with the Du-
chefs 615

Mrs. Deleau'j Evidence of Mr. Fielding'^ com-

ing to fee her Garden 616
Three Letters from Mr. Fielding, direcled To the

Count efs of Fielding, produc d to prove he ac-

knowledged his Marriage with a Perfon whom
he took for Mrs. Deleau 620

Mr. Fielding enters upon his Defence 621

He endeavours to prove Mrs. Wadfworth married

to another Man, before the Timefie wasfaid to

be married to him ib.

Sir James Montague'^ Obfervations on the Evi-

dence, and on Mr. Fielding's Defence 624
Another Letter of Mr. Fielding'.? produced in E-

vidence againft him, direcled To Anne Countefs

of Fielding 625
Evidence that Mrs. Wadfworth'.; pretended Mar-

riage with another Perfon was a Sham ib.

Mr. Juftice Powel direcls the Jury ib.

He tells them, that though Afn.Villars'i Characler

was but indifferent, he thought her Evidence

well fupported ; but however, if they thought

Mrs. Wadfworth'.; Marriage with another

Man before fhe married Mr. Fielding prov'd,

they muft acquit him 628
Mr. Fielding is convicled ib.

The Judges do not give Judgment till next Seffions \

and accepted Bail for his Appearance then ib.

January 15, Judgment is given, and Mr. Fielding

prays his Clergy, andproduc'1

'd the Queen!sWar-
rani to fufpend the burning in theHand ib.

The Duchefs inftitutes a Caufe of Nullity ofMar-
riage in the Court of Arches againft Mr. Field-

ing, and obtains a Decree that fhe was free

from any Bond ofMarriage with the faid Ro-
bert Fielding, and was at liberty to marry
with any other Perfon V. 628

Mr. Fielding renounces all Benefit of Appeal 6zq
FIENNES, Colonel Nathanael, his Trial before a

Council of War for Cowardice, Dec. 14, 1643,
19 Car. I. I. 766

William Prynne and Clement Walker his Profe-
cutors ib.

They injift ftrenuoufty, that the Trial may be pub-
lick and open ib.

Which is over-rul'd, after long Debate 768
Ten Articles exhibited againft him, charging him

with cowardly furrendring the City of Briftol

ib.

His Anfiver 770
The Hearing on the three firft Articles 775
The Hearing on the five following Articles 779
The Defendant's general Defence, and Prynne'^

Reply 784
ThePerorationoftheDefendant, and Mr. Prynne's

Reply 814
The Defendant is condemned to die ; but pardon d

afterwards 815
Cafes at large, which were cited in the Trial 816

FITZ-HARRIS, Edward, his Arraignment in

the King's Bench for High Treafon ; with his

Plea, and the Counfel's Argument thereon, in

EafterTerm, 1681, 33 Car. II. III. 224
Proceedings in Parliament relating to him ib.

The Grand Jury doubt whether one who is im-
peached for High Treafon may be indicledfor it

227
The Court refolve that he might be indicled, though

the Commons had impeach''d him generally ; and
voted he fhould not be try'd by any inferior

Court 228
The Indiclment read ib.

Fitz-harris offers a Plea in Paper, that he is im-

peach'dfor the fame Treafon ib.

The Court ajfign him Counfel, and give him Time
to mend his Plea 229

A Rule made, that his Counfel and his Wife might

come to him 230
He is examined concerning the Murder 0/ Godfrey

ib.

Fitz-harris puts in another Plea to thejurifdiclion

of the Court 234
Mr. Attorney argues that the Plea was defeclive,

both as to Matter and Form ib.

He fhews there was no Precedent of the King's

Counfel being put to demur in a Capital Cafe

before 235
Mr. Attorney demurs to the Plea 237
The Prifoner joins in Demurrer ib.

Time is given the Prifoner s Counfel to maintain

the Plea 240
A Copy of the Indiclment denfd 241
Mr. Williams'.; Argument for the Prifoner ib.

He compares an Impeachment to an Appeal 242
He doubts if the King can pardon one impeached

ib.

Sir Francis Wilmington for the Prifoner 248
Mr. Wallop's Argument for the Prifoner 251
Mr. Pollexfen'j Argument for the Prifoner 252
Mr. Attorney anfwers the Arguments of the Pri-

foner' s Counfel 254
The Indiclments againft the five Popifh Lords re-

moved by Certiorari into the Houfe of Peers

255
Mr.
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Mr. Finch, Solicitor'-General, his Reply for the

King III. 255
Mr. Serjeant Jefferies /<?r the Crown 259
Sir Francis Wythens on the fame Side ib.

The Court declare, they Jhould not meddle to deter-

mine whether a Commoner might be impeach'

d

for Treafon, or whether an Impeachment Jhould

flay the Proceedings of an inferior Court \ but

only confider the Sufficiency of the Plea to out

them of their Jurifdiclion 2 60
The Chief Juftice, Mr. Juftice Jones, and Mr.

Jujiice Raymond, of Opinion the Plea was in-

fufficient ; Mr. Jujlice Dolben doubted 261

The Court award the Prifoner fhall plead over ib.

The Prifoner pleads Not Guilty ib.

He has Time to prepare for his Trial till next Term
262

Fitz-harris brought upon his Trial in Trinity-

Term, June 9, 1681. 263
The Court refufe to examine the Prifoner before his

Trial, as to the Murder of Godfrey ib.

The Indiclment for a treasonable Libel call'd,

The true Englifhman fpeaking plain Englifh

265
Mr. Heath opens the Indiclment 266
Mr. Attorney opens the Evidence 2 6j
The King's Witneffes calfd ib.

Evidence that Fitz-harris prompted Everard to

write the Pamphlet 2 6y
Papers delivered to the Prifoner in Court ; which

the King's Counfel objecl to 269, 272
Smith fwears he over-heard Fitz-harris diclate to

Everard 2 70
Which is confirmed by Sir William Waller 2 72
The Prifoner calls his Witneffes 277
Oates depofes, that Everard faid this was a De-
Jign of the Court, and the Libel was to be con-

veyed into the Whigs Pockets ib.

Evidence that Sir William Waller faid, the King

was in a great Paffion with him, and faid, he

had broken all his Meafures by difcovering Fitz-

harris 278
A Petition of Mrs. Fitz-harris to his Majefty, and

the King's Letter to the Duke of Ormonde con-

cerning them, read in Court 280
Lord Howard'.? Evidence ib.

Hearfay Evidence refus'd 282
The Duchefs of Porzimouth fubpcena'd by the Pri-

foner as a Witnefs ; fhe is defir'd to Jland up,

while Jhe gives her Evidence 283
Mr. Fitz-harris enters upon his Defence, complains

of his clofe Confinement, that he had not an Op-

portunity of preparing for his Defence ; inti-

mates, that his Witneffes conceal'd their Know-
ledge ; and affirms that the Money he receiv'd

of the Government was for fecret Service, and

not in Charity, as the Witneffes depos'd ib.

Mr. Solicitorfums up the Evidence -, he takes no-

tice, that the Prifoner's Defence confifted infome

Infinuations, that he compos'd this Libel by the

King's Direclions 284
Mr. Serjeant JefFeries'j Obfervations on the Evi-

dence 286
The Chief Jujlice's Direclions to the Jury 287
Hejhews the Improbability that the KingJhould be

in a Dejign to blacken his own Family, and in-

cite a Rebellion againft himfslf ib.

The Jury doubt whether they may try this Matter,

the Commons having voted that it Jhould not be

try'd by any inferior Court 288

But the Court tell them, they are only to try the
Fail. As to the Plea to the Jurifdiclion, that
is the Bufinefs of the Court, and they have de-

termined that Matter already III. 2 8

8

That if there was a Vote of the Commons, 'it could
not alter the Law, any more than a Letter or
Mandate from the Prince. The Judges were
upon their Oaths, and mujl do Jujlice according

to the Laws of the Land, notwithjlanding 289
Fitz-harris is convicled ib.

Mr. Solicitor moves for Judgment ; but the Court
tell bim, they will take Time for that ib.

Sentence pafs'd upon the Prifoner 290
A Writ iffued out of the King's Bench, June 22,

direcled to the Lieutenant of the Tower, to de-

liver the Body of Fitz-harris to the Sheriff of
Middlefex thefirftof]xAy, in order to his Ex-
ecution ib.

Another Writ, of the fame Date, to the Sheriffof
Middlefex, to receive Fitz-harris, and caufe

him to be executed according to the Sentence 291
Fitz-harris executed accordingly, July 1 . ib.

His Behaviour at Execution ; and his Dying Speech

ib. 292
FITZ-PATRICK, Laurence, I. 396. See Aud-

ley, Lord
FLEETWOOD, George II. 302. See Regi-

cides.

FOGG, Chriftopher V. 445. See Kirkby, & al.

FORD, William II. -585. See Meffenger, & al.

FORSEITH, Edward V. 1. See Dawfon.
FORFEITURE.

The Judgment in High Treafon mujl be in the ufual

Form, to entitle the King to his Forfeitures

III. 213
Forfeitures on a Conviclion for Manflaughter

V. 1 70FORGERY V.232
FOREIGNERS. See Alien.

FOX, Somerfet, his Trial, before the High Court

of Juftice, for High Treafon againft Oliver

Cromwell, then Lord Proteclor, 30 June,

1654, 6 Car. II. II. 212
Fox pleads Guilty ib.

Prideaux, Attorney Generalfor the Commonwealth^

opens the Evidence 213
Mr. Vowell defires to be try'd by a Jury, but is

refus'd 212, 214
John WifemanV Evidence, that there was a De-

jign to affaffinate the Proteclor as he went to

Hampton-Court ; and that Gerhard and Vow-
ell were privy to it 214

Edward Hudfon gives a foft Evidence; upon

which his Examination is read againft the Pri-

foners, though the Witnefs denied in Court fome
things he then confefd 214, 215

Charles Gerhard'^ Evidence againft his Brother

215
Other Witneffes to the Dejign in general 216
Gerhard and Vowell deny the Fad ib.

Are condemn'

d

2
1

7

Fox repriev'd; and the other two executed ib.

FRANCIA, Francis, his Trial for High Treafony
at the Old Bailey, 22 Jan. 17 16. 3 George I.

VI. 58
The Indiclment, for correfponding with the King's

Enemies 60
Sir Jofeph Jekyll'j Speech before Evidence 61

Sir Edward Northey, Attorney-General, his

Speech 62

Evi-
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Evidence of a Book and Papers found in the Pri-

foner's Houfe on his Apprehenjion VI. 65
Lord Townfhend'* Evidence 68

Mr. Secretary Stanhope'.? Evidence 71

The Prifoner's Examination read ib

Mr. Harvey'j Letter read 72
The Prifoner's Counfel objecl to the reading any

Letters that are not particularly laid in the

Indiclment y^
Adjudg'd that writing treafonable Letters is an

Overt-Ac! of High-Treafon, and that any Let-

ters may be given in Evidence to prove it,

though not particularly laid in the Indiclment

77
Several Letters read out of his Copy-Book. 78 &

feqq.

Sir Jofeph Jekyll's Remarks upon the Evidence 86

The Prifoner's Defence 87

He proves himfelf a Native of France ib.

Mr. Ward's Speech for the Prifoner 88

Mr. Hungerford on the fame fide 89
Two Women call'd, to afperfe Lord Townfhend

and Mr. Buckley 90
The Evidence ofthofeWomen pojitively contradicled

upon Oath 91
Evidence that none of the Letters in the Book were

the Prifoner's Writing 92
Sir John Fortefcue-Aland'* Reply 93
Mr. Spencer Cowper'* Reply cf6

Sir Thomas Bury, Lord Chief Baron, fums up

the Evidence 98
Direcls the Jury, if they find him Guilty, to find

fpecially that he is a Frenchman, and an Alien

101

The Prifoner acquitted . ib.

FRANKLIN, James, his Trial as Acceffary, he-

fore the Fall, to the Murder and Poifoning of

SirThomas Overbury, 2 7 Nov. 1 6

1

6. 1 3 Jac. I.

I. 346
His own Confeffion read in Evidence againfi him,

that he fold the Poifon, and knew for what ib.

Whereupon he is convicled, and Sentence pajfed up-

on him 347
FREEHOLD. See Jury.

FREEMAN, Richard III. 630. See Pilkington,

&al.

FREIND, Sir John, his Trial for High Treafin,

in confpiring the Death of the King, and pro-

moting an Invafion and Rebellion, March 23.

1695. 8 W. III. IV. 599
The King's Counfel will have none but Freeholders

upon the Jury 602

606
The Attorney- General, SirThomas Trevor'* Speech

before Evidence 604
Sir John dejires to afk the Witneffes whether they

be Papifts ; which is refus'd 605, 606
Porter'* Evidence, that the Prifoner was at two

Meetings, and agreed to invite King James
over 606

Blair'* Evidence, that he was to be an Offieer un-

der the Prifoner 607
Bertram'* Evidence, that Blair told him he was to

raife a Regiment 6 1

2

Courtney'* Evidence againjl Blair 613
Witneffes to Sir John'* Reputation 616
The Prifoner infifts that a Confpiracy to levy War

is not Treafon 619
The Solicitor-General, Sir John Hawks'* Reply

620

Mr. Cowper'* Reply 622

Lord Chief Juflicefums up the Evidence IV. 62 2
The Prifoner is convicled \\\_ g 2 6
See the Sentence and his Dying Speech, in the Tri-

al of Sir William Parkyns 659, 660
FULLER, William, his Trial for forging falfe

and fcandalous Libels, May 20, 1702. 1 An-
na? V. 441

Fuller acknowledges the Books to be his 443
Pretends he can make out the Truth of them ib.

He is convicled A, r

FULTHORPE, Sir Roger I. 14. See Bram?
bre.

GAGE, Robert I. 134. See Abington, & al.

GARLAND, Auguftine II. 398. See Re-
gicides.

GARNET, Henry, Superior of the Jefuits, his
Trialfor High Treafon, in promoting the Gun-
Powder-Plot, March 28, 1606. 4 Jac. I. at
Guild-Hall J. 248

See the Indiclment in Winter's Trial 232
Sir John Croke opens the Charge 248
Sir Edward Coke fhews the Aggravations this

Crime was attended with ib. 249
Gives an Hijlorical Relation of all the Popifh

Plots in j^. Elizabeth'* Reign 250, 251
And of the Gun-Powder Plot 253
Garnet formerly a Correclor of the Prefs 255
His Defence as to their Dotlrine of Equivoca-

tion ; as to their dtpqfing Doclrine ; and ab-
fenting themfelves from Church 257

He owns he knew of the Powder Plot ; but denies

he confented to it 258
Sir Edward Coke'* Reply to Garnet'* Defence

260
Earl of Northampton'* Speech 261
The Prifoner fays that if a Man in Sacramental

Confeffion owns he has a Defign to commit Mur-
der, the Priefi is bound to conceal it 2 64

The Prifoner is convicled 2 66
Earl of Northampton'* fecond Speech, from p.

166 to p. 308.
Garnet receives Sentence 308
His Execution 309

GASCOIGNE, Sir Thomas, Bart, his Trial for
High Treafon, the nth of February, 1679.

3 2 Car. II. III. 1

Sir Thomas arraigned ib.

The Indiclment for confpiring the Death of the

King, and the Subversion of the EJlablifhed Re-
ligion and Government ib.

Sir Thomas is brought upon his Trial 3
Mr. Serj. Maynard and Mr. Attorney-General

(Sir Crefwell Levinz) open the Evidence 4
Bolron'* Evidence of the Prifoner's making a Col-

lufive Conveyance of his Eftate to prevent a
Forfeiture ib.

Of Sir Thomas'* Defign to erecl a Nunnery in

Yorkfhire 6
The Jefuits hold it Damnation to take the Oath of

Allegiance 7
Bolron fwears the Prifoner offered him 1000 1. to

kill the King 8
Bolron'* Evidence repeated, particularly to Sir

Thomas, he being very thick of hearing, and
his feveral Anfwers 10

Mowbray'* Evidence of Sir Thomas'* Concern in

the Plot 1 r

Mow-
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Mowbray'.; Evidence repeated to Sir Thomas in

the Jams Manner as BolronV III. \%

Sir ThomasV Almanack given in Evidence 1

3

A Letter direcled to Sir Thomas, and found a-

mong his Papers, produced as Evidence 1

5

Forty Papifts convicled at once of not taking the

Oath cf Allegiance in Yorkshire ib.

The Prifoner calls Witneffes to /hew Bolron'j Ma-
lice againfi him 1 7

Funber Evidence of Bolron and Mowbray'j Ma-
lice againlt the Prifoner ig

Evidence tf/Bolron'j fwearing falfly againfi others

20
Bolron'i Character . 21

Bolron calls his Wife and Grandmother to give

him a good Character 16
Mr. Serjeant Maynard and Sir Francis Win-

nington, Solicitor-General, fum up the Evi-

dence 2 7

Mr. Jufiice Jones direcls the Jury, and tells them,

that Improbability is not of Weight againfi Po-

Jzsive Evidence 28-

Sir Thomas Gafcoigne acquitted 3

1

GAUNT, Elizabeth IV. 142. See Corntih.

GAYAN, John II. S29. See White al. White-

bread. & al.

GERHARD, John II. 212. See Fox, Somer-

fet.

GERMAN PRINCESS, .
Mary Moders, alias

Stedman, her Trial for Bigamy at the Old

Bailey, June 4, 1663. 15 Car. II. II. 498
The Indictment for Felony, in marrying John Carl-

ton, Thomas Stedman her firfi Hufband be-

ing then alive ib.

The IVitneffes for the King to the firfi Marriage

are called 499
No Entry cf the firfi Marriage in the Regificr-

Book 500
She owns her fecond Marriage ib.

The Prifover's Defence ib.

She calls her Witneffes 50

1

Mr. jvfi. Howel directs the Jury, and tells them

that if they found her Guilty, fhe muft die by

Law ; for that a Woman could not have the

Benefit of Clergy ; but he intimates to them,

that he thought the Proof of the firfi Marriage

very defective ib. 502
The Prifoner is acquitted 498

GIBBONS, John, his Trial for High Treafon for

being concern d in Love'j Plot, before the High
Court of Juftice in Weftminfter- Hall, July 1 8,

1 65 1. 3 Car. II. II. 183

Impeachment for High Treafon and other Crimes,

preferfd by Prideaux Attorney-General of the

State 184

The Prifoner infifts on his being trfd by a Jury,

according to the ancient Confiitution ib.

The Evidence ib.

He alledges, that the Notes taken for him at his

Trial, were taken away from him ; vihich pre-

vented his making a Defence 186

He objecls to the Incompetency of the Witneffes :

187

And that there was but one Witnefs to any one Fail

ib.

Sentence paffed upon the Prifoner 191

His Behaviour at Execution ib.

GIBBS, Nathaniel II. 478. .

See Tonge, & al.

GILBER.T, Jeffery, Lord Chief Baron of the Ex-

chequer in Ireland, Proceedings againfi him,

Tohn Pocklington, Efq; and Sir John St. Le-

"Vol. VI.

ger, two of the Barons of that Court, in the

Houfe of Lords in Ireland, for a Contempt of
that Houfe, 5 George I. 17 19 VI. 188

The High Sheriffof Klldzrts Petition to the Houfe
of Lords, complaining that he had been fin'd in

the Exchequer for obeying the Lords Order ib.

Report of the Committee 189
Orders of the Lords in England relating to the

Caufe ib. & 191, 192
Oath of a Baron of the Exchequer 193
The Lords cenfure the Barons

;

194
And commit them into Cuftody 195

GILES, John, his Trialfor an Affault on John Ar-
nold Efq-, 32 Car. II. 1680 III. 65

The Indictment ib.

Mr. Holt, of Counfelfor the King, opens the Evi-
dence ib.

And is feconded by Mr. Thompfon 66
Mr. Arnolds Evidence of his being affaulted 6j
Several corroborating Circumfiances given in Evi-

dence. 6a
Giles'j Defence, by Mr. Darnell 7

1

Witneffes to prove the Prifoner was at another

Place when the Fab~i was committed 73
Sir George JefTeries'j Obfervations on the Evi-

dence
7 5

Giles is convicled 78
The Judgment ja
Proceedings againfi Mr. Herbert for taking his

fart ib.

GLEN, George V. 572. See Green, Thomas,
& al.

GOODENOUGH, Richard III. 630. See Pil-

kington, & al.

GOODERE, Samuel, Efq; Matthew Mahony,
and Charles White, their Trials for Murder,
at the Seflions of Peace, held in the City of
Briftol, begun the lyth of March 1746, and
continued by Adjournment to the 26th of the

fame Month, 1741. 14 & 15 Geo. II. VI.795,

829
The Indictment of Mahony, for choaking, ftrang-

ling, and 'murdering of Sir John Dineley

Goodere (Brother to the Jaid Samuel Goodere)

on board the Ruby Man of War ; and of Sa-

i

muel Goodere for abetting him in it ib.

They plead Not Guilty to this Indiclment ; and to

that on the Coroner s Inquefi ib. J96
Mr. Goodere'.? Counfel moves for an Adjourn-

ment of the Trial, and appeals to Dr. Mid-
dleton (a Phyfician) whether the Prifoner s ill

State of Health will admit of it now 796
The Doclor is [worn, and declares it will not

:

the Trial is, therefore, put off for a Week
ib.

Both Prifoners complain of the Lofs of Hearing ;

and are allowed to be brought nearer the Wit-

neffes ib.

The Jury is fworn 797
Mr. Vernon opens the Evidence ib.

The Witneffes for the King called 801

Mr. Smiths Evidence, that, at Mr. Goodere'^

Requeft, he made a feeming Reconciliation be-

tween him and Sir John ; that they met at this

Witnefs's Houfe, kiffed, and drank To Love
and Friendfhip ib.

That Sir John went away -, and Mr. Goodere

hafiened after him, and was joined by fome
Sailors from the White Hart Alehoufe 802

Hcar-fay Evidence admitted 803
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It is waved in behalf of the Prifoner, that he

may have Counfel to put his Queftions to the

Court, and that the Court put them for him

to the Witneffes : but refufed VI. 803

Mr. Smith'.f Evidence, after the Murder ib.

Baronettage, how derived, and its Infiitution ib.

804

Arguments upon Omijfion of the 'Title in the In-

ditlment ' 804

A Perfon may have divers Surnames ; yet a Pur-

chafe by either of them is fufficient ib.

Lord Prefton'j Cafe cited ib.

Hobbs, the Landlord of the White Hart Ale-

houfe, his Evidence of the Prifoners meeting

there with ten Men, for Confutation ; and of

Sir John'j poffing by, and the Men's rujhing out

after him 805

SeveralWitneffes of the feizing Sir John, and ill

'Treatment of him in the Barge 806

Ciraimftantial Evidences of the Murder of him,

on board The Ruby 809

Pofitive Evidences of it 812

Gooclere orders Mahony and White to be put on

Shore 8
1

3

The Examination of Mahony read 817
Mr. Recorder tells the Jury, that this Confeffion

is Evidence only agauifi Mahony ; and not a-

gainft Goodere 818

The Place, where The Ruby lay, proved to be

within the Liberty of the City of Briftol ib.

Goodere, in his Defence, calls Witneffes to

prove that his Brother was a Lunatick ; and

that he was doing his befi to take care of him

819
Brings other Evidence that he did not fend Ma-

hony and White away ib.

lnfifls that he was not prefent at the Death of
Sir John Dineley 820

Is anfwered by Mr. Recorder ; and by Mr. Ver-

non 821, 823
Calls Witneffes to his Character 821
Some of them contradicl his Charge of Lunacy up'

01 his Brother ib. 822

A Perfon engaged in a Defign of Murder, and

fofted fo as to give any Affiftance to thofe that

r.tlually commit it, is, in the Eye of the Law,
prefent at the Facl, though not upon the very

Spot, where the Murder is committed, nor even

in fight or hearing of it 822, 828
The Cafe of Lord Dacre 822
And of Berry, in the Murder of Sir Edmondbu-

ry Godfrey 823
Mr. Recorder funis up the Evidence ib.

Matthew Mahony and Samuel Goodere convitl-

ecl of Wilful Murder 829
The, Trial of Charles White for the faid Mur-

der ib.

The Jury fworn, and charged with the Prifoner

ib.

Mr. Vernon opens the Charge ib.

The Witneffes for the King called 830
Evidence that after Mahony and White had

murdered Sir John, they rifled his Pockets of
his Watch and Money ib.

The Examination of White read 831
lie relratls his former Confeffion ; fays he was in

Liquor, and out of his Senfes, when he made
it ; and that he never laid a Hand near the De-
ceafed 832

Calls Witneffes to his Charatler ib.

Mr. Recorder direcls the Jury ib,

Charles White is convicled of Wilful Murder

Mr. Recorder's Speech to all the Prifoners ib.

They are condemned ; and executed 834
The Body of Mahony hung in Chains ib.

Charles Bryan, Edward M'Daniel, and William
Hammon were inditied, tried, and convicled,

at the fame Court, for a Mifdemeanor, in for-
cibly feizing Sir John, and carrying him on
board the Ruby-Barge : fined and imprifon-
ed ib.

GOVERNMENT, See Libels.

GRAHME, Sir Richard. See Prefton, Vifcount.

GRAND JURY.
Twelve of the Grand Jury muft find the Bill. V. 42 3

Grand Jury Men may not fend for other Evidence
than is produced on the pari of the King 449

Probable Evidence fufficient for them to find a Bill

upon II. 806. III. 419. V. 3
The King's Counfel may manage the Evidence be-

fore the Grand Jury III. 418
Evidence may be given the Grand Jury in open

Court 42 r

The Grand Jury are not to examine to the Credit

of the King's Witneffes 433
Grand Jury Man admitted to give Evidence of

what a Witnefs, who was withdrawn, had
fworn before them V. 72

GRANT, John I. 232. See Winter, Robert,

&al.
GREAT SEAL.

Taking itfrom one Writing, andputting it to another*
adjudg'd to be High Treafon I. 74

That Judgment reprov'd ib.

GREAVES, John III. 949. See Sacheverell,

William

GREAVES, William. See ib.

GREEN, Robert. See ib.

GREEN, William II. 585. See Meffenger, &
al.

GREEN, Robert, Henry Berry, and Laurence
Hill, their Trial at the King's Bench Bar,

for the Murder of Sir Edmondbury Godfrey,

Feb. 10, 1678. 31 Car. II. II. 760
Arraigned the $th of February ib.

The Indiclment ib.

Sir William Jones, Attorney-General, gives the

Evidence 762
Oates'j- Evidence, of the Danger Sir Edmondbury

Godfrey thought himfelf in from the Papifls

J64.
Prothonotary Robinfon to the fame effecJ 765
Prance'.; Evidence, of his own part in the Mur-

der ib.'

Richardfon'j Evidence, of Prance'j denying what:

he hadfworn, and then affirming it again 769
Bedloe'j Evidence, of his being folicited by the

Prlefts to murder a Gentleman 770
Brown\f Evidence, how the Corps was found 772
The Surgeon's Evidence, who view'd the Corps ib.'

Evidence of Green's enquiringfor Sir Ed. Godfrey
the Day before he was miffing, and Hill the

fame Day 773
Evidence of their meeting at the Plough-Alehoufe

774
Sir Robert Southwell'.? Evidence, ofPrance'sfhew-

iv.g the Committee of Council the Places where
the Body was laid 775

Berry, the Porter, fays, he had Orders to let no

body into Somerfet-Houfe, the twelfth, thir*

teenth, or fourteenth Days of October 776
The
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The Prifoner's Defence II. 777
Evidence of Hill'j being within always at Eight

o' clock at Night ib #

Hillfoews that the Corps could not be in his Cham-
ber, and the reft of the Family be ignorant of it.

77%
The Court intimate that the Prifoner's Witneffes

•were privy to it yyq
Hill urges it as an Argument of his Innocence, that

he did not go out of the way, when he was told

he was fufpecled 781
The Corporal and Centinels depofe that no Sedan

went out of Somerfet-Houfe that Night the

King's Evidence fay Sir Edmondbury God-
frey was carried out 783

Mr. Attorney's Obfervations on the Evidence

784
The Chief Jufiice direils the Jury againji the Pri-

foner, 785
The Prifoners are convitled 789
And receive Sentence the next Day, though they

were tried at Bar ib.

The Tipftcff demands their Clothes as his Fee

ib.

But not allowed ib.

They make Proteftations of their Innocence 790
Denied Priefls to come to them 79 r

They are executed ib. See Samuel Atkins 792
GREEN, Copt. Thomas, and his Crew, their

Trial before the High Court of Admiralty

in Scotland, for Piracy, Robbery, and Mur-
der, March 5, &c. 1705. 4 Anna? V.^yz

Some of them pardoned, to be made Witneffes a-

gainft the reft ib.

Two Indictments 573> 574* 575> 57

&

Exceptions to the Indiclments 578
The Exceptions are over-ruled by the Court 594
A Jury of 15 fivorn c,g$

Ferdinando'j Evidence of taking a Ship, and de-

ftroying the Men ib.

May the Surgeon's Evidence of The Worcefter'j

taking a Ship 596
Francifco, the Captain's Servant's Evidence of the

taking a Ship 597
Evidence of fome Words that Haines, one of The

Worcefler'j Crews had let fallfince their com-

ing to Scotland 598
Evidence that the Bale-Goods on board The Wor-

cefter were not mark'd 599
Evidence of Madder's having the Seals of the

Scotch African and Eaft-India Company in

his poffeffion 600

The Inftruclions given to the Captain by the En-

glish Eaft-India Company, to ufe an extraordi-

nary Caution and Privacy in the Letter they

fent home, ufed as an Argument that the En-

glifh Eaft-India Company fitted out this Ship

on purpofe to deftroy the Scotch Ships 602

Sir David Dalrymple fhews the Nature of the

Crime, and makes his Obfervations on the Evi-

dence 600

The Jury withdraw, and chufe their Foreman and

Clerk 604
The Verdicl is given in writing, andfign'd by the

Foreman and Clerk ib.

Moft Votes determine the Fail ib.

They are all convitled, but Reynolds ib.

Judgment pronounced by an Officer appointed for

the purpofe 605

Linfteed recommended to the Queen's Mercy 606

The Confeffions of fome of the Prifoners ib.

Appendix 609

GREGORY, George, Efq\ III. 949. See Sache-
verell, William.

GREY, Ford Lord III. 630. See Pilkinston,
& al.

&

GREY, Ford Lord, Robert Charnock, Ann Char-
nock, David Jones, Frances Jones, and Re-
becca Jones, their Trial on an Information by
the Attorney-General, for a Mifdemeanour, in

feducing and carrying away the Lady Henrietta
Berkeley, from her Father the Earl of Berke-
ley, being under 18 Tears of Age, and under
his Government, and foliciting her to commit
Adultery with the faid Lord Grey, 34 Car. II.

1682. III. 519
Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, and Mr.

Finch, Solicitor-General, open the Evidence.

520, 521
Evidence of Lady Arabella Berkeley 522
And of the Countefs of Berkeley 523
Evidence of Lady Harriett'.? being mov'd from

Place to Place. 5*7
Mr. Williams'.? Speech for the Defendants 533
Lord Grey'j own Account of the Affair 535
My Lord Grey committed till he produced the La-

dy Henrietta ib.

The Lady Henrietta admitted to be fworn as a
Witnefs in this Caufe, though it was ftrongly op-

pos'd by the King's Counfel, her Evidence tend-

ing to excufe her unlawful Love, Sec. 539
She denies upon her Oath that ever my Lord Grey

advis'd her to, or had any Hand in her Efcape,
or knew any thing of it ib.

Lady Henrietta being ajk'd who affifted her to

make her Efcape, it is rul'd by the Court, thai

if he was no Party to the Information, /he was
not bound to difcover him -, for though one is

fworn to fpeak the whole Truth, that is to be

underftood only in relation to the Point in If-

fue 540
And rul'd, That if the Court will ajk her no

Queftions, fhe is not to tell a Storv of herfelf

ib.

The Chief Jufiice, in fumming up the Evidence^

tells the Jury, the Charge was double. (1.) The
foliciting the Lady to unlawful Love. (2.) The
carrying her away from her Father, under

whofe Tuition fie was
'

541
There having been a Writ de Homine Replegi-

ando ijfued againft my Lord Grey for the Lady
Henrietta, floe is examin'd in Court, whether

fhe is under any Reflraint 543
To which fhe anfwering, She was not, the Lord.

Chief Jufiice orders her to be deliver'd to her

Father the Lord Berkeley ib.

Whereupon fhe affirmed fhe was married to one

Turner ; and Judge Dolberi held, they could

not difpofe of another Man s Wife 544
My Lord Grey'.f Counfel infifts on his being dif-

charg'd from his Imprifonment , the Lady be-

ing produced ; to which the Court agreed. Per
Cur. no Judgment could be given that Termy
there being not four Days left ib.

Mr. Jufiice Dolben queftions whether the Court

had Power to commit my Lord Grey on the Ho-
mine replegiando, he being a Peer ib.-

The Perfon effoign'd is properly the Plaintiff in a
Homine replegiando ; and the Court direcJ-

ed my Lord Grey fhould give Security to an-

fwer the Lady's Suit upon that Writ ib.

WJpich he did, and is admitted to Bail ib.

The Lord Berkeley demands his Daughter again ;

and there being a Scuffle about her in the Hall,

fhe
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the Chief Juflice, ordered a Tipftaffto carry her.,

and Turner, her pretended Hufband, to the

King's-Bench : but the loft Day of the Term

the Court order'd her to be difcharg'd III. 544
The Jury find all the Defendants guilty, 'but Re-

becca Jones : but the Matter being compromised

in the Vacation, the Attorney-General enter'

d

a Noli Profequi before the next Hihry-Term
ib.

GREY, Ifaac. -See Crook, John.

GRINDALL, Archbijhop, his Charabler "and Con-

duel V. 689

The Queen's Letter to the Bifhops, and his to the

Council 762

Remarks en them 810

'GROVE, John II. 696. See Ireland.

GUNPOWDER-PLOT I. 232

The Quality of the Confpirators 'Zffl

The Principles of the Jefuits ib.

An exacl and particular Account of the Plot by

Sir Edward Coke 235,249
Their Defence as to their Doblrine of Equivoca-

tion ; the depofiv.g Doftrine ; and abfenting them-

felves from our Churches 257

H<

HABEAS CORPUS.
THE Return of a Habeas Corpus, not fign'd

by the Keeper, void II. 204
An Alias Habeas Corpus in the Name of Oliver

the Protestor ib.

The Return thereof 205
An Efcape, to bring a Prifoner in Execution out

of the Rules of the Prifon without a Habeas

Corpus, though to be a Witnefs, and by Or-

der of the Court III. 97. IV. 2, 599
Remarks of an Omiffwn in the Habeas Corpus- Aft

III. 906
The Arguments on the Return of the Habeas Cor-

,
pus, by which the Bifhops were brought from
the Tower to the King's-Bench Bar IV. 304

A Prifoner brought into the King's-Bench by Ha-
beas Corpus, may be remanded to the County-

Jail 'where he was indifted, or fent to any

Prifon in the County where the King's-Bench

Jits III. 1000. Fid. Rofewell.

No Habeas Corpus, or Diftringas, iffues in Capital

Cafes, unlefs the Trial be in the King's-Bench

IV. 667
HACKER, Francis II. 382. See Regicides.

HAINES, George V. 572. See Green, Tho-
mas, & al.

HALIFAX, Charles Lord V. o>Z9> See Port-

land, Earl of.

HAMILTON, James Duke, and Earl of Cam-
bridge, his Trial for High Treafon, before the

High Court of Juftice, the qth of Februarys

1648 II. 1

The Charge, for levying War, in behalf of the

King, againfi the Kingdom and People of Eng-
land ib.

The Duke's Plea ib.

Moves for Time to fend for his Witneffes ; but is

denied ib.

Counfel aflign'd him 2

Evidence of the Duke's furrendring upon Articles ;

one of which was, That his Life jhould be fe~

cured ib.

The Commiffioners who treated with him, depofe,

they intended only to Jecure his Life from the

Soldiers, and not from the Civil Power ib.

The Governor of Windfor^Caftle depofes, that the

Duke made his Efcape, though he had given

him his Honour he would not attempt it II. 3
The Duke's Defence ib.

He injifts upon the Articles ib.

The Duke's Counfelfpeak to Matter of Law 5
They urge, that the two Kingdoms w re indepen-

dent ; and the Duke, being a Native of Scot-

land, could not be a 'Traitor to England ib.

Mr. Steel'* Argument fdr the Common-Wealth 7
The Earl born after King James\y Acceffion 8

All who are-born in Scotland Jince King James'.?

Acceffion, deem'd as Natives of England to all

Intents. Calvin'* Cafe 9
So the Natives of Gafcoigne deem'd Denizens of

England, when it was under the Dominion of
the King of England ib.

Ligeantiam naturalem nemo ejurare poteft, nee
patriam exuere ib.

Object. That the Nations were again divided at

this Invafion ib.

Anfw. That the Afts of Union flood unrepeal'd

ib.

That Allegiance was due to the King in his Po-
litick Capacity, and confequently to the King-

dom ib.

The Oath of Allegiance permitted to be taken there-

fore to the King till his Death ib.

Authorities cited for charging the Duke as Earl

of Cambridge, and not as Duke 10
Scots tried for Treafon here before the Union, on

account of the Homage that Kingdom owed to

this ib. 11

The Duke a Traitor by the local Allegiance he owed

ib.

That the Aft for naturalizing the Father-, extend-

ed to his Iffue born before the Aft, without

fpecial Words 1 2

Not fo in the Cafe of Denization ib.

A Native of England may travel without a Li-

cence ib.

The Earl's fitting in a judicial Capacity in the

Englifh Parliament, made another Argument of
his Denization ib.

Treafon for the Earl tojoin Englifh Rebels,while

the Nations were in Amity 1 3
It was not material, whether the Englifh Re-

bels fought under his Standard, or be under

theirs ib.

Articles enter'd into by Military Officers, could

not pardon Treafon committed againjt the Civil

Power ; for that the Power of Pardoning is

incommunicable 14
The Intention of the Parties in all Compafts was

to be confidered ; nor could the Commiffioners

have bound the Civil Power, if they had fli-

pulated to do it 15
That the Duke had loft the Benefit of his Surren-

der, by making his Efcape ib.

That the Duke had received fome Benefit by his

Articles, by being allowed a fair Trial, and not

being put to the Sword immediately ib.

The Duke's Plea rejefted, and hefound guilty 16
Sentence paffed ib.

Put to the Fote, if the Duke Jhould be reprieved

ib.

His Behaviour at Execution ib.

HAMPDEN, John, Efq; the Trial between the

King and him in the Cafe of Ship-Money',

13 Car. I. I. 505
Lord Keeper Coventry'* Charge to the Judges ib.

Hit
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His fecond Charge I. g y
The King's Letter, State of the Cafe of Ship-

Money, and the Judges Opinion 509
'The whole Record in Englifli 510
Mr. St. John'* Argument for Mr. Hampden

His fecond Day s Argument 537
Sir Edward Littleton, Solicitor-General, his Ar-

gument 544.

His fecond Day's Argument 550
His third Day's Argument 558
Mr. Holborne'* Argument 562
He makes an Apology for arguing againft the

King's Power ; but is direcled by the Court to

proceed g6$
Writ of Mandamus Rogantes, the Nature of it

568
Mr. Holborne'* fecond Day's Argument ib.

Danegelt, the Tax fo called, the Nature of it

57*> 580
Mr. Holborne'* third Day's Argument 574
His fourth Day's Argument 580
His Anjwer to the Arguments of the King's Coun-

fel
^

'

585
Sir John Banks, Attorney-General, his Argument

586
His fecond Day's Argument 594
His third Day's Argument, wherein he anfwers

the Objections of the Defendant's Counfel

603
The Opinion of Mr. Baron Wefton for the King

;

with his Reafons 609
The Opinion of Mr. Juftice Crawley, for the

King', with his Reafons 615
The Argument and Opinion of Mr. Juftice Berk-

ley, for the King 619
The Opinion of Mr. Juftice Vernon, for the King

637
The Opinion and Reafons of Mr. Baron Trevor,

for the King ib.

Mr. Jufice Crooke gives his Opinion and Rea-

fons, for the Defendant 638
His Reafons, as they were prefented to the King

644
All the Records that had been produc'd, ftated

656, & feqq.

Mr. Juftice Jones\f Argument 663

His Opinion that the Defendant Jhould be charg'd,

with this Limitation, that none of the Money

Jhould come to the King's Purfe : if it does, he

is againfl it 66 7
Mr. Juftice Hutton'* Argument and Opinion, for

the Defendant ib.

Mr. Baron Denham'* Opinion, for the Defend-

ant 672

Chief Baron Davenport'* Argument and Opinion,

for the King ib.

Lord Chief Juftice Finch'* Argument and Opi-

nion, for the King 679
Lord Chief Juftice Bramfton'* Argument and Opi-

nion, for the King 69

1

The Order, and Judgment 695
Mr. Waller'* Speech in the Houfe of Commons

696

Lord Falkland'* Speech 698

Mr. St. John'* Speech at a Conference 699
Mr. Hide'* Speech 709
Articles of Impeachment againft Juftice Berkley.

ib.

Mr. Pierpoint'* Speech ' 713

Mr. Hollis'* Speech, for a Reward to Juftice

Crew 7*5
Vol. VI.

The Judgment cenfur'd by the Houfe of Lords

I. 716
Mr. Waller'* Speech againft Juftice Crawley

*7 I *7

HAMPDEN, John, Efa; his Trial for a Mifde-
meanour, 6 Feb. 1683. 36 Car. II. III. 824

The Indictment, for combining and confederating
with others of the King's Subjecls to raife a Re-
bellion ib.

The having an Employment under the King no Caufe
of Challenge 825

Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, his Speech
before Evidence 827

The Reafon why the Court wav'd profecuting the

Prifoner for Treafon
'

ib.

The Duke of Monmouth called, for a Witnefs ;

but did not appear ib. 728
The LordHoward'* Evidence of my Lord Shaftef-

bury's Plot 828
His Evidence concerning the Cabal, or Council of

Six, of which the Prifoner and himfelf were
Members 830

The Scotch invited into the Confpiracy ib.

Aaron Smith fent into Scotland 831
Sir Andrew Fofter depofes, That the Scotch A-

gents came to London •, and, to difguife their

Defign, pretended to come about making a Pur-
chafe in Carolina 833

My Lord RufTel wrote the Letter to invite them
hither 834

The Defence made by Mr. Hampden'* Counfel

ib.

They endeavour chiefly to invalidate my Lord
Howard'* Teftimony 837

And Jhew that Mr. Hampden is not of a fedi-

tious turbulent Difpofition, as laid in the In-

ditlment 841
The Bail cannot be Witnefs for the Defendant ;

but the King's Counfel admitted it in this Cafe

842
What the Defendant has [aid can be no Evidence

for him ; but the Court admittedfuch Evidence

to be given 843
One, who would have depos'd that my Lord How-

ard, the King's Witnefs, had been guilty of
fome Atheiftical Expreffions, not permitted to

be examin'd 845
The Counfel on both Sides leave it to the Court to

fum up and make Obfervations on the Evi-

dence ib.

The Defendant is convicled 854
Salvo Contenemento in Magna Charta, faid to

be meant only of Amerciaments, and not of
Fines, for great Offences ib.

A Fine of 40,000 1. fet upon the Defendant 855
HAMPDEN, John, Efa; his Trial for High Trea-

fon, 30 Decemb. 1685. 1 Jac. II. IV. 207
The Indiclment, for confpiring the Death of the

late King Charles II. and confulting and agree-

ing to raife an InfurretHon in order thereto

208

The Prifoner objecls, he had been tried before,

and fin'd for the fame Fail ib.

Pleads Guilty, and throws himfelf on the King's

Mercy ib.

Receives Sentence 209
He procur'd a Pardon -, but afterwards laid vio-

lent Hands upon himfelf ib.

HAND-WRITING.
What is fufficicnt Proof of a Man's Writing, and

what not, argued at large IV. 337
HARBOURING Traitors. See Treafon.

* H Two
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<£$)0 tried thereupon 1. 139, 140. IV. 131, 132

Whether the Record of the Convitlion of the Trai-

tor harboured, be not neceffary to be produced,

to convitl the Perfon charged with harbouring

of him? IV. 122, 135, 137

'The Perfon harboured made an Evidence againft

the Perfon harbouring him 137
Ruled by the Court, that a Perfon harbouring a

Rebel may be convicled of Treafon, though the

Rebel himfelf be not convicled 127

In order to convitl one of harbouring a Traitor,

Evidence mv.fi be given, that the Party har-

bouring knew him to be fuch ib.

HARCOURT, William II. 829. See White,

al. Whitebread, & al.

HARRIS, Benjamin, his Trial for a Libel,

32 Car. II. 1679 II. 1037

The Libel entitled, An Appeal from the Country

to the City, &c. - ib.

Evidence of the Defendant's publijhing it 103 8

The Pamphlet prppofes the fetting up the Duke of

Monmouth for King, after the Death of King

Charles 1039

Th - Chief Juftice's Directions 1038

Th: Jury not permitted to have the Booh out with

them l039
Harris is convicled ib.

And committed to the King's Bench ib.

His Sentence ib.

HARRISON, Henry, his Trial for the Murder

of Andrew Clenche, M. D. April 6, 1692,

4 W. & M. IV. 488
The Inditlment ib.

Mr. Darnell'j Speech before Evidence 489
Witneffes for the King called, to prove that the

Pnjcner bore Malice againft the Deceafed 491
Proof of the Prifoner s often changing his Lodg-

ings, and pretending he came out of the Country

493
The Coachman's Evidence of the murdering Dr.

Clenche in his Coach 494
Afhbolt'j Evidence, that fhe faw Harrifon in the

Coach with Dr. Clenche 496
The Evidence before the Coroner, of a Boy who

was withdrawn, read in Court, to prove that

the Prifoner was in the Coach ib.

Harrifon's Defence 497
The Prifoner calls Witneffes, who depofe he was at

. another Place when the Fail was committed ib.

Other Witneffes examined for the King 499
The Prifoner's Witneffes proved to be People of no

Credit 500
Lord Chief Juftice Holt'j Charge to the Jury 502
The Prifoner is convicled, and Sentence paffed 505
His Examination before the Lord Chief Juftice

Holt ib.

HARRISON, Thomas, Clerk, his Trial at the

King's Bench, for a Mifdemeanour, in fpeak-

ing refletling Words of Mr. Juftice Hutton of
the Common Pleas, 14 Car. I. 1638 I. 720

The Inditlment, for faying, I accufe Mr. Juftice

Hutton of High Treafon ib.

Mr. Serjeant Heath's Speech 721
The Defendant's Examination read, wherein he

owns and juftifies the Words ib.

Sir John Banks, Attorney-General, his Speech

ib.

The Defendant convicled-, and cenfur'd 722
HARRISON, Thomas II. 314. $« Regicides.

HARTWELL, John V. 469. See Swendfen.

HARVEY, Edmond II. 390. See Regicides.

HATHAWAY, Richard, his Trial, for being an

Impoftor, pretending he was bewitched by Sa-

rah Morduck, at Surry-Affizes, March 24,

1702, 2 Annse V. 482
The Information ib.

Mr. Conyers'j, and Mr. Broderick'j Speech before

Evidence 483
Mr. Phipps on the fame Side 485
Where the Atlions of another may be given in E-

vidence againft the Defendant 488
He is detetled as to his Pretence of vomiting Pins

489
He is detetled as to his Pretence ofFafting 491,

492
Evidence admitted to be given of what was done

after the Information exhibited 492
Mr. Serjeant Jenner'j Speech for the Defendant

494
Witneffes examin'd to prove that he was really be-

witch''d 495
Sir Thomas Lane'j Evidence 500
Whether the Devil can enable a Man to faft be-

yond the Time that Nature allows ? 501
Lord ChiefJuftice Holt diretls the Jury ib.

He is convicled 503
HATHAWAY, Welling and Willoughby, their

Trialfor a Riot, and Affault upon Sarah Mor-
duck, who, they pretended, had bewitch'

d

Hathaway, March 26, 1702, 2 Annas 504
All the Defendants are convicled 505

HAVERSHAM, John Lord V. 339. ^Port-
land, Earl of.

HAWKINS, Robert, Clerk, his Trial for Felony,

at the Affizes at Ailefbury, 20 Car. II. 1668

II. S9S
The Inditlment ib.

Larimore the Profecutor, one of his Parifhioners,

depofes he faw him rifle a Box in his Houfe,

andfteal his Money, &c. 596
The Profecutor''s Endeavour to prove Felonies not

laid in the Inditlment 601

Mr. Hawkins'* Defence 602

The Chief Baron obferves, that the Warrant the

Profecutor had procured tofearch for his Goods,

was dated the Day before he pretended the Rob-

bery was committed 605
Evidence of a Confpiracy by Sir John Croke the

Profecutor, and others, to lay Felony to the

Prifoner''s Charge, becaufe hefued them for his

Tithes 606
The Chief Baron diretls the Jury 60S

Mr. Hawkins is acquitted 610

The Jury commended by the Court for their VerdiSi

ib.

HAWLES, Sir John, his Remarks IV. 165
On Fitz-harris'j Trial ib.

On Colledge'j Trial ij%

On the Earl of ShafteiburyV Grand Jury 183

On Mr. Wilmer'* Homine Replegiando 186

On the Lord Ruffd's Trial 187
On Colonel Sidney's Trial 196
On the Award of Execution againft Sir Thomas

Armftrong 198

On the Trial of Count Coningfmark, and others

199
On Mr. Cornifh'j Trial 200

On Mr. Bateman'j Trial 204
HAYES, Jofeph, his Trial for High Treafon at

the King's-Bench Bar at Weftminfter,

36 Car. II. 1684 III. 1067

His
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His Indictment for correfponding with Sir Tho-

mas Armftrong, an Outlaw for High Treafon

III. 1067
Evidence againft him, that a Bill drawn by him

for 161 1. 15 s. was found about Sir Thomas
Armftrong 1068

His Defence 1070
He is acquitted 107

1

HEARSAY. See Evidence.

HERESY, and HERETICKS.
Herefy anciently tried before the Archbifhop I. 1 6,

37
Deemed Herefy anciently, to hold that the Sacra-

ment of the Altar, after Confecration, was ma-

terial Bread 20

Or that Images ought not to be worfhipped ib.

Or that Men ought not to go on Pilgrimages ib.

Or to deny the Neceffity of Penance and Confeffion

Or to deny the Authority of the Church ib:

Or to read the Bible 49
Hereticks anciently excluded the Benefit of Sanc-

tuary by AH of Parliament ib.

HEVENINGHAM, William II. 302. See Re-

gicides.

HEWET, John, D. D. his Trial for High Trea-

fon, before the High Court of Juftice, in

Weftminfter-Hall, June 1, 1658, 10 Car. II.

II. 281

Impeached of High Treafon againft the Lord Pro-

tetlor, and the State ib.

The Dofforjits covered before the Court ib.

He fays he is not to own every Man for hisJudge

who would affume that Office ; and demands of

the Court that he might hear their Commiffion

read 282

The Doffor queftions if the Commons had Power to

ereff that Court; efpecially fince 150 of their

Members were excluded 285

The Doffor's Refufal to plead is recorded 286

The Plea and Demurrer drawn up by the Dotlor,

with Intention to prefent it to the Court ib.

His Judgment of Death 299
He is beheaded 300

His Speech, and Behaviour at Execution ib.

HICKFORD, Robert, Servant to the Duke of

Norfolk, his Arraignment and Confeffion the

qth of February, 1571 I. 117

The Chief Juftice's Speech before Judgment 1 1

8

The Duke of Milan beheads a French Embajfador

for plotting againft him during his Embajjy 1 19

HICKMAN, Robert V. 337. See Kidd & al.

HIGH STEWARD. See Trial.

HILL, Lawrence II. 760. See Green, Robert,

&al.
HIND, James. See Tonge, & al.

HOE, John III. 949. See Sacheverell, Wil-

liam.

HOLLIS, Sir John, Proceedings againft him, Sir

John Wentworth, and Mr. Lumfden, in the

Star-Chamber, for traducing the Publick Juf-

tice, 13 Jac. I. 1 61 5. I. 333

Sir Francis Bacon, Attorney-General, his Speech

ib.

An Account of the Converfation they had with

Wefton at his Execution 335

Mr. Lumfden'j Defence 33 6

Sir John Wentv/orth'j Defence ib.

Sir John Hollis'j Defence 337

Sir Edward Coke'.? Speech before Sentence ib.

Their Sentence 33 8

HOLLOWAY, James, Proceedings on an Out-
lawry againft him for High Treafon, 36Car. II.

1684. HI- 943
The Court make the Prifoner an Offer of a Trial,

though he flood outlawed for High Treafon

ib.

The Prifoner replies, he has confeffed the Crime,
and therefore to no Purpofe to offer at a De-
face

_ 9fl
.4

His Petition for a Pardon ib.

His Behaviour at Execution 945
His Paper deliver'd to the Sheriffs 947

HOLT, Sir John I. 14. See Brambre.
HOMICIDE. See Murder.
HOMINE REPLEGIANDO III. 544. IV. 186
HONE, William, his Trial, July 12. 1683.

35 Car. II. HI. 702
Indiffed for a Defign to affaffmate the King, and

preparing Arms for that Purpofe ib.

Confeffes the Confpiracy ; but denies the preparing

Arms 703
He is told he cannot plead Guilty to Part, and

Not Guilty to the reft ib.

Evidence againft him of another Confpiracy to kill

the King with Crofs-Bows 705
He is conviffed 706"

Receives Sentence with Walcot and Roufe 745
His Behaviour at Execution ib.

HOSTILITY. See Enemies.

HOUGH, Dr. John. See Magdalen- College.
HOWARD, Lady Frances, Proceedings in the Di-

vorce between her and Robert Earl of Effex,

before the Court of Delegates, 1 1 Jac. 1. 1 61 3.

I- 3i5
The Allegations of the Lady Frances, in order to

obtain a Divorce ib.

The Anfwer of the Earl of Effex ib.

The Archbifhop's Reafons againft the Divorce

3*9
King James anfwers them 321
Sentence given for the Divorce 323
Five of the Delegates diffent from the Sentence

3 24
HOWARD, Philip. ^Arundel, Earl of.

HOWE, James V. 287. See Kidd, & al.

HURLY, Patrick, his Trial at the King's-Bench

in Ireland, for Perjury, and for a Confpiracy

to cheat the Popifh Inhabitants of the County

of Clare, &c. 31 May 1701. 13 Will. III.

V. 384
His Indiffment, for fwearing he was robb'd to a

confiderable Value ; when in truth he was not

ib.

The King's Counfel open the Evidence ib.

His Affidavit read 385
Evidence of his own Servants of the whole Con-

trivance 386
Evidence that he was very neceffitous, at the Time

he pretended to be robb'd to fo great a Value

39 2

His own Letters read to that Purpofe 393
Prov'd that the Guineas he pretended to be robb'd

of, were only Counters 3^5
The Prifoner's Defence by his Counfel 400
Some of his Servants calVd to prove it a real Rob-

bery 402
Endeavours to prove Subornation in the Profecu-

tors 405
Which is denied upon Oath 407
And their Teftimony confirmed by the Bench

408
The
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The Defendant's Witnejfes prov'd guilty of Per-

jury V. 410

Mr. Juftice Coote'j Charge to the Jury 412

The Prifoner found Guilty on both Indiilments

417
His Sentence 4 l8

HUTCHINSON, Charles, Efqy III. 949- See

Sacheverell, William.

JAMES, John, his Trial for High Treafon at

the King's-Bench Bar, Novemb. 19, 1662.

14 Car. II. II.470

The Indiblment, for treafonable Words delivered

in a Sermon at. a Meeting ib.

The Jury fwom, and charg'd with the Prifoner ;

the King's Counfel open the Indiblment, and the

Evidence 47 l

The Witnejfes call'd 47 2

The Evidence for the Prifoner 473
The Prifoner's Defence ib.

Reply of the King's Counfel 474
He is convicted 475
Application made for his Life to the King ib.

Judgment of High Treafon pafs'd upon him 476
His Behaviour at the Place of Execution ib.

JEKYLL, John III. 630. See Pilkington, &
al. '

JENKINS, William V. 287. See Kidd, & al.

JENKS, Francis III. 630. See Pilkington, &
al.

JESUIT. See Plot, Popifh.

IMAGINATION. See Treafon.

IMPEACHMENT.
Impeachments preferr'd by. the Attorney-General du-

ring the Rebellion II. 83,183,277,281,292
The fame Certainty not requifite in an Impeach-

ment as is required in an Indiblment II. 1 60
VI. 56

A Peer impeached of High Treafon generally fhall

not be committed II. 567
Whether a Pardon may be pleaded to an Impeach-

ment 739
Bifhops 'may vote in Impeachments in Capital

Cafes in all Matters previous to the Trial

742
Impeachments remain in the fame State at the

meeting of a new Parliament they were in at

the Dijfolution of the old Parliament II. 747
III. 204

The King may impeach II. 749
Members of either Houfe may be Witneffes on an

Impeachment III. 183, 189
One impeached for High Treafon indibled and

tried in the King's-Bench for the fame Fail

261
An Impeachment properly the King's Suit, and not

the Commons 2 53A Peer, impeached of High Crimes, fhall notJland
without the Bar at his Trial V. 364

The fame Evidence requir'd on Impeachments as in

other Trials 118, 127
The Commons infift, that where feveral are im~

peach'd, they may proceed to the Trial of which
they pleafe firfi ^Sl

The Lords infift of their Right of appointing the

Day of Trial, without any previous Intima-
tion from the Commons of their being ready

361
The Proclamation made in the King's Name on a

Trial by Impeachment 376

A Lord, impeached for High Crimes cannot be

precluded from voting in the Trial of another

V. 364
IMPLICATION. See Treafon.

IMPOSTOR V. 441,482,504
IMPRISONMENT. See Prifoner.

INCAPACITY. See Witnefs.

INDIA-COMPANY. See Piracy.

INDICTMENT.
Ifany one Overt-AH laid in the Indiblment be prov'd,

it maintains the Indiblment II. 314. IV. 722
One cannot be convibled of Treafon where the

Treafon is not formally laid in the Indiblment,

though the Crimes therein fpecified amount to

Treafon I[. g 8

Overt-Ails, committed in other Counties than that

where the Indiblment is found, may be given
in Evidence gjo

Indiblment for a Mifdemeanour in defamhg the

King's Witnejfes ; held, if any one of the Fails

laid in the Indiblment was prov'd, the Defen-
dants might be found guilty generally 99 1

One impeached for High Treafon indibled for the

fame Fabl III. ?6i
An Indiblment for Treafon or Felony generally,

without fpecifying the Overt -Ails, is not good

234. V. 21

If one be acquitted on a faulty Indiblment, he may
be indibled and tried again for the fame Fabl

III. 255
Auter Foitz arraign''d, no Bar to an Indiblment

for the fame Fabl 252, 289
One may be indibled and try'd here for Treafon

committed in Ireland 293
Fails may be proved to be done either before or af-

ter the Time laid in the Indiblment 394
The Indiblment interpreted to alien Prifoners in

their own Language 467
Where the Prifoner apprehends the Indiblment to

be vicious, he muft either plead fpecially, or

demur to it before he pleads the general ljfue

795> 796
Words permitted to be prov'd that were not laid

in the Indiblment 1010
If a Man commit Treajon in feveral Counties, he

may be indibled in any of them ; and the Fails

committed in every County may be given in Evi-
dence IV. 640

The Grand Jury need notfind according to the Bill

prefented them ; but may prefent the bare

Matter of Fabl to the Court, who will put it

into Form : and there needs no Billa Vera to be

indors'd ; for that fignifies no more than own-
ing what the Court has drawn up 670

If one pleads to an Indiblment, whereof he has a
Copy given him, according to the late Ail, he

admits it to be a true Copy 668
No Exceptions can be taken to an Indiblment af-

. ter a Jury fwom, by virtue of the late Ail

677
The Omijfion of the Words, Contra fupremum na-

turalem Ligeum Dominum fuum, in an In-

. ditlment againji a Native, adjudg'd not fuffi-

cient to vitiate the Indiblment 700
An Alien and a Native to be indibled in a diffe-

rent Form V. 527
Exceptions muft be taken to the Indiilment before

Plea pleaded 18
The particular Words, on which a Criminal is

profecuted, muft be laid in the Indiblment ; not

fo in an Impeachment 828
Though
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Though the Prifoner by the Acl to regulate Trials

v for High Treafon, has a Right to a Copy of
his Indiclment, he cannot demand to infpetl the

reft of the Record, or to have it read to hint

VI. 324
INFORMATION. See Indiclment.

INN UENDO'S.
The Doclrine of Innuendo's learnedly debated, and

at large III. 1053, & feqq.

INSURRECTION. See Treafon.

INTENDMENTS. See Treafon.

INTERPRETER. See Trial.

JOHNSON, alias Kelly, George VI. 335. See

Atterbury, Bp.

JONES, David III. 52. See Grey, Lord, & al.

JONES, Edward I. 116. See Abington, &al.
JONES, Francis III. 52
JONES, John II. 339. See Regicides.

JONES, Rebecca. III. 52
IRELAND, William, Thomas Pickering, John

Grove, Thomas White, alias Whitebread,

and John Fenwick, their Trialfor High Trea-

fon, 30 Car. II. 1678. II. 696
The Indiclment, for being concern'd in the Popifh

Plot 697
Mr. Serj. BaldwynV Speech before Evidence 699
Mr. Finch'j Speech before Evidence 700
OatesV Evidence of the Popifh Plot 70

1

The Confpiracy carried on in Scotland 703
Oates fwears he took the Sacrament, and an Oath

of Secrecy to conceal the Plot 705
Southwark fird by Grove 707

Oates order'd fome Refrefhment by the Court 708
Bedloe'j Evidence of the Popifh Plot ib.

Some Noblemen to be affaffinated as well as the

King jn
Oates gives further Evidence of the Confpiracy in

Ireland ib.

James Bedloe'j Evidence of his Brother's being

employed by the Jefuits 712
A Letter read in Evidence that was not written

either by or to any of the Prifoners 714
The Jury are told, it was read as Evidence only of

the Plot in general, and not againft any of the

Prifoners in particular ib«

The Letter is a Summons to appear at the Confult

ib.

The Jury are difcharg'd of Fenwick and White-
bread, there not being fufficient Evidence a-

gainfi them 715
This Proceeding cenfur'd IV. 673
Ireland'j Defence II. 715
Sarah Pained Evidence that Ireland was in Lon-

don in Auguft ib.

Ireland calls his Witneffes to prove he was out of
Town in Auguft 716

Sir John Southcot's Coachman depofes that Ireland

went down into Staffbrdihire, the 5th of Au-
guft, with his Mcfter 717

Ireland complains he was not allowed to fend for
his Witneffes ib.

Mr. Gifford depofes he faw Ireland at Wolver-
hampton the latter end of Auguft, or begin-

ning of September ib.

Sir Denny Afhburnham depofes that Oates had an
ill Charabler for Lying, in his Youth 7 1

8

Ireland offers to prove he had more Witneffes, but

'twas not admitted ib.

Pickering and Grove deny the whole, and com-

plain they had not Time to fend for their Wit-

neffes 7 1

9

Vol. VI.

The Prifoners offer to prove that their Relations
hadfuffer'd much in the King's Service II. 719

The Chief Juftice diretls the Jury ji£
He inveighs againft the Jefuits Principles 721
The Prifoners are convicled

y 2 2
Sir George Jefferies, Recorder, his Speech before

Judgment
j 2

~

Sentence pafs'd 72f
They are executed ib -72 s

IRELAND. See Trial.
' 9

IRONS. &* Prifoner.

JUDGES.
Judges ought not to go according to their private'

Knowledge V q6JUDGMENT.
Judgment pronounced on the Lord Bacon by the

Houfe of Lords in his Abfence, upon his Repre-
fentation that he was fick, and not able to at-
tend

1. 3 g 7No Judgment given the fame Term the Trial was,
becaufe there were not four Days of the Term
remaining Hi. 5U

No Judgment to be pronounc'd after an Outlawry
for High Treafon ; but only a Rule for Execu-
tion Q44A Week's time given a Defendant convicled of
Perjury to move in Arreft of Judgment IV. 943

Tis in the Difcretion of the Court to pafs what
Judgment they pleafe on one convicled of Per-
jury, faving Life and Member 104

Where an Indiclment is remov'd into the King's
Bench, Judgment out not to be given till four
Days after Convitlion j // there be fo manyDays
remaining in the Term IV. 779

The contrary Proceeding, in StayleyV Cafe, cen-

fur'd ib.

JURISDICTION.
A Plea to the Jurifdiclion, the Party ought to be

ready to maintain it prefently IV. 214
Whoever executes the Judgment of a Court in a 1

Caufe where the Court has no Jurifdiclion, is

punifhable II. 328
The Courts of Weftminfter may judge of Privi-

lege of Parliament, where it is incident to a
Suit the Court is poffefs'd of; but not of aMat-
ter arifing originally in Parliament II. 620

A Court cannot bail, where they have not Jurif-
diclion of the Caufe ib.

JURORS, MiJURY. See Grand Jury.

A Jury imprifon'd and fin'd for giving a Verdicl

contrary to the Opinion of the Court I. 78
Twenty four only return'd upon a Pannel to try a

Cafe of High Treafon 182

By a general Verdicl a Jury take upon them the

matter ofLaw as well as matter of Fail. II. 69
A Printer try'd for High Treafon in printing, is

allow'd to have half his Jury of Bookfellers of

Printers 530
The fame Jury fworn and charg'd with the Pri-

foners again 537
A Juryman fuffer'd to whifper the Judge in open

Court 553
A Juryman threatned, for faying he could not in

Confcience find the Prifoner Guilty ib.

Jurors fin'd for going contrary to Evidence, and

fent to Newgate 616
This Proceeding afterwards adjudged illegal ib.

Jurors difcharg'd of Prifoners after the Evidence

given for the King, without giving a Verdicl

. , 7 ! 5
This Proceeding condemn'

d

IV. 673.

* I Jury-
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Jurytnan-> who knows any thing of the Caufe, jhall

give his Evidence in Court II. 809

Jury can take no Papers out of Court with them

that have been produc'd in Evidence, but what

are under Seal II. 828. III. 100. IV. 396.

One attained of Felony and pardon d, cannot be of

a Jury III. 44
When one may be a Witnefs, who cannot be of a

Jury 45
In Capital Offences, a Jury Jhall not be Jlruck, as

in Civil Caufes 262

If one fuperannuated appears on a Jury, when he

is warn'd he muft ferve ; but he might have had

a Writ of Privilege to difcharge him III. 264

A Juror challenged for the King, becaufe he gave

his Dogs the Names of the King's Witneffes,

Oates and Bedloe III. 3 1

7

'The Jury allow'd Refrefhment before they gave

their Verditl in a Capital Cafe III. 408

In a Criminal Cafe IV. 65, 396

Refrefhment refused the Jury II. 80

The Evidence interpreted to the Aliens on a Party

Jury HI- 47 2

Juror fet afide for Want of Freehold III. 5 1

9

IV. 423, 602, 741

Challenge to a Juror for Want of Freehold in the

City, difallow'd in a Capital Cafe III. 711, 820

No Challenge to the Favour againft the King ; as to

fay, the Juror is a Servant or Dependant of the

King's
' HI- 825

A Jury (whether of Peers or Commons) ought not

to be difcharg'd in a Capital Cafe, till they have

given their Verditl IV. 232

He is convicled of all the Paragraphs, laid in the

Indictment, but one, which was wrong recited

**• 533
Sentenced to ftand in the Pillory threefeveral Days

;

and fin'd 20 1. ib.

KEIGLE, Henry V. 872. See Greeny Thomasj
& al.

KELLY, alias Johnfon, George VI. 335. See

Atterbury, Bp.

KENDALL, Thomas, and Richard Roe, pro-
ceedings in the King's-Bench, on a Habeas
Corpus upon a Commitment for High Ireafon,

7G11I. III. 1695 IV 554
The Warrant of Commitment for being ajfifting to

the Efcape of Sir James Montgomery out of
the Cuftody of a Meffenger ib.

Sir Bartholomew Shower moves, that the Prifo-

ners' may be bailed ib.

Holds that a Commitment by a Secretary of Slate

is illegal, and was never practised in England
till 1678. 555*557

That the Fail charg'd in the Warrant is not High
Treafon $55

That a Meffenger is not impower'd by haw to de-

tain a Man in Cuftody $$6, 560
And therefore it is no Crime to efcape from him

556
The King's Counfel dejire Time to reply 557
Sir Bartholomew Shower\r fecond Argument ib.

The Opinion of the Court 561
KENMURE, William Lord Vifcount. See Der-

wentwater, James Earl of VI. 1

KENN, Dr. Thomas, Bijhop of Bath and Wells,

his Trial, for publifloing a Libel IV. 304

Jurors difcharg'd in a Capital Cafe for want of KERNE, Charles, his Trial for High Treafon at

Freehold 423

Copy of the Pannel a Favour•, and not the Pri-

foner's Right 5^6

Six Days between the Precept for Summoning the

Petit Jury and the Return 662

If the Prifoner hath a Copy of the Pannel before

it be return'd, the Intent of the late Atl is fa-

tisfied 66

7

What ^ueftions a Jurorfhall anfwer 748

The Pannel call'd over, in Prefence of the Prifo-

ner, before they are brought to the Book VI. 246

Two Perfons challeng'd for Caufe 248
JUSTICES.

Juftices of the Peace., whether they may examine

the King's Evidence after the Coroner IV. 530

Hereford Affixes

31 Car. II.

the 4th of Auguft

K
K.

EACH, Benjamin, his Trial at the Affixes

at Ailefbury in Com' Bucks, the 8th and
yth of October, 1664. 16 Car. II. before the

Lord Chief Juftice Hyde II. 550
The Inditlment, for writing and publifhing a fe-

ditious and fcandalous Book, entitled, The
Child's Inftructor, againft Infant- Baptifm, &c.

ib.

The Witneffes for the King call'd 551
The Prifoner's Examination before the Juftice read

as Evidence againft him 552
His Opinion compar'd with the Book of Common

Prayer ib.

One of his Jury permitted to whifper with the

Judge in Court §53
Another menac'd, in cafe he did not agree with

the reft ib.

1679.
II. 961

The Inditlment, for High Treafon in taking Po-

pifh Orders, and coming into England, being a

Subjeel of this Crown ib.

Evidence that the Prifoner adminiftcr'd the Sa-

crament after the Manner of the Papifts 962
The Wilnefjes being confronted, contraditl one an-

other 963
• The Prifoner calls his Witneffes ib.

A Prieft faying Mafs, Evidence of his being in

Orders 964
The Chief Juftice diretls the Jury ib.

The Prifoner is acquitted 965
KEY, Robert III. 630. ,9^Pilkington, & al.

KEYES, Robert. See Winter,' Robert, & al.

I. 232
KEYES, Thomas IV. 562. See Charnock, Ro-

bert.

KIDD, Captain William, his Trial for Murder
and Piracy, upon fix feveral Inditlments : as

alfo the Trial of Nicholas Churchill, James
Howe, Robert Lamley, William Jenkins, Ga-
briel Loff, Hugh Parrot, Richard Barlicorn,

Abel Owens, and Darby Mullins, for Piracy,

at the Admiralty-Seffions held at the Old Bailey,

London, the %th and yth of May, 1701.

13 Will. III. V. 287
The firft Inditlment againft William Kidd, for

the Murder of William Moore, his Gunner

289
Counfel affign'd Captain Kidd ib.

The Court order him part of his Money and Ef-

fetls for his Subfiftence, &c. 290
Kidd'j Trial for the Murder comes on ib.

The Witneffes for the King call'd to prove the

Murder ib.

KiddV
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Kidd'j Defence ." V. 292
Kidd calls feveral of his Accomplices in Piracy,

who are admitted tv be Witneffes for him in

this Cafe ib.

The Lord Chief Baron Ward direfts the Jury,
and intimates, that the Provocation given by

the Deceased was too flight to extenuate the

Crime, and reduce it to Manflaughter 294
Kidd is convitled of Murder 296
Kidd, and the other Prifoners, the Inditlment of

them for Piracy, in taking the Qucdah-Mer-
chant in the Indian Seas 297

Their Trial comes on ib.

Churchill and fome of the Prifoners defire the

Benefit of the King's Proclamation, on which
they furrender'

d

ib.

They are told that they did not furrender to the

Perfons the Proclamation direcled ; and there-

fore the Trial muft proceed 298
The King's Counfl, Dr. Newton, opens the In-

ditlment and the Evidence 299
The King's Witneffes call'd to prove this Piracy

300
Kidd'.f Commiffion to make Reprifals on /i><? French,

read 307
Kidd'j Commiffion for cruifing againfi the Pirates

308
Kidd'J Defence 309
Col. Bafs, Governor of Weft-Jerfey, depofes, that

Nicholas Churchill and James Howe, two of
the Prifoners, furrender'd to him the 4th of

June, 1699 310
Lamley and Jenkins in their Defence fay, they

were Servants on board Kidd'j Ship ib.

Loffe in his Defence fays, he was under Kidd'j

Commard 311
Parrot'.? Defence ib.

Barlicorn'j Defence ib.

Mullin'j Defence ib.

Kidd calls Witneffes to his Reputation 3 1

2

The Lord Chief Baron Ward direcls the Jury ib.

As to thofe three Prifoners who appear to be Ser-

vants, he tells the Jury there muft be a Freedom

of Choice to determine one a Pirate or a Felon

:

but if a Servant go voluntarily with a Pirate,

and accepts his Share of the Booty, he was to

b accounted a Pirate 314
Thai as to thofe who furrender'd on the Proclama-

tion, they had not made out that they furren-

der d on the Terms the Proclamation requird

As to their Pretence, who would juftify them]elves

as being under Captain Kidd'j Command, that

w s no Excufe for affifting him in fuch Enter-

prizes as they knew to be unlawful; efpecially

having been Partakers of the Spoil ib.

Kidd, L-hurchill, Howe, JLoffe, Parrot, Owens,

and Mullins, convitled ; Lamley, Jenkins,

and Barlicorn acquitted ib.

A fecond Inditlment againft Kidd and the other

nine Prifoners, for piratically robbing « Moorifh

Ship in the Indian Seas 3 1

6

A third Inditlment againft them all, for piratical-

ly taking a Moorifh Ketch in the Indian Seas

ib.

A fourth Inditlment againft them all, for pirati-

cally taking another Moorifh Ship ib.

The fifth Inditlment, for piratically robbing a

Portuguefe Ship in the Indian Seas 3 1 7

The Trial of all the Prifoners upon the fecona and

third Indictment begins 3 1

8

There being a new Jury, the Court diretl the King''s

Counfel to open the Evidence again V. 3 1

8

The King's Witneffes call'

d

gig
The Prifoner's Defence, as to thefe two Inditl-

ments o 2 c
Mr. Juftice Turton direcls the Jury 327
He tells them, that Lamley, Jenkins, and Bar-

licorn being Servants, ought to be diftinguifti

d

from the reft ; for though they had their Shares

of the Spoil, yet it was to be prefum'd they

were to be accomptable to their Mafters on
board -> 2 8

Lamley, Jenkins, and Barlicorn acquitted; the

others convitled 33.0
The Trial of the Prifoners on the two laft Inditl-

ments ib.

Churchill, Howe, and Owens retrabl their Plea,

and plead Guilty 2 3 r

The other feven put themfelves upon their Trial

33°
The King's Witneffes call'd ib.

Mr. Juftice Turton direcls the Jury ^35
Lamley, Jenkins, and Barlicorn (the Servants) are

acquitted 337
Kidd and the other three are convitled on the laft

Inditlment ib.

Robert Culliford, Nicholas Churchill, Darby
Mullins, and John Eldridge, arraignedfor pi-
ratically taking The Royal Merchant in the

Indian Seas, having pleaded Not Guilty, (all

but Eldridge) afterwards retratl their Plea,

and plead Guilty ib.

Eldridge convitled ib.

Sentence pafs'd on Kidd, Churchill, Howe, Loffe,

Parrot, Owens, Mullins, Hickman, and El-

dridge 338
KING.

He is King to all Intents before his Coronation, on

the Demife of his Predeceffor ; and one may be

attainted of Treafon committed againft fuch a
King I. 2 1

4

The People colletlively or reprefentaiively have no

coercive Power over the Perfon of the King

II. 305
One convitled of Treafon againft a King out of Pof-

feffion of the Throne, and out of the Realm
II. 450, 453

The King cannot difpenfe with the Laws IV. 3 69
KING Charles I. his Trial in January, the i^th of

his Reign, Ann. Dom. 1648 I. 986
The Atl for erecling the High Court of Juftice

1009
The firft meeting of the Commiffioners 1010
Proclamation made, by Sound of Trumpet, of the

holding the Court, in order to the King's Trial

1011

Counfel appointedfor the Commonwealth ib.

Bradlhaw chofen Prejident ib.

Order'd to be ftyl'd Lord Prefident 1012

Some Matters order'd, preparatory to the Trial

ib.

A Search made under the Painted Chamber, to

fr<vent their being blown up 1 o 1

3

Order'd, that the King be at Sir Robert Cotton'*

Houfe during the 1 rial 10 14
A Table appointed for the King, and another for

the Prefident ib.

The Sword of State carried before the Prefident

1016

Affiftants to the Drefidcnt ib.

1 he Court fit, in order to the Trial ib.

The
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The King is brought to the Bar I. 1017
'The Charge read 10 18

-The King demands by what Authority he was
brought thither; and refufes to acknowledge

their Jurifdiclion 1 o 1

9

He is remanded into Cujlody ib.

'The King brought to the Bar again, and offers to

give Reafons againji their Jurifdiclion 1022

Which they refufe to hear ib.

What he defign'd to have fpoke, if he had been

permitted 1023

He is interrupted ib.

The King a third Time brought to the Bar 1024

Refufes to own their Authority 1026
His Contempt recorded a third Time 1027
The Wilneffes examined by a Committee ib.

The Dean of Weflminfter'j Houfe furnifhed for

the Prefident 1028

The Witmffes attend their Depofitions in Court

ib.

The Evidence againft the King ib.

Hofiilities begun between the King and Parliament

1029
The King's Standard fet up at Nottingham ib.

War proclaim'd againft the Parliament, and the

Earl of Effex and Lord Brook proclaim'd

Traitors ib.

Evidence of the King's being at Edge-Hill ib.

Evidence of the King's drawing up his Army him-

fdf ib.

Of the Manner of erecling the King's Standard at

Nottingham ib.

The Standard taken, and retaken, at Edge-Hill

ib.

Evidence of the King's rallying his Forces, and

makifig them ftand, after they were routed ib.

The King rides from Regiment to Regiment\ at the

Fight at Newbury 103

1

Evidence of fame Tranfaclions between the King

and fome of his pretended Friends^ during the

Treaty in the Iile of Wight 1032
The Independents betray the King's Offers to them

io33
Letters produc'd in Evidence ; but not publifh d

in the Trial ib.

Some Refolutions previous to the Sentence ib.

The King brought to the Bar again, to receive Sen-

tence I035i 1Q37
The Prefident's Speech before the Sentence : He is

interrupted by a Lady 103 8

The King permitted to fpeak before the Sentence ib.

Defires to be heard before .the Lords and Commons

ib.

Downes, one of the Members of the Court, ex-

preffes fome Reluclance i°39
The King is denied a Hearing before the Lords

and Commons ib.

Conjures them to confider of his Requeft once again ;

which they refufe 1040
The Prefident advifes his Majefty to be penitent,

and prays for his Soul ib.

The Sentence ib.

The whole Court rife up to exprefs their Affent

ib.

They refufe to hear him fpeak after Sentence 104

1

Some Indignity offered to his Majefty by the Sol-

diers ib.

He is permitted to fee his Children ib,

And Bifljop Juxon, who preaches before him ib.

The Warrant for the King's Execution ib.

Some Diffenting Minifters ordered to attend the

King in his laft Moments ; but he refufes to be
troubled with them I. 1042

His Dying Speech ib.

And Behaviour on the Scaffold 1043
The King is beheaded 1044

The Account of this Trial, publifh'd by the Au-
thority of that Time g g 6

The President's Speech to the King. ib.

The King qu eftions their Authority 987
The Prefident's Anfwer ib.

The fecond Day's Proceedings ib.

The Prefident infifts upon the Authority of the
Commons of England 088

The third Day's Proceedmgs a%n
The fourth Day g q t

The King defires to be heard before the Lords and
Commons gg 2

Upon which the Court withdraw ib.

And over-rule his Motion ib.

The Prefident's Speech before Sentence ib.

Mr. Solicitor Cook'j Speech, which he intended
to have deliver'd at the Trials if the King had
pleaded ggy

He infifts that England is a limited Monarchy,
where the King can take nothing from the Sub-
jecl, without his Confent ib.

That the King can only employ his Power for the
Good of the People gng

That alljuft Power is deriv'dfrom the People ib.

Conqueft and a long Defcent can give no Title ib.

That the Oaths of Allegiance and Supremacy are
not unconditionally binding to the Subjecl

'
ib.

Abfolute Monarchs permitted by Providence, as the

Plague ; but 'twas lawful for their Subjecls to
break their Toke ib.

Charges the King, as an Accomplice with the Duke
of Buckingham, in poifoning his Father, King
James ggg

With levying Ship-money, under a Pretence of Ne-
ceffity ib.

He holds that the King is anfwerable, as well as
his Minifters, for Mal-adminiftration 1000

Charges the King, as the Author of the Scotch
War ib.

And the Maffacre in Ireland ib.

And of a Civil Warjn England ib.

Holds, that the Kin\ has no Right to command the

Militia !ooi
Or to diffolve Parliaments •, or to refufe his Affent

to Bills ib.

Denies that he has a Power of making new Lordsy

or new Corporations ib.

Or a Power of pardoning Offenders, or fufpend-

ing Executions ib.

Or a Power of raifing or lowering the Coin ib.

Or of avoiding his Grants ib.

And fays, that, if the King has thefe Prerogatives,

he is an abfolute Tyrant ; and this the worfb

Tyranny, as being eftablifli'd by a Law 1002
But that indeed his Prerogatives did not extend

much beyond the Privileges of the meaneft Sub-

jecl ib.

He holds that Pofteffion gives no Title ; Right
can never die ib.

Tivo Supreme Pozvers, or two co-ordinate Powers,

cannot be in one Nation ib.

The People may take Meafures for their Defence

without the King, if he refufes to concur with

them -

f
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them ; and they are Judges what tends to their

Advantage or Deftruclion I. iooi

'That it was agreeable to the Fundamental Confti-

tution of all Kingdoms, that, where the King
becomes a Tyrant, he fhould die for it 1003

The People his Majefty's Liege Lords ib.

Treafon, to fet up his Standard againft his Dread
Sovereign the People ib.

The King charged with betraying Rochel, and the

French Proteftants 1006
The King ofgreat Learning and Dexterity in State

Affairs, and to be feduc'd by evil Counfel

1007
Says, the innocent Blood of three Kingdoms de-

manded Jufiice againft him ib.

Tie is troubled for the King's eternal Condition ;

and praysfor the poor Wretch 1 00 8

Is concern'd that the Cavaliers behave themfelves

fo bravely at their Execution ib.

Says, God had afforded him great Affiftance in the

Management of this Profecution againft his

Majefty ib.

That the Vices of all Tyrants center'd in his Ma-
jefty ib.

And therefore he demands their Juftice ib.

That other Kings might hear, and fear, Sec. 1009
KING, Edward IV. 562. See Chamock, & al.

KIRKBY, Colonel Richard, John Conftable,

Cooper Wade, Samuel Vincent, and Chrif-

topher Fogg, Sea-Captains, their Trial for

Cowardice, at a Court-Martial held on board

the Bredah in Port-Royal Harbour in Jamaica,

in America, the 8, 9, 10, and 12 Days of
October, 1702, 1 Anns V. 445

'The Charge and Evidence againft Kirkby ib.

He is convicled, and fentenc'd to befhot 447
Captain Conftable convicled of Breach of Orders,

&c. and fentenc'd to be cajhier'd ib. 448
Captain Wade convicled of Cowardice ; and fen-

tenc''d to be fhot 448
Capt. Vincent and Copt. Fogg try'd for figning

a Paper againft fighting ; and fentenc'd to be

fufpended ib.

KITCHEN, George V. 572. See Green, Tho-
mas, & al.

KNIGHTLEY, Alexander, his Trial for High

Treafon, 30th of April, 1696, 8 Will. III.

IV. yyy
The Indiclment remov'd by Certiorari into the

King's-Bench ib.

The Overl-Acls laid in the Indiclment, the con-

futing and agreeing to affaffinate his Majefty,

andproviding Arms, &c. for that Purpofe 778

And going to view the Ground where the Affaffina-

tion was intended ib.

A Venire iffued for the Jury, as in Civil Caufes

;

and fifteen Days between the Tefte and Return

ib.

The Prifoner retracls his Plea of Not Guilty, and

pleads Guilty 779
Mr. Attorney-General demands Judgment the fame

Day jb.

Which is denied by the Court, as irregular ib.

A Cenfure of Stayley 's Cafe ib.

Lord Chief Juftice Holt'j Speech before Judgment

ib.

The Prifoner receives Sentence the loft Day of the

Term '

7 8°

KNOX, Thomas, and John Lane, their Trial for

a Mifdemeanour, at the King's Bench Bar, the

zcthof November, 1679, 31 Car. II. II.970

Vol. VI.

The Indiclment, for endeavouring to defame bates
and Bedloe, the King's Witneffes ; and thereby

toftifle and obftrucl the Difcovtry of the Popifh
Plot II. 9,70

Evidence that Lane faid he was feduc'd by Knox
to betray his Mafter Titus Oates 975

Evidence that the Lady Powis fupported Knox
with Money 985

Knox's Information read againft him 986
The Defence made by Mr. Knox'J Counfel 987
That Knox was not in the Contrivance ; but that

the Information was brought him by Lane and
Ofborne ib.

The Defence made by Mr. Holt, of Counfel with
Lane 900

The Defendants convicled 992
Their Sentence ib,

L.

LAKE, Dr. John, Bifhop of Chichefter, tried

for publifhing a Libel IV. 304
Lamley, Robert V. 287. See Kidd, & al

Lane, John II. 970. See Knox.
LANGHORNE, Richard, Efa; his Trial at the

Old Bailey for High Treafon, June 14, 1679
3 1 Car. II. II.878

The Indiclment ib.

The Overt-acls, writing Letters tofolicitAid from
the Pope, &c. andfending them 879

Receiving Commiffions for civil and military Offi-

cers from Rome, and diftributing them ib.

Confenting to theJefu.its Confpiracy to kill the King,

andprocuring 6000 1. ofthe Benedictine Monks
for that purpofe ib.

And abetting Coleman'* Confpiracy ib.

Evidence of the Plot in general 8 8 r

Hear-fay Evidence admitted ib.

Oates'* Evidence offome Letters Mr. Langhorne

fent to St. Omers 882

Of his acquainting him with what pafs'd at the

Confulti and his praying for the Succefs of it

ib.

Of the Commiffions received from Rome 883
Bedloe complains that a Papifi took Notes in Court

887
Oates depofes, 800,000 Crowns were rais'd at

Rome for carrying on the Popifh Plot, and

Mr. Langhorne had Notice of its being paid at

Paris 890
Mr. Langhorne objecls, that an Approver being

pardon'd,, could not be a Witnefs againft the

Appellee ; and thefame Reafon holds as to an-

other Accomplice in the Crime 89

1

The Court over-rule the Objeclion ; and add, that

the Witneffes being maintained by the Govern-

ment is no Objeclion to their Teftimony ib.

Oates complains to the Court, that Papifts came

into Court with their Swords on 892

The Prifoner produces many Witneffes to prove

Oates was at St. Omers when he pretended to

be here at the Confult ib.

The Prifoner is not admitted to prove what the

Witneffes fwore againft him at another Trial

899
The Witneffes who appearfor the Prifoner, abus'd

by the Mob ib.

The Chief Juftice admits that a Witnefs may be

confronted by another, to prove what the Wit-

nefs fwore at another Trial, relating to the Pri-

foner, was falfe 9°°
• K Oates
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Oates acknowledges he conceals Part of his Evi-

dence, though [worn to fpeak the whole Truth

II. 901

Bedloe takes the Liberty of concealing Part of his

Evidence too 902
The King's Counfel callWitneffes to prove Oates in

London at the Confult ib.

The Prifoner calls other Witneffes to contraditl

them 90s
Mr. Langhorne'.; Obfervations on the Evidence

906
The Chiefjufticts DireRions to the Jury ib.

He tells them that Papifts were not to be believ'd

in their common Caufe 907
Charges them with moft pernicious Principles, and

inveighs againft them ib.

His Lordjhip has ftrong Apprehenfions of the Plot

908

Speaks of a Letter that was found, which, he

fays, was an undeniable Evidence of the Plot

909
The Prifoner fhews that was no Evidence at all

of it ib.

The Prifoner convicled 5 and- the Recorder com-

mends the Verditl 910
The five Jefuits are brought to the Bar again ;

and Mr. Recorder makes a Speech ib.

He pronounces Sentence on Mr. Langhorne and

the five Jefuits 911

The Dying Speeches of Langhorne, Whitebread,

Harcourt, Fenwick, Gavan, and Turner

912, & feqq.

LATIMER, Richard II. 585. See MeiTenger,

& al.

LAUD, William, LordArchbijhop ofCanterbury,

his Trial, March 12, 1643, 19 Car. I. I.824

Mr. Harbottle Grimfton'j Speech againft him in

the Houfe of Commons ib.

His Grace impeached of High Treafon generally

He is committed to the Black Rod ib.

Mr. Pym'j Speech at delivering the Articles 826
Hii Grace's Speech upon bringing up the Articles

828

Fourteen general Articles exhibited againft his

Grace ib.

He is committed to the Tower 830
Two Ordinances, depriving him, before his Trial,

of the Power of difpojing of Preferments ib.

Ten additional Articles exhibited againft him, three

Tears after his Commitment 831
Counfel and a Solicitor allow'd his Grace 833
He petitions, that they would diftinguifh between

what was Treafon and what was Mifdetneanour

8.34

But to no Effeil ib.

His Grace' s Anfwer 835
The Trial appointed the 16th Day of January

836
No Anfwer being put in to the firft Articles, the

Trial is put off
")• ib.

Mr. Maynard'j Speech on that Occafion ib.

His Grace s Anfwer to the firft and farther Arti-

cles fe\ 837
He receives Notice of Trial again 838
The Names of the Managers for the Houfe ofCom-

mons ib.

The Method obferv'd at the Trial *A ib.

The Trial begins 839
Serjeant Wilde'j Speech at opening the Charge

840
His Grace regies to Serjeant Wilde 842

His Grace is charg'd with advifing the King to

ufe extraordinary Ways for a Supply \, 8a(j
And faying the King might ufe his Power ib.

And afferting the Legality of Ship Money, &c.

847
Afferting Proclamations to be of equal Force with

a Statute g.g
Advancing the Prerogative above the Law 849
Charg'd with faying, he hop'd to fee the Canons

and the King's Prerogative equal to an AR of
Parliament j^

The Ordinaries Power over School-Mafters ib.

Where a Canon will not be of force againft a Cuf-
tom

ib<

Charg'd with preferring Dr. Manwaring 8 rQ
Refufmg to confecrate one eletled Bijhop, a Prae-

munire fo
Charged with granting Subfidies in the Convoca-

tion 85I
The Clergy had a Power ofgranting their own Sub-

fidies
ib>

Laud charg'd with pulling down the Houfes about
St. Paul's, to repair the Church 852

Whether it be lawful to build on confecrated
Ground ? g r ,

Charg'd with compelling the Goldfmiths to inhabit
either in Cheapfide or Lombard-ftreet ib.

The Oath ex officio us'd in the High-Commiffion^
Court g55

Charg'd with being the Caufe of the Cenfure of
Burton, Prynne, and Baftwick 856

With adminiftring the Sacrament at the Rails 860
Charge about placing the Communion-Table 861
Charg'd with profecuting Bagfhaw of the Tem-

ple, for faying Bifhops ought not to meddle1 in
Civil Affairs 864.

With countenancing Wakes, &c. ib.

With threatning thofe who brought Prohibitions

865
With accepting Bribes 867
His Grace brought to the Houfe, and remanded

without any thing done ; complains of the Charge
he is put to 870

Charg'd with making Canons, after the Diffolution

of the Parliament jb.

The Convocation Jit, after the Diffolution of the
Parliament ib.

The Lords did not permit his Grace to fhew that
the Canons were agreeable to Law 871

Charg'd with affuming Papal Power ib.

The Titles given him by the Univerfity of Oxford

i
ib*

Thk Title of Holinefs given to Primitive Bifhops

ib.

Charged that he would exempt the Clergy from the

Civil Power 872
Charg'd with making Ecclefiaftical Perfons Juftices

of Peace, &c. 8yg
Whether a Clergyman fhall be tax'd to contribute,

in cafe of a Robbery ? 874
Juftices ofPeace call'd before the High Commiffion

for holding their Seffions in the Church-yard 875
Charg'd with a Defign of reftoring Impropriations

to the Church 8yy
With adding feveral exorbitant Claufes to the High

Commiffion 878
His Grace petitions for an Allowance out of his

Eftate; but is denied 879
Charg'd with altering the Statutes of the Univer-

fity of Oxford ,880
With cenfuring Baflwick for writing againft:

Bifhops 882
Bifhops
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Bifiops derive their Power in Temporals from the

Prince, but in Matters purely Spiritual from
Chrijl I. 883

But may not exercife their Spiritual Power with-
out Leave of the Prince ib.

Charg'd with altering the Communion-Table, and
putting up painted Glafs in his Chapel ib.

Bowing towards the Altar 884
Organs, Candle/licks, &c. ib.

Confecrating the Communion-Plate 885
His Bible with thefive Wounds of our Saviour ib.

Prayers at Canonical Hours ib,

Piclures in his Gallery ib.

Apiece of Tapeftry, with a Crucifix wrought in

it, hung up for an Altar-piece 886
His Grace is allow'd 200 1. out of his Rents 887
The Piclures in the Windows of Lambeth-Chapel

ib.

The Ceremonies at the Coronation charg'd with Su-

perftition ib.

Charg'd with altering the Coronation-Oath ib.

The Virgin Mary'^ Piclure at St. Mary'j at Ox-
ford 890

Br. Brown'j kneeling before the Altar 893
The States and the King 0/Sweden pray'dfor be-

fore his Majefty 895
Sherfield cenfured for defacing a Church-Window

ib.

A Bible printed with Piclures ib.

His Grace is charg'd with expunging Paffages a-

gainfi Popery, out of Books 896
Charg'd with confecrating Churches 897
With publijhing the Book of Sports 899

i

The People allowed their Recreations at Geneva
on Sundays ib.

Minifters punifh'd for not reading the Book of
Sports ib.

Charg'd with introducing Arbitrary Power 901
Caufing Minifters to leave their Cures, and fly

beyond Sea, &c. ib.

Stopping Books at the Prefs, and expunging Paf-

fages out of them 902
Charg'd with altering Prayers on the $th of No-

vember 906
Leclures ib.

Charged with maintaining Tranfubftantiation 908
With licenfing Popifh and Arminian Books 909
That his Chaplains preach'd Arminian Doclrine

910
A Bible with a Popifh Table ib.

His Grace's Books given to Hugh Peters ib.

Charged with preferring only fuch as were popifhly

affecled ib.

That he hinder d the buying in Impropriations

9*3
Endeavouring to create a Divijtoa between the

Church of England and the Reform'd Churches

914
His Grace receives abufive Language at his Trial

9}5
Epifcopacy Jure Divino ib.

Charg'd with projecting to reconcile the Church

of England to the Church of Rome 916
And converfing with Jefuits, and harbouring them

ib.

Praying for the Queen and Prince 918, 919
A Cardinal's Cap offered him 921
That he denied the Pope to be Antichrift 922

And faid Rome was a true Church, &c. ib.

The Homilies don't make the Pope to be Antichrift

ib.

That he relieved Priefts I. 92 A,

Would not give the Papifts ill Language 926
Popiftj Books ib.

Charg'd w^th endeavouring to fubvert the Rights
of Parliament

g 2 y
Hopes and Fears concerning a Parliament 929
Anfwer to the Remonftrance 930
Earl of Strafford procures the Houfe of Commons

in Ireland to be chofen half Papifts and half
Prouftants

'

031
His Grace finds his Piclure fallen on the Face

93 2

His pretended Dream ib.

Is allow'd the Benefit of the Acl of Oblivion, as
to the Scotch Affairs 933

His Grace's Diary printed in Folio, and given
to each Lord ib.

His Recapitulation ib.

The Papers he had prepar'dfor his Defence taken

from him, and all Things neceffary for his De-
fence denied him ib.

The happy State of the Kingdom while his Grace
was concern'd in the Adminiftration 934

His beft Aclions made the Foundation of a Charge

of High Treafon ib.

Charg'd with the Alls of the refpetlive Courts

wherein he fat ib.

The Church is to determine what is true Doclrine%

and not the Parliament 935
If the Atlions themfelves are net Treafon, the Re-

fult of them cannot be Treafon 937
Mr. Browne fums up the Evidence, and makes his

Obfervations on it for the Commons ib.

His Grace's Counfel fh.ew that nothing charg'd in

the Articles amount to High Treafon 938
The Uncertainty what was Treafon at Common
Law ib.

The Statute of 25 Edw. III. to be taken ftricily

939
The Uncertainty of the Word Endeavour 940
The Words to go about, or attempt to do a

Thing, adjudg'd void in a Conveyance for the

Uncertainty ib.

Cardinal Wolfey adjudg'd guilty only of a Prse-

munire, for endeavouring to fubvert the Laws

941
His Grace's Counfelfhew that none of the Parti-

culars contain d in the Articles are Treafon ib.

The Number of Mifdemeanours cannot alter their

Nature 942
The Mob petition the Parliament for Juftice upon

his Grace, at the Inftigation of their Preachers

ib;

The Houfe of Commons command his Grace to be

brought before them ib.

Mr. Browne delivers a Summary of the Charge^

againft him there 943
His Grace is admitted to hear it ib.

His Grace feems to obje£i to his Accufers becoming

his Judges, and that without hearing the Evi-

dence againft him ib.

Mr. Browne replies 947
The Houfe of Commons pafs his Attainder ib.

The Commons threaten the Lords, to induce them

to pafs the Ordinance for his Attainder ib.

The Lords agree as to the Fail ; but the Judges

declare there was no Treafon in the Articles ib™

The Lords of Opinion there was no Treafon in

them ib.

Chriftmas-dtfy enjoin d to be kept as a Faft ib.-

The Lords pafs the Ordinance of Attainder 948
He
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He has a Pardon from the King ; which is re-

jected I. 948
'
Allow*d but one Chaplain to attend him ; and he

in the Presence of a Prefbyterian Teacher ib.

His Dying Speech on the Scaffold ib.

His Difcourfe with the Standers-by 949
He is beheaded ib.

LAYER, Chriftopher, Efq; his Trial at the King's

Bench Bar for High Treafon, 21 Nov. 1722.

9 Geor. I. VI. 229

The Indictment, for confpiring the Death of the

King, and to raife a Rebellion in the County of

Effex ib.

His Counfel move that his Fetters be taken off du-

ring his Arraignment, and alledge CranburneY

Cafe 231

Which is refus'd by the Court 232

Four Exceptions to the Inditlment ib.

All over-rul'd 237
His Plea of Mifnomer in Abatement ib.

Mr. Attorney-General demurs to it 238

The Prifoner's Counfel pray Time to confider of it

ib.

Which being over-rul'd, after a long Debate, he

withdraws his Plea, and pleads Not Guilty

242

The Trial begins 244
The Pannel caWd over in the Prefence of the Pri-

foner 246
Mov'd, that Mr. Attorney might challenge firft

;

but over-rul'd 247
Mr. Wearg opens the Inditlment 249
Mr. Serjeant Pengelly the Evidence ib.

Is feconded by Sir Robert Raymond, Attorney-

General 2 54
Mr. Lynch call'd '

' 257
The Prifoner's Counfel move to examine him on a

Voyer dire, whether he has a Pardon, or other

Reward, for giving his Evidence ib.

Which is denied by the Court, it not being fuffi-

cient to take off his Tejlimony, but only to leffen

his Credit 259
The Quejlion ajk'd him after he hadgiven his Evi-

dence, and denied by him 265
His Evidence that the Prifoner engaged him in

the Defign of the Infurretlion 260
And gave him Money to encourage him 262
That he carried him to view Lord Cadogan\j

Houfe, in order to contrive how to feize him

ib.

That he rode with him into Effex, and there read

to him a Declaration, exciting the Nation to

revolt 263
The Witnefs crofs-examin'd 265
Matthew Plunkett'j Evidence 266
He fwears that the Prifoner acquainted him with

the Defign, and engag'd him to corrupt the Ser-

jeants and common Soldiers 267
And gave him Money, to encourage him 268
He is crofs-examin'd by the Prifoner and his Coun-

fel 269
Evidence of two Meffengers, of the finding Pa-

pers in Mrs. Mafon 'j Lodging 270
Of Mrs. Mafon, that they were delivered to her

by the Prifoner 272
Evidence that the Scheme was written in the Pri-

foner's Hand 275
And own'd by him before the Council 276
The Prifoner's Counfel objetl to its being read ib.

The Scheme order'd to be read -

}
and read accord-

ingly 280

Receipts for Money, under the Pretender'.? Hand,
read VL 282

Evidence of his being examin'd before the Lords

of the Council 283
Several other Letters and Papers read 284, &

feqq.

Evidence offer'd to prove the Prifoner's csrre-

fponding with the Pretender 286
Which is objetled to by his Counfel, as beiti? a

Species of Treafon not laid in the Indictment ib.

Held, that it may be given to corroborate the Evi-

dence already given ; but not to "prove a nen$

Overt-Ail
'

287
Objected for the Prifoner, that the Examinatim

ought to be produe'd, and not Parole-Evidence

given of it ib.

Which is over-rid'

d

288
Mr. Stanyan gives an Account of what he fail

before the Council '

ib.

That the Prifoner own'd he had two Conferences

with the Pretender 287, 289
Mr. DelafayeV Evidence to the fame Purpofe

290
Evidence of Arms being found in the Prifoner's

Houfe ib.

Of his efcaping from the Meffenger's Cuftody 291
The Prifoner's Defence by his Counfel 292
The Prifoner's Counfel argue, that the Proof in

Effex does not amount to an Overt-Ail of Trea-_

fon ib.

Are directed to make all their Defence at ones

295
Mr. Hungerford'j Speech for the Prifoner ib.

Mr. Ketelbey'j Speech on the fame Side 296
'Witneffes called to impeach Lynch'.r Credit 297
N

Witneffes againft Plunkett 300
Againft Mafon 302
The Prifoner calls Witneffes to give an Account

how the Arms came to be found in his Houfe

3°4
And to prove that the Scheme was not of his Hand-

writing ib.

He concludes his Defence 305
Sir Philip York, Solicitor- General, his Reply 306
He maintains the Proof of an Overt-Ad in Effex

3*4
Witneffes call'dfor the King to Mr. Lynch's Cre-

dit 317
Lord Chief Juftice PrattV Directions to the Jury

The Prifoner convicted 322
He is calFd to Sentence 323
His Counfel move that the Venire he read ib.

Which is over-rul'd 325
Objected as an Error, that the Venire was made

returnable the 19th, and the Trial was not till

the 2 \fi of November ib.

Which is rul'd to be according to the Courfe of the

Court 328
Objected as a Fault in the Indictment, that the

Words of the Declaration were not fet forth ib.

Mr. Hungerford reprimanded 329
Adjudg'd by the Court, that if one Overt-Aid

holds, the Indictment is good ib.

The Refolution of all the Judges in Dr. Sacheve*

relPj Cafe, offer'd by the Prifoner's Counfel to

maintain their Objection 330
This Refolution cenfur'd as erroneous and againft

Law 2>i l

And the Prifoner's Objection over-rul'd ib.

The Prifoner receives Sentence 332
His
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His Execution VI. 332

LEEDS, Thomas, Duke of. See Danby Earl of
&V. 356, 383

LEWIS, David, his Trial for High Treafon, the

28th and 29th of March, 1679. 31 Car. II.

at Monmouth- Affixes II. 801
The Indictment , for accepting Popijh Orders ib.

Evidence of the Prifoner's faying Mafs, and per-

forming the other Functions of a Priefi ib.

Popijh Utenjils taken upon him 802

The Prifoner objetls the Fails laid in the IndiSl-

ment were not proved ib.

The Court anfwer, it was fufficient to fhew he ex-

ercis'd the Office of a Priefi ; and that it was
not neceffary to fhew how he was ordain'd ib.

The Prifoner is convitled 804
Sentence pafs'd ib.

His Speech at Execution ib.

LEWIS, James V. 1. See Dawfon.

LIBEL.
One inditled, and convicled of Felony, for libelling

and impugning the Queen's Authority in Caufes

Ecclefiaftical I. 168

Information in the Star-Chamber for libelling the

King and Court, &c. 418
One inditled of High Treafon, and three of a Mif-

demeanour, in libelling the Government II. 528
• Inditlment for publiftoing a Libel againft Infant-

Baptifm, &c. 550
Libelling the Government, or private Perfons, pu-

nifhable 1035
Writing falfe News, though it be neither feditious

nor fcandalous, punifhable II. 1040. III. $j,

Publifhing any News-Books without Licence, pu-

nifhable ; felling a Libel, a Publication of it

III. 92

The publifhing any thing refletling on the Govern'

ment, or a private Perfon, though it be true,

is a Libel -, and the Writer, or Publifher, fhall

be puniflj'd for it 96
One attainted of High Treafon for a treafonable

Libel 287
Indictment for a Mifdemeanour, in Writing and

Publifhing a Libel refletling on the Juftice of the

Nation 505
Inditlment for a treafonable Libel 794
Reflections on the Government, fent in a Letter by

the Poft to a private Friend, adjudged to be a

framing and publifoing a Libel 934
Where an Act is unlawful, it implies Malice 939
What fhall be deem'd a Libel or a Publication of

it. See the Seven Bifhops Trial IV. 304, &c.

The Petition of the City of London againft dif-

folving the Parliament, adjudg'd to be a Libel

39 2

One cannot be adjudged guilty of writing a Libel, un-

lefs it can be proved where he wrote it ; but

wherever he diretls it to be printed, that is a

Publication in that County V. 538
Tranfcribing a Libel makes one guilty of the Li-

bel 539
It may be a Libel, though no Perfon in particular

is reflected on 540
LICENCE.

A Subject of England may travel without Licence

II. 12

Going to France, and returning without Licence,

made High Treafon V. 506
LIGEANCE. See Allegiance.

LILBURNE, Lieutenant-Colonel John, his Trial

for High Treafon, by an extraordinary Comm f~

Vol. VI.

/ton ofOyer ^Terminer at Guild-Hail, Lon-
don, 24/^, 25th, and 26th of October, 1649

T ML n U" l9ijlburne fhews he was taken at Brentford, and
has been- arraign'd before the Lord Chief Juftice
Heath at Oxford, for High Treafon agairft the
KtnS 20

He objetls, that extraordinary Commiffwns of Oyer
and Terminer are illegal 2

1

That it was illegal to keep him in Prifon feven
Months, and not bring him to Trial 23

That he was apprehended by Soldiers, and car-
ried to Pml's, their Main-Guard; whereas he
ought to have been put into the Hands of the
CivilMagiftrate, if he had offended the State ib.

That he was committedfor refufing to accufe him-
felf, which they themfelves had cenfur'd as il-

legal Pratlice in the Star-Chamber ib
That his Eftate of the Value of ahnoft 3000 1.

was taken from him without legal Procefs 24
He demands of the Court a Sight of their Com-

miffion ; which is refused 25
Th£ Court tell him that the Supreme Authority was
now in the Commons, as they faid it was alfo in
the Times of the Romans and Saxons 26, 27

He refufes to hold up his Hand, till the Court tell

him what is meant 27, 28
Defires a Copy of his Inditlment, and Counfel-,

but to no effetl g r

Urges that he had Counfel affign'd him by the
Judges who trfd him at Oxford before he
pleaded n 2

Pleads Not Guilty 30
Has Time till the next Day to prepare for his

Defence og
Infifts on a Precedent of Counfel being affign*d to

Major Rolfe ib.

That Cafe debated 40
The Names of the Jury 42
The Inditlment for High-Treafon, in printing and

publifhing feveral treafonable Books againft the
Common-wealth, and ftirring up the Soldiers to

Mutiny ib.

He excepts againft the Court and King's Counfel

whifpering together 43.

Evidence of the Printer concerning The Appren-
tices Outcry 47

Evidence of his diftributing The Outcry to the

Soldiers 48
And inciting them to Mutiny ib.

His publifhing the Salva Libertate proved 50
The Book entitled An Impeachment, &c, prov'd

to be publifh'd by him 5 {

He objetls againft the Evidence of Col. Purefoy,

he being a Member of Parliament ib.

Evidence concerning the Preparative to the Hue
and Cry after Sir Arthur Haflerig 52

That he own'd them at the Attorney-General''s Cham-
bers ib.

Several Paffages read out of his Books 53
And two Ordinances of the Houfe of Commons, de-

claring what Offences fhall be adjudged High-

Treafon
'

i4, 5S
The Attorney-General applies the Evidence, to

prove him guilty of Iligh-Treafon 56 & feqq.

He tells them moft of the prefent Counil of State

muft go to Tyburn or To.ver-Hill 57
Says that Mifery and Poverty never were ft ex-

treme under the worjl of cur K ib.

That the power of Thieves and R so, \< was as

lawful as the Authority which ereJed theH ; h

Court of Juftice

L The
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The King never atledfo tyrannically at St. Oliver

II. 58

Lilburne urges, that none of his Expreffions are

Treafon, by the ancient Laws of England 63

He repeats his requeft for Counfel, and more 'Time;

but is refused 66

the Prifoner dejires to withdraw and perufe his

Notes, which being denied, hefendsfor a Cham-

ber-pot into the Court 68

Afferts the Jury are Judges of Law, as well as

of Fail 69

He quotes feveral Law-Bovks to prove it ib.

Lilburne's Defence as to the Falls prov'd againjl

him. 7°
He obferves, that one of the Books he is charged

with, was publifh'd before the Ails were made

whereupon he is indicled 73
He urges his Services to the Common-wealth 74
Says that the Judges are but Cyphers, and Nor-

man Intruders ; and that the Jury only are to

determine his Cafe, both in Law and in Fail

7 6

Mr. Prideaux makes his Obfervations on the Evi-

dence for the Common-wealth ib.

Lilburne interrupts him feveral Times, and takes

notice that Prideaux was one who voted the

Army Traitors 78
Mr. Keble diretls the Jury ib.

Says that one Witnefs, with concurring Circum-

Jlances, is fufficient in Treafon ib.

The Jury defae fome Wine before they withdraw;

but are told they could have no Refrefhment in

Capital Cafes 80
Lilburne is acquitted ib.

At which the People fhout : ib.

And make Bonfires for Joy ib.

He is difcharg'd out of the Tower about a Fort-

night after ib.

The Jury brought before the Council to give their

Reafons ; but refuje to give any 81, 82

LILBURNE, Robert II. 394. See Regicides.

LIMERICK, Thomas II. 585. See Meffenger,

& al.

LINDSAY, David, his Arraignment for High
Treafon, in returning from France without Li-

cence, April 19. 1704. 4 Annse V. 508
He confeffes the Fail ; but fays he is a Native of

Scotland, and had the Benefit of the Queen's

Pardon there 510
The Proclamation of Indemnity in Scotland read

ib.

The Prifoner proves himfelf a Scotchman born

511
That he furrenderd to the Government in Scot'

land, and was difcharg'd there 512
Mr. Williams'j Defence for the Prifoner ib.

That the Pardon in Scotland amounted to a Li-
cence to come hither c \ 2

Injijls that his Trial ought to have been in the firft

Geunly he came into c 1

6

Mr. Raymond'^ Speech on the fame Jide ib.

Sir Thomas Powys'j Reply 519
Sir Edward Northey, Attorney-General, his

Speech /-21

Sir Simon Harcourt, Solicitor General, his Speech

523
Lord Chief Juflice Holt of Opinion againjl the

Prifoner ib.

To which the Court agree 524
His Charge to the Jury 525
The Prifoner is convicled ib.

Mov'd in Arreft of Judgment, that the Prifoner
was not Jhewn to be a Subjeil when the A£t
was made V. 525, 526

That one who owes Local Allegiance ought not to

be inditled in the fame manner with him who
owes Natural Allegiance V. 527

The Chief Juflice fhews the Reafonablenefs of the
Statute on which the Prifoner was inditled; and
pronounces Sentence

\\y

LINSTEED, Thomas V. 572. See Green, Tho-
mas, & al.

LISLE, Lady Alice, her Trial by a Commiflion of
Oyer and Terminer at Winchefter the zyth of
Auguft, 1685. 1 Jac. II. IV. 105

The Indiclment for harbouring Hicks, who was in
Monmouth'j Rebellion fo

The Prifoner, being thick of hearing, has one to

affift her at her Trial I0g
Mr. Pollexfen'j Speech before Evidence ib.
Evidence that Hicks was in the Rebellion 107
Evidence of the Meffage Hicks fent to the Pri-

foner, to defire Entertainment at her Houfe,
&c. IQ g

Barter depofes, that he Jhew'd Dunne the way
to Moyle's-Court, and gave Col. Penruddock
Notice of it

j r
-

Dunne and Barter confronted t j 5
Dunne refufes to anfwer the Court, and difcover

his knowledge of the Matter ib
Col. Penruddock'j Evidence of his taking Hicks'

and Nelthorpe in the Lady LifleV Houfe no
The Prifoner's Hufband a Member of the Hi<*h

Court of Juftice I2Q
Carpenter and his Wife's Evidence of their Lady's

entertaining Hicks and Nelthorpe ib.

Dunne confeffes he fupp'd with Hicks and Nell
thorpe, at my Lady Lillet, the Night before
they were taken I2l

The Prifoner enters upon her Defence 122
Objetls, that the Traitor ought to be convicled, be-

forefhe could be try'd for harbouring him ib.

She calls a Witnefs I2 1

She fays her Son was ailually in Arms againft
Monmouth by her Direclion ib.

The Chief Juftice diretls the Jury ib.
The Prifoner's Hufband one of thofe who condemned

Col. Penruddock'j Father to die, 126. See
Penruddock'^ Trial II. 261

The Jury doubt whether the Prifoner knew Hicks
had been in the Army I2 y

The Chief Juftice tells them the Proof is plain ib.

She is convicled ib.

The Chief'Juftice'''s Speech before the Sentence ib.

Other Proof of her Guilt after the Trial 128
Sentence to be burnt alive ; and her Execution di-

retled to be that Afternoon ib.

But reprieved
ib.

A Letter to the King in her behalf; but to no
Effetl ib.

She petitions to be beheaded; which isgranted 129
She is executed ib.

Her Dying Speech ib.

Her Attainder reversed the 1 W. and M. 130
LLOYD, Dr. William, Bifhop of St. Afaph, his

Trial, for publifhing a Libel IV. 304
LOCKTON, John, Serjeant at Law I. 14. See

Brambre.

LOFFE, Gabriel V. 287, 297. See Kidd, &
al.

LONDON, Bifhop of. See Compton.
LONDON, City of, Proceedings again/} it upon a

Quo
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Quo Warranto in the King's Bench, Hil. 35
Car. II. III. 545

The Information, that for a Month paft the May-
or, &c. have without lawful Warrant ufed cer-

tain Liberties and Privileges ib.

The Plea of the Mayor, &c. wherein they plead

Prefcription and Royal Authority for the Exer-

cife of their Privileges ib.

Mr. Attorney's Reply, that they did forfeit their

Privileges by taking unreafonable Toll in their

Markets, and by prefenting and publifhing a

libellous Petition 546
The City's Rejoinder, juftifying both thofe Ails

ib.

Mr. Attorney's Sur-rejoinder and Demurrer 548
The City's Rebutter and Joinder in Demurrer

ib.

Mr. Solicitor-General Finch's Argument for the

King ib.

1. That a Corporation may be forfeited ib.

Cafes quoted to this Purpofe 549
2. That the City of London is in the fame Cafe

with other Corporations in this refpecl 550
Cafes where the Franchifes of the City have been

feized ib. 551
3. That an At! cf the Common- Council is a Corpo-

rate Acl, and may make a Forfeiture of the

whole 552
4. That the Offences fet forth in the Replication are

Forfeitures ib.

Of the Right to take Toll in their Markets ib.

Of the City's Petition 553
Lord Chief Juftice HaleV Opinion quoted, that it

is unlawful to print any Man's private Cafe,

while it is depending in a Court of Judicature

ib.

Sir George Treby, Recorder,, his Argument for

the City 554.

1. That a Corporation cannot be forfeited 555
Authorities cited, that a Corporation can never die

ib.

He argues that Common Law may be antiquated,

though Statute Law cannot 556
That if Henry VIII. had thought this Proceeding

by way of Quo Warranto feafible, he would

have ufed it tf

n
'"'ifi the Religious Houfes ib.

2. That the Quo Warranto fhould have been

brought againft the Defendants by Name, and

not in their Corporate Capacity 560

3. lie defends their taking Toll in the Markets

563
Argues, that the Privileges of London have been

upheld, even againft the general Words of an

Acl of Parliament 564
That the City of Dublin laid a Tax of a like kind;

which was held good ib.

4. That an unreafonable By-Law is not fufficient to

forfeit a Corporation 565
His Defence as to the Petition 567
Endeavours to excufe it from being feditious 568

And to juftify the publifhing it 569

5. Argues, that a Corporation cannot pcffibly com-

mit a Crime againft the Peace 570
6. That an Att of the Common Council is not an

Acl of the Corporation 572
The Common Council chofen by the Unfreemen as

well as Freemen ib.

The Chief Juftice's Remarks 574
Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, his Re-

ply 575
To the Queftion, JVhelhcr the Defendants fhould

have been profecuted in their Private or Cor-
porate Capacity ? III. ^76

Authorities cited ib. rjj
Whether the City Liberties can be forfeited ? 578
The End of erecling Corporations cjq
He denies the Pojition, that a Corporation can ne-

ver die r § j

Diftinguifhes between Seizures and Forfeitures

582
An Eleclion ofa Mayor is void, if the old Mayor

be abfent 5 §^
Two Reafons, why Corporations may be forfeited

ib.

A Refolution, that an Alderman might be remov'd

for being a Drunkard and Haunter of Taverns

5%7
An Inftance of the Franchifes of Sandwich being

feized for a notorious Riot committed there 5 8 9
Another of the Town of Cambridge 590
Other Inftances and Cafes ib. & feqq.

Reafons why an Acl of the Common-Council is an
Acl of the Corporation cqz

He juftifies the Charge about the Markets 506
And about the Petition 600
Cafes offlanderous Words fpoken againft theKing's

Juftices 603
Mr. Pollexfen'^ Speech for the City 604
He infifts upon the Impropriety of profecuting them

in their Corporate Capacity 605
Anfwers Mr. Attorney's Authorities ib.

He objetls to the Pleading as fingular and unpre-

cedented 608
He argues that they could not forfeit twice ; for

by the firft Forfeiture the Corporation would

ceafe 609
Conjiders the Queftion about the Markets 610
Infifts upon Three Acls of Parliament for confirm-

ing the City-Cuftoms 611
What were anciently the Forms of Acls of Par-

liament 612
His Defence of the Petition 613
Denies that it was an Acl of the Corporation 614
Says if it were, yet is not fo great a Crime as to

forfeit the Charter 616
He anfwers three Reafons brought to prove the

Charter forfeited 617
And the Authorities produced 619
The Meaning of the Words forfeiting and feizing

ftated 62

1

The Mifchiefs of too rigidly expounding the Doc-
trine of forfeiting and furrendring 624

Several Authorities quoted, as to the Nature of
Corporations 625

A brief Recapitulation of the whole Argument

626
The Judgment of the Court for the King 627
A general View of the whole Matter in Debate

628
LORD Mayor arrefted. See Action.

LOVE, Chriftopher, his Trial for High Treafon,

in correfponding with, and confpiring to bring

in, King Charles II. and treating with the

Scots to that Purpofe, before the High Court

of Juftice in Weftminfter-Hall, 20 June 1651.

3 Car. II. II. 83
An Impeachment for High Treafon and other

Crimes, preferr d by Prideaux, Attorney of the

State ib.

The Prifoner dejires Counfel as to Matter ofLaw;
and demands why he is not try'd by a Jury

85,86
He
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He urges a Vote of 'Parliament, that they would

preserve the ancient Fundamental Laws and

Manner of Trial II. 86

They refufe to affign him Counfel, till he has plead-

ed, and the Evidence given 8 8

He objccls, that the Crimes in the Charge were

to be profecuted within a Year ; and they charged

him with Things done feveral Tears pajl ib.

He cites Coke'j Inftitutes, that he may except to

Errors in the Charge, in order to quafh the In-

diclment, before he pleads 89
He is told, he mujl either plead generally or fpe-

cially, before Counfel can be affign'd him 9

1

He defires he may have Counfel to put his Plea in-

to Form ; but is denied 92
He pleads Not Guilty ib.

Mr. Attorney joins Ijfue with him ib.

The Solicitor-General opens the Evidence ib.

The Court exhort Mr. Love to make a free Con-

feffion 96
He folemnly profeffes his Innocence ib.

He excepts to the Tefiimony of a Witnefs who had

confefs'd himfelf Guilty ; but is over-rul'd

97
Captain Potter'j Evidence of the Prefbyterians treat-

ing with the King 98
Potter'.* Examination read ib.

Major Alford'j Evidence of the Plot 103

Tefiifies feveral Confutations at Mr. Ijovt'sHoufe

ib.

The Prefbyterians depute Commiffoners to treat

with the King, and the Scotch Commiffioners,

at Breda ib.

Major Huntington'.? Evidence 107
Evidence of Love'j Confent to depute Commif-

fioners to treat 108

Lieutenant-Colonel Bains'J Evidence ib.

Says nothing againfi the Prifoner 109
Major Adams'j Evidence ib.

The Scots banifh'd ill
A Witnefs (Adams) threaten'd to be hanged, if

he would not be ingenuous in his Examination

^,, •

I13
Major Cobbet examined as to his tampering with

Adams; which he denies 114
The Second Day's Proceedings ib.

Jaquel is fworn on his Buttons injlead of a Bible

ib.

The whole Scotch Nation unite in the King's Caufe

116
Colonel Barton'.* Evidence 1 1

8

Capt. Far'j Evidence 119
Fafts kept by the Prefbyterians, for a Bleffmg on

their Treaty with the King 116
Love acknowledges he knew of the Commiffion to

treat with his Majefty, and debated concerning

it
t

121
Jackfon, a Prefbyterian Minifler, refufes tofwear

againjl Mr. Love 123
The Court fet a Fine of 500 1. upon him, and

commit him to Prifon during Pleafure 124.

Mr. Love moves for Time and Counfel ; and has
till Wednefday to prepare for his Defence ib.

The Court tell the Prifoner, Counfel may come to

him if they will ; but make no Order in it ib.

The Third Day's Proceedings n$
Mr. Love enters upon his Defence ib.

He objells, that there has been but one Witnefs
to any particular Fail 126"

Some particular Obfervations of the Prifoner on
the Evidence 128

Love acknowledges the Meetings at his Houfe, the
reading the Letters and Commiffions, and his
debating Matters concerning them II. 1 c.

But fays, he difapproved the Defign, and fo is
Guilty only of Mifprifion ib.

He fhews how zealous he was in the Caufe of the
Parliament againfi the King X o$

Says, he was one of the firfi at Oxford that re-
fused Conformity ; for which he was expell'd,
&c -

ib.
That he was the firfi that was apprehended for
preaching againfi the King ib.

And laments his fuffering by their Hands for
whom he had done fo much x 07

• The Prifoner confeffes his being privy to, and con-
cealing the Confults j which he apprehended to
be but Mifprifion X

jO

Mr. Attorney's Reply to the, Prifoner's Defence

I 20
The Prefident makes a Speech to the Prifoner 1 41
Tells him, the Laws of England were the Laws

of God
ib>

That there was not any Treafon, or notorious Vil-
lany, but a Priefi had a Hand in it ib.

The Fourth Day's Proceedings ib'
Mr. Hall's Reply ih\

A brief Account of the Confpiracy x^z
'

Sir T. Witherington'j Reply to the Prifoner

He obferves that their Confults went under the
Name of Fafting and Prayer, &c. 144

Mr. Attorney's further Reply x/,r
He difcovers the Eva/ions in Love'j folemn Ap-

peals to God of his Innocence xc 2
Shews the Ingratitude of confpiring to fubvert

a State that had been fo indulgent to him 153
Some Paffages in the Prifoner s Sermon, at the

Treaty at Uxbridge, rife in Judgment againfi
him T

'..

Mr. .Love gives in his Exceptions to the Charge

The Fifth Day's Proceedings jry
Mr. Love'j Exceptions ib.
Mr. Archer, and Mr. Waller, the Prifoner']

Counfel, rejected for refufmg the Engagement

;

but Mr. Hale is perm- I to argue his Excep-
tions ve

°I X/
.

Q
Several Exceptions to the Charge, made through

Mifiake for want of a Sight of it 161
Debates between the Counfel, whether the Fatt be

High Treafon or Mifprifion i 7l
The Prifoner's Exceptions, as to the Incompetency

of the Witnejfes, over-ruled ib.
Mr. Hale argues, that two Witneffes were necef-
fary to one Overt-Ail in Treafon ij%

Mr. Love moves for more Time, and Leave to
examine more Witneffes -, but is denied 176

The Sixth Day's Proceedings x 77
Mir. Attorney moves for Judgment againfi him ib.
The Sentence of Beheading pafs'd ib.

Mr. Love'j Behaviour at Execution ib.
His Speech on the Scaffold, from 177 to 182.

LOVE, unlawful. See Grey, Lord.
LOWICK, Major Robert, his Trial for High

Treafon, 22 April, 1696. 8 W. III. IV. 71

8

Indiiled with Rookwood and other Confpiralors
in the Affaffination-Plot ' §6\

Exceptions taken to the Indiclment, for that Time
and Place are not afcertained in every FaSi that
is laid ~

x g
The Indictment y 2 i 724

'

Sir
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Sir Thomas Trevor, Attorney-General, opens the

Evidence IV. 725
Harris'.? Evidence of his bring fent over by King

James, to affift in the Affaffiliation 726
Bertram'.? Evidence yzy
His Connfel plead that the Proof is inefficient

731
Call Witnejfes to his Charafter 732
Mr. Attorney-General's Reply 733
Lord Chief J liftice's Charge 734
'The Prifiner is conviclcd y^6
He' receives Sentence, together with Rookwood

and Cranburne 737
Their Friends permitted to be with them after Con-

demnation ; but not in the Abfence of the Keeper

ib.

Their Dying Speeches ib.

LUMSDEN, Mr. I. 333. See Sir John Hollis.

LUMSDEN, Alexander II. ion. See Ander-

fon, & al.

M.

MACCLESFIELD, Thomas Earl of his

Trial on an Impeachment for high Crimes

and Mifdemeanors before the Houfe of Lords,

6 May, 1725. 1 1 George I. VI. 477
The Articles of Impeachment (21 in Number)

ib.

The Earl's Anfwer 484
The Replication of the Commons 492
Sir George Oxenden opens the Charge in ger

neral ' ' ib.

Is feconded by Sir Clement Wearg, Solicitor-Ge-

neral 497
The Earl's general Defence, open'd by Mr. Ser-

jeant Probyn 618

Who is feconded by Dr. Sayer 629
Sir William Strickland'* Speech upon the §th,

6th, yth, 8th and yth Articles, as to felling

Places, in Chancery 498
Mr. Doddington'* Speech 500
The Statute read at the Nomination of Sheriffs in

the Exchequer 503
A Debate whether the Privy- Counfellors, Sec. take

an Oath at that time ib. 620, 704, 736, 747
See Pole, Mich.

Oath of a Mafter in Chancery 504
Commifjions granted to Mafters, appointing them

to hear Caufes 505
Further Evidence to fuppcrt thefe Articles 506
The Earl's Defence on thefe Articles 635
Mr. Lingard, Common Serjeant cf London, of

Counfel with the Earl, his Speech ib.

The Evidence in behalf of the Earl 640
Evidence that former Lord Chancellors took Mo-

ney for the Mafters Places 650
That the Price of Places has fince been confidera-

bly raifed 654
Evidence, as to the Manner of paying Money in-

to Chancery 656
The Earl's own Obfervations on the Evidence

given upon thefe Articles 714.

Mr. Serjeant Pengelly'* Reply 742
Mr. Onflow'* Speech on the Eleventh Article, a-

bout appointing infufficient Men to be Mafters

534-

Mr. Palmer'* Speech on the 1 2th Article, for con-

niving at the Mafters paying for their Places

out of the Suitors Money 535
Evidence of the Infufificiency of the Mafters 536,

54<3

Vol. VI.

Evidence of a Declaration made by my Lord in
Court vi. 539Mr. Thomas Bennet'* Evidence upon the Twelfth
Article rA 2

Mr. Robins'* Speech in the Earl's Defence, on the
Eleventh and Twelfth Articles 658

Mr. Serjeant Probyn, and the Common Serjeant,
on the fame Side 663, 664

The Earl's Evidence on thefe Articles 664, &
feqq.

The Earl's Obfervations 7

1

6
Mr. Serjeant Pengelly'* Reply 744
Mr. Gybbon'* Speech upon the Thirteenth Arti-

cle, for concealing Mr. Dormer'* Deficiency,
and for compounding a Debt owing from Mr.
Wilfon to Mr. Dormer 547

Mr. Hedges on the fame Articles 549
Evidence of Mr. Dormer'* Deficiency 55 1

And of the compounding Wilfon'* Debt 553
Mr. Strange''* Argument for the Earl on thefe Ar-

ticles fag
Evidence of the Care taken by the Earl to fecure
Mr. Dormer'* Effetls 670

Evidence to juftify the Compofition with Wilfon

676
The Earl's Obfervations y\a
Mr. Lutwyche'* Reply 748
Sir John Rufliout'* Speech on the 15th, 16th, and

1 yth Articles r6z
The 15th, for calling for the Mafters Accounts in

order to perfuade them to contribute to Mr. Dor-
mer'* Deficiency, and excujing thofe who contri-

buted from giving in their Accounts ib.

The 16th, for paying 1000 1. to a Suitor, with a
View to prevent a Parliamentary Enquiry 563

The lyth, for ordering Mr. Dormer'* Money
to be paid out, without regard to Proportion

564
Mr. Sandys'* Speech on the fame fide 565
Mr. Thompfon'* Speech on the fame fide 56

y

Evidence of the Mafters Contribution 568
Offeveral Converfations between the Earl and the

Mafters on this Occajion 569
Mr. Lockman'* Evidence of the Earl's paying

him the 1000 1. 577
Orders of the Earlfor paying feveral Sums out of
Mr. Dormer'* Effetls 5 g

Mr. Strange'* Defence of the Earl upon thefe Ar-
ticles 678

Evidence of the Earl's callingfor the Mafter's Ac-
counts 680

Evidence that Mr. Lockman'* Money was paid
to him in Compaffion 683

Mr. Serjeant Probyn and Mr. Common Serjeant,

their Arguments upon the Eighteenth Article

685, 686
The Earl's Obfervations 722
Mr. Lutwyche'* Reply 750
Mr. Plummer'* Speech upon the Eighteenth Arti-

cle, for permitting and encouraging the Mafters

to traffick with the Suitors Money 583
Mr. Cary'* Speech on the fame fide 585
Mr. Lightboun'* Evidence 586
Mr. Hoi ford'* Evidence 592
Mr. Common Serjeant's Defence on this Article

686
The Earl's own Defence 725
Mr. Lutwyche'* Reply 752
Ld. Morpeth'* Speech on the Nineteenth Article,

for advifing and perfuading the Mafters to make

falfe Reprefentations of their Circumfiances

594r

*M Mr.
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599
60

1

602

603
ib.

604
605

Mr. SnellV Speech on the fame Side VI. 597
Evidence of Mr. Thomas Bennet

of Mr. Kynafton

of Mr. Lightboun

of Mr. John Bennet

of Mr. Lovibond

of Mr. Edwards

of Mr. Conway

Mr. Robins'j Speech in the Earl's Defence to this

Article 688

The Earl's Remarks 730
Mr. Lutwyche'j Reply 752

An Account of the Deficiencies 607

Mr. Weft funis up the Evidence for the Commons

609

Witneffes to Mr. Cottingham'j Reputation 691

Account of many Charities done by the Earl 692

Mr. Common Serjeant's Obfervations upon the

•whole 6g5
Mr. Robins'j to the fame Purpofe 6gy
'The Earl of Macclesfield's own Defence 702

Mr. Serjeant Pengelly'j Reply 733
Two Witneffes examined againft the Earl 753
Who are confronted with another Witnefs 755
The Statute 1 1 Hen. IV. read 759
The Earl's Remarks on it 760
The Managers Reply ib..

The Earl is convitled 761
And fin'd 30,000 1. 763

MACGUIRE, Connor, Lord his Trial for High

Treafon at the King's Bench Bar, the 1 oth of

February, 1644. 20 Car. I. I. 949
The Inditlment , for inciting a Rebellion and Maf-

facre in Ireland ib.

The Prifoner pleads he is a Peer of Ireland 950
His Plea is over-ruled ib.

He pleads over Not Guilty ib.

The Prifoner challenges all the Jurors that appear

951
A Diftringas and Tales made returnable the next

Day 952
Each Perfon return'd on the Pannel examin'd

whether they had purchafed any Share of the

Rebels Lands in Ireland ib.

The Trial begins 953
The Witneffes called ib.

The Examination of a Witnefs read, who might

have been produced viva voce 954
Evidence of my Lord Macguire'j being taken in

Dublin with Arms, &c. the very Morning the

Maffacre began in the other Parts of Ireland ib.

Macguire'.; own Confejfion of his being concern'd in

the Confpiracy ib.

His Examination in the Tower read againft him

955
Denies they had any Meffages from England to

incite them to this Rebellion and Maffacre ib.

Evidence of the Difcovery of the Confpiracy ib.

Evidence of O Neile'j landing in Ireland 956
Charlemont furpriz'd by the -Irifti Papifts, and the

Lord Calfield murder'd ib.

Evidence of 104,000 murder'd ib.

The Confpirators fet up a new Form of Govern-
ment

ij-)i

A Copy of the Pope's Bull granted to the Irifh Pa-
P lfis ib.

He thereby grants them full Remiffion of their Sins

957
The Lord Macguire in his Defence denies he made

any fuch Confejfwns as were produced againft
hm

958
The Counfel reply to him ib.

The Lord Macguire is convicted

Demands by what Authority the Court fat

Sentence pafs'd

Petitions to be beheaded ; but is executed

common Traitor

His Behaviour at Execution

I. 95 8

959
ib.

as a

960
ib.

MADDER, John, V. 572. See Green, Thomas
&al.

MAGDALEN-College in Oxon,

gainft them, 3 Jac. II. 1687
Dot!or Clark the Prefident of

IV.

Proceedings a-

262
dies

ib.

263
ib.

Magdalen

They elect Dr. Hough
The King's Mandate to elett Mr. Farmer

The College petition his Mojefty not to infift on it

264
They apply to the Duke of Ormonde and Bifhop of

Winchefter ib. 261

Are cited before the High-Commiffion, to anfwer

why they did not eleel Mr. Farmer ib.

Their Anfwer ib.

They fhew Mr. Farmer was incapable 266
Teftimonials againft him of feveral Irregularities

267
The Court decree Dr. Hough'.; Ekclion void

268
And fufpend the Vice-Prefident ib.

The King's Mandate to the College ; to admit the

Bifhop of Oxford Prefident 269
The King goes down to Oxford, and threatens the

College for their Contempt 269
Commands them immediately to eletl the BrfJoop of

Oxford ib.

They refufe 270
The College's Petition and Addrefs to the Kin^

ib.

A Letter to the College, with fome Queries con-

cerning their Proceedings, and their Anfwer
ib. & ieqq.

A Deputation from the High Commiffion goes

down to the College to vijit them 273
The Bifhop of Chefter'.; Speech to the College ib.

Their Hearing ib.

The Decree for making Dr. Hough'.; Eletlion

void, read

He refufes to fubmit to the Decree

Is charg'd with Contumacy

Protefts againft the Proceedings of the Court,

is bound over

Dr. Fairfax and the Fellows refufe to inftall the

Bifhop of Oxford ib. and 277
The Bifhop of Chefter inftalls the BifJjop of Oxon

by Proxy, and breaks open the Prefident's Lodg-

ing
_

277
Dr. Fairfax and the Fellows refufe to obey the

Bifloop of Oxford 278
The Bifhop of Chefter inveighs againft the Beha-

viour of the College in a fecond Speech 280
Dr. Aldworth the Vice-Prefident, and the reft of

the Fellows who refufed to fubmit to the Bifhop

of Oxford, expell'd the College 282

Their Proteft ib.

The Sentence of Expulfion ib.

They are decreed incapable of any Preferment

ib.

MAGISTRACY and Government 0/" England vin-

dicated, as to the Proceedings in the Lord Ruf
felV Trial, by Sir Barth. Shower III. 765

MAHONY, Matthew, his Trial. See Goodere,

Samuel.

MA-

274
ib.

2 75
and

276
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MALICE.

Malice exprefs, and implied, defined II. 643
Where the Law implies Malice III. 62. IV. 386
The purfuing malicious Methods to obtain a Right,

makes the Party doing it liable to an Aclion

III. 1090
MA N DAT E. See Cambridge, and Magdalen

College.

MANSLAUGHTER. See Murder.

MANSFIELD, Richard Efqy III. 949. See Sa-

dieverell, William.

MARRIAGE.
If a Woman be taken away by Force and afterwards

married, though by her Confent, the Perfon tak-

ing her is guilty of Felony V. 464
Marrying a Woman under a Force is Felony,

though the Party marrying her was not Author

of the Force 473
One may be guilty of Felony in aiding and affifting

a Perfon in a forcible Marriage, though not

prefent at the Ceremony 478
The Marriage is null and void ab initio, where

either of the Parties are pre-contracled 628
Marrying a fecond Wife, the firfi being alive, Fe-

lony by the Statute 62 7
MARSHAL, William II. 917. See Wakeman,

& al. II. 993. See Anderfon, & al.

MARSON, John V. 194. See Cowper, & al.

MARTEN, Henry II. 309, 392. See Regicides.

MARY, Queen of Scots. See Scots.

MASS II. 801. See Plot, Popifh.

MAY, William V. 1. See Dawfon.

MEAD, William II. 610. See Penn.

MEDIETAS Linguse. See Alien.

MERRICK, Sir Gilly, his Trial I. 209. See

Blunt, Sir Chriftopher.

MERVIN, ZWAudley. S^Audley.
MESSENGER.

Whether it be lawful to commit State-Prifoners to

the Cuftody of Meffengers IV. 556, 557
MESSENGER, Peter, Richard BeaQey, William

Green, Thomas Appletree, Edward Cotton,

John Earles, WilJiam Wilks, Richard Far-

rel, William Ford, Edward Bedle, Richard

Latimer, Thomas Limerick, Richard Wood-
ward, John Richardfon, and John Sharplefs,

their Trialfor H^lb Treafon, 20 Car. II. 1668

II. 585
Four Indiclments for levying War againfi the King

ib.

Evidence on the Trial of MelTenger, Beafley,

Green, and Appletree, for affembling under

Pretence of pulling down Bawdy-houfes, and

atlually pulling down feveral Houfes 586
The Evidence on the Trial of Bedle and Latimer

588
The Evidence againfi Cotton, Earles, Wilks,

Farrel, and Ford, for affembling under Pre-

tence of breaking open Prifons
1 589

Evidence on the Trial of Richardfon, Limerick,

and Woodward 590
The fury find a Special Verdicl 59

1

The Special Verdicl at large ib.

The Chief Baron Hale is of Opinion thefe Fails

did not amount to High Treafon 593
All the reft of the fudges refolve that thefe Of-

fences were High Treafon ib.

Rifing to pull down Bawdy-Houfes in general, or

break open Prifons in general, and putting fuch

Defign in Execution, is High Treafon ib.

Lawful for private Perfons to arm themfelves to

oppofe Riots, Rebellions, or common Enemies

H- 593
The Matter found againfi MelTenger, Beafley,

Cotton, and Limerick, refched to be High
Treafon ; and they are executed 594

But as to Appletree and Latimer, the Judges
being divided in their Opinions, they were re-

commended to the King's Mercy ib.

As to Green and Bedle, they being only found to

be prefent, and not found that any A51 of Force

was committed by than, or that they were aid-

ing or affifting, they were difcharged ib.

MEYNE, Simon II. 399. ^Regicides.
MILLINGTON, Gilbert II. 399. See ib.

MISPRISION. See Treafon.

MIS-SPELLING, in an Act of Parliament, of-

fer d in behalf of a Prifoner ; but over-ruled

II. 310
MITCHELL, James, his Trialfor attempting the

Murder of the Archbifioop of St. Andrews, and
wounding the Bifhop of Orkney, 30 Car. II.

1678 623
His Examination before a Committee of Council

ib.

He is put to the Torture 625
His Examination, whilft under it 616
The Libel againfi the Prifoner '627

Warrant from the Privy Council for profecuting

him 62 8

Counftl qffigii d the Prifoner ib.

They infift that an Endeavour, or Attempt, to

commit Murder ought not to be punijh'd as

Murder ib.

That Mutilation was not Capital by their Laws ;

though difmembring was 61^
As to the affaulting a Privy-Counfellor, it ought

to have been laid to have been done in the Exe-

cution of his Office, to make it Capital ib.

The Prifoner''s Confejfion out of Court Jhall not

convicl him ib.

Alledged, that the Prifoner, and other of his Fol-

lowers, held it lawful to kill a Bifhop 630
An Endeavour to ajfajfinate, punifhable with Death

by the CivilLaw ; unlefs the Offender can foe

w

fome Provocation : and it is not necejfary tofhew

the Offender took Money, to denominate him an

AJfqftin ib.

An Attempt to rob or ravifh, punifhable with Death
in Scotland ib.

A Promife of Pardon by a Magiftrate who can-

not grant it, of no Avail ib.

The Party''s Confejfion the ftrongeft Evidence a-

gainft him 631
The Court of Opinion that it appeared, the Prifoner

made the Attempt on his Grace for doing his

Majefty's Service 6$j
That his Confejfion before the Council could not be

retracled; but, if it were provd to be on Pro-

mife of Life, the Prifoner fhould have the Be-

nefit of it ib.

The Prifoner s Confejfion, and the Witneffes pro-

due''d againfi him ib.

The Lord Chancellor depofes, no Promifes of Life

were made the Prifoner on his Confffon 638
An Ail of Council concerning his Confejfion 639
The Verdicl 640
The Court pajfes Sentence of Death on the Prifoner

ib.

His laft Speech ib.

MODERS,
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MODERS, Mary. See German Princefs II. 498

MOHUN, Charles Lord, his Trial before the

Houfe of Peers, for the Murder of William

Mountford, Jan. 31, 1692, 4W.&M,
IV. 510

The Lordsfit in Weftminfter-Hall ib.

The Certiorari and Return, &c. read 511

The Prifoner brought to the Bar 5 1

2

The Marquis of Carmarthen, Lord High Steward

ib.

His Speech to the Prifoner
_

ib.

Admitted that a Peer need not hold up his Hand
ib.

The Indiclment 5 1 3

Sir John Somers, Attorney-General, his Speech

before Evidence 1D -

The Evidence againfi the Prifoner 516

Evidence of the°Declaration of the Deceased, after

he was wounded Jb.

That Lord Mohun promts'd to affift Mr. Hill in

his Defign to carry off Mrs. Bracegirdle ; and

faid he wouldftand by his Friend 5 1

7

That they accordingly made an Attempt together ;

but were difappointed 5 l<&

Evidence that Hill ran the Deceas'd through be-

fore he could draw his Sword 520

Evidence ofmy Lord Mohun' s Sword being drawn,

juft before the Murder ib.

My Lord Mohun careffes Mountford at the Time

ke was wounded . 521,524
Evidence of the Watch meeting my Lord Mohun

and Mr. Hill with their Swords drawn, before

Mrs. Bracegirdle'j Lodging 524
Evidence of the Terror my Lord Mohun was in

when he was taken 5 2 3

Evidence that Mountford^raw run through before

his Sword was drawn, and while my Lord

Mohun was by him ib.

The two Surgeons Evidence 525
Lord Mohun'j Witneffes 526
The Evidence of Hill'i Boy ib.

He fwears that my Lordflood upon the flat Stones,

whilft Hill and Mountford fought in the mid-

dle of the Street 527
Other Witneffes to the fame Purpofe 528
ADepofition of Hill'j Boy before the Coroner read

againfi the Prifoner, though the Witnefs was
examin'd in Court viva voce 534

Sir Thomas Trevor, Solicitor-General, fums up

the Evidence S3

5

The Lords debate the Points of Law in theirHoufe

above 537
Their Lord/hips require the Judges Opinions in a

Point ofLaw 538
The Prifoner s Counfel permitted to argue the

Point, before the Judges gave their Opinions

ib.

The King's Counfel nfufe to reply, unlefs theirLord-

fhips would admit that the Cafe put was my
Lord Mohun'j Cafe 540

The Judges Rcfolutions 541
Second Queftion, with the Judges Refolutions

542
Third Queftion 544
Fourth Que/Hon 545
I "fih Sh.eftion 547
Sixth ghi-jlion 549
The Prifoner'''s Counfel not fluffer'd to reply, after

the Judges hadgiven their Opinions in any Point

ib.

Seventh Queflion . 550

Lord Mohun is acquitted IV. 553
MOHUN, Charles Lord, his Trial for the Mur-

der of Richard Coote, Efq\ 29 March, 1699,
1 1 W. III. V. 1 80

Lord High Steward, Lord Somers, his Speech to

the Prifoner ib.

The Indiclment 181

SirThomas Trevor, Attorney-General, his Speech

182
The Evidence given by the Drawer of the Grey-
Hound-Tavem ib.

The Chairman's Evidence 183
The Surgeon, who view'd Captain Coote'j Body,

his Evidence 189
The Lord Mohun calls a Witnefs ib.

Lord Mohun'; Obfervations on the Evidence 190
Mr. Solicitor's Obfervationsfor the King 191
My Lord Mohun is acquitted 193
He promifes to avoid all Quarrels for the future

ib.

The Court diffolv'd 104
MONSON, Sir Thomas, arraign'd for the Mur-

der of Sir Thomas Overbury •, but not tried

L 347
MORDANT, John Eflp his Trial before the

High Court of Juftice for High Treafon, the

\ft of June, 1658 II.292
Impeach d of High Treafon againfi the Prolet!or

and State ib.

He is refus'd a Trial by Jury 293
Pleads Not Guilty 294
Evidence of his making an Intereft to bring in

King Charles 295
A Witnefs withdrawing himfelf, the Juftice who

took his Examination permitted to give in Evi-
dence what the Witnefs depos'd before him 296

The Preftdent (LifleV) Speech to Sir H.Slingefby,

Dr. Hewet, and Mr. Mordant, before Judg-
ment 298

Tells them, God had done as miraculoufly for the

Caufe, as he did of oldfor the Ifraelites againfi

the Egyptians ib.

That they ow'd Natural Allegiance to the Pro-

testor ib.

Mr. Mordant acquitted 299, 300
MORE, Sir Thomas, try'd for High Treafon in

denying the King's SiV-J-macy, 16 Hen. VIII.

*535
.

1-59
Barton Eliz< andfeveral others, attainted ofHigh

Treafon by Atl of Parliament ib.

Names of his Judges ib.

The Solicitor General comes to him, to pump him

ib.

They debate the Points of Succeffion and Supremacy

ib.

His Reafon for being againfi the King's fecond

Marriage 60
The Solicitor fwears feveral things againfi him

that pafs'd at his Examination ; which Sir

Thomas denies ib.

His refufing the Oath of Succeffion^ his principal

Crime ib.

Complains he had been imprifon'd fifteen Months,

and his Eftate confifcated before his Trial ib.

Puts the Lord Chancellor in mind, that before

Sentence it ought to be demanded of the Prifoner,

what he has to fay why Judgmentfhould not be

pronounced againfi him 61

And then he afjerts, that the Atl of Parliament

concerning the Supremacy was repugnant to the

Law of God 62

That
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Thatno Temporal Prince may prefume to take up-

on him the Supreme Government of the Church

I. 62

That this Kingdom was but Part of the Catholick

Church ; and that the Acl was contrary to fe-

veral Statutes in Force, and particularly Mag-
na Charta, and contrary to the King's Corona-

tion-Oath ib.

He has Judgment as a Traitor ib.

But is beheaded 63
MULLINS, Darby V. 287, 297. See Kidd,

&al.
MURDER.

The Procurers of Murder guilty of Murder

I. 348, &c.

Where thf Concealment of an intended Murder

fhall bring one within the Guilt ofMurder 343
Poifoning made High Treafon by a Statute, and

the Perfon guilty to be boil'd to death 324
Murder of Sir Edmondbury Godfrey II. 760
Where one prefent at a Murder fhall be deem'd

guilty of Murder, and where not 728
One engag'd in a Defign of Murder, and pofted

fo as to give any Affiflance to thofe that actually

do it, is, in the Eye of the Law, prefent,

though not upon the Spot where the Murder was
committed, nor even in fight or hearing of it

VI. 822, 828

Murder made High Treafon in Ireland IV. 403
One convicled of Murder on circumftantial Evi-

dence 488
Where one prefent at a Murder fhall be guilty of

Marflaughter 541
Where one who knows of the Malice between the

Parties, and is prefent accidentally at a Mur-
der, is not guilty of any Offence 543

A Perfon not confenting or contributing to the

Murder, is not guilty of any Offence, though

prefent 544
The bare knowing his Friend's Defign to lie in

wait to commit Murder, does not bring one

within the Guilt of Murder, if he did not con-

fent to it 546
One knowing of his Friend's Defign to commit

Murder, and accompanying him in it, is guilty,

if the Perfon be kill'd 549
One having promis'd to Jland by his Friend to af-

fault another, and is defignedly prefent when he

is kill'd, guilty ofMurder 550
But where one happens to be kill'd after the un-

lawful Aclion they agreed on is over, 'tis other-

wife 552
Murder of Mrs. Stout, four Perfons try'd for it

V. 194
Words not fuch a Provocation in Law as will re-

duce the Offence of killing a Man to Man-
Jlaughter 296

MUTE. See Trial.

N.

NAIRN, William Lord VI. 1. 5^Derwent-

water, Earl of.

NATURALIZATION.
The Natives of Scotland, and formerly <?/Gafcoigne,

&c. when united to the Crown of England,

were Denizens of England;, and needed not to

be naturaliz'd here II. 9» 1

1

An Acl naturalizing the Father^ naturalizes his

Children born before the AB 12

Vol. VI.

NAYLOR, James, his Trial before a Committee
of the Houfe of Commons for Blafphemy,

1656 II, 265
Report of the Committee ib.

James Naylor'j Account ofhimfelf ib.

Charg'd with perfonating our Bleffed Saviour ib.

A Paper containing the Defeription of ourSaviour

\

as it was given to the Senate of Rome by Pub.
Lentulus, found upon him 266

His Perfon not unlike that Defcription ib.

He affumes the Titles due only to our Saviour

267, & feqq.

The Committee refolve, that he is guilty of the

Charge 269
His Followers, who were in Cujlody with him,

give him Divine Worfhip 270
As did many Quakers, who came to fee him ib.

The Houfe agree with the Committee ib.

Sentenc d to be bored through the Tongue, whip'd^

&c. 272
Lord Commiffioner Whitlock'j Speech in the Houfe

of Commons 273
NEVIL, Alexander, Archbifhop of York. See

Brambre.

NITHISDALE, William Earl of VI. 1. See

Derwentwater, Earl of
NORFOLK, Thomas Howard, Duke of, his

Trial by Commiffion, the 1 6th of January, 1671,
14 Eliz. I. 82

Names of his Peers 83
The Indiclment charges him with a Defign of mar-

rying the Queen of Scots ; with aiding the Earl

of Northumberland and other Rebels ; with

adhering to the Queen's Enemies, correfponding

with the Pope and King of Spain, and promot-
ing a foreign Invafion 83,84

He is deny'd Counfel, though he cites a Precedent

for it 86
Is requir'd by the Court to anfwer direttly, whe-

ther he knew of the Queen of Scots making Pre-

tenfions to the Crown of England 89
The Bifhop of RofTe'j Examination read go
Earl of Murray's Letter read 92
Bifhop of RofTe'j Letter to the Queen of Scots

read 94
A Letterfrom the Duke to the Earl of Murray

read y§
The Duke's own Examinations and Letters read

9 6> 97
An old Prophecy given in Evidence 1 00
The Court denied to let the Witneffes be examined

viva voce 95-> 9%
The Duke in his Defence objects to the Bifhop of

Roffe'j Evidence, as being a Foreigner, &c.

particularly as he was a Scot, and might be

made a Prifoner in time of Peace 102

A Title deriv'd to the Queen of Scots above the

Conaueft 106

The Pope's depofing Power ib.

Foreigners, Bondmen, and Perfons confeffing

themfelves guilty of Treafon, may be Witneffes,

if they do not Jland indifted, outlaw'd, or at-

tainted 113

Where the Subjects of a foreign Prince may be

deem'd Enemies, though the Prince be in Amity

with us 115

The Crown entering into a War with any other

Nation, a fufficient Declaration of their being

Enemies, without a Proclamation ib.

The Duke is convicled ib-

Judgment is pronounced on him as a Traitor 1 1

6

*N His
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Wis Behaviour at Execution ib.

NORFOLK, Henry Howard, Duke of, Proceed-

ings in Parliament upon the Bill of Divorce be-

tween him and his Duchefs, 1 699, 12 W. III.

V. 239

The Bill of Divorce ib.

Complaint made to the Houfe, that the Duke can-

not get his Witneffes to attend 241

The Depofitions of Eleanor Vanefs for the Duke

243

Depofitions of Nicholas Hofier 246

Of William Bayly 251

Depofitions of Thomas Hawkfworth for the

Duchefs 253

Depfitions of John Peacock 254

of Frances Knight 256

of William White 258

of Matthew Macdonald, and others

260

The Billpa.fi the Lords, andfent down tojhe Com-

mons 2 65

The Duchefs Petition 266

The Duke's Cafe ib.

Bifhop Cofin'j Argument, whether Adultery is a

juft Caufe of Divorce 268

The Duchefs's Cafe 271

The Bill read a fecondTime by the Commons 274
Sir Thomas Powis'j Speech for the Duchefs ib.

Mr, Dodd'-f Speech 277
Dr. Pinfold'* Speech on the fame Side 278
Mr. Serjeant Wright'* Speech for the Duke 279
Mr. Northey on the fame Side 281

Mr. Oldys'j Speech for the Duke 282

The Duchefs'*s Counfel reply ib.

Mr. Northey opens the Evidence 283
The Witneffes examin'd 284
The Duchefs Counfel defire to read the Depofitions

taken before the Lords, in order to prove that

the Witneffes contradicl themfelves 285
Which being refus'd, they decline making any fur-

ther Defence ib.

The Bill is pafd 286
NOTTINGHAM, a Riot at an Eleclion there

tried III. 949. See Sacheverell, William, Efq;

The Cafe of that Corporation in 1684, ftated by

the late William Sacke, Efq; 978

o
o.

ATES, Titus, Proceedings on the Writ ofEn-
quiry, between His Royal Highnefs James

Duke of York, and the J.aid Oates, June 18,

1684* 36 Car. II. III. 987
The High Sheriffprefent in Court, and fits co-

ver'd during the executing the Writ. Fifteen

fworn on the ''jury ib.

The Writ at large in Engliih 988
The Duke had declared on the Statute de Scandal.

Magnat. the Words laid to have been fpoken

were, That the Duke of Tork was a Traitor

ib.

The Words prov'd to be fpoken at the Bifhop of
Ely'* Table 990

Other Words prov'd tobefpoken ; as that the Duke
fir'd the City ; that he was a Son of a Whore,
and mould never fucceed to the Crown, &c.

ib. 991
The Chief Juftice Jefferies'* Obfervations on the

Evidence 093
Damages given by the Jury, 100,000 1. 996

OATES, Titus, his Trial at the King's Bench
Bar, in Eafter Term, the $th of May, 1685,
1 Jac. II. upon an Indictment of Perjury IV. 1

The Defendant permitted to fit within the Bar ib.

The having been on the Grand Jury, a good Caufe

of Challenge 2
The Court deny to bring up the Prifoner's Witnef-

fes who were in Execution for Debt, in the

King's Bench, either by Habeas Corpus or

Rule of Court ; alledging it would be an E-
fcape ib.

The Indiclment ib.

The Defendant's Exceptions to it c
He is told he moves them out of Time ihs

Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, his Speech

before Evidence ib.

Evidence of his former Tefiimony 7
Lord Gerrard'* Evidence of Oates'* being at St.

Omers, when he fwore he was in London 1

1

A Clergyman of the Church of England, and a-

bout twenty other Witneffes depofe to the fame
Effetl 22

Oates fays he is profecuted to ferve a Turn,—

—

the Court refent it 24
Mr. Oates'* Defence 27
He infifts his Evidence ought not to be queftion'd or

impeach'd, while the Records of Conviclion re"

main'd in Force, and unreversed againft the

Parties who were convicled on his Evidence

ib.

Complains of being profecuted foiong after the fup-
pos'd Crime ; efpecially when the Parliament

and Courts of Juftice had exprefd their Satis-

faclion of the Truth of what he had depos'd

ib.

The Defendant's Witneffes, to prove he was in

London in April 1678 30
Earl of Devonshire call'd as a Witnefs for Mr.

Oates 38
Earl of Clare alfo examined by him 39
Earl of Huntingdon call'd as a Witnefs by him,

who fays, though the Defendant was believd

once in the Houfe of Lords, they had now al-

ter'd their Opinions, of him 40
Oates jhews he had the Thanks of .the Houfe of

Lords for difcovering the Plot 41
Several of the Judges examined 40, 41
Mr. Attorney-General replies to Mr. Oates 42
Oates's Evidence againft the^ueen and Sir George
Wakeman, of a Confpiracy to poifon the King

43
His Evidence againft the Earl of Caftlemaine

44
Oates objecls, that thofe who had been inditled on

his Evidence, and acquitted, ought not to be ad-

mitted Witneffes againft him ib.

Injinuates, that the Defign ofprofecuting him was,

to fmother the PopiJJj Plot ib.

Oates'j Narrative, fworn to in the Houfe ofLords

^

produced as Evidence againft him 47
The Court refufe the Teftimony of a Perfon who

came to fwear he had forfworn himfelf at a

former Trial ib.

The King's Counfel infift, that this Evidence was
always admitted to prove a Subornation ib;

Evidence of Oates'* fuborning and tampering with
the Witneffes at the Trial of the five Jefuits 48

Hearfay Evidence admitted to confirm another's

Tefiimony ib.

Oates objecls to the Teftimony of Papifts^ as be-

ing Parties in this Caufe 50
He
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He appeals to the. Audience, that the Court did not

do him Juftice ; for iwhich he is reprimanded

Infifts that a Witnefs far the King cannot be in-

die!ed for Perjury 5 2

Says, 'tis the Proteftant Caufe, and not him, they

Jlrike at 53
He appeals to God, as to the "Truth of his Evi-

dence of the Plot ib.

Moves he might not be kept in Irons 53
He has heave to withdraw before the Evidence

fum'd up 54
Mr. Finch, Solicitor General, fums up the Evi-

dence ib.

He fhews how Mr. Oates'.; Witneffes contradict

himfelf and one another 56
And how it came about, that Oates had once fuch

Credit with the Parliament and the Nation

58
The Chief Juftice''s Directions to the Jury ib.

Takes Notice that Oates was ftyl'd the Saviour of

the Nation 60
Shews the Improbability of Oates'j Teftimony

The Court offer the Jury fome Refrefhment before

they go from the Bar 65
Oates is convicted ib.

OATES, Titus, his Trial at the King's-Bench

Bar, Eafler Term the gth of May, 1685.

1 Jac. II. upon another Indictment for Perjury

IV. 66
The Indictment ib.

Mr. Attorney General (Sir Robert Sawyer) opens

the Evidence 71
Evidence, that the Defendant fwore Mr. Ireland

was in London between the 2th and 12th of
Auguft, and on the ijl or 2d of September,

1678. ib.

Many Witneffes called to prove that Mr. Ireland

was out of London from the 3d of Auguft to

the 14-th of September 1678. from 72 to 89
Oates'j- bold Behaviour towards the Court yy
Several of the King's Witneffes Proteftants 80,

81

Ireland'^ Execution refpited 82

Evidence of Ireland's Witneffes being infulted and
threaten'

d

87
Oates's Defence 89
He urges that Witneffes ought to be allowed a La-

titude in Swearing, and not be tied up to a Point

of Time ib.

Oates'j Witneffes do not appear 92
He infifts, the Kings Witneffes ought not to be in-

dict for Perjury ib.

Says, if he had been a Witnefs in any other Caufe

than the Difcovery of the Popifh Plot, he had

met with better Ufage 93
He is allowed a Week's Time to move in Arreft of

Judgment 94
Withdraws before the Evidence is fum'd up ib.

Mr. Solicitor s Reply to Oates'j Defence ib.

He fhews that OatesV Evidence againft Ireland

could not be true, even allowing him the Lati-

tude he contends for in Point of Time ib.

The Reafon why the Profecution was fo long de-

layed 96
The fc.Ctious Difpofition of the City of London

ib.

The Chief Juftice's Directions to the Jury ib.

He intimates that the Popifh Plot was a Sham,

and the Rye-houfe and Lord Rufiel'.j Plot the

enly true Plot 98

The Reafons that prevail*d upon King Charles 11.

to permit Ireland to be executed IV. 99
Of which the King repented ib„

Oates is convicted 101
Moves for longer Time to move in Arreft ofJudg-

ment 102
Delivers four Exceptions to the Indictment ib.

An Evidence for the King may be indicted at Com-
mon Law ; but not upon the Statute of Per-

JUU ib.

If any Part of the Defendant's Oath appear to be

falfe, it will maintain the Indictment for Per-
jwy 103

Perjury anciently punifh'd with Death ib.

At this Day, it is in the Difcretion of the Court
to inflict what Punifhment they fee fit, faving
Life and Member . \ 04

Oates'j fevere and illegal Sentence ib.

The Houfe of Commons, after the Revolution, cen-

fure this Judgment 105OATH.
Whether any other Authority but the Parliament

can impofe an Oath I. 746
Oaths enjoin d by the Canons, without Authority

of Parliament 870
The Oath of Allegiance permitted to be taken to

King Charles I. till his Death II. 9A Debate, whether the Privy Counfellors, &c.
take an Oath at the Nomination of Sheriffs in
the Court of Exchequer VI. 502

The Oath of a Baron of the Exchequer 193
of a Mafter in Chancery 504

OLDCASTLE, Sir John, accus'd of Herejy,

1 Hen. V. Anno 141.3. I. 36
Application made to the King for his Concurrence,

before Procefs was iffu'd againft him 37
The King examines him himfelf, and then leaves

him to be proceeded againft by the Archbifhop

ib.

Who cites him, and afterwards excommunicates

him for Contumacy ib.

His Confejfton of Faith 38
He challenges any Man to fight with him, in De-

fence of his Faith 39
He is arrefted in the King's Prefence ib.

His Examination before the Archbifhop in the

Chapter-Houfe of St. Paul's ib.

He is examin'd to four Points : Firft, concern-

ing Tranfubjtantiation ; 2dly, Penance -, 3dly,

the Authority of the Church \ ^thly, Pilgri-

mages 41
His Anfwers 44, & feqq.

His Sentence to be hang'd and burnt 4.6

His Abjuration counterfeited 47
By anAd of Parliament it is made Capital to read

the Bible in Engliih ; and the Offenders to be

condemned as Hereticks and Traitors, and fluf-

fier and forfeit accordingly 49
Such Hereticks excluded the Benefit of SanCiuary,

by another ACt ib.

Whereupon thofle of Sir John OldcaftleV Perflua-

fion are rigoroufty proflecuted, and Multitudes

fled into foreign Countries ib.

Sir John Oldcaftle efcapes out of the Tower, and

flies into Wales ib.

Before he got there, narrowly efcap'd being taken

at an Huflbandman's near St. Albans ib.

Divers of his Men taken ; and fome of his Books

;

in which the Images and Paintings were difl-

figured ib.

Sir Roger Aclon, Mafter B.'dwne, Sir John Be-

verly, and Thirtyfix more, condemned on the

above--



An Alphabetical TABLE.
~~~

ahvefaid Ails ; and hang'd as "Traitors, and

afterwards burnt as Hereticks I. 49
Sir John Oldcaftle deliver'd up by the Lord

Powis, and again imprifon'd, condemn'd, and

cruelly executed, 6 Hen. V. 141 8. ib.

The Proceedings againft Sir John Oldcaftle, taken

from the Records at Lambeth, in Latin and

Englifh 5°

His Anfwer to the four Articles exhibited againji

him 53
The Senfe of the Church as to thofe Articles 55

ORDERS. 5^ Plot, Popilh 11.801,993.

ORDINARY I- 849

ORFORD, Edward Earl of. V. 339. See Port-

land, Earl of, &? al.

OVERBURY, Sir Thomas ; Wefton, Turner,

Sir Jervis Elvis, Franklin, Sir Thomas Mon-
fon, and the Earl and Countefs of Somerfet

try'd for poifoning him. See their Trials.

OVERT-ACT.
Any Words or Anions which difcover a Dejign

againft the Perfon of the Prince are Overt-

oils of High Treafon. I. 10 1. III. 87, 208,

817, 1055. IV. 593, 658

Levying War an Overt-Att of compaffing the

King's Death II. 163

If any one Overt-Acl laid in the Indiclment be

prov'd, it maintains the Indiclment II. 314,

339
One Witnefs proving an Overt-Acl in the County

where the Indiclment isfound, and another Wit-

nefs proving another Overt-Acl in another Coun-

ty, are two Witneffes fuch as the Law requires

in Treafon II. 873. III. 204, 366. IV. 640,

A Confult with Traitors, an Overt-Acl of Trea-

fon IV. 689
A Gonfpiracy to levyWar againft the King direclly,

an Overt-Acl of Compaffing the King's Death
III. 722. IV. 625

But a Confpiracy to levy War, which by Conftruc-

tion only is againft the King, is not an Overt-

Acl of compaffing the King's Death III. 713
IV. 625

The fame Overt-Acl laid to prove the Treafon of
adhering to the King's Enemies, as to prove the

compaffing the King's Death IV. 413
Whatever manifefts a treafonable Intention is an

Overt-Acl of Treafon IV. 593, 657
Meeting and confulting to levy War, or to procure

the Kingdom to be invaded, Overt-Acls of Com-

paffing the King's Death IV. 772. V. 88
OUTLAWRY. See Pardon, and Holloway. III.

943, and Sir Thomas Armftrong III. 983
OWENS, Abel, V. 287, 297. See Kidd, &

al.

OXFORD and MORTIMER, Robert Earl of,
Proceedings againft him, on an Impeachment
for High Treafon, and other High Crimes and
Mifdemeanours, 24 June, 171 7. 3 George I.

VI. 102
Lord High Steward's Commiffion ib.

<Ihe Articles againft him read, being fixteen in
Number IO ,

The Articles of High Treafon m i
nz

Six Additional Articles 1 1

6

The Earl's Anfwer l2 o
His Anfwer to the Articles of High Treafon 132,

133
The Clofe of the Earl's Anfwer 143
The Commons Replication

'

147

Mr. Hampden opens the Articles VI. 148
The Lords infift, that Judgment be given on the

Articles of High Treafon, before they proceed

upon the Articles of High Crimes and Mifde-
meanours 1 50

The Commons Reafons for proceeding in their own
Method 151

The Lords Reafons for their Refolution 152
Afterfome Meffages, the Lords adhere to their Re-

factions, and the Commons to theirs 154
The Commons not appearing, the Lords difmifs the

Impeachment, and difcharge the Earl 156

PALMER, Roger Efq; See Cafllemaine, Earl

of.

PANNEL. See Jury.

PAPILLON, Thomas Efq\ III. 1072. See Prich-

ard, Sir William.

PAPIST. See Plot, Popifh II. 801
PARDON.

A Pardon muft have exprefs Words, and cannot be

by Implication or Inference I. 227. II. 351
A Pardon of Life only I. 367
Articles enter'd into by Military Officers cannot

amount to a Pardon, or bind the Civil Power
otherwife than in Honour II. 14

Where one pleads a Pardon that has Exceptions in

it, he muft fhew that he is not excepted II. $6z
Where one ought in Honour to have his Pardon^

though the Officer or Magiftrate engaging for
it, had not the Power of Pardoning II. 630,

636
A Copy of a Free Pardon II. 738
The Commons held that a Pardon could not be

pleaded in Bar to an Impeachment II. 139. III.

Perfons accufed difcharged on the King's Writ de-

claring their Innocence II. 750
A Pardon will not reftore one Convicl of Perjury

to his Credit ; but he fhall have an Aclion a~

gainft any one who upbraids him with his Crime

afterwards II. 44, 47
A general Pardon does not reftore one outlaw d
for Felony to Blood or Credit ; but a Felon ad-

mitted to his Clergy is purg'd and reftored to his

Credit III. 36, 46. IV. 139, 149
One convicled of Felony is, by the King's Pardont

or a Statute-Pardon, reftored to his Credit %

but one who is attainted of Felony, &c. neither

the King's Pardon nor a Statute-Pardon will

reftore either ta Blood or Credit, without fpe-

cial Words IV. 682

The King might pardon the burning in the Hand.

in an Appeal V. 1 63

What a Convicl is reftored to, on his Purgation or

Pardon V. 171

One pardon'd in Scotland has no Benefit of it in

England V. 510, &c.
Whether, if a Man pleads a defeclive Pardon, he

may plead over ; or whether fuch a Plea is fa-

tal? II. 754
PARKYNS, Sir William, his Trial for High

Treafon, in promoting an Invafion and Rebel-

lion, and endeavouring the Affaffination of the

King's Perfon, 24 March, 1695. 8 W. III.

IV. 627
The Court of Opinion the Prifoner ought to have

his Plate and Effecls to fubfift him ib.

The



An Alphabetical TABLE.
The Court deny to put off the Trial on Allegations

of the Abfence of a material Witnefs, without

an Oath made of it IV. 63 1

Sir Thomas Trevor, Attorney-General, opens the

Evidence 633
Porter'.? Evidence that he agreed to invite King

James over 636
And engaged in the Affaffination 637
Sir George Barclay conumed in the Affaffination

ib.

Evidence of a Quantity of Arms found in Sir

William'.? Houfe in the Country 642
Sir John Hawles, Solicitor-General, his Reply

652
Mr. Cowper'j Speech 653
Lord Chief Jufiice's Directions 655
The Prifoner is convicted 658
Sentence pafs'd on Sir John Freind, and Sir Wil-

liam Parkyns 659
Their Dying Speeches ib. 660

PARLIAMENT
Grant a Commiffion for ordering and difpofing pub-

lick Affairs, to certain great Men, •with extra-

ordinary Powers I. 3
Some of the King's Miniflers advife him againft

it ; which is made an Article of Treafon againfi

them 7
The Lords adjudge an Accufation to be good, after

it had been declared by the Judges to be not ac-

cording to Civil and Common Law 1

1

Orders of Parliament determine with the Seffions

II. 210, 749
For Treafon, Felony, or breach of the Peace, there

is no Privilege of Parliament 336
The Long Parliament held to be diffolv'd by the

Death of King Charles the Firft, notwithfiand-

ing the AM that it fhould not be diffolv'd but by

their own Confent II. 444
V/hether the Power of the Parliament, as to De-

claratory Treafons, be not taken away by 1 Mar.

&c ? I. 760. II. 565
Inferior Courts may judge of Privilege of Parlia-

ment, where it is incident to a Suit the Court is

poffefs'd of; but not of Matters arifing originally

in Parliament 620
Appeals, Writs of Error, and Impeachments, are

mi to be begun de novo on calling a new Par-

liament ; but they remain in the fame State

they were at the Diffolution of the old 747
But Inferior Courts may grant Execution in the

Vacancy ofParliaments, notwithfianding Appeals

or Writs of Error lodg'd in the Houfe of Peers

748
Counfel may not argue concerning the Law and

Courfe of Parliaments III. 208

The Courts of Weftminfter are to take notice of

the Adjournment, Prorogation, and Diffolution

of Parliaments 254
The Parliament in their judicial Capacity to be

govern'd by the Statute and Common Laws as

we I as the Courts at Weftminfter 255
The Power of declaring new Treafons was lodg'd

in the Houfe of Lords by 2 5 Ed. III. and could

only be ufed when Matters of Difficulty were

brought before them from inferior Courts V.

1 10

Wheiher it bejuft in the Parliament to take away

a Man's Life by Bill of Attainder, on lefs Evi-

dence than the Law of the Land requires in in-

ferior Courts ? 114

Whether the Convention aCted confonant to the Laws

of this Kingdom, when they declared the Throne

Vol. VI.

vacant on King James'.? Abdication ? Or whe-
ther they went upon that Principle, that the

People, on any great Emergency, might confti-

tute a new Government for their Preservation ?

V. nf)
That may be legal Evidence in Parliament which

is not fo in the Courts of Weftminfter 132
PARRIS, alias Parry, Charles II. 993. See

Anderfon, & al.

PARROT, Hugh V. 287, 297. &*Kid, & al.

PARRY, William, Doctor of Laws, his Trial for
High Treafon I. 121

Names of the Commiffioners ib.

Inditledfor confpiring the Death of the Queen ib.

Pleads Guilty 122
His Confejfon afterwards read in Court, where-

in he owns that he look'd on it as meritorious

to kill the Queen 122
His Letter to the Queen 12 a.

A Letter to him from Cardinal de Gomo 125
His Letter to the Lord Treafurer, and the Earl

of Leicefter ib.

He talks diftraCfedly 127
Lord Chief Juftice WrayV Speech before Judg-

ment ib.

His Execution 128
PARTICEPS Criminis. See Accomplice.

PAYNE, William III. 505. See Thompfon,
&'ai.

PEACHELL, John, D. D. Vice-Chancellor.

See Cambridge.

PEERS.
Several Queftions concerning the Privilege of the

Peers refolved I. 388. See Trials, and Im-
peachments, and Clergy

PEMBROKE and Montgomery, Philip Earl of,

his TrialforMurder, 4 April, 1678. 30Car.II.

II. 641
The Earl brought to the Bar ib.

The Lord High Steward makes a Speech to him

ib.

The Indictment 642
Sir William Jones the Attorney-General's Speech

Malice exprefs, and Malice implied, defined ib.

Evidence of the Earl of Pembroke'.? being in the

Company of the Deceafed, at a Tavern in the

Hay-Market 644
That my Lord threw the Deceafed down ib.

That my Lord kicked the Deceafed, when he was
down 645

The Deceafed troubled with Fits 647
The Phyfician s Evidence of the Pain the De-

ceafed was in, after thefe Blows ib.

The Deceafed imputed his Illnefs to the Ufage he

received in my Lord Pembroke'.? Company

649
The Evidence of fome of the Coroner's Inauejl,

who depofe that they obferved feveral Brui/es,

and a great deal of clodded Blood in the bottom

of his Belly ib.

The Earl of Pembroke'.? Witneffes examined

The DcCtors of Opinion, that hard Drinking oc-

cafioned his Death, and not any ill Ufage ib.

A Surgeon depofes, that the Body had no Bruifes

to be feen upon it ib.

Sir Francis Winnington, Solicitor-General, funis

up the Evidence 653
My Lord Pembroke is found Guilty of Man-
Jlaughter 655

* O Where
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' Where a Commoner Jhould have read, and been

burnt in the Rand, a Peer was to be difcharged

without either II. 655

PENNINGTON, Ifaac II. 391. See Regi-

cides.

PENN, William, and William Mead, their Trial

for a Riot and Conspiracy, 22 Car. II. 1670.

II. 610

The Indiclment ib.

The Prifoners fin\i Forty Marks each, forftand-

ing before the Court with their Hats on 611

CookV Evidence of Penn'j preaching to the Mob
in Grace-church-ftreet, and Mead'j abetting

him *b.

Penn juftifies their Meeting 612

Demands upon what Law thje Indiclment js ground-

ed ib.

Penn is violent in his Defence, and is ordered to

be carry'd away 613

Mead'j Defence ib.

Mead is carry'd into the Bail-Dock ib.

The Recorder directs the Jury in the Abfence of

the Prifoners ; which they objetl to as unlawful

ib.

The Jury give a fpecial Verdicl 614.

And are fent out again ib.

They put their Verditl into Writing ib.

The Court refufe it again, and adjourn till next

Morning, when they give the fame Verditl a-

gain 615
They are threatened by the Court, and lock'd up

till the next Morning ; and then they acquit

both the Prifoners 616
The Jurors are fin'd for going contrary to Evi-

dence, and fent to Newgate with the Prifoners

ib.

Their Commitment afterwards adjudged illegal ib.

PENRUDDOCK, Colonel John, his Trial for
High Treafon before Commijfioners of Oyer and
Terminer at Exon, 19 April, 1655. II. 259

Several other Cavaliers arraigned with him ib.

He infifts that there could be no Treafon but a-

gainft the King 260
Says he furrender'd to Capt. Crook on Articles

261
That the Law knozvs no fuch Perfon as Protector

260, 262
He is found Guilty 262
Sentence paffed on him and Twenty-fix more ib.

Declares in his Dying Speech, that, by his Arti-

cles, his Life, Liberty, and Eftate were ftipu-
lated for 2 63

His Behaviour at Execution ; and Letters from
and to his Lady 264

PERJURY.
One convitJcd of Perjury a Witnefs in Lazv, till the

Record of his Conviclion be produced II. 1006
One convitted of Perjury, a Pardon will not re-

flore him to his Credit III. 47
Whether a Witnefs for the King may be indicled

for Perjury on the Statute IV. 52, 92, 102
Perjury anciently punifu'd with Death ; but at

this Day the Punifhment is in the Difcretion of
the Court, faving Life and Member 104

PER ROT, Sir John, Lord Deputy of Ireland,

try'd at Weftminfter for High Treafon, 1592.
I. 188

Commijfioners Names ib.

Inditlcd, 1 . for treafonable Correfpondence, 2 . for
Difobedience to the Queen's. Orders, 3. for Har-
bouring Traitors 189

Twenty-four only returned on the Paunel, and
Twelve fworn I, jgg

Several indecent Expreffions fpoken by him in Ire-

land of the £{ueen given in Evidence ; mofi of
which he denies jg

Seager fwears he exhorted him to murder a Man
191

Archbifloop of Cafllls, that he connivd at the
Efcape of a Traitor ib. iq2

Prov'd that he difcharg'd feveral who had made
Ballads on the Government %q2

A treafonable Correfpondence fworn againft him
by Sir Dennis Oroughan ib.

Sir John objecls againft him as a Perfon of infa-
mous Characler 1 q,

He is convicled ; but his Judgment refpited ib.

194
Being call'd to Judgment, he denies Seager'j- Evi-

dence ; and affirms the other Witneffes to be per-
jured, and himfelf to be innocent ib. 195

Receives Judgment of Death iq6
He dies in the Tower IQ y

PETERS, Hugh IL357. &* Regicides.

PETITION. See Libel.

'

PHILLIPS, George II. 478. See Tonge, & al.

PICKERING, Thomas II. 696. See Ireland,

&al.
PILKINGTON, Thomas, Efq; Samuel Shute,

Efq; Sheriffs ; Henry Cornifh, Alderman,
Ford Lord Grey of Werk, Sir Thomas Player,
Knight, Chamberlain of London, Siingfoy
Bethel Efq; Francis Jenks, John Deagle,
Richard Freeman, Richard Goodenough, Ro-
bert Key, John Wickham, Samuel Swinock,
John Jekyllfenior, thetr Trial, May 8, 1683,

35 Car
- n - HI. 630

An Information brought againft them for a Riot
in continuing the Poll for Eleclion of Sheriffs,

after the Common Hall was adjourn''d by the

Lord Mayer, and for affauhing the Lord
Mayor, &c. ib.

The Counfel for the Defendants challenged the Ar-
ray, becaufe the Pannel was returned by the

Sheriffs, the Legality of whofe Eleclion they

difputed ; and urg'd that, if their Eleclion was
admitted to be valid, their Clients Caufe was
prejudgd, for that was the Point in Difpute

631
They are over-rul'd by the Court, and the Jury
fworn 634

Sir Robert Sawyer and Mr. Finch open the Evi-
dence 635

Sir George Jefferies gives a particular Account

of the Manner of eletting Sheriffs> and other

Officers, on Midfummer-Day ib.

Evidence to this Purpofe for the King 636
Evidence againft the ftveral Defendants 645
The Rioters Defence 647
Several Witneffes examin''dfor the Defendants, as

to the Power of Adjournment 650
Whoever can call or diffolve an Affembly, may ad-
journ it 658

Whether a Common Hall are bound to elecl the

Perfon my Lord Mayor drinks to, for Sheriff?

651, 652
Whether a Number of Perfons infifting upon, and

afferting their Right where they have a proba-

ble Caufe, can be faid to be guilty of a Riot
in fo doing 659

Ignorance of the Law no Excufe ib.

Ihe Rioters convicled 660

And
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And fin'd III. 660
The Judgment revers'd in Parliament after {he

Revolution 661
PLANTATIONS.

V/helher -private Subjects in the Plantations have a
Right to petition the King or Parliament of
England,? V. 43

1

Whether an Acl of Affembly in the Plantations

can create a new Treafon ? 432, 433
PLAYER, Sir Thomas, Kt. III. 630. See

Pilkinston, & al.

PLE A S, and PLEADING.
Where one pleads a defective Pardon, whether he

jhall be admitted to plead over ; or zvhetherfuch
a Plea will be fatal? II. 15

Exceptions to an Indiclment ought to be made be-

fore Plea pleaded 8q

If the Prifoner demurs to the InditJment, he con-

feffes the Faff II. 92. III. 796
Counfel affign'd a Prifoner to put his Plea in Form

228
Time given a Prifoner to maintain his Plea to the

Jurifdifficn 238
A Record cannot be pleaded in general Terms

;

but the fpecial Matter mufi be fet forth 233
A private Aff of Parliament mufi be pleaded

fpecially ib.

Averments necejfary in pleading, and what Aver-
ments Jhall be good, and what not 248, 251

One cannot plead Auter foitz arraign d 252
Where an Averment Jhall reduce a general Alle-

gation to a Certainty 253
No Fail is admitted by a Demurrer that is not

well pleaded 253
An Affion brought cannot be pleaded in Bar to

another Affion for the fame Caufe, unlefs a

Declaration be delivered in the firjl Affion

256
Matter of Faff aver'd Jhall not enlarge the Re-

cord 257
A Plea in Paper, and without a Counfel's Hand,

is not to be received IV. 213
Where one pleads to the Jurifdiffion, he ought to

be ready to maintain his Plea prefently 214
In Capital Cafes the Criminal is allowed no Time

to plead. 323
Where one appears upon a Summons he Jhall

have an Imparlance ; but if he comes in Cufio-

dy, or on a Recognizance, he Jhall plead pre-

fently 324
Where one pleads to an Indictment, he admits the

Copy deliver'd him according to the late All, to

be a true Copy 668
Time refus'd to confider of a Joinder in Demurrer

VI. 242
PLOT.

Plotters againft Queen Elizabeth I. 128, 134
Powder-Plot 232, 248
Popijh Plot

'

II. 656, &c.
Ryehoufe Afiajfnation Plot III. 684
Affaffination Plot againft King William IV. 562

PLUMTRE, Henry Efq; 111. 949. See Sache-

verell, William.

PLUNKET, John VI. 335: See Atterbury.

PLUNKET, Oliver, D. D. Titular Primate of
Ireland, his Trial the 8th of June, Trinity

Term, 33 Car. II. 1681. at the King's Bench-

Bar W eft minder, for High Treafon committed

in Ireland III. 293
Arraign d before, in Ireland, for the fame Fail

ib.

Five Weeks time allow 'd the Doctor to fendfor his
Witnejfes m

His Trial comes on ZQ .

The Indictment, for Confpiring the Death of his
Mejefty, and the Subverfion of the Eftablifh'd
Religion and Government in Ireland ib.

The King's Counfel open the Indiclment 205
Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, his Speech

before Evidence fo
The King's Witneffes call'd 296
Evidence of the French King's Defign to invade

Ireland, and the Prifoner's colleffing Money of
the Popijh Clergy to incite a Rebellion in Ire-
land, to favour the Invafion ib.

The Prifoner enters upon his Defence 309
Complains that the Time allow'd him was not fuf-

ficient to bring over his Records and WitnefJ'es

ib.
Mr. Solicitor fums up the Evidence ib.

He infifts much on a Letter the Doblor fent to in-
vite the French King to invade Ireland 310

Mr. Serjeant JefFeries'^ Obfervations on the Evi-
dence

jk
An Evidence examin'dfor the Prifoner, after the

King's Counjel had made their Obfervations

The Chief Juftice direffs the Jury ib.

The Prifoner is conviffed o 1

2

He is call'd to his Sentence, and makes a Speech,
wherein he complains of being try'd in a Foreign
Kingdom by a Jury of Strangers, who neither
knew the Character of him or the Witnejfes ;

and endeavours to fhew the Improbability of
what had been fworn againft him ib.

The Chief Juftice tells him he is try'd in England
by virtue of an ancient Statute ; and that he
was not the firfi Inftance, for O'Rurke and fe-
veral others had been try'd in England for
Crimes committed in Ireland 3 1

2

The Chief Juftice pronounces Sentence on Dr.
Plunket as a Traitor 21 4

He is executed i^_

His Dyim Speech > ib

POCKLINGTON, John, Efq; VI. 188. See
Gilbert, Sir Jeffery.

POLE, Michael de la, Earl of Suffolk, Lord
Chancellor, impeach'

d

I. j

Difputes the Senfe of the Chancellor's Oath 2
Cenfur'd on the Firft, Fourth, and Fifth Articles

ib.

His Judgment q

Accus'd of Treafon. See Brambre.
PORDAGE, Dr. John, Reffor of Bradfield, his

Trial before the CommiJJioners of Berks, for
ejecling fcandalous and inefficient Minifters,
i654- II. 217

The firft Nine Articles exhibited againft him 2 1

8

Charging him with maintaining feveral heterodox

Opinions in Religion ib.

The Doffor objetls, that he had already been try'd

and acquitted of this Charge ; which does not
avail him ib.

His Anfwer to the firft Articles 219
A fecond Charge, of fpcaking againft the State

of Matrimony ; and of dealing with Conju-
rers 221, 222

His Anfwer 222
A third Charge, of erroneous Dotlrines ; and of

faying he convers'd with Angels, andfaw Dra-
gons, and the Devil 224

Evidence to prove it 225
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Afdurih Charge, of criminal Convention witb

• a Woman, and having a Child by her II. 226

Evidence to the fecond Charge ib.

Evidence to the third Charge 227

the DoElors Defence Jb.

As to Doctrinal Points 228

As to converfing with Angels, &.C. 230

21? the fourth Charge 2 3 2

As for what he is accus'd of before 1651, he

pleads the General Pardon 2 34

the Depofitions as to the firft Charge for and a-

gainft the Doclor z 35

Evidence pro and con of the fecond Charge 244

Evidence pro and con of the third Charge 245

Hear-fay admitted as Evidence againft the Doclor

251

the Sentence pafs'd upon him, to turn him out of

his Living 2 59

PORTEOUS, Captain John, Proceedings in the

trial of him for Murder, before the Court

of Jufticiary, at Edinburgh, in July 1736,

10 Geo. I.
V1

- 7 6 3

the Indictment, fubfcribed by the King's Solicitor

ib. 764

the Information, by the King's Advocate 765

Captain Povteous's Defence, by his Counfel 770

Interlocutor upon the Relevancy againft him 78

1

the Libelfound relevant ib.

the Juryfwcrn 2b.

the Prifoner confeffes, the Perfons mentioned in

the Indiclment were killed and wounded ib.

Depofitions of the Witneffes againft him ib. & feqq.

of the Witneffes for him 788, & feqq.

the Verditl againft him 791

Sentence of Death paffed ib.

His Petition to ghteen Caroline, then Guardian

of the three Realms ib.

A Letter from the Duke of Newcaftle, Secretary

of State, by Order of her Majefty, to the

Lords of the Jufticiary , for ftay of Execution

forfix Weeks
'

793
the Captain is thereupon reprieved ib.

But taken out of Prifon, three Days after, and

executed by the Populace 794
they order two of their Number, for want of

Clergymen, to officiate, at the Place of Execu-

tion ib.

PORTLAND, William Earl of, John Lord So-

mers, Edward Earl of Orford, ' Charles Lord

Halifax, their Impeachment, together with the

Charge againft the Lord HzvevUhamforBreach

of Privilege, exhibited by the Houfe of Corn-

mom, 13 W. III. 1701 V. 339
the Lords addrefs the King not to cenfure or pu-

nijh the Four Lords till the Impeachments are

try'd ib.

the Lords ftnd a Mefjage to the Commons, to put

them in mind of exhibiting Articles againft the

Lords 340
the Commons bring up Articles againft the Earl

of Orford, and demand he fhould give Security

to abide the Judgment of the Houfe of Lords ib.

The Lords fearch their Journals, and find it not

ufual to take Security ib.

the Articles againft the Earl of Orford ; and his

Anfwcr ib.

the Earl of Orford defires a Copy of the Articles

againft him ; which is granted 344
4 Copy of the Lord Orford'j Anfwer order d to

be fen l down to the Commons ib.

two Counfel affign'd him for his trial V. 344
Another Meffagefrom the Lords, to put the Com-

mons in mind of exhibiting Articles againft the

other Impeach'd Lords 345
Articles exhibited againft John Lord Somers

;

and his Anfwer ib.

A Meffage fent by the Lords to the Commons,
that the Houfe having been defir'd by the Earl

of Orford, that a Day may be appointed for
his fpeedy trial, their Lordfhips finding no If
fue join'd by Replication of the Houfe of Com-
mons, think fit to give them Notice thereof

356
Another Meffage to put the Commons in mind of

exhibiting Articles againft the Lords Portland

and Halifax 3 rj

A Meffage from the Lords, that they had ap-

pointed a Day for the trial of the Earl of Or-
ford ; and that the Commons might reply, if
they thought fit ib.

the Commons infft upon it as their Right to exhi-

bit Articles, when they fee. fit ib.

that where feveral are impeach'''d, it is their un-

doubted Right to bring to trial fuch of them

firft as they fee fit ib.

that their Lordfhips ought not to appoint a Day of
trial, before the Commons have fgnifisd their

being ready to proceed thereon %$$
Precedents in Cafes of Impeachment ib.

the Lords in a Meffage to the Commons fet forth,

that they can find no Precedent where Articles

have been fo long deferrd after a general Im-
peachment '

3^q
the Lords infft on their Right of appointing the

time for the trial ib.

the Commons propofs a Conference on the Methods

of Proceedings in Impeachments jb.

the Lords agree to it ib.

Precedents fearch'd by the Lords 3 60
the Lords again affert their Right, to appoint a
Day for the trial of an Impeachment, without

any previous Signification from the Commons*

of their being ready to proceed 361
In a Meffage by Mr. Harcourt, the Commons in-

fft on their Propofition for a Committee of both

Houfes, to adjuft the Preliminariesfor the tri-

al : particularly, whether the Impeach'd Lsrds
fhall appear at their trials, at their Lord/hips

Bar as Criminals ; and whether they fliallfit as

Judges on each others trials for thefe Crimes,

or give their Votes in thefe Cafes ib.

Precedents concerning the Regulation of trials be-

fore the Lords 362
the Lords refufe to appoint a Committee, to meet

a Committee of the Houfe of Commons, to fettle

the Preliminaries in relation to the t? ial of tht!

Impeachd Lords ^S:\

A Meffage to the Commons, that they have ap-

pointed the 1 ph of June for the trial of the

Lord Soiners ib.

In a Meffage from the Commons, they tike Notice

that the Lords have omittedrnaming a Place

for the trial ib.

they ftill infft en a Committee of both Houfes,,

before they proceed upon the trial ib.

the Lords Reafons given at a Conference for mi
appointing a Committee ib.

the Lords refolve, that no Lord of Parliament,

Impeach''d of High Crimes and Mifdemeanoursr
fhall at his trial be without the Bar 3 64

And
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And that no Lord of Parliament, Impeach'd as

ofore/aid, can be precluded from Voting on any

Occafion, except in his own Trial V. 3 64.

The Lords appoint the ijth ofJune for the Lord
Somers'j Trial 365

Exceptions taken by the Commons to fame Expref

Jions of my Lord Haverfham'j at a feee Con-

ference 366
The Commons drjire the Lords to proceed againft

the Lord Haverfham for the Words fpoken by

him, and infiicl fuch Punifhment upon the faid

Lord, as fo high an Offence againft the Houfe

cf Commons deferves ib.

That the Impeachment againft the Lord Portland

be difmifs'd, no Articles being exhibted againft

him V. 383
That the Impeachment againft the Lord Halifax

and the Articles againft him, be difmifs'd ib.

That the Impeachment againft the Duke of Leeds

for High Crimes and Mifdemeanours, and the.

Articles againft him, be difmifs'd ib.

POTTER, Vincent II. 398. See Regicides,

PGYSON. See Murder.

PRECEPT. See Writs.

PREROGATIVE I. 547, and II. 305.
PRESSICKS, Mary III. 79. See Thwing.

Articles brought up againft Charles Lord Halifax, PRESTON, Lord Vifcount Calias Sir Richard
Grahme, Baronet) John Afhton, and Ed-
mund Elliot, their Arraignment for High
Treafcn, 16 January, 1690, 2 W. & M.

IV. 410
The Inditlment for Compafjing the Death of the

King and ^ueen, and adhering to their Enemies

ib.

The fame Overt-Atls laid to prove the Adhefion,

as to prove the Compaffing the King and Queens
Death IV. 413

The Lord Prefton infifts upon his Peerage ib.

The Court tell him he muft produce his Patent

414
That theHoufe of Lords had over-rid*d his Claim

of Peerage ib.

And that his Lordjhip had difclaimd his Right to

Peerage there ib.

The Indictment read in Latin at the Prifoner's

Requeft 415
Produces a Statute of 46 Edw. III. upon which

he prays a Copy of his Inditlment 417
Which is refus'd him 418
It is not regular to move to put off a Trial before

Plea pleaded ib.

The Prifoners plead Not Guilty, and then move

for a longer Time to prepare for their Trial,

urging that the hafty Proceedings in the late

Reign in Capital Cafes were look'd upon as great

Hardjhips, and given by King William as one

of the Reafon for his coming over, in one of his

Declarations 419
A Trial never put off on a Suggeftion that Wit-

neffes are out of the way, without Oath made of
it 42 r

The Prifoners refufing to join in their Challenges,

and demanded he fhould give Security to abide

the' Judgment of the Houfe of Lords 36 7
His Anfwer to the Articles ib.

The Commons refufe a Conference, till Satisfatlion

be given them as to the Words fpoken by the

Lord Haverfham 372
Order'd, that the Lord Haverfham have a Copy

cf the Charge dAivcr'd in againft him by the

Commons ; and that he have Counfel allowed

him
_

373
The Lords acquaint the Commons with their in-

tended Method of Proceeding at the Trial of the

Lord Somers ib.

An Ordrr cf the Houfe of Lords for the Lord

Somers'j Witnejfes to attend the Trial 374
Reafons given by the Commons why they refufe to

proceed to the Trial cf the Lord Somers ; and

an Anfwer thereto by ihe Lords ib.

A Meffage from the Lords, that they intend pre-

fently to proceed to the Trial of the Lord So-

mers ; the Meffengers acquaint the Lords that

the Houfe of Commons is adjourn*

d

376
The Lords proceed to the Trial, notwithftanding

ib.

Proclamation made in the King*s Name ib.

No Prcfecutor appearing, he is acquitted by the

Majority of Voices 377
The Lords appoint the 23d of June for the Trial

of the Lord Orford 378
The Commons anfwer, they will proceed ftrft to

the Trial of the Lord Somers, when they have

receiv d Satisfaction in relation to my Lord
Haverfham, &c. ib.

The Lord Haverfham'j Anfwer to the Charge of

the Houfe of Commons ib.

The Lords declare that, v.nlefs the Commons pro-

fecute their Charge againft the Lord Haverfham

before the End of this Sejjion, they will adjudge

him Innocent 381
An Order of the Lords for my Lord Orford'j Wit-

nejfes to attend the Trial ib.

A Complaint that the Commons in their printed

Votes had reflecled on the Houfe of Peers ib.

Refolv*d, that thofe Reflections cf the Commons

are contrivd to cover their affztled and unrea-

fonable Delays in profecr.ting ihe Impeach'd

Lords ib.

That they tend to the fubverting the Conftitution,

&c.
'

^ib.

They proceed to the Trial of the Earl of Orford

382
They acquit him Nemine contradicente, no Profe-

cutor appearing ib.

Order'd, that the Charge againft the Lord Ha-
verfham be difrniffed ib.

are order'd to be try dfeparately 423
The Lord Prefton comes upon his Trial, and

Afhton and Elliot remanded to Newgate, and

not permitted to be prefent at his Trial ib.

Jurors difcharg'dfor want cf Freehold ib.

The King need not fhew his Caufe of Challenge till

the Pannel is gone through ib.

Mr. Solicitor General (Sir John Somers) his

Speech before Evidence 425
Captain Billop'j Evidence of taking the Prifoners

on board a Smack at Gravefend, as they were

going to France with treafonable Papers 433
Lord Nottingham Secretary of State, Marquis

of Carmarthen Lord Prtfident, and Lord Sid-

ney, depofe that the Papers produe'd in Court

were the feme that were brought to them by

Captain Billop 436, 437
The Papers read, giving an Account of the State

of the Englifh Fleet and Garrifons, &c.

440

Vol. VI. Wit-
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Witneffes produced to prove fome of the Papers to

be my Lord's Hand IV. 446

Lord Prefton'j Defence. He objetls that no Trea-

fon was prov'd againft him in the County of

Middlefex 447

That Similitude of Hands was not Evidence of
" a

Man's Hand-writing in Capital Cafes ib.

His Objections anfwerd id.

" The Lord Chief Juftice Holt diretls the Jury

448

Lord Chief Juftice Pollexfen adds his Obferva-

tions 453
The Lord Prefton fuffer'd to fpeak in his Defence

after the Evidence fum'd up 454
He is convitled 455

PRESUMPTION. See Evidence.

PRICE, Anne II. 1017. See Tafborough.

PRICE, John Efq; and 100 other Proleftants, their

Arraignment for High Treafon at Wicklow in

the Kingdom of Ireland, March 6, 1688-9,

IV. 401

An Introduction, giving an Account how they came

to he charg'd with High Treafon ib.

Ten of the Grand Jury Papifts 402

The Lord Chief Juftice Keating's Charge to them

ib.

The Irifh Papifts arm themfelves upon the Revo-

lution with Half- Pikes and Skeans ib.

Encourag'd by the regular Troops in their Depre-

dations on the Englifh ib.

No Petty Treafon in Ireland 403

Murder made High Treafon in Ireland ib.

People may ajfemble for their common Defence^

without flaying for Permiffion from Authority

404
The Inditlment againft Mr. Price and the reft

ib.

Prifoners to the Civil Power ought not to beguard-

ed by Soldiers, or with Fire-Arms 405
The Grand Jury ought to be all Freeholders ib.

A Capital Crime muft be try d in the County where

it is committed 406
For want of Jurors qualified, the Trial put off to

another Affizes ; and moft of the Prifoners bail'd

by order of the Government, though committed

for High Treafon 407
The Proteftants complain to the Court of their be-

ing ftripp'd and plunder''d by a Rabble of Irifh

Papifts ib.

Two convitled forftealing Cattle ; and the Court

dwelling the Ordinary not to affift them in read-

ing, they receive Sentence of Death 408
Ihe Lord Deputy Tyrconnel'j Letter read at the

Affrzes, requiring a Loan ofparticular Perfons

towards fubfifting King JamesV Army 409
The Grand Jury excufe themfelves through the

Poverty of their County, and are reprimanded

by the Judge 41
PRIEST II. 801. See Plot, Popifh.

PRINTING.
A Printer on a Trial for High Treafon is allow'd a

Jury, half of which are Bookfellers or Printers

II. 530. See Libel.

PRISONERS, and IMPRISONMENT.
Sir Thomas More Imprifoned 1 5 Months, and his

Iftate confifcated before he is brought to Trial

I. 61
One kept in Prifon after his being try'd and ac-

quitted of High Treafon 77
A Prifoner deny'd the Liberty of taking Notes at

hh Trial 135

Falfe Imprifonment to detain one committed by

Order of Parliament, after the Diffolution of
the Parliament II. 209

The Goods of a Prifoner accus'd of Treafon or

Felony, may be fecur'd ; but the Prifoner ftoall

have a Subfiftence out of them, till he is con-

vitled II. 504. IV. 627. V. 290
A Prifoner Inditled for Felony, denied Procefs by

the Court to bring in his Witneffes II. 505
The Jury diretled in the Abfence of the Prifoner

6 J 3
Earl c/Danby Imprifoned 40 Months without any

Profecution 744
Refolvd by all the Judges, that the King could

not give him Leave to go to his Houfe 753
Where any Queftion of Law arifes, it ought to be

put in the Prifoner s Prefence 729
Counfel affigned a Prifoner floall not be difcharged

without his Affent III. 233
A Prifoner in Capital Cafes may not have any In-

ftrutlion in Writing, or otherwife, from Coun-

fel or others, without they are affignd by the

Court to afjift him 344
A Peer imprifon'd on a Homine Replegiand' till

the Party ejfoign'd was produced 544
The Court of King's-Bench deny the Prifoner a

Habeas Corpus to bring up his Witneffes, who
were Prifoners for Debt IV. 2

A Prifoner for High Treafon, not ufual to let

his Friends be in private with him 209, 662,

-
. 737

A Prifoner to the Civil Power ought to beput not

under a Guard of Soldiers 404, 405
A Prifoner brought by Habeas Corpus to the

King's-Bench, may be remanded to the County

Goal from whence he came, or to any Prifon

in the County where the King's-Bench fits

III. 1000
Where a Witnefs is a Prifoner, he cannot be

brought out of the Rules but by Habeas Cor-

pus IV. 599
The Prifoner s Irons ought to be taken off during

the Trial IV. 698. V. 18

But not upon his Arraignment VI. 232
A Statute made to imprifon feveral Perfons for

Life V. 81

Whether a Peer may be committed for a Mifde-

meanour? IV. 312
Whether a Commitment to the Cuftody of a Mef-

fenger be a lawful Imprifonment ? g$6
PRITCHARD, Sir William, late Lord Mayor of

London, and Thomas Papillon, Efq; the Trial

between them, Nov. 6, 1684. 36 Car. II. III.

1072
The Plaintiff declares that the Defendant caufed

him to be arrefted, being then Lord Mayor,
having no probable Caufe of Atlion againft the

Plaintiff ib.

Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, fuggefts

that this was part of the Plot of the difcon-

tented Party to throw the City into Confufion ib.

The Manner of the Arreft is prov'd I ®73
The Lieutenancy raife the Militia, and prevent

any Difturbance ; and my Lord Mayor is re-

leafed lo75
Mr. Serjeant Maynard'j Speech for the Defendant

ib.

The Lord Mayor not exempt from an Arreft, where

there is a probable Caufe 1076
The Defendant's Counfel urge that they had a pro-

bable Caufe, the Plaintiff making fuch a Re-
turn
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turn to the Mandamus for admitting him She-

riff, as he had Reafon to apprehend was falfe

III. 1076
Mr. Williams'j Speech 1Q77
Mr. Ward'j Speech ib.

The Chief Jujtice reprimands him 107S
Evidence that the Plaintiff refus'd to give an Ap-

pearance 1079
Evidence that the Defendant had a Majority of

Votes on the Poll for Sheriff 1084
The Attorney-GeneraVs Reply 1085
The Plaintiff's Counfel Jhew that the Poll where

the Defendant pretends he was eleffed Sheriff,

was taken in a riotous manner, and by Perfons

who had no Authority to take it ib.

Mr. Serjeant Maynard' s Anfwer 1087
The Chief Juflice's Obfervations upon the Evi-

dence 1088

The parfuing malicious Methods to obtain a Right,

makes the Party doing it liable to an Atlion

1090
hiflances of Malice in the Defendant 1 09

1

The true Defign of this Arreji, to procure an In-

furretlion 1 09 3

Damages diretled to be given anfwerable to the

Mifchief intended, and not according to what

the Plaintifffuftained 1094
Damages given 10,000 1. ib.

The Chief Juftice commends the Verditl ib.

PROOF. See Evidence, and Witneffes.

PROVOCATION. See Murder.

PRYNNE, William, Efq; his Trial in the Star-

Chamber in Hilary Term, 1693. 9 Car. I.

for writing and publiflmig a Libel, intitled,

Hiftrio-maftix ; or, a Scourge for Stage-Play-

ers, &c. as alfo the Trial of Michael Sparkes

for Printing, and William Buckner for Li-

cenfing the j'aid Libel ; and of four others con-

cerned in printing part of it I. 418
The Libel cenfures all manner of Plays and Re-

creations as unlavfful, and cafls Refleblions on

the King, Queen, and Court, &c. for allowing

them, and being prefent at them ib.

The keeping of Feftivals does not pleafe this Au-
thor ib.

Prynne'.; Anfwer to the Information 419
Buckner'j Anfwer ib.

Sparkes's Anfwer ib,

Mr. Ateomey- General opens and enforces the

Charge 420
Mufick, Dancing, Church-Ceremonies, and Men

and Women's Hair offends Mr. Prynne. He
infinuates that we are returning to Paganifm,

and perfuades People to fly their Country ib.

Prynne affirms that he would rather die than put
on his Maid's Clothes 42

1

King Charles'* Reign compared with Nero'j 42 2

Mr. Atkyns and Mr. Holbourn, of Counfel for
Prynne ; their Argument in his Defence ib.

Mr. Heme's Argument 423
Commiffioners Speeches before Sentence ib.

Prynne cenfurd 428
Buckner and Sparkes cenfur'd ib.

PRYNNE, William, Efq; I. 481. See Baft-

wick.

PUBLICATION. See Libel.

PIRACY.
Tlwfe on board a Pirate, prefumed to concur with

him, unlefs they can make the contrary appear

V. 14

Thofe that are Servants on board a Pirate, diretl-

ed to be acquitted V. 3 14
Englifh Pirates trfd in Scotland 572

R.

RALEGH, Sir Walter, his Trial for High
Treafon, in confpiring to depofe the King, and
fet up the Lady Arabella Stuart, and corre-

fponding with Spain for that Purpofe, andfor
publifling a Book againfl the King's Title ; be-

fore Commiffioners of Oyer and Terminer fpe-
cially appointed at Winton, the 1 yth of No-
vember, 1603. 1 Jac. I. I. 212

Sir Edward Coke, Attorney-General, his Speech

214 & feqq.

Interrupted by Sir Walter ib.

The King is King to all Intents on the Demife of
his Predeceffor, before he is crowned; and Trea-

fon may be committed againfl him before his Co-
ronation 214

Lord Cobham'j Examination, who was a Pri-
foner, and charged with the fame Facl, read as
Evidence againfl Sir Walter 216

The Prifoner's Anfwer ib.

Lord Cobham'j fecond Examination read; and
the Prifoner's Anfwer 217

The Judges rule, that two Witneffes were not ne-

ceffary to convitl one of Treafon ; and that the

25 of Edw. III. was not then in Force 218
An Examination not fign'd by the Party, adjudged

Evidence againfl a third Perfon ib.

Sir Edward Coke affirms, that Circumftantial E-
vidence alone is Jufficient to convitl a Man of
High Treafon 2 19

The Court rule that the Witneffes need not be pro-
duced viva voce 220

Some hear-fay Examinations read ib. 222
Evidence concerning the Book 2 2 r

The Lady Arabella cleared of being concerned in

the Plot 222
Mr. Attorneygives fcurrilous Language to Sir Wal-

ter 216, 220
Is reprov'd by the Court 223
A Letter of Lord CobharrrV read in Juftification

of the Prifoner 224
Sir Walter is convitled ib.

Sentence paffed 225
After fourteen Tears Imprifonment in the Tower,

he is made Admiral of a Squadron bound to

Guiana 226
Having ill Succefs, is executed at his Return, up-

on the former Sentence 226, & ieqq.

Whether his Commiffion did not amount to a Par-
don, in Honour, if not in Law ? 227

His Behaviour before and at Execution 229, &
ieqq.

RAPE. See Audley, and Buggery.
RAWLINS, Pleafant V. 449. See Swendfen,

&al.
READING, Nathanael, Efq; his Trial for a

Mifdemeanour, April 24, 1679. 31 Car. II.

II. 806
Sir James Butler'* Charge to the Grand Jury ib.

Probable Evidence fuffcient for them to find the

Bill ib.

Eleven Judges affifl at the Trial ib.

The Inditlment, for endeavouring toflifle theKing's

Evidence againfl the Popifh Lords, by fuborn-
ing the King's Witneffes, and bribing them to

retratl their Evidence 807

No
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No peremptory Challenge, but in Capital Cafes

II. 808

'The Prifiner complains of too ftritl and illegal a

Confinement ib.

One cannot be convitled. of'Treafon in an Indict-

ment, where the Treafon is not formally laid,

though the Fails charged do amount to Treafon

ib.

Whether he may not be inditled for Treafon, on

thofe very Faffs, after he had been convitled of a

Mifdemeanour for them. See Mr. Hampden's

Trial ib.

"Juryman may be examined as a Witnefs 809

The Prifiner confeffes, he believes there was a Plot

810

Bedloe'.? Evidence of the Prifoners tampering

with him to retracl his Evidence againft the

Lords ib.

Speke depofes that he over-heard the Bargain be-

tween Bedloe and the Prifoner 815

Bedloe'.? Servant depofes that he over-heard the

Treaty between the Prifoner and his Mafter

817

Mr. Reading'.? Defence ; he fhews how he be-

came concerned for the Popifh Fords 818

He is told, he mufi not afperfe the King's Wit-

neffes, unlefs he brings Proof of what he charges

them with 821

The Prifoner to have 100 1. per Ann. cut ofevery

ioco 1. per Ann. Bedloe got ib.

Bedloe owns he had been engaged in a Dfjign to

fire the City of Weitminfter 822

But the Prifiner is told, he mufi not afk him any

Shieftions tending to make him accufe himfelf

ib.

The Prifoner avers that Bedloe firfi propofed the

Matter to him 824
Ee.iioe owns he pitched upon an Eftate in Glou-

cefterfhire for his Rezvard 825
The Prifoner clears the Popifh Lords of any De-

fign to bribe Bedloe ib.

Hefidys that his treating with Bedloe was to pre-

vent the fhedding of innocent Blood ib.

Bedloe receives 500 1. of the Government for his

Difcovery 826
No Man ought to be Counfel in Treafon or Felony',

till he is affgned ' ib.

The Lord Chief Juflice North diretls the Jury

827
The Jury can have no Papers out of Court that

:. are not under Seal 828
The Judgment againft Mr. Reading . 829
Fie is fit in the Pillory ib.

REASON, Hugh, and Robert Tranter, their Trial

., for the Murder of Edward Lutterell, Efiq; at

the King's-Bench Bar, 3 Feb. 1 7 2 1 . 8 Geo. I.

VI. 195
The Inditlment uCi '.

. ib.

Mr. Serjeant Chefhyre'.? Speech before Evidence

x 97
Evidence for the King, that the Deceafied was ar-

refted, and kill'4 by the Prifoners whilft in their

Cuftody •

158
Evidence of what the Deceafied declared, after he

was wounded 201
. Debates about giving Evidence of what the Decea-

fied fiaid on his Death-Bed, the Examination
not being produced 203

The Judgment of the Court 204
< Surgeon's Evidence 205

The Prifoners Defence ib.

Evidence for the Prifoners VI. 205
Mr. Reeve and Mr. Hungerford, their Reply

207
Lord Chief Juflice Pratt'.? Directions to the Jury

208
The Prifoners found guilty of Manjlaughter 212

REBELS. &?? Traitors.

RECORDS. &* Evidence.

RECUSANT.
The Beginning of Recufiancy, and the Reafon of mak-

ing the Penal Laws againft Popifh Recufants

I. 232
Three Perfons, Quakers, convitled of Recufiancy for

refufing to take the Oaths of Allegiance and Su-

premacy II. 463
A Popifh Recufant a good Witnefs, till the Record

of his Convitlion is produced I. 392. IV. 45
The Juries who try'd the Prifoner for the Popifh

Plot diretled by the Court not to give any Cre-

dit to the Teftimony of the Popifh Witnejj'es, how
numerous fioever II. 876, 907

King James'.? Mandate to the Univerjity of Cam-
bridge to admit a Popifh Recufant to his De-
gree IV. 9.r^

REGICIDES, twenty-nine, their Trial for High
Treafon, which began at the Old Baily, Lon-
don, October 10, 1660. 12 Car. II. II.302

Refolutions of the Judges and King's Counfel upon a

Confutation preparatory to the Trial ib.

That any of the King's Counfel might privately ma-
nage the Evidence to the Grand Jury ib.

In cafe a Juror convitl a Man, it is no Caufie of
Challenge to a Prifoner who is to be try'd on the

fame Inditlment 303
The Lord Chief Baron s Charge to the Grand Ju-

ry 304
The Intention punifhable only in Treafon ib.

Of which Words may be an Overt-Acl ib.

The People have no coercive Power over the Perfion

of the King 305
The Spencers Treafon ; the holding that the King

might be imprifmed, or compelled per afpertee

to fiubmit to the People's Demands ib.

Any Perfion executing an illegal Atl, though by the

King's Command, is pumfhable 306
The King cannot in Perfion arreft any Man ; or be

arrefted ib.

The King cannot Jit in Judgment in his own Per-

fion ; and his Pojfejfions are fiubjetl to a Trial

by Jury ib.

The Prifoners brought from the Jbwer to New-
gate 307

'They are feverally arraigned ib.

, Waller, Sir Hardrefs, pleads Guilty 308
Marten, Henry, offers to the Court, that his

Name is mififipelt in the Exception in the Ac~b

of Indemnity 309
And is over-ruled 310

. Fleetwood, George, pleads Guilty 311
The reft plead Not guilty 308, & feqq.

FIarrison, Thomas, brought upon his Trial

Sir Heneage Finch aggravates the Charge ib.

Holds that if any one of the Overt-Atts laid in the

Inditlment, or any other Overt-Atl -tending to

the fame Treafon be proved, it /maintains the

Inditlment ib.

An Account of the Number of the Regicides, and

where difperfed, &c. 315
Sir Edward Turner'.? Speech ib.

The Witneffes called 3 1

6

Prov'd
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Proved, that he fat in the Court feveral Bays -,

and particularly on the Day of the Sentence

II. 317
'That he fign d the Warrant for fummoning the

High Court of Juftice 3 1

8

That he fign'd the Warrant for the Execution of
the King ib.

Proved, that Harrifon advis'd to blacken the

King in their Charge againft him 317
Copy of the Warrant for the Execution of the

King 319
Harrifon'j Defence ib.

He jufiifies the Fail, as approved by Heaven

ib..

Says that many upon the Bench were as atlive in

the Rebellion as himfelf ib. 320
He excepts to the Jurifditlion of the Court 320
And fays he atled by Authority of the Parliament

\

for which he was not to be quejlioned here ib.

Some on the Bench anfwer him 320, 321
The Lord Chief Baron direcls the Jury 323
An Endeavour to imprifon the King an Overt-Atl

of compqffing his Death ib.

Harrifon convitled 324
Judgment againft him ib.

Scroop, Adrian, his Trial ib.

The Evidence againft him thefame as againft Har-
rifon 325

Scroop'.* Defence 327
That he ailed under the then Supreme Authority

ib.

But forty-fix Members in the Houfe, when the At!

for eretling the High Court of Juftice pajfed

328
Whoever obeys a Court, where it exceeds its Jurif-

ditlion, is punifhable ib.

The Chief Baron direcls the Jury 329
Scroop convitled 330
Carew, John, his Trial ib.

The Evidence againft him, the fame as againft the

two former ib.

Carew5

s Defence 331
He jufiifies the Fall, and infifts that the Caufe

was approved by Heaven ib.

Carew convitled 333
Scot, Thomas, his Trial 334
Proved, that he fat as Judge in the High Court

of Juftice, that he was there upon the Day of
Sentence, and that he fign'd the late King's

Death-Warrant ib.

Proved, that he gloried in the Fail, and defired it

might be inferibed on his Tomb 335
Scot'j- Defence 336

For Treafon and Felony there is no Privilege of
Parliament ib.

He endeavours to prove that the Rump-Parliament
were a rightful and lawful Authority 337

The Bijhops excluded by Ail of Parliament ib.

Scot convitled 338
Clement, Gregory, retratls his Plea, and

-pleads Guilty ib.

Jones, John, his Trial 339
Evidence againft him the fame as againft Harrifon

ib.

Jones convicted ib. 340
Scroop, Carew, Scot, Jones, and Clement called

to their Sentence 340
The Chief Baron's Speech to them ib.

Hefhews them, the thing was never the lefsfinful,

for their pretending Confcience ; and that the

Man who killed his Father and Mother made
the fame Pretence ib.

Vol. VI.

Sentence p-onounced on the laft five II. 340
Cook, John, his Trial 94*
Proved, that he exhibited the Charge againft the

King to the High Court of Juftice 342
The King refufing to plead, the Prifoner mov'd

the Court that the Charge might be taken pro
confefib 342

That he demanded Judgment againft the King ib.

344
That he examined Witneffes againft the King 3 4.3

Cook's Defence 34.6

He pleads that he was ajjign'dto be Counfel againft

the King ib.

That he atled only for his Fee, and not with a
malicious Patention . 34.7

That he was not inftrumental in taking away the

King's Life, having no Power in the Court, and
ailing only as Counfel 34.8

Claims the Ail of Oblivion ib.

Infifts upon the King's Declaration from Breda

ib.

He objeils, that his writing treafonable Words^
which others dilated, was not Treafon ib.

Mr. Solicitor's Reply to the Prifoner's Defence

349
Words tending to the Perfonal Hurt of the King,

treafonable 350
A Pardon cannot be by Implication, but muft have

exprefs Words 351
Sir Edward Turner'.; Reply ib.

Mr. Windham' Reply 352
The Chief Baron's Diretlions to the Jury ib.

Tells them the exhibiting the Charge againft his

Majefty was High Treafon ib.

The Chief Baron fhews he was not within the E-
quity of 11 Hen. IV. which indemnifies thofe

who affift a King de facto 356
Cook is convitled %$J

Peters, Hugh, brought upon his Trial ib.

The Evidence againft him ib.

That he confefs'd he advis'd Cromwell to put the

King to death 358
That ke commanded the Soldiers to cry out Juf-

tice ! Juftice! againft the King 361
That he was atlive at the King's Execution ib.

That he preached on that Text, Bind their Kings

with Chains, and their Nobles with Fetters of

Iron 362
Hugh Peters'.; Defence 3 64
The Lord Chief Baron's Diretlions to the Jury

3 65
He tells the Prifoner, that the encouraging, aiding,

or abetting thofe who fat upon the King, and

brought him to his Death, was as much Trea-

fon as if he himfelf had fat upon him and fen-

tenced him ; and that his feditious Speeches in

the Pulpit, or out of it, were a fufficient Overt-

Atl of his treafonable Imagination ib.

Mr. Solicitor obferves, that this was the Man
who had feduced the reft, who faid they atled

in the Fear of the Lord ; and that his Execu-

tion might be a Means to bring fame of them

to their Senfes : that his Death would preach

much better than his Life had done, and might

in fome Meafure vindicate the Pulpit from that

Difhonour he had brought upon it 367
Hugh Peters convitled 368
Cook and Peters call'd to their Sentence together

ib.

Cook objeils to the Inditlment, that it does not

aver that he is the fame John Cook who is ex-

cepted in the Acl of Indemnity ib.

* Q_ The
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*fhe Court tells him, he has admitted it, by plead-

ing to it II- 3 68

The Chief Baron's Speech before Sentence ib.

He tells Mr. Cook, that thofe Words in the Oath

of Supremacy, which he had taken, that the

King is the only Supreme Governor in thefe

Realms, excludes any co-ordinate Tower ib.

Judgment pronounced on Cook and Peters 369'

Hulet, alias Howlet, William, arraigned

ib.

Axtell, Daniel, brought upon his Trial ib.

The King's Counfel open the Inditlment and Evi-

dence p.

The Witneffes produced againft Axtell ib.

Evidence of Axtell'j commanding the Guards at

the King's Trial, and beating the Soldiers who

did not cry out, Juftice! Juftice! Sec. 370
Axtell'^ Defence 373
He inffted, that the Authority by zvhich he ailed,

was acknowledged, both at home and abroad, to

be the Supreme Authority of the Nation \ and

what he had done was as a Soldier, by the Com-

mand of his General, whofe Command, if he

had refufed, he mufi have died : that he was

no more guilty than General Monk, who ail-

ed by the fame Authority -, and though it was

but an Authority in Fail, and not of Right, he

ought not to be queftioned ib. 3 74
He repeats and confiders diftinilly the Evidence a-

gainft him Sjy
The Chief Baron direils the Jury, and tells the

Prifoner, that no Authority can bear him out

in being concerned in the King's Death 381

Axtell is conviiled 382

Hacker, Francis, brought upon his Trial ib.

Mr. Serjeant Keyling opens the Evidence againft

him ib.

Hacker confeffes he was upon the Guard, and kept

the King for his Execution ; and being ftoewn

the Warrant, he ackno%vledged that to be the

Warrant he had for it ib.

Two of the CommiJJioners come down from the

Bench to give Evidence ; but did not go up to

the Bench again during the Trial 384
Evidence that Hacker acknowledged he did, by vir-

tue of that Warrant, fign another Warrant, for
executing the King ; but he did not remember to

what Perfon ib.

His Defence, that he was a Soldier, and what he

did was by Command 385
The Chief Baron direils the Jury, and tells them,

that this being the Perfon who had the Care of
the Execution, and Jigned the Warrant to the

Executioner, it was not to be doubted but he was
guilty of imagining the King's Death ib.

Hacker is conviiled ib.

Hulet, William, brought upon his Trial 386
The King's Counfel open it, that Hulet was the

Man who cut off the King's Head ib.

Evidence of Hulet'j confejfing he did the Execu-

tion, and other circumflantial Evidence of his

being the Man ib.

Hearfay Evidence allow'd againft him 387
Hulet'j Defence 388
He produces ftveral Witneffes, to prove that the

common Hangman own'd he did it ib.

The Chief Baron direils the Jury 389
J lulet is conviiled oqo
Harvey, Edrriond, brought upon his Trial ib.

He acknowledges his Sitting in the High Court of
Juftice ; but fays, he did not fgn the Warrant

391

Calls Witneffes to extenuate his Crime II. 391
Pennington, Ifaac, brought upon his Trial

ib.

He acknowledges his Sitting in the High Court
of Juftice •, but denies he had any Malice to

his Majefty ib.

Marten, Henry, brought upon his Trial 392
Evidence that he was very ailive in the Counfels

againft the King, and very merry atfigning the

Warrant for the King's Execution ib.

He confeffes his Sitting in Judgment on the King
;

and feems .to juftify it 393
Millington, Gilbert, brought upon his Trial

ib.

He acknowledges himfelf guilty 394
Titchburn, Robert, brought upon his Trial

ib.

He acknowledges his Offence ib.

Roe, Owen, brought upon his Trial ib.

He acknowledges his Sitting in Judgment on bis

Majefty, and figning the Warrant for his Ex-
ecution ib.

Li lb urn, Robert, brought upon his Trial ib.

He acknowledges the Charge alfo ib.

Smith, Henry, being brought upon his Trial,

acknowledges his Sitting in Judgment on his

Majefty _ 395
The Lord Chief Baron's Charge to the Jury ib.

Harvey, Pennington, Marten, Millington,Titch-

burn, R.oe, Lilburn, and Smith conviiled

Downes, John, brought upon his Trial. He con-

feffes his Sitting in Judgment, and figning the

Warrant for Execution : but, in his Excufe, fays,

he caus'd the Court to adjourn, and did his ut-

mofi to fave the King ; but was indue'd by

Threats to comply with the reft ib.

Potter, Vincent, being brought upon his Trial,

confeffes his Sitting in the High Court of Juf-

tice 398
Garland, Auguftine, brought upon his Trial,

confeffes his Sitting and Signing the Warrant
' for the Execution ib.

Evidence of Garland'j fpitting in the King's

Face ib.

He confeffes he was Chairman in the Houfe, when
the Aitl for trying the King paffed ^99

Meyne, Simon, brought upon his Trial ib.

He acknowledges his Sitting upon the King, and

figning the Warrant for his Execution ib.

Temple, James, being brought upon his Trial,

acknowledges his Hand to the Warrants ib.

Temple, Peter, being brought upon his Trial,

acknowledges his Hand to both Warrants ib.

Waite, Thomas, being brought upon his Trial,

acknowledges his Hand to the Warrants ib.

Heveningham, William, being brought up-

on his Trial, acknowledges his Sitting in Judg-
ment on the King 400

Downes, Potter, Garland, Meyne, James Tem-
ple and Peter Temple, Waite, and Hevening-

ham, conviiled 401
Sir Hardrefs Waller, Ifaac Pennington, Henry

Marten, Gilbert Millington, Robert Titch-

burn, Owen Roe, Robert Lilburn, Thomas
Waite, Edmund Harvey, John Downes, Vin-

cent Potter, Auguftine Garland, George
Fleetwood, James Temple, Simon Meyne,
Peter Temple, Francis Flacker, Daniel Axtell,

and William Hulet call'd to their Sentence ib.

402
The Chief Baron's Speech before Judgment 403

He
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He acquaints the Prifoners, that, as to all but

three of - hem, Execution is to be fufpended till

another Atl of Parliament Jloall diretl how they

fhall be dealt with II. 403
Judgment -pronounced againft thefe 19 as Traitors

405
Judgment pronounced alfo on William Hevening-

ham ib.

The Behaviour, Dying Speech, and Execution

Of Harrifon ib.

Of Carew 408
Of Cook 409
Of Scot 412

Of Peters 413
Of Clement ib.

Of Jones ib.

Of Axtell and Hacker 414
Of Scroop 416

REMARKS. See Atkins, Hawks, and Shower.

RETURN. See Writs.

REVOLUTION V. 116, 645, 671
REYNOLDS, John V. 572. See Green, Tho-

mas, & al.

RICCARDS, Arthur III. 949. See Sacheverell,

William

RICHARDS, Samuel. See ib.

RICHARDSON, John II. 585. See Meffen-

ger, & al.

RING, William IV. 131, 134. See Cornifh, &
al.

RIOTS and ROUTS. See Pilkington, & al.

Lawful for private Perfons to arm thernjelves to

oppofe Riots, Rebellions, or common Enemies

II. 593
A Riot is, when three or more are together to do

an unlawful Atl, and enter upon their Dejign

613
Where a number of Perfons lawfully convend,

continue together to do an unlawful Atl, (after

the Affembly is diffolved by the proper Officer)

it is a Rout and unlawfulAffembly, though there

be no Diforder committed III. 660
ROBERTSON, Andrew V. 572. See Green,

Thomas, & al.

ROCHESTER, Bijhop of. See Atterbury, Dr.
Francis.

ROE, Owen II. 394, See Regicides.

ROE, Richard. See Kendall.

ROGERS, William V. 194. See Cowper.

ROOKWOOD, Ambrofe I. 224. See Winter,

Robert.

ROOKWOOD, Ambrofe, his Arraignment,

14. April, 1696. 8W. III. IV. 661

He is indicled for High Treafon in confpiring the

Death of the King, and to that End confulting

and agreeing with other Traitors to attack the

Guards, and affajfinate his Majefty ib.

None permitted to be in private with a Prifoner
committed for High Treafon, but his Counfel

662

The Inditlment againft the Prifoner and three

others jointly : but the Court order'd them to

be try d feparately 663
The Court having Jign'd the Precepts for fum-

moning the Petit Juries, adjourn d for a Week
ib.

Rookwood'j Trial comes on ib.

Sir Bartholomew Shower and Mr. Phipps, his

Counfel 664.

So as the Prifoner have a Copy of the Pannel ar-

ray
1

d, the Intent of the sicl is anfwered, though

it be not at that time returned 66y

No Habeas Corpus ijfues in a Trial for Capital

Offences ; but the Jury come in upon the Ve-
nire IV. 667

The Prifoner's Counfel objetl, they have not a true

Copy of the Inditlment, the Style of Court, &c.
being omitted ; but were anfwered they had ad-

mitted it a true Copy, by pleading to it 668
No Exceptions can be taken to the indictment af-

ter the Jury are fworn, though the Words of
the late ACt are, that it may be done before E*
vidence given 6yy

Sir Thomas Trevor {Attorney-General) his Speech

before Evidence 6yS
Where the King pardons under the Great Seal, it

has the full Effect of a general Pardon by Atl

of Parliament 682
Porter'* Evidence of Rookwood'j Concern in the

Affaffination ib.

The Prifoner's Counfel oppofe thefwearing cf'Har-
ris, becaufe he was intitled to 1000 1. Reward
on the Prifoner's Convitlion ; but this appear-
ed to be a Miftake 684

Harris'* Evidence that the Prifoner agreed to be

one of the Affaffines 686, 687
Sir Bartholomew Shower'j Defence for the Pri-

foner 689
Confulting and agreeing, an Overt-Atl of compaf-

fing the King's Death ib.

No Evidence can be given of an Overt-Atl not

laid in the Inditlment 69

1

No Evidence ought to be produced without opening

692
Lord Chief Juftice Holt fums up the Evidence

Any thing may be given in Evidence that tends to

prove an Overt-Atl laid in the Indictment^

though the thing itfelf that is ieftified be an
Overt-Atl not laid in the Inditlment 697

Rookwood is convicted 698
ROSEWELL, Thomas, his Trialfor High Trea-

fon at the King's-Bench Bar, 18 Novem.
1684. 36 Car. II. III. 997

The Inditlment is remov'd out of the County of
Surry into the King's-Bench ib.

The Words in the Inditlment which are laid to be

treafonable ib.

The Inditlment read in Latin, at the Prifoner's

Requeft 998
A Rule made to bring him up again on the Day

appointed for his Trial 999
A Prifoner brought by Habeas Corpus to the

King's-Bench, may be remanded to the County

Goal where he was indicled, or to any Prifon

in the County where the King's-Bench Jits

1000
The- Trial begins ib.

Two Women, the King's Witneffes, depofe that the

Words laid were fpoke by the Prifoner at a Con-

venticle T-Ooq, 1008
Other Words permitted to be provd than were laid

in the Inditlment 10 10

Mr. Rofewell has the Inditlment read to him in

Latin a third Time at his Requeft, and objetls

to feveral Phrafes in it 1012
The Prifoner itjijts, he never fpoke the Words in

the manner the Witneffes teftified ib.

Gives an Account of the Subftance of his Sermon

1014
He calls his own Witneffes to alteft what he didfay

1017
The Chief-Juftice ufes the Prifoner's Witneffes

with Contempt 9 1

8

The
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fbe Chief Juftice obferves the Difficulty ofgetting

the Truth out of the Prifoner's Witneffes III.

1023

The Prifoner calls Witneffes to his Charatler 1024

Evidence that the Prifoner ufed to keep the opth

of January as a Fafi ; 1028

And preached up Kingly Government as the beft

1029

Several Perfons examin'd to impeach the Credit of

the Witneffes againft the Prifoner 1030, &
feqq.

Sir John Talbot'.? Evidence to this Purpofe 951

The Evidence closed io37
Rofewell proceeds in his Defence ib.

The Chief Juftice Jefferies diretls the Jury 1039

The Prifoner may not reply, after the Evidence is

fum'dup 1048

The Prifoner is convicled io49
Defires the Jurors may give their VerdiEl feve~

rally ; but 'tis denied ib.

The King's Counfel move for Judgment on the Con-

vitlion ib.

The Prifoner moves in Arreft of Judgment ; and

that Counfel may be affign'd him as to Matter

cf Law 1050

He objetls to the Inditlment, that the Words are

not pofitively averr'd to be fpoken ib.

Innuendo's insufficient without a pojitive Aver-

ment 1 05

1

His Counfel move for a Copy of the Inditlment

;

but 'tis deny'd 1052

Mr. Wallop's Argument for the Prifoner 1053
He quotes a Report of the Lord Coke 1054
An Innuendo cannot give an original Certainty,

where a Certainty is not fix'd before 1055
Mr. PollexfenV Argument

'

ib.

Words may be an Overt-Abi of Treafon ib.

An Innuendo without a preceding Colloquium, or

Averment, cannot maintain an Atlion, or an In-

ditlment 1 059
Mr. Attorney'.? Reply ib.

That where Words are plain and exprefs, there

needs no Averment 1060
Mr. Solicitor-General Finch's Reply 1062

The Chief Juftice inclines to allow the Exceptions

1064
The Chief Juftice Jhews the Repugnancy of fome

Exprejfions 1065
The Solicitor endeavours to make it good Gram-

mar ib.

No Statutes of Jeofails extend to Criminal Cafes

1067
No Judgment given ib.

The Prifoner pardon'd ib.

ROUSE, John, his Trial for HighTreafon thei^th

of July, 1683. 35 Car. II. HI. 731
. He is inditled, with William Blague, for confpi-

fpiring the King's Death {and to that End meet-

ing and confulting with divers other Traitors

how to furprize the Tower) and providing

Arms, &c. ib.

No Time can be injifted on to prepare for Trial in

Capital Cafes 732
Mr. Serjeant Jefferies opens the Evidence ib.

Leigh'.? Evidence concerning the fetting up the

Duke of Monmouth, and feizing the Tower

733
The Plotters fnggeft that the King was fworn in

France and Spain to bring in Popery, and there-

fore it was no Sin to cut him off 734
That the King hadforfeited his Right to the Crown

735

Roufe'j Defence, wherein he acknowledges there

was fuch a Plot ; but fays he was trfpan'd

into it HI, yoO
Roufe is convicled y -, 3

Sentence of Death pafs'd upon him y,-f
.-

His Behaviour at Execution n^a
RUMLEY, William II. 917. See Wake-man,

&al.
RUSSEL, William II. 993. See Anderfon, & af.

RUSSEL, Lord William, his Trial, 1 3 July, 1683.

35 Car - & HI. 706
The Inditlment, for comparing the King's Deaths

and to that End confulting and agreeing to raife

a Rebellion, and to feize and deftroy the King's
Guards ib.

He is permitted to advife with Counfel ib.

And has a Copy of the Pannel, before the Trial

7°7
He is permitted to have Pen and Ink, and the

Ufe of his Papers 708
Injifts on the Trial being put off till the Afternoon

ib.

Is allow 'd two Clerks to take Minutes for him
ib.

But defires he may have his Lady's Ajfftance ib.

Challenges a Juryman for Want of 40 s. per Ann.
Freehold in the City, and is allow'd Counfel to

argue it ib.

Mr. Pollexfen and Mr. Holt'.? Arguments ib.

709
Mr. Ward's Argument 710
Sir Robert Sawyer Attorney General, and Mr.

Finch Solicitor General, their Reply ib.

Mr. Serjeant Jefferies and Mr. North on the

fame Side ib. 711
The Challenge is over-rul'd 7 1

1

The Prifoner having challenged 3 1 peremptorily,

a Jury is fworn 7 1

2

The Attorney General's Speech before Evidence ib.

Lord Effex'.? Death in the Tower, that Day,
mention'd at the Trial 7 1

3

Rumfey'j Evidence concerning my Lord Ruffel'.?

being at the Meeting at Mr. Sheppard'j ib.

Trenchard difappoints them ib.

Sheppard'j Evidence concerning the Meeting at

his Houfe 715
Lord Howard'.? Evidence concerning the Infur-

retlion y\S
A Defign to alter the Government to a Common-

wealth 717
A Defign upon the King's Life 7 1

8

Lord Howard'j Evidence concerning a Cabal of
fix that met at Mr. Hampden'.? ; of which my
Ruffel was one 719

The Scotch invited into the Confpiracy ib.

Lord Ruffel makes his Defence 721
Alledges that a Confpiracy to levy War is not High

Treafon, by the 2 5 Edw. III. ib.

What may be interpreted a Defign upon the King's

Life 722
Two Witneffes to any one Species of Treafon fuffi-

cient, though they do not fpeak to the fame O-
vert-Atl ib. 729

If Counfel are allow'd to argue a Point of Law,
the Fatl muft be admitted 722

A Confpiracy to levy War againft the King direclly,

is an Overt -Atl of a Defign upon the King's

Life ib. See Sir John Freind'.? Trial.

But a Confpiracy to levy War, which by Con-

ftruction only is againft the King, is not fuch

an Overt-Att as to teftify an Imagination of

compaffing the King's Death ib.

Lord
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Lord Ruffel calls many WitneJJes, to prove that

Lord Howard open denied that he knew of the

Plot III. 723, &feqq.

Mr. Solicitor Finch'* Reply to my Lord Ruffel'*

Defence yi6
Mr. Serjeant Jefferies'* Reply to my Lord Ruffel's

~Otf:nce 728
The Chief Jufiice's Direblions to the Jury 730
My Lord Ruffel is convicted 731
He makes the fame Objections before Judgment as

he made at his Trial 744
Which are over-rul'd; and Sentence pronounc d

ib. 745
His Dying Speech 752

S.

SACHEVERELL, Henry, D. D. his Trial be-

fore the Houfe of Lords, upon an Impeachment

of the Houfe of Commons for High Crimes and

Mif'.emeanours, began in Weltminfter-Hall,

on Monday the iph of February, 1709-10,

7 Annas V. 641
The Order in which the Lords proceed from their

Houfe, to the Court erecled in Weftminfber-

Hall ib.

Lord Chancellor's Speech to the Defendant ib.

The Preamble to the Articles exhibited againfl the

Doclor, jnftifying the Revolution ib.

The four Articles exhibited againfi the Doclor 64.2

The Doclor's Anfwer to the firjl Article 643
His Anfwer to the fecond Article 64 4
His Anfwer to the third Article 645
His Anfwer to the fourth Article 646
The Commons Replication to the Doclor's Anfwer

648
Mr. Attorney-General (Sir James Montagu )

fhewi the Necefiity the Commons were under, of

proceeding againfl the DocJor by Impeachment ib.

Mr. Lechmere'* Speech, fhewing tlM Nature and

Tendency of the Fails the Doclor is charg'd with

65 i

Mr. Jodrell, Clerk of the Houfe of Commons,

fworn, and proves the Doclor acknowledged

both the Sermons to be his in the Houfe of Com-

mons ; and the Doclor's Ccunfel admit it in

Court 655
The Dedication of the Sermon preach''d at Derby

read, in Evidence againfi the Doclor ib.

The Dedication of the Sermon preach''d at St. Paul'.;

read in Evidence 6§6
The Sermon itfelfpreach'd at St. Paul's read ib.

Second Day of the Trial 666
Sir Jofeph Jekyll'* Argument in Maintenance of

the firjl Article, concerning the Refifiance at

the Revolution ib.

Mr. SolicitorGeneral (67/ Robert Eyre) his Speech,

•wherein he fiates the feveral Pajfages in the

Doclor's Sermon preach'd at St. Paul's, which

the Commons produced as a Proof of the firfi

Article ; and /hews the Infufficiency of the

Dobtor's Anfwer 669
Sir John Holland'* Argument, in Maintenance of

the firfi Article 673
Mr. Walpole'* Argument, in Maintenance of the

firjt Article 674
Sir John Hawles'* Argument, in Maintenance of

the firfi Article 6/6
Major-General Stanhope'* Argument, in Mainte-

nance of the firfi Article, wherein he endeavours

to fhew, that the Doclor preach'd this Sermon

Vol. VI.

with a wicked and malicious Intention to un-
dermine and fubvert the Government, and the

Protefiant Religion, &c. as he is charged in

the Preamble to the Articles V. 680
Sir Peter King'* Argument, in Maintenance of

the fecond Article, concerning the Toleration

683
Archbifhop Grindall'* Charabler and Condubl vin-

dicated 68 q
The Lord William Pawlet'* Argument, in Main-

tenance of the fecond Article 690
Mr. Spencer Cowper'* Argument, in Maintenance

of the fecond Article 69

1

Third Day of the Trial 603
Mr. Thompfon'* Argument, in Maintenance of

the third Article, concerning the Danger of the
Church

iD>

Mr. Compton'* Argument, in Maintenance of the

third Article 6q6
Lord Coningfby'* Argument, in Maintenance of

the third Article finy

Mr. Dolben'* Argument, in Maintenance of the

third Article i5 #

Mr. Serjeant Parker'* Argument, in Maintenance

of the fourth Article ; being a Charge of Sedi-

tion againfi the Doclor, for maintaining, in

his Sermon, That there were Men of Cha-
racters and Stations in Church and State, who
were Falfe Brethren 698

Mr. Secretary Boyle'* Argument, in Maintenance

of the fourth Article 706
Mr. Chancellor of the Exchequer'* Argument in

Maintenance of the fourth Article ib.

Fourth Day of the Trial 707
Mr. Lechmere'* Argument, in Maintenance of

the fourth Article 708
Fifth Day of the Trial yog
Sir Simon Harcourt'* Argument in the Doclor's

Defence, as to the firfi Article, concerning the.

Refifiance ufed at the Revolution 710
Mr. Dodd'* Argument in Defence of the Doclor,

as to the firfi Article 717
Mr. Phipps'* Argument in the Doclor's Defence,

as to the firfi Article 721
Mr. Dee'* Argument in behalf of the Doclor, as

to the firfi Article 727
Dr. Henchman'* Speech in Defence of Dr. Sa-

cheverell, as to the Charge in the firfi Article

728
The Doclor's Counfel being about to produce fome

Paffages in the Homilies, &c. in Maintenance

of the Doclrine the Doclor had deliver'd, the

Managers retire to conjider if they foould admit

of this fort of Evidence ; and being return'd,

they did agree, that the Pajfages the Doclor's

Counfel had collebled out of the Homilies, and
other Books fhould be read ; and they were
proved to be jufily tranferibed by Mr. Trapp

7 2 9
Sixth Day of the Trial ib.

The Doclor s Counfel defire the Paffages they had
collebled might be read : the Managers admit,

that the Pajfages out of the Homilies, and the

Book call'd, The Erudition for any Chriftian

Man, might be read ; but as to others, defire

they may produce the Books and Papers them-

felves ; to which the Doclor's Counfel conform

73°
Seventh Day of the Trial 75%
Mr. Dodd'* Argument in Defence of the Doblor,

as to the Charge contain d in the fecond Article

concerning the Toleration

R
'b.

Mr.
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Mr. Phipps'j Argument in behalf of the Doclor,

as to the Charge contained, in the fecond Article

v-753
Mr. Dee\r Argument in the Donor's behalf, as to

the fecond Art icle 756
Dr. Henchman'j Argument, as to the Charge in

the fecond Article JS7
The All of Toleration read 759
A Letter from Queen Elizabeth, the Bifhops, and

-another from Archbifioop Grindall to the Coun-

cil, proved and read 762,763
Mr. DoddV Argument in behalf of the Doclor, as

to the Charve contain d in the third Article,

concerning the Danger of the Church ib.

Mr. PhippsV Argument in Defence of the Doclor,

as to the Charge in the third Article 764
Mr. Dee'j Argument, as to the Charge in the

third Article 767
He makes a Doubt, whether it be a High Crime

and Mifdemeanour to diffent in Opinion from

a Refolution of both Houfes of Parliament 768

Mr. Thompfon'j- Reply to that Objeclion 819
Dr. Henchman'j Argument, as to the Charge in

the third Article. 768
Some BUfphemous and Heretical Books produe'd

in Evidence by the Doclor s Counfel 769
The Managers oppofe the readingfuch blafphemous

Pajfages ; but the Doclor s Counfd injifi on the

reading than, as tending very much to the Doc-

tor's Defence ; and they are read accordingly

ib. &c feqq.

Eighth Day of the Trial 775
Mr. Dodd'j Argument in Defence of the Doclor,

as to the Charge of Sedition contain d in the

fourth Article, concerning Falfe Brethren of
Characlers and Stations in Church and State

ib.

Mr. PhippsV Argument, as to the Charge in the

fourth Article 776
Mr. Dee'j Argument, as to the Charge in the

fourth Article 779
Dr. Henchman'j Argument, as to the Charge in

the fourth Article 7 8

1

Proclamations againft Prophanenefs, &c. produced

in Evidence by the Doclor's Counfel 782
The Doclor s Counfel move, that he may have

Leave to fpeak for himfelf, after the Managers
have, replied ; which the Managers oppofe, and

injifi, That if the Doclor have any thing to fay
in his Defence^ he may offer it before they reply

784
Dr. Sacheverell'i Speech in his Defence ib.

Ninth Day of the Trial 790
Sir Jofeph Jekyll'j Argument, by way of Reply to

the Dollar's Defence, as to the Charge contained

in the firfi Article, concerning the Rejiftance ufed
at the Revolution 791

Mr. Solicitor General's Reply to the Doclor's De-
I
fence of the Charge in the firfi Article 798

Mr. Lcchmere'j Animadversions on fome Expref-
Jions let fall by the Doclor's Counfel 802

Bit Peter King'j Argument, by way of Reply to

the Defence made by the Doctor's Counfel to the

Charge contained in the fecond Article concern-

j> the Toleration 807
h Day of the Trial 812

Mr. Cowper'j Reply to the Doclor's Defence of
the Charge contain'd in the fecond Article ib.

• He takes no' ice of the Mob having demolijh'd fe-
deral Meetmg-houfes during the Trial ; which
he imputes to the Doclrme contain d in the
Doclor' s Sermons ib.

Mr. Thompfon'j Reply to the Doclor's Defence of
the Charge contained' in the third Article, con-

cerning the Danger of the Church V. 8 1

5

Mr. Serjeant Parker'.? Argument by way of Reply

to the Doclor s Defence, as to the Charge of
Sedition contained in the fourth Article, con-

cerning Men of Characlers and Stations in

Church and State, who were Falfe Brethren

819
The Lord Nottingham dejires this Queftion may

be put to the Judges, viz. Whether in all Pro-

fecutions, by Inditlment or Information, for
Crimes and Mifdemeanours by Writing or Speak-

ing, the particular Words, fuppofed to be Cri-

minal, mufi not be exprcflyfpecify'd in fuch In-

ditlment or Information ? 828
The Judges refolve, that all Words and Writings,

fuppofed to be Criminal, ought to be fpecified in

fuch Inditlment or Information ib.

This Refolution cenfur'd VI. 330
Refolv'd by the Lords, that by the Law and Ufage

of Parliament, in Profeculions by Impeach-

ments for High Crimes and Mifdemeanours,
by Writing or Speaking, the particular Words
fuppofed to be Criminal, are not neceffary to be

exprejly fpecified in fuch Impeachments V. 8 2 8

Sixty-nine of the Lords find Dr. Sacheverell Guilty

of the High Crimes and Mifdemeanours charged

on him by the Impeachment ; and fifty-two vote

him Not Guilty 829
The Dotlor offers fome Exceptions to the Impeach-

ment in Arrefi ofJudgment 830
The Houfe of Commons demand Judgment aga{nfi

the Doclor ib.

The Dotlor's Exceptions to the Impeachment are

over-ruled 831
Judgment pronounced againft the Dotlor ib.

The Dotlor s two Sermons order d to be burnt be-

fore the Exchange by the common Hangman ib.

The Lords alfo order, that The Judgment andDe-
cree of the Univerjity of Oxford pafs'd in their

Convocation, July 21, 1683, which was.given
in Evidence by Dr. Sacheverell at his Trial,

floould be burnt by the common Hangman at the

fame Time with the Dotlor's Sermons ib.

The Lord Haverlham'j Speech in the Houfe of
Lords, on the firfi Article of the Impeachment

of Dr. Henry Sacheverell ib.

The Bijhop of Salisbury {Dr. Gilbert Burnet) his

Speech, on the fame Article 834
The Bijhop of Oxford (Dr. William Talbot) his

Speech, on the fame 840
The Bijhop of Lincoln (Dr. William Wake) his

Speech to the Houfe of Lords, March the 1 jth,

at the opening of the fecond Article, &c. 844
The Bijhop of Norwich (Dr. Charles Trimnel) his

Speech, on the fame Occajion 850
SACHEVERELL, William Efq; his Trial, with

twenty other Gentlemen, at the King's Bench,

for a Riot committed at Nottingham, 1684,,

1 3 Car. II. III. 949
The Information for being unlawfully prefent at

the Eletlion of a Mayor, when they had no

Concern in the Eletlion ; and for carrying a-

way one of the Maces ib. 950
Sir Thomas Jenner (Recorder of London) his

Speech before Evidence ib.

Mr. Norths Speech 951
Mr. Jones's Speech 952
Evidence of a Difpute between two Charters ;

and that the Defendants committed a Riot in

contending for the old one 9 S3
Mr.
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Mr. Pollexfen'j Speech for the Defendants III.

964
The Court refufe to hear any thing for or,againji

either of the Charters, the Matter in~Quejlion

being only for a Riot gSy
Witneffes examin'd for the Defendants 968
Lord Chief Jujiice Jefferies funis up the Evidence

97 6
Twenty are found Guilty and find -, and one ac-

quitted 978
Their refpective Fines ib.

SAINT LEGER, Sir John VI. 188. 5^ Gil-

bert, Sir Jeffery.

SALISBURY, Sir John I. 15, See Brambre.

SALISBURY, Thomas I. 121. See Babington,

&al.
SALMON, Francis III. 949. See Sacheverell,

William.

SANCROFT, Dr. William, Lord Archbifhop of
Canterbury, his Trial at the King's Bench,

for publifioing a Libel, the zyth of June, 1688,

Trin. 4 Jac. II. IV. 304
SAVAGE, John I. ta8. See Babington, & al.

SCANDAL. MAGNAT. III. 987.
SCOT, Thomas II. 334. See Regicides.

SCOTLAND, The Method obferv'd in Trials of

Criminals there I. 429. II. 623. III. 441,
1095. IV 283

SCOTS, Mary, Queen of, Proceedings againji her

at Fotheringay-Caltie the 12th of October,

1586, 28 Eliz. for being concerned in a Con-

fpiracy againji Queen Elizabeth I, 143
An Affociation enter d into in behalf of Queen E-

lizabeth ib.

An Att to confirm it 144
Which excludes any Perfon having Pretenfions to

the Crown, who fhall ajfent to the raifing a Re-

bellion in the Kingdom in Queen Elizabeth'*

Time ; and makes fuch Ajfent a Capital Crime

145
A Commiffion for trying the Queen of Scots, in

Purfua-nce of that Acl ib. 138
She makes a Proieftaiion, and refufes to appear

146, 147
Her Proteflation being received and recorded, with

the Lord Chancellor''s /mfwer to it, fhe fubmits

to appear before them 148
She is charged with confpiring the Queen's Death,

and with a Dejign of conveying the Kingdom to

the Spaniard ib.

Letters between her and Babington read to prove

it I. 149, & feqq.

She fays they were forged 152
She complains that the Witneffes were not produe'd

Face to Face ; and that her Papers were taken

from her 153
The Lord Treafurer Jhews that the Kingdom could

not be aliened or made over to another, but muji

defcend to the next in Succeffwn 155
Sentence -pronounced againji her in the Star-Cham-

ber ib.

A Declaration added, that this Sentence did not

prejudice the Title of James King of Scots to

this Crovm ib.

The Sentence confirm'd by Parliament ib. 156
They addrefs the Queen to put it in Execution

156
Queen Elizabeth's Anfwer 157
The Warrant fign'd for her Execution 161

Her Behaviour at her Execution 162

SCROOP, Adrian II. 324, See R.egicides.

SEAL. See Great Seal.

SEATON, Archibald V. 630. See Stirling, & al.

SELLERS, John II. 478. See Tonge, & al.

SHAFTESBURY, Anthony Earl of, his Cafe on
a Motion in the King's Bench to be admitted
to Bail, the 27th and 29th of June, 1677,
Trin. Term, 29 Car. II. II. 616

His Commitment by the Lords for Contempts in

general; which his Counfel urge is an illegal

Commitment ib. 617
And that it being by the Houfe of Peers, made no

Difference Si 7
And that the Court of B. R. might examine Par-

liamentary Matters ib.

The King's Counfel make a Reply 620
The Earl makes a Speech in anfwer to the Attorney

and Solicitor General 62

1

Mr. Jujiice Jones deliver'd his Opinion, that
though the Commitment was ill, it could not be

examin'd here ; and that the Earl could not be
bailed or dijcharged here 622

Mr. Jujiice Wild of the fame Opinion ib.

As was Sir Richard Raynsford, Lord Chief Ju-
jiice ib.

And Mr. Jujiice Twyfden : but none of them de-

clar'd what their Opinions were, in cafe the

Seffion had been concluded, but Mr. Jujiice

Wild ; who faid, in that Cafe, that the Earl
ought to have been difcharged ib.

SHAFTESBURY, Anthony Earl oj\ Proceedings

at the Old Bailey, on an Indiclment for High
Treafon preferr'd againji him, Nov. 24, 1681,

33 Car. II. III. 418
The Grand Jury fworn ib.

The Lord Chief Jujiice Pemberton'j Charge to

them ib.

He tells them, that Words would not amount to

Treafon within 2 5 Edw. III. any more than a
Dejign to imprifon the King ; but that by the

1 3 Car. II. Words tending to fuch a Dejign

were treafonable 419
That two Witneffes to every Overt-AH are not ne-

ceffary ib.

That if there appear a Probability of the Party's

Guilt who is inditled, it is afufficient Induce-

ment to find the Bill ib.

The King's Counfel move, that the Evidence may
be given to the Grand Jury in Court 420

The Grand Jury inftfi, That they ought to examine

the Witneffes in private, being bound by their

Oaths to keep the King's Secrets, and it being

the conftant Prablice fo to do ib.

The Chief Jujiice tells them, their Debates indeed

ought to be in private ; but anciently the Evi-

dence was given in Court ib.

The Grand Jury Jiill infiji they are bound to keep

the King's Secrets ; and the Court tell than, the

Cafe is alter d, where the King waves that

Matter 42

1

The Indiclment ib.

A Paper found in my Lord Shaftefbury'j Cuflody

given in Evidence againji him, being an Affoci-

ation for excluding the Duke of York, and de-

Jioying the King's regular Forces ; wherein the

Subfcribers bind themfelves to obey fuch Officers

as the Majority of the Parliamentfhall appoint y

and in the Interval of Parliament, fuch Offi-

cers as a Majority of the Subfcribers fhall ap-

point 424
Booth'* Evidence, of his being appointed by my

Lord Shaftefbury to affifi in furprizing the

King



An Alphabetical TABLE.
'King, if he fhould not agree to the Demands of

the Parliament of Oxford 4 2 ^

Other Evidence to the fame Purpofe 428

The Grand Jury retire to confider what Queftions

to ajk the Witneffes 43 2

They defire to know if any of the Witneffes are in-

dicted; but are told it is not their Bufinefs to

examine to the Credibility of the Witneffes : but

if .they know any thing of them themfelves, they

may confider of it 1D -

The Grand Jury put their Queftions to the Wit-

neffes 433
The Kings Witneffes in Banger of being knock'd

on the Head by the Populace 435, 436
Having withdrawn fome Time, they return the Bill

Ignoramus ; at which the People pout 44

1

SHARPLESS, John II. 585. See Meffenger,

& al.

SHERFIELD, Henry Efq; Proceedings againft

him in the Star-Chamber, forbreaking a painted

Glafs-Window in a Church, 8 Car. I. I. 399
The Information againft him ib.

In his Anfwer he owns the Fail, and juflifies it

ib.

Alledges that it was a fuperftitious Pitlure, and

taken down by Order of the Veflry 400
Depqfitions of the King's Witnefjes read 401
The Defendant's Reply 403
Mr. Attorney s Anfwer 407
The Commiffioners differ in Opinion as to the Sen-

tence : the Speech of Lord Cottington for a

fevere one 408
Sir Robert Heath for a mild one 409
Sir Thomas Richardfon, the fame 410
Secretary Windebanke, for a fevere one 4 1

1

Secretary Cooke and Sir Thomas Jermyn, for a

mild one ib.

Sir Henry Vane, for a fevere one ib.

Sir Thomas Edmonds, for a mild one 412
Dr. Laud, Bifhop of London, for a fevere one

ib.

Lord Falkland and Earl of Devon for the fame

414
Vifcount Wimbleton and Earl of Dorfet, for a

mild one ib.

Earl of Arundel, for a fevere one 415
Earl 0/Manchefter, for an eafy one ib.

Dr. Neale, Archbifhop of York, for a fevere one

416
Lord Keeper, for a mild one 417
His Sentence 4 1

8

SHERIFFS of London. See Pilkington, & al.

SHERWIN, John III. 949. See Sacheverell,

William.

SHOWER, Sir Bartholomew. See the Magijlracy

and Government vindicated III. y6$
SHUTE, Samuel, Efq; III. 630. See Pilking-

ton, & al.

SIDNEY, Algernon, Efq; his Arraignment for
High Treafon, Nov. 7. 1683. 35 Car. II.

III. 794
The Inditlment, for confpiring the King's Death,

and framing a Libel, wherein he affirms, that

the King is accountable to the People who make
him King, &:c. ib.

He objetls that the Crimes laid in the Inditlment

were different in their Nature, therefore the

Inditlment was vitious, and he need not plead
to it : but is told by the Court, he muft either

plead or demur to it ; and if he demurs, he ad-
mils the Fatls : whereupon he pleaded Not
Guilty

795j 79 6

A Counfel reprimanded for whifpering to him in

Court III. 796
He is brought to Trial, Nov. 21. 1683. 797
He is denied a Copy of the Inditlment ; but it is

read to him in Latin ib.

Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, his Speech

before Evidence ib.

Hearfay Evidence allow
1d to be given ; and fome

of it fuch as did not relate to the Prifoner 798
The Cafe of the Popifh Lords remember d, where

a general Account of the Plot was allowed to he

given in Evidence, though it did not immediate-

ly affetl Prifoners ib.

The Englifh and Scotch difagree in their Schemes

of a new Government to be eretled 799
Lord Howard'j Evidence concerning the Cabal of

Six, who met at Mr. Hampden'.? 800
The Libel prov'd to be the Prifoner s by the Si-

militude the Hand it was wrote in, bore to the

Prifoner's, and by being found among his Pa-
pers in his Study 802

Part of the Book read 803
The Prifoner objetls, that Similitude of Hands is

no Proof in Criminal Cafes 805
That it was no Crime to write treafonable Pofi-

tions, fo as he did not publifh them ; which the

Court deny 807
He endeavours to fhew, that thofe Expreffions in

the Libel, could never be wrefted to a Dejign of
killing the King ib.

He objetls to my Lord Howard*j Teftimony, that

he had faid he could not have his Pardon till

he had done fome other Jobs, and till the Drud-

gery of Swearing was over 811

Col. Sidney's Defence, as to the Confult ib.

The Solicitor General's Reply 8
1

3

Treajonable Pofitions contained in the Libel 8
1

5

Lord Chief Juftice fums up the Evidence 816
Writing an Overt-Atl : Scribere eft agere 8

1

7

Confpiring to levy War, Evidence of compaffing

the King's Death ib.

Or any other Atl which difcovers an Imagination

in the Heart, to depofe, deftroy, or imprifon the

King ib.

The Prifoner convitled 820
Alledges in Arreft of Judgment, that fome of the

Jury were not Freeholders ; but is told by the

Court, Freehold is not a neceffary Qualification

of a Juryman in High Treafon ib.

He is denied a Sight of the Inditlment ib.

Sentence pronounced upon him 822
His Dying Speech ib.

His Attainder revers'd at the Revolution 824
SLINGSBY, Sir Henry, Knight, his Trial for

High Treafon before the High Court of Juf-

tice in Weftminfter Hall, May 25, 1658.

II. 277
Impeachment, for High Treafon againft the Pro-

testor and Commonwealth ib.

John LiQe Prefident of the Court ib.

The Prifoner is refufed a Trial by Jury 278
Evidence of his endeavouring to bring over Jowe of

the Officers in Hull to the King's Intereft ib.

& feqq.

Sir Henry in Effetl acknowledges the Dcfign with

which he is charg'd 280
See the Judgment, in Mr. MordauntV Trial 299
He is beheaded 300
His Behaviour upon the Scaffold ib.

SMITH, Francis, his Trial for a feditious Libel,

32 Car. II. 1679 II. 1040
SMITH, Henry II. 395. See Regicides.

The
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The Libel reflecls chiefly on the Lord Chief Juftice

Scroggs II. 1040
'The 'Defendant's Counfel admit the Record ; and

the Prifoner is convicled 1041

SMITH, Richard. See ib.

SMITH, Samuel III. 949. See Sacheverell, Wil-

liam.

SMITH, William. See ib.

SODOMY. S^ Buggery. '•

SOLICITOR.
A Prifoner may not have a Solicitor in Treafon, or

Felony without Leave of the Court III. 263
One indi5iedfor High Treafon, in foliciting for a

Prifoner charged with Treafon III. 347
Aaron Smith, College'.? Solicitor, made to give

Security to anfwer the Mifdemeanour 349
The Court deny the Prifoner a Solicitor to- ajfifi

him at his Trial III. "343. IV". 455
SOMERS, John Lord V. 339. See Portland,

Earl of & al.

SOMERSET, Frances Countefs of, brought to

Trial, as Acceffary, before the Fail, to the

Murder of Sir Thomas Overbury, May 24,

1616 I. 348
She pleads Guilty 349
The King's Counfel Jheiv how ftrangely this Mur-

der was difcover'd, after it had been concealed

two years 350
The King's Fnftruclions to thofe who were appoint-

ed to enquire into the faid Murder ib.

Sentence pafs'd on the Countefs 351
SOMERSET, Robert Carr Earl of, his Trial, as

Acceffary, before the Fail, to the Murder of
Sir Thomas Overbury, the 25th of May
1616. 351

Lord High Steward's Charge to the Peers ib.

Mr. Attorney, Sir Francis Bacon, opens the Evi-

dence 352
Hefhews the Springs and Foundation of this Con-

fpiracy againft Sir Thomas'J Life 353
Toifoning once made Treafon ib.

Evidence of the Earl's Malice to Sir Thomas, for
advifing againft his Marriage with the Coun-

tefs 35 6

Letters fent by Sir Thomas to the Earl from the

Tower ib.

Sir Dav. Woods'^ Evidence, that the Countefs of-

fer'd him 1000 1. to kill Sir Thomas Overbu-
ry 358

Earl of SomerfetV Petition to the King, that he

might not be brought to Trial, read as Evidence

againft him ib.

The Earl owns he was the Occcfion of Overbury'^

Imprifonment ib.

His Hypocrify and Bafenefs to the whole Family of
the Overburys 359

Examinations taken without Oath, read againft

him 360
The Countefs's Atlions given in Evidence againft

the Earl 361
The Lord Steward preffes him to wave his De-

fence, and fubmit to Mercy ; which he refufes,

and makes his Defence 363
Owns his being privy to fending the Tarts ib.

He is convicled; and Sentence pafs'd upon him

3 65
His Letter to the King ib.

The Earl and Countefs pardon'd as to their Lives ;

but confind 367
Order of Council as to their Confinement ib.

Motives in the Countefs's Pardon, which induced

the King to grant it ib.

Vol. I.

The Earl's Petition to K. Charles I, for his Eft
l

ate'§

never granted I. 373
He and his Countefs both died in Obfcurity ib,

SOUTHAMPTON, Henry Earl of I. 197, See

Effex, Earl of
SPARKES, John V. i. See Dawfon.
SPARKES, Michael L 418. See Prynne, &

ah

SPEKE, Hugh III. 855. See Braddon.

SPOTISWOOD, Sir Robert, his Trial for High
Treafon, in the Parliament held at St. An-
drews in Scotland, Nov. Dec. and Jan. 1645.
21 Car. I. i, 961

The Indiclment, for abufing the King, in purcha-
fing the Office of Secretary of State, lately held

by the Earl of Lanerk 962
For figning a Commiffion to the (late) Earl of

Montrofe to be Generaliffimo : and forjoining
with the faid Earl's Army, and committing

divers Acls of Hoftility with him ib.

Sir Robert anfwers, That the King had made him
a temporary Secretary, in the Abfence of the

Earl of Lanerk 963
That the faid Commiffion was figned by his Ma-

jefty's fpecial and exprefs Command 964
That his accompanying the Earl of Montrofe-j

with the King's Commiffion, could not be in-

terpreted a taking up Arms againft the King-
dom ib.

And laftly, that he is not charged with any thing

declared, by any Law or Ail of Parliament, to

be Treafon ib.

The Counfel againft him reply, that to accept any

Office without Confent of the Parliament, is

Criminal g6$
And his Jigning this Commiffion a Proof of his

framing or advifing other Ails of State againft

them, to difturb the publick Peace ib.

That his joining the Traitor James Graham
{the Earl of Montrofe) was a taking up Arms
againft his Country ib.

Which is High Treafon by an Ail of Parliament

in 1584. 963, g66
Sir Robert rejoins y66
Infifts that he was promifed Quarter upon fur-

rendering himfelf 968
Is anfwered, thai it is not in the Power of any pri-

vate Man in the Army to give Quarter to

an Oppofer of The Solemn League and Cove-
nant, as he had been 969

And if Quarter were to be allowed to other Pri-

foners, yet not to him, whom both Parliaments

of Scotland and England, had excepted from
Pardon 970

Sir Robert infifts further, that the Benefit of
Quarter given is fecured to all Prifoners by

the Laws of Arms and of all Nations, as well

in Civil as in Foreign Wars ib.

Otherwife, a Door would be opened to all manner

of Cruelty 971
And no Claufe in The Covenant could oblige to

go contrary to the Laws of War or of Na-
tions 972

That the Queftion is not of Pardon -, but of
Quarter already granted, for fecuring his Life

973
His Reafons why he cannot enter upon any other

Defence till this be difcuffed 977
The Report from the Commiffwners for the Pro-

cefs to the Parliament againft him 978
He is declared Guilty ; and condemned 979

It
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Is going to [peak to the People ; but Jilenced by

the Provoft of the Town, at the Inftance of a

zealous Minifter of the Kirk I. 984
His Speech^ delivered in Writing ib.

The faid Minifter 's Infult, and the Prifoner's

mild and magnanimous Behaviour 985
Sir Robert is beheaded ib.

SPROT, George, his Trial in Scotland, for con-

Jpiring with the Earl of Gowrie to murder

King James I. I. 310

He confeffes before the Privy-Council his being pri-

vy to two Letters between the Earl of Gowrie

and Laird of Reftalrig, relating to the Con-

fpiracy ib.

'At his Trial his Confejfion is read againft him

312

He abides by his Confejfion , and is condemn'd 313
His Execution 314
After he had hanged a pretty while, he clap his

Hands together aloud three times ib.

SPURR, John V. 465. See Swendfen

STAFFORD, William Vifcount, his Trial on an

Impeachmentfor High Treafon before the Houfe

of Peers, 32 Car. II. 1680 III. 10

1

Five Popifh Lords impeached ib.

The Commons Jignify their Intention of beginning

with the Trial of the Lord Stafford ib.

The Day for the Trial appointed by the Lords

ib.

Lord Chanc. Finch, Lord High Steward ib.

The Bifhops withdraw ib.

The Trial begins 102

The Lord High Steward's Speech ib.

The feven Articles of Impeachment read ib.

The Lord Stafford anfwers generally, that he is

Not Guilty 104
Mr. Serj. Maynard opens the Evidence of the Plot

in general ib.

Sir Francis Winnington Jhews how probable it

was, there Jhould be fuch a Plot at this Time

106
Mr. TrebyV Speech 109
The Managers call their Witneffes to prove the

Plot in general ib.

The Records of the Attainders, and Convitlions of
thofe concerned in the Popifh Plot, produced as

Evidence of it 120
Second Day of Trial 122
The Lord Stafford'^ Counfel admitted to hear the

Evidence ; but not to ftand fo near as toprompt
him ib.

Dugdale fworn a fecond Time, when he came to

give a particular Evidence againft the Lord
Stafford 123

The Prifoner permitted to have a Clerk to take

Notes for him ib.

Dugdale fwears pofitively that the Prifoner con-

fented to the Refolution on the King's death, (at

which there was a great Hum) 124
Gates fworn again, depofes, that my Lord wrote

Letters and contributed Money towards carry-

ing on the Plot 126
Turbervile'.; Evidence of my Lord's foliciting him

to affaffinate his Majefty 127
The Lord Stafford enters upon his Defence 129
He moves to have Copies of fome Affidavits that

are in the Cuftody of the Houfe of Commons

131
Which is opposed by the Managers ib.

And over-ruled by the Lords 135
The Court think them/elves under no Obligation t&

affift the Prifoner with the Depo/itions taken by

a Juftice of Peace concerning him III. 13^
The third Day of Trial 1^6
The Managers produce the Affidavit my Lord de-

fires 137
A Peer may give Evidence, though he be a Judge

in the Caufe 141
The King's Witneffes ought not to be debarr'd

hearing what the Prifoner's Witneffes depofe ib.

The Lord Stafford calls his Witneffes againft Dug-
dale ib.

Endeavours to prove him forfworn in a former
Trial 1 50

A Journal of the Houfe of Lords read, as Evi-
dence for the Prifoner 152

Oates*j Examination read 153
Dugdale'j Examination taken by the Juftices, as

it was enter'd in the Lords Journal, read as

Evidence for the Prifoner 156
TurbervileV Examination read 1 59
The Lords adjourn 163
The fourth Day's Trial ib.

The Prifoner injifts, that Gates is not a credible

Witnefs, having acknowledged his Hypocrify

and Diffimulation with God and Man i63
The Managers call other Witneffes, to fupport the

Teftimony of the firft 17©
The Managers endeavour to difcredit my Lord

Stafford'^ Witneffes ij%
The Lords Stamford and~Loyda.ee/womfor the

King 183
The Lords adjourn 185
The fifth Day ib„

The Lord Stafford defires he may examine Wit-

neffes, to difcredit thofe who had been produe'd

to difcredit his ib.

Which is allow''d him 186
The Lord Stafford makes his Obfervations on the

Evidence 187
A Member of the Houfe of Commons fworn as a

Witnefs 189
Sir William Jones fums up the Evidence for the

Commons 190
He anfwers the Prifoner's Objeclions to the Credit

of their Witneffes 193
The Teft firft impofed 198, 199;

Mr. Powle^ Speech at the fuming up the Evi-

dence 200
His Lord/hip's Exceptions in Point of Law, an-

fwer'd by the Managers 201
Whether thofe large Allowances made Gates, Bed-

loe, &c. were not fome Qbjetlion to their Tef-

timony 202

Counfel may not argue as to the Law and Courfe

of Parliaments 208
The Judges deliver their Opinions, that two Wit-

neffes to every Overt-At! are not necejfary °, but

one to one Overt-Acl, and another to another*

is fufficient 204
The Lords adjourn 205
The Jixth Day ib.

The Lord Stafford petitions the Lords to be heard

again 206
He repeats fome Points of Law he had injifted on.

before ib.

The Prifoner declares his Opinion of the feveral

Plots chargd on the Papifls ftnee the Reforma*

tion 207
A Toleration granted by King Charles II. to all

Diffenters ib.

Tht
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The Diffenters permitted to offer their Reafons to

the Houfe of Lords againft the Penal Laws
III. 207

A Comprehenfion dejigned ib.

His Lord/hip concludes with folemn Protejiations

of his Innocence 208
The Managers Reply to what his Lordfhip lafi

offer''d 2 1 o
The feventh Day 2 1

1

The Lord High Steward takes their Lordfloips

Votes ib.

Thirty-one find the Lord Stafford Not Guilty , and

Fifty-five Guilty ib.

The Lords adjourn to their Houfe ib.

The Commons with their Speaker go up to the

Lords Houfe , and demand Judgment 212

A Judgment for High Treafon muft be in ufual

Form, or the King lofes his Forfeitures, &c.

213
The Lord High Steward's Speech to the Prifoner

before Judgment ib.

Judgment pronounced, to be drawn, hang'd, and

quarter'd, &c. 214
The King iffues a Writ to the Sheriffs to execute

the Prifoner, by cutting off his Head only ib.

Slingfby Bethel and Henry Cornifh, Sheriffs,

apply to the Lords for their Direction as to

the Execution, who declare the King's Writ

ought to be obeyed 215
The Sheriffs alfo apply to the Commons ib.

Who concur in Opinion with the Lords ib.

Lord Stafford'^ Speech at Execution ib.

He is beheaded ib.

STANDSFIELD, Philip, Son of SirJames Standf-

field, of New Milns near Edinburgh, his

Trial, as well for High Treafon, as the Mur-
der of his Father,, Feb. 6. 1688. 4 Jac. II.

IV. 283
The Indictment, in which are Crimes of different

Natures ib.

The Prifoner''s Counfel anfwer the Charge 285
His Majejiy's Advocate replies to the Defence, and

opens the Evidence 287
The Prifoner's Counfel rejoin 290
The Jury, confifting of 15 Perfons, arefworn, and

the Evidence is given 292
Proof of the Prifoner's drinking Confufion to the

King , which in Scotland is High Treafon 293
Of his curjing his Father j which is there pu-

nijhed with Death ib.

Circumftantial Evidence admitted, of his being the

Author of his Father's Murder 295
The Surgeons who infpeCted the Corpfe, give their

Reafons, why they believe Sir James was not

drown*d, but firangled 297
The College of Phyficians of the fame Opinion

ib.

Two Infants permitted to declare what they knew

of the Murder, before the Jury, without Oath

300
Sir George Mackenzie'^ Speech to the Inqueft

301
The Prifoner is convicted, and receives Sentence

3°4
STAPLETON, Sir Miles, Bar. his Trial for

High Treafon, at the Affizes for the County of
York, June the iZth, 1681. 33 Car. II.

HI. 317
The Indictment removed to the King's-Bench •, but

the Prifoner fent back to Yorkfhire to be try'd

ib.

The Indictment for confpiring the King's deaths
and the Subverfwn of the Eftablifhed R?. :gion
and Government Hi. 317A Challenge offer''d by the Kinfs Counfel agr ft
a Juror, becaufe he gave his Dogs the J ' %eS

of Oates and Bedloe, the King's Wiineffes %

but not allowed. ib,

The Trial put off till next Affixes, for Want of
Jurors

3 jg
The Trial comes on at the Summer-Affixes ib.

Sir Thomas Stringer's Speech before Evidence

ib.

The King's Witncffes call'd 3 19
They gave Evidence, firft of the Plot in general

ib.

Bolron'j Evidence againft Sir Miles in particular

320, 3.21

Sir MilesV Defence 322
Mr. Jujl. Dolben directs the Jury and tells them,

there being no Records of Conviction produced

againft the King's Wiineffes, they ought to be

deem'd credible Witneffes 327
Mr. Baron Gregory'^ Direction to the Jury ib.

Sir Miles is acquitted 328
S TAR-CHAMBER.

Difference among the Commiffioners as to a Sentence %

and their Speeches I. 408. & feqq.

STARKEY, Henry II. 1010. See Anderfon, &
al.

STAYLEY, William, his Trial at the King's

Bench Bar for Treafonable Words, 30 Car. II.

^ 1678 II.655
The Subftance of the Indictment being for Treafo-

ble Words fpoke in French ib.

Sir William Jones, Attorney-General, his Speech

ib.

The Evidence ib.

The Prifoner's Defence 658
The Chief Juftice fums up the Evidence, and

fhews the Danger of Popery 659
Directs the Jury to make the Prifoner an Exam-

ple ib.

The Prifoner is convided, and Sentence paffed ib.

This Proceeding afterwards cenfur'd as violent and

precipitate, to pafs Sentence on the Day of Con-

viction in the Court of King's-Bench IV. 779
STERNE, John III. 466. See Borofki, & al.

'

STEVENS, Ellis V. 194. See Cowper, & al.

STIRLING, Archibald V. 630. See Stirling,

James, & al.

STIRLING, Charles V. 630. See ib.

STIRLING, James, Archibald Seaton, Archi-

bald Stirling, Charles Stirling, and Patrick

Edmonfton, their Trial for High Treafon, at

Edinburgh, Nov. 15. 1708. 7 Anns, before

George Earl of Cromertie, Lord Juftice Ge-

neral, and the reft of the Lords of Jufticiary

there V. 630
The Indictment for taking up Arms, adhering tot

and correfponding with the French King and

the Pretender, and favouring their intended

Invafion of Scotland, in 1707 ib.

Her Majefty's Letter to the Lord Advocate, di'

reeling him to profecute the Prifoner

s

631
The Prifoners Petitionfor Counfel; which is grant-

ed ib*

The Prifoners Information or Plea to the Charge

63 z

The Lord Advocate's Replication 635
The Court adjudge the Charge to be ftffcient 6 9

The Jury fworn^ being 15 in number ib.

The
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The Evidence produced againft the Prifoners V.

The Verditl brought-in in Writing, and fubfcribed

by the Fore-man ; the Prifoners acquitted 640

They are Affoilzed (or discharged) ib.

STOUT, Sarah. See Cowper.

STRAFFORD, Thomas Earl of, his Trial before

the Houfe of Lords, on an Impeachment for

High Treafon, March the zid, 1 640. 1 6 Car. I.

I. 723
Nine general Articles exhibited againft him ib.

Twenty-eight fpecial Articles ib.

The Earl of Strafford 's Anfwer to the 28 fpecial

Articles 730
The Trial comes on J36

The Place of Trial defcribed, and the Manner of

bringing the Prifoner to the Bar, Sec. ib.

No Axe to be carried before a Prifoner impeach-

ed ib.

The King, Queen, and Prince at the Trial ib.

Earl of Arundel, Lord High Steward ib.

The Articles and Anfwer read ib.

Mr. Pym opens the Charge ; the Earl permitted

to reply to him ib.

Three additional Articles, framed againft him af-

ter the Commencement of the Trial 737
He is compell'd to anfwer them prefently ib.

The Managers Names 738
He is charged with Accumulative Treafon ib.

He/hezvs he is mifreprefented in that Expreffion he

was charged with, That the King's little

Finger lhou'd be heavier to them than the

Loins of the Law ib.

From his Words they proceed to his Atlions ; and

firft againft the Lives of the Subjects, as againft

the Lord Mountnorris 'and another, who were
condemned by Martial Law J39

Charg'd, that he had not only exercifed a tyran-

nical Government over the Lives, but the Lands
and Goods of the Subjetl 740

That he granted a Commiffion for the apprehend-

ing fuch as refufed to fubmit to the Ecclefeafti-

cal Ordinances j±i
His procuring a Leafe of the Cuftoms, and then

raifing the Book of Rates, whereby he had gain-
ed 26,000 1. yearly ib.

His monopolizing Tobacco 742
The Charge concerning Flax 743
Charg'd with fending Troops of Soldiers to execute

his Decrees againft the Subjecls Lands and
Goods 744

That he reftrained the Subjecls from coming over

to England, to offer their Complaints againft

him 745
His impofing an Oath upon the Scots in Ireland

746
His Dejign of reducing the Kingdoms of England

and Scotland by Force of Arms, and bringing

them under the fame arbitrary Government he
had introduced in Ireland 747

Endeavoured to be prov'd from feveral Speeches

the Earl let fall y± g

That he advis'd the King to exatl Ship-Money

75°
And threaten'd the Lord Mayor, Sec. for not

giving in a Liji of thofe who were able to lend
Money fa

The Earl ftjews, that Accumulative Treafon was
never heard of before -, and where none of the
particular Articles amounted to Treafon, neither
could any Number of them 750

Charged with advifing the King to.imbafe the Coin,

and feize upon the Bullion in the Mint I. 75 r

With imprfing Sd. a Day on the County of York,
for maintaining the Trained-Bands, and levying

it by Force ycz
With a Defign of landing the Irifh Army in Eng-

land
753

The Lords and Commons break up abruptly, up-

on the Commons infifting to offer further Proofs

after the Clofe of the Procefs, and refufing the

fame Liberty to the Earl 754
Agreed, at a Conference between the two Houfes,

that no further Prooffhall be offer''d on either

Side fa
The Earl fums up the Evidence, and makes his

Obfervaiions on it fa
Speaks particularly to the iSth Article, and fug-

gefts fome Reafons why it was drop'd by the

Commons 756
Mr. Glynn replies upon him 757
Mr. Pym feconds him ib.

Debates in the Houfe of Commons, upon bringing

in a Bill of Attainder againft the Earl 758
The Commons threaten the Lords, if they refufe

to concur in a Bill of Attainder ib.

The Lords hear my Lord Strafford'j Counfel, as to

Matter of Law ; but the Commons refufe to

attend at their Bar, or reply any more in pub-
lick, having pafs'd the Bill of Attainder in

their own Houfe yrg
The Names of the Earl's Counfel, and the Sub-

ftance of their Arguments ib.

1. That the 25 Edw. III. is a declarative Law*
and cannot be interpreted by Equity ib.

2. A Penal Law will admit of no ConftruElions or
Inferences beyend the Letter of it ib.

The doing one or more Ads of Injuftice cannot be
term d the Subverfion ofthe FundamentalLaws

ib.

The Cafe of John de la Pole, Duke of Suffolk*

cited ; where the fame Offences, the Earl was
charg'd with, were adjudged but Felony ib.

That the Earl was not charged with having fub-
verted, but only with an Intention to fubvert.
Sec. j60

And the Intention was only treafonable, where it

was againft the King's Life, Sec. by the 2 c. Edw.
HI. ib.

The reft of the Offences there enumerated, do not
become treafonable, unlefs the Parly proceed to

Atlion ib.

No Treafon at Common Law at this Day ; and
the Parliament cannot declare any thing to be
Treafon, which is not fo already by fome Sta-
tute in being ib.

That by the 1 Hen. VI. 10. the Provifo as to de-
claratory Treafons, in the 25 Edw. III. is re-

pealed ; and no Man hath been declar'd a Trai-
tor either by King or Parliament fence that
Statute, except he had offended againft the Let-
ter of fome Statute ib. 761

The Earl's Counfel defere their Lord/hips, that a
State of the Qneftion may be made for them to

argue upon jSi
Upon this the Houfe adjourn'd, and never met a-

gain upon this Occafion, the Commons infifting

on their Bill of Attainder ib.

The LordsandCommons meet at a Conference in the

Hall, where the King, Queen, and Prince, were
prefent incog-, but nothing is fpoken by any one

but Mr. St. John, whofe Speech tended to fur-

nifh
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nijh the Hcufes with Arguments for the Bill of
Attainder I. 761

The King's Speech to the Houfe of Commons a-

ib.

762
ib.

ib.

ib.

763
764

7 65

gainft paffing a Bill of Attainder

It paffes the Lords

The Earl's Letter to the King
The Royal Affent given

The Earl's Behaviour at his Execution

His Dying Speech

The Act for reverfvig his Attainder

The Names of the Strafford ians

STREATER, John, his Cafe, on a Writ of Ha.be
as Corpus, at the Upper Bench in Weftmin-
fter-Hall, in Mich, and Hil. Terms, 1653.
5 Car. II. II. ig 5

The Habeas Corpus ib.

The Acl of State, prohibiting the Lieutenant of
the Tower to obey a Habeas Corpus, in the

Cafe cf John Lilburne 196
Captain Streater'j- Argument to the firft Tart of

the Return 107
His Argument -to the fecond Bart 200
The Long Parliament diffolv'd by Oliver 204
An Alias Habeas Corpus, in the Name of Oliver

the ProtecJor ib.

The Return thereof 205
All Perfons prohibited to fay the Long Parliament

was in being 206
The Protcclor fwears to govern according to Law

207
The Argument which Streater had prepared, if

th.^re was Occajion for it 207
A Commitment for publifhing' feditiqus Pamphlets,

tec general 210
Orders cf Parliament determine with the Sefftons

ib.

The Court difcharges the Prifoner 211
STRINGMAN, Dar.iel V: 572. See Green,

Thomas, & al.

STUBBS, Francis II. 478. See Tonge, & al.

SUBORNATION II. 806. IV. 47.
SUPREMACY I. 59 , 62.

SWENDSEN, Haagen, his Trial, for forcibly

marrying Mrs. Pleafant Rawlins ; and of Sa-

rah Baynton, John Hartwell, and John Spurr,

who abetted and afffted him, Nov. 25, 1702,
1 Ann£ V. 449

A Motion, to put off the Trial for want of a

material Wiinefs, deny'd, unlefs fome Perfon

would make Oath, that fuch Witnefs could not

attend ib.

The Defendant Swendfen being a Foreigner, he

had a Party Juty ib.

And is try'd by himfelf ib.

Sir Simon Harcourt, Solicitor General, and Mr.
Serjeant Darnell open the Evidence ib. 450

Evidence for the King 451
Mrs. Buiby gives Evidence of all the Circumftan-

ces of the Fatl 452
Mrs. Rawlins herfelf examind as an Evidence

againfi him 455
Counfel deny'd the Prifoner 456

Mrs. Rawlins crofs-examin'd by the Prifoner, whe-

Sarah Baynton is try'd with Hartwell and Spurr

V. 465
Sir Simon Harcourt, Solicitor General, opens the

Evidence jb.

The King's Evidence 466
Mrs Baynton crofs-examines Mrs. Rawlins 471
Mrs. Rawlins does not deny but fhe had faid, fhe

wifh'd herfelf Mr. Swendfen'j Wife 472
Marrying a Woman while fhe is under a Force is

Capital, though the Party marrying her was
not the Author of the Force 479

Swendfen convicled ^-ja

Hartweli'j Defence 475A Woma,n cannot be Evidence for, or againfi, her
Hufband 476

Lord Chief Juftice funis up the Evidence 47 7
One may be adjudg'd guilty of aiding and affifting

in a forcible Marriage, though not prefent at
the Ceremony 478

Mrs. Baynton convicled ib.

Hartwell and Spurr acquitted ib.

Mr. Juftice Powell'.? Speech, before Judgment on
Swendfen and Baynton 479

Mrs. Baynton'j Execution refpited, fhe being found
g)uick with Child 480

Mr. Swendfen'j Execution, and Dying Speech

481
SWINOCK, Samuel III. 630. See Pilkington,

&al.
SYMPSON, James V. 572. See Green, Tho-

mas, & al.

rj^ALES. See Jury.

TASBOROUGH,1 John, and Anne Price,

their Trial, for Subornation of Perjury, 32
Car. II. 1679 II. 1017

The Indicfment 10 18
Mr. Serjeant Maynard'j Speech before Evidence

1019
Sir Crefwell Levinz, Attorney General, his Speech

ib.

Records of the Jefuits, and Langhorn'j Convic-

tions, produe'd in Evidence 1020
Dugdale'j Evidence of Mrs. Priced foliating

him to retracl his Evidence ib.

Dugdale'j Evidence of Tafborough'^ tampering

with him 1021
Mr. Sanders's Defence for Mrs. Price 1027
Witneffes for Mrs. Price. 1028
Mr. Pollexfen\f Defence for Tafborough 1030
Whether j/ftifable to offa a Witnefs a Reward,

though to fpeak Truth ? 103

1

Mr. Serjeant Maynard fums up the Evidence

!Oj4
Mr. Juftice Jones fums up the Evidence, and ca-

ret!s the Jury 1Q35
Offering a Witnefs a Reward to give his Evidence,

criminal ib.

The Defendants are found Guilty 1036
Their Sentence *°j7

therjhe did not encourage his Addreffes to her? TAYLOR, Alexander V. 572. See Green, Thc-
which fhe denies

The Prifoner's Witneffes examin'd

Lord Chief Juftice Holt fums up

457
458

the Evidence

463

II. 399. See Regicides.

See Regicides.

Refolutions cf the Judges, on the Statute offorci-

ble Marriages 464
Vol. Vi.

mas, & al.

Temple, James
TEMPLE, Peter II. 399.
TESTE. See Writs.

THOMPSON, Nathaniel, William Pain, and
John Farwell, try'd for a Mifdemeanour, in

r: T framing
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framing and publifhing a Libel, or Letter, to

fcandalize the Juftice of the Nation, 34 Car. II.

1682 HI. 505

The Information ib.

A Copy of the Record of the Attainder of Green,

&;c. and a Copy of the Inqufition taken by the

Coroner, concerning the Murder of Sir Ed-

mundbury Godfrey, produced, and fworn to

be true Copies 5°°

Evidence that the Defendants had acknowledged

the Printing and Writing of thefe Libels before

the Council 5°9

Evidence of the Manner in which Sir Edmund -

bury Godfrey'^ Body was found 5 1

4

They are all three found Guilty 5 1 8

Three Affidavits relating to the Death of Sir Ed-

mundbury Godfrey ib.

Thompfon and Farwell fentenc'd to ftand on the

Pillory ; and each of them to pay a Fine of 100I.

and be imprifon'd till they have paid it ib.

Pain only fin d 100 1. and to be imprifond till he

pay it ib.

THORPE, William, accused of Herefy, 8 Hen. IV.

1407, before Thomas Arundel, Archbifhop of

Canterbury, and Chancellor of'England I. 16.

His Confeffion of I dith ib.

He fcrupleth to take an Oath 18

The Charge againft him was, That, in a Sermon

at Shrewfbury, he had delivered himfelf as fol-

lows :

1. That the Sacrament of the Altar after Confe-

cration was Material Bread.

2. That Images ought not to be worftjipped.

3. That Menfhould not go on Pilgrimages.

4. That Priefts have no Title to Tithes.

5. That it is not lawful tojwear in any wife 20

A Certification of the Dotlrines he preach''d fent

from Shrewfbury to the Archbifhop, and read

to him ib.

His Defence for preaching without a Licence 22

His Defence upon the firft Article 23
On thefecond Article 25
On the third Article 26
On the fourth Article 28

On the fifth Article 30
He is examin'd touching Auricular Confeffion 32

Refufing to make a Submiffion and Recantation, he

is committed to Prifon ; and never more heard

of 36
THROCKMORTON, Sir Nicholas, trfd for

High Treafon, primo Marise, 1554 I. 63

Names of his Judges ib.

The Court would not permit him to fp ak, till he

had pleaded Guilty, or Not Guilty 64
Two of the Jury cballeng'd peremptorily for the

Queen, without Jhewing Caufe ib.

He applies himfelf to the Queen s Counfel not to

mifreprefent him, but to do him Juftice ib.

The Prifoner admitted to anfwer every Matter as

it was urg'd againft him, before the whole E-
viclcnce for the Crown was gone through 65

"W inter' s Examination read, toprove 1hall' hrock-

morton jent him to Wyat, who proposed a

Treajonable Defign to him, and the Prifoner'

s

Anfwer ib.

Croits'j Examination fet afide, becaufe he might

appear and give Evidence viva voce 66
Vaughan, who was condemned for the fame Fail,

allow'd a Witnejs for the Queen 67

Swears the Prifoner was privy to the Confpiracy

I 67
The Prifoner's Anfwer ib.

His Confeffion read in part againft him ; he de-

fires it may be read through 69, 70
The Duke of Suffolk'j Confeffion read againft him,

who had been executed for the fame Fall, im-

porting that Sir Nicholas was privy to the Con-

fpiracy 70
Fie infifts, that the Lord Thomas Grey (who is

faid to have given the Duke of Suffolk that

Information) be produced perfonally againft him

ib.

Fitzwilliams, one of his Witneffes, the Court would

not fuffer to be examin'd ; and gave no Reafon

for refufing him ib.

The Court rfus'd to let an Atl of Parliament be

read, which he dfir'd ; and faid, they were
not to find Books for him ; that the Judges

were to refolve all Doubts in Law 7

1

He acknowledges it had been a Cuftom, that Wit-

neffes were not admitted againft the Crown

He argues notably, that no open Deed or Overt-

Atl is prov'd againft him ib.

Whether Words fpoken can be deemed Overt-Acls ?

74
Prifoner permitted to reply, after the Evidence

fumdup, and the Jury aireeled 76
The Prifoner remanded into Cuftody, notwithftand-

ing his being acquitted 77
The Jury imprifond, and fin'd, for their Verdicl

78
THWYNG, Thomas, and Mary Prefficks, their

Trial at York-Affixes for High Treafon, July

24, 1680, 32 Car. II. HI- 79
The Indiclment for confpiring the Death of the

King, and the Subverfion of the Eftablifh d Re-
ligion and Government ib.

Bolron'j Evidence of the Prifoner's Concern in

the Plot 80
Mowbray'i Evidence as to Thwyng 8

1

Further Evidence againft Mrs. Prefficks 82

Thwyng calls his Witneffes, to prove it a mali-

cious Profecution 83

Mr. Juftice DolbenV Direclion to the Jury
8 7

Words, unlefs they difcover an Intention to do fome
Atl, not treafonable ib.

Mr. Baron Atkyns'j Directions to the Jury
ib.

Thwyng convitled, and Prefficks acquitted 88

Sentence pafi'd 89
Thwyng is executed ib.

TILNEY, Charles I. 1 34. See Abington, & al.

TITCHBURNE, Chidiock I. 128. See Ba-

bington. & al.

TITCHBURNE, Robert II. 394. See Regi-

cides

TOLERATION V. 683. See the Arguments

concerning it, in Dr. Sacheverell'j Irial.

TONGE, 1 homas, George Phillips, Francis

Stubbs, James Hind, John Sellers, and Na-
thaniel Gibbs, ihtir Trial for High Treafon

at the Old Bailey, December 11, 1662, 14
Car. II. II. 478

Hind pleads Guilty ; and the reft Not Guilty

ib. 479
Mr. Serjeant Maynard opens the Evidence 479

Evi-

V
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Evidence of Hill, Riggs, Bradley, and Tyler,

their Fellow-Confpirators, of a Confpiracy a-

mong the Sectaries againfi his Majejly II.

4 So, & feqq.

A Letter, of which about 5000 Copies were dif-

fers''d, f'ggefiing there was to be a Maffacre

by the Papifts, as a Colour for arming them-

felves 482
The Examination of Phillips read in Evidence

489
Evidence of Rumours of a Maffacre by the Papifis

about that Time 490
Phillips owns he was privy to the Defign 49

1

Stubbs owns that he knew of it ib.

Gibbs denies it ; and affirms he was always loyal

to the King ib.

Tonge fays he was drawn into the Plot by Tyler

492
Sellers endeavours to excufe himfelf ib.

They except to the Witneffes, that they have own'd

themfelves Guilty of the fame Offence; which

Exception is over-ruled ib.

Tonge affirms he was threaten'd in the Tower
with the Rack ib.

Mr. Solicitor fums up the Evidence for the King

ib.

The Chiefjuftice direcls the Jury 493
The Prifoners are convitled 494
Judgment cf High Treafon faffed upon them 495
PhillipSj Tonge, Gibbs, and Stubbs, their Be-

haviour at Execution ib.

TRANTER, Robert VI. 195. See Reafon,

Hugh.
TRAVERS, John I. 134. See Ab'mgton, & al.

TREASON.
Made Treafon by a Statute to read the Bible; and

Thirty-fix attainted and executed on that Statute

I. 49
Sir Thomas More attainted of High Treafon, in

denying the King's Supremacy 62

He is guilty of Treafon, who is privy and con-

fenting to it ; and fo is he who endeavours to

perfuade or procure another to commit Treafon

73
The Duke of Norfolk attainted of Treafon, againfi

a particular Atl of Parliament, for attempt-

ing to marry the Queen of Scots, without Queen

Elizabeth'^ Knowledge 1 1

6

Harbouring Traitors, Treafon I. 139, 140. IV.

131, 132
Earl of Arundel attainted of High Treafon, for

correfponding with a Traitor beyond Sea, and

faying Mafs for the Succefs of the Spanifh In-

vafion I. 168

Perfons attainted of Treafon committed againfi a

King before his Coronation 214
Poifining heretofore made Treafon by a Statute 324
Accumulative Treafon 7 2 3i &c «

The Intention is only treasonable (or punifhable)

where the Defign is againfi the Prince's Life

759
If the Atlions themfelves are not ireafonable, the

Refult of them cannot be Treafon y$j
A Number of Mifdemeanours or Felonies cannot

alter their Nature fo as to make them amount

to High Treafon 94 1

Whether a Peer of Ireland can be try'd here for

Treafon committed there ? 950
Several try'd for High Treafon againfi the Com-

monwealth and the Protetlor, during the Ufur-

palion II. i, 19, 83, 183, 259, 277

The aiding, affiding, relieving, harbouring or en-

couraging a Traitor, (knowing him to be fuch)
High Treafon II. 151,365. IV. 105,131

It is the Imagination that is the Treafon ; the
Overt-Atls are but the Evidence of it II. 314

Whether the writing or printing treafonable Words,
dictated by others, can be faid to be an Overt-
Acl of the Writers treafonable Imaginations

II. 346, 528
Any Words tending to the Perfonal Hurt of the

Prince, will amount to an Overt-Atl of a trea-

fonable Imagination II. 349. IV. 593, 656
Treafon may be committed againfi a Prince, when

he is out of his Dominions, and out of the Pofi
feffion of the Government II. 435

Though it may be -no Offence in Law, to affifi a
King de Facl;o againfi a King de Jure, yet it is

adjudged High Treafon to affifi other Ufurpers
(who have not taken upon them the Title of King)

againfi a King de Jure, out of Poffeffion of the

Government \\ % 444
A Riotous Affembly pulling down Houfes, breaking

open Prifons, &c. adjudged to come within that

Branch of the 25 Edw. III. which makes it

High Treafon to levy War againfi the King II.

5%5-> 593
The Parliament could not declare any thing to be

Treafon, that was not Felony at Common Law

^ r
558

Treafonable Words fpoken in French 656"

The accepting Popiih Orders High Treafon 993
Soliciting foreign Aid, High Treafon II. 878. IV.

600
Whether a Native of Scotland be within the Sta-

tute, which makes it High Treafon to accept Po~
pifh Orders, found fpecial II. 1013

A folemn Refolution, that in a cafe of Treafon

there mufi be two Witneffes believ'd by the Jury
III. 56

Whoever imagines to dethrone or imprifon the King

or to compel him by Durefs to yield to their De-
mands, is in Law guilty of imagining his Death

III. 406. IV. 625
Confuting to levy War againfi the King, and to

feize his Guards, or promote an Invafion, held

to be Overt-Acls of Compaffing the King's death,

within the firfi Branch of the Statute of the 25
Ed. III. III. 730. IV. 772

"Treafon, to write treafonable Pofuions, though they

be not publijh'

d

III. 815
No Petit Treafon in Ireland IV. 403
Murder made High Treafon in Ireland ib.

TRELAWNEY, Sir Jonathan, Bt. Lord Bifhop

of Briftol, tried for publifhing a Libel IV.

TRESILIAN, C.J. See the Procedings at large

againfi him, &c. under BRAMBRE.
TRIAL.

Sir John Perrot and the Lord Grey try'd in En-

gland, for Treafon committed in Ireland I.

188, 951
A Peer cannot be brought to Trial on a Charge ex-

hibited againfi him by another Peer in the Houfe

of Lords II. 558
The Prifoner admitted to anfwer to what each

Wi nefs charg'd him with as they came, before

the whole Evidence for the King was gene

through I. 6$
A Prifoner not permitted to take Notes at his

Trial 135

The
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The Punijhment for ftanting Mute I. 325

A Woman not permitted to wear her Hat at her

Trial 339
A Peer jhall not he try'd by a Jury of Commons

in a Capital Cafe, though he defire it 388

The Lord High Steward confalted by the Lords

Trye'rs in the Abfe?tce of -the Prifiner 394
Formalities previous to a Trial before the Houfe

of Peers 73 6

A Trial before a Council of War 745
Treafon committed in one Reign may be try'd in

another II. 9

Scots try'd in England for Treafon committed in

Scotland, before the Union of the Kingdoms 10

A Jury difcharged of a Prifiner without giving a

Verdicl II. 715, K31

A Peer may be try'd by a Jury as a Commoner.,

for Offences not Capital 560

Prifoners fin'd forty Marks a-piece, for coming

into Court at their Trial with their Plats on

1

61

1

The Commons deny that a High Steward is necef-

fary upon a Trial by Impeachment 740
The Lords refohe, that the Lords Spiritual may

vote in all Matters previous to the Trial, in

Capital Cafes 752
A Prifiner try'd at Bar for Treafon receives Sen-

tence the fame Day 659
The Prifoners receive Sentence the Day after their

Conviclion, though tried at Bar 789
Thefe Proceedings cenfur'd IV. 779
Where any Point of Law arifes at the Trial of a

Peer, it ought to be put in the Prifoner's Pre-

fence II. 729
A Jury are to take no Notice of what was done

at a former Trial 863

The Prifiner may give Evidence, that a Witnefs

produe'd againft him gave contrary Teftimony at

a former Trial 900
A Peer need not hold up his Hand at his Arraign-

ment IV. 211, 512
The King's-Bench try a Commoner impeached by

the Commons III. 263
An Irifhman try'd at the King's-Bench Bar for

Treafon committed in Ireland, and for which

he had been before arraign'd there 293
A Prijoner may crofs-examine a Witnefs, after

the King's Counfel have done with him ; but

muft not make any Obfervations on the Evi-
dence, till it is gone through 481

The Lord RufTel allow'd two Clerks to take Notes

at his Trial 708
No Time or Notice can be infifted on to prepare

for Trial, in Capital Cafes 732
The King's Counfel foallhave the loft Word III.

816. IV 40, 162
Where one outlaw'd Jhall be admitted to a Trial,

and where not III. 983
Nothing ought to be given in Evidence that was
faid or done at another Trial, till the Record of
that Trial be prov'd IV. 41

The Prifiner being thick of hearing, has one to

^ (Jfifi her 106
One try'd for harbouring a Traitor, before the

Traitor was convitled 122
One try'd for a Mifdemeanour, and convitled ;

and afterward try'd for High Treafon, for the

ne Fall 207
A Peer may be try'd by Commiffwn, during a Pro-

h ion of Parliament 2 1

2

TABLE.
The Lord High Steward file Judge, on a Trial

by Commiffion ; and need net confult the other

Peers concerning the Methods and Order of the

Trial IV. 215
The Lords Tryers cannot adjourn, or ftparate,

any more than a Jury of Commoners, till they

have given a Verdicl VI. 232. But it is 0-

therwife where the Trial is in full Parliament

2 33
It is not ufual for a High Steward to fum up or

make any Obfervations on the Evidence 246
Where one pleads his Peerage to thejurifditlien of

an inferior Court, he muft produce his Patent

414
Where an Indiclment is remov'd into the King's

Bench, Judgment ought not to be given tillfour
Days after Conviction ; if there be fo many
Lays remaining in the Term IV. 779

Where the Trial is at Bar, a Venire iftfues, as in

Civil Cafes ; and fifteen Days between the

Telle and Return 778
No Evidence can be given againft a Man in a

Trial for his Life, but in his Prefence V. 85,

118
A Prifiner cannot injift on the Witneffes being ex-

amined a part as hi.', Right 20
The Judges Opinion in a Point of Law, arifing

at the Trial cf a Peer, muft be ajked in the

Prefence cf the Prifiner 1 6g
In a Trial of a Peer before the Lords for a MiJ-

demeanour, he Jhall not ftand without the Bar

3 64
TRIGGE, Thomas III. 949. See Sachevereli,

William.

TURNER, Anne, her Trial, as Accrffary, bfore
the Fail, to the Murder of Sir Thomas Over-
bury I. 339

Her Hat order'd to be taken off at the Arraign-

ment ib.

She and the, Countefs of EfTex refort to a Conjur
rer ]b.

Several Devils invok'd, that the Prifiner and the

Countefs might obtain the Love of their Gal-

lants 340
The Prifiner convitled, and Judgment given a-

gainft her 341
TURNER, Anthony II. 829. See White, al

Whitebread, & al.

TURNER, Colonel James, John Turner, Wil-
liam Turner, Mary Turner, and Ely Turner,
their Trialfor Burglary, at the Old Bailey, the

15th, 16th, and lytbofjdn. 1663. 15 Car. II.

II. 502
The Indictment, for breaking open the Houfe of

Francis Tryon, and robbing him of Jewels
and Money to the Value of feveral Thoufand
Pounds ib.

Col. Turner complains his Goods were feized on

by the Sheriffs, and thy had taken Poffeffion of
his Houfe : the Sheriffs anfwer, they have only

left a Servant in the Houfe for Security of the

Goods, till they fee whether he is convitled or

acquitted 503
The Chief Juftice holds, that it is the Duty of the

Sheriff, where one is aceus'd of Felony, to fe-

ciire his Goods ; but the Prifiner may have what
he has Occofion for, to fubjijl him 504

If the Prifiner can find Security, that the Goods
be for>b -coming, th Sheriff'Jhall take his Hands

€ ib.

The
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The Chief Jujiice tells him, they cannot grant him
Procefs to bring in his Witnejjes II. 505

If the Principals are all acquitted, the Acceffa-

ries fhall be difcharged without Trial II. 506
III. 470

The Evidence againft the Prifoners ibl

Proof, that the Jewels were produced by James
Turner II. 507

And fart of the Money, which he own'd to be

Mr Tryon'.? 508
The Circumftances of the Robbery teflified by Mr.

Tryon ib.

Evidence, that Mary and Ely Turner brought

jonie of the Money to a Neighbour* s Houfe 510
A particular Seal to one of the Bags given in E-

vidence 5 1

1

A Stool brought for him to Jit on in the Court

512
Mr. Tryon fwears he believes William Turner

was one of the Men that robb'd him 515,516
Col. Turner^ Defence 516
He fays he found the Thieves, and perfuaded them

to deliver up the Goods and Money upon Pro-

mife that their Lives fhould be faved 51 7
He calls his Witneffes, who fay little or nothing

to the Purpofe 521
The other Prifoner's Defence 523
The Lord Chief Juftice direels the Jury 524
He tells them, that Mary Turner, the Wife, can-

not be convicted as Acceffary to a Felony com-

mitted by her Hujband ib.

That all the Accomplices in Burglary are guilty

of Burglary, though they do not all enter the

Houfe ib.

That if one comes in by Day, and opens the Door

to others in the Night, and they come in dnd

rob theHoufe, they are all guilty ofBurglary 526
James Turner is convrtled ib.

The reft are acquitted ib.

After his Conviclion he confeffes the whole Matter

to five Juftices of the Peace ib.

Judgment againft James Turner to be hang'd 527
His Execution ib.

TURNER, Dr. Francis, Bifhop of Ely, tried

for publifhing a Libel IV. 304
TURPIN, Jofeph III. 949. See Sacheverell,

William.

TUTCHIN, John, his Trial on an Information

for a Libel, at Guild-Hall, Nov. 4. 1704.

3 Annse V. 528
A Juryman owns he had always condemn''d Mr.

Tutchin'.? Writings j and defires to be excufed

53°
The King's Counfel, after fome Debate, confent

to it ib.

Howe the Printer's Evidence, of his Agreement

with Tutchin for the Copy, Sec. 532
Debates between the Counfel, whether the Proof

be fufficient to read the Papers 533
The Papers read 5^5, 539
Tutchin holds, People may call their Princes to

account, and depofe them 536
Mr. Montague' Speech for the Defendant 538
Mr. Attorney's Obfervation on the Evidence for

the Queen 540
It may be a Libel, though no particular Perfon

be rsfletlcd on ib.

Mr. Attorney charges Mr. Montague with jufti-

fying Tutchin'.? Principles, as to the Power of

the People ib.

And fays, he fhall profecule any Man who main-

tains fuch Doclrine ib,

Vol. VI

The Chief Juftice Holt diretls the Jury V. 542
The Defendant is found guilty of publifhing, but

not of writing, The Obfervators
'

542
The Defendant's Counfel move in arreft of Judg-

ment -, for that the Diftringas was tefte'J the
Day after the Return of the Venire, and fo a
Difcontinuance of Procefs r*?

And for that the Venire and Diftringas were re-
turnable at a Day certain ib.

The loft Exception is over-ruled ib.

As to the firft Exception, the 'Queen's Counfel ar-
gue, that it was but a Mifpnfion of the Clerk,

_ and ought to be amended c±e
Sir Thomas Powys'.? Argument . ib.

Sir Edward Noithey, Attorney- General 547
Books cited, where Amendments are allowed in

Cafes of the CrowH
, ib.

Arguments by the Defendant's Counfel, that it

could not be amended rr2
For that there was no Inftance of an Amendment

in a Criminal Profecution cc?
Mr. Broderick for the Defendant 554
Mr. Montague'.? Argument cty
Mr. Parker'.? Argument rfo
Mr. Whitaker on the fame Side c6?
Sir Thomas Powys and Mr. Attorney-General,

their Reply ^64
Mr. Juftice Gould held it was amendable by the

Common Law ; but not by the Statute 56 8

Mr. Juftice Powis is of Opinion, it might be a-

mended 569
Lord Chief Juftice, and Mr. Juftice Powel, con-

tra ib.

Writs muft be Tefte'i the Day the) are award-
ed 57°

An Error in point of Skill not amendable, though

Mifprifions or Miftakes were ib.

Where the Court is divided, Judgment may be en-

ter'

d

ib.

Mr. Juftice Powys agrees there Jloould be a new
Trial ib.

The Trial being quaftj'd, whether a new Venire,

could be taken out, unlefs the Court award it

'571
No Judgment enter'd ib.

TWYN, John, Printer, his Trialfor High Trea-

fon, and the Trials of Thomas Brewfter, Si-

mon Dover, and Nathan Brooks, for a Mif-
demeanour, the 10th and zzd of February,

1663-4. 15 Carr. II. II. 528
The Indiclment againft Twyn, for printing a fedi-

tious and treafonable Libel, entitled, ATreatife

of the Execution of Juftice, &c. ib.

The Indiclment againft Dover, for printing a Li-

bel, called, The Speeches and Prayers of fome
of the late King's Judges, &c. 529

The Indiclment againft Brewfter, for printing

and uttering thefaid Libel, call'd,Thc Speeches

and Prayers, &c-. 530
Another Indiclment againft Brewfter, for print-

ing and uttering another Libel, call'd, The
Phoenix ; or, the folemn League and Cove-
nant, &c. ib.

The Indiclment againft Nathan Brooks, for felling

and uttering thefaid Book, call'd, The Speeches

and Prayers, &c. ib.

Dover, Brewfter, and Brooks are allowed a Copy

of their Indictment, and Counfel ; their Offence

being but a Mifdemeanour ib.

John Twyn firft brought upon his Trial ib,

Half the Jury Bookfellers, or Printers ib.

Speeches of (he King's Counfel zyi

*V
'

tbr



An Alphabetical TABLE.
The Evidence againft Twyn II. 532

Of his Servant, that fome Sheets of the Book

were printed at his Houfe; and that Mr. Twyn
composed Part of them himfelf ib.

Of feveral, that the Sheets and Part of the Forms

were feized in his Printing- Houfe 533

-The treafonable Pajfages of the Pamphlets read in

Court ,
53 6

In his Defence he denies that he 'knows who was

the Author 537

The Chief Juftice diretls the Jury, and tells them,

the Expreffions in the Book are High Treafon

by the oh Statute ib.

John Twyn convicled ib.

Judgment for High Treafon pronoiinc'd againft

Twyn '

53 s

The Jury fworn a-new the Monday following,

and Brewfter brought upon his Trial ib.

The Evidence againft Brewfter, that he put the

Book to be printed, and paid the Printer for

printing, and the Bookbinder for Jlitching them

ib.

His Defence, that he did it only in the way of his

Trade, and did not read the Book 540
That the fuppos'd Offence was committed three

ytars and a quarter before 541

The Lord Chief Juftice Hyde diretls the Jury
ib.

He tells them, the Law implies a malicious and

feditious Intent, where one publifoes a fediiious

Libel 542

And 'tis no Excufe for the Printer, to fay, they

were Dying Speeches, or the Words of a Dying

Man -, the Printer and Publifher are liable to be

punifh'd, if the Words are not juftifiable ib.

Thomas Brewfter try'd upon the fecond Indict-

ment ib.

The Evidence againft him upon the fecond Inditl-

went, much the fame as upon the firft ib.

Brewfter urges in his Defence, that the loft Book

he is inditled for, was printed formerly with

Licence 544
The- Lord Chief Juftice diretls the Jury, and takes

Notice of this Expreffion in the laft-mentioned

Libel, That, the King abufing his Power,

the People may refift, and take up Arms a-

gainft him ; and this, he tells the Jury, is ex-

prefs Treafon ib.

He obferves, as to the Book being licenfed, one Part

was licensed at Edinburgh, and the other du-

ring the Rebellion here ib.

Simon Dover brought upon his Trial 545
The Evidence againft him ib.

His Defence, that none of the Witneffes are pofi-

tive i but that all the Evidence is by Hearfay

546
The Chief Juftice diretls the Jury, and tells them,

it was no excufe to fay, when he had printed a

Piece of Sedition, that Printing was his Trade;

547
And that pregnant Circumfiances are good Evi-

dence, as well as full Proof ib.

Nathan Brooks brought upon his Trial ib.

The Evidence againft him, that he carry'd fome

of the Books tied up to a Bookfeller j and that

one was feized upon him ib.

The Chitf Juftice diretls the Jury 549
Thomas Brewfter, Simon Dover, and Nathan

Brooks, convitled ib.

The Chief Juftice tells them they might have been

inditled for High Treafon for this Fact, if the

Government had not been favourable II. 549
Judgment againft thefe three ib.

TYBURN, whence fo called I. 49

v..

VANE, Sir. Henry, Kt. his Trial at the King's

Bench Bar, for High Treafon, the 6th of June,

in Trinity-Term, 1662 II. 435
Arguments he hadprepared to offer, before his Ar-

raignment ib.

His yirraiznment AZ*
The Ind.iHme.nt, for compaffmg the Death of King

Charles II. holding him out of the Poffeffion

of the Government, raijing Forces, and levying

War againft him ib.

His Memorandums for his Defence 439
A Jury fworn, and charged with the Prifoner

441
The Evidence produced againft him ib.

Sir Henry Vane'j Defence 442
He injiffs, that a Kir.g out of Poffeffion of the Go-

vernment, was not fuch a King, againft whom
Treafon could be committed ib.

That he could not be caWd to Account for what he

'tranfailed by Auihcrity of Parliament, the Par-

liament being co-ordinate with the King 443
And that, being inditled in Middlefex, Evidence

could not be given of Treafon committed in Sur-

rey ib.

He is anfwer'd that the Parliament under which

he pretended to ail, was dijfohed-by the Death

of the late King 444
As to the King's being out of Poffeffion, this had

been urg'd by Watlbn the Jefuit, who was in-

dicled for Treafon againft King James, before

his entring into England ; but was over-ruled

ib.

And as to the Parliament beim co-ordinate with

the King, this Parliament had not a greater

Power than other Parliaments, by ly Car.

though they had a longer Duration jb.

And that the Parliament being under a Force, and

mojl of the Members excluded, their Atls were

of no Authority ib.

Privilege of Parliament no floelter for Breach of
the Peace ; much lefs for Treafon ib.

£/V Henry Vane convicled ib.

His. Papers that he had prepared for his Defence

ib.

He is caWd to Judgment, and offers a Bill of Ex-
ceptions 450, 451

He urges the fame Points in Arrejl of Judgment,
that he had infijted on at his Trial 453"

He infifts much on the 1 1 Hen. VII. and fays it

ought to be taken largely for any Sovereign

Power, be it a Protetlor or other ; and that,

had the late Protetlor taken the Name of King,

no Treafon could have been committed againft

the King de jure out of Poffeffion ,ib.

The Petition of both Houfes to his Majefty, in be-

half of Sir Henry Vane . 459.
Sentence pronounced upon him ib.

His Behaviour and Dying Speech ib.

VAUGHAN, Captain Thomas, his Trial for

High Treafon before the Admiralty, Nov. 6.

1696, 8 Will. HI. V. 17

Six Days Notice of Trial, after Iffue joyned ib.

.The
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The Indiclment, for adhering to, and affifting the

King's Enemies, and levying War V. 1

8

The Prifoner
,
s Irons order*d to be taken off ib.

Exceptions to the Indiclment muft be taken before

Plea pleaded ; not with/landing the new Statute

fays before the Jury are fworn ib.

Dr. Littleton, and Sir John Hawles Soli-

citor General, their Speeches before Evidence

'The Prifoner cannot infift on the Witneffes being

examin'd apart, as his Right ; but it is gene-

rally granted 10
Evidence, that he ailed under a French Commif-

Jicn, and fought againfi the King's Ships, and
was taken ib.

Evidence offer d of his running away with ano-

ther Ship ; but rfecled, becaufe not laid in the

Indiclment xb.toiz

A general Indiclment for levying War, oradhering

to the King's Enemies, not good ; unlefs it be

Jhewn wherein they adher'd, &c. , 2 1

Evidence, to prove that he own'd himfelfan Irifh-

man 25
The Prifoner*s Defence by Mr. Phipps and Dr.

Oldys his Counfel ib. 26
They endeavour to prove him a Frenchman ib.

& feqq.

The King's Counfel call Witneffes tofhew the Pri-

foner was a Native of Ireland 29
The Prifoner*s Counfel call Witneffes againfi the

King's Witneffes 30
No Evidence ought to be given of the Contents of

a Letter, unlefs the Letter be produe'd 3

1

The Prifoner's Examination read %%
The Chief Jujlice directs the Jury 34
Adhering to the King's Enemies, what [hall be

conferuedfuch ib.

Foreigners who are in the Service of an Enemy,

(though their State be in Amity with ours)

deem'd Subjeils to the Enemy, and not Pirates,

while in the Enemy's Service 34
The Prifoner is convicled 36
His Counfel move in Arrefi of Judgment ib.

1

.

That the Indiclment does not fay, he adher'd

to the King's Enemies againfi the King ib.

Over-rul'd ib.

2. That no Acl of Hofiility was alledged 37
Over-ruled ; and held, that cruifing upon the

Coaft with an armed Veffel, was an Acl ofHo-

fiility, and was an ailual levying War 37
3. That the TrialJhould have been before the Ad-

miralty ib.

Over-rul'd 3 8

A. Confeffion may be retracled by the Civil Law
ib.

Whether two Witneffes are requir'd by the Laws
of God in Capital Cafes ? ib.

Our Juries look'd upon as Witneffes coming out of
the Neighbourhood where the Fail is committed

ib.

Sentence pronoune'd ib.

Captain Vaughan'j Commiffion 39
UDALL, John, his Trial, on the Statute 23 Ehz.

cap. 2. for fdonioufiy writing and publifhing a

feditious andfcandalous Libel, called, The De-
monftration of Difcipline, 1589, and 1590.

I. 168
He is examin'd before a Committee of Council ib.

Alledges, no Man is bound to anfwer and accufe

himfelf 1 69

Refufes to anfwer upon Oath I. 170
He is try'd at Surrey Affzes 171
Charg'd with Puritanical Tenets ib.

Depofitions of abfent Perfons read againfi him

172
He infifts, they ought to give Evidence viva voce

;

which the Court denied 172, 173, 182
The Court refufe to hear the Prifoner^s Witneffes,

becaufe it was againfi the Queen 173, 183
The Court offer to acquit him, if he would fay

he did not write the Libel he was charg'd with

ib.

The Court direcl the Jury to confider only, Whe-
ther he writ the Book, and leave the Nature

of the Offence to them 173, 176
Udall'j Defence •, he urges the Statute he is in-

diiled upon, was defigned only againfi the Pa-

pifis 174
The Court rule, that impugning the Bifioops Autho-

rity, is impugning the Queen's Authority with-

in the Meaning of the Acl ; and it is Felony to

impugn the Queen's Authority in Caufes Eccle-

fiafiical 175
The Prifoner is convicled 176
He affirms the Caufe of Prefbytery to be God's

Caufe 177, 178

Upon his Submiffion, his Judgment is refpited 179
Being caWd to Judgment, he affigns the fame Caufes

in Arrtft of Judgment he had mentioned in his

Defence 180

His Objeclions arfwered by the Court 1 8

1

Circumftantial Evidencefufficient to convitl a Many

where there is no direcl Proof 182

Retrailing his Submiffion, Sentence ofDeath pafs'd

upon him 1 84
His Principles 185

Condemns the Separation of the Brownifts ib.

King James interpofes in behalf of him and .he

other Puritanical Minifiers under Profecution

.187

He petitions for Banifhment 188

VENIRE FACIAS. See Writs.

VERDICT. See Jury.

VERE, Robert, Duke of Ireland. See Brambre.

VICE-CHANCELLOR. See Cambridge.

VINCENT, Samuel V. 445. See Kirkby, &
al.

UNIVERSITIES. See Cambridge, and, Magda-

len-College Cafe.

VOWELL, Peter. See Fox Somerfet.

VRATZ, Chriftopher III. 462. See Borofki,

&al.
URLINES, Samuel V.572. See Green, Tho-

mas, & al.

W.

T XTAD E, Cooper V. 445. See Kirkby, &

WAITE, Thomas IL 399. See Regicides.

WAKEMAN, Sir George, Bart.William Marfhal,

William Rumley, and James Corker, their

Trial for High Treafon, 18 July, 1679.

31 Car. II. II. 917
The Indiclment againfi the three firfi, for compaf-

fing the King's Death ib.

Indiclment againfi Corker, for the fame 919
They are all try'd by the fame Jury 918

Sir Robert Sawyer'* Speech before Evidence

62a
the
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The King's Witness call'd, to -prove the Plot in

general II. 921

Sir Edmundbury Godfrey'.? Death 923
The Papifts Opinion of the Powder-Plot 927,

928

Gates depofes, that the Queen was to affift Sir

George Wakeman to poifon the King 930
That Sir George Wakeman refus'd to accept

10,000 1. for poifoning the King ib.

That Corker was Prefident of the Benediclines

933
BedloeV Evidence 935

- Objeclion to Bedloc'j Evidence 437
Marfhal charges Bedloe that he did not know him

in the Gate-houfe 938
Sir George calls his Witneffes 94

1

Oates'.? Evidence fufpetled 945
He reflecls on the Privy Council ib.

Corker'.? Defence 948
Witneffes are not to be fcandaliz'd by the Prifo-

ner, without Proof ib.

The Improbability of the Plot in general ib.

Objetlions to Oates'.? Teftimony 949
A fury difchargd without giving a Verdicl

953
Corker proves by feveral Witneffes, that Mr. Sta-

pleton, and not he, was Prefident of the Bene-

diclines 954? 955
The Prifoners urge the Protefiations of the five

Jefuits, of their Innocence at their Execution,

as an Argument againfl the Plot 956
The Chief Jufiice anfwers that Objetlion 957
They difilaim the King-killing and Depofing Doc-

trine, &c. . 958
The Chief Juftice direcls the Jury ib.

All the Prifoners are acquitted y6i
WALCOT, Captain, his Trialfor High Treafon,

1683. 35 Car. II. III. 684
The Inditlment, for confpiring the Death of the

King, and to raife a Rebellion in the Rye-houfe
Plot ib.

Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, his Speech

before Evidence 685
Mr. Serj. Jefferies'.? Speech 686
Evidence, that he agreed to command aParty that

fihould charge the King's Guards 68 7
And

t
perfuaded Keeling to kill the King 689

Mr. Weft's Evidence 693
Walcot'j Letter to the Secretary of State, producd

and read 69 8

His Defence 699
Mr. Finch, Solicitor-General, funis up the Evi-

dence 700
Lord Chief Juftice Saunders, his Directions to the

_

Jury 701
• The Prifoner convicled 702
The Sentence ; and his Behaviour at Execution

745
WALLER, Sir Hardrefs II. 308. See Regi-

cides.

WARD, Sir Patience* his Trial at the King's-
Bench/<?r Perjury, 1683. 35 Car. II. III.

661
The Information open'd, charging the Defendant

with Perjury, in a Caufe between the Duke of
York and Mr. Pilkington ib.

Sir Robert Sawyer, Attorney-General, his Speech

662
Mr. Serjeant Jefferies his Speech ib.

Evidence, to prove he fwore the Matters laid in
the Information •

C63

Evidence, that what Sir Patience teftified was
falfe III. 665

Sir George Treby, Recorder, his Speech for the

Defendant 66 7
Mr. Williams, on the fame Side 66q
Evidence, to prove that Sir Patience did not fwear

pojitively ; but to the beft of his Memory, and
with Caution 670

Witneffes call'd to the Defendant's Reputation

•674

Sir George Treby'j Obfervations for the Defen-
dant 6j6

Mr. Williams'.? Obfervations 6yy
Sir Francis Winnington'j Speech 678
Mr. Pollexfen, on the fame Side ib.

Mr. Attorney-General's Reply 679
Mr. Solicitor-General, and Sir George Jefferies 's

Reply 680,681
Lord Chief Juftice Saunders funis up the Evi-

dence 682
The Defendant convicled 684
But withdraws before Sentence ib.

WARWICK and Holland, Edward Earl of, his

Trial, before the Houfe of Peers, for the Mur-
der of Richard Coote, Efq; the 2 %th of March,

1699. 10 W. III. V. 137
The Inditlment 140, & ieqq.

Lord Somers, Lord High Steward, his Speech

142
Sir Thomas Trevor, Attorney-General, opens the

Evidence 144
Evidence of the Quarrel ib.

Evidence of the Chairmen that carried them into

Leicefter-Eields ; and of Mr. Coote'j being

kill'd 149, & feqq.

Evidence of the Servants at the Bagnio 155
Evidence of the Surgeons 1 60
The Earl's Defence 162
The Earl's Witneffes are called 1 63
Mr. French having had his Clergy, but not be-

ing burnt in the Hand, it is debated whether he

is a legal Witnefs 166
Mr. Attorney's Argument, that Mr. French was

7to legal Witnefs ib.

Sir Thomas Powis'.? Argument, in behalf of the

Prifoner, contra 167
Peers fhall not be burnt in the Hand ib.

The King may pardon the burning, even in an Ap-
peal V. 168

The Judges Opinions mufi be ajk'd in Prefence of
the Prifoner 169

Serjeant Wright'.? Reply to the Prifoner's Counfel,

as to Mr. French'.? Teftimony ib.

Burning, as well as the Allowance of Clergy, ne-

ceffary to rftore a Man to his Credit 1 70
Rul'd, that French was not a legal Witnefs

l 73
The Prifonerfhall notfuppofe a Fail, and his Coun-

fel argue the Law arifing upon it, till the Lords
have fettled what the Fail really is 175

Mr. Solicitor, Sir John Hawles, fums up the

Evidence for the King 176
fhe Earl of Warwick found guilty of Man-

flaughter 180
The Earl demands his Clergy ib.

Receives a Caution how he offends again ib.

WELLING, Thomas, and Elizabeth V. 504
See Hathaway, & al.

WENTWORTH, Sir. John I. 333. See Sir

John Flollis.

WESTON,
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WESTON, Richard, his Trialfor the Murder of

Sir Thomas Overbury, 19 Oft. 1615. 13 Jac.I.

I. 324
By the 22 Hen. VIII. cap. 9. a wilful Poifoner

was to be boil'd to Death ib.

The InditJment 325
The Prifoner refufes to put himfelf upon his Coun-

try : whereupon Sir Laurence Hyde, Attorney-

General, gives a particular Account of the

whole Intrigue ib. 326
Several Examinations of others read againft the

Prifoner '

-

328
The Prifoner's own Examination read as Evidence

againft him ib.

The Court being fet again, he fubmits to a Trial

3*9
Held fufficient, to find the Party poifon d ; and

not neceffary, to find it done in the Manner laid

inthelnditlment 330
The Examinations read again at his Trial ib.

331
The Earl of Somerfet and Countefs of EfTex, the

Contrivers of the Murder 331, 332
The Prifoner pretends he did not know the Things

adminifter'd were Poifon 332
He is convitled, and Sentence paffed on him by the

Lord Chief Juftice ; and his Speech ib.

WHITE, Charles, his Trial VI. 829. See

Goodere.

WHITE, Dr. Thomas, Bijhop of Peterborough,

tried for publifhing a Libel TV. 304
WHITE, alias Whitebread, Thomas II. 696. See

Ireland, & al.

WHITE, alias Whitebread, Thomas, William

Harcourt, John Fenwick, John Gavan, alias

Gawen, and Anthony Turner, their Trialfor

HighTreafon, ipk of ]\mt, 1679. 31 Car. II.

II. 829
All the twelve Judges in the Commijfion of Oyer

and Terminer ib.

The IndiStment, for compaffmg the Death of the

King, the Subverfion of the Government, Re-

ligion, &c. 830
Whitebread objetls, that he had been trfd before

for the fame Offence, and the Jury were dif-

mifs'd without giving their Verdiff 831
The Chief Juftice holds, that it was in the Dif-

cretion of the Court to difcharge the Jury with-

out taking a Verditl ; and that he might be try'd

again 832
This Proceeding cenfur'd IV. 6y$
Corker'* Trial put off II. 833
Sir Crefwell Levinz, his Speech before Evidence

.834
Oates'* Evidence of the Confult of the Jefuits at

the White Horfe, the 2/^th of April, 1678.

835
And of Whitebread'* offering Sir George Wake-
man 10,000 1. to poifon the King ib.

His Evidence againft Gavan 836
Oates'* Evidence againft Fenwick and Harcourt,

of their paying 80 1. to four Ruffians, who were

to murder the King at Windfor 837
Depofes that the Duke of Ormonde was to have

been kill'd in Ireland ib.

That Whitebread beat him for difcovering the

Plot
'

ib.

That Turner was at the Confult ib. 838
Dugdale'* Evidence againft Whitebread and Ga-

van 840
Vol. VL

His Evidence againft Harcourt II. 841
His Evidence againft Turner 844
Prance'* Evidence againft Harcourt and Fenwick

ib.

Bedloe'* Evidence againft Whitebread, Fen-
wick, and Harcourt ; with his Reafons why
he fupprefd his Evidence at a former Trial

845
Pickering and Grove employ *d to kill the King >

and their Reward ib.

A Defign to kill the King at New-market ib.

Bedloe'* Evidence of Sir George Wakeman'j re-

ceiving 5000 1. in part of 1 5,000, for poifon-

ing the King 846
Whitebread'* Defence 848
Mr. Fenwick'* Defence 851
Eleven Witneffes depofe, That Oates was at St.

Omers, at the Time he fwore he zvas at the

Confult 852, & feqq.

Evidence that Sir John Warner and Sir Thomas
Prefton were in Flanders, when Oates fwore

he came to England with them 858
The Chief Juftice falls upon the Principles of the

Papifts ; and the People fhout 861

Gavan'* Defence ib.

He calls Witneffes to prove he was in Stafford-

fhire at the Time of the Confult 862

Offers to put himfelf on the Tn^Z-Ordeal ib.

But is told, we have no fuch Law ; and that he

did it to amufe the People ib.

The Prifoners urge, that the Witneffes againft them

are Men of infamous Charatiers 863
Call feveral Witneffes to prove that Ireland was

not in London, when Oates fwore he was at

Mr. Harcourt'* Chamber there 864
Whitebread ftoews, that Bedloe muft be perjured

at one of the Trials 866

Sir Crefwell Levinz'* Reply for the King 867

A Witnefs call'd to contraditl the Evidence about

Ireland 868

Witneffes to contraditl the St. Omers- Witneffes

ib.

The Prifoners Obfervations on thefe Evidences

872

The Chief Juftice diretls the Jury 875
And tells them, that Papifts would fay or fwear

any thing to promote their Caufe ; and there-

fore the Teftimony of the Prifoner"'s Witneffes,

how numerous foever, was not to be regarded

876

And that a Miftake of feven or eight Days in

Oates'* Evidehce, ought not to influence them

ib.

He oppofes the Verditl againft Ireland, to the Tef-

timony of the Prifoners Witneffes 877
The Prifoners are convitled 878

The Recorder approves the Verditl ib.

WICKHAM, John III. 630. See Pilkington,

&al.
WIDDRINGTON, William Lord VI. 1. See

Derwentwater, Earl of.

WIFE.
In Criminal Cafes, where fhe is aggrieved, may be

a Witnefs againft her Hufband I. 37, 388,

3Q3. V. 456
WILLIAM III. King of England, 6ff . The De-

claration publijh'd by him when he came into

England at the Revolution V. 747
WILCOCKS, Samuel V. 572. See Green,

Thomas, & al.

* X WILKS,
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WILKS, William II. 585. See MefTenger, &

al.

WILLOUGHBY, Elizabeth V. 504. ^Hath-
away, & al.

WILSON, William, Clerk III. 949. See Sa-

cheverell, William.

WINTER, Robert, Thomas Winter, Guy Fawks,

John Grant, Ambrofe Rookwook, Robert

Keyes, and Thomas Bates,jheir Indiblment for

High Treafon, in contriving the Gunpowder-

Plot, 2 yth January, 1605. 3 Jac. I. 1. 232

Serjeant Phillips'j Speech 234

Sir Edward Coke's Speech on opening the Charge

235

The Quality of the Confpirators 237

The Principles of the Jefuits ib.

The Rcafonablenefs of the Laws againft Recufants

240

The Prifoners Confeffton before the Council, read

as Evidence againft them 243

They are convibled ib.

Sir Everard Digby arraigned for the fame Con-

fpiracy ; and pleads Guilty 244
Sentence pronounced againft them. Four of them

executed at the Weft-end of St. Paul's, andfour

in the Old Palace-Yard 247
WINTER, Thomas I. 232. See Winter, Ro-

bert, & al.

WINTOUN, George Earl of, his Trial before

the Houfe of Peers, on an Impeachment for

High Treafon, 17 15, 2 George I. VI. 17

Orders previous to the Trial 1

8

The King's Commiffion, appointing William Lord

Cowper Lord High Steward 2 8

Lord High Steward's Speech to the Prifoner ib.

The Articles read, charging him with having been

in open Rebellion againft the King 2,

2

HisAnfwer 24
The Replication of the Houfe of Commons 25
Mr. Hampden'j Speech ib.

Sir Jofeph Jekyll'j Speech 28

Sir Edward Northey, Attorney General, his Speech

Evidence that the Earl of Wintoun was with

the Rebels from the nth of October, till the

Rebellion was fuppreft 31, & feqq.

That he was prefent at feveral Places where the

Pretender was proclaim*

d

33
Evidence of the King's Officers cbncerning his Sur-

render, and the Terms of it 3 8

Lord Wintoun defires Time to make his Defence

4i
Which is refus'd 42
Mr. Cowper fums up the Evidence 44
Is feconded by Sir William Thompfon 45
Lord Wintoun convibled 48

- He moves, in Arreft of Judgment, that no parti-

cular Day is affign'd in the Articles 49
Sir Conftantine Phipps, his Counfel, his Speech

to that Point ib

Mr. Peere-Williams on the fame Side 50
Mr. Walpole'j Reply 52
Sir Edward Northey and Mr. CowperV Speeches

S3
Sir William Thompfon'j Argument 54
The Prifoner's Counfel reply $c
The Objection over-ruPd

, 56
Lord High Steward's Speech before Judgment

ib.

Judgment for High Treafon pronoun?d upon him

58

He efcapes from the Tower VI. 58
WITCHCRAFT V. 482.

WITNESS.
Anciently, Witneffes were not permitted to be heard

againft the Crown I. 72
Aliens, Villains, and Accomplices in Treafon mcrf

be Witneffes 1
1

3

Whether the Wife may be a Witnefs for, or a-

gainft, her Hujband in Criminal Matters ?

393
A Popifh Recufant a good Witnefs, till he is con-

vicled, and the Record of his Conviblion is pro-

duced I. 392. IV. 45
A Witnefs fworn upon his Buttons, inftead of a

Bible II. 114
Whether the Prifoner fhall not have the Procefs of

the Court to bring in his Witneffes ? 505
Whether a Witnefs charging a Perfon Criminally

before the Houfe of Commons, be not fubjebl

to Damages, they being no Court of Record ?

561
Exception to a Witnefs, that he was never bap-

tiz'd, over-rul'd 598
A Witnefs fhall not be afpers'd without Proof

710, 82 r, 948
Perfons indibled and acquitted, good Witneffes a-

gainft others accufed of the fame Crime 728
A Juryman who can give Evidence in the Caufe,

'

fhall do it in open Court 809
A Witnefs need not anfwer any £hteftions, that

tend to make him accufe himfelf, and fubjeh
him to a Penalty II. 822, 1035. ^- 54°'

IV. 9
The Witneffes againft the King formerly not fworn

in Capital Cafes II. 850
Witneffes being allow'd a Subfiftence, no Objeblion

to their Teftimony . 891
A Witnefs need not anfwer any Queftion that does

not coneern the Point in Iffue II. 900. III. 42
A Prifoner may fhew, that a Witnefs contradibls

what he fwore concerning him at the Trial of
another II. 900

Perfons indibledfor difparaging the King's Witnef-

fes
;

970
Whether it be Criminal to offer a Witnefs any Re-
ward to give his Evidence, when to teftify the

Truth? 1 03 1, 1035
A Pardon will not reftore one Convibl of Perjury

to his Credit ; but if he be upbraided with it

after a Pardon, he may have an Ablion III.

44, 46
Whether one difabled to be of a Jury, is not difa-

bled to be a Witnefs ? 45
A general Pardon will not reftore one Outlaw'dfor

Felony to his Credit ; but Clergy reftores one

Convibl of Felony 46"

A Witnefs's Credit is not impair'd by a Jury giv-

ing their Verdibl contrary to it 49
There muft be two Witneffes believ'd by the Juryy

to convibl a Prifoner of High Treafon $6
When a Witnefs is in Execution for Debt, he

cannot be brought out of the Rules of the Prifon

without a Habeas Corpus 97. IV. 2, 599
Witneffes fworn twice in the fame Trial III. 123
A Peer may be fworn as a Witnefs, and give Evi-

dence, though he is Judge in the Cafe 141
An Accomplice cannot be a Witnefs, after he is

indibled 178
Members of either Houfe may be Witneffes on an

Impeachment -, but both Peers and Commoners

muft be fworn 183, 189
A
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A Prisoner Jhall not call Evidence to difcredit his

own H/it7ieffes III. 374
Two JVitneJfes to one Overt-Ac! are not neceffary

in Treajon 419, 722, 729, 817
Though JVitneJfes Jhall not read their Evidence,
' they have been Jometimes allow'd to look upon

'

. their Notes, to rejrefo their Memories 474
A Prifoner may not crojs-examine the King's JVit-

neJfes, till the Counjel Jor the King have done

. with theyn 690
One Witnejs who Jpeaks direclly to the Treajon, and

another who Jpeaks but to a Circumfiance,

deem'd two JVitneJfes in Law. III. 818. IV".

246
One Witnefs Jujficient to convicl a PerJon oj any

other Treajon, but that oj compajjing the Prin-

ce's Death III. 819
Not permitted, to charge a Witnejs with any Crime

in particular, without producing the Record oj

his Conviclion 845
The Court deny to bring up the Prijoner's JVitneJfes,

who were in Execution Jor Debt, either by Ha-
beas-Corpus, or Rule IV. 2

The Court rejuje to examine a Witnejs, who came

to Jwear he had Jorjwcrn himjelj ; though the

Counjel urged that Juch Evidence was ujually

admitted to deteil a Subornation 47
Whether a Witnejs Jor the King may be indicled

Jor Perjury on the Statute ? 52, 102

The Deposition oj a Perjon abjent ought not to be

admitted as Evidence, at a Trial in Criminal

Cojes 9

1

A Perjon outlaw'd and pardon'd, permitted to

give Evidence 164,

APriJoner permitted to charge the King's Evidence

with particular Crimes, without producing any

Record againJl him 234
ATrial never put off on the Prijoner's Suggejlions

that his Witnejfes are out oj the way, without

Oath made by a third Perjon, to Jatisjy the Court

of the Truth oj it IV. 421. V. 449
The WitneJJes Jhall not be examined as to any other

Crimes the Prijoner is guilty oj, but thoje he

Jlands charged with IV. 500
WitneJJes Jhall not give Evidence oj any particular

Crimes to dijcredit a Witnejs ; but only to his

general Charailer 693
Where a Witnejs is a Prijoner, he mujl be brought

up to the Trial by Habeas Corpus 599
The Witnejs need not anjwer a ^uejlion, where it

may Jubjeil him to a Penalty 606
The Witnejs may not read his Evidence 607, 612

The Witnejs being the King's Servant, no Cauje

oj Challenge, when the Crown projecutes 632
One Convicted oj Felony may be a Witnejs ijpar-

don'd, either by the King, or by Statute : but

one Attainted, and pardon'd, either by the King,

or a Statute-Pardon, is not rejlor'd, either to

Blood or Credit ; unlejs there be Jpecial Words
in the Pardon, or his Attainder be revers'd

682
Though the WitneJJes are Jometimes examin'd a-

part, at the Injlance of the Prijoner ; this is

a Favour, and the Court may rejuje it IV. 756.
V. 20

One Witnejs Jufficient to convicl a Criminal, in

Jome Species oj Treajon V. 89
The Judge Jhall come off the Bench, and give Evi-

dence, when his Tejtimony may tend to convicl or

acquit the Prijoner 98

Whether the Divine Law, and the Law of Na-
tions, requires two WitneJJes in Capital Cajes ?

V. 38, ijg j M^ I2 5
One admitted to his Clergy, but not burnt in the

Hand, or pardon''d, is not rejlored to his Cre-
dit, Jo as to be a legal Witnejs V. 165, 170

PerJons indicled Jor Piracy, held legal WitneJJes

V. 289, 292
The Perjon Jorcibly marry'd, admitted a Witnejs

of the Force againjl her Hujband de facto V.

456A Wije de jure Jhall not be a JVitneJs Jor, or a-

gainft, her Hujband V. 476
WOODBURNE, John, his Trial with Arundel

Coke, EJq; on the 22 & 23 Car. II. commonly
calledThe Coventry-Ail, Jor Felony, at Surfojk-

Affizes, 1 3 Mar. 1 72 1 . 8 George I. VI. 2 1 2 \

The Indiclment charging him as Principal, and
Coke as Acceffary, in disfiguring Mr. Edward
Crifpe

'

ib.

Mr. SerjeantSdbyand Mr.SerjeantBrmthwayte,
their Speeches bejore Evidence 212

Mr. Crifpe'^ Evidence oj his being ajjaulted

214
The Surgeon's Evidence of the Nature of the

Wounds iii-

Evidence of Woodburne'j Confeffwn that he did
the Fail ib.

Evidence of Moon and Carter, that Mr. Coke
endeavour'd to perfuade them to murder a
Man 216

Mr. Raby'j- Application of the King's Evidence

217
Woodburne owns the Fail ; but fays he was

drawn in by Coke 218
The Jury are told that Woodburne^ Story is not

Evidence againjl Coke ib.

Mr. Coke urges in his Defence, that his Intent

•was not to maim, but to kill 219
He defires Counjel may be ajfgn'd him ib.

Which is rejus'd, it being a Quefiion of Fail, and
not of Law ib.

Lord Chief Jujlice King'j- Directions to the Jury
220

The Prijoners convitled 223
Being call'd to Judgment, Mr. Coke infifls on the

Jame things as in his Dejence ib.

The King's Counjel reply 224
The Prijoner's Exception dijallow'd 228
Lord ChieJ Jujlice pronounces Sentence oj Death

upon them ib.

They are executed ib

WOODWARD, Richard II. 585. See Meffen-
ger, & al.

WORDS.
Words held to amount to an Overt-Ail oj Treajon

I. 74. IV. 593 , 658
Any Words or Ailions dijeovering a treajonable

Intention againjl the Prince's Lije, held to be

Overt-Ails oj Treajon I. 101. III. 207,

1056
Whether writing the treajonable Words another

diilates, may be deem'd an Overt-Ail of the

Writer's treajonable Imagination? II. 350
Treajonable Words Jpoken in French 656
Where one is indicled Jor Words, whether the

very Words that are charg'd to be Criminal,
ought not to be injerted in the Indiclment ? III.

1006

In
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In an AStion for Words, the Colloquium and
Averment ought to be proved, to maintain the

Aclion III. 1059

If from the Tenor of a Man's Difcourfe he dif-

covers a treafonable Imagination, fuch a Dif-

courfe is an Overt-Atl of Treafon, fufficient

for a Jury to convicl him IV. 735
All Words or Writings alledg'd to he Criminal,

ought to be fpecify'd in the Indiclment, or In-

formation ; but this is not neceffary in an Im-

peachment by Parliament V. 828
This Opinion, as to Inditlments, afterwards cen-

fur'd as erroneous VI. 331
Words not fuch a Provocation in Law, as will re-

duce the Offence of killing a Man to Man-
Jlaughter 296

WRITS.
r Diftringas made returnable the Day after the

Tefte I. 952
Writ of Mandamus rogantes, what it is 568
A Return of a Habeas Corpus, notjign'd by the

Coaler, held a void Return II. 201

Perfons accus'd of Capital Crimes, difcharged by
the King's Writs declaring them innocent II.

750
The King may by his Writ command, that the Exe-

cution fhall vary from the Judgment III. 2 14A Writ to the Lieutenant of the Tower, to de-
liver his Prifoner to the Sheriff, to be executed
purfuant to the Sentence 214, 290

A Writ of Enquiry executed in the King's Bench.
between his Royal Highnefs the Duke of York
and Titus Oates m, ng 7

Wherein a Precept differs from a Venire. IV.

744, 745
The Diftringas being Tefte'i the Day after the

Return of the Venire, it is held to be a Dif-
continuance of the Procefs V. 543, 570

Whether fuch a Mifprifion be amendable in a Cri-
minal Cafe V. 552, &V.

Y
Y.

ORK, James Duke of III. 987
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